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Tonson Garlick Company, Ltd. 

p. 359

	
Mr. Jonathan Tonson Garlick



	
Hotels, Boardinghouses, Etc 

p. 361

	
Central Hotel 

p. 361

	
Grosvenor Hotel

	
Mr. Alexander Schultze

	
Naval And Family Hotel

	
Royal Mail Hotel

	
Mr. Robert Scott

	
Thames Hotel

	
Boardinghouses



	Iron and Brass Founders

	
Bach, T., and Co 

p. 367

	
Mr. T. Bach

	
Mr. R. Poulgrain

	
Broady, J. and Co

	
Mr. John Broady 

p. 368

	
Mr. Charles Allan

	
Mr. Alfred Martin

	
Chambers, John And Son

	
Mr. John Chambers 

p. 369

	
Mr. J. M. Chambers

	
Collings, C. And A

	
Mr. Charles Collings

	
Mr. Arthur Collings

	
Fraser, George And Sons 

p. 370

	
Mr. George Fraser

	
Mr. George Fraser 

p. 371

	
Handley, Charles

	
Harvey And Sons

	
Henderson, Frank and Co.

	
Mr. Frank Henderson 

p. 372

	
Hyauiason, David

	
McCoskrie And Son

	
Mr. Samuel Mccoskrie

	
Mr. John Mccoskrie

	
Masefield, T. T. and Co.

	
Nicholls, Reuben

	
Phillips, Henry

	
Seagar Bros

	
Messrs William, Charles, George, And Henry Seagar 

p. 374

	
Mr. William Seagar

	
Steuart And Fenn

	
Mr. W. Steuart

	
Mr. Ernest James Fenn

	
Tudehope, Robert 

p. 375

	
Wilson, Walter

	
Ironmongers and Hardware Merchants 

p. 376

	
Anderson, H. F., and Co.

	
Briscoe and Co., Ltd.

	
Mr. John Macneil

	
Burns, John and Co.

	
Dexter And Crozier 

p. 377

	
Lambourne, Walter

	
Porter, E. and Co.

	
Reynolds, E. and Co.

	
Mr. E. Reynolds

	
Thompson Bros

	
White, Wilton J.



	
Laundries 

p. 379

	
Auckland Steam Laundry 

p. 379

	
Mr. John Steer

	
Wigg, Thomas



	
Leather Trade 

p. 380

	
Astley And Son 

p. 380

	
Crocker, Benjamin

	
Davy, Henry

	
Fleming, C. C.

	
Ireland Bros

	
Kapai Boot Factory

	
Mr. George Alexander Coles 

p. 381

	
Mr. Frank Jagger

	
Knight, J. I 

p. 382

	
The Lion Boot Factory

	
Mr. Richard Walton

	
The Northern Boot And Shoe Manufacturing Company, Ltd.

	
Mr. Thomas Hodgson

	
Prosser, Thomas

	
Schofield And Son

	
Sexton, Charles Henry

	
Stone, S. and Co

	
Mr. Samuel Stone

	
Sutherland, W. and Co.

	
Mr. Josiah Lawry

	
Mr. William Sutherland

	
Trenwith, John

	
Wallis And Caley

	
Mr. Wallis 

p. 386

	
Mr. Caley

	
Whittington, Alfred James

	
Wiseman, J. and Son

	
Brookes, Alfred H.



	
Meat Trade 

p. 387

	
Adam, J. and Co 

p. 387

	
Mr. John Adam

	
Mr. John Munro Fraser

	
The Auckland Freezing Works

	
Mr. A. Bevins 

p. 388

	
Fenton and Co

	
Mr. W. A. Fenton

	
Gray, George Henry

	
Hellaby, R. And W. 

p. 389

	
Knox, William

	
Lewis, Walter

	
McElwain, George

	
Norgrove, Charles

	
Williams, Frank 

p. 390

	
Young, Walter

	
Christian, Nathaniel



	
Kauri Gum Industry

	
[introduction]

	
Arnold, Cheney and Co

	
Bond And Bell

	
Carr, Johnston and Co.

	
Edmonds, Henry

	
Garlick And Lyon

	
Gilfillan, J. B. and Co.

	
Heather, Arthur

	
Heather, Roberton and Co

	
Henderson, J. W

	
Holmes And Grierson

	
Hutchinson, C.J., and Co.

	
Lichtenstein And Arnoldson

	
Mr. Max Lichtenstein 

p. 393

	
Mr. Louis Arnoldson

	
Miller, Henry

	
Mitchelson, E., and Co.

	
Morton, H. B., and Co.

	
Nathan, A. H

	
Nathan, L. D., and Co.

	
Patterson, George Warren Shaw

	
Schischka, John 

p. 394

	
Whitley, W. S.

	
Wilson, P., and Co.

	
Winterbourne S., and Co.



	
Merchants, Warehousemen, Etc 

p. 395

	
Abbott, Oram, and Co 

p. 395

	
Brown, Barrett and Co

	
Brown, Campbell and Co.

	
Carr, Johnston and Co.

	
Clark, Archibald And Sons. Ltd. 

p. 396

	
Mr. Matthew Anderson Clark

	
Entrican, A. J. and Co

	
Mr. James Cuthbertson Entrican

	
Hayman, P., and Co

	
Henderson And Macfarlane

	
Hilion, George Philip

	
Hodgson, James

	
Hooton, John Peter

	
Hopkins, Richard Harris

	
Macfarlane, J. B.

	
Macky, Logan, Steen and Co.

	
Nathan, L. D. and Co

	
The New Zealand Loan And Mercantile Agency Company 

p. 399

	
Sargood, Son, and Ewen

	
Seegner, Langguth and Co.



	
Nurserymen and Fruiterers

	
Frick, William

	
Yates, Arthur

	
Webster, Josiah Daniel 

p. 401



	
Potters, Tile and Brick Manufacturers — Wilson, J. and Co., 

p. 402

	
Printers, Stationers, Paper Merchants, Etc 

p. 403

	
Abel Dykes 

p. 403

	
Mr. R. S. Abel

	
Mr. J. Dykes

	
Brown And Stewart

	
Mr. Brown 

p. 404

	
Mr. Stewart

	
Collins, William, Sons and Co., Ltd.

	
Field, J.H.

	
Given, Andrew, and Co.

	
Mr. D. S. Cattanach

	
Graham, Arthur

	
Leighton, J. F. And Son

	
Mr. James Francis Leighton 

p. 406

	
Mr. Frank W. Leighton

	
Spencer, Albert

	
Spencer, P. and Co.

	
Wildman And Lyell 

p. 407

	
Mr. George Hescott



	
Storekeepers, Grocers, Etc

	
City Flour Mills

	
Mr. James Hume

	
Doonin, Thomas William

	
Ellyett, A. J.

	
Gunson, W., and Co.

	
Laxon, Neill and Co.

	
The Northern Roller Milling Company

	
Peet, W. And J. 

p. 410

	
Whitehead, Frederick

	
Winn, William 

p. 411

	
Hallett, Henry John David



	
Sundry Manufacturers 

p. 412

	
The Auckland Gas Company, Ltd 

p. 412

	
Mr. Edward Brendon Parsons

	
Mr. Isaac Watts

	
Mr. Mortimer Fairs

	
Mr. Ernest Ashton

	
Mr. Chenery Suggate

	
Colonial Sugar Refining Company

	
Downs, W. H 

p. 415

	
Mr. William Downs

	
The Kapai Corn Broom Company, Ltd

	
Plummer, Charles Bernard

	
Tyer, A. and Son

	
Mr. A. Tyer 

p. 417



	
Wheel Traffic

	
The Auckland Electric Tramways Company

	
The Auckland Forwarding And Parcel Delivery Company

	
Mr. Horace Ian Simson

	
Cammell, George Samuel

	
Tanner, H. C. N.

	
Winstone, W. And G



	
Watch and Jewellery Trade

	
Bartlett, Alfred G.

	
Howden, James

	
Larsen, N. F. B.

	
Maud, William

	
Slaney, Walter



	
Wood Trade 

p. 421

	
Bagnall Bros. and Co. 

p. 421

	
Goldie, David

	
Kauri Timber Company

	
Macklow Bros

	
Mander And Bradley

	
Mr. Mander 

p. 422

	
Mr. Samuel Bradley

	
The Mitchelson Timber Company

	
Mr. Thomas Hulme Barstow

	
Murdoch, C. P. And Sons

	
Mr. Charles P. Murdoch

	
Parker, Lamb. and Co



	Old Colonists, Ex-Civil Servants and other Settlers

	
[introduction] 

p. 423

	
Mr. John Abbott

	
Mr. William Aitken

	
Mr. Albert James Allom

	
Mr. Charles Atkin

	
Mr. William Parr Baker 

p. 425

	
Mr. R. C. Barstow

	
Mr. Robert Bartley 

p. 426

	
Mr. Frederick Battley

	
Mr. James Barclay Blaikie

	
Mr. Edmund Henry Bold

	
Captain I. J. Burgess

	
Mr. R. S. Carter

	
Mr. Archibald Clements

	
Mr. William John Conelly

	
Mr. Michael Corcoran

	
Mr. William Cruickshank 

p. 429

	
Captain Dacre

	
Mr. Henry Ellis

	
Mr. Edwin Fairburn 

p. 430

	
Mr. John Gordon

	
Mr. Robert Hall

	
Mr. Luther Halliwell

	
Captain J. H. Rogers-Harrison

	
Colonel the Hon. Theodore Minet Haultain 

p. 431

	
Mr. James Hickson

	
Mr. Henry Hirst

	
Captain Howard Hutton

	
Mr. Edward Isaacs

	
Mr. Henry Mahon Jervis

	
Mr. John Kirkwood

	
Mr. Charles Knox

	
Mr. Renke Friedreich Luks 

p. 434

	
Mr. Charles Mcdonald

	
Mr. Charles Cookman McMillan 

p. 435

	
Mr. George Main

	
Mr. Albin Martin

	
Mr. William Hurst Martin

	
Mr. J. P. Du Moulin

	
Mr. David Nolan

	
Mr. Allan O'Neill

	
Mr. Robert Peace 

p. 437

	
Mr. George Patrick Pierce

	
Mr. George Sinclair Reston

	
Mr. Charles Ring

	
Mr. John Robertson 

p. 439

	
Mr. Charles Spooner

	
Mr. Charles Burrell Stone

	
Mr. Allan Kerr Taylor 

p. 440

	
Mr. George Taylor

	
Mr. William Thomas

	
Mr. George Robert Turner 

p. 441

	
Mr. Henry Greensmith Wade

	
Mr. James Robert Walters

	
Mr. Horatio Nelson Warner 

p. 442

	
Mr. John White

	
Mr. Henry Christian Wick

	
Mr. William Winstone

	
Mr. Harry Wrigg

	
Mr. Henry Wrigg



	Shipping

	
[introduction] 

p. 444

	
New Zealand Shipping Company, Limited

	
Mr. Charles Vince Houghton

	
Northern Steamship Company, Limited

	
Mr. William Laird 

p. 445

	
Captain William Bettis

	
Captain H. A. Day

	
Captain William Farquhar

	
Captain Robert Huia Gibbons

	
Captain Charles Hopkins

	
Captain Neil Taylor Robertson

	
Captain William Sullivan

	
Mr. Thomas Braidwood

	
Mr. Edward John Scott

	
Mr. Thomas Taylor 

p. 448

	
Mr. Alfred Everard Macindoe

	
Mr. Arthur Mainland

	
Mr. S. J. Weston 

p. 449

	
Mr. William Blackwood

	
Mr. John Mcleod

	
Mr. John Devere Marmion

	
Mr. Edward Wrigley

	
Union Steamship Company Of New Zealand, Limited

	
Captain John Abram 

p. 450

	
Captain James Stewart Adams

	
Captain Adolphus Martin

	
Captain David John Shaw 

p. 451

	
Captain Edward A. Stenbeck

	
Mr. Thomas Gerard

	
Devonport Steam Ferry Company

	
Mr. E. W. Alison

	
Bailey And Lowe

	
Mr. Walter Bailey

	
Mr. William Lowe

	
Bailey, Charles

	
Henderson And Spraggon 

p. 455

	
Mr. Adam Henderson

	
Logan Brothers 

p. 456

	
Logan, Robert

	
Niccol, George Turnbull



	Mining

	
[introduction]

	
The Waiotahi Gold Mining Company, Limited 

p. 463

	
Mr. George Schwartz Kissling

	
Abbott, Frederick William

	
Argall, William Henry 

p. 464

	
Gilfillan, Henry

	
MacDonnell, Dennis Gilmore

	
Macky, Samuel Cochrane 

p. 465

	
Matthews, Seering Hall

	
Morris, Georage Charles Waudby

	
Gray, William

	
Armstrong, Matthew Watson 

p. 466

	
Endean, John

	
Bewick, Moreing and Co.

	
Mr. Alfred Harper Curtis

	
Cheal, Peter Edward

	
Fleming, Malcolm

	
Gordon, Henry A.

	
Harrison and Foster 

p. 468

	
Mr. J. W. Harrison

	
Mr. A. L. Foster

	
Kelly, A. M. and F. V.

	
McConnell, Quentin Addison

	
Rich, Frank A.

	
Wilson, Hugh Munro

	
Churton, William Henry

	
Jackson, Joshua

	
King, Jesse 

p. 470

	
Lusk, Newall Butler

	
Galbraith, D. R. Shirreff

	
Mr. Cecil Hartridge 

p. 471

	
Mr. Jules George Wilson

	
Mr. John McCombie

	
Waiorongomai — Hardy, Edwin Henry, 

p. 472

	
Hikutaia

	
Thames

	
Coromandel 

p. 484

	
Karangahake 

p. 491

	
Waikino

	
Waitekauri

	
Waihi



	Suburbs of Auckland

	
Parnell 

p. 509

	
Newmarket 

p. 516

	
Remuera

	
Mount Eden 

p. 523

	
Mount Albert

	
Grey Lynn

	
Birkenhead

	
Devonport 

p. 530

	
Motutapu Island 

p. 534

	
Waiheke Island





	The Northern Districts

	
[introduction] 

p. 536

	
Takapuna 

p. 537

	
Takapuna 

p. 537

	
Robertson, Henry S.

	
Mackay, Robert 

p. 538



	
Wade

	
Wade

	
Lees, Thomas, and Sons



	
Puhoi 

p. 539

	
Puhoi 

p. 539

	
Puhoi Public School

	
Mr. Thomas Dominic Rice



	
Warkworth 

p. 540

	
Warkworth 

p. 540

	
Mr. John Sheehan

	
Warkworth Post And Telegraph Office

	
The Warkworth Courthouse And Police Station

	
Mounted Constable Samuel Stacey

	
Wilson, J. and Co.

	
Mr. Nathaniel Wilson

	
Mr. James T. Wilson

	
Mr. William J. Wilson



	
Waipu

	
Waipu

	
Mcleod, Donald Murray



	Whangarei

	
Whangarei 

p. 542

	
Sir Samuel Osborne Gibbes

	
Mr. Henry Walton

	
Mr. Robert Thompson

	
The Borough Of Whangarei

	
His Worship The Mayor, Mr. James Miller Killen 

p. 543

	
Councillor Thomas McClintock

	
Councillor George Clark-Walker

	
Mr. James McKinnon

	
The Whangarei County Council

	
Councillor George Ross

	
Mr. Daniel Cook Wilson

	
Mr. Thomas Alfred Crisp

	
Mr. Joseph Mallabond

	
Whangarei Railway Station

	
Mr. Andrew Duncan

	
The High School, Whangarei

	
Mr. Roger Lupton

	
Bispham, Mrs. C.

	
Triphook, John Robert

	
The Whangarei Brass Band

	
Field, Edward Thurlow

	
Steadman, Thomas Herbert

	
Killen, James Miller

	
Sweet, Geoffrey Bruton

	
Pickmere, A. R.

	
Cowdell, Joseph T.

	
Hoey, Samuel 

p. 548

	
Whangarei Hotel

	
Mr. McMahon

	
Allaways Temperance Hotel 

p. 549

	
Langham House

	
Chissell, Charles Henry

	
Courtney, Alfred Charles

	
Burroughs, W

	
Halliday, George 

p. 550

	
The New Zealand Portland Cement Company, Ltd.

	
Mr. Alan Hall

	
Mr. Henry Archibald Going 

p. 551

	
Foote Bros

	
Rawnsley, S., and Co

	
De Boutillier, E.

	
Edwards, John Adams

	
Goodall, William

	
Mr. Edouard Eugene Cafler

	
Mr. Robert Usher Harden 

p. 553

	
Mr. Thomas Coyle

	
Whangarei Heads



	
Parua Bay 

p. 554

	
Parua Bay 

p. 554

	
The Parua No. 2 School

	
The Grahamtown Public School

	
Miss Violet Kingsford

	
The Settlers' Club

	
Davidson, Daniel

	
Robinson, Thomas Edward

	
Woodlands

	
Mr. Horace Lyne Squires

	
Captain Donald MacLeod 

p. 556

	
Mr. William James Macleod



	
Kamo 

p. 557

	
Kamo 

p. 557

	
Kamo Pioneer Warui Mineral Springs

	
Mr. Taylor 

p. 558

	
Sissons, Richard

	
Meinnes, Murdoch

	
Barnes And Sissons

	
Whitelaw, James

	
Tremaine, George



	
Poroti 

p. 559

	
Poroti 

p. 559

	
The Poroti Native School

	
Mr. Jack H. Broughton

	
Rawnsley, Samuel, and Co.

	
Owen, Arthur



	
Hikurangi

	
Hikurangi

	
The Hikurangi School

	
Mr. Joseph Wooller

	
Hikurangi Coal Company

	
Mr. Thomas Pearson Moody 

p. 561

	
Howie, Robert

	
Carter, William

	
Mr. Donald MacLeod 

p. 562

	
Mr. John Williams



	
Opuawhanga

	
Opuawhanga

	
Whimp, Henry



	
Opuawhanga and Whananaki 

p. 563

	
Hope Station 

p. 563

	
Mr. William Foote



	
Whananaki

	
Whananaki

	
Morris, Thomas Henry Winwood

	
Palmer, John 

p. 564

	
Willowbank

	
Mr. John Charles Johnson



	
Puhipuhi

	
Puhipuhi

	
Eruera Nehua



	
Russell 

p. 565

	
Russell 

p. 565

	
The Post And Telegraph Office

	
Mr. John Hollywood

	
Masefield Bros

	
Joyce, Thomas

	
Mrs. Hannah King Letheridge



	
Waitangi Falls

	
Waitangi Falls

	
The “Wairoro,”

	
Mr. Louis Clifford Goffe 

p. 568



	
Kawakawa

	
Kawakawa

	
Bay Of Islands County

	
Councillor J. A. L. Hall 

p. 569

	
Councillor H. S. Ludbrook

	
Mr. Vernon Herbert Reed

	
Kawakawa Railway Station

	
Mr. Robert Betts Peat

	
Mr. Herbert Cummings

	
The “Northern Luminary”

	
Mr. Francis MacKenzie

	
Reed, Vernon Herbert

	
Dowling, William Patrick

	
Ngaheia Station

	
Mr. James Close



	
Opua

	
Opua

	
Morris, Antonio



	
Te Ahuahu 

p. 571

	
Te Ahuahu 

p. 571

	
Knox, Thomas



	
Ngawha

	
Ngawha

	
Dickeson Bros

	
Mr. John McNamara



	
Ohaeawai 

p. 572

	
Ohaeawai 

p. 572

	
The Hon. Henry Williams

	
The Ohaeawai Sale Yards

	
Stanton, Joseph

	
Woods, George Henry

	
Bindon, John Waller

	
Pouerua Station

	
Mr. William Williams Ludbrook

	
Tupetupe Station

	
Mr. Henry Samuel Ludbrook



	
Waimate North 

p. 574

	
Waimate North 

p. 574

	
Waimate North Public School

	
The Rev. Richard Taylor

	
Clarke, Henry Tacy



	
Kaikohe 

p. 575

	
Kaikohe 

p. 575

	
The Kaikohe Post Office

	
Mr. Edward Routh Coxhead

	
Mrs W. H. Wallis

	
Purdy, James

	
Guerin, Thomas 

p. 576

	
Dickeson, G. F.

	
Edwards, Alfred William

	
Mr. Arthur Holyoake Morrison

	
Wright, Albert



	
Okaihau

	
Okaihau

	
Buchanan, Thomas George



	
Utakura Valley

	
Utakura Valley

	
Gower, Joseph



	
Kerikeri

	
Kerikeri

	
Black, John

	
Hearn, William 

p. 579



	
Whangaroa

	
Whangaroa

	
Whangaroa County 

p. 580

	
Whangaroa County Council

	
Mr. John Begg

	
The Whangaroa Post And Telegraph Office

	
Mr. Joseph Francis Fabian

	
Campbell, Robert

	
Shepherd John Goodwin 

p. 581

	
The Kauri Timber Company's Sawmills

	
Mr. James Thwaytes Bramley

	
Mr. Curtis Moore

	
Shepherd, Henry George 

p. 582



	
Totara North

	
Totara North

	
Totara North Public School

	
Molesworth And Saies

	
Mr. W. H. Saies

	
Mr. Dover Nassau O'Doyer Molesworth

	
Mr. Albert Smith

	
Lane And Brown

	
Mr. Thomas Major Lane

	
Mr. William Brown

	
Mr. John Gow

	
Lawrence, W. R., and Co 

p. 586

	
Mr. Lawrence

	
Mr. E. G. Douglas

	
Mr. W. P. Brown

	
Mr. Patrick Campbell



	
Kaeo 

p. 587

	
Kaeo 

p. 587

	
Kaeo Public Library

	
Kaeo Football Association

	
Nisbet, Alexander

	
Nisbet, William Arthur

	
Halliday, James

	
Hare Bros 

p. 588

	
Mr. Joseph Hare

	
Mr. Joseph R. Hare

	
Halliday, Mrs. S

	
Hayes, Thomas

	
Woodside Farm

	
Mr. William Murray 

p. 589

	
Bramley, William

	
Mr. Richard Edward Gibbs



	
Otoroa

	
Otoroa

	
Mr. Frederick Ernest Fairburn



	
Mongonui

	
Mongonui

	
Mr. R. M. Houston

	
Mongonui County

	
Mr. Henry Havelock Thompson

	
The Post And Telegraph Offices 

p. 591

	
Mr. Alexander Dougal Clemett

	
O'Neill, William Campbell

	
Irvine, John

	
The Settler's Hotel

	
Mr. Thomas Berghan

	
Garton, William

	
Wake, Charles Augustus

	
Wyles, Robert

	
Mr. James Reid Hendry

	
Kauri Timber Company's Sawmills

	
Mimiwhangata Station

	
Mr. Roger John Corbett 

p. 594

	
Mr. John Kitchen



	
Oruru 

p. 595

	
Oruru 

p. 595

	
Maria, Nicholas

	
Wilkinson, George

	
Wilkinson, William



	
Peria 

p. 596

	
Peria 

p. 596

	
The Peria Public Hall

	
Peria Accommodation House

	
Flavell, Joseph

	
Hazard, William



	
Fairburn

	
Fairburn

	
Mckay, Alexander



	
Victoria Valley 

p. 597

	
Victoria Valley 

p. 597

	
Thompson. William Frederick



	
Kaitaia

	
Kaitaia

	
The Post Office

	
Mr. Richard Henry Matthews

	
Church Of England

	
Mr. William George Puckey

	
Redan Hotel

	
Grigg, William Robert

	
Grassmere Station 

p. 599

	
Mr. George Edward Hollis

	
Shannon, William Joseph



	
Awanui

	
Awanui

	
The Awanui Public School

	
Mr. J. H. Hudson

	
Subritzky, Ludolph Anton

	
Glaudet, Lionel Henry



	
Mangatete

	
Mangatete

	
Burgoyne, William



	
Waipapakauri

	
Waipapakauri

	
The Traveller's Rest Hotel

	
Evans, Joseph



	
Ahipara

	
Ahipara

	
Berghan, Mrs. James

	
Bowman, John

	
Mr. James Berghan

	
Mr. James Work Reid



	
Waihopo

	
Waihopo

	
Tynan, John Magee

	
Reid, John Maloney 

p. 606



	
Herekino

	
Herekino

	
Gardiner, Christopher P.



	
Parengarenga

	
Parengarenga

	
Mr. Samuel Yates

	
Mr. Hemi Taitimu 

p. 609

	
Yates, Mrs. Samuel

	
Evans, Edward

	
Mr. Timoti Puhipi



	
Rawene

	
Rawene

	
Mr. Hone Heke

	
Hokianga County

	
Councillor Cornelius William Pellatt Seon

	
Mr. Alfred Cooke Yarborough

	
Mr. Ernest Mcleod 

p. 611

	
Mr. George Gardiner Menzies

	
Hokianga Pilot Service

	
Mr. George Martin

	
Mr. John Martin

	
The Rawene Post Office

	
Mr. Thomas Lumsden Millar

	
Lester Bros

	
Mr. Charles B. Lester

	
The Rev. James Buller

	
Mr. Alexander Chapman 

p. 612

	
Mr. James Mcleod

	
Mr. Frederick Edward Maning



	
Taheke

	
Taheke

	
Glover, George

	
Mr. Robert Davidson



	
Opononi

	
Opononi

	
The Opononi Post And Telephone Office 

p. 615

	
Mr. Bernard George Howe

	
Opononi Hotel And Sanatorium

	
Mr. Alfred Spry Andrewes

	
Mr. John Webster



	
Waione

	
Waione

	
Bolton, Charles Frederick



	
Whirinaki

	
Whirinaki

	
The Whirinaki Native Technical School 

p. 619

	
Mr. Charles Peter Winkelmann



	
Kohukohu

	
Kohukohu

	
Seon, Cornelius William Pellatt

	
Halliwell Bros

	
Lester Bros

	
Mr. Robert Ernest Lester

	
Wallace, David Brown



	
Dargaville

	
Dargaville

	
Dargaville Post And Telegraph Office

	
Mr. Joseph Hay

	
Mr. Abraham Absolum

	
Dargaville Public School

	
Mr. Frank Percy Burton

	
St. George Lodge

	
Mr. Norman Alexander McLeod

	
National Bank Of New Zealand

	
Mr. Herbert Gould

	
Brown, William John

	
Spiers, William Archibald

	
Matthews, Frederick William

	
Mitchelson, E., and Co.

	
Mr. Robert George Bramley 

p. 625

	
Trounson, James



	
Mangawhare

	
Mangawhare

	
Norton, Frederick

	
Mansill, Charles Henry

	
Brown, Campbell and Co.

	
Mr. Frederick Friend Day

	
Marriner, William Arthur



	
Aratapu

	
Aratapu

	
Hobson County

	
Councillor William Archibald Spiers

	
Councillor Alfred Ernest Harding 

p. 628

	
Mr. Horace Hammond

	
Mr. Benjamin Charles New

	
Mr. Thomas Webb

	
The Church Of England

	
Rev. Arthur James Beck 

p. 629

	
Welham, Alfred Robert

	
Harrison, Edward

	
Thompson, Erik

	
Bassett, Edward

	
Morgan, John

	
Mr. Thomas Stirrup Webb



	
Kaukapakapa

	
Kaukapakapa

	
Kaukapakapa Post Office, Money Order, Savings Bank And Telegraph Office

	
The Kaukapakapa Public School

	
Mr. G. W. Murray

	
Dye, Frank

	
Shine, Patrick

	
Clinkard, Cecil Henry

	
Dawson, William 

p. 631

	
Drinnan, James

	
Sinclair, Robert

	
Walsh, Martin



	
Aoroa

	
Aoroa

	
Hossack, Arthur



	
Parkhurst

	
Parkhurst

	
Archibald, James

	
Ferrall, Robert 

p. 633

	
Captain James Alexander MacMahon



	
Helensville

	
Helensville

	
Mr. Richard Monk

	
Mr. C. H. Spinley

	
Helensville Railway Station, Post And Telegraph Office

	
Mr. David Aitken Wright

	
The Helensville Public School

	
Mr. Joseph Robert Whitaker

	
Spinley, Charles Henry

	
Downer, William

	
Mcleod, Isaac

	
Makiri Farm

	
Mr. James Hand

	
Reynolds, John Joseph

	
Slatter, John

	
Stewart, Daniel 

p. 637

	
Wilson, John Alexander

	
Northern Union Steam Boat Company, Ltd

	
Mr. John D. Stuart

	
Mr. John Harrison

	
Rawson, Thomas



	
Te Kopuru

	
Te Kopuru

	
Te Kopuru Post And Telegraph And Customs Office

	
Mr. Charles Archer Wells

	
Te Kopuru Public School

	
Lindley, John

	
Seymour, Joseph

	
Andrew, Alexander

	
Wordsworth, William



	
Paparoa

	
[introduction]

	
Mr. John Butterill Ariell



	
Matakohe 

p. 642

	
Matakohe 

p. 642

	
Carolan, James Frederick

	
Lichtenstein And Arnoldson



	
Towai

	
Towai

	
The Towai Public School

	
Mr. Richard John Harris



	
Port Albert

	
Port Albert

	
Lichtenstein And Arnoldson 

p. 644



	
Riverhead

	
Riverhead

	
Riverhead Hotel 

p. 645

	
Mr. Thomas William Deacon

	
The Riverhead Paper Mills

	
Mr. John Greenhalg

	
Mr. Mark Thompson





	The Southern Districts

	
[introduction]

	[South Auckland District]

	
Onehunga

	
Ellerslie

	
Howick

	
Mangere

	
Panmure

	
Otahuhu 

p. 661

	
Clevedon 

p. 663

	
Drury

	
Pukekohe

	
Waiuku

	
Bombay

	
Harrisville

	
Tuakau

	
Whangarata 

p. 693

	
Pokeno

	
Pokeno Valley

	
Razorback

	
Paparata

	
Maungatawhiri Valley



	[Waikato District]

	
Mercer

	
Rangiriri

	
Ohinewai

	
Huntly

	
Kimihia

	
Taupiri

	
Ngaruawahia

	
Waingaro

	
Pukete

	
Whatawhata

	
Raglan

	
Ohaupo 

p. 719

	
Paterangi

	
Te Awamutu

	
Kihikihi 

p. 732

	
Orakau

	
Rangiaohia

	
Te Rore

	
Te Kuiti

	
Hamilton

	
Kirikiriroa

	
Marshmeadows

	
Hukanui

	
Newstead

	
Tamahere

	
Tauwhare

	
Fencourt

	
Hautapu

	
Cambridge

	
Karapiro

	
Cambridge West

	
Pukekura

	
Pukerimu

	
Morrinsville

	
Piako

	
Kiwitahi

	
Walton

	
Waharoa 

p. 790

	
Matamata

	
Hinuera

	
Okoroire

	
Tirau

	
Putararu

	
Lichfield

	
Mamaku



	[Central Plateau District]

	
Rotorua

	
Whakarewarewa

	
Waiotapu

	
Wairakei

	
Taupo

	
Ateamuri

	
Tokaanu



	[Bay of Plenty and Coromandel Districts]

	
Tatua

	
Waihou

	
Te Aroha

	
Waiorongomai

	
Manawaru

	
Shaftesbury

	
Gordon

	
Owharoa

	
Paeroa

	
Hikutaia

	
Kopu

	
Parawai

	
Thames

	
Mercury Bay

	
Coromandel

	
Karangahake

	
Mackaytown

	
Waikino

	
Waitekauri

	
Golden Cross 

p. 916

	
Waihi

	
Katikati

	
Tauranga

	
Te Puke
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Preface

        

In days more leisured than those of this generation prefaces were supposed to serve at least two purposes. On the one hand, they were used to excuse or justify, on the other, to explain a work. But no book which has a right to exist needs to be excused or justified, and no book which is worth possessing requires a prefatory explanation. If it does, it is, as a book, condemned by that very fact. It is, therefore, neither to excuse nor explain that a preface is prefixed to the Auckland volume of the 
Cyclopedia of New Zealand.

        
There are, however, some facts with which subscribers have a right to be made acquainted, and which can be stated now and here more conveniently than at any other time or place. The first or Wellington volume of the 
Cyclopedia of New Zealand was published about the end of 1897, and this, the second volume, may, in the estimation of some subscribers, be somewhat late in making its appearance. But the delay has been entailed by two things; namely, the original plan of the work, and the determination of the proprietors to make the 
Cyclopedia creditable to themselves and satisfactory to their subscribers. The plan to which the conductors have from the first been pledged, and which they have carried out with the utmost fidelity to the spirit and letter of their obligation, made it necessary to bring out local sections for all the provincial districts covered by the 
Cyclopedia—that is, for the whole of New Zealand. All this has been done for every provincial district except Wellington, since the publication of the Wellington volume, and some of the work has been carried on concurrently with the arduous labour of preparing the Auckland volume for the linotypers and printers, and seeing it through the press. In all nineteen local sections have been canvassed for, edited and published in this way; five for Auckland, five for Otago and Southland, four for Canterbury, one for Taranaki, one for Hawke's Bay, and one also for Westland, Nelson, and Marlborough respectively; these together running into 1,922 printed and illustrated pages. Of the total, 496 pages were taken up with local sections for the Auckland provincial district, and these have been re-edited and brought up to date for the volume as it now stands. It may be pointed out, too, that all the additional work disclosed by the present volume has also been accomplished within the period under notice.

        
All this has been done by the proprietors in fulfilment of the plan to which they have stood pledged from the outset, and the labour entailed would have been sufficient to keep a large staff busily employed, even if there had been nothing else to do in the Company's offices. There has, however, been much more to see to; for, in their determination to make



the work creditable to themselves and satisfactory to their subscribers all over the Colony, the proprietors have gone to much expense and very special trouble in carrying out a final canvass for the Auckland volume and in bringing, as far as practicable, all articles connected with it up to the latest possible date. Had the proprietors been less solicitous than they have been, not only to maintain but to improve the character of the work, and to invest it with a comprehensive and permanent value as a cyclopedic representation of the industrial, personal and public activities of the people of New Zealand, the volume might have been brought out earlier, but disgrace would have lain at their doors, and dissatisfaction would have been rife amongst the subscribers. To assume that the volume as it now stands gives no reasonable ground for apprehension on either of these scores is, surely, to indulge in no unwarranted assumption.

        
The proprietors do not, of course, set up a claim to absolute perfection. But they are satisfied that the original plan of the work has been carried out in the best possible manner, and with all the speed consistent with the excellence expected by subscribers and desired by the proprietors themselves. It is also claimed that this excellence has been secured not only in the volume as a whole, considered as a representative record and reflex of the personal and public life, the industrial activities and the colonising energies of the people of the province of Auckland; but in the average of the literary workmanship, the number, variety and finish of the illustrations, in the quality of the paper used in the printing, and the general get-up of the volume.

        
Still the work is not, in every particular, what the proprietors would fain have made it. Notwithstanding all their efforts, it has been found impossible in a number of cases to bring articles up to date, or to rewrite and reprint all the articles which were originally written and printed some years ago. Hence, here and there, literary inequalities may be noticeable, and persons in possession of the particulars may observe that changes in office, occupation and address are not recorded in some articles as they now stand. It can, however, truly be said that the proprietors have in all instances done their utmost to obviate even these minor anomalies, and that in almost every instance in which they have not succeeded, the blame is not theirs, but that of the persons or the friends of the persons immediately concerned.

        
The plan of the 
Cyclopedia of New Zealand is not that of a mere directory, which baldly enumerates in their alphabetical order all the places and all the people of a district or country. It is very much less matter-of-fact than that, but it provides for a historical and a dramatic interest to which nothing in the nature of a directory can make the slightest pretence. The intention is that each volume shall describe and illustrate notable places and scenes within the province it treats of, contain biographies and portraits of men and women in practically all sections of society, and deal representatively with the industries of the province as a whole and with the callings of the people. The proprietors claim to have done



all this with the Auckland volume,—as it is their intention to do with the remaining volumes of their work,—with such thoroughness and success, that the casual enquirer will not only find the facts he may be in quest of, but students of colonial life, observers of colonial progress, and watchers of colonial industry,—those who look for facts and those who wish to get into touch with the romance of colonisation and the romance in the lives of individual colonists,—will find what they want in the pages of the 
Cyclopedia of New Zealand.

        
In a work of this nature many besides the staff employed by the proprietors assist in its production. Men of all classes have to be appealed to for information. Government officers and the members and officials of public bodies have, especially, to be interviewed or written to in this connection. For assistance thus given with the Auckland volume the proprietors and their staff have the liveliest gratitude. To mention by name all who have so helped is impossible, but if a list were drawn up, the names which would appear amongst the first upon it would be those of Dr. Logan Campbell, Mr. T. F. Cheeseman (Curator of the Auckland Museum), Miss Outhwaite, Mr. George Main, and the late Mr. William Aitken. To Mr. Aitken no tribute can now be paid except that accorded to his memory in the article which appears in the section devoted to Old Colonists, but to Miss Outhwaite, Dr. Logan Campbell, Mr. Cheeseman, Mr. Main and all others who have in any degree helped their staff, the proprietors beg to tender their most cordial thanks. It is, in a measure, due to the assistance thus rendered, in supplying articles or materials for articles, and photographs of persons and places, that the proprietors have here been enabled to produce the most comprehensive, most interesting, best illustrated volume of the kind yet published in the Southern Hemisphere.

        
It needs only to be added that the balance of the 
Cyclopedia will be completed on the principles which have guided the proprietors in connection with the present volume, and that the arrangements which have been made must result in the remaining volumes being brought out with greatly increased celerity. As a matter of fact, the Canterbury volume is already well under way, and the preparatory work for the Otago volume is also in hand.

        

The Cyclopedia Company, Limited.
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	Legal, Auckland
                  
	
272–
1018
                

                

                  
	  Barristers and Solicitors
                  
	
                    
276
                  
                

                

                  
	  Law Library
                  
	
                    
274
                  
                

                

                  
	  Law Society
                  
	
                    
275
                  
                

                

                  
	  Native Land Court
                  
	
                    
275
                  
                

                

                  
	  Stipendiary Magistrate's Court
                  
	
                    
274
                  
                

                

                  
	  Supreme Court
                  
	
                    
272
                  
                

                

                  
	Lichfield
                  
	
                    
796
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	Mackaytown
                  
	
                    
909
                  
                

                

                  
	Makaraka
                  
	
                    
1003
                  
                

                

                  
	Makauri
                  
	
                    
1009
                  
                

                

                  
	Mamaku
                  
	
                    
797
                  
                

                

                  
	Manawaru
                  
	
                    
836
                  
                

                

                  
	Mangatete
                  
	
                    
600
                  
                

                

                  
	Mangawhare
                  
	
                    
625
                  
                

                

                  
	Mangere
                  
	
                    
657
                  
                

                

                  
	Maori Wars,
                  
	
                    
148
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Arrival of the Maoris in New Zealand
                  
	
                    
148
                  
                

                

                  
	  Later Episodes
                  
	
                    
154
                  
                

                

                  
	  Tamati Waka Nene
                  
	
                    
150
                  
                

                

                  
	  Tawhiao
                  
	
                    
150
                  
                

                

                  
	  Te Kooti
                  
	
                    
154
                  
                

                

                  
	  Te Werowero or Potatau
                  
	
                    
150
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Attack at Okaihau
                  
	
                    
149
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Capture of Ruapekapeka
                  
	
                    
149
                  
                

                

                  
	  The East Coast Campaign
                  
	
                    
153
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Fight at Ohaeawai
                  
	
                    
149
                  


                

                
                

                  
	  The Fight at Rangiriri
                  
	
                    
151
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Gate Pa
                  
	
                    
152
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Northern War
                  
	
                    
148
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Stand at Orakau
                  
	
                    
151
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Taranaki War
                  
	
                    
151
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Troops at Te Ranga
                  
	
                    
153
                  
                

                

                  
	  The Wanganui-Taranaki Campaign
                  
	
                    
153
                  
                

                

                  
	Marshmeadows
                  
	
                    
756
                  
                

                

                  
	Matakohe
                  
	
                    
642
                  
                

                

                  
	Matamata
                  
	
                    
791
                  
                

                

                  
	Matata
                  
	
                    
942
                  
                

                

                  
	Matawhero
                  
	
                    
1005
                  
                

                

                  
	Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	
                    
700
                  
                

                

                  
	Meat Trade Auckland
                  
	
                    

                      
                        
383 
[sic: 387]
                        
                      
                    
                  
                

                

                  
	Medical, Auckland
                  
	
                    
283
                  
                

                

                  
	  Chemists and Druggists
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	  Dental
                  
	
287–
1018
                

                

                  
	  Specialists
                  
	
                    
292
                  
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	
                    
701
                  
                

                

                  
	Merchants, Warehousemen, etc., Auckland
                  
	
                    
395
                  
                

                

                  
	Mercury Bay
                  
	
                    
895
                  
                

                

                  
	Military, Auckland
                  
	
156—
1016
                

                

                  
	  District Reserve Corps
                  
	
                    
161
                  
                

                

                  
	  Engineers
                  
	
                    
164
                  
                

                

                  
	  Field Artillery Volunteers
                  
	
                    
164
                  
                

                

                  
	  Honorary Unattached List
                  
	
                    
159
                  
                

                

                  
	  Mounted Rifles
                  
	
                    
165
                  
                

                

                  
	  Naval and Garrison Artillery Volunteers
                  
	
                    
161
                  
                

                

                  
	  N.Z. Militia
                  
	
                    
156
                  
                

                

                  
	  N.Z. Volunteers
                  
	
                    
158
                  
                

                

                  
	  Permanent Militia
                  
	
                    
156
                  
                

                

                  
	  Permanent Staff
                  
	
                    
158
                  
                

                

                  
	  Rifle Volunteers
                  
	
                    
165
                  
                

                

                  
	  Unattached Active List
                  
	
                    
159
                  
                

                

                  
	Mining, Auckland
                  
	
                    
459
                  
                

                

                  
	  Coromandel
                  
	
                    
484
                  
                

                

                  
	  Hikutaia
                  
	
                    
472
                  
                

                

                  
	  Karangahake
                  
	
                    
491
                  
                

                

                  
	  Thames
                  
	
                    
472
                  
                

                

                  
	  Waihi
                  
	
                    
501
                  
                

                

                  
	  Waikino
                  
	
                    
495
                  
                

                

                  
	  Waiorongomai
                  
	
                    
472
                  
                

                

                  
	  Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
497
                  
                

                

                  
	Mongonui
                  
	
                    
590
                  
                

                

                  
	Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
785
                  
                

                

                  
	Motutapu Island
                  
	
                    
534
                  
                

                

                  
	Mount Albert
                  
	
                    
523
                  
                

                

                  
	Mount Eden
                  
	
                    
523
                  
                

                

                  
	Municipal, professional, Commercial, and Trade Societies, Auckland
                  
	
                    
303
                  
                

                

                  
	Trade Societies
                  
	
                    
304
                  
                

                

                  
	Muriwai
                  
	
                    
1011
                  
                

                

                  
	Musical, Auckland
                  
	
                    
256
                  
                

                

                  
	  Music Dealers, Importers, etc.
                  
	
                    
265
                  
                

                

                  
	  Music Teachers
                  
	
                    
258
                  
                

                

                  
	  Singers
                  
	
                    
264
                  
                

                

                  
	  Societies
                  
	
                    
257
                  
                

                

                  
	  Theatres, Halls, etc.
                  
	
256–
1017
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	Newmarket
                  
	
                    
516
                  
                

                

                  
	Newstead
                  
	
                    
757
                  
                

                

                  
	Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
713
                  
                

                

                  
	Ngawha
                  
	
                    
571
                  
                

                

                  
	Northern Districts, The
                  
	
                    
536
                  
                

                

                  
	Nurserymen and Fruiterers, Auckland
                  
	
                    
400
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	Ohaeawai
                  
	
                    
572
                  
                

                

                  
	Ohaupo
                  
	
                    
719
                  
                

                

                  
	Ohinewai
                  
	
                    
704
                  
                

                

                  
	Okaihau
                  
	
                    
577
                  
                

                

                  
	Okoroire
                  
	
                    
794
                  
                

                

                  
	Old Auckland
                  
	
                    
63
                  
                

                

                  
	Old Colonists, etc., Auck.
                  
	
                    
423
                  
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	
647–
1021
                

                

                  
	Opononi
                  
	
                    
614
                  
                

                

                  
	Opotiki
                  
	
                    
945
                  
                

                

                  
	Opua
                  
	
                    
570
                  
                

                

                  
	Opuawhanga
                  
	
                    
562
                  
                

                

                  
	Orakau
                  
	
                    
735
                  
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	
                    
952
                  
                

                

                  
	Oruru
                  
	
                    
595
                  
                

                

                  
	Otahuhu
                  
	
661–
1021
                

                

                  
	Otoroa
                  
	
                    
590
                  
                

                

                  
	Owharao
                  
	
                    
838
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	Paeroa
                  
	
                    
839
                  
                

                

                  
	Panmure
                  
	
659–
1021
                

                

                  
	Paparata
                  
	
                    
698
                  
                

                

                  
	Paparoa
                  
	
                    
641
                  
                

                

                  
	Parawai
                  
	
                    
858
                  
                

                

                  
	Parengarenga
                  
	
                    
607
                  
                

                

                  
	Parkhurst
                  
	
                    
632
                  
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	
                    
509
                  
                

                

                  
	Parua Bay
                  
	
                    
554
                  
                

                

                  
	Paterangi
                  
	
                    
722
                  
                

                

                  
	Patutahi
                  
	
                    
954
                  
                

                

                  
	Peria
                  
	
                    
596
                  
                

                

                  
	Piako
                  
	
                    
788
                  
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	
                    
695
                  
                

                

                  
	Pokeno Valley
                  
	
                    
697
                  
                

                

                  
	Poroti
                  
	
                    
559
                  
                

                

                  
	Port Albert
                  
	
                    
643
                  
                

                

                  
	Potters, Tile and Brick Manufacturers, Auck.
                  
	
                    
402
                  
                

                

                  
	Printers, Stationers, etc. Auckland
                  
	
                    
403
                  
                

                

                  
	Professional, Commercial and Industrial, Auck.
                  
	
308–
1019
                

                

                  
	Puhipuhi
                  
	
                    
564
                  
                

                

                  
	Puhoi
                  
	
                    
539
                  
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
669
                  
                

                

                  
	Pukekura
                  
	
                    
781
                  
                

                

                  
	Pukerimu
                  
	
                    
783
                  
                

                

                  
	Pukete
                  
	
                    
717
                  
                

                

                  
	Putararu
                  
	
                    
796
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	Raglan
                  
	
718–
1021
                

                

                  
	Rangiaohia
                  
	
                    
736
                  
                

                

                  
	Rangiriri
                  
	
                    
704
                  
                

                

                  
	Rawene
                  
	
                    
610
                  
                

                

                  
	Razorback
                  
	
                    
698
                  
                

                

                  
	Remuera
                  
	
                    
521
                  
                

                

                  
	Riverhead
                  
	
                    
644
                  
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	
                    
799
                  
                

                

                  
	Russell
                  
	
                    
565
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	Shaftesbury
                  
	
                    
836
                  
                

                

                  
	Shipping, Auckland
                  
	
                    
444
                  
                

                

                  
	Social, Auckland
                  
	
239–
1017
                

                

                  
	  Clubs
                  
	
                    
239
                  
                

                

                  
	  Orders and Friendly Societies
                  
	
                    
240
                  
                

                

                  
	  Druids
                  
	
                    
245
                  
                

                

                  
	  Foresters
                  
	
                    
244
                  
                

                

                  
	  Hibernian
                  
	
                    
244
                  
                

                

                  
	  Masonic
                  
	
                    
240
                  
                

                

                  
	  Oddfellows
                  
	
                    
244
                  
                

                

                  
	  Orange Lodges
                  
	
                    
245
                  
                

                

                  
	  Rechabites
                  
	
                    
245
                  
                

                

                  
	  Temperance Societies
                  
	
                    
245
                  
                

                

                  
	Societies
                  
	
                    
252
                  
                

                

                  
	Sports, Games, and Pastimes
                  
	
                    
245
                  
                

                

                  
	  Aquatic
                  
	
                    
246
                  
                

                

                  
	  Bowling
                  
	
                    
248
                  
                

                

                  
	  Chess
                  
	
                    
248
                  
                

                

                  
	  Cricket
                  
	
                    
249
                  
                

                

                  
	  Football
                  
	
                    
249
                  
                

                

                  
	  Lawn Tennis
                  
	
                    
249
                  
                

                

                  
	  Miscellaneous
                  
	
                    
250
                  
                

                

                  
	  Racing and Sporting
                  
	
                    
250
                  
                

                

                  
	Southern Districts, The Auckland
                  
	
                    
646
                  
                

                

                  
	Storekeepers, Grocers, etc.,
                  
	
                    
408
                  
                

                

                  
	Suburbs of Auckland
                  
	
                    
509
                  
                

                

                  
	Sundry Manufacturers, Auckland
                  
	
                    
412
                  
                

                

                  
	Superintendents of Auck.
                  
	
                    
34
                  
                

                

                  
	Supplementary
                  
	
1013–
1014
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	Taheke
                  
	
                    
614
                  
                

                

                  
	Takapuna
                  
	
                    
537
                  
                

                

                  
	Tamahere
                  
	
                    
758
                  
                

                

                  
	Tatua
                  
	
                    
822
                  
                

                

                  
	Taupiri
                  
	
                    
711
                  
                

                

                  
	Taupo
                  
	
                    
817
                  
                

                

                  
	Tauranga
                  
	
                    
931
                  
                

                

                  
	Tauwhare
                  
	
                    
761
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Ahuahu
                  
	
                    
571
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Arai Bridge
                  
	
                    
1005
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
723
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
824
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Karaka
                  
	
                    
951
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Kopuru
                  
	
                    
639
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Kuiti
                  
	
                    
738
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Puke
                  
	
                    
940
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Rore
                  
	
                    
737
                  
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	
859–
1021
                

                

                  
	Tirau
                  
	
                    
795
                  
                

                

                  
	Tokaanu
                  
	
                    
821
                  
                

                

                  
	Totara North
                  
	
                    
582
                  
                

                

                  
	Towai
                  
	
                    
643
                  
                

                

                  
	Tuakau
                  
	
                    
690
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	Utakura Valley
                  
	
                    
578
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	Victoria Valley
                  
	
                    
597
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	Wade
                  
	
                    
538
                  
                

                

                  
	Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	
                    
1007
                  
                

                

                  
	Waerenga-o-kuri
                  
	
                    
958
                  
                

                

                  
	Waharoa
                  
	
                    
790
                  
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	
917–
1022
                

                

                  
	Waihopo
                  
	
                    
605
                  
                

                

                  
	Waihou
                  
	
                    
823
                  
                

                

                  
	Waikeke Island
                  
	
                    
535
                  
                

                

                  
	Waikino
                  
	
                    
910
                  
                

                

                  
	Waimate North
                  
	
                    
574
                  
                

                

                  
	Waingaro
                  
	
                    
717
                  
                

                

                  
	Waiohika
                  
	
                    
1009
                  
                

                

                  
	Waione
                  
	
                    
618
                  
                

                

                  
	Waiorongomai
                  
	
                    
835
                  
                

                

                  
	Waiotapu
                  
	
                    
814
                  
                

                

                  
	Waipapakauri
                  
	
                    
601
                  
                

                

                  
	Waipu
                  
	
                    
541
                  
                

                

                  
	Wairakei
                  
	
                    
815
                  
                

                

                  
	Waitangi Falls
                  
	
                    
567
                  
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
911
                  
                

                

                  
	Waitemata County Council
                  
	
                    
144
                  
                

                

                  
	Waiuku
                  
	
                    
676
                  
                

                

                  
	Walton
                  
	
                    
789
                  
                

                

                  
	Warkworth
                  
	
                    
540
                  
                

                

                  
	Watch and Jewellery Trade, Auckland
                  
	
                    
420
                  
                

                

                  
	Whakarewarewa
                  
	
                    
812
                  
                

                

                  
	Whakatane
                  
	
                    
943
                  
                

                

                  
	Whananaki
                  
	
                    
563
                  
                

                

                  
	Whangarata
                  
	
                    
693
                  
                

                

                  
	Whangarei
                  
	
                    
542
                  
                

                

                  
	Whangarei Heads
                  
	
                    
553
                  
                

                

                  
	Whangaroa
                  
	
                    
579
                  
                

                

                  
	Whatawhata
                  
	
                    
718
                  
                

                

                  
	Wheel Traffic, Auckland
                  
	
                    
418
                  
                

                

                  
	Whirinaki
                  
	
                    
618
                  
                

                

                  
	Wood Trade
                  
	
421–
1021
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Professions and Trades.

          

            

Auckland City and Suburbs.

            

              

Accountants and Auditors.

              

                  

                    
	Alexander, E. B.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Churton, W. H.,
                    
	469
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor, C.,
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Morrison, W. B. A.,
                    
	313
                  

                  

                    
	Waymouth and Son
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

ÆRated Water and Cordial Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Campbell and Ehrenfried Co., Ltd.,
                    
	329
                  

                  

                    
	Grey, J., and Sons
                    
	343
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Commission and Manufacturers'.

              

                  

                    
	Arthur, R. and Co.
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Barr Brown, R.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Gilfillan, J. B. and Co.,
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Gunson, W. and Co.,
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Hilton, G. P.,
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Hipkins and Coutts
                    
	335
                  

                  

                    
	Hooton, J. P.,
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, Gabriel and Co.,
                    
	313
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, H. B. and Co.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. Agency Co., Ltd
                    
	339
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, P. and Co.,
                    
	394
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Customs, Shipping and Forwarding.

              

                  

                    
	Clayton, M. T.,
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Cotton, H. E.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, H. B. and Co.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, L. D. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Stone Bros.,
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Financial and Loan.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, J.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Davidge, W. T.,
                    
	311
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor, C
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Williamson, C. R. and Co.,
                    
	314
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Forwarding and Carrying.

              

                  

                    
	Auck. Forward. and Parcel Delivery Co.
                    
	418
                  

                  

                    
	Cammell, G. S.,
                    
	418
                  

                  

                    
	Winstone, W. and G.,
                    
	419
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Land and Estate.

              

                  

                    
	Barr Brown, R.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Davidge, W. T.,
                    
	311
                  

                  

                    
	Garland, G. J.,
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Williamson, C. R. and Co.,
                    
	314
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Mining.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, J.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Churton, W. H.,
                    
	469
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor, C.,
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, J.,
                    
	469
                  

                  

                    
	King, J. and Co.,
                    
	470
                  

                  

                    
	Lusk, N. B.,
                    
	470
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, G. C. W.,
                    
	465
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Patent.

              

                  

                    
	Baldwin and Rayward
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Basley, G. W.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Hughes, H.,
                    
	1019
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Tourists'.

              

                  

                    
	Cook, T. and Son
                    
	310
                  

                

            

            

              

Ammunition Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Colonial Ammunition Co., Ltd.
                    
	170
                  

                

            

            

              

Architects.

              

                  

                    
	Baker, S. E. W.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Bartley, E.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Bell, E.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Goldsbro', G. S.,
                    
	316
                  

                  

                    
	Keals, R. and Sons
                    
	316
                  

                  

                    
	Mahoney, E. and Sons
                    
	316
                  

                  

                    
	Wade, H. L.,
                    
	317
                  

                  

                    
	White, T. H.,
                    
	317
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, A. P.,
                    
	317
                  

                

            

            

              

Artists.

              

                  

                    
	Goldie, C. F.,
                    
	319
                  

                  

                    
	Steele, L. J.,
                    
	321
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, F.,
                    
	321
                  

                

            

            

              

Auctioneers and Valuators.

              

                  

                    
	Arthur, R. and Co.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Carr, R. C.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Davidge, W. T.,
                    
	311
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, Gabriel and Co.,
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Average Adjusters.

              

                  

                    
	Waymouth and Son
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Bakers.

              

                  

                    
	Barber, R.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Burton, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Clow Bros.,
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Everitt, W. B.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, G.,
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	King, T.,
                    
	324
                  

                  

                    
	McKeown, E.,
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, R.,
                    
	328
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, T.,
                    
	328
                  

                

            

            

              

Banks.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Savings
                    
	294–526
                  

                  

                    
	Bank of Australasia
                    
	293
                  

                  

                    
	Bank of New South Wales
                    
	293
                  

                  

                    
	Bank of New Zealand
                    
	294–526
                  

                  

                    
	National Bank of New Zealand
                    
	294–526
                  

                  

                    
	Union Bank of Aus., Ltd.,
                    
	294
                  

                

            

            

              

Barristers and Solicitors.

              

                  

                    
	Basley, G. W.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Baxter and Shrewsbury
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Beale and Beale
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Biss, N. L. H.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Blades, J.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Bloomfield, W. R.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Brock, A.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Brookfield and Son
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Bruce, W. E.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Buchanan, A.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Buddle, Button and Co.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Burton and Hammond
                    
	277
                  

                  

                    
	Calder and Goldwater
                    
	277
                  

                  

                    
	Coleman, W.,
                    
	277
                  

                  

                    
	Cooper, W.,
                    
	277
                  

                  

                    
	Devore and Cooper
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Dignan and Armstrong
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Dufaur and MacCormick
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Earl and Campbell
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Gillies and Colbeck
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Gittos, J. W.,
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Graham, J.,
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Griffiths, C. F.,
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Hanna, A.,
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Hesketh and Richmond
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson and Russel.
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Johnstone, G. M.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Keesing, M. R.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Kissling, T.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Laishley, R.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Lundon, J. R.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Lusk, R. B.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	McArthur, Dr. A.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	McGregor, M. G.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Mahony, E.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Napier and Fitzherbert
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Neumegen, W. M.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Oliphant and Battley
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	O'Meagher, J.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Palmer, J.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Parr, C. J.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Pilkington, A. G.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Reed, J. R.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Russell and Campbell
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Seth-Smith, H. G.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, F. W.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Stewart, J. W.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Thorne, W.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Tylden, C. R.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Vaile, P. A.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Whitaker and Baume
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Williamson, F. H.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Wynyard and Purchas
                    
	281
                  

                

            

            

              

Bath Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Fort, A. C.,
                    
	292
                  

                

            

            

              
Billiard and Bagatelle Table Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Barton, McGill and Co.,
                    
	358
                  

                

            

            

              

Biscuit Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Bycroft, Limited
                    
	408
                  

                  

                    
	Laurie, C. G.,
                    
	325
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, J. D. and Co.,
                    
	327
                  

                  

                    
	Tremain, J.,
                    
	327
                  

                

            

            

              

Blacksmiths and Farriers.

              

                  

                    
	Patterson, John
                    
	342
                  

                  

                    
	Phillips, H.,
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Boardinghouse-
Keepers.

              

                  

                    
	Carter, Mrs G.,
                    
	364
                  

                  

                    
	Cruickshank, Mrs
                    
	366
                  

                  

                    
	Scherff, Mrs
                    
	365
                  

                

            

            

              

Boilermakers.

              

                  

                    
	Bach, T. and Co.,
                    
	367
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, G. and Sons, Ltd.
                    
	370
                  

                  

                    
	McCoskrie and Son
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	Seagar Bros.
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Bookbinders, Machine Rulers, and Account Book Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Leighton, J. F. and Son.
                    
	405
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, A.,
                    
	406
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.,
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Booksellers, Publishers, and Stationers.

              

                  

                    
	Graham, A.,
                    
	405
                  

                  

                    
	Wldman and Leyell
                    
	407
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot and Shoe Makers, Importers and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Browne, E. C. and Co.
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Fleming, C. C.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Prosser, T.,
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Sexton, C. H.,
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Stone, S. and Co.,
                    
	384
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot and Shoe Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Blampied, P.,
                    
	519
                  

                  

                    
	Crocker, B.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Davy, H.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Kapai Boot Factory
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Lion Boot Factory
                    
	382
                  

                  

                    
	Nothern Boot and Shoe Mfg. Co., Ltd.
                    
	383
                  

                  

                    
	Prosser, T.,
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Schofield and Son
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Stone, S. and Co.,
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Trenwith, J.,
                    
	385
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot Upper Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Whittington, A. J.,
                    
	386
                  

                

            

            

              

Box Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Bagnall Bros. and Co., Ltd.
                    
	421
                  

                

            

            

              

Brewers and Maltsters.

              

                  

                    
	Campbell and Ehrenfried Co., Ltd.
                    
	329
                  

                  

                    
	Captain Cook Brewery (Moss Davis)
                    
	383
                  

                  

                    
	Great Northern Brewery, Ltd.
                    
	334
                  

                

            

            

              

Brokers—
Grain and Produce.

              

                  

                    
	Holmes and Grierson
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Macfarlane, J. B.,
                    
	398
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, A. H.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co., Ltd.
                    
	399
                  

                

            

            

              

Brokers—
Hotel.

              

                  

                    
	Barr Brown, R.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Davidge, W. T.,
                    
	311
                  

                

            

            

              

Brokers—Stock.

              

                  

                    
	Lennox, J. M.,
                    
	312
                  

                

            

            

              

Brokers—
Wool.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co., Ltd.
                    
	399
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                

            

            

              

Brush and Broom Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Kapai Corn Broom Co., Ld.
                    
	415
                  

                

            

            

              

Builders and Contractors.

              

                  

                    
	Brook., C. J.,
                    
	514
                  

                  

                    
	Grandison, A.,
                    
	337
                  

                  

                    
	Harris, F.
                    
	337
                  

                  

                    
	Hatcher, G.,
                    
	337
                  

                  

                    
	Holland, J. J.,
                    
	338
                  

                  

                    
	Hutchison, W. E.,
                    
	338


                  

                  
                  

                    
	Payne, J. J.,
                    
	338
                  

                  

                    
	Rhodes, G.,
                    
	338
                  

                

            

            

              

Building Societies.

              

                  

                    
	Auck. Co-op. Termin. Bdg.
                    
	356
                  

                

            

            

              

Butchers.

              

                  

                    
	Fenton and Co.,
                    
	388
                  

                  

                    
	Gray, G. H.,
                    
	388
                  

                  

                    
	Hayle Bros.
                    
	523
                  

                  

                    
	Hellaby, R. and W.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, W.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	MoElwain, G.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	Norgrove, C.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	Young, W.,
                    
	390
                  

                

            

            

              

Cabinetmakers and Furnishing Warehousemen.

              

                  

                    
	Lambourne, W.,
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	Tonson Garlick Co., Ltd.
                    
	359
                  

                

            

            

              

Cabinetmakers and Upholsterers.

              

                  

                    
	George Bros.,
                    
	358
                  

                  

                    
	Tonson Garlick Co., Ltd.
                    
	359
                  

                

            

            

              

Candied Peel Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Laurie, C. G.,
                    
	325
                  

                

            

            

              

Cap and Hat Manufactureres.

              

                  

                    
	Cooper, J. A.,
                    
	351
                  

                

            

            

              

Carriers.

              

                  

                    
	Auck. Forward. and Parcel Delivery Company
                    
	418
                  

                  

                    
	Cammell, G. S.,
                    
	418
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Winstone, W. and G.,
                    
	419
                  

                

            

            

              

Caterers.

              

                  

                    
	Clow Bros.,
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Everitt, W. B.,
                    
	323
                  

                

            

            

              

Chemists and Druggists.

              

                  

                    
	Aickin, G.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Cooper, F. J.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Crawford, T. A.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Edson, J.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Faulder, J.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Fenton, F. A.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Gilbert, S.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Hamilton Bros.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Haslett, J. A.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Hudson, J. H.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Jefferson, J. M.,
                    
	291
                  

                  

                    
	Kenderdine, A. G.,
                    
	291
                  

                  

                    
	Kenderdine and Kirkup
                    
	291
                  

                  

                    
	King, H.,
                    
	291
                  

                  

                    
	Lamb, A. S. J.,
                    
	292
                  

                  

                    
	Sharland, F. C.,
                    
	292
                  

                  

                    
	Sharland, W.,
                    
	292
                  

                

            

            

              

Chronometer Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Bartlett, A. G.,
                    
	420
                  

                

            

            

              

Clothiers.

              

                  

                    
	Fowlds, G.,
                    
	351
                  

                

            

            

              

Clothing Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Morran, J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                

            

            

              

Coachbuilders and Wheel-Wrights.

              

                  

                    
	Cousins and Atkin Carriage Factory
                    
	340
                  

                  

                    
	Cousins and Cousins
                    
	341
                  

                  

                    
	Flynn, D. and Co.,
                    
	341
                  

                  

                    
	Patterson, J.,
                    
	342
                  

                

            

            

              

Coal and Wood Merchants and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Duder, R. and R.,
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	Winstone, W. and G.,
                    
	419
                  

                

            

            

              

Coffee and Spice Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, Barrett and Co.,
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                

            

            

              

Commercial Travellers.

              

                  

                    
	Brookes, A. H.,
                    
	386
                  

                  

                    
	Christian, N.,
                    
	390
                  

                

            

            

              

Commission Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Carr, R. C.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Macfarlane, J. B.,
                    
	398
                  

                

            

            

              

Confectioners.

              

                  

                    
	Barber, R.
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Burton, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Clow Bros.
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Everitt, W. B.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, G.,
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	Jowers, Mrs E.,
                    
	324
                  

                  

                    
	King, T.,
                    
	324
                  

                  

                    
	Laurie, C. G.,
                    
	325
                  

                  

                    
	McKeown, E.,
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Marriott, J. W.,
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, J. D. and Co.,
                    
	327
                  

                  

                    
	Sarney, H. J.,
                    
	327
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, R.,
                    
	328
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, T.,
                    
	328
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, G. W.,
                    
	328
                  

                

            

            

              

Cycle Dealers, Importers and Experts.

              

                  

                    
	Dexter and Crozier
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	Reynolds, E. and Co.,
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	White, W. J.,
                    
	378
                  

                

            

            

              

Dairy Factories and Associations.

              

                  

                    
	Ambury, English and Co.,
                    
	344
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Dairy Association
                    
	345
                  

                

            

            

              

Dentists.

              

                  

                    
	Ballins, F. S.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Carter, A. M.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Chatfield, A. W.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Collins, A. C. H.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Colson, C.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Cox, E.,
                    
	288
                  

                  

                    
	Cox, H.,
                    
	288
                  

                  

                    
	Elkin, A. H.,
                    
	288
                  

                  

                    
	Hobbs, A. E.,
                    
	288–1018
                  

                  

                    
	Hooper, A. F.,
                    
	288
                  

                  

                    
	Hope, E.,
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Kempt and Bunby
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Knight, H. F.,
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Leatham, W. N.,
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Lonergan, T. A.,
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Maitland, A. G.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Martin, J.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Murray, G. P.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Owen, H.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Rylance, G. M.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Warren, G.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, W. H.,
                    
	290
                  

                

            

            

              

Deportment and Dancing.

              

                  

                    
	Bassett, F. C.,
                    
	264
                  

                

            

            

              

Drapers.

              

                  

                    
	McCullagh and Gower
                    
	349
                  

                  

                    
	McMaster and Shalders
                    
	349
                  

                  

                    
	Milne and Choyce
                    
	349
                  

                  

                    
	Smith and Caughey
                    
	349
                  

                

            

            

              
Dressmakers and Milliners.

              

                  

                    
	Milne and Choyce
                    
	349
                  

                

            

            

              

Dyers and Cleaners.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, D. and A.,
                    
	350
                  

                

            

            

              

Engineers—
Civil.

              

                  

                    
	Baker, S. E. W.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon, H. A.,
                    
	467
                  

                  

                    
	Stewart, J.,
                    
	316
                  

                

            

            

              

Engineers—
Electrical.

              

                  

                    
	Rich, F. A.,
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	Steuart and Fenn
                    
	374
                  

                

            

            

              

Engineers, Mechanical Founders, Etc.

              

                  

                    
	Chambers, J. and Son, Ltd.
                    
	368
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, J.,
                    
	523
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, G. and Sons, Ltd.
                    
	370
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson, F. and Co.
                    
	371
                  

                  

                    
	McCoskrie and Son
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	Masefield, T. T. and Co.
                    
	373
                  

                  

                    
	Seagar Bros.
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Engravers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                

            

            

              

Financial Institutions.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Coml. Exchange Co.
                    
	356
                  

                

            

            

              

Fish Curers.

              

                  

                    
	Knox, W.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	Reid. W.,
                    
	514
                  

                

            

            

              

Fishmongers.

              

                  

                    
	Reid, Mrs W.,
                    
	514
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, F.,
                    
	390
                  

                

            

            

              

Gas Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Auck. Gas Co., Ltd.
                    
	412
                  

                

            

            

              

General Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, Campbell and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Burns, J. and Co.
                    
	376
                  

                  

                    
	Campbell and Ehrenfried Co., Limited
                    
	329
                  

                  

                    
	Carr, Johnston and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Entrican, A. J. and Co.
                    
	396
                  

                  

                    
	Hayman, P. and Co.
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Heather, Roberton and Co.
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson and Macfarlane
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, H. B. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, A. H.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Stone Bros.
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

General Mining and Legal Managers, Mining Engineers, Etc.

              

                  

                    
	Argall, W. H.,
                    
	464
                  

                  

                    
	Armstrong, M. W.,
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Bewick, Moreing and Co.
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Cheal, P. E.,
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Endean, John
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Fleming, Malcolm
                    
	467
                  

                  

                    
	Galbraith, D. R. S.,
                    
	470
                  

                  

                    
	Gilfillan, H., jun.
                    
	464
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon, H. A.,
                    
	467
                  

                  

                    
	Gray, W.,
                    
	465
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor, C.,
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Harrison and Foster
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	Kelly, A. M. and F. V.,
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	McConell, Q. A.,
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	MacDonnell, D. G.,
                    
	464
                  

                  

                    
	Macky, S. C.,
                    
	465
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, S. H.,
                    
	465
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, G. C. W.,
                    
	465
                  

                  

                    
	Rich, F. A.,
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, H. M.,
                    
	469
                  

                

            

            

              

General Smiths.

              

                  

                    
	Seagar Bros.
                    
	373
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, W.,
                    
	375
                  

                

            

            

              

Grain Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Carr, Johnston and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Gunson, W. and Co.
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Laxon, Neill and Co.
                    
	409
                  

                

            

            

              

Grocers.

              

                  

                    
	Burton, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Doonin, T. W.,
                    
	408
                  

                  

                    
	Ellyett, A. J.,
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Peet, W. and J.,
                    
	410
                  

                  

                    
	Whitehead, F.,
                    
	410
                  

                  

                    
	Winn, W.,
                    
	411
                  

                

            

            

              

Habit-Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Murchie, M.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Possenniskie, H. L.,
                    
	354
                  

                

            

            

              

Hairdressers.

              

                  

                    
	Jamieson, J.,
                    
	526
                  

                

            

            

              

Ham and Bacon Curers.

              

                  

                    
	Adam, J. and Co.
                    
	387
                  

                

            

            

              

Hardware Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Burns, J. and Co.
                    
	376
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, E. and Co.,
                    
	377
                  

                

            

            

              

Hatters and Mercers.

              

                  

                    
	Browne, E. C. and Co.
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Potter, W. H.,
                    
	354
                  

                

            

            

              

Hotels.

              

                  

                    
	Central
                    
	361
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor
                    
	362
                  

                  

                    
	Naval and Family
                    
	363
                  

                  

                    
	Royal Mail
                    
	363
                  

                  

                    
	Thanies
                    
	364
                  

                

            

            

              

Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, Oram, and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Abe. Deykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, Barrett and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Cash, E.,
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Chambers, J. and Son, Ltd.
                    
	368
                  

                  

                    
	Fowlds, G.,
                    
	351
                  

                  

                    
	Heather, Roberton and Co.
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Hilton, G. P.,
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Hooton, J. P.,
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Hopkins, R. H.,
                    
	398
                  

                  

                    
	Leighton, J. F. and Son
                    
	405
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	McCoskire and Son
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	McCullagh and Gower
                    
	349
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, L. D. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, E. and Co.
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	Sargood, Son and Ewen
                    
	399
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Seegner, Langguth and Co.
                    
	399
                  

                  

                    
	Webster, J. D.,
                    
	401
                  

                  

                    
	Whittington, A. J.,
                    
	386
                  

                  

                    
	Wiseman, J. and Son
                    
	386
                  

                

            

            

              

Importers of Woollen and Tailors' 
Trimmings.

              

                  

                    
	Hodgson, J.,
                    
	397
                  

                

            

            

              

Indent Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, Gabriel and Co.
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Accident.

              

                  

                    
	New Zealand
                    
	302
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Fire.

              

                  

                    
	Alliance
                    
	296–1018
                  

                  

                    
	Australian Alliance
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	Guardian
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	Imperial
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	Law, Union and Crown
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	Liverpool and London and Globe
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	London and Lancashire
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Magdeburg
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Manchester
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	North Bri. and Mercantile
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Northern
                    
	297


                  

                  
                  

                    
	North German
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Norwich Union
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Phœnix
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Royal
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Royal Exchange
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Sun
                    
	297
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies —
Fire and Marine.

              

                  

                    
	Commercial Union
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	National
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	New Zealand
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	North Queensland
                    
	298
                  

                  

                    
	South British
                    
	298
                  

                  

                    
	Standard
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	United
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Victoria
                    
	300
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Life.

              

                  

                    
	Austral. Mut. Provident
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Austral. Widows' Fund
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	Citizens'
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	Colonial Mutual
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	Equitable
                    
	301–1018
                  

                  

                    
	Mutual
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	National Mutual
                    
	302
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Government
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	Provident and Industrial
                    
	302
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Marine.

              

                  

                    
	British and Foreign
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Canton
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	China Traders'
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Marine
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Ocean Acci. and Guarantee
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Straits
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Thames and Mersey
                    
	300
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Plate Glass.

              

                  

                    
	New Zealand
                    
	302
                  

                

            

            

              

Iron and Brass Founders.

              

                  

                    
	Collings, C. and A.,
                    
	369
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, G. and Sons, Ltd.
                    
	370
                  

                  

                    
	McCoskrie and Son
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	Masefield, T. T. and Co.
                    
	373
                  

                  

                    
	Seagar Bros.
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Iron Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Briscoe and Co., Limited
                    
	376
                  

                  

                    
	Carr, Johnston and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                

            

            

              

Ironmongers.

              

                  

                    
	Briscoe and Co., Limited
                    
	376
                  

                  

                    
	Lambourne, W.,
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, E. and Co.
                    
	377
                  

                

            

            

              

Iron Workers.

              

                  

                    
	Broady, J. and Co.
                    
	367
                  

                  

                    
	Masefield, T. T. and Co.
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Jam and Preserve Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Laurie, C. G.,
                    
	325
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Tyer, A. and Son
                    
	416
                  

                

            

            

              

Kauri Gum Merchants and Brokers.

              

                  

                    
	Arnold, Cheney and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Bond and Bell
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Carr, Johnston and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Edmonds, H.,
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Garlick and Lyon
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Gilfillan, J. D. and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Heather, A.,
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson, J. W.,
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Holmes and Grierson
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Hutchinson, C. J. and Co.
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Miller, Henry and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, H. B. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, A. H.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, L. D. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Patterson, G. W. S.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Whitley, W. S.,
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, P. and Co.
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Winterbourne, S. and Co.
                    
	394
                  

                

            

            

              

Ladies' 
Underclothing Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Davey and Orpwood
                    
	351
                  

                

            

            

              

Lapidists.

              

                  

                    
	Larsen, N. F. B.,
                    
	420
                  

                

            

            

              

Laundries.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Steam Laundry
                    
	379
                  

                  

                    
	Wigg, T.,
                    
	379
                  

                

            

            

              

Law Stationers.

              

                  

                    
	White, H.,
                    
	282
                  

                

            

            

              

Leather Dressers.

              

                  

                    
	Sutherland, W. and Co.
                    
	384
                  

                

            

            

              

Leather and Grindery Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Fleming, C. C.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Wiseman, J. and Son
                    
	386
                  

                

            

            

              

Lime Merchants and Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, J. and Co.
                    
	402
                  

                

            

            

              

Livery Stable Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Martin, J.,
                    
	515
                  

                  

                    
	Tanner, H. C. N.,
                    
	419
                  

                

            

            

              

Manufacturing Stationers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Brown and Stewart
                    
	403
                  

                

            

            

              

Meat Preserving and Freezing Companies.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Freezing Works
                    
	387
                  

                

            

            

              

Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Farmers' Co-op. Society, Limited
                    
	357
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co.
                    
	399
                  

                

            

            

              

Millers and Grain Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Bycroft, Limited
                    
	408
                  

                  

                    
	Northern Roller Mill. Co.
                    
	409
                  

                

            

            

              

Mine Owners.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, F. W.,
                    
	463
                  

                

            

            

              

Mortgage and Loan Companies.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Mort. Loan and Dis. Bank
                    
	357
                  

                  

                    
	North Est. Agency and Fin. Co., Ltd.
                    
	356
                  

                

            

            

              
Musical Instrument Sellers and Importers

              

                  

                    
	Brit. and Cont. Piano Co.
                    
	265
                  

                  

                    
	Carter, T. E.,
                    
	266
                  

                  

                    
	Lond. and Berl. Piano Co.
                    
	265
                  

                  

                    
	Squire, Byron and Son
                    
	266
                  

                

            

            

              

Newspapers.

              

                  

                    
	“Auckland Star”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“Auckland Weekly News”
                    
	269
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Farmer”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Graphic”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Herald”
                    
	269
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Illus. Sport. and Dramatic Review”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Primitive Methodist”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“Observer”
                    
	271
                  

                

            

            

              

Oil and Colour Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Bennett, M. J.,
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, A. H.,
                    
	347
                  

                  

                    
	Phillips, W. and Son
                    
	348
                  

                  

                    
	Tapper, J. and C.,
                    
	514
                  

                

            

            

              

Oilskin Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Downs, W. H.,
                    
	415
                  

                

            

            

              

Omnibus and Cab Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Martin, J.,
                    
	515
                  

                

            

            

              

Opticians.

              

                  

                    
	Haslett, J. A.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Howden, J.,
                    
	420
                  

                

            

            

              

Outfitters.

              

                  

                    
	Cash, E.,
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Foster, J. and Co.
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Kemp, B. J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                  

                    
	Sankey, H.,
                    
	354
                  

                

            

            

              

Painters, Glaziers and Decorators.

              

                  

                    
	Bennett, M. J.,
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Caston, J. R.,
                    
	518
                  

                  

                    
	Fricker and Sons
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Hansen, C. C.,
                    
	347
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson, J.,
                    
	347
                  

                  

                    
	Rowley, J. C.
                    
	523
                  

                  

                    
	Simpson, D. McG.,
                    
	348
                  

                  

                    
	Tapper, J. and C.,
                    
	514
                  

                

            

            

              

Paper Bag Makers and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Field, J. H.,
                    
	405
                  

                

            

            

              

Paper Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Brown and Stewart
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Given, A. and Co.
                    
	405
                  

                

            

            

              

Photographers.

              

                  

                    
	Bartlett, W. H.,
                    
	318–1020
                  

                  

                    
	Hanna, J. R.,
                    
	318
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, J. C.,
                    
	319
                  

                

            

            

              

Physicians and Surgeons.

              

                  

                    
	Bakewell, R. H.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Bayntun, F. T.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Beale, B. C.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Bedford, R.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Campbell, J. L.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Coates, F. W.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Coom, R.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Darby, W. J.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Girdler, G. T.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Goldie, W. H.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Grant, N. McK.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	Guinness, W. M. G.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	Haines, H.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	Hooper, J. H.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	King, F. W. R. J.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	Knight, A. O.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, T. H.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Lindsay, P. A.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Marsack, A. E.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Moir, J.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Moir, P.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Orpen, H.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Parkes, W. H.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Purchas, A. C.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Reid, S. B.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Roberton, E.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Sharman, E. W.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Somerville, J. E. W.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Walker, H.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Watson, C. G.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Wilkins, J.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, T. O.,
                    
	286
                  

                  

                    
	Wine, H. C.,
                    
	286
                  

                  

                    
	Woodward, A.,
                    
	286
                  

                

            

            

              

Picture Framers and Gilders.

              

                  

                    
	Hansen, C. C.,
                    
	347
                  

                  

                    
	Simpson, D. McG.,
                    
	348
                  

                

            

            

              

Plumbers and Gasfitters.

              

                  

                    
	Angus, J. S.,
                    
	519
                  

                  

                    
	Tudehope, R.,
                    
	375
                  

                

            

            

              

Potters, Tile, and Brick and Drain Pipe Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Duder, R. and R.,
                    
	533
                  

                

            

            

              

Printers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Collins, W. Sons and Co.
                    
	404
                  

                  

                    
	Field, J. H.,
                    
	405
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, A.,
                    
	406
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Private School Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Giles, T. H.,
                    
	213
                  

                  

                    
	Hull, Miss
                    
	211
                  

                  

                    
	Malcolm, W.,
                    
	213
                  

                  

                    
	Moore-Jones, Mrs S. A. M.,
                    
	211
                  

                

            

            

              

Process Engravers.

              

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Produce Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Gunson, W. and Co.
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Laxon, Neill and Co.
                    
	409
                  

                

            

            

              

Provision Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Ellyett, A. J.
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Duder, R. and R.,
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	Winn, W.,
                    
	411
                  

                

            

            

              

Publishers.

              

                  

                    
	Collins, W. Sons and Co.
                    
	404
                  

                  

                    
	Hescott, G.,
                    
	407
                  

                

            

            

              

Rubber Stamp Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Saddlers, Harnessmakers, and Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Fleming, C. C.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Knight, J. I.
                    
	382
                  

                  

                    
	Wallis and Caley
                    
	385
                  

                  

                    
	Wiseman, J. and Son
                    
	386
                  

                

            

            

              

Sculptors and Monumental Masons.

              

                  

                    
	Harris, F.,
                    
	337
                  

                

            

            

              

Seedsmen, Florists and Nurserymen.

              

                  

                    
	Frick, W.,
                    
	400
                  

                  

                    
	Hay, D. and Son
                    
	522
                  

                  

                    
	McIndoe, W.,
                    
	515
                  

                  

                    
	Parrish, M.,
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson Bros.
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Yates, Arthur and Co.
                    
	400
                  

                

            

            

              

Sewing Machine Experts and Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Thompson Bros, and Co.
                    
	378
                  

                

            

            

              

Sharebrokers.

              

                  

                    
	Barr Brown, R.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Jacson, J.,
                    
	469
                  

                  

                    
	Lennox, J. M.,
                    
	312
                  

                

            

            


            

              

Shipbuilders, Boatbuilders, Etc.

              

                  

                    
	Bailey, C.,
                    
	454
                  

                  

                    
	Bailey and Lowe
                    
	453
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, W. H.,
                    
	534
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson and Spraggon
                    
	455
                  

                  

                    
	Logan Bros.
                    
	456
                  

                  

                    
	Logan, R., Sen.
                    
	457
                  

                  

                    
	Nicol, G. T.,
                    
	458
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipbrokers.

              

                  

                    
	Stone Bros.
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Ship Chandlers.

              

                  

                    
	Anderson, H. F. and Co.
                    
	376
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipping Companies and Shipowners.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Devonport Steam Ferry Co.
                    
	451
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Shipping Co., Ltd.
                    
	444
                  

                  

                    
	Niccol, G. T.,
                    
	458
                  

                  

                    
	Northern Steamship, Ltd.
                    
	444
                  

                  

                    
	Union S. Co. of N.Z. Ltd.
                    
	440
                  

                

            

            

              

Shirt Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Cambridge S. and Clothing Factory
                    
	350
                  

                  

                    
	Kemp, B. J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                  

                    
	Seabrook, H. H.,
                    
	352
                  

                

            

            

              

Signwriters.

              

                  

                    
	Bennett, M. J.,
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Fricker and Sons
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Hansen, C. C.,
                    
	347
                  

                

            

            

              

Stereotypers.

              

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Stock Exchange.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Stock Exchange
                    
	356
                  

                

            

            

              

Storekeepers—
General.

              

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson
                    
	392
                  

                

            

            

              

Straw Hat Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Plummer, C. B.,
                    
	416
                  

                

            

            

              

Stock Salesmen.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co., Ltd.
                    
	399
                  

                

            

            

              

Stove and Range Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Broady, J. and Co.
                    
	367
                  

                  

                    
	Handley, C.,
                    
	371
                  

                  

                    
	Hyauiason. D.,
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	Nicholls, R.,
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Stud Owners.

              

                  

                    
	Marshall, L.,
                    
	520
                  

                

            

            

              

Sugar Refiners.

              

                  

                    
	Col. Sugar Refining Co.
                    
	414
                  

                

            

            

              

Surveyors—
Building.

              

                  

                    
	Wade, H. L.,
                    
	317
                  

                

            

            

              

Surveyors and Mining Surveyors.

              

                  

                    
	Baker, S. E. W.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Cheal, P. E.,
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Harrison and Foster
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, H. M.,
                    
	469
                  

                

            

            

              

Tailors.

              

                  

                    
	Acme Tailoring Company
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Cash, E.,
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Davey and Son
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Erickson, A.,
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Foster, J. and Co.
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Hogan, J.,
                    
	514
                  

                  

                    
	Kemp, B. J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                  

                    
	Murchie, M.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Possnniskie, H. L.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Potter, W. H.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Sankey, H.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Swales, R. H.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, A.,
                    
	355
                  

                

            

            

              
Tanners and Fellmongers

              

                  

                    
	Astley and Son
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Ireland Bros.
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Sutherland, W. and Co.
                    
	384
                  

                

            

            

              

Teachers of Music—Instrumental and Vocal.

              

                  

                    
	Adams, Miss J. M.,
                    
	258
                  

                  

                    
	Baker, Miss I.,
                    
	258
                  

                  

                    
	Bennett, J. F.,
                    
	259
                  

                  

                    
	Bosworth, T. H.,
                    
	259
                  

                  

                    
	Boult A.,
                    
	259
                  

                  

                    
	Burke, E. J.,
                    
	259
                  

                  

                    
	Bridgewater, Miss J. E.,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	Carter, T. E.,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	Chambers, Madam,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	Coates, Mrs A.,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	England, W. J.,
                    
	26
                  

                  

                    
	Finer, T. W.,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	Gribbin, Miss G.,
                    
	261
                  

                  

                    
	Harding, Miss F.,
                    
	261
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, Mrs
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, S.,
                    
	261
                  

                  

                    
	Law, Miss A. E.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	Lester, Miss F.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	McFarlane, C.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	McMaster, Miss I.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	Naujoks, Herr C.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	Paque, G. A.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Partridge, A. A.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Player, Miss A. A.,
                    
	293
                  

                  

                    
	Rimmer, Miss A.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Thomas, W. E.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Towsey, A.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Chambers, C.,
                    
	264
                  

                  

                    
	Verrall, Miss A. H.,
                    
	264
                  

                

            

            

              

Tea Merchants and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, Barrett and Co.
                    
	295
                  

                  

                    
	Doonin, T. W.
                    
	408
                  

                  

                    
	Peet, W. and J.,
                    
	410
                  

                  

                    
	Whitehead, F.,
                    
	410
                  

                

            

            

              

Timber Merchants and Sawmillers.

              

                  

                    
	Bagnall Bros. and Co.
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Goldie, D.,
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Kauri Timber Company
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Macklow Bros.
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Mander and Bradley
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co.,
                    
	393–422
                  

                  

                    
	Parker, Lamb and Co.,
                    
	122
                  

                

            

            

              

Tinsmiths.

              

                  

                    
	Angus, J. S.,
                    
	519
                  

                  

                    
	Harvey and Sons
                    
	371
                  

                

            

            

              

Tobacconists.

              

                  

                    
	Jamieson, J.,
                    
	526
                  

                

            

            

              

Tramway Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Electric Tramways Company
                    
	418
                  

                

            

            

              

Undertakers.

              

                  

                    
	Little, C.,
                    
	358
                  

                

            

            

              

Warehousemen.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, Oram and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Sargood Son and Ewen
                    
	399
                  

                

            

            

              

Warehousemen and Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Clark, Archibald and Sons, Limited,
                    
	396
                  

                  

                    
	Macky, Logan, Steen, and Co.
                    
	398
                  

                

            

            

              

Watchmakers and Jewellers.

              

                  

                    
	Bartlett, A. G.,
                    
	420
                  

                  

                    
	Howden, J.,
                    
	420
                  

                  

                    
	Larsen, N. F. B.,
                    
	420
                  

                  

                    
	Maud, W.,
                    
	420
                  

                  

                    
	Slaney, W.,
                    
	420
                  

                

            

            

              

Waterproof Garment Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Belchamber and Co.
                    
	350
                  

                  

                    
	Morran, J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                

            

            

              

Wholesale Chemists and Druggists.

              

                  

                    
	Sharland and Co., Ltd.,
                    
	292
                  

                

            

            

              

Wholesale Stationers and Fancy Goods Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.,
                    
	403
                  

                

            

            

              
Wine and Spirit Merchants

              

                  

                    
	Hipkins and Coutts
                    
	385
                  

                

            

            

              
Woodware Manufacturers

              

                  

                    
	Murdoch, C. P. and Sons
                    
	422
                  

                

            

          

          

            

Country.

            

              

Accountants and Auditors.

              

                  

                    
	Alexander, G. E., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Coleman, J., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, H. M., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukohu
                    
	620
                  

                  

                    
	Thom, P., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                

            

            

              

Aerated Water and Cordial Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Barry, D. J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Hally, G. J., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Hoey, S., Whangarei
                    
	548
                  

                  

                    
	Innes, C. L. and Co., Hamilton
                    
	747
                  

                  

                    
	Lindley, J., Te Kopuru
                    
	639
                  

                  

                    
	Lucas, J. A., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Menzies and Co., Hamilton
                    
	748-830-847-881-922
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Commission.

              

                  

                    
	Adair, W., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Alexander, G. E., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Bennettland Sherratt, Gis.
                    
	994
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, J. A., Tauranga
                    
	934
                  

                  

                    
	Gillespie and Son, Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Griffiths, D., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, W., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, C. F., Gisborne
                    
	977
                  

                  

                    
	Loughlin, J. M., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	McFadyen, J. M. Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, H. M., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Reid. W. D., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Rockliff, J. B., Coromandel
                    
	490
                  

                  

                    
	Seddon, R., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Stubbs and Co., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Customs, Shipping, and Forwarding.

              

                  

                    
	Gillespie and Son, Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Kennedy and Evans, and Kennedy, Evans and Co., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Sheridan and Co., Gis.
                    
	983
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Cycle.

              

                  

                    
	Oldfield J. Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
General.

              

                  

                    
	Fordyce, S. E., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Hirst, S. L., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukohu
                    
	620
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Insurance.

              

                  

                    
	Adair, W., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, J. A., Tauranga
                    
	934
                  

                  

                    
	Coleman, J., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Garton, W., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Kennedy and Evans, an Kennedy, Evans, and Co., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, C. F., Gisborne
                    
	977
                  

                  

                    
	Reid, W. D., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Rossiter, S. T., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Land and Estate.

              

                  

                    
	Alexander, G. E., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Aspinall, J., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, J. A., Tauranga
                    
	934
                  

                  

                    
	Coleman, J., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Edgecumbe, J. S., Hamilton W.
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Gooch, R., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Griffiths, D., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, A. F., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, H. M., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Roche, H. Ochaupo
                    
	720
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukohu
                    
	620
                  

                  

                    
	Wyllie and Mason, Gis.
                    
	984
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Mining.

              

                  

                    
	Rockliff, J. B., Coromandel
                    
	490
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Press.

              

                  

                    
	Farrelly, R. G., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Stock and Station.

              

                  

                    
	Dickeson, G. F., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                  

                    
	McNicol and Co., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, H. M., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Williams and Kettle, Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	996
                  

                

            

            

              
Apiarists

              

                  

                    
	Hobbs, J. C., Tauwhare
                    
	762
                  

                  

                    
	Stevenson, G., Waiohika
                    
	1009
                  

                

            

            

              

Architects.

              

                  

                    
	Burrows, A. W., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Finneran, W. P., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, A., Onehunga
                    
	652
                  

                  

                    
	Quigley, W. J., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Tetley, W., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                

            

            

              

Auctioneers.

              

                  

                    
	Hunter, W. J., Ohaupo
                    
	720
                  

                  

                    
	McGregor, R. R., Thames
                    
	878
                  

                  

                    
	McNicol and Co., Hamilton
                    
	746–772
                  

                  

                    
	Raymond, W. T., Totorua
                    
	806–934
                  

                  

                    
	Ross, A. Y., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Rountree, J., Te Kuiti
                    
	738
                  

                  

                    
	Seddon, R., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukchu
                    
	620
                  

                  

                    
	Welham, A. R., Aratapu
                    
	629
                  

                  

                    
	Wyllie and Mason, Gis.
                    
	984
                  

                

            

            

              
Bakers

              

                  

                    
	Bromwich, E., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Bygrave, S. L., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Clifford, H. and J., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Dibsell, W., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Gleeson, C., Huntly
                    
	708
                  

                  

                    
	Gleeson and Sons, Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                  

                    
	Hav. J. C., Kirikiriroa
                    
	754


                  

                  
                  

                    
	Horne, J. T., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Hunter, M. and S., Mercer
                    
	703
                  

                  

                    
	Irvine, J., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, C., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Learmouth, W., Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Lees, T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	538
                  

                  

                    
	Lever, J., Waikino
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	McWatters, W. J., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Manson, W., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey, Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Newdick, J., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Oatridge, F. J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, W. E., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, H. S., Takapuna
                    
	537
                  

                  

                    
	Samson, T., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Saulbrey, T. L., Cambridge
                    
	772
                  

                  

                    
	Steven, Mrs M. A., Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                

            

            

              

Barristers and Solicitors.

              

                  

                    
	Cave, C. W., Cambridge
                    
	771
                  

                  

                    
	Clendon, E. J., Thames
                    
	875
                  

                  

                    
	Clendon and Mueller, Paeroa
                    
	845
                  

                  

                    
	Day, V. G., Thames
                    
	876
                  

                  

                    
	De Lautour, C. A., Gis.
                    
	980
                  

                  

                    
	Eilliott, H. E., Opotiki
                    
	947
                  

                  

                    
	Field, E. T., Whangarei
                    
	546
                  

                  

                    
	Finn, H. J., Gisborne
                    
	980
                  

                  

                    
	Haslett, H. M., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, W. M. Paeroa
                    
	845
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, R. N., Gisborne
                    
	980
                  

                  

                    
	Killen, J. M., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Lysnar, W. D., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	McVeagh, J., Paeroa
                    
	845
                  

                  

                    
	Miller and Porritt, Paeroa
                    
	845
                  

                  

                    
	Miller and Son, Thames
                    
	876
                  

                  

                    
	Moss, E. J. B., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Nolan, J. W., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	O'Neill, L., Hamilton
                    
	745
                  

                  

                    
	Reed, V. H., Kawakawa
                    
	569
                  

                  

                    
	Rees Bros., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Sievwright, W. Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Steadman, T. H., Whangar
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Swarbrick, A., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                

            

            

              

Bath Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Slevin, J., Waihi
                    
	926
                  

                  

                    
	Taylor, J. J., Kamo
                    
	557
                  

                

            

            

              

Biscuit Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                

            

            

              

Blacksmiths.

              

                  

                    
	Bell, H., Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                  

                    
	Benton, W. P., Tirau
                    
	795
                  

                  

                    
	Brennan, J., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Corbett, W. H., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Ellis, W. Paeroa
                    
	847–905
                  

                  

                    
	Gemmill, T., Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                  

                    
	Hedley, J. W., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Loughter, H. J., Waerenga-a-hika
                    
	1008
                  

                  

                    
	McInnes, M., Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	McMillan, D., Ormond
                    
	953
                  

                  

                    
	Nisbet, W. A., Kaeo
                    
	587
                  

                  

                    
	Paddy, W. J., Ngaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                  

                    
	Purdy, J., Kaikohe
                    
	575
                  

                  

                    
	Thomson, J., Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                  

                    
	Wallace, D. M., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Warren, H., Gisborne
                    
	992
                  

                  

                    
	West, J., Thames
                    
	888
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, T., Kihikihi
                    
	733
                  

                

            

            

              

Boardinghouse-Keepers.

              

                  

                    
	Berghan, Mrs J., Ahipara
                    
	604
                  

                  

                    
	Brent, S. T., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Cross, J., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Davys and Son, Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Goodwin, D., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon, Mrs. Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Hazard, W., Peria
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	Irvine, J., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Kerr, R. J., Matamata
                    
	792
                  

                  

                    
	McLeed, D. M., Waipu
                    
	541
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, A., Opua
                    
	570
                  

                  

                    
	Peace, J. G., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Pickett, W. C., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, C. H., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Woolcock, Mrs, Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                

            

            

              

Booksellers and Stationers.

              

                  

                    
	Burra, R., Thames
                    
	890
                  

                  

                    
	Bushnell, H. J., Gisborne
                    
	996
                  

                  

                    
	Cowdell, J. T., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Crawford and Son, Gis.
                    
	996
                  

                  

                    
	Farrelly, R. G., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, G. J., Onehunga
                    
	654
                  

                  

                    
	Lawn, Mrs H. A., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, J., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Nodder, J., Thames
                    
	890
                  

                  

                    
	Oldfield, J., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                

            

            

              

Bone Millers.

              

                  

                    
	Madill and Collier, Tuakau
                    
	691
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot and Shoemakers, Importers and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Buckley, R., Thames
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Courtney, A. C., Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Fordyce, S. E., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Halliday, J., Kaeo
                    
	587
                  

                  

                    
	McLeay, E. A., Waibi
                    
	924
                  

                  

                    
	May, J. W., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Rowe, W. and Co., Waitekauri
                    
	914–916
                  

                  

                    
	Salmon, D., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Scott, R., Thames
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Searle Bros., Paeroa
                    
	850
                  

                  

                    
	Stanton, J., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot and Shoe Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Dymock, H., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Onehunga Boot Factory
                    
	653
                  

                

            

            

              

Brewers and Maltsters.

              

                  

                    
	Barry, D. J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Goldfields Brewery, Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Innes, C. L. and Co., Hamil.
                    
	747
                  

                

            

            

              

Builders and Contractors.

              

                  

                    
	Aspinall, J., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Bell, R. M. Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                  

                    
	Chappell, F., Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Clayton Bros., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Donovan, T., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, T., Hamilton
                    
	747
                  

                  

                    
	Forrest, W., Paeroa
                    
	854
                  

                  

                    
	Gray, W. J., Katikati
                    
	929
                  

                  

                    
	Hay, W. M., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                  

                    
	Hunt, T. W., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, A., Onehunga
                    
	652
                  

                  

                    
	Keys, J. J., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Kusabs Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Mackrell and Colley, Gis.
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Mansill, C. H., Mangawhare
                    
	625
                  

                  

                    
	Maxted and Co., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Mills, J., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Rossiler, S. T., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Sloane, T. H., Roturua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Spiers, W. A., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Stafford, F., Gisborne
                    
	1000
                  

                  

                    
	Steele Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Twentyman, R., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                

            

            

              

Building and Loan Societies.

              

                  

                    
	Gisborne Co-operative
                    
	988
                  

                  

                    
	Gisborne Permanent
                    
	989
                  

                  

                    
	Thames Land, Building and Investment
                    
	884
                  

                

            

            

              

Butchers.

              

                  

                    
	Bettley, J., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, G., Tuakau
                    
	691
                  

                  

                    
	Buroughs, W. and J., Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Colebrooke, G., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Collings, C. A., Waitekauri
                    
	914
                  

                  

                    
	Cotter, R. J., Waikino
                    
	910–914
                  

                  

                    
	Gibson, F. R., Te Awamutu
                    
	728
                  

                  

                    
	Graves, G. W., Ngaruawahia
                    
	715
                  

                  

                    
	Halliwell Bros., Kohukohu
                    
	621
                  

                  

                    
	Hill, R., Gisborne
                    
	993
                  

                  

                    
	Horwood, G. T., Huntly
                    
	709
                  

                  

                    
	Lees. T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	McConnell and Millington, Gisborne
                    
	993
                  

                  

                    
	Mace, C. E., Waitekauri
                    
	914
                  

                  

                    
	Maynard, J., Gisborne
                    
	993
                  

                  

                    
	Ott, F., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                  

                    
	Pyne, C. S., Thames
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Qualtrough, T., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, W. A., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Ross, J., J., Mamaku
                    
	797
                  

                  

                    
	Roulston Bros., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	Rowe, J., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Scelley, D., Waharoa
                    
	790
                  

                  

                    
	Tetley, J. W., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                  

                    
	Vuglar, G., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                  

                    
	Vuglar, T. P., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Walls, J., Paeroa
                    
	950
                  

                  

                    
	Walsh, J. H., Thames
                    
	890
                  

                  

                    
	Waring, A. H., Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                  

                    
	Wells, T. G., Thames
                    
	890
                  

                  

                    
	Wight, A. E., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                

            

            

              

Cabinetmakers and Upholsterers.

              

                  

                    
	Attwood, W. N., Gisborne
                    
	989
                  

                  

                    
	Bane Bros., Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Dann, F., Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Reynolds, E. G. A., Gis.
                    
	989
                  

                  

                    
	Townley, J., Gisborne
                    
	989
                  

                

            

            

              

Carpenters.

              

                  

                    
	Donovan, T., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                  

                    
	Watts, A., Hamilton
                    
	748
                  

                

            

            

              

Carriers.

              

                  

                    
	Freeman. T., Lichfield
                    
	797
                  

                  

                    
	Goodson, F., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Kennedy and Evans, and Kennedy and Evans, and Co., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	McLennan and Hope, Paeroa
                    
	852–915
                  

                  

                    
	Sawyer, A., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                

            

            

              

Caterers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                

            

            

              

Cement Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Portland Cement Co., Whangarei
                    
	550
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, J. and Co., Warkworth
                    
	541
                  

                

            

            

              

Chemists and Druggists.

              

                  

                    
	Cadman, J. C. Huntly
                    
	707
                  

                  

                    
	De Castro, G. P., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Denby, G. Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, W., Paeroa
                    
	846–905
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, J. W., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Hood, T., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Kane, H., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Little, W., Cambridge
                    
	772
                  

                  

                    
	Manning, E., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Maxwell, A. A., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Prinn, R. W., Taupo
                    
	818
                  

                  

                    
	Ray, F. J., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Robins, W., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Robson, G., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, T., Onehunga
                    
	652
                  

                  

                    
	Smyth, A. C., Pukekohe
                    
	672
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, R., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Stephenson, F., Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Tennent, C. F. E., Waitekauri
                    
	912
                  

                

            

            

              

Coachbuilders.

              

                  

                    
	Brennan, J., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Corbett, W. H., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Ellis, W. J., Paearoa
                    
	847–905
                  

                  

                    
	Ferguson, J., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Goodwin, D., Pukekohe
                    
	672
                  

                  

                    
	Hedley, J. W., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Ormond, J. H., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Spooner, G. and W., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Vant, W., Nagaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                  

                    
	Wallace, D. M., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                

            

            

              

Coach and Livery Stable Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Des Barres, F. S., Gis.
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Gallagher, E., Te Aroha
                    
	832
                  

                  

                    
	Gilman, A. C., Tauranga
                    
	936
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon Bros., Paeroa
                    
	852
                  

                  

                    
	Harwood and Co., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	McKenzie, D., Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	McLeod, D. M., Waipu
                    
	541
                  

                  

                    
	Ohinemuri Coaching Co., Paeroa
                    
	852-907-926
                  

                  

                    
	Redstone, J. R., Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Rickit and Co., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, E. and Co., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Steven, Mrs M. A., Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                  

                    
	Teasdale, J. B., Te Awamutu
                    
	729
                  

                  

                    
	Thomson, A. and Co., Waihi
                    
	926
                  

                

            

            

              

Coal Companies.

              

                  

                    
	Hikurangi
                    
	560
                  

                  

                    
	Taupiri Coal Mines, Ltd.
                    
	708
                  

                

            

            

              

Coal Mine Managers.

              

                  

                    
	Harrison, J., Huntly
                    
	709
                  

                

            

            

              

Coal and Wood Merchants And Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Baine, P., Te Aroha
                    
	832
                  

                  

                    
	Oxenham and Somervell, Makauri
                    
	1010
                  

                

            

            

              
Collectors of Curios

              

                  

                    
	Lakin, J. H., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                

            

            

              

Commercial Travellers.

              

                  

                    
	Rendall, J., Hamilton
                    
	747
                  

                

            

            

              
Confectioners

              

                  

                    
	Bromwich, E., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Gleeson, C., Huntly
                    
	708
                  

                  

                    
	Gleeson and Sons, Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, W., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                  

                    
	Hay, J. C., Kirikiriroa
                    
	754
                  

                  

                    
	Horne, J. T., Hamilton W.
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Irvine, J., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, C., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Learmouth, W., Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Lever, J., Waikino
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey, Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	New dick, J., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Oatridge, F. J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, W. E., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, H. S., Takapuna
                    
	537
                  

                  

                    
	Saulbrey, T. L., Cambridge
                    
	772
                  

                

            

            

              

Contractors.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, W. J., Dargaville
                    
	623
                  

                  

                    
	Day, C. G. S., Cambridge
                    
	776
                  

                  

                    
	Dickey, N., Paeroa
                    
	855
                  

                  

                    
	McLennan and Hope, Paeroa
                    
	852–915
                  

                  

                    
	Nisbet, A., Kaeo
                    
	587
                  

                

            

            

              
Cycle Repairers

              

                  

                    
	Hammond, J. E., Hamilton West
                    
	749
                  

                

            

            

              

Dairy Factories and Creameries.

              

                  

                    
	Cambridge (Hautapu)
                    
	763


                  

                  
                  

                    
	Gordon
                    
	837
                  

                  

                    
	Karapiro
                    
	779
                  

                  

                    
	Kia Ora, Makaraka
                    
	1003
                  

                  

                    
	Kihikihi
                    
	733
                  

                  

                    
	Kirikiriroa
                    
	754
                  

                  

                    
	Manawaru
                    
	836
                  

                  

                    
	Maungatawhiri Valley
                    
	700
                  

                  

                    
	Mercer
                    
	703
                  

                  

                    
	Newstead Station
                    
	757
                  

                  

                    
	Ngaruawahia
                    
	715
                  

                  

                    
	Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Paparata
                    
	699
                  

                  

                    
	Paternagi
                    
	722
                  

                  

                    
	Pokeno
                    
	696
                  

                  

                    
	Pukekohe Central
                    
	672
                  

                  

                    
	Pukekura
                    
	782
                  

                  

                    
	Pukerimu
                    
	783
                  

                  

                    
	Puriri, Thames
                    
	882
                  

                  

                    
	Razorback
                    
	698
                  

                  

                    
	Tamahere Butter Factory
                    
	759
                  

                  

                    
	Tamahere Creamery
                    
	759
                  

                  

                    
	Tauwhare Cheese Factory
                    
	761
                  

                  

                    
	Te Awamutu Creamery
                    
	726
                  

                  

                    
	Te Awamutu Dairy Factory
                    
	726
                  

                  

                    
	Tuakau
                    
	691
                  

                  

                    
	Waharoa
                    
	790
                  

                  

                    
	Waihou
                    
	823
                  

                  

                    
	Wairoa South
                    
	666
                  

                

            

            

              

Dentists.

              

                  

                    
	Cranwell, R. B., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Hobbs, W., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Noble-Campbell, S. A., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Pickmere, A. R., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Poole, R. S., Cambridge
                    
	772
                  

                  

                    
	Rishworth, J. N., Onehunga
                    
	652
                  

                  

                    
	Sykes, W. J., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Thomas, H. W. E., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, H. L., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Young, J. A., Hamilton W.
                    
	746
                  

                

            

            

              

Drapers.

              

                  

                    
	Adair Bros., Gisborne
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	Adams Bros., Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Court, A., Thames
                    
	882
                  

                  

                    
	Cox, N. R., Hamilton West
                    
	748
                  

                  

                    
	Cullen and Co., Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Cullen, G. and Co., Thames
                    
	883–923
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, A. W., Te Arhoa
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Hallenstein Bros. and Co., Hamilton
                    
	748-888-987
                  

                  

                    
	Hetherington, S., Thames
                    
	883
                  

                  

                    
	Hetherington, W. and Co., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	May, J. W., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, R., Gisborne
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, G. L., Te Awamutu
                    
	727
                  

                  

                    
	Wood, R., Thames
                    
	884
                  

                  

                    
	Wylie, W. S., Thames
                    
	884
                  

                

            

            

              

Engineers.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, J., Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Harp, J. G., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Hossack, A., Aoroa
                    
	632
                  

                  

                    
	Humphreys and Davys, Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Laurie, W., Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, A. F., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Parker, A. S., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Price, A. and G., Thames
                    
	887
                  

                  

                    
	Ranger, W. and Co., Gis.
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Reilly, J., Coromandel
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Spinley, C. H., Helensville
                    
	635
                  

                

            

            

              

Fancy Goods Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Cowdell, J. T., Whangarie
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Crawford and Son, Gis.
                    
	996
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, G. J., Onehunga
                    
	654
                  

                  

                    
	Lawn, Mrs H. A., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, J., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, G. L., Te Awamutu
                    
	727
                  

                

            

            

              

Fish Curers.

              

                  

                    
	Masefield Bros., Russell
                    
	565
                  

                

            

            

              

Flax Millers.

              

                  

                    
	Mellars, G. F., Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                

            

            

              

Flour Millers.

              

                  

                    
	Bycroft, R., Tuakau
                    
	691
                  

                  

                    
	Gray, W. J., Katikati
                    
	929
                  

                

            

            

              

Fruiterers.

              

                  

                    
	Clark, A. H., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, W., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                

            

            

              

Fruit Evaporators.

              

                  

                    
	Halley, G. J., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                

            

            

              

Fruitgrowers.

              

                  

                    
	Booker, W., Taukau
                    
	691
                  

                

            

            

              

Fruit Preservers.

              

                  

                    
	Masefield Bros., Russell
                    
	565
                  

                

            

            

              

Gas Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Gisborne Gas Co., Ltd.
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Hamilton Gas Co., Ltd.
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Ohinemuri Light and Power Co., Paeroa
                    
	852
                  

                  

                    
	Thames Gas Co., Limited
                    
	892
                  

                

            

            

              

General Mechanics.

              

                  

                    
	McAuley, G., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                

            

            

              

General Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Abbot, R. T., Opotoki
                    
	947
                  

                  

                    
	Benett and Sheratt, Gis.
                    
	994
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, Campbell and Co., Mangawhare
                    
	626
                  

                  

                    
	Clark. A. and Sons, Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	994
                  

                  

                    
	Clifford, H. and J., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Common, Shelton and Co., Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	995
                  

                  

                    
	Dickeson, G. F., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Elmsly, J. G., Kihikihi
                    
	734
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, J., Waipapakauri
                    
	601
                  

                  

                    
	Friar, Davies and Co.
                    
	716–728
                  

                  

                    
	Gilmore, J., Tauranga
                    
	936
                  

                  

                    
	Hare Bros., Kaeo
                    
	588
                  

                  

                    
	Hazard, W., Peria
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Molesworth and Saies, Totara North
                    
	582
                  

                  

                    
	Price, A. E., Paeroa
                    
	850
                  

                  

                    
	Sheridan and Co., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Spence, M., Tauranga
                    
	936
                  

                  

                    
	Wells T., Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                  

                    
	Williams and Kettle, Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	996
                  

                  

                    
	Yates, Mrs S., Parengarenga
                    
	609
                  

                

            

            

              

General Smiths.

              

                  

                    
	Spinley, C. H., Helensville
                    
	635
                  

                

            

            

              

Grain Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Browne, M. and Co., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Rawansley, S. Co., Poroti
                    
	559
                  

                  

                    
	Ryburn, E. S., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Souter, W. and Co., Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                

            

            

              

Grocers.

              

                  

                    
	Horne, J. T., Hamilton W.
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	McKee, J., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Reid, W. D., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, H. S., Takapuna
                    
	537
                  

                

            

            

              

Gunsmiths.

              

                  

                    
	Hart, J. S., Thames
                    
	886
                  

                

            

            

              

Hairdressers.

              

                  

                    
	Bracken, J. H., Karangahake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Chissell, C. H., Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Halliday, J., Kaeo
                    
	587
                  

                  

                    
	Oldfield, J., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                

            

            

              

Hardware Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Phillips, W. and Co., Waihi
                    
	924
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, J. H. and Co., Paeroa
                    
	850-889-924
                  

                

            

            

              

Horse Trainers.

              

                  

                    
	Parsons, A., Ormond
                    
	954
                  

                

            

            

              

Hotels.

              

                  

                    
	Allaway's Temperance, Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Alpha, Kihikihi
                    
	733
                  

                  

                    
	Ateamuri
                    
	821
                  

                  

                    
	Bridge, Matawhero
                    
	1006
                  

                  

                    
	Commercial, Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Commercial, Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Criterion, Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Delta, Ngaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                  

                    
	Ellerslie
                    
	655
                  

                  

                    
	Geyser House, Wairakei
                    
	816
                  

                  

                    
	Geyser, Whakarewarewa
                    
	812
                  

                  

                    
	Gisborne
                    
	990
                  

                  

                    
	Golden Cross
                    
	916
                  

                  

                    
	Governor Bowen, Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Grand, Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Grand, Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Hamilton
                    
	748
                  

                  

                    
	Hauraki, Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Hibernian, Onehunga
                    
	653
                  

                  

                    
	Horse Shoe, Matata
                    
	942
                  

                  

                    
	Hot Springs, Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Junction, Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Karanaghake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Kopu
                    
	857
                  

                  

                    
	Lake House, Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Lake, Taupo
                    
	818
                  

                  

                    
	Mackaytown
                    
	909
                  

                  

                    
	Masonic, Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                  

                    
	Masonic, Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Mercer Railway
                    
	703
                  

                  

                    
	Nottingham Castle, Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Ohaupo
                    
	720
                  

                  

                    
	Ohinemuri, Paeroa
                    
	849
                  

                  

                    
	Okoroire (and Sanatorium)
                    
	794
                  

                  

                    
	Opononi (and Sanatorium
                    
	615
                  

                  

                    
	Owharaoa, Waikine
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	Oxford Royal, Tirau
                    
	795
                  

                  

                    
	Pacific, Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Paeroa
                    
	849
                  

                  

                    
	Palace, Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Palace, Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                  

                    
	Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	Putararu Junction
                    
	796
                  

                  

                    
	Record Reign, Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Redan, Kaitaia
                    
	598
                  

                  

                    
	Riverhead
                    
	645
                  

                  

                    
	Rob Roy, Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Roseland, Makaraka
                    
	1003
                  

                  

                    
	Royal, Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Royal Mail, Coromandel
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Royal Mail, Paeroa
                    
	849
                  

                  

                    
	Settler's, The. Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Spa, The, Taupo
                    
	818
                  

                  

                    
	Star and Garter, Coroman.
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Talisman, Katikati
                    
	929
                  

                  

                    
	Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                  

                    
	Taupo
                    
	819
                  

                  

                    
	Te Awamutu
                    
	727
                  

                  

                    
	Terrace, Taupo
                    
	819
                  

                  

                    
	Tramway, Karangahake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Traveller's Rest, Waipapakauri
                    
	601
                  

                  

                    
	Taukau Family
                    
	691
                  

                  

                    
	Waihou
                    
	823
                  

                  

                    
	Waikato, Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Waiorongomai
                    
	835
                  

                  

                    
	Waiotapu
                    
	814
                  

                  

                    
	Warwick Arms, Thames
                    
	886
                  

                  

                    
	Whangarei
                    
	548
                  

                

            

            

              

Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Adams Bros., Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Attwood, W. N., Gisborne
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, Campbell and Co., Mangawhare
                    
	626
                  

                  

                    
	Court, A., Thames
                    
	882
                  

                  

                    
	Cullen, G. and Co., Thames
                    
	883-923
                  

                  

                    
	Hallenstein Bros. and Co., Hamilton
                    
	748-883-987
                  

                  

                    
	Heterington, W. and Co., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson, Matakohe
                    
	642–644
                  

                  

                    
	McKee, J., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, T. H. W., Whananaki
                    
	563
                  

                  

                    
	Price, A. E., Paeroa
                    
	850
                  

                  

                    
	Rowe, W., and Co., Waitekauri
                    
	914–916
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, J. H. and Co., Paeroa
                    
	850-889-924
                  

                  

                    
	Teat and Friar, Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                

            

            

              

Interpreters and Native Agents.

              

                  

                    
	Rogers, W., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukohu
                    
	620
                  

                  

                    
	Shepherd, J. G., Whangaroa
                    
	581
                  

                  

                    
	Skipwort, F. G., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Woods, G. H., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                

            

            

              

Iron and Brass Founders.

              

                  

                    
	Judd, C., Thames
                    
	888
                  

                  

                    
	Price, A. and G., Thames
                    
	887
                  

                

            

            

              

Ironmongers.

              

                  

                    
	Clayton Bros., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Forrest, W., Paeroa
                    
	854
                  

                  

                    
	Hunt, T. W., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	James, S., Coromandel
                    
	902
                  

                  

                    
	Johnson, J. B., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Lamb Bros., Thames
                    
	893
                  

                  

                    
	McFadyen, J. M., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Philips, W. and Co., Waihi
                    
	924
                  

                  

                    
	Walters, G., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                

            

            

              

Kauri Gum Industry.

              

                  

                    
	Black, J., Kerikeri
                    
	578
                  

                  

                    
	Bolton, C. F., Waione
                    
	618
                  

                  

                    
	Bowman, J., Ahipara
                    
	604
                  

                  

                    
	Burgoyne, W., Mangatete
                    
	600
                  

                  

                    
	Dickeson Bros., Ngawha
                    
	571
                  

                  

                    
	Dickeson, G. F., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Dye, F., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, A. W., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, J., Waipapakauri
                    
	601
                  

                  

                    
	Glover, G., Taheke
                    
	614
                  

                  

                    
	Hazard, W., Peria
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	Lawrence, W. R. and Co., Totara North
                    
	586
                  

                  

                    
	Lees, T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	538
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnolason, Matakohe
                    
	642–644
                  

                  

                    
	McGregor, R. R., Thames
                    
	878
                  

                  

                    
	Molesworth and Saies, Totara North
                    
	582
                  

                  

                    
	Rawnsley, S. and Co., Whangarei
                    
	551–559
                  

                  

                    
	Subritzky, L. A., Awanui
                    
	599
                  

                  

                    
	Tyanan, J. M., Waihopo
                    
	605
                  

                  

                    
	Wake, C. A., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Whitelaw, J., Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Woods, G. H., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, A., Kaikohe
                    
	577
                  

                  

                    
	Yates, Mrs S., Parengarenga
                    
	609
                  

                

            

            

              

Lime Burners.

              

                  

                    
	Oxenham and Somervell, Makauri
                    
	1010
                  

                

            

            


            

              

Meat Freezers and Preservers.

              

                  

                    
	Gisborne Freezing Works
                    
	992
                  

                  

                    
	Masefield Bros., Russell
                    
	565
                  

                  

                    
	Tareheru Freezing Works, Gisborne
                    
	993
                  

                

            

            

              

Mercantile Agency Company.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co., Hamilton
                    
	750–996
                  

                

            

            

              

Mine and Battery Owners, Attorneys and Managers.

              

                  

                    
	Argall, A. E., Coromandel
                    
	484
                  

                  

                    
	Baker, W., Thames
                    
	477
                  

                  

                    
	Barry, H., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Barry, P., Coromandel
                    
	486
                  

                  

                    
	Battens, H., Coromandel
                    
	487
                  

                  

                    
	Benney, J., Thames
                    
	474
                  

                  

                    
	Bunney, J., Waihi
                    
	503
                  

                  

                    
	Cartwright, E., Thames
                    
	478
                  

                  

                    
	Christie, W. H., Waitekauri
                    
	498
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, R., Waitekauri
                    
	498
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, T. P., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Cooper, E. K., Thames
                    
	475
                  

                  

                    
	Cornes, C. A., jun., Karangahake
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Crawford, T. H., Thames
                    
	480
                  

                  

                    
	Daldy, E. A., Coromandel
                    
	485
                  

                  

                    
	Daw, F. R. W., Karangahake
                    
	492
                  

                  

                    
	Draffin, S., Waitekauri
                    
	497
                  

                  

                    
	Dunlop, T. A., Thames
                    
	479
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, S., Waikino
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Gilmour, T., Waihi
                    
	505
                  

                  

                    
	Goldsworthy, H., Karangahake
                    
	494
                  

                  

                    
	Goldsworthy, W., Karangahake
                    
	493
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon, L., Thames
                    
	475
                  

                  

                    
	Hardy, E. H., Waiorongomai
                    
	472
                  

                  

                    
	Harrison, R. H., Coromandel
                    
	489
                  

                  

                    
	Hastings, R. J., Waihi
                    
	481
                  

                  

                    
	Hornibrooke, H. P., Coromandel
                    
	489
                  

                  

                    
	Howard, S., Karangahake
                    
	491
                  

                  

                    
	Hutchison, W., Karangahake
                    
	493
                  

                  

                    
	Jamieson, A. N., Coromandel
                    
	486
                  

                  

                    
	Jenkins, R., Thames
                    
	476
                  

                  

                    
	Jobe, J. S., Thames
                    
	479
                  

                  

                    
	Johns, T., Waihi
                    
	503
                  

                  

                    
	Langford, J., Waihi
                    
	503
                  

                  

                    
	Loughlin, D. J., Thames
                    
	481
                  

                  

                    
	Loughlin, S. J., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                  

                    
	Maclean, B. J., Waitekauri
                    
	498
                  

                  

                    
	McLean, C., Waihi
                    
	502
                  

                  

                    
	McDonald, R., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                  

                    
	McGruer, G. N., Karangahake
                    
	492
                  

                  

                    
	Martin, W. B., Thames
                    
	475
                  

                  

                    
	Martin, W. G., Coromandel
                    
	490
                  

                  

                    
	Moorcraft, W., Coromandel
                    
	485
                  

                  

                    
	Morgan, R., Waihi
                    
	505
                  

                  

                    
	Moyle, T., Thames
                    
	479
                  

                  

                    
	Park, J., Thames
                    
	478
                  

                  

                    
	Paul, M., Thames
                    
	476
                  

                  

                    
	Powell, R. W., Thames
                    
	479
                  

                  

                    
	Redwood, D. K., Thames
                    
	476
                  

                  

                    
	Rich, F., Karangabake
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Roche, F., Hikutaia
                    
	472
                  

                  

                    
	Russell, W. M., Waihi
                    
	507
                  

                  

                    
	Shepherd, H. F., Coromandel
                    
	485
                  

                  

                    
	Simmons, H. L., Waihi
                    
	505
                  

                  

                    
	Snow, T., Waihi
                    
	506
                  

                  

                    
	Taylor, C. H., Karangabake
                    
	494
                  

                  

                    
	Thomas, J., Thames
                    
	474
                  

                  

                    
	Tierney, R., Thames
                    
	480
                  

                  

                    
	Tregoweth, W., Karangahake
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Wearne, J. E., Waihi
                    
	507
                  

                  

                    
	Weir, P., Thames
                    
	478
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, J., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                

            

            

              

Mining Engineers, Assayers, Amalgamators, Metallurgists and Electricians.

              

                  

                    
	Adams, E. F., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                  

                    
	Allom, H. O., Coromandel
                    
	489
                  

                  

                    
	Banks, E. G., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Brokenshire, J., Thames
                    
	474
                  

                  

                    
	Clarke, G. W., Coromandel
                    
	490
                  

                  

                    
	Clarke, T. P., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Daw, F. R. W., Karangahake
                    
	492
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, S., Waikino
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Hardy, E. H., Waiorongomai
                    
	472
                  

                  

                    
	Heard, G. S., Waihi
                    
	506
                  

                  

                    
	Hodge, Capt. F. H., Coromandel
                    
	486
                  

                  

                    
	Hopkins, W. H., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Knight, J. T., Waikino
                    
	496
                  

                  

                    
	Leece, H. S., Thames
                    
	477
                  

                  

                    
	Littlejohn, W. D., Karangahake
                    
	493
                  

                  

                    
	Milner, H., Waihi
                    
	506
                  

                  

                    
	Montgomery, A., Thames
                    
	475
                  

                  

                    
	Napier, J., Karangahake
                    
	492
                  

                  

                    
	Roche, H., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Taylor, C. H., Karangahake
                    
	494
                  

                  

                    
	Thorburn, W. L., jun., Thames
                    
	480
                  

                  

                    
	Wearne, J. J., Waihi
                    
	507
                  

                

            

            

              

Musical Instrument Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Lewis, C. F., Gisborne
                    
	977
                  

                

            

            

              

Newspapers.

              

                  

                    
	Coromandel County News
                    
	900
                  

                  

                    
	Evening Star, Thames
                    
	875
                  

                  

                    
	Golden Age, Waitekauri
                    
	912
                  

                  

                    
	Goldfields Advocate, Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Hot Lakes Chronicle, Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Herald and Auckland Weekly News, Paeroa
                    
	844
                  

                  

                    
	Northern Luminary, Kawakawa
                    
	569
                  

                  

                    
	Ohinemuri Gazette, Paeroa
                    
	844
                  

                  

                    
	Opotiki Herald
                    
	946
                  

                  

                    
	Poverty Bay Herald, Gis.
                    
	977
                  

                  

                    
	Thames Advertiser
                    
	875
                  

                  

                    
	The Te Aroha and Ohine News
                    
	828
                  

                  

                    
	Waihi Miner
                    
	920
                  

                  

                    
	Waikato Times, Hamilton
                    
	744
                  

                

            

            

              

Nurserymen.

              

                  

                    
	Sharp, J., Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Wren, C. T., Onehunga
                    
	653
                  

                

            

            

              

Orchardists and Gardeners.

              

                  

                    
	Cole Bros., Tuakau
                    
	692
                  

                  

                    
	Goodall, W., Whangarei
                    
	552
                  

                  

                    
	Schmidt, G., Waerenga-a-hika
                    
	1008
                  

                  

                    
	Stevenson, G., Waiohika
                    
	1009
                  

                

            

            

              

Painters, Glaziers and Decorators.

              

                  

                    
	Edwards and Towers, Paeroa
                    
	
                      
[
unclear: 848–922]
                    
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, F., Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	McDonald, W. B., Thames
                    
	882
                  

                  

                    
	Morrison Bros., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Ovenden, F. B., Gisborne
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	Ree Bros., Thames
                    
	882
                  

                

            

            

              

Paper Makers and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Riverhead Paper Mills
                    
	645
                  

                

            

            

              

Photographers.

              

                  

                    
	Botteley, C. L., Hamilton
                    
	747
                  

                  

                    
	Cowdell, J. T., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Cox, B. S., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Crombie, R. E., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Foy Bros., Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Foy, G., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Middleton, T., Coromandel
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Scott, T. S., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                

            

            

              

Physicians and Surgeons.

              

                  

                    
	Bewes, E. A., Otahuhu
                    
	663
                  

                  

                    
	Bond, J. H., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Brewis, A. S., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Buckley, A. G. H., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Callan, P., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Carolan, J. F., Matakohe
                    
	642
                  

                  

                    
	Clouston, J., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Cole, G. W., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Forbes, F. C. S., Waini
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Hughes, L., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Lapraik, G., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	MacLachlan, H. K., Huntly
                    
	707
                  

                  

                    
	MacLoughlin, T. J., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, A. H., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, E. E., Cambridge
                    
	771
                  

                  

                    
	Russell, B. T., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, G. T., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Sweet, G. B., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Waddington, E., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                

            

            

              

Picture Framers and Gilders.

              

                  

                    
	Reynolds, E. G. A., Gis
                    
	989
                  

                

            

            

              

Plumbers.

              

                  

                    
	Adams, E. and Co., Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Battson, C. F., Coromandel
                    
	902
                  

                  

                    
	Battson, F., Thames
                    
	886
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, F., Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Hammond, J. E., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Hunt, T. W., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Johnson, J. B., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Parker, A. S., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Paterson, J., Thames
                    
	887
                  

                

            

            

              

Potters, Brick and Tile Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Collins, W., Huntly
                    
	709
                  

                  

                    
	Clayton Bros., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, S., Hamilton
                    
	750
                  

                  

                    
	Oxenham and Somervell, Makauri
                    
	1010
                  

                

            

            

              

Printers.

              

                  

                    
	Bushnell, H. J., Gisborne
                    
	996
                  

                

            

            

              

Private School Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Gibbons, F. E., Hamilton
                    
	742
                  

                

            

            

              

Produce Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Aubin and Co., Te Awamutu
                    
	728
                  

                  

                    
	Barnes and Sissons, Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Bolton, C. F., Waione
                    
	618
                  

                  

                    
	Browne, M. and Co., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Lees, T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	538
                  

                  

                    
	Lester Bros., Rawene
                    
	611
                  

                  

                    
	Loughlin, J. M., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	McWatters, W., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, T. H. W., Whananaki
                    
	563
                  

                  

                    
	Orr, D. M., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Rawnsley, S. and Co., Poroti
                    
	559
                  

                  

                    
	Ryburn, E. S., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Whitelaw, J., Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, W. H., Te Aroha
                    
	832–851
                  

                

            

            

              

Provision Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Loughlin, J. M., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Wallace, D. B., Kohukohu
                    
	622
                  

                

            

            

              

Pumice Insulators.

              

                  

                    
	Pumice Works, Rangiriri
                    
	704
                  

                

            

            

              

Saddlers and Harness Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Buckley, R., Thames
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Flavell, J., Peria
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	Grigg, W. R., Kaitaia
                    
	598
                  

                  

                    
	Guerin, T., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, M., Matawhero
                    
	1006
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, E., Hamilton
                    
	749–850
                  

                  

                    
	McIndoe and Hill, Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Morgan, W., Gisborne
                    
	992
                  

                  

                    
	Norris, A. H., Waitekauri
                    
	914
                  

                  

                    
	Primrose and Leslie, Gis.
                    
	992
                  

                  

                    
	Webster, R. F., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                

            

            

              

Sawmillers.

              

                  

                    
	Bailey and Bollard, Taupiri
                    
	712
                  

                  

                    
	Faulkner, J., Patuatahi
                    
	956
                  

                  

                    
	Foote Bros., Whangarei
                    
	551
                  

                  

                    
	Hossack, A., Aoroa
                    
	632
                  

                  

                    
	Kauri Timber Co., Whangaroa
                    
	581-593-654
                  

                  

                    
	King, W., Te Karaka
                    
	951
                  

                  

                    
	Kusabs Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, F. W., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Roe, A. W., Mamaku
                    
	798
                  

                  

                    
	Steele Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Tamaki Sawmill Co., Waihi
                    
	927
                  

                

            

            

              

Seedsmen.

              

                  

                    
	Neal, G. J., Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                

            

            

              

Sharebrokers.

              

                  

                    
	Alexander, G. E., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Baggott, J., Thames
                    
	878
                  

                  

                    
	Gooch, R., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Kilgour, R., Thames
                    
	878
                  

                  

                    
	Ross, A. Y., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Styak, W. S., Thames
                    
	879
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipbuilders and Boatbuilders.

              

                  

                    
	Lane and Brown, Totara North
                    
	584
                  

                  

                    
	Thompson, E., Aratapu
                    
	629
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipping Companies.

              

                  

                    
	Northern Union Steam Boat Co., Ltd.
                    
	637
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipowners.

              

                  

                    
	Goffe, L. C., Waitangi Falls
                    
	568
                  

                  

                    
	Hare Bros., Kaeo
                    
	588
                  

                  

                    
	Harrison, E., Aratapu
                    
	629
                  

                

            

            

              

Soap Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Pearson and Co., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                

            

            

              

Storekeepers.

              

                  

                    
	Abbot, R. T., Opotiki
                    
	947
                  

                  

                    
	Aubin and Co., Te Awamutu
                    
	728
                  

                  

                    
	Barnes and Sissons, Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Berghan, Mrs J., Ampara
                    
	694
                  

                  

                    
	Black, J., Kerikeri
                    
	578
                  

                  

                    
	Bolton, C. F., Waione
                    
	618
                  

                  

                    
	Bowman, J., Ahipara
                    
	604
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, B., Whakatane
                    
	943
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, J., sen., Pokeno
                    
	696
                  

                  

                    
	Burgoyne, W., Mangatete
                    
	600
                  

                  

                    
	Bygrave, S. L., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Care, G., Tamahere
                    
	759
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, A. H., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Clifford, H. and J., Morrinsville
                    
	786


                  

                  
                  

                    
	Cox, W. J., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Dando, S., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Darrow, J., Waitekauri
                    
	914
                  

                  

                    
	Deacon, T. W., Riverhead
                    
	645
                  

                  

                    
	Dibsell, W., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Dick, A. J., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Dickeson Bros., Ngawha
                    
	571
                  

                  

                    
	Dye, F., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	East, J., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, A. W., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, J. T., Ohaupo
                    
	720
                  

                  

                    
	Ellis, C. J., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Ellis, R. H., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Elmsly, J. G., Kihikini
                    
	734
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, D. J., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, E., Te Kao
                    
	609
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, J., Waipapakauri
                    
	601
                  

                  

                    
	Ferguson, A. H., Matata
                    
	942
                  

                  

                    
	Friar, Davies and Co., Huntly
                    
	710-716-728
                  

                  

                    
	Galbraith, J. C., Te Puke
                    
	940
                  

                  

                    
	Gardiner, C. P., Herekino
                    
	606
                  

                  

                    
	Garton, W., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Geary, J. F., Opotiki
                    
	947
                  

                  

                    
	Gilmore, J., Tauranga
                    
	936
                  

                  

                    
	Glover, G., Taheke
                    
	614
                  

                  

                    
	Goldfields Co-op. Stores, Waitekauri
                    
	915–916
                  

                  

                    
	Gower, J., Utakura Valley
                    
	578
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, R., Mangere
                    
	657
                  

                  

                    
	Halliday, Mrs S., Kaeo
                    
	588
                  

                  

                    
	Hansen Bros., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Harley, C., Waihi
                    
	927
                  

                  

                    
	Hearn, W., Kerikeri
                    
	579
                  

                  

                    
	Hemphill, E., Waihou
                    
	823
                  

                  

                    
	Howie, R., Hikurangi
                    
	561
                  

                  

                    
	Hunter, M. and S., Mercer
                    
	703
                  

                  

                    
	Image, R. H., Matawhero
                    
	1006
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, F. A., Waikino
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	Keller, P., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Lawrence, W. R. and Co., Totara North
                    
	586
                  

                  

                    
	Lees, T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	538
                  

                  

                    
	Lester Bros., Rawene
                    
	611–621
                  

                  

                    
	Lever, J., Waikino
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson, Matakohe
                    
	642–644
                  

                  

                    
	McCoomb, R., Ormond
                    
	953
                  

                  

                    
	McCowen, R., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	McGarvey, D., Whakatane
                    
	943
                  

                  

                    
	McKay, A., Fairburn
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	McWatters, W. J., Paeroa
                    
	851-915-925
                  

                  

                    
	Manson, W., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Marriner, W. A., Mangawhare
                    
	626
                  

                  

                    
	Maunder, T. W., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Molesworth and Saies, Totara North
                    
	582
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, A., Opua
                    
	570
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, T. H. W., Whananaki
                    
	563
                  

                  

                    
	Munro, J., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Orr, D. M., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Parr Bros., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Patterson, J., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Phillips, W., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Pollock, J., Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Popple, F., Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Raymond, W. T., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                  

                    
	Rickit and Adams, Taupo
                    
	819
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, J. and S., Thames
                    
	892-910-926
                  

                  

                    
	Roulston Bros., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	Samson, T., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Seymour, J., Te Kopuru
                    
	639
                  

                  

                    
	Shine, P., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	Steven, Mrs M. A., Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                  

                    
	Subritzky, L. A., Awanui
                    
	599
                  

                  

                    
	Taylor, J. E., Waibi
                    
	926
                  

                  

                    
	Teat and Friar, Ormond
                    
	953–998
                  

                  

                    
	Tynan, J. M., Waihopo
                    
	605
                  

                  

                    
	Wake, C. A., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Wallace, D. B., Kohukohu
                    
	622
                  

                  

                    
	Whimp, H., Opuawhanga
                    
	562
                  

                  

                    
	Whitby, J. E., Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Whitelaw, J., Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, J., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, W. A., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Wood, W., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Woods, G. H., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, A., Kaikohe
                    
	577
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, W. H., Te Aroha
                    
	832–851
                  

                  

                    
	Wyles, R., Mongonui
                    
	593
                  

                

            

            

              

Stud Owners.

              

                  

                    
	Morrin, T., Panmure
                    
	660
                  

                

            

            

              

Surveyors.

              

                  

                    
	Adams, E. F., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                  

                    
	Burrows, A. W., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Campbell, R., Whangaroa
                    
	580
                  

                  

                    
	Hazard and Johnston, Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, A. F., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Mountain and Newton, Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	O'Neill, W. C., Mongonui
                    
	591
                  

                  

                    
	Purchas, C., Waitekauri
                    
	498
                  

                  

                    
	Quigley, W. J., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Reilly, J., Coromandel
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Springall, S. S., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Teesdale, A., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                

            

            

              

Tailors.

              

                  

                    
	Bain, D. R., Te Awamutu
                    
	727
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, C., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Crowle, J., Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Dowling, W. P., Kawakawa
                    
	569
                  

                  

                    
	Hodge, G. A., Mercury Bay
                    
	896
                  

                  

                    
	Johnstone, J. and Co., Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, R. and Co., Gis.
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	McCarthy and Sutton, Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	McCready and Davey, Karangahake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Milnes, E. J., Thames
                    
	884
                  

                  

                    
	Morgan, E., Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Muir, J., Thames
                    
	884
                  

                  

                    
	Nelson, S., Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Riley, W., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Sandlant, H. and Co., Gis.
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	Zachariah, A., Gisborne
                    
	988
                  

                

            

            

              

Teachers of Music—
Instrumental and Vocal.

              

                  

                    
	Bispham, Mrs C., Whangarei
                    
	546
                  

                  

                    
	East, C. J., Gisborne
                    
	977
                  

                  

                    
	Harston, G. L., Paeroa
                    
	844
                  

                  

                    
	Triphook, J. R., Whangarei
                    
	546
                  

                  

                    
	Wildman, Mrs, Thames
                    
	875
                  

                  

                    
	Wildman, T., Thames
                    
	875
                  

                

            

            

              

Timber Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Baine, P., Te Aroha
                    
	832
                  

                  

                    
	Clayton Bros., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Clinkard, C. H., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	Davys and Son, Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Downer, W., Helensville
                    
	635
                  

                  

                    
	Dye, F., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	Foote Bros., Whangarei
                    
	551
                  

                  

                    
	Forrest, W., Paeroa
                    
	854
                  

                  

                    
	Gillespie and Son, Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Kauri Timber Co., Whangaroa
                    
	581-593-654-893
                  

                  

                    
	Kennedy and Evans, and Kennedy, Evans and Co., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	King, W., Te Karaka
                    
	951
                  

                  

                    
	Kusabs Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Lamb Bros., Thames
                    
	893
                  

                  

                    
	Lane and Brown, Totara N.
                    
	584
                  

                  

                    
	McAndrew, J., Paeroa
                    
	854
                  

                  

                    
	Mackrell and Colley, Gis.
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, F. W., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Mountain Rimu Timber Co., Mamaku
                    
	798
                  

                  

                    
	Oxenham and Somervell, Makauri
                    
	1010
                  

                  

                    
	Roe, A. W., Mamaku
                    
	798
                  

                  

                    
	Souter, W. and Co., Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Stafford, F., Gisborne
                    
	1000
                  

                  

                    
	Trounson, J., Dargaville
                    
	625
                  

                

            

            

              
Tinsmiths

              

                  

                    
	Adams, E. and Co., Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Battson, F., Thames
                    
	886
                  

                  

                    
	Johnson, J. B., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Paterson, J., Thames
                    
	887
                  

                

            

            

              

Tobacconists.

              

                  

                    
	Bracken, J. H., Karangahake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Chissell., C. H., Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Lawn, Mrs H. A., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Oldfield, J., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, G., Gisborne
                    
	990
                  

                

            

            

              

Undertakers.

              

                  

                    
	Rossiter, S. T., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Twentyman, R., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                  

                    
	Vant, W., Ngaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                

            

            

              

Valuers.

              

                  

                    
	Gillespie and Son, Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, W., Hamilton
                    
	748
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, A. F., Giborne
                    
	984
                  

                

            

            

              

Warehousemen.

              

                  

                    
	Clark, A. and Sons, Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	994
                  

                

            

            

              

Watchmarkers and Jewellers.

              

                  

                    
	Halliday, G., Whangarei
                    
	550
                  

                  

                    
	Howden, H. H., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Law, A., Paeroa
                    
	853
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, H. R., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                

            

            

              

Wheelwrights.

              

                  

                    
	Corbett, W. H., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Ferguson, J., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Goodwin, D., Pukekohe
                    
	672
                  

                  

                    
	Hedley, J. W., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Vant, W., Ngaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                  

                    
	Walker, T., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, T., Kihikihi
                    
	733
                  

                

            

            

              

Wine and Spirit Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Matthewson, G., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                

            

            

              

Woolbrokers.

              

                  

                    
	Dickeson, G. F., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                

            

            

              

Woollen Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Onehunga Woollen Mills
                    
	653
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Accountants and Auditors.

              

                  

                    
	Alexander, E. B.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Churton, W. H.,
                    
	469
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor, C.,
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Morrison, W. B. A.,
                    
	313
                  

                  

                    
	Waymouth and Son
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

ÆRated Water and Cordial Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Campbell and Ehrenfried Co., Ltd.,
                    
	329
                  

                  

                    
	Grey, J., and Sons
                    
	343
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Commission and Manufacturers'.

              

                  

                    
	Arthur, R. and Co.
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Barr Brown, R.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Gilfillan, J. B. and Co.,
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Gunson, W. and Co.,
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Hilton, G. P.,
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Hipkins and Coutts
                    
	335
                  

                  

                    
	Hooton, J. P.,
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, Gabriel and Co.,
                    
	313
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, H. B. and Co.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. Agency Co., Ltd
                    
	339
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, P. and Co.,
                    
	394
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Customs, Shipping and Forwarding.

              

                  

                    
	Clayton, M. T.,
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Cotton, H. E.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, H. B. and Co.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, L. D. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Stone Bros.,
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Financial and Loan.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, J.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Davidge, W. T.,
                    
	311
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor, C
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Williamson, C. R. and Co.,
                    
	314
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Forwarding and Carrying.

              

                  

                    
	Auck. Forward. and Parcel Delivery Co.
                    
	418
                  

                  

                    
	Cammell, G. S.,
                    
	418
                  

                  

                    
	Winstone, W. and G.,
                    
	419
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Land and Estate.

              

                  

                    
	Barr Brown, R.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Davidge, W. T.,
                    
	311
                  

                  

                    
	Garland, G. J.,
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Williamson, C. R. and Co.,
                    
	314
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Mining.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, J.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Churton, W. H.,
                    
	469
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor, C.,
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, J.,
                    
	469
                  

                  

                    
	King, J. and Co.,
                    
	470
                  

                  

                    
	Lusk, N. B.,
                    
	470
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, G. C. W.,
                    
	465
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Patent.

              

                  

                    
	Baldwin and Rayward
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Basley, G. W.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Hughes, H.,
                    
	1019
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Tourists'.

              

                  

                    
	Cook, T. and Son
                    
	310
                  

                

            

            

              

Ammunition Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Colonial Ammunition Co., Ltd.
                    
	170
                  

                

            

            

              

Architects.

              

                  

                    
	Baker, S. E. W.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Bartley, E.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Bell, E.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Goldsbro', G. S.,
                    
	316
                  

                  

                    
	Keals, R. and Sons
                    
	316
                  

                  

                    
	Mahoney, E. and Sons
                    
	316
                  

                  

                    
	Wade, H. L.,
                    
	317
                  

                  

                    
	White, T. H.,
                    
	317
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, A. P.,
                    
	317
                  

                

            

            

              

Artists.

              

                  

                    
	Goldie, C. F.,
                    
	319
                  

                  

                    
	Steele, L. J.,
                    
	321
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, F.,
                    
	321
                  

                

            

            

              

Auctioneers and Valuators.

              

                  

                    
	Arthur, R. and Co.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Carr, R. C.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Davidge, W. T.,
                    
	311
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, Gabriel and Co.,
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Average Adjusters.

              

                  

                    
	Waymouth and Son
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Bakers.

              

                  

                    
	Barber, R.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Burton, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Clow Bros.,
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Everitt, W. B.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, G.,
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	King, T.,
                    
	324
                  

                  

                    
	McKeown, E.,
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, R.,
                    
	328
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, T.,
                    
	328
                  

                

            

            

              

Banks.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Savings
                    
	294–526
                  

                  

                    
	Bank of Australasia
                    
	293
                  

                  

                    
	Bank of New South Wales
                    
	293
                  

                  

                    
	Bank of New Zealand
                    
	294–526
                  

                  

                    
	National Bank of New Zealand
                    
	294–526
                  

                  

                    
	Union Bank of Aus., Ltd.,
                    
	294
                  

                

            

            

              

Barristers and Solicitors.

              

                  

                    
	Basley, G. W.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Baxter and Shrewsbury
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Beale and Beale
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Biss, N. L. H.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Blades, J.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Bloomfield, W. R.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Brock, A.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Brookfield and Son
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Bruce, W. E.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Buchanan, A.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Buddle, Button and Co.,
                    
	276
                  

                  

                    
	Burton and Hammond
                    
	277
                  

                  

                    
	Calder and Goldwater
                    
	277
                  

                  

                    
	Coleman, W.,
                    
	277
                  

                  

                    
	Cooper, W.,
                    
	277
                  

                  

                    
	Devore and Cooper
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Dignan and Armstrong
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Dufaur and MacCormick
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Earl and Campbell
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Gillies and Colbeck
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Gittos, J. W.,
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Graham, J.,
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Griffiths, C. F.,
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Hanna, A.,
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Hesketh and Richmond
                    
	278
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson and Russel.
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Johnstone, G. M.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Keesing, M. R.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Kissling, T.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Laishley, R.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Lundon, J. R.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	Lusk, R. B.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	McArthur, Dr. A.,
                    
	279
                  

                  

                    
	McGregor, M. G.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Mahony, E.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Napier and Fitzherbert
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Neumegen, W. M.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Oliphant and Battley
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	O'Meagher, J.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Palmer, J.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Parr, C. J.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Pilkington, A. G.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Reed, J. R.,
                    
	280
                  

                  

                    
	Russell and Campbell
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Seth-Smith, H. G.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, F. W.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Stewart, J. W.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Thorne, W.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Tylden, C. R.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Vaile, P. A.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Whitaker and Baume
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Williamson, F. H.,
                    
	281
                  

                  

                    
	Wynyard and Purchas
                    
	281
                  

                

            

            

              

Bath Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Fort, A. C.,
                    
	292
                  

                

            

            

              
Billiard and Bagatelle Table Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Barton, McGill and Co.,
                    
	358
                  

                

            

            

              

Biscuit Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Bycroft, Limited
                    
	408
                  

                  

                    
	Laurie, C. G.,
                    
	325
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, J. D. and Co.,
                    
	327
                  

                  

                    
	Tremain, J.,
                    
	327
                  

                

            

            

              

Blacksmiths and Farriers.

              

                  

                    
	Patterson, John
                    
	342
                  

                  

                    
	Phillips, H.,
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Boardinghouse-
Keepers.

              

                  

                    
	Carter, Mrs G.,
                    
	364
                  

                  

                    
	Cruickshank, Mrs
                    
	366
                  

                  

                    
	Scherff, Mrs
                    
	365
                  

                

            

            

              

Boilermakers.

              

                  

                    
	Bach, T. and Co.,
                    
	367
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, G. and Sons, Ltd.
                    
	370
                  

                  

                    
	McCoskrie and Son
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	Seagar Bros.
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Bookbinders, Machine Rulers, and Account Book Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Leighton, J. F. and Son.
                    
	405
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, A.,
                    
	406
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.,
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Booksellers, Publishers, and Stationers.

              

                  

                    
	Graham, A.,
                    
	405
                  

                  

                    
	Wldman and Leyell
                    
	407
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot and Shoe Makers, Importers and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Browne, E. C. and Co.
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Fleming, C. C.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Prosser, T.,
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Sexton, C. H.,
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Stone, S. and Co.,
                    
	384
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot and Shoe Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Blampied, P.,
                    
	519
                  

                  

                    
	Crocker, B.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Davy, H.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Kapai Boot Factory
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Lion Boot Factory
                    
	382
                  

                  

                    
	Nothern Boot and Shoe Mfg. Co., Ltd.
                    
	383
                  

                  

                    
	Prosser, T.,
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Schofield and Son
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Stone, S. and Co.,
                    
	384
                  

                  

                    
	Trenwith, J.,
                    
	385
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot Upper Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Whittington, A. J.,
                    
	386
                  

                

            

            

              

Box Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Bagnall Bros. and Co., Ltd.
                    
	421
                  

                

            

            

              

Brewers and Maltsters.

              

                  

                    
	Campbell and Ehrenfried Co., Ltd.
                    
	329
                  

                  

                    
	Captain Cook Brewery (Moss Davis)
                    
	383
                  

                  

                    
	Great Northern Brewery, Ltd.
                    
	334
                  

                

            

            

              

Brokers—
Grain and Produce.

              

                  

                    
	Holmes and Grierson
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Macfarlane, J. B.,
                    
	398
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, A. H.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co., Ltd.
                    
	399
                  

                

            

            

              

Brokers—
Hotel.

              

                  

                    
	Barr Brown, R.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Davidge, W. T.,
                    
	311
                  

                

            

            

              

Brokers—Stock.

              

                  

                    
	Lennox, J. M.,
                    
	312
                  

                

            

            

              

Brokers—
Wool.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co., Ltd.
                    
	399
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                

            

            

              

Brush and Broom Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Kapai Corn Broom Co., Ld.
                    
	415
                  

                

            

            

              

Builders and Contractors.

              

                  

                    
	Brook., C. J.,
                    
	514
                  

                  

                    
	Grandison, A.,
                    
	337
                  

                  

                    
	Harris, F.
                    
	337
                  

                  

                    
	Hatcher, G.,
                    
	337
                  

                  

                    
	Holland, J. J.,
                    
	338
                  

                  

                    
	Hutchison, W. E.,
                    
	338


                  

                  
                  

                    
	Payne, J. J.,
                    
	338
                  

                  

                    
	Rhodes, G.,
                    
	338
                  

                

            

            

              

Building Societies.

              

                  

                    
	Auck. Co-op. Termin. Bdg.
                    
	356
                  

                

            

            

              

Butchers.

              

                  

                    
	Fenton and Co.,
                    
	388
                  

                  

                    
	Gray, G. H.,
                    
	388
                  

                  

                    
	Hayle Bros.
                    
	523
                  

                  

                    
	Hellaby, R. and W.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, W.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	MoElwain, G.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	Norgrove, C.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	Young, W.,
                    
	390
                  

                

            

            

              

Cabinetmakers and Furnishing Warehousemen.

              

                  

                    
	Lambourne, W.,
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	Tonson Garlick Co., Ltd.
                    
	359
                  

                

            

            

              

Cabinetmakers and Upholsterers.

              

                  

                    
	George Bros.,
                    
	358
                  

                  

                    
	Tonson Garlick Co., Ltd.
                    
	359
                  

                

            

            

              

Candied Peel Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Laurie, C. G.,
                    
	325
                  

                

            

            

              

Cap and Hat Manufactureres.

              

                  

                    
	Cooper, J. A.,
                    
	351
                  

                

            

            

              

Carriers.

              

                  

                    
	Auck. Forward. and Parcel Delivery Company
                    
	418
                  

                  

                    
	Cammell, G. S.,
                    
	418
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Winstone, W. and G.,
                    
	419
                  

                

            

            

              

Caterers.

              

                  

                    
	Clow Bros.,
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Everitt, W. B.,
                    
	323
                  

                

            

            

              

Chemists and Druggists.

              

                  

                    
	Aickin, G.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Cooper, F. J.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Crawford, T. A.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Edson, J.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Faulder, J.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Fenton, F. A.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Gilbert, S.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Hamilton Bros.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Haslett, J. A.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Hudson, J. H.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Jefferson, J. M.,
                    
	291
                  

                  

                    
	Kenderdine, A. G.,
                    
	291
                  

                  

                    
	Kenderdine and Kirkup
                    
	291
                  

                  

                    
	King, H.,
                    
	291
                  

                  

                    
	Lamb, A. S. J.,
                    
	292
                  

                  

                    
	Sharland, F. C.,
                    
	292
                  

                  

                    
	Sharland, W.,
                    
	292
                  

                

            

            

              

Chronometer Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Bartlett, A. G.,
                    
	420
                  

                

            

            

              

Clothiers.

              

                  

                    
	Fowlds, G.,
                    
	351
                  

                

            

            

              

Clothing Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Morran, J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                

            

            

              

Coachbuilders and Wheel-Wrights.

              

                  

                    
	Cousins and Atkin Carriage Factory
                    
	340
                  

                  

                    
	Cousins and Cousins
                    
	341
                  

                  

                    
	Flynn, D. and Co.,
                    
	341
                  

                  

                    
	Patterson, J.,
                    
	342
                  

                

            

            

              

Coal and Wood Merchants and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Duder, R. and R.,
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	Winstone, W. and G.,
                    
	419
                  

                

            

            

              

Coffee and Spice Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, Barrett and Co.,
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                

            

            

              

Commercial Travellers.

              

                  

                    
	Brookes, A. H.,
                    
	386
                  

                  

                    
	Christian, N.,
                    
	390
                  

                

            

            

              

Commission Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Carr, R. C.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Macfarlane, J. B.,
                    
	398
                  

                

            

            

              

Confectioners.

              

                  

                    
	Barber, R.
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Burton, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Clow Bros.
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Everitt, W. B.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, G.,
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	Jowers, Mrs E.,
                    
	324
                  

                  

                    
	King, T.,
                    
	324
                  

                  

                    
	Laurie, C. G.,
                    
	325
                  

                  

                    
	McKeown, E.,
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Marriott, J. W.,
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, J. D. and Co.,
                    
	327
                  

                  

                    
	Sarney, H. J.,
                    
	327
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, R.,
                    
	328
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, T.,
                    
	328
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, G. W.,
                    
	328
                  

                

            

            

              

Cycle Dealers, Importers and Experts.

              

                  

                    
	Dexter and Crozier
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	Reynolds, E. and Co.,
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	White, W. J.,
                    
	378
                  

                

            

            

              

Dairy Factories and Associations.

              

                  

                    
	Ambury, English and Co.,
                    
	344
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Dairy Association
                    
	345
                  

                

            

            

              

Dentists.

              

                  

                    
	Ballins, F. S.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Carter, A. M.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Chatfield, A. W.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Collins, A. C. H.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Colson, C.,
                    
	287
                  

                  

                    
	Cox, E.,
                    
	288
                  

                  

                    
	Cox, H.,
                    
	288
                  

                  

                    
	Elkin, A. H.,
                    
	288
                  

                  

                    
	Hobbs, A. E.,
                    
	288–1018
                  

                  

                    
	Hooper, A. F.,
                    
	288
                  

                  

                    
	Hope, E.,
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Kempt and Bunby
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Knight, H. F.,
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Leatham, W. N.,
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Lonergan, T. A.,
                    
	289
                  

                  

                    
	Maitland, A. G.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Martin, J.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Murray, G. P.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Owen, H.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Rylance, G. M.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Warren, G.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, W. H.,
                    
	290
                  

                

            

            

              

Deportment and Dancing.

              

                  

                    
	Bassett, F. C.,
                    
	264
                  

                

            

            

              

Drapers.

              

                  

                    
	McCullagh and Gower
                    
	349
                  

                  

                    
	McMaster and Shalders
                    
	349
                  

                  

                    
	Milne and Choyce
                    
	349
                  

                  

                    
	Smith and Caughey
                    
	349
                  

                

            

            

              
Dressmakers and Milliners.

              

                  

                    
	Milne and Choyce
                    
	349
                  

                

            

            

              

Dyers and Cleaners.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, D. and A.,
                    
	350
                  

                

            

            

              

Engineers—
Civil.

              

                  

                    
	Baker, S. E. W.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon, H. A.,
                    
	467
                  

                  

                    
	Stewart, J.,
                    
	316
                  

                

            

            

              

Engineers—
Electrical.

              

                  

                    
	Rich, F. A.,
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	Steuart and Fenn
                    
	374
                  

                

            

            

              

Engineers, Mechanical Founders, Etc.

              

                  

                    
	Chambers, J. and Son, Ltd.
                    
	368
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, J.,
                    
	523
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, G. and Sons, Ltd.
                    
	370
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson, F. and Co.
                    
	371
                  

                  

                    
	McCoskrie and Son
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	Masefield, T. T. and Co.
                    
	373
                  

                  

                    
	Seagar Bros.
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Engravers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                

            

            

              

Financial Institutions.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Coml. Exchange Co.
                    
	356
                  

                

            

            

              

Fish Curers.

              

                  

                    
	Knox, W.,
                    
	389
                  

                  

                    
	Reid. W.,
                    
	514
                  

                

            

            

              

Fishmongers.

              

                  

                    
	Reid, Mrs W.,
                    
	514
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, F.,
                    
	390
                  

                

            

            

              

Gas Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Auck. Gas Co., Ltd.
                    
	412
                  

                

            

            

              

General Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, Campbell and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Burns, J. and Co.
                    
	376
                  

                  

                    
	Campbell and Ehrenfried Co., Limited
                    
	329
                  

                  

                    
	Carr, Johnston and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Entrican, A. J. and Co.
                    
	396
                  

                  

                    
	Hayman, P. and Co.
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Heather, Roberton and Co.
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson and Macfarlane
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, H. B. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, A. H.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Stone Bros.
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

General Mining and Legal Managers, Mining Engineers, Etc.

              

                  

                    
	Argall, W. H.,
                    
	464
                  

                  

                    
	Armstrong, M. W.,
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Bewick, Moreing and Co.
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Cheal, P. E.,
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Endean, John
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Fleming, Malcolm
                    
	467
                  

                  

                    
	Galbraith, D. R. S.,
                    
	470
                  

                  

                    
	Gilfillan, H., jun.
                    
	464
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon, H. A.,
                    
	467
                  

                  

                    
	Gray, W.,
                    
	465
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor, C.,
                    
	312
                  

                  

                    
	Harrison and Foster
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	Kelly, A. M. and F. V.,
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	McConell, Q. A.,
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	MacDonnell, D. G.,
                    
	464
                  

                  

                    
	Macky, S. C.,
                    
	465
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, S. H.,
                    
	465
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, G. C. W.,
                    
	465
                  

                  

                    
	Rich, F. A.,
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, H. M.,
                    
	469
                  

                

            

            

              

General Smiths.

              

                  

                    
	Seagar Bros.
                    
	373
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, W.,
                    
	375
                  

                

            

            

              

Grain Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Carr, Johnston and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Gunson, W. and Co.
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Laxon, Neill and Co.
                    
	409
                  

                

            

            

              

Grocers.

              

                  

                    
	Burton, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, J.,
                    
	323
                  

                  

                    
	Doonin, T. W.,
                    
	408
                  

                  

                    
	Ellyett, A. J.,
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Peet, W. and J.,
                    
	410
                  

                  

                    
	Whitehead, F.,
                    
	410
                  

                  

                    
	Winn, W.,
                    
	411
                  

                

            

            

              

Habit-Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Murchie, M.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Possenniskie, H. L.,
                    
	354
                  

                

            

            

              

Hairdressers.

              

                  

                    
	Jamieson, J.,
                    
	526
                  

                

            

            

              

Ham and Bacon Curers.

              

                  

                    
	Adam, J. and Co.
                    
	387
                  

                

            

            

              

Hardware Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Burns, J. and Co.
                    
	376
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, E. and Co.,
                    
	377
                  

                

            

            

              

Hatters and Mercers.

              

                  

                    
	Browne, E. C. and Co.
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Potter, W. H.,
                    
	354
                  

                

            

            

              

Hotels.

              

                  

                    
	Central
                    
	361
                  

                  

                    
	Grosvenor
                    
	362
                  

                  

                    
	Naval and Family
                    
	363
                  

                  

                    
	Royal Mail
                    
	363
                  

                  

                    
	Thanies
                    
	364
                  

                

            

            

              

Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, Oram, and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Abe. Deykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, Barrett and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Cash, E.,
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Chambers, J. and Son, Ltd.
                    
	368
                  

                  

                    
	Fowlds, G.,
                    
	351
                  

                  

                    
	Heather, Roberton and Co.
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Hilton, G. P.,
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Hooton, J. P.,
                    
	397
                  

                  

                    
	Hopkins, R. H.,
                    
	398
                  

                  

                    
	Leighton, J. F. and Son
                    
	405
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	McCoskire and Son
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	McCullagh and Gower
                    
	349
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, L. D. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, E. and Co.
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	Sargood, Son and Ewen
                    
	399
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Seegner, Langguth and Co.
                    
	399
                  

                  

                    
	Webster, J. D.,
                    
	401
                  

                  

                    
	Whittington, A. J.,
                    
	386
                  

                  

                    
	Wiseman, J. and Son
                    
	386
                  

                

            

            

              

Importers of Woollen and Tailors' 
Trimmings.

              

                  

                    
	Hodgson, J.,
                    
	397
                  

                

            

            

              

Indent Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, Gabriel and Co.
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Accident.

              

                  

                    
	New Zealand
                    
	302
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Fire.

              

                  

                    
	Alliance
                    
	296–1018
                  

                  

                    
	Australian Alliance
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	Guardian
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	Imperial
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	Law, Union and Crown
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	Liverpool and London and Globe
                    
	296
                  

                  

                    
	London and Lancashire
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Magdeburg
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Manchester
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	North Bri. and Mercantile
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Northern
                    
	297


                  

                  
                  

                    
	North German
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Norwich Union
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Phœnix
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Royal
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Royal Exchange
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	Sun
                    
	297
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies —
Fire and Marine.

              

                  

                    
	Commercial Union
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	National
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	New Zealand
                    
	297
                  

                  

                    
	North Queensland
                    
	298
                  

                  

                    
	South British
                    
	298
                  

                  

                    
	Standard
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	United
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Victoria
                    
	300
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Life.

              

                  

                    
	Austral. Mut. Provident
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Austral. Widows' Fund
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	Citizens'
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	Colonial Mutual
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	Equitable
                    
	301–1018
                  

                  

                    
	Mutual
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	National Mutual
                    
	302
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Government
                    
	301
                  

                  

                    
	Provident and Industrial
                    
	302
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Marine.

              

                  

                    
	British and Foreign
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Canton
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	China Traders'
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Marine
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Ocean Acci. and Guarantee
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Straits
                    
	300
                  

                  

                    
	Thames and Mersey
                    
	300
                  

                

            

            

              

Insurance Companies—
Plate Glass.

              

                  

                    
	New Zealand
                    
	302
                  

                

            

            

              

Iron and Brass Founders.

              

                  

                    
	Collings, C. and A.,
                    
	369
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, G. and Sons, Ltd.
                    
	370
                  

                  

                    
	McCoskrie and Son
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	Masefield, T. T. and Co.
                    
	373
                  

                  

                    
	Seagar Bros.
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Iron Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Briscoe and Co., Limited
                    
	376
                  

                  

                    
	Carr, Johnston and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                

            

            

              

Ironmongers.

              

                  

                    
	Briscoe and Co., Limited
                    
	376
                  

                  

                    
	Lambourne, W.,
                    
	377
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, E. and Co.
                    
	377
                  

                

            

            

              

Iron Workers.

              

                  

                    
	Broady, J. and Co.
                    
	367
                  

                  

                    
	Masefield, T. T. and Co.
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Jam and Preserve Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Laurie, C. G.,
                    
	325
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey
                    
	326
                  

                  

                    
	Tyer, A. and Son
                    
	416
                  

                

            

            

              

Kauri Gum Merchants and Brokers.

              

                  

                    
	Arnold, Cheney and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Bond and Bell
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Carr, Johnston and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Edmonds, H.,
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Garlick and Lyon
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Gilfillan, J. D. and Co.
                    
	391
                  

                  

                    
	Heather, A.,
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson, J. W.,
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Holmes and Grierson
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Hutchinson, C. J. and Co.
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson
                    
	392
                  

                  

                    
	Miller, Henry and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, H. B. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, A. H.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, L. D. and Co.
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Patterson, G. W. S.,
                    
	393
                  

                  

                    
	Schischka, J.,
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Whitley, W. S.,
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, P. and Co.
                    
	394
                  

                  

                    
	Winterbourne, S. and Co.
                    
	394
                  

                

            

            

              

Ladies' 
Underclothing Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Davey and Orpwood
                    
	351
                  

                

            

            

              

Lapidists.

              

                  

                    
	Larsen, N. F. B.,
                    
	420
                  

                

            

            

              

Laundries.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Steam Laundry
                    
	379
                  

                  

                    
	Wigg, T.,
                    
	379
                  

                

            

            

              

Law Stationers.

              

                  

                    
	White, H.,
                    
	282
                  

                

            

            

              

Leather Dressers.

              

                  

                    
	Sutherland, W. and Co.
                    
	384
                  

                

            

            

              

Leather and Grindery Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Fleming, C. C.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Wiseman, J. and Son
                    
	386
                  

                

            

            

              

Lime Merchants and Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, J. and Co.
                    
	402
                  

                

            

            

              

Livery Stable Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Martin, J.,
                    
	515
                  

                  

                    
	Tanner, H. C. N.,
                    
	419
                  

                

            

            

              

Manufacturing Stationers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Brown and Stewart
                    
	403
                  

                

            

            

              

Meat Preserving and Freezing Companies.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Freezing Works
                    
	387
                  

                

            

            

              

Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Farmers' Co-op. Society, Limited
                    
	357
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co.
                    
	399
                  

                

            

            

              

Millers and Grain Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Bycroft, Limited
                    
	408
                  

                  

                    
	Northern Roller Mill. Co.
                    
	409
                  

                

            

            

              

Mine Owners.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, F. W.,
                    
	463
                  

                

            

            

              

Mortgage and Loan Companies.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Mort. Loan and Dis. Bank
                    
	357
                  

                  

                    
	North Est. Agency and Fin. Co., Ltd.
                    
	356
                  

                

            

            

              
Musical Instrument Sellers and Importers

              

                  

                    
	Brit. and Cont. Piano Co.
                    
	265
                  

                  

                    
	Carter, T. E.,
                    
	266
                  

                  

                    
	Lond. and Berl. Piano Co.
                    
	265
                  

                  

                    
	Squire, Byron and Son
                    
	266
                  

                

            

            

              

Newspapers.

              

                  

                    
	“Auckland Star”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“Auckland Weekly News”
                    
	269
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Farmer”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Graphic”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Herald”
                    
	269
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Illus. Sport. and Dramatic Review”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“N.Z. Primitive Methodist”
                    
	271
                  

                  

                    
	“Observer”
                    
	271
                  

                

            

            

              

Oil and Colour Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Bennett, M. J.,
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, A. H.,
                    
	347
                  

                  

                    
	Phillips, W. and Son
                    
	348
                  

                  

                    
	Tapper, J. and C.,
                    
	514
                  

                

            

            

              

Oilskin Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Downs, W. H.,
                    
	415
                  

                

            

            

              

Omnibus and Cab Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Martin, J.,
                    
	515
                  

                

            

            

              

Opticians.

              

                  

                    
	Haslett, J. A.,
                    
	290
                  

                  

                    
	Howden, J.,
                    
	420
                  

                

            

            

              

Outfitters.

              

                  

                    
	Cash, E.,
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Foster, J. and Co.
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Kemp, B. J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                  

                    
	Sankey, H.,
                    
	354
                  

                

            

            

              

Painters, Glaziers and Decorators.

              

                  

                    
	Bennett, M. J.,
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Caston, J. R.,
                    
	518
                  

                  

                    
	Fricker and Sons
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Hansen, C. C.,
                    
	347
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson, J.,
                    
	347
                  

                  

                    
	Rowley, J. C.
                    
	523
                  

                  

                    
	Simpson, D. McG.,
                    
	348
                  

                  

                    
	Tapper, J. and C.,
                    
	514
                  

                

            

            

              

Paper Bag Makers and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Field, J. H.,
                    
	405
                  

                

            

            

              

Paper Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Brown and Stewart
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Given, A. and Co.
                    
	405
                  

                

            

            

              

Photographers.

              

                  

                    
	Bartlett, W. H.,
                    
	318–1020
                  

                  

                    
	Hanna, J. R.,
                    
	318
                  

                  

                    
	Morton, J. C.,
                    
	319
                  

                

            

            

              

Physicians and Surgeons.

              

                  

                    
	Bakewell, R. H.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Bayntun, F. T.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Beale, B. C.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Bedford, R.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Campbell, J. L.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Coates, F. W.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Coom, R.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Darby, W. J.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Girdler, G. T.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Goldie, W. H.,
                    
	283
                  

                  

                    
	Grant, N. McK.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	Guinness, W. M. G.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	Haines, H.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	Hooper, J. H.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	King, F. W. R. J.,
                    
	284
                  

                  

                    
	Knight, A. O.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, T. H.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Lindsay, P. A.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Marsack, A. E.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Moir, J.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Moir, P.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Orpen, H.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Parkes, W. H.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Purchas, A. C.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Reid, S. B.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Roberton, E.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Sharman, E. W.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Somerville, J. E. W.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Walker, H.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Watson, C. G.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Wilkins, J.,
                    
	285
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, T. O.,
                    
	286
                  

                  

                    
	Wine, H. C.,
                    
	286
                  

                  

                    
	Woodward, A.,
                    
	286
                  

                

            

            

              

Picture Framers and Gilders.

              

                  

                    
	Hansen, C. C.,
                    
	347
                  

                  

                    
	Simpson, D. McG.,
                    
	348
                  

                

            

            

              

Plumbers and Gasfitters.

              

                  

                    
	Angus, J. S.,
                    
	519
                  

                  

                    
	Tudehope, R.,
                    
	375
                  

                

            

            

              

Potters, Tile, and Brick and Drain Pipe Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Duder, R. and R.,
                    
	533
                  

                

            

            

              

Printers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Collins, W. Sons and Co.
                    
	404
                  

                  

                    
	Field, J. H.,
                    
	405
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, A.,
                    
	406
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Private School Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Giles, T. H.,
                    
	213
                  

                  

                    
	Hull, Miss
                    
	211
                  

                  

                    
	Malcolm, W.,
                    
	213
                  

                  

                    
	Moore-Jones, Mrs S. A. M.,
                    
	211
                  

                

            

            

              

Process Engravers.

              

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Produce Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Gunson, W. and Co.
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Laxon, Neill and Co.
                    
	409
                  

                

            

            

              

Provision Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Ellyett, A. J.
                    
	409
                  

                  

                    
	Duder, R. and R.,
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	Winn, W.,
                    
	411
                  

                

            

            

              

Publishers.

              

                  

                    
	Collins, W. Sons and Co.
                    
	404
                  

                  

                    
	Hescott, G.,
                    
	407
                  

                

            

            

              

Rubber Stamp Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Saddlers, Harnessmakers, and Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Fleming, C. C.,
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Knight, J. I.
                    
	382
                  

                  

                    
	Wallis and Caley
                    
	385
                  

                  

                    
	Wiseman, J. and Son
                    
	386
                  

                

            

            

              

Sculptors and Monumental Masons.

              

                  

                    
	Harris, F.,
                    
	337
                  

                

            

            

              

Seedsmen, Florists and Nurserymen.

              

                  

                    
	Frick, W.,
                    
	400
                  

                  

                    
	Hay, D. and Son
                    
	522
                  

                  

                    
	McIndoe, W.,
                    
	515
                  

                  

                    
	Parrish, M.,
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson Bros.
                    
	529
                  

                  

                    
	Yates, Arthur and Co.
                    
	400
                  

                

            

            

              

Sewing Machine Experts and Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Thompson Bros, and Co.
                    
	378
                  

                

            

            

              

Sharebrokers.

              

                  

                    
	Barr Brown, R.,
                    
	309
                  

                  

                    
	Jacson, J.,
                    
	469
                  

                  

                    
	Lennox, J. M.,
                    
	312
                  

                

            

            


            

              

Shipbuilders, Boatbuilders, Etc.

              

                  

                    
	Bailey, C.,
                    
	454
                  

                  

                    
	Bailey and Lowe
                    
	453
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, W. H.,
                    
	534
                  

                  

                    
	Henderson and Spraggon
                    
	455
                  

                  

                    
	Logan Bros.
                    
	456
                  

                  

                    
	Logan, R., Sen.
                    
	457
                  

                  

                    
	Nicol, G. T.,
                    
	458
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipbrokers.

              

                  

                    
	Stone Bros.
                    
	313
                  

                

            

            

              

Ship Chandlers.

              

                  

                    
	Anderson, H. F. and Co.
                    
	376
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipping Companies and Shipowners.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J. J.,
                    
	310
                  

                  

                    
	Devonport Steam Ferry Co.
                    
	451
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Shipping Co., Ltd.
                    
	444
                  

                  

                    
	Niccol, G. T.,
                    
	458
                  

                  

                    
	Northern Steamship, Ltd.
                    
	444
                  

                  

                    
	Union S. Co. of N.Z. Ltd.
                    
	440
                  

                

            

            

              

Shirt Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Cambridge S. and Clothing Factory
                    
	350
                  

                  

                    
	Kemp, B. J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                  

                    
	Seabrook, H. H.,
                    
	352
                  

                

            

            

              

Signwriters.

              

                  

                    
	Bennett, M. J.,
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Fricker and Sons
                    
	346
                  

                  

                    
	Hansen, C. C.,
                    
	347
                  

                

            

            

              

Stereotypers.

              

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.
                    
	406
                  

                

            

            

              

Stock Exchange.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Stock Exchange
                    
	356
                  

                

            

            

              

Storekeepers—
General.

              

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson
                    
	392
                  

                

            

            

              

Straw Hat Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Plummer, C. B.,
                    
	416
                  

                

            

            

              

Stock Salesmen.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co., Ltd.
                    
	399
                  

                

            

            

              

Stove and Range Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Broady, J. and Co.
                    
	367
                  

                  

                    
	Handley, C.,
                    
	371
                  

                  

                    
	Hyauiason. D.,
                    
	372
                  

                  

                    
	Nicholls, R.,
                    
	373
                  

                

            

            

              

Stud Owners.

              

                  

                    
	Marshall, L.,
                    
	520
                  

                

            

            

              

Sugar Refiners.

              

                  

                    
	Col. Sugar Refining Co.
                    
	414
                  

                

            

            

              

Surveyors—
Building.

              

                  

                    
	Wade, H. L.,
                    
	317
                  

                

            

            

              

Surveyors and Mining Surveyors.

              

                  

                    
	Baker, S. E. W.,
                    
	315
                  

                  

                    
	Cheal, P. E.,
                    
	466
                  

                  

                    
	Harrison and Foster
                    
	468
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, H. M.,
                    
	469
                  

                

            

            

              

Tailors.

              

                  

                    
	Acme Tailoring Company
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Cash, E.,
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Davey and Son
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Erickson, A.,
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Foster, J. and Co.
                    
	353
                  

                  

                    
	Hogan, J.,
                    
	514
                  

                  

                    
	Kemp, B. J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                  

                    
	Murchie, M.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Possnniskie, H. L.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Potter, W. H.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Sankey, H.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Swales, R. H.,
                    
	354
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, A.,
                    
	355
                  

                

            

            

              
Tanners and Fellmongers

              

                  

                    
	Astley and Son
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Ireland Bros.
                    
	380
                  

                  

                    
	Sutherland, W. and Co.
                    
	384
                  

                

            

            

              

Teachers of Music—Instrumental and Vocal.

              

                  

                    
	Adams, Miss J. M.,
                    
	258
                  

                  

                    
	Baker, Miss I.,
                    
	258
                  

                  

                    
	Bennett, J. F.,
                    
	259
                  

                  

                    
	Bosworth, T. H.,
                    
	259
                  

                  

                    
	Boult A.,
                    
	259
                  

                  

                    
	Burke, E. J.,
                    
	259
                  

                  

                    
	Bridgewater, Miss J. E.,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	Carter, T. E.,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	Chambers, Madam,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	Coates, Mrs A.,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	England, W. J.,
                    
	26
                  

                  

                    
	Finer, T. W.,
                    
	260
                  

                  

                    
	Gribbin, Miss G.,
                    
	261
                  

                  

                    
	Harding, Miss F.,
                    
	261
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, Mrs
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, S.,
                    
	261
                  

                  

                    
	Law, Miss A. E.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	Lester, Miss F.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	McFarlane, C.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	McMaster, Miss I.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	Naujoks, Herr C.,
                    
	262
                  

                  

                    
	Paque, G. A.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Partridge, A. A.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Player, Miss A. A.,
                    
	293
                  

                  

                    
	Rimmer, Miss A.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Thomas, W. E.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Towsey, A.,
                    
	263
                  

                  

                    
	Chambers, C.,
                    
	264
                  

                  

                    
	Verrall, Miss A. H.,
                    
	264
                  

                

            

            

              

Tea Merchants and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, Barrett and Co.
                    
	295
                  

                  

                    
	Doonin, T. W.
                    
	408
                  

                  

                    
	Peet, W. and J.,
                    
	410
                  

                  

                    
	Whitehead, F.,
                    
	410
                  

                

            

            

              

Timber Merchants and Sawmillers.

              

                  

                    
	Bagnall Bros. and Co.
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Goldie, D.,
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Kauri Timber Company
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Macklow Bros.
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Mander and Bradley
                    
	421
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co.,
                    
	393–422
                  

                  

                    
	Parker, Lamb and Co.,
                    
	122
                  

                

            

            

              

Tinsmiths.

              

                  

                    
	Angus, J. S.,
                    
	519
                  

                  

                    
	Harvey and Sons
                    
	371
                  

                

            

            

              

Tobacconists.

              

                  

                    
	Jamieson, J.,
                    
	526
                  

                

            

            

              

Tramway Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Auckland Electric Tramways Company
                    
	418
                  

                

            

            

              

Undertakers.

              

                  

                    
	Little, C.,
                    
	358
                  

                

            

            

              

Warehousemen.

              

                  

                    
	Abbott, Oram and Co.
                    
	395
                  

                  

                    
	Sargood Son and Ewen
                    
	399
                  

                

            

            

              

Warehousemen and Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Clark, Archibald and Sons, Limited,
                    
	396
                  

                  

                    
	Macky, Logan, Steen, and Co.
                    
	398
                  

                

            

            

              

Watchmakers and Jewellers.

              

                  

                    
	Bartlett, A. G.,
                    
	420
                  

                  

                    
	Howden, J.,
                    
	420
                  

                  

                    
	Larsen, N. F. B.,
                    
	420
                  

                  

                    
	Maud, W.,
                    
	420
                  

                  

                    
	Slaney, W.,
                    
	420
                  

                

            

            

              

Waterproof Garment Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Belchamber and Co.
                    
	350
                  

                  

                    
	Morran, J. M.,
                    
	352
                  

                

            

            

              

Wholesale Chemists and Druggists.

              

                  

                    
	Sharland and Co., Ltd.,
                    
	292
                  

                

            

            

              

Wholesale Stationers and Fancy Goods Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Abel Dykes, Limited
                    
	403
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, P. and Co.,
                    
	403
                  

                

            

            

              
Wine and Spirit Merchants

              

                  

                    
	Hipkins and Coutts
                    
	385
                  

                

            

            

              
Woodware Manufacturers

              

                  

                    
	Murdoch, C. P. and Sons
                    
	422
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Accountants and Auditors.

              

                  

                    
	Alexander, G. E., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Coleman, J., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, H. M., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukohu
                    
	620
                  

                  

                    
	Thom, P., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                

            

            

              

Aerated Water and Cordial Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Barry, D. J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Hally, G. J., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Hoey, S., Whangarei
                    
	548
                  

                  

                    
	Innes, C. L. and Co., Hamilton
                    
	747
                  

                  

                    
	Lindley, J., Te Kopuru
                    
	639
                  

                  

                    
	Lucas, J. A., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Menzies and Co., Hamilton
                    
	748-830-847-881-922
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Commission.

              

                  

                    
	Adair, W., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Alexander, G. E., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Bennettland Sherratt, Gis.
                    
	994
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, J. A., Tauranga
                    
	934
                  

                  

                    
	Gillespie and Son, Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Griffiths, D., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, W., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, C. F., Gisborne
                    
	977
                  

                  

                    
	Loughlin, J. M., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	McFadyen, J. M. Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, H. M., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Reid. W. D., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Rockliff, J. B., Coromandel
                    
	490
                  

                  

                    
	Seddon, R., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Stubbs and Co., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Customs, Shipping, and Forwarding.

              

                  

                    
	Gillespie and Son, Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Kennedy and Evans, and Kennedy, Evans and Co., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Sheridan and Co., Gis.
                    
	983
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Cycle.

              

                  

                    
	Oldfield J. Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
General.

              

                  

                    
	Fordyce, S. E., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Hirst, S. L., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukohu
                    
	620
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Insurance.

              

                  

                    
	Adair, W., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, J. A., Tauranga
                    
	934
                  

                  

                    
	Coleman, J., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Garton, W., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Kennedy and Evans, an Kennedy, Evans, and Co., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Lewis, C. F., Gisborne
                    
	977
                  

                  

                    
	Reid, W. D., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Rossiter, S. T., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Land and Estate.

              

                  

                    
	Alexander, G. E., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Aspinall, J., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, J. A., Tauranga
                    
	934
                  

                  

                    
	Coleman, J., Gisborne
                    
	982
                  

                  

                    
	Edgecumbe, J. S., Hamilton W.
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Gooch, R., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Griffiths, D., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, A. F., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, H. M., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Roche, H. Ochaupo
                    
	720
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukohu
                    
	620
                  

                  

                    
	Wyllie and Mason, Gis.
                    
	984
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Mining.

              

                  

                    
	Rockliff, J. B., Coromandel
                    
	490
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Press.

              

                  

                    
	Farrelly, R. G., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                

            

            

              

Agents—
Stock and Station.

              

                  

                    
	Dickeson, G. F., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                  

                    
	McNicol and Co., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, H. M., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Williams and Kettle, Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	996
                  

                

            

            

              
Apiarists

              

                  

                    
	Hobbs, J. C., Tauwhare
                    
	762
                  

                  

                    
	Stevenson, G., Waiohika
                    
	1009
                  

                

            

            

              

Architects.

              

                  

                    
	Burrows, A. W., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Finneran, W. P., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, A., Onehunga
                    
	652
                  

                  

                    
	Quigley, W. J., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Tetley, W., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                

            

            

              

Auctioneers.

              

                  

                    
	Hunter, W. J., Ohaupo
                    
	720
                  

                  

                    
	McGregor, R. R., Thames
                    
	878
                  

                  

                    
	McNicol and Co., Hamilton
                    
	746–772
                  

                  

                    
	Raymond, W. T., Totorua
                    
	806–934
                  

                  

                    
	Ross, A. Y., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Rountree, J., Te Kuiti
                    
	738
                  

                  

                    
	Seddon, R., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukchu
                    
	620
                  

                  

                    
	Welham, A. R., Aratapu
                    
	629
                  

                  

                    
	Wyllie and Mason, Gis.
                    
	984
                  

                

            

            

              
Bakers

              

                  

                    
	Bromwich, E., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Bygrave, S. L., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Clifford, H. and J., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Dibsell, W., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Gleeson, C., Huntly
                    
	708
                  

                  

                    
	Gleeson and Sons, Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                  

                    
	Hav. J. C., Kirikiriroa
                    
	754


                  

                  
                  

                    
	Horne, J. T., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Hunter, M. and S., Mercer
                    
	703
                  

                  

                    
	Irvine, J., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, C., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Learmouth, W., Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Lees, T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	538
                  

                  

                    
	Lever, J., Waikino
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	McWatters, W. J., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Manson, W., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey, Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Newdick, J., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Oatridge, F. J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, W. E., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, H. S., Takapuna
                    
	537
                  

                  

                    
	Samson, T., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Saulbrey, T. L., Cambridge
                    
	772
                  

                  

                    
	Steven, Mrs M. A., Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                

            

            

              

Barristers and Solicitors.

              

                  

                    
	Cave, C. W., Cambridge
                    
	771
                  

                  

                    
	Clendon, E. J., Thames
                    
	875
                  

                  

                    
	Clendon and Mueller, Paeroa
                    
	845
                  

                  

                    
	Day, V. G., Thames
                    
	876
                  

                  

                    
	De Lautour, C. A., Gis.
                    
	980
                  

                  

                    
	Eilliott, H. E., Opotiki
                    
	947
                  

                  

                    
	Field, E. T., Whangarei
                    
	546
                  

                  

                    
	Finn, H. J., Gisborne
                    
	980
                  

                  

                    
	Haslett, H. M., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, W. M. Paeroa
                    
	845
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, R. N., Gisborne
                    
	980
                  

                  

                    
	Killen, J. M., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Lysnar, W. D., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	McVeagh, J., Paeroa
                    
	845
                  

                  

                    
	Miller and Porritt, Paeroa
                    
	845
                  

                  

                    
	Miller and Son, Thames
                    
	876
                  

                  

                    
	Moss, E. J. B., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Nolan, J. W., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	O'Neill, L., Hamilton
                    
	745
                  

                  

                    
	Reed, V. H., Kawakawa
                    
	569
                  

                  

                    
	Rees Bros., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Sievwright, W. Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Steadman, T. H., Whangar
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Swarbrick, A., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                

            

            

              

Bath Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Slevin, J., Waihi
                    
	926
                  

                  

                    
	Taylor, J. J., Kamo
                    
	557
                  

                

            

            

              

Biscuit Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                

            

            

              

Blacksmiths.

              

                  

                    
	Bell, H., Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                  

                    
	Benton, W. P., Tirau
                    
	795
                  

                  

                    
	Brennan, J., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Corbett, W. H., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Ellis, W. Paeroa
                    
	847–905
                  

                  

                    
	Gemmill, T., Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                  

                    
	Hedley, J. W., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Loughter, H. J., Waerenga-a-hika
                    
	1008
                  

                  

                    
	McInnes, M., Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	McMillan, D., Ormond
                    
	953
                  

                  

                    
	Nisbet, W. A., Kaeo
                    
	587
                  

                  

                    
	Paddy, W. J., Ngaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                  

                    
	Purdy, J., Kaikohe
                    
	575
                  

                  

                    
	Thomson, J., Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                  

                    
	Wallace, D. M., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Warren, H., Gisborne
                    
	992
                  

                  

                    
	West, J., Thames
                    
	888
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, T., Kihikihi
                    
	733
                  

                

            

            

              

Boardinghouse-Keepers.

              

                  

                    
	Berghan, Mrs J., Ahipara
                    
	604
                  

                  

                    
	Brent, S. T., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Cross, J., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Davys and Son, Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Goodwin, D., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon, Mrs. Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Hazard, W., Peria
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	Irvine, J., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Kerr, R. J., Matamata
                    
	792
                  

                  

                    
	McLeed, D. M., Waipu
                    
	541
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, A., Opua
                    
	570
                  

                  

                    
	Peace, J. G., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Pickett, W. C., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, C. H., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Woolcock, Mrs, Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                

            

            

              

Booksellers and Stationers.

              

                  

                    
	Burra, R., Thames
                    
	890
                  

                  

                    
	Bushnell, H. J., Gisborne
                    
	996
                  

                  

                    
	Cowdell, J. T., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Crawford and Son, Gis.
                    
	996
                  

                  

                    
	Farrelly, R. G., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, G. J., Onehunga
                    
	654
                  

                  

                    
	Lawn, Mrs H. A., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, J., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Nodder, J., Thames
                    
	890
                  

                  

                    
	Oldfield, J., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                

            

            

              

Bone Millers.

              

                  

                    
	Madill and Collier, Tuakau
                    
	691
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot and Shoemakers, Importers and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Buckley, R., Thames
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Courtney, A. C., Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Fordyce, S. E., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Halliday, J., Kaeo
                    
	587
                  

                  

                    
	McLeay, E. A., Waibi
                    
	924
                  

                  

                    
	May, J. W., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Rowe, W. and Co., Waitekauri
                    
	914–916
                  

                  

                    
	Salmon, D., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Scott, R., Thames
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Searle Bros., Paeroa
                    
	850
                  

                  

                    
	Stanton, J., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                

            

            

              

Boot and Shoe Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Dymock, H., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Onehunga Boot Factory
                    
	653
                  

                

            

            

              

Brewers and Maltsters.

              

                  

                    
	Barry, D. J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Goldfields Brewery, Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Innes, C. L. and Co., Hamil.
                    
	747
                  

                

            

            

              

Builders and Contractors.

              

                  

                    
	Aspinall, J., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Bell, R. M. Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                  

                    
	Chappell, F., Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Clayton Bros., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Donovan, T., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, T., Hamilton
                    
	747
                  

                  

                    
	Forrest, W., Paeroa
                    
	854
                  

                  

                    
	Gray, W. J., Katikati
                    
	929
                  

                  

                    
	Hay, W. M., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                  

                    
	Hunt, T. W., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, A., Onehunga
                    
	652
                  

                  

                    
	Keys, J. J., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Kusabs Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Mackrell and Colley, Gis.
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Mansill, C. H., Mangawhare
                    
	625
                  

                  

                    
	Maxted and Co., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Mills, J., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Rossiler, S. T., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Sloane, T. H., Roturua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Spiers, W. A., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Stafford, F., Gisborne
                    
	1000
                  

                  

                    
	Steele Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Twentyman, R., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                

            

            

              

Building and Loan Societies.

              

                  

                    
	Gisborne Co-operative
                    
	988
                  

                  

                    
	Gisborne Permanent
                    
	989
                  

                  

                    
	Thames Land, Building and Investment
                    
	884
                  

                

            

            

              

Butchers.

              

                  

                    
	Bettley, J., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, G., Tuakau
                    
	691
                  

                  

                    
	Buroughs, W. and J., Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Colebrooke, G., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Collings, C. A., Waitekauri
                    
	914
                  

                  

                    
	Cotter, R. J., Waikino
                    
	910–914
                  

                  

                    
	Gibson, F. R., Te Awamutu
                    
	728
                  

                  

                    
	Graves, G. W., Ngaruawahia
                    
	715
                  

                  

                    
	Halliwell Bros., Kohukohu
                    
	621
                  

                  

                    
	Hill, R., Gisborne
                    
	993
                  

                  

                    
	Horwood, G. T., Huntly
                    
	709
                  

                  

                    
	Lees. T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	533
                  

                  

                    
	McConnell and Millington, Gisborne
                    
	993
                  

                  

                    
	Mace, C. E., Waitekauri
                    
	914
                  

                  

                    
	Maynard, J., Gisborne
                    
	993
                  

                  

                    
	Ott, F., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                  

                    
	Pyne, C. S., Thames
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Qualtrough, T., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, W. A., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Ross, J., J., Mamaku
                    
	797
                  

                  

                    
	Roulston Bros., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	Rowe, J., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Scelley, D., Waharoa
                    
	790
                  

                  

                    
	Tetley, J. W., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                  

                    
	Vuglar, G., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                  

                    
	Vuglar, T. P., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Walls, J., Paeroa
                    
	950
                  

                  

                    
	Walsh, J. H., Thames
                    
	890
                  

                  

                    
	Waring, A. H., Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                  

                    
	Wells, T. G., Thames
                    
	890
                  

                  

                    
	Wight, A. E., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                

            

            

              

Cabinetmakers and Upholsterers.

              

                  

                    
	Attwood, W. N., Gisborne
                    
	989
                  

                  

                    
	Bane Bros., Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Dann, F., Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Reynolds, E. G. A., Gis.
                    
	989
                  

                  

                    
	Townley, J., Gisborne
                    
	989
                  

                

            

            

              

Carpenters.

              

                  

                    
	Donovan, T., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                  

                    
	Watts, A., Hamilton
                    
	748
                  

                

            

            

              

Carriers.

              

                  

                    
	Freeman. T., Lichfield
                    
	797
                  

                  

                    
	Goodson, F., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Kennedy and Evans, and Kennedy and Evans, and Co., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	McLennan and Hope, Paeroa
                    
	852–915
                  

                  

                    
	Sawyer, A., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                

            

            

              

Caterers.

              

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                

            

            

              

Cement Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Portland Cement Co., Whangarei
                    
	550
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, J. and Co., Warkworth
                    
	541
                  

                

            

            

              

Chemists and Druggists.

              

                  

                    
	Cadman, J. C. Huntly
                    
	707
                  

                  

                    
	De Castro, G. P., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Denby, G. Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, W., Paeroa
                    
	846–905
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, J. W., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Hood, T., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Kane, H., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Little, W., Cambridge
                    
	772
                  

                  

                    
	Manning, E., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Maxwell, A. A., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Prinn, R. W., Taupo
                    
	818
                  

                  

                    
	Ray, F. J., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Robins, W., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Robson, G., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, T., Onehunga
                    
	652
                  

                  

                    
	Smyth, A. C., Pukekohe
                    
	672
                  

                  

                    
	Spencer, R., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Stephenson, F., Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Tennent, C. F. E., Waitekauri
                    
	912
                  

                

            

            

              

Coachbuilders.

              

                  

                    
	Brennan, J., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Corbett, W. H., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Ellis, W. J., Paearoa
                    
	847–905
                  

                  

                    
	Ferguson, J., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Goodwin, D., Pukekohe
                    
	672
                  

                  

                    
	Hedley, J. W., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Ormond, J. H., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Spooner, G. and W., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Vant, W., Nagaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                  

                    
	Wallace, D. M., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                

            

            

              

Coach and Livery Stable Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Des Barres, F. S., Gis.
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Gallagher, E., Te Aroha
                    
	832
                  

                  

                    
	Gilman, A. C., Tauranga
                    
	936
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon Bros., Paeroa
                    
	852
                  

                  

                    
	Harwood and Co., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	McKenzie, D., Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	McLeod, D. M., Waipu
                    
	541
                  

                  

                    
	Ohinemuri Coaching Co., Paeroa
                    
	852-907-926
                  

                  

                    
	Redstone, J. R., Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Rickit and Co., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, E. and Co., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Steven, Mrs M. A., Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                  

                    
	Teasdale, J. B., Te Awamutu
                    
	729
                  

                  

                    
	Thomson, A. and Co., Waihi
                    
	926
                  

                

            

            

              

Coal Companies.

              

                  

                    
	Hikurangi
                    
	560
                  

                  

                    
	Taupiri Coal Mines, Ltd.
                    
	708
                  

                

            

            

              

Coal Mine Managers.

              

                  

                    
	Harrison, J., Huntly
                    
	709
                  

                

            

            

              

Coal and Wood Merchants And Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Baine, P., Te Aroha
                    
	832
                  

                  

                    
	Oxenham and Somervell, Makauri
                    
	1010
                  

                

            

            

              
Collectors of Curios

              

                  

                    
	Lakin, J. H., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                

            

            

              

Commercial Travellers.

              

                  

                    
	Rendall, J., Hamilton
                    
	747
                  

                

            

            

              
Confectioners

              

                  

                    
	Bromwich, E., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Gleeson, C., Huntly
                    
	708
                  

                  

                    
	Gleeson and Sons, Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, W., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                  

                    
	Hay, J. C., Kirikiriroa
                    
	754
                  

                  

                    
	Horne, J. T., Hamilton W.
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Irvine, J., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, C., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Learmouth, W., Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Lever, J., Waikino
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	Mennie and Dey, Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	New dick, J., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Oatridge, F. J., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, W. E., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, H. S., Takapuna
                    
	537
                  

                  

                    
	Saulbrey, T. L., Cambridge
                    
	772
                  

                

            

            

              

Contractors.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, W. J., Dargaville
                    
	623
                  

                  

                    
	Day, C. G. S., Cambridge
                    
	776
                  

                  

                    
	Dickey, N., Paeroa
                    
	855
                  

                  

                    
	McLennan and Hope, Paeroa
                    
	852–915
                  

                  

                    
	Nisbet, A., Kaeo
                    
	587
                  

                

            

            

              
Cycle Repairers

              

                  

                    
	Hammond, J. E., Hamilton West
                    
	749
                  

                

            

            

              

Dairy Factories and Creameries.

              

                  

                    
	Cambridge (Hautapu)
                    
	763


                  

                  
                  

                    
	Gordon
                    
	837
                  

                  

                    
	Karapiro
                    
	779
                  

                  

                    
	Kia Ora, Makaraka
                    
	1003
                  

                  

                    
	Kihikihi
                    
	733
                  

                  

                    
	Kirikiriroa
                    
	754
                  

                  

                    
	Manawaru
                    
	836
                  

                  

                    
	Maungatawhiri Valley
                    
	700
                  

                  

                    
	Mercer
                    
	703
                  

                  

                    
	Newstead Station
                    
	757
                  

                  

                    
	Ngaruawahia
                    
	715
                  

                  

                    
	Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Paparata
                    
	699
                  

                  

                    
	Paternagi
                    
	722
                  

                  

                    
	Pokeno
                    
	696
                  

                  

                    
	Pukekohe Central
                    
	672
                  

                  

                    
	Pukekura
                    
	782
                  

                  

                    
	Pukerimu
                    
	783
                  

                  

                    
	Puriri, Thames
                    
	882
                  

                  

                    
	Razorback
                    
	698
                  

                  

                    
	Tamahere Butter Factory
                    
	759
                  

                  

                    
	Tamahere Creamery
                    
	759
                  

                  

                    
	Tauwhare Cheese Factory
                    
	761
                  

                  

                    
	Te Awamutu Creamery
                    
	726
                  

                  

                    
	Te Awamutu Dairy Factory
                    
	726
                  

                  

                    
	Tuakau
                    
	691
                  

                  

                    
	Waharoa
                    
	790
                  

                  

                    
	Waihou
                    
	823
                  

                  

                    
	Wairoa South
                    
	666
                  

                

            

            

              

Dentists.

              

                  

                    
	Cranwell, R. B., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Hobbs, W., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Noble-Campbell, S. A., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Pickmere, A. R., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Poole, R. S., Cambridge
                    
	772
                  

                  

                    
	Rishworth, J. N., Onehunga
                    
	652
                  

                  

                    
	Sykes, W. J., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Thomas, H. W. E., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, H. L., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Young, J. A., Hamilton W.
                    
	746
                  

                

            

            

              

Drapers.

              

                  

                    
	Adair Bros., Gisborne
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	Adams Bros., Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Court, A., Thames
                    
	882
                  

                  

                    
	Cox, N. R., Hamilton West
                    
	748
                  

                  

                    
	Cullen and Co., Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Cullen, G. and Co., Thames
                    
	883–923
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, A. W., Te Arhoa
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Hallenstein Bros. and Co., Hamilton
                    
	748-888-987
                  

                  

                    
	Hetherington, S., Thames
                    
	883
                  

                  

                    
	Hetherington, W. and Co., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	May, J. W., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, R., Gisborne
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, G. L., Te Awamutu
                    
	727
                  

                  

                    
	Wood, R., Thames
                    
	884
                  

                  

                    
	Wylie, W. S., Thames
                    
	884
                  

                

            

            

              

Engineers.

              

                  

                    
	Brown, J., Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Harp, J. G., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Hossack, A., Aoroa
                    
	632
                  

                  

                    
	Humphreys and Davys, Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Laurie, W., Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, A. F., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Parker, A. S., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Price, A. and G., Thames
                    
	887
                  

                  

                    
	Ranger, W. and Co., Gis.
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Reilly, J., Coromandel
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Spinley, C. H., Helensville
                    
	635
                  

                

            

            

              

Fancy Goods Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Cowdell, J. T., Whangarie
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Crawford and Son, Gis.
                    
	996
                  

                  

                    
	Jackson, G. J., Onehunga
                    
	654
                  

                  

                    
	Lawn, Mrs H. A., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Nathan, J., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, G. L., Te Awamutu
                    
	727
                  

                

            

            

              

Fish Curers.

              

                  

                    
	Masefield Bros., Russell
                    
	565
                  

                

            

            

              

Flax Millers.

              

                  

                    
	Mellars, G. F., Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                

            

            

              

Flour Millers.

              

                  

                    
	Bycroft, R., Tuakau
                    
	691
                  

                  

                    
	Gray, W. J., Katikati
                    
	929
                  

                

            

            

              

Fruiterers.

              

                  

                    
	Clark, A. H., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, W., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                

            

            

              

Fruit Evaporators.

              

                  

                    
	Halley, G. J., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                

            

            

              

Fruitgrowers.

              

                  

                    
	Booker, W., Taukau
                    
	691
                  

                

            

            

              

Fruit Preservers.

              

                  

                    
	Masefield Bros., Russell
                    
	565
                  

                

            

            

              

Gas Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Gisborne Gas Co., Ltd.
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Hamilton Gas Co., Ltd.
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Ohinemuri Light and Power Co., Paeroa
                    
	852
                  

                  

                    
	Thames Gas Co., Limited
                    
	892
                  

                

            

            

              

General Mechanics.

              

                  

                    
	McAuley, G., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                

            

            

              

General Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Abbot, R. T., Opotoki
                    
	947
                  

                  

                    
	Benett and Sheratt, Gis.
                    
	994
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, Campbell and Co., Mangawhare
                    
	626
                  

                  

                    
	Clark. A. and Sons, Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	994
                  

                  

                    
	Clifford, H. and J., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Common, Shelton and Co., Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	995
                  

                  

                    
	Dickeson, G. F., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Elmsly, J. G., Kihikihi
                    
	734
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, J., Waipapakauri
                    
	601
                  

                  

                    
	Friar, Davies and Co.
                    
	716–728
                  

                  

                    
	Gilmore, J., Tauranga
                    
	936
                  

                  

                    
	Hare Bros., Kaeo
                    
	588
                  

                  

                    
	Hazard, W., Peria
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Molesworth and Saies, Totara North
                    
	582
                  

                  

                    
	Price, A. E., Paeroa
                    
	850
                  

                  

                    
	Sheridan and Co., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Spence, M., Tauranga
                    
	936
                  

                  

                    
	Wells T., Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                  

                    
	Williams and Kettle, Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	996
                  

                  

                    
	Yates, Mrs S., Parengarenga
                    
	609
                  

                

            

            

              

General Smiths.

              

                  

                    
	Spinley, C. H., Helensville
                    
	635
                  

                

            

            

              

Grain Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Browne, M. and Co., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Rawansley, S. Co., Poroti
                    
	559
                  

                  

                    
	Ryburn, E. S., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Souter, W. and Co., Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                

            

            

              

Grocers.

              

                  

                    
	Horne, J. T., Hamilton W.
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	McKee, J., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Reid, W. D., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Robertson, H. S., Takapuna
                    
	537
                  

                

            

            

              

Gunsmiths.

              

                  

                    
	Hart, J. S., Thames
                    
	886
                  

                

            

            

              

Hairdressers.

              

                  

                    
	Bracken, J. H., Karangahake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Chissell, C. H., Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Halliday, J., Kaeo
                    
	587
                  

                  

                    
	Oldfield, J., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                

            

            

              

Hardware Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Phillips, W. and Co., Waihi
                    
	924
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, J. H. and Co., Paeroa
                    
	850-889-924
                  

                

            

            

              

Horse Trainers.

              

                  

                    
	Parsons, A., Ormond
                    
	954
                  

                

            

            

              

Hotels.

              

                  

                    
	Allaway's Temperance, Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Alpha, Kihikihi
                    
	733
                  

                  

                    
	Ateamuri
                    
	821
                  

                  

                    
	Bridge, Matawhero
                    
	1006
                  

                  

                    
	Commercial, Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Commercial, Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Criterion, Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Delta, Ngaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                  

                    
	Ellerslie
                    
	655
                  

                  

                    
	Geyser House, Wairakei
                    
	816
                  

                  

                    
	Geyser, Whakarewarewa
                    
	812
                  

                  

                    
	Gisborne
                    
	990
                  

                  

                    
	Golden Cross
                    
	916
                  

                  

                    
	Governor Bowen, Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Grand, Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Grand, Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Hamilton
                    
	748
                  

                  

                    
	Hauraki, Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Hibernian, Onehunga
                    
	653
                  

                  

                    
	Horse Shoe, Matata
                    
	942
                  

                  

                    
	Hot Springs, Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Junction, Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Karanaghake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Kopu
                    
	857
                  

                  

                    
	Lake House, Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Lake, Taupo
                    
	818
                  

                  

                    
	Mackaytown
                    
	909
                  

                  

                    
	Masonic, Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                  

                    
	Masonic, Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Mercer Railway
                    
	703
                  

                  

                    
	Nottingham Castle, Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Ohaupo
                    
	720
                  

                  

                    
	Ohinemuri, Paeroa
                    
	849
                  

                  

                    
	Okoroire (and Sanatorium)
                    
	794
                  

                  

                    
	Opononi (and Sanatorium
                    
	615
                  

                  

                    
	Owharaoa, Waikine
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	Oxford Royal, Tirau
                    
	795
                  

                  

                    
	Pacific, Thames
                    
	885
                  

                  

                    
	Paeroa
                    
	849
                  

                  

                    
	Palace, Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Palace, Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                  

                    
	Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	Putararu Junction
                    
	796
                  

                  

                    
	Record Reign, Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Redan, Kaitaia
                    
	598
                  

                  

                    
	Riverhead
                    
	645
                  

                  

                    
	Rob Roy, Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Roseland, Makaraka
                    
	1003
                  

                  

                    
	Royal, Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Royal Mail, Coromandel
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Royal Mail, Paeroa
                    
	849
                  

                  

                    
	Settler's, The. Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Spa, The, Taupo
                    
	818
                  

                  

                    
	Star and Garter, Coroman.
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Talisman, Katikati
                    
	929
                  

                  

                    
	Taupiri
                    
	711
                  

                  

                    
	Taupo
                    
	819
                  

                  

                    
	Te Awamutu
                    
	727
                  

                  

                    
	Terrace, Taupo
                    
	819
                  

                  

                    
	Tramway, Karangahake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Traveller's Rest, Waipapakauri
                    
	601
                  

                  

                    
	Taukau Family
                    
	691
                  

                  

                    
	Waihou
                    
	823
                  

                  

                    
	Waikato, Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Waiorongomai
                    
	835
                  

                  

                    
	Waiotapu
                    
	814
                  

                  

                    
	Warwick Arms, Thames
                    
	886
                  

                  

                    
	Whangarei
                    
	548
                  

                

            

            

              

Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Adams Bros., Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Attwood, W. N., Gisborne
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, Campbell and Co., Mangawhare
                    
	626
                  

                  

                    
	Court, A., Thames
                    
	882
                  

                  

                    
	Cullen, G. and Co., Thames
                    
	883-923
                  

                  

                    
	Hallenstein Bros. and Co., Hamilton
                    
	748-883-987
                  

                  

                    
	Heterington, W. and Co., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson, Matakohe
                    
	642–644
                  

                  

                    
	McKee, J., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, T. H. W., Whananaki
                    
	563
                  

                  

                    
	Price, A. E., Paeroa
                    
	850
                  

                  

                    
	Rowe, W., and Co., Waitekauri
                    
	914–916
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, J. H. and Co., Paeroa
                    
	850-889-924
                  

                  

                    
	Teat and Friar, Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                

            

            

              

Interpreters and Native Agents.

              

                  

                    
	Rogers, W., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                  

                    
	Seon, C. W. P., Kohukohu
                    
	620
                  

                  

                    
	Shepherd, J. G., Whangaroa
                    
	581
                  

                  

                    
	Skipwort, F. G., Gisborne
                    
	983
                  

                  

                    
	Woods, G. H., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                

            

            

              

Iron and Brass Founders.

              

                  

                    
	Judd, C., Thames
                    
	888
                  

                  

                    
	Price, A. and G., Thames
                    
	887
                  

                

            

            

              

Ironmongers.

              

                  

                    
	Clayton Bros., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Forrest, W., Paeroa
                    
	854
                  

                  

                    
	Hunt, T. W., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	James, S., Coromandel
                    
	902
                  

                  

                    
	Johnson, J. B., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Lamb Bros., Thames
                    
	893
                  

                  

                    
	McFadyen, J. M., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Philips, W. and Co., Waihi
                    
	924
                  

                  

                    
	Walters, G., Karangahake
                    
	907
                  

                

            

            

              

Kauri Gum Industry.

              

                  

                    
	Black, J., Kerikeri
                    
	578
                  

                  

                    
	Bolton, C. F., Waione
                    
	618
                  

                  

                    
	Bowman, J., Ahipara
                    
	604
                  

                  

                    
	Burgoyne, W., Mangatete
                    
	600
                  

                  

                    
	Dickeson Bros., Ngawha
                    
	571
                  

                  

                    
	Dickeson, G. F., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Dye, F., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, A. W., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, J., Waipapakauri
                    
	601
                  

                  

                    
	Glover, G., Taheke
                    
	614
                  

                  

                    
	Hazard, W., Peria
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	Lawrence, W. R. and Co., Totara North
                    
	586
                  

                  

                    
	Lees, T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	538
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnolason, Matakohe
                    
	642–644
                  

                  

                    
	McGregor, R. R., Thames
                    
	878
                  

                  

                    
	Molesworth and Saies, Totara North
                    
	582
                  

                  

                    
	Rawnsley, S. and Co., Whangarei
                    
	551–559
                  

                  

                    
	Subritzky, L. A., Awanui
                    
	599
                  

                  

                    
	Tyanan, J. M., Waihopo
                    
	605
                  

                  

                    
	Wake, C. A., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Whitelaw, J., Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Woods, G. H., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, A., Kaikohe
                    
	577
                  

                  

                    
	Yates, Mrs S., Parengarenga
                    
	609
                  

                

            

            

              

Lime Burners.

              

                  

                    
	Oxenham and Somervell, Makauri
                    
	1010
                  

                

            

            


            

              

Meat Freezers and Preservers.

              

                  

                    
	Gisborne Freezing Works
                    
	992
                  

                  

                    
	Masefield Bros., Russell
                    
	565
                  

                  

                    
	Tareheru Freezing Works, Gisborne
                    
	993
                  

                

            

            

              

Mercantile Agency Company.

              

                  

                    
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co., Hamilton
                    
	750–996
                  

                

            

            

              

Mine and Battery Owners, Attorneys and Managers.

              

                  

                    
	Argall, A. E., Coromandel
                    
	484
                  

                  

                    
	Baker, W., Thames
                    
	477
                  

                  

                    
	Barry, H., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Barry, P., Coromandel
                    
	486
                  

                  

                    
	Battens, H., Coromandel
                    
	487
                  

                  

                    
	Benney, J., Thames
                    
	474
                  

                  

                    
	Bunney, J., Waihi
                    
	503
                  

                  

                    
	Cartwright, E., Thames
                    
	478
                  

                  

                    
	Christie, W. H., Waitekauri
                    
	498
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, R., Waitekauri
                    
	498
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, T. P., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Cooper, E. K., Thames
                    
	475
                  

                  

                    
	Cornes, C. A., jun., Karangahake
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Crawford, T. H., Thames
                    
	480
                  

                  

                    
	Daldy, E. A., Coromandel
                    
	485
                  

                  

                    
	Daw, F. R. W., Karangahake
                    
	492
                  

                  

                    
	Draffin, S., Waitekauri
                    
	497
                  

                  

                    
	Dunlop, T. A., Thames
                    
	479
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, S., Waikino
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Gilmour, T., Waihi
                    
	505
                  

                  

                    
	Goldsworthy, H., Karangahake
                    
	494
                  

                  

                    
	Goldsworthy, W., Karangahake
                    
	493
                  

                  

                    
	Gordon, L., Thames
                    
	475
                  

                  

                    
	Hardy, E. H., Waiorongomai
                    
	472
                  

                  

                    
	Harrison, R. H., Coromandel
                    
	489
                  

                  

                    
	Hastings, R. J., Waihi
                    
	481
                  

                  

                    
	Hornibrooke, H. P., Coromandel
                    
	489
                  

                  

                    
	Howard, S., Karangahake
                    
	491
                  

                  

                    
	Hutchison, W., Karangahake
                    
	493
                  

                  

                    
	Jamieson, A. N., Coromandel
                    
	486
                  

                  

                    
	Jenkins, R., Thames
                    
	476
                  

                  

                    
	Jobe, J. S., Thames
                    
	479
                  

                  

                    
	Johns, T., Waihi
                    
	503
                  

                  

                    
	Langford, J., Waihi
                    
	503
                  

                  

                    
	Loughlin, D. J., Thames
                    
	481
                  

                  

                    
	Loughlin, S. J., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                  

                    
	Maclean, B. J., Waitekauri
                    
	498
                  

                  

                    
	McLean, C., Waihi
                    
	502
                  

                  

                    
	McDonald, R., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                  

                    
	McGruer, G. N., Karangahake
                    
	492
                  

                  

                    
	Martin, W. B., Thames
                    
	475
                  

                  

                    
	Martin, W. G., Coromandel
                    
	490
                  

                  

                    
	Moorcraft, W., Coromandel
                    
	485
                  

                  

                    
	Morgan, R., Waihi
                    
	505
                  

                  

                    
	Moyle, T., Thames
                    
	479
                  

                  

                    
	Park, J., Thames
                    
	478
                  

                  

                    
	Paul, M., Thames
                    
	476
                  

                  

                    
	Powell, R. W., Thames
                    
	479
                  

                  

                    
	Redwood, D. K., Thames
                    
	476
                  

                  

                    
	Rich, F., Karangabake
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Roche, F., Hikutaia
                    
	472
                  

                  

                    
	Russell, W. M., Waihi
                    
	507
                  

                  

                    
	Shepherd, H. F., Coromandel
                    
	485
                  

                  

                    
	Simmons, H. L., Waihi
                    
	505
                  

                  

                    
	Snow, T., Waihi
                    
	506
                  

                  

                    
	Taylor, C. H., Karangabake
                    
	494
                  

                  

                    
	Thomas, J., Thames
                    
	474
                  

                  

                    
	Tierney, R., Thames
                    
	480
                  

                  

                    
	Tregoweth, W., Karangahake
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Wearne, J. E., Waihi
                    
	507
                  

                  

                    
	Weir, P., Thames
                    
	478
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, J., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                

            

            

              

Mining Engineers, Assayers, Amalgamators, Metallurgists and Electricians.

              

                  

                    
	Adams, E. F., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                  

                    
	Allom, H. O., Coromandel
                    
	489
                  

                  

                    
	Banks, E. G., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Brokenshire, J., Thames
                    
	474
                  

                  

                    
	Clarke, G. W., Coromandel
                    
	490
                  

                  

                    
	Clarke, T. P., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Daw, F. R. W., Karangahake
                    
	492
                  

                  

                    
	Fraser, S., Waikino
                    
	495
                  

                  

                    
	Hardy, E. H., Waiorongomai
                    
	472
                  

                  

                    
	Heard, G. S., Waihi
                    
	506
                  

                  

                    
	Hodge, Capt. F. H., Coromandel
                    
	486
                  

                  

                    
	Hopkins, W. H., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Knight, J. T., Waikino
                    
	496
                  

                  

                    
	Leece, H. S., Thames
                    
	477
                  

                  

                    
	Littlejohn, W. D., Karangahake
                    
	493
                  

                  

                    
	Milner, H., Waihi
                    
	506
                  

                  

                    
	Montgomery, A., Thames
                    
	475
                  

                  

                    
	Napier, J., Karangahake
                    
	492
                  

                  

                    
	Roche, H., Waihi
                    
	504
                  

                  

                    
	Taylor, C. H., Karangahake
                    
	494
                  

                  

                    
	Thorburn, W. L., jun., Thames
                    
	480
                  

                  

                    
	Wearne, J. J., Waihi
                    
	507
                  

                

            

            

              

Musical Instrument Importers.

              

                  

                    
	Lewis, C. F., Gisborne
                    
	977
                  

                

            

            

              

Newspapers.

              

                  

                    
	Coromandel County News
                    
	900
                  

                  

                    
	Evening Star, Thames
                    
	875
                  

                  

                    
	Golden Age, Waitekauri
                    
	912
                  

                  

                    
	Goldfields Advocate, Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Hot Lakes Chronicle, Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	N.Z. Herald and Auckland Weekly News, Paeroa
                    
	844
                  

                  

                    
	Northern Luminary, Kawakawa
                    
	569
                  

                  

                    
	Ohinemuri Gazette, Paeroa
                    
	844
                  

                  

                    
	Opotiki Herald
                    
	946
                  

                  

                    
	Poverty Bay Herald, Gis.
                    
	977
                  

                  

                    
	Thames Advertiser
                    
	875
                  

                  

                    
	The Te Aroha and Ohine News
                    
	828
                  

                  

                    
	Waihi Miner
                    
	920
                  

                  

                    
	Waikato Times, Hamilton
                    
	744
                  

                

            

            

              

Nurserymen.

              

                  

                    
	Sharp, J., Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Wren, C. T., Onehunga
                    
	653
                  

                

            

            

              

Orchardists and Gardeners.

              

                  

                    
	Cole Bros., Tuakau
                    
	692
                  

                  

                    
	Goodall, W., Whangarei
                    
	552
                  

                  

                    
	Schmidt, G., Waerenga-a-hika
                    
	1008
                  

                  

                    
	Stevenson, G., Waiohika
                    
	1009
                  

                

            

            

              

Painters, Glaziers and Decorators.

              

                  

                    
	Edwards and Towers, Paeroa
                    
	
                      
[
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	Hall, F., Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	McDonald, W. B., Thames
                    
	882
                  

                  

                    
	Morrison Bros., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Ovenden, F. B., Gisborne
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	Ree Bros., Thames
                    
	882
                  

                

            

            

              

Paper Makers and Dealers.

              

                  

                    
	Riverhead Paper Mills
                    
	645
                  

                

            

            

              

Photographers.

              

                  

                    
	Botteley, C. L., Hamilton
                    
	747
                  

                  

                    
	Cowdell, J. T., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Cox, B. S., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                  

                    
	Crombie, R. E., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Foy Bros., Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	Foy, G., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Middleton, T., Coromandel
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Scott, T. S., Paeroa
                    
	847
                  

                

            

            

              

Physicians and Surgeons.

              

                  

                    
	Bewes, E. A., Otahuhu
                    
	663
                  

                  

                    
	Bond, J. H., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Brewis, A. S., Hamilton
                    
	746
                  

                  

                    
	Buckley, A. G. H., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Callan, P., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	Carolan, J. F., Matakohe
                    
	642
                  

                  

                    
	Clouston, J., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Cole, G. W., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Forbes, F. C. S., Waini
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Hughes, L., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Lapraik, G., Thames
                    
	877
                  

                  

                    
	MacLachlan, H. K., Huntly
                    
	707
                  

                  

                    
	MacLoughlin, T. J., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Porter, A. H., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, E. E., Cambridge
                    
	771
                  

                  

                    
	Russell, B. T., Rotorua
                    
	805
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, G. T., Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Sweet, G. B., Whangarei
                    
	547
                  

                  

                    
	Waddington, E., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                

            

            

              

Picture Framers and Gilders.

              

                  

                    
	Reynolds, E. G. A., Gis
                    
	989
                  

                

            

            

              

Plumbers.

              

                  

                    
	Adams, E. and Co., Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Battson, C. F., Coromandel
                    
	902
                  

                  

                    
	Battson, F., Thames
                    
	886
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, F., Gisborne
                    
	991
                  

                  

                    
	Hammond, J. E., Hamilton
                    
	749
                  

                  

                    
	Hunt, T. W., Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	Johnson, J. B., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Parker, A. S., Rotorua
                    
	808
                  

                  

                    
	Paterson, J., Thames
                    
	887
                  

                

            

            

              

Potters, Brick and Tile Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Collins, W., Huntly
                    
	709
                  

                  

                    
	Clayton Bros., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Davis, S., Hamilton
                    
	750
                  

                  

                    
	Oxenham and Somervell, Makauri
                    
	1010
                  

                

            

            

              

Printers.

              

                  

                    
	Bushnell, H. J., Gisborne
                    
	996
                  

                

            

            

              

Private School Proprietors.

              

                  

                    
	Gibbons, F. E., Hamilton
                    
	742
                  

                

            

            

              

Produce Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Aubin and Co., Te Awamutu
                    
	728
                  

                  

                    
	Barnes and Sissons, Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Bolton, C. F., Waione
                    
	618
                  

                  

                    
	Browne, M. and Co., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Lees, T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	538
                  

                  

                    
	Lester Bros., Rawene
                    
	611
                  

                  

                    
	Loughlin, J. M., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	McWatters, W., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, T. H. W., Whananaki
                    
	563
                  

                  

                    
	Orr, D. M., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Rawnsley, S. and Co., Poroti
                    
	559
                  

                  

                    
	Ryburn, E. S., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Whitelaw, J., Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, W. H., Te Aroha
                    
	832–851
                  

                

            

            

              

Provision Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Loughlin, J. M., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Wallace, D. B., Kohukohu
                    
	622
                  

                

            

            

              

Pumice Insulators.

              

                  

                    
	Pumice Works, Rangiriri
                    
	704
                  

                

            

            

              

Saddlers and Harness Makers.

              

                  

                    
	Buckley, R., Thames
                    
	889
                  

                  

                    
	Flavell, J., Peria
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	Grigg, W. R., Kaitaia
                    
	598
                  

                  

                    
	Guerin, T., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, M., Matawhero
                    
	1006
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, E., Hamilton
                    
	749–850
                  

                  

                    
	McIndoe and Hill, Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Morgan, W., Gisborne
                    
	992
                  

                  

                    
	Norris, A. H., Waitekauri
                    
	914
                  

                  

                    
	Primrose and Leslie, Gis.
                    
	992
                  

                  

                    
	Webster, R. F., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                

            

            

              

Sawmillers.

              

                  

                    
	Bailey and Bollard, Taupiri
                    
	712
                  

                  

                    
	Faulkner, J., Patuatahi
                    
	956
                  

                  

                    
	Foote Bros., Whangarei
                    
	551
                  

                  

                    
	Hossack, A., Aoroa
                    
	632
                  

                  

                    
	Kauri Timber Co., Whangaroa
                    
	581-593-654
                  

                  

                    
	King, W., Te Karaka
                    
	951
                  

                  

                    
	Kusabs Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, F. W., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Roe, A. W., Mamaku
                    
	798
                  

                  

                    
	Steele Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Tamaki Sawmill Co., Waihi
                    
	927
                  

                

            

            

              

Seedsmen.

              

                  

                    
	Neal, G. J., Cambridge
                    
	774
                  

                

            

            

              

Sharebrokers.

              

                  

                    
	Alexander, G. E., Waihi
                    
	921
                  

                  

                    
	Baggott, J., Thames
                    
	878
                  

                  

                    
	Gooch, R., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Kilgour, R., Thames
                    
	878
                  

                  

                    
	Ross, A. Y., Waihi
                    
	922
                  

                  

                    
	Styak, W. S., Thames
                    
	879
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipbuilders and Boatbuilders.

              

                  

                    
	Lane and Brown, Totara North
                    
	584
                  

                  

                    
	Thompson, E., Aratapu
                    
	629
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipping Companies.

              

                  

                    
	Northern Union Steam Boat Co., Ltd.
                    
	637
                  

                

            

            

              

Shipowners.

              

                  

                    
	Goffe, L. C., Waitangi Falls
                    
	568
                  

                  

                    
	Hare Bros., Kaeo
                    
	588
                  

                  

                    
	Harrison, E., Aratapu
                    
	629
                  

                

            

            

              

Soap Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Pearson and Co., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                

            

            

              

Storekeepers.

              

                  

                    
	Abbot, R. T., Opotiki
                    
	947
                  

                  

                    
	Aubin and Co., Te Awamutu
                    
	728
                  

                  

                    
	Barnes and Sissons, Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Berghan, Mrs J., Ampara
                    
	694
                  

                  

                    
	Black, J., Kerikeri
                    
	578
                  

                  

                    
	Bolton, C. F., Waione
                    
	618
                  

                  

                    
	Bowman, J., Ahipara
                    
	604
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, B., Whakatane
                    
	943
                  

                  

                    
	Brown, J., sen., Pokeno
                    
	696
                  

                  

                    
	Burgoyne, W., Mangatete
                    
	600
                  

                  

                    
	Bygrave, S. L., Te Aroha
                    
	829
                  

                  

                    
	Care, G., Tamahere
                    
	759
                  

                  

                    
	Clark, A. H., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Clifford, H. and J., Morrinsville
                    
	786


                  

                  
                  

                    
	Cox, W. J., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Dando, S., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Darrow, J., Waitekauri
                    
	914
                  

                  

                    
	Deacon, T. W., Riverhead
                    
	645
                  

                  

                    
	Dibsell, W., Te Aroha
                    
	830
                  

                  

                    
	Dick, A. J., Waihi
                    
	925
                  

                  

                    
	Dickeson Bros., Ngawha
                    
	571
                  

                  

                    
	Dye, F., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	East, J., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, A. W., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                  

                    
	Edwards, J. T., Ohaupo
                    
	720
                  

                  

                    
	Ellis, C. J., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Ellis, R. H., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Elmsly, J. G., Kihikini
                    
	734
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, D. J., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, E., Te Kao
                    
	609
                  

                  

                    
	Evans, J., Waipapakauri
                    
	601
                  

                  

                    
	Ferguson, A. H., Matata
                    
	942
                  

                  

                    
	Friar, Davies and Co., Huntly
                    
	710-716-728
                  

                  

                    
	Galbraith, J. C., Te Puke
                    
	940
                  

                  

                    
	Gardiner, C. P., Herekino
                    
	606
                  

                  

                    
	Garton, W., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Geary, J. F., Opotiki
                    
	947
                  

                  

                    
	Gilmore, J., Tauranga
                    
	936
                  

                  

                    
	Glover, G., Taheke
                    
	614
                  

                  

                    
	Goldfields Co-op. Stores, Waitekauri
                    
	915–916
                  

                  

                    
	Gower, J., Utakura Valley
                    
	578
                  

                  

                    
	Hall, R., Mangere
                    
	657
                  

                  

                    
	Halliday, Mrs S., Kaeo
                    
	588
                  

                  

                    
	Hansen Bros., Thames
                    
	891
                  

                  

                    
	Harley, C., Waihi
                    
	927
                  

                  

                    
	Hearn, W., Kerikeri
                    
	579
                  

                  

                    
	Hemphill, E., Waihou
                    
	823
                  

                  

                    
	Howie, R., Hikurangi
                    
	561
                  

                  

                    
	Hunter, M. and S., Mercer
                    
	703
                  

                  

                    
	Image, R. H., Matawhero
                    
	1006
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, F. A., Waikino
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	Keller, P., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Lawrence, W. R. and Co., Totara North
                    
	586
                  

                  

                    
	Lees, T. and Sons, Wade
                    
	538
                  

                  

                    
	Lester Bros., Rawene
                    
	611–621
                  

                  

                    
	Lever, J., Waikino
                    
	910
                  

                  

                    
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson, Matakohe
                    
	642–644
                  

                  

                    
	McCoomb, R., Ormond
                    
	953
                  

                  

                    
	McCowen, R., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	McGarvey, D., Whakatane
                    
	943
                  

                  

                    
	McKay, A., Fairburn
                    
	596
                  

                  

                    
	McWatters, W. J., Paeroa
                    
	851-915-925
                  

                  

                    
	Manson, W., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Marriner, W. A., Mangawhare
                    
	626
                  

                  

                    
	Maunder, T. W., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Molesworth and Saies, Totara North
                    
	582
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, A., Opua
                    
	570
                  

                  

                    
	Morris, T. H. W., Whananaki
                    
	563
                  

                  

                    
	Munro, J., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Orr, D. M., Gisborne
                    
	997
                  

                  

                    
	Parr Bros., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Patterson, J., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Phillips, W., Paeroa
                    
	851
                  

                  

                    
	Pollock, J., Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Popple, F., Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Raymond, W. T., Rotorua
                    
	806
                  

                  

                    
	Rickit and Adams, Taupo
                    
	819
                  

                  

                    
	Roberts, J. and S., Thames
                    
	892-910-926
                  

                  

                    
	Roulston Bros., Pukekohe
                    
	673
                  

                  

                    
	Samson, T., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Seymour, J., Te Kopuru
                    
	639
                  

                  

                    
	Shine, P., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	Steven, Mrs M. A., Patutahi
                    
	955
                  

                  

                    
	Subritzky, L. A., Awanui
                    
	599
                  

                  

                    
	Taylor, J. E., Waibi
                    
	926
                  

                  

                    
	Teat and Friar, Ormond
                    
	953–998
                  

                  

                    
	Tynan, J. M., Waihopo
                    
	605
                  

                  

                    
	Wake, C. A., Mongonui
                    
	592
                  

                  

                    
	Wallace, D. B., Kohukohu
                    
	622
                  

                  

                    
	Whimp, H., Opuawhanga
                    
	562
                  

                  

                    
	Whitby, J. E., Gisborne
                    
	998
                  

                  

                    
	Whitelaw, J., Kamo
                    
	558
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, J., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, W. A., Rotorua
                    
	809
                  

                  

                    
	Wood, W., Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Woods, G. H., Ohaeawai
                    
	572
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, A., Kaikohe
                    
	577
                  

                  

                    
	Wright, W. H., Te Aroha
                    
	832–851
                  

                  

                    
	Wyles, R., Mongonui
                    
	593
                  

                

            

            

              

Stud Owners.

              

                  

                    
	Morrin, T., Panmure
                    
	660
                  

                

            

            

              

Surveyors.

              

                  

                    
	Adams, E. F., Thames
                    
	482
                  

                  

                    
	Burrows, A. W., Tauranga
                    
	935
                  

                  

                    
	Campbell, R., Whangaroa
                    
	580
                  

                  

                    
	Hazard and Johnston, Paeroa
                    
	846
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, A. F., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Mountain and Newton, Thames
                    
	880
                  

                  

                    
	O'Neill, W. C., Mongonui
                    
	591
                  

                  

                    
	Purchas, C., Waitekauri
                    
	498
                  

                  

                    
	Quigley, W. J., Gisborne
                    
	984
                  

                  

                    
	Reilly, J., Coromandel
                    
	901
                  

                  

                    
	Springall, S. S., Gisborne
                    
	981
                  

                  

                    
	Teesdale, A., Gisborne
                    
	985
                  

                

            

            

              

Tailors.

              

                  

                    
	Bain, D. R., Te Awamutu
                    
	727
                  

                  

                    
	Craig, C., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Crowle, J., Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Dowling, W. P., Kawakawa
                    
	569
                  

                  

                    
	Hodge, G. A., Mercury Bay
                    
	896
                  

                  

                    
	Johnstone, J. and Co., Karangahake
                    
	905
                  

                  

                    
	Johnston, R. and Co., Gis.
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	McCarthy and Sutton, Waitekauri
                    
	913
                  

                  

                    
	McCready and Davey, Karangahake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Milnes, E. J., Thames
                    
	884
                  

                  

                    
	Morgan, E., Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Muir, J., Thames
                    
	884
                  

                  

                    
	Nelson, S., Paeroa
                    
	848
                  

                  

                    
	Riley, W., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Sandlant, H. and Co., Gis.
                    
	987
                  

                  

                    
	Zachariah, A., Gisborne
                    
	988
                  

                

            

            

              

Teachers of Music—
Instrumental and Vocal.

              

                  

                    
	Bispham, Mrs C., Whangarei
                    
	546
                  

                  

                    
	East, C. J., Gisborne
                    
	977
                  

                  

                    
	Harston, G. L., Paeroa
                    
	844
                  

                  

                    
	Triphook, J. R., Whangarei
                    
	546
                  

                  

                    
	Wildman, Mrs, Thames
                    
	875
                  

                  

                    
	Wildman, T., Thames
                    
	875
                  

                

            

            

              

Timber Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Baine, P., Te Aroha
                    
	832
                  

                  

                    
	Clayton Bros., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	Clinkard, C. H., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	Davys and Son, Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Downer, W., Helensville
                    
	635
                  

                  

                    
	Dye, F., Kaukapakapa
                    
	630
                  

                  

                    
	Foote Bros., Whangarei
                    
	551
                  

                  

                    
	Forrest, W., Paeroa
                    
	854
                  

                  

                    
	Gillespie and Son, Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Kauri Timber Co., Whangaroa
                    
	581-593-654-893
                  

                  

                    
	Kennedy and Evans, and Kennedy, Evans and Co., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                  

                    
	King, W., Te Karaka
                    
	951
                  

                  

                    
	Kusabs Bros., Rotorua
                    
	810
                  

                  

                    
	Lamb Bros., Thames
                    
	893
                  

                  

                    
	Lane and Brown, Totara N.
                    
	584
                  

                  

                    
	McAndrew, J., Paeroa
                    
	854
                  

                  

                    
	Mackrell and Colley, Gis.
                    
	986
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, F. W., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Mitchelson, E. and Co., Dargaville
                    
	624
                  

                  

                    
	Mountain Rimu Timber Co., Mamaku
                    
	798
                  

                  

                    
	Oxenham and Somervell, Makauri
                    
	1010
                  

                  

                    
	Roe, A. W., Mamaku
                    
	798
                  

                  

                    
	Souter, W. and Co., Cambridge
                    
	775
                  

                  

                    
	Stafford, F., Gisborne
                    
	1000
                  

                  

                    
	Trounson, J., Dargaville
                    
	625
                  

                

            

            

              
Tinsmiths

              

                  

                    
	Adams, E. and Co., Waihi
                    
	923
                  

                  

                    
	Battson, F., Thames
                    
	886
                  

                  

                    
	Johnson, J. B., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Paterson, J., Thames
                    
	887
                  

                

            

            

              

Tobacconists.

              

                  

                    
	Bracken, J. H., Karangahake
                    
	906
                  

                  

                    
	Chissell., C. H., Whangarei
                    
	549
                  

                  

                    
	Lawn, Mrs H. A., Te Aroha
                    
	831
                  

                  

                    
	Oldfield, J., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Williams, G., Gisborne
                    
	990
                  

                

            

            

              

Undertakers.

              

                  

                    
	Rossiter, S. T., Waiuku
                    
	680
                  

                  

                    
	Twentyman, R., Thames
                    
	881
                  

                  

                    
	Vant, W., Ngaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                

            

            

              

Valuers.

              

                  

                    
	Gillespie and Son, Thames
                    
	892
                  

                  

                    
	Jones, W., Hamilton
                    
	748
                  

                  

                    
	Matthews, A. F., Giborne
                    
	984
                  

                

            

            

              

Warehousemen.

              

                  

                    
	Clark, A. and Sons, Ltd., Gisborne
                    
	994
                  

                

            

            

              

Watchmarkers and Jewellers.

              

                  

                    
	Halliday, G., Whangarei
                    
	550
                  

                  

                    
	Howden, H. H., Hamilton
                    
	751
                  

                  

                    
	Law, A., Paeroa
                    
	853
                  

                  

                    
	Smith, H. R., Gisborne
                    
	999
                  

                

            

            

              

Wheelwrights.

              

                  

                    
	Corbett, W. H., Rotorua
                    
	807
                  

                  

                    
	Ferguson, J., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Goodwin, D., Pukekohe
                    
	672
                  

                  

                    
	Hedley, J. W., Morrinsville
                    
	786
                  

                  

                    
	Vant, W., Ngaruawahia
                    
	716
                  

                  

                    
	Walker, T., Cambridge
                    
	773
                  

                  

                    
	Wilson, T., Kihikihi
                    
	733
                  

                

            

            

              

Wine and Spirit Merchants.

              

                  

                    
	Matthewson, G., Gisborne
                    
	986
                  

                

            

            

              

Woolbrokers.

              

                  

                    
	Dickeson, G. F., Kaikohe
                    
	576
                  

                

            

            

              

Woollen Manufacturers.

              

                  

                    
	Onehunga Woollen Mills
                    
	653
                  

                

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Index to Societies, Orders, Public Institutions, and Mining Companies
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A

            

                

                  
	Abattoirs, Auckland City
                  
	123
                

                

                  
	Acclimatisation Societies—Auckland
                  
	252
                

                

                  
	Waimakariri Hatchery
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Advances to Settlers (Auckland)
                  
	180
                

                

                  
	Agricultural and Pastoral Associations—Auckland
                  
	252
                

                

                  
	Franklin
                  
	672
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Anglican Churches—Aratapu
                  
	628
                

                

                  
	Auckland—All Saints'
                  
	217
                

                

                  
	Church of the Holy Sepulchre
                  
	217
                

                

                  
	Church of St. Thomas
                  
	218
                

                

                  
	Epiphany
                  
	218
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	512
                

                

                  
	St. Paul's
                  
	215
                

                

                  
	St. Matthew's
                  
	216
                

                

                  
	Bombav
                  
	688
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	769
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	973
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Howick
                  
	656
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Kaitaia
                  
	598
                

                

                  
	Ngaruawahia
                  
	714
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	651
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Tauranga
                  
	932
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	871
                

                

                  
	Turanga (Poverty Bay)
                  
	1008
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	918
                

                

                  
	Waiuku
                  
	679
                

                

                  
	Anglican Diocese, Auck.
                  
	214
                

                

                  
	Architects, Auck., Inst. of,
                  
	303
                

                

                  
	Art Gallery, Auckland
                  
	123
                

                

                  
	Athletic Clubs and Associations—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland Amateur
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Auckland Caledonian
                  
	246
                

                

                  
	Auckland Cycle Roads League
                  
	246
                

                

                  
	Auck. Lawn Tennis Asso.
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Amateur Rowing Association
                  
	246
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Amateur Swimming Association
                  
	248
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu Amateur
                  
	726
                

                

                  
	West End Tennis Club (Auckland)
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	Auckland Flying Club
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	Auck. Jubilee Institute for the Blind
                  
	194
                

                

                  
	Auckland Law Society
                  
	275
                

                

                  
	Auckland Workingmen's Friendly Aid
                  
	307
                

              

          

          

            
B

            

                

                  
	Bands—Auckland Garrison
                  
	170
                

                

                  
	Drum and Fife, Auck.
                  
	170
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	844
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Thames-Hauraki
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Whangarei
                  
	546
                

                

                  
	Bank of Australasia—Auckland
                  
	293
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	982
                

                

                  
	Bank of New South Wales—Auckland
                  
	293
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	981
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	877
                

                

                  
	Bank of New Zealand—Auckland
                  
	294
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	772
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	900
                

                

                  
	Grey Lynn
                  
	526
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	746
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	846
                

                

                  
	Tauranga
                  
	983
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	726
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	878
                

                

                  
	Baptist Churches—Auckland
                  
	235
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby
                  
	236
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	182
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	868
                

                

                  
	Boroughs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Birkenhead
                  
	527
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	766
                

                

                  
	Devonport
                  
	530
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	960
                

                

                  
	Grey Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	739
                

                

                  
	Newmarket
                  
	517
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	648
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	509
                

                

                  
	Tauranga
                  
	931
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	824
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	860
                

                

                  
	Whangarei
                  
	542
                

                

                  
	Bowling Clubs and Associations—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	248
                

                

                  
	Auckland Bowling Club
                  
	248
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	976
                

              

          

          

            
C

            

                

                  
	Camera Club, Auckland
                  
	252
                

                

                  
	Chambers of Commerce—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	303
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	982
                

                

                  
	Charitable Aid and Hospital Boards—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	
                    

                      
[
unclear: 188]
                    
                  
                

                

                  
	Cook
                  
	971
                

                

                  
	Thames and Coromandel District
                  
	842
                

                

                  
	Thames and Coromandel United
                  
	868–869
                

                

                  
	Waikato
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	Chess and Draughts Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	248
                

                

                  
	Church of Christ, Auck.
                  
	236
                

                

                  
	City Council, Auckland
                  
	116
                

                

                  
	Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	240
                

                

                  
	Auckland Workingmen's
                  
	240
                

                

                  
	Northern
                  
	239
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay (Gisborne)
                  
	976
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Congregational Churches—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Beresford Street
                  
	236
                

                

                  
	Devonport
                  
	532
                

                

                  
	Newton
                  
	236
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	652
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	873
                

                

                  
	Convent Schools—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Sacred Heart, Auckland
                  
	206
                

                

                  
	St. Joseph's, Gisborne
                  
	973
                

                

                  
	St. Mary's, Auckland
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	St. Mary's, Hamilton
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Costley Home for Aged Poor, Auckland
                  
	191
                

                

                  
	Costley Institute, Auck.
                  
	193
                

                

                  
	Council of Law Reporting, Auckland
                  
	275
                

                

                  
	Counties and County Councils—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Bay of Islands
                  
	568
                

                

                  
	Cook
                  
	965–966
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	896
                

                

                  
	Hobson
                  
	627
                

                

                  
	Hokianga
                  
	610
                

                

                  
	Mongonui
                  
	590
                

                

                  
	Ohinemuri
                  
	840
                

                

                  
	Piako
                  
	825
                

                

                  
	Raglan
                  
	718
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	866
                

                

                  
	Waikato
                  
	740
                

                

                  
	Waipa
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	Waitemata
                  
	144
                

                

                  
	Whangarei
                  
	544
                

                

                  
	Whangaroa
                  
	580
                

                

                  
	Cricket Clubs and Associations—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Ohinemuri
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Mamaku
                  
	797
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	953
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	844
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay
                  
	976
                

                

                  
	St. Alban's (Thames)
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Taupiri
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	726
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Customhouse, Auckland
                  
	176
                

                

                  
	Cycling Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	920
                

              

          

          

            
D

            

                

                  
	Dilworth Ulster Institute
                  
	191
                

                

                  
	Domain Boards—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Aka Aka
                  
	677
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi
                  
	732
                

                

                  
	Mangahoe
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Ngaroto
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Patutahi
                  
	954
                

                

                  
	Punui
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Taupo
                  
	817
                

                

                  
	Druids, Order of—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Dist. Royal Arch
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Auckland Lodge
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Hinemoa Female Lodge
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby Lodge
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Pride of Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Turanganui (Gisborne)
                  
	976
                

              

          

          

            
E

            

                

                  
	Early Closing Association, Auckland
                  
	307
                

                

                  
	Education and School Boards—Auckland
                  
	206
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	972
                

                

                  
	Electrical Works, Rotorua
                  
	803
                

              

          

          

            
F

            

                

                  
	Farmers' Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Waikato
                  
	770
                

                

                  
	Wairoa South
                  
	665
                

                

                  
	Fire Brigades—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland (Municipal)
                  
	123–1015
                

                

                  
	Karangahake
                  
	904
                

                

                  
	Paeroa (Volunteer)
                  
	840
                

                

                  
	Waihi (Volunteer)
                  
	917
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri (Volunteer)
                  
	911
                

                

                  
	Fire Prevention Committee, Paeroa
                  
	840
                

                

                  
	Football Clubs and Unions— Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	City
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	Grafton
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	Newton
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	North Shore
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	Rugby Union
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	Suburbs
                  
	249
                

                

                  
	Franklin
                  
	672
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Kaeo
                  
	587
                

                

                  
	Mamaku
                  
	797
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Waikato Rugby
                  
	744
                

                

                  
	Waipa
                  
	726
                

                

                  
	Foresters, Order of—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Court Chisman
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Court Chisman's Pride
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Court City of Auckland
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Court Nil Desperandum
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Court Zealandia
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Court Zealandia's Pride
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	District Court
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Thames—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Court Pride of Parnell
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Court Pride of the North
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Waihi, Court
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri, Court Pride of
                  
	912
                

              

          

          
          



            
G

            

                

                  
	Gaol, Auckland
                  
	182
                

                

                  
	Golf Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay (Gisborne)
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Government Roads Deparment, Taupo
                  
	817
                

                

                  
	Government Sana, and Baths, Rotorua
                  
	800
                

              

          

          

            
H

            

                

                  
	Harbour Boards—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	134
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	897
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	964
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	865
                

                

                  
	Harbours and Pilot Services—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Hokianga
                  
	611
                

                

                  
	Manukau
                  
	651
                

                

                  
	Hebrew Congregation, Auckland
                  
	236
                

                

                  
	Hibernian—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Branch No. 81 of the Hib. Aus. Cath. Ben. Soc.
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Hibernian Aus. Cath. Benefit Society
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Sancta Maria
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Horticultural Soc., Auck.
                  
	253
                

                

                  
	Hospitals—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	188
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	971
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	869
                

                

                  
	Waikato
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	Hunt Club, Pakuranga
                  
	251
                

              

          

          

            
I

            

                

                  
	Industrial School, Auck.
                  
	210
                

                

                  
	Inspection of Machinery, Auckland
                  
	181
                

                

                  
	Inspector of Factories Office, Auckland
                  
	186
                

              

          

          

            
L

            

                

                  
	Land Purchase Department, Rotorua
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Land and Survey—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	178
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	803
                

                

                  
	Land Transfer and Deeds Registration—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	180
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	971
                

                

                  
	Licensing Commit., Auck.
                  
	142
                

                

                  
	Lunatic Asylum, Auckland
                  
	189
                

              

          

          

            
M

            

                

                  
	Magistrate's Courts—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	274
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	899
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	978
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	745
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	703
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	844
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	672
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Taupo
                  
	818
                

                

                  
	Tauranga
                  
	933
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	726
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Warkworth
                  
	540
                

                

                  
	Marine Engineers, Australasian Institute of,
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	Masonic—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Ara No. 1
                  
	243
                

                

                  
	Ara No. 348
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Auck. Pro. Royal Arch
                  
	243
                

                

                  
	Auckland Royal Arch
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	Board of General Purposes
                  
	240
                

                

                  
	District Grand, E.C.
                  
	240
                

                

                  
	District Grand Lodge of Mark Masters
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	Eden
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	Grand Lodge of Anc., Free, and Accepted Masons of N.Z.
                  
	242
                

                

                  
	Newton
                  
	352
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby
                  
	242
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby No. 54
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Prince of Wales
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	Pro. Grand Lodge, I.C.
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	Pro. Grand Lodge, S.C.
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	St. Andrew No. 8, N.Z.C.
                  
	248
                

                

                  
	St. Andrew No. 418
                  
	242
                

                

                  
	Southern Cross
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	Union
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	United Service
                  
	243
                

                

                  
	Waitemata
                  
	241
                

                

                  
	Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	744
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	652
                

                

                  
	Pukehoke
                  
	672
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Thames—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Lodge of Light
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Lodge Sir Walter Scott
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Masonic Institute
                  
	240
                

                

                  
	Maternity Home, Auckland
                  
	195
                

                

                  
	Melanesian Mission
                  
	220
                

                

                  
	Miners' Unions—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	473
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	502
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	497
                

                

                  
	Mines Department, Auck.
                  
	186
                

                

                  
	Mining Companies and Bateries—Coromandel—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Blagroves Freehold
                  
	484
                

                

                  
	Bunker's Hill
                  
	484
                

                

                  
	Golden Pah
                  
	485
                

                

                  
	Hauraki
                  
	486
                

                

                  
	Hauraki Associated
                  
	485
                

                

                  
	Hauraki Main Lodes
                  
	486
                

                

                  
	Kapanga
                  
	486
                

                

                  
	Kathleen
                  
	488
                

                

                  
	Kathleen Crown
                  
	487
                

                

                  
	Opitonui Battery
                  
	489
                

                

                  
	Hikutaia Gold Syndicate
                  
	472
                

                

                  
	Karangahake—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Imperial
                  
	491
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Crown Mines
                  
	491
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Talisman
                  
	493
                

                

                  
	Talisman Consolidated
                  
	494
                

                

                  
	Waverley
                  
	494
                

                

                  
	Woodstock
                  
	495
                

                

                  
	Thames—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Big Pump, The
                  
	474
                

                

                  
	Eclipse
                  
	474
                

                

                  
	Ethel Reefs
                  
	474
                

                

                  
	Fame and Fortune Battery
                  
	475
                

                

                  
	Fame and Fortune Mine
                  
	474
                

                

                  
	Ironcap
                  
	475
                

                

                  
	Kauri Freehold Gold Estates
                  
	475
                

                

                  
	Kuranui-Caledonian
                  
	476
                

                

                  
	May Queen Extended
                  
	476
                

                

                  
	May Queen Extended Battery
                  
	476
                

                

                  
	May Queen Hauraki
                  
	477
                

                

                  
	May Queen Hauraki Battery
                  
	477
                

                

                  
	New Moanataiari
                  
	478
                

                

                  
	New Whau
                  
	479
                

                

                  
	Occidental
                  
	479
                

                

                  
	Standard Exploration
                  
	479
                

                

                  
	Tararu Creek
                  
	479
                

                

                  
	Victoria
                  
	480
                

                

                  
	Waiotahi
                  
	463
                

                

                  
	Waihi—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	503
                

                

                  
	Waihi Battery
                  
	505
                

                

                  
	Waihi Consolidated
                  
	502
                

                

                  
	Waihi Consols
                  
	502
                

                

                  
	Waihi Extended
                  
	503
                

                

                  
	Waihi Gladstone
                  
	503
                

                

                  
	Waihi Grand Junction
                  
	505
                

                

                  
	Waihi South
                  
	506
                

                

                  
	Union Waihi
                  
	506
                

                

                  
	Waikino—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Victoria Battery
                  
	495
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Grace Darling
                  
	497
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	497
                

                

                  
	Museum, Auckland
                  
	174
                

                

                  
	Musical, Operatic and Dramatic Societies—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Amateur Opera
                  
	1017
                

                

                  
	Auckland Choral
                  
	257
                

                

                  
	Auckland Liedertafel
                  
	258
                

                

                  
	Cambridge Orchestral
                  
	771
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	672
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	726
                

              

          

          

            
N

            

                

                  
	National Bank of New Zealand—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	294
                

                

                  
	Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Grey Lynn
                  
	526
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	846
                

                

                  
	National Schools Vigilance Committee, Auckland
                  
	210
                

                

                  
	Native Land Courts—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	275
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	979
                

                

                  
	Native Training Schools (Anglican)—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Church Miss. Soc., Gis.
                  
	973
                

                

                  
	Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	1007
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Accountants' and Auditors' Association
                  
	303
                

                

                  
	N.Z. and Aus. Natives' Association
                  
	253–977
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Inanimate Pigeon Shooting Association
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Institute of Journalists, Auckland
                  
	269
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Lacrosse Assoc., Auck.
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Railway Officers' Inst.
                  
	303
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Tattersall's Club
                  
	252
                

              

          

          

            
O

            

                

                  
	Oddfellows—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Alpha Juvenile
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Auckland District M.U.
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	District Degree
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Fountain of Friendship
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Good Intent
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Independent Order
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Loyal Pioneer Lodge
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Loyal United Brothers Lodge
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Myrtle Rebekah
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	National Independent Order
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Star of Auckland
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Star of Eden
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Wynyard
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	976
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	912
                

                

                  
	Official Assignee, Auck
                  
	183
                

                

                  
	Old Men's and Old Women's Homes—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	972
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	869
                

                

                  
	Waikato
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	Orange Lodges—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Grand Lodge of N.Z., N.I.
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	No. 1
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	No. 10
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Royal Albert
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Royal Black Preceptory
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Orphans' Club, Auckland
                  
	253
                

              

          

          

            
P

            

                

                  
	Parks and Recreation Grounds—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	768
                

                

                  
	Cornwall Park, Auckland
                  
	1023
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	825
                

                

                  
	Police Stations and Districts—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	782
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	771
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	979
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	745
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	707
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	953
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	845
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Shortland
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Post Offices—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	175
                

                

                  
	Bombay
                  
	687
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	769
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	898
                

                

                  
	Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	970
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	Hinuera
                  
	793
                

                

                  
	Kaikohe
                  
	575
                

                

                  
	Kaitaia
                  
	597
                

                

                  
	Karangahake
                  
	905
                

                

                  
	Kaukapakapa
                  
	630
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi
                  
	732
                

                

                  
	Lichfield
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Makaraka
                  
	1003
                

                

                  
	Matamata
                  
	791
                

                

                  
	Matawhero
                  
	1005
                

                

                  
	Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Mongonui
                  
	591
                

                

                  
	Ohinewai
                  
	704
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	651
                

                

                  
	Opononi
                  
	615
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	842
                

                

                  
	Paparata
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Rawene
                  
	611
                

                

                  
	Razorback
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	802
                

                

                  
	Russell
                  
	565
                

                

                  
	Tamahere
                  
	759
                

                

                  
	Taupiri
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	Taupo
                  
	817
                

                

                  
	Tauranga
                  
	932
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Te Kopuru
                  
	639
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	868
                

                

                  
	Tirau
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Tuakau
                  
	690
                

                

                  
	Waharoa
                  
	790
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	918
                

                

                  
	Waiorongomai
                  
	835
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	911


                

                
                

                  
	Walton
                  
	789
                

                

                  
	Warkworth
                  
	540
                

                

                  
	Whangarata
                  
	693
                

                

                  
	Whangaroa
                  
	580
                

                

                  
	Poultry Societies—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	253
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Presbyterian Churches—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Grey Lynn
                  
	525
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	513
                

                

                  
	St. Andrew's
                  
	222
                

                

                  
	St. David's
                  
	223
                

                

                  
	St. James's
                  
	223
                

                

                  
	St. Stephen's
                  
	223
                

                

                  
	Bombay
                  
	688
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	770
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	974
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Matawhero
                  
	1006
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Tuakau
                  
	691
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Primitive Methodist Churches—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Alexandra Street
                  
	233
                

                

                  
	Eden Terrace
                  
	234
                

                

                  
	Primitive Methodist
                  
	234
                

                

                  
	Upper Pitt Street
                  
	234
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Prison Gate Home, Auck.
                  
	195
                

                

                  
	Private Schools—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Com. College
                  
	213
                

                

                  
	Ladies' College
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Melmerly Collegiate
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Training College
                  
	213
                

                

                  
	Hamilton High
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	Professional and Other Societies, Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Ladies' Benevolent
                  
	191
                

                

                  
	Employers' Association
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Soc. for Protection of Women and Children
                  
	194
                

                

                  
	Pharmaceutical Assoc.
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	Prov. Industrial Assoc.
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	Scenery Conservation
                  
	253
                

                

                  
	Shorthand Writers' Asso.
                  
	254
                

                

                  
	Society of Arts
                  
	252
                

                

                  
	Theosophical
                  
	237
                

                

                  
	Protestant Alliance Friendly Society. Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Public Halls—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Peria
                  
	596
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Public Libraries and Reading Rooms—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	122
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	771
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	744
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	707
                

                

                  
	Kaeo
                  
	587
                

                

                  
	Lichfield
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	726
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	862
                

                

                  
	Turanganui, Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Public Schools—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Bayfield
                  
	210
                

                

                  
	Beresford Street
                  
	208
                

                

                  
	Chapel Street
                  
	209
                

                

                  
	Grafton
                  
	209
                

                

                  
	Morningside
                  
	523
                

                

                  
	Mount Eden
                  
	523
                

                

                  
	Napier Street
                  
	208
                

                

                  
	Nelson Street
                  
	208
                

                

                  
	Newton West
                  
	525
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	512
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby
                  
	209
                

                

                  
	Richmond Road
                  
	209
                

                

                  
	Wellesley Street
                  
	208
                

                

                  
	Awanui
                  
	599
                

                

                  
	Bombay
                  
	688
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	769
                

                

                  
	Cambridge West
                  
	780
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	898
                

                

                  
	Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Ellerslie
                  
	655
                

                

                  
	Golden Cross
                  
	916
                

                

                  
	Gordon
                  
	837
                

                

                  
	Grahamtown
                  
	554
                

                

                  
	Hamilton East
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Hamilton West
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Harrisville
                  
	689
                

                

                  
	Helensville
                  
	635
                

                

                  
	Hikurangi
                  
	560
                

                

                  
	Hikutaia
                  
	857
                

                

                  
	Hinuera
                  
	793
                

                

                  
	Hukanui
                  
	756
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Karangahake
                  
	905
                

                

                  
	Kaukapakapa
                  
	630
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi
                  
	732
                

                

                  
	Kimihia
                  
	710
                

                

                  
	Lichfield
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Makauri
                  
	1009
                

                

                  
	Mangere
                  
	657
                

                

                  
	Marshmeadows
                  
	756
                

                

                  
	Matamata
                  
	792
                

                

                  
	Matawhero
                  
	1005
                

                

                  
	Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Morrinsville
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Ohaupo
                  
	720
                

                

                  
	Ohinewai
                  
	704
                

                

                  
	Okoroire
                  
	794
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	651
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	952
                

                

                  
	Otahuhu
                  
	663
                

                

                  
	Owharoa
                  
	838
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	842
                

                

                  
	Paparata
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Parawai
                  
	858
                

                

                  
	Parua No. 2
                  
	554
                

                

                  
	Patutahi
                  
	954
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Poroti Native
                  
	559
                

                

                  
	Puhoi
                  
	539
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe West
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Pukerimu
                  
	783
                

                

                  
	Pukete
                  
	717
                

                

                  
	Ranana Native
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Tamahere
                  
	759
                

                

                  
	Taupiri
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	Taupo
                  
	818
                

                

                  
	Tauwhare
                  
	761
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha Goldfields
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha West
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Te Kopuru
                  
	639
                

                

                  
	Te Puke
                  
	940
                

                

                  
	Thames—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Kauaeranga Boys'
                  
	870
                

                

                  
	Kauaeranga (Sandes Street)
                  
	871
                

                

                  
	Tararu
                  
	871
                

                

                  
	Waiokaraka
                  
	871
                

                

                  
	Tirau
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Tokaanu Native
                  
	821
                

                

                  
	Totara North
                  
	582
                

                

                  
	Towai
                  
	643
                

                

                  
	Tuakau
                  
	690
                

                

                  
	Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	1007
                

                

                  
	Weihi
                  
	918
                

                

                  
	Waihou
                  
	823
                

                

                  
	Waimate North
                  
	574
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	912
                

                

                  
	Walton
                  
	789
                

                

                  
	Whangarata
                  
	693
                

                

                  
	Whangarei Heads
                  
	553
                

                

                  
	Public Trust Department—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	356
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	988
                

                

                  
	Public Works Office, Auck.
                  
	185
                

              

          

          

            
R

            

                

                  
	Racing and Jockey Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	Avondale
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay Park Co.
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay Turf
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	South Auckland
                  
	744
                

                

                  
	Takapuna
                  
	532
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	912
                

                

                  
	Railway Servants, Amalgamated Society of,
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	Railway Stations—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	183
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	769
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	Helensville
                  
	635
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	705
                

                

                  
	Kawakawa
                  
	569
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Morrinsville
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Newmarket
                  
	518
                

                

                  
	Ngaruawahia
                  
	714
                

                

                  
	Ohaupo
                  
	720
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	842
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Putararu
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Shortland
                  
	868
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	868
                

                

                  
	Tirau
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Whangarei
                  
	545
                

                

                  
	Rechabites, Order of, N.Z. District, No. 84
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Road Boards—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Aroha
                  
	969
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	768
                

                

                  
	Kaiti
                  
	967
                

                

                  
	Kirikiriroa
                  
	754
                

                

                  
	Matamata
                  
	791
                

                

                  
	Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	701
                

                

                  
	Ngatapa
                  
	968
                

                

                  
	Opotiki
                  
	946
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	952
                

                

                  
	Paparata
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Patutahi
                  
	954
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	695
                

                

                  
	Pouawa
                  
	968
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay
                  
	967
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	670
                

                

                  
	Pukekura
                  
	781
                

                

                  
	Tamahere
                  
	758
                

                

                  
	Tareheru
                  
	968
                

                

                  
	Te Arai
                  
	1005
                

                

                  
	Waipipi
                  
	677
                

                

                  
	Wairoa
                  
	664
                

                

                  
	Waitoa
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Waiuku
                  
	677
                

                

                  
	Whakatane
                  
	943
                

                

                  
	Whataupoko
                  
	967
                

                

                  
	Roman Catholic Churches—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Church of the Sacred Heart
                  
	228
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	514
                

                

                  
	St. Benedict's
                  
	228
                

                

                  
	St. Patrick's Cathedral
                  
	226
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	975
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Karangahake
                  
	905
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi
                  
	732
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	952
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Patutahi
                  
	955
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Tuakau
                  
	691
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Roman Catholic Diocese
                  
	225
                

                

                  
	Rowing and Yachting Clubs—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	246
                

                

                  
	Auckland Yacht
                  
	246
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby
                  
	247
                

                

                  
	St. George's
                  
	247
                

                

                  
	Waitemata
                  
	247
                

                

                  
	West End
                  
	246
                

                

                  
	Hauraki (Thames)
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Mercer Maori Regatta
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Ngaruawahia Regatta
                  
	715
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay (Gisborne)
                  
	976
                

                

                  
	Ruth Lodge, Auckland
                  
	195
                

              

          

          

            
S

            

                

                  
	Sailors' Home, Auckland
                  
	192
                

                

                  
	St. Stephen's Orphan Home, Auckland
                  
	192
                

                

                  
	Salvation Army—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	237
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	770
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	976
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Savage Club, Auckland
                  
	253
                

                

                  
	Savings Banks—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	294
                

                

                  
	Grey Lynn
                  
	526
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	652
                

                

                  
	School Commissioners, Auckland
                  
	206
                

                

                  
	Schools of Mines—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	899
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	472
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	501
                

                

                  
	Seamen's Union, Coastal
                  
	305
                

                

                  
	Secondary Schools—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland Grammar
                  
	200
                

                

                  
	Auck. University College
                  
	197
                

                

                  
	Gisborne District High
                  
	973
                

                

                  
	King's College
                  
	202
                

                

                  
	Prince Albert College
                  
	203
                

                

                  
	St. John's College
                  
	204
                

                

                  
	Thames High
                  
	870
                

                

                  
	Wesley College, Three Kings
                  
	205
                

                

                  
	Whangarei High
                  
	545
                

                

                  
	Settlers' Clubs and Associations—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Mamaku
                  
	797
                

                

                  
	Parua Bay
                  
	554
                

                

                  
	State Forest Nursery, Rotorua
                  
	812
                

                

                  
	Stock Department—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	181
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	971
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	Supreme Courts—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	272
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	978
                

                

                  
	Swimming Baths and Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland City Baths
                  
	123
                

              

          

          

            
T

            

                

                  
	Technical Schools—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	207


                

                
                

                  
	Whirinaki Native
                  
	619
                

                

                  
	Temperance Societies—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Prohibit. League
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Auck. Total Abstinence
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Helping Hand Branch of Prohibition League
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Women's Christian Temperance Union
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Town Boards and Districts—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Helensville
                  
	634
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi
                  
	732
                

                

                  
	Ngaruawahia
                  
	713
                

                

                  
	Rotcrua
                  
	800
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	Trade Societies—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Boot Manufacturers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Builders and Contractors
                  
	305
                

                

                  
	Carpenters and Joiners
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	Licensed Victuallers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Bakers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Butchers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Ironworkers and Farriers
                  
	305
                

                

                  
	Master Painters
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Plumbers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Tailors
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Tailoresses
                  
	307
                

                

                  
	Trades and Labour Council
                  
	305
                

                

                  
	Typographical
                  
	307
                

                

                  
	United Furniture Trades
                  
	307
                

                

                  
	Trotting Club, Auckland
                  
	250
                

              

          

          

            
U

            

                

                  
	Union Bank of Australia, Ltd.—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	294
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	982
                

                

                  
	United Press Association
                  
	269
                

                

                  
	University of New Zealand
                  
	196
                

              

          

          

            
V

            

                

                  
	Volunteers—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland A Battery
                  
	164
                

                

                  
	Auckland Bearer Corps
                  
	170
                

                

                  
	Auckland Engineers
                  
	164
                

                

                  
	Auckland Mounted Rifles
                  
	165
                

                

                  
	Auckland Naval Artillery
                  
	161
                

                

                  
	Auckland Rifles
                  
	168
                

                

                  
	Cadets
                  
	170
                

                

                  
	College Rifles
                  
	167
                

                

                  
	Devonport Coast Guard Artillery
                  
	163
                

                

                  
	Devonport Submarine Miners
                  
	162
                

                

                  
	East Coast Mounted Rifles
                  
	969
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	Ngaroto
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Patutahi
                  
	954
                

                

                  
	Punui
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Taupo
                  
	817
                

                

                  
	Druids, Order of—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Dist. Royal Arch
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Auckland Lodge
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Hinemoa Female Lodge
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby Lodge
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Pride of Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Turanganui (Gisborne)
                  
	976
                

              

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

E



            
E

            

                

                  
	Early Closing Association, Auckland
                  
	307
                

                

                  
	Education and School Boards—Auckland
                  
	206
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	972
                

                

                  
	Electrical Works, Rotorua
                  
	803
                

              

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

F



            
F

            

                

                  
	Farmers' Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Waikato
                  
	770
                

                

                  
	Wairoa South
                  
	665
                

                

                  
	Fire Brigades—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland (Municipal)
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	Kaeo
                  
	587
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	241
                

                

                  
	St. Andrew No. 8, N.Z.C.
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	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	672
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	726
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	National Bank of New Zealand—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	294
                

                

                  
	Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Grey Lynn
                  
	526
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	846
                

                

                  
	National Schools Vigilance Committee, Auckland
                  
	210
                

                

                  
	Native Land Courts—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	275
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	979
                

                

                  
	Native Training Schools (Anglican)—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Church Miss. Soc., Gis.
                  
	973
                

                

                  
	Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	1007
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Accountants' and Auditors' Association
                  
	303
                

                

                  
	N.Z. and Aus. Natives' Association
                  
	253–977
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Inanimate Pigeon Shooting Association
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Institute of Journalists, Auckland
                  
	269
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Lacrosse Assoc., Auck.
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Railway Officers' Inst.
                  
	303
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Tattersall's Club
                  
	252
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	Oddfellows—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Alpha Juvenile
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Auckland District M.U.
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	District Degree
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Fountain of Friendship
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Good Intent
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Independent Order
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Loyal Pioneer Lodge
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Loyal United Brothers Lodge
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Myrtle Rebekah
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	National Independent Order
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Star of Auckland
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Star of Eden
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Wynyard
                  
	244
                

                

                  
	Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	976
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	912
                

                

                  
	Official Assignee, Auck
                  
	183
                

                

                  
	Old Men's and Old Women's Homes—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	972
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	869
                

                

                  
	Waikato
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	Orange Lodges—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Grand Lodge of N.Z., N.I.
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	No. 1
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	No. 10
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Royal Albert
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Royal Black Preceptory
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Orphans' Club, Auckland
                  
	253
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	Parks and Recreation Grounds—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	768
                

                

                  
	Cornwall Park, Auckland
                  
	1023
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	825
                

                

                  
	Police Stations and Districts—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	782
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	771
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	979
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	745
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	707
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	953
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	845
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Shortland
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Post Offices—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	175
                

                

                  
	Bombay
                  
	687
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	769
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	898
                

                

                  
	Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	970
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	Hinuera
                  
	793
                

                

                  
	Kaikohe
                  
	575
                

                

                  
	Kaitaia
                  
	597
                

                

                  
	Karangahake
                  
	905
                

                

                  
	Kaukapakapa
                  
	630
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi
                  
	732
                

                

                  
	Lichfield
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Makaraka
                  
	1003
                

                

                  
	Matamata
                  
	791
                

                

                  
	Matawhero
                  
	1005
                

                

                  
	Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Mongonui
                  
	591
                

                

                  
	Ohinewai
                  
	704
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	651
                

                

                  
	Opononi
                  
	615
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	842
                

                

                  
	Paparata
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Rawene
                  
	611
                

                

                  
	Razorback
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	802
                

                

                  
	Russell
                  
	565
                

                

                  
	Tamahere
                  
	759
                

                

                  
	Taupiri
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	Taupo
                  
	817
                

                

                  
	Tauranga
                  
	932
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Te Kopuru
                  
	639
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	868
                

                

                  
	Tirau
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Tuakau
                  
	690
                

                

                  
	Waharoa
                  
	790
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	918
                

                

                  
	Waiorongomai
                  
	835
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	911


                

                
                

                  
	Walton
                  
	789
                

                

                  
	Warkworth
                  
	540
                

                

                  
	Whangarata
                  
	693
                

                

                  
	Whangaroa
                  
	580
                

                

                  
	Poultry Societies—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	253
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Presbyterian Churches—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Grey Lynn
                  
	525
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	513
                

                

                  
	St. Andrew's
                  
	222
                

                

                  
	St. David's
                  
	223
                

                

                  
	St. James's
                  
	223
                

                

                  
	St. Stephen's
                  
	223
                

                

                  
	Bombay
                  
	688
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	770
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	974
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Matawhero
                  
	1006
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Tuakau
                  
	691
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Primitive Methodist Churches—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Alexandra Street
                  
	233
                

                

                  
	Eden Terrace
                  
	234
                

                

                  
	Primitive Methodist
                  
	234
                

                

                  
	Upper Pitt Street
                  
	234
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Prison Gate Home, Auck.
                  
	195
                

                

                  
	Private Schools—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Com. College
                  
	213
                

                

                  
	Ladies' College
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Melmerly Collegiate
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Training College
                  
	213
                

                

                  
	Hamilton High
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	Professional and Other Societies, Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Ladies' Benevolent
                  
	191
                

                

                  
	Employers' Association
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Soc. for Protection of Women and Children
                  
	194
                

                

                  
	Pharmaceutical Assoc.
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	Prov. Industrial Assoc.
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	Scenery Conservation
                  
	253
                

                

                  
	Shorthand Writers' Asso.
                  
	254
                

                

                  
	Society of Arts
                  
	252
                

                

                  
	Theosophical
                  
	237
                

                

                  
	Protestant Alliance Friendly Society. Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Public Halls—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Peria
                  
	596
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Public Libraries and Reading Rooms—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	122
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	771
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	744
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	707
                

                

                  
	Kaeo
                  
	587
                

                

                  
	Lichfield
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	726
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	862
                

                

                  
	Turanganui, Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Public Schools—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Bayfield
                  
	210
                

                

                  
	Beresford Street
                  
	208
                

                

                  
	Chapel Street
                  
	209
                

                

                  
	Grafton
                  
	209
                

                

                  
	Morningside
                  
	523
                

                

                  
	Mount Eden
                  
	523
                

                

                  
	Napier Street
                  
	208
                

                

                  
	Nelson Street
                  
	208
                

                

                  
	Newton West
                  
	525
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	512
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby
                  
	209
                

                

                  
	Richmond Road
                  
	209
                

                

                  
	Wellesley Street
                  
	208
                

                

                  
	Awanui
                  
	599
                

                

                  
	Bombay
                  
	688
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	769
                

                

                  
	Cambridge West
                  
	780
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	898
                

                

                  
	Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Ellerslie
                  
	655
                

                

                  
	Golden Cross
                  
	916
                

                

                  
	Gordon
                  
	837
                

                

                  
	Grahamtown
                  
	554
                

                

                  
	Hamilton East
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Hamilton West
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Harrisville
                  
	689
                

                

                  
	Helensville
                  
	635
                

                

                  
	Hikurangi
                  
	560
                

                

                  
	Hikutaia
                  
	857
                

                

                  
	Hinuera
                  
	793
                

                

                  
	Hukanui
                  
	756
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	706
                

                

                  
	Karangahake
                  
	905
                

                

                  
	Kaukapakapa
                  
	630
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi
                  
	732
                

                

                  
	Kimihia
                  
	710
                

                

                  
	Lichfield
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Makauri
                  
	1009
                

                

                  
	Mangere
                  
	657
                

                

                  
	Marshmeadows
                  
	756
                

                

                  
	Matamata
                  
	792
                

                

                  
	Matawhero
                  
	1005
                

                

                  
	Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Morrinsville
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Ohaupo
                  
	720
                

                

                  
	Ohinewai
                  
	704
                

                

                  
	Okoroire
                  
	794
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	651
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	952
                

                

                  
	Otahuhu
                  
	663
                

                

                  
	Owharoa
                  
	838
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	842
                

                

                  
	Paparata
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Parawai
                  
	858
                

                

                  
	Parua No. 2
                  
	554
                

                

                  
	Patutahi
                  
	954
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Poroti Native
                  
	559
                

                

                  
	Puhoi
                  
	539
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe West
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Pukerimu
                  
	783
                

                

                  
	Pukete
                  
	717
                

                

                  
	Ranana Native
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Tamahere
                  
	759
                

                

                  
	Taupiri
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	Taupo
                  
	818
                

                

                  
	Tauwhare
                  
	761
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha Goldfields
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha West
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Te Kopuru
                  
	639
                

                

                  
	Te Puke
                  
	940
                

                

                  
	Thames—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Kauaeranga Boys'
                  
	870
                

                

                  
	Kauaeranga (Sandes Street)
                  
	871
                

                

                  
	Tararu
                  
	871
                

                

                  
	Waiokaraka
                  
	871
                

                

                  
	Tirau
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Tokaanu Native
                  
	821
                

                

                  
	Totara North
                  
	582
                

                

                  
	Towai
                  
	643
                

                

                  
	Tuakau
                  
	690
                

                

                  
	Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	1007
                

                

                  
	Weihi
                  
	918
                

                

                  
	Waihou
                  
	823
                

                

                  
	Waimate North
                  
	574
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	912
                

                

                  
	Walton
                  
	789
                

                

                  
	Whangarata
                  
	693
                

                

                  
	Whangarei Heads
                  
	553
                

                

                  
	Public Trust Department—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	356
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	988
                

                

                  
	Public Works Office, Auck.
                  
	185
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	Racing and Jockey Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	Avondale
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay Park Co.
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay Turf
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	South Auckland
                  
	744
                

                

                  
	Takapuna
                  
	532
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Waitekauri
                  
	912
                

                

                  
	Railway Servants, Amalgamated Society of,
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	Railway Stations—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	183
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	769
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	Helensville
                  
	635
                

                

                  
	Huntly
                  
	705
                

                

                  
	Kawakawa
                  
	569
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Morrinsville
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Newmarket
                  
	518
                

                

                  
	Ngaruawahia
                  
	714
                

                

                  
	Ohaupo
                  
	720
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	842
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Putararu
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Shortland
                  
	868
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	868
                

                

                  
	Tirau
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Whangarei
                  
	545
                

                

                  
	Rechabites, Order of, N.Z. District, No. 84
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Road Boards—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Aroha
                  
	969
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	768
                

                

                  
	Kaiti
                  
	967
                

                

                  
	Kirikiriroa
                  
	754
                

                

                  
	Matamata
                  
	791
                

                

                  
	Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	701
                

                

                  
	Ngatapa
                  
	968
                

                

                  
	Opotiki
                  
	946
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	952
                

                

                  
	Paparata
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Patutahi
                  
	954
                

                

                  
	Pokeno
                  
	695
                

                

                  
	Pouawa
                  
	968
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay
                  
	967
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	670
                

                

                  
	Pukekura
                  
	781
                

                

                  
	Tamahere
                  
	758
                

                

                  
	Tareheru
                  
	968
                

                

                  
	Te Arai
                  
	1005
                

                

                  
	Waipipi
                  
	677
                

                

                  
	Wairoa
                  
	664
                

                

                  
	Waitoa
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Waiuku
                  
	677
                

                

                  
	Whakatane
                  
	943
                

                

                  
	Whataupoko
                  
	967
                

                

                  
	Roman Catholic Churches—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Church of the Sacred Heart
                  
	228
                

                

                  
	Parnell
                  
	514
                

                

                  
	St. Benedict's
                  
	228
                

                

                  
	St. Patrick's Cathedral
                  
	226
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	975
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Karangahake
                  
	905
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi
                  
	732
                

                

                  
	Mercer
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Ormond
                  
	952
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Patutahi
                  
	955
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Te Aroha
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Tuakau
                  
	691
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Roman Catholic Diocese
                  
	225
                

                

                  
	Rowing and Yachting Clubs—Auckland—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	246
                

                

                  
	Auckland Yacht
                  
	246
                

                

                  
	Ponsonby
                  
	247
                

                

                  
	St. George's
                  
	247
                

                

                  
	Waitemata
                  
	247
                

                

                  
	West End
                  
	246
                

                

                  
	Hauraki (Thames)
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Mercer Maori Regatta
                  
	702
                

                

                  
	Ngaruawahia Regatta
                  
	715
                

                

                  
	Poverty Bay (Gisborne)
                  
	976
                

                

                  
	Ruth Lodge, Auckland
                  
	195
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	Sailors' Home, Auckland
                  
	192
                

                

                  
	St. Stephen's Orphan Home, Auckland
                  
	192
                

                

                  
	Salvation Army—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	237
                

                

                  
	Cambridge
                  
	770
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	976
                

                

                  
	Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	874
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Savage Club, Auckland
                  
	253
                

                

                  
	Savings Banks—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	294
                

                

                  
	Grey Lynn
                  
	526
                

                

                  
	Onehunga
                  
	652
                

                

                  
	School Commissioners, Auckland
                  
	206
                

                

                  
	Schools of Mines—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Coromandel
                  
	899
                

                

                  
	Thames
                  
	472
                

                

                  
	Waihi
                  
	501
                

                

                  
	Seamen's Union, Coastal
                  
	305
                

                

                  
	Secondary Schools—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland Grammar
                  
	200
                

                

                  
	Auck. University College
                  
	197
                

                

                  
	Gisborne District High
                  
	973
                

                

                  
	King's College
                  
	202
                

                

                  
	Prince Albert College
                  
	203
                

                

                  
	St. John's College
                  
	204
                

                

                  
	Thames High
                  
	870
                

                

                  
	Wesley College, Three Kings
                  
	205
                

                

                  
	Whangarei High
                  
	545
                

                

                  
	Settlers' Clubs and Associations—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Mamaku
                  
	797
                

                

                  
	Parua Bay
                  
	554
                

                

                  
	State Forest Nursery, Rotorua
                  
	812
                

                

                  
	Stock Department—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	181
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	971
                

                

                  
	Hamilton
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	Supreme Courts—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	272
                

                

                  
	Gisborne
                  
	978
                

                

                  
	Swimming Baths and Clubs—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland City Baths
                  
	123
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	Technical Schools—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
                  
	207


                

                
                

                  
	Whirinaki Native
                  
	619
                

                

                  
	Temperance Societies—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auck. Prohibit. League
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Auck. Total Abstinence
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Helping Hand Branch of Prohibition League
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Women's Christian Temperance Union
                  
	245
                

                

                  
	Town Boards and Districts—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Helensville
                  
	634
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi
                  
	732
                

                

                  
	Ngaruawahia
                  
	713
                

                

                  
	Rotcrua
                  
	800
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	Trade Societies—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Boot Manufacturers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Builders and Contractors
                  
	305
                

                

                  
	Carpenters and Joiners
                  
	304
                

                

                  
	Licensed Victuallers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Bakers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Butchers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Ironworkers and Farriers
                  
	305
                

                

                  
	Master Painters
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Plumbers
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Master Tailors
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Tailoresses
                  
	307
                

                

                  
	Trades and Labour Council
                  
	305
                

                

                  
	Typographical
                  
	307
                

                

                  
	United Furniture Trades
                  
	307
                

                

                  
	Trotting Club, Auckland
                  
	250
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	Union Bank of Australia, Ltd.—
                  
	
                

                

                  
	Auckland
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	Boucher, E., Te Puke
                  
	940
                

                

                  
	Boult, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
259
                  
                

                

                  
	Bowden. C., Te Awamutu
                  
	724–729
                

                

                  
	Bowles, G. E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
184
                  
                

                

                  
	Bowman, J., Ahipara
                  
	604
                

                

                  
	Boyce, Lieut. J. J., Auck.
                  
	168
                

                

                  
	Brabant, Capt. H. W., Auckland
                  
	142–274
                

                

                  
	Bracken, J. H., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
906
                  
                

                

                  
	Bradbury, Rev. A. McI., Ngaruawahia
                  
	714
                

                

                  
	Bradley, S., Auckland
                  
	
422-
1021
                

                

                  
	Brady, J., Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Braidwood, T., s.s. “Gairloch”
                  
	
                    
447
                  
                

                

                  
	Bramley, J. T., Whangaroa
                  
	
                    
581
                  
                

                

                  
	Bramley, R. G., Dargaville
                  
	
                    
625
                  
                

                

                  
	Bramley, W., Kaeo
                  
	
                    
589
                  
                

                

                  
	Brassey, T. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
298
                  
                

                

                  
	Bree, H., Whangarata
                  
	
                    
694
                  
                

                

                  
	Bremner, A., Morrinsville
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Brenan, W., Paeroa
                  
	845
                

                

                  
	Brennan J., Paeroa
                  
	847
                

                

                  
	Brent's Bathgate House, Rotorua
                  
	807
                

                

                  
	Brent. S. T., Rotorua
                  
	807
                

                

                  
	Brett, H., Auckland
                  
	125-128-271
                

                

                  
	Brewer, H. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
273
                  
                

                

                  
	Brewin, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
335
                  
                

                

                  
	Brewis, Dr. A. S. Hamilton
                  
	746
                

                

                  
	Bridge Hotel, Matawhero (E. Quinn)
                  
	1006
                

                

                  
	Bridgewater, Miss J. E., Auckland
                  
	260
                

                

                  
	Brigham, J. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
140
                  
                

                

                  
	Brigham, J. S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
121
                  
                

                

                  
	Bright, J. W., Gisborne
                  
	961-996
                

                

                  
	Briscoe and Co., Ltd., Auck.
                  
	376
                

                

                  
	British and Continental Piano Co., Auckland
                  
	265
                

                

                  
	Brit. Empire Stables, Gis.
                  
	998
                

                

                  
	Brit. and Foreign M.I.C., Auckland
                  
	300
                

                

                  
	Brittain, Lieut. F. H., Auckland
                  
	165-181
                

                

                  
	Broady, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
368
                  
                

                

                  
	Broady, J. and Co., Auck.
                  
	367
                

                

                  
	Brock, Adam, Auckland
                  
	276
                

                

                  
	Brodie, Rev. Father, Waihi
                  
	1022
                

                

                  
	Brodie, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
101
                  
                

                

                  
	Brokenshire, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
474
                  
                

                

                  
	Bromwich, E., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
847
                  
                

                

                  
	Brook, C. J., Parnell
                  
	510-514
                

                

                  
	Brookfield and Son, Auck.
                  
	276
                

                

                  
	Brookes, A. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
386
                  
                

                

                  
	Brooke-Smith, E., Auck.
                  
	
                    
312
                  
                

                

                  
	Brooking, B., Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	
                    
1008
                  
                

                

                  
	Brooking, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
979
                  
                

                

                  
	Brooks, F. J., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
772
                  
                

                

                  
	Broughton, J. H., Poroti
                  
	
                    
559
                  
                

                

                  
	Broun, Capt. T., Auckland
                  
	181
                

                

                  
	Brown, A., Waerenga-a-h.
                  
	
                    
1008
                  
                

                

                  
	Brown, Late Ven. Arch. A. N., Tauranga
                  
	932
                

                

                  
	Brown, B., Whakatane
                  
	943
                

                

                  
	Brown, Barrett and Co., Auckland
                  
	395
                

                

                  
	Brown, C., Waihi
                  
	917
                

                

                  
	Brown, Campbell and Co., Auckland
                  
	395-626
                

                

                  
	Brooks, F. C., Gordon
                  
	837
                

                

                  
	Brown, Rev. C. C., Rotorua
                  
	804
                

                

                  
	Brown, D. and A., Auck.
                  
	350
                

                

                  
	Brown, Prof. F. D., Auck.
                  
	198
                

                

                  
	Brown, G., Tuakau
                  
	
                    
691
                  
                

                

                  
	Brown, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
991
                  
                

                

                  
	Brown, J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
842
                  
                

                

                  
	Brown, J. jun., Razorback
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Brown, J., sen., Pokeno
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Brown, J. A., Waihi
                  
	
                    
927
                  
                

                

                  
	Brown and Stewart, Auck.
                  
	403
                

                

                  
	Brown, T. G., Auckland
                  
	404
                

                

                  
	Brown, W.,
                  
	39–100
                

                

                  
	Brown, W., Totara North
                  
	
                    
585
                  
                

                

                  
	Brown, W. H., Devonport
                  
	
531-534
                

                

                  
	Brown, W. J., Dargaville
                  
	623–624
                

                

                  
	Brown, Late W. P., Bay of Islands
                  
	586
                

                

                  
	Browne, B., Matamata
                  
	791
                

                

                  
	Browne, E., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
499
                  
                

                

                  
	Browne, E. C. and Co., Auckland
                  
	353
                

                

                  
	Browne, G. J., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
651
                  
                

                

                  
	Browne, Jos., Auckland
                  
	258
                

                

                  
	Browne, J. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
275
                  
                

                

                  
	Browne, M. and Co., Thames
                  
	891
                

                

                  
	Browne, S., Clevedon
                  
	
                    
664
                  
                

                

                  
	Brownlie, J. A., Taupo
                  
	817
                

                

                  
	Bruce, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
145
                  
                

                

                  
	Bruce, A., Thames
                  
	
                    
862
                  
                

                

                  
	Bruce, Late G., Auckland
                  
	203-1017
                

                

                  
	Bruce, W. E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
276
                  
                

                

                  
	Brunn, Co., Te Aroha West
                  
	832
                

                

                  
	Bryant, R. E., Makaraka
                  
	
                    
1004
                  
                

                

                  
	Buchanan, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
276
                  
                

                

                  
	Buchanan, A. G., Auckland
                  
	296
                

                

                  
	Buchanan, T. G., Okaihau
                  
	
                    
577
                  
                

                

                  
	Buchanan, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
129
                  
                

                

                  
	Buckland, W. F., Cambridge
                  
	766
                

                

                  
	Buckley, Dr. A. G. H., Pa.
                  
	846
                

                

                  
	Buckley, R., Thames
                  
	
                    
889
                  
                

                

                  
	Buckworth, C. M., Whakatane
                  
	943
                

                

                  
	Buddle, Button and Co., Auckland
                  
	276
                

                

                  
	Buddle, T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
277
                  
                

                

                  
	Buddle, Late Rev. T., Auck.
                  
	233
                

                

                  
	Bugden, F., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	Bullen, F. T. H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
979
                  
                

                

                  
	Buller, Late Rev. J., Rawene
                  
	611
                

                

                  
	Buller, W. B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
294
                  
                

                

                  
	Bunney, J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
503
                  
                

                

                  
	Burch, W. H., Thames
                  
	
                    
477
                  
                

                

                  
	Burgess, E. W., Auckland
                  
	141
                

                

                  
	Burgess, G. A., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
846
                  
                

                

                  
	Burgess, Capt. I. J., Auck.
                  
	427
                

                

                  
	Burgess, R. A., Auckland
                  
	305
                

                

                  
	Burgoyne, W., Mangatete
                  
	
                    
600
                  
                

                

                  
	Burke, E. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
259
                  
                

                

                  
	Burnett, F. W., Walton
                  
	789
                

                

                  
	Burns, J., Auckland
                  
	112
                

                

                  
	Burns, J. and Co., Auck.
                  
	376
                

                

                  
	Burns, J. H., Auckland
                  
	129
                

                

                  
	Burra, R., Thames
                  
	
                    
890
                  
                

                

                  
	Burr, H. E., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
714
                  
                

                

                  
	Burroughs, W. and J., Whangarei
                  
	549
                

                

                  
	Burrows, A. W., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
935
                  
                

                

                  
	Burrows, Late Rev. R., Auckland
                  
	219
                

                

                  
	Burton, A. F., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
826
                  
                

                

                  
	Burton, E. W., Auckland
                  
	277
                

                

                  
	Burton, F. P., Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Burton, H. H., Te A'm'tu
                  
	
                    
727
                  
                

                

                  
	Burton and Hammond, Auckland
                  
	277
                

                

                  
	Burton, J., Auckland
                  
	323-324
                

                

                  
	Bush, R. T., Thames
                  
	
                    
878
                  
                

                

                  
	Bushnell, H. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
996
                  
                

                

                  
	Butler, M., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
770
                  
                

                

                  
	Butler, P., Auckland
                  
	
                    
297
                  
                

                

                  
	Buttle, Late Rev. G., Otahuhu
                  
	1021
                

                

                  
	Button, C. E., Auckland
                  
	
110-
528
                

                

                  
	Buxton, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
183
                  
                

                

                  
	Bygrave, S. L., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
829
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	Cadman, Hon. A. J.,
                  
	90
                

                

                  
	Cadman, J. C., Huntly
                  
	
                    
707
                  
                

                

                  
	Cæsar, J. A. A., Ormond
                  
	952
                

                

                  
	Cafler, Late E. E., Whangarei
                  
	552
                

                

                  
	Caie, W., Paparata
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Cairns, Late A., Auck.
                  
	133-1016
                

                

                  
	Calder, Canon, Auckland
                  
	217
                

                

                  
	Calder, C. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
277
                  
                

                

                  
	Calder and Goldwater, Auckland
                  
	277
                

                

                  
	Calderwood, J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
922
                  
                

                

                  
	Caley, T. L., Auckland
                  
	386
                

                

                  
	Caley, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
230
                  
                

                

                  
	Callaghan, L., Okoroire
                  
	794
                

                

                  
	Callan, Dr. P., Thames
                  
	877
                

                

                  
	Cambridge Dairy Asso., Hautapu
                  
	763
                

                

                  
	Cambridge Shirt and Cloth. Factory, Auckland
                  
	350
                

                

                  
	Cameron E., Gisborne
                  
	1000
                

                

                  
	Cameron, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
295
                  
                

                

                  
	Cammell, G. S., Auckland
                  
	418
                

                

                  
	Campbell, A. B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
278
                  
                

                

                  
	Campbell, D., Waihi
                  
	
                    
927
                  
                

                

                  
	Campbell, D. R. F., Morrinsville
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Campbell and Ehrenfried Co., Ltd., Auckland
                  
	329
                

                

                  
	Campbell, H., Auckland
                  
	
275-
510
                

                

                  
	Campbell, J., Grey Lynn
                  
	
                    
525
                  
                

                

                  
	Campbell, Dr. J. L., Auckland
                  
	40-101-283-1014
                

                

                  
	Campbell, Late P., Totara North
                  
	586
                

                

                  
	Campbell, R., Whangaroa
                  
	
                    
580
                  
                

                

                  
	Campbell, Miss S., Auck.
                  
	190
                

                

                  
	Cantley, T., Thames
                  
	
                    
869
                  
                

                

                  
	Canton Insu. Co., Auck.
                  
	300
                

                

                  
	Capt. Cook Brewery, Auck.
                  
	333
                

                

                  
	Care, G., Tamahere
                  
	
                    
759
                  
                

                

                  
	Carey, Miss C. A., Hamilton
                  
	744
                

                

                  
	Carlaw, Jas., Auckland
                  
	122-234
                

                

                  
	Carnachan, F. M., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
804
                  
                

                

                  
	Carolan, Dr. J. F., Matakohe
                  
	642
                

                

                  
	Carpenter, Brigade Sergt.-Major, Auckland
                  
	159
                

                

                  
	Carr, J. G., Newmarket
                  
	
                    
518
                  
                

                

                  
	Carr, Johnston and Co., Auckland
                  
	391–395
                

                

                  
	Carr, R. C., Auckland
                  
	309
                

                

                  
	Carroll, T., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
901
                  
                

                

                  
	Carter, A. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
287
                  
                

                

                  
	Carter, C. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
208
                  
                

                

                  
	Carter, R. S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
427
                  
                

                

                  
	Carter, S., Thames
                  
	
                    
870
                  
                

                

                  
	Carter, T. E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
260
                  
                

                

                  
	Carter, W., Hikurangi
                  
	
                    
561
                  
                

                

                  
	Cartwright, E., Thames
                  
	
                    
478
                  
                

                

                  
	Casey, M., Auckland
                  
	142
                

                

                  
	Cash, E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
353
                  
                

                

                  
	Cassrels, A., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
856
                  
                

                

                  
	Caston, J. R., Newmarket
                  
	517-518
                

                

                  
	Caston, Late W. G., Newmarket
                  
	519
                

                

                  
	Cattanach, D. S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
405
                  
                

                

                  
	Caudwell, H., Te Aroha W.
                  
	
                    
833
                  
                

                

                  
	Caughey, Capt. A. C., Auck.
                  
	168
                

                

                  
	Cave, C. W., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
771
                  
                

                

                  
	Central Hotel, Auck. (J. Rolleston)
                  
	361
                

                

                  
	Chamberlin, Late Hon. H., Drury
                  
	669
                

                

                  
	Chambers, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
264
                  
                

                

                  
	Chambers, J., Auckland
                  
	369
                

                

                  
	Chambers, J. M., Auck.
                  
	
                    
369
                  
                

                

                  
	Chambers, J. and Son, Ltd., Auckland
                  
	368
                

                

                  
	Chambers, Madame, Auck.
                  
	260
                

                

                  
	Chambers, W. K., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
968
                  
                

                

                  
	Chapman, A., Hokianga
                  
	
                    
612
                  
                

                

                  
	Chappell, F., Thames
                  
	
                    
880
                  
                

                

                  
	Chatfield, A. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
287
                  
                

                

                  
	Cheal, P. E., Auckland
                  
	142–466
                

                

                  
	Cheator, Sgt.-M. A., Auck.
                  
	159
                

                

                  
	Cheeseman, T. F., Auck.
                  
	
                    
175
                  
                

                

                  
	Chepmell, W. P., Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	China Traders' Insu. Co., Auckland
                  
	300
                

                

                  
	Chissell, C. H., Whangarei
                  
	549
                

                

                  
	Chitty, W., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
751
                  
                

                

                  
	Chrisp, E. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
962
                  
                

                

                  
	Chrisp, T., Gisborne
                  
	988
                

                

                  
	Christian, N., Auckland
                  
	
                    
390
                  
                

                

                  
	Christie, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
210
                  
                

                

                  
	Christie, W. H., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
498
                  
                

                

                  
	Churton, W. H., Auckland
                  
	
302-
469
                

                

                  
	Citizens' Life Assu. Co., Auckland
                  
	301
                

                

                  
	City Flour Mills, Auckland (Bycroft, Ltd.)
                  
	408
                

                

                  
	City Hall, Auckland
                  
	256–257
                

                

                  
	Clark, A., Auckland
                  
	102–124
                

                

                  
	Clark, A. H., Waihi
                  
	
                    
925
                  
                

                

                  
	Clark, A. and Sons, Auckland
                  
	396-994
                

                

                  
	Clark, G. E., Cambridge
                  
	766–772
                

                

                  
	Clark, Rev. Jos., Auck.
                  
	235
                

                

                  
	Clark, J. A., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
934
                  
                

                

                  
	Clark, J. J., Pokeno
                  
	
                    
697
                  
                

                

                  
	Clark, J. M., Auckland
                  
	126-
130
                

                

                  
	Clark, J. P., Auckland
                  
	
                    
240
                  
                

                

                  
	Clark, M. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
396
                  
                

                

                  
	Clark, M. H., Makaraka
                  
	1003
                

                

                  
	Clark, T. W., Thames
                  
	
                    
862
                  
                

                

                  
	Clark-Walker, G., Whangarei
                  
	543
                

                

                  
	Clark, W. E., Newstead
                  
	757
                

                

                  
	Clarke, A., Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Clarke, C. A., Tauranga
                  
	931
                

                

                  
	Clarke, Late Ven. E. B., Auckland
                  
	219
                

                

                  
	Clarke, G. W., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
490
                  
                

                

                  
	Clarke, H. T., Waimate N.
                  
	
                    
574
                  
                

                

                  
	Clarke, R., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
498
                  
                

                

                  
	Clarke, T. P., Waihi
                  
	
                    
504
                  
                

                

                  
	Clayton, M. T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
310
                  
                

                

                  
	Clayton Bros., Gisborne
                  
	999
                

                

                  
	Clayton, C. E., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
999
                  
                

                

                  
	Clayton, F., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
999
                  
                

                

                  
	Clayton, W. H. Gisborne
                  
	999
                

                

                  
	Claudet, L. H., Awanui
                  
	600
                

                

                  
	Clements, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
427
                  
                

                

                  
	Clemens, Lieut.-Com. C. H., Auckland
                  
	161
                

                

                  
	Clemett, A. D., Mongonui
                  
	
                    
591
                  
                

                

                  
	Clendon, E. J., Thames
                  
	
                    
875
                  
                

                

                  
	Clendon and Mueller, Paeroa
                  
	845
                

                

                  
	Cliffe, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
186
                  
                

                

                  
	Clifford, H. J., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
787
                  
                

                

                  
	Clifford, H. and J., Morrinsville
                  
	786
                

                

                  
	Clifford, J. M., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
787
                  
                

                

                  
	Clinkard, C. H., Kaukapakapa
                  
	630
                

                

                  
	Close, J., Kawakawa
                  
	
                    
570
                  
                

                

                  
	Clough, T. E., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
826
                  
                

                

                  
	Clouston, Dr. J., Waiuku
                  
	680
                

                

                  
	“Cloverlea,” Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Clow Bros., Northcote
                  
	529
                

                

                  
	Coates, Mrs A., Auckland
                  
	260


                

                
                

                  
	Coates, Dr. F. W., Auck.
                  
	283
                

                

                  
	Coates, I., Hamilton
                  
	739
                

                

                  
	Cochran, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
146
                  
                

                

                  
	Cock, E. S., Karangahake
                  
	905
                

                

                  
	Cock, F., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
854
                  
                

                

                  
	Cockerline, R., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
734
                  
                

                

                  
	Cole Bros., Tuakau
                  
	692
                

                

                  
	Cole, F., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
788
                  
                

                

                  
	Cole, Dr. G. W., Gisborne
                  
	981
                

                

                  
	Cole, R., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
973
                  
                

                

                  
	Cole, W. R. and H. E., Tuakau
                  
	692
                

                

                  
	Colebourne, J. H., Gis.
                  
	969
                

                

                  
	Colebrook, J. D., Coromandel
                  
	896
                

                

                  
	Colebrooke, G., Waihi
                  
	
                    
925
                  
                

                

                  
	Coleman, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
982
                  
                

                

                  
	Coleman, W., Auckland
                  
	277
                

                

                  
	Coles, G. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
381
                  
                

                

                  
	Colhoun, J., Ohaupo
                  
	
                    
720
                  
                

                

                  
	Colledge, W., Onehunga
                  
	648
                

                

                  
	Colley, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
986
                  
                

                

                  
	Collier, A. B., Tuakau
                  
	
                    
691
                  
                

                

                  
	Collings, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
369
                  
                

                

                  
	Collings, C. A., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
914
                  
                

                

                  
	Collings, C. and A., Auck.
                  
	369
                

                

                  
	Collings, C., jun., Auckland
                  
	369
                

                

                  
	Collings, C. J., Waitekauri
                  
	911
                

                

                  
	Collins, A. C. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
287
                  
                

                

                  
	Collins, Rev. A. H., Auckland
                  
	236-1017
                

                

                  
	Collins, W., Huntly
                  
	709
                

                

                  
	Collins, Wm. Sons and Co., Ltd, Auckland
                  
	404
                

                

                  
	Co., Ammun't'n Co., Auck.
                  
	170
                

                

                  
	Colonial Mutual Life Assur. Co., Auckland
                  
	301
                

                

                  
	Colonial Sugar Refining Co., Auckland
                  
	414
                

                

                  
	Colson, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
287
                  
                

                

                  
	Comer, B., Pukekura
                  
	
                    
782
                  
                

                

                  
	Commercial Hotel, Paeroa
                  
	848
                

                

                  
	Commercial Hotel, Taur.
                  
	935
                

                

                  
	Commercial Union Assu. Co., Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Common, Shelton and Co., Gisborne
                  
	995
                

                

                  
	Conelly, W. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
428
                  
                

                

                  
	Coney, J. E., Thames
                  
	
                    
868
                  
                

                

                  
	Connelly, —., Auckland
                  
	130
                

                

                  
	Connelly, J. D., Auckland
                  
	114
                

                

                  
	Conolly, E. T., Paeroa
                  
	843-
844
                

                

                  
	Conolly, Mr. Justice, Auck.
                  
	272
                

                

                  
	Conradi, W. I., Raglan
                  
	718–1021
                

                

                  
	Constable, Late E., Waiuku
                  
	683
                

                

                  
	Conway, J., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
937
                  
                

                

                  
	Conway, P., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
493
                  
                

                

                  
	Cook, T. and Son, Auck.
                  
	310
                

                

                  
	Coom, Dr. R., Auckland
                  
	283
                

                

                  
	Cooper, E., Auckland
                  
	130
                

                

                  
	Cooper, E. J., Auckland
                  
	290
                

                

                  
	Cooper, E. K., Thames
                  
	475
                

                

                  
	Cooper, G., Paeroa
                  
	854
                

                

                  
	Cooper, J. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
351
                  
                

                

                  
	Cooper, Mr. Just., Auck.
                  
	272–278
                

                

                  
	Cooper, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
277
                  
                

                

                  
	Cooper, W., Gisborne
                  
	
966-
1000
                

                

                  
	Corbett, Late E. M., Waitekauri
                  
	501
                

                

                  
	Corbett R. J., Mongonui
                  
	594
                

                

                  
	Corbett W. H., Rotorua
                  
	807
                

                

                  
	Corboy, F. D., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
732
                  
                

                

                  
	Corboy, J. A., Crakau
                  
	
                    
735
                  
                

                

                  
	Corboy, Late W., Kihikihi
                  
	735
                

                

                  
	Corcoral Father, Auck.
                  
	227–1017
                

                

                  
	Corcoral, M., Auckland
                  
	428
                

                

                  
	Corlett, B. S., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
803
                  
                

                

                  
	Cornaga, V., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
774
                  
                

                

                  
	Cornes, C. A., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
495
                  
                

                

                  
	Cornthwaite, W. K., Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	“Coromandel County News”
                  
	900
                

                

                  
	Coromandel Plumbing and Sheet Metal Works
                  
	902
                

                

                  
	Cosgrave, J., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	Cotes. Lieut. H., Auckland
                  
	165
                

                

                  
	Cottam, G. H., Huntly
                  
	705
                

                

                  
	Cotter, R. J., Waikino
                  
	910–914
                

                

                  
	Cotter, Thos., Auckland
                  
	122
                

                

                  
	Cottle, Thos., Auckland
                  
	271
                

                

                  
	Cotton, H. E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
310
                  
                

                

                  
	Cottrell, J., Rangiaohia
                  
	
                    
736
                  
                

                

                  
	Coultas, J., Mercer
                  
	
                    
703
                  
                

                

                  
	Coultas, T. H., Mercer
                  
	
                    
703
                  
                

                

                  
	Court, A., Thames
                  
	
                    
882
                  
                

                

                  
	Court, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
121
                  
                

                

                  
	Courtney, A. C., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
549
                  
                

                

                  
	Courtney, W. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
132
                  
                

                

                  
	Cousins and Atkin Carriage Factory, Auckland
                  
	340
                

                

                  
	Cousins and Cousins, Auck.
                  
	341
                

                

                  
	Cousins, H., Waihou
                  
	823
                

                

                  
	Coutts, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
336
                  
                

                

                  
	Coutts, Jas., Auckland
                  
	186
                

                

                  
	Cowdell, J. T., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
547
                  
                

                

                  
	Cowie, Bishop, Auckland
                  
	164–214
                

                

                  
	Cowie, Rev. E. M., Auck.
                  
	169-218
                

                

                  
	Cowley, T., Ohaupo
                  
	
720-721
                

                

                  
	Cowling, S., Hautapu
                  
	
                    
764
                  
                

                

                  
	Cox, B. S., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
985
                  
                

                

                  
	Cox, E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
288
                  
                

                

                  
	Cox, E. B., Taupiri
                  
	
                    
712
                  
                

                

                  
	Cox, H., Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Cox, Dr. H., Auckland
                  
	288
                

                

                  
	Cox, J. T. G., Taupiri
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	Cox, N. R., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
748
                  
                

                

                  
	Cox, Lieut. R. G., Auck.
                  
	166
                

                

                  
	Cox, S. R., Mercer
                  
	
                    
703
                  
                

                

                  
	Cox, W. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
997
                  
                

                

                  
	Coxhead, E. R., Kaikohe
                  
	
                    
575
                  
                

                

                  
	Coyle, Captain, Auckland
                  
	156
                

                

                  
	Coyle, T., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
553
                  
                

                

                  
	Cozens, H., Parnel
                  
	510
                

                

                  
	Craig, C., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
773
                  
                

                

                  
	Craig, David, Auckland
                  
	298
                

                

                  
	Craig, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
985
                  
                

                

                  
	Craig, J., Motutapu Island
                  
	
                    
535
                  
                

                

                  
	Craig, Dr. J., Gisborne
                  
	981
                

                

                  
	Craig, J. J., Auckland
                  
	142–310
                

                

                  
	Craig, R., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
684
                  
                

                

                  
	Cranwell, R. B., Waihi
                  
	
                    
921
                  
                

                

                  
	Crawford and Son, Gis.
                  
	996
                

                

                  
	Crawford, T. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	Crawford, T. F., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
996
                  
                

                

                  
	Crawford, T. H., Thames
                  
	
                    
480
                  
                

                

                  
	Crawford, W. F., Gisborne
                  
	996
                

                

                  
	Crawford, T. H., Thames
                  
	
                    
480
                  
                

                

                  
	Crawford, W. F., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
963
                  
                

                

                  
	Creighton, R. J.
                  
	105
                

                

                  
	Crisp, T. A., Whaugarel
                  
	
                    
545
                  
                

                

                  
	Criterion Hotel, Paeroa
                  
	848
                

                

                  
	Crocker, B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
380
                  
                

                

                  
	Croke, Rev. Father W. J., Kihikihi
                  
	733
                

                

                  
	Crombie, R. E., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
829
                  
                

                

                  
	Cronin, B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
208
                  
                

                

                  
	Crosby, G., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
853
                  
                

                

                  
	Crosby, J., Kirikiriroa
                  
	
                    
755
                  
                

                

                  
	Cross, J., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
802
                  
                

                

                  
	Crowe, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
207
                  
                

                

                  
	Crowle, J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
848
                  
                

                

                  
	Crowther, J., Taupo
                  
	819-
820
                

                

                  
	Crowther, Late W., Auckland
                  
	111-127-129
                

                

                  
	Croxford, W., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
776
                  
                

                

                  
	Cruickshank, Late W., Auckland
                  
	429
                

                

                  
	Cuff, A. F., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
967
                  
                

                

                  
	Cullen and Co., Paeroa
                  
	848–923
                

                

                  
	Cullen, G. Thames
                  
	883
                

                

                  
	Cullen, G. and Co., Thames
                  
	883
                

                

                  
	Cullen, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
182
                  
                

                

                  
	Culpan, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
223
                  
                

                

                  
	Culpitt, W., Thames
                  
	
                    
893
                  
                

                

                  
	Culver, W. J., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
728
                  
                

                

                  
	Cummings, H., Kawakawa
                  
	
                    
569
                  
                

                

                  
	Cumpston, G., Waihi
                  
	
                    
927
                  
                

                

                  
	Currie, J., Grey Lynn
                  
	
                    
524
                  
                

                

                  
	Currie, W., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
684
                  
                

                

                  
	Currie, Wm., Makaraka
                  
	1004
                

                

                  
	Curtis, A. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
466
                  
                

                

                  
	Cussen, L. C., Auckland
                  
	
178-
1017
                

                

                  
	Dacre, C. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
137
                  
                

                

                  
	Dacre, Jas., Auckland
                  
	129
                

                

                  
	Dacre, Late Capt., Auck.
                  
	429
                

                

                  
	Daldy, E. A., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
485
                  
                

                

                  
	Daldy, Capt. W. C., Auckland
                  
	101-129
                

                

                  
	Dance, H., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
499
                  
                

                

                  
	Dance, W., Waihi
                  
	
                    
505
                  
                

                

                  
	Dando, S., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
809
                  
                

                

                  
	Dann, F., Thames
                  
	
                    
885
                  
                

                

                  
	Darby, Rev. Father J. C., Hamilton
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Darby, Dr. W. J., Auckland
                  
	283
                

                

                  
	Dargaville, J. M., Auckland
                  
	109–128
                

                

                  
	Darrow, James, Thames
                  
	893
                

                

                  
	Darrow, John, Waitekauri
                  
	914
                

                

                  
	Davey, E. J., Hamilton
                  
	740
                

                

                  
	Davey and Orpwood, Auck.
                  
	351
                

                

                  
	Davey and Son, Auckland
                  
	353
                

                

                  
	Davey, W., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
906
                  
                

                

                  
	Davey, W., Thames
                  
	861
                

                

                  
	Davidge, W. T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
311
                  
                

                

                  
	Davidson, D., Parua Bay
                  
	
                    
554
                  
                

                

                  
	Davidson, J. A. M., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
937
                  
                

                

                  
	Davidson, R., Taheke
                  
	614
                

                

                  
	Davies, A. A., Auckland
                  
	249-
250
                

                

                  
	Davies, Chas., Auckland
                  
	130
                

                

                  
	Davies, J., Kirikiriroa
                  
	754
                

                

                  
	Davies, R., Cambridge
                  
	766
                

                

                  
	Davies, Lieut.-Col. R. H. Auckland
                  
	1016
                

                

                  
	Davies, T. W., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
714
                  
                

                

                  
	Davis, Lieut. E., Auck.
                  
	163-517
                

                

                  
	Davis, J., Auckland
                  
	323
                

                

                  
	Davis, James, Auckland
                  
	323
                

                

                  
	Davis, Miss J. F. P., Pukerimu
                  
	783
                

                

                  
	Davis, Rev. J. K., Auck.
                  
	202
                

                

                  
	Davis, Moss, Auckland
                  
	334
                

                

                  
	Davis, S., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
750
                  
                

                

                  
	Davy, Hy., Auckland
                  
	380
                

                

                  
	Davys, H. E., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
775
                  
                

                

                  
	Davys, Miss L. C., Cambridge
                  
	775
                

                

                  
	Davys and Son, Cambridge
                  
	775
                

                

                  
	Daw, F. R. W., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
492
                  
                

                

                  
	Dawson, Late Dr. F. W. E., Auckland
                  
	280
                

                

                  
	Dawson, T., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
948
                  
                

                

                  
	Dawson, T. C., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
995
                  
                

                

                  
	Dawson, W., Kaukapakapa
                  
	631
                

                

                  
	Day, A. W., Tamahere
                  
	752
                

                

                  
	Day, C., Tamahere
                  
	
                    
759
                  
                

                

                  
	Day, C. G. S., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
776
                  
                

                

                  
	Day, F. F., Mangawhare
                  
	
                    
626
                  
                

                

                  
	Day, Captain H. A., ss. “Paeroa”
                  
	
                    
445
                  
                

                

                  
	Day, V. G., Thames
                  
	
                    
876
                  
                

                

                  
	Dean, A. E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
300
                  
                

                

                  
	Dean, J., Cambridge West
                  
	780
                

                

                  
	Dean, W., Pokeno
                  
	695
                

                

                  
	Deacon, T. W., Riverhead
                  
	
                    
645
                  
                

                

                  
	De Castro, G. P., Paeroa
                  
	846
                

                

                  
	De Clive Lowe, Dr. G. T., Auckland
                  
	164
                

                

                  
	De Lautour, C. A., Gisborne
                  
	960-980
                

                

                  
	Dell, Lieut. H., Pukekohe
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Delta Hotel, Ngaruawahia (E. Simmelhag)
                  
	716
                

                

                  
	De Montalk, Late Prof. E. P., Auckland
                  
	199-1017
                

                

                  
	Denby, G., Thames
                  
	
                    
877
                  
                

                

                  
	Derrom, Lieut. R. J., Auckland
                  
	167
                

                

                  
	Des Barres, F. S., Gis.
                  
	998
                

                

                  
	Devonport Steam Ferry Co., Auckland
                  
	451
                

                

                  
	Devore, A. E. T., Auckland
                  
	
126-
129-
278
                

                

                  
	Devore and Cooper, Auck.
                  
	278
                

                

                  
	Dewdney, Rev. A., Thames
                  
	873
                

                

                  
	Dewing, A., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
994
                  
                

                

                  
	Dewsbury, Rev. H. R., Auck.
                  
	230
                

                

                  
	Dexter and Crozier, Auck.
                  
	377
                

                

                  
	Dibsell, W., Te Aroha
                  
	829-
830
                

                

                  
	Dick, A. J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
925
                  
                

                

                  
	Dickenson, G., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
771
                  
                

                

                  
	Dickeson Bros, Ngawha
                  
	571
                

                

                  
	Dickeson, G. F., Kaikohe
                  
	576
                

                

                  
	Dickeson, G. F., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
714
                  
                

                

                  
	Dickey, A. J., Mangere
                  
	
                    
659
                  
                

                

                  
	Dickey, N., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
855
                  
                

                

                  
	Dickson, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
129
                  
                

                

                  
	Dickson, T. A., Waikino
                  
	
                    
496
                  
                

                

                  
	Dickinson, J. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
209
                  
                

                

                  
	Dignan and Armstrong, Auckland
                  
	278
                

                

                  
	Dignan, P., Auckland
                  
	127-130-159-165-278
                

                

                  
	Dignan, Hon. P.,
                  
	95-105-128
                

                

                  
	Dignan, R., Auckland
                  
	
177-178
                

                

                  
	Dillingham, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
114
                  
                

                

                  
	Dilworth, Late J., Auck.
                  
	191
                

                

                  
	Dimery. S., Auckland
                  
	234
                

                

                  
	Dines, Quartermaster-Sergeant, Auckland
                  
	166
                

                

                  
	Dinneen, M. D., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
735
                  
                

                

                  
	Dix, P. R., Auckland
                  
	
257-
1017
                

                

                  
	Dixon, C., Waihi
                  
	
                    
507
                  
                

                

                  
	Dixon, C. H. W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
971
                  
                

                

                  
	Dixon, Rev. W. G., Auck.
                  
	223-224
                

                

                  
	Dobson, Rev. F. B., Bombay
                  
	688
                

                

                  
	Donahoe, P., Birkenhead
                  
	527
                

                

                  
	Donald, A., Grey Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	Donovan, T., Thames
                  
	
                    
881
                  
                

                

                  
	Doonin, T. W., Auckland
                  
	408
                

                

                  
	Dormer, Pay and Quartermaster G. J., Auckland
                  
	166
                

                

                  
	Dorricott, A., Huntly
                  
	
                    
708
                  
                

                

                  
	Douglas, E. G., Totara North
                  
	
                    
586
                  
                

                

                  
	Douglas, Dr. H., Hamilton
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	Douglas, W. M., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
776
                  
                

                

                  
	Dow, J., Clevedon
                  
	
                    
667
                  
                

                

                  
	Dowling, W. P., Kawakawa
                  
	
                    
569
                  
                

                

                  
	Downer, W., Helensville
                  
	
                    
635
                  
                

                

                  
	Downs, Late W., Auckland
                  
	415
                

                

                  
	Downs W. H., Auckland
                  
	415
                

                

                  
	Draffin, S., Waitekauri
                  
	497-840-919
                

                

                  
	Draffin, W. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
209
                  
                

                

                  
	Drake, Rev. E. Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Drinnan, J., Kaukapakapa
                  
	
                    
631
                  
                

                

                  
	Duder, Capt. A., Auckland
                  
	140
                

                

                  
	Duder, R. H., Devonport
                  
	531
                

                

                  
	Dudley, Late Ven. B. T., Auckland
                  
	215-1017
                

                

                  
	Dufaur and MacCormick, Auckland
                  
	278
                

                

                  
	Dumergue, Late E. P., Opotiki
                  
	948
                

                

                  
	Du Moulin, Late J, P., Auck.
                  
	430
                

                

                  
	Duncan, A., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
545
                  
                

                

                  
	Duncan, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
180
                  
                

                

                  
	Dunlop, Late James, Gis.
                  
	1001
                

                

                  
	Dunlop, J. C., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
964
                  
                

                

                  
	Dunlop, T. A., Thames
                  
	866
                

                

                  
	Dunnet, G., jun., Auckland
                  
	112
                

                

                  
	Du Rieu, Rev. W. M., Auck.
                  
	218
                

                

                  
	Duthie, D. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
294
                  
                

                

                  
	Dye, F., Kaukapakapa
                  
	630
                

                

                  
	Dyer, R.C., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
769
                  
                

                

                  
	Dyer, R. W., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
739
                  
                

                

                  
	Dykes, J., Auckland
                  
	409
                

                

                  
	Dymock, H., Hamilton
                  
	749
                

                

                  
	Earl and Campbell, Auck.
                  
	278
                

                

                  
	Earl, Lieut. E. P., Auck.
                  
	167
                

                

                  
	Earl, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
278
                  
                

                

                  
	East, A. H., Hautapu
                  
	
                    
764
                  
                

                

                  
	East, C. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
977
                  
                

                

                  
	East, James. Gisborne
                  
	996
                

                

                  
	Eddowes. W., Thames
                  
	482
                

                

                  
	Edgecumbe, G., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
740
                  
                

                

                  
	Edgecumbe. J. S., Ham.
                  
	746
                

                

                  
	Edgerley, W., Newmarket
                  
	517
                

                

                  
	Edminston, H. J., Auck.
                  
	258
                

                

                  
	Edminston, P. A., Auck.
                  
	302


                

                
                

                  
	Edmonds, H., Auckland
                  
	391
                

                

                  
	Edson, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	Edwards, A. W., Kaikohe
                  
	
                    
576
                  
                

                

                  
	Edwards, A. W., Te Aroha
                  
	830
                

                

                  
	Edwards, C. T., Mercer
                  
	
                    
702
                  
                

                

                  
	Edwards, E., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
844
                  
                

                

                  
	Edwards, J., Mount Eden
                  
	
                    
523
                  
                

                

                  
	Edwards, J. A., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
551
                  
                

                

                  
	Edwards, J. H., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
771
                  
                

                

                  
	Edwards, J. T., Ohaupo
                  
	
                    
720
                  
                

                

                  
	Edwards and Towers, Paeroa
                  
	848–922
                

                

                  
	Edwards, W., Waikino
                  
	
                    
497
                  
                

                

                  
	Edwards, W. H., Onehunga
                  
	649
                

                

                  
	Egan, Very Rev. Dr., Auckland
                  
	228-229
                

                

                  
	Egerton, Prof. C. W., Auck.
                  
	198
                

                

                  
	Ehrenfried, Late L., Auck.
                  
	332
                

                

                  
	Elkin, A. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
288
                  
                

                

                  
	Ellerslie Hotel
                  
	655
                

                

                  
	Ellery, T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
993
                  
                

                

                  
	Ellett, Late J., Mangere
                  
	659
                

                

                  
	Elliot, J., Huntly
                  
	
                    
706
                  
                

                

                  
	Elliott, G. W., Pokeno Valley
                  
	
                    
697
                  
                

                

                  
	Elliott, H. E., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
947
                  
                

                

                  
	Elliott, P. C., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
915
                  
                

                

                  
	Ellis, A. W., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
905
                  
                

                

                  
	Ellis, C. J., Thames
                  
	
                    
891
                  
                

                

                  
	Ellis, Late H., Auckland
                  
	429
                

                

                  
	Ellis, R. H., Thames
                  
	
                    
891
                  
                

                

                  
	Ellis, W. J., Paeroa
                  
	
847-
905
                

                

                  
	Ellyett, A. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
409
                  
                

                

                  
	Elmsly, C. J., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
734
                  
                

                

                  
	Elmsly, F., Owharoa
                  
	
                    
838
                  
                

                

                  
	Elmsly, J. G., Kihikihi
                  
	
732-
734
                

                

                  
	Empson, G. A., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
802
                  
                

                

                  
	Endean, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
466
                  
                

                

                  
	Endean, Lieut. J. A., Auck.
                  
	162
                

                

                  
	England, W. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
260
                  
                

                

                  
	Entrican, A. J., Auckland
                  
	118
                

                

                  
	Entrican, A. J. and Co., Auckland
                  
	396
                

                

                  
	Entrican, J. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
396
                  
                

                

                  
	Enwright, T., Ellerslie
                  
	655
                

                

                  
	Equitable Life Assu. Co., Auckland
                  
	301–1018
                

                

                  
	Erickson, A., Auckland
                  
	
243-
353
                

                

                  
	Erson, Dr. W. R. C., Onehunga
                  
	649-650
                

                

                  
	Erwin, Rev. J., Cambridge
                  
	770
                

                

                  
	Escott, W., Cambridge
                  
	767
                

                

                  
	Evans, Chas., Te Arai Bridge
                  
	1005
                

                

                  
	Evans, D. F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
130
                  
                

                

                  
	Evans, D. J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
851
                  
                

                

                  
	Evans, E., Parengarenga
                  
	
                    
609
                  
                

                

                  
	Evans, G. L., Auckland
                  
	
                    
122
                  
                

                

                  
	Evans, J., Waipapakauri
                  
	601
                

                

                  
	Evans, J. A., Waihi
                  
	
                    
506
                  
                

                

                  
	Evans, J. T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
1000
                  
                

                

                  
	Evans, T., Hamilton
                  
	
747-748
                

                

                  
	Evans, Rev. W., Cambridge
                  
	770
                

                

                  
	Evans, W. S., Huntly
                  
	
                    
708
                  
                

                

                  
	“Evening Star,” Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Everett, W. B., Auckland
                  
	323
                

                

                  
	Evershed, Rev. T., Auck.
                  
	217
                

                

                  
	Ewen, C., Tamahere
                  
	
                    
760
                  
                

                

                  
	Ewing, G. P., Whangarata
                  
	
                    
693
                  
                

                

                  
	Ewington, F. G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
304
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	Fabian, J. F., Whangaroa
                  
	
                    
580
                  
                

                

                  
	Fairburn, E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
430
                  
                

                

                  
	Fairburn, F. E., Otoroa
                  
	590
                

                

                  
	Fairs, M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
414
                  
                

                

                  
	Fallon, G., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
906
                  
                

                

                  
	Falloona, J., Waiotapu
                  
	814
                

                

                  
	Farmer, A. J., Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Farmer, Hon. J.,
                  
	95
                

                

                  
	Farmer, J., Ormond
                  
	
                    
953
                  
                

                

                  
	Farquhar, Captain W., s.s. “Clansman.”
                  
	
                    
445
                  
                

                

                  
	Farrell, J., Grey Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	Farrell, R., Auckland
                  
	116
                

                

                  
	Farrelly, R. G., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
913
                  
                

                

                  
	Farrer, M. G., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
752
                  
                

                

                  
	Faulder, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	Faulder, Late T., G. Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	Faulkner, J., Patutahi
                  
	
                    
956
                  
                

                

                  
	Featherston, Rev. J., Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Featon, Miss E. L., Te Aroha
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Fencourt Homestead, Fencourt
                  
	763–1022
                

                

                  
	Fenn, E. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
374
                  
                

                

                  
	Fenton and Co., Auckland
                  
	388
                

                

                  
	Fenton, F. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	Fenton, Hon. F. D.,
                  
	94–1018
                

                

                  
	Fenton, W. A., Auckland
                  
	388
                

                

                  
	Ferguson, Hubert, Auck.
                  
	186
                

                

                  
	Ferguson, J., Cambridge
                  
	767-773
                

                

                  
	Ferguson, J., Patutahi
                  
	
                    
956
                  
                

                

                  
	Ferguson, Rev., Auckland
                  
	162
                

                

                  
	Ferguson, W., Thames
                  
	
                    
894
                  
                

                

                  
	Fergusson, F. D., Paeroa
                  
	840-841
                

                

                  
	Ferrall, R., Parkhurst
                  
	
                    
633
                  
                

                

                  
	Ferris, C. W., Gisborne
                  
	966
                

                

                  
	Field, E. T., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
546
                  
                

                

                  
	Field, J. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
405
                  
                

                

                  
	Field, Late J. H., Auckland
                  
	130
                

                

                  
	Finch, G., Te Awamutu
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	Findlay, Rev. W., Pukekohe
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Finer, T. W., Auckland
                  
	260
                

                

                  
	Finn, H. J., Gisborne
                  
	980
                

                

                  
	Finneran, W. P., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
984
                  
                

                

                  
	Firth, J. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
103
                  
                

                

                  
	Fisher, J., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
731
                  
                

                

                  
	Fisher, J., Te Awamutu
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	Fisher, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
871
                  
                

                

                  
	Fisher, R., Pukekura
                  
	781
                

                

                  
	Fitt, J., Parnell
                  
	510
                

                

                  
	Fitzherbert, W. L., Auck.
                  
	
                    
280
                  
                

                

                  
	Fitzpatrick, E., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
714
                  
                

                

                  
	Flavell, J., Peria
                  
	
                    
596
                  
                

                

                  
	Flay, W., Bombay
                  
	
                    
688
                  
                

                

                  
	Fleming, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
129
                  
                

                

                  
	Fleming, Late C. C., Auckland
                  
	380-1021
                

                

                  
	Fleming, M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
467
                  
                

                

                  
	Fleming, T. B., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
671
                  
                

                

                  
	Fletcher, Rev. H. J., Taupo
                  
	818
                

                

                  
	Flett, J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
923
                  
                

                

                  
	Flurscheim, M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
356
                  
                

                

                  
	Flynn, D., Auckland
                  
	
                    
341
                  
                

                

                  
	Flynn, D., and Co., Auck.
                  
	341
                

                

                  
	Flynn, M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
341
                  
                

                

                  
	Foote Bros., Whangarei
                  
	551
                

                

                  
	Foote, W., Opuawhanga
                  
	
                    
563
                  
                

                

                  
	Forbes, A. St. G., Paeroa
                  
	851
                

                

                  
	Forbes, Dr. F. C. S., Waihi
                  
	921
                

                

                  
	Forbes, F. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
229
                  
                

                

                  
	Ford, E. G. R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
253
                  
                

                

                  
	Ford, H. E., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
725
                  
                

                

                  
	Fordyce, S. E., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
809
                  
                

                

                  
	Forrest, W., Paeroa
                  
	
844-
854
                

                

                  
	Forsaith, T. S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
102
                  
                

                

                  
	Forsman, A. L., Waharoa
                  
	
                    
790
                  
                

                

                  
	Forsman, R. A., Matamata
                  
	791
                

                

                  
	Fort, A. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
292
                  
                

                

                  
	Foster, A. L., Auckland
                  
	
                    
468
                  
                

                

                  
	Foster, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
353
                  
                

                

                  
	Foster, J. and Co., Auck.
                  
	353
                

                

                  
	Foster, R., Grey Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	Foughey, D., Gordon
                  
	837
                

                

                  
	Fowlds, G., Auckland
                  
	
98-
351
                

                

                  
	Fox, C. J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
856
                  
                

                

                  
	Fox, Rev. Canon J. C., Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	1008
                

                

                  
	Fox, H. J., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
803
                  
                

                

                  
	Foy Bros., Thames
                  
	880
                

                

                  
	Foy, G., Waihi
                  
	
                    
922
                  
                

                

                  
	Foy, J. M., Thames
                  
	
                    
880
                  
                

                

                  
	Francis, C., Thames
                  
	
                    
480
                  
                

                

                  
	Franklin Roller Mills. Tuakau
                  
	691
                

                

                  
	Franklyn, W. M., Gordon
                  
	837
                

                

                  
	Fraser, G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
370
                  
                

                

                  
	Fraser, Late G., Auckland
                  
	371
                

                

                  
	Fraser, G. and Sons., Ltd., Auckland
                  
	370
                

                

                  
	Fraser, J., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
675
                  
                

                

                  
	Fraser, J. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
387
                  
                

                

                  
	Fraser, S., Waikino
                  
	
                    
495
                  
                

                

                  
	Fraser, W., Paeroa
                  
	
846-
905
                

                

                  
	Freeman, F., Mercer
                  
	701
                

                

                  
	Freeman, R., Pukerimu
                  
	
                    
784
                  
                

                

                  
	Freeman, T., Lichfield
                  
	
                    
797
                  
                

                

                  
	“Freshfield,” Taupiri
                  
	712
                

                

                  
	Friar, Davies and Co., Huntly
                  
	710-716-728
                

                

                  
	Friar, J., Ormond
                  
	
                    
953
                  
                

                

                  
	Friar, W. A., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
998
                  
                

                

                  
	Frick, W., Auckland
                  
	400
                

                

                  
	Fricker and Sons, Auck.
                  
	346
                

                

                  
	Fricker, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
346
                  
                

                

                  
	Friend, A. P., Parnell
                  
	511
                

                

                  
	Frogmore House (Mrs G. Carter), Auckland
                  
	364
                

                

                  
	Fullerton, D., Te Awamutu
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	Fulljames, Rev. T., Tuakau
                  
	691
                

                

                  
	Furze, A., Tamahere
                  
	
759-
760
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	Gage-Brown, W. P., Shaftesbury
                  
	836
                

                

                  
	Galbraith, D. R. S., Auck.
                  
	
                    
470
                  
                

                

                  
	Galbraith, J. C., Te Puke
                  
	940
                

                

                  
	Gallagher, E., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
832
                  
                

                

                  
	Gallagher, J., Taupo
                  
	
                    
818
                  
                

                

                  
	Gallery, M., Mercer
                  
	
                    
702
                  
                

                

                  
	Gane, A. W., Hautapu
                  
	
                    
764
                  
                

                

                  
	Gane, J., Ohaupo
                  
	
                    
721
                  
                

                

                  
	Garcia, J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
842
                  
                

                

                  
	Gardiner, C. P., Herekino
                  
	
                    
606
                  
                

                

                  
	Gardner, Lieut. R., Auck.
                  
	164
                

                

                  
	Gardner, Rev. R., Matawhero
                  
	1006
                

                

                  
	Garland, G. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
312
                  
                

                

                  
	Garland, H. N., Auckland
                  
	188
                

                

                  
	Garlick, Late J. T., Auck.
                  
	359
                

                

                  
	Garlick and Lyon, Auck.
                  
	391
                

                

                  
	Garratt, H. T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
129
                  
                

                

                  
	Garton, W., Mongonui
                  
	
                    
592
                  
                

                

                  
	Gatland, H. G., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
897
                  
                

                

                  
	Gaudin, Lieut. F. E. N., Auckland
                  
	167
                

                

                  
	Gavin, T., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
834
                  
                

                

                  
	Geary, J. F., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
947
                  
                

                

                  
	Gelling, W. M., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
842
                  
                

                

                  
	Gemmill, T., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
774
                  
                

                

                  
	George Bros., Auckland
                  
	358
                

                

                  
	George, C. S., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	George, H. R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
114
                  
                

                

                  
	George, J. R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
358
                  
                

                

                  
	George, W. H., Auckland
                  
	358
                

                

                  
	Gerard, T., s.s. “Cornwall.”
                  
	
                    
451
                  
                

                

                  
	Geyser Hotel, Whakarewarewa
                  
	812
                

                

                  
	Geyser House Hotel, Wairakei (Mrs J. Grierson)
                  
	816
                

                

                  
	Gibbes, Late Sir S. O., Whangarei
                  
	542
                

                

                  
	Gibbons, A., Fencourt
                  
	763
                

                

                  
	Gibbons, Miss A. L., Fencourt
                  
	763
                

                

                  
	Gibbons, F. E., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
742
                  
                

                

                  
	Gibbons, Captain R. H., s.s. “Rotomahana.”
                  
	
                    
446
                  
                

                

                  
	Gibbs, Late R. E., Kaeo
                  
	589
                

                

                  
	Gibson, F. R., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
728
                  
                

                

                  
	Gibson, J. N., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
729
                  
                

                

                  
	Gibson, Rev. S. J., Cambridge
                  
	770
                

                

                  
	Gilbert, S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	Gilfillan, H., jun., Auckland
                  
	464
                

                

                  
	Gilfillan, Hon. J. A.
                  
	94
                

                

                  
	Gilfillan, J. B. and Co., Auckland
                  
	391
                

                

                  
	Gillam, Rev. W.E., Auck.
                  
	165-216
                

                

                  
	Gillander, C., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
715
                  
                

                

                  
	Gillespie, H. C., Thames
                  
	
                    
865
                  
                

                

                  
	Gillespie, H. G., Thames
                  
	
                    
893
                  
                

                

                  
	Gillespie and Son, Thames
                  
	892
                

                

                  
	Gillies and Colbeck, Auck.
                  
	278
                

                

                  
	Gillies, T. B.
                  
	42–105
                

                

                  
	Gilman, A. C., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
936
                  
                

                

                  
	Gilmer, B., Parnell
                  
	
                    
511
                  
                

                

                  
	Gilmore, J., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
936
                  
                

                

                  
	Gilmour, H. K., Howick
                  
	
                    
657
                  
                

                

                  
	Gilmour, J., Parnell
                  
	510
                

                

                  
	Gilmour, T., Waihi
                  
	
                    
505
                  
                

                

                  
	Ginders, Late Dr. A., Rotorua
                  
	801
                

                

                  
	Girdler, Dr. G. T. Auck.
                  
	283
                

                

                  
	Gisborne Co-op. Building Society
                  
	980
                

                

                  
	Gisborne Freezing Works
                  
	992
                

                

                  
	Gisborne Gas Company
                  
	998
                

                

                  
	Gisborne Hotel
                  
	990
                

                

                  
	Gisborne Permanent Land Building Society
                  
	989
                

                

                  
	Gittos, J. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
278
                  
                

                

                  
	Gittos, Mrs. W., Auckland
                  
	231
                

                

                  
	Gittos, Rev. W., Auckland
                  
	230
                

                

                  
	Given, A. and Co., Auck.
                  
	405
                

                

                  
	Gladding, H. F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
123
                  
                

                

                  
	Gleeson, C., Huntly
                  
	707-
708
                

                

                  
	Gleeson and Sons, Taupiri
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	“Glenalvon” (Mrs Scherff), Auckland
                  
	365
                

                

                  
	“Glengariff,” Pukerimu (H. J. Greenslade)
                  
	784
                

                

                  
	“Glenside,” Pukerimu (A. Wallace)
                  
	784
                

                

                  
	Glover, A. E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
133
                  
                

                

                  
	Glover, G., Taheke
                  
	614
                

                

                  
	Goffe, L. C., Waitangi Falls
                  
	
                    
568
                  
                

                

                  
	Going, H. A., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
551
                  
                

                

                  
	“Golden Age,” Waitekauri
                  
	912
                

                

                  
	Golden Cross Hotel
                  
	916
                

                

                  
	“Goldfields Advocate,” Karangahake
                  
	905
                

                

                  
	Goldfields Brewery, Paeroa
                  
	847
                

                

                  
	Goldfields Co-op. Stores, Waitekauri
                  
	915–916
                

                

                  
	Goldie, C. F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
319
                  
                

                

                  
	Goldie, D., Auck.
                  
	
108-
116-
129-
421
                

                

                  
	Goldie, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
122
                  
                

                

                  
	Goldie, Dr. W. H., Auck.
                  
	283
                

                

                  
	Goldsbro', Late Dr. C. F., Auckland
                  
	287
                

                

                  
	Goldsbro', G. S. Auckland
                  
	316
                

                

                  
	Goldstein, Rev. S. A., Auck.
                  
	237
                

                

                  
	Goldsworthy, H., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
494
                  
                

                

                  
	Goldsworthy, W., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
493
                  
                

                

                  
	Goldwater, A., Auckland
                  
	277
                

                

                  
	Gooch, R., Waihi
                  
	
                    
922
                  
                

                

                  
	Goodall, W., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
552
                  
                

                

                  
	Goodfellow, H. and J., Te Awamutu
                  
	729
                

                

                  
	Goodson, F., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
809
                  
                

                

                  
	Goodwin, D., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
672
                  
                

                

                  
	Goodwin, D., Tirau
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Goodwin's Boardinghouse, Pukekohe
                  
	673
                

                

                  
	Gooseman, S., Mangere
                  
	
                    
658
                  
                

                

                  
	Gordon, A. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
240
                  
                

                

                  
	Gordon Bros., Paeroa
                  
	852
                

                

                  
	Gordon Creamery
                  
	837
                

                

                  
	Gordon, H. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
467
                  
                

                

                  
	Gordon, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
430
                  
                

                

                  
	Gordon, J., Taupiri
                  
	713-741-754
                

                

                  
	Gordon, J. A., Waihi
                  
	
                    
502
                  
                

                

                  
	Gordon, L., Thames
                  
	
                    
475
                  
                

                

                  
	Gordon, Late T., Waitekauri
                  
	913
                

                

                  
	Gordon's Boardinghouse, Waitekauri
                  
	913
                

                

                  
	Goring, Lieut.-Col. F. Y., Auckland
                  
	156
                

                

                  
	Gould, H., Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Gould, J. B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
302
                  
                

                

                  
	Goulstone, H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
304
                  
                

                

                  
	Governor Bowen Hotel. Thames
                  
	885
                

                

                  
	Gow, J., Totara North
                  
	
                    
585
                  
                

                

                  
	Gow, J. B., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
949
                  
                

                

                  
	Gower, Lieut. H., Auck.
                  
	168–349
                

                

                  
	Gower, J, Utakura Valley
                  
	578
                

                

                  
	Graham, A., Auckland
                  
	405
                

                

                  
	Graham, G.
                  
	104–1014


                

                
                

                  
	Graham, Jas., Auckland
                  
	278
                

                

                  
	Graham, J. J., Newstead
                  
	757
                

                

                  
	Graham, R. Auckland
                  
	40
                

                

                  
	Graham, R. J., Pukerimu
                  
	
                    
783
                  
                

                

                  
	Graham, W. A., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
740
                  
                

                

                  
	Grainger, A. H., Auckland
                  
	252
                

                

                  
	Grand Hotel, Rotorua
                  
	807
                

                

                  
	Grand Hotel, Te Aroha
                  
	830
                

                

                  
	Grandison, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
337
                  
                

                

                  
	Grant, G., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
976
                  
                

                

                  
	Grant, Capt. J., Auckland
                  
	159
                

                

                  
	Grant, Dr. N. M., Auck.
                  
	165-284
                

                

                  
	Grassmere Station, Kaitaia
                  
	599
                

                

                  
	Graves, G. W., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
716
                  
                

                

                  
	Gray, C., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
967
                  
                

                

                  
	Gray, G. H. Auckland
                  
	388
                

                

                  
	Gray, Rev. H. B., Auck.
                  
	222-223
                

                

                  
	Gray, W. Auckland
                  
	465
                

                

                  
	Gray, W., Cambridge
                  
	
776-777
                

                

                  
	Gray, W. J., Katikati
                  
	929
                

                

                  
	Greatbatch, J. T. B., Newmarket
                  
	518
                

                

                  
	Great Northern Brewery, Auckland
                  
	334
                

                

                  
	Greenhalg, J., Riverhead
                  
	
                    
645
                  
                

                

                  
	Greenslade, H. J., Thames
                  
	
863-
1021
                

                

                  
	Greenslade, Rev. W., Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Greville-Smith, S. E., Hamilton
                  
	745
                

                

                  
	Grey, Chas., Auckland
                  
	118-139
                

                

                  
	Grey, E. B., Waiheke Island
                  
	
                    
535
                  
                

                

                  
	Grey, Sir G.
                  
	42–105
                

                

                  
	Grey. John, Auckland
                  
	131
                

                

                  
	Grey, J. and Sons, Auck.
                  
	343
                

                

                  
	Gribbin, Miss G., Auckland
                  
	261
                

                

                  
	Grierson, Jas., Auckland
                  
	207
                

                

                  
	Griffin, Rev. C., Onehunga
                  
	651
                

                

                  
	Griffith, Rev. S., Te Arbha
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Griffiths, C. F., Auck.
                  
	
242-
278
                

                

                  
	Griffiths, D., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
805
                  
                

                

                  
	Grigg, W. R., Kaitaia
                  
	
                    
598
                  
                

                

                  
	Grosvenor, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
312
                  
                

                

                  
	Grosvenor Hotel, Auckland
                  
	362
                

                

                  
	Guardian F. and L. Assu. Coy., Auckland
                  
	296
                

                

                  
	Guerin. T., Kaikohe
                  
	576
                

                

                  
	Guinness, Dr. W. M. G., Auckland
                  
	284
                

                

                  
	Gunson, W. and Co., Auck.
                  
	409
                

              

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

H



            
H

            

                

                  
	Hackett. Very Rev. Dean, Pueroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Hadfield, J., Birkenhead
                  
	527
                

                

                  
	Hadfield, T., Birkenhead
                  
	527
                

                

                  
	Haines, Dr. H., Auckland
                  
	284
                

                

                  
	Hall, A., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
550
                  
                

                

                  
	Hall., Edwin, Manger
                  
	252
                

                

                  
	Hall, E. V., Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Hall, F., Gisborne
                  
	991
                

                

                  
	Hall, F. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
190
                  
                

                

                  
	Hall, J. A. L., Kawakawa
                  
	569
                

                

                  
	Hall, J. W., Thames
                  
	
                    
877
                  
                

                

                  
	Hall, M., Matawhero
                  
	100
                

                

                  
	Hall, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
430
                  
                

                

                  
	Hall, R., Grey Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	Hall, R., Mangere
                  
	
                    
657
                  
                

                

                  
	Hall, R., jun., Te Rore
                  
	737
                

                

                  
	Hall, W., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
806
                  
                

                

                  
	Hallenstein Bros. and Co., Hamilton
                  
	748–883
                

                

                  
	Hallett, H. J. D., Auck
                  
	
                    
411
                  
                

                

                  
	Hallett, J. E., Mercer
                  
	
                    
703
                  
                

                

                  
	Halliday, G., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
550
                  
                

                

                  
	Halliday, J., Kaeo
                  
	
                    
587
                  
                

                

                  
	Halliday, Mrs S., Kaeo
                  
	588
                

                

                  
	Halliwell Bros., Kohukohu
                  
	621
                

                

                  
	Halliwell, Late L., Auck
                  
	430
                

                

                  
	Hally, G. J., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
773
                  
                

                

                  
	Hally, J., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
767
                  
                

                

                  
	Hamilton, A. G., Tokaanu
                  
	
                    
821
                  
                

                

                  
	Hamilton Bros., Auckland
                  
	290
                

                

                  
	Hamilton Gas Co.
                  
	751
                

                

                  
	Hamilton Hotel (W. Bright)
                  
	748
                

                

                  
	Hamilton, M. H., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
852
                  
                

                

                  
	Hammond, F. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
277
                  
                

                

                  
	Hammond, H., Aratapu
                  
	
                    
628
                  
                

                

                  
	Hammond, J. E., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
749
                  
                

                

                  
	Hammond, W., Thames
                  
	
                    
870
                  
                

                

                  
	Hampton, C., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	Hand, J., Helensville
                  
	
                    
636
                  
                

                

                  
	Handley, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
371
                  
                

                

                  
	Handley, W., Devonport
                  
	531
                

                

                  
	Hanna, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
278
                  
                

                

                  
	Hanna, J. R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
318
                  
                

                

                  
	Hanna, S. D., Auckland
                  
	
                    
304
                  
                

                

                  
	Hannan, J. H., Auckland
                  
	119
                

                

                  
	Hansen Bros., Thames
                  
	891
                

                

                  
	Hansen, C. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
347
                  
                

                

                  
	Hansen, Late P. C., Thames
                  
	481
                

                

                  
	Harbutt, S. J., Auckland
                  
	253
                

                

                  
	Harden, R. U., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
553
                  
                

                

                  
	Harding, A. E., Aratapu
                  
	628
                

                

                  
	Harding, Miss F., Auck.
                  
	261
                

                

                  
	Harding, J. A., Gisborne
                  
	
961-991
                

                

                  
	Harding, W. A., Waitekauri
                  
	911
                

                

                  
	Hardy, E. H., Waiorongo
                  
	
                    
472
                  
                

                

                  
	Hare Bros., Kaeo
                  
	588
                

                

                  
	Hare, J., jun., Kaeo
                  
	588
                

                

                  
	Hare, J., sen., Kaeo
                  
	589
                

                

                  
	Hare, Late J. R., Kaeo
                  
	588
                

                

                  
	Hargreaves, J.
                  
	103
                

                

                  
	Harley, C., Waihi
                  
	
                    
927
                  
                

                

                  
	Harp, J. G., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
809
                  
                

                

                  
	Harper, G., Auckland
                  
	129
                

                

                  
	Harris, A. R., East Tamaki
                  
	139
                

                

                  
	Harris, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
337
                  
                

                

                  
	Harris, Hon. Major, Tuakau
                  
	159-180-690
                

                

                  
	Harris, R. J., Towai
                  
	643
                

                

                  
	Harrison Rev. C. C., Auck.
                  
	230
                

                

                  
	Harrison, E., Aratapu
                  
	
                    
629
                  
                

                

                  
	Harrison. E. J., Patutahi
                  
	956
                

                

                  
	Harrison and Foster Auck.
                  
	468
                

                

                  
	Harrison, J., Helensville
                  
	
                    
637
                  
                

                

                  
	Harrison J., Huntly
                  
	709
                

                

                  
	J. W., Devonport
                  
	468–531
                

                

                  
	Harrison, M., Lichfield
                  
	797-826
                

                

                  
	Harrison, R. H., Coroman
                  
	
                    
489
                  
                

                

                  
	Harrison, S., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
725
                  
                

                

                  
	Harston, G. L., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
844
                  
                

                

                  
	Hart, E. T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
208
                  
                

                

                  
	Hart, J. S., Thames
                  
	
                    
886
                  
                

                

                  
	Hartley, J., Whangarata
                  
	
                    
693
                  
                

                

                  
	Hartridge, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
471
                  
                

                

                  
	Harry, N., Huntly
                  
	705
                

                

                  
	Harvey and Sons, Auckland
                  
	371
                

                

                  
	Harvey, W. H., Waihi
                  
	
                    
918
                  
                

                

                  
	Harwood and Co., Hamilton
                  
	751
                

                

                  
	Haselden, Rev. J., One-hunga
                  
	651
                

                

                  
	Haslett, H. M., Waihi
                  
	
                    
921
                  
                

                

                  
	Haslett, J. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	Hastie, J., Onehunga
                  
	650
                

                

                  
	Hastings, R. J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
481
                  
                

                

                  
	Hatcher, G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
337
                  
                

                

                  
	Hatfield, A. J., Auckland
                  
	145
                

                

                  
	Hatrick, J. R. E., Hamilton
                  
	740
                

                

                  
	Haultain, Colonel, Auckland
                  
	431
                

                

                  
	Hauraki Hotel, Waitekauri
                  
	913
                

                

                  
	Hay, D. A., Remuera
                  
	522
                

                

                  
	Hay, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
129
                  
                

                

                  
	Hay, J., Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	Hay, J. C., Kirikiriroa
                  
	754
                

                

                  
	Hay, W. M., Thames
                  
	
                    
881
                  
                

                

                  
	Hayes, T., Kaeo
                  
	
                    
588
                  
                

                

                  
	Hayle Bros., Mount Eden
                  
	523
                

                

                  
	Hayman, P. and Co., Auck.
                  
	397
                

                

                  
	Hayr, H. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
250
                  
                

                

                  
	Hazard and Johnston, Paeroa
                  
	846
                

                

                  
	Hazard, W., Pería
                  
	
                    
596
                  
                

                

                  
	Heale, T.,
                  
	103
                

                

                  
	Heaphy, C.,
                  
	105
                

                

                  
	Heard, G. St. C., Waihi
                  
	506
                

                

                  
	Hearn, W., Kerikeri
                  
	
                    
579
                  
                

                

                  
	Heath, T., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
787
                  
                

                

                  
	Heather, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
392
                  
                

                

                  
	Heather, A. B., Pukerimu
                  
	
                    
784
                  
                

                

                  
	Heather, Roberton and Co., Auckland
                  
	392
                

                

                  
	Hedge, R., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
499
                  
                

                

                  
	Hedley, A., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
949
                  
                

                

                  
	Hedley, J. W., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
786
                  
                

                

                  
	Heke, H., M.H.R., Rawene
                  
	610
                

                

                  
	Hellaby, R. and W., Auck.
                  
	389
                

                

                  
	Hemery, C. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
300
                  
                

                

                  
	Hemphill, E., Waihou
                  
	823
                

                

                  
	Hemus, E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
129
                  
                

                

                  
	Henderson, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
455
                  
                

                

                  
	Henderson, E. H., Hick's Bay
                  
	350
                

                

                  
	Henderson, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
372
                  
                

                

                  
	Henderson, F., Mamaku
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Henderson, F. and Co., Auckland
                  
	371
                

                

                  
	Henderson, J., Auckland
                  
	347
                

                

                  
	Henderson, J. W., Auck.
                  
	392
                

                

                  
	Henderson and MacFar-lane, Auckland
                  
	397
                

                

                  
	Henderson R. T., Waihi
                  
	918
                

                

                  
	Henderson and Spraggon, Auckland
                  
	455
                

                

                  
	Henderson Hon. T.
                  
	95
                

                

                  
	Hendre, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
194
                  
                

                

                  
	Hendry, J. R., Mongonui
                  
	
                    
593
                  
                

                

                  
	Henry, D., Kirikiriroa
                  
	
                    
755
                  
                

                

                  
	Hepburn, D., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
961
                  
                

                

                  
	Heron, R., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
500
                  
                

                

                  
	Herries, W. H., M.H.R., Shaftesbury
                  
	836
                

                

                  
	Herrold, Lieut. J., Waiuku
                  
	678
                

                

                  
	Hescott, G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
407
                  
                

                

                  
	Hesketh, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
133
                  
                

                

                  
	Hesketh and Richmond, Auckland
                  
	278–518
                

                

                  
	Hesketh, S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
278
                  
                

                

                  
	Hetherington, Late J., Te Puke
                  
	941
                

                

                  
	Hetherington, S., Thames
                  
	
                    
883
                  
                

                

                  
	Hetherington, W., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
831
                  
                

                

                  
	Hetherington, W. and Co., Te Aroha
                  
	831
                

                

                  
	Hewson, J. W., Auckland
                  
	116
                

                

                  
	Heyde, G. Von Der, Auck.
                  
	
                    
129
                  
                

                

                  
	Hibernian Hotel (R. Ternahan), Onehunga
                  
	653
                

                

                  
	Hickling, E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
122
                  
                

                

                  
	Hicks, F., Pukekura
                  
	
                    
782
                  
                

                

                  
	Hicks, H., Pukekura
                  
	
                    
782
                  
                

                

                  
	Hicks, T. W., Pukekura
                  
	782
                

                

                  
	Hickson, Late J., Auckland
                  
	431
                

                

                  
	Higgins, S., Matamata
                  
	
                    
792
                  
                

                

                  
	Hight, J., Auckland
                  
	
201-
1017
                

                

                  
	Hikurangi Coal Co., Hiku
                  
	560
                

                

                  
	Hill, A. E., Harrisville
                  
	689
                

                

                  
	Hill, C. V., Onehunga
                  
	649
                

                

                  
	Hill, Late Rev. Jas., Auck
                  
	224
                

                

                  
	Hill, R., Gisborne
                  
	983
                

                

                  
	Hill, T. M., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
752
                  
                

                

                  
	Hill, W., Te Aroha
                  
	824
                

                

                  
	Hill, W. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
209
                  
                

                

                  
	Hills, J. E., Patutahi
                  
	
                    
957
                  
                

                

                  
	Hill-Trevor, Hon. C. E.
                  
	13
                

                

                  
	Hilton, G. P., Auckland
                  
	397
                

                

                  
	Hingston, M., Patutahi
                  
	
                    
957
                  
                

                

                  
	Hipkins and Coutts, Auck
                  
	335
                

                

                  
	Hipkins, J. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
336
                  
                

                

                  
	Hirst, H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
431
                  
                

                

                  
	Hirst, S. L., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
829
                  
                

                

                  
	Hiscocks, H., jun., Auck.
                  
	228
                

                

                  
	Hoar, Sergt.-Major, Auck
                  
	159
                

                

                  
	Hobbs, A. E., Auck
                  
	
288-
1018
                

                

                  
	Hobbs, E. G., Kirikiriroa
                  
	
                    
755
                  
                

                

                  
	Hobbs, Late Rev. J., Auck
                  
	232
                

                

                  
	Hobbs, J. C., Tauwhare
                  
	
                    
762
                  
                

                

                  
	Hobbs, R., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	Hobbs, R., Otahuhu
                  
	
                    
662
                  
                

                

                  
	Hobbs, W., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
846
                  
                

                

                  
	Hodge, Capt. F., Coroman
                  
	486
                

                

                  
	Hodge, G. A., Mercury Bay
                  
	895
                

                

                  
	Hodge, H., Mercer
                  
	
                    
702
                  
                

                

                  
	Hodgson, I., Te Rore
                  
	737
                

                

                  
	Hodgson, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
397
                  
                

                

                  
	Hodgson, R. J., Thames
                  
	
                    
875
                  
                

                

                  
	Hodgson, T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
383
                  
                

                

                  
	Hoey, S., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
548
                  
                

                

                  
	Hogan, J., Parnell
                  
	
                    
514
                  
                

                

                  
	Hogan, M. Makaraka
                  
	1004
                

                

                  
	Hogg, A. Karangahake
                  
	907
                

                

                  
	Hogg, H. R., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
946
                  
                

                

                  
	Hogg, W., Newmarket
                  
	518
                

                

                  
	Holden, A., Grey Lynn
                  
	
                    
525
                  
                

                

                  
	Holden, T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
969
                  
                

                

                  
	Holder, Miss M. C., Hinuera
                  
	793
                

                

                  
	Holdgen, Capt. W. D., Auckland
                  
	165
                

                

                  
	Holdship G., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	Holland J. J., Auckland
                  
	111-127-130-338
                

                

                  
	Hollis, E. W., Thames
                  
	
                    
867
                  
                

                

                  
	Hollis, G. E., Kaitaia
                  
	
                    
599
                  
                

                

                  
	Hollis, W., Waihi
                  
	
                    
508
                  
                

                

                  
	Holloway, H., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
745
                  
                

                

                  
	Holloway, L. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
180
                  
                

                

                  
	Hollywood, J., Russell
                  
	
                    
565
                  
                

                

                  
	Holmes and Grierson, Auck.
                  
	892
                

                

                  
	Holmes, R. H., Waihi
                  
	
                    
925
                  
                

                

                  
	“Holmwood,” Ohaupo
                  
	721
                

                

                  
	Honiss, E., Thames
                  
	
                    
868
                  
                

                

                  
	Hood, T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
981
                  
                

                

                  
	Hookey, A. T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
994
                  
                

                

                  
	Hookey, W. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
236
                  
                

                

                  
	Hooper, A. F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
288
                  
                

                

                  
	Hooper, Dr. J. H., Auck.
                  
	284
                

                

                  
	Hooton, J. P., Auckland
                  
	
                    
397
                  
                

                

                  
	Hope, E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
289
                  
                

                

                  
	Hope, J. S., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
915
                  
                

                

                  
	Hope Station, Opuawhanga
                  
	563
                

                

                  
	Hopkins, Capt. C., s.s. “Waimana.”
                  
	446
                

                

                  
	Hopkins, R. H., Auckland
                  
	398
                

                

                  
	Hopkins, W. H., Waihi
                  
	
                    
504
                  
                

                

                  
	Horne, J. T., Hamilton
                  
	751
                

                

                  
	Hornibrooke, H. P., Coro.
                  
	
                    
489
                  
                

                

                  
	Horse Shoe Inn and Store (A. H. Ferguson) Matata
                  
	942
                

                

                  
	Horsley, J., Auckland
                  
	230
                

                

                  
	Horsnell, C., Ohaupo
                  
	
                    
720
                  
                

                

                  
	Horton, A. G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
269
                  
                

                

                  
	Horwood, G. T., Huntly
                  
	
                    
709
                  
                

                

                  
	Hosking, A., Mount Eden
                  
	
                    
523
                  
                

                

                  
	Hosking, C., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
681
                  
                

                

                  
	Hosking, Rev. J., Hamilton
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Hossack, A., Aoroa
                  
	632
                

                

                  
	“Hot Lakes Chronicle,” Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Hot Springs Hotel, Te Aroha (W. H. Knock)
                  
	831
                

                

                  
	Houghton, C. V., Auckland
                  
	
                    
444
                  
                

                

                  
	Houston, R. M., M.H.R., Mongonui
                  
	590
                

                

                  
	Howard, S., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
491
                  
                

                

                  
	Howden, H. H., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
751
                  
                

                

                  
	Howden, J., Auckland
                  
	420
                

                

                  
	Howe, B. G., Opononi
                  
	
                    
615
                  
                

                

                  
	Howell, E., Huntly
                  
	
                    
707
                  
                

                

                  
	Howie, R., Hikurangi
                  
	
                    
561
                  
                

                

                  
	Hoye, G., Clevedon
                  
	
                    
667
                  
                

                

                  
	Hubbard, A. C., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
855
                  
                

                

                  
	Hubbard Bros., Paeroa
                  
	854
                

                

                  
	Hubbard. F., Huntly
                  
	710
                

                

                  
	Hudson, J. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	Hudson, J. H., Awanui
                  
	
                    
599
                  
                

                

                  
	Hudson, R. B., Thames
                  
	
                    
893
                  
                

                

                  
	Hughes, A., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
653
                  
                

                

                  
	Hughes, H., Auckland
                  
	1019
                

                

                  
	Hughes, Dr. L., Gisborne
                  
	981
                

                

                  
	Hull, J., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
684
                  
                

                

                  
	Hull, Miss, Auckland
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Hume, J., Auckland
                  
	408
                

                

                  
	Hume Capt. W. H., Ham.
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	Humphreys and Davys, Gis
                  
	991
                

                

                  
	Hunt, Late J., Walton
                  
	790
                

                

                  
	Hunt, J. E., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
840
                  
                

                

                  
	Hunt, R. Leslie. Auckland
                  
	194
                

                

                  
	Hunt, T. W., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
913
                  
                

                

                  
	Hunter, M., Mercer
                  
	
702-703


                

                
                

                  
	Hunter, S., Mercer
                  
	
702-703
                

                

                  
	Hunter, T., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
499
                  
                

                

                  
	Hunter, W. J., Ohaupo
                  
	
                    
720
                  
                

                

                  
	Hurst, W. J., Auck.
                  
	108-125-128
                

                

                  
	Hutchinson, C. J. and Co., Auckland
                  
	392
                

                

                  
	Hutchinson, J., Orakau
                  
	
                    
735
                  
                

                

                  
	Hutchison, T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
274
                  
                

                

                  
	Hutchison, W., Karanga
                  
	
                    
493
                  
                

                

                  
	Hutchison, W. E., Auck
                  
	
                    
338
                  
                

                

                  
	Hutt, H. H., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
848
                  
                

                

                  
	Hutton, Capt. G. B., Auck
                  
	167
                

                

                  
	Hutton, Late. Capt. H., Auckland
                  
	431
                

                

                  
	Hyauiason, D., Auckland
                  
	
                    
372
                  
                

                

                  
	Hyde, T., Clevedon
                  
	
                    
667
                  
                

                

                  
	Hyde, Lieut. W. J., Clevedon
                  
	665
                

                

                  
	Hyland, J., Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	
                    
1008
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	Image, R. H., Matawhero
                  
	
                    
1006
                  
                

                

                  
	Imperial Fire Insurance Company, Auckland
                  
	296
                

                

                  
	Inder, S., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
898
                  
                

                

                  
	Inglis, Dr. T. R., Auckland
                  
	189
                

                

                  
	Innes, C. L., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
747
                  
                

                

                  
	Innes, W., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
852
                  
                

                

                  
	Iredale, Capt. John. Auck
                  
	165
                

                

                  
	Ireland Bros., Auckland
                  
	380
                

                

                  
	Irvine, H., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
729
                  
                

                

                  
	Irvine, J., Mongonui
                  
	
                    
592
                  
                

                

                  
	Isaacs, Late E., Auckland
                  
	129-432
                

                

                  
	Isaacs, H., Auckland
                  
	124-125-128
                

                

                  
	Isemonger, T., Thames
                  
	
                    
871
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	Jackman, W. G. H., Auck
                  
	
                    
193
                  
                

                

                  
	Jackson, A. E., Okoroire
                  
	791
                

                

                  
	Jackson, G. J., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
654
                  
                

                

                  
	Jackson, H. C., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
988
                  
                

                

                  
	Jackson, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
469
                  
                

                

                  
	Jackson, J., Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Jackson, J. D., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
649
                  
                

                

                  
	Jackson, Miss, Auckland
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Jackson, Mrs, Auckland
                  
	262
                

                

                  
	Jackson and Russell, Auck
                  
	278
                

                

                  
	Jackson, S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
261
                  
                

                

                  
	Jackson, T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
203
                  
                

                

                  
	Jackson, Capt. T., Razorback
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Jackson, W. M., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
845
                  
                

                

                  
	Jackson, F., Auckland
                  
	381
                

                

                  
	James, G. H., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
650
                  
                

                

                  
	James, J. W., Auckland
                  
	130
                

                

                  
	James, S., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
902
                  
                

                

                  
	Jamieson, A. N., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
486
                  
                

                

                  
	Jamieson, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
118
                  
                

                

                  
	Jamieson, J., Grey Lynn
                  
	
                    
526
                  
                

                

                  
	Jamison, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
356
                  
                

                

                  
	Jansen, J. M., Waihi
                  
	
                    
919
                  
                

                

                  
	Jardine, E., Ormond
                  
	952
                

                

                  
	Jarrett Bros., Cambridge West
                  
	780
                

                

                  
	Jarrett C., Cambridge West
                  
	780
                

                

                  
	Jefferson, J. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
291
                  
                

                

                  
	Jeffries, H., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
769
                  
                

                

                  
	Jenkins, C., Putararu
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Jenkins, R., Thames
                  
	476
                

                

                  
	Jennings, Rev. E., Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	1007
                

                

                  
	Jennings, Hon. W. T., M.L.C.
                  
	90
                

                

                  
	Jervis, H. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
432
                  
                

                

                  
	Jervis, H. M., Jun., Auck
                  
	335
                

                

                  
	Jessop, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
882
                  
                

                

                  
	Jex-Blake, T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
966
                  
                

                

                  
	Jobe, J. S., Thames
                  
	
                    
479
                  
                

                

                  
	Jobson, W. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
181
                  
                

                

                  
	Johansen, E. V., Auckland
                  
	112
                

                

                  
	Johns, J., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
673
                  
                

                

                  
	Johns, T., Waihi
                  
	
                    
503
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnson, J. B., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
831
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnson, J. C., Whananaki
                  
	
                    
564
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnson, Late J. W., Muriwai
                  
	1011
                

                

                  
	Johnston, G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
300
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnston, G., Devonport
                  
	
                    
533
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnston, G., Waihi
                  
	
                    
926
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnston, J. E., Golden Cross
                  
	
                    
916
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnston, J. H., Tamahere
                  
	
                    
759
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnston, R., Gisborne
                  
	
964-
987
                

                

                  
	Johnston, R. and Co., Gis
                  
	987
                

                

                  
	Johnston, C., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
913
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnstone, G.J.A., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
978
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnstone, G. M., Auck
                  
	
                    
279
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnstone, J. B., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
906
                  
                

                

                  
	Johnstone, J. and Coy., Karangahake
                  
	905
                

                

                  
	Johnstone, L., Auckland
                  
	
                    
357
                  
                

                

                  
	Jones, A., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
652
                  
                

                

                  
	Jones, A. O., Pukerimu
                  
	
                    
784
                  
                

                

                  
	Jones, E., Hamilton
                  
	
749-
850
                

                

                  
	Jones, F. A., Waikino
                  
	910
                

                

                  
	Jones, J. M., Kirikiriroa
                  
	754
                

                

                  
	Jones, R. D., Karangahake
                  
	495
                

                

                  
	Jones, R. N., Gisborne
                  
	
961-
980
                

                

                  
	Jones, S., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	Jones, W., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
746
                  
                

                

                  
	Jones, W., Te Awamutu
                  
	729-
730
                

                

                  
	Jordan, Rev. C., Tauranga
                  
	931–932
                

                

                  
	Jordan, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
875
                  
                

                

                  
	Jowers Mrs E., Auckland
                  
	324
                

                

                  
	Joyce, E. P., Gisborne
                  
	964
                

                

                  
	Joyce, T., Russell
                  
	
                    
566
                  
                

                

                  
	Joynt, J. W., Auckland
                  
	196
                

                

                  
	Julian, T., Auckland
                  
	131-139
                

                

                  
	Junction Hotel (A. Rogers), Thames
                  
	885
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	Kaihau, H., M.H.R., Waiuku
                  
	676
                

                

                  
	Kallender, G. A., Auck
                  
	
                    
180
                  
                

                

                  
	Kamo Pion. Warui Min. Springs
                  
	557
                

                

                  
	Kane, H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
981
                  
                

                

                  
	Kapai Boot Factory, Auck
                  
	380
                

                

                  
	Kapai Corn Broom Co., Ltd., Auckland
                  
	415
                

                

                  
	Karangahake Hotel
                  
	906
                

                

                  
	Karapiro Creamery
                  
	779
                

                

                  
	Kauri Timber Co., Ltd., Auckland
                  
	421-581-593-654-893
                

                

                  
	Kay, A., Kihikihi
                  
	734
                

                

                  
	Kay, J. G., Birkenhead
                  
	527
                

                

                  
	Kay, R., Newstead
                  
	757
                

                

                  
	Kay, R., Paterangi
                  
	
                    
722
                  
                

                

                  
	Kay, R., Rangiaohia
                  
	
                    
736
                  
                

                

                  
	Kay, Lieut. W., Auckland
                  
	170
                

                

                  
	Keals, R. and Sons, Auck
                  
	316
                

                

                  
	Keeley, G., Karapiro
                  
	
                    
779
                  
                

                

                  
	Keesing, M. R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
279
                  
                

                

                  
	Kehoe, Rev. Father J., Par.
                  
	514
                

                

                  
	Kehoe, Rev. T., Te Aroha
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Keith, J., Pokeno
                  
	695
                

                

                  
	Keller, P., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
851
                  
                

                

                  
	Kells, Miss I. F. R., Lich-field
                  
	796–797
                

                

                  
	Kells, J. B., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
995
                  
                

                

                  
	Kelly, A. M. and F. V., Auckland
                  
	468
                

                

                  
	Kelly, Rev. H., Parnell
                  
	513
                

                

                  
	Kelly, Hon. W., Auckland
                  
	90
                

                

                  
	Kelsall, J. E., Onehunga
                  
	649
                

                

                  
	Kemp, B. J. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
352
                  
                

                

                  
	Kempt and Bunby, Auck.
                  
	289
                

                

                  
	Kempthorne, A., Ormond
                  
	
                    
953
                  
                

                

                  
	Kenderdine, A. G., Auck.
                  
	
                    
291
                  
                

                

                  
	Kenderdine and Kirkup, Auckland
                  
	291
                

                

                  
	Kenealy, M. V., Te Puke
                  
	941
                

                

                  
	Kennedy, A. F., Gisborne
                  
	961
                

                

                  
	Kennedy and Evans, and Kennedy, Evans and Co., Gisborne
                  
	999
                

                

                  
	Kennedy, J., Newmarket
                  
	517
                

                

                  
	Kennedy, Capt, J. B., Gisborne
                  
	1000–1001
                

                

                  
	Kennedy, W. C., Waitekauri
                  
	911
                

                

                  
	Kenny, Dr. G. G., Rotorua
                  
	801
                

                

                  
	Kenny, N., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
841
                  
                

                

                  
	Kenny, Hon. Col. W. H.
                  
	92
                

                

                  
	Kenrick, A. T., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
900
                  
                

                

                  
	Kensington, W. C., Auckland
                  
	
179-
1017
                

                

                  
	Kent, B., Auckland
                  
	296–1018
                

                

                  
	Kenway, P. T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
1001
                  
                

                

                  
	“Kereone,” Morrinsville
                  
	787
                

                

                  
	Kerr, Miss A. G., Tauwhare
                  
	761
                

                

                  
	Kerr, H., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
767
                  
                

                

                  
	Keyes, A., Birkenhead
                  
	527
                

                

                  
	Keys, J. J., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
807
                  
                

                

                  
	Kia Ora Dairy Fac., Makaraka
                  
	1003
                

                

                  
	Kidd, A., Auckland
                  
	
116-
130-
139
                

                

                  
	Kidd, A. J., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
681
                  
                

                

                  
	Kidd, R. B., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
499
                  
                

                

                  
	Kihikihi Creamery
                  
	733
                

                

                  
	Kilgour, Late Dr. J., Auck.
                  
	286
                

                

                  
	Kilgour, R., Thames
                  
	
                    
878
                  
                

                

                  
	Killen, J. M., Whangarei
                  
	
543-
547
                

                

                  
	Kinder, Rev. J., Auckland
                  
	218
                

                

                  
	King, Dr. F. W. R. J., Auckland
                  
	166-167-284
                

                

                  
	King, H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
291
                  
                

                

                  
	King, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
965
                  
                

                

                  
	King, Jesse, and Co., Auck.
                  
	470
                

                

                  
	King, R., Te Puke
                  
	
                    
941
                  
                

                

                  
	King, Late R., Opotiki
                  
	949
                

                

                  
	King, T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
324
                  
                

                

                  
	King, W., Te Karaka
                  
	951
                

                

                  
	King, W. J., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
677
                  
                

                

                  
	Kingsford, Miss V., Parua Bay
                  
	554
                

                

                  
	Kinloch, R. P., Auckland
                  
	
                    
165
                  
                

                

                  
	Kiore Sheepfarming Co., Ltd., Gisborne
                  
	1001
                

                

                  
	Kirikiriroa Creamery
                  
	754
                

                

                  
	Kirker, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
298
                  
                

                

                  
	Kirkpatrick, D., Patutahi
                  
	957
                

                

                  
	Kirkwood, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
433
                  
                

                

                  
	Kissling, G. S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
463
                  
                

                

                  
	Kissling, T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
279
                  
                

                

                  
	Kitchen, Late J., Mongonui
                  
	594
                

                

                  
	Kitching, E. J., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
494
                  
                

                

                  
	Knight, Dr. A. O., Auck.
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Knight, H. F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
289
                  
                

                

                  
	Knight, Capt. J. I., Auckland
                  
	169-382-389
                

                

                  
	Knight, J. T., Waikino
                  
	
                    
496
                  
                

                

                  
	Knight, J. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
122
                  
                

                

                  
	Knott, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
245
                  
                

                

                  
	Knox, Late C., Auckland
                  
	433
                

                

                  
	Knox, J., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
740
                  
                

                

                  
	Knox, T., Te Ahuahu
                  
	
                    
571
                  
                

                

                  
	Knox, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
389
                  
                

                

                  
	Kohere, Hon. M.,
                  
	95
                

                

                  
	Kopu Hotel
                  
	857
                

                

                  
	Kowhai Station, Gisborne
                  
	1001
                

                

                  
	Krippner, Miss A., Ohinewai
                  
	704
                

                

                  
	Kusabs Brothers, Rotorua
                  
	810
                

                

                  
	Kusabs, H., Ohaupo
                  
	
                    
721
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	Ladies' Col., Auckland
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Laird, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
445
                  
                

                

                  
	Laishley, R., Auckland
                  
	279
                

                

                  
	Lake, E., Ohaupo
                  
	
                    
719
                  
                

                

                  
	Lake Hotel, Taupo
                  
	818
                

                

                  
	Lake House, Rotorua
                  
	807
                

                

                  
	Lake, The, Hamilton
                  
	752
                

                

                  
	Lakin, J. H., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
809
                  
                

                

                  
	Lamb, A. S. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
292
                  
                

                

                  
	Lamb Bros., Thames
                  
	893
                

                

                  
	Lambert, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
301
                  
                

                

                  
	Lambourne, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
377
                  
                

                

                  
	Lane and Brown, Totara North
                  
	584
                

                

                  
	Lane, T. M., Totara North
                  
	
                    
584
                  
                

                

                  
	Lange, F. W., M.H.R., Hamilton
                  
	739
                

                

                  
	Langford, J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
503
                  
                

                

                  
	Langguth, E., Auckland
                  
	112
                

                

                  
	Langham House (Mrs Woolcock) Whangarei
                  
	549
                

                

                  
	Langham, The, Rotorua
                  
	808
                

                

                  
	Lansdowne Estate, Walton
                  
	789
                

                

                  
	Lapraik, Dr. G., Thames
                  
	877
                

                

                  
	Lapwood, A. O., Tuakau
                  
	
                    
692
                  
                

                

                  
	Larney, N. A., Tatua
                  
	822
                

                

                  
	La Roche, C. A., Auckland
                  
	140
                

                

                  
	La Roche, —., Auckland
                  
	130
                

                

                  
	Larsen, N. F. B., Auck.
                  
	244–420
                

                

                  
	Latimer, Miss E. E. H., Waharoa
                  
	790
                

                

                  
	Latimer, J., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
670
                  
                

                

                  
	Laurie, A. J., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
674
                  
                

                

                  
	Laurie, C. G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
325
                  
                

                

                  
	Laurie, W., Waihi
                  
	
                    
923
                  
                

                

                  
	Laver, —., Auckland
                  
	131
                

                

                  
	Lavery, J. N., Mamaku
                  
	
                    
798
                  
                

                

                  
	Law, A., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
853
                  
                

                

                  
	Law, Miss A. E., Auckland
                  
	262
                

                

                  
	Law, Union, and Crown Insu. Coy., Auckland
                  
	296
                

                

                  
	Lawlor, T. M., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
899
                  
                

                

                  
	Lawn, F., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
831
                  
                

                

                  
	Lawn, Mrs H. A., Te Aroha
                  
	831
                

                

                  
	Lawrence, W. R., Totara North
                  
	586
                

                

                  
	Lawrence, W. R. and Co., Totara North
                  
	586
                

                

                  
	Lawry, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
384
                  
                

                

                  
	Lawry, F., M.H.R., Auckland
                  
	98
                

                

                  
	Lawry, Rev. H. H., Auck.
                  
	231
                

                

                  
	Lawry, Rev. S., Onehunga
                  
	651
                

                

                  
	Lawson, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
183
                  
                

                

                  
	Laxon, J. M., Newmarket
                  
	517
                

                

                  
	Laxon, Neill and Co., Auck.
                  
	409
                

                

                  
	Laxon, W. D., Whatawhata
                  
	718
                

                

                  
	Laycock, Rev. W., Auck.
                  
	233
                

                

                  
	Learmouth, W., Thames
                  
	
                    
880
                  
                

                

                  
	Leatham, W. N., Auckland
                  
	
                    
289
                  
                

                

                  
	Le Boutillier, E., Whangarei
                  
	551
                

                

                  
	Lee, J. H., Mercer
                  
	
                    
703
                  
                

                

                  
	Leece, H. S., Thames
                  
	
                    
477
                  
                

                

                  
	Leers, M. S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
240
                  
                

                

                  
	Lees, Capt., E. L., Auckland
                  
	164
                

                

                  
	Lees, T. and Sons, Wade
                  
	538
                

                

                  
	Legge, G. H., Coromande
                  
	
                    
491
                  
                

                

                  
	Leighton, F. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
406
                  
                

                

                  
	Leighton, J. F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
406
                  
                

                

                  
	Leighton, J. F. and Son., Auckland
                  
	405
                

                

                  
	Lelievre, A. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
248
                  
                

                

                  
	Lenihan, Bishop, Auckland
                  
	225
                

                

                  
	Lennox, J. M., Auckland
                  
	
130-
312
                

                

                  
	Le Quesne, P., Hamilton
                  
	749
                

                

                  
	Le Roy, Capt.-Com. E., Auckland
                  
	159
                

                

                  
	Lester Bros., Rawene
                  
	611–621
                

                

                  
	Lester, C. B., Rawene
                  
	
                    
611
                  
                

                

                  
	Lester, Miss F., Auckland
                  
	262
                

                

                  
	Lester, R. E., Kohukohu
                  
	
                    
621
                  
                

                

                  
	Letheridge, Mrs H. K., Russell
                  
	566
                

                

                  
	Lever, J., Waikino
                  
	910
                

                

                  
	Levis, R. J., Newstead
                  
	757
                

                

                  
	Lewis, C. F., Gisborne
                  
	961-977
                

                

                  
	Lewis, Gabriel and Co., Auckland
                  
	313
                

                

                  
	Lewis, H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
964
                  
                

                

                  
	Lewis, H., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
727
                  
                

                

                  
	Lewis Dr. T. H., Auckland
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Lewis, T. M., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
949
                  
                

                

                  
	Lewis, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
389
                  
                

                

                  
	Lichardt, The Very Rev. Dean A., Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Lichfield Station. Lichfield
                  
	797
                

                

                  
	Lichtenstein and Arnoldson, Auckland
                  
	392-642-644


                

                
                

                  
	Lichtenstein, M., Auckland
                  
	393
                

                

                  
	Lillington, E. R., Ellerslie
                  
	655
                

                

                  
	Lindley, J., Te Kopuru
                  
	639
                

                

                  
	Lindsay, Dr. P. A., Auck.
                  
	169-285
                

                

                  
	Lindsey, W. W., Kiwitahi
                  
	789
                

                

                  
	Lion boot Factory, Auck
                  
	382
                

                

                  
	Lippiatt, G., Pokeno
                  
	
                    
696
                  
                

                

                  
	Lipscombe, Lieut., Auck
                  
	161
                

                

                  
	Lipsey, C., Te Aroha
                  
	833
                

                

                  
	Little, Lieut.-Com. C., Auckland
                  
	161-358
                

                

                  
	Little, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
192
                  
                

                

                  
	Little, Mrs R., Auckland
                  
	192
                

                

                  
	Little, W., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
772
                  
                

                

                  
	Littlejohn, W. D., Karangahake
                  
	493
                

                

                  
	Liverpool, and London and Globe I.C., Auckland
                  
	296
                

                

                  
	Lloyd. W., Waihi
                  
	918
                

                

                  
	Locherbie Station, Morrinsville
                  
	787
                

                

                  
	Lodder S., Cambridge
                  
	778
                

                

                  
	Logan Brothers, Auckland
                  
	456
                

                

                  
	Logan, R., Devonport
                  
	531
                

                

                  
	Logan, R., Senior, Auckland
                  
	457
                

                

                  
	London and Berlin Piano Company, Auckland
                  
	265
                

                

                  
	London and Lanc. Fire Insu. Coy., Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Lonergan, T. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
289
                  
                

                

                  
	Long, J. F., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
741
                  
                

                

                  
	Lougher, H. J., Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	
                    
1008
                  
                

                

                  
	Loughlin, D. J., Thames
                  
	
                    
481
                  
                

                

                  
	Loughlin, J. M., Thames
                  
	
                    
891
                  
                

                

                  
	Loughlin S. J., Thames
                  
	482
                

                

                  
	Lovell, Jas., Auckland
                  
	122
                

                

                  
	Low, B. H., Thames
                  
	
                    
870
                  
                

                

                  
	Lowe, E. W., Thames
                  
	
                    
862
                  
                

                

                  
	Lowe, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
454
                  
                

                

                  
	Lucas, J. A., Gisborne
                  
	986–1005
                

                

                  
	Lucas, W. H., Thames
                  
	474-861
                

                

                  
	Luck, Late Rev. Father F. A., Kihikihi
                  
	733
                

                

                  
	Luckie, P., Auckland
                  
	
                    
335
                  
                

                

                  
	Ludbrook, H. S., Kawakawa
                  
	569-573
                

                

                  
	Ludbrook, W. W., Ohaeawai
                  
	
                    
573
                  
                

                

                  
	Luke, S., Otahuhu
                  
	
                    
663
                  
                

                

                  
	Luks, Late R. F., Auck
                  
	132-434
                

                

                  
	Lumpkin, J., Newmarket
                  
	
                    
518
                  
                

                

                  
	London, D., Tauranga
                  
	180–931
                

                

                  
	Lundon, J. R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
279
                  
                

                

                  
	Lupton, R., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
546
                  
                

                

                  
	Lush. Rev. W. E., Auck
                  
	218
                

                

                  
	Lusher, R. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
297
                  
                

                

                  
	Lusk, Major, Auckland
                  
	157
                

                

                  
	Lusk, N. B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
470
                  
                

                

                  
	Lusk, R. B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
279
                  
                

                

                  
	Lyons, E. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
182
                  
                

                

                  
	Lysnar, W. D., Gisborne
                  
	
962-
981
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	McAlister, J., Whakatane
                  
	943
                

                

                  
	McAndrew, J., Paeroa
                  
	854
                

                

                  
	McAnnalley, G., Mercer
                  
	
                    
703
                  
                

                

                  
	McArthur, Dr. A., Auck
                  
	200-279
                

                

                  
	McArthur, Capt. D., Paeroa
                  
	841
                

                

                  
	McAuley, G., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
808
                  
                

                

                  
	McCabe, J., Parnell
                  
	
                    
511
                  
                

                

                  
	McCallum, Late Rev. A. M., Auckland
                  
	225
                

                

                  
	McCarthy and Sutton, Waitekauri
                  
	913
                

                

                  
	McCarthy, T., Waihi
                  
	917
                

                

                  
	McCaw, J., Matamata
                  
	791–793
                

                

                  
	McChesney, Mrs P., Tamahere
                  
	759
                

                

                  
	McClintock, T., Whangarei
                  
	543
                

                

                  
	McClure, Mrs A., Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	1007
                

                

                  
	McClure, W. D., Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	1007
                

                

                  
	McColl, A., Mamaku
                  
	
                    
798
                  
                

                

                  
	McColl, J. L., Auck.
                  
	505-
517
                

                

                  
	McComble, J., Auckland
                  
	471
                

                

                  
	McConnell and Millington, Gisborne
                  
	993
                

                

                  
	McConnell, Q. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
468
                  
                

                

                  
	McConnell, T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
967
                  
                

                

                  
	McConnochie, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
257
                  
                

                

                  
	McCoomb, R., Ormond
                  
	
                    
953
                  
                

                

                  
	MacCormick, C. E., Parnell
                  
	511
                

                

                  
	McCoskrie, J., Auckland
                  
	372
                

                

                  
	McCoskrie, S., Auckland
                  
	372
                

                

                  
	McCoskrie and Son, Auck
                  
	372
                

                

                  
	McCowen, R., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
673
                  
                

                

                  
	McCready and Davey, Karangahake
                  
	906
                

                

                  
	McCready, H., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
906
                  
                

                

                  
	Macready, T., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	McCullagh. G. F., Cambridge
                  
	772
                

                

                  
	McCullagh and Gower, Auck
                  
	349
                

                

                  
	McCullagh, J. G., Auckland
                  
	349
                

                

                  
	McCullough, W., Auckland
                  
	293
                

                

                  
	McCullough, Hon. W.,
                  
	96
                

                

                  
	McDonald, Late C., Auck
                  
	434
                

                

                  
	McDonald, J., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
787
                  
                

                

                  
	McDonald, Late Mon., Auck
                  
	229
                

                

                  
	McDonald, Late P., Ngaruawahia
                  
	716
                

                

                  
	McDonald, R., Thames
                  
	482
                

                

                  
	McDonald, T., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
787
                  
                

                

                  
	McDonald, W. B., Thames
                  
	
                    
882
                  
                

                

                  
	MacDonnell, D. G. Auck
                  
	464
                

                

                  
	McDonnell, E., Thames
                  
	865
                

                

                  
	Mace, C. E., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
914
                  
                

                

                  
	McElwain, G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
389
                  
                

                

                  
	McElwain, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
515
                  
                

                

                  
	McEnteer, J., Thames
                  
	866
                

                

                  
	McFadyen, J. M., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
680
                  
                

                

                  
	McFarland, Rev. E. J., Te Aroha
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	McFarlane, Chas., Auckland
                  
	262
                

                

                  
	McFarlane, C. M., Coromandel
                  
	896
                

                

                  
	McFarlane, C. T., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
725
                  
                

                

                  
	MacFarlane, J., Gisborne
                  
	966
                

                

                  
	McFarlane, J. B., Auckland
                  
	398
                

                

                  
	Macfarlane, Late P., Makaraka
                  
	1004
                

                

                  
	McGarvey, D., Whakatane
                  
	943
                

                

                  
	McGilp, A., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
771
                  
                

                

                  
	McGlashan, G., Waihi
                  
	
                    
927
                  
                

                

                  
	McGowan, Hon. James, Thames
                  
	860
                

                

                  
	McGregor, J., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
828
                  
                

                

                  
	McGregor, M. G., Auckland
                  
	280
                

                

                  
	McGregor, R. R., Thames
                  
	
                    
878
                  
                

                

                  
	McGregor, T., Makaraka
                  
	1003
                

                

                  
	McGruer, G. N., Karangahake
                  
	492
                

                

                  
	McHardy, A., Grey. Lynn
                  
	
                    
526
                  
                

                

                  
	McHardy, Lieut. A., Auck
                  
	167
                

                

                  
	Macindoe, A. E., ship “Wakatere”
                  
	
                    
448
                  
                

                

                  
	McIndoe and Hill, Te Aroha
                  
	831
                

                

                  
	McIndoe, W., Parnell
                  
	
                    
515
                  
                

                

                  
	McInnes, M., Kamo
                  
	558
                

                

                  
	McInnes, M., Kirikiriroa
                  
	
                    
755
                  
                

                

                  
	Macintosh, Sergt.-Major, Auckland
                  
	166
                

                

                  
	McIntosh, W. N., One-hunga
                  
	
                    
651
                  
                

                

                  
	McIntyre, P., Pokeno
                  
	695
                

                

                  
	McKay, A., Fairburn
                  
	596
                

                

                  
	McKay, A., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
980
                  
                

                

                  
	McKay, H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
971
                  
                

                

                  
	Mackay, Lieut. P. M., Auck.
                  
	162
                

                

                  
	Mackay, R., Takapuna
                  
	538
                

                

                  
	Mackaytown Hotel
                  
	909
                

                

                  
	Mackechnie, E. A., Auck
                  
	
                    
130
                  
                

                

                  
	McKee, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
997
                  
                

                

                  
	McKenna, J. A., Waikino
                  
	
                    
496
                  
                

                

                  
	McKenzie, A., Ormond
                  
	
                    
953
                  
                

                

                  
	McKenzie, Capt., Auckland
                  
	156
                

                

                  
	McKenzie, D., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
998
                  
                

                

                  
	McKenzie, D. H., Mangere
                  
	659
                

                

                  
	Mackenzie, F., Kawakawa
                  
	569
                

                

                  
	McKeown, E., Auckland
                  
	326
                

                

                  
	Mackie, J. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
208
                  
                

                

                  
	Mackinder, G., Te Awamutu
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	McKinney, C. S. H., Auck
                  
	252
                

                

                  
	McKinnon, J., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
543
                  
                

                

                  
	Macklow Bros., Auckland
                  
	421
                

                

                  
	McKnight, J., Clevedon
                  
	
                    
666
                  
                

                

                  
	Mackrell and Colley, Gis.
                  
	986
                

                

                  
	Mackrell, J. W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
986
                  
                

                

                  
	Macky, J. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
139
                  
                

                

                  
	Macky, Logan, Steen and Co., Auckland
                  
	398
                

                

                  
	Macky, S. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
465
                  
                

                

                  
	MacLauchlan, Dr. H. K., Huntly
                  
	707
                

                

                  
	McLaren, J. M., Thames
                  
	
                    
867
                  
                

                

                  
	MacLean, B. J., Waitekauri
                  
	498
                

                

                  
	McLean, C., Waihi
                  
	
                    
502
                  
                

                

                  
	Maclean, Late Hon. E., Howick
                  
	656
                

                

                  
	McLean, Late J., Thames
                  
	480
                

                

                  
	McLeay, E. A., Waihi
                  
	924
                

                

                  
	McLean, W., Waitekauri
                  
	500
                

                

                  
	McLennan and Hope, Paeroa
                  
	852–915
                

                

                  
	McLeod, C., Onehunga
                  
	619
                

                

                  
	MacLeod, D., Hikurangi
                  
	
                    
562
                  
                

                

                  
	MacLeod, Late Captain D., Parua Bay
                  
	556
                

                

                  
	McLeod, D. M., Waipu
                  
	541
                

                

                  
	McLeod, E., Rawene
                  
	611
                

                

                  
	McLeod, I., Helensville
                  
	636
                

                

                  
	McLeod, J., s.s. “Coromandel”
                  
	449
                

                

                  
	McLeod, J., Rawene
                  
	612
                

                

                  
	McLeod, N. A., Dargaville
                  
	623
                

                

                  
	MacLeod, Late W. J., Parua Bay
                  
	556
                

                

                  
	MacLoughlin, Dr. T. J., Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	MacMahon, Captain J. A., Parkhurst
                  
	
                    
633
                  
                

                

                  
	McMahon, S., Whangarei
                  
	548
                

                

                  
	McMaster, C., Grev Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	McMaster, Miss I., Auck
                  
	262
                

                

                  
	McMaster and Shalders, Auckland
                  
	349
                

                

                  
	McMillan, C. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
435
                  
                

                

                  
	McMillan, D., Ormond
                  
	
                    
953
                  
                

                

                  
	MacMurray, Rev. G., Auck.
                  
	168-512
                

                

                  
	McNab, —., Auckland
                  
	133
                

                

                  
	McNamara, J., Ngawha
                  
	
                    
571
                  
                

                

                  
	McNaughten, J., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
685
                  
                

                

                  
	McNaughton, D., Golden Cross
                  
	
                    
916
                  
                

                

                  
	Macneil, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
376
                  
                

                

                  
	McNeish, Late J. C., Pokeno
                  
	697
                

                

                  
	McNicol and Co., Hamilton
                  
	746–772
                

                

                  
	McNicol, Late D., Clevedon
                  
	668
                

                

                  
	McNicol, Late J., Hamilton
                  
	752
                

                

                  
	Macnicol, Rev. R. F., Auckland
                  
	223
                

                

                  
	McPhee, A., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
726
                  
                

                

                  
	McPherson, J., Pokeno
                  
	695–696
                

                

                  
	McPherson, Capt. J., Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	McRae, A., Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	McVeagh, J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
845
                  
                

                

                  
	McWatters, W. J., Paeroa
                  
	851-915-925
                

                

                  
	Madill, A., Tuakau
                  
	
                    
691
                  
                

                

                  
	Madill and Collier, Tuakau
                  
	691
                

                

                  
	Madill, D. H., Tuakau
                  
	
                    
692
                  
                

                

                  
	Magdeburg F. Insu, Co., Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Maher, Mrs F., Auckland
                  
	183
                

                

                  
	Mahoney, Rev. W. H., Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Mahony, E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
280
                  
                

                

                  
	Mahony, E. and Sons, Auckland
                  
	316
                

                

                  
	Main, A., Hautapu
                  
	764
                

                

                  
	Main, A., sen., Hautapu
                  
	764–765
                

                

                  
	Main, G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
435
                  
                

                

                  
	Maingay, J. T., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
828
                  
                

                

                  
	Mainland, A., s.s. “Gairloch.”
                  
	
                    
448
                  
                

                

                  
	Mainwaring, R., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
732
                  
                

                

                  
	Maitland, A. G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	Major, Captain, Auckland
                  
	167
                

                

                  
	Major, Rev. H. D. A., Ham
                  
	743
                

                

                  
	Makgill, Capt. J., Waiuku
                  
	685
                

                

                  
	Makgill Lieut. J. E., Waiuku
                  
	679
                

                

                  
	Makiri Farm, Helensville
                  
	636
                

                

                  
	Malcolm, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
213
                  
                

                

                  
	Malfroy, Late J. M. C., Rotorua
                  
	802
                

                

                  
	Mallabond, J., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
545
                  
                

                

                  
	Manawaru Creamery
                  
	836
                

                

                  
	Manchester F. Insu. Co., Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Mandeno, J. L., Te Awam
                  
	
                    
724
                  
                

                

                  
	Mandeno, W. H., Te Awam
                  
	
                    
724
                  
                

                

                  
	Mander and Bradley, Auck
                  
	421
                

                

                  
	Mander, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
422
                  
                

                

                  
	Maning, Late F. E., Rawene
                  
	612
                

                

                  
	Mann, E. H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
973
                  
                

                

                  
	Mann, G. J., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
752
                  
                

                

                  
	Manning, Capt. A. W., Waiuku
                  
	684
                

                

                  
	Manning, E., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
746
                  
                

                

                  
	Mansill, C. H., Mangawhare
                  
	
                    
625
                  
                

                

                  
	Manson, W., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
809
                  
                

                

                  
	Maraetaha Sta., Muriwai
                  
	1011
                

                

                  
	Maria, N., Oruru
                  
	
                    
595
                  
                

                

                  
	Marmion, J. D., s.s. “Ngapuhi.”
                  
	
                    
449
                  
                

                

                  
	Marr, W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
974
                  
                

                

                  
	Marriner, W. A., Mangawh
                  
	
                    
626
                  
                

                

                  
	Marriott, J. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
326
                  
                

                

                  
	Marsack, Dr. A. E., Auck
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Marsdon, W. H. P., Thames
                  
	
                    
870
                  
                

                

                  
	Marsh, W., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
855
                  
                

                

                  
	Marshall, Lieut. F. J., Morrinsville
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Marshall, Rev. G. T., Puke
                  
	671
                

                

                  
	Marshall, John, Matawhero
                  
	1006
                

                

                  
	Marshall, P., Auckland
                  
	
                    
201
                  
                

                

                  
	Martin, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
368
                  
                

                

                  
	Martin, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
435
                  
                

                

                  
	Martin. Capt. A., ship “‘Waiapu.”
                  
	450
                

                

                  
	Martin, G., Rawene
                  
	
                    
611
                  
                

                

                  
	Martin, H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
990
                  
                

                

                  
	Martin, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
                  
                

                

                  
	Martin, J., Parnell
                  
	
                    
515
                  
                

                

                  
	Martin, Late J., Rawene
                  
	611
                

                

                  
	Martin, W. B., Thames
                  
	
                    
475
                  
                

                

                  
	Martin, W. G., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
490
                  
                

                

                  
	Martin, W. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
435
                  
                

                

                  
	Martyn, Late W. L., Ohaupo
                  
	721
                

                

                  
	Masefield Bros., Russel.
                  
	565
                

                

                  
	Masefield, T. T., Auck
                  
	119-129
                

                

                  
	Masefield, T. T. and Co., Auckland
                  
	373
                

                

                  
	Mason, F. E., Devonport
                  
	531
                

                

                  
	Mason, Rev. H., Ngaruaw
                  
	714
                

                

                  
	Mason, R. H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
984
                  
                

                

                  
	Masonic Hotel, Cambridge
                  
	774
                

                

                  
	Masonic Hotel, Gisborne
                  
	990–991
                

                

                  
	Masonic Stables, Gisborne
                  
	998
                

                

                  
	Massey, W. F., M.H.R., Otahuhu
                  
	662
                

                

                  
	Matamata Boardinghouse (R. J. Kerr)
                  
	792
                

                

                  
	Matamata Estate
                  
	792
                

                

                  
	Matthews, A. F., Gis
                  
	
967-
984
                

                

                  
	Matthews, F. W., Darga
                  
	
                    
624
                  
                

                

                  
	Matthews, R. H., Kaitaia
                  
	
                    
597
                  
                

                

                  
	Matthews, S. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
465
                  
                

                

                  
	Matthewson, G., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
986
                  
                

                

                  
	Maud, W., Auckland
                  
	420
                

                

                  
	Maunder, T. W., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
751
                  
                

                

                  
	Maungakawa Estate, Camb
                  
	776
                

                

                  
	Maungatawhiri Val. Cream
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Maxted and Co., Gisborne
                  
	986
                

                

                  
	Maxted, G., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
986
                  
                

                

                  
	Maxwell, A. A., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
805
                  
                

                

                  
	Maxwell, J., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
937
                  


                

                
                

                  
	May, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
236
                  
                

                

                  
	May, J., Hautapu
                  
	
                    
764
                  
                

                

                  
	May, J. W., Te Aroha
                  
	830
                

                

                  
	May, W. J., Parawai
                  
	858
                

                

                  
	Maynard, John, Gisborne
                  
	993
                

                

                  
	Mays, J., Devonport
                  
	
                    
531
                  
                

                

                  
	Mays, Oliver, Auckland
                  
	146
                

                

                  
	Meddings, W. G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
176
                  
                

                

                  
	Melhose, Late L. R. W., Thames
                  
	878-880
                

                

                  
	Mellars, G. F., Taupiri
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	Melmerly Collegiate School, Auckland
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Mennie and Dey, Auckland
                  
	326–880
                

                

                  
	Menzies and Co., Hamilton
                  
	748-830-847-881-922
                

                

                  
	Menzies, G. G., Rawene
                  
	
                    
611
                  
                

                

                  
	Menzies, J., Auckland
                  
	239
                

                

                  
	Menzies, R. R., Thames
                  
	861
                

                

                  
	Mercer Creamery, The
                  
	703
                

                

                  
	Mercer Railway Hotel
                  
	703
                

                

                  
	Merrick, J. W., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
778
                  
                

                

                  
	Merriman, F. W.,
                  
	100
                

                

                  
	Middleton, T., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
901
                  
                

                

                  
	Millar, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
113
                  
                

                

                  
	Millar, T. L., Rawene
                  
	
                    
611
                  
                

                

                  
	Miller, D., Auckland
                  
	306
                

                

                  
	Miller, E. N., Thames
                  
	
                    
876
                  
                

                

                  
	Miller, H. and Co., Auck
                  
	393
                

                

                  
	Miler, J. A., Thames
                  
	876
                

                

                  
	Miller and Porritt, Paeroa
                  
	845
                

                

                  
	Miller and Son, Thames
                  
	876
                

                

                  
	Mills, J., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
830
                  
                

                

                  
	Milne, A., Tauwhare
                  
	
                    
762
                  
                

                

                  
	Milne and Choyce, Auck
                  
	349
                

                

                  
	Milne and Son, Tamahere
                  
	760
                

                

                  
	Milner, H., Waihi
                  
	
                    
506
                  
                

                

                  
	Miles, E. J., Thames
                  
	884
                

                

                  
	Mimiwhangata Station, Mongonui
                  
	593
                

                

                  
	Minnitt, Major C. G., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
771
                  
                

                

                  
	Mitchell, Rev. A., Coroman
                  
	899
                

                

                  
	Mitchell, H. W., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
810
                  
                

                

                  
	Mitchelson, Hon. E., Auck
                  
	108
                

                

                  
	Mitchelson, E. and Co., Auckland
                  
	393-422-624
                

                

                  
	Moffitt, E. J., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
714
                  
                

                

                  
	Moir, Dr. James, Auck
                  
	170-285
                

                

                  
	Moir, Dr. P., Auckland
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Molesworth, Late D. N. O'D., Totara North
                  
	583
                

                

                  
	Molesworth and Sales, Totara North
                  
	582
                

                

                  
	Molloy, C. J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
502
                  
                

                

                  
	Monk, R., M.H.R., Helensville
                  
	634
                

                

                  
	Monro, H. A. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
275
                  
                

                

                  
	Montagu, B., Gordon
                  
	837–838
                

                

                  
	Montague, M., Auckland
                  
	129
                

                

                  
	Montgomery, A., Thames
                  
	
                    
475
                  
                

                

                  
	Montgomery, W. S., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
906
                  
                

                

                  
	Montpellier Nursery, Remuera
                  
	522
                

                

                  
	Moody, F. R., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
732
                  
                

                

                  
	Moody, T. P., Hikurangi
                  
	
                    
561
                  
                

                

                  
	Moorcraft, W., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
485
                  
                

                

                  
	Moore, C., Whangaroa
                  
	
                    
581
                  
                

                

                  
	Moore, Geo., Auckland
                  
	162
                

                

                  
	Moore, H., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
847
                  
                

                

                  
	Moore, H. W., Waihi
                  
	
                    
507
                  
                

                

                  
	Moore-Jones, Mrs S. A. M., Auckland
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Moore, T., Pukekhohe
                  
	
                    
670
                  
                

                

                  
	Moore, W., Paeroa
                  
	840
                

                

                  
	Moresly, T. A., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
845
                  
                

                

                  
	Morgan, E., Waihi
                  
	
920-
923
                

                

                  
	Morgan, F. T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
982
                  
                

                

                  
	Morgan, J., Aratapu
                  
	
                    
629
                  
                

                

                  
	Morgan, P. G., Waihi
                  
	
                    
502
                  
                

                

                  
	Morgan, R., Waihi
                  
	
                    
505
                  
                

                

                  
	Morgan, W., Gisborne
                  
	
972-
992
                

                

                  
	Morgan, W., Razorback
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Morland, J. E., Mamaku
                  
	
                    
798
                  
                

                

                  
	Morran, J. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
352
                  
                

                

                  
	Morrell, W. J., Auckland
                  
	201
                

                

                  
	Morrin, T., Panmure
                  
	
660-
1021
                

                

                  
	Morrin, W. S., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
912
                  
                

                

                  
	Morris, A., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
715
                  
                

                

                  
	Morris, A., Opua
                  
	
                    
570
                  
                

                

                  
	Morris, A. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
347
                  
                

                

                  
	Morris, Capt. the Hon. G. B., Otahuhu
                  
	662
                

                

                  
	Morris, G. C. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
465
                  
                

                

                  
	Morris, S., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
672
                  
                

                

                  
	Morris, T. H. W., Whananaki
                  
	
                    
563
                  
                

                

                  
	Morrison, A., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
833
                  
                

                

                  
	Morrison, A. H., Kaikohe
                  
	
                    
576
                  
                

                

                  
	Morrison Bros., Gisborne
                  
	986
                

                

                  
	Morrison, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
987
                  
                

                

                  
	Morrison, K., Ohaupo
                  
	
                    
721
                  
                

                

                  
	Morrison, T., Gisborne
                  
	
962-
986
                

                

                  
	Morrison, W. B. A., Auck
                  
	313
                

                

                  
	Morrison, —., Auckland
                  
	130
                

                

                  
	Morrow, Major A., Auck
                  
	
                    
160
                  
                

                

                  
	Morton, H. B. and Co., Auckland
                  
	393
                

                

                  
	Morton, J., Auckland
                  
	129
                

                

                  
	Morton, J. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
319
                  
                

                

                  
	Moss, E. J. B., Paeroa
                  
	846
                

                

                  
	Moss, F. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
106
                  
                

                

                  
	Moss. J., Auckland
                  
	191–1017
                

                

                  
	Motion Bros., Waiuku
                  
	682
                

                

                  
	Motion, I. A., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
682
                  
                

                

                  
	Motion, Late W., Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Motion, Late W., Waiuku
                  
	686
                

                

                  
	Motion, W. C., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
682
                  
                

                

                  
	Motumaoho Estate, Morrinsville
                  
	788
                

                

                  
	Mountain and Newton, Thames
                  
	880
                

                

                  
	Mountain Rimu T. Co., Mamaku
                  
	798
                

                

                  
	Mowbray, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
335
                  
                

                

                  
	Moyle, T., Thames
                  
	
                    
479
                  
                

                

                  
	Mueller, F. H., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
845
                  
                

                

                  
	Mueller, G., Auckland
                  
	
180-
1016
                

                

                  
	Muir, A., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
686
                  
                

                

                  
	Muir, A. L., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
977
                  
                

                

                  
	Muir, A. R., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
977
                  
                

                

                  
	Muir, J., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
825
                  
                

                

                  
	Muir, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
884
                  
                

                

                  
	Mulvihill, Rev. F., Gis.
                  
	975
                

                

                  
	Munro, M., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
907
                  
                

                

                  
	Munroe, J., Rotorua
                  
	809
                

                

                  
	Murchie. M., Auckland
                  
	354
                

                

                  
	Murdoch, C. P., Auckland
                  
	
                    
422
                  
                

                

                  
	Murdoch, C. P. and Sons, Auckland
                  
	422
                

                

                  
	Murray, Rev. D. J., Thames
                  
	872
                

                

                  
	Murray, E. D., Matamata
                  
	791
                

                

                  
	Murray, C. P., Auckland
                  
	290
                

                

                  
	Murray, J., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
498
                  
                

                

                  
	Murray, J. W., Kaukapakapa
                  
	630
                

                

                  
	Murray, Late W., Kaeo
                  
	589
                

                

                  
	Mutual Life Assoc. of Aus., Auckland
                  
	301
                

                

                  
	Myers, Capt. A. M., Anck
                  
	170
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	Naden, C. F., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
806
                  
                

                

                  
	Napier and Fitzherbert, Auckland
                  
	280
                

                

                  
	Napier, J., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
492
                  
                

                

                  
	Napier, W. J., Auckland
                  
	97-139-164-280
                

                

                  
	Nathan, A. H., Auckland
                  
	393
                

                

                  
	Nathan, J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
851
                  
                

                

                  
	Nathan, L. D., Auckland
                  
	
                    
129
                  
                

                

                  
	Nathan, L. D. and Co., Auckland
                  
	393-398
                

                

                  
	National Insu. Co. of N.Z., Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Nat. Mutual L. Asso. of Australasia, Auckland
                  
	302
                

                

                  
	Naujoks, Herr Carl, Auck
                  
	262
                

                

                  
	Naval and Family Hotel (R. Fawcett), Auck
                  
	363
                

                

                  
	Neal, G. J., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
774
                  
                

                

                  
	Neave, Mrs I., Auckland
                  
	223
                

                

                  
	Nehau, Eruera, Puhipuhi
                  
	564
                

                

                  
	Neill, J., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
654
                  
                

                

                  
	Nelson, C. E., Whakarewa
                  
	812
                

                

                  
	Nelson, Rev. C. M., Auck
                  
	216
                

                

                  
	Nelson, S., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
848
                  
                

                

                  
	New, B. C., Aratapu
                  
	
                    
628
                  
                

                

                  
	Neumegen, W. M., Auck
                  
	
                    
280
                  
                

                

                  
	Newdick, J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
922
                  
                

                

                  
	Newport, E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
190
                  
                

                

                  
	Newstead Station
                  
	757
                

                

                  
	Newstead Station Creamery
                  
	757
                

                

                  
	Newton, J. E., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
992
                  
                

                

                  
	Newton, W. H., Thames
                  
	
                    
871
                  
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Acci. Insu. Co., Auck.
                  
	302
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Clothing Fac., Gis.
                  
	987
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Commercial Co., Auck
                  
	356
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Dairy Asso., Auckland
                  
	345
                

                

                  
	“N.Z. Farmer, Bee, and P. Journal,” The, Auck.
                  
	271
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Govt. Life Insu. Dep., Auckland
                  
	301
                

                

                  
	“N.Z. Graphic,” The, Auck
                  
	271
                

                

                  
	“N.Z. Herald,” The, Auck.
                  
	269–844
                

                

                  
	“N.Z. Illus. Magazine,” The, Auckland
                  
	271
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Inst. of Journalists, Auckland
                  
	269
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Insu. Co., The, Auck
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Loan and M. A. Co., The, Auckland
                  
	399-750-996
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Mort., Loan, and Dis. Bank, Auckland
                  
	356
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Plate Glass Insu. Co., Auckland
                  
	302
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Portland Cement Co., Ltd., Whangarei
                  
	550
                

                

                  
	“N.Z. Primitive Methodist,” The, Auckland
                  
	271
                

                

                  
	N.Z. Ship. Co., Ltd., The, Auckland
                  
	444
                

                

                  
	“N.Z. Sport. and Dramatic Review” and “Licensed V. Gazette,” The, Auck
                  
	271
                

                

                  
	Ngaheia Station, Kawakawa
                  
	570
                

                

                  
	Ngaruawahia Central Dairy Factory
                  
	715
                

                

                  
	Ngatapa Station, Patutahi
                  
	957
                

                

                  
	Niccol, G. T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
458
                  
                

                

                  
	Niccol, M., Auckland
                  
	
139-
242-
531
                

                

                  
	Nicholls, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
373
                  
                

                

                  
	Nisbet, A., Kaeo
                  
	
                    
587
                  
                

                

                  
	Nisbet, W. A., Kaeo
                  
	
                    
587
                  
                

                

                  
	Noble-Campbell, S. A., Gis.
                  
	
                    
981
                  
                

                

                  
	Noble, T. B., Taupo
                  
	
                    
819
                  
                

                

                  
	Noble, W. G., Taupo
                  
	
                    
820
                  
                

                

                  
	Nodder, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
890
                  
                

                

                  
	Nolan, D., Auckland
                  
	
                    
436
                  
                

                

                  
	Nolan, J. W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
981
                  
                

                

                  
	Norgrove, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
389
                  
                

                

                  
	Norris, A. H., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
914
                  
                

                

                  
	North Bri. and Merc. Insu. Co., Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	N. Ger. F. Insu. Co., Auck.
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	N. Queensland Insu. Co., Auckland
                  
	298
                

                

                  
	North, W., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
725
                  
                

                

                  
	Northeroft, E., Tauranga
                  
	932
                

                

                  
	Northcroft, H. W., Hamil.
                  
	
                    
745
                  
                

                

                  
	Northern Boot and Shoe Mfg. Co., Ltd., The, Auckland
                  
	383
                

                

                  
	Northern Est. Agency and F. C., Ltd., The, Auck.
                  
	356
                

                

                  
	Northern Insu. Co., Auck.
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	“Northern Luminary,” The, Kawakawa
                  
	569
                

                

                  
	Northern Roller Milling Co., The, Auckland
                  
	409
                

                

                  
	Northern S.S. Co., Ltd., Auckland
                  
	444
                

                

                  
	Northern Union Steamboat Co., Helensville
                  
	637
                

                

                  
	Norton, F., Mangawhare
                  
	
                    
625
                  
                

                

                  
	Norwich Union F. Insu. Co., Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Nottingham Castle Hotel (W. Schollum), Morrins.
                  
	786
                

              

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

O



            
O

            

                

                  
	Oatridge, F. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
985
                  
                

                

                  
	O'Brien, Capt. L., Auck.
                  
	164
                

                

                  
	O'Brien, Loughlin, Auck.
                  
	100–1014
                

                

                  
	Observer, The, Auckland
                  
	271
                

                

                  
	O'Callaghan, Rev. Dr. T., Thames
                  
	871
                

                

                  
	O'Carroll, Rev. Father, Auckland
                  
	227-7331017
                

                

                  
	Ocean Acc. and Guar. Corp., The, Auckland
                  
	300
                

                

                  
	O'Connor, J. and P., Te Awamutu
                  
	730
                

                

                  
	O'Connor, P., Te Awamutu
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	O'Connor, Rev. W., Gis.
                  
	975
                

                

                  
	Offer, W. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
129
                  
                

                

                  
	Ogle, C. A., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
732
                  
                

                

                  
	Ohaeawai Saleyards, Ohaeawai
                  
	572
                

                

                  
	Ohaupo Hotel (J. Teddy)
                  
	720
                

                

                  
	Ohinemuri Coaching Coy., Paeroa
                  
	852-907-926
                

                

                  
	“Ohinemuri Gazette,” Paeroa
                  
	844
                

                

                  
	Ohinemuri Hotel, Paeroa (M. G. Power)
                  
	849
                

                

                  
	Ohinemuri Light and Power Coy., Paeroa
                  
	852
                

                

                  
	O'Keeffe, M. D., Thames
                  
	473
                

                

                  
	Okoroire Hotel and Sana
                  
	794
                

                

                  
	Okoroire Station, Tirau
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Oldfield, J., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
807
                  
                

                

                  
	Oldham, A., Tuakau
                  
	
                    
691
                  
                

                

                  
	Oldham, G. H., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
733
                  
                

                

                  
	Oldham, H., Pokeno
                  
	
                    
696
                  
                

                

                  
	Oldham, J. W., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
742
                  
                

                

                  
	O'Leary, D., Waihi
                  
	918
                

                

                  
	Oliphant and Battley, Auckland
                  
	280
                

                

                  
	O'Meagher, J., Auckland
                  
	280
                

                

                  
	O'Meagher, P., Te Aroha
                  
	830
                

                

                  
	Onehunga Boot Factory
                  
	653
                

                

                  
	Onehunga Woollen Mills
                  
	653
                

                

                  
	O'Neill, Late A., Auckland
                  
	436
                

                

                  
	O'Neill, Hon. Jas.
                  
	94-95-100
                

                

                  
	O'Neill, J. H., Auck
                  
	144
                

                

                  
	O'Neill, L., Hamilton
                  
	745
                

                

                  
	O'Neill, W. C., Mongonui
                  
	591
                

                

                  
	One Tree Hill Stud Stables (L. Marshall), Newmkt.
                  
	520
                

                

                  
	Opononi Hotel and San
                  
	615
                

                

                  
	“Opotiki Herald”
                  
	946
                

                

                  
	O'Reilly, Monsignor, Auck.
                  
	226
                

                

                  
	Ormond, J. H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
986
                  
                

                

                  
	O'Rorke, Sir G. M., M.H.R., Onehunga
                  
	648
                

                

                  
	Orpen, Dr. H., Auckland
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Orr, D. M., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
997
                  
                

                

                  
	Orr, J., Te Karaka
                  
	951
                

                

                  
	Osborne, H. H., Manawaru
                  
	836
                

                

                  
	Ott, F., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
907
                  
                

                

                  
	Otter, W. W., Thames
                  
	867
                

                

                  
	Outhwaite, Late T., Auck.
                  
	274
                

                

                  
	Outhwaite, Late W. E., Auckland
                  
	281
                

                

                  
	Ovenden, F. B., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
987
                  
                

                

                  
	Owen, A., Poroti
                  
	
                    
560
                  
                

                

                  
	Owen, Dr. H., Auckland
                  
	290
                

                

                  
	Owharoa Hotel. Waikino
                  
	910
                

                

                  
	Oxenham and Somervell, Makauri
                  
	1010
                

                

                  
	Oxford Royal Hotel, Tirau
                  
	795
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	Pacific Hotel, Thames
                  
	885
                

                

                  
	Paddy, W. J., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
716
                  
                

                

                  
	Paeroa Creamery
                  
	848
                

                

                  
	Paeroa Hotel (M. Delaney)
                  
	849
                

                

                  
	Page, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
243
                  
                

                

                  
	Paget, J. S., Waharoa
                  
	
                    
790
                  
                

                

                  
	Pairman, A. W., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
726
                  
                

                

                  
	Palace Hotel, Rotorua
                  
	807
                

                

                  
	Palace Hotel (Mrs A. R. Smardoni Te Aroha
                  
	831
                

                

                  
	Palmer, C. E., Auckland
                  
	296
                

                

                  
	Palmer, J., Whananaki
                  
	564
                

                

                  
	Palmer, Jackson, Auck.
                  
	280–839
                

                

                  
	Palmer, T. E., Waihi
                  
	
                    
920
                  
                

                

                  
	Paparata Creamery, The
                  
	699
                

                

                  
	Paque, G. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
263
                  
                

                

                  
	Park, A. J. Ngaruawahia
                  
	715
                

                

                  
	Park, Late J., Onehunga
                  
	653-1021
                

                

                  
	Park, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
478
                  
                

                

                  
	Park, W. G., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
778
                  
                

                

                  
	Parker, A. J., Grey Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	Parker, A. S., Rotorua,
                  
	898
                

                

                  
	Parker, C. J., Te Arai Bridge
                  
	1005
                

                

                  
	Parker, F., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
981
                  
                

                

                  
	Parker, Lamb and Co., Auckland
                  
	422
                

                

                  
	Parker, Lieut.-Com., Auck.
                  
	162
                

                

                  
	Parkes, Dr. W. H., Auck.
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Parkinson, A. J., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
946
                  
                

                

                  
	Parr Bros., Hamilton
                  
	751
                

                

                  
	Parr, C. J., Auckland
                  
	
119-
242-
280
                

                

                  
	Parr, R., Hamilton
                  
	740
                

                

                  
	Parrish, M., Northcote
                  
	
                    
529
                  
                

                

                  
	Parsons, A., Ormond
                  
	
                    
954
                  
                

                

                  
	Parsons, E. B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
414
                  
                

                

                  
	Parsons, L. W., Thames
                  
	
                    
875
                  
                

                

                  
	Partridge, A. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
263
                  
                

                

                  
	Partridge, W., Paparata
                  
	699
                

                

                  
	Pasley, E. W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
971
                  
                

                

                  
	Pasley, G. K., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
995
                  
                

                

                  
	Paterangi Creamery, The
                  
	722
                

                

                  
	Paterson, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
887
                  
                

                

                  
	Paterson, Rev. J. G., Gis.
                  
	975
                

                

                  
	Paterson, J. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
116
                  
                

                

                  
	Paterson, T., Ngaruawahia
                  
	714–754
                

                

                  
	Patterson, G. W. S., Auck.
                  
	162-
393
                

                

                  
	Patterson, J., Auckland
                  
	121-342
                

                

                  
	Patterson, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
892
                  
                

                

                  
	Patterson, Bishop, Auckland
                  
	220
                

                

                  
	Patutahi Hotel (R. Craill)
                  
	955
                

                

                  
	Paul, M., Thames
                  
	
                    
476
                  
                

                

                  
	Paul, Mons., Onehunga
                  
	1021
                

                

                  
	Pavitt, F., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
825
                  
                

                

                  
	Payne, J. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
338
                  
                

                

                  
	Peace, J. G., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
808
                  
                

                

                  
	Peace, R., Auckland
                  
	437
                

                

                  
	Peacock, T., Auckland
                  
	110-126
                

                

                  
	Peacocke, G. L., Auckland
                  
	
                    
271
                  
                

                

                  
	Peacocke, Hon. Col. S. P., Howick
                  
	656
                

                

                  
	Pearse, H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
185
                  
                

                

                  
	Pearson and Co., Hamilton
                  
	751
                

                

                  
	Pearson, T. E., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
801
                  
                

                

                  
	Peat, R. B., Kawakawa
                  
	
                    
569
                  
                

                

                  
	Peebles, A., Whakatane
                  
	
                    
944
                  
                

                

                  
	Peet, W. and J., Auckland
                  
	410
                

                

                  
	Peirce, J. K., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
767
                  
                

                

                  
	Penney, B. S., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
800
                  
                

                

                  
	Percival, Wm., Auckland
                  
	250
                

                

                  
	Peria Accomodation House (W. Hazard)
                  
	596
                

                

                  
	Perry, A. M., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
732
                  
                

                

                  
	Petersen, R., Tamahere
                  
	
                    
760
                  
                

                

                  
	Petford, J., Parnell
                  
	511
                

                

                  
	Philips, P. A., Auckland
                  
	124
                

                

                  
	Phillips, J., Auckland
                  
	348
                

                

                  
	Phillipps, J. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
146
                  
                

                

                  
	Phillipps, W. and Son, Auckland
                  
	348-882
                

                

                  
	Phillips, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
130
                  
                

                

                  
	Phillips, H., Auckland
                  
	
306-
373
                

                

                  
	Phillips, J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
853
                  
                

                

                  
	Phillips, W., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
851
                  
                

                

                  
	Phillips, W. and Co., Waihi
                  
	924
                

                

                  
	Phillpot, J. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
216
                  
                

                

                  
	Philson, Late Dr. T. M., Auckland
                  
	286
                

                

                  
	Philson, W. J. W., Auck.
                  
	140-531
                

                

                  
	Phœnix Assu. Co., Auck.
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Pickering, M. H., Hautapu
                  
	
                    
764
                  
                

                

                  
	Pickett, W. C., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
786
                  
                

                

                  
	Pickmere, A. R., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
547
                  
                

                

                  
	Pierce, G. N., Auckland
                  
	
                    
298
                  
                

                

                  
	Pierce, Late G. P., Auck.
                  
	437
                

                

                  
	Pike, R., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
748
                  
                

                

                  
	Pilkington, A. G., Auck.
                  
	
                    
280
                  
                

                

                  
	Pilling, O. F., Waihou
                  
	823
                

                

                  
	Pines, The, Rotorua
                  
	808
                

                

                  
	Pirie, Major Jas., Auckland
                  
	157
                

                

                  
	Pirrit, J. R., Whangarata
                  
	
                    
694
                  
                

                

                  
	Pirrit, W. R., Pokeno
                  
	
                    
697
                  
                

                

                  
	Player, Miss A. A., Auck.
                  
	263
                

                

                  
	Plummer, C. B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
416
                  
                

                

                  
	Pokeno Creamery, The
                  
	696
                

                

                  
	Poland, H., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
840
                  
                

                

                  
	Pollen, Hon. Dr.
                  
	94
                

                

                  
	Pollock, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
998
                  
                

                

                  
	Poole, R. S., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
772
                  
                

                

                  
	Popple, F., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
775
                  
                

                

                  
	Porritt, E. W., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
845
                  
                

                

                  
	Porter, Dr. A. H., Waihi
                  
	921
                

                

                  
	Porter, E. and Co., Auck.
                  
	377
                

                

                  
	Porter, H. M., Gis.
                  
	
983-
989
                

                

                  
	Porter, H. R., Huntly
                  
	
                    
708
                  
                

                

                  
	Porter, Capt. W. F.
                  
	100
                

                

                  
	Possenniskie, H. L., Auck.
                  
	
                    
354
                  
                

                

                  
	Potter, Lieut. H. R., Auck.
                  
	168
                

                

                  
	Potter, W. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
354
                  
                

                

                  
	Potter, Rev. W. S., Auck.
                  
	234
                

                

                  
	Potts, D. C., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
843
                  
                

                

                  
	Potts, W. H., Thames
                  
	865
                

                

                  
	Pouerua Stn., Ohaeawai
                  
	573
                

                

                  
	Poulgrain, J. W., Thames
                  
	861
                

                

                  
	Poulgrain, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
367
                  
                

                

                  
	“Poverty Bay Herald,” Gis.
                  
	977
                

                

                  
	Powell, R. W., Thames
                  
	
                    
479
                  
                

                

                  
	Powley, G. H., Auckland
                  
	
133-
242-
351
                

                

                  
	Price, A., Thames
                  
	
                    
863
                  
                

                

                  
	Price, A. E., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
850
                  
                

                

                  
	Price, A. and G., Thames
                  
	887-888
                

                

                  
	Price, G., Thames
                  
	
                    
863
                  
                

                

                  
	Price, H. G., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
971
                  
                

                

                  
	Price, T. E., Tauranga
                  
	
937-938
                

                

                  
	Priestly, M., Kimihia
                  
	
                    
710
                  
                

                

                  
	Prime, F. L., Auckland
                  
	125–128
                

                

                  
	Primrose, A., Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	Primrose, G. W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
992
                  
                

                

                  
	Primrose, J., Kirikiriroa
                  
	754
                

                

                  
	Primrose and Leslie, Gis.
                  
	992
                

                

                  
	Prinn, R. W., Taupo
                  
	818
                

                

                  
	Priston, H., Mackaytown
                  
	909
                

                

                  
	Pritt, Late Ven. Archdeacon, Remuera
                  
	522
                

                

                  
	Prosser, T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
384
                  
                

                

                  
	Prov. and Indus. I.C. of N.Z., The, Auckland
                  
	302
                

                

                  
	Puckey, W. G., Kaiataia
                  
	
                    
598
                  
                

                

                  
	Puhipi, T., Parengarenga
                  
	
                    
609
                  
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe Central Factory
                  
	672
                

                

                  
	Pukekohe Hotel
                  
	673
                

                

                  
	Pukekura Creamery, The
                  
	782
                

                

                  
	Pukerimu Creamery, The
                  
	783
                

                

                  
	Pullman, F., Tuakau
                  
	690
                

                

                  
	Pumice Works, Rangiriri
                  
	704
                

                

                  
	Purcell, W. K., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
801
                  
                

                

                  
	Purchas, Dr. A. C., Auck.
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Purchas, C., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
498
                  
                

                

                  
	Purdy, J., Kaikohe
                  
	
                    
575
                  
                

                

                  
	Puriri Co-operative Dairy, Thames
                  
	882
                

                

                  
	Purton, Rev. Father, Auck.
                  
	229
                

                

                  
	Putararu Junction Hotel
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Pyne, C. S., Thames
                  
	
                    
889
                  
                

                

                  
	Pyne, F. W., Pokeno
                  
	695
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	Qualtrough, T., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
749
                  
                

                

                  
	Quigley, W. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
984
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	Rackley, E., Te Aroha
                  
	820
                

                

                  
	Radford, S., Waihi
                  
	
                    
503
                  
                

                

                  
	Radford, T., Thames
                  
	861
                

                

                  
	Rae Bros., Thames
                  
	882
                

                

                  
	Railway Boardinghouse, Morrinsville
                  
	786
                

                

                  
	Rainforth, Miss E. M., Auckland
                  
	203
                

                

                  
	Ralfe, H. H. G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
274
                  
                

                

                  
	Ralph, J. G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
251
                  
                

                

                  
	Ralph, Capt. R. R., Huntly
                  
	705
                

                

                  
	Ramsay, A., Tamahere
                  
	
                    
759
                  
                

                

                  
	Randell, N., Newmarket
                  
	
                    
518
                  
                

                

                  
	Randerson, A. C., Huntly
                  
	
                    
706
                  
                

                

                  
	Ranfurly, Countess of
                  
	12
                

                

                  
	Ranfurly, Earl of
                  
	10
                

                

                  
	Ranger, W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
991
                  
                

                

                  
	Ranger, W. and Co., Gis.
                  
	991
                

                

                  
	Rangitira Station, Te Karaka
                  
	951
                

                

                  
	Rathborne, R., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
716
                  
                

                

                  
	Ratjen, Lieut. C., Auckland
                  
	168
                

                

                  
	Rawnsley, S. and Co., Whangarei
                  
	551-559
                

                

                  
	Rawson, T., Helensville
                  
	
                    
638
                  
                

                

                  
	Ray, F. J., Thames
                  
	
                    
877
                  
                

                

                  
	Raymond, W. T., Rotorua
                  
	806
                

                

                  
	Raymond, W. T., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
934
                  
                

                

                  
	Razorback Creamery, The
                  
	698
                

                

                  
	Read, Late Capt. G. E., Gisborne
                  
	1002
                

                

                  
	Ready, Rev. W., Auckland
                  
	230
                

                

                  
	Record Reign Hotel (G. Anyon), Gisborne
                  
	991
                

                

                  
	Redan Hotel, Kaitaia (T. Taaffe)
                  
	598
                

                

                  
	Redstone, J. R., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
998
                  
                

                

                  
	Redwood, D. K., Thames
                  
	
                    
476
                  
                

                

                  
	Redwood, Late J., Thames
                  
	476
                

                

                  
	Reed, Late G. M., Auck.
                  
	270
                

                

                  
	Reed, Capt. J. R., Auck.
                  
	169-280
                

                

                  
	Reed, V. H., Kawakawa
                  
	569
                

                

                  
	Rees, A. W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
981
                  
                

                

                  
	Rees Bros., Gisborne
                  
	981
                

                

                  
	Rees, W. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
241
                  
                

                

                  
	Rees, W. L., Auckland
                  
	
                    
105
                  
                

                

                  
	Rees, W. L. L., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
981
                  
                

                

                  
	Reid, Late Rev. A., Auck.
                  
	232
                

                

                  
	Reid, G. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
243
                  
                

                

                  
	Reid J., Motutapu Island
                  
	534
                

                

                  
	Reid, Capt. Jas., Auck.
                  
	158-159
                

                

                  
	Reid, J. M., Waihopo
                  
	
                    
606
                  
                

                

                  
	Reid, Late J. W., Ahipara
                  
	604
                

                

                  
	Reid, Mrs M. W., Parnell
                  
	514
                

                

                  
	Reid, Dr. S. B., Auckland
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Reid, Late T., Waiuku
                  
	686
                

                

                  
	Reid, T. D., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
682
                  
                

                

                  
	Reid, W., Parnell
                  
	
                    
514
                  
                

                

                  
	Reid, Lieut. W. D., Auck.
                  
	163-164-177
                

                

                  
	Reid, W. D., Thames
                  
	
863-892
                

                

                  
	Reilly, J., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
901
                  
                

                

                  
	Rendell, J., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
747
                  
                

                

                  
	Renshaw, J., Thames
                  
	
180-
863
                

                

                  
	Reston, G. S., Auckland
                  
	457
                

                

                  
	Reynolds, E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
377
                  
                

                

                  
	Reynolds, E. and Co., Auck.
                  
	377
                

                

                  
	Reynolds, E. G. A., Gis.
                  
	
                    
989
                  
                

                

                  
	Reynolds, H., Tamahere
                  
	
                    
761
                  
                

                

                  
	Reynolds, J. J., Helensville
                  
	
                    
636
                  
                

                

                  
	Reynolds, R., Pukekura
                  
	781
                

                

                  
	Reynolds, R. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
1001
                  
                

                

                  
	Rhodes, E., Tamahere
                  
	
                    
759
                  
                

                

                  
	Rhodes, G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
338
                  
                

                

                  
	Rhodes, T. W., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
900
                  
                

                

                  
	Rice, T. D., Puhoi
                  
	
                    
539
                  
                

                

                  
	Rice, V. E., Auckland
                  
	
207-
217
                

                

                  
	Rich, F. A., Karangahake
                  
	468-
495
                

                

                  
	Richardson, Capt. J. R. S., Cambridge
                  
	767
                

                

                  
	Rickit and Adams, Taupo
                  
	819
                

                

                  
	Rickit and Co., Thames
                  
	892
                

                

                  
	Rickit, J., Taupo
                  
	
                    
819
                  
                

                

                  
	Riggs, A. C., Grey Lynn
                  
	
                    
525
                  
                

                

                  
	Riley, W., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
773
                  
                

                

                  
	Rimmer, Miss A., Auckland
                  
	263
                

                

                  
	Ring, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
437
                  
                

                

                  
	Ring, W. C., Te Aroha
                  
	826
                

                

                  
	Rishworth, J. N., Onehunga
                  
	
649-652
                

                

                  
	Riverhead Hotel
                  
	645
                

                

                  
	Riverhead Paper Mills, The
                  
	645
                

                

                  
	Roberton, Dr. E., Auckland
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Roberts, Dr. E. E., Camb.
                  
	771
                

                

                  
	Roberts, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
864
                  
                

                

                  
	Roberts, J. D. and Co., Auckland
                  
	327
                

                

                  
	Roberts, J. and S., Thames
                  
	892-910-926
                

                

                  
	Roberts, S., Waihi
                  
	
                    
926
                  
                

                

                  
	Roberts, V., Mercer
                  
	
                    
702
                  
                

                

                  
	Roberts, W. A., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
831
                  
                

                

                  
	Roberts, W. E., Waihi
                  
	
                    
922
                  
                

                

                  
	Robertson, E., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
809
                  
                

                

                  
	Robertson, E. and Co., Rot.
                  
	809
                

                

                  
	Robertson, H. S., Takapuna
                  
	
                    
537
                  
                

                

                  
	Robertson, John, Auckland
                  
	123
                

                

                  
	Robertson, Capt. J., Auck.
                  
	439
                

                

                  
	Robertson, J., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
768
                  
                

                

                  
	Robertson, Capt. J., One-hunga
                  
	654
                

                

                  
	Robertson, Capt. N. T., s.s. “Ohinemuri”
                  
	446-447
                

                

                  
	Robertson, R., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
987
                  
                

                

                  
	Robertson, Rev. T. F., Auck.
                  
	223
                

                

                  
	Robins, W., Waihi
                  
	
                    
921
                  
                

                

                  
	Robinson, A., Mangere
                  
	
                    
658
                  
                

                

                  
	Robinson, Chas, Auckland
                  
	186
                

                

                  
	Robinson, R. D. B., Gis
                  
	
                    
962
                  
                

                

                  
	Robinson, T. E., Par
[
unclear: u]a Bay
                  
	555
                

                

                  
	Robinson, T. J., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
810
                  
                

                

                  
	Robinson, Lieut. W. C., Auckland
                  
	162-163-182
                

                

                  
	Rob Roy Hotel, Waihi
                  
	923
                

                

                  
	Robson, G., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
829
                  
                

                

                  
	Robson, J. M., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
856
                  
                

                

                  
	Roche, F., Hikutaia
                  
	
                    
472
                  
                

                

                  
	Roohe, H., Ohaupo
                  
	720
                

                

                  
	Roche, H., Waihi
                  
	604
                

                

                  
	Rockliff, J. B., Coromandel
                  
	490
                

                

                  
	Rocky Nook Boardinghouse (J. Cross), Rotorua
                  
	808
                

                

                  
	Roe, A. W., Mamaku
                  
	
                    
798
                  
                

                

                  
	Rogers, H. F., Golden Cross
                  
	
                    
916
                  
                

                

                  
	Rogers, W., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
806
                  
                

                

                  
	Rookes, Col. C. C., Paeroa
                  
	856
                

                

                  
	Rooney, F., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
500
                  
                

                

                  
	Roose, E., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
674
                  
                

                

                  
	Ropata, Late Major, Gis.
                  
	969
                

                

                  
	Rose, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
176
                  
                

                

                  
	Rose, F., Tirau
                  
	795
                

                

                  
	Rose, Late R., Auckland
                  
	114
                

                

                  
	Roseland Hotel, Makaraka
                  
	1003
                

                

                  
	Roskruge, T. F., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
769
                  
                

                

                  
	Ross, A. Y., Waihi
                  
	
                    
922
                  
                

                

                  
	Ross, D., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
742
                  
                

                

                  
	Ross, G., Whangarei
                  
	544
                

                

                  
	Ross, J. J., Mamaku
                  
	
                    
797
                  
                

                

                  
	Ross, J., Waharoa
                  
	
                    
790
                  
                

                

                  
	Rosser, A., Auckland
                  
	142
                

                

                  
	Rosser, J., Grey Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	Rossiter, S. T., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
680
                  
                

                

                  
	Rothwell, Rev. B. F., Gis.
                  
	976
                

                

                  
	Rothwell, Miss E. M., Ham.
                  
	742
                

                

                  
	“Roto-o-rangi,” Cambridge
                  
	777
                

                

                  
	Roulston Bros., Pukekohe
                  
	673
                

                

                  
	Roulston, J., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
674
                  
                

                

                  
	Rountree, J., Te Kuiti
                  
	738
                

                

                  
	Rout, W., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
778
                  
                

                

                  
	Routly, J., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
674
                  
                

                

                  
	Routly, M. B., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
674
                  
                

                

                  
	Rowe, H. J., Te Aroha W.
                  
	
                    
833
                  
                

                

                  
	Rowe, J., Onehunga
                  
	649
                

                

                  
	Rowe, J., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
831
                  


                

                
                

                  
	Rowe, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
880
                  
                

                

                  
	Rowe, W. and Co., Waitekauri
                  
	914-916
                

                

                  
	Rowley, J. C., Mt. Eden
                  
	
                    
523
                  
                

                

                  
	Rowley, Hon. R. T. Taur.
                  
	938
                

                

                  
	Royal Ex. Assu. Corporation, Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Royal Hotel, Gisborne
                  
	991
                

                

                  
	Royal Insu. Co., Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Royal Mail Hotel, Auck.
                  
	363
                

                

                  
	Royal Mail Hotel, Coroman.
                  
	991
                

                

                  
	Royal Mail Hotel (S. J. Atkins), Paeroa
                  
	849
                

                

                  
	Rule, Rev. F., Paeroa
                  
	843
                

                

                  
	Runciman, Rev. D. W., Auckland
                  
	198
                

                

                  
	Runciman, Late Capt. J., Newstead
                  
	758
                

                

                  
	Runciman, W., Newstead
                  
	757
                

                

                  
	Russell, A. S., Auckland
                  
	
242-
299
                

                

                  
	Russell, Dr. B. T., Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Russell and Campbell, Auckland
                  
	281
                

                

                  
	Russell, Mrs M. L., Hukanui
                  
	756
                

                

                  
	Russell, T.
                  
	104
                

                

                  
	Russell, W., Hautapu
                  
	
                    
765
                  
                

                

                  
	Russell, W. M., Waihi
                  
	
                    
507
                  
                

                

                  
	Rust, A. M., Whangarei Heads
                  
	
                    
553
                  
                

                

                  
	Rutherford, J. G., Bombay
                  
	
252-
688
                

                

                  
	Ryan, J., Taupo
                  
	
                    
818
                  
                

                

                  
	Ryan, W. E., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
906
                  
                

                

                  
	Ryburn, E. S., Waihi
                  
	
                    
925
                  
                

                

                  
	Ryburn, J., Paterangi
                  
	
                    
722
                  
                

                

                  
	Ryburn, Rev. R. M., Gis.
                  
	975
                

                

                  
	Rylance, G. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
290
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	Sales, W. H., Totara N.
                  
	583
                

                

                  
	St. Mary's Convent, Auck.
                  
	211
                

                

                  
	Sainty, Capt. C., Auckland
                  
	141
                

                

                  
	Salmon, D., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
749
                  
                

                

                  
	Salmon, Hon. J.,
                  
	93
                

                

                  
	Salmon, R., Auckland
                  
	118
                

                

                  
	Salmon, Lieut. T. B., Auck.
                  
	161
                

                

                  
	Salmond, Miss M., Auck.
                  
	203
                

                

                  
	Sampson, G. W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
971
                  
                

                

                  
	Samson, T., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
809
                  
                

                

                  
	Samuel, E., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
938
                  
                

                

                  
	Sanday, W., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
687
                  
                

                

                  
	Sanders, F. J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
924
                  
                

                

                  
	Sandlant, H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
987
                  
                

                

                  
	Sandlant, H. and Co., Gis.
                  
	987
                

                

                  
	Sankey, H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
354
                  
                

                

                  
	Sargood, Son and Ewen, Auckland
                  
	399
                

                

                  
	Sarney, H. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
327
                  
                

                

                  
	Saulbrey, T. L., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
772
                  
                

                

                  
	Saunders, C. J., Paeroa
                  
	841
                

                

                  
	Savage, H. C., Waihi
                  
	
                    
927
                  
                

                

                  
	Sawyer, A., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
999
                  
                

                

                  
	Scelley, D., Waharoa
                  
	
                    
790
                  
                

                

                  
	Schischka, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
394
                  
                

                

                  
	Schmidt, George, Waerenga-a-hika
                  
	1008
                

                

                  
	Schmitt, A., Clevedon
                  
	
                    
665
                  
                

                

                  
	Schmitt, Late Prof., Auck.
                  
	264
                

                

                  
	Schofield, R. E., Thames
                  
	
                    
865
                  
                

                

                  
	Schofield, R. J. W., Morrinsville
                  
	785
                

                

                  
	Schofield, Capt. S. C., Auckland
                  
	157-189
                

                

                  
	Schofield and Son, Auck.
                  
	384
                

                

                  
	Schultze, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
362
                  
                

                

                  
	Scott, A. N., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
905
                  
                

                

                  
	Scott, E. J., s.s. “Wakatere”
                  
	
                    
447
                  
                

                

                  
	Scott, J., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
687
                  
                

                

                  
	Scott, J. L., Parnell
                  
	
                    
512
                  
                

                

                  
	Scott, R., Auckland
                  
	363
                

                

                  
	Scott, R., Thames
                  
	889
                

                

                  
	Scott, T. S., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
847
                  
                

                

                  
	Scott, W., Te Awamutu
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	Scott, W., Thames
                  
	
                    
866
                  
                

                

                  
	Scotter, W. G., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
1002
                  
                

                

                  
	Seaborn, J., Mercer
                  
	
                    
702
                  
                

                

                  
	Seabrook, H. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
352
                  
                

                

                  
	Seager Bros., Auckland
                  
	373
                

                

                  
	Seager, Late W., Auckland
                  
	374
                

                

                  
	Seager, W., C., G., H., Auckland
                  
	374
                

                

                  
	Searle Bros., Paeroa
                  
	850
                

                

                  
	Seccombe, A., Auckland
                  
	335-517
                

                

                  
	Seddon, F. R., Kirikiriroa
                  
	754
                

                

                  
	Seddon, R., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
935
                  
                

                

                  
	Seddon, S. T., Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	Seddon, W., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
811
                  
                

                

                  
	Seegner, C., Auckland
                  
	113
                

                

                  
	Seegner, Langguth and Co., Auckland
                  
	399
                

                

                  
	Segar, H. F., Auckland
                  
	176
                

                

                  
	Segar, Prof. H. W., Auck.
                  
	198
                

                

                  
	Selby, A., Auck.
                  
	
251-
1017-1018
                

                

                  
	Selby, W., Hautapu
                  
	
                    
765
                  
                

                

                  
	Selwyn, Bishop, Auckland
                  
	221
                

                

                  
	Semadeni, C., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
671
                  
                

                

                  
	Senn, E. V., Auckland
                  
	
                    
176
                  
                

                

                  
	Seon, C. W. P., Rawene
                  
	610–620
                

                

                  
	Seth-Smith, H. G., Auck.
                  
	
                    
281
                  
                

                

                  
	Settlers' Hotel, The, Mongonui
                  
	592
                

                

                  
	Severne, F. E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
183
                  
                

                

                  
	Sewell, Hon. H.,
                  
	94
                

                

                  
	Sexton, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
121
                  
                

                

                  
	Sexton, C. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
384
                  
                

                

                  
	Seymour, J., Te Kopuru
                  
	689
                

                

                  
	Shaldrick, J., Onehunga
                  
	649
                

                

                  
	Shannon, W. J., Kaitaia
                  
	
                    
599
                  
                

                

                  
	Sharland and Co., Ltd., Auckland
                  
	292
                

                

                  
	Sharman, Dr. E. W., Auck.
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Sharland, F. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
292
                  
                

                

                  
	Sharp, J., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
775
                  
                

                

                  
	Shaw, Lieut. A., Clevedon
                  
	665
                

                

                  
	Shaw, Captain D. J., Auck.
                  
	
                    
451
                  
                

                

                  
	Shaw, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
181
                  
                

                

                  
	Shaw, Lieut. H., Auckland
                  
	169
                

                

                  
	Shaw, W., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
848
                  
                

                

                  
	Sheat, J., Te Aroha W.
                  
	
                    
833
                  
                

                

                  
	Sheehan, Late Hon. J., Warkworth
                  
	540
                

                

                  
	Sheen, Mrs J., Gisborne
                  
	1002
                

                

                  
	Sheen, T., Waihi
                  
	
                    
924
                  
                

                

                  
	Sheffield, D. C., Pokeno
                  
	695
                

                

                  
	Shelton, F. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
992
                  
                

                

                  
	Shepherd, A., Katikati
                  
	929–1022
                

                

                  
	Shepherd, H. F., Coro
                  
	
                    
485
                  
                

                

                  
	Shepherd, H. G., Whangaroa
                  
	
                    
582
                  
                

                

                  
	Shepherd, J. G., Whangaroa
                  
	581
                

                

                  
	Shea, J. M., Auckland
                  
	110
                

                

                  
	Sheridan and Co., Gisborne
                  
	983
                

                

                  
	Sherley, J., Putararu
                  
	796
                

                

                  
	Sherlock, G., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
830
                  
                

                

                  
	Sherratt, Richard, Gisborne
                  
	1000
                

                

                  
	Sherratt, W. G., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
994
                  
                

                

                  
	Shillington, E. F., Auck.
                  
	
                    
122
                  
                

                

                  
	Shine, P., Kaukapakapa
                  
	630
                

                

                  
	Shipherd, A., Newmarket
                  
	518
                

                

                  
	Shotbolt, W., Waihi
                  
	
                    
923
                  
                

                

                  
	Sibbald, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
177
                  
                

                

                  
	Siddells, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
979
                  
                

                

                  
	Sievwright, W., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
981
                  
                

                

                  
	Simmelhag, E., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
714
                  
                

                

                  
	Simmonds, Rev. J. H., Auckland
                  
	206
                

                

                  
	Simmonds, R., Coromandel
                  
	896
                

                

                  
	Simmonds, W., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
912
                  
                

                

                  
	Simmons, H. L., Waihi
                  
	
                    
505
                  
                

                

                  
	Simpkins, G., Whakatane
                  
	943
                

                

                  
	Simpson, D., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
500
                  
                

                

                  
	Simpson, D. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
348
                  
                

                

                  
	Simpson, T. W., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
915
                  
                

                

                  
	Sims, C. F., Thames
                  
	
                    
483
                  
                

                

                  
	Simson, H. I., Auckland
                  
	418
                

                

                  
	Sinclair, R., Kaukapakapa
                  
	144–631
                

                

                  
	Sissons, Late Dr. R., Kamo
                  
	558
                

                

                  
	Skellern, R., Huntly
                  
	
                    
706
                  
                

                

                  
	Skelton, M. N., Pukete
                  
	717
                

                

                  
	Skinner, Capt. L. P., Auck.
                  
	166
                

                

                  
	Skinner, Maj. W. H., Auck.
                  
	160
                

                

                  
	Skipworth, F. G., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
983
                  
                

                

                  
	Slade, T., Hamilton
                  
	740
                

                

                  
	Slaney, W., Auckland
                  
	420
                

                

                  
	Slatter, J., Helensville
                  
	
                    
636
                  
                

                

                  
	Slevin, J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
926
                  
                

                

                  
	Sloane, T. H., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
807
                  
                

                

                  
	Sloman, J. F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
201
                  
                

                

                  
	Smallfield, Rev. P. S., Auckland
                  
	205-1017
                

                

                  
	Smart, D. L., Tuakau
                  
	690
                

                

                  
	Smart, Jas., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	Smiers, Rev. C., Rotorua
                  
	805
                

                

                  
	Smith, A., Onehunga
                  
	654
                

                

                  
	Smith, A., Thames
                  
	878
                

                

                  
	Smith, A., Totara North
                  
	
                    
584
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith and Caughey, Auck.
                  
	349
                

                

                  
	Smith, F., Katikati
                  
	929
                

                

                  
	Smith, F. Wilson, Auck.
                  
	
                    
281
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith, G., Waihi
                  
	926
                

                

                  
	Smith, Dr. G. T., Paeroa
                  
	846
                

                

                  
	Smith, H. R., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
999
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith, H. W., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
682
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith, J., Waikino
                  
	910
                

                

                  
	Smith, J. H., Thames
                  
	
                    
889
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith, J. H. and Co., Paeroa
                  
	850-889-924
                

                

                  
	Smith, L., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
971
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith, R., Thames
                  
	677
                

                

                  
	Smith, T., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
652
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith, T. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
275
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith, Rev. W., Te Awamutu
                  
	725
                

                

                  
	Smith, W. A., Waiuku
                  
	
                    
683
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith, W. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
131
                  
                

                

                  
	Smith, W. W., Patutahi
                  
	
                    
957
                  
                

                

                  
	Smyth, A. C., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
672
                  
                

                

                  
	Snow, H. L., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
912
                  
                

                

                  
	Snow, T., Waihi
                  
	
                    
506
                  
                

                

                  
	Somervell, J., Makauri
                  
	
                    
1010
                  
                

                

                  
	Somerville, Dr. J. E. W., Auckland
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Somerville, Rev. R., Grey Lynn
                  
	525
                

                

                  
	“Sonoma” (Mrs Cruickshank), Auckland
                  
	366
                

                

                  
	Soppet, F. W., Huntly
                  
	
                    
708
                  
                

                

                  
	Soppet, J., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
752
                  
                

                

                  
	Souter, W. and Co., Camb.
                  
	775
                

                

                  
	South Brit. F. and M. Insu. Company, Auckland
                  
	298
                

                

                  
	Spa, The, Taupo
                  
	818
                

                

                  
	Speer, S. T., Thames
                  
	
                    
885
                  
                

                

                  
	Speight, W. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
108
                  
                

                

                  
	Spence, M., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
936
                  
                

                

                  
	Spencer, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
406
                  
                

                

                  
	Spencer, P. and Co., Auck.
                  
	406
                

                

                  
	Spencer, R., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
805
                  
                

                

                  
	Spiers, S. J. C., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
993
                  
                

                

                  
	Spiers, W. A., Dargaville
                  
	624–627
                

                

                  
	Spinley, C. H., Helensville
                  
	634–635
                

                

                  
	Spinley, Lieut, J. C., Auck.
                  
	162
                

                

                  
	Spong, Mrs, Thames
                  
	870
                

                

                  
	Spong, W., Thames
                  
	
                    
869
                  
                

                

                  
	Spooner, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
439
                  
                

                

                  
	Spooner, G. and W., Tauranga
                  
	935
                

                

                  
	Spragg, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
345
                  
                

                

                  
	Springall, S. S., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
984
                  
                

                

                  
	Squire, Byron and Son, Auckland
                  
	266
                

                

                  
	Squires, H. L., Parua Bay
                  
	
                    
555
                  
                

                

                  
	Squirrell, G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
210
                  
                

                

                  
	Stacey, S., Warkworth
                  
	540
                

                

                  
	Stackpole, R., jun., Paeroa
                  
	841
                

                

                  
	Stafford, F., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
1000
                  
                

                

                  
	Staines, G., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	Stand. F. and M. Insu. Co. of N.Z., Auckland
                  
	300
                

                

                  
	Stanley, J., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
810
                  
                

                

                  
	Stanley, T., Te Aroha W
                  
	
                    
833
                  
                

                

                  
	Stanton, J., Ohaeawai
                  
	572
                

                

                  
	Stanyer, Constable C., Mercer
                  
	
                    
703
                  
                

                

                  
	Stapleton, Sergeant R., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
745
                  
                

                

                  
	Star and Garter Hotel, Coromandel
                  
	901
                

                

                  
	Steadman, T. H., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
547
                  
                

                

                  
	Steedman, J. B., Thames
                  
	
                    
893
                  
                

                

                  
	Steedman, J. D., Thames
                  
	867
                

                

                  
	Steele Bros., Rotorua
                  
	810
                

                

                  
	Steele, D. W., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
810
                  
                

                

                  
	Steele, L. J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
321
                  
                

                

                  
	Steele, S., Ohaupo
                  
	722-724
                

                

                  
	Steele, Late Capt. W., Hamilton
                  
	752
                

                

                  
	Steer, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
379
                  
                

                

                  
	Stehr, W. N., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
902
                  
                

                

                  
	Steggall, R. M., Matawhero
                  
	
                    
1006
                  
                

                

                  
	Stenbeck, Capt. E. A., ship “Empreza”
                  
	451
                

                

                  
	Stephens, C. W., Clevedon
                  
	
668-
1021
                

                

                  
	Stephenson, F., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
905
                  
                

                

                  
	Steuart and Fenn, Auckland
                  
	374
                

                

                  
	Steuart, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
374
                  
                

                

                  
	Steven, Mrs M. A., Patutahi
                  
	955
                

                

                  
	Stevens, J. L., Waihi
                  
	928
                

                

                  
	Stevens, P. E., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
743
                  
                

                

                  
	Stevenson, A., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
672
                  
                

                

                  
	Stevenson, F., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
991
                  
                

                

                  
	Stevenson, G., Waiohika
                  
	1009
                

                

                  
	Stevenson, R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
130
                  
                

                

                  
	Stewart, D., Helensville
                  
	
                    
637
                  
                

                

                  
	Stewart, F., Waihi
                  
	
                    
502
                  
                

                

                  
	Stewart, G. V., Katikati
                  
	929
                

                

                  
	Stewart, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
316
                  
                

                

                  
	Stewart, J. R. M., Auck.
                  
	
                    
301
                  
                

                

                  
	Stewart, J. S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
185
                  
                

                

                  
	Stewart, J. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
281
                  
                

                

                  
	Stewart, Lieut., Auckland
                  
	164
                

                

                  
	Stewart, Miss M., Thames
                  
	869
                

                

                  
	Stewart, R. D., Auckland
                  
	
                    
208
                  
                

                

                  
	Stewart, R. L., Auckland
                  
	404
                

                

                  
	Stichbury, Jas., Auckland
                  
	117-140
                

                

                  
	Stone Bros., Auckland
                  
	313
                

                

                  
	Stone, C. B., Auckland
                  
	
                    
439
                  
                

                

                  
	Stone, S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
384
                  
                

                

                  
	Stone, S. and Co., Auckland
                  
	381
                

                

                  
	Storey, A. J., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
747
                  
                

                

                  
	Storey, C. J., Te Awamutu
                  
	739
                

                

                  
	Stoupe, J., Onehunga
                  
	649
                

                

                  
	Strachan, M. H., Gisborne
                  
	1001
                

                

                  
	Straits M. Insu Co., Auck.
                  
	309
                

                

                  
	Stuart, J. D., s.s. “Aotea”
                  
	
                    
637
                  
                

                

                  
	Stubbing, B., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
803
                  
                

                

                  
	Stubbs and Co., Gisborne
                  
	984
                

                

                  
	Sturgeon, J., Paparata
                  
	
                    
699
                  
                

                

                  
	Sturges, W., Pukerimu
                  
	784
                

                

                  
	Styak, W. S., Thames
                  
	
                    
879
                  
                

                

                  
	Styles, F. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
184
                  
                

                

                  
	Subritzky, L. A., Awanui
                  
	
                    
599
                  
                

                

                  
	Suggate, C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
414
                  
                

                

                  
	Sullivan, W., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
842
                  
                

                

                  
	Sullivan, Captain W., s.s. “Taniwha”
                  
	
                    
447
                  
                

                

                  
	Sun Fire Office, Auckland
                  
	297
                

                

                  
	Sutherland, D. A., Onehunga
                  
	648
                

                

                  
	Sutherland, W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
385
                  
                

                

                  
	Sutherland, W. and Co., Auckland
                  
	384
                

                

                  
	Sutton, A., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
913
                  
                

                

                  
	Swainson, Hon. W.
                  
	93
                

                

                  
	Swales, J. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
130
                  
                

                

                  
	Swales, R. H., Auckland
                  
	354
                

                

                  
	Swanson, G., Whatawhata
                  
	718
                

                

                  
	Swanson, Hon. W., M.L.C. Auckland
                  
	89–105
                

                

                  
	Swarbrick, A., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
746
                  
                

                

                  
	Sweet, Dr. G. B., Whangarei
                  
	547
                

                

                  
	Sweet, T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
987
                  
                

                

                  
	Sykes, W. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
981
                  
                

                

                  
	Symes, L. T., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
982
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	Tahuroa Estate, Kiwitahi
                  
	789
                

                

                  
	Taitimu, Late H., Parengarenga
                  
	609
                

                

                  
	Talisman Hotel, Katikati
                  
	929–930
                

                

                  
	Tamahere Butter Factory
                  
	759
                

                

                  
	Tamahere Creamery
                  
	759
                

                

                  
	Tamaki Sawmill Co., Waihi
                  
	927
                

                

                  
	Taplin, O. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
301
                  
                

                

                  
	Tapper, Lieut. A. H., Auck
                  
	165
                

                

                  
	Tapper, J., Parnell
                  
	514
                

                

                  
	Tapper, J. and C., Parnell
                  
	514
                

                

                  
	Tanner, H. C. N., Auck
                  
	419
                

                

                  
	Tanner, T. B., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
898
                  
                

                

                  
	Tarawhiti, K. K., Huntly
                  
	
                    
707
                  
                

                

                  
	Tareheru Freezing Works, Gisborne
                  
	993
                

                

                  
	Tarry, J. W., Karapiro
                  
	
                    
779
                  
                

                

                  
	Tattersall, J., Te Aroha W
                  
	
                    
833
                  
                

                

                  
	Taupiri Coal Mines, Ltd., Huntly
                  
	708
                

                

                  
	Taupiri Hotel (Mrs R. E. Lovell)
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	Taupo Hotel
                  
	819
                

                

                  
	Tauwhare Cheese Factory
                  
	761
                

                

                  
	Tayler, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
334
                  
                

                

                  
	Taylor, Late A. K., Auck
                  
	440
                

                

                  
	Taylor, C. A., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
726
                  
                

                

                  
	Taylor, C. H., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
494
                  
                

                

                  
	Taylor, Hon. C. J.,
                  
	95
                

                

                  
	Taylor, G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
440
                  
                

                

                  
	Taylor, H. P., Birkenhead
                  
	527
                

                

                  
	Taylor, J., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
768
                  
                

                

                  
	Taylor, John, Auckland
                  
	140
                

                

                  
	Taylor, John, Auckland
                  
	184
                

                

                  
	Taylor, J. E., Mangere
                  
	
                    
658
                  
                

                

                  
	Taylor, J. E., Waihi
                  
	926
                

                

                  
	Taylor, J. H., Thames
                  
	867
                

                

                  
	Taylor, J. J., Kamo
                  
	558
                

                

                  
	Taylor, Late Rev. R., Waimate N.
                  
	574
                

                

                  
	Taylor, T., s.s. “Rotomahana”
                  
	
                    
448
                  
                

                

                  
	Taylor, T., Waihou
                  
	823
                

                

                  
	Taylor, T. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
179
                  
                

                

                  
	Taylor, W., Taupiri
                  
	712
                

                

                  
	Taylor, W., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
730
                  
                

                

                  
	Teague, J., Walton
                  
	
                    
790
                  
                

                

                  
	Te Arai Station, Te Arai Bridge
                  
	1005
                

                

                  
	“Te Aroha and Ohinemuri News,” The
                  
	828
                

                

                  
	Teasdale, J. B., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
729
                  
                

                

                  
	Teat, F. J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
996
                  
                

                

                  
	Teat and Friar, Ormond
                  
	953–998
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu Creamery
                  
	726
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu Dairy Factory
                  
	726
                

                

                  
	Te Awamutu Hotel
                  
	727
                

                

                  
	Teasdale, A., Gisborne
                  
	985
                

                

                  
	Te Heuheu, T., Taupo
                  
	818
                

                

                  
	Templer, F. H., Grey Lynn
                  
	
                    
526
                  
                

                

                  
	Tennent, C. F. E., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
912
                  
                

                

                  
	Terrace Hotel (T. McKinley), Taupo
                  
	819
                

                

                  
	Tetley, J. W., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
907
                  
                

                

                  
	Tetley, W., Paeroa
                  
	
846-847
                

                

                  
	Tewsley, H. C., Parnell
                  
	511
                

                

                  
	“Thames Advertiser”
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Thames Gas Company
                  
	892
                

                

                  
	Thames Hotel (Mrs E. Luks), Auckland
                  
	364
                

                

                  
	Thames Iron Works (C. Judd)
                  
	888
                

                

                  
	Thames Land, Building, and Investment Society
                  
	884
                

                

                  
	Thames and Mersey M.I.C., Auckland
                  
	300
                

                

                  
	Thom, D. M., Whakatane
                  
	
                    
944
                  
                

                

                  
	Thom, P., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
806
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomas, Prof. A. P. W., Auckland
                  
	199
                

                

                  
	Thomas, Rev, B. L., Devonport
                  
	532
                

                

                  
	Thomas, H. W. E., Thames
                  
	
                    
877
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomas, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
474
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomas, R. G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
273
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomas, Late W., Auckland
                  
	440
                

                

                  
	Thomas, W., Parnel
                  
	511
                

                

                  
	Thomas, W. A., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
899
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomas, Prof. W. E., Auckland
                  
	199-217-263
                

                

                  
	Thomas, W. H., Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	Thompson, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
248
                  
                

                

                  
	Thompson Bros. and Co., Auckland
                  
	378
                

                

                  
	Thompson, E., Aratapu
                  
	
                    
629
                  
                

                

                  
	Thompson, H. H., Mongonui
                  
	590
                

                

                  
	Thompson, M., Riverhead
                  
	
                    
645
                  
                

                

                  
	Thompson, R., M.H.R., Whangarei
                  
	180–542
                

                

                  
	Thompson, Hon. T., Auck.
                  
	111-129
                

                

                  
	Thompson, W., Birkenhead
                  
	528
                

                

                  
	Thompson, W. F., Victoria Valley
                  
	597
                

                

                  
	Thompson, Lieut. W. J. A., Auckland
                  
	169
                

                

                  
	Thomson, Capt. A., Gis.
                  
	965
                

                

                  
	Thomson, A., Waihi
                  
	926
                

                

                  
	Thomson, A. and Co., Waihi
                  
	926
                

                

                  
	Thomson, C., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
971
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomson, C., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
949
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomson, J., Patutahi
                  
	
                    
955
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomson, Late J., Tauranga
                  
	933
                

                

                  
	Thomson, P. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
1019
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomson, W., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
732
                  
                

                

                  
	Thomson, W., Shaftesbury
                  
	836
                

                

                  
	Thorburn, A. S., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
501
                  
                

                

                  
	Thorburn, W. L., Junr., Thames
                  
	480
                

                

                  
	Thorburn, W. L., senr., Thames
                  
	891
                

                

                  
	Thorley, G. H., Auckland
                  
	357
                

                

                  
	Thorncombe Estate, Te Awamutu
                  
	731
                

                

                  
	Thorne, W., Auckland
                  
	
133-
281
                

                

                  
	Thornes, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
140
                  
                

                

                  
	Thornton, W., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
777
                  
                

                

                  
	Thorp, A. J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
856
                  
                

                

                  
	Thorp, J. W., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
855
                  
                

                

                  
	Thorpe, H., Paterangi
                  
	
                    
722
                  
                

                

                  
	Tibbs, J. W., Auckland
                  
	
                    
200
                  
                

                

                  
	Tickelpenny, S., Tauwhare
                  
	
                    
762
                  
                

                

                  
	Tierney, R., Thames
                  
	
                    
480
                  
                

                

                  
	Tims, T. H., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
938
                  
                

                

                  
	Tippin, C., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
753
                  
                

                

                  
	Tobin, C. E. O. H., Taupo
                  
	818
                

                

                  
	Todd, Lieut, T. J. M., Auck.
                  
	170
                

                

                  
	Tole, Hon. J. A., Auck.
                  
	107-274
                

                

                  
	Tombleson, J., Gisborne
                  
	966
                

                

                  
	Tonks, E., Auckland
                  
	106-125-128
                

                

                  
	Tonson, Garlick Co., Ltd., Auckland
                  
	359
                

                

                  
	Torrens, H. T., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
850
                  
                

                

                  
	Tough, L. H., Waitekauri
                  
	500
                

                

                  
	Towers, W. J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
848
                  
                

                

                  
	Townley, J., Gisborne
                  
	
960-
989
                

                

                  
	Towsey, A., Auckland
                  
	
217-
263
                

                

                  
	Training College, Auck.
                  
	212–213
                

                

                  
	Tramway Hotel, Karangahake
                  
	906
                

                

                  
	Travellers' Rest Hotel, Walpapakauri
                  
	601
                

                

                  
	Tregoweth, W., Karangah
                  
	
                    
495
                  
                

                

                  
	Tremain, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
327
                  
                

                

                  
	Tremaine, G., Kamo
                  
	
                    
558
                  
                

                

                  
	Trembath, F., Thames
                  
	860
                

                

                  
	Trenwith, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
234
                  
                

                

                  
	Trenwith, J., Auckland
                  
	
130-
385
                

                

                  
	Trevithick, J. G., Auckland
                  
	
                    
201
                  
                

                

                  
	Triphook, J. R., Whangarei
                  
	
                    
546
                  
                

                

                  
	Tristram, H. E., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
751
                  
                

                

                  
	Tristram, J. Q., Kihikihi
                  
	
                    
735
                  
                

                

                  
	Trounson, J., Dargaville
                  
	
                    
625
                  
                

                

                  
	Trust, J. I., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
787
                  
                

                

                  
	Tuakau Creamery
                  
	691
                

                

                  
	Tuakau Family Hotel (W. J. Priest)
                  
	691
                

                

                  
	Tubbs, Prof. H. A. Talbot, Auckland
                  
	198
                

                

                  
	Tucker, Capt. W. H., Gis.
                  
	963
                

                

                  
	Tudehope, R., Auckland
                  
	120-375
                

                

                  
	Tupetupe Station, Ohaeawai
                  
	573
                

                

                  
	Turnbull, J., Morrinsville
                  
	
                    
788
                  
                

                

                  
	Turner, A., Huntly
                  
	709
                

                

                  
	Turner, C. B., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
803
                  
                

                

                  
	Turner, E., Auckland
                  
	293
                

                

                  
	Turner, Late G. R., Auck
                  
	441
                

                

                  
	Turner, J. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
202
                  
                

                

                  
	Turner, T. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
122
                  
                

                

                  
	Twentyman, R., Thames
                  
	
                    
881
                  
                

                

                  
	Tyer, A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
417
                  
                

                

                  
	Tyer, A. and Son, Auck
                  
	416
                

                

                  
	Tylden, C. R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
281
                  
                

                

                  
	Tyler, Adjutant, Auckland
                  
	237
                

                

                  
	Tynan, J. M., Waihopo
                  
	605
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	Ulph, W., Waihi
                  
	
                    
505
                  
                

                

                  
	Upton, J. H., Auckland
                  
	
126-
130
                

                

                  
	Union S.S. Co. of N.Z., Auckland
                  
	449
                

                

                  
	United Insu. Co., The, Auckland
                  
	300
                

                

                  
	United Press Assoc., Auck
                  
	269
                

                

                  
	Usher, T. G., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
671
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	Vaile, P. A., Auckland
                  
	
                    
281
                  
                

                

                  
	Vaile, S., Auckland
                  
	
                    
303
                  
                

                

                  
	Vant, W., Ngaruawahia
                  
	
                    
716
                  
                

                

                  
	Vant, W., Paparata
                  
	
                    
699
                  
                

                

                  
	Vause, G., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
650
                  
                

                

                  
	Vause, J. P., Te Awamutu
                  
	
                    
725
                  
                

                

                  
	Verrall, Miss A. H., Auck
                  
	264
                

                

                  
	Vialoux, F., Coromandel
                  
	
                    
488
                  
                

                

                  
	Vickerman, A. H., Auck
                  
	
                    
178
                  
                

                

                  
	Vickerman, C. R., Auck
                  
	
                    
185
                  
                

                

                  
	Vickers, E. J., Te Awamutu
                  
	724
                

                

                  
	Victoria F. and M. Insu. Co., Auckland
                  
	300
                

                

                  
	Vine, E. A., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
803
                  
                

                

                  
	Vinson, C. W., Maungatawhiri Valley
                  
	700
                

                

                  
	Vogel, Sir Julius
                  
	105
                

                

                  
	Volkner, Late Rev. K. S., Opotiki
                  
	946
                

                

                  
	Vuglar, G., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
907
                  
                

                

                  
	Vuglar, T. P., Waihi
                  
	
                    
925
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	Waddel, W. R., Auck.
                  
	
126-
129
                

                

                  
	Waddeli, D. G., Karangahake
                  
	492
                

                

                  
	Waddington, Dr. E., Morrinsville
                  
	786
                

                

                  
	Wade, Late H. G., Auck
                  
	441
                

                

                  
	Wade, H. L., Auckland
                  
	
                    
317
                  
                

                

                  
	Waharoa Cheese Factory
                  
	790
                

                

                  
	“Waihi Miner,” Waihi
                  
	920
                

                

                  
	Waihi Public Baths
                  
	926
                

                

                  
	Waihou Creamery
                  
	823
                

                

                  
	Waihou Hotel
                  
	823
                

                

                  
	“Waikato Argus,” The, Hamilton
                  
	745
                

                

                  
	Waikato Hotel, Hamilton
                  
	749
                

                

                  
	“Waikato Times,” The, Hamilton
                  
	741
                

                

                  
	Waiorongomai Hotel
                  
	835
                

                

                  
	Waiotapu Hotel, Rotorua
                  
	814
                

                

                  
	Wairoa S. Butter Factory, Clevedon
                  
	666
                

                

                  
	“Wairoro,” The, Waitangi Falls
                  
	567
                

                

                  
	Wake, C. A., Mongonui
                  
	
                    
592
                  
                

                

                  
	Walker, A. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
250
                  
                

                

                  
	Walker, Dr. Hy., Auckland
                  
	132-162-218-285
                

                

                  
	Walker, J. A., Devonport
                  
	531
                

                

                  
	Walker, J. W., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
833
                  
                

                

                  
	Walker, R., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
912
                  
                

                

                  
	Walker, T., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
773
                  
                

                

                  
	Walker, T., Pukekura
                  
	
                    
782
                  
                

                

                  
	Walker, T., Tuakau
                  
	
                    
693
                  
                

                

                  
	Walker, Capt. W. R. C., Auckland
                  
	164-208
                

                

                  
	Wall, H. H., Waerenga-o-kuri
                  
	958
                

                

                  
	Wallace, A., Cambridge
                  
	
                    
779
                  
                

                

                  
	Wallace, D. B., Kohukohu
                  
	
                    
622
                  
                

                

                  
	Wallace, D. M., Te Aroha
                  
	830
                

                

                  
	Wallace, Late J., Mangere
                  
	658
                

                

                  
	Wallace, R., Mangere
                  
	
                    
658
                  
                

                

                  
	Wallace, W., Birkenhead
                  
	528
                

                

                  
	Wallace, Lieut. W., Cambridge
                  
	768
                

                

                  
	Wallis and Caley, Auckland
                  
	385
                

                

                  
	Wallis, Rev. J., Auckland
                  
	106
                

                

                  
	Wallis, Capt. L., Clevedon
                  
	665
                

                

                  
	Wallis, R. M., Auckland
                  
	386
                

                

                  
	Wallis, Mrs W. H., Kaikohe
                  
	575
                

                

                  
	Walls, J., Paeroa
                  
	
                    
850
                  
                

                

                  
	Walls, Rev. T., Te Aroha
                  
	827
                

                

                  
	Walmsley, Capt. F. J., Paeroa
                  
	842
                

                

                  
	Walmsley, S. B. F., Waihi
                  
	
                    
928
                  
                

                

                  
	Walsh, H., Clevedon
                  
	
                    
664
                  
                

                

                  
	Walsh, J. H., Thames
                  
	
                    
890
                  
                

                

                  
	Walsh, M., Kaukapakapa
                  
	
                    
631
                  
                

                

                  
	Walter, T., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
752
                  
                

                

                  
	Walters, G., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
907
                  
                

                

                  
	Walters, J. R., Auckland
                  
	
                    
441
                  
                

                

                  
	Walton, Late H., Whangarei
                  
	542
                

                

                  
	Walton, J. L., Thames
                  
	
                    
868
                  
                

                

                  
	Walton, R., Auckland
                  
	
223-
382-383
                

                

                  
	Warbrick, A., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
804
                  
                

                

                  
	Ward, F. T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
301
                  
                

                

                  
	Ward, Capt. H. D. O.,
                  
	13
                

                

                  
	Waring, A. H., Taupiri
                  
	711
                

                

                  
	Warner, H. N. Auckland
                  
	442
                

                

                  
	Warner, J. N., Auckland
                  
	
                    
224
                  
                

                

                  
	Warnock, Lieu. J. A., Auckland
                  
	168
                

                

                  
	Warnock, R. T., Grey Lynn
                  
	
                    
524
                  
                

                

                  
	Warren, Geo., Auckland
                  
	290
                

                

                  
	Warren, H., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
992
                  
                

                

                  
	Warren, J., Gisborne
                  
	966
                

                

                  
	Warren, J. Y., Auckland
                  
	
                    
122
                  
                

                

                  
	Warren, Young, Auckland
                  
	131
                

                

                  
	Warwick Arms (J. B. Mason), Thames
                  
	886
                

                

                  
	Waterman, J. S., Thames
                  
	
                    
862
                  
                

                

                  
	Waters, Capt. A., Clevedon
                  
	666
                

                

                  
	Watkins, K., Auckland
                  
	
                    
201
                  
                

                

                  
	Watson, A. B., Waitekauri
                  
	
                    
499
                  
                

                

                  
	Watson, Dr. C. C., Auckland
                  
	164-285
                

                

                  
	Watson, Lieut. G. J., Auck
                  
	161
                

                

                  
	Watt, G., Hautapu
                  
	763
                

                

                  
	Watts, A., Hamilton
                  
	
                    
748
                  
                

                

                  
	Watts, I., Auckland
                  
	414
                

                

                  
	Watts, J. W., Onehunga
                  
	
                    
652
                  
                

                

                  
	Waugh, Late C., Paparata
                  
	699
                

                

                  
	Way, G., Tamahere
                  
	
                    
760
                  
                

                

                  
	Waymouth, E., Parnell
                  
	
                    
511
                  
                

                

                  
	Waymouth, J., Auckland
                  
	
                    
130
                  
                

                

                  
	Waymouth, O. B., Auck
                  
	313
                

                

                  
	Waymouth and Son, Auck
                  
	313
                

                

                  
	Wearne, J. E., Waihi
                  
	
                    
507
                  
                

                

                  
	Wearne, J. J., Waihi
                  
	
                    
507
                  
                

                

                  
	Weatherall, Rev. D., Waihi
                  
	919
                

                

                  
	Webb, Rev. Canon, Gis.
                  
	974
                

                

                  
	Webb, G. K., Auckland
                  
	
                    
265
                  
                

                

                  
	Webb, T., Aratapu
                  
	
                    
628
                  
                

                

                  
	Webb, T. H., Auckland
                  
	25
                

                

                  
	Webb, T. S. Aratapu
                  
	629
                

                

                  
	Webber, A., Grey Lynn
                  
	
                    
525
                  
                

                

                  
	Webber, J. W., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
804
                  
                

                

                  
	Webster, J. Opononi
                  
	616
                

                

                  
	Webster, J. C., Devonport
                  
	
                    
531
                  
                

                

                  
	Webster, J. D., Auck
                  
	
243-
401
                

                

                  
	Webster, R. F., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
673
                  
                

                

                  
	Webster, Dr. W., Auckland
                  
	190
                

                

                  
	Webster, Rev. W. H. Waiuku
                  
	680
                

                

                  
	Weir, P., Thames
                  
	
                    
478
                  
                

                

                  
	Welham, A. R., Aratapu
                  
	
                    
629
                  


                

                
                

                  
	Wellington Park Stud, Panmure
                  
	660
                

                

                  
	Wells, C. A., Te Kopuru
                  
	639
                

                

                  
	Wells, H., Auckland
                  
	236
                

                

                  
	Wells, J. D., Waihi
                  
	
                    
922
                  
                

                

                  
	Wells, T., Cambridge
                  
	767-768-774
                

                

                  
	Wells, T., Waihi
                  
	917
                

                

                  
	Wells, T. G., Thames
                  
	
                    
890
                  
                

                

                  
	Wells, T. U., Auckland
                  
	
                    
210
                  
                

                

                  
	West, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
888
                  
                

                

                  
	Westenra, R., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
933
                  
                

                

                  
	Westney, W., Mangere
                  
	659
                

                

                  
	Westney, W., junr., Mangere
                  
	659
                

                

                  
	Weston, S. J., s.s. “Waiotahi”
                  
	149
                

                

                  
	Wethered, A., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
969
                  
                

                

                  
	Wheeler, A. T. F., Hamilton
                  
	741-758
                

                

                  
	Whelan, T., Waihi
                  
	
                    
920
                  
                

                

                  
	Whimp, H., Opuawhanga
                  
	
                    
562
                  
                

                

                  
	Whinray, J., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
962
                  
                

                

                  
	Whitaker, A. E., Auckland
                  
	
                    
281
                  
                

                

                  
	Whitaker and Baume, Auck
                  
	281
                

                

                  
	Whitaker, Sir F.,
                  
	41-42-94-105
                

                

                  
	Whitaker, J. R., Helensville
                  
	
                    
635
                  
                

                

                  
	Whitburn, S., Manawaru
                  
	836
                

                

                  
	Whitby, J. E. Y., Gisborne
                  
	998
                

                

                  
	Whitcombe, G. H., Tauranga
                  
	
                    
939
                  
                

                

                  
	White, A. L. Birkenhead
                  
	528
                

                

                  
	White, C., Muriwai
                  
	1011
                

                

                  
	White, E. J., Birkenhead
                  
	528
                

                

                  
	White, Hy., Auckland
                  
	282
                

                

                  
	White, Late J., Auckland
                  
	442
                

                

                  
	White, J., Opotiki
                  
	
                    
949
                  
                

                

                  
	White, R. C., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
804
                  
                

                

                  
	White, R. W., Grey Lynn
                  
	524
                

                

                  
	White, T. H., Auckland
                  
	
                    
317
                  
                

                

                  
	White, W. B., Auck
                  
	133-165
                

                

                  
	White, W. J., Auckland
                  
	377-
378
                

                

                  
	Whitham, R. C., Mount Albert
                  
	
                    
523
                  
                

                

                  
	Whitehead, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
410
                  
                

                

                  
	Whitehead, M., Thames
                  
	
                    
864
                  
                

                

                  
	Whitehouse, S. T., Thames
                  
	
                    
885
                  
                

                

                  
	Whitelaw, J., Kamo
                  
	
                    
558
                  
                

                

                  
	Whitley, W. S., Auckland
                  
	394
                

                

                  
	Whitney, A. C., Auckland
                  
	170
                

                

                  
	Whitney, Capt. A. N., Auck
                  
	170
                

                

                  
	Whitney, Capt. J., Auck
                  
	158-170
                

                

                  
	Whittington, A. J., Auck
                  
	
                    
386
                  
                

                

                  
	Whyte, Hon. J. B., Hamilton
                  
	739
                

                

                  
	Wick, H. C., Auckland
                  
	
                    
442
                  
                

                

                  
	Wigg, T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
379
                  
                

                

                  
	Wight, A. E., Karangahake
                  
	
                    
907
                  
                

                

                  
	Wight, E. S., Huntly
                  
	
                    
708
                  
                

                

                  
	Wilde, F. A., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
829
                  
                

                

                  
	Wildman and Lyell, Auck
                  
	407
                

                

                  
	Wildman, Mrs, Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Wildman, T., Thames
                  
	875
                

                

                  
	Wilkins, Dr. J., Auckland
                  
	285
                

                

                  
	Wilkinson, G., Oruru
                  
	
                    
595
                  
                

                

                  
	Wilkinson, T., Pukekohe
                  
	
                    
675
                  
                

                

                  
	Wilkinson, W., Oruru
                  
	
                    
595
                  
                

                

                  
	Williams, E. M., Auckland
                  
	
                    
275
                  
                

                

                  
	Williams, F., Auckland
                  
	
                    
390
                  
                

                

                  
	Williams, G., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
990
                  
                

                

                  
	Williams, G. L., Te A'mutu
                  
	727
                

                

                  
	Williams, Rev. H., Auck
                  
	234
                

                

                  
	Williams, Hon. H., Ohaeawai
                  
	572
                

                

                  
	Williams, Late J., Hikurangi
                  
	562
                

                

                  
	Williams, J., Te Aroha
                  
	
                    
831
                  
                

                

                  
	Williams, J., Thames
                  
	
                    
482
                  
                

                

                  
	Williams, J. C., Kopu
                  
	857
                

                

                  
	Williams and Kettle, Gis
                  
	996
                

                

                  
	Williams, L. F., Gisborne
                  
	
                    
978
                  
                

                

                  
	Williams, N. T., Auckland
                  
	
                    
297
                  
                

                

                  
	Williams, T., Auckland
                  
	128
                

                

                  
	Williams, Dr. T. O., Auck
                  
	283
                

                

                  
	Williams, W. A., Rotorua
                  
	
                    
809
                  
                

                

                  
	Williams, Rev. W. J., Auck
                  
	229
                

                

                  
	Williamson, C. R. and Co., Auckland
                  
	314
                

                

                  
	Williamson, F. H., Auck
                  
	
                    
281
                  
                

                

                  
	Williamson, J.,
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The Auckland Institute Of Architects

	
The Auckland Chamber Of Commerce

	
Mr. Samuel Vaile

	
Mr. Henry Goulstone 

p. 304

	
The Auckland Employers' Association

	
Mr. F. G. Ewington

	
The Auckland Pharmaceutical Association

	
The Auckland Provincial Industrial Association

	
Trade Societies



	
Professional, Commercial and Industrial 

p. 308

	
Accountants, Auctioneers, Etc 
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Abbott, John 
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Alexander, Edward Beatty

	
Arthur, Richard and Co.

	
Barr Brown, R.

	
Carr, Robert Charles

	
Clayton, Matthew Thomas 

p. 310

	
Cook, Thomas and Son

	
Cotton, Henry E.

	
Craig, Joseph James

	
Davidge, William Thomas

	
Garland, George Joseph 

p. 312

	
Grosvenor, Charles

	
Baldwin And Rayward

	
Mr. Edward Brooke-Smith

	
Lennox, James Marshall

	
Lewis, Gabriel and Co 

p. 313

	
Morrison, W. B. A.

	
Stone Brothers

	
Waymouth And Son

	
Mr. Waymouth

	
Williamson, C. R. and Co. 

p. 314



	
Architects, Civil Engineers, Etc 
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Baker, S. E. W. 
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Bartley, Edward

	
Bell, Edmund

	
Goldsbro', George Selwyn 

p. 316

	
Keals, R. And Sons

	
Mahoney, E. And Sons

	
Stewart, James

	
Wade, H. L 

p. 317

	
White, Thomas Henry

	
Wilson, Arthur P.



	
Artists and Photographers 

p. 318

	
Bartlett, Wiliam Henry 

p. 318

	
Hanna, John Robert

	
Morton, John Carnduff

	
Goldie, Charles Frederick

	
Steele, Louis John

	
Wright, Frank



	
Bakers and Confectioners, Etc 

p. 323

	
Barber, Robert 

p. 323

	
Burton, J.

	
Davis, James

	
Davis, Jabez

	
Everitt, William Benjamin

	
Jowers, Mrs E. 

p. 324

	
King, Thomas

	
Laurie, Charles George 

p. 325

	
Mckeown, Edward

	
Marriott, James William

	
Mennie And Dey

	
Roberts, J. D. & Co 

p. 327

	
Sarney, Horace Joseph

	
Tremain, John

	
Wilson, Ralph 

p. 328

	
Wilson, Thomas

	
Wright, George William



	
Brewers, Maltsters, Wine and Spirit Merchants 

p. 329

	
The Campbell And Ehrenfried Company 

p. 329

	
Mr. Louis Ehrenfried

	
The Captain Cook Brewery

	
Mr. Moss Davis 

p. 334

	
Mr. Archdale Tayler

	
Great Northern Brewery

	
Mr. John Mowbray

	
Mr. A. Seccombe

	
Mr. H. M. Jervis

	
Mr. Philip Luckie

	
Mr. James Brewin

	
Hipkins And Coutts

	
Mr. John Joseph Hipkins 

p. 336

	
Mr. Alfred Coutts



	
Builders and Contractors 

p. 337

	
Grandison, Archibald 

p. 337

	
Harris, Frank

	
Hatcher, George

	
Holland, James Job

	
Hutchison, William E.

	
Payne, John Joseph

	
Rhodes, George



	
Coachbuilders, Wheelwrights, Etc 

p. 340

	
The Cousins And Atkin Carriage Factory 

p. 340

	
Cousins And Cousins 

p. 341

	
Flynn, D. and Co

	
Mr. Daniel Flynn

	
Mr. Michael Flynn

	
Patterson, John 

p. 342



	
Cordial Manufacturers — Grey, John And Sons, 

p. 343

	
Dairy Industry 

p. 344

	
Ambury, English and Co 

p. 344

	
Mr. S. J. Ambury 

p. 345

	
New Zealand Dairy Association

	
Mr. Wesley Spragg



	
Decorators, Oil and Colour Dealers 

p. 346

	
Bennett, Matthew John 

p. 346

	
Fricker And Sons

	
Mr. Walter Fricker

	
Hansen, Carl C. 

p. 347

	
Henderson, John

	
Morris, A. H.

	
Phillipps, W., And Son 

p. 348

	
Mr. John Phillipps

	
Simpson, Duncan Mcgregor



	
Drapers, Clothiers, Etc

	
Drapers

	
Clothiers, Dyers, Hatters, Etc 

p. 350

	
Tailors



	
Financial Institutions 

p. 356

	
The Public Trust Department 

p. 356

	
Auckland Stock Exchange

	
Auckland Co-Operative Terminating Building Society

	
New Zealand Mortgage, Loan, And Discount Bank

	
The Northern Estate Agency And Finance Company, Limited

	
Mr. James Jamison

	
The New Zealand Commercial Exchange Company

	
Mr. Michael Flurscheim

	
Mr. Laurence Johnstone

	
The Auckland Farmers' Co-Operative Society, Limited

	
Mr. G. E. Thorley



	
Furnishing Trade 

p. 358

	
Barton, Mcgill and Co. 

p. 358

	
George Bros

	
Mr. W. H. George

	
Mr. J. R. George

	
Little, Cornelius

	
Tonson Garlick Company, Ltd. 

p. 359

	
Mr. Jonathan Tonson Garlick



	
Hotels, Boardinghouses, Etc 

p. 361

	
Central Hotel 

p. 361

	
Grosvenor Hotel

	
Mr. Alexander Schultze

	
Naval And Family Hotel

	
Royal Mail Hotel

	
Mr. Robert Scott

	
Thames Hotel

	
Boardinghouses



	Iron and Brass Founders

	
Bach, T., and Co 

p. 367

	
Mr. T. Bach

	
Mr. R. Poulgrain

	
Broady, J. and Co

	
Mr. John Broady 

p. 368

	
Mr. Charles Allan

	
Mr. Alfred Martin

	
Chambers, John And Son

	
Mr. John Chambers 

p. 369

	
Mr. J. M. Chambers

	
Collings, C. And A

	
Mr. Charles Collings

	
Mr. Arthur Collings

	
Fraser, George And Sons 

p. 370

	
Mr. George Fraser

	
Mr. George Fraser 

p. 371

	
Handley, Charles

	
Harvey And Sons

	
Henderson, Frank and Co.

	
Mr. Frank Henderson 

p. 372

	
Hyauiason, David

	
McCoskrie And Son

	
Mr. Samuel Mccoskrie

	
Mr. John Mccoskrie

	
Masefield, T. T. and Co.

	
Nicholls, Reuben

	
Phillips, Henry

	
Seagar Bros

	
Messrs William, Charles, George, And Henry Seagar 

p. 374

	
Mr. William Seagar

	
Steuart And Fenn

	
Mr. W. Steuart

	
Mr. Ernest James Fenn

	
Tudehope, Robert 

p. 375

	
Wilson, Walter

	
Ironmongers and Hardware Merchants 

p. 376

	
Anderson, H. F., and Co.

	
Briscoe and Co., Ltd.

	
Mr. John Macneil

	
Burns, John and Co.

	
Dexter And Crozier 

p. 377

	
Lambourne, Walter

	
Porter, E. and Co.

	
Reynolds, E. and Co.

	
Mr. E. Reynolds

	
Thompson Bros

	
White, Wilton J.



	
Laundries 

p. 379

	
Auckland Steam Laundry 

p. 379

	
Mr. John Steer

	
Wigg, Thomas



	
Leather Trade 

p. 380

	
Astley And Son 

p. 380

	
Crocker, Benjamin

	
Davy, Henry

	
Fleming, C. C.

	
Ireland Bros

	
Kapai Boot Factory

	
Mr. George Alexander Coles 

p. 381

	
Mr. Frank Jagger

	
Knight, J. I 

p. 382

	
The Lion Boot Factory

	
Mr. Richard Walton

	
The Northern Boot And Shoe Manufacturing Company, Ltd.

	
Mr. Thomas Hodgson

	
Prosser, Thomas

	
Schofield And Son

	
Sexton, Charles Henry

	
Stone, S. and Co

	
Mr. Samuel Stone

	
Sutherland, W. and Co.

	
Mr. Josiah Lawry

	
Mr. William Sutherland

	
Trenwith, John

	
Wallis And Caley

	
Mr. Wallis 

p. 386

	
Mr. Caley

	
Whittington, Alfred James

	
Wiseman, J. and Son

	
Brookes, Alfred H.



	
Meat Trade 

p. 387

	
Adam, J. and Co 

p. 387

	
Mr. John Adam

	
Mr. John Munro Fraser

	
The Auckland Freezing Works

	
Mr. A. Bevins 

p. 388

	
Fenton and Co

	
Mr. W. A. Fenton

	
Gray, George Henry

	
Hellaby, R. And W. 

p. 389

	
Knox, William

	
Lewis, Walter

	
McElwain, George

	
Norgrove, Charles

	
Williams, Frank 

p. 390

	
Young, Walter

	
Christian, Nathaniel



	
Kauri Gum Industry

	
[introduction]

	
Arnold, Cheney and Co

	
Bond And Bell

	
Carr, Johnston and Co.

	
Edmonds, Henry

	
Garlick And Lyon

	
Gilfillan, J. B. and Co.

	
Heather, Arthur

	
Heather, Roberton and Co

	
Henderson, J. W

	
Holmes And Grierson

	
Hutchinson, C.J., and Co.

	
Lichtenstein And Arnoldson

	
Mr. Max Lichtenstein 

p. 393

	
Mr. Louis Arnoldson

	
Miller, Henry

	
Mitchelson, E., and Co.

	
Morton, H. B., and Co.

	
Nathan, A. H

	
Nathan, L. D., and Co.

	
Patterson, George Warren Shaw

	
Schischka, John 

p. 394

	
Whitley, W. S.

	
Wilson, P., and Co.

	
Winterbourne S., and Co.



	
Merchants, Warehousemen, Etc 

p. 395

	
Abbott, Oram, and Co 

p. 395

	
Brown, Barrett and Co

	
Brown, Campbell and Co.

	
Carr, Johnston and Co.

	
Clark, Archibald And Sons. Ltd. 

p. 396

	
Mr. Matthew Anderson Clark

	
Entrican, A. J. and Co

	
Mr. James Cuthbertson Entrican

	
Hayman, P., and Co

	
Henderson And Macfarlane

	
Hilion, George Philip

	
Hodgson, James

	
Hooton, John Peter

	
Hopkins, Richard Harris

	
Macfarlane, J. B.

	
Macky, Logan, Steen and Co.

	
Nathan, L. D. and Co

	
The New Zealand Loan And Mercantile Agency Company 

p. 399

	
Sargood, Son, and Ewen

	
Seegner, Langguth and Co.



	
Nurserymen and Fruiterers

	
Frick, William

	
Yates, Arthur

	
Webster, Josiah Daniel 

p. 401



	
Potters, Tile and Brick Manufacturers — Wilson, J. and Co., 

p. 402

	
Printers, Stationers, Paper Merchants, Etc 

p. 403

	
Abel Dykes 

p. 403

	
Mr. R. S. Abel

	
Mr. J. Dykes

	
Brown And Stewart

	
Mr. Brown 

p. 404

	
Mr. Stewart

	
Collins, William, Sons and Co., Ltd.

	
Field, J.H.

	
Given, Andrew, and Co.

	
Mr. D. S. Cattanach

	
Graham, Arthur

	
Leighton, J. F. And Son

	
Mr. James Francis Leighton 

p. 406

	
Mr. Frank W. Leighton

	
Spencer, Albert

	
Spencer, P. and Co.

	
Wildman And Lyell 

p. 407

	
Mr. George Hescott



	
Storekeepers, Grocers, Etc

	
City Flour Mills

	
Mr. James Hume

	
Doonin, Thomas William

	
Ellyett, A. J.

	
Gunson, W., and Co.

	
Laxon, Neill and Co.

	
The Northern Roller Milling Company

	
Peet, W. And J. 

p. 410

	
Whitehead, Frederick

	
Winn, William 

p. 411

	
Hallett, Henry John David



	
Sundry Manufacturers 

p. 412

	
The Auckland Gas Company, Ltd 

p. 412

	
Mr. Edward Brendon Parsons

	
Mr. Isaac Watts

	
Mr. Mortimer Fairs

	
Mr. Ernest Ashton

	
Mr. Chenery Suggate

	
Colonial Sugar Refining Company

	
Downs, W. H 

p. 415

	
Mr. William Downs

	
The Kapai Corn Broom Company, Ltd

	
Plummer, Charles Bernard

	
Tyer, A. and Son

	
Mr. A. Tyer 

p. 417



	
Wheel Traffic

	
The Auckland Electric Tramways Company

	
The Auckland Forwarding And Parcel Delivery Company

	
Mr. Horace Ian Simson

	
Cammell, George Samuel

	
Tanner, H. C. N.

	
Winstone, W. And G



	
Watch and Jewellery Trade

	
Bartlett, Alfred G.

	
Howden, James

	
Larsen, N. F. B.

	
Maud, William

	
Slaney, Walter



	
Wood Trade 

p. 421

	
Bagnall Bros. and Co. 

p. 421

	
Goldie, David

	
Kauri Timber Company

	
Macklow Bros

	
Mander And Bradley

	
Mr. Mander 

p. 422

	
Mr. Samuel Bradley

	
The Mitchelson Timber Company

	
Mr. Thomas Hulme Barstow

	
Murdoch, C. P. And Sons

	
Mr. Charles P. Murdoch

	
Parker, Lamb. and Co



	Old Colonists, Ex-Civil Servants and other Settlers

	
[introduction] 

p. 423

	
Mr. John Abbott

	
Mr. William Aitken

	
Mr. Albert James Allom

	
Mr. Charles Atkin

	
Mr. William Parr Baker 

p. 425

	
Mr. R. C. Barstow

	
Mr. Robert Bartley 

p. 426

	
Mr. Frederick Battley

	
Mr. James Barclay Blaikie

	
Mr. Edmund Henry Bold

	
Captain I. J. Burgess

	
Mr. R. S. Carter

	
Mr. Archibald Clements

	
Mr. William John Conelly

	
Mr. Michael Corcoran

	
Mr. William Cruickshank 

p. 429

	
Captain Dacre

	
Mr. Henry Ellis

	
Mr. Edwin Fairburn 

p. 430

	
Mr. John Gordon

	
Mr. Robert Hall

	
Mr. Luther Halliwell

	
Captain J. H. Rogers-Harrison

	
Colonel the Hon. Theodore Minet Haultain 

p. 431

	
Mr. James Hickson

	
Mr. Henry Hirst

	
Captain Howard Hutton

	
Mr. Edward Isaacs

	
Mr. Henry Mahon Jervis

	
Mr. John Kirkwood

	
Mr. Charles Knox

	
Mr. Renke Friedreich Luks 

p. 434

	
Mr. Charles Mcdonald

	
Mr. Charles Cookman McMillan 

p. 435

	
Mr. George Main

	
Mr. Albin Martin

	
Mr. William Hurst Martin

	
Mr. J. P. Du Moulin

	
Mr. David Nolan

	
Mr. Allan O'Neill

	
Mr. Robert Peace 

p. 437

	
Mr. George Patrick Pierce

	
Mr. George Sinclair Reston

	
Mr. Charles Ring

	
Mr. John Robertson 

p. 439

	
Mr. Charles Spooner

	
Mr. Charles Burrell Stone

	
Mr. Allan Kerr Taylor 

p. 440

	
Mr. George Taylor

	
Mr. William Thomas

	
Mr. George Robert Turner 

p. 441

	
Mr. Henry Greensmith Wade

	
Mr. James Robert Walters

	
Mr. Horatio Nelson Warner 

p. 442

	
Mr. John White

	
Mr. Henry Christian Wick

	
Mr. William Winstone

	
Mr. Harry Wrigg

	
Mr. Henry Wrigg



	Shipping

	
[introduction] 

p. 444

	
New Zealand Shipping Company, Limited

	
Mr. Charles Vince Houghton

	
Northern Steamship Company, Limited

	
Mr. William Laird 

p. 445

	
Captain William Bettis

	
Captain H. A. Day

	
Captain William Farquhar

	
Captain Robert Huia Gibbons

	
Captain Charles Hopkins

	
Captain Neil Taylor Robertson

	
Captain William Sullivan

	
Mr. Thomas Braidwood

	
Mr. Edward John Scott

	
Mr. Thomas Taylor 

p. 448

	
Mr. Alfred Everard Macindoe

	
Mr. Arthur Mainland

	
Mr. S. J. Weston 

p. 449

	
Mr. William Blackwood

	
Mr. John Mcleod

	
Mr. John Devere Marmion

	
Mr. Edward Wrigley

	
Union Steamship Company Of New Zealand, Limited

	
Captain John Abram 

p. 450

	
Captain James Stewart Adams

	
Captain Adolphus Martin

	
Captain David John Shaw 

p. 451

	
Captain Edward A. Stenbeck

	
Mr. Thomas Gerard

	
Devonport Steam Ferry Company

	
Mr. E. W. Alison

	
Bailey And Lowe

	
Mr. Walter Bailey

	
Mr. William Lowe

	
Bailey, Charles

	
Henderson And Spraggon 

p. 455

	
Mr. Adam Henderson

	
Logan Brothers 

p. 456

	
Logan, Robert

	
Niccol, George Turnbull



	Mining

	
[introduction]

	
The Waiotahi Gold Mining Company, Limited 

p. 463

	
Mr. George Schwartz Kissling

	
Abbott, Frederick William

	
Argall, William Henry 

p. 464

	
Gilfillan, Henry

	
MacDonnell, Dennis Gilmore

	
Macky, Samuel Cochrane 

p. 465

	
Matthews, Seering Hall

	
Morris, Georage Charles Waudby

	
Gray, William

	
Armstrong, Matthew Watson 

p. 466

	
Endean, John

	
Bewick, Moreing and Co.

	
Mr. Alfred Harper Curtis

	
Cheal, Peter Edward

	
Fleming, Malcolm

	
Gordon, Henry A.

	
Harrison and Foster 

p. 468

	
Mr. J. W. Harrison

	
Mr. A. L. Foster

	
Kelly, A. M. and F. V.

	
McConnell, Quentin Addison

	
Rich, Frank A.

	
Wilson, Hugh Munro

	
Churton, William Henry

	
Jackson, Joshua

	
King, Jesse 

p. 470

	
Lusk, Newall Butler

	
Galbraith, D. R. Shirreff

	
Mr. Cecil Hartridge 

p. 471

	
Mr. Jules George Wilson

	
Mr. John McCombie

	
Waiorongomai — Hardy, Edwin Henry, 

p. 472

	
Hikutaia

	
Thames

	
Coromandel 

p. 484

	
Karangahake 

p. 491

	
Waikino

	
Waitekauri

	
Waihi



	Suburbs of Auckland

	
Parnell 

p. 509

	
Newmarket 

p. 516

	
Remuera

	
Mount Eden 

p. 523

	
Mount Albert

	
Grey Lynn

	
Birkenhead

	
Devonport 

p. 530

	
Motutapu Island 

p. 534

	
Waiheke Island





	The Northern Districts

	
[introduction] 
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Takapuna 

p. 537

	
Takapuna 

p. 537

	
Robertson, Henry S.

	
Mackay, Robert 

p. 538



	
Wade

	
Wade

	
Lees, Thomas, and Sons



	
Puhoi 

p. 539

	
Puhoi 

p. 539

	
Puhoi Public School

	
Mr. Thomas Dominic Rice



	
Warkworth 

p. 540

	
Warkworth 

p. 540

	
Mr. John Sheehan

	
Warkworth Post And Telegraph Office

	
The Warkworth Courthouse And Police Station

	
Mounted Constable Samuel Stacey

	
Wilson, J. and Co.

	
Mr. Nathaniel Wilson

	
Mr. James T. Wilson

	
Mr. William J. Wilson



	
Waipu

	
Waipu

	
Mcleod, Donald Murray



	Whangarei

	
Whangarei 

p. 542

	
Sir Samuel Osborne Gibbes

	
Mr. Henry Walton

	
Mr. Robert Thompson

	
The Borough Of Whangarei

	
His Worship The Mayor, Mr. James Miller Killen 

p. 543

	
Councillor Thomas McClintock

	
Councillor George Clark-Walker

	
Mr. James McKinnon

	
The Whangarei County Council

	
Councillor George Ross

	
Mr. Daniel Cook Wilson

	
Mr. Thomas Alfred Crisp

	
Mr. Joseph Mallabond

	
Whangarei Railway Station

	
Mr. Andrew Duncan

	
The High School, Whangarei

	
Mr. Roger Lupton

	
Bispham, Mrs. C.

	
Triphook, John Robert

	
The Whangarei Brass Band

	
Field, Edward Thurlow

	
Steadman, Thomas Herbert

	
Killen, James Miller

	
Sweet, Geoffrey Bruton

	
Pickmere, A. R.

	
Cowdell, Joseph T.

	
Hoey, Samuel 

p. 548

	
Whangarei Hotel

	
Mr. McMahon

	
Allaways Temperance Hotel 

p. 549

	
Langham House

	
Chissell, Charles Henry

	
Courtney, Alfred Charles

	
Burroughs, W

	
Halliday, George 

p. 550

	
The New Zealand Portland Cement Company, Ltd.

	
Mr. Alan Hall

	
Mr. Henry Archibald Going 

p. 551

	
Foote Bros

	
Rawnsley, S., and Co

	
De Boutillier, E.

	
Edwards, John Adams

	
Goodall, William

	
Mr. Edouard Eugene Cafler

	
Mr. Robert Usher Harden 

p. 553

	
Mr. Thomas Coyle

	
Whangarei Heads



	
Parua Bay 

p. 554

	
Parua Bay 

p. 554

	
The Parua No. 2 School

	
The Grahamtown Public School

	
Miss Violet Kingsford

	
The Settlers' Club

	
Davidson, Daniel

	
Robinson, Thomas Edward

	
Woodlands

	
Mr. Horace Lyne Squires

	
Captain Donald MacLeod 

p. 556

	
Mr. William James Macleod



	
Kamo 

p. 557

	
Kamo 

p. 557

	
Kamo Pioneer Warui Mineral Springs

	
Mr. Taylor 

p. 558

	
Sissons, Richard

	
Meinnes, Murdoch

	
Barnes And Sissons

	
Whitelaw, James

	
Tremaine, George



	
Poroti 

p. 559

	
Poroti 

p. 559

	
The Poroti Native School

	
Mr. Jack H. Broughton

	
Rawnsley, Samuel, and Co.

	
Owen, Arthur



	
Hikurangi

	
Hikurangi

	
The Hikurangi School

	
Mr. Joseph Wooller

	
Hikurangi Coal Company

	
Mr. Thomas Pearson Moody 

p. 561

	
Howie, Robert

	
Carter, William

	
Mr. Donald MacLeod 

p. 562

	
Mr. John Williams



	
Opuawhanga

	
Opuawhanga

	
Whimp, Henry



	
Opuawhanga and Whananaki 

p. 563

	
Hope Station 

p. 563

	
Mr. William Foote



	
Whananaki

	
Whananaki

	
Morris, Thomas Henry Winwood

	
Palmer, John 

p. 564

	
Willowbank

	
Mr. John Charles Johnson



	
Puhipuhi

	
Puhipuhi

	
Eruera Nehua



	
Russell 

p. 565

	
Russell 

p. 565

	
The Post And Telegraph Office

	
Mr. John Hollywood

	
Masefield Bros

	
Joyce, Thomas

	
Mrs. Hannah King Letheridge



	
Waitangi Falls

	
Waitangi Falls

	
The “Wairoro,”

	
Mr. Louis Clifford Goffe 

p. 568



	
Kawakawa

	
Kawakawa

	
Bay Of Islands County

	
Councillor J. A. L. Hall 

p. 569

	
Councillor H. S. Ludbrook

	
Mr. Vernon Herbert Reed

	
Kawakawa Railway Station

	
Mr. Robert Betts Peat

	
Mr. Herbert Cummings

	
The “Northern Luminary”

	
Mr. Francis MacKenzie

	
Reed, Vernon Herbert

	
Dowling, William Patrick

	
Ngaheia Station

	
Mr. James Close



	
Opua

	
Opua

	
Morris, Antonio



	
Te Ahuahu 

p. 571

	
Te Ahuahu 

p. 571

	
Knox, Thomas



	
Ngawha

	
Ngawha

	
Dickeson Bros

	
Mr. John McNamara



	
Ohaeawai 

p. 572

	
Ohaeawai 

p. 572

	
The Hon. Henry Williams

	
The Ohaeawai Sale Yards

	
Stanton, Joseph

	
Woods, George Henry

	
Bindon, John Waller

	
Pouerua Station

	
Mr. William Williams Ludbrook

	
Tupetupe Station

	
Mr. Henry Samuel Ludbrook



	
Waimate North 

p. 574

	
Waimate North 

p. 574

	
Waimate North Public School

	
The Rev. Richard Taylor

	
Clarke, Henry Tacy



	
Kaikohe 

p. 575

	
Kaikohe 

p. 575

	
The Kaikohe Post Office

	
Mr. Edward Routh Coxhead

	
Mrs W. H. Wallis

	
Purdy, James

	
Guerin, Thomas 

p. 576

	
Dickeson, G. F.

	
Edwards, Alfred William

	
Mr. Arthur Holyoake Morrison

	
Wright, Albert



	
Okaihau

	
Okaihau

	
Buchanan, Thomas George



	
Utakura Valley

	
Utakura Valley

	
Gower, Joseph



	
Kerikeri

	
Kerikeri

	
Black, John

	
Hearn, William 

p. 579



	
Whangaroa

	
Whangaroa

	
Whangaroa County 

p. 580

	
Whangaroa County Council

	
Mr. John Begg

	
The Whangaroa Post And Telegraph Office

	
Mr. Joseph Francis Fabian

	
Campbell, Robert

	
Shepherd John Goodwin 

p. 581

	
The Kauri Timber Company's Sawmills

	
Mr. James Thwaytes Bramley

	
Mr. Curtis Moore

	
Shepherd, Henry George 

p. 582



	
Totara North

	
Totara North

	
Totara North Public School

	
Molesworth And Saies

	
Mr. W. H. Saies

	
Mr. Dover Nassau O'Doyer Molesworth

	
Mr. Albert Smith

	
Lane And Brown

	
Mr. Thomas Major Lane

	
Mr. William Brown

	
Mr. John Gow

	
Lawrence, W. R., and Co 

p. 586

	
Mr. Lawrence

	
Mr. E. G. Douglas

	
Mr. W. P. Brown

	
Mr. Patrick Campbell



	
Kaeo 

p. 587

	
Kaeo 

p. 587

	
Kaeo Public Library

	
Kaeo Football Association

	
Nisbet, Alexander

	
Nisbet, William Arthur

	
Halliday, James

	
Hare Bros 

p. 588

	
Mr. Joseph Hare

	
Mr. Joseph R. Hare

	
Halliday, Mrs. S

	
Hayes, Thomas

	
Woodside Farm

	
Mr. William Murray 

p. 589

	
Bramley, William

	
Mr. Richard Edward Gibbs



	
Otoroa

	
Otoroa

	
Mr. Frederick Ernest Fairburn



	
Mongonui

	
Mongonui

	
Mr. R. M. Houston

	
Mongonui County

	
Mr. Henry Havelock Thompson

	
The Post And Telegraph Offices 

p. 591

	
Mr. Alexander Dougal Clemett

	
O'Neill, William Campbell

	
Irvine, John

	
The Settler's Hotel

	
Mr. Thomas Berghan

	
Garton, William

	
Wake, Charles Augustus

	
Wyles, Robert

	
Mr. James Reid Hendry

	
Kauri Timber Company's Sawmills

	
Mimiwhangata Station

	
Mr. Roger John Corbett 

p. 594

	
Mr. John Kitchen



	
Oruru 

p. 595

	
Oruru 

p. 595

	
Maria, Nicholas

	
Wilkinson, George

	
Wilkinson, William



	
Peria 

p. 596

	
Peria 

p. 596

	
The Peria Public Hall

	
Peria Accommodation House

	
Flavell, Joseph

	
Hazard, William



	
Fairburn

	
Fairburn

	
Mckay, Alexander



	
Victoria Valley 

p. 597

	
Victoria Valley 

p. 597

	
Thompson. William Frederick



	
Kaitaia

	
Kaitaia

	
The Post Office

	
Mr. Richard Henry Matthews

	
Church Of England

	
Mr. William George Puckey

	
Redan Hotel

	
Grigg, William Robert

	
Grassmere Station 
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Mr. George Edward Hollis

	
Shannon, William Joseph



	
Awanui

	
Awanui

	
The Awanui Public School

	
Mr. J. H. Hudson

	
Subritzky, Ludolph Anton

	
Glaudet, Lionel Henry



	
Mangatete

	
Mangatete

	
Burgoyne, William



	
Waipapakauri

	
Waipapakauri

	
The Traveller's Rest Hotel

	
Evans, Joseph



	
Ahipara

	
Ahipara

	
Berghan, Mrs. James

	
Bowman, John

	
Mr. James Berghan

	
Mr. James Work Reid



	
Waihopo

	
Waihopo

	
Tynan, John Magee

	
Reid, John Maloney 

p. 606



	
Herekino

	
Herekino

	
Gardiner, Christopher P.



	
Parengarenga

	
Parengarenga

	
Mr. Samuel Yates

	
Mr. Hemi Taitimu 

p. 609

	
Yates, Mrs. Samuel

	
Evans, Edward

	
Mr. Timoti Puhipi



	
Rawene

	
Rawene

	
Mr. Hone Heke

	
Hokianga County

	
Councillor Cornelius William Pellatt Seon

	
Mr. Alfred Cooke Yarborough

	
Mr. Ernest Mcleod 

p. 611

	
Mr. George Gardiner Menzies

	
Hokianga Pilot Service

	
Mr. George Martin

	
Mr. John Martin

	
The Rawene Post Office

	
Mr. Thomas Lumsden Millar

	
Lester Bros

	
Mr. Charles B. Lester

	
The Rev. James Buller

	
Mr. Alexander Chapman 

p. 612

	
Mr. James Mcleod

	
Mr. Frederick Edward Maning



	
Taheke

	
Taheke

	
Glover, George

	
Mr. Robert Davidson



	
Opononi

	
Opononi

	
The Opononi Post And Telephone Office 

p. 615

	
Mr. Bernard George Howe

	
Opononi Hotel And Sanatorium

	
Mr. Alfred Spry Andrewes

	
Mr. John Webster



	
Waione

	
Waione

	
Bolton, Charles Frederick



	
Whirinaki

	
Whirinaki

	
The Whirinaki Native Technical School 

p. 619

	
Mr. Charles Peter Winkelmann



	
Kohukohu

	
Kohukohu

	
Seon, Cornelius William Pellatt

	
Halliwell Bros

	
Lester Bros

	
Mr. Robert Ernest Lester

	
Wallace, David Brown



	
Dargaville

	
Dargaville

	
Dargaville Post And Telegraph Office

	
Mr. Joseph Hay

	
Mr. Abraham Absolum

	
Dargaville Public School

	
Mr. Frank Percy Burton

	
St. George Lodge

	
Mr. Norman Alexander McLeod

	
National Bank Of New Zealand

	
Mr. Herbert Gould

	
Brown, William John

	
Spiers, William Archibald

	
Matthews, Frederick William

	
Mitchelson, E., and Co.
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 Aucklanders have many reasons for revering the memory of Captain Hobson, the first governor of this colony, and certainly his ample provision in the matter of public reserves alone entitles
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him to a more prominent place in the history of the Northern Capital than has hitherto been accorded him. Those who are familiar with the sufferings of Wellington through the land-grabbing propensities of her founders, have some idea of the incalculable service rendered by Governor Hobson in his determined opposition to the land-sharking, which, as soon as it became known that Auckland was to be the capital of the new colony, was so audaciously attempted. Of the many reserves which have been kept from the hands of the spoiler, few are more beautiful than the grounds surrounding Government House. The area is about ten acres, with an extensive frontage on the north to Waterloo Quadrant, the east and west sides fronting respectively Symonds and Princes Streets. The house faces about north-east, and between it and the Quadrant are beautiful flowers, a splendid lawn, and heavy clusters of oak trees and native evergreens.



At the rear are the stables and a fine grass paddock of about three acres, separated from the road beyond by the only remnant of the old “Barracks” wall. These beautiful grounds are, by permission of His Excellency, and subject to the control of the custodian, thrown open to the public on Mondays. Wednesdays, and Fridays, from 10 a.m. to 6 p.m. This privilege is, needless to say, not vouchsafed when Government House is occupied by his Excellency's family. Making reasonable allowance for the age of Government House, and the conditions of the colony at the time of its erection. It is a most creditable structure. The main entrance is from the centre of the front, and from the spacious hall are reached, on the right and left respectively, the drawing and dining rooms. Both of these are exceedingly large, lofty, and well lighted, and the ball room at their rear is nearly fifty feet wide by a length of 100 feet. The principal bedroom is also very fine, as are many of the other apartments. There are in all some thirty-five rooms, from the majority of which very beautiful views are obtainable. This is particularly remarkable in the case of the principal bedroom, from which Rangitoto, the North Shore, and the Intervening waters are in full view. It may be mentioned that Auckland has always been a favourite place of residence with the governors of the Colony, and this is by no means surprising to those who are familiar with the past and present capitals. Though the Auckland house is greatly inferior to the more recent establishment, this is much more than compensated for by the vastly more beautiful grounds and the very favourable contrast in the matters of climate and scenery. It is quite natural that Auckland should have what seems to be more than a fair share of attention. Auckland is the only town except the capital that possesses a Government House, and, Wellington being the theatre of action, relaxation must be sought else-where. When Auckland was the capital, and therefore the scene of action, Sir George Grey instituted his island home for relaxation, and there were not wanting those who complained that His Excellency of those days spent rather too much time at Kawau. For those who are not obliged to climb the hills on “Shanks' ponies,” and who may pass the heat of midsummer days in the cool shade of spreading oaks and sycamores, Auckland, with its beautiful yachting harbour and otherwise charming surroundings, possesses wonderful attractions almost unknown in the other parts of New Zealand. Successive governments are, therefore, to be complimented on their unanimity, as to the wisdom of preserving intact the Government House at Auckland.
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Uchter John Mark,
             

 K.C.M.G., Earl of Ranfurly, Viscount Northland, and Baron Welles, of Duncannon, County Tyrone, Ireland, and Baron Ranfurly, of Ramphorlie, County Renfrew, United Kingdom, was born at Guernsey



on the 14th of August, 1856. Lord Ranfurly is the second son of Thomas, third Earl of Ranfurly, by his wife Harriet, daughter of John Rimmington, Esq., of Broomhead Hall, County York. Becoming a cadet on board H.M.S. “Britannia,” he passed for the Royal Navy, but, giving up a naval career, entered Trinity College, Cambridge, at the age of eighteen. His Excellency, who is fifth Earl, succeeded his brother, who died on the 10th of May, 1875, while on a shooting expedition in Abyssinia. On the 10th of February, 1880, he was married to the Hon. Constance Elizabeth Caulfield, only child of James Alfred, seventh Viscount Charlemont, C.B., and has one son — Viscount Northland, born in 1882, and two daughters — the Ladies Constance and Eileen Knox. The title of Viscount Northland dates back to 1791, and that of Baron Welles ten years earlier. Lord Ranfurly holds a seat in the House of Lords as Baron Ranfurly, of the United Kingdom. The blood of the Royal House of Scotland flows in the veins of His Excellency, for his ancestor Uchtred, who flourished late in the twelfth century, married Princess Adama, daughter of the Earl of Huntingdon, their son being granted the barony of Knox. The family assumed this name, the famous reformer. John Knox, being one of its descendants. It is interesting to know that Lord Ranfurly is a lineal descendant, on the grand-maternal side, of the great Quaker. William Penn, of whom there are many fine relies at Northland House. His Excellency became a Lord-in-Waiting to Her Majesty the Queen in 1895, which honourable position he retained till his appointment as Governor of New Zealand in 1897. In recognition of her Diamond Jubilee, Her Majesty presented the Earl of Ranfurly and the rest of her Household with a medal, and conferred on him the additional honour of Knight Commander of St. Michael and St. George. He is also a Knight of Justice of the order of the Hospital of St. John of Jerusalem—an order to which he has for many years belonged, and whose chief work in these modern times is the St. John's Ambulance Association, which has branches all over England, and in many of the colonies, including New Zealand. At grand functions such as that of Jubilee Day, this association has several corps at work along the most crowded routes, and their temporary hospital tents prove, from the number of cases they have to treat, that this branch is most useful to the public. The headquarters of the order are at St. John's Gate, Clerkenwell—the same spot where in 1381 the ancient “Hospital” was burned at Wat Tyler's insurrection, which the Knights immediately rebuilt. The order, which was established to defend the Holy Sepulchre, was the great bulwark of Christendom against the invasion of the Turks. His Excellency is a member of the following well-known London clubs:—Carlton. Bachelors', and Travellers'; also of the Royal Yacht Squadron (Cowes) — the only club permitted to fly the white ensign,


[image: Northland House, Ireland.]

Northland House, Ireland.





as in Her Majesty's navy. His seat is know as Northland House, Dungannon, Tyrone, Ireland. Northland House—a stately, rambling pile of buildings of the Georgian period—was completed by the Governor's grandfather in 1841, previously to which the family residence had been Dungannon Park—a smaller but picturesque building, since used as a farm house. This mansion—Northland House—is full of objects of interest, including a painting by Peter Vandyke of Sir Thomas and Lady Juliana Penn (Lord Ranfurly's great-great-grand-parents, and son and daughter-in-law of the celebrated William Penn, founder of Pennsylvania). Viscountess Pery, as Mary Queen of Scots (His Lordship's great-great-grandmother), Mrs. Stuart (daughter of Sir T. Penn). Lady Lonsdale (an aunt of Mary Juliana, Countess of Ranfurly), and many others, besides a large quantity of lovely Chelsea. Mandarin-Worcester, and Berlin china. The park itself is a beautifully wooded, undulating stretch of country, possessing a superb avenue of beeches, a fine laured drive of a mile in length, a lovely lake where first rate skating may be enjoyed in winter, and an eighteen hole golf course. The Earl is greatly esteemed by his tenantry at Dungannon, and it may be remarked that evictions are almost unknown on his estates. On two occasions prior to his appointment to New Zealand, Lord Ranfurly passed through the Colony as a tourist, and was greatly impressed with the beauty of its scenery. At Mildura, in the colony of Victoria, the Governor possesses a fine orchard—chiefly oranges and lemons—which is admitted to be one of the best in the colonies. It is not a part of the Chaffey Bros. Irrigation Colonies, but has an irrigation plant of its own. His Lordship—who spent some time on this estate—is considered to be an authority on fruit-growing. He has also long been interested in mining matters—not as a speculator, but as a student at the Geological Institute, Jermyn Street, where he went through several courses in treating ores and minerals, which he followed up by taking a few practical field excursions. Speaking of the appointment of His Excellency, who arrived at Wellington on the 10th of August, 1897, a London paper says, “Lord Ranfurly's statesmanlike capacity, bonhomie, love of sport, and charm of manner, mark him out as especially suited to the post.” He is six feet in height, rather youthful in appearance, and possesses a characteristic affability which is most pleasing.
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The Countess of Ranfurly
              
              is the only child of James Alfred, seventh Viscount Charlemont, C.B., and her mother, who died in 1888, was the youngest daughter of the third Lord Castlemaine. One of her ancestors—the famous Sir Toby Caulfeild—fought for Queen Elizabeth against the valiant O'Neil, Earl of Tyrone, and his heir was created Lord Charlemont by James I. in 1620. Another was a distinguished Irish patriot, and raised the famous “Irish Volunteers” of the eighteenth century. The “Gentlewoman”



of June 5th, 1897, says that “Lady Ranfurly's delicate, patrician beauty, and sweet and gracious presence, youthfulness, kindliness of heart, vivacity, conversational powers, and perfect taste in dress, will assuredly render her as beloved and popular in New Zealand as in English society.”

          

          

            
            


              

Captain Dudley Alexander,
              Private Secretary to His Excellency the Earl of Ranfurly, K.C.M.G., is a son of Henry Alexander. Esq., of Forkhill, County Armagh, and of Lady Louisa Alexander, daughter of the second Earl of Ranfurly, and is first cousin to the Governor. Born in 1863, Captain Alexander was educated at Marlborough College, and, choosing a military career, entered the Militia in 1882. Two years later he passed his examinations, and became a lieutenant in the fourteenth West Yorkshire Regiment; for three years, before his appointment as private secretary to Lord Ranfurly in June, 1897, he was adjutant of the Bedfordshire Volunteers. He is a member of the United Service Club. London.

          

          

            
            

The Hon. 

Charles Edward Hill-Trevor,  Assistant Private Secretary to Lord Ranfurly, is the third son of the late Baron Trevor, of Brynkinalt, Chirk, North Wales (third son of the third Marquis of Downshire), and of the Hon. Mary Catherine Curzon (daughter of the Hon. and Rev. Alfred Curzon, and sister of Alfred, Lord Searsdale, of Keddelston, Derby). His paternal grandmother was Lady Maria Windsor, daughter of the fifth Earl of Plymouth. Lord Trevor—father of the subject of this notice—held a seat in the House of Commons for the same constituency from 1845 to 1880, and was a magistrate for Counties Salop, Nottingham, Denbigh, Flint, and Down, and deputy-lieutenant for Nottingham and Down. He was Major in the North Shropshire Yeomanry Cavalry from 1863 to 1872, and a lieutenant-colonel of the South Down Militia. In 1862, on succeeding to the estates of the late Viscount Dungannon, he assumed the additional name of Trevor. The Hon. Charles Hill-Trevor, who was born on the 23rd of December, 1863, was educated at Eton College. Entering the Militia in 1883, he was for some time captain of the third Battalion of Royal Welsh Fusiliers, from which regiment he resigned in 1893. Mr. Hill-Trevor had seven years' experience in orangegrowing in Florida. United States of America. In 1887 he acquired an estate in that country, which he still retains. He was appointed to the staff of His Excellency in June, 1897. The Hon. Charles Hill-Trevor is a member of “White's” Club, St. James' Street, London.
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Captain Henry Dudley Ossulston Ward.
              Aide-de-Camp to His Excellency the Governor, was born on the 23rd of May, 1872, and was educated at the Oxford Military College. He entered the Royal Artillery in July. 1891, and joined the Royal Horse Artillery in May. 1896. Captain Ward was appointed to the staff of His Excellency in June, 1897. In October, 1899, Captain Ward, as holding a commission in the Royal Artillery, left New Zealand to join in the operations of the British Army against the South African and Orange Free State republics.
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him to a more prominent place in the history of the Northern Capital than has hitherto been accorded him. Those who are familiar with the sufferings of Wellington through the land-grabbing propensities of her founders, have some idea of the incalculable service rendered by Governor Hobson in his determined opposition to the land-sharking, which, as soon as it became known that Auckland was to be the capital of the new colony, was so audaciously attempted. Of the many reserves which have been kept from the hands of the spoiler, few are more beautiful than the grounds surrounding Government House. The area is about ten acres, with an extensive frontage on the north to Waterloo Quadrant, the east and west sides fronting respectively Symonds and Princes Streets. The house faces about north-east, and between it and the Quadrant are beautiful flowers, a splendid lawn, and heavy clusters of oak trees and native evergreens.



At the rear are the stables and a fine grass paddock of about three acres, separated from the road beyond by the only remnant of the old “Barracks” wall. These beautiful grounds are, by permission of His Excellency, and subject to the control of the custodian, thrown open to the public on Mondays. Wednesdays, and Fridays, from 10 a.m. to 6 p.m. This privilege is, needless to say, not vouchsafed when Government House is occupied by his Excellency's family. Making reasonable allowance for the age of Government House, and the conditions of the colony at the time of its erection. It is a most creditable structure. The main entrance is from the centre of the front, and from the spacious hall are reached, on the right and left respectively, the drawing and dining rooms. Both of these are exceedingly large, lofty, and well lighted, and the ball room at their rear is nearly fifty feet wide by a length of 100 feet. The principal bedroom is also very fine, as are many of the other apartments. There are in all some thirty-five rooms, from the majority of which very beautiful views are obtainable. This is particularly remarkable in the case of the principal bedroom, from which Rangitoto, the North Shore, and the Intervening waters are in full view. It may be mentioned that Auckland has always been a favourite place of residence with the governors of the Colony, and this is by no means surprising to those who are familiar with the past and present capitals. Though the Auckland house is greatly inferior to the more recent establishment, this is much more than compensated for by the vastly more beautiful grounds and the very favourable contrast in the matters of climate and scenery. It is quite natural that Auckland should have what seems to be more than a fair share of attention. Auckland is the only town except the capital that possesses a Government House, and, Wellington being the theatre of action, relaxation must be sought else-where. When Auckland was the capital, and therefore the scene of action, Sir George Grey instituted his island home for relaxation, and there were not wanting those who complained that His Excellency of those days spent rather too much time at Kawau. For those who are not obliged to climb the hills on “Shanks' ponies,” and who may pass the heat of midsummer days in the cool shade of spreading oaks and sycamores, Auckland, with its beautiful yachting harbour and otherwise charming surroundings, possesses wonderful attractions almost unknown in the other parts of New Zealand. Successive governments are, therefore, to be complimented on their unanimity, as to the wisdom of preserving intact the Government House at Auckland.
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Uchter John Mark,
             

 K.C.M.G., Earl of Ranfurly, Viscount Northland, and Baron Welles, of Duncannon, County Tyrone, Ireland, and Baron Ranfurly, of Ramphorlie, County Renfrew, United Kingdom, was born at Guernsey



on the 14th of August, 1856. Lord Ranfurly is the second son of Thomas, third Earl of Ranfurly, by his wife Harriet, daughter of John Rimmington, Esq., of Broomhead Hall, County York. Becoming a cadet on board H.M.S. “Britannia,” he passed for the Royal Navy, but, giving up a naval career, entered Trinity College, Cambridge, at the age of eighteen. His Excellency, who is fifth Earl, succeeded his brother, who died on the 10th of May, 1875, while on a shooting expedition in Abyssinia. On the 10th of February, 1880, he was married to the Hon. Constance Elizabeth Caulfield, only child of James Alfred, seventh Viscount Charlemont, C.B., and has one son — Viscount Northland, born in 1882, and two daughters — the Ladies Constance and Eileen Knox. The title of Viscount Northland dates back to 1791, and that of Baron Welles ten years earlier. Lord Ranfurly holds a seat in the House of Lords as Baron Ranfurly, of the United Kingdom. The blood of the Royal House of Scotland flows in the veins of His Excellency, for his ancestor Uchtred, who flourished late in the twelfth century, married Princess Adama, daughter of the Earl of Huntingdon, their son being granted the barony of Knox. The family assumed this name, the famous reformer. John Knox, being one of its descendants. It is interesting to know that Lord Ranfurly is a lineal descendant, on the grand-maternal side, of the great Quaker. William Penn, of whom there are many fine relies at Northland House. His Excellency became a Lord-in-Waiting to Her Majesty the Queen in 1895, which honourable position he retained till his appointment as Governor of New Zealand in 1897. In recognition of her Diamond Jubilee, Her Majesty presented the Earl of Ranfurly and the rest of her Household with a medal, and conferred on him the additional honour of Knight Commander of St. Michael and St. George. He is also a Knight of Justice of the order of the Hospital of St. John of Jerusalem—an order to which he has for many years belonged, and whose chief work in these modern times is the St. John's Ambulance Association, which has branches all over England, and in many of the colonies, including New Zealand. At grand functions such as that of Jubilee Day, this association has several corps at work along the most crowded routes, and their temporary hospital tents prove, from the number of cases they have to treat, that this branch is most useful to the public. The headquarters of the order are at St. John's Gate, Clerkenwell—the same spot where in 1381 the ancient “Hospital” was burned at Wat Tyler's insurrection, which the Knights immediately rebuilt. The order, which was established to defend the Holy Sepulchre, was the great bulwark of Christendom against the invasion of the Turks. His Excellency is a member of the following well-known London clubs:—Carlton. Bachelors', and Travellers'; also of the Royal Yacht Squadron (Cowes) — the only club permitted to fly the white ensign,
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as in Her Majesty's navy. His seat is know as Northland House, Dungannon, Tyrone, Ireland. Northland House—a stately, rambling pile of buildings of the Georgian period—was completed by the Governor's grandfather in 1841, previously to which the family residence had been Dungannon Park—a smaller but picturesque building, since used as a farm house. This mansion—Northland House—is full of objects of interest, including a painting by Peter Vandyke of Sir Thomas and Lady Juliana Penn (Lord Ranfurly's great-great-grand-parents, and son and daughter-in-law of the celebrated William Penn, founder of Pennsylvania). Viscountess Pery, as Mary Queen of Scots (His Lordship's great-great-grandmother), Mrs. Stuart (daughter of Sir T. Penn). Lady Lonsdale (an aunt of Mary Juliana, Countess of Ranfurly), and many others, besides a large quantity of lovely Chelsea. Mandarin-Worcester, and Berlin china. The park itself is a beautifully wooded, undulating stretch of country, possessing a superb avenue of beeches, a fine laured drive of a mile in length, a lovely lake where first rate skating may be enjoyed in winter, and an eighteen hole golf course. The Earl is greatly esteemed by his tenantry at Dungannon, and it may be remarked that evictions are almost unknown on his estates. On two occasions prior to his appointment to New Zealand, Lord Ranfurly passed through the Colony as a tourist, and was greatly impressed with the beauty of its scenery. At Mildura, in the colony of Victoria, the Governor possesses a fine orchard—chiefly oranges and lemons—which is admitted to be one of the best in the colonies. It is not a part of the Chaffey Bros. Irrigation Colonies, but has an irrigation plant of its own. His Lordship—who spent some time on this estate—is considered to be an authority on fruit-growing. He has also long been interested in mining matters—not as a speculator, but as a student at the Geological Institute, Jermyn Street, where he went through several courses in treating ores and minerals, which he followed up by taking a few practical field excursions. Speaking of the appointment of His Excellency, who arrived at Wellington on the 10th of August, 1897, a London paper says, “Lord Ranfurly's statesmanlike capacity, bonhomie, love of sport, and charm of manner, mark him out as especially suited to the post.” He is six feet in height, rather youthful in appearance, and possesses a characteristic affability which is most pleasing.
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The Countess of Ranfurly
              
              is the only child of James Alfred, seventh Viscount Charlemont, C.B., and her mother, who died in 1888, was the youngest daughter of the third Lord Castlemaine. One of her ancestors—the famous Sir Toby Caulfeild—fought for Queen Elizabeth against the valiant O'Neil, Earl of Tyrone, and his heir was created Lord Charlemont by James I. in 1620. Another was a distinguished Irish patriot, and raised the famous “Irish Volunteers” of the eighteenth century. The “Gentlewoman”



of June 5th, 1897, says that “Lady Ranfurly's delicate, patrician beauty, and sweet and gracious presence, youthfulness, kindliness of heart, vivacity, conversational powers, and perfect taste in dress, will assuredly render her as beloved and popular in New Zealand as in English society.”
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Captain Dudley Alexander,
              Private Secretary to His Excellency the Earl of Ranfurly, K.C.M.G., is a son of Henry Alexander. Esq., of Forkhill, County Armagh, and of Lady Louisa Alexander, daughter of the second Earl of Ranfurly, and is first cousin to the Governor. Born in 1863, Captain Alexander was educated at Marlborough College, and, choosing a military career, entered the Militia in 1882. Two years later he passed his examinations, and became a lieutenant in the fourteenth West Yorkshire Regiment; for three years, before his appointment as private secretary to Lord Ranfurly in June, 1897, he was adjutant of the Bedfordshire Volunteers. He is a member of the United Service Club. London.
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The Hon. 

Charles Edward Hill-Trevor,  Assistant Private Secretary to Lord Ranfurly, is the third son of the late Baron Trevor, of Brynkinalt, Chirk, North Wales (third son of the third Marquis of Downshire), and of the Hon. Mary Catherine Curzon (daughter of the Hon. and Rev. Alfred Curzon, and sister of Alfred, Lord Searsdale, of Keddelston, Derby). His paternal grandmother was Lady Maria Windsor, daughter of the fifth Earl of Plymouth. Lord Trevor—father of the subject of this notice—held a seat in the House of Commons for the same constituency from 1845 to 1880, and was a magistrate for Counties Salop, Nottingham, Denbigh, Flint, and Down, and deputy-lieutenant for Nottingham and Down. He was Major in the North Shropshire Yeomanry Cavalry from 1863 to 1872, and a lieutenant-colonel of the South Down Militia. In 1862, on succeeding to the estates of the late Viscount Dungannon, he assumed the additional name of Trevor. The Hon. Charles Hill-Trevor, who was born on the 23rd of December, 1863, was educated at Eton College. Entering the Militia in 1883, he was for some time captain of the third Battalion of Royal Welsh Fusiliers, from which regiment he resigned in 1893. Mr. Hill-Trevor had seven years' experience in orangegrowing in Florida. United States of America. In 1887 he acquired an estate in that country, which he still retains. He was appointed to the staff of His Excellency in June, 1897. The Hon. Charles Hill-Trevor is a member of “White's” Club, St. James' Street, London.
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Captain Henry Dudley Ossulston Ward.
              Aide-de-Camp to His Excellency the Governor, was born on the 23rd of May, 1872, and was educated at the Oxford Military College. He entered the Royal Artillery in July. 1891, and joined the Royal Horse Artillery in May. 1896. Captain Ward was appointed to the staff of His Excellency in June, 1897. In October, 1899, Captain Ward, as holding a commission in the Royal Artillery, left New Zealand to join in the operations of the British Army against the South African and Orange Free State republics.
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River Bed in a Kauri Forest.
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For a good many years before any attempt at settlement was made in the other parts of New Zealand, the northern portion of the Auckland province, though not then known by that name, was steadily growing into importance. Whalers, mostly Americans, found the Bay of Islands convenient as a whaling station, and the missionaries—Episcopalians, Wesleyans, and Catholics—all decided that the northern extremity of New Zealand was preferable to all other parts as a basis of operations.

            
As early as 1814 the agents of the Church Mission Society selected the Bay of Islands for their headquarters, and in 1823, the first Wesleyan mission station was located at Whangaroa. The Roman Catholic missionaries chose Hokianga, and settled there in 1838, Bishop Pompallier arriving on the 10th of January in that year.

            
Commerce, never slow to follow in the wake of the missionaries, soon added a third agency in the preparation for systematic settlement. Traders brought rum, tobacco, muskets and gewgaws, taking away mats, flax, spars, preserved human heads—sometimes chosen during the life of the victims—greenstone, and
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other curios, and such produce as it was in the power of the natives to supply. That the good work of the missionaries was seriously retarded and injured by the bad influence of the whalers and traders was but too painfully apparent. Yet, notwithstanding the very poor specimens of civilised humanity, which, through whaling and trading, came too frequently in contact with the natives of this country, the missionaries, aided by their own nobility of character, were instrumental in imbuing the Maori mind with an exalted conception of the virtues of the British nation. The protection afforded to the British Resident, and the cordial welcome extended to Captain Hobson, must for all time be credited to the brave bands of missionaries, who, with so much characteristic earnestness, and, up to that point, with such encouraging results, endeavoured to christianise the Maoris.

            
Thus colonisation really began at the North, though little remains to-day in the appearance of the country to support the assertion. How and why Governor Hobson selected the present site of the City of Auckland for the seat of Government and subsequent capital of the country, is all shortly but interestingly told in the early pages of Volume 1, and is alluded to further on in the section devoted to “Old Auckland.”
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Provincial Comparisons.

            
The Provincial District of Auckland is the largest in the Colony, its area being 25,746 square miles. That of Otago is a close second, with 25,487 square miles. Canterbury (14,040), Wellington (11,003), Nelson (10,269), Marlborough (4,753), Westland (4,641), Hawke's Bay (4,410), and Taranaki (3,308) are all small, and four of them are insignificant when compared with Auckland and Otago.

            
That the Auckland Provincial District suffers politically from being too large in proportion to its population may be inferred from the fact that, while political representation is based mainly on population, the need for Government assistance in such important matters as railways, roads and bridges rests largely on area. The isolation of the Auckland Province forms another very serious drawback. Like Wellington, Auckland is bounded by the sea, and the three other districts of the island; but while Auckland is disconnected from all the others by almost unexplored wilds, Wellington is separated from the two smaller provinces by no greater obstruction than dotted lines on the map. This isolation is keenly felt by the people of Auckland, and they are not slow to charge the Legislature with unfairness.

            
Of railways, Auckland has 367 miles, leading mainly to the Waikato, Thames, Rotorua and Helensville; the Rotorua extremity being rather more than a hundred miles from Gisborne, which is the second town and port in the province, and has a population of about 2,500. The three other provinces have together 453 miles of railway, exclusive of the private line (eighty-four miles in length) of the Wellington-Manawatu Railway Company, Limited, and these run through or to every town of importance, and most of the townships in the three provinces. New Plymouth is within a fifteen hours' run of Wellington, and Napier is about twelve hours' journey distant. Wanganui, the second town and port of the Wellington Province, with a population of 5,000, is reached in a little more than eight hours.

            
In such matters as roads and bridges and all other aids to settlement, Auckland has all along been labouring under precisely the same disadvantage, and, in view of the political factor, it is perhaps surprising that she has not suffered still more severely. That she has not, is probably owing to the vigilance or the two principal Auckland papers, the “New Zealand Herald” and the “Auckland Star,” both of which occupy very prominent places in the front rank of New Zealand journalism.

            
The Government moneys expended in the Provincial District of Auckland on roads, bridges, etc., and on water-races and other works for the development of the goldfields, amount to about £1,200,000, while a fourth more has been spent on roads and bridges in the districts of Wellington, Hawke's Bay and Taranaki. Leaving out of the calculation the special expenditure on the Thames and Coromandel goldfields, the expenditure in the three other provinces has been at least fifty per cent. greater than in Auckland. It is not surprising, therefore, that whatever justification there may be for this condition of affairs, the people of Auckland should conclude that their province has been unfairly treated.

            
The districts of Auckland and Otago being so nearly equal in area and population, a few comparative facts relating to the extreme northern and southern provinces may prove interesting and instructive. In systematic settlement, Auckland had the advantage of being about eight years old when Otago was born. At that time, 1848, the population of the whole colony was set down at a little over 17,000, and probably nearly half that number belonged to Auckland. The imports of the Colony were valued at less than a quarter on a million per annum, and the exports at about a fifth of that sum. The gain in the start, therefore, was not great, though for fifteen years after Otago was founded, Auckland had the advantage of being the seat of Government. The Maori difficulty, however, from which Otago was quite free, must have seriously affected Auckland, quite neutralising her advantages in age and early importance. The mileage of Government railways open for traffic in Otago is about 700, or very nearly double that of Auckland, while the cost—over five millions to the General Government and a third of a million to the Province—equals a trifle over £32 per unit of population. Every branch of railway in Otago is connected with the main line to Canterbury, which, in turn, is connected with every branch in that province; whereas Auckland is, for the present, not only hopelessly cut off from the adjoining provinces, but has some large gaps even in her own system, three sections of which have no connection with the main line or with each other. However, in roads, bridges, water-races, etc., Otago has had about half the expenditure of Government funds, which has taken place in Auckland; and in this way Auckland has, therefore, received about a fifth of Otago's excess of railway expenditure.

            
The Province of Canterbury is about three-fifths of the area of Auckland, yet in the expenditure on roads, bridges, etc., for every shilling which Canterbury has had, Auckland has had nearly a sovereign. This very great difference is due largely, no doubt, to the absence of engineering difficulties on the Canterbury Plains, and to the general compactness of the province, facts which have, of course, also helped the construction of railways. The mileage of railways in Canterbury (462) is nearly a third greater than in Auckland, yet the cost of construction is not a sixth



greater. Deducting the three-quarters of a million contributed by the Province of Canterbury, the Government expenditure has been actually less in Canterbury than in Auckland, yet Canterbury has a main line in full connection with Otago, and running a few miles into the Provincial District of Marlborough, besides nine or ten branch lines, aggregating a length of 254 miles. The expenditure of Government money on railways in Canterbury averages about £18 10s per head of the present population. Thus, while it is evident that Otago has outstripped all competitors in the race for Government prizes, and that Auckland has been the main loser thereby, it is not clear that Canterbury has reaped any great advantages beyond such as rightfully belong to her through the favourable physical conditions of that part of the country, and the fact that the competition of water carriage is in that province reduced to a minimum.

            
In support of their claims for increased railway provision, Aucklanders urge that the ratio of expenditure to revenue is not appreciably greater, if greater at all, in Auckland than in other parts of the island, or even on the Hurunui-Bluff line, and that, given a fair chance by connection with the neighbouring provinces, the interest returns on cost of construction, which are now a little over two and a half per cent., would be greatly increased, so as not only to overtake the returns of the Wellington, Napier and New Plymouth sections, which are now about a quarter per cent. ahead; but the whole North Island system would be so benefited by the interchange of support, that the three and a half per cent. new yielded by the Canterbury-Otago lines might be equalled, if not surpassed.

            
If Auckland has been neglected in the Government expenditure, of which there would seem to be no doubt, it has not been because her representatives, as compared with others, have been less importunate on behalf of their own or more liberal towards other constituencies; but from the very plain reason that Auckland's isolated position—isolated because of the undeveloped country composing the whole of her landward boundaries—has deprived her representatives of natural allies. This will change with time, and is even now changing. On the question of the rival routes for the main trunk railway the Auckland and most of the Taranaki members have joined forces, because the Ongaruhe-Stratford deviation, which Auckland wants, would lie wholly in the Taranaki province, and would give that district the benefit of more direct communication with Auckland, without affecting her present connection with Hawke's Bay and Wellington. But against this alliance, Hawke's Bay, Wellington, and the whole of the South Island members are arrayed, because the central route, without interfering with their present connection with Taranaki, would give them the more direct route to Auckland, which they deem most desirable, at any rate for themselves and the constituencies they represent. Taranaki, of course, has all to gain and nothing to lose in securing the Stratford route. Hawke's Bay, Wellington and the South Island stand in precisely that relation to the central route; but Auckland has been placed in the position of having to decide whether her interests would be wisely conserved by shortening the distance to Ngaire, and the northern portion of Taranaki by about 160 miles, at the expense of lengthening it by 40 miles to the remainder of the colony south of Marton. At Baker's Crossing, twenty miles north of Marton, the rival routes equalise as far as distance is concerned. Wanganui would be about twenty miles, Patea about 100, and Hawera about 135 miles nearer Auckland by the Stratford than by the central route. Notwithstanding this, however, Stratord, and, therefore, New Plymouth, would be about forty miles nearer to Wellington than to Auckland, even by the Stratford route. Hawera would be between sixty and seventy miles nearer, and Patea about a hundred miles nearer Wellington.

            
In view of these facts, Auckland is fairly united with the middle and southern portions of Taranaki in the desire to save from between 100 to 160 miles of roundabout in the railway connection between the two provinces, and considering the rapid rate at which the population of Taranaki is increasing, and the indisputable fact that Auckland has not been too generously treated in the matter of railways, it is the opinion of not a few, whose interests lie in the opposite direction, that the prayer of these two provinces, if united, should be heard and granted. That two or more lines will ultimately be made, no doubt exists, and therefore little hardship could result from the choice of the first line being left to the provinces most immediately concerned. No doubt systematic agitation would get both, or something better. The New Plymouth residents, while they prefer the Stratford to the central route, are urgent in their claim for a deviation from Taumaranui to Waitara via Urenui, and it is by no means clear why Aucklanders do not prefer that route, as New Plymouth would by its means be about as near to Auckland as to Wellington. In the interests of all parties concerned it is desirable to arrive at an agreement which would permit of united instead of divided agitation, for as the “New Zealand Herald” points out, any route would be better than none, and no better excuse for hanging up the work could well be found than that the parties most needing it are at variance as to its direction.

            
Seeing that the provincial system of government is dead, it is to be regretted that the system was over born in this colony, for it has left a ghost behind which seems powerless for good, but potent for evil. When each province controlled the expenditure of its own share of the revenue, there was much to be said in favour of a continuance of the system; but now that no provincial machinery exists, the maintenance of the arbitrary division of the Colony can serve no really useful end. Had any sensible attempt been made to divide the Colony into districts, as nearly equal as possible, in area, boundaries, and natural advantages and dis-advantages, so that they might have enjoyed equal shares of Government assistance and patronage, with equal representation, a spirit of emulation might have been beneficially engendered; but, as these divisions now stand, they are productive of unfairness and consequent dissatisfaction. If the North Island were one province and had never been divided, the selection of the main trunk railway route would have been a matter for the engineers only. Yet for all practical purposes it is one province, and exists otherwise only in the imagination of the people, and in some of the statistics of Government. But



sentimental divisions were ever the most difficult of effacement. The real division of the Colony into provinces was abolished about a quarter of a century ago, and yet there is even now a strong provincial antagonism in the breasts of many colonists who at that time were unborn.
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Boundaries and Area.

            
The Provincial District of Auckland, of which this volume of the Cyclopedia treats, comprises the whole of the island north of the thirty-ninth parallel of latitude, with the exception of a little ever a thousand square miles at the southwest corner, which is included in the Taranaki district. The boundary of this corner is defined by the Mokau river to a point a few miles to the east of the township of Mokau, on the main trunk line, and thence by a line drawn in a south-south-easterly direction to the point where the Wanganui river crosses the thirty-ninth parallel. From this point eastward to the coast, along the parallel, the distance is about 150 miles; half this marks the Wellington boundary, and the remainder that of Hawke's Bay.

            
The absurdity of this latitudinal boundary is palpable at its eastern half, inasmuch as a very considerable portion of it runs along the northern coast line of Hawke's Bay, and at an average distance from it of considerably less than ten miles. Thus, while the town of Clyde, on the Wairoa river, is in Hawke's Bay Province, and in intimate connection with Napier by four hours' steam, Frasertown on the same river, and within twelve miles of the port, is in the Auckland Province. To follow this imaginary boundary in the compilation and arrangement of this Cyclopedia would be most unsatisfactory. The settlement of the whole Wairoa district has progressed from Napier, is a portion of the development of Hawke's Bay, and is peopled by the relatives and intimate friends of Hawke's Bay settlers, while for all purposes of communication and commerce it is more distinct from the other portions of the Auckland province than is Napier itself. To divide this settlement by so arbitrary a line, putting the northern portion of it in Volume II. and the parent part in Volume VI, would, figuratively speaking, be to transplant the newer developments of the Wairoa across the unexplored wilds of the Uriwera Country. The Government in fixing the limits of the Land District, has recognised this absurdity by eliminating the latitudinal division as between Auckland and Hawke's Bay, and substituting a line drawn from the western extremity of the Auckland-Hawke's Bay Provincial boundary in a north-easterly direction to Lottin Point, a few miles northward from the East Cape. That this would have been a wise division in the first place, there can be no doubt; but to follow that line of separation in this work would cause endless confusion, for the Poverty Bay district is an important and well-recognised portion of the Auckland Province, very imperfectly connected by land, it is true, but certainly not less imperfectly connected with any other province. The compilers, therefore,
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have considered that the needs of the case are best consulted by including the Wairoa district wholly in the Hawke's Bay portion of their work, and mentioning the variation in both volumes.

            
Of the 25,746 square miles or 16,477,700 acres, comprising the Auckland Provincial District, a very extensive area is within very narrow eastern and western limits. From the North Cape to the Wellington boundary is about 365 miles, and for about three-fourths of that distance, there is no spot which is more than twenty-five miles from the sea.
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Mountains.

            
Though the surface of the northern portion of the North Island is broken by numerous ranges and much hilly country, there are no mountains of any great height actually within the Auckland Province. Tongariro (6,500 feet), Ngauruhoe (7,515 feet), and even Ruapehu (9,008 feet), are, however, so near the boundary line that they have a marked climatic influence, the last-mentioned and most southern of the three being less than twenty miles within the Wellington territory.

            
The Kaimanawa Ranges, about twenty miles eastward of the mountains named, and for the most part in the Wellington Province, run across the border, and rise even in the Auckland Province to a height of upwards of 4,000 feet. Pureora (3,793 feet) is the highest peak of the Hurakia Range, which with others form the watershed, dividing the Mokau, Ongaruhe and Waikato basins; and Pirongia (3,156 feet) is the highest of the still more western ranges of Tawairoa and Hauturu, which are quite near the coast to the northward of Kawhia Harbour. The Moehau Ranges, running from Cape Colville (2,800 feet) to Weraiti (2,537 feet), include Te Aroha, a picturesque mountain of 3,176 feet. At the extreme north end is a range known as the Maungataniwha, which rises to nearly 2,500 feet. Pirongia is often snow-capped, and the Kaimanawas for a thousand feet down are snow-clad in winter.

            
As the thermal springs district, covering nearly a thousand square miles, is specially treated further on in these pages, reference to its hills and mountains, not one of which reaches two thousand feet, may be omitted here. That wonderful district has already been a source of much revenue to Auckland, and, as its fame spreads, its many attractions will prove still more profitable.
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Valleys and Plains.

            
Of all the provinces of New Zealand, with the exception of the mountainous Westland district, Auckland is probably the least favoured in respect to plains. She is not without them, however, and there are many excellent valleys, the largest and best being the Central Waikato basin, the greater portion of which has been under cultivation and fairly close settlement for many years, and has proved fairly fertile. The Thames Valley is also fertile, and of considerable extent, and the valley of Mangonuiowae, in the Hokianga County, contains exceedingly rich alluvial soil.

            
The Kaingarea Plains, which stretch from the shores of Lake Taupo, in a north-north-easterly direction, to the Bay of Plenty, though the largest in the province, are mainly of pumice formation, and therefore of little present value. The plains of Poverty Bay, on the other hand, though of an area of only sixty-five miles, are very fertile and well-cultivated, and support an increasing population.
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Rivers and Harbours.

            
The Provincial District of Auckland contains but two navigable rivers which are considered worthy of being included in the list of New Zealand rivers—the Wairoa and the Waikato, but these two, viewed from the standpoint of general usefulness, are much the finest in the Colony. While the famous Clutha of Otago heads the list of New Zealand rivers, with a length of 220 miles, and a flow of over a million cubic feet per minute, it is navigable for barely forty miles, whereas the Waikato—the second on the list—though but 200 miles long, and with the relatively modest flow of 83,168 cubic feet per minute, is navigable for seventy-five miles. But even this is eclipsed by the mighty Wairoa, which pours its waters into the extensive Wairoa Harbour, for this splendid river is navigable for ninety-one miles, and, for nearly half that distance by ships of large tonnage. Its total length, however, is but 130 miles, and its volume 545,376 cubic feet per minute. The Waikato, it may be mentioned, takes its rise in Mount Ruapechu, in the Wellington Province, and flows through the magnificent Lake Taupo, discharging into the Tasman Sea about thirty miles south of Manukau Harbour. Of the other and
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smaller rivers, many are both beautiful and useful.

            
Of the harbours, the Waitemata, which divides Auckland from the North Shore, is the principal; but there are many other commodious and beautiful harbours on the East Coast, such as the Bay of Islands, Whangaroa, Whangarei, Tauranga and others, which as settlement progresses will be of immense advantage to the district. Among the west coast harbours, bars prevail, and render navigation somewhat difficult. Manukau, Kaipara, Hokianga, and Kawhia are the principal.
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Lakes.

            
In the number, size and beauty of its lakes the Auckland Province has certainly very great advantages over any other part of the North Island. In fact, the Auckland lakes, hot and cold, constitute the most remarkable feature of the Colony. Lake Taupo Moana (commonly called Lake Taupo), twenty-five miles in its greatest length by a maximum breadth of eighteen miles, and a depth of nearly a hundred fathoms, is the largest lake in the Colony, and is very beautiful, especially on its western shores, which are broken and precipitous. Other principal lakes are Waikaremoana, Rotorua, Rotoiti, Tarawera, and Waikare (near Rangiriri), which is navigably connected with the Waikato river. Smaller lakes to the number of about five and twenty, include Omapere (in the Bay of Islands district), Whangapae (near Waikato and also connected with the Waikato river), Okataina, Roto Mai, Roto Ehu, Rerewhakaitu and Rotokahi (all near Rotorua), and Takapuna (near Devonport, Auckland). Roto Aira, though only five or six miles south of Lake Taupo, is in the Wellington Province, and Waikaremoana is closely connected with Hawke's Bay.
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Forests.

            
The gigantic kauri, the king of the New Zealand forest, and the most valuable tree in the land, is confined to the northern and middle portions of the Auckland Province, and although this splendid tree is being cut down and converted into houses for the people, or exported to other lands, at the rate of nearly half a million pounds worth per annum, there is still sufficient left to make the forests of North Auckland the most interesting in the country. The forest area of the province is a little over five million acres, of which more than three-fifths is south of Auckland. All these forests are exceedingly dense; not only are the large trees very close together, but among them grow smaller ones of great variety, interlaced by the omnipresent supple-jack. The cutting of the forests of New Zealand for the useful purposes to which the timber is put, goes on much faster in Auckland than in other parts of the Colony, but wholesale destruction by the axe and fire, to make room for sheep and cattle, is less common than in other parts of the island. Besides the kauri—wonderful as a standing tree—some-times twenty feet in diameter, with a trunk of a hundred feet to the first branch, and correspondingly useful when converted into sawn boards—there are numerous other very valuable timbers in the forests of Auckland, many of which are common throughout the island. These woods are mentioned in the descriptions of some of the leading furniture factories, where they are extensively used with admirable effect.

            
A very large proportion of the forests of Auckland are upon Crown lands, and the kauri still standing on these lands is estimated to be worth more than a million pounds, beyond the cost of cutting and sending it to market.

            
In proportion to geographical extent, the area of forest land in the province of Auckland is less than the corresponding area in Wellington. In Auckland less than a third, while in Wellington more than half the entire province is still forest-clad.
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Communication.

            
Communication by land in the Auckland Provincial District can hardly be described as good. Notwithstanding the operations of a hundred road boards, and the hundreds of thousands of pounds spent by the Government alone on roads and bridges for the Auckland province, it is to-day most imperfectly roaded. In the north of Auckland this is especially the case. From the scattered nature of the settlements, and from the difficulty in many parts of obtaining good road metal, the roads of North Auckland are still most primitive—ankle deep with dust in summer, and axle deep with mud in winter. It has been said that on some of the main roads a stout horse cannot draw an empty buggy downhill during the winter months; and instances are well authenticated of travellers wishing to get from Kamo to Kawakawa, having been obliged to return by train to Whangarei, and thence by steamer to Auckland, that they might catch another steamer to the Bay of Islands, whence they could reach Kawakawa by rail. Yet in summer it is a fairly pleasant two or three hours' drive from Kamo to Kawakawa. It is, therefore, not surprising that even the patient people of those districts murmur occasionally at the tardiness of railway construction in New Zealand. Happily, the winters are short in the “roadless north,” though they are very wet while they last.

            
Railway communication is steadily, though very slowly, advancing in various parts of the province. The main trunk line is already opened to the boundary of Taranaki, while northwards it extends to the margin of Kaipara Harbour, by which and the Wairoa River, it is connected with the Dargaville-Kaihu section. This connection, however, must be regarded in the light of a branch, for the trunk line is proposed and explored as far as Opua, in the Bay of Islands. Two sections of this line are already opened; and that from Opua, three miles south of Whangarei to Waiotu, nineteen miles north of that popular centre, is in daily use, while on the eight mile section at the northern extremity—Kawakawa to Opua—trains are run on Tuesdays and Thursdays, as traffic requires. The first gap, which, if filled, would bring Whangarei into unbroken connection with the city of Auckland, is over fifty miles as the crow flies, and, as the country is decidedly broken, the actual mileage of the line will be much greater. It must be satisfactory to the inhabitants of the intervening country that “the Government fully recognises the importance of this railway,” and that every year sees a small sum placed on the Estimates for its extension.

            
Railway communication between Auckland and the Thames was completed about the end of 1898, by a branch of the main trunk line from Frankton Junction, via Ruakura, Morrinsville, Te Aroha and Paeroa, the total distance from the city being 148 miles, as against fifty miles by water. With the last-mentioned



branch, and in that way with the main trunk line, Cambridge is connected by a line twelve miles long from Ruakura Junction, and Rotorua is similarly connected by a line sixty-eight miles long from Morrinsville.

            
A Government line from Rotorua to Gisborne is talked of; a private line from Rotorua to Tauranga has been “proposed”; and a Government line to connect Napier with the main trunk line at Te Awamutu, by way of Lake Taupo, has been “explored.” But millions must be spent to accomplish all this, and even then railway accommodation in the province of Auckland will not be excessive in view of the immense territory comprised within its borders.

            
The water communication of the province, on the other hand, is most extensive and valuable, for the coast line of about twelve hundred miles is indented with numerous bays, harbours, and tidal rivers, which admit of coastal trade to an extent not approached by any other part of the Colony. The fact that the Northern Steamship Company alone has from twenty-five to thirty steamers engaged almost exclusively in the Auckland coastal trade, gives some indication of the amount of the province's water traffic. Many of these steamers are exceedingly fine vessels, the best being the sixteen-knot paddle steamer “Whakatere,” which cost £20,000. When compared with Auckland's coastal cutter traffic of thirty years ago, the present condition shows a truly wonderful rate of expansion. As the delightful climate and the many other attractions of the North Island become better known to the world, the coastal service will probably exceed its present rate of growth.
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Population.

            
In April, 1886, the white population of the Auckland Provincial District stood at 130,379. The succeeding census (1891) showed that it had increased by 2790, and that of 1896 showed the very satisfactory further increase of 20,405. The estimated population of the province on the 31st of December, 1899, was 165,793, which was only 8871 behind Otago, so long the most populous of the provincial districts. At the same date Auckland was 20,753 ahead of Canterbury, and had 33,373 more persons within its boundaries than Wellington. Otago had 91,631 males to 83,033 females, and in the three other large provincial districts the relative numbers were: Auckland, 87,408 males, 78,385 females; Canterbury, 74,516 and 70,542; and Wellington, 70,119 males and 62,301 females respectively. That the mining, gum-digging and sawmilling carried on so extensively in the Auckland Province have not caused a greater excess of males than there is in Wellington—where no gum exists, where gold and coal mining are, practically speaking, unknown, and where sawmilling is comparatively insignificant—may be accounted for by the fact that the many residential advantages of the city and suburbs, and, in fact, of the whole province, have the effect of keeping and attracting large numbers of those who are able to make unfettered choice of locality. Then, on account of the cheapness of living, many women have continued to reside in Auckland, while their bread-winners have been compelled


[image: Kauri Forest, Waitakerei.]

Kauri Forest, Waitakerei.





to move to less favoured parts of the Colony, where, because of climatic or other conditions, employment is better paid and less difficult to obtain.

            
Of the total population of the province rather more than three-eighths is centred in and around the chief city, as against a trifle over a third in Wellington, a little more than three-eights in Canterbury, and less than three-tenths in Otago.
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Local Government.

            
The local governing bodies of the district consist of the city, borough and county councils, town boards and road boards. The affairs of the city of Auckland are controlled by the City Council, consisting of a mayor and eighteen councillors. The other boroughs, population deciding their order of precedence, are Thames, Parnell, Devonport, Onehunga, Newton, Gisborne, Newmarket, Hamilton, Tauranga, Cambridge and birkenhead. The twenty-seven county councils, which, of course, have no jurisdiction over the boroughs are: Mangonui, Whangaroa, Hokianga, Bay of Islands, Hobson, Whangarei, Otamatea, Rodney, Waitemata, Eden, Manukau, Coromandel, Thames, Ohinemuri, Piako, Waikato, Waipa, Raglan, Kawhia, West Taupo, East Taupo, Rotorua, Tauranga, Whakatane, Waiapu, Cook and Clifton. The town districts, governed by town boards, are: Kamo, Helensville, Papakura, Te Aroha, Te Awamutu, Kihikihi, Ngaruawahia, Rotorua, and Opotiki. Of road districts, there are upwards of a hundred, with a total population of about fifty thousand, ranging from 3,677, in the Mount Eden road district, to thirty-six in that of Ahuroa, in the County of Rodney.

            
The principal Harbour Boards of the Province of Auckland are: Auckland, Whangarei, Hokianga, Manukau, Gisborne, Thames, Raglan, and Tauranga.

            
The licensing districts are co-extensive with the Electoral Districts, and electors for the House of Representatives are also electors under the licensing Acts, and the licensing poll is taken at the time of the general election.
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Legislature.

            
The members of the Legislative Council resident in Auckland are:—The Hon. Henry Williams, appointed on the 7th of March, 1882; Hon. George Bentham Morris and Hon. William Swanson, appointed on the 15th of May, 1885; the Hon. William Thomas Jennings, appointed on the 15th of October, 1892, and re-appointed on the 16th of October, 1899; the Hon. Benjamin Harris and
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Hon. William Kelly, appointed on the 3rd of February, 1897; and the Hon. A. J. Cadman, appointed on the 21st of December, 1899. The three first named gentlemen hold their appointments for life, but by an Act of 1891 those subsequently appointed hold office only for seven years from the dates of the writs of their appointment.

            
In the House of Representatives, out of a total of seventy-four members, Auckland has, exclusive of Mr Hone Heke, who represents the Northern Maori District, fifteen, representing thirteen electorates. They are:—W. J. Napier, G. Fowlds and J. H. Witheford (City of Auckland); Hon. J. McGowan, Minister of Mines (Thomes); Hon. James Carroll, Colonial Secretary (Waiapu); Sir George Maurice O'Rorke, Speaker (Manukau); Messrs R. M. Houston (Bay of Islands), Robert Thompson (Marsden), Richard Monk (Waitemata), John Bollard (Eden), Frank Lawry (Parnell), W. F. Massey (Franklin), W. F. Lang (Waikato), W. H. Herries (Bay of Plenty), and Jackson Palmer (Ohinemuri).
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Judicial.

            
Law and Justice are administered by the Supreme Court and Magistrate's Courts, there being no District Court in the Province of Auckland. Judge Conolly, who presides over the Supreme Court, resides in Auckland, and goes on circuit periodically, sittings being held also at Gisborne. Registrars of the Supreme Court are located at Auckland and Gisborne.

            
Seven Stipendiary Magistrates preside over the various Courts of the Province, and three of them are also Wardens of Goldfields.

            
Bankrupt estates are administered by an Official Assignee, Mr John Lawson, and his deputies at Gisborne, New Plymouth and Hawera.

            
There is but one gaol in the province, which is located in a valley at the foot of Mount Eden, on a site which is seldom seen by the general body of citizens.
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Official.

            
Auckland has two Collectors of Customs, one being stationed at Gisborne, and there are officers in charge of Customs at Tauranga, Mangonui, and Kaipara, with coast-waiters at Thames, Russell, Whangaroa, Whangarei and Hokianga.

            
The Stamp Department is administered by Deputy Commissioners at Auckland and Gisborne.

            
The Land and Survey Department is under the control of a Commissioner, assisted by a very large staff of surveyors, draughtsmen and other officers. The Commissioner is also chairman of the Land Board, the other members of which are selected from various parts of the district.

            
The Public Works Department for the Auckland Province is under the management of a district engineer, Mr. C. R. Vickerman, the only other district engineer in the Colony being resident at Dunedin.

            
There are two district managers of railways, the extra manager for the Auckland Province being stationed at Kaihu, and there are “Stationmasters in charge” located at Whangarei and Kawakawa. There is a district engineer of railways also at Auckland.

            
Of Chief Postmasters there are three in the district, as against one in the province of Wellington, that one being at Wanganui, for the Post Office at
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Wellington is under the charge of a chief clerk. The chief postmasters for Auckland are stationed in the City, at Thames, and at Gisborne.

            
The Department of Agriculture is represented by an assistant entomologist and four inspectors of stock; the Government Life Insurance Department by a district manager; the Public Trust Office by a district agent; and the Defence Department by a Lieutenant-Colonel, commanding the district, and an Adjutant.
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Educational.

            
In some respects, Auckland is educationally ahead of the other provincial districts, while in others it is somewhat behind. In private schools it is well ahead of Canterbury, which is closely followed by Wellington, Otago's figures being less than two-thirds of those of Auckland. Until lately Auckland has been much behind the other large provincial centres in the matter of technical education, but the increased attention now given to the subject promises well for the future.
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Ecclesiastical.

            
According to the census returns for 1896 the religious denominations within the province stood as follows: Episcopalian, 70,235; Presbyterian, 23,597; Roman Catholic, 23,523; Wesleyan Methodist, 14,240; Baptist, 4,104; Congregational, 2,310; members of the Church of Christ, 1,851; Salvation Army, 1,697; besides a number of small sects, each with its following varying from a few score to nearly a thousand.
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Agricultural and Pastoral.

            
When compared with some of the other provinces, Auckland cannot be said to stand very high in matters agricultural and pastoral. There can be no doubt that the climate is favourable to these branches of industry, and it is quite certain that all the soil which might be advantageously cultivated has not yet been taken in hand. The difficulties of communication may to some extent account for what otherwise might be ascribed to a lack of energetic enterprise in these vocations, but those difficulties would disappear, or be greatly modified if the demand for haulage and freightage were as largely increased as there is reason to believe they might be by the determined efforts of land-holders to thoroughly prove and make the most of the capabilities of their lands. Some attention is being paid to the systematic cultivation of furze as food for sheep, and should the experiment prove successful, Auckland should reap very great advantages thereby, as there can be no doubt about the capabilities of her soil, and the suitability of her climate for the growth of furze. The Messrs Williams, of Pakaraka, Bay of Islands, have proved it to be a success in their district, and are now fattening four sheep to the acre upon it. It is hoped that the comparisons drawn between Auckland and the other districts may have the effect of encouraging the farmers of the great northern province to show that they can stand industrially shoulder to shoulder with their southern neighbours.

            
Auckland leads the colony in the matter of occupied freehold lands with 3,261,498 acres. Otago comes next with 2,811,707 acres. Canterbury is third with 2,744,281, and Wellington fourth with 2,454,641 acres. Under freehold, leasehold, and pastoral licenses, Otago occupies first place with 10,298,619 acres, Canterbury second with 6,311,491, Auckland third with 5,040,470, and Wellington fourth with 3,701,788 acres. Auckland, however, has the greatest number of holdings, namely, 15,541; Otago has 13,989, Canterbury 10,854, and Wellington 9,871. In the whole colony there are 62,639 holdings, which cover altogether 34,386,268 acres. In areas of one to ten. acres, 14,922 acres are occupied in Auckland, 14,207 in Otago, 13,238 in Canterbury, and 11,585 acres in Wellington. Auckland leads in the acreages under holdings of from ten to fifty, fifty to one hundred, and one hundred to two hundred acres, and is second to Otago in the occupation of areas from 200 to 320, 320 to 640, and 640 to 1000 acres. In estates over 50,000 acres, Otago is first with 4,293,923 acres, Canterbury second with 1,967,119, Marlborough third with 1,139,875, Nelson fourth with 729,337 acres, Auckland fifth with 660,006, followed closely by Hawke's Bay with 654,193 acres.

            
In 1899 the average yield per acre of wheat was, in Canterbury 33.65 bushels, Otago 33.37 bushels, Nelson 30.84, Wellington 29.48, Taranaki 28.59, Hawke's Bay 27.83, and Auckland 20.31 bushels. In the gross yield Canterbury stood first with 8,409,166 bushels, Otago second with 3,329,660, Wellington third with 550,411, and Auckland fourth with 249,046 bushels. The total yield for the colony was 13,073,416 bushels, and the average yield 32.76 bushels.

            
The gross yields in oats for the same period were in the order of Otago with 8,774,770 bushels, Canterbury 5,890,132, Wellington 767,327, and Auckland with 273,681 bushels; and the corresponding yields per acre were respectively, Canterbury 41.26 bushels, Otago 39.8, Wellington 33.94, and Auckland 30.81 bushels. The colony's total output of oats amounted to 16,511,388 bushels and the yield per acre was 39.56 bushels. Taranaki, Hawke's Bay and Nelson followed Auckland in the order named, each with a gross yield exceeding 200,000 bushels.

            
In 1899 the colony's barley crops amounted to 1,677,908 bushels, with an average yield per acre of 36.73 bushels. To this total Canterbury made the chief contribution with 675,931 bushels, and an average yield per acre of 46.29 bushels. Otago came next with 440,191 bushels, and an average yield per acre of 31.3. Marlborough was third in order with a gross yield per acre of 165,511, and an average of 29.44 per acre. For Nelson, which was fourth, the figures were 148,435, and 35.1 per acre. Then came Hawke's Bay with a gross yield of 113,388, and an average per acre of 37.77; whilst Auckland was sixth with a total yield of 58,497, and an average per acre of 27.55 bushels.

            
As the area of Auckland is almost exactly a fourth of the whole colony, the foregoing figures prove conclusively that grain-growing in the Auckland province is, from some cause or causes, a neglected branch of agriculture. Doubtless the heavier cost of sowing, harvesting and marketing grain in the Auckland province is largely responsible for the small extent of grain-farming, but as the capabilities of the district become better understood, a greater acreage will be devoted to grain, which will, to some extent, reduce those expenses.

            
In grass lands, ploughed and unploughed, Wellington, in 1899, was first with 2,283,479 acres, Canterbury second with 1,588,618 acres, Hawke's Bay third with 1,580,541 acres, Otago fourth with 1,421,603 acres, and Auckland fifth with 1,248,626 acres. Canterbury stood



first in hay with 15,123 acres, Wellington second with 14,927, Auckland third with 14,729, with Hawke's Bay, Otago and Taranaki following next in order.

            
According to the returns for 1899, Auckland led the colony in the matter of the acreage of orchards, with 9,384 acres. Wellington stood second in this connection with 3772 acres, Canterbury third with 2,720, and Otago fourth with 2,361 acres. In the same districts the areas in vineyards were 186,44, and 4 acres. These figures, favourable as they are to Auckland, do not of course show that Auckland is growing fruit instead of grain. Increased attention is, however, being given to fruit-growing throughout the province, more particularly in the northern portion, and no doubt the statistics of the near future will disclose a very marked advance in Auckland's fruit culture. Both climate and soil are favourable; but there is room for great improvement in the facilities for marketing the produce, and in the establishment of preserving works. The principal fruit-growing counties are Waitemata, Manukau, Rodney, Whangarei, Waipa, Eden, Waikato, and Tauranga, the acreage in orchards in the lastnamed county being less than a fifth of that of Waitemata.

            
The sheep returns for the 30th of April, 1900, give the number of sheep in the colony as 19,347,346. In this connection Canterbury stands first on the list with 4,739,506, Hawke's Bay second with 4,612,636, Wellington third with 4,478,311, Otago fourth with 3,720,231, and Auckland fifth with 901,445.

            
In cattle the figures are oustinctly in favour of Auckland, whose total is 323,264. Wellington comes next with 238,483. Taranaki is third with 202,481, Otago fourth with 189,249, Hawke's Bay fifth with 95,283, and Canterbury sixth with 87,471. Taranaki, however, leads in dairy cows with 74,331. Otago is second with 66,484, Auckland third with 64,593, Wellington fourth with 58,492, Canterbury fifth with 37,053, and Hawke's Bay sixth with 13,425.

            
The horses owned in the colony in 1899 numbered 258,649, and of these Auckland had 68,549, Otago 53,759, Canterbury 45,631, Wellington 39,896, Hawke's Bay 17,975, and Taranaki 17,562.

            
In the number of swine or pigs, Auckland is far ahead of any other provincial district. The returns for 1899 give it 61,239, and place Wellington second with 31,000, Canterbury third with 29,915, Taranaki fourth with 26,596, and Otago fifth with 24,013.

            
Auckland has the honour also of being one of the two districts in which ostrichfarming is carried on. The ostrich farm of Messrs L. D. Nathan and Co., at “Whitford Park,” Turanga Creek, about twenty miles from Auckland, is one of the most interesting spots in the Colony; and, judging by the beautiful collection of feathers produced, dressed and curled at the “Park,” and shown at the recent Auckland Exhibition, the industry is likely to assume large commercial proportions. The climate of Auckland is evidently well suited to the ostrich, for the birds are exceptionally healthy, and multiply with astonishing rapidity. Messrs Nathan and Co. deserve the thanks and support of the entire community for the enterprise they have displayed in the establishment of this industry. In the opinion of the proprietors of “Whitford Park,” as given in answers to the questions of the Agricultural Department, the industry is one which may be safely recommended to
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New Zealanders. The birds need a little feeding, in the shape of maize or turnips, in winter; but during the other seasons of the year, the grass is quite sufficient for them, and what will support two sheep will carry one ostrich. Ostriches are said to live eighty years, and as the diseases prevalent amongst them at the Cape of Good Hope are almost unknown here, it is apparent that the Auckland Province is well suited to the industry. The feathers compare well with those of foreign production.
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Industrial.

            
As an industrial province, Auckland probably already stands first in the Colony, and there are indications that it must in time decidedly outstrip all the others. Its delightful climate and many other advantages which the workers are not slow to recognise, keep men in Auckland at wages, which by travelling as far as Wellington, they might increase by from ten to fifty per cent. This statement may seem incredible, but those who doubt it are referred to the Government Year Book for 1898, where the average wages paid in each provincial district during the preceding year are given in about sixty branches of industry. Bricklayers, masons and plasterers are all given as earning eight shillings per day in Auckland and twelve shillings per day in Wellington. Others show lower percentages of variation, but it is quite safe to say that nowhere in New Zealand are the wages so low as in Auckland, and that they average from ten to twenty per cent. less than in any of the other large provinces. This lowness of wages reacts, of course, on the cost of living, so that a working man with a family dependent upon him is generally better off in Auckland than he would be in other parts of the Colony, even from the pounds-shillings-and-pence point of view, while he has, at the same time, the pleasure of living under more enjoyable conditions in other respects. Thus Auckland is in a better position than any other district in the Colony to compete with the outside industrial world, and this is already being made manifest.

            
The value of the land, buildings and machinery used for industrial purposes in the Auckland Province was in 1898 £1,558,706. The figures for Otago were nearly twenty per cent. less, while Canterbury was twenty-five per cent. and Wellington thirty-five per cent. behind. The provinces of Wellington, Taranaki and Hawke's Bay combined, fall short of Auckland in this connection by about five per cent. In making these comparisons, it must be borne in mind that the valuations are influenced
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very largely by the local rates of wages, so that it is fair to assume, that a building valued at a thousand pounds in Auckland is quite equal to one valued elsewhere in the Colony at fifteen per cent. higher. In the number of factories, Auckland led, with 573, Otago being ten per cent., Canterbury twenty-two per cent., and Wellington thirty per cent. behind. In horse-power, however, Otago was first, with Auckland a trifle behind Otago, but thirty per cent. ahead of Canterbury and Wellington, which were much the same. In the number of hands also, Otago led with 5,504 males and 1,551 females, Auckland being second with 5,044 and 1,116 respectively; Canterbury was about two per cent. behind Auckland, the difference being confined to the males, while Wellington was nearly twenty per cent. behind in males and more than fifty per cent. behind in females. In wages, Dunedin paid twelve and a half per cent. more than Auckland to males and over thirty per cent. more to females. Canterbury, with 106 fewer hands than Auckland, paid in 1895 about £5,200 more in wages, and Wellington, though so far behind in the number of hands, was less than ten per cent. behind Auckland in the amount paid to males, but hardly even proportionate in the amount paid to females. In the value of manufactures, Canterbury led, with £2,629,822; Auckland was second with £2,163,759; Otago third with nearly the same; and Wellington was thirty-five per cent. behind Auckland, which was about equal to the other North Island provinces combined.

            
But while Auckland stands so well in comparison with the other provinces in industrial matters, it is plain that her activity in this sphere does not account for her being so far behind in agricultural and pastoral affairs. For this, there must be other causes, and, in fact, they are not difficult to find, for goldmining and gum-digging are the most prominent.
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Mining.

            
Goldmining in New Zealand is confined chiefly to Auckland, Otago, and Westland. Nelson and Marlborough have had and still have their goldfields, but as their combined output for the year which ended on the 31st of March, 1899, was valued at only £9288, they may be left out of present comparisons. From January, 1857, till the 31st of March, 1899, gold valued at £54,813,374 was found in the colony, and to that total Westland contributed £23,129,992, Otago £21,621,980, and Auckland was third in order with £8,715,729. However, in the output for the year which ended on the 31st of March, 1899, Auckland stands first with gold valued at £545,463, Otago second with £315,306, and Westland third with £298,824. The increase on the previous year's output was all in Auckland's favour, too, namely, about £144,000, in comparison to about £11,000 for Otago and about £34,000 for Westland. For this improvement in the Auckland mining industry, the patent cyanide process of gold extraction is largely responsible, and still more favourable results are expected in the near future. The value of this invention is much greater on the Auckland fields than elsewhere in the colony on account of the different conditions in which the precious metal is brought to the surface. Claims which were formerly non-paying, now pay wages and yield regular and satisfactory returns on capital invested.

            
The kauri gumfields of Auckland are second in importance only to the gold-fields, if, indeed, they can be disallowed first place. Even to Aucklanders, through their hearing so much about gold and so little about gum, the statistics of the gum industry are startling. It is hard to believe that the output of gum in the year 1898 was nearly two hundred thousand pounds greater in value than all the gold produced in the province, and that the total output of gum since 1853 stands in value at £9,099,627, and of gold, since 1857, at £8,715,729. Perhaps it might be said that no industry was ever worked more quietly than the kauri gum industry of North Auckland. Thousands of colonists in the south hardly know of its existence, and Aucklanders themselves have no conception of its magnitude. About half-a-million pounds worth of kauri gum per year has to be credited to Auckland in comparing its industrial products with those of the other provinces.

            
Coalmining, like goldmining, is confined chiefly to Westland, Otago, and Auckland. The approximate total output for the colony up to the 31st of December, 1898, was 12,483,646 tons, to which Westland contributed 5,573,606, Otago (excluding Southland) 3,557,300, and Auckland 2,444,428 tons. The output for 1898 was, for Westland 464,023 tons, Otago (not including Southland) 233,003, and Auckland 144,331 tons. Canterbury's output from the Malvern mines was 13,347 tons, and Wellington's from the West Wanganui mine 1230 tons.
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Commercial.

            
During the year 1898, Auckland imported more than any other provincial district in the colony. For that year the total value of its imports amounted to £2,228,386, as against £2,071,184 for Wellington, £1,933,116 for Otago, and £1,471,304 for Canterbury. Auckland has for a number of years held the highest average in the value of goods imported by the large provincial districts.

            
In the value of exports for 1898, Canterbury (including Lyttelton and Timaru) led with £2,447,018, Otago (including the ports of Dunedin, Invercargill, Bluff, and Oamaru) came next with £1,950,018, Wellington was third with £1,88,075, and Auckland fourth with £1,676,152.

            
Comparing imports with exports, Auckland's excess of the former for the decade 1888 to 1897 was £1,554,809; but for each of the other large provinces the balance was on the other side. Wellington's excess of exports amounted to the modest sum of £338,831. Otago's was £2,890,568, while Canterbury's totalled the extraordinary sum of £10,991,892, an average of over a million a year. The fact that Auckland's exports have not been in excess may perhaps be accounted for by the importations of British capital in the shape of machinery for the development of the gold mines and in wages for miners, and Wellington's small excess of exports may be to some extent caused by the imports of specie by the banks, whose head offices are there, by the direct imports of Government, and by those indirectly caused by the expenditure in Wellington of Government money contributed by all parts of the Colony. Both Auckland and Wellington import largely for Hawke's Bay and Taranaki, but it is not easy to account for Canterbury's excess of ten millions in exports during a single decade.

            
In interprovincial commerce Auckland plays an important and increasing part, and she does a very large reciprocal trade within her own borders.
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Towns.

            
There is a great difference between Auckland and the other large provinces in regard to centres of population. The City of Auckland itself, with its beautiful residential suburbs, is the largest centre of population in the Colony, and in all respects which go to make a town, it compares advantageously with all the other centres, but there is an almost entire absence from the province of Auckland of what may be termed secondary centres, of such towns, for instance, as might compare with Invercargill and Oamaru in Otago; Wanganui, Palmerston North, or Masterton in Wellington; or Timaru in Canterbury. The Thames is, of course, a very important centre, but it is so exclusively a mining town, and is surrounded by so limited a district as to be hardly capable of being brought into comparison with towns of similar size in other provinces. Gisborne is growing into importance, and being the centre of an isolated district, must be considered the second town in the province, though some others are larger, such as the Thames and Onehunga.

            
During the last census period, the City of Auckland and suburbs added 6,329 to the population, as against a net decrease in the total population of the outside boroughs of 178. Though the city and suburbs of Wellington added the still greater number of 7,568, the outside boroughs of that province, instead of decreasing, made a net increase of 4,292, not to mention the formation of the borough of Pahiatua, whose rapidly increasing population was, in 1896, 1,158. Christchurch and suburbs added 3,484, against the very poor increase for the outside boroughs of 430; but Otago shows a better record for the outside boroughs, for while Dunedin and suburbs added only 1,411, the distant boroughs increased by 2,403. Of this increase, the north, south, cast and west boroughs of Invercargill contributed 1,368. Otago has, however, about twenty boroughs, with a population of less than a thousand each, the smallest—Avenal—having only 327. Auckland has only two such boroughs, and Birkenhead, the smaller of the two, with a population of 690, is a suburb of the city. Canterbury has two boroughs with less than a thousand, the smaller—Sumner—having 538. In Wellington there is no borough with less than a thousand, the smallest being the suburb of Karori, with a population of 1,024. These figures are sufficient to show that the town development in the province of Auckland is mainly going on in the chief centre. Fortunately there is abundant room for development in and around Auckland, and its splendid reserves will do much to prevent overcrowding.

            
While it would be encouraging to find secondary towns springing up in the province, and progressing rapidly towards importance, there are manifest advantages in having one large and ever-growing town. Auckland is reaping these advantages in many ways already, and will do so much more in the future.
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Scenery and Climate.

            
The scenery of New Zealand is so varied, and the remarkable features are so well distributed that no part of the Colony is without beauty or interest. In many respects, however, the province of Auckland takes the lead. It contains the most usefully indented coast, the most beautiful harbour, and the most beautiful city; the largest lake; some of the finest rivers; the largest gulf; and the most magnificent forests, where the wonderful kauri astonishes all beholders; and last, but far from least, the Provincial District of Auckland must ever be famous as the possessor of the marvellous hot lakes and springs. For tourists, whether as sightseers or seekers of health, Auckland is much the most attractive district in the Colony, and the climate is so mild, and in summer and autumn so much to be trusted that “camping-out” is one of the delights of the people. It is true that there are no very high mountains, though some of the ranges are snow-clad in winter. Railway communication is still much needed to open up the wonderland of Taupo and Waikaremoana, though the somewhat tardy recognition of the rights of Rotorua, which has been connected by rail with Auckland for some years has done much in this direction. Canoeists find ample scope for enjoyment on the Waikato, Thames, and other rivers, while for yachtsmen the Hauraki Gulf, with its beautiful and interesting islands, and its usually light propitious breezes, has inexhaustible sources of pleasure. The Whangarei, Bay of Islands, Whangaroa, Hokianga, Kaipara, Onehunga and other harbours are all so attractive in their varied characteristics, that the traveller in search of beauty spots can hardly go wrong.

            
Much has been said by residents in the South Island about the heat of the Auckland summer, but, like the “winds of Wellington,” the “heat of Auckland” has been the subject of much exaggeration. Certainly there is no part of the province which might fairly be called an ideal spot for the summer visit of a tourist determined to see all the sights of the district in a fortnight, and to race about in clothing sufficient for an Invercargill winter; but for those who dress rationally, and can in the early afternoon enjoy an hour or two in the shade with a book, spending the mornings and evenings in bathing, boating, driving, riding, cycling, cricketing, or even tennis playing, the climate of the Auckland province is enjoyable even in summer, and really delightful in autumn. In July and August most of the rain falls, and the air is cold enough for a fire in every room. In September and October it is still cold and generally very showery. Unless spring is very late, which is unusual, drier and warmer days come with November, and the heat fairly sets in before Christmas. Taking the climate “all in all,” however, it is unusual to find a preference for any other among those who have lived for any length of time in any part of the Auckland district.
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The Future.

            
The future of the Auckland province, and especially of the northern portion of it, is frequently discussed as a matter of very grave concern. The two main industries of that part of the province—kauri gum and kauri timber—are necessarily vanishing quantities, and, though the present rapid rate of digging the one and cutting the other may be kept up, and even accelerated for some years, prudent colonists are asking questions and making calculations as to the possible duration of the supplies and the probable effect on the prosperity of the province, when these supplies eventually run short. The two industries are of about equal magnitude; but their conditions are different in a marked degree. Whereas the timber



is but partially exported, and the export is mainly if not wholly confined to Australia, the gum is almost entirely dependent on the English and American markets. In regard to the kauri timber, therefore, it may reasonably be assumed that its price will rise with its scarcity, the competition being mainly between kauri and other timbers, which also are vanishing, though somewhat less rapidly. This will, of course, mean a gradually diminishing output, regulated, on the one hand, by the lessened demand consequent on the increased price, and, on the other, by an increasing reluctance among forest-owners to deal with their standing trees. The prospect of this increase, no matter how gradual it may prove to be, is of course, the reverse of pleasing, but the absence or suddenness is a redeeming feature of great importance to all concerned—the workmen, their employers, and the general public.

            
The price of kauri gum unquestionably cannot be expected to rise to any appreciable extent simply by reason of its own scarcity. While kauri gum is used almost exclusively for the manufacture of varnish, varnish is by no means made exclusively from kauri gum. If it were, from eight thousand to nine thousand people would not be working hard all the year round for a gross income of about four hundred thousand pounds a year—an average of less than fifty pounds each. Nothing more need be said to show that the price of kauri gum is not greatly affected by the difficulties of obtaining it. That its marketable value fluctuates is true, but the causes of fluctuation are almost entirely outside itself. Any stipulation on this side of the world for an appreciable rise in prices, without a corresponding improvement in quality, would be met, not by a decreased, but a decreased demand. Prices may so rise at any time as to wonderfully improve the profits in the gum industry, or they may so fall as to kill the industry in a few months. Similar disasters have happened, and must continue to happen in industries wherein competition is world-wide. When the price of copper fell very rapidly from £120 per ton to an exact third of that sum, thousands of copper-miners in Australia and elsewhere were deprived of a livelihood; and it was a source of but little satisfaction to those thus deprived to know that copper-mining was being pursued more vigorously and more profitably
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than ever in other and distant parts of the world. But while a sudden collapse of the gum industry is, from outside causes, always possible, the probabilities of such a catastrophe are, fortunately, remote, and there are good grounds for assuming that, though scarcity will be powerless to raise prices for a gradually decreasing supply, the cessation of inducements for gum diggers to continue their poorly-paid work will not be too sudden to admit of a more or less gradual decline of the industry, and the absorption of the greater part of the liberated labour.

            
That every reasonable effort should be made to prepare for these contingencies is admitted on all sides, and there is a consensus of opinion that the opening up of the country by roads and railways would soon place Auckland beyond dependence on her declining industries. Important as these industries undoubtedly are, and disastrous as their sudden cessation would assuredly be, they are not, after all, the life of the province. Both Auckland and Aucklanders are fitted for something not only more lasting, but also more elevating than sawing timber or digging for either gum or gold, and the truest friends of the province are unanimous in their desire to see a much larger proportion of its population devoted to the nobler branches of husbandry—those branches which admit of the highest standard of ideal family life, and, in that way, make for stability, permanence and irresistible power of progression.

            
With climatic conditions which the world can hardly beat, with natural wonders all her own, with millions of acres of virgin land, with a sturdy, patriotic population determined to succeed and able to supply all its own real needs, with a history proving its power to turn even misfortunes to good account, and with a host of other advantages many of which even this somewhat extended article has failed to enumerate, the Provincial District of Auckland, exercising reasonable prudence and forethought, may look with confidence to the developments of the future, well assured of a prosperous career, and for the succeeding generations of its people, a goodly inheritance.
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In the old provincial days—the good old days, to which early colonists still look back with feelings of affection—the office of Superintendent was the highest in the direct gift of the people. A mere Member of Parliament was a comparative nobody. Almost all matters with which the people were most intimately concerned, such as roads, bridges, schools, proposed railways, and even much of the business now undertaken by the municipalities—were in those days controlled by the Provincial Councils, and in these bodies the Superintendents were all but all-powerful.

            
In a short but interesting article corresponding to this in the Wellington Volume, information is given which applies to provincial councils generally, and which need not be repeated here. Suffice it to say that through defects in the constitution these councils became possessed of power which it was never intended they should have; and this no doubt hastened the downfall of the institutions, which, kept within their legitimate sphere, might have remained to this day the most useful governing bodies under the constitution. The Provincial Councils are all gone, however, and, though there is occasionally some talk about new institutions for local government similar to what it was at first intended the provincial bodies should be, it is practically certain that never again will there be in New Zealand any governing bodies similar to what these councils really were.

            
The Auckland Provincial Council was one of the most important in the Colony. For more than ten years prior to abolition it had the old House of Parliament for its meetings exclusively, and this, and the relatively greater importance of its part of the Colony in those days, gave to the Auckland Provincial Council in its later years a significance and a dignity attained by few, if any, of the others. And nearly all this importance and dignity centred round the office and in the person of the Superintendent. He it was who held in his hands the destinies of the people, and to all classes it was a matter of great importance who should be the chosen of the electors.

            
The election of the Superintendent every four years, and often more frequently, caused the greatest excitement, especially in the days of open voting. A special roll had to be prepared and printed for the superintendency election. The coming event was for weeks the one absorbing topic of conversation and speculation, and few can recall, without feeling the tameness of the present day elections, the mass meetings in front of the Courthouse or on the Barrack Hill, and the throngs of excited electors and committee-men round and about the old Mechanics' Institute—now laughing, now haranguing, but always in such condition that a word or a wink to “Paddy” Bonfield would be enough to start a disturbance, resulting in a score of sore heads. Those days are gone, and with them, General Wynyard, William Brown, John Williamson, Robert Graham, Sir Frederick Whitaker, Thomas Bannatyne Gillies, and the last to fill the office, Sir George Grey. But Auckland is fortunate in having among her citizens, still active in business, her third Superintendent, Dr. Logan Campbell, who held office more than forty years ago.

            
Among the old councillors, who were prominent in their day, but who are now numbered among the dead, may be mentioned: The Hon. Dr. Pollen, F. W. Merriman, T. H. Bartley, J. M. Dargaville, Reader Wood, Hon. P. Dignan, Jerome Cadman, David Sheehan, John Sheehan, Every Maclean, Allan O'Neill, James O'Neill, John Lundon, Thomas Beckham, R. J. Creighton, Dr. Nicholson, W. J. Hurst, Thomas Macready, G. M. Reed, Joseph Newman, Andrew Bevenidge, Archibald Clark, James McCosh Clark, James Dilworth, Hugh Carleton, J. A. Gilfillan, Richard Ridings, Benjamin Tonks, A. K. Taylor, J. C. Taylor, Joseph May, W. T. Buckland, William Rowe, Sir R. Douglas, and last, but by no means least notable, George Staines.

            
Of prominent provincial councillors still in the land of the living, the best known are: Sir G. M. O'Rorke, who sat for the last eleven years of the Council's existence, and occupied during the whole time the important office of Speaker; Mr. C. B. Davy, after wards Chief Judge of the Native Lands Court, who resigned fro the Council in 1869 to enter the Government service as Warden and Resident Magistrate at the Thames; Mr David Goldie, the present Mayor of Auckland; the Hon. W. Swanson, W. Kelly, and G. B. Morris; Captain Daldy; and Messrs P. A. Phillps, W. L. Rees, F. M. P. Brookfield, G. S. Graham, F. L. Prime, and J. T. Boylan.

            
These names of superintendents and councillors are sufficient to show that the Auckland Provincial Council was largely composed of men, who had made or were destined to make their mark in the political world of New Zealand, and they are also a guarantee that the keenest interest was taken in the affairs of the Council.

            
To give a complete list with pictures and biographical sketches of those who took part in the deliberations of this interesting body would at this distance of time be impossible; but the dates and some other particulars of the sessions are given, that the vicissitudes of the institution, and relations between the Council and the various Superintendents, may, to some extent, be gauged.

            
Colonel (afterwards General) R. H. Wynyard, the first Superintendent of the Auckland Province, was elected to that office on the 1st July, 1853; and in accordance with the constitution the



first Council was elected immediately thereafter. Colonel Wynyard's opponent was Mr. William Brown, merchant, still well-remembered as a member of the firm of Brown, Campbell and Co. The first contest was fairly severe, but the gallant Colonel won by a majority of 102 votes. He called his Council for the 18th of October, 1853, and on that day, Mr. T. H. Bartley, solicitor, was elected without opposition to the office of Speaker. The session was prorogued on the 16th of February, 1854.

            
The second session was opened on the 25th of October of the same year, and was prorogued on the 18th of January, 1855, on which day the Superintendent resigned, having found the office incompatible with his more important positions as Commander of the Forces and Administrator of the Government, during the prolonged interregnum between the departure of Governor Grey and the arrival of Governor Gore Browne.

            
To fill the vacancy thus caused in the Superintendency, Mr. W. Brown, the previously defeated candidate and Mr. (afterwards Sir) Frederick Whitaker went to the poll, and though Mr. Whitaker had been a prominent member of Colonel Wynyard's Provincial Executive, Mr. Brown was returned, on the 14th of March, 1855, by a majority of 149 votes.

            
The third session was called by the new Superintendent for the 26th of the same month, within a fortnight of his election. As was probably expected, the Superintendent, being of the party opposed to that which had heartily supported his predecessor, found himself at the head of a Council with which it was impossible for him to work amicably, and to reform which he had been elected. Proroguing the Council by proclamation dated the 30th of April, 1855, he endeavoured to secure dissolution, so that those who had elected him might have an opportunity of choosing a Council to support him. After two unsuccessful appeals to Acting-Governor Wynyard, the fourth session was held, and lasted from the 15th of August to the 22nd of September, and then Mr. Brown succeeded in his aim as the new Governor, Colonel Thomas Gore Browne, C.B., dissolved the Council on the 25th of September.

            
This, of course, necessitated a fresh election of Superintendent, and Mr. Brown was preparing for this third contest when illness in his family made his return to England an imperative duty. Thus the “Progress Party,” as his supporters had named themselves, were placed in a dilemma, but Dr. Campbell, Mr. Brown's partner—who would himself have gone Home had Mr. Brown been able to remain in the Colony—was persuaded, though with difficulty, to place himself in the hands of the party. The other side again put up Mr. Whitaker, and a very keenly contested election, held on the 25th of October, 1855, resulted in a majority of ninety-eight for Dr. Campbell. On the following day, the electors of the second Provincial Council accommodated the popular doctor with a bare majority of “Progressives,” and he called the new Council for the fifth session, on the 28th of January, 1856. The first business of the Council was the election of a Speaker, and Mr. Bartley was again chosen for the office without opposition. Though the Auckland Provincial Council never availed itself, as did some Council in the South, of the privileges of “Responsible Government,” there were generally two very decided parties in the Council. Of the twenty-four members, thirteen favoured the Superintendent, and pleasant relations were maintained throughout the session, which was prorogued on the 23rd of April. It was Dr. Campbell's only session, however, for the Governor accepted his resignation on the 17th of September of the same year, on account of the doctor finding it necessary to pay a second visit to the Old Land. Of the eight gentlemen who in Auckland held the high office of Superintendent, Dr. Campbell is the only one now living—a most worthy link between the past and the present.

            
On the 28th of October, 1856, another very hard fought contest took place, when Mr. John Williamson was elected by a majority of 162 votes, his opponent being Mr. J. A. Gilfillan, who, like Mr. Whitaker, had been a member of General Wynyard's Provincial Executive.

            
The sixth session of the Provincial Council was called by the new Superintendent for the 9th of December, 1856, and by the 20th of the following February the strained relations between the Superintendent and the Council culminated in one of the most disgraceful scenes, which ever occurred even in the Auckland Provincial Council. A seat of the Council had become vacant, through the resignation of a member, and the want of harmony resulted in writs for the election of a successor being issued by both the Council and the Superintendent, and two members were returned to dispute the seat on the floor of the Council. In connection with this squabble, the whole Council was locked up for a night and a day. During the night, the rowdy crowd, which was outside hurled stones at the building, and even passed through an open window a cat with a tin of turpentine tied to its tail. This disgraceful scene was ended by the Superintendent sending in a memorandum to the effect that as the Council's attitude held out no prospect of that body carrying on the business of the province, he would conduct it himself, and with that intention he prorogued the Council.

            
During the recess the binary members resigned, and many hoped and believed that in that way the difficulty of the extra member would be got over. It so happened, however, that in those days it was the rule to insert in the body of the writ, the name of the member whose resignation had caused the vacancy, and as the dispute as to who held the seat had never been settled, it was impossible to say who had resigned it. Whatever the real object may have been, the Superintendent caused writs to be issued for both. The opposition put up only one man, but had him nominated for both vacancies, or, rather, the double vacancy. The supporters of the Superintendent, however, nominated a man for each, and, a high authority having decided that the time allowed was insufficient for the purposes of legality, the opposition party took but little interest in the election, and the two supporters of the party in power were declared by very large majorities.

            
With this disturbing question still unsettled the seventh session of the Provincial Council was called for the 17th of August, 1857. The Superintendent had not stated his intention of being present, and when the councillors had assembled the Chief Executive Officer was conspicuous by his absence. The two claimants for the one seat were



there, however, which revived the old difficulty of the extra member. A motion for adjournment was moved, and though it was declared on the voices to be carried, one of the “ayes” called for a division, as the most formal and formidable ways of bringing under the Speaker's notice the fact that there were in the Chamber two persons whose legal standing as members was disputed. Both those gentlemen voted, but many of the leading members of the Council declared that it was the Speaker's duty to treat both names as mere blots on the division list. This placed the Speaker—Mr. T. H. Bartley, who had held the office from its inception—in an unpleasant position; but he had proved himself equal to many awkward occasions, and he promptly erased both names as being those of persons unknown to him as members of the Council. That settled the adjournment, which was for eight days; but within an hour thereafter a Provincial Government Gazette appeared containing a proclamation by the Superintendent proroguing the Council. This session, which lasted an hour and a half, is a record for shortness.

            
For some months prior to this seventh session, the Governor had been asked by the Superintendent, by a minority of the Council, and by about thirteen hundred petitioners, to dissolve the Council, but a counter petition had been sent in praying His Excellency not to grant a dissolution, until new and purified rolls had been prepared. But this short session led to a settlement of the point, for on the following day Governor Gore Browne dissolved the Council, in terms the reverse of complimentary.

            
The new rolls were not ready, and the party which had clamoured for them for so many months declined to nominate a candidate for the superintendency, on the ground, ostensibly, that there were too many “dead heads” to fight, who, it was not over-delicately hinted, would be somehow secured for the party in power. Thus Mr. Williamson was returned unopposed on the 15th of September, 1857.

            
The new Council—the third—which was elected about the end of October, was called together for the 25th of November, and elected Mr. William Powditch to the office of Speaker. This session—the eighth—was prorogued on the 24th of March, 1858. The ninth session lasted from the 4th of October to the 24th of December, 1858; the tenth, from the 2nd of May to the 12th of May, 1859; the eleventh from the 11th of July to the 1st of November, 1859, with many long adjournments; the twelfth, from the 31st of January to the 1st of June, 1860 (when it was prorogued by proclamation, most of the meetings during the preceding month having lapsed through want of a quorum, the Speaker being frequently the only member present); and the thirteenth, from the 21st of November, 1860, to the 27th of February, 1861. This was the first Council allowed to continue its full term of four years.

            
On the 24th of October, 1861, Mr. Williamson was re-elected to the Superintendency by a majority of forty-nine votes, his opponent, Dr. Stratford, polling 1,117, as against Mr. Williamson's 1,166. Early in November the fourth Council was elected, and met for the fourteenth session on the 6th of January, 1862, when Mr. William Powditch was re-elected to the office of Speaker. The prorogation by proclamation of the Superintendent took place on the 7th of May, 1862.

            
Exactly eleven months after his election, Mr. Williamson resigned the Superintendency, giving as his reasons want of harmony with the Provincial Council, and the passing by the General Assembly of the “Native Land Act,” both of which he considered had the effect of limiting his efforts for the adadvancement of the province. Mr. Robert Graham was just then the most popular man in the province, in consequence of services rendered and brave deeds done in connection with the wrecks of the “White Swan” and “Lord Worsley.” Mr. Graham was asked to accept nomination for the highest office in the gift of the people, and he consented, the only candidate then in the field being Mr. Joseph Newman. Mr. Newman, however, retired, but Mr. Williamson was nominated for the position just vacated by himself. The contest, which took place on the 26th of November, 1862, resulted in 1,625 votes being cast for Mr. Graham and 1,141 for Mr. Williamson.

            
The Council was called by the new Superintendent for its fifteenth session on the 27th of December, 1862, and was prorogued on the 21st April, 1863. The sixteenth session lasted from the 25th of September, 1863, to the 21st of April, 1864, and the seventeenth from the 5th of October to the 17th of November, 1864. The eighteenth session was called in great haste for the 21st of December of the same year, the objects being the protest against the removal of the seat of Government to Wellington, and the furtherance of the desire to obtain for Auckland, or at least for the North Island, separation from the remainder of the Colony. The particular business for which the Council was summoned was exhausted in two days, and the Council adjourned until the 19th of January, 1865, and was prorogued by proclamation on the 11th of May.

            
A few months later the office of Superintendent became vacant by the effluxion of time, and Messrs Graham and Williamson were again in the field. Both, however, agreed to retire if Mr. (afterwards Sir Frederick) Whitaker could be induced to accept the position, as it was felt on all sides that a man of exceptional ability was needed to fight Auckland's battles against both the Imperial and the General Government. Mr. Whitaker was with difficulty persuaded to accept nomination, and on the 25th of October, 1865, he was elected unopposed to the office, which, ten years earlier, was given over his head to Mr. William Brown.

            
During the following month the fifth Council was elected, and on its meeting for the nineteenth session, on the 12th of December, 1865, Mr. (now Sir Maurice) O'Rorke was elected to the office of Speaker. Like the previous Speaker, Mr. O'Rorke represented the town of Onehunga. Mr. Powditch was nominated for re-election for Onehunga, but failed to secure even the second seat, to which Mr. David Kirkwood was elected. Mr. James O'Neill was also proposed for the office of Speaker, but Mr. O'Rorke, who sat that day as a councillor for the first time, and was nominated by Messrs John Williamson and Hugh Carleton, carried off the honour. This was the first time there had been a contest for the office of Speaker of the Council, and although open voting was the method in vogue for both the superintendency and the



council elections, this election was, on the motion of Mr. Buckland, conducted by ballot. This session of the Council was prorogued on the 21st of March, 1866. The twentieth session opened on the 12th of November, 1866, and was prorogued by proclamation on the 8th of February, 1867.

            
At the beginning of the following month Mr. Whitaker resigned the Superintendency, and the act was generally considered as a confession that he had not been eminently successful in the difficult work he had undertaken. Mr. John Williamson was thereupon elected without a contest, the only other candidate, Mr. C. F. Mitchell, withdrawing on the day of nomination, the 17th of April, 1867. Sessions of the Council followed rapidly, the twenty-first sitting from the 17th to the 26th of June; the twenty-second, from the 28th of November, 1867, to the 5th of March, 1868; the twenty-third, from the 15th of June to the 3rd of July; and the twenty-fourth from the 7th of December, 1868, to the 2nd of March, 1869.

            
Mr. T. B. (afterwards Judge) Gillies was the next to hold the office of Superintendent of Auckland. The retiring holder of that position, Mr. John Williamson, offered himself for re-election, and the contest was the most severely fought of any in the annals of Auckland's days of provincialism. The struggle was on a purely personal basis, for as might be expected both candidates were avowed provincialists. The 18th of November, 1869, was the day fixed for the election, but the excitement was rife for ten days thereafter, during the whole of which time returns were dropping in from the country polling-booths, and altering the positions of the candidates. At the first announcement Mr. Williamson led by over two hundred, but this lead gradually vanished, and Mr. Gillies at length was in the ascendant. Finally, it was discovered that 2,531 votes had been cast for Mr. Gillies, giving him the very narrow majority of fifty-two. In these days of telegraphs and homing pigeons ten days would seem like an age to the candidates and their friends, if they were kept so long in suspense; but communication, been in the province of Auckland, has made great strides in thirty years.

            
The Council—the seventh—elected immediately after Mr. Gillies's successful contest was such that that gentleman was enabled to hold office satisfactorily for the full term of four years—an achievement which had been accomplished by only one of his predecessors, Mr. Williamson, and by that gentleman only once. The twenty-fifth sessions was called for the 19th of January, 1870, when Mr. O'Rorke was re-elected Speaker without opposition. This session closed on the 18th of February, the remaining sessions of Mr. Gillies's Council sitting as follows: The twenty-sixth, from the 25th of October, 1870, to the 31st of January, 1871; the twenty-seventh, from the 22nd of November to the 22nd of December, 1871; and the twenty-eighth, from the 19th of November, 1872, to the 17th of December, 1872.

            
Mr. Gillies did not seek re-election, and the contest of 1873, which took place on the 6th of November, lay between Messrs John Williamson, J. M. Dargaville, and H. H. Lusk. The election was keenly fought, and Mr. Williamson polled 2,929; Mr. Dargaville, 2,440; and Mr. Lusk, 1,817. This was Mr. Williamson's fifth and last election.

            
The seventh and last Council was elected immediately thereafter, and was called together on the 16th of December, 1873, for the twenty-ninth session. Mr. O'Rorke was again elected to the office of Speaker without a contest, for though Mr. Hugh Carleton was nominated, his name was afterwards withdrawn. The session was prorogued by the Superintendent on the 17th of June, 1874; but the thirtieth and last session was called by proclamation of his successor, Sir George Grey.

            
On Tuesday, the 16th of February, 1875, the Auckland Provincial Government Gazette appeared in mourning, announcing that at half-past two that morning His Honour the Superintendent had departed this life at his residence, Great North Road, and that the funeral would take place at half-past four on the afternoon of the following Saturday.

            
By the death of Mr. Williamson, Mr. O'Rorke, the Speaker, became Deputy-Superintendent, and conducted the business of the Superintendency until the 24th of March, when Sir George Grey was elected without opposition. Mr. Dargaville had entered the lists, but he retired on the day on which Sir George consented to stand.

            
The thirtieth and last session was called for the 10th of May, 1875, and was prorogued on the 28th of the same month by the Superintendent, who seemed to expect that there would be at least another session. The House of Representatives, however, on the 29th of September, 1875, resolved that the Abolition of Provinces Bill “do pass, and the title be ‘An Act to Provide for the abolition of Provinces.’” This Bill enacted that no further meetings of Provincial Councils should be held, and that the Superintendents of the Provinces were to exercise their functions, subject to the will of the Governor-in-Council, until the day following the prorogation of Parliament in 1876. The delay in the effect of the abolition clause or the Bill, was doubtless intended for the dual purpose of allowing sufficient time to elapse for the careful winding up of the affairs of the provinces, and for the remote possibility that the general elections in the following January might result in the choice of a majority pledged to repeal the Bill. By some, the faint hope was indulged that the Abolition Bill might be upset as ultra virus, even after it was quite clear that the majority of the new Parliament was in favour of abolition. Indeed, Sir George Grey himself moved that the House should go into Committee to consider an address to the Governor, praying that a sum of £5,000 might be placed on the supplementary estimates as a fund for testing the validity of the Act. The motion, however, was negatived by an overwhelming majority, and on the 1st of November, 1876—the session of Parliament having closed the previous day—the Provinces of New Zealand unceremoniously dropped out of existence.

            
In the case of Auckland, the particulars here recorded point very clearly to the fact that its existence as a province was not by any means rosy. During its twenty-three years of existence there were eight superintendents, and twelve superintendency elections, the average term being less than two years; only two terms—Mr Gillies's and Mr. Williamson's second—lasted the full



four years; and only one man held the office more than once. There were seven Councils, of which the first and second were dissolved, and there were thirty sessions varying in duration from less than two hours to more than six months. This affords a very striking contrast to the condition of provincial matters in Wellington, where the superintendency was held for the first eighteen years by one man, Dr. Featherston, who resigned to accept the Agent-Generalship, and for the remaining five years, by the worthy doctor's chief supporter, Sir William Fitzherbert. It may be worthy of mention that Dr. Featherston, who had been so strongly attached to provincialism in Wellington, and Mr. John Williamson, who was equally if not more fervently attached to provincialism in Auckland, should both have lived to see the provinces doomed, but not dead.
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Robert Henry Wynyard, 
 C.B., was the first Superintendent of the Province of Auckland, holding that honourable position from July, 1853, to January, 1855. Born in Windsor Castle in the year 1801, he entered the military service at an early age, and rose rapidly in the service. In 1842 he came to New Zealand in charge of the 58th (Rutlandshire) Regiment, sent out for the protection of the infant Colony. He was decorated with the honour of Commander of the Bath in 1846 for his services in the first New Zealand war. Appointed Commander of the forces in New Zealand in January, 1851, he held that position until his departure from the Colony. He was Lieutenant-Governor of the Province of New Ulster (North Island of New Zealand) from April, 1851, to September, 1853. While holding this office he successfully arranged with the natives of Coromandel an agreement whereby the gold, then first discovered, was allowed to be peacefully won. On Sir George Grey's departure from New Zealand in December, 1853, Colonel Wynyard was appointed Acting-Governor and continued in that office until September, 1855, when he was relieved by Colonel Gore Browne. The first session of the New Zealand House of Representatives under the Constitution Act was opened by him as representative of the Crown, in May, 1854. Owing to the absence in the Act of any provision for securing that the executive should be represented in the Legislature, the Acting-Governor was unable without reference to the Imperial authorities' togrant responsible government in its entirety. The House demanded as its right that the old executive, who had been appointed by the Crown as permanent advisers, should be discharged, and a new executive from among themselves appointed. Acting under Instructions from his constitutional advisers, Colonel Wynyard expressed his inability to comply fully with these demands, until he had explicit instructions from the Home Government, who had appointed the old executive. The House immediately became hostile, but the Acting-Governor, remaining firm in his position, awaited the desired instructions and finally, after several scenes between the members of the House, prorogued parliament for a fortnight. This step had the desired effect of bringing members to a more rational state of mind and they acknowledged the reasonableness of the position taken up by the Acting-Governor by a resolution, passed on the 1st of September, 1854, to the effect that “until responsible government in a complete form should be established by competent authority the executive government of the Colony should be continued as formerly under the exclusive management of the public officers, who at present derive their authority from and are responsible to Her Majesty.” After this, the work of law-making, which had been totally lost sight of by the members in their contest with the Government, proceeded smoothly, and on proroguing the Assembly, Colonel Wynyard was able to congratulate the members on the number of useful and necessary enactments passed. About six months later the Acting-Governor, in answer to his dispatches, received intimation from England that the Imperial Minister had sanctioned the establishment of responsible government in New Zealand on condition that the old executive should receive adequate pension. But the House was not now eager for responsible government, and although Colonel Wynyard at the commencement of the session of 1855, informed parliament that it then rested with itself to take the necessary steps, nothing was done during that session. It was only in the year 1856 and when the then Governor, Colonel Gore Browne, informed the House that he would postpone all important matters not requiring
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immediate attention until the contemplated change had taken place, that the House moved itself in the matter at all. The following copy of the inscription on the central piece of plate presented to Colonel Wynyard on his departure from the Colony bears an interesting connection with this part of his career. “The under-signed settlers of the Provinces of Auckland. New Plymouth. Wellington, Nelson, Canterbury, and Otago, desirous of placing upon record in the family of Colonel Wynyard an expression of their deep obligation to his Excellency, as the Officer temporarily administering the Government of New Zealand during the absence of Governor, Sir George Grey, for having as soon as possible called into action the suspended Constitution of General Government for the Colony, and still more, for having without delay established real constitutional government by means of ministerial responsibility, at a time and under circumstances of great embarrassment to himself and danger to the country, respectfully pray that his Excellency may be pleased to accept this lasting testimonial of their sentiments. William Brown, and 500 others, Monday, 12th of June, 1857.” After he was relieved of the Governorship of the Colony, Colonel Wynyard remained in New Zealand in command of the forces, until his regiment left for England in 1858. He received the rank of Major-General in October of the same year. Early in the following year he was sent out to the Cape of Good Hope, where he had command of the forces. He was also Acting-Governor at the Cape (curiously enough again in succession to Sir George Grey), from August, 1859, to July, 1860, and again from August, 1861, to January, 1862. In 1863 he returned to England on sick leave, and died there on 6th of February, 1864, aged sixty-three years. After his death his widow and children returned to New Zealand and established themselves in Auckland, where they and their descendants have since lived. A number of streets and public places in Auckland, in the retention of Colonel Wynyard's surname, bear evidence of his popularity in the northern city. As showing the estimation in which the gallant Colonel was held by the Imperial authorities, the following letter needs no comment: “Horse Guards, 28th February, 1856. Sir, in obedience to the directions of the Field-Marshal Commander-in-Chief, I do myself the honour to acquaint you that his Lordship has recently received a letter from the Secretary of State for War with another from the Secretary of State for the Colonies, regarding your retirement from the office of Governor of New Zealand on the assumption thereof of Colonel Gore Browne, and calling attention to the satisfactory manner in which you have performed the duties that have devolved upon you since you have been in the Islands, and in making the communication to you, I am directed to state that while it affords the Field-Marshal great satisfaction to have the means of recording so strong a testimonial to your services, both civil and military, he desires to assure you that it is not more than he would have expected from the character which you have always borne in the service.—I have, etc., C. Yorke, Military Secretary.—Colonel R. H. Wynyard, C.B., Commander of the Forces in New Zealand.”
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Mr. William Brown,
              who was the second to hold the office of Superintendent of Auckland, was a leading man in the early days of the settlement, and was well-known throughout Australasia. He was born near Dundee, Scotland, about the year 1809, and educated for that branch of the legal profession known in Scotland as “Writers to the Signet.” Mr. Brown joined in the new colonization movement which had been brought into prominence by the establishment of the free colony of South Australia, and arrived in Adelaide early in 1839. He there engaged in commerce, but soon became convinced that he might go further without faring worse. He, therefore, determined to proceed to Sydney, by the ship “Palmyra,” which had sailed from Greenock in July, 1839, bound for Adelaide, Melbourne and Sydney. On the passage from Adelaide to Sydney, Mr. Brown made the acquaintance of the “Palmyra's” surgeon, Dr. Logan Campbell, and when they parted they probably little thought that they would meet again in a few months in the distant and little known islands of New Zealand, to found one of the most prominent commercial firms in the prospective colony and follow each other in the high office of Superintendent of Auckland. How the partnership came about is told by Dr. Campbell in the early pages of “Poenamo. Mr. Brown arrived at the Bay of Islands on the 2nd of February, 1840, and was there when the treaty of Waitangi was signed. By the 25th of the same month he was in Coromandel, which was an important little settlement even then, when the site of Auckland was a wild waste. On the 13th of April, Dr. Campbell entered the harbour of Coromandel, having come from Sydney, via Port Nicholson, in the “Lady Lilford.” A few days later, Messrs Brown and Campbell, in company with three others, visited the Waitemata harbour in the hope of purchasing from the native owners some lands upon its shores. The attempt failed, however, but Messrs Brown and Campbell had climbed “Remuera,” as Mount Hobson was named by the Maoris, and were convinced that the beautiful isthmus must sooner or later be the site of a large town, if not the capital of the Colony. The trip was not quite fruitless, for the two young Scotchmen learned that the little island of Motukorea—now better known as Brown's Island—was owned by a small tribe of natives settled near Coromandel. Visiting the owners of the islet, which was 150 acres in extent, they soon purchased it, though some months elapsed before they could effect a landing, possessed of a canoe of their own, some kind of craft being necessary to prevent their complete imprisonment. On the 13th of August—exactly four months after their second chance meeting—Mr. Brown and his friend and partner, Dr. Campbell, landed on Motukorea to await developments in the Waitemata and the arrival of Mrs. Brown, who had remained in Sydney until her husband should make some decision as to a place of residence. Thus they were on the spot, and on the 21st of December, 1840, they started out to effect a settlement in Auckland by pitching a tent. On the 12th of February, 1841, they set about getting timber for premises, which they had decided to erect as soon as they were in possession of land for a site. Chartering a vessel named the “Black Joke,” they secured the timber from Whangaroa, and on the 1st of March began carrying it our their shoulders from the water's edge. In the meantime, Mrs. Brown had arrived and been duly installed at Motukorea, and the island was the family headquarters until the 24th of June, 1841, when Mr. and Mrs. Brown removed into the “first wooden house in Auckland, which is still preserved at the rear of the business premises, and in which their son, the late Mr. Owen Brown, was born. Mr. William Brown took a leading part in all matters of importance connected with the young capitat, and was concerned in the ownership of the “Southern Cross” newspaper when nominations were invited for the office of first Superintendent of the Province of Auckland. For this Mr. Brown was nominated in opposition to Colonel Wynyard, who, however, won the election. When the Colonel resigned to become Acting Governor and the Commander of the Forces, Mr. Brown was elected to the Superintendency by a substantial majority over Mr. (afterwards Sir) Frederick Whitaker. This election took place on the 14th of March. 1855, and Mr. Brown was at a serious disadvantage in having a council with whom it was difficult to work. He at length, however, secured a dissolution, necessitating a fresh election of both Council and Superintendent, and was entering heartily into the election fight when circumstances occurred which called him to Scotland. Mr. Brown was very highly esteemed as an upright gentleman, and had he been able to remain in the Colony it is exceedingly likely that he would have greatly influenced the progress of Auckland. At any rate, he never came back, but remained in the Old Country, drawing his share of the profits from the firm he and his friend had established at the Antipodes, and died on



the 19th of January, 1898, in his eighty-ninth year.
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Dr. John Logan Campbell,
              who was Superintendent of the Province of Auckland during the years 1855 and 1856, is one of Auckland's best known and most respected citizens. He was born in 1817, and is the only son of Dr. John Campbell of Edinburgh and grandson of Sir James Campbell, Bart., of Abernchill and Kilbryde, Perthshire. He was educated at Edinburgh, took his degree of M.D. at Edinburgh University and gained his diploma of surgeon at the famous Royal College of Surgeons in that city. In 1839, when the first great move of emigration flowed to Australia, Dr. Campbell determined to try his fortunes in that direction. After a three months tour through the Bathurst and Lachlan districts with a view to becoming a squatter he found the convict element too uncongenial to his taste. New Zealand having just been declared a British Colony, he decided to risk his future in the land of the Maori, and early in 1840 landed at Coromandel. In his interesting book “Poenamo” Dr. Campbell cleverly depicts the foundation of Auckland and how he awaited the first sale of town lots in 1841, whilst living on his little island of Motukorea in Auckland Harbour. In conjunction with his late partner, Mr. W. Brown, Dr. Campbell purchased the allotment in Shortland Street on which Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., the first mercantile firm established in Auckland, have ever since conducted their business. Though the title of “Doctor” still clings to him, he has never practised his profession, having thus early adopted a commercial career. In 1848, Dr. Campbell left the Colony on a visit Home, en route through Torres Strait; he touched at Singapore, Calcutta, and Suez, and made the ascent of the Nile to the Second Cataract. Thereafter he made his tour of Greece. Turkey, and the European Continent generally, spending fifteen months in constant travelling. On his return to Auckland, then in full swing as the capital of the Colony, Dr. Campbell took a prominent part in all matters, commercial and political. Besides ably filling the post of Superintendent of the Province, he took a very active part in the General Assembly, as member for Auckland, and joined the Stafford ministry. During this period he paid a hurried visit to the Old Country; on his return he was pressed by his old colleagues to contest Parnell, and was returned unopposed. Five years later he again visited Europe, making a lengthened stay of ten years. Returning to Auckland in 1871, he did not re-enter politics, but continued prominently connected with all the leading local institutions. His name is found among the list of presidents of the Northern Club, Auckland Institute, Chamber of Commerce, and Bank of New Zealand. He has been chairman of the Education Board, New Zealand Insurance Company, and many other Important directorates. To Dr. Campbell's liberality. Auckland was indebted for the establishment of the Free School of Art, which he maintained at his own sole cost for the eleven years of its existence. This school was closed when the Elam bequest for the existing free school of art came into operation. Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co., of which firm Dr. Campbell is now the sole surviving partner, were in their day foremost in the development of the Colony's resources. They loaded the first ship which left Auckland for London with kauri timber, manganese, kauri gum, flax, etc., and in many other ways did much for Auckland. Looking back over nearly sixty years Dr Campbell recalls with mingled feelings the time when Queen Street was a flax swamp, and spring tides rippled on the beach where now stands the Auckland Post Office. Through all the intervening years his name has been a household word throughout the length and breadth of the Colony, but especially in the Auckland province, deservedly held by all in the highest esteem and respect. Dr. Campbell is enjoying a “green old age”; yet, every morning finds him early at his post after walking to town from his mansion on the point near Judge's Bay—a distance of nearly two miles. As an amateur photographer, he has even quite recently produced many artistic pictures of Auckland Harbour and other places of interest. In literature, he many years ago made a name.
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Mr. John Williamson,
              who was five times elected Superintendent of the Province of Auckland, was almost continuously in prominent positions in connection with the province. Mr. Williamson was born in Newry. North of Ireland, in 1815, and learned the business of a printer. He arrived in Sydney in 1840, and came on to this Colony during the following year, and worked quietly at his profession until 1845, when he established the “New Zealander,” the first issue of which was published on the 7th of June of that year. In this venture he was subsequently joined by Mr. W. C. Wilson, the late father of the Messrs W. S. and J. L. Wilson, who, with Mr. A. G. Horton, are now the proprietors of the “New Zealand Herald.” Mr. Williamson's first public position was that of member of the first Provincial Council of Auckland, which met on the 18th of October, 1853, and in which he sat as the representative of the Pensioner Settlements. To this position he was elected on the 22nd of July, 1853, and on the 27th of October, 1855, he was elected, in conjunction with Mr. Joseph Greenwood, to represent the Pensioner Settlements in the House of Representatives. On the 15th of April, 1856, he was sworn in as a member of the second Parliament of the Colony, and he was returned to every succeeding Parliament until his death, which occurred on the 16th of February, 1875. From 1861, however, he sat as member for the city of Auckland West. Before his first election to the Superintendency, Mr. Williamson sat as a member of the Provincial Council during five sessions, and again during the nineteenth and twentieth sessions, when Sir Frederick Whitaker was Superintendent. During this time he was Waste Lands Commissioner, and at various times he held office under the General Government as Crown Lands Commissioner and Curator of Intestate Estates. He was an able politician, and few public men have had more devoted or more constant followers.
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Mr. Robert Graham,
             
 who was Super-intendent of the Province of Auckland from 1862 to 1865, may very justly be classed amongst Auckland's prominent pioneers. He was born near Glasgow, Scotland, in 1820, and was the third son of a farmer and coalmine owner, who, though wealthy, trained his sons in a manner well calculated to fit them for useful work. While not more than sixteen years of age, Mr. Graham was entrusted with the management of an important branch of his father's business, and very nearly lost his life. The colliers had struck, and young Graham was descending the pit himself, but some of the strands of the rope had been



cut by treacherous hands, and the boy manager was precipitated to a depth of over a hundred feet. He, however, became entangled in one of the ropes, and in that way his life was saved, though for several weeks he was confined to his bed. After recovering from the shock, he entered a wholesale warehouse, and spent six years in acquiring a thorough knowledge of mercantile affairs. In 1842, Mr. Graham left Greenock in the “Jane Gifford,” one of the first ships which left Great Britain direct for Auckland, at which she arrived on the 9th of October. Mr. Graham lost no time in getting into harness. Chartering the “Black Hawk,” a new cutter belonging to Mr. Brandon, he loaded her with goods, and, with nothing in the shape of a chart, sailed for the Bay of Islands. There he met his brother David, who had preceded him to the Colony, and the brothers started business under the style of R. and D. Graham. More goods were obtained from Sydney, and a branch of the firm's business was established at Auckland itself. Mr. Graham seems to have made friends with the Maoris, for he was warned by Hone Heke of impending trouble, and managed to get his whole stock away from Kororareka, just in time to escape the spoliation, which was to become an incident in New Zealand history. In 1850 the partnership was dissolved, and Mr. Robert Graham made two or three trips to San Francisco, and on one occasion remained in California about three years. On returning to Auckland, he greatly improved his estate at Ellerslie, and bought many other properties. As showing the scale upon which Mr. Graham carried out his ventures in those early days, it may be mentioned that he purchased the Island of Motutapu, and in one year put 1200 acres under grass. He was the founder of the Colony's health resorts at Waiwera and Rotorua. As early as 1844 he purchased the Hot Springs property at Waiwera, from the chief of the district, Te Hemara, and was not long in establishing a sanatorium, which has gradually grown into the establishment that now flourishes at Waiwera. Mr. Graham was a member of the Colony's second Parliament, in which his force of character and experience in the management of the natives were willingly placed at the disposal of his fellow colonists. From 1856 to 1858 he represented what was then known as the Southern Division and from 1861 to 1867 he sat for Franklin, which was part of his original constituency. He strongly opposed the removal of the seat of Government, but after that had been decided on he was on board the “White Swan” when she was wrecked on her way to Wollington with the Government records; and it was he who, with three of the sailors, volunteered to find a safe landing place, and further helped successfully to get other passengers ashore. Mr. Graham also led a small party to Wellington and obtained the assistance required to complete the rescue. In doing this he and his companions had to ford rivers and pass through the lands of dangerous, though not actively hostile tribes. Unfortunately while returning from Wellington in the “Lord Worsley,” Mr. Graham and his fellow passengers again suffered shipwreck, and this time the party fell into the hands of bloodthirsty and fanatical natives in the Waitara district. The chief, Wiremu Kingi, was, however, found to be friendly on being approached by Mr. Graham. Nevertheless, the natives flocked to the wreck, made prisoners of the passengers and crew, and at two o'clock in the morning of the fifth day a Maori boy warned Mr. Graham and Captain Butler that the Maoris intended to tomahawk the whole party, which numbered about sixty. Mr. Graham immediately went out to the natives and told them, as they were assembled round their fire, that the party had been cast into their power by the sea, and that the murder of defenseless and innocent men would be revenged by the soldiers and men-of-war. Te Whiti, who was present, had some influence even in those days, and his protest against the massacre, led to the shipwrecked party obtaining a day's respite. Mr. Graham had a two hours' interview next day with about sixty of the principal natives, who, after much persuasion, consented to allow the shipwrecked party to go on to New Plymouth. That, however, did not end the incidents connected with the wreck. The Maoris discovered £6000 worth of gold dust in the safe of the wrecked steamer. Mr. Graham became fully aware of this circumstance when ten miles on his journey towards New Plymouth, and, not withstanding the perilousness of the enterprise, he determined to return to break open the chief's padlocked door and overcome all the objections which that redoubtable personage might make to the removal of the gold. The facts of this daring undertaking are graphically set forth in the “Federal Australian” of the 28th of February, 1885. In recognition of the services so gallantly rendered by him, Mr. Graham received numerous letters of thanks, and a testimonial of £1000 from the insurance companies that held risks on the gold. It was almost immediately after this that Mr. Graham was requested to consent to be nominated for the office of Superintendent of the Province of Auckland. He yielded, and though opposed by the sitting Superintendent, Mr. John Williamson, won the election by more than 500 votes. During his three years of office, Mr. Graham was very active in the interest of the province. He and his Executive started the Waikato railway, and secured the erection of the post office, supreme court, asylum, and other public buildings, and such works as the Panmure bridge. He was first elected to the Auckland Provincial Council in 1856. At the conclusion of his term of Superintendent he was returned to the Council, and was re-elected in 1868. An interesting item of Mr. Graham's history is furnished by the manner in which he acquired his Rotorua property. In 1878, he made a trip to that wonderful region, and on his return was induced to use his influence with the Maoris in furthering the settlement of a land dispute, between two hostile tribes at Maketu, between whom war was imminent. After much delicate negotiation he persuaded them to submit their differences to the Land Court for decision, and the Rotorua chiefs, in their gratitude, presented Mr. Graham with the land with which his name was afterwards so intimately associated, and with great ceremony, they placed him upon it and handed him a title in perpetuity. Ten years before this Mr. Graham had formed Grahamstown, Thames, and did much to connect it by rail with Tararu, this being one of the earliest rail ways in the Colony. In many other ways, Mr. Robert Graham was prominently connected with the progress and prosperity of the Auckland district, in which few men were ever better known or exercised a larger in fluence. In his later life when times were less stirring, and the Colony's affairs more settled, he was able to live more quietly, but
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his wonderfully active nature kept him in touch with all matters of importance. Mr. Graham died in Auckland on the 26th of May, 1885, and was buried in St. Mark's Cemetery, Remuera.
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Sir Frederick Whitaker,
              who was induced to accept the Superintendency of the Province of Auckland in 1865, held the office from the 25th of October of that year until March, 1867, when he resigned. Sir Frederick's career is sketched in the Wellington volume of this work, under the heading of “Ex-Premiers.
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Mr. Thomas Bannatyne Gillies
              
             
 was elected Superintendent of the Province of Auckland on the 18th of November, 1869, and held office for the full term of four years.


[image: Judge Gillies.]


Judge Gillies.


As stated elsewhere, the contest was between Mr Williamson and Mr. Gillies, and it was the most exciting witnessed up to that date in New Zealand. Mr. Gillies who was born in 1828, came out from Scotland to Otago in 1852, in the ship “Salinas Castle,” which also brought his wife, his father, Mr. John Gillies, a Scottish lawyer, his mother, two sisters and three of his brothers to the country at the same time. Mr. T. B. Gillies had both a commercial and a legal training before coming to the Colony; the former in the well-known house of Robert Barbour and Sons, Manchester; the latter, in his father's office in Rothesay, Scotland. On arriving in Otago he took to farming, which he carried on for several years, first at Riversdale, Tokomairiro and then as one of the earliest settlers in the Warepa district. In 1858 he succeeded his father in a legal partnership with Mr. John Hyde Harris, of Dunedin. Two years later he was elected to represent the Dunedin country districts in Parliament, in which he also represented the district of Bruce from 1861 to 1864. Mr. Gillies removed from Dunedin to Auckland in 1865. He represented Mangonui in Parliament in the session of 1870, and was member for Auckland City West from 1871 to 1874. In Mr. Alfred Domett's Ministry, which lasted from the 6th of August, 1862, to the 30th of October, 1863 Mr. Gillies was Attorney-General; in the Whitakers-Fox Administration of 1863–1864, he was Postmaster General and Secretary for Crown Lands; and he was Colonial Treasurer in the short-lived Stafford Government of 1872. On the 3rd of March, 1875, he was appointed a Judge of the Supreme Court, and held office as such till he died on the 26th of July, 1889. In 1884, about five years before he died, Mr. Gillies presented the Auckland College Council with £3000 to found two science scholarships, one to be named in memory of his wife's uncle, Dr. Andrew Sinclair, and the other in memory of Mrs. Gillies herself. These scholarships have each a present value of £50 per annum. Mr. Gillies had only two successors in the Superintendency of Auckland—Mr. John Williamson and Sir George Grey. He retired from office early in November, 1873, and on the 1st of November, 1876, the system of government by Provincial Councils ceased to exist. By that time Mr. Gillies had been for more than a year a Judge of the Supreme Court of the Colony.
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Sir George Grey's
              acceptance of the Superintendency of Auckland, when the office was rendered vacant by the death of Mr. John Williamson, signalised his re-entry into public life. But the provinces as political entities were then drawing to their end, and although Sir George was elected to Parliament with a view to their preservation, and he did his best, neither he nor the many able men who were with him in that connection could avert their doom. Sir George Grey was, therefore, the last Superintendent of Auckland, and he held office only from the 24th of March 1875, until the 1st of November, 1876, when the provinces passed out of existence. Sir George Grey's career is sketched in detail in the first volume of this work under the heading of “Former Governor. All that needs to be added here is that Sir George died in London on the 20th of September, 1898, and that some time previously he and his wife, Lady Grey, had been reconciled after an estrangement of many years.
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General.

            
Beautiful for situation, and felicitous in many of its developments, the City of Auckland stands unrivalled in all this beautiful Colony of New Zealand. Long before reaching the noble and lovely harbour, the visitor is well prepared for romantic prospects. Whether the Hauraki Gulf be entered from the North, between the Barriers and the mainland, or from the South, between Cape Colville and the Great Barrier, visitors, even if repelled by the inhospitable nearer shores, are delighted with the bold headlands, pretty bays and far-reaching inlets. At sight of the Island of Kawau, the mind of the New Zealander reverts to memories of Sir George Grey, and to the beautiful and hospitable home which that illustrious man made there. As Waiwera is passed, recollections of natural hot baths, delighted holiday-makers, and interesting tourists, exclude for the time all other thoughts. Then the Island of Tiritiri-Matangi claims attention; and if there be and old Aucklander among the passengers he will promptly cut down the long name to “Tiri,” it being considered new-chumish to use the map name of the lighthouse island. An old miner, clean shaven, or with, perhaps, a “goatee,” may be found on the portside of the upper deck, pointing with pride to the lofty hills of the great gold-bearing peninsula of Coromandel, and telling of the good old days of rich returns and poor machinery, when “even a working miner had his chance.” Then, casting a glance down the Firth of Thames, he will mention such names as “Shotover,” “Golden Crown,” and “Long Drive,” with those of lucky diggers like Hunt, Clarkson and Cobbley, wondering why he so narrowly escaped their good fortune. But his little knot of interested listeners must run across to starboard,
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where the green fields and smiling homesteads of the mainland, near Lake Takapuna, are attracting eager throngs of spectators. On the port bow, the symmetrical insular volcanic cone of Rangitoto stands like a sentinel to guard the harbour of Auckland, and to challenge the wild waves which occasionally seek entrance thereto. On approaching Rangitoto, and particularly at the sight of the North Head and Mount Victoria, the old Aucklander, returning to the home of his youth, waxes eloquent over the growing beauties of the North Shore, whose formerly bare though snapely hills are now clad with trees of many shades, and whose lands are occupied with scores of houses quite new to him. But, on rounding the North Head, his eloquence dies away, and he falls into a suggestively subdued mood, as he tries to pick out the old spots in the wondrously changed city. Mount Eden he recognises, despite the fir trees in pretty patches from base to summit; the Domain is just the same, except that the natural bush has been supplemented by thousands of acclimatized trees; but he looks in vain for Point Britomart, that noble knoll which has been sacrificed to cover the old mudflats, over which now stand rows of handsome and substantial buildings.

            
But the stranger has no eye for these details. He is too busy even to enquire as to the mysterious appearance of Fort Cautley, for he sees the broad and usually smiling waters of the Waitemata running up into the land for miles before the bends and islets hide its upper reaches. Stretching away to the east the waters of the outer harbour are open to an uninterrupted view for twenty miles or more, while straight ahead there is spread out a panoramic presentment of Beautiful Auckland, and her still more beautiful suburbs. No one has ever been known to confess any disappointment on first beholding this magnificent view. For miles on either side of the wharves are pretty bays in charming succession and variety; and in the distance the undulating lands culminate in Mounts Eden, Albert, Hobson, and other hills, while everywhere there are trees and gardens, which make monotony an impossibility.

            
But Auckland, though technically situated on the East Coast, may be approached also from the west; and though the conditions are widely different, this second approach is only less interesting than the first. The steamers usually employed on the west coast are small, and the sea is often rough, but these things only serve to heighten the joys of harbouring. Having ascertained by signal that the crossing of the Manukau Bar may be safely attempted, the task is confidently attacked, while the officers off duty may perhaps mischievously call the attention of the more nervous passengers to a spot, near the port bow, where on the 7th of February, 1863, Her Majesty's ship “Orpheus” was wrecked, and 181 brave British sailors lost their lives. But if the bar be rough, as it is occasionally, thoughts of the past naturally give way to the consideration of the present. After a lively quarter of an hour, however, the bar is probably a matter for the memory only, while all interest centres in the Heads. At first glance, these are more wonderful than beautiful, looking like a great ditch or a Wellington street cutting on a large scale; but on closer acquaintance they are found to be of fair width, though in at least one part, just inside the heads, the steamers pass literally within a very few yards of the shore. At these points the bare hills of the entrance have given way to wooded slopes, which, especially on the northern shores, are very beautiful. These in turn are succeeded by the undulating grassed lands of Onehunga West; while to the south, in the direction of Wailuku, stretches, what at high tide, but only then, looks like an inland sea of small dimensions. For some time before the wharf is reached, attention is arrested by the fertile farming district of Manager, situated opposite Onehunga, with which it is connected by a bridge measuring, with its approaches, more than half a mile. The Managere Mountain—less than half a mile from the bridge—is the most noticeable feature in the view from the harbour. It is easily climbed, and the sights from its summit are much too good to be missed by the tourist. On nearing the wharf, the stranger is apt to be seized with a feeling of abject disappointment. He knows there is a town, for everyone has heard, and no one is allowed to forget, that Onehunga is the only borough in the British dominions ever blessed with a lady mayor. But nowhere can he see this favoured borough, and there is but little to indicate its existence. Indeed, if he should take the train at the wharf for the continuation of his journey to the city, he will probably altogether miss seeing the town of Onehunga, for it stretches along the high road to Auckland, and to this road every shop in the borough has its frontage.

            
The railway from Onehunga to Auckland runs for about half its length through dreary stony paddocks; but during the latter half pretty glimpses of Remuera, Hobson Bay, and the Domain are obtained, and then in a few minutes the passengers are deposited almost in the heart of the City, the station being surrounded by lofty hotels, warehouses and flour mills. Unfortunately the harbour of Onehunga is unsuitable, at present at any rate, for vessels of large draught, but not with-standing this it is a great boon to Auckland. To see at a glance the excellence of the site on which stand the city and suburbs of this favoured centre of population, visitors should take an early opportunity of ascending Mount Eden, the views from which beggar description. The greatest travellers agree that nowhere else in the wide world is so easy a climb so amply rewarded. The harbours of both coasts seem to lie almost at the feet of the beholder, whose eye quickly catches the spot where the waters east and west are separated by what seems to be but a few yards. Round the base of the hill, and between it and the southern shores of the Waitemata, is spread the City of Auckland, with its pleasant suburbs, while in the distance are to be seen the green paddocks of Epsom, Remuera, Otahuhu, Tamaki, Panmure, Onehunga, Mangere, and other places; the towns, the villages, the mansions of the rich, and even the cottages of the poor, being all amply provided with shady trees, which give to the whole landscape that delightful expression of ease and comfort, which never fails to please the mind as much as the eye.

            
For a still better bird's-eye view of the numerous islands and islets, which bested the harbour of Auckland, a climb of about 900 feet—to the summit of Rangitoto—is necessary. For this



about an hour's steam in one of Auckland's comfortable ferry boats has to be undertaken, and the climb from the Rangitoto wharf takes a little over half an hour. But, once there, the visitor is loth to leave, for a truly surprising sight meets his astonished gaze. These views can suffer nothing from the most profuse eulogium, for their realities transcend the limits of expectation. The sinuous courses of the Waitemata and Tamaki rivers, and many smaller streams, and the graceful outlines of the islands with their many inlets, vales and hills, are all discernible. The whole Hauraki Gulf is under survey on the one hand, and on the other, the City and suburbs, backed by the Manukau and the land and sea beyond.

            
Taken in detail, Auckland is still beautiful. Within two hundred yards of the main business thoroughfares, by way of Victoria Street, and but little further by way of Wellesley Street, are the entrances to Albert Park, where attention is divided between the beautiful sub-tropical flowers, shrubs and trees, and the charming views of the harbour and City. On the western corner of this Park stand the handsome Municipal Buildings—better known as the Free Library—which also contain the Art Gallery and the Elam School of Art. Near the eastern frontages of Albert Park, there are many commodious and ornamental tenements erected by leaseholders on city property, and contiguous to these, there are the admirably situated grounds of Government House. A little further away, the Supreme Court—one of the handsomest buildings in the Colony, from an architectural point of view—stands out in bold relief overshadowing the old Parliamentary buildings in the rear. Higher up, in the direction of Mount Eden, and just past that old landmark, Partington's Mill, are the two original cemeteries, with their fern gullies and pretty patches of native bush. Eastward across the spacious and closely wooded Domain is the suburb of Parnell; and westward there stretches away for miles, the newer and more scattered Ponsonby, which cannot be called a suburb, inasmuch as the greater portion of it is within the boundaries of the City. Both at Parnell and Ponsonby there are numerous spurs jutting out into the harbour, and forming most delightful little bays. On the opposite or North Shore, are the suburbs of Devonport, Northcote, Birkenhead and Chelsea, which are all pretty, and destined to play important parts in the development of Auckland. Still further up the Waitemata, the shores are equally pretty, though separated by a narrower stream, and no doubt as time goes on settlement on these remoter shores will be greatly increased. Auckland is destined to be a large and prosperous centre of population, and it is a matter for the happiest congratulation, that, with such ample room for development, the whole isthmus, so delightfully surrounded, must every year become still more beautiful.
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Area, Divisions and Streets.

            
Though what is known as Greater Auckland may be described as extending
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from the eastern extremity of Remuera to the western limit of Ponsonby, and from the North Shore to Onehunga, the City of Auckland proper is confined to a mere patch of this vast area. Bounded on the north by the harbour, on the east by the borough of Parnell, on the south by the borough of Newmarket and the Mount Eden Road district, and on the west by the borough of Grey Lynn, the City stands on an area of 1772 acres, more than fifty per cent. larger than that of Wellington, where the City population is almost a fifth greater than in Auckland, and more densely crowded than in any other part of the Colony; the number of persons to the acre at the time of last census being thirty-four in Wellington and just half that ratio in Auckland.

            
The borough is divided into six wards, namely, Central, East, Grafton, South, Karangahape, and Ponsonby, and each ward is represented in the City Council by three members.

            
Unfortunately the site of Auckland was not one very easy to lay out, but few towns have suffered, or are likely to suffer, more severely from the bungles of their founders—bungles from the very first move. With a few truly awful exceptions, Auckland, in the width of her streets, has a great advantage over Wellington; but many of them, including Queen Street, are disgracefully crooked, while the levels and grades can hardly have been seriously considered. Thus it happens that, in the town where, more than in any other in New Zealand, easy and comfortable locomotion for man and beast should have been a first consideration, this desideratum seems to have been entirely overlooked. Not only has the best not been made of a difficult undertaking, but it would seem as if strenuous efforts had been put forth to make the very most of the natural difficulties, and to preserve them for all time. The main roads follow the ridges and gullies, and the others make the shortest and therefore the steepest and “stupidest” cross connections. In the cases of Parnell Road, Grafton Road, Khyber Pass Road, Symonds Street, New North Road, Hobson Street, Pitt., Street, Karangahape Road, Great North Road, Ponsonby Road, and five times as many streets of less importance, the ridges along which they wander are in the main no wider than the roads themselves, and nearly every cross street drops abruptly on both sides. The cutting down of all these ridges for even a few feet, would have been too great an undertaking for the founders of Auckland; but a little forethought and wise provision might have saved past, present, and future generations of Aucklanders many miles per day of weary hill climbing. Nevertheless, much of the pity lavished by visitors on their Auckland friends in this matter of hill climbing is wasted, for both old and young will confidently point to streets graded at about one in sixteen as excellent samples of level reading. Only those who ride bicycles, and the few who push hand-carts, realise that, outside the reclamations, there is hardly a mile of really level roadway in the whole City. Even in those roads which are fairly level, quite unnecessarily sudden pinches occur, over which jaded horses distress themselves every day in the year.

            
These remarks are not intended to lead those who have not yet seen the Northern Capital to suppose that any of the Auckland streets are as steep as many of those of Wellington or Dunedin. Yet each of these cities contains much more level roadway, and both have done much more to abolish natural difficulties than has ever been attempted in Auckland.

            
It is probably too late now to make very great improvements in the grades of the Auckland streets, yet a great work remains to be accomplished, which, if well done, will do much to minimise the present difficulties of locomotion. The provision of good beach roads to Ponsonby, Parnell, and Remuera would be like a gift from the gods to the thousands who live on low enough levels yet have to climb hill after hill to get home. It is the opinion of some who have given much consideration to the matter, that the provision of these beach roads would do more to popularise Auckland than her people can at all realise. But beach roads progress slowly in Auckland. For over thirty years the patient people doing business in Queen Street were content to reach Mechanics' Bay by the heart-breaking route of Shortland Street, Eden Crescent and Constitution Hill. Freeman's Bay was similarly “walled off”; yet, though the beach roads east and west to these respective bays must have paid for themselves a score of times, further installments are hardly in progress, and tired horses are still being whipped up hills which might long ago have been similarly avoided.

            
The condition of the roads and streets, though far from first-class, is still much better than might be expected in view of the enormous omnibus traffic. Many of these vehicles when loaded weigh a ton for every wheel, yet the tires are destructively narrow. The City Council spends £13,000 per year on the maintenance of the roads, and it is probably an under-estimate that the 'bus traffic is the cause of more than half that expenditure. Loose stones in the streets are dangerously common, and in other respects the streets are less cleanly than is either desirable or quite healthy. In summer they are very dusty, and in winter very muddy. If the Aucklanders could have the roads of Napier for one winter, they would cheerfully spend £40,000 a year, if necessary, rather than return to the mud and dirt to which they are now so much accustomed; and the difference in the traffic is not the true explanation of the variance in condition.

            
But though nothing very creditable can be said of the roads, the footpaths are all that can reasonably be desired. They are broad and smooth, and in the main delightful to walk on. If the people of Wellington could have the Auckland footpaths for twelve months, they would never again be contented with the apologies for sidewalks which everywhere disgrace the capital city. Smooth, and even tarred and sanded, paths are the rule throughout Auckland and suburbs. For about seven-eighths of the distance between the Auckland and Onehunga wharves—a greater distance than from Wellington to Petone—the pedestrian finds tarred footpaths fit for a queen. Yet these paths are much less costly than the half-asphalted, half-gravelled-footpaths of Wellington. They are tarred and sanded every year, and nothing further seems to be needed to keep them in splendid condition. The vastly improved condition of the footpaths encourages the thought that there is yet hope for the roads. The Auckland footpaths in the celebrated Thatcher's day called forth one of his



most amusing ditties, with a catching refrain, of which the last two lines were: “And then we use a wicked word beginning with a ‘d,’ Whilst we go marching on the scoria.”

            
These words awoke a responsive echo at the time, though now only the “old hands” can attaen any meaning to them. Yet the song, by the same writer, beginning—“Beautiful Auckland! City of Mud,”is comprehensible even to the present generation, though it would now be accorded a very different degree of appreciation from that which greeted its appearance thirty years ago. No doubt much improvement has been effected; and, from the efforts of the newly-formed ratepayers' association, and the growing influence of cyclists, the rate of advance is likely to be accelerated. Even now the streets are kept in better repair than the majority of the Wellington streets, though their condition is much less cleanly; because, while the dry air and high winds of the capital are the natural enemies of mud, the humid and comparatively still atmosphere of Auckland tends rather to cherish it.

            
Until within the last few years the streets of Auckland were very poorly lighted, but the recent furnishing of the lamps with incandescent burners, and the addition of a number of new lights, have made good the deficiency, and it may now be said that the city is fairly lighted. Electric lighting by the municipality is one of the many things talked about, but the Auckland Gas Company is not only a very powerful institution but a thoroughly go-ahead concern, capable of entering into very keen competition with any other lighting agent which may seek to gain a foothold.
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Population.

            
The population of the City of Auckland at the census of 1896 stood at 31,424, and five years earlier at 28,613; but for purposes of comparison with the other large centres, the suburbs should be included. These had a population of 26,192, making a grand total of 57,616. The estimate of the Registrar-General, however, on the 31st of March, 1899, gave the population of the City alone at over 35,670. The five suburban boroughs totalled 13,551 at that date, and the suburban road districts, particulars of which appear only quinquennially, stood at 13,881 in 1893. It is evident, therefore, that Greater Auckland is the home of nearly 65,000 persons, or at least 10,000 more than any other combined city and suburbs in the colony. The number of dwellings in the borough in 1897 was 7,610.

            
In the borough alone there were 1,012 more females than males, or sixteen of the former to fifteen of the latter. In the Mount Eden Road district there were nearly five females to four males; in Parnell there were about six to five; in Ponsonby nearly seven to six; in Devonport eight to seven; and in Grey Lynn twelve to eleven. Almost a third of the total population consists of children under fifteen, and rather more than a third of persons over fifteen but under thirty-five. Old people are in slightly larger proportion than in Wellington. The children are about equal as between the sexes; but of persons from fifteen to thirty-five years of age, there is an excess of females averaging more than seven to five. The disproportion is highest in the Borough of Parnell, where the young women of between twenty and twenty-five years are in the proportion of very nearly two to one of the men of the same age period. Of the men of that age in city and suburbs there are ten times as many single as married, and of women there are three times as many. Rather more than a third of the men, and more than half of the women, between twenty-five and thirty years of age are married; though even at that age period Parnell has three single women for every two that are married. These figures go to prove that while the bread-winners have to leave the popular centre for the country districts, and for less favoured towns or countries, those who have freer choice prefer to live in Beautiful Auckland. It is on record now that Sir Maurice O'Rorke, in 1872, declined the Under-Secretaryship of the Colony, to which a salary of £800 per annum was attached, rather than live permanently away from Auckland.
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Climate.

            
The climate of Auckland is, in the opinion of Aucklanders, almost perfect, but it frequently happens that visitors from the southern parts of the Colony find the months of January and February
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ruary rather warmer than is quite agreeable. As these months are usually the most convenient for holiday visitors, the effect is that the climate of Auckland is as notorious throughout the Colony for its heat as is that of Wellington for its winds. No one, however, need dread the heat of Auckland, even in the very height of summer. There are some hot days in every year, but the highest temperature recorded for the summer of 1897 was 82 degrees for about a fortnight in the early part of February, while the lowest record for the same month was 56 degrees. The lowest for the year was 40 degrees, and the variation, therefore, was 42 degrees. In Wellington, the maximum was one degree lower, with a variation of 50 degrees. In Christ-church (Lincoln) the maximum was more than six degrees higher than in Auckland, with a variation of 65 degrees. In Dunedin, the maximum was one degree higher than in Auckland, with a variation during the year of 52 degrees. All these readings are, of course, for shade temperature, and are taken at nine o'clock in the morning; but they are sufficient to show that the heat of Auckland never reaches anywhere near the danger line.

            
During 1897 rain fell on 187 days—slightly above the average—making a total rainfall of 45.36 inches, as against 184 days and 48.49 inches in Wellington, 103 days and 14.48 inches at Lincoln, and 152 days and 38.11 inches in Dunedin.

            
Undoubtedly the most enjoyable season in Auckland is the autumn. Visitors having any power of choice should certainly take advantage of this season. By the middle of March the heat is certainly not objectionable, and April, May and June, are generally made up of bright, sunny days, cooled by southerly zephyrs, with the temperature ranging between 70 degrees and 40 degrees.

            
July, August and September are usually very wet, and it frequently rains on two days out of three even in October.

            
Probably the greatest charm about the Auckland climate is the almost entire absence of distressing winds. Very high winds are, occasionally, experienced, but they are invariably accompanied by heavy rain, the storms being of two or three days' duration and seldom rapidly recurrent. A week of strong wind is absolutely unknown, though a keen south-west breeze, with occasional smart showers, is very common in spring. Gentle zephyrs are the rule in summer, and those who would have them intensified into cool breezes may find the desire of their hearts any evening or early morning, either on the summit of Mount Eden or on the North Shore Ferry boats. Then in the Domain, and in the old cemeteries, there are shady walks which are delightfully cool, even at noontide on the hottest day.

            
Hot winds, such as are common in Canterbury, are quite unknown in Auckland, though the northerly breezes are occasionally a little enervating, especially to visitors.

            
Although visitors from the colder parts of the Colony are recommended to choose the autumn for their time in Auckland, those desirous of settling permanently in the province need have no apprehensions as to the probabilities of the climate suiting them. Nothing can be more certain than that the Aucklanders themselves are not distressed with the heat. The tailors find no demand for light textures, and they keep no stock of them, medium and heavy being usually worn; and, though the ladies dress in very light colours, the materials are often decidedly heavy.

            
The healthiness of the climate is well attested by the statistics of the Registrar-General, and by the strong, healthy appearance of the people, and especially of the young women. Taking the deaths for the year 1897, and excluding those of children under one year, Auckland's record was 9.64 deaths for every one thousand of the population; the figures for Wellington being 9.35; while for Christchurch and Dunedin they were respectively 10.65 and 10.70. Considering that numbers of invalids come to Auckland in search of lost health, often when too late to find it, and that the city is still very imperfectly drained, this is a wonderfully low record, which speaks in most complimentary terms for the much-abused Auckland climate. For reasons unexplained, the mortality of infants under one year is greater in Auckland than elsewhere in the Colony. Including those of all infants, the death rates for the four large centres were: Dunedin, 10.45; Wellington, 11.25; Christchurch, 11.54; and Auckland was at the top with 12.14. Yet even this is well below the averages of Australian cities, while those or the United Kingdom are about fifty per cent. greater. It is probable that an adequate system of drainage, greater attention to street and backyard cleanliness, and much needed improvement in sanitary matters generally, would make Auckland the healthiest city in the Colony. This, however, it can never be while such abominations as open sewers in public parks are permitted. While such death-traps are set for the charges of unwary nursegirls, and until a much more vigilant inspection of dairies is enforced, it will be difficult to reduce the culpably heavy mortality among the infants of Auckland. The fact that the health statistics of the town do not compare very much more unfavourably with those of other New Zealand cities, is probably mainly due to the agreeableness of the Auckland climate, which encourages the people to spend a much larger proportion of their time in the open air, and especially on the harbour, than is usual with the citizens of the south. Without this corrective influence, the poor condition of the drainage, the defective disposal of refuse, and the tendency of the enormous wheel traffic to turn the principal streets into so many miles of stables, would inevitably produce most disastrous results on the health of the people. But Aucklanders are already beginning to pay greater attention to the disposal of refuse; they have hopes that an elaborate and comprehensive system of electric trams will render fairly clean streets a possibility; and they are talking so seriously of improved drainage that it would seem that, after all, they consider low death rates more to be desired than even low city rates.

            
For old people, and for all who have leisure time to spend in the open air, and the sense to spend that time aright, there can be no doubt that the climate of Auckland is in the highest degree suitable. The harbour ferry boats alone offer a means to health, the value of which it would be difficult to over-estimate, and the benefits of which are being ever more fully appreciated. On the hottest day there is always a refreshing breeze on the harbour; and
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the Devonport Ferry Company's season and even ordinary tickets are so very cheap that only the poorest of the people need be shut out from this enjoyable source of health.

            
Finally, it may be said that the climate of Auckland is one of the chief charms of the city, and must continue an increasingly important factor of progress.
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Buildings.

            
Visitors from other parts of the Colony entering Auckland from the wharves or railway station, are in most cases agreeably surprised by the very fine appearance of the principal buildings. They are almost all of brick or concrete, such slight earth tremors as have been felt in Auckland having had no effect whatever in retarding the use of rigid building materials. The architecture of the city is decidedly imposing, and despite the unfortunate absence of truth in the lines of Queen Street, and the disorganised, curl-paper shape of Shortland Street, the City of Auckland presents a solid, permanent, and even grand appearance. The Victoria Arcade, the Supreme Court, the Customs House, and the City Library and Art Gallery, are all handsome, and some of them noble, structures. Even the old and over-crowded Post Office was, in its day, an ambitious building; but the authorities must have been “camping out” when they allowed the adjoining site of Victoria Arcade to go past them.

            
The Choral Hall, and the Opera House, are creditable, semi-public buildings; and the churches are well represented by St. Paul's, the Baptist Tabernacle, Pitt Street Wesleyan, St. Sepulcher's and St. Patrick's, many of them being visible from points of vantage in nearly every direction. Some of the warehouses are of immense size and very handsome, and both the “Herald” and the “Star” are nobly domiciled. The Northern Club and many of the hotels are both massive and ornamental; and a large number of the retail shops are in no way behind.

            
The houses of the people form by no means the least attractive branch of Auckland's architecture. Many of them are almost princely in their pretensions; and even those of the poorer kind exhibit refined taste and a commendable desire for comfort. Nestling among trees, or, at any rate, surrounded by flowers, with an outlook over the harbour, hundreds of beautiful villas add in no meager way to the many charms of Auckland.

            
As it exists, the principal business thoroughfare of Auckland has an inveterate unsightliness, which mars the effect of the fine buildings and the width of the street itself. To speak of Queen Street as “decently crooked” were flattery, the grossness of which could hardly be exceeded by calling it “straight” or “gracefully curved.” So near and yet so far from the rectilinear, it is just a vexatious jumble, for which there appears to have been no better excuse than an incurable cast in the eye of the surveyor. The shape of Lambton Quay in Wellington is irritating enough to ensure millennial maledictions, but Wellington was founded by a company of irresponsible enthusiasts, bent only on their own business, whereas the site of Auckland was especially and officially selected as the seat of Government and the locality of a large and permanent centre. It is hardly too much to say that the founders of Auckland had one of the rarest chances ever vouchsafed to men of planning a majestic site for a majestic city; but they missed it as few such chances have been missed since Adam and Eve lost the Garden of Eden. If, reserving the Queen Street gully for later developments, the founders of Auckland had laid out, and by stages formed, two main and even-graded streets, diverging from the beach near the foot of Shortland Street, to equidistant points near the corners of Ponsonby and Khyber Pass Roads, the gradual formation of Queen Street—three chains wide, straight and even-graded—to a point in the neighbourhood of the New North Road, and thenceforward to the heel of Mount Eden—would have been within the means of the people, and from these streets all the principal parts of the surrounding town and country might have been reached by easy and permanent grades, leaving the deepest gullies and the highest ridges for later treatment. With such a start, Auckland might and probably would have become the most convenient and by far the most beautiful city in Australasia. But, in the important matter of convenience, Auckland is deplorably behind. Verily, seldom if ever, has the “stitch-in-time” policy been more ruefully neglected.
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Water Supply.

            
Though very far from being an absolute failure, the water supply of Auckland is yet in such condition as to cause



a good deal of anxiety to the civic authorities during very dry seasons. It is obtained from the Western Springs, distant about six miles, and is pumped into reservoirs at high levels, the highest being on the brow of Mount Eden, at an altitude of about 500 feet above the sea. A good pressure is obtainable at almost all parts of the city and suburbs; but the price charged for water for power purposes, precludes its common use even for light machinery.

            
Every year the question of a new source of supply comes up for discussion, and various localities have received a good deal of attention from engineers, mayors, councillors, and private citizens. The present supply, however, is so nearly satisfactory, and the drainage question is of so much more pressing importance, that it is not likely that Auckland will undertake a new water supply at any time during the next few years.
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Drainage.

            
Though scientific drainage cannot be said to have flourished in Auckland, the healthy and sanitary condition of the City has been fairly maintained by judiciously assisting natural drainage. Auckland is so full of gullies that, while a complete system of drainage would be a great undertaking, it has not been found very difficult to conduct the sewage into water-courses in a manner which has secured its ultimate if tardy delivery into the waters of the Waitemata. Of course, much of it is discharged directly into the harbour by means of properly covered main sewers, and every year sees more done in this direction. A great deal, however, remains to be done before Auckland can reasonably lay claim to be classed among well-drained cities. The imperfections of the system have not acted so detrimentally as they might have done on the health and comfort of the community, chiefly perhaps, on account of two very important compensating influences—the ample tide-flow in the harbour, and the abundant vegetation round the houses of the people, rendered possible by the comparatively low prices of land in the more strictly residential areas. But even these great advantages may be taxed too far, and should not be taxed at all. It is, therefore, in every way satisfactory to know that the Auckland City Borrowing Act of 1899 empowers the Corporation to spend £44,354 on drainage, and £12,000 on an auxiliary water supply.
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Recreation Reserves.

            
In discussing the public reserves and resorts of Auckland a difficulty is met at the outset in deciding whether first place should be given to the Domain or the Albert Park. Not that there is any similarity between them, but rather because their respective claims to attention are so diverse that it is difficult to discriminate their relative importance. As, however, the Domain was set aside and greatly beautified for many years before the site of Albert Park ceased to be a portion of the old Military Barracks, and also because the newer area has so monopolised the attention of the City authorities that the older is in danger of being forgotten, it may be well that on this occasion, age without infirmity, should have the preference over youth and beauty.

            
The Auckland Domain was set aside by Sir George Grey soon after his accession to the Governorship in 1845. It contains about 200 acres; and, though far from exactly square, it may fairly be said to have four corners. The northern corner is within a furlong of Mechanics' Bay, the southern touches Newmarket, the eastern is near the top of Parnell, and the western includes the hospital and is very near to the top of Grafton Road. There is already, from the entrance gates near the hospital, a fairly direct drive, which passes the cricket ground by means of an avenue of acclimatized trees, and continues under the overhanging branches of the tall native forest trees, emerging through another avenue of planted trees, at the Parnell corner. From the northern or Stanley Street entrance a gracefully winding road has been formed but not finished, and meets the other near the natural bush. Some of the paths through the wilder portions of the natural “scrub” are exceedingly beautiful, the attractions of the “Lovers' Walk” being greatly enhanced by a babbling brook, which has a refreshing effect upon the heated air of summer. In the evenings, occasionally, this path is lit with pleasing effect by the modest lamps of thousands of glow-worms inhabiting its banks.

            
Besides the native bush there are many thousands of planted trees, which afford welcome shade; and the fine fifty-acre grass paddock gives ample space for volunteer reviews, Sunday school picnics, etc. Adjoining this, but separated by a stone wall, is the cricket
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ground, where most of the sports are held. In a state of nature the Domain Reserve contained no flat ground whatever; but a very pretty valley between the native bush and the south-western frontage was, many years ago, filled in such a manner as to provide excellent accommodation for the various cricket clubs. Half-a-dozen club matches may be played at the same time and in moderate comfort; while, on the somewhat rugged margin, as many juvenile teams may find pitches more or less satisfactory. On both sides of this valley planted trees provide ample shade for onlookers, and on one, the south-western, a very fine grand stand has been recently erected on the site of the old structure destroyed by fire in 1897. As needs for still further accommodation become urgent more ground can, with little difficulty, be prepared without prejudice to the a accommodation of the public. Even the ordinary club matches are honoured with a goodly number of spectators; but on a few special days in each year very great crowds assemble. Probably the gayest throngs are to be seen on the occasion of the Spring Sports of the Amateur Athletic Association. At this function the youth and beauty of Auckland and suburrbs are abundantly represented, if not actually gathered; and the pretty spring costumes of the girls, backed by the bright green sward or the deeper shade or the pine trees, lend gaiety and romantic grace to a very pleasing picture. During the progress of the contests, attention all centres on the sports; but between the acts” promenading is freely enjoyed; and the warm November sun, heralding the approach of summer, thrills the throng with that mysterious holiday feeling which is so characteristic of Aucklanders.

            
Yet the Domain is by no means the place of general resort on regular holidays. The Domain may be visited any day, and is therefore rather too common for fastidious Aucklanders, whose holiday attentions are invited by so many delightful bays, lakes and islands. On the first day of every year, however, thousands of happy sunburnt faces turn to the Domain, the one predominating attraction; for, from time immemorial in the history of the younger and middle generations, that day has been set aside for the monster picnic of the schools of the Sunday Schools Union. Many are the hearts of the aged that are gladdened by the sight of the crowds of joyful children, and by the comparison of the many present privileges of childhood with the meagre opportunities for recreation and cultivation which surrounded their own youth.

            
In front of the Hospital there is a large grass paddock, which, though a portion of the Domain, receives little or no attention from the authorities by way of beautification, or from the public by any kind of use. It has a slope to the north more regular than gentle, and makes a magnificent foreground for the Hospital, whose noble architecture is thus, as it were, helped forward into grand relief. If suitably terraced this slope might be converted into the finest flower park in the Colony; but in view of the neglect gratuitously showered on the once beautiful gardens of the Acclimatization Society hard by, it is not likely that this grass paddock will be greatly altered by beautification during the present decade, unless, indeed, favour be found for the suggestion recently made that the north-western frontage should be let on building leases, and the rents employed on the improvement of the remainder.

            
Considered from the standpoints of both health and pleasure the value of the Domain to Auckland is incalculable even now; but, as its environs become more populous, its worth as a breathing space will be still further enhanced. The portion devoted to recreation, in the restricted sense of that word, is sufficiently distant from the more shady and secluded spots to protect frequenters of the latter from any annoyance or disturbance. In fact, the Auckland Domain is large enough and varied enough to accommodate all classes and tastes not only now but for ages yet to come.

            
The Albert Park is another of Auckland's possessions which it would, indeed, be difficult to over-praise. Its situation, now that Point Britomart has been sacrificed to the greedy grasp of commerce, is the finest in the whole town area. A strong proof of this statement lies in the fact that, during the forties, ere the growth of population had imposed any limits on free choice, this was the spot singled out for the Barracks erected as a garrison for the Imperial troops, and as a place of refuge for the women and children of Auckland in the event of the threatened Maori invasion of the young capital being carried into effect. Only a short while before, the little town of Kororareka had been successfully looted, and there were good reasons for apprehending a repetition of the raid on a larger scale. Albert Park covers twelve or fourteen acres; but the area enclosed by the high and massive walls of the Albert Barracks was very much larger. The northern gates were across Princess Street at a spot still marked, fortunately,
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by a portion of the old stone wall which runs between the Government House paddock—where the recent Exhibition was held—and the ivycovered villa-residence of Mr. W. S. Wilson, one of the popular proprietors of the “New Zealand Herald.” The walls were built by friendly Maoris in 1848; and that so little has been left to show the excellence of the workmanship, and that little the poorest sample, is one of the results of civic development which the “old hands” must ever regret. The piece, however, serves to indicate—for it runs down to the Choral Hall—how large a portion of the area was sliced off. The eastern boundary was marked by Symonds Street; but the ground on which so many handsome houses now stand—fronting Symonds Street, Princes Street, Alfred Street, O'Rorke Street, and Wellesley Street—was not sold, but only leased; and the ground rents figure respectably in the City's income returns.

            
When, over twenty years ago, the Albert Barracks gave place to the new park, nothing was more reasonable than that the name “Albert” should be retained. In this way, but not in any other as far as the park is concerned, the name of the good Prince Consort is perpetuated. No monument of any kind has yet been erected to his memory; and when, in 1897, there was much discussion as to the disposal of the Diamond Jubilee Fund, it did not strike the good people of Auckland that the widow's heart might have been more effectively moved by the knowledge that her late husband still lived in the hearts of her distant subjects, than by any demonstrations of affection strictly confined to herself. So it was decided that a valuable bronze statue of Her Majesty should be procured from England and erected in the place of honour reserved for the first monument of Albert Park. Early in 1899, the statue was erected and immediately veiled, pending the expected visit of His Excellency, the Earl of Ranfurly. On Her Majesty's eightieth birthday the statue was unveiled by His Excellency, and the ceremony evoked enthusiastic demonstrations of delight and satisfaction from a very large assemblage of loyal citizens. The statue adds effectively to the beauty of its surroundings, and satisfies a very prevalent feeling that, in a park named in honour of a devoted husband, the most prominent monument should be that of his royal wife.

            
In front of the statue, but slightly on lower ground, stands the central fountain, a very handsome and ornamental piece of workmanship, surrounded by a large concrete basin which catches the spray in all its prismatic beauty.

            
To the right of the statue and near the flagstaff, a battery of captured cannon keeps a feigned guard over the wharves and town. Of these historic field pieces, two are trophies from Sebastopol, taken at a time when this Colony was trying on its new constitution, and one is a French gun captured at the battle of Waterloo, now more than eighty years ago, when the white residents of these “Fortunate Isles” might have been counted by the legs of a caterpillar. The Rev. W. H. Fitchett, editor of the Australasian edition of the “Review of Reviews,” when on a visit to Auckland in 1897, spoke of this Waterloo gun as a grand historical trophy well worth preserving, as, so far as he knew, it was the only relic in Australasia of the great fight of the century. The guns from Sebastopol were presented to Auckland by the British Government; but the history of the French relic, since its seizure by the British, has for Australasians an interest greater than that which it possessed when it was captured. To a representative of the “New Zealand Herald” belongs the credit of collecting and recording some important facts connected with this trophy, his authority being Mr. John Webster, of Opononi, Hokianga; and with the object of preserving the particulars in permanent and accessible form they are here transferred to these pages. It appears that the once well-known millionaire, Ben Boyd, was at the time of Her Majesty's coronation, Lord High Constable of Scotland, and when, in 1841, that official retired and left the “Old Land” in his yacht, “Wanderer,” twelve guns, for a cruise in the South Seas, the Horse Guards made him a present of this gun as a mark of the royal pleasure. Of this yacht Mr. Webster was sailing master, and the gun from Waterloo was installed as the “Long Tom” of the ship. On the 15th of October, ten years later, the millionaire, still cruising in the South Seas, ventured ashore at Guadalcanar, one of the south-western chain of the Solomon Islands. The act cost him his life, however, and the savage islanders, after killing the owner, put off in canoes to possess themselves of the yacht. But “Long Tom” had been loaded up ready for any emergency; and, by the sailing master's orders, the charge of grape and canister shot was poured among the canoes with such deadly and terrorising effect that no “encore” was demanded. The voyage which sealed the fate of the owner also closed the career of the “Wanderer,” for the yacht was wrecked in a storm off Port Macquarrie, on the 12th of December, 1851. At the sale of the wreck “Long Tom” was secured by the late Mr. Samuel Browning, of Epsom, Auckland, who at that time was a Sydney merchant. This trophy of Waterloo was then ingloriously relegated to the goldfields as part of the armament for the protection of the precious metal awaiting consignment. Mr. Browning must have valued the relic, for he brought it with him when he came to this country and retained its possession until his death, after which it was presented by the legatees to the citizens of Auckland. And there in Albert Park it stands, telling forth to the world just so much of its history as may be gleaned from the words “From Waterloo.”

            
But, while these guns and other works of man are highly interesting, the chief attractions of Albert Park are the lovely flowers and the beautifully-kept terraced lawns. The civic authorities may be unconditionally congratulated on the care and attention devoted to this pretty park. All the year round it is gay with flowers, of which many are rare varieties. The shrubs, too, many of them of tropical origin, are exceedingly attractive; but to those acquainted with the native bush the pretty puriri trees planted along the Princes Street frontage are, perhaps, the most pleasing of all.

            
But, though, everything within the park is delightful, it is questionable whether anything inside its walls is so charming and permanently interesting as the enchanting views of the town and harbour which are obtainable from almost every part, but especially from the neighbourhood of the flagstaff. Seats are provided in that quarter more



thickly than in any other, yet sitting room is generally scarcest there. From this point the ground, on the town side, falls away rapidly; but the steep grassy slope is a favourite resort for little knots of visitors who sit enjoying the view, or stretch themselves on the grass in sun or shade according to taste and season.

            
Though well away from the busy rush of the town, Albert Park is within three minutes' walk of the Post Office, and quite close to Government House, the Northern Club and the Grand Hotel, in one direction, and to the heart of the City in Queen Street, in others. The Free Library and Art Gallery are in a corner of it, and it is so near to most of the manufacturing parts of the town as to be easily reached by the workers during luncheon time. In every way the Albert Park is a credit to Auckland; and though the early troubles with the Maoris, which caused the reservation of the site, must always be a subject of regret, it is a matter for satisfaction that what was for many years the scene of preparation for strife is now a lasting sign of peace and good-will towards men.

            
The Western Park is a reserve of about twenty-five acres; its principal frontage is to Ponsonby Road, and it stretches towards the harbour as far as lower Beresford Street. Near the main entrance there are two glazed brick pillars, setting forth that the first band performance given in the Park was on the 19th of February, 1884, during the mayoralty of Mr. W. R. Waddel. It was the custom of the late Mr. Waddel to pay the performers from his private purse for alternate weekly attendance at the Albert and Western Parks. About twenty years ago, the reserve was a barren waste. Now it is a park of very noticeable beauty and capable of infinite improvement. The native and acclimatized trees have made amazing progress. Among the former may be found some of the most beautiful puriri trees that have ever grown away from their natural surroundings. These and karaka, tanekaha, rimu, rewa-rewa, pohutukawa, cabbage-tree, and the infant specimen of the giant kauri, are all so many separate sources of pleasure to every lover of the New Zealand forest. On the other hand, immigrant colonists cannot fail to find old friends among the many varieties of acclimatized trees, of which the principal are: Oak, elm, plane, pine, Cupressus, macrocarpa, cedar, oleander, poplar, willow, silver birch, Ficus Macrophylla, and the uncommonly beautiful acmene. All the trees look particularly healthy, and many of them are very large.

            
From Ponsonby Road the ground slopes rapidly and the sides fall inwards, forming a pretty gully, with a small stream winding among the magnificent weeping willows on its banks. Of two facts, however, the vast majority of Aucklanders must be entirely ignorant; First, that there really is a tiny stream
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in the Western Park; and, second, that this tiny stream is (1900) constantly polluted by sewage of more than double its own volume, and foul enough to breed a pestilence at the poles. On the western side there is another open drain, a receptacle for the sewage from the houses in Hepburn Street; and this, through being less easily detected, is even more dangerous to the public health. When the people of Auckland awake to the necessity of keeping this reserve pure it will be a very valuable item on the list of Auckland's breathing spaces; but if the suggestion of putting a fountain at the head of the pretty gully, the water to trickle away over rockeries, and through fish-ponds to a lake at the bottom, be carried into effect, then the Western Park will have a beauty all its own, and in general attractiveness will be little, if at all, behind even the Albert Park.

            
Pretty views of the harbour and city are obtainable from many parts; and as Mr. Huxford—a trained English gardener, who, under Mr. Goldie, has for the past ten or a dozen years been in charge of Albert Park—has recently undertaken similar duties at the Western Park, it is possible that some attempt at floriculture may be made there in the near future.

            
Other reserves include those of Mount Eden, Mount Hobson, Mount Albert, One-tree Hill, Mount Victoria (Devonport), and many smaller ones, notably a pretty little triangle at the foot of Princes Street on the site of the old St. Paul's Church.

            
Agitation is in progress for further parks in the direction of the Western Springs, where there is an unimproved reserve of two hundred acres; and there is a large reserve of over five thousand acres of forest in the Waitakerei Ranges, containing a fine kauri forest, beautiful fern gullies, some useful streams, and the splendid Waitakerei Falls. As this reserve has a considerable frontage to the waters of the West Coast, time must see it become a well-patronised resort and a most magnificent park. The other endowments of the city include a reserve of two hundred and fifty acres at Kauri Point, North Shore, and one of one thousand five hundred acres at Punakitere, Hokianga. The Aucklanders are a pleasure-loving people, and are very much attached to their beautiful city. Very great improvements in the condition of the park may, therefore, as time advances, be expected of them.

            
Potter's Paddock, a private recreation ground on the road to Onehunga, is the scene of the great football struggles which recur with succeeding winters; and here also the agricultural shows are held. It is a fine level piece of ground of about thirty-two acres, probably the largest level area on the isthmus. There is a splendid grand stand and there are other conveniences, such as stabling. Several games of football may be played simultaneously; and as the paddock is on the line of tramway very great crowds frequently assemble.

            
Though not public property, the Ellerslie racecourse is occasionally used for popular public functions, such as the Annual Floral Fete, and on these occasions as many as twenty thousand visitors have been present.

            
In the Cemetery Gully—crossed by a suspension bridge, which alone is well worthy of a visit—there is a remnant of natural bush, through which wind most inviting, yet little-used tracks. The gully is exceedingly beautiful and delightfully cool, even on the hottest day. Even as a cemetery, containing as it does the graves of many of Auckland's earliest heroes, this beautiful reserve is highly interesting. There, though shamefully obscure, may be found the grave of New Zealand's first Governor, the only Governor who has ever died in this Colony. Thousands of visitors have passed within a few yards of this, the only vice-regal grave which the Colony possesses, and yet have never seen it. It is difficult to understand how it is that the people of Auckland are for ever congratulating themselves on the wisdom displayed in the choice of site for their beautiful city, yet as perversely ignore the claims of him who displayed that wisdom. His name is certainly perpetuated in Hobson Street, Hobson Bay, Mount Hobson, and Hobson County; but even Wellington, which never considered itself indebted to the gentle Governor for anything better than a lesson in patience, called its most fashionable street after him.
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Private Gardens.

            
In the matter of private gardens to which the public are conditionally admitted, Auckland is almost entirely neglected; and in this respect visitors from Wellington are dimly conscious of a great want. There is nothing whatever which can be compared with McNab's, at the Hutt, or Young's Karori Gardens, or even with Higgenbotham's Kilbirnie Tea Gardens. Undertakings of this kind on a small scale were initiated in the days that are gone; but whether their failure to rise to importance is attributable to lack of enterprise in their proprietors, or lack of appreciation by the public, must be left undecided. At any rate, the absence of such gardens is to be deplored, for in none of the places mentioned under the last heading can a whole holiday be so enjoyably spent as at the above-named Wellington gardens, where visitors find pretty and secluded summer houses, tennis lawns, fish ponds, etc., and, if needed, the convenience of set meals and rooms with pianos, to say nothing of such delights for children as monkeys, swings, see-saws, and the like. Doubtless the many and varied attractions of Auckland's public holiday resorts would tend to make private speculation of the description referred to more than usually hazardous; but it would seem that there is room for something of the kind.
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Harbour and Gulf Excurisons.

            
In excursions by water, Auckland has no real rivals in the Colony, and the choice is, figuratively speaking, limitless. Visitors having only an hour to spend in the place, if that hour be between seven in the morning and eleven at night, need not go away without a trip on the beautiful and generally placid waters of Waitemata; and that at the trifling cost of sixpence, the price of a return passage by any of the splendid line of ferry boats running to Devonport, Northcote, Birkenhead, or Chelsea. Some of these boats are capable of carrying a thousand passengers; and, as their upper decks are suitable for dancing, the moonlight excursions are well patronised.

            
On Wednesdays and Saturdays, for the greater part of the year, boats run to St. Helier's Bay, about an hour's steam down the harbour, and then across to Rangitoto, and sometimes to the wharf near Lake Takapuna. At Rangitoto, sufficient time is allowed, even by the afternoon boats, for the ascent of



the mountain; but frequently boats run in the morning to admit of the whole day being spent, either at St. Helier's Bay, or Rangitoto, or part at each.

            
On public holidays, and at any time by charter, boats run to Pine Island (about nine miles up the harbour), Riverhead (twenty-three miles up, where, as the name implies, the Waitemata ceases to be navigable); Kohimarama, Howick, Motu Tapu, Motu Ihi, Waiheke, Ruth's Island, Turanga Creek, and numerous other bays and islands down the harbour.

            
Favourite excursions are to Waiwera and Mahurangi Heads, the hot springs of the former and the beautiful river of the latter being the special attractions. At Waiwera, about twenty-two miles from Auckland, and approachable also by road from the North Shore, there is a fine old-fashioned yet modernly appointed hotel, which is kept in very good style. Steamers run several times a week; but every Saturday Auckland residents and visitors have the opportunity of taking tickets, at a cost of sixteen shillings, entitling the holder to a return passage on the Monday morning, with hotel accommodation and unlimited hot baths. Business men, desirous of rest and recuperation, flock to Waiwera in great numbers—in such numbers that the commodious hotel is often taxed to its utmost capability. At all times, but particularly in the height of the season, visitors should endeavour to arrange for their accommodation before leaving home. Hot swimming baths, sea bathing, boating on the river and in the offing, riding and walking excursions into the interior, and quiet walks to the adjacent wooded heights overlooking the gulf with its numerous islands—these and many others are among the attractions of Waiwera. Attempts to provide a wharf at Waiwera have hitherto proved futile on account of the rough seas which occasionally arise in the Bay. The landing, therefore, has to be effected in surf boats, the final stage being accomplished in drays. In reasonably fine weather—and really splendid weather is the rule—this makes a quaint addition to the pleasure and excitement of the trip. During the summer season, and, in fact, throughout the year, the wives and families of business and professional men make lengthened visits to Waiwera, where they are joined by the gentlemen at the end of each week. The complete change from city life is exceedingly enjoyable. Altogether, Waiwera is another of Auckland's exceptionally valuable and delightful possessions.

            
Mahurangi is ten or twelve miles nearer the mouth of the gulf. The river has a width of nearly two miles at a short distance inside the heads, and is navigable for steamers of fair size as far as the town of Warkworth, about eight miles from the heads. For excursionists to the Mahurangi Heads from Saturday to Monday the same charge (sixteen shillings, for fare and hotel accommodation) is made as for Waiwera. With the exception of the natural hot baths, the attractions of Mahurangi are similar to those of Waiwera, though, as if in compensation, the Mahurangi river is very much the more important and beautiful of the two.

            
Omaha, which is also included in the excursions, is still further up the coast, and, being barely within the gulf, must in time become a favourite resort of those who enjoy the roaring of the breakers, which spend themselves on the ocean beaches of these islands.

            
The Thames, Paeroa, and Coromandel, also all within the gulf, are likewise favourite places for water-excursions; but in the ordinary course of commerce from six to ten trips are made each way per week to these ports.

            
To places beyond the Gulf, both south and north, very pleasant trips may be made; and all information concerning the movements of the steamers may be gathered from the daily papers.
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Excursions By Rail.

            
This form of enjoyment is much less popular in Auckland than in the other parts of the Colony, mainly from the fact that harbour excursions are more plentiful and attractive in the great Gulf of Hauraki than in any other part of the Colony. Another fact which militates against the popularity of the railway for short excursions is that the lines for a considerable distance are inland. On the main south line the sea coast is never touched, though arms of the Manukau Harbour run very near to the line at Otahuhu, Papakura and Drury. At Mercer, forty-three miles from Auckland, the Waikato River is reached; and here visitors may hire launches, boats and canoes, and in that way thoroughly enjoy either a long or a short holiday. At Ngaruawahia, seventy-four miles distant, the river is prettier even than at Mercer. Here there are occasional regattas, at which Maori canoe races form a prominent feature. On these occasions great numbers patronise the train, but the distance—and therefore the expense—is too great to admit of frequent and yet crowded excursions. At Hamilton, Cambridge and other places, the river is still handy, though less beautiful.
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Rotorua is undoubtedly the principal point of interest served by the Auckland railways; and the natural wonders of that extraordinary district are such as can never grow stale. Tourists and Auckland residents are constantly streaming into Rotorua, but the distance, one hundred and seventy-one miles, is, at present rates of speed, too great for single day excursions. Even the express takes nearly nine hours over the single journey.

            
On race days, Floral Fete days, and other occasions on which special attractions are provided at Ellerslie race-course, the trams are patronised very freely, as many as twenty thousand passengers being sometimes so carried.

            
On the northern railway, which branches off the main south line at New-market, the Kaipara Harbour is reached at Helensville, a distance of thirty-eight miles from the City. Like Mercer on the south line, Helensville is a favourite resort for excursionists. As this line is opened further and further northwards its popularity must greatly increase; but at present it cannot be said to fill a large space in the minds of holiday-makers.
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Trips for Visitors.

            
Strangers passing through Auckland with even very limited time at their disposal, may yet pass that time to great advantage. The top of Mount Eden may be reached from the wharf or railway station in an hour, even without the aid of the 'buses which run to the foot of the mount at frequent and regular intervals; and the view from this vantage ground is so extensive, varied and beautiful that the necessary trouble is well repaid within the first five minutes.

            
Following this, a trip to the North Shore, by one of the fine fleet of ferry steamers, will be found most enjoyable, as the harbour and town can be advantageously seen from the Flagstaff Hill reserve at Devonport. From Devonport the distance to Lake Takapuna is about four miles; and 'buses and brakes run frequently and in accordance with the published time-table. From the proprietor of the Lake Hotel boats may be hired, and in all respects excellent accommodation is provided at this handsome well-appointed and popular hostelry. There is a good wharf on the beach near the Lake, and ferry steamers run there at advertised times.

            
An afternoon or a whole day or more may be pleasantly spent at St. Helier's Bay, Rangitoto (which may be climbed in forty minutes from the wharf and descended in half that time) Howick, Tamaki, and other similar places.

            
What is known to a few Aucklanders as the “West Coast Trip” should certainly be undertaken by those who are able to endure a fatiguing but most delightful journey on horseback, and who can spare the necessary time during the summer season. Two days are required to do the whole trip, and that time may with benefit be very considerably lengthened. The beach and the pretty little lakes at Te Henga should be first seen. The beach is delightfully hard, and on it the breakers roar and roll majestically. Care should be exercised in crossing the quicksands between the bush and the beach, but the latter is quite safe. The lakes mostly have wooded banks, but at least one has nothing but sand above the water line. This is the favourite lake for swimmers on account of the excitement afforded to those who clamber up its steepest and highest side, to a height of fifty or sixty feet, and then roll and tumble helter-skelter into the water beneath. From Te Henga to Kirikiri the track is of the roughest description, at least two hours being occupied in travelling a distance which on a good road might be covered in half an hour. But the views obtained of the pretty little lakes and bush-clad hills on the one side, and of the roaring and rolling ocean on the other, are such as, once seen, are not likely ever to be forgotten. From Kirikiri to Nihotapu is a fairly easy stage; and here the Nihotapu Falls should be visited, but on foot, as no other way is at present possible. The Waitakerei Falls should also be seen before returning.

            
When it is considered that the railway at Waitakerei is not more than ten miles in a direct line from this grand ocean beach, with bays and islets and blowholes and roaring breakers, it is surprising that more has not been done to open this interesting part of the district. At present, not one Aucklander in a thousand has ever seen the lovely spots just referred to; and the sea can never be seen in all its grandeur on the east coast near Auckland on account of the shelter afforded by the Hauraki Gulf. No doubt, time will see the west coast to the north of Manukau Harbour, made accessible even to delicate persons in need of the invigorating sea breezes; but in the meantime, the reasonably strong should endeavour to make use of such means of access as are already possessed by this most charming district.
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Libraries, Galleries and Baths.

            
Visitors to Auckland are recommended not to leave their inspection of the splendid Free Library to the last moment; but rather to make it one of their first pleasures. There are works in the Auckland Free Library which for antiquity, rarity, beauty and real literary merit, can hardly be equalled in the whole of Australasia. There are single volumes which would fetch five hundred guineas in London auction rooms. These are, of course, a part of the Grey collection. Only ignorant, or ailing, or very much hurried people pass through Auckland, without paying some court to these treasures, and many spend hours and days there most profitably and enjoyably. The Art Gallery should, of course, be seen also; and the Museum, if only for the charming Maori room, is worthy of much attention. The fresh water swimming baths in Albert Street, and the salt water baths near Custom House Street are also too important to be neglected. The former are in the heart of the City, and cost £6,000. The water is artificially heated in winter.
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Boating.

            
At all times throughout the year boating in Auckland is enjoyable; and the harbour, though occasionally rough, is not subject to very sudden changes. The currents, however, are fairly strong, and the contingency of a long pull home, against wind or tide or both, should be prudently taken into account. In the matter of beauty spots it is impossible to go wrong, but the bays down the harbour on the City side are the most popular.
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Drives.

            
In this, as in so many other respects, Auckland must be awarded first place. Through Parnell to Remuera, and on through Panmure to Howick, returning by Otahuhu, Mangere, Onehunga, Epsom, and Mount Eden, is, perhaps, the pet drive of the district; and, though it can be all done comfortably in the day, the time might be most enjoyably lengthened. The view from Mount Hobson, in Remuera, is second only to that from Mount Eden, and that from Mangere Mount is little if at all inferior. In the other direction, the Three Kings, Mount Roskill, and Mount Albert districts are well worth seeing, as are also Avondale, Waikumete, Swanson—named after the “Honourable Willy”—Titirangi, and other places near at hand. The Titirangi Ranges may be reached by vehicle; but as the sights there are in the rough places, horseback is a better mode of travelling.

            
On the North Shore there are some very enjoyable drives. All round Lake Takapuna, though unfortunately, not very close to its waters, there is a road good enough even for cyclists; and Northcote, Birkenhead, and Chelsea, though served by different steamers from those usually employed between Auckland and Devonport, may all be reached by interesting and fairly good roads. There is a coach road from Devonport to Warkworth, via the Wade, Orewa, Waiwera and Puhoi; but as little of it has been metalled, it is agreeable under favourable conditions only.
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Walks.

            
Walking is not a “strong weakness” with the people of Auckland, with whom “What time does the next 'bus start?” is always an important question, even when only a very short distance has to be covered. Certainly the distances between the places of special interest are great enough in most cases to encourage the habit of patronising trams and 'buses; and the impossibility of moving about without hill-climbing also tends to weaken the habit of walking in a climate which, though very agreeable, is not distinguished for its bracing qualities. Almost the only thing which could make walking popular in Auckland—the accessibility of the beaches of the harbour—seems to be just what the people of Auckland cannot secure. At Ponsonby and Remuera, the beaches may be approached in a few places, but the majority of Aucklanders find it more convenient to go by ferry boat to the North Shore or St. Helier's. There is absolutely nothing anywhere near Auckland which for accessibility, cleanliness, and near-ness to the homes of the people, will at all compare with the Thorndon Esplanade or Oriental Bay in Wellington. A Marine Parade like that which makes Napier so famous is beyond the scope or the wildest dreams of Aucklanders, who do not seem to realise what they lose in pleasure and health through the want of seaside walks. There is, certainly, what may be termed a commercial frontage—and a very good one it is—along the harbour from Mechanics' Bay to Freeman's Bay; but though the dusty 'bus worn road is a great convenience, there is nothing inviting about it as a promenade. On the contrary, these bays at present are places to be shunned, for in each there is an intake which is being slowly filled up with
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matter highly disagreeable to a clear majority of the senses. Beyond these bays beach roads might be made with wonderful advantage, but it would be unsafe to promise them to the present generation. Beach road formation in Auckland has, so far, progressed at an average rate of about twenty-five yards per annum, and the prospects of accelerated speed are clouded with that special darkness which only sometimes is nearest the dawn.

            
The favourite walks of the Auckland public are the Main Wharf, Queen Street, and Karangahape Road—the wharf on Sunday evenings, and the business thoroughfares named on Saturday evenings. The parks are, of course, not wholly neglected; but the first thing to surprise the visitor is the beauty of the parks, and the next, the lack of public appreciation.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Cycling Tours



            
Cycling Tours.

            
A French professor, descanting on the difficulties of locomotion, described the great and beautiful northern city as the most “excelsior” place he had ever seen; and certain it is that the founders were not cyclists. It would be much easier to imagine them as determined to lay out the city in the interests of mules and asses. Auckland might have been made an ideal city for cyclists—a city of gentle inclines and delightful descents, with occasional long stretches of ozone-charged foreshore. But the opportunity has been missed, and, in consequence, holiday-makers who are cyclists are inevitably constrained to avoid Beautiful Auckland. That Auckland will sooner or later discover the wisdom of making better provision for cyclists is certain; but at present the inducements for wheelmen are meagre indeed. Drivers of vehicles are in the main not only careless but even unfriendly; the streets are stony and in places dangerously dusty; and broken glass and tin cuttings are unpleasantly common. To those who are strong of limb and lung, the grades of the streets are the least objectionable feature. Even in their present rough condition, there are few indeed which cannot be climbed; and, if the main thoroughfares were provided with tarred tracks, the majority of them would be fairly easy of ascent, and cycling would be a delight. The hard work of climbing is compensated in some measure by the delights of descent; but the constant bumping and jerking are unpleasant, and by no means necessary evils.

            
While nearly all the places of interest in and around Auckland may be visited by cyclists, those whose stay is short should be careful to take the best roads first. To Onehunga, by way of Mount Eden and the Paha Farm, is an interesting and fairly smooth run, and, provided the right turns be taken, every inch either way can be ridden. From Onehunga through Mangere to Otahuhu is the best five-mile stretch in the whole neighbourhood, the half-mile which includes the Mangere Hill being the special delight of every cyclist in the country. The return journey may be made by the more direct route via Ellerslie; but there is too much 'bus traffic on these roads for the comfort of cyclists. A pleasant variation may be made by taking the Ihumata Road round the Mangere Mountain, this road being in the main very good.

            
The roads of Ponsonby, Remuera, and some parts of Parnell are fairly good, and visiting cyclists should not forget the pleasant run from the Hospital to Parnell through the Domain. A good “spin” may occasionally be had on the grass track, in the cricket ground, past which this Domain road runs.

            
From Devonport to the Lake it is possible to cycle without dismounting, and the road round the Lake is fairly comfortable.

            
A few good beach roads could make Auckland a delightful place for cycling, but in the meantime much might be done in the way of improving the existing thoroughfares. Every year increases the number of tourists who cycle, and Auckland will not be long content to lose this class of traffic. Cyclists find one great natural advantage in Auckland, for it is very seldom indeed that there is a stronger wind than is agreeable. There is hope for Auckland from a cyclists' point of view, and even now the rapid and delightful changes of scenery do much to compensate for the drawbacks which time will see extinguished.
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The Tides.

            
The tides of Auckland harbour rise and fall from eight to twelve feet. Thirty years ago, when Customs Street marked the boundary of reclamation, and when all which has since been reclaimed was, at low tide, an evil-smelling mud-flat, this excessive fall was a very great drawback. But that has been all changed and there is no doubt that the currents produced by the rapid ebb and flow of the tides have a very cleansing effect on the harbour. In the upper reaches of the Waitemata some very large shoals are turned into mud flats by every receding tide; and as settlement progresses these flats will need to be reclaimed. The extreme length of Auckland wharf was in the first place necessitated by the excessive tide-fall; but, by persistent dredging, vessels of considerable draught can now be berthed at the short jetties.
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Wharves, Jetties and Docks.

            
The principal wharf is the largest in the Colony, and in some other respects it is second only to that of Wellington. When fairly filled with vessels the main wharf presents a very noble appearance; but recent additions, notably the fine jetties of the Northern Steamship Company, have so reduced the demand for berth age at the principal, but less convenient wharf that it not infrequently looks rather bare, more especially to visitors accustomed to the shorter and more compact wharf of Wellington. The absence of hydraulic cranes, such as are conspicuously plentiful on the wharves of the capital, is noticeable, as instead of these there is about a third of the number of hand cranes. The shed accommodation, too, would appear deficient if compared with that of Wellington, notwithstanding the really fine structure erected in place of the old shed destroyed by fire in 1897. Yet Auckland does a large shipping trade, and claims to head the list of New Zealand ports in the number and tonnage of ships arriving and departing, and also in the amount of Customs duties.

            
The Railway Wharf is not a very imposing structure, but, taken altogether, the wharves and jetties of Auckland are highly creditable and are worked with economy.

            
In docks Auckland has decidedly the leading position. It is claimed that the Calliope Dock is one of the largest in the world, and certainly it is large enough, for it can very comfortably accommodate two warships, such as usually visit the Colony, and the largest vessel afloat at present is not too big
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for it. The recognition of this dock by the British Admiralty is a matter upon which Auckland may be congratulated in unqualified terms. The Auckland Dock, at the foot of Hobson Street, is an exceedingly useful maritime possession.
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Railways.

            
It is customary to speak of the railway communication of Auckland in terms the reverse of complimentary; but this habit has arisen more from the fact that there is no connection with the railways of other provinces, than from any inherent deficiencies in the service as it affects the City and district.

            
Three trains run daily each way on the Auckland-Helensville line during the week, and on Sunday an afternoon train is run as far as Waikumete, the nearest station to the new cemetery, for the convenience of those who may wish to visit the graves of their friends.

            
Between Auckland and Onehunga about a dozen trains run each way on week days and four on Sundays. The stations between the City and Otahuhu are served with eight or more trains each way daily; Mercer with four or five; Frankton Junction, two trains on Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays, and three on Tuesdays, Thursdays and Saturdays; Te Awamutu, one train daily, which on Mondays and Thursdays continues to Te Kuiti. Cambridge is connected with Frankton Junction, and, therefore with the City, by one train daily. The Thames is connected with the same Junction by one train on Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays, and by two on the other week days; and one train runs daily between Frankton Junction and Rotorua.

            
The speed is not excessive by any means, the journey to the Thames (148 miles) occupying by express nearly eight hours; but Rotorua (171 miles) is reached in eight hours and forty minutes. Cambridge (101 miles) is reached in about six hours; and Mercer (43 miles) in two hours.

            
To compete the more successfully with water traffic, the return tickets between the Thames and Auckland for the full journey are issued at the same prices as the single tickets.

            
Auckland has but one railway station, and the lines north and south join at Newmarket, between two and three miles from the City. But the station is a really good one, and befits the dignity of a city like Auckland. The station buildings are of pressed brick and very handsome, and the platforms are spacious and well kept. In fact the convenience of passengers has been studied with advantage to all concerned. Three large hotels, the wharves, and the jetties of the Northern Steamship Company and the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, are all literally within a stone's cast of the platform. All the trams and nearly all the 'buses of the suburbs start on the approach to the main wharf from the principal entrance to the railway station. A more convenient site for the railway station it



would be impossible to suggest; and in this matter Auckland has a most agreeable advantage over the other large cities, especially Wellington and Christchurch, where most strenuous efforts seem to have been made in the intrest of confusion and cabmen.
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Trams, 'Buses, Cabs, etc.

            
There is no city in the Colony where the people so persistently ride in trams and omnibuses as they do in Auckland. This is due chiefly to three things: first, the distance and extent of the suburbs; second, the determination of those who “laid out” or should have laid out the town, to make the very most and worst of the hill difficulties; and third, the climate, which is rather too warm in summer and too wet in winter to make walking a perennial delight. This habit of the people of riding wherever riding is possible has called into existence an abnormally large business in the street passenger carrying line. If the 'buses of Auckland, with their teams of four, five, and six horses to each conveyance could be suddenly set down in the streets of Wellington, the untravelled natives of the capital would get a more exaggerated idea of the size and importance of the northern city than they could obtain by any other means. The meanest suburb of Auckland has more and better omnibuses
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than the whole of Wellington. Fortunately for the capital, there is no need for these expensive 'bus services. But they have their advantages. The rate-payers are put to great cost for maintaining the roads; but to strangers who wish to see the city and suburbs at an expense hardly noticeable, the trams and 'buses of Auckland are a wonderful boon. The 'buses run into every corner of the district, grinding the roads into sand pits to the disgust  and danger of cyclists; but the people hold tenaciously to their 'buses, which, through running to more out-of-the-way places, are even more popular than trams.

            
The trams, all drawn by horses, run through Newmarket and Epsom to Pottager's Paddock, the popular recreation ground, about half way to Onehunga, and they are there met by 'buses belonging to the Tramway Company, which continues the journey across the isthmus. About sixty trams leave Queen Street wharf for Newmarket, between 7.30 a.m. and 10.30 p.m. and half of these run on to meet the 'buses for Onehunga at Potter's Paddock. Towards the west the tram lines run to the extemity of Ponsonby. Eighty-six trips are made each way during the day, between the wharf and Ponsonby (Three Lamps), but only fifty-six continue to the terminus of the line

            
The 'buses make about eighty trips 
each way to and from Ponsonby, the majority taking the same route as the tram. To Newmarket about the same number of trips are made; but they are mostly via Parnell. About forty trips each way to and from Mount Eden, a still greater number to and from Mount Roskill, and about twenty to and from Mount Albert, are made daily; and, as these all run side by side with the Newmarket trams, as far as the corner of Symonds Street and Khyber Pass Road—about one mile and a half from the wharf—it is safe to say that a passenger has, in the couse of the day and evening, two hundred chances of riding to any place within these points. As far as the Ponsonby reservoir, the Richmond Road, Arch-hill and Avondale, 'buses run the same course as the Ponsonby trams and 'buses; so very great facilities are also afforded for communication with the city by the second main artery.

            
Howick, Panmure, Otahuhu, Papatoitoi, Mangere, and other outlying places are all served by 'buses; yet, notwithstanding all these conveniences for travelling, the number of private conveyances in and around Auckland is many times greater than that of those owned within the same radius at Wellington.

            
The cab service at Auckland is well equipped; but the fares are the highest in the Colony—another legacy of early Auckland's blundering surveyors.

            
Of late years there has been a great improvement in the quality of the horses worked in connection with the trams, 'buses, cabs, etc. None of them have the jaded, dejected look so common to the Auckland horseflesh of a quarter of a century back. Taken all round, the horses of Auckalnd present an appearance exceedingly creditable, in view of the very hard work they are called upon to perform.
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Trade.

            
In matters of trade, Auckland has been more subject to excessive fluctuations than any other part of the Colony. From the lowest depths of despair to the towering heights of prosperity, is a transition frequently accomplished by commercial Auckland in an incredibly short time. The cards of commerce are constantly shuffled so as to cause rapid rises and disastrous declines among business houses large and small. It could



hardly be otherwise in a town dependent upon a province so largely engaged in the gold, gum, and timber industries. But Auckland is every year growing more independent of these interests, and trade is therefore steadying a good deal.

            
Auckland has been called “The Grave of Enterprise,” and certainly very many once-flourishing individuals, firms, companies and institutions have dropped quietly but quickly out of existence during Auckland's comparatively short history, and there still is reason to fear that a similar fate awaits many of their successors. There are, however, some good examples of continued prosperity, of which the New Zealand Herald and Auckland Star are among the best; and some of the more recently established wholesale and retail houses are doing an exceedingly large trade.

            
A noticeable feature of trade in Auckland is the very large country business transacted by retailers. Friday is the regular market day, but the stranger has no need to ask any questions on that head. Country people assemble in the city on market day in great numbers, and when doing their shopping generally pay cash on the spot. Nor is the country trade confined to market day. The improved opportunities for cheap travelling between the city and the outlying districts, have led to country people finding it both pleasant and cheap to run into town and transact their own business.

            
In this matter Auckland differs from Wellington as much as in others. The country towns of the province are comparatively insignificant when compared with those of Wellington, but the compensation lies in the extraordinary development of the chief town, where many of the retail shops are palatial establishments, in which enormous businesses are conducted. Even in the smaller shops the amount of “turnover” is greater than in similar shops at the capital, though in most cases the profits are smaller.

            
Speaking generally, the business men of Auckland are clever, energetic and shrewd, looking keenly after trade and thoroughly convinced that they must make their own way. Many of them work long hours, and not a few of them live short lives in consequence. Grey heads on young shoulders are commoner than need be, and for this the climate is blamed, which is gross calumny, as is testified by the youthful appearance of hundreds of men who are well advanced in years, but who take life more easily.

            
Truly the trade of Auckland is great, and though there is a “cut fine” stamp about it, it is capable of satisfactory explanation. The producers have to work very hard for all they get, and must therefore obtain as much as possible for the money they spend. And there are two fairly large classes—the workers and those who live on small but certain incomes—who are sufficiently independent to spend their money wherever the best value can be obtained. These conditions, together with the possibility of a large turnover, tend to cut down profits in all directions, and to encourage eager competition for trade on a cash basis. This, of course, makes it possible for the working people to live on considerably lower wages without being much if at all worse off than workers elsewhere, and the final result is that Auckland has less to fear from inter-provincial competition than other towns, and is in a better condition to compete within and throughout the Colony against both Home and foreign manufacturers. This, however, is a position which the whole Colony may view with satisfaction and composure, for Auckland cannot export without importing any more than any other city, and the interprovincial trade, with produce against manufactures thus made possible will be beneficially felt throughout the Colony.
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The Outlook.

            
A rash prophet indeed would he be who would venture to predict for Auckland an undeviating course of prosperity. Yet even such a one would certainly be nearer the mark than the gloomy pessimists who are for ever prophesying seasons of retrogression and disaster, greater than any yet experienced by the city. The main conditions point to fairly and substantial advancement. The people who constitute the foundation stock of the community are hard-working and honest, and of a high order of morality; and though smoking, drinking, horse racing, gambling, and the minor vices and grosser pleasures generally receive too much attention from a not inconsiderable portion of the population—the public sentiment is in the main healthy. Patriotism runs high, growing stronger daily, and though the ill-concealed mistrust of Wellington may be questioned as a matter of policy, the rivalry between the two town's acts as a spur to Auckland. The city is well-circumstanced as a great manufacturing centre; and, if the strong political power of the community, and particularly that of
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the workers, be wisely directed, Auckland must take a leading position in industrial enterprise.

            
The trade with the Pacific Islands is slowly but surely extending, and must develop into gigantic proportions. The favourable geographical position as the best New Zealand port on the line of route between Australia and America is an advantage of great and increasing magnitude. The truly wonderful impetus given to the local coasting trade, and the consequent development of the province, the main benefits of which are yet to be felt, must in the near future tell a cheering tale. The improved methods of gold-getting, recently proved practicable, will steady and extend that industry; and last, but perhaps best of all, it is being conclusively proved that the despised gum lands of the north are capable of being brought to a high state of cultivation and productiveness. These with all the host of minor advantages which tend to make Auckland the most popular residential city for persons of independent means, must so tell in her favour as a commercial centre that the temporary draw-backs from which she is suffering—in consequence of her not particularly rich lands, and the difficulties of internal communication—will be quite powerless to prevent her continuous and fairly rapid expansion. Fortunately there is abundant room for a very great increase of population, even within the comparatively narrow limits of the borough, without causing any appreciable increase in the civic expenditure; and this is still more true of the suburbs.

            
The recent ably conducted and magnificent Industrial and Mining Exhibition showed very clearly that Auckland has within herself resources hitherto inadequately estimated and capable of practically unlimited development. By many the success of furze as a food for sheep is believed to be assured, and if it is so, the lands of the north will rise in value with a rapidity hitherto unexampled in the province. Looking at the prospects of Auckland from all points, it is probable that no other part of this thriving Colony offers to speculators of experience so excellent a scope.
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Old Auckland.

          
Though the Cyclopedia of New Zealand makes no pretensions to being a history of New Zealand, and though its primary object is to present the world with a description of the Colony as it is to-day, it yet undertakes the responsibility or giving some account of the earliest days of each province. This special duty is undertaken in the hope of showing how much the New Zealanders of to-day are indebted to the Colony's founders; and with the object of perpetuating the names of the brave pioneers, and familiarising in the minds of the present generation some of the many acts of noble sacrifice which were necessary in starting this Colony on the course of prosperity in which it now travels with well assured feelings of certitude.

          
Auckland may be termed a transplanted town; and, therefore, that a fair start may be made with her interesting history, it is necessary not only to hide from the imagination all the conveniences and developments of beautiful Auckland as she appears today, but to visit the embryo capital in her nursery at the Bay of Islands. This must be done, for Auckland, though under another name, was certainly founded at “The Bay.” Yet it would be improper to confuse the birth of Auckland with that of her fostermother, the town of Kororareka, now called Russell, for that was the nursery from which Auckland was first transplanted.

          
The foundation of the little settlement of Kororareka might be claimed as the founding of the country; but certainly not of the town of Auckland, inasmuch as Kororareka is there yet; and still less of the province of Auckland, for that was born in the early fifties and died in the mid-seventies.

          
For the birthday of Auckland there was a large choice of dates, as in the case of other settlements. Wellington, for instance, has choice from among the following:—The 16th of August, 1839, when the “Tory,” the pioneer and official ship of the New Zealand Company, arrived off Cape Farewell in search of the most central and suitable harbour for the company's head settlement; (2) the 20th of September following, when the “Tory” entered Wellington Harbour; (3) the 25th of the same month, on which day Colonel Wakefield completed the purchase of all the lands surrounding the harbour; (4) the 3rd of January, 1840, when the “Cuba,” the Company's survey vessel, arrived in the newly purchased harbour; (5) the 20th of the same month, when the first genuine passenger ship, the “Aurora,” arrived off the Wellington Heads; and (6) the 22nd of January of the same month, when the passengers, about 150 in number, were landed in the newly-acquired territory. Of these dates, Wellington, with a modesty quite uncommon in Cook Strait, chose the last.

          
But as Auckland was founded by Captain Hobson, who came out to these islands empowered to establish a seat for his Government, it followed that the choice of Auckland's birthday must be confined to dates notable in the history of his selection. These may be summed up thus: — (1) The 29th of January, 1840, on which day the Lieut-Governor arrived in the harbour of the Bay of Islands, in search of a suitable site for his headquarters, and to make arrangements with the natives for its purchase; (2) the 30th of the same month, the day on which he landed at Kororareka and read the Declaration, announcing that the Colony of New South Wales had been empowered by the British nation to annex New Zealand to its territory; (3) the 6th of February, of the same year, the date on which the principal signatures of the famous Treaty of Waitangi were affixed; (4) the date of the Lieut-Governor's purchase, from Captain Clendon,
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of the site of the original town to bear the name of Russell, where he actually located the Government offices, and planted the seedling which he afterwards transplanted to the present site of Auckland; (5) the date of purchase by Captain Hobson of the site of Auckland; (6) the 16th of September, 1840, when Captain Symonds and other officials arrived in the Auckland Harbour to hoist the British flag on its shore in obedience to the instructions of Captain Hobson; (7) the 18th of the same month, when the flag was actually hoisted; (8) the 16th of January, 1841, when the Lieut-Governor transferred his headquarters to Auckland from his newly established town—the original Russell—taking away everything but the name, which was promptly adopted by the neighbouring township, Kororareka; and (9) the 9th of October, 1842, when the first genuine passenger ships, the “Duchess of Argyle” and “Jane Gifford,” arrived in the Auckland harbour with the first batch of real immigrants.

          
Of this long list, Auckland chose the earliest, and persistently calls the 29th of January “the Anniversary of the Colony.” Wellington as persistently calls the 22nd of the same month “the anniversary of the Colony.” Now, sixty years later, the point is still in dispute, with the result that no day is acknowledged by the Colony as a whole. And certainly there seems to be abundant reason for rejecting the dates of both claimants. Neither the arrival of a batch of immigrants in the harbour of Wellington, nor the arrival of Captain Hobson in the harbour of the Bay of Islands can in any sense be held to constitute the birth of the “Colony” of New Zealand. New Zealand became a colony on the 3rd of May, 1841, on which day the Lieutenant-Governor of the New South Wales dependency, became Governor of the independent Colony of New Zealand, by virtue of her Majesty's proclamation, which he that day publicly read. As nothing can have a birthday before its birth it seems clear that the “Colony” of New Zealand can go no further back than the 3rd of May, 1841.

          
Many anterior dates might be celebrated as common to the whole country. The discovery and landing of Captain Cook, the landing of the first missionary, the arrival of the first British resident, and the actual annexation by New South Wales, were all interesting events common to the whole country.

          
But while anniversaries which are celebrated variously in different parts of the Colony cannot be correctly termed either colonial or provincial, they are important as the anniversaries of the chief towns, which are celebrated by a holiday within each district; and as Auckland celebrates her anniversary on the 29th of January and counts from 1840, that will be a convenient date from which to give a brief outline of her early history.

          
On the 29th of January, 1840, then Her Majesty's ship “Herald” arrived in the beautiful harbour of the Bay of Islands, the object of the visit being the conveyance from Sydney to these shores of Captain William Hobson, R.N., who had been intrusted with most important duties, on the execution of which hung the fate of these interesting islands. It is admitted on all sides that the anxiety of the British Government respecting New Zealand, which found expression in the delegation of Captain Hobson, had arisen from the action of the New Zealand Company in energetically preparing to occupy this country with enthusiastic colonists of a very high order. But, unfortunately, this anxiety was somewhat slow in manifesting itself, with the result that Captain Hobson was on the scene at least half a year too late, the pioneers of the New Zealand Company having started three months, and having arrived at their destination nearly six months before him.

          
This tardy action was not from want of notice, or because of any hurry in the arrangements of the Company; for the project of colonising New Zealand by a body of private individuals had been discussed with the British Government for more than two years, the negotiations being commenced during the reign of William IV. That the Imperial authorities had seriously contemplated colonising New Zealand, either by the old method of a private company, or by direct official occupation, was evident. A British resident had been here some years, and Captain Hobson was, even at the time the negotiations were opened, in these waters in command of his Majesty's ship “Rattlesnake,” making reports of the country to the Home Government. Yet, in the face of all this, the original New Zealand Association was informed in December, 1837, after many months of weary waiting, that, if the members would form them-selves into a registered company, that company would, on certain necessary specified conditions, be granted a charter of incorporation similar to those which had been granted to companies which had originally colonised America.

          
It took the promoters nearly two years to form and register their company, not because of any lack of share-holders, but because the Association originally formed was in the meantime endeavouring, by the machinery of a special Empowering Bill, to obtain the co-operation of the Imperial authorities in preference to undertaking the work of colonisation without such valuable aid. When at length the Company was formed and the charter applied for, the applicants were told in effect that they had missed their chance, and that no charter would then be granted. Neither would the Government co-operate with the Company as at first suggested.

          
The Company, therefore, decided to work independently of the Government, and no doubt bitterly regretted the two years spent in that kind of fast and loose play over the refusal of privileges which it was probable the authorities had no power to grant, in view of the fact that the Crown had waived what sovereignty it had ever claimed over these islands.

          
Pressing on its work, the Company determined to treat the New Zealand natives as a nation whose people, by virtue of possession, had the recognised right to deal with their own lands. The British Government saw no way of objecting to this, but, of course, knew well that what a private company could do, could be still better done by an accredited representative of the British nation; and, therefore, Captain Hobson was sent out to do for the nation, what Colonel Wakefield had in band for the Company. But before purchasing any lands from the natives, Captain Hobson was to endeavour to get the Maoris as a nation to recognise Her Majesty's sovereign authority over the whole or any parts of the country which they might be willing to place under Her Majesty's dominion.

          
Why all this see-sawing took place, which resulted in such divided instead of united action, can never now be definitely



known; but some indications of the causes, may, perhaps, be surmised. It has been said that the promoters of the New Zealand Association controlled about forty-two votes in the House of Commons; and, on the other hand, it seems fairly evident that some of those promoters had enemies, if not among the members of the Government, at least among leading members of the Government factions, who were also adepts at wire-pulling. Certain it is, very rapid changes of front were made by the British Government; and it is not clear, that these changes were induced by any action of the intending colonists. Whatever may have been the cause of the disastrous bungles, there can be no doubt that the bungles were disastrous, or that the whole cause of colonisation was very prejudicially affected thereby. The present object, however, is neither to dwell regretfully on the past nor to attach blame to anyone; but this explanation of the circumstances leading up to Captain Hobson's appointment is offered as an indication of the nature of the uncommon difficulties with which, from the outset, that most estimable ambassador had to contend.

          
Immediately on his arrival Captain Hobson invited all the resident British subjects to meet him at the Kororareka Church, and there the next day (the 30th of January) he acquainted them with the objects of his mission. There, too, the Proclamation declaring that the boundaries of the Colony of New South Wales had been so extended as to include New Zealand, and that Captain Hobson had been appointed Lieutenant-Governor of the newly-added portion, was read in due form. A second proclamation, read at the same meeting, stated that Her Majesty, the Queen of England, did not “deem it expedient to recognise” any titles to lands in New Zealand purchased from the natives, but that a Commission would be appointed to decide the equity of all such purchases and to recommend to the Crown for confirmation such as might be considered fair and reasonable. It further declared that all purchases made after the date of that proclamation would be absolutely null and void.

          
By what authority the Queen of England did all this is a point quietly ignored; and in view of the facts that the rights of sovereignty acquired by discovery, had some years before been waived by the British nation in favour of the natives and true possessors of the country, and that up to that time no rights or sovereignty had been resought, much less recovered, it would have been difficult for Captain Hobson to show by what recognised authority the Government of England, on the 15th of June, 1839, extended the boundaries of New South Wales by including therein the country whose independence had been repeatedly acknowledged; and it would have been as difficult for him to show by what legitimate authority he was there reading those proclamations. What the effect of those proclamations would have been or what their value, if the native chiefs had declined to cede their sovereign rights, when so asked a few days later, are other knotty questions. They are, however, of little importance now, inasmuch as the chiefs did sign away their sovereign rights, when they signed the Treaty of Waitangi; but the morality of securing sovereign rights from uncivilised natives, and then proceeding to disallow and repudiate the prior acts of those natives may be questioned. But the Commission was appointed and great alterations were made in the areas said to be the rightful property of private speculators; and whatever absence of legal right there may have been was similarly bridged over. Though the speculators had, on the one hand, to give up a good deal of territory to which they laid claim, they had, on the other, a benefit, the value of which they were not slow to perceive, in having confirmed and indefeasible titles to as much land as was considered fair value for the money or goods given in exchange for the larger areas.

          
Just a week after Captain Hobson's arrival—on the 5th of February—the famous Treaty of Waitangi, which stands as good to-day as ever it did, was read to a large number of chiefs and others in meeting assembled. The Rev. Henry (afterwards Archdeacon) Williams acted as interpreter, and it was very carefully explained that the Treaty proposed to invest all the sovereign rights of the natives of New Zealand in the British Crown, and that, in consideration thereof, that Crown would extend to the natives all the rights and privileges of British subjects, prominent and paramount among which would be their undisturbed possession of their lands, and the power to deal with the same at such times, and on such terms as might be agreeable to them. But one important limitation of that power was made, by which the right of preemption was vested with the new Government.

          
This Treaty of Waitangi was in all respects so admirably fair and promised such real benefits to the aborigines of
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this country, that no real difficulties in the way of its accomplishment could be reasonably expected; yet its complete and immediate success reflects the highest credit on Captain Hobson, and makes his selection for the office he held stand out prominently as the most perspicacious act of the British Government in connection with New Zealand affairs up to that time. That Captain Hobson's exemplary integrity, dignified loyalty, and singular earnestness of purpose, had much to do in winning the day for the Treaty of Waitangi is evident to the humblest student of New Zealand's early history. A man with a mind less enriched with those excellent qualities might have been unable to draw unto himself, the powerful aid of the head missionary, the Rev. Henry Williams, and that grand old Ngapuhi Chief, Tamati Waka Nene; and without the invaluable aid, or the powerful influence of these two warm friends of the Empire the Treaty of Waitangi would, for the time, at any rate, have been a most decided failure. This much is pretty plainly said by Governor Hobson himself.

          
With the timely and judicious assistance of these two, however, even the expectations of Captain Hobson's sanguine nature were more than realised, for after the korero on the 5th of February, he left the natives to consider the provisions of the Treaty and their attitude thereto until the 7th, when, it was arranged, he should meet them again. The clear day thus given was, however, not required, for on the morning of the 6th, the chiefs intimated their satisfaction with the provisions of the Treaty and their willingness to sign at once. On that day twenty-six important chiefs signed the Treaty, and this act was recognised by all the parties as ceding the right over a large though not very clearly defined portion of the North Island.

          
At Hokianga, on the 12th of the same month a good deal of opposition was exhibited, and here there was no Waka Nene to repeat the seasonable speech made by the ever-friendly chief of Waitangi. Captain Hobson, however, was himself equal to this occasion. Charging one of the principal objectors with being influenced by some white man, unfriendly to the best interests of both races, the gallant Captain called upon him to speak his own sentiments like a man. The chief gracefully admitted the impeachment by pointing out his prompter and calling upon him to speak up for himself. Captain Hobson listened to the man's excuses and then, in a masterly speech of a few words, silenced the whole opposition. Assisted at Hokianga by the Wesleyan missionaries as he had been assisted at Waitangi by the Anglicans, Captain Hobson secured his second complete success, and was enabled to declare the Queen's rights of sovereignty over all the country lying between the North Cape and the 30th parallel of south latitude. This included the island as far south as the present township of Dargaville. The good offices of Captain Hobson in obtaining further signatures to the Treaty were then interrupted by illness; but in due course all the principal signatures were obtained, and on the 21st of May, 1840, the Queen's sovereignty was proclaimed over the whole of the North Island. In the meantime, Captain Hobson had to consider the important matter of the choice of a capital. That this matter was lying heavily on the mind of the Lieutenant-Governor may be inferred from the fact that even before the provisions of the Treaty were made known he had enquired from the Rev. Henry Williams, as to a suitable site for the seat of Government. Asked whether the Bay of Islands would be a suitable position of the capital, Mr Williams objected to those shores as being too confined, too generally occupied by Europeans as well as natives, and too far from the centre of the island. The faithful missionary then went on to suggest the shores of Waitemata and Tamaki rivers as being free from all these objections, and possessing features of rare excellence, there being “a vast extent of fine country without an inhabitant.” On the 21st of February, 1840, Mr. Williams accompanied Captain Hobson on H.M.S. “Herald” to the noble harbour of the Waitemata, to point out the many advantages of the locality. Speaking of this trip in his early recollections, Mr. Williams says:—“His Excellency was not long in pointing out the spot, the present site of Auckland, seeing immediately its various advantages. I was despatched to Maraitai, to communicate with and collect the natives of the Thames and around. On my return to the ship after four days, I met Captain Nias in his boat, coming to meet me and the natives with me, who informed me that on Sunday morning Captain Hobson had been disabled by an attack of paralysis, and considered that he was not able to hold his office, and had determined to sail for Sydney. On my seeing Captain Hobson, I suggested his not determining so immediately to relinquish his office as Governor of New Zealand; that I would guarantee quarters on shore, either at Paihia or Waimate, but recommending Waimate as being more quiet. The ‘Herald’ returned to the Bay and Captain Hobson was conveyed to Waimate to good quarters at Mr. Davis's house, where every attention was paid to him, having the presence of his own surgeon and secretary. After remaining at Waimate some months, Captain Hobson so far recovered as to resume his duties in the Bay, and finally founded the ‘City of Auckland.’”

          
Notwithstanding this prompt recognition of the beautiful isthmus, however, Captain Hobson, before finally deciding on the present site of Auckland as that of his capital, selected a “Capital City” site at Hokianga, and called it Churchill, and another, which he named Russell, at a place about four miles from the old town of Korcrareka. It seems pretty certain that for some time after his unfortunate attack of paralysis, Captain Hobson was unable to resist all the pressure brought to bear upon him by rival interests, and to this the sudden changes may in some measure be ascribed. At Churchill the Lieutenant-Governor never settled, but at Russell he had Government offices fitted up, and himself occupied the residence of Captain Clendon, the American Consul, whose estate he had purchased for the site of the capital. Within three or four months after Captain Hobson's arrival in the Colony regular ferry boats were plying between Kororareka and the new capital of Russell. It was, however, a short-lived glory; for all the time arrangements were in process for the purchase and settlement of the lands of the Waitemata.

          
That there were not greater difficulties experienced in the purchase of the site may be attributed to the greater power of Government in the estimation of both the natives and Europeans, and to the sagacity of Captain Hobson. Though there were no inhabitants nearer than



the Maoris of Orakei Bay, from whom the site of Auckland was bought, long before Captain Hobson had set his delighted eyes on the spot, a company had been formed in Scotland called the New Zealand Manukau and Waitemata Company; and this company claimed very considerable areas on the shores of both these harbours. The claim of the Company rested on the alleged purchase of these lands in 1836 by a Sydney merchant, named Thomas Mitchell. The alleged purchaser died during the same year. In 1838 the Scottish Company was formed, and in due course this portion of Mr. Mitchell's estate was acquired from the widow and the trustees. Captain Symonds, whose name is perpetuated in that of a main Auckland thoroughfare, was a director and the principal New Zealand representative of the Manukau and Waitemata Company, yet Captain Hobson managed to secure the good offices of this gentleman, first in getting the signatures of the Manukau and Waikato chiefs to the Treaty of Waitangi, and afterwards in purchasing from the Maoris the site for the new capital, notwithstanding the circumstance that the lands so bought must have included a good deal, if not the whole, of the territory to which his company laid claim—probably an erroneous claim. That Captain Symonds had the authority of his company behind him in assisting Captain Hobson to the best of his ability, was never questioned; and, had the lives of these two captains been spared, even a few years, the Company, doubtless, would have reaped its reward. As Deputy Surveyor-General of the Colony, to which office he was appointed by the Lieutenant-Governor, Captain Symonds would, no doubt, have been a warm friend to his Scottish Company, but his life was cut lamentably short, while he was on an errand of mercy and heroism, by the sinking of a boat in the Manukau harbour on the 23rd of November, 1841. Less than a month before that date about twenty-seven settlers arrived in the Manukau under the auspices of Captain Symonds's Company, and though the right of purchase was disallowed, other and more distant lands were given them. Though no other settlers followed under the Company's auspices, it was not till ten or twelve years later that the Association agreed to accept about 1900 acres of land in an out-of-way part of the district in settlement of all claims. Whether Mr. Mitchell really did bargain for any lands on the isthmus can never be known. No mention of the sale was made to Dr. Campbell and his party, who, ignorant of Captain Hobson's prior visit, endeavoured, on the 30th of April, 1840, to possess themselves of the coveted territory. That they did not succeed was due, not to any question as to the power of old Kawau and his sons to sell, but merely because one of the sons had taken umbrage at a remark made unintentionally by one of the party. The whole story is graphically told by Dr. Campbell in his interestingly written book “Poenamo.”

          
When Captain Symonds purchased the site of the new capital, it was in its larger features the same lovely spot that it is to-day. From Mount Hobson—so named from its being the first of the volcanic hills ascended by him—the Lieutenant-Governor had, on his second visit, been charmed into a passion for the wonderful picture. From the same summit, still earlier in the history of the selection, Dr. Campbell and Mr. Brown had received impressions to be effaced only by death; and its fitness as the site of a great town was acknowledged by all who had seen it. It was impossible to resist the conclusion that the narrow and beautiful isthmus possessed so many advantages that nothing could possibly be better as a site for the capital of the infant colony. It is true that Wellington has since been declared more convenient from being more central; but at that time Wellington was practically the southern extremity of settlement, and apparently suffered from drawbacks similar to those which had put the Bay of Islands “out of court.” The very fact that the lands of Port Nicholson had been apportioned out to Europeans, was in itself sufficient to condemn Wellington in the estimation of the Lieutenant-Governor, who, above everything else, wanted a site where he could sell land, and thus for the time fill the Government coffers and thereby release the colony of New South Wales from the necessity of providing its dependency which the cash needful for carrying on the government.

          
The question as to site being finally settled during the winter of 1840, Captain Hobson, about the beginning of September, despatched the barque “Anna Watson,” with the necessary men and materials for the establishment of a nucleus of the capital. How the “Anna Watson” arrived on the 10th of September, with Captain Symnods as a kind of Deputy-Governor, and Mr. Felton Mathew as Surveyor-General, and how on the 18th of the same month the British flag was hoisted on Fort Britomart, is all graphically told in
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Brett's “Early History of New Zealand,” and Dr. Campbell devotes some charming characters of “Poenamo” to matters connected therewith. With all these particulars every true Aucklander should be familiar. An excellent account of the “Growth of Auckland” is given also in the “New Zealand Herald” Exhibition Number for 1898.

          
Auckland was named in honour of Lord Auckland, the Governor-General of India, who is credited with having taken much interest in the colonisation of New Zealand; and Eden being Lord Auckland's family name, the connection was maintained by naming the principal and nearest volcanic hill “Mount Eden.”

          
The preparation of Auckland for the removal to it from Russell of the seat of Government was set about in earnest by those to whom the work was deputed, and the busy scene was quietly watched by others who were ready to enter heartily into the work of colonisation. Prominent among the latter were Dr. Campbell and his partner, Mr. William Brown, who had been in various parts of the Hauraki Gulf for the best part of the year, patiently waiting until the location of the capital should be announced. In the meantime they had purchased the pretty little island of Motu Korea, soon to be known to every Aucklander as Brown's Island. This purchase was made after the Lieutenant-Governor's Proclamation that all such purchases would be null and void, yet though initial steps to make the purchase null and void were taken, they were not followed up; and if “Poenamo” consisted only of the chapter devoted to this little episode, it would still be an interesting book.

          
The surveying of the town and other matters concerning the first sale of land occupied about seven months; and on the 19th of April, 1841, the speculators and bona fide settlers were offered the first opportunity of securing land on the shores of the Waitemata with a clear Government title. The announcement of the sale, which was first advertised for the 8th of March, attracted a large number of buyers. About forty acres were disposed of and the upset price was twelve shillings and sixpence per perch, or £100 per acre, but the prices realised averaged more than £550 per acre. A list of the purchasers, with areas and prices, appears in “Brett's Early History,” and among the list are the names of a few who are still well known in the land.

          
At this time Shortland Street marked the boundary of the foreshore. The tides rippled where the Post Office now stands, and the buildings of the South British Insurance Company stand on what was then a swamp or bog, through which ran a small stream which at high tide was backed up as far as Durham Street. Shortland Street, therefore, at once became the most popular street, and allotments therein brought high prices. The principal streets were surveyed a chain wide—with Queen Street still wider in parts—but they were so few and far between that the owners of allotments had to make additional streets for their own convenience; and the allotments were in all cases so small that those owners were considered liberal who set aside ten or eleven feet each, so that a street twenty or twenty-two feet wide might be made. It seems inconceivable that with a fine area which was practically limitless, the authorities should have permitted the formation of such streets as High Street, O'Connell Street, Vulcan Lane, West Queen (Swanson) Street, Durham Street, and far too many others. Yet the idea of widening them to meet the demands of the everincreasing traffic is either never entertained, or banished as hopeless. High Street, with its foot-wide footpath, and a road-way too narrow for two vehicles to pass in comfort, must have cost much more through waste of time than would have purchased the property to treble its width, and yet such an act would treble the value of the remaining property. Great opportunities are yet within the reach of the people for beautifying and rendering more useful the old business part of Auckland.

          
Though it is difficult to believe, it is said that Auckland really was laid out upon some recognised plan. In “Brett's Early History” a lithograph is given of what purports to be the “original plan of Auckland,” and its worst features seem to have been developed fairly closely in the formation of Shortland Street, High Street, Vulcan Lane, Chancery Lane, Eden Crescent, Short Street, and some others, including that wretched sample of engineering known as Jermyn Street. Queen Street is shown as straight to the corner of Wellesley Street, where its only angle marks a deviation after the manner of Grey Street, but in the direction of the top of Pitt Street. The plan altogether is whimsical and full of stupidities, and a good deal of pick-and-shovel work would have been needed to carry it out, but it has many advantages over whatever plan was eventually followed, not the least of these being that the reclamation is shown as far as its present
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boundary, without the destruction of Point Britomart, which is reserved for a military barracks.

          
While Auckland was being secured, laid out and sold off, New Zealand was occupying the very serious attention of the British Parliament. In July, 1840, a Select Committee was appointed to enquire into matters respecting the colonization of New Zealand, and early in the following month, after taking a mass of evidence from Mr. Edward Gibbon Wakefield and nine others, it presented its report to the House of Commons. Among other things set forth in the report, it was stated that, in the opinion of the Committee, New Zealand should be detached from New South Wales and created a separate Colony. The charter giving effect to this suggestion was signed by Her Majesty on the 10th of November, 1840. But even had news travelled slowly in those days, so it is not very remarkable that such good news as this should have taken within a fortnight of six months to reach the people of New Zealand.
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In the meantime the Lieutenant-Governor had continued at his new seat until January, 1841, when the whole of the Government establishment was moved; but it was not until the 13th of March that Captain and Mrs. Hobson made their official landing, and were preceded to Government House by a band, said by Dr. Campbell to consist of one fife and one drum. On the 29th of the following month the documents arrived authorizing Captain Hobson to declare New Zealand a separate colony with himself the Governor of it; and on the 3rd of May the ceremony was performed with befitting display. The charter also defined the methods of conducting the affairs of the colony by the Governor and two Councils—the Executive Council of three, and the Legislative Council of six, exclusive of the Governor, who was, ex officio, a member of both Councils. The first session of the Legislative Council met on the Queen's twenty-second birthday, and as all the needful Government appointments had been previously made, the affairs of the newly created colony were by that time in full swing.

          
Those who bought land at the first Government sale were not slow to make the most of their opportunities by reselling, either cut up, or in the original allotments. The very first day after the sale, Dr. Campbell bought “Logan Bank” in Jermyn Street, where he subsequently built the house now occupied by Mr. C. V. Houghton, the Auckland manager of the New Zealand Shipping Company; and many who cut up their sections nearer town were enabled to sell at considerably advanced prices.

          
There was an outery raised for a sale of country lands, in the hope that farming and the production of foodstuffs generally might thereby be encouraged and stimulated. With beef at 1st 4d per pound, and potatoes at eight shillings per hundred weight, the temptations to embark in farming were fairly strong. A sale of “suburban sections,” “cultivation allotments” and “small farms” was advertised for the 1st of September, 1841. The “suburban sections” were situated where Parnell now stands, beginning at Mechanics' Bay; they varied from three to five acres and were sold at prices ranging from about £100 per acre to less than a fourth of that rate. Purchasers with an eye to business immediately subdivided their sections, the pioneer in this enterprise being an Irishman named Robert Tod, who christened the place Parnell, and advertised “choice villa sites.” The “cultivation allotments” were located in the neighbourhood of the Khyber Pass Road, a good deal further from the heart of the capital; but as the same enterprising Mr. Tod was a purchaser of these also, it is not likely that they were all used for the market gardens for which they were intended. They were of about three acres each, and sold for an average of about £13 per acre. The “small farms” ranged from a little under five acres each to about five times that size, and were located between. Newmarket and Onehunga, along the Manukau Road. These ranged from a little over £2 per acre for the larger sections to nearly five times that price for some of the small allotments. About six hundred acres of land were sold at the second sale, about fifteen times as much as was disposed of at the first sale, yet the returns were less than a fourth or those netted for the smaller but more central area.

          
In offering to the public these suburban sections and cultivation allotments, the blunders so noticeable in connection with the first sale were repeated. The streets which were surveyed and provided for before the sale were, if not very straight, at least of respectable width, but they were so few and far between that the people were soon compelled to make streets for themselves. This they were allowed to do on the most parsimonious scale conceivable, with the result that there is hardly an inferior street in any of the early settled portions of the town and suburbs in which two vehicles can pass freely without danger of collision. For all this



stupidity and cupidity in the original planning of Auckland, Dr. Martin, writing in 1841, blamed the principal surveyor, Mr. Felton Mathew, who was supposed to be feebly imitating the designers of the ancient town of Bath, which is now said to have a finer appearance than any other city in England. That may be true, as it certainly is true that, taken all round, Auckland has a finer appearance than any other city in New Zealand; but, unfortunately for the fame of Mr. Felton Mathew, Auckland is beautiful to-day in spite of the idiosyneracy, rather than by virtue of the perspicacity of her first and principal surveyor.

          
On the 5th of January, 1842, Auckland held its first race meeting, which was under the patronage of His Excellency the Governor. On the 29th of the same month, the first regatta was held also under the patronage of Governor Hobson and in celebration of the second anniversary of “the arrival of His Excellency in New Zealand.” No mention of the anniversary of the “Colony” seems to have been made at that time; but as other Governors came and went, though the same day was celebrated, it became necessary to vary the title of the event to be celebrated. If, when that necessity arose, the change had been made so as to read “the Anniversary of the Introduction of British Rule,” the celebration might reasonably have been expected to become general throughout the colony, which for many reasons would have been preferable to the present system of each district keeping up its own day.

          
In March, 1842, the Supreme Court of New Zealand was inaugurated and opened, under the Chief Justiceship of Mr. (afterwards Sir) William Martin.

          
It may be fairly assumed, as was actually the case, that, when the second anniversary of Governor Hobson's arrival was so enthusiastically celebrated, he was at any rate popular with the people of Auckland. He it was who had founded the new capital, who had so successfully secured the sovereign rights for the nation, and who had so sedulously devoted his undoubted talents to the interests of this young Britain of the South. Under his rule, the affairs of the colony had, up to that point, been fairly prosperous. But the time was at hand when, even in Auckland, where the Government money was mainly spent, prosperity would give way to depression, and then, as now, the people were not slow to lay the blame on the shoulders of the Government which in those days, unfortunately for Captain Hobson, meant the Governor. Nowadays the Governor gets no credit for prosperity and no blame for adversity; the Premier and his colleagues, for the time being, come in for the censure, and they are generally fairly able to bear it. But in the early days, when Governors were all but autocratic within their own domains, it was generally believed that they alone could command success or court failure by making wise or unwise use of the power they possessed. To a limited extent this assumption was, of course, correct; but the ignorant muddling of causes, effects, side issues, and irrevelancies, so common with even fairly intelligent communities, led to Captain Hobson's censure for a condition of affairs which, but for his sagacity and integrity, must have been still worse. Every party in the country with “an axe to grind”—and all parties had axes in those days—was thoroughly convinced that Governor Hobson alone could provide and turn the grindstone; and the many factions confidently, sometimes impudently, made demands upon him in this regard. Truly, the position occupied by the first Governor of this Colony was pitiable. Refined and sensitive by nature, accustomed to obedience and respect by training, and weakened in bodily health by anxiety and hardwork, Captain Hobson, even under the most favourable circumstances in other respects, would have had a sufficiently trying position. But circumstances in other respects were far from favourable. Starting with a Home-implanted prejudice against the New Zealand Company, Captain Hobson was prepared for the determined opposition of the largest and most important body of colonists; and, although, unhappily, he was not disappointed in this respect, he was able to bear the abuse from Wellington, Napier and New Plymouth with creditable equanimity. But he was not prepared to be practically abandoned by the Government which had implanted that prejudice; nor was he prepared to be pecked at, worried and frequently insulted by the very people who had most benefited by and most selfishly fostered that prejudice.

          
When, early in 1841, the settlers of Port Nicholson petitioned Her Majesty the Queen for the removal of Captain Hobson, whom they charged with “neglect and misconduct,” the people of the Auckland district sent Home a counter petition praying that Her Majesty might graciously continue her confidence in Captain Hobson on whose wisdom, zeal, energy, integrity, and efficiency they set a very high value. In the opinion of the petitioners, the Lieutenant-Governor, by the mildness of his government, the equity of his administration of justice, and the success of his efforts for the security of life and property, had happily succeeded in uniting the European and native population, and in firmly attaching them to Her Majesty's Government. The petitioners expressed their regret that exceedingly frivolous and altogether unworthy complaints against Captain Hobson had been preferred by certain persons residing at Port Nicholson; and roundly condemned those complaints as unworthy of Her Majesty's notice.

          
The virulence of the one and the adulation of the other of these petitions, Captain Hobson very calmly ascribed to the same cause—the choice of capital—operating inharmoniously on conflicting interests; but when a year later, the people of Auckland turned to rend their quondam benefactor his position became painful indeed.

          
To secure temporary relief from the persecution of his opponents, the bitterest of whom were now among the Aucklanders themselves, Captain Hobson, early in the winter of 1842, left the scene of his unhappiness, for a trip into the interior, preferring to trust himself to the tender mercies of the Waikato, Waipa, and Kawhia natives. Prior to his departure, a public meeting held in Auckland, adopted a memorial to the Secretary of State, expressing lack of confidence in the Governor, and His Excellency was made the medium of its transmission. Unable to await with patience the result of this action, the people, though of course, not quite intentionally, adopted a more rapid and efficacious process of ridding themselves of a Governor who had in no way departed from those principles of integrity of which they had so recently adjudged him to be so worthy an exponent. Immediately on his return to the capital, the petty peckings were renewed and vituperative insults were again showered



upon him. Even when His Excellency, as near the end of his career as August, 1842, was so ill that deputationists and memorialists had to be put off from day to day, no abatement of the fury was noticeable.

          
The culminating act of cruelty, a fitting climax for the host of minor insults, occurred at a public meeting called by the dying Governor during a temporary triumph over his malady. The object of the meeting was the adoption of a congratulatory address to Her Majesty, on some event of domestic felicity. “The Opposition,” says Brett's Early History of New Zealand, “called another meeting and adopted a separate address, which was largely signed, and this was subsequently moved at the Governor's meeting as an amendment upon the address which the Governor had caused to be prepared. This gross personal insult caused the Governor's heart to sink within him; a relapse of paralysis followed, and he died on the 10th of September, 1842.”

          
It is on record that between 1720 and the time when Governor Hobson first saw the Manukau-Waitemata isthmus, many a bloody battle was lost and won on that beautiful spot. Whole tribes were swept away, and, perhaps, eaten; but it may yet be questioned whether, in view of the different circumstances and conditions of the perpetrators, another deed was ever there enacted quite so coldly cruel as that final insult to one of the kindliest gentlemen who ever set foot on these shores.
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In justice to the Auckland public of those days, it should be remembered that the alarming nature of the Governor's health had been imperfectly understood. The suddenness of his death caused much surprise, and it was stated at the time that a mistake in administering a dose of medicine somewhat hastened the end.

          
The interment took place on Tuesday, the 13th of September, “accompanied with the most striking demonstrations of respect and affection. Not a person in the township of Auckland but appeared in the deepest mourning.” In the Church of England portion of the eastern cemetery, Symonds Street, diligent searchers and keen observers may find a weedy quadrangle, in which a large, flat, old-fashioned tombstone declares that “Beneath lie the remains of William Hobson, Esq., a Captain in Her Majesty's Royal Navy, and first Governor of New Zealand, who departed this life on the 10th of September, 1842; aged 49 years.” The time is coming when Auckland and the colony generally well endeavour to atone for the past by suitably honouring the memory of this good man, whose public acts now shine with a lustre barely exceeded by that of his private character.

          
The commercial depression from which Auckland was suffering at the time of Governor Hobson's death, was the result, no doubt, of the inflation of the preceding two years, and the recovery was by no means rapid. Some stir was made about a month after the Governor's death, by the arrival of the “Duchess of Argyle” and the “Jane Gifford,” the first vessels to bring immigrants to Auckland direct from the Old Land. Prior to this the population of Auckland had consisted of colonists who had gained more or less experience in other parts of Australia and New Zealand, and who were attracted to the new capital with the idea of rising in importance with the district. The arrival, therefore, of immigrants who might be expected to improve the prospects of the town by settling in the country, was hailed with much satisfaction. There was no wharf on which to land them, though the town had been the declared capital of the colony for more than two years; but the mud flat in Mechanics' Bay was there, and on this 172 men, 171 women and 192 children were dropped, “bag and baggage,” to find as best they might their way through the soft mud to the twenty or thirty rough huts which had been provided on the shore for their reception. One of the few passengers who managed to land at the flood of the time, says of those less fortunate: “It was a sorry sight to see them carrying their children, boxes and bundles through mud and water up to their knees.” Though there was no wharf, some “pile and stringer work” had been done; for at the foot of Shortland Street there was, it is stated, a footbridge about a chain and a half long by about five feet wide, by which, and by which alone, the people were enabled to cross Lower Queen Street. This solitary Auckland bridge was dignified by the name of “Waterloo.” Though roads were as scarce as bridges, some attempt had even then been made to afford protection to the women and children in the event of invasion by the Maoris; and before nightfall on the day of their landing the immigrants were instructed as to the location of Barrack Point.

          
The expectant immigrants soon found that they had not waded through mud and water for nothing; but Governor Hobson must have smiled in his grave if he saw them trooping up, not to himself, but to Acting-Governor Shortland, in



search of work pending the departure of the depression. The Acting-Governor was equal to the occasion, however, for it is said that he gave them work at a pound a week for married men, and sixteen shillings for the more or less fortunate individuals who happened to be single. The particular work in which their pent-up energies were to be let loose was the cutting down of Shortland Street. Well might the street be called after a man of such generous impulses; though, in view of the fact that, only a year before, board and lodging was paid for at the rate of £2 per week, it would have been little wonder if the poor immigrants had dubbed the scene of their labours “Short-cut to Starvation Point.” For how long they remained, or how many of the immigrants worked at Shortland Street, is not recorded; but the appearance of that thoroughfare twenty years later, or even now, would lead to the conclusion that the brave pioneers soon found employment elsewhere.

          
Lieutenant Shortland's short administration of fifteen months as Acting-Governor was not marked by any great revival of prosperity. Like his late chief, he was blamed for everything disagreeable that happened, though there were many quite willing to claim a full share of any credit that might be bestowed on the Acting-Governor on account of a few trifling improvements he was able to effect.

          
By the close of 1843, when Governor Fitzroy arrived, Auckland and perhaps other parts of the colony had improved to some extent, but there was an accumulation of troubles waiting for impossible settlement, and in regard to some of these his impatient memorialists had sent an address to meet him in Sydney. Lucky would it have been for Captain Fitzroy, and perchance also for the colony, if the memorial of the Nelson settlers which claimed more than an archangel could give them, had frightened the new Governor home again. But just as a new monarch can always be found to take the place of one murdered by his subjects, so Governor Fitzroy was ready to stand up as a target for the inky projectiles which had been so disastrous to the peace of Captain Hobson. Though the first Governor had latterly held and finally quitted office under circumstances most distressing, his tenure of the Governorship certainly began well, and for a long time he was, at any rate, immediately surrounded by a happy people. But when Governor Fitzroy arrived he was met by a deluge of addresses portraying the miserable condition of every section of the community; and yet, with an irony which he must have appreciated, all these miserable memorialists congratulated His Excellency upon his timely arrival amongst them, to share their misery certainly, but—they may have thought—possibly to relieve it. The address from the seat of Government plainly told the incoming Governor that his Treasury was bankrupt; that sundry officials with those directly and indirectly depending upon them, were suffering acutely all the ills attendant on non-payment of salaries; that land sales, immigration, and the country's commerce had all been more or less hopelessly suspended, and that general misery and semi-starvation prevailed. On all hands the people complained of the unsatisfactory condition of matters connected with the land; and the Nelson and Wellington colonists had great grievances over the Wairau Massacre generally, and the leniency of the Government towards the perpetrators in particular. The settlement of all the troubles under which the Colony groaned Captain Fitzroy confidently undertook; but his confidence was born of an inadequate appreciation of the immense difficulties he had to face. Decentralization which was the special curse of this Colony for the first thirty years at least of its existence, was at that time productive of most serious evils. The cost of governing small communities so absurdly scattered was enormous—ruinous, in fact; the possibility of affording them adequate, or, indeed, any protection against probable attacks by the natives, was hopeless; and the opportunities and means of communication and trade between the various settlements were most meagre and unsatisfactory. Auckland received little or no direct benefit from being the seat of Government, as every district expected and many received a greater sum for the expenses of Government than was contributed by way of taxation.

          
That he might, as far as possible, pay his way in the matter of salaries and other expenses of Government, Captain Fitzroy created paper money in the shape of debentures bearing five per cent, interest. And notwithstanding that he had been petitioned to abolish customs “restrictions in trade,” he decided to increase the duties. It was discovered that the duties cost the Government forty per cent. to collect, and the natives looked on the Customs House as an unmitigated nuisance.

          
Governor Hobson may have enraged the people by a too faithful observance of the duties imposed upon him by the Home Government, but Governor Fitzroy was not likely to err on that side. Not only was the issue of State paper money contrary to instructions, but the waiving of the Crown's pre-emptive right over native lands, thus enabling the natives to sell their lands to all and sundry at such prices as might be agreed upon between buyer and seller without reference to the Crown, was a direct contravention of an Act of the Imperial Parliament. Never was the fable of “The old man and his ass” better illustrated. In consideration of this waiver, which had been clamoured for by both natives and Europeans, the purchasers were to pay a tax of ten shillings per acre as the price of a Crown grant. Those who had previously bought lands at and over £1 per acre, which was the minimum allowed by the Act, complained that the change seriously reduced the selling value of their lands, while those who had clamoured for the waiver declared that the tax of ten shillings was prohibitive of land buying, and, therefore, a bar to the settlement of the country. This outcry induced the wavering Governor to reduce his tax from ten shillings to one penny.

          
This kind of see-sawing in such important matters was not likely to impress either of the races with an exalted opinion of the Governor's firmness; and to his deficiencies in this respect were attributed many of the difficulties which arose. Of these the Heke war at the Bay of Islands was the most important and serious.

          
The war, as might be expected, considerably interfered with the development of Auckland, though the population of the town and immediate surroundings was augmented by the refugees from the Bay of Islands. Governor Fitzroy gave some of these refugees suburban lands around Auckland, but



many of them were too poor to hold these newly acquired properties, and very great distress prevailed. The temporary suspension of operations by the New Zealand Company had effects still more direful, so New Zealanders generally were suffering greater privations and miseries than they had ever known before, or than they have ever felt since. In the meantime Captain Fitzroy's freaks respecting the pre-emptive rights and the creation of a State currency had been made the ostensible reasons for that gentleman's recall. That he had blundered all agree, but how he was to attempt the performance of the impossible duties he took in hand without blundering, none has ever ventured to say. Some people declare that he was mad, and probably the best evidence of the truth of the assertion consists in his readiness to undertake the Governorship of this country under circumstances and conditions so thoroughly distressing. Just as things had passed their worst and there seemed a prospect of Governor Fitzroy redeeming his lost prestige by a speedy conclusion of New Zealand's first war, despatches came to hand stating that Captain Grey had been appointed Governor, and in a very short time the new Governor arrived.

          
The fact that the people of Wellington and Nelson made bonfires and gave public dinners to show their rejoicing at Governor Fitzroy's recall, does not necessarily prove that he had ever acted unfairly. The circumstances of the Colony were bad and Fitzroy was Governor at the time; therefore Fitzroy was, in the opinion of precipitate persons, responsible. But if it was galling to Captain Fitzroy to be compelled to hand over the reins of Government just as he expected to drive through his first triumphal arch, it was a favourable opportunity for the incoming Governor. Rapidly concluding the war with Heke and Kawiti, Captain Grey at once set to work to rectify the errors for which his predecessor had been recalled. The golden opinions which Governor Grey had won for himself in South Australia and still earlier in West Australia, encouraged the Home Government to greater liberality than had hitherto been displayed. In fact, it may be said that only with Captain Grey's accession to the Governorship did the British authorities in any sense awaken to the responsibilities of their position in this country. This enabled the new Governor to do a good deal for Auckland, which would have been quite impossible to his predecessors, no matter how much they might have wished to do it.

          
One of the most important things for Auckland which Captain Grey did during his first term of office was the location of the military settlers on what were for many years known as the Pensioner Settlements, of which Onehunga was the nearest and Howick the most distant. Five hundred British soldiers were provided with as many cottages, and each cottage stood on an acre of land which was to become freehold at the end of seven years of occupation, and of service in the event of being called upon; and it was further arranged that each might purchase four acres additional land at a certain nominal price. The officers were provided with houses in forty-acre allotments, with the right in each case to purchase an additional section of 100 acres. Thus Auckland was protected by an extended line of trained soldiers ready for any emergency; but so situated that they could pursue the arts of peace. As these men with their wives and families added some two thousand to the population of the Auckland district, many benefits immediately resulted. Not only did the pensioners make good use of their allotments in the production of fruit and vegetables, but in consequence of the protection afforded by their presence, immigration was greatly encouraged.

          
Compared with that of his predecessors Captain Grey's was a strong capable rule, and he was enabled to firmly establish the confidence of the Home Government. His success with the natives was great, and in this his wise expenditure of money among the friendly tribes was of great use. It was during the first half of his first term that the high and massive scoria walls of the Albert Barracks were erected by the friendly Maoris.

          
But the North Island of New Zealand was not the only troublesome territory with which the British Government had at that time to deal, and by 1853 the affairs of Cape Colony had become so entangled that a strong capable Governor was most urgently needed there. Nobody thought that Governor Grey
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ought to be withdrawn from New Zealand; but it was well known how sorely he was needed in Cape Colony, so New Zealand had to be sacrificed. It was hoped that the excellent condition into which Sir George—he had been knighted in 1848—had been so instrumental in bringing the affairs of this country might be maintained by his successor, Colonel Gore Browne; but it was a dangerous experiment. The departing Governor was both loved and feared by the natives, and on that account it was most advisable that his “reign” should be prolonged. As far as the white population was concerned his wise guidance was of almost as great importance. He had obtained for the colony its constitution, and would have been exceedingly useful in initiating its political institutions, which, as it proved, could hardly be said to be happily born. It is quite probable that had Sir George Grey remained Governor of this Colony for two or three years longer such modifications in the power and scope of the Provincial Councils would have been made, as would have been consistent with the perpetuation of these bodies.

          
The inauguration of the New Zealand Parliament marked an epoch in the history of the infant capital. Up to that point Auckland had been but the seat or location of the Governor and his own nominated Council; but now the Colony was to govern itself, and representatives from all parts were to meet for that purpose at Auckland. Parliamentary buildings were erected and the capital acquired a new importance which had a much-needed effect on immigration. Auckland, in fact, became the leading town in the colony.

          
The first Parliament met for the opening ceremony on the 27th of May, 1854, during the administration of Acting-Governor Wynyard, who for about two years prior to March, 1853, had held the office of Lieutenant-Governor of the Province of New Ulster, of which Province Auckland was, of course, the chief town. The first session of the New Zealand Parliament reflected but little credit and a good deal of discredit on the colonists composing its membership of thirty-seven; and, of course, indirectly Auckland suffered somewhat from this. It was found that the constitution made no provision for responsible advisers; and it occurred to no one at that time that the British Crown had for centuries been advised by Ministries for whose existence there was no parliamentary provision; a peculiarity that remains to this day. Considering that Mr. Edward Gibbon Wakefield, the founder of the Colony, and probably the best informed man south of the equator, was a member of the Legislature, it is surprising that the new Parliament should have failed to rise immediately to a full enjoyment of its privileges. The officers composing the appointed Executive—Messrs William Swainson, Alexander Shepherd, and Andrew Sinclair—were disinclined to retire from their respective positions of Attorney General, Colonial Treasurer and Colonial Secretary; and the Parliament failed to conceive that it had power to abolish the offices. Attempts were made to add to this old Executive, but finally the Acting-Governor was informed that Parliament had decided to leave the Executive power solely to the Appointed Officers until such time as the Imperial Parliament might be pleased to pass an Act providing for Responsible Government in the Colony. In due course information came from the British Government that no such Act was needed; and on the 7th of May, 1856, the old executive retired and Responsible Government was born in New Zealand.

          
Some time before the Constitution was fully installed the Hon. William Swainson had written and published an excellent little book entitled “Auckland, the Capital of New Zealand,” which, in the light of later developments, proves interesting reading. Governor Hobson's selection of Auckland as the capital was more handsomely justified by the Hon. William Swainson in 1853 than by the Hon. W. P. Reeves, the able author of “The Long White Cloud,” in 1898. “Time, experience and personal acquaintance with the country,” said Mr. Swainson, “have now confirmed the wisdom of that choice.” In some other respects, particularly in his reference to the Auckland district as an agricultural country, Mr. Swainson's prophecies have not been strikingly fulfilled; but in matters past and then present, Auckland is no doubt faithfully portrayed by the shrewd Attorney-General, who lived to the end of a useful life in his favourite city of Auckland. But Auckland's patriots of to-day must be amused with some of the opinions expressed by an undoubted patriot of 1853. Speaking of the Auckland harbour, Mr. Swainson then said: “Superior as it in its useful qualities, in beauty of natural scenery it is very far inferior to the harbour of Port Nicholson. The country around Auckland being for the most part level and open, the natural features are neither bold nor picturesque. Still, the harbour is by no means devoid of natural beauty. Commonly there is an excess of wind, but not unfrequently, and in the winter season particularly, a perfect calm for a time prevails.” It seems strange that any one could have written these opinions of the Auckland and Wellington harbours. But a period of nearly half a century has seen the beautifully wooded hills of Port Nicholson almost denuded, and a thickly populated city has grown up, its denizens having little room and less inclination for tree planting; while the hills of Auckland have been “with verdure clad,” almost every house contributing its quota towards the general sprinkling of trees and shrubs. Mr. Swainson, however, does not leave his descriptions of the Auckland harbour with the sentences above quoted; he speaks in the highest terms of the occasional placid beauty of the Waitemata, “deriving its charms solely from light, colouring, and repose”; and then, as if he had penned this paragraph on one of the really very horrid days with which the monotony of calm weather in Auckland is relieved throughout the year, he goes on to say: “But this glistening calm is the sure forerunner of a storm; short-lived, like all exceeding human loveliness, the unhealthy brightness is sure, ere long, to be followed with a boisterous storm of wind or rain.” In justice to Mr. Swainson's powers of observation it may be said that the captain of one of the Devonport Ferry steamers, who has been constantly running in the harbour of Auckland for the last dozen years, gives it as his opinion that Auckland has not always been so free from storms as his own very intimate experience of it would lead him to conclude.

          
When Mr. Swainson wrote his book, he was able to say that the greater part of the land comprising the Auckland isthmus was in cultivation, not a stump of a tree being left on the ground. Solid stone walls and quick-set hedges



were taking the place of the old wooden fences; the greater part of the land was in permanent pasture; and the country even then presented the appearance of a home-like English landscape. One half of the road to Onehunga had been macadamized, and the other half was good during the greater part of the year. With little exception, all the land on each side of the road was fenced and cultivated, and the traveller between the two harbours had houses in view the whole way. The village of Newmarket he described as almost adjoining the suburbs of Auckland, and he was prophet enough to see that at no very distant period, the opposite coasts of the isthmus would be connected by one continuous line of streets.

          
Even at that time, Auckland was spoken of as a borough, and it had its municipal council; but as the “borough” comprised 40,000 acres and Papakura was just beyond the frontier, it was soon considered too extensive for practical purposes. Besides houses and streets, the cattle within the “borough” numbered about 5000; and in the principal articles of food the country was considered independent of foreign supply. The value of the exports of the district from the port of Auckland, for the year 1852, amounted to £51,000, and are mentioned by Mr. Swainson as “becoming considerable both in value and in variety.” The largest item in the list consisted of two million feet of sawn timber, valued at £11,816, while kauri spars came third with about half that value. Oil (£8629), copper ore (£5225), flour (£4029), were other considerable items; and houses in frame, hams and bacon, potatoes, wheat, wool, onions, and flax all ran into four figures, though the first-named stood highest at £1622 10s. Kauri gum, which figures so largely in Auckland's present exports, then totalled £805, and gold dust, sand, and quartz made up the modest sum of £114 10s. Cordage (£550), oats (£548), cheese (£346), and butter (£110) were even in those early days numbered among exports. There were “more than a hundred vessels registered as belonging to the port, besides upwards of one hundred and fifty licensed small craft under fifteen tons.” Operations at the Kawan copper miles were then suspended, but had been resumed at the Great Barrier; and Mr. Swainson prophesied that “the mineral productions of the Province independently of its golden prospects,” would “again form an important item in its exports.”

          
At that time, according to Mr. Swainson, nearly a third of the whole European population of the colony was settled “within a radius of ten miles of the neighbourhood of Auckland,” while in shipping, revenue, and exports, Auckland could beat the total of the three next largest districts. The figures of New Zealand statistics however, were very small in those days; for the whole European population, excluding the
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soldiers and their families, was only 27,633 at the end of 1852. But though the Maoris are excluded from these figures, Auckland trade transactions were very greatly affected by the native population settled in and near the capital. In the year under notice more than one hundred tons of potatoes and twenty-five tons of onions were brought to the Auckland market by the Maoris, besides corn, cabbages, kumeras, and peaches, the latter alone exceeding 1200 kits.

          
Probably the greatest difference between the conditions of the Colony today and those which prevailed at the time of the introduction of representative government, is noticeable in connection with the mail arrangements. At that time the Panama mail service was talked of as a “project shortly to be accomplished.” This was to bring London, probably, within fifty days—“little more than a pleasure trip”; but in the meantime letters averaged about four months, under favourable circumstances, in reaching their destination. The circumstances, however, were favourable only when letters for Auckland were sent by vessels bound for that port. Via Sydney was not considered a bad route, but to send them by a vessel bound for any other port of this Colony was deemed fatal to all chances of expedition. “Mails for Auckland,” says Mr. Swainson, “are not unfrequently despatched by vessels bound for Canterbury, or Nelson, or Wellington; the consequence is that letters and newspapers frequently arrive here six, seven, eight and nine months old. Upon enquiry into the cause of the delay it is found that the letters in question were sent by a ship bound for Canterbury; that they remained in the Post Office there for a fortnight, waiting for the next opportunity to be forwarded; that they were then despatched in about ten days by the overland mail, and that after an overland journey of a month, they reached Auckland six or eight months after date.” This reads like a “fairy tale” in these days of almost daily mails between Auckland and the south, when Wellington is reached in a trifle over a day, the mails to Canterbury and Otago being delivered respectively half a day and a day later. In these days, even though the important public intelligence is cabled round the world in a few hours, Aucklanders are disgusted with a mail service which brings them English letters more than thirty-five days old. Yet important public matters were not wanting in those days to stir the minds of colonists. At the time of the defective postal arrangements mentioned, events were ripening for the Crimean war. The “ancients” of this Colony had no cables and fast steamers to keep them up to date with European affairs; but they had what Auckland greatly needs to-day—an overland mail to Wellington, albeit a very slow one.

          
Taking a copy of the “New Zealander” of the 21st of January 1852, as an illustration of the business and amusements of the Aucklanders of that time, Mr. Swainson mentions a list of items peculiarly interesting to readers of the present day. “The ‘Governor Wynyard’ steamer is advertised to ‘sail’ between Auckland and Otahuhu (on the Tamaki)”; “£100 has been subscribed as a reward to anyone who shall first discover an available goldfield in the Province of New Ulster (New Zealand.)” The Auckland cricket club proved victorious over the military, “with three wickets to go down.” “The Band of the 58th Regiment will perform in the grounds in front of the old Government House to-morrow (Thursday) afternoon, from four till six o'clock.” “The sporting world are informed that Mr. J. Codlin's bay gelding Jack is open to run any horse, mare or gelding in the country for £100 a side,” and the “Auckland Regatta is announced to take place on the 29th.” These and many other interesting items occupy three or four pages of Mr. Swainson's valuable little book in the possession of which Auckland is very fortunate.

          
While Auckland has been steadily advancing to its present position, a noticeable accompaniment of its development, and one which all the old hands sincerely regret, is the absence of the native element of the population. Palmerston Buildings and those of the New Zealand Shipping Company add greatly to the appearance of the town, but many of the old hands would rather see the fleet of well-filled Maori canoes and their swarthy owners who used to throng their sites. Mr. Swainson speaks of the port being yearly visited by as many as two thousand canoes. Referring to the lively human-like appearance of the harbour and shores of the Waitemata, he says:—“But never, perhaps, is it seen to so great advantage as when once or twice a year the native chief Taraia and his tribe, from the eastern boundary of the gulf, pay Auckland a visit in their fleet of forty sail of well-manned war canoes. Drawing them up in line upon the beach and with their masts and sails pitching a line of various figured tents, they encamp themselves for several days. The neighbourhood
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of their camping ground presents the appearance of a fair: pigs and potatoes, wheat, maize, melons, grapes, pumpkins, onions, flax, turkeys, geese, ducks, fowls and firewood, are exposed for sale in great abundance, and meet with a ready market. But the money they receive in payment does not leave the town; for several days the shops and stores are frequented by careful, curious, keen-eyed customers. Their ‘shopping’ ended, they take their departure with the first fair wind, laden with spades, blankets, ironware, and clothing of various kinds; their fleet departing, homeward bound, in a body as it came, the canoes extending over the surface of the harbour, with their many shaped sails of mat and canvas widespread to catch the western breeze.” A good deal of labour was supplied by the Maoris in the early days of Auckland, and very good servants they made before they discovered how to live on rents, sales of land, mining fees, and other perquisites.

          
The discovery of gold in 1852 at Coromandel caused a good deal of excitement, and probably had the effect of keeping a number of the workers of Auckland from running away to Australia; but though the discovery was genuine enough as later years have amply proved, it was long before its real value was understood. Still, in 1852 and 1853, Auckland very narrowly escaped the goldfields excitement which came fifteen years later. The failure to prove the payable nature of the Auckland goldfields was no doubt a most serious misfortune to the capital, then struggling into importance. While these fields lay neglected, discoveries in other parts of the colony drew away from Auckland the surplus population which might otherwise have been well employed, and was still more disastrous in diverting the stream of immigration. Had the discovery of 1852 been energetically followed up, Auckland might have been able to retain the seat of Government for many years longer. As it was, the real outbreak of the Auckland goldfields occurred just in time to rescue the northern capital from the very calamitous depression which had settled upon it as a consequence of the withdrawal of the civil and military patronage to which it had so long been accustomed.

          
How narrowly Auckland escaped the many advantages of finding the first payable goldfield in the Colony, and at the same time how variously these advantages were estimated by different classes of the community, may be gathered from Mr. Swainson's chapter on “The Gold Discovery.” After describing the discovery by Mr. Charles Ring, who still (1900) lives himself to tell the tale, Mr. Swainson says:—“The existence of gold in its natural place of deposit, in an accessible locality, and within a convenient distance of Auckland, was now satisfactorily ascertained. There were some among the community who were satisfied with the already known resources of New Zealand; others who feared that the peace of the country would be endangered if gold were found on the native lands; and many who anticipated no ultimate advantage to the material interest of the country from the discovery of gold, and no advantage, either present or prospective, on a moral or social point of view to either race of its inhabitants, from a sudden influx of lawless adventurers. By these the news of the discovery was received with but little satisfaction; but, with these exceptions, a general feeling of pleasurable excitement pervaded the whole community; and the discovery in all its phases, actual and imaginary, present and future, probable and possible, now took complete possession of the public mind. The specimens as yet discovered, indeed, were minute in the extreme; but, satisfied that they were bona fide the produce of their own soil, the people were sufficiently happy if, but with a microscope, they could detect the smallest particle of the precious metal. And never, probably, did any community enjoy a higher degree of pleasurable excitement than did the people of Auckland for several weeks after it was ascertained that native gold had actually been discovered within sight of their own doors… . Almost every eye was turned in the direction of Coromandel harbour; and numerous parties immediately proceeded to the scene of attraction, to satisfy themselves by personal observation of the existence of the golden treasure.”

          
But the discovery had been made on land belonging to the natives, and so it was decided that Acting-Governor Wynyard, Bishop Selwyn, and Chief-Justice Martin, with others, should visit the spot to confer with the owners as to terms for the development of the field. The reply of the natives and Mr. Swainson's remarks thereon are exceedingly interesting as throwing light on the pleasant relations existing between the races at that time and in that locality. “The first person who came forward on the part of the natives was a venerable-looking old man, Te Taniwha by name, one of the principal chiefs of the Coromandel district. He spoke shortly, but to the point: ‘Oh, son,’ said he (meaning another chief who claimed jointly with himself the Matawai goldfield), ‘let this be our motto: ‘It is well, it is well!’ These are the tokens of peace—the presence of the Governor, the Bishop, and the Chief-Justice. Ye who are here acknowledge these as your parents. My children, be not sad: it is well—all is well. The messengers of God—of truth—stand here; even the bone of that which is good. The arrangements are left to you, O Governor, the Bishop and Chief-Justice.’ The presence of this aged chief—the last of his race who can tell the tale of the white man's first arrival in New Zealand—his venerable appearance and the occasion itself, gave to the meeting an unusual interest. Though bowed down, attenuated, and enfeebled by age, the old man retains the possession of his faculties; and in a remarkable degree possesses that bold outline of head and face which formerly distinguished the chieftains of the country. There stood the last living link between the ‘Past and Present’ of New Zealand—one who, in time long past, had stood face to face with England's honoured navigator, and who still lives to tell of his visit to New Zealand; how they all thought that the ship was a large kind of whale, and that the men on board were gods; how for some time, he himself, then but a little boy, was afraid to go on board; how Captain Cook spoke little—less than the others—but took more notice of the children, patting them kindly on the head; and how he gave them the first potatoes they had seen. And now this venerable chief, as the crowning act of a long eventful life, confiding in the justice of the British Crown, comes forward to welcome the Queen's vice-gerent to the new found field of gold. When the first specimens were shown him of the



gold discovered on his land, he said he should now be content to die; that he had lived many days, but that this was the brightest of them all. He did not seem to value the consideration of the gain it would be to him so much as the thought that his land—the place of his ancestors—should be the first to produce gold.”

          
That a good deal of enthusiasm was manifested over these gold discoveries may be inferred from the prices realised for the specimens. The first public sale of gold produced in the province was held at the auction mart of Messrs Connell and Ridings on Saturday the 10th of December, 1853, when £32 1s was the sum realised for quartz, gold dust, and flake gold at rates ranging from £3 10s 3d to £10 per ounce. Up to the time at which Mr. Swainson closed his book the reward of £500 for the discovery of the Coromandel goldfields had not been paid over; and, though he speaks hopefully of the prospects, he concludes his interesting chapter on the gold discovery with the following paragraph, which is now, as it was then, well worthy of careful consideration:—“With its great capabilities and numerous advantages, however, New Zealand will not depend either for its present prosperity or its future greatness on the discovery of rich goldfields; and the New Zealand emigrant may be told, in the language addressed by Dr. Lyon Playfair to intending emigrants to Australia, that gold in itself is only an empirical representation of actual material wealth, which really consists in the full development of all natural resources; that the country in which they intend to seek a home is full of resources still but slightly developed; that in the more thorough development of its agriculture there is wealth to be obtained; and though disappointment may attend many of those who seek only the philosopher's stone in the drifts and quartz of the gold regions, those who read God's teachings as displayed in nature will find a more sure way of transmuting valueless materials into gold, by going out with the steady desire to improve and develop the natural resources of their adopted home.”

          
A good picture of the capital of this Colony when it clamoured for a Constitution is contained in a paragraph, which, nearly half a century later, makes interesting reading. “The principal streets,” says Mr. Swainson, “are Princes Street, Shortland Crescent, Queen Street, and Wakefield Street. The first is a broad, straight, spacious, well-made street, on a gentle slope; and St. Paul's Church, the Treasury, and the Bank, and the Masonic Hotel are its principal buildings. Shortland Crescent, which connects Princes Street with Queen Street, is built on rather a steep ascent. It is less broad than Princes Street, but much longer. On one side it is almost wholly built upon; shops and stores are here to be found of every description, and of various form and style. No attempt at uniformity has been made; everyone has built according to his means, fancy, or the size and shape of his ground. The only approach to uniformity is in the material; with very few exceptions all are of wood. The roadway of the street is an even macadamized surface; but no attempt has yet been made to form footpaths on a general level. Some of the shops would not disgrace a small provincial town in England; though, taken, altogether as a street, Shortland Crescent is irregular and unfinished. Queen Street is the least built upon; but in other respects it is the best and most considerable street in Auckland. It is almost half a mile long, nearly level, and almost straight, and terminates at its northern extremity at a pier or quay, which runs into the harbour, and alongside of which small craft can land their cargoes. At its southern extremity it is overlooked by the Wesleyan Seminary, or Boarding School for the education of the children of the missionaries in these seas—a spacious, brick-built and substantial structure. The gaol is badly situated, and is by no means a conspicuous building; but by a diligent search it may be found on the west side of Queen Street, partly screened from view by the Court House and Police Office, which abut immediately upon the street. Several shops of superior description, two or three stories high, have recently been erected, and Queen Street, besides being the longest is certainly just now one of the most improving streets in Auckland. Wakefield Street ascends from its southern extremity until it joins the Cemetery Road, and is the newest and most increasing street in the town. Many of the houses are built of brick, and it already bears a considerable resemblance to a new street in the outskirts of a modern English town.”

          
Such was Auckland when it had been struggling into a position of importance for a dozen years, when it was a portion of a “borough” of 40,000 acres, when it had caught a foretaste of the gold fever, and when it was preparing to take on “Parliamentary Honours.” Ponsonby was a blank of waste land, Upper Queen Street, in embryo, and Shortland Crescent and Wakefield Street the only outlets to the east and south, and these two very rough. Wakefield Street, the better of the two, was blessed with a grade of one in eight or nine in those days; but all the omnibuses for Onehunga had to take it. Verily, Auckland's early road engineers were horse-killers of the first magnitude. No engineering difficulty whatever was there to hinder Wakefield Street being started at the foot of Victoria Street East, and finished at the top of Alexandra Street, at a level which would have served for all time, and better than any that has been since found. Wakefield Street, which Mr. Swainson mentions so favourably, is of less value and importance to-day than it was then. Indeed, the street might now be made from Victoria Street without cutting through property of much value, while the allotments abutting on a street with so sensible a grade would soon be very valuable. Whether Auckland ever will get a reasonably easy grade out of the hole in which the business part lies is now doubtful; but it had excellent chances in those days.

          
With representative institutions, Auckland's troubles over the retention of the seat of Government began. The first Parliament was called for the 24th of May, 1854, but the members of the Lower House being anxious not to start before they were ready, only an informal meeting of the representatives took place on that day. Mr. Hugh Carleton, the member for the Bay of Islands, was voted to the chair, and an adjournment was promptly made to the 26th to allow the members time to consider the important question of electing a Speaker. On the 26th Mr. (afterwards Sir) Charles Clifford, was elected to that office, and on Saturday, the 27th of May, His Excellency Colonel Wynyard, the Acting-Governor, opened the session in person. The Hon. Mr. Swainson, the Attorney-General,



was appointed, not elected, to the office of Speaker of the Legislative Council. The Executive Council (nominated) consisted of the Colonial Secretary (the Hon. Andrew Sinclair), the Colonial Treasurer (the Hon. Alexander Shepherd), and the above-mentioned Attorney-General, who, as has been stated, held also the appointment of Speaker of the Legislative Council. The Auckland members of the Upper House were: The Hon. T. H. Bartley, J. A. Gilfillan, W. H. Kenny, John Salmon, William Swainson, and Frederick Whitaker—six out of a total of sixteen members. The Auckland members of the Lower House were: Messrs John Bacot and Joseph Greenwood, Pensioner Settlements; William Brown, Loughlin O'Brien and James O'Neill, City of Auckland; Hugh Carleton, Bay of Islands; T. S. Forsaith and W. Lee, Northern Division; John Gray and C. J. Taylor, Southern Division; and F. W. Merriman and W. F. Porter, Suburbs of Auckland—twelve in a House of thirty-seven.

          
During the first Parliament but in the second session of 1854—practically the first session, the prorogation being for only three weeks—an attempt was made to have the session of 1855 held in “a more central position in the Colony.” On a division being taken, eleven voted for the removal and thirteen against it, the faithful Aucklanders being assisted by Mr. W. M. Crompton, of Taranaki. This “close shave” gave the Auckland members a fright. They had expected and feared some agitation of the kind; but hardly imagined that Auckland could count on only one outside on such a question. Even in discussing the question of responsible Government, during the first few days of the first session, some of the Auckland members showed anxiety lest that might be the thin end of the wedge that was some day to divorce Auckland from the seat of Government, and some Aucklanders would have indefinitely postponed responsible Government on that account.

          
When the second Parliament was opened on the 15th of April, 1856. Auckland had an additional member of the Legislative Council by the appointment of Sir Samuel Osborne Gibbes. Of the old members of the Lower House five only were returned to the second Parliament—Messrs Carleton, Greenwood, Lee, Merriman and Taylor. The new members were Messrs Thomas Beckham, J. L. Campbell and W. Daldy, City of Auckland; Walter Brodie, Suburbs of Auckland; Robert Graham, Southern Division; Thomas Henderson, Northern Division; and John Williamson, Pensioner Settlements.

          
On the 7th of May, 1856, responsible Government was secured in place of the nominated Executive, which on that day retired from office. Some further threats of changing the seat of Government, or at any rate the next session of Parliament, must have been made
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almost immediately; for on the 26th of the same month Dr. Campbell, who was then Superintendent of the Province of Auckland, moved—“That the agitation of the question as to the removal of the seat of Government from Auckland, during the present session, would be inexpedient.” This was carried by twenty-three to eleven, the Auckland men being helped by three Taranaki, five Nelson, one Christchurch, and three Otago members.

          
This question of the seat of Government being settled for the time, Dr. Campbell went on to move—“That it is the opinion of this House that the next meeting of the General Assembly should be held in Auckland.” Mr. (afterwards Sir) William Fitzherbert moved the substitution of the words “a more central position” in place of the word “Auckland.” By a majority of three it was decided to omit the word Auckland, and Mr. Fitzherbert's amendment became the substantive motion. It having been thus resolved that the word “Auckland” should be struck out, Captain Daldy tried still to keep the session at the capital by moving that the House should not interfere with the Governor's prerogative in the matter of fixing the place of meeting. This was negatived by a majority of three. Seeing that Auckland appeared to be irrevocably “out of Court,” Mr. Merriman moved an amendment in favour of Nelson, but though the six Nelson members were assisted by one Canterbury, two Taranaki, and three Auckland members, the amendment was lost by a majority of eight. Mr. Brown, a Taranaki member, then moved to insert the word “Wellington.” Besides the Wellington members, only the mover and four Canterbury representatives voted for this amendment, which was lost by a majority of nine. Major Greenwood then made a further effort in favour of Auckland by moving the insertion of the words “such place as His Excellency the Governor may deem most convenient.” The eleven Auckland members present voted for this and they were helped by one Taranaki, one Canterbury, and three Otago members, but Major Greenwood's amendment was negatived by a majority of two. Mr. Sewell then essayed to secure a majority by moving that the session be held in “such more central place as His Excellency may deem most convenient.” The faithful Aucklanders voted as one man against this, but it was carried by a majority of five; and it was further agreed “that a respectful address be presented to His Excellency the Governor embodying the resolution as adopted by the House.” Thus ended that particular struggle but the question itself was far from settled.

          
Some five weeks later Governor Gore Browne was pressed for a reply to the address respecting the locality of the next session; and it was pretty confidently expected that the matter would in that way be settled. His Excellency, however, astutely replied that Wellington being the second town of importance in the Colony, he considered it entitled to the preference; but as the House had already decided against both Wellington and Nelson, he would like a more distinct indication of the wishes of the members. The Governor, in the same message, pointed out very serious drawbacks to the session of Parliament being held away from the capital and departmental offices. This re-opened the whole question; but Mr. (afterwards Sir) W. Fox, the member for Wanganui, plunged boldly into the fight by moving that Wellington should be recommended to His Excellency. Mr. Fox went on to explain that the Wellington Provincial Council, in anticipation of sessions of the General Assembly being held in that centre, had voted a sum of £4000 for the erection of suitable buildings; that there was already a very good Government House there, and that the difficulties pointed out by His Excellency were more imaginary than real. Several amendments were moved and divisions called for, Major Greenwood, on one occasion, being the only “Aye”; but none of the amendments found favour, and Mr. Fox's motion to meet at Wellington was carried by a majority of five. When the Committee reported the resolution to the House, a still further division was demanded on the question that the resolution of the Committee be adopted by the House. In this division the majority was reduced to three, because the Speaker (Mr. Clifford, of Wellington) was unable to vote, while the Acting Chairman of Committees (Mr. Merriman, of Auckland) naturally voted with the “Noes.”

          
The Upper House had all along been unanimously in favour of the sessions being held at Auckland, so it was evident that the Governor had some good grounds for proceeding slowly. As the Ministry contained two Auckland members—Dr. Campbell, of the Lower House, and the Hon. Mr Whitaker of the Upper—the Executive was, of course, divided, and from the first had declined to make any recommendation whatever to His Excellency. The Premier, Mr. Stafford, though a Nelson representative, was avowedly in favour of Auckland, as he could see only trouble and inconvenience as the result of moving; so it was plain that in the Cabinet there were three in favour of Auckland against two for Wellington.

          
At the risk of another stormy debate in the Lower House the Premier, pursuant to notice, moved the appointment of a Committee to consider and report as to the practicability of holding sessions away from the seat of Government, and also as to the question of the seat of Government itself. Much discussion followed, but finally a large majority was found for the motion, and the Committee appointed consisted of two Auckland members and the Premier, and one member for Taranaki, Wellington and Canterbury, respectively. The report of this Committee now became the hope of Auckland, and in that sense it was not disappointing. The Committee reported that it would cost £2500 extra to hold a session in Wellington; and the Governor, almost facetiously, sent a message asking that the money might be voted. The House saw the absurdity of the position and it was in vain that Mr. Fox, in Committee of Supply, moved that the Governor be reminded that the provision might be left for the next session. Though this motion was negatived by only thirteen to twelve, a much larger majority voted for the subsequent motion that His Excellency should be informed that, in view of the financial state of the Colony, the House did not feel justified in granting any money for the purpose.

          
So the struggle ended for that session, and next year there was no session, pending the completion of the negotiations with the Imperial authorities in connection with the Colony's loan proposals. The second session of the second Parliament was called for the 10th of April, 1858, but up to the very day of opening it was doubtful whether, out of the thirty-seven members, the requisite quorum of seventeen could be relied



upon. So disgusted were the representatives of Wellington at having to come again to Auckland that the first business after the opening of the House of Representatives was the announcement by the Speaker that he had received a large number of resignations. These included the resignations of Messrs F. D. Bell, J. T. Smith, William Fitzherbert, S. Revans and C. D. R. Ward, and Dr. Featherston, all of Wellington. This left that district to be represented by the Speaker and Mr. Fox, and even the latter did not attend the session, but had leave of absence granted him on account of his work in connection with the Wellington Provincial Council. Four Nelson members, Messrs Travers, Wells, Elliot and Curtis, who also resigned, stated plainly that they had taken that action on account of the difficulty of being for so long a time cut off from their own Province; and they expressed the opinion that the seat of Government should be more central. Mr. J. E. Fitzgerald resigned from much the same cause, and three Auckland members — Dr. Campbell, Major Greenwood and Mr. C. J. Taylor—had also resigned, the first and last-named on account of visiting England.

          
Writs were issued for the return of members to fill the vacancies; but in the meantime the House had to work with a bare quorum. By an occurrence more amusing to outsiders than to those who experienced its discomforts the writs for Wellington did not arrive at their destination till after the date fixed for their return. The “Gil Blas” was entrusted with the carriage of them; but as that little sailing craft, after being nine days on the way, was endeavouring to make the harbour of Wellington, she encountered a storm off Cape Palliser, which drove her away over five hundred miles to the east in search of shelter under the lee of the Chatham Islands. Finally, the members for Wellington were elected; but, with the exception of Mr. J. B. Ferguson, they never attended the session, and it was generally believed that they were elected pledged not to attend. The fact that Dr. Featherston and Mr. Fitzherbert had, after resigning, allowed themselves to be re-elected pointed to that conclusion.

          
Towards the end of this session Mr. Crosbie Ward, a Canterbury member, moved to discover the intentions of the Government with regard to the seat of Government and the place of holding the next session. The Premier, Mr. Stafford, replied that the Government had no intentions, and with that the matter was allowed to drop. A message, however, was received from the Governor, expressing his intention to convene the next session at Wellington, and it was actually summoned to meet there on the 3rd of May, 1860. It was, however, prorogued till the 18th of June, and further prorogued till the 25th of July, when it was summoned to meet in Auckland.

          
A few days before the close of this session of 1860, Mr. (afterwards Judge) Gillies then a member for the Dunedin Country District, moved to find out when and where the next session would be held. The Premier said that so far as members could then see, it would be held in Wellington, and subsequently the time was fixed for April, 1861.

          
Notwithstanding these promises, however, the session of 1861 was called for the 3rd of June and at Auckland. It was pretty generally admitted that the native disturbances offered a very reasonable excuse for these alterations of intention. In the meantime there had been a general election and the third Parliament consisted of fifty-three members. Of the sixteen additional members, Auckland had three, while Wellington had but one, Hawke's Bay, which was represented by two members, having been separated from Wellington during the life of the last Parliament.

          
The Wellington members were nine days on the way and therefore late for the opening. Just a month after the new Parliament met, Mr. Fox moved his motion of want of confidence, which ended in defeating by twenty-four to twenty-three the Stafford Ministry, which had conducted the affairs of the Colony through five trying years.

          
Two or three weeks after the accession of the Fox Administration, Mr. Mason, an Auckland member, enquired as to what the Ministry would advise in regard to the locality of the next session. Mr. Fox replied that if the war should continue, the session would be held in Auckland; if not, in all probability it would be held in Wellington.

          
This intention was carried out, for on Monday, the 7th of July, 1862, the second session of the third Parliament was opened at Wellington, the seven previous sessions having been held at Auckland. Within a month the Fox Ministry, being beaten on their Native policy by the Speaker's casting vote, resigned, and Mr. Alfred Domett, of Nelson, rose to the Premiership. An attempt was made to have the next session held also in Wellington, but
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this was lost by a majority of three, it being decided to leave the choice to His Excellency the Governor, Sir George Grey.

          
Questions as to the removal of the seat of Government were asked by Mr. Dick of Dunedin; but the Premier, Mr. Domett, replied that though the Government recognised the necessity for some change, no movement was intended during that session on the part of the Government. This, however, was not satisfactory to Mr. Dick, for later on he moved that in the interests of the Colony, the seat of Government should be moved to some place in Cook Strait. Speeches were made for and against, and at least two of the Auckland members said that if the seat of Government were taken from Auckland, the property-holders there would be entitled to compensation. Mr. Sefton Moorhouse, the well-known Canterbury member, hazarded the opinion that, while Auckland must always be a considerable community, Otago must be greater, a prediction which has not yet been falsified, though there are indications that Otago's present lead of ten thousand in population will not be long maintained. After much talking on both sides, Mr. Dick's resolution was negatived by a majority of one. It is remarkable that the Premier, Mr. Domett, voted with the Aucklanders, seeing that the following session he himself moved practically the same resolution.

          
The third session of the third Parliament met at Auckland on the 19th of October, 1863, and before the end of the month the Whitaker-Fox Administration was in power. On the 20th of November, Mr. Domett, the ex-Premier, moved that the seat of Government should be removed to some place in Cook Strait, and that the choice of the particular site should be left to an impartial tribunal. The resolution appears to have been carried on the voices, and on the 25th of November, in furtherance of the object, Mr. J. E. Fitzgerald, afterwards well-known as Controller-General, but then member for Ellesmere, moved an address to Governor Grey requesting him to ask the Governors of New South Wales, Victoria and Tasmania if they would respectively appoint one member of the Commission to determine the site on the shores of Cook Strait. The address further asked that, on the announcement of the decision of the Commission, immediate steps should be taken to effect the removal. This caused a further lengthy discussion, but it passed by twenty-four to seventeen. There was yet, however, another struggle over the financial part of the question. On the 4th of December, Mr. Fitzgerald moved that the sum of £50,000 should be set aside for buildings, and other matters connected with the removal. Some of the Auckland members thought that the town that might be selected by the Commission should provide the buildings. Finally, however, Mr. Fitzgerald's motion was passed, and thus another step was taken.

          
In the Upper House the unanimity which had previously existed in favour of Auckland had been undergoing great changes, and on the 30th of November an address very similar to that sent up to the Governor by the Lower House was passed by a majority of three. The Auckland members tried many amendments and worked hard to keep the capital in the north; but it is somewhat remarkable that no effort seems to have been made to leave the selection commission at liberty to recommend the retention of the capital by Auckland, instead of limiting the powers of choice to the shores of Cook Strait. Had the Commissioners been empowered to choose any part of the Colony, it is quite possible that no change would have taken place.

          
The question as to the meeting of the session of 1864 then cropped up, and it was decided that if the necessary buildings were not ready at the prospective seat of Government, the session should be held in Christchurch. It was, however, held in Auckland, where it was opened on the 24th of November.

          
In the meantime, the Site Commissioners — the Hon. Joseph Docker, M.L.C., New South Wales, the Hon. Sir Francis Murphy, Speaker of the Legislative Council, Victoria, and Mr. R. C. Gunn, Tasmania, had visited and examined the shores of Cook Strait, and had unanimously decided “that Wellington, in Port Nicholson, was the site upon the shores of Cook Strait which presented the greatest advantages for the administration of the Government of the Colony.”

          
The session of 1864 lasted less than three weeks, and in February of the following year, Auckland, so far as the seat of the Government was concerned, was left desolate. This was, of course, a very serious blow, and the disappointment and consequent bitterness of the people have been handed down from father to son and from mother to daughter. Aucklanders cannot help thinking that their beautiful town is the most desirable spot for the location of Government and that the removal was an unnecessary act of cruelty. On the other side it can, of course, be very truly said that the perfection of Port Nicholson as a central and most convenient harbour is a point of very great advantage to the capital of a straggling Colony like New Zealand. Seeing, too, that the sessions are generally held in the very depth of winter, Wellington has, perhaps, some advantage in the matter of comfort to legislators and others who must be in the capital during session. While it can hardly be doubted that from November to June the weather of Wellington is less agreeable than that of any other of the large towns, it is just as true that for the remaining third of the year, Wellington is less disagreeable than Christchurch, Dunedin or even Auckland, being very much milder than the southern towns, and much drier, over head, and particularly under foot, than the erstwhile capital. But Auckland winters, though wet and sloppy, are short; and, if the hundreds of officials employed by Government could have their say and be allowed to settle the matter, it is exceedingly probable that Auckland would be again the capital before another yachting season could be opened. The fact that all classes who have free choice are to be found in much larger numbers in Auckland than in Wellington is a sufficient proof of this. The removal was a sore trial to many of the Government officials; and it may be taken for a certainty that had New Zealand remained a Crown Colony up to the present, Auckland would still have been the capital. All the magnified difficulties of governing the Colony from a point some three hundred miles north of the geographical centre would have been uncomplainingly accepted by the Governors and their officials in exchange for the many delights, of living in Auckland.

          
When the seat of Government was removed from Auckland, the white population of the whole Colony was under 175,000, and the six figures had only
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just been attained when Mr. Dick so nearly carried his resolution in favour of removing the capital. Auckland with her immediate suburbs, has now more than double the population of which the whole Colony could boast when, in 1854, it was so nearly decided to hold the ensuing session in Wellington; and when it was decided to remove the capital, the entire white population of the Colony was less than that of the province of Auckland to-day.

          
But though it was really decided in 1863 that the capital should be moved to some place on Cook Strait, the Auckland representatives fought hard to retain it. The Governor, in opening the session of 1864, mentioned that, in accordance with the decision of the Commissioners acting under resolutions of both Houses of the Legislature, he proposed to immediately remove the seat of Government to Wellington; and in the Upper House a motion was made by the Hon. Mr. Tancred, of Canterbury, in favour of making the removal with the least possible delay; yet the Auckland members hung out. They stated that the change should certainly not take place till after the conclusion of the war with the natives. Major Whitmore, however, said that Wanganui would soon be the seat of war; that the removal was a concession to the Southern Island which contributed two-thirds of the whole revenue of the Colony; and that the thought the concession should be made gracefully. After two unsuccessful divisions, the Aucklanders found themselves decidedly out-numbered, and Mr. Tancred's motion was carried.

          
In the Lower House, Mr. John Williamson made enquiries with a view to having the 1865 session held at Christchurch, rather than at the new capital; but Mr. Weld, who then held the Premiership, replied that it was the intention of the Ministry to advise the Governor to call the Assembly together in Wellington. The fifth and last session of the third Parliament was, therefore, held at the unfledged capital. During that session very little was said about the place of holding the next; but, during the first session of the fourth Parliament, opened at Wellington on Saturday the 30th of June, 1866, some discussion took place. Members, who before the removal, thought that sessions might with advantage be held at various places, were now of opinion that there was nothing like fixity of locality, and others who had formerly supported fixity were now in favour of a peripatetic Parliament. The Upper House addressed the Governor, affirming the desirableness of permanence, while the Lower House decided that the next session should be held in Christchurch. It was, however, held in Wellington.

          
Auckland members were always on the look-out for a chance, however, round-about, of getting sessions of Parliament held in the old capital, and in this they were, no doubt, actuated by motives quite as worthy as those which led to the removal of the seat of Government. In 1871 Mr. Reader Wood, the member for Parnell, moved in favour of holding the session of 1872 at Dunedin and suggested that the following one should be at Christchurch, and the next after that at Nelson, but carefully concealed his opinion that, following Nelson, Auckland might have another “cut in.” By a majority of forty to twenty it was decided in the Lower House that it was advisable to hold the session of 1872 in Dunedin. However, the Legislative Council, by an overwhelming majority of twenty-three, decided that it was in the last degree desirable that the sessions of the Assembly should be held at the seat of Government; yet, nothing daunted, the House subsequently authorised the necessary expenditure. The Government, in deference to this strong expression of opinion, went so far as to send an official to Dunedin to make enquiries as to the probable extra cost of holding the session there; and the good people of the southern city were quite hopeful of their town being selected for at least one session, with all its possibilities. The Government had, however, from the first declined to hold out any hope of a change, and called the session for Wellington as usual. During that session the matter was discussed under cover of a motion of regret that the Government had paid so little attention to the expressed opinions of the House; but after a few members had ventilated their grievances, and the Government had explained that the change would have cost £5000, besides much inconvenience, the motion was withdrawn.

          
Sixteen years later Mr. R. M. Taylor, member for Sydenham, had the pluck, or, perhaps, the rashness, to move that the next session of the Assembly should be held in Christchurch. He had the whole discussion to himself, however, and the House, by a majority of thirty-four to twenty-one, decided that it would be more profitable to go on with the business in hand—that of going into Committee of Supply.

          


          
Such is a short history of the “Seat of Government Question,” which has been continued here somewhat beyond its direct connection with Auckland for purposes of conveniently concluding it, and to afford some basis on which to form opinions as to the probability of Auckland's becoming again the capital. That these probabilities are now, and for many years will be, exceedingly small may be inferred from many facts. Wellington was chosen as the seat of Government when the population of that whole province was under fifteen thousand; when the population of Wellington, Taranaki and Hawke's Bay combined was little more than half that which the old capital could even then boast; when Canterbury's population was more than double that of Wellington; when Otago and Southland, which were afterwards amalgamated, had a greater population than that of Auckland and Wellington combined; when Nelson and Marlborough together could outnumber Wellington; when the Customs revenue of the old capital was nearly four times that of the new; when Wellington's exports for a quarter of a year totalled less than seven thousand pounds; when the fifteen vessels, which in three months visited her harbour, made a total register of under six thousand tons; when her total revenue barely exceeded twenty thousand pounds per quarter; when the Government was vigorously prosecuting a war with the natives of the Auckland Province; and when Auckland had had the prestige of possession for upwards of twenty years. No wonder that the people of prosperous Auckland could not bring themselves to believe that Wellington could possibly be chosen for the seat of Government. Under the circumstances, the poor prophency of the editor of the “Southern Cross” on the morning following the passing of Mr. Domett's resolutions, may be excused. In a leader of nearly two columns, written before the division had taken place, he said:—“The promoters of the movement desire to remove the seat of Government from Auckland, because they believe Auckland has grown rich upon the expenditure of Imperial treasure—has thriven while the rest of the settlements of the Colony were starvelings; and they think that by removing the seat of Government to Wellington, the good people of the Empire City will thrive amazingly, while we, poor wretches in Auckland, may manage to eke out a miserable subsistence as best we can… . But it is a delusion to suppose Auckland has thriven because she is the seat of Government; and it is a still greater mistake to suppose that Auckland will lose whatever benefits she enjoys from the Imperial expenditure, even if Wellington City were unanimously chosen the political capital of the Colony of New Zealand.” The poor prophecy, however, is contained in a note at the end, which runs as follows:—“Since writing the foregoing, we find that Mr. Domett's resolutions were carried in the House last night by a trick, which Mr. Stafford characterised as unfair. Mr. Fitzherbert was the operator on the occasion; and by a clever application of the rules of the House he stifled discussion, and gained the point for which the clique of which he is a prominent member have long struggled. We assure Mr. Fitzherbert and his friends, however, that Auckland will continue to be the seat of Government until the country has been pacified; and, whatever change may afterwards take place, most certainly Wellington will not be selected as the capital of the Colony of New Zealand.”

          
The astonishment of the people of Auckland that so poor a place should be chosen for the position of the capital was natural enough; and difficult for them to believe that Wellington would have been selected had the Commissioners been at liberty to select from the whole Colony, including Auckland, instead of being bound down to “some site on the shores of Cook Strait. Yet, seriously speaking, Wellington was the choice of a majority of both Houses, for on limiting the Commissioners to the shores of Cook Strait, it was well-known that the splendid harbour of Wellington would make its selection a certainty. Had the members of the Lower House been as independent of public opinion as the Legislative Councillors, the aid of the Commissioners would most likely never have been invited. Though Wellington, therefore, was chosen by the Commissioners as being more suitable for the capital than either Nelson or Picton, it was the site which above all others, and notwithstanding Auckland's prestige of possession, was favoured by a clear majority of both Houses of the Colony's Legislature. If, therefore, Wellington was the choice of the people in 1863, when it was a place of such insignificance, how firmly rooted must be the seat of Government now, when the population of the district is tenfold greater; when it is increasing by greater numerical additions than any other part of the Colony, and by much higher centesimal ratios than any provincial district except Taranaki, its near neighbour; when the density of its population is nearly double that of Auckland or Otago; when in imports, notwithstanding its limited area, it is barely behind Auckland and considerably ahead of Otago and Canterbury; and when the immovable property of Government forms an anchor so costly and a cable so strong that only the rashest minority dare raise the cry of “Cut the painter.” The south, as a whole, will always assist Wellington to retain the seat of Government, rather than have it moved northwards; and though Auckland has a long standing grudge against Wellington, her representatives are not likely to carry that feeling to the extent of assisting in the removal or the seat of Government to either Christchurch or Dunedin, to which for many years to come, even the South Island districts of Marlborough, Nelson and Westland must be opposed. Notwithstanding all the apparent security, however, Wellington may yet lose the possession it has so long held. The future may see such a complete network of railways over the northern portion of the South Island as to make a move to Picton or Nelson desirable in the united opinion of the whole of the South Island and a portion of the north; and, on the other hand, perfected sea and land communication, and consequent close settlement throughout the vast Auckland province, may some day see such an enormous population owning Auckland as its natural centre as to secure a return to the old site. To hold out any such hopes to the present generation would be an absurdity; but as to the dim and distant future, who knows? The wonderfully superior claims of Auckland in such matters as climate, natural beauty, available room for extension, and in fact almost everything but present fertility of soil and centrality of position, must tell heavily in Auckland's favour; and the ever increasing scope in the functions of the state may admit of Auckland gradually becoming such an



important second centre of Government that the northern city, extending along both sides of a grand canal to the Manukau, may yet be the queenly capital of the “Fortunate Isles.”

          
Some idea of the town and province of Auckland about the time of the removal of the seat of Government may be gained from the statistics of that time. The census of 1864 revealed the fact that the total white population of the Auckland province was 42,132—about one fourth of the present population—the males being in the proportion of more than three to every two females. The total area under crop in the possession of Europeans in December, 1864, amounted to 87,556 acres. For the quarter ending the 30th of June, 1865, the Customs revenue was, at Auckland, £49,938; at Russell, £608; at Mangonui, £470; and at Hokianga, £11. The total exports for the whole of the province during the same quarter amounted to £21,140; and sixty-nine vessels, totalling 25,887 tons, cleared outwards during the same term. Russell and Waikato had an average of one vessel each per month, and Mangonui and Hokianga had one each for the quarter. The total revenue of the province was £57,913, less than that of the Auckland City Council to-day. From the 1st of April, 1857, to the 31st of March, 1865, Auckland exported gold to the value of £33,745, as against Otago's £6,682,188. The total possessions of the province in live stock, at the end of 1864, were: 7482 horses, 113 asses, 42,294 horned cattle, and 73,151 sheep.

          
A glance at the Auckland newspapers of that time shows that the war was in full swing. On the very day that Mr. Domett's resolutions were passed, Captain Mercer of the Royal Artillery and several other brave officers and men were mortally wounded during their memorable attack on the Rangiriri stronghold. Had there been telegraphic communication from Mercer at that time, it is probable that the news would have caused a temporary delay in the political fight. But telegraph lines were scarce in Auckland in those days. The Rev. Richard Taylor, in his work on New Zealand, written about 1866, in speaking of telegraphs, says:—“A line is now finished, and is working from the Bluff to Wellington, thus connecting Dunedin, Christchurch, Nelson and Wellington together. Auckland also has a line from the city to Onehunga.” The fact shows how the city and province of Auckland were prejudicially affected by the war. In that disturbed state of the interior a submarine cable would have been needed to connect Auckland with any other province. In the issue of the “Southern Cross” already referred to, the news from Wellington was just a week old; and the letter of the Whangarei correspondent begins with an item of intelligence nearly a month old. Otago news was ten days old. Auckland had at that time three excellent daily papers—the “New Zealander,” the “Southern Cross” and the “New Zealand Herald,” the last named being then but a week or so old. There was then no “Hansard,” but the Parliamentary debates were efficiently reported by the three morning papers; though the reports were not usually up-to-date by at least one day. A loan of £3,000,000, for the suppression of the rebellion and the introduction of military settlers, was just being negotiated, and out of this sum £200,000 was to be squeezed for electric telegraphs and lighthouses.
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The steam communication was small in those days. The “Phoebe,” 650 tons and of 120 horse power, was one of the best steamers of the time. She did the running between the Manukau and the Bluff, via New Plymouth, Nelson, Picton, Wellington, Lyttelton, and Port Chalmers, and she took a month over the complete double trip. The advertisement announcing her departure at noon of the 24th of November, 1863, states very plainly that “no cargo will be received on board after noon of the 23rd.” She was timed to reach the Bluff on the 5th of December, and, leaving there the next day, was to be back in the Manukau by the 17th, there to enjoy a week's stay preparatory to starting again on the 24th of December. The “24th” seems to have been the recognised day for starting, whether thirty or thirty-one days comprised the month. The extra day, if not taken up on the way, would be absorbed by the stay at the Manukau. On the East Coast, the “Lord Ashley” was making one trip per month between Auckland and Port Chalmers, calling at Napier, Wellington and Lyttelton. The “Prince Alfred” ran between Sydney and Port Chalmers, calling at Nelson, Wellington and Lyttelton; but missing Wellington on the outward trip. This trip also occupied a month. The “Auckland” ran between Auckland and Sydney, making up the month by allowing for seven days steaming each way, and from eight to ten days at each port. Besides these four steamers there was a fifth—the fine new steamship “Rangatira,” advertised by Messrs Coombes and Daldy for Napier, Castlepoint and Wellington. She then belonged to the Intercolonial Royal Mail Company, of which Mr. John Vine Hall was the general manager. The habit which all vessels in those days had of staying a long while in port had the advantage of improving the business look of the harbour. At the time when Mr. Domett's resolutions were carried there were in the Auckland harbour, besides the fleet of coasting cutters, two men-of-war, one steamer, four ships,



four barques, five brigs, one barquentine, eight schooners, and three ketches. The “vessels expected,” included a man-of-war, a steamer, five ships, two barques, a brig, and four schooners. One of the barques, the “Novelty,” was an Auckland built vessel, which had been launched in Mechanics' Bay some twelve months previously.

          
A striking picture of the advance made by Auckland since she lost the seat of Government is presented by a comparison of the mail notices as they appear to-day in the “New Zealand Herald” with those of the “Southern Cross” for the 24th of November, 1863. Though Auckland had been the capital of the colony for over twenty years, the mail list of that day contained only announcements respecting the early departures of mails for “Whangarei and Mangopai,” and for the “Australasian Colonies and the United Kingdom”; and this was all, though the mails were advertised much further ahead then than now.

          
But small and unimportant as Auckland undoubtedly was in those days, in comparison with her present condition, she was not then considered unimportant by her own prominent and experienced men. The promoters of the “New Zealand Herald,” which had just then come into existence, were shrewd business men, who had had many years' experience of journalism in Auckland; and their high opinion of Auckland's then present and future is contained in an advertisement, of which the following is a paragraph. “The proprietors are of opinion that, in the present advanced and rapidly advancing state of the metropolitan province — with its great, growing, and diverging interests—with a largely increasing population—and possessing a maritime, commercial, and agricultural position of singular stability—(the many and trying ordeals through which so youthful a settlement has passed unscathed, considered) there is more than sufficient scope for the establishment of a third newspaper.” The other two morning newspapers probably doubted the last assertion. The “Herald,” however, made room for itself, and has grown with the town and province, incorporating its older contemporaries, and getting such a hold on the people of town and country, that now no one can be found rash enough to launch even a second daily morning paper in any part of the Auckland Provincial district of 25,746 square miles. No better evidence is needed of the faithful adherence to the promise made by the “Herald” at its birth, that it would work unceasingly for the benefit of the colony as a whole, and for that of the Auckland province in particular.

          
When the “Herald” made its appearance on Auckland's literary stage there was much work for a devoted newspaper to perform — many needed improvements to be agitated for. There was no regular ferry service to the North Shore, and the connection between Onehunga and Mangere was by boat. The first sod of the Auckland and Drury railway was not turned till about fifteen months later—the 16th of February, 1865, when the ceremony was performed by the Superintendent of the province, Mr. Robert Graham. The City Board of Commissioners appointed to undertake the duties now performed by the City Council, had been formed but a few months. There was no drainage deserving the name, and the water supply was obtained by means of a few town pumps. Even the street formation was of the rudest description and the wharfage accommodation was very poor. The Customhouse marked the foreshore, and the site of the railway station and its neighbourhood, was a huge fever breeding mud-flat. Accommodation for immigrants was so defective that some of them had to pass their first night on the Queen's Wharf, huddled up, with their bits of luggage under tarpaulins. Houses were obtainable, but of poor quality. At the end of 1864 there were in Auckland, Parnell and Newton 3485 houses, but only 1234 contained more than four very small rooms. Tenements then occupied by high Government officials would to-day be considered too poor for an expressman. The office of Town Clerk and Secretary was linked on to a salary of £150 per annum, and everything was on a corresponding scale.

          
Though it can never be known to what extent Auckland—city and province—has been retarded by the removal of the seat of Government, there can be no doubt that the effects were serious and protracted. For a number of years, however, the province of Auckland much more than maintained its lead over that of Wellington. During the year 1865, in the early part of which the removal took place, the excess of immigration over emigration was, for the Auckland province, 6096, and for Wellington, 509. In the following year, large numbers continued to come from the United Kingdom, but the emigration from Auckland to the Australian Colonies was in that year very marked, and the total excess for the province was reduced to 646. Wellington's excess for that year was 294, no fewer than 140 having left for “Foreign States.” By 1871, according to a census taken in February of that year, the population of the Auckland province had increased to 62,335, while that of Wellington had merely advanced to 24,001, a rate of progress scarcely equal to that of Nelson, whose provincial population stood at 22,541. The discovery of gold at the Thames in 1867 had, doubtless, helped Auckland's population. Yet, notwithstanding that the Thames had been flourishing for more than three years, and that the capital had been located in the North Island for thirty-one years, the population of the South Island was very much greater, being 159,518 as against 96,875.

          
That Wellington benefited but very slowly by the removal to that town of the seat of Government, was only too well known at the time. Probably it was many years before the world generally knew that any removal had taken place. At any rate, statistics disclose the fact that in the year 1871, when Wellington had been the settled capital for more than six years, only fifty-four vessels visited the port, barely exceeding one vessel per week and the total tonnage of the fifty-four vessels was 19,543—an average of about 360 tons per vessel. It would call forth but a few passing remarks to-day if a tonnage equal to that of the whole year of 1871 were to enter the port of Wellington before the luncheon hour. In Auckland, during the same year, 250 vessels entered inwards, with a total tonnage of 101,053—an average slightly exceeding 400 tons. Auckland did more than a third of the colony's shipping for that year; Lyttelton doing a little less, and Dunedin a little more, than double that of Wellington. In imports Auckland had nearly a fourth of the whole, and Wellington rather more than a tenth. In exports Auckland's share was more than a third, while that of Wellington was about a twentieth of the whole.

          
Kauri gum, which now figures so
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largely in the exports of Auckland, was even at this time a considerable item; but, unfortunately, it was many years before its value was properly understood. In 1860, the total export of 1046 tons was valued at £9851—less than £10 per ton. Ten years later the quantity had increased to 4391 tons and was valued at £175,064, or nearly £40 per ton. Yet even that was very low compared with present values. In 1863 the total export was only 1400 tons, but in that year the price per ton suddenly rose to nearly £20.

          
By 1873, ten years after the decision to remove the seat of Government, the population of the Auckland province stood at 70,000; that of Wellington at 30,000; that of the North Island at 112,282, and that of the South Island at 183,664. By 1876 when the Provincial Governments were abolished, Auckland's provincial population was 82,763, and Wellington's 43,383—about equal to her present city and suburban population. Wellington was then entering upon a season of prosperity—a boom in fact. Though her population was little more than half that of Auckland her imports were £1,210,240 against £1,270,214 for the northern port. Auckland was suffering a depression, her imports being considerably less in 1876 than they had been in 1869. Auckland's exports for 1876 were valued at £763,795, and Wellington's at £696,689. Though Wellington suffered a sharp relapse in 1879, and has never since had a boom, her progress has been steady; and there is no room for doubt that steadiness has been the result, in no small degree, of the steady expenditure of the general Government.

          
The abolition of the Provincial Governments robbed Auckland of all semblance of share in the government of the Colony. Her Provincial Council had been an important body and was the object of greater interest in Auckland than was the General Assembly itself prior to its removal. Its abolition was in reality a harder blow to the town and district than the removal of the seat of Government. Railways were being constructed and the country was being opened up; the provinces were vying with each other in attracting immigration and encouraging over-sea commerce, but the further centralisation of Government in Wellington magnified the importance of that town at the expense of all other parts of the Colony. The beauty of Auckland's surroundings, the excellence of her climate and the patriotism of her people have helped her gold, gum and timber industries to fairly maintain her actual though not proportional advance of the metropolitan province; and the energy and determination of the people of Canterbury and Otago have up to the present enabled their provinces to keep ahead; but indications all point to the steady advance and ultimate lead of the province favoured as the seat of the General Government. Whether this may in the end be beneficial or detrimental to the country as



a whole, it is impossible to say; but that the progress of the Auckland district has been greatly retarded there can be no doubt.

          
Auckland, however, has still her excellent climate, an advantage which will tell more and more in her favour, as the people of the colony become better acclimatized and freer from the British prejudice against clear skies. And she is becoming more beautiful every day; the capabilities of her soil for fruit culture are rapidly being better understood; her eminence as a manufacturing centre is increasing in a ratio, which will be greatly accelerated by railway connection with Wellington; her waste lands are being sanguinely tested for the production of superior wool and mutton, by means of furze for pasture; and her hot and cold lakes wonderland is but in the infancy of its world-wide popularity. With all these and many other unchangeable and almost uncheckable advantages, Aucklanders may complacently await developments, confident that though seasons of depression may come, their province is destined to be the home of millions of prosperous and intelligent colonists and their city the centre of a community of highly cultured men and women.
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Of present members of the Legislative Council, Auckland has seven, of whom three are life members, the Hon. Henry Williams, William Swanson, and G. B. Morris. The first of these members was appointed on the 7th of March, 1882, and the others on the 15th of May, 1885. Of those appointed since 1891, who are therefore holders of the office for seven years only, but are eligible for re-appointment, the Hon. W. T. Jennings was appointed on the 15th of October, 1892, and re-appointed on the 16th of October, 1899; the Hon. Benjamin Harris and William Kelly on the 3rd of February, 1897; and the Hon. A. J. Cadman on the 21st of December, 1899.

            
The payment of Legislative Councillors is at the rate of £150 per annum, payable monthly, and actual travelling expenses to and from the seat of Government are allowed. On the other hand, should a Councillor be absent more than five sitting days during any session, through avoidable causes, a deduction of £1 5s per day is made; and should he be absent without permission for more than one session his seat becomes vacant. The number of Councillors for the whole Colony must not be less than ten, but there is no maximum limit, except such as is imposed by the conscience of the party in power.

            
Discussion frequently arises as to the advisableness of abolishing the system of Crown nomination in favour of some improved system of popular election of Legislative Councillors; and even the leading members of that party in the Lower House which is sometimes called “The Conservative,” have expressed themselves in favour of a change in that direction.

          

          

            
            


              

The Hon. William Swanson,
              M.L.C., is one of Auckland's best known and most trusted politicians; he has had a somewhat eventful career, and the record of many vicissitudes which he has experienced will show the general trend of colonial life. Born in Leith, near Edinburgh, on the 30th of May, 1819, he early suffered the loss of both his parents, and was brought up under the care first of his paternal grandfather, and subsequently of an uncle. Shortly after attaining his majority, Mr. Swanson completed his apprenticeship as a shipwright, and lost little time in trying his fortunes in the colonies. Arriving in Auckland in 1844, he found employment in various lines, but wages at that time were low in the Northern Capital, and Mr. Swanson visited California in the hope of striking something better. His voyage thither was eventful enough, as may be imagined from the fact that it was undertaken in a vessel of fourteen tons. The shipwright, however, had confidence in his own work, and, when the customs officer at Auckland declined to clear the vessel outwards on account of her being too small for a foreign voyage, Mr. Swanson, the builder and owner, quietly took his departure for the Bay of Islands, where he found an officer either more ignorant, or less strict as to the tonnage of his little craft. His mates, though possessing a theoretical knowledge of seamanship, were divided in opinion on some of the more abstruse points of navigation, and had it not been for the timely aid of a “passenger”—the late Mr. Bell, brother of Mrs. Allan O'Neill—there is no doubt that the desired haven could never have been reached. With Mr. Bell's assistance, however, Mr. Swanson and his little company found their way to Tahiti, and on to Honolulu, where the vessel was sold, Mr. Swanson, by the transaction, becoming a landed proprietor on a small scale. After working some time in Honolulu at four dollars a day, Mr. Swanson continued his journey, and arrived in California at a time when the wages of skilled artisans ranged from sixteen to twenty-five dollars per day; he was fortunate in obtaining employment for some length of time at the maximum wage. Returning to this colony in 1852, Mr. Swanson took up land at the place now bearing his name, and engaged heartily in the timber industry. Here he not only met with personal prosperity, but put many others in the way of making a competence. Being popular with all classes, and thoroughly trusted, Mr. Swanson was early marked out for a public career. The first position of importance to which he was elected was that of representative of the West Ward on the City Board, immediately on the formation of that body. The next step was to the Provincial Council, in which he represented first the Northern District of Auckland and then the City West; in 1871 he was elected without contest to a seat for Newton in the General Assembly. Mr. Swanson continued a member of the Provincial Council until the abolition of those bodies in 1876. In the House of Representatives he sat continuously until 1884, when, for the first and only time, he was beaten. This is a splendid record for a politician who has, throughout his career, conscientiously abstained from soliciting votes on his own behalf. Though lost to the Lower House, Mr. Swanson was not long out of harness, for in May, 1885, he was offered a seat in the Upper House, as a fitting acknowledgment of past services and present usefulness as a legislator. This offer was made by the Stout-Vogel Government, and was accepted by Mr. Swanson on condition of its being understood that he was free to act as independently as had always been his principle. Ever since his appointment Mr. Swanson has been an active member—not greatly given to talking, but exercising a salutary influence on the deliberations of the Council. As a citizen. Mr. Swanson is held in high esteem. No charitable object has ever been denied his aid, and his private acts of kindness and generosity have all been done with an absence of ostentation well worthy of imitation. The giving of annual treats to the children of the public schools has been a favourite means with Mr. Swanson of affording pleasure to others, and these have generally been given on the reassembling of school after the summer vacation. Of Mr. Swanson's eight children, seven survive and six are married. Mrs. Swanson was a chieftainess belonging to a powerful native tribe, and it is popularly supposed that she brought her husband many broad acres. This is, however, erroneous, as Mr.



Swanson duly purchased from the Crown all his landed estates. His daughters are finished musicians, their indulgent father having provided his children with every opportunity of culture, besides attending to their material well being. For some time before her death, which occurred early in 1897, Mrs. Swanson was in very delicate health.
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The Hon. William Thomas Jennings,
              M.L.C., is a native of Auckland, receiving his education at the old St. Paul's school, and learning his trade—that of a printer—in the same city. He was apprenticed in the early sixties with his uncle, Mr. W. Siffern, at the old “New Zealander” office, and, after completing his term, went to the Thames, where he became foreman on the “Thames Guardian.” Later on Mr. Jennings proceeded to Dunedin, where he occupied the position of foreman of the “Guardian,” and was also manager of the “Dunedin Age”; subsequently going to Oamaru, he received a similar appointment in connection with the “Oamaru Mail.” He returned to Auckland in 1882, and accepted the position of foreman on the “Evening Star.” Mr. Jennings has been connected with the Knights of Labour and the Trades and Labour Council, and was for some years hon. secretary to the Auckland Liberal Association. He now holds the positions of past district grand president of the order of Druids, and chairman of the Auckland Typographical Association. Politically, Mr. Jennings is well known and popular. On labour questions his views have ever been moderate, and they have been invariably characterised by sound common sense. The hon. gentleman takes a great interest in social reform, and, in conjunction with the secretary of the New Zealand Tailoresses' Union, has worked hard to improve the condition of women workers engaged in that industry. He was called to a seat in the Legislative Council by Mr. Ballance's ministry on the 15th of October, 1892, and, as a representative of labour, it would be hard to excel him. Enjoying as he does the confidence and esteem of his fellow workmen, and possessing both ability and courtesy, he is better calculated to advance the cause of labour, and the condition of the labouring classes generally, than a host of loud talkers. Mr. Jennings was one of the earliest members of the Hobson Rifle Volunteer Corps (which has now been extinet for some years), and held the position of lieutenant in that company. His term of office as Legislative Councillor expired by effluxion of time on the 15th of October, 1899, but he was re-appointed next day for another term of seven years.
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                The Hon. William Kelly
              
              was born in County Louth, Ireland, in 1840. He arrived in New Zealand in the year 1863, and in the following year he became contractor for the troops stationed in Auckland. In 1865 Mr. Kelly went to Opotiki, where he established a large business and had several vessels running between there and Auckland. He contracted also for the troops stationed there and at Tauranga. In 1868 he was elected captain of the Bay of Plenty cavalry corps, and saw some active service in the Maori war. Mr. Kelly represented Howick and Opotiki in the Auckland Provincial Council until the abolition of the Provinces. He sat in the House of Representatives for a number of years, and was called to the Legislative Council in 1897.
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The Hon. Alfred Jerome Cadman
              
              was called to the Legislative Council on the 21st of December, 1899. Mr. Cadman first entered Parliament in 1881, when he was elected to sit for Coromandel in the House of Representatives. He afterwards represented Thames, City of Auckland, Waikato and Ohinemuri. Mr. Cadman was called to Mr. Ballance's Cabinet, and was successively Minister of Native Affairs, Minister of Mines, and Minister of Justice, and Minister of Railways in the Seddon Government. He did not stand at the general election in December, 1899, and was thereupon called to the Legislative Council. A biographical sketch of Mr. Cadman is given at pages 45 and 46 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.
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The payment of Legislative Councillors is at the rate of £150 per annum, payable monthly, and actual travelling expenses to and from the seat of Government are allowed. On the other hand, should a Councillor be absent more than five sitting days during any session, through avoidable causes, a deduction of £1 5s per day is made; and should he be absent without permission for more than one session his seat becomes vacant. The number of Councillors for the whole Colony must not be less than ten, but there is no maximum limit, except such as is imposed by the conscience of the party in power.
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The Hon. William Swanson,
              M.L.C., is one of Auckland's best known and most trusted politicians; he has had a somewhat eventful career, and the record of many vicissitudes which he has experienced will show the general trend of colonial life. Born in Leith, near Edinburgh, on the 30th of May, 1819, he early suffered the loss of both his parents, and was brought up under the care first of his paternal grandfather, and subsequently of an uncle. Shortly after attaining his majority, Mr. Swanson completed his apprenticeship as a shipwright, and lost little time in trying his fortunes in the colonies. Arriving in Auckland in 1844, he found employment in various lines, but wages at that time were low in the Northern Capital, and Mr. Swanson visited California in the hope of striking something better. His voyage thither was eventful enough, as may be imagined from the fact that it was undertaken in a vessel of fourteen tons. The shipwright, however, had confidence in his own work, and, when the customs officer at Auckland declined to clear the vessel outwards on account of her being too small for a foreign voyage, Mr. Swanson, the builder and owner, quietly took his departure for the Bay of Islands, where he found an officer either more ignorant, or less strict as to the tonnage of his little craft. His mates, though possessing a theoretical knowledge of seamanship, were divided in opinion on some of the more abstruse points of navigation, and had it not been for the timely aid of a “passenger”—the late Mr. Bell, brother of Mrs. Allan O'Neill—there is no doubt that the desired haven could never have been reached. With Mr. Bell's assistance, however, Mr. Swanson and his little company found their way to Tahiti, and on to Honolulu, where the vessel was sold, Mr. Swanson, by the transaction, becoming a landed proprietor on a small scale. After working some time in Honolulu at four dollars a day, Mr. Swanson continued his journey, and arrived in California at a time when the wages of skilled artisans ranged from sixteen to twenty-five dollars per day; he was fortunate in obtaining employment for some length of time at the maximum wage. Returning to this colony in 1852, Mr. Swanson took up land at the place now bearing his name, and engaged heartily in the timber industry. Here he not only met with personal prosperity, but put many others in the way of making a competence. Being popular with all classes, and thoroughly trusted, Mr. Swanson was early marked out for a public career. The first position of importance to which he was elected was that of representative of the West Ward on the City Board, immediately on the formation of that body. The next step was to the Provincial Council, in which he represented first the Northern District of Auckland and then the City West; in 1871 he was elected without contest to a seat for Newton in the General Assembly. Mr. Swanson continued a member of the Provincial Council until the abolition of those bodies in 1876. In the House of Representatives he sat continuously until 1884, when, for the first and only time, he was beaten. This is a splendid record for a politician who has, throughout his career, conscientiously abstained from soliciting votes on his own behalf. Though lost to the Lower House, Mr. Swanson was not long out of harness, for in May, 1885, he was offered a seat in the Upper House, as a fitting acknowledgment of past services and present usefulness as a legislator. This offer was made by the Stout-Vogel Government, and was accepted by Mr. Swanson on condition of its being understood that he was free to act as independently as had always been his principle. Ever since his appointment Mr. Swanson has been an active member—not greatly given to talking, but exercising a salutary influence on the deliberations of the Council. As a citizen. Mr. Swanson is held in high esteem. No charitable object has ever been denied his aid, and his private acts of kindness and generosity have all been done with an absence of ostentation well worthy of imitation. The giving of annual treats to the children of the public schools has been a favourite means with Mr. Swanson of affording pleasure to others, and these have generally been given on the reassembling of school after the summer vacation. Of Mr. Swanson's eight children, seven survive and six are married. Mrs. Swanson was a chieftainess belonging to a powerful native tribe, and it is popularly supposed that she brought her husband many broad acres. This is, however, erroneous, as Mr.



Swanson duly purchased from the Crown all his landed estates. His daughters are finished musicians, their indulgent father having provided his children with every opportunity of culture, besides attending to their material well being. For some time before her death, which occurred early in 1897, Mrs. Swanson was in very delicate health.
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The Hon. William Thomas Jennings,
              M.L.C., is a native of Auckland, receiving his education at the old St. Paul's school, and learning his trade—that of a printer—in the same city. He was apprenticed in the early sixties with his uncle, Mr. W. Siffern, at the old “New Zealander” office, and, after completing his term, went to the Thames, where he became foreman on the “Thames Guardian.” Later on Mr. Jennings proceeded to Dunedin, where he occupied the position of foreman of the “Guardian,” and was also manager of the “Dunedin Age”; subsequently going to Oamaru, he received a similar appointment in connection with the “Oamaru Mail.” He returned to Auckland in 1882, and accepted the position of foreman on the “Evening Star.” Mr. Jennings has been connected with the Knights of Labour and the Trades and Labour Council, and was for some years hon. secretary to the Auckland Liberal Association. He now holds the positions of past district grand president of the order of Druids, and chairman of the Auckland Typographical Association. Politically, Mr. Jennings is well known and popular. On labour questions his views have ever been moderate, and they have been invariably characterised by sound common sense. The hon. gentleman takes a great interest in social reform, and, in conjunction with the secretary of the New Zealand Tailoresses' Union, has worked hard to improve the condition of women workers engaged in that industry. He was called to a seat in the Legislative Council by Mr. Ballance's ministry on the 15th of October, 1892, and, as a representative of labour, it would be hard to excel him. Enjoying as he does the confidence and esteem of his fellow workmen, and possessing both ability and courtesy, he is better calculated to advance the cause of labour, and the condition of the labouring classes generally, than a host of loud talkers. Mr. Jennings was one of the earliest members of the Hobson Rifle Volunteer Corps (which has now been extinet for some years), and held the position of lieutenant in that company. His term of office as Legislative Councillor expired by effluxion of time on the 15th of October, 1899, but he was re-appointed next day for another term of seven years.
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                The Hon. William Kelly
              
              was born in County Louth, Ireland, in 1840. He arrived in New Zealand in the year 1863, and in the following year he became contractor for the troops stationed in Auckland. In 1865 Mr. Kelly went to Opotiki, where he established a large business and had several vessels running between there and Auckland. He contracted also for the troops stationed there and at Tauranga. In 1868 he was elected captain of the Bay of Plenty cavalry corps, and saw some active service in the Maori war. Mr. Kelly represented Howick and Opotiki in the Auckland Provincial Council until the abolition of the Provinces. He sat in the House of Representatives for a number of years, and was called to the Legislative Council in 1897.
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The Hon. Alfred Jerome Cadman
              
              was called to the Legislative Council on the 21st of December, 1899. Mr. Cadman first entered Parliament in 1881, when he was elected to sit for Coromandel in the House of Representatives. He afterwards represented Thames, City of Auckland, Waikato and Ohinemuri. Mr. Cadman was called to Mr. Ballance's Cabinet, and was successively Minister of Native Affairs, Minister of Mines, and Minister of Justice, and Minister of Railways in the Seddon Government. He did not stand at the general election in December, 1899, and was thereupon called to the Legislative Council. A biographical sketch of Mr. Cadman is given at pages 45 and 46 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.
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Late Auckland Legislative Councillors.

          

            
The Act which gave to this Colony representative government was passed in the Imperial Parliament in the year 1852, and provided for three branches of the Legislature. The first branch—the Governor was to be appointed by the Crown; the second—the Legislative Council, was to be nominated by the Governor, which, of course, meant by the Executive Council of responsible Ministers, presided over by the Governor; and the third—the House of Representatives, was to be elected by the people. Provincial Councils were also provided for in the Constitution Act. The two men in New Zealand who had most to do with the framing of the Constitution were Sir George Grey and Mr. Edward Gibbon Wakefield; and yet, though these two were probably the cleverest men who ever set foot on New Zealand soil, the result of their genius, as exhibited in the Constitution, was not a marvel of completeness; for when it came to be tried on it was found to be rather an ill-fitting vestment. Still, with the exception of the abolition of the Provinces, the changes in the Constitution have not been great, though further modifications, intimately connected with the Legislative Council, are occasionally mooted.

            
When the Constitution was passed in 1852, the population of Colony numbered about 27,000; and when, during the following year, it became necessary to elect six Provincial Councils and a House of Representatives there were probably not more than 16,000 males in the whole Colony. Even in those days nearly half of the males would be children, and of the adults not more than six or seven thousand, at the outside, would be qualified to vote. In view of these figures, Constitutional Government cannot be said to have arrived very late in the day. It would be safe to say that, on an average, one man in every fifty was either a Legislative Councillor, a member of the House, or a Provincial Councillor.

            
The first session of the Legislative Council was opened on the 24th of May, 1854, and the first members were appointed by the Acting-Governor, Colonel R. H. Wynyard. There were sixteen members, of whom Auckland had six; five were from other parts of the North Island, and the whole of the South Island contributed five. The Auckland members were: The Hon. William Swainson, F. Whitaker, T. H. Bartley, J. A. Gilfillan, W. W. Kenny, and John Salmon.

            
Until 1891, the Legislative Council had no power to elect its own Speaker; and though the Hon. Mr. Swainson still held the office of Attorney-General direct from the Crown, he was appointed Speaker of the Council. During the following year, however, the dual position was found to be incompatible, and Mr. (afterwards Sir) Frederick Whitaker was appointed to the office. When in turn Mr. Whitaker became Attorney-General in 1856, he also retired, and Mr. T. H. Bartley was appointed Speaker. Thus Auckland supplied the first three Speakers of the Upper House.

            
If Aucklanders had excessive representation on the Council when members were appointed by the Governor before the days of responsible Ministries, the disproportion was still greater for some time thereafter, for in 1856 the number of Councillors had declined to thirteen, while, by the addition of Sir Samuel Osborne Gibbes in 1855, the Auckland members constituted a clear majority. Three of the other six Councillors were from Nelson, and one from Taranaki, Canterbury and Otago, respectively, and during the session the Otago member resigned. By the next session, in 1858, there being none in the previous year, the number was made up to nineteen, and Auckland's number was increaed to nine by the appointment of Chief-Justice Arney and Colonel Wynyard. The latter, however, resigned in 1860, reducing the Council to eighteen, of whom the remainder of the North Island contributed four and the South Island six. The next session saw three more Councillors added, two of whom—the Hon. Dr. Pollen and Henry Sewell—were Auckland men.

            
From this point Auckland's supremacy in the Legislative Council waned rapidly. By the session of 1863, when Mr. Domett's fateful motions regarding the removal of the seat of Government were passed in the Lower House, Auckland's power in the Upper House was but ten out of twenty-nine; for the addition during that year of the Hon. Henry Walton was balanced by the resignation of Sir S. O. Gibbes, and during next session Mr. Whitaker resigned. In 1865, the session following the actual removal of Government, the roll of Councillors consisted of thirty-five members, though Auckland's number had declined to nine through the resignation of the Hon. H. Sewell. By the next session the Chief-Justice and Messrs J. A. Gilfillan and H. Walton had resigned; but the appointment of the Hon. Ponsonby Peacocke made Auckland's number up to six—the smallest since the first session when the total membership was smaller by more than half. In 1868 a further reduction was made by the vacation by absence of the seats of Messrs W. Swainson and John Salmon. During that year the Hon. Major Richardson, of Otago, was appointed Speaker in succession to the Hon. T. H. Bartley.

            
While Auckland's numbers were being reduced the total was rapidly increasing. By 1869 the roll embraced forty-one members, but during this year the representatives of Auckland were doubled in number by the appointment of the Hon. Henry Chamberlin, F. D. Fenton, James O'Neill, and C. J. Taylor. In 1870 the Hon. James Williamson was added, making nine members for Auckland out of a total of forty-seven. The numbers for the other provinces were: Wellington, nine; Otago, nine; Canterbury,



five; Nelson, four; Hawke's Bay, four; Southland, three; Taranaki, one; and Westland, one. By 1871 the names of Dr. Pollen and Judge Fenton were omitted from the list; but the Hon. James Farmer was added. In the following session the number of Auckland members declined to six by the resignation of Mr. O'Neill, and the death of Mr. Ponsonby Peacocke; but the appointment of the Hon. Randall Johnston raised it to seven. The appointment in 1873 of the Hon. Mokena Kohere, and the re-appointment of the Hon. Dr. Pollen increased the number to nine. In the following session Mr. Bartley's seat was vacated by absence; but the Hon. Every McLean was appointed to the vacancy. During this year Mr. James Farmer resigned; and in 1876 Mr. Every McLean's seat was vacated by absence, which reduced Auckland's numbers to seven. Two years later Mr. C. J. Taylor's seat became similarly vacant, and Auckland's numbers declined to six; for though the Hon. Thomas Henderson was appointed in that year, the Hon. Randall Johnston removed to Wellington.

            
The roll of Councillors in 1879 embraced forty-nine members allocated provincially as follows: Auckland, by the addition of the Hon. P. Dignan, seven; Wellington, eleven; Canterbury, eight; Otago, eleven; Nelson, four; Hawke's Bay, four; Taranaki, one; Marlborough, one; and Westland, two. During this year Sir William Fitzherbert, of Wellington, was appointed Speaker, in place of Sir J. L. Cheese Richardson.

            
The re-appointment of Mr. Whitaker in 1880, and the death during the same year of Colonel Kenny, one of the earliest Councillors, after thirty-seven years' service, left the number unaltered. In the following year, however, the Hon. Henry Williams, who is still a member, was appointed. The year 1885 saw the largest Council which the colony has ever had, for at that time there were fifty-four members, the appointment of the Hon. G. B. Morris and W. Swanson, making a total of ten members for Auckland — the number that, in days of yore, the Northern Province had in a Council of twenty-one. The death of Mr. Thomas Henderson in 1886, the resignation of Mr. Kohere early in 1887, and the death of Messrs Chamberlin and James Williamson in 1888, made serious reductions in the number of Auckland's members though Mr. Kohere's seat was filled by the appointment of the Hon. Major Ropata Wahawaha.

            
With the exception of a short temporary absence, during which the Hon. G. M. Waterhouse acted as Speaker of the Council, Sir William Fitzherbert held the Speakership from the 14th of June, 1879, until the 23rd of January, 1891, when he died, and was succeeded by Sir Harry Atkinson. Sir Harry, however, had a lamentably short rule, for he died on the 28th of June, 1892, within a few minutes of his leaving the chair, on the adjournment of the Council as a mark of respect to the memory of Sir Frederick Whitaker and others who had passed away during the recess. The present Speaker, the Hon. H. J. Miller, was elected to the Speakership. He was the first and, so far, is the only Speaker elected to the position, all previous holders of the office having been appointed by the Governor-in-Council. The Act of 1891, which altered the constitution of the Council by fixing the term of subsequent appointees at seven years, conferred on the Council the privilege of electing its Speaker, and fixed the duration of the office at five years. At the end of his first term, Mr. Miller was re-elected.

            
The appointment to the Council, of the Hon. J. B. Whyte in 1891, and of the Hon. W. T. Jennings and William McCullough in 1892, gave Auckland a total of nine members. By the session of 1895, however, it had been reduced by the death of Mr. Peter Dignan, and still further in the following year by the death of Dr. Pollen. In 1897 Major Ropata died and Mr. J. B. Whyte's name disappeared from the list; but these losses were balanced by the appointment of the Hon. Benjamin Harris and William Kelly, who are still members of the Council. The Hon. W. McCullough vacated his seat by effluxion of time on the 15th of October, 1899, and was not re-appointed, but on the 21st of December following, the Hon. A. J. Cadman, formerly Minister of Railways, was called to a seat in the Council.

            
On the thirty-four persons who have been appointed to sit in the Legislative Council as representing the province of Auckland, twenty-seven appear on the list of late Councillors. They were all appointed for life, except Mr McCullough, yet only nine held the office for life, and two of the nine had resigned and been re-appointed. Three sat for fifteen years, one for sixteen, one for eighteen, one for seven, two for nineteen, one for twenty-three, one for twenty-seven, and one (Dr. Pollen), for thirty-three years, though not continuously.

            
Of Auckland's late Councillors, several had held high positions in the service of the state. Colonel Wynyard had, prior to his appointment to the Council, been Commander of the Forces, Lieutenant-Governor of New Ulster, Administrator of the Government (for nearly two trying years), and Superintendent of the Province of Auckland. Sir George Arney was, at the time of his Councillorship, Chief Justice, and the Hon. W. Swainson was, for nearly fifteen years, Attorney-General under appointment by the Crown, and was afterwards a member of the Grey Cabinet. The Hon. Henry Sewell, Dr. Pollen and Sir Frederick Whitaker each held the Premiership and many other important positions in various Ministries; and Mr. Thomas Henderson was a member of the Executive in the second Fox Ministry.

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. Colonel William Henry Kenny
              
              was called to the Legislative Council of New Zealand on the 26th of March, 1853. He came of a race of soldiers. His father,



Major W. Crowe Kenny, carried one of the colours of the 73rd Regiment at the storming of Seringapatam, and his grandfather, Lieut.-Colonel Kenny, of the 11th Regiment, was mortally wounded while leading the storming party at the siege of Gawlighur, where Sir Arthur Wellesley was in command. He himself, when only sixteen years of age, entered the 73rd Regiment in 1828, and served in Canada during the rebellion. In 1847 he brought the first detachment of New Zealand Fencibles to the colony, and, having succeeded to the command of that force in 1849, he was instrumental, two years later, in averting the threatened invasion of Auckland by the Ngatipoua. For his action on that occasion he received the thanks of Governor Sir George Grey and of the commander of the forces, Colonel Wynyard. During the native troubles of 1860–61 he was in command of the garrison of Auckland, and also occupied the same position for some time in 1863, during which year he sold out his regimental position and became Quartermaster-General to the colonial forces under Major-General Galloway. He was afterwards Colonel of the New Zealand Militia, and Inspector of Volunteers for the North Island. Colonel Kenny was one of those who were summoned by His Excellency the Governor in Her Majesty's name to the first General Assembly of New Zealand in pursuance of the Constitution Act, and when he died at Ponsonby, Auckland, on the 17th of August, 1880, he was the oldest member of the Legislative Council.
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The Hon. John Salmon
              
              was one of those who, in 1853, were summoned by the Governor in Her Majesty's name to the first General Assembly of New Zealand. He was therefore one of the first members of the Legislative Council, in which he vacated his seat, through absence, in 1868. Mr. Salmon was born in Aberdeen, Scotland, in the year 1808. At the early age of fourteen he was apprenticed to the sea, and served under Captain Talbot, who traded to the East Indies for several years. About 1840 Captain Salmon arrived in Auckland. When a brother, who was in business at the Bay of Islands, died, he succeeded to the business, which he transferred to Auckland, where he pursued the calling of a general merchant for about twenty years, when he retired to Ellerslie. Mr. Salmon was one of the trustees of the Auckland Savings Bank and of the Orphan Home, Parnell. One of his daughters is Mrs W. M. Hall, of Mangere.
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The Hon. William Swainson
              
             
 was Attorney-General of New Zealand from the 10th of August, 1841, to the 7th of May, 1856. His name stands first on the list of those who were summoned to the Legislative Council in 1853, and in 1868 he ceased, through absence, to be a member of the Council. As Attorney-General he was, ex officio, a member of the Executive Council from the date of his appointment until the establishment of responsible government on the 7th of May 1856. He wa a native of Lancaster, became a member of the Inner Temple, and was appointed Attorney-General of New Zealand by Lord John Russell early in the year 1841. Mr. Swainson left England on the 9th of April in that year in the barque “Tyne,” with his friends, the newly-appointed Chief Justice Martin, and Mr. Outhwaite, the first Registrar of the Supreme Court. The “Tyne” reached Wellington on the 9th of August, and after a month's detention there she sailed for Auckland. She was nineteen days between the ports, and Mr. Swainson finally landed at Auckland on the 25th of September, 1841. At that time the infant capital of the infant colony was in a most primitive condition with its one public building, a long, low, native-built hut, which served as a post office police court, and church, all rolled into one. On the voyage out Mr. Swainson was engaged with the Chief Justice in framing measures for establishing Courts of Judicature for the administration of justice, for providing a system of oral pleading, for the transfer of real property, for the establishment of municipalities, for simplifying the form and language of indictments in criminal proceedings, and for the regulation of marriage, etc. In the early days the office of Attorney-General was more onerous and important than it was in the later times of responsible Government, as its holder had not only to devise and frame every Government measure but to take charge of them through the Council. When the new constitution was brought into operation Mr. Swainson was senior member and first Speaker of the Legislative Council, and in the stormy first session of the General Assembly, in 1854, he was brought into close contact with Edward Gibbon Wakefield, under conditions which are graphically set forth in “New Zealand and its Colonisation.” On the establishment of responsible Government Mr. Swainson ceased to be Attorney-General, but continued to be a member of the Legislative Council and now and then acted as an honorary member of the Executive Council. Mr. Swainson took an active part in laying the foundation of the English Church in New Zealand. He was a member of the Conference held in June, 1857, for devising its constitution; also a member of the first General Synod, and framed the fundamental measures introduced at its first session, held in Wellington, in March and April, 1859, and conducted them through the Synod. 
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He was afterwards for several years a member of the Synod of the diocese of Auckland. Throughout the episcopate of Bishop Selwyn in New Zealand he was that prelate's legal coadjutor in organising the members of the Church of England into a branch of the mother church, and in devising the measures necessary for its institution and government. Mr. Swainson loved travelling in the bush, and traversed the length and breadth of the North Island on foot, with a tent and three Maoris. He mixed much with the natives, and was from the first regarded by them as a friend of the race. Before leaving England, Mr. Swainson published a pamphlet on the climate of New Zealand, and many years afterwards Smith, Elder and Co. published a small book written by him on “Auckland, the Capital of New Zealand and the Country Adjacent.” In 1855 he went to England on leave, and spent a good deal of time in travelling about the country giving lectures on New Zealand in London, at Richmond, Bristol, Plymouth, Hereford, Lancaster, etc. These lectures were published in 1856 by Smith, Elder and Co. In 1859, Mr. Swainson published a larger work, “New Zealand and its Colonisation.” “New Zealand and the War,” published in 1862, was his latest literary work, and its object was to enforce the impolicy of engaging in a costly and protracted war to gain possession of land at the Waitara. Mr Swainson was a man of great culture and affability, and at his home at “Taurarua,” near Auckland, he lived a life of extreme simplicity. For thirty years his next door neighbour was his friend, Sir William Martin, and he himself resided in a small house which he had brought with him from England. He called his unique little



abode his “cottage by the sea,” and there his friends in the Colony or visitors from abroad were ever sure of a cordial welcome and refined hospitality. Mr. Swainson died on the 1st of December, 1884.

          

          

            
            


              

Sir Frederick Whitaker,
              who is mentioned amongst the Superintendents of Auckland, and also in the Wellington volume, as an ex-Premier of the Colony, was a member of the Legislative Council at its inception, and a year later was its Speaker. In 1864, Mr. Whitaker resigned his seat in the Council, but he was re-appointed in 1879, and continued his membership till his death on the 4th of December, 1892. He was knighted in 1884.

          

          

            
            


              

The Hon. Thomas Haughton Bartley,
              who was an original member of the Legislative Council, was a well-known barrister and solicitor. In less than two years he became Speaker of the Council, and held the position for twelve years. He was chosen as an Executive Councillor, and sat in the Executive without portfolio for a short time after the first Parliament met, and before the days of responsible government. He was also Speaker of the Auckland Provincial Council During his stay in Auckland he did much to encourage the development of horticulture, and long afterwards, when his house and grounds at Northcote were purchased by Mr W. G. Jackson, some fine specimens of rare trees and shrubs were found, notwithstanding all the intervening years. In 1873 Mr. Bartley's seat was vacated by absence, he having returned to the Old World.

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. John Anderson Gilfillan
              
              was nominated to the Legislative Council in 1854, and resigned in 1861. He was re-called in 1862, and resigned finally in 1866 Mr. Gilfillan was born at Torry, in the parish of Torryburn, Fifeshire, Scotland, on the 19th of September, 1821. His education was completed at the Grammar School of Cullen, Banffshire, and in November, 1837, he left home for Liverpool, there to enter the office of Messrs Briggs, Thorburn, Acraman and Co., merchants, of London, Liverpool, and Calcutta. At the end of a year he was promoted to the London office, and in 1842 he spent his first holiday in Scotland. On returning to London, certain changes in the firm resulted in a greater degree of responsibility and hard work being laid on him, and in 1845 his health broke down; in fact, symptoms of lung disease becoming apparent, he had to give up his position and seek renewed health in Scotland. The summer of 1845 was spent at Banchory on Deeside, and the winter of 1846, at Ventnor, Isle of Wight. No good result following, he was advised by Sir James Clark, physician to the Queen, to try the climate of either Egypt or New Zealand as a last chance of recovering his health. Choosing the latter, he sailed for Wellington, New Zealand, in the barque “Victoria,” Captain Williamson, at the close of 1846. On the vessel arriving in Cook Strait, she was nearly driven ashore by a sudden storm of wind and rain. No entrance to the harbour could be seen, and all were in great alarm, when suddenly, through the gloom, an American whaler dashed past them with the signal, “Follow me” at her masthead, and in a short time they were out of danger. After a short stay in Wellington, Mr. Gilfillan found that, in order to complete business arrangements, his return to London was needful, before finally settling in Auckland, and he was so fortunate as to get a passage home in H.M.S. “Racehorse,” Captain Sotheby. His younger brother, Mr. Robert Gilfillan, had, in the meantime, sailed from London for Auckland in the “Richard Dart,” and in November, 1848, Mr. Gilfillan followed him from London in the barque “Lalla Rookh,” which arrived in Auckland on the 17th of April, 1849. There-upon he and his brother began business as merchants and commission agents. Mr. Gilfillan was appointed a Justice of the Peace for the Colony in 1852. The New Zealand Constitution Act was passed by the British Parliament on the 13th of September, 1852, during the Governorship of Sir George Grey, and under that statute Parliamentary Government came into force in the Colony. It was, however, during the subsequent Acting-Governorship of Colonel Wynyard that the first Legislative Council was constituted, and Mr. Gilfillan was one of six Auckland members called by Colonel Wynyard to the Council. He took his seat at the first meeting of Parliament on the 27th of May, 1854. He was also elected one of the first members of the Auckland Provincial Council under the Super-intendency of Colonel R. H. Wynward. In 1858 Mr. Gilfillan was appointed representative in Auckland of Messrs Colman, steamship owners, of Hull, and it was that firm which—after the loss of Auckland's steamship “William Denny,” in 1857—established steam communication between Sydney and New Zealand with its steamships “Lord Ashley,” “Lord Worsley,” “Airedale,” “Claud Hamilton,” and “Prince Alfred.” As Auckland increased in population and importance, a Chamber of Commerce was established, and Mr. Gilfillan was elected its first president, and for many years he continued to take an active part in the political and commercial interests of the province and city. He was a church-warden of St. Paul's Anglican Church for many years under the ministrations of the Rev. J. Churton and the Rev. J. F. Lloyd. The weakness of chest, with which Mr. Gilfillan had been so long afflicted, and which he endured with great fortitude, at length took the form of chronic bronchitis, and, after many months of suffering, he was taken away on the 1st of February, 1875, in the fifty-fourth year of his age. In June, 1852, Mr. Gilfillan married Gertrude Davies, daughter of William Davies, M.D., Provincial Surgeon, and Mrs Gilfillan survived her husband for ten years. The family consisted of five sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Sir George Arney,
              who is referred to on page 36 of the Wellington volume, was appointed to the Legislative Council in 1858, and though he also held the Chief Justiceship, he continued to be a Councillor until the session of 1866. He was knighted in 1862, and died in England on the 7th of April, 1883.
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Colonel R. H. Wynyard,
              who was appointed to the Legislative Council in 1858, retired from the position two years later. He is elsewhere referred to as the first Superintendent of Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

The Hon. Dr. Pollen,
              who was for thirty-three years in the Legislative Council, is referred to in the Wellington volume as an ex-Premier.

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. Henry Sewell
              
              was called to the Legislative Council in 1861, and resigned in 1865. He is referred to in an article on page 57 of the Wellington volume of this work.

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. Francis Dart Fenton
              
              was summoned to the Legislative Council in 1869, but ceased to be a member in 1871. He is referred to in another article as having been Chief Judge of the Native Land Court.

          

          

            


            
            


              

                
The Hon. James O'Neill
              
              was prominently identified with the early history of Auckland. He was born in Manor Hamilton, County Leitrim, Ireland, in 1819, and came to New Zealand when a youth. He was a member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and also a member of the first Parliament of New Zealand. Mr. O'Neill was called to the Upper House in 1869, and resigned in 1872. He was a Justice of the Peace, and assisted in the foundation of some of the leading institutions of Auckland. Mr. O'Neill is referred to in another article as having been a member of the House of Representatives.

            

              

[image: Hon. J. O' Neill.]
Hon. 
J. O' Neill.


            

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. Charles John Taylor
              
              was the second son of General Taylor, H.E.I.S. Mr. Taylor was for a while in India, where he held a judgeship. On coming to New Zealand he bought land and settled in the Auckland district. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1869, but resigned his seat in 1878, when he and his family went to reside in England.

          

          

            
            

              

                
The Hon. James Williamson
              
             
 was one of the best known citizens of Auckland, and one of the oldest colonists of New Zealand. He was born at Belfast, Ireland, in 1814, and was the son of a merchant and shipowner of that city. Being of an adventurous disposition when a boy, he went to sea, and was several times shipwrecked. In 1840 he sailed from Sydney to the Bay of Islands as chief mate of a vessel. He then
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left the sea and went on to Auckland, where he was present at the first Government land sale, and bought an allotment in Shortland Street, on which he erected a store. About 1876 or 1878 Mr. Williamson bought the Pa estate at Onehunga, where he resided up to the time of his death. Mr. Williamson was one of the original founders of the Bank of New Zealand and the New Zealand Insurance Company, and was a leading director in both of these institutions for many years; at the time of his death he was president of the Bank of New Zealand. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1870, and died on the 22nd of March, 1888. Mr. Williamson left a widow, three sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            

              

The Hon. James Farmer,
             
 called to the Legislative Council in 1871, resigned his seat in 1874. He was a native of Fifeshire. Scotland, and arrived in Auckland on the 1st
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of April, 1847, by the ship “Louisa Campbell.” For many years he was manager of the One Tree Hill estate, near Onehunga, for the firm of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co., but, being a large shareholder in the celebrated Caledonian mine at the Thames, he made a fortune and returned to Fifeshire. There he bought a small property near St. Andrews, and lived in retirement there and in London.

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. Mokena Kohere
              
              was called to the Legislative Council in 1872 and resigned his seat in 1887.

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. Thomas Henderson
              
              was intimately associated with the Province of Auckland for over forty years, and was senior partner in the well-known firm of Henderson and Macfarlane. He was born in Dundee, Scotland, in 1810, and served his time as an engineer and machine maker. When he arrived in Auckland with his wife, in 1840, not a single house was erected. He built the Commercial Hotel at a cost of £2000, and it was at the time the most pretentious building in Auckland. During Heke's war Mr. Henderson did the colony good service by employing about 300 men in gumdigging and keeping them from joining Heke. The firm of Henderson and Macfarlane owned the Circular Saw line of vessels, which successfully traded to Australia, China and America. Mr. Henderson assisted in establishing the Bank of New Zealand, the Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, the New Zealand Insurance Company and the Auckland Gas Company. He was a member of the Provincial Council for some time, and represented the Northern Division in the General Assembly from 1856 to 1870, and the electoral district of Waitemata from 1871 to 1873. In the Fox Ministry of 1861–62 he was a member of the Executive Council without portfolio. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1878, at the instance of Sir George Grey, and as an old colonist who had served his country he well deserved the honour. Mr. Henderson died at the residence of Mr. George Graham, in Wellington, on Sunday, the 27th of June, 1886.

          

          

            
            

              

                
The Hon. Patrick Dignan
              
             
 was known in Auckland as one of the oldest and earliest settlers. He was born in County Galway, Ireland, in 1814, and on attaining manhood emigrated to New South Wales in 1839. In June, 1841, he came to New Zealand in the brig “Sophia Pate,” and his name was associated with the political history of the Auckland province for over forty years. Mr. Dignan was elected a member of the first Auckland Provincial Council, and represented the Northern Division. He was a member of the Provincial Executive during the superintendency of Mr. Whitaker, also in the last years of Mr. John Williamson's superintendency, and during that of Sir George Grey, till the abolition of the provinces. He took an active part in inducing Sir George Grey to re-enter political life, and in 1879 the Grey
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Ministry called him to the Upper House in recognition of his political services to the provinco. Mr. Dignan was a member of the first Harbour Board Commissioners. He was also one of the largest original shareholders of the Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Dignan was a director of the Auckland Gas Company at the time of his death, and interested himself in the progress of other local institutions;



besides filling other offices, he was a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank. Mr. Dignan died somewhat suddenly on board the s.s. “Takapuna,” while on his way back to Auckland from Parliament on the 20th of October, 1894, at the advanced age of eighty years. He left a widow and a family of ten sons.

          

          

            
            
The Hon. 

William Mccullough 
 is an Irishman by birth and ancestry, and left Limerick, Ireland, with his parents in 1859 on the ship “Tornado,” their destination being the fair young Colony of New Zealand. Arrived at Auckland, Mr. McCullough for some time assisted his father on his farm at Mangapai, acting at the same time as a special correspondent to the “Auckland Weekly News.” In 1864 he went to the goldfields on the West Coast of the South Island, working as a miner at the Greenstone, Red Jack's Gully, and other districts of the Grey. On the opening of the Thames as a goldfield, Mr. McCullough returned to Auckland, and “tried his luck” on the new field, being engaged as a miner and mine manager for several years, and subsequently joining the “Times” as mining reporter. A few years later he became proprietor of the “Thames Star,” which he has conducted for nearly thirty years. Mr. McCullough
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has filled many official positions at the Thames, including mayor (for the year 1878–79), president of the Hospital Board, chairman of the Harbour Board, and chairman of the Board of Governors of the High School. Some years ago Mr. McCullough purchased the printing business of the late Mr. Wm. Arthur, in Auckland, of which he is still proprietor. In 1896 he attended the Burns Centenary Celebration at Duntroon, Scotland, as a delegate from the Auckland Burns Club. As a Freemason, Mr. McCullough holds the important office of right worthy provincial grand master of the North Island, Scotch Constitution, in which position he succeeded the late Sir Frederick Whitaker. He was called to the Legislative Council by the Ballance Administration on the 15th of October, 1892. His nomination was received with general satisfaction, his long experience in mining matters peculiarly qualifying him to sit as the representative of a goldfields district. Mr. McCullough's term of office as a Legislative Councillor expired by effluxion of time on the 15th of October, 1899, and he was not re-appointed.
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The Act which gave to this Colony representative government was passed in the Imperial Parliament in the year 1852, and provided for three branches of the Legislature. The first branch—the Governor was to be appointed by the Crown; the second—the Legislative Council, was to be nominated by the Governor, which, of course, meant by the Executive Council of responsible Ministers, presided over by the Governor; and the third—the House of Representatives, was to be elected by the people. Provincial Councils were also provided for in the Constitution Act. The two men in New Zealand who had most to do with the framing of the Constitution were Sir George Grey and Mr. Edward Gibbon Wakefield; and yet, though these two were probably the cleverest men who ever set foot on New Zealand soil, the result of their genius, as exhibited in the Constitution, was not a marvel of completeness; for when it came to be tried on it was found to be rather an ill-fitting vestment. Still, with the exception of the abolition of the Provinces, the changes in the Constitution have not been great, though further modifications, intimately connected with the Legislative Council, are occasionally mooted.

            
When the Constitution was passed in 1852, the population of Colony numbered about 27,000; and when, during the following year, it became necessary to elect six Provincial Councils and a House of Representatives there were probably not more than 16,000 males in the whole Colony. Even in those days nearly half of the males would be children, and of the adults not more than six or seven thousand, at the outside, would be qualified to vote. In view of these figures, Constitutional Government cannot be said to have arrived very late in the day. It would be safe to say that, on an average, one man in every fifty was either a Legislative Councillor, a member of the House, or a Provincial Councillor.

            
The first session of the Legislative Council was opened on the 24th of May, 1854, and the first members were appointed by the Acting-Governor, Colonel R. H. Wynyard. There were sixteen members, of whom Auckland had six; five were from other parts of the North Island, and the whole of the South Island contributed five. The Auckland members were: The Hon. William Swainson, F. Whitaker, T. H. Bartley, J. A. Gilfillan, W. W. Kenny, and John Salmon.

            
Until 1891, the Legislative Council had no power to elect its own Speaker; and though the Hon. Mr. Swainson still held the office of Attorney-General direct from the Crown, he was appointed Speaker of the Council. During the following year, however, the dual position was found to be incompatible, and Mr. (afterwards Sir) Frederick Whitaker was appointed to the office. When in turn Mr. Whitaker became Attorney-General in 1856, he also retired, and Mr. T. H. Bartley was appointed Speaker. Thus Auckland supplied the first three Speakers of the Upper House.

            
If Aucklanders had excessive representation on the Council when members were appointed by the Governor before the days of responsible Ministries, the disproportion was still greater for some time thereafter, for in 1856 the number of Councillors had declined to thirteen, while, by the addition of Sir Samuel Osborne Gibbes in 1855, the Auckland members constituted a clear majority. Three of the other six Councillors were from Nelson, and one from Taranaki, Canterbury and Otago, respectively, and during the session the Otago member resigned. By the next session, in 1858, there being none in the previous year, the number was made up to nineteen, and Auckland's number was increaed to nine by the appointment of Chief-Justice Arney and Colonel Wynyard. The latter, however, resigned in 1860, reducing the Council to eighteen, of whom the remainder of the North Island contributed four and the South Island six. The next session saw three more Councillors added, two of whom—the Hon. Dr. Pollen and Henry Sewell—were Auckland men.

            
From this point Auckland's supremacy in the Legislative Council waned rapidly. By the session of 1863, when Mr. Domett's fateful motions regarding the removal of the seat of Government were passed in the Lower House, Auckland's power in the Upper House was but ten out of twenty-nine; for the addition during that year of the Hon. Henry Walton was balanced by the resignation of Sir S. O. Gibbes, and during next session Mr. Whitaker resigned. In 1865, the session following the actual removal of Government, the roll of Councillors consisted of thirty-five members, though Auckland's number had declined to nine through the resignation of the Hon. H. Sewell. By the next session the Chief-Justice and Messrs J. A. Gilfillan and H. Walton had resigned; but the appointment of the Hon. Ponsonby Peacocke made Auckland's number up to six—the smallest since the first session when the total membership was smaller by more than half. In 1868 a further reduction was made by the vacation by absence of the seats of Messrs W. Swainson and John Salmon. During that year the Hon. Major Richardson, of Otago, was appointed Speaker in succession to the Hon. T. H. Bartley.

            
While Auckland's numbers were being reduced the total was rapidly increasing. By 1869 the roll embraced forty-one members, but during this year the representatives of Auckland were doubled in number by the appointment of the Hon. Henry Chamberlin, F. D. Fenton, James O'Neill, and C. J. Taylor. In 1870 the Hon. James Williamson was added, making nine members for Auckland out of a total of forty-seven. The numbers for the other provinces were: Wellington, nine; Otago, nine; Canterbury,



five; Nelson, four; Hawke's Bay, four; Southland, three; Taranaki, one; and Westland, one. By 1871 the names of Dr. Pollen and Judge Fenton were omitted from the list; but the Hon. James Farmer was added. In the following session the number of Auckland members declined to six by the resignation of Mr. O'Neill, and the death of Mr. Ponsonby Peacocke; but the appointment of the Hon. Randall Johnston raised it to seven. The appointment in 1873 of the Hon. Mokena Kohere, and the re-appointment of the Hon. Dr. Pollen increased the number to nine. In the following session Mr. Bartley's seat was vacated by absence; but the Hon. Every McLean was appointed to the vacancy. During this year Mr. James Farmer resigned; and in 1876 Mr. Every McLean's seat was vacated by absence, which reduced Auckland's numbers to seven. Two years later Mr. C. J. Taylor's seat became similarly vacant, and Auckland's numbers declined to six; for though the Hon. Thomas Henderson was appointed in that year, the Hon. Randall Johnston removed to Wellington.

            
The roll of Councillors in 1879 embraced forty-nine members allocated provincially as follows: Auckland, by the addition of the Hon. P. Dignan, seven; Wellington, eleven; Canterbury, eight; Otago, eleven; Nelson, four; Hawke's Bay, four; Taranaki, one; Marlborough, one; and Westland, two. During this year Sir William Fitzherbert, of Wellington, was appointed Speaker, in place of Sir J. L. Cheese Richardson.

            
The re-appointment of Mr. Whitaker in 1880, and the death during the same year of Colonel Kenny, one of the earliest Councillors, after thirty-seven years' service, left the number unaltered. In the following year, however, the Hon. Henry Williams, who is still a member, was appointed. The year 1885 saw the largest Council which the colony has ever had, for at that time there were fifty-four members, the appointment of the Hon. G. B. Morris and W. Swanson, making a total of ten members for Auckland — the number that, in days of yore, the Northern Province had in a Council of twenty-one. The death of Mr. Thomas Henderson in 1886, the resignation of Mr. Kohere early in 1887, and the death of Messrs Chamberlin and James Williamson in 1888, made serious reductions in the number of Auckland's members though Mr. Kohere's seat was filled by the appointment of the Hon. Major Ropata Wahawaha.

            
With the exception of a short temporary absence, during which the Hon. G. M. Waterhouse acted as Speaker of the Council, Sir William Fitzherbert held the Speakership from the 14th of June, 1879, until the 23rd of January, 1891, when he died, and was succeeded by Sir Harry Atkinson. Sir Harry, however, had a lamentably short rule, for he died on the 28th of June, 1892, within a few minutes of his leaving the chair, on the adjournment of the Council as a mark of respect to the memory of Sir Frederick Whitaker and others who had passed away during the recess. The present Speaker, the Hon. H. J. Miller, was elected to the Speakership. He was the first and, so far, is the only Speaker elected to the position, all previous holders of the office having been appointed by the Governor-in-Council. The Act of 1891, which altered the constitution of the Council by fixing the term of subsequent appointees at seven years, conferred on the Council the privilege of electing its Speaker, and fixed the duration of the office at five years. At the end of his first term, Mr. Miller was re-elected.

            
The appointment to the Council, of the Hon. J. B. Whyte in 1891, and of the Hon. W. T. Jennings and William McCullough in 1892, gave Auckland a total of nine members. By the session of 1895, however, it had been reduced by the death of Mr. Peter Dignan, and still further in the following year by the death of Dr. Pollen. In 1897 Major Ropata died and Mr. J. B. Whyte's name disappeared from the list; but these losses were balanced by the appointment of the Hon. Benjamin Harris and William Kelly, who are still members of the Council. The Hon. W. McCullough vacated his seat by effluxion of time on the 15th of October, 1899, and was not re-appointed, but on the 21st of December following, the Hon. A. J. Cadman, formerly Minister of Railways, was called to a seat in the Council.

            
On the thirty-four persons who have been appointed to sit in the Legislative Council as representing the province of Auckland, twenty-seven appear on the list of late Councillors. They were all appointed for life, except Mr McCullough, yet only nine held the office for life, and two of the nine had resigned and been re-appointed. Three sat for fifteen years, one for sixteen, one for eighteen, one for seven, two for nineteen, one for twenty-three, one for twenty-seven, and one (Dr. Pollen), for thirty-three years, though not continuously.

            
Of Auckland's late Councillors, several had held high positions in the service of the state. Colonel Wynyard had, prior to his appointment to the Council, been Commander of the Forces, Lieutenant-Governor of New Ulster, Administrator of the Government (for nearly two trying years), and Superintendent of the Province of Auckland. Sir George Arney was, at the time of his Councillorship, Chief Justice, and the Hon. W. Swainson was, for nearly fifteen years, Attorney-General under appointment by the Crown, and was afterwards a member of the Grey Cabinet. The Hon. Henry Sewell, Dr. Pollen and Sir Frederick Whitaker each held the Premiership and many other important positions in various Ministries; and Mr. Thomas Henderson was a member of the Executive in the second Fox Ministry.
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The Hon. Colonel William Henry Kenny
              
              was called to the Legislative Council of New Zealand on the 26th of March, 1853. He came of a race of soldiers. His father,



Major W. Crowe Kenny, carried one of the colours of the 73rd Regiment at the storming of Seringapatam, and his grandfather, Lieut.-Colonel Kenny, of the 11th Regiment, was mortally wounded while leading the storming party at the siege of Gawlighur, where Sir Arthur Wellesley was in command. He himself, when only sixteen years of age, entered the 73rd Regiment in 1828, and served in Canada during the rebellion. In 1847 he brought the first detachment of New Zealand Fencibles to the colony, and, having succeeded to the command of that force in 1849, he was instrumental, two years later, in averting the threatened invasion of Auckland by the Ngatipoua. For his action on that occasion he received the thanks of Governor Sir George Grey and of the commander of the forces, Colonel Wynyard. During the native troubles of 1860–61 he was in command of the garrison of Auckland, and also occupied the same position for some time in 1863, during which year he sold out his regimental position and became Quartermaster-General to the colonial forces under Major-General Galloway. He was afterwards Colonel of the New Zealand Militia, and Inspector of Volunteers for the North Island. Colonel Kenny was one of those who were summoned by His Excellency the Governor in Her Majesty's name to the first General Assembly of New Zealand in pursuance of the Constitution Act, and when he died at Ponsonby, Auckland, on the 17th of August, 1880, he was the oldest member of the Legislative Council.
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The Hon. John Salmon
              
              was one of those who, in 1853, were summoned by the Governor in Her Majesty's name to the first General Assembly of New Zealand. He was therefore one of the first members of the Legislative Council, in which he vacated his seat, through absence, in 1868. Mr. Salmon was born in Aberdeen, Scotland, in the year 1808. At the early age of fourteen he was apprenticed to the sea, and served under Captain Talbot, who traded to the East Indies for several years. About 1840 Captain Salmon arrived in Auckland. When a brother, who was in business at the Bay of Islands, died, he succeeded to the business, which he transferred to Auckland, where he pursued the calling of a general merchant for about twenty years, when he retired to Ellerslie. Mr. Salmon was one of the trustees of the Auckland Savings Bank and of the Orphan Home, Parnell. One of his daughters is Mrs W. M. Hall, of Mangere.
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The Hon. William Swainson
              
             
 was Attorney-General of New Zealand from the 10th of August, 1841, to the 7th of May, 1856. His name stands first on the list of those who were summoned to the Legislative Council in 1853, and in 1868 he ceased, through absence, to be a member of the Council. As Attorney-General he was, ex officio, a member of the Executive Council from the date of his appointment until the establishment of responsible government on the 7th of May 1856. He wa a native of Lancaster, became a member of the Inner Temple, and was appointed Attorney-General of New Zealand by Lord John Russell early in the year 1841. Mr. Swainson left England on the 9th of April in that year in the barque “Tyne,” with his friends, the newly-appointed Chief Justice Martin, and Mr. Outhwaite, the first Registrar of the Supreme Court. The “Tyne” reached Wellington on the 9th of August, and after a month's detention there she sailed for Auckland. She was nineteen days between the ports, and Mr. Swainson finally landed at Auckland on the 25th of September, 1841. At that time the infant capital of the infant colony was in a most primitive condition with its one public building, a long, low, native-built hut, which served as a post office police court, and church, all rolled into one. On the voyage out Mr. Swainson was engaged with the Chief Justice in framing measures for establishing Courts of Judicature for the administration of justice, for providing a system of oral pleading, for the transfer of real property, for the establishment of municipalities, for simplifying the form and language of indictments in criminal proceedings, and for the regulation of marriage, etc. In the early days the office of Attorney-General was more onerous and important than it was in the later times of responsible Government, as its holder had not only to devise and frame every Government measure but to take charge of them through the Council. When the new constitution was brought into operation Mr. Swainson was senior member and first Speaker of the Legislative Council, and in the stormy first session of the General Assembly, in 1854, he was brought into close contact with Edward Gibbon Wakefield, under conditions which are graphically set forth in “New Zealand and its Colonisation.” On the establishment of responsible Government Mr. Swainson ceased to be Attorney-General, but continued to be a member of the Legislative Council and now and then acted as an honorary member of the Executive Council. Mr. Swainson took an active part in laying the foundation of the English Church in New Zealand. He was a member of the Conference held in June, 1857, for devising its constitution; also a member of the first General Synod, and framed the fundamental measures introduced at its first session, held in Wellington, in March and April, 1859, and conducted them through the Synod. 
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He was afterwards for several years a member of the Synod of the diocese of Auckland. Throughout the episcopate of Bishop Selwyn in New Zealand he was that prelate's legal coadjutor in organising the members of the Church of England into a branch of the mother church, and in devising the measures necessary for its institution and government. Mr. Swainson loved travelling in the bush, and traversed the length and breadth of the North Island on foot, with a tent and three Maoris. He mixed much with the natives, and was from the first regarded by them as a friend of the race. Before leaving England, Mr. Swainson published a pamphlet on the climate of New Zealand, and many years afterwards Smith, Elder and Co. published a small book written by him on “Auckland, the Capital of New Zealand and the Country Adjacent.” In 1855 he went to England on leave, and spent a good deal of time in travelling about the country giving lectures on New Zealand in London, at Richmond, Bristol, Plymouth, Hereford, Lancaster, etc. These lectures were published in 1856 by Smith, Elder and Co. In 1859, Mr. Swainson published a larger work, “New Zealand and its Colonisation.” “New Zealand and the War,” published in 1862, was his latest literary work, and its object was to enforce the impolicy of engaging in a costly and protracted war to gain possession of land at the Waitara. Mr Swainson was a man of great culture and affability, and at his home at “Taurarua,” near Auckland, he lived a life of extreme simplicity. For thirty years his next door neighbour was his friend, Sir William Martin, and he himself resided in a small house which he had brought with him from England. He called his unique little



abode his “cottage by the sea,” and there his friends in the Colony or visitors from abroad were ever sure of a cordial welcome and refined hospitality. Mr. Swainson died on the 1st of December, 1884.
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Sir Frederick Whitaker,
              who is mentioned amongst the Superintendents of Auckland, and also in the Wellington volume, as an ex-Premier of the Colony, was a member of the Legislative Council at its inception, and a year later was its Speaker. In 1864, Mr. Whitaker resigned his seat in the Council, but he was re-appointed in 1879, and continued his membership till his death on the 4th of December, 1892. He was knighted in 1884.
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The Hon. Thomas Haughton Bartley,
              who was an original member of the Legislative Council, was a well-known barrister and solicitor. In less than two years he became Speaker of the Council, and held the position for twelve years. He was chosen as an Executive Councillor, and sat in the Executive without portfolio for a short time after the first Parliament met, and before the days of responsible government. He was also Speaker of the Auckland Provincial Council During his stay in Auckland he did much to encourage the development of horticulture, and long afterwards, when his house and grounds at Northcote were purchased by Mr W. G. Jackson, some fine specimens of rare trees and shrubs were found, notwithstanding all the intervening years. In 1873 Mr. Bartley's seat was vacated by absence, he having returned to the Old World.
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The Hon. John Anderson Gilfillan
              
              was nominated to the Legislative Council in 1854, and resigned in 1861. He was re-called in 1862, and resigned finally in 1866 Mr. Gilfillan was born at Torry, in the parish of Torryburn, Fifeshire, Scotland, on the 19th of September, 1821. His education was completed at the Grammar School of Cullen, Banffshire, and in November, 1837, he left home for Liverpool, there to enter the office of Messrs Briggs, Thorburn, Acraman and Co., merchants, of London, Liverpool, and Calcutta. At the end of a year he was promoted to the London office, and in 1842 he spent his first holiday in Scotland. On returning to London, certain changes in the firm resulted in a greater degree of responsibility and hard work being laid on him, and in 1845 his health broke down; in fact, symptoms of lung disease becoming apparent, he had to give up his position and seek renewed health in Scotland. The summer of 1845 was spent at Banchory on Deeside, and the winter of 1846, at Ventnor, Isle of Wight. No good result following, he was advised by Sir James Clark, physician to the Queen, to try the climate of either Egypt or New Zealand as a last chance of recovering his health. Choosing the latter, he sailed for Wellington, New Zealand, in the barque “Victoria,” Captain Williamson, at the close of 1846. On the vessel arriving in Cook Strait, she was nearly driven ashore by a sudden storm of wind and rain. No entrance to the harbour could be seen, and all were in great alarm, when suddenly, through the gloom, an American whaler dashed past them with the signal, “Follow me” at her masthead, and in a short time they were out of danger. After a short stay in Wellington, Mr. Gilfillan found that, in order to complete business arrangements, his return to London was needful, before finally settling in Auckland, and he was so fortunate as to get a passage home in H.M.S. “Racehorse,” Captain Sotheby. His younger brother, Mr. Robert Gilfillan, had, in the meantime, sailed from London for Auckland in the “Richard Dart,” and in November, 1848, Mr. Gilfillan followed him from London in the barque “Lalla Rookh,” which arrived in Auckland on the 17th of April, 1849. There-upon he and his brother began business as merchants and commission agents. Mr. Gilfillan was appointed a Justice of the Peace for the Colony in 1852. The New Zealand Constitution Act was passed by the British Parliament on the 13th of September, 1852, during the Governorship of Sir George Grey, and under that statute Parliamentary Government came into force in the Colony. It was, however, during the subsequent Acting-Governorship of Colonel Wynyard that the first Legislative Council was constituted, and Mr. Gilfillan was one of six Auckland members called by Colonel Wynyard to the Council. He took his seat at the first meeting of Parliament on the 27th of May, 1854. He was also elected one of the first members of the Auckland Provincial Council under the Super-intendency of Colonel R. H. Wynward. In 1858 Mr. Gilfillan was appointed representative in Auckland of Messrs Colman, steamship owners, of Hull, and it was that firm which—after the loss of Auckland's steamship “William Denny,” in 1857—established steam communication between Sydney and New Zealand with its steamships “Lord Ashley,” “Lord Worsley,” “Airedale,” “Claud Hamilton,” and “Prince Alfred.” As Auckland increased in population and importance, a Chamber of Commerce was established, and Mr. Gilfillan was elected its first president, and for many years he continued to take an active part in the political and commercial interests of the province and city. He was a church-warden of St. Paul's Anglican Church for many years under the ministrations of the Rev. J. Churton and the Rev. J. F. Lloyd. The weakness of chest, with which Mr. Gilfillan had been so long afflicted, and which he endured with great fortitude, at length took the form of chronic bronchitis, and, after many months of suffering, he was taken away on the 1st of February, 1875, in the fifty-fourth year of his age. In June, 1852, Mr. Gilfillan married Gertrude Davies, daughter of William Davies, M.D., Provincial Surgeon, and Mrs Gilfillan survived her husband for ten years. The family consisted of five sons and three daughters.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Sir George Arney



            
            


              

Sir George Arney,
              who is referred to on page 36 of the Wellington volume, was appointed to the Legislative Council in 1858, and though he also held the Chief Justiceship, he continued to be a Councillor until the session of 1866. He was knighted in 1862, and died in England on the 7th of April, 1883.
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Colonel R. H. Wynyard,
              who was appointed to the Legislative Council in 1858, retired from the position two years later. He is elsewhere referred to as the first Superintendent of Auckland.
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The Hon. Dr. Pollen,
              who was for thirty-three years in the Legislative Council, is referred to in the Wellington volume as an ex-Premier.
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The Hon. Henry Sewell
              
              was called to the Legislative Council in 1861, and resigned in 1865. He is referred to in an article on page 57 of the Wellington volume of this work.
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The Hon. Francis Dart Fenton
              
              was summoned to the Legislative Council in 1869, but ceased to be a member in 1871. He is referred to in another article as having been Chief Judge of the Native Land Court.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Hon. James O'Neill



            


            
            


              

                
The Hon. James O'Neill
              
              was prominently identified with the early history of Auckland. He was born in Manor Hamilton, County Leitrim, Ireland, in 1819, and came to New Zealand when a youth. He was a member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and also a member of the first Parliament of New Zealand. Mr. O'Neill was called to the Upper House in 1869, and resigned in 1872. He was a Justice of the Peace, and assisted in the foundation of some of the leading institutions of Auckland. Mr. O'Neill is referred to in another article as having been a member of the House of Representatives.
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The Hon. Charles John Taylor
              
              was the second son of General Taylor, H.E.I.S. Mr. Taylor was for a while in India, where he held a judgeship. On coming to New Zealand he bought land and settled in the Auckland district. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1869, but resigned his seat in 1878, when he and his family went to reside in England.
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The Hon. James Williamson
              
             
 was one of the best known citizens of Auckland, and one of the oldest colonists of New Zealand. He was born at Belfast, Ireland, in 1814, and was the son of a merchant and shipowner of that city. Being of an adventurous disposition when a boy, he went to sea, and was several times shipwrecked. In 1840 he sailed from Sydney to the Bay of Islands as chief mate of a vessel. He then
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left the sea and went on to Auckland, where he was present at the first Government land sale, and bought an allotment in Shortland Street, on which he erected a store. About 1876 or 1878 Mr. Williamson bought the Pa estate at Onehunga, where he resided up to the time of his death. Mr. Williamson was one of the original founders of the Bank of New Zealand and the New Zealand Insurance Company, and was a leading director in both of these institutions for many years; at the time of his death he was president of the Bank of New Zealand. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1870, and died on the 22nd of March, 1888. Mr. Williamson left a widow, three sons and three daughters.
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The Hon. James Farmer,
             
 called to the Legislative Council in 1871, resigned his seat in 1874. He was a native of Fifeshire. Scotland, and arrived in Auckland on the 1st


[image: Hon. J. Farmer.]
Hon. 
J. Farmer.


of April, 1847, by the ship “Louisa Campbell.” For many years he was manager of the One Tree Hill estate, near Onehunga, for the firm of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co., but, being a large shareholder in the celebrated Caledonian mine at the Thames, he made a fortune and returned to Fifeshire. There he bought a small property near St. Andrews, and lived in retirement there and in London.
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The Hon. Mokena Kohere
              
              was called to the Legislative Council in 1872 and resigned his seat in 1887.
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The Hon. Thomas Henderson
              
              was intimately associated with the Province of Auckland for over forty years, and was senior partner in the well-known firm of Henderson and Macfarlane. He was born in Dundee, Scotland, in 1810, and served his time as an engineer and machine maker. When he arrived in Auckland with his wife, in 1840, not a single house was erected. He built the Commercial Hotel at a cost of £2000, and it was at the time the most pretentious building in Auckland. During Heke's war Mr. Henderson did the colony good service by employing about 300 men in gumdigging and keeping them from joining Heke. The firm of Henderson and Macfarlane owned the Circular Saw line of vessels, which successfully traded to Australia, China and America. Mr. Henderson assisted in establishing the Bank of New Zealand, the Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, the New Zealand Insurance Company and the Auckland Gas Company. He was a member of the Provincial Council for some time, and represented the Northern Division in the General Assembly from 1856 to 1870, and the electoral district of Waitemata from 1871 to 1873. In the Fox Ministry of 1861–62 he was a member of the Executive Council without portfolio. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1878, at the instance of Sir George Grey, and as an old colonist who had served his country he well deserved the honour. Mr. Henderson died at the residence of Mr. George Graham, in Wellington, on Sunday, the 27th of June, 1886.
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The Hon. Patrick Dignan
              
             
 was known in Auckland as one of the oldest and earliest settlers. He was born in County Galway, Ireland, in 1814, and on attaining manhood emigrated to New South Wales in 1839. In June, 1841, he came to New Zealand in the brig “Sophia Pate,” and his name was associated with the political history of the Auckland province for over forty years. Mr. Dignan was elected a member of the first Auckland Provincial Council, and represented the Northern Division. He was a member of the Provincial Executive during the superintendency of Mr. Whitaker, also in the last years of Mr. John Williamson's superintendency, and during that of Sir George Grey, till the abolition of the provinces. He took an active part in inducing Sir George Grey to re-enter political life, and in 1879 the Grey


[image: Hon. P. Dignan.]
Hon. 
P. Dignan.


Ministry called him to the Upper House in recognition of his political services to the provinco. Mr. Dignan was a member of the first Harbour Board Commissioners. He was also one of the largest original shareholders of the Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Dignan was a director of the Auckland Gas Company at the time of his death, and interested himself in the progress of other local institutions;



besides filling other offices, he was a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank. Mr. Dignan died somewhat suddenly on board the s.s. “Takapuna,” while on his way back to Auckland from Parliament on the 20th of October, 1894, at the advanced age of eighty years. He left a widow and a family of ten sons.
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The Hon. 

William Mccullough 
 is an Irishman by birth and ancestry, and left Limerick, Ireland, with his parents in 1859 on the ship “Tornado,” their destination being the fair young Colony of New Zealand. Arrived at Auckland, Mr. McCullough for some time assisted his father on his farm at Mangapai, acting at the same time as a special correspondent to the “Auckland Weekly News.” In 1864 he went to the goldfields on the West Coast of the South Island, working as a miner at the Greenstone, Red Jack's Gully, and other districts of the Grey. On the opening of the Thames as a goldfield, Mr. McCullough returned to Auckland, and “tried his luck” on the new field, being engaged as a miner and mine manager for several years, and subsequently joining the “Times” as mining reporter. A few years later he became proprietor of the “Thames Star,” which he has conducted for nearly thirty years. Mr. McCullough
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has filled many official positions at the Thames, including mayor (for the year 1878–79), president of the Hospital Board, chairman of the Harbour Board, and chairman of the Board of Governors of the High School. Some years ago Mr. McCullough purchased the printing business of the late Mr. Wm. Arthur, in Auckland, of which he is still proprietor. In 1896 he attended the Burns Centenary Celebration at Duntroon, Scotland, as a delegate from the Auckland Burns Club. As a Freemason, Mr. McCullough holds the important office of right worthy provincial grand master of the North Island, Scotch Constitution, in which position he succeeded the late Sir Frederick Whitaker. He was called to the Legislative Council by the Ballance Administration on the 15th of October, 1892. His nomination was received with general satisfaction, his long experience in mining matters peculiarly qualifying him to sit as the representative of a goldfields district. Mr. McCullough's term of office as a Legislative Councillor expired by effluxion of time on the 15th of October, 1899, and he was not re-appointed.
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Auckland City and Suburban

 
Members 
of the 
House
 of 
Representatives.

          

            
Auckland City is an amalgamated electorate, sending three representatives to Parliament; and this representation is supplemented by two suburban members for Parnell and Eden. The rolls for 1896 contained the names of 20,204 electors, about two-thirds of whom voted at the General Election, the women voting more strongly than the men. Parnell enjoyed the distinction of being one of the only three electorates having a clear majority of women on the roll; the other electorates so situated were Dunedin City and the Avon. The proportion was about the same in Parnell as in Dunedin—fifteen women to fourteen men—but the Avon district was only as twenty-one to twenty, and more men voted than women. Though the excess of women among those who actually voted was higher in Dunedin than in Parnell, the women of Parnell polled a clear majority of seventy votes above those cast by the men of the constituency. There were 2655 men on the roll as against 2866 women, and the voters numbered respectively 1838 and 1908. In the Eden district the total on the rolls was 5203, there being 335 more men than women. Rather more than two-thirds voted, but the women were only 155 behind the men.

            
As representation in the House, however, is based on the population, the boundaries of the electoral districts are changed from time to time and also the number of electorates in each of the islands. For these purposes, two permanent Commissions exist. These Commissions sit together to determine what proportion of the seventy members shall be elected by each island; but that question settled, the Commissions for each island act independently. Every hundred persons living in country districts count, for representation purposes, as equal to 128 living in towns having a population of 2000 and upwards. The Commissioners are bound down, in this matter of population, within very narrow limits of discretion. Of the four amalgamated electorates the City of Dunedin has the smallest population, 35,496; but the figures for Wellington, Christchurch and Auckland are particularly close, being respectively 36,020, 36,032, and 36,039. Of the single electorates the least populous (Otaki) contains 8650 persons, and the most populous (Caversham) contains 11,511, the average being about 10,000. This close numerical division of the colony is rapidly equalising the representation of the two islands. Whereas so recently as 1893 the South Island had thirty-nine members to thirty-one for the North, the Commissioners in 1896 changed the numbers to thirty-six and thirty-four respectively; and there is good reason for expecting that the North will soon be in the majority. Though this method is probably far from the best way of securing a fair representation of this variously-conditioned colony, there is no doubt that justice to all was the object aimed at by the Amendment Act of 1896.

            
Members of the House of Representatives are paid monthly at the rate of £240 per annum; but the sum of £2 is deducted for every sitting day exceeding five on which a member is absent, unless such absence is due to sickness or other unavoidable cause. Travelling expenses to and from the seat of Government are allowed.

            
Qualification for membership mainly consists in being a registered male elector, but not a civil servant of the colony, or a contractor with the Government to a greater extent than £50 in any one year.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. W. J. Napier,
              the Senior Member for Auckland City, is a barrister and solicitor by profession, and has appeared in many celebrated cases in the north. He is of Irish birth and arrived in Auckland thirty-five years ago, when he was only five years of age. At first he attended St. Peter's Catholic school in Hobson Street, and subsequently the Auckland Grammar school, and he became a matriculated student of St. John's college during the mastership of the late Rev. R. Kidd, LL.D. Mr. Napier early began to take an interest in public affairs, and he became a disciple of Sir George Grey, who appointed him his solicitor. Mr. Napier is a fluent and forcible platform speaker. He has for many years been prominently connected with almost every society in Auckland, and (1900) about two years ago he organised a corps of garrison artillery volunteers, of which he is captain. Mr. Napier is president of the Auckland branch of the Navy League and a Fellow of the Royal Colonial Institute. He is one of the Government members of the Auckland Harbour Board, and was elected chairman of the Board twice in succession. During his chairmanship, Mr. Napier did much to extend the wharf accommodation and otherwise improve the harbour, and caused an imposing Admiralty House to be erected. At the general election on the 6th of December, 1899, Mr. Napier was returned at the head of the poll for Auckland City, which elects three members. There were eleven candidates, and Mr. Napier polled 6070 votes; the other successful candidates polled respectively 5604 and 4734 votes. Mr. Napier has acted as law adviser to two successive kings of Samoa—namely Malietoa, the elder, and Mataafa, and has also for many years been solicitor to the Government of Tonga.
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Mr. George Fowlds
              
              was elected on the 6th of December, 1899, as one of Auckland's three representatives in Parliament. He polled 5604 votes, and was second on the poll, being 840 votes ahead of the next successful candidate. Soon after his arrival in the colony, in 1885, Mr. Fowlds began to identify himself with local affairs and with general politics, and he became known as an earnest single taxer. For a number of years he was a member of the Mount Albert Road Board, and chairman of the Point Chevalier school committee, and a vice-president of the Burns Club; and he has also been secretary, treasurer and chairman of the Congregational Union of New Zealand. Mr Fowlds is a Liberal in politics and is in favour of the referendam and an elective Executive, and he supports the colony's present system of free, secular, and compulsory education.
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Mr. J. H. Witheford,
              one of the three members for Auckland City, was elected on the 27th of April, 1900, at the by-election, caused by the death of Mr. W. Crowther. There were five candidates, two of whom had previously been in Parliament, but Mr. Witheford headed the poll with 4927 votes, the next on the list having 2823. Mr. Witheford has for many years been a prominant man in Auckland, where he was for some time in business as a sharebroker. Only a year or two ago he returned from a prolonged residence in London, where he did much to promote the interest of New Zealand, and was especially successful in obtaining concessions from the Admirality for the Calliope Dock in Auckland. Prior to going to London, Mr. Witheford was a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, to which, after his return, he was again elected by the Borough Council of Birkenhead, and was elected the Board's chairman in 1900. Mr. Witheford is a strong supporter of the San Francisco main service, with Auckland for its point of arrival and departure in New Zealand and makes his support of the Liberal party in politics dependent upon what he considers “justice to Auckland.”

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Frank Lawry,
              Member of the House of Representatives for Parnell, was born in 1844 at Bleadon, Somersetshire, England, where his father, the late Mr. Wm. Lawry, was a farmer and erstwhile Methodist minister. The subject of this notice was educated at the British School at Weston-super-Mare, and was engaged on his father's farm until 1863, when he left for this colony per ship “Ulcoates.” Turning his attention to the calling for which he had been trained, Mr. Lawry found employment for a short time in the service of the late Mr. J. Dilworth. He was then for about a year in the employ of the late Mr. Thomas Macky, and early in 1865 started a dairy farm at Epsom, which was soon discontinued in favour of a much larger venture at Surrey Hills. In 1868 Mr. Lawry started business on a large scale as a commission agent in live stock, frequently passing through his hands no fewer than a thousand head of cattle in a week. His special knowledge of agricultural and pastoral pursuits has often been placed at the service of the public. For a number of years he was a member of the North Auckland Cattle Board, was for a time vice-president of the Auckland Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and has ever been a prolific contributor to the press on these and kindred topics. For thirteen consecutive years Mr. Lawry was chairman of the Epsom Road Board, and for two years was a member of the Auckland Board of Education, to which he was elected unopposed; pressure of business, however, necessitated his retirement. In colonial politics, Mr. Lawry has been both active and successful. His first attempt to secure parliamentary honours was made in 1881, when he contested the South Franklin seat, his opponent, Majo Hamlin, being returned by a majority of some forty votes. Three years later he sought to oust Sir Maurice O'Rorke for Manukau, but here he suffered a defeat by 127 votes. In 1887 Mr. Lawry stood for the North Franklin seat in opposition to Mr. W. F. Buckland, and on this, “the third time of asking,” was returned at the head of the poll by a majority of some fifty votes, as an Independent Liberal. Maintaining his position of independence throughout the tenth Parliament, he was elected to the eleventh for the constituency of Parnell, defeating Mr. J. M. Lennox by 209 votes. On the assembling of this Parliament Mr. Lawry decided to support the Ballance Administration, and his constituents showed their approval of this action by re-electing him in 1893 by a majority of 336 over Mr. William Shepherd Allen, an ex-member of the House of Commons. In 1896 he had two opponents—Mr. Samuel Vaile, whom he defeated by 478 votes, and Mr. A. Withy, who scored third place. In 1891 Mr. Lawry was chosen senior Government Whip, and held that office till 1894, when, owing to some conflict with the Prohibition members of the party, he resigned. During the whole of Mr. Lawry's parliamentary life he has been a member of the Agricultural and Pastoral Committee, and for sessions 1891 and 1892 was chairman, never absenting himself from the meetings of this important committee. He has been a member also of the Printing and Debates Committee, of the Railways Committee, and of the committee to consider the claims of old soldiers. During his parliamentary career Mr. Lawry has succeeded in passing a large number of local bills on to the Statute Books: he has three times by large majorities passed through all the stages of the Lower House a bill to legalize marriage with a deceased husband's brother, and thrice he has endeavoured, unsuccessfully, to secure the passage of a bill to legalize “sweeps” in New Zealand. As is well known, Mr. Lawry is one of the strongest opponents of Prohibition in Parliament. As a Mason and an old member of the New Zealand Grand Lodge, Mr. Lawry is a strong supporter of autonomy for New Zealand, and was selected to move a resolution in favour of that step at one of the largest meetings ever held in connection with Freemasonry in the North Island. At present he is attached to Lodge Manukau, of which he is a past master, and has also filled the principal chairs of Lodge Papawera and Lodge Wairoa. Mr. Lawry is president of the Auckland Trotting Club, and vice-president of the Parnell Football and Cricket Clubs. In 1870 he was married to Miss S. Davies, daughter of the late Mr. Benjamin Davies, who was one of Auckland's earliest settlers, and for many years the popular proprietor of the Albert Hotel, Epsom. Mr. and Mrs. Lawry have but one child, a daughter. Mr. Lawry was re-elected for Parnell at the general election of 1899, by a majority of 848.
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Mr. John Bollard,
              member of the House of Representatives for the district of Eden, was born in 1839 in County Wicklow, Ireland, where his father was a large farmer. Mr. Bollard was brought up on the farm and



received his education at a Church of England school, also special training in the science and practice of agricultural and pastoral farming. He came to New Zealand in 1860. He soon after went to the Australian goldfields, but returned to Auckland after a short stay. During the Maori War he superintended a large shipment of horses from New South Wales, for the Armstrong Artillery, serving in the Waikato district, and was afterwards for some time in the Auckland Militia; he eventually settled down at Avondale near Auckland, where he has resided ever since. Mr. Bollard has taken an active part in public affairs for the last thirty years. He has been chairman of the Avondale road board for the last twenty-seven years, and chairman of the school committee for twenty-five years. He is also a justice of the peace, and acts as Coroner for the district extending from Mt. Albert to the west coast. He has been chairman of the Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and member of the Eden licensing committee. He takes a great interest in agricultural matters and has acted as a judge at shows for many years. At the general election in 1896, Mr. Bollard defeated Mr. Jackson Palmer, and thus entered upon his career as a representative of the people in parliament. At the general election of 1899 there was almost a tie between Mr. Bollard and Mr. Malcolm Nicol, but Mr. Bollard won by a small majority.
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Auckland City is an amalgamated electorate, sending three representatives to Parliament; and this representation is supplemented by two suburban members for Parnell and Eden. The rolls for 1896 contained the names of 20,204 electors, about two-thirds of whom voted at the General Election, the women voting more strongly than the men. Parnell enjoyed the distinction of being one of the only three electorates having a clear majority of women on the roll; the other electorates so situated were Dunedin City and the Avon. The proportion was about the same in Parnell as in Dunedin—fifteen women to fourteen men—but the Avon district was only as twenty-one to twenty, and more men voted than women. Though the excess of women among those who actually voted was higher in Dunedin than in Parnell, the women of Parnell polled a clear majority of seventy votes above those cast by the men of the constituency. There were 2655 men on the roll as against 2866 women, and the voters numbered respectively 1838 and 1908. In the Eden district the total on the rolls was 5203, there being 335 more men than women. Rather more than two-thirds voted, but the women were only 155 behind the men.

            
As representation in the House, however, is based on the population, the boundaries of the electoral districts are changed from time to time and also the number of electorates in each of the islands. For these purposes, two permanent Commissions exist. These Commissions sit together to determine what proportion of the seventy members shall be elected by each island; but that question settled, the Commissions for each island act independently. Every hundred persons living in country districts count, for representation purposes, as equal to 128 living in towns having a population of 2000 and upwards. The Commissioners are bound down, in this matter of population, within very narrow limits of discretion. Of the four amalgamated electorates the City of Dunedin has the smallest population, 35,496; but the figures for Wellington, Christchurch and Auckland are particularly close, being respectively 36,020, 36,032, and 36,039. Of the single electorates the least populous (Otaki) contains 8650 persons, and the most populous (Caversham) contains 11,511, the average being about 10,000. This close numerical division of the colony is rapidly equalising the representation of the two islands. Whereas so recently as 1893 the South Island had thirty-nine members to thirty-one for the North, the Commissioners in 1896 changed the numbers to thirty-six and thirty-four respectively; and there is good reason for expecting that the North will soon be in the majority. Though this method is probably far from the best way of securing a fair representation of this variously-conditioned colony, there is no doubt that justice to all was the object aimed at by the Amendment Act of 1896.

            
Members of the House of Representatives are paid monthly at the rate of £240 per annum; but the sum of £2 is deducted for every sitting day exceeding five on which a member is absent, unless such absence is due to sickness or other unavoidable cause. Travelling expenses to and from the seat of Government are allowed.

            
Qualification for membership mainly consists in being a registered male elector, but not a civil servant of the colony, or a contractor with the Government to a greater extent than £50 in any one year.
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Mr. W. J. Napier,
              the Senior Member for Auckland City, is a barrister and solicitor by profession, and has appeared in many celebrated cases in the north. He is of Irish birth and arrived in Auckland thirty-five years ago, when he was only five years of age. At first he attended St. Peter's Catholic school in Hobson Street, and subsequently the Auckland Grammar school, and he became a matriculated student of St. John's college during the mastership of the late Rev. R. Kidd, LL.D. Mr. Napier early began to take an interest in public affairs, and he became a disciple of Sir George Grey, who appointed him his solicitor. Mr. Napier is a fluent and forcible platform speaker. He has for many years been prominently connected with almost every society in Auckland, and (1900) about two years ago he organised a corps of garrison artillery volunteers, of which he is captain. Mr. Napier is president of the Auckland branch of the Navy League and a Fellow of the Royal Colonial Institute. He is one of the Government members of the Auckland Harbour Board, and was elected chairman of the Board twice in succession. During his chairmanship, Mr. Napier did much to extend the wharf accommodation and otherwise improve the harbour, and caused an imposing Admiralty House to be erected. At the general election on the 6th of December, 1899, Mr. Napier was returned at the head of the poll for Auckland City, which elects three members. There were eleven candidates, and Mr. Napier polled 6070 votes; the other successful candidates polled respectively 5604 and 4734 votes. Mr. Napier has acted as law adviser to two successive kings of Samoa—namely Malietoa, the elder, and Mataafa, and has also for many years been solicitor to the Government of Tonga.
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Mr. George Fowlds
              
              was elected on the 6th of December, 1899, as one of Auckland's three representatives in Parliament. He polled 5604 votes, and was second on the poll, being 840 votes ahead of the next successful candidate. Soon after his arrival in the colony, in 1885, Mr. Fowlds began to identify himself with local affairs and with general politics, and he became known as an earnest single taxer. For a number of years he was a member of the Mount Albert Road Board, and chairman of the Point Chevalier school committee, and a vice-president of the Burns Club; and he has also been secretary, treasurer and chairman of the Congregational Union of New Zealand. Mr Fowlds is a Liberal in politics and is in favour of the referendam and an elective Executive, and he supports the colony's present system of free, secular, and compulsory education.
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Mr. J. H. Witheford,
              one of the three members for Auckland City, was elected on the 27th of April, 1900, at the by-election, caused by the death of Mr. W. Crowther. There were five candidates, two of whom had previously been in Parliament, but Mr. Witheford headed the poll with 4927 votes, the next on the list having 2823. Mr. Witheford has for many years been a prominant man in Auckland, where he was for some time in business as a sharebroker. Only a year or two ago he returned from a prolonged residence in London, where he did much to promote the interest of New Zealand, and was especially successful in obtaining concessions from the Admirality for the Calliope Dock in Auckland. Prior to going to London, Mr. Witheford was a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, to which, after his return, he was again elected by the Borough Council of Birkenhead, and was elected the Board's chairman in 1900. Mr. Witheford is a strong supporter of the San Francisco main service, with Auckland for its point of arrival and departure in New Zealand and makes his support of the Liberal party in politics dependent upon what he considers “justice to Auckland.”
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Mr. Frank Lawry,
              Member of the House of Representatives for Parnell, was born in 1844 at Bleadon, Somersetshire, England, where his father, the late Mr. Wm. Lawry, was a farmer and erstwhile Methodist minister. The subject of this notice was educated at the British School at Weston-super-Mare, and was engaged on his father's farm until 1863, when he left for this colony per ship “Ulcoates.” Turning his attention to the calling for which he had been trained, Mr. Lawry found employment for a short time in the service of the late Mr. J. Dilworth. He was then for about a year in the employ of the late Mr. Thomas Macky, and early in 1865 started a dairy farm at Epsom, which was soon discontinued in favour of a much larger venture at Surrey Hills. In 1868 Mr. Lawry started business on a large scale as a commission agent in live stock, frequently passing through his hands no fewer than a thousand head of cattle in a week. His special knowledge of agricultural and pastoral pursuits has often been placed at the service of the public. For a number of years he was a member of the North Auckland Cattle Board, was for a time vice-president of the Auckland Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and has ever been a prolific contributor to the press on these and kindred topics. For thirteen consecutive years Mr. Lawry was chairman of the Epsom Road Board, and for two years was a member of the Auckland Board of Education, to which he was elected unopposed; pressure of business, however, necessitated his retirement. In colonial politics, Mr. Lawry has been both active and successful. His first attempt to secure parliamentary honours was made in 1881, when he contested the South Franklin seat, his opponent, Majo Hamlin, being returned by a majority of some forty votes. Three years later he sought to oust Sir Maurice O'Rorke for Manukau, but here he suffered a defeat by 127 votes. In 1887 Mr. Lawry stood for the North Franklin seat in opposition to Mr. W. F. Buckland, and on this, “the third time of asking,” was returned at the head of the poll by a majority of some fifty votes, as an Independent Liberal. Maintaining his position of independence throughout the tenth Parliament, he was elected to the eleventh for the constituency of Parnell, defeating Mr. J. M. Lennox by 209 votes. On the assembling of this Parliament Mr. Lawry decided to support the Ballance Administration, and his constituents showed their approval of this action by re-electing him in 1893 by a majority of 336 over Mr. William Shepherd Allen, an ex-member of the House of Commons. In 1896 he had two opponents—Mr. Samuel Vaile, whom he defeated by 478 votes, and Mr. A. Withy, who scored third place. In 1891 Mr. Lawry was chosen senior Government Whip, and held that office till 1894, when, owing to some conflict with the Prohibition members of the party, he resigned. During the whole of Mr. Lawry's parliamentary life he has been a member of the Agricultural and Pastoral Committee, and for sessions 1891 and 1892 was chairman, never absenting himself from the meetings of this important committee. He has been a member also of the Printing and Debates Committee, of the Railways Committee, and of the committee to consider the claims of old soldiers. During his parliamentary career Mr. Lawry has succeeded in passing a large number of local bills on to the Statute Books: he has three times by large majorities passed through all the stages of the Lower House a bill to legalize marriage with a deceased husband's brother, and thrice he has endeavoured, unsuccessfully, to secure the passage of a bill to legalize “sweeps” in New Zealand. As is well known, Mr. Lawry is one of the strongest opponents of Prohibition in Parliament. As a Mason and an old member of the New Zealand Grand Lodge, Mr. Lawry is a strong supporter of autonomy for New Zealand, and was selected to move a resolution in favour of that step at one of the largest meetings ever held in connection with Freemasonry in the North Island. At present he is attached to Lodge Manukau, of which he is a past master, and has also filled the principal chairs of Lodge Papawera and Lodge Wairoa. Mr. Lawry is president of the Auckland Trotting Club, and vice-president of the Parnell Football and Cricket Clubs. In 1870 he was married to Miss S. Davies, daughter of the late Mr. Benjamin Davies, who was one of Auckland's earliest settlers, and for many years the popular proprietor of the Albert Hotel, Epsom. Mr. and Mrs. Lawry have but one child, a daughter. Mr. Lawry was re-elected for Parnell at the general election of 1899, by a majority of 848.

            

              

[image: Mr. F. Lawry]
Mr. 
F. Lawry


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. John Bollard



            
            


              

Mr. John Bollard,
              member of the House of Representatives for the district of Eden, was born in 1839 in County Wicklow, Ireland, where his father was a large farmer. Mr. Bollard was brought up on the farm and



received his education at a Church of England school, also special training in the science and practice of agricultural and pastoral farming. He came to New Zealand in 1860. He soon after went to the Australian goldfields, but returned to Auckland after a short stay. During the Maori War he superintended a large shipment of horses from New South Wales, for the Armstrong Artillery, serving in the Waikato district, and was afterwards for some time in the Auckland Militia; he eventually settled down at Avondale near Auckland, where he has resided ever since. Mr. Bollard has taken an active part in public affairs for the last thirty years. He has been chairman of the Avondale road board for the last twenty-seven years, and chairman of the school committee for twenty-five years. He is also a justice of the peace, and acts as Coroner for the district extending from Mt. Albert to the west coast. He has been chairman of the Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and member of the Eden licensing committee. He takes a great interest in agricultural matters and has acted as a judge at shows for many years. At the general election in 1896, Mr. Bollard defeated Mr. Jackson Palmer, and thus entered upon his career as a representative of the people in parliament. At the general election of 1899 there was almost a tie between Mr. Bollard and Mr. Malcolm Nicol, but Mr. Bollard won by a small majority.
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Some of the men who have been most prominently connected with the history of the colony have to be mentioned also as sometime members for Auckland in the House of Representatives. In the front rank stands the name of Sir George Grey, who was twice Governor of New Zealand, last Superintendent of Auckland, and Premier of the colony from the 15th of October, 1877, to the 8th of October, 1879. Sir Frederick Whitaker, an ex-representative of the suburban electorate of Parnell, was twice Premier, and held office in several other Governments. Another of the former members for Auckland, who was twice Premier and also in various other Governments, was Sir Julius Vogel, the author of the public works scheme which had so marked an effect on colonisation in the country. Those eminent men have been dead for some time, but other ex-members who have held Ministerial offices are still alive; namely, Dr. Logan Campbell, who was in the first Stafford Ministry; the Hon. E. Mitchelson, Minister of Public Works in Sir Harry Atkinson's last Government, and for a time Acting-Premier; and the Hon. A. J. Cadman, sometime Minister of Railways, and the Hon. T. Thompson, sometime Minister of Justice and Defence, in Mr. Seddon's Government.
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Mr. Thomas Haughton Bartley
              
              sat for the City of Auckland in the House of Representatives in 1854. Mr. Bartley is referred to in another article as having been a member of the Legislative Council.
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Mr. William Brown,
              who, in company, with Messrs Loughlin, O'Brien and James O'Neill, was elected to represent the City of Auckland in the first Parliament, is elsewhere referred to as the second Superintendent of Auckland. He had to return to Scotland, just prior to an election for the Superintendency, for which he was a candidate, and the same incident accounts for his disappearance from the Parliamentary lists.
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Mr. Loughlin O'Brien
              
              sat as the Senior Member for Auckland City in the House of Representatives in 1854–55. He was born in Dublin, Ireland, and came to New Zealand in the early days of the colony. Mr. O'Brien has, at different periods, filled the offices of Sheriff, Registration, Returning and Revising Officer, Registrar of the Supreme Court, and a Judge of the Native Land Court and the Native Appellate Court. He resides at Putiki Bay, Waiheke.
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Mr. James O'Neill
              
              sat in the first House of Representatives as a member for Auckland City in 1854–55, and afterwards represented the Northern Division of Auckland from 1861 to 1868. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1869.
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Captain W. Field Porter
              
              was once Mayor of Liverpool and a merchant of high standing. He was engaged in the China trade, and was a large shipowner. Some of his vessels came simultaneously to grief, and as they were uninsured, their loss resulted in the financial downfall of Captain Porter. His creditors, however, presented him with the brig “Porter” as a token of the estimation in which they held him. In this brig he sailed from Liverpool for the colonies, to begin life anew, and in 1841 he arrived in Auckland, where he remained. Captain Porter was one of the earliest merchants of Auckland, but after a short period he retired from business, and commenced farming in the Tamaki. He represented Auckland Suburbs in the first Parliament of New Zealand in 1854–55.
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Mr. Frederick Ward Merriman
              
              represented Auckland Suburbs in the House of Representatives from 1854 to 1859. He was appointed chairman of Committees, and discharged the duties of the office till 1856. Mr. Merriman was born in Marlborough, Wiltshire, England, in October, 1818, and, following in the footsteps of his father, Mr. Thomas Merriman, he studied for the law. In 1844 he arrived in Auckland, where he commenced practice as a solicitor and notary public. From 1856 to 1861 he was Provincial Land Officer, and subsequently Crown Solicitor.



Mr. Merriman, who was prominently identified with Freemasonry, married the widow of Captain Ringrose Atkyns. He died at Parnell, Auckland, in July, 1865.
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Mr. Thomas Beckham
              
              was one of the best known men in the Province of Auckland, in which he long held the offices of Resident Magistrate and District Judge. He had filled the office of magistrate even before the colony was formally founded, as his first appointment bore a date anterior to the arrival of Governor Hobson. He had landed with his regiment (the 28th North Gloucester Regiment of Foot) in Sydney, in the year 1835, and was sent to reside as a magistrate at Hokianga, in October, 1840. The population of Hokianga at that time did not exceed a hundred persons. Mr. Beckham was stationed there for a year, and was then appointed magistrate at Kororareka, in the Bay of Islands, where he remained till the close of Heke's war. When the war broke out he organised and took command of a corps of volunteers, and rendered good service at a time of great public emergency. He remained in the Bay of Islands district until the town of Kororareka was sacked and burnt in 1844–45. After the Constitution Act came into operation Mr. Beckham became a member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and he also sat in the House of Representatives for the City of Auckland from 1856 to 1859. Mr. Beckham had been a schoolfellow of Sir George Grey's, and was always deeply attached to that statesman. He died on the 31st of July, 1875, at his residence, Grafton Road, Auckland, at the age of sixty-five years, leaving behind him a widow, a son and three daughters, and an honoured memory as an upright man and a conscientious magistrate.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Walter Brodie



            
            


              

                
Mr. Walter Brodie
              
              represented the Auckland Suburbs in the House of Representatives from 1856 to 1859. He arrived in New Zealand in the early forties and established himself in business as a general merchant in Fort Street, Auckland, occupying one of the A.B.C. stores which were among the first buildings in that city. At that time the sea came up to the door of his store. Mr. Brodie introduced sparrows and English pheasants into New Zealand. He was a member of the Provincial Council and a Justice of the Peace. His father was one of the principal shareholders in the London “Times,” and on the death of that gentleman Mr. Brodie received a large revenue from this source. He retired from business about 1870, and with his wife and two daughters returned to England, where he resided till the time of his death. Mr. Brodie owned a large estate at Mangonui, and was a good colonist, and as a man was highly esteemed by the Maoris and the settlers.
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Dr. Logan Campbell,
              who represented the City of Auckland in the second Parliament, which met on the 15th of April, 1856, is one of the very few who still (1900) live to connect the past with the present, with an active adult career of nearly sixty years. He is elsewhere referred to as the third Superintendent of Auckland, and is also mentioned in the Wellington volume of this work as a member of the Executive Council without portfolio in the Stafford Ministry of 1856.
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Captain William Crush Daldy,
             
 who represented Auckland City in the second Parliament, and is referred to in Volume I. of this “Cyclopedia” as a member of Sir W. Fox' Government in 1856, took a most active and prominent part in the upbuilding of all the early institutions of the then capital of New Zealand. For over half a century Captain Daldy has been a staunch friend to Auckland, and it is with no small interest that he now, at the advanced age of eighty odd years, watches the progress of banks, insurance companies, trading corporations, and social and political movements, started or largely assisted by himself. Captain Daldy was born in 1816 at Rainham, Essex, where his father, Mr. Samuel Rootsey Daldy, carried on business as a coal merchant in a large way. At sixteen years of age the Captain, being in delicate health, began a seafaring life in one of his father's colliers, the “May Flower.” A year later his father died, leaving a widow and a family of twelve children. With a knowledge of the sea thus early gained, the sailor lad struck out boldly for himself, and secured the post of third mate on the troopship “Briton,” sailing to Colombo. After a further period of twelve months at sea, the young officer, being greatly improved in health, again tried life ashore, but with indifferent success. On the 10th of December, 1840, he left Liverpool for Van Diemen's Land as captain of the schooner “Shamrock,” in which, in that capacity, he had for a period been trading between British ports and Newfoundland, Copenhagen, and other places. The “Shamrock” was a vessel of eighty-five tons, and therefore the passage to Launceston in 115 days, if not a record trip, was a creditable performance. The first custom house in Auckland was opened on the day on which Captain Daldy brought his schooner into port, the 1st of July, 1841. After trading for some three years between Auckland and Sydney, Captain Daldy went to Tahiti, where he had a novel experience. In those days cattle were scarce, and the Captain was fortunate in securing a fine cargo, which so chagrined some of his French competitors, that in their jealousy they instigated a charge of stealing the cargo of cattle. It was an exciting time; for, though he had no difficulty in establishing his innocence, the
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fact that he was being tried in French territory, by a black judge and vari-coloured jury, was not reassuring. However, after some delay, the judge gave him a letter stating that there was no case against him; he was afterwards arrested for using political language, and placed on board the Admiral's ship, the “Reine Blanche.” Shortly after this the Captain had the distinction of taking Home the first cargo of merchandise exported from Auckland. That was in 1845 in a vessel called the “Bolina,” belonging to Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co. The voyage occupied 155 days, and about a dozen passengers took the opportunity of returning to the Old Country. In 1847 Captain Daldy bought land in the neighbourhood of Auckland, and for some two years carried on a timber station. Some of the buildings for which his timber was used are still extant, the most notable being St. Andrew's Church; the long, heavy beams for the High Street Wesleyan Chapel (now used as Police Court) were also supplied by him. In 1849 the firm of Messrs. Combes and Daldy was established, and for nearly half a century was one of the best known wholesale and shipping houses in the Colony. Mr. Combes died in 1869, and from that time until his retirement Captain Daldy carried on business alone. To mention even a molety of Captain Daldy's public services would be difficult, but a few will suffice to show his public spirit and his varied abilities. He was elected a member of the second Parliament in 1856, as a representative of Auckland, and in the same year became a minister of the Crown, though his party, like its predecessor, had a very short reign. Captain Daldy was a hearty supporter of provincialism, and, in his position of provincial secretary, in which he succeeded the late Hon. Dr. Pollen, brought in and most successfully carried through a bill for Auckland's first provincial loan. The amount was half a million, to be raised at the rate of £100,000 per year. Captain Daldy also introduced the first Fencing Act. In 1865 he went to England on business connected with his firm, and acted as agent for the Auckland Provincial Government. In that capacity he sent out to the Colony about a thousand emigrants, all of whom paid the greater part of the cost of their passage expenses. The first railway engine and material for the province were purchased by Captain Daldy in the Home markets, and, during the Overend and Gurney panic in London, he received for some months the satisfactory rate of nine per cent. on current account on the provincial funds in his hands. On the inception of the Auckland Harbour Board Captain Daldy was secured as one of its members, and for the first seven years of its existence worthily and ably filled the office of chairman. In Volunteering the Captain took an active part. He was the second volunteer sworn in the Colony, the ceremony taking place on one of the guns in Official Bay. The corps was called the Coastguards, and was under the charge of Captain Hobbs and Lieutenant Daldy. Having business in the Islands, he resigned, but on his return was pressed into the position of captain by the all but unanimous votes of the corps. As far as active service is concerned, the Captain saw but little, being stationed for a few weeksat Miranda and Drury respectively, also with the Guards at blockhouses around Auckland, 200 men being on duty every night. During the few months that Captain Daldy sat in the Auckland City Council, he was instrumental, in conjunction with Mr. Holdship, in negotiating for the Western Springs water supply. Nearly forty years ago several of the most prominent men of Auckland determined to check the frequency and destructiveness of fires, and with that object formed one of the best brigades the Colony has ever seen; of that brigade, the subject of this notice was captain. A justice of the peace of thirty years' standing, Captain Daldy resigned on completing his seventieth year. In this capacity he did a great deal of very useful work, his thorough knowledge of marine law being of especial value. As a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank, one of the most successful institutions of the Northern Capital, Captain Daldy looked after the interests of the thrifty for upwards of forty years, being, at the time of his resignation in 1896, the oldest trustee on the Board. If any one man can be said to found an insurance company, Captain Daldy claims that honour in the case of the New Zealand Insurance Company, of which he was for some years a director. For many years he was chairman of the South British Insurance Company; he was also one of the first auditors for the Bank of New Zealand. With commercial enterprises in the more ordinary sense, such as steamboat companies, timber, gum, and other corporations, Captain Daldy has had much to do. In fact, hardly any enterprise of importance has been denied his assistance. Nor have his energies been confined to mere business and worldly affairs. He was from 1851 an active worker in connection with the Congregational Church, as deacon, treasurer, Sunday school superintendent, and committeeman of the Congregational Union; he has also ever been ready to give his practical sympathy and assistance to philanthropic and reformatory institutions. Captain Daldy was married in Launceston in 1841, to the eldest daughter of the late Captain Pulham, and of four children three survive. The eldest daughter married Mr. James Wrigley, architect, but both she and her husband have been dead some years. The second daughter is married to the Rev. J. T. Warlow Davies, and the son, Mr. W. C. Daldy, is well known and respected in Auckland commercial circles. In December, 1877, Mrs. Daldy died, and some few years later the Captain was married to a daughter of the late Mr. Hamerton, farmer, of England. Mrs. Daldy takes a great interest in social and political questions and institutions, and as a member of the New Zealand Women's National Council, she has worked hard in the interests of her sex, and with most encouraging results.
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Mr. Thomas Spencer Forsaith
              
              sat in the House of Representatives in 1854–55 for the Northern Division, and for the City of Auckland in 1858–60. He was Premier from the 31st of August to the 2nd of September, 1854, when he, Mr. E. J. Wakefield, Mr. W. T. L. Travers, and Mr. James Macandrew were members of the Executive Council without portfolios. This short-lived and virtually nominal Ministry was defeated on an amendment to the address-in-reply. Mr. Forsaith was also a member of the Auckland Provincial Council. He arrived in New Zealand about 1838, and went to Hokianga, Bay of Islands, where he remained for two or three years. He then removed to Auckland, and established himself in business in Queen Street as a draper. Some years later he retired from business and was appointed officiating minister to a Congregational Church in the Wellington district. In the early days Mr. Forsaith was the life and soul of the community in social affairs, and was exceedingly popular. He once went to England on a lecturing tour and was successful in inducing several hundreds of colonists to come to New Zealand. About 1875 he received a call from the Congregational Church in Sydney, and accepted it. Latterly he lived in retirement at Parramatta, near Sydney, and died there in November, 1899.
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Mr. John Williamson,
              whose sketch is given among the “Superintendents of Auckland,” sat in Parliament from 1856 until 1875. For the first four years he represented the Pensioner Settlements, but in 1861 he was elected for Auckland City West, and continued to represent that constituency until his death, which occurred on the 10th of February, 1875. His funeral took place on Saturday, the 20th of the month, and was one of the largest which up to that time had been witnessed in Auckland.
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Mr. Archibald Clark
              
             
 represented the City of Auckland in the House of Representatives in 1860, the City of Auckland East from 1866 to 1870, and Franklin from 1871 to 1873. He was born at Beith, Scotland, in 1805, and was educated for the Presbyterian ministry
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at the University of Glasgow, where he acquired a taste for literature, which he retained throughout life. Before completing his studies at the University, he was re-called to Beith by the failing health of his father, Mr. Andrew Clark, and assumed the management of the business carried on there by him. On realising the great future before the Australasian Colonies, Mr. Clark determined to emigrate; and, having decided upon New Zealand as his future home, he arrived in Auckland in the latter part of 1849. He at once began to take an active part in public affairs, and was elected the first Mayor of Auckland in 1851. Mr. Clark was also elected on several occasions to the Provincial Council. He took a very active part in church and educational matters, and was for many years one of the leading members and elders of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church. Immediately after his arrival in Auckland, Mr. Clark started business in Shortland Street, and some years later he took his sons into partnership, under the style of Archibald Clark and Sons. The business is now not only one of the oldest in New Zealand, but one of the most prosperous, and employs, in warehouse and factories, between 400 and 500 persons. Mr. Clark died in 1875.
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Mr. Joseph Hargreaves
              
              was elected to represent the Auckland Suburbs in the House of Representatives in 1860. He was born in Liverpool, England, in 1821. While still a young man he arrived in New Zealand, and purchased an estate at East Tamaki. Several years later Mr. Hargreaves sold this property and removed to Kaipara, where he leased and purchased a large tract of land from the Maoris. Mr. Hargreaves is still remembered as an ardent sportsman, and a successful breeder of racehorses. He was a member of the Auckland Provincial Council. Mr. Hargreaves married a sister of Admiral Spain, of the British Navy. He died on the 10th of April, 1880, leaving a family of four sons and six daughters.
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Mr. Theophilus Heale
              
              was elected to the House of Representatives for the Suburbs of Auckland in 1860. He arrived in the Colony in the forties in a schooner owned by himself and others; and had previously been in command of an East Indiaman. He and Sir Frederick Whitaker were in partnership in the purchase of lands at the Great Barrier Island and in the Piako district. They were amongst the first to work the copper lodes on Kawau Island; and Mr. Heale erected the first sawmill in the Manukau Harbour, near the Heads. In 1855 he went to Southland, and was chief surveyor in that province, when Dr. Menzies was superintendent, and he took an active part in the construction of the Invercargill-Bluff railway. In 1865, on the passing of the first Native Lands Act, drafted by Mr. F. D. Fenton, Mr. Heale was appointed Inspector of Surveys, under the general Government, to supervise all native land surveys. He initiated the first extensive system of triangulation, which was afterwards carried through by Mr. Percy Smith, from Auckland to Wellington. On the abolition of the Provinces, in 1876, Mr. Heale resigned the position of Inspector of Surveys, and, being a good Maori linguist, was appointed a Judge of the Native Lands Court, in which he served until his retirement on a pension in 1880. Mr. Heale was a remarkably well-informed man, and a Greek, Latin, French, and Italian scholar of repute. He took the observations of the first transit of Venus, and also the observations for the determination of the latitude of Mount Eden.
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Mr. Josiah Clifton Firth,
             
 an ex-member of the House of Representatives for Auckland City, who had a most active and remarkable colonial career, was born at Clifton, Bradford, Yorkshire, England, in 1826, and passed away to join the great majority on the 11th of December, 1897, to the profound regret of the community at large. Mr. Firth was the son of the Rev. Benjamin Firth, minister of the Congregational church at Wyke, was educated at a private academy, and learned the manufacture of iron ware—now a colossal trade, but then in its infancy. Mr. Firth, who rose to the position of manager in the iron works of his uncle, shortly afterwards left for Melbourne in the ship “Golden Era.” Subsequently coming to New Zealand, he joined his brother-in-law, the late Mr. Thornton, and Mr. Smith, an old schoolfellow, in the still well-remembered firm of Thornton, Smith and Firth, flour millers. This soon became the leading flour milling business in the Colony, and, though the founders have ceased to have any connection with it, is still a great and profit able concern, now known as the Northern Roller Flour Mills. In 1866 Mr. Firth purchased from the natives 55,000 acres of land in the Upper Thames Valley, and well known as the “Matamata Estate.” This was a bold undertaking as the estate was unpleasantly close to the stronghold of unfriendly natives, unapproachable either by road or river, and covered withal by fern and scrub. The workers engaged on the estate had frequently to protect themselves with rifles and revolvers, and some very narrow escapes were recorded. On three occasions all the women were sent to Cambridge, and the work of sub-dividing the estate had to be abandoned. Subsequently a concrete defensive tower was erected with salutary effect, for, though often threatened, it was never attacked. In the protection of his estate Mr. Firth took an active share, though for the most part himself unarmed. His intimate acquaintance with the leading friendly chiefs gave him a powerful influence. These chiefs endeavoured to appease the anger of Te Kooti, and were so far successful as to induce that famous rebel warrior to seek an interview with Mr. Firth. Hearing that this remarkable meeting was to take place, the late Hon. Dr.
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Pollen advised Mr. Firth to use his best endeavours to secure Te Kooti's surrender. The renowned warrior, while extending a courteous greeting to Mr. Firth, replied “No, I will fight till I die.” The difficulty with the Maoris at length subsided, and a road was constructed across mountainous ranges to Cambridge, twenty miles distant, and Te Kooti was subsequently chased along the Thames river by the colonial forces. The difficulty of water communication was next taken in hand. The Thames river, which runs through the Matamata Estate for some ten miles, was then navigable only by rowing boats. No Government subsidy being forthcoming for the improvement of this river, Mr. Firth undertook the work, and in seven years spent £7,000 in forming a channel forty feet wide navigable for steamers drawing up to five feet of water, from Paeroa to Stanley. This work was accomplished more than twenty years ago, and the estate, thus improved, has passed into other hands. During his occupation of Matamata Estate, Mr. Firth succeeded in cultivating 25,000 acres, and much interest was centred in the colossal undertaking. Into his last venture—the pumice-insulation industry—Mr. Firth threw all his characteristic energy and determination. From the splendid testimonials from all parts of the Colonies, it seems certain that “Firth's Pumice-Insulation” is destined to eclipse all other insulation material. It was in the highest degree creditable to Mr. Firth that he spent his declining years in fighting a hard battle in the interests of one of the most important branches of colonial commerce, viz., the cool-storage trade. He was elected a member of parliament in 1861 and was an active supporter of the Stafford administration, in opposition to that of Sir William Fox; among other positions, he held that of chairman of the first railway committee. It was in connection with the part he took in the settlement of the native disturbances that he earned for himself the cognomen of “British Lion of the North.” In conjunction with Mr. S. Jackson and the late Mr. W. Morrin, Mr. Firth was deputed by the Auckland Rifle Association to encourage the settlers on the frontier to resist the encroachments of the Maoris, and these gentlemen convened meetings in churches and chapels, being most successful in the work they had undertaken. For many years Mr. Firth was a zealous worker in the Auckland Congregational church and Sunday school, and was a ready helper in all philanthropic movements. He occupied positions, either as chairman, secretary, or treasurer, in more than twenty institutions of a public and semi-public character. During the last forty years of his life he was a prolific contributor to the press, and was the author of “Perils of the Age,” “Luck,” “Our Kin Across the Sea,” and “Nation-Making.” His long residence in the Colony was broken by only one trip to the Old Land in 1890. He was married in 1855 to Miss Williams, daughter of the late Mr. W. Williams, of Auckland, and nine children survive him. Although for some months previously, Mr. Firth's health had been very weak, no immediate anxiety was felt by his family until the evening preceding his death, which took place at 12.45 p.m. on Saturday, the 11th of December, 1897.
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Mr. George Graham,
              sometime a Member of the House of Representatives, has for a number of years resided at 42 Tisbury Row, Hove, Brighton, England. He was born at Windsor, England, on the 10th of December, 1812, and at the age of nineteen he received an appointment as clerk of works to the Board of Ordnance, now known as the Royal Engineers. Mr. Graham was sent to Ireland, where he distinguished himself, and was selected to be sent to Australia in 1836. In 1840 he came on with the staff of Governor Hobson to New Zealand, and was present at the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi and the hoisting of the flag of Great Britain in New Zealand. Mr. Graham has always been a warm friend of and sympathiser with the Maori race, and was opposed to the Maori war and to the policy which involved the confiscation of their land. He always advocated treating them as British subjects and employing them on reproductive works in opening up their lands for bona fide settlement, and condemned the rapacious land sharking policy, which he considers has been the root of the land monopoly in the Colonies. The old barrack-wall and stone buildings in Albert Park, Auckland, were built by Maori labour under the supervision of Mr. Graham's department, and when that work was near completion he advocated employing the tribes in cutting canals to connect Waikato, Manukau and Kaipara with the city of Auckland, as in that way the labour of the Maoris would have been utilised, and they themselves kept out of mischief and discontent. The leading chiefs entertained a great esteem for Mr. Graham, and it was his influence which eventually succeeded in bringing in Wiremu Tamehana to Waharoa (the William Wallace of New Zealand, and the warrior chief of the Kingites). Mr. Graham went alone through the armed tribes across Maungakawa to Matamata, and brought Tamehana in to surrender his taiaha to General Carey at Te Rewarewa and Omahere, Waikato, and sign a peace bond, that for the future the laws of the Queen should be the laws for the King and Maori race in New Zealand. This ended the Waikato war, and led to the British troops being withdrawn and the self-reliant policy taking its stand in the Colony; and to the opening of mixed courts for Europeans and Maoris to settle amicably all disputes about land held under Maori custom. Mr. Graham represented the Newton constituency of Auckland suburbs for many years in the House of Representatives, and advocated liberal measures and the encouragement of the bona fide settlement of the lands by settlers who would look upon the founding of homesteads for their families as the great object of their coming to New Zealand. He still maintains that the pastoral and agricultural interests in New Zealand are not being attended to as they should, as the base of New Zealand's pre-eminence in the future as a Colony for British people; the tendency being to concentrate all attractions in the cities to the disadvantage of settlement in the country districts. Although residing himself in England Mr. Graham's family are settled in New Zealand; Mr. G. S. Graham, of Auckland, and Mr. William A. Graham, of Hamilton, Waikato, being the eldest now living. Before coming to Australia, Mr. Graham took part in the China war and the expedition to Pekin, and at the end of the war was invalided and received his pension. The climate of New Zealand, however, completely restored his health, although the doctors at the time of his illness considered his case to be hopeless.
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Mr. Thomas Russell,
              C.M.G., though not born in New Zealand, has spent the greater part of his life in the country, having been associated with Auckland since about 1840, when he arrived in the Colony. He was articled to the late Mr. Thomas Outhwaite, and, on completing his articles, he commenced his, practice as a barrister and solicitor. His clear and practical mind, combined with a sound judgment, soon placed him, not only at the head of his profession, but established him in the front rank of New Zealand's leading men. To him may be attributed the successful formation of the Bank of New Zealand, the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, the New Zealand Insurance Company, and many other important and successful companies, claiming Auckland as their birthplace. He sat for Auckland City East in the House of Representatives from 1861 to 1865. During the Maori war Mr. Russell was a member of the Whitaker-Fox Ministry, and fulfilled the then very onerous duties of Defence Minister in a highly efficient manner. He organised and equipped, at short notice, the various regiments of militia, which he caused to be brought to New Zealand from Australia, as well as the local militia, and a naval force, to assist the Imperial troops. For his services in this connection he received the distinction of a C.M.G. In all matters pertaining to the Thames goldfields, Mr. Russell has taken a leading part. He is chairman of directors and a large shareholder in the Waihi Gold Mining Company, one of the most famous gold mines in the world.
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Mr. Reader Gilson Wood,
              who represented Parnell from 1861 until his resignation in 1865, and again from 1870 till his second resignation in 1878, also sat in the House of Representatives for Waitemata, for which he was elected in 1879. He closed his political career with the session of 1881. Mr. Wood is referred to in the Wellington volume, as having been Colonial Treasurer and Commissioner of Customs in three successive Ministries, from July, 1861, to November, 1864. He died at Auckland on the 22nd of August, 1895, aged seventy-four years.
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Mr. James Williamson
              
              sat in the House of Representatives as one of the members for the City of Auckland West, from 1862 to 1866, during which he was Mr. John Williamson's electoral colleague. He is further referred to elsewhere in connection with his seat in the Legislative Council.
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Mr. Patrick Dignan
              
              sat in the House of Representatives for Auckland City West from 1867 to 1870, and again from 1875 to 1878. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1879, and an account of his public life is given in the section devoted to former members of that body.
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Mr. Charles Heaphy,
              sometime member for Parnell in the New Zealand House of Representatives, was born in St. John's Wood, London, in 1822, and was the youngest son of Major Heaphy, who lost his arm in an engagement at the Pass of Douro, during the Peninsula War, and also acted as aide-de-camp to the Duke of Wellington at the Battle of Waterloo. Prior to leaving England, Mr. Heaphy was studying at the Royal Academy for the profession of an artist, when he was suddenly offered the position of draughtsman to the New Zealand Company, and accordingly he sailed for New Zealand in the pioneer ship “Tory,” in 1839. After his arrival, he was engaged in exploring, in company with the late Sir William Fox and other old colonists, in the Taranaki and Nelson districts. Subsequently, he re-visited the Old Country, in connection with the New Zealand Company and returned to the Colony in the ship “Princes of Wales,” in 1842, and took up land at Nelson, but was driven off it by the Maoris. In 1867 he was returned to the House of Representatives, unopposed, as member for Parnell, but resigned his seat in 1869, when he accepted the appointment of Commissioner of Native Reserves. About 1878–9 he was made one of the judges of the Native Land Court and he retained the position until the time of his death, which occurred in 1881. Mr. Heaphy was married to Catherine, eldest daughter of the Rev. Mr. Churton, LL.B., the first resident clergyman in New Zealand, and afterwards first minister of Old St. Paul's, Auckland; and was survived by his widow.
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Mr. Robert James Creighton
              
              represented Parnell in the House of Representatives in 1865, Newton from 1869 to 1870, and Eden from 1871 to 1875. He was born in London derry, Ireland, and served an apprenticeship on a Londonderry newspaper. In 1861 he arrived in Auckland, and became editor of the “Southern Cross” newspaper, which became a brilliant success under his management. He was a member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and for some time Provincial Secretary. During his residence in the Colony he edited, in addition to the “Southern Cross,” the “New Zealand Herald,” “Otago Guardian,” and “New Zealand Times. Mr. Creighton afterwards removed to San Francisco, where he was agent for the Government of New Zealand. During a short residence at Honolulu, he became a member of the Government of Hawaii. He died suddenly at San Francisco, leaving a widow, a son, and a daughter. His son is a lawyer of note at Honolulu.
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Mr. Thomas Bannatyne Gillies
              
              sat in the House of Representatives for Auckland City West from 1871 to 1874, and for Mangonui in 1870. He had previously, as an Otago man, sat in the House in 1860 as member for Dunedin Country, and as member for Bruce from 1861 to 1864. Mr. Gillies was for a short time Attorney-General in the Domett Ministry of 1862–63, Postmaster-General and Secretary for Crown Lands in the Whitaker-Fox Ministry of 1863–64, and Colonial Treasurer in the Stafford Ministry of 1872. He is referred to in another article as one of the Superintendents of the Province of Auckland.
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Sir Frederick Whitaker
              
              represented Parnell in 1866, but resigned in the succeeding year. In 1876 he was elected for Waikato, and held the seat till 1879, when he was re-appointed to the Upper House. Sir Frederick's career is described under the heading of “Past Premiers” in the Wellington volume.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Hon. William Swanson



            
            


              

The Hon. William Swanson,
              who sat as a representative of the Newton electorate from 1871 to 1884, is mentioned elsewhere as a Legislative Councillor.
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Sir Julius Vogel,
              whose career is described in the Wellington volume in the section devoted to “Past Premiers,” represented Auckland City East from 1871 to 1875. During that time his great public works scheme was in the ascendant, and though there are doubtless still divergent opinions as to the merits of that scheme, there can be no doubt that Sir Julius worked hard for the Colony and wielded immense power. To the sketch given in Volume I. it need only be added that Sir Julius died in London on the 12th of March, 1899.
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Sir George Grey
              
              represented Auckland City West in 1875, Thames in 1876–81, Auckland East 1882–87, Auckland Central 1887–90, Newton 1891–93, and City of Auckland 1894–95. His seat was vacated by cable in 1895. An account of Sir George Grey's life is given in the Wellington volume of this work, in the section devoted to “Former Governors,” and he is also referred to in this volume as the last Superintendent of Auckland.
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Mr. William Lee Rees,
             
 who represented the City of Auckland in the House of Representatives from 1876 to 1879, and again from 1890 to 1893, is one of the best known parliamentarians in the Colony. Mr. Rees was born in the City and County of Bristol on the 16th of December, 1836, and is a son of Dr. James Rees, a celebrated medical man of Downend, who, however died while Mr. Rees was very young. Dr. Rees died suddenly and his practice was taken up by his brother-in-law, Dr. Grace, the father of the renowned English cricketers, who are of course cousins of Mr. Rees. After being educated by private tuition, and reading for the law at the Melbourne University, Mr. Rees was articled to Messrs Carrington and Creswell, of Melbourne. He, however, did not complete his articles, as he gave up the law for the church, became a Congregational minister, and was for four years in Melbourne and at Beechworth, a town about 190 miles north of Melbourne. He afterwards left the ministry and was called to the Victorian Bar at Melbourne in 1865. After practising in Melbourne for a few months he came to Dunedin, where in 1866 he was admitted



a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of New Zealand by the late Mr. Justice Chapman. Mr. Rees was for three years at Hokitika, and he then settled in Auckland, where
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his first brief was for the plaintiff in the celebrated case of Whitaker and Lundon v. Graham. Within four years of his arrival in Auckland, Mr. Rees was elected to the Provincial Council, and on Sir George Grey becoming Superintendent of the Province, Mr. Rees became provincial solicitor. The friendship then formed between the two politicians lasted till death. On the abolition of the Provinces in 1876 Mr. Rees stood for Auckland East in opposition to Mr. J. M. Clark, whom he defeated by forty votes. During the premiership of Sir George Grey, Mr. Rees was offered the Attorney Generalship, which he declined on the ground that there were already two Auckland members in the Cabinet, but he advised Sir George Grey to request Mr. (now Sir Robert) Stout to accept the post, and the advice was taken. Mr. Rees left Auckland for Napier during the life of that Parliament, and through the change he lost registration and was therefore unable to stand at the next election. During 1879 he left Napier for Gisborne, where his headquarters have since been fixed. It was during the Parliament of 1876–79 that Mr. Rees made his great stone-wall speech of twenty-four hours' duration. He was one of the leaders of the Liberal party of those days, and generally looked upon as Sir George Grey's lieutenant, especially in regard to such matters as manhood and womanhood suffrage. In 1891 Mr. Rees was chairman of the Native Land Law Commission, to which his special knowledge of Native affairs was of very particular use. As a man of untiring energy, Mr. Rees has lived a many-sided life. His skill as a cricketer was early recognised, for he played for Victoria against New South Wales in the first match played at Sydney between those colonies, and two of his cousins—Messrs W. G. Rees and G. Gilbert—played for New South Wales. On several occasions he played with the Auckland representatives. Whilst resident in Hokitika Mr. Rees was a member of the Westland County Council. During his residence in Auckland Mr. Rees was a teacher at the Beresford Street Sunday school for a short time. He has always taken a prominent part in literary and debating societies, and has made a name in the fields of literature. His principal novel is “Sir Gilbert Leigh,” and “Poverty to Plenty”—a work on political economy—shows Mr. Rees to be quite capable of hard thinking. In connection with his eldest daughter he wrote the “Life and Times of Sir George Grey”—a work which has been most favourably reviewed and recommended by leading papers of Great Britain, the Continent of Europe, the United States of America, Canada and the Colonies. In March, 1863, Mr. Rees was married to Miss Staite, daughter of Mr. Opie Staite, but though Mr. and Mrs. Rees were born in the same square in Bristol, their first meeting was in Melbourne; Mr. Rees has a family of three sons and four daughters. The sons—two of whom were educated at Caius College, Cambridge, are all at the law, and the second daughter is married to Mr. H. B. Lusk, of Napier, a successful and promising barrister and a son of the formerly well-known Auckland lawyer, Mr. H. H. Lusk, who is now in America contributing highly esteemed articles to some of the principal magazines there.
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Mr. Benjamin Tonks
              
              was elected on the 4th of August, 1876, to represent Auckland City West in the House of Representatives. The election was almost without precedent. The writ was telegraphed to the Returning Officer, and the nomination took place on a Saturday. At the nomination Mr. Tonks was asked by the electors to proceed to the seat of Government on the following Monday. He did so, and was elected on the Tuesday, and the return to the writ was made by telegram, when he took his seat accordingly. Mr. Tonks, who is elsewhere referred to as first elected Mayor of Auckland, did not take an active part in public affairs during his later years, being too much occupied in his large and increasing business. He was, however, an auditor of the Bank of New Zealand, and a member of the Auckland Waste Lands Board. Mr. Tonks died on the 27th of June, 1884, at the comparatively early age of fifty-two, and left four sons and one daughter. His second son, Mr. William Tonks, is senior partner in the well-known Christchurch firm of Tonks, Norton and Co.
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Rev. James Wallis,
             
 M.A., Surgeon, who represented Auckland City West from 1877 to 1881, was born in Aberdeenshire in 1825, and is the eldest son of Mr. William Wallis. He was educated at Aberdeen University and gained his M.A. degree in 1844. As a clergyman and missionary of the Presbyterian Church, Dr. Wallis ministered at Dundee and Aberdeen in Scotland, and at Essequibo and Demerara in British Guiana. In 1863, he passed as a surgeon in Edinburgh with the object of becoming a medical missionary. Finally he came to this Colony in 1865 via Africa and Australia, as surgeon of the “Rangitoto” and other vessels. After a few years as minister of the old church of St. David's, he built the church known as the Newton Kirk. He sold this property in 1881 and for some time carried on a farm at
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Riverhead, returning in 1896 to Richmond near Auckland, where he now lives. In parliament Dr. Wallis was a constant advocate for women's suffrage and other reforms, and he still takes an interest in political questions. Dr. Wallis married in 1862 Miss Elizabeth Poole, daughter of Richard Poole, of Edinburgh, M.D., F.R.C.P.E.
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Mr. Frederick Joseph Moss,
              who in three parliaments represented the constituency of Parnell, has been a prominent colonist for nearly forty years. Mr. Moss was born at St. Helena in 1829, and was educated at the head school of the Honourable East India Company, then Lords Proprietors of that island. He went as a youth to Port Elizabeth (Cape Colony), and entered the office of a relative in that city. In 1846 he did burgher duty in the Kaffir War, and in 1859, after visiting Natal, Kaffraria, and other parts of the South African territory, decided on emigrating to New Zealand. Arriving at Lyttelton at the close of 1859, he entered into business, but took no part in politics beyond actively supporting Mr. Moorhouse in the projected tunnel and railway from Lyttelton. On the discovery of gold in Otago in 1861, Mr. Moss opened a branch business in Dunedin, and finally removed to that city. He was elected in 1862, a member of the provincial council of Otago. The province was at that time in great financial difficulty, owing to the sudden expenditure in opening up the goldfields, and the refusal of the London Stock Exchange to recognise provincial loans. Under these circumstances Mr. Moss was induced to accept the office of treasurer and ultimately that of leader of the provincial “ministry.”



In 1866 his government was defeated by Sir Julius Vogel, who became his successor. Mr. Moss was able to hand over the treasury with expenses of government materially reduced, the finances restored to order, and a considerable cash balance at command. He had always been a strong supporter of a railway policy, but held that money should only be borrowed for work deliberately decided upon in advance, to avoid a demoralising and wasteful scramble. With this view his government had completed and laid before the Otago Council in 1865 detailed surveys and estimates for what afterwards became the Dunedin and Clutha railway. Circumstances did not then however permit the raising of the requisite loan for the work. In 1868, Mr. Moss joined in the emigration from Otago to Fiji and settled as a cotton-planter on the Rewa river. He was, however, compelled by ill-health to leave Fiji for Auckland, where, in 1876, he was elected as member for Parnell in the General Assembly. He held the seat till 1890, when he accepted the post of British Resident at the Cook Islands, recently placed under British protection. In New Zealand politics, Mr. Moss was a persistent opponent of the public works loans, on the ground that they should only be authorised for works deliberately adopted beforehand. He was also an earnest opponent of the abolition of provincial institutions, regarding the principle on which they were founded as essential to local government and local responsibility, without which there could be neither economy nor permanent financial security in a country like New Zealand. As Resident in the Cook Islands, Mr. Moss established a federation, a revenue, and a regular civil government, with schools for the teaching of English, which he regards as indispensable to the success of native (Maori) self-government. Mr. Moss worked hard as a politician, and took a most intelligent interest in many matters beyond the scope of ordinary men; it was very fitting that, after a long struggle with duller reformers, he should be placed in a position where his aspirations to be of real service to humanity are less thwarted by the comparative inertia of his fellow-workers. He was succeeded at Rarotonga in 1899 by Lieutenant-Colonel Gudgeon. Mr. Moss is the author of a book “Through Atolls and Islands” (Sampson Low, London) giving the experience gained from his wide acquaintance with the Pacific Islands; and of a very full “School History of New Zealand” (published by H. Brett, Auckland).
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Hon. Joseph Augustus Tole,
              B.A., LL.B., who was a Minister of the Crown in the Stout-Vogel Government from 1884 to 1887 (under which heading he is referred to on page 82 of the Wellington Volume of the “Cyclopedia”), and late member of the House of Representatives, was born in Yorkshire, of Irish parentage. He came out with his parents to Auckland and shortly after arrival was sent to the Catholic school which was then under the direction of the late Mr. R. J. O'Sullivan, subsequently Inspector of Schools for the provincial district under the Board of Education. One of Mr. Tole's school-fellows was the late Hon. John Sheehan, for some time Native Minister for the Colony. A few years later his parents decided to send him to pursue his studies in the higher educational institutions of Sydney, New South Wales, and he accordingly entered St. John's College, affiliated to the university of that city, and matriculated in 1865. After a successful career at the university he graduated B.A. in 1868. Hon. Edmund Barton (who has been Attorney-General and Speaker of the New South Wales Assembly and was lately leader of the Australian Federal Convention), and Mr. Justice Pope Cooper (recently transferred to the supreme court, South Brisbane), were contemporaries of Mr. Tole at the university. The subject of this notice decided to adopt the law as his profession, and entered the chambers of one of the most brilliant men of the Australian Bar, the late Hon. Edward Butler, Q.C., who was several times Attorney-General of New South Wales. After passing his examination in law—the late Justice Sir George Long Innes and Mr. Justice Manning being his examiners—Mr. Tole was admitted to the Bar in 1871 by the late Sir Alfred Stephen, C.B., then Chief Justice of New South Wales. Whilst reading law, Mr. Tole pursued his studies with a view to further graduating at the university, and eventually obtained the LL.B. degree. On his return to New Zealand he passed the usual ordeal of further examination, and was admitted in 1872 to the practice of his profession in this Colony. He soon began to take an active part in public affairs, and, his energy and ability being recognised by his fellow citizens, he was elected to the Ponsonby Highway Board, of which he was chairman for several years; and he also sat as one of the progressive members of the Auckland Harbour Board. In the general election of 1876 Mr. Tole was induced to contest the Eden seat—then a very extensive constituency—in the House of Representatives. He stood as a staunch supporter of Sir George Grey, who had just re-entered public life as the champion of provincial institutions (which were threatened and doomed to destruction), and who, as the grand old political educator of the people, had begun his crusade against capitalists and landed monopolists of the Colony. Mr. Tole was elected, and was afterwards the intimate friend and coadjutor of his veteran chief in most of the important measures which were submitted to Parliament. On the dissolution of 1879, Mr. (afterwards Sir) Frederick Whitaker left his constituency of Waikato, and determined to stand in opposition to Mr. Tole for Eden. The contest, one of the most memorable in the Colony, resulted in the return of Mr. Tole by a large majority, Mr. Whitaker being then called to the Legislative Council. At the next election Mr. Tole defeated Mr. Reader Wood, and at the general election of 1884, consequent upon the fall of the Atkinson Government, was again returned by an overwhelming majority. On the reassembling of Parliament, the Atkinson Government resigned, and, after several ministries had been formed and defeated in quick succession, a coalition (Stout-Vogel) ministry was formed in which Mr. Tole held the portfolio of Minister of Justice till September, 1887, in which year partly owing to the strong feeling in Auckland against the Conservative element in the Government, partly to a third candidate entering the contest, Mr. Tole was defeated at the general election. Strangely enough, at the same time Sir Robert Stout was also defeated in Dunedin by a small majority. Mr. Tole's defeat evoked general expressions of surprise and regret, even from many who differed from him politically. It may be mentioned that, in the negotiations for the formation of his Ministry in 1884, the Hon. Major Atkinson offered Mr. Tole a life seat in the Legislative Council and the leadership of the Government in that chamber, but Mr. Tole declined, on the ground that the acceptance of the offer might compromise his relations with his friend, Sir George Grey. During his parliamentary career Mr. Tole introduced and amended many important measures, amongst them the Adoption of Children Act, amendments in the Patent Acts, Abolition of Grand Juries, Criminal Code (now law), and Abolition of Coroners' Juries Acts; and made efforts to introduce shorthand writers into the Supreme Court. Probably the most important measure connected with his name, however, is “The First Offenders' Probation Act, 1886”—the first of its kind in the British Empire, and now to some extent adopted in the neighbouring Colonies and in England. This merciful legislation marked a new era in the administration of the criminal law, and that it has answered most admirably is testified by the reports of Colonel Hume, inspector of prisons, who states that, in addition to its effects as a measure of social and moral reform, it has already saved the Colony nearly £20,000, besides being the means of leading to the recovery of thousands of pounds' worth of property, either stolen or misappropriated. Mr. Tole resumed the active practice of his profession as a barrister in 1888, and in 1892,



a vacancy occurring in the office of crown solicitor and crown prosecutor for the Auckland district, he was appointed to that position. Scarcely had he assumed his duties, when he found himself plunged into the intricacies of the Scott murder case, in which the prisoner after a protracted trial of a fortnight's duration, was found guilty. During his tenure of office as prosecuting counsel, Mr. Tole has had to deal with many other causes celebres, in which he has shown marked ability and been eminently successful. Mr. Tole holds many varied and important public offices, from which it may be gathered that he takes a fair share as a citizen in the life and progress of the Colony. For some years he has been and still is, the University Senate's representative on the Auckland Grammar School Board of Governors, also member of the Auckland University College Council, elected by members of Parliament resident in Auckland. He is examiner in jurisprudence and constitutional history for his college, and was at one time a law examiner to the New Zealand University. Besides being a member of the council of Technical Education, a trustee of the Jubilee Blind Institute, and one of the patrons of the Auckland Catholic Literary Society, Mr. Tole has been for three sessions unanimously elected speaker of the Auckland Parliamentary Union. As president of the Auckland branch of the Irish National Federation, he has given unmistakeable proofs of the sincerity of his attachment to the land of his forefathers, and his talents have been ungrudingly devoted to the promotion of the lawful aspirations of Ireland. Mr. Tole was married in 1882 to the eldest daughter of Mr. Edward Lewis, merchant, late of Wanganui. In private life Mr. Tole is genial and unassuming, and possesses the art of making his associates and friends perfectly at home in his company, without in any way diminishing that respect which his cultured manners command. Following the bent of his musical tastes, he has been for many years connected with several musical societies, such as the Choral Society and Liedertafel, of which he is a vice-president. Indeed, in years past he was a performing member of the Choral Society, and sang the tenor solos in Spöhr's “Last Judgment,” the “Messiah,” and other classical pieces. On the occasion of the visit of H.R.H. the Duke of Edinburgh to Sydney University in 1868, Mr. Tole took a leading rôle in the French play staged by the undergraduates. His histrionic talents evoked from the press of the day the eulogium that his acting was “equal to that of a good professional actor,” being also mentioned in similar terms in Oakes' book, “Cruise of the Galatea.” Mr. Tole is an accomplished violinist. In public and in private life, at the Bar and in Parliament, in civic and in national institutions, in the discharge of his many duties and as a cultured Christian gentleman, Hon. Joseph A. Tole has achieved a record of which any colonist might feel justly proud, and which might be studied with advantage by the younger generation.
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Mr. David Goldie,
              who was on three occasions elected to a seat in the House of Representatives, is one of Auckland's best known and most respected citizens. He was born in Tasmania in 1842 and is the son of Mr. David Goldie, an early settler of that Colony, who found his way to these shores by the same vessel that brought such other well-known Aucklanders as the late Mr. W. C. Wilson and Mr. John Wiseman, senior, Mr. Goldie was educated at the Church of England School and other private institutions at Hobart, and crossed over to Auckland in 1863, having in the meantime learned the trade of a carpenter. Following that calling for some time, he gradually became a contractor, and in that capacity took part in the erection of quarters for the troops during the Waikato War, and many other buildings. He then entered the employ of Mr. George Holdship, and soon rose to the position of manager. Mr. Goldie commenced business in 1867 on his own account as a timber merchant, and was favoured with fortune's smile from the beginning. Particulars of this part of his career will be found under “The Wood Trade,” to which readers are referred. Mr. Goldie has taken a leading part in most public affairs; he was returned in 1874 to the Provincial Council of Auckland, where he proved a reliable and most useful member. For almost fifteen years he was a hard worker in the Auckland City Council, during part of which time he represented that body on the Harbour and Charitable Aid Boards, and for some ten or eleven years was a member of the Education Board. As a member of the Licensing Committee, he was mainly instrumental in the closing of no fewer than nine hotels. Mr. Goldie was elected to the House of Representatives in 1879, for Auckland City West, defeating Mr. Peter Dignan, whose father the late Hon. P. Dignan, had been raised to the Legislative Council, thus creating an extraordinary vacancy. Mr. Goldie won the seat by a majority of 515 votes. In 1887 he again stood for Auckland City West against Messrs. E. W. Morrison and J. M. Shera, and was again returned at the head of the poll, the voting being:—Goldie, 717; Shera, 523; Morrison, 209. During the whole of his parliamentary career, Mr. Goldie fought hard for pure administration and wise economy. In 1890 so great was his popularity that he was returned unopposed, but in 1892 owing to the demands of his large and still increasing business, he resigned his seat and retired from political life. Though retired from politics, Mr. Goldie still leads a very active life. For a third of a century he has been a leading spirit of the Auckland Primitive Methodist Church. For over twenty-five years he has been superintendent of the Sunday school, and he is also teacher of the Young Ladies' class, president of the Band of Hope, and also of two Christian Endeavour societies. He was joint editor, with the Rev. C. E. Ward, of the “New Zealand Primitive Methodist.” As secretary of the Primitive Methodist Fire Insurance fund, Mr. Goldie has rendered invaluable service, while as honorary district secretary of the connection in New Zealand for a number of years he has done still more useful work; he has also filled the presidential chair. Mr. Goldie was married in 1866 to Miss Partington, daughter of the late Mr. Charles Partington, and their family consists of five sons and three daughters. The second son, Mr. C. F. Goldie, recently won very high honours as an artist on the Continent, whilst his brother, Mr. W. H. Goldie, achieved distinction at Edinburgh University, having in 1897 finished his medical course with honours and gained the Buchanan Scholarship of the value of £40 per annum, which carries with it a gold medal and special training under Professor Simpson and Dr. Berry Hart.

            

              

[image: Mr. D. Goldie.]
Mr. 
D. Goldie.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. W. J. Hurst



            
            


              

                
Mr. W. J. Hurst
              
              sat in the House of Representatives for the City of Auckland West from 1879 to 1881, and for Waitemata from 1882 to 1886. He is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the Auckland City Council, and as Mayor for the year 1877.
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The Hon. Edwin Mitchelson,
              who sat as a representative of the Marsden electorate from 1882 to 1887, and for Eden thence-forward to 1896, is referred to in the Wellington Volume as a member of Sir Harry Atkinson's Government.
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Mr. William James Speight
              
             
 formerly sat for Auckland City East in the House of Representatives. Born at Dublin in 1843, the only surviving son of Mr. Richard Speight (of the firm of Messrs. Haigh and Speight, engineers, of that city), the subject of this notice was educated at the Blue Coat School of his native town. After serving an apprenticeship with his father's firm as a mechanical engineer, he left for this colony in the ship “Maori” in 1865. On the discovery of gold at the Thames two years later, Mr. Speight was attracted thither, and set up in business in his own line, engaging also in other pursuits incidental to life on the goldfields. Subsequently he conducted the “Thames Advertiser” for some years. During the eighteen years spent by Mr. Speight at the Thames, he took a very active part in local politics and the social advancement
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of the place. Shortly after his arrival the Borough Council was established, and from its inception till he left the district he was a member of that body. After the first election he was never opposed. He persistently declined the mayoral chair, though frequently pressed to accept that honour. As a member of the Thames School Committee, he served for nearly the whole time of his residence there. Mr. Speight was, however, even at that time well known beyond the narrow limit of the Thames. As grand worthy chief templar for the Colony during several successive terms, at a time when Good Templary was a flourishing order, he made a colonial reputation as a wise and active councillor. This fact was well evidenced in 1879, when Mr. Speight, at the invitation of the Grey Party, contested the parliamentary election for Auckland City East, against probably the strongest man that the Northern Capital could then put forward in the interest of the opposing party. That Mr. Speight, a Thames resident, should beat, though only by eight votes, so strong a man as Mr. James McCosh Clark, who was at the time Auckland's successful mayor, speaks well for his popularity as a man and his ability as a speaker. Among many actions of usefulness, Mr. Speight, in conjunction with the late Sir William Fox, assisted in moulding Sir John Hall's licensing bill in such a way as to provide for elective instead of nominated committees. This was the last Parliament elected for the five years' term, but the passage of the Triennial Parliament Bill, of which Mr. Speight was an ardent supporter, made it really the first triennial Parliament. At the 1881 election, on the suggestion of the Grey Party, and in order to leave the City East constituency for Sir George, Mr. Speight consented to contest the Thames seat; by some misunderstanding, however, the late Hon. John Sheehan, of the same political party, also stood for that seat and won it, by a majority of seventeen only, after the keenest fight, resulting in the largest poll then known to the constituency. It would seem that Mr. Speight was specially selected for close contests, for three years later he lost the same seat by seven votes, in a struggle with Colonel Fraser (now sergeant-at-arms in the House of Representatives). Since that time Mr. Speight has not sought further parliamentary honours, but he has been by no means idle. His pamphlet on proportional representation by single transferable vote has attracted a good deal of attention both here and in other colonies. The proposal is in every way similar to the course adopted with avowed success in Tasmania, and it is being well canvassed. Mr. Speight was offered his present position of manager at Auckland of the Government Life Insurance Office by the Vogel Administration, and, though his abstention from colonial politics is rendered necessary by his acceptance of the office, he still takes a great deal of interest in public matters. He is a member of the Board of Governors of the Auckland College and Grammar School, where he represents both Houses of Parliament. As an ardent churchman he has done good service, having long been a member of both the General and Diocesan Synods, and of the Diocesan Trust. He is the founder of the diocesan clergy pension fund—as at present conducted in Auckland—whereby the clergy of the diocese become entitled to a pension of £100 per year at sixty-five years of age. In 1872 Mr. Speight was married to his cousin, the daughter of Mr. Isaac Speight, of Parnell (formerly of the Imperial Service), and has six sons and three daughters. Of the sons, two are farming at Te Puke, Tauranga, a third is an analytical chemist to the Colonial Sugar Refinery Company, and a fourth is in the employ of the National Bank at Auckland.
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Mr. James Mcmullen Dargaville,
             
 after whom the township of Dargaville is named, was a representative of Auckland City West in the House of Representatives from 1881 to 1887. Mr. Dargaville came of an old Huguenot family, which left France and settled in Ireland about the time of the revocation of the “Edict of Nantes.” He was born on the 7th July, 1837, in Cork, where his father was a physician of note. He received a liberal education at Fermoy College, studying with Mr. O'Callaghan, who was subsequently elected to the House of Commons, and Mr. Roche, cousin of Lord Fermoy, who visited New Zealand some years ago. At a very early age Mr. Dargaville was seized with a spirit of adventure, and emigrated with his brothers to Australia; after some experience in Victoria, he entered the service of the Union Bank of Australia in Sydney. He rose rapidly, in five years becoming branch manager, and two years later being sent over to New Zealand as branch inspector. He came first to the West Coast of the Middle Island, where he so increased the bank's business that in March, 1868, he was promoted to the important post of manager of the Auckland branch. In July following he resigned and started business as a wholesale merchant in Auckland under the title of Must and Co. Mr. Dargaville, however, subsequently gave up this business, and entered the timber and kauri gum trades in the Northern Walroa district, where he acquired the land upon which he founded the present town of Dargaville, which now has a population of about 400 people and is owned by his widow and children. At one time Mr. Dargaville carried on a very extensive timber business, there being over 400 men in his employ. It was through his energy and enterprise that this district, which was comparatively unknown to the people of Auckland, was opened up, and an industry, which has since employed many thousands of hands, given a great impetus. Mr. Dargaville took an active interest in political matters. He was for some time a member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and contested the superintendency election with Mr. John Williamson, ex-superintendent, and Mr. H. Lusk, being defeated through the latter splitting the votes. In 1881 he became a member of the General Assembly for Auckland City West, and in 1884 was re-elected by the same constituency as a supporter of the Stout-Vogel Government. In 1887 he was defeated for Marsden, in 1890 for the Bay of Islands, and in 1893 for Eden. Immediately prior to his death he announced his candidature for Auckland City, and, had he lived, would have contested that seat in the general election of 1896. Mr. Dargaville was at one time a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, as the representative of Parnell, being chairman of the local body. When on the provincial council he advocated and carried, by a majority of one, a scheme for supplying the city of Auckland with water from Waitakerei, by gravitation. However, during his temporary absence in the north of Auckland, a counter proposal was carried in favour of the existing pumping system. Mr. Dargaville took the leading part in the projection of the Kaihu railway, which was originally started by a private company, but subsequently fell into the hands of the Government.
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He also took an active part in Volunteering; he was captain of the Auckland City Engineers, and of the Dargaville Volunteers, and a few years before his death was president of the Dargaville Rifle Club. At one time he was United States Consul at Auckland, was Grand Master of the Orange Lodge of New Zealand, and a prominent Mason, being the founder of Lodge St. George, 1801, E.C. Mr. Dargaville died at sea, while returning from a visit to the Old Country on the s.s. “Mariposa,” on the 27th October, 1896.
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Mr. Thomas Peacock
              
              represented several Auckland constituencies for a period of nine years and has had an honourable career as a public man. He was born in Glasgow, and trained as an optician and mathematical instrument maker; he arrived in New Zealand in 1862. Mr. Peacock entered the city council in 1878, and assumed the mayoral chair in November of that year. He was re-elected in 1879, thus holding office for two successive years. The principal event during his mayoralty was the initiation and opening of the Auckland free public library in September, 1880. Mr. Peacock was first elected to a seat in the House of Representatives at the general election of 1881, for Auckland City North. In the following parliament, he represented Newton, and at the general election of 1887 was returned for the new constituency of Ponsonby. Since the close of the tenth parliament in 1890, he has not sought re-election. During the whole of the time in which he occupied a seat in the legislature of the Colony, Mr. Peacock took an active and intelligent interest in the business of the House, and as a member of committees. On the formation of the Stout-Vogel Ministry in 1887, he was offered a portfolio, but, for reasons of a political character, declined to accept office. Mr. Peacock's services have ever been much in request in connection with various public bodies and registered companies, generally as chairman or director. Amongst other important positions held by him, may be mentioned that of chairman of the South British Insurance Company, and he was formerly a vice-president of the Auckland Savings Bank.
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Mr. Edwin Withy,
              who sat in the House of Representatives as Member for Newton, Auckland, from 1887 to 1890, was formerly a member of the British House of Commons. Mr. Withy resides at Waiotahi, near Opotiki.
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Mr. John McEffer Shera,
              who represented Auckland City in the House of Representatives for three years, was elected to that position in 1890 at the head of the poll, and remained a member until the election of 1893. Mr. Shera was born at Cootehill, County Cavan, Ireland, in 1840, and is a son of Mr. John Shera, a timber and general merchant of Cootehill. He was educated at Wesley College, Sheffield, and learned the soft goods business with Messrs. McArthur and Co. at Londonderry. At the conclusion of his apprenticeship he returned to his native town to manage his father's business, but in 1867, when only twenty-seven years of age, received an offer from his old employers to visit South Australia, with power of attorney, to wind up the Adelaide business of the firm. This done, in the following year he crossed over to New Zealand and established the firm of McArthur, Shera and Co. in Auckland, of which he was managing partner. This partnership was dissolved in 1877, but until recently Mr. Shera continued in the soft goods line. He is now a sharebroker with offices in Queen Street. In 1873 Mr. Shera was married to the eldest daughter of the late Colonel Balneavis, and has one daughter and five sons. He holds the position of Commissioner of Education Reserves, is a member of the Conciliation Board for the Auckland Industrial District, and a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank.
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Mr. Charles Edward Button,
              one of the representatives of the Auckland City in the twelfth Parliament (1894–6), was also a member of the sixth Parliament, on that occasion representing Hokitika. Born in Launceston in 1838, he is the seventh son of the late Mr. Button, who arrived in Tasmania in 1833, and was elected at the head of the poll to a seat on the first municipal council. His uncle, the late Hon. W. Button, was the first mayor of Launceston. The subject of this notice was educated at the High School, Hobart, and was articled to Messrs. Douglass, Dawes and Miller, solicitors, of Launceston. The first-named of these gentlemen, Mr. Douglass, afterwards became known as Premier and Agent General of Tasmania. On completing his articles, Mr. Button practised on his own account for a short time in his native town, but came to this Colony in 1863, settling at Invereargill; here he soon made a name for himself, winning golden opinions from the Bench, respect from the Bar, and popularity from the public. Leaving Invereargill in 1865, he went to Hokitika. His first partner was Mr. W. S. Reid, the present Solicitor-General, and the success which had attended his efforts from the start soon became phenomenal. During his West Coast career, Mr. Button was looked up to as the “best authority on mining law in the Colony.” In 1868 he was elected to a seat on the Westland County Council, and about the same time was chosen for the Mayoral Chair of Hokitika. As a member of the County Council, Mr. Button was very useful in frustrating two or three barefaced attempts at political jobbery. A few years later he was induced to stand for Parliament. Notwithstanding his success at the poll, he resigned after the second session (1877), rather than continue



the representative of a constituency which favoured a party he felt bound to oppose. Mr. Button went to Christchurch in 1880, practising there for some two or three years, when he joined the firm of Messrs. Whitaker and Russell, the well-known barristers and solicitors, of Auckland. Of Mr. Button's present firm, Messrs. Buddle, Button and Co., particulars are given under the heading “Legal,” also on page 473 of the Wellington Volume of the “Cyclopedia.” Mr. Button has given lectures on scientific and general subjects for nearly forty years, chemistry and electricity being his favourite subjects. As early as 1863 he lectured and gave experiments on voltaic electricity, attracting large audiences, and delighting them with a brilliant electric light in those “dark” days. In church matters, Mr. Button has always taken an active part. Though generally adhering to the Congregational denomination, he has filled the offices of elder in the Presbyterian Church, Hokitika, and at St. Paul's Presbyterian Church, Christchurch, and was leader of the choir at Hokitika, under Bishop Harper. Though not now actively attached to any church. Mr. Button is a liberal supporter of all. In Auckland he has devoted himself almost exclusively to the work of the Young Men's Christian Association, and gives Sunday afternoon lectures in the fine hall of that society. Though not anxious to return to parliamentary duties, Mr. Button allowed himself to be nominated for Auckland City at the general election of 1896, but was defeated, although he polled over 4000 votes. In 1862 Mr. Button was married to the daughter of Mr. Henry Cowell, of Cullenswood, Tasmania, and has a daughter and a son, the latter being engaged in farming at Birkenhead.
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Mr. James Job Holland,
              sometime a Member of the House of Representatives for Auckland City, was born in Leicester, England, in 1841. The son of Mr. John Holland, he was educated at the British Schools of his native town, and learned the trade of a builder with his father, who was in a fairly large way in Leicester. In 1860 Mr. Holland came to the Colony per ship “Persia,” landing in Auckland in August of that year. After spending some time in the Otago Goldfields during the following year, Mr. Holland returned to the north and was drafted into the first class Militia, and, rising to the position of sergeant, fought with the Imperial troops. The year 1864 found him settled down in business as a builder and contractor. During the third of a century that Mr. Holland has been established, he has built quite a number of the finest buildings in Auckland. Of them the following may fitly be mentioned:—The Baptist Tabernacle, St. Benedict's Church, Newton, all the “Costley” Homes, St. Andrew's spire, the splendid offices of the Mutual Life Association of Australasia, the “Governor Browne” Hotel, the Waverley Hotel, and the Palmerston Buildings. Of the two last mentioned, Mr. Holland was contractor for the brickwork only. Though always well employed in business, Mr. Holland has found time for social and political work of no mean order, having, from very early times, held important positions on highway boards, trade associations, etc. He is a Master Mason, and a past provincial grand master of the Ancient Order of Oddfellows. Now, after an honourable connection with that body of some thirty-six years, he is the senior trustee of the Fountain of Friendship Lodge, No. 3920, and representative to the district grand lodge. He is an hon. member of the Ancient Order of Foresters, a vice-president of several football and cricket clubs, and a member and expresident of the Auckland Bowling Club. In the Industrial Provident Investment and Building Society he occupies the post of president. Of civic duties and honours. Mr. Holland has had a large share. In September, 1886, he was elected as representative of the East Ward in the Auckland City Council, and, after seven years' apprenticeship as a councillor, was chosen for the high office of mayor. In this position Mr. Holland served the city with honour and credit for three successive terms, being returned on each occasion without opposition. Among other services rendered may be mentioned, two terms on the Harbour Board, several on the Charitable Aid Board, and three years on the Auckland College and Grammar School Board and Auckland University College Council ex officio. In all these positions. Mr. Holland's special knowledge of the building trade was most useful, and he cheerfully gave the city the benefit of it. In 1885 Mr. Holland took a well earned holiday trip to England. The position he secured on the poll at the general election in December, 1896, showed how the people of Auckland appreciated their mayor's devotion to the interests of the city. He was not re-elected at the general election of 1899. In 1864 Mr. Holland was married to Miss Agnes Melvin MacKenzie, daughter of the late Mr. Duncan MacKenzie, of Glasgow, and has three daughters and three sons.
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Hon. Thomas Thompson,
              sometime senior member for Auckland City, was returned at the general elections in 1896, by a large majority. There were no less than ten candidates in the field on that occasion in the interests of several conflicting parties. Out of a total of 36,819 votes recorded, Mr. Thompson polled 7,192; Messrs Holland and Crowther being the next two successful candidates for the triple seat. Mr. Thompson is fully referred to on page 1494 of the Wellington volume of this work. He retired from politics and from Mr. Seddon's Government at the close of the year 1899.
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Mr. William Crowther,
              sometime a member for Auckland City, was returned at the general elections in 1896 and was third on the poll, his successful colleagues being Hon. Thomas Thompson, minister of justice and defence, and Mr. Holland, mayor of Auckland. Mr. Crowther was then a very old citizen, who had retired on a competence a few years before. He was for many years an active and hardworking member of the city council and harbour board. After his entry into the wider field of parliamentary life, he proved himself to be an out-spoken, conscientious member, with a sturdy independent spirit. Mr. Crowther was re-elected at the general election of 1899, but died on the 14th of March, 1900.

            

              

[image: Mr. W. Crowther]
Mr. 
W. Crowther


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Foreign Consuls





          
Foreign Consuls.

          

            
Foreign Consuls.

            

              
The foreign Consuls in Auckland are not now (1900) so numerous as they were in former days. Hawaii, for instance, has not been represented in this way since its practical annexation by the United States of America. The Chilian consulate, too, has ceased to exist, and for some time Italy has had no consular officer in the city. Doubtless when occasion calls, consular business on behalf of Italy is managed from other centres, or by the resident Consul of some friendly European Power. Consuls are not always subjects of the countries they represent, nor are they always, even when subjects, specially sent from their native or adopted country. In many cases, they are citizens of the country in which they hold consulships, and are generally commercial or professional men of good standing. They are charged with various definite duties, such as upholding the rights, interests, and privileges of subjects of the country they represent, assisting such subjects when they are in distress, and keeping their Governments informed concerning such commercial or other matters, knowledge of which is likely to be of advantage to them. The countries which at present have consular representatives in Auckland are the United States of America, Germany, Austria-Hungary, France, Belgium, Portugal, Denmark, Sweden, and Norway.

            

            

              
              


                

Herr Eugene Langguth,
                Consul for the Austro-Hungarian Empire, was born in the South of Germany, and educated for commercial life. After occupying several positions as a clerk in Germany, he went to England, where he joined his old friend, Herr Carl Seegner. They both arrived in Auckland in 1884, and founded the present firm of Messrs Seegner, Langguth and Co., merchants and importers. Her Langguth was appointed to his present position in 1897, and during his temporary absence in Europe, his duties were fulfilled by the German Consul.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Burns,
                who was appointed Counsul for Belgium at Auckland in 1898, is well known as resident managing partner of the large hardware firm that bears his name. He was born in Glasgow, Scotland, and brought up to mercantile life. For a considerable time he was in business in his native city, and retired in 1867. Fifteen years later he went into business in London as one of the founders of the associated firms of Brown. Douglas and Co., and Wingate, Burns and Co. Since November, 1885, he has been personally identified with the mercantile life of New Zealand, and has resided in Auckland, except during the year 1896, when he was in London. Mr. Burns has been an active member of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, of which he was chairman in 1898 and 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Eduard Valdemar Johansen,
                Chief Danish Consul in the Colony of New Zealand, and Vice-Consul for Sweden and Norway, is well known in Auckland. His offices are situated in Mining Chambers, Queen Street, and are fitted up with sample and show-rooms for Danish, Swedish, and Norwegian goods. Mr. Johansen was born at Copenhagen in 1853, and is a son of Kammerraad J. P. Johansen. He was educated for the navy and enlisted in the Danish service; for some eleven years he followed a seafaring life, partly in the navy and partly in the merchant service, his rank being lieutenant in the former and captain in the latter. He came to this Colony in 1882, having previously been for some four years secretary to the Danish Consul at Liverpool. On arrival at Auckland, Mr. Johansen entered the counting-house of Messrs. Brown, Barrett and Co., as accountant and confidential clerk, and, after fourteen years in that position, severed his connection with the firm to enter into business on his own account. He was appointed Consul in Auckland, in succession to Mr. F. Kummer, on the 26th of July, 1886, Consul for the North Island in 1893, and Chief Consul for the Colony on the 29th of November, 1894. He is agent for the Danish Exporters' Association. Mr. Johansen, who is decidedly popular and very highly respected, holds a Knighthood in the Order of Franz Joseph I., conferred upon him by the Emperor of Austria. He was initiated into the Masonic Order in Liverpool, as a member of Prince Arthur Lodge, No. 1570, E.C., and is a Past Master Mason of Lodge Ponsonby, No. 54, N.Z.C.; he also takes an interest in pastimes generally. Mr. Johansen was married in 1878 to Miss M. Ramson, daughter of Mr. Hugh White Maynard Ramson, accountant, of Manchester, England, and has three sons.
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Mr. George Dunnet,
               
 Junior, who in 1899 succeeded Mr. Ambrose Millar as Vice-Consul for France, was born at sea in the year 1849, on board the barque “Vesta,” off the Cape of Good Hope, whilst the vessel was making her voyage from Glasgow to Australia. Mr. Dunnet is the eldest son of Mr. George Dunnet, formerly of Thurso, Caithness, Scotland
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but who for the last quarter of a century has been resident of Auckland. He was educated at the Scotch College, Melbourne, and about 1866 came to Auckland and obtained employment with the firm of Hunter and Co. Subsequently he joined the well-known Island traders, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, and is now the firm's resident partner in Auckland. In 1875, Mr. Dunnet was despatched by the firm to the South Seas as supercargo in one of its Circular Saw line of vessels, and was eventually chosen as its agent. During his residence in the Southern Pacific, he was appointed by the firm of W. and A. McArthur and Co., of London, as its representative at Samoa, and retained the position until 1893, when the firm disposed of its interests. Mr. Dunnet then re-joined his old employers as a partner. During his residence in Samoa he was elected a member of the Council appointed by the Tripartite Powers under the Berlin Treaty of 1889. He was chosen to be the first chairman of the council, and continued to be a member until the arrival of the first President appointed under the Treaty, Count Senfft von Pilsach. Mr. Dunnet is an enthusiastic supporter of rowing, swimming and football. He was long a keen and capable exponent of the Rugby game of football, and was captain of the Auckland representatives, who toured the colony in 1875. Mr. Dunnet is at present (1900) vice-president of the Auckland Amateur Athletic Association.

            

            

              
              

                

Herr Carl Seegner,
               
 the Imperial German Consul, is a gentleman who has visited many lands, and has had an extensive mereantile experience. Born in 1848 in the south of Germany, where he was educated and trained for a commercial life, Herr Seegner left the Fatherland at the age of eighteen, and for some three years was engaged in a mercantile house in Paris. After a year of similar occupation in London, he was employed by a large railway firm, and the following seven years were spent at Monte Video and Buenos Ayres, South America, where he had the financial charge of important railway constructions. Returning to London in 1877. Herr Seegner was engaged in England and Scotland until 1884, when he came to Auckland and established the firm of Seegner, Langguth and Co., general merchants and importers. When the position of German Consul became vacant in 1892, through the departure of Mr. Herman Brown, Herr Seegner was appointed to the consulship. Since his appointment, he has visited Europe via Australia, Java, and India, making brief stays at no fewer than eighty-eight cities and towns. Herr Seegner is president of the German Club, and was for many years a member of the council of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce. Further particulars concerning Herr Seegner's firm will be found in another article.
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Mr. Ambrose Millar,
               
 Vice-Consul for the Netherlands, has extensive premises in Firth's Buildings. Albert Street, Auckland. Mr. Millar was born of English parents: his father was Mr. John Graham Millar, flax merchant, of Belgium. He was educated at Rotterdam. and after travelling over the whole European continent was appointed to the charge of that branch of his father's business. Mr. Millar came to the Colony in 1890 in the s.s. “Rimutaka,” and, after spending a considerable time in looking round and gaining information, took a trip to England and the Continent, stopping for a time in all the principal countries of Europe. On returning to Auckland he established the firm of Messrs. A Millar and Co., importers and general merchants. Since settling in Auckland, Mr. Millar has made many
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friends, and in 1895 was married to Miss Banbury, daughter of Mr. John Banbury, one of Auckland's best known mining agents.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Rees George,
                who has acted as Vice-Consul for Portugal since 1885, has long been well known in shipping circles in Auckland. He was born in England in 1844, and spent five years in London in the office of his father, who was a solicitor. Mr. George arrived in Auckland, in 1862, by the ship “William Miles,” and after some years of general colonial experience in New Zealand, was an officer of the Bank of New South Wales for five years. In 1873 he commenced business as an insurance and commission agent in Auckland. His shipping business is transacted under the style of J. A. Barber and Co. Since 1886 Mr. George has represented the Thames and Mersey Marine Insurance Company in Auckland, and has been district agent for the Sun Fire Office of London since 1898. He was married, in 1875, to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Arthur Barber, late of Auckland, and has two sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frank Dillingham,
                Consul for the United States of America, has his office at 204 Queen Street, Auckland.
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Mr. Robert Rose,
                sometime Consul for Italy, has had no successor in the Consulate since his death, which took place in April, 1900. Mr. Rose was well-known in mining circles as legal manager of the Waihi Gold Mining Company, Limited, and of several other gold mining companies.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John D'Arcy Connolly,
                late United States Consul in and for the Colony of New Zealand, was appointed to the post in 1889, and retired when the Republicans came into power after the election of President McKinley in March, 1897. Mr. Connolly is a son of the late Mr. Daniel, Connolly, and was born at Clifton, County Galway, Ireland, in 1854. At a very early age he accompanied his parents to New York, where he was educated at the public schools, and in due course became a railway engineer and contractor. In 1874 he left for Pennsylvania, where he took part in the construction of the Lehigh and Susquehanna railway, and a year later was engaged as an engineer on the construction of the North Pacific railway from San Francisco to Duncan Mills. Mr. Connolly withdrew from his profession in 1889, when he received his commission to represent the United States of America in this Colony, and took up his headquarters at Auckland, where he soon made himself very popular. In 1893, when he left, on sick leave, on a visit to the United States, he was presented with several addresses, expressive of the good wishes of various sections of the community, including leading citizens, Friendly Societies (representing 5000 members), local Irish residents, the women of Auckland, and the Tailoresses' Union. In four months the dry sunny climate of California so far restored Mr. Connolly's health, that he was able to return to his consular duties. While he was in San Francisco Mr. Connolly delivered several lectures on New Zealand, and these were well received by the people of that city. Before entering the consular service, Mr. Connolly had, for about four years, been a member of the Board of Supervisors of Senima County. The board is the highest elective body of the county, and has full control in all county matters. He resigned his position on the 31st of December, 1888, and was appointed consul for New Zealand by Mr. Grover Cleveland, during his first term as President of the United States. Mr. Connolly continued to satisfactorily represent his country during the administration of Mr. Harrison and Mr. Cleveland's second term. He was married in 1878 to Miss Blaney, daughter of Mr. Andrew J. Blaney, of Occidental, a town in Senima County, California, and has a family of three daughters.

              

                

[image: Mr. J. D. Connolly.]
Mr. 
J. D. Connolly.


                
[image: Black and white printer's ornament]

              

            

          

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Foreign Consuls



            
Foreign Consuls.

            

              
The foreign Consuls in Auckland are not now (1900) so numerous as they were in former days. Hawaii, for instance, has not been represented in this way since its practical annexation by the United States of America. The Chilian consulate, too, has ceased to exist, and for some time Italy has had no consular officer in the city. Doubtless when occasion calls, consular business on behalf of Italy is managed from other centres, or by the resident Consul of some friendly European Power. Consuls are not always subjects of the countries they represent, nor are they always, even when subjects, specially sent from their native or adopted country. In many cases, they are citizens of the country in which they hold consulships, and are generally commercial or professional men of good standing. They are charged with various definite duties, such as upholding the rights, interests, and privileges of subjects of the country they represent, assisting such subjects when they are in distress, and keeping their Governments informed concerning such commercial or other matters, knowledge of which is likely to be of advantage to them. The countries which at present have consular representatives in Auckland are the United States of America, Germany, Austria-Hungary, France, Belgium, Portugal, Denmark, Sweden, and Norway.

            

            

              
              


                

Herr Eugene Langguth,
                Consul for the Austro-Hungarian Empire, was born in the South of Germany, and educated for commercial life. After occupying several positions as a clerk in Germany, he went to England, where he joined his old friend, Herr Carl Seegner. They both arrived in Auckland in 1884, and founded the present firm of Messrs Seegner, Langguth and Co., merchants and importers. Her Langguth was appointed to his present position in 1897, and during his temporary absence in Europe, his duties were fulfilled by the German Consul.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Burns,
                who was appointed Counsul for Belgium at Auckland in 1898, is well known as resident managing partner of the large hardware firm that bears his name. He was born in Glasgow, Scotland, and brought up to mercantile life. For a considerable time he was in business in his native city, and retired in 1867. Fifteen years later he went into business in London as one of the founders of the associated firms of Brown. Douglas and Co., and Wingate, Burns and Co. Since November, 1885, he has been personally identified with the mercantile life of New Zealand, and has resided in Auckland, except during the year 1896, when he was in London. Mr. Burns has been an active member of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, of which he was chairman in 1898 and 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Eduard Valdemar Johansen,
                Chief Danish Consul in the Colony of New Zealand, and Vice-Consul for Sweden and Norway, is well known in Auckland. His offices are situated in Mining Chambers, Queen Street, and are fitted up with sample and show-rooms for Danish, Swedish, and Norwegian goods. Mr. Johansen was born at Copenhagen in 1853, and is a son of Kammerraad J. P. Johansen. He was educated for the navy and enlisted in the Danish service; for some eleven years he followed a seafaring life, partly in the navy and partly in the merchant service, his rank being lieutenant in the former and captain in the latter. He came to this Colony in 1882, having previously been for some four years secretary to the Danish Consul at Liverpool. On arrival at Auckland, Mr. Johansen entered the counting-house of Messrs. Brown, Barrett and Co., as accountant and confidential clerk, and, after fourteen years in that position, severed his connection with the firm to enter into business on his own account. He was appointed Consul in Auckland, in succession to Mr. F. Kummer, on the 26th of July, 1886, Consul for the North Island in 1893, and Chief Consul for the Colony on the 29th of November, 1894. He is agent for the Danish Exporters' Association. Mr. Johansen, who is decidedly popular and very highly respected, holds a Knighthood in the Order of Franz Joseph I., conferred upon him by the Emperor of Austria. He was initiated into the Masonic Order in Liverpool, as a member of Prince Arthur Lodge, No. 1570, E.C., and is a Past Master Mason of Lodge Ponsonby, No. 54, N.Z.C.; he also takes an interest in pastimes generally. Mr. Johansen was married in 1878 to Miss M. Ramson, daughter of Mr. Hugh White Maynard Ramson, accountant, of Manchester, England, and has three sons.
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Mr. George Dunnet,
               
 Junior, who in 1899 succeeded Mr. Ambrose Millar as Vice-Consul for France, was born at sea in the year 1849, on board the barque “Vesta,” off the Cape of Good Hope, whilst the vessel was making her voyage from Glasgow to Australia. Mr. Dunnet is the eldest son of Mr. George Dunnet, formerly of Thurso, Caithness, Scotland
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but who for the last quarter of a century has been resident of Auckland. He was educated at the Scotch College, Melbourne, and about 1866 came to Auckland and obtained employment with the firm of Hunter and Co. Subsequently he joined the well-known Island traders, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, and is now the firm's resident partner in Auckland. In 1875, Mr. Dunnet was despatched by the firm to the South Seas as supercargo in one of its Circular Saw line of vessels, and was eventually chosen as its agent. During his residence in the Southern Pacific, he was appointed by the firm of W. and A. McArthur and Co., of London, as its representative at Samoa, and retained the position until 1893, when the firm disposed of its interests. Mr. Dunnet then re-joined his old employers as a partner. During his residence in Samoa he was elected a member of the Council appointed by the Tripartite Powers under the Berlin Treaty of 1889. He was chosen to be the first chairman of the council, and continued to be a member until the arrival of the first President appointed under the Treaty, Count Senfft von Pilsach. Mr. Dunnet is an enthusiastic supporter of rowing, swimming and football. He was long a keen and capable exponent of the Rugby game of football, and was captain of the Auckland representatives, who toured the colony in 1875. Mr. Dunnet is at present (1900) vice-president of the Auckland Amateur Athletic Association.

            

            

              
              

                

Herr Carl Seegner,
               
 the Imperial German Consul, is a gentleman who has visited many lands, and has had an extensive mereantile experience. Born in 1848 in the south of Germany, where he was educated and trained for a commercial life, Herr Seegner left the Fatherland at the age of eighteen, and for some three years was engaged in a mercantile house in Paris. After a year of similar occupation in London, he was employed by a large railway firm, and the following seven years were spent at Monte Video and Buenos Ayres, South America, where he had the financial charge of important railway constructions. Returning to London in 1877. Herr Seegner was engaged in England and Scotland until 1884, when he came to Auckland and established the firm of Seegner, Langguth and Co., general merchants and importers. When the position of German Consul became vacant in 1892, through the departure of Mr. Herman Brown, Herr Seegner was appointed to the consulship. Since his appointment, he has visited Europe via Australia, Java, and India, making brief stays at no fewer than eighty-eight cities and towns. Herr Seegner is president of the German Club, and was for many years a member of the council of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce. Further particulars concerning Herr Seegner's firm will be found in another article.
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 Vice-Consul for the Netherlands, has extensive premises in Firth's Buildings. Albert Street, Auckland. Mr. Millar was born of English parents: his father was Mr. John Graham Millar, flax merchant, of Belgium. He was educated at Rotterdam. and after travelling over the whole European continent was appointed to the charge of that branch of his father's business. Mr. Millar came to the Colony in 1890 in the s.s. “Rimutaka,” and, after spending a considerable time in looking round and gaining information, took a trip to England and the Continent, stopping for a time in all the principal countries of Europe. On returning to Auckland he established the firm of Messrs. A Millar and Co., importers and general merchants. Since settling in Auckland, Mr. Millar has made many
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friends, and in 1895 was married to Miss Banbury, daughter of Mr. John Banbury, one of Auckland's best known mining agents.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Rees George,
                who has acted as Vice-Consul for Portugal since 1885, has long been well known in shipping circles in Auckland. He was born in England in 1844, and spent five years in London in the office of his father, who was a solicitor. Mr. George arrived in Auckland, in 1862, by the ship “William Miles,” and after some years of general colonial experience in New Zealand, was an officer of the Bank of New South Wales for five years. In 1873 he commenced business as an insurance and commission agent in Auckland. His shipping business is transacted under the style of J. A. Barber and Co. Since 1886 Mr. George has represented the Thames and Mersey Marine Insurance Company in Auckland, and has been district agent for the Sun Fire Office of London since 1898. He was married, in 1875, to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Arthur Barber, late of Auckland, and has two sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frank Dillingham,
                Consul for the United States of America, has his office at 204 Queen Street, Auckland.
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Mr. Robert Rose,
                sometime Consul for Italy, has had no successor in the Consulate since his death, which took place in April, 1900. Mr. Rose was well-known in mining circles as legal manager of the Waihi Gold Mining Company, Limited, and of several other gold mining companies.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John D'Arcy Connolly,
                late United States Consul in and for the Colony of New Zealand, was appointed to the post in 1889, and retired when the Republicans came into power after the election of President McKinley in March, 1897. Mr. Connolly is a son of the late Mr. Daniel, Connolly, and was born at Clifton, County Galway, Ireland, in 1854. At a very early age he accompanied his parents to New York, where he was educated at the public schools, and in due course became a railway engineer and contractor. In 1874 he left for Pennsylvania, where he took part in the construction of the Lehigh and Susquehanna railway, and a year later was engaged as an engineer on the construction of the North Pacific railway from San Francisco to Duncan Mills. Mr. Connolly withdrew from his profession in 1889, when he received his commission to represent the United States of America in this Colony, and took up his headquarters at Auckland, where he soon made himself very popular. In 1893, when he left, on sick leave, on a visit to the United States, he was presented with several addresses, expressive of the good wishes of various sections of the community, including leading citizens, Friendly Societies (representing 5000 members), local Irish residents, the women of Auckland, and the Tailoresses' Union. In four months the dry sunny climate of California so far restored Mr. Connolly's health, that he was able to return to his consular duties. While he was in San Francisco Mr. Connolly delivered several lectures on New Zealand, and these were well received by the people of that city. Before entering the consular service, Mr. Connolly had, for about four years, been a member of the Board of Supervisors of Senima County. The board is the highest elective body of the county, and has full control in all county matters. He resigned his position on the 31st of December, 1888, and was appointed consul for New Zealand by Mr. Grover Cleveland, during his first term as President of the United States. Mr. Connolly continued to satisfactorily represent his country during the administration of Mr. Harrison and Mr. Cleveland's second term. He was married in 1878 to Miss Blaney, daughter of Mr. Andrew J. Blaney, of Occidental, a town in Senima County, California, and has a family of three daughters.
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In 1851 the Common Council of Auckland was elected under a special charter. The following were the councillors:—East Town Ward, Mr. Edwin Davy; Middle Town Ward, Mr. Archibald Clark; West Town Ward, Mr. Patrick Dignan; Suburban East Ward, Mr. F. W. Merriman; Suburban South Ward, Mr. A. B. Abraham; Suburban West Ward, Mr. James O'Neill; Onehunga Ward, Mr. S. Norman; Panmure Ward, Mr T. M. Haultain; Otahuhu Ward, Mr. J. A. Hickson; Howick Ward, Mr. A. Macdonald; Epsom East Ward, Mr. John Newman; Epsom West Ward, Mr. William Powditch; Tamaki West Ward, Mr William J. Taylor; Tamaki East Ward, Mr. William Mason. Mr. Archibald Clark was elected Mayor. The council held office for only one year, for, in 1852, when the next election was advertised, so little interest was taken in the proceedings that they fell through for want of a quorum. The Provincial Council, therefore, finding that no governing body existed, framed an act to form a town board or board of commissioners, and on the 30th of May, 1863, a public notification was issued by Mr. Robert Graham, as Superintendent of the Province of Auckland, setting forth that “The City Board of Commissioners” was constituted by an Act of the Auckland Provincial Council, entitled the “City Board Act, 1863, for the purposes of the better government of the City of Auckland.” After the elections, which occupied two days—the 28th and 29th of May—the Board was declared to consist of Messrs Thomas Macready and David Graham (East Ward No. 1); Mr Thomas Macfarlane (East Ward No. 2); Mr Richard Ridings (East Ward No. 3); Messrs John Finlay and Andrew Beveridge (West Ward No. 1); Mr Patrick Darby (West Ward No. 2); and Messrs Herbert Ashton and George Webster (West Ward No. 3). Of these once well-known citizens Mr. Patrick Darby is now (1900) the sole survivor.

            
At the first meeting of the Auckland City Board of Commissioners, or “The City Board,” as it was familiarly termed, which was held on the 2nd of June, 1863, Mr Beveridge was elected chairman at a salary of £175 per annum. This election created a vacancy in the representation of West Ward No. 1, to fill which Mr. (now the Hon.) William Swanson was elected. Mr. H. D. Morpeth was appointed to the offices of clerk and secretary at a salary of £150; and at a remuneration of £300 per annum Mr. James Stewart was installed as the first City Engineer. Messrs William Aitken and Hugh Reid were the valuators. On the 2nd of February, 1864, Mr. William Anderson, who for so many years has held the position of City Engineer, was made Foreman of Works.

            
Tuesday in each week, at four o'clock, was the time fixed for the meetings of the Board; and the first public work ordered was the repairing of the “Stairs at the Head of Custom House Street”—the “Jacob's Ladder” so well remembered by the old residents.

            
A rate of sixpence in the £ for general purposes was struck on the 8th of September, 1863, and Mr J. W. Diddams was appointed collector, at a remuneration of £150 per annum, and two and a half per cent. of the amount collected. Mr. Herbert Ashton was appointed honorary treasurer. The total revenue of the Board for the first thirteen months of its existence was £16,341 11s 10d, and of this sum £10,900 7s 9d came from the Provincial Treasury.

            
Mr. David Graham, Mr. John Watson Bain, Mr. George Webster, Dr. Lee and Mr. P. A. Philips followed Mr. Beveridge in the chairmanship in the order named, the last-mentioned being elected on the 16th of December, 1869.

            
There can be no doubt that the old City Board did much useful work, but its power for good was greatly hampered by the peculiar and poorly defined relationship between the City and the Provincial authorities. The awkwardness of this doubtful relationship is noticeable throughout, but particularly in the records of the meeting of the 29th of December, 1864, at which two letters were read from the Superintendent, the first declining to contribute half the cost of repairing Ponsonby Road, and the second requesting the Board to repair a portion of Karangahape Road. His Honour was requested to reconsider both his letters. With this kind of see-sawing in full swing, it was impossible that anything like a satisfactory condition of the city could be achieved, and it was a lucky day for Auckland when the old Board gave place to the Auckland City Council, which came into existence in 1871. The fact that the Borough was proclaimed under the Municipal Corporations Act of 1867 shows that little time was lost in securing for Auckland the advantages vouchsafed by that statute. The credit for this promptness fairly belongs to Mr. P. A. Philips, then chairman of the City Board, and afterwards longer and better known as town clerk of Auckland. Through his initiative Auckland was constituted a borough under “The Municipal Corporations Act, 1867,” on the 24th of April, 1871, and at a meeting of the City Board of Commissioners, held on the morning of Monday, the 22nd of May, Mr. Philips read the proclamation in the General Government Gazette, and declared the City Board duly incorporated as the Municipal Council. The members of this board, who thus became the first City Councillors of Auckland, under the new constitution, were:—Messrs Atkin, Asher, Bugden, George, Hampton, Macready, Staines, Smart, and Tonks. These members, at the same meeting, elected Mr. Philips as the first mayor of Auckland under the new Municipal Corporations Act. After holding the position for three years in succession, Mr. Philips declined further re-election to the mayoralty, and accepted the more permanent, though less prominent, office of Town Clerk. Since then Auckland has had fifteen mayors, and of her ex-mayors, Messrs Tonks, J. Hurst, Clark, Waddel, Boardman, and Crowther are now dead, but Messrs Philips, Prime, Brett, Peacock, Devore, Upton, Holland and Dignan are all still more or less actively engaged in commercial and political pursuits.

            
When the Borough of Auckland was instituted it consisted of the North, South and East Wards only, Grafton, Karangahape and Ponsonby Wards being added in 1884, when the number of councillors was increased from nine to eighteen. Though the Borough now consists of 1762 acres, and is joined by the Boroughs of Parnell, Newmarket and Grey Lynn, with Devonport and Birkenhead separated only by the harbour, there are still some thickly populated parts, adjoining the city and certainly belonging to it, which are not included in any borough, and therefore, not mentioned in the quarterly returns of the Registrar-General. Much confusion is caused by this, as upwards of 12,000 citizens are omitted entirely from the quarterly returns, and even in the annual returns. The figures for the “road districts” are the same for every year of the quinquennial period. Yet some of these road districts, such as Mount Eden, for instance, are more closely connected with the city than are the suburban boroughs, and not beyond the latter as a casual reader would suppose. That Auckland suffers by the discrepancy between the real population of the city and suburbs and the quarterly published figures is beyond question; and it is, therefore, satisfactory to note an agitation in favour of a “Greater Auckland” to include all the suburbs.
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Revenue and Expenditure.

            
The buildings of Auckland City proper number about 8000, and are increasing with fair rapidity. The annual ratable value of the property of the borough is about a third of a million. For the year ending the 31st of March, 1899, the Council's total receipts amounted to £69,184 3s 2d, the various items being—General rates, £14,615 0s 6d; special rates £15,200 13s; water rates, £16,458 3s 11d; rents, £9009 8s 1d, and licenses, £4969 8s 10d. Besides the general rate of 9d. in the £ of annual rental, there are a special



rate of one shilling and threepence, a water consumers' rate of sixpence, a charitable aid rate of threepence, and a library rate of a halfpenny. This total of 2s 9 1/2d is about sixpence in the £ less than the total rates of Wellington. Of the expenditure, the largest items are—interest on loans (which amount to £449,900), £25,233 11s 2d; construction and maintenance of roads and streets, £18,291 14s 8d; drainage, £1,424 4s. The streets are of a total length of about fifty miles, and are nearly all formed and metalled.
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Water Supply.

            
The water supply, though not all that might be desired in the matter of quantity, is fairly equal to present requirements, even in dry seasons. It is obtained from the “Western Springs,” about four miles from the heart of the City, and has been satisfactory for nearly a quarter of a century. The altitude of the supply is but 23 feet above sea level, and the water has, therefore, to be pumped and forced into the reservoirs. Of these there are four, the highest being on the brow of Mount Eden, at an altitude of 498 feet; the intermediate one is near the corner of Khyber Pass Road in Symonds Street (302 feet), and the two lowest (232 feet each) are at the corner of Karangahape and Ponsonby Roads. From these reservoirs the city, the suburban boroughs of Parnell, Grey Lynn and Newmarket, and the road districts of Archhill, Eden Terrace and Mount Eden are all well served, the Mount Eden reservoir being used only for the higher levels. The annual consumption is about 700 million gallons, and the pressure averages about 120 pounds. The cost of the waterworks, including purchase of site, stands at about £200,000, but the interest paid by the City on this sum is partly provided by the sale of the water to the suburban boroughs and districts.
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Baths.

            
The fresh water baths, which are the property of the Council, are well supplied with fresh water at all times except during very dry seasons, when salt water is pumped up from the harbour. The baths are situated immediately behind the market, and are in every way creditable to the City. The charge for bathing is a penny ordinarily, but when the sea water has to be pumped this charge is doubled. Twopence is the regular charge at the salt-water-baths, which also are very fine. These are situated near the yards of the Kauri Timber Company, in Customs Street West.
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Street Lighting.

            
The lighting of Auckland is contracted for by the Auckland Gas Company, and about 400 incandescent gas lamps are used for the purpose. There are certainly too few to satisfactorily light the city, though Queen Street, the principal business throughfare, is by no means badly lighted.
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Drainage.

            
The very healthy climate of Auckland is perhaps the reason why the drainage of the city has not so far been completed, but there is now in hand a scheme whereby it is hoped to reduce the death rate, which to-day is higher than it should be for a city so situated. Of the city's 1762 acres, an area of about 1100 acres has been well drained with brick and pipe sewers, laid in the streets and gullies. The principal portion yet to be drained is in the Ponsonby Ward, or western end, which is yet but thinly populated.
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City Council.

            

              
              


                

                  The City Council
                
                consists of eighteen members, in addition to the Mayor—three for each of the six wards, into which the city is divided, and six of the eighteen are elected annually by the burgesses in the month of September. The Council itself occupies a handsome suite of offices in the large pile of buildings, erected under the Costley bequest for a Free Library and Art Gallery. This occupation is generally regarded as temporary and it is publicly recognised that the importance of the city renders it incumbent upon its municipal authorities to grace Auckland with a suitable town hall, which should be at once dignified and ornamental. A site at the junction of Grey and Upper Queen Streets has been set aside for that purpose.

            

            

              
              


                
His Worship The Mayor, 
Mr. David Goldie,
                is one of Auckland's best known and most widely respected citizens. His occupancy of the chief civic chair is not due to any personal desire on his part, but to regard for the well-evidenced wish of the ratepayers to place a strong and reliable financier at the head of the Council's affairs. The Council's finances had been going from bad to worse, and called for a mayor willing for the sake of the city's credit, to take a firm stand and risk the chances of opprobrium by cutting down unnecessary expenditure and looking well after the City's income. In undertaking and carrying out this disagreeable work Mr. Goldie has earned the thanks of the community. He is now (October, 1990) closing his second consecutive year of office, and has definitely announced his decision not to seek re-election.

            

            

              
              

Councillor 

James Muir Paterson,  who represents Grafton Ward in the Auckland City Council, was born in Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1833. Receiving his education in his native county, he served an apprenticeship to the building trade in Greenock, and left Scotland for New Zealand in November, 1859, in the good ship “Lord Burleigh,” arriving at Auckland on the 26th of February, 1860. After working at his trade for some years, he bought a piece of ground in Grafton Road, and built a cottage upon it. This was the starting point of his career as a builder in Auckland. From that to the present time he has executed a large number of contracts, and has earned for himself a comfortable completency. Mr. Paterson no longer engages in active work, but is now able to enjoy the fruits of his past labours, and may be found on sunny afternoons enjoying a game of bowls. In the early days he served as a Volunteer and Militia man, being engaged in the Maori War of 1863. Councillor Paterson has been a member of the City Council for eleven years. His private residence is situated in Park Avenue, where he owns some very picturesque villas. Mr. Paterson was married in New Zealand, and has three sons and three daughters.
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Councillor Robert Farrell
                
                has represented the South Ward in the Auckland City Council since 1889. He was born in Lisnaskea, County Fermanagh, Ireland, in 1841, and brought up to the calling of a builder. In 1863, Mr. Farrell arrived in Auckland by the ship “Queen of Beauty,” and has since carried on business in Auckland and at the Thames, to which he went as a pioneer in February, 1868. While there he was a member of the Kauaeranga school committee and of the Thames Borough Council and Hospital Board. He returned to Auckland in 1884, and was elected to the Auckland city schools committee, of which he was a member till he became a member of the Auckland Board of Education in 1897. He was captain of the Thames Rifle Rangers for many years. Mr. Farrell has been Grand Master of the Grand Orange Lodge of New Zealand, and is a Freemason.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor John William Rewson
                
                represents the Grafton Ward in the Auckland City Council. He was born in 1847, and came with his parents to the Colony in 1860. As a city councillor he has given satisfaction to his constituents, who have kept him in the council since 1889.

            

            

              
              
Councillor 

Alfred Kidd 
 is one of the oldest sitting members of the Auckland City Council, having been elected in 1885. He resigned in 1888, but, after a brief period, was re-elected, and has held a seat ever since. He is and has been for several years past chairman of the Streets Committee, and is also a member of the Library Committee. He was previously chairman of the Finance Committee. Councillor Kidd is a member of the Costley Trust Board, and in all local matters takes great interest, having held a seat on most local boards. The subject of this notice was born at Hounslow, Middlesex, England, and arrived in New Zealand in 1865, when



fourteen years of age, finding employment in the country districts for a time. On the opening of the Thames Goldfields, he gravitated thitherwards, and “has seen it develop
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from a canvas town—there being only one wooden house then (Sheehan's)—to its present proportions.” After working as a miner with varied success for seven years, he left to take the position of providore for the steamers of the Waikato Steam Navigation Company. The opening of the railways taking the passenger traffic from the river, Mr. Kidd came to Auckland and entered into the hotelkeeping business. He has been twenty years in the Commercial Hotel (the oldest licensed house, it is claimed, in New Zealand—dating from 1841). He has taken an active interest in matters connected with the “trade,” and held the position of president of the Licensed Victuallers Association for many years. As a Druid, Mr. Kidd was district president for thirteen years, and one of the founders of the Friendly Societies Conference. He was initiated into Freemasonry by the late Mr. Alex. Brodie, in the Sir Walter Scott Lodge, Thames, twenty-six years ago. On leaving the Thames, he joined the old “Ara,” Auckland, and passed through all the chairs of that lodge; he was later on elected master of Lodge Waiuku. Mr. Kidd has also passed the chair in the Royal Arch Chapter and 18 degree. For two years he was president of the Board of General Purposes for the Grand Lodge of New Zealand, and was then elected grand senior warden. In sporting matters. Mr. Kidd has held his own, and has been the possessor of several good horses, notably “St. Hippo,” whom he sold to the Messrs. Nathan. He is a steward of the Auckland Racing Club. In mining matters he is also largely concerned, and is a director of a great many companies, while he takes a keen interest in farming, which he carries on in what is known as the Aka Swamp. He has about 1500 acres of land, said to be second to none in the North Island. He is chairman of the Aka Aka Drainage Board. Mr. Kidd is married to a lady deservedly popular in their business. They have three sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              
Councillor 

Frederick Ehrenfried Baume, 
 who is one of the representatives of East Ward in the Auckland City Council, was born at Dunedin. He is a son of the late Mr. Joseph Baume, of that city, and nephew of the late Mr. Louis Ehrenfried, of Auckland. Mr. Baume received his early education at the Thames and Dunedin High Schools, and subsequently attended the Otago and Auckland University Colleges. While at the Otago University, he took the Mental Science prize in 1885, and, two years later, carried off the prize for Political Economy.
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Mr. Baume was admitted to practice as a barrister and solicitor in Dunedin in 1884, and took the degree of Bachelor of Laws in 1890, in Auckland, where he has practised his profession since 1887. He entered into partnership in 1896 with Mr. A. E. Whitaker, son of the late Sir Frederick Whitaker, under the style of Whitaker and Baume. For some years Mr. Baume was president of the Auckland Students' Association and of the Graduates' Association. He is closely associated with the Auckland University, being popular with the graduates and taking much interest in promoting the welfare of the college. Keenly interested in all kinds of athletics, he is vice-president of a number of clubs. As a member of the Auckland University Amateur Dramatic Society, Mr. Baume gained renown as an actor. As a lecturer he excels, his “Evening with Rudyard Kipling” being considered one of the finest lectures delivered in Auckland. He has also written a good many verses of no ordinary merit. In 1893 Mr. Baume was elected unopposed to a seat in the City Council, and has been re-elected without opposition at subsequent elections. Mr. Baume has been president of the Auckland Natives' Association, and was chosen by delegates sent to Wellington as the first president of the New Zealand Natives' Association, which embraces the whole Colony. He has also been president of the Auckland Law Institute, is a member of the council of Auckland Law Society, and was the first captain of No. 3 New Zealand Native Volunteers, of which he is now honorary captain. He is also one of the law examiners of the New Zealand University.

            

            

              
              
Councillor 

James Stichbury, 
 J. P., who represents Ponsonby Ward in the Auckland City Council, was born in London in 1843, and was brought up as a licensed victualler. He came to Auckland in 1861, and entered the service of the firm of Nathan, Stichbury and Jervis, storekeepers and importers (now L. D. Nathan and Co.). In 1862 he joined his cousin in the auctioneering business, but after five years removed to the Thames, where he worked as a miner and amalgamator. Subsequently Mr. Stichbury returned to Auckland, and was with Messrs. Cochrane and Sons, the well-known auctioneers, for twelve years. Since 1882 he has been in business as an hotel broker, estate agent, and valuator. In local politics, Mr. Stichbury has represented the Ponsonby Ward in the City Council since 1894, and been chairman of the Auckland Hospital Board, of the Charitable Aid Board, and of the trustees of the Costley Home; he is also a member of the Auckland Harbour Board. In the Ancient Order of Foresters, Mr. Stichbury is past district chief ranger, district treasurer, and a member of the district executive. He has
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always taken a great interest in outdoor sports, and one of his sons—Mr. Charles Stichbury—was for many years a member of the Auckland representative Rugby Union



teams. Councillor Stichbury served through the Waikato War during 1863–4 as a first-class militia man. He is married and has three children.

            

            

              
              

                

                  
Councillor Charles Grey
                
               
 succeeded his father, the late Mr. John Grey, as one of the representatives of the East ward on the City Council of Auckland in September,
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1896, and was returned unopposed in the following year. He was born at Ballarat, Victoria, in 1859, and educated at Mr. Hallaway's school, Thames, and at the Auckland College under Mr. McVay Baird. Mr. Grey was brought up to business by his father, and was a member of the firm of John Grey and Sons from 1890 to 1896. Since the death of his father he has been sole proprietor of the business, which is referred to in another article. Mr. Grey has twice visited England and Ireland in the interests of the business. He has held office as president of the Auckland Poultry Association since 1895, and has been president of the Old Chums' and School-fellows' Association since its inception in October, 1894. As a Freemason he was initiated in Lodge Waitemata, 689, E.C., in 1880, and has been a W.M. on three occasions. He is a Past District Grand Senior Warden, and has also taken the Mark, Royal Arch, and 18th degrees. Mr. Grey was married, in 1897, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Edwards, of the Thames, and has one son and one daughter.

            

            

              
              
Councillor 

James Jamieson, 
 who sits as a representative of Karangahake Ward in the Auckland City Council, was born in Parnell in 1851. His parents, Mr. and Mrs. William Jamieson, arrived at Auckland in the year 1842 in the ship “Jane Gifford.” Mr Jamieson was educated under the Rev. A. French, and was in the office of the “New Zealand Herald” for two years, but left at the end of that time to learn the trade of a carpenter and builder with his father, who was then executing Government contracts. Attracted to the Thames Goldfields in 1869, he searched for the precious metal without success for eighteen months. He then returned to Auckland and resumed his trade with his father, working as a journeyman till 1890, when he bought a tobacconist's business in Karangahape Road. Mr. Jamieson has always taken a very active interest in Friendly Societies, and has been a member of the Foresters' Order since 1871. On five separate occasions he has held the office of chief ranger, and, on completion of his last term, was the recipient of a very handsome gold medal, presented by the court in recognition of his valuable services. The brethren also presented him with a beautifully framed painting of himself, to commemorate the circumstance of his being the only member of the craft in the Colony to attain the distinction of being so often chief ranger. He is a member of the Grand Loyal Orange Lodge of New Zealand, and of Lodge Eden, of the Masonic order. Mr. Jamieson has been identified with public affairs for many years,
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and in 1896, having been requisitioned to stand for the City Council, was elected to the position which he now holds.

            

            

              
              

                

Councillor Robert Salmon,
               
 who represents Karangahape Ward in the Auckland City Council, was born in Middlesex, England. He was apprenticed to the butchering trade, but afterwards followed a seafaring life for some years. Mr. Salmon came to New Zealand about 1868, and was engaged on vessels trading between New Zealand, Sydney, and Newcastle, and afterwards in the Waikato river trade. He finally gave up the sea and settled in Auckland, and began butchering in Ponsonby, but as his business developed, he opened premises in Lower Queen Street, and now owns three of the finest butcher shops in the city, and employs about twenty-five hands. Mr. Salmon has also developed the tinned meat industry, and there is such a demand for his tinned meats in New Zealand and the Islands and in South Africa, that he has had to enlarge his premises in Wakefield Street, where this branch of his business is carried on under the supervision of his son. His tinned meats figure considerably in the Colony's lists of exports. At the request of the trade, Mr. Salmon went to Wellington and interviewed the Government
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on behalf of the Auckland butchers in connection with the Slaughterhouse and Inspection of Meat Bill, and got the Bill satisfactorily passed with the help of the Auckland members. In 1898 Mr. Salmon was returned by a large majority to represent the Karangahape Ward, and since his return he has done good work for the city. He is a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Boards; president of the Butchers' Association; and represented the city with the Mayor, Mr. D. Goldie, at the Municipal Conference in July, 1900.

            

            

              
              

                

Councillor Andrew Jack Entrican,
               
 who represents the South Ward in the Auckland City Council, is the senior partner in the well-known firm of Messrs. A. J. Entrican and Co., merchants, Customs Street. He was born in the north of Ireland in 1858,—the son of Mr. Robert Entrican, farmer, of Craigmonaghan House, Castle Derg, County Tyrone. Educated at the Edwards School, Mr. Entrican entered commercial life in 1874 with Mr. Andrew Rosborough, general merchant, of Londonderry. In January, 1880, he arrived in the Colony in the ship “Ben Nevis,” landing at Auckland. Seven years later, having in the meantime had experience in the retail grocery business and as a commercial traveller, he began his present venture, and made rapid strides towards prosperity. In 1892 Mr. Entrican took a trip Home, and on his return took into partnership his brother, Mr. J. C. Entrican. The



subject of this notice has carefully avoided politics, though he has ever been ready to further objects of usefulness. He has been and still is a hard worker in connection with St. James' Presbyterian Church, in which he occupies the offices of elder, treasurer, and superintendent of the Sunday school. He was a member of the Union Parliament, and vice-president of St. James' Literary Society. During his days of apprenticeship Mr. Entrican was a most diligent student of art classes, conducted under the South Kensington Science and Art Department, and carried off no fewer than fourteen certificates, the principal subjects being:—Acoustics, light and heat, magnetism, electricity, mathematics, agricultural chemistry, and physical geography. He occasionally contributes to the local press, and takes much
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interest in the affairs of the city. Mr. Entrican was married, in 1883, to Miss Mackay, eldest daughter of Captain Richard Mackay, ship owner and builder.

            

            

              
              

                

Councillor Thomas Taylor Masefield,
               
 who represents the North Ward in the Auckland City Council, was born at Ellerton Hall, Newport, Shropshire, England, in 1842, and served an apprenticeship with Messrs E. T. Wright and Son, as an engineer, at the Goscote ironworks, near Walsall, Staffordshire. In 1862 he came to New Zealand, in the ship “Avalanche,” and landed at Auckland. He has ever since been identified with the growth of the city, and has taken a very active part in public affairs. Shortly after his arrival Mr. Masefield joined Mr. Vickery in establishing his present business. This partnership was dissolved about 1870, and the business has since then been carried on solely by Mr. Masefield under the style of Masefield and Co., ironworkers, ironfounders, and engineers. Two of his sons are associated with him in his business. For many years Mr. Masefield was a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, on which he represented the Ponsonby district; he is a Freemason and a member of the United Service Lodge, I.C. Mr. Masefiled married Miss Evans, a daughter of one of Auckland's earliest colonists, and
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they have a family of two sons and one daughter. His private residence is at Home Bay, Ponsonby. Mr. Masefield's business is noticed in another article.

            

            

              
              

                

Councillor John Henry Hannan,
               
 J.P., who represents the North Ward in the
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Auckland City Council, was born in the Vale of Avoca, County Wicklow, Ireland, in March, 1858; and is the youngest son of the late Mr. Matthew Hannan, a farmer and freehold land-owner in County Carlow. Mr. Hannan received his education at the Coolgraney national school and from private tutors. He served his apprenticeship to the drapery trade with Messrs Fitzhenry and Co., Arklow, for five years, when he entered the service of A. Davis and Co., Drogheda. He was also employed by Messrs A. McHinch and Co., Alma House, Dundalk, and Messrs O'Brien and Co., Waterford. Mr. Hannan left for New Zealand, in 1879, by the ship “Earl Granville.” On arriving in Auckland he entered the service of the well-known firm of Messrs Sumerfield and Leck, wholesale and retail drapers, and severed his connection with it to start for himself in Victoria Street, where he still carries on a most successful business. In 1880 he was elected a member of the Auckland City schools committee, and was re-elected in 1881 at the head of the poll. At the end of the year he resigned on account of meeting with a serious accident on board the Devonport Steam Ferry Company's boat “Alexandra,” which incapacitated him for some years. In 1892 he was appointed a Justice of the Peace, and Visiting Justice to Her Majesty's prison at Auckland, by the Hon. John Ballance's Ministry, his being the first appointment by the whole Cabinet in New Zealand. He was elected to the Auckland City Council in September, 1899, after a fierce contest, in which he defeated his opponent, Mr. Smeaton, by a large majority. Mr. Smeaton was strongly supported by the mayor, the Ratepayers' Association, and members of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Hannan is a vice-president of the Band of Hope Union and a member of the Devonport Presbyterian Church. In October, 1885, he married Miss Potter, in the Alexandra Street Church, the Rev. W. S. Potter, brother of the bride, performing the ceremony.

            

            

              
              

                

Councillor Christopher James Parr,
               
 who represents the Ponsonby Ward in the Auckland City Council, was born at Cambridge, Waikato, in 1869, his father being the well known farmer, Mr. Reuben Parr. Mr. Parr was educated at the
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Thames where he won a district scholarship of £45, which entitled him to three years' tuition at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and where he gained eleven prizes and was Dux of the school. He afterwards passed the Civil Service examinations, and secured the second place in the Senior Civil Service Class for the whole of the Colony. After securing these honours he served three years articles in a lawyer's office, and passed his Barrister's final law examination at the age of twenty. In 1890 he was admitted to the Bar by Mr. Justice Conolly and commenced practice in 1892. Mr. Parr is considered one of the most talented and rising young barristers in the city, where he has acquired an extensive and lucrative practice. Mr. Parr was initiated into Freemasonry in Lodge St. Andrew, 418, Scotch Constitution, and after filling various offices was elected Worshipful Master in 1896. He also was exalted into the Royal Arch chapter 1338 English Constitution in the same year.

            

            

              
              

                

                  
Councillor Robert Tudehope
                
               
 is a Representative of the South Ward in the City Council, and one of the four members sent by the Council to the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He was elected to the council in September, 1899. Mr. Tudehope was born in Auckland in 1853, and served his apprenticeship with the late Mr. T. D. Worfolk. Since 1875 he has carried on business on his own account as a plumber and gasfitter. He takes an interest in literary and debating societies, and was a member of the
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Auckland Union Parliament. In 1881 Mr Tudehope was married to a daughter of Mr. Robert Bartley, of Auckland, and has four sons.

            

            

              
              

                

Councillor Graves Aickin,
               
 who represents Grafton Ward in the Auckland City Council, is the well-known chemist of Queen Street. He was born in County Antrim, Ireland, and educated at the Rev. J. K. Anderson's seminary, Belfast, and he studied his profession under his uncle, Dr. Aickin, of that city. In 1862 Mr. Aickin went to San Francisco,
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and came to Auckland in September, 1863. After his arrival in New Zealand Mr. Aickin started farming, and was for about eighteen months engaged in that business with his cousin, Dr. Thomas Aickin, of Avondale. Not being satisfied with his prospect as a farmer, he removed to the city and opened a chemist's shop in Karangahape Road in 1865. There he remained until 1870, when he went to the Thames goldfields, and established a business, but soon returned to Karangahape Road. About 1875 he removed to the city, in consequence of the expansion of his business, and took premises in the same block in which his present fine establishment is situated in Queen Street. Since then his business has been one of great dimensions. Mr. Aickin first entered public life as representative of East Ward, and filled the position for seven years with credit to himself and benefit to the city. During the same period he was chairman of the Auckland Harbour Board. It was during his chairmanship that the board let the contract for the construction of the Calliope Dock, and during his councillorship the Albert Park, one of the most beautiful parks in the Colony, was laid out, and he also took an active part in the organisation of the Free Library. In the present year (1900) Mr. Aickin again entered public life, and was returned unopposed to represent the Grafton Ward. During his long residence in Auckland Mr. Aickin has held other honourable public positions. He has been chairman of the Chamber of Commerce, chairman of the Chamber of Mines, president of the Ratepayers' Association, and member of the Auckland Museum Institute. Mr. Aickin has always been identified with gold mining, and has done a great deal to develop the industry in the Hauraki Peninsula. He married a daughter of the late Dr. Philson.

            

            

              
              

                

                  
Councillor Arthur Charles Atkin
                
               
 represents North Ward in the City Council. He is the eldest son of the late Mr. Charles Atkin, who was a prominent member of the City Council, and senior partner of Atkin Bros., proprietors of the Cousins and Atkin Carriage Factory, Elliott Street. Mr. Atkin was born at Louth, Lincolnshire, England, and at the early age of two years came to Auckland with his parents, in 1862. He was educated first at private schools, and finished at the Auckland College and Grammer School. On leaving College he joined his father's firm and acquired a thorough knowledge of coachbuilding. Mr. Atkin soon began to take a keen interest in local affairs, and has been for fifteen years a member of the Eden Terrace Road Board, and chairman for part of that time. In the year 1900 he received a largely-signed requisition to stand for the representation of the North Ward in the City Council, and was returned unopposed. He helped to resuscitate the Auckland Agricultural Association, which had fallen from its original importance, and is member of the general committee of that now flourishing institution; he is also a member of the Industrial Association committee. Mr. Atkin was an energetic member of the executive of the Ratepayers' Association, from which, in keeping with the rules of the Association, he resigned on being returned as representative of North Ward. Although as yet a young man, Mr. Atkin has devoted a great deal of time
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to carrying out his various public duties. In this respect he has followed in the footsteps of his father, to whom Auckland owes much, as he was untiring in his efforts on behalf of all undertakings likely to advance the welfare of the city. Mr. Atkin is a Freemason. He



married Miss M. E. Fisher, daughter of Mr. George Fisher, late of the Thames.

            

            

              
              

                

Councillor John Court,
               
 who represents Ponsonby Ward in the Auckland City Council, is a member of the well-known firm of Messrs Court Bros., drapers and clothiers, of Queen Street and Karangahape Road. He is a native of Birmingham, England, and began his commercial career in 1860, at Wallsall, Staffordshire, but afterwards removed to Birmingham. In 1889 he came to Auckland and entered into partnership with his brothers, Messrs G. and A. Court, who had preceded him and had already established their well-known business. Shortly after his arrival Mr. Court became a member of the Grafton school committee, and later on the Ponsonby school committee. In the present year (1900) he was requisitioned to stand as representative for Ponsonby in the City Council, and was returned unopposed. Mr. Court is president of the Ponsonby Bowling Club, and is also vice-president of the West End Rowing,
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Tennis, and Lacrosse Clubs. Mr. Court is married, and has eight sons and daughters, who were born previous to his arrival in New Zealand.

            

            

              
              

                

Councillor John Patterson,
               
 J.P., who represents the Karangahape Ward in the City Council, is a son of the late Mr. J. Patterson, who came to Auckland in 1840 by the ship “Duchess of Argyle.” He was brought up to the business of coachbuilding, in which he afterwards started on his own account. Mr. Patterson now has a fine establishment in Upper Queen Street, and he employs a large number of men. Mr. Patterson has been chairman of the Ponsonby school committee and district president of the Hibernian Society in New Zealand, and was for many years a member of the Auckland Licensing Committee. He was elected president of the Coachbuilders' and Farriers' Association. Mr. Patterson was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1894. He has been a member of the United Friendly Societies' Conference, and also of the New Zealand Natives' Association, and in politics is a staunch supporter of Liberalism. He was elected for Karangahape Ward in September, 1900, as a man likely to look well after the interest of the ratepayers. Mr. Patterson was for eight years associated with the volunteer movement, and held the rank of lieutenant,
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but resigned the position on account of the numerous calls made on his time in connection with other public matters. He is married, and has a family of eleven children.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry William Wilson,
                the Town Clerk of Auckland, was born in Dunedin on the 28th of August, 1863. His father is Mr. F. J. Wilson, solicitor to the Public Trustee, Wellington, who settled in Dunedin in 1863, and was connected with the legal firm of Smith and Dempsey, now Smith, Chapman and Sinclair, city, solicitors, and afterwards practised for himself on the goldfields of Otago. Mr. H. W. Wilson received his early education at private schools, and later at the Clyde district public school. After a few months in his father's office he entered the service of the City Corporation of Dunedin, in 1878, as cadet in the town clerk's office. He was promoted to the position of assistant town clerk in 1882, and held that office until 1900, when he removed to Auckland. During the illness of the Dunedin town clerk from 1898 to 1900, Mr. Wilson acted for that officer, and gave the greatest satisfaction, owing to his thorough knowledge of municipal business in all its details, the subject being a congenial one to him, and having been made a study throughout his long experience. In 1900 Mr. Wilson was chosen out of forty-five applicants by the City Council of Auckland to fill the responsible office of town clerk, and he assumed the duties of the position in March of the same year. Mr. Wilson was married, in 1891, to the daughter of Mr. James Kinvig, a very old resident of Dunedin.
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Mr. Alfred Sexton,
                Assistant Town Clerk of Auckland, was recently appointed to the position which he holds.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. John Sylvester Brigham,
               
 City Treasurer, is a son of Mr. James McCrea
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Brigham, secretary and treasurer of the Auckland Harbour Board. He was born in Auckland, educated at the Auckland College, and



joined the service of the Bank of New South Wales, in which he remained for six years. In 1896 he resigned from the bank to take up the local secretaryship of the Thames Hauraki Goldfields, Limited, of London, and also the Austin Friars Finance Syndicate, of London. Mr. Brigham severed his connection with these institutions to accept his present position on the 1st of July, 1900. He is a Fellow of the London Institute of Secretaries, and is well known in aquatic circles.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Lawrence Evans,
                Junior Treasury Clerk to the Auckland City Council, is a son of Mr. J. J. Evans, of the firm of Kennedy and Evans, merchants, Gisborne, and nephew to Mr. H. E. Shacklock, ironfounder, Dunedin. Mr. Evans was born at Oamaru and educated at Gisborne. On leaving school he entered into commercial life at Gisborne, where he remained six years. In 1896 he removed to Auckland, where he obtained a position in the office of the Kauri Timber Company, and was afterwards secretary to Messrs Parker, Lamb and Co. Mr. Evans entered on his present appointment in 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Cotter,
                Barrister and Solicitor, of Shortland Street, is solicitor to the City of Auckland. His private address is at Remuera Road, Remuera.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Alfred Almena Wrigg,
               
 City Engineer and Building Surveyor for the Auckland City Council, is a son of the late Mr. Henry Wrigg, civil engineer, a very prominent member of his profession, and was born and educated at Preston, Lancashire, England. Mr. Wrigg came with his father to New Zealand, and served his apprenticeship in the office of his father, who then occupied the position of Provincial and Goldfields Engineer.
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On leaving the office in 1872, Mr Wrigg joined the Government service under Messrs Carruthers and Blackett, the chief engineers for the Government, and worked immediately under those gentlemen in bridge construction, and other important works. About 1882, owing to the general retrenchment, Mr. Wrigg retired from the Government service, and joined the staff of Mr. Turnbull, the well-known architect of Wellington, where he remained some time, and left to join Mr. T. W. Hickson, of the Great Northern Land Agency, Auckland. Mr. Hickson had been previously inspector of surveys for the Government. Large survey contracts were carried on by Mr. Hickson, in addition to his land agency business, and Mr. Wrigg held the position of assistant surveyor on the firm's survey branch for two years. He was appointed by the Auckland City Council as assistant in the Engineer's Department early in the eighties, and held the appointment until he received his present position in the year 1899. As a Freemason Mr. Wrigg is a member of Civil Service Lodge, 1521, E.C. He married a daughter of Captain Newby, and has two daughters.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Edward Hickling,
               
 City Valuer for the Auckland City Council, was born at Nottingham, England, and prior to leaving for
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New Zealand he held an appointment under the Local Government Board. Shortly after his arrival in New Zealand, in 1895, he received an appointment in the Government Life Insurance Department, but resigned in March, 1899, to accept his present position in the service of the Auckland City Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Joseph Young Warren,
                Rate Collector for the Auckland City Council, is descended from a distinguished family, whose founder accompanied William the Conqueror to England. His uncle, Mr. Young Warren, represented Karangahape Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1889 to 1900. Mr. Warren was born and educated in Auckland, and was engaged in mercantile pursuits for fourteen years after leaving school. In 1898 he joined the staff of the city council as assistant collector, and was appointed collector in 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Clues Turner,
                Sanitary and Traffic Inspector for the Auckland City Council, was appointed to his position in 1895.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Carlow,
                Waterworks Engineer for the City Corporation, was employed as turncock for about nineteen years. He was appointed to his present position in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John W. Knight,
                Clerk of works for the Auckland City Corporation, has filled the position since 1883.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Goldie,
                who is Superintendent of Parks, was formerly Domain Ranger under the Domain Board for about fifteen years. He received his present appointment in 1893.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. James Lovell
                
                is the Caretaker of the municipal buildings, and is a very courteous and obliging officer. He has held his appointment continuously since 1881.
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Civic Institutions.

            

              
The Free Library.

              
Among colonial public libraries the Free Library of Auckland stands very high. It has no equals in the Colony, and in many respects compares favourably with similar institutions in the finest Australian cities. The building is handsome and commodious, the books are numerous and of exceptional value, and the management under the librarian, Mr. Edward Shillington, is in the highest degree creditable. There is a newspaper room on the ground floor, with the upper end devoted to chess and draughts. The principal reading room is overhead and contains about 30,000 volumes, nearly half of which are comprised in the magnificent collection presented by Sir George Grey. Many of the volumes of the Grey collection are worth in the open market more than their weight in gold on account of their extreme rarity. No fewer than 180 languages are represented, and many of the manuscript volumes are elaborately and gorgeously illuminated. A manuscript, inscribed by Thomas at Kempis, and the commentaries on the Book of Job by Pope Gregory the Great, which was once the property of King Henry V., are most conspicuous specimens of their class. There are over 3000 autograph letters of historical notabilities, including the correspondence of Sir Philip Meadows, Cromwell's secretary, and of many others of exceptional interest. The principal reading room is well lighted and very lofty, the upper floor, reached by circular iron stairs, being in the nature of a gallery. It contains old parliamentary and other records, bound newspaper files, etc. When the library was opened in 1880 it numbered about 5000 volumes, chiefly the remnant of the old Provincial Library, and it now contains 40,000 volumes. The old Mechanics' Institute contributed 1000 volumes. There is a lending branch, opened in 1887, for the use of which a small charge is made. The interest on the Costley bequest of £12,150, and the half-penny special rate bring up the total income to almost £1600 per annum. The walls and lobby are adorned with a few valuable paintings.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Edward F. Shillington
                
                is the chief Librarian of the Auckland Free Library. He has filled the position



since the inception of the institution on the 7th of September, 1880, with credit to himself and benefit to the community. Mr. Shillington is of a retiring disposition, but his courtesy has won for him the esteem of the people of Auckland. He has three assistants, namely, Mr. H. W. Farnall, Miss A. M. Williams, and Miss E. B. McIntyre.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Art Gallery.
                Like the Free Library, the Art Gallery of Auckland came in for a share of Sir George Grey's treasures, but while many of them are rare and valuable pictures, the contribution to the Art Gallery cannot be said to compare well with that to the library. Sir George Grey's Maori and other curios are also displayed attractively at the Art Gallery. The Mackelvie collection, which occupies an annexe of about the same size as the original gallery, is valued at over £40,000. The Art Gallery, like the Free Library, is a most creditable institution. Many of the pictures are so beautiful as to be ever full of interest, and the rooms are delightfully cool even on the hottest day.
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The Auckland Fire Brigade,
                which is under the control of the City Council, has its central station in Albert Street. The building is of one storey, and contains a reading room and library, and also sleeping accommodation for six men. A large tower in front of the station contains the firebell, is 75 feet high, and commands a view of the whole of Auckland. No fire engines are required, as the high pressure water supply is used all over the city. The pressure in Queen Street is 135 pounds to the square inch. In the central station there is a one-horse reel, two hand reels and one hook and ladder carriage. Mr. H. F. Gladding is inspector and superintendent; Mr. G. Moore, senior foreman; Mr. W. Harkins, junior foreman; and there are eighteen firemen. There are three sub-stations—Grafton, Ponsonby, and Karangahape. The Grafton station, situated in Upper Symonds Street, is a one-storey building, with a tower and bell; Mr. P. Moulden, foreman; five firemen. Ponsonby station, in St. Mary's Road, Ponsonby, is also a one-storey building, with a small tower and bell; Mr. William Coplestone, foreman; five firemen. Karangahape Road station is situated in Hereford Street, off the Karangahape Road; tower and bell; Mr. William Williamson, foreman. The total staff of the brigade consists of the superintendents, five foremen, thirty-three firemen, and one messenger.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Herbert F. Gladding,
                Inspector and Superintendent of the Auckland Fire Brigade, joined the brigade in 1875, when he was twenty-one years of age, and served for three years. In 1884, on the opening of the branch station in Grafton Ward, Mr. Gladding was appointed foreman there. This position he filled for fifteen years, until he received his present appointment in 1899. He was a delegate to the United Fire Brigades' Association at the conference held in Christchurch in 1896. In the same year he took charge of a team which won almost every event on the programme, and competed with seven other brigades at the Fire Brigades' competition, held in Potter's Paddock, Epsom.
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Auckland City Swimming Baths.
                These baths, the finest of their kind in New Zealand, are under the control of the Corporation. They are situated in the heart of the city, with the frontage and entrance facing on Albert Street. The sides and bottom of the baths are tiled, and this gives a clear and refreshing appearance to the water. A life line surrounds the swimming space, and six lifebelts are hung in convenient places. On the eighteen pillars, which support the semiroof, are the varying depths of the slopes from 2 feet to 8 feet. The baths are 108 feet long and 58 feet wide; there is ample sitting room, and a promenade; and there are fifty-four dressing-rooms, four shower baths, and other conveniences. In summer, when water is scarce, the baths are filled with salt water, which is pumped in from the harbour. At night the whole place is well lighted with gas. The concrete cellars, which stretch the full length of the building, will probably be used in the future for hot baths. That the baths are appreciated is proved by the fact that in 1899, 33,176 persons paid the nominal charge for admission. The baths were erected in 1885, at a cost of £7000, and were opened by Mr. W. R. Waddel, then the mayor of the city. The cleanly and well-kept appearance of the premises strikes the observer at the first glance, and reflects great credit on that bluff and hearty old seaman, Mr. L. Calder, who has been caretaker of the baths since their inception. There are salt water baths at Freeman's Bay, and they, too, are under the control of the City Council.

            

            

              
              


                
The City Abattoirs,
                which are under the control of the Auckland City Council, are situated at Western Springs, about three miles and a half from the city. They were established in 1878, and, up to date, have cost over £6500. The abattoirs have not proved to be such a success as was anticipated, owing partly to the existence of other large slaughter-houses in the vicinity of Auckland. The stock slaughtered during the year 1899 numbered—cattle, 4037; sheep, 27,925; calves, 1171; pigs, 926. These figures show a decrease compared with those for the previous year, and the falling off was, in a great measure, attributable to the fact of a slaughtering license having been granted to premises in the neighbourhood.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Robertson,
                the City Council's Inspector of Abattoirs and Meat, has held the position continuously since 1887.
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Ex-
Mayors.

          

            
Up to the present time (October, 1900) seventeen gentlemen have occupied the mayoral chair of the City of Auckland. The late Mr Archibald Clark was Mayor from 1851 to 1852, when the city was managed by a Common Council, which existed under a special charter. Mr P. A. Philips, who was the first Mayor of Auckland under the Municipal Corporations Act of 1867, was elected to that position in 1869, and held office for three years. Mr Philips was succeeded in 1872 by Henry Isaacs, who was Mayor for two years. Mr F. L. Prime followed for one year from 1874 to 1875. Up to that time mayors were elected by the municipal councils, but the Act of 1875 devolved the duty upon the ratepayers. Mr Benjamin Tonks was the first Mayor elected in Auckland under this statute. Thus it comes that Auckland has had three “first” Mayors; Mr Archibald Clark, under the special charter of 1850; Mr P. A. Philips, elected by the Council under the Act of 1867; and Mr B. Tonks, by the ratepayers under the statute of 1875. Messrs W. J. Hurst and H. Brett were elected successively after Mr Tonks. For two years, from 1878 to 1880, Mr T. Peacock was Mayor. Then followed respectively Mr J. McCosh Clark, Mr W. R. Waddel, and Mr A. E. T. Devore, each for a term of three years. Mr J. H. Upton next occupied the chair for two years, from 1889 to 1891; and Mr W. Crowther followed for one year. From 1893 to 1896 Mr J. J. Holland filled the honoured position. Messrs A. Boardman and P. Dignan followed respectively each for a year. Mr D. Goldie was elected first in 1898, and still (October, 1900) holds the position.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Archibald Clark
              
              was Mayor of Auckland in 1851, when the infant city was under the control of a Common Council, which had been called into existence by a special charter. The Council, however, was either not wanted, or it was before its time, for no second elections took place under the charter. Mr. Clark, who arrived in Auckland in 1849, became prominently and extensively associated with the history of the city and province. He is elsewhere referred to as having been a member of the House of Representatives.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. P. A. Philips,
             
 J.P., was the first Mayor of Auckland, under the Municipal Corporations Act, 1867, and as such held office from 1869 to 1872, and he was subsequently Town Clerk for twenty-seven years. He was born at Brighton, England, on the 11th of June, 1831, and came out to New Zealand in 1847. In 1851 he was married in Sydney to Miss A. Myers, who died in 1888, having had eleven sons and three daughters, of whom, however, only eight survive. Mr. Philips was in business in Victoria Lane and Shortland
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Street, and at the corner of Queen and Shortland Streets, as a hardware merchant and ironmonger, for about twenty-five years. He was induced to enter public life as chairman of the City Board of Commissioners in 1869, which he filled for two years, when he succeeded in introducing municipal management under the Municipal Corporations Act of 1867, and became the first mayor under that statute, and a J.P. for the Colony. He was also elected member of the Provincial Council, where his warm advocacy of city interests proved him to be one of the city's staunchest friends. He succeeded in obtaining the control of the city endowments, then only realising a rent roll of about £1500 per annum. The rental was soon raised to £3000, and is now about £12,000 a year. Mr. Philips was chairman of the Improvement Commissioners, who were empowered to deal with the Albert Barracks and the Parks Reserve, and he succeeded in getting this reserve vested in the city. He also secured numerous other reserves by the junctions of streets, Alten Road, and elsewhere. Mr. Philips was a Resident Magistrate for about four years; was elected a member of the Board of Education by the Provincial Council; was a member of the first Harbour Board, and a member and for many years president of the Mechanics' Institute. He succeeded in getting the Free Libraries Act brought into operation, and assisted materially in getting the Free Library and Museum permanently opened on Sundays. He was Worshipful Master of the Lodge Waitemate (English Constitution), and the first W.M. to receive a handsome jewel for his services. On four occasions public addresses and purses of sovereigns were presented to Mr. Philips in recognition of his services to the public. For about twenty-five years Mr. Philips has been president, treasurer and secretary of the Hebrew congregation in Auckland, and he has also acted as Auckland correspondent for newspapers in Melbourne, Sydney and London. In addition to work in that connection, Mr. Philips has been a constant contributor to the Auckland press in the persistent advocacy of public interests, and he is, besides, the author of some amusing sketches entitled “Reminiscences of Early Days and “Memories of the Past,” which had a quick sale. As a town clerk Mr. Philips was always considered one of the best in the Colonies, and he had to leave office principally on account of his failing eyesight.

          

          

            


            
            


              

Mr. Henry Isaacs,
              who was Mayor of Auckland from the 6th of July, 1874, to the 16th of December of the same year, was born in London about 1824. At the instigation of his brother, Mr. Edward Isaacs, he left England in 1852, in company with another brother, George, and came to Auckland, via Melbourne. These two young men commenced business in the premises now occupied as Chapman's stationery establishment. This was the beginning of the business firm of E. and H. Isaacs, wholesale merchants, who, during the Taranaki and Waikato war, carried out a number of heavy contracts in connection with the provisioning of the troops. Mr. Henry Isaacs was also in business in Melbourne in conjunction with his brother Edward. He took a great interest in public affairs, and was for many years a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, and the Auckland City Council. He was one of the promoters of the Auckland Shipping Company, which was subsequently merged into the New Zealand Shipping Company. For many years past Mr. Isaacs has been living in retirement in London, but he still acts as agent for a number of New Zealand houses.

            

              

[image: Mr. H. Isaacs.]
Mr. 
H. Isaacs.


            

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Frederick Lambert Prime,
             
 who was Mayor of the city of Auckland in 1874–5, was born in Cambridgeshire, England, in 1825. He was brought up to the grocery business at Colchester, in Essex, and was subsequently in the trade at Steeple Bumpstead. On coming to Auckland in 1855, he entered into business as a general storekeeper, and continued as such until 1867, when he paid a visit of two years' duration to his native land. On returning to Auckland in 1869 he established the business of a land, estate and financial agent. In 1870 Mr. Prime was elected to a seat on the City Council, in which he has served, in all, for six years. Mr. Prime was elected, in 1871, to represent Auckland City
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West in the Provincial Council, and he held the seat till the abolition of the provinces. He was for nine years a member of the Board of Education. In 1860 he joined the volunteer rifle corps, and did his duty on guard, etc., till the end of the Maori war. Mr. Prime was appointed a Justice of the Peace for the Colony in 1878. He was secretary to the Auckland Improvement Commissioners until that body was merged into the City Council in the early seventies. In 1887 he was appointed returning officer to the Auckland Harbour Board, and still holds the position. Mr. Prime has held the position of Treasurer and Financial Secretary to the Wesleyan Home Mission since 1873; and he is also a trustee of the many Wesleyan church properties in the Auckland district.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Benjamin Tonks,
              the first Mayor elected directly by the ratepayers, was the senior partner and founder of the firm of B. Tonks and Co., merchants and auctioneers, of Auckland. He was born in Birmingham, England, in 1832, and at the early age of seventeen he caught the spirit of adventure, with which the majority of the pioneers of colonisation were animated. Accordingly, he sailed from Glasgow on a twelve month's tour in Australia, and landed in 1852, when the gold fever was at its height. He visited the various goldfields throughout Victoria, and ultimately commenced business in Melbourne, with fair prospects of success. Too close application to sedentary business, however, brought on a severe attack of illness, and on the recommendation of his medical advisers he wound up his affairs in Melbourne and removed to the more bracing climate of Auckland, to which he came in the schooner “Pioneer,” owned and commanded by Captain Wing, late harbourmaster at the Manukau. After farming at the Wairoa and recovering his health, Mr. Tonks took office with Messrs Connell and Ridings, the principal auctioneers in the province. After being with that firm for some time, Mr. Tonks entered the service of the Provincial Government, and subsequently accepted an engagement in the civil service of the Colony under the General Government. During the Waikato war he joined the Auckland volunteers as an ensign, and took his share of the hardships and dangers that fell to the lot of the Colony's brave citizen soldiers. His first commission as ensign was dated the 5th of March, 1862; he became a lieutenant on the 2nd of July, 1863, and was promoted to a captaincy on the 23rd of April, 1866. On the cessation of hostilities he received a commission as captain in the New Zealand Militia, in July, 1866. In April, 1871, Mr. Tonks was elected a member of the City Board, and continued to devote his services to the citizens until the institution of the Borough of Auckland, when he was elected a member of the City Council. He also served as a member of the Harbour Board, to which he was elected in May, 1871. On the 30th of October of the same year he was elected a member of the Provincial Council for the Parnell constituency. Again, in November, 1873, he contested the same seat, and was returned at the head of the poll. He became a member of the Provincial Executive on the 27th of November, 1874, with the portfolio of treasurer, and held office until his departure for Europe in May of the following year. On his return, the long and faithful services he had rendered to the public were recognised by his being nominated by a numerous and influential party for the office of mayor, then just made elective by the Municipal Corporations Act, 1875, and he was chosen for that position on the 16th of December, 1875, by a majority of 660 votes over his opponent. He was also, ex officio, a member of the Domain Board, chairman of the Local Board of Health, and a member of the Board of Improvement Commissioners. Mr. Tonks is referred to in another article as member for Auckland City West in the House of Representatives.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. W. J. Hurst,
              Mayor of Auckland for 1877, entered public life as a member of the Auckland Provincial Council. On the 2nd of December, 1870, during Mr. Gillies' Superintendency, he moved a resolution condemning the financial proposals of Dr. Nicholson's Government, which led to the resignation of the Executive. Of the Government then formed Mr. Hurst became a member without portfolio. He afterwards accepted the Provincial Treasureship, which he held for about three years, but resigned upon the election of Mr John Williamson, as Superintendent of the Province. On the 20th of December, 1876, he contested the mayoralty, and was elected by a considerable majority. As a member of the Board of Education and other public bodies, Mr. Hurst saw a large amount of public service. He died at Folkestone, Kent, England, in June, 1886, and left a widow, but no family.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Henry Brett,
              Mayor of Auckland for 1878, was born in the south of England, and brought up to the printing business in the office of his uncle, the proprietor of the “Hastings and St. Leonard's Gazette.” He left for New Zealand with the Albertland special settlers in 1862, and on arrival in Auckland was engaged on the staff of the “Daily Southern Cross.” Shortly afterwards he joined the literary staff of the “New Zealand Herald,” and maintained his connection with that journal until he became associated with Mr. G. M. Reed in the proprietorship of the “Auckland Star.” By a bold, vigorous policy, and great exertions to procure the best telegraphic and general news, the paper proved one of the greatest successes known in New Zealand journalism. The Auckland Almanac and Handbook projected by the firm in 1872 has also proved a great success, and by continual addition to the plant and machinery of the office, the establishment has been raised from small beginnings to one of the best appointed general steam printing offices in the colony. Mr. Brett was the first to introduce into the Colony a plant for photo-engraving, and in 1890 he started the first illustrated paper, the “New Zealand Graphic. In February, 1876, Mr. Reed disposed of his interest to Mr. Brett, who then became sole proprietor. Mr. Brett's first introduction to public life was as chairman of the Parnell Highway Board, in July, 1874, by virtue of which office he held a seat on the Auckland Harbour Board. He was elected to the City Council of Auckland on the 10th of September, 1874, at the head of the poll, and at the expiration of his term, in 1876, was one of the eight candidates who contested the election, and was again returned at the top, leading by 283 votes over the next highest candidate. He became Mayor in November, 1878, without a contest. Mr. Brett has always taken a prominent part in musical matters, and has for several years been a member and chairman of the committee of the Choral Society. He sat for several years as



a member of the City Improvement Commissioners; was on the committee of the Acclimatization Society, president of the Mechanics' Institute, and of the Amateur Athletic Club, and a director of several of the principal mines. As Mayor he held a seat on the Board of Governors of the Auckland College and Grammar School, and was vice-president of the Home for Neglected and Destitute Children, and a member of the Domain Board. In 1899, Mr. Brett was offered a seat in the Legislative Council, but he declined the offer. Mr. Brett is a Justice of the Peace for the Colony.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Thomas Peacock
              
              was Mayor of Auckland for two successive years from 1878 to 1880. The Auckland Free Public Library was initiated and opened during Mr. Peacock's mayoralty. Mr. Peacock is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the House of Representatives.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Mr. James M'Cosh Clark
              
             
 was born at Beith, Scotland, in 1834. He arrived in the Colony in 1847 with his father, Mr Archibald Clark, who began the well-known business of Archibald Clark and Sons, Auckland, in January, 1850. Mr. M'Cosh Clark took a leading part in the business, and became senior partner on the death of his father in 1875. Mr. M'Cosh Clark took a very active interest in everything that concerned the development of the commercial and social welfare of the
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Colony. He was for many years connected with the volunteers, in which he attained the rank of captain, and saw active service during the Maori war. He was elected mayor of the city of Auckland in 1880, and held the position for three years, fulfilling the duties with credit and ability. As chairman of the Education Board, president of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, and in other capacities, he did a large amount of public work, which was much appreciated by his fellow citizens, who, on his retirement from the position of mayor, presented him with a very handsome astronomical telescope in recognition of his services. Mr. Clark for the last ten years of his life resided in London, and was about to return to the Colony when he was seized by the illness which terminated fatally in January, 1898.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. W. R. Waddel
              
              occupied the Mayoral chair for three years. He took office on the 19th of December, 1883, and resigned on the 15th of December, 1886. During his mayoralty he laid the foundation stone of the Auckland Public Library. For the seven years preceding his mayoralty Mr. Waddel was a City Councillor. He was a self-denying man, and took a great interest in municipal affairs. Mr. Waddel carried on business for many years as a baker in Hobson Street.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Albert Edward Tyrrell Devore,
             
 who was thrice returned unopposed
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as Mayor of Auckland, occupied the chair from the 15th of December, 1886, to the 18th of December, 1889. He was born at Devizes, Wiltshire, England, in 1843, and was educated at Marlborough school. Mr. Devore left England for Dunedin, in 1862, and removed to Auckland in 1879. When the Ponsonby Ward became a part of the city Mr. Devore represented that ward in the Auckland City Council, and continued as a councillor for some years. During his term of office as Mayor the finances of the city were placed on an improved footing, and the annual expenses of the Corporation were reduced by some thousands of pounds. The Auckland Public Library, one of the most valuable institutions of the city, was opened by Mr. Devore in his capacity as mayor, and during his term of office the Art Gallery was opened by his Excellency Sir William Jervois. Mr. Devore was for many years a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, for several years chairman of the Ponsonby school committee, and he is now a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank. He has always evinced a keen interest in the welfare of the city and in social affairs. He is a patron of many outdoor amusements, and a firm believer in the physical education of the young, and has been president of the Auckland Rugby Union since 1890. Mr. Devore is the senior partner of the well-known firm of Devore and Cooper, barristers and solicitors, Queen Street, Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Henry Upton,
              who filled the Mayoral Chair of Auckland with credit to himself and profit to the city for the years 1889–90 and 1890–91, holds a record in the public service well entitling him to the high esteem in which he is held. Mr. Upton was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1845, and is the second son of the late Mr. Henry Upton, a surveyor and farmer of that county. Educated at the private academy of the Rev. Percy Strutt, M.A., at Spalding, Mr. Upton, on attaining his majority, sailed for Auckland in the ship “Chili.” On arrival, he entered into partnership with his late brother in the still well-remembered firm of Messrs. W. B. and J. H. Upton—the flourishing concern which is now so well known as “Upton and Co.” To enumerate all the public offices held by Mr. Upton during his active life at the Northern Capital would occupy more space than it is convenient to allow, and a few must suffice. Whatever he has undertaken has been faithfully carried to a successful issue, this being the natural result of his unvarying rule to thoroughly qualify himself for any office he might be called upon to fill. As an instance of this it may be mentioned that, before accepting the onerous position of chairman of the Education Board, he made himself well acquainted with the duties of the office by assiduous attention as a member of the Board throughout a period of four years. This, with his two years' chairmanship, made a total membership of six years, following upon some experience as a school committeeman, and as a member of the Board of Governors of the Auckland College and Grammar School. In like manner, Mr. Upton served some four years as a borough councillor before entering upon the more responsible position of mayor. During his occupancy of the chief civic office, Mr. Upton was fortunate in securing for the city a great boon by an arrangement with the trustees of the Mackelvie Trust, under the authority of the Supreme Court, to “house” the famous Mackelvie Art Collection in the same building as the city collection. Later on, when a vacancy occurred through the death of one of the Mackelvie Trustees, Mr. Upton was elected to the Board. Another very important office which Mr. Upton holds is that of chairman of the Auckland City Sinking Fund Commissioners—a post of honour and usefulness occupied by him since the inception of the Board, now (1897) more than ten years ago. The South British Insurance Board and that of the Auckland Gas Company claim Mr. Upton as an active member, the chairmanship of the South British Company having been in his hands for the year 1895, and that of the Auckland Gas Company for 1897. After many years of trusteeship of the Auckland Savings Bank, Mr. Upton became, and was at the time of



writing (July, 1897) vice-president of that institution. For twenty years he has been a member of the Auckland Institute, and was president of that influential society for the year 1894–5. As a churchman, Mr. Upton has been prominent for a quarter of a century. He either is or has been connected with almost every Anglican Church function, including the Diocesan Synod for many years, and the General Synod when held at Christchurch. Auckland, and Dunedin. He is a member of the General Trust, the Melanesian Mission Trust, and many other boards. Though a better worker than player, Mr. Upton has not been slow to help forward the harmless varieties of legitimate recreation, and many a struggling society has been encouraged and aided by his friendly advice and generosity. In 1870 Mr. Upton was married to Miss Gorrie, daughter of the late Mr. William Gorrie, and sister of Mr. Upton's present partner. They have seven children—five sons and two daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William Crowther,
              sometime Mayor of Auckland, as well as Member of the House of Representatives, was born in Lancashire, England, in 1834. At the early age of nineteen he migrated to Victoria, and was a successful contractor on the goldfields for ten years. He was then attracted to Otago by the gold “rush” to the Dunstan, and brought with him a number of teams of horses and waggons. Soon afterwards a demand arose for horses in Auckland, in consequence of the Maori war, and in 1863 he and several others took to that city a large number of horses in the steamer “Phœbe,” and continued to trade in the horse line between Melbourne and different ports of New Zealand for a period of about two years. Mr. Crowther then went to Melbourne, where he had ten vehicles built for passenger and other traffic, and commenced a 'bus service between Auckland and Remuera. The headquarters of the business were in the Manukau Road, Parnell, but were afterwards removed to Albert Street, and, later still, to the Victoria stables, Wellesley Street East, which he built. There Mr. Crowther conducted a most successful business for twelve years, when he retired on the fruits of his industry and labour. He was elected a city councillor in 1878, and was a hard working and painstaking member for sixteen years. He was elected mayor in succession to Mr. J. H. Upton, and held office for two consecutive years with credit to himself and benefit to the ratepayers. Mr. Crowther was also a member of the governing body of Auckland College and Grammar school, the city schools' committee, Charitable Aid Board, and Sailors' Home. For some years he was a member of the Harbour Board, and was chairman for a term. Mr. Crowther died on the 15th of March, 1900, aged sixty-six years. He is referred to in another article as having been a member of Parliament.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Job Holland,
              who held the Auckland Mayoralty for the three years ending November, 1896, was a popular and painstaking mayor. He is referred to elsewhere as an ex-member of the House of Representatives.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Mr. Abraham Boardman
              
             
 was elected Mayor of Auckland in 1896, and took office on the 16th of December in that year. He, however, resigned shortly afterwards on account of ill-health, and died on the 21st of May, 1897, aged seventy-three. Mr. Boardman was born near Bolton, Lancashire, England,
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and after being headmaster in an important church school, and also in mercantile life in Liverpool and London, he emigrated to the colonies, and arrived in Auckland on the 24th of January, 1864. He obtained a position in the office of the Superintendent of the Province, and was afterwards Curator of Intestate Estates under the General Government. Subsequently Mr. Boardman was connected extensively with mining companies, and was the first general manager of the South British Insurance Company.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Mr. Peter Dignan
              
             
 was elected Mayor of Auckland in May, 1897, shortly after the resignation of Mr. A. Boardman, and at the end of the same year he was returned unopposed for a further term; he was the first New Zealand born occupant of the position. Mr. Dignan was born in Auckland on the 24th of April, 1847, and is the eldest son of the late Hon. P. Dignan, M.L.C. He was educated at St. Peter's school, Auckland, by the late Mr. R. J. O'Sullivan, and completed his studies privately under that gentleman and the Franciscan monks. Having been articled to Judge O'Brien, the Sheriff and Registrar of the Supreme Court, and Judge of the Native Land Court, Auckland, he was admitted as a barrister and solicitor, after passing a very successful examination, in 1868. In 1871 Mr. Dignan commenced to practise his profession, and established the legal firm of Dignan and Armstrong; the late Hon. John Sheehan being at one time a member of the firm. Mr. Dignan took a great interest in the Sunday school work of St. Patrick's Cathedral, and was for twenty-three years president of the Christian Doctrine Society, the organisation under which the Sunday school of that church is carried on. He was for many years a prominent member and officer of the Auckland Catholic Literary Institute, and was mainly instrumental in raising a volunteer corps in connection therewith, namely, the Hobson Rifles, in which he served as private for twelve years, and was subsequently captain. When the battalions were organised by Major-General Sir George Whitmore, Captain Dignan was promoted to major, and a few years later, to lieutenant-colonel and commander of No. 2 Battalion (rifles) of the Auckland Volunteer District. Being senior officer, he has filled the position of commanding officer of the district during the absence on leave of the permanent officer. Colonel Dignan holds the long service medal and the Imperial officer's decoration. While commanding officer of the district he held an Easter encampment at Otahuhu, in 1894, and throughout the camp raised a subscription to provide funds for renovating the Nixon monument, a memorial to the warriors of New Zealand. For twenty-two years Mr. Dignan has been trustee of the Auckland Working Men's Club, and president for a great part of the time. He was a member of the Auckland City Council for twelve years, and his services in this connection were of benefit to the city. During his first term of office as Mayor, the Queen's Jubilee
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was celebrated, and a statue of her Majesty erected in Albert Park. The Auckland Exhibition was held during the second term. As a public man, Mr. Dignan has willingly given his services; for many years he was a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, member and chairman of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, member of the council of the Auckland University College, and a governor of the Auckland College and Grammar School. He was also a Commissioner of the Auckland Exhibition, a trustee of the Sailors' Home, and a member of the Scenery Conservation Society. Mr. Dignan is now vice-president of the Auckland Technical School.
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Up to the present time (October, 1900) seventeen gentlemen have occupied the mayoral chair of the City of Auckland. The late Mr Archibald Clark was Mayor from 1851 to 1852, when the city was managed by a Common Council, which existed under a special charter. Mr P. A. Philips, who was the first Mayor of Auckland under the Municipal Corporations Act of 1867, was elected to that position in 1869, and held office for three years. Mr Philips was succeeded in 1872 by Henry Isaacs, who was Mayor for two years. Mr F. L. Prime followed for one year from 1874 to 1875. Up to that time mayors were elected by the municipal councils, but the Act of 1875 devolved the duty upon the ratepayers. Mr Benjamin Tonks was the first Mayor elected in Auckland under this statute. Thus it comes that Auckland has had three “first” Mayors; Mr Archibald Clark, under the special charter of 1850; Mr P. A. Philips, elected by the Council under the Act of 1867; and Mr B. Tonks, by the ratepayers under the statute of 1875. Messrs W. J. Hurst and H. Brett were elected successively after Mr Tonks. For two years, from 1878 to 1880, Mr T. Peacock was Mayor. Then followed respectively Mr J. McCosh Clark, Mr W. R. Waddel, and Mr A. E. T. Devore, each for a term of three years. Mr J. H. Upton next occupied the chair for two years, from 1889 to 1891; and Mr W. Crowther followed for one year. From 1893 to 1896 Mr J. J. Holland filled the honoured position. Messrs A. Boardman and P. Dignan followed respectively each for a year. Mr D. Goldie was elected first in 1898, and still (October, 1900) holds the position.
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Mr. Archibald Clark
              
              was Mayor of Auckland in 1851, when the infant city was under the control of a Common Council, which had been called into existence by a special charter. The Council, however, was either not wanted, or it was before its time, for no second elections took place under the charter. Mr. Clark, who arrived in Auckland in 1849, became prominently and extensively associated with the history of the city and province. He is elsewhere referred to as having been a member of the House of Representatives.
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Mr. P. A. Philips,
             
 J.P., was the first Mayor of Auckland, under the Municipal Corporations Act, 1867, and as such held office from 1869 to 1872, and he was subsequently Town Clerk for twenty-seven years. He was born at Brighton, England, on the 11th of June, 1831, and came out to New Zealand in 1847. In 1851 he was married in Sydney to Miss A. Myers, who died in 1888, having had eleven sons and three daughters, of whom, however, only eight survive. Mr. Philips was in business in Victoria Lane and Shortland


[image: Mr. P. A. Philips.]
Mr. 
P. A. Philips.


Street, and at the corner of Queen and Shortland Streets, as a hardware merchant and ironmonger, for about twenty-five years. He was induced to enter public life as chairman of the City Board of Commissioners in 1869, which he filled for two years, when he succeeded in introducing municipal management under the Municipal Corporations Act of 1867, and became the first mayor under that statute, and a J.P. for the Colony. He was also elected member of the Provincial Council, where his warm advocacy of city interests proved him to be one of the city's staunchest friends. He succeeded in obtaining the control of the city endowments, then only realising a rent roll of about £1500 per annum. The rental was soon raised to £3000, and is now about £12,000 a year. Mr. Philips was chairman of the Improvement Commissioners, who were empowered to deal with the Albert Barracks and the Parks Reserve, and he succeeded in getting this reserve vested in the city. He also secured numerous other reserves by the junctions of streets, Alten Road, and elsewhere. Mr. Philips was a Resident Magistrate for about four years; was elected a member of the Board of Education by the Provincial Council; was a member of the first Harbour Board, and a member and for many years president of the Mechanics' Institute. He succeeded in getting the Free Libraries Act brought into operation, and assisted materially in getting the Free Library and Museum permanently opened on Sundays. He was Worshipful Master of the Lodge Waitemate (English Constitution), and the first W.M. to receive a handsome jewel for his services. On four occasions public addresses and purses of sovereigns were presented to Mr. Philips in recognition of his services to the public. For about twenty-five years Mr. Philips has been president, treasurer and secretary of the Hebrew congregation in Auckland, and he has also acted as Auckland correspondent for newspapers in Melbourne, Sydney and London. In addition to work in that connection, Mr. Philips has been a constant contributor to the Auckland press in the persistent advocacy of public interests, and he is, besides, the author of some amusing sketches entitled “Reminiscences of Early Days and “Memories of the Past,” which had a quick sale. As a town clerk Mr. Philips was always considered one of the best in the Colonies, and he had to leave office principally on account of his failing eyesight.
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Mr. Henry Isaacs,
              who was Mayor of Auckland from the 6th of July, 1874, to the 16th of December of the same year, was born in London about 1824. At the instigation of his brother, Mr. Edward Isaacs, he left England in 1852, in company with another brother, George, and came to Auckland, via Melbourne. These two young men commenced business in the premises now occupied as Chapman's stationery establishment. This was the beginning of the business firm of E. and H. Isaacs, wholesale merchants, who, during the Taranaki and Waikato war, carried out a number of heavy contracts in connection with the provisioning of the troops. Mr. Henry Isaacs was also in business in Melbourne in conjunction with his brother Edward. He took a great interest in public affairs, and was for many years a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, and the Auckland City Council. He was one of the promoters of the Auckland Shipping Company, which was subsequently merged into the New Zealand Shipping Company. For many years past Mr. Isaacs has been living in retirement in London, but he still acts as agent for a number of New Zealand houses.
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Mr. Frederick Lambert Prime,
             
 who was Mayor of the city of Auckland in 1874–5, was born in Cambridgeshire, England, in 1825. He was brought up to the grocery business at Colchester, in Essex, and was subsequently in the trade at Steeple Bumpstead. On coming to Auckland in 1855, he entered into business as a general storekeeper, and continued as such until 1867, when he paid a visit of two years' duration to his native land. On returning to Auckland in 1869 he established the business of a land, estate and financial agent. In 1870 Mr. Prime was elected to a seat on the City Council, in which he has served, in all, for six years. Mr. Prime was elected, in 1871, to represent Auckland City
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West in the Provincial Council, and he held the seat till the abolition of the provinces. He was for nine years a member of the Board of Education. In 1860 he joined the volunteer rifle corps, and did his duty on guard, etc., till the end of the Maori war. Mr. Prime was appointed a Justice of the Peace for the Colony in 1878. He was secretary to the Auckland Improvement Commissioners until that body was merged into the City Council in the early seventies. In 1887 he was appointed returning officer to the Auckland Harbour Board, and still holds the position. Mr. Prime has held the position of Treasurer and Financial Secretary to the Wesleyan Home Mission since 1873; and he is also a trustee of the many Wesleyan church properties in the Auckland district.
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Mr. Benjamin Tonks,
              the first Mayor elected directly by the ratepayers, was the senior partner and founder of the firm of B. Tonks and Co., merchants and auctioneers, of Auckland. He was born in Birmingham, England, in 1832, and at the early age of seventeen he caught the spirit of adventure, with which the majority of the pioneers of colonisation were animated. Accordingly, he sailed from Glasgow on a twelve month's tour in Australia, and landed in 1852, when the gold fever was at its height. He visited the various goldfields throughout Victoria, and ultimately commenced business in Melbourne, with fair prospects of success. Too close application to sedentary business, however, brought on a severe attack of illness, and on the recommendation of his medical advisers he wound up his affairs in Melbourne and removed to the more bracing climate of Auckland, to which he came in the schooner “Pioneer,” owned and commanded by Captain Wing, late harbourmaster at the Manukau. After farming at the Wairoa and recovering his health, Mr. Tonks took office with Messrs Connell and Ridings, the principal auctioneers in the province. After being with that firm for some time, Mr. Tonks entered the service of the Provincial Government, and subsequently accepted an engagement in the civil service of the Colony under the General Government. During the Waikato war he joined the Auckland volunteers as an ensign, and took his share of the hardships and dangers that fell to the lot of the Colony's brave citizen soldiers. His first commission as ensign was dated the 5th of March, 1862; he became a lieutenant on the 2nd of July, 1863, and was promoted to a captaincy on the 23rd of April, 1866. On the cessation of hostilities he received a commission as captain in the New Zealand Militia, in July, 1866. In April, 1871, Mr. Tonks was elected a member of the City Board, and continued to devote his services to the citizens until the institution of the Borough of Auckland, when he was elected a member of the City Council. He also served as a member of the Harbour Board, to which he was elected in May, 1871. On the 30th of October of the same year he was elected a member of the Provincial Council for the Parnell constituency. Again, in November, 1873, he contested the same seat, and was returned at the head of the poll. He became a member of the Provincial Executive on the 27th of November, 1874, with the portfolio of treasurer, and held office until his departure for Europe in May of the following year. On his return, the long and faithful services he had rendered to the public were recognised by his being nominated by a numerous and influential party for the office of mayor, then just made elective by the Municipal Corporations Act, 1875, and he was chosen for that position on the 16th of December, 1875, by a majority of 660 votes over his opponent. He was also, ex officio, a member of the Domain Board, chairman of the Local Board of Health, and a member of the Board of Improvement Commissioners. Mr. Tonks is referred to in another article as member for Auckland City West in the House of Representatives.
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Mr. W. J. Hurst,
              Mayor of Auckland for 1877, entered public life as a member of the Auckland Provincial Council. On the 2nd of December, 1870, during Mr. Gillies' Superintendency, he moved a resolution condemning the financial proposals of Dr. Nicholson's Government, which led to the resignation of the Executive. Of the Government then formed Mr. Hurst became a member without portfolio. He afterwards accepted the Provincial Treasureship, which he held for about three years, but resigned upon the election of Mr John Williamson, as Superintendent of the Province. On the 20th of December, 1876, he contested the mayoralty, and was elected by a considerable majority. As a member of the Board of Education and other public bodies, Mr. Hurst saw a large amount of public service. He died at Folkestone, Kent, England, in June, 1886, and left a widow, but no family.
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Mr. Henry Brett,
              Mayor of Auckland for 1878, was born in the south of England, and brought up to the printing business in the office of his uncle, the proprietor of the “Hastings and St. Leonard's Gazette.” He left for New Zealand with the Albertland special settlers in 1862, and on arrival in Auckland was engaged on the staff of the “Daily Southern Cross.” Shortly afterwards he joined the literary staff of the “New Zealand Herald,” and maintained his connection with that journal until he became associated with Mr. G. M. Reed in the proprietorship of the “Auckland Star.” By a bold, vigorous policy, and great exertions to procure the best telegraphic and general news, the paper proved one of the greatest successes known in New Zealand journalism. The Auckland Almanac and Handbook projected by the firm in 1872 has also proved a great success, and by continual addition to the plant and machinery of the office, the establishment has been raised from small beginnings to one of the best appointed general steam printing offices in the colony. Mr. Brett was the first to introduce into the Colony a plant for photo-engraving, and in 1890 he started the first illustrated paper, the “New Zealand Graphic. In February, 1876, Mr. Reed disposed of his interest to Mr. Brett, who then became sole proprietor. Mr. Brett's first introduction to public life was as chairman of the Parnell Highway Board, in July, 1874, by virtue of which office he held a seat on the Auckland Harbour Board. He was elected to the City Council of Auckland on the 10th of September, 1874, at the head of the poll, and at the expiration of his term, in 1876, was one of the eight candidates who contested the election, and was again returned at the top, leading by 283 votes over the next highest candidate. He became Mayor in November, 1878, without a contest. Mr. Brett has always taken a prominent part in musical matters, and has for several years been a member and chairman of the committee of the Choral Society. He sat for several years as



a member of the City Improvement Commissioners; was on the committee of the Acclimatization Society, president of the Mechanics' Institute, and of the Amateur Athletic Club, and a director of several of the principal mines. As Mayor he held a seat on the Board of Governors of the Auckland College and Grammar School, and was vice-president of the Home for Neglected and Destitute Children, and a member of the Domain Board. In 1899, Mr. Brett was offered a seat in the Legislative Council, but he declined the offer. Mr. Brett is a Justice of the Peace for the Colony.
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Mr. Thomas Peacock
              
              was Mayor of Auckland for two successive years from 1878 to 1880. The Auckland Free Public Library was initiated and opened during Mr. Peacock's mayoralty. Mr. Peacock is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the House of Representatives.
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Mr. James M'Cosh Clark
              
             
 was born at Beith, Scotland, in 1834. He arrived in the Colony in 1847 with his father, Mr Archibald Clark, who began the well-known business of Archibald Clark and Sons, Auckland, in January, 1850. Mr. M'Cosh Clark took a leading part in the business, and became senior partner on the death of his father in 1875. Mr. M'Cosh Clark took a very active interest in everything that concerned the development of the commercial and social welfare of the
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Colony. He was for many years connected with the volunteers, in which he attained the rank of captain, and saw active service during the Maori war. He was elected mayor of the city of Auckland in 1880, and held the position for three years, fulfilling the duties with credit and ability. As chairman of the Education Board, president of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, and in other capacities, he did a large amount of public work, which was much appreciated by his fellow citizens, who, on his retirement from the position of mayor, presented him with a very handsome astronomical telescope in recognition of his services. Mr. Clark for the last ten years of his life resided in London, and was about to return to the Colony when he was seized by the illness which terminated fatally in January, 1898.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. W. R. Waddel



            
            


              

                
Mr. W. R. Waddel
              
              occupied the Mayoral chair for three years. He took office on the 19th of December, 1883, and resigned on the 15th of December, 1886. During his mayoralty he laid the foundation stone of the Auckland Public Library. For the seven years preceding his mayoralty Mr. Waddel was a City Councillor. He was a self-denying man, and took a great interest in municipal affairs. Mr. Waddel carried on business for many years as a baker in Hobson Street.
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Mr. Albert Edward Tyrrell Devore,
             
 who was thrice returned unopposed
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as Mayor of Auckland, occupied the chair from the 15th of December, 1886, to the 18th of December, 1889. He was born at Devizes, Wiltshire, England, in 1843, and was educated at Marlborough school. Mr. Devore left England for Dunedin, in 1862, and removed to Auckland in 1879. When the Ponsonby Ward became a part of the city Mr. Devore represented that ward in the Auckland City Council, and continued as a councillor for some years. During his term of office as Mayor the finances of the city were placed on an improved footing, and the annual expenses of the Corporation were reduced by some thousands of pounds. The Auckland Public Library, one of the most valuable institutions of the city, was opened by Mr. Devore in his capacity as mayor, and during his term of office the Art Gallery was opened by his Excellency Sir William Jervois. Mr. Devore was for many years a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, for several years chairman of the Ponsonby school committee, and he is now a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank. He has always evinced a keen interest in the welfare of the city and in social affairs. He is a patron of many outdoor amusements, and a firm believer in the physical education of the young, and has been president of the Auckland Rugby Union since 1890. Mr. Devore is the senior partner of the well-known firm of Devore and Cooper, barristers and solicitors, Queen Street, Auckland.
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Mr. John Henry Upton,
              who filled the Mayoral Chair of Auckland with credit to himself and profit to the city for the years 1889–90 and 1890–91, holds a record in the public service well entitling him to the high esteem in which he is held. Mr. Upton was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1845, and is the second son of the late Mr. Henry Upton, a surveyor and farmer of that county. Educated at the private academy of the Rev. Percy Strutt, M.A., at Spalding, Mr. Upton, on attaining his majority, sailed for Auckland in the ship “Chili.” On arrival, he entered into partnership with his late brother in the still well-remembered firm of Messrs. W. B. and J. H. Upton—the flourishing concern which is now so well known as “Upton and Co.” To enumerate all the public offices held by Mr. Upton during his active life at the Northern Capital would occupy more space than it is convenient to allow, and a few must suffice. Whatever he has undertaken has been faithfully carried to a successful issue, this being the natural result of his unvarying rule to thoroughly qualify himself for any office he might be called upon to fill. As an instance of this it may be mentioned that, before accepting the onerous position of chairman of the Education Board, he made himself well acquainted with the duties of the office by assiduous attention as a member of the Board throughout a period of four years. This, with his two years' chairmanship, made a total membership of six years, following upon some experience as a school committeeman, and as a member of the Board of Governors of the Auckland College and Grammar School. In like manner, Mr. Upton served some four years as a borough councillor before entering upon the more responsible position of mayor. During his occupancy of the chief civic office, Mr. Upton was fortunate in securing for the city a great boon by an arrangement with the trustees of the Mackelvie Trust, under the authority of the Supreme Court, to “house” the famous Mackelvie Art Collection in the same building as the city collection. Later on, when a vacancy occurred through the death of one of the Mackelvie Trustees, Mr. Upton was elected to the Board. Another very important office which Mr. Upton holds is that of chairman of the Auckland City Sinking Fund Commissioners—a post of honour and usefulness occupied by him since the inception of the Board, now (1897) more than ten years ago. The South British Insurance Board and that of the Auckland Gas Company claim Mr. Upton as an active member, the chairmanship of the South British Company having been in his hands for the year 1895, and that of the Auckland Gas Company for 1897. After many years of trusteeship of the Auckland Savings Bank, Mr. Upton became, and was at the time of



writing (July, 1897) vice-president of that institution. For twenty years he has been a member of the Auckland Institute, and was president of that influential society for the year 1894–5. As a churchman, Mr. Upton has been prominent for a quarter of a century. He either is or has been connected with almost every Anglican Church function, including the Diocesan Synod for many years, and the General Synod when held at Christchurch. Auckland, and Dunedin. He is a member of the General Trust, the Melanesian Mission Trust, and many other boards. Though a better worker than player, Mr. Upton has not been slow to help forward the harmless varieties of legitimate recreation, and many a struggling society has been encouraged and aided by his friendly advice and generosity. In 1870 Mr. Upton was married to Miss Gorrie, daughter of the late Mr. William Gorrie, and sister of Mr. Upton's present partner. They have seven children—five sons and two daughters.
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Mr. William Crowther,
              sometime Mayor of Auckland, as well as Member of the House of Representatives, was born in Lancashire, England, in 1834. At the early age of nineteen he migrated to Victoria, and was a successful contractor on the goldfields for ten years. He was then attracted to Otago by the gold “rush” to the Dunstan, and brought with him a number of teams of horses and waggons. Soon afterwards a demand arose for horses in Auckland, in consequence of the Maori war, and in 1863 he and several others took to that city a large number of horses in the steamer “Phœbe,” and continued to trade in the horse line between Melbourne and different ports of New Zealand for a period of about two years. Mr. Crowther then went to Melbourne, where he had ten vehicles built for passenger and other traffic, and commenced a 'bus service between Auckland and Remuera. The headquarters of the business were in the Manukau Road, Parnell, but were afterwards removed to Albert Street, and, later still, to the Victoria stables, Wellesley Street East, which he built. There Mr. Crowther conducted a most successful business for twelve years, when he retired on the fruits of his industry and labour. He was elected a city councillor in 1878, and was a hard working and painstaking member for sixteen years. He was elected mayor in succession to Mr. J. H. Upton, and held office for two consecutive years with credit to himself and benefit to the ratepayers. Mr. Crowther was also a member of the governing body of Auckland College and Grammar school, the city schools' committee, Charitable Aid Board, and Sailors' Home. For some years he was a member of the Harbour Board, and was chairman for a term. Mr. Crowther died on the 15th of March, 1900, aged sixty-six years. He is referred to in another article as having been a member of Parliament.
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Mr. James Job Holland,
              who held the Auckland Mayoralty for the three years ending November, 1896, was a popular and painstaking mayor. He is referred to elsewhere as an ex-member of the House of Representatives.
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Mr. Abraham Boardman
              
             
 was elected Mayor of Auckland in 1896, and took office on the 16th of December in that year. He, however, resigned shortly afterwards on account of ill-health, and died on the 21st of May, 1897, aged seventy-three. Mr. Boardman was born near Bolton, Lancashire, England,
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and after being headmaster in an important church school, and also in mercantile life in Liverpool and London, he emigrated to the colonies, and arrived in Auckland on the 24th of January, 1864. He obtained a position in the office of the Superintendent of the Province, and was afterwards Curator of Intestate Estates under the General Government. Subsequently Mr. Boardman was connected extensively with mining companies, and was the first general manager of the South British Insurance Company.
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Mr. Peter Dignan
              
             
 was elected Mayor of Auckland in May, 1897, shortly after the resignation of Mr. A. Boardman, and at the end of the same year he was returned unopposed for a further term; he was the first New Zealand born occupant of the position. Mr. Dignan was born in Auckland on the 24th of April, 1847, and is the eldest son of the late Hon. P. Dignan, M.L.C. He was educated at St. Peter's school, Auckland, by the late Mr. R. J. O'Sullivan, and completed his studies privately under that gentleman and the Franciscan monks. Having been articled to Judge O'Brien, the Sheriff and Registrar of the Supreme Court, and Judge of the Native Land Court, Auckland, he was admitted as a barrister and solicitor, after passing a very successful examination, in 1868. In 1871 Mr. Dignan commenced to practise his profession, and established the legal firm of Dignan and Armstrong; the late Hon. John Sheehan being at one time a member of the firm. Mr. Dignan took a great interest in the Sunday school work of St. Patrick's Cathedral, and was for twenty-three years president of the Christian Doctrine Society, the organisation under which the Sunday school of that church is carried on. He was for many years a prominent member and officer of the Auckland Catholic Literary Institute, and was mainly instrumental in raising a volunteer corps in connection therewith, namely, the Hobson Rifles, in which he served as private for twelve years, and was subsequently captain. When the battalions were organised by Major-General Sir George Whitmore, Captain Dignan was promoted to major, and a few years later, to lieutenant-colonel and commander of No. 2 Battalion (rifles) of the Auckland Volunteer District. Being senior officer, he has filled the position of commanding officer of the district during the absence on leave of the permanent officer. Colonel Dignan holds the long service medal and the Imperial officer's decoration. While commanding officer of the district he held an Easter encampment at Otahuhu, in 1894, and throughout the camp raised a subscription to provide funds for renovating the Nixon monument, a memorial to the warriors of New Zealand. For twenty-two years Mr. Dignan has been trustee of the Auckland Working Men's Club, and president for a great part of the time. He was a member of the Auckland City Council for twelve years, and his services in this connection were of benefit to the city. During his first term of office as Mayor, the Queen's Jubilee
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was celebrated, and a statue of her Majesty erected in Albert Park. The Auckland Exhibition was held during the second term. As a public man, Mr. Dignan has willingly given his services; for many years he was a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, member and chairman of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, member of the council of the Auckland University College, and a governor of the Auckland College and Grammar School. He was also a Commissioner of the Auckland Exhibition, a trustee of the Sailors' Home, and a member of the Scenery Conservation Society. Mr. Dignan is now vice-president of the Auckland Technical School.
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The civic government of Auckland has had numerous ups and downs, and some of the ablest men of the city have taken part in its administration. Counting the fourteen gentlemen who were members of the first Council in 1851, and excluding the Mayors elected since 1875, and also the eighteen members of the present Council, ninety-five citizens of Auckland have served on the City Council. The names suggest many associations connected not only with Auckland but the colony, and show that Aucklanders cannot say that the able and prominent men amongst them have been indifferent to the proper administration of the city's affairs.

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. P. Dignan
              
              was a Member of the first corporation of Auckland, and was elected an alderman of the City Council in November, 1851. Mr. Dignan is referred to elsewhere as an ex-member of the House of Representatives and of the Legislative Council.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mr. Asher
              
              was a Member of the City Board of Commissioners, which was merged into the first City Council. He carried on business as a storekeeper, and was for some time chief of the Auckland Fire Brigade. He died at Tauranga.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Charles Atkin
              
              was a Member of the first Council in 1871, after the declaration of the city under the Municipal Corporations Act of 1867, and he also sat in the City Council for North Ward from 1889 till 1895. He is elsewhere referred to as an old colonist.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Frederick Bugden,
              who was an old colonist, carried on business as a builder in Auckland. He was a member of the first City Council, and previously of the City Board.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. C. S. George,
              sometime a solicitor in Auckland, was a member of the City Board, which was merged into the first City Council. He also represented Grafton Ward in 1882–83.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Charles Hampton
              
              was a Member of the City Board of Commissioners, and also a member of the first Auckland City Council. He was at one time a tailor, and carried on business in Queen Street.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Thomas Macready
              
              was a Member of the City Board of Commissioners, and of the first Auckland City Council. He was also a councillor from 1873 to 1875. Mr. Macready, who was a jeweller, built the Star Hotel, Auckland, of which he was for some time proprietor.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Smart,
              who is still (1900) connected with the firm of Messrs T. and S. Morrin, was a member of the first City Council and of the previous Board of Commissioners. In the early days he was in the employment of Messrs Brown and Campbell, and afterwards a member of the firm of Messrs Cruickshank and Smart, merchants.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. George Staines,
              who in the old days was commonly called the “Poor Man's Friend,” was a member of the City Board of Commissioners, and of the first Auckland City Council.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Benjamin Tonks,
              who was a Member of the City Board of Commissioners, which merged into the first City Council, is referred to as an ex-mayor.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. John Cosgrave
              
              occupied a seat in the City Council from 1871 to 1873, and from 1874 to 1879. He was at one time a draper, and carried on business in Queen Street, in the premises now (1900) occupied by Mr. J. Iredale, draper. Mr. Cosgrave went to California, where he died in 1890.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James McMullen Dargaville,
              who is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, was a member of the City Council from 1871 to 1884.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Richard Hobbs,
              J.P., was a member of the Auckland City Council from 1871 to 1873. He is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the House of Representatives.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. George Holdship
              
              was a very old colonist, and carried on business as a timber merchant. He was a member of the City Council from 1871 to 1876, and from 1885 to 1886. Mr. Holdship now resides in Sydney.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. W. J. Hurst
              
              was elected to the Auckland City Council on the 10th of September, 1871, and sat continuously till September, 1876. He is elsewhere referred to as Mayor of the City for 1877.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Henry Isaacs,
              who is elsewhere referred to as an ex-mayor, was a member of the Auckland City Council from 1871 to 1874, and again in 1875.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Stannus Jones
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1871 to 1874. He was formerly an auctioneer in Auckland, but now resides in France. It was he who induced the Corporation to lay out the Western Park.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. F. L. Prime,
              who is elsewhere referred to as an ex-mayor, was elected to the City Council in 1871, and served altogether for six years.

          

          

            
            

              
Mr. Thomas Williams,
             
 who was a member of the Auckland City Council from 1871 to 1874, and occupied
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a seat on the Auckland Harbour Board in 1874, was born in Plymouth, England, on the 24th May, 1819, and died on the 2nd of August, 1889. He was brought up to the trade of a sailmaker and joined H.M.S. “Ringdove” at an early age. At the expiration of his time Mr. Williams went to America, and established himself in business in Prince Edward's Island. Owing to the rigour of the winter climate, however, he was obliged to leave that colony, and landed in New Zealand about 1862. Mr. Williams lost no time in setting up in business. He leased a large section of land at the corner of Fort Street—where now stands the Victoria Arcade—and built large premises for himself, which he occupied till 1877, when misfortunes drove him to retire into private life. A quiet life, however, did not suit him, and he determined to retrieve his lost fortunes by again starting in business, but, again meeting with ill-success, he was soon compelled to relinquish his efforts. A man full of vigour, and at one time a picture of health, the worry of repeated misfortunes gradually told upon him, and he survived only three years after his second retirement. Mr. Williams was a trustee of St. Matthew's church for many years, and a well-known and popular member of the Masonic craft. He left a widow and daughter to mourn the loss of a loving husband and father.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. H. Brett
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1874 to 1878. He is referred to as an ex-mayor.

          

          

            


            
            


              

                
Mr. William Buchanan
              
              was first elected to a seat in the Auckland City Council in 1874, and sat as a member until 1876; he was also a member from 1878 to 1880, and in 1886–87. Mr. Buchanan carried on business as a jeweller. He was a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank, and died in 1900, leaving a family of four sons and one daughter.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Captain William Crush Daldy
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1874 to 1876. An account of his life is given in an article which deals with him as an ex-member of the House of Representatives.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Gustav Von Der Heyde,
              an Old Colonist, and at one time connected with the firm of Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, was a member of the City Council from 1875 to 1877. He was at one time Consul for Germany, and married a daughter of Mr. Henderson.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Edward Isaacs
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1875 to 1879. He is referred to elsewhere as an old colonist.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Richard Dickson,
              who was elected to a seat in the Auckland City Council in 1876, was born in Tyrone, Ireland, in 1829, and at an early age went to America, where he followed the trade of a cabinet-maker. He returned to the Old Country in 1850, and two years later sailed for Australia. After spending three years in Sydney and Melbourne he came to Auckland and established himself in the building trade. It was he who erected the New Zealand Insurance Company's Buildings, the Bank of New Zealand, the Lorne Street Hall, Tyrone Buildings, the Museum, and other noteworthy places. He was associated with the Oddfellows for many years, and took an active interest in St. Matthew's Church. Mr. Dickson was contractor for the Patea Breakwater, and was accidentally killed whilst working at the contract in 1879.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Thomas Taylor Masefield
              
              was a Member of the City Council from 1876 to 1878, and from 1882 to 1886. He was re-elected in 1898, and is elsewhere referred to as a present councillor.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. W. R. Waddel,
              referred to elsewhere as an ex-mayor of Auckland, represented the North Ward in the City Council from 1876 to 1883.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. A. Fleming,
              who carried on business as a timber merchant in Auckland, was a member of the City Council from 1877 to 1884.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. David Goldie
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council in 1877–78, also from 1879 to 1882, and from 1884 to 1891. Mr. Goldie is described elsewhere as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, and as the present Mayor of Auckland (1900).

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. J. Morton,
              at one time an auctioneer in Auckland, was a member of the City Council in 1877–78.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. John Hay
              
              was at one time a partner of the firm of Hay and Hunningham, drapers, in Queen Street. He studied medicine, and afterwards went to Australia, where he inherited considerable wealth. Mr. Hay was a member of the City Council in 1878–79.

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. Thomas Thompson
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1878 to 1884. He is referred to on another page as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, and full particulars of his career are given on page 1494 of the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia of New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Graves Aickin
              
              sat as a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1879 to 1888. He is referred to in another article as the newly-elected member for Grafton Ward.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Crowther,
              who served as a City Councillor from 1879 to 1891, is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, and as an ex-mayor.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. L. D. Nathan,
              of the well-known firm of L. D. Nathan and Co., sat as a member for the East Ward in the City Council in 1879–80.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. W. J. Offer
              
              represented the South Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1879 to 1882. He was a boot and shoe manufacturer, and carried on business in Queen Street.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. E. Hemus
              
              was elected a Member of the Auckland City Council in 1880, and sat until 1882 for the East Ward.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Moses Montague,
              sometime a jeweller in Auckland, represented the North Ward in the City Council from 1880 to 1886.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Andrew Bell,
              A well-known merchant of Auckland, was a member for Grafton Ward in the City Council in 1882–83. He was for a number of years an elder of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. A. Boardman
              
              was a Member of the City Council in 1882, and he is referred to elsewhere as an ex-mayor.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. J. H. Burns,
              who represented the Karangahape Ward in the City Council from 1882 to 1886, was a Major in the Volunteer Artillery.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Dacre,
              auctioneer for Messrs Cochrane and Sons, was a member of the Auckland City Council from 1882 to 1884, and represented the Ponsonby Ward.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. A. E. T. Devore,
              of the firm of Messrs Devore and Cooper, solicitors, represented Ponsonby Ward in the City Council from 1882 to 1886; and is elsewhere referred to as an ex-mayor.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Henry Thomas Garratt,
             
 East Street, Auckland, was born in Leicester, England, in 1844. He is a son of Mr. John Garratt, of Elmsdown House, Humberstone, was educated in Sheffield, and came to the Colony in 1866, by the ship “Electric.” After settling at Auckland Mr. Garratt took a very active part in all questions affecting the Karangahape district in which he resided, and when the proposal to form it into a separate borough was taken in hand, he with a few others strongly opposed it, and was called upon by the Government to appear before a Commission consisting of Mr. Barstow, R.M., and Mr. D. Tole, to prove the statements he had made in reference to some fictitious signatures. The result of this was that the proclamation for the borough was refused, and the ratepayers decided to become incorporated with the city. At the next ensuing election in September, 1882, Mr. Garratt was elected to a seat in the Auckland City Council, as representative for Karangahape Ward, and he then headed a poll of seven candidates, amongst whom were Dr. Wallace and the chairman of the old Highway


[image: Mr. H. T. Garratt.]
Mr. 
H. T. Garratt.


Board, Major Burns. He sat continuously for six years, when he was defeated. In 1890 he was again returned for the same ward, and again sat for six years, or two terms. At the election of 1896, however, he lost his seat by the casting vote of the Returning Officer. While in the council Mr. Garratt was a warm advocate of drainage, the extension of the water supply, and the maintenance of the C.D. Act, and also advocated the allocation of loans to the wards on a legitimate and sensible basis. As a member of the Hospital Board, of the inquiry committee of which he was chairman, Mr. Garratt did useful work, in connection with which the special study that he had given to hospital management stood him in good stead. He was also chairman of the Karangahape Licensing Bench, and was a member of the Amalgamated Licensing Bench. He holds the Commission of Peace. In 1887 Mr. Garratt stood unsuccessfully for election to the House of Representatives. He is a prominent member of the Ancient Order of Foresters, and for the past twenty years has held the position of district secretary of the Auckland District A.O.F. In 1895 he was sent as a delegate to the High Court at Brighton, England, with a view to settling grievances that existed, and he successfully accomplished his object. Mr. Garratt has always taken great interest in Friendly Society work, and was the means of originating and promoting the Friendly Societies' Conference, which is now a very useful and well-recognised body in Auckland. He is also a member of the Scottish Constitution of the Masonic Order.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mr. George Harper
              
              is a well-known retired merchant, of Auckland, and represented the East Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1882 to 1884. Mr. Harper resides in Bleazard's Road, Mount Eden.

          

          

            


            
            


              

Mr. E. A. Mackechnie,
              of Messrs Mackechnie and Nicholson, solicitors, sat in the City Council for Grafton Ward, from 1882 to 1885. He is well known as a man of literary tastes.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Frank Phillips,
              A partner of the firm of W. Phillips and Son, referred to elsewhere in this volume, was a member of the City Council from 1882 to 1884, when he represented the South Ward; also from 1886 to 1888 as a member for the Grafton Ward.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. R. Stevenson,
              who represented the Karangahape Ward in the City Council from 1882 to 1884, and also in 1885–6, was at one time a grecer in Newton Road. He is a student of astronomy.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. La Roche
              
              was elected to a seat in the City Council in 1883, and represented Grafton Ward till 1888. He is a builder and house painter.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Connelly,
              for some time a builder and contractor in Auckland, was elected a member of the City Council in 1884, and represented the North Ward till 1886.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mr. Edward Cooper
              
              represented the Ponsonby Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1884 to 1892. He practised at one time as a solicitor in Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Peter Dignan,
              who represented the North Ward in the City Council form 1884 to 1897, is fully referred to as an ex-mayor of Auckland.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. John Henry Field,
             
 who was born in Dublin on the 30th of April, 1836, and died on the 5th of July, 1896, represented Ponsonby Ward. He received his education
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at the Blue Coat School of his native place. His time was taken up in various occupations prior to leaving for Auckland, where he landed early in 1867 by the ship “Siam.” He was engaged in teaching for the greater part of that year under the late Dr. Kidd, and then he established himself in Upper Queen Street as a general printer, finally removing to Albert Street in 1873 to premises in Masefield's Buildings, immediately opposite those occupied by the firm of J. H. Field and Co., and where the business is now carried on by Mr. Field's son under that style. The decreased gentleman was for some time a member of the Ponsonby Highway Board, and was its last chairman. He was a director of the Auckland Gas Company for about twelve months prior to his death. In church matters Mr. Field always took a prominent part, being an elder of St. Stephen's Presbyterian church for many years. He was for some time one of the trustees for the Ponsonby Hall, and served on the school committee for many years. His writings on politics in the local papers made him popularly known and universally respected. His end was hastened by the breaking of a blood vessel, the real cause being hæmaplegia and paralysis of the side. Mr. Field left a widow and a family of eight children, four sons and four daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. James Job Holland
              
              was elected a Member of the Auckland City Council in 1884, and served for nine years. He is referred to elsewhere as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, and also as an ex-mayor of Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Alfred Kidd
              
              was first elected a Member of the Auckland City Council in 1884. Four years later he resigned, but in 1892, he was re-elected, and has since sat continuously. He is referred to as a present councillor.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Morrison,
              who sat as a Member for Karangahape Ward in the City Council in 1884–85, was for some time proprietor of the Rising Sun Hotel, Karangahape Road, Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. John Henry Upton
              
              was elected in 1884 to a seat in the Auckland City Council, and afterwards became Mayor. He is referred to as an ex-mayor.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Waymouth,
              the founder and senior partner of the firm of Waymouth and Son, public accountants, was a well-known and highly respected citizen. He represented the South Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1884 to 1886. Mr. Waymouth died in December, 1892.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. D. F. Evans
              
              occupied a seat in the City Council for the Ponsonby Ward from 1885 to 1890. At that time, he carried on business as an auctioneer at the corner of Queen and Wyndham Streets.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. J. McCosh Clark,
              who is referred to as an ex-mayor, represented Grafton Ward in the City Council in 1886–87.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mr. Charles Davies
              
              represented Karangahape Ward in the City Council from 1886 till 1890. He was at one time a merchant in Queen Street.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. John Trenwith,
             
 who represented Karangahape Ward in the City Council from 1886 till 1899, was born at Penzance, Cornwall, England, in 1826. Educated in his native town, he learned the trade of a bootmaker with his father, the late Mr. John Trenwith—an old established
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bootmaker in Cornwall. Coming to New Zealand by the ship “Lancashire Witch” in 1865, he worked at his trade in Auckland for five years, starting in business in 1870. Mr. Trenwith has developed a large trade as a boot manufacturer and importer, and claims to be the oldest wholesale boot manufacturer now in business in the Colony. His factory in Wakefield Street is in the charge of his sons, under his supervision. Mr. Trenwith first became a member of the City Council in 1886, and was for some years a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, and of the Charitable Aid Board. As a Forester, in Court “City of Auckland,” he has been senior trustee for more than twenty years. He is a member of the Primitive Methodist Church. Mr. Trenwith was married in Cornwall, and has three sons and a daughter, who are all married.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mr. J. W. James
              
              was for two years a Member for South Ward in the Auckland City Council. He has retired from business and resides at Mount Albert.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James M. Lennox,
              who is referred to in another article, occupied a seat in the City Council from 1887 to 1891, and represented the South Ward.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Mr. John Clemshaw Swales
              
             
 was a member of the Auckland City Council representing Ponsonby Ward from January, 1887, till the close of 1894. As he had retired from business prior to entering the Council. Mr. Swales was able to devote all his energies to the interests of the city, and was a staunch advocate of efficient drainage. As chairman of the Streets Committee, he effected many economies, his sound common sense being especially useful. Mr. Swales was born in Yorkshire in 1826, his father being a cotton manufacturer in that county. At the age of nine he was left an orphan, and, being thrown upon his own resources, found, employment with a plumber at Halifax. He removed to Thursk, and subsequently to Walsall, where he was employed for four



years as an apprentice to Mr. John Jones. At the expiration of his time, Mr. Swales went to Bilston, working for six years with a wholesale manufacturer. He then returned to Walsall, where he married and went into business. Arriving at Auckland in 1859 in the ship “Shalimahr,” Mr. Swales worked at his trade for a few weeks, and then established himself in business as a plumber and tinsmith in Wellesley Street, subsequently removing to Ponsonby. When the Maori War broke out, he was compelled to shoulder a musket, but eventually returned to his business, which he successfully carried on until transferring it to his son, Mr. J. W. Swales, in 1883. Mr. Swales, senior, has been a member of the Auckland Charitable Aid Board since 1889, and has long been connected with licensing matters in Ponsonby.
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He is a trustee of the Wesleyan Church, and has been a member of the Ponsonby School Committee for many years. Mr. Swales has four sons and two daughters.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Laver,
              who still (1900) carries on business as a builder in Auckland, represented the Grafton Ward in the City Council from 1888 to 1893.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William Henry Smith,
              senior partner of the well-known firm of Messrs Smith and Caughey, sat as a member for the Karangahape Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1888 to 1891.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. John Grey
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1889 until 1896, during which year he died. The burgesses elected his son, Mr. Charles Grey, to his vacant municipal chair. Mr. Grey is referred to in another article as the founder of the firm of John Grey and Sons, cordial manufacturers.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Young Warren,
             
 who represented Karangahape Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1889 to 1900, was born in Sligo, Ireland, in 1837. Mr. Warren's family is a very old one, his ancestors having crossed over from Normandy to Ireland at the time of the Conquest. Mr. Young Warren was brought up to farming pursuits
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on his father's property in Sligo, and came to Auckland in 1862 by the ship “Shalimahr.” Joining the Volunteer force during the Maori War, he saw active service in the Waikato, and, afterwards returning to Auckland, entered into business as a grocer. After twenty years he retired into private life at Mt. Roskill, where he has a fine property of four and a half acres. In 1865 he was married to Miss Sarah Reece, and has five children. Mr. Warren has held office as a member of the Costley Trust Board, the Charitable Aid Board, and the Mount Eden Highway Board.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Thomas Julian
              
              represented South Ward in the City Council from 1891 till 1899. He was born in 1843 at Driffeld, Yorkshire, where his father, the late Mr. John Julian, had a good connection as a builder; he was educated at the national school, and learned his trade with his father. Going to London in 1866, he was soon promoted to be foreman for Messrs. George Trollope and Son, builders and contractors, and afterwards filled similar places with other prominent employers. On arrival in Auckland in 1883 by the s.s. “British Queen,” he immediately established himself as a builder and contractor. Among the more important residences erected in and around the city by Mr. Julian may be mentioned those of Sir William Fox, Mr. McCosh Clark, Colonel Burton, Mr. Nathan Harker, Mr. C. B. Stone, Mrs Geo. Taylor, Mr. H. B. Morton, and, last but not least, that of Mr. Thornton of Cambridge, whose splendid establishment cost upwards of £7,000. The principal business premises erected by him include a fine row of brick shops in Symonds Street, Mr. Arkel's brewery, the City Club Hotel, the fine block containing the Naval and Family Hotel, and Mr. Powley's model shirt factory. Mr. Julian's first step on the ladder of public life was that of director of the Horse Ferry Road Board school, London—a position which gave him an insight in educational matters generally. In politics, too, he was a hard worker at that time. He was a member of Mr. Herbert Gladstone's committee, when he stood for Middlesex in opposition to Lord George Hamilton. He was also active in the cause of Mr. John Morley and Sir Arthur Hobhouse as against Mr. W. H. Smith and Sir Charles Russell. As one of Mr. Charles Bradlaugh's captains, he took an active and prominent part in the demonstrations held in Trafalgar Square and Hyde Park in connection with the great Northampton struggle. Mr. Julian was a member of the Amalgamated Society of Carpenters and Joiners of London, and one of the few who cast in their lot with the Society's Manchester section, when the split occurred in the seventies. In the land of his adoption, Mr. Julian has done good work as a member of the City Schools Committee, the licensing committee, the streets and finance committees of the City Council, and as a representative of the City Council on the Harbour Board. He has constantly supported the thorough prosecution of city drainage, and was instrumental in getting the Howe and Napier Streets gully satisfactorily drained and filled in—a work which had long been neglected. He takes more than a passing interest in aquatics, and has been a vice-commodore of the Waltemata Boating Club and vice-president of the Auckland Swimming Club. He was married in 1879 to Miss Watts, daughter of Mr. George Watts, miller, of Bedfordshire. Mr. and Mrs. Julian, with their son and two daughters, reside at Remuera.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Charles Samuel Wright,
             
 who occupied a seat in the Auckland City Council
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from 1890 to 1894, was also a member of the Auckland Harbour Board for a similar term. Whilst on the Harbour Board, Mr. Wright supported the erection of the Quay Street Jetty, which was extended 150 feet. His proposal was to erect, as soon as funds would allow, three jetties that would bring the shipping closer in, and also deepen the harbour. Mr. Wright was born in Wellington in 1843, and is a son of the late Mr. W. J. Wright. He was educated under the denominational system, and apprenticed for five years at Gilbert's Sash and Door Factory, where he also remained as a journeyman for about eight years. In 1875, Mr. Wright established himself as a builder in Wellington Street, and carried on the business very successfully till 1884, when he was induced by Mr. Frankland, Registrar of the Friendly Societies, to become valuer under the Friendly Societies Act. In 1896, Mr. Wright re-entered the building trade, and assisted to construct the City Hall, the A.M.P. buildings and the two adjoining shops, and many other places. He has taken an active interest in the Knights of Labour and has filled the position of Master Workman. He has been secretary of the Fountain of Friendship Lodge of Oddfellows for a great number of years, was secretary of the Parnell Lodge of Manchester Unity, and was elected provincial chief secretary of Auckland. In 1887, he contested a seat in the Liberal cause with Mr. T. Peacock, but was defeated by a majority of thirteen. Mr. Wright was for seven years a member of the town schools committee, and chairman of the Ponsonby school committee, and was on the Auckland licensing committee for some years. He saw early service in the volunteer movement, but resigned owing to ill-health. He is a vice-president of the Ponsonby Football Club. Mr. Wright married a daughter of Mr. Hale, of Gloucester, and has a family of nine sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Luks,
              sometime proprietor of the Victoria Hotel, Victoria Street, sat in the City Council as a member for Grafton Ward from 1891 to 1893. He is referred to in another article as an old colonist who arrived in Australia in 1860, and came to New Zealand in 1864.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Dr. Henry Walker
              
             
 represented South Ward in the Auckland City Council from the 28th of October, 1891, till September, 1892, when for various reasons he resigned the position. Whilst a member, he sat on the Legal Committee, and played an active part in the discussion of the Tramways question. Born in Yorkshire in 1846, Dr. Walker is a son of Mr. William Walker. He served his pupilship under Dr. Braithwaite, of Leeds, whose medical writings are known the world over. Both in Edinburgh and Glasgow Dr. Walker pursued his studies with considerable success, passing the final stages of his profession and qualifying fully in 1876. After practising for four years in Baildon, near Saltaire, Yorkshire, he came out to New Zealand in 1881 as medical officer of the ship “May Queen.” Landing at Tauranga, he proceeded to the Northern Capital. The doctor is deservedly popular in Auckland. He came prominently before the public, and gave important evidence in connection with several poisoning cases. He was president for two successive years of the Auckland branch of the New Zealand Medical Association, and at present (1897) holds the position of hon. secretary, the association
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having been merged in the Auckland section of the New Zealand branch of the British Medical Association. Dr. Walker has been associated with Freemasonry for the past twenty-two years, and is now junior grand warden to the New Zealand Grand Lodge. He is a surgeon-major to the New Zealand Naval Volunteers. Dr. Walker takes a deep interest in educational matters. He was for eight or nine years on school committees, and fought hard for the abolishment of home lessons in the Auckland city schools. His is a familiar figure at the Auckland Bowling Green. Dr. Walker is a prominent member of the Liedertafel, and has helped to forward the interests of St. Thomas's Church in the positions of choirmaster and organist. Mrs Walker is a daughter of Mr. James Kay, of Dunfermline, Scotland, and there are two sons and two daughters of the marriage.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. William James Courtney,
             
 who sat for Ponsonby from 1892 to 1900 was born near Limerick, in the South of Ireland, in 1835. Educated in the land of his birth, Mr. Courtney was brought up as a chemist, and passed his examination as a veterinary surgeon. He left the Emerald Isle in 1858 for Australia, and was for two years after arrival engaged in mining throughout that continent. In 1860, having heard of the gold discoveries in New Zealand, he decided to try his “luck” in that direction, and was for some years engaged in mining on the most important fields of this Colony. Mr. Courtney salled in 1870 for South Africa, where he was engaged on the diamond fields for nineteen years with considerable success. Having won a competence, he decided to return to New Zealand and settle down, making Auckland his home. He bought the beautifully situated and picturesque property of four acres at “Courtney Place,” Ponsonby, where he has what is claimed to be the finest vinery under glass in the Colony. His residence is surrounded by a well-kept flower garden and drives, the approach to the house being dotted here and there with a number of statues. Mr. Courtney takes a great interest in his grounds, and prides himself on the quality of the grapes he grows. During the past twenty years he has made several trips round the world, and has visited every important exhibition held during that time, including the Paris and the Chicago Exhibitions. Every four years he takes a trip to Africa to look after his interests in that country. Since his retirement from business life, Mr. Courtney has been asked on several occasions to stand for parliament, but has so far declined. He has a lofty idea of the responsibility of a representative of the people, and would consent to enter the parliamentary arena only on the conditions that, if elected, he should act independently of anyone else, and that he must first be convinced that the step
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would be for the country's good. Mr. Courtney had no previous thought of entering the City Council, but was unable to refuse the large and influential deputation which ultimately prevailed upon him to stand. After serving for three years he wished to retire into private life, but his friends and the ratepayers generally requisitioned him to again contest the seat. He acceded to the request, and, though he took no active part in the election owing to illness, was returned then, and also on a subsequent occasion. Mr. Courtney is esteemed both by his friends and the general public for the ability, shrewdness and business capacity which he has exhibited during his career in the council. Mr. Courtney is married and has three children.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Frederick Ehrenfried Baume
              
              was first elected unopposed to a seat in the Auckland City Council in 1893, and



was re-elected two years later. As a present councillor, he is referred to in another article.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Albert Edward Glover,
             
 who for some years represented South Ward on the Auckland City Council, was born at Nottingham, England, on the 28th of June, 1849, and received his education at the local grammar school. He came with his parents to New Zealand in 1862. His father, the late Mr. Uriah Glover, was identified with the early history of the goldfields, and was for many years in business as a hotelkeeper in Coromandel. Until he grew to manhood, Mr. Glover was in business with his father, and was one of the first prospectors of the Thames goldfield; he was also proficient in the Maori language, and was appointed native interpreter to the Resident Magistrate's Court. Afterwards he dealt in land, became master of a cutter trading to Coromandel, and was also a licensed victualler for some years. Mr. Glover married a relative of the Queen of Raratonga, and was elected to the City Council of Auckland in 1893. He was for a time a member of the
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Auckland school committee, and represented the City Council on the Auckland Harbour Board. Mr. Glover is a supporter of all kinds of sport, and has passed through many vicissitudes with credit to himself. His private residence is situated in Nelson Street, Auckland.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Charles Hesketh,
             
 who sat for City Ward in the City Council from 1893 to 1900, was born at Manchester in 1842, and is the third son of the late Mr. Emanuel Hesketh, for many years a schoolmaster in Auckland. He was educated in Manchester, and served an apprenticeship to the soft goods trade in that city. He left his native land in 1859 and arrived with his parents in New Zealand in the same year. After a short time on a farm he joined Mr. Alfred Buckland, the well-known cattle auctioneer of Auckland, and remained in his service for twenty years. In conjunction with Mr. Alexander Aitken, he established his present business of grain
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merchant and has been remarkably successful. A past master of the Remuera Lodge, Mr. Hesketh takes a great interest in Freemasonry. He saw active service during the first Taranaki war, and also went through the Waikato war, for which he was awarded the New Zealand medal. He is a thorough sportsman and takes an ardent part in all outdoor pastimes, cricket perhaps being his pet hobby. Ever keenly interested in local affairs, Mr. Hesketh has been a member on the Remuera school committee and highway board, and of the Auckland licensing bench as well as of the City Council. He is married and has three children.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. G. H. Powley,
              who occupied a seat in the City Council for Grafton Ward from 1893 to 1894, is referred to in another article as proprietor of the Cambridge Shirt and Clothing Factory, Victoria Street West, and Graham Street, Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William Thorne,
              Barrister and Solicitor, represented the Ponsonby Ward in the City Council from 1893 to 1896.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William Bagnell White,
              who represented Grafton Ward in the Auckland City Council, from the end of 1894 till the end of 1900, is referred to as Major W. B. White, of the Battalion staff of the Auckland Infantry, in the military section of this volume.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Adam Cairns,
             
 J.P., represented the North Ward in the City Council from 1895 to 1899. He was born in Edinburgh in 1840, and was educated at Newington Academy. After leaving school he was apprenticed to the well-known firm of Messrs. Knox, Samuel and Dickson, wholesale drapers. On the outbreak of the Crimean War Mr. Cairns joined Her Majesty's Navy, and saw active service in H.M.S. “Hastings,” in the Baltic, and was at the bombardment of Sweaborg under Admiral Dundas. Peace being restored, he retired from the Navy, and was engaged as assistant manager to Mr. Morris in the grand saloon of the International Exhibition of 1862. In 1863 he came to New Zealand, and was for about three years providore of the local steamers at Dunedin. He was afterwards in Christchurch, where he successfully conducted the White Hart Hotel for several years. In 1871 he removed to Auckland, where he kept the Royal Mail Hotel, until he retired from business, and paid a visit to Europe, in which he remained for three years. When he returned to New Zealand in 1881, he bought the Star Hotel, Auckland, which, after conducting it for ten years, he sold out to Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co. Mr. Cairns then spent two years as licensee of the Lake Takapuna Hotel. After enjoying a rest of three years he decided to re-enter the business, and in 1896 became the proprietor of the Grand Hotel, Princes Street, Auckland, one of the
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principal hotels of the city. As a Mason, Mr. Cairns has taken the degrees of Master, Mark, and Royal Arch. He was president of the Crimean Veterans' Association for years, and has also been identified with the Auckland Racing Club, having been long a prominent member. Mr. Cairns has now retired from business.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Joseph Becroft
              
              was elected to a seat in the City Council in 1896, and sat for Ponsonby Ward until 1889. He carries on business as a builder in Jervois Road, Ponsonby.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Mcnab,
              for many years a traveller for the firm of Messrs Brown and Campbell, represented the North Ward in the City Council in 1897–98.
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The civic government of Auckland has had numerous ups and downs, and some of the ablest men of the city have taken part in its administration. Counting the fourteen gentlemen who were members of the first Council in 1851, and excluding the Mayors elected since 1875, and also the eighteen members of the present Council, ninety-five citizens of Auckland have served on the City Council. The names suggest many associations connected not only with Auckland but the colony, and show that Aucklanders cannot say that the able and prominent men amongst them have been indifferent to the proper administration of the city's affairs.
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The Hon. P. Dignan



            
            


              

                
The Hon. P. Dignan
              
              was a Member of the first corporation of Auckland, and was elected an alderman of the City Council in November, 1851. Mr. Dignan is referred to elsewhere as an ex-member of the House of Representatives and of the Legislative Council.
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                Mr. Asher
              
              was a Member of the City Board of Commissioners, which was merged into the first City Council. He carried on business as a storekeeper, and was for some time chief of the Auckland Fire Brigade. He died at Tauranga.
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Mr. Charles Atkin
              
              was a Member of the first Council in 1871, after the declaration of the city under the Municipal Corporations Act of 1867, and he also sat in the City Council for North Ward from 1889 till 1895. He is elsewhere referred to as an old colonist.
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Mr. Frederick Bugden,
              who was an old colonist, carried on business as a builder in Auckland. He was a member of the first City Council, and previously of the City Board.
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Mr. C. S. George,
              sometime a solicitor in Auckland, was a member of the City Board, which was merged into the first City Council. He also represented Grafton Ward in 1882–83.
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Mr. Charles Hampton
              
              was a Member of the City Board of Commissioners, and also a member of the first Auckland City Council. He was at one time a tailor, and carried on business in Queen Street.
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Mr. Thomas Macready
              
              was a Member of the City Board of Commissioners, and of the first Auckland City Council. He was also a councillor from 1873 to 1875. Mr. Macready, who was a jeweller, built the Star Hotel, Auckland, of which he was for some time proprietor.
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Mr. James Smart,
              who is still (1900) connected with the firm of Messrs T. and S. Morrin, was a member of the first City Council and of the previous Board of Commissioners. In the early days he was in the employment of Messrs Brown and Campbell, and afterwards a member of the firm of Messrs Cruickshank and Smart, merchants.
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Mr. George Staines,
              who in the old days was commonly called the “Poor Man's Friend,” was a member of the City Board of Commissioners, and of the first Auckland City Council.
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Mr. Benjamin Tonks,
              who was a Member of the City Board of Commissioners, which merged into the first City Council, is referred to as an ex-mayor.
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Mr. John Cosgrave
              
              occupied a seat in the City Council from 1871 to 1873, and from 1874 to 1879. He was at one time a draper, and carried on business in Queen Street, in the premises now (1900) occupied by Mr. J. Iredale, draper. Mr. Cosgrave went to California, where he died in 1890.
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Mr. James McMullen Dargaville,
              who is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, was a member of the City Council from 1871 to 1884.
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Mr. Richard Hobbs,
              J.P., was a member of the Auckland City Council from 1871 to 1873. He is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the House of Representatives.
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Mr. George Holdship
              
              was a very old colonist, and carried on business as a timber merchant. He was a member of the City Council from 1871 to 1876, and from 1885 to 1886. Mr. Holdship now resides in Sydney.
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Mr. W. J. Hurst
              
              was elected to the Auckland City Council on the 10th of September, 1871, and sat continuously till September, 1876. He is elsewhere referred to as Mayor of the City for 1877.
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Mr. Henry Isaacs,
              who is elsewhere referred to as an ex-mayor, was a member of the Auckland City Council from 1871 to 1874, and again in 1875.
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Mr. Stannus Jones
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1871 to 1874. He was formerly an auctioneer in Auckland, but now resides in France. It was he who induced the Corporation to lay out the Western Park.
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Mr. F. L. Prime,
              who is elsewhere referred to as an ex-mayor, was elected to the City Council in 1871, and served altogether for six years.
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Mr. Thomas Williams,
             
 who was a member of the Auckland City Council from 1871 to 1874, and occupied
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a seat on the Auckland Harbour Board in 1874, was born in Plymouth, England, on the 24th May, 1819, and died on the 2nd of August, 1889. He was brought up to the trade of a sailmaker and joined H.M.S. “Ringdove” at an early age. At the expiration of his time Mr. Williams went to America, and established himself in business in Prince Edward's Island. Owing to the rigour of the winter climate, however, he was obliged to leave that colony, and landed in New Zealand about 1862. Mr. Williams lost no time in setting up in business. He leased a large section of land at the corner of Fort Street—where now stands the Victoria Arcade—and built large premises for himself, which he occupied till 1877, when misfortunes drove him to retire into private life. A quiet life, however, did not suit him, and he determined to retrieve his lost fortunes by again starting in business, but, again meeting with ill-success, he was soon compelled to relinquish his efforts. A man full of vigour, and at one time a picture of health, the worry of repeated misfortunes gradually told upon him, and he survived only three years after his second retirement. Mr. Williams was a trustee of St. Matthew's church for many years, and a well-known and popular member of the Masonic craft. He left a widow and daughter to mourn the loss of a loving husband and father.
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Mr. H. Brett
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1874 to 1878. He is referred to as an ex-mayor.
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Mr. William Buchanan
              
              was first elected to a seat in the Auckland City Council in 1874, and sat as a member until 1876; he was also a member from 1878 to 1880, and in 1886–87. Mr. Buchanan carried on business as a jeweller. He was a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank, and died in 1900, leaving a family of four sons and one daughter.
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Captain William Crush Daldy
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1874 to 1876. An account of his life is given in an article which deals with him as an ex-member of the House of Representatives.
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Mr. Gustav Von Der Heyde,
              an Old Colonist, and at one time connected with the firm of Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, was a member of the City Council from 1875 to 1877. He was at one time Consul for Germany, and married a daughter of Mr. Henderson.
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Mr. Edward Isaacs
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1875 to 1879. He is referred to elsewhere as an old colonist.
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Mr. Richard Dickson,
              who was elected to a seat in the Auckland City Council in 1876, was born in Tyrone, Ireland, in 1829, and at an early age went to America, where he followed the trade of a cabinet-maker. He returned to the Old Country in 1850, and two years later sailed for Australia. After spending three years in Sydney and Melbourne he came to Auckland and established himself in the building trade. It was he who erected the New Zealand Insurance Company's Buildings, the Bank of New Zealand, the Lorne Street Hall, Tyrone Buildings, the Museum, and other noteworthy places. He was associated with the Oddfellows for many years, and took an active interest in St. Matthew's Church. Mr. Dickson was contractor for the Patea Breakwater, and was accidentally killed whilst working at the contract in 1879.
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Mr. Thomas Taylor Masefield
              
              was a Member of the City Council from 1876 to 1878, and from 1882 to 1886. He was re-elected in 1898, and is elsewhere referred to as a present councillor.
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Mr. W. R. Waddel,
              referred to elsewhere as an ex-mayor of Auckland, represented the North Ward in the City Council from 1876 to 1883.
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Mr. A. Fleming,
              who carried on business as a timber merchant in Auckland, was a member of the City Council from 1877 to 1884.
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Mr. David Goldie
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council in 1877–78, also from 1879 to 1882, and from 1884 to 1891. Mr. Goldie is described elsewhere as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, and as the present Mayor of Auckland (1900).
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Mr. J. Morton,
              at one time an auctioneer in Auckland, was a member of the City Council in 1877–78.
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Mr. John Hay
              
              was at one time a partner of the firm of Hay and Hunningham, drapers, in Queen Street. He studied medicine, and afterwards went to Australia, where he inherited considerable wealth. Mr. Hay was a member of the City Council in 1878–79.
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The Hon. Thomas Thompson
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1878 to 1884. He is referred to on another page as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, and full particulars of his career are given on page 1494 of the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia of New Zealand.
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Mr. Graves Aickin
              
              sat as a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1879 to 1888. He is referred to in another article as the newly-elected member for Grafton Ward.
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Mr. Crowther,
              who served as a City Councillor from 1879 to 1891, is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, and as an ex-mayor.
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Mr. L. D. Nathan,
              of the well-known firm of L. D. Nathan and Co., sat as a member for the East Ward in the City Council in 1879–80.
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Mr. W. J. Offer
              
              represented the South Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1879 to 1882. He was a boot and shoe manufacturer, and carried on business in Queen Street.
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Mr. E. Hemus
              
              was elected a Member of the Auckland City Council in 1880, and sat until 1882 for the East Ward.
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Mr. Moses Montague,
              sometime a jeweller in Auckland, represented the North Ward in the City Council from 1880 to 1886.
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Mr. Andrew Bell,
              A well-known merchant of Auckland, was a member for Grafton Ward in the City Council in 1882–83. He was for a number of years an elder of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church.
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Mr. A. Boardman
              
              was a Member of the City Council in 1882, and he is referred to elsewhere as an ex-mayor.
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Mr. J. H. Burns,
              who represented the Karangahape Ward in the City Council from 1882 to 1886, was a Major in the Volunteer Artillery.
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Mr. James Dacre,
              auctioneer for Messrs Cochrane and Sons, was a member of the Auckland City Council from 1882 to 1884, and represented the Ponsonby Ward.
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Mr. A. E. T. Devore,
              of the firm of Messrs Devore and Cooper, solicitors, represented Ponsonby Ward in the City Council from 1882 to 1886; and is elsewhere referred to as an ex-mayor.
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Mr. Henry Thomas Garratt,
             
 East Street, Auckland, was born in Leicester, England, in 1844. He is a son of Mr. John Garratt, of Elmsdown House, Humberstone, was educated in Sheffield, and came to the Colony in 1866, by the ship “Electric.” After settling at Auckland Mr. Garratt took a very active part in all questions affecting the Karangahape district in which he resided, and when the proposal to form it into a separate borough was taken in hand, he with a few others strongly opposed it, and was called upon by the Government to appear before a Commission consisting of Mr. Barstow, R.M., and Mr. D. Tole, to prove the statements he had made in reference to some fictitious signatures. The result of this was that the proclamation for the borough was refused, and the ratepayers decided to become incorporated with the city. At the next ensuing election in September, 1882, Mr. Garratt was elected to a seat in the Auckland City Council, as representative for Karangahape Ward, and he then headed a poll of seven candidates, amongst whom were Dr. Wallace and the chairman of the old Highway
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Board, Major Burns. He sat continuously for six years, when he was defeated. In 1890 he was again returned for the same ward, and again sat for six years, or two terms. At the election of 1896, however, he lost his seat by the casting vote of the Returning Officer. While in the council Mr. Garratt was a warm advocate of drainage, the extension of the water supply, and the maintenance of the C.D. Act, and also advocated the allocation of loans to the wards on a legitimate and sensible basis. As a member of the Hospital Board, of the inquiry committee of which he was chairman, Mr. Garratt did useful work, in connection with which the special study that he had given to hospital management stood him in good stead. He was also chairman of the Karangahape Licensing Bench, and was a member of the Amalgamated Licensing Bench. He holds the Commission of Peace. In 1887 Mr. Garratt stood unsuccessfully for election to the House of Representatives. He is a prominent member of the Ancient Order of Foresters, and for the past twenty years has held the position of district secretary of the Auckland District A.O.F. In 1895 he was sent as a delegate to the High Court at Brighton, England, with a view to settling grievances that existed, and he successfully accomplished his object. Mr. Garratt has always taken great interest in Friendly Society work, and was the means of originating and promoting the Friendly Societies' Conference, which is now a very useful and well-recognised body in Auckland. He is also a member of the Scottish Constitution of the Masonic Order.
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                Mr. George Harper
              
              is a well-known retired merchant, of Auckland, and represented the East Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1882 to 1884. Mr. Harper resides in Bleazard's Road, Mount Eden.
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Mr. E. A. Mackechnie,
              of Messrs Mackechnie and Nicholson, solicitors, sat in the City Council for Grafton Ward, from 1882 to 1885. He is well known as a man of literary tastes.
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Mr. Frank Phillips,
              A partner of the firm of W. Phillips and Son, referred to elsewhere in this volume, was a member of the City Council from 1882 to 1884, when he represented the South Ward; also from 1886 to 1888 as a member for the Grafton Ward.
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Mr. R. Stevenson,
              who represented the Karangahape Ward in the City Council from 1882 to 1884, and also in 1885–6, was at one time a grecer in Newton Road. He is a student of astronomy.
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Mr. La Roche
              
              was elected to a seat in the City Council in 1883, and represented Grafton Ward till 1888. He is a builder and house painter.
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Mr. Connelly,
              for some time a builder and contractor in Auckland, was elected a member of the City Council in 1884, and represented the North Ward till 1886.
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                Mr. Edward Cooper
              
              represented the Ponsonby Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1884 to 1892. He practised at one time as a solicitor in Auckland.
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Mr. Peter Dignan,
              who represented the North Ward in the City Council form 1884 to 1897, is fully referred to as an ex-mayor of Auckland.
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Mr. John Henry Field,
             
 who was born in Dublin on the 30th of April, 1836, and died on the 5th of July, 1896, represented Ponsonby Ward. He received his education
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at the Blue Coat School of his native place. His time was taken up in various occupations prior to leaving for Auckland, where he landed early in 1867 by the ship “Siam.” He was engaged in teaching for the greater part of that year under the late Dr. Kidd, and then he established himself in Upper Queen Street as a general printer, finally removing to Albert Street in 1873 to premises in Masefield's Buildings, immediately opposite those occupied by the firm of J. H. Field and Co., and where the business is now carried on by Mr. Field's son under that style. The decreased gentleman was for some time a member of the Ponsonby Highway Board, and was its last chairman. He was a director of the Auckland Gas Company for about twelve months prior to his death. In church matters Mr. Field always took a prominent part, being an elder of St. Stephen's Presbyterian church for many years. He was for some time one of the trustees for the Ponsonby Hall, and served on the school committee for many years. His writings on politics in the local papers made him popularly known and universally respected. His end was hastened by the breaking of a blood vessel, the real cause being hæmaplegia and paralysis of the side. Mr. Field left a widow and a family of eight children, four sons and four daughters.
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Mr. James Job Holland
              
              was elected a Member of the Auckland City Council in 1884, and served for nine years. He is referred to elsewhere as an ex-member of the House of Representatives, and also as an ex-mayor of Auckland.
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Mr. Alfred Kidd
              
              was first elected a Member of the Auckland City Council in 1884. Four years later he resigned, but in 1892, he was re-elected, and has since sat continuously. He is referred to as a present councillor.
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Mr. Morrison,
              who sat as a Member for Karangahape Ward in the City Council in 1884–85, was for some time proprietor of the Rising Sun Hotel, Karangahape Road, Auckland.
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Mr. John Henry Upton
              
              was elected in 1884 to a seat in the Auckland City Council, and afterwards became Mayor. He is referred to as an ex-mayor.
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Mr. John Waymouth,
              the founder and senior partner of the firm of Waymouth and Son, public accountants, was a well-known and highly respected citizen. He represented the South Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1884 to 1886. Mr. Waymouth died in December, 1892.
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Mr. D. F. Evans
              
              occupied a seat in the City Council for the Ponsonby Ward from 1885 to 1890. At that time, he carried on business as an auctioneer at the corner of Queen and Wyndham Streets.
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Mr. J. McCosh Clark,
              who is referred to as an ex-mayor, represented Grafton Ward in the City Council in 1886–87.
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                Mr. Charles Davies
              
              represented Karangahape Ward in the City Council from 1886 till 1890. He was at one time a merchant in Queen Street.
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Mr. John Trenwith,
             
 who represented Karangahape Ward in the City Council from 1886 till 1899, was born at Penzance, Cornwall, England, in 1826. Educated in his native town, he learned the trade of a bootmaker with his father, the late Mr. John Trenwith—an old established
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bootmaker in Cornwall. Coming to New Zealand by the ship “Lancashire Witch” in 1865, he worked at his trade in Auckland for five years, starting in business in 1870. Mr. Trenwith has developed a large trade as a boot manufacturer and importer, and claims to be the oldest wholesale boot manufacturer now in business in the Colony. His factory in Wakefield Street is in the charge of his sons, under his supervision. Mr. Trenwith first became a member of the City Council in 1886, and was for some years a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, and of the Charitable Aid Board. As a Forester, in Court “City of Auckland,” he has been senior trustee for more than twenty years. He is a member of the Primitive Methodist Church. Mr. Trenwith was married in Cornwall, and has three sons and a daughter, who are all married.
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                Mr. J. W. James
              
              was for two years a Member for South Ward in the Auckland City Council. He has retired from business and resides at Mount Albert.
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Mr. James M. Lennox,
              who is referred to in another article, occupied a seat in the City Council from 1887 to 1891, and represented the South Ward.
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Mr. John Clemshaw Swales
              
             
 was a member of the Auckland City Council representing Ponsonby Ward from January, 1887, till the close of 1894. As he had retired from business prior to entering the Council. Mr. Swales was able to devote all his energies to the interests of the city, and was a staunch advocate of efficient drainage. As chairman of the Streets Committee, he effected many economies, his sound common sense being especially useful. Mr. Swales was born in Yorkshire in 1826, his father being a cotton manufacturer in that county. At the age of nine he was left an orphan, and, being thrown upon his own resources, found, employment with a plumber at Halifax. He removed to Thursk, and subsequently to Walsall, where he was employed for four



years as an apprentice to Mr. John Jones. At the expiration of his time, Mr. Swales went to Bilston, working for six years with a wholesale manufacturer. He then returned to Walsall, where he married and went into business. Arriving at Auckland in 1859 in the ship “Shalimahr,” Mr. Swales worked at his trade for a few weeks, and then established himself in business as a plumber and tinsmith in Wellesley Street, subsequently removing to Ponsonby. When the Maori War broke out, he was compelled to shoulder a musket, but eventually returned to his business, which he successfully carried on until transferring it to his son, Mr. J. W. Swales, in 1883. Mr. Swales, senior, has been a member of the Auckland Charitable Aid Board since 1889, and has long been connected with licensing matters in Ponsonby.
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He is a trustee of the Wesleyan Church, and has been a member of the Ponsonby School Committee for many years. Mr. Swales has four sons and two daughters.
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Mr. Laver,
              who still (1900) carries on business as a builder in Auckland, represented the Grafton Ward in the City Council from 1888 to 1893.
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Mr. William Henry Smith,
              senior partner of the well-known firm of Messrs Smith and Caughey, sat as a member for the Karangahape Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1888 to 1891.
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Mr. John Grey
              
              was a Member of the Auckland City Council from 1889 until 1896, during which year he died. The burgesses elected his son, Mr. Charles Grey, to his vacant municipal chair. Mr. Grey is referred to in another article as the founder of the firm of John Grey and Sons, cordial manufacturers.
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Mr. Young Warren,
             
 who represented Karangahape Ward in the Auckland City Council from 1889 to 1900, was born in Sligo, Ireland, in 1837. Mr. Warren's family is a very old one, his ancestors having crossed over from Normandy to Ireland at the time of the Conquest. Mr. Young Warren was brought up to farming pursuits
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on his father's property in Sligo, and came to Auckland in 1862 by the ship “Shalimahr.” Joining the Volunteer force during the Maori War, he saw active service in the Waikato, and, afterwards returning to Auckland, entered into business as a grocer. After twenty years he retired into private life at Mt. Roskill, where he has a fine property of four and a half acres. In 1865 he was married to Miss Sarah Reece, and has five children. Mr. Warren has held office as a member of the Costley Trust Board, the Charitable Aid Board, and the Mount Eden Highway Board.
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Mr. Thomas Julian
              
              represented South Ward in the City Council from 1891 till 1899. He was born in 1843 at Driffeld, Yorkshire, where his father, the late Mr. John Julian, had a good connection as a builder; he was educated at the national school, and learned his trade with his father. Going to London in 1866, he was soon promoted to be foreman for Messrs. George Trollope and Son, builders and contractors, and afterwards filled similar places with other prominent employers. On arrival in Auckland in 1883 by the s.s. “British Queen,” he immediately established himself as a builder and contractor. Among the more important residences erected in and around the city by Mr. Julian may be mentioned those of Sir William Fox, Mr. McCosh Clark, Colonel Burton, Mr. Nathan Harker, Mr. C. B. Stone, Mrs Geo. Taylor, Mr. H. B. Morton, and, last but not least, that of Mr. Thornton of Cambridge, whose splendid establishment cost upwards of £7,000. The principal business premises erected by him include a fine row of brick shops in Symonds Street, Mr. Arkel's brewery, the City Club Hotel, the fine block containing the Naval and Family Hotel, and Mr. Powley's model shirt factory. Mr. Julian's first step on the ladder of public life was that of director of the Horse Ferry Road Board school, London—a position which gave him an insight in educational matters generally. In politics, too, he was a hard worker at that time. He was a member of Mr. Herbert Gladstone's committee, when he stood for Middlesex in opposition to Lord George Hamilton. He was also active in the cause of Mr. John Morley and Sir Arthur Hobhouse as against Mr. W. H. Smith and Sir Charles Russell. As one of Mr. Charles Bradlaugh's captains, he took an active and prominent part in the demonstrations held in Trafalgar Square and Hyde Park in connection with the great Northampton struggle. Mr. Julian was a member of the Amalgamated Society of Carpenters and Joiners of London, and one of the few who cast in their lot with the Society's Manchester section, when the split occurred in the seventies. In the land of his adoption, Mr. Julian has done good work as a member of the City Schools Committee, the licensing committee, the streets and finance committees of the City Council, and as a representative of the City Council on the Harbour Board. He has constantly supported the thorough prosecution of city drainage, and was instrumental in getting the Howe and Napier Streets gully satisfactorily drained and filled in—a work which had long been neglected. He takes more than a passing interest in aquatics, and has been a vice-commodore of the Waltemata Boating Club and vice-president of the Auckland Swimming Club. He was married in 1879 to Miss Watts, daughter of Mr. George Watts, miller, of Bedfordshire. Mr. and Mrs. Julian, with their son and two daughters, reside at Remuera.
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Mr. Charles Samuel Wright,
             
 who occupied a seat in the Auckland City Council
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from 1890 to 1894, was also a member of the Auckland Harbour Board for a similar term. Whilst on the Harbour Board, Mr. Wright supported the erection of the Quay Street Jetty, which was extended 150 feet. His proposal was to erect, as soon as funds would allow, three jetties that would bring the shipping closer in, and also deepen the harbour. Mr. Wright was born in Wellington in 1843, and is a son of the late Mr. W. J. Wright. He was educated under the denominational system, and apprenticed for five years at Gilbert's Sash and Door Factory, where he also remained as a journeyman for about eight years. In 1875, Mr. Wright established himself as a builder in Wellington Street, and carried on the business very successfully till 1884, when he was induced by Mr. Frankland, Registrar of the Friendly Societies, to become valuer under the Friendly Societies Act. In 1896, Mr. Wright re-entered the building trade, and assisted to construct the City Hall, the A.M.P. buildings and the two adjoining shops, and many other places. He has taken an active interest in the Knights of Labour and has filled the position of Master Workman. He has been secretary of the Fountain of Friendship Lodge of Oddfellows for a great number of years, was secretary of the Parnell Lodge of Manchester Unity, and was elected provincial chief secretary of Auckland. In 1887, he contested a seat in the Liberal cause with Mr. T. Peacock, but was defeated by a majority of thirteen. Mr. Wright was for seven years a member of the town schools committee, and chairman of the Ponsonby school committee, and was on the Auckland licensing committee for some years. He saw early service in the volunteer movement, but resigned owing to ill-health. He is a vice-president of the Ponsonby Football Club. Mr. Wright married a daughter of Mr. Hale, of Gloucester, and has a family of nine sons and three daughters.
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Mr. Luks,
              sometime proprietor of the Victoria Hotel, Victoria Street, sat in the City Council as a member for Grafton Ward from 1891 to 1893. He is referred to in another article as an old colonist who arrived in Australia in 1860, and came to New Zealand in 1864.
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Dr. Henry Walker
              
             
 represented South Ward in the Auckland City Council from the 28th of October, 1891, till September, 1892, when for various reasons he resigned the position. Whilst a member, he sat on the Legal Committee, and played an active part in the discussion of the Tramways question. Born in Yorkshire in 1846, Dr. Walker is a son of Mr. William Walker. He served his pupilship under Dr. Braithwaite, of Leeds, whose medical writings are known the world over. Both in Edinburgh and Glasgow Dr. Walker pursued his studies with considerable success, passing the final stages of his profession and qualifying fully in 1876. After practising for four years in Baildon, near Saltaire, Yorkshire, he came out to New Zealand in 1881 as medical officer of the ship “May Queen.” Landing at Tauranga, he proceeded to the Northern Capital. The doctor is deservedly popular in Auckland. He came prominently before the public, and gave important evidence in connection with several poisoning cases. He was president for two successive years of the Auckland branch of the New Zealand Medical Association, and at present (1897) holds the position of hon. secretary, the association
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having been merged in the Auckland section of the New Zealand branch of the British Medical Association. Dr. Walker has been associated with Freemasonry for the past twenty-two years, and is now junior grand warden to the New Zealand Grand Lodge. He is a surgeon-major to the New Zealand Naval Volunteers. Dr. Walker takes a deep interest in educational matters. He was for eight or nine years on school committees, and fought hard for the abolishment of home lessons in the Auckland city schools. His is a familiar figure at the Auckland Bowling Green. Dr. Walker is a prominent member of the Liedertafel, and has helped to forward the interests of St. Thomas's Church in the positions of choirmaster and organist. Mrs Walker is a daughter of Mr. James Kay, of Dunfermline, Scotland, and there are two sons and two daughters of the marriage.
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Mr. William James Courtney,
             
 who sat for Ponsonby from 1892 to 1900 was born near Limerick, in the South of Ireland, in 1835. Educated in the land of his birth, Mr. Courtney was brought up as a chemist, and passed his examination as a veterinary surgeon. He left the Emerald Isle in 1858 for Australia, and was for two years after arrival engaged in mining throughout that continent. In 1860, having heard of the gold discoveries in New Zealand, he decided to try his “luck” in that direction, and was for some years engaged in mining on the most important fields of this Colony. Mr. Courtney salled in 1870 for South Africa, where he was engaged on the diamond fields for nineteen years with considerable success. Having won a competence, he decided to return to New Zealand and settle down, making Auckland his home. He bought the beautifully situated and picturesque property of four acres at “Courtney Place,” Ponsonby, where he has what is claimed to be the finest vinery under glass in the Colony. His residence is surrounded by a well-kept flower garden and drives, the approach to the house being dotted here and there with a number of statues. Mr. Courtney takes a great interest in his grounds, and prides himself on the quality of the grapes he grows. During the past twenty years he has made several trips round the world, and has visited every important exhibition held during that time, including the Paris and the Chicago Exhibitions. Every four years he takes a trip to Africa to look after his interests in that country. Since his retirement from business life, Mr. Courtney has been asked on several occasions to stand for parliament, but has so far declined. He has a lofty idea of the responsibility of a representative of the people, and would consent to enter the parliamentary arena only on the conditions that, if elected, he should act independently of anyone else, and that he must first be convinced that the step
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would be for the country's good. Mr. Courtney had no previous thought of entering the City Council, but was unable to refuse the large and influential deputation which ultimately prevailed upon him to stand. After serving for three years he wished to retire into private life, but his friends and the ratepayers generally requisitioned him to again contest the seat. He acceded to the request, and, though he took no active part in the election owing to illness, was returned then, and also on a subsequent occasion. Mr. Courtney is esteemed both by his friends and the general public for the ability, shrewdness and business capacity which he has exhibited during his career in the council. Mr. Courtney is married and has three children.
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Mr. Frederick Ehrenfried Baume
              
              was first elected unopposed to a seat in the Auckland City Council in 1893, and



was re-elected two years later. As a present councillor, he is referred to in another article.
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Mr. Albert Edward Glover,
             
 who for some years represented South Ward on the Auckland City Council, was born at Nottingham, England, on the 28th of June, 1849, and received his education at the local grammar school. He came with his parents to New Zealand in 1862. His father, the late Mr. Uriah Glover, was identified with the early history of the goldfields, and was for many years in business as a hotelkeeper in Coromandel. Until he grew to manhood, Mr. Glover was in business with his father, and was one of the first prospectors of the Thames goldfield; he was also proficient in the Maori language, and was appointed native interpreter to the Resident Magistrate's Court. Afterwards he dealt in land, became master of a cutter trading to Coromandel, and was also a licensed victualler for some years. Mr. Glover married a relative of the Queen of Raratonga, and was elected to the City Council of Auckland in 1893. He was for a time a member of the
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Auckland school committee, and represented the City Council on the Auckland Harbour Board. Mr. Glover is a supporter of all kinds of sport, and has passed through many vicissitudes with credit to himself. His private residence is situated in Nelson Street, Auckland.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Charles Hesketh



            
            

              

Mr. Charles Hesketh,
             
 who sat for City Ward in the City Council from 1893 to 1900, was born at Manchester in 1842, and is the third son of the late Mr. Emanuel Hesketh, for many years a schoolmaster in Auckland. He was educated in Manchester, and served an apprenticeship to the soft goods trade in that city. He left his native land in 1859 and arrived with his parents in New Zealand in the same year. After a short time on a farm he joined Mr. Alfred Buckland, the well-known cattle auctioneer of Auckland, and remained in his service for twenty years. In conjunction with Mr. Alexander Aitken, he established his present business of grain
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merchant and has been remarkably successful. A past master of the Remuera Lodge, Mr. Hesketh takes a great interest in Freemasonry. He saw active service during the first Taranaki war, and also went through the Waikato war, for which he was awarded the New Zealand medal. He is a thorough sportsman and takes an ardent part in all outdoor pastimes, cricket perhaps being his pet hobby. Ever keenly interested in local affairs, Mr. Hesketh has been a member on the Remuera school committee and highway board, and of the Auckland licensing bench as well as of the City Council. He is married and has three children.
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Mr. G. H. Powley,
              who occupied a seat in the City Council for Grafton Ward from 1893 to 1894, is referred to in another article as proprietor of the Cambridge Shirt and Clothing Factory, Victoria Street West, and Graham Street, Auckland.
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Mr. William Thorne,
              Barrister and Solicitor, represented the Ponsonby Ward in the City Council from 1893 to 1896.
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Mr. William Bagnell White,
              who represented Grafton Ward in the Auckland City Council, from the end of 1894 till the end of 1900, is referred to as Major W. B. White, of the Battalion staff of the Auckland Infantry, in the military section of this volume.
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Mr. Adam Cairns,
             
 J.P., represented the North Ward in the City Council from 1895 to 1899. He was born in Edinburgh in 1840, and was educated at Newington Academy. After leaving school he was apprenticed to the well-known firm of Messrs. Knox, Samuel and Dickson, wholesale drapers. On the outbreak of the Crimean War Mr. Cairns joined Her Majesty's Navy, and saw active service in H.M.S. “Hastings,” in the Baltic, and was at the bombardment of Sweaborg under Admiral Dundas. Peace being restored, he retired from the Navy, and was engaged as assistant manager to Mr. Morris in the grand saloon of the International Exhibition of 1862. In 1863 he came to New Zealand, and was for about three years providore of the local steamers at Dunedin. He was afterwards in Christchurch, where he successfully conducted the White Hart Hotel for several years. In 1871 he removed to Auckland, where he kept the Royal Mail Hotel, until he retired from business, and paid a visit to Europe, in which he remained for three years. When he returned to New Zealand in 1881, he bought the Star Hotel, Auckland, which, after conducting it for ten years, he sold out to Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co. Mr. Cairns then spent two years as licensee of the Lake Takapuna Hotel. After enjoying a rest of three years he decided to re-enter the business, and in 1896 became the proprietor of the Grand Hotel, Princes Street, Auckland, one of the
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principal hotels of the city. As a Mason, Mr. Cairns has taken the degrees of Master, Mark, and Royal Arch. He was president of the Crimean Veterans' Association for years, and has also been identified with the Auckland Racing Club, having been long a prominent member. Mr. Cairns has now retired from business.
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Mr. Joseph Becroft
              
              was elected to a seat in the City Council in 1896, and sat for Ponsonby Ward until 1889. He carries on business as a builder in Jervois Road, Ponsonby.
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Mr. Mcnab,
              for many years a traveller for the firm of Messrs Brown and Campbell, represented the North Ward in the City Council in 1897–98.
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Auckland Harbour.
             
—The outer harbour of Auckland extends down the Rangitoto Channel for about six miles from the North Head or Fort Cautley, which is the northern boundary of the inner harbour. By way of Rangitoto Channel is the safest and most convenient entrance, but there are other channels to the eastward which are commonly used by the Thames and Coromandel steamers. While the whole Hauraki Gulf is well sheltered and protected from heavy seas, the inner harbour has the further special protection of the chain of islands running eastward from the North Head, and embracing Rangitoto, Motu Tapu, Motu Ihi, Waiheke, and others. Inside this chain rough seas are almost unknown, and, reasonably speaking, there is no limit to the accommodation, for all the navies of the world might find safe anchorage in the Waitemata Harbour, which is about fifteen miles long, the deep channel averaging in width about three-quarters of a mile. At low water of spring tides there is a depth of nine fathoms, shoaling in parts to five fathoms. The tide fall is considerable, being from eight to twelve feet. The channels and shoals are all clearly defined by buoys and
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beacons, and powerful lights and other guides, all fully described in the “New Zealand Pilot,” provide for safe entry at all times. Efficient pilots are provided by the Harbour Board for all vessels requiring their aid; but such is the safety of all the approaches that pilotage is not compulsory. Vessels are signalled from Mount Victoria, North Shore, and still earlier, when thirty miles away, from Tiritiri lighthouse.

            
The principal river entering the harbour is that from which it derives its name—the Waitemata, which is so essentially tidal as to partake more of the estaury than the river, the flow of fresh water being infinitesimal. In fact, the lines of demarcation between the river and the estuary, and the estuary and the gulf, are probably more imaginary than real.

            
As a yachting ground no better can be found in the world, and probably there is no place in the world proportionately more devoted to that means of pleasure. High winds are particularly rare, and sheltered coves are abundant. Fish of many and excellent varieties are temptingly plentiful.

            
The wharfage accommodation of the Auckland harbour, if not all that might be desired, is exceedingly creditable. The old main wharf is certainly much too long, but the later development of short jetties with persistent dredging is in high favour. Even the old wharf has been in a sense shortened, for by extended reclamation on both sides of its approach, the town has been built forward so that the distance from the head of the wharf to the warehouses is much shorter now than it was formerly. Intercolonial and other steamers, which, a few years back, were obliged to berth at the long wharf, are now commonly berthed at short jetties close to the warehouses, after the manner so popular in Sydney. In fact, ships of large tonnage, drawing 24 feet, lie afloat at low water at the Quay Street jetties, where but a few years ago one could walk dry shod. To bring about this wonderful change nearly half a million cubic yards of silt has been lifted, and this has created a depth at low water spring tides, which averages 21 feet over an area of sixteen acres. Since the first Auckland jetty was constructed, where the printing offices of the Auckland “Star” now stand, a very large amount of pile-work has been accomplished, but none has been so beneficial as that which has been done in conjunction with the system of dredging. That the Harbour Board is not responsible for the errors of the past in this matter of long wharves, is well evidenced by the fact that the Queen's Wharf is much older than the Board, and that in the matter of the Railway Wharf, the Government of the day inserted a stipulation in the loan bill providing for the erection of that wharf where it now stands.

            
To meet the growing trade of the port, further accommodation will soon be absolutely necessary; and it is, therefore, satisfactory to know that not only are the funds available for extension works, but that the projected improvements are already taking shape. The principal works now being undertaken include the extension of the Hobson Street Wharf, to render it suitable for the largest class of ocean steamships; the erection of sheds affording ample storage for the cargo of several of these ships at one time, and of powerful cranes for lifting up to a hundred tons; several new jetties in the inner harbour, extensive dredging operations to improve the approaches to the wharves, and to increase the area of deep water berthage; and further reclamation of the shallow bays, to increase the land endowment of the Board.

            
Already the port has appliances and adjuncts for the conduct of an extensive commerce. On the substantial and commodious wharves, there are convenient sheds with a total cargo storage capacity of eighteen thousand tons. The wharves and sheds are well lighted with incandescent gas lamps; and that the appliances for the rapid handling of goods are fairly up to date may be inferred from the fact that the Union Company's steamers frequently discharge within twenty-four hours upwards of 2000 tons of grain and general cargo per steamer. There is a total berthage accommodation of over 15,000 feet, and there is a depth at the main wharves of 26 feet at low water, ordinary spring tides. Dredging operations are now (1900) being proceeded with, and it is the intention of the Board to have a depth of 30 feet at low water. The railway trucks run to the end of the railway wharf; and as the export stores for frozen meat, butter, etc., are adjacent to and connected with the railway wharf, the ocean going steamers are loaded with rapidity. The city water pipes are laid down on all the wharves, and this enables the Board to supply pure water at low rates.

            
The graving docks of Auckland are worthy of more than a passing notice. When the Board decided upon the construction of the second and larger of these docks, the wisdom of the step was openly questioned; but events have shown that, directly and indirectly, the enterprise is likely to be well rewarded. Auckland has always been practically the headquarters in New Zealand of her Majesty's Navy, but she has recently been placed on a much more definite footing in that connection. Overtures were made to the Board by the Imperial Government for the complete equipment of the Calliope Dock, and the erection on the adjacent lands of the necessary buildings, machinery and appliances for repairing and refitting her Majesty's ships. The Imperial authorities, by subsidising the Dock, are entitled to first call on the use of the establishment; but, subject to this condition, the Board is at full liberty to dock and repair merchant ships or foreign warships. It is expected that this arrangement will prove in many ways beneficial to the port and city of Auckland.

            
The Calliope Dock is said to be one of the largest in the world. It is 525 feet long, by a breadth from coping to coping of 110 feet, narrowing to 80 feet at the gate, and the depth of water on the sill is 33 feet. It would comfortably accommodate the largest warship afloat, and two warships of small dimensions find ample room at the same time. This was proved at the opening of the dock in 1888, when the “Calliope” and the “Diamond” were both in it. The Calliope
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Dock is on the North Shore, about a quarter of a mile west of the Devonport Wharf.

            
The Auckland Graving Dock, which is situated between the Harbour Board's splendid offices and the Hobson Street Wharf, is exceedingly convenient in every way. Its length is 300 feet, and it will accommodate any vessel with a draught not exceeding 13 feet. Auckland's numerous fleet of steam and sailing vessels keep this dock constantly employed.

            
The dues charged for the use of the docks are made as low as possible, in conformity with the general policy of the Board in reducing all shipping charges to a minimum. Warships of every nationality are admitted free, and all mail steamers under contract have recently been placed on the same footing. The splendid endowments of the Board have made this policy of low charges possible, and it is expected that ere long the port will be absolutely free. Already the charges are lower than those of any port in the colony. For the very liberal endowment of the Board much credit is due to the memory of Sir George Grey. The whole foreshore of the harbour, from the Bastion Rock to the Watchman on the Auckland side, and on the North Shore from Fort Cautley to Kauri Point, including all the bays and estuaries, and totalling some thousands of acres of the most valuable land in and about the city, is the property of the Board. The revenue derived is already considerable, and rapidly increasing; and its prospective value is enormous. All the lower portion of the City between the wharves and Customs Street, besides a good portion between the latter and Fort Street, is included in the Board's endowments. From the portions of this already leased an income of £12,000 a year is derived, and fresh leases are constantly being taken up. Fifty years is the usual term of lease, and on expiring the Board grants a compensation to the extent of half the value of buildings then on the ground. As applications for the reclaimed land come in, further reclamations are being made with the silt dredged from the harbour, so it will be many years before there can be any scarcity of building sites even in the very heart of the town. With such wonderful power of improving its income, and increasing the value of its landed estate, the debts of the Board seem particularly light.

            
The Board has borrowed in various sums a total of £410,000, but of this sum over £50,000 has already been paid off by means of the Sinking Fund. By the close of the year 1900, the indebtedness will stand at less than £350,000, and the following decade will see the debt below a quarter of a million. The annual payment for interest amounts at present to £23,400, including Sinking Fund, but that amount will (1900) shortly be reduced by over £10,000.

            
For the expenditure of this money, the Board has much to show. The docks cost £200,000; the wharves and jetties, £100,000; dredging, £40,000; reclaiming and acquiring land, £60,000; and offices, sheds, and appliances have absorbed the balance.

            
The port of Auckland must ever be a most important shipping centre. The South Sea Islands and San Francisco trade must rapidly increase, and the value of North Auckland as a fruit growing district must be more fully recognised every year. These and the rapid spread of such industries as sugar-refining, ship building, etc., must all tell in Auckland's favour; and if the feeding of sheep
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on gorse proves successful, wool should soon be a leading article of export.

            
In 1889, there arrived 2441 sailing vessels and 3756 steamers, with a total tonnage of 980,816 tons, and the revenue of the Board for the same year was £46,089 16s 3d.

            
Up to the year 1871 the Provincial Government had charge of the business of the port of Auckland, but in that year the Auckland Harbour Board was created, and the revenue of the Board in 1872 was £12,498 2s 11d. The Board consists of thirteen members, who are elected by various interests for a period of two years. The chairman is elected from the members annually. The present members who hold office until February, 1901, are:—Messrs W. J. Napier and A. R. Harris, appointed by the Government; Messrs J. T. Julian, A. Kidd, J. Stichbury, and C. Grey, elected from and by the City Council of Auckland; Mr. J. Thomas, elected from and by the Borough Council of Parnell; Mr. J. C. Macky, elected from and by the Borough Council of Devonport; Mr. J. H. Witheford (chairman), elected from and by the Borough Council of Birkenhead; Mr. W. J. W. Philson, elected from and by the Auckland Chamber of Commerce; and Messrs C. C. Dacre, A. Alison, and M. Niccol, elected by shipowners and payers of dues. The officers of the Board are:—Mr. J. M. Brigham, secretary and treasurer; Captain A. Duder, harbourmaster and dockmaster; Mr. E. W. Burgess, traffic manager; Mr. J. Taylor, foreman of works; Mr. C. La Roche, chief draughtsman; and Captain C. Sainty, pilot and deputy-harbour-master.

            
The Harbour Board offices, which are situated on the reclaimed ground at the foot of Albert Street, are the handsomest in the colony. They are also exceedingly large and commodious, and occupy a block entirely detached. A neat iron fence surrounds the building, and there is a short tower above the third storey. The ground floor is occupied by the secretary and his staff of clerks, and the upper floor by other officers of the Board. All the rooms are lofty, well lighted and well ventilated.

            
Swinging dolphins for the adjustment of ships' compasses have been placed in a sheltered bay about six miles from the wharves, and free from all local attractions.

            
The Sailors' Home, which has been so liberally endowed, through the generous bequest of the late Mr. Edward Costley, stands on a fine site specially set apart for it by the Harbour Board.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Joseph H. Witheford,
              M.H.R., Chairman of the Auckland Harbour Board, represents Birkenhead on the Board. He is referred to in another article as one of the Auckland members of the House of Representatives. Mr. Witheford has been instrumental in largely developing the Auckland goldfields. He resides at “Halcyon,” Northcote, Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Alexander Alison
              
              was recently elected by the importers, shippers, and payers of dues as one of their representatives on the Auckland Harbour Board; he was also a member of the Board in former years. He is described in another article as the managing director of the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, Limited.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Mr. Charles Craven Dacre
              
             
 represents importers, shippers, and payers of dues on the Auckland Harbour Board. He is a grain merchant in Queen Street, Auckland and has his private residence at Devonport. Mr. Dacre is a son of the late Captain Dacre,
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who was well known in the early days of Auckland, and was formerly of the Royal Navy, in which he was mess mate with Captain Marryatt, the celebrated novelist. Mr. Dacre was born in Sydney, New South Wales, in 1848, and came to Auckland with his father in 1859, by the barque “City of Melbourne.” After receiving his primary education in Auckland, Mr. Dacre went to England and studied with a view to joining the Army, but changed his mind and entered the Royal Agricultural College, where he studied for some years. He returned to New Zealand in 1870, and started farming at Whangaparoa, where he successfully kept sheep for over six years. Unfortunately scab then made its appearance in the district, and the disease made such inroads in his flock that Mr. Dacre was compelled to give up sheepfarming. He then removed to Auckland, where he and Mr. Hendry started as grain merchants, under the style of Hendry and Dacre. After about four years Mr. Dacre retired from the firm, to enter on a partnership in the well-known business of E. Mitchelson and Co., gum and grain merchants. In four years, he retired from this firm also, and started his present business. Mr. Dacre was elected a member of the Devonport Highways Road Board in 1880, and was a painstaking member for three years. He was elected as member of the Harbour
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Board in 1900. Mr. Dacre has been connected with the Auckland Regatta for over a quarter of a century, during the greater part of the period as honorary secretary. He has rowed for the Auckland Rowing Club for about ten years, during which he has not been beaten. As a footballer, he was one of the representative players of Auckland, and a member of the first Rugby football club formed in the city. He played in the first interprovincial game held in Auckland, against Canterbury, whose men were beaten, and the match was the first win on the banner of the Auckland Rugby Union. In 1867, during the period of his education in England, Mr. Dacre was one of the founders of the Association game, in which he represented the county of Surrey. He was also well known as a cricketer in England, and was offered a seat in the Surrey team in 1868 by Mr. Noble, a gentleman player, well known at that time. While in England Mr. Dacre won the Royal Agricultural College Victor Ludorum Medal, awarded to the winner of all round sports. Mr. Dacre was one of the founders of the Takapuna Jockey Club, and was secretary of the North Shore Native Regatta and Aquatic Carnival, held in 1898. As a yachtsman he stands in the front rank, owning the yacht “Ripple,” one of the crack boats of Auckland during her time. Mr. Dacre has been a volunteer officer for eight years, captain of
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the Devonport Naval Artillery, and was senior lieutenant of the Ponsonby Navals, of which he is still an honorary lieutenant. During his residence in England at the time of the Fenian scare in 1868, Mr. Dacre acted as special constable in London after the Clerkenwell explosion.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Charles Grey
              
              sits on the Harbour Board as one of the Members for the City Council, and is referred to elsewhere as a City Councillor, and as a partner in the firm of Messrs John Grey and Sons.

          

          

            
            

              
Mr. A. R. Harris,
             
 J.P., of Huntingdon Farm, East Tamaki, sits on the Auckland Harbour Board as one of the members appointed by the Government. He is a son of
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the late Captain Harris, and brother of the Hon. Major Harris, M.L.C., and was born at Wellington, New Zealand, in 1848. Mr. Harris was educated at East Tamaki. On leaving school he went to the Thames goldfields, where he remained for three years learning the important lesson that gold seeking and gold finding are widely different things; and he then determined to enter on the less alluring but more certain business of planting potatoes and rearing sheep and cattle. He secured two farms; one was at Waiuku, and the other was the fine estate, where he now resides. He farmed these properties with great success; but owing to the distance between the two places, he gave up the Waiuku property after holding it for fifteen years, and devoted his whole attention to Huntingdon farm, which is now one of the finest places in the neighbourhood of Auckland. Mr. Harris began his public career in 1880 by being elected a member of the East Tamaki Road Board, of which he was chairman for ten years; he was chairman of the East Tamaki school committee for fifteen years. He has long taken a keen interest in racing. At one time he was chairman of the committee of the Otahuhu Racing Club, and he has been judge for the Otahuhu Trotting Club since the original club was merged into it, and he has also been judge for the Auckland Trotting Club since its initiation. Mr. Harris owns one of the finest private race-courses in the North Island, and with great liberality he throws it open free, to the public, for the East Tamaki races. Mr. Harris has never, during his connection with racing, laid a wager or put money on the totalisator, although he has raced horses with more or less success. He has been a Justice of the Peace for twenty years, and in 1900 the Government appointed him a country member of the Auckland Harbour Board. He was a member of the Franklin Licensing Committee for several years, and member of the Auckland Board of Education for three years, but was compelled to resign owing to his private and public duties. Mr. Harris has for years been a member of the Franklin Agricultural Association, for over fifteen years a member of the Auckland Agricultural Association, judge at the Whangarei Agricultural Show for thirteen out of fourteen years, and has acted as a judge at every agricultural show in the provincial district Mr. Harris has only once been beaten as a candidate for a public position, but at the election following his defeat he was returned at the head of the poll. He is a member of the Pakuranga Hunt Club, in which he has hunted twenty-four years continuously. Mr. Harris is a cordial supporter of athletic sports and exercises, and was for some years a volunteer in the Otahuhu Cavalry. He has often been asked to stand for Parliament, but prefers to spend his time in comparative retirement, and in the enjoyment of the confidence and friendship of those with whom he is associated. Mr. Harris married Miss Parche, and has four daughters and two sons.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. J. Thomas Julian
              
              has for several years been a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, on which (1900) he represents the City Council. He has taken an active part in public affairs both in the Old Country and in Auckland, and is fully referred to as one of the ex-members of the Auckland City Council.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Alfred Kidd,
              Proprietor of the Commercial Hotel, Auckland, has long been a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, on which he represents the City Council Mr. Kidd is described as a City Councillor in another article.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Joseph Cochrane Macky,
              who has held a seat on the Auckland Harbour Board since 1898, as representative of the Borough of Devonport, was born in Auckland in 1855, educated at the local High School, and gained his early experience in the soft goods trade with Messrs T. H. Hall and Co. Subsequently he was for about twelve years with Messrs Archibald Clark and Sons. In 1882 Mr. Macky became one of the founders of the well known firm of Macky, Logan, Steen and Co., and is still closely identified with it. He became a councillor of the Borough of Devonport in 1892, and Mayor in 1896, and was re-elected Mayor successively in 1897–1898 and 1899, but retired at the close of his fourth consecutive term at the end of 1900.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William J. Napier,
              M.H.R., A Member and ex-Chairman of the Auckland Harbour Board, is a Government member of the Board, with which he has been identified for several years. He is well-known in Auckland as a barrister and solicitor. Mr. Napier is referred to in the political section of this work as one of the Auckland members in the House of Representatives.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Malcolm Niccol,
             
 J.P., has for nearly a quarter of a century been a Member of the Auckland Harbour Board, of which he has been several times chairman. He now sits on the Board as a representative of the importers, shippers, and payers of dues. He has been especially noted for his connection with the extension of shipping appliances. Mr. Niccol was born in Auckland in the year 1844, and is the second son of the late Mr. Henry Niccol, the well-known and widely respected shipbuilder. Educated at Mr. John Gorrie's school, he found employment on leaving with Messrs. Cruickshank, Smart and Co., merchants and ironmongers, and, after spending five years with that firm, set up for himself as a shipchandler, shipbroker, and agent. As the result of five years' experience Mr. Niccol discontinued the first mentioned branch, but still carries on the business of shipbroker and agent. For the greater part of his life Mr. Niccol has been a resident of Devonport, North Shore, and he may be said to have been more or less mixed up with every public and social function concerning that district. He was Devonport's first mayor, and occupied that position for five years consecutively. For many years he was a member of the school committee, of the licensing committee, and of the committee of management of the Presbyterian Church. Other offices held by him include the presidency and vice-presidency of the
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Devonport Bowling Club, Chess Club, Literary Society, and many more. Mr. Niccol was the prime mover in the establishment of the New Zealand Natives' Association,



and was honoured with the first presidency. He was a member also of the Shakespeare Club. An enthusiastic yachtsman, he was for many years chairman of the Auckland Regatta Committee. During the Walkato War he took part with the Volunteers, being under fire in 1863 at Wairoa South. In Freemasonry Mr. Niccol has risen to the highest office in the gift of the brethren—that of most worshipful grand master of the Colony. In this connection reference is made to him on page 412 of the Wellington Volume of the “Cyclopedia.” He is a member of the Supreme Council of England, his mother lodge being St. Andrews, No. 8, N.Z.C., of which he was Master for many years. Mr. Niccol has been thrice married; in 1877 to the eldest daughter of the late Mr. William Atkin, printer, of Auckland, who died in 1882 leaving six children; in 1884 to the daughter of Mr. Woodman, of Plymouth, England, who died in 1894 leaving three children; and in 1896 to the daughter of Mr. F. J. Von Sturmer, of Hamilton. Mr. Niccol is a visiting justice to the Auckland Gaol, and chairman for about thirty mining companies.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William John Willmet Philson,
              who represents the Chamber of Commerce on the Auckland Harbour Board, is the third son of the late Dr. Philson. Mr. Philson was born in Auckland in 1854; and was educated at the Church of England Grammar School under the Rev. Dr. Kinder. On leaving school he entered the office of Messrs Must and Co., merchants, of Auckland, and some years later, that of Mr. H. B. Morton, general merchant, with whom he remained for about eleven years. He left this firm in 1883 on receiving his present appointment as manager of the Colonial Sugar Refining Co., Ltd., when it began operations in Auckland. Mr. Philson has been for six years on the Cathedral parish vestry, and was for a number of years on the committee of management of the St. Stephen's Native School, Parnell. He married a daughter of the late Mr. Joseph Hargreaves, and has three sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. James Stichbury
              
              has, as one of the Representatives of the City Council, been a member of the Auckland Harbour Board for several years, and has also been identified with other local bodies. Mr. Stichbury is referred to in another article as a member of the Auckland City Council.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Joseph Thornes
              
              has (1900) occupied a seat on the Auckland Harbour Board for the past three years as the representative of Parnell. Mr. Thornes is well known in Auckland as an auctioneer, and land and estate agent.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. J. McCrea Brigham,
             
 Secretary and Treasurer of the Auckland Harbour Board, was born in Auckland. He entered Messrs Cruickshank, Smart, and Company's office shortly after leaving school, and afterwards became office manager for Messrs T. and S. Morrin. In 1872 he was appointed secretary and treasurer to the Auckland Harbour Board, and has held those offices continuously since that time. On the completion of his twenty-fifth year of service, Mr. Brigham received a flattering illuminated testimonial on vellum from the Board, and he recently received a vote of thanks from the Board, accompanied by a bonus for the manner in which he acted as its representative in London,
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in bringing to a successful completion the agreement with the Admiralty, in relation to the equipment of Calliope Dock. Mr. Brigham is a Fellow of the Royal Geographical Society, and of the Institute of Secretaries, of London.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Charles Augustus La Roche,
             
 Clerk and Draughtsman to the Auckland
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Harbour Board, was born in Auckland in 1866, and is a son of Mr. Charles La Roche, a well-known Auckland resident. Educated at St. David's School, under Mr. John Edwards (now of Mangere), and finally at the Auckland College and Grammar School, Mr. La Roche joined the staff of the Harbour Board as a cadet in 1882, and seven years later was promoted to his present position. An ardent footballer, Mr. La Roche has on several occasions travelled with the Auckland representative teams on their tours through the Colony. He is a past master of the Remuera Masonic Lodge, No. 1710. In 1887 Mr. La Roche was married to Miss Rowley, daughter of Mr. Thomas Rowley, of Auckland, and has two children.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. John Taylor,
              Foreman of Works for the Auckland Harbour Board, has been in the service of the Board for about a quarter of a century. The son of Mr. J. Taylor, mechanical engineer, the subject of this notice was born in 1843 at Newcastle, New South Wales, where also he was educated and learnt the trade of a carpenter and joiner. He came to Auckland in 1863, and was engaged for five years in the building trade. In 1873 he joined the service of the Harbour Board as carpenter, and after seven years became Foreman of Works. Mr. Taylor is a Master Mason, his mother lodge being St. Andrews, No. 418, S.C. In Odd-fellowship, he is a member of Lodge Fountain of Friendship. Mr. Taylor was married in 1865 to a daughter of Mr. W. J. Wright, of Auckland, and has four sons and four daughters.

          

          

            
            

Captain 

Albert Duder,  Harbour Master for the port of Auckland, is a member of a well-known Auckland family. He is a son of the late Mr. Thomas Duder, for so many years keeper of the Mt. Victoria flagstaff, who arrived in this Colony in 1840 per ship “Buffalo,” wrecked in Mercury Bay, and who was master of the first revenue cutter in New Zealand. Captain Duder was born at the North Shore in 1856, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He spent his two first years of sea ife in the “Hydaspes” under Captain Babot, now the well-known Marine Superintendent of the Shaw Savill and Albion Company in New Zealand. His third year was served in the “May Queen,” afterwards lost on a trip to the Islands, his fourth found him on the ship “City of Auckland” whose mast may still be seen high out of the sand at the mouth of the Otaki river, near Wellington, and the fifth he spent in the Mediterranean and Baltic seas. For some three years he was on the New Zealand Shipping Company's sailing ship “Mataura,” and he then entered the service of the Union Steamship Company with whom he remained five years, being chiefly on the “Rotomahana.” Beginning as third officer, he rose to the position of master, and brought out from Glasgow the 
S.S. ‘Pukaki,” the first steamer that came from Home to this Colony without calling at any port on the way. The next period of five years was with the Huddart Parker Company as chief officer and master of the “Ellngamite,” “Newcastle,” “Nemesis,” “Lindus,” and “Wendouree.” Captain Duder was appointed deputy harbour master in 1893 and two years later was promoted to his present post. He is a member of the Auckland Bowling Club, and for the year 1895 was



president of the Auckland College Old Boys' Association. Captain Duder was married in 1887 to Miss Grant, daughter of the late Captain Grant, of Wellington, and has a family of three children.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mr. Edward William Burgess
              
              is the Traffic Manager of the Auckland Harbour Board, and has held the position since 1871.

          

          

            
            


              
Capt. Cardinal Sainty,
              Pilot of the Auckland Harbour Board, has held the position for over twenty years.
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Auckland Harbour.
             
—The outer harbour of Auckland extends down the Rangitoto Channel for about six miles from the North Head or Fort Cautley, which is the northern boundary of the inner harbour. By way of Rangitoto Channel is the safest and most convenient entrance, but there are other channels to the eastward which are commonly used by the Thames and Coromandel steamers. While the whole Hauraki Gulf is well sheltered and protected from heavy seas, the inner harbour has the further special protection of the chain of islands running eastward from the North Head, and embracing Rangitoto, Motu Tapu, Motu Ihi, Waiheke, and others. Inside this chain rough seas are almost unknown, and, reasonably speaking, there is no limit to the accommodation, for all the navies of the world might find safe anchorage in the Waitemata Harbour, which is about fifteen miles long, the deep channel averaging in width about three-quarters of a mile. At low water of spring tides there is a depth of nine fathoms, shoaling in parts to five fathoms. The tide fall is considerable, being from eight to twelve feet. The channels and shoals are all clearly defined by buoys and
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beacons, and powerful lights and other guides, all fully described in the “New Zealand Pilot,” provide for safe entry at all times. Efficient pilots are provided by the Harbour Board for all vessels requiring their aid; but such is the safety of all the approaches that pilotage is not compulsory. Vessels are signalled from Mount Victoria, North Shore, and still earlier, when thirty miles away, from Tiritiri lighthouse.

            
The principal river entering the harbour is that from which it derives its name—the Waitemata, which is so essentially tidal as to partake more of the estaury than the river, the flow of fresh water being infinitesimal. In fact, the lines of demarcation between the river and the estuary, and the estuary and the gulf, are probably more imaginary than real.

            
As a yachting ground no better can be found in the world, and probably there is no place in the world proportionately more devoted to that means of pleasure. High winds are particularly rare, and sheltered coves are abundant. Fish of many and excellent varieties are temptingly plentiful.

            
The wharfage accommodation of the Auckland harbour, if not all that might be desired, is exceedingly creditable. The old main wharf is certainly much too long, but the later development of short jetties with persistent dredging is in high favour. Even the old wharf has been in a sense shortened, for by extended reclamation on both sides of its approach, the town has been built forward so that the distance from the head of the wharf to the warehouses is much shorter now than it was formerly. Intercolonial and other steamers, which, a few years back, were obliged to berth at the long wharf, are now commonly berthed at short jetties close to the warehouses, after the manner so popular in Sydney. In fact, ships of large tonnage, drawing 24 feet, lie afloat at low water at the Quay Street jetties, where but a few years ago one could walk dry shod. To bring about this wonderful change nearly half a million cubic yards of silt has been lifted, and this has created a depth at low water spring tides, which averages 21 feet over an area of sixteen acres. Since the first Auckland jetty was constructed, where the printing offices of the Auckland “Star” now stand, a very large amount of pile-work has been accomplished, but none has been so beneficial as that which has been done in conjunction with the system of dredging. That the Harbour Board is not responsible for the errors of the past in this matter of long wharves, is well evidenced by the fact that the Queen's Wharf is much older than the Board, and that in the matter of the Railway Wharf, the Government of the day inserted a stipulation in the loan bill providing for the erection of that wharf where it now stands.

            
To meet the growing trade of the port, further accommodation will soon be absolutely necessary; and it is, therefore, satisfactory to know that not only are the funds available for extension works, but that the projected improvements are already taking shape. The principal works now being undertaken include the extension of the Hobson Street Wharf, to render it suitable for the largest class of ocean steamships; the erection of sheds affording ample storage for the cargo of several of these ships at one time, and of powerful cranes for lifting up to a hundred tons; several new jetties in the inner harbour, extensive dredging operations to improve the approaches to the wharves, and to increase the area of deep water berthage; and further reclamation of the shallow bays, to increase the land endowment of the Board.

            
Already the port has appliances and adjuncts for the conduct of an extensive commerce. On the substantial and commodious wharves, there are convenient sheds with a total cargo storage capacity of eighteen thousand tons. The wharves and sheds are well lighted with incandescent gas lamps; and that the appliances for the rapid handling of goods are fairly up to date may be inferred from the fact that the Union Company's steamers frequently discharge within twenty-four hours upwards of 2000 tons of grain and general cargo per steamer. There is a total berthage accommodation of over 15,000 feet, and there is a depth at the main wharves of 26 feet at low water, ordinary spring tides. Dredging operations are now (1900) being proceeded with, and it is the intention of the Board to have a depth of 30 feet at low water. The railway trucks run to the end of the railway wharf; and as the export stores for frozen meat, butter, etc., are adjacent to and connected with the railway wharf, the ocean going steamers are loaded with rapidity. The city water pipes are laid down on all the wharves, and this enables the Board to supply pure water at low rates.

            
The graving docks of Auckland are worthy of more than a passing notice. When the Board decided upon the construction of the second and larger of these docks, the wisdom of the step was openly questioned; but events have shown that, directly and indirectly, the enterprise is likely to be well rewarded. Auckland has always been practically the headquarters in New Zealand of her Majesty's Navy, but she has recently been placed on a much more definite footing in that connection. Overtures were made to the Board by the Imperial Government for the complete equipment of the Calliope Dock, and the erection on the adjacent lands of the necessary buildings, machinery and appliances for repairing and refitting her Majesty's ships. The Imperial authorities, by subsidising the Dock, are entitled to first call on the use of the establishment; but, subject to this condition, the Board is at full liberty to dock and repair merchant ships or foreign warships. It is expected that this arrangement will prove in many ways beneficial to the port and city of Auckland.

            
The Calliope Dock is said to be one of the largest in the world. It is 525 feet long, by a breadth from coping to coping of 110 feet, narrowing to 80 feet at the gate, and the depth of water on the sill is 33 feet. It would comfortably accommodate the largest warship afloat, and two warships of small dimensions find ample room at the same time. This was proved at the opening of the dock in 1888, when the “Calliope” and the “Diamond” were both in it. The Calliope
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Dock is on the North Shore, about a quarter of a mile west of the Devonport Wharf.

            
The Auckland Graving Dock, which is situated between the Harbour Board's splendid offices and the Hobson Street Wharf, is exceedingly convenient in every way. Its length is 300 feet, and it will accommodate any vessel with a draught not exceeding 13 feet. Auckland's numerous fleet of steam and sailing vessels keep this dock constantly employed.

            
The dues charged for the use of the docks are made as low as possible, in conformity with the general policy of the Board in reducing all shipping charges to a minimum. Warships of every nationality are admitted free, and all mail steamers under contract have recently been placed on the same footing. The splendid endowments of the Board have made this policy of low charges possible, and it is expected that ere long the port will be absolutely free. Already the charges are lower than those of any port in the colony. For the very liberal endowment of the Board much credit is due to the memory of Sir George Grey. The whole foreshore of the harbour, from the Bastion Rock to the Watchman on the Auckland side, and on the North Shore from Fort Cautley to Kauri Point, including all the bays and estuaries, and totalling some thousands of acres of the most valuable land in and about the city, is the property of the Board. The revenue derived is already considerable, and rapidly increasing; and its prospective value is enormous. All the lower portion of the City between the wharves and Customs Street, besides a good portion between the latter and Fort Street, is included in the Board's endowments. From the portions of this already leased an income of £12,000 a year is derived, and fresh leases are constantly being taken up. Fifty years is the usual term of lease, and on expiring the Board grants a compensation to the extent of half the value of buildings then on the ground. As applications for the reclaimed land come in, further reclamations are being made with the silt dredged from the harbour, so it will be many years before there can be any scarcity of building sites even in the very heart of the town. With such wonderful power of improving its income, and increasing the value of its landed estate, the debts of the Board seem particularly light.

            
The Board has borrowed in various sums a total of £410,000, but of this sum over £50,000 has already been paid off by means of the Sinking Fund. By the close of the year 1900, the indebtedness will stand at less than £350,000, and the following decade will see the debt below a quarter of a million. The annual payment for interest amounts at present to £23,400, including Sinking Fund, but that amount will (1900) shortly be reduced by over £10,000.

            
For the expenditure of this money, the Board has much to show. The docks cost £200,000; the wharves and jetties, £100,000; dredging, £40,000; reclaiming and acquiring land, £60,000; and offices, sheds, and appliances have absorbed the balance.

            
The port of Auckland must ever be a most important shipping centre. The South Sea Islands and San Francisco trade must rapidly increase, and the value of North Auckland as a fruit growing district must be more fully recognised every year. These and the rapid spread of such industries as sugar-refining, ship building, etc., must all tell in Auckland's favour; and if the feeding of sheep
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on gorse proves successful, wool should soon be a leading article of export.

            
In 1889, there arrived 2441 sailing vessels and 3756 steamers, with a total tonnage of 980,816 tons, and the revenue of the Board for the same year was £46,089 16s 3d.

            
Up to the year 1871 the Provincial Government had charge of the business of the port of Auckland, but in that year the Auckland Harbour Board was created, and the revenue of the Board in 1872 was £12,498 2s 11d. The Board consists of thirteen members, who are elected by various interests for a period of two years. The chairman is elected from the members annually. The present members who hold office until February, 1901, are:—Messrs W. J. Napier and A. R. Harris, appointed by the Government; Messrs J. T. Julian, A. Kidd, J. Stichbury, and C. Grey, elected from and by the City Council of Auckland; Mr. J. Thomas, elected from and by the Borough Council of Parnell; Mr. J. C. Macky, elected from and by the Borough Council of Devonport; Mr. J. H. Witheford (chairman), elected from and by the Borough Council of Birkenhead; Mr. W. J. W. Philson, elected from and by the Auckland Chamber of Commerce; and Messrs C. C. Dacre, A. Alison, and M. Niccol, elected by shipowners and payers of dues. The officers of the Board are:—Mr. J. M. Brigham, secretary and treasurer; Captain A. Duder, harbourmaster and dockmaster; Mr. E. W. Burgess, traffic manager; Mr. J. Taylor, foreman of works; Mr. C. La Roche, chief draughtsman; and Captain C. Sainty, pilot and deputy-harbour-master.

            
The Harbour Board offices, which are situated on the reclaimed ground at the foot of Albert Street, are the handsomest in the colony. They are also exceedingly large and commodious, and occupy a block entirely detached. A neat iron fence surrounds the building, and there is a short tower above the third storey. The ground floor is occupied by the secretary and his staff of clerks, and the upper floor by other officers of the Board. All the rooms are lofty, well lighted and well ventilated.

            
Swinging dolphins for the adjustment of ships' compasses have been placed in a sheltered bay about six miles from the wharves, and free from all local attractions.

            
The Sailors' Home, which has been so liberally endowed, through the generous bequest of the late Mr. Edward Costley, stands on a fine site specially set apart for it by the Harbour Board.
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Mr. Joseph H. Witheford,
              M.H.R., Chairman of the Auckland Harbour Board, represents Birkenhead on the Board. He is referred to in another article as one of the Auckland members of the House of Representatives. Mr. Witheford has been instrumental in largely developing the Auckland goldfields. He resides at “Halcyon,” Northcote, Auckland.
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Mr. Alexander Alison
              
              was recently elected by the importers, shippers, and payers of dues as one of their representatives on the Auckland Harbour Board; he was also a member of the Board in former years. He is described in another article as the managing director of the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, Limited.
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Mr. Charles Craven Dacre
              
             
 represents importers, shippers, and payers of dues on the Auckland Harbour Board. He is a grain merchant in Queen Street, Auckland and has his private residence at Devonport. Mr. Dacre is a son of the late Captain Dacre,


[image: Devonport Ferry Co.'s T, With Railway Wharf in Background.]
Devonport Ferry Co.'s T, With Railway Wharf in Background.





who was well known in the early days of Auckland, and was formerly of the Royal Navy, in which he was mess mate with Captain Marryatt, the celebrated novelist. Mr. Dacre was born in Sydney, New South Wales, in 1848, and came to Auckland with his father in 1859, by the barque “City of Melbourne.” After receiving his primary education in Auckland, Mr. Dacre went to England and studied with a view to joining the Army, but changed his mind and entered the Royal Agricultural College, where he studied for some years. He returned to New Zealand in 1870, and started farming at Whangaparoa, where he successfully kept sheep for over six years. Unfortunately scab then made its appearance in the district, and the disease made such inroads in his flock that Mr. Dacre was compelled to give up sheepfarming. He then removed to Auckland, where he and Mr. Hendry started as grain merchants, under the style of Hendry and Dacre. After about four years Mr. Dacre retired from the firm, to enter on a partnership in the well-known business of E. Mitchelson and Co., gum and grain merchants. In four years, he retired from this firm also, and started his present business. Mr. Dacre was elected a member of the Devonport Highways Road Board in 1880, and was a painstaking member for three years. He was elected as member of the Harbour
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Board in 1900. Mr. Dacre has been connected with the Auckland Regatta for over a quarter of a century, during the greater part of the period as honorary secretary. He has rowed for the Auckland Rowing Club for about ten years, during which he has not been beaten. As a footballer, he was one of the representative players of Auckland, and a member of the first Rugby football club formed in the city. He played in the first interprovincial game held in Auckland, against Canterbury, whose men were beaten, and the match was the first win on the banner of the Auckland Rugby Union. In 1867, during the period of his education in England, Mr. Dacre was one of the founders of the Association game, in which he represented the county of Surrey. He was also well known as a cricketer in England, and was offered a seat in the Surrey team in 1868 by Mr. Noble, a gentleman player, well known at that time. While in England Mr. Dacre won the Royal Agricultural College Victor Ludorum Medal, awarded to the winner of all round sports. Mr. Dacre was one of the founders of the Takapuna Jockey Club, and was secretary of the North Shore Native Regatta and Aquatic Carnival, held in 1898. As a yachtsman he stands in the front rank, owning the yacht “Ripple,” one of the crack boats of Auckland during her time. Mr. Dacre has been a volunteer officer for eight years, captain of
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the Devonport Naval Artillery, and was senior lieutenant of the Ponsonby Navals, of which he is still an honorary lieutenant. During his residence in England at the time of the Fenian scare in 1868, Mr. Dacre acted as special constable in London after the Clerkenwell explosion.
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Mr. Charles Grey
              
              sits on the Harbour Board as one of the Members for the City Council, and is referred to elsewhere as a City Councillor, and as a partner in the firm of Messrs John Grey and Sons.
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Mr. A. R. Harris,
             
 J.P., of Huntingdon Farm, East Tamaki, sits on the Auckland Harbour Board as one of the members appointed by the Government. He is a son of
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the late Captain Harris, and brother of the Hon. Major Harris, M.L.C., and was born at Wellington, New Zealand, in 1848. Mr. Harris was educated at East Tamaki. On leaving school he went to the Thames goldfields, where he remained for three years learning the important lesson that gold seeking and gold finding are widely different things; and he then determined to enter on the less alluring but more certain business of planting potatoes and rearing sheep and cattle. He secured two farms; one was at Waiuku, and the other was the fine estate, where he now resides. He farmed these properties with great success; but owing to the distance between the two places, he gave up the Waiuku property after holding it for fifteen years, and devoted his whole attention to Huntingdon farm, which is now one of the finest places in the neighbourhood of Auckland. Mr. Harris began his public career in 1880 by being elected a member of the East Tamaki Road Board, of which he was chairman for ten years; he was chairman of the East Tamaki school committee for fifteen years. He has long taken a keen interest in racing. At one time he was chairman of the committee of the Otahuhu Racing Club, and he has been judge for the Otahuhu Trotting Club since the original club was merged into it, and he has also been judge for the Auckland Trotting Club since its initiation. Mr. Harris owns one of the finest private race-courses in the North Island, and with great liberality he throws it open free, to the public, for the East Tamaki races. Mr. Harris has never, during his connection with racing, laid a wager or put money on the totalisator, although he has raced horses with more or less success. He has been a Justice of the Peace for twenty years, and in 1900 the Government appointed him a country member of the Auckland Harbour Board. He was a member of the Franklin Licensing Committee for several years, and member of the Auckland Board of Education for three years, but was compelled to resign owing to his private and public duties. Mr. Harris has for years been a member of the Franklin Agricultural Association, for over fifteen years a member of the Auckland Agricultural Association, judge at the Whangarei Agricultural Show for thirteen out of fourteen years, and has acted as a judge at every agricultural show in the provincial district Mr. Harris has only once been beaten as a candidate for a public position, but at the election following his defeat he was returned at the head of the poll. He is a member of the Pakuranga Hunt Club, in which he has hunted twenty-four years continuously. Mr. Harris is a cordial supporter of athletic sports and exercises, and was for some years a volunteer in the Otahuhu Cavalry. He has often been asked to stand for Parliament, but prefers to spend his time in comparative retirement, and in the enjoyment of the confidence and friendship of those with whom he is associated. Mr. Harris married Miss Parche, and has four daughters and two sons.
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Mr. J. Thomas Julian
              
              has for several years been a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, on which (1900) he represents the City Council. He has taken an active part in public affairs both in the Old Country and in Auckland, and is fully referred to as one of the ex-members of the Auckland City Council.
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Mr. Alfred Kidd,
              Proprietor of the Commercial Hotel, Auckland, has long been a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, on which he represents the City Council Mr. Kidd is described as a City Councillor in another article.
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Mr. Joseph Cochrane Macky,
              who has held a seat on the Auckland Harbour Board since 1898, as representative of the Borough of Devonport, was born in Auckland in 1855, educated at the local High School, and gained his early experience in the soft goods trade with Messrs T. H. Hall and Co. Subsequently he was for about twelve years with Messrs Archibald Clark and Sons. In 1882 Mr. Macky became one of the founders of the well known firm of Macky, Logan, Steen and Co., and is still closely identified with it. He became a councillor of the Borough of Devonport in 1892, and Mayor in 1896, and was re-elected Mayor successively in 1897–1898 and 1899, but retired at the close of his fourth consecutive term at the end of 1900.
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Mr. William J. Napier,
              M.H.R., A Member and ex-Chairman of the Auckland Harbour Board, is a Government member of the Board, with which he has been identified for several years. He is well-known in Auckland as a barrister and solicitor. Mr. Napier is referred to in the political section of this work as one of the Auckland members in the House of Representatives.
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Mr. Malcolm Niccol,
             
 J.P., has for nearly a quarter of a century been a Member of the Auckland Harbour Board, of which he has been several times chairman. He now sits on the Board as a representative of the importers, shippers, and payers of dues. He has been especially noted for his connection with the extension of shipping appliances. Mr. Niccol was born in Auckland in the year 1844, and is the second son of the late Mr. Henry Niccol, the well-known and widely respected shipbuilder. Educated at Mr. John Gorrie's school, he found employment on leaving with Messrs. Cruickshank, Smart and Co., merchants and ironmongers, and, after spending five years with that firm, set up for himself as a shipchandler, shipbroker, and agent. As the result of five years' experience Mr. Niccol discontinued the first mentioned branch, but still carries on the business of shipbroker and agent. For the greater part of his life Mr. Niccol has been a resident of Devonport, North Shore, and he may be said to have been more or less mixed up with every public and social function concerning that district. He was Devonport's first mayor, and occupied that position for five years consecutively. For many years he was a member of the school committee, of the licensing committee, and of the committee of management of the Presbyterian Church. Other offices held by him include the presidency and vice-presidency of the
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Devonport Bowling Club, Chess Club, Literary Society, and many more. Mr. Niccol was the prime mover in the establishment of the New Zealand Natives' Association,



and was honoured with the first presidency. He was a member also of the Shakespeare Club. An enthusiastic yachtsman, he was for many years chairman of the Auckland Regatta Committee. During the Walkato War he took part with the Volunteers, being under fire in 1863 at Wairoa South. In Freemasonry Mr. Niccol has risen to the highest office in the gift of the brethren—that of most worshipful grand master of the Colony. In this connection reference is made to him on page 412 of the Wellington Volume of the “Cyclopedia.” He is a member of the Supreme Council of England, his mother lodge being St. Andrews, No. 8, N.Z.C., of which he was Master for many years. Mr. Niccol has been thrice married; in 1877 to the eldest daughter of the late Mr. William Atkin, printer, of Auckland, who died in 1882 leaving six children; in 1884 to the daughter of Mr. Woodman, of Plymouth, England, who died in 1894 leaving three children; and in 1896 to the daughter of Mr. F. J. Von Sturmer, of Hamilton. Mr. Niccol is a visiting justice to the Auckland Gaol, and chairman for about thirty mining companies.
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Mr. William John Willmet Philson,
              who represents the Chamber of Commerce on the Auckland Harbour Board, is the third son of the late Dr. Philson. Mr. Philson was born in Auckland in 1854; and was educated at the Church of England Grammar School under the Rev. Dr. Kinder. On leaving school he entered the office of Messrs Must and Co., merchants, of Auckland, and some years later, that of Mr. H. B. Morton, general merchant, with whom he remained for about eleven years. He left this firm in 1883 on receiving his present appointment as manager of the Colonial Sugar Refining Co., Ltd., when it began operations in Auckland. Mr. Philson has been for six years on the Cathedral parish vestry, and was for a number of years on the committee of management of the St. Stephen's Native School, Parnell. He married a daughter of the late Mr. Joseph Hargreaves, and has three sons and three daughters.
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Mr. James Stichbury
              
              has, as one of the Representatives of the City Council, been a member of the Auckland Harbour Board for several years, and has also been identified with other local bodies. Mr. Stichbury is referred to in another article as a member of the Auckland City Council.
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Mr. Joseph Thornes
              
              has (1900) occupied a seat on the Auckland Harbour Board for the past three years as the representative of Parnell. Mr. Thornes is well known in Auckland as an auctioneer, and land and estate agent.
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Mr. J. McCrea Brigham,
             
 Secretary and Treasurer of the Auckland Harbour Board, was born in Auckland. He entered Messrs Cruickshank, Smart, and Company's office shortly after leaving school, and afterwards became office manager for Messrs T. and S. Morrin. In 1872 he was appointed secretary and treasurer to the Auckland Harbour Board, and has held those offices continuously since that time. On the completion of his twenty-fifth year of service, Mr. Brigham received a flattering illuminated testimonial on vellum from the Board, and he recently received a vote of thanks from the Board, accompanied by a bonus for the manner in which he acted as its representative in London,
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in bringing to a successful completion the agreement with the Admiralty, in relation to the equipment of Calliope Dock. Mr. Brigham is a Fellow of the Royal Geographical Society, and of the Institute of Secretaries, of London.
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Mr. Charles Augustus La Roche,
             
 Clerk and Draughtsman to the Auckland
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Harbour Board, was born in Auckland in 1866, and is a son of Mr. Charles La Roche, a well-known Auckland resident. Educated at St. David's School, under Mr. John Edwards (now of Mangere), and finally at the Auckland College and Grammar School, Mr. La Roche joined the staff of the Harbour Board as a cadet in 1882, and seven years later was promoted to his present position. An ardent footballer, Mr. La Roche has on several occasions travelled with the Auckland representative teams on their tours through the Colony. He is a past master of the Remuera Masonic Lodge, No. 1710. In 1887 Mr. La Roche was married to Miss Rowley, daughter of Mr. Thomas Rowley, of Auckland, and has two children.
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Mr. John Taylor,
              Foreman of Works for the Auckland Harbour Board, has been in the service of the Board for about a quarter of a century. The son of Mr. J. Taylor, mechanical engineer, the subject of this notice was born in 1843 at Newcastle, New South Wales, where also he was educated and learnt the trade of a carpenter and joiner. He came to Auckland in 1863, and was engaged for five years in the building trade. In 1873 he joined the service of the Harbour Board as carpenter, and after seven years became Foreman of Works. Mr. Taylor is a Master Mason, his mother lodge being St. Andrews, No. 418, S.C. In Odd-fellowship, he is a member of Lodge Fountain of Friendship. Mr. Taylor was married in 1865 to a daughter of Mr. W. J. Wright, of Auckland, and has four sons and four daughters.
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Captain 

Albert Duder,  Harbour Master for the port of Auckland, is a member of a well-known Auckland family. He is a son of the late Mr. Thomas Duder, for so many years keeper of the Mt. Victoria flagstaff, who arrived in this Colony in 1840 per ship “Buffalo,” wrecked in Mercury Bay, and who was master of the first revenue cutter in New Zealand. Captain Duder was born at the North Shore in 1856, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He spent his two first years of sea ife in the “Hydaspes” under Captain Babot, now the well-known Marine Superintendent of the Shaw Savill and Albion Company in New Zealand. His third year was served in the “May Queen,” afterwards lost on a trip to the Islands, his fourth found him on the ship “City of Auckland” whose mast may still be seen high out of the sand at the mouth of the Otaki river, near Wellington, and the fifth he spent in the Mediterranean and Baltic seas. For some three years he was on the New Zealand Shipping Company's sailing ship “Mataura,” and he then entered the service of the Union Steamship Company with whom he remained five years, being chiefly on the “Rotomahana.” Beginning as third officer, he rose to the position of master, and brought out from Glasgow the 
S.S. ‘Pukaki,” the first steamer that came from Home to this Colony without calling at any port on the way. The next period of five years was with the Huddart Parker Company as chief officer and master of the “Ellngamite,” “Newcastle,” “Nemesis,” “Lindus,” and “Wendouree.” Captain Duder was appointed deputy harbour master in 1893 and two years later was promoted to his present post. He is a member of the Auckland Bowling Club, and for the year 1895 was



president of the Auckland College Old Boys' Association. Captain Duder was married in 1887 to Miss Grant, daughter of the late Captain Grant, of Wellington, and has a family of three children.
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                Mr. Edward William Burgess
              
              is the Traffic Manager of the Auckland Harbour Board, and has held the position since 1871.
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Capt. Cardinal Sainty,
              Pilot of the Auckland Harbour Board, has held the position for over twenty years.
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Auckland City Licensing Committee.

          

            
The Auckland Licensing Committee is charged with the issue and regulation of licenses under the Alcoholic Liquors Sale Control Act, and its sphere extends to the boundaries of the Auckland City electoral district. Since the establishment of woman suffrage the Temperance Party has placed many of its adherents on the various Licensing Benches of the colony, and this is particularly noticeable with regard to the Auckland Licensing Committee, which was elected in March, 1900, for a term of three years. The Stipendiary Magistrate, Capt. H. W. Brabant, is, ex-officio, chairman, and there are five members. The hour of closing the hotels in Auckland is ten o'clock.

          

          

            
            


              

Captain Herbert William Brabant,
              Stipendiary Magistrate, is Chairman, ex-officio, of the Auckland Licensing Committee. He is referred to in the legal section of this volume, and his career is fully described on page 1401 of the Wellington volume of this work.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr Enoch Bond,
             
 Member of the Auckland Licensing Committee, and
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partner in the firm of Messrs Bell and Bond, grain and gum merchants, Commerce Street, Auckland, was born in Leicester-shire, England, in 1862. He came with his parents to New Zealand in 1866, by the ship “Liverpool.” Mr Bond was elected to the Auckland Licensing Committee in 1900. He has been for some time connected with church matters, and is a trustee of the Helping Hand Mission.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr Maurice Casey,
             
 Member of the Auckland Licensing Committee, lives at Archhill, Auckland. He was born in New
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South Wales, in 1847, and went with his parents to New Caledonia in 1859. After leaving school he was connected with a large stock trade for over twelve years, and soon began to show that keen aptitude for business which has been the cause of his remarkable success in life. He arrived in Auckland in 1870, and shortly afterwards went to the Thames, where he at once secured an important position as manager of the Grahamstown and Tararu Tramway Company, which he managed with marked success, and of which he became sole owner on the death of the proprietor, Mr. J. L. McFarlane. In 1884, after disposing of his property at the Thames, Mr Casey removed to Auckland, where he engaged in contracting, stock-dealing, and the timber trade with great success. In 1895 he purchased a fourth share in the well-known sawmilling business of Messrs Parker, Lamb and Co., and has devoted considerable time and large sums of money to its development. Its present flourishing state and steady expansion testify to Mr Casey's perseverance and knowledge of business. Mr Casey is extensively interested as an owner of steam and sailing vessels, engaged in the coastal and inter-colonial trade, and he owns several large blocks of the finest standing timber. He has also valuable house property in Queen Street and Karangahape Road, Auckland, as well as other extensive town and suburban lots. In 1888, Mr Casey was elected a member of the Newton Borough Council, and was also a member of the Archhill Road Board, and Newton school committee. In response to a largely signed requisition, Mr Casey allowed himself to be nominated as a member of the Licensing Committee in 1900, and was returned to a seat in that body. Mr Casey married a daughter of Mr William Long Thorburn, one of the pioneers who arrived by the “Duchess of Argyle,” who is still, in his eighty-fourth year, quite hale and hearty, and not without pride in the fact that he is the progenitor of 128 descendants. Mr Casey has four sons and six daughters. His eldest son, Mr Theo. Casey, is now (1900) in the Transvaal, and was one of the first to volunteer for the First Contingent; after his arrival in Africa, he was frequently mentioned for his services and bravery, and was appointed to the responsible position of stationmaster at Roodikop.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr Peter Edward Cheal,
              J.P., is a Member of the Auckland Licensing Committee. He is referred to in another article as a mining engineer and authorised surveyor.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr Joseph James Craig,
              who occupies a seat on the Auckland Licensing Committee, is fully referred to elsewhere in this volume in his capacity as a shipping agent, shipowner, etc.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr Arthur Rosser,
              a Member of the Auckland Licensing Committee, was born at Swansea, South Wales, England, in 1864. Eight years later he arrived with his parents in Auckland in the ship “Queen Bee,” and was educated at the Newton Academy. Mr Rosser was married, in 1886, to a sister of Mr J. J. Craig, and went to Sydney, where, in the elections of 1887, he took a prominent part in promoting the candidature of Mr B. R. Wise, the Attorney-General of the Parkes Government. Mr Rosser returned to Auckland in 1891. He has been a prominent member of the Auckland Union Parliament since its inception, and became its Premier in 1895. Mr Rosser has



been vice-president of the Pitt Street Literary Society, and was president of the late Central Council of the Liberal and Labour organizations. In the general election of 1896 he stood as a labour candidate for Auckland City, and received 4676 votes. In 1899, he was again defeated at the general elections. For three years Mr Rosser has been a member of the Auckland school committee, and was president of the late Eight Hours' League for two years. He is at present (1900) president of the Auckland Liberal Association.
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The Auckland Licensing Committee is charged with the issue and regulation of licenses under the Alcoholic Liquors Sale Control Act, and its sphere extends to the boundaries of the Auckland City electoral district. Since the establishment of woman suffrage the Temperance Party has placed many of its adherents on the various Licensing Benches of the colony, and this is particularly noticeable with regard to the Auckland Licensing Committee, which was elected in March, 1900, for a term of three years. The Stipendiary Magistrate, Capt. H. W. Brabant, is, ex-officio, chairman, and there are five members. The hour of closing the hotels in Auckland is ten o'clock.
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Captain Herbert William Brabant,
              Stipendiary Magistrate, is Chairman, ex-officio, of the Auckland Licensing Committee. He is referred to in the legal section of this volume, and his career is fully described on page 1401 of the Wellington volume of this work.
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Mr Enoch Bond,
             
 Member of the Auckland Licensing Committee, and
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partner in the firm of Messrs Bell and Bond, grain and gum merchants, Commerce Street, Auckland, was born in Leicester-shire, England, in 1862. He came with his parents to New Zealand in 1866, by the ship “Liverpool.” Mr Bond was elected to the Auckland Licensing Committee in 1900. He has been for some time connected with church matters, and is a trustee of the Helping Hand Mission.
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Mr Maurice Casey,
             
 Member of the Auckland Licensing Committee, lives at Archhill, Auckland. He was born in New
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South Wales, in 1847, and went with his parents to New Caledonia in 1859. After leaving school he was connected with a large stock trade for over twelve years, and soon began to show that keen aptitude for business which has been the cause of his remarkable success in life. He arrived in Auckland in 1870, and shortly afterwards went to the Thames, where he at once secured an important position as manager of the Grahamstown and Tararu Tramway Company, which he managed with marked success, and of which he became sole owner on the death of the proprietor, Mr. J. L. McFarlane. In 1884, after disposing of his property at the Thames, Mr Casey removed to Auckland, where he engaged in contracting, stock-dealing, and the timber trade with great success. In 1895 he purchased a fourth share in the well-known sawmilling business of Messrs Parker, Lamb and Co., and has devoted considerable time and large sums of money to its development. Its present flourishing state and steady expansion testify to Mr Casey's perseverance and knowledge of business. Mr Casey is extensively interested as an owner of steam and sailing vessels, engaged in the coastal and inter-colonial trade, and he owns several large blocks of the finest standing timber. He has also valuable house property in Queen Street and Karangahape Road, Auckland, as well as other extensive town and suburban lots. In 1888, Mr Casey was elected a member of the Newton Borough Council, and was also a member of the Archhill Road Board, and Newton school committee. In response to a largely signed requisition, Mr Casey allowed himself to be nominated as a member of the Licensing Committee in 1900, and was returned to a seat in that body. Mr Casey married a daughter of Mr William Long Thorburn, one of the pioneers who arrived by the “Duchess of Argyle,” who is still, in his eighty-fourth year, quite hale and hearty, and not without pride in the fact that he is the progenitor of 128 descendants. Mr Casey has four sons and six daughters. His eldest son, Mr Theo. Casey, is now (1900) in the Transvaal, and was one of the first to volunteer for the First Contingent; after his arrival in Africa, he was frequently mentioned for his services and bravery, and was appointed to the responsible position of stationmaster at Roodikop.
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Mr Peter Edward Cheal,
              J.P., is a Member of the Auckland Licensing Committee. He is referred to in another article as a mining engineer and authorised surveyor.
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Mr Joseph James Craig,
              who occupies a seat on the Auckland Licensing Committee, is fully referred to elsewhere in this volume in his capacity as a shipping agent, shipowner, etc.
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Mr Arthur Rosser,
              a Member of the Auckland Licensing Committee, was born at Swansea, South Wales, England, in 1864. Eight years later he arrived with his parents in Auckland in the ship “Queen Bee,” and was educated at the Newton Academy. Mr Rosser was married, in 1886, to a sister of Mr J. J. Craig, and went to Sydney, where, in the elections of 1887, he took a prominent part in promoting the candidature of Mr B. R. Wise, the Attorney-General of the Parkes Government. Mr Rosser returned to Auckland in 1891. He has been a prominent member of the Auckland Union Parliament since its inception, and became its Premier in 1895. Mr Rosser has



been vice-president of the Pitt Street Literary Society, and was president of the late Central Council of the Liberal and Labour organizations. In the general election of 1896 he stood as a labour candidate for Auckland City, and received 4676 votes. In 1899, he was again defeated at the general elections. For three years Mr Rosser has been a member of the Auckland school committee, and was president of the late Eight Hours' League for two years. He is at present (1900) president of the Auckland Liberal Association.
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Waitemata County Council.

          

            
The county of Waitemata has an area of 613 square miles, and an estimated population of about 7000. The value of ratable property in town districts is £25,739, within road districts, £77,473, in outlying districts, £519,263, and within the limits of the county, £622,475. This does not include the ratable value of the boroughs of Birkenhead and Devonport, which rate on the annual value. There is a general rate of 3/4d in the £, and separate rates of 3/4d and 1/2d in the £ in specified ridings. The total annual receipts from all sources, including rates, licenses, grants, etc., amount to £6,766 1s 4d, and the expenditure to £6,886 8s 8d. Considerable areas of the county were at one time heavily timbered, and the timber industry still provides a great deal of employment. Some of the finest specimens of the kauri pine are still to be found on the west coast of the county. In places the land has been cleared, and the settlers are turning their attention to fruit growing and sheep-farming. The country is mostly too broken for agricultural purposes, but for pasturage it is admirably suitable. The People's Park at Waitakerei consists of 4000 acres, mostly virgin forest, and the splendid waterfalls of Waitakerei and Naihotopu, and the magnificent scenery and natural wonders of the West Coast district, are all within the county. The falls of Naihotopu are now being utilised as an auxiliary water supply for the city, which is, therefore, not likely to suffer any scarcity in future. The well known Waiwere Hot Springs and Sanatorium are situated on the northern boundary of Waitemata. These places are all within twenty miles' ride of the city of Auckland, and are much frequented, especially in summer.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Waitemata County Council
              
              came into existence under the Counties Act of 1877. At its first meeting, held in Auckland, the following councillors were present:—Mr Oliver Mays and Mr R. Mackay, Takapuna Riding; Mr Robert Sinclair and Mr John Lamb, Ararima Riding; Mr Henry Lloyd, Waiti Riding; and Captain C. H. Otway, Manukau Riding. Mr Mays was unanimously elected first chairman of the Council, and, with one short interval, held the office for eight years. When Mr Mays retired from the chairmanship in 1887, he was appointed county clerk and treasurer, and still (1900) holds that position. Waitemata is the premier county of the provincial district of Auckland, and its popularity and success are in a large measure due to the energy and administrative ability of Mr Mays. During the first ten years of the county's existence, thirteen of the sixteen local road boards merged themselves into it. The Council for 1900 consists of Messrs J. H. O'Neill (chairman), R. Sinclair, A. Bruce, A. Wilson, A. J. Hatfield, junior, E. W. Alison, J. M. Phillips, and A. Cochran, junior. The Council, which meets on the first Friday in each month, has jurisdiction over all the country lying north of the Auckland harbour, as far as Waiwera on the east, and the Kaipara river on the west.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr John Henry O'Neill.
             
 Chairman of the Waitemata County Council, is the eldest son of the late Mr Allan
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Charles O'Neill, J.P., a prominent colonist in the early history of Auckland, and a member of the famous Irish family of O'Neill, the founder of which was Neal Roe, Prince of Tir-Owen (now Tyrone), whose descendants were the royal O'Neills, subsequently holders of a peerage now extinct, and O'Neill of the Fews of Tassagh. County Armagh, etc., etc. The last of the O'Neills who bore the title of King of Ulster, was Donal O'Neill, who died in 1325. Mr J. H. O'Neill was born at O'Neill's Point, North Shore, Auckland, in the year 1852. He was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, and at the High School. After spending two years on the Thames goldfields, in the unsatisfactory pursuit of a fortune, Mr O'Neill returned to Auckland, where he was for a year in a solicitor's office. That work being uncongenial, he turned his attention to surveying, and in 1878 he settled on his present fine property in Waitakerei, where he has ever since successfully carried on sheepfarming. He first became connected with public affairs in 1878, when he was returned as a member of the Waitakerei Road Board, on which he remained for five years. Mr O'Neill was elected to the Waitemata County Council in 1887, and has for the last three years been chairman of the council. Mr O'Neill has also been for some years a member of the Waitemata Licensing Committee. He is unmarried.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Robert Sinclair,
             
 J.P., Member of the Waitemata County Council, was born and educated in Perthshire, Scotland. He served his time at the building trade, and came to New Zealand in 1860 by the “Lord Burleigh,” landing in Auckland, and for five years was engaged in building and contracting work there. He then went to the West Coast, where he remained for about a year, and in 1867 removed to Kaukapakapa, where he purchased the “Eden Vale Farm,' a property of eighty-two acres. Prior to the formation of the Waltemata County Council in 1876, he was chairman of the local road board for a number of years, and afterwards represented the riding in the
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council. For one year he acted as chairman, but declined re-election to the office, though he is the only member who has continued in the council since its inception. He has



been chairman of the school committee for more than twenty years, and has always taken an active interest in local affairs. Mr. Sinclair was made a Justice of the Peace in 1883, and shortly afterwards was appointed acting-district coroner, which office he still holds. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. William Hazard, a well-known settler, late of Prince Edward's Island.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Councillor Alexander Wilson
              
             
 has held a seat on the Waitemata County Council for the last nine years, and has looked well after the wants of the district. He was instrumental in obtaining a grant of £500 from the Government, for expenditure on reproductive works at Birkenhead. Mr. Wilson was chairman of the old Road Board before it was merged into the council. He was the first chairman of the local school committee, and has been for twenty-five years president of the local Temperance Society, which he was instrumental in forming. Mr. Wilson was born in Ayrshire, in 1828, and followed farming till he left for Auckland in 1863, by the ship “Portland.” On his arrival he went to Waiwera under engagement to the late Mr. Robert Graham, then Superintendent of Auckland, and after a stay of over four years at Waiwera, he took charge of Mr. Graham's place at Ellerslie for six months. In 1868, Mr. Wilson purchased his present holding of 100 acres at Birkenhead, and carried on farming for some years, but has been obliged to
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withdraw from active work, and he now leases the farm to his sons, who devote themselves mainly to fruit growing and dairying.

          

          

            
            

              

Councillor Alexander J. Hatfield,
             
 Junior, Member of the Waitemata County Council, was first elected to that body in 1893, with a narrow majority of nineteen votes. At the following election, the voting in his favour was 125 against thirteen, which showed that he had earned popularity by the discharge of his public duties; and on the occasion of a third election he had a majority of 132. He


[image: Hanna, photo.Councillor A. J. Hatfield.]

Hanna, photo.
Councillor A. J. 
Hatfield.


was previously chairman of the Wainui Road Board, also chairman of the Wainui Licensing Committee under the old Act; and was (1900) lately returned unopposed to a seat on the present Waitemata Licensing Committee. As a hard working member of the Council he has had the satisfaction of seeing full justice done to his district in the direction of reproductive works. Although Mr Hatfield has contested many elections for local bodies he has never yet been defeated. Mr Hatfield was born in Auckland in 1867, and has been engaged chiefly in the timber industry. He resides at the Waiwera Hot Springs, where he owns considerable property. Mr Hatfield was made a Justice of the Peace in 1894.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr Alexander Bruce,
              who sits on the Waitemata County Council as Member for the Northcote Riding, is also chairman of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He was born in Aberdeen, Scotland, in 1839, and was educated at his native place. On leaving school he acted for two years and a half as page to the late Lord Lindsay, who was celebrated as the author of “Lindsay's Travels in Egypt, Edom and Syria,” a work of great research. Mr Bruce afterwards entered the service of Messrs Blackie Bros., engineers, Aberdeen, and remained with the firm for three years, after completing his apprenticeship. He afterwards worked in Glasgow and at the Blackwall Company's Shipbuilding Yards in London, then one of the largest yards in Great Britain. In the year 1863, Mr Bruce came to Auckland by the ship “Scimitar,” and entered the employment of the engineering firm of Messrs Vicary and Masefield, now Masefield and Co. After being for some time with that firm, he entered the service of Messrs Fraser and Co., and remained there until 1865, when, owing to a lock-out about increased wages, Mr Bruce left the firm. In conjunction with his brother-in-law, Mr Teasdale, he then started in Queen Street in a bakery and confectionery business, which was most successfully carried on for three years. Mr Bruce was then attracted by the glowing accounts of fortunes quickly made on the Thames goldfields, and disposed of his interest in the business. He was mining for a year and a half at the Thames, but had no success as a gold-seeker. He then commenced the more certain occupation of engineer, and was over a year busily employed in erecting quartz-crushing machinery. Mr Bruce returned to Auckland, where he re-entered the employment of Messrs Masefield and Co., with whom he remained for over twenty years, and had charge of a department. Mr Bruce first took part in public affairs in 1884, when he was elected a member of the Northcote Road Board. He remained on that body until its amalgamation with the Waitemata County Council, and was for several years previous to the amalgamation a member on both bodies. He has been continuously a member of the Waitemata County Council for over thirteen years, during which he has been returned three times, unopposed, and twice at contested elections. Mr Bruce has been connected with the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board for eight consecutive years, and is now (1900) chairman of that body. He has been for over forty years a member of the Society of Amalgamated Engineers, one of the largest and most influential societies in existence, and has for many years been secretary to the Auckland branch. As a public man, Mr Bruce is painstaking and consistent, and enjoys the utmost confidence of his constituents. Mr Bruce married shortly after his arrival in Auckland, and of a family of ten, three sons are now, as engineers, following in their father's foot-steps.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Mr Ewen William Alison
              
             
 again (1900) represents the Takapuna Riding in the Waitemata County Council. He was born in Auckland in 1855. On leaving school he entered a printing office, but, finding the confinement unsuited to his health, he left that employment, and in conjunction with his brother, Mr Alexander Alison, now manager of the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, started an extensive butchering business, which they carried on most successfully for fourteen years. On retiring from that business. Mr Alison took up various commercial undertakings, which have all been successful in his hands. He was the founder of the Devonport Ferry Company's service, the assured success of which is in a large measure attributable to Mr Alison's perception, unflagging energy, and knowledge of business. Mr Alison was returned to a seat on the Waitemata County Council, when he was only twenty-three years of age, and at that time he remained a member of the Council for nine years. On the formation of the Devonport Borough



Council he was elected one of the first councillors, and continued to sit in that capacity until 1889, when he was elected mayor, and held the office for five consecutive years. He was then obliged to decline further re-election on account of the demands made on his time by his extensive business interests. During his terms as Mayor Mr Alison introduced and successfully carried out, against much opposition, the Devonport water supply, which has proved to be of inestimable benefit to the inhabitants of Devonport. It was also during his term of office that Parliament passed four Acts conveying valuable endowments to the borough, the affairs of which were, in fact, quite revolutionized during Mr Alison's mayoralty. The pavements in the borough were systematically made and tarred, and other important works carried out, chiefly in
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consequence of his initiative and persistency. Mr Alison is largely connected with the coal trade, and holds valuable interests in various coal mines. He is at present a member of the Conciliation Board of Auckland, and has, by reason of his fairness and impartiality, gained the confidence of both employers and workers. Mr Alison is chairman of the Takapuna Jockey Club, the most successful suburban racing club in the colony. He is still a member of the Devonport Borough Council, is chairman of directors of several prominent and successful goldmining companies, and is chairman of directors of the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, and also of the Taupiri Coal Company. Mr Alison was for two terms a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, and during that period he was chairman of the Finance Committee.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr Alexander Cochran,
             
 Junior, who represents the Waikumete Riding on the Waitemata County Council, is a son of Mr Alexander Cochran, well known in
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the Waikumete district. He was born at Waikumete in 1869, and was educated in his native place, and at Titirangi. On leaving school, he started to learn his business with his father, with whom he still remains. He has been for a number of years vice-president of the Waikumete Fruit Growers' Association, and in 1896 he was elected to the Waitemata County Council. Mr Cochran carries on business
as a fruit grower and nurseryman at Waikumete. He married Miss Jane Ferguson, daughter of Mr John Ferguson, of East Tamaki.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr James Martin Phillipps.
              Member of the Waitemata County Council, is the son of Mr John Phillipps, of the firm of Messrs W. Phillipps and Son, oil and colour merchants, Auckland, and was born in Auckland in 1862. He was educated first at a public school, and afterwards at the Grammar School, and then devoted himself to the breeding of sheep, cattle and horses at his extensive property at Woodhill, Helensville. Mr Phillipps has long been well known as a most successful breeder of draught horses, and horses of his breeding are celebrated throughout New Zealand. Latterly, however, he has gone in more for cattle and sheep. Mr Phillipps has been chairman of the Woodhill school committee for over twelve years; in fact, from its earliest existence. He is also chairman of the Helensville Agricultural Society, and is judge at all the horse shows held in the provincial district of Auckland. Mr Phillipps was elected to his present seat in the Waitemata County Council in 1899.
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Mr Oliver Mays,
             
 Treasurer of the Waitemata County Council, was born at Leicester, England, in 1835, and received
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his training as a teacher at the Diocesan schools in his native town. He came to New Zealand in the year 1858, and was at once appointed by the Auckland Board of Education to the charge of a school at Woodside, on the Great South Road, and was there for two years and a half. Mr Mays soon obtained a first class certificate from the Board, and was promoted to the larger school at Devonport, which he conducted with marked success for five years.

            


            
Several of the prominent public men in Devonport to-day were his pupils during this period. In 1863, Sir George Grey, during his second governorship, proposed to establish a school for the sons of Maori chiefs, on the island of Kawau, where, being removed from the influence of tribe and custom, they might be educated on purely English lines. On the recommendation of the Board of Education Mr and Mrs Mays were appointed to conduct the institution. The exigencies of the Waikato war, however, prevented his Excellency from carrying out his benevolent scheme. Shortly afterwards the Bishop of New Zealand (Dr Selwyn) offered Mr Mays the charge of the large Native School at Waimate, Bay of Islands, which he accepted; but before he could enter upon his duties, the school buildings were unfortunately destroyed by fire. Mr Mays then commenced business as a general storekeeper at Devonport. He was appointed the first postmaster for that district, and held the office for twenty years. On retiring from business in 1883, Mr Mays was appointed Immigration Officer and Superintendent of Quarantine for the port of Auckland, and carried out his duties to the entire satisfaction of the General Government until the system of assisted immigration ceased in 1889. When the Counties Act came into operation in 1877, Mr Mays was one of the two members then elected to represent the Takapuna Riding in the county of Waitemata. During his thirty-nine years' residence in Devonport Mr Mays has been conspicuously and closely identified with nearly every movement for the advancement of that important suburb. He collected funds for the erection of the first public wharf and the first church, and for the acquisition of the present splendid site of the public school. In 1867 the first road board was established in Devonport, mainly by his exertions, and he was chairman of the board for some years. He represented the local body on the Harbour Board for ten years, and in 1881 he was a member of the special committee, and moved the adoption of its report, which recommended the construction of the large dock at Calliope Point. Mr Mays has been a member of the Devonport Borough Council since 1892. Immediately after his election he moved that a deputation consisting of Messrs J. C. Macky, R. H. Duder, A. Buchanan and himself, should wait upon the Auckland Harbour Board to obtain the transfer of the public reserve at Devonport, known as the “Triangle,” to the Devonport Borough Council. Mr Mays' action in this matter was ultimately successful in recovering for the people of Devonport a valuable block of land, which was originally reserved by Sir George Grey for public purposes, and was specially exempted from sale at the first disposal of Crown lands in the district. The Harbour Board acknowledged the justice of the claim, and assisted in the promotion and passing of an Act of Parliament, authorising the transfer of the land to the local body. Mr Mays has rendered very special service to Devonport in connection with education. Having secured the best possible site for a public school, he urged the committee to obtain a new building, adapted to the needs of the district, and the result was that a vote of £1200 was made by the Board of Education and expended in the erection of the original block of buildings on the present site. As chairman of the school committee for very many years he has, with the cordial cooperation of his colleagues, done a great deal in other ways to place the Devonport school in the front rank of the public schools of the province. The Devonport school committee is one of the very few in the colony which have established a technical work-shop and kindergarten classes; and one of Mr Mays' colleagues on the committee, Mr Edward Bartley, voluntarily undertook the first year's management of the workshop, and brought it to such a state of efficiency that the Education Department gave a yearly grant in aid of the cost. The Devonport school has now a roll of 600 scholars, with a staff of sixteen teachers, and Mr Mays and his colleagues are justly proud of its success. In 1885 Mr Mays was appointed treasurer of the Auckland Grammar School Trust, and his management of the school's endowments has been equal to the progress made by the school itself, which now stands at the head of the secondary schools of the colony. In 1888 Mr Mays was gazetted an official visitor of the industrial schools in Auckland, and devoted a good deal of his time to the promotion of the boarding-out system, which, in the Auckland district at least, has proved a great success. When the Hospital and Charitable Institutions Act came into operation in 1886, Mr Mays was elected to represent the counties of Rodney and Waitemata, and the Borough of Devonport, on the Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He held the position for six years, and was chairman in his last year of office. During his membership the late Mr Edward Costley bequeathed £100,000 to the charitable and other institutions of Auckland. Of this bequest, £12,150 was for the Old Men's Home, and Mr Mays was one of the first to advocate the erection of a suitable building outside the city for the aged people, who were then lodged in two very old buildings on the Hospital grounds. There was much opposition to this project from those who wished the money to remain on fixed deposit, in order that the interest might be applied in reduction of the rates levied for charitable aid purposes; but the agitation thus commenced was eventually successful, and in 1889 his Excellency, the Earl of Onslow, laid the foundation stone of the new home at Epsom. On that occasion Mr Mays made an impressive speech, in which he gave the history of the benefactors of Auckland, and dwelt especially on the characteristics of the noblest of them all—Edward Costley. Mr Mays is recognised as a high authority on the law relating to local government, in connection with which he has had such exceptional experience. Apart from his knowledge of practical affairs, Mr Mays is a man of much natural ability, and always speaks with persuasive eloquence on subjects in which he is interested. This is so well recognised that, in 1884, a deputation from Sir George Grey's Central Election Committee twice waited upon him, and earnestly requested him to contest the Waitemata seat for the House of Representatives. The committee offered to support him with the whole strength of its powerful organization, and had he allowed himself to be nominated, his election would have followed almost as a certainty. He, however, declined to enter the parliamentary arena. Mr Mays, who has been a Justice of the Peace for a number of years, is further referred to in an article on the Waitemata County Council.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr Hugh Munro Wilson
              
              has held the position of Engineer to the Waitemata County Council since 1889, and has fulfilled his duties with benefit to the county and credit to himself. He has recently received an additional appointment as engineer of the Waitakerei Water Supply. Mr Wilson carries on an extensive private practice as a mining engineer and surveyor at 16 and 21 Palmerston Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland, and in that connection he is referred to in another article.
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The county of Waitemata has an area of 613 square miles, and an estimated population of about 7000. The value of ratable property in town districts is £25,739, within road districts, £77,473, in outlying districts, £519,263, and within the limits of the county, £622,475. This does not include the ratable value of the boroughs of Birkenhead and Devonport, which rate on the annual value. There is a general rate of 3/4d in the £, and separate rates of 3/4d and 1/2d in the £ in specified ridings. The total annual receipts from all sources, including rates, licenses, grants, etc., amount to £6,766 1s 4d, and the expenditure to £6,886 8s 8d. Considerable areas of the county were at one time heavily timbered, and the timber industry still provides a great deal of employment. Some of the finest specimens of the kauri pine are still to be found on the west coast of the county. In places the land has been cleared, and the settlers are turning their attention to fruit growing and sheep-farming. The country is mostly too broken for agricultural purposes, but for pasturage it is admirably suitable. The People's Park at Waitakerei consists of 4000 acres, mostly virgin forest, and the splendid waterfalls of Waitakerei and Naihotopu, and the magnificent scenery and natural wonders of the West Coast district, are all within the county. The falls of Naihotopu are now being utilised as an auxiliary water supply for the city, which is, therefore, not likely to suffer any scarcity in future. The well known Waiwere Hot Springs and Sanatorium are situated on the northern boundary of Waitemata. These places are all within twenty miles' ride of the city of Auckland, and are much frequented, especially in summer.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Waitemata County Council



            
            


              

                The Waitemata County Council
              
              came into existence under the Counties Act of 1877. At its first meeting, held in Auckland, the following councillors were present:—Mr Oliver Mays and Mr R. Mackay, Takapuna Riding; Mr Robert Sinclair and Mr John Lamb, Ararima Riding; Mr Henry Lloyd, Waiti Riding; and Captain C. H. Otway, Manukau Riding. Mr Mays was unanimously elected first chairman of the Council, and, with one short interval, held the office for eight years. When Mr Mays retired from the chairmanship in 1887, he was appointed county clerk and treasurer, and still (1900) holds that position. Waitemata is the premier county of the provincial district of Auckland, and its popularity and success are in a large measure due to the energy and administrative ability of Mr Mays. During the first ten years of the county's existence, thirteen of the sixteen local road boards merged themselves into it. The Council for 1900 consists of Messrs J. H. O'Neill (chairman), R. Sinclair, A. Bruce, A. Wilson, A. J. Hatfield, junior, E. W. Alison, J. M. Phillips, and A. Cochran, junior. The Council, which meets on the first Friday in each month, has jurisdiction over all the country lying north of the Auckland harbour, as far as Waiwera on the east, and the Kaipara river on the west.
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Mr John Henry O'Neill.
             
 Chairman of the Waitemata County Council, is the eldest son of the late Mr Allan


[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. J. H. O'Neill.]

Hanna, photo.

Mr. 
J. H. O'Neill.


Charles O'Neill, J.P., a prominent colonist in the early history of Auckland, and a member of the famous Irish family of O'Neill, the founder of which was Neal Roe, Prince of Tir-Owen (now Tyrone), whose descendants were the royal O'Neills, subsequently holders of a peerage now extinct, and O'Neill of the Fews of Tassagh. County Armagh, etc., etc. The last of the O'Neills who bore the title of King of Ulster, was Donal O'Neill, who died in 1325. Mr J. H. O'Neill was born at O'Neill's Point, North Shore, Auckland, in the year 1852. He was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, and at the High School. After spending two years on the Thames goldfields, in the unsatisfactory pursuit of a fortune, Mr O'Neill returned to Auckland, where he was for a year in a solicitor's office. That work being uncongenial, he turned his attention to surveying, and in 1878 he settled on his present fine property in Waitakerei, where he has ever since successfully carried on sheepfarming. He first became connected with public affairs in 1878, when he was returned as a member of the Waitakerei Road Board, on which he remained for five years. Mr O'Neill was elected to the Waitemata County Council in 1887, and has for the last three years been chairman of the council. Mr O'Neill has also been for some years a member of the Waitemata Licensing Committee. He is unmarried.
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Mr. Robert Sinclair,
             
 J.P., Member of the Waitemata County Council, was born and educated in Perthshire, Scotland. He served his time at the building trade, and came to New Zealand in 1860 by the “Lord Burleigh,” landing in Auckland, and for five years was engaged in building and contracting work there. He then went to the West Coast, where he remained for about a year, and in 1867 removed to Kaukapakapa, where he purchased the “Eden Vale Farm,' a property of eighty-two acres. Prior to the formation of the Waltemata County Council in 1876, he was chairman of the local road board for a number of years, and afterwards represented the riding in the
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council. For one year he acted as chairman, but declined re-election to the office, though he is the only member who has continued in the council since its inception. He has



been chairman of the school committee for more than twenty years, and has always taken an active interest in local affairs. Mr. Sinclair was made a Justice of the Peace in 1883, and shortly afterwards was appointed acting-district coroner, which office he still holds. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. William Hazard, a well-known settler, late of Prince Edward's Island.
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Councillor Alexander Wilson
              
             
 has held a seat on the Waitemata County Council for the last nine years, and has looked well after the wants of the district. He was instrumental in obtaining a grant of £500 from the Government, for expenditure on reproductive works at Birkenhead. Mr. Wilson was chairman of the old Road Board before it was merged into the council. He was the first chairman of the local school committee, and has been for twenty-five years president of the local Temperance Society, which he was instrumental in forming. Mr. Wilson was born in Ayrshire, in 1828, and followed farming till he left for Auckland in 1863, by the ship “Portland.” On his arrival he went to Waiwera under engagement to the late Mr. Robert Graham, then Superintendent of Auckland, and after a stay of over four years at Waiwera, he took charge of Mr. Graham's place at Ellerslie for six months. In 1868, Mr. Wilson purchased his present holding of 100 acres at Birkenhead, and carried on farming for some years, but has been obliged to
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withdraw from active work, and he now leases the farm to his sons, who devote themselves mainly to fruit growing and dairying.
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Councillor Alexander J. Hatfield,
             
 Junior, Member of the Waitemata County Council, was first elected to that body in 1893, with a narrow majority of nineteen votes. At the following election, the voting in his favour was 125 against thirteen, which showed that he had earned popularity by the discharge of his public duties; and on the occasion of a third election he had a majority of 132. He
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was previously chairman of the Wainui Road Board, also chairman of the Wainui Licensing Committee under the old Act; and was (1900) lately returned unopposed to a seat on the present Waitemata Licensing Committee. As a hard working member of the Council he has had the satisfaction of seeing full justice done to his district in the direction of reproductive works. Although Mr Hatfield has contested many elections for local bodies he has never yet been defeated. Mr Hatfield was born in Auckland in 1867, and has been engaged chiefly in the timber industry. He resides at the Waiwera Hot Springs, where he owns considerable property. Mr Hatfield was made a Justice of the Peace in 1894.
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Mr Alexander Bruce,
              who sits on the Waitemata County Council as Member for the Northcote Riding, is also chairman of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He was born in Aberdeen, Scotland, in 1839, and was educated at his native place. On leaving school he acted for two years and a half as page to the late Lord Lindsay, who was celebrated as the author of “Lindsay's Travels in Egypt, Edom and Syria,” a work of great research. Mr Bruce afterwards entered the service of Messrs Blackie Bros., engineers, Aberdeen, and remained with the firm for three years, after completing his apprenticeship. He afterwards worked in Glasgow and at the Blackwall Company's Shipbuilding Yards in London, then one of the largest yards in Great Britain. In the year 1863, Mr Bruce came to Auckland by the ship “Scimitar,” and entered the employment of the engineering firm of Messrs Vicary and Masefield, now Masefield and Co. After being for some time with that firm, he entered the service of Messrs Fraser and Co., and remained there until 1865, when, owing to a lock-out about increased wages, Mr Bruce left the firm. In conjunction with his brother-in-law, Mr Teasdale, he then started in Queen Street in a bakery and confectionery business, which was most successfully carried on for three years. Mr Bruce was then attracted by the glowing accounts of fortunes quickly made on the Thames goldfields, and disposed of his interest in the business. He was mining for a year and a half at the Thames, but had no success as a gold-seeker. He then commenced the more certain occupation of engineer, and was over a year busily employed in erecting quartz-crushing machinery. Mr Bruce returned to Auckland, where he re-entered the employment of Messrs Masefield and Co., with whom he remained for over twenty years, and had charge of a department. Mr Bruce first took part in public affairs in 1884, when he was elected a member of the Northcote Road Board. He remained on that body until its amalgamation with the Waitemata County Council, and was for several years previous to the amalgamation a member on both bodies. He has been continuously a member of the Waitemata County Council for over thirteen years, during which he has been returned three times, unopposed, and twice at contested elections. Mr Bruce has been connected with the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board for eight consecutive years, and is now (1900) chairman of that body. He has been for over forty years a member of the Society of Amalgamated Engineers, one of the largest and most influential societies in existence, and has for many years been secretary to the Auckland branch. As a public man, Mr Bruce is painstaking and consistent, and enjoys the utmost confidence of his constituents. Mr Bruce married shortly after his arrival in Auckland, and of a family of ten, three sons are now, as engineers, following in their father's foot-steps.
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Mr Ewen William Alison
              
             
 again (1900) represents the Takapuna Riding in the Waitemata County Council. He was born in Auckland in 1855. On leaving school he entered a printing office, but, finding the confinement unsuited to his health, he left that employment, and in conjunction with his brother, Mr Alexander Alison, now manager of the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, started an extensive butchering business, which they carried on most successfully for fourteen years. On retiring from that business. Mr Alison took up various commercial undertakings, which have all been successful in his hands. He was the founder of the Devonport Ferry Company's service, the assured success of which is in a large measure attributable to Mr Alison's perception, unflagging energy, and knowledge of business. Mr Alison was returned to a seat on the Waitemata County Council, when he was only twenty-three years of age, and at that time he remained a member of the Council for nine years. On the formation of the Devonport Borough



Council he was elected one of the first councillors, and continued to sit in that capacity until 1889, when he was elected mayor, and held the office for five consecutive years. He was then obliged to decline further re-election on account of the demands made on his time by his extensive business interests. During his terms as Mayor Mr Alison introduced and successfully carried out, against much opposition, the Devonport water supply, which has proved to be of inestimable benefit to the inhabitants of Devonport. It was also during his term of office that Parliament passed four Acts conveying valuable endowments to the borough, the affairs of which were, in fact, quite revolutionized during Mr Alison's mayoralty. The pavements in the borough were systematically made and tarred, and other important works carried out, chiefly in
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consequence of his initiative and persistency. Mr Alison is largely connected with the coal trade, and holds valuable interests in various coal mines. He is at present a member of the Conciliation Board of Auckland, and has, by reason of his fairness and impartiality, gained the confidence of both employers and workers. Mr Alison is chairman of the Takapuna Jockey Club, the most successful suburban racing club in the colony. He is still a member of the Devonport Borough Council, is chairman of directors of several prominent and successful goldmining companies, and is chairman of directors of the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, and also of the Taupiri Coal Company. Mr Alison was for two terms a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, and during that period he was chairman of the Finance Committee.
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Mr Alexander Cochran,
             
 Junior, who represents the Waikumete Riding on the Waitemata County Council, is a son of Mr Alexander Cochran, well known in
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the Waikumete district. He was born at Waikumete in 1869, and was educated in his native place, and at Titirangi. On leaving school, he started to learn his business with his father, with whom he still remains. He has been for a number of years vice-president of the Waikumete Fruit Growers' Association, and in 1896 he was elected to the Waitemata County Council. Mr Cochran carries on business
as a fruit grower and nurseryman at Waikumete. He married Miss Jane Ferguson, daughter of Mr John Ferguson, of East Tamaki.
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Mr James Martin Phillipps.
              Member of the Waitemata County Council, is the son of Mr John Phillipps, of the firm of Messrs W. Phillipps and Son, oil and colour merchants, Auckland, and was born in Auckland in 1862. He was educated first at a public school, and afterwards at the Grammar School, and then devoted himself to the breeding of sheep, cattle and horses at his extensive property at Woodhill, Helensville. Mr Phillipps has long been well known as a most successful breeder of draught horses, and horses of his breeding are celebrated throughout New Zealand. Latterly, however, he has gone in more for cattle and sheep. Mr Phillipps has been chairman of the Woodhill school committee for over twelve years; in fact, from its earliest existence. He is also chairman of the Helensville Agricultural Society, and is judge at all the horse shows held in the provincial district of Auckland. Mr Phillipps was elected to his present seat in the Waitemata County Council in 1899.
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Mr Oliver Mays,
             
 Treasurer of the Waitemata County Council, was born at Leicester, England, in 1835, and received
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his training as a teacher at the Diocesan schools in his native town. He came to New Zealand in the year 1858, and was at once appointed by the Auckland Board of Education to the charge of a school at Woodside, on the Great South Road, and was there for two years and a half. Mr Mays soon obtained a first class certificate from the Board, and was promoted to the larger school at Devonport, which he conducted with marked success for five years.

            


            
Several of the prominent public men in Devonport to-day were his pupils during this period. In 1863, Sir George Grey, during his second governorship, proposed to establish a school for the sons of Maori chiefs, on the island of Kawau, where, being removed from the influence of tribe and custom, they might be educated on purely English lines. On the recommendation of the Board of Education Mr and Mrs Mays were appointed to conduct the institution. The exigencies of the Waikato war, however, prevented his Excellency from carrying out his benevolent scheme. Shortly afterwards the Bishop of New Zealand (Dr Selwyn) offered Mr Mays the charge of the large Native School at Waimate, Bay of Islands, which he accepted; but before he could enter upon his duties, the school buildings were unfortunately destroyed by fire. Mr Mays then commenced business as a general storekeeper at Devonport. He was appointed the first postmaster for that district, and held the office for twenty years. On retiring from business in 1883, Mr Mays was appointed Immigration Officer and Superintendent of Quarantine for the port of Auckland, and carried out his duties to the entire satisfaction of the General Government until the system of assisted immigration ceased in 1889. When the Counties Act came into operation in 1877, Mr Mays was one of the two members then elected to represent the Takapuna Riding in the county of Waitemata. During his thirty-nine years' residence in Devonport Mr Mays has been conspicuously and closely identified with nearly every movement for the advancement of that important suburb. He collected funds for the erection of the first public wharf and the first church, and for the acquisition of the present splendid site of the public school. In 1867 the first road board was established in Devonport, mainly by his exertions, and he was chairman of the board for some years. He represented the local body on the Harbour Board for ten years, and in 1881 he was a member of the special committee, and moved the adoption of its report, which recommended the construction of the large dock at Calliope Point. Mr Mays has been a member of the Devonport Borough Council since 1892. Immediately after his election he moved that a deputation consisting of Messrs J. C. Macky, R. H. Duder, A. Buchanan and himself, should wait upon the Auckland Harbour Board to obtain the transfer of the public reserve at Devonport, known as the “Triangle,” to the Devonport Borough Council. Mr Mays' action in this matter was ultimately successful in recovering for the people of Devonport a valuable block of land, which was originally reserved by Sir George Grey for public purposes, and was specially exempted from sale at the first disposal of Crown lands in the district. The Harbour Board acknowledged the justice of the claim, and assisted in the promotion and passing of an Act of Parliament, authorising the transfer of the land to the local body. Mr Mays has rendered very special service to Devonport in connection with education. Having secured the best possible site for a public school, he urged the committee to obtain a new building, adapted to the needs of the district, and the result was that a vote of £1200 was made by the Board of Education and expended in the erection of the original block of buildings on the present site. As chairman of the school committee for very many years he has, with the cordial cooperation of his colleagues, done a great deal in other ways to place the Devonport school in the front rank of the public schools of the province. The Devonport school committee is one of the very few in the colony which have established a technical work-shop and kindergarten classes; and one of Mr Mays' colleagues on the committee, Mr Edward Bartley, voluntarily undertook the first year's management of the workshop, and brought it to such a state of efficiency that the Education Department gave a yearly grant in aid of the cost. The Devonport school has now a roll of 600 scholars, with a staff of sixteen teachers, and Mr Mays and his colleagues are justly proud of its success. In 1885 Mr Mays was appointed treasurer of the Auckland Grammar School Trust, and his management of the school's endowments has been equal to the progress made by the school itself, which now stands at the head of the secondary schools of the colony. In 1888 Mr Mays was gazetted an official visitor of the industrial schools in Auckland, and devoted a good deal of his time to the promotion of the boarding-out system, which, in the Auckland district at least, has proved a great success. When the Hospital and Charitable Institutions Act came into operation in 1886, Mr Mays was elected to represent the counties of Rodney and Waitemata, and the Borough of Devonport, on the Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He held the position for six years, and was chairman in his last year of office. During his membership the late Mr Edward Costley bequeathed £100,000 to the charitable and other institutions of Auckland. Of this bequest, £12,150 was for the Old Men's Home, and Mr Mays was one of the first to advocate the erection of a suitable building outside the city for the aged people, who were then lodged in two very old buildings on the Hospital grounds. There was much opposition to this project from those who wished the money to remain on fixed deposit, in order that the interest might be applied in reduction of the rates levied for charitable aid purposes; but the agitation thus commenced was eventually successful, and in 1889 his Excellency, the Earl of Onslow, laid the foundation stone of the new home at Epsom. On that occasion Mr Mays made an impressive speech, in which he gave the history of the benefactors of Auckland, and dwelt especially on the characteristics of the noblest of them all—Edward Costley. Mr Mays is recognised as a high authority on the law relating to local government, in connection with which he has had such exceptional experience. Apart from his knowledge of practical affairs, Mr Mays is a man of much natural ability, and always speaks with persuasive eloquence on subjects in which he is interested. This is so well recognised that, in 1884, a deputation from Sir George Grey's Central Election Committee twice waited upon him, and earnestly requested him to contest the Waitemata seat for the House of Representatives. The committee offered to support him with the whole strength of its powerful organization, and had he allowed himself to be nominated, his election would have followed almost as a certainty. He, however, declined to enter the parliamentary arena. Mr Mays, who has been a Justice of the Peace for a number of years, is further referred to in an article on the Waitemata County Council.
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Mr Hugh Munro Wilson
              
              has held the position of Engineer to the Waitemata County Council since 1889, and has fulfilled his duties with benefit to the county and credit to himself. He has recently received an additional appointment as engineer of the Waitakerei Water Supply. Mr Wilson carries on an extensive private practice as a mining engineer and surveyor at 16 and 21 Palmerston Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland, and in that connection he is referred to in another article.
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The Maori Wars.

          

            
Arrival of The Maoris in New Zealand.

            
The Maoris have amongst themselves a generally accepted tradition that their ancestors first came to New Zealand in a canoe, named Aotea, in charge of a chief named Turi. They came from Hawaiki, an island in the Pacific, and landed in a bay in the southern part of the North Island, named Te Witakau; between Wanganui and Taranaki. Turi, it is said, named the mountains and rivers in this part of the island. Another canoe, named Tokomaru, in charge of a chief named Manaia, arrived shortly afterwards from Hawaiki. The Maoris found the country inhabited by the Moriori, a very peaceable race, whom they easily subdued, and then took possession of the country.

            
Mere tradition, however, is unsatisfactory in regard to a matter so important as the origin of a people so interesting as the Maoris. Happily, scientific enquiry into the subject is afoot, and there are already indications of truly valuable results. Mr Percy Smith, for many years Surveyor-General of New Zealand, has made researches which show that the main outlines of the history of the Polynesians, of whom the Maoris form the most important section, can be given as a tentative theory. According to this theory, the Polynesian race once inhabited a mainland, which is believed to be India—inland India, the plains and foot-hills of the Himalaya, with their borders touching the sea on the Persian Gulf. Ages must have passed whilst the people dwelt in those parts; they became navigators, crossed the neighbouring seas, acquired many customs from some race of a Semitic origin, together with some words of their language. This neighbouring race was probably dwelling in Arabia and on the shores of the Persian Gulf. In course of time the Aryan race made its appearance in India, and after centuries of contact and partial intermixture, the Polynesians retreated under pressure of the Aryans, southwards and seawards where they acquired increased powers of navigation and the knowledge of surrounding lands. The study of dialects, racial characteristics and other researches leads to the conclusion that the Polynesians then removed in large numbers to Indonesia, and there are grounds for thinking that in the course of centuries they voyaged far into the Pacific, and to the north, and there made their homes. Mr Percy Smith thinks it probable that the original names of Atea, Hawaiki-te-Varinga, Vavau, Herangi, and many others must be looked for in those regions, though he adds that the irruption of other races makes it difficult to trace those early Polynesian names in their first homes in the Pacific. About the first and second centuries of the Christian era, the Malay race, from the west and north-west, pressed in upon the Polynesians, who, after another long period of contest, contact and partial intermixture, again moved on, generally eastward. Some of them are supposed to have retraced their steps and to have finally reached Madagascar, but the great general movement was eastward into the Pacific. There are evidences of two migrations, the first consisting of the less warlike of the Polynesians. Even those, however, must have been men of great resource and daring in regard to navigation, for they are supposed to have reached Tahiti, Hawaii, the Marquesas and New Zealand, with which they are associated as the Moriori, of whom a remnant still inhabits the Chatham Islands. In the course of time the Polynesians, who still remained in Indonesia, also gave way to the pressure of the Malays, though their subsequent conquests in the Pacific show that centuries of contact with the Malays had made them more warlike than their countrymen of the first migration. This second set of Polynesian voyagers took possession of the greater part of the Fijian group, and they, in conjunction with the Tongans of Vavau and Haapai, afterwards practically conquered Samoa. The period of these exploits was, roughly from the tenth to the twelfth century, during which the Fiji-Polynesians, who were not only conquering warriors but successful navigators, are believed to have spread far and wide throughout the Pacific. Many places, including Tahiti, Rarotonga, and eventually New Zealand, were settled by them. These are the people who are generally termed Maoris, who, about the year 1350, reached New Zealand in a fleet of canoes. Though the Moriori, who had arrived before them, were of the same stock, the Maoris proved to be the more masterful branch, and eventually became conquerors of the Moriori and owners of New Zealand.

            
Such are the conclusions which are at least tentatively justified by the researches of Mr Percy Smith and others. As to two important points, there is a general agreement; namely, that about 500 years ago a large number of Maoris reached New Zealand in canoes from the Polynesian islands; and that, on landing, they drove the Moriori into the interior, and took possession of the country round the coast. It is also generally held that the Aotea brought to New Zealand the ancestors of the Taranaki, Wanganui, Ngatiruanui, Ngaraura and Ngatiapa tribes, and if this was the case, then, to judge by the later history of those tribes, the Aotea must have carried men of indomitable daring and women of splendid endurance. Maori tradition has it that as the newcomers increased in numbers, they developed into independent tribes, spread into various parts of the country, and even became hostile to each other. In consequence of this state of things it came to pass that a tribe's right of occupation was always liable to be superseded by force, and all the tribes recognised the acquisition of territory by conquest as just and right. The Toas, or great fighting men of each tribe, were held in almost as much esteem as the hereditary chiefs who, in fact, were in some cases looked upon with less respect than the Toas. Authority was purely tribal, and there was no intertribal polity or anything approaching coordination into a nation among the Maori race. This was the state of affairs when the British took possession of New Zealand in 1840.

          

          

            
The Northern War.

            
In the latter part of 1844 trouble commenced with the Maoris in the district north of Auckland, and the settlers were threatened, and asked the Government for assistance. 
Hone Heke, a powerful chief,
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whose grandson of the same name was afterwards a member of the Parliament of New Zealand, cut down the flagstaff at Kororareka, on the 10th of January, 1845. This was considered equal to a declaration of war, and a reward of £100 was offered for his apprehension. Heke bitterly resented this; he considered that it was likening him to a pig, which could be bought, and he threatened that, within four months, he would bring 2,000 men to Auckland and cut down the flagstaff there. Fifty soldiers were immediately despatched to Kororareka, and the flagstaff was re-erected. Nevertheless, on the 11th of March, 1845, the town of Kororareka was sacked and destroyed by the Maoris. The property thus destroyed was estimated to be worth about £50,000. Heke, however, not only protected the churches of the Church of England and Roman Catholic, but fought solely against the soldiers and sailors, and even allowed the settlers to escape to the ships without molestation.

            
A second time Heke cut down the flag-staff at Kororareka, when the settlers joined Nene's war party against Heke. Prominent among them was Mr John Webster, of Opononi. Mr Francis White, a blacksmith, became armourer; Mr William Webster manufactured cartridge boxes; and Judge Maning and Mr G. F. Russell supplied the powder. This war party started from the Upper Hokianga and met Heke at Lake Omapere. Each party built a pa, and fighting was daily carried on for two months, during which time Waka Nene held Heke in check while he awaited the arrival of troops.

          

          

            
The Attack at Okaihau.

            
Martial law was proclaimed on the 26th of April, 1845, and two days later the British troops, under Colonel Hulme, arrived at the Bay of Islands. Next day they went on to Paihia, and Nene went on board to arrange measures for the campaign. The troops disembarked at Onewara beach on the 3rd of May, where they were joined by 108 men from the ships of war. Joining with Nene's party they advanced along the banks of the Kerikeri, and went through the dense forest by a track previously cut by Nene's men, until they reached Heke's pa at Okaihau. They found the pa strongly defended. The attack commenced on the 8th of May, and when the troops took up their position on three sides of the pa, they met a heavy fire from Heke's party. Kawiti, the fighting chief of Heke, had placed a party of warriors behind a breastwork, on the brow of an adjoining hill; and these also opened fire on the troops. The attacking force, however, soon dislodged them, occupied their breastwork, and kept up a sharp fire on the enemy, which was as briskly returned. Kawiti's force was charged and routed; then about 100 Maoris came out of the pa and attacked the small party in the breastwork. Kawiti rallied his force and again came into the conflict. The battle was waged fiercely all day, and in the evening the order was given to retreat, as it would have entailed too serious sacrifice for the small party to have stormed the pa. The troops retired to Kororareka, and the friendly natives brought in the wounded. The losses were very heavy on both sides. To get reinforcements Colonel Hulme returned to Auckland, taking the wounded with him. Great was the surprise of the Aucklanders at the repulse; and the feeling of insecurity increased. In the meantime, however, Waka Nene kept up a continual guerilla warfare with Heke, and in one of these encounters Heke was wounded in the thigh.

          

          

            
The Fight At Ohaeawai.

            
Owing to the damage and the loss he had sustained Heke erected a new pa at Ohaeawai, seven miles from the Waimate mission station, and nineteen miles from the Bay of Islands. Though built rapidly it was unusually strong. At this stage Colonel Despard arrived from Sydney with more troops. Being senior officer, he took command of the whole force which now consisted of 520 soldiers, thirty sailors from H.M.S. “Hazard” and eighty volunteers from Auckland. After a tedious march of nine days, they arrived at Ohaeawai on the 25th of June. Next day the attack began, but even the 12-pounder artillery made no impression on the pa. A 32-pounder, with another detachment from H.M.S. “Hazard,” arrived a few days later; this proved somewhat more effective. On the 1st of July, strongly against the advice of Waka Nene, Colonel Despard ordered an assault. The storming party consisted of 160 soldiers, under Majors Macpherson and Bridge, and forty sailors and volunteers. This brave party threw themselves in vain against the palisades, and were shot down by the Maoris behind. The result was a disastrous repulse; in ten minutes 107 men were lying dead or disabled before the pa. The Duke of Wellington, as Commander-in-Chief, considered Colonel Despard should have been tried by court martial for ordering this attack in the face of such hopeless difficulties. Heke's party quietly evacuated their pa the next evening, and left some of their noisiest dogs tied up inside, in order to lead the besiegers to believe that they were still in possession. At daylight on the following morning the troops took possession of the pa. In his hour of victory Heke wrote a characteristic letter to the Governor, in which he said: “If you make peace, do not bear malice against your enemy. Cæsar, Pontius Pilate, Nebuchadnazzar, Pharaoh, Nicodemus, Agrippa, and Herod were kings and governors; did they confer any benefit, or did they not kill Jesus Christ?”

            
After the troops had taken possession of Ohaeawai hostilities were delayed, awaiting the arrival of reinforcements. This delay lasted four months. During this time Kawiti erected a new pa at his own place, Ruapekapeka, or the Bat's Nest. This was considerably stronger than Ohaeawai and more difficult of approach. Kawiti's love of war and ancient feuds with our allies, Heke's hatred of the British, and Governor Fitzroy's arbitrary conditions of peace kept them still hostile. As the first Maori warrior who had fought against England's trained soldiers Heke rose high in the esteem of his countrymen.

          

          

            
The Capture of Ruapekapeka.

            
In June, 1845, it was announced in the Imperial Parliament that a despatch had been forwarded to Governor Fitzroy recalling him.
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It was further announced that Captain Grey, then Governor of South Australia, would succeed him. On the 18th of November, of the same year, Captain Grey officially landed and assumed office. He immediately adopted vigorous measures to bring the war to an end. In order to restore England's prestige he resolved at all costs to institute a victorious campaign. He stopped the sale of arms to the natives and cut off all communication with Heke and Kawiti, and issued regular rations to the Maori allies under Waka Nene. An available force of 1173 men, with the addition of the friendly allies, now commenced operations against Heke, at Ruapekapeka. Two stockades were built close to the pa, in which were mounted one 18-pounder and one 12-pounder Howitzer. On Saturday, the 10th of January, 1846, the action commenced, and an incessant artillery fire was kept up for the whole day. In the evening it was observed that the guns had made three breaches in the outer palisades. The commanding officer then contemplated an assault, but owing to the remonstrances of the friendly chief, Mohi Tawhai, this idea was abandoned. On the following morning (Sunday) some of Nene's men, cautiously approached the breaches, and not hearing any noise they entered and found the pa unoccupied. Immediately they signalled the troops, who rushed forward and entered the pa before the Maoris, who were engaged in worship outside at the back of the pa, could return. Thus Heke and Kawiti lost possession of their stronghold. Their forces commenced a heavy fire on our men from the surrounding woods, but soon retired to another pa,



which had been erected about three miles away by Heke, in case they should be driven from Ruapekapeka. The British loss was twelve killed and thirty wounded, and Heke's loss was about twenty-five killed.

            
The loss of Ruapekapeka disheartened the followers of Heke, and Kawiti, and the latter wrote to the Governor the following letter:—“Friend! O, my esteemed friend, the Governor, I salute you. Great is my regard for you. Friend Governor, I say let peace be made between you and I. I am filled of your riches (cannon balls); thereupon I say, let you and I make peace. Will you not? Yes. This is the termination of my war against you. Friend Governor, I, Kawiti and Hekitenedo, consent to this good message. This is the end of mine to you. It is finished. To my esteemed friend, the Governor.—Kawiti.”

            
This petition was strongly backed by Tamati Waka Nene, and Sir George Grey thereupon granted a free pardon to all who had been engaged in the rebellion, and allowed them to retain possession of their lands. Thus peace was declared, and Heke's war terminated; no feeling of bitterness remained, and the friendly relations between the Maoris and the settlers north of Auckland have never since been broken.

            
Of the chief actors in this rebellion, Kawiti afterwards professed Christianity, and died in 1853, at the age of nearly four score years. Heke, who never recovered from the effects of the wound he received at Okaihau, died in 1850, near his old field of battle, and he was buried in a cave near the old mission station at Waimate.

          

          

            

Tamati Waka Nene.

            
Waka Nene, the famous Ngapuhi chieftain, and friendly ally of the British, had
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Tamati Waka Nene.


undertaken to protect the settlers against Heke. He therefore raised a force to punish Heke and his fighting general Kawiti, and pursued them until they were compelled to retire.

            
Wake Nene's valuable services to the Crown throughout the Northern War, and before the British were able to put any soldiers in the field, will ever be remembered. He subsequently received a Government pension of £100 a year, and Sir George Grey was commissioned by the Queen to present him with a beautiful silver chased cup, in recognition of his services. Before his death, in 1871, Waka Nene presented this historic heirloom to his old friend, Mr John Webster, of Opononi.

          

          

            

Te Werowero, Or Potatau.

            
The racial troubles which arose in connection with the progress of settlement in New Zealand had the effect of promoting intertribal organisation amongst the Maoris.


[image: Te Werowero, Or Potatau.]

Te Werowero, Or Potatau.


Under the guidance of the missionaries some of them had become fairly close students of the Old Testament, and it was natural that they should think of a kingship as a means of attaining the ends they had in view for themselves in relation with or in opposition to the colonists. Accordingly a kingship was set up, and Te Werowero or Potatau was chosen for the office. Te Werowero was of the very noblest blood of the Maori race. No chief in New Zealand could compare with him in genealogy, and in his many relationships with the highest in rank in many tribes. No Maori chief is great unless he can trace his descent to some leader who came in the first canoes from Hawaiki. Te Werowero's ancestor was Hotonui, who came in the canoe Tainui, which made land at Kawhia. One of the most famous men in the line of descent was Tapaue, who had a number of sons who founded tribes. These sons were: Te Rorokitua, who was the ancestor of the Ngatipaoa; Te Putu, Tahau, Te Apa, Huiarangi, Ratua, Hikaurua. The son of Te Putu was Tawhia, whose son was Tuata, whose son was Te Rauanganga, whose son was Te Werowero, the first Maori king. Te Werowero's wife was Whakaawi, a woman of high birth, of the Ngatimahuta tribe.

          

          

            

Tawhiao.

            
Tawhiao, the second Maori king, was the son of Te Werowero. He was born at Orongokoekoea, at Mokau, about 1825, and was present at the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi. At Rangiriri he warned the Maoris to avoid the British soldiers on the line of the Waikato river, and advised them to go inland, but they would not consent. He was present at the fight at Rangiriri, and afterwards escaped in a canoe. After the war in the Waikato he remained in the King Country, and did not join in the outbreaks which subsequently took place, though he countenanced them. When Sir George Grey was Premier he had an interview with Tawhiao, and an amicable feeling was created. In 1884 Tawhiao visited England, with several other chiefs, and while there he had interviews with many eminent men. On his return he made claims to full dominion over New Zealand. In 1892 Tawhiao accepted a Government pension of £210 a year, but afterwards repudiated the idea of surrendering his authority, and returned the first instalment. At one time he might have had a semi-official position as Native Superintendent, and £1000 a year for life, if he would have surrendered what he regarded as the cause of his country and his countrymen. Tawhiao died on the 26th of August, 1894, at his residence at Parawera. His only son, Tu Tawhiao, predeceased him. Some



time after Tawhiao's death the chief Mahuta was chosen for the kingship, which, however, is now regarded by the majority of the Maoris themselves as being merely a regulative or municipal office. But originally it was of considerable political and military significance, and it has been thought advisable to refer to Te Werowero and Tawhiao before proceeding with the remainder of the history of the Maori wars.
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The Taranaki War.

            
Several years after the close of Heke's war, the Maoris again became troublesome, this time in the Taranaki district. Sir George Grey, during his term of office as Governor, had wisely restricted the sale of arms to the Maoris, but his successor, Governor Gore Browne, unfortunately removed the restriction, with the result that the Maoris accumulated about £50,000 worth of arms and ammunition. This, with the previous stock they had, was sufficient to supply every adult native in the colony with a gun, and sufficient ammunition for several years of active warfare.

            
In November, 1859, Governor Browne interviewed the natives at New Plymouth, and publicly announced that he was prepared to buy some of their land if they wished to sell. A native named Te Teira, then offered to sell a block of 600 acres at Waitara, but Wiremu Kingi, the chief of Te Teira's tribe, refused to allow the land to be sold. The Governor, intimated, however, that if Te Teira proved his title he would buy the land. Some months later, on the title being reported good, a sum of £200 was paid on account to Te Teira. A party of surveyors was sent to mark the boundaries, but they were stopped by Wiremu Kingi, who built a pa on the disputed block.

            
Two companies of the 65th Regiment were sent to quell the disturbance. Thus began a war which ultimately assumed such proportions that Governor Browne had to apply to England for assistance, which was speedily and liberally granted by the British Government.

            
Hostilities continued until the 21st of May, 1861, when a truce was declared. This truce was kept until the 4th of May, 1863, when an armed party of Maoris attacked a small escort convoying some carts between Taranaki and Tataraimaka, and murdered Lieutenant Tragett, Dr Hope, and five British soldiers. This was the signal of an open rebellion among the Maoris, who declared their intention of “driving all the Europeans into the sea, and attacking Auckland.” As a matter of fact, the Waikato rebels on the 11th of July, 1863, despatched a force in two columns to invade Auckland. Next day General Cameron, who had been sent out by the Imperial Government to take command of the British troops in the colony, placed a force of 380 men in the Koheroa ranges to intercept them. On the 17th an engagement took place, and General Cameron's force in the meantime had been increased to 500 men. The Maoris had formed several lines of rifle pits, which they obstinately defended, and were only dislodged from them at the point of the bayonet. So heavy was the fire poured in on the advancing detachment of the 14th Regiment, who were then receiving their first baptism of fire, that the troops wavered. Seeing this, General Cameron rushed to the front, rallied them, and led them on. The Maoris were defeated, and driven in great confusion across the Maramarua creek; some escaped up the Waikato river in canoes, and others along its right bank, after swimming the creek. Instead of following the natives up and routing them, nothing further was done. It was not until the 30th of October, a period of fifteen weeks, after the engagement at Koheroa, that a forward movement was made.

          

          

            
The Fight At Rangiriri.

            
On the morning of the 20th of November, 1863, General Cameron, with a force of 853 officers and men, proceeded from Meri-Meri up the right bank of the Waikato river to attack the entrenched position of the Maoris at Rangiriri. In this operation Commodore Sir William Wiseman arranged to co-operate with the steamers “Pioneer,” and “Avon,” and four gunboats. The combined forces arrived near Rangiriri at the same time, three o'clock in the afternoon. The position taken up by the Maoris consisted of a main line of entrenchments across the narrow isthmus dividing the Waikato river from Lake Waikare. The line had a double ditch and a high parapet, and a square redoubt of very formidable construction was erected in the centre. Behind the left centre of the main line, and at right angles to it, there was an entrenched line of rifle pits parallel to the Waikato river. After shelling the position for a considerable time with two 12-pounder Armstrongs, and a naval 6-pounder, the two gunboats assisting, General Cameron ordered an assault shortly before 5 p.m. This was gallantly executed by the troops, who had to pass over a distance of 600 yards in the face of heavy fire, the 65th Regiment leading and escalading the enemy's entrenchment on the left. After passing the main line of entrenchment the troops wheeled towards the enemy's centre, and came under fire of the rifle pits facing the Waikato river. They at once stormed and carried the enemy's outer position, and drove the enemy to the centre redoubt, which the Maoris then desperately defended. While the troops were thus engaged 300 men of the 40th Regiment landed from the “Pioneer” and “Avon,” occupied the ridge in the rear, and drove the enemy from that part of the position. The troops who carried the main line were checked by the fire from the centre redoubt; two assaults were made, the first by thirty-six of the Royal Artillery, led by Captain Mercer, and the second by ninety sailors of the Royal Navy, under Commander Mayne. Both attacks were unsuccessful, owing to the formidable nature of the work, and the overwhelming fire which the Maoris poured upon the assailants. Darkness coming on, it was resolved to await for daylight before undertaking further operations, but the troops meanwhile remained in the several positions which they had gained, and by which they almost completely enveloped the enemy. Shortly after daylight on the 21st, the white flag was hoisted by the Maoris, of whom 183 surrendered unconditionally, and gave up their arms, and became prisoners of war. The British losses included 130 in killed and wounded, and amongst those who died of their wounds was the gallant Captain Mercer; but the fall of Rangiriri gave great prestige to the cause of the colonists.

            
From the 8th of December, 1863, to the 27th of January, 1864, General Cameron was detained at Ngaruawahia, awaiting supplies. In the meantime the Maoris were taking up strong positions. When General Cameron arrived at Pikopiko and Paterangi he found these places too strongly fortified to carry by assault. At Awamutu, on the 21st of February, he surprised a force of natives, and pushing on, met a large body of rebels at Rangioahia, whom he defeated with considerable loss. Here Colonel Nixon, of the Colonial Defence Corps, was mortally wounded. Early next morning a force of about 400 Maoris were found entrenching themselves near Rangioahia. A detachment of the 50th Regiment immediately charged them with the bayonet. The natives, after firing one volley, bolted, and were followed and scattered by the Mounted Defence force.

          

          

            
The Stand At Orakau.

            
On the 30th of March, 1864, information arrived that the Maoris were entrenching themselves with the intention of making a stand at Orakau. Brigadier-General Carey, with a force of 1000 men, made a night march, and arrived before the pa at daylight on the following morning. This
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pa proved to be of unusual strength, with ditches and parapets, and surrounded by a post and rail fence. Three assaults were attempted without success. 
Rewi,



the great fighting general of the King party, was in command of the rebels. Reinforcements of rebels arrived in the afternoon, and kept up a fire from the bush. Heavy firing was kept up on both sides all that day, and the following night. Forty thousand rounds of ammunition were served out to the troops, who had also been reinforced, bringing up their numbers to over 2,000. On the morning of the 2nd of April, the Armstrong guns were brought into play. General Cameron now arrived, and the Maoris were asked to surrender. Their reply was: “This is the word of the Maori: We will fight for ever and ever and ever.” On being urged to send away their women and children, who were in the pa, they replied: “The women will fight as well as we.” Is there anything more heroically touching in ancient or modern history than this?

            
Our troops now got desperate. Through a breach made by our guns, a private threw his cap, and rushed after it; he was immediately followed by about twenty colonial troops. The Maoris retreated to the inner works, and ten of the assaulters were shot down. The Maoris, who had been fighting for three days, almost without food or water, at this stage evacuated their pa in a body, with the chiefs in the centre, and made towards the neighbouring swamp and scrub. The troops started in pursuit with the Colonial Cavalry, a corps of Mounted Artillery, and Colonial Forest Rangers, under Captains Jackson and Von Tempsky. Subsequently the Maoris acknowledged to a loss of 200, while our casualties amounted to sixteen killed and fifty-two wounded. Rewi got away unscathed, and ultimately reached Hangatikei. Virtually this ended the Waikato campaign, and the whole district from Auckland was now held by the British and colonial troops.

            
Up to the month of April, 1864, the Imperial troops had been assisted in the campaign by the Europeans only, but then the Arawa tribe of friendly Maoris came upon the scene, influenced probably by various motives—including tribal jealousy and hatred engendered generations before, and unabated by lapse of years, the intense desire of all Maoris to possess guns and ammunition, and their still greater love of war.

          

          

            
The Gate Pa.

            
After the fall of Orakau, the Tauranga natives, who had been assisting the Waikatos, returned home, and began to threaten Lieut.-Colonel Greer, who had just arrived at Tauranga with a force of 500 men, who had been sent by sea from Auckland. General Cameron at once sent reinforcements, and went himself to Tauranga. On the 27th of April, he reconnoitered the position of the natives, and found them entrenched about three miles from Te Papa. The Maoris had thrown up earthworks, and constructed an oblong redoubt, about seventy yards long and thirty wide, which was well palisaded, and surrounded by a post and rail fence. Between the side faces of the redoubt and the adjoining swamps, rifle pits were constructed. This was the celebrated Gate Pa. The number of Maoris engaged in this pa is said not to have exceeded 300, while our troops numbered, with officers, 1695. In addition, General Cameron had a battery of artillery, consisting of one 110-pounder, two 40-pounder, and two 6-pounder Armstrongs; two 24-pounder Howitzers, two 8-inch mortars, and six cohorn mortars. On the night of the 27th, General Cameron's troops completely surrounded the pa, and at 6.30 the following morning the natives opened fire on them. Simultaneously the four batteries opened fire, which was mainly directed at a flag staff which the Maoris, with their usual cunning, had placed about 100 yards outside in the rear of the pa. The ruse was not discovered until two hours later, and much of the firing was extremely wild, the shells falling from 1,000 to 2,000 yards beyond the redoubt. During all this time the natives had only fired twice at long
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intervals. At 4 p.m. a breach was made in one of the angles, and an assault was ordered. The storming party comprised 300 sailors, marines, and privates; and 170 others were extended to keep down the enemy's fire, while 300 more followed as a reserve. Other detachments were drawn up in the rear to prevent the escape of the Maoris. With a ringing cheer, which their comrades re-echoed all over the field, the troops gained the breach. The natives attempted to escape at the rear, but finding that impossible, they turned and charged the assaulting column. Then a sudden panic seized our troops, who turned and rushed away in a headlong flight. Captain Hamilton, with a naval brigade, at this moment reached the breach, but he fell with a bullet through his brain. The natives then followed up and committed fearful execution on our men. When General Cameron had rallied his forces it was too late to renew the assault. During the dark night which followed the Maoris escaped. The losses on both sides have been variously estimated. Sir William Fox gives ours at twenty-seven killed and sixty-six wounded; the Maoris, thirty killed and forty wounded. On the other hand, Lieutenant Gudgeon gives the losses on the British side as thirty-five killed, and seventy-six wounded, and states that the Maoris had twenty killed and six wounded.

          

          

            
The Troops at Te Ranga.

            
On the 21st of June Lieut. Colonel Greer, who had been left in command at Tauranga, heard that the natives were entrenching themselves at Te Ranga, about three miles inland from the Gate Pa, and in a manner much similar. He resolved to dislodge them before they had time to finish the redoubt; and advanced immediately with two detachments and a corps of Colonial cavalry. After a few rounds from a big gun he ordered an assault, which was gallantly carried out. The engagement lasted only a few minutes; the natives were caught in the trenches, and a fierce hand-to-hand conflict took place; while the rebels who fled were followed and cut down by the cavalry. One hundred and nine dead bodies of the enemy were found and buried on the field; nineteen wounded natives (twelve of whom subsequently died from their wounds) and eleven who were unhurt were taken prisoners. Our loss amounted to eight killed and thirty-nine wounded.

            
During this time our allies, the Arawas, had been engaged in several fierce conflicts with the Ngatiporou and Uriwera tribes, and had inflicted severe losses upon them. Tohi, a brave loyal old chief, was killed in one of these successful encounters. The rebels then retreated to the hills in the Waikato borders, and our troops held all the country from Auckland to the Waikato plains.

          

          

            
The Wanganui-Taranaki Campaign.

            
While the Waikato campaign was in progress nothing of any importance was attempted in Taranaki. At last, however, the Government decided that it was necessary to subdue and punish the natives who were actively rebellious in the Wanganui and Taranaki districts. General Cameron then had a combined Imperial and Colonial force of 6,000 soldiers, in addition to nearly 1,000 friendly native allies and the local militia. This number did not include about 5000 other troops, then stationed in other parts of the colony. The rebel natives numbered altogether about 1500, of whom, possibly, 700 were fighting men. Before operations were ready the Maoris challenged our troops to fight. On the 24th of January, 1865, a skirmish occurred, when Lieutenant Johnstone and three others were killed, and seven were wounded. On the next day a force of 600 rebels (according to General Cameron—400 according to the Governor) attacked the General's camp. Eventually the natives were driven back, leaving eleven bodies on the field, while our loss was eleven killed and nineteen wounded. This was the only occasion in which the General's forces became engaged with any large number of the natives during this campaign.

            
The Maoris then deserted their villages and took to the native bush, where General Cameron deemed it not prudent to follow them. The Imperial forces were moved along close to the shore, and military posts were established. In February, when General Cameron advanced up the coast, he passed a fortified pa named Wereroa, on his right, which was occupied by about 300 rebels, and in his report to the Governor he said: “I consider my force insufficient to attack so formidable a work as the Wereroa pa.” The Governor proposed to allow the friendly natives to do it, but the General replied that they would be unable to do so. Much correspondence ensued on the subject, and in the end of April General Cameron departed to Auckland.

            
Sir George Grey then determined to attack the pa himself. He raised a “scratch” force of 309 friendly natives, 139 Forest Rangers and twenty-five Wanganui Cavalry, and persuaded Brigadier-General Waddy, who had been left in command on the coast, to lend him 200 Imperial troops, not for active operations, but for parade purposes near the pa, while the Colonial forces attacked it. The Colonial force, under Majors Rookes and McDonnell, was despatched over precipitous country to capture a smaller redoubt at the rear of Wereroa. This they gallantly accomplished without the loss of a single man, while they took fifty Maoris prisoners. As the pa at Wereroa was now untenable the rebels evacuated it, and next morning Sir George Grey's forces entered the pa.

            
The native allies, about 400 strong, built three redoubts up the Wanganui river, and prevented the descent of a large force under Pehi, a rebel chief of high rank. The rebels tried to outflank the friendly natives, who fought gallantly, and drove the rebels from pa to pa. Five of the friendly natives were killed and fifteen of the rebels before the latter surrendered. Pehi, the rebel chief, who had great influence over his tribe, was taken prisoner and sent to Wanganui. He was, however, released by Sir George Grey, on oath of allegiance. This oath was soon broken, and rallying his tribe around him, Pehi plunged into the war again. Governor Grey then sent a force of natives and military settlers to Pipiriki, and occupied that place. Pehi and his force attacked Captain Brassey at Pipiriki, but were repulsed with heavy loss after a short engagement. Our prestige was now being restored, chiefly through Governor Grey's military skill and success, and he issued a proclamation declaring that peace was restored. However, when the messenger conveyed this proclamation to the rebels he was barbarously murdered, and the proclamation was torn to pieces.

          

          

            
The East Coast Campaign.

            
Martial law was now proclaimed in the Opotiki district, on the East Coast on account of the murder of the Rev. K. S. Volkner, a Church of England missionary, by some Hau Hau fanatics. After the capture of Wereroa and Pipiriki, a colonial and native force of 580 men was despatched under Captain Brassey to Opotiki to quell the rebellion. They were joined by a force of about 500 friendly natives under a loyal chief named Mokena. The Hau Hau rebels assembled in great force to oppose them and erected and fortified numerous pas. Our force was attacked, but the rebels were driven back, and several of their pas were captured. During the following month there were successive skirmishes and engagements in which the rebels were invariably beaten with heavy loss. They then retreated inland, pursued by Lieutenant Biggs, with a small force of about 130, while Major Fraser, with a still smaller number, started also in pursuit in another direction. On overtaking the natives Lieutenant Biggs had a spirited skirmish with them, and compelled them to retreat further to another of their pas. Following up the rebels to this pa, which was strongly situated on the top of a hill, Lieut. Biggs advanced to within 150 yards of it, and opened fire, while ten of his volunteers, accompanied by some friendly natives, worked round the hill and scaled its precipitous sides. From this position they poured in an effective fire on the rear of the rebels. At noon Lieut. Biggs offered to spare all who would surrender, and acknowledge allegiance to the Queen. The Ngatiporou, East Coast Natives, then surrendered to the number of 200 men and about 300 women and children. The rebels lost twenty killed and several wounded, while the casualties of the attacking force were only two slightly wounded. Thus the prompt and decisive manner in which the rebels were followed through the bush, and from place to place, by a small body of determined men, did more to demoralise and disorganise them than the slow advance of a large army with all the pomp and circumstance of war.

            
While these events were happening at the south end of the Bay of Plenty, our allies, the Arawas, led by the Resident Magistrate, Mr W. Mair, defeated another party of Han Haus with heavy loss, and captured over eighty prisoners. The Colonial forces and friendly natives continued



the campaign successfully in Poverty Bay, on the East Coast. After several days' fighting, a large body of Hau Haus, numbering 180 fighting men, besides women and children, surrendered. Other successes brought the campaign to a close and the troops returned to their homes. The London Times, in summing up the events recorded, said “The fact that a few hundred militia and natives readily do what General Cameron with his large force of men and appliances was so often urged in vain to do, requires to be stated, in its nakedness, if only as an act of justice to the gallant men of whom the colonial forces and the native contingent are alike composed.”

          

          

            

Te Kooti.

            
But for the calamitous episodes unhappily associated with the name of Te Kooti, trouble between the Maoris and colonists would have ended much sooner than it did. Te Kooti was one of 328 Maori prisoners who were sent in batches to the Chatham Islands between the beginning of March and the end of November, 1866.
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Te Kooti was one of a batch that went in June. From the first the guard over the prisoners was only twenty-six strong, and half of its members were Maoris. Captain Thomas, the officer in charge, asked on the arrival of the second batch of prisoners in April, that the guard should be increased, but instead of complying with this request the Government—the Stafford Ministry of 1865–69—instructed him to send the whole of the military guard back to New Zealand, except a corporal and three privates. The settlers at the Chathams petitioned against this, and Major Edwards, who was sent to the Islands in March, 1867, to report to the Government, recommended that the guard should consist entirely of Europeans, with two officers and thirty privates. The changes made by the Government were not considered satisfactory, for on the 20th of March, 1868, Captain Thomas again wrote to the Defence Minister to be placed in a better position to deal with an unexpected outbreak amongst the prisoners. On the 4th of the following July the prisoners, instigated and led by Te Kooti, revolted, and overpowered the guard, one of whom they tomahawked; and when Captain Thomas himself went on the scene, unarmed, he was seized, bound hand and foot, and placed in the guard whare. The European settlers of the neighbourhood were placed in the local gaol, and by the time they managed to free themselves, Te Kooti and his countrymen were in possession of the schooner “Rifleman,” which had arrived on the previous day with stores from New Zealand. On the following morning a start was made for New Zealand, the master of the “Rifleman” having been left at the Chathams. Te Kooti himself supervised the crew, and especially the man at the wheel; and, meeting with head winds, he first threw overboard all the greenstone ornaments in the ship, and then an old man, a relation of his own, to appease Tongaroa, the Maori seagod. Next day New Zealand was reached at Whareongaonga, about fifteen miles south of Poverty Bay; and after he had taken all the provisions, rifles, and ammunition from the schooner, Te Kooti left her in possession of the crew.

            
It is unnecessary to recount here in detail all that followed on Te Kooti's return to New Zealand. He was treated as a prisoner illegally at large, but refused to surrender to the civil magistrate and was pursued by the military. In the ensuing encounters which took place between his men and the colonial forces, he was sometimes the victor, and was always able, however closely pressed, to effect his personal escape. Many of his countrymen flocked to his ranks, and by many he came to be looked upon as a man destined to rid New Zealand of the white man's rule. The most appalling incident of his savage career was what is known as the Poverty Bay massacre in which, on the night of the 10th of November, 1868, he and his bloodthirsty band barbarously murdered thirty-two Europeans, men, women, and children. Thenceforward till 1871, when Te Kooti escaped into the King Country, the rebel and murderer was pursued by the colonial forces, who, though occasionally defeated with serious loss, repeatedly killed and captured large numbers of his followers. Finally, as a matter of policy, Te Kooti was included in the amnesty granted to Maori offenders in February, 1883.

          

          

            
Later Episodes.

            
After the last encounter between the colonial forces and Te Kooti in the Uriwera Country in March, 1870, and the escape of the arch-rebel himself and twenty of his followers—nineteen of his men were killed and seventy-three taken prisoners—there were intermittent troubles for a number of years in connection with the Maoris. The authority of the law, however, spread steadily; Kereopa, the notorious murderer of Mr Volkner, was captured in November, 1871, tried, and executed on the 5th of January, 1872;
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amicable relations were established with a number of important chiefs who had been undisguisedly antipathetic or openly antagonistic to the Government; and it became increasingly clear that what has since been effected—the harmonious coordination of the races—was only a matter of time. Still colonisation was seriously retarded by the conflict between the races, property was destroyed, and lives were lost. In this last connection it is estimated that, from the 17th of March, 1860, to August, 1871, 460 Europeans were killed, and 766 wounded; 233 friendly natives killed, and 155 wounded; 1785 rebel natives killed, 418 wounded, and 1,447 taken prisoners. The figures referring to the number of rebel natives wounded rest largely on the actual admissions of the enemy and are probably under the mark.

            
In the later seventies a good deal of trouble was caused for a year or two by Te Whiti, the noted tohunga of Parihaka. Te Whiti's influence with his people was partly religious, partly political, and at his instigation, surveyors were removed and the lands of settlers ploughed up by the natives. At last in November, 1881, Mr John Bryce, then Minister of Defence, invested Parihaka with about 2,000 volunteers and constabulary; and Te Whiti and Tohu, his lieutenant, were arrested without bloodshed, and kept in custody till February, 1883. Since then there has been nothing worthy of the name of trouble as between the Maoris and the colonists. Even the men of the wild Uriwera Country, in the fastnesses of which Te Kooti found sanctuary, have for years been on the friendliest of terms with the people and the Government of the colony, and everything in the nature of Maori war is now, happily, a memory of the past. The years of strife are land-marked here and there by some appalling atrocities, but, in the main, the study of the Maori wars brings to light not only the indomitable courage and heroic endurance of the Maori race, but, as traits in Maori character, a military genius and intellectual resourcefulness which often baffled our ablest men and will ever be admired by British hearts. Henceforward, instead of even remotely thinking of fighting against us, the Maoris will be anxious to fight with and for us, and during the recent troubles in South Africa many of them pleadingly asked to be allowed to assist in upholding the integrity of the British Empire. This shows that the Maori wars have left no sedimentary bitterness in the natures of that brave and generous race.
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Arrival of The Maoris in New Zealand.

            
The Maoris have amongst themselves a generally accepted tradition that their ancestors first came to New Zealand in a canoe, named Aotea, in charge of a chief named Turi. They came from Hawaiki, an island in the Pacific, and landed in a bay in the southern part of the North Island, named Te Witakau; between Wanganui and Taranaki. Turi, it is said, named the mountains and rivers in this part of the island. Another canoe, named Tokomaru, in charge of a chief named Manaia, arrived shortly afterwards from Hawaiki. The Maoris found the country inhabited by the Moriori, a very peaceable race, whom they easily subdued, and then took possession of the country.

            
Mere tradition, however, is unsatisfactory in regard to a matter so important as the origin of a people so interesting as the Maoris. Happily, scientific enquiry into the subject is afoot, and there are already indications of truly valuable results. Mr Percy Smith, for many years Surveyor-General of New Zealand, has made researches which show that the main outlines of the history of the Polynesians, of whom the Maoris form the most important section, can be given as a tentative theory. According to this theory, the Polynesian race once inhabited a mainland, which is believed to be India—inland India, the plains and foot-hills of the Himalaya, with their borders touching the sea on the Persian Gulf. Ages must have passed whilst the people dwelt in those parts; they became navigators, crossed the neighbouring seas, acquired many customs from some race of a Semitic origin, together with some words of their language. This neighbouring race was probably dwelling in Arabia and on the shores of the Persian Gulf. In course of time the Aryan race made its appearance in India, and after centuries of contact and partial intermixture, the Polynesians retreated under pressure of the Aryans, southwards and seawards where they acquired increased powers of navigation and the knowledge of surrounding lands. The study of dialects, racial characteristics and other researches leads to the conclusion that the Polynesians then removed in large numbers to Indonesia, and there are grounds for thinking that in the course of centuries they voyaged far into the Pacific, and to the north, and there made their homes. Mr Percy Smith thinks it probable that the original names of Atea, Hawaiki-te-Varinga, Vavau, Herangi, and many others must be looked for in those regions, though he adds that the irruption of other races makes it difficult to trace those early Polynesian names in their first homes in the Pacific. About the first and second centuries of the Christian era, the Malay race, from the west and north-west, pressed in upon the Polynesians, who, after another long period of contest, contact and partial intermixture, again moved on, generally eastward. Some of them are supposed to have retraced their steps and to have finally reached Madagascar, but the great general movement was eastward into the Pacific. There are evidences of two migrations, the first consisting of the less warlike of the Polynesians. Even those, however, must have been men of great resource and daring in regard to navigation, for they are supposed to have reached Tahiti, Hawaii, the Marquesas and New Zealand, with which they are associated as the Moriori, of whom a remnant still inhabits the Chatham Islands. In the course of time the Polynesians, who still remained in Indonesia, also gave way to the pressure of the Malays, though their subsequent conquests in the Pacific show that centuries of contact with the Malays had made them more warlike than their countrymen of the first migration. This second set of Polynesian voyagers took possession of the greater part of the Fijian group, and they, in conjunction with the Tongans of Vavau and Haapai, afterwards practically conquered Samoa. The period of these exploits was, roughly from the tenth to the twelfth century, during which the Fiji-Polynesians, who were not only conquering warriors but successful navigators, are believed to have spread far and wide throughout the Pacific. Many places, including Tahiti, Rarotonga, and eventually New Zealand, were settled by them. These are the people who are generally termed Maoris, who, about the year 1350, reached New Zealand in a fleet of canoes. Though the Moriori, who had arrived before them, were of the same stock, the Maoris proved to be the more masterful branch, and eventually became conquerors of the Moriori and owners of New Zealand.

            
Such are the conclusions which are at least tentatively justified by the researches of Mr Percy Smith and others. As to two important points, there is a general agreement; namely, that about 500 years ago a large number of Maoris reached New Zealand in canoes from the Polynesian islands; and that, on landing, they drove the Moriori into the interior, and took possession of the country round the coast. It is also generally held that the Aotea brought to New Zealand the ancestors of the Taranaki, Wanganui, Ngatiruanui, Ngaraura and Ngatiapa tribes, and if this was the case, then, to judge by the later history of those tribes, the Aotea must have carried men of indomitable daring and women of splendid endurance. Maori tradition has it that as the newcomers increased in numbers, they developed into independent tribes, spread into various parts of the country, and even became hostile to each other. In consequence of this state of things it came to pass that a tribe's right of occupation was always liable to be superseded by force, and all the tribes recognised the acquisition of territory by conquest as just and right. The Toas, or great fighting men of each tribe, were held in almost as much esteem as the hereditary chiefs who, in fact, were in some cases looked upon with less respect than the Toas. Authority was purely tribal, and there was no intertribal polity or anything approaching coordination into a nation among the Maori race. This was the state of affairs when the British took possession of New Zealand in 1840.
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The Northern War.

            
In the latter part of 1844 trouble commenced with the Maoris in the district north of Auckland, and the settlers were threatened, and asked the Government for assistance. 
Hone Heke, a powerful chief,
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whose grandson of the same name was afterwards a member of the Parliament of New Zealand, cut down the flagstaff at Kororareka, on the 10th of January, 1845. This was considered equal to a declaration of war, and a reward of £100 was offered for his apprehension. Heke bitterly resented this; he considered that it was likening him to a pig, which could be bought, and he threatened that, within four months, he would bring 2,000 men to Auckland and cut down the flagstaff there. Fifty soldiers were immediately despatched to Kororareka, and the flagstaff was re-erected. Nevertheless, on the 11th of March, 1845, the town of Kororareka was sacked and destroyed by the Maoris. The property thus destroyed was estimated to be worth about £50,000. Heke, however, not only protected the churches of the Church of England and Roman Catholic, but fought solely against the soldiers and sailors, and even allowed the settlers to escape to the ships without molestation.

            
A second time Heke cut down the flag-staff at Kororareka, when the settlers joined Nene's war party against Heke. Prominent among them was Mr John Webster, of Opononi. Mr Francis White, a blacksmith, became armourer; Mr William Webster manufactured cartridge boxes; and Judge Maning and Mr G. F. Russell supplied the powder. This war party started from the Upper Hokianga and met Heke at Lake Omapere. Each party built a pa, and fighting was daily carried on for two months, during which time Waka Nene held Heke in check while he awaited the arrival of troops.
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The Attack at Okaihau.

            
Martial law was proclaimed on the 26th of April, 1845, and two days later the British troops, under Colonel Hulme, arrived at the Bay of Islands. Next day they went on to Paihia, and Nene went on board to arrange measures for the campaign. The troops disembarked at Onewara beach on the 3rd of May, where they were joined by 108 men from the ships of war. Joining with Nene's party they advanced along the banks of the Kerikeri, and went through the dense forest by a track previously cut by Nene's men, until they reached Heke's pa at Okaihau. They found the pa strongly defended. The attack commenced on the 8th of May, and when the troops took up their position on three sides of the pa, they met a heavy fire from Heke's party. Kawiti, the fighting chief of Heke, had placed a party of warriors behind a breastwork, on the brow of an adjoining hill; and these also opened fire on the troops. The attacking force, however, soon dislodged them, occupied their breastwork, and kept up a sharp fire on the enemy, which was as briskly returned. Kawiti's force was charged and routed; then about 100 Maoris came out of the pa and attacked the small party in the breastwork. Kawiti rallied his force and again came into the conflict. The battle was waged fiercely all day, and in the evening the order was given to retreat, as it would have entailed too serious sacrifice for the small party to have stormed the pa. The troops retired to Kororareka, and the friendly natives brought in the wounded. The losses were very heavy on both sides. To get reinforcements Colonel Hulme returned to Auckland, taking the wounded with him. Great was the surprise of the Aucklanders at the repulse; and the feeling of insecurity increased. In the meantime, however, Waka Nene kept up a continual guerilla warfare with Heke, and in one of these encounters Heke was wounded in the thigh.
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The Fight At Ohaeawai.

            
Owing to the damage and the loss he had sustained Heke erected a new pa at Ohaeawai, seven miles from the Waimate mission station, and nineteen miles from the Bay of Islands. Though built rapidly it was unusually strong. At this stage Colonel Despard arrived from Sydney with more troops. Being senior officer, he took command of the whole force which now consisted of 520 soldiers, thirty sailors from H.M.S. “Hazard” and eighty volunteers from Auckland. After a tedious march of nine days, they arrived at Ohaeawai on the 25th of June. Next day the attack began, but even the 12-pounder artillery made no impression on the pa. A 32-pounder, with another detachment from H.M.S. “Hazard,” arrived a few days later; this proved somewhat more effective. On the 1st of July, strongly against the advice of Waka Nene, Colonel Despard ordered an assault. The storming party consisted of 160 soldiers, under Majors Macpherson and Bridge, and forty sailors and volunteers. This brave party threw themselves in vain against the palisades, and were shot down by the Maoris behind. The result was a disastrous repulse; in ten minutes 107 men were lying dead or disabled before the pa. The Duke of Wellington, as Commander-in-Chief, considered Colonel Despard should have been tried by court martial for ordering this attack in the face of such hopeless difficulties. Heke's party quietly evacuated their pa the next evening, and left some of their noisiest dogs tied up inside, in order to lead the besiegers to believe that they were still in possession. At daylight on the following morning the troops took possession of the pa. In his hour of victory Heke wrote a characteristic letter to the Governor, in which he said: “If you make peace, do not bear malice against your enemy. Cæsar, Pontius Pilate, Nebuchadnazzar, Pharaoh, Nicodemus, Agrippa, and Herod were kings and governors; did they confer any benefit, or did they not kill Jesus Christ?”

            
After the troops had taken possession of Ohaeawai hostilities were delayed, awaiting the arrival of reinforcements. This delay lasted four months. During this time Kawiti erected a new pa at his own place, Ruapekapeka, or the Bat's Nest. This was considerably stronger than Ohaeawai and more difficult of approach. Kawiti's love of war and ancient feuds with our allies, Heke's hatred of the British, and Governor Fitzroy's arbitrary conditions of peace kept them still hostile. As the first Maori warrior who had fought against England's trained soldiers Heke rose high in the esteem of his countrymen.
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The Capture of Ruapekapeka.

            
In June, 1845, it was announced in the Imperial Parliament that a despatch had been forwarded to Governor Fitzroy recalling him.
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Kawiti.


It was further announced that Captain Grey, then Governor of South Australia, would succeed him. On the 18th of November, of the same year, Captain Grey officially landed and assumed office. He immediately adopted vigorous measures to bring the war to an end. In order to restore England's prestige he resolved at all costs to institute a victorious campaign. He stopped the sale of arms to the natives and cut off all communication with Heke and Kawiti, and issued regular rations to the Maori allies under Waka Nene. An available force of 1173 men, with the addition of the friendly allies, now commenced operations against Heke, at Ruapekapeka. Two stockades were built close to the pa, in which were mounted one 18-pounder and one 12-pounder Howitzer. On Saturday, the 10th of January, 1846, the action commenced, and an incessant artillery fire was kept up for the whole day. In the evening it was observed that the guns had made three breaches in the outer palisades. The commanding officer then contemplated an assault, but owing to the remonstrances of the friendly chief, Mohi Tawhai, this idea was abandoned. On the following morning (Sunday) some of Nene's men, cautiously approached the breaches, and not hearing any noise they entered and found the pa unoccupied. Immediately they signalled the troops, who rushed forward and entered the pa before the Maoris, who were engaged in worship outside at the back of the pa, could return. Thus Heke and Kawiti lost possession of their stronghold. Their forces commenced a heavy fire on our men from the surrounding woods, but soon retired to another pa,



which had been erected about three miles away by Heke, in case they should be driven from Ruapekapeka. The British loss was twelve killed and thirty wounded, and Heke's loss was about twenty-five killed.

            
The loss of Ruapekapeka disheartened the followers of Heke, and Kawiti, and the latter wrote to the Governor the following letter:—“Friend! O, my esteemed friend, the Governor, I salute you. Great is my regard for you. Friend Governor, I say let peace be made between you and I. I am filled of your riches (cannon balls); thereupon I say, let you and I make peace. Will you not? Yes. This is the termination of my war against you. Friend Governor, I, Kawiti and Hekitenedo, consent to this good message. This is the end of mine to you. It is finished. To my esteemed friend, the Governor.—Kawiti.”

            
This petition was strongly backed by Tamati Waka Nene, and Sir George Grey thereupon granted a free pardon to all who had been engaged in the rebellion, and allowed them to retain possession of their lands. Thus peace was declared, and Heke's war terminated; no feeling of bitterness remained, and the friendly relations between the Maoris and the settlers north of Auckland have never since been broken.

            
Of the chief actors in this rebellion, Kawiti afterwards professed Christianity, and died in 1853, at the age of nearly four score years. Heke, who never recovered from the effects of the wound he received at Okaihau, died in 1850, near his old field of battle, and he was buried in a cave near the old mission station at Waimate.
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Tamati Waka Nene.

            
Waka Nene, the famous Ngapuhi chieftain, and friendly ally of the British, had
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Tamati Waka Nene.


undertaken to protect the settlers against Heke. He therefore raised a force to punish Heke and his fighting general Kawiti, and pursued them until they were compelled to retire.

            
Wake Nene's valuable services to the Crown throughout the Northern War, and before the British were able to put any soldiers in the field, will ever be remembered. He subsequently received a Government pension of £100 a year, and Sir George Grey was commissioned by the Queen to present him with a beautiful silver chased cup, in recognition of his services. Before his death, in 1871, Waka Nene presented this historic heirloom to his old friend, Mr John Webster, of Opononi.
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Te Werowero, Or Potatau.

            
The racial troubles which arose in connection with the progress of settlement in New Zealand had the effect of promoting intertribal organisation amongst the Maoris.
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Te Werowero, Or Potatau.


Under the guidance of the missionaries some of them had become fairly close students of the Old Testament, and it was natural that they should think of a kingship as a means of attaining the ends they had in view for themselves in relation with or in opposition to the colonists. Accordingly a kingship was set up, and Te Werowero or Potatau was chosen for the office. Te Werowero was of the very noblest blood of the Maori race. No chief in New Zealand could compare with him in genealogy, and in his many relationships with the highest in rank in many tribes. No Maori chief is great unless he can trace his descent to some leader who came in the first canoes from Hawaiki. Te Werowero's ancestor was Hotonui, who came in the canoe Tainui, which made land at Kawhia. One of the most famous men in the line of descent was Tapaue, who had a number of sons who founded tribes. These sons were: Te Rorokitua, who was the ancestor of the Ngatipaoa; Te Putu, Tahau, Te Apa, Huiarangi, Ratua, Hikaurua. The son of Te Putu was Tawhia, whose son was Tuata, whose son was Te Rauanganga, whose son was Te Werowero, the first Maori king. Te Werowero's wife was Whakaawi, a woman of high birth, of the Ngatimahuta tribe.
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Tawhiao.

            
Tawhiao, the second Maori king, was the son of Te Werowero. He was born at Orongokoekoea, at Mokau, about 1825, and was present at the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi. At Rangiriri he warned the Maoris to avoid the British soldiers on the line of the Waikato river, and advised them to go inland, but they would not consent. He was present at the fight at Rangiriri, and afterwards escaped in a canoe. After the war in the Waikato he remained in the King Country, and did not join in the outbreaks which subsequently took place, though he countenanced them. When Sir George Grey was Premier he had an interview with Tawhiao, and an amicable feeling was created. In 1884 Tawhiao visited England, with several other chiefs, and while there he had interviews with many eminent men. On his return he made claims to full dominion over New Zealand. In 1892 Tawhiao accepted a Government pension of £210 a year, but afterwards repudiated the idea of surrendering his authority, and returned the first instalment. At one time he might have had a semi-official position as Native Superintendent, and £1000 a year for life, if he would have surrendered what he regarded as the cause of his country and his countrymen. Tawhiao died on the 26th of August, 1894, at his residence at Parawera. His only son, Tu Tawhiao, predeceased him. Some



time after Tawhiao's death the chief Mahuta was chosen for the kingship, which, however, is now regarded by the majority of the Maoris themselves as being merely a regulative or municipal office. But originally it was of considerable political and military significance, and it has been thought advisable to refer to Te Werowero and Tawhiao before proceeding with the remainder of the history of the Maori wars.
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The Taranaki War.

            
Several years after the close of Heke's war, the Maoris again became troublesome, this time in the Taranaki district. Sir George Grey, during his term of office as Governor, had wisely restricted the sale of arms to the Maoris, but his successor, Governor Gore Browne, unfortunately removed the restriction, with the result that the Maoris accumulated about £50,000 worth of arms and ammunition. This, with the previous stock they had, was sufficient to supply every adult native in the colony with a gun, and sufficient ammunition for several years of active warfare.

            
In November, 1859, Governor Browne interviewed the natives at New Plymouth, and publicly announced that he was prepared to buy some of their land if they wished to sell. A native named Te Teira, then offered to sell a block of 600 acres at Waitara, but Wiremu Kingi, the chief of Te Teira's tribe, refused to allow the land to be sold. The Governor, intimated, however, that if Te Teira proved his title he would buy the land. Some months later, on the title being reported good, a sum of £200 was paid on account to Te Teira. A party of surveyors was sent to mark the boundaries, but they were stopped by Wiremu Kingi, who built a pa on the disputed block.

            
Two companies of the 65th Regiment were sent to quell the disturbance. Thus began a war which ultimately assumed such proportions that Governor Browne had to apply to England for assistance, which was speedily and liberally granted by the British Government.

            
Hostilities continued until the 21st of May, 1861, when a truce was declared. This truce was kept until the 4th of May, 1863, when an armed party of Maoris attacked a small escort convoying some carts between Taranaki and Tataraimaka, and murdered Lieutenant Tragett, Dr Hope, and five British soldiers. This was the signal of an open rebellion among the Maoris, who declared their intention of “driving all the Europeans into the sea, and attacking Auckland.” As a matter of fact, the Waikato rebels on the 11th of July, 1863, despatched a force in two columns to invade Auckland. Next day General Cameron, who had been sent out by the Imperial Government to take command of the British troops in the colony, placed a force of 380 men in the Koheroa ranges to intercept them. On the 17th an engagement took place, and General Cameron's force in the meantime had been increased to 500 men. The Maoris had formed several lines of rifle pits, which they obstinately defended, and were only dislodged from them at the point of the bayonet. So heavy was the fire poured in on the advancing detachment of the 14th Regiment, who were then receiving their first baptism of fire, that the troops wavered. Seeing this, General Cameron rushed to the front, rallied them, and led them on. The Maoris were defeated, and driven in great confusion across the Maramarua creek; some escaped up the Waikato river in canoes, and others along its right bank, after swimming the creek. Instead of following the natives up and routing them, nothing further was done. It was not until the 30th of October, a period of fifteen weeks, after the engagement at Koheroa, that a forward movement was made.
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The Fight At Rangiriri.

            
On the morning of the 20th of November, 1863, General Cameron, with a force of 853 officers and men, proceeded from Meri-Meri up the right bank of the Waikato river to attack the entrenched position of the Maoris at Rangiriri. In this operation Commodore Sir William Wiseman arranged to co-operate with the steamers “Pioneer,” and “Avon,” and four gunboats. The combined forces arrived near Rangiriri at the same time, three o'clock in the afternoon. The position taken up by the Maoris consisted of a main line of entrenchments across the narrow isthmus dividing the Waikato river from Lake Waikare. The line had a double ditch and a high parapet, and a square redoubt of very formidable construction was erected in the centre. Behind the left centre of the main line, and at right angles to it, there was an entrenched line of rifle pits parallel to the Waikato river. After shelling the position for a considerable time with two 12-pounder Armstrongs, and a naval 6-pounder, the two gunboats assisting, General Cameron ordered an assault shortly before 5 p.m. This was gallantly executed by the troops, who had to pass over a distance of 600 yards in the face of heavy fire, the 65th Regiment leading and escalading the enemy's entrenchment on the left. After passing the main line of entrenchment the troops wheeled towards the enemy's centre, and came under fire of the rifle pits facing the Waikato river. They at once stormed and carried the enemy's outer position, and drove the enemy to the centre redoubt, which the Maoris then desperately defended. While the troops were thus engaged 300 men of the 40th Regiment landed from the “Pioneer” and “Avon,” occupied the ridge in the rear, and drove the enemy from that part of the position. The troops who carried the main line were checked by the fire from the centre redoubt; two assaults were made, the first by thirty-six of the Royal Artillery, led by Captain Mercer, and the second by ninety sailors of the Royal Navy, under Commander Mayne. Both attacks were unsuccessful, owing to the formidable nature of the work, and the overwhelming fire which the Maoris poured upon the assailants. Darkness coming on, it was resolved to await for daylight before undertaking further operations, but the troops meanwhile remained in the several positions which they had gained, and by which they almost completely enveloped the enemy. Shortly after daylight on the 21st, the white flag was hoisted by the Maoris, of whom 183 surrendered unconditionally, and gave up their arms, and became prisoners of war. The British losses included 130 in killed and wounded, and amongst those who died of their wounds was the gallant Captain Mercer; but the fall of Rangiriri gave great prestige to the cause of the colonists.

            
From the 8th of December, 1863, to the 27th of January, 1864, General Cameron was detained at Ngaruawahia, awaiting supplies. In the meantime the Maoris were taking up strong positions. When General Cameron arrived at Pikopiko and Paterangi he found these places too strongly fortified to carry by assault. At Awamutu, on the 21st of February, he surprised a force of natives, and pushing on, met a large body of rebels at Rangioahia, whom he defeated with considerable loss. Here Colonel Nixon, of the Colonial Defence Corps, was mortally wounded. Early next morning a force of about 400 Maoris were found entrenching themselves near Rangioahia. A detachment of the 50th Regiment immediately charged them with the bayonet. The natives, after firing one volley, bolted, and were followed and scattered by the Mounted Defence force.
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The Stand At Orakau.

            
On the 30th of March, 1864, information arrived that the Maoris were entrenching themselves with the intention of making a stand at Orakau. Brigadier-General Carey, with a force of 1000 men, made a night march, and arrived before the pa at daylight on the following morning. This
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pa proved to be of unusual strength, with ditches and parapets, and surrounded by a post and rail fence. Three assaults were attempted without success. 
Rewi,



the great fighting general of the King party, was in command of the rebels. Reinforcements of rebels arrived in the afternoon, and kept up a fire from the bush. Heavy firing was kept up on both sides all that day, and the following night. Forty thousand rounds of ammunition were served out to the troops, who had also been reinforced, bringing up their numbers to over 2,000. On the morning of the 2nd of April, the Armstrong guns were brought into play. General Cameron now arrived, and the Maoris were asked to surrender. Their reply was: “This is the word of the Maori: We will fight for ever and ever and ever.” On being urged to send away their women and children, who were in the pa, they replied: “The women will fight as well as we.” Is there anything more heroically touching in ancient or modern history than this?

            
Our troops now got desperate. Through a breach made by our guns, a private threw his cap, and rushed after it; he was immediately followed by about twenty colonial troops. The Maoris retreated to the inner works, and ten of the assaulters were shot down. The Maoris, who had been fighting for three days, almost without food or water, at this stage evacuated their pa in a body, with the chiefs in the centre, and made towards the neighbouring swamp and scrub. The troops started in pursuit with the Colonial Cavalry, a corps of Mounted Artillery, and Colonial Forest Rangers, under Captains Jackson and Von Tempsky. Subsequently the Maoris acknowledged to a loss of 200, while our casualties amounted to sixteen killed and fifty-two wounded. Rewi got away unscathed, and ultimately reached Hangatikei. Virtually this ended the Waikato campaign, and the whole district from Auckland was now held by the British and colonial troops.

            
Up to the month of April, 1864, the Imperial troops had been assisted in the campaign by the Europeans only, but then the Arawa tribe of friendly Maoris came upon the scene, influenced probably by various motives—including tribal jealousy and hatred engendered generations before, and unabated by lapse of years, the intense desire of all Maoris to possess guns and ammunition, and their still greater love of war.
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The Gate Pa.

            
After the fall of Orakau, the Tauranga natives, who had been assisting the Waikatos, returned home, and began to threaten Lieut.-Colonel Greer, who had just arrived at Tauranga with a force of 500 men, who had been sent by sea from Auckland. General Cameron at once sent reinforcements, and went himself to Tauranga. On the 27th of April, he reconnoitered the position of the natives, and found them entrenched about three miles from Te Papa. The Maoris had thrown up earthworks, and constructed an oblong redoubt, about seventy yards long and thirty wide, which was well palisaded, and surrounded by a post and rail fence. Between the side faces of the redoubt and the adjoining swamps, rifle pits were constructed. This was the celebrated Gate Pa. The number of Maoris engaged in this pa is said not to have exceeded 300, while our troops numbered, with officers, 1695. In addition, General Cameron had a battery of artillery, consisting of one 110-pounder, two 40-pounder, and two 6-pounder Armstrongs; two 24-pounder Howitzers, two 8-inch mortars, and six cohorn mortars. On the night of the 27th, General Cameron's troops completely surrounded the pa, and at 6.30 the following morning the natives opened fire on them. Simultaneously the four batteries opened fire, which was mainly directed at a flag staff which the Maoris, with their usual cunning, had placed about 100 yards outside in the rear of the pa. The ruse was not discovered until two hours later, and much of the firing was extremely wild, the shells falling from 1,000 to 2,000 yards beyond the redoubt. During all this time the natives had only fired twice at long
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intervals. At 4 p.m. a breach was made in one of the angles, and an assault was ordered. The storming party comprised 300 sailors, marines, and privates; and 170 others were extended to keep down the enemy's fire, while 300 more followed as a reserve. Other detachments were drawn up in the rear to prevent the escape of the Maoris. With a ringing cheer, which their comrades re-echoed all over the field, the troops gained the breach. The natives attempted to escape at the rear, but finding that impossible, they turned and charged the assaulting column. Then a sudden panic seized our troops, who turned and rushed away in a headlong flight. Captain Hamilton, with a naval brigade, at this moment reached the breach, but he fell with a bullet through his brain. The natives then followed up and committed fearful execution on our men. When General Cameron had rallied his forces it was too late to renew the assault. During the dark night which followed the Maoris escaped. The losses on both sides have been variously estimated. Sir William Fox gives ours at twenty-seven killed and sixty-six wounded; the Maoris, thirty killed and forty wounded. On the other hand, Lieutenant Gudgeon gives the losses on the British side as thirty-five killed, and seventy-six wounded, and states that the Maoris had twenty killed and six wounded.
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The Troops at Te Ranga.

            
On the 21st of June Lieut. Colonel Greer, who had been left in command at Tauranga, heard that the natives were entrenching themselves at Te Ranga, about three miles inland from the Gate Pa, and in a manner much similar. He resolved to dislodge them before they had time to finish the redoubt; and advanced immediately with two detachments and a corps of Colonial cavalry. After a few rounds from a big gun he ordered an assault, which was gallantly carried out. The engagement lasted only a few minutes; the natives were caught in the trenches, and a fierce hand-to-hand conflict took place; while the rebels who fled were followed and cut down by the cavalry. One hundred and nine dead bodies of the enemy were found and buried on the field; nineteen wounded natives (twelve of whom subsequently died from their wounds) and eleven who were unhurt were taken prisoners. Our loss amounted to eight killed and thirty-nine wounded.

            
During this time our allies, the Arawas, had been engaged in several fierce conflicts with the Ngatiporou and Uriwera tribes, and had inflicted severe losses upon them. Tohi, a brave loyal old chief, was killed in one of these successful encounters. The rebels then retreated to the hills in the Waikato borders, and our troops held all the country from Auckland to the Waikato plains.
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The Wanganui-Taranaki Campaign.

            
While the Waikato campaign was in progress nothing of any importance was attempted in Taranaki. At last, however, the Government decided that it was necessary to subdue and punish the natives who were actively rebellious in the Wanganui and Taranaki districts. General Cameron then had a combined Imperial and Colonial force of 6,000 soldiers, in addition to nearly 1,000 friendly native allies and the local militia. This number did not include about 5000 other troops, then stationed in other parts of the colony. The rebel natives numbered altogether about 1500, of whom, possibly, 700 were fighting men. Before operations were ready the Maoris challenged our troops to fight. On the 24th of January, 1865, a skirmish occurred, when Lieutenant Johnstone and three others were killed, and seven were wounded. On the next day a force of 600 rebels (according to General Cameron—400 according to the Governor) attacked the General's camp. Eventually the natives were driven back, leaving eleven bodies on the field, while our loss was eleven killed and nineteen wounded. This was the only occasion in which the General's forces became engaged with any large number of the natives during this campaign.

            
The Maoris then deserted their villages and took to the native bush, where General Cameron deemed it not prudent to follow them. The Imperial forces were moved along close to the shore, and military posts were established. In February, when General Cameron advanced up the coast, he passed a fortified pa named Wereroa, on his right, which was occupied by about 300 rebels, and in his report to the Governor he said: “I consider my force insufficient to attack so formidable a work as the Wereroa pa.” The Governor proposed to allow the friendly natives to do it, but the General replied that they would be unable to do so. Much correspondence ensued on the subject, and in the end of April General Cameron departed to Auckland.

            
Sir George Grey then determined to attack the pa himself. He raised a “scratch” force of 309 friendly natives, 139 Forest Rangers and twenty-five Wanganui Cavalry, and persuaded Brigadier-General Waddy, who had been left in command on the coast, to lend him 200 Imperial troops, not for active operations, but for parade purposes near the pa, while the Colonial forces attacked it. The Colonial force, under Majors Rookes and McDonnell, was despatched over precipitous country to capture a smaller redoubt at the rear of Wereroa. This they gallantly accomplished without the loss of a single man, while they took fifty Maoris prisoners. As the pa at Wereroa was now untenable the rebels evacuated it, and next morning Sir George Grey's forces entered the pa.

            
The native allies, about 400 strong, built three redoubts up the Wanganui river, and prevented the descent of a large force under Pehi, a rebel chief of high rank. The rebels tried to outflank the friendly natives, who fought gallantly, and drove the rebels from pa to pa. Five of the friendly natives were killed and fifteen of the rebels before the latter surrendered. Pehi, the rebel chief, who had great influence over his tribe, was taken prisoner and sent to Wanganui. He was, however, released by Sir George Grey, on oath of allegiance. This oath was soon broken, and rallying his tribe around him, Pehi plunged into the war again. Governor Grey then sent a force of natives and military settlers to Pipiriki, and occupied that place. Pehi and his force attacked Captain Brassey at Pipiriki, but were repulsed with heavy loss after a short engagement. Our prestige was now being restored, chiefly through Governor Grey's military skill and success, and he issued a proclamation declaring that peace was restored. However, when the messenger conveyed this proclamation to the rebels he was barbarously murdered, and the proclamation was torn to pieces.
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The East Coast Campaign.

            
Martial law was now proclaimed in the Opotiki district, on the East Coast on account of the murder of the Rev. K. S. Volkner, a Church of England missionary, by some Hau Hau fanatics. After the capture of Wereroa and Pipiriki, a colonial and native force of 580 men was despatched under Captain Brassey to Opotiki to quell the rebellion. They were joined by a force of about 500 friendly natives under a loyal chief named Mokena. The Hau Hau rebels assembled in great force to oppose them and erected and fortified numerous pas. Our force was attacked, but the rebels were driven back, and several of their pas were captured. During the following month there were successive skirmishes and engagements in which the rebels were invariably beaten with heavy loss. They then retreated inland, pursued by Lieutenant Biggs, with a small force of about 130, while Major Fraser, with a still smaller number, started also in pursuit in another direction. On overtaking the natives Lieutenant Biggs had a spirited skirmish with them, and compelled them to retreat further to another of their pas. Following up the rebels to this pa, which was strongly situated on the top of a hill, Lieut. Biggs advanced to within 150 yards of it, and opened fire, while ten of his volunteers, accompanied by some friendly natives, worked round the hill and scaled its precipitous sides. From this position they poured in an effective fire on the rear of the rebels. At noon Lieut. Biggs offered to spare all who would surrender, and acknowledge allegiance to the Queen. The Ngatiporou, East Coast Natives, then surrendered to the number of 200 men and about 300 women and children. The rebels lost twenty killed and several wounded, while the casualties of the attacking force were only two slightly wounded. Thus the prompt and decisive manner in which the rebels were followed through the bush, and from place to place, by a small body of determined men, did more to demoralise and disorganise them than the slow advance of a large army with all the pomp and circumstance of war.

            
While these events were happening at the south end of the Bay of Plenty, our allies, the Arawas, led by the Resident Magistrate, Mr W. Mair, defeated another party of Han Haus with heavy loss, and captured over eighty prisoners. The Colonial forces and friendly natives continued



the campaign successfully in Poverty Bay, on the East Coast. After several days' fighting, a large body of Hau Haus, numbering 180 fighting men, besides women and children, surrendered. Other successes brought the campaign to a close and the troops returned to their homes. The London Times, in summing up the events recorded, said “The fact that a few hundred militia and natives readily do what General Cameron with his large force of men and appliances was so often urged in vain to do, requires to be stated, in its nakedness, if only as an act of justice to the gallant men of whom the colonial forces and the native contingent are alike composed.”
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Te Kooti.

            
But for the calamitous episodes unhappily associated with the name of Te Kooti, trouble between the Maoris and colonists would have ended much sooner than it did. Te Kooti was one of 328 Maori prisoners who were sent in batches to the Chatham Islands between the beginning of March and the end of November, 1866.
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Te Kooti was one of a batch that went in June. From the first the guard over the prisoners was only twenty-six strong, and half of its members were Maoris. Captain Thomas, the officer in charge, asked on the arrival of the second batch of prisoners in April, that the guard should be increased, but instead of complying with this request the Government—the Stafford Ministry of 1865–69—instructed him to send the whole of the military guard back to New Zealand, except a corporal and three privates. The settlers at the Chathams petitioned against this, and Major Edwards, who was sent to the Islands in March, 1867, to report to the Government, recommended that the guard should consist entirely of Europeans, with two officers and thirty privates. The changes made by the Government were not considered satisfactory, for on the 20th of March, 1868, Captain Thomas again wrote to the Defence Minister to be placed in a better position to deal with an unexpected outbreak amongst the prisoners. On the 4th of the following July the prisoners, instigated and led by Te Kooti, revolted, and overpowered the guard, one of whom they tomahawked; and when Captain Thomas himself went on the scene, unarmed, he was seized, bound hand and foot, and placed in the guard whare. The European settlers of the neighbourhood were placed in the local gaol, and by the time they managed to free themselves, Te Kooti and his countrymen were in possession of the schooner “Rifleman,” which had arrived on the previous day with stores from New Zealand. On the following morning a start was made for New Zealand, the master of the “Rifleman” having been left at the Chathams. Te Kooti himself supervised the crew, and especially the man at the wheel; and, meeting with head winds, he first threw overboard all the greenstone ornaments in the ship, and then an old man, a relation of his own, to appease Tongaroa, the Maori seagod. Next day New Zealand was reached at Whareongaonga, about fifteen miles south of Poverty Bay; and after he had taken all the provisions, rifles, and ammunition from the schooner, Te Kooti left her in possession of the crew.

            
It is unnecessary to recount here in detail all that followed on Te Kooti's return to New Zealand. He was treated as a prisoner illegally at large, but refused to surrender to the civil magistrate and was pursued by the military. In the ensuing encounters which took place between his men and the colonial forces, he was sometimes the victor, and was always able, however closely pressed, to effect his personal escape. Many of his countrymen flocked to his ranks, and by many he came to be looked upon as a man destined to rid New Zealand of the white man's rule. The most appalling incident of his savage career was what is known as the Poverty Bay massacre in which, on the night of the 10th of November, 1868, he and his bloodthirsty band barbarously murdered thirty-two Europeans, men, women, and children. Thenceforward till 1871, when Te Kooti escaped into the King Country, the rebel and murderer was pursued by the colonial forces, who, though occasionally defeated with serious loss, repeatedly killed and captured large numbers of his followers. Finally, as a matter of policy, Te Kooti was included in the amnesty granted to Maori offenders in February, 1883.
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Later Episodes.

            
After the last encounter between the colonial forces and Te Kooti in the Uriwera Country in March, 1870, and the escape of the arch-rebel himself and twenty of his followers—nineteen of his men were killed and seventy-three taken prisoners—there were intermittent troubles for a number of years in connection with the Maoris. The authority of the law, however, spread steadily; Kereopa, the notorious murderer of Mr Volkner, was captured in November, 1871, tried, and executed on the 5th of January, 1872;
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amicable relations were established with a number of important chiefs who had been undisguisedly antipathetic or openly antagonistic to the Government; and it became increasingly clear that what has since been effected—the harmonious coordination of the races—was only a matter of time. Still colonisation was seriously retarded by the conflict between the races, property was destroyed, and lives were lost. In this last connection it is estimated that, from the 17th of March, 1860, to August, 1871, 460 Europeans were killed, and 766 wounded; 233 friendly natives killed, and 155 wounded; 1785 rebel natives killed, 418 wounded, and 1,447 taken prisoners. The figures referring to the number of rebel natives wounded rest largely on the actual admissions of the enemy and are probably under the mark.

            
In the later seventies a good deal of trouble was caused for a year or two by Te Whiti, the noted tohunga of Parihaka. Te Whiti's influence with his people was partly religious, partly political, and at his instigation, surveyors were removed and the lands of settlers ploughed up by the natives. At last in November, 1881, Mr John Bryce, then Minister of Defence, invested Parihaka with about 2,000 volunteers and constabulary; and Te Whiti and Tohu, his lieutenant, were arrested without bloodshed, and kept in custody till February, 1883. Since then there has been nothing worthy of the name of trouble as between the Maoris and the colonists. Even the men of the wild Uriwera Country, in the fastnesses of which Te Kooti found sanctuary, have for years been on the friendliest of terms with the people and the Government of the colony, and everything in the nature of Maori war is now, happily, a memory of the past. The years of strife are land-marked here and there by some appalling atrocities, but, in the main, the study of the Maori wars brings to light not only the indomitable courage and heroic endurance of the Maori race, but, as traits in Maori character, a military genius and intellectual resourcefulness which often baffled our ablest men and will ever be admired by British hearts. Henceforward, instead of even remotely thinking of fighting against us, the Maoris will be anxious to fight with and for us, and during the recent troubles in South Africa many of them pleadingly asked to be allowed to assist in upholding the integrity of the British Empire. This shows that the Maori wars have left no sedimentary bitterness in the natures of that brave and generous race.
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Exclusive of what may be termed the military raw material of the New Zealand Militia, the effective military forces of the Auckland provincial district consist of the Permanent Militia, Permanent Artillery, the Unattached Active List, District Reserve Corps, Honorary Unattached List, and the Volunteers, of whom there are, in town and country—including the members of the members of the Auckland Garrison Band, the Drum and Fife Band, and the 163 members of the St. John's College, King's College, and Auckland Grammar School Cadets—2,361 of all ranks. Lieut.-Colonel Banks is the officer in command of the district.

            
The present establishment of the Volunteer force in the City of Auckland itself, and the dates of the formation of the various corps are as follows : — No. 1 Victoria Rifles, February 15, 1866; “A” Battery Artillery, and the Auckland Naval Artillery, February 20, 1866; Ponsonby Naval Artillery, April 22, 1885; Devonport Sub-Marine Miners, July 7, 1894; College Rifles, June 17, 1897; No. 1 New Zealand Native Rifles, November 23, 1897; Devonport Coast Guards, February 10, 1898; No. 2 New Zealand Native Rifles, April 14, 1898; Auckland Rifles, April 21, 1898; No. 3 New Zealand Native Rifles, and the No. 2 Victoria Rifles, April 28, 1898; Auckland Bearer Corps, May 4, 1898; Newton Rifles, October 1, 1898; Auckland Mounted Rifles, October 31, 1898; Auckland Engineers, November 8, 1898; Seddon Horse Mounted Rifles, May 9, 1900. There are also three corps of cadets, namely, St. John's College Cadets, King's College Cadets, and the Auckland Grammar School Cadets; and two bands—the Garrison Band and the Drum and Fife Band.
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Lieutenant-Colonel J. H. Banks,
             
 Commanding the Auckland District, retired from the 7th Dragoon Guards (Princess Royal's) in December, 1891, and came to New Zealand from India in February, 1892. He was appointed to the command of the Auckland district on the 1st of April, 1897, with the rank of Lieutenant-Colonel in the New Zealand militia. Lieutenant-Colonel Banks served
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Lieut.-Col. J. H. 
Banks.


in the 2nd Battalion 24th Foot, (South Wales Borderers) in India, Burmah, and England, from June, 1867, to March, 1875; in the 12th (Prince of Wales) Royal Lancers from March, 1875, to September, 1880, as adjutant, when he was selected for promotion to captain of the 7th Dragoon Guards (Princess Royal's) which he joined in England in 1880 and accompanied to Egypt, where he took part in the campaign. He had his horse shot under him at the action of Mahsomah; was present at the action of Kassassin; received the medal, bronze star, and Medjidie 4th class, and was mentioned in despatches. He went Home with his regiment, and was afterwards in India, whence he came to New Zealand.
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Permanent Militia.
              The Permanent Militia at Auckland comprises the sub-marine mining establishment at North Head, Devonport, and the Permanent Artillery at Fort Cautley. The full strength of the former is twenty-five men; non-commissioned officers and sappers. In the Permanent Artillery there is a body of fifty men; non-commissioned officers and gunners.
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Captain Coyle,
              who is in charge of the Permanent Force, was born in England, and was for several years connected with sub-marine mining at Woolwich. In 1897 he came to New Zealand under a special engagement with the Government for five years.
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Captain Mckenzie,
              who is in charge of the Permanent Artillery at Fort Cautley, came to New Zealand in 1897 under a three years' engagement with the Government.
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New Zealand Militia.

            

              
              


                
New Zealand Militia.
                The New Zealand Militia comprises practically the whole colony's adult manhood, capable of bearing arms in the defence of the country. This force would only be called up in case of the direst necessity. The New Zealand Army list gives the names of all officers on the Active and Unattached Lists.

            

            

              
              

                

Lieutenant-Colonel Forster Yelverton Goring,
               
 of the New Zealand Militia, was born in Ireland on the 23rd of July, 1846, and is a son of Mr Forster Goring, of Highden, Sussex, and the Hon. Sydney Eloise Yelverton. In
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1860 he came to New Zealand. On the outbreak of the Maori war Lieutenant-Colonel Goring joined the Auckland Volunteers, and went through the campaign.



He received a commission in September, 1863, as Ensign in Pitt's First Four Hundred (afterwards the 1st Waikato Regiment of Militia) and served through the Waikato campaign under General Cameron. In January, 1865, he went to Wanganui, served through the West Coast campaign, and was present at the actions of Ngukumara, Patea, under General Chute; in 1866, Lieut.-Colonel Goring took part in several engagements including that at Otepawa, and accompanied the General in his march round Mount Egmont. Rejoining his regiment at Tauranga in the same year, he was present at Ake-Ake and other actions. In the latter part of 1867 Lieut.-Colonel Goring was appointed Sub-Inspector of the New Zealand Armed Constabulary, with the rank of Captain. He went to Opotiki, and under Colonels St. John and Fraster, saw service in the Uriwera country. On the outbreak of hostilities on the West Coast, in 1868, he was sent there, and was present at Te Ngutu-O-te-Manu under Lieut.-Colonel McDonnell (N.Z.C.), where, under fire, he helped to carry Captain Rowan, who was badly wounded, off the field. He served under Major-General Sir George Whitmore; and at Moturoa, the officer of No. 1 Division being ill. Lieut.-Colonel Goring took command of it during the engagement. He was present at the taking of Ngatapa in Poverty Bay, where Te Kooti was beaten but escaped. Colonel Goring then returned to the West Coast and took part in the actions at Woodall's Redoubt, Te Ngaire, and other places. In 1874 Lieut.-Colonel Goring was appointed inspector, with the rank of Major, and took command of the Opotiki district, and was afterwards at Waikaremoana, and various camps on the coast. In 1881 he marched to Parihaka and was in command of a camp there until 1885. In that year the New Zealand Permanent Artillery was raised, and Lieut.-Colonel Goring was appointed its first commanding officer, and he claims to be the founder of that branch of the service in New Zealand. He was next appointed as commanding officer of the Dunedin District, and in 1890 was transferred to Auckland, where he assumed the command of the Permanent Artillery, the forts, and the volunteers. Unfortunately, through failing eyesight, Lieut.-Colonel Goring was obliged to retire from the command in 1897. He will always be remembered as a brave and fearless man and a capable soldier. Since his retirement Lieut.-Colonel Goring has resided at Whangarei, where he is now engaged in fruit growing. In 1880 he married Bertha Virginia, a daughter of the late Major Herbert Dobie.

            

            

              
              


                
Major Lusk,
                New Zealand Militia, who is on the staff of the Government Survey Department in the Auckland District, rendered invaluable services to the colony in the days of the Waikato war. He and the late Judge Maning formed a scheme for marching 1200 Ngapuhi warriors through the Waikato to Taranaki, with a view to the extinction of the rebellion by placing the Kingite Maoris between two overwhelming forces. The Government of the day, however, refused the offer, though it afterwards wished to accept it, but by that time the Ngapuhis had decided to remain neutral. In 1863, Major Lusk had succeeded in organising his fellow settlers in the Waikato into an effective corps named the Forest Rifle volunteers, of which he was elected captain. This corps did excellent service, and was victorious in several memorable engagements with the Maoris, especially those which took place in the dense bush near Mauku on the 9th of September, 1863, and at Bald Hills on the 23rd of October. The action at Bald Hills was one of the most desperate of the war; eight of Captain Lusk's men were killed and many were wounded, while the Maoris had thirty-two killed and so many wounded that they fled across the Waikato river and left the district. The Maoris had 350 warriors in the engagement, and Captain Lusk had only sixty-seven volunteers with him at the time. This engagement had far reaching effects, and was mentioned in the most special manner in the despatches of General Cameron and Governor Sir George Grey. Captain Lusk was afterwards, on account of his special knowledge of the New Zealand bush, placed in command of the transport at Te Awamutu, and was present at the historic siege of Orakau. In 1868, while in command of the Waiuku and Wairoa districts, he marched 300 men a distance of nearly thirty miles within twenty-four hours, and was in that way instrumental in compelling Te Kooti to leave the district. It was a brilliant piece of work, and he and his men received the special thanks of the Government for their achievement. Major Lusk retired from the command of the Waiuku and Wairoa districts in 1878.

            

            

              
              

                

Major James Pirie,
               
 New Zealand Militia, was born in 1836 in Guernsey (Channel Islands), and is a son of Mr. Andrew Pirie, of Banffshire, Scotland. After receiving
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his education, Major Plrie joined the 1st Regiment Light Infantry Royal Guerusey Militia, and became captain and adjutant in 1865, and major a few years later. On the re-organisation of the Channel Islands Militia in 1878, he retired on a pension, receiving a valuable plano as a testimonial from the non-commissioned officers and men of his regiment, in addition to presentations from his brother officers, and from various rifle clubs and associations which he had founded or supported. During his residence in Guernsey the major initiated the Guerusey Rifle Association—now a very important and prosperous institution; being an expert rifle shot, he possesses many valuable trophies and champion medals. Arriving in New Zealand in 1879, Major Pirie was soon afterwards appointed Musketry Instructor for the Auckland district. At a later date he became Inspector of Ammunition, and is now a member of the local board of officers' examination. In 1896 he was selected as commanding officer of the attacking force at the Auckland Easter encampment. The major has also held various non-military positions in New Zealand. He was for many years returning officer for the borough of New-market, and, in Masonry, now (1897) holds the position of past district grand organist, E.C.; he also compiled and introduced a musical ritual now adopted in all Auckland lodges. Major Pirie was married in 1865 to Miss Minna Carey, eldest daughter of Mr. John Carey, a landed proprietor and lord of the manor of Sainte Hélenè, Guernsey, and has four children. The eldest son, Mr. Carey James Pirie, who holds certificates as chief engineer in the Royal Naval Reserve, is in the Chinese Imperial Revenue Service.

            

            

              
              

                

Captain Samuel Charles Schofield,
               
 of the New Zealand Militia, was born in Tasmania and educated at Hobart. He volunteered for service in New Zealand in 1863, and joined the 3rd Waikato Militia, who were then engaged in the Maori war. Shortly afterwards he was transferred to the Commissariat Transport Corps for both land and water service, and later was re-transferred at his own request to his old regiment. On the conclusion of the war Captain Schofield was retained as Drill Instructor in the Waikato. About 1868 he went to the Thames goldfields, and remained there for seventeen years. He took a most active part in the raising of the Thames Scottish Rifles, in which he first acted as drill instructor. After a time he was appointed sub-lieutenant, and later on lieutenant. On the formation of the Engineer Volunteer Militia for service on the Waikato, he was appointed to command the No. 3 Company. The corps was raised by Major Cooper, under instructions from the Government. Later on Captain Schofield was appointed adjutant, and held the position until the disbandment of the corps. He then rejoined the Thames Scottish Rifles as adjutant, and held that position until the disbandment of that body at their own request. During the Parihaka trouble he was attached to the Thames Contingent as captain and adjutant, and on his arrival at Parihaka he was appointed to a similar position in the No.



2 Battalion, and was one of Major Pitt's staff at the advance to Parihaka. When young Williams was shot at and wounded by the Maoris in the Upper Thames district,
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Captain Schofield was, under instructions from Major Murray, entrusted with the duty of distributing to the settlers the arms supplied by the Government. About 1885 he removed to Auckland, where he accepted the position which he still holds in the Auckland Hospital. Although always greatly interested in volunteering, Captain Schofield, after his arrival in Auckland, refrained from taking an active part until 1899, when he assisted Major White (now Lieut.-Colonel White) at the Easter Encampment in Potter's Paddock, and he also acted as major and adjutant under the same gentleman at the Faster Encampment of 1900. Capt. Schofield holds the New Zealand (Imperial) Medal for services in the commissariat corps. He is a Freemason of many years' standing, and has passed through all the chairs in the Order of Foresters. Captain Schofield is married and has a large family.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain John Whitney,
                of the New Zealand Militia, is the founder of the Colonial Ammunition Company, Ltd., and is referred to in an article on that company printed in this section. Captain Whitney received a commission in the 2nd Battalion, 8th Royal North Lincolnshire Regiment, in 1859. He served several years in this regiment and saw some active service.
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New Zealand Volunteers

            

              
The inception of the Volunteer force in New Zealand dates as far back as the year 1856, or about three years prior to its institution in the Mother Country, and may be attributed to the forethought of Dr John Logan Campbell. That interesting and notable man did many things indicating public spirit and foresight, and his initiation of the volunteer movement was undoubtedly one of them. During the year 1856, when Dr Campbell was Superintendent of the Province of Auckland, Governor Gore Browne received a despatch from the Secretary of State for the Colonies, stating that in future New Zealand would have to pay the cost of Imperial troops, or do without their assistance in dealing with the Maoris. As Superintendent, Dr Campbell received a copy of this despatch, and, in view of the fact that the Colony must, sooner or later, become self-reliant in the matter of defence, caused a sum of £1000 to be placed on the estimates, for the purpose of purchasing a supply of rifles of the best class, with a view to arming a body of efficient marksmen, consisting of such of the militia as might volunteer to form a rifle corps. Colonel Hay, of the Hythe Rifle School, was entrusted with the selection of the weapon; and in drawing up a memorandum for the Colonel's guidance in the matter, Dr Campbell observed that, in order to create a rivalry among the proposed rifle clubs, an annual prize for competitive marksmanship should be given. This prize, which consisted of a rifle and silver vase, Dr Campbell provided, in September, 1856, for competition amongst members of the rifle corps formed at his official suggestion. To this day these prizes, or their substitutes, are competed for, and are known as Dr Campbell's Silver Vase and Champion Belt. The first competition was held in 1859, the year in which the great volunteer movement took definite shape in England, which had in a sense been forestalled in the matter by New Zealand. Another point worth noting in this connection is that competitions, akin to those instituted by Dr Campbell in 1856, have been proposed during the present year (1900) in England, as a means of raising efficient volunteers and avoiding conscription.

              
Dr Campbell's plan proved so far successful as to become a means of encouraging, subsequently, the formation of Volunteer Rifle companies. These companies have had a varied existence up to the present time, being always influenced by the barometrical pressure of the approach of war, when the dormant military spirit of the people has always asserted itself, and the slender ranks of the various companies have been filled to their authorised strength. The premier company bore the personal name of Her Majesty the Queen, and it still exists. It, together with four other companies numbered respectively 1, 2, 3, and 6, with the addition of an efficient naval corps, long constituted the effective strength of Auckland's volunteer organisation; and, as it was supplemented by militia, of the first, second, and third class, it formed a fairly effective force for ordinary requirements.

              
During the call to arms to check the native rebellion in the year 1863, and following year, these companies proved to be very useful auxiliaries to the regular force of the Empire, then on service in the North Island, and were almost, if not absolutely, the first volunteer companies in the Empire to gain the distinction of serving under fire, in conjunction with the regular troops of the line. The members of the No. 1 company (1st Royals), together with detachments of the No. 3 and 6 companies, were the more fortunate in this respect, receiving, as they did, their baptismal fire, in company with the 18th Royal Irish regiment, while defeating a large force of the rebels, at the defence of the Galloway Redoubt and Stockade, and subsequently in the attack and capture of the native settlement of Otau, in the Southern Wairoa district. In these encounters neither the Regulars nor Volunteers sustained a single casualty, but inflicted a severe chastisement upon the rebels, who subsequently admitted a loss of fourteen killed and forty-one wounded. For these services the men, when peace was restored, received, in addition to the grant of land conferred upon all Volunteers who had fulfilled certain conditions of service, the decoration bestowed alike upon the local and regular troops. At the close of the war, the various corps subsided into a normal condition, and the personnel of the Volunteer force was from time to time influenced by the fluctuating nature of the population. The efficiency or otherwise of the various succeeding commandants—of whom Auckland has, up to the present time, had fourteen—was subject to a corresponding influence.

              
During more recent periods, and at the present time, under the dominant influence of war prevailing in South Africa, the status of the troops throughout the colony, has been largely fostered in point of numbers and of efficiency. A comparison will show that, whilst in earlier times, the establishment in Auckland was confined to the few infantry corps and the naval company, the effective force of the present day comprises the various branches of artillery, mounted infantry, engineers, infantry, naval, sub-marine mining, and torpedo corps, which are well represented in both town and country districts.

            

            

              
Permanent Staff.

              

                
                


                  

Captain James Reid,
                  Adjutant of the Auckland District, was born in Berwickshire, Scotland, in 1850. At the age of thirteen he was enrolled as bugler in the 1st Berwickshire Rifle Volunteers. He joined the ranks in 1867, and was associated with the Dumbarton Artillery, 1st Haddingtonshire Rifle Volunteers, in the F. Company of which he received his commission on the 20th of March, 1877. In 1886 he left for New Zealand. Captain Reid formed and commanded the Hamilton Light Infantry Volunteers from 1887 to 1900. During the last three years of this service the corps was changed to that of the No 1 Waikato Mounted Infantry. Captain Reid was also instrumental in forming the second and third companies of the Waikato Mounted Infantry. In January 1900, he was transferred to the Permanent Staff as District Adjutant of Auckland.
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Brigade Sergt.-Major Robert Carpenter.
                  Drill Instructor, was born in Gloucestershire, England, in 1850. He joined the Royal Marine Light Infantry in 1866, and served with them from 1870 to 1875 in China and Japan, and from 1875 to 1879 in South Africa. He was transferred to the Middlesex Regiment as sergeant-major (Warrant Officer) in 1883, and served on the permanent staff till 1892. Then he was posted to the depot as regimental district sergeant-major, and appointed acting garrison sergeant-major at Hounslow, where he remained until December, 1894, when he was engaged for his present position.

              

              

                
                


                  

Sergt.-Major A. Cheater,
                  Drill Instructor of the New Zealand Volunteers, Auckland District, was born at Warley, Essex, England, in 1869. He joined the Manchester Regiment in 1885, and served in India from December, 1887, to February, 1897. Then he returned to Aldershot, and was sent thence to depot at Ashton-under-Lyne, Lancashire, as colour-sergeant on the permanent staff. He was engaged by the New Zealand Government through the War Office in August, 1899, as drill instructor, for a term of three years.

              

              

                
                


                  
Sergt.-Major Hoar,
                  of the Permanent Staff, and formerly of the Hampshire Regiment, arrived in New Zealand in October, 1899, under a three years' engagement with the Government of the Colony.

              

            

            

              
Unattached Active List.

              

                
                


                  

Lieut.-Colonel P. Dignan,
                  of the Unattached Active List, is fully referred to elsewhere in this volume as an exmayor of Auckland.

              

              

                
                


                  
Major Harris,
                  who is on the Unattached Active List, is fully referred to as a member of the Legislative Council.

              

              

                
                

                  

Captain John Grant,
                 
 Ex-Adjutant of the Auckland Militia and Volunteer District, was born at Hillsborough, in the county of Down, Ireland, and educated at St. John's school in his native parish. At the age of seventeen he enlisted in Her Majesty's Royal County Down Regiment in January, 1855, and served for ten years, during eight of which he was sergeant. When holding the rank of colour and pay-sergeant, he was discharged at his own request. He emigrated to Auckland, where he arrived early in 1865. In 1867 he took up his residence at the Thames, where for a short time he engaged in prospecting for gold, but was not one of the lucky ones. In the following year he assisted in the formation of the first local volunteer corps (the Thames Rifle Rangers) immediately after the massacre by Te Kooti at Poverty Bay. Several other volunteer corps were soon formed, and a district staff was appointed by Government, who offered Mr Grant the position of Sergeant-major and instructor. He accepted the offer and afterwards became adjutant of the Thames district, where, during his residence of twenty years he received a number of valuable presents and addresses. In 1888 Adjutant Grant was transferred to Auckland, where he served till the 31st of March, 1900, when he was retired at his own request, after a service in New Zealand of thirty-one years. Captain Grant on his retirement received from nearly every officer in the district letters of regret and sympathy, and from the Waihi Volunteers a handsome gold albert chain and pendant, together with an address. The officers of the several corps presented an address and valuable
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gold watch as a mark of their esteem and appreciation. Captain Grant is in possession of the long service medal, and is entitled to the Imperial Volunteer Officer's decoration, which he has just (1900) applied for, and he still retains his captaincy on the unattached active list of the Volunteer Force of New Zealand. Captain Grant was married in the parish church of Hillsborough (in which he was baptised), to Miss Mary Murray, of his native town. They have a surviving family of three sons and one daughter.

              

            

            

              
Honorary Unattached List.

              

                
                

                  

Captain-Commandant Emelius LeRoy,
                 
 of the New Zealand Volunteers (unattached list), is one of the oldest and best known Volunteer officers in the Auckland
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district. He has been connected with the movement for more than forty years, and during that time has thrown his best energies and abilities into the service. Mr. Le Roy was born in the Island of Guernsey in 1827, and there served his apprenticeship to the sallmaking trade. After spending twelve months in London he adopted a seafaring life, and eventually became master of the trading vessel Ilio Mama,” trading between Sydney and Auckland. Commandant LeRoy's career as a Volunteer dates back to 1857, when he was one of the promoters of the City Rifles. He started from the bottom rung of the ladder, and proved in his own experience that promotion came remarkably slowly in those early days. After acting for a number of years as sergeant to his corps, he was promoted in 1868 to an ensigncy, and shortly afterwards in the same year became lieutenant. Commandant Le Roy saw some service in the Waikato war, and holds a long service medal. On the disbanding of the City Rifles in 1868, he was transferred to the newly formed Naval Brigade, and again started as a private. He was soon elected lieutenant by the members of the brigade, and, on the death of Captain Gilding in 1871, was appointed to the vacant rank, which he continued to hold till 1889. New regulations



then coming into force, Mr. Le Roy, though much against his will, had no other option than to accept his present rank on the retired list; he now possesses the distinction of being the senior commandant in the Colony of New Zealand. Immediately after the “Russian scare” of the early eighties, Commandant Le Roy had the entire command of the six corps forming the Auckland Naval division. A fine picture of the veteran in full uniform accompanies this article.

              

              

                
                

                  

Major Arthur Morrow,
                 
 V.D., of the Auckland District Staff, is the fifth son of the late Mr Hugh Morrow, J.P.,


[image: Major A. Morrow.]
Major 
A. Morrow.


formerly of the British Ordnance Department, and was born at Corraboola House, in the County of Longford, Ireland. He was educated for the Royal Marine Artillery, but having at the time of his examination passed the age prescribed for admission, he was ineligible to enter that service. On the 9th of June, 1851, he arrived in Auckland. Soon after his arrival, the Waikato war broke out, and having a taste for military life, he joined the 1st Royals, one of the companies of the Rifle Volunteers, on the 16th of May, 1863. They were soon drafted to the front for active service, on detachment with the 63rd and 18th Royal Irish Regiments at Wairoa. and were present in the skirmishes at the Galloway Redoubt and Stockade on the 15th and 16th of September, 1853, and in the subsequent attack on the native settlement at Otan, which was finally carried without any casualties to the troops, though the natives admitted a loss of fourteen killed and forty-one wounded. After serving with the troops in pursuit of rebel natives at Urungahouhou, Mr Morrow was afterwards attached to Major Muloch's flying column, consisting of the head quarter battalion of the 70th Regiment, together with detachments of the Waikato militia and Auckland Rifle Volunteers, operating in the Wairoa and Maraetai districts, and finally served with the 43rd Light Infantry at Ring's Redoubt, Keri-keri, for which he received the New Zealand war medal, besides, subsequently, the officer's long service medal for New Zealand, and the Imperial decoration for long and meritorious service. Major Morrow gained the distinction of being an excellent rifle shot, having won the District Rifle Champion Belt for Auckland, on four occasions, three of which, for Dr Logan Campbell's Belt, were consecutive. He also won the champion medal awarded by the New Zealand Government for the best rifle shot in the province of Auckland, and headed the picked team of the Cononial Rifle Representatives, North Island versus South Island, in 1871, when he carried off the first prize, a Martini-Henry rifle, valued at £25, besides beating the whole of the colonial representatives in the first infantry match at Wanganui in 1876. He also took first place in the annual competitive firing to represent the district on four occasions, and scored numerous minor successes. Major Morrow is still attached to the District Staff, and held the position of D.A.A.G. at the Easter manoeuvres in 1900.

              

              

                
                

                  

Major William Henry Skinner,
                 
 of the Honorary Unattached List, was born at Newport, Monmouthshire, England, on the 3rd of December, 1838, educated in London, and brought up to the building trade. He is the second son of Mr. John Skinner, builder, of Barnstable and Lynton, North Devon, and arrived in Auckland on the 18th of August, 1859, by the ship “Joseph Fletcher.” On the 21st of December in the same year, Mr. Skinner joined the Royal Rifle Volunteers, and served during the earlier part of the Maori war. He volunteered for the corps of Forest Rangers, under Captain Jackson; was in an engagement with the Natives in the bush at “Wellwood,” near Mauku, on the 8th of September, 1863, and was attached to the flying column under Colonel Nixon. Mr. Skinner was gazetted Ensign of the Royal Company on the 18th of January, 1868; Lieutenant commanding No. 2 Company, Auckland Rifle Volunteers, on the 2nd of July, 1874; Sub-Lieutenant Victoria Company, on the 23rd of November, 1875; Lieutenant, on the 18th of May, 1880; Captain, on the 7th of November, 1885; Adjutant, on the 25th of October, 1886, and Major, on the 21st of November, 1889. Major Skinner holds the Imperial decoration for long service, and also New Zealand war and long service medals; and he was selected to represent New Zealand at the Intercolonial Rifle Match at Melbourne in 1873, and also in 1888. He won the Auckland provincial class firing medal in 1874, and was also the Government representative and Rifle Champion Shot of New Zealand in 1875. Major Skinner won the Government Auckland district first prize in 1876, besides several association, company and other valuable prizes, badges, etc. After his arrival in the colony, Major Skinner successfully carried on the business of builder and contractor for a number of years Since 1880, he has practised the profession of an architect, and has designed and carried out several important buildings in Auckland, including the “Star” printing offices, Free-masons' Hall, Grand Hotel, Onehunga Woollen Works, St. Paul's Anglican church in stone, St. John's Presbyterian church at the Thames, and numerous other buildings and residences. As a Mason, Major Skinner has been P. M. of Lodge No. 1338, E.C., Past D.G. Warden, E.C., Past M.E.Z., and the first Principal of the Auckland Chapter, E.C., Past M.W.S. of Southern Cross Chapter of Rose Croix, and Past First Principal of the Ara Chapter, I.C. Before leaving England in 1859 for New Zealand, Major Skinner was a student for some years under the Department of Science and Art at South Kensington, and besides winning prizes, he was awarded in 1859 a bronze medal for success in art. While he was in London, Major Skinner passed much of his spare time in the gymnasium. He thus experienced the advantages of physical training, and after settling in Auckland he wrote, early in the sixties, to the papers on the subject of a gymnasium for Auckland. The matter was there-upon taken up and a strong club was formed, with leading citizens and members of the Provincial Council and the Houses of Parliament on its roll. A suitable gymnasium was obtained and efficiently fitted up and successfully conducted for some years. In conjunction with another gentleman, like himself a certificated member of the Home association, Major Skinner, about the same time, established in Auckland, classes for the study and practice of the Tonic Soi Fa system of singing. Good results followed these classes, as several pupils became teachers, and in their turn extended the system to others. Major Skinner has been a working member of the
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Auckland Choral Society from its inception. He held the position of precentor at the Newton



Presbyterian Church for over ten years, and has been an active member of the Orpheus Glee Club and several choirs. He has always taken a great interest in technical education, which he considers to be of very great importance to a young country, and more particularly for a city like Auckland, where there has been a tendency to encourage literary attainments only. Major Skinner was one of the founders of the present technical school, but since its establishment he has not been able to take any active part in its administration.
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District Reserve Corps.

            

              
              


                
District Reserve Corps.
                The District Reserve Corps is composed of officers who have served a period of seven years in the Volunteers, and non-commissioned officers and men who have served as efficient volunteers for at least four years. Officers passing to the Reserve retain their rank, and are liable to be called on for active service in case of emergency, for seven years from the date of their joining. At the conclusion of that period the officers cease to be in the service, but are permitted to retain their rank and wear their uniform. Non-commissioned officers and men are permitted to remain for five years on the Reserve. The Reserve Corps is under the immediate control of the District Commanding Officer, by whom they are annually inspected. No capitation is granted by the Government, but those men who put in a quarterly drill receive twenty rounds of ammunition per drill.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieut.-Commander Cornelius Little,
                attached to the Active Reserve List, was born at Otahuhu, Auckland, in 1852. His father, who was an old settler, died at the advanced age of eighty-four. Lieut. Little has taken the keenest interest in volunteering since 1875, when he joined the late Hobson Rifles as a private. He gradually rose through every grade to the position of Senior Lieut.-Captain, and obtained a P.S. Certificate from the Council of Military Education at Wellington, which conferred the rank on the 10th of January, 1887. In consequence of the depression existing in Auckland, the Hobson Rifles disbanded in 1889, when the members presented their commander with a very handsome gold ring as a memento of their appreciation of his services and his merit as an officer. In 1890, Mr Little was elected Lieutenant of the Auckland Naval Artillery, and on the retirement of Lieutenant-Commander Parker, he was chosen to succeed that officer, the date of his commission being the 24th of April, 1893. Owing, however, to pressure of his private business, he was compelled to resign, and was placed on the Active Reserve List on the 12th of August, 1897, still retaining his former rank. The members of the Auckland Naval Artillery Volunteers showed their appreciation of his services by presenting him with a very handsome marble clock suitably inscribed. Captain Little has shown great skill as a local and interprovincial marksman, and holds the No. 2 Battalion's Gold Medal, presented by the late Major E. Isaacs in 1888. He was second for the belt and won the silver star and badge at the New Zealand Rifle Association Championship Meeting at Christchurch, when Captain White won the belt. During the same year he also won the Union Steamship Company's prize, and has numerous other trophies.

              
Captain Little was also connected with the Auckland Fire Brigade for eighteen years, and on his retirement, was presented with a life honorary member's certificate, and also a photographic shield of the brigade.
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Lieutenant George John Watson,
                District Reserve Corps, joined the Volunteer service in 1883, when he entered the A Battery of Field Artillery at Auckland. After two years he was transferred to the City Guards, and some three years later to the Ponsonby Naval Artillery as gunner. He obtained a commission in the company in 1892, and in April, 1900, was transferred to the District Reserve Corps. Lieutenant Watson was one of the detachment sent to Opotiki during the “Te Kooti seare” of 1888. He has always taken great interest in shooting, and also in rowing and football, having been a member of various clubs in the city. Mr. Watson is a native of Edinburgh, where he was born in 1867, and came out to the Colony in 1880.
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Naval and Garrison Artillery

Volunteers.

            

              
              


                
Auckland Naval Artillery.
                This is the premier corps of naval artillery volunteers in the Colony, its formation dating from the 20th of February, 1866. It is a very efficient and smart body of men, ranking as “first class” in the Commandant's annual report, and has a total strength of 100. Officers:—Lieutenant-Commanding Clemens; Lieutenants Salmon, Endean and Baxendale; Surgeon-Major Walker.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Commanding C. Henry Clemens,
                of the Auckland Naval Artillery, is a native of Plymouth, England. He came to New Zealand in 1884 with a good military knowledge, and some time later assisted to form the company known as the Queen's Own Rifles. When this company disbanded Mr Clemens ceased his connection with the volunteers for a time, but eventually joined the Auckland Naval Artillery, in 1891, as a commissioned officer. In 1896 he was promoted to the position of Lieutenant Commanding, which he still retains.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant T. B. Salmon,
                Auckland Naval Artillery, joined the Volunteer force in 1875, when he entered the No. 3 Auckland Rifle Volunteers. A year later he was transferred to the A Battery, New Zealand Artillery, and served in this company until the outbreak of the Parihaka Maoris, in 1881, when he volunteered for the front. Shortly after the return of the troops, Lieut. Salmon resigned from the service. In 1887 he joined the Blenheim Rifle Volunteers, and two years later received his commission as lieutenant in that company. He was granted a captain's certificate at this examination. Lieut. Salmon has held his present commission since 1897. He holds several valuable trophies of his skill as a marksman.

            

            

              


              
              

                

Lieutenant John Albert Endean,
               
 of the Auckland Naval Artillery Volunteers, and eldest surviving son of Mr John Endean, was born at the Thames, in
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1875. He was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, and at the Auckland University College; studied chemistry under Mr Crawford, chemist, Auckland, and passed his examination in 1895. Mr Endean then proceeded to Melbourne to obtain a more extensive knowledge of his profession and was assistant to one of the leading chemists in that city. In 1896 he returned to New Zealand and studied at the Thames School of Mines, where he passed his examination in assaying with first class honours. At intervals during the last two or three years he has acted as dispenser at the Auckland Hospital. Lieutenant Endean has been connected with nearly every athletic game, and in rowing especially he has won a great number of trophies. In 1899 he played in the senior team for the City Football Club. He is also a well-known cyclist. Mr Endean saved the life of a lad, named Slade, who was drowning in Auckland Harbour. He did this at considerable personal risk to himself, as a heavy gale was blowing, and he was bampered with his clothing, and his bravery on the occasion was extolled in the newspapers.

            

            

              
              


                
Lieutenant Baxendale,
                of the Auckland Naval Artillery, is a commercial traveller for the well known firm of Messrs Bycroft and Co., millers, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Moore,
                Chief Petty-Officer, Auckland Naval Artillery. This well-known figure in Auckland Volunteer matters has a long and worthy record of service. He is the son of Mr. Moore who was farrier of the 58th Regiment, and was born in Auckland in 1857, and educated in Parnell. He joined the Auckland Naval Artillery as seaman in 1875 and six years later was promoted to the rank of petty-officer for saving a comrade's life. He was promoted to his present rank in 1890. Mr. Moore holds certificates for submarine mining and big gun drill, from 1889 onwards. In all, he has had twenty-seven years' service as a Volunteer, not to mention his services in the Auckland Fire Brigade. As a whaleboat rower, Mr. Moore holds a high record. For many years he has been a member of the Waitemata Rowing Club and has taken part in almost every important whale-boat race held in Auckland during late years. From the fact that he holds over thirty-four medals, and certificates of honour from the United Fire Brigades Association, principally for rowing events, it will be seen that his claim as a representative New Zealand athlete is very well sustained.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Surgeon-Major Walker
                
                received his appointment to the Auckland Naval Artillery on the 3rd of June, 1896. Dr Walker is elsewhere referred to as an excity councillor of Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
The Rev. Mr Ferguson,
                Presbyterian minister, is the Honorary Chaplain to the Auckland Naval Artillery.

            

            

              
              


                
Ponsonby Naval Artillery.
                This smart corps was formed in 1885 from members of the Ponsonby Rowing Club, Captain J. B. Morpeth being the first commander of the battery. It is noteworthy that the Ponsonby Naval Artillery is the only corps still in existence out of eight or ten formed at the same time. The corps is credited with initiating the annual big gun drill, the men going over to the fortifications in order to perfect themselves in the handling of the various great guns. In 1890 the corps amalgamated with the Devonport Navals, and the result is that they are able to put some particularly smart cutter crews into the various races which take place in the summer months. The corps at the present time (1900) numbers about 107, and has a reputation for general efficiency and smartness. They have always been able to put good teams into the field for the various rifle shooting competitions in which they engage, and their representatives usually give a good account of themselves. The Ponsonby Navals are therefore justly regarded as an efficient Volunteer corps, one in which both officers and men strive to do their duty in the best possible spirit.
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Lieut.-Commanding G. W. S. Patterson,
                Ponsonby Naval Artillery. This popular officer is a well known kauri gum merchant of Auckland, and he is elsewhere referred to in that capacity.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Joseph Christopher Spinley,
                Ponsonby Naval Artillery, joined the Volunteer Force in 1879 as a member of the corps known as the Auckland Engineers with which he served two years. He was in 1884 one of the promoters of the Devonport Navals, which he entered as seaman. On the amalgamation of the Devonport and Ponsonby Naval Artillery in 1890. Lieutenant Spinley was transferred to the latter corps, with the rank of chief petty-officer. Five years later he was offered and accepted the commission of lieutenant of the corps. It should be mentioned that Lieutenant Spinley had six years of experience in submarine mining under Captain Falconer, and has taken all the certificates possible in that branch of the service. As a marksman he has always been consistent, being what is known as a good “average shot”; it is worthy of notice that all the Spinley brothers have a reputation as good shots, and have between them won many valuable trophies in various parts of the Colony. Lieutenant Spinley was one of the contingent despatched to Opotiki during the “Te Kooti scare,” and was for some time employed in drilling the local settlers as a precaution against further trouble. Mr. Spinley is a native of Lincolnshire, in which central English country he was born in 1860. He arrived in New Zealand in 1875, served at the plumbing trade in Auckland, and eventually established himself in business at the North Shore. He was one of the founders of Lodge Nil Desperandum in 1882, and for some time acted as secretary of that lodge. Mr. Spinley is married to a daughter of the late Mr. T. B. King, who took part in the Maori war, and has six sons and three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieut. P. M. Mackay,
                of the Ponsonby Naval Artillery, is the manager of Dr Neil's Botanic Dispensary.

            

            

              
              


                
Devonport Submarine Miners.
                This efficient corps was established on the 7th of July, 1894. At the present time (1900) the total strength of the corps is 104. Officers: Lieut.-Commanding Parker; Lieutenants Davis, Robinson, and Reid.-

            

            

              
              


                
Lieutenant Commanding Parker,
                of the Devonport Sub-Marine



Miners, holds a position as a Custom House officer in Auckland. Mr Parker has been connected with the volunteers for many years. When this section was being prepared in November, 1900, he was in Sydney on a trip for the benefit of his health.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Ernest Davis,
                of the Devonport Sub-Marine Miners, is the eldest son of Mr Moss Davis, of Hancock and Co.'s brewery, Auckland, and was born and educated at Nelson. He is now manager of the firm. Mr Davis has been connected with the Devonport Sub-Marine Miners for some years, and now holds the rank of lieutenant. He is an ardent yachtsman, and his yacht is considered one of the smartest in the harbour of Auckland. Mr Davis is married to a young lady noted for her musical talent and culture.

            

            

              
              


                
Lieutenant William Charles Robinson,
                of the Devonport Naval Sub-Marine Miners, is a son of Mr C. Robinson, custodian of the Government buildings, Auckland, and was born at Wellington, in 1875. On leaving school he studied engineering for four years. In 1892 he entered the Government service at Auckland, as a temporary clerk, and is now chief clerk in the Auckland branch of the Department of Agriculture. Mr Robinson comes of a military family; his grandfather was in the 65th Regiment, his father was in the old Wanganui Yeomanry, and in 1885 five members of the family were members of the D Battery, Wellington. Mr Robinson first joined the D Battery as trumpeter, and transferred from that corps to the Auckland City Guards. Later on he withdrew from volunteering for two years, but in 1897, he joined the Devonport Navals, and, on passing his examination, received his commission. His practical knowledge of engineering particularly qualifies him for his position in the Sub-Marine Miners.
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Lieutenant William Douglas Reid,
                of the Devonport Sub-Marine Miners, is fully referred to in his capacity as the Government Examiner of Masters' and Mates' certificates.
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The Devonport Coast Guard Artillery Volunteers.
                The garrison artillery corps known as the Devonport Coast Guard Artillery was raised in 1898 by Captain Napier, M.H.R. The Company consists of one hundred officers and men, and is located at Devonport, the marine suburb of Auckland, where the forts are situated. Fort Takapuna is in the charge of the company, with Captain Napier as Battery Commander. Fort Victoria, a new fort, has also been entrusted to a detachment from the company. The gunners drill at the big guns once a week, and have already attained a high state of efficiency. Through the energy of its commander, the corps possesses its own rifle range and a suite of orderly rooms and barracks at Devonport, as well as a parade ground, which is brilliantly illuminated on drill nights with a number of powerful



incandescent gas lamps. The company not only practises rifle and big gun drill, but also frequently engages in practice with Nordenfeldt quick firers of long range.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Captain Napier
                
                is referred to elsewhere as Senior Member for the City of Auckland in the House of Representatives.
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Lieutenant Robert Gardner,
                of the Devonport Coast Guards, was born and educated at Falkirk, Stirlingshire, Scotland. After a short commercial experience he joined the Royal Bank of Scotland, and remained in that institution until 1887, when he came to New Zealand to fill an appointment in the Colonial Bank at Christchurch. On his arrival in Auckland in 1896 he joined the A Battery, and on the formation of the Coast Guard Corps he entered it with the rank of lieutenant.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Edward Lowder Lees,
                of the Devonport Coast Guard Artillery, is a son of the late Mr W. L. Lees, of Dunedin, and was born and educated in that city. In 1890 he removed to Auckland, where he joined the service of the Loan and Mercantile Company. He was a member of the Dunedin High School Cadets and was for two years in the Otago Hussars. Mr Lees joined the Devonport Coast Guards in 1900, and is now acting-lieutenant.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Surgeon Captain G. T. de Clive Lowe
                
                received his appointment to the Devonport Coast Guards on the 8th of September, 1898.
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Field Artillery Volunteers.

            

              
              


                
A Battery Of Field Artillery.
                The strength of this corps is set down at four officers and seventy-nine rank and file. Their armament consists of four 9-pounder rifle breech-loading guns, to which a Norden-feldt has been since added. The personnel of the company is officially classed as “very good,” but their matériel is condemned as inefficient and out of date. The corps has been in existence since the 20th of February, 1866. Officers:—Captain O'Brien: Lieutenants Lipscombe, J. T. Bosworth and Stewart.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain Lucius O'brien,
                of the A Battery Artillery, has been connected with the volunteers for many years. He is an accountant in the firm of Messrs S. Cochrane and Son, auctioneers. He is now (October 1900) away on a trip to South Africa.

            

            

              
              


                
Lieutenant Lipscombe,
                of the A Battery of Artillery, holds a position in the well known firm of Messrs Arthur Yates and Co., seed merchants, Auckland.

            

            

              
              

                

Lieutenant John Thomas Bosworth,
               
 A Battery Field Artillery Volunteers, is a well-known Volunteer officers, who is at present (1900) serving with the New Zealand contingents in South Africa. His service in the Auckland force dates back to 1885, when, during the “Russian scare,” he joined the “Queen's Own” rifle corps. This was disbanded after some three years' service, and Mr. Bosworth then joined the A Battery of Artillery; he graduated through the various ranks till in 1894 he received his commission as lieutenant of the corps. Lieutenant Bosworth is noted for the time and trouble he has always taken in instructing the recruits under his charge. A native of New South Wales, Mr. Bosworth was born at Mudgee in 1866, but with his parents crossed over to New Zealand when a child
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of six years. He was educated at St. David's school, Auckland, and in 1881 joined the Government service in the Post and Telegraph Department, in which he still remains. Mr. Bosworth is married to a daughter of the Hon. Major Harris, M.L.C., and has one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                
Lieutenant Stewart,
                of the A Battery Artillery, is connected with the firm of Messrs John Burns and Sons, merchants, Custom Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Surgeon-Captain Charles George Watson
                
                was appointed Honorary Surgeon to the A Battery on the 11th of May, 1893.

            

            

              
              


                
The Primate Of New Zealand, 
Bishop Cowie,
                whose interesting biography appears in the ecclesiastical section of this volume, is the Honorary Chaplain of the A Battery.
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Engineers.

            

              
              


                
Auckland Engineers.
                This Company was established on the 8th of November, 1898, and has now (1900) a total strength of seventy-one. Officers: Captain W. R. C. Walker; Lieutenant Tapper.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Captain William Robert Cooper Walker
                
                joined the volunteers on the formation of the Auckland Engineers, of which he was first lieutenant, and in 1899 he was promoted to the captaincy.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Lieutenant Albert Henry Tapper,
                of the Auckland Engineer Corps, was born at Bristol, England, in 1871. When he was two years and a half old, he arrived with his parents at Dunedin, and was educated at Invercargill, and at the Dunedin High School. He was a member of the Dunedin High School Cadets, and was subsequently for two years with the Dunedin Engineers. In June, 1899, he was appointed Acting-Lieutenant in the Auckland Engineer Corps.
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Mounted Rifles.

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Mounted Rifles
                
                were first organised through the energy of Lieutenant Banks, now (1900) serving with the Second Contingent in South Africa. In this work he was ably assisted by Sergt.-Major Evans. When the required number of forty was enrolled, the command of the company was offered to and accepted by Captain W. D. Holgate. The company was gazetted in November, 1898. Both Captain Holgate and Lieutenant Banks did much to ensure the success of the company, which now has seventy efficient members on its roll. The Auckland Mounted Rifles supplied eight men for the First Contingent, seven men and one officer (Lieut. Banks) for the Second, and three men to the Rough Riders. Five of the number were selected as non-commissioned officers to the contingents, four as senior sergeants, and one as a corporal. In March, 1900, Mr W. R. Bloomfield was elected senior lieutenant, in place of Lieut. Banks, and Sergt. Wynyard as junior lieutenant.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain W. D. Holgate,
                Commander of the Auckland Mounted Rifles, is the eldest son of Mr William Holgate, and was born at Askham Hall, Askham-Bryan, Yorkshire, England, in 1855. He was educated at Hollygate Seminary, York, by the Rev. Joseph Mosley, M.A., Oxon., and also received private tuition. Prior to Captain Holgate's departure for the Southern Hemisphere, he held a commission as sub-lieutenant in the Yeomanry Corps, known as the Prince of Wales Hussars, whose headquarters were at York. In 1879 he sailed for Melbourne, where he speculated successfully in mining stock and land. He also identified himself with civic and volunteer movements; was gazetted a Justice of the Peace, elected a member of the Collingwood Borough Council, and was chosen its Mayor during the Exhibition year of 1888. Captain Holgate was instrumental in forming the first senior cadet corps in Melbourne, known as the Clifton Hill Corps. He arrived in Auckland in 1890, and acquired an interest in the Kawau Island, but afterwards sold it. When the Auckland Mounted Rifle Corps was formed, he was offered his present commission. The corps is considered to be one of the smartest mounted corps in the North Island.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Harry Cecil Banks,
                Auckland Mounted Rifles. This officer is now (1900) on active service with the New Zealand Contingents in South Africa. He is a son of Lieut.-Colonel Banks, the officer commanding the district.

            

            

              
              

                

Lieutenant James G. Wynyard,
               
 of the Auckland Mounted Rifles, is a grandson of General R. H. Wynyard, sometime commander of the New Zealand Forces, and son of Mr Robert Wynyard, of Epsom. He was born at Auckland in 1875, and educated at the Church of England Grammar School. He entered the service of the River Plate Company, and remained till the mining boom started, when he engaged in sharebroking. Mr Wynyard is now a partner in the Auckland Drug Company. In 1898, on the formation of the Auckland Mounted Rifles, he joined that corps as trooper, and ascended through the various grades, till, in the early part of 1900, he received his appointment as lieutenant. Mr Wynyard played in the suburb seniors football club for over two years. He is also well known as a polo player, and is a member of the Auckland Polo Club.
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Lieutenant W. R. Bloomfield,
                of the Auckland Mounted Rifles, is else-where referred to as a barrister and solicitor.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Surgeon-Captain Norman K. Grant
                
                was appointed Honorary Surgeon to the Auckland Mounted Rifles on the 16th of November, 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr Richard P. Kinloch,
                of Three Kings, is the Honorary Veterinary Surgeon of the Auckland Mounted Rifles.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Rev. William Eugene Gillam
                
                is the Honorary Chaplain of the Auckland Mounted Rifles.

            

            

              
              


                
Seddon Horse Mounted Rifles.
               —This recently formed corps is named in honour of Mr R. J. Seddon, Premier of New Zealand. It was established on the 9th of May, 1900, and has now a total strength of sixty-five. Officers: Captain Iredale; Lieutenants Cotes and Brittain.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain John Iredale,
                of the Seddon Horse, was born in Greenfield, Yorkshire, England, in 1867, and was educated and trained to business in his native place. He was married, in 1900, to Miss Churton, a grand-daughter of the Rev. Mr. Churton, sometime Chaplain to the Forces in Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Lieutenant Harry Cotes
                
                was appointed lieutenant in the Seddon Horse, when the company was formed in the year 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Francis Henry Brittain,
                of the Seddon Horse, is a son of Captain Brittain, of the Royal Marines. He comes of a military stock, and in his mother's family especially the sons had for generations been officers in the army, and the daughters, the wives of officers. Mr Brittain was born in Middlesex, England, and was educated at the Gravesend Grammar School, and at Westbourne College, London. He had been intended for the army, but in 1875 he decided to try his fortune in New Zealand, and arrived in Wellington by the “Queen Bee.” Before leaving England, he had made arrangements to go on a large sheep and cattle station in the Wairarapa as a cadet. After being some time on the sheep run, he became anxious to see more of the colony, and so he left the Wairarapa, and joined the Armed Constabulary at Wellington. He was in the force for over three years, during which he was on duty at various stations in the colony. On leaving the force Mr Britain joined a survey party, with which he remained for about one year. He was then for several years successfully engaged as a commission agent. In 1893 he joined the Government Stock Department in the Wairarapa district, and removed to Auckland in 1899 to take up his present position as Inspector of Stock. Mr Brittain has been for a number of years connected with volunteering; before leaving England he was a member of the London Volunteer Rifle Corps, and while stationed at Napier, Hawke's Bay, he was a member of the Napier Rifles and Artillery. On the formation of the Seddon Horse in 1900 Mr Brittain, who took an active part in the institution of the corps, was appointed lieutenant. Mr Brittain is married and has three sons and one daughter. His eldest son is engaged in a large mercantile firm in Auckland.
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Rifle Volunteers
              


              
(
First Battalion Auckland Infantry).
            

            

              
              


                

                  
Lieut.-Colonel P. Dignan
                
                is the Honorary Colonel of the 1st Battalion of Auckland Infantry. He is elsewhere referred to as an ex-mayor of Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant-Colonel William Bagnall White,
                son of Mr John White, sometime Resident Magistrate at



Wanganui, and well known as the author of the Ancient History of the Maori, was born in 1855. He was educated at the old Wesley College, Auckland, and commenced his commercial career with a seed merchant, and in a mining company's office. In 1877 he entered the timber trade with his father-in-law, the late Mr C. J. Stone, with whom he afterwards acquired a half share in the Shortland Sawmill Company; the business was subsequently sold to the Kauri Timber Company. Mr White then went to the Waikato, where he remained for two years. On returning to Auckland he spent three years in the firm of Bycroft and Co., in which he was a shareholder, but left it to enter on his present sawmilling business in 1896. Mr White entered the Auckland City Council in 1894, when he was returned for the Grafton Ward, which he represented for six years, and retired in 1900, on account of the calls made upon his time by volunteering and his own business. During his term he represented the Council on the Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. Colonel White has for twenty-nine years been intimately connected with volunteering, and has (1900) recently been appointed Lieutenant-Colonel commanding the First Battalion Auckland Infantry. He married a daughter of the late Mr C. J. Stone, in 1880, and has had a family of six children.

            

            

              
              


                

Pay-And-Quarter-Master George Jonathan Dormer,
                of the 1st Battalion of Auckland Infantry, joined the Royal Navy in 1851. He served on H.M.S. “Rattler,” and afterwards on H.M.S. “Hastings,” and went through the Burmese war of 1852–53, receiving the medal and clasp for Pegu. In the Crimean war he served in H.M.S. “Sidon,” and in a night attack on the forts of Sebastopol, on the 17th of June, 1855, he was wounded and subsequently invalided home and discharged with a temporary pension. He received the medal and clasp for Sebastopol and the Turkish medal. In April 1858, he joined the 2nd Battalion of the 10th Regiment, and was afterwards transferred to the 2nd Battalion, 14th Prince of Wales' Own Regiment. Mr Dormer served throughout the New Zealand war from 1861 to 1866, for which he received the medal; and he served in the Australian colonies from 1866 to 1870. In 1875 he was promoted to Quarter-Master Sergeant, and served in various parts of Great Britain, until he obtained his discharge in 1878, when he received the long service and good conduct medal and a gratuity. Mr Dormer Subsequently served as Quarter-Master Sergeant in the Dorset Militia, and Sergt.-Instructor of Musketry in the 1st Dorset Rifle Volunteers. He was finally discharged in 1883 for the purpose of settling in New Zealand. Mr Dormer joined the Auckland City Guards in 1884, and in the following year was elected Lieutenant. On the formation of the 1st Battalion of Auckland Infantry he received his present appointment.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Sergt.-Major Macintosh
                
                and 
Quartermaster-Sergt. Dines are also on the staff of the First Battalion of Auckland Infantry.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Surgeon-Captain F. W. R. J. King
                
                is Honorary Surgeon to the first Battalion. Dr King is more fully referred to in the medical section of this volume.

              
No. 1 
Victoria Rifles. This Volunteer company has greatly improved of late, and a far better spirit has been infused in the movement generally. The corps has a strength of three officers and fifty-six rank and file. It is the “A” company of the First Battalion, and is the oldest existing volunteer company in Auckland, its formation dating from the 15th of February, 1866. The Victorias give promise of doing exceedingly well and proving themselves a “smart” corps, with all the public and official encouragement which has latterly been general.

            

            

              
              

                

Captain Louis Philip Skinner,
               
 Victoria Rifles, has been connected with Volunteer matters in Auckland for a number of years, and is well known as an officer and a marksman. Mr. Skinner was born in Auckland in 1860, and received his education first at the Grammar School, and afterwards at the Model Training School. He then served an apprenticeship as a builder under his father, the well-known Major Skinner, and eventually embarked in business on his own account; this he has successfully carried on in the northern city for some years. It was in 1878 that he joined the Victoria Rifles, and in this corps he passed through the various grades, and became a lieutenant in 1892. As a marksman, Captain Skinner has taken numerous and valuable trophies, among them being the Auckland district belt (presented by Mr. Clarke), company's challenge belt, Mr. Beck's cup, and Mr. Condon's trophy; the latter, having been won by him four times, is now his own property. Besides these trophies he has a number of


[image: Captain L. P. Skinner.]

Captain 
L. P. Skinner.


valuable medals, which bear able testimony to his prowess in this direction. In other athletic matters Mr. Skinner has also taken his part; he was a founder of the City Rowing Club, and in the colours of that club has often pulled to victory. He has for many years followed the hounds at the various meets, and has taken an active part in all outdoor sports and pastimes. Captain Skinner is married to a daughter of Mr. Searchfield, a well-known Auckland builder, now of Panmure.

            

            

              
              

                

Lieutenant Robert George Cox,
               
 Victoria Rifles, who has been an active and zealous Volunteer since 1885, was born in
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London in 1864, and arrived in the Colony with his parents when quite a child. On leaving school he entered the business of Messrs. Hill and Fenton, with whom he remained for some fifteen years. He established his well-known and successful hat and mereery business in Karangahape Road in 1891. Lieutenant Cox commenced his career as a Volunteer in 1885 by joining the Gordon Rifles, and remained with that corps till its disbandment in 1890. He then joined the City Rifles, and, after rising to the rank of lieutenant joined the Victoria Rifles in 1896 with the same rank. In shooting matters Lieutenant Cox has taken a very prominent part, having represented Auckland at a number of important meetings held in the Colony. He has represented his corps at the following championship meetings:—Oamaru (1888), Wellington (1893), Christchurch (1894), Wellington (1895), and Auckland (1897). He has held the belt in the Newton Rifles and City Rifles, besides winning the gold medal for the latter corps, the Herald Challenge Cup, and a number of minor prizes, including the bronze medal of the City Rifles. He was a captain of the rifle teams which won the handsome Campbell Vase in 1894 and 1895, also a member of the Victoria rifle team which won the Gordon Challenge Shield in 1897. From these facts it will be obvious that Lieutenant Cox holds a splendid record as a shot, and it will not be surprising if he yet succeeds in annexing the championship of the Colony.

            

            

              


              
              

                

Lieutenant Richard James Derrom,
               
 of the Victoria Rifles, is a son of the late Major Derrom, and was born in Auckland in 1875. He was educated
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at various Auckland schools, and learned his business as a jeweller and watchmaker at the shop of one of the principal watchmakers and jewellers of Auckland. He remained seven years in the establishment, and started his present business in Ponsonby Road on his own account in 1897. His father, Major Derrom, who was an enthusiastic volunteer, first formed the City Rifles and afterwards the Victoria Rifles. Mr Derrom joined the Victoria Rifles in 1893, and was promoted to sergeant in 1896. He was afterwards promoted to colour-sergeant, and in 1899 he received his commission as lieutenant.

            

            

              
              


                
College Rifles.
                This corps is the B Company of the First Battalion of Auckland Infantry. It was established on the 17th of June, 1897, and has now (1900) a total strength of eighty-one. Officers: Captain Major; Lieutenants McHardy and Earl.

            

            

              
              


                
Captain Major,
                of the College Rifles, is now (1900) serving his country with the New Zealand Contingents in the South African war as a captain in the Field Artillery.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant A. McHardy,
                of the College Rifles, is manager of the Newton Branch of the National Bank of New Zealand, in connection with which he is elsewhere referred to.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Edward Percy Earl,
                of the College Rifles, was born in Christchurch, where he was educated. He entered the Government service in Auckland, in 1896, and is now in the Native Lands Department. Lieutenant Earl was a member of the Christ's College Cadets, Christchurch, and of the Riversdale Rifles, Southland. He joined the College Rifles on their formation in 1897, and received his appointment as lieutenant in 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Surgeon-Captain F. W. R. J. King,
                elsewhere referred to, was appointed Honorary Surgeon to the College Rifles on the 30th of June, 1897.

            

            

              
              


                
No. 1 New Zealand Native Rifles.
                This corps was established on the 23rd of November, 1897, and ranks as C Company of the First Battalion of Auckland Infantry. The total strength of the corps is fifty-five. Officers: Captain Hutton; Lieutenant Gaudin, Potter, and Richter.

            

            

              
              

                

Captain George Bertram Hutton,
               
 J.P., of the New Zealand Native Rifles, No. 1 Company, is a son of the late Captain Howard Hutton, of Otahuhu, and a nephew of Mr Chamberlain, Secretary of State for the Colonies, and of the Right Honourable William Kenrick, a member of Her Majesty's Most Honourable Privy Council. He was born in Auckland in 1859. When he was seven years of age his parents went to England, to which they took himself and sister, and there he attended various schools, completing his education at Victoria College, Jersey. On leaving college Mr Hutton entered commercial life, but, his health breaking down after some years, he was ordered abroad, and sailed first to Auckland, and thence to Fiji in the beginning of 1882, with the intention of growing coffee, but not liking the drastic restrictions under which planters were obliged to work their labourers, he returned to
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New Zealand. Mr Hutton then settled down with his parents in their old home at Otahuhu, nine miles south of Auckland, where he successfully carried on farming and fruit-growing, for fifteen years, with one break in 1886–7, when he visited England. He gave up farming in 1897, when he removed to Remuera, and has since then been engaged in various commercial undertakings. While he was farming at Otahuhu Mr Hutton took a most active part in the formation of the Auckland Fruit Growers' Union, a federation of fruit growers' associations in the Auckland province, and was president of the Union for two years. He was, for a time, chairman of the Otahuhu Road Board, and president of the Auckland Agricultural Association. Mr Hutton was placed on the Commission of the Peace by Sir Harry Atkinson's Government. Mr Hutton, while a young man, saw two years' service as a volunteer with the First War-wickshire (Birmingham) Rifle Volunteers; but owing to the disorganised state of volunteering in the colony, he took no active interest in the movement until the revival of a year or two ago, though he offered his services to the Government at the time of what was known as the “Russian scare,” when it was expected that the Militia would be called out. In 1899 he was persuaded to accept the captaincy of the New Zealand Native Rifles, No. 1 Company, and has since devoted much time to its interest. While in England in 1887 Mr Hutton married Miss Furner, a Canadian lady, and has a family of four sons.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Frederick Edward Norman Gaudin,
                of the New Zealand Native Rifles, No. 1 Company, is the eldest son of Mr Frederick Gandin, well known in Auckland. He was born at Hamilton, Waikato, in 1871, and was educated at the Hamilton West public school. On leaving school he adopted the teaching profession, and for ten years



he was in the service of the Auckland Board of Education. In 1896 he resigned his position as a teacher, and accepted a responsible situation in the business of Mr G. Kronfeld. This position he still holds. Mr Gaudin joined the Native Rifles in 1898 as junior subaltern, and was gazetted senior lieutenant of the company on the departure of the Fifth Contigent for the Transvaal. He is a most enthusiastic volunteer officer, and is exceedingly popular with the members of the company. Mr Gaudin is also well known as an athlete, having represented Auckland on various occasions in running, jumping and Rugby football contests.
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Lieutenant Henry Roland Potter,
                of No. 1 New Zealand Native Rifles, is now (1900) serving with the New Zealand Contingents in the war in South Africa.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. George McMurray,
                M.A., is the Honorary Chaplain of the No. 1 New Zealand Native Rifles.

            

            

              
              


                
NO. 2 New Zealand Native Rifles.
                This corps ranks as D Company in the First Battalion of Auckland Infantry. It was established on the 14th of April, 1898, and has now (1900) a total strength of sixty-three. Officers: Lieutenant Ratjen (in command of corps); Lieutenant Warnock.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Charles Ratjen,
                who is at present in command of the No. 2 New Zealand Native Rifles, joined that corps as lieutenant on its formation.

            

            

              
              

                

Lieutenant James Alexander Warnock,
               
 of No. 2 Native Rifles, is a
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son of Mr Robert Taylor Warnock, of Messrs Warnock Bros., the well known firm of manufacturers. He was born in 1872 and was educated at the Ponsonby district school and the Auckland College. On leaving college he entered the service of his father's firm. He may be said to inherit his interest in volunteering, as his father was a member of the first volunteering corps in Auckland over forty years ago. Mr Warnock was one of the first lacrosse players when the game was introduced in Auckland. He was goalkeeper for the Pawnees, the champion team of 1899, and is now secretary for the Grey Lynn Lacrosse Club.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Rifles.
                This corps was formed in 1898, when the late Major T. L. Murray (afterwards Lieutenant-Colonel) suggested to Messrs Smith and Caughey, that a company should be formed entirely of assistants employed by the firm. The heads of the firm decided to encourage the movement, the employees entered spiritedly into the idea, and in a short time the corps was formed. Mr A. C. Caughey accepted command of the company, and Messrs Gower and Boyce were elected senior and junior subalterns. The company has progressed favourably, and in drill would do credit to a company many years its senior. At first, owing to the many demands upon the drillshed, the corps found it necessary to carry on its weekly drill in the cellar of Messrs Smith and Caughey's establishment. There the men were put through their facings by Sergeant-Major Carpenter, who proved a most valuable and painstaking instructor to very apt recrvits. The company is looked upon as one of the finest and best drilled in Auckland, and has a total strength of sixty-three.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain A. C. Caughey,
                of the Auckland Rifles, and partner in the firm of Messrs Smith and Caughey, Auckland, was born at Portaferry, County Down, Ireland. He began his commercial life in the well known firm of James Lindsay and Co., of Belfast, with whom he remained till he was twenty-one years of age. Mr Caughey then went to London, where he was for some time in a mercantile house, after which he returned to Messrs Lindsay and Co., to take up the responsible position of superintendent in their establishment. In 1879 Mr Caughey came to Auckland, and in 1881 he and his present partner started the business of Messrs Smith and Caughey, which is now one of the largest in the colony. Mr Caughey is a most enthusiatic volunteer, and enrolled lately among his firm's employees, a corps known as the Auckland Rifles. Colonel Pole-Penton referred to this firm in one of his reports as an example to all large employers of labour in New Zealand, and spoke of the corps itself as one of the smartest in the colony, and as having been officered and trained for eighteen months solely by Mr Caughey and his employees. Mr Caughey is a member of the Board of Governors of the Prince Albert College, and has been intimately connected with a number of school committees and road boards, and is a member of the Putuotoe school committee. He is married and has a family of five children.

            

            

              
              


                
Lieutenant Gower,
                of the Auckland Rifles, and Partner in the firm of McCullagh and Gower, Importers and Drapers, Queen Street, Auckland, is referred to in the notice of his firm.

            

            

              
              

                

Lieutenant John James Boyce,
               
 of the Auckland Rifles, was born at Auckland in 1873. As a youth he entered the service of Messrs Smith and
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Caughey, and is now manager of that firm's clothing and tailoring department. On the formation of the Auckland Rifles, he received the appointment of lieutenant.

            

            

              
              


                
No. 3 New Zealand Native Rifles.
                This is the sixth company of the first battalion of the Auckland Infantry, and was formed on the 4th of May, in 1998. It is one of the three companies raised by the Auckland branch of the New Zealand Natives' Association. The first captain of the company was Mr F. E. Baume, who resigned his commission in May, 1900, and was succeeded by Mr J. R. Reed, solicitor of Auckland. The senior subaltern is Lieutenant Boscawen, R.N., who is also honorary aide decamp to His Excellency Lord Ranfurly. Surgeon-Captain Lindsay is honorary surgeon of the corps. The company is recruited to its full strength of sixty, and, in addition, the names of six of its members who went to South Africa still remain on the roll of the corps.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain John Ranken Reed,
                of the No. 3 New Zealand Native Rifles, is a well known Auckland solicitor, and is referred to as such in another article.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant William John A. Thomson,
                of the No. 3 New Zealand Native Rifles, is at the present time (1900) serving with the New Zealand Contingents in South Africa.

            

            

              
              


                

Senior-Lieutenant Hugh Boscawen,
                of No. 3 Native Rifles, Honorary aide-de-camp to His Excellency the Governor, the Earl of Ranfurly, is a son of the Hon. I. I. Boscawen and was born in 1850 at Tregothnan, Cornwall, England. Mr Boscawen, who is nephew of the Earl of Falmouth and cousin to General Buller, was first educated by private tutors, and completed his education at the Cheltenham College. On leaving college he joined H.M. training ship “Britannia,” and served afterwards in the navy on every naval station except the East Indian. He was present at Jamestown during the trying time of the Jamaica riots. Mr Boscawen came out to New Zealand with the Flying Squadron in 1869 and 1870 during the visit of His Royal Highness the Duke of Edinburgh to the colonies. During the Ashantee war in 1873 and 1874 when Sir Garnet Wolseley (now Lord Wolseley) was in command, Lieutenant Boscawen was present at the taking of Kumassi, and for his bravery on that occasion received the decoration of the African medal. He passed his gunnery examination on H.M. ship “Excellent,” and retired from the naval service in 1875 with the rank of lieutenant. Mr Boscawen arrived in New Zealand in 1876, and joined the Lands Department of the Government Service shortly after his arrival. During Lord Onslow's Governorship of New Zealand, Lieutenant Boscawen acted as His Excellency's Private Secretary, and took up his present position as Chief Clerk in the Lands Department, Auckland, on Lord Onslow's departure for England. Lieutenant Boscawen was appointed to his present position in the No. 3 Native Rifles in 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Surgeon-Captain Peter Alexander Lindsay
                
                was appointed Honorary Surgeon to the No. 3 New Zealand Native Rifles on the 7th of September, 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Rev. E. M. Cowie
                
                is the Honorary Chaplain of the No. 3 New Zealand Native Rifles.

            

            

              
              


                
No 2 Victoria Rifles.
                This corps ranks as G Company of the First Battalion of Auckland Infantry. The total strength of the company is now (1900) sixty, and it was established on the 28th of April, 1898. Officers: Captain Knight, in command of the corps; Captain F. W. Abbott, on leave, engaged in the Transvaal war; Lieutenants Shaw and Kay.

            

            

              
              

                

Captain J. I. Knight,
               
 of the No. 2 Victoria Rifles, is a son of Mr W. Knight, of the Royal Engineers. He was educated at St. Helena, and came to New Zealand with his parents in 1882, when they decided to settle in Auckland. At the age of twenty Mr Knight joined the volunteers and has been connected with them for the last fifteen years. He joined his present corps as junior subaltern, and on the departure of the Fifth Contingent, under Captain Abbott, was promoted to the position vacated by that gentleman. Besides taking great interest in volunteering, Captain Knight has been an enthusiast in connection with athletics, rowing being his chief hobby. He is Worshipful Master of the Masonic Lodge, Ponsonby, No. 54, N.Z.C. Captain Knight married an Auckland lady some years ago, and
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Captain J. I. Knight.


has a family of five sons and one daughter. He is referred to in another article as a wholesale manufacturer and importer of saddlery, etc.

            

            

              
              

                

                  
Captain F. W. Abbott
                
               
 joined the No. 2 Victoria Rifles at Auckland as lieutenant in 1898, and a year later he succeeded to the captaincy of the company.
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Captain F. W. Abbott.


At the outbreak of the Transvaal war, he volunteered for service in South Africa, and was appointed captain of the No. 12 Company in the New Zealand Fifth Contingent of Mounted Infantry. The Contigent sailed from New Zealand on the 31st of March, 1900, by the “Waimate,” and called at Durban for orders a month later. The force was ordered to Rhodesia, via Beira and Marandellas. After embarking at Beira Captain Abbott with his company entrained for Umtali, and then proceeded on a long trek across Matabeleland and Mashonaland to Buluwayo. The whole Contingent was under the command of General Sir Frederick Carrington, who was ordered with his force to take the field against the Boers in the Western Transvaal, with Mafeking as a base. Several engagements were fought with the Boers around Zeerust, and these resulted in the enemy being driven from their positions. Thereupon the Boers split up in numerous bands, and the Fifth Contingent, now rechristened the New Zealand Fifth Regiment, was occupied for several months in skirmishing and dispersing parties of the enemy at various points. This kind of warfare was not without risk; several officers and men of the Regiment were killed and wounded and a rifle bullet pierced Captain Abbott's hat, missing his head by about an inch. Captain Abbott commanded the A Squadron which, with other portions of the Regiment, were in continual conflict with bands of the enemy for a period extending over several months.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Henry Shaw,
                of the No. 2 Victoria Rifles, is a son of Dr Henry Shaw, of London. He was educated at West Kent College, and arrived in



New Zealand in 1896. Attracted by the glowing accounts of the Upper Thames goldfields Lieutenant Shaw went to Paeroa, where he joined No. 1 Ohinemuri Rifles, from which he was transferred to the No. 2 Victoria Rifles on the formation of the corps, in which he has served as sergeant, colour-sergeant and lieutenant. Mr Shaw volunteered for the Fifth Contingent, and was in charge of the Auckland members at Potter's Paddock, prior to their embarkation for South Africa.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant William Kay,
                of the No. 2 Victoria Rifles, is an assistant master at the Wellesley Street School, Auckland. He has been connected with volunteering for a number of years, and has had charge of the Wellesley Street Cadet Corps for about two years. Recently (1900) he became lieutenant of the No. 2 Victoria Rifles.

            

            

              
              


                
Newton Rifles.
                This corps was established on the 1st of October, 1898, and ranks as H Company of the First Battalion of Auckland Infantry. It has now (1900) a total strength of sixty-two. Officers: Captain Myers; Lieutenants Todd and Markham.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain Arthur M. Myers,
                of the Newton Rifles, is a partner in the firm of the Campbell and Ehrenfried Co., Ltd., and is referred to in connection with the descriptive article on the firm.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Thomas John Marr Todd,
                of the Newton Rifles, is now (1900) on service with the New Zealand Contingents in the South African war.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Surgeon-Captain James Moir
                
                was appointed Honorary Surgeon to the Newton Rifles on the 22nd of May, 1899.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Bearer Corps.
                The Auckland Bearer Corps was established on the 4th of May, 1898. The total strength of the company is now (1900) twenty-six. The officers are: Surgeon-Captain A. O. Knight (M.R.C.S., England; L.S.A., London), and Surgeon-Captain W. H. Parkes (M.B., and M.S., Edinburgh).

            

            

              
              


                
Cadets
               . There are three corps of cadets in connection with the Auckland Volunteers; namely, the Auckland Grammar School Cadets, with a total strength of fifty-eight, and of which Captain R. A. McCullough is the commanding officer; King's College Cadets, with a total strength of sixty-four, of which Lieutenant Stuckey is the Acting-Captain; and St. John's College Cadets, with a total strength of forty-one, of which the officers are Captain Abbott, and Lieutenant Severn; with the Rev. P. Smallfield as the honorary chaplain.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Garrison Band.
                This Band, which has experienced various vicissitudes, was established many years ago, and now numbers a total strength of twenty-six. Mr Hunter is the band-master.

            

            

              
              

                
Drum And Fife Band.
               
 This Band is of recent origin, and was established in the latter part of 1899. It now (October, 1900) has a total strength of twenty. Mr Dormer is the bandmaster.
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Fort Cautley, from Signal Station, Devonport.



            

            

              
              

                
Colonial Ammunition Company, Limited.
               
 Head office, 16 Great George Street, Westminster, London, S.W. Works at Melbourne, Victoria, and Mount Eden, Auckland, New Zealand. This important industry in the manufacture of small-arm ammunition was first commenced in the colony of New Zealand by Captain John Whitney and his sons in the year 1885. During the Russian war scare of that year, Major-General Sir George Whitmore made every effort to procure ammunition, the supply of which was nearly exhausted, but on
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Captain John Whitney.


account of the great demand in the Home markets (the Imperial Government at the time having all its resources taxed to the utmost to supply its own requirements) it
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Mr. A. C. Whitney.
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View of Part of the Colonial Ammunition Company's Works, Auckland, N.Z.
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View of Part of Military Ammunition Plant within Main Building of the Colonial Ammunition Company's Works, Auckland.





was found impossible to replenish the colony's stock of ammunition in that time of emergency. Under the circumstances the late Hon. John Ballance, then Minister of Defence, and Sir George Whitemore, consulted Captain Whitney as to the possibility of manufacturing ammunition in the colony, and Captain Whitney agreed to undertake to supply military cartridges of a serviceable quality if sufficient inducement were offered to encourage him to start in such a costly undertaking. After careful consideration the Government decided not to give a bonus to Captain Whitney, but to pay such a price for ammunition as would gradually recoup the first heavy outlay, which was increased by the Government stipulating that the necessary machines should be made in the colony. As powder was most difficult to obtain until the supplies cabled for arrived, and as they had to commence the manufacture with the most unsuitable material, Captain Whitney and his sons laboured, in consequence of the Government's stipulation, under the most serious disadvantages; but, nevertheless, they succeeded within six months, incommencing the delivery of cartridges. The first pattern of cartridges, however,
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Mr. A. Whitney.


proved disappointing; only 5,000 were manufactured, and these were condemned by the military authorities, owing to a defect in the base of the cartridge. The pattern was then altered and a serviceable cartidge produced, so that during 1885-6-7 about 2,000,000 rounds were supplied to the Government. At this stage, Captain Whitney, with a view to the future requirements of the colony, knowing that the quality of ammunition could be improved, and having obtained the consent of the New Zealand Government, proceeded to England with Captain Asa Whitney to purchase the very best machinery of the Imperial Government pattern, and engage skilled labour. During 1887–8 negotiations were being carried on with the Victorian and New South Wales Governments to establish ammunition works in the sister colonies, and seeing that the vanture was assuming larger dimensions than were originally anticipated, the firm, which had been carried on under the title of Messrs Whitney and Sons, was converted into a limited liability company under the style of the Colonial Ammunition Company, Limited, with a large capital. The Colonial Ammunition Company, Limited, now has in its employment the
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View of Part of the Colonial Ammunition Company's Works, Auckland.
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View of Part of Military Ammunition Plant within Main Building of the Colonial Ammunition Company's Works, Auckland.


best skilled engineers and experts, and its staff is up to date in every respect in the manufacture of all small-arms ammunition. The company is thus enabled to turn out military and other ammunition equal to the best turned out by manufacturers in England. A new plant of machinery was erected in 1887, and since then the manufacture of ammunition has been carried on until it has attained perfection, and the imported ammunition has never been able to surpass it. To this military plant was added a plant for the manufacture of sporting ammunition, capable of turning out a sufficient number of cartridges to supply the Australasian Colonies, if necessary, and the results of the arrangements of the company have been that, notwithstanding the superb qualities of the English manufactured goods, they are equalled by the articles turned out by the company's operatives in New Zealand, while the consumer is charged no more than he has to pay for cartridges imported from England. At the present time the company employs twenty male and seventy-three female operatives, and as the requirements of the colony increase, so also will increase the importance of the industry as an employer of labour. The company intends to increase its capital, if sufficient inducement is shown, to develop the mineral resources of the colonies, and the new branches will probably include the manufacture of powder, as well as metals from colonial products, as soon as the output of ammunition justifies the outlay of additional capital. Mr Arthur Cecil Whitney has the management of the New Zealand works, and Captain John Whitney is now in Australia superintending the company's business there. The Melbourne works are capable of supplying the whole of Australasia with .303 or Martini-Henry ammunition, and at the present time (1900) have large contracts on hand for the various Australian Governments. The company, during the year 1898–9, laid down in Auckland a complete plant of machinery for the manufacture of £303 ammunition for the New Zealand Government, and has already delivered large supplies from these works, which are complete in every detail. The company makes its own tools for placing in the machines for manufacturing cartridges; and also gauges of every kind and description, for use either inside or outside its works. The Legislature at Wellington sees the advisableness of encourauging the manufacture of ammunition in New Zealand, and apparently recognises the Colonial Ammunition Company as a most important factor in the colony's scheme of defence. It is possible the Government may some day think it advisable to take over the manufacture of ammunition from the company, but in the meanwhile the Colonial Ammunition Company is to be heartily commended for the energy, perserverance, and enterprise it has shown in making the colony independent of outside supplies of ammunition. As the company's is the only ammunition industry south of the equator, there must, in the nature of things, be a great and prosperous future before it. Since the photographs of the works printed with this article were taken in 1895, there have been extensive additions to both the machinery and the buildings, which are continually being added to.
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The Government of New Zealand has long had the control of many national institutions, and every other year sees it take some new department under its care. The Advances to Settlers Department and the Old Age Pensions scheme are prominent amongst recent developments in this connection. The former, concurrently with the increased liberalisation of the land laws, has had an important effect upon the prosperity of settlers of limited means, and may be said to have thereby increased the progress and welfare of the country. Under the Old Age Pensions Act of 1898, persons of sixty-five years of age, who have resided twenty-five years in the colony, are entitled to a pension of £18 a year, payable in twelve monthly instalments; but for each £1 of income above £34, also for each £15 of accumulated property above £50, £1 is deducted from the amount of the pension. Old age pensions have long been in force in Austria and Denmark, but New Zealand was the first British colony to introduce them; and other colonies are now (1900) following her example. The Government of the United States of America has agreed to institute a Parcels Post system with New Zealand, and with the advent of the twentieth century the International Penny Post comes into force. The various branches of the General Government institutions in Auckland are grouped under this heading.
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                The Auckland Museum
              
              is situated at the corner of Princes Street and Eden Crescent. It consists of a galleried hall, in which are placed the zoological and mineralogical collections, and a large annexe principally devoted to the exhibition of articles illustrating the manners, customs, and mode of life of the Maori race. This department is unrivalled in the colony, and visitors anxious to form a correct idea of the Maori life of the olden days cannot do better than spend an hour or two in examining it. Prominent among the exhibits is the huge war canoe, Toki-a-tapiri, over 80 feet in length, and capable of carrying more than a hundred fighting men. The hull is hollowed from a single totara tree, and is furnished with topsides, which are carved from end to end. The prow and stern-post are also both elaborately carved. The canoe was built at Wairoa, in Hawke's Bay, about 1835, but shortly after its completion was presented to the celebrated northern chief, Waka Nene, who gave in exchange a piebald horse, then a very great curiosity to the Maoris. Waka Nene, or his brother, Patuone, sold the canoe to the Ngatea
[
unclear: t]a tribe, residing on the southern shore of the Manukau harbour, and it remained in their possession until the outbreak of the Waikato war in 1863. It was then seized, together with a number of other canoes, by a detachment of the colonial forces, and brought to Onehunga, whence it was ultimately conveyed to Auckland. At the close of the war, the Maori owners were compensated for their loss by a payment of £650, the estimated value of the canoe. Even in the early days of the colony the Toki-a-tapiri would have been considered an unusually fine example of Maori canoe-making; at the present time it is the sole survivor of the fleets of war canoes which once navigated the harbours and rivers of New Zealand.

            
Next in interest to the canoe is the large carved house known as “Te Puawai o te Arawa,” or “The Flower of the Arawa.” It was built at Maketu, in the Bay of Plenty, about 1886, and was the property of Pokiha Taranui, a leading chief of the Ngatipikiao section of the Arawa tribe. The verandah in the front of the house is probably one of the finest specimens extant of Máori carving. Several of the carved figures on the front and sides of the house are said to be representations of remote ancestors of the Arawa tribe; thus a large figure over the doorway stands for Tama-te-Kapua, one of the most celebrated personages in the mythological history of the Maoris. He was said to be the captain of the Arawa canoe, one of the vessels which conveyed the Maoris from distant Hawaiki to New Zealand, and was the chief progenitor of the Arawa tribe.

            
Another and smaller carved house which is shown, formerly stood on the shore of Lake Rotoiti, in the Hot Lakes district. It is of much older date than “To Puawai o te Arawa,” and its style of carving is in many respects different. Its sides are remarkable for showing representations of human figures attacked by a mythological animal termed by the Maoris “Manaia,” the significance of which seems to be entirely lost.

            
At the extreme end of the hall are placed two large carvings of exceptional interest. One is the gateway of the Pukeroa pa, a fortification of great renown in Maori history, and which once occupied the crest of the Pukeroa Hill, overlooking the present township of Rotorua. The other is the upper part of a huge “tiki” or carved post, from the
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Interior of Maori Room, Auckland Museum.





walls of the same pa. Both these carvings are of great antiquity, and had been standing for many years when Rotorua was visited by Europeans in 1822 and 1836. They are probably the only carvings of any size now remaining which were entirely carved without the use of iron tools.

            
The show-cases built along the sides of the hall contain a large collection of the smaller articles of Maori workmanship. There are good series of the weapons, starting with the larger ones, as the battleaxe or tewhatewha, the taiaha, or short spear, the pouwhenua, or wooden sword, and descending to the smaller, such as the meres or fighting clubs—some of wood, some of whale's bone, and others of ordinary stone or the much-prized greenstone. One of the latter has a historical value on account of having belonged to the chief Te Kooti, the leader in the barbarous massacre of Europeans at Poverty Bay in the year 1868. Implements of all kinds are well represented. Stone axes of various shapes and sizes; chisels and gouges; fern beaters and flax pounders; fish hooks, fishing weights and net sinkers; spades and paddles; and many other articles too numerous to particularise here. The carved boxes and bowls exhibited are worth careful examination; although the Museum possesses many fine examples of the art of the Maori carver, none approach these so far as originality of design and fineness of execution are concerned. Ornaments, such as greenstone hei-tikis and pendants, combs, etc. are shown in great variety. There is also an interesting collection of musical instruments, comprising trumpets of shell and wood, and flutes of wood and bone. One of the latter is said to be the flute which Tutanekai, the lover of Hinemoa, played on the night when Hinemoa swam to him across the lake of Rotorua. Several cases are devoted to the exhibition of the clothing of the Maoris. There are dogskin mats, feather mats, and the various kinds of flax mats, from the soft and silken kaitaka, reserved for the use of the chief men of the tribe, to the rough and shaggy whariki, the garment of the slaves and common people. The whole of the exhibits are carefully mounted and displayed, and furnished with printed descriptive labels.

            
The main hall of the Museum, as already mentioned, is chiefly occupied with the zoological and mineralogical collections, but the ground floor also contains a number of plaster casts of the celebrated statues of antiquity, presented by Mr. Thomas Russell, C.M.G. In the centre of the hall is placed a large case containing specimens of apes and monkeys, prominent among which are the orang-outang, the chimpanzee, the gibbon, the proboscis monkey, and several others. The remainder of the mammals are arranged in wall cases on the south side of the main floor. The whole of the north side and east end are devoted to the collection of foreign birds. Most of the families are well represented, the number of species exhibited exceeding 600. The shells, both New Zealand and foreign, and other invertebrata, are placed in desk cases in the centre of the hall. The north side of the gallery is occupied by the New Zealand birds, a very complete collection of which is shown. Special attention should be given to those compartments containing the kiwis, or species of apteryx, and the parrots, including the well-known kakapo and kea. At the west end of the gallery will be found a case containing specimens of moas, or dinornis, and others of the extinct flightless birds of New Zealand. Unfortunately, the Museum is not well supplied in this department, most of the chief finds having been made in the South Island. The fishes, of which only a small series can be at present shown, are at the east end of the gallery. The wall cases on the south side are filled with rock specimens and New Zealand and foreign fossils. The mineralogical collections are placed in desk cases surrounding the whole of the gallery. Very great care has been taken in their arrangement, and the whole of the specimens are mounted on wooden tablets, and supplied with printed labels. The Auckland Museum was originally founded in 1854, through the exertions of the late Dr. Sinelair, a man of considerable attainments in natural history. After his death in 1862, it made little or no progress for several years, although nominally supported by the Provincial Government. In 1868 it was handed over to the care of the Auckland Institute, and the formation of collections illustrating the natural history of New Zealand was at once commenced. The first portion of the present building was crected in 1876, and in 1893 the Ethnological Hall. Since 1874 the collections have been under the care of the present curator, Mr. T. F. Cheeseman, F.L.S., F.Z.S.
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Mr. T. F. Cheeseman,
             
 F.L.S., F.Z.S., Curator of the Auckland Museum, Meteorological Observer, and Secretary to the Auckland Acclimatization Society, is a son of the Rev.
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Mr. T. F. Cheeseman.


Thomas Cheeseman, dissenting minister, and was born at Hull, Yorkshire, England, in 1847. He accompanied his parents in 1851 to New Zealand, and was educated at Parnell Grammar School, under the Rev. Dr. Kinder, and completed his educational course under the Rev. Mr. Blackburn, at St. John's College. On leaving college Mr. Cheeseman spent some years studying botany, and made numerous journeys through the North Island, collecting various plants; at the same time he corresponded and exchange with European and American botanists. He then started farming, but still continued to add to his already large botanical collections. In 1874 a curator was required for the Auckland Museum, and Mr. Cheeseman's knowledge of New Zealand botany secured for him the appointment. He has travelled through the whole of New Zealand, and the Kermadec Islands, collecting plants, and also made an expeditio to Rarotonga with the same object. Mr. Cheeseman, as an authority on New Zealand plants, is well known throughout the colonies, and amongst European and American botanists. He is at present engaged on behalf of the New Zealand Government in the preparation of a systematic work on the botany of New Zealand, containing a description of all the known species. It is intended to supplement Sir Joseph Hooker's work on the New Zealand Flora.
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Chief Post Office.
              Though built over thirty years ago, the Auckland Post Office is a very fine edifice. It is situated near the foot of Shortland Street and adjoins the Victoria Arcade, which imposing pile stands at the corner of Shortland and Fort Streets, facing Queen Street. The Post Office extends through to Fort Street, and has thus two street frontages. For some years the public could enter from one street and pass to the other through a fine corridor, on one side of which were the different departments for letter-delivery, stamps, and money order business, while the Custom House long-room was on the other side. But the increase of postal business at the great northern centre long ago interfered with this very convenient arrangement. The Custom House was driven to a fine new building in Custom Street, and the corridor was so transformed that anxious enquirers desiring an interview with the chief postmaster or the chief clerk are now very civilly directed to return to Shortland Street, pass through the areade and re-enter the building from Fort Street in order to discover the private offices of those gentlemen. As may be imagined even the long suffering public of Auckland cried out against the outrage, and a site near the wharf has been secured on which it is intended to build a more suitable structure in the near future. The Auckland Post Office probably gets through the greatest mass of work of any in the Colony, and certainly a new building is badly needed. Two lady clerks attend to the sale of stamps and registration of letters, an innovation which seems to be generally appreciated. The official staff consists of Mr. Biss, chief postmaster, Mr. E. V. Senn, chief clerk, Mr. Dignan, chief money-order clerk, and about forty other clerks, twenty-four letter carriers, and five messengers. Mails are usually made up an hour before the ascertained time of the departure of steamers or trains by which they are to be despatched.
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Mr. Samuel Birt Biss,
             
 Chief Postmaster of the Auckland Postal District, was born in Calcutta, India, in 1813, and is the son of Mr. I. B. Biss, merchant, of Calcutta. Mr. Biss entered the postal service as a cadet on the 1st of March, 1860, and has completed forty years of service with the department in New Zealand. In December, 1861, when the discovery of gold was causing a great accession of population in Otago, Mr. Biss was appointed chief clerk of the Dunedin Post Office, and remained at Dunedin through all the busy times consequent on the development of the goldfields in Otago. On the 2nd of March, 1870, he was appointed
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Mr. 
S. B. Biss.


chief postmaster at Auckland, on the retirement, on pension, of the late Mr. Corbett, and has held his present appointment during the past thirty years.
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Mr. Emil Victor Senn,
              Chief Clerk of the Auckland Post Office, was recently appointed to his present position in succession to the late Mr. L. Halliwell. Mr. Senn is fully referred to on page 160 of the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia of New Zealand.
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                The Telegraph Office
              
              at Auckland occupies a considerable portion of the Post Office building. The large receiving room, which is well appointed, is situated on the ground floor, on the right of the entrance. Five counter clerks are employed in this room. The operating room upstairs extends the whole length of the building from Shortland Street to Fort Street, and there forty-two operators are engaged. The offices of the officer-in-charge and the Inspector are also upstairs, the entrance being from Fort Street. There are one principal and three assistant despatch clerks, and twenty-six messengers
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                The Auckland Telephone Office
              
             
 occupies one long room upstairs in the Post Office building. The latest system of operating is in vogue, the universal switchboard being used. There are nearly 1200 subscribers on the exchange list, and the staff under the officer-in-charge comprises a chief attendant,
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Telephone Exchange.


five male night attendants, and twenty-eight female attendants.
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Mr. William George Meddings,
              Inspector of Telegraphs, Auckland District, hails from Shropshire, England, where he was born in 1844. Arriving in Lyttelton with his parents by the ship “Duke of Portland” in 1851, he was educated at private schools in Christchurch, and joined the Telegraph Department in 1867 as an operator, having previously learned telegraphy. Mr. Meddings opened the station at Selwyn, which was almost his first work after joining the department. For some years he was employed in relieving and inspecting duty, and was appointed Inspector of Telegraphs for Canterbury in 1878. He was transferred from Christchurch to Nelson in April, 1899, and from Nelson to Auckland in September, 1900. Mr. Meddings isan unattached member of the Masonic Order. He was married in 1864 to a daughter of Mr. Robert Main, farmer, and has one son and five daughters.
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Mr. Henry Fowle Seager,
              the Officer-in-charge of the Auckland Telegraph Office, and the Auckland Telephone Exchange, was for many years connected with the Dunedin office, and latterly was assistant officer at Wanganui. He is referred to on page 1880 of the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia of New Zealand.
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Custom-House.
                The Customs Department at Auckland occupies a considerable portion of the ground floor of the handsome building known as the Custom-house, which is situated at the corner of Custom Street and Albert Street. The offices include the collector's room, landing surveyor's office, and the “long-room,” all well situated, well lighted, well appointed, and well managed.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Alexander Rose,
               
 Collector of Customs for the Port of Auckland, is reputed to be the oldest officer in the Customs Department in New Zealand, having been in the service forty-two years. He was born at Fishponds, near Bristol, England, in 1840, where his father, Mr. John Tower Rose, was landed proprietor, and was educated at private schools and at King's College, London. His grandfather was a wealthy banker and West Indian merchant, and owned sugar plantations in Jamaica. In 1856 he came to Lyttelton, New Zealand, in the ship “Joseph Fletcher,” but shortly afterwards removed to Auckland, where he engaged in farming. Mr. Rose accepted a cadetship under Colonel Russell (58th Regiment) on his run at Walopi, Nelson, in 1857, leaving in the following year for Christchurch, where in 1858 he received an appointment in the Customs Department. Three years later he became sub-collector of Customs, and was sent to open Timaru as a port of entry. In 1863 he was appointed landing surveyor in Lyttelton, and after four years was transferred to Auckland. Early in 1875 he became Collector of Customs at Lyttelton, and in 1892 received his present appointment. Mr. Rose was a member of the General Synod of the Church of England in 1867,—the last year Bishop Selwyn presided—, and was a member of the Diocesan Syned in Christchurch from 1864 to 1867, and again from 1878 to 1892. During his residence in Lyttelton, he was a
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member of the Lyttelton Rifle Volunteers. He is a Master Mason, and an old bowler, having played in representative teams on several occassions. Mr. Rose married in 1860. Miss Clara Isabella Edmiston, and has two



sons and three daughters, one son being deceased.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Richard Dignan,
                Chief Clerk of the Customs Department, Auckland, is a son of the late Hon. Patrick Dignan, and was born in Auckland in 1854. On leaving school he joined the Customs Department as a cadet, in 1871, and shortly afterwards proceeded to the Thames office. He was attached to the Commissioner's office, Wellington, for eight months in 1874, and went thence to Auckland, where he remained until he was promoted to the Oamaru branch in 1876. Mr. Dignan returned to Auckland in 1878, having been promoted to the position of landing water, and he held the position until he was promoted, in 1889, to be officer-in-charge at New Plymouth, where he remained until 1891. In that year he proceeded to Lyttelton, where he took the position of examining officer, and in the following year, 1892, went to Wellington as senior landing waiter. In 1894 Mr. Dignan returned to Auckland as examining officer, and was promoted in the following year to the chief clerkship. Mr. Dignan married Miss Sheehan, sister of late Hon. John Sheehan. He is a life member of the Auckland Grammar School Old Boys' Association, and a vice-president of the Eden and Epsom Lawn Tennis and Croquet Club.
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Mr. William Sibbald,
                Landing-Surveyor, Auckland, has been in the Customs Department for over thirty years. He was born in Edinburgh in 1847, and came with his parents to New Zealand in 1853 in the ship “Clutha.” Mr. Sibbald received his education at various schools in Dunedin, finishing at the High School. He entered the service of the Bank of Otago in 1865 and four years later joined the Customs. After holding various positions in Dunedin, Wellington and Christchurch, he received his present appointment in 1891. Mr. Sibbald married in 1880 Miss Flanagan, sister of Mr. F. W. Flanagan, of the Lands and Survey Department, Wellington, and has one son and three daughters. In athletics, Mr. Sibbald has been both prominent and successful, having won several prizes for rifle shooting at Auckland, and others in connection with boat races at Christchurch. He now devotes his time to the camera and bowling.

            

            

              
              

                

Captain William Douglas Reid,
               
 Superintendent of the Mercantile Marine and Examiner of Masters and Mates, Custom House, Auckland, is a son of Mr. L. Reid, and was born at Auckland in 1860. On leaving school he showed a great bent for a seafaring life, and was apprenticed in his sixteenth year to the well-known Auckland firm of Messrs Stone Bros., shipowners. When he left that firm's service he was engaged with Messrs McArthur and Co., in the Island trade. In 1882 he went to England and entered the service of Messrs Lampart and Holt, of Liverpool, with whom he remained for some years, trading to the Brazils. On returning to New Zealand Captain Reid joined the service of the Union Steamship Company in the s.s. “Hauroto.” He was successively in various vessels of that Company's fleet, principally in the intercolonial and Indian trade, and left the Company in 1898, having been previously advanced to the position of master in its service. It was then that he accepted from the Government the
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responsible position he now holds. Captain Reid, himself an ardent yachtsman, thoroughly identifies himself with boat racing and yachting, and freely gives the benefit of his experience to boating men and yachtsmen. He is also an enthusiastic volunteer, and is lieutenant in the Devonport Submarine Miners. Since the formation of the New Zealand Natives'


[image: Captain W. D. Reid.]

Captain 
W. D. Reid.


Association he has been a member of that body. As a Freemason, he is a member of Lodge Sir Walter Scott, and is deservedly popular amongst his large circle of friends.
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District Land And Survey Department.
                The Lands and Survey Officers for the Auckland district occupy a large portion of the Custom House. The staff is about the strongest in the Colony, numbering over forty. For the year 1896 no fewer than 2,000 mining survey plans were received for record, dealing with an area of 159,000 acres. The total area of the Hauraki Mining District is 1,056,000 acres, while that of Puhipuhi is 200,000 acres.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Lawrence Carroll Cussen.
               
 Inspecting Surveyor for Auckland district, was born in Limerick. Ireland, in 1844, and is a son of Mr. J. S. Cussen, a farmer and property-owner of that county. Educated at Tullabeg
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College, Ireland, Mr. Cussen went to India in the service of the old East India Company for a year or more, and returned to Ireland for a short visit before coming to this Colony in 1865. Three years later he joined the Survey Department under Captain Heale, and assisted Mr. O'Neill on the outbreak of the Thames gold-fields. He was subsequently engaged in the survey of the Auckland and Riverhead railway, and the Waikato railway—between Ngarnawahia and Hamilton—under the Public Works Department. In 1875 he removed to Otago, and assisted in the survey of the Main Trunk line, having charge of the section known as the Kaihiku section. A year later Mr. Cussen joined the staff of Mr. S. Percy Smith in Auckland, and for some fifteen years was engaged in major traingulations in the Auckland province, triangulating during that time more than 6,000 square miles of territory. For the past ten years he has been employed as field inspector for the Auckland district. He is a Fellow of the Royal Geological Society, and is the writer of many able papers on various subjects, including geology and physlography. He is an honorary and complimentary member of the Royal Geographical Society of Australasia. Mr. Cussen was married in 1876 to Miss Wallnutt, daughter of Mr. Charles Wallnutt, late of Searrif, County Clare, Ireland. Of ten children eight are daughters. In his days of greater leisure, Mr. Cussen was an enthusiastic footballer. He played with the Auckland representative team on several occasions, and claims to have taken part in the first match played in the northern capital. He was captain of one of the first Waikato teams.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alfred Herbert Vickerman,
                District Surveyor for the Auckland District, is the youngest son of the late Dr. F. L. Vickerman, of Nelson. He was born at Spring Creek, Marlborough, in 1862, and educated at the Nelson College. After successfully passing the Civil Service examination he was appointed to a cadetship in the Survey Department at Nelson, in 1880. Three years later, on passing the surveyors' examination, he was promoted as assistant draughtsman in the Auckland office, and subsequently went into the field in 1888, as assistant surveyor. Mr. Vickerman was promoted in 1898 to the rank of District Surveyor. Upon the opening up of the King Country he was transferred to the roads branch, under Mr. C. W. Hursthouse, at Te Kuiti, and took charge of that office temporarily until he was transferred to the roads office, Auckland, Mr. Vickerman is of a retiring disposition, but he has merited his position by the faithful discharge of his duties.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Arthur Blundell Wright,
               
 Government Road Surveyor for the Auckland
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Provincial District, was born at Singapore, India, in 1852, and educated at Madras College, and the University of St. Andrew's, Scotland. He was afterwards articled as a



civil and mechanical engineer at Kircaldie, where he learned civil engineering with Messrs Sang, and the mechanical branch with Messrs Douglas and Grant. Mr. Wright arrived in New Zealand about the year 1876, and obtained employment as overseer under Mr. Errington, who was then constructing the Auckland water works. On the completion of those works in 1878 Mr. Wright joined the Survey Department as draughtsman in the Auckland office, and was appointed Road Surveyor in 1880. Since then he has been engaged chiefly in laying out and forming roads, and in the drainage of swamps in the north of Auckland. He has also designed and superintended the construction of several large bridges, including those built across the Waipa river at Ngaruawahia, and the Mangakahia and Wairua bridges at Whangarei, Mr. Wright has been twice Worshipful Master of Lodge St. Andrew's, 418, S.C.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Charles Kensington,
               
 Surveyor and Chief Draughtsman of the Auckland District Lands and Survey Department, has been in the service of the State for more than thirty years. The eldest son of Mr. Charles Jephson Kensington, of Princettin Worton, Wiltshire, England, the subject of this notice, was born in Cricceth, Wales, in 1845. He received his primary education at private schools, and studied at Grosvenor School, Bath, and at King's School, Bruton, England. At the age of eighteen, Mr. Kensington came to Auckland per ship “William Miles,” and, joining the Militia, he served through the East Coast campaign of the Maori War as an ensign. In those stirring times he saw much active service on the East Coast, and was present at many exciting skirmishes with the Maoris. Returning to Auckland at the end of the campaign, he
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was appointed captain of the Auckland Cadet Volunteers, and received the New Zealand War Medal in recognition of his services. In 1864 Mr. Kensington entered the Lands and Survey Department. During the absence of his chief he has frequently acted as Commissioner of Crown Lands and Chief Surveyor. Mr. Kensington has always taken a warm interest in public affairs. Before the Government took over the industrial schools he was joint secretary with Col. Haultain for those institutions, and until the present hospital boards were established, he was a member of the old board. At a later date he was a member of the Mt. Albert School Committee. In church matters he takes a prominent part, and occupies the position of synodsman in connection with the Anglican Church. In 1873 Mr. Kensington married a daughter of Lieut.-Col. Wm. Henry Kenny (73rd Regiment), sometime member of the Legislative Council, and has three sons and three daughters.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Thomas Matthew Taylor,
               
 Receiver of Land Revenue for the Auckland Land District, was born in Wellington in
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1852, and is the son of the late Mr. Thomas Taylor, bandmaster of the 65th Regiment. Mr. Taylor was educated in Auckland at the Military School, and at the Catholic High School. He became a cadet in the Auckland Provincial Land Office in 1869, and, on the abolition of the provinces in 1876, was transferred to the Lands Office under the General Government, being promoted to his present appointment in 1892. Mr. Taylor was married in 1881 to Miss Alice M. Taylor, daughter of Mr. John Taylor, who is referred to in another article as inspector of railway carriages and waggons. Mr. and Mrs. Taylor have an only daughter.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Eugene Bellairs,
               
 who is at present (1900) attached to the gold mining branch of the Survey Department at Auckland, occupies a unique position, inasmuch as he is probably the sole survivor of the historic Wairau Massacre. The son of the late Captain J. H. Bellairs, of the Royal Navy, the subject of this notice was born in Brittany, France, in 1824. Educated in his native place and at Newcastle-on-Tyne, England, Mr. Bellairs came to New Zealand early in 1843. Landing at Nelson, he joined
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one of the survey parties despatched to survey the Wairau Plains on behalf of the New Zealand Company. Shortly after beginning operations, all the survey parties were turned off the land and their huts burnt to the ground, by order of the Maori Chief, Rauparaha. Mr. Bellairs subsequently joined the ill-fated expedition, sent by the Government to apprehend the chiefs who were responsible for this act. The result is well-known, for about twenty Europeans, including most of the leading men of Nelson, were creuelly and treacherously massacred, after their surrender to Rauparaha under promise of safety. Mr. Bellairs was one of the few who effected their escape. Following is a quotation from a local newspaper:-“Shortly afterwards he joined his cousin, Captain Bull, who, with a detachment of his regiment (H.M. 99th), was stationed on the Blue Mountains (New South Wales), in charge of a stockade where some 300 convicts were engaged in road-making. In 1846 Mr. Bellairs accompanied, as a cadet, the first overland expedition that ever attempted to reach South Australia by the Darling River. This party was organised by a Mr. Ray, with a view of taking to Adelaide a mob of cattle and horses. The trip took ten months to accomplish. At the time, they were considered to have been very fortunate in getting through, as the blacks were known to be the very worst they could have encountered, and more especially as the expedition numbered only sixteen all told. Shortly after his arrival in Adelaide, Mr. Bellairs received an appointment on the survey staff, under Captain Frome, R.E., and at the end of the ‘forties’ surveyed a road through the 120 mile scrub desert between the Murray River, near Lake Alexandra, and the Tatitara country. This subsequently, in 1850, became



the highway to the Victorian Goldfields, effecting a saving of some seventy-five miles, as compared with the old Mount Gambier Road. Mr. Bellairs, after the action at the Eureka Stockade, took cypher despatches for the officer in charge of the Ballarat military encampment—a Major Thomas—to General Macarthur, whom he found encamped at Ballan, on his way with reinforcements to support that officer. About 1862 Mr. Bellairs returned to New Zealand, and was engaged by the Government in making surveys under the late Major Heaphy, during active operations in the Waikato.” Mr. Bellairs was married in Tasmania in 1855 to the second daughter of Mr. H. Priaulx, Assistant Commissary General of that colony.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George A. Kallender.
                Accountant of the Auckland branch of the Crown Lands Department, has been in the service over twenty years. Born in India in 1853, where his father—General Kallender, of the Madras Cavalry—lived, the subject of this notice received his education at private schools in England, and, returning to India, remained in that country for five or six years. He came to New Zealand in 1875, and two years later joined the Civil Services as clerk and draughtsman. Mr. Kallender married in 1879 the daughter of Mr. Vercoe, settler, of Auckland.
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Mr. Gerhard Mueller,
                Chief Surand Inspector of State Forests, is the chairman, ex-officio, of the Auckland Waste Lands Board.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Robert Thompson,
                Member of the House of Representatives for Marsden, is a member of the Waste Lands Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Renshaw,
                A Member of the Waste Lands Board, is elsewhere referred to in this volume as an ex-mayor of the Thames.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. David Lundon,
                who is elsewhere referred to in this volume, is a Member of the Waste Lands Board.

            

            

              
              


                
Major Harris,
                M.L.C., who is a Member of the Waste Lands Board, is elsewhere referred to as a member of the Legislative Council.
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Land Transfer Office And Deeds Registry.
                The office of the District Land Registrar and Registrar of Deeds for the Auckland district is situated on the ground floor of the S.M. Court buildings in High Street.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edwin Bamford,
                Registrar of Deeds and District Land Registrar for the Auckland district, has been in the Civil Service for nearly thirty years. The son of Mr. John Dean Bamford, one of the first solicitors practising in Canterbury, the subject of this notice was born in Shropshire, England, in 1846, and came with his parents to New Zealand in 1851 in the ship “Steadfast.” Educated in Lyttelton and Christchurch, Mr. Bamford studied law under Mr. W. Sefton Moorhouse and Mr. Justice Williams, and was admitted to the Bar in 1871. A year later he was appointed Examiner of Titles under the Government, and was at various times stationed at Napier, Blenheim, New Plymouth, and Nelson. He was transferred to Auckland in 1893. Mr. Bamford is also the Examiner of Titles, Registrar of Industrial and Provident Societies, Registrar of Joint Stock Companies, and Registrar of Building Societies.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Luke Hallam Holloway,
               
 Deputy Registrar of Deeds for the Auckland district, was born in Nottingham, England, in 1850. He is the youngest son of the late
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Mr. John Holloway, contractor, and was educated at the local grammar school, arriving at Auckland in the year 1865 in the ship “Lord Nelson.” After spending several years on the Thames and Coromandel Goldfields, Mr. Holloway accepted an appointment in 1879 in the local branch of the Land Tax Department, and was afterwards transferred to the Property Tax Department. Two years later he entered the Deeds Office, in which he has been several times promoted. Mr. Holloway's general and local knowledge has been of great service in the different offices he has filled. In 1874 he married the eldest daughter of Mr. W. Gilmour, of Rockhead, County Derry, Ireland, and has several children.
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                  The Government Valuation Of Land And Advances To Settlers Departments
                
                (William Duncan, supervising valuer), Auckland District Office, Strand Arcade, Queen Street. The Auckland office of the Advances to Settlers Department was established in 1894, and the Land Valuations branch two years later. Under the latter department the office undertakes all the valuations for local bodies, 180 of which were, in 1900, using the rolls for rating purposes. There were formerly 207 local rolls in force, and as many as thirty clerks were employed from time to time. The departmental staff makes all valuations for the public service, including the Post Office, Government Insurance, Public Trust, Advances to Settlers, Land Tax and Stamp Offices, and for the Commissioners of Public Debt Sinking Fund, as well as for the guidance of the Government when land is required under the Land for Settlements Act, and the Public Works Act of 1894. In connection with the Advances to Settlers Department, the loans applied for in the Auckland district, up to the 31st of March, 1900, numbered 2380, for sums authoring to £679,938, of which 1607 were authorised for £431,575. Since March, 1900, there has been no falling off in the volume of business, and the institution has evidently come to stay. The total sum advanced by the department in the colony up to that date was £2,633,440. From the report submitted to Parliament in 1900 it appeared that the indebtedness of the Department to the Consolidated Fund had been cleared off during the preceding year, and the office had sufficient funds available to meet, unaided, its liabilities in respect of interest, and so far no losses had been made.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Duncan,
               
 J.P., Supervising Valuer and Chief Valuer in the Auckland District under the Government Land Valuation and Advances to Settlers Departments, was born in Skene, Aberdeenshire, Scotland, in 1853. He received his early education at the Aberdeen Grammar School, and came to Auckland with his parents in 1864 by the ship “Gladiator.” For some years he lived with his parents at Raglan, where his father took up some land. Later on he went to Canterbury, where he received further education at the Canterbury College. He was for some time a master builder in Christchurch.
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For several years afterwards he resided on the Newlands estate, Ruapuke, Raglan, where he owns 1200 acres, mostly improved. During his residence in the country, he took an



active part in local affairs, and was chairman of Raglan County Council for some years, as well as chairman of Karioi Road Board and Ruapuke school committee. Having a fair knowledge of the Maori language, Mr. Duncan acted for the Government in 1876 in connection with native difficulties at Kawhia. He was subsequently overseer for some public works in Raglan County, under the resident engineer, and afterwards became secretary of the New Zealand Farmers' Association in Auckland. In 1890 he was appointed inspecting assessor under the Property Tax Act, and when the Advances to Settlers Act came into force, he was selected from many applicants as chief valuer, and subsequently became supervising valuer under the Government Valuation of Land Act. Before entering the Government service, Mr. Duncan took a keen interest in politics, and being a ready and fluent speaker, he was frequently before the public, and was well known; but although he was several times encouraged to contest a seat for the House of Representatives, he steadily declined. Mr. Duncan was married, in 1879, to the oldest daughter of Captain Swann, of Aotea, brother-in-law to the late Captain Fairchild, but has no family.
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Department Of Inspection Of Machinery,
                Palmersten Buildings, Queen, Street, Auckland. This branch office of one of the departments of the public service was opened in 1874, when Mr. W. J. Jobson, senior inspector in Auckland, was placed in charge. The branch does the work of the whole of the provincial district, and there are two inspectors.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William James Jobson,
                Senior Inspector of Machinery and Engineer Surveyor, who is in charge of the Auckland district, was born in 1832, at Newcastle-on-Tyne, England, and was educated at Trinity House School in his native place. He was apprenticed as an engineer, and served three years with Messers Richardson and Sons, of Hartlepool, and also three years with Messrs R. Stephenson and Co., of Newcastle-on-Tyne. Till 1862 Mr. Jobson was employed in the Baltic, Mediterranean, and West Indian trade, and left London in that year by the steamer “Phœbe” as chief engineer. The vessel was detained seven months at Bermuda, and was purchased by the Inter-colonial Company of Australia, afterwards the Panama Company, and reached Melbourne in 1863. Mr. Jobson remained on the “Phœbe,” which was engaged in the intercolonial and interprovincial trade, till 1874, when he left her at Wellington, and joined the Government service as inspector of machinery and engineer and surveyor, and was appointed to the position he has since held in Auckland. Mr. Jobson was married in 1875.

              
[Mr. Jobson retired from the public service in February, 1901, after the foregoing article was in type.]
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Mr. Ludovic Blackwood,
               
 one of the Inspectors of Machinery, stationed at Auckland, was born at Johnstone, Renfrewshire, Scotland, in 1849. He was educated at Johnstone district school, and served an apprenticeship to the engineering firm of T. Shanks
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and Sons. Mr. Blackwood came to Sydney in 1871, and was employed by the Australian Steam Navigation Company, and afterwards on the s.s. “Mikado,” one of the San Francisco mail steamers, the property of Messrs McGregor, of Leith. He went Home by this vessel, via China, and after being for two years on the West Coast of Africa, entered the service of the Union Steam Ship Company, and came to New Zealand as engineer on the s.s. “Penguin,” in 1879. Five years later Mr. Blackwood joined the staff of the s.s. “Hinemoa,” and was appointed eighteen months afterwards an inspector of machinery and engineer surveyor. He was stationed successively at Christchurch, Dunedin, Picton, and other ports, and was transferred to Auckland in November, 1890. Mr. Blackwood was married, in 1876, to a daughter of the late Mr. James Ramsay, of Kilmarnock, Ayrshire, Scotland.
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Stock Department,
                Auckland. This is a branch of the Agricultural Department, which has its headquarters at Wellington in the office of the Secretary for Agriculture.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Frederick Shaw,
               
 Inspector of Stock for the Auckland district, joined the department about sixteen years ago. He was
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born in the Isle of Man in 1838, is the son of Captain J. S. Shaw, of the Royal Artillery, and was educated in his native place and afterwards at Liverpool and King's College, London. Mr. Shaw went to the Highlands of Scotland, where he was engaged for three years in stock-raising, and in 1858 he emigrated to New Zealand. Shortly after his arrival, he purchased land in Otago and began farming and stock-raising. A few years later, he tried his fortune at gold digging at Tuapeka, but soon afterwards returned to his farm, where he remained until 1882, when he received the appointment of Rabbit Inspector for the Taieri district. Seven years later he was promoted to his present position in Auckland. In 1876, Mr. Shaw married a daughter of Mr. G. Lloyd, of Dunedin, and has fifteen children.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. F. H. Brittain,
                Inspector of Stock, is referred to in the military section of this volume, as lieutenant of the Seadon Horse.

            

            

              
              

                

Captain Thomas Broun,
               
 F.E.S., Government Entomologist and Fruit Inspector at Auckland, an old Imperial veteran, was born on the 15th of July, 1838, at Edinburgh,



Scotland. He was educated and married there. His father and uncle were military officers, both were naturalists and artists, and his uncle was a distinguished author on
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natural history. At the age of sixteen Captain Broun received his first commission during the Crimean war. When that ended he proceeded to Burmah, in 1856, and afterwards served with his regiment, H.M. 35th Royal Sussex, in Bengal, throughout the trying period of the Indian mutiny. He also served with the 1st Waikato Regiment during the Maori war in Waikato, and on the East Coast, from September, 1863, till its conclusion, usually in command of isolated redoubts, sometimes in command of Imperial troops. During some twenty years after the war he devoted most of his time to the study of New Zealand insects, the beetles more particularly. He is the author of the work on New Zealand Coleoptera, the first volume of which was published by the Government in 1880. Six smaller volumes were subsequently issued, covering 1504 pages, and containing descriptions of 2592 species, most of which were new to science. Some other portions of the work were published in London afterwards, and types of many of his new genera and species were beautifully illustrated in a work published in London under the supervision of the authorities of the British Museum. All that work was done by Captain Broun without remuneration, but he has been elected an honorary member of European scientific societies and Australian naturalists' clubs, in recognition of his original researches. Captain Broun was appointed to his present position in 1894. Since then he has contributed many papers dealing with the life history of insects, and with his discoveries of insects and fungi which destroy pests on orchard trees and other plants.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Robinson,
                Chief Clerk of the Agricultural Department, is referred to elsewhere in this volume as a lieutenant of the Devonport Submarine Miners.
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Births, Deaths and Marriages Registry.

            

              
              


                
District Office Of Registrar Of Births, Deaths, And Marriages.
                This department is situated in the Custom House, Custom Street West.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edmund Humphrey Lyons,
                Registrar of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, Registrar of Electors and Medical Practioners, etc., for the Auckland district, was born in 1859 in India, where his father, Colonel E. W. Lyons, was an officer in the Bombay Staff Corps. Young Lyons was sent to England to be educated, and after leaving college went to South Africa, where he took part in the Zulu war, being present at the relief of Isandula and Rorke's Drift. On the conclusion of the war, he engaged for some years in sugar-planting in Natal. Mr. Lyons arrived in New Zealand in 1884 and in the same year received an appointment under the General Government in the Public Works Department, Wellington. Four years later he was transferred to the Registrar-General's Department, and in 1893 received his present appointment. Mr. Lyons married in 1884 Miss Alice Aubrey, daughter of the late Mr. H. R. Aubrey, Resident Magistrate at Whangarei, and has one child.
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                  The Auckland Police District
                
                comprises all the country north of Auckland to the North Cape, and the southern boundary extends to about 150 miles south of Auckland, from the south of Kawhia on the West Coast, through the King Country, and up to the north of Tauranga harbour on the East Coast. The central police station is an imposing building situated at the corner of Princes Street and O'Rorke Street, and facing Albert Park; and there is a station in Chancery Lane facing the Magistrate's Court. The district is under the supervision of Inspector Cullen, and the district force consists of a sub-inspector, eight sergeants, six defectives, and 104 constables.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Cullen,
                Inspector of Police for the district of Auckland, was born in Ireland in 1851. He joined the Royal Irish Constabulary in 1869, and remained in it until 1876, when he came to New Zealand, where he joined the Colonial Armed Constabulary. On the abolition of the provinces he was transferred to the police at Blenheim, and in 1878 was promoted to be sergeant. He was subsequently transferred successively to Dunedin, Timaru, Christchurch, Napier, Wanganui. In 1879 he was promoted to the rank of inspector, and took charge of the Nelson and Westland district. On the retirement of the late Inspector Hickson, in 1899, he was appointed to his present position.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edward Wilson,
                Sub-Inspector of Police of the Auckland district, was born in Dublin, in 1854, and arrived in Auckland ten years later. He joined the Armed Constabulary in 1871, and served at New Plymouth, Wanganui, Christchurch, Akaroa, and Palmerston North. In 1899 he was transferred to his present position in Auckland.
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Mount Eden Gaol,
               
 as it is commonly called, though its official title is “Auckland Gaol,” occupies a section of sixty-two acres at the foot of the mountain on its northern side. An area of about four acres is enclosed by a wall of most solid masonry, averaging about 18 feet 6 inches in height,
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and built in 1872 by free labour, at the expense of the Auckland Provincial Government. A part of the unenclosed land is leased by the Colonial Ammunition Company, for their cartridge factory, and the Auckland City Council use another large portion for the employment of old and otherwise incapable workers. The gaol itself was built by prison labour. The older portion contains eighty-one cells, and the fine new addition provides eighty-six cells, making a total of 167. The average number of prisoners for 1899 was 154 males and 15 females. The officials number twenty-five, of whom two are women. Five male officials are stationed at the auxiliary prison at Fort Cautley, North Head. Mr. F. E. Severne is the gaoler, and the principal warders are Messrs Ironside and Chilton, while Mr. Rutherford is foreman of works, and Mrs. Maher is matron. During the year 1899 the admissions totalled 773 males and 207 females, and the discharged 777 and 205 males and females respectively. The daily sick average is: for males 3.07, and for females .35, the sickeness being mainly due to delirium tremens. Within the gaol walls are the mounds of ten who have suffered the extreme penalty of the law. The prisoners rise at 5.30 in summer and 6.30 in winter, and are locked up at 4.30 p.m. during the winter and 5.30 p.m. during the summer months. All the apartments are lofty and thoroughly well ventilated, the kitchen being especially large and airy.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Francis Egerton Severne,
               
 the Governor of the Auckland Gaol and Probation Officer for the Auckland District, was born in Derby, England, in 1841, and is the son of Mr. Francis Severne, barrister-at-law of that city. He was educated by private tuition in Pembrokeshire, Wales, and came to this Colony in 1864 per “Queen of
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the Deep,” landing at Auckland. Early in 1865 he went to Hokitika and for a time tried farming at Mangowal. He then returned to Auckland, and ultimately joined the prison service as warder in 1872, and until 1883 was a clerk in the Auckland prison. Receiving the appointment of governor of Nelson gaol, Mr. Severne remained at that post for eight years, when he was transferred to Napier; and he was appointed Governor of Auckland Gaol on the 1st of February, 1900. Mr. Severne was married in 1866 to the daughter of Mr. J. J. Robinson, an English solicitor, and has a daughter and four sons. The eldest son, Mr. F. L. Severne, is in the office of the chief inspector of schools in Wellington; the second, Mr. G. E. Severne, is in the office of the inspector or telegraphs, Auckland; the third is in the Bank of New Zealand at Napier; and the youngest is fourth master at the Napier High school.

            

            

              
              


                

Mrs. Fanny Maher,
                Matron of Auckland Gaol, was born in Derry, Ireland, in 1855, and is a daughter of Mr. McAlary, of that town, where she was educated. She came out to the Colony in 1874 in the ship “La Hogue,” landing at Wellington. After three years in the service of the Government in the Wellington Asylum, she was married to Mr. Thomas Maher, and in 1883 joined the prison service at Addington. Two years later she became matron of Wellington Gaol, and held the same position in Dunedin from 1893 till August 1896, when she was removed to Auckland.
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Official Assignee.
                The Offices of the Official Assignee for the Auckland district are conveniently situated on the ground floor of the Custom House building. Mr. Lawson's jurisdiction extends from the North Cape to Gisborne on the east and to Hawera on the west coast; deputy-official assignees are located at Gisborne, New Plymouth and Hawera.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Lawson,
                J.P., Official Assignee in Bankruptcy for the Northern District, was born near Darlington, England, in 1830, and was educated chiefly at Liverpool. Mr. Lawson entered the service of the East Lancashire Railway Company in 1848, remaining in their employ till 1857, when he joined the Ulverstone and Lancaster Company. He left the latter in 1862, to go into business with his brother-in-law in Liverpool as iron-founders and engineers, under the style of Saml. E. Ibbs and Co. Owing to ill-health, he retired from the partnership in 1871, and in the following year came to New Zealand, under engagement as chief of the office staff of Messrs. J. Brogden and Sons, railway contractors. In 1874 he became manager of the provincial railways of Canterbury, and four years later was appointed by the General Government as Commissioner of the North Island railways. He took up the duties of his present office in 1883. In 1857 Mr. Lawson married Miss 10. Stansfield, of Bury, Lancashire, and has two sons and three daughters surviving. His eldest son, Mr. James Ibbs Lawson, C.E., was killed in July, 1896 (whilst in the discharge of his duties as Resident Engineer of the Napier-Taranaki section of railways), at the Pohangina Bridge, near Ashurst. His eldest surviving daughter married Mr. A. H. Turnbull, of Christchurch.
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Auckland Railway Station.
                The Auckland Railway Station is one of the finest in the Colony. It is mainly of two stories, and presents a fine architectural appearance. There are two extensive platforms, and generally the accommodation is good. The proximity of the station to the wharves and busiest parts of the city, is of immense advantage; Auckland being in this respect far better provided than Wellington or Christchurch. The waiting and refreshment rooms are large, well-ventilated and well-fitted. The departmental offices are chiefly on the upper floor, and are in keeping with those portions of the building more commonly visited by the public. The engine sheds and workshops are contiguous, but the goods she is are inconveniently distant. Incoming parcels are obtainable at the station proper, but should the enquirer find that his package has been considered too large for the parcel office, he is recommended to try the goods shed, more than a quarter of a mile distant. This difficulty is for the present minimised by telephonic communication, and the instrument at the parcel office is so placed that it may be used by the public without inconvenience. Altogether, the Auckland-railway station, offices, sheds and workshops, cover an area of several acres.
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Mr. Robert Buxton,
                Traffic Manager of the Auckland section of the New Zealand railways, was appointed in January, 1901, to succeed Mr. T. E. Donne, who had been placed in charge of the new Tourist and



Health Resorts Department established by the Government. Mr. Buxton entered the railway service at Christchurch in 1874, and resided at Wanganui as traffic manager of the New Plymouth-Foxton section from March, 1886, till the date of his transfer to Auckland. A sketch of his career is given on page 1382 of the Wellington volume of this work.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Bevin,
                Chief Traffic Clerk of the Auckland section of the New Zealand Railways, was born in Dunedin in 1863. On leaving school he entered the railway service at Dunedin as a cadet, and after rising through the various branches he was transferred to Invercargill in 1892, when he was promoted to the position of chief clerk. In 1897 Mr. Bevin was appointed to his present position. He takes a great interest in musical matters, and at Dunedin and Invercargill he was connected with the orchestral societies.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Cyril Holm Biss,
                District Engineer, New Zealand Railways, Auckland district, was born in Dunedin in 1866. He arrived in Auckland at an early age, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. On passing the Civil Service examinations in 1884 he entered the engineering branch of the New Zealand Railway Department, at Dunedin, as a cadet. He was transferred to the headquarters staff in Wellington in 1887, and was subsequently appointed assistant engineer, in which capacity he gained experience of railway engineering in various parts of the colony. Mr. Biss was a student of the Institute of Civil Engineers, and was elected an associate member in 1892. After being appointed a district engineer he was stationed at Invercargill until the early part of 1897, when he was transferred to the Auckland district.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. George Edwin Bowles,
               
 Locomotive Foreman New Zealand Railways, Auckland, was born in Canterbury, Kent, England, in 1857. He was educated at Ashford, and afterwards joined the South Eastern Railway at Ashford, as a telegraphist at Maidstone, and a year later was transferred to the locomotive branch at Cannon Street, London, where he served an apprenticeship of three
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years. In 1875, he came to New Zealand, with his parents, in the ship “Douglas,” and joined the service of the New Zealand railways at Christchurch. Mr. Bowles, for a great number of years, was engaged in running the Christchurch-Dunedin express, and the Dunedin-Invercargill express. In 1898 he was promoted to the position of locomotive foreman at East Town, Wanganui division, and a year later was transferred to the position he now holds at Auckland, where he has charge of the whole of the running department. Mr. Bowles is a man of untiring energy, and well suited for the position he occupies. As a Freemason, he is attached to Lodge Christchurch, No. 91. The father of Mr. Bowles was for many years stationmaster at Rangiora, near Christchurch, and his two brothers are also in the New Zealand railway service. Mr. Bowles married a New Zealand lady, and has a family of five children.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Forester William Styles,
                Stationmaster of the Auckland Station, was formerly stationmaster at Wellington, and is fully referred as such on page 348 of the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              

                
Mr. John Taylor,
               
 Inspector of Carriages and Waggons, Auckland section of New Zealand Railways, has been connected with the railways of the northern capital for more than a quarter of a century. He is a son of the late Mr. John Taylor, railway-carriage
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builder, of Oldbury, Worcestershire, was born in 1836 in Enderby, Leicestershire, England, where he was educated, and was apprenticed to the Railway Carriage Company, of Oldbury. In 1862 he arrived at Auckland in the ship “Ida Zeigler,” and, on the discovery of gold at the Thames, went thither, engaging in mining and building. Returning to Auckland after five years of hard work. Mr. Taylor was appointed foreman carriage and wagon builder to the world-famed railway contractors, Messrs. John Brogden and Sons. A year later, when the Provincial Government took over the railways, he was retained in the position for which his experience so well fitted him, and



in 1888 received his present appointment. In the early days Mr. Taylor saw active service in the militia, and had a good deal of the rough experiences commonly met with in young colonies. As a member of the Order of Oddfellows, Mr. Taylor has taken a prominent part; he holds the high rank of past provincial grand master, and is a member of the Fountain of Friendship Lodge, No. 3920. Several times he has passed through the principal chairs of the lodge, and for some years was treasurer for the district. Mr. Taylor was married in 1859 to the youngest daughter of Mr. Arthur Stamp, manager for the late Sir Lucas Chance, a glass manufacturer who employed 2,400 hands. His eldest son, Mr. Ernest Taylor, is Locomotive Inspector on the Goulburn section of the New South Wales Railways, and a daughter is married to Mr. Thomas Taylor, referred to in these pages as Receiver of Land Revenue for the Auckland district. Mr. and Mrs. Taylor lost five children during their short residence at the Thames. The survivors number four sons and four daughters.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Herbert Pearse,
               
 Goods Foreman, Auckland section of New Zealand Railways, was born at Tavistock, Devonshire, and is the son of Mr. William Pearse, of that town. He was educated at the Tavistock Grammar School, and at Amersham Hall, Oxfordshire. After some three years' service as a clerk in the London office of “Lloyds,” and a four years' sojourn in the United States, Mr. Pearse sailed for Auckland in the s.s. “Tongariro” in 1884. For a year he was engaged in surveying for the Public Works Department, and then entered the Railway Department, rising to his present position in 1892. Mr. Pearse is a member of the committee of the Railway Officers' Institute,
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and takes great interest in the welfare of that association. In the Old Land, he gave some attention to field sports, being for many years skipper of the football and other teams of his school, and subsequently playing with the renowned “Clapham Rovers” (football). Mr. Pearse married in 1886 Miss Hammond, daughter of Mr. C. Hammond, of Auckland, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Public Works Office.
                The Auckland Branch of the Public Works Department is located in the Supreme Court Building. The area under its control is very large, and the rapid growth of the goldfields districts necessitates a correspondingly rapid extension of all public institutions, which at once make their demand upon the Public Works Office for the needful accommodation. The charge of the construction of the defence works is vested in the Public Works Office. Civil marine works are also undertaken, such as wharves at Howick, Manukau Heads, Waiuku Channel, and Maraetai. At Whakatane harbour, about fifty miles south of Tauranga, the rock obstructions at the entrance were blown out and removed by the Department. Government House, the departmental buildings in Customs Street, the court-houses, and the quarantine station are all looked after by the Public Works Office. The principal officers of the Department in Auckland are:—Mr. Charles Ranken Vickerman, resident engineer-in-charge of the district; Mr. Frank M. Hewson, assistant engineer for the railway and other works at Whangarei and neighbourhood; Mr. J. D. Louch, who is engaged on the trunk railway from Mokau southwards; Mr. John S. Stewart, assistant engineer in charge of the Gisborne-Karaka railway; Mr. I. H. Geisow, assistant engineer at Helensville; Mr. C. E. Armstrong, assistant engineer, is stationed on the Kawakawa railway; and Mr. J. J. Hay, assistant engineer on the Paeroa-Waihi railway. Mr. A. Ross is assistant engineer in the Auckland office, and Mr. W. A. Cumming is the architectural assistant. Mr. E. Waddell is clerk, Mr. L. M. Shera, junior clerk, and Mr. G. Glemster, storekeeper.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Charles Ranken Vickerman,
               
 Engineer-in-charge of the Public Works Department, Auckland district, was born on the Marlborough Plains, South Island, in 1855. He is a son of the late Dr. F. L. Vickerman, who came to the Colony in the ship “Kelso” in 1849, and settled in Nelson. Educated at Nelson College, Mr. Vickerman joined the Civil Service in 1872, as a cadet in the engineering branch of the Public Works Department, Wellington. Before the end of that year he was transferred to the province of Marlborough, where he was employed on the Picton-Blenheim line, and in 1874 his services were required for the Tokomairiro-Lawrence railway. Here he remained some two years, being also entrusted with the setting out of two important tunnel works. Mr. Vickerman was next appointed assistant engineer for the Auckland district under Mr. James Stewart, at that time engineer-in-charge of the district. In this capacity, in 1876–77 he was connected with the construction and survey of large sections of the Rangiriri-Te Awamutu and Auckland-Helensville railway lines, and in 1878 removed to Whangarei, where he selected the Kamo-Whangarei line, subsequently taking charge of its construction and making further surveys to Kawakawa. In 1883 he returned to the Auckland office, and was occupied
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with the defence works and the Helensville-northwards and Thames-Hikutaia railways. The very fine passenger station at Auckland, the railway workshops at Newmarket, and many other public buildings were erected under the superintendence of Mr. Vickerman. When Mr. W. H. Hales, then district engineer for Auckland, went to Wellington in 1891 to relieve the late Mr. Blair, engineer-in-chief, Mr. Vickerman was left in charge of the Auckland district; in the following year, was appointed resident engineer, and has had charge of the various railways and building works erected under the new system of co-operative labour since that time. He was married in 1879 to Miss Jones, daughter of Captain Jones, of Auckland. Some eight years later Mrs. Vickerman died, leaving four children, of whom three are boys.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Stephen Stewart,
                Assistant Engineer of the Public Works Department, Auckland, who is a son of Mr. J. T. Stewart, late district engineer of Wanganui, was born in Foxton in 1866. Educated at the Turakina Classical School, where he passed the Junior Civil Service examination, Mr. Stewart entered the Railway Department as an apprentice in the workshops. In 1887 he completed his term and qualified as a mechanical engineer, was subsequently promoted to the Hillside and Addington Workshops, and in 1889 entered the Public Works Department. For some time he was engaged in railway construction in the Manawatu Gorge and at Ashurst, afterwards being raised to the position of assistant engineer on the Rangatira-Mangaonoho section of railways. He superintended, under the co-operative system, the extension of the line to Mangaweka, and in 1896 received his present appointment. Mr. Stewart was married in 1890 to the daughter of Mr. W.



Jones, of Cheltenham, near Feilding, and has two sons and one daughter.
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                  Office Of Inspector Of Factories
                
                (Department of Labour), old City Council Chambers, High Street, Mr. H. Ferguson is inspector of factories for the Auckland district. According to the inspector's reports, there are in Auckland 900 places which come under classification as factories, employing upwards of 8,000 male and female employees. Mr. Ferguson also states that the Act is operating smoothly and gives general satisfaction, whilst the working premises, on the whole, have been greatly improved and are better conducted.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Hubert Ferguson,
                Inspector of Factories and Labour Agent for Auckland, has been in the public service for nearly forty years Born in the north of Ireland in 1846, and educated in his native place, he came to New Zealand in 1862 in the ship “Black Swan.” On arrival in Otago he tried his fortune at gold digging, but soon returned to Dunedin and entered the prison service. In this department he remained thirty years, filling positions in Dunedin, Lyttelton, and Wellington. On the formation of the Labour Department he was appointed inspector of factories for Canterbury, and in 1892 was transferred to Auckland in the same capacity. Mr. Fergnson married Miss Costello in 1865, and has two sons and three daughters.
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                  Mines Department
                
                (Hon. James McGowan. Minister of Mines). The Auckland branch of the Department of Mines has more than once been brought into unusual prominence by the revival of the gold-mining industry, more particularly in the Hauraki Peninsula, where the Department has had, on short notice, to make roads and prospecting tracks, and assist in the establishment of schools of mines in new centres of activity. The Department's area of operations in the Auckland district has greatly increased of late years, and now embraces the whole of the Coromandel Peninsula from Cape Colville to Tauranga, Great Barrier Island, Puhipuhi, and, prospectively, the virgin hill country of the Uriwera. Besides what it does for gold-mining, the Department has to give careful attention to the prosecution and development of important coalfields in the Waikato and northern districts, which contain extensive coal measures.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. James Coutts,
               
 Inspector of Mines for Auckland District, came to New Zealand in 1865, and settled in Papakura, near Auckland, where for a while he carried on farming on a small scale. In September, 1867, after having spent a short time mining at Coromandel, and subsequently making a second attempt at farming, Mr. Coutts settled at the Thames, and has been intimately connected with mining ever since. The “Cambria” and “Deep Level Cross” are among the mines managed by Mr. Coutts, who, in June, 1895, undertook the general management of the Taitapu Gold Estates Company, Ltd., near Collingwood, Nelson. In May of the following year, however, Mr. Coutts resigned that position and entered the public service as Inspector of Mines. For nearly twenty years he sat as a member of the Thames County Council, in which he represented Waiotahi riding. He was a member for some years of the Hospital and Charitablo Aid Boards, and occupied the position of chairman for three years. Of Mr. Coutts's popularity in his public and private positions, there is abundant proof. On severing his connection with the Thames County Council he was presented with a beautifully illuminated address, and a shield containing the portraits of the councillors. At the same time his mining friends gave him a handsome testimonial and a souvenir in the shape of a splendid gold watch and chain, and after his short stay at the Taitapu he was similarly honoured by being presented with a very fine tea and coffee service. Mr. Coutts was born in Peebleshire, Scotland, in 1842, and began his mining career in the coal mines on the estates of
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Captain Beresford. At the age of twenty-one he had charge of the mines, and, after holding the position for two years, he came to this Colony.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Robinson,
                Custodian of the Government Buildings, Auckland, was born in Wellington in 1850, and was educated at private schools. Mr. Robinson spent some time on stations in the North Island, and in 1869 served with the late Hon. John Ballance in Titokowaru's War. He was under fire on several occasions, and received the New Zealand War Medal in recognition of his services. In 1870 he was appointed second steward of the “Luna,” and, in March of the same year, was promoted to the position of chief steward, being transferred to the “Hinemoa” six years later. Mr. Robinson left the latter vessel in 1887 to enter the barracks in Wellington, and three years later received his present appointment. Rescuing a child from drowning in the Wellington Harbour in 1886, he received for this act of bravery the Royal Humane Society's Medal.
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Mr. Robinson was married to Miss Message in 1874, and has three sons, all of whom possess exceptional musical talent.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Robert Cliffe,
               
 Custodian and Gardener at Government House, Auckland, was born in Lincolnshire, England, and educated
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at Ulceby Junction. On leaving school he learned the profession of gardening, and was for some time gardener to Lady Bennett, of Ulceby. He then went to Canada,



where he remained two years, but, wishing to visit New Zealand, which was then much talked about, he came to Auckland. Shortly after his arrival, his professional skill as a gardener secured him the appointment of gardener and curator to the Auckland Acclimatization Society, with which he remained for twenty-three years, and only resigned when the society transferred its operations to Rotorua, as he did not wish to leave his Auckland associations. In 1889 Mr. Cliffe was chosen for and appointed to his present position, and the now charmingly kept grounds about the Auckland Government House testify to his ability and taste. Mr. Cliffe was married previous to his departure from England.
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Charitable Institutions.

          

            
In the number of charitable institutions, for the relief of the suffering, the care of the aged, the rescue of the fallen, and other philanthropic objects, the city of Auckland stands pre-eminently above the other centres of the colony. The late Mr. Edward Costley's name will ever be revered as a benefactor to the suffering and helpless. At his death he bequeathed to each of the following seven institutions the sum of £12,150 : The Auckland Hospital, the Costley Home, the Costley Training Institute, St. Stephen's Orphan Home, the Sailors' Home, the Public Library, and the Auckland Museum. In Auckland city and suburbs there are many institutions in addition to those which are here separately described; for instance, the Women's Home, Parnell; Children's Home, Parnell; Roman Catholic Orphanages at Ponsonby and Takapuna; Little Sisters of the Poor, Ponsonby; Helping Hand Mission; Door of Hope; Prisoners' Aid Society, and others.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Auckland Hospital And Charitable Aid Board
              
              was constituted in November, 1885. Its duties comprise finding the funds for the maintenance of the Hospital, the administration of charitable aid, and the control of some of the various charitable organisations of Auckland. The Board is empowered to make demands on local bodies to meet its actual requirements, and the amounts thus raised are subsidised pound for pound by the Government, which in 1900 was liable for £6675 in this way. The Board consists of ten members, and the following gentlemen were elected on the 28th of November, 1900:—Messrs John Court, James Jamieson, James Stichbury, and Young Warren, representing the Auckland City Council; Mr. Alexander Bruce, the Devonport Borough Council and the Waitemata County Council; Messrs Thomas Allen and John Bollard, representing the road boards in the county of Eden; Mr. Arthur Pearson Friend, the borough councils of Grey Lynn, New-market, Parnell, and Birkenhead; Messrs George Joseph Garland and John Gordon, representing the Onehunga Borough Council and the boards of the road districts in the county of Manukau. Mr. Alexander Bruce is chairman, and Mr. H. N. Garland, secretary.
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Mr. Henry Nelson Garland,
              Secretary and Treasurer of the Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, is the second son of the late Rev. J. N. Garland, formerly Incumbent of St. John's, Jamaica, and was born in London, in 1841. He was educated at St. Catherine's Hermitage, Bath, and at Taunton College school. Mr. Garland emigrated to New Zealand in 1857, by the ship “John Masterman,” and went to Nelson, where he joined his uncle, Mr. C. J. Thompson, one of the first surveyors sent out by the New Zealand Company in 1841, and who closed his long, eventful, and arduous life in December, 1900. Mr. Garland removed to Auckland in 1864, and went in 1867 to the Thames goldnelds, where for ten years he acted as legal manager for some of the principal mining companies. In 1883, he was appointed secretary of the Auckland Hospital Committee, and upon the passing of the Hospital and Charitable Institutions Act, 1885, he was appointed to his present position. Mr. Garland is a prominent member and office-bearer of St. Sepulchre's Anglican Church in Khyber Pass. In 1872 he was appointed treasurer of the New Church Building Fund, and held the office up to the time of the church's consecration. He was also an enthusiastic member of the Auckland Choral Society, and was at one time its secretary.

            

              

[image: Hanna, photo. Mr. H. N. Garland.]

                  
Hanna, photo.
                  


                  
Mr. 
H. N. Garland.
                


            

          

          

            
            


              
The Auckland Hospital.
              Of the various hospitals of the colony the Auckland Hospital stands pre-eminent; the healthy situation, beauty of the surroundings, and general appearance and utility of the institution entitle



it to occupy that position. In 1875 the construction of the present main building in stone was begun, and funds were provided by a loan, of £25,000, raised on debentures secured on the hospital endowments. The hospital stands on an eminence near the Domain, and for the choice of the site, as well as for the fine reserve which surrounds the hospital and its auxiliary institutions, and also for the valuable city and suburban endowments originally set aside for hospital maintenance, the people of Auckland are indebted to the wisdom and foresight of the late Sir George Groy. In 1887 the wooden building known as the auxiliary wards for the accommodation of typhoid fever cases was erected at a cost of £1454, provided by the accumulation of revenue from the endowments. The late Mr. Edward Costley left the Hospital Trust a bequest of £12,150, and with this various important works have been carried out, including the Nurses' Home, which accommodates the matron and a staff of forty-five nurses. In 1895, the Government voted £1500 for a new kitchen and servants' quarters; the vote was supplemented by £1040 from the Costley bequest, and the whole of the cooking for the hospital and its auxiliary buildings is now done by steam supplied by a large boiler of sufficient power to drive a dynamo when the buildings are lighted by electricity. Other permanent improvements carried out with the aid of the Costley bequest include a new mortuary, an extensive drainage system, a destructor, and a children's hospital, with fifty-two cots, which cost about £5000. Including the children's cots, the hospital can supply 202 beds, and the patients under treatment average about 140. There are two resident medical officers, Drs. Bett and Inglis; Mrs Alma Wooten is the matron, and there are forty-five female and two male nurses. The honorary staff consists of three physicians, three surgeons, one ophthalmic surgeon, and one pathologist; one of the honorary visiting medical staff acts as medical adviser to the Board.

          

          

            
            


              

Dr. Tracy Russell Inglis,
              M.B., Ch.B. (Melbourne), Auckland, is House Physician and Senior Medical Officer of the Auckland Hospital. He was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1875, and educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Melbourne. Dr. Inglis studied at Melbourne University, qualified in 1899, and was appointed to his present position in January, 1900. He is a vice-president of the Auckland University College Football Club.
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Dr. Douglas Home Blackader Bett,
              M.B., Ch.B. (New Zealand University), is Resident Surgeon at the Auckland Hospital. He was born in Otago in 1876, and educated at the Otago High School. Dr. Bett studied at Otago University, where he qualified in January, 1900, and was appointed to his present position in February, 1900. He is vice-president of the Auckland University College Football Club.

          

          

            
            

              

Mrs K. Alma Wooten,
             
 Superintendent of the Auckland Hospital, was born in Launceston, Tasmania, and is the eldest daughter
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of the late Mr. Charles Wilson, a very old and respected colonist of that country. Mrs Wooten was trained for her profession at the celebrated Alfred Hospital, Melbourne, and was subsequently selected for the responsible position of matron of the Melbourne Orphan Asylum, Brighton, where she remained until 1898, when she received her present appointment. Mrs Wooten is assisted by a devoted and efficient staff of forty-five nurses, whose ministrations are esteemed very highly by the patients. Shortly after Mrs Wooten took charge, a children's hospital containing fifty-two beds was opened, and this has proved a great boon to the city and provincial district.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. S. C. Schofield,
              the House Steward of the Auckland Hospital, is fully referred to in the military section of this volume.

          

          

            
            


              
The Auckland Lunatic Asylum.
              Avondale, is one of the largest asylums in the Colony. It is imposing in appearance, is built of brick, and is about three miles distant from Auckland. The main building, where the apartments of the medical men and the administration offices are placed, faces the junction of the Great North Road and the road leading to Mount Albert. In the central portion are the dining halls, kitchen, and store-rooms, and the two adjoining wings are respectively the male and female wards. The male dining hall, which is too small for present requirements, is also used for the various theatrical and musical performances which are given from time to time to provide variety and pleasure for the inmates. Some distance off there are auxiliary buildings which were originally of wood, but were destroyed by fire in December, 1894. A new brick building, capable of accommodating 120 patients, was immediately begun, and was ready for the reception of patients in 1896. A never failing supply of water of exceptional purity is obtained from a spring in the estate, and is pumped to a large reservoir on a hill within a short distance of the buildings, and the supply thus obtained is quite ample for domestic and fire prevention purposes. But to provide for accidents, a large water main is laid from the Western Springs, and this can be used in case of emergency. Water for fire prevention is laid over all the various buildings, and an efficient fire brigade, composed of the various attendants, is constantly drilled, and every conceivable precaution against fire is taken by the management. Electric bells are laid all over the buildings, and the attention of the superintendent, or of the attendants, can be secured at a moment's notice. The ornamental grounds in front of the main building are extensive and are laid out and kept with the utmost regard to beauty and good taste. A farm, consisting of nearly 200 acres of poor clay and light volcanic soil, is attached to the Asylum, and on this extensive operations are carried on throughout the year. In this way healthful recreation is provided for a number of the patients, and a plentiful and constant supply of fresh, wholesome vegetables is secured for the use of the Asylum. About fifty milch cows of the finest breed are kept on the estate, and a capital byre on the most modern principles has been erected in connection with the farm buildings. A large number of well-bred pigs, principally Berkshires and Yorkshires, are reared and fattened on the farm, and this forms a considerable source of revenue to the institution. An unlimited supply of fresh eggs is obtained from a large stock of the various breeds of poultry. Part of the land has been turned into an experimental sewage farm, which has been a great success. A new wing on the male side is now (1900) in course of erection; the second storey has been designed to accommodate fifty patients, while the lower or ground floor is intended for a hospital. At the present time (December, 1900), there are in the Asylum about 494 patients—306 males and 188 females, and the staff numbers thirty-one males and twenty-one females. The average



net cost per patient was, in 1898, £19 13s, and, in 1899, £20 8s. The average number of patients sent out cured in 1898 was fifty-one per cent., and in 1899, thirty-eight per cent.; average deaths, 1898, 7.5; in 1899, 8.8. The officials of the institution are:—Dr. Robert Martin Beattie, medical superintendent; Dr. William Webster, assistant medical officer; Mr. Frank Cooke Hall, clerk and store-keeper; Mr. Edward Newport, head attendant; Miss Sophia Campbell, matron; Mr. J. D. Muir, farm manager. Most of the male attendants have had considerable experience of gardening and farming, and are capable of directing the operations of the patients in that connection. Divine service is held on Sunday by ministers of the denominations of which patients are members. Parts of the Asylum grounds are very picturesque, and through hill and dale there runs a fine stream of water, which has a waterfall of considerable size. Everything about the Asylum is kept in the most perfect order, and thorough discipline is maintained under the keen yet kindly eye of Dr. Beattie.

          

          

            
            

              

Dr. Robert Martin Beattie,
             
 M.B., C.M., Edinburgh, B.Sc. Department of public Health, Edinburgh, and Medical Superintendent of the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born in Melbourne, Victoria, and educated at the Otago University, New Zealand. He studied for his profession at the Universities of Edinburgh and Aberdeen. After holding various appointments at Home, Dr. Beattie was assistant to Professor Hay, Professor of Public Health in the Aberdeen University, and Medical Officer of Health in the city of Aberdeen. Dr. Beattie intended to devote his attention wholly to public health, but owing to the delicate state of his own health he was advised to return
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to New Zealand, and arrived in Auckland in 1984. Shortly afterwards he received the appointment of assistant medical officer at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, where he remained for two years. He was then appointed acting-superintendent of the Seacliff Lunatic Asylum, and in April, 1897, was appointed to his present position at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum. Dr. Beattie is married, and has one child.

          

          

            
            


              
Dr. William Webster,
              M.B., Ch.B., Glasgow University, Medical Assistant at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born in Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1875. He was educated at the Glasgow University, and obtained his degrees in 1898. Previous to his arrival in New Zealand, Dr. Webster held various medical appointments in the Home Country, at the Glasgow Western Infirmary, at West Norfolk Hospital, and at Roxburgh Lunatic Asylum. In 1900 he came to Auckland, by the steamer “Whakatane,” under an engagement to fill his present position at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum.

          

          

            
            

              

Miss Sophia Campbell.
             
 Matron of the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born and educated in Otago. In 1896 she entered Seacliff
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Asylum as nurse, and remained there for two years and a half, during which she displayed a keen interest in her profession, and developed exceptional talents for nursing and organisation. Miss Campbell was appointed in 1898 to the position which she now occupies in the Auckland Asylum.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Edward Newport,
             
 Head Attendant at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born in Gloucestershire, England, in 1852. He was apprenticed to Messrs Kilby Bros., brewers, Birmingham, but left that firm previous to the expiration of his apprenticeship, and joined the Coldstream Guards, in which he remained for six years and 270 days, when he purchased his discharge. On leaving that regiment he joined the Hampshire Constabulary, and was transferred to East Cowes, Isle of Wight, where he did duty for two years and a half on her Majesty's estate at Osborne. Mr. Newport, on leaving Cowes, joined the Liverpool Constabulary, whence he was transferred to the Fire Police, in which he served four years under Superintendents
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Copeland and McQuilliam. He holds St. John Ambulance certificate, Liverpool Central, signed by the late Earl of Derby. Mr. Newport came to New Zealand in 1884, and joined the staff of the Mount View Asylum, Wellington, under Dr. Levinge. He remained at Mount View until he was transferred, in 1887, to Sunnyside Asylum, near Christchurch. In 1899 he was appointed head attendant at the Auckland Asylum. Mr. Newport holds the highest testimonials and discharges from the various officers under whom he has served. His discharge from the Coldstream Guards is dated the 27th of January, 1877, and is signed by Sir Redvers Buller, as Adjutant-General, and Sir Percy Feilding, Colonel commanding. During his residence at Wellington Mr. Newport was for three years member of the Wellington Guards, under the command of Captain Loveday. He is a Forester of many years' standing, having been transferred from the Isle of Wight to New Zealand. Mr. Newport is married, and has two children.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Frank Cooke Hall.
             
 Clerk and Storekeeper at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1859. He was educated at Doncaster Grammar School, Yorkshire, and came, in 1879, to Otago, by the ship “Thomas Stephens.” His first experience of New Zealand life was on a sheep station owned by Messrs Murray, Roberts and Co., but in two or three years he determined to try his fortune on the Hindon gold diggings, and followed gold-mining with varying luck for over eighteen months. In 1883 he entered the Government railway service at Port Chalmers, where he had charge of the railway shipping. When the channel was improved and vessels of large tonnage could be brought up to Dunedin wharf, the principal



shipping operations were transferred from Port Chalmers to the city, and Mr. Hall was then removed to Dunedin. In 1892 he resigned from the Government railway service,
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and received an appointment under the Education Department at the Caversham Industrial School, where he remained until he was transferred to the Seacliff Asylum as assistant clerk and storekeeper. In 1899 he was promoted to his present position at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum. Mr. Hall is married, and has one child.

          

          

            
            


              
The Costley Home For The Aged Poor.
              A Home for the Aged Poor was founded many years ago by the ladies of Auckland, led on in the matter chiefly by Mrs Philson. They carried on this humane work for a number of years prior to 1883, when the Government handed over the charitable institutions to the care of the people of Auckland, and the Home then came under the control of a committee of management, which in turn was superseded by the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board in 1885. The first Home was an old wooden building in the Hospital enclosure, originally erected and used as the Lunatic Asylum. In 1890 the inmates were removed to the present building at Epsom, erected entirely out of funds provided by the late Mr. Edward Costley. The Home is beautifully situated on thirteen acres of volcanic soil, and is surrounded by undulating and charming scenery. There are twelve rooms, including the manager's office, private apartments, waiting-room, four dormitories, kitchen and scullery. The dormitories, including two used for maternity wards, provide accommodation for fifty female inmates. Detached from the main building there is a block containing six dormitories, with accommodation for 132 male inmates. There are also isolation and refractory wards. Well lighted, ventilated, and heated reading and sitting-rooms, and a small miscellaneous library are provided for the use of the inmates. There is also a place of worship capable of seating 100 worshippers. The average number of inmates is about 175, and their general comfort is admirably provided for by the Auckland Charitable Aid Board.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Moss,
              Superintendent of the Home, was born in Birmingham, England, in 1854, and was educated at Aldridge Grammar School, near Walsall, Staffordshire. He arrived in Auckland by the s.s. “Arawa,” in 1886, and soon afterwards secured the appointment of manager of the Auckland Boys' Rest, an institution founded for the benefit of the waifs and strays of the city. Later on Mr. Moss was selected to take charge of the physical department of the Young Men's Christian Association, and in 1890 was appointed to his present position. Mrs Moss was at the same time appointed matron of the Home.

          

          

            
            


              
The Auckland Ladies' Benevolent Society.
              This society was established about 1857, and after a period of suspended work revived in its present form in 1884. Its chief object is to relieve cases of genuine distress that do not come under the jurisdiction of other bodies; to assist the poor and needy; and to systematically visit the dwellings of the fatherless and widows in their affliction, and comfort the desolate and oppressed. The district of Auckland is organised and systematically attended to by benevolent ladies in the various wards, and they deal with cases not only in the city, but also in suburbs like Devonport, Avondale, and Panmure. The ladies do practically all the work, as they recognise that it is woman's peculiar mission to minister to the sick, the bereaved, and the destitute. The president of the society is Colonel Haultain; Rev. Canon Nelson, M.A., and the Rev. S. A. Goldstein, vice-presidents. There is a strong committee of gentlemen; Mr. W. Thorne is the honorary treasurer and Mr. F. G. Ewington is the honorary secretary. Mrs Nelson is president of the ladies' committee, and Mrs Edgecumbe is the honorary secretary.

          

          

            
            


              
The Dilworth Ulster Institute.
              This institute was endowed by the late Mr. James Dilworth, who bequeathed the bulk of his estate, amounting to over £100,000 to six trustees, to establish, in the words of the will. “An Institution to be called the Dilworth Ulster Institute, with the object of affording to boys of the classes hereafter mentioned, such maintenance, education, and training as will enable them to become good and useful members of society.” It was further provided in the Trust Deed that the “Trustees shall select so many boys of sound bodily and mental health, being orphans or sons of persons of good character and of any race, as in the opinion of the Trustees the income available will be sufficient to support and educate; the boys so selected must be either destitute orphans, or children of parents in straitened circumstances, resident in the Province of Auckland, or in the province of Ulster, in Ireland.” It was also directed that the children so selected should be brought up in the tenets of the Church of England, and that the Bishop of the diocese should be appointed visitor to the Institute. When the assured net income of the estate amounts to £5000 per annum the Trustees, as directed by the deed, are to accumulate a sum of £10,000 wherewith to erect the proposed institute buildings at Remuera. The Trustees appointed under the will were Mrs Isabella Dilworth, Mr. Robert Hall, the Rev. William Beatty, Mr. William Gardner, the Rev. George MacMurray, and Sir George Maurice O'Rorke. The estate held by the Trustees consists of very valuable land in the city of Auckland and borough of Parnell, and also a large area of very valuable land in the suburbs of Remuera and Penrose, besides country lands. In the near future the income from these will be very large.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Mr. James Dilworth
              
             
 was born at Dungannon, County Tyrone, Ireland, on the 15th of August, 1815, and died at Auckland on the 23rd of December, 1894. He was educated at the Royal School of Dungannon, assisted his father in the management of his farm for a few years, and emigrated to New South Wales in 1839. There he obtained an appointment in the post office, and was stationed at Windsor, near Sydney. Not liking the monotony of the life there, he, in 1841, came over to Auckland, where some of his Sydney friends had already preceded him. After his arrival in New Zealand he went through the country looking out for land, travelling along the East Coast as far as Opotiki, but subsequently returned to Auckland. He joined the New Zealand Banking Company, and while in that institution he purchased land from the natives at Remuera. Later on he gave up banking, and settled down to farming, and continued to live at Remuera until his death. Mr. Dilworth never took a very active part in politics, though he was a member for some time of the Provincial Council, and afterwards held numerous official appointments. He was one of the founders of the Auckland
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Savings Bank, and a trustee until his death. He took a great interest in educational and church matters, and was a member of the Auckland University College Council, the Diocesan



Trust Board, etc., etc. After making provision by will for relatives and friends, Mr. Dilworth devoted the bulk of his ample fortune to trustees, directing them to establish an institute for the support and education of orphans, or children of persons in straitened circumstances, of any race. He provided that the Institute should be called the Dilworth Ulster Institute, and that the buildings should be erected on his Remuera estate.

          

          

            
            


              
The Sailors' Home, Auckland,
              is situated at the corner of Albert and Quay Streets. It was founded in 1883, through the munificent generosity of the late Mr. Edward Costley, who bequeathed a sum of £12,150 to endow a Home for Sailors. The building is of brick, is three stories in height, and matches in style the Harbour Board buildings, to which it is closely adjacent. It contains forty-seven bedrooms, a large dining hall 30 feet by 20 feet, and a reading and social room, 50 feet by 30 feet. Fourteen bedrooms and a private sitting-room are kept for the exclusive use of officers and captains who make the Home their temporary abode. The domestic apartments are situated on the ground floor, together with several bathrooms, which are supplied with hot and cold water, and showers. The bedrooms are models of cleanliness; they are situated on the second and third stories, and are furnished in a most comfortable manner. On the second storey are the manager's apartments, and a private sitting-room for the use of captains and officers. A first-class cook is kept, and the fare is equal to that of a good commercial hotel. Breakfast is served at eight in the morning, dinner at noon, tea at five in the evening, and the institution is closed at eleven at night. The charge per week is only fifteen shillings for those who are in a position to pay; but to deserving men without funds the hospitality of the institution is free until employment is obtained, and those who are thus helped very seldom forget to forward to the superintendent the amount of their indebtedness to the institution. Sailors and others who have lived in the Home declare it to be the finest in the Australasian Colonies, and it is a noble monument to the philanthropy of Mr. Costley. A handsome hall, which is part of the institution, adjoins the main building, and is capable of seating 300 people. It is provided with a fine stage, and there three religious services are held on Sundays, socials on Monday evenings, concerts on Tuesdays, gospel meetings on Wednesdays, a Bible class on Thursdays, socials on Fridays, and concerts on Saturdays. These nightly entertainments are generally of a high-class character; as a rule they attract crowded attendances, and many of the leading vocalists of Auckland take part at the concerts. The present (1900) Committee of Management consists of: Bishop Cowie (president), Captain H. F. Anderson (vice-president), Colonel Haultain (secretary), Captain Clayton, Messrs Button, Ransom, H. B. Morton, Entrican, Peak, Brakenrigg, and the Rev. Mr. Budd, members of the Council The annual subscription is £1 1s.
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Mr. Robert Little,
             
 the Superintendent of the Sailors' Home, was born at Enniskillen, County Fermanagh, Ireland, in 1847, and was brought up to farming. He came to Auckland by the ship “Ganges,” in 1864, and started farming at Pukekohe, where he remained only twelve months. Then he returned to Auckland and entered the employment of Messrs Mark and McClay, boot and shoe merchants, of Queen Street, with whom he remained fourteen years as foreman. About 1879 Mr. Little began business in Queen Street on his own account, as a boot and shoe importer, and carried on successfully for seven years. He was then offered the position of superintendent of the Sailors' Home, and retired from business to take up his present duties, which he has since carried
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on to the utmost satisfaction of the managing body. Mr. Little has great musical ability; he plays the piano, organ, and cornet with equal facility, and even does justice to the Scottish bagpipes—a thing proverbially believed to be rare in an Irishman. In all the socials and entertainments Mr. Little takes a leading part, and their popularity is in a great measure due to his efforts. With the object of affording fresh entertainments, he has imported, at a personal cost of £40, the latest Edison concert phonograph, with a large number of records, and lanterns for kinematograph entertainments, with thousands of feet of films. Mr. Little gives a limelight entertainment once a month. Altogether he has spent over £200 from his private purse in these expensive machines for entertainments. Mr. Little's private room is adorned with curios from all parts of the world, presented by his numerous nautical friends, by whom he is held in the highest esteem. Mr. Little is a member of Oddfellow and Forester societies.

          

          

            
            


              
Mrs Little,
              Matron of the Home, is a native of Ireland, and was married in 1863, previous to her departure for New Zealand. She is as popular in the institution as her husband. Mr. and Mrs Little have three sons and two daughters, who are all married.

          

          

            
            


              
The St. Stephen's Orphan Home,
              Parnell, stands on a site set apart for the purpose, out of the Stephen's estate, by Bishop George Augustus Selwyn. It is one of the best institutions of its kind in the colony, and was originally founded by the late venerable John Frederick Lloyd, in 1862. Since then it has at various times been endowed with valuable bequests. In 1873 the late Mr. William Morrin left an income of



five per cent. of the net value of his estate to the Home; in 1876 the late Mrs Elizabeth Godley, of Parnell, bequeathed £50; in 1879 the late Mr. Henry Keesing, of Auckland, bequeathed £20; in 1879, the late Mr. Thomas Weston, Auckland, bequeathed £100; in 1883, the late Mr. John Sawerbier, of Adelaide, bequeathed £500; in 1883, the late Mr. Edward Costley bequeathed £12,150; and in 1900, the late Mr. Arrowsmith, of Waiuku, bequeathed about £7000 to the Home. Owing to these munificent gifts, the Home's sphere of benevolence has been largely extended. The Home is connected with the Church of England, but its doors are open to the orphans and destitute children of all denominations without regard to their religious persuasion. There is a Board of Management, of which the Rev. Canon Nelson is chairman, and Mr. T. W. Doonin, vice-chairman. Ten of the members are ex-officio, and six are elective; and there is also a ladies' committee of nine members. Mr. W. G. H. Jackman is secretary, Mr. C. J. Tunks the honorary treasurer, and Dr. W. G. Guinness the honorary medical officer. Children are received from over two to nine years of age, and are educated and trained—the boys to farming, and the girls to domestic work; and when they are fourteen years old, they are sent out to labour in their respective spheres. Wages earned by the boys and girls are banked by the Home in their own names, until they are sixteen, but after that age the children are allowed to make their own arrangements with their employers. A governess attends the school, which is a fine building adjoining the Home, and a sound elementary education is imparted. The average number of inmates is between fifty and sixty, but at various times as many as one hundred children have been in residence. The Home is a large two-storey building, surrounded by fifteen acres of grounds, fronting the sea. Dormitories for the boys are at one end, those for the girls at the other, and they are separated by a long corridor. There is also a hospital to accommodate fifteen patients, but owing to the good health of the children it has not been used for over nine years. The clothing of the children is made on the premises, and a resident seamstress is constantly employed for the purpose. There is a gardener to look after the grounds, and to grow all the vegetables required for the Home; and four cows are kept for the supply of milk. The Home is most beautifully kept, and the children are pictures of health and happiness.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. W. G. H. Jackman,
              the Secretary of the St. Stephen's Orphan Home, Parnell, is an Englishman by birth. He is an ideal secretary, and his devotion to the responsible duties of his office is recognised by the whole Board of Management.

          

          

            
            


              

Mrs Helen Barrance,
              Matron of St. Stephen's Home, is a native of Yorkshire, England, and had much experience in connection with charitable institutions previous to her arrival in New Zealand. She was appointed to her present position in 1887, and her management of the Home has been distinguished by complete success.
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The Costley Institute,
             
 Richmond Road, Ponsonby. Under the will of the late Mr. Costley, one-seventh part of his estate was bequeathed to the Kohimarama Training School, and the amount, £12,150, was handed over to three trustees nominated by the executors. No special conditions were, however, imposed, and as the Kohimarama Training School had ceased to exist, the trustees recommended that an institution should be established to take charge of boys and girls from the Industrial Schools of the district, when they reached the age at which they were sent out into the world to earn their own living. This recommendation met with the approbation of Sir Robert Stout, then Premier of the Colony, and he caused a Bill to be prepared for the purpose. The Bill was passed by the Legislature without opposition, and was styled “The Costley Training Institution Act, 1885.” It empowered the trustees “to apply a sum of money in the purchase of a site in or near the city of Auckland, and in the erection and furnishing of buildings thereon; to select a certain number of boys and girls of ages fit to be apprenticed, being inmates of the schools established under the Industrial Schools Act, 1882, in or near the city of Auckland, and to apprentice such boys to suitable trades; in maintaining such boys at the institution until they were capable of being left to their own control; and in providing the girls with domestic service or other suitable employment.” With this authority the trustees commenced operations and selected the present site, for which they paid £1025. They erected the buildings at a cost of £2830, and expended a further sum of £703 in furnishing the house and improving the grounds. Under the will of the late Mrs Rebecca Hodge, a further endowment of £672 has been made for girls in charge of the institution. As each lad is apprenticed out a portion of his wages, not exceeding 9s per week, is used for his maintenance, while the balance is placed in the Savings Bank to his credit. The income derived from the investment of capital is about £500 a year, and when all the boys are placed out at work, and are all earning something, the income at the disposal of the institution will admit of a larger number being taken in charge; the trustees, therefore, look forward to an extension of the buildings at no distant date. The boys not at work attend the nearest Government school, and there is also an evening school. On Sunday they attend Divine service and Sunday
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school. Auckland has every reason to feel proud of the solid and excellent work which is being done at the Costley Institute, in rearing up, as useful citizens, lads who otherwise might have proved a source of danger and expense to the community. Concerning the capable management of the institution by Mr. and Mrs Hendre, a high Church dignitary, on visiting the place recently, paid a well-deserved compliment by saying, “Well, it is like a man-of-war.”

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. William Hendre,
             
 Manager of the Costley Training Institute, Richmond Road, Auckland, was born at Clinton, New York,
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America, in 1850, and was educated at Brockville, Ontario. On leaving school he started in the timber trade, and for a number of years carried on an extensive timber business in Southern Texas. Mr. Hendre came to Auckland in 1889, and engaged in various pursuits, principally shipping. In 1887 changes were made in the management of the Costley Training Institute, and Mr. Hendre was chosen superintendent from a very large number of applicants. He has personal qualifications, such as firmness of character and kindness of disposition, which eminently fit him for the successful management of boys. During the period of his residence in Auckland previous to his present appointment, Mr. Hendre was prominent in political and social matters. He was connected with the various trades and labour councils, and was for a considerable time secretary to the Knights of Labour.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Auckland Jubilee Institute For The Blind
              
              was founded in the year 1890, with the object of providing the blind with instruction in elementary knowledge, affording technical training in such handicrafts as would enable them to earn their own living as far as possible, and rendering assistance to them in any way that should be deemed advisable. An organisation which then existed under the name of “The Association of the Friends of the Blind,” and which had commenced work the previous year, was merged into the Institute, the funds of which were augmented by generous contributions, and the balance of an amount subscribed by the public to celebrate the Jubilee of the Colony; hence the title, “The Jubilee Institute.” Mr. John Abbott, sometime chairman and treasurer, was the founder, and worked most indefatigably in the cause, and the liberal support accorded was, in a great measure, due to his untiring advocacy. A house and land were purchased in Parnell, and buildings (schoolroom, dormitories, workshops, etc.) were erected, and the school and workshops fully equipped with the most modern apparatus to enable instruction to be imparted by methods suited to the necessities of the blind. Since the foundation of the Institute, over fifty people have been received, maintained, and educated, and have gone out to work for themselves. Some are engaged in trades of various kinds, such as mat, basket, and halter-making, etc., and others are established in business. There are at present thirty-three resident pupils. There are also many blind persons who are non-resident, and the work among them is extending each year. Tuition is provided, books are supplied, and in many ways assistance is afforded where it is required. The carrying on of the work of the Institute necessitates a heavy annual expenditure, and the sources of income are: (1) Maintenance fees (to cover cost of food, clothing, etc.), paid by the Government in the cases of indigent children of school age, in other cases provided wholly or in part by parents, friends, or charitable aid boards; (2) voluntary contributions, with Government subsidy thereon; and (3) interest derived from the investment of funds raised at the commencement of the work to form a capital fund. The buildings are pleasantly and healthily situated in Manukau Road adjoining the Domain, and a visit to the Institute cannot fail to awaken interest in its purpose and sympathy with its inmates. The work has the cordial support of the Government, and visitors from all parts of the world have testified to its efficiency. Visitors are cordially welcomed at the Institute, which is open every week day.
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Mr. R. Leslie Hunt,
              the Secretary of the Jubilee Institute for the Blind, 322 Victoria Arcade, Auckland, is at all times pleased to forward reports and other information, and to receive contributions in aid of the funds.

          

          

            
            


              
The New Zealand Society For The Protection Of Women And Children, And Prevention Of Cruelty To Animals,
              14 Palmerston Buildings, Auckland; his Excellency the Governor, Earl of Ranfurly, president; the Countess of Ranfurly, president of the Ladies' Committee; Miss Porter, secretary. The Society for the Protection of Women and Children was established in Auckland in 1893; in 1899 the branch for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals was incorporated, and the society was registered accordingly. The objects of the society are to prosecute in cases of cruelty, wrong, outrage, or excessive violence to women; to give advice and aid to women who have been cruelly treated; to make provision for children when it is found that parents or guardians are unfit persons to have charge of them; to act as trustees and guardians of illegitimate children, and to receive and disburse money provided for the care and maintenance of such children, and to make provision for them; to agitate for the improvement of the statute



laws, with a view to the more effectual protection of women and children; to prevent cruelty to animals by enforcing the existing laws, by procuring any further legislation that may be found expedient, and by exciting and sustaining an intelligent public opinion regarding man's duty to the lower animals. This society was the first formed in the colony for the protection of women and children, and similar societies have since been constituted in Wellington and Dunedin. A strong committee of the leading citizens of Auckland controls the affairs of the society, and the secretary is always pleased to impart information concerning its work.

          

          

            
            


              
The Ruth Lodge,
              in Grey Street, was established by the Salvation Army, and there some of the Army's noble rescue work is carried on. This Home is for women only. The officers attend the Police Courts and visit the gaol on the discharge of the prisoners, and unostentatiously devote their best energies on behalf of erring women and girls. They also hold religious services in the gaol every Saturday afternoon. Ensign Randall is the officer in charge of the Ruth Lodge.

          

          

            
            


              
The Prison Gate Home,
              at Epsom, is another institution founded by the Salvation Army. In this Home rescue work is carried on for men as it is for women, at Ruth Lodge. Adjutant Williams, the officer in charge of the Prison Gate Home, personally conducts religious services in the gaol once a month.

          

          

            
            


              
Maternity Home.
              This Home, also conducted by the Salvation Army, is situated in Hepburn Street, Ponsonby. Only first cases are admitted. Ensign Dix is the officer in charge.
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In the number of charitable institutions, for the relief of the suffering, the care of the aged, the rescue of the fallen, and other philanthropic objects, the city of Auckland stands pre-eminently above the other centres of the colony. The late Mr. Edward Costley's name will ever be revered as a benefactor to the suffering and helpless. At his death he bequeathed to each of the following seven institutions the sum of £12,150 : The Auckland Hospital, the Costley Home, the Costley Training Institute, St. Stephen's Orphan Home, the Sailors' Home, the Public Library, and the Auckland Museum. In Auckland city and suburbs there are many institutions in addition to those which are here separately described; for instance, the Women's Home, Parnell; Children's Home, Parnell; Roman Catholic Orphanages at Ponsonby and Takapuna; Little Sisters of the Poor, Ponsonby; Helping Hand Mission; Door of Hope; Prisoners' Aid Society, and others.
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                The Auckland Hospital And Charitable Aid Board
              
              was constituted in November, 1885. Its duties comprise finding the funds for the maintenance of the Hospital, the administration of charitable aid, and the control of some of the various charitable organisations of Auckland. The Board is empowered to make demands on local bodies to meet its actual requirements, and the amounts thus raised are subsidised pound for pound by the Government, which in 1900 was liable for £6675 in this way. The Board consists of ten members, and the following gentlemen were elected on the 28th of November, 1900:—Messrs John Court, James Jamieson, James Stichbury, and Young Warren, representing the Auckland City Council; Mr. Alexander Bruce, the Devonport Borough Council and the Waitemata County Council; Messrs Thomas Allen and John Bollard, representing the road boards in the county of Eden; Mr. Arthur Pearson Friend, the borough councils of Grey Lynn, New-market, Parnell, and Birkenhead; Messrs George Joseph Garland and John Gordon, representing the Onehunga Borough Council and the boards of the road districts in the county of Manukau. Mr. Alexander Bruce is chairman, and Mr. H. N. Garland, secretary.
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Mr. Henry Nelson Garland,
              Secretary and Treasurer of the Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, is the second son of the late Rev. J. N. Garland, formerly Incumbent of St. John's, Jamaica, and was born in London, in 1841. He was educated at St. Catherine's Hermitage, Bath, and at Taunton College school. Mr. Garland emigrated to New Zealand in 1857, by the ship “John Masterman,” and went to Nelson, where he joined his uncle, Mr. C. J. Thompson, one of the first surveyors sent out by the New Zealand Company in 1841, and who closed his long, eventful, and arduous life in December, 1900. Mr. Garland removed to Auckland in 1864, and went in 1867 to the Thames goldnelds, where for ten years he acted as legal manager for some of the principal mining companies. In 1883, he was appointed secretary of the Auckland Hospital Committee, and upon the passing of the Hospital and Charitable Institutions Act, 1885, he was appointed to his present position. Mr. Garland is a prominent member and office-bearer of St. Sepulchre's Anglican Church in Khyber Pass. In 1872 he was appointed treasurer of the New Church Building Fund, and held the office up to the time of the church's consecration. He was also an enthusiastic member of the Auckland Choral Society, and was at one time its secretary.
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The Auckland Hospital.
              Of the various hospitals of the colony the Auckland Hospital stands pre-eminent; the healthy situation, beauty of the surroundings, and general appearance and utility of the institution entitle



it to occupy that position. In 1875 the construction of the present main building in stone was begun, and funds were provided by a loan, of £25,000, raised on debentures secured on the hospital endowments. The hospital stands on an eminence near the Domain, and for the choice of the site, as well as for the fine reserve which surrounds the hospital and its auxiliary institutions, and also for the valuable city and suburban endowments originally set aside for hospital maintenance, the people of Auckland are indebted to the wisdom and foresight of the late Sir George Groy. In 1887 the wooden building known as the auxiliary wards for the accommodation of typhoid fever cases was erected at a cost of £1454, provided by the accumulation of revenue from the endowments. The late Mr. Edward Costley left the Hospital Trust a bequest of £12,150, and with this various important works have been carried out, including the Nurses' Home, which accommodates the matron and a staff of forty-five nurses. In 1895, the Government voted £1500 for a new kitchen and servants' quarters; the vote was supplemented by £1040 from the Costley bequest, and the whole of the cooking for the hospital and its auxiliary buildings is now done by steam supplied by a large boiler of sufficient power to drive a dynamo when the buildings are lighted by electricity. Other permanent improvements carried out with the aid of the Costley bequest include a new mortuary, an extensive drainage system, a destructor, and a children's hospital, with fifty-two cots, which cost about £5000. Including the children's cots, the hospital can supply 202 beds, and the patients under treatment average about 140. There are two resident medical officers, Drs. Bett and Inglis; Mrs Alma Wooten is the matron, and there are forty-five female and two male nurses. The honorary staff consists of three physicians, three surgeons, one ophthalmic surgeon, and one pathologist; one of the honorary visiting medical staff acts as medical adviser to the Board.
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Dr. Tracy Russell Inglis,
              M.B., Ch.B. (Melbourne), Auckland, is House Physician and Senior Medical Officer of the Auckland Hospital. He was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1875, and educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Melbourne. Dr. Inglis studied at Melbourne University, qualified in 1899, and was appointed to his present position in January, 1900. He is a vice-president of the Auckland University College Football Club.
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Dr. Douglas Home Blackader Bett,
              M.B., Ch.B. (New Zealand University), is Resident Surgeon at the Auckland Hospital. He was born in Otago in 1876, and educated at the Otago High School. Dr. Bett studied at Otago University, where he qualified in January, 1900, and was appointed to his present position in February, 1900. He is vice-president of the Auckland University College Football Club.
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Mrs K. Alma Wooten,
             
 Superintendent of the Auckland Hospital, was born in Launceston, Tasmania, and is the eldest daughter
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of the late Mr. Charles Wilson, a very old and respected colonist of that country. Mrs Wooten was trained for her profession at the celebrated Alfred Hospital, Melbourne, and was subsequently selected for the responsible position of matron of the Melbourne Orphan Asylum, Brighton, where she remained until 1898, when she received her present appointment. Mrs Wooten is assisted by a devoted and efficient staff of forty-five nurses, whose ministrations are esteemed very highly by the patients. Shortly after Mrs Wooten took charge, a children's hospital containing fifty-two beds was opened, and this has proved a great boon to the city and provincial district.
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Mr. S. C. Schofield,
              the House Steward of the Auckland Hospital, is fully referred to in the military section of this volume.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Auckland Lunatic Asylum



            
            


              
The Auckland Lunatic Asylum.
              Avondale, is one of the largest asylums in the Colony. It is imposing in appearance, is built of brick, and is about three miles distant from Auckland. The main building, where the apartments of the medical men and the administration offices are placed, faces the junction of the Great North Road and the road leading to Mount Albert. In the central portion are the dining halls, kitchen, and store-rooms, and the two adjoining wings are respectively the male and female wards. The male dining hall, which is too small for present requirements, is also used for the various theatrical and musical performances which are given from time to time to provide variety and pleasure for the inmates. Some distance off there are auxiliary buildings which were originally of wood, but were destroyed by fire in December, 1894. A new brick building, capable of accommodating 120 patients, was immediately begun, and was ready for the reception of patients in 1896. A never failing supply of water of exceptional purity is obtained from a spring in the estate, and is pumped to a large reservoir on a hill within a short distance of the buildings, and the supply thus obtained is quite ample for domestic and fire prevention purposes. But to provide for accidents, a large water main is laid from the Western Springs, and this can be used in case of emergency. Water for fire prevention is laid over all the various buildings, and an efficient fire brigade, composed of the various attendants, is constantly drilled, and every conceivable precaution against fire is taken by the management. Electric bells are laid all over the buildings, and the attention of the superintendent, or of the attendants, can be secured at a moment's notice. The ornamental grounds in front of the main building are extensive and are laid out and kept with the utmost regard to beauty and good taste. A farm, consisting of nearly 200 acres of poor clay and light volcanic soil, is attached to the Asylum, and on this extensive operations are carried on throughout the year. In this way healthful recreation is provided for a number of the patients, and a plentiful and constant supply of fresh, wholesome vegetables is secured for the use of the Asylum. About fifty milch cows of the finest breed are kept on the estate, and a capital byre on the most modern principles has been erected in connection with the farm buildings. A large number of well-bred pigs, principally Berkshires and Yorkshires, are reared and fattened on the farm, and this forms a considerable source of revenue to the institution. An unlimited supply of fresh eggs is obtained from a large stock of the various breeds of poultry. Part of the land has been turned into an experimental sewage farm, which has been a great success. A new wing on the male side is now (1900) in course of erection; the second storey has been designed to accommodate fifty patients, while the lower or ground floor is intended for a hospital. At the present time (December, 1900), there are in the Asylum about 494 patients—306 males and 188 females, and the staff numbers thirty-one males and twenty-one females. The average



net cost per patient was, in 1898, £19 13s, and, in 1899, £20 8s. The average number of patients sent out cured in 1898 was fifty-one per cent., and in 1899, thirty-eight per cent.; average deaths, 1898, 7.5; in 1899, 8.8. The officials of the institution are:—Dr. Robert Martin Beattie, medical superintendent; Dr. William Webster, assistant medical officer; Mr. Frank Cooke Hall, clerk and store-keeper; Mr. Edward Newport, head attendant; Miss Sophia Campbell, matron; Mr. J. D. Muir, farm manager. Most of the male attendants have had considerable experience of gardening and farming, and are capable of directing the operations of the patients in that connection. Divine service is held on Sunday by ministers of the denominations of which patients are members. Parts of the Asylum grounds are very picturesque, and through hill and dale there runs a fine stream of water, which has a waterfall of considerable size. Everything about the Asylum is kept in the most perfect order, and thorough discipline is maintained under the keen yet kindly eye of Dr. Beattie.
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Dr. Robert Martin Beattie,
             
 M.B., C.M., Edinburgh, B.Sc. Department of public Health, Edinburgh, and Medical Superintendent of the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born in Melbourne, Victoria, and educated at the Otago University, New Zealand. He studied for his profession at the Universities of Edinburgh and Aberdeen. After holding various appointments at Home, Dr. Beattie was assistant to Professor Hay, Professor of Public Health in the Aberdeen University, and Medical Officer of Health in the city of Aberdeen. Dr. Beattie intended to devote his attention wholly to public health, but owing to the delicate state of his own health he was advised to return
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to New Zealand, and arrived in Auckland in 1984. Shortly afterwards he received the appointment of assistant medical officer at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, where he remained for two years. He was then appointed acting-superintendent of the Seacliff Lunatic Asylum, and in April, 1897, was appointed to his present position at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum. Dr. Beattie is married, and has one child.
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Dr. William Webster,
              M.B., Ch.B., Glasgow University, Medical Assistant at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born in Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1875. He was educated at the Glasgow University, and obtained his degrees in 1898. Previous to his arrival in New Zealand, Dr. Webster held various medical appointments in the Home Country, at the Glasgow Western Infirmary, at West Norfolk Hospital, and at Roxburgh Lunatic Asylum. In 1900 he came to Auckland, by the steamer “Whakatane,” under an engagement to fill his present position at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum.
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Miss Sophia Campbell.
             
 Matron of the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born and educated in Otago. In 1896 she entered Seacliff
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Asylum as nurse, and remained there for two years and a half, during which she displayed a keen interest in her profession, and developed exceptional talents for nursing and organisation. Miss Campbell was appointed in 1898 to the position which she now occupies in the Auckland Asylum.
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Mr. Edward Newport,
             
 Head Attendant at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born in Gloucestershire, England, in 1852. He was apprenticed to Messrs Kilby Bros., brewers, Birmingham, but left that firm previous to the expiration of his apprenticeship, and joined the Coldstream Guards, in which he remained for six years and 270 days, when he purchased his discharge. On leaving that regiment he joined the Hampshire Constabulary, and was transferred to East Cowes, Isle of Wight, where he did duty for two years and a half on her Majesty's estate at Osborne. Mr. Newport, on leaving Cowes, joined the Liverpool Constabulary, whence he was transferred to the Fire Police, in which he served four years under Superintendents
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Copeland and McQuilliam. He holds St. John Ambulance certificate, Liverpool Central, signed by the late Earl of Derby. Mr. Newport came to New Zealand in 1884, and joined the staff of the Mount View Asylum, Wellington, under Dr. Levinge. He remained at Mount View until he was transferred, in 1887, to Sunnyside Asylum, near Christchurch. In 1899 he was appointed head attendant at the Auckland Asylum. Mr. Newport holds the highest testimonials and discharges from the various officers under whom he has served. His discharge from the Coldstream Guards is dated the 27th of January, 1877, and is signed by Sir Redvers Buller, as Adjutant-General, and Sir Percy Feilding, Colonel commanding. During his residence at Wellington Mr. Newport was for three years member of the Wellington Guards, under the command of Captain Loveday. He is a Forester of many years' standing, having been transferred from the Isle of Wight to New Zealand. Mr. Newport is married, and has two children.
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Mr. Frank Cooke Hall.
             
 Clerk and Storekeeper at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum, was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1859. He was educated at Doncaster Grammar School, Yorkshire, and came, in 1879, to Otago, by the ship “Thomas Stephens.” His first experience of New Zealand life was on a sheep station owned by Messrs Murray, Roberts and Co., but in two or three years he determined to try his fortune on the Hindon gold diggings, and followed gold-mining with varying luck for over eighteen months. In 1883 he entered the Government railway service at Port Chalmers, where he had charge of the railway shipping. When the channel was improved and vessels of large tonnage could be brought up to Dunedin wharf, the principal



shipping operations were transferred from Port Chalmers to the city, and Mr. Hall was then removed to Dunedin. In 1892 he resigned from the Government railway service,
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and received an appointment under the Education Department at the Caversham Industrial School, where he remained until he was transferred to the Seacliff Asylum as assistant clerk and storekeeper. In 1899 he was promoted to his present position at the Auckland Lunatic Asylum. Mr. Hall is married, and has one child.
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The Costley Home For The Aged Poor.
              A Home for the Aged Poor was founded many years ago by the ladies of Auckland, led on in the matter chiefly by Mrs Philson. They carried on this humane work for a number of years prior to 1883, when the Government handed over the charitable institutions to the care of the people of Auckland, and the Home then came under the control of a committee of management, which in turn was superseded by the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board in 1885. The first Home was an old wooden building in the Hospital enclosure, originally erected and used as the Lunatic Asylum. In 1890 the inmates were removed to the present building at Epsom, erected entirely out of funds provided by the late Mr. Edward Costley. The Home is beautifully situated on thirteen acres of volcanic soil, and is surrounded by undulating and charming scenery. There are twelve rooms, including the manager's office, private apartments, waiting-room, four dormitories, kitchen and scullery. The dormitories, including two used for maternity wards, provide accommodation for fifty female inmates. Detached from the main building there is a block containing six dormitories, with accommodation for 132 male inmates. There are also isolation and refractory wards. Well lighted, ventilated, and heated reading and sitting-rooms, and a small miscellaneous library are provided for the use of the inmates. There is also a place of worship capable of seating 100 worshippers. The average number of inmates is about 175, and their general comfort is admirably provided for by the Auckland Charitable Aid Board.
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Mr. John Moss,
              Superintendent of the Home, was born in Birmingham, England, in 1854, and was educated at Aldridge Grammar School, near Walsall, Staffordshire. He arrived in Auckland by the s.s. “Arawa,” in 1886, and soon afterwards secured the appointment of manager of the Auckland Boys' Rest, an institution founded for the benefit of the waifs and strays of the city. Later on Mr. Moss was selected to take charge of the physical department of the Young Men's Christian Association, and in 1890 was appointed to his present position. Mrs Moss was at the same time appointed matron of the Home.
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The Auckland Ladies' Benevolent Society.
              This society was established about 1857, and after a period of suspended work revived in its present form in 1884. Its chief object is to relieve cases of genuine distress that do not come under the jurisdiction of other bodies; to assist the poor and needy; and to systematically visit the dwellings of the fatherless and widows in their affliction, and comfort the desolate and oppressed. The district of Auckland is organised and systematically attended to by benevolent ladies in the various wards, and they deal with cases not only in the city, but also in suburbs like Devonport, Avondale, and Panmure. The ladies do practically all the work, as they recognise that it is woman's peculiar mission to minister to the sick, the bereaved, and the destitute. The president of the society is Colonel Haultain; Rev. Canon Nelson, M.A., and the Rev. S. A. Goldstein, vice-presidents. There is a strong committee of gentlemen; Mr. W. Thorne is the honorary treasurer and Mr. F. G. Ewington is the honorary secretary. Mrs Nelson is president of the ladies' committee, and Mrs Edgecumbe is the honorary secretary.
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The Dilworth Ulster Institute.
              This institute was endowed by the late Mr. James Dilworth, who bequeathed the bulk of his estate, amounting to over £100,000 to six trustees, to establish, in the words of the will. “An Institution to be called the Dilworth Ulster Institute, with the object of affording to boys of the classes hereafter mentioned, such maintenance, education, and training as will enable them to become good and useful members of society.” It was further provided in the Trust Deed that the “Trustees shall select so many boys of sound bodily and mental health, being orphans or sons of persons of good character and of any race, as in the opinion of the Trustees the income available will be sufficient to support and educate; the boys so selected must be either destitute orphans, or children of parents in straitened circumstances, resident in the Province of Auckland, or in the province of Ulster, in Ireland.” It was also directed that the children so selected should be brought up in the tenets of the Church of England, and that the Bishop of the diocese should be appointed visitor to the Institute. When the assured net income of the estate amounts to £5000 per annum the Trustees, as directed by the deed, are to accumulate a sum of £10,000 wherewith to erect the proposed institute buildings at Remuera. The Trustees appointed under the will were Mrs Isabella Dilworth, Mr. Robert Hall, the Rev. William Beatty, Mr. William Gardner, the Rev. George MacMurray, and Sir George Maurice O'Rorke. The estate held by the Trustees consists of very valuable land in the city of Auckland and borough of Parnell, and also a large area of very valuable land in the suburbs of Remuera and Penrose, besides country lands. In the near future the income from these will be very large.
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Mr. James Dilworth
              
             
 was born at Dungannon, County Tyrone, Ireland, on the 15th of August, 1815, and died at Auckland on the 23rd of December, 1894. He was educated at the Royal School of Dungannon, assisted his father in the management of his farm for a few years, and emigrated to New South Wales in 1839. There he obtained an appointment in the post office, and was stationed at Windsor, near Sydney. Not liking the monotony of the life there, he, in 1841, came over to Auckland, where some of his Sydney friends had already preceded him. After his arrival in New Zealand he went through the country looking out for land, travelling along the East Coast as far as Opotiki, but subsequently returned to Auckland. He joined the New Zealand Banking Company, and while in that institution he purchased land from the natives at Remuera. Later on he gave up banking, and settled down to farming, and continued to live at Remuera until his death. Mr. Dilworth never took a very active part in politics, though he was a member for some time of the Provincial Council, and afterwards held numerous official appointments. He was one of the founders of the Auckland
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Savings Bank, and a trustee until his death. He took a great interest in educational and church matters, and was a member of the Auckland University College Council, the Diocesan



Trust Board, etc., etc. After making provision by will for relatives and friends, Mr. Dilworth devoted the bulk of his ample fortune to trustees, directing them to establish an institute for the support and education of orphans, or children of persons in straitened circumstances, of any race. He provided that the Institute should be called the Dilworth Ulster Institute, and that the buildings should be erected on his Remuera estate.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Sailors' Home, Auckland



            
            


              
The Sailors' Home, Auckland,
              is situated at the corner of Albert and Quay Streets. It was founded in 1883, through the munificent generosity of the late Mr. Edward Costley, who bequeathed a sum of £12,150 to endow a Home for Sailors. The building is of brick, is three stories in height, and matches in style the Harbour Board buildings, to which it is closely adjacent. It contains forty-seven bedrooms, a large dining hall 30 feet by 20 feet, and a reading and social room, 50 feet by 30 feet. Fourteen bedrooms and a private sitting-room are kept for the exclusive use of officers and captains who make the Home their temporary abode. The domestic apartments are situated on the ground floor, together with several bathrooms, which are supplied with hot and cold water, and showers. The bedrooms are models of cleanliness; they are situated on the second and third stories, and are furnished in a most comfortable manner. On the second storey are the manager's apartments, and a private sitting-room for the use of captains and officers. A first-class cook is kept, and the fare is equal to that of a good commercial hotel. Breakfast is served at eight in the morning, dinner at noon, tea at five in the evening, and the institution is closed at eleven at night. The charge per week is only fifteen shillings for those who are in a position to pay; but to deserving men without funds the hospitality of the institution is free until employment is obtained, and those who are thus helped very seldom forget to forward to the superintendent the amount of their indebtedness to the institution. Sailors and others who have lived in the Home declare it to be the finest in the Australasian Colonies, and it is a noble monument to the philanthropy of Mr. Costley. A handsome hall, which is part of the institution, adjoins the main building, and is capable of seating 300 people. It is provided with a fine stage, and there three religious services are held on Sundays, socials on Monday evenings, concerts on Tuesdays, gospel meetings on Wednesdays, a Bible class on Thursdays, socials on Fridays, and concerts on Saturdays. These nightly entertainments are generally of a high-class character; as a rule they attract crowded attendances, and many of the leading vocalists of Auckland take part at the concerts. The present (1900) Committee of Management consists of: Bishop Cowie (president), Captain H. F. Anderson (vice-president), Colonel Haultain (secretary), Captain Clayton, Messrs Button, Ransom, H. B. Morton, Entrican, Peak, Brakenrigg, and the Rev. Mr. Budd, members of the Council The annual subscription is £1 1s.
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Mr. Robert Little,
             
 the Superintendent of the Sailors' Home, was born at Enniskillen, County Fermanagh, Ireland, in 1847, and was brought up to farming. He came to Auckland by the ship “Ganges,” in 1864, and started farming at Pukekohe, where he remained only twelve months. Then he returned to Auckland and entered the employment of Messrs Mark and McClay, boot and shoe merchants, of Queen Street, with whom he remained fourteen years as foreman. About 1879 Mr. Little began business in Queen Street on his own account, as a boot and shoe importer, and carried on successfully for seven years. He was then offered the position of superintendent of the Sailors' Home, and retired from business to take up his present duties, which he has since carried
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on to the utmost satisfaction of the managing body. Mr. Little has great musical ability; he plays the piano, organ, and cornet with equal facility, and even does justice to the Scottish bagpipes—a thing proverbially believed to be rare in an Irishman. In all the socials and entertainments Mr. Little takes a leading part, and their popularity is in a great measure due to his efforts. With the object of affording fresh entertainments, he has imported, at a personal cost of £40, the latest Edison concert phonograph, with a large number of records, and lanterns for kinematograph entertainments, with thousands of feet of films. Mr. Little gives a limelight entertainment once a month. Altogether he has spent over £200 from his private purse in these expensive machines for entertainments. Mr. Little's private room is adorned with curios from all parts of the world, presented by his numerous nautical friends, by whom he is held in the highest esteem. Mr. Little is a member of Oddfellow and Forester societies.
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Mrs Little,
              Matron of the Home, is a native of Ireland, and was married in 1863, previous to her departure for New Zealand. She is as popular in the institution as her husband. Mr. and Mrs Little have three sons and two daughters, who are all married.
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The St. Stephen's Orphan Home,
              Parnell, stands on a site set apart for the purpose, out of the Stephen's estate, by Bishop George Augustus Selwyn. It is one of the best institutions of its kind in the colony, and was originally founded by the late venerable John Frederick Lloyd, in 1862. Since then it has at various times been endowed with valuable bequests. In 1873 the late Mr. William Morrin left an income of



five per cent. of the net value of his estate to the Home; in 1876 the late Mrs Elizabeth Godley, of Parnell, bequeathed £50; in 1879 the late Mr. Henry Keesing, of Auckland, bequeathed £20; in 1879, the late Mr. Thomas Weston, Auckland, bequeathed £100; in 1883, the late Mr. John Sawerbier, of Adelaide, bequeathed £500; in 1883, the late Mr. Edward Costley bequeathed £12,150; and in 1900, the late Mr. Arrowsmith, of Waiuku, bequeathed about £7000 to the Home. Owing to these munificent gifts, the Home's sphere of benevolence has been largely extended. The Home is connected with the Church of England, but its doors are open to the orphans and destitute children of all denominations without regard to their religious persuasion. There is a Board of Management, of which the Rev. Canon Nelson is chairman, and Mr. T. W. Doonin, vice-chairman. Ten of the members are ex-officio, and six are elective; and there is also a ladies' committee of nine members. Mr. W. G. H. Jackman is secretary, Mr. C. J. Tunks the honorary treasurer, and Dr. W. G. Guinness the honorary medical officer. Children are received from over two to nine years of age, and are educated and trained—the boys to farming, and the girls to domestic work; and when they are fourteen years old, they are sent out to labour in their respective spheres. Wages earned by the boys and girls are banked by the Home in their own names, until they are sixteen, but after that age the children are allowed to make their own arrangements with their employers. A governess attends the school, which is a fine building adjoining the Home, and a sound elementary education is imparted. The average number of inmates is between fifty and sixty, but at various times as many as one hundred children have been in residence. The Home is a large two-storey building, surrounded by fifteen acres of grounds, fronting the sea. Dormitories for the boys are at one end, those for the girls at the other, and they are separated by a long corridor. There is also a hospital to accommodate fifteen patients, but owing to the good health of the children it has not been used for over nine years. The clothing of the children is made on the premises, and a resident seamstress is constantly employed for the purpose. There is a gardener to look after the grounds, and to grow all the vegetables required for the Home; and four cows are kept for the supply of milk. The Home is most beautifully kept, and the children are pictures of health and happiness.
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Mr. W. G. H. Jackman,
              the Secretary of the St. Stephen's Orphan Home, Parnell, is an Englishman by birth. He is an ideal secretary, and his devotion to the responsible duties of his office is recognised by the whole Board of Management.
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Mrs Helen Barrance,
              Matron of St. Stephen's Home, is a native of Yorkshire, England, and had much experience in connection with charitable institutions previous to her arrival in New Zealand. She was appointed to her present position in 1887, and her management of the Home has been distinguished by complete success.
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The Costley Institute,
             
 Richmond Road, Ponsonby. Under the will of the late Mr. Costley, one-seventh part of his estate was bequeathed to the Kohimarama Training School, and the amount, £12,150, was handed over to three trustees nominated by the executors. No special conditions were, however, imposed, and as the Kohimarama Training School had ceased to exist, the trustees recommended that an institution should be established to take charge of boys and girls from the Industrial Schools of the district, when they reached the age at which they were sent out into the world to earn their own living. This recommendation met with the approbation of Sir Robert Stout, then Premier of the Colony, and he caused a Bill to be prepared for the purpose. The Bill was passed by the Legislature without opposition, and was styled “The Costley Training Institution Act, 1885.” It empowered the trustees “to apply a sum of money in the purchase of a site in or near the city of Auckland, and in the erection and furnishing of buildings thereon; to select a certain number of boys and girls of ages fit to be apprenticed, being inmates of the schools established under the Industrial Schools Act, 1882, in or near the city of Auckland, and to apprentice such boys to suitable trades; in maintaining such boys at the institution until they were capable of being left to their own control; and in providing the girls with domestic service or other suitable employment.” With this authority the trustees commenced operations and selected the present site, for which they paid £1025. They erected the buildings at a cost of £2830, and expended a further sum of £703 in furnishing the house and improving the grounds. Under the will of the late Mrs Rebecca Hodge, a further endowment of £672 has been made for girls in charge of the institution. As each lad is apprenticed out a portion of his wages, not exceeding 9s per week, is used for his maintenance, while the balance is placed in the Savings Bank to his credit. The income derived from the investment of capital is about £500 a year, and when all the boys are placed out at work, and are all earning something, the income at the disposal of the institution will admit of a larger number being taken in charge; the trustees, therefore, look forward to an extension of the buildings at no distant date. The boys not at work attend the nearest Government school, and there is also an evening school. On Sunday they attend Divine service and Sunday
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school. Auckland has every reason to feel proud of the solid and excellent work which is being done at the Costley Institute, in rearing up, as useful citizens, lads who otherwise might have proved a source of danger and expense to the community. Concerning the capable management of the institution by Mr. and Mrs Hendre, a high Church dignitary, on visiting the place recently, paid a well-deserved compliment by saying, “Well, it is like a man-of-war.”
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Mr. William Hendre,
             
 Manager of the Costley Training Institute, Richmond Road, Auckland, was born at Clinton, New York,
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America, in 1850, and was educated at Brockville, Ontario. On leaving school he started in the timber trade, and for a number of years carried on an extensive timber business in Southern Texas. Mr. Hendre came to Auckland in 1889, and engaged in various pursuits, principally shipping. In 1887 changes were made in the management of the Costley Training Institute, and Mr. Hendre was chosen superintendent from a very large number of applicants. He has personal qualifications, such as firmness of character and kindness of disposition, which eminently fit him for the successful management of boys. During the period of his residence in Auckland previous to his present appointment, Mr. Hendre was prominent in political and social matters. He was connected with the various trades and labour councils, and was for a considerable time secretary to the Knights of Labour.
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                The Auckland Jubilee Institute For The Blind
              
              was founded in the year 1890, with the object of providing the blind with instruction in elementary knowledge, affording technical training in such handicrafts as would enable them to earn their own living as far as possible, and rendering assistance to them in any way that should be deemed advisable. An organisation which then existed under the name of “The Association of the Friends of the Blind,” and which had commenced work the previous year, was merged into the Institute, the funds of which were augmented by generous contributions, and the balance of an amount subscribed by the public to celebrate the Jubilee of the Colony; hence the title, “The Jubilee Institute.” Mr. John Abbott, sometime chairman and treasurer, was the founder, and worked most indefatigably in the cause, and the liberal support accorded was, in a great measure, due to his untiring advocacy. A house and land were purchased in Parnell, and buildings (schoolroom, dormitories, workshops, etc.) were erected, and the school and workshops fully equipped with the most modern apparatus to enable instruction to be imparted by methods suited to the necessities of the blind. Since the foundation of the Institute, over fifty people have been received, maintained, and educated, and have gone out to work for themselves. Some are engaged in trades of various kinds, such as mat, basket, and halter-making, etc., and others are established in business. There are at present thirty-three resident pupils. There are also many blind persons who are non-resident, and the work among them is extending each year. Tuition is provided, books are supplied, and in many ways assistance is afforded where it is required. The carrying on of the work of the Institute necessitates a heavy annual expenditure, and the sources of income are: (1) Maintenance fees (to cover cost of food, clothing, etc.), paid by the Government in the cases of indigent children of school age, in other cases provided wholly or in part by parents, friends, or charitable aid boards; (2) voluntary contributions, with Government subsidy thereon; and (3) interest derived from the investment of funds raised at the commencement of the work to form a capital fund. The buildings are pleasantly and healthily situated in Manukau Road adjoining the Domain, and a visit to the Institute cannot fail to awaken interest in its purpose and sympathy with its inmates. The work has the cordial support of the Government, and visitors from all parts of the world have testified to its efficiency. Visitors are cordially welcomed at the Institute, which is open every week day.
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Mr. R. Leslie Hunt,
              the Secretary of the Jubilee Institute for the Blind, 322 Victoria Arcade, Auckland, is at all times pleased to forward reports and other information, and to receive contributions in aid of the funds.
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The New Zealand Society For The Protection Of Women And Children, And Prevention Of Cruelty To Animals,
              14 Palmerston Buildings, Auckland; his Excellency the Governor, Earl of Ranfurly, president; the Countess of Ranfurly, president of the Ladies' Committee; Miss Porter, secretary. The Society for the Protection of Women and Children was established in Auckland in 1893; in 1899 the branch for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals was incorporated, and the society was registered accordingly. The objects of the society are to prosecute in cases of cruelty, wrong, outrage, or excessive violence to women; to give advice and aid to women who have been cruelly treated; to make provision for children when it is found that parents or guardians are unfit persons to have charge of them; to act as trustees and guardians of illegitimate children, and to receive and disburse money provided for the care and maintenance of such children, and to make provision for them; to agitate for the improvement of the statute



laws, with a view to the more effectual protection of women and children; to prevent cruelty to animals by enforcing the existing laws, by procuring any further legislation that may be found expedient, and by exciting and sustaining an intelligent public opinion regarding man's duty to the lower animals. This society was the first formed in the colony for the protection of women and children, and similar societies have since been constituted in Wellington and Dunedin. A strong committee of the leading citizens of Auckland controls the affairs of the society, and the secretary is always pleased to impart information concerning its work.
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The Ruth Lodge,
              in Grey Street, was established by the Salvation Army, and there some of the Army's noble rescue work is carried on. This Home is for women only. The officers attend the Police Courts and visit the gaol on the discharge of the prisoners, and unostentatiously devote their best energies on behalf of erring women and girls. They also hold religious services in the gaol every Saturday afternoon. Ensign Randall is the officer in charge of the Ruth Lodge.
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The Prison Gate Home,
              at Epsom, is another institution founded by the Salvation Army. In this Home rescue work is carried on for men as it is for women, at Ruth Lodge. Adjutant Williams, the officer in charge of the Prison Gate Home, personally conducts religious services in the gaol once a month.
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Maternity Home.
              This Home, also conducted by the Salvation Army, is situated in Hepburn Street, Ponsonby. Only first cases are admitted. Ensign Dix is the officer in charge.
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The educational institutions of Auckland might well be cited as proofs of the rapid progress made by modern colonial communities. Within the memory of the people still living there was no such place as Auckland, and the whole of the district was the territory of uncivilized natives, yet to-day it has a University College, secondary and primary schools, and full participation in the colony's liberal system of free and secular education. Exceptional practical enterprise has been required to develop the colony's cities to their present dimensions, to subdue the wilderness, to make roads and build bridges and houses, but the work of educating the young has not been neglected, and a large amount of attention has been devoted to the cultivation of the arts and the higher branches of learning. At the outset the conditions of colonisation were less favourable to this in the north than they were in the south of New Zealand. The University Colleges of Canterbury and Otago were founded largely under the influence of men who had been taught to look upon higher education as one of the chief advantages of life. But as early colonists, these men, though they had many real difficulties to deal with, were free to reclaim in peace the fertile open lands of their settlements. On the other hand, the Aucklanders had, while carrying on a deadly struggle with the warlike Maoris, to carve farms for themselves, from the dense forests, with infinite labour. Yet in a little more than thirty years after the first house was built on the site of Auckland, and in spite of the fierce work of nation making against such odds, there was founded in the young city a college which compares favourably, in regard to its syllabus and the status of its professors, with some of the historic schools of England, and at which students may win degrees of world wide rank and value, at less expenditure of money than is required in some countries for an education which does not equal that given at the colony's free primary schools. In view of all the circumstances, the facts set forth in this section with regard to primary, secondary, and university education in the city and province of Auckland, are of the very greatest interest and significance in their relation to modern British colonisation.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The University Of New Zealand



            
            


              
The University Of New Zealand.
              In the educational section of the Wellington Volume of this work, there is an article on the University of New Zealand, but as there have been various noteworthy changes and developments within the past three years, it may be well to recapitulate some of the things there mentioned, and to record others which have since come to pass. The University was established in 1870, under the New Zealand University Act of that year, and the first Council met on the 31st of May, 1871. The University is governed by a chancellor, vice-chancellor, and a senate of twenty-four members. His Excellency the Governor appointed the first senate, and although some of the original members still remain, all new members are elected. The senate meets annually about the month of February, in one of the principal cities in rotation, and its duties include the making of laws and statutes for the control of the University, and prescribing courses for examination for the various degrees which the University confers. There is a Court of Convocation, which consists of all graduates of the University of two years' standing and upwards, and its chief duty is to make recommendations to the Senate for its consideration and decision. The work of the University of New Zealand is to examine and to grant degrees after examinations to those who have matriculated. It is modelled on the plan of the University of London, and does not undertake tuition, which is carried on, on the lines laid down by the Senate, by the four affiliated colleges—namely, the University of Otago, Canterbury College, Auckland University College, and Victoria College, Wellington. The University has a Royal Charter to grant degrees in arts, law, medicine, music, and science, and has power, under Act of Parliament, to make regulations for the examination of all those who come up for degrees. There are three classes of examinations: the first for degrees in arts, law, science (including engineering and agriculture), and music, conducted chiefly by examiners resident in England; the second class includes the entrance or ordinary matriculation examinations, and is conducted by examiners in New Zealand; the third class consists of the examinations for degrees in medicine, and for admission to the legal profession, as distinct from the University degrees in law, and these also are conducted by examiners in New Zealand. The University course has a minimum of three and a maximum of five years. Every man and woman in the colony has an opportunity to take a degree under the University. No distinction has ever been made between the sexes, and the New Zealand University was the first in the British dominions to grant a degree to a woman; the recipient was Miss Edger, now Mrs Evans, of Wellington. Miss Emily H. Siedeberg, M.B., C.M., L.R.C.P.S., physician and surgeon, of Dunedin, has the distinction of being the first lady doctor of New Zealand, and obtained her degrees from the New Zealand University in 1896. There are now (1901) several lady doctors with the medical degrees, of the New Zealand University. Miss Ethel R. Benjamin, LL.B., barrister and solicitor, of Dunedin, obtained her degree after a brilliant course in law at the Otago University, and is the first of her sex to enter the legal profession in the colonies. The New Zealand University receives a grant of £3000 per annum from the Government, and has, in addition, a considerable income from fees; and in 1899 it granted the sum of £1700 for senior and junior scholarships. The successful and rapid growth of the University has been very marked. In 1900 there were in the four affiliated institutions forty-eight professors and lecturers; since 1876 the University has conferred 764 degrees; during 1899 there were about 775 undergraduates pursuing the University course, and a total number of 1333 came up at all the examinations of the year. The fees charged by the University are on the lowest possible scale; and in the faculties of arts, science, and law a student may attain a Bachelor's Degree, including all fees payable to his College for less than £40, spread over three years. In medicine the total fees may amount to £110, spread over five years. Sir James Hector was elected Chancellor of the University, first, in 1885; and since then has been re-elected three times for periods of five years. The Rev. J. C. Andrew, M.A., has had exactly the same experience with his Vice-Chancellorship. The first Registrar of the University was Mr. R. Mainwairing (1871–72); the second, Mr. F. de C. Malet (1872–4); the third, Mr. W. M. Maskell, who held office from 1874 till his death on the 1st of May, 1898. Mr. J. W. Joynt, M.A. (Dublin) has held the office since February, 1899.
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Mr. J. W. Joynt,
             
 Registrar of the University of New Zealand, was born on the 14th



of December, 1852, in County Wicklow, Ireland, and educated at endowed schools in Kilkenny and near Dublin. He entered Trinity College, Dublin, as First Classical
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Sizar, in 1873, and during his four undergraduate years he was almost invariably head of the Classical Honours Lists every term, and high up in the Honours Lists for English Literature and Mental and Moral Science. In 1877 he took his B.A. with two gold medals, in classics and mental and moral science, and the Senior Studentship of £100 a year for seven years. He also obtained the gold and silver medals for oratory and composition in the University Historical and Philosophical Societies. Before and after taking his degree Mr. Joynt did a great deal of private coaching for high University examinations. In 1880 the University presented him with the degree of M.A. Unfortunately, his health broke down in the course of subsequent work for a Fellowship, and he then came out to New Zealand. After a year on a station in Hawke's Bay, Mr. Joynt began to read law; but in 1889 he was offered the Principalship of Nelson College. This offer was accepted by him, but he took a short run to the Old Country before entering on his duties. In 1895 Mr. Joynt had a year's leave of absence, and he travelled a good deal in Europe. He resigned the Principalship of Nelson College, in December, 1898. On the founding of Victoria College, Wellington, he was second in the running out of fifty-seven candidates for the Chair of Classics. Mr. Joynt was appointed to his present position in February, 1899; and he is also lecturer in German in Victoria College, Wellington.
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Auckland University College.
             
 In December, 1878, a Royal Commission on University and Secondary Education was appointed by the Governor of New Zealand. The Commission, of which Sir George Maurice O'Rorke was chairman, met in January, 1879, and on the 9th of July following reported that two colleges, with an income of £4000 each, ought to be established in Auckland and Wellington, and that suitable buildings, at a cost of £12,500 each, should be erected in those cities. In the following year the Royal Commission repeated these recommendations. “The Auckland University College Act, 1882,” which became law on the 13th of September in that year, definitely established the College and endowed it with a statutory grant of £4000 per annum. By “The Auckland University College Reserves Act, 1885,” three blocks of land—10,000 acres in the Taupiri, 10,000 acres in the Parish of Karamu, 10,000 acres in the parish of Waimana—and a block containing about 354 acres, which had been devoted to the purpose of promoting higher education in the province of Auckland, became vested in the Council of the University College. The College was affiliated to the University of New Zealand, by the Senate of the University, on the 6th of March, 1883; and on the 21st of May in the same year the College was opened by his Excellency the Governor, Sir William Jervois. The governing body of the College is constituted and incorporated by the Act of 1882, and is styled “The Auckland University College Council.” It consists of eleven members, two of whom, the Mayor of the City of Auckland and the Chairman of the Auckland Board of Education, are members in virtue of their offices. The other nine form three groups—namely, three elected by the members of the General Assembly resident in the provincial district of Auckland, three appointed by the Governor-in-Council, and three elected by the graduates of the New Zealand University on the books of the College. Elections were made by the graduates for the first time in 1890, prior to which the three members elected by them had been appointed by the Governor-in-Council. One member of each group retires annually. The Minister of Education is the visitor of the College, and the council consists of—Sir G. M. O'Rorke, M.A., M.H.R. (chairman), the Mayor of Auckland (Mr. David Goldie), the Chairman of the Auckland Board of Education (Mr. Lemuel J. Bagnall), the Most Rev. W. G. Cowie, D.D., Rev. W. J. Williams, Hon. J. A. Tole, B.A., LL.B., Messrs Jackson Palmer, G. L. Peacocke, F. E. Baume, LL.B., Tom U. Wells, B.A., and J. S. Maclaurin, D.Sc. The Rev. D. W. Runciman, M.A., is the registrar. The professors are—Messrs H. A. Talbot-Tubbs, M.A. (Classics), C. W. Egerton, M.A. (English), H. W. Segar, M.A. (Mathematics), F. D. Brown, Hon. M.A., B.Sc. (Chemistry and Experimental Physics), and A. P. W. Thomas, M.A. (Biology and Geology). The lecturers are—W. E. Thomas, Mus. Doc. (Oxford) (Music), J. W. E. P. de Montalk (French), and Mr. Athloy Hunter, Assoc. M. Inst. C.E. (Engineering). Monthly meetings are held by the Council, which elects its chairman, and five members form a quorum. The Professorial Board, which is constituted by statute, possesses, subject to the approval of the Council, the power of fixing the course of study and the days and hours of lectures and examinations, and of prescribing the subjects of examinations for scholarships, exhibitions, and prizes; and it has, subject to a right of appeal to the Council, a general control over the discipline of the students, the management of the library, and the direction of the College servants. It elects a chairman annually. Each professor or lecturer is entitled to receive, in addition to his salary, the fees which are paid by students for attendance at his lectures. The number of students who attended lectures in 1899 was 220, and there were also nineteen students examined who were exempted from attendance at lectures, but two attended a few lectures so that the total number of students was
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239. The net revenue from land endowments in the same year was £2531 5s 1d. Earnest efforts are made to render the College as useful as possible to those who require a knowledge of science for manufacturing or technical pursuits. In 1884 Mr. Thomas Bannatyne Gillies, a judge of the Supreme Court of New Zealand, presented to the College Council the sum of £3000 for the purpose of founding two Science Scholarships, to be named respectively the “Sinclair” and the “Gillies” scholarships, in memory of Dr. Andrew Sinclair, uncle of the late Mrs Gillies, and in memory of Mrs Gillies herself. This gift has been utilised in the manner prescribed; and the scholarships are at present of the value of £50 per annum each. The College library contains more than 6000 volumes, of which upwards of 1000 volumes were bequeathed by the late Professor Pond, and nearly 600 volumes by the late Mr. J. L. Sinclair, of Otahuhu. Books may be taken out under certain conditions prescribed by the Council, and all students have free access to the library. Until recently the College authorities have had to put up with more or less unsuitable accommodation. After trying various expedients, the Council, in 1898, requested its chairman, Sir Maurice O'Rorke, to place all the facts before the Government. In response to the application thus made, Parliament voted £1000, and the Government authorised Mr. C. R. Vickerman, of the Public Works Department, to prepare the necessary plans and to supervise the erection of the buildings which the College Council might take in hand. Buildings sufficient for the requirements of the College for many years to come have since been erected and furnished, at a cost of over £1500.
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The Rev. D. W. Runciman,
             
 M.A., Registrar of the Auckland University College, was born in Edinburgh on the 26th of June.
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1837. A son of the Rev. David Runciman, D.D., of St. Andrew's Parish, Glasgow, he was educated at the Glasgow High School and University, graduating as M.A. in 1860. Four years later he was ordained minister of the parish of Leslie in the county of Fife. In 1876 Mr. Runciman was advised to try this Colony in search of health, and accordingly sailed for Auckland in the ship “Jessie Osborne.” In the following February he was appointed to the charge of St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church, Ponsonby, which position he held until 1889, when he retired and settled on a farm of some seventy acres at East Tamaki, where the reverend gentleman spent about five years in peaceful retirement, keeping up his interest in the cause of education as a useful member of the Papatoetoe school committee. Mr. Runciman was married in 1866 to Miss Isabella Agatha Leishman, daughter of the Rev. Matthew Leishman, D.D., of Govan, near Glasgow. Of thirteen children, five sons and four daughters survive. The eldest son, Mr. Matthew Leishman Runciman, is resident in Buenos Ayres, in partnership with an uncle under the style of Messrs. Runciman and Co., merchants. Mr. Runciman was appointed Registrar of Auckland University College on the 1st of September, 1894.
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Professor Henry Arthur Talbot Tubbs,
              M.A., Oxon. (sometime Craven Fellow and Arnold Historical Prizeman, Classics), Professor of Classics at the Auckland University College, was born at Crumpsall, Lancashire, in 1865, and is the eldest surviving son of the late Mr. Henry Harmer Tubbs. Educated primarily at Silcoates, Wakefield, Yorkshire, and at the Manchester Grammar School, Professor Tubbs entered at Pembroke College, Oxford, in 1883, being elected to the first open scholarship of the year. He graduated B.A. in 1887 (First Class Honours Moderations, 1884; First Class Litteræ Humaniores, 1887), and eventually proceeded to the degree of M.A. In 1888 he was elected to the Craven Travelling Fellowship, and in the following year was awarded the Arnold Historical Prize of the University of Oxford. On the completion of his college course. Professor Tubbs was for two years engaged in archæological research, studying in Germany, Italy, and Greece, and was joint director of excavators in Cyprus, under the auspices of the Cyprus Exploration Fund and the British School at Athens. On his return to England he was appointed lecturer on classics at the Melbourne University, which position he held up to the time of his present appointment at Auckland University College.
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Professor Charles William. Egerton,
              M.A., Dublin. Senior Moderator and Gold Medalist, and Professor of Auckland University College, was born in 1862. Professor Egerton's university career is a brilliant one, as the following list of honours will testify. In the year 1881 he obtained entrance prizes in English and French at Trinity College, Dublin, and second of the first class exhibitions for general scholarship with honours in five subjects at the Royal University of Ireland. In 1882 he was First of the first class prizes in English Language, etc., at Trinity College, Dublin, and First of the first class exhibitions for general scholarships with honours in English, etc., in the Royal University. In 1885 he took his B.A. degree with first class honours and gold medal. From 1883 until 1889 he gained the following prizes and honours at Trinity College, Dublin:—First of the first class prizes in English language, etc. (1883); First of first class prizes in modern literature (1884); Senior Moderatorship and gold medal in modern literature (1885); the Early English Text Society's prize, the New Shakespeare Society's prize (1886); and the vice-chancellor's prize in English prose composition (1888–9). In 1890 he was appointed lecturer for three years on English language and literature in Queen Margaret College, Glasgow, an institution devoted to the higher education of women. During his residence in Glasgow, he was appointed lecturer on English literature and modern history to the West of Scotland University Extension Board. Some years ago he published for the use of Honour candidates in the Royal University an edition of Swift's “Battle of the Books,” with an introduction and notes; and was commissioned by Messrs Methuen and Co. to write a book on “The English Novel and its Principles of Development.”
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Professor Hugh William Segar,
              M.A. (Camb.), Professor of Mathematics at Auckland University College, was born at Liverpool, England, in 1868, and is the only son of the late Mr. Robert Segar. He was educated at the Liverpool Collegiate Institution, and at the age of sixteen, in the Cambridge Senior Local examinations, was first in English, in science, and in mathematics, both pure and applied. Professor Segar entered Trinity College, Cambridge, in 1887, and graduated B.A. in 1890, being second wrangler in the Mathematical Tripos of that year. He became Walker Prizeman in 1890. Yeats' Prizeman in 1891, and Smith's Prizeman in 1892. On leaving Cambridge in October, 1893, he was appointed lecturer on mathematics at the University College of Wales, Aberystwyth. This appointment he held only till the following March, when he received the position of professor of mathematics at the University College, Auckland. Professor Segar took his M.A. degree shortly after arriving in New Zealand, the time-qualification for this degree not having been previously completed. He is the author of several original contributions to the mathematical journals.
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Professor Frederick Douglas Brown,
              Hon. M.A. (Oxford), B.Sc. (London), F.C.S., Professor of Chemistry and Experimental Physics at Auckland University College, was born at Woodford, Essex, England, in 1851. After the usual school education he went to Strasbourg, where he studied chemistry at the University under M. Lies-Bonard, and eventually obtained the degree of B.Sc. in the University of France. In 1870 Professor Brown returned to England and passed a short time in the chemical laboratory at St. Bartholomew's Hospital, then under the direction of Dr. Matthiessen. After the death of the latter, Professor Brown passed two years at the Royal College of Chemistry, under Dr. Frankland, and one year in the study of the higher branches of chemistry at Professor Kolbe's laboratory in the University



of Leipsic. Returning to London in the summer of 1873, Professor Brown obtained the degree of B.Sc. in the University of London. He worked at researches in organic chemistry with Dr. H. E. Armstrong at the London institution, and for two years subsequently was engaged in some elaborate experiments in physical chemistry, which were carried on in the laboratories of the Royal School of Mines. Professor Brown was appointed to the Chair of Chemistry in the Auckland University College in 1883, and arrived in the Colony to take up that position in May of that year. He is the author of various scientific papers, which have appeared in the Journal of the Chemical Society, and other kindred periodicals.
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Professor Algernon Phillips Withiel Thomas,
              M.A., F.L.S., F.G.S. Professor of Biology and Geology, Auckland University College, was born in June, 1837, at Birkenhead, Cheshire, England, was educated at Manchester School and afterwards at Balliol College (Oxon). He gained second class honours in mathematical Moderations and first class honours in natural science, as well as the Burdett-Coutts Geological Scholarship of the university. The professor was appointed demonstrator in biology at the university of Oxford and whilst there, was engaged in an important scientific research into the natural history of the liver fluke of sheep for the Royal Agricultural Society of England. In November 1882 he was appointed on the recommendation of Professor Huxley and Sir Archibald Geikie, as the first occupant of the chair of Natural Science (biology and geology) in the Auckland University College, and arrived in the Colony on the 1st of May, 1883. Professor Thomas is known as an able and popular science lecturer and also as a lecturer on agricultural science to the farming community of the Auckland provincial district. He was engaged by the New Zealand Government to report on the eruption of Tarawera in 1886 and to make a scientific Investigation in connection with the intercolonial Royal Commission on the rabbit pest. He is the author of numerous papers on zoological and geological subjects.
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Professor E. Potocki De Montalk,
             
 Lecturer on Modern Languages to the University College, Auckland, was born at Paris on the 14th of February, 1836. He is a son of Comte Joseph Potocki de Montalk, who was an officer in the Spanish Army under the celebrated General Prim. M. de Montalk saw active service in Italy in 1859, under General Garibaldi. He left for New Zealand in 1868, and arrived at Wellington per ship “Mataura,” receiving the appointment soon after arrival of professor of modern languages at Nelson College, where he remained three years. He subsequently became lecturer on French and Italian to the Otago University, which post he most ably filled, but resigned to become a special settler at Jackson Bay, Okura. A year later he went to Christchurch as French and German master to the Boys' High School and Christ's College. In 1891 he came to Auckland, where he now occupies the post of lecturer on modern languages at the University College. M. de Montalk also instructs a number of private pupils in French, German, and Italian, many of whom have taken N.Z. University
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and Home degrees. He is the author of a work entitled “The elements of French Literature.” Professor de Montalk possesses a choice and varied library, and is a most diligent student of literature. The professor who is a Knight of the military order of Savoy, and Officier d'Academie Francaise, is the founder and president of L'Alliance Francaise of Auckland, which has superseded the Societé Literaire Francaise. He is also very musical, and is a cousin of Count de Kontski, the renowned pianist, who visited New Zealand a few years ago. Professor de Montalk was married in Wellington in 1868 to Miss Alexandrina Withelmina Sutherland Macalister, a descendant of the Macalisters of Ascog, Buteshire, who was born at Clyth House, Caithness; and has seven sons and five daughters, all born in New Zealand.
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Professor William Edwin Thomas,
             
 Mus. Doc. (Oxon.), Professor of Music at Auckland University College, was born at Oxford, England, in November, 1867. He belongs to a very musical family—his grandmother was a celebrated pianiste, his father, the late Mr. E. J. Thomas, was a singer of note, and his sisters also display great musical talent. Dr. Thomas early began to show the musical ability for which he is now distinguished. At the age of seven he played the organ at St. Thomas, Oxford, and could at the age of twelve, write counterpoint in eight parts, and play from full vocal score and figured bass. He was articled to Dr. Corfe, organist to the Oxford Cath dral, and examiner to the Oxford University, and received his early musical training under that gentleman. At the age of seventeen he entered Oxford University to pursue his musical studies. He obtained his first degree in 1888, under Sir Frederick A. Gore O[
gap —  
reason: illegible]
seley, celebrated for his great musical attainments, then Professor of Music at Oxford, and under his direction sang as a solo boy at St. Michael's festival, Ten-bury, a college that Sir Frederick built himself, and where a daily cathedral service is performed. In 1893 he took his Mus. Doc. degree, for which he was presented by Sir John Stainer. On leaving college Dr. Thomas was appointed organist and choirmaster at Ellesborough, Tring, Buckinghamshire, but he resigned the position a year later to take up a similar one at St. Mary and St. John's, Cowley, under the celebrated Father Benson. Two years later he received the appointment of organist, choirmaster, and director of music at All Saints' School, Bloxham, Oxon. There he founded the Bloxham Choral Society, which is still in a flourishing state. After devoting seven years and a half to his musical duties at Bloxham, Dr. Thomas accepted the position of organist and choirmaster at St. Clement's, Bournemouth, where he remained for five years and a half. During that time he was conductor of the Philharmonic Society and St. Clement's Choral Society, examiner for the Royal College of Music, and the London College of Music, and was the first professor of the Bournemouth School of Music. On the death of the late Professor Carl Schmidt, the reputation of Dr. Thomas secured for him, through the New Zealand Agent-General, the appointment of Professor of Music at the Auckland University, and the conductorship of the Auckland Choral Society. In making the appointment the Agent-General was guided not only by the general musical reputation of Dr. Thomas, but by special recommendations made by Sir John Stainer, Professor of Music at Oxford,
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and the head of the musical profession in England; Dr. C. H. Lloyd, Mus. Doc., Oxon.; Sir Walter Phillimore, and the Bishop of Reading, who are trustees of All Saints'



School, Bloxham. Since his arrival in Auckland his high musical attainments have won universal appreciation. His talents as a composer are well known, and some of his compositions for voice, organ, and violin have received most flattering notices. Dr. Thomas has published an oratorio, “In Te Domine Speravi, for eight voices, double chorus, soli, and full orchestra; a madrigal, “And Wilt Thou Weep?” which, in addition to receiving very favourable notices, was awarded first prize, given by the Brighton Sacred Harmonic Society; a sacred song, “The Holy Child,” arranged for a soprano or tenor voice; “Berceuse,” for violin and piano; an anthem, “Blessed are They That Dwell in Thy House”; a part song, for four voices, a most inspiriting composition; “Hail, O Merry England,” composed for All Saints School, Bloxham; the school song, “All Saints' for Ever” (words written by Mr. J. H. T. Goodwin, B.A., Oxon., one of the masters of All Saints' School); a sererade for four voices, “Magnificat and Nune Dimittis” in D; two communion services complete in F and D; and a large number of other publications.
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Dr. A. Mcarthur,
              M.A., LL.D. (Melbourne), is Lecturer on Jurisprudence and Constitutional History, and History and Political Economy, at the University College, Auckland. He is referred to elsewhere as a barrister and solicitor.
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                The Auckland Grammar School
              
             
 was founded under an Act of the Provincial Legislature in 1869, with the name of “The Auckland Grammar School.” The Provincial Act was repealed by an Act of the General Assembly in 1877, which designated the institution as the Auckland College and Grammar School, and under this name it was for some time affiliated to the New Zealand University. On the establishment of the Auckland
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University College affiliation ceased, the term College became inapplicable, and the school reverted to its original name in pursuance of the Auckland Grammar School Act, 1899, which embodied in one measure the statute of 1877 and several amending Acts. The endowment for the school was due to Sir George Grey, who, during his first Governorship of New Zealand, set apart, in the years 1850–53, certain lands in the City of Auckland, Parnell, North Shore, Epsom, and Pakuranga, as an endowment for the maintenance and support of a Grammar School on the isthmus on which Auckland stands. These lands were carefully husbanded by the Provincial Government for sixteen years, and after a considerable conflict of opinion between the Superintendent and the Provincial Council for three years, the school was opened by the Provincial Government in 1869. Great difficulties were at first experienced in getting suitable housing, but these were solved by Parliament making a grant of £5000 for the erection of the present building in Symonds Street. The school was subsequently enlarged, making the total cost £10,000, and the school buildings and apparatus are insured for £7400. Originally the school was founded as a boys' school, but on the withdrawal of the Government grant from the Auckland Girls High School the Board of Governors, in 1888, took over that institution, which has since that time been worked as a separate branch of the Grammar School, though in the same building. There are 344 pupils—212 boys and 132 girls; the curriculum embraces the usual grammar school subjects, and especial attention has always been paid to technical and commercial work. The workshop, gymnasium, and laboratory are fully equipped. Sir Maurice O'Rorke, LL.D., and Speaker of the House of Representatives, has been chairman of the Board of Governors for the past twenty years, and has always taken a great interest in the affairs of the school. At present (December, 1900) the other members of the Board are:—Professor F. D. Brown, M.A., vice-chairman; the Mayor of Auckland, Mr. Theo. Cooper, Mr. S. Luke, Mr. Bagnall (chairman of the Board of Education), the Hon. W. Jennings, M.L.C., the Hon. J. A. Tole, B.A., LL.B. (Sydney), Dr. E. Roberton, M.D., and Professor A. P. W. Thomas, M.A. Mr. W. Wallace Kidd, of 302 Victoria Arcade, is secretary; and Mr. O. Mays, Palmerston Buildings, treasurer. The staff at present consists of the headmaster, Mr. Tibbs, M.A., Oxford, twelve assistant masters and five assistant mistresses—namely, assistant masters; W. J. Morrell, M.A., J. F. Sloman, B. A. (Sydney), J. G. Trevithick, P. Marshall, M.A., B.Sc., F.G.S., the Rev. J. King Davis, M.A., J. H. Turner, M.A., H. J. Mahon, B.A., R. A. McCullough, M.A., S. W. Entrican, M.A. (Royal University, Ireland). Assistant mistresses: Miss E. G. Wallace, Miss A. C. Morrison, M.A., Miss W. Picken, M.A., Miss Haultain, Miss B. Blades. Mr. K. Watkins is visiting master, and Mr. W. M. Carrollo, instructor in drill and gymnastics.
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Mr. J. W. Tibbs,
             
 M.A., of Keble College, Oxford, is the present Headmaster in the Auckland Grammar School. He is a native
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of Hobart, Tasmania, and the eldest son of Mr. Charles Tibbs, and was educated at the Hutchins and High Schools, Hobart. After gaining the Senior Tasmanian Scholarship of 1874, he matriculated at the University of Oxford, and graduated B.A. in 1879, after gaining a second class in Mathematical Moderations and a second class in the Final School of Mathematical Honours. He took his degree of M.A. in 1883. Mr. Tibbs held the position of chief mathematical master of St. Edward's School, Oxford, from 1879 to 1881; when he returned to Tasmania to take



the position of mathematical master of the High School, Hobart In May, 1885, he was appointed chief mathematical master of the Auckland College and Grammar School; and, on the departure of Mr. C. F. Bourne, M.A., from Auckland, to assume the headmastership of Christ's College, Christchurch, he was appointed headmaster by the Board of Governors.
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Mr. William John Morrell,
              M.A., Chief Classical and English Master at the Auckland Grammar School, was born at Tiverton, Devonshire, England, in 1868, and is the eldest son of Mr. William Morrell of Tiverton. He was educated at Blundell's school, Tiverton, and Balliol College, Oxford, where he held an open classical scholarship. In 1887 he gained First Class in Classical Moderations, in 1889 he secured Second in Humaniores, and in 1890 he obtained similar honours in Modern History. On the completion of his university career he held various appointments, the last one being that of chief classical master of Trent College, Nottingham, which he resigned to accept his present appointment.
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Mr. James Hight,
              M.A., Master of Modern Languages at the Auckland Grammar School, was born at Christchurch, New Zealand, in 1870, and is the eldest son of Mr. S. Hight, of Canterbury. The subject of this notice was educated at the Malvern district school, at the Normal Training school, Christchurch, and at Canterbury College. In 1893 he took his B.A. degree (having previously held the English Exhibition for two years at Canterbury College), and the Senior Scholarship of the University in modern languages; and in 1894 qualified for his M.A. degree (with First Class Honours in modern languages). During the years 1887–90 Mr. Hight was engaged in teaching at Malvern district school; he also taught at the Normal Training school for two years, and afterwards spent some years in private coaching. In June, 1896, he was appointed to the English and commercial mastership at the Auckland Grammar School, and in December following received his present position. Mr. Hight compiled the biographical section of a manual of English literature of the 18th century, written by Professor J. Macmillan Brown, M.A.
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Mr. Patrick Marshall,
              M.A., B.Sc. (New Zealand University), F.G.S., (London). Science Master at the Auckland Grammar School, was born in Suffolk in 1869, being the third son of the Rev. J. H. Marshall. He was educated at Home until thirteen years of age, when he left England for New Zealand, and completed his education at the Canterbury College, where he took his B.A. and B.Sc. degrees in 1891. Mr. Marshall then studied at the School of Mines, Otago University, for one year, and while at that seat of learning gained his M.A. degree. He was subsequently appointed lecturer on natural science at the Lincoln Agricultural College, which position he held for three years. He received his present appointment in 1896. Mr. Marshall is a keen and brilliant athlete. He is one of the best tennis-players in New Zealand, having won the double championship at the 1893 tournament. In football, he represented Canterbury in the interprovincial contests during 1895. Mr. Marshall is also an ex-member of the Canterbury College Cricket Club, and is now an active player in the United Cricket Club, Auckland.
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Mr. Kenneth Watkins,
              Drawing Master of the Auckland Grammar School, was born at Ootacamunde, India, on 14th of June, 1847, and is the eldest son of Lieutenant-Colonel Watkins, H.I.C.S., was educated at Wellington College, Berkshire, and afterwards completed his education at Geneva and Lausanne, Switzerland. He then studied art under the celebrated M. Tarri, Cross of the Legion of Honour; at the age of 21 years he visited India and resided in Singapore for three years. Eventually, he arrived in Auckland in 1874 where he commenced the profession of an artist and became master of the Auckland Free School of Arts, which position he held for nine years. He then entered the service of the Board of Education and was appointed drawing master under the Board and to the Auckland Grammar School. Mr. Watkins was chosen president of the New Zealand Students' Association for three successive years and afterwards was elected president of the Auckland Academy of Art.
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Mr. James Garland Trevithick.
              M.I.N.A., Technical Master at the Auckland Grammar School, was born at Hayle, Cornwall, England, in 1846, and is the second son of Mr. F. H. Trevithick, and grandson of Mr. Richard Trevithick, the celebrated inventor. The subject of this notice received his technical education at the Milwall Iron Works and Shipbuilding Company. London, where he was a pupil. For four years he was chief draughtsman to the Earles Shipbuilding Company, Hull. Mr. Trevithick left England for Auckland in 1879 and on arrival was appointed drawing instructor to the Auckland Education Department, which position he retained for four years. He accepted his present appointment in 1883.
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Mr. John Flashman Sloman,
              B.A. (with honours, Sydney University), Assistant Master at the Auckland Grammar School, was born near Plymouth, England, in 1843, being the second son of Mr. W. Sloman, of that place. He was educated at the Fort Street public school, Sydney, New South Wales, and, at the early



age of fourteen years, entered the service of the Board of National Education. After remaining in that service for seven years, he next held an appointment at the Ipswich Grammar School, Queensland, for four and a half years, and then pursued a course of studies at the Sydney University for another term. In 1871 he took his B.A. degree with honours in classics and mathematics. Mr. Sloman left Sydney for Auckland in 1872 to fill a position as assistant master at the Auckland Grammar School, where he has also been mathematical and second and second master. In 1885 he was elected headmaster of the Auckland Girls' High School, and discharged the duties of this onerous and important position until the middle of 1888, when owing to the withdrawal of the Government grant the school was closed and Mr. Sloman was re-appointed to his present position. He takes a great interest in athletic sports, and in past days represented his university on the football field. He is at present captain of the Grammar School cadet corps, which is quite a feature of that educational institution.
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Rev. John King Davis,
              M.A. (New Zealand University), Assistant Master at the Auckland Grammar School, was born at Waimate North, Bay of Islands, in 1858, and is the son of the late Rev. Richard Davis, of the Church Missionary Society. He was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell, and at St. John's College, Tamaki. He gained a senior university scholarship in 1880, and took his B.A. degree in 1881. In 1882 he obtained the M.A. degree with first-class honours in Latin and Greek. He was ordained deacon in 1881 and priest in 1882 in old St. Paul's Church, Auckland, by the present primate of New Zealand, the Right Rev Bishop Cowie. Mr. Davis acted as assistant curate of All Saints'. Ponsonby, from 1881–1883, and held the same position in St. Sepulchre's parish from 1883–1886. He was curate-in-charge of the Mt. Albert district from 1886–1889. In 1890 he was appointed one of the assistant masters of the Auckland Grammar School.
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Mr. Joseph Hurst Turner,
              M.A. (New Zealand University), Assistant Master at the Auckland Grammar School, was born in Christchurch in 1867. While a pupil at the Normal School, he won a District Scholarship, and continued his education at Christ's College, where he won further District Scholarships. He matriculated in 1886, and obtained his B.A. degree in 1889, with a Senior Scholarship in Latin and Greek. In the following year he obtained his M.A. degree, and received an appointment at the Auckland Grammar School. He was promoted to his present position in 1900.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

King's College



            
            

              
King's College,
             
 Boarding and Day School for Boys (“The Tower,” Remuera). Auckland, Visitor: Rev W. Beatty, M.A., Viear of St. Mark's Parish, Remuera. Principal: Mr. Graham Bruce, B.A. (with honours at London University), formerly vice-principal of Wellington College, Salop, England, and later one of the principals of St. John's College, Tamaki. Resident assistant masters: Mr. G. Bigg-Wither, B.A.; Mathematics and Science Master, Mr. Arthur Plugge, B.Sc. of Victoria University, England, formerly Assistant Master at Archbishop's Holgate's School, York; Classics and English, Mr. E. H. Strong, M.A., with honours of the University of New Zealand; Junior Form Masters, Mr. J. Stuckey, B.A., Mr. A. W. Short and Mr. F. Worley. The College was opened on the 12th of February, 1896, by the Rev. W. Beatty, under the most favourable circumstances, there being about seventy names on the roll at that date. This number has steadily increased, and there are now one hundred and twenty, of whom forty are boarders. Owing to the unprecedented success that has already attended the college, it has been decided to provide accommodation for a larger number of pupils, and steps will accordingly be at once taken to make such alterations and improvements as shall be found necessary to avoid having to refuse pupils. The principal, who has had twenty-three years' experience in teaching, was for some years vice-principal of Wellington College (Salop), one of the largest private boarding-schools in England, numbering over one hundred boarders; and was also for five years one of the principals of St. John's College, Auckland. In the system of education adopted at the college, in addition to the preparation of boys in the ordinary school course, what is aimed at is the ineulcation of gentlemanly habits, a manly spirit and a high moral tone. It was with this object in view that the motto “Virtus Pollet” (manliness prevails) was chosen as the motto of the college. The college is entirely unsectarian. All the boarders attend St. Mark's Church. Remuera, on Sundays, with the principal. In the case of boys whose parents object on religious grounds, special arangements are made. A Bible class is held on Sundays, at the college, by the principal, and prayers are read every morning and evening, at which all boys are required to be present. The college is situated on high ground in the healthiest suburb of Auckland, and commands a magnificent view of the harbour. The grounds are twelve acres in extent and are beautifully laid out with spacious lawns for tennis and other games. Ample paddock accommodation is also available for cricket and football. The college buildings, which have for many years been known as “The Tower,” were built by Mr. Jas. MeCosh Clark, and are familiar to many influential gentlemen throughout New Zealand who enjoyed Mr. Clark's hospitality at the time of his mayoralty of Auckland. A large amount of money has been spent in adapting the buildings to their present requirements, and they are now replete with all the conveniences that are essential to a first-class school. There are seven classrooms. These are large, lofty, and well ventilated. The school furniture and appliances are of the most modern character. The desks have been specially manufactured for the college on the dual system. Each boy has a separate desk provided with lock and key. Regular classes are held in gymnastics by Professor Carrollo; the building for this purpose was specially erected by the principal. It is sixty feet in length by thirty in breadth, and is one of the largest in New Zealand. The apparatus is most complete; the windows are cased with
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wire frames, and the apparatus is removable, so that in wet weather the room may be used as a play-room. Near the gymnasium are the work-shops for the instruction of boys in carpentry, fitted with a lathe and treadle fret-saw, besides a large assortment of tools for different kinds of work. In order to ensure good results in this department, and to avoid careless use of tools and wood, a small charge is made as a guarantee of interest in the work. Boys wishing to keep their own tools will be provided with lockers for their safe keeping. The cadet corps numbers about sixty members: the corps is drilled twice a week between 12 and 12.45, and is regularly inspected by Colonel Banks. All boys are instructed in military drill, and, when of the necessary age and height, are required to join the cadet corps; exceptions are, however, made in the case of boys physically unfit for the ranks. Too much importance cannot be attached to the good that is to be derived from this department. The cadets are required to wear the uniform of the corps, which is provided at a nominal charge per term. The sanitary arrangements are of the most complete description, the system of drainage being of a very elaborate nature. There are several bathrooms, one of which the day-boys have the use of; hot and cold water baths are available for the boarders, and there are several shower-baths. The water supply is perfect; the well, which is a hundred feet deep, is supplied by a splendid spring, which provides a perpetual flow of the purest water. A gas-engine has recently been connected with the force-pump, and the water is now placed in communication with tanks in every building, so that there is no possibility of any department running short of its supply. The Auckland Board of Education awards three triennial scholarships, each of the value of fifty guineas, on the result of the senior district scholarship examinations. Any boy from this college elected to a district scholarship has the option of declining it, and taking one instead, tenable at King's College. One of the value of thirty guineas is open to boarders under fifteen years and is tenable for one year, and one, value £12, is open to day-boys under fifteen years and is tenable for one year. The successes of the school at the various public examinations, 1896–1900, have been as follows:—Six boys, Senior Civil Service, and one boy passed with distinction, and was second in New Zealand in 1900; twenty-eight boys, Junior Civil Service; matriculation, twelve boys; two boys qualified for Board of Education Senior Scholarships in 1899, obtaining fourth and fifth places, and one boy obtained free education for three years on the same examination; one boy passed “with credit” the University Junior Scholarship examination in 1899.
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Mr. Graham Bruce,
              B.A., London University and Principal of King's College, Remuera, Auckland, was born at Finchley near London in 1863. He was educated at the University School at Hastings. On leaving school he was trained as a teacher in London, at the same time studying for the University degree for which he graduated with honours in 1888 and was appointed vice-principal of Wellington College in Shropshire, England. In consequence of his breaking down through ill-health, he came out to Auckland, when he became together with Rev. P. S. Smallfield, one of the principals of St. John's College, Tamaki, which position he held for five years, when he opened the King's College, Remuera.
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Prince Albert College,
              Queen Street, Auckland. Until quite recently this fine old college presented the same external appearance, with which Aucklanders were familiar half a century ago, but the recent extensive additions, whilst adding greatly to the college accommodation, have so completely altered its external features as to render it absolutely unrecognisable, except for its commanding position. As the Wesley College, the school has been known far and wide, during almost the whole of Auckland's history, and it was perhaps with feelings of sorrow that many former scholars, now old or middle-aged men, witnessed the necessary effacement of the building so familiar to them in their school-days. Over 230 boys and girls attend the college, the girls being in a separate building at the eastern extremity of the grounds. The principal (Mr. Thomas Jackson, M.A., London), is assisted in the boys' college by Mr. Stephenson, M.A., Mr. A. R. Crump, Mr. P. Drummond, B.A., and Mr. T. R. Southall; and in the girls' college by Miss Rainforth, M.A., Miss Salmond, B.A., Miss Blenner-hassett, B.A., and Miss Hodge.
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Mr. Thomas Jackson,
              M.A., Principal of Prince Albert College, Auckland, was born at Bourne, Lincolnshire, England, in 1860, and is a son of the Rev. W. Jackson, Wesleyan minister. The subject of this notice was educated at Kingswood School, Bath, and, after seven years' training, accepted the position of assistant master in the same school. He was afterwards appointed headmaster of a school in Truro, Cornwall, and, after filling that position for some three years, arrived in Auckland in January, 1895, to take up the duties of his present appointment. Mr. Jackson gained his M.A. degree (with Honours in Classics) at the London University in 1887. For many years he has been a local preacher in connection with the Wesleyan Church, in which he takes an active part. In outdoor recreations, he is a member of the Mount Eden Tennis Club, and in his days of greater leisure was a cricketer and footballer of some prominence, having on several occasions figured in school representative teams. In 1892 Mr. Jackson married a daughter of Mr. A. Davey, of Romford, Essex, and has one daughter.
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Miss E. M. Rainforth,
              M.A. (New Zealand University). First Assistant Mistress at the Prince Albert College, was born in Oamaru, Otago. She was educated at the Dunedin High School and at Otago University, taking the B.A. degree in 1892, and the M.A. degree in 1893 (with honours in mathematics). She was appointed second assistant in the girls' department, Prince Albert College, in 1896, and succeeded Miss McKerrow, M.A., in her present position in 1897.
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Miss Mabel Salmond,
              B.A. (University of New Zealand), Second Assistant Mistress at the Prince Albert College, was born at Shields, Yorkshire, England, and is third daughter of Professor Salmond of Otago University. Miss Salmond was educated at Dunedin High School and Otago University, and took the B.A. degree in 1895. She taught in a private school for a time, and in 1897 received her present appointment.
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St. John's College,
             
 Boarding and Day School for Boys, Tamaki, Auckland. Visitor: The Most Reverend the Primate. Headmaster, Rev. P. S. Smallfield (certificated teacher under the Education Department of New Zealand; status: class C, division 2); resident assistant masters: mathematical and science master, Mr. George Lancaster, M.A. (sometime senior scholar of the University of New Zealand, with double first honours in mathematical physics and chemistry); classical master, Mr. Robert McIlroy, M.A., classical honour-man of the University of N.Z., with honours in Latin and English; junior master (resident), Mr. R. M. V. Abbott (matric, New Zealand University); visiting masters; music, pianoforte, singing and drawing, Mr. R. Leslie Hunt, organist St. Mary's Cathedral, Auckland; violin, Herr Kreutzer; painting, Herr W. Dittmer; gymnastics, Mr. W. M. Carrollo. St. John's College is six miles from Auckland. The school buildings are on a hill at a height of about three hundred feet above sea-level. There are no other buildings in the immediate vicinity, and all the surroundings are those of a country home. The view from the grounds is a magnificent one, including the Waitakerei Ranges and Manukau Heads to the west, the Hunua Ranges to the south, Cape Colville to the east, and Mt. Rangitoto to the north. The land for several miles around the college is pasture land and bush. The boarders at the college live under the healthiest conditions and amidst the most attractive surroundings, well removed from any objectionable influences of the town. The grounds cover an area of forty acres, and include a carefully preserved piece of native bush. Ample space is reserved for recreation purposes, but the boys have the run of the whole grounds. Besides the large quadrangle, there is a play field of six acres reserved for cricket and football. St. John's College was founded by Bishop Selwyn in the year 1846, over fifty years ago. It was at first an industrial, as well as an educational institution. The scholars and their teachers fenced the land, cleared away the bush, and worked at ploughing, sowing, or reaping; yet they did not neglect books and study. For some time Bishop Selwyn made the College his headquarters, and when he was in residence there he took an active interest both in the farm and in the school. In 1850 the Rev. C. J. Abraham, who had joined the bishop to act as archdeacon and to assist in the scheme of education, was placed in charge of the growing institution, and a plan was devised to make the college serve the additional purpose of a training-school for Melanesian children. The garden is a sunny corner of the college grounds. The college owes its beautiful garden to the Rev. J. Kinder, D. D., who was warden for many years. Below the garden is the Glen, a sheltered valley covered with native bush, including some magnificent specimens of the “ponga,” or tree fern. There are two kauri trees on the grounds—one in the Glen, planted by Dr. Kinder; and one in the chapel yard, the gift of the Ven. Archdeacon Lloyd. This last tree must be nearly fifty years old, and yet, though flourishing, is comparatively small, an evidence of the slow growth of the kauri pine. The college chapel is a building unique on account of its history, and beautiful as regards its general structure and interior. It is built of heart of kauri, and though nearly fifty years old, is in excellent preservation. Nearly all the windows are of stained glass, two of them being memorials of Bishop Patteson, who was killed at the island of Nukapu in 1871. Four new stained glass windows have lately been added to the chapel, two in memory of Bishop Selwyn, the founder of the college, and the others in memory of Sir William Martin. A short service for masters, scholars, boys and other inmates of the institution is held in the chapel every morning and evening on weekdays. On Sunday, there are the usual services
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of the day. In one of his letters written in 1855 to friends in England, Bishop Patteson speaks of “the little chapel of kauri wood, stained desk, like the inside of a really good ecclesiastical building in England, porch S.W. angle, a semi-circular apse at the west, containing a large, handsome stone font, open seats, of course. The east end very simple, semi-circular apse, small windows all full of stained glass, raised one step, no rails, Bishop's chair on the north side, bench on the south. Here my eye and my mind rested contentedly and peacefully. The little chapel, holding about seventy persons, is already dear to me.”
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Rev. Percy Scott Smallfield,
              Tutor of St. John's Theological College and Head Master of St. John's School for Boys, was born at Auckland in 1858, being the eldest son of Mr. Octavius Smallfield of that city. The reverend gentleman was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell, and at St. John's College, Tamaki, where he was a Foundation Scholar. He then started teaching under the Auckland Board of Education and became head master at Mt. Eden district school, where he remained three years. Afterwards he entered the ministry of the Church of England, and was ordained deacon in 1882 and priest in 1883, by the present primate. In 1882, he was appointed curate at Bombay and held that cure until 1886. He afterwards became curate of Ellerslie-cum-Epsom, and later at St. Albans, Mt. Roskill. In 1891, Mr. Smallfield became head master of the school for boys at St. John's College, and in 1896, tutor of St. John's Theological College.
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Wesley College,
              Three Kings. This institution, for the training of Maoris and natives of the South Sea Islands, owes Its existence in large measure to the wise foresight of the early missionaries under the general superintendency of the Rev. Walter Lawry and the hearty co-operation of Governors Fitzroy and Sir G. Grey. The Rev. W. Lawry arrived in the Colony in the capacity of general superintendent on March 21st 1844. An enthusiastic public meeting was held in Auckland on the 14th May following for the purpose of establishing an institution for the instruction of the most promising of the native converts to Christianity. The Rev. J. Whitely, J. Wallis, T. Buddle, and H. H. Lawry took part in the proceedings. On the motion of Mr. Lawry, a subscription list was at once opened and the movement met with liberal support. The educational work was at first conducted at Grafton Road; but on April 5th 1848, the foundation stone of the Three Kings building was laid by Sir George Grey. Rev. Alexander Read, a minister of special training, was selected as first principal of the school by the English Conference; he arrived in New Zealand on 6th April, 1849, and entered immediately upon his duties. After being eight years at the Three Kings, he was appointed missionary at Te Kopua, on the Waipa. His successors at the college were respectively the Rev T. Buddle, G. Stannard.



H. H. Lawry, and J. Wailis. The native war had an injurious influence upon the work and led to the closing of the college for six years. It was re-opened in 1876, under the principalship of the Rev. T. Buddle, as a native school and theological institution for ministerial students, with the Rev. Dr. Kidd as classical and mathematical master. Between that date and the time of the transfer of the theological department to Prince Albert College in 1895, thirty-five English and five Maori students for the ministry, in addition to a large number of ordinary pupils, received their preliminary training at the Three Kings. Mr. Buddle's successors in the principalship have been the Rev. W. J. Watkin. A. Read, Wm. Morley, W. J. Williams, and J. H. Simmonds, the last named being at present in charge, and was appointed by the Conference of 1895. The institution exists and is conducted mainly for the benefit of the native races. No charge whatever is made for board, residence, or training of the scholars. They receive all the benefits of the school and are sent back to their hapus and tribes in the hope that thus a civilising and Christian influence may be exerted upon their fellow-countrymen.
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Rev. Joseph H. Simmonds,
              the Principal of Three Kings College, is a native of New Zealand. He was educated in Nelson and afterwards studied at Canterbury College, Christchurch. He joined the ministry of the Wesleyan Church in 1869. For three years he did mission work in Fiji, returning to New Zealand in 1874. Since that time he has served in various circuits in Canterbury and the North Island. He was elected president of the New Zealand Wesleyan Conference at Nelson in 1895. and at the same time was appointed to his present position.
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Sacred Heart College And Primary School.
              This institution, which is a large and commodious building, occupies a very central position at the corner of Pitt and Wellington Streets. It is subdivided into two distinct departments, viz., the college proper and the primary school. The course of instruction, besides embracing all the subjects required for the Civil Service (Junior and Senior), Matriculation, University Scholarship, and the Trinity College Musical Examinations, includes drawing, painting, phonography (Pitman's), and bookkeeping. The well-equipped gymnasium which has lately been erected should prove a boon, alike to the ordinary college pupils, and to members of the Ex-Students' Association, for whose joint use it has been erected. Though the college is still in its infancy, having been founded in 1895, the advent of the Marist Brothers to Auckland is of a much earlier date, as they opened the primary school on the 7th of September, 1885, with eighty pupils. At present the roll number for this school is 250. The Government syllabus has been adopted, and an inspector, having the approval of the Government, appointed. Thus the certificates issued by him are, as far as Government institutions are concerned, considered equal to the ordinary inspector's certificates.
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The School Commissioners Of Auckland,
                like those of other parts of the colony, were called into existence as a Board by the Education Reserves Act of 1877. Their chief duty consists in the control of the primary schools reserves in the Auckland district. The total receipts from these for the year 1899 amounted to £3269 10s 8d, of which £1882 7s was handed over to the cause of primary education, and £375 9s 3d to secondary schools. The Commissioners are.—Messrs R. Udy (chairman), G. Mueller, J. M. Lennox, J. M. Shera, and S. Luke.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Board Of Education
                
                has control of the schools of the education district of Auckland, which is co-extensive with the province. The present members of the Board are:—Messrs L. J. Bagnall (chairman), T. Cooper, R. Farrell, S. Luke, J. Blades, W. Lambe, J. D. McKenzie, and N. A. McLeod, and Dr. A. McArthur. Mr. Vincent E. Rice is secretary to the Board. The offices of the Board are



situated on the second floor of the Victoria Arcade. At the end of September, 1900, there were 381 schools in operation under the Board, and about fifty of these were worked half-time. The number of teachers employed is 798 (333 males and 465 females), in addition to seventy-five teachers of sewing. Scholars on the rolls number 28,209, with an average attendance of 24,236; which means that there are nearly 4000 daily absentees. During the year 1899 twenty-seven senior and fifty-five junior district scholarships were under tenure, besides three awarded to girls, under special regulations, and derived from the income of the Auckland Girls' High School endowment. The reports of the headmasters upon the holders of these scholarships are highly encouraging, and the names of former scholarship holders are to be found in every honours list issued by the University. In 1899, the Board's income from all sources was £98,617 11s 1d, and the expenditure was £102,185 9s 11d. These figures include both the maintenance and the building funds. The expenditure on school buildings amounted to £12,161 14s 3d, of which more than one-half was applied to the improvement of existing buildings. Want of funds has delayed the prosecution of many necessary works, and it is evident that more liberal provision will have to be made by Parliament for suitable school accommodation throughout the district. The war in South Africa has called forth from the teachers and scholars of the public schools a display of patriotism which cannot fail to have a lasting effect in cultivating and developing an ardent love of the Empire. From more than three hundred schools subscriptions were cheerfully given to the fund for the relief of the sufferers among the British forces engaged in the war.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. L. J. Bagnall,
                J.P., Chairman of the Auckland Education Board, came to Auckland from Prince Edward Island, Canada, with his father (the late Hon. George Bagnall) and his brothers, in 1864. In 1868 he went to the Thames and started business in the timber trade. Nine years later he and his father and brothers bought the Turua sawmills on the Waihou river, and he and his brothers are still engaged in the sawmilling and timber business at Turua, where farming also is carried on on a considerable scale by the firm. Mr. Bagnall has always taken an active interest in public matters. In 1873 he was elected to represent Thames in the Provincial Council of Auckland. He has also served on the Thames County Council as member and chairman, and on the Thames Harbour Board, and was six years a member of the Auckland Crown Lands Board. He has been actively connected with educational affairs since the passing of the Auckland Provincial Act of 1872. Mr. Bagnall and most of his brothers reside at Turua, which is an active and thriving town.
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Mr. R. Crowe,
                Inspector of Schools in the Auckland district, was born in Tipperary, Ireland, in 1858, and is the second son of Mr. John Crowe. He was educated at the national schools and at Trinity College, Dublin. He afterwards engaged in teaching at Birmingham, and at Liverpool, where he remained three years. Arriving in Auckland in 1883, Mr. Crowe entered the employ of the Board of Education as assistant master at Grafton Road. He was afterwards headmaster at Maketu, and in 1889 was appointed to his present position. Mr. Crowe is an old cricketer and footballer, and has represented the Auckland province against the English and Native football teams, as well as the Australian Eleven which visited Auckland in 1886. As a Freemason, he holds the rank of past master of Lodge Remuera, 1710, E.C.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Grierson,
                Inspector for the Auckland Board of Education, was born at Sale, Cheshire, and is the son of Mr. John Grierson of Wilmslow in the same county. He was educated at a private school, and on leaving it was engaged in mercantile pursuits, first in Ireland and afterwards in Manchester. He came to Auckland in 1877 and settled in the Waikato district, where for several years he was engaged in farming. In 1885, he joined the service of the Auckland Education Board, and filled in turns the positions of tutor in the Training College, assistant master at Newton West, Newton East, etc., and head master at Ngaruawahia and Kawakawa. In 1893 and 1894 Mr. Grierson acted as assistant-inspector. On the death of Inspector Airey in October, 1896, Mr. Grierson was appointed acting-inspector, and in August, 1897, he became one of the permanent staff.
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Mr. Vincent E. Rice,
                Secretary of the Auckland Education Board, was formerly Chief Clerk to the Superintendent of the Province of Auckland, of which office Sir George Grey was the last holder. After the abolition of the provincial governments at the end of 1876, Mr. Rice was appointed first secretary of the Auckland Education Board. He entered office in January, 1877, and has witnessed the rapid growth of the public school system since that date.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Technical School.
                The keen competition amongst industrial nations of late years has caused the value of methodical training in those departments of labour requiring skilled knowledge to be recognised as absolutely essential for the young generations of mechanics and artisans. In Germany and the United States manual instruction has long been included in the national system of education, and it is apparent that ultimately, amongst ourselves, technical education on a national scale must replace the old-fashioned system of apprenticeship under individual master traders. The Auckland Technical School Association was established in June, 1895, with the object of providing technical instruction to the young of both sexes. It is registered under the Manual and Technical Elementary Instruction Act, 1895, and is in affiliation with the Science and Art Department of South Kensington, and the City and Guilds of London Institute; and notwithstanding the many difficulties which the management has had to contend with, especially want of money, a very fair share of success has been gained by its students in examinations under those institutions. The subjects comprise theoretical and practical work in carpentry and joinery, stair-casing and hand-railing, wood carving, plumbing, graining, marbling, sign writing, painters' and decorators' work, machine construction and drawing, freehand and model drawing, plane and solid geometry and perspective, algebra and geometry, shorthand, cookery, and dressmaking. Twelve competent instructors form the teaching staff, and eighteen classes are conducted by them. The school is domiciled in an imposing three-storey building in Rutland Street, opposite the Free Library in Wellesley Street; the Auckland City Council, Board of Governors of Auckland Grammar School, the Board of Education, Employers' Association, and the



Trades and Labour Council are represented on the Council of the Association. As showing how it appreciates the advantages of the school, the Education Department now requires instructors to the newly-constituted native schools in the Auckland province to attend the Technical School with a view to qualifying themselves to teach the manual and technical subjects likely to be of use to the natives.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. J. Henry Mackie,
                Secretary to the Auckland Technical School was, in conjunction with Sir Maurice O'Rorke, one of its first promoters. He was born in Auckland in 1862, served an apprenticeship with his father as a coachbuilder, and worked at his trade for several years. In 1892 Mr. Mackie took up the movement to establish the Technical School, and in 1895 visited Wellington, where he successfully interviewed the Government on behalf of the school. Mr. Mackie relinquished his trade in 1896, and took up public accountancy, auditing, and secretarial work.
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                  Wellesley Street Public School
                
                occupies an extensive site opposite Albert Park, Auckland. The main building was erected in 1878, but many additions and improvements have since been made. There are in all twenty rooms of various sizes, and the accommodation may very fairly be described as good, The staff includes the head-master, Mr. Ralph Stewart, and nine assistants—three ex-pupil teachers, six pupil teachers, and three probationers. About 750 boys and girls are on the roll, and the average attendance is 655.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. R. D. Stewart,
                Head-master of the Wellesley Street School, was born at Bristol, England, and educated in that country. He left his native land for Auckland in the ship “Jubilee” in 1874, on account of ill-health, and, on his arrival in Auckland, engaged in commercial pursuits, entering the service of the well-known soft goods firm of Messrs. Archibald Clark and Sons, Shortland Street, where he remained some years. On the passing of the Education Act he went up for his examination as a teacher, and, on the result being known, was at once offered an appointment under the late head-master, Mr. H. Worthington, whom he succeeded after the latter had conducted the school for more than twenty years. Mr. Stewart, Prior to receiving his present appointment, was successively head-master at Waiokaraka, Thames, and Onehunga. He takes great interest in the work of the Educational Institute, and has been president of the Auckland branch on three different occasions; in 1896 he was elected president of the council of the New Zealand Educational Institute, and is still a member of its executive.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. W. R. C. Walker,
                First Assistant Master at the Wellesley Street school, was born at the Thames, in 1868. He was educated at various schools, and completed his studies at the Auckland Grammar School, and Auckland University, where he obtained his B.A. degree in 1897. On leaving the University College, he went into the Auckland Teachers' Training College, where he remained one year. After holding appointments in various schools, he became first assistant master at the Wellesley Street school in 1897, and still holds that position.

            

            

              
              


                
The Beresford Street Public School,
                which was erected in 1879, is a large and handsome wooden building of two stories, surmounted by a belfry. It consists of seven large class-rooms, four lavatories, and other necessary appurtenances. The upper floor is used for the children in the standards, and the lower for preparatory classes. Two spacious playgrounds, for boys and girls separately, surround the building. An excellent collection of apparatus for teaching chemistry has been provided by the teachers and children, and there is a good library of about 600 volumes. There is also a piano for musical tuition. The teaching staff consists of the headmaster, seven assistant teachers, and seven pupil teachers. The number of children on the roll is 740, with an average attendance of 640.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. E. T. Hart,
                Headmaster of the Beresford Street Public School, was born in Birmingham, England, in 1850. He received his primary education in that city, and was subsequently appointed a pupil teacher in a Birmingham national school. Soon afterwards securing a Queen's Scholarship, he entered the Winchester Training College. Here he remained for two years, making such progress that, at the early age of twenty-two, he was appointed by the Birmingham Education Board headmaster of the first new board school in England. In this school Mr. Hart had assistants nearly twice his own age. The Right Hon. Joseph Chamberlain was chairman of the Board. Mr. Hart had not been many years in his new position, ere failing health compelled him to resign, and, on the eve of his departure, he received from the Board a handsome testimonial in recognition of his services. Coming to New Zealand in 1879, he was for two years engaged in farming in the Kaipara district. Here he soon regained his health, and in 1881 became first assistant in the Beresford Street School. Three years later he was appointed headmaster of the Nelson Street School, and in 1888 headmaster of the Napier Street School—a building constructed somewhat on the model of a Birmingham school, and erected from Mr. Hart's own idea, embodied in a plan by Mr. Batty. In 1892 he received his present appointment. Mr. Hart holds an English teacher's certificate, a full drawing certificate, and three science certificates from South Kensington. For many years he has been a member of the New Zealand Educational Institute. As a bowler, Mr. Hart has been a member of the Ponsonby Bowling Club since its inception.
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Napier Street Public School,
                which was opened about 1886, is a wooden building of two stories. It was erected after a design of a Birmingham school, and is octagonal in shape, all the rooms on each floor opening into one central hall. This plan of building has many advantages, but it also has disadvantages, and several alterations have been made since the building was erected. The standards, as usual, range from I. to VII., and the school possesses good apparatus for the teaching of science. In 1900 there were 721 children on the roll, with an average attendance of 657.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Morton Carter,
                Headmaster of the Napier Street Public School, is a son of the Rev. Charles Carter, a missionary in India, and was born in Ceylon in 1854. After receiving his education at Leicester and Blackheath, England, Mr. Carter returned to Ceylon, and after remaining in that tropical isle about ten years, came out to New Zealand in 1880. Entering the teaching profession in Auckland in the same year, he spent some time at the Mangere, Pukekohe West, and Beresford Street schools, in the last of which he remained eight years; he was promoted to the position of headmaster of the Napier Street school in 1892.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Nelson Street Public School
                
                is one of the oldest in Auckland. The building is of wood, and contains eight class-rooms. A set of apparatus for teaching science, provided by the headmaster, is of great value in this branch of school work. The school is provided with a good library of over 400 volumes, and ample play-grounds for the children surround the building. The number of scholars on the roll (1900) is 500, with an average attendance of about 450. The staff consists of the headmaster and eleven assistants and pupil-teachers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Bartholomew Cronin,
                B.A., Headmaster of Nelson Street Public School, was born in 1848 in Cork, Ireland, and was educated in his native town. He came to New Zealand in 1876. and about four years later entered the service of the Auckland Education Board. After teaching in various schools, he received his present appointment in 1888. Mr. Cronin married in 1879 Miss Gallagher, daughter of Mr. Edward Gallagher, of Otahuhu, and has three children.

            

            

              


              
              


                

                  The Chapel Street Public School
                
                was established by the Auckland Education Board in 1887, for the purpose of taking charge of the walfs and strays on the streets, who would not attend the ordinary state schools. The school is a great success, and has more than realised the expectations of its founders. A truant officer employed by the Board is always on duty, and brings to the school boys and girls found on the streets. The headmaster, too, has exceptional powers, and in the discharge of his duties often goes to the homes of the children to bring them to school. All the standards from I. to VII. are taught, and the children make very satisfactory progress with their work. At the annual examination of 1900, out of 179 who were presented 156 passed—a result highly creditable to the headmaster and his staff, considering the class of children taught, and the special difficulties necessarily met with in such a school. The school is provided with a special apparatus, for teaching geography by means of limelight views. This system of teaching is very successful, the children manifesting great interest in the work. There is a drum and fife band in connection with the school, which promotes interest in their work amongst the older boys.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Henry Draffin,
               
 Headmaster of the Chapel Street School, was born in Manchester, England, in 1857, and is the son of Mr. Henry Draffin, timber merchant, of that town. Educated primarily at St. Saviour's Parish School, Manchester, and subsequently at Owen's College and School of Art, Mr. Draffin in 1876 won a Queen's Scholarship, entitling him to a course at the Training College. Two years later he gained an English teacher's certificate (second class,
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first division), a first class certificate being unobtainable except by teachers of ten or more years' experience. Mr. Draffin also holds the late Bishop Fraser's certificate of competency to give instruction in theology, church history, and biblical knowledge. He was engaged for five years as pupil-teacher, and three years as assistant, at St. Saviour's school, and at the same time conducted evening classes under the Education Department. For some five years prior to leaving the Old Land, Mr. Draffin was one of the secretaries of the Young Men's Christian Association. Arriving in Auckland by the R.M.S. “Doric” in 1884, Mr. Draffin immediately entered the service of the Education Board as assistant at Newton East school, but two months later was placed in charge at Waipipi, and subsequently at Mercer. He then went to Wellington for a year, and, on his return in 1889, was successively in charge of the Wade and Wainui schools, completing the year as headmaster of the Board's new evening school at Newton East, Auckland. In the beginning of the following year Mr. Draffin was appointed second master at Wellesley Street, Auckland, and, during the continued illness of Mr. Worthington in 1896 and 1897, was acting-headmaster. On the retirement of Mr. Worthington later on in 1897, he was appointed to his present position. Mr. Draffin was married in 1880 to Miss Sara E. Fox, daughter of Mr. Samuel Fox, of Manchester, and of their five children two sons and two daughters are living.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Grafton Public School
                
                was originally situated in Grafton Road, but the site was not a suitable one, and the building was not large enough to meet the requirements of a rising district and a growing population; therefore, the Education Board purchased some allotments in Nugent Street, off Khyber Pass, and in 1878 erected thereon the main portion of the present building. Since then three large rooms and two small class-rooms have been added; and there is now sufficient accommodation for about 620 children. The playground has been asphalted; tennis courts have been formed; horizontal bars, parallel bars, giant strides and inclined ladders have been erected; and during the last three years the whole school has been thoroughly renovated, and now presents a clean and attractive appearance. The staff consists of the headmaster, Mr. William W. Hill, six assistants, and six pupil teachers, besides probationers and candidates.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Wilfred Hill,
                Headmaster of Grafton School, was born in Cheshire, England, in 1860, and is the second son of Mr. Alfred Septimus Hill, Khumree, Mount Eden, Auckland. He was educated at Strathallan Hall, Douglas, Isle of Man, and privately, and arrived with his parents in Auckland by the ship “Sam Mendel,” in 1887. At first he engaged in farming and surveying in the Waikato, but in 1885, he joined the Education Department, as a probationer at Ponsonby district school, under Mr. Benjamin Bailey. Subsequently he was appointed to the charge of Mahurangi Heads and Mahurangi Heads West from January, 1886, to February, 1887, and was afterwards successively at Matakana Head, Mullet Point, and Lower Matakana. For a time he was in temporary charge of the Big Omaha school, and was afterwards appointed headmaster of the Russell school, Bay of Islands, where he remained four years. In 1892 he was transferred to the Grafton Road School, as first assistant, and eventually succeeded Mr. Healy as headmaster. Since his appointment the attendance has increased so much that additional class-rooms have had to be provided.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Ponsonby Public School
                
                was established in 1878, and was carried on in the Ponsonby Hall, near the Three Lamps. Mr. Benjamin Bailey was the headmaster, and he started with a roll of about fifty scholars. In 1880 the present main building was erected in Church Street. This building contains seven class-rooms, and is surrounded by a spacious play ground. The Infants' school is situated on the opposite side of the road, and contains four class-rooms. Mr. Bailey conducted the school for twenty years, and held a first-class record. The number of scholars on the roll (1900) is 700, with an average attendance of 620. The teaching staff consists of the headmaster and fourteen assistants.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. James Collett Dickinson
                
                was appointed Headmaster of the Ponsonby Public School in April, 1900, and had been previously for many years Inspector of Schools under the Auckland Education Board. He is the son of Mr. John Dickinson, and was born at Melton Mowbray, Leicestershire, England, in 1852, where he was educated. After leaving school he served for five years as a pupil-teacher, and during that time won an important scholarship, taking fourth place among nearly 800 candidates. He then spent some time in the British and Foreign Schools Society's Training College, afterwards receiving the appointment of first assistant master in the “Friends” Endowed school, Lancashire. His next appointment was that of head-master in the British School, Snowland, where he remained seven years. He came to New Zealand in 1882 and, in the following year, entered the service of the Auckland Board of Education as first assistant in the Wellesley Street school, in which he remained three years, and was then promoted to the head-mastership of the Newton West school, where he remained until his appointment as Inspector of Schools in 1889. In the course of his studies, Mr. Dickinson has obtained full drawing certificates (South Kensington), certificates in stages II and IV in mathematics, and two advanced certificates in physiology, applied mechanics, and physical geography. Mr. Dickinson married in 1886 Miss Elizabeth Stewart, daughter of Mr. John Stewart, of Argyllshire. This lady was educated in the Free Church Training College under Dr. Morrison, and distinguished herself by taking the premier place in scholarship for the whole of Scotland. There are three children by the marriage.

            

            

              
              


                
Richmond Road School.
                This school was established by the Education Board about 1887 as an auxiliary to the Ponsonby district school, and with Mrs Rooney as head-mistress. As it was situated in a growing district, the school rapidly increased in size, and, though at first intended for young children



only, all standards were soon represented. As a result of an agitation on the part of the parents of the district for a head-master, Mr. H. Ellis was appointed to the charge of the school in 1896. Mr. Ellis resigned in 1898, and the present headmaster, Mr. T. U. Wells, M.A., was appointed in his place. Since Mr. Wells' appointment the school has rapidly increased in size, and in 1899 the Board was compelled to provide accommodation for between 200 and 300 more scholars.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Thomas Umfrey Wells,
               
 M.A., Headmaster of the Richmond Road school, Ponsonby, was born in Auckland in 1867, and educated at Wellesley Street school, and the
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Auckland Training College. Mr. Wells commenced his professional career by becoming an assistant teacher at the Wellesley Street public school in 1888. He remained there for about four years, and was then appointed first assistant at Ponsonby school. In 1896 he was appointed headmaster of the Ngaruawahia school, and in 1898 was promoted to the headmastership of the Richmond Road school. Notwithstanding his laborious duties as a teacher, Mr. Wells qualified for his B.A. degree in 1893, and in the following year he took his M.A. degree with honours. Under Mr. Wells the Richmond Road school has made great strides in proficiency, and it now ranks as one of the best in the city. The roll number is about 600, and the average attendance about 530.

            

            

              
              


                
Bayfield Public School.
                This school is situated in Jervois Road, Ponsonby, and stands on a large piece of ground, ornamented with some fine trees. The average attendance of children is 250. The teaching staff consists of the headmaster, three assistants, and three pupil teachers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Christie,
                Headmaster of the Bayfield Public School, is a native of Cape Colony, and arrived with his parents in Auckland in 1864. He was educated at the Thames and at the Auckland Grammar School. Mr. Christie began to teach at the Thames, and subsequently had charge of the Kihikihi school and the Waiotahi school. He received his present appointment in October, 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The National Schools Vigilance Committee Of Auckland
                
                was appointed by a public meeting of citizens held in Auckland on the 3rd of November, 1893, to protest against the effort of the Bible-in-Schools party to have the Irish Scripture text-books introduced into the schools of the Colony.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Squirrell,
                who is Secretary to the Committee, is an ardent upholder of the present secular system of education. He has been chairman of the Auckland City district schools committee for the past three years, and is also president of the Public Schools Amateur Athletic Association. Mr. Squirrell takes a lively interest in everything that pertains to the welfare of the school children.
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Auckland Industrial School,
                Mount Albert. This institution was established in 1869 for the care of neglected and destitute children. The first premises were situated at Point Britomart. Subsequently, the buildings in Howe Street, originally erected as an immigration barracks, were used by the institution. When the Industrial Schools Act of 1882 was passed, the Government took charge of the institution, and removed the boys to the Kohimarama Training School. This school was closed in 1893, and the Auckland Girls' Industrial School became the Auckland Industrial School, which now receives not only girls, but also boys of tender age. The Government recently purchased the present beautiful home at Mount Albert at a cost of £1400. There is a house of sixteen rooms, surrounded by a well laid out garden, and the whole property comprises six acres. The average number of children in residence at the school is about twenty, and the number on the roll is one hundred. The majority of the children under fourteen years of age are boarded out amongst the



country settlers. This system was inaugurated by the late Rev. W. J. Habens, then Secretary for Education, and has proved to be of great benefit to the children, who thus enjoy the privileges of home life. At fourteen years of age, the girls are placed out as domestic servants, while the boys go on farms, or are transferred to the Costley Training Institution with a view to apprenticeship to suitable trades. The young people remain under the control of the institution until they become of age, unless they show, by their conduct, that such control is unnecessary.

              

                

[image: Auckland Industrial School.]
Auckland Industrial School.


              

            

            

              
              


                
Miss Jackson,
                Manager of the Auckland Industrial School, is a native of Birmingham, England, and came to New Zealand in 1882. During that year Mr. Habens, on behalf of the Government, appointed her to the position which she still holds in the institution.
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                  Ladies' College
                
                (Mrs. Moore-Jones, M.R.C.P., M.M., C.M., S.K., London and Cheltenham, principal), Boarding and Day School for Girls, Remuera, Auckland. This first-class private school is situated in the beautiful suburb of Remuera, about three miles from the general post office, and can be reached by a regular line of omnibuses, passing the college grounds. The school is conducted on unsectarian Christian principles, and provides a standard modern education with a thorough home for the pupils. The house and grounds are unique in accommodation, and afford unusual educational influences. There is a large staff, which comprises the most talented professors in Auckland. Prospectuses may be obtained on application. Telephone 808.
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Mrs. S. A. M. Moore-Jones,
                the Principal of the Ladies' College, has had a long and successful career as a teacher. She is a member of the Royal College of Preceptors, London, and holds first class English and New Zealand certificates as a trained teacher.

            

            

              
              

                

                  Melmerly Collegiate School
                
               
 is admirably situated in St. George's Bay Road, and every comfort is afforded to the pupils,
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whose number averages about seventy. The curriculum taught comprises English literature, modern languages, Latin, mathematics, physiology, music, painting, and drawing. Pupils are prepared for the matriculation and Civil Service examinations. Moral and religious training is made a special feature, and the scholars are trained in the tenets of the Church of England; the Rev. G. MacMurray, M.A., vicar of St. Mary's, visiting the school fortnightly. Great attention is paid to the physical development of the pupils, who possess the advantages of a well-equipped gymnasium, which is attached to the school. An admirable staff of teachers, besides the principals, is engaged in imparting the usual curriculum—namely, Madame Bouillon (resident); Mrs Dewes (non-resident); Miss Lance (diploma in Honours, Cambridge) (non-resident); Mr. Wright (drawing); Mr. K. Watkins (painting); Dr. Thomas; Mr. Leslie Hunt, organist, St. Mary's, Parnell (music), and others. Principals—Miss Hall, Mrs Gordon (Cambridge Higher Local First-class, with Honours). Since the accompanying photograph was taken, considerable additions have been made to the school, which is now capable of accommodating a large number of pupils.

            

            

              
              


                
Miss Hull,
                Principal of “Melmerly” Girls' School, was educated at Mrs. Glover's school, Symonds Street, and afterwards became governess at the school of which she is now principal and which was established by Mrs. Clayton in 1877. Miss Hull succeeded Mrs. Clayton in 1895, and has been successful in retaining the prestige of this well-known establishment.

            

            

              
              

                

                  St. Mary's Convent
                
               
 (Rev. Mother Ignatius, superior), Ponsonby, Auckland. In the year 1850 seven sisters, under the direction of Rev. Mother Cecilia Maher, left their native place—Carlow, Ireland—to devote their lives to the foreign missions in New Zealand. They arrived at Auckland per ship “Oceani” in the same year. Soon after their arrival, a high school, as well as a parochial school, was opened in a wooden building adjoining the old cathedral, Wyndham Street. These were then the only educational establishments, and all denominations resorted to them, and availed themselves of the superior education given therein. The first boarding school, orphanage, and native school were also established and conducted by the Sisters of Mercy. Great success has resulted from the Sisters' teaching, their pupils having been successful in passing the Matriculation and Civil Service examinations, and the Trinity College examination in music—vocal, instrumental, and theoretical. St. Mary's Convent, Ponsonby, was founded in 1861 by Mother Cecilia Maher, when the present boarding school and high school were opened. The number of pupils attending these schools averages between seventy and eighty, including about thirty boarders. The Convent is beautifully situated close to the sea; the boarders thus have the advantage of sea-bathing, while the extensive grounds surrounding the Convent afford ample means of recreation. The children have also the advantage of a gymnasium indoors and a library. The “Star of the Sea” Orphanage is about five minutes' walk from the Convent, and overlooks the Waitemata Harbour. Here over seventy orphan girls are attended to by the Sisters of Mercy. The present bishop, Dr. Lenihan, has this orphanage under his fostering supervision, and is beloved by its inmates. The Boys' Industrial Home, Takapuna, is also under his care, the Rev. Father Purton, O.S.B., attending to the spiritual wants of the boys, though the entire working of the establishment is in the hands of the Sisters of Mercy. The Orphanage and Industrial Home are visited regularly by Government inspectors, whose reports
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have been very favourable. In 1881 new schools were opened in the Cathedral parish—a high school, parochial, and infant schools. A superior education is given in these schools as well as in St. Mary's, Ponsonby, and, indeed, every effort is made in all the schools conducted by the Sisters, to keep pace with the giant strides made by education in these climes. Rev. Mother M. Cecilia Maher sent a foundation to Wellington in 1861. Sister Mary Bernard Dixon was appointed first superior of this convent, her assistant being Sister Mary Augustine Maxwell. Mother Dixon was one of the band of sisters who volunteered to render their services at the Crimean War. After a term of fifteen years in the office of superior at Wellington, she returned to Auckland, where she spent the remainder of her truly edifying life until called to receive her reward on the 5th of August, 1895, deeply regretted by all who knew her. Mother Cecilia Maher also founded other convents and institutions as follows:—St. John the Baptist's, Parnell, in 1861; St. Joseph's, Onehunga, in 1862; St. Cecilia's, Otahuhu, in 1865; and St. Thomas', Thames, in 1874; the “Star of the Sea” Orphanage, Ponsonby, in 1876; and St. Mary's,

              


              
Coromandel, in 1880. The present superior, Mother Ignatius, established the Boys' Industrial School and Home at Takapuna in 1894; and St. Leo's Convent, Devonport, in 1896. The parochial schools of the Sacred Heart, Ponsonby, which are taught by the Sisters, were opened in 1893. All these schools are flourishing and well attended.

            

            

              
              


                
Training College,
                Waterloo Quadrant, Auckland. Principal, Mr. William Malcolm. This establishment is conducted as a boarding and day school, both for general education, and for the civil service, education service, and the university. It occupies a pleasant position facing Government House, and commands a splendid view of the harbour. The college was established in 1892, and is attended by about seventy pupils. English, mathematics, and classics are the principal branches of learning taught, but any special subject may be included as desired.
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Mr. William Malcolm,
                Principal of the Training College, Auckland, was born in 1839 in the Orkney Islands, where his father, also Mr. William Malcolm, was a shipmaster. Educated primarily at Stromness, and subsequently at Edinburgh, Mr. Malcolm obtained the honorary degree of F.E.I.S. in 1865. Before coming to New Zealand in 1870 in the ship “Chili,” he had held the important position of headmaster of a public school in Fire, and headmaster of the Grammar School, Stornaway. After teaching at the Spit school, Napier, Mr. Malcolm, in 1873, accepted the position of rector of the High School, Tokomairiro, Otago, and held it for some seven years. He was then principal of the Normal School, Christchurch, till 1890, when he took charge of the Hampstead School, Ashburton, retiring to establish the Training College in 1892. In Masonry, Mr. Malcolm is secretary for the North Island of the Grand Lodge, S.C., having at various times held all the important offices of the subordinate lodge. Mr. Malcolm has also been prominent as a volunteer, having been captain of a company in Stornaway, and captain of the Cadet Corps at Tokomairiro, besides being a member of the Hawke's Bay Volunteer Corps. He was for some time president of the Tokomairiro Bowling Club, and takes a general interest in innocent sport of all kinds. Mr. Malcolm is examiner under the Government for teaching and school management.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Auckland Commercial College
                
                (T. Harle Giles, principal). This institution was founded nearly sixteen years ago by Mr. Giles for the purpose of imparting to youths, outside the regular standards, a thorough commercial training. Mr. Giles had long been connected with the public schools as a successful master, but believing that the national system was too cramped, and fell far short of the practical requirements of everyday life, he determined to open a school in Auckland on thoroughly useful and practical lines. When a youth enters a commercial office he too often finds that he has to begin his education all over again. Mr. Giles' object was to remedy this serious drawback, and his anticipation that a school like his was needed, has been amply demonstrated by the flourishing condition of his establishment, as well as by many cheering letters which he has received from merchants and others, with whom many of his pupils are now associated in life. The scope of the college will be best gathered from the prospectus, in which Mr. Giles undertakes to teach his pupils:—(1) To write a good business hand by means of Mr. Giles' specially invented system, so long and favourably known. (2) To be correct and expert in the use of figures by the quickest and most modern methods, embracing a high state of efficiency in mental arithmetic. (3) To thoroughly understand the principles underlying book-keeping, by both single and double entry; and to keep and balance books by both systems. (4) To spell well. (5) To write shorthand (Pitman's system) at such a rate of speed as will make the knowledge of this most valuable branch of study an important factor in securing good business appointments. (6) To be efficient and expert in the use of the typewriter: the best and most modern machines are used. (7) English composition and practical grammar. (8) To correspond with case, fluency, and clearness of expression. (9) To perform with precision the thousand and one details of commercial routine. Mr. Giles also prepares candidates routine. Mr. Giles also prepares candidates for the teachers' E certificate, for scholarships, and for pupil teachers' examination. Morning and evening classes are held for adults, and are taken advantage of by those who seek to gain efficiency in business habits. Pupils may enroll at any time, and the quarter begins from the date of entry. Mr. Giles receives a limited number of pupils for private tuition at his residence. Mr. Giles was born in North Staffordshire, and is the youngest son of the late Mr. Henry Giles, C.E. After receiving a sound education, he filled several responsible position in London and Liverpool houses. His health, however, failed, and he left on a trip round the world, intending to return to England. But the climate of Auckland suited him, and he decided to make the city his future home, and, by founding his useful college, help on the great work of educating the youth of the Colony.
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The services of religion have been carried on in Auckland since its first foundation in 1840. A large amount of missionary work had, however, been done in the country before that time. The first in the field was the Church Missionary Society, whose pioneer was the Rev. Samuel Marsden, called the Apostle of the South Seas. He was Colonial Chaplain at Sydney, New South Wales, and arrived at the Bay of Islands on the 22nd of December, 1814. His headquarters were in Sydney, but he and his teachers did a great deal of hard and valuable work in New Zealand. He laboured with unflagging energy for his own church, but he seems to have had little, if any, desire for sectarian monopoly, for he induced the Rev. John Hobbs, a missionary of the Wesleyan Church, to settle at the Bay of Islands in 1823. It was also in 1823 that the Rev. Henry Williams, subsequently Archdeacon of Waimate, arrived in the Bay of Islands, and after that the staff of the Church Missionary Society steadily increased there, Paihia being at first the headquarters of the Mission. So successful, indeed, was the work begun by Marsden, who died at Sydney in 1837, that in 1841, Dr. George Augustus Selwyn was consecrated by the Archbishop of Canterbury to be the Bishop of New Zealand; and before the end of 1871 the province had six dioceses and six bishops—namely, those of Auckland, Waiapu, Wellington, Nelson, Christchurch, and Dunedin; and the Church of England in New Zealand had 313 clergy in 1900. Corresponding successes have grown out of the efforts begun in the early days of the colony by other churches. The Roman Catholic Bishop Pompallier settled at Hokianga in January, 1838, and removed to Auckland in 1847; the Presbyterians opened their cause at Auckland in 1843, the Primitive Methodists in 1844, the Congregationalists in 1851, and the Baptists in 1855. A Jewish congregation was founded in Auckland as far back as 1839. There are now within the city—in addition to St. Mary's Pro-Cathedral, Parnell—six Anglican Churches, namely, St. Paul's, St. Matthew's, All Saints', St. Sepulchre's, St. Thomas's, and the Epiphany. St. Andrew's, St. James', St. David's, and St. Stephen's are the four churches owned in the city by the Presbyterians. The Roman Catholics have St. Patrick's Cathedral, St. Benedict's Church, and the Church of the Sacred Heart; and the Wesleyans possess three churches—Pitt Street, Grafton Road, and St. John's, in addition to the Hall of the Helping Hand Mission, at Freeman's Bay. Alexandra Street Church and the Upper Pitt Street Church are owned by the Primitive Methodist Connexion. The Congregationalists have the Beresford Street and Newton churches, and the Baptists possess the Tabernacle and a church in Jervois Road. West Street Church is owned by the members of the Church of Christ. A pretty synagogue accommodates the Jewish congregation. The Salvation Army has quarters in the Albert Street and Newton Barracks. This list does not include the suburban churches, several of which are situated near the city boundary.
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Anglican Diocese Of Auckland.
              The population of the Anglcian diocese of Auckland is estimated at 80,000, and the yearly offerings amount in the aggregate to about £9000, but the total annual receipts from all sources are £17,000. In the city the stipends of the clergy average £350 per annum, with a house. The stipends of the country clergy are in many cases supplemented by grants from the Country Clergy Fund, and contributions from town congregations. Maori clergy in priests' orders receive £60 a year, with house, made up by grants from the Church Missionary Society. The stipend of the Diocesan Missionary is paid out of the Home Mission Fund; he gives his whole time to visiting outlying parts of the diocese where there are no resident clergy. There is a diocesan clergy pension fund subscribed to by the clergy and by the parishes. The bishopric endowment consists of £11,500, and land estimated in value at about £4000; the bishop's stipend is £660 per annum. The bishop's house, known as Bishopscourt, was built by the first Bishop, Dr. G. A. Selwyn, in 1863, on a very beautiful site of four acres purchased by him in 1842. It stands about 200 feet above the sea, and has an extensive view over the harbour, and beyond it, as far as the islands of Kawau and Little Barrier, and Cape Colville. The Cathedral library is attached to Bishopscourt, and contains a large number of valuable theological works, including the best editions of the Greek and Latin Fathers. Many of these books were presented to Bishop Selwyn by the Universities of Oxford and Cambridge, and by school and college friends of his, such as Mr. Gladstone and Lord Selborne. The chapel forming part of Bishopscourt is of much interest, and was the place of meeting for men and women interested in missionary work in New Zealand or the Islands of Melanesia, in the time of Bishop Selwyn and Bishop Patteson. Close to Bishopscourt there is a beautiful and extensive estate, which was purchased by Bishop Selwyn as the site of a Cathedral and of buildings connected therewith. At present the Cathedral Building Fund is about nil. Since 1870, more than eighty new churches have been crected in the diocese, including small Maori buildings. The active clergy number about eighty, including natives. The church property includes the Maori school, St. Stephen's, Parnell, with an endowment of over £500 a year; the Parnell Grammar School estate, with £200 a year; St. John's College estate, yielding £1250 a year; the Melanesian Mission estate, with an income of £2000; and the general church trust estate, with £500 a year. Once a year the diocesan synod meets in St. Mary's Hall, Parnell, and consists of the Bishop, licensed clergy, and elected lay representatives. The diocesan offices are in the Victoria Arcade, Mr. Cochrane being diocesan secretary.
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Most Rev. The Primate Of New Zealand And Bishop Of Auckland, 
William Garden Cowie,
             
 M.A., D.D., Camb. and Oxon., was born in England in 1831, and is a son of Mr. Alexander Cowie, formerly of Auchterless. His lordship was a scholar of Trinity Hall, Cambridge, in 1852, where he gained the Latin and English essay prizes in that year, and also in 1854, as well as first class in the Law Tripos and in the Theological Examination; he took his
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B.A. degree in 1855 and his M.A. degree in 1865. In 1869, the degree of D.D. was conferred upon his lordship, and during his visit to the Old Country to attend the Pan-Anglican Conference held at Lambeth during the Jubilee year of 1897, the senate of Oxford University paid the distinguished visitor the honour of making him a D.D. He was ordained deacon in 1854, and priest in 1855, by Bishop Turton in Ely Cathedral. His first curacy was that of St. Clement's, Cambridge, in 1854, and subsequently he held a similar appointment at Moulton, Suffolk, from 1855 to 1857. Afterwards he acted as chaplain to Lord Clyde's army at the capture of Lucknow, to Sir Robert Walpole's column in pursuit of the Nana, and in 1863 to Sir Neville Chamberlain's column against the Afghans. He was also chaplain in 1863 to the camp of the Viceroy of India, domestic and examining chaplain to Bishop Cotton of Calcutta in 1864, chaplain of Cashmere in 1865, and rector of Stafford during 1867–9. Dr. Cowie holds the Lucknow and Afghan medals, with clasps. In 1869 the nomination of a successor to the late Bishop Selwyn in the bishopric of Auckland was entrusted by the Auckland Diocesan Synod and the General Synod of the Province, to Bishop Selwyn himself, and he offered the vacant see to the Rev. W. Garden Cowie, then rector of Stafford, who was duly conseerated in Westminster Abbey by the Archbishop of Canterbury, assisted by the Bishops of Lichfield and Ely, and other Bishops. His lordship is also the visitor and a governor of St. John's College, Auckland, in which institution he takes the greatest interest and closely follows out the policy adopted by its founder, Bishop Selwyn. He is also a Fellow of the University of New Zealand and a member of the council of Auckland University College, besides holding numerous other public appointments. The Primate is the author of “Notes on the Temples of Cashmere,” “A visit to Norfolk Island,” and other literary brochures. Since his consecration to the see of Auckland, he has been instrumental in furthering the rapid progress of the Anglican Church in the diocese, and can be regarded as the founder of three most important Auckland institutions, viz., the Sailors' Home and the Institute for the Blind, both undenominational establishments, doing great and noble work; and also the Women's Home connected with the Church of England. This latter institution has likewise received the greatest assistance from Mrs. Cowie, the Primate's great supporter in the episcopal labours of his diocese. Mrs. Cowie, who has been indefatigable on behalf of the Home for fallen women, as well as other good works, is a sister of the present Bishop of Brisbane (Dr. Webber). Dr. Cowie is the fourth Primate of New Zealand. Bishop Selwyn, the first Primate, was consecrated Bishop of New Zealand on the 27th of October, 1841, and arrived in the Colony on the 30th of May, 1842. In 1869 Bishop Selwyn resigned from the Primacy, and went to England. Bishop Harper, of Christchurch, succeeded as Primate, and for many years carried on the work of the church. The next in succession was Bishop Hadfield, of Wellington, who was appointed to the Primacy in 1889, but age, and the effects of his arduous mission labours in the early days, necessitated his release from the onerous duties of the office in 1895. Bishop Cowie was then unanimously elected Primate by the General Diocesan Synod. He is a ruler of broad catholic views, and is deservedly esteemed by other religious denominations throughout the Colony.
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Venerable Benjamin Thornton Dudley,
              Vicar of St. Sepulchre's, Archdeacon of Auckland, Bishop's Commissary and Canon of Auckland Cathedral Chapter, was born at Ticehurst, Sussex, England, on November 30, 1838, and is a son of the late Rev. Benjamin W. Dudley, so long Archdeacon of Rangiora, Canterbury, New Zealand. He was educated first at Marlborough College, England, and at Christ's College, Chrischurch, New Zealand. He arrived with the Canterbury “Pilgrims” per ship “cressy,” one of the “first four ships,” which landed their famous body of immigrants at Port Lyttelton in December, 1850. He was called to the Melanesian mission under Bishop Selwyn in 1857 and was ordained in that mission in 1861, by its first bishop, the late beloved and revered John Coleridge Patteson, who was killed at Nukapu, Santa Cruz, in 1871. Archdeacon Dudley left the active service of the mission, owing to ill-health in 1863, but has ever since acted as its secretary and treasurer. From 1863 to 1865 he acted as secretary to Bishop Selwyn, at the same time holding the post of curate-in-charge of St. Mary's, Parnell. In August 1865 he was appointed to the charge of the district of the Holy Sepulchre, Auckland, since which time the district has been sub-divided into two parishes and two separate parochial districts, in which six churches have been built. Archdeacon Dudley has continued in charge of the principal church in Khyber Pass up to the present time. He was made archdeacon in succession to the late venerated Archdeacon Maunsell in 1883.
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St. Paul's Church, Auckland. On the 28th of July, 1841, the foundation of the first church in Auckland and in the Colony, St. Paul's Anglican Church, was laid by


[image: St. Paul's Church.]

St. Paul's Church.





the first Governor, Captain William Hobson, R.N. The church was consecrated on St. Patrick's Day, the 17th of March, 1844, by Bishop Selwyn. The Rev. J. F. Churton died on the 26th of January, 1853, after twelve years' service in Auckland, during nine years of which he conducted service in the church. The Rev. F. Thatcher was assistant at St. Paul's after Mr. Churton's death, and for a few months carried on the work. In June, 1853, the Rev. J. F. Lloyd became incumbent, and was subsequently raised to the archdeaconry, with the title of Archdeacon of Waitemata. Archdeacon Lloyd left Auckland in 1870, having been incumbent of St. Paul's for seventeen years. After a short space, during which Bishop Cowie cared for the parish, the present incumbent succeeded to the charge on the 1st of June, 1870. St. Paul's was always the Garrison Church during the residence of Imperial troops, and all the Governors have worshipped in it when visiting Auckland. At the time of the Northern Maori war it was strengthened and barricaded as a refuge for women and children, when the natives threatened Auckland. On the 11th of June, 1894, His Excellency the Governor, the Earl of Glasgow, laid the foundation of the new church at St. Paul's, and the stone used was the one which had been laid by Governor Hobson fifty-three years previously. The consecration of the church took place on All Saints' Day, the 1st of November, 1895, when the ceremony was performed by Bishop Cowie, Primate of New Zealand. St. Paul's occupies a prominent position in Symonds Street, near the junction of Wellesley Street. The building is constructed mainly of Rangitoto stone, with white facings of Oamaru and Mount Somers stone, and the roof is slated. There are two frontal entrances on the western side, one leading through the tower, and the baptistery door is on the north side. The basement of the building is used for the Sunday school. Up to its present stage (January, 1901), the building has cost over £8000, and a further sum of £5000 will be required to complete the spire and chancel.
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The Rev. Charles Moseley Nelson,
              M.A., Vicar of St. Paul's Church, Canon of Auckland, and Bishop's Senior Examining Chaplain, was born in 1843 at Southwark, Surrey, England. He was educated at the City of London School, and, gaining a minor scholarship in classics, entered Queen's College, Cambridge. He became a foundation scholar, taking the degree of B.A. (Second Class Classical Tripos) in 1867, and the M.A. degree in 1871. He was ordained deacon at Exeter in 1867 by the Bishop of Jamaica, and priest at the same place in 1868 by Bishop Trower (both acting for the Bishop of Exeter), and became curate of the parishes of Phillack and Gwithian, Cornwall. He also acted as Diocesan Inspector of Schools until 1870, when he was appointed by Bishop Selwyn to the cure of St. Paul's Church, Auckland. During his incumbency of St. Paul's, extending over a period of thirty years, Canon Nelson has witnessed the demolition of old St. Paul's, the building of a temporary church in Emily Place, and the creation of the magnificent edifice in Symonds Street, which will, when completed, be one of the finest in the Colony. Canon Nelson has devoted a portion of his time to furthering the interests of higher education; he has been for many years a member of the Board of Governors of the Auckland Grammar School, and is now one of the Governors of St. John's College. The rever end gentleman was secretary of the General Synod during the sessions of 1874, 1880, 1886, and 1892. He is one of the vice-presidents of the Auckland Benevolent Society, and chairman of the Orphan Home Trust Board. He is a Freemanson of very high rank, a good musician, and a classical scholar of great ability. Mr. Nelson was married in 1875 to the daughter of the late Mr. James Coates, private secretary to the first governor of New Zealand. This lady is ever to the fore in the work of the Benevolent Society and the Orphan Home.
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Mr. James Henry Phillpot,
              Organist of St. Paul's Church, is a well-known teacher of music in Symonds Street. He was formerly organist at St. Patrick's Cathedral.
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St. Matthew's Church.
              This old-established Anglican church ranks next to St. Paul's in order of seniority. The building, which is of wood, is situated in Hobson Street, near the junction of Wellesley Street. The Rev. F. Thatcher was the first incumbent of St. Matthew's. This clergyman resigned in 1857, and was succeeded by the Rev. David Jones, who held the cure for many years, but died suddenly in 1873. The Rev. R. S. Hassard, now labouring in the North of London, was the next vicar. After his resignation, in 1878, there was a long interregnum. Ultimately the Rev. W. Tebbs was appointed to the parish in 1880, and he continued in charge till his death, in 1891. The Rev. L. H. Outram succeeded, but was compelled to retire, owing to ill-health, in 1893. The Rev. Lyttelton Fitzgerald, who followed, held charge for nearly six years, and resigned in December, 1899. The present vicar, the Rev. W. E. Gillam, succeeded to the charge on the 4th of February, 1900. The new St. Matthew's Church, which is being erected at the corner of Wellesley and Hobson Streets, adjoining the old building, will be one of the finest and largest ecclesiastical structures in the city. It will be of stone, with a slated roof. There will be a gallery at the west end, with a vaulted baptistery, which, in addition to the usual font, will contain another sunk in the floor for baptism by immersion. The tower will be surmounted by a steeple, of a total altitude of 204 feet, and the height of the roof will be about 85 feet. On the frontage to Wellesley Street there will be twenty-four arched windows, in addition to those in the tower. The design is almost a replica of that of Truro Cathedral, Cornwall, on a small scale, and is furnished by the same architect. It will cost about £28,000, including architect's fees, etc., to complete the church. The fund for its erection was commenced as far back as 1852. About £200 was collected in Auckland, and the Rev. F. Thatcher, while on a visit to England, in 1859, collected £300 among his personal friends. The trustees invested the £500 in town and country properties, and this amount, by shrewd and economical management, has grown to £30,000 at the present time (January, 1901).
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The Rev. William Eugene Gillam,
             
 vicar of Matthew's, was born in London in 1856, and is the son of Mr. George Harry Gillam, architect, of that city. Mr. Gillam was educated at the primary schools and afterwards studied law at Ulverstone, Lancashire, for five years, but finally
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decided to join the Wesleyan ministry, and became a student at Richmond Theological College, where he remained nearly three years. He left London in 1879, arrived at Wellington



in the same year, and was appointed minister of the Durham Street Wesleyan Church, Christ-church. In consequence of severe illness he was compelled to relinquish his ministerial duties for a considerable time, and on recovery he joined the Church of England. He was ordained deacon in 1882 and priest in 1884 at Christchurch Cathedral, by the late Primate, Bishop Harper. Mr. Gillam was appointed curate of Ross and Okarito in Westland, where he remained two years, when he received the incumbency of St. Matthews, Christchurch, which was greatly enlarged during his cure. He afterwards succeeded the late Archdeacon B. W. Dudley as incumbent of Rangiora, Canterbury, and remained there for about five years, when he became incumbent of Temuka, near Timaru, and held that important post for eighteen months, when he was compelled to resign and leave for Auckland in consequence of a death and severe illness in his family. On arriving in Auckland he was made vicar of Ellerslie and Epsom, and during his incumbency the church at Epsom was enlarged and rebuilt, and his parishioners erected a handsome vicarage at Ellerslie. He became vicar of St. Matthews in February, 1900. Mr. Gillam was a member of the standing committee of the Canterbury diocese for two years, and also held a similar appointment in the Auckland diocese for one year. He is a Freemason and was initiated in Ross Lodge in 1882 and afterwards held the office of Senior Warden in Lodge Temuka, and chaplain of Royal Arch Chapter, Timaru.
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Mr. Arthur Towsey,
              Organit of St. Matthew's Church, is referred to in the musical section of this volume.
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All Saints' Church,
              Ponsonby Road, Auckland. This church was opened on St. Thomas's Day, 1866, by Bishop Selwyn, who became responsible for the services for some time. The parochial district was cut out of the old St. Matthew's parish, and a small endowment attached to the new district from the parochial endowment fund. The Rev. E. N. Bree, formerly of All Saints'. Hereford, was the first minister. The present vicar was appointed in 1883. The church has been enlarged twice within fifteen years, and is now capable of seating about 550 people. Sunday school work is a feature of the parish, there being 500 people. Sunday school work is a feature of the parish, there being 500 scholars who have established a record as prize-winners in the Bishop's annual prize examination. For some years All Saints' has given over ten per cent. of its income to extra-parochial objects, such as missions and diocesan institutions.

            

              

[image: All Saints' Church.]

All Saints' Church.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Rev. Canon William Calder



            
            


              

The Rev. Canon William Calder.
              Vicar of All Saints', Ponsonby, Auckland, and Bishop's Chaplain, was born at Chesterfield. England, and educated at the grammar school of that town. In 1873, he was appointed warden of the Iolani College, Honolulu, and remained there two years, when he came to Auckland, and was appointed incumbent of St. Peter's, Hamilton, Waikato, where he remained until 1881, when he was elected incumbent of St. George's, Thames. In 1883, he was appointed to All Saint's, Ponsonby, of which he is still vicar. Whilst residing at Hamilton, he was made a Mason in Lodge Beta, I.C., in 1876, and has held the rank of Grand Chaplain to the Provincial Grand Lodge of Scotland. He was a member of the Thames Licensing Committee for two years. Canon Calder has been chairman of the Diocesan Board of Education, and of the Diocesan Choral Association. He is very musical, and his is the only Anglican parish in Auckland that has two choirs. During 1896 Canon Calder visited the Motherland, in consequence of ill-health, and returned the same year, not much benefited by his trip. Since he took charge of All Saints' parish, Canon Calder has been instrumental in establishing athletic and cricketing clubs, and a literary society. He also gives great attention to the Sunday school and general ministerial work, and is affectionately known by his congregation and the general public as “Parson Calder.”
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Dr. W. E. Thomas,
              Mus. Doc. (Oxon.), was appointed Organist of All Saints in September, 1900, and his management has much enhanced the powers of the choir and the beauty of the services. He is elsewhere referred to as Professor of Music at Auckland University College.
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The Church Of The Holy Sepulchre,
              Auckland, commonly called St. Sepulchre's, is the successor of a temporary building bearing that name, that was erected in the year 1865, on land adjoining the Auckland cemetery. This land was purchased in the early days of the Colony by Bishop George Augustus Selwyn, and by him set apart as the site of the future church. The builders of the church were five well-known Auckland citizens, now dead—namely, Messrs George Patrick Pierce, John Roberton, John Anderson Gilfillan, John Kelly, and Captain Salmon. The Bishop placed the Rev. B. T. Dudley (who had up till then been serving under Bishop Patteson in the Melanesian Mission) in charge of the church, and it has continued under his charge until the present day. As the population of the district increased, and with it the congregation, the temporary building was twice enlarged, and at one time Bishop John Selwyn held some successful mission services in it. A building fund, carefully nursed for many years, enabled the church committee at length to purchase what was deemed a better site in Khyber Pass; and in 1882 the present commodious wooden edifice was consecrated by Bishop Cowie, on St. Peter's Day (the 29th of June), the anniversary of his own consecration. The following year the Bishop appointed Mr. Dudley to the Archdeaconry of Auckland, in succession to the Venerable Archdeacon Maunsell, LL.D. Since the beginning of the work, five other churches have been erected within the bounds of the original district; and the congregation of the mother church often fills the building in the evenings. Two years ago, a large and commodious schoolhouse and parish hall was erected on the church site; a parsonage having been provided some years previously. Several of the present clergy of the diocese have served their apprenticeship as curates at St. Sepulchre's, which now, it may be added, possesses the finest church organ in Auckland, duly paid for.
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The Rev. T. Evershed,
              M.A., Caius College, Cambridge, ably assists the Ven. Archdeacon Dudley in the ministerial work of St. Sepulchre's.
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Mr. Vincent E. Rice,
              Organist at St. Sepulchre's Church, is well known as the



secretary of the Auckland Board of Education.
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The Church Of St. Thomas,
              Freeman's Bay, Auckland, was erected about the year 1880 by the late incumbent of St. Matthew's, the Rev. R. S. Hassard. It has seating accommodation for about 320 persons, and the choir (surpliced) numbers twenty-four men and boys.
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The Rev. W. M. Du Rieu,
              M.A., Incumbent of St. Thomas's, took the B.A. degree at St. John's, Cambridge, in 1867, and the M.A. degree, with a third-class in the Moral Sciences Tripos, in 1870. He was ordained deacon in 1867, and priest in 1868, by Bishop Tait, of London, and appointed curate of St. Mary Magdalene, Paddington. He held the curacy from 1867 to 1869, and subsequently at St. Barnabas, Pimlico, from 1869 to 1879, St. Peter's, Sudbury, from 1879 to 1882; Church of Ascension, Lavender Hill, from 1883 to 1884; and was appointed to his present incumbency in 1885.
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Dr. Henry Walker,
              Organist and Choirmaster of St. Thomas's Church, is referred to elsewhere as a former member of the Auckland City Council.
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Epiphany Church.
              This Church is a wooden building in the Gothic style of architecture, and is situated in Karangahape Road, opposite the reservoir. The old Epiphany Church was established in Nixon Street, and was a branch of St. Sepulchre's. Ultimately a separate parochial district was made in Newton, and the present church was erected in 1886. The building is capable of seating about 350 worshippers, and the attendance averages about 200. The Sunday school is held in a separate building in the grounds of the church. The first vicar of Epiphany was the Rev. Dr. O'Callaghan, and the Rev. W. Edward Lush, M.A., is the present incumbent.
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The Rev. William Edward Lush.
              M.A., Cambridge, Vicar of Epiphany Church, Grey Lynn, was born in the province of Auckland, in 1862, and is the son of the late Rev. Vicesamus Lush, sometime incumbent of St. George's, Thames. He was educated at the Church of England Grammar School. Parnell, Auckland; and Corpus Christi College, Cambridge, England, where he took the degree of B.A. in 1883, and the M.A. degree in the ordinary course in 1886. After leaving Cambridge, Mr. Lush underwent a course of studies at Cuddesdon Theological College. In 1885 he was ordained to the curacy of Aberdare, South Wales, by the Bishop of Llandaff. In 1886 Mr. Lush left for Wellington, New Zealand, and was appointed curate to the Rev. John Still, St. Paul's Pro-Cathedral, and remained there to the end of 1889, when he removed to Wool-loongabba, Bzisbane, and acted as curate there until 1891, when he returned to Auckland, and took temporary charge of the Mount Albert district. Afterwards he accepted the post of vicar of Epiphany Church, Newton, now Grey Lynn. During his tenure of office at Epiphany Church, Mr. Lush has considerably reduced the parish debt, although none of his congregation are wealthy.
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Mr. Thomas Henry Webb,
              Organist of the Epiphany Church, carries on business as a pianoforte importer and tuner in Hobson Street.
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Edmund Mortlock Cowie 
 Diocesan Missionary, Bishop's Court. Auckland, was born in Parnell, Auckland, and is the eldest son of the Primate of New Zealand. He was educated at Christ's College, Christchurch, and Selwyn College (Cambridge), where he took his B.A. degree in 1892, and also at Ely College. He was ordained deacon in 1893 and priest in 1894 in Winchester Cathedral, and was first curate of St. Michael's and All Angels, Portsmouth, during 1893–4. On returning to Auckland he was appointed private secretary and chaplain to the Bishop and upon the resignation
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of the late missioner, Canon Haselden, the succeeded him in one of the most arduous and difficult posts in the Auckland diocese.
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The Rev. John Kinder,
             
 M.A., and D.D., was born in London in 1819, and educated at Cheam in Surrey and at Trinity College, Cambridge. There he gained a scholarship (besides other prizes) and graduated as wrangler in 1842. After taking his degree of



B.A., he continued to reside in the College, taking private pupils till his M.A. in 1845. While at Cambridge, as he took much interest in ecclesiastical architecture, he joined the
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Camden Society, which was at that time set on foot for the restoration of churches and for the improvement of church architecture—one of the first steps taken in that revival, which has made such progress during the last half-century, and he was not only one of its earliest members but also an active member of the committee. In 1847 he was ordained by Bishop Blomfield of London to a curacy in the East End of London. He held this curacy for only six months, being appointed the same year by the master and fellows of his college head-master of Alleyne's grammar school, Uttoxetor, Staffordshire, where he remained nearly eight years, and was ordained priest in 1849 by the Bishop of Lichfield. In 1855 Bishop Selwyn was in England, and had been commissioned by a number of gentlemen in Auckland, members of the Church of England, to find a clergyman willing to undertake the mastership of a school which it was intended to establish in or near the city for giving a classical and English education on the model of an English grammar school, and in accordance with the doctrine and discipline of the Church of England. Dr. Kinder received the appointment and came to the Colony towards the close of 1855. The school was eventually erected in Parnell on land given by Bishop Selwyn. The site was inconveniently far from town in those days when there were no omnibuses, but it was largely attended by boys from the eastern and southern suburbs, and during the seventeen years that Dr. Kinder held the mastership a large number of pupils passed under his hands who are now scattered all over New Zealand as clergymen, lawyers, doctors, bankers, Government officials, clerks, farmers, etc., besides some who entered with success military and political life in the Colony. While master of the school Dr. Kinder was appointed acting chaplain to the troops in garrison in Auckland, and held the office throughout the war until the removal of the troops. He was also successively assistant minister of St. Barnabas, Parnell, under Archdeacon Kissling, for five years; minister of St. Mark's, Remuera, three years, and at St. Andrew's, Epsom, seven years. While in charge of the last-named district, Dr. Kinder raised the necessary funds for erecting from designs of his own a pretty little church, the first in the place, and further beautified it at his own expense with a fine Gothic chancel screen and by presents (a stone font and oak lectern) received from friends in England. On Bishop Cowie's arrival in New Zealand it was felt that the diocese needed an institution for the preparation of candidates for holy orders. St. John's College at the Tamaki had been founded by Bishop Selwyn expressly for this purpose, but had been closed for three years. It was re-opened in 1871, when Dr. Kinder was appointed master, and in 1873 the degree of D.D. was conferred upon him by the Archbishop of Canterbury. Dr. Kinder retained the mastership of the College until 1880, when he resigned and was appointed examining chaplain by the Bishop. This office he held for a few years and then retired from active duty, retaining only the post of Assessor of the Bishop's Court. Many of the clergy now officiating in the diocese of Auckland and elsewhere were his pupils. While master of the college he did much to redeem the site from the neglect and squalor into which it had fallen for many years, by planting, draining and laying out the ground at his own expense, and he further beautified the College Chapel by the addition of a little spire with gilt cross, and by getting inserted windows in memory of Bishop Patteson and those killed along with him, and of Bishop Selwyn and Sir William Martin, the two latter being contributed by his old pupils. In this way he filled the whole of the vacant windows with stained glass, and completed the decoration of Bishop Selwyn's beautiful little chapel, one of the most interesting memorials in the Colony. Dr. Kinder married in 1859 the daughter of Archdeacon Brown, of Tauranga.
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                The Venerable Edward Bloom-Field Clarke
              
             
 (B.D. Lambeth), sometime Archdeacon of Waimate, and Supervisor of the Maori Church of the Auckland diocese, was born on the 4th of May, 1831. He was the son of an esteemed missionary, Mr. George Clarke, who was attached to the Church Missionary Society, and arrived at the Bay of Islands in 1822, and afterwards, when the Colony was established, became Chief Protector of Aborigines. The son was educated at the Church Missionary College, Islington, London, and was ordained as deacon by the late Bishop Perry, in Melbourne, in 1856, and as priest in 1859, when he was appointed curate to the Archdeacon of Portland at Belfast, Victoria. In 1860, Archdeacon Clarke returned to Auckland, and took charge of the native school at Tauranga. On the outbreak of the Waikato war, in 1863, he proceeded to Gisborne, but when the Hauhaus revolted on the East Coast, and murdered the Rev. Karl Volkner at Opotiki, on the 2nd of March, 1865, and also threatened to murder the Bishop of Waiapu and other missionaries, Mr. Clarke proceeded to Waimate, where he
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was shortly afterwards appointed to the Archdeaconate by the present Primate, Bishop Cowie. In 1885, Archdeacon Clarke returned to Auckland, to take charge of the Maori population of the diocese, subject to the control of the Bishop. Archdeacon Clarke was married, in 1857, to Susanna Frances, daughter of Lieutenant John Wood, R.N. Mrs Clarke died in December, 1890, and Archdeacon Clarke on the 22nd of October, 1900.
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The Rev. Robert Burrows,
             
 late secretary of the Church Missionary Society, was born at Stroud, Gloucestershire, England, in 1812, his father being Mr. T. Burrows, builder. He gained his primary education in his native county, and afterwards received tuition under the Rev. Dr. Williams, rector of Woodchester, Gloucestershire. In 1836 Mr. Burrows went to the Church Missionary Society's College, Islington, for ministerial training as a missionary. He was ordained deacon in 1838, and priest at St. Paul's Cathedral in 1839, by the late Bishop Blom-field, of London. Leaving England for the Bay of Islands in September, 1839, he was the first missionary to arrive in the Colony after the signing of the “Treaty of Waitangi,” and laboured for some years chielly in the Bay of Islands district. Revisiting England in 1853, he returned to New Zealand two years later as secretary of the Church Missionary Society for the Colony, supervising the affairs of the society until 1894, when he resigned in consequence of advanced age and failing health. The reverend gentleman, during his long and exciting career, was instrumental in bringing about a meeting between Hone Heke, the famous rebellious chief (who was responsible for the war of 1845), and Governor Grey. Mr. Burrows published an interesting diary, relating his



experiences and interviews with Hone Heke and referring to one of the greatest crises in the early history of the colonisation of this country. It was printed at the suggestion


[image: The Late Rev. R. Burrows.]

The Late Rev. 
R. Burrows.


of the late Sir William Martin, who suggested that its contents would form an interesting leaf for a future “History of New Zealand.” The Rev. Mr. Burrows passed away in Auckland on the 23rd of July, 1897, at the ripe old age of eighty-four.
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                The Melanesian Mission
              
              was founded in 1849 by Bishop Selwyn, of New Zealand. Its sphere of work embraces the New Hebrides, Banks Islands, Torres Islands, the Santa Cruz Grou, and the Solomon Islands. At first its headquarters were at St. John's College, Kohimarama, near Auckland; but in 1866 Norfolk Island, 400 miles N.N.W. from the North Cape of New Zealand, was selected for the purpose. Thence the Bishop of Melanesia administers his diocese, and there he has his missionary college and training schools, where natives, brought from many separate islands, all speaking different dialects, are trained for seven or eight years, and then sent back to their people. The staff of the mission consists of the Bishop (the Right Rev. Cecil Wilson, M.A.), two archdeacons, eleven white clergy, twelve native clergymen, and 480 native teachers, teaching at 168 different stations. At present the income of the Mission averages about £10,000 a year, raised chiefly by subscriptions in New Zealand, Australia, and England, and the interest on properties given by Bishops G. A. Selwyn and J. C. Patteson. In 1899, the jubilee year of the Mission, an effort was begun to raise £12,000 to buy a new Mission schooner. Since the foundation of the Mission by Bishop Selwyn, and his constant visits there, there have been three Bishops. The first was John Coleridge Patteson, born in London on the 1st of April, 1827, sometime Fellow of Merton. Oxford, consecrated Bishop in 1861, at old St. Paul's Church, Auckland, and murdered by the natives at the island of Nukapu, on the 20th of September, 1871; the second, John Richardson Selwyn, born at Waimate, Bay of Islands, New Zealand, on the 20th of May, 1844, M.A., Trinity College, Cambridge, consecrated Bishop at Nelson, New Zealand, in February, 1877, retired from the Bishopric through ill-health in 1893, and died on the 12th of February, 1898; and the third and present Bishop, Cecil Wilson, born in London in 1860, M.A., Jesus College, Cambridge, selected in 1894 by his predecessor and the Archbishop of Canterbury for the Melanesian Mission, and consecrated Bishop at St. Mary's Pro-Cathedral, Auckland, on the 11th of June, 1894, by the Primate of New Zealand, Dr. Cowie, who was assisted on the occasion by Bishop Nevill, of Dunedin, Bishop Julius, of Christchurch, and Bishop Mules, of Nelson. The Mission has been a great factor in the civilisation of the islands within its sphere of action, and 10,000 natives now profess Christianity in consequence of its teachings. The Rev. George MacMurray, Vicar of St. Mary's Pro-Cathedral, Parnell, is treasurer of the Mission, and the Very Rev. Canon Calder, Vicar of All Saints', Auckland, edits the Mission journal, named “The Southern Cross Log.”
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The Right Rev. Cecil Wilson,
             
 third and present Bishop of Melanesia, is the youngest son of Mr. Alexander Wilson, and was born in London in 1860. He was educated at Tunbridge School, Kent, and studied at Jesus College, Cambridge, where he took the degree of B.A. in 1882, and M.A. in 1885. Mr. Wilson studied for holy orders, and was ordained deacon in 1886 by Dr. Harold Browne, Bishop of Winchester, and priest in 1887. He was then appointed by Dr. Edgar Jacob, the


[image: Bishop Wilson.]

Bishop Wilson.


present Bishop of Newcastle, to the curacy of Portsea, where he remained for five years in charge of one of the poorest districts in Portsmouth, called the St. Faith's mission. In 1891, he was appointed by Dr. Thorold, the newly-elected Bishop of Winchester, to the living of St. John's, Moordown, Bournemouth, where he officiated until Easter, 1894, when he was selected by the Archbishop of Canterbury and Bishop John Selwyn for the vacant post of Melanesia in succession to Bishop Selwyn himself who had then been an invalid for two years. Mr. Wilson left England in April of the same year, and was consecrated in St. Mary's Pro-Cathedral, Auckland, on the 11th of June, St. Barnabas' Day. Bishop Wilson immediately proceeded by the Mission auxiliary schooner “Southern Cross” to the islands of Melanesia, and under him the work of the mission has been marked by steady and substantial progress. In February, 1899, Bishop Wilson was married to Alice Ethel, daughter of Bishop Julius, of Christchurch, and the ceremony was performed in the Christchurch Cathedral.
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The Right Rev. John Coleridge Patteson,
             
 first Bishop of Melanesia, was the son of an English judge, and his mother
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was a niece of Samuel Taylor Coleridge, the famous poet. He was born in London on the 1st of April, 1827, and was educated at Eton and Oxford, where he took a first-class in Literæ Humaniores, and was elected a Fellow of Merton. He then spent five years in travelling on the Continent, where he studied Italian art, Hebrew, Arabic, and German. Entering holy orders, he was ordained to the curacy of Alfington, Ottery St. Mary, Devonshire. That was in 1853. Shortly afterwards Bishop Selwyn, then on a visit to England in quest of volunteers for church work in New Zealand and missionary work in the South Pacific Islands, came in contact with the young curate, who had long looked forward to a missionary's life, and he willingly placed himself in Bishop Selwyn's hands. On the 5th of July, 1855, he arrived in Auckland, by the ‘Ducke of Portland,” and



after being for a time the guest of Sir William Martin, the Chief Justice, Mr. Patteson went coasting in the “Southern Cross” mission schooner, and also, subsequently, travelled about in the bush amongst the native villages. He became closely identified with the work going on at St. John's College, Kohimarama, then the headquarters of the Melanesian Mission. With all the branches of this hard and hazardous work he so successfully identified himself, that he was consecrated first Bishop of Melanesia in 1861. In this office he laboured with true apostolic zeal and remarkable success for about eleven years, until he was murdered on the small coral island of Nukapu on the 20th of September, 1872. The atrocious labour traffic of those days had led to much bitterness amongst the natives whose kindred had been kidnapped or enticed away by the traffickers, and it was as an expression of that bitterness that Bishop Patterson, their truest and best friend, was killed by the men of Nukapu. The tragedy, appalling in itself, was felt all the more by all British people, on account of the Bishop's great gifts and exceptionally gracious character, which, as Max Muller, who had known the Bishop in the Old World, said, “was revealed by his death, as by a flash of lighting, in all its grandeur and human majesty.” Indeed, the character, the career, and the death of Bishop Patteson constitute one of the noblest, yet also one of the saddest, histories connected with the evengelisation of Melanesia.
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The Right Rev. John Richardson Selwyn,
             
 second son of George Augustus Selwyn, D.D., Bishop of New Zealand, and subsequently of Lichfield, was born at Waimate,
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Bay of Islands, New Zealand, on the 20th of May, 1844. His father's duties taking him much from home, the early years of the future Bishop were mostly spent under the care of his mother (Sarah Harriet, daughter of Sir John Richardson, Q.C.), and of Archdeacon Abraham, subsequently Bishop or Wellington. Young Selwyn was sent to Eton College in 1854. There he distinguished himself as an athlete; he matriculated at Trinity College, Cambridge, in 1862; and passed in the third class of the Classical Tripos in 1866. In 1867 he visited his father in New Zealand, and, under the influence of his parents and friends and Bishop Patteson, he decided to abandon the study of law and seek holy orders. He was ordained at Trinity in 1869, and was placed in charge of St. George's, Wolverhampton, in 1870. After the death of Bishop Patteson, in 1871, Mr. Selwyn went out with his wife and his friend, the Rev. J. Still, to Melanesia. In 1874 he was nominated by the Melanesian Mission staff as their Bishop (Dr. Codrington, the acting head of the Mission, declining the post), and was consecrated Bishop at Nelson, New Zealand, in February, 1877. His episcopate was marked by a steady development of the work in all parts of his island diocese; his tact was exhibited in gaining an entrance into the difficult Santa Cruz group; and conspicuously in assisting Her Majesty's naval officers in dealing with the natives of Florida, and bringing the murderers of Lieutenant Bower to justice. The Banks Islands, the Torres Islands, the northern New Hebrides, the South-East Solomon Islands,



were largely evangelised during his episcopate; and Florida became practically Christian. The Bishop suffered much from rheumatism and malarial sciatica, incurred in the unsparing prosecution of his missionary work; and in 1890 he was taken to England crippled for life. In 1893 he was unanimously elected Master of Selwyn College, Cambridge, where he lived long enough to leave his mark, both on that College and on the University of Cambridge. His manly directness, his magnificent pluck, his tender sympathy with all sorts and conditions of men, and, chief of all, his deep piety, caused him to be a wide influence for good. After his retirement from the bishopric of Melanesia, he devoted himself with untiring zeal to furthering the Mission cause in England; and his unsparing exertions probably hastened his end, which came at Pau, France, on the 12th of February, 1898, at the early age of fifty-three. The Bishop was twice married; in January, 1872, to Miss Clara Innes, by whom he had three children, Margaret, Rebie, and Stephen; the last-named is now a graduate of Trinity, Cambridge, and in holy orders. Mrs. Selwyn died at Norfolk Island in 1878, and in 1885 the Bishop married again, his second wife being Miss Annie Mort, daughter of a well-known and hearty supporter of the Mission from the days of Bishop Patteson. Three children. Dorothy, Mary, and George Augustus, are the issue of this marriage. The Bishop's life and work are to be commemorated (a) in connection with Selwyn College, by the stall work in the College Chapel; (b) in Mclanesia by a stone church in the Solomon Islands. Besides his pamphlets and single sermons, a small brochure written by him and published by the S.P.C.K., on “Work in the Colonies and in the Mission Field,” has had a wide circulation, and has exercised a farreaching influence. A memoir of his life, by J. J. How, son of the late Bishop of Wakefield, gives an admirable picture of the man and of his work.
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St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church,
              Alten Road, is the mother church of Auckland Presbyterianism. The first Presbyterian services held in Auckland were commenced in 1843, and were attended by the Scottish pioneer settlers who arrived in the “Duchess of Argyle” and the “Jane Gifford.” Chief Justice Martin granted the use of the Supreme Courthouse in Queen Street for these services. It was found to be rather awkward, however, inasmuch as the ruling elders had to sit in the dock as their bench of honour. Some of Auckland's citizens can remember walking to the courthouse to be christened, and others were married there. The building of St. Andrew's Church was commenced on the 28th of December, 1847, and it was opened for divine service on Sunday, the 7th of April, 1850. The Rev. A. G. Panton, of the Free Church of Scotland, ministered for over twelve months, and during the vacancy which then occurred, the pulpit was intermittently occupied by the Rev. Mr. Hamer. Rev. A. Macdonald, Mr. Buddle, Rev. Mr. Millard, Mr T. S. Forsaith, Rev. Alex, Reed, and the Rev. J. Inglis. The Rev. David Bruce was the next minister, and for twenty-three years he was the beloved pastor of St. Andrew's. His successor, the Rev. A. Carrick, was inducted on the 27th of December, 1877. The Rev. J. Milne, who next followed, was inducted on the 15th of March, 1898, and resigned on the 9th of January, 1900, at the end of which year the Rev. Henry B. Gray arrived from Scotland to take charge of St. Andrew's.
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The Rev. Henry B. Gray,
              Minister of the St Andrew's Presbyterian Church, Auckland, was born at Glasgow in 1862. He took his arts course at the Glasgow University, and studied theology at the United Presbyterian Theological Hall, Edinburgh, where he completed his course of studies in 1888. On leaving college, he was appointed assistant at the Union Street United Presbyterian Church, Greenock, where he remained for some months. He was then ordained, and took charge of the Lochwinnoch United Presbyterian congregation near Paisley, in Renfrewshire, in November, 1889. Mr. Gray successfully ministered at Lochwinnoch for ten years and a half, and resigned the charge to take his present appointment at St. Andrew's Church, Auckland, where he arrived on the 31st of December, 1900. The members of Mr. Gray's Scottish congregation deeply regretted his departure for New Zealand, and at the final leave-taking they showed their appreciation of his many good qualities as a man and a minister by presenting him with a magnificent gold watch and a purse of sovereigns, and Mrs Gray with a massive gold bracelet. Mr. Gray married Miss Lundie, daughter of the late Mr. W. H. Lundie, of the Sheddan School, Auchterarder, Perthshire, and, in coming to New Zealand, was accompanied by his wife and their family of four boys.
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Mr. William Culpan,
              Organist at St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, is an accountant in the well-known firm of Messrs Hesketh and Richmond, solicitors.
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St. James' Presbyterian Church,
              Wellington Street. This building is of wood, of Gothic style with transept and spire, and is seated to accommodate six hundred people. It cost £3,300. It was erected in 1865, and the minister of the congregation at that time was the late Rev. James Hill, who afterwards became the first Presbyterian minister at the Thames on the opening of the goldfields. The present minister was inducted in February, 1869. The congregation is prosperous and energetic, and consists of over 260 communicants and nearly as many adherents. The manse is conveniently situated behind the church. Besides these buildings, the congregation in 1879 erected a substantial brick hall with Gothic windows, ante-rooms, etc., for the accommodation of the Sunday school and congregational meetings. This latter building, which can accommodate six hundred people, cost £1,700, including the site. The congregation attending St. James' church has been the largest of its denomination in the city, and the church's properties are all free of debt.
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The Rev. Robert Ferguson MacNicol,
              Minister of St. James' Presbyterian Church, was born in Dublin in 1838. of Scottish parents, whose home was in Glasgow. At the age of sixteen he entered the university of that city, and passed through the curriculum prescribed by the Church of Scotland. In 1863 Mr. MacNicol was licensed as a preacher by the Presbytery of Lorne, and was ordained by the same presbytery in 1865. Having been sent out to Auckland with a commission from the Church of Scotland, he became the first minister of the Presbyterian Church in New Plymouth, and in 1869 was inducted into the charge of St. James' Church, where he still remains. The reverend gentleman is one of the oldest city ministers (being contemporary with Archdeacon Dudley). He was appointed moderator of the General Assembly in 1880, and has held several other offices in connection with his church.
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Mr. R. Walton,
              who occupies the position of Organist at St. James's Presbyterian Church, is proprietor of the Lion Boot Factory.
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St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church,
              Ponsonby. When it became clear that Auckland was rapidly extending in the direction of Ponsonby, the Presbyterians residing in that district held a meeting in Ponsonby Hall, and decided to form themselves into a congregation, and the Presbytery placed a committee of its members, with full Presbyterial powers, in charge of the district. A new charge was formed on the 18th of July, 1876, and it was resolved to address a call to the Rev. James Hill to become the first minister. Mr. Hill declined the call, and the Rev. D. W. Runciman, M.A., having been granted two years' leave of absence from Leslie, Scotland, was, on the 10th of January, 1877, appointed by the Presbytery to conduct services in Ponsonby Hall, which had been hired for the purpose. A session was then formed, and the Presbyterial committee discharged. Mr. Runciman having decided to remain in Auckland, sent Home the resignation of his charge at Leslie, and, on the 14th of February, 1878, he was inducted as the first minister of St. Stephen's. The present church, Gothic of architecture, and with a lofty spire, was built on the site, which cost £300, at the corner of Jervois and Shelley Beach Roads. It cost £1406, seats 250 worshippers, and was opened on the 28th of January, 1880. Owing to his health not improving, Mr. Runciman resigned on the 4th of June, 1889.
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Rev. T. F. Robertson,
              Minister of St. Stephen's Church, succeeded the Rev. D. W. Runciman, M.A. He was formerly of Strathblane, Scotland, and was inducted at St. Stephen's on the 25th of July, 1889. Great success has attended Mr. Robertson's labours, and Mrs. Robertson, as his able helpmate, takes an active part in all church matters.
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Mrs. Isabella Neave,
              Organist of St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church, is a teacher of music, who resides in Wynyard Road, Mount Eden.
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St. David's Church,
             
 Auckland. This church originated in a church extension movement from St. Andrew's. To meet the needs of the spreading population, a schoolroom was erected, in 1861, at the upper end of Symonds Street. Here the Rev. Dr. Wallis, formerly a missionary at Demerara, began to preach in October, 1865, and gathered a good congregation. In September, 1868, however, Dr. Wallis, having withdrawn from the jurisdiction of the Presbytery, established an independent congregation which met in a new building called. “Newton Kirk.” The schoolroom in Upper Symonds Street was consequently closed until the 10th of March, 1878, when, after renovation, it was re-opened. A few weeks later, on the 3rd of April, the mission was formed by the Presbytery into a regular charge, under the designation of St. David's. The Rev. A. M. McCallum, of the Free Church of Scotland, undertook the services, and received a call, which, however, he declined. On the 5th of February, 1879, Mr. T. W. Dunn, a student from the Church of Scotland, was appointed to supply the pulpit for a time. Increasing congregations assembling, a new church, on the most commanding site occupied by any of the city churches, was opened on the 14th of November, 1880. The first minister was the Rev. Thomas Mackenzie Fraser, M.A., formerly of the High Church, Geelong, and one of the Theological Tutors of the Presbyterian Church of Victoria, who was inducted on the 18th of August, 1881. Mr. Fraser was a brother-in-law
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of Hugh Miller, the eminent geologist and writer. After a most successful ministry, Mr. Fraser died, on the 10th of August, 1885. A vacancy of over two years followed, when the Rev. Robert Scott West, from the Free Church of Scotland, was called, and his ordination and induction took place on the 18th of October, 1887. Mr. West's pastorate was a period of great prosperity, and the church was enlarged to accommodate the increased membership and attendance. A hopeful church extension charge was also established at Emendate, Mr. West was translated to Burwood, near Sydney. New South Wales, in August, 1899. On the 21st of February, 1900, the Rev. William Gray Dixon, M.A., translated from St. John's Church, Warrnambool, Victoria, was inducted into the charge of St. David's, which now has about 300 communicants, and an annual revenue of from £800 to £900.
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The Rev. William Gray Dixon
              
              was born, in 1854, at Paisley, Scotland, where his father, the Rev. James Main Dixon, was minister of the Free Martyrs' Church. After the death of his father, the family removed to Ayr, where Mr. Dixon was educated at the famous Academy of that town, and left it as dux and gold medialist in 1871. He proceeded to the University of Glasgow, at which, after a career of distinction, he took the degree of M.A., in 1876. In that year he received the appointment of Professor of the English Language and Literature in the Imperial College of Engineering, Tokyo, Japan. Mr. Dixon returned to Scotland from Japan in 1880, in order to study for the ministry, and wrote and published a book entitled “The Land of the Morning,” in which he gives an interesting account of Japan and the Japanese. For four years he studied at the New College, Edinburgh, and passed the college's exit examinations with first-class distinction. He was then licensed by the Free Presbytery of Edinburgh, and went out to Melbourne, Victoria. There he received the appointment of assistant minister of the Scots Church, and was afterwards ordained by the Presbytery of Melbourne, minister of the Fitzroy Church in the same city. In 1889 he was translated to St. John's Church, Warrnambool, whence he was translated in 1900 to St. David's Church, Auckland. In August, 1900, Mr Dixon married, at Manly, Sydney, New South Wales, Miss Elizabeth Aitken Glen, fourth daughter of the late Mr John Glen, of Crosshill, Glasgow.
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Mr. James N. Warner,
              Organist at St. David's Presbyterian Church, is a law clerk with Messrs Buddle, Button and Co., the well-known firm of solicitors, in Wyndham Street.
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The Rev. James Hill,
             
 sometime Pastor emeritus of the Presbyterian Church of New Zealand, was born at Cramond, five miles from Edinburgh, in 1825, and was brought up in the Established Church of Scotland. After being in a business warehouse for seven years, he entered the University of Edinburgh, and, when his college course was finished, joined the United Presbyterian Church of Scotland, whose Divinity Hall he attended for the usual five years. He was licensed in 1853,
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and during the same year received calls from the congregations of Urr, Sanquhar, and Scone, the last of which he accepted, being ordained by the Presbytery of Perth in January, 1854. After being in this charge for nine years, he was offered the position of colleague to the Rev. David Bruce, of Auckland, New Zealand. This he accepted, and, in 1863, was inducted in St. Andrew's Church, Auckland. In 1864 Mr. Hill received a call from St. James' congregation, then meeting in a small schoolroom in Hobson Street, and, having learned shortly after his arrival in Auckland, that the colleague appointed was expected to let Mr. Bruce go home to Scotland for two years, he accepted the call. In 1865 the St. James' Church, Wellington Street, was built, the Sabbath services during its erection being held in the Oddfellows' Hall, Queen Street. In 1867 he was called by the congregation of St. Andrew's, Dunedin, but declined the invitation. On the opening of the Thames Goldfields, the Presbyterian residents invited Mr. Hill to become the first pastor of the congregation, and, in consequence of the state of his health at the time, he accepted the call, and was inducted at the Thames in 1868. On three valuable sites—two given by the Thames natives, and one secured partly by purchase and partly by gift from the late Mr. Robert Graham—two churches and a manse were built, and were all cleared of debt. Whilst at the Thames, Mr. Hill had a second offer from St. Andrew's Church, Dunedin, and a call to be the first pastor of St. Stephen's congregation, Ponsonby, Auckland, both of which he declined. In 1877 he received and accepted a call from the Presbyterian congregation of Lyttelton, in which charge he remained twelve years. During this period he started, with the sanction of the Presbytery of Christchurch, the congregations of Sydenham and North Belt in that city, being offered the pastorate of the former, which he declined. At Lyttelton, a manse was built at a cost of £1100, and was occupied free of debt. In 1889 he received and accepted a call to Devonport, Auckland, and continued pastor in that marine suburb for seven years. During this time a handsome church was erected and opened free of debt. In the beginning of 1896. Mr. Hill resigned his charge on account of ill-health, and, at the General Assembly held in Christchurch in 1897, was granted the status of pastor emeritus of the Presbyterian Church of New Zealand. Mr. Hill was for many years a prominent and active member of the Masonic craft, having been chaplain and master of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge at the Thames, and for twelve years district grand master of the Scotch Constitution in Canterbury. Mr. Hill died on the 31st of December, 1897.
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Rev. A. M. McCallum,
              sometime of Northcote, a marine suburb on the north shore of Auckland, was born in Glenaimond, Perthshire, in 1832, and graduated at St. Andrew's University. He was for fifteen years minister of the Free Church of Scotland at Shandon, Dumbarton. In consequence of ill-health, he went to California In 1875, and engaged in fruit-growing at San Jose. He removed to New Zealand in 1878 and made Auckland his future home. He afterwards accepted a call to the North Belt Presbyterian church, Christchurch, of which he was minister for several years. For the last eight years he lived in retirement on his property “Mount of Olives,” Lake Takapuna, where he was an enthusiastic orchardist; he, however, often occupied the pulpits of his brother ministers. Mr. McCallum was married to a daughter of Dr. Andrew Thomason: she pre-deceased him leaving a family of seven sons and two daughters. He was an upright clergyman and much esteemed in private life for his urbanity and courteous manners.
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                The Roman Catholic Diocese
              
             
 of Auckland comprises the provincial district of Auckland, the surrounding islands, and the Kermadec Group, and took its rise from
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the mission founded by Bishop Pompallier, who, as Vicar-Apostolic of Western Oceania, arrived at Hokianga on the 8th of January, 1838. He subsequently fixed his headquarters at Russell, in the Bay of Islands, but removed them to Auckland in 1847. In 1848 the diocese of Auckland was formed, with Dr. Pompallier as its first Bishop. During his episcopate, old St. Patrick's Cathedral was built, and now forms the transepts of the new building, which was erected during the late Bishop Luck's term of office. Bishop Pompallier resigned the charge of the diocese in 1869, and died in France on the 20th of December, 1870. He was succeeded by Bishop Croke, who was consecrated Bishop of Auckland on the 23rd of June, 1870, and is now Archbishop of Cashel, Ireland, to which he was translated on the 23rd of June, 1875. Bishop Croke was succeeded by Archbishop Steins, S.J., who was translated in April. 1879, from Bombay, but only occupied the see for a short time, as he died at Sydney on the 7th of September, 1881, and was succeeded by Bishop Luck, who was consecrated on the 13th of August, 1882, by Cardinal Manning, in London. Dr. Luck was instrumental in introducing the Little Sisters of the Poor. the Sisters of St. Joseph, and Les Soeurs de Notre Dame des Missions, and the Marist Brothers. He also erected the nave of St. Patrick's Cathedral, and built the handsome episcopal residence at Ponsonby, with its lovely view of the Auckland harbour. In this effort Bishop Luck was assisted by members of the Catholic Church throughout the world, and also by many non-Catholics residing in the diocese of Auckland. During his episcopate several new churches were erected throughout the diocese, the chief being St. Benedict's, and the Church of the Assumption. Onehunga. Dr. Luck was a member of the Benedictine Order, and received most of his religious education at St. Augustine's Benedictine College and Monastery, Ramsgate, England, where he was in residence when he was appointed Bishop of Auckland. He died at Bishop's House, from heart disease. on the 23rd of January, 1896, deeply regretted by all classes of the community. Dr. Luck was succeeded by the present Bishop, the Right Rev. George Michael Lenihan, D.D., who was consecrated on the 15th of November, 1896. The total Catholic population of the diocese at the census of 1896 was 23,525, and the Children receiving Catholic education number 2506. There are twenty-four primary schools. twelve superior day schools, and five girls' boarding schools in the diocese. The diocese also has an orphanage and industrial school for girls, and a corresponding institution for boys, and there is a home for the aged and destitute poor. There are twenty-three districts in the diocese; twenty-four churches. exclusive of meeting places connected with the Maori missions; three regular priests. thirty-two secular priests, ten religious brothers, and 124 nuns. The vicar-general is the Very Rev. Monsignor James Paul; the chancellor. the Right Rev. Monsignor O'Reilly; and the diocesan inspector of school's, Mr. Ponsonby Peacocke. The diocesan council consists of the Very Rev. Monsignor Paul, V.G.; Right Rev. Monsignor O'Reilly; Very Rev. D. O. Egan, D.D.; Very Rev. James Hackett; and the Very Rev. A. Lightheart.
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The Right Rev. George Michael Lenihan,
             
 D.D., Roman Catholic Bishop of Auckland, was born in London in 1858, and educated at the Benedictine Monastery, Ramsgate, England, and at the English College, at Valladolid, Spain. Happening to complete his theological course about the time the late Bishop Luck was appointed to the bishopric of Auckland, he offered his services for that diocese. The offer was accepted. and the new prelate ordained his young priest in August, 1882, and took him with him to New Zealand. Father Lenihan's first appointment was to the curacy of St. Patrick's Cathedral, under the late Monsignor McDonald. He was afterwards appointed to the new parish of the Sacred Heart in Ponsonby. where he built the church of that name. At the death of Monsignor Fynes. Father Lenihan was appointed irremovable Rector of St. John's, Parnell, and also succeeded that



venerable priest as manager of St. Mary's Orphanage, Ponsonby—an office whose difficult duties he fulfilled to the satisfaction of all concerned. Bishop Luck died on the 23rd
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of January, 1896, and in accordance with the decrees of the Plenary Council, held at Sydney in 1885, the priests of the diocese met shortly afterwards, in St. Patrick's Cathedral to elect his successor. Archbishop Redwood, of Wellington, presided, and three priests were duly proposed—namely, the Rev. G. M. Lenihan, dignissimus, the Very Rev. P. O'Reilly, dignior, and the Rev. J. J. Hackett, dignus. After being submitted to the Bishops of the Province of New Zealand, the names of the candidates were forwarded by the Archbishop to the Holy See, and the Pope chose Father Lenihan to succeed Bishop Luck. Accordingly, on the 15th of November, 1897, the new Bishop was consecrated by Bishop Grimes, of Christchurch, who was assisted on the occasion by Bishop Verdon, of Dunedin, and Dr. Gallagher, Coadjutor-Bishop of Goulburn, New South Wales, the last-named of whom preached the sermon of the occasion. The event was subsequently signalised by a conversazione in the Choral Hall, where the clergy, laity, and non-Catholics of the diocese welcomed the new Bishop and the visiting prelates with congratulatory addresses and presentations. In March, 1899, Bishop Lenihan left for Rome to make his visit ad limina, and he subsequently visited Ireland to secure more priests for the diocese, and to arrange for a continuous supply of clergy by placing students in various colleges to prepare for missionary work in New Zealand. On his departure for Rome, he appointed the Very Rev. Dean O'Reilly, Administrator of the Cathedral and Chancellor of the Diocese, to act during his absence from the Colony. The Bishop had previously, in January, 1899, appointed Father O'Reilly Dean of the Eastern District. Bishop Lenihan returned to New Zealand by the San Francisco mail steamer which reached Auckland on the 3rd of July, 1900.
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St. Patrick's Cathedral,
              Wyndham and Chapel Streets, Auckland. The original building was erected in 1847 by the Very Rev. Father Forest, S.M. It was constructed of scoria stone, and is now attached to the nave of the new Cathedral, and forms for the present its transepts. The new portion, which is built in the Gothic style of architecture, was completed by the late Bishop Luck, on St. Patrick's Day, 1885. Accommodation is provided for 1100 worshippers. Upon the return of Bishop Luck from Europe, in 1886, he presented a beautiful marble alar, which forms one of the most striking objects in the Cathedral. The Cathedral parish has a very extensive area, and contains the majority of the Catholics in the diocese.
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The Right Rev. Monsignor Patrick O'reilly,
             
 the Administrator in charge of St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland, and Dean of the Eastern District, was born at Rosscarbery,
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Monsignor O'Reilly.


Cork, Ireland, in 1843. He arrived at Auckland in 1852, and was educated there at the Catholic schools. He also received private tuition and preparation for the priesthood in Auckland. Monsignor O'Reilly was ordained in February, 1866, and before leaving Auckland he, for five yeas, filled the post of curate of St. Patrick's. He was then placed in charge of the Coromandel parish, where he was the pioneer priest, and built St. Colman's Church during the first year of his pastorate. In July, 1878, Monsignor O'Reilly moved to the Thames, and had charge of Ohinemuri and Te Aroha districts. During his oversight of these districts, St. Mary's, Paeroa, and St. Joseph's. Te Aroha, were erected, but after the separation of these parishes from each other, and from the original parish, about 1885, Monsignor O'Reilly's attention was concentrated upon his original parish at the Thames. As Diocesan Consultor, Monsignor O'Reilly holds an important position, and when a bishop was to be elected for Auckland, he was one of those nominated for the office, and was second upon the list. For many years, Monsignor O'Reilly was chairman of the Thames Hospital Trustees, and was auditor and chaplain for the local branch of the Hibernian Australasian Catholic Benefit Society. Monsignor O'Reilly was appointed to his present position on Bishop Lenihan's



departure for Europe, in 1899, when he was also made Dean of the Eastern District. In 1900 His Holiness the Pope conferred on him the dignity of Domestic Prelate, with the title of the Right Rev. Monsignor.
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Father William Henry Corcoran,
              Undergraduate of the Royal University of Ireland, and Curate of St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland, was born in 1865, at Ballinasloe, County Galway, Ireland. He received his early education at St. Michael's, Ballinasloe, and completed his secular studies at Blackrock College, Dublin, and the Royal University. His ecclesiastical studies were pursued at Paris. After his ordination he spent four years in the ministry at Dublin, and came to Auckland, via the Cape, from Ireland. Father Corcoran, since his arrival in Auckland, has become very popular amongst his parishioners, and is considered a preacher of noticeable power and eloquence.
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Father Martin Aloysius O'Carroll,
             
 Assistant Curate of St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland, was born in 1853, in Queen's County, Ireland. He was educated at St. Kearn's College, Kilkenny, and ordained by Cardinal McCabe, in 1879. After his ordination he proceeded to the archdiocese of Madras, India, and on arrival there was appointed to the North Arcot district, a place many miles in the interior, where a white face was seldom seen. The district was very large, and the only means of conveyance was by riding on bullocks. Here Father O'Carroll had to learn the two languages spoken in the district, the Telagoa and the Ta[
gap —  
reason: illegible]
ul. After mastering them he remained there—assisted by a Hindoo priest, his only helper—ministering to the native converts for over five years. He was then appointed to St. Thomas's Mount, and was attached to a military station there as chaplain. The station consisted of three field batteries of artillery, one garrison battery, and one native Sepoy Regiment to mount guard and look after the powder magazine. Father O'Carroll remained there four years, and about 1888 went to Madras to take charge of the Milapore Mission. Thence he went with the Burmah expedition, and was present at the taking of Mandalay, Pokoko, and Mingan. on the frontiers of India. He then posted as military chaplain to Ballany cantonment, about 347 miles from Madras, on the borders of the Bombay Presidency and the Nizam's dominion. There he was chaplain to the Cheshire, Cornwall, and Welsh Regiments. and ministered in the cantonment until he left India for a tour round the world. Father O'Carroll visited Jerusalem, travelled through the Holy Land, and took, what few have done. a bath in the Dead Sea. He went through Egypt, and at Cairo visited the old house where tradition says St. Joseph dwelt. Whilst he was in Egypt Father O'Carroll also visited the supposed spot on the river Nile where Moses was discovered in the bulrushes by Pharoah's daughter; also the Pyramids, the Sphinx, and the Museum de Giez, accounted the most wonderful museum in the world. After leaving Alexandria, he visited the cities
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of Rome, Naples, Paris, Marscilles, and London, and his birthplace. He then proceeded through America, saw the principal cities in that famous country, and arrived at Auckland in July, 1900, when he accompanied Bishop Lenihan on his return to New Zealand. Father O'Carroll is charmed with Auckland and its surroundings, and thinks it equal, if not superior, to Naples, in beauty. He is much liked by people of all denominations with whom he has come in contact in Auckland. Father O'Carroll tells some interesting stories of Indian life, and tells them in a way of his own that cannot fail to interest the listener.
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Mr. Harry Hiscocks,
              Junior, who was formerly assistant organist under Mr. J. H. Phillpot, now occupies the position of organist at St. Patrick's Cathedral.
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                St. Benedict's Church
              
              is A Massive And Imposing Brick Building, standing at the corner of East and Gladstone Streets. It was erected in 1889, at a cost of £5800, and accommodates 1200 worshippers. The adjoining hall is a wooden building, which is used both as a day school and a public hall. It was erected in 1898, at a cost of about £1800. There are about 140 scholars on the roll. The first mission was established at St. Benedict's in 1880, when it was created a parish. It was founded by the Rev. Father Downey, O.S.B., and afterwards conducted by the Benedictine Fathers. Services were held in the old church of St. Francis de Sales, until a wooden church was erected at St. Benedict's in 1881. This building was destroyed by fire in 1887, and almost immediately afterwards a start was made with the present church. In 1891 the Very Rev. Dr. Egan. O.S.B., was appointed priest at St. Benedict's. and he was succeeded in July, 1900, by the Rev. G. Gillan, who formerly held the charge at Ponsonby.
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The Church Of The Sacred Heart.
             
 situated in Ponsonby Road, is built of wood and lined with kauri. Prettily surrounded by trees, with porches over the two side entrances, and windows of figured glass, the church externally presents a typical ecclesiastical appearance. The building seats 400 worshippers, and was opened on the 6th of January, 1887, at cost of about £2200, including the site. The School of the Sacred Heart is a separate wooden building, adjoining the church. It is a day school, attended by about 120 children, and is conducted by the Sisters of Mercy. This part of Ponsonby was formerly in the parish of St. Patrick's, but in the Eastertide of 1885 Bishop Luck created it a separate parish under the charge of the Very Rev. Dr. Egan, O.S.B. The services were then held in the chapel of St. Mary's Convent. Subsequently the Rev. Father Lenihan (now Bishop of Auckland) was appointed to the charge, and it was mainly through his exertions that the present church was erected. In 1891 the Rev. Father Lenihan, having taken charge of the parish of Parnell, was succeeded at the Church of the Sacred Heart by the Rev. Father Gillan. On the Bishop's return from Europe, in July, 1900, the Very
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Rev. Dr. Egan, O.S.B., was appointed to the charge.
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Very Rev. Daniel Osmond Egan,
              O.S.B., D.D., who is in charge of the Church of the Sacred Heart, was born in Dublin in 1852. Educated at St. Augustine's College. Ramsgate, England, he entered the Benedictine Order in 1868, and in the following year went to Rome, where for seven years he studied at the Gregorian University, obtaining the degrees of Doctor of Philosophy and Divinity. Dr. Egan devoted his leisure moments to the study of music, under the famous masters Filippo Bornia and Gaetano Capocci, and graduated as a Fellow of the Royal Academy of St. Cecilia. On his return from Italy, he was placed in charge of the students of the Benedictine Agricultural College, Dublin, and was subsequently appointed to the same position at St. Augustine's College. Ramsgate, his Alma-Mater. In 1883 Dr. Egan was called to Rome as Professor of Theology in the Benedictine College of St. Ambrose, and two years later accompanied Bishop Luck to Auckland. With him he lived as private secretary until December. 1892, when he was appointed to the pastoral charge of St. Benedict's, Newton, now known as Grey Lynn, where he remained until July, 1900, when he was translated to the Church of the Sacred Heart.
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Father William Purton,
             
 O.S.B., Church of the Sacred Heart, Auckland, was born in 1835, in Worcestershire, England. In 1859, he took the habit of St. Benedict at the
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Father Purton.


novitate house, St. Michael's, Belmont, Herefordshire. After passing his novitiate examination, he entered the celebrated College of St Edmonds, at Douai, in France, and was ordained there by Dr. Collier, on the 6th of April, 1867. Father Purton ministered at several places in England during a number of years, and came to new Zealand in 1880. He had charge of South Dunedin for eight years, and on leaving that district he received an appointment in the Christchurch diocese, where he remained for five years. In the year 1893, Father Purton removed to Auckland, on the opening of Bishop Luck's house, to act as chaplain to the Bishop and the Sisters of Mercy. Under the regime of Bishop Lenihan, who succeeded Bishop Luck, he took a position at St. Patrick's Cathedral, whence he was transferred to the Church of the Sacred Heart.
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Mr. Thomas Henry Bosworth,
              who is referred to in the musical section, is the organist at the Church of the Sacred Heart.
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The Very Rev. Monsignor Walter McDonald
              
             
 was a priest of the type of the good parsons celebrated by Chaucer and Gold-smith—a man surcharged with the sincerest
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The Late 
Monsignor Mcdonald.


piety, constitutional simplicity, and boundless loving kindness. He was born in the parish of Mooncoin, County Kilkenny, Ireland, and was educated at All Hallows College, Dublin. In 1855 he came out to Auckland, and was ordined a priest at St. Patrick's Cathedral, in March, 1856. His brother, the Very Rev. James McDonald, was vicar-general of the diocese at the time of his arrival, and had been in the Colony for several years. Father Walter's first appointment was at Russell. Bay of Islands. Afterwards he was transferred to St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland, and was appointed private secretary to Bishop Pompallier. He remained in Auckland many years, during which he twice visited Rome. During his connection with St. Patrick's Cathedral, it was considerably enlarged, and the spire was built through his exertions. On Bishop Luck's return from his first visit to Europe, he brought Father Walter's appointment as Monsignor by His Holiness the Pope, in recognition of his services to the Church. The Bishop then transferred Father Walter to Panmure, greatly to the regret of the parishioners of St. Patrick's, who petitioned against it. During Father Walter's many years' residence at Panmure, and ministrations also at Howick, he made himself as popular with all classes and creeds as he had done in Auckland. He died somewhat suddenly on the 31st of December, 1899, in the seventieth year of his age and the forty-fourth of his priesthood, and persons of all creeds and classes felt as though they had lost a friend who had worthily won their love and esteem.
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Pitt Street Wesleyan Church.
              This church, which is the Cathedral of Methodism in Auckland, occupies the corner block of Pitt Street and Karangahape Road. The building is of brick, with white stone facings, and is lighted by large Gothic windows. Its foundation stone was laid by the Hon. T. Russell, on the Prince of Wales's Birthday, 1865, and the church was dedicated on the 14th of October, 1866. Adjoining the church is the Sunday school, now known as Wesley all, containing a suite of class-rooms; this was opened in April, 1877, at a cost of £1250. The parsonage faces on Karangahape Road, and adjoins the school. Altogether about £20,000 has been expended on buildings on this site, with the result that Methodism in Auckland has one of the most complete suites of ecclesiastical premises to be found in the Australasian Connexion.
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The Rev. William James Williams,
              the Pastor of the Pitt Street Church, is a Cornishman by birth. He began to preach when he was seventeen years of age, and as “the boy preacher” was very popular. In 1870, in company with the Rev. J. J. Lewis, J. S. Smalley, and F. W. Isitt, he arrived in New Zealand. During the past thirty years he has been appointed to several of the principal circuits; Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Wanganui, Lyttelton, and Timaru having had the benefit of his ministry. He has thrice filled the position of Conference Secretary, and in 1888 was elected to the Presidency.
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Mr. Forbes W. Forbes,
              A well-known teacher of music in Khyber Pass, Auckland, fills the position of organist at the Pitt Street Wesleyan Church.
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Grafton Road Wesleyan Church,
              is under the dual charge of the Rev. Hy. R. Dewsbury and Rev. J. T. Pinfold. The present structure replaced the old building erected in 1866 and now used as a schoolroom. The church occupies the site of the original native collegiate institution, since removed to the Three Kings; consequently unusual interest attaches to it on account of past associations. The present building was opened and dedicated to public worship



in July 1885, and is capable of seating 500 persons. The church also possesses a powerful, sweet-toned organ, which was presented to the congregation by Mr. W. B. White, one of the late trustees.
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Rev. Henry R. Dewsbury,
              Minister of Grafton Road Circuit, Auckland, was born at Stirling, Scotland in 1849, and is the youngest son of Mr. B. Dewsbury of that historic town. He was educated at Allan school, Stirling, and left Scotland for Christchurch, New Zealand, in 1863, and was articled for six years to the well-known ecclesiastical architects Messrs. Bury and Mountfort. He subsequently trained in Dunedin for the Wesleyan Ministry under the Rev. A. R. Fitchett, M.A. (now Dean of Dunedin) and the late Rev. Alexander Reid, the well-known Wesleyan divine. Mr. Dewsbury entered the ministry as a probationer in 1871, was ordained in 1875 and appointed to the Manners Street circuit in Wellington. He successively ministered at Oamaru, Auckland, Cambridge (Walkato), Devonport, Wanganui, Christchurch and at Auckland, where he is at present stationed. In 1887 he was elected secretary of the General Conference, and in the following year visited England, returning to New Zealand in 1889. He was elected president of the Conference in 1891 which office—the highest in the gift of his Church—he filled with great ability. Mr. Dewsbury is a powerful preacher, an artist of considerable skill, a good musician and an active supporter of temperance and educational movements. He is also an old cricketer, footballer and tennis-player; recently he has taken to cycling, which he finds a great convenience in his ministerial labours as well as a healthy recreation.
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Mr. William Caley
              
              occupies the position of Organist at the Grafton Road Wesleyan Church, and Mr. E. J. Gatland is the conductor.
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St. John's Wesleyan Church.
              This church is situated on the Ponsonby Road, and is an attractive wooden building. Its tall spire renders it conspicuous from a large portion of the city and from the harbour. The first church erected on this site was opened on the 11th of February, 1877, by the Rev. W. Kirk, then the superintendent of the circuit. On the 2nd of November, 1881, the foundation stone of the present church was laid by Mrs Dewsbury, wife of the resident minister, and the building was speedily carried forward to completion. The actual cost was £1700, and £900 was expended on the purchase of land and the adjoining parsonage. Messrs Banbury and Horsley have been assisted in the Sunday school by earnest teachers.
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The Rev. William Ready,
              the Minister in charge of St. John's Wesleyan Church has an interesting life history. One of a family of twelve, he was born in London of Irish parents, who were Roman Catholics. When only seven years of age, he was left an orphan, and for five years was a veritable city waif, and lived as only London street boys can. He was rescued by a city missionary, and was sent to Muller's Orphanage at Bristol, and ultimately to the Bible Christian College, and thence to a circuit. In 1887 he came to New Zealand as a Bible Christian minister. Three years were spent in Canterbury, and five years in Dunedin. In connection with the Methodist Union, in 1896, Mr. Ready became a minister of the United Church. He is now stationed at St John's, Ponsonby, and is surrounded by zealous workers.
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Mr. John Horsley,
              Organist at St. John's Wesleyan Church. Ponsonby, carries on business as a builder in O'Neill Street.
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The Helping Hand Mission,
              Freeman's Bay. All the work of the Wesleyan Church in the Freeman's Bay district has been of the mission type. It was started in the early sixties, and the services were of a homely character and often very lively. Thus it prospered, and from 1865 to 1868 had a good congregation, and a flourishing Sunday school, class-rooms for the latter being erected by the teachers' own hands. A few years later an attempt was made by the circuit authorities to dispose of the property, and the zeal of those in charge was discouraged. About 1884 a new departure occurred. Messrs W. H. Smith, A. C. Brown, S. Parker, and W. Beaumont then took the lead in establishing the present mission. Other earnest spirits rallying round them, a brass band was organised, and open-air services were held both on Sundays and week days. Not attempting to compete with any existing church, they sought specially to gather in the outcast and wanderer. Eventually they purchased a site, and in November, 1885, the present hall in Drake Street was opened at a cost of £700. Meetings of various kinds are held almost all day on Sunday, and every night in the week. The hall is plain and comfortable; is well filled in the mornings and crowded at night, while the Sunday school in the afternoon is effectively worked. A pipe organ has been presented to the Mission by the family of the late Rev. J. Hobbs. In 1894 the Mission was constituted a circuit, and the Rev. W. A. Sinclair appointed as missioner. Extra class-rooms for Sunday school work have since been fitted up, and the work has been continued with great success.
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The Rev. Colin Campbell Harrison,
              Missioner of the Helping Hand Mission, was born in Allendale Town, Northumberland, England, in 1867, and was educated at Middlesborough Wesleyan school. For five years he travelled all over England in connection with evangelistic work, and was subsequently associated with the Forward Movement in the Leeds Mission for two years. He arrived in New Zealand in 1893, and was stationed successively at Malvern, and St. Albans, Canterbury, and at Feilding, Wellington. In April, 1899, he was transterred to his present mission. Mr. Harrison takes a keen interest in the prohibition and antigambling crusades, and is an up-to-date preacher.
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Rev. William Gittos,
             
 the veteran Wesleyan Maori Missionary, was born at Ingleton, County Durham, England, and at the age of ten came with his parents to New Zealand, in the ship “James.” The voyage was a very protracted one, nearly a year being occupied in reaching their destination. The vessel called at Cape of Good Hope, Tasmania, Wellington, Auckland, Bay of Islands, and finally Hokianga, where she loaded with spars for the admiralty. As the “James” came up the harbour of Auckland, the guns of a man-of-war were firing a salute in honour of the first anniversary of the Colony, January 29th, 1841. Mr. Gittos and family endured many hardships in their new homes in common with their fellow-settlers, all supplies having to be imported from Sydney, with the exception
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of such articles of consumption as could be obtained from the Maoris. Many of the settlers grew their own wheat, which was converted through the medium of a handmill into excellent flour. The chief difficulty was in the matter of education for the young, and Mr. Gittos, senior, supplied this want by starting a night school for his own and the children of adjacent settlements. At the same time he started a small tannery and was very successful in his experiments with the barks of various New Zealand forest trees, chiefly tanekaha and towhai. On the outbreak of Heke's war in 1845, most of the inhabitants of Hokianga were obliged to leave their homes and Mr. Gittos and his family were among the refugees who embarked on board the Government brig “Victoria,” Captain Richards having been sent to protect and remove all who were disposed to leave the vicinity of hostilities. In company with Mr. John Webster and Judge Maning, of Hokianga, Mr. Gittos, then a lad of sixteen, was present with some other youths at the first battle of Okaihau, and this scene seems to have been the kindling of a life-long sympathy for the Maori race. For some years he was employed in the building trade and in 1853 went to Melbourne



to further extend his knowledge of the business. The state of his health however necessitated his return to Auckland where he entered the Wesleyan Church on probation, and in due time was ordained and sent to take charge of the Kaipara churches, chiefly Maori. Life in the Kaipara in those days was one of adventure, well-suited to the enterprising spirit of Mr. Gittos whose early experience now proved most valuable, especially in boating and building, and all the various mechanical requirements of a life in the bush. His skill as a sailor was proverbial, as a healer of the sick and in surgical operations he was very successful. His knowledge of Maori gave him a great advantage, and he early instituted schools and Bible classes at all the settlements on that extensive estuary. For eight years he and his wife lived a life of solitude, occasionally seeing a few run-away sailors or Government surveyors on their way to more remote blocks of land. In 1862, when the first detachment of Nonconformists arrived in the “Matilda Wattenbach,” great was the excitement on seeing the tents pitched at Port Albert. Mr. Gittos and family visited the settlers on their first Sunday and a service was held in the open air, after which a simple meal was partaken of and thus a friendship began which continued all the years of Mr. Gittos' sojourn in the Kaipara; a friendship only enjoyed by those who have sympathised and suffered in company; “share and share alike” was the motto of those times. After 29 years' service Mr. Gittos' health failed and necessitated his removal to Ponsonby. After recruiting for a time he removed to the Waikato where he exerted his influence among the “kingites” and in spite of great suspicion and shyness, on the part of the Maoris, finally succeeded in winning the confidence of Tawhiao. Mr Gittos was also very watchful over his people in political affairs in the Kaipara, and succeeded very happily in keeping them free from the influence of disaffected tribes. At the time of the escape of the Maori prisoners from the Kawan, they came in a body to the settlements near the mission stations, and were entertained by the Maoris, but there was no sympathy evinced apart from that of relationship; they were allowed to rest awhile and go on their way, the Government at Mr. Gittos' request sending a vessel to convey them to their homes in the Waikato. Mr. Gittos' term of service in his Church extends over forty years, during which period he has lived to see flourishing villages where only fern and forests formerly grew; he has seen Auckland rise out of the barren wilderness, and all the adjuncts of civilisation become matters of every-day life. It is a very sore point with Mr. Gittos that the Maoris are on the wane; and that in this connection the white man is not free from blame.
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Mrs. W. Gittos,
             
 second daughter of the Rev. John Hobbs, was born at the Wesleyan Mission Station, Mangungu, Hokianga, on 31st July, 1830. The family removed to the Friendly Islands in 1833, where Mr. Hobbs took charge of the mission press, and continued in that sphere of work until 1838, when he returned to New Zealand and resumed his work of translating and printing school books, selections from the Bible, etc., his children enjoying educational advantages under the tuition of the Rev. James Buller, and subsequently under that of Dr. Day, the veteran missionary who will be well remembered in Auckland, and who resided with the family for a great number of years. In 1850 Miss Hobbs entered the Wesleyan college, Auckland, as teacher under the Rev. Joseph Fletcher and remained there for several years. In 1857, she became the wife of the Rev. Wm. Gittos, then in charge of the Maori mission at Kaipara, and bravely shared with her husband all the hardships that fell to their lot, chiefly owing to the want of communication with Auckland. Mrs. Gittos' recollections of her mission life are
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very interesting. On one occasion six months clapsed without any tidings from the city of Auckland, and it was only by rare chance that letters were transmitted to and from that part of the country. The year's store of provisions was taken over the portage on sledges and timber drays, and occasionally when supplies were exhausted a journey to Auckland was necessary to recruit the stock. Another very great trial was the want of society, the complete isolation from all but the Maori-speaking race being unspeakably trying; no one who has not been similarly circumstanced can form any adequate idea of the intense thirst for congenial companionship which at times overpowers those who are cut off from the joys of civilized society. This applies more especially to women who are left in charge of stations during the frequent absences of the husbands. Very trying times of prevailing sickness also called forth all the skill and energy of the missionary and his wife, accidents too numerous to relate occurring which necessitated reading up on surgery and calling into practical use all the knowledge possessed for these times of emergency. Maori schools demanded constant oversight; in these schools girls were trained in useful domestic knowledge, needlework, washing, and other departments of feminine occupation. In addition to the usual course of a plain education, the boys were trained in useful arts, such as house-building, boat-building, and various necessary branches of general knowledge. The young people showed themselves to be very capable of learning, some attained considerable proficiency, in music especially they were very apt pupils. In 1862, the first detachment of settlers came to Port Albert and a great change was soon observable. The Maoris were quick to mark that these people observed the Sabbath, avoided “the drink” and in all their dealings were “straight.” The good example of these settlers has had a lasting effect on the Maoris of Kaipara, and a friendly feeling has always existed between the two races. The missionary now divided his time between the Maoris and English, and though it brought increased responsibility, it was an immense relief to be associated with English-speaking neighbours, who in return were glad to be welcomed to their new homes by those who could understand their peculiar trails and difficulties. This happy state of things lasted for twenty years when failing health caused Mr. Gittos to request a removal to Auckland, which was granted by the conference; and he accordingly left Kaipara with his family and took up his abode in Ponsonby, where he could still visit his old “companions in tribulation” and at the same time exercise oversight over the Maori churches he had formed in the district. The next removal was to the Waikato where three years were spent among the most suspicious of all Maoris, who, however, yielded to patience and the power of kindness. Mr. and Mrs. Gittos are now residents of Auckland, and are frequently visited by their numerous friends both white and Maori, and in looking back over fully forty years among the Maoris, they are thoroughly persuaded that, for kindness of heart and hospitality, the Maori is not one whit behind his more highly favoured white brother.
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Rev. Henry H. Lawry,
             
 Supernumerary Wesleyan minister and formerly missionary among the Waikato and Ngapuhi tribes, was born at Parramatta, New South Wales, in 1821, and is the son of the late Rev. Walter Lawry, who was born in Cornwall, England in the year 1793, and came of a yeoman family. He was appointed by the British Wesleyan Conference in 1817 as the second Wesleyan missionary for Australasia, and arrived in Sydney in May 1818. He shortly afterwards married into the Hassall family, of the original pioneer missionaries. In 1822 the Rev. Walter Lawry was appointed by the British Wesleyan missionary committee to open a mission in Tongatabu, now known as Tonga, but was recalled to Sydney shortly afterwards, and returned to England in 1824 where he occupied several important positions in English circuits connected with the Wesleyan



Conference, for 19 years. In 1843, he was again sent out to Occania as general superintendent of the New Zealand Wesleyan mission and visitor of those in the
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Friendly Islands and Fiji. After eleven years' service he retired from the more active duties of the mission, at the formation of the Australian Wesleyan Methodist Conference. Shortly afterwards he returned to the scenes of his early labours in N. S. Wales, and died at Parramatta in 1859. Rev. H. H. Lawry was educated at the old Kingswood School near Bristol—an educational institute founded for the children of Wesleyan ministers—where he remained six years. He left school in 1836 and was apprenticed to the printing business, which in after life proved most valuable to him. He accompanied his father and family to Auckland, New Zealand in 1843, and in the following year joined the mission in connection with which he spent 20 years in Maori work and visiting pioneer settlers. In the year 1845 he was associated with the Rev. Mr. Buddle in establishing the Wesleyan native institution for training native teachers at Grafton Road and Three Kings, and he was intimately connected with same until 1849, when the late Rev. Alexander Reid replaced him. At the commencement of the Maori war in 1864, the mission stations were broken up, and he retired from active duty. From 1864 to 1879 he was engaged in assisting the ministers of the Auckland circuit, and in that sphere, his matured experience and labours proved most beneficial to his Church. From 1879 to 1891, he was employed by the New Zealand Government, by request of Sir George Grey, to act as interpreter in connection with the Native Land Court. In 1866, he became secretary of the Auckland auxiliary branch of the British and Foreign Bible Society, which office he still retains, and in 1892 he was elected a Life-Governor of the parent society in recognition of his past services. The reverend gentleman also edited and carried through the press a Maori service book; and likewise assisted the late Archdeacon Maunsell in carrying his revised edition of the Maori Bible through the press. It was Dr. Maunsell's intention to make this work a standard classic of the Maori language.
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Rev. John Hobbs,
             
 a pioneer Wesleyan missionary, father of Mr. Richard Hobbs, ex-M.H.R., was born on 22nd of February, 1800, at St. Peter's, Isle of Thanet, Kent, England. He began to study for the University at an early age, and left his native country for Tasmania to enter upon ministrations at the convict settlements. He was encouraged by Rev. Samuel Marsden to come to New Zealand, where he joined the mission agents of the Wesleyan Church in 1823, and laboured with great energy at Whangaroa, experiencing all the hardships and privations of bush life in those primitive times. In 1827, owing to inter-tribal wars and other disturbing causes, the threatening attitude of the Maoris at length compelled the mission agents to withdraw from the district and take passage for Sydney. Mr. Hobbs met there the young lady who had come from England to be his “companion in tribulation,” for such it truly was. They were married by Dr. Cowper (Anglican), came to New Zealand and lived in a nikau house at Waihou, Hokianga, under the protection of the chief Patuone. Services were regularly conducted, schools established, all adjacent setlements visited, and the sick provided with medicines and food. Mr. Hobbs was transferred to the Friendly
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Islands in 1833, where he succeeded Rev. W. Woon, and applied himself to studying the art of printing in connection with the mission press. He transacted and revised and also printed the first books in Fijian and Samoan. He was remarkably successful as a medical missionary. Owing to Mrs Hobbs' failing health, they left the Islands in 1837 and Mr. Hobbs relieved Rev. N. Turner at the Mangungu station, Hokianga, where he also devoted himself to the work of translation, revision, printing and binding mission books. He remained at the station till the outbreak of Hone Heke's war in 1845, the result of which was fatal to the Wesleyan mission which could not stem the great relapses of the Maori people. Increasing infirmities, and the effects of exposure from ship-wreck at Wanganui in 1848, compelled Mr. Hobbs' retirement from active life, and he spent his last years in Auckland, where he expired on the 24th of June, 1883, at the ripe age of eighty-three.
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Rev. Alexander Reid,
             
 a prominent Wesleyan minister, was born in Edinburgh in 1821. He was ordained at Islington on the 17th of December, 1848, to enter upon
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his career as a Wesleyan missionary. He arrived in Auckland on 17th of April, 1849, and proceeded to the Three Kings, as principal of the Maori college. In 1858, he took charge of the Maori mission station at Te Kopua on the Waipa river, from which he had to retire in 1864 during the Waikato war. He was appointed to the New Plymouth circuit, in which he spent the usual three years' term. He was afterwards successively at Lyttelton, Dunedin, Auckland. Wellington, Christchurch and again at Auckland. He was appointed principal of Three King's College in 1885, and had charge of the English theological students and Maori students. He died there on the 25th of August, 1891, and was buried at Waikomiti. Mr. Reid was president of the Wesleyan conference in 1876. In 1881, he had the honour of being unanimously elected representative of the first Ecumenical



Methodist conference, held in London. He left a widow with a family of five daughters and one son.
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The Rev. Thomas Buddle,
             
 Wesleyan Missionary, was a native of Durham, England. His parents belonged to the Established
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Church, but he, while in business at Barnard Castle, joined the Methodist Church, and became a local preacher. He soon offered himself to the English Conference for service in the mission field, and was appointed to Africa. This, however, was altered and he was sent to New Zealand. In August, 1839, Mr. Buddle was married to Miss Dixon, daughter of Mr. William Dixon, of Barnard Castle, and in September of the same year they embarked with several other missionaries on the schooner “Triton.” After an eventful voyage of eight months they arrived at Hokianga, in May, 1840. Mr. Buddle's first circuit was in the Waikato district; his station was at Te Kopua, Waipa, and his work was exclusively among the Maoris. In 1844 he removed to Auckland, where he ministered to both colonists and natives, and had under his charge a training institution for native students, many of whom became missionaries to their own people. While in Auckland he held the office of general secretary to the Polynesian Missionary Society. After a residence of twenty-two years in Auckland and the adjacent circuits, Mr. Buddle removed to the south, and spent ten years in Christchurch, Wellington and Nelson. He returned to Auckland to become Principal of Wesley College, at Three Kings, a training college for European and native students. Here he finished his public ministry and retired from active work in 1882, after forty-two years of devoted and self-denying labour in New Zealand. He lived but a short time to enjoy his well-earned rest, as he died suddenly on the 26th of June, 1883. Mr. Buddle filled the highest offices in connection with the Methodist Church in New Zealand; he was president of the first New Zealand Conference in 1874, and was also president of the Australasian General Conference in 1863. Being an excellent Maori scholar, he was one of those appointed by the Bible Society to translate the Bible into the Maori language. Mr. Buddle's knowledge of the natives, and the esteem in which he was held by both them and the Government, enabled him to be of great assistance to the authorities during the Maori war; and he wrote a pamphlet on the Maori King movement, which is considered to be a valuable work of authority on the subject. He was a man of sterling worth, and greatly respected by all classes of the community. Mrs. Buddle survived her husband only a few months. They had a family of ten children, five sons and five daughters, all of whom married and settled in New Zealand.
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The Rev. Edward Best,
             
 sometime Wesleyan Minister at Ponsonby, was born in Newry, Ireland, his ancestors having come from Kent with Oliver Cromwell. Mr. Best received his primary education in an endowed grammar school, and studied theology at Liverpool. In 1848 he received his first appointment from the Irish Wesleyan Methodist Conference, in connection with which he spent thirty-one years. Among other circuits he was stationed at Dublin, Belfast, and Cork, and from several of these received beautifully illuminated addresses, as well as very substantial proofs of their kindness and appreciation. Owing to the critical state of his wife's health, necessitating a change of climate, he successfully applied to the
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New Zealand Wesleyan Conference for service, arriving at Port Chalmers in 1879. Mr. Best laboured successfully in Dunedin, Christchurch, Thames, Auckland, and Napier, at which latter place, after forty-four years of ministerial duties, he was compelled to retire from active work owing to ill-health. The reverend gentleman still preached at intervals, and continued to take a great interest in the spiritual life of his church. He died on Sunday, the 18th of November, 1900, whilst conducting service in the Union Free Baptist Church, in Auckland.
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                The Alexandra Street Primitive Methodist Church
              
              was built in 1851, on a site given by Sir George Grey, at that time Governor of New Zealand. The building, which has recently been renovated, is of wood, and seats 400 worshippers. Facing the pulpit are two side wings, which make the building T-shaped. A pleasing effect is introduced by the stained-glass borders of the windows. Surrounding the fine pipe organ are the choir seats; Mr. A. Trenwith is the organist, and there is a strong choir. The Rev. Robert Ward, who arrived in New Zealand in 1844, was the first officiating minister of the church, and his son, the Rev. Charles E. Ward, who held the charge for five years, was the immediate predecessor of the present minister, the Rev. William Laycock. The Sunday school is held in a large separate building adjoining the church, and is well attended. The main room of the Sunday school is surrounded by ten class-rooms. There is a circulating library of over 600 choice works. The Primitive Methodists have two circuits in the city and suburbs. Alexandra Street circuit includes the churches at Upper Pitt Street, Eden Terrace, Newmarket, Surrey Hills, and Mount Roskill, of which the ministers are the Rev. William Laycock (superintendent) and Rev. H. Williams, assisted by supplies. The Franklin Road circuit includes the churches at Richmond Road, Waterview. Avondale, and Hobsonvile, which are served by the Rev. W. S. Potter and supplies. The value of church property in the city and suburbs is set down at £5078, and the value of house property at £1803.
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The Rev. William Laycock,
             
 Superintendent of the Alexandra Street Circuit, was appointed to his present charge in 1898. He was born in Lancashire, England, in 1858, and educated there. Though brought up in the Church of England, and confirmed in the Wharton parish church, Lancashire, he ultimately joined the Primitive Methodists and was converted among them. Mr. Laycock studied engineering for some time, and came to New Zealand in 1880. Subsequently he studied for the ministry under the Rev. Joseph Simmonds, as a private scholar, at the Wesley College, Three Kings. In 1884, he was appointed by the Conference to the Bluff circuit, and was successively transferred to Christchurch, Auckland, Westport, and Dunedin. He remained five years at Dunedin, where he was very successful in his ministrations. Mr. Laycock is the editor of “The New Zealand Primitive Methodist,” an illustrated sixteen-page monthly magazine, circulated throughout the entire Colony. He is also one of the examiners of the Primitive Methodist probationers on psychology, comparative religion, and political economy. Though of



an unassuming disposition, Mr. Laycock is a man of quiet dignity, and as a diligent student, he spends a considerable portion of his time in his study, which is well stocked
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with the standard works of the day. Mr. Laycock married a daughter of the late Mr. Robert Deakin, of Adelaide, and has one daughter.
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Mr. Alfred Trenwith,
              Organist of the Alexandra Street Primitive Methodist Church, resides in Abbott Street, Mount Eden, Auckland.
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                The Upper Pitt Street Primitive Methodist Church
              
              is a large, unpretentious wooden building, which has recently been lengthened. Though of a plain exterior, it is well fitted up inside with seats for 350 worshippers, and a gallery runs across one end. The building is lighted with windows of frosted glass, and the total cost of the church and site was about £1100. On the basement floor underneath the church the Sunday school is held, and is attended by 150 scholars.
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The Rev. Henry Williams,
              Minister of the Primitive Methodist Connexion, was born in North Wales, England, in 1858, and educated at his native place. For many years he occupied the position of a school teacher in England, but ultimately he entered the service of the ministry. Mr. Williams arrived in Wellington, New Zealand, in 1890, and was then appointed to the Sydney Street Church, where he ministered for two years. He was next appointed to the Bluff, and later on to Geraldine, and in 1900 was transferred to Auckland. Mr. Williams married a daughter of Mr. William Evans, of Winton, near Invercargill, and has one son.
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Mr. James Carlaw,
              the Organist at the Upper Pitt Street Primitive Methodist Church, is waterworks engineer to the Auckland City Council.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Eden Terrace Primitive Methodist Church



            
            


              

                The Eden Terrace Primitive Methodist Church
              
              was erected in 1898 to replace one previously destroyed by fire. It is in the Italian style of architecture, and is capable of seating 300 worshippers, and cost £1000. The basement floor underneath the church is used as a Sunday school, which is attended by 100 children. A harmonium and a piano are used in connection with the musical portion of the church services.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Primitive Methodist Church



            
            


              
Primitive Methodist Church,
              Franklin Road, Auckland. This church was built in 1876, the congregation removing from the old premises in Sheridan Street. The building is a handsome structure, situated at the corner of Franklin Road and Wellington Street, and cost with the land over £1,400; it is capable of seating 300 persons. Internally it is one of the prettiest churches in Auckland. It has a roomy reading-desk, and a spacious choir platform furnished with chairs. The pews are of modern design and very comfortable. Messrs. T. Booth, T. Maynard, and W. Weeks, who are still connected with the church, were amongst its founders and early workers. Various ministers in succession have had charge of the congregation, namely, the Rev. Messrs Tinsley, Harris, Nixon, Jones, Guy, Boothroy, Laycock, Ward, Potter, Nixon, Raine, and Sharp. The present minister is the Rev. W. S. Potter, who preaches to a large congregation, in addition to four other congregations with which the church is associated. There is an excellent schoolroom occupied by a flourishing Sunday school, under the superintendence of Mr. E. Williams. The parsonage which adjoins the church cost over £300, and the total valuation of the church property is estimated at about £1,800.
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The Rev. William Smith Potter
              
             
 has been associated with the Primitive Methodist Church from his childhood; he has spent the last twenty-four years of his life in the work of the active ministry, and has laboured on several important stations. Mr. Potter was born at Hoxton, London, on the 5th of November, 1854, the day when the Battle of Inkerman was fought. Four years afterwards his parents left England for New Zealand, and arrived in Auckland in October, 1858. Mr. Potter's connection with the Church dates back to the year 1859, when he was taken as a scholar to the Edwardes Street (now Alexandra Street) Sunday school, of which he became in later years a teacher, librarian, and secretary, holding the latter office for five years. He was converted in March, 1870, and became a member of the Connexion. In 1872 he took a trip to England for the benefit of his health, and when he arrived in New Zealand he was in the enjoyment of the most robust health. After some hesitation he took part in the teaching of the Sunday school, in which his work proved to be a preparation for a wider sphere of usefulness, as the quarterly meeting of his station, recognising in him the gifts of a preacher, appointed him to accompany the late Mr. T. H. Smith to his preaching appointments. Previous to this he had commenced the study of theology, and had also received lessons in English under Mr. E. M. C. Harrison. In 1876 he was called to the ministry, and received his first appointment to the Greendale station in Canterbury. Since then he has served successively on the Wellington, Dunedin, Auckland first station, Thames, Wellington, Christchurch, Auckland second, New Plymouth, and is again on the Auckland second station. After his return to Auckland in 1897, he ministered for two years in the Upper Pitt Street Church, and during his pastorate there the Surrey Hill Mission Hall and the Eden Terrace Church were built, the latter to replace the one previously destroyed by fire. Mr. Potter devoted great energy to their building. He took charge of his present church in March, 1900. In 1881 he was married to Miss Dixon, who shared with him the labours of the ministry until her death in 1891. Mr. Potter was married to Miss Pollie Rider in 1893. As a minister of the Gospel he has proved himself to be a diligent pastor; he is also attentive to the business of his churches, and succeeds in interesting the officials and members in the work. As a preacher he is earnest; he holds by the old Methodist doctrines, which he enforces clearly, and he has had the satisfaction of witnessing a number of additions to the membership of the churches which have been placed under his charge. Mr. Potter has been a member of the examining committee for several years, and has filled the offices of general committee delegate, secretary, president, and sub-editor. He was appointed agent to carry out the Jubilee Celebrations, and has gained the goodwill of his brethren by his fidelity and
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perseverance. Mr Potter has twice been elected president of the Conference, and is at present (1901) the occupant of that honourable position.
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Mr. Stanley Dimery
              
              is Organist at the Franklin Road Primitive Methodist Church. He resides in Richmond Road, Ponsonby.
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Auckland Baptist Tabernacle.
              The first Baptist church in Auckland was formed in 1855. Of the fifteen who comprised its membership only two are now (January, 1901) alive; namely, Mr. R. B. Shalders, and Mr. W. Morgan. After many difficulties in the matter of the pastorate, the Rev. P. H. Cornford (now at Napier) took the oversight in 1862. A commodious chapel and school-room were erected in Wellesley Street, and the church flourished under the able ministry of its pastor. In 1876, Mr. Cornford resigned through failing health, leaving a prosperous cause which had more than doubled in numbers under his ministry. He was succeeded by the Rev. Allan W. Webb, from North Adelaide (now of Geelong, Victoria), who remained four years. Under his organising power and untiring energy, churches were formed at Ponsonby, Otahuhu, and Cambridge, and a new building erected for the branch church at Mt. Eden. Several agencies were formed, which did excellent outside work, such as the Young Christians' band, Bible classes, visiting, preaching, tract and other associations. Under his care the church added to its membership nearly 200 persons. On Mr. Webb's retirement, Rev. Thomas Spurgeon, who was visiting New Zealand, accepted the pastorate. The chapel at Wellesley Street being too small for the growing attendance, the Choral Hall was secured for evening services, and was crowded to overflowing. It was then decided to build a more commodious place of worship with school, bible-class, vestry, committee rooms, and other accommodation for the more successful carrying on of a church which had then risen to a membership of nearly 600. A splendid site of nearly an acre of ground was bought at the corner of Upper Queen Street and Karangahape Road. Owing to the donations of friends, the liberality of the members in continuous giving, a lecturing tour in Great Britain by the pastor, and the sale of the old church and premises, a magnificent building capable of seating 1,500 persons was erected, furnished, and opened free of debt at a cost of £14,000. During Rev. Thomas Spurgeon's pastorate the church and its agencies increased in members and influence and became the largest in the Australasian Colonies, having a membership of nearly 800. Owing to the ill-health of himself and wife, Mr. Spurgeon resigned the pastorate to the regret not only of his church but also the public of New Zealand. For a time he became travelling evangelist for the Baptist Union of this Colony. The change of work and travel secured to him a larger measure of good health and after supplying the Tabernacle at intervals, he left for England on the death of his father, the Rev. Charles Haddon Spurgeon, and succeeded to the pastorate of the Metropolitan Tabernacle of London. The rev. Wm. Birch, of Manchester, succeeded Mr. Spurgeon; but owing to differences with the church in doctrine and practice he occupied the position for less than two years. For a period of eighteen months the pulpit was supplied by ministers who willingly came on invitation from the church officers. In 1892, the Rev. James Blakle, of Victoria, succeeded to the pastorate and ably filled the position till 1896, when he resigned on account of ill-health. Rev. E. H. Soper, who came to the Colony to recruit his health supplied the pulpit for seven months. By this time on account of the many changes in the pastorate the membership was reduced to some 500 members and the congregation was similarly affected. At this juncture the church appealed to its late pastor the Rev. Thomas Spurgeon to secure a suitable minister. This appeal resulted in the acceptance of the pastorate by the Rev. Joseph Clark of Nottingham, England, who arrived in May, 1897. Since his advent, the church has increased in members and the congregation has been considerably augmented. Interest has increased, agencies have revived, and some of the vigour and activity of the years when Mr. Spurgeon was pastor are to be seen and realised. Mr. Clark is a man of many excellent gifts and under his ministry there is no doubt the church will regain its premier position and become a power for good in Auckland and the Colony.
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Rev. Joseph Clark,
             
 late of Nottingham, but now Pastor of Auckland Tabernacle, was born in London, on 5th May, 1853. While yet a lad, his father removed from London to a farm in Essex, so that he had an early experience of both town and country life, which no doubt helped to qualify him for his future career. Pastor Clark was brought up in the tenets of the Church of England and sang in a Church choir. He also devoted a great deal of his leisure time to athletics and gained several prizes in his youth. Pastor Clark's conversion which resulted in his entering the Baptist Church was caused by several memorable experiences. Two narrow escapes from drowning, the request of his dying mother and, finally, the preaching of Dr. Hugh Allen, decided him to devote his life to Christ. Owing to his connection with the Established Church, Mr. Clark was slow to renounce the teaching of his youth, but being driven out by Ritualism, he left the Church and attended the evening classes at the Metropolitan Tabernacle, under the tuition of Professor Fergusson and Mr. Johnson. Upon his marriage and removal to Clapham, he became associated with
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Pastor E. Henderson, of Victoria Chapel, Wandsworth, who baptised him and received him into fellowship. In the meantime he continued his connection with mercantile



pursuits at Clapham, and in the City, at the same time pursuing his studies at the City of London College. When he joined the Metropolitan Tabernacle he became a member of the country mission and was one of the first preachers sent by that organization to Thornton Heath. At the request of the late Rev. Charles Spurgeon, he went to Teddington and laboured there with great success. His next step was to take charge of the new church at Norbiton, which proved too small for the increasing congregations, so that the Public Hall had to be engaged. He then entered the Pastor's College and worked hard as student and pastor for three years. On entering the College he had a most liberal offer made to him by a mercantile firm in the City, but after earnest and careful consideration he decided to throw in his lot with the Baptist ministry. On the recommendation of the late Rev. Chas. Spurgeon, he was appointed to the Nottingham Tabernacle, where he laboured with the greatest success, until his acceptance of the pastorate of the Auckland Tabernacle.
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Mr. Henry Wells,
              officiating Organist at the Baptist Tabernacle, is an accountant by profession.
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                The Ponsonby Baptist Church
              
              is situated at the corner of Jervois Road and Seymour Street. The church was founded in 1880, and the Rev. Charles Carter, formerly a missionary in Ceylon, was the first oniciating minister. He was followed some years later by the Rev. J. Hughes Jones, during whose ministry the present church was erected in 1886. The foundation stone was laid by Dr. Kenderdine. Seating accommodation is provided for 400 worshippers, and the cost of the church, exclusive of the site, was about £1000. The Rev. J. Hughes Jones was followed by the Rev. J. G. Gilmour, and in 1893 the present minister succeeded to the charge.
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The Rev. Archibald Henry Collins,
              Minister of the Ponsonby Baptist Church, was born in Worcester, England, in 1853, and educated in his native town. He studied for the ministry, and went to London, where he completed his college course. Then he settled at Milton, Oxfordshire, where he ministered for three years. At the request of the late Rev. C. H. Spurgeon he went to Birmingham, where for over twelve years he held the charge of the Selly Park Baptist Church. Owing to failing health, Mr. Collins decided to come to New Zealand, and a few weeks prior to his departure he received by cable a call to the Ponsonby Baptist Church, which he accepted. Mr. Collins was for seven years secretary to the Baptist Union, but resigned the office in November, 1900, when he was appointed president. He has been chairman of the Conciliation Board for the Northern Industrial District for the past four years, and is also secretary of the Evangelical Christian Church Council. In 1881 he married a daughter of Mr. John Fowler Maddox, J.P., of Shipton-under-Wychwood, Oxfordshire, and has a family of four children.
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Mr. Fred May,
              Organist of the Baptist Church, Ponsonby, is associated with the firm of Messrs May Bros., storekeepers, Ponsonby.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Beresford Street Congregational Church



            
            


              
Beresford Street Congregational Church.
              This church was founded in March, 1852, under the pastorate of the late Rev. Thomas Hamer, of Manchester. For a time members worshipped in a building called the Shamrock Cottage, situated in Albert Street. The first building was erected close by in 1854. It was built of wood, and was called the Albert Street Congregational Church. The building was sold when the present Beresford Street Church—the first concrete building in Auckland—was erected in 1876. In 1881 the galleries were constructed, and in 1884 a further enlargement was effected in the erection of the organ loft for one of Messrs Lewis and Son's celebrated organs, and also vestries for the pastor and deacons, and class-rooms. The church seats 850 persons, and is one of the prettiest places of worship in the Colony, externally with its Doric architecture, and inside with its galleries and pews, the latter arranged in circular tiers, so that each member of the congregation sits directly facing the minister. The accoustic properties of the church are perfect. The church, together with the manse and land, is valued at £5250, and the latter at £1050, and the whole of the church property (which is all freehold) throughout the province of Auckland is valued at £14,735. Incidentally, it may be mentioned that the first Congregational Church in Auckland was built in High Street in 1851 by the Rev. Alexander Macdonald, and existed until 1872. Since the resignation of the Rev. T. Hamer, in 1866, the following ministers have successively held the Beresford Street charge:—The Rev. Warlow Davies, Joseph Robertson, James Chew, George Burgess, and Joseph Parker. Mr. Parker resigned in May, 1890, and after that the charge was vacant; but the Rev. John Wilkins, of Marlborough Church, Old Kent Road, London, left England in January, 1901, for New Zealand, to take charge of the church.
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Mr W. J. Hookey,
              Organist of the Beresford Street Congregational Church, is a draughtsman with the Auckland Gas Company.
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The Newton Congregational Church,
              Edinburgh Street, Auckland, was founded in 1864. Of those who attended the first meeting many are dead, and only two now remain in Auckland, namely, Mrs E. Wood, and the widow of the first minister. The first building erected was of Gothic design; it cost £900, and was opened in 1865. During the violence of a furious gale in 1871, the church was blown down and destroyed. The present church was started almost immediately after, and opened in the latter part of the same year. It has three large class-rooms, and a minister's vestry, all comfortably furnished, and seating accommodation is provided for 600 persons. The Rev. Thomas Booker, who came out with the Albertland settlers, was the first minister, and held the pastorate for three years. There was then an interregnum of fifteen years, when the Rev. Thomas Adams took the charge, and held it for four years. Mr. Adams was succeeded by the Rev. H. J. Lewis, who was succeeded in 1894 by the Rev. F. Warner, who resigned in October, 1900. Since then the charge has been vacant. The Sunday school, which is well attended, is held in the church, and contains a library of 600 volumes. Mrs E. Wood has been connected with the school since its inception, and her husband, Mr. Enoch Wood, for the last thirty-five years. He has been superintendent of the school since 1870.
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Mr. Enoch Wood
              
              has filled the position of Organist at the Newton Congregational Church for thirty years, and still acts in that capacity in conjunction with Miss Edith Stewart. Mr. Wood carries on business as a butcher in Symonds Street.
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                The Church Of Christ
              
              was founded in Auckland by Mr. G. A. Brown, who, with a few others, met for worship in the Temperance Hall, Albert Street, on the 1st of November, 1880. This gathering increased to forty-seven members by the end of the year, and the roll now contains 300 members. The Sunday school was started with thirty scholars, and has increased to 280. In 1881 the Choral Hall was engaged for services, and five years later the Opera House was taken, and services were held there for two years. Subsequently the church established itself in the Foresters' Hall, Karangahape Road. The present building, which is situated in West Street, a few yards from Karangahape Road, was opened in August, 1898. The main portion of the building stands upon brick foundations, and the interior measurement is 72 feet by 49 feet. Under the gallery there is a separate room, used for small meetings, and under the wings of the gallery there are two class rooms. Seating accommodation is provided for 500 persons. The building is of a handsome design, and cost, with the site, about £1600.
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Mr. George Aldridge,
              the Preacher in charge of this church, was born in 1854, in Suffolk, England, and educated at a village school. At the age of nine years he was sent to work on a farm, but afterwards entered the employment of a Yorkshire firm, with whom he remained until his call to the ministry in New Zealand. After ministering in a branch church in Waikato for two years, he was appointed to his present charge in 1884.
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Auckland Hebrew Congregation.
              Amongst the earliest founders of this congregation was the late Mr. David Nathan, who, with his wife, arrived in 1839 from England, via the Bay of Islands. He was the father of Messrs L. D. and N. Alfred Nathan. Other early settlers were Mr. Henry Keesing and family, Mr. Samuel Brown, Mr. P. A. Philips. Mr. Charles Davis, and others. Sabbath and festival prayers were at first read in Mr. Nathan's residence, and a room was afterwards fitted up for the purpose in his store. Afterwards a lease was taken of an allotment and building in course of construction in Emily Place, at the top of Shortland Street; the premises were subsequently purchased and ultimately sold to advantage. For a time the congregation depended upon the assistance of Messrs C. Davis, R. Keesing, and a very good Hebrew scholar and lecturer, the late Mr. P. S. Solomons, at one time Acting-Attorney-General at Fiji. A minister, the Rev. Moses Elkin, selected by the Chief Rabbi in England, was engaged, and arrived with his family early in the fifties, and for many years conducted the services and taught in the Hebrew school to the satisfaction of all the members. Mr. P. A. Philips (first Mayor of Auckland under the Municipal Corporation



Act, 1867, who for about twenty-five years was either president, treasurer, or secretary of the congregation, in conjunction with the late Mr. David Nathan and the late Mr. Charles Davis, tried to obtain a free site for a synagogue from the Government, and after repeated and persistent applications, Mr. Philips succeeded in obtaining from the Government (Mr Weld being Premier) a site in Alten Road. This site was afterwards exchanged with the City Council for the present admirable position in Princes Street, next to the Northern Club. The erection of the present synagogue was then taken in hand, and the foundation stone was laid by the late Mr. David Nathan. After Mr. Elkin resigned his office as minister, and returned to England, there was an interregnum, and then the Rev. S. Goldstein was appointed, and has continued to fill the position with satisfaction to the community and credit to himself. At present (1900) the officers of the congregation are:—Mr N. Alfred Nathan, president; Mr. Sydney J. Nathan, treasurer; and Mr. W. M. Neumegen, solicitor, secretary. As a building the Hebrew Synagogue is an ornament to Auckland. The Hebrew school attached to the Synagogue, always a distinct feature in a Hebrew community, has been successful in training the young in the tenets, duties, and obligations of their religion. The teachers are honorary, and at present consist of Mr. Claude Moses, Miss Hart, and the Rev. S. Goldstein.
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The Rev. Samuel Aaron Goldstein,
              the Rabbi of the Auckland Jewish Congregation, was born in London, in 1855. He was educated at the Jews' College, London, the principal Jewish institution in Great Britain for the training of rabbis. Mr. Goldstein was placed in charge of two Hebrew schools, one belonging to the Jewish congregation at Middlesboro', Yorkshire, and the other at West Hartlepool, England. He was ordained at the early age of twenty-two, and was appointed Rabbi to the Hebrew congregation at Toowoomba, Queensland, where he remained for three or four years. After filling a similar position at West Maitland, New South Wales, he accepted a unanimous call to Auckland, where he has now (1901) been actively engaged for over twenty-one years. During his residence in Auckland, the beautiful new synagogue has been erected. Mr. Goldstein is acting-chairman of the Society for the Protection of Women and Children, and was one of the founders of the old Societe Literaire Francaise, which has been superseded by L'Alliance Francaise.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Salvation Army



            
            


              
The Salvation Army,
              although it has been only thirty-three years in existence, is now carrying on its work throughout the entire world. It holds annually over 3,000,000 services, attended by nearly 5,000,000 people every week. Its campaign in Auckland was started about 1882–3. The Barracks are situated in Albert Street, and consist of a substantial brick building, containing the divisional offices in the front portion. Seating accommodation is provided in the hall and on the platform for 800 people, and the building is lighted with incandescent gas lamps. Corps of the Army have been established at Aratapu, Coromandel, Cambridge, Devonport, Eltham, Hamilton, Hawera, Inglewood, Kawakawa, Newton, New Plymouth, Onehunga, Otahuhu, Paeroa, Parnell, Patea, Pukekohe, Rahota, Stratford, Thames, Waihi, Warkworth, Whangarei, and Waitara. There are also Maori corps with officers working among the Maoris, and forty-seven outposts. These, with the city corps, comprise the Auckland division, in which (1901) there are fifty-six officers, 901 soldiers, and eighty-six recruits. The self-denial effort on behalf of the social homes, Maori and other mission work, resulted in £1750 16s 10d being raised in 1900, an increase of £184 on the total of 1899. A large portion of this amount was devoted to the relief of the Indian Famine, and also to assist old and worn-out officers. The Army possesses an excellent band, consisting of twenty-four members, under Bandmaster Herbert Tremaine. The playing is a credit to the corps, and is always enjoyed by the public. Some of the bandsmen are formed into an effective singing company. The whole of the Auckland division is under the command of Major and Mrs Bennett.
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                Major Bennett
              
              was born in Devonshire, England, and was trained to take charge of ordinary corps work in the London Training Home for cadets. He was appointed to his first corps at the meeting at which Captain Pollard and Lieutenant Wright received the flag from the hands of the late Mrs Booth, with orders to proceed to, and open the Army work in New Zealand. Major Bennett held appointments in five English towns—namely Paignton, Truro, St. Mary's Church, St. Just, and Camborne. From Camborne he was transferred by General Booth to Australia, and had charge successively in Newtown, Goulburn, Newcastle, Albury, Sydney, Tamworth, and Collingwood. Under his direction the condition of the Salvation Army's affairs in those cities greatly improved. At Collingwood he was promoted to the rank of staff captain and sent to take the oversight of operations in Tasmania, and ever since has held the position of a divisional officer. From Tasmania he was transferred to the Geelong division, thence to divisional commands in South Australia and New South Wales, whence he was appointed to the Dunedin division, where he was most successful, and was promoted to the rank of Major. After two years in Dunedin Major Bennett was transferred to his present appointment in charge of the Auckland division.
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                Mrs Bennett
              
              is an English officer of much experience, having been stationed at many large towns in the old land, with great success. She is most assiduous in her public and private work, and frequently accompanies her husband on his tours throughout the province.
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Adjutant Tyler,
              the Officer-in-charge of the Auckland City Corps, was born in Launceston, Tasmania. He has been an officer of the Army for over fifteen years, and has been most successful in carrying on its work in New Zealand and Australia. He is one of the trophies of the Army, having been redeemed from a life which was the antipodes of that which he now leads. Adjutant Tyler was stationed successively in Dunedin and Christchurch, prior to being transferred to Auckland.
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The Theosophical Society,
              Mutual Life Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. The Theosophical Society was formed at New York on the 17th of November, 1875, by Colonel Olcott and Madame Blavatsky. Its founders believed that the best interests of religion and science would be promoted by the revival of Sanskrit, Pali, Zend, and other ancient literature, in which the sages and initiates had preserved for the use of mankind truths of the highest value respecting man and nature.



The objects of the Society are: (1) to form a nucleus of the Universal Brotherhood of Humanity, without distinction of race, creed, sex, caste, or colour; (2) to encourage the study of comparative religion, philosophy, and science; and (3) to investigate unexplained laws of nature and the powers latent in man. No person's religious opinions are asked upon his joining, nor is interference with them permitted, but every one is required, before admission, to promise to show towards his fellow members the same tolerance in this respect as he claims for himself. As a body, the Society eschews politics and all subjects outside its declared sphere of work, and the rules stringently forbid members to compromise its strict mentality in these matters. The headquarters are at Adyar, a suburb of Madras, India. Up to the 27th of December, 1899, 570 charters for branches had been issued. Each branch frames its own by-laws and manages its own local business without interference from headquarters, provided that the fundamental rules of the Society are not violated. In New Zealand an attempt was made to establish a branch in 1888, at Wellington, but it ultimately became inactive. A more successful effort was made in Auckland in November, 1891, and since then the work and teachings of the Society have spread over the whole Colony. The general secretaries for New Zealand are Messrs C. W. Sanders and F. Davidson.
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The French epigram has it that Englishmen take their pleasure sadly; but, however true this may be generally, it does not apply to the people of Auckland. Owing to climatic influences the Aucklanders are rather less energetic than their brothers in the southern and more bracing parts of the colony, but they are, nevertheless, a pleasure-loving people, and in matters of social entertainment and sports of all kinds they evince an interest greater than that shown in any other part of New Zealand. Auckland is surrounded by many beautiful pleasure resorts, which are easily accessible by steamers, and on holidays these places are visited by thousands of people, and the accommodation of the various shipping companies is taxed to the utmost to convey the picnic and pleasure parties on their various excursions. During the summer months yachting is the favourite pastime, and it is one for which the placid waters of the land-locked Hauraki Gulf are especially suitable. The various clubs and social organizations of the city of Auckland are noticed in this section.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Clubs



            
Clubs.

            

              
              

                

                  The Northern Club
                
               
 was founded in August, 1869, and ever since its inception has held the premier place in the social life of the city. At the first meeting, which was held at Mr. Stannus Jones's office in Queen Street, it was decided to form the club under rules similar to those of the Army and Navy Club, London, and the Union Club, Sydney. Amongst the first officers elected were the Hon. J. Williamson, M.L.C., president; Mr. G. B. Owen, vice-president; and Captain Burton J. Daveney, secretary; and many influential citizens of Auckland were members. The building still occupied by the club in Princes Street was bought; it had been originally built as an hotel, and was then in the occupation of the Provincial Government. Extensive alterations were made, and the club opened with a grand dinner on the 1st of January, 1870. The building, which is constructed of brick, stands on one of the most commanding sites of Auckland, and overlooks the city and harbour. It is of three stories, on the Princes Street frontage, and four on the frontages to Victoria Street and Bank Street. In 1884 additions were made, and the building was extended considerably at the rear. The dining room, which is probably the largest club


[image: Northern Club.]

Northern Club.


dining room in the colony, is situated on the ground floor, and so are the wine and smoking rooms, the secretary's office, and the lavatories. The fine billiard room, which contains two of Alcock's tables, the card and reading rooms, and the library are on the first floor; the bedrooms are situated on the two top floors, whence some splendid views of the city and harbour are obtainable. Many distinguished visitors to the colony have been the guests of the club, which entertained Admiral Hornby and the officers of the fleet when the Flying Squadron visited Auckland in 1870. The Duke of Edinburgh was also the club's guest on the occasion of his visit to New Zealand. The “Northern” is a residential club, and the number of members on the roll is now 146. Mr. John Menzies is secretary and manager, and the property is managed by trustees.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. John Menzies,
               
 Secretary and Manager of the Northern Club, is a native of Perthshire, Scotland, and received his
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education in the city of Perth. He came to New Zealand in 1876, when he joined his uncle, who then occupied the City Club Hotel, Auckland. In conjunction with his uncle Mr. Menzies successfully conducted several hotels in the city, and subsequently the Tauranga Hotel, Tauranga, better known as Menzies' Hotel, and while there he made himself extremely popular amongst the travellers and settlers of the district. In 1887 Mr. Menzies took over the management



of Lake House, Rotorua, for the trustees of the late Mr. Robert Graham, and retained the position until he accepted the management of the Northern Club in 1888. As a Freemason Mr. Menzies is a P.M. of Lodge Tauranga, I.C., and is now a member of Lodge St. Andrew, S.C. He is also a member of the Auckland Yacht Club and Bowling Club.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Club.
               —This club was established in 1877 in a small building on its present site in Shortland Street. The property adjoining, extending through to Fort Street, was ultimately acquired and the present building was erected. The Auckland Club is a residential club, with a membership of over 250. The building is constructed of brick, and has a frontage of 66 feet in Shortland Street. On the top floor there are ten bedrooms, a large billiard room containing two tables, and card and reading rooms; the dining room, two smoking rooms, strangers' room, inner and outer hall, and offices are on the ground floor. The first members of the club were Messrs William Aitken, H. Brett, J. H. V. Coates, F. Earl, S. Hesketh, G. S. Kissling, W. R. Mowbray, and W. McLaughlin. In May, 1900, the front portion of the building was destroyed by fire, but it has since been re-built, and the extensive alterations made add greatly to the comfort and convenience of the members. The officers are: Mr. F. Earl, president; Mr W. Aitken, vice-president; Messrs G. S. Kissling, A. E. Devore, and H. F. Anderson, trustees.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Angus W. Gordon,
                Secretary and Manager of the Auckland Club, is a native of Aldershot, England. He has held important positions in the Civil Service, and prior to taking up his present duties in 1899, he was for some time town clerk at Onehunga.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Working Men's Club and Literary Institute,
                Darby Street, Auckland.—The officers for 1991 are: Mr. Charles S. Wright, president; Mr. E. W. Page, vice-president; Mr. Peter Dignan, treasurer; Mr. Charles Chambers, secretary; Messrs A. R. Tyler, H. Coates, H. Moody, W. Harkins, C. Smith, A. L. Edwards, and J. Scott, committee. The Auckland Working Men's Club was established about 1875, when two rooms of the present building were sufficient for the use of members. The members now number over 500, and the club occupies the whole of the second and third floor of the building. A plentiful variety of periodicals and newspapers is regularly kept in the library, which is on the third floor; the second floor is divided into card, chess, and social rooms; and the billiard room contains two first-rate tables for the use of members.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Albert J. Woodley,
                the Manager of the Auckland Working Men's Club, is a native of Dunedin, and after leaving school served his time as a saddler. He afterwards turned his attention to hotel keeping and has occupied leading hotels in Dunedin, Ashburton, Wellington, and other towns. Mr. Woodley was appointed manager of Tattersall's Club in 1896, and held the position until he entered on his present duties in 1900.
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The Masonic Institute,
                at which visiting Freemasons are cordially welcomed, is situated at the corner of Queen and Durham Streets. A large billiard room, fitted up with two tables, adjoins the bar; there is also a card room, and the reading room is supplied with English and Colonial papers and periodicals. The officers for 1901 are: Mr W. H. Cooper, president; Mr. W. H. Johnson, treasurer; Mr. F. Simmonds, secretary and steward.
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Orders and Friendly Societies.

            

              
Masonic.

              

                

                  
                  


                    
District Grand Lodge Of Antient Free And Accepted Masons,
                    English Constitution; Brother C. C. McMillan, District Grand Master. This Lodge was inaugurated in 1877, and the late Brother G. S. Graham was the first District Grand Master. The office of Deputy District Grand Master, so ably filled by Dr. F. W. E. Dawson, was rendered vacant by his death on the 21st of October, 1900. The remaining officers for 1900–1901 are: Bro. H. F. Windsor, D.G. senior warden; Bro. J. R. Reed, D.G. junior warden; Rev. Canon Nelson, D.G. chaplain; Bro. Arthur Wright, D.G. treasurer; Bro. James Armstrong, D.G. registrar; Bro. J. P. Clark, D.G. secretary. The meetings are held quarterly in the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, on the first Tuesday in the months of March, June, September, and December.

                

                

                  
                  


                    

Mr. John Potter Clark,
                    P.D.G.S.W., Deputy District Grand Master of the District Grand Lodge of Mark Master Masons, Scribe E. of the Auckland Royal Arch Chapter, and District Grand Secretary of the English Constitution, was born in Monmouthshire, Wales, in 1821. He arrived in Australia in 1854, and seven years later came over to Otago on the outbreak of the gold rush. There he engaged in the carrying trade for about three years, when he removed to Auckland, and his horses and waggons were purchased by the Government. Mr. Clark was then appointed by the Provincial Government to manage the tramways at the Thames, and was afterwards employed by the General Government for ten years in the railway department. In 1877 he was initiated as a Mason in the Prince of Wales Lodge, 1338, E.C.; he afterwards passed through all the chairs of that Lodge, and occupied the office of worshipful master for three years in succession. He has also passed through all the offices of the District Grand Lodge, Royal Arch Chapter, and District Grand Lodge of Mark Master Masons. In 1889 he was appointed to his present position of District Grand Secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    

                      The Board Of General Purposes
                    
                    (Brother Stephen Gilbert, Provincial District Grand President). This Board meets quarterly in the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, on the last Friday in the months of January, April, July, and October.

                

                

                  
                  

                    

Mr. Moritz Samuel Leers,
                   
 the first Provincial District Grand President of the Board of General Purposes (public accountant, Legal Chambers, Queen Street), was born at Emden, Hanover, in 1825. Mr. Leers was educated at public and private schools, and subsequently entered the firm of Messrs. D. and F. Oppenhelm, merchants, Hamburg, where he remained for
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nearly five years. In 1849, he left for New York and engaged in mercantile pursuits for three years, principally in connection with the firm of Messrs. Elias and Co., Roan County, North Carolina. He went to Melbourne in 1853, nine years later to Dunedin, and to Auckland in 1864, where he has followed his profession ever since. Bro. Leers is one of the oldest Masons in Auckland, having been initiated in Lodge Collingwood 1029 E.C. Victoria in 1857, and affiliated into Ledge Carlton 380 I.C. Melbourne, of which he was afterwards Worshipful Master. He took his Mark and Royal Arch degrees in 1860. He was past grand deacon of the



Irish Constitution of Victoria till 1862. During his residence in Dunedin Bro. Leers became one of the first members of Lodge Dunedin E.C. He also founded and was the first worshipful master of Port Chalmers Marine Lodge E.C., and was its first preceptor of instructions, which position he has filled in other parts of New Zealand. In 1864 he joined the Lodge Waitemata 689 E.C. Auckland, and three years afterwards, founded Lodge Prince of Wales 1338 E.C. of which he is P.M. and was its secretary for many years. About 1876 Bro. Leers was appointed by the then District Grand Master of the North Island of New Zealand, E.C. (the late Sir Donald McLean) as his deputy to consecrate the following Lodges, viz.:—Corinthian, Thames, Remuera, Rodney, Warkworth, and Sir George's, Dargaville. On the 4th of December, 1878, he was appointed Provincial District Grand President, by the late Bro. G. S. Graham, District Grand Master, and held the office for two years. Mr. Leers was married in 1876 to Miss Kathleen McCloy, of Larn, Belfast, Ireland.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Auckland Royal Arch Chapter,
                    No. 1338 (Ex. Comp. G. Mueller, M.E.Z.). This chapter meets at the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, on the Thursday after full moon, in February, April, June, August, October, and December.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
District Grand Lodge Of Mark Master Masons.
                    The late Dr. F. W. E. Dawson held the office of District Grand Mark Master at the time of his death. Bro. J. P. Clark is the Deputy D.G.M.M., and Bro. William Rylance, the District Grand Secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
The Union Lodge Of Mark Master Masons,
                    No. 154, meets at the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, on the second Tuesday in each month, at 7.30 p.m. Officers for 1901: Bro. G. Mueller, W.M.; Bro. G. W. S. Patterson, S.W.; Bro. James Foster, J.W.; Bro. E. Auger, secretary and registrar of marks.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Newton Lodge Of Mark Master Masons,
                    No. 280. This lodge meets at the Masonic Hall, Karangahape Road, on the third Tuesday in each month. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. A. G. Baddiley, W.M.; Bro. William Rylance, S.W.; Bro. W. D. Bush, J.W.; Bro. Thomas Wigg, secretary; Bro. H. Robinson, P.M., treasurer.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Southern Cross Chapter Of Rose Croix,
                    No. 88. This chapter meets at the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, on the third Friday in the months of January, April, July, and October. The officers for 1901 are Bro. C. D. Grey, M.W.S.; Bro. H. D. Heather, P.M.W.S.; Bro. A. Brock, P.M., recorder and treasurer.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Waitemata Lodge,
                    No. 689, was founded in 1856. Meetings are held at the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, on the third Monday in each month. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. H. Hall, W.M.; Bro. W. H. Grove, S.W.; Bro. J. McCullough, J.W.; Bro. W. A. Fenton, P.M., treasurer; Bro. C. D. Grey, secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Prince Of Wales Lodge,
                    No. 1338. This lodge meets on the Thursday of, or before, full moon, at the Freemason' Hall, Princes Street. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. James Lockie, W.M.; Bro. James Foster, S.W.; Bro. William H. Bartlett, J.W.; Bro. Josiah Martin, P.M., chaplain; Bro. Henry Fletcher Windsor, P.M., treasurer; Bro. John Potter Clark, P.M., secretary. The Lodge of Instruction meets at the Freemasons' Hall every Tuesday evening.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Eden Lodge,
                    No. 1530, was founded in 1875. The monthly meetings are held in the Masonic Hall, Karangahape Road, on the fourth Tuesday in each month. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. William Rylance, W.M.; Bro. James Hill, S.W.; Bro. Thomas Wigg, J.W.; Bro. C. W. A. Cox, treasurer; Bro. H. Robinson, P.M., secretary.

                

              

              

                
Irish Constitution.

                

                  
                  


                    
Provincial Grand Lodge Of New Zealand.
                    This Grand Lodge was founded in November, 1865. The quarterly meetings are held generally in Auckland, in the months of January, April, July, and October. The annual meeting is held in October. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. W. J. Rees, Right Worshipful Provincial Grand Master; Bro. J. Finlay, D.P.G.M.; Bro. N. J. M. Rein, P.G.I.; Bro. A. Sinclair, P.S.G.W.; Bro. H. Hammond, P.J.G.W.; Bro. J. R. Hanna, secretary and treasurer.

                

                

                  
                  

                    

Mr. William Joseph Rees,
                   
 Provincial Grand Master of New Zealand, Irish Constitution, was initiated in the United
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Mr. 
W. J. Rees.


Service Lodge 421 I.C., Auckland, in September, 1868, and passed the various offices in that lodge. He afterwards affiliated with Ara Lodge 348 I.C., filling the chair in 1874, and has been ever since closely identified with that lodge. Bro. Rees was a foundation member of the Prince of Wales Lodge, 1338 E.C., constituted in 1872. He passed the chairs of the Mark Royal Arch and Rose Croix (1872–1877), but has for many years ceased active connection with those degrees. In 1877, while absent from the Colony, Mr. Rees was appointed provincial grand secretary, afterwards accepting the office of provincial grand treasurer to extricate the provincial Grand Lodge from the financial difficulties into which it had been allowed to drift. He held these offices till 1888, a period of eleven years, when severe and protracted illness compelled his retirement from the craft. At the request of Bro. G. P. Pierce, then Provincial Grand Master, Bro. Rees resumed office a few years later, as the Provincial Grand secretary had levanted from the Colony and the affairs of the Provincial Grand lodge were again complicated. Upon the sudden death of Bro. Pierce in 1891, the Most Worshipful Grand Master, the Duke of Abercorn, cabled out the appointment of Bro. Rees as Provincial Grand Master, the patent of appointment being dated January 20, 1892. Bro. Rees has, all through, been opposed to masonic autonomy in New Zealand, deeming the multiplicity of grand lodges a source of weakness and depreciation to the order.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Lodge Ara,
                    No. 348. This lodge has the distinction of being the oldest Masonic Lodge in New Zealand, its date of foundation being September, 1842. The monthly meetings are held at the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, on the first Monday of the month, except January, when no meeting is held. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. F. Prime, W.M.; Bro. F. A. Clark, S.W.; Bro. S. G. Lee, J.W.; Bro. E. R. Piggott, P.M., treasurer; Bro. F. J. Whitaker, P.M., secretary.

                

              

              

                
Scottish Constitution.

                

                  
                  


                    
Provincial Grand Lodge, North Island Of New Zealand.
                    This Lodge meets quarterly at the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, in the months of January, April, July, and October. The Right Worshipful Provincial Grand Master is the Hon. W. McCullough and Bro. W. Caron, P.M., is the secretary and treasurer.

                

                

                  
                  

                    

Mr. William Anderson,
                   
 Right Worshipful Provincial Grand Master Deputy, Scotch Constitution of North Island, was initiated into Freemasonry in 1853 in Lodge “Ayr, St. Paul's,” No. 204, Scotland. He was shortly afterwards affiliated to Lodge “Royal Arch,” Ayr, No. 165, and held office in that lodge as junior and senior warden for seven years. He assisted at several public functions when Sir James Fergusson, afterwards Governor of New Zealand, was Provincial Grand Master for Ayrshire; amongst these were the laying of the foundation stone of Ayr hospital, the unvelling of the Taylor Monument, and the Burns' Anniversary celebration in 1859. Mr. Anderson left Scotland for New Zealand in 1862, and arrived in Auckland on the 7th of February, 1863 (the day H.M.S. “Orphens” was wrecked on the Manukau bar). Joining Lodge St. Andrew, No. 418 (S.C.), on arrival, he was elected Worshipful Master of the Lodge in 1872, and filled that office for two years. When the Provincial Grand Lodge (S.C.) was opened in Auckland in 1878, he was appointed Substitute Past Grand Master by Sir Frederick Whitaker, Provincial Grand Master. Mr. Anderson held this appointment



until 1884, when he resigned to accept the position of first Right Worshipful Master of Lodge Ponsonby, No. 708. He occupied the Chair of that lodge for four consecutive
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W. Anderson.


years, and in 1890 was re-elected to that honourable position. On the demise of Sir Frederick Whitaker, and the appointment of the Hon. W. McCullough as Right Worshipful Provincial Grand Master, Mr. Anderson was appointed by the latter to the office he still retains. The degrees in Freemasonry which he has taken are the three degrees in Blue Masonry, the Mark Degree, and the Royal Arch. Mr. Anderson served in the Militia during the Maori troubles of 1863–4, and was afterwards for twenty-one years in the Engineer Volunteer Corps, in which he obtained the rank of major. By profession he is a civil engineer, and was for over thirty years, up till November, 1899, City Engineer in Auckland.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Lodge St. Andrew,
                    No. 418. The monthly meetings of this lodge are held at the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, on the fourth Monday in each month. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. W. E. Haslam, W.M.; Bro. J. A. Woodward, S.W.; Bro. G. Plummer, J.W.; Bro. T. N. Baker, secretary and treasurer.

                

                

                  
                  


                    

Mr. Christopher James Parr,
                    Worshipful Past Master of Lodge St. Andrew, 418 Scotch Constitution, is a solicitor at 103 and 104 Victoria Arcade, and is elsewhere referred to as a member of the Auckland City Council.

                

                

                  
                  


                    

Mr. Charles Frederick Griffiths,
                    who was elected Worshipful Master of Lodge St. Andrew, 418 S.C., Auckland, in January, 1897, was born at Geelong, Victoria, in 1853. He is the son of Mr. Albert Griffiths, late of Geelong, in which place he was educated at the Church of England Grammar School and at the Scotch College. He entered the office of Messrs. Woolley and Harwood, solicitors, Geelong, and, removing to New Zealand in the year 1870, was articled to Mr. Edward Bennett, barrister-at-law, of the Middle Temple, London, and late of Auckland. Having finished his articles in the offices of Mr. W. J. Hill and Mr. E. A. MacKechnie, in Auckland, he passed the Civil Service examination in 1878, and two years later was admitted a barrister and solicitor by the late Mr. Justice Richmond. He has since practised his profession in Auckland. Bro. Griffiths was initiated into Freemasonry in 1893, and filled the offices of secretary, deacon, and warden prior to his elevation to the chief chair.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Lodge Ponsonby,
                    No. 708. This Lodge meets at the Masonic Hall, Karangahape Road, on the first Wednesday in each month. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. F. Rundle, W.M.; Bro. T. A. J. Taylor, S.W.; Bro. F. May, J.W.; Bro. H. J. Brewer, P.M., secretary; Bro. W. Fricker, treasurer.

                

              

              

                
New Zealand Constitution.

                

                  
                  


                    
Grand Lodge Of Antient Free And Accepted Masons Of New Zealand.
                    The Grand Lodge of New Zealand is fully referred to on pages 411 and 412 of the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia. Under the New Zealand Constitution there are now 112 lodges, with a total membership of 4500. Bro. A. S. Russell is the Grand Master, and Bro. Malcolm Niccol, Grand Secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    

Mr. Alexander Stuart Russell.
                    Most Worshipful Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of New Zealand, is referred to in another article as manager in Auckland of the South British Fire and Marine Insurance Company.

                

                

                  
                  


                    

Mr. Malcolm Niccol,
                    Grand Secretary of the Grand Lodge of New Zealand, is fully referred to as a member of the Auckland Harbour Board.

                

                

                  
                  

                    
Mr. Alfred Bartlett,
                   
 Worshipful Grand Superintendent of the Auckland Provincial district New Zealand Constitution, was initiated as a Mason in Lodge Ara
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No. 1 (N.Z.C.), in July, 1890, was installed Worshipful Master in 1894, and re-elected the following term. At present he is Immediate Past Master, and also Preceptor of Ara No. 1 lodge of instruction. He has the distinguished honour of being the recipient of the first Master Mason certificate issued by the Grand Lodge of New Zealand. He was advanced and exalted in the Auckland Provincial Royal Arch Chapter No. 9 (N.Z.C.) in 1892, and in 1899 was installed first Principal. Mr. Bartlett was elected Grand Superintendent of the Auckland Provincial District in 1897, and still (1901) holds the office.

                

                

                  
                  

                    

                      
Mr. George Henry Powley
                    
                   
 was accepted in 1874 by Ara, 348, I.C., as a member of the “antient and honourable fraternity.” Ten years afterwards, he having filled every subordinate
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Mr. 
G. H. Powley.


office, the members elected him their Master, and his record is a distinguished one in the Provincial Grand Lodge of Ireland. He rose step by step till he attained the rank of Senior Grand Warden, when he closed his Masonic career under the Irish Constitution by tendering his resignation, and casting in his lot with the Grand Lodge of New Zealand. He was advanced to the Mark in 1875, exalted in 1876, and was annointed King of Ara Chapter in 1888. He became a Knight of the Rose Croix in 1877, and after ten years' probation was elected Most Wise Sovereign. As an earnest believer in Masonic independence and self-government, Mr. Powley took an active part in the Auckland Branch of the Masonic Union, and has been a consistent and loyal supporter of the New Zealand movement since its inception. The Grand Master appointed him Senior Grand Warden on the 6th of July, 1891, and he was elected Grand Z. of the Supreme Grand Chapter of New Zealand in January, 1897, and again in 1898.

                

                

                  


                  
                  


                    
Auckland Provincial Royal Arch Chapter Of Mark Master Masons,
                    No. 9. This Chapter meets on the first Friday in the months of February, April, June, August, October, and December. The installation ceremony takes place in September. Officers for 1901: Bro. H. Collins, Scribe E.; Bro. Alfred Bartlett, Z.; Bro. C. W. Edwards, H.; Bro. Oliver Nicholson, Scribe J.; Bro. F. Kearsley, treasurer.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Lodge Ara,
                    No. 1, was founded on the 5th of September, 1842, and meets every month in the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, Auckland, on the second Wednesday, at 7.30 p.m. The installation takes place in June. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. Rev. H. R. Dewsbury, W.M.; Bro. E. R. Davis, S.W.; Bro. T. U. Wells, J.W.; Bro. J. M. Laxon, P.M., secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Lodge St. Andrew,
                    No. 8, N.Z.C., was founded in 1861, and meets every month in the Freemasons' Hall, on the third Tuesday, at 7.45 p.m. The installation takes place in July. Officers for 1901: Bro. D. Hyauiason, W.M.; Bro. F. Kearsley, S.W.; Bro. F. D. Parsons, J.W.; Bro. W. H. Cooper, secretary.

                

                

                  
                  

                    

Mr. George Mcguffie Reid,
                   
 P.M., Lodge St. Andrew's, No. 8, N.Z.C., was initiated into Freemasonry in Lodge St. Andrew's, 438, S.C., in October, 1889. He successively filled the offices of J.S., I.G., deacon, J.W., and S.W., and was elected W.M. for 1894–5. Mr. Reid was exalted in the Auckland Provincial Chapter, No. 9, and took the three degrees. On the 25th of August, 1896, he was elected Grand Sword-Bearer in the Grand Lodge of New Zealand. Mr. Reid has been a member of the Auckland Amateur Operatic Club since 1889, and has taken an active and prominent part in the operas performed by the club. He also sings second tenor in the
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Mr. G. Mc G. 
Reid.


Auckland Liedertafel, and has often sung solos at its public performances, with great acceptance and taste. In 1892 Mr. Reid founded the Devonport Musical Society, and was secretary for five years. He was successively lieutenant and captain of the O Battery of New Zealand Artillery for three years prior to the disbandment of that corps.

                

                

                  
                  

                    

Mr. Josiah Daniel Webster,
                   
 Worshipful Past Master, Lodge St. Andrew, No. 8, New Zealand Constitution (418, Scotch Constitution), and Senior Grand Deacon of New Zealand Grand Lodge, was born in Auckland in 1860, and educated at private schools at the Thames. He was initiated
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in the above Lodge in 1886 and filled the respective offices of deacon, warden, and was elected Worshipful Master in 1896. About the year 1890 Bro. Webster received the Mark Master degree in Lodge St. Andrew 418 (S.C.); he joined the Royal Arch Chapter No. 9 (N.Z.C.), Auckland, in 1893, took the Royal Arch Mariner degree in 1894, and filled the offices of third, second, and first principal respectively.

                

                

                  
                  


                    

Mr. John Page,
                    Worshipful Past Master of Lodge St. Andrew, No. 8, New Zealand Constitution, was initiated into Freemasonry in Lodge Thistle 647 Scotch Constitution, now amalgamated with Lodge No. 19 (N.Z.C.) Masterton, and affiliated into Lodge 418 (S.C.), Auckland. He passed through the several offices and held the Worshipful Master's chair from 1888 to 1890, with his well known zeal and ability. Bro. Page was initiated into the Mark Degree in the year 1887 in connection with Lodge St. Andrew 418 (S.C.), and also holds the rank of Past Grand Sword-Bearer in the New Zealand Grand Lodge. He was a member of the Board of General Purposes (N.Z.C.) for two years.
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Lodge United Service,
                    No. 10, was founded in 1864. The monthly meetings of the lodge are held at the Freemasons' Hall, Princes Street, on the last Wednesday, at 7.30 p.m. The installation takes place in June. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. J. C. Pelham, W.M.; Bro. J. H. Love, S.W.; Bro. J. T. Hewson, J.W.; Bro. G. B. Thwaites, secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    

Mr. Andrew Erickson,
                    of Lodge United Service, No. 10, N.Z.C., was initiated into the Order on the 28th of November, 1888, and after passing through all the minor offices



was elected W.M., and installed on the 28th of June, 1893. He was exalted to the Royal Arch degree on the 27th of July, 1894, and afterwards took the Ark Mariner's Excellent and the Knight of the East and West, the same year. At the installation of Past Grand Master H. D. Bell, of Wellington, on the 17th of June, 1895, Bro. Erickson was Grand Sword-Bearer.
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Mr. N. F. B. Larsen,
                   
 Past Worshipful Master, was initiated into Freemasonry in 1890, in Lodge United Service, No. 10, and, having previously filled various
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Mr. N. F. B. Larsen.


other offices, he was installed as Worshipful Master in 1898. In 1895, he joined the Royal Arch Chapter, No. 9, and in the same year took the Royal Ark Mariner Degree, also the Knight of the Sword and Knight of the East and West degrees.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Lodge Ponsonby,
                    No. 54, was founded in 1884. Monthly meetings are held at the Ponsonby Hall, Jervois Road, on the first Tuesday, at 7.30 p.m. The Lodge of Instruction meets on the second Thursday after the monthly meeting, and on the Thursday before the meeting. The installation ceremony takes place in May. Officers for 1901: Bro. J. I. Knight, W.M.; Bro. J. M. Morran, S.W.; Bro. J. Bowden, J.W.; Bro. J. A. Cooper, P.M., secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Lodge Auckland,
                    No. 87, was founded in 1893. The Lodge meets in the Victoria Hall, Eden Terrace, on the fourth Tuesday in the month, at 7.30 p.m. The installation takes place in February. The officers for 1901 are: Bro. H. G. McCrea, W.M.; Bro. E. A. Bruce, S.W.; Bro. J. B. Massey, J.W.; Bro. W. S. Williams, P.M., secretary.

                

              

            

            

              
Oddfellows.

              

                
Manchester Unity.

                

                  
                  


                    
Manchester Unity, Independent Order Of Oddfellows.
                    In Auckland this Order has twenty-two adult lodges, and two juvenile lodges, with a roll of 2600 adult members, and 100 juvenile members. The total district funds of the Order amount to £52,000. The Auckland District Executive Officers for 1901 are: Mr Samuel Fletcher, Fort Street, Cambridge, Provincial G.M.; Mr. F. J. Wheatley, Victoria Street, Auckland, provincial deputy G.M.; Mr. John McLeod, Queen Street, provincial corresponding secretary; Mr C. G. Tyke, Charlotte Street, Eden Terrace, district warden; Mr. John Leydon, Queen Street, district treasurer; Messrs S. H. Matthews, P.P.G.M., G. F. Fowler, P.P.D.G.M., F. J. Wheatley, P.D.G.M., trustees.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Fountain Of Friendship Lodge,
                    No. 3920. Meetings are held in the Lorne Street Hall every alternate Tuesday. Mr. C. S. Wright, Russell Street, Ponsonby, is secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Good Intent Lodge,
                    No. 4369, meets at the Oddfellows' Hall, Cook Street, Auckland, every alternate Monday. Mr. W. Dean, Haslett Street, Eden Terrace, secretary.

                

              

              

                
American Constitution.

                

                  
                  


                    

                      Independent Order Of Oddfellows
                    
                    (American Constitution). The officers for the Auckland District are: Mr. Robert Armiger, junior, district deputy grand master; Mr. Francis Armiger, Ponsonby Terrace, district secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Star Of Auckland Lodge,
                    No. 26. Meetings are held on alternate Thursdays, in the lodge room, I.O.O.F. Hall, Pitt Street. The funds amount to £2500. Mr. W. M. Neumegen, 33 Shortland Street, is secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Star Of Eden Lodge,
                    No. 54, meets at the Free Church Hall, Pompallier Terrace, Ponsonby, on alternate Mondays. Mr. P. Evans, Jervois Road, Ponsonby, is secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Wynyard Lodge,
                    No. 57. The meetings of this Lodge are held on alternate Mondays, in the Victoria Hall, Eden Terrace. Mr. H. Miles, Randolph Street, Newton, is secretary.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Myrtle Rebekah Lodge,
                    No. 4, meets on alternate Thursdays in the Lodge Room, Pitt Street. The secretary is Mrs A. E. Clarke, Church Street, Ponsonby.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Alpha Juvenile Lodge,
                    No. 1. Mr. George Fell, president; Mr. W. Clarke, Church Street, Ponsonby, secretary. The meetings are held in the I.O.O.F. Hall, Pitt Street, on alternate Mondays.

                

                

                  
                  


                    

                      The District Degree Lodge
                    
                    meets on the first Tuesday in each month. Mr. A. McIntyre is degree master, and Mr G. Fell, secretary.

                

              

              

                
National Independent Order of Oddfellows.

                

                  
                  


                    
National Independent Order Of Oddfellows,
                    No. 160. The officers of this order for the Auckland Provincial District are: Mr. Joseph Dodgson, provincial G.M.; Mr. David D. Brigham, deputy G.M.; Mr. Henry Phillips, West Street, district secretary. The funds amount to £2037.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Loyal Pioneer Lodge,
                    No. 936. Officers for 1901: Mr William Austen, N.G.; Mr. William Denniston, V.G.; Mr C. B. Thorne, Grey Street, permanent secretary. The funds amount to £711.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Loyal United Brothers' Lodge,
                    No. 975. Officers: Mr. J. H. Edwards, N.G.; Mr. Thomas Phillips, V.G.; Mr. Henry Phillips, West Street, permanent secretary. Value of funds, £1053.

                

              

            

            

              
Foresters.

              

                
                


                  
Ancient Order Of Foresters.
                  The district officers of the Order of Foresters for Auckland in 1901 are: Mr. James Robinson, D.C.R.; Mr. W. Neumegen, D.S.C.R.; Mr. D. J. Wright, secretary; Mr J. Stitchbury, treasurer; Mr. W. Ramsey, district beadle. The district officers meet fortnightly in the Foresters' Hall, Newton. The accumulated funds amount to £8180.

              

              

                
                


                  
Court City Of Auckland,
                  No. 3978. Meetings are held in the Foresters' Hall, Newton, on alternate Mondays. The secretary for 1901 is Mr. James Robinson, and Mr. E. Auger is treasurer. The value of the Court's funds is £6542.

              

              

                
                


                  
Court Zealandia,
                  No. 4741. This Court holds its meetings on alternate Wednesdays in the Foresters' Hall, Newton. The value of its funds is £1681. The secretary for 1901 is Mr G. E. Watkins, and Mr T. Bakewell is treasurer.

              

              

                
                


                  
Court Nil Desperandum,
                  No. 6495. Meetings are held in the Foresters' Hall, Newton, on alternate Tuesdays. Mr. C. F. Andrews is secretary, and Mr C. B. Thorne, treasurer. The value of the funds is £1745.

              

              

                
Juvenile Foresters.

                

                  
                  


                    
Court Zealandia's Pride,
                    No. 1, meets every third Thursday in each month in the Foresters' Hall, Newton. The officers are: Mr. G. Elliott, president; Mr. G. O. Blakey, secretary; Mr. H. Watts, treasurer.

                

              

              

                
Female Foresters.

                

                  
                  


                    
Court Chisman,
                    No. 7596. Mrs E. Moore, Napier Street, Auckland, secretary; Miss E. Willis, treasurer. The value of this Court's funds is £103.

                

                

                  
                  


                    
Court Chisman's Pride,
                    No. 3. Miss M. Garratt, president; Miss E. Johnson, North Street, Auckland, secretary; Miss M. Hewlett, treasurer.

                

              

            

            

              
Hibernian.

              

                
                


                  
The Hibernian Australasian Catholic Benefit Society.
                  The district chambers of this Society are at the Catholic Institute, Wellington Street. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. Daniel O'Sullivan, district president; Mr Michael O'Sullivan district vice-president; Mr. M. J. Sheehan, J.P., district treasurer; Mr. W. Kane, Hobson Street, district secretary; Messrs John Patterson, J.P., P. J. Nerheny and Daniel Flynn, trustees.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Auckland Branch,
                  No. 81. 
Of the Hibernian Australasian Catholic Benefit Society, meets in the Catholic Institute, Wellington Street, on alternate Wednesdays. Mr. James B. R.



Stead is president; Mr. D. Flynn, treasurer; and Mr. W. Kane, Hobson Street, secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Sancta Maria
                  
                  (Female Division). Mrs E. Kane, Hobson Street, Auckland, is the secretary of this Lodge.

              

            

            

              
Orange Lodges.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Grand Lodge Of New Zealand
                  
                  (North Island) was incorporated in 1856. Its meetings are held in Auckland in the months of January and July. The officers for 1901 are: Mr R. Scott, Thames, R.W.G.M.; Mr. W. J. Maxwell, Ponsonby, D.G.M.; Mr. C. Double, Manukau Road, Parnell, grand secretary; Mr. R. Shepherd, Severne Street, Khyber Pass, grand secretary. The first Orange Lodge meeting in Auckland was held in 1840.

                
No. 1, L.O.L. holds its meetings in the Protestant Hall, Newton, on the first Monday in the month. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. J. Little, W.M.; Mr. A. Joynt, Picton Street, Ponsonby, secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  
Royal Albert,
                  No. 2 L.O.L., meets on the third Monday in each month, at the Protestant Hall, Newton. The officers are: Mr. R. Shepherd, W.M.; Mr. G. Aston, secretary.

                
No. 10 L.O.L. holds its meetings in the Protestant Hall, Newton, on the last Monday in each month. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. James Merson, W.M.; Mr. F. Double, secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  
G.B.K.C.I., Royal Black Preceptory,
                  No. 149, I.C., holds its meetings on the second Monday in each month, in the Protestant Hall, Newton. The officers for 1901 are: Sir Knight R. Shepherd, W.P.; Sir Knight Joseph Carnahan, P.P., Pollen Street, Grey Lynn, registrar.

              

            

            

              
Temperance Societies.

              

                
                


                  
Auckland Total Abstinence Society.
                  This Society dates its establishment from 1842. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. C. G. Hill, president; Mr. H. Hirst, treasurer; Mr. J. W. Carr, Rose Road, Grey Lynn, secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  
Auckland Prohibition League.
                  Officers: Rev. W. J. Williams, president; Mr. W. Spedding, chairman of the executive; Mr. W. Cooper, secretary; Mr. S. C. Brown, treasurer. The executive consists of twenty ladies and gentlemen.

              

              

                
                


                  
Helping Hand Branch Prohibition League.
                  This branch is conducted by the Rev. C. C. Harrison. Mr. Pacey is secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Women's Christian Temperance Union Of New Zealand. The
                  
                  meetings of this Union are held in the Central Mission Hall. Albert Street, on the second and fourth Wednesday in each month. Officers for 1901: Mrs A. Thorne, president; Mrs G. Plummer, Elizabeth Street, Auckland, recording secretary; Mrs Dewar, treasurer.

              

            

            

              
Druids.

              

                
                


                  

                    Royal Arch Chapter
                  
                  (Auckland District). This body meets as occasion requires in the St. George's Hall, Grey Lynn. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. J. Peet, R.A.D.; Mr. R. Ward, R.A.C.; Mr. J. Strathern, R.A.T.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Auckland Lodge
                  
                  meets at the lodge room, Oddfellows' Hall, Cook Street, every second Tuesday, at 8 p.m. Officers for 1901: Mr. Hughes, A.D.; Mr. G. Peace, secretary; Mr. J. Wheeler, treasurer; Messrs A. Kidd, R. T. Michaels, and R. McKinnon, trustees.

              

              

                
                


                  
Ponsonby Lodge.
                  This lodge meets in St. George's Hall, Grey Lynn, on alternate Mondays. The officers are: Mr P. Greenhough, J.P.A.; Mr. J. Peet, P.A., secretary; Mr. A. Jackson, treasurer; Messrs W. Bloomfield, R. Ward, and J. Strathern, trustees.

              

              

                
                


                  
Hinemoa Female Lodge.
                  Meetings of this lodge are held on alternate Fridays, in the St. George's Hall, Grey Lynn. The officers are: Mr P. Rubery, A.D.; Mr Percy B. Greenhough, secretary; Miss Ida Bethel, treasurer.

              

            

            

              
Independent Order of Rechabites

              

                
                


                  
New Zealand District,
                  No. 84. The half-yearly meetings of this body are held in various places, which are duly notified. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. J. Stallworthy, D.C.R.; Mr. C. Wheeler, D.D.R.; Mr. P. Crowe, D.T.; Mr. F. Knight, D.G.; Mr. J. G. Carr, Vincent Road, Remuera, secretary.
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Sports, Games, and Pastimes.

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Amateur Athletic And Cycle Club
                
                was formed in 1877. It is affiliated to the New Zealand Amateur Athletic Association, and the banner given by that body has been won by Auckland five times: in 1890–91 at Auckland, 1894–95 at Napier, 1896–97 at Auckland, 1897–98 at Wanganui, and in 1899–1900 at Wellington. The club's members include Mr. G. W. Smith, who was champion of New Zealand for the 100 yards flat race, 220 yards flat, the 440 yards hurdles, and established the New Zealand record time of 15, 3–5th seconds for the 120 yards hurdles, over ten flights; Mr. J. Dickey, the present New Zealand champion for the one mile walk; Mr. F. H. Creamer, who holds the world's amateur record for the one mile walk in 6 minutes 27 2–5th seconds, also the New Zealand amateur record for the three mile walk in 21 minutes 37 seconds; Mr. W. H. Madill, who was champion for putting the 16 pound weight and holds the New Zealand record of 136 feet 4 1/2 inches for throwing the hammer; Mr. C. McAffer, the Australasian champion for the one mile walk; Mr. A. Laurie, who was champion for the high jump and the pole jump; and Hori Eruera, who holds the New Zealand record of 11 feet 0 1/4 inch for the pole jump. The club holds two carnivals in the Domain each season, one in November and one in March; at the meeting in November, 1900, the gate receipts exceeded £220. The club's assets amount to about £250. His Excellency Lord Ranfurly is patron to the club, and Messrs J. H. B. Coates, J. Marshall, and S. T. George are vice-patrons. The officers are: Mr. C. E. MacCormick, president; Messrs L. Myers, G. Dunnet and F. W. Edwards, vice-presidents; Mr. W. B. Eyre, handicapper; Mr. C. E. Palmer, honorary treasurer; Mr F. J. Ohlson, honorary secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Cycling Club
                
                was formed on the 14th of September, 1895, and began with twelve members. Its first officers were Messrs H. Young, captain; A. Howden, secretary; and A. Skeates, treasurer. It has now a membership of 150. The racing members have been very successful, particularly Messrs E. Reynolds and W. Tierney, the former being one of the best all-round men the colony has ever produced. His brother, Mr William Reynolds, is at the present time (1900–1901) the Amateur Champion of New Zealand, and bids fair to add further to his laurels. A notable feature of the club has been the large amount of prize money offered. It has always had a good name for treating visitors with the greatest hospitality, and its meetings have been well patronised by riders. The club's quarters, in Upper Pitt Street, comprise a billiard room, with two tables, and social, reading, and meeting rooms, which are all well furnished. Recently a piano has been purchased by the club and placed in the social room. The officers of the club are: Mr A. S. White, captain; Mr. James Knott, secretary; Mr. C. Smith, treasurer; Messrs W. Marshall, H. J. Fielder, E. Noonan, N. Cohen, F. Rose, P. Rubery, E. Haresnape, H. J. Richmond, committee; Mr. W. B. Eyre, official handicapper. Mr. A. Myers is the chief consul for the Auckland centre.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. James Knott,
               
 the energetic Secretary of the Auckland Cycling Club, was born in Auckland in 1875. He was elected to his present office in October, 1900, as successor to Mr. E. Nordon, who resigned to
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take up a position in Ashburton. Mr. Knott was for some time connected with the Auckland Commercial College, under Mr. T. H. Giles. He has been prominently associated with athletic sports for several years, during which he has acted as secretary for various clubs. At the present time he is secretary of the St. Benedict's Social and Gymnastic Club, which has made wonderful progress



under his management. He is also secretary of the Auckland centre of the League of New Zealand Wheelmen.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Cycle Roads League.
                On the 19th of July, 1900, a meeting of cyclists was held in the Young Men's Christian Association's Hall, to consider what steps should be taken to remedy the disgraceful state of the roads in and around Auckland, and it was decided to form the Auckland Cycle Roads League, for the purpose of considering ways and means for the laying down of cycle paths or improved roads. As the system of voluntary subscriptions was deemed unsatisfactory a proposal in favour of a tax of 5s per cycle was carried, and a Bill known as “The Cycle Boards Bill” was drawn up, and sent on to Parliament in charge of Mr. George Fowlds, M.H.R. It was, however, too late in the session for the private members' day, and the Government, at the request of thousands of petitioners from Auckland, Wellington, and Christchurch, took the bill up as a Government measure; but owing to the late hour at which it was sent down, it had to be dropped. Various members of Parliament expressed the opinion that had it been sent down earlier it would have gone through. Meantime the Auckland Cycle Roads League spares neither time nor energy in working up the cycle path movement in New Zealand, and the necessary legislation is supported by cyclists from one end of the colony to the other. In America, Holland, and other countries, where cycle paths exist, the number of cyclists has increased fourfold, and the fact of having smooth, easy running paths alongside the roads has proved beneficial to all. The paths encourage cyclists to leave the crowded cities and get into the country where plenty of fresh air is obtainable. In this way the trade of the villages is increased, and country people are provided with a footpath which does not cost them a penny to lay down. The following are the officers of the League:—Mr. George Fowlds, M.H.R., president; Messrs D. W. Duthie, A. H. Nathan, and Arthur Myers, vice-presidents; Messrs Choyce, P. A. Vaile, Macfarlane, Henton, Dixon, Bockaert, W. Owen, R. Noton, Crozier, Henning, E. Reynolds, and Jackson Palmer M.H.R., council; Mr. J. A. Cooper, honorary treasurer; Mr. A. A. Davies, honorary secretary; Miss Statham, assistant secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Caledonian Society
                
                was formed by a few enthusiastic Scotsmen on the 14th of November, 1888, and was registered under the Friendly Societies Act. The objects of the society are: The collection of Scottish literature for the use of the members; singing, acting, dancing; the periodical celebration of the various Scottish festivals; the perpetuation of Caledonian games; and the relief of distressed Scotsmen. At the annual meeting, held during the last week in March of each year, a president, two vice-presidents, a secretary, a treasurer, two auditors, ten committeemen, and three trustees are elected, and any person of good character can be elected a member. The society is affiliated with the New Zealand Association of Caledonian Societies, and has funds and assets worth about £100. The officers are: Mr. McCune, president; Messrs J. Aggers, and H. Chatwin, vice-presidents; Mr. H. W. Diggens, secretary; and Mr K. K. Smith, treasurer.

            

            

              
Aquatic.

              

                
                


                  
New Zealand Amateur Rowing Association.
                  The headquarters of this Association are in Wellington, and a descriptive article concerning it is given in the Wellington volume of this work. The Auckland representative of the Association is Mr. E. W. Burgess, Church Street, Devonport.

              

              

                
                


                  
Auckland Rowing Club.
                  This was the first rowing club started in Auckland, and dates its existence from the year 1869. Prominent among its founders were such men as Major Heaphy, Messrs L. D. and N. A. Nathan, W. H. Churton, and others, some of whom have now passed away. At one time the club held the first position in aquatic circles in Auckland, but subsequently lost that distinction. Recently, however, it has, with some success, made a determined effort to improve its standing. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. J. J. Craig, president; Dr. Maitland, captain; Mr. W. J. Lovett, deputy-captain; Mr. W. M. Kerr, honorary secretary; Mr. W. T. Brown, honorary treasurer.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The West End Rowing Club
                  
                  was established in the year 1884 by a few enthusiasts. Among the first members were Messrs J. T. Armitage, J. E. Cooke, F. J. Cooper, James Dacre, A. Devore, E. Dowden, H. Griffiths, J. R. Hanna, J. H. Hudson, S. E. Hughes, A. H. Jones, Arthur Jones, Walter Jones, Bruce Lloyd, M. G. McGregor, and G. R. Webb, Captain W. Farquhar, and several of his sons. The first two gigs were purchased second-hand—one from the old Auckland Rowing Club, and the other from Sydney. In 1886 West End won easily nearly all the gig races of the year, the senior crew being Messrs F. W. Edwards, J. Stewart, A. H. Jones, and J. E. Cooke. This crew for several years carried all before it. Another famous senior crew of the club was composed of Messrs F. W. Edwards, N. McLean, O. Wells and J. Payne. The first captain of the club was Mr. J. E. Cooke, who held office for two years. He was succeeded by Mr. F. W. Edwards, who held the position for five years—till 1891. Mr. Edwards was followed by Mr. Murdoch McLean—1891–93. The fourth captain was Mr. C. E. White, 1893–4, and Mr. S. D. Hanna followed—1894–5. Mr. Hanna's successor was Mr. J. Clark, who held office for three years, 1895–8. Mr. W. Edwards (vice-captain for two years) was the next captain, and held office for a year. He was followed by Mr. R. R. Dowden—one of the then senior members of the club, who held office for twelve months, when he left to reside in the country. In September, 1900, Mr. W. Edwards was elected captain for the second time, just on his return, invalided from South Africa. During 1892–1893 and 1894, the club had hard times. Wins were very few, but still the members, headed by good officers, did not lose heart. The shed was made more comfortable, and a good spirit fostered among the members. In 1895 things began to improve, and the club in that year won four races out of eight starts. In 1896 new quarters were decided on, and the present commodious building in St. Mary's Bay was erected. A new plant became an absolute necessity also, and in 1896–7 five new boats were obtained from Messrs Edwards and Son, of Melbourne—one being an up-to-date racer, and the other four practice boats of a useful sort. During 1896–7 all this plant and the new building were paid for, the club being loyally supported in this connection by the residents of Ponsonby. In 1897 the club out of twenty-seven starts won twenty-five, and the prize money amounted to over £160. The prize-winners of that year are entitled to special credit, as nearly all the money was devoted to paying off the debt on the building. In the 1897–8 season five new boats were procured; a best-and-best boat for the Championship Regatta, two practice boats, and two pleasure boats for the use of honorary members. In 1898–9 the club, out of seventeen starts, secured nine first prizes, a dead heat for first place, and two second prizes; and in 1899–1900, out of twenty starts, sixteen first prizes were secured. Altogether, in three years, the club secured fifty-one first prizes out of sixty-four starts. The club started in six events in the season 1900–1901, winning four races, and in one of the others was beaten for first place by only three feet. The club's building, which has a galvanised roof, and was erected under the supervision of the club's architect, Mr. A. G. Daw, measures 40 feet by 45 feet, and has two stories. The lower portion is devoted solely to housing the boats; upstairs are the dressing room, committee room and bathroom. The plant consists of one best-and-best four, two outrigged racing fours, six inrigged practice gig fours, two whaleboats, two stump outriggers, one wager boat, one racing inrigged four, and two pleasure boats. All the club's property is in first-class order, and the club has a credit balance at the bank and no liabilities. Many of the best known citizens of Auckland are on the honorary officers' list. The officers for 1900–1901 are: Mr. T. Peacock, patron; Mr. Murdoch McLean, president; Mr. W. Edwards, captain; Mr. R. H. Cook, deputy-captain; Mr. R. M. Doull, secretary; Mr. W. Hunter, treasurer. The committee consists of Messrs G. Green, J. H. Maxwell, R. W. Rees, J. Carrigan, J. Bigelow, P. C. White, and J. A. Mackenzie. There are also over one hundred vice-presidents. The membership of the club consists of one hundred honorary members, and one hundred and twenty active members.

              

              

                
                


                  
Auckland Yacht Club.
                  This club, which is the largest in tonnage and membership in New Zealand, was founded in 1871. It has rooms in Palmerston Buildings, Queen Street, and there are about 187 members. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. John Wiseman, commodore; Mr. C. P. Murdock, vice-commodore; Mr. W. Jagger, rear-commodore; Mr R. S. Reynolds, honorary treasurer; Mr. G. H. Bellamy, honorary secretary; Mr. C. E. Battley, honorary assistant secretary; Messrs J. C. Webster and E. H. Davis, auditors; Captain Gibbs and Mr. A. Buchanan, measurers; Mr. J. Alexander, honorary solicitor. Messrs H. Haines, A. Buchanan, E. V. Miller, F. Wilson, J. C. Hardie, R. Masefield, J. W. Winks, C. B. Stone and G. V. Edgecombe constitute the committee. The club's flag is



a blue burges with the white St. George's cross and the four white stars of the Southern Cross. There is a fleet of fifty-three yachts, and the champion of the fleet is the “Rambow,” which has been very successful at Wellington, Lyttelton, and Sydney. The “Thelma” has also proved herself a fast boat. In the early days of the club, Captain Gibbs's yacht “Spray” held the championship for many years.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Wiseman,
                  Commodore of the Auckland Yacht Club, is a native of Tas mania, and came to New Zealand with his
parents. He was educated in Auckland, and afterwards joined his father. Mr. James Wiseman, in the wholesale saddlery business. On the death of Mr. James Wiseman, in January, 1898, the business was carried on by Mr. John Wiseman as head of the firm. Mr. Wiseman has been connected with aquatic matters for many years, and is one of the oldest members of the Auckland Yacht Club. He takes a keen interest in the welfare of the club, and on the occasion of his marriage in January, 1901, the members presented him with a handsome clock.
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Mr. George Herbert Bellamy
                  
                  has been Honorary Secretary to the Auckland Yacht Club since 1898, and during his term of office has filled the position with great credit to himself and satisfaction to the members of the club. Mr. Bellamy is a native of Hull, England, and before coming to the colony was a member of the Royal Yorkshire Yacht Club. He is an enthusiastic yachtsman, and takes a great interest in all aquatic matters, and it is mainly owing to his efforts that the yacht club has reached its present satisfactory position. Mr. Bellamy is married to a daughter of Mr. G. Johnston, and resides at Birkenhead.

                

                  

[image: Hanna, photo. Mr. G. H. Bellamy.]

                      
Hanna, photo.
                      


                      
Mr. 
G. H. Bellamy.
                    


                

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The St. George's Rowing Club
                  
                  was founded in 1883, and at one time was one of the best clubs in Auckland. In 1895 the light weight crew were successful in eight regatta races, and a crew consisting of Messrs H. J. Whitley, G. McDell, J. Crozier, and T. Manton raced for three seasons without a defeat. The boathouse is situated at Judge's Bay, Parnell, and the club has over one hundred members on its roll. The financial position is very satisfactory, and the plant consists of seventeen boats. The officers for 1900–1901 are: Mr. J. H. B. Coates, patron; Mr. S. Thorne George, vice-patron; Mr. T. Russell, commodore; Mr. A. G. Busby, captain; Mr. T. Richards, deputy-captain; Mr. George O. Waddy, honorary secretary; Mr. J. Thomson, honorary treasurer.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Waitemata Boating Club
                  
                  was formed in 1883, and its first commodore was the Hon. E. Mitchelson. Its boatsheds are situated on the Hobson Street Wharf, and the plant consists of one best-and-best outrigged fours, two clinker outrigged fours, three inrigged four-oared gigs, two whaleboat gigs, and several other boats not at present in commission. In 1894 the City Rowing Club amalgamated with this club, which is affiliated to the New Zealand Amateur Rowing Association, and its colours are blue and gold. It has had an honourable and successful career in rowing contests. The officers for 1900–1901 are: Mr. A. M. Myers, commodore; Mr J. Endean, vice-commodore; Mr H. Parker, president; Mr. W. J. Evers, captain; Mr A. C. Tonkin, secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  
Ponsonby Cruising Club.
                  This club was the first of its kind established in New Zealand, and although only founded in 1900, the membership already numbers 250; which speaks well for the energy displayed by its founders and its secretary, Mr. A. Thompson. The object of the club is to encourage yachting and cruising generally, and weekly cruises are arranged to the various bays of the Hauraki Gulf. Great interest is also taken in the monthly picnics, at which the programme includes races for trophies, cricket matches, etc., in which the majority of the members take part. Some of the best yachts in Auckland are included on the club's register, notably the “Mahoe,” which flies the commodore's flag, “Thetis,” “Mahaki,” “Peri,” “Coo-ee” (the present champion), and several others. Many enquiries have been received by the secretary from yachtsmen in different parts of the colony respecting the new club, and one communication has come to hand from Fiji, which shows that the idea of cruising in company under one flag is regarded with much favour. The club's colours are blue and white stripes. The following officers were elected for the year 1900–1901: Mr. T. T. Masefield, patron; Mr. J. Kirker, president; Mr. S. W. Buck, vice-president; Mr. W. Bettany, commodore; Mr. R. Murphy, vice-commodore; Mr. O. Riley, rear-commodore; Mr. A. Thompson, honorary secretary and treasurer. Messrs A. Clair, A. Warnock, T. Blatch, C. Harkins, W. Buck, A. Dye, G. Stokes, H. Parkinson, W. Carder, and Metcalf are the committee.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. William Bettany,
                 
 Commodore of the Ponsonby Cruising Club, has been associated with aquatic pastimes for many years.
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He takes a great interest in the club, and is part owner of the “Mahoe,” the flagship of the fleet, which has proved herself a fast boat, having been successful in carrying off thirteen first and two second prizes out of nineteen races. Mr. Bettany is very popular amongst the members of the club, and has done a good deal to make the club a success. He was born in Liverpool, England, came to New Zealand with his parents in 1863, and was brought up to his trade as a carpenter under Mr. Salt. Mr. Bettany is now



foreman for Messrs Grayson Brothers, builders, with whom he has been for many years.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. Alfred Thompson,
                 
 Secretary of the Ponsonby Cruising Club, is an enthusiastic yachtsman, who for many years has taken
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great interest in aquatic matters. He was born in Auckland in 1877, and on leaving school entered into commercial pursuits. Mr. Thompson and his brother now carry on business in Queen Street as machine experts and importers. Since 1886 Mr. Thompson has devoted considerable time to yachting, and is a member of the crew of the “Peri.” It is largely owing to his energy and perseverance that the Ponsonby Cruising Club has made such excellent progress. Mr. Thompson is also a member of the Ponsonby Regatta Club and the North Shore Sailing Club. The business carried on by him and his brother is noticed in another part of this volume.

              

              

                
                


                  
The New Zealand Amateur Swimming Association,
                  Registered. This institution, which is the parent of all Australasian Swimming Associations, was brought into existence at a meeting specially convened for the purpose at Auckland on the 21st of December, 1889. The first championship competition under its auspices was held in the Calliope Dock on the 30th of January, 1890; and the distance, a quarter of a mile, was covered by the winner, Mr H. J. Bailey, of the Amateur Swimming Club, in 7 minutes 10 seconds. The proceeds from this carnival went towards endowing the Jubilee Institute for the Blind From that time to the present the association has amply justified its formation. Most elaborate rules have been codified and adopted in their entirety throughout Australasia; a scheme of school instruction has been for mulated; a parliamentary vote of £100 has been obtained in recognition of effective administration, and a further £100 for the purpose of instructing all state scholars in swimming, and the Government has, on the representations of the association, undertaken to reserve centrally situated bath sites in all new public townships, and to introduce a “Rescuers' Damages Compensation Bill,” enabling life-savers to legally recover expenser incidental to a rescue. The racing usage of numbering competitors—now general—was first introduced by the association, as also the custom of using docks for swimming galas, and that of observing the 1st of October as “Natation Day.” Championship competitions are held annually, and to such an extent has the average rate of speed improved that New Zealand can now be grouped with New South Wales and England, as possessing swimmers faster than those in other parts of the world. The association has in hand the creation of a “Legion of Heroism” for the direct recognition of the life-saving efforts of swimmers, a proposal which is expected to receive international acceptance. Since the 7th of January 1898, there have been two associations in New Zealand; one is registered, and has its headquarters in Auckland, the other, unregistered, is governed from Christchurch; and the two bodies work in amicable alliance Both centres have elected Mr. J. M. Brigham, of Auckland, as president; the honorary secretary at Christchurch is Mr. G. J. C. Smart, and the honorary registrar at Auckland, Mr. H. G. Chevis. The founder of the association, Mr. Roland St. Clair, is vice-president, and has also held office as secretary and president.

              

            

            

              
Bowling.

              

                
                


                  
The Auckland Bowling Association.
                  This association was formed to encourage bowling generally, and arrange matches between the various affiliated clubs. It also undertakes the management of tournaments, and arranges pennant matches, the winning club having the honour of flying the pennant for the season. Six of the local clubs are affiliated to the association. The officers are: Messrs W. Gorrie, president; E. Mahoney, vice-president; J. A. Haslett, honorary secretary and treasurer.

              

              

                
                


                  
Auckland Bowling Club.
                  This club, one of the oldest of its kind in the colony, was established about 1868. Its grounds, which are beautifully laid out, are situated at the foot of Grafton Road, and contain two bowling greens, besides five tennis and croquet courts, which are sublet. As many of the members are persons of leisure, play is indulged in almost every day. The club has over 150 members, and its financial position is sound. The officers are: Messrs William Coleman, president; A. M. Myers and J. A. Haslett, vice-presidents; W. Gorrie, W. Lambert, J. Thornes, W. Culpan, A. W. Thomson, committee; G. M. Handcock, green superintendent; J. Carlaw, honorary treasurer; Dr. F. W. King, honorary secretary.
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                    The Auckland Chess Club
                  
                  was founded on the 29th of February, 1884, and was originally called the Grafton Chess Club. Its establishment was the outcome of many pleasant evenings spent together by a few enthusiastic chessmen in the Grafton district. Amongst the founders were Messrs H. H. Lusk (the first president), William Gorrie, J. F. Sloman, A. Gifford, E. R. Watkins, E. W. Burton, and Alfred Ashton (secretary). Meetings were held at the Grafton Road schoolroom until 1885, when the club was reconstructed and named anew. The club then took large rooms over Robson's dining-rooms in Queen Street, and the membership rapidly increased. Many interesting matches have been arranged and played with the Ponsonby, Devonport, and Mount Eden clubs. Two matches have been played by telegraph with the Wellington Chess Club, and a match won by each club. The sealed tournament handicaps, introduced by the club, have been very successful, and have since been adopted by many other chess clubs in New Zealand. Messrs A. A. Lelievre (secretary and treasurer), A. Grierson, Alfred Jowitt, J. M. Lennox (president), A. Ashton, and Samuel White are the most prominent players amongst the present members. The club's rooms are situated over Water's Coffee Palace in Queen Street, and the secretary's address is care of Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, Fort Street.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. A. A. Lelievre,
                 
 Secretary of the Auckland Chess Club, is one of the most prominent figures in the chess world of New Zealand. He was born in Normandy, France, in 1865, and was educated in Paris. On leaving school, in 1881, he went to London, and joined one of the leading mercantile houses of that city. In 1888 he returned to France and joined the artillery, which he
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left twelve months later to return to his old employers in London. Mr. Lelievre came to New Zealand in 1891, and was for three years attached to the French Consulate in Wellington.



He then went to Hastings, where he remained until 1896, when he removed to Auckland, and has been ever since attached to the French Consulate in that city. Mr. Lelievre first studied chess when he was fourteen years of age, but did not take much interest in the game until he joined the Athæneum Chess Club in London. He was very successful in sundry matches, and in the interclub matches, during which he played once against the St. George Club, he secured twelve wins and made no losses. On his arrival in New Zealand Mr. Lelievre became a member of the Wellington Chess Club, which he represented at Wanganui and Dunedin. In 1894–95 he represented Hastings at the New Zealand Chess Congress held in Wellington, and tied with Mr. W. Mackay, the chess champion of New Zealand, for that year. Since 1896 he has been a member of the Auckland Club, and has held office as secretary for four years. He takes great interest in bowling, and is a member of the Devonport Bowling Club.

              

            

            

              
Cricket.

              

                
                


                  
Auckland Cricket Association.
                  This association arranges inter-club matches, selects representative teams, and is generally the controlling body in respect to cricket in Auckland City. It is composed of the various affiliated clubs, delegates from which attend its meetings. There are six senior clubs affiliated to the association, namely, Auckland-United, Auckland, Gordon, North Shore, Parnell, and Ponsonby. The junior teams are Auckland-United, Auckland (four teams), Gordon, North Shore (two teams), Parnell, Ponsonby (two teams), Young Men's Christian Association (four teams), Wanderers, Avondale, Wakefield (two teams), Archhill (two teams), St. Albans (two teams), Northern, Grey Linn, Pitt Street, and Surrey Ramblers. The association's colours are dark blue with white facings. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. James Russell, president; Messrs C. W. Hemery, and C. S. H. McKinney, vice-presidents; Messrs F. J. Ohlson, J. B. Kyd, W. T. Wynyard and C. Hay, committee; Mr. G. H. Broughton, secretary; Mr. E. J. G. F. Greville, treasurer.
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                    The Auckland Rugby Union
                  
                  is the controlling body of Rugby football in the Auckland provincial district, and during the season its meetings are held in the rooms of the Amateur Sports Club. The Union is affiliated with and is subject to the New Zealand Rugby Union. Auckland holds a premier position in regard to New Zealand Rugby football, and has a four years' unbeaten certificate in interprovincial contests. During the season of 1900 Auckland played representative teams from Wellington, Taranaki, and Wanganui, and in each contest the visitors were defeated. The match with Otago, played at Potter's Paddock, Epsom ended in a draw. During the three preceding years twelve interprovincial matches were played (including a match against the New Zealand team), and of these ten were won and two drawn, and 157 points scored as against 42. Auckland's representative colours are blue and white. The officers of the Union for 1900 were Mr. A. E. Devore, president; Messrs J. M. Brigham, G. S. Kissling, and C. Hesketh, vice-presidents; Messrs O. Wells (chairman), D. J. L. Clayton, A. H. Cotter, F. M. Jervis, and C. V. Langsford, committee of management; Mr J. R. Gibbons, delegate to New Zealand Union; Messrs T. Macky and J. Arneil, auditors; Mr G. H. Dixon, honorary secretary; Mr. C. E. MacCormick, honorary treasurer. The Union provides three challenge cups for competition among the Senior, Junior, and Third Fifteens of the Associated Clubs, each of which, with the exception of the North Shore Club, places three teams in the field. A noticeable feature in connection with the clubs is the large number of vice-presidents possessed by each of them. The following associated clubs were established in 1892.

              

              

                
                


                  
City.
                  This club had the unique distinction of winning the three Challenge Cups for the season of 1900. Its colours are red and black. Officers for 1900: Mr A. M. Myers, president; fifty-two vice-presidents; Mr H. Absolom, captain; Mr. G. Tyler, vice-captain; Mr. George Donaldson, honorary secretary and treasurer.

              

              

                
                


                  
Newton.
                  Officers for 1900: Mr. T. Prosser, junior, patron; Dr. Guinness, president; thirty-three vice-presidents; Mr. G. A. Bradburn, honorary secretary and treasurer. The Newton colours are maroon and white.

              

              

                
                


                  
Grafton.
                  Officers for 1900: Mr. A. M. Myers, president; thirty-one vice-presidents; Mr. D. L. J. Clayton, honorary secretary; Mr. J. H. Gunson, honorary treasurer. The Grafton colours are black and white bars.

              

              

                
                


                  
Ponsonby.
                  Officers for 1900: Mr A. E. Devore, president; thirty-four vice-presidents; Mr. C. P. Stichbury, honorary secretary; C. A. Jackson, honorary treasurer. The Ponsonby colours are blue and black.

              

              

                
                


                  
North Shore.
                  Officers for 1900: Mr. J. Bollard, M.H.R., president; twenty-eight vice-presidents; Mr. J. Sullivan, captain; Mr. C. F. Cameron, honorary secretary and treasurer. The North Shore colours are navy blue.

              

              

                
                


                  
Parnell.
                  Officers for 1900: Mr. G. S. Kissling, president; thirty-two vice-presidents; Mr. G. K. Totton, honorary secretary; Mr. G. M. Hume, honorary treasurer. The Parnell colours are maroon jersey and a monogram on the left breast.

              

              

                
                


                  
Suburbs.
                  Officers for 1900: Dr. Erson, mayor of Onehunga, president; twenty-eight vice-presidents; Mr. J. E. Leahy, honorary secretary and treasurer. The Suburbs' colours are all black, with white fern leaf on the breast of the jersey.

              

            

            

              

Tawn 
[sic: Lawn] Tennis.

              

                
                


                  
Auckland Lawn Tennis Association.
                  Lawn tennis had taken a strong hold in Auckland prior to the formation of the Auckland Lawn Tennis Association on the 21st of December, 1895. The following clubs were represented at the opening meeting:—Auckland Lawn Tennis Club, Messrs Pollen, Ridings and Young husband; Auckland Bowling and Lawn Tennis Club, Messrs Holdship and S. Hesketh; Devonport Lawn Tennis Club, Messrs Londen, Mason and Spicer; Parnell Lawn Tennis Club, Messrs Thomas and Sealey; Government House Archery and Lawn Tennis Club, Messrs J. M. Clark, Barton and Hudson. At a subsequent meeting rules were adopted and the following officers elected: Mr. J. M. Clark, president; Messrs Holdship and W. J. Hurst, vice-presidents; Mr. E. P. Hudson, honorary secretary. The Auckland Lawn Tennis Association was thus launched on what has proved to be a most prosperous career, and under its direction the game has flourished beyond expectation, its influence reaching right away from the city to townships in all parts of the province. From 1886 up to the present, Auckland has possessed players of first-class merit, as the names of the following champions prove:—Messrs W. E. Barton, W. B. A. Morrison, E. P. Hudson, W. P. Goodhue, J. R. Hooper, H. A. Parker, J. C. Peacock and others. Messrs Hooper and Parker, whose fame has spread throughout the colonies, have won the New Zealand Championship Singles on several occasions, and Mr. Peacock has been twice runner-up. The latest and most important success of the Aucklanders was the victory of Messrs H. A. Parker and J. C. Peacock over the redoubtable Australian pair, Messrs Dunlop and Diddams, in the Men's New Zealand Champion Doubles at the recent championship meeting in Christchurch. The present association is governed by Dr. F. W. Coates, president; Mr. A. A. Davies, honorary secretary and treasurer; Mr T. B. Howarth, auditor, and the following delegates: Messrs J. R. Hooper and H. A. Parker, Eden and Epsom; J. C. Peacock and A. H. Brabant,
West End; F. J. Upfill and A. E. D'Arcy, Parnell; and C. H. Young and F. J. Whitaker, Devonport. The association has lately instituted a championship for girls



and boys (under seventeen), and has also under consideration the formation of an Umpires' Association.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Albert Andrew Davies,
                  Secretary of the Auckland Lawn Tennis Association, and the West End Lawn Tennis Club, is a native of Auckland, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. On leaving school he joined the staff of Messrs Archibald Clark and Sons, and was afterwards in the Waikato. In 1897 he received his present appointment with Messrs Macky, Logan, Steen, and Co. Mr. Davies takes a keen interest in tennis generally, and is a prominent player in the West End Club. He is also secretary to the Auckland Cycle Roads League, and a member of the Amateur Athletic and Cycling Club. Mr. Davies has been untiring in his efforts to lay the objects of this league before the Auckland cyclists.
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                    The West End Lawn Tennis Club
                  
                  was formed in 1890 by Messrs John Paterson, D. Robertson, and J. Coe, and began with a membership of thirty. The leasehold grounds in New Street, Ponsonby, contain five tennis courts, and a commodious pavilion. The officers are: Mr. C. J. Parr, president; Mr. C. H. Jones, treasurer; Mr. A. A. Davies, secretary. The membership now stands at over seventy.
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Miscellaneous.

            

              
              


                
Auckland Golf Club.
                This club was instituted in 1894. The officers for 1891 are: Mr. S. T. George, president; Dr. Logan Campbell, Mr. James Kirker and Dr. Coates, vice-presidents; Mr. M. A. Clark, captain; Mr. C. E. S. Gillies, Shortland Street, honorary secretary; Mr. J. M. Lennox, honorary treasurer. Messrs J. Sykes, E. Turner, and W. S. Cochrane are the committee. The links and club-house adjoin Green Lane station.

            

            

              
              


                
New Zealand Lacrosse Association,
                Auckland. This association was formed on the 16th of May, 1899. The officers for 1901 are: His Excellency the Earl of Ranfurly, patron; Mr. David Goldie, Mayor of Auckland, president; Mr. Philip C. Luckie, chairman of council; Mr. Alex. Howey Walker, honorary secretary; Mr. William Noton, honorary treasurer. The district clubs affiliated to the Association are the Grafton, Grey Lynn, Parnell, Ponsonby, North Shore, and Auckland Suburbs.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alex Howey Walker,
                the Honorary Secretary of the Association, was born in 1876 at Gateshead, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, Northumberland, England, and educated at Wanganui College, New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Flying Club.
                This club was originally founded under the name of the Newton Homing Pigeon Club in 1890, and was registered under its present title in 1898. Its chief objects are the training and improvement of homing pigeons. Strict rules are adopted against betting or flying for pecuniary gain. The cultivation of homing or messenger pigeons not only affords good sport in their training and racing, but it is of national importance, inasmuch as it is necessary that there should be first-class birds in the colony in case of war. A number of birds of the best kind have recently been imported by members of the club, which has thirty-three members on its roll. The officers are: Mr. D. Goldie (Mayor), president; Messrs A. Alison, G. W. S. Patterson, J. Reid, A. A. White, R. Bedford, vice-presidents; Mr. I. Hopkins, honorary secretary.

            

            

              
              


                
New Zealand Inanimate Pigeon Shooting Association.
                This association was formed in October, 1899, to promote the pastime of inanimate pigeon shooting and to procure uniformity of rules governing shooting. The great majority of the gun clubs in the Auckland province are affiliated to the association. His Excellency the Governor, Lord Ranfurly, and Lady Ranfurly are patrons to the association. The officers are: Dr. T. Hope Lewis, president; Messrs Arthur Bull, J. Bollard, M.H.R., R. M. Houston, M.H.R., A. Alison, T. W. Laing, A. P. Barry, W. H. Herries, M.H.R., vice-presidents; Major R. B. Morrow, honorary secretary; Mr. J. Strathern, honorary treasurer.
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Racing and Sporting.

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Racing Club
                
                was established in 1874 by the amalgamation of the Auckland Jockey Club and the Auckland Turf Club. It started with liabilities amounting to about £4000; at its first meeting £750 was given in stakes, and the following year £1735 was given for the two meetings. In 1900 and 1901 the added money was increased to £20,000, and the number of meetings to four, with a total of thirteen days. Since the club's inception £180,830 has been given in stakes, £18,500 spent in building, and £13,000 in general expenditure. The improvements consist of two grand-stands, which will accommodate 6000 spectators, stewards' room, refreshment stalls, bar, dining-room, with kitchen fitted up with gas and gas stoves; the members' dining-room being the best in the colony. The course is right-handed, and comprises about 130 acres of land which is vested in trustees. The stewards' stand consists of the stewards' room, press room, jockeys' room, weighing room, and jockeys' dressing room with trial scales. The saddling paddock contains thirty-eight boxes and a sand rolling-box. The number board, which is of the latest design, was imported from England; and a clock in the stand tower strikes the quarters to warn laggards to go to the post. A magnificent view of the steeplechase course can be obtained from the top of the grand-stand. The totalisator receipts for the 1899–1900 season amounted to £138,716, made up as follows:—Spring meeting, £25,462; summer meeting, £63,635; autumn meeting, £32,094; and winter meeting, £17,525.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Percival,
                Secretary of the Auckland Racing Club, was born in November, 1841, at Wansford, England, and is the third son of Mr. Thomas Percival. He was educated at Fotheringay, and at Oundle, Northamptonshire. Mr. Percival was engaged in commercial pursuits in London for about five years, and in 1863 he arrived in Christchurch by the ship “Essex.” He settled in Canterbury until 1868, and then removed to the Thames goldfield, where he was engaged in clerical work, and acted as secretary of the racing carnival promoted in honour of the visit of the Duke of Edinburgh. When the Auckland Racing Club was formed Mr. Percival was appointed Permanent Secretary, and still holds the position. Mr. Percival acted as handicapper to the metropolitan club and country clubs for many years, and was presented with a handsome gold watch in recognition of his services. He took an active share in establishing the Pakuranga Hunt Club, and acted as Master for several seasons.

            

            

              
              


                
The Avondale Jockey Club.
                This club was formed at a public meeting held at the Avondale Hotel, on the 30th of August, 1889, and a three years' lease of the present course, which comprises fifty-two acres, was obtained from Mr. C. Burke. The first race was held on the 26th of April, 1890, and since then the club has become one of the most successful in the Auckland provincial district. The receipts from the totalisator have increased, since the opening of the course, from £1800 to over £11,000, and the value of the stakes competed for have risen from £225 to £1500 at each meeting. The club has now classic races on its programme; namely, the Avondale Stakes for two-year-olds, and the Avondale Guineas for three-year olds, and the nominations have exceeded sixty for each of these events. Sums exceeding £2000 have been expended in improvements since 1898; and the club now has a grand-stand, with accommodation for about 2000 spectators; weighing, jockeys', stewards' and press rooms, ladies' dining and refreshment rooms, and also a new totalisator room. The course is a mile in circumference, and is considered one of the fastest racing tracks in the provincial district. A ploughed track is also provided for training purposes. The course is held under a lease, with a purchasing clause, and the club intends to make still further improvements.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Harry H. Hayr,
                Honorary Secretary of the Avondale Jockey Club, was born in Auckland, on the 18th of June, 1859, and educated at the Auckland Grammar school. While a youth he entered the office of the New Zealand Steam Shipping Company. He held the position of purser for some years, and afterwards joined the Pacific Mail Steamship Company, trading between Sydney, New Zealand, and San Francisco. Some years later he commenced business in Auckland as agent for the Burlington Railway Company, United States of America, and many other commercial firms. Subsequently he purchased the printing business of Messrs Cecil Gardner and Co., now known as the Scott Printing Company. In 1890, Mr. Hayr started the “Sporting Review,” which he afterwards sold to an Auckland firm. Mr. Hayr works the totalisator machines for the Avondale Jockey Club, Auckland Racing Club, Coromandel Racing Club, Egmont Racing Club, and Rotorua Jockey Club. He has also owned a number of racehorses.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Trotting Club
                
                was established in June of the season 1889–1890. Three meetings, embracing in all seven days, are held each season in Potter's Paddock, Epsom. The officers of the club are: Sir G. M. O'Rorke, M.H.R., president; Messrs F.



Lawry, M.H.R., Hon. Major Harris, M.L.C., and A. R. Harris, J.P., vice-presidents; Messrs A. R. Harris, J.P., judge; F. W. Edwards, handicapper and starter; T. Brown, clerk of course; S. C. Caulton, clerk of scales; J. Rowe, treasurer; C. F. Mark, secretary; O. B. Waymouth, auditor.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Pakuranga Hunt Club
                
                has been about thirty years in existence, and is the oldest hunt club in the colony. Its runs are held twice a week, on Wednesdays and Saturdays, and there is an occasional stag hunt. The most varied country in the colony is to be found in the outskirts of Auckland, as ditches, wire, brush, post and rail fences, and more often stone walls from five to six feet high have to be negotiated. Messrs Every McLean, W. McLaughlin, W. Percival, and A. Buckland have taken great interest in the club, with which they have been associated since its infancy. The financial position of the club is good; it has a membership of 107, and the subscription is three guineas per annum. The meets are very popular, and are sometimes attended by as many as 200 horsemen and horsewomen, besides large numbers of persons in carriages. The club's colours are all green. A race meeting is held each season, in conjunction with the Auckland Racing Club, when the principal event is the Hunt Club Cup of seventy guineas. Other races are the Hunt Club Bracelet of fifty guineas, and the Hunt Club Hurdles of sixty guineas. The officers of the club for 1901 are: Mr. J. G. Ralph, master; Mr. A. Selby, huntsman; Mr. R. P. Kinloch, secretary; Mr. W. Carminer, treasurer.
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Mr. John Guest Ralph,
               
 Master of the Pakuranga Hounds, and owner of the Sylvia Park estate, the home and grave of “Musket,” was born in Queen's County, Ireland, on the 1st of January, 1858. He is the only son of Mr. W. V. Ralph, Firmount, East Tamaki, who arrived by the ship “John Duncan,” in 1864. Mr. J. G. Ralph was educated at Robertson's Academy at the Thames, and commenced to learn practical metallurgy, under the late Mr. E. M. Corbett, manager of the celebrated Moanataiari mine, and remained with the company during the whole of the time the rich shoot of ore was being worked. Mr. Ralph then joined the Waitekauri Gold Mining Company on the opening of that field, under the late Mr. Robert Blizzard, who placed the plant and mine in Mr. Ralph's charge until it was closed down.
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Mr. Ralph then embarked in the flax industry, and worked a mill in the Piako district for two years. He then secured a portion of the foreshore at the Thames, and proceeded to Melbourne, where he succeeded in floating the Askham-Molloy company to work the deposits or tailings that had been lost by the different plants or batteries at the Thames. This scheme proved highly remunerative for two years. Mr. Ralph was subsequently appointed manager of the Jubilee Gold Mining Company at Waitekauri, where he remained in charge for several months. He was one of the first to peg out a claim, which is now owned by the well-known Waitekauri Company. Mr. Ralph sold his interest to Mr. T. H. Russell, and then pegged out the Komati Reef, which he floated on the London market, and the reefs are still being worked with profitable results. Mr. Ralph then retired from active mining pursuits and purchased his present property, celebrated as the home of “Musket,” the sire of “Carbine” and other famous horses. Since acquiring Sylvia Park, Mr. Ralph has followed the footsteps of his predecessors, the old Auckland Stud Company, and has bred, and is still breeding, thoroughbred racehorses, including “Lady Avon,” a “St. Simon”—“Musket” cross. This mare won the blue ribbon at the avondale Jockey Club's meeting in 1899. Mr. Ralph identifies himself with hunting, and he has recently been chosen Master of the Pakuranga Hunt Club. He is one of the few in New Zealand who hold first-class mine managers' certificates.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Selby,
                Huntsman of the Pakuranga Hounds, Auckland, is one of the keenest of sportsmen. He was born at Greatness, Sevenoaks, Kent, England, in 1845, and is the second son of the late Mr. John Allen Selby, who owned a large farm at Greatness. Young Selby was educated at the Sevenoaks Grammar school, and after leaving that academy, he worked upon his father's farm, and afterwards managed it for six years. He then was offered the management of Blenkeron's celebrated racing establishment and stud farm at Eltham, but did not accept the position. Mr. Selby later on became manager of the Sevenoaks Depot, owned by Martin and Co., with whom he remained for eleven years, when he purchased the business, which he carried on for four years. After coming to New Zealand and settling at Wellington, Mr. Selby joined a Mr. Turnor, in the purchase of a block of land in the Forty-mile Bush, where he remained until 1893. He then removed to Auckland and finally settled at Otahuhu, where he has resided ever since. In 1894 he was appointed hunstsman of the Pakuranga Hunt Club, and still fills the office with satisfaction to all concerned. Mr. Selby has been a prize-giving member of the Auckland Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and also a competitor in the hunters' class at its annual shows. He is clerk of the course to the Auckland and Avondale Jockey Clubs, and won the Avondale Hunt Club Steeples in 1898, with the assistance of “Rainbow,” bred by Mr. L. D. Nathan. Unfortunately this fine horse afterwards had his back broken in the hunting field. Mr. Selby is also a member of the Auckland and Otahuhu Cricket Clubs, and is an able exponent of the game. As a huntsman he gained his first experience with the pack of Squire Perkins, of Chipsted Place, and he was then only eight years of age. Since then



he has kept up the open air traditions of a typical English gentleman farmer.

            

            

              
              


                
New Zealand Tattersall's Club.
                This club was established in 1882 for the convenience of persons interested in racing and sports of all kinds. The club rooms are situated at the corner of Queen and Swanson Strets. All matters in dispute over betting are referred to the club for settlement, and its decision is final. This affords a great protection for investors in racing matters, as each bookmaker is responsible to the club for his character and financial standing. The club's membership stands at over one hundred, and the assets, which are mostly in cash, are over £400. Officers: Mr. R. H. Duder, president; Mr. C. S. H. McKinney, secretary. There is a committee of seven gentlemen.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. C. S. H. Mckinney
                
                is a son of the Rev. Robert McKinney, of Warkworth, one of New Zealand's earliest settlers. He has resided in Auckland for the past twenty years, during which he has been prominently identified with athletic and sporting matters. For over twelve years he was a hard-working member of the Auckland Cricket Association, and has iloted two teams through New Zealand. It was owing to his efforts that the fine pavilion in the Domain cricket ground was erected. In 1894 Mr. McKinney became secretary to the New Zealand Tattersall's Club.
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Societies.

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Society Of Arts
                
                holds its annual exhibition in either the month of March or November. The society occupies a room at No. 36 Palmerston Buildings, where art periodicals are laid on the tables. This room is open to members on each week day during office hours. His Excellency the Governor, Lord Ranfurly, and Lady Ranfurly are patrons to the Auckland Society of Arts. The officers for 1901 are: Mr. A. E. Devore, president; Mr. D. Goldie, Rev. Dr. Purchas, Messrs E. W. Payton, H. Brett, W. Aitken, E. Withy, E. A. Mackechnie, J. H. Upton, and T. H. Smith, vice-presidents; Messrs F. Wright, E. E. Vaile, T. D. Leedham, M. Trenwith, C. F. Goldie, E. W. Payton, and R. Pheney, committee; Mr. E. Bartley, treasurer; Mr. S. Stuart, secretary, View Road, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Acclimatization Society.
                The officers of this society are: Mr. James Burtt, president; Mr. A. Bull, vice-president; Messrs G. R. Bloomfield, A. D'Arcy, H. C. Choyce, C. E. S. Gillies, E. J. Harvey, J. Hardie, T. T. Masefield, T. Morrin, A. A. White, A. C. Whitney, and J. Wigmore, members of council; Mr. T. F. Cheeseman, secretary and treasurer. The Auckland Acclimatization Society was founded in February, 1867, by a few gentlemen desirous of introducing game and insectivorous birds. At that time the only foreign birds which had been naturalised in the colony were the Chinese pheasant and the common house sparrow. The new society lost no time in commencing operations. A site was secured in the Auckland Domain, a curator's house and aviaries were erected, and orders for a great number of birds were forwarded to England. For ten years the chief efforts of the society were devoted to the introduction of birds, and it successfully acclimatized the blackbird, thrush, starling, rook, greenfinch, goldfinch, chaffinch, skylark, yellowhammer, Californian quail, Australian quail, black swan and white swan. The society next turned its attention to the introduction of fish. The common carp and the American cat-fish were easily succeeded with, and attempts were then made to introduce Californian salmon and English brown trout. For several years large consignments of salmon ova were obtained from San Francisco, and thousands of fry were hatched and distributed in the chief rivers of the province. It was not until ten years' work had been given to this without success that all further attempts to deal with salmon in Auckland were abandoned. In the meantime experiment had fully proved that the English brown trout would not thrive to the northward of Lake Rotorua. The society then attempted the introduction of the Californian rainbow trout, and in a few years it became evident that the experiment would be successful. As large importations of birds were no longer required, the society gave up its establishment near Auckland, and selected a suitable locality in the Upper Thames Valley, where an ample supply of pure water made it easy to establish a fish-breeding station. A hatchery was erected, and breeding-ponds and all other conveniences for the rearing of trout were constructed. This has resulted in the stocking of most of the rivers and lakes between the Lower Waikato and Lake Taupo with rainbow trout, and excellent fishing can now be obtained in many localities. At the present time the society's hatchery TURNS out about 500,000 trout ova yearly. Part of these is sold to foreign societies, but a considerable proportion is hatched and the fry distributed in suitable streams. Every year additional rivers are thrown open for fishing; and before very long nearly all suitable streams will be well stocked.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Provincial Agricultural Association.
                The present association is an institution of comparatively recent date, but the parent society, which was founded as early as 1843, and known as the North Ulster Agricultural and Pastoral Society, was probably the oldest in New Zealand. It had many ups and downs, and in the early fifties its name was changed to the Auckland Agricultural Association, and later to that of the New Zealand Agricultural and Pastoral Association. Mr. John Grigg, of Longbeach, Canterbury, was one of its early presidents. Between 1870 and 1880 the old society was again flourishing under its original name of the Auckland Agricultural and Pastoral Association. A show ground was purchased at Ellerslie, and a considerable amount of money was expended on the yards and buildings. Unfortunately the heavy burdens consequent on this expenditure, and a series of wet show days, landed the society in financial difficulties, and in 1887 the show ground fell into the hands of the mortgagees. The Auckland district was then for four years without either an agricultural association or a show. In the year 1890 the Mangere Farmers' Club determined to re-establish an institution so essential for the development of agriculture and for stimulating the breeding of high-class stock. An energetic committee took the matter in hand, and a show was held in November, 1890, under the auspices of the Mangere Farmers' Club. The success of this show encouraged the committee to undertake the formation of the present association, which was constituted in May, 1891, with Mr. W. F. Massey, M.H.R., as the first president. Since then the progress of the association has been steady and regular. It has been fortunate in having the services of such able and energetic presidents as the gentlemen who have succeeded each other in this position; namely, Messrs W. F. Massey, M. M. Kirkbride, G. B. Hutton, W. McLaughlin, W. Westney, and J. G. Rutherford. The shows during the past few years have been held at Potter's Paddock, Epsom. These grounds are convenient and central, and provided with all the requisite stands, pens, and buildings. The officers of the association for 1901 are: Mr. J. G. Rutherford, president; Mr. R. Dick, vice-president; Messrs E. Allen, George Ballard, J. Fisher, W. Greenwood, James Hume, R. Hall, M. M. Kirkbride, W. McLaughlin, C. Shipherd, W. Sharp, W. Westney, and John Udy, executive committee of the council; Mr. A. H. Grainger, honorary treasurer; Mr. Edwin Hall, secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Gillies Rutherford,
                President of the Auckland Provincial Agricultural Association, is a prominent settler in the Bombay district, and is referred to as such in another article.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Edwin Hall,
                of Mangere, the present secretary, has been in office almost from the foundation of the association, and has proved himself to be a conscientious and painstaking official, who carries out his duties with judgment and punctuality.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Mr. Alfred Henry Grainger
                
                (Of Messrs Hurst and Co.) has, as honorary treasurer, rendered valuable services to the association, by supervising the finances with cordial goodwill and business-like ability.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Camera Club.
                This club was founded in 1885, and such well-known citizens as Dr. J. L. Campbell, Messrs J. R. Francis, W. R. Carsons, G. R. Boulton, B. W. Swales, and G. Sturtevant were prominently associated with its inception. The object of the club is the advancement of photography in all its branches. Lord Onslow, when Governor of New Zealand, took a great interest in the club, and, being himself an amateur photographer, he attended several of its meetings while he was residing in Auckland. After some years of prosperity the financial depression that passed over Auckland about 1890 caused the club to almost entirely cease operations, and in 1892 the officers indefinitely suspended the meetings. In 1895 Mr. R. B. Walrond, now president called a public meeting of those interested in photography, and the club again resumed active work under the most favourable conditions. It has at present a membership of sixty-five. The officers for 1901 are: Dr. J. Logan Campbell, patron; Mr. R. B. Walrond, president; Messrs D. Goldie, Josiah Martin, J. R. Hanna, and E. W. Payton,



vice-presidents; Mr. H. R. Arthur, care of the Auckland Gas Company, honorary secretary.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Herbert R. Arthur,
               
 Secretary of the Auckland Camera Club, is a native of Auckland, and received his education at the Auckland Grammar School. On leaving
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school Mr. Arthur turned his attention to farming, which he afterwards gave up to join the Auckland Gas Company's staff, of which he has been a member for thirteen years. Mr. Arthur has devoted much of his time to the study of photography, and has been an enthusiastic and active member of the Camera Club for twelve years. He has held the position of secretary since 1892, and has done much for the club's welfare and advancement.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Savage Club
                
                was established in June, 1888. Its chief objects are the development of artistic talent, and the promotion of good fellowship and rational amusement. Visitors of distinction are invited to attend the meetings, which are held on alternate Saturday evenings in the club room, Masonic Hall, Princes Street, from April to October of each year. The club, amongst its own members, possesses one of the finest orchestras in the city. Its present membership is 150, and its finances are in a flourishing condition. The officers are: Bro. Dr. T. Hope Lewis, president; Bros. Rev. Dr. Egan, Dr. de Clive Lowe, and J. McK. Geddes, vice-presidents; Bros. A. Bartley, S. Milroy, J. J. Boak, A. B. Reynolds, C. Chambers, H. Keesing, and W. R. Carrollo, committee; Bro. W. Ledingham, honorary treasurer; Bro. W. Prime, honorary auditor; Bro. F. J. Whitaker, honorary secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Orphans' Club
                
                is established on lines similar to those of the Savage Club. Meetings are held on every alternate Saturday evening throughout the winter months in the club room, Masonic Hall, Princes Street. The membership is 140, but a large number of the “Orphans” are also members of the Savage Club. The officers are: Bro. S. Thorne George, president; Bros. M. Lewis, J. W. Browning, A. L. Edwards, L. Lewis, and McDougall, committee; Bro. J. W. Worrall, treasurer; Bros. W. J. Quinn and N. A. L. Gazzard, joint secretaries.

            

            

              
              


                

                  New Zealand And Australian Natives' Association
                
                (Auckland branch). The Mayor of Auckland is patron, and the following constitute the Executive: Mr. J. J. O'Brien, president; Mr. W. H. Churton, vice-president; Messrs G. Brabant, W. Smith, T. Foley, Captain Reid, W. Marshall, D. L. Goldwater, and G. Stevens committee; Mr. P. Bryant, treasurer; Mr. E. Ford, secretary. This registered society was founded in November, 1894, and has over 600 enrolled members. The ordinary meetings are held every fourth week during the winter season in the club room, Queen Street, where a first-class billiard table of local manufacture is looked after by an experienced marker. Chess, draughts, writing materials, newspapers, and a piano are kept for the convenience of members and their friends. A telephone is also provided. The association interests itself in all important public matters bearing on the welfare of the colony, and is intended for the intellectual and social advancement of its members. Membership is confined to males born in New Zealand and the Australian colonies, and who are of or over the age of eighteen years. A benevolent fund for the benefit of members has been established. The annual subscription is ten shillings.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Ernest George Robert Ford
                
                J.P., Secretary of the New Zealand Natives' Association, was formerly connected with the Union Steamship Company, for which he was agent at Russell, Bay of Islands, and afterwards its manager at Levuka for over three years. He is the only surviving son of the late Dr. Samuel Hayward Ford, who is mentioned in Brett's History of New Zealand, as one of the pioneers of the North of Auckland. Mr. Ford was partly educated at the Parnell Grammar School, and completed his education in England. On returning to New Zealand he joined the mercantile marine, and was engaged as a trader in connection with the South Sea Islands and the Australian Colonies. Mr. Ford was instrumental in developing the Ngunguru coalfield, north of Auckland, and also took a prominent part in the formation of the New Zealand Natives' Association. He was president for two years, and he is now secretary. Mr. Ford was the prime mover in the raising of three corps of New Zealand natives, and one Engineer Corps, in the City of Auckland, and is an enthusiastic supporter of athletic and aquatic sports. He holds a certificate of proficiency from the Auckland Umpires' Association.
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Auckland Horticultural Society.
                This society was established in 1897, and has already achieved very considerable success. Two shows are held annually in the Choral Hall, where excellent displays are made. The society has a library, which members may use free of charge, in the premises of Messrs Yates and Co. This library contains all the principal English and American horticultural journals. His Excellency the Governor, Lord Ranfurly, is patron of the society, and the mayor, Mr. D. Goldie, is vice-patron. Professor Thomas, M.A., is president, and there are thirty-eight vice-presidents. The committee consists of Messrs Alfred Hosking (chairman), W. Collins, A. E. Grinrod, W. Handley, E. J. Harvey, H. A. Marriner, and A. Taylor. There is also a ladies' committee consisting of Mrs McKean, Mrs Clifford A. Stevens, and Miss Kate Nelson. Mr. William Satchell, of Exchange Lane, Queen Street, is secretary to the society.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland And Suburban Poultry, Pigeon, And Canary Association.
                This association was formed in 1900 by the amalgamation of the Auckland and suburban associations, the city society being the parent body. Its present officers are: Mr. C. Grey, president; Mr. A. A. White, treasurer; Mr. J. M. Thomson, secretary; Messrs A. Currie, G. Rowles, J. B. Paterson, T. McEntree, J. Coyle, G. Taylor, H. Tattersall, D. Markham, T. Higgins, A. Adamson, J. Walker, W. Mason, C. V. Langford, J. Kelso, J. Williamson, Charles Bartley, and T. Hanson, committee. The Auckland association was in existence for over twenty years prior to the amalgamation, and held a yearly show. The first show of the combined associations was held in 1900.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Scenery Conservation Society.
                Mr. David Goldie, Mayor of Auckland, is president of this society, and Dr. J. L. Campbell, Messrs L. D. Nathan, James Russell, and W. S. Wilson are vice-presidents. The committee consists of twenty of the leading citizens of Auckland. The society was formed at a public meeting



convened by the mayor on the 21st of July, 1899. Its chief objects are the conservation of the natural beauties of the district of Auckland, to prevent the destruction of native trees and shrubs, to encourage tree planting, the general beautification of public places, and generally, to make travelling to all places of interest easier and pleasanter. At the first meeting of the committee, Mr. A. J. Allom was induced to accept the combined offices of honorary secretary and treasurer, and carried them out until ill-health compelled him to resign in December, 1900. The annual subscription of members is five shillings; a life membership is granted on payment of three guineas or any higher sum; and the funds are devoted to the furtherance of the general objects of the society.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Shorthand Writers' Association.
                This association was established in 1888. The officers are: Mr. William Berry, president; Mr. W. H. Leece, secretary; Mr. W. Bedford, treasurer; Miss Entrican and Mr. Brodie, committee.

            

            

              
              


                
The Yorkshire Society,
                established by the Yorkshire people residing in Auckland, holds monthly social meetings in the Oddfellows' Hall, Cook Street. The officers for 1901 are: Dr. Henry Walker, president; Mr. Thomas Read, treasurer; Mr. John West, secretary; Messrs J. Jackson, J. G. Culpan, H. Schofield, J. R. Harrop, Henry Winkelmann, T. Woodhead, and W. E. Baxter, committee.
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Aucklanders, like most pleasure-loving people, are devotedly attached to music, and operas and concerts are better patronised amongst them than they are in any other part of New Zealand. Among those who, in the past, were intimately associated with the Choral Society, but who now are numbered with the dead, may be mentioned Mr. Joseph Browne, Judge Fenton, Colonel Balneavis, the Rev. S. Edger, and Mr. J. S. Cousins, all of whom, as conductors, leaders, or committeemen, took a deep interest in the Society's welfare. The higher branches of musical art are still well sustained in the city, but the people who like “music with tunes in it,” are also provided for at numerous entertainments. There is a Chair of Music in Auckland University College, and this and the teachers enumerated in this section will show how well instruction in the art is provided for in Auckland.
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Theatres, Halls, Etc.

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Opera House
                
                is really the only theatre in the city, as the City Hall in Queen Street has no license for dramatic performances, and is, more properly speaking, a concert and lecture hall. The Opera House was built in 1882, and first opened on the 23rd of May of that year. In 1897 a number of alterations were made in the stage and the house was thoroughly renovated throughout, so that at present it is one of the best appointed theatres in the Colony. The building is an imposing one, with a grey stone facade, and cement back and walls. The entrances to the stalls and dress circle are in Wellesley Street, and the principal stage entrances are on Elliot Street. The auditorium consists of orchestra stalls, stalls, pit, and dress circle, and can comfortably seat about 1300 people. The orchestra stalls, of which there are three rows, are composed of patent iron theatre chairs comfortably upholstered. The same style is used in the dress circle, and the ordinary stalls and pit are furnished with wooden benches, provided with backs. There are also four proscenium boxes. The stage has a width of 67 feet with a depth of 42 feet, and the height from the stage floor to the gridiron is 52 feet. These dimensions are sufficiently large to take in the biggest sized cloths. The width of the proscenium is 31 feet 6 inches. Beneath the stage there is an airy collar, 42 feet deep by 67 feet wide, with a height of 14 feet. There are eleven dressing-rooms downstairs and eight on the stage, all fitted with every convenience. The building is furnished with the latest and most improved appliances for dealing with fire, including a patent hosewheel, the invention of Superintendent Hughes. This is situated in a convenient position on the stage, so that in case of an outbreak of fire, the water could be turned in any direction at a moment's notice. The proprietor always keeps a large amount of stock scenery on hand, sufficient for the staging of any ordinary drama.
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The City Hall,
                which belongs to the proprietor of the Opera House, is situated in Queen Street, between Victoria and Wellesley Streets. It is a brick building, and has very lately been re-decorated and painted throughout. It was opened early in the seventies, and has sitting accommodation for about 1500 persons. The stage is 69 feet wide by 26 feet deep, and the height to the top of the proscenium is 23 feet. As already stated, the City Hall is utilised almost exclusively as a lecture and concert hall. Both the Opera House and the City Hall belong to the estate of the late Mr. H. N. Abbott, and Mr. McConnochie is agent for both properties on behalf of Mr. Abbott's executors.
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Mr. H. N. Abbott
                
               
 was born in Alford, Lincolnshire, and educated in England. As a young man he was apprenticed to a chemist and druggist in Alford. After serving his term of apprenticeship Mr. Abbott was a chemist's assistant in London for two years. He arrived in Melbourne on the 14th of February, 1855, and shortly afterwards went into business at St. Kilda. About two years later he was smitten with the gold fever, and went to the diggings in the Ovens district, where he met with varying success. He visited the various goldfields of Victoria and New South Wales, and was engaged in mining off and on for about five years. In 1862 he was attracted to New Zealand by the Hartley and Riley “rush” in the Otago district, and started storekeeping on the Shotover river, where he remained for about two years, when he moved to the West Coast. Mr. Abbott was one of the pioneer storekeepers on the Coast, and was, in fact, the first man to start a store inland. In June, 1864, he opened a store at Greenstone Creek, nineteen miles away from the mouth of the Grey River. There was hardly a blade of grass in the district then, and as oats were worth a shilling a pound the horses many times were obliged to subsist on the leaves of the trees. A lot of money was to be made in those days packing stores from the mouth of the river to the field, and Mr. Abbott, with the aid of



twelve horses, at one time made £930 in three weeks by freighting alone. He remained at Greenstone Creek until 1867, when he gave up his business and took a trip to England
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for a year's rest. On his return to New Zealand, the Thames goldfields were in full swing, and he went to the Thames, where he started the Exchange Hotel. In 1869 he also bought the Waitemata Hotel in Queen Street, Auckland, and ran the two for a while, but eventually sold the Thames Hotel to his manager. Mr. Abbott remained in the “Waitemata” for seven years. He then took over the City Club Hotel, whence he went to the United Service Hotel. He bought the ground adjoining this hotel, and built the Opera House on the site in 1882, and took over the City Hall a year later. Mr. Abbott re-visited England in 1877, and again in 1895. He was extensively interested in the mining industry, and was for many years one of the boldest speculators in that connection in Auckland. Mr. Abbott died on the 19th of November, 1899, at Dunedin, whilst on a visit to that city.

            

            

              
              


                

                  City Hall
                
                (Mr. P. R. Dix, lessee), Queen Street and Victoria Street West, Auckland. Since the 1st of April, 1899, this popular place of amusement has been occupied by Dix's Gaiety Company, under the management of Mr. P. R. Dix, with an excellent and varied entertainment, which has successfully appealed to the popular taste.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Percy Reginald Dix,
               
 Proprietor of Dix's Gaiety Company and Lessee of the City Hall, Auckland, is a versatile Tasmanian, who has been in his time a student of chemistry, a dealer in teas, and for a number of years a theatrical manager. He was borr in Launceston, Tasmania, and received his education at the Collegiate Institute of that town. After passing his first examination as a professional chemist, he decided to proceed no further, and went to Melbourne, where he mastered the mysteries of the tea trade. He arrived in Auckland in 1891, and commenced business as a tea merchant, and successfully carried on the trade until he entered the profession of public entertainer and theatrical manager, by initiating the Monday Popular Concerts in the City Hall. These concerts were continued for three years, and whilst engaged in their management Mr Dix acted as secretary of the Auckland Amateur Opera Club, which, during his time, staged “The Mikado,” “The Gondoliers,” and “Les Cloches de Corneville,” with artistic and financial success. Mr. Dix was also secretary of the Auckland Literary Society's Union, and Premier of the Auckland Union Parliament. Since Mr. Dix has assumed the management of the City Hall, he has introduced a number of clever and versatile artists, and claims that he has established a theatrical record, as his company has (January,
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1901) been performing for nearly two years, and the City Hall is now an established resort of popular entertainment.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. John McConnochie,
               
 Manager of the Auckland Opera House and City Hall, was born in Auckland, in 1862, and educated in the city. He served an apprenticeship with his father, the late Mr McConnochie, builder and contractor. Later on the entered into partnership with his father, under the style of McConnochie and Son, builders and contractors, and for a number of years they carried on a very successful building trade. Mr. McConnochie afterwards proceeded to Sydney and Melbourne, where he carried out large building contracts. He returned to Auckland in 1894, and joined the late Mr. Abbott as his manager, a position to which he has lately been re-appointed by the present proprietress, Mrs. Abbott. Mr. McConnochie is a keen sportsman, and is seen at all the principal racing events around Auckland. He is also a member of the Old Chums' Association. Mr. McConnochie is married, and has three sons and one daughter, his eldest son being at present employed
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in the well-known firm of T. S. Morrin and Co.
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                  The Auckland Choral Society
                
                was founded in 1858 for the elevation of musical art and the development of musical talent. Of its founders, the majority are dead, and the late Judge Fenton, as vice-president and chairman of committee, took a prominent and active part in the society for many years. The first concerts were held in the Mechanics' Institute, but at the request of Sir G. F. Bowen, then Governor of the Colony, subsequent concerts were held in a large hall attached to the present Government House. Ultimately the committee acquired the site of the present Choral Hall, at the corner of Symonds and Alfred Streets, and erected a hall, which was afterwards burned down, and as it was not insured its destruction involved a considerable loss. However, another hall was soon built, and properly insured, but no sooner was it completed than it, too, was burned down. The committee then erected the present Choral Hall, which is a substantial plastered brick building, with a frontage of Corinthian pillars, and capable of seating 1100 people. Five oratorio concerts are held each year, and there are about 200 performing members, exclusive of an orchestra of sixty performers. The honorary members number about 300. Rehearsals are held every Tuesday evening, except during the summer vacation. The subscription is one guinea per annum. Mr. H. Brett, now vice-president and chairman of committee, who has taken a great interest in the society from its inception, has presented a magnificent two-manual pipe organ, which



is erected in the hall. This instrument cost over £800, and is practically a gift to the musical public of Auckland, as all registered musical societies may use it for a nominal fee. The performing members of the Choral Society are admitted upon passing an examination by the conductor and committee. During the time the society has been in existence it has exercised an important influence on the music of the city, by producing compositions of the leading composers, and in other ways. Mr. H. Brett is vice-president and chairman; Mr. G. Harker, vice-chairman and treasurer; Mr. H. J. Edmiston, secretary; Dr. W. E. Thomas, Mus. Doc., Oxford, conductor; Mr. G. A. Paque, L.A.M., henorary deputy conductor.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. H. J. Edmiston,
               
 Secretary of the Auckland Choral Society, was born in Scotland in 1860, and arrived in New Zealand
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with his parents a year later. He joined the Choral Society as secretary in 1886, and has occupied the position ever since.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Joseph Browne,
                who arrived in Auckland in 1855, has been termed the father of musical effort in the city and provincial district. In England he had been organist of Holy Trinity Church, Windsor, and conductor of the Musical Society, Eton, a friend and contemporary of Sir G. J. Elvy. After arriving at Auckland he passed hundreds of pupils through his singing classes, and formed and trained the choir of St. Matthew's Church, raising the money and obtaining the organ, at the time the largest and best in New Zealand, and working up a fine choir of sixty picked voices. He organised and established the Auckland Choral Society in 1856, and got together an excellent chorus and orchestra, with the assistance of musicians like Colonel Balneavis, Judge Fenton, Mr. G. J. Browne, and others. The Auckland Choral Society was the first to perform in New Zealand the works of Handel, Mozart, Haydn, Beethoven, and other masters. Mr. Browne was born in 1818, and died in 1884.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Liedertafel
                
                was inaugurated in July, 1892. At the first meeting, which seven of the present members attended, Mr. Arthur Towsey was elected conductor, and has since continued to occupy that position. The objects of the society are the practice and performance of compositions written for male voices, the advancement of music generally by the production of high-class works, and the promotion of social and convivial intercourse amongst its members. Concerts were first held in conjunction with the then existing Orchestral Union, in the Young Men's Christian Association buildings, and afterwards in the City Hall. Later on the Society acquired the use of the Choral Hall, where the Liedertafel concerts have since been held. The performing members now number about fifty, and membership in the society is considered a distinct honour in musical circles. There are about 350 subscribing members, and about 900 tickets are issued for each concert. Four public concerts, at which ladies are admitted, are held each season, and two smoke concerts are held in the Freemasons' Hall. The society possesses a valuable musical library, to which the latest music is constantly being added. The programmes, which are unique, are designed by the secretary, Mr. Harbutt. Musical evenings are given by the society in the various charitable institutions, notably the Costley Home. Occasional moonlight concerts are held on the harbour; one of the fine ferry boats is chartered for the purpose, and the concerts are always popular and well patronised. The officers of the Liedertafel are: Mr. G. Mueller, president; Mr. A. Towsey, conductor; Mr S. J. Harbutt, secretary; Mr. F. J. Povey, honorary treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Sydney J. Harbutt,
                the popular Secretary of the Auckland Liedertafel, is a son of Mr. Thomas J. Harbutt, so well known in Auckland musical circles. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and afterwards entered his father's business. Mr. Harbutt joined the Liedertafel in 1896, and was appointed to his present position in 1900.
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Adams, Miss Jessie M.,
                Teacher of Pianoforte and Theory, Collingwood Street, Ponsonby. Miss Adams is a daughter of Mr. J. A. Adams, of Auckland, and has been engaged in her profession for the past twelve years. Among her many pupils are to be found residents of Onehunga and Mount Eden district, but it is principally from Ponsonby that Miss Adams draws her pupils. In preparing them for the examinations of Trinity College she has been singularly successful, especially in theory; one of her pupils gained 100 per cent. of marks and was the only competitor who won that distinction, and another pupil gained 99 per cent. in the same subject. Miss Adams was educated in Auckland. She was a pupil of Mr. M. Swallow and afterwards of Herr Schmitt; but her valuable knowledge of theory was obtained from Mr. Wood, of Parnell. Miss Adams is associated with the Orchestral Union and is an honorary member of the Choral Society. She is to be found every Wednesday morning at Mr. Richardson's piano warehouse, Victoria Street, where she has rooms for the convenience of her many patrons.

            

            

              
              

                

Baker, Miss Ida,
               
 Pianoforte Teacher, “Stoneleigh,” Rocky Nook, New North Road,
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Auckland. Miss Baker is a daughter of Mr. William Baker, one of Auckland's prominent



townsmen, and received her musical instruction from Miss Emilly Reeve, the well-known pianiste, which she finished under Professor Carl Schmitt. She has practised her profession since 1894. This young lady's services are brought into frequent requisition at Onehunga, Ellerslie, and in the city, thus testifying to her abilities as a teacher. Miss Baker is a member of the Students' Association, and was for some time a member of the Choral Society. She gained in 1895 the Glasgow Medal in the Junior Division for Theory, and in 1897 passed her examination as an Associate of the School of Music (Auckland University).

            

            

              
              

                

Bennett, John Frederick,
               
 Teacher of the Organ, Pianoforte and Theory of Music, Pitt Street. Mr. Bennett was born in Auckland in 1867. He received his instruction
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in the organ in the first instance from Mr. Angelo Forrest; the piano he studied for over four years under Professor Martin Swallow, and for a number of years he was under the able tuition of the well-known composer and organist, Mr. T. Tallis Trimnell, Mus. Bac. Oxon. from whom he had lessons on the organ and the theory of music. Commencing the practice of his profession in 1886. Mr. Bennett numbers amongst his past pupils several well-known performers and teachers of music. He is favourably known as an organist of much ability, and possesses credentials and testimonials of a very high order. He held the position of organist and choirmaster for eight years at the Devonport Presbyterian church, and acted in a similar capacity for five years at St. Peter's church, and on various occasions has occupied the organ stool at most of the principal Anglican churches. At the present time he is organist and choirmaster at Knox Presbyterian Church, Parnell. Mr. Bennett's pupils have met with considerable success in the practical and theoretical divisions of the Associated Board of the Royal Academy and Royal College of Music, London, and in the Trinity College musical examinations. In the 1898 practical examination of the Associated Board, twelve of his pupils were successful, and in 1899, sixteen again secured cerficates—twelve the pass and four the distinction certificate. He teaches on the Lebert and Stark method, and holds for piano, organ, and harmony, certificates which state he can train the most advanced pupils. Mr. Bennett possesses literary as well as musical ability, and for a number of years has been the musical critic of a leading New Zealand journal.

            

            

              
              

                

Bosworth, Tom Henry,
               
 Teacher of Music, Ponsonby Road, Auckland. Born in Nottingham in 1858, he was educated at the local high school, and studied music under Dr. Briggs, the celebrated Henry Houseley, Fellow of the College of Organists, and subsequently under Heinrich Kohler. The subject of this notice came out to Melbourne, Victoria, in the ship “Austral” in 1883. Removing to the New South Wales capital shortly afterwards, he learned the 'cello from Mr. Edward Straus, one of Sydney's famous musicians. Mr. Bosworth is next found in Albury, where he practised his profession for three years, and made a good connection. In 1887 he went to Launceston, and seven years later to Sydney, establishing a practice in the suburbs. He was for three years conductor to the Picton and Camden Philharmonic Societies. Mr. Bosworth emigrated to Auckland, New Zealand, towards the end of 1896, for climatic
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benefits, and shortly after his arrival was appointed conductor of the newly formed Grafton Orchestral Union, and of St. Benedict's choir. He is a composer of no mean degree, “The Beautiful South Esk Waltz,” which has reached its fourth edition, and “The Military Waltz,” being among his compositions. The latter was, at the special request of Messrs. Boosey and Co., London, published in their “Military Band Journal.” This is, in itself, quite sufficient to guarantee a large circulation of Mr. Bosworth's compositions. He is also the composer of many songs, several sacred solos, and a quartet for stringed instruments. Mr. Bosworth is a dog fancier, and has for some years past been a successful breeder of prize collies.

            

            

              
              


                

Boult, Arthur,
                Professor of Music, Auckland. This gentleman is well known throughout Australasia, more especially in Adelaide, where he resided for about twenty years. Owing to ill-health, he was advised to visit Rotorua, and having done so he decided to settle in Auckland. Mr. Boult was born at Manchester in 1851, and is the eldest son of Mr. Arthur Boult, of the firm of Messrs Wrigley, Son and Boult, paper manufacturers, of Manchester and Bury. He was partly educated at Tower school, Cheshire. At a very early age he evinced a decided musical taste, and studied under Drs. Percival and Mathias Field, of Liverpool. In 1876 Mr. Boult was appointed organist to the Adelaide Cathedral, and he held that post for nearly sixteen years, during which the choir obtained the premier position in Australasia. Mr. Boult was the founder of the Adelaide Philharmonic Society and of the Adelaide Stringed Quartet Club. By his letters in the press and other exertions he also succeeded in initiating a chair of music in the Adelaide University, and for some years he held a position on the Board of Musical Studies. In 1880 Mr. Boult married Miss Gawler, grand-daughter of Colonel George Gawler, the first constitutional Governor of South Australia. This lady is associated with her husband in his work as a musician.

            

            

              
              

                

Burke, E. J.,
               
 Teacher of Violin and Piano, Vincent Street, Auckland. Mr. Burke was born in 1870 in Auckland, and received his musical education from Professor Martin
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Swallow and other prominent artists who have passed through the Colony. He commenced the practice of his profession in 1888 and has since that date been a regular performer at public concerts. He has acted as leader of the West End musical society, choirmaster at St. John's R.C. Church, Parnell, and conductor of the Auckland banjo, mandolin, and guitar club. Mr. Burke formed a string band in 1892 with which he has made several tours of the Auckland provincial district, and which he utilises in catering for social clubs and public dances. He has toured New Zealand with theatrical companies as orchestral player, and has a very large pupil list.

            

            

              
              


                

Bridgewater, Miss Jessie E.,
                Teacher of Pianoforte and Theory, 18 Arawa Street, Auckland. Miss Bridgewater has a large number of pupils. She first studied music under Miss A. Colgrove, and went to London to complete her professional training.

            

            

              
              

                

Carter, Thomas Edgar,
               
 Teacher of Piano, Violin, Flute, Banjo, Guitar, Mandolin and Cornet, and an Importer of Music, 88 Victoria Street, Auckland. Mr. Carter was


[image: Mr. T. E. Carter.]
Mr. 
T. E. Carter.


born in 1844 in Coventry, Warwickshire, England; he received his musical education from Mr. Smyth (of the Guards Band) and Mr. Sleath, studying the cornet under the first named, and the plano and violin under the latter. When only 19 years of age Mr. Carter commenced teaching music, and formed a private band, called the “Coventry Saxehorn Band.” He made a specialty of band-teaching, and even at that early stage of his career was instructor to five bands. Besides band playing, Mr. Carter was at this time also engaged in teaching the piano and violin. As a child he showed great musical talent, playing in an orchestra when nine years of age at the production of “The Creation;” when 15 years old he played first cornet in the band of the Warwickshire Volunteers and was first battalion bugler in the same corps. He left the Old Country in 1880 by the “Stracathro,” and on arrival in Auckland opened a music warehouse and studio in Victoria Street, where he has been in business ever since. Mr Carter's establishment is well stocked with all the latest musical pieces, songs, and musical instruments.

            

            

              
              


                
Chambers, Madam,
                Teacher of Violin and Singing, Australian Mutual Provident buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. Private address, “Waldamere,” Birkenhead. This lady who has practised her profession as a teacher of music since 1889, is a daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Buckland. She obtained her early musical instruction from Mr. Leitch, of Dunedin, and afterwards was under Professor Carl Schmitt of Auckland. In 1892, she went to Europe to further pursue her musical studies. She studied at the Royal Conservatorium of Music, Dresden, under such eminent musicians as Professors Froberg, Remmeli, Brannoth, Herr Schnackenberg, Herr Burkhardt, Signor Piccoli, Balletmester Dietze, and Fraulein Gasteyer. She returned to the Colonies after an absence of three years, her marriage with Mr. Charles Chambers taking place shortly afterwards. Madam Chambers is a violiniste of no mean order and the possessor of a pleasing and highly cultivated soprano voice. She is a soloist of the Auckland choral society and invariably appears at all high class concerts.

            

            

              
              

                
Coates, Mrs. A.
               
, Teacher of Singing, Wynyard Street, Auckland. This lady possesses a mezzo contralto voice and has for several years past been well and favourably known to the musical world. As an exponent of voice production Mrs. Coates is unrivalled. Among her many pupils are to
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be found residents in the Waikato and Onehunga. She studied under Madame Christian and afterwards under Madame Steinhauer; she received piano-instruction from the late Mr. Beale, who was one of Auckland's prominent musicians. Mrs. Coates is one of the leading soloists of the Auckland choral society. She has been a member of St. Paul's choir for many years, in which capacity she has rendered valuable service. Mrs. Coates is a daughter of the late Archdeacon Maunsell, and was educated at Mrs. Glover's school.

            

            

              
              

                

England, William John,
               
 Associate of Music at Auckland University, Teacher of Music, Pitt Street, Auckland. Mr. England was born on the 25th of September, 1860, at Stourbridge, Worcestershire, England. After deciding to make music his profession, he studied for some time under Mr. H. Simms, organist of Old Swinford church, and under Mr. Young, organist of Kinver parish church. He came to New Zealand in 1883, and pursued his profession with great success as a music teacher in Whangarei, where, for some time he occupied the position of organist and choirmaster at Christ Church. In 1889, with a view to bettering his position and extending the range of his professional influence, Mr. England settled in Auckland, and took up his residence
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in Pitt Street as a professional pianist and teacher of music, and has met with the success he anticipated. Mr. England is the organist and choirmaster at the Devonport Presbyterian Church, and pianist at the Young Men's Christian Association.

            

            

              
              

                
Finer, Thomas. William,
               
 Pianoforte Teacher, King Street (Jervois Road), Ponsonby. Mr. Finer was born in Wanganui and is a son of Mr. F. W. Finer, of Auckland. He came to Auckland when eight years of age, and received private tuition. For five years he followed the trade of a saddler, serving his time with Mr. G. Allen, of Beresford Street, but being gifted with musical talents he made rapid progress under Mr. S. Adams,



and eventually entered the musical profession. Mr. Finer has won three out of five competitions, and although he has been teaching only a short time he has a considerable
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number of pupils. He is in a position to prepare pupils for examinations. He is a member of Mr. Adams' well-known orchestra, besides having one of his own which has appeared with marked success, not only at some of the best balls but at the prominent music halls.

            

            

              
              

                

Gribbin, Miss Grace,
               
 Teacher of Pianoforte and Theory, Edward Street, Devonport.
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This young lady, who has thoroughly mastered her profession, has proved herself a capable teacher. Her aim is to train high class players who will grace a drawing-room rather than prepare them for examinations. Miss Gribbin's pupils have on several occasions creditably acquitted themselves, securing prizes at the band of hope contests. She is a member of the “Original” banjo club, performing on the mandolin. Miss Gribbin is a daughter of Mr. Francis Gribbin, of Auckland, and received her musical training from Mr. W. H. Webbe. She practised her profession in Newton where she had a most successful career of six years, but removed in 1895 to Devonport, where she maintains an increasing connection.

            

            

              
              


                

Harding, Miss Frances,
                Teacher of Piano, Violin, 'Cello, and Singing, Grafton Road, Auckland. It is only quite recently that this young lady made her debut before the Auckland musical world, in the capacity of a teacher. On her sister's (Mrs. Jackson's) marriage she took over the whole of her pupils and the family reputation has been ably sustained in her hands. Miss Harding was educated in Auckland and saw several years' service under the Auckland Education Board, being stationed respectively at Devonport, Otahuhu, and Omaha. She resigned her position as mistress of the Omaha school to take up her musical career. Miss Harding received her first musical training from the late Mr. Coates, and obtained great assistance from her sister. Her musical tuition was finished under Madame Bahnson, from whom she obtained a certificate of proficiency. Miss Harding, who is a member of the choral society and amateur opera club, is a daughter of the late Mr. Charles Harding, the well-known tenor singer.
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Jackson, Samuel,
                Teacher of Clarionette, Flute, and all wind Instruments, Grafton Road, Auckland. Mr. Jackson was born in Auckland on the 5th of October, 1863, and is a son of the late Sergt. Jackson. He vigorously pursued his musical education under Bandmaster Impey and Mr. Martin Swallow. During Miss Amy Sherwin's opera season of five months, Mr. Jackson held the distinction of playing the solo clarionette in her orchestra. On his return to New Zealand he was engaged for seven months playing at the Dunedin Exhibition, where he left a blank in Dunedin musical circles not easily filled. Mr. Jackson then moved to Auckland, where he is well-known



as an efficient teacher, and has established a premier connection as the result of many years' labour. He is conductor of the Wind Quintette club which was successfully organised by him, and is familiar to patrons of the opera house as clarionette player in the orchestra.

            

            

              
              


                
Jackson, Mrs.,
                Teacher of Music, Grafton Road, Auckland. A daughter of the late Mr. Chas. Harding, the well-known opera singer, Mrs. Jackson studied under Herr Schmitt and Professor Martin Swallow. She was a successful teacher of the piano, violin, and 'cello, and organised the first ladies' orchestra in Auckland with over sixty enthusiastic members. The accompanying group represents 55 members of the Society. Mrs. Jackson was for many years one of the leading members of the choral society, and, on the occasion of her marriage, was presented with a handsome silver tea service by the members.
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Law, Miss Alice E.,
               
 L.R.A.M., London, Teacher of the Pianoforte and Violin, Auckland. This young lady is a daughter of Mrs. Law, late principal of the Girls' College, Remuera. She was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, and spent some of her early days in the vicinity of Glasgow. She came to New Zealand with her mother and sister, and resided at Remuera, where Mrs Law opened a girls' college, and gave her daughters the fullest advantage of a first-class education. Miss Alice Law has been thoroughly grounded in all subjects. Her instructor on the piano was Professor Schmitt, and her violin tutor, Herr Von Zimmerman. Under these masters she made great progress, and developed into a thoroughly efficient teacher. She won the Amateur Opera Club's scholarship in harmony. Miss Law went to England to complete
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her musical studies under the best masters, and gained the diploma of licentiate of the Royal Academy of Music, London. After her return to Auckland she gave a piano recital, at which she demonstrated her remarkable ability as a pianiste. She carries on the practice of her profession in Auckland and Devonport.

            

            

              
              

                

Lester, Miss Florence,
               
 Teacher of the Piano, Organ, and Harmonium, Mount Roskill Road, Auckland. This lady's musical career commenced at the early age of seven; and she was instructed by her mother, musician and artist, with such success that two years later she made her first appearance on the concert platform. Further training was received from the late Herr Carl Schmitt, K.C.C.I., the late Mr Frank Bradley, organist, and others, under whom she made rapid progress in her profession. Her studies in harmony and theory, at home and at the University College, resulted in the production of several compositions of merit. She has been organist at a city church for twelve years,
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and is a member of the Choral Society and Opera Club. Her and has always been willingly given in contributions to the programmes of numerous local concerts and entertainments. The training imparted to her pupils is very careful and thorough, and she has become a popular and much sought-after teacher.

            

            

              
              


                

Mcfarlane, Charles,
                Music Teacher, 58 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr McFarlane was born in London in 1865, and commenced learning the banjo at an early age. He afterwards continued his studies on the banjo, mandolin, and guitar in New York. After coming to the colonies he taught at Hobart, Tasmania, and subsequently at Napier, New Zealand, and has resided in Auckland since February, 1899.

            

            

              
              

                

Mcmaster, Miss Ida,
               
 Teacher of Pianoforte, “Erinholm,” Grey Street, Auckland. Born and educated in Auckland, this young lady is a daughter of Mr. T. McMaster, of Messrs, McMaster and Shalders, the well-known drapers of Queen Street. Miss McMaster received tuition under Mr. Woodham, who was recognised as one of the best teachers of the old school, and afterwards studied under Mr. J. Horton Swales.
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During the various visits of the Ovide Musin Company, Miss McMaster took lessons from a member of the company — the eminent pianist, Herr Schuarf, from whom she obtained a certificate of merit couched in glowing terms. She has passed the London College of Music (Senior Theory), and the Trinity College (Senior Practical) examinations, and many of her pupils have been successful in obtaining prizes at the local examinations for several years past. In harmony, Miss McMaster gained her experience with Mr. Paque, L.A.M., and has recently been continuing her pianoforte studies under one of the professors of the Royal Academy, in London. As an accompanist, she has been eagerly sought by Auckland's most popular singers, and plays the viola in the Union Orchestra, besides being a prominent playing member of the Ladies' Orchestra. She is a teacher of Prince Albert College—a position which she has held since the opening of that institution. That Miss McMaster has made a really good name as a musician is beyond question. She has a full complement of pupils, many of whom reside at Epsom, Onehunga, Devonport, and other distant suburbs.

            

            

              
              


                

Naujoks, Herr Carl,
                Professor of Music, 135 Grey Street, Auckland. Herr Naujoks was born in Konigsberg, Prussia, in 1856, and studied music in Berlin and at Stuttgart, where he became a military bandmaster, and afterwards occupied a similar position in the Transvaal. After visiting Melbourne and Sydney, Herr Naujoks settled in Auckland in 1898. He was married, in 1881, to a daughter of Herr F. Forberg, the well-known composer and violoncellist, of Dussendorf-on-Rhine, and has three sons and two daughters, who are also musical.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Paque, G. A.
               , L.A.M., Professor of Music, Auckland. Mr. Paque graduated at the London Academy of Music, where he won five free scholarships, and studied under Dr. Wylde, Mr. Trew, Signor Pezze, and others. He had eight years' experience in London before settling in Auckland, and has been a successful composer, conductor, solo violoncellist, and teacher. For some years past Mr. Paque has been deputy-conductor of the Auckland Choral Society.

            

            

              
              


                

Partridge, Alfred Arthur,
                Teacher of the Banjo, Mandolin and Guitar, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Partridge was born in London in 1859, and received his musical education in that city under Professor Marsden, leader of the Royal Italian Opera Company at Covent Garden. He was a member of the Philharmonic Orchestra, in which he played the violin, playing also in the Polytechnic Orchestra. Mr. Partridge came to the Colonies in 1881. He is well-known as a public performer.

            

            

              
              

                

Player, Miss Audrey A.,
               
 Teacher of Piano and Theory, View Road, Mount Eden. Miss Player is well known in Auckland musical circles. She obtained her professional training under the late Herr Loffler, and from Mr. J. F. Bennett on the Lebert and Stark method of Stuttgart. She also successfully passed the senior division in practical music, piano, and theory with honours in Trinity College, London. Miss Player received special lessons from Signor Romualdo Sapio, Herr Edward Scharf and Chevalier De Kontski, all of whom spoke in the highest terms of her abilities as a musician and pianiste. Miss Player occupied the position of pianiste to the Mount Eden harmonic society, and is a performing member of the Auckland choral
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society. She is an Aucklander by birth, her father being Mr. R. A. Player of the Kauri Timber company. Though only recently established in her profession the number of pupils that are already enrolled and attending her classes is large; which is good testimony to her capabilities as a teacher.

            

            

              
              

                

Rimmer, Miss Alice,
               
 Teacher of Music, Vincent Street, Auckland. Private address, Helensville. From the tender age of nine years, Miss Rimmer gave evidence of musical
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ability, which was so marked that an influential gentleman, who was present at her first appearance, graciously offered to start her musical education by paying for several terms' tuition. From that time her public career may be said to have begun. Giving evidence of increasing powers, her friends decided to engage the very best tuition Auckland could give, and, placing her under the well-known professor of music, Herr Tutscha, they were rewarded by the rapid progress she made under his able tuition. Miss Rimmer's talent soon made her well known in Auckland musical circles, and she was selected by the Auckland Choral Society as its soloist on several occasions, notably in the “Crusaders,” “Judas Macabeus,” and the “Messiah.” Miss Rimmer has made a study of her musical art, but as a teacher she devotes herself specially to voice culture, harmony, and pianoforte playing. She is engaged by the Young Men's Christian Association as its soloist, and assists frequently at concerts in connection with most of the religious denominations, with which she is deservedly popular. For some time Miss Rimmer has refrained from singing at secular concerts, on account of her religious convictions.

            

            

              
              


                

Thomas, William Edwin,
                Teacher of the Piano, Organ, Singing, Harmony, Counterpoint, and Composition, Auckland. Dr. Thomas is referred to elsewhere as Professor of Music at Auckland University College, etc.

            

            

              
              

                

Towsey, Arthur
               
, Teacher of Piano, Organ, Harmony, and Singing, was born at Henley-on-Thames, Oxfordshire, England, in June, 1846, and at an early age showed a marked talent for music. At the age of seven he commenced the study of the pianoforte with Mr. E. H. Thorne, organist of the parish church, Henley, and two years later went to the college of Sir F. A. Gore Ouseley, Tenbury, Worcestershire, as a probationer. He gained a scholarship for singing, shortly after, which entitled him to free education, board and residence in the college so long as his boy's voice lasted. During that period he studied the pianoforte and organ under Sir John Stainer and Mr. Langdown Colborne, and had the privilege of receiving lessons in harmony from Sir Gore Ouseley. On leaving the college Mr. Towsey studied with Mr. H. C. Deacon, of London, and held an appointment as organist. In 1865, he was selected organist and choirmaster of St. Paul's Cathedral, Dunedin, where he remained in that capacity, and also as a teacher of various branches of music, until 1878, when he obtained leave of absence and went to England. For nearly two years he pursued his musical studies, under Mr. Berthold Tours, for harmony, and Mr. W. Shakespeare for singing, and Signor Tito Mattei for pianoforte, besides attending lectures at Trinity College given by Dr. Lennox Browne and Dr. Liewellyn Thomas, and studying laryngoscopy with Herr Emil Behnke. During his stay in England he deputised for Mr. Fred Archer at the Alexandra Palace, giving daily organ recitals, and frequently took the week day services at St. Paul's Cathedral for Sir John Stainer. He returned to New Zealand in 1880 and resigned his appointment in Dunedin three years later. In 1883 he accepted a similar appointment in Christchurch where he remained for four years. During his sojourn in the latter city he conducted with marked
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success the three principal musical societies, viz.: Liedertafel, Musical Society, and Amateur Comic Opera Company. In the latter part of 1888 he visited Melbourne and gave



organ recitals in the Exhibition buildings. In January, 1889, he was unanimously elected to his old position as organist at the cathedral, Dunedin, and in April of the same year was appointed musical director and conductor of the New Zealand and South Seas Exhibition. At the close of the exhibition, in April, 1890, he received an offer to undertake the duties of organist and choirmaster at All Saints, St. Kilda, Melbourne, but on medical advice not to take his children to that climate, he declined the offer. In January, 1891, he removed to Auckland at the invitation of the Orchestral Union and was appointed organist and choirmaster of St. Matthew's church. Since his residence in Auckland he has instituted the Liedertafel Society, which is on a flourishing and satisfactory footing.

            

            

              
              

                

Verrall, Miss A. Hyder.
               
 Teacher of Pianoforte and Theory, Ponsonby Road, Auckland. Although the city of the north
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is the birthplace of Miss Verrall and where her primary education was received, she received her musical instruction mainly in Sydney, for some years studying under Professor Roberts, Miss Walker, and others. Upon leaving the Sydney High School, and passing her Trinity examinations in theory, and two of the local examinations, she established a ladies' school with a large circle of pupils both in city and suburbs. On returning to Auckland to resume her profession, she brought testimonials speaking highly of her as a most painstaking teacher and thoroughly accomplished musician. After her return Miss Verrall entered the University course under Herr Schmitt, and in 1897 she gained the Glasgow Silver Medal. In 1898 she passed the final examinations for the degree of Associate of Music.

            

            

              
              

                

Schmitt, Carl,
               
 K.C.C.I., sometime Professor of Music, Auckland. This well-known musician occupied a prominent position in the musical world of Auckland, as conductor, organiser, and teacher—for eighteen years. Prof. Schmitt, whose fame was spread throughout the Australian Colonies, established
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a choral society in Sydney as early as 1869, and, while in the New South Wales capital, produced many musical compositions. The Professor subsequently visited Tasmania for the benefit of his health, and in 1882 came to Auckland, New Zealand. He immediately took up the position of conductor of the Auckland Choral Society, to which he had been appointed principally through the representations of Mr. F. D. Fenton, late Judge of the Native Land Court, and a prominent member of that society. He received the Chair of Music in the Auckland University College in 1888, and founded the Young Ladies' Orchestra. Professor Schmitt was descendant of a family of composers. His father, the Chevalier d'Alois Schmitt, was Court Organist at Hanover, and the composer of more than 100 works, chiefly instrumental. It was in Frankfort that the subject of this notice began his musical career. With the assistance of his father, he trained an orchestra of sixty boys in the Salle Andoné. His musical studies were commenced under his father, and completed under Wolf (violin) and Hauff (theory). When only nineteen years of age, the young musician was appointed Music Director at Wurzburg, and later on occupied a similar position at Königsberg. In addition to the distinctions gained in musical matters, he had many decorations holding the University of Florence Silver Medal for science and art; he was a Chevalier of the Order of the Crown of Italy, and of the Order of St. Michaelis, Bavaria. Professor Schmitt, who assisted Lady Augusta Boyle, daughter of Lord Glasgow, in her musical studies, was, on His Excellency's departure from the Colony, the recipient of a handsome silver cigarette case. He acted from time to time as extra aide-de-camp to the Governors, during their residence in Auckland. Professor Schmitt died at Wairoa South on the 22nd of March, 1900, aged sixty-six years.
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Mr. Charles Chambers
                
                has been associated with musical matters for the last eighteen years. His musical education was received principally at the Guildhall School of Music, London, where he studied under Dr. Stainer, organist of St. Paul's Cathedral, and Mr. Charles Frost. Mr. Chambers is a popular concert performer, and has appeared in leading baritone rôles for the Auckland Amateur Opera Club, of which society he acted as secretary and business manager for six years. During that time the following operas were produced under his management:—“Les Cloches de Corneville,” “Sorcerer,” “Iolanthe,” “Pinafore,” “Pirates of Penzance,” and “Princess Ida.” Mr. Chambers has not appeared so frequently upon the concert platform recently, having devoted his time more especially to the management of high class concerts for many travelling professionals, amongst whom may be mentioned. Madame Steinhauer, Madame Bahnson, Madame Goldenstedt, Professor and Madame Marquardt, Chevalier de Kontski, Mr. Charles Saunders and others.

            

            

              
              

                

Bassett, Frederick Charles,
               
 Teacher of Deportment and Dancing, Burleigh Street. Mr. Bassett was born in Deptford, England, and is a son of the late Mr. Alfred Bassett, a well-known artist of Auckland, who came to the Colony per
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ship “Pegasus,” when the subject of this notice was but eighteen months old. Mr. Bassett received instruction from Mrs. Fitzgerald, of Symonds Street, and acquired the



art throughly. He has now been teaching for the past fourteen years, with an average of fully 100 pupils per season, and he holds numerous testimonials and references from his past pupils. Mr. Bassett has taught some of the best dancers that grace the ball-rooms of Auckland, all of whom have been thoroughly pleased with the attention and courtesy that have been shown them whilst undergoing instruction. He receives a number of pupils at his residence for private lessons. His elementary classes are held every Wednesday in the Victoria Hall, which Mr. Bassett engages from season to season. Socials are held monthly, with a grand fancy dress ball at the close of the season, and have been very favourably commented on by the press. Mr. Bassett is ably assisted by his wife, who is a daughter of Mr. T. E. Powley, of Mount Eden.
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                  British And Continental Piano Company
                
                (Mr. A. Hegman, manager), Piano, Organ, and Music Warehousemen, Strand, Queen Street, Auckland. This enterprising company has a large, lofty and elegantly-appointed warehouse on the Queen Street frontage of the Strand Arcade. It extends for 26 feet along Queen Street, and marches with the corridor of the Arcade for the first 75 feet, and throughout the entire extent of both frontages it is closed in with heavy plate-glass shop-windows. As a consequence the natural lighting is perfect, and the artificial lighting is equally brilliant. The ceilings are lofty, and are enriched with embossed asbestos work, the cornices being executed in green and gold. Calsomined walls, adorned at regular intervals with handsome gift-framed pier-glasses, and set off with a uniform dadoing of embossed asbestos, harmonise with the ceilings, and assist to produce a most striking and elegant general effect. The company's business is under the very capable management of Mr. A. Hegman, who has neglected no opportunity to bring and keep it prominently under the public notice. The business has made very rapid progress since its extension to Auckland, and Mr. Hegman ascribes this result, firstly, to the fact, that only the very best instruments are offered to the public, and, secondly, that the system of sale on deferred payments is based on a scale which offers quite exceptional advantages to the purchaser. The company makes a specialty of four great lines. First of all there is the Haake, the most popular of German pianos in the colonies, of which, on an average, over 400 are imported annually, and which, as sold by the company, range in price from £40 to £100. Next there is the Kaps piano, a high-class instrument; the Bechstein, the very finest piano that is turned out; and, finally, the Strohmenger, an English piano of which the company has lately taken the sole agency for New Zealand. It is also sole agent for the Chicago Organ Company, which claims to be the largest manufacturer in America of this class of goods. The company's Auckland stock comprises only instruments of the most approved quality. At one side of the warehouse stands the office, and at the end furthest from Queen Street there is a suite consisting of two teaching rooms and a repairing room. The teaching rooms have been specially constructed so as to make them sound-proof.
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Mr. George Kemp Webb,
               
 Piano Tuner and Repairer for the British and Continental Piano Company, was born in Auckland in 1861, and is a son of the late Mr. Samuel H. Webb. In 1875 he went Home to receive tuition under his brother, the Rev. S. W. P. Webb, who was a clever musician, and when he returned to Auckland in 1879, he entered into business with his father as a piano importer. Intent upon gaining a thoroughly practical knowledge of the trade, Mr. Webb took a trip Home in 1885, and placed himself under an eminent English
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maker. He returned to Auckland in 1886, and the firm gave up business in 1889. Mr. Webb then joined the British and Continental Piano Company, with which he has had the opportunity of gaining large experience in the tuning of organs and pianos, as well as in the repairing of all kinds of musical instruments. Being a fully qualified tuner, he has a large private connection as well, and his private address is Jervois Road, Ponsonby.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The London And Berlin Piano Company
                
                was incorporated in the early part of 1886, when it turned into a company the piano and organ business established some years previously by Mr. W. H. Webbe, who is the acting managing partner in the existing company. The showroom, warehouse, and workshops are situated in Messrs L. D. Nathan and Co.'s block, opposite the Post Office, in Shortland Street. The trade generally done in New Zealand is with German instruments, but a few years ago Mr Webbe went a round of numerous British, Continental, and American piano factories, and determined to push good class English pianos to the front. As a result of his efforts trade in the English instruments has rapidly increased, and the London and Berlin Piano Company now represents such makers as John Broadwood and Sons, W. G. Eavestaff and Sons, Monington and Weston, and John Spencer and Co. Mr. Webbe states that



the Spencer is the most popular piano in the North Island. The company is sole agent for the distinguished German makers, A. H. Francke, Leipzig; Gors and Kallmann, Berlin; and F. Webber, Berlin. It also imports pianos by Rudibach and Sohn, Schwechten, and other high-class German makers. Only two makers of American organs are represented—namely, the old-established firm of Wilcox and White, of Meriden, Connecticut, and the comparatively new house of John Malcolm and Co. Some very fine symphony self-playing organs are on view in the company's showrooms. In addition to his business duties, Mr. Webbe, with the help of an assistant-teacher, conducts a successful music school, which was established in 1883, and is attended, on an average, by about one hundred pupils. Mr. Webbe was amongst the first English music teachers to inaugurate piano quartet classes about a quarter of a century ago, and he has conducted them regularly in Auckland since 1884.

            

            

              
              

                

Squire, Byron,
               
And Son
, Pianoforte Manufacturers, Stanhope Street, Euston Road, London; 39 Kyber Pass Road, Auckland, New Zealand manager, Mr. Byron Squire. Although the local branch of this English house was established only in October, 1894, its trade has already grown to large proportions. Mr. Byron Squire attends personally to all orders booked in New Zealand, thus ensuring satisfaction to their patrons. Messrs. Darter and Co., their agents at Capetown, one year disposed of nearly 600 of their instruments, whilst Messrs. Patterson, Sons and Co., of Edinburgh and Glasgow, pass a thousand through their
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hands annually. At the London Exhibition of 1862, they carried off all the prizes for which they competed, and they have since well maintained their position. A striking feature of their pianos is the patent perfect check repeater action, which is said to enable a player to execute rapid passages with the greatest facility and promptitude. The improved iron frame and compensating back, together with nine complete bracings are among the firm's latest improvements. They have been introducing, by way of experiment, pianos manufactured from New Zealand woods, which will, no doubt, become popular. Mr. Byron Squire was born in London in 1848, and was educated at the North London college and at Guines, in France. He was for some time in a large London warehouse, and for two years with Berens Blumberg of that city. He then entered the factory in which he eventually became a partner, and passed through all the various stages of piano manufacture, extending over a period of 26 years. In 1881, Mr. Squire came to Australia per ship “Alexandra Duthie,” with a view of extending the business. He travelled all over that country and returned to England, making his second trip some two or three years later when he established branches throughout Australia. It was Mr. Squire who introduced the zither into Australia. He contested the Lower Lachlan seat in the New South Wales Parliament, but was defeated by the narrow majority of forty-two votes.
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In his recily written history of the Press in Auckland, Mr. G. M. Main, of the “New Zealand Herald” staff, mentions newspapers which are now forgotten even in the places of their origin. The “New Zealand Advertiser and Bay of Islands Gazette” was published on the 20th of June, 1840, as a weekly, by G. A. Eagar and Co., at Kororareka. The paper was strongly opposed to Captain Hobson, the Governor, and the police were favourite subjects of attack. It was discontinued at the beginning of 1841. “The Bay of Islands Examiner” was established in June, 1840, as a weekly, and ceased publication in 1841. In December, 1840, “The New Zealand Government Gazette” was printed at Paihia, at the Church Missionary Society's printing office. The new series of this paper commenced in Auckland on the 7th of July, 1841. “The New Zealand Herald and Auckland Gazette” was commenced on the 10th of July, 1841, and died in April of the following year. It was printed by John Moore for the trustees of the Auckland Newspaper Company. This was the first newspaper printed in Auckland, and it was issued as a weekly, at 1s a copy. On the 8th of November, 1841, the “Auckland Chronicle and New Zealand Colonist” was published (price 1s), but ceased the same year. It was revived in October, 1842, but passed out in July of the following year. Phœnix-like, it rose from its ashes in a short time, but finally died hard in the year 1845. “The Auckland Times” commenced in August, 1842, and bore the celebrated imprint, “Printed in a mangle, and published by John Moore, for Henry Falwasser, sole proprietor,” There is a tradition that Mr. Falwasser started a leading article in “canon” and ended with “nonpareil,” having gone through his whole assortment of “founts.” This paper existed for two or three years. “Te Karere o Niu Tireni,” a Maori publication, commenced on the 1st of January, 1842, and died towards the close of 1845. “The Bay of Islands Observer” (a weekly) was started in the middle of February, and died in the following October. On the 27th of June, 1842, the “Auckland Standard” appeared, and ceased on the 25th of August. “The Bay of Islands Advocate” was established at Kororareka on the 4th of November, 1843, as a weekly, price 1s. “The Southern Cross” was started on the 22nd of April, 1843, and published as a weekly. Its title was suggested by Dr. Logan Campbell. Among its editors were Mr. Terry, Dr. Martin, Messrs D. Burn, T. S. Forsaith, Hugh Carleton, R. J. Creighton, J. Macabe, H. H. Lusk, Mr (afterwards Sir Julius) Vogel, and Mr. D. M. Luckie. After being many years owned by Mr. W. Brown (of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co.) it passed through various phases till Messrs Creighton, Scales, and Tothill took it. It became the “Daily Southern Cross”—the first daily paper in the province of Auckland—on the 20th of May, 1862, and its enterprising new proprietors reduced its price from sixpence to threepence. In 1876 it was purchased by Mr. A. G. Horton, who, on entering into partnership with Messrs W. S. Wilson and J. L. Wilson, amalgamated it with the “New Zealand Herald.” “The New Zealander” was commenced on the 7th of June, 1845, as a weekly, price sixpence, and was printed by the late Mr. John Williamson, who subsequently entered into partnership with Mr. W. C. Wilson. This paper greatly improved until, in 1859, it became the leading newspaper in the colony. In 1863 Messrs Williamson and Wilson dissolved partnership, but Mr. Williamson carried on the paper, with Mr. G. M. Main as its printer and publisher. Messrs Mitchell and Seffern took it over from Mr. Williamson, and on the 3rd of April, 1865, brought it out as the first penny morning paper in New Zealand. “The New Zealander” was transferred to Mr. Williamson at the end of 1865, when he reduced its issues to two a week. The paper ceased publication in 1866. Among its editors were Mr. Terry, Dr. Bennett, Dr. Pollen, Mr. George Smallfield, Dr. Kidd, Dr.
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Giles, R.M. “The Anglo-Maori Warder” was started on the 25th of April, 1848, and existed for some time. “Ko to Karere Maori,” or “Maori Messenger” was published by the Government on the 10th of January, 1849, in English and Maori, for circulation among leading natives. It existed, with various changes of size, till 1860. “The Pensioner Settlements' Gazette” was started about 1851, and published at the “New Zealander” office. It was edited by Dr. Bacot. “The Auckland Temperance Telegraph” (fortnightly, price sixpence) was established on the 8th of November, 1854, as the outcome of a temperance revival, but it died in its first year. In the end of December, 1856, the “Auckland Examiner” (a weekly) was founded by Charles Southwell, a tragedian and lecturer. He published a series of pen-and-ink sketches of public men, but on the 7th of August, 1860, the paper ceased publication, a fortnight before his death. On the 7th of February, 1857, the “Auckland Weekly Register” was started as an offshoot of the “New Zealander,” but died in December, 1860. Mr. John Moore starled the “Independent” on the 3rd of October, 1859; it was printed and edited by its owner, but its career was short. “The Telegraph” was started in September, 1859, as a bi-weekly, and lasted till February, 1860. The “New Zealand Herald” was founded on the 13th of November, 1863, and is described elsewhere in this section, in a separate article. “The Albertland Gazette and Ocean Chronicle” had its first two numbers printed on board the “Matilda Wattenbach,” on the voyage from London to Auckland in 1862, and on the 1st of August, 1863, the third number was published in connection with the New Albert-land settlement. The paper was published monthly, but died on the 19th of June, 1864. “The Southern Monthly Magazine” was established in 1863, and ran for three years; its co-editors were Mr. H. H. Lusk and Dr. Giles, R.M. “The Auckland Weekly News and Farmers' Gazette” was first published about the end of 1863, but was short lived. On the 7th of January, 1865, the “Argus” was started as a weekly, but died in December of the same year. A German paper, the “Neu-Seelændische Zeitung,” was published on the 18th of March, 1866. The “Evening Post” was started in 1866, but lived only a short time. About 1866 there was published a Maori paper “Te Waka o te Iwi” (the Canoe of the People), edited by Mr. C. O. Davis. On the 5th of May, 1866, the “Penny Journal” was first published, and lasted till the 29th of June, 1867. “The Auckland Budget” was started in 1867, price one penny, and was edited by Mr. S. J. H. Wilkins. In March, 1868, the “Auckland Free Press” was brought out by Mr. R. J. Creighton, with some of his old “Southern Cross” staff as coadjutors; but it failed owing to the commercial depression which set in after the withdrawal of the troops from Auckland. In 1868 the “Evening News,” the second evening paper in Auckland, was begun, and the “Evening Newsletter” was also published as a sort of monthly summary at the same office; the “Morning News” was published in 1871 under the same management, but succumbed in December of the same year. “The Auckland and Thames Leader” was established in December, 1869, and the Auckland “Evening Star,” in 1870. The “Star” is referred to in a separate article in this section. “The Universe,” started in 1870, was limited to one issue. In the latter part of 1870 the “Morning Advertiser” made its appearance, and was a “live” paper during its twelve-months' existence. “The Christian Times,” begun in 1870, lasted some time. The Colonial Forces had their organ, for in January, 1872, the “New Zealand Volunteer Gazette and Colonial Forces Record” was published. Its successor, in 1876, was the “Volunteer News and Army and Navy Gazette.” “The New Zealand Muse,” begun in April, 1880, was printed in French and English. The “Echo” was brought out in 1874 in opposition to the “Star,” with which it was afterwards incorporated. The rise in Templary in Auckland was shown by the “Templars' Standard,” which began in February, 1874; it was followed by the “Weekly Templar Columns” in May, 1876. “The Auckland Free Press” (a weekly) was started in 1878, and lasted till 1886, when it died hard. The “Free Press” anticipated the “Free Lance” (another weekly) by a week, and in fact “jumped” the name which that journal intended to assume—“Free Press.” It was afterwards incorporated in the “Observer,” when Mr. Wickham amalgamated his interest with the subsequently established “Evening Bell.” The “New Zealand Labour” was started in 1879, and the “Labour Advocate” in 1880; both were short lived. On the 18th of September, 1880, the “Auckland Observer” was founded; it is referred to in a separate article in this section. Early in 1880 the “Patriot” was established. “Freeman's Journal” was begun in 1880, and conducted for some years with considerable success; it was succeeded by the “Advocate,” which lasted eighteen months. “Le Neo-Zealandais,” a French journal, was published in 1882. A weekly paper named “Labour” was started in 1884, and was succeeded in 1885 by the “Watchman,” which lasted about a year. “The Telephone,” an evening paper, began in 1884, but was merged into the “Evening Bell” after a short existence. Auckland's first sporting journal, the “Little Pink 'Un,” was first printed in 1885, but it did not last. “Truth” was started in 1885, but “Truth” was short lived; the Aucklanders did not want “truth.” “The Bit o' Blue: A Temperance Bulletin Extraordinary,” (illustrated), was started in March, 1885, but soon died. “The Auckland Evening Bell” was established on the 12th of May, 1885, when it took over the business of the “Telephone;” this paper lasted three years. In 1885 the “Newton Bulletin” was begun, and lasted till 1888, when its plant was disposed of to establish the “Manukau Gazette.” “The Spectator” was founded in 1885, but had a short life and a merry one, which ended in legal proceedings. “The Korimako” (a Maori temperance journal) was established in 1885, but it did not live long, and a similar fate befell the “Waitemata Messenger,” begun in 1886. In 1886, the “Rationalist” was established, and lasted a twelve month. The Temperance party started the “Leader” in 1886 as a weekly; and it existed for some years. On the 22nd of December, 1887, the “New Zealand Protectionist,” a political and social journal, was founded, but it was short lived. The “New Zealand Primitive Methodist,” a purely denominational journal, which still flourishes, was established in 1889. “The Sporting Review” was founded in July, 1890, and is referred to in a separate article. “The Tribune” was born on the 18th of October, 1890, but it gave up the ghost on the



6th of December of the same year. “The Prohibitionist and Temperance Advocate” was first printed on the 1st of May, 1891, as a weekly. It was also during 1891 that “The New Zealand Graphic,” referred to in a separate article, first made its appearance. “The New Zealand Magazine” was brought out on the 1st of October, 1899, and is the last on a list which indicates that the newspaper and periodical Press in Auckland has had a somewhat eventful history. Of the older journals only three remain to the present day—“The New Zealand Herald,” “The Auckland Weekly News,” and “The Auckland Star,” which the student of the subject will perhaps regard as an illustration of the Darwinian doctrine of the survival of the fittest.

          

          

            
            


              
The United Press Association.
              The sub-editors of the Auckland morning and evening papers are the local representatives of the United Press Association, which is described on page 456 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.

          

          

            
            


              
New Zealand Institute Of Journalists,
              Auckland Branch. Officers: Mr. F. Baxter, president; Mr R. M. Hacket, secretary and treasurer. The objects of the institute are set forth in an article on page 456 of the Wellington volume of this work.

          

          

            
Daily Papers.

            

              
              


                

                  “The New Zealand Herald,”
                
                the only twopenny morning daily paper published in the colony, is one of the oldest, ablest, most prosperous, and most influential of New Zealand newspapers. It may in a very modified sense be called a Conservative journal, but its great influence arises less from its party allegiance than from its independence, and its persistent habit of speaking out the truth, as it conceives it, under all circumstances. The “Herald” was founded on the 13th of November, 1863, by Mr. W. C. Wilson, who was a native of Scotland, and possessed all the industry and practical shrewdness usually ascribed to natives of that country. He had previously been part proprietor of the “New Zealander,” but severed his connection with that journal to start the “Herald,” the first editor of which was Mr. David Burn. Mr. Burn was succeeded by Mr. T. F. Von Sturmer, who, in turn, gave place to a journalist popularly known as “Snyder” Brown, from the pen-name attached by him to his humorous comments on current affairs. the “Herald” had to encounter the strong opposition of the “Daily Southern Cross,” but in 1876 Mr. A. G. Horton, J.P., who in 1864 had successfully established the “Timaru Herald,” purchased the “Cross,” and a few months later the two papers, with their respective weekly issues, were amalgamated, the “Cross” being merged in the “Herald,” and Mr Horton becoming a partner of Messrs W. S. and J. L. Wilson, sons of the founder, who was then dead. The “Herald” thus became, and still is, the only morning paper published in Auckland. It is admirably printed on good paper, and the general arrangement of its matter is excellent. On Saturday it publishes an eight-page supplement containing specially written articles on various subjects of colonial interest. The proprietors take an active part in the practical management of the paper, and combine great business capacity with an intimate knowledge of all the varied details of modern journalism.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “The Auckland Weekly News”
                
                is one of the largest weekly papers published in New Zealand, and is essentially a country settler's paper. It contains a complete summary of the news of the week, and twelve pages of first-class illustrations of the events of the day. The paper deals with every phase of farming life, and special sections are devoted to reports from country districts, to sporting, athletics, market quotations, to ecclesiastical news, to mining and agriculture, the garden, the farm, the dairy, exhibitions, and poultry. Serial stories are also published, and several pages are given to interesting and instructive literature for the family circle.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Scott Wilson,
               
 Senior Partner in the firm of Messrs Wilson and Horton, Proprietors of the “New Zealand Herald” and the “Auckland Weekly News,” is the eldest son of the late Mr. W. C. Wilson, the founder of the firm. He was born in Hobart, Tasmania, in 1835, and accompanied his parents to Auckland in 1841, in the ship “Sophia Pate.” This ship on leaving Auckland, made for the Kaipara, but was unfortunately wrecked, and the majority of Mr. Wilson's fellow passengers were drowned. Mr. Wilson served an apprenticeship as a printer in the “New Zealander”
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office, and subsequently assisted his father in establishing the “New Zealand Herald,” much of the success of which has been due to his ability and liberality. Although never taking an active part in political or municipal life, Mr. Wilson has identified himself with the general welfare of the community. He is a director of the South British Fire Insurance Company, and other leading commercial institutions.

            

            

              
              

                
Mr. Joseph Liston Wilson,
               
 Partner in the firm of Messrs Wilson and Horton, is
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a son of the firm's founder. He was born in Hobart in 1837, and came to Auckland with his parents four years later. He also served an apprenticeship as a printer in the “New Zealander” office, and assisted in founding the “New Zealand Herald.” Mr. J. L. Wilson has been intimately connected with the commercial prosperity of Auckland, and is a director of the Auckland Savings Bank, Auckland Gas Company, New Zealand Insurance Company, and New Zealand Accident Company. He has for many years been president and a staunch supporter of the Young Men's Christian Association, and is a warm adherent of the Wesleyan Church, though his sympathies and support are freely given towards all kindred institutions which have in view the moral and spiritual welfare of the community.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. A. G. Horton,
                Partner in the firm of Messrs Wilson and Horton, was born in the North of England, in 1842. He commenced his acquaintance with journalism on the staff of the Hull “Daily Express, and after arriving in New Zealand served a year on the staff of the “Christchurch Press.” Prior to his twenty-first birthday Mr. Horton established the “Timaru Herald,” which he soon made a good property. About eight years later he sold that paper, and subsequently purchased the “Daily Southern Cross.” An amicable arrangement was soon effected between him and the Messrs Wilson; the “Cross” was merged in the “New Zealand Herald,” and Mr. Horton became a partner in the firm. Through his influence



this firm had the distinction of introducing the first Webb-printing machines, and the first English-made linotype machines to New Zealand. Mr. Horton is a director of the New Zealand Insurance Company, and for a number of years hold the office of chairman of the local Board of Directors of the Mutual Life Association of Australasia. Owing to the numerous claims of his business, he has had very little time in recent years for public affairs, but during his residence in Timaru he represented that town in the Provincial Council of Canterbury.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Berry,
               
 Editor of the “New Zealand Herald,” when about twelve years of age became an apprentice in the composing-room of the “Scotsman” newspaper, which for many years has occupied a high position in the journalism of Great Britain. The life of a printer's devil was then a much harder one than it is now. He had to kindle the fires early in the winter mornings, to sweep the office, to wash rollers, and to feed the printing machine. It can easily be understood that, entering on the business of life at that early age, Mr. Berry was not possessed of much in the way of education, and boys in his position then had to educate themselves at night schools or otherwise, as best they could. But in some respects the position had its advantages in the way of cultivating a literary taste. Mr. Alexander Russell was then the editor of the “Scotsman,” and there was then in Edinburgh, and occasionally contributing to the “Scotsman,” a number of literary men of eminence. Mr. T. B. Macaulay, afterwards Lord Macaulay, represented the city in the House of Commons. John Wilson (Christopher North) was a familiar figure in
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the streets, and was then writing the “Noctes Ambrosianæ.” De Quincey was also a resident. George Combe, the famous phrenologist, was a frequent contributor to the “Scotsman.” The University had then amongst its professors men who had a European reputation in their departments, and several of these, amongst them Professor Blackie, were frequently in the “Scotsman” office. While Mr. Berry was in the office, the repeal of the newspaper stamp duty, of the paper duty, and of the advertisement duty took place. These were termed the “taxes on knowledge.” Their repeal was virtually a revolution in the newspaper world, and journals succeeded or failed as they adapted themselves, or failed to adapt themselves, to the new conditions. The “Scotsman,” mainly under the wise guidance of the late Mr. John R. Findlay, took the right course, and has met with its reward. Mr. Berry was for many years a reader, and afterwards was assistant foreman in the office. In 1864 he came out to Auckland under an engagement to the “Southern Cross,” then owned by Messrs Creighton and Scales. He remained on that paper as a reporter till 1868, when he went to the “Thames Advertiser.” In 1875 he returned to Auckland, at the instance of the late Mr. W. C. Wilson, of the “New Zealand Herald,” and has been on that paper ever since.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. George Mccullagh Reed.
               
 This well-known journalist was born in County Monaghan, Ireland. He was educated at Queen's College, Belfast, where he graduated with high honours in 1856. After spending some time in France and Switzerland, he was ordained a clergyman of the Presbyterian Church. In 1858 he came out to Victoria and took charge of the North Melbourne Presbyterian Church, and soon afterwards was elected first Moderator of the United Presbyterian Churches of Victoria. In 1860 he went to Ipswich, Queensland, and took charge of the Ipswich Presbyterian Church. While there he married Miss Jessie Chalmers Ranken, daughter of the late Mr. John Ranken, Police Magistrate. Subsequently Mr. Reed resigned his ministerial charge, and stood for Ipswich electorate in the Queens-land Parliament, defeating the Attorney-General of the day. In 1870 Mr. Reed came to New Zealand and started the Auckland “Evening Star,” Mr. Brett, the present proprietor, subsequently joining him in partnership. In 1876 he sold out his interest in the “Star” and went to Dunedin, where he founded the “Guardian,” and in conjunction with Mr. George Fenwick he subsequently purchased the “Otago Daily Times.” In 1878 Mr. Reed left Dunedin, having disposed of his interests there, and became emigration agent for New Zealand in Ireland during Sir George Grey's administration. In 1884 Mr. Reed started the “Anglo-New Zealander” in London, and at the same time he acted as special correspondent in England for the “New Zealand Herald” and other New Zealand papers. He also contributed to several London papers, notably the “Pictorial World.” He subsequently disposed of the “Anglo-New Zealander” and returned in 1886 to New Zealand, where he became editor of the Auckland “Evening Bell” and contributed to the columns of the “New Zealand Herald,” “Calamo Currente,” over the nom de plume of “Pollex,” Later he resigned from the “Bell” and joined the editorial staff of the “Herald.” In 1889 he went to Melbourne to edit the Melbourne “Evening Standard,” but in 1890 removed to Sydney, where he joined the staff of the “Sydney
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Morning Herald” as leader writer. Mr. Reed left Sydney in 1895 and returned to Auckland, where he joined the staff of the “New Zealand Herald” once more, as leader writer and contributor of the brilliant series of articles over the well-known nom de plume of “Colonus.” He died suddenly on the 13th of November, 1898, in his sixty-eighth year. Mr. Reed was at one time Provincial Secretary in the Auckland Provincial Council, and was one of the three Auckland citizens who waited upon Sir George Grey and induced him to enter the New Zealand Parliament. In Masonic matters Mr. Reed was a past master and a Royal Arch Mason. He was a promoter of the Anglo-Israel Association, an active member of the Charitable Aid Board, and at the time of his death was president of the Auckland branch of the Institute of New Zealand Journalists. A writer in the “New Zealand Herald” thus sums up his literary powers: “Mr. Reed was one of the ablest and most versatile writers in the ranks of Australasian journalism. A man of broad and liberal opinions, of an ardent and impulsive nature, of deep and strong sympathies with all classes of suffering humanity and full of reforming zeal, he was intolerant of all that savoured of cant and wrongdoing, and no writer in the press could wield a more powerful or trenchant pen in championing the cause of the oppressed or castigating hypocrisy under whatever cloak it might choose to masquerade. Although much of his work was anonymous and had often to be performed in haste and under conditions which only those inside a newspaper office can appreciate, it was invariably marked by a high quality of literary excellence and bore the



stamp of a vigorous and trained intellect. The brilliant weekly article which he contributed to the ‘Herald’ under the nom de plume of ‘Colonus,’ and which had come to be identified with his name throughout the Colony, showed the wide range of his knowledge, and the striking originality of his mind. He was never commonplace. Whatever he touched he invested with new interest; and to this distinguishing power was added the ineffable charm of a singularly crisp, light, and attractive diction. His style was his own, and was unrivalled in New Zealand journalism for pathos, grace, eloquence and vigour. His moods were many—from gay to grave, from lively to severe—and in each he was a consummate master of his craft.”

            

            

              
              

                

                  “The Auckland Star”
                
               
 was started in 1870, in opposition to a pre-existing journal. By its vigorous management, it soon extinguished and absorbed its rivals, the “Evening News” and “Morning News,” and has since successively overcome and incorporated the “Echo,” “Telephone,” and “Evening Bell,” which bootlessly endeavoured to establish themselves against it. Under the general managership of its principal proprietor, Mr. H. Brett, and the editorship of his partner, Mr. T. W. Leys, the “Star” has steadily advanced until its circulation—certified by leading public accountants as averaging 17,000 copies daily—is acknowledge to be the largest of any newspaper published in the colony. It is energetic in its news services, and its Saturday issue, comprising sixteen pages of readable matter for a penny, touches the high-watermark of newspaper enterprise in New Zealand. In politics the “Auckland Star” has always ranged itself on the Liberal side. Connected with the newspaper, there has grown up under Mr. Brett's vigorous direction a large printing and publishing business, which employs a numerous staff of skilled workmen in every department of
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typography, lithography, and engraving. This establishment produces the “New Zealand Graphic,” the pioneer of all the illustrated weekly journals now published in New Zealand. The “New Zealand Farmer,” “Auckland Almanac and Handbook,” Colonists' Guide,” “Early History of New Zealand,” and many other works of value, have also been issued from the office. Its large business was lately incorporated as a Limited Liability Company under the title of the “Brett Printing and Publishing Company,” but the proprietorship and management have practically remained unaffected by the change.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Brett,
                the principal Proprietor of the “Auckland Star,” the “New Zealand Graphic,” and the “New Zealand Farmer,” is noticed in an article begun on page 
125 of this volume, in the section which deals with the ex-mayors of Auckland.

            

          

          

            
Weekly Papers.

            

              
              


                

                  “The Observer,”
                
                a society journal, was founded on the 18th of September, 1880, and after various changes it fell into the hands of Messrs J. L. Kelly and Baulf, with Mr. Kelly, who wielded a vigorous pen, as its editor. Since 1891, the paper has been owned by Messrs Geddis and Blomfield, under whose guidance it has had considerable prosperity. The present owners have introduced several new and attractive features, and have run the journal upon such popular and successful lines that it has gained an extensive circulation. The “Observer” cartoons, by “Blo,” hitting off the passing humours of the hour, have a colonial reputation, and have done much to popularise the paper, and extend its business.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “The New Zealand Illustrated Sporting And Dramatic Review And Licensed Victuallers' Gazette”
                
                was founded in 1890 by Mr. Harry Hayr, and was subsequently taken over by Messrs Arthur Cleave and Co., the present proprietors. It deals with the drama and sporting life in New Zealand in a very capable manner, and its illustrations, in both branches of its work, are extremely creditable. The paper is issued weekly, and has a large circulation all over the colony. As its name implies, the journal is the official organ of the licensed victuallers.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “The New Zealand Graphic”
                
                is another evidence of the enterprise of Mr H. Brett. It was the pioneer of illustrated journals in New Zealand, and although it has now several rivals in the field it continues to hold a leading position. For high-class artistic merit its engravings compare favourably with the best work of the kind in Australasia, and no other colonial journal so completely fulfils the ideal of a family magazine. The “Graphic” was established in 1891, and has made itself popular all over the colony. Its pictures, social news, stories, sketches, and miscellaneous notes supply weekly entertainment to thousands of homes, and on the occasion of any public function its special numbers are always looked forward to with eager interest by its readers. Mr. A. M. Ferguson, the present editor of the “Graphic,” has been in charge of the journal for several years.

            

          

          

            
Monthly Papers.

            

              
              


                

                  “The New Zealand Farmer, Bee, And Poultry Journal,”
                
                a monthly illustrated paper devoted to agricultural, horticultural, and pastoral affairs, was first issued in January, 1885, with Mr. G. L. Peacocke as editor. The paper deals with every branch of rural life, such as farming, gardening, stock-breeding, dairying, poultry and bee-keeping, and special articles are devoted to the homing pigeon fancy. In addition to these subjects, there are reports from local correspondents in the provincial districts, and an eight-page supplement of home reading for the family circle. All the principal agricultural and poultry shows in the colony are specially reported in the columns of the paper. The “Farmer” also publishes portraits of prize-winning stock. It is the only exclusively agricultural journal in New Zealand, and its proprietor, Mr. H. Brett, spares no expense in making it the leading periodical of its kind in the Southern Hemisphere. It is especially noted for its reports of market quotations for stock and produce in every centre of the colony. The paper circulates all over New Zealand, and has also numerous subscribers in Australia and Tasmania.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. G. L. Peacocke,
                the Editor, came out to New Zealand in his early childhood, but afterwards lived for a number of years in England, where he was called to the 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]ar at the Middle Temple in 1877. His early life having been spent on a New Zealand farm, he is practically familiar with the conditions of colonial farming life, and has, in addition, made himself acquainted with the theoretical side of agriculture and stock breeding.

            

            

              
              


                
“The New Zealand Primitive Methodist,
                a purely denominational journal devoted to connexional news and leading topics of the day, was founded in 1889 under the able editorship of the Rev. A. J. Smith, who wished to establish a periodical to promote Christian work. When, in 1891, Mr Smith sailed for England, the position of editor was taken by the Rev. J. Guy, who retained it for three years. The Rev. C. E Ward then took it over until the arrival of the Rev. W. Laycock, the present editor, who is referred to in another article. The paper has been successful from the first, having paid its way, and in 1900 it produced a surplus of £60, which was devoted to the New Zealand missionary fund. It now commands a wide circulation.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “The New Zealand Illustrated Magazine”
                
                was established in 1899 as a periodical for the publication of characteristic colonial literature, special articles, short stories, and notes on current topics. It numbers amongst its contributors many journalists of high standing, and is the only successful illustrated magazine on general topics in the Australasian Colonies. It is published monthly, is octavo in size, and is well and profusely illustrated.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Cottle,
                the Editor of the “New Zealand Illustrated Magazine,” is a colonist of thirty-seven years' standing. He has been engaged in a variety of pursuits, and is well known as a writer of short stories.
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In his recily written history of the Press in Auckland, Mr. G. M. Main, of the “New Zealand Herald” staff, mentions newspapers which are now forgotten even in the places of their origin. The “New Zealand Advertiser and Bay of Islands Gazette” was published on the 20th of June, 1840, as a weekly, by G. A. Eagar and Co., at Kororareka. The paper was strongly opposed to Captain Hobson, the Governor, and the police were favourite subjects of attack. It was discontinued at the beginning of 1841. “The Bay of Islands Examiner” was established in June, 1840, as a weekly, and ceased publication in 1841. In December, 1840, “The New Zealand Government Gazette” was printed at Paihia, at the Church Missionary Society's printing office. The new series of this paper commenced in Auckland on the 7th of July, 1841. “The New Zealand Herald and Auckland Gazette” was commenced on the 10th of July, 1841, and died in April of the following year. It was printed by John Moore for the trustees of the Auckland Newspaper Company. This was the first newspaper printed in Auckland, and it was issued as a weekly, at 1s a copy. On the 8th of November, 1841, the “Auckland Chronicle and New Zealand Colonist” was published (price 1s), but ceased the same year. It was revived in October, 1842, but passed out in July of the following year. Phœnix-like, it rose from its ashes in a short time, but finally died hard in the year 1845. “The Auckland Times” commenced in August, 1842, and bore the celebrated imprint, “Printed in a mangle, and published by John Moore, for Henry Falwasser, sole proprietor,” There is a tradition that Mr. Falwasser started a leading article in “canon” and ended with “nonpareil,” having gone through his whole assortment of “founts.” This paper existed for two or three years. “Te Karere o Niu Tireni,” a Maori publication, commenced on the 1st of January, 1842, and died towards the close of 1845. “The Bay of Islands Observer” (a weekly) was started in the middle of February, and died in the following October. On the 27th of June, 1842, the “Auckland Standard” appeared, and ceased on the 25th of August. “The Bay of Islands Advocate” was established at Kororareka on the 4th of November, 1843, as a weekly, price 1s. “The Southern Cross” was started on the 22nd of April, 1843, and published as a weekly. Its title was suggested by Dr. Logan Campbell. Among its editors were Mr. Terry, Dr. Martin, Messrs D. Burn, T. S. Forsaith, Hugh Carleton, R. J. Creighton, J. Macabe, H. H. Lusk, Mr (afterwards Sir Julius) Vogel, and Mr. D. M. Luckie. After being many years owned by Mr. W. Brown (of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co.) it passed through various phases till Messrs Creighton, Scales, and Tothill took it. It became the “Daily Southern Cross”—the first daily paper in the province of Auckland—on the 20th of May, 1862, and its enterprising new proprietors reduced its price from sixpence to threepence. In 1876 it was purchased by Mr. A. G. Horton, who, on entering into partnership with Messrs W. S. Wilson and J. L. Wilson, amalgamated it with the “New Zealand Herald.” “The New Zealander” was commenced on the 7th of June, 1845, as a weekly, price sixpence, and was printed by the late Mr. John Williamson, who subsequently entered into partnership with Mr. W. C. Wilson. This paper greatly improved until, in 1859, it became the leading newspaper in the colony. In 1863 Messrs Williamson and Wilson dissolved partnership, but Mr. Williamson carried on the paper, with Mr. G. M. Main as its printer and publisher. Messrs Mitchell and Seffern took it over from Mr. Williamson, and on the 3rd of April, 1865, brought it out as the first penny morning paper in New Zealand. “The New Zealander” was transferred to Mr. Williamson at the end of 1865, when he reduced its issues to two a week. The paper ceased publication in 1866. Among its editors were Mr. Terry, Dr. Bennett, Dr. Pollen, Mr. George Smallfield, Dr. Kidd, Dr.
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Giles, R.M. “The Anglo-Maori Warder” was started on the 25th of April, 1848, and existed for some time. “Ko to Karere Maori,” or “Maori Messenger” was published by the Government on the 10th of January, 1849, in English and Maori, for circulation among leading natives. It existed, with various changes of size, till 1860. “The Pensioner Settlements' Gazette” was started about 1851, and published at the “New Zealander” office. It was edited by Dr. Bacot. “The Auckland Temperance Telegraph” (fortnightly, price sixpence) was established on the 8th of November, 1854, as the outcome of a temperance revival, but it died in its first year. In the end of December, 1856, the “Auckland Examiner” (a weekly) was founded by Charles Southwell, a tragedian and lecturer. He published a series of pen-and-ink sketches of public men, but on the 7th of August, 1860, the paper ceased publication, a fortnight before his death. On the 7th of February, 1857, the “Auckland Weekly Register” was started as an offshoot of the “New Zealander,” but died in December, 1860. Mr. John Moore starled the “Independent” on the 3rd of October, 1859; it was printed and edited by its owner, but its career was short. “The Telegraph” was started in September, 1859, as a bi-weekly, and lasted till February, 1860. The “New Zealand Herald” was founded on the 13th of November, 1863, and is described elsewhere in this section, in a separate article. “The Albertland Gazette and Ocean Chronicle” had its first two numbers printed on board the “Matilda Wattenbach,” on the voyage from London to Auckland in 1862, and on the 1st of August, 1863, the third number was published in connection with the New Albert-land settlement. The paper was published monthly, but died on the 19th of June, 1864. “The Southern Monthly Magazine” was established in 1863, and ran for three years; its co-editors were Mr. H. H. Lusk and Dr. Giles, R.M. “The Auckland Weekly News and Farmers' Gazette” was first published about the end of 1863, but was short lived. On the 7th of January, 1865, the “Argus” was started as a weekly, but died in December of the same year. A German paper, the “Neu-Seelændische Zeitung,” was published on the 18th of March, 1866. The “Evening Post” was started in 1866, but lived only a short time. About 1866 there was published a Maori paper “Te Waka o te Iwi” (the Canoe of the People), edited by Mr. C. O. Davis. On the 5th of May, 1866, the “Penny Journal” was first published, and lasted till the 29th of June, 1867. “The Auckland Budget” was started in 1867, price one penny, and was edited by Mr. S. J. H. Wilkins. In March, 1868, the “Auckland Free Press” was brought out by Mr. R. J. Creighton, with some of his old “Southern Cross” staff as coadjutors; but it failed owing to the commercial depression which set in after the withdrawal of the troops from Auckland. In 1868 the “Evening News,” the second evening paper in Auckland, was begun, and the “Evening Newsletter” was also published as a sort of monthly summary at the same office; the “Morning News” was published in 1871 under the same management, but succumbed in December of the same year. “The Auckland and Thames Leader” was established in December, 1869, and the Auckland “Evening Star,” in 1870. The “Star” is referred to in a separate article in this section. “The Universe,” started in 1870, was limited to one issue. In the latter part of 1870 the “Morning Advertiser” made its appearance, and was a “live” paper during its twelve-months' existence. “The Christian Times,” begun in 1870, lasted some time. The Colonial Forces had their organ, for in January, 1872, the “New Zealand Volunteer Gazette and Colonial Forces Record” was published. Its successor, in 1876, was the “Volunteer News and Army and Navy Gazette.” “The New Zealand Muse,” begun in April, 1880, was printed in French and English. The “Echo” was brought out in 1874 in opposition to the “Star,” with which it was afterwards incorporated. The rise in Templary in Auckland was shown by the “Templars' Standard,” which began in February, 1874; it was followed by the “Weekly Templar Columns” in May, 1876. “The Auckland Free Press” (a weekly) was started in 1878, and lasted till 1886, when it died hard. The “Free Press” anticipated the “Free Lance” (another weekly) by a week, and in fact “jumped” the name which that journal intended to assume—“Free Press.” It was afterwards incorporated in the “Observer,” when Mr. Wickham amalgamated his interest with the subsequently established “Evening Bell.” The “New Zealand Labour” was started in 1879, and the “Labour Advocate” in 1880; both were short lived. On the 18th of September, 1880, the “Auckland Observer” was founded; it is referred to in a separate article in this section. Early in 1880 the “Patriot” was established. “Freeman's Journal” was begun in 1880, and conducted for some years with considerable success; it was succeeded by the “Advocate,” which lasted eighteen months. “Le Neo-Zealandais,” a French journal, was published in 1882. A weekly paper named “Labour” was started in 1884, and was succeeded in 1885 by the “Watchman,” which lasted about a year. “The Telephone,” an evening paper, began in 1884, but was merged into the “Evening Bell” after a short existence. Auckland's first sporting journal, the “Little Pink 'Un,” was first printed in 1885, but it did not last. “Truth” was started in 1885, but “Truth” was short lived; the Aucklanders did not want “truth.” “The Bit o' Blue: A Temperance Bulletin Extraordinary,” (illustrated), was started in March, 1885, but soon died. “The Auckland Evening Bell” was established on the 12th of May, 1885, when it took over the business of the “Telephone;” this paper lasted three years. In 1885 the “Newton Bulletin” was begun, and lasted till 1888, when its plant was disposed of to establish the “Manukau Gazette.” “The Spectator” was founded in 1885, but had a short life and a merry one, which ended in legal proceedings. “The Korimako” (a Maori temperance journal) was established in 1885, but it did not live long, and a similar fate befell the “Waitemata Messenger,” begun in 1886. In 1886, the “Rationalist” was established, and lasted a twelve month. The Temperance party started the “Leader” in 1886 as a weekly; and it existed for some years. On the 22nd of December, 1887, the “New Zealand Protectionist,” a political and social journal, was founded, but it was short lived. The “New Zealand Primitive Methodist,” a purely denominational journal, which still flourishes, was established in 1889. “The Sporting Review” was founded in July, 1890, and is referred to in a separate article. “The Tribune” was born on the 18th of October, 1890, but it gave up the ghost on the



6th of December of the same year. “The Prohibitionist and Temperance Advocate” was first printed on the 1st of May, 1891, as a weekly. It was also during 1891 that “The New Zealand Graphic,” referred to in a separate article, first made its appearance. “The New Zealand Magazine” was brought out on the 1st of October, 1899, and is the last on a list which indicates that the newspaper and periodical Press in Auckland has had a somewhat eventful history. Of the older journals only three remain to the present day—“The New Zealand Herald,” “The Auckland Weekly News,” and “The Auckland Star,” which the student of the subject will perhaps regard as an illustration of the Darwinian doctrine of the survival of the fittest.
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The United Press Association.
              The sub-editors of the Auckland morning and evening papers are the local representatives of the United Press Association, which is described on page 456 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.
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New Zealand Institute Of Journalists,
              Auckland Branch. Officers: Mr. F. Baxter, president; Mr R. M. Hacket, secretary and treasurer. The objects of the institute are set forth in an article on page 456 of the Wellington volume of this work.
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                  “The New Zealand Herald,”
                
                the only twopenny morning daily paper published in the colony, is one of the oldest, ablest, most prosperous, and most influential of New Zealand newspapers. It may in a very modified sense be called a Conservative journal, but its great influence arises less from its party allegiance than from its independence, and its persistent habit of speaking out the truth, as it conceives it, under all circumstances. The “Herald” was founded on the 13th of November, 1863, by Mr. W. C. Wilson, who was a native of Scotland, and possessed all the industry and practical shrewdness usually ascribed to natives of that country. He had previously been part proprietor of the “New Zealander,” but severed his connection with that journal to start the “Herald,” the first editor of which was Mr. David Burn. Mr. Burn was succeeded by Mr. T. F. Von Sturmer, who, in turn, gave place to a journalist popularly known as “Snyder” Brown, from the pen-name attached by him to his humorous comments on current affairs. the “Herald” had to encounter the strong opposition of the “Daily Southern Cross,” but in 1876 Mr. A. G. Horton, J.P., who in 1864 had successfully established the “Timaru Herald,” purchased the “Cross,” and a few months later the two papers, with their respective weekly issues, were amalgamated, the “Cross” being merged in the “Herald,” and Mr Horton becoming a partner of Messrs W. S. and J. L. Wilson, sons of the founder, who was then dead. The “Herald” thus became, and still is, the only morning paper published in Auckland. It is admirably printed on good paper, and the general arrangement of its matter is excellent. On Saturday it publishes an eight-page supplement containing specially written articles on various subjects of colonial interest. The proprietors take an active part in the practical management of the paper, and combine great business capacity with an intimate knowledge of all the varied details of modern journalism.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “The Auckland Weekly News”
                
                is one of the largest weekly papers published in New Zealand, and is essentially a country settler's paper. It contains a complete summary of the news of the week, and twelve pages of first-class illustrations of the events of the day. The paper deals with every phase of farming life, and special sections are devoted to reports from country districts, to sporting, athletics, market quotations, to ecclesiastical news, to mining and agriculture, the garden, the farm, the dairy, exhibitions, and poultry. Serial stories are also published, and several pages are given to interesting and instructive literature for the family circle.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Scott Wilson,
               
 Senior Partner in the firm of Messrs Wilson and Horton, Proprietors of the “New Zealand Herald” and the “Auckland Weekly News,” is the eldest son of the late Mr. W. C. Wilson, the founder of the firm. He was born in Hobart, Tasmania, in 1835, and accompanied his parents to Auckland in 1841, in the ship “Sophia Pate.” This ship on leaving Auckland, made for the Kaipara, but was unfortunately wrecked, and the majority of Mr. Wilson's fellow passengers were drowned. Mr. Wilson served an apprenticeship as a printer in the “New Zealander”
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office, and subsequently assisted his father in establishing the “New Zealand Herald,” much of the success of which has been due to his ability and liberality. Although never taking an active part in political or municipal life, Mr. Wilson has identified himself with the general welfare of the community. He is a director of the South British Fire Insurance Company, and other leading commercial institutions.

            

            

              
              

                
Mr. Joseph Liston Wilson,
               
 Partner in the firm of Messrs Wilson and Horton, is
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a son of the firm's founder. He was born in Hobart in 1837, and came to Auckland with his parents four years later. He also served an apprenticeship as a printer in the “New Zealander” office, and assisted in founding the “New Zealand Herald.” Mr. J. L. Wilson has been intimately connected with the commercial prosperity of Auckland, and is a director of the Auckland Savings Bank, Auckland Gas Company, New Zealand Insurance Company, and New Zealand Accident Company. He has for many years been president and a staunch supporter of the Young Men's Christian Association, and is a warm adherent of the Wesleyan Church, though his sympathies and support are freely given towards all kindred institutions which have in view the moral and spiritual welfare of the community.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. A. G. Horton,
                Partner in the firm of Messrs Wilson and Horton, was born in the North of England, in 1842. He commenced his acquaintance with journalism on the staff of the Hull “Daily Express, and after arriving in New Zealand served a year on the staff of the “Christchurch Press.” Prior to his twenty-first birthday Mr. Horton established the “Timaru Herald,” which he soon made a good property. About eight years later he sold that paper, and subsequently purchased the “Daily Southern Cross.” An amicable arrangement was soon effected between him and the Messrs Wilson; the “Cross” was merged in the “New Zealand Herald,” and Mr. Horton became a partner in the firm. Through his influence



this firm had the distinction of introducing the first Webb-printing machines, and the first English-made linotype machines to New Zealand. Mr. Horton is a director of the New Zealand Insurance Company, and for a number of years hold the office of chairman of the local Board of Directors of the Mutual Life Association of Australasia. Owing to the numerous claims of his business, he has had very little time in recent years for public affairs, but during his residence in Timaru he represented that town in the Provincial Council of Canterbury.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Berry,
               
 Editor of the “New Zealand Herald,” when about twelve years of age became an apprentice in the composing-room of the “Scotsman” newspaper, which for many years has occupied a high position in the journalism of Great Britain. The life of a printer's devil was then a much harder one than it is now. He had to kindle the fires early in the winter mornings, to sweep the office, to wash rollers, and to feed the printing machine. It can easily be understood that, entering on the business of life at that early age, Mr. Berry was not possessed of much in the way of education, and boys in his position then had to educate themselves at night schools or otherwise, as best they could. But in some respects the position had its advantages in the way of cultivating a literary taste. Mr. Alexander Russell was then the editor of the “Scotsman,” and there was then in Edinburgh, and occasionally contributing to the “Scotsman,” a number of literary men of eminence. Mr. T. B. Macaulay, afterwards Lord Macaulay, represented the city in the House of Commons. John Wilson (Christopher North) was a familiar figure in
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the streets, and was then writing the “Noctes Ambrosianæ.” De Quincey was also a resident. George Combe, the famous phrenologist, was a frequent contributor to the “Scotsman.” The University had then amongst its professors men who had a European reputation in their departments, and several of these, amongst them Professor Blackie, were frequently in the “Scotsman” office. While Mr. Berry was in the office, the repeal of the newspaper stamp duty, of the paper duty, and of the advertisement duty took place. These were termed the “taxes on knowledge.” Their repeal was virtually a revolution in the newspaper world, and journals succeeded or failed as they adapted themselves, or failed to adapt themselves, to the new conditions. The “Scotsman,” mainly under the wise guidance of the late Mr. John R. Findlay, took the right course, and has met with its reward. Mr. Berry was for many years a reader, and afterwards was assistant foreman in the office. In 1864 he came out to Auckland under an engagement to the “Southern Cross,” then owned by Messrs Creighton and Scales. He remained on that paper as a reporter till 1868, when he went to the “Thames Advertiser.” In 1875 he returned to Auckland, at the instance of the late Mr. W. C. Wilson, of the “New Zealand Herald,” and has been on that paper ever since.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. George Mccullagh Reed.
               
 This well-known journalist was born in County Monaghan, Ireland. He was educated at Queen's College, Belfast, where he graduated with high honours in 1856. After spending some time in France and Switzerland, he was ordained a clergyman of the Presbyterian Church. In 1858 he came out to Victoria and took charge of the North Melbourne Presbyterian Church, and soon afterwards was elected first Moderator of the United Presbyterian Churches of Victoria. In 1860 he went to Ipswich, Queensland, and took charge of the Ipswich Presbyterian Church. While there he married Miss Jessie Chalmers Ranken, daughter of the late Mr. John Ranken, Police Magistrate. Subsequently Mr. Reed resigned his ministerial charge, and stood for Ipswich electorate in the Queens-land Parliament, defeating the Attorney-General of the day. In 1870 Mr. Reed came to New Zealand and started the Auckland “Evening Star,” Mr. Brett, the present proprietor, subsequently joining him in partnership. In 1876 he sold out his interest in the “Star” and went to Dunedin, where he founded the “Guardian,” and in conjunction with Mr. George Fenwick he subsequently purchased the “Otago Daily Times.” In 1878 Mr. Reed left Dunedin, having disposed of his interests there, and became emigration agent for New Zealand in Ireland during Sir George Grey's administration. In 1884 Mr. Reed started the “Anglo-New Zealander” in London, and at the same time he acted as special correspondent in England for the “New Zealand Herald” and other New Zealand papers. He also contributed to several London papers, notably the “Pictorial World.” He subsequently disposed of the “Anglo-New Zealander” and returned in 1886 to New Zealand, where he became editor of the Auckland “Evening Bell” and contributed to the columns of the “New Zealand Herald,” “Calamo Currente,” over the nom de plume of “Pollex,” Later he resigned from the “Bell” and joined the editorial staff of the “Herald.” In 1889 he went to Melbourne to edit the Melbourne “Evening Standard,” but in 1890 removed to Sydney, where he joined the staff of the “Sydney
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Morning Herald” as leader writer. Mr. Reed left Sydney in 1895 and returned to Auckland, where he joined the staff of the “New Zealand Herald” once more, as leader writer and contributor of the brilliant series of articles over the well-known nom de plume of “Colonus.” He died suddenly on the 13th of November, 1898, in his sixty-eighth year. Mr. Reed was at one time Provincial Secretary in the Auckland Provincial Council, and was one of the three Auckland citizens who waited upon Sir George Grey and induced him to enter the New Zealand Parliament. In Masonic matters Mr. Reed was a past master and a Royal Arch Mason. He was a promoter of the Anglo-Israel Association, an active member of the Charitable Aid Board, and at the time of his death was president of the Auckland branch of the Institute of New Zealand Journalists. A writer in the “New Zealand Herald” thus sums up his literary powers: “Mr. Reed was one of the ablest and most versatile writers in the ranks of Australasian journalism. A man of broad and liberal opinions, of an ardent and impulsive nature, of deep and strong sympathies with all classes of suffering humanity and full of reforming zeal, he was intolerant of all that savoured of cant and wrongdoing, and no writer in the press could wield a more powerful or trenchant pen in championing the cause of the oppressed or castigating hypocrisy under whatever cloak it might choose to masquerade. Although much of his work was anonymous and had often to be performed in haste and under conditions which only those inside a newspaper office can appreciate, it was invariably marked by a high quality of literary excellence and bore the



stamp of a vigorous and trained intellect. The brilliant weekly article which he contributed to the ‘Herald’ under the nom de plume of ‘Colonus,’ and which had come to be identified with his name throughout the Colony, showed the wide range of his knowledge, and the striking originality of his mind. He was never commonplace. Whatever he touched he invested with new interest; and to this distinguishing power was added the ineffable charm of a singularly crisp, light, and attractive diction. His style was his own, and was unrivalled in New Zealand journalism for pathos, grace, eloquence and vigour. His moods were many—from gay to grave, from lively to severe—and in each he was a consummate master of his craft.”

            

            

              
              

                

                  “The Auckland Star”
                
               
 was started in 1870, in opposition to a pre-existing journal. By its vigorous management, it soon extinguished and absorbed its rivals, the “Evening News” and “Morning News,” and has since successively overcome and incorporated the “Echo,” “Telephone,” and “Evening Bell,” which bootlessly endeavoured to establish themselves against it. Under the general managership of its principal proprietor, Mr. H. Brett, and the editorship of his partner, Mr. T. W. Leys, the “Star” has steadily advanced until its circulation—certified by leading public accountants as averaging 17,000 copies daily—is acknowledge to be the largest of any newspaper published in the colony. It is energetic in its news services, and its Saturday issue, comprising sixteen pages of readable matter for a penny, touches the high-watermark of newspaper enterprise in New Zealand. In politics the “Auckland Star” has always ranged itself on the Liberal side. Connected with the newspaper, there has grown up under Mr. Brett's vigorous direction a large printing and publishing business, which employs a numerous staff of skilled workmen in every department of
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typography, lithography, and engraving. This establishment produces the “New Zealand Graphic,” the pioneer of all the illustrated weekly journals now published in New Zealand. The “New Zealand Farmer,” “Auckland Almanac and Handbook,” Colonists' Guide,” “Early History of New Zealand,” and many other works of value, have also been issued from the office. Its large business was lately incorporated as a Limited Liability Company under the title of the “Brett Printing and Publishing Company,” but the proprietorship and management have practically remained unaffected by the change.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Brett,
                the principal Proprietor of the “Auckland Star,” the “New Zealand Graphic,” and the “New Zealand Farmer,” is noticed in an article begun on page 
125 of this volume, in the section which deals with the ex-mayors of Auckland.
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                  “The Observer,”
                
                a society journal, was founded on the 18th of September, 1880, and after various changes it fell into the hands of Messrs J. L. Kelly and Baulf, with Mr. Kelly, who wielded a vigorous pen, as its editor. Since 1891, the paper has been owned by Messrs Geddis and Blomfield, under whose guidance it has had considerable prosperity. The present owners have introduced several new and attractive features, and have run the journal upon such popular and successful lines that it has gained an extensive circulation. The “Observer” cartoons, by “Blo,” hitting off the passing humours of the hour, have a colonial reputation, and have done much to popularise the paper, and extend its business.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “The New Zealand Illustrated Sporting And Dramatic Review And Licensed Victuallers' Gazette”
                
                was founded in 1890 by Mr. Harry Hayr, and was subsequently taken over by Messrs Arthur Cleave and Co., the present proprietors. It deals with the drama and sporting life in New Zealand in a very capable manner, and its illustrations, in both branches of its work, are extremely creditable. The paper is issued weekly, and has a large circulation all over the colony. As its name implies, the journal is the official organ of the licensed victuallers.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “The New Zealand Graphic”
                
                is another evidence of the enterprise of Mr H. Brett. It was the pioneer of illustrated journals in New Zealand, and although it has now several rivals in the field it continues to hold a leading position. For high-class artistic merit its engravings compare favourably with the best work of the kind in Australasia, and no other colonial journal so completely fulfils the ideal of a family magazine. The “Graphic” was established in 1891, and has made itself popular all over the colony. Its pictures, social news, stories, sketches, and miscellaneous notes supply weekly entertainment to thousands of homes, and on the occasion of any public function its special numbers are always looked forward to with eager interest by its readers. Mr. A. M. Ferguson, the present editor of the “Graphic,” has been in charge of the journal for several years.
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                  “The New Zealand Farmer, Bee, And Poultry Journal,”
                
                a monthly illustrated paper devoted to agricultural, horticultural, and pastoral affairs, was first issued in January, 1885, with Mr. G. L. Peacocke as editor. The paper deals with every branch of rural life, such as farming, gardening, stock-breeding, dairying, poultry and bee-keeping, and special articles are devoted to the homing pigeon fancy. In addition to these subjects, there are reports from local correspondents in the provincial districts, and an eight-page supplement of home reading for the family circle. All the principal agricultural and poultry shows in the colony are specially reported in the columns of the paper. The “Farmer” also publishes portraits of prize-winning stock. It is the only exclusively agricultural journal in New Zealand, and its proprietor, Mr. H. Brett, spares no expense in making it the leading periodical of its kind in the Southern Hemisphere. It is especially noted for its reports of market quotations for stock and produce in every centre of the colony. The paper circulates all over New Zealand, and has also numerous subscribers in Australia and Tasmania.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. G. L. Peacocke,
                the Editor, came out to New Zealand in his early childhood, but afterwards lived for a number of years in England, where he was called to the 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]ar at the Middle Temple in 1877. His early life having been spent on a New Zealand farm, he is practically familiar with the conditions of colonial farming life, and has, in addition, made himself acquainted with the theoretical side of agriculture and stock breeding.

            

            

              
              


                
“The New Zealand Primitive Methodist,
                a purely denominational journal devoted to connexional news and leading topics of the day, was founded in 1889 under the able editorship of the Rev. A. J. Smith, who wished to establish a periodical to promote Christian work. When, in 1891, Mr Smith sailed for England, the position of editor was taken by the Rev. J. Guy, who retained it for three years. The Rev. C. E Ward then took it over until the arrival of the Rev. W. Laycock, the present editor, who is referred to in another article. The paper has been successful from the first, having paid its way, and in 1900 it produced a surplus of £60, which was devoted to the New Zealand missionary fund. It now commands a wide circulation.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “The New Zealand Illustrated Magazine”
                
                was established in 1899 as a periodical for the publication of characteristic colonial literature, special articles, short stories, and notes on current topics. It numbers amongst its contributors many journalists of high standing, and is the only successful illustrated magazine on general topics in the Australasian Colonies. It is published monthly, is octavo in size, and is well and profusely illustrated.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Cottle,
                the Editor of the “New Zealand Illustrated Magazine,” is a colonist of thirty-seven years' standing. He has been engaged in a variety of pursuits, and is well known as a writer of short stories.
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Law and justice are administered in Auckland by the Supreme Court and the Magistrate's Court, there being now no District Court in the provincial district. Mr. Justice Conolly, who presides over the Supreme Court, resides in Auckland, and goes on circuit periodically to New Plymouth and Gisborne. Registrars of the Supreme Court are located at Auckland, New Plymouth, and Gisborne. Seven Stipendiary Magistrates preside over the various Courts of the province, and three of them are also Wardens of Goldfields. Bankrupt estates are administered by an Official Assignee, Mr. John Lawson, and his deputies at New Plymouth, Hawera, and Gisborne. Auckland has from the first been an important legal centre. For many years it was the home of the colony's Chief Justice, and though the profession suffered heavily by Auckland's loss of the seat of Government, and more recently by the removal of the head offices of several banks and insurance companies, the volume of legal business has been a noteworthy factor. Of men eminent in the legal profession, Auckland has produced a goodly number. Some of them are still alive, but many have passed from the scene of their activities; for example, Judge Gillies, Sir Frederick Whitaker, the Hon. John Sheehan, and Messrs J. B. Russell, Andrew Beveridge, Edwin Hesketh, E. A. Mackenzie, and E. T. Dufaur.
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Supreme Court.
              This conspicuous pile of law offices possesses the one drawback of being most inconveniently located at considerable distance from the business centre of Auckland, and probably many years will pass before the difficulty will be surmounted. But though far from the chambers of all the legal firms and others, the Supreme Court is in other respects well situated. It occupies the crown of Constitution Hill, in proximity to Government House, St. Andrew's church, two small reserves and the University College, the main entrance being in Waterloo Quadrant. A picket fence, and neatly kept hedges enclose the grounds, whose lawns and trees present an appearance by no means suggestive of criminals and musty law books. The court room is very large, but the library and other adjuncts are inadequately provided with space.
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                Mr. Justice Conolly
              
              was appointed a Judge of the Supreme Court of New Zealand on the 19th of August, 1889, in succession to Mr. Justice Gillies, who had died suddenly at Auckland on the 26th of the preceding month. Judge Conolly held his first Supreme Court session at Auckland eight days after his appointment, and has ever since exercised jurisdiction in the district. He was born on the 31st of August, 1822, and his father, Dr. John Conolly, of Hanwell, Middlesex, England, was eminent as an authority on insanity. In 1849 Mr. Conolly entered as a student of the Inner Temple, and was called to the Bar in January, 1852. He practised for thirteen years in England as a member of the Home Circuit, came to New Zealand in 1865, and on being admitted as a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court, settled down to the practice of his profession at Picton, which he represented in the Provincial Council of Marlborough from 1867 till 1876, when the provinces were abolished. Mr. Conolly afterwards represented Picton in Parliament from 1882 till 1887, and was Minister of Justice in the Whitaker Government of 1882–3, and the Atkinson Ministry of 1883–4. Judge Conolly is further referred to at page 81 of the Wellington volume of this work.
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Mr. Justice Cooper,
              A Judge of the Supreme Court of New Zealand. Mr. Theo-philus Cooper, a brilliant member of the Bar, with a colonial reputation, was born in Newington, Surrey, England, in 1851, and is the eldest son of the late Mr. Theophilus Cooper, formerly on the “Southern Cross” newspaper. He was educated at a private school in London, and came to Auckland in 1863 by the ship “Gertrude,” and proceeded immediately with his father to Port Albert, Kaipara, where for about two years he bore his share of the hardships endured by the Nonconformist settlers. His first situation was with Mr. Samuel Johnson, in printing the “Albertland Gazette.” In 1865 he removed to Auckland, and obtained employment in the composing-room of the “Southern Cross,” where he worked four years, and gained the reputation of being one of the quickest type-setters on the staff. Mr Cooper relinquished the printer's calling in 1869, and entered the office of the late Mr. J. B. Russell as a law clerk. In a short time he rose to the position of accountant, but gave up that fairly lucrative situation to study for the profession in which he has since won such brilliant success. He was



articled to Mr. Russell in 1873, completed his term five years later, and was admitted a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court by the late Mr. Justice Gillies on the 20th of June, 1878. Mr. Cooper was then taken into partnership by his employers under the style of Russell, Devore, and Cooper. The partnership continued until May, 1883, after which the firm was known as that of Devore and Cooper. Mr. Cooper has often been prominently before the public of New Zealand in connection with important cases of more than ordinary interest, such as the Midland Railway arbitration, the Bank of New Zealand inquiry, and many others. No one has been more frequently seen at the Appeal Court at Wellington than Mr. Cooper. He was counsel for Judge Edwards in the well-known case, of which mention is made in connection with that gentleman's notice in the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia. For many years Mr. Cooper was a member of the council of law reporting, and was elected a member of the council of the New Zealand Law Society, established under an Act of 1896. As a member of the Auckland Education Board and the Auckland College and Grammar School Board for very many years, Mr. Cooper did much useful work, though his lack of leisure compelled him to repeatedly decline the chairmanship of these bodies. He was for nine or ten years deputy-inspector of lunatic asylums. For many years no election for the House of Representatives took place in Auckland without an attempt being made to induce Mr. Cooper to accept nomination, and he was often mentioned as a prospective occupant of the Supreme Court bench. Besides taking an active part in the politics of the country, Mr. Cooper found time to render valuable assistance to his friend, Mr. Button, in connection with the Sunday afternoon services of the Young Men's Christian Association, and in a variety of ways he unsparingly devoted his time and talents to the welfare of the city of Auckland. Mr. Cooper was appointed a Judge of the Supreme Court, and Judge of the Arbitration Court, in February, 1901, and shortly afterwards held his first session at Wellington.
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Mr. Henry Clayton Brewer,
              Registrar of the Supreme Court and Sheriff of the district of Auckland, also Registrar and Marshal of the Colonial Court of Admiralty at Auckland, has been in the service about twenty-five years. His parents were among the first European residents of the Bay of Islands, and left that district in consequence of Hone Heke's wars. His father, Mr. Charles Babington Brewer, was admitted as a barrister of the Inner Temple in 1838, and was one of the commissioners appointed by the Government to enquire into and report on the Wairau Massacre. Subsequently, after practising his profession in Tasmania and Victoria, he was appointed a Judge of the County Court at Geelong, Victoria, which post he held till his death in January, 1868. Mr. H. C. Brewer was born at New Town, Tasmania, in 1850, and spent the first eighteen years of his life in Tasmania and Victoria, receiving the principal portion of his education at the Church of England Grammar School, Geelong. In February, 1868, he received the appointment of secretary to his uncle, the late Mr. Justice Chapman, at Dunedin, and in 1872 was admitted as a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of New Zealand. In 1875 he entered the service of the General Government as a clerk in the Resident Magistrate's Court at Oamaru; ten months afterwards he was promoted to a clerkship in the Magistrate's Court. Dunedin, and in the following year was raised to the position of clerk of the Magistrate's Court, McLaggan Street, Dunedin; subsequently, in December of the same year, he received the appointment of Receiver of Gold Revenue at Naseby, on the Otago Goldfields. In February, 1879, Mr. Brewer was appointed Deputy Registrar and Deputy Sheriff at Dunedin, which position he held until June, 1881, when he received his present appointments. His first wife, who died in 1886, was Miss Haggitt, of Dunedin, by whom he had seven children. His second wife is a daughter of the Rev. Griffith Jones, Presbyterian minister at Waipu, Auckland, by whom he has one child.
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Mr. Rees Goring Thomas,
              Deputy Registrar of the Supreme Court at Auckland, Deputy Sheriff for the District of Auckland, Local Patent Agent and Clerk of Awards for the Northern Industrial District, under the Industrial Conciliation and Arbitration Act, was born at Greytown, Wairarapa, on the 23rd of October, 1860. He was educated partly at the Napier Grammar School and partly at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and entered the Civil Service in 1878 as postmaster, telegraphist and stationmaster at Pokeno. Two years later Mr. Thomas was transferred to the Auckland Police Court as clerk, and in 1882 became clerk in the Supreme Court at Auckland. In 1887 he was promoted to the position of Deputy-Registrar of the Supreme Court at Christchurch, from which he was transferred to Wellington in 1889. After five years' service he went to Auckland as clerk to the Police Court, and in 1896 was appointed to the position which he now holds. In February, 1898, Mr. Thomas became Registrar of the Supreme Court at Christchurch, Sheriff for the District of Canterbury and a Marshal of the Supreme Court in respect of its jurisdiction as a Colonial Court of Admiralty, during the absence of Mr. A. R. Bloxam, on leave. Mr. Thomas is a tennis player, and a member of the Parnell Lawn Tennis Club, of which he has been secretary and a member of the committee.
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The Hon. Joseph Augustus Tole,
              B.A., Ll.B., is the Crown Solicitor and Crown Prosecutor for the Auckland Provincial District. Mr. Tole is referred to on page 
107 of this volume as an ex-member of the House of Representatives.
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Mr. Thomas Outhwaite,
             
 A native of Westmorland, England, left Paris, where he was practising his profession as a solicitor,
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to come to New Zealand in 1841, and arrived in the “Tyne” with Chief Justice Sir William Martin, and the Hon. William Swainson, Attorney-General. Mr. Outhwaite was the first Registrar of the Supreme Court of New Zealand, and took office on the 1st of January, 1842. Early in the same year the first native tried for murder, Mukatu, was executed and his body buried within the precincts of the gaol, though afterwards removed and given over to his father. Shortly afterwards, while another Maori was under trial for a similar offence, a hundred natives came rushing up the them totally unformed street, shaking spears and brandishing tomahawks above their heads, to rescue their countryman from the clutches of the law. And they did rescue him, while the court sat petrified, unable to avert the lawless deed or arrest the doers, though they were but a handful of wild savages, and what they did was done in the very heart of the capital of the country. Such is a sample of the scenes through which Mr. Outhwaite passed in the early days of colonisation. In 1843 he, in company with Sir William Martin, and the late Hon. Henry St. Hill, M.L.C., returned to Auckland overland on foot from Wellington, whither they had journeyed in the Government brig “Victoria” (a three weeks' sea voyage), to hold a session of the court. The return trip overland occupied a period of six weeks. During his long public career Mr. Outhwaite held the office of Registrar of the Supreme Court, Registrar of the Vice-Admiralty, Clerk of the Crown, Registrar of Deeds, Taxing Officer, Receiver of Intestate Estates, Acting Attorney-General and Registrar of Births, Deaths, and Marriages. Some of these offices were unremunerated, and in those days the public funds were sometimes at so low an ebb that many of the offices under Government were held by gentlemen, who sought not their own emolument, but the good of the country. Among those was Mr. Outhwaite, who, in addition, to fulfilling his official duties, took an active interest in the various social and public institutions of Auckland. He was one of the first movers in the establishment of the Mechanics' Institute, of which he was for some time vice-president. Ever an encourager of art and passionately devoted to music, he was the principal founder of the Auckland Philharmonic, the first musical society in Auckland, and gave all the time he could spare as voluntary instructor to its members, and also in training church choirs in their turn. Mr Outhwaite retired from office in June, 1869, and died on the 14th of July, 1879—a pioneer colonist, universally esteemed and lamented by his fellow-colonists.
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                The Law Library
              
              for the use of the members of the legal profession in Auckland faces Waterloo Quadrant and Parliament Street, and forms part of the Supreme Court buildings. The librarian is Mr. H. T. Maclean, and the following gentlemen form the Council of the Law Society of the district of Auckland: Mr. Hugh Campbell, president; Mr. F. Earl, vice-president; and Messrs C. E. Button, S. Hesketh, F. E. Baume. J. R. Reed, T. Cotter, C. J. Parr, and Dr. Laishley. Mr. C. E. S. Gillies is treasurer, and Mr. J. W. Stewart is auditor of the society. Messrs Hugh Campbell and C. E. Button are the members of the Council of the New Zealand Law Society, elected to represent the northern district. Mr. W. Cooper is law reporter, and Messrs C. E. Button and H. Campbell are members of the Council for law reporting for the district of Auckland.
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The Stipendiary Magistrates's court,
              which stands on a terrace in High Street, and is overlooked by Albert Park, is a brick building, which contains, in addition to the rooms required for the court, a number of offices connected with public departments; namely, the Land Transfer Office, Deeds Registration Office, and Stamp Office. The building was originally crected as a Wesleyan chapel. Captain Brabant is the senior Stipendiary Magistrate for the city, and is assisted by Mr. T. Hutchison, who was formerly Stipendiary Magistrate at Masterton.
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Captain Herbert William Brabant
              
              succeeded Mr. H. W. Northeroft as Stipendiary Magistrate at Auckland, in 1897. He is also a judge of the native lands court. Since he assumed his judicial duties in Auckland he has won universal respect by his impartial and admirable administration of justice, inspiring general regard for the law by his firmness. A more extended notice of Mr. Brabant and his career appears in the Wellington volume of this work.
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Mr. Thomas Hutchison,
              Stipendiary Magistrate, Auckland, exercises jurisdiction over Onehunga, Whangarei, Helensville, Mahurangi, and other northern districts, to which he makes periodical visits. His career is given on page 955 of the Wellington volume of this work.
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Mr. Henry Hawthorne Grant Ralfe.
              Clerk of the Stipendiary Magistrate's Court, and Clerk of the Licensing Committee in the City of Auckland, was appointed to his



present position in June, 1900. He was born at Ankara in 1861, educated in Westland, joined the Warden's Court at Kumara in 1877 as a cadet, and after being temporarily in charge at Reefton and Charleston successively, was appointed clerk of the court at Charleston in 1880. Mr Ralfe was afterwards at Palmerston South, was clerk of the Dunedin Police Court from 1883 to 1896, when he became clerk of the Supreme, District, and Magistrate's Courts at Oamaru, whence he was transferred to Auckland.
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The Auckland Law Society,
              which consists of members of the legal profession, is a union by means of which the professional interests of barristers and solicitors in the Auckland judicial district are watched and protected. It also receives and considers complaints which are made by, or arise between the members themselves.
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Mr. Hugh Campbell,
              the President of the Auckland Law Society, is elsewhere referred to in this section as a partner in the firm of Messrs Russell and Campbell.
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The Council Of Law Reporting,
              which is a body composed of members selected from the legal profession, has complete management of the arrangements for taking and publishing the law reports. It consists of two members from each judicial district, within which these also represent the council. Messrs Hugh Campbell and E. C. Burton are the Auckland members.
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Native Land Court.
              The office of the Native Land Court for the Auckland district is situated on the top floor of the Custom house building, and consists of the registrar's room, the public room, and two rooms for the use of the judges and their clerks when in Auckland. On an average about five courts sit throughout the year in various parts of the Auckland district, and all the business passes through these offices. There is no resident Native Land Court Judge for Auckland, and the Native Land Court Judges, appointed for the colony, have to go where their services are required. Mr. G. B. Davy is the Chief Judge, and the other Judges are: A. Mackay, D. Scannell, R. Ward, H. W. Brabant, W. J. Butler, H. F. Edger, W. G. Mair, H. D. Johnston, and J. M. Batham. Of these, the following have their homes in Auckland: Major David Scannell, Arney Road, Remuera; Captain H. W. Brabant, S.M., Park Road, Auckland; and Major William Gilbert Mair, at Takapuna. These three gentlemen are fully referred to in the Wellington volume of this work.
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Mr. James Wakelin Browne,
              Registrar of the Native Land Court at Auckland, has been in the public service nearly twenty years, and was appointed to his present position in 1894.
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Mr. Thomas Henry Smith,
             
 ex-Judge of the Native Land Court, was born at Stroud, Gloucestershire, England, in 1824. He was educated at a private school at Tollington Park, Hornsey, near London, and afterwards entered the office of a land surveyor and architect at Romford, Essex. At the age of seventeen years he was offered a cadetship by the New Zealand Company's surveying staff in New Zealand, and embarked on the barque “Brougham,” 238 tons, Captain Robertson. This vessel arrived at Port Nicholson on the 9th of February, 1842. At the end of his three years' engagement, Mr. Smith proceeded to Auckland, and joined the Native Protectorate Department of the New Zealand Government, under Mr. George Clarke. He was stationed for a short time at Maketu, Bay of Plenty, where he acquired a competent knowledge of the Maori language, but left the service when the department was abolished in 1846. In 1852, he re-entered the service of the Government, and was appointed Resident Magistrate at Rotorua, and in 1857 he accepted the position of assistant Native Secretary at Auckland. Sir George Grey promoted him to be Civil Commissioner for the Bay of Plenty and Taupo districts in 1862. In 1865 he became
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a Judge of the Native Land Court, and held the position until his retirement from the public service in 1876.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Henry Alfred Home Monro



            
            

              

Mr. Henry Alfred Home Monro,
             
 ex-Judge of the Native Land Court, has been intimately connected with the dealings of the Maori race since his arrival at Hokianga, in 1835. He was born in October, 1824, at Hobart, Tasmania, and is the eldest surviving son of Mr. Peter Monro, who, prior to migrating to Hokianga, was connected with the Tasmanian civil service, under Governor Arthur. Judge Monro was educated at Thompson's Academy, Hobart, and completed his studies under the tuition of his father, who settled at Hokianga in 1835. At that time the place was in a state of great law-lessness; and Judge Monro relates an instance of a native being lynched for murder (after solemn trial according to the procedure of the Supreme Courts) by a handful of Europeans, who showed considerable pluck in taking the law into their own hands, surrounded as they were by hostile and savage natives. On the outbreak of the natives under Hone Heke, in 1845, Mr. Monro, senior, removed with his family to Auckland, where he commenced business as a general merchant,
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and his son acted as his clerk for several years. In 1848, Judge Monro married Miss Coney, sister to Mr. James E. Coney, the present postmaster at the Thames. For a short period he engaged in agricultural pursuits at Tamaki, but owing to severe droughts the investment did not pay. In 1857 he was offered an appointment as translator and interpreter in the Native Office, and held the position till the removal of the seat of Government from Auckland to Wellington. He then applied to be transferred to the Native Land Court, and in 1865 he was appointed Judge of that Court, and subsequently Judge of the Compensation Court for the adjudication of confiscated lands. These positions he held until he retired on a pension. When the Hon. J. C. Richmond was Native Minister he appointed Judges Monro and Rogan as Commissioners for Poverty Bay, to administer and settle old land claims and the claims of friendly natives to confiscated lands; and in that connection Judge Monro and Judge Rogan, who has been dead for some years, did excellent service to the State by the judicious settlements which they were able to effect or pave the way for.
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Mr. Edward Marsh Williams,
             
 ex-Judge of the Native Land Court, is the eldest son of the late Archdeacon Henry Williams, of Paihia, Bay of Islands, whose interesting life has been interestingly written by Mr. Hugh Carleton. Mr. E. M. Williams was born at Hampstead, London, in 1818, and arrived with his parents at the Bay of Islands in the ship “Brampton,” in 1823. In the year 1835, Mr. Williams revisited England in Her Majesty's ship “Buffalo,” which was afterwards wrecked at Mercury Bay in 1840.



In this connection Judge Williams relates that, in the year 1884, he visited the scene of the disaster, and obtained several relics from the derelict ship, and, although over forty years
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had passed, portions of the wreck were as sound as the day the ship had been launched Having returned to England for the purpose of finishing his education and studying for the medical profession, Mr. Williams was apprenticed to a London doctor, but at the expiration of twelve months, he was compelled to relinquish his studies, in consequence of brain fever, and, on the advice of his doctor, he returned to New Zealand. In 1840, when Governor Hobson arrived in New Zealand he appointed Archdeacon Williams to take charge of the celebrated Treaty of Waitangi, and the Archdeacon employed his son Edward to translate the treaty into Maori, as he was considered to be an admirable Maori linguist and well-acquainted with Maori customs. In consequence of this step, Mr. Williams was appointed Native Interpreter to His Excellency's Commissioner. Major Bunbury, of the 80th Regiment, and they proceeded in the ship “Herald” (Captain Nias) to visit the various Maori kaingas throughout New Zealand, including Stewart Island, to obtain signatures to the Treaty of Waitangi. Particulars of this tour are given in the Blue Book, published in 1840. On the completion of these arduous, intricate, and difficult duties, conducted with consummate skill, on the part of the Commission. Mr. Williams was appointed by Governor Hobson, in 1840, as Government Interpreter. Clerk of the Court, and first postmaster at Auckland, the newly-founded capital of New Zealand. Mr. Williams held these positions until 1842, when he retired to settle on the family property at Pakaraka, and in conjunction with his brother, now Archdeacon Samuel Williams, of Te Aute, Hawke's Bay, he assisted to manage and cultivate it. In 1861, he was requested by the late Sir George Grey to rejoin the Government service, and was appointed Resident Magistrate for the Bay of Islands and Northern Districts. This position he held until 1880, when he was requested by the Government of the day to retire upon his pension; but the following year he was raised to the bench as Judge of the Native Land Court, and retained office until 1891, when he finally retired into private life. One incident which occurred during Mr. Williams's early career is worthy of being recorded, as showing his intimate knowledge of the Maori character. The occasion was the murder of a shepherd named Patrick Rooney (employed by the Messrs Williams) by a native called Kihi. This man was arrested, and was being examined by the Acting-Governor, Mr. Shortland, at Kororareka, when a party of natives, numbering about 300, under the celebrated chief Haratua, arrived on the scene, to express their disgust at the atrocious crime. Their demonstrations, however, frightened Mr. Shortland, who was ignorant of Maori customs, and he sent for a small body of soldiers from Russell to disperse the Maoris; and had it not been for the tact displayed by Mr. Williams, great bloodshed would have ensued, and a disastrous blow given to the settlement of the colony at a critical period of its history.
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Basley, George W.,
                Barrister, Solicitor, and Patent Agent, 8 and 9 Bank of New Zealand Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 260. Telephone 107. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Baxter And Shrewsbury
                
                (Thomas Nimmo Baxter and Hugh Shrewsbury), Barristers and Solicitors, 91 Queen Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1896.

            

            

              
              


                
Beale And Beale,
                Barristers and Solicitors, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 161. P.O. Box 314. Mr. John Alexander Beale was called and admitted in 1873, after five years' service under articles to Judge T. S. Weston. For many years Mr. Beale was a member of the Council of the Auckland Law Society, and has practised in the City of Auckland almost continuously since his admission. He was for three years in partnership with Mr. Hugh Lusk, sometime Provincial Secretary, Chairman of the Board of Education, and M.H.R. Mr. Beale's private residence is at Dilworth Terrace, Selwyn Terrace, Parnell. Messrs Beale and Beale have agents in the principal cities of Great Britain, Australia, and New Zealand.
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Biss, N. L. Holm,
                Solicitor, 30 Shortland Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 502. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales.

            

            

              
              


                

Blades, Joseph,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Imperial Chambers, Vulcan Lane, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

Bloomfield, William Read.
                Barrister and Solicitor, Government Insurance Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland. P.O. Box, 468. Private residence, “The Pines,” Mr. Eden, connected by telephone 828. Mr. Bloomfield was born at Matawhero, Poverty Bay, in 1861, and is the second son of the late Captain Bloomfield, sheep farmer, and nephew of Captain Read, one of the pioneers of the east coast districts. He was educated at the east coast districts. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar school, and at the late Napier grammar school, where he passed his junior and senior civil service examinations. He was articled to Messrs. Hesketh and Richmond, solicitors, and admitted to the Bar by the late Mr. Justice Gillies. After practising for a short time in the Colony, Mr. Bloomfield visited America, England, and the Continent of Europe, finally returning to New Zealand in 1890, when he recommenced practice in Auckland. Mr. Bloomfield is interested in station and other properties in Poverty Bay for which district he has been requested to stand in the Opposition interest. He takes a great interest in hunting and polo, and has filled the office of steward of the Auckland racing club. Mr Bloomfield has large interests in mining properties and is a director of several companies; he is also a member of the council of the Auckland chamber of mines.

            

            

              
              


                

Brock, Adam,
                Barrister and Solicitor, 33 Shortland Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Brookfield And Son
                
                (Frederic Morris Preston Brookfield, and Frederic William Brookfield), Barristers and Solicitors, Colonial Bank Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Bruce, Wilfred E.,
                Barrister and Solicitor, 110 Victoria Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 59. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

Buchanan, Archibald,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Vulcan Lane, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Buddle, Button and Co.
                
                (late Whitaker and Russell) (Thomas Buddle, Charles Edward Button and Charles Frederick Buddle), Solicitors, Notaries, etc., 5 Wyndham



Street, Auckland. Telegraphic address, “Recitation.” Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. P.O. Box 150; telephone 230. London agents, Paines and Co., 14, St. Helen's Place.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Thomas Buddle,
               
 Senior Partner and second son of the late Rev. Thomas Buddle, Wesleyan Minister, was born in Auckland on the 16th of April, 1847, and has continued


[image: Mr. T. Buddle.]

Mr. 
T. Buddle.


to reside there ever since. He was educated at the old Wesleyan College, Upper Queen Street. This institution, established by and at the cost of the Wesleyan Missionaries then in New Zealand for the purpose of providing education for their children, was so successfully conducted by Rev. J. H. Fletcher (afterwards principal of Newington College, Sydney) that several boarders were sent from the other Colonies to be educated there. The building is now absorbed in the handsome edifice used by the Wesleyan body as Prince Alfred College. Mr. Buddle left school in 1861 to enter as an articled pupil into the office of Mr. Thomas Russell, then a practising solicitor and barrister in Auckland. In the same year Mr. F. Whitaker joined Mr. Russell, and the well-known firm of Whitaker and Russell was the result. Having served the articles of clerkship requisite in those days, Mr. Buddle successfully passed the necessary examination, and at the age of twenty-one was duly admitted as a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court. He remained with the firm as managing clerk until taken into partnership. Sir Frederick Whitaker and the Hon. Thomas Russell both holding important positions in the Government, the conduct of the business for many years was in Mr. Buddle's hands. In the course of time, Sir F. Whitaker died and Mr. Russell retired from the firm. Mr. Buddle was then joined by Mr. C. E. Button and his younger brother, Mr. C. F. Buddle, and the firm thus constituted continues the same business on the original premises in Wyndham Street. It is the oldest established legal business in Auckland. Mr. Buddle is a director of the New Zealand Insurance Company, Auckland Gas Company (of which he is chairman), New Zealand Accident Insurance Company, a local director of the Colonial Sugar Refining Company, and has held many public positions in connection with religious and educational institutions. Mr. Buddle was married to Miss Arthur, daughter of the late Mr. Carpenter Arthur, and has a family of six children.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Burton And Hammond
                
                (Ernest William Burton and Frederick James Hammond), Barristers and Solicitors, 93 Queen Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Ernest William Burton,
                Senior Partner in the firm of Burton and Hammond, was born at Goulburn Creek, Victoria, on the 18th of October, 1857, and was admitted to the Bar by the late Mr. Justice Gillies in June, 1879. Mr. Burton has contributed articles to the “Victoria Law Review” and the “Law Quarterly Review,” and is known also as a writer on political and financial questions.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Frederick James Hammond,
               
 who is a son of the late Mr. J. Hammond, was born in Auckland in 1867, and received his education at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He was articled to Mr. W. J. Napier, barrister and solicitor, admitted to practice in January, 1889, and commenced to practise on his own account almost immediately afterwards. He continued in this way until the beginning of 1898, when he joined Mr. E. W. Burton, barrister, in partnership, under the style of Burton and Hammond.
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This partnership still continues. Mr Hammond has taken an active part in the local affairs of the district where he resides, and at the age of twenty-five was elected to a seat in the Devonport Borough Council, in which he remained until the completion of the water supply from Lake Takapuna.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Calder And Goldwater
                
                (C. M. Calder and A. Goldwater), Solicitors, 121 and 122 Victoria Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 229. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. C. M. Calder,
                son of the Rev. F. Calder, headmaster of Chesterfield Grammar School, was born at Chesterfield, England, in 1858, and articled to Mr. W. Cowdell, of Chesterfield. He was admitted to the Bar in 1880, and shortly afterwards came to New Zealand, where he was admitted in 1887.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. A. Goldwater,
                who was admitted in 1894, began to practise his profession with his present partner in 1895.

            

            

              
              

                
Coleman, William,
               
 Barrister and Solicitor, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Coleman is the eldest son of the late Mr.
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Mr. W. Coleman.


William Coleman, merchant, of Auckland, and nephew of Mr. John Coleman, iron-monger, of the old-established firm of Messrs Coleman, Ireland, Porter, and Co. He was educated in Auckland, Sydney, and Melbourne; was admitted a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of New Zealand, and has practised his profession in Auckland for many years. Mr. Coleman was for two consecutive terms mayor of Parnell. In 1890 he married Rika, the only daughter of Mrs. Louis Myers, of “The Mount,” Symonds Street, and niece of the late Mr. Louis Ehrenfried, the well-known brewer. Mr. and Mrs. Coleman live at “Lynton Villa,” Princes Street, Albert Park, and have one daughter, Ruby Ehrenfried Coleman.

            

            

              
              

                

Cooper, William,
               
 Barrister and Sollcttor, Wyndham Street, Auckland. Mr. Cooper was born in London in 1852 and is the second



son of the late Mr. Theophillus Cooper and therefore brother to Mr. Theo. Cooper, formerly well-known as a barrister in Auckland, and now a Judge of the Supreme Court of New Zealand. The subject of this notice was educated in Auckland,
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Mr. 
W. Cooper.


and studied law with Messrs. Russell and Devore, and Messrs. Russell and Campbell. He was admitted a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of New Zealand in March, 1888, practised for about a year in Auckland, then removed to Samoa, where he gained a leading position. For five years prior to leaving the Samoan group. Mr. Cooper held the post of municipal magistrate of Apia with the right to praetise. He is a member of the Bar of the Supreme Courts of Fiji and Samoa, and of the Court of the High Commissioner of the Western Pacific. He was retained in the important case, Cornwall v. McArthur, which was before the public for ten years. In 1896, Mr. Cooper brought his family to Auckland, as the tropical climate was too trying for Mrs. Cooper's health, and established his present practice. Mr. Cooper was married in 1891 to Miss Malcolm, daughter of the late Mr. Neil Malcolm, barrister of the Inner Temple, and has a son and daughter. While in Samoa he was associated with the celebrated author, R. L. Stevenson, as one of the proprietors of the “Samoa Weekly Herald.” This was during the troublous times dealt with by Mr. Stevenson in his “Footnote to History.”

            

            

              
              


                

                  Devore And Cooper
                
                (A. E. T. Levore and Theo. Cooper), Barristers and Solicitors, Legal Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. A. E. T. Devore
                
                is referred to at page 
126 of this volume as having been three times Mayor of Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Mr. Theophilus Cooper
                
                is referred to in another article. He was appointed a Judge of the Supreme Court in February, 1901, and at once ceased to be a member of the firm of Devore and Cooper.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Dufaur And Maccormick
                
                (E. T. Dufaur and C. E. MacCormick), Barristers and Solicitors, Auckland. Mr. Dufaur is dead, but the firm is still carried on under the old name by Mr. MacCormick, who entered the partnership in 1899, after having been many years in the office. He was admitted to practice in 1887, by Mr. Justice Gillies.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Dignan And Armstrong
                
                (Peter Dignan and Walter Henry Armstrong), Barristers and Solicitors, 4 and 5 Imperial Chambers, Vulcan Lane, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Peter Dignan,
                the Senior Partner of this firm, is referred to in another part of this volume as an ex-mayor of Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Walter Henry Armstrong,
                Partner in the firm of Dignan and Armstrong, was born at Cambridge, England, in 1844. In 1862 he came to New Zealand, and was articled to Mr. Samuel Jackson, of Jackson and Russell. He was admitted to the Bar in 1873, and subsequently joined the firm of Messrs Sheehan and Dignan as a partner. On the retirement of the Hon. John Sheehan, the name of the firm was changed to Dignan and Armstrong.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Earl And Campbell
                
                (Frederick Earl and Alexander Bulwer Campbell), Barristers and Solicitors, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Frederick Earl
                
                has been in practice in Auckland since 1880.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Alexander Bulwer Campbell
                
                practised for many years in Wellington, and was formerly a member of the firm of Campbell and Gray, of that city.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Gillies And Colbeck
                
                (C. E. S. Gillies and W. B. Colbeck), Barristers and Solicitors, 27 Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Gillies took his B.A. and LL.B. degrees at Cambridge in 1892, and was called to the Bar in England in the same year. Mr. Colbeck took his B.A. and LL.B. degrees at Cambridge in 1891, when he was called to the Bar. He is a member of the Inner Temple, London. The firm commenced practice in Auckland in 1894.

            

            

              
              


                

Gittos, John William,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Brown and Campbell's Buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Gittos was born in 1862 at the Kaipara, and is a son of the Rev. W. Gittos, the well-known missionary clergyman. He was articled to Mr. W. Thorn, solicitor, of Vulcan Lane. Auckland, and remained with him for twelve years, during which he was admitted to practice as a barrister and solicitor. Mr. Gittos commenced the practice of his profession on his own account in 1893.

            

            

              
              


                

Graham, James,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Commercial Union Assurance Buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Griffiths, Charles Frederick,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Temple Chambers, High Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Griffiths is referred to as a Freemason in the social section of this volume.
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Hanna, A.,
                Barrister and Solicitor, corner of Queen and Swanson Streets, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Hesketh And Richmond
                
                (Samuel Hesketh), Barristers, Solicitors, and Notaries Public, National Bank Buildings, Wyndham Street, Auckland. Telephone 16. P.O. Box 107. London Agents, Murray, Hutchings and Stirling. Cable address, “Tamaki.” Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Limited.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Samuel Hesketh,
               
 of this well-known firm, was born in Manchester, and
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Mr. 
S. Hesketh.


arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Devonshire,” on the 7th of February, 1863, the day on



which H.M.S. “Orpheus” was lost at the entrance to the Manukau Harbour. Mr. Hesketh served his articles under the late Mr. Edwin Hesketh, of Auckland, and read for his law examination with Mr. Theo. Cooper, now Mr. Justice Cooper. He was admitted in 1878, and subsequently joined the firm of Messrs Hesketh and Richmond. Mr. Hesketh is a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of New Zealand, a notary public, and a commissioner of the Supreme Courts of New South Wales and Victoria. He has been for about eighteen years chairman of the local body of the Epson district, where he resides, and he has evinced considerable interest in local matters generally, but specially as a member of the Manukan Water Supply Board, which, it is believed, will eventually provide the whole of the suburban district of the isthmus of Auckland with water.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Jackson And Russell
                
                (Samuel Jackson and James Russell), Barristers and Solicitors and Notaries Public, 17 Shortland Street, Auckland. Cable address; “Scandendum.” P.O. Box, 176. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

Johnstone, George M.,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Kidd's Buildings, 4 High Street, Auckland. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia.

            

            

              
              

                

Keesing, Maurice Ralph,
               
 Barrister and Solicitor, and Accomplished Linguist, Auckland. Mr. Keesing was born in Auckland in 1854, and educated at the Auckland High School under Mr. McRae, and at the Collegiate School under Dr. Kidd. On leaving school at the age of seventeen, he was articled to Mr. Thomas Outhwaite, and was afterwards with Mr. J. C. MacCormick, both
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Mr. 
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barristers and solicitors, of Auckland. At the early age of twenty-one he passed his final legal examination, and shortly afterwards went to Australia, where for some time he followed his profession in some of the leading legal offices. After returning to New Zealand in 1882 he practised his profession at Cambridge, but in 1885 he left the Waikatc and practised in Auckland for about eight years in a legal partnership. As he was acquainted with the classics and with many European and some Oriental languages, Mr. Keesing left the law, and took up literary and educational work, in connection with which his singular ability to impart a wide knowledge has gained for him the reputation of an exceptionally able tutor. Mr. Keesing has held the position of tutor for foreign languages in some of the leading colleges of Auckland, and from the headmasters of these he has received testimonials certifying to his possession of uncommon natural aptitude for the work. Having studied about thirty memory systems, both ancient and modern, English and foreign, Mr. Keesing has recently compiled a method which he styles the Imperial Memory System. Though only recently originated, this system has given much satisfaction, and proved a great advantage to those who have made themselves acquainted with the art of applying it. Its advantages are logical precision, intellectual clearness, brevity of treatment, and comprehensiveness of subject. Mr. Keesing is, besides, a musician, and plays several instruments, though he does not pursue music as a profession.

            

            

              
              


                

Kissling, Theophilus,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Laishley, Richard,
                LL.D., Ph.D., M.A., Barrister and Solicitor, Notary Public, Vulcan Lane, Auckland. Mr. Laishley was born at Southampton, England, in 1844, and educated at a private college in his native town. He was articled in 1870 to Messrs Jackson and Russell, of Auckland, and admitted to the bar by Chief Justice Sir George Arney in July, 1873, when he began to practise. Mr. Laishley was for some time chairman of the Board of Education. In 1883 he visited Great Britain, Europe, and the United States of America, and was commissioned by the New Zealand Government to report upon the educational systems in force in those countries. During his visit to Scotland the degree of LL.D. was conferred upon him by the University of St. Andrew's. Dr. Laishely's diploma and portrait are hung in the Free Public Library, Auckland.

            

            

              
              

                

Lundon, John Raphael,
               
 Barrister and Solicitor, Coombes' Arcade, 23 High Street and Collingwood Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 412. Telephone 717. Private residence, Ponsonby. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Lundon was born at Onehunga, and is the only surviving son of the late Mr. John Lundon, for many years a member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and afterwards representative for the Bay of Islands in the General Assembly. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and after serving articles in a leading solicitor's office, was admitted to practice by Mr Justice Conolly on the 31st of July, 1894, and called to the bar on the 19th of December, 1899. As a cricketer, Mr. Lundon is known throughout the Auckland province, which he represented during the seasons of 1892-3-4. He has also gained some prominence in volunteer and shooting circles. As a rifleman he represented the Auckland district at the annual
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meeting of the New Zealand Rifle Association at Blenheim in 1889, and during the same year carried off the Onehunga Rifle Championship. He enjoyed the distinction of being probably the youngest commanding officer in the volunteer force, having obtained a captain's pass certificate at the early age of seventeen years. As a Freemason, Mr. Lundon was initiated in Lodge St. Andrew, 418, S.C.

            

            

              
              


                

Lusk, Robert Butler,
                Barrister and Solicitor, 28 Shortland Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              

                
Mcarthur, Dr. Alexander,
               
 Barrister and Solicitor, Queen Street, Auckland. Dr. McArthur was born at Glasgow in the year 1855. When he was very young his parents went to Melbourne, and he received his education at the Scotch College and at the Melbourne University, where he took the degrees of Masters of Arts and Doctor of Laws. From his youth he was acknowledged as a teacher of exceptional ability and originality, and he taught for some years as a senior master in his old college. At the early age of twenty-two he was selected by the Education Department of South Australia to be principal of one of the largest model schools in that colony. In 1880 Dr. McArthur came to New Zealand, and was for a short time a senior master in the Auckland Grammar School, but resigned that position to become the first principal of the Auckland Training College. After six years in this position he opened the Queen's College, as a private venture, in the old Wesley College buildings, and afterwards in Ponsonby. In 1898 Dr. McArthur commenced his practice as a barrister and solicitor in Auckland, for which he was also the coroner. He was one of the most favourably known public men in Auckland, having been a member of



the Board of Education and of the Marine Board of Health; also president of the Auckland Liberal Association. In addition to his other outies, Dr. McArthur was the lecturer
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Dr. A. McArthur.


on jurisprudence, constitutional history, and political economy at the Auckland University College. At present (April, 1901) he is Stipendiary Magistrate at Wellington.

            

            

              
              


                

Mcgregor, Malcolm Godfrey,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Hobson's buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. London agents, Baker and Nairne, 3 Crosby Square, Bishopsgate E.C. Cable address, “Clan.” Auckland. Telephone 683. P.O. Box 290. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              

                

Mahony, Edmund,
               
 Barrister and Solicitor, 38 Shortland Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 99. Telephone 231. Cable address, “Cognitor, Auckland.” Private residence, Epsom. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Agents in London, Messrs Bower, Cotton and Bower, 4 Broam's Buildings, Chancery Lane. Mr. Mahony is the Auckland representative, under the Special Law Lists, of Messrs Carter, Hughes and Dwight, of Broadway, New York, and of Mr. P. G. Kime, of London, and is thereby connected with the leading, members of the profession in every part of the world. He was born in Auckland and educated, firstly, by the late Mr. R. J. O'Sullivan, afterwards Chief. Inspector of Schools under the Auckland Board of Education, and, secondly, at St. Andrew's High School. In 1866 he entered the office of Messrs Henry Hill and Son, of Auckland, solicitors, and subsequently became a law student under Mr. Walter James Hill; passed the barrister's examination in June, 1883, and was admitted to the Bar by the late Mr. Justice Gillies. Mr. Henry Hill having retired from the practice which he had commenced in 1858, Mr. Mahony joined Mr. Walter James Hill as partner, and the firm of Messrs Hill and Mahony was established in July, 1883. The firm continued to practise until March, 1897, when Mr. Hill retired, and Mr. Mahony became the sole proprietor of one of the oldest established legal businesses in Auckland. Mr. Mahony is the diocesan solicitor for the Auckland Roman Catholic Church, and is also solicitor for the Imperial German Consulate, and the Austro-Hungarian
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Consulate, having made a study of the German language.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Napier And Fitzherbert
                
                (W. J. Napier and W. L. Fitzherbert), Barristers and Solicitors, 106 and 107 Victoria Arcade. Auckland. Bankers, National Bank and Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. W. J. Napier,
                the Senior Partner of this firm, is fully referred to in other parts of this volume as the senior member for the City of Auckland in the House of Representatives, and also as Captain of the Devonport Coast Guard Artillery Volunteers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Lockhart Fitzherbert,
                Partner of the firm of Napier and Fitzherbert, is eldest son of Mr. H. S. Fitzherbert, barrister and solicitor, of Palmerston North, and a grandson of the late Sir William Fitzherbert, celebrated as an early colonist and a New Zealand statesman. Articles on Sir William and Mr. H. S. Fitzherbert, of Palmerston, appear in the Wellington volume of this work. Mr. W. L. Fitzherbert was born in Wellington in 1877, and spent some years in general study at the St. Paul's preparatory school, Sydney Street. At the age of thirteen he removed to Wanganui College, where he studied for four years. At the early age of seventeen Mr. Fitzherbert proved his marked ability and apt scholarship by passing his matriculation with results which entitled him to a certificate for the solicitors' general knowledge examination. Immediately after this he entered the office of his father, with whom he served three years, at the end of which he passed the legal examination for solicitors, but owing to his being under the required age, his admission to the bar was deferred for some months. In 1898 Mr. Fitzherbert commenced the practice of his profession at Levin, and for the two years which he resided there he met with great success. Mr. Fitzherbert left Levin district on the 18th of June, 1900, to enter into partnership with Mr. Napier. While residing at Levin he married the eldest daughter of Mr. T. Herbert Hankins, solicitor, of Palmerston North. Though for the most part engaged in following his profession and in literary pursuits, Mr. Fitzherbert has taken considerable interest in military matters, and for about two years he occupied the position of first lieutenant in the Palmerston North Rifles, but resigned his commission when he left the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Neumegen, Walter Martin,
                Barrister and Solicitor, 33 Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Oliphant And Battley
                
                (Peter Oliphant and Frederick Battley), Barristers and Solicitors, 12 High Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

O'Meagher, Joseph,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Auckland. Mr. O'Meagher has practised his profession in Auckland for many years, and has been regarded as one of the ablest pleaders in criminal cases in the colony.

            

            

              
              


                

Palmer, Jackson,
                Barrister and Solicitor, 5 and 6 Oxford Chambers, High Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Palmer is referred to as member for Ohinemuri in the House of Representatives.

            

            

              
              


                

Parr, Christopher James,
                Barrister and Solicitor, 104 Victoria Arcade, Auckland; Kapanga Road, Coromandel. P.O. Box 71. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr Parr is referred to on pages 
119 and 120 of this volume, as a member of the Auckland City Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Pilkington, Arthur George,
                Solicitor, Mercantile Chambers, Auckland. Mr. Pilkington was born at West Tamaki, near Auckland, in 1869, and is the eldest son of Mr. and Mrs. Pilkington. His mother is the daughter of Mr. Robert Andrew, who arrived with the colonists who came out by the ships “Duchess of Argyle” and “Jane Gifford.” He passed the solicitor's professional examination in 1896, and was admitted to practice in the Supreme Court, in 1899, by Mr. Justice Conolly.

            

            

              
              

                

Reed, John Ranken,
               
 Barrister and Solicitor, 31 Shortland Street, Auckland. Born at Ipswich, Queensland, on the 26th of December, 1864, Mr. J. R. Reed is the eldest son of the late George McCullagh Reed, B.A., journalist. Mr. Reed was educated at the Grammar School, Auckland, High School, Dunedin, Victoria College, Jersey, and Clare College in the University of Cambridge, England. He served his articles with Messrs Devore and Cooper, solicitors, of Auckland, and was admitted a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court on the 18th of June, 1887. He practised his profession until January, 1896, in the Bay of Islands, and then removed



to Auckland, where he has since been practising. Mr. Reed has always taken a great interest in educational matters, and was for many years chairman of the Kawakawa school committee. He has also been a member of the Board of Education for the Auckland district. In Freemasonry Mr. Reed is a past master
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of Prince of Wales Lodge, 1338 E.C. He is district grand registrar for the Auckland district and is master of the Union Mark Lodge.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Russell And Campbell
                
                (E. N. R. Russell and Hugh Campbell), Barristers and Solicitors, Wyndham Street, Auckland. This firm was established in 1883 by Mr J. B. Russell, who is now dead, and Mr. Hugh Campbell is the present senior partner.

            

            

              
              


                

Seth-Smith, Hugh Garden,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Bank of New Zealand Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Mr. Seth-Smith is known throughout the Colony as having been District Judge and Resident Magistrate at Auckland in 1882, and Chief Judge of the Native Land Court from 1888 to 1893. He was born at Balham, Surrey, England, in 1848, was educated at Trinity College, Cambridge, where he gained a scholarship in 1870, and took his B.A. degree in 1871, when he was also placed as 14th Wrangler in the Mathematical Tripos. Mr Seth-Smith was called to the Bar of the Inner Temple in 1873. He arrived in New Zealand in 1881, and was appointed in the following year District Judge and Resident Magistrate at Auckland. Since resigning his judicial position he has been practising his profession. Mr. Seth-Smith takes a deep and active interest in ecclesiastical, educational, and scientific matters, and was elected one of the first members of the Council of the Auckland University College, and first president of the Polynesian Society. In 1898 he was appointed Chancellor of the Diocese of Auckland, in succession to the late Mr. Edwin Hesketh.
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Stewart, John William,
                Barrister and Solicitor, National Bank Buildings, Wyndham Street, Auckland. Mr. Stewart was born in Auckland in 1866, was articled to Mr. J. M. Alexander, admitted to the bar on the 13th of December, 1887, by Mr. Justice Gillies, and commenced practice in February, 1889.

            

            

              
              


                

Smith, F. Wilson,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Smith was born in Yorkshire, England, in the sixties. He came to New Zealand with his parents in 1876, and was admitted as a solicitor in 1887, and as barrister in 1899. Mr. Smith practised his profession at Geraldine, in the provincial district of Canterbury, until 1897, when he removed to Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Thorne, William,
                Barrister and Solicitor, was born on the 24th of January, 1847, at Auckland. His parents were amongst the pioneer settlers and arrived in 1842. He was educated at Wesley College, Auckland, in which he was afterwards assistant master for two years. Mr. Thorne had two years of active service during the Maori war. He was articled in 1863 to the late Mr. Bracey, a member of the English Bar, and on the death of Mr. Bracey he completed his articles with Mr. Brookfield, Crown Prosecutor, and was admitted as a barrister and solicitor in 1869. He commenced to practise in 1870, and since then he has continuously resided and practised in Auckland. Mr. Thorne is a notary public and a commissioner for New South Wales and South Australia. He was for several years chairman of the Ponsonby Road Board, was a member of the Auckland Harbour Board on two occasions, and a city councillor. He is one of the trustees of the Costley Training Institution, treasurer of the Auckland Ladies' Benevolent Society, and one of the City Loan Sinking Fund Commissioners.

            

            

              
              


                

Tylden, Charles Ryland,
                Barrister and Solicitor, 2 Oxford Chambers, High Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

Vaile, Percy A.,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Legal Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Vaile was educated at the Dunedin High School, and admitted to the bar at Auckland in 1889 by Mr. Justice Gillies.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Whitaker And Baume
                
                (Alfrea Edward Whitaker, Frederick Ehrenfried Baume), Barristers, Solicitors, and Notaries Public, Herald Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 49. Telephone 568. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. A. E. Whitaker,
                Senior Partner of this firm, was admitted to the bar in 1875, and joined by his present partner in 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. F. E. Baume,
                of the firm of Whitaker and Baume, is referred to as a member of the Auckland City Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Williamson, Francis Herbert,
                Solicitor, 103 Victoria Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Williamson studied law under Messrs Burton and Keesing, barristers, from 1886 to 1889. He practised in America for five years, and then returned to Auckland, where he was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Wynyard And Purchas
                
                (Montague H. Wynyard; Charles Edward Purchas), Solicitors. Offices, Swanson Chambers, corner Queen and Swanson Streets, Auckland. Cable address “Windlass, Auckland.” Telephone 693. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private address, Mr. Wynyard, “Moor End,” Epsom; Mr. Purchas, Clyde Street, Epsom. London agents, Messrs Soames, Edwards and Jones, 58 Lincoln's Inn Fields, London W.; agents at Wellington, Messrs Morison and Loughnan; at Dunedin, Messrs Webb and Allan; at Thames, Mr. J. A. Miller; at Paeroa. Mr. W.M. Jackson; at Coromandel, Messrs Parr and Walker; at Napier, Messrs Charlisle and McLean. The firm was formed in 1892 when Mr. Purchas, who had been practising previously at the Thames, joined Mr. Wynyard in Auckland. Mr. Wynyard, who was admitted in 1891, has charge of the conveyancing department, and Mr. Purchas, who was admitted in 1887, undertakes the common law and mining branches.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Eugene Outhwaite,
                B.A., Oxon., Barrister-at-Law of the Inner Temple, and of the Courts of New Zealand, was a native of Auckland and second son of Mr. Thomas Outhwaite, first Registrar of the Supreme Court of New Zealand. He was a man of rare abilities, genial nature, and much culture; but unfortunately he was obliged to go about on crutches, owing to an accident and subsequent rheumatism, contracted at Oxford, where he was a good all-round athlete. Though well qualified as a lawyer, he gave more attention to letters than to his profession. As a critic, he wrote under the name of “Orpheus,” and writers, musicians, singers, and actors recognised him as an authority. He was a lover and a patron of all sport, over which he exercised a wide and popular influence. Mr. Outhwaite



died on the 10th of April, 1900. Occur when it may, the death of a man so gifted and accomplished is naturally deeply deplored by his friends, but in Mr. Outhwaite's case there was an added grief in the knowledge that his death was really the after result of injuries received a year before, when he was knocked down by a recklessly-driven brake.

            

            

              
              


                

White, Henry,
                Law Stationer, Law Clerk, etc., Shortland Street (opposite Messrs Archibald Clark and Sons), Auckland. Mr. White is a son of the late Mr. Henry White, formerly a well-known builder, who came to the Colony as far back as 1843, and built St. Paul's Cathedral in Princes Street, Firth's old mill in Queen Street, the main building of the Lunatic Asylum, the first brick post office in Shortland Street, and many other noteworthy buildings. Mr. White was born in England in 1839, and was educated at the Auckland Wesley College and other early schools. In 1853, Mr. White served under the Hon. Thomas Russell, in whose employment—and that of the late Sir F. Whitaker—he spent about twelve years, when he began business in his present line. Mr. White has, therefore, been drawing and engrossing deeds for the profession for over thirty-five years. He keeps law books and general law stationery, besides a large variety of new and second-hand works of general literature. In 1862 Mr. White married Miss M. E. Ward, daughter of Captain Ward, who was first mate in the steamer “William Denny,” the first steamer to run between Auckland and Sydney, and who afterwards held an appointment in the Government treasury. Mr. and Mrs. White have six sons and six daughters. Three of the sons are married, and all occupy satisfactory positions.
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Auckland has a large number of medical practitioners, but it cannot be termed an unhealthy city. It is true that the people generally have not the rosy, robust appearance of their southern neighbours, but this is mainly, if not wholly, due to the influence of the climate. The city's medical practitioners are, as a class, men of educated ability, and some of them are specialists of the highest order; but as medical men, as an organised body, take the view that members of the profession should not be parties to the publication of particulars concerning themselves, personally or professionally, it follows that, in a number of cases, only names and addresses are given in this section of the Cyclopedia. Many chemists, also for reasons personal to themselves, have withheld particulars from the compilers, and, in such cases, only names and addresses are given. Dentists are mentioned much more in detail. Under the circumstances, the section, as a whole, is as complete as the compilers can make it, and, apart from positive information useful for immediate purposes, it gives data whereby a student of the subject may arrive at fairly trust-worthy conclusions concerning the healthiness of Auckland and the health of its people at the present time.
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Bakewell, Robert H.,
              M.D., M.R.C.S. (Eng.), L.M., R.C.S., L.S.A. (London), 144 Hobson Street, Auckland. Dr. Bakewell has during his long career as a physician and surgeon filled many important medical offices. He has been a contributor to the medical press since the year 1854, and is now the regular New Zealand correspondent of one of the principal American medical journals.
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Bayntun, Francis Thomas,
              M.R.C.S. (England), Surgeon, Wellington Street, Auckland. This well-known practitioner, who has practised his profession in Auckland since 1865, is one of the few Crimean veterans still surviving. The son of Dr. W. R. Bayntun, and grandson of Sir A. R. Bayntun, Bart., of Spye Park, Wiltshire, England, Dr. Bayntun was born in 1833 in Bath, where he received his early education. After two years' study at the Royal United Hospital, Bath, owing to delicate health he was sent out on a visit to Australia and New Zealand, from which he returned eighteen months later suffering from ophthalmia. On recovering, he resumed his medical studies at the Hospital, and, on the outbreak of the Crimean war in 1852, having passed an examination in London, went to the seat of war. Dr. Bayntun was present at the taking of Sebastopol, and holds the Crimean medal and one clasp for Sebastopol, and the Turkish and French medals. On his return to London he was discharged, and in 1857 gained his degree as a member of the Royal College of Surgeons of England. Joining the Royal Wiltshire Militia as assistant surgeon, he subsequently obtained a commission by examination in H.M. Indian Army. After three weeks in India, he was attached to B. Troop, King's Dragoon Guards, under orders to join the China Expeditionary Force. Dr. Bayntun then went through the China War of 1860, for which service he received a medal and two bars. Having returned to India, he was stricken with Asiatic cholera on the line of march, and invalided Home. In 1865 he landed in Auckland, having determined to take up his residence in New Zealand. Four years later Dr. Payntun was married to Mrs. Hannah Forester, younger daughter of the late Mr. Joseph Low, founder of the firm of Low and Motion, millers and grain merchants, Auckland.
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Beale, Bernard Charles,
              M.R.C.S (Eng.), L.S.A. (London), Ponsonby Road, Auckland. Telephone 514.
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Bedford, Robert,
              M.R.C.S. (Eng.), L.R.C.P. (London), Physician and Surgeon, Ponsonby Road, Auckland.
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Campbell, John Logan,
              M.D., M.R.C.S. (Edin.), Auckland. Dr. Logan Campbell, who is one of the oldest citizens of Auckland, has never practised his profession since his arrival in 1840. He, however, came out to Sydney, in 1839, as medical officer in charge of immigrants on the barque “Palmyra,” which brought colonists bound for Adelaide, Melbourne, and Sydney. Dr. Campbel's interesting career is further referred to in an article on himself, as one of the Superintendents of the Province of Auckland, and in various parts of the historical introduction to the present volume of this Cyclopedia.
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Coates, Frederick William,
              Physician and Surgeon, M.D. (Edin.), M.R.C.S. (Eng.), L.S.A. (London), Mount Eden, Auckland.
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Coom, Richard,
              M.R.C.S. (Eng.), Karangahape Road, Auckland. Dr. Coom studied for some years at Guy's Hospital, London, and ultimately became surgeon to Clay Cross Hospital, where he practised his profession till 1885, when he came to Auckland. He was for sixteen years surgeon to the Court of Foresters.
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Darby, William John,
             
 L.R.C.S.I., and L.M., Rotunda, Dublin, Symonds Street, Auckland. Telephone No. 276. Dr. Darby was born in Auckland in 1859 and is the eldest son of Mr. Patrick Darby, a well-known and respected citizen of Auckland. He left Auckland at the early age of fourteen years for Thurles College, County Tipperary, Ireland, and in 1881, went to Dublin and walked Mater Misericordia hospital for four years, when he gained his diplomas, and was afterwards appointed House Surgeon at Kingston hospital, near Dublin. In 1886, he went to London and practised at the East End for four years, and subsequently at Manchester and Liverpool. He returned to Auckland in 1894 and commenced practice. He is medical officer to the Druids, Hibernian Society and Foresters. Dr. Darby was married in 1894 to Miss Marle Larbry, daughter of Dr. Larbry, of Paris.
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Girdler, George Toussaint,
              L.M., L.R.C.P., L.R.C.S., Edinburgh; L.S.A., London; Khyber Pass, Auckland.
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Goldie, William Herbert,
              M.D., C.M. (Edin.), Physician and Surgeon, Auckland. Dr. Goldie was born in Auckland in 1872, and is the son of Mr. David Goldie, at present (March, 1901), mayor of that city. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and at Prince Albert



College, passed his matriculation, junior civil service, and medical preliminary examinations at Auckland, and studied science for two years at the Auckland University College. Thence he proceeded to Sydney, where he studied for and passed the first professional examination for the degree of the Sydney University. In the early part of 1892 he went to Edinburgh, and recommenced his studies. During his career at the University there, he obtained medals for physiology, midwifery, and diseases of women and children. He gained the Buchanan Scholarship, awarded annually to the graduate passing highest in diseases of women; was first Senior Prizeman in Surgery at the New School of Medicine, and also won first-class honours in medicine, surgery, midwifery, pathology, and physiology. Dr. Goldie then gained his degrees of Bachelor of Medicine and Master of Surgery, and two years later passed his examination for M.D., after a most distinguished career. His thesis entitled, “The Medical Customs and Diseases of the Polynesian, Maori, and Australian Races,” was awarded honours. Immediately on graduating, Dr. Goldie commenced general practice at Granton-on-Spey, where he took charge of the Countess of Seafield's hospital. Shortly afterwards he entered on duty as house surgeon in charge of the University ward for the diseases of women at the Edinburgh Royal Infirmary. After being about twelve months in that infirmary, Dr. Goldie proceeded to London, and worked in the London hospitals, and, later on, held, for a time, the position of house physician and pathologist to the Wolverhampton and Staffordshire General Infirmary. Some time afterwards he acted as house physician to the Eastern Fever Hospital, London, and had charge of the scarlet fever, measles, and acute diphtheria wards, in succession. While performing the difficult operation of tracheotomy he contracted diptheria, and after his recovery was elected to the honorary staff in the Chelsea Hospital for Women, where he was Medical Registrar and assistant to the physicians and surgeons of the out-patient department. Whilst on the staff in this hospital he necessarily saw a great deal of work, and personally assisted at a number of operations of the famous London surgeon and pathologist, Mr. Bland Sutton. At the same time, he was in consulting practice as a specialist on diseases of women and children at Wimpole Street, Cavendish Square, London—a specialty which he intends to practise in Auckland. The study of the mythology, religion, science, and withcraft of the Polynesian, Melanesian, and Australian races has been always a great hobby with Dr. Goldie, who devoted much research and time in the British Museum to these interesting but somewhat neglected subjects, and he intends to publish an account of his researches for the benefit of the public. In 1900 Dr. Goldie resigned his post from the staff of the Chelsea Hospital, and, after visiting the Paris Exhibition, and touring through Switzerland and Italy, returned to Auckland, where he immediately commenced practice. In his earlier years Dr. Goldie was a wellknown footballer and runner, and won numerous trophies at the Auckland and Sydney University sports. He was secretary of the Edinburgh Australasian Cricket Club, which could hold its own with any club in Scotland. Dr. Goldie has been elected Surgeon-Captain of the Auckland Engineers Volunteer Corps.
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Grant, N. Mckay,
              B.A., M.D., C.M., Symonds Street, Auckland. Telephone 880.
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Guinness, Wyndham Malan Grattan,
              B.A., M.D., B.Ch., B.A.O. (Trinity College, Dublin), Dermatological Prizeman, Hudson Medallist, and Prizeman of the Adelaide Hospital, Dublin. Dr. Guinness is a son of the Rev. Wyndham Guinness, M.A. (Cambridge), rector of Rathdrum, County Wicklow, Ireland, and cousin to Lord Iveagh and Lord Ardilaun. He was born in Dublin, and educated first at Bath, Somerset, and subsequently at Trinity College, Dublin, and, after a distinguished career in that University, he obtained his B.A. degree, and took his M.D. in 1898. At his M.B. examination Dr. Guinness obtained first place, and also took a special course in lunacy. He was clinical assistant in the Dermatological Department of the Adelaide Hospital, Dublin, where he succeeded in obtaining the Dermatalogical prize, and the Hudson medal was awarded to him from the same hospital. He occupied the position of resident i the Adelaide and Dr. Stephen's Hospitals, Dublin. Dr. Guinness came to New Zealand in 1898, spent some time in Napier, and arrived in Auckland in 1900, when he commenced the practice of his profession in Symonds Street.
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Haines, Humphry,
              F.R.C.S. Edinburgh (1885); member of the Ophthalmological Society of the United Kingdom; Oculist, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Haines was born in Cork, Ireland, in 1856. He qualified at Edinburgh, and in 1879 took his L.R.C.S. and P. degrees, following with that of F.R.C.S. in 1885. For a few years he acted as medical officer in connection with the Pacific Mail Co.'s steamers, running between Sydney and San Francisco. He settled in Auckland in 1886.
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Hooper, John Henry,
              M.R.C.S., L.S.A. (Eng.), Hobson Street, Auckland. Dr. Hooper is a son of the late Robert Little Hooper, M.D., of London, and was born there, and educated at King's College School, and St. George's Hospital, London, where he was House Surgeon in 1857, and Obstetric Assistant from 1858 to 1860. He emigrated to Auckland in 1861, commenced practice in January, 1862, and has remained in Auckland ever since. During the Waikato war, he was appointed Acting-Assistant-Surgeon under Dr. Mouat, Principal Medical Officer to the British troops, and had charge of the military hospital in the barracks, with the late Dr. McShane. He was assistant surgeon to the Auckland Cavalry Volunteers, and afterwards surgeon to the Auckland Rifle Brigade Volunteers. Dr. Hooper has been for many years surgeon to the Auckland Dispensary, and was a member for two years of the first surgical staff of Auckland Hospital.
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King, Frederick William Robert John,
             
 M.R.C.S., England; L.R.C.P., London, 1890. Private address, “Middlesex,” Wellesley Street East. Telephone, 278. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Dr. King was born in the Isle of Wight in 1858, arrived in the Colony per ship “Matilda Wattendbach” with the Albertland settlers, in 1862, and was educated at Auckland college and grammar school. He afterwards studied at the Middlesex Hospital medical school, obtained the degrees of M.R.C.S. England, and L.R.C.P. London, in 1890, and commenced practice at Alfreton, Derbyshire, and at Catford, London, S.E. Dr. King holds the following important



appointments, viz., health officer of the city of Auckland, medical officer for the Costley Home for aged poor, and for the Foresters and Oddfellows friendly societies.
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He is a member of the British Medical Association, member of the City schools committee, vice-president of the Auckland grammar school old boys' association, member of St. John's Ambulance, hon. surgeon College rifle corps, and staff surgeon to the Auckland battalion. Dr. King was the originator of the Albertland settlers reunion, on the occasion of the 35th anniversary of their landing in New Zealand, and the re-union passed off with very great eclat.
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Knight, A. Osborne,
              M.R.C.S. (Eng.), L.S.A. (Lond.), Ponsonby Road, Auckland. Telephone 298.
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Lewis, Thomas Hope,
              M.R.C.S., England (1877), and L.S.A., London (1876), Symonds Street, Auckland. Dr. Lewis was born in Liverpool, in 1855, was educated at Rugby School and studied at St. Bartholomew's Hospital, London. He entered the navy in 1878, but left the service in 1882, and was afterwards appointed by the New Zealand Government as resident medical officer at the Rotorua Sanatorium. After completing his engagement he commenced practice in Auckland. Dr. Lewis holds the appointment of admirally surgeon and agent for the Imperial Government, and held the position of health officer for the Port of Auckland under the Colonial Government for fifteen years. He is honorary surgeon at the Auckland Hospital and chief medical referee for the Colonial Mutual Life Assurance Society.
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Lindsay, Peter A.,
              M.B., M.S. (Edin.), B.A. (University of New Zealand), Symonds Street, Auckland. Telephone 288.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Marsack, Arthur Ernest



            
            


              

Marsack, Arthur Ernest,
              L.R.C.P., L.R.C.S., and L.M., Edinburgh; address, Manukau Road, Parnell, Auckland. Dr. Marsack was educated at the Royal Medical College, Epsom; St. Thomas hospital, London, and in Edinburgh. Prior to coming out to this Colony he practised his profession in Tunbridge Wells, England, where he held the appointments of medical-officer to the General Post Office, Provident Dispensary and Frant District. He was also surgeon-captain of the first Volunteer Battalion, Queen's Own Royal West Kent regiment. He has held the appointment of honorary physician to the Auckland hospital and medical-officer to the Jubilee Institute for the Blind for five years.
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Moir, James,
              M.B., C.M., Glasgow; Ponsonby Road, Auckland. Telephone, 279. Dr. Moir was born in Clackmannanshire, Scotland, in 1852, and is the son of Mr. Peter Moir, of that parish. He was educated at Glasgow University, where he took his degrees and afterwards was appointed house physician and house surgeon to the Royal Infirmary, Glasgow, for the usual term; and then district physician to the Glasgow maternity hospital, with private practice. He left Scotland for Auckland in 1882 per s.s. “Tongariro” and at once commenced practice. Dr. Moir is medical officer to the oddfellows. Foresters, and Druids. He was initiated into Freemasonry in Lodge Thorntree, S.C., Glasgow, and in 1897 affiliated with Lodge Ponsonby No. 708, S.C.
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Moir, Peter,
              M.B., C.M., Glasgow University; residence, Ponsonby Road, Auckland. Dr. Peter Moir is a son of Dr. James Moir, of Auckland. He was born in Glasgow, and educated at the Glasgow University, where he graduated, and took his degrees in 1900. On returning to New Zealand he commenced the practice of his profession with his father.
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Orpen, Herbert,
              M.A., M.K.C.C.P., L.R.C.S., L.M., Coombes' Arcade, Auckland, and Devonport.
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Parkes, William H.,
              M.B., M.S. (Edin.), Symonds Street, Auckland. Telephone 240.
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Purchas, Arthur Challinor,
              Ophthalmic Surgeon, Oculist, etc., Symonds Street, Auckland. Dr. Purchas was born in Auckland, and is the second son of the Rev. Dr. Purchas, one of New Zealand's earliest colonists.
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Reid, Stuart Bathgate,
              M.A., M.B., B.C. (Cantab), M.R.C.S. (Eng.), L.R.C.P. (London), Symonds Street, Auckland. Dr. Reid is a son of Mr. John Reid, well-known throughout New Zealand and Australia as the proprietor of the Elderslie estate, near Oamaru. He was born in Dunedin in 1870, and received his primary education at the Waitaki High School, under Mr. Harkness After leaving that academy, he proceeded to England, and entered St. John's College. Cambridge, where he took his degrees. Dr. Reid commenced medical practice by becoming a student at St. Thomas's Hospital, London, and subsequently obtained his diplomas of M.R.C.S. and L.R.C.P. He acted as resident house surgeon at the East London Children's Hospital, Shadwell, where he remained for nine months, and then returned to his native land. For a time he acted as locum tenens for Dr. Hayes, of Temuka, and subsequently filled a similar position for Dr. C. H. Haines, during the latter's absence in England. Dr. Reid began his practice in Auckland in 1900.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Roberton, Ernest



            
            


              

Roberton, Ernest,
              M.R.C.S. (Eng.), B.M., M.S., M.D. (Edin.), Upper Symonds Street, Auckland. Telephone 395.
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Sharman, Edward William,
              Surgeon, L.R.C.P.; L.R.C.S., Edinburgh, and L.F.P.S.G.; Khyber Pass, Auckland. Dr. Sharman was born in Rutlandshire, England, and educated at Hurstpierpoint, Sussex. He received his medical training at Leicester and Edinburgh, and was afterwards a medical officer in the mercantile marine. He arrived in Auckland in 1892, and became the sole examiner to the Citizens' Life Assurance Society, police surgeon for the province of Auckland, medical officer of health for the port of Auckland, surgeon to the Union S.S. Company, Kauri Timber Company, medical officer of the Foresters' Court, and examining officer for the National Mutual and the Mutual Life Associations.
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Somerville, Joseph Edward Wilson,
              M.B. (Edinburgh), M.S. (Edinburgh), Alfred Street, Auckland.
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Walker, Henry,
              L.F.P. and S. (Glasgow), Upper Grey Street, Auckland. Dr. Walker is referred to on page 
132 of this volume as an ex-member of the Auckland City Council.
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Watson, Charles George,
              L.R.C.S. (Dublin), L.R.C.P. (Dublin), Symonds Street, Auckland.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Wilkins, John



            
            


              

Wilkins, John,
              Surgeon and Oculist, Shortland Street, Auckland. Telephone 703 Private residence, Lower Symonds Street. Dr. Wilkins was born in England, and educated at Enfield, Middlesex, at King's College, and at the King's College Hospital, London, where he studied for the medical profession. He passed his first M.B. examination at London University, and afterwards took his M.R.C.S. (England); subsequently he was elected a fellow of the Royal College of Surgeons, Edinburgh, in recognition of his great proficiency as a surgeon, being proposed by the late Sir William Ferguson, Bart. He was selected out of twenty-six applicants to take medical charge of a ship, in which several Government officials, with their families, were proceeding from London to Adelaide. During this voyage he wrote a pamphlet on emigration and its management, and sent it to the Commissioners in London. The Commissioners were so pleased with the pamphlet that they induced Dr. Wilkins to go as surgeon-superintendent to Melbourne, where he was appointed assistant Colonial Surgeon at a salary of £750 a year, and was also made a justice of the peace for the colony of Victoria, district coroner, and surgeon-major of the volunteer forces, etc., etc. He was also allowed private practice, which so rapidly increased that in 1866 he resigned all his appointments for a two years' trip to Europe to recover his health, impaired by overwork. After his return to Australia, he found that the climate of Melbourne was too warm for him. He therefore moved to new Zealand, and resided first at Dunedin,



and then at Christchurch for a short time. Neither of these towns agreed with his health and he then tried Auckland, the climate of which he found to be admirably suited to him in that respect. Dr. Wilkins has acquired a large general practice in Auckland, and he has an extensive practice also as a consulting and operating surgeon. He is an enthusiast in his profession, and thinks no one is worth consulting who is not perfectly conversant with all branches, both medical and surgical, and he contends that this thoroughness can be acquired by perse verance. He has written a large number of pamphlets, which have been highly commended in Australasia by the profession and the Press. Dr. Wilkins holds the appointment of surgeon to the Permanent Force of the Auckland district.
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Williams, Thomas Owen,
              L.R.C.P. (Edin.), L.F.P. and S. (Glasgow), Princes Street, Auckland. Telephone 347.
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Wine, H. C.,
              M.R.C.S. (Eng.), L.M., L.S.A., Symonds Street and Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 651.
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Woodward, Alice,
              M.B., B.Ch., Auckland. Miss Woodward is the third of her sex in New Zealand to qualify for the medical profession. She was born at East Tamaki, Auckland, and is the eldest daughter of the late Mr. William Woodward, M.A. (Cantab.), who taught his daughter at home. Miss Woodward matriculated in 1894, and then entered the Otago University, Dunedin, where she studied for the degree of M.B. and surgery, and qualified in February, 1900. She then returned to Auckland, and commenced the practice of her profession.
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Dawson, Frederick William Edmund,
              L.R.C.P. (Edin.), M.R.C.S. (Eng.), L.S.A. and L.M., Auckland. Dr. Dawson was born at Bath, Somerset, England, in 1810, and was a son of Mr. Frederick Wood Dawson, of that city. He was educated at Bath Grammar School (founded by Edward VI.), and afterwards arrived at Auckland with his parents in 1854, per ship “Norman Morrison.” He studied under the late Dr. Stratford, and practised four years as assistant at the Penrith hospital, and at Regentville private lunatic asylum, New South Wales. Then he visited London, being the first medical student from Auckland to proceed to England, and entered as a student at West-minster hospital. He filled various positions at the hospital, and was the Chadwick Prizeman of his year, afterwards taking his diplomas at the Royal College of Surgeons. In 1870 he returned to Auckland as medical officer of the ship “Excelsior,” and commenced practice. He was appointed surgeon to the Volunteer Engineers Corps in 1871, and at the time of his death held rank as Brigade-Surgeon Lieut.-Colonel. He had been for about thirty years surgeon to the Fountain of Friendship Lodge, M.U., I.O.O.F., Auckland, and to the Auckland Fire Brigade, and was vice-president and chairman of the medical staff of the St. John Ambalance Association. Dr. Dawson long took an active interest in St. Matthew's Church and parish as a churchwarden, and was a very prominent Freemason. He died on the 21st of October, 1900.
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Kilgour, James,
              M.D., M.R.C.S. (Edinburgh), M.P.S., Physician and Surgeon, Parnell, Auckland. Dr. Kilgour, who is the son of Dr. M. Kilgour, was born in Musselburgh, Scotland, on Christmas Day, 1812. He was educated at the local grammar school and at the Edinburgh University, where he obtained the degree of M.D. in 1838. A year later he went to Melbourne, which contained at that time about twenty habitations. Entering into pastoral pursuits, he leased the Tarrone station, near Port Fairy, but shortly afterwards returned to London as agent for the then rising young colony of Victoria. Dr. Kilgour, who was one of the victims of the unjust law under which stations at that time were held, lost all his property in Australia, amounting in value to £60,000. He remained for some years in practice in Victoria, and, in 1859, left for New Zealand. Landing at Nelson, he subsequently settled in Picton for some years, and afterwards practised in Wellington till 1869, when he left for the newly discovered Thames Goldfields. During the twenty years which Dr. Kilgour spent at the Thames, he held the positions of mayor, coroner, justice of the peace, and chairman of quarter sessions. Deeply interested in mining, he was elected first president of the Thames School of Mines. He was a keen supporter of the Volunteer movement, which flourished greatly at the Thames, and held the position of surgeon-major of the Scotch Battalion of Volunteers. In 1890 Dr. Kilgour removed to Parnell after a most active and useful career at the Thames, and died after he had reached the ripe age of eighty-five years.
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Philson, Thomas Moore,
             
 M.D., M.R.C.S., Edinburgh, sometime assistant surgeon, 58th regiment, brigade-surgeon Lieut.-Col. N.Z. Militia, coroner, and surgeon to the Auckland gaol. Dr Philson was one of Auckland's oldest and most respected citizens, having arrived with the 58th regiment at the bay of Islands in 1845, during the “Hone Heke” campaign. Dr. Philson was born in Londonderry, Ireland, in 1817, and was the eldest son of Mr. Matthew Philson, who was mathematical
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master of a large private school in Derry for many years, and who partly educated his son. He afterwards went to Edinburgh, entered the university in 1834, and after the regular course of study took his M.D. degree in 1839. On leaving the university he went to England and was assistant to Drs. Abel and Heane, medical practitioners, residing in the Forest of Deane, Gloucestershire. He remained with these gentlemen for about three years, when he received his commission as assistant surgeon in the 58th regiment, which was ordered to New Zealand in 1845. Prior to this Dr. Philson married Miss Matilda Willmet Anderson, daughter of Capt. Anderson R.N., whilst the regiment was in quarters at Chatham. They had a family of three sons and five daughters. Dr. Philson arrived at the Bay of Islands in the year 1845, and remained there for a year, taking an active part in the engagement at Ruapekapeka and was mentioned in the despatches. The 58th was then ordered to Wellington and subsequently to Wanganui, at both of which places he saw much active service. In 1850, Dr. Philson resigned his commission in the army to commence private practice, which continued for about forty-eight years, a unique experience in Auckland. He was appointed surgeon to the Auckland provincial hospital in 1858, which post he held for 25 years, resigning it on the disablement of his right hand from a poisoned wound. He also held the appointments of district coroner, and surgeon to Her Majesty's gaol. Dr. Philson died on the 22nd of November, 1899.
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Goldsbro', Charles Field,
              M.D., J.P. Dr. Goldsbro' was born in Montgomery, Welshpool, England, and came to Auckland in 1860, in the ship “Rob Roy.” He had a distinguished record as a physician and surgeon, and had been house surgeon at Charing Cross Hospital, and medical officer at Her Majesty's General Post Office, London. Dr. Goldsbro' was coroner of gaols and hospitals in the district of Auckland, senior surgeon of the Auckland militia and volunteers, in connection with which he won the New Zealand war medal; physician to the Orphans' Home, Auckland, and president of the Pension Board; medical referee for the Royal and Australian Insurance Companies; and president of the Auckland Medical Society. He was also senior warden of Lodge Waitemata in 1862–63; master in 1863–64; treasurer, 1864–70; master of the Remuera Lodge, and a member of Lodge Ara, I.C.
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Ballin, Frederick Solomon,
                Surgeon Dentist, Winstone's Buildings, Symonds Street, Auckland. Mr. Ballin is the eldest son of the late Mr. Louis Ballin of “Ye Eden Vine Hotel,” is a native of Auckland, where he was born in 1876. He was educated at Queen's College, and studied dentistry for six years under such leading dentists as Messrs. Skeet, Kempt, Carter, and Armstrong. In June 1896, Mr. Ballin attended the dental examinations at the Otago University and qualified as a dental surgeon, taking rank as one of the youngest qualified dentists in Auckland. On returning to Auckland, Mr. Ballin opened his present well-appointed chambers in Symonds Street.

            

            

              
              


                

Carter, Arthur Morton,
                Dentist, Consulting Rooms, Karangahape Road, near Reservoir, Auckland. Consulting hours, 0 to 5. Private address, Sarsfield Street, Ponsonby. Mr. Carter was born in Leicester, England, and arrived in New Zealand, by the s.s. “Te Anau,” in 1881, from London. He served articles with Messrs E. Cox and Sons, of Auckland, and completed his apprenticeship in 1887, when he was admitted as a dentist under a certificate issued at Dunedin by the Board of Examiners of the Otago University, and later on he obtained a complete diploma to practise dental surgery. He has since distinguished himself for skill. In July, 1898, Mr. Carter admitted into partnership Mr. H. Foster, who is well known to the dental profession and the public of Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Chatfield, Alfred William,
                Surgeon Dentist, London Dentistry, 190 Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Telephone, 392. This old and well-known dental establishment dates from the year 1881, when the present proprietor commenced practice in Auckland, having previously qualified and practised in Melbourne. The surgery comprises two operating-rooms, besides two waiting chambers and two laboratories, equipped with all the latest appliances which skill and science can suggest. Mr. Chatfield employs a competent staff, and so is able to cope with one of the largest dental practices in Auckland. He is president of the Auckland Dental Society, commodore of the Parnell Sailing Club, and ex-president of the Auckland Kennel Club.
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Collins, Augustus Charles Hugh,
                Dental Surgeon, Auckland. Mr. Collins was born in Auckland, educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and was indentured as a pupil to Mr. A. W. Chatfield. He was registered in 1889, but continued with Mr. Chatfield until March 1893, when he commenced practice on his own account in Queen Street. After a short visit to the South Sea Islands, Mr. Collins returned to Auckland, and established a practice in Wellesley Street, but this business was sold by him to Mr. A. E. Hobbs.

            

            

              
              

                

Colson, Cyril,
               
 Surgeon Dentist, Ranfurly Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Colson is a son of Mr. H. A. Colson, of Auckland. He was born in 1876 in
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Hampshire, England, and accompanied his parents to Auckland, when he was only three years of age. After being educated at various schools, and at Queen's College, Auckland, he was articled to the late Mr. Windsor, the well-known dentist, and passed his dental examination at Dunedin in 1896. For some time after his examination he served as assistant to Mr. Windsor. With the object of obtaining a more complete knowledge of his profession, Mr. Colson went to America, where he studied practical dentistry at the University of Pennsylvania. Mr. Colson then proceeded to England, where he spent a considerable time in studying at the National Dental Hospital, London, and thus gained an otherwise unobtainable experience of his profession in all its branches. He returned to New Zealand in July, 1900, and immediately commenced to practise in the Ranfurly Buildings, where he furnished his rooms with all the newest and most improved dental appliances from America and England. The five rooms which he occupies are among the finest in Auckland. Mr. Colson makes a specialty of gold, crown-bridge, and porcelain inlay work.

            

            

              
              


                

Cox, Edwin,
                Licentiate in Dental Surgery of the Royal College of Surgeons of England, Kingsley House, Hobson Street, Auckland. Mr. Cox was born at Tipton. Staffordshire, England, and is the youngest son of the late Mr. Thomas Cox, builder and timber merchant. He commenced practice at Preston, Lancashire, in 1858, and continued there until 1880, when, fearing a recurrence of a severe illness which he had had in 1875, he disposed of his business, and sailed for Auckland in the ship “Fernglen.” In Auckland Mr. Cox rapidly established a practice, to which his son, Dr. H. Cox has succeeded. Mr. Cox was married in 1860, to Margaret, fourth daughter of the late Dr. Bell, M.D., M.A., of Garstang, Lancashire. His wife died in 1896. He has three sons and one daughter, all of whom are registered dentists; and Miss Cox was the first lady to pass the New Zealand dental examination. Mr. Cox has (1900) been a member of the Odontological Society of Great Britain since 1865, and is the author of “Practical Observations on the Degeneracy and Preservation of the Teeth,” and of a pamphlet on the “Premature Decay of the Teeth in New Zealand.”

            

            

              
              


                

Cox, Herbert,
                D.D.S., Dental Surgeon, Australian Mutual Provident Society's Buildings, 216 Queen Street, Auckland. This practice was established by Mr. Edwin Cox, and was for many years conducted by him in partnership with the present proprietor, under the style of E. Cox and Son. Dr. Herbert Cox became sole proprietor in 1898. He was born at Preston, Lancashire, England, and educated at the Merchant Tailors' School, Liverpool. Subsequently he studied at the University of Michigan, United States of America, where he gained his degree as doctor in dental surgery in 1886. Dr. Cox is the New Zealand representative of the National Association of Dental Faculties of the United States, and with Dr. Burns, of Sydney, and Dr. Merrill, of Melbourne, constitutes an advisory board for Australasia. He is also honorary secretary of the Auckland Dental Society. Dr. Cox is a well-known musician, in connection with the committee of the Auckland Choral Society.
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Elkin, Alfred Herbert,
                Dental Surgeon, 266 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Elkin was born in 1864 at Gravesend, England, where he successfully passed several University examinations. He settled in Auckland in 1881, studied dentistry under Mr. Edwin Cox, and in March, 1887, went to study at the Otago University, at which he passed his examination in 1800. Subsequently he became a partner with Mr. A. M. Carter, in Auckland, under the style of Carter and Elkin. Mr. Elkin retired in 1803, and went to London, where he took a course of study embracing the higher arts of dentistry at the London Dental Hospital. On his return to the colony, in 1895, Mr. Elkin resumed practice in Auckland.
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Hobbs, Arthur Edward,
                Surgeon Dentist, Wellesley Street, Auckland. Mr. Hobbs is a son of Mr. E. G. Hobbs, of Hamilton, and nephew of Mr. R. Hobbs, of Auckland, and hence grandson of the late Rev. John Hobbs, one of the earliest missionaries, who arrived in New Zealand in 1823. Mr. Arthur Hobbs commenced his dental career by serving an apprenticeship with his brother, Mr. W. Hobbs, formerly of Paeroa, but now in practice in Lambton Quay, Wellington. In addition to his apprenticeship, Mr. Hobbs spent six months under the tuition of his brother in special work, after the latter gentleman's return from the United States of America, where he had been studying the latest dental operations and work at the Pennsylvanian Dental University. After qualifying, and successfully managing a practice for some time, Mr. Hobbs made a start on his own account in his native city, Auckland, by purchasing the practice of Mr. A. C. H. Collins, conducted in premises situated in Wellesley Street. Mr. Hobbs married Miss Ina Haszard, second daughter of the late Mr. C. A. Haszard, who met an untimely death by the Tarawera cruption in 1886.
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Hooper, A. F.
               , Dental Surgeon, corner of Queen and Swanson Streets, Auckland. Private residence, Essex Road, Mount Eden. Mr. Hooper is a native of Auckland, New Zealand, and a son of Dr. J. H. Hooper, one of Auckland's best known medical practitioners. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar school under Mr.



McRae, when the school was in the old police barracks. Mr. Hooper's first intention was to study medicine, but changing his mind he was apprenticed to Mr. A. W. Chatfield, dental surgeon, of Auckland. After obtaining his diploma from the Otago University Mr. Hooper went over to Melbourne, where he had charge of a large practice for two years. On returning to Auckland he established his present business in 1891.
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Hope, Edward,
                Registered Dental Surgeon, Manukau Road, Parnell, Auckland. This well-known dentist was born in Christchurch, in 1864, and is the son of Mr. John Hope, sometime of Lancashire, England. He was educated in South Canterbury, but studied his profession in Auckland under Mr. Chatfield. About 1887 Mr. Hope went to Sydney, where he remained seven years, and acted as assistant and manager for some of the most eminent dentists in that city. He was also offered a position by Dr. Belasario, who stands at the head of his profession, but was then starting business for himself, which made him decline the offer. While in Sydney Mr. Hope manufactured and finished a cleft-plate, one of the most difficult pieces of work done by his profession, and eight of the leading physicians of the city, in complimenting him on his wonderful skill, valued the work at 550 guineas. The fame of his workmanship reached Philadelphia, and he received an offer from that city to proceed there and teach the art of that branch of his profession at a salary of £1500 per year. However, a few months afterwards he was seized with an attack of fever and ague, which compelled him to decline the offer, and by the advice of his physicians, he returned to New Zealand for the benefit of his health. He was settled in Northern Wairoa for some time, and in 1899 he removed to Auckland, where he has a distinctive position in the front rank of his profession. Leading physicians recommend his services where great skill beyond the ordinary requirements of dentistry is required in the manufacture of plates and every branch of his profession. Mr. Hope is also a self-taught artist in oil painting, and a performer on several musical instruments. He married a Sydney lady, and has a family of three children.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Kempt And Bunby
                
                (Harold Dunwell Bunby), Dental Surgeon, 131 Queen Street, Auckland. Established in 1881 by Dr. Kempt. Mr. Bunby joined the firm in 1898, and soon afterwards took over the practice.

            

            

              
              


                

Knight, Herbert Frames,
                Dental Surgeon, Bank of New Zealand Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 1038. Mr. Knight was born at Tewkesbury, England, in 1864. He arrived in Auckland with his parents in 1881, when he commenced to study for his profession, and, having passed the necessary examinations, he was registered on the 30th of October, 1890. Mr. Knight practised in New Plymouth till 1897, when he left on a tour of the American and English colleges for further study and information in the arts of dentistry. He returned about the end of 1898, and established his present practice. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Ara, No. 1. Mr. Knight is a brother of Dr. Knight, of Auckland. He was married, in 1891, to a daughter of Mr. Noah Wood, of Mount Albert, and has one son and one daughter.
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Leatham, William Newland,
                Dental Surgeon, 140 Queen Street, Auckland. This practice was established in December, 1894, by Mr. Leatham, who was born at New Plymouth. He was educated at Christ's College, Finchley, London, where he was a student at St. Thomas's Hospital, and completed the mechanical portion of his training with the late Mr. W. H. Skeet, of Auckland. Mr. Leatham took his diploma at the end of 1894, and before leaving London he completed the first half of the medical course at the Royal College of Surgeons of England.

              
Mr. Leatham, who is a member of the Auckland Golf Club, was married, in 1893, to a daughter of the late Captain F. W. Ruck. of Auckland.
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Lonergan, Thomas A.,
               
 Surgeon-Dentist, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Lonergan was born
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in Auckland in 1867, and was educated at the Model training school, Choral Hall, under Mr. Josiah Martin, and at the



Catholic high school, under Mr. Hammill. He served articles of apprenticeship in dentistry to Mr. Trafford, late of Auckland, and passed his final examinations at Otago University, in 1888, when he returned to Auckland and opened chambers at 218 Queen Street. Mr. Lonergan's surgery is fitted with all the latest dental appliances. He is a son of Mr. Lonergan, a pioneer settler, who came to Auckland with the 58th regiment in 1845.

            

            

              
              


                

Maitland, Arthur George,
                Dental Surgeon, 58 Queen Street, Auckland. Dr. Maitland was born on the banks of the river Molyneux, Otago, in 1869, and was educated at public schools in England. He went to America, and studied for his profession at the University of Pennsylvania, where he took his degree as Doctor of Dental Surgery in 1894. After practising at Reading, Pennsylvania, he returned to New Zealand in 1896, and established his present business in Auckland. He was married, in 1899, to a daughter of Mr. Thomas Buddle, solicitor, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Martin, Joseph,
                Dental Surgeon, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Mr. Martin was born in Auckland in 1869, and educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He served an apprenticeship of three years with Mr. A. W. Chatfield, and was for two years his assistant. Mr. Martin obtained registration in 1890, and then commenced his present practice.

            

            

              
              


                

Murray, George Patrick,
                Dental Surgeon, Symonds Street, Auckland. Mr. Murray was born at Matakana in June, 1872, and was educated at Hamilton, Waikato. He was for seven years with Mr. A. M. Carter, four years as an apprentice, and three as assistant. Mr. Murray commenced business on his own account in March, 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

Owen, Hugh,
                D.M.D., Dental Surgeon, Shortland Street, Auckland. Dr. Owen took his diploma at the University of Harvard, United States of America, on the 26th of June, 1891.

            

            

              
              


                

Rylance, Gilbert Mervyn,
                Dental Surgeon, Dental Chambers, corner of Karangahape Road and Howe Street, Auckland. Mr. Rylance was born in Auckland in 1876, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He was articled to Mr. A. M. Carter, obtained registration in January, 1897, and six months later he began his present business. Mr. Rylance is a member of the Ponsonby Football Team and of the Auckland Cycling Club.
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Warren, George,
                Dental Surgeon, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Telephone, 745. Mr. Warren was born in Auckland in 1869, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. On completing his education he studied law for five years, but did not follow up the profession, preferring the study of dentistry, to which he was articled under Mr. A. W. Chatfield, of Queen Street. After four years he passed his examination at the Otago University, and in 1893 opened his surgery in Karangahape Road. His rooms are replete with the most modern instruments and appliances required in his profession. Mr. Warren has always taken a prominent part in amateur theatricals, and has won a reputation for historionic ability.

            

            

              
              


                

Wright, Walter Harding,
                Dental Surgeon, Shortland Crescent, Auckland. Mr. Wright was born in Toronto, Canada, and when he was twenty-one years of age he arrived in Auckland with his parents in 1861. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, served an apprenticeship with Dr. Kempt, and secured registration on the 2nd of July, 1895. Mr. Wright followed his calling at the Thames for three years and a half, and has resided in Auckland since 1890. This practice was founded by his brother, the late Mr. A. L. Wright, in 1884, and was carried on by the founder till his death in October, 1895, since which Mr. Wright has conducted it. Mr. Wright was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Captain Carmichael, of Auckland, and has four sons and two daughters.
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Aickin, Graves,
                Pharmaceutical and Dispensing Chemist, 66 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 81. Mr. G. Aickin is fully referred to elsewhere as a member of the Auckland City Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Cooper, Frederick J.,
                Pharmaceutical Chemist, corner of Victoria and Hobson Streets, Auckland. Telephone 141.

            

            

              
              


                

Crawford, Thomas A.,
                Pharmaceutical Chemist, 154 Karangahape Road, Auckland. Telephone 443. This business dates back to 1866, when it was founded by the present proprietor on a site almost directly facing his present premises, which were entered on in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

Edson, John,
                Chemist, 268 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 418. This business was established by its present proprietor in 1859.

            

            

              
              


                

Fenton, Francis Albert,
                Pharmaceutical Chemist, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Telephone 1083. Mr. Fenton established his business in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

Faulder, John,
                Chemist, 232 Karangahape Road, Auckland. This business was established in August, 1899, by the proprietor, who was born in Auckland in 1871. He served an apprenticeship with Mr. J. A. Haslett, and was registered in February, 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

Gilbert, Stephen,
                Pharmaceutical Chemist, 180 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 236. This business was established in 1882.

            

            

              
              


                
Hamilton Bros.
               , Pharmaceutical Chemists, Palmerston Buildings, 51 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Harkness Hamilton, the surviving partner of the firm, purchased his present business from Mr. Grundy, and carried it on in conjunction with his brother until the latter's death. Since then Mr. H. Hamilton has been the sole proprietor.

            

            

              
              


                

Haslett, James A.,
                Chemist and Optician, 252 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 40. Mr. Haslett established his present business in 1882.

            

            

              
              

                

Hudson, John Holmes,
               
 Manufacturing Chemist, Sarsfield Street, Auckland. Mr. Hudson is the proprietor of the celebrated “Balloon Brand” Baking Powder
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manufactured on his premises and which bears the familiar registered trade mark “Bound to Rise.” Its history dates back to 1874 in which year Mr. Hudson manufactured his first batch of baking powder, since which time it has retained its premier position. This is a wonderful record considering the many importations of foreign articles that have been introduced into local markets, but all have failed to oust the



“Balloon Brand” from the front rank. Its name is a household word throughout the whole of the province and the islands. The proprietor challenges any analysis to prove that there is any foreign substance such as starch, rice-flour, etc., to be found in his powder, as is too often the case with other baking powders. The chemicals used in its composition, after being thoroughly tested so as to ensure correct strength, are weighed out in their correct proportions, the secret of which is known to the manufacturer alone. They are then put into a most perfect mixing machine and thoroughly amalgamated, so that each sample, however small, contains the chemical elements in equal proportions.

            

            

              
              


                

Jefferson, John Mitchell,
                Chemist, Upper Symonds Street and corner of Newton Road, Auckland, and Manukau Road, Newmarket. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Telephone 584. Mr. Jefferson arrived in New Zealand in 1891 by the s.s. “Tongariro,” from London. He was born in England, and had an extensive and practical experience in some of the best dispensing businesses, including those of Randall and Sons, chemists to the Queen, Southampton J. Bell and Co., Hastings, and Headland and Co., Brighton. Mr. Jefferson also conducted a successful business on his own account in the Old Country. On his arrival in New Zealand he began business as a pharmaceutical and homœpathic chemist. He is an associate of the Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain, and a skilful dispenser, and as he makes direct importations of all the requisites of his business, his patrons have complete guarantees of the quality and freshness of all medicines obtained at his dispensary. Mr. Jefferson is the maker of Jefferson's Barberry Bitters, Pectoral Balsam Children's Cough Mixture, Petroleum Emulsion, Cod Liver Oil Emulsion, Nursery Han Lotion, Eucalyptus White Oils, and a number of other well-known remedies. He also manufactures “Neurol,” which is the registered title of a new remedy for headache and neuralgia, influenza or la grippe, colds, and feverishness. “Neurol” is almost tasteless and is said to contain no preparations of opium or morphia.
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Kenderdine, Arthur George.
                Chemist, 100 Karangahape Road, Auckland. This business was established about 1860. The present proprietor, a son of the late Dr. Kenderdine, was born in Auckland, where he was brought up to this profession. He was dispenser at the Auckland Hospital for five years, and was registered as a chemist in 1892.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Kenderdine And Kirkup
                
                (John Kenderdine and Thomas Kirkup), Manufacturing Chemists, Sale Street, Freeman's Bay, Auckland. This firm was established in its present premises in 1895.

            

            

              
              

                

King, Harry,
               
 Dispensing Chemist, 122 Queen Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 203, Telephone 292. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private address, “Te Arai,” Mount Roskill. The business was established in 1862 by Mr. King's father, the late Mr. J. P. King, and was taken over in 1895 by the subject of this notice, after being in partnership with his father for several years. The premises now occupied consist of a two-storey brick building, thoroughly and tastefully fitted up internally. There are two doctors' consulting rooms, visited daily by Drs. Walker, Girdler, and King. Mr. King has a wide and extensive connection. He is a direct importer from such well-known firms as Mawson and Thomspon, and Burgoyne, Burbidges and Co. His “Worm Powders” are widely known and well patronized. Among Mr. King's other proprietary medicines are:—“Ready Relief” for Rheumatism, “Tiny Liver Pills,” and an excellent “Corn Salve.” Mr. King was born in the Isle of Wight in 1856; at the age of six he came to New Zealand with his parents, and received his education at the Auckland College and Grammar school. He served his apprenticeship under his father, joining him in business in 1872 as a duly qualified and registered
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chemist. Mr. King is a member of the Remuera and Auckland Bowling Clubs.

            

            

              
              


                

Lamb, Albert S. J.,
                Pharmaceutical Chemist, Symonds Street, Auckland. Telephone 851. This business was established by its present proprietor in 1898.

            

            

              
              


                
Sharland And Company, Ltd.,
                Wholesale and Manufacturing Chemists and Druggists, Lorne Street, Auckland. Telephones 189 and 1190.

            

            

              
              


                

Sharland, Frederick Caddy,
                Pharmaceutical Chemist, Ponsonby Road, Auckland. Telephone 357. The business, which Mr. Sharland now conducts, was purchased from Mr. Blomfield, who established it in 1881.

            

            

              
              


                

Sharland, William,
                Pharmaceutical Chemist, Shortland Street, Auckland. Telephone 104. Mr. Sharland is chemist by special appointment to His Excellency the Governor.
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Auckland Turkish Baths,
                Lorne and Victoria Streets, Auckland. Established 1882. These baths are under the able management of Mr. A. C. Fort, and are well recognised throughout the province as a valuable institution. Some very noteworthy cures have been effected by their aid. One patient received the use of his hands, arms and legs though for over a year previously he had been considered a hopeless rheumatic cripple, having to be moved always by means of a wheel chair; and even fever cases have been relieved and cured. The manager claims to have cured patients who had received no benefit even from the famous Rotorua treatment. The establishment contains fifteen rooms, and all the appliances for Turkish, hot, cold, shower and vapour baths are provided. Mrs. Fort attends to the ladies' department. The greatest attention is given to cleanliness, and those who have patronised the baths speak of them in the highest terms.
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Mr. Adam Clapperton Fort,
                the Manager of the Auckland Turkish Baths, was born in Edinburgh in 1844, and educated at Dr. Andrew Thomson's school. In 1861 he came to New Zealand, and after working for about two years as a carpenter, he joined Pitt's Corps of 400 volunteers, and, going to Drury on active service, he was present at the taking of Rangiriri. He was then transferred to the Commissariat Transport Corps, and was one of the first detachment to leave for the Thames to construct redoubts between the Thames and Firth's redoubt. On returning with his detachment to Auckland, Mr. Fort did further service in the construction of military stations between Raglan and Whatawhata. He then worked on the Thames goldfields as a miner, and five years afterwards went to the diggings in Victoria, and was subsequently in business in Melbourne. On returning to Auckland, Mr. Fort went into business and continued in it over six years. He then visited San Francisco, and on his return in 1891 he accepted his present position.
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Banking.

          

            
All the five banks that do business throughout New Zealand have branches in Auckland, which has also a purely local institution in the Auckland Savings Bank. The Bank of New Zealand, which now has its head office in Wellington, was originally controlled from Auckland, where it still does a larger business than it transacts at any of its other offices. All the bank buildings in Auckland are in Queen Streen, and all, except that of the Savings Bank, are on the west side. First, not far from the foot of Shortland Street, comes the Bank of New Zealand, then the Bank of New South Wales, which is separated from the Bank of Australasia only by the handsome offices of the “New Zealand Herald,” and then the National Bank. The buildings of these four banks are all within a minute's walk of each other, but the Union Bank building is about 150 yards further up, at the corner of Victoria Street. Still higher up stands the Savings Bank, on the opposite, or eastern, side of Queen Street. This is not the place for a dissertation on banking as a business or means of trading in money, but it may be said that banking in New Zealand is much sounder than it was some years ago. Advances on hypothetical or purely speculative values have become things of the past, and the assistance which the country gave to the Bank of New Zealand has enabled that institution to re-organise its business on lines conducive to progress combined with stability. Of banking in the colony generally a good deal is said in the Wellington volume of this work.

          

          

            
            


              
Bank Of New South Wales.
              The Auckland business of this bank is conducted in a handsome stone building of recent construction in Queen Street, near the corner of Wyndham Street. The interior is tastefully fitted-up and decorated, whilst the accommodation for both the staff and the public is good. The management is in the hands of Mr. E. C. Towle.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. William Mccullough,
              formerly Manager of the Bank of New South Wales at Auckland, was born and educated at Portadown, in the north of Ireland. In 1866 he left the Old World for the New, settling in Queensland. Mr. McCullough joined the Bank of New South Wales at Brisbane in 1873, and ten years later was appointed manager at Maryborough, remaining there till 1886, when he was transferred to Rockhampton. Returning to the capital after three years, Mr. McCullough was assistant manager for about two years, subsequently being appointed an assistant inspector for that Colony. In 1893 he was transferred to Auckland, whence he was promoted to the managership of the Bank of New South Wales at Perth, West Australia.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Woodhouse,
              for many years Manager of the Auckland branch of the Bank of New South Wales, was born at Armagh, Ireland, in 1816, and is son of the late Mr. R. Woodhouse. He went to Sydney at an early age, being a passenger on the same vessel that bore the news of Queen Victoria's ascension of the Throne of England. He entered the service of Messrs. Aspinal and Brown with whom he obtained most of his colonial experience. Mr. Woodhouse subsequently removed to Auckland and founded the business he afterwards carried on under the style of Messrs. Woodhouse and Buchanan (Mr. James Buchanan, of Shortland Street, who still survives, being the junior partner); but failing health obliged Mr. Woodhouse to relinquish business. After a short visit to Sydney he returned to Auckland and removed with his wife and family to Patumahoe where he owned a station. At the outbreak of the Maori war, shortly afterwards, he was compelled to make a hasty flight, leaving his possessions to the mercy of the rebels. Mr Woodhouse never returned to Patumahoe, but immediately entered the service of the Bank of New South Wales in Auckland, and was for many years one of the most popular managers of that institution. Rapidly increasing ill-health, however, compelled his resignation and after a lingering illness he died at his residence in Stephen's Avenue in 1882, leaving a widow (daughter of the late Rev. J. T. Churton, LL.B) and eight children. His eldest son Mr. J. F. Woodhouse, is well known in Dunedin as one of the most rising members of the Bar, and his second son Mr. J. H. Woodhouse is the popular station-master at Woodville, Hawke Bay; his eldest daughter was married to the late Mr. Edward Bennett, barrister of Sydney, who was several times an acting Judge, Mr. Woodhouse always took a keen interest in local affairs and was one of the first to move that Auckland Anniversary Day should be commemorated by a regatta. The third son, Mr. R. Woodhouse is a sharebroker, the fourth son, Mr. W. H. Woodhouse was in the Bank of New Zealand for many years, and the fifth, Mr. E. R. Woodhouse is in British Columbia.
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Bank Of Australasia.
             —The Auckland Branch occupies a prominent site at the corner of Queen and Wyndham Streets. The premises are conveniently arranged, and the management of the Bank's business is in the hands of Mr. Edward Turner.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Edward Turner,
              Manager of the Bank of Australasia at Auckland, has had a colonial banking experience extending over a period of thirty-eight years. Born in Somersetshire, England, in 1845, he is the son of the late Mr. Thomas Turner, a well-known banker. Mr. Turner was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Melbourne, and, on completing his education, entered the service of the Bank of Australasia. His first removal from the head office took place in 1876, when he was appointed accountant at Wellington, and some years later he became manager of the Palmerston North branch. Leaving Palmerston North for Wanganui in 1887, he remained in that beautiful town until 1896, when he was promoted to his present office. As is usual with bankers, Mr. Turner has refrained from participation in civic and colonial politics, but not so with athletics. He has taken an active part in cricket, football, and aquatics, and will be remembered by some of the old Melbourne rowers as having pulled for his



bank in the Banks' Challenge Cup in years gone by. Socially and as a banker, Mr. Turner is very popular, and, though a member of an English banking corporation, looks upon himself as a thorough-going New Zealander. Mr. Turner was married in Palmerston North to the daughter of Mr. James Skerman, and has four sons and two daughters.
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The Union Bank Of Australia. Ltd.,
              Auckland. The Auckland branch of the Union Bank of Australia, Ltd., was opened in 1848, when a very unpretentious building was erected in Princes Street, upon a site nearly opposite the present Museum. The business of the branch was subsequently removed to Shortland Street, and, finally, the present handsome building was erected at the corner of Queen Street and Victoria Street West. The first manager was Mr. Alexander Kennedy, who afterwards joined the service of the Bank of New Zealand about 1860, as its Auckland manager. He was succeeded by Mr. John Simpson, who has been followed by Messrs Pounds, Grierson, Thomson, and the present manager, Mr. W. E. Woodward, who took charge in 1898. The first local directors were Dr. John Logan Campbell and Mr. J. J. Greenwood. Dr. Campbell was offered the appointment on the 11th of October, 1847, by the then acting-inspector of the Bank at Sydney, and retained the position until he resigned on the foundation of the Bank of New Zealand, of which he was one of the first directors.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. W. E. Woodward,
              the present Manager at Auckland, has been associated with the Bank since 1875, when he entered its service as a junior at Christchurch. In 1876 he was removed to Auckland, where he occupied several positions up to that of teller, and remained for twelve years. He was then promoted in succession to the management of the Bank's branches at Collingwood, near Melbourne, and Hay, in New South Wales. In 1898 he was appointed to his present position. Mr. Woodward is a native of Port Fairy, Victoria, where his father was engaged in pastoral pursuits, and he was educated partly at Warrnambool, in Victoria, and partly at Christchurch, New Zealand.
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Bank Of New Zealand.
              This is probably the most extensive branch bank in the Colony. Though not on a corner section, the fine building occupies one of the choicest sites in the city, within a minute's walk of the post office, and the nearest bank to that department, as well as to all the mining exchanges, and offices of the principal wholesale merchants. The frontage to Queen Street is about ninety-six feet, and the depth about 178 feet. The managerial and other offices are in the front, a handsome corridor leading between them to the public room, which is probably the finest of its kind in New Zealand. An idea of the business conducted at this branch may be gathered from the fact, that no fewer than five tellers are kept continually busy, while not uncommonly their respective counters are througed. The entire staff includes the manager and assistant manager, accountant and assistant accountant, forty clerks, and two messengers. Mr. W. B. Buller is the manager in charge, with jurisdiction over the business of the gold-fields branches.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William Boyce Buller,
              the Auckland Manager of the Bank of New Zealand, was appointed to the position in succession to the late Mr. T. L. Murray. Mr. Buller was formerly Senior Inspector of the Bank of New Zealand, and in that capacity he is fully referred to on page 510 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.

          

          

            
            


              
National Bank Of New Zealand,
              Auckland branch, occupies a prominent position at the corner of Queen and Wyndham Streets. So great has been the extension of the Bank's business within the last few years, that it has been found necessary to increase the accommodation by a valuable addition to the Queen Street frontage of the premises. Mr. D. W. Duthie is the manager in Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. David Whamond Duthie,
              Manager at Auckland, of the National Bank of New Zealand, was born at Milton. Otago, in 1857, and is son of the late Mr. Alexander Duthie, one of the earliest settlers who came to Wellington in 1840. Mr. Duthie was educated at the grammar school, Milton, where his father was a successful farmer. He entered the service of the Milton branch of the National Bank, and was soon promoted to the position of accountant at Taieri, since which time he has filled important offices in Dunedin, Oamaru, Timaru, Napier, and Tauranga. He was transferred to Auckland in 1886, and was chief accountant until 1893, when he became manager in succession to Mr. Coates when that gentleman was appointed general manager. Mr. Duthie was married in 1887 to Miss Clayton, daughter of Captain Clayton, nautical assessor, of Auckland, and has four sons and one daughter. Notwithstanding that the popular General Manager left this branch for the head office in Wellington, the National Bank at Auckland has suffered no loss of business under Mr. Duthie's careful management, as is evidenced by the fact that the premises were considerably enlarged quite recently.
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                The Auckland Savings Bank
              
              was established in 1847 to encourage the principles of thrift and industry amongst the people, and has fulfilled its mission so successfully that to-day it is a prosperous and wealthy institution, with branches in several of the suburbs, and is the custodian of considerably more than three-quarters of a million sterling of the savings of the community. Dr. J. Logan Campbell was its first honorary secretary, and the honorary accountants were Messrs J. Dilworth and J. J. Montefiore. In 1850 the Bank was face to face with its



first financial difficulty, and was compelied to appeal to the Governor to authorise a temporary loan not exceeding £300, to enable it to meet withdrawal demands, and again, two years later, the demand of the local Government for the repayment of £46 odd for articles supplied to the Bank could not be complied with for several months. But the new institution found favour with the working classes, to whom it gave the highest current rate of interest, and slowly but surely made progress. In 1872, it was decided to open the bank daily, and this at once led to a great increase in business, the total deposits advancing in five years from £36,230 to £108,870. In 1876, the Penny Bank branch was established, and in 1881 the present handsome building was erected. The bank is managed by a Board of Trustees of prominent citizens, of whom His Excellency the Governor is president; Mr. R. Cameron is manager, and Mr. S. G. Rountree, accountant. In 1847, the year in which the bank was established, it had nineteen depositors, and £176 4s on deposit; but at the close of 1899 the figures were—depositors, 25,095; deposits, £653,599 6s 10d. The surplus profits at the close of 1897 amounted to £47,134. The bank owes much of its success to the shrewd and careful investment of its funds. At the present time, the sum of £218,361 is invested in mortgages, £150,000 in New Zealand Government securities, £8000 odd in borough securities, £70,000 odd on deposit with three banks, while the working account in the Bank of New Zealand represents £134,813 of the bank's funds. Besides giving depositors the highest current rate of interest on their savings, the Auckland Savings Bank has done much to encourage thrift by making advances on mortgage to enable borrowers to build, and in this way has assisted numbers of working men to acquire homes of their own.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Richard Cameron,
              Manager of the Auckland Savings Bank, has been a prominent Aucklander for many years. He was born in 1842, and is a son of the late Mr. Richard Cameron, who arrived in Auckland, per “Duchess of Argyle,” in 1842. He was educated at the Rev. John Gorrie's grammar school, and at Nelson College. He made his entry into commercial life as a clerk in the office of Messrs. Gilfillan and Co., general merchants, of Auckland. His connection with the splendid institution of which he is now the popular manager, dates from the 9th March, 1864 when he was appointed a clerk. Eight years later, on the death of Mr. Joseph Coombe, Mr. Cameron succeeded that gentleman, but the office was not dignified with the title of “Manager” until 1875. The business in those days was trifling compared with its present dimensions, but Mr. Cameron has kept pace with the demands made upon his time and ability. The erection of the new bank in 1881, gave a great impetus to business, besides providing one of the handsomest buildings in Auckland. Notwithstanding the close attention entailed by the onerous duties of the Bank, Mr. Cameron has found time to undertake many public duties. He has been a member of the Devonport borough council since its formation, his experience being of much use to the finance and legal committee of which he has long been a member. He has been asked, by an influential body of ratepayers to accept nomination for the mayoral chair, but has declined owing to the pressure on his time. Mr. Cameron is an old Mason but at present is unattached.
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All the five banks that do business throughout New Zealand have branches in Auckland, which has also a purely local institution in the Auckland Savings Bank. The Bank of New Zealand, which now has its head office in Wellington, was originally controlled from Auckland, where it still does a larger business than it transacts at any of its other offices. All the bank buildings in Auckland are in Queen Streen, and all, except that of the Savings Bank, are on the west side. First, not far from the foot of Shortland Street, comes the Bank of New Zealand, then the Bank of New South Wales, which is separated from the Bank of Australasia only by the handsome offices of the “New Zealand Herald,” and then the National Bank. The buildings of these four banks are all within a minute's walk of each other, but the Union Bank building is about 150 yards further up, at the corner of Victoria Street. Still higher up stands the Savings Bank, on the opposite, or eastern, side of Queen Street. This is not the place for a dissertation on banking as a business or means of trading in money, but it may be said that banking in New Zealand is much sounder than it was some years ago. Advances on hypothetical or purely speculative values have become things of the past, and the assistance which the country gave to the Bank of New Zealand has enabled that institution to re-organise its business on lines conducive to progress combined with stability. Of banking in the colony generally a good deal is said in the Wellington volume of this work.
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Bank Of New South Wales.
              The Auckland business of this bank is conducted in a handsome stone building of recent construction in Queen Street, near the corner of Wyndham Street. The interior is tastefully fitted-up and decorated, whilst the accommodation for both the staff and the public is good. The management is in the hands of Mr. E. C. Towle.
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Mr. William Mccullough,
              formerly Manager of the Bank of New South Wales at Auckland, was born and educated at Portadown, in the north of Ireland. In 1866 he left the Old World for the New, settling in Queensland. Mr. McCullough joined the Bank of New South Wales at Brisbane in 1873, and ten years later was appointed manager at Maryborough, remaining there till 1886, when he was transferred to Rockhampton. Returning to the capital after three years, Mr. McCullough was assistant manager for about two years, subsequently being appointed an assistant inspector for that Colony. In 1893 he was transferred to Auckland, whence he was promoted to the managership of the Bank of New South Wales at Perth, West Australia.
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Mr. John Woodhouse,
              for many years Manager of the Auckland branch of the Bank of New South Wales, was born at Armagh, Ireland, in 1816, and is son of the late Mr. R. Woodhouse. He went to Sydney at an early age, being a passenger on the same vessel that bore the news of Queen Victoria's ascension of the Throne of England. He entered the service of Messrs. Aspinal and Brown with whom he obtained most of his colonial experience. Mr. Woodhouse subsequently removed to Auckland and founded the business he afterwards carried on under the style of Messrs. Woodhouse and Buchanan (Mr. James Buchanan, of Shortland Street, who still survives, being the junior partner); but failing health obliged Mr. Woodhouse to relinquish business. After a short visit to Sydney he returned to Auckland and removed with his wife and family to Patumahoe where he owned a station. At the outbreak of the Maori war, shortly afterwards, he was compelled to make a hasty flight, leaving his possessions to the mercy of the rebels. Mr Woodhouse never returned to Patumahoe, but immediately entered the service of the Bank of New South Wales in Auckland, and was for many years one of the most popular managers of that institution. Rapidly increasing ill-health, however, compelled his resignation and after a lingering illness he died at his residence in Stephen's Avenue in 1882, leaving a widow (daughter of the late Rev. J. T. Churton, LL.B) and eight children. His eldest son Mr. J. F. Woodhouse, is well known in Dunedin as one of the most rising members of the Bar, and his second son Mr. J. H. Woodhouse is the popular station-master at Woodville, Hawke Bay; his eldest daughter was married to the late Mr. Edward Bennett, barrister of Sydney, who was several times an acting Judge, Mr. Woodhouse always took a keen interest in local affairs and was one of the first to move that Auckland Anniversary Day should be commemorated by a regatta. The third son, Mr. R. Woodhouse is a sharebroker, the fourth son, Mr. W. H. Woodhouse was in the Bank of New Zealand for many years, and the fifth, Mr. E. R. Woodhouse is in British Columbia.
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Bank Of Australasia.
             —The Auckland Branch occupies a prominent site at the corner of Queen and Wyndham Streets. The premises are conveniently arranged, and the management of the Bank's business is in the hands of Mr. Edward Turner.
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Mr. Edward Turner,
              Manager of the Bank of Australasia at Auckland, has had a colonial banking experience extending over a period of thirty-eight years. Born in Somersetshire, England, in 1845, he is the son of the late Mr. Thomas Turner, a well-known banker. Mr. Turner was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Melbourne, and, on completing his education, entered the service of the Bank of Australasia. His first removal from the head office took place in 1876, when he was appointed accountant at Wellington, and some years later he became manager of the Palmerston North branch. Leaving Palmerston North for Wanganui in 1887, he remained in that beautiful town until 1896, when he was promoted to his present office. As is usual with bankers, Mr. Turner has refrained from participation in civic and colonial politics, but not so with athletics. He has taken an active part in cricket, football, and aquatics, and will be remembered by some of the old Melbourne rowers as having pulled for his



bank in the Banks' Challenge Cup in years gone by. Socially and as a banker, Mr. Turner is very popular, and, though a member of an English banking corporation, looks upon himself as a thorough-going New Zealander. Mr. Turner was married in Palmerston North to the daughter of Mr. James Skerman, and has four sons and two daughters.
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The Union Bank Of Australia. Ltd.,
              Auckland. The Auckland branch of the Union Bank of Australia, Ltd., was opened in 1848, when a very unpretentious building was erected in Princes Street, upon a site nearly opposite the present Museum. The business of the branch was subsequently removed to Shortland Street, and, finally, the present handsome building was erected at the corner of Queen Street and Victoria Street West. The first manager was Mr. Alexander Kennedy, who afterwards joined the service of the Bank of New Zealand about 1860, as its Auckland manager. He was succeeded by Mr. John Simpson, who has been followed by Messrs Pounds, Grierson, Thomson, and the present manager, Mr. W. E. Woodward, who took charge in 1898. The first local directors were Dr. John Logan Campbell and Mr. J. J. Greenwood. Dr. Campbell was offered the appointment on the 11th of October, 1847, by the then acting-inspector of the Bank at Sydney, and retained the position until he resigned on the foundation of the Bank of New Zealand, of which he was one of the first directors.
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Mr. W. E. Woodward,
              the present Manager at Auckland, has been associated with the Bank since 1875, when he entered its service as a junior at Christchurch. In 1876 he was removed to Auckland, where he occupied several positions up to that of teller, and remained for twelve years. He was then promoted in succession to the management of the Bank's branches at Collingwood, near Melbourne, and Hay, in New South Wales. In 1898 he was appointed to his present position. Mr. Woodward is a native of Port Fairy, Victoria, where his father was engaged in pastoral pursuits, and he was educated partly at Warrnambool, in Victoria, and partly at Christchurch, New Zealand.
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Bank Of New Zealand.
              This is probably the most extensive branch bank in the Colony. Though not on a corner section, the fine building occupies one of the choicest sites in the city, within a minute's walk of the post office, and the nearest bank to that department, as well as to all the mining exchanges, and offices of the principal wholesale merchants. The frontage to Queen Street is about ninety-six feet, and the depth about 178 feet. The managerial and other offices are in the front, a handsome corridor leading between them to the public room, which is probably the finest of its kind in New Zealand. An idea of the business conducted at this branch may be gathered from the fact, that no fewer than five tellers are kept continually busy, while not uncommonly their respective counters are througed. The entire staff includes the manager and assistant manager, accountant and assistant accountant, forty clerks, and two messengers. Mr. W. B. Buller is the manager in charge, with jurisdiction over the business of the gold-fields branches.
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Mr. William Boyce Buller,
              the Auckland Manager of the Bank of New Zealand, was appointed to the position in succession to the late Mr. T. L. Murray. Mr. Buller was formerly Senior Inspector of the Bank of New Zealand, and in that capacity he is fully referred to on page 510 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.
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National Bank Of New Zealand,
              Auckland branch, occupies a prominent position at the corner of Queen and Wyndham Streets. So great has been the extension of the Bank's business within the last few years, that it has been found necessary to increase the accommodation by a valuable addition to the Queen Street frontage of the premises. Mr. D. W. Duthie is the manager in Auckland.
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Mr. David Whamond Duthie,
              Manager at Auckland, of the National Bank of New Zealand, was born at Milton. Otago, in 1857, and is son of the late Mr. Alexander Duthie, one of the earliest settlers who came to Wellington in 1840. Mr. Duthie was educated at the grammar school, Milton, where his father was a successful farmer. He entered the service of the Milton branch of the National Bank, and was soon promoted to the position of accountant at Taieri, since which time he has filled important offices in Dunedin, Oamaru, Timaru, Napier, and Tauranga. He was transferred to Auckland in 1886, and was chief accountant until 1893, when he became manager in succession to Mr. Coates when that gentleman was appointed general manager. Mr. Duthie was married in 1887 to Miss Clayton, daughter of Captain Clayton, nautical assessor, of Auckland, and has four sons and one daughter. Notwithstanding that the popular General Manager left this branch for the head office in Wellington, the National Bank at Auckland has suffered no loss of business under Mr. Duthie's careful management, as is evidenced by the fact that the premises were considerably enlarged quite recently.
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                The Auckland Savings Bank
              
              was established in 1847 to encourage the principles of thrift and industry amongst the people, and has fulfilled its mission so successfully that to-day it is a prosperous and wealthy institution, with branches in several of the suburbs, and is the custodian of considerably more than three-quarters of a million sterling of the savings of the community. Dr. J. Logan Campbell was its first honorary secretary, and the honorary accountants were Messrs J. Dilworth and J. J. Montefiore. In 1850 the Bank was face to face with its



first financial difficulty, and was compelied to appeal to the Governor to authorise a temporary loan not exceeding £300, to enable it to meet withdrawal demands, and again, two years later, the demand of the local Government for the repayment of £46 odd for articles supplied to the Bank could not be complied with for several months. But the new institution found favour with the working classes, to whom it gave the highest current rate of interest, and slowly but surely made progress. In 1872, it was decided to open the bank daily, and this at once led to a great increase in business, the total deposits advancing in five years from £36,230 to £108,870. In 1876, the Penny Bank branch was established, and in 1881 the present handsome building was erected. The bank is managed by a Board of Trustees of prominent citizens, of whom His Excellency the Governor is president; Mr. R. Cameron is manager, and Mr. S. G. Rountree, accountant. In 1847, the year in which the bank was established, it had nineteen depositors, and £176 4s on deposit; but at the close of 1899 the figures were—depositors, 25,095; deposits, £653,599 6s 10d. The surplus profits at the close of 1897 amounted to £47,134. The bank owes much of its success to the shrewd and careful investment of its funds. At the present time, the sum of £218,361 is invested in mortgages, £150,000 in New Zealand Government securities, £8000 odd in borough securities, £70,000 odd on deposit with three banks, while the working account in the Bank of New Zealand represents £134,813 of the bank's funds. Besides giving depositors the highest current rate of interest on their savings, the Auckland Savings Bank has done much to encourage thrift by making advances on mortgage to enable borrowers to build, and in this way has assisted numbers of working men to acquire homes of their own.
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Mr. Richard Cameron,
              Manager of the Auckland Savings Bank, has been a prominent Aucklander for many years. He was born in 1842, and is a son of the late Mr. Richard Cameron, who arrived in Auckland, per “Duchess of Argyle,” in 1842. He was educated at the Rev. John Gorrie's grammar school, and at Nelson College. He made his entry into commercial life as a clerk in the office of Messrs. Gilfillan and Co., general merchants, of Auckland. His connection with the splendid institution of which he is now the popular manager, dates from the 9th March, 1864 when he was appointed a clerk. Eight years later, on the death of Mr. Joseph Coombe, Mr. Cameron succeeded that gentleman, but the office was not dignified with the title of “Manager” until 1875. The business in those days was trifling compared with its present dimensions, but Mr. Cameron has kept pace with the demands made upon his time and ability. The erection of the new bank in 1881, gave a great impetus to business, besides providing one of the handsomest buildings in Auckland. Notwithstanding the close attention entailed by the onerous duties of the Bank, Mr. Cameron has found time to undertake many public duties. He has been a member of the Devonport borough council since its formation, his experience being of much use to the finance and legal committee of which he has long been a member. He has been asked, by an influential body of ratepayers to accept nomination for the mayoral chair, but has declined owing to the pressure on his time. Mr. Cameron is an old Mason but at present is unattached.
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Insurance.

          

            
Insurance, one of the most important factors in the industrial and commercial life of a modern community, is well provided for in Auckland. A number of the offices are purely Australasian, but British and foreign insurance companies are also well represented in the city. The majority of the head offices in New Zealand are located in Wellington, but the branch offices in Auckland rank amongst the city's most imposing buildings. Business competition is keenest among the life offices, as each company has different tables and rates, but for fire risks the rates are uniform throughout. The New Zealand Government has long been in the field with its life insurance office, and its State guarantee; and the interests of insurers in other offices are safeguarded by legislation which provides that the foreign companies in New Zealand have to deposit sufficient security with the State to guarantee the colonial insurers. The various companies doing business in Auckland are referred to in this section.

          

          

            
Fire.

            

              
              


                
Alliance Assurance Company.
                The Head office of this society is in Christchurch. The Auckland branch of the company's business is in charge of Mr. B. Kent.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Bartholomew Kent,
                Manager for Auckland and Taranaki of the Alliance Assurance Company, has had a varied and valuable experience. He was born at Aycliffe, near Darlington, England, in 1852 and was educated at Staindrop, in Durham, the historic seat of the Dukes of Cleveland (Raby Castle). He entered the service of the Stockton and Darlington Railway Company, the first public railway in the world, which was opened on the 27th September, 1825. Three or four years later Mr. Kent accepted a position as accountant with Messrs. Jackson, Gill and Co., of the Imperial iron works at South Bank, Middlesborough. Being deeply interested in the manufacture of iron and steel from a scientific point of view, Mr. Kent, after two years with Messrs. Jackson. Gill and Co., sought and gained entrance into the Darlington iron and steel works where he made the most of a rare opportunity of gaining a thorough knowledge, theoretical and practical, in every department of that important business. It may be here remarked that even in this Colony, Mr. Kent's exceptional experience in the iron and steel trades has been exceedingly useful. A few years ago, he drew the attention of the directors of the Bank of New Zealand to a magnificent deposit of brown hematite ore in the Collingwood district, Nelson, and was requested by them to revisit the spot to report more fully on the estate and if in his opinion advisable, to make a practical test of the value of the ore as a marketable commodity. This he did, with the result that he worked 200 tons of ore, producing bar, sheet, rod, and horse-shoe iron of the highest quality. As evidence of Mr. Kent's experience, it may be mentioned that the Darlington iron and steel works, where he was in the position of assistant to the managing director, was the largest concern of its kind in Great Britain, the weekly output being not less than 2,500 tons of finished iron. After ten years in these works, Mr. Kent resigned to assume the secretaryship, with full managing powers, of the Skerne iron and engineering company, whose premises adjoined those of his former employers. Here he remained some four years, conducting a very large business. But at this time (1880) the iron and kindred trades in England were approaching their very worst condition. Many very large firms had liquidated and failed to pay even an appreciable dividend, and Mr. Kent's directors, determined at any rate to avoid bankruptcy, instructed him to continue the business in the hope of a revival of trade, just so long as the payment of twenty shillings in the pound remained an absolute certainty for all creditors. In 1882, Mr. Kent reported that the existence of the company under these conditions was no longer possible, prompt realizations of the assets verified his estimate, and the business was ceased without the loss of a penny by any creditor, though over a thousand men and boys were necessarily thrown out of employment. After a year's holiday, Mr. Kent decided to leave the Old Land, and in 1883 arrived in Christchurch per s.s. “Ionic.” Immediately on arrival he accepted an appointment with the Union Fire and Marine Insurance company, since purchased by the Alliance Assurance company, London, of which Baron Rothschild is president. While at Christchurch, Mr. Kent was an active member of the Richmond school committee, and took a very keen interest in all musical matters. He is a prominent and enthusiastic solo violinist, and has held the leadership in the orchestra of the Auckland Choral Society for a considerable period. In Masonry he belongs to Lodge Prince of Wales, having been initiated in Christchurch as a member of the Canterbury Lodge No. 1048. He represented the Chamber of Commerce on the Auckland Harbour Board, and did good service for two years; and has been a member of the council, vice-president and president of the chamber. Mr. Kent was president of the Executive Committee of the Auckland Exhibition in 1898. He is vice-president of the Auckland Athletic Club and of the Gordon Cricket Club. Mr. Kent was married in 1876 to Miss Mary Jane Sedgwick, daughter of the late Mr. James Sedgwick, relative of Professor Sedgwick, of Cambridge, and has four children.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Australian Alliance Assurance Company
                
                (C. E. Palmer, district agent), Bank of New Zealand Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland; chief office for New Zealand, Wellington. This branch, which controls the provincial district of Auckland, was established about 1895.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Edward Palmer,
                District Agent for the Australian Alliance, was born in Auckland in 1872. He served from 1889 to 1896 with the Victoria Insurance Company at Auckland, and after being also with the Sun Fire Office, he was appointed to his present position in 1899. Mr. Palmer is honorary secretary to the Auckland Marine Underwriters' Association.

            

            

              
              


                
Guardian Fire And Life Assurance Company,
                Limited. Agents, Messrs T. H. Hall and Co., merchants, 23 Queen Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Imperial Fire Insurance Company.
                Agent, Mr W. H. Armstrong, solicitor, Vulcan Lane, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Law, Union, and Crown Insurance Company,
                of London. Agents, Messrs A. S. Patterson and Co., grain merchants, Fort Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Liverpool And London And Globe Insurance Company
                
                (A. G. Buchanan, agent and attorney); agency for Auckland Provincial District, Shortland Street, Auckland. Head office, Liverpool; London office, Cornhill; chief office for the colonies, 62 Pitt Street, Sydney. This company's Auckland agency was opened about 1854 by the late Mr. James Buchanan, father of the occupant of the office in 1900. In 1859, Mr. John Buchanan, a brother, succeeded to the agency, and continued to act till January, 1900, when his nephew was appointed.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur George Buchanan,
                Agent and Attorney in Auckland for the Liverpool and London and Globe Company, was born in Parnell, in 1864, and educated at the public school, Gisborne. He joined the staff of the Auckland office in January, 1880, and succeeded to the management on his



uncle's retirement twenty years later. Mr. Buchanan, who is unmarried, takes no part in public affairs.
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London And Lancashire Fire Insurance Company.
                Agents, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, merchants, Fort Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Magdeburg Fire Insurance Company.
                Agents, Messrs Cook and Gray, accountants, Mercantile Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Manchester Fire Assurance Company.
                Agents, Messrs Baker Bros., Auctioneers, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
North British And Mercantile Insurance Company;
                agency for Auckland Provincial District, Hobson's Buildings, Shortland Street. Chief agent and attorney, Mr. J. Hugo Harrop. Head office for the colonies, 41 Queen Street, Melbourne. This powerful Scottish company has invested funds exceeding £12,000,000.

            

            

              
              


                
Northern Insurance Company,
                Agents, Messrs Macky and Heather, Commerce Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
North German Fire Insurance Company.
                Office, 107 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. J. St. Clair is the general manager of this company.

            

            

              
              


                
Norwich Union Fire Insurance Society.
                Agents, Messrs L. D. Nathan and Co., merchants, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Phœnix Assurance Company of London
                
               ; Auckland Branch, Shortland Street; Mr. Percy Butler, district manager for the provincial district of Auckland. Head office for New Zealand, Customs Street, Wellington. This company has been represented for many years in Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Percy Butler,
                District Manager of the Phoenix Fire Office at Auckland, was born at Wanganui in 1862. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and served for several years in the Bank of New Zealand. In 1884 Mr. Butler went to Queensland, and joined the New Zealand Insurance Company at Brisbane, and served that company till 1891 in different parts of Australia and New Zealand. In that year he joined the Phoenix office in Wellington, under Mr. R. M. Simpson, and continued there till he took over the management at Auckland in 1897.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Royal Insurance Company
                
                (Auckland Branch, Mr. R. A. Lusher, local manager), 145 Queen Street, Auckland. Chief colonial office, Melbourne. This office has been represented in New Zealand since 1862.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Randall Alexander Lusher,
                Chief Agent of the Royal in Auckland, was born at Norfolk, England, in 1836. He was brought up as a tailor, and landed in Auckland in 1862. After four years of colonial experience, he joined the Telegraph Department, and was stationed in the country until 1868, when he was placed in charge of the Auckland office, and held the position till 1880, when he joined Mr. G. W. Jones, under the style of Jones and Lusher, as agents of the Royal Insurance Company. In 1885, Mr. Jones, having retired, Mr. Lusher became chief agent. He was married, in 1862, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Knight, of London, and sister to Sir Henry Knight, Lord Mayor of London, and has had three sons and two daughters. One of his sons, of the firm of Bowring and Lusher, was killed by an explosion on the reclamation at Auckland in 1895.

            

            

              
              


                
The Royal Exchange Assurance Corporation,
                which dates back to 1720, has its head office in New Zealand at Dunedin, where Mr W. A. Walton is attorney. The office for the provincial district of Auckland is at Halliday's Buildings, Shortland Street, and Mr. E. Wynn-Williams is district agent.

            

            

              
              


                
Sun Fire Office,
                established 1710. Mr. H. Rees George is district agent for Auckland; office, Fort Street.

            

          

          

            
Fire and Marine.

            

              
              


                

                  Commercial Union Assurance Company, Ltd.
                
                Agents, Messrs Graham and Walker, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
National Insurance Company Of New Zealand.
                Head Office, Custom House Square, Dunedin; Auckland branch, Queen Street. Manager, Mr. N. T. Williams. The head office of this company being in Dunedin, the extended description will appear in the Otago volume of the “Cyclopedia.” The Auckland offices are most centrally situated and well adapted to all necessary requirements. It may fairly be described as a popular office.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Norman T. Williams,
                the Manager, was born at the Bay of Islands, in 1864, and is a son of Mr. E. M. Williams, sometime a Judge in the Native Land Court. Mr. Williams joined the National Insurance Company in 1885, and was appointed to his present position in 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The New Zealand Insurance Company
                
                (Fire and Marine). The present directors of this Company are Dr. Logan Campbell (chairman); Messrs Thomas Buddle, A. G. Horton, A. H. Nathan, Robert Rose, James Russell, and J. L. Wilson; General Manager, Mr. David Craig. This company's paid-up capital and reserve amount to £435,000, and its headquarters are, and always have been, in Auckland. It was one of the first public companies floated in New Zealand by purely local enterprise, and has been a specially well directed and successful institution. The company was established in 1859, and is older by about two years than the Bank of New Zealand. Its promoters were all Auckland residents, and its first directors were the leading professional and mercantile men in the then young and rising capital of the colony. At a meeting held on the 31st of May, 1859, the following gentlemen formed themselves into the original shareholders of the New Zealand Insurance Company:—Messrs Thomas Henderson (chairman), Thomas Russell, David Graham, James Williamson, William Crush Daldy, Hugh Coolahan, Walter K. Graham, and Captain James Stone. The following resolution was passed:—“That we, the undersigned, do form ourselves into the New Zealand Insurance Company, of which the capital shall be £100,000, and do express our intention to take shares to the amount set against our names respectively.” The amount of the subscriptions ranged from £2000 to £5000, and £52,000 was at once paid up. The first risks were accepted on the 4th of June, 1859, and the first report was submitted to shareholders on the 31st of May, 1860. The directors, amongst other things, said that “At the commencement of the year they thought that, with careful management, £2000 might be reached as the amount of the first year's income, but, including interest, more than twice that sum had been raised.” Step by step the company worked its way outwards, and it has now planted itself strongly throughout Australasia and in London, America, Africa, Ceylon, India, China and Japan, and at many of these centres it is represented by officers, natives of New Zealand, specially trained in its service. As stated, the capital of the company was at first £100,000; but in 1861 it was increased to £250,000, and again in 1874, when the business had greatly expanded, it was subscribed up to £1,000,000, at which it still stands with £200,000 paid up and reserved, and reinsurance funds amounting to £235,000. As regards paid-up capital and reserves, as well as annual revenue, the company is far ahead of any other New Zealand or Australian Company, and, as evidence of its steady progress the following net premiums for certain years are given:—

              

	
                  
1860, £3766.

                

	
                  
1865, £45,241.

                

	
                  
1875, £145,035.

                

	
                  
1885, £219,214.

                

	
                  
1895, £267,916.

                

	
                  
1898, £311,000.

                


              
The company has paid close upon £4,000,000 in losses, and three-quarters of a million in dividends. Shortly after the



company commenced operations its chief executive officer, Mr. Hansard, resigned and left the Colony. He was succeeded in 1860 by Mr. George Patrick Pierce, who occupied the general manager's chair until his death in 1891. Mr. Warwick Weston, who had been branch inspector for many years, succeeded Mr. Pierce. On Mr. Weston's death in 1895 the Board conferred the appointment on Mr. David Craig, who still occupies the position.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. David Craig
                
                joined the service of the company in 1867, and had been for many years its representative in Canterbury. He is a shrewd business man, and thoroughly acquainted with every detail of insurance work. Under his able administration the company has every prospect of continuing its successful career. Mr. Craig was born in Fifeshire, Scotland. When a youth he served articles to Mr. John Monteath Douglas, solicitor, Cupar-Fife. He was afterwards in the office of a leading writer to the Signet in Edinburgh, and also attended the law classes of the University—a training which has been specially useful to him through life. During Mr. Craig's long residence in Canterbury he filled many public offices. He was for a long period treasurer of the Canterbury Agricultural and Pastoral Association and a City Sinking Fund Commissioner. At one time he was also a keen volunteer, and was long captain of the E Battery of Artillery. On his promotion to the general managership of the New Zealand Insurance Company, Mr. Craig had to remove to Auckland, whither he carried with him many tokens of the high esteem in which he had been held by the community of Canterbury.
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Mr. George Nelson Pierce,
                Manager in Auckland for the New Zealand Insurance Company, is the eldest son of the late Mr. George Patrick Pierce, the first general manager of the company, whose life was spent mainly in its service. Mr. Pierce was born in Auckland in 1859, and educated chiefly at the Parnell Grammar School, and entered the service of the New Zealand Insurance Company in 1873 at the head office, Auckland. After being in Wellington, he was appointed manager at Oamaru, and subsequently at Perth, West Australia. In 1890, Mr. Pierce was appointed manager at Napier, whence he was transferred to his present position at Auckland in May, 1900.
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Mr. Thomas James Brassey,
                formerly Auckland Manager of the New Zealand Insurance Company, has had a long connection with mercantile and insurance offices at the Northern Capital, and stands deservedly high in public estimation. Educated at the Auckland High School under Mr. Farquhar McRae, he entered the countinghouse of Messrs. Bucholz and Co., general merchants, and was subsequently in the employ of Mr. Morton Jones. In 1875 Mr. Brassey joined the staff of the Auckland branch of the company, with which he has since maintained such honourable connection. In 1882 he was appointed to the management of the Napier branch, remaining till 1890, when he received his present position of manager at Auckland. From the time of Mr. G. P. Pierce's death in 1891, till January, 1896, Mr. Brassey was, with but few slight intervals, continuously in the head office in the capacity of acting general manager. Besides his duties in connection with the New Zealand Insurance Company, he for several years undertook the management of the New Zealand and River Plate Land Mortgage Company at Napier, and, from January, 1890, to May, 1891, was secretary to that company at Auckland. The more onerous duties cast upon him, however, through the death of the late general manager of the New Zealand Insurance Company, Mr. G. P. Pierce, compelled him to resign the secretaryship. Mr. Brassey now resides in England as manager of the London branch of the New Zealand Insurance Company. In 1883 Mr. Brassey married Miss Russell, daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Russell.
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                  North Queensland Insurance Company, Ltd.
                
                Head office, corner of Pitt and Bridge Streets, Sydney. Chief Office for New Zealand, Hobson's Buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. Auckland Agent, with management of North Island business, Mr. W. J. Ronayne. The North Queensland Insurance Company has been doing business in Auckland for several years, and the offices are centrally situated.

            

            

              
              


                

                  South British Fire And Marine Insurance Company
                
                (James Kirker, general manager; A. S. Russell, local manager). Head office, 90 Queen Street, Auckland. This company has a capital of £1,900,000, with reserve and accumulated funds exceeding £230,000. The handsome building in which it carries on its business is one of the features of the city's architecture. The South British itself is a purely local institution, and might be cited as an example of the enterprise and commercial possibilities of Auckland. At the same time, its success is in a large measure due to the ability, judgment, and energy of Mr. James Kirker, the general manager.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Kirker,
                General Manager of the South British Fire and Marine Insurance Company of New Zealand, is the son of Mr. James Kirker, draper, of Belfast, where he was born in 1857. He accompanied his parents to Australia in 1863 in the ship “Merchant Prince,” and, the family coming to Wellington a year later, he was educated in that city. Mr. Kirker joined the Telegraph Department, but, after six years' service,



servered his connection with the department to join the South British. For some time he was in charge of the Te Aro branch, Wellington, and was subsequently appointed manager at Napier. Two years later he was sent to Adelalde to take charge of the South and West Australian branches. There Mr. Kirker negotiated the purchase of the businesses of the Commercial Marine and Adelaide Fire and Marine Insurance Companies. In 1888 he was appointed inspector of branches throughout the company's territory, and two years later this rapid promotion culminated in his appointment to the general managership of the company, which position he fills with conspicuous ability. Mr. Kirker is a member of the Northern and Auckland Clubs, and takes great interest in bowling, being a prominent member of the Auckland and Ponsonby Bowling Clubs. In 1883 Mr. Kirker was married to the eldest daughter of Mr. Lockie, retired builder, of Wellington. Of their six children, two girls and three boys survive.
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Mr. Alexander Stuart Russell,
                Local Manager in Auckland of the South British Insurance Company, has had an extensive commercial experience, and is very well and favourably known in the insurance world. He was born in Glasgow, Scotland, on the 7th of January, 1842, and is a son of Mr. Alexander Russell, of that city. He was educated at the Glasgow Free Normal Seminary, and in 1856 was apprenticed to Messrs Rutherford Brothers, soft goods warenousemen. In M
[
unclear: arch] 1859, he arrived in Auckland, per ship “Excelsior,” and for the ensuing ten years he was employed by Messrs Gilfillan and Co., and rose to the position of chief saleman. He then accepted the management of the business of Messrs Must and Co., of which the late Mr. J. M. Dargaville was the resident partner, and with whom Mr. Russell maintained, to the last, the most friendly relations. For some time Mr. Russell resided in Wellington, where for a period of four years he held the position of accountant to Messrs Jacob Joseph and Co. He then returned to Auckland, and accepted the management of the Standard Insurance Company. Mr. Russell held that appointment for two years, and then for the purpose of gaining useful information in connection with the timber industry he filled the position of accountant to the Auckland Timber Company. At the end of four years he returned to the management of the “Standard,” which he retained till the 12th of February, 1887, when he accepted his present appointment. As a Mason Mr. Russell is one of the most prominent officers in the Colony. He was initiated into Lodge Ara No. 348 I.C., in July, 1865, and a third of a century ago he filled the office of worshipful master, and was re-elected. In the Provincial Grand Lodge under the grand mastership of the late Mr. G. P. Pierce, Mr. Russell held office as grand senior deacon, grand registrar, grand treasurer, and for several years as grand senior warden. On the inception of the Grand Lodge of New Zealand, Mr. Russell was offered and accepted the first deputy grand mastership of the Colony. In addition to being one of the founders of Lodge Ara, N.Z.C., Mr. Russell is also a member of Lodge Ponsonby, No. 54 N.Z.C., and he was in 1897, by way of compliment, elected an honorary member of his old Lodge Ara 348 I.C. In 1894 Mr. Russell went to Scotland to undergo an operation for the improvement of his sight. The operation was eminently successful, and one of the results was a marked improvement in his general health. Mr. Russell was married in 1871 to Miss Olive Morris, daughter of Mr. James Morris, of Ponsonby, and has four daughters and three sons; the eldest son being in the employment of the Waihi Gold Mining Company.
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Mr. Alfred Charles Woolcott.
                Accountant at the head office of the South British Insurance Company, was born in Devonshire, England, in 1860. He was brought by his parents to Auckland in February of the following year by the ship “Zealandia,” and received his early education



at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell. In 1876, Mr. Woolcott joined the staff of the Bank of New South Wales in Auckland, and served in various positions during the succeeding five years. He entered the service of the South British Insurance Company in 1882 Six years later he was promoted to the position of assistant acecuntant, and has held the office of accountant since 1890. Mr. Woolcott was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr. E. M. C. Harrison, of Northcote.
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Standard Fire And Marine Insurance Company Of New Zealand,
                Queen Street, Auckland. Branch manager, Mr. George Johnston. This company occupies offices on the east side of Queen Street, near the corner of Fort Street. Its head office is in Dunedin.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Johnston,
                Manager at Auckland of the Standard Fire and Marine Insurance Company, has held high positions in the insurance world of the Northern Capital for over a quarter of a century, and for a considerable period previously was well known in commercial circles. Mr. Johnston was born in 1837 in Armagh, ireland, his father, the late Mr. Thomas Johnston, coming of a very old family. Educated at the Agricultural Model School, he entered the countinghouse of Messrs. Dunbar. McMaster and Co., spinning manufacturers, of Gilford, County Down, where he remained some eight years. On attaining his majority, Mr. Johnston sailed for Auckland per ship “Mary Ann” in 1858, securing employment with Messrs. Connell and Ridings, auctioneers. In 1863 he became accountant to Mr. S. Jones, whom he left after nine years, to assume the position of accountant and local manager of the South British Insurance Company. This was at the time of the company's Inauguration. Mr. Boardman retiring from the office of general manager in 1880, Mr. Johnston was appointed in his stead. During his ten years' occupaucy of the general managership, the business of the company was very nearly trebled, Immediately on his retirement from the South British Company in 1890, Mr. Johnston was offered and accepted his present position. He at once threw all his energies and influence into the business of the company, resulting in a large increase in the number and value of policies. During his residence in Auckland of nearly forty years, during the whole of which time he has been actively and prominently engaged in insurance and mercantile pursuits, Mr. Johnston has made many friends and a very large circle of acquaintances. At the time when Volunteering meant something serious, he was away at the “front”—represented in those days by Papakura and Drury—and for seven years was connected with the Volunteer Rifle Corps. As a Mason, he has held the office of senior warden of Lodge Ara, No. 348, I.C. He was for some time a deacon of the Beresford Street Congregational Church. In 1863 Mr. Johnston was married to a daughter of the late Mr. E. J. Matthews, builder and contractor, of Auckland, and has two sons and three daughters.

              

                

[image: Mr. G. Johnston.]
Mr. 
G. Johnston.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  The United Insurance Company, Ltd.
                
                (Fire and Marine; A. E. Dean, district secretary), Customs Street West, Auckland. Head office for New Zealand, corner of Featherston and Hunter Streets, Wellington. This company has been represented in Auckland since about 1880.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alfred Elliott Dean,
                District Secretary at Auckland for the United Fire Office, was born in 1864 at Newcastle, New South Wales. He was educated at St. Paul's School, Wellington, and at the Southland High School, Invercargill, and commenced his business career as a member of the staff of Messrs W. and G. Turnbull and Co., Wellington, with whom he continued for many years. The firm acted as agents for the United and also for the Guardian Insurance Company, and Mr. Dean gained his experience of insurance matters in connection with these agencies. In 1891, when the United Insurance Company opened a branch in the colony, he became accountant to the company, and held the position till early in 1899, when he was appointed district secretary at Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Victoria Fire And Marine Insurance Company.
                The Auckland offices of this company are situated at 91 Queen Street, and Mr. John Bowden is the general manager.

            

          

          

            
Marine.

            

              
              


                
British And Foreign Marine Insurance Company,
                Limited. Agents, Messrs Macky and Heather, Commerce Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Canton Insurance Company,
                Limited. Agents, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, merchants, Fort Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  China Traders' Insurance Company, Ltd.
                
                (Marine). Agents, Messrs L. D. Nathan and Co., general merchants, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
The Marine Insurance Company,
                Limited; office for Auckland provincial district, Hobson's Buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. J. Hugo Harrop, agent. Head office, London. This company has been represented in Auckland since 1894.

            

            

              
              


                
The Ocean Accident And Guarantee Corporation,
                Limited, of London, was founded in 1871. Business was established in New Zealand at Wellington in June, 1899, and in the same month the Auckland branch was opened. The local office is situated at 14 Shortland Street, and Mr. A. P. Friend is district manager.

            

            

              
              


                
Straits Marine Insurance Company,
                Limited. Agents, Messrs John Reid and Co., merchants, Fort Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Thames And Mersey Marine Insurance Company.
                Head office for New Zealand, Grey Street, Wellington; Messrs Levin and Co., Ltd., general agents. Auckland office, Fort Street; J. A. Barber and Co., agents.

            

          

          

            
Life.

            

              
              


                
Australian Mutual Provident Society.
                Auckland Branch, A.M.P. Buildings, corner of Queen and Victoria Streets, Auckland. Head office for New Zealand, Customs and Hunter Streets, Wellington. This branch was established in January, 1884, and the building (formerly Hoffmann's) was purchased by the society in 1883, and was altered for the accommodation of the business. It is of three stories, of brick and cement; the ground floor is used for the branch offices, and the upper flats are let to tenants.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Clement William Hemery,
                District Secretary for Auckland, is one of the oldest officers of the society. He was born in the Island of Jersey, in 1847, and began



his business life in Liverpool. Mr. Hemery came to Melbourne in 1868, and four years later entered the society's employment in that city, where he held the office of cashier at the Victorian branch till 1883, when he was transferred to Auckland as agency clerk. Mr. Hemery succeeded the late Mr. D. J. McLeod as district secretary in 1888. He has (1901) been treasurer of the Young Men's Christian Association in Auckland for the last eight years.

            

            

              
              


                
Australian Widows' Fund Life Assurance Society,
                Limited. Head office, Melbourne; head office for New Zealand, 6 Custom House Quay, Wellington; Auckland branch office, 105 Victoria Arcade, Queen Street. Capital, £1,500,000; annual income, £240,000. This society was founded in 1871. Mr. A. E. D'Arcy, the secretary, was formerly superintendent in the Auckland district for the Mutual Life Association.

            

            

              
              


                
Citizens' Life Assurance Company,
                Limited. Head offices, 21, 23, 25 Citizens' Buildings, Castlereagh and Moore Streets, Sydney; chief office in New Zealand, Custom House Quay, Wellington; Auckland branch office, 192 Queen Street. Mr. Odard H. Taplin is the District Superintendent for Auckland, and the resident secretary is Mr. J. Frankis Lane. An account of the company is given on page 529 of the Wellington volume of this work.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Odard Hoult Taplin,
                District Superintendent at Auckland for the Citizens' Life Assurance Company, Limited, was born in Westbury-sub-Mendip, Somersetshire, England, in 1870, and is a son of Mr. T. K. Taplin, a West of England gentleman. Mr. Taplin was educated by private tuition, and left England in 1890 for Sydney, where he at once joined the Citizens' Assurance Company as an agent. In the beginning of 1896 he was appointed district manager of the Auckland branch, and subsequently became superintendent. Prior to leaving England, Mr. Taplin was a member of the Second Battalion, Prince Albert Somersetshire Light Infantry, and in the matter of sport he devotes himself to shooting, cricket, football, and cycling.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Colonial Mutual Life Assurance Company;
                
                Auckland branch, Colonial Mutual Buildings, corner of Queen and Fort Streets, Auckland; head office, Melbourne; chief office for New Zealand, Wellington. Local director, Mr. Seymour Thorne George; local secretary, Mr. F. T. Ward. The district controlled from the Auckland office includes the provincial districts of Auckland and Taranaki, and extends as far south as Wanganui in the Wellington provincial district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederic Thomas Ward,
                Local Secretary to the Colonial Mutual Life Office in Auckland, was born in 1864, in Tasmania, and was educated at the Hobart High School. He came to Dunedin in 1881, when he joined the staff of the National Mutual Life Office, and three years later became accountant to the Equitable Life of New Zealand. In 1887 Mr. Ward joined the Colonial Mutual in Wellington, and shortly afterwards was placed in charge of the Auckland office. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of the late Mr John Kissling, of Auckland, and has one son and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                
Equitable Life Assurance Company Of New York,
                United States of America. This company's head office in New Zealand is at Wellington, and it has branches all over the Australasian Colonies. The director resident in Wellington is Mr. H. D. Bell, the well-known barrister and solicitor, and the general manager in Australasia is Mr. C. Carlisle Taylor. Mr. Percy M. Thomson is inspector of agencies in New Zealand, and the district manager in Auckland is Mr J. R. M. Stewart. The company is considered to be financially one of the stronest in the world. It has a capital of £58,373,185; a surplus of £12,711,975; and the assurances in force amount to £219,670,088.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. J. R. M. Stewart,
                the popular Auckland Manager of the Equitable Life Assurance Company of New York, is a son of Mr. George Vesey Stewart, of Katikati, and was born at Lisbeg House, Ballygawley, County Tyrone, Ireland, in the year 1862. He received his early education at Coventry, England; came with his father to New Zealand in 1874, and finished his education in Auckland. For about nine years he was in commercial life, and in 1888 he joined the office of the A.M.P. Society, in which he attained the high position of chief agent. In the year 1900 he was appointed district manager in Auckland of the Equitable Life Assurance Company, which has in him an officer who is considered one of the most successful life insurance experts in the colony.
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New Zealand Government Life Insurance Department.
                Head office, Custom House Quay, Wellington; Auckland branch office, 105 Queen Street. The department is described on page 533 of the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia, and Mr. W. J. Speight, the district manager for Auckland, is referred to on pages 
108–109 of the present volume.

            

            

              
              


                
Mutual Life Association Of Australasia.
                Head office for New Zealand, Wellington. Auckland office, Mutual Life Buildings, lower Queen Street. This Association is fully described in the Wellington volume of the “Cyclopedia.” The Auckland offices are handsome and commodious and were formerly the head office for the Colony.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Lambert,
               
 District Secretary for Auckland of the Mutual Life Association, is a colonist of long standing and extensive commercial experience. Born at Islington, London, in 1847, he sailed for Sydney with his parents in 1852, per ship “Francis Walker.” His father, the late Mr. W. Lambert, established himself in that city in the business of a general printer, but some three years later came to Auckland, finally settling in Dunedin in 1856, and founding the “Otago Colonist” newspaper. The subject of this notice was educated at Christ's College and Grammar School, Christ-church, and at the Dunedin High School. His first business experience was gained in the wholesale house of Messrs. W. Watson and Sons, of Dunedin, where he remained ten years. After a similar term in Messrs. Sargood's Dunedin house, Mr. Lambert removed to Melbourne, and was appointed cashier in a large building society. A year later, in 1886, he accepted the position of manager for New Zealand of the New York Life Insurance Company, and conducted the company's business until the New Zealand branch was closed in 1894. Mr. Lambert then went into business in Wellington as manufacturer's agent and indenter, subsequently accepting his present position. A large increase in the association's business in Auckland has been developed since his advent. His experience
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in connection with the New York Life Insurance Company is of great value, whilst his long residence in the Colony necessarily gives him a large personal influence. For over twenty years he took an active part in the Volunteer movement, and for some seven or eight years was captain of the Dunedin Artillery Corps—one of the finest in the Colony. In Wellington, Mr. Lambert was secretary and treasurer of the City Bowling Club and the Northern Bowling Association, and latterly of the Thorndon Club.

            

            

              
              


                
National Mutual Life Association Of Australasia,
                Limited. This company's head office for New Zealand is in Wellington, and the Auckland branch office is situated at the corner of Queen and Swanson Streets. A detailed article on the company appears at pages 539 and 540 of the Wellington volume of this work. Mr. J. B. Gou'd is the company's district manager at Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Baring Gould,
                District Manager at Auckland for the National Mutual Life Association, was formerly stationmaster at the Wellington station of the Wellington and Manawatu Railway Company, and is referred to in that capacity at page 353 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.

            

            

              
              


                
The Provident And Industrial Insurance Company Of New Zealand;
                head office, Dunedin; Auckland branch (Mr. W. H. Churton, manager), 28 Shortland Street.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Henry Churton,
                who is a Fellow of the Society of Auditors of England, has represented the Provident and Industrial Company in Auckland since 1893.

            

            

              
              


                

                  New Zealand Accident Insurance Company
                
                (P. A. Edmiston, general manager), Auckland. Board of Directors for 1900: Messrs Thomas Buddle (chairman), C. B. Stone, F. Battley, W. S. Wilson, R. C, Carr, and J. L. Wilson. The New Zealand Accident Insurance Company was established towards the end of the year 1879. The late Mr. W. A. Thomson, then well-known in life assurance circles, was the promoter and first general manager, and the Board of Directors was composed of six leading city men of the time; namely, David Boosie Cruickshank, who remained chairman of the company until his death in May, 1895, G. B. Owen, C. J. Stone, B. Tonks, Thomas Buddle, and J. L. Wilson. As the pioneer of accident insurance in the Australasian colonies, the institution had many difficulties to contend with in its early days, but steady progress was made, and now in its twenty-second year (1901) it ranks financially as one of the strongest institutions of its size in the colonies. The head office is in Auckland, but the company's operations extend through Australasia, and there are branches and agencies in each colony. Besides general accident, the business of the company embraces sickness insurance, employers' liability and indemnity, public risk, coupon insurance, burglary and theft, Plate glass insurance, and fidelity guarantee. The subscribed capital is £20,000, of which £10,000 is paid up, the liability of shareholders being unlimited. Steady dividends have been paid from its incorporation. On the 30th of June, 1900, its reserve funds stood at £60,000, and the total assets at the same date amounted to £85,900, of which seventy-five per cent. was invested in colonial Government securities. From its establishment in 1879 the company had, up to the 30th of June, 1900, returned to insurers upwards of £200,000 in the shape of bonuses to policy-holders, and the payment of 25,000 claims. These figures are by far the largest in the annals of colonial accident insurance, and a record for this side of the Equator.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Philip Augustus Edmiston,
                the General Manager, was born in Kent England, but arrived at Auckland with his parents at a very early age, in the ship “Mary Anne,” Captain Ashby. He was educated at the Auckland Collegiate Grammar School and at Christ's College, Canterbury. For many years he was connected with auctioneering in Auckland and the South Island, and Joined the company as accountant on its inception. In June, 1884, on the retirement of the late Mr. W. A. Thomson, Mr. Edmiston was appointed general manager, and the records of the company show with what ability and success he has filled the position.
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New Zealand Plate Glass Insurance Company, Ltd.,
                Mercantile Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland. Head office, Dunedin. Agent, Mr. J. T. W. Stevenson.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Fire Underwriters' Association.
                Office, 111 Victoria Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland; Mr. H. Goulstone, secretary.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Marine Underwriters' Association,
                which was reformed in May, 1900, was previously in operation for many years. Committee for 1900: Messrs J. Bowden (chairman), A. S. Russell, A. E. Dean, B. Burt, and C. E. Palmer (honorary secretary).
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Insurance, one of the most important factors in the industrial and commercial life of a modern community, is well provided for in Auckland. A number of the offices are purely Australasian, but British and foreign insurance companies are also well represented in the city. The majority of the head offices in New Zealand are located in Wellington, but the branch offices in Auckland rank amongst the city's most imposing buildings. Business competition is keenest among the life offices, as each company has different tables and rates, but for fire risks the rates are uniform throughout. The New Zealand Government has long been in the field with its life insurance office, and its State guarantee; and the interests of insurers in other offices are safeguarded by legislation which provides that the foreign companies in New Zealand have to deposit sufficient security with the State to guarantee the colonial insurers. The various companies doing business in Auckland are referred to in this section.
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Fire.

            

              
              


                
Alliance Assurance Company.
                The Head office of this society is in Christchurch. The Auckland branch of the company's business is in charge of Mr. B. Kent.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Bartholomew Kent,
                Manager for Auckland and Taranaki of the Alliance Assurance Company, has had a varied and valuable experience. He was born at Aycliffe, near Darlington, England, in 1852 and was educated at Staindrop, in Durham, the historic seat of the Dukes of Cleveland (Raby Castle). He entered the service of the Stockton and Darlington Railway Company, the first public railway in the world, which was opened on the 27th September, 1825. Three or four years later Mr. Kent accepted a position as accountant with Messrs. Jackson, Gill and Co., of the Imperial iron works at South Bank, Middlesborough. Being deeply interested in the manufacture of iron and steel from a scientific point of view, Mr. Kent, after two years with Messrs. Jackson. Gill and Co., sought and gained entrance into the Darlington iron and steel works where he made the most of a rare opportunity of gaining a thorough knowledge, theoretical and practical, in every department of that important business. It may be here remarked that even in this Colony, Mr. Kent's exceptional experience in the iron and steel trades has been exceedingly useful. A few years ago, he drew the attention of the directors of the Bank of New Zealand to a magnificent deposit of brown hematite ore in the Collingwood district, Nelson, and was requested by them to revisit the spot to report more fully on the estate and if in his opinion advisable, to make a practical test of the value of the ore as a marketable commodity. This he did, with the result that he worked 200 tons of ore, producing bar, sheet, rod, and horse-shoe iron of the highest quality. As evidence of Mr. Kent's experience, it may be mentioned that the Darlington iron and steel works, where he was in the position of assistant to the managing director, was the largest concern of its kind in Great Britain, the weekly output being not less than 2,500 tons of finished iron. After ten years in these works, Mr. Kent resigned to assume the secretaryship, with full managing powers, of the Skerne iron and engineering company, whose premises adjoined those of his former employers. Here he remained some four years, conducting a very large business. But at this time (1880) the iron and kindred trades in England were approaching their very worst condition. Many very large firms had liquidated and failed to pay even an appreciable dividend, and Mr. Kent's directors, determined at any rate to avoid bankruptcy, instructed him to continue the business in the hope of a revival of trade, just so long as the payment of twenty shillings in the pound remained an absolute certainty for all creditors. In 1882, Mr. Kent reported that the existence of the company under these conditions was no longer possible, prompt realizations of the assets verified his estimate, and the business was ceased without the loss of a penny by any creditor, though over a thousand men and boys were necessarily thrown out of employment. After a year's holiday, Mr. Kent decided to leave the Old Land, and in 1883 arrived in Christchurch per s.s. “Ionic.” Immediately on arrival he accepted an appointment with the Union Fire and Marine Insurance company, since purchased by the Alliance Assurance company, London, of which Baron Rothschild is president. While at Christchurch, Mr. Kent was an active member of the Richmond school committee, and took a very keen interest in all musical matters. He is a prominent and enthusiastic solo violinist, and has held the leadership in the orchestra of the Auckland Choral Society for a considerable period. In Masonry he belongs to Lodge Prince of Wales, having been initiated in Christchurch as a member of the Canterbury Lodge No. 1048. He represented the Chamber of Commerce on the Auckland Harbour Board, and did good service for two years; and has been a member of the council, vice-president and president of the chamber. Mr. Kent was president of the Executive Committee of the Auckland Exhibition in 1898. He is vice-president of the Auckland Athletic Club and of the Gordon Cricket Club. Mr. Kent was married in 1876 to Miss Mary Jane Sedgwick, daughter of the late Mr. James Sedgwick, relative of Professor Sedgwick, of Cambridge, and has four children.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Australian Alliance Assurance Company
                
                (C. E. Palmer, district agent), Bank of New Zealand Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland; chief office for New Zealand, Wellington. This branch, which controls the provincial district of Auckland, was established about 1895.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Edward Palmer,
                District Agent for the Australian Alliance, was born in Auckland in 1872. He served from 1889 to 1896 with the Victoria Insurance Company at Auckland, and after being also with the Sun Fire Office, he was appointed to his present position in 1899. Mr. Palmer is honorary secretary to the Auckland Marine Underwriters' Association.

            

            

              
              


                
Guardian Fire And Life Assurance Company,
                Limited. Agents, Messrs T. H. Hall and Co., merchants, 23 Queen Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Imperial Fire Insurance Company.
                Agent, Mr W. H. Armstrong, solicitor, Vulcan Lane, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Law, Union, and Crown Insurance Company,
                of London. Agents, Messrs A. S. Patterson and Co., grain merchants, Fort Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Liverpool And London And Globe Insurance Company
                
                (A. G. Buchanan, agent and attorney); agency for Auckland Provincial District, Shortland Street, Auckland. Head office, Liverpool; London office, Cornhill; chief office for the colonies, 62 Pitt Street, Sydney. This company's Auckland agency was opened about 1854 by the late Mr. James Buchanan, father of the occupant of the office in 1900. In 1859, Mr. John Buchanan, a brother, succeeded to the agency, and continued to act till January, 1900, when his nephew was appointed.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur George Buchanan,
                Agent and Attorney in Auckland for the Liverpool and London and Globe Company, was born in Parnell, in 1864, and educated at the public school, Gisborne. He joined the staff of the Auckland office in January, 1880, and succeeded to the management on his



uncle's retirement twenty years later. Mr. Buchanan, who is unmarried, takes no part in public affairs.
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London And Lancashire Fire Insurance Company.
                Agents, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, merchants, Fort Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Magdeburg Fire Insurance Company.
                Agents, Messrs Cook and Gray, accountants, Mercantile Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Manchester Fire Assurance Company.
                Agents, Messrs Baker Bros., Auctioneers, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
North British And Mercantile Insurance Company;
                agency for Auckland Provincial District, Hobson's Buildings, Shortland Street. Chief agent and attorney, Mr. J. Hugo Harrop. Head office for the colonies, 41 Queen Street, Melbourne. This powerful Scottish company has invested funds exceeding £12,000,000.

            

            

              
              


                
Northern Insurance Company,
                Agents, Messrs Macky and Heather, Commerce Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
North German Fire Insurance Company.
                Office, 107 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. J. St. Clair is the general manager of this company.

            

            

              
              


                
Norwich Union Fire Insurance Society.
                Agents, Messrs L. D. Nathan and Co., merchants, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Phœnix Assurance Company of London
                
               ; Auckland Branch, Shortland Street; Mr. Percy Butler, district manager for the provincial district of Auckland. Head office for New Zealand, Customs Street, Wellington. This company has been represented for many years in Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Percy Butler,
                District Manager of the Phoenix Fire Office at Auckland, was born at Wanganui in 1862. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and served for several years in the Bank of New Zealand. In 1884 Mr. Butler went to Queensland, and joined the New Zealand Insurance Company at Brisbane, and served that company till 1891 in different parts of Australia and New Zealand. In that year he joined the Phoenix office in Wellington, under Mr. R. M. Simpson, and continued there till he took over the management at Auckland in 1897.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Royal Insurance Company
                
                (Auckland Branch, Mr. R. A. Lusher, local manager), 145 Queen Street, Auckland. Chief colonial office, Melbourne. This office has been represented in New Zealand since 1862.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Randall Alexander Lusher,
                Chief Agent of the Royal in Auckland, was born at Norfolk, England, in 1836. He was brought up as a tailor, and landed in Auckland in 1862. After four years of colonial experience, he joined the Telegraph Department, and was stationed in the country until 1868, when he was placed in charge of the Auckland office, and held the position till 1880, when he joined Mr. G. W. Jones, under the style of Jones and Lusher, as agents of the Royal Insurance Company. In 1885, Mr. Jones, having retired, Mr. Lusher became chief agent. He was married, in 1862, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Knight, of London, and sister to Sir Henry Knight, Lord Mayor of London, and has had three sons and two daughters. One of his sons, of the firm of Bowring and Lusher, was killed by an explosion on the reclamation at Auckland in 1895.

            

            

              
              


                
The Royal Exchange Assurance Corporation,
                which dates back to 1720, has its head office in New Zealand at Dunedin, where Mr W. A. Walton is attorney. The office for the provincial district of Auckland is at Halliday's Buildings, Shortland Street, and Mr. E. Wynn-Williams is district agent.

            

            

              
              


                
Sun Fire Office,
                established 1710. Mr. H. Rees George is district agent for Auckland; office, Fort Street.
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                  Commercial Union Assurance Company, Ltd.
                
                Agents, Messrs Graham and Walker, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
National Insurance Company Of New Zealand.
                Head Office, Custom House Square, Dunedin; Auckland branch, Queen Street. Manager, Mr. N. T. Williams. The head office of this company being in Dunedin, the extended description will appear in the Otago volume of the “Cyclopedia.” The Auckland offices are most centrally situated and well adapted to all necessary requirements. It may fairly be described as a popular office.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Norman T. Williams,
                the Manager, was born at the Bay of Islands, in 1864, and is a son of Mr. E. M. Williams, sometime a Judge in the Native Land Court. Mr. Williams joined the National Insurance Company in 1885, and was appointed to his present position in 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The New Zealand Insurance Company
                
                (Fire and Marine). The present directors of this Company are Dr. Logan Campbell (chairman); Messrs Thomas Buddle, A. G. Horton, A. H. Nathan, Robert Rose, James Russell, and J. L. Wilson; General Manager, Mr. David Craig. This company's paid-up capital and reserve amount to £435,000, and its headquarters are, and always have been, in Auckland. It was one of the first public companies floated in New Zealand by purely local enterprise, and has been a specially well directed and successful institution. The company was established in 1859, and is older by about two years than the Bank of New Zealand. Its promoters were all Auckland residents, and its first directors were the leading professional and mercantile men in the then young and rising capital of the colony. At a meeting held on the 31st of May, 1859, the following gentlemen formed themselves into the original shareholders of the New Zealand Insurance Company:—Messrs Thomas Henderson (chairman), Thomas Russell, David Graham, James Williamson, William Crush Daldy, Hugh Coolahan, Walter K. Graham, and Captain James Stone. The following resolution was passed:—“That we, the undersigned, do form ourselves into the New Zealand Insurance Company, of which the capital shall be £100,000, and do express our intention to take shares to the amount set against our names respectively.” The amount of the subscriptions ranged from £2000 to £5000, and £52,000 was at once paid up. The first risks were accepted on the 4th of June, 1859, and the first report was submitted to shareholders on the 31st of May, 1860. The directors, amongst other things, said that “At the commencement of the year they thought that, with careful management, £2000 might be reached as the amount of the first year's income, but, including interest, more than twice that sum had been raised.” Step by step the company worked its way outwards, and it has now planted itself strongly throughout Australasia and in London, America, Africa, Ceylon, India, China and Japan, and at many of these centres it is represented by officers, natives of New Zealand, specially trained in its service. As stated, the capital of the company was at first £100,000; but in 1861 it was increased to £250,000, and again in 1874, when the business had greatly expanded, it was subscribed up to £1,000,000, at which it still stands with £200,000 paid up and reserved, and reinsurance funds amounting to £235,000. As regards paid-up capital and reserves, as well as annual revenue, the company is far ahead of any other New Zealand or Australian Company, and, as evidence of its steady progress the following net premiums for certain years are given:—

              

	
                  
1860, £3766.

                

	
                  
1865, £45,241.

                

	
                  
1875, £145,035.

                

	
                  
1885, £219,214.

                

	
                  
1895, £267,916.

                

	
                  
1898, £311,000.

                


              
The company has paid close upon £4,000,000 in losses, and three-quarters of a million in dividends. Shortly after the



company commenced operations its chief executive officer, Mr. Hansard, resigned and left the Colony. He was succeeded in 1860 by Mr. George Patrick Pierce, who occupied the general manager's chair until his death in 1891. Mr. Warwick Weston, who had been branch inspector for many years, succeeded Mr. Pierce. On Mr. Weston's death in 1895 the Board conferred the appointment on Mr. David Craig, who still occupies the position.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. David Craig
                
                joined the service of the company in 1867, and had been for many years its representative in Canterbury. He is a shrewd business man, and thoroughly acquainted with every detail of insurance work. Under his able administration the company has every prospect of continuing its successful career. Mr. Craig was born in Fifeshire, Scotland. When a youth he served articles to Mr. John Monteath Douglas, solicitor, Cupar-Fife. He was afterwards in the office of a leading writer to the Signet in Edinburgh, and also attended the law classes of the University—a training which has been specially useful to him through life. During Mr. Craig's long residence in Canterbury he filled many public offices. He was for a long period treasurer of the Canterbury Agricultural and Pastoral Association and a City Sinking Fund Commissioner. At one time he was also a keen volunteer, and was long captain of the E Battery of Artillery. On his promotion to the general managership of the New Zealand Insurance Company, Mr. Craig had to remove to Auckland, whither he carried with him many tokens of the high esteem in which he had been held by the community of Canterbury.
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Mr. George Nelson Pierce,
                Manager in Auckland for the New Zealand Insurance Company, is the eldest son of the late Mr. George Patrick Pierce, the first general manager of the company, whose life was spent mainly in its service. Mr. Pierce was born in Auckland in 1859, and educated chiefly at the Parnell Grammar School, and entered the service of the New Zealand Insurance Company in 1873 at the head office, Auckland. After being in Wellington, he was appointed manager at Oamaru, and subsequently at Perth, West Australia. In 1890, Mr. Pierce was appointed manager at Napier, whence he was transferred to his present position at Auckland in May, 1900.
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Mr. Thomas James Brassey,
                formerly Auckland Manager of the New Zealand Insurance Company, has had a long connection with mercantile and insurance offices at the Northern Capital, and stands deservedly high in public estimation. Educated at the Auckland High School under Mr. Farquhar McRae, he entered the countinghouse of Messrs. Bucholz and Co., general merchants, and was subsequently in the employ of Mr. Morton Jones. In 1875 Mr. Brassey joined the staff of the Auckland branch of the company, with which he has since maintained such honourable connection. In 1882 he was appointed to the management of the Napier branch, remaining till 1890, when he received his present position of manager at Auckland. From the time of Mr. G. P. Pierce's death in 1891, till January, 1896, Mr. Brassey was, with but few slight intervals, continuously in the head office in the capacity of acting general manager. Besides his duties in connection with the New Zealand Insurance Company, he for several years undertook the management of the New Zealand and River Plate Land Mortgage Company at Napier, and, from January, 1890, to May, 1891, was secretary to that company at Auckland. The more onerous duties cast upon him, however, through the death of the late general manager of the New Zealand Insurance Company, Mr. G. P. Pierce, compelled him to resign the secretaryship. Mr. Brassey now resides in England as manager of the London branch of the New Zealand Insurance Company. In 1883 Mr. Brassey married Miss Russell, daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Russell.
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                  North Queensland Insurance Company, Ltd.
                
                Head office, corner of Pitt and Bridge Streets, Sydney. Chief Office for New Zealand, Hobson's Buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. Auckland Agent, with management of North Island business, Mr. W. J. Ronayne. The North Queensland Insurance Company has been doing business in Auckland for several years, and the offices are centrally situated.

            

            

              
              


                

                  South British Fire And Marine Insurance Company
                
                (James Kirker, general manager; A. S. Russell, local manager). Head office, 90 Queen Street, Auckland. This company has a capital of £1,900,000, with reserve and accumulated funds exceeding £230,000. The handsome building in which it carries on its business is one of the features of the city's architecture. The South British itself is a purely local institution, and might be cited as an example of the enterprise and commercial possibilities of Auckland. At the same time, its success is in a large measure due to the ability, judgment, and energy of Mr. James Kirker, the general manager.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Kirker,
                General Manager of the South British Fire and Marine Insurance Company of New Zealand, is the son of Mr. James Kirker, draper, of Belfast, where he was born in 1857. He accompanied his parents to Australia in 1863 in the ship “Merchant Prince,” and, the family coming to Wellington a year later, he was educated in that city. Mr. Kirker joined the Telegraph Department, but, after six years' service,



servered his connection with the department to join the South British. For some time he was in charge of the Te Aro branch, Wellington, and was subsequently appointed manager at Napier. Two years later he was sent to Adelalde to take charge of the South and West Australian branches. There Mr. Kirker negotiated the purchase of the businesses of the Commercial Marine and Adelaide Fire and Marine Insurance Companies. In 1888 he was appointed inspector of branches throughout the company's territory, and two years later this rapid promotion culminated in his appointment to the general managership of the company, which position he fills with conspicuous ability. Mr. Kirker is a member of the Northern and Auckland Clubs, and takes great interest in bowling, being a prominent member of the Auckland and Ponsonby Bowling Clubs. In 1883 Mr. Kirker was married to the eldest daughter of Mr. Lockie, retired builder, of Wellington. Of their six children, two girls and three boys survive.
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Mr. Alexander Stuart Russell,
                Local Manager in Auckland of the South British Insurance Company, has had an extensive commercial experience, and is very well and favourably known in the insurance world. He was born in Glasgow, Scotland, on the 7th of January, 1842, and is a son of Mr. Alexander Russell, of that city. He was educated at the Glasgow Free Normal Seminary, and in 1856 was apprenticed to Messrs Rutherford Brothers, soft goods warenousemen. In M
[
unclear: arch] 1859, he arrived in Auckland, per ship “Excelsior,” and for the ensuing ten years he was employed by Messrs Gilfillan and Co., and rose to the position of chief saleman. He then accepted the management of the business of Messrs Must and Co., of which the late Mr. J. M. Dargaville was the resident partner, and with whom Mr. Russell maintained, to the last, the most friendly relations. For some time Mr. Russell resided in Wellington, where for a period of four years he held the position of accountant to Messrs Jacob Joseph and Co. He then returned to Auckland, and accepted the management of the Standard Insurance Company. Mr. Russell held that appointment for two years, and then for the purpose of gaining useful information in connection with the timber industry he filled the position of accountant to the Auckland Timber Company. At the end of four years he returned to the management of the “Standard,” which he retained till the 12th of February, 1887, when he accepted his present appointment. As a Mason Mr. Russell is one of the most prominent officers in the Colony. He was initiated into Lodge Ara No. 348 I.C., in July, 1865, and a third of a century ago he filled the office of worshipful master, and was re-elected. In the Provincial Grand Lodge under the grand mastership of the late Mr. G. P. Pierce, Mr. Russell held office as grand senior deacon, grand registrar, grand treasurer, and for several years as grand senior warden. On the inception of the Grand Lodge of New Zealand, Mr. Russell was offered and accepted the first deputy grand mastership of the Colony. In addition to being one of the founders of Lodge Ara, N.Z.C., Mr. Russell is also a member of Lodge Ponsonby, No. 54 N.Z.C., and he was in 1897, by way of compliment, elected an honorary member of his old Lodge Ara 348 I.C. In 1894 Mr. Russell went to Scotland to undergo an operation for the improvement of his sight. The operation was eminently successful, and one of the results was a marked improvement in his general health. Mr. Russell was married in 1871 to Miss Olive Morris, daughter of Mr. James Morris, of Ponsonby, and has four daughters and three sons; the eldest son being in the employment of the Waihi Gold Mining Company.
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Mr. Alfred Charles Woolcott.
                Accountant at the head office of the South British Insurance Company, was born in Devonshire, England, in 1860. He was brought by his parents to Auckland in February of the following year by the ship “Zealandia,” and received his early education



at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell. In 1876, Mr. Woolcott joined the staff of the Bank of New South Wales in Auckland, and served in various positions during the succeeding five years. He entered the service of the South British Insurance Company in 1882 Six years later he was promoted to the position of assistant acecuntant, and has held the office of accountant since 1890. Mr. Woolcott was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr. E. M. C. Harrison, of Northcote.
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Standard Fire And Marine Insurance Company Of New Zealand,
                Queen Street, Auckland. Branch manager, Mr. George Johnston. This company occupies offices on the east side of Queen Street, near the corner of Fort Street. Its head office is in Dunedin.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Johnston,
                Manager at Auckland of the Standard Fire and Marine Insurance Company, has held high positions in the insurance world of the Northern Capital for over a quarter of a century, and for a considerable period previously was well known in commercial circles. Mr. Johnston was born in 1837 in Armagh, ireland, his father, the late Mr. Thomas Johnston, coming of a very old family. Educated at the Agricultural Model School, he entered the countinghouse of Messrs. Dunbar. McMaster and Co., spinning manufacturers, of Gilford, County Down, where he remained some eight years. On attaining his majority, Mr. Johnston sailed for Auckland per ship “Mary Ann” in 1858, securing employment with Messrs. Connell and Ridings, auctioneers. In 1863 he became accountant to Mr. S. Jones, whom he left after nine years, to assume the position of accountant and local manager of the South British Insurance Company. This was at the time of the company's Inauguration. Mr. Boardman retiring from the office of general manager in 1880, Mr. Johnston was appointed in his stead. During his ten years' occupaucy of the general managership, the business of the company was very nearly trebled, Immediately on his retirement from the South British Company in 1890, Mr. Johnston was offered and accepted his present position. He at once threw all his energies and influence into the business of the company, resulting in a large increase in the number and value of policies. During his residence in Auckland of nearly forty years, during the whole of which time he has been actively and prominently engaged in insurance and mercantile pursuits, Mr. Johnston has made many friends and a very large circle of acquaintances. At the time when Volunteering meant something serious, he was away at the “front”—represented in those days by Papakura and Drury—and for seven years was connected with the Volunteer Rifle Corps. As a Mason, he has held the office of senior warden of Lodge Ara, No. 348, I.C. He was for some time a deacon of the Beresford Street Congregational Church. In 1863 Mr. Johnston was married to a daughter of the late Mr. E. J. Matthews, builder and contractor, of Auckland, and has two sons and three daughters.
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                  The United Insurance Company, Ltd.
                
                (Fire and Marine; A. E. Dean, district secretary), Customs Street West, Auckland. Head office for New Zealand, corner of Featherston and Hunter Streets, Wellington. This company has been represented in Auckland since about 1880.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alfred Elliott Dean,
                District Secretary at Auckland for the United Fire Office, was born in 1864 at Newcastle, New South Wales. He was educated at St. Paul's School, Wellington, and at the Southland High School, Invercargill, and commenced his business career as a member of the staff of Messrs W. and G. Turnbull and Co., Wellington, with whom he continued for many years. The firm acted as agents for the United and also for the Guardian Insurance Company, and Mr. Dean gained his experience of insurance matters in connection with these agencies. In 1891, when the United Insurance Company opened a branch in the colony, he became accountant to the company, and held the position till early in 1899, when he was appointed district secretary at Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Victoria Fire And Marine Insurance Company.
                The Auckland offices of this company are situated at 91 Queen Street, and Mr. John Bowden is the general manager.
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British And Foreign Marine Insurance Company,
                Limited. Agents, Messrs Macky and Heather, Commerce Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Canton Insurance Company,
                Limited. Agents, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, merchants, Fort Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  China Traders' Insurance Company, Ltd.
                
                (Marine). Agents, Messrs L. D. Nathan and Co., general merchants, Shortland Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
The Marine Insurance Company,
                Limited; office for Auckland provincial district, Hobson's Buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. J. Hugo Harrop, agent. Head office, London. This company has been represented in Auckland since 1894.

            

            

              
              


                
The Ocean Accident And Guarantee Corporation,
                Limited, of London, was founded in 1871. Business was established in New Zealand at Wellington in June, 1899, and in the same month the Auckland branch was opened. The local office is situated at 14 Shortland Street, and Mr. A. P. Friend is district manager.

            

            

              
              


                
Straits Marine Insurance Company,
                Limited. Agents, Messrs John Reid and Co., merchants, Fort Street, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Thames And Mersey Marine Insurance Company.
                Head office for New Zealand, Grey Street, Wellington; Messrs Levin and Co., Ltd., general agents. Auckland office, Fort Street; J. A. Barber and Co., agents.
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Australian Mutual Provident Society.
                Auckland Branch, A.M.P. Buildings, corner of Queen and Victoria Streets, Auckland. Head office for New Zealand, Customs and Hunter Streets, Wellington. This branch was established in January, 1884, and the building (formerly Hoffmann's) was purchased by the society in 1883, and was altered for the accommodation of the business. It is of three stories, of brick and cement; the ground floor is used for the branch offices, and the upper flats are let to tenants.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Clement William Hemery,
                District Secretary for Auckland, is one of the oldest officers of the society. He was born in the Island of Jersey, in 1847, and began



his business life in Liverpool. Mr. Hemery came to Melbourne in 1868, and four years later entered the society's employment in that city, where he held the office of cashier at the Victorian branch till 1883, when he was transferred to Auckland as agency clerk. Mr. Hemery succeeded the late Mr. D. J. McLeod as district secretary in 1888. He has (1901) been treasurer of the Young Men's Christian Association in Auckland for the last eight years.

            

            

              
              


                
Australian Widows' Fund Life Assurance Society,
                Limited. Head office, Melbourne; head office for New Zealand, 6 Custom House Quay, Wellington; Auckland branch office, 105 Victoria Arcade, Queen Street. Capital, £1,500,000; annual income, £240,000. This society was founded in 1871. Mr. A. E. D'Arcy, the secretary, was formerly superintendent in the Auckland district for the Mutual Life Association.

            

            

              
              


                
Citizens' Life Assurance Company,
                Limited. Head offices, 21, 23, 25 Citizens' Buildings, Castlereagh and Moore Streets, Sydney; chief office in New Zealand, Custom House Quay, Wellington; Auckland branch office, 192 Queen Street. Mr. Odard H. Taplin is the District Superintendent for Auckland, and the resident secretary is Mr. J. Frankis Lane. An account of the company is given on page 529 of the Wellington volume of this work.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Odard Hoult Taplin,
                District Superintendent at Auckland for the Citizens' Life Assurance Company, Limited, was born in Westbury-sub-Mendip, Somersetshire, England, in 1870, and is a son of Mr. T. K. Taplin, a West of England gentleman. Mr. Taplin was educated by private tuition, and left England in 1890 for Sydney, where he at once joined the Citizens' Assurance Company as an agent. In the beginning of 1896 he was appointed district manager of the Auckland branch, and subsequently became superintendent. Prior to leaving England, Mr. Taplin was a member of the Second Battalion, Prince Albert Somersetshire Light Infantry, and in the matter of sport he devotes himself to shooting, cricket, football, and cycling.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Colonial Mutual Life Assurance Company;
                
                Auckland branch, Colonial Mutual Buildings, corner of Queen and Fort Streets, Auckland; head office, Melbourne; chief office for New Zealand, Wellington. Local director, Mr. Seymour Thorne George; local secretary, Mr. F. T. Ward. The district controlled from the Auckland office includes the provincial districts of Auckland and Taranaki, and extends as far south as Wanganui in the Wellington provincial district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederic Thomas Ward,
                Local Secretary to the Colonial Mutual Life Office in Auckland, was born in 1864, in Tasmania, and was educated at the Hobart High School. He came to Dunedin in 1881, when he joined the staff of the National Mutual Life Office, and three years later became accountant to the Equitable Life of New Zealand. In 1887 Mr. Ward joined the Colonial Mutual in Wellington, and shortly afterwards was placed in charge of the Auckland office. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of the late Mr John Kissling, of Auckland, and has one son and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                
Equitable Life Assurance Company Of New York,
                United States of America. This company's head office in New Zealand is at Wellington, and it has branches all over the Australasian Colonies. The director resident in Wellington is Mr. H. D. Bell, the well-known barrister and solicitor, and the general manager in Australasia is Mr. C. Carlisle Taylor. Mr. Percy M. Thomson is inspector of agencies in New Zealand, and the district manager in Auckland is Mr J. R. M. Stewart. The company is considered to be financially one of the stronest in the world. It has a capital of £58,373,185; a surplus of £12,711,975; and the assurances in force amount to £219,670,088.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. J. R. M. Stewart,
                the popular Auckland Manager of the Equitable Life Assurance Company of New York, is a son of Mr. George Vesey Stewart, of Katikati, and was born at Lisbeg House, Ballygawley, County Tyrone, Ireland, in the year 1862. He received his early education at Coventry, England; came with his father to New Zealand in 1874, and finished his education in Auckland. For about nine years he was in commercial life, and in 1888 he joined the office of the A.M.P. Society, in which he attained the high position of chief agent. In the year 1900 he was appointed district manager in Auckland of the Equitable Life Assurance Company, which has in him an officer who is considered one of the most successful life insurance experts in the colony.

              

                

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. J. R. M. Stewart.]

Hanna, photo.

Mr. J. R. M. Stewart.


              

            

            

              
              


                
New Zealand Government Life Insurance Department.
                Head office, Custom House Quay, Wellington; Auckland branch office, 105 Queen Street. The department is described on page 533 of the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia, and Mr. W. J. Speight, the district manager for Auckland, is referred to on pages 
108–109 of the present volume.

            

            

              
              


                
Mutual Life Association Of Australasia.
                Head office for New Zealand, Wellington. Auckland office, Mutual Life Buildings, lower Queen Street. This Association is fully described in the Wellington volume of the “Cyclopedia.” The Auckland offices are handsome and commodious and were formerly the head office for the Colony.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Lambert,
               
 District Secretary for Auckland of the Mutual Life Association, is a colonist of long standing and extensive commercial experience. Born at Islington, London, in 1847, he sailed for Sydney with his parents in 1852, per ship “Francis Walker.” His father, the late Mr. W. Lambert, established himself in that city in the business of a general printer, but some three years later came to Auckland, finally settling in Dunedin in 1856, and founding the “Otago Colonist” newspaper. The subject of this notice was educated at Christ's College and Grammar School, Christ-church, and at the Dunedin High School. His first business experience was gained in the wholesale house of Messrs. W. Watson and Sons, of Dunedin, where he remained ten years. After a similar term in Messrs. Sargood's Dunedin house, Mr. Lambert removed to Melbourne, and was appointed cashier in a large building society. A year later, in 1886, he accepted the position of manager for New Zealand of the New York Life Insurance Company, and conducted the company's business until the New Zealand branch was closed in 1894. Mr. Lambert then went into business in Wellington as manufacturer's agent and indenter, subsequently accepting his present position. A large increase in the association's business in Auckland has been developed since his advent. His experience


[image: Mr. W. Lambert.]

Mr. 
W. Lambert.





in connection with the New York Life Insurance Company is of great value, whilst his long residence in the Colony necessarily gives him a large personal influence. For over twenty years he took an active part in the Volunteer movement, and for some seven or eight years was captain of the Dunedin Artillery Corps—one of the finest in the Colony. In Wellington, Mr. Lambert was secretary and treasurer of the City Bowling Club and the Northern Bowling Association, and latterly of the Thorndon Club.

            

            

              
              


                
National Mutual Life Association Of Australasia,
                Limited. This company's head office for New Zealand is in Wellington, and the Auckland branch office is situated at the corner of Queen and Swanson Streets. A detailed article on the company appears at pages 539 and 540 of the Wellington volume of this work. Mr. J. B. Gou'd is the company's district manager at Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Baring Gould,
                District Manager at Auckland for the National Mutual Life Association, was formerly stationmaster at the Wellington station of the Wellington and Manawatu Railway Company, and is referred to in that capacity at page 353 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.

            

            

              
              


                
The Provident And Industrial Insurance Company Of New Zealand;
                head office, Dunedin; Auckland branch (Mr. W. H. Churton, manager), 28 Shortland Street.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Henry Churton,
                who is a Fellow of the Society of Auditors of England, has represented the Provident and Industrial Company in Auckland since 1893.

            

            

              
              


                

                  New Zealand Accident Insurance Company
                
                (P. A. Edmiston, general manager), Auckland. Board of Directors for 1900: Messrs Thomas Buddle (chairman), C. B. Stone, F. Battley, W. S. Wilson, R. C, Carr, and J. L. Wilson. The New Zealand Accident Insurance Company was established towards the end of the year 1879. The late Mr. W. A. Thomson, then well-known in life assurance circles, was the promoter and first general manager, and the Board of Directors was composed of six leading city men of the time; namely, David Boosie Cruickshank, who remained chairman of the company until his death in May, 1895, G. B. Owen, C. J. Stone, B. Tonks, Thomas Buddle, and J. L. Wilson. As the pioneer of accident insurance in the Australasian colonies, the institution had many difficulties to contend with in its early days, but steady progress was made, and now in its twenty-second year (1901) it ranks financially as one of the strongest institutions of its size in the colonies. The head office is in Auckland, but the company's operations extend through Australasia, and there are branches and agencies in each colony. Besides general accident, the business of the company embraces sickness insurance, employers' liability and indemnity, public risk, coupon insurance, burglary and theft, Plate glass insurance, and fidelity guarantee. The subscribed capital is £20,000, of which £10,000 is paid up, the liability of shareholders being unlimited. Steady dividends have been paid from its incorporation. On the 30th of June, 1900, its reserve funds stood at £60,000, and the total assets at the same date amounted to £85,900, of which seventy-five per cent. was invested in colonial Government securities. From its establishment in 1879 the company had, up to the 30th of June, 1900, returned to insurers upwards of £200,000 in the shape of bonuses to policy-holders, and the payment of 25,000 claims. These figures are by far the largest in the annals of colonial accident insurance, and a record for this side of the Equator.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Philip Augustus Edmiston,
                the General Manager, was born in Kent England, but arrived at Auckland with his parents at a very early age, in the ship “Mary Anne,” Captain Ashby. He was educated at the Auckland Collegiate Grammar School and at Christ's College, Canterbury. For many years he was connected with auctioneering in Auckland and the South Island, and Joined the company as accountant on its inception. In June, 1884, on the retirement of the late Mr. W. A. Thomson, Mr. Edmiston was appointed general manager, and the records of the company show with what ability and success he has filled the position.
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New Zealand Plate Glass Insurance Company, Ltd.,
                Mercantile Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland. Head office, Dunedin. Agent, Mr. J. T. W. Stevenson.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Fire Underwriters' Association.
                Office, 111 Victoria Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland; Mr. H. Goulstone, secretary.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Marine Underwriters' Association,
                which was reformed in May, 1900, was previously in operation for many years. Committee for 1900: Messrs J. Bowden (chairman), A. S. Russell, A. E. Dean, B. Burt, and C. E. Palmer (honorary secretary).
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Municipal, Professional, Commercial and Trade Societies.

          

            
Many organised bodies which have not the public interest professedly in view, yet subserve that interest because those they exist to promote have a beneficial bearing upon it. This is the case with many trade and other societies, whose object is the maintenance of justice or efficiency amongst their members and within the sphere of the trades, employments or functions they represent, and hence it is right that such bodies should find a place in this Cyclopedia. In furtherance of this view, this section has been prepared, and made as complete as possible in the matter of information bearing upon the objects of the various societies.

          

          

            
            


              

                New Zealand Accountants' and Auditors' Association
              
              (Registered), 42, Queen Street (Alex, Aitken, Ltd.), Auckland. Officers: Mr. Alex, Stuart Russell, president; Mr. J. Henry Mackie, registrar.

          

          

            
            


              
The New Zealand Railway Officers' Institute,
              Auckland Branch. The objects of the Institute are to promote the general welfare of its members by any means not inconsistent with the Railway Regulations; to foster a feeling of unity and good fellowship; and to take, on any other matter such action as the Executive Council may consider advisable. The Auckland branch was founded in November, 1894. Mr. F. W. Styles is chairman, and Mr. L. C. E. Hamann, secretary.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Auckland Institute Of Architects
              
              was founded in 1880 for the purpose of advancing the best interests of the profession. The members of the institute must be architects by profession. The entrance fee is £2 2s, and the annual suoscription £1 1s. Mr. R. W. Keals is president; Mr. E. Bartley, vice-president; Mr. H. Wade, secretary; and Mr. T. Mahoney, treasurer. The council consists of the officers and Messrs E. Bell, R. M. Watt, and C. Arnold.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Auckland Chamber Of Commerce
              
              was established in the year 1871, and the first president, Mr. G. Von der Hyde, retained the position till 1874. The history of New Zealand Chambers of Commerce has not been of the happiest description, and in this respect that of the Auckland Chamber is not an exception to the rule. Active at its ininuation, it remained so for a few years, and then gradually sank lower and lower until its usefulness was very limited. In 1894 a determined effort was made to revive the Chamber, and since then it has continued to assert itself, and is now fulfilling all the functions of such institutions. It sent delegates to the Congress of Chambers of Commerce of the Empire, held in London, and to the Conference held in Philadelphia during 1899. The delegates sent to the London Congress held in June, 1900, were Messrs C. C. McMillan, A. M. Myers, and C. C. Brown-Douglas. The Chamber, under its president, Mr. B. Kent, initiated the Auckland Industrial and Mining Exhibition of 1897–98. The success of the exhibition resulted in a handsome surplus, which fell to the Chamber, by an arrangement made at the time of its inception. The Chamber at present carries on its official work in Victoria Arcade, and its full Chamber meetings in larger hired halls—a very unsatisfactory state of affairs, which the present Council is endeavouring to remedy by obtaining a freehold building or other suitable place of meeting. The Chamber is non-political, and gives its entire attention to the requirements called for in true keeping with its name. The following gentlemen have been its presidents: G. Von der Hyde, 1871–74; J. L. Campbell, 1875; A. Heather, 1877; J. C. Firth, 1878; J. M. Clark, 1879; T. Morrin, 1880; C. C. McMillan, 1881; J. L. Campbell, 1882; L. D. Nathan, 1883; John Reid, 1884; G. Aickin, 1885; J. Lamb, 1886; A. H. Nathan, 1887; J. Buchanan, 1888; W. H. Colbeck, 1889–1890; A. Porter, 1891–1893; A. H. Nathan, 1894; M. A. Clark, 1895; B. Kent, 1896–1897; John Burns, 1898–1899; Samuel Vaile, 1900–1901.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Samuel Vaile,
             
 the present President of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, is the second son of the late Mr. George Vaile, who, with his family, arrived in Auckland on the 23rd of December, 1843, in the barque “Bangalore,” the vessel that brought the second Governor, Captain Robert Fitzroy, R.N., to the colony. Like all the early settlers, Mr. Vaile in his boyhood, and early manhood, shared the hardships of life in a new settlement. In his youth he studied architecture under his father, but, in 1850, not seeing any opening in that profession, he decided to go to California, and accordingly left Auckland in the barque “Noble,” in February of that year. On the 23rd of March they made Pitcairn Island, and with the captain, supercargo and four fellow passengers, Mr. Vaile went ashore. The captain gave the five passengers leave to remain ashore for the night, and, with the supercargo, he returned to the ship. In the night he sailed away, leaving the five passengers ashore, with just the clothes they stood in. Eight weeks later Mr. Vaile landed in Honolulu with a threepenny piece (which he still retains) in his pocket, and not a whole suit of clothes. That was his start in life. He remained in Honolulu for nearly two years, made some money, and returned to Auckland, where he and a younger brother, the late Mr J. R. Vaile, established the well-known business carried on under the style of S. and J. R. Vaile. This business rapidly prospered, and in 1861 Mr. Vaile left Auckland to buy in the English and Continental markets for his firm. He remained in England till the end of 1869, when he returned to Auckland. While in the Old Country, Mr Vaile was elected a member of some of the leading scientific societies, and devoted a good deal of time to working among the poor, and studying the poverty problem. In 1876 the partnership was dissolved, and Mr. Vaile started the land and estate agency business, which is now carried on by the widely-known firm of Samuel Vaile and Sons. Mr. Vaile is well-known as a writer on such topics as co-operation, federation, finance, general politics, and especially railway management, and on single tax, which he denounces as “the propaganda of deception, fraud, and robbery.” In 1882 he invented the stage system of railway administration, an adaptation of which, under the name of the zone system, was put in force in Hungary in 1889, with marked success; and in 1894, Russia followed. In
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1886 a Parliamentary Committee was set up to investigate this matter. Mr. Vaile attended, and conducted his own case. This enquiry lasted for ten weeks, when the Committee reported that the stage system ought to be tried. (Parliamentary paper 1—9 1886.) Mr. Vaile has worked at it ever since, but the Government still refuse a trial. In 1887 Mr. Vaile contested the seat for Auckland North, Mr. Thomas Thompson being his opponent. Mr. Vaile was declared to have lost the election by thirty-five votes, thirty-six having been thrown out as informal. In 1893 Mr. Vaile again offered himself for one of the city seats, but owing to Sir George Grey afterwards coming out also for the city, he did not seriously enter into the contest. In 1896, at fourteen days' notice, Mr. Vaile, under considerable pressure, undertook to contest the Parnell seat, against the sitting member, Mr. F. Lawry, and Mr. Arthur Withy, the Prohibition candidate, but Mr. Vaile was again defeated. At the earnest request of a number of citizens, Mr. Vaile, much against his will, was again induced to contest one of the city seats in 1899. A committee undertook to do all the work, and pay all the expense, but again he had only fourteen days to work in, and, as he expected, lost the seat. In 1893 the citizens of New Zealand presented Mr. Vaile with a very handsome silver salver and tea and coffee service, and also a fire-proof safe to keep the records of his public work in. Sir George Grey made the presentation, and, with the other speakers, very warmly eulogised Mr. Vaile for the energy, ability, and patriotism he had displayed in carrying on his public work under many difficulties and much discouragement.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Henry Goulstone
              
              is Secretary of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, of the Auckland Fire Underwriters' Association, and of the Mackelvie Trust, in addition to being a public accountant and auditor and F.I.A., New Zealand. He was born near Bristol, was educated at private schools, and commenced a business career with a general merchant in that city. Mr. Goulstone came out to the colonies in 1857–8, and remained in business on the Darling Downs, Queensland, for about three years. Having to quit that locality on account of his health, he joined the Bank of New South Wales in Sydney, and, after a few months, was removed to New Zealand, where he became well known as a banker. After about fifteen years of service, he resigned from the Bank, and again entered into mercantile pursuits; and ultimately joined the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company as its colonial accountant. Mr. Goulstone's commercial and financial training has been very beneficial in connection with his present appointments and positions.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Auckland Employers' Association
              
              was formed in 1890 during the strike, and it did much useful work, in conjunction with other similar associations throughout the colony, in influencing labour legislation and preventing trade disputes. Mr. F. G. Ewington, who has been the secretary ever since the formation of the Association, for three years acted in an honorary capacity, and Mr. Graves Aickin is president. Several of the principal merchants of Auckland have successively held the office of president.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. F. G. Ewington
              
              arrived in New Zealand in 1862, by the ship “Indian Empire.” He went to Taranaki in 1863, when the Maori war broke out, and joined Colonel Nixon's mounted colonial defence force. Afterwards he went to Waikato, and was in the fight at Rangiriri. In 1866 he commenced business in Auckland as a land agent, and is still in that pursuit. Mr. Ewington is official visitor to the lunatic asylum; honorary secretary to the Benevolent Society; member of the Chamber of Commerce, Prisoners' Aid Society, and several literary societies.
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                The Auckland Pharmaceutical Association
              
              was founded in 1887 to advance the best and most lasting interests of chemists and druggists. None but persons who are duly registered are admitted to membership. Mr. T. Crawford is president. Mr. A. G. Kenderdine, secretary, and Mr. W. Sharland, treasurer; and these gentlemen constitute the committee, together with Messrs G. Aickin and H. King.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Auckland Provincial Industrial Association
              
              was established in May, 1899. It is incorporated under “The Industrial Societies Act, 1883,” and affiliated with the Industrial Corporation of New Zealand. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Officers: Mr. Matthew A. Clark, president, Mr. George Fraser, vice-president; Messrs Graves Aickin, Arthur C. Atkin, Alfred Bevins, George C. Garlick, Samuel M. Green, Richard Hellaby, J. L. Holland, W. E. Hutchison, W. B. Layland, J. Henry Mackie, G. H. Powley, J. McCoskrie, C. Ranson, Richard Warnock, John Wiseman, Arthur C. Whitney, committee; Mr. W. J. W. Philson, honorary treasurer; Mr. J. Henry Mackie, 42 Queen Street (Alex. Aitken, Ltd.), Auckland, secretary.

          

          

            
Trade Societies.

            

              
              


                
The Amalgamated Society Of Carpenters And Joiners,
                Auckland Branch, No. 623. This society, the head office of which in Australasia is in Sydney, New South Wales, and its head centre in Manchester, England, was founded in 1840, for the purpose of procuring, and, where possible, advancing, the best interests of the trades. The entrance fee for members is 7s 6d, and then a contribution of 1s per week. Should a contributing member suffer any loss of tools through fire, theft, or accident, he is entitled to claim the full value thereof from the society, and a carpenter or joiner who remains a member for twenty-five years is entitled to 8s per week for the remainder of his life. If a member of the association meets with an accident which partially incapacitales him, he receives £50; whilst total disablement entitles him to £100. The membership of the whole amalgamated society is now 350,000. Mr. A. Rosser is president; Mr. T. Tudehope, treasurer; and Mr. S. Tyson, secretary of the Auckland branch.

            

            

              
              


                
The Amalgamated Society Of Railway Servants Of New Zealand,
                Auckland Branch. The objects of this society are to protect railway employees, to encourage mutual help, and to make the service more efficient. Mr. F. J. Pope is chairman, and Mr. Warren secretary of the Auckland branch.

            

            

              
              


                
Australasian Institute Of Marine Engineers,
                Auckland Branch. This branch was established in 1881 for the purpose of watching over and securing for its members the advancement of their interests. Officers: Mr. J. McIntyre, president and treasurer; Mr. S. D. Hanna, sacretary. There is also a committee of five.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Dawson Hanna,
                Secretary of the Australasian Institute of Marine Engineers, and formerly Manager of the Auckland Freezing Company, has had an eventful career. He was born in the north of Ireland. His father, under medical advice decided to emigrate to New Zealand in quest of health. He arrived in 1865, but died a few years afterwards, leaving his wife and young family to mourn his death. Mr S. D. Hanna was the second son. He was partly educated in Ireland, but finished in Auckland, under the Rev. W. Taylor, at the Auckland College. After an apprenticeship with Messrs M. and G. Lukey, engine smiths, he went to Messrs Masefield and Co.'s foundry to finish his articles and gain further experience in his profession. He also studied mechanical drawing for three years at the Mechanics' Institute under Mr. W. Humphries, and gained a first prize. In order to still further qualify himself, Mr. Hanna in 1876 secured the position of third engineer on the New Zealand Steamship Company's s.s. “Phoebe,” and remained there for about a year, when he transferred to the Auckland Steam Packet Company's s.s. “Southern Cross” as second engineer. On



leaving the sea, Mr. Hanna accepted the position of chief engineer at the Auckland Waterworks Pumping Station at the Western Springs. He held this position for about seven years, when he resigned and entered the service of the Auckland Freezing Company as chief engineer at the Waitara branch. A year later, however, he was appointed to the corresponding position at the Auckland works, and for several years he occupied the difficult dual position of chief engineer and general manager of the company. The greatest credit is due to Mr. Hanna for the admirable way in which he qualified himself for the onerous position he filled, and his popularity throughout the district is deservedly great. He is chairman of the Ponsonby regatta committee, a proverbially successful association, the committee of which, through Mr. Thomas Peacock, presented him with a beautiful illuminated address in recognition of his efforts on behalf of the regatta. Mr. Hanna is also secretary of the local branch of the Institute of Marine Engineers, and was elected to represent them in conference with steam shipowners in Melbourne in 1893. On his return to Auckland he was presented with a very handsome silver tea and coffee service. He is a member of the Auckland Regatta Committee and was captain of the West End Rowing Club. In Masonry Mr. Hanna holds the rank of Past Grand Senior Warden, and was a member of the Board of General Purposes for several years, besides being a Past Master of the Ara Lodge 348 I.C., and twice filling the office of Worshipful Master in Ara No. 1 N.Z.C. In 1877 Mr. Hanna was married to Miss Annie Horne daughter of the late Mr. Adam Horne, of Auckland, and niece of the late Mr. R. Graham for many years Superintendent of the Province. He is nephew of J. D. Crawford, M.D., of Liverpool, the Rev. Dr. Crawford, of Belfast, and the late Rev. Dr. Hugh Hanna, of the same place.
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Auckland Builders' and Contractors' Union of Employer's,
                303 Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Officers for 1901: Mr. J. Holland, president; Mr. S. I. Clarke, vice-president; Mr. R. A. Burgess, secretary; Mr. J. Ellingham, treasurer; Messrs Charles Blomfield, W. E. Hutchison, Edward Lye, John McColl, Alfred Pollard, George Rhodes, and Samuel' Clarke, committee. This union was founded in 1882, and reconstructed in 1891. Its membership consists of sixty firms. The objects of the association are to endeavour to raise the status of the building trade in Auckland by association and united representation to architects, merchants, and others; by correcting abuses and resisting injustice, whether from within or without the union; and, by means of a central office, to afford mutual help in the transaction of business, etc.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert Alfred Burgess,
                Secretary of the Auckland Builders' and Contractors' Union of Employers, has occupied the position since 1898. He was born and educated in London, and brought up to the building trade, at which he served his time with some of the leading contractors of the metropolis. Mr. Burgess came to New Zealand in 1875, and commenced business in Auckland as a surveyor. He afterwards became a building surveyor, and his large experience in the Old Country had been an excellent training for that class of work. Mr. Burgess is well-known amongst the builders of Auckland, and is popular with the members of the union.
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Mr. John Laird McColl,
                ex-President of the Auckland Builders' Association, was born in Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1840, and received his early training in that country. He acquired his business knowledge under his father, the late Mr. John McColl, a well-known Scotch railway contractor. In 1862 he came to New Zealand, and having landed at Invercargill, established himself in business as a builder and contractor. During the troublous times of the Waikato war, he came to Auckland and was engaged in constructing hospital buildings for the Government troops at Alexandra, Cambridge and Hamilton. He then returned to Auckland and continued in business as a contractor. Mr. McColl has erected some fine buildings in Auckland and its surrounding districts, including the Ellerslie grandstand and St. George's Church at the Thames, besides a number of schools and private residences in all parts of the provincial district. Like others of his profession, Mr. McColl visited Melbourne during the great “boom,” and for about four years was kept constantly employed in erecting a number of large and striking private houses in that city. In public affairs Mr. McColl has always taken a prominent part. For about seventeen years he has been a member of the Newmarket Borough Council, and he was chairman of the old Newmarket Road Board. He has held the position of chairman of the Newmarket school committee for a number of years, and has been senior warden of Lodge Remuera. For five years he held the office of president of the Auckland Builders' Association. Mr. McCoil holds office in connection with the Newmarket Bowling Club as well, and he has always, in every possible way, been willing to be of use to his fellow citizens. He takes a special interest in the Auckland technical school, as he himself was a pupil of the well-known Mr. R. Riddell, and he has a due appreciation of the benefits of technical education. Mr. McColl was the first in New Zealand to manufacture varnish from kauri gum, and as far back as 1870 he held, in connection with Mr. Atkinson of the Auckland gas-works, a patent for the process. He is also the inventor of an ingenious self-acting water pump, which can be employed for drodging harbours by the rise and fall of the tide in a harbour or river mouth.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Coastal Seamen's Union
                
                was founded in 1890, with the object of bringing together coastal seamen to discuss matters which would advance the best interests of their calling. The union has been in a state of abeyance for a number of years. Messrs Griffiths, Boonstra, and Kuntz are trustees, and Mr. A. Boonstra is secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Trades And Labour Council
                
                is a representative body of the trades in Auckland. Each trade sends one representative for every twenty members in its respective union. The Council meets every alternate Thursday in the Tailoresses' Hall, Cook Street. It was founded in 1872 for the purpose of guarding the best interests of trades and labour. Mr. S. Tyson is president of the council; Mr. T. Tudehope, secretary; and Mr. C. Chappell, treasurer. There is also a committee, the members of which are elected annually.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Auckland Master Iron-Workers
                
                and 
Farriers Association. Mr. John Patterson (president); Mr. Thomas Inglis



(vice-president): Messrs. John Quinn and W. Munro (trustees); S. H. Fairweather (treasurer); Henry Phillips (secretary). This association was formed on the 17th of May. 1890, its object being to get as many of those employed in the trade as possible to combine and fix a uniform charge for all ironwork, etc., turned out at the respective establishments of the members. A uniform rate of wage was paid to the employees who were thus placed on a much better footing than previously. The association petitioned the government upon one occasion and was successful in obtaining an increased tariff on imported and manufactured ironwork.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Phillips,
                Secretary of the Auckland Master Ironworkers and Farriers Association, was born at the Hutt, Wellington, in 1856 and is a son of Mr. Thomas Phillips, of Randolph Street. He was educated at St. Paul's church school, and was apprenticed to Mr. Leahy, Custom Street, for five years. At the expiration of his time he visited Sydney, returning to Auckland after several months absence and re-entered the service of his former employer. Mr. Phillips went into business on his own account a year later. He is the provincial corresponding secretary of the National Order of Oddfellows, and also secretary of the United Brothers' Lodge of the same order. Some years ago Mr. Phillips took an active interest in outdoor sports. He is an officer of the Tabernaele. Mrs. Phillips is a daughter of the late Mr. Jas. MeLelian, who landed in the “Jane Gifford” in 1842. Mrs. Phillips also claims the Hutt as her birth place.
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                  The Auckland Master Bakers' Association
                
                was formed with the object of guarding the interests of the trade; of securing a uniform, fair, and honest price, and promoting mutual assistance between its members. The officers are: Messrs G. Smerdon, president; W. Buchanan, vice-president; C. Kingsford, secretary; and J. Burton, treasurer. The committee consists of Messrs T. J. Phillips, F. Price, A. Kent, Thomas Knight, and J. Gardner.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Auckland Boot Manufacturers' Union of Employers
                
                (federated with the New Zealand Boot Manufacturers' Association). Mr. G. A. Coles, president; Mr. R. Walton, vice-president; Mr. E. Russell Jones, secretary and treasurer. Registered office, corner of Albert and Durham Streets. This union was founded in 1885, and it has thirty members on its roll. The three Auckland delegates sent to attend the conference held in Christchurch in 1900 were Messrs G. A. Coles, E. Russell Jones, and J. Trenwith.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Master Butchers' Association
                
                was formed many years ago, but has not been continuously in active existence. As at present constituted, it dates from 1898, and its objects are to maintain a fair and uniform price throughout and to protect the interests of the trade generally. Officers: Messrs G. Knight, president; W. G. Robertson, secretary; and R. Salmon, treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Licensed Victuallers' Association.
                The membership of the Association is confined strictly to persons in the trade. Its objects are to watch over and advance the interests of the trade, to guard against harsh measures likely to affect the trade, and to see that the licensing laws are strictly enforced. Mr. J. McLeod is president; Mr. M. Foley, vice-president; Mr. A. J. Tapper, secretary; and Mr. J. Morrison, treasurer. There is also a committee to assist in the management of the association's affairs.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Guild Of Master Painters.
                This guild was founded in 1899, with the object of advancing the best and most lasting interests of the trade. Officers: Messrs J. L. Holland, president; J. Henderson, secretary; and M. J. Bennett, treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Master Plumbers' Association.
                This body was established in 1886. Mr. E. Lonergan is president; Mr. A. G. Blakey, vice-president; Mr. C. Peace, secretary; and Mr. B. Schenk, treasurer. There is also an emergency committee consisting of Messrs D. Doul, C. A. P. Annett, and F. Hitchcock. The objects of the society are to improve matters affecting the trade in general, to obtain first-class workmanship, and to discuss topics referring to any branches of the trade. The association also arranges matters between masters and employees, and the members have agitated for the formation of a technical school. During the typhoid fever scare a few years ago, the association approached the City Council, with a view to establishing a sanitary system.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. David Miller,
                formerly Secretary of the Auckland Master Plumbers' Association, is of Scottish parentage, and came to Auckland by the ship “Ganges” in 1863. He was educated in Auckland, and apprenticed to the plumbing trade for five years with Mr. Martin McDermott, of Victoria Street. Later on he went to Wanganui, and started business on his own account in Wickstead Place, whence he removed to Ridgway Street. After a successful run of seven years in that town, he returned to Auckland in 1881, and established his present business in Wellesley Strzet. Mr. Miller is a Freemason, and was for seven years in the Ponsonby Naval Artillery. Whilst in Wanganui he was one of the crew that won the Champion Fours.
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                  The Auckland Master Tailors' Association
                
               
 was reorganised and placed on a permanent foundation in 1898. Its main objects are to watch over the interests of the trade, with a view to promoting and encouraging the tailoring trade generally; to take such means of defence as may be considered most expedient against unjust and arbitrary demands, and to arrange for the arbitration


[image: “Three Lamps,” Ponsonby.]
“
Three Lamps,” Ponsonby.





of trade disputes by means of Boards of Conciliation. Officers: Messrs A. Wright, president, and W. Chambers, secretary and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Tailoresses' Union
                
                was founded in 1891. Its objects are to bring the various members together for purposes of friendship and mutual help, and to avert or readjust differences between employers and employees. The Union is non-political in its constitution, and aims at results independently of parties. The Hon. W. T. Jennings is president, Mr. A. Sanford, vice-president, Miss Mahon, secretary, and Miss Short, treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Typographical Association.
                This association meets half-yearly, in February and August, at the Foresters' Hall, Newton. The Board of Management meets on the second week in every alternate month at the same hall. Officers: Hon. W. T. Jennings, M.L.C., president; Mr. A. Hall, vice-president; Mr. F. A. Cleveland, Victoria Avenue, Eden Terrace, secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland United Furniture Trade And Industrial Union Of Workers
                
                was established in 1899, to secure mutual assistance among its members, and to promote the welfare of the trades generally. Mr. F. Robertson is president, and Mr. R. Mens, secretary.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Working Men's Friendly and Society.
                This society was established in 1872, with the object of raising funds by initiation fees, monthly subscriptions, interest on capital, and levies if necessary, to pay its members weekly payments for a stated time when unable to work, through sickness or accident, and a stated sum at the death of a member or his wife. The entrance fee is, for persons aged from eighteen to twenty-five, 5s; twenty-five to thirty, 7s 6d; thirty to thirty-five, 10s; thirty-five to forty, 20s; and the subscription, 2s 6d per calendar month. Mr. L. A. Wood is chairman; Mr. D. Powell, treasurer; and Mr. T. Snodgrass, secretary. There are also five directors, and a financial committee of six members.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Early Closing Association
                
                was established in 1875, in order to secure just and proper hours for workmen; to obtain, where possible, Saturday afternoon as the general half-holiday; to create a better feeling between employees and employers; and to assist the former, when out of work, to procure employment. Mr W. Beehan is president; Mr. J. S. Dickson, secretary; and Mr. H. Gower, treasurer.
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Many organised bodies which have not the public interest professedly in view, yet subserve that interest because those they exist to promote have a beneficial bearing upon it. This is the case with many trade and other societies, whose object is the maintenance of justice or efficiency amongst their members and within the sphere of the trades, employments or functions they represent, and hence it is right that such bodies should find a place in this Cyclopedia. In furtherance of this view, this section has been prepared, and made as complete as possible in the matter of information bearing upon the objects of the various societies.
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                New Zealand Accountants' and Auditors' Association
              
              (Registered), 42, Queen Street (Alex, Aitken, Ltd.), Auckland. Officers: Mr. Alex, Stuart Russell, president; Mr. J. Henry Mackie, registrar.
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The New Zealand Railway Officers' Institute,
              Auckland Branch. The objects of the Institute are to promote the general welfare of its members by any means not inconsistent with the Railway Regulations; to foster a feeling of unity and good fellowship; and to take, on any other matter such action as the Executive Council may consider advisable. The Auckland branch was founded in November, 1894. Mr. F. W. Styles is chairman, and Mr. L. C. E. Hamann, secretary.
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                The Auckland Institute Of Architects
              
              was founded in 1880 for the purpose of advancing the best interests of the profession. The members of the institute must be architects by profession. The entrance fee is £2 2s, and the annual suoscription £1 1s. Mr. R. W. Keals is president; Mr. E. Bartley, vice-president; Mr. H. Wade, secretary; and Mr. T. Mahoney, treasurer. The council consists of the officers and Messrs E. Bell, R. M. Watt, and C. Arnold.
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                The Auckland Chamber Of Commerce
              
              was established in the year 1871, and the first president, Mr. G. Von der Hyde, retained the position till 1874. The history of New Zealand Chambers of Commerce has not been of the happiest description, and in this respect that of the Auckland Chamber is not an exception to the rule. Active at its ininuation, it remained so for a few years, and then gradually sank lower and lower until its usefulness was very limited. In 1894 a determined effort was made to revive the Chamber, and since then it has continued to assert itself, and is now fulfilling all the functions of such institutions. It sent delegates to the Congress of Chambers of Commerce of the Empire, held in London, and to the Conference held in Philadelphia during 1899. The delegates sent to the London Congress held in June, 1900, were Messrs C. C. McMillan, A. M. Myers, and C. C. Brown-Douglas. The Chamber, under its president, Mr. B. Kent, initiated the Auckland Industrial and Mining Exhibition of 1897–98. The success of the exhibition resulted in a handsome surplus, which fell to the Chamber, by an arrangement made at the time of its inception. The Chamber at present carries on its official work in Victoria Arcade, and its full Chamber meetings in larger hired halls—a very unsatisfactory state of affairs, which the present Council is endeavouring to remedy by obtaining a freehold building or other suitable place of meeting. The Chamber is non-political, and gives its entire attention to the requirements called for in true keeping with its name. The following gentlemen have been its presidents: G. Von der Hyde, 1871–74; J. L. Campbell, 1875; A. Heather, 1877; J. C. Firth, 1878; J. M. Clark, 1879; T. Morrin, 1880; C. C. McMillan, 1881; J. L. Campbell, 1882; L. D. Nathan, 1883; John Reid, 1884; G. Aickin, 1885; J. Lamb, 1886; A. H. Nathan, 1887; J. Buchanan, 1888; W. H. Colbeck, 1889–1890; A. Porter, 1891–1893; A. H. Nathan, 1894; M. A. Clark, 1895; B. Kent, 1896–1897; John Burns, 1898–1899; Samuel Vaile, 1900–1901.
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Mr. Samuel Vaile,
             
 the present President of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, is the second son of the late Mr. George Vaile, who, with his family, arrived in Auckland on the 23rd of December, 1843, in the barque “Bangalore,” the vessel that brought the second Governor, Captain Robert Fitzroy, R.N., to the colony. Like all the early settlers, Mr. Vaile in his boyhood, and early manhood, shared the hardships of life in a new settlement. In his youth he studied architecture under his father, but, in 1850, not seeing any opening in that profession, he decided to go to California, and accordingly left Auckland in the barque “Noble,” in February of that year. On the 23rd of March they made Pitcairn Island, and with the captain, supercargo and four fellow passengers, Mr. Vaile went ashore. The captain gave the five passengers leave to remain ashore for the night, and, with the supercargo, he returned to the ship. In the night he sailed away, leaving the five passengers ashore, with just the clothes they stood in. Eight weeks later Mr. Vaile landed in Honolulu with a threepenny piece (which he still retains) in his pocket, and not a whole suit of clothes. That was his start in life. He remained in Honolulu for nearly two years, made some money, and returned to Auckland, where he and a younger brother, the late Mr J. R. Vaile, established the well-known business carried on under the style of S. and J. R. Vaile. This business rapidly prospered, and in 1861 Mr. Vaile left Auckland to buy in the English and Continental markets for his firm. He remained in England till the end of 1869, when he returned to Auckland. While in the Old Country, Mr Vaile was elected a member of some of the leading scientific societies, and devoted a good deal of time to working among the poor, and studying the poverty problem. In 1876 the partnership was dissolved, and Mr. Vaile started the land and estate agency business, which is now carried on by the widely-known firm of Samuel Vaile and Sons. Mr. Vaile is well-known as a writer on such topics as co-operation, federation, finance, general politics, and especially railway management, and on single tax, which he denounces as “the propaganda of deception, fraud, and robbery.” In 1882 he invented the stage system of railway administration, an adaptation of which, under the name of the zone system, was put in force in Hungary in 1889, with marked success; and in 1894, Russia followed. In
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1886 a Parliamentary Committee was set up to investigate this matter. Mr. Vaile attended, and conducted his own case. This enquiry lasted for ten weeks, when the Committee reported that the stage system ought to be tried. (Parliamentary paper 1—9 1886.) Mr. Vaile has worked at it ever since, but the Government still refuse a trial. In 1887 Mr. Vaile contested the seat for Auckland North, Mr. Thomas Thompson being his opponent. Mr. Vaile was declared to have lost the election by thirty-five votes, thirty-six having been thrown out as informal. In 1893 Mr. Vaile again offered himself for one of the city seats, but owing to Sir George Grey afterwards coming out also for the city, he did not seriously enter into the contest. In 1896, at fourteen days' notice, Mr. Vaile, under considerable pressure, undertook to contest the Parnell seat, against the sitting member, Mr. F. Lawry, and Mr. Arthur Withy, the Prohibition candidate, but Mr. Vaile was again defeated. At the earnest request of a number of citizens, Mr. Vaile, much against his will, was again induced to contest one of the city seats in 1899. A committee undertook to do all the work, and pay all the expense, but again he had only fourteen days to work in, and, as he expected, lost the seat. In 1893 the citizens of New Zealand presented Mr. Vaile with a very handsome silver salver and tea and coffee service, and also a fire-proof safe to keep the records of his public work in. Sir George Grey made the presentation, and, with the other speakers, very warmly eulogised Mr. Vaile for the energy, ability, and patriotism he had displayed in carrying on his public work under many difficulties and much discouragement.
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Mr. Henry Goulstone
              
              is Secretary of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, of the Auckland Fire Underwriters' Association, and of the Mackelvie Trust, in addition to being a public accountant and auditor and F.I.A., New Zealand. He was born near Bristol, was educated at private schools, and commenced a business career with a general merchant in that city. Mr. Goulstone came out to the colonies in 1857–8, and remained in business on the Darling Downs, Queensland, for about three years. Having to quit that locality on account of his health, he joined the Bank of New South Wales in Sydney, and, after a few months, was removed to New Zealand, where he became well known as a banker. After about fifteen years of service, he resigned from the Bank, and again entered into mercantile pursuits; and ultimately joined the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company as its colonial accountant. Mr. Goulstone's commercial and financial training has been very beneficial in connection with his present appointments and positions.
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                The Auckland Employers' Association
              
              was formed in 1890 during the strike, and it did much useful work, in conjunction with other similar associations throughout the colony, in influencing labour legislation and preventing trade disputes. Mr. F. G. Ewington, who has been the secretary ever since the formation of the Association, for three years acted in an honorary capacity, and Mr. Graves Aickin is president. Several of the principal merchants of Auckland have successively held the office of president.
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Mr. F. G. Ewington
              
              arrived in New Zealand in 1862, by the ship “Indian Empire.” He went to Taranaki in 1863, when the Maori war broke out, and joined Colonel Nixon's mounted colonial defence force. Afterwards he went to Waikato, and was in the fight at Rangiriri. In 1866 he commenced business in Auckland as a land agent, and is still in that pursuit. Mr. Ewington is official visitor to the lunatic asylum; honorary secretary to the Benevolent Society; member of the Chamber of Commerce, Prisoners' Aid Society, and several literary societies.
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                The Auckland Pharmaceutical Association
              
              was founded in 1887 to advance the best and most lasting interests of chemists and druggists. None but persons who are duly registered are admitted to membership. Mr. T. Crawford is president. Mr. A. G. Kenderdine, secretary, and Mr. W. Sharland, treasurer; and these gentlemen constitute the committee, together with Messrs G. Aickin and H. King.
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                The Auckland Provincial Industrial Association
              
              was established in May, 1899. It is incorporated under “The Industrial Societies Act, 1883,” and affiliated with the Industrial Corporation of New Zealand. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Officers: Mr. Matthew A. Clark, president, Mr. George Fraser, vice-president; Messrs Graves Aickin, Arthur C. Atkin, Alfred Bevins, George C. Garlick, Samuel M. Green, Richard Hellaby, J. L. Holland, W. E. Hutchison, W. B. Layland, J. Henry Mackie, G. H. Powley, J. McCoskrie, C. Ranson, Richard Warnock, John Wiseman, Arthur C. Whitney, committee; Mr. W. J. W. Philson, honorary treasurer; Mr. J. Henry Mackie, 42 Queen Street (Alex. Aitken, Ltd.), Auckland, secretary.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Trade Societies



            
Trade Societies.

            

              
              


                
The Amalgamated Society Of Carpenters And Joiners,
                Auckland Branch, No. 623. This society, the head office of which in Australasia is in Sydney, New South Wales, and its head centre in Manchester, England, was founded in 1840, for the purpose of procuring, and, where possible, advancing, the best interests of the trades. The entrance fee for members is 7s 6d, and then a contribution of 1s per week. Should a contributing member suffer any loss of tools through fire, theft, or accident, he is entitled to claim the full value thereof from the society, and a carpenter or joiner who remains a member for twenty-five years is entitled to 8s per week for the remainder of his life. If a member of the association meets with an accident which partially incapacitales him, he receives £50; whilst total disablement entitles him to £100. The membership of the whole amalgamated society is now 350,000. Mr. A. Rosser is president; Mr. T. Tudehope, treasurer; and Mr. S. Tyson, secretary of the Auckland branch.

            

            

              
              


                
The Amalgamated Society Of Railway Servants Of New Zealand,
                Auckland Branch. The objects of this society are to protect railway employees, to encourage mutual help, and to make the service more efficient. Mr. F. J. Pope is chairman, and Mr. Warren secretary of the Auckland branch.

            

            

              
              


                
Australasian Institute Of Marine Engineers,
                Auckland Branch. This branch was established in 1881 for the purpose of watching over and securing for its members the advancement of their interests. Officers: Mr. J. McIntyre, president and treasurer; Mr. S. D. Hanna, sacretary. There is also a committee of five.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Dawson Hanna,
                Secretary of the Australasian Institute of Marine Engineers, and formerly Manager of the Auckland Freezing Company, has had an eventful career. He was born in the north of Ireland. His father, under medical advice decided to emigrate to New Zealand in quest of health. He arrived in 1865, but died a few years afterwards, leaving his wife and young family to mourn his death. Mr S. D. Hanna was the second son. He was partly educated in Ireland, but finished in Auckland, under the Rev. W. Taylor, at the Auckland College. After an apprenticeship with Messrs M. and G. Lukey, engine smiths, he went to Messrs Masefield and Co.'s foundry to finish his articles and gain further experience in his profession. He also studied mechanical drawing for three years at the Mechanics' Institute under Mr. W. Humphries, and gained a first prize. In order to still further qualify himself, Mr. Hanna in 1876 secured the position of third engineer on the New Zealand Steamship Company's s.s. “Phoebe,” and remained there for about a year, when he transferred to the Auckland Steam Packet Company's s.s. “Southern Cross” as second engineer. On



leaving the sea, Mr. Hanna accepted the position of chief engineer at the Auckland Waterworks Pumping Station at the Western Springs. He held this position for about seven years, when he resigned and entered the service of the Auckland Freezing Company as chief engineer at the Waitara branch. A year later, however, he was appointed to the corresponding position at the Auckland works, and for several years he occupied the difficult dual position of chief engineer and general manager of the company. The greatest credit is due to Mr. Hanna for the admirable way in which he qualified himself for the onerous position he filled, and his popularity throughout the district is deservedly great. He is chairman of the Ponsonby regatta committee, a proverbially successful association, the committee of which, through Mr. Thomas Peacock, presented him with a beautiful illuminated address in recognition of his efforts on behalf of the regatta. Mr. Hanna is also secretary of the local branch of the Institute of Marine Engineers, and was elected to represent them in conference with steam shipowners in Melbourne in 1893. On his return to Auckland he was presented with a very handsome silver tea and coffee service. He is a member of the Auckland Regatta Committee and was captain of the West End Rowing Club. In Masonry Mr. Hanna holds the rank of Past Grand Senior Warden, and was a member of the Board of General Purposes for several years, besides being a Past Master of the Ara Lodge 348 I.C., and twice filling the office of Worshipful Master in Ara No. 1 N.Z.C. In 1877 Mr. Hanna was married to Miss Annie Horne daughter of the late Mr. Adam Horne, of Auckland, and niece of the late Mr. R. Graham for many years Superintendent of the Province. He is nephew of J. D. Crawford, M.D., of Liverpool, the Rev. Dr. Crawford, of Belfast, and the late Rev. Dr. Hugh Hanna, of the same place.
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Auckland Builders' and Contractors' Union of Employer's,
                303 Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Officers for 1901: Mr. J. Holland, president; Mr. S. I. Clarke, vice-president; Mr. R. A. Burgess, secretary; Mr. J. Ellingham, treasurer; Messrs Charles Blomfield, W. E. Hutchison, Edward Lye, John McColl, Alfred Pollard, George Rhodes, and Samuel' Clarke, committee. This union was founded in 1882, and reconstructed in 1891. Its membership consists of sixty firms. The objects of the association are to endeavour to raise the status of the building trade in Auckland by association and united representation to architects, merchants, and others; by correcting abuses and resisting injustice, whether from within or without the union; and, by means of a central office, to afford mutual help in the transaction of business, etc.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert Alfred Burgess,
                Secretary of the Auckland Builders' and Contractors' Union of Employers, has occupied the position since 1898. He was born and educated in London, and brought up to the building trade, at which he served his time with some of the leading contractors of the metropolis. Mr. Burgess came to New Zealand in 1875, and commenced business in Auckland as a surveyor. He afterwards became a building surveyor, and his large experience in the Old Country had been an excellent training for that class of work. Mr. Burgess is well-known amongst the builders of Auckland, and is popular with the members of the union.
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Mr. John Laird McColl,
                ex-President of the Auckland Builders' Association, was born in Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1840, and received his early training in that country. He acquired his business knowledge under his father, the late Mr. John McColl, a well-known Scotch railway contractor. In 1862 he came to New Zealand, and having landed at Invercargill, established himself in business as a builder and contractor. During the troublous times of the Waikato war, he came to Auckland and was engaged in constructing hospital buildings for the Government troops at Alexandra, Cambridge and Hamilton. He then returned to Auckland and continued in business as a contractor. Mr. McColl has erected some fine buildings in Auckland and its surrounding districts, including the Ellerslie grandstand and St. George's Church at the Thames, besides a number of schools and private residences in all parts of the provincial district. Like others of his profession, Mr. McColl visited Melbourne during the great “boom,” and for about four years was kept constantly employed in erecting a number of large and striking private houses in that city. In public affairs Mr. McColl has always taken a prominent part. For about seventeen years he has been a member of the Newmarket Borough Council, and he was chairman of the old Newmarket Road Board. He has held the position of chairman of the Newmarket school committee for a number of years, and has been senior warden of Lodge Remuera. For five years he held the office of president of the Auckland Builders' Association. Mr. McCoil holds office in connection with the Newmarket Bowling Club as well, and he has always, in every possible way, been willing to be of use to his fellow citizens. He takes a special interest in the Auckland technical school, as he himself was a pupil of the well-known Mr. R. Riddell, and he has a due appreciation of the benefits of technical education. Mr. McColl was the first in New Zealand to manufacture varnish from kauri gum, and as far back as 1870 he held, in connection with Mr. Atkinson of the Auckland gas-works, a patent for the process. He is also the inventor of an ingenious self-acting water pump, which can be employed for drodging harbours by the rise and fall of the tide in a harbour or river mouth.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Coastal Seamen's Union
                
                was founded in 1890, with the object of bringing together coastal seamen to discuss matters which would advance the best interests of their calling. The union has been in a state of abeyance for a number of years. Messrs Griffiths, Boonstra, and Kuntz are trustees, and Mr. A. Boonstra is secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Trades And Labour Council
                
                is a representative body of the trades in Auckland. Each trade sends one representative for every twenty members in its respective union. The Council meets every alternate Thursday in the Tailoresses' Hall, Cook Street. It was founded in 1872 for the purpose of guarding the best interests of trades and labour. Mr. S. Tyson is president of the council; Mr. T. Tudehope, secretary; and Mr. C. Chappell, treasurer. There is also a committee, the members of which are elected annually.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Auckland Master Iron-Workers
                
                and 
Farriers Association. Mr. John Patterson (president); Mr. Thomas Inglis



(vice-president): Messrs. John Quinn and W. Munro (trustees); S. H. Fairweather (treasurer); Henry Phillips (secretary). This association was formed on the 17th of May. 1890, its object being to get as many of those employed in the trade as possible to combine and fix a uniform charge for all ironwork, etc., turned out at the respective establishments of the members. A uniform rate of wage was paid to the employees who were thus placed on a much better footing than previously. The association petitioned the government upon one occasion and was successful in obtaining an increased tariff on imported and manufactured ironwork.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Phillips,
                Secretary of the Auckland Master Ironworkers and Farriers Association, was born at the Hutt, Wellington, in 1856 and is a son of Mr. Thomas Phillips, of Randolph Street. He was educated at St. Paul's church school, and was apprenticed to Mr. Leahy, Custom Street, for five years. At the expiration of his time he visited Sydney, returning to Auckland after several months absence and re-entered the service of his former employer. Mr. Phillips went into business on his own account a year later. He is the provincial corresponding secretary of the National Order of Oddfellows, and also secretary of the United Brothers' Lodge of the same order. Some years ago Mr. Phillips took an active interest in outdoor sports. He is an officer of the Tabernaele. Mrs. Phillips is a daughter of the late Mr. Jas. MeLelian, who landed in the “Jane Gifford” in 1842. Mrs. Phillips also claims the Hutt as her birth place.
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                  The Auckland Master Bakers' Association
                
                was formed with the object of guarding the interests of the trade; of securing a uniform, fair, and honest price, and promoting mutual assistance between its members. The officers are: Messrs G. Smerdon, president; W. Buchanan, vice-president; C. Kingsford, secretary; and J. Burton, treasurer. The committee consists of Messrs T. J. Phillips, F. Price, A. Kent, Thomas Knight, and J. Gardner.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Auckland Boot Manufacturers' Union of Employers
                
                (federated with the New Zealand Boot Manufacturers' Association). Mr. G. A. Coles, president; Mr. R. Walton, vice-president; Mr. E. Russell Jones, secretary and treasurer. Registered office, corner of Albert and Durham Streets. This union was founded in 1885, and it has thirty members on its roll. The three Auckland delegates sent to attend the conference held in Christchurch in 1900 were Messrs G. A. Coles, E. Russell Jones, and J. Trenwith.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Master Butchers' Association
                
                was formed many years ago, but has not been continuously in active existence. As at present constituted, it dates from 1898, and its objects are to maintain a fair and uniform price throughout and to protect the interests of the trade generally. Officers: Messrs G. Knight, president; W. G. Robertson, secretary; and R. Salmon, treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Licensed Victuallers' Association.
                The membership of the Association is confined strictly to persons in the trade. Its objects are to watch over and advance the interests of the trade, to guard against harsh measures likely to affect the trade, and to see that the licensing laws are strictly enforced. Mr. J. McLeod is president; Mr. M. Foley, vice-president; Mr. A. J. Tapper, secretary; and Mr. J. Morrison, treasurer. There is also a committee to assist in the management of the association's affairs.

            

            

              
              


                
The Auckland Guild Of Master Painters.
                This guild was founded in 1899, with the object of advancing the best and most lasting interests of the trade. Officers: Messrs J. L. Holland, president; J. Henderson, secretary; and M. J. Bennett, treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Master Plumbers' Association.
                This body was established in 1886. Mr. E. Lonergan is president; Mr. A. G. Blakey, vice-president; Mr. C. Peace, secretary; and Mr. B. Schenk, treasurer. There is also an emergency committee consisting of Messrs D. Doul, C. A. P. Annett, and F. Hitchcock. The objects of the society are to improve matters affecting the trade in general, to obtain first-class workmanship, and to discuss topics referring to any branches of the trade. The association also arranges matters between masters and employees, and the members have agitated for the formation of a technical school. During the typhoid fever scare a few years ago, the association approached the City Council, with a view to establishing a sanitary system.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. David Miller,
                formerly Secretary of the Auckland Master Plumbers' Association, is of Scottish parentage, and came to Auckland by the ship “Ganges” in 1863. He was educated in Auckland, and apprenticed to the plumbing trade for five years with Mr. Martin McDermott, of Victoria Street. Later on he went to Wanganui, and started business on his own account in Wickstead Place, whence he removed to Ridgway Street. After a successful run of seven years in that town, he returned to Auckland in 1881, and established his present business in Wellesley Strzet. Mr. Miller is a Freemason, and was for seven years in the Ponsonby Naval Artillery. Whilst in Wanganui he was one of the crew that won the Champion Fours.
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                  The Auckland Master Tailors' Association
                
               
 was reorganised and placed on a permanent foundation in 1898. Its main objects are to watch over the interests of the trade, with a view to promoting and encouraging the tailoring trade generally; to take such means of defence as may be considered most expedient against unjust and arbitrary demands, and to arrange for the arbitration
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of trade disputes by means of Boards of Conciliation. Officers: Messrs A. Wright, president, and W. Chambers, secretary and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland Tailoresses' Union
                
                was founded in 1891. Its objects are to bring the various members together for purposes of friendship and mutual help, and to avert or readjust differences between employers and employees. The Union is non-political in its constitution, and aims at results independently of parties. The Hon. W. T. Jennings is president, Mr. A. Sanford, vice-president, Miss Mahon, secretary, and Miss Short, treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Typographical Association.
                This association meets half-yearly, in February and August, at the Foresters' Hall, Newton. The Board of Management meets on the second week in every alternate month at the same hall. Officers: Hon. W. T. Jennings, M.L.C., president; Mr. A. Hall, vice-president; Mr. F. A. Cleveland, Victoria Avenue, Eden Terrace, secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Auckland United Furniture Trade And Industrial Union Of Workers
                
                was established in 1899, to secure mutual assistance among its members, and to promote the welfare of the trades generally. Mr. F. Robertson is president, and Mr. R. Mens, secretary.

            

            

              
              


                
Auckland Working Men's Friendly and Society.
                This society was established in 1872, with the object of raising funds by initiation fees, monthly subscriptions, interest on capital, and levies if necessary, to pay its members weekly payments for a stated time when unable to work, through sickness or accident, and a stated sum at the death of a member or his wife. The entrance fee is, for persons aged from eighteen to twenty-five, 5s; twenty-five to thirty, 7s 6d; thirty to thirty-five, 10s; thirty-five to forty, 20s; and the subscription, 2s 6d per calendar month. Mr. L. A. Wood is chairman; Mr. D. Powell, treasurer; and Mr. T. Snodgrass, secretary. There are also five directors, and a financial committee of six members.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Early Closing Association
                
                was established in 1875, in order to secure just and proper hours for workmen; to obtain, where possible, Saturday afternoon as the general half-holiday; to create a better feeling between employees and employers; and to assist the former, when out of work, to procure employment. Mr W. Beehan is president; Mr. J. S. Dickson, secretary; and Mr. H. Gower, treasurer.
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Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

          
As important factors in the life and progress of a country, the commercial and industrial activities of large towns could not be overlooked in a work like the Cyclopedia of New Zealand. Hence, this section, which is as complete as circumstances and the sympathy or apathy of the persons immediately concerned have enabled the conductors of the work to make it. Apart from other things, the limits of time and space alone would make it impossible to enter into minute details concerning all the professional, commercial, and industrial firms in so large a town as Auckland; but a comprehensive, conscientious effort has been made to give salient facts in connection with all important businesses and industries. If, notwithstanding this, there are still omissions worthy of remark, they are not due to conscious oversight on the part of the conductors, but to disinclination or want of spare time on that of persons immediately concerned, to supply the necessary information. But, even after making the fullest allowance for this, the section will be found to be of exceptional value and interest as a trustworthy historical index to the professional, commercial, and industrial activities of the city of Auckland.

          
By carefully going through these pages, an intelligent reader will gather how much the people of Auckland have done for the commercial and industrial development of their city and province, in spite of all the drawbacks due to troubles with the Maoris, to geographical position, the characteristics of much of the land and to the ups and downs inseparable from the arduous work of colonisation; and will also learn how well the city and province are both now fitted to take advantage of the improved conditions that will follow the completion of the Main Trunk Railway, which will connect Auckland and its incomparable harbour with large areas of fertile land hitherto so isolated as to be barred to progressive settlement.

          
The information and suggestions presented to the reader by the various subsections of this division of the work, and by the division as a whole, have an interest and value for many besides New Zealanders; for public writers, statesmen, manufacturers, exporters, and other commercial men in other parts of the world will thus be enabled to arrive at definite conclusions concerning the kind of business men and the class of businesses that flourish in Auckland. In this way the city and province will be brought into closer and larger relations with the rest of the world, with increased probabilities of commercial and industrial expansion.

          
Apart from the timber industry and the cultivation of the land, Auckland has two potent industrial factors in gold-mining and digging for kauri gum. The kauri gum industry has a sub-section to itself in this division; but on account of their number and character, all articles dealing with mining, and those connected with it, will appear further on in the volume in a separate division, and under sub-headings which will mark their appropriate classification.
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Accountants, Auctioneers, Etc.

          

            
Including—Agents (Commission, Customhouse, Chartering, Estate, Financial, Insurance, Patent, Shipping, Station, Stock, Tourist); Auctioneers; Auditors; Average Adjusters; Sharebrokers; Valuators.

          

          

            
            


              

Abbott, John,
              Financial and Mining Agent, Queen Street, Auckland. This business was founded by the late Mr. John Abbott, who is referred to at some length in the section devoted to old colonists.

          

          

            
            


              

Alexander, Edward Beatty,
              Accountant, Auditor, and General Agent, 321 Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Mr Alexander was born in Omagh, North of Ireland. He left London in 1880 to join the National Bank at Wellington, and has, since his arrival in the colony, filled various posts in its service, including that of manager at the Port Chalmers and Tauranga branches respectively. Mr. Alexander was appointed manager of the Newton branch of the National Bank in 1896, but resigned that position in 1898, and set up in business on his own account. A year or two ago he was appointed auditor for the School Fund Accounts, and still retains the position.

          

          

            
            


              
Arthur, Richard and Co.,
              (Thomas B. Arthur, auctioneer), Estate, House, Land and General Auctioneers and Commission Agents, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 201. P.O. Box 43. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This firm was founded by the late Mr Richard Arthur, who arrived in Auckland in the year 1857, and carried on business there almost continuously until his death in July, 1895. He served with the firm of Messrs Bam, Grahame and Co., for several years, and then entered business with his father under the style of Messrs C. Arthur and Son, as land agents, auctioneers and accountants. This firm continued in existence with varied success until about the year 1864, when Mr. Richard Arthur took over the business and carried it on in his own name. His ability as an auctioneer, and his unswerving rectitude, very soon secured him a large connection. In the year 1886 the business had assumed such large dimensions that it became necessary to reconstruct it; he was accordingly joined in partnership by Mr. J. F. Buddle, and the new firm became known as Arthur and Buddle. This arrangement continued until June, 1891, when the partnership was dissolved, and Mr. Arthur continued the business under his own name. In February, 1895, he was compelled through illhealth to give up selling, and was ordered to take a trip to Australia, in the hope that the change might restore him, but the malady from which he was suffering was too deep-seated, and he died the day following his return to Auckland. During his illness, his second son, Mr. T. B. Arthur, successfully conducted the business, and has continued to do so since his death. Mr. Arthur married, in 1863, the second daughter of the late Rev Thomas Buddle, and his widow, two sons, and two daughters survive him.
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Barr Brown, R.,
              Land and Estate Agent, Hotel and Share Broker, and General Commission Agent, Exchange Lane, Auckland; branch at New Plymouth (G. 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]. Mitchell, manager). P.O. Box 202. Telephone 1134. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Mr. Barr Brown was born and educated at Auckland, and is a son of the late Mr. Barr Brown, of Waiuku. He started his present business about 1895, having had a previous experience in valuation and general commission work—an experience which is now of inestimable value to him. His business increased so much that he was requested by a number of clients to start a branch at New Plymouth, where he has already formed a large connection. Mr. Barr Brown is known in Auckland as a most energetic and trustworthy business man, and he is sure to earn a similar reputation in Taranaki. He was well known in his earlier days as an athlete, and he is still a keen sportsman. Mr. Barr Brown is married and has one child.
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Carr, Robert Charles,
             
 Auctioneer and Commission Merchant, 63, Queen Street, Auckland. Private residence, Romuera. Telephone 45. P.O. Box 239. Bankers, National
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Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Carr was born at Manchester, England, in 1838, and is the eldest son of Mr. John Carr, corn merchant, of that city. He was educated at Lee's commercial school, one of the leading and old-established schools of Manchester. After leaving school Mr. Carr was engaged as warehouseman in the city, and left England, in 1861, by the ship “Black Eagle,” for Auckland. On his arrival he engaged in various pursuits until the outbreak of the Maori war in 1863, when he volunteered his services and served in the 5th company of the Auckland Rifles under Captain Derrom and Lieutenant Thompson (now Minister of Defence). After the action of the Gate Pa, he commenced storekeeping at Tauranga, but returned to Auckland in 1867, and joined the firm of Messrs Turrell and Tonks. He remained in the employment of the firm until Mr. Turrell retired, when he was taken into partnership, under the style of Messrs Benjamin Tonks and Co. In 1889 Mr. Carr took over the business, and continues to enjoy the support and confidence accorded to the old firm. Mr. Carr is a director of the New Zealand Accident Company, Northern Boot. Company, and various mining companies. He was initated into Freemasonry in Lodge Ara, 348, I.C., and is a vice-president of the Lancashire Society.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Clayton, Matthew Thomas
              
              (Captain), Surveyor of Lloyd's Register and General Shipping Agent, 23, Palmerston Buildings, Auckland, was born at Selsey, Sussex, in England, in 1831, and is the fifth son of the late Mr. William Clayton, of Glynn House, Selsey. He was educated at the Northgate Chichester Boarding School. In 1844 he was apprenticed to the sea, and joined the ship “London” (Captain Gibson), but in 1846 was transferred to the “Statesman, on which he served until 1850. Mr. Clayton became third officer in 1819, second of the “Simla” in 1850, chief officer of the “King William” in 1851, chief officer of the ship “Hope” in 1858, chief officer of the ship “Kent” in 1856, and master of the same ship on the 1st of January, 1859. During those years he traded to all parts of the globe. In January, 1859, he became commander of the ship “Kent,” belonging to the celebrated Black wall Line, owned by Messrs Money Wigram and Sons, and held the command until 1863, when he was commissioned to bring the Australian Steam Navigation Company's paddle steamer “City of Brisbane” to Sydney. It was then his intention to settle in New South Wales, but in May, 1864, he arrived in Auckland and joined the New Zealand Insurance Company, as Marine Surveyor, a position which he has held ever since. In 1876, during the Premiership of Sir Julius Vogel, Captain Clayton was appointed examiner of Masters and Mates in Seamanship; also surveyor under the Wrecks Act. He held the former position for twenty years, and the latter until the Act became obsolete. In 1876 he was appointed surveyor to Lloyds Register for Shipping. Captain Clayton is a marine artist of considerable skill, and his pictures command a ready sale all over the Colony. He is a zealous member of the Anglican Church, and acts as Lay Canon of the Cathedral Chapter, and is also a member of the General Trust Board.
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                Cook, Thomas and Son
              
              (Robert Angus, manager), Auckland. The business of Thomas Cook and Son was originated in 1841 by Mr. Thomas Cook, through the simple idea of running an excursion train at very low prices in connection with a temperance conference. Thence it developed into “conducted parties” to Scotland and on the Continent, and gradually included the distant, and then little frequented parts of the globe, within the scope of its operations. Mr. Thomas Cook was the originator, but his son, Mr. John Mason Cook, developed the business and managed and conducted its affairs at the time of its rapid growth. Mr. J. M. Cook recently died, and the control of the business is now in the hands of his three sons, who are assisted by the heads of departments who have grown up in the business. The firm has offices and agents all over the world, and there is no ticket nor combination of tickets which Messrs Cook and Son cannot issue; whether the passenger wishes to take a simple drive round a town, or a tour round the world, the firm can with equal ease make the necessary arrangements. In 1888 the firm extended its business to New Zealand, and since then the whole of the colony's wonderland and beautiful scenic resorts have come under the scope of Cook's tickets. The head New Zealand office at Auckland controls nine offices and sub-agencies in the colony, and the present manager, Mr. Robert Angus, joined the firm's service at the opening of the business in this colony. The business in New Zealand is under the general control of Melbourne, which is the headquarters for the Australian colonies, and the general manager is Mr. George Hatch.

          

          

            
            


              

Cotton, Henry E.,
              Licensed Custom House and Shipping Agent224 Queen Street, Auckland. This business was established by Mr. H. E. Cotton in 1889, and since then it has made steady progress.

          

          

            
            

              

Craig, Joseph James,
             
 Shipping and Forwarding Agent and General Carrier, Coal Merchant and Coal Mine Owner; Lime Merchant and Lime Manufacturer; Brick, Tile and Pottery Manufacturer; Shipowner, etc. Head Office and Shipping Department, Victoria Arcade, Fort Street, Auckland; Receiving and Forwarding Office, Queen Street Wharf; Stores and Branches at Customs Street East, Breakwater Road, Beach Road and Newmarket; Dumping Stores, Quay Street and Breakwater Road; Brick and Pottery Works, Avondale; Lime Works, Mahurangi and Whangarei Heads; Coal Mines, Hikurangi; Wool Dumping Stores and Coal Yards, Breakwater Road and Railway Wharf; Stables, Beach Road; Seoria Pits, Mount Eden; Telephones, Head Office, Fort Street, 644; Queen Street Wharf, 362; Breakwater Road, 435; Beach Road, 797; Brick and Pottery Works, 205; Newmarket, 306; Symonds Street, 238; Grafton Road, 796; Customs Street, 794. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence of the proprietor, Beach Road. Mr J. J. Craig's business is probably for variety, colossal proportions and industrial enterprise, the champion concern of the Colony. The fleet includes the four-masted barque, “Falls of Garry,” 3,300 tons; “Helene,” barque, 1,050 tons; “Jessie Craig,” barque, 100 Al., 1000 tons; “Leon,” barque, 1050 tons, the “Royal Tar,” a barque of 1000 tons; steel barquentine “Margarita,” 100 Al., 850 tons; iron barque, “Quathlamba,” 100 Al., 750 tons; “Alecstis,” iron barque, 650 tons; the barquentine, “Lark,” 200 tons; “Waitemata,” a barquentine of 500 tons; the “Clio,” a ketch of 130 tons; “Empreza,” barque, 350 tons; the “Norval,” a schooner of 100 tons; the “Saucy Kate,” a schooner of 70 tons; scow “Pukapuka,” 40 tons; “Flora,” cutter, 30 tons; the “Huon Belle,” a ketch of 70 tons; “Lizette,” a ketch
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of 75 tons; “Leo,” cutter, 50 tons; the “Spitfire,” a cutter of 55 tons; and the “Four Sisters,” a cutter of 35 tons; not to mention shares in vessels and a chartered fleet of 2000 tons. The carrying business, the nucleus of the vast concern, which includes a most complete plant, was established in 1866 by the late Mr Joseph Craig, who successfully conducted it until his death in 1885, when it came into the possession of his son, the present proprietor, who has extended and improved its scope with astonishing rapidity. Some idea of Mr Craig's carrying trade may be gathered from the fact that 160 draught horses are kept going in town alone. They are splendid animals, and are stabled at the Beach Road stables. A blacksmith's shop and a wheelWright's shop are attached to the stables, for horse shoeing and repairs. The brick and pottery works are situated at Avondale, about seven miles from Auckland, on the Kaipara line. They are said to be the largest in the Colony, with a capacity of 90,000 bricks per day, besides fire-bricks, fire clay blocks, oven tiles, stove linings, drain pipes, chimney pots, roofing tiles, ridgings, sanitary appliances, filters, jam jars, acid jars, cornices and ornamental work, flower pots, etc., all of which were awarded a special gold medal at the Auckland Exhibition. The lime industry is equally extensive and must become still more important as the value of lime to the clay lands of Auckland becomes better understood. Of the hydraulic lime nothing need be said beyond quoting the testimony of Mr C. R. Vickerman, the Resident Engineer of the Public Works Department, who, in a letter to Mr Craig, said:— “I have much pleasure in stating that I have used your hydraulic lime for several years…. and in all cases with very satisfactory results. I would strongly recommend it to anyone requiring a good all-round hydraulic building lime. Several public buildings here have been erected of it, and the last one—the new 
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auxiliary asylum at Avondale—is a fair specimen for reference.” It was used also for that splendid specimen of solid brickwork—the six-storey building of the “New Zealand Herald”—and Mr James Heron, the builder, unreservedly recommends it. Many other branches of this truly wonderful business deserve special mention; but space cannot be given for all, and a few general remarks must suffice. Mr Craig pays about £150 per day in Wages, and his total turnover is about £130,000 per annum. Nearly 400 men are already employed, and the number increases almost daily. The recent acquisition of a freehold estate of 120 acres at Whangarei, in the North of Auckland, containing an enormous deposit of kaolin, promises well for a large increase in Mr Craig's demand for labour. Kaolin makes the finest china, and a fair proportion of it can can be used in the manufacture of paper. A granite quarry is also being opened on the same estate. Mr Craig, who, in enterprise and business capacity, has few if any equals, was born in Auckland on the 22nd of January, 1860, and was educated at the Carlton Academy and at Mr McVey Baird's (now Prince Albert) College, Queen Street. At the conclusion of his schooldays, Mr Craig entered his father's office and soon showed that he possessed in a rare degree the faculty for managing large concerns. Notwithstanding the multiplicity of business matters that must for ever be calling for his attention, Mr Craig has found a fair share of time for attending to public affairs. For ten years he was a member of the Licensing Bench, and for several years he has been a useful member of the Harbour Board. He is a director of the Waihi Consols Gold Mining Company, and of many other important mining companies. He is also a Master Mason and a member of the Oddfellows. Mr. Craig was married in 1888 to Miss J. Campbell, daughter of Captain Alex. Campbell, of Prince Edward Island, and has two sons and three daughters. Auckland has indeed reason to be proud of Mr J. J. Craig, for he is playing a prominent part in the development of the province. He is still quite a young man, and with a continuance of health, strength and prosperity, his power for usefulness must increase. Meanwhile the people of Auckland should emulate the example set by Mr Craig in developing the natural resources of their district and should also patronise him in every one of his enterprises. For the first both caution and capital are needed, for the second all that is required is a determination to appreciate and encourage the citizen who is perhaps doing more for Auckland than any other man in the province. The Southern Coal Mines of Auckland Province have been all amalgamated by Mr Craig. These mines have an output of between 80,000 and 90,000 tons per annum, and have a reserve fund of about £10,000 cash and £13,000 reserve shares. Under the new regime this amalgamation promises good returns to the shareholders, as there has been a saving in management alone of about £4000 a year. New warehouses, covering two acres of land near the Freezing Company's Railway Wharf, have just been erected for Mr Craig to enable him to concentrate all his varions businesses where there is a railway siding and water frontage.

          

          

            
            

              

Davidge, William Thomas,
             
 Land, Estate, and Financial Agent, Hotel Broker, and Public Valuator, Coombe's Arcade, Auckland, and Queen Street, Onehunga. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Mr. Davidge was born in Auckland In 1864, and began his commercial life at the age of seventeen which he followed for several years. He was for about eleven years in the post office, Auckland. Retiring from the service on account of ill-health, Mr. Davidge established himself in Hamilton some six years
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ago, and has formed a large and increasing connection in the buying and selling of land, negotiating loans, etc., besides having had extensive experience in the grain trade and considerable business in mining interests. In 1900 Mr. Davidge removed from the Waikato to his present position in Coombe's Arcade, where he still carries on the greater part of his country business. He also does a considerable amount of business in special apartments at his private residence in Queen Street, Onehunga. Mr. Davidge was appointed Government valuator for Piako County in 1897

          

          

            
            


              

Garland, George Joseph,
              Land, House, and Estate Agent, 6 Coombes' Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland. Private residence, Bond Street, Archhill.

          

          

            
            


              

Grosvenor, Charles,
              A.N.Z.A.A., Public Accountant, Legal Manager, Mining and Financial Agent, Auckland. Mr. Grosvenor was born at Hunslet, a suburb of Leeds, England, in 1858, and was educated at Parnel College, near Harrogate. He is the eldest son of the late Mr. Bower Grosvenor, one of the firm of Charles Grosvenor and Son, ironmasters and colliery proprietors, Leeds, and a descendant of the late Mr. Joshua Bower, a president of the Chamber of Commerce, Leeds. Mr. Grosvenor was trained at Home for a civil engineer, but was prevented, through a combination of untoward circumstances, from obtaining his diploma. In 1884 he migrated to New Zealand, and was subsequently appointed confidential clerk and draughtsman to the Bay of Islands Coal Company at Kawakawa, but returned to Auckland in 1892, when he commenced business, as a public accountant and financial agent. Mr. Grosvenor is one of the patentees of the New Hydro-Carbon Gas Generator. He has been successful in forming a company to develop the patent in New Zealand and Australia, and occupies a prominent position in connection therewith. The name of the company is “The Premier, Light, Heat, and Power Company, Limited.” Mr. Grosvenor married Miss Effie Hipkins, daughter of the late Mr. David Hipkins, a retired Staffordshire ironmaster, and sister to the Rev. F. C. Hipkins, M.A., of Repton Priory, Derbyshire.
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Baldwin And Rayward
              (Ernest Smith Baldwin and Henrie Hampton Rayward; E. Brooke-Smith, manager), Chartered Patent Agents, Queen Street, Auckland. Head Office, Wellington.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Edward Brooke-Smith,
              Manager of the Auckland Branch of the business of Messrs Baldwin and Rayward, was born in Birmingham, England. At an early age he went to Port Elizabeth, Cape was born in Birmingham, England. At an early age he went to Port Elizabeth, Cape Colony, and entered the service of a firm of merchants, in which he eventually became a partner. During a residence of about twenty-seven years in the colony he took a keen interest in public affairs. He was for many years honorary treasurer of the Port Elizabeth Club, and a member of the committee of the Chamber of Commerce, also a director of five local companies, including the Port Elizabeth and Uitenhage Railway Company, which initiated the first line of railway in the Eastern Province of the colony. The commercial depression which followed the retrocession of the Transvaal, depreciation in the value of his property, and a heavy loss in ostrich farming deprived him of the results of previous prosperous times, and in 1886 he came to New Zealand. For some time he was interested in mining operations on the West Coast of the South Island, and was the first to obtain special claims on the beaches for dredging purposes; the Hon. W. J. M. Laranch, Minister of Mines in 1887, granted him 200 acres on the Five Mile beach to assist him in initiating a new method of treating ground considered unworkable until that time. The Okarito Gold Dredging Company, Limited, was formed to exploit the venture, and Mr Brooke-Smith returned to Europe to procure the machinery. Owing to want of experience with the work, this plant was found to be far too small, and the company went into liquidation. While in England, Mr. Brooke-Smith promoted the New Zealand Beaches Limited Mining Company, and on its behalf took up a claim on the Three Mile Beach, which was worked by a powerful Welman hydraulic dredge. This plant proved perfectly satisfactory both as a dredge and as a gold saver, but, unhappily, the quantity of gold expected was not in the beach, and the enterprise was abandoned when almost within reach of success. Beach dredging thus received a check from which it has not yet (1900) recovered. After leaving the West Coast Mr. Brooke-Smith was for five years in business as a grain merchant in Oamaru, and in 1897, he visited America, Canada, England, and the Continent of Europe in connection with patent business. He returned to New Zealand about the end of 1898, when he settled in Auckland. Mr Brooke-Smith is married, and has one son and five daughters living.
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Lennox, James Marshall,
             
 Stock and Share Broker, National Insurance Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 702. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Lennox was born in Stirlingshire, Scotland, in 1842, and was educated in Leeds, Yorkshire. He came to Auckland in 1863 by the ship “Owen Glendower,” and was for three years connected with journalism in the “New Zealander” and the “Herald” offices. In 1866 he established himself in his present business. He has been for more than thirty years in active commercial life, and has been more or less prosperous throughout it all. Mr. Lennox has been six times chairman of the Auckland


[image: Mr. J. M. Lennox]
Mr. 
J. M. Lennox



            


            
Stock Exchange, and has been connected with Auckland mining from its infancy. He was chairman of directors of about the first company formed; namely, the Karaka Goldmining Company, and was chairman of the Cale-donian, Hazelbank, and many other important and well-remembered companies. The passing of the Act prohibiting stockbrokers from sitting as directors of mining companies necessitated Mr. Lennox's retirement from these and similar positions. In the old military days Mr. Lennox went with the volun-teers to the front. He was for seven years a city councillor and was for a similar period a member of the Education Board and the Board of Governors of the Auckland College and Grammar School. He was also chairman of Trustees of the Remuera highway district, and of the Remuera school committee, and a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank, Commissioner of Education, Superintendent of St. Luke's Sunday School, Remuera, clerk of the session for fourteen or fifteen years, first president and then vice-president of the Auckland Chess Club. As an Oddfellows, he is attached to the Fountain of Friendship Lodge. Mr. Lennox was married in 1872 to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Scott, of Canada, who for many years was a member of the Canadian Parliament.

          

          

            
            


              

                Lewis, Gabriel and Co.
              
              (Gabriel Lewis and Louis Lewis), Auctioneers, Indenters, Manufacturers' Agents, etc., 48 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone, 125. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Gabriel Lewis, the senior partner of this old-established firm, founded the well-known house of Messrs Lewis Bros., soft goods merchants, in the year 1861. The business afterwards merged into that of auctioneering, and now the firm ranks as one of the leading houses of Auckland. Messrs Lewis and Co. are also indenters, manufactures' agents, valuators and appraisers, and promoters and floaters of first-class mining properties on the London market through their bankers, Messrs Malcolm, Brunker and Co., St. Mary's Aix, London, E.C.
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Morrison, W. B. A.,
              F.S.A.A. (Eng.) Incorporated Accountant, Auckland Club Buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Morrison, son of the Rev. W. R. Morrison, M. A., who at the time of his death was vicar of St. Paul's, Canonbury, London, was educated in London, and spent some years in America before coming to New Zealand in 1878. He was for many years connected with the Bank of New Zealand, and was accountant to the Bank of New Zealand Estates Company, Ltd., at the time of his resignation to start in business as public accountant in Auckland in 1895. Mr. Morrison's office is the office of the Thames Gas Company, Ltd., of which he is secretary.
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                Stone Brothers
              
              (T. L. White and J. Bennett, successors), Shipbrokers, Licensed Custom House Agents and General Merchants, Fort Street, Auckland. Cable address, “Stone”; Code A.B.C. Telephone 37. P.O. Box 119. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This old and well-known firm was founded in 1852 by Mr. C. J. Stone, a highly esteemed citizen, who died about 1882. The business was carried on from 1864 to 1874 by Messrs C. J. Stone and Sons. Mr. C. J. Stone then retired, and Mr. C. B. Stone successfully continued the business until 1891, when the present partners took his place. The firm's ramifications extend over the Australasian colonies, in connection with grain, produce, shipping, and general merchandise. They are agents for Calley's Torbay Paints; Hayward's Sheep Dip, etc., and for Messrs William Schulze and Co., of Galashiels, Scotland, woollen manufacturers, and Messrs William Oddy and Co., Bradford, England, manufacturers.

          

          

            
            


              

                Waymouth And Son
              
              (Oliver Bryant Waymouth), Public Accountants and Average Adjusters, 28 Shortland Street, Auckland. Private address, Avondale. Bankers, Bank of Australasia.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mr. Waymouth
              
              was born in Auckland in 1863, and is the youngest son of the late Mr. John Waymouth, once well-known and highly respected as an accountant. Mr. Waymouth was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and spent two years in the employment of the South British Insurance Company, and subsequently joined his father as junior partner of the firm of Waymouth and Son. Since the death of Mr. Waymouth, senior, in December, 1892, Mr. O. B. Waymouth has successfully carried on the business, and has been favoured with his share of the general prosperity which has recently fallen to the lot of Auckland. Mr. Waymouth was one of the first members of the New Zealand Institute of Accountants, from which he has since, for private reasons, withdrawn. He is the local secretary of the Northern Union Steamboat Company, of which he became a director in 1897. Mr. Waymouth has acted as judge at the local regattas. His own yachts have been prize-winners, and on one occasion he won the championship prize of the New Zealand Yacht Racing Association, Wellington. He is a Freemason, and is well-known in cricket circles as a member of the West End Cricket Club, in which, for one sea-son, he obtained the best bowling average. Mr. Waymouth is married to a daughter of Mr. Charles E. Nelson, Whakarewarewa, and Las a family of five.
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Williamson, C. R. and Co.,
              Land, Estate, and Financial Agents, 93 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 78. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1876, in Vulcan Lane, by Mr. C. Williamson, who, in 1897, removed to the premises which the firm now occupies. In the early part of 1900 the founder of the firm retired, leaving his son, Mr. C. R. Williamson, who had gained a wide experience with his father, to carry on the business.
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Abbott, John,
              Financial and Mining Agent, Queen Street, Auckland. This business was founded by the late Mr. John Abbott, who is referred to at some length in the section devoted to old colonists.
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Alexander, Edward Beatty,
              Accountant, Auditor, and General Agent, 321 Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Mr Alexander was born in Omagh, North of Ireland. He left London in 1880 to join the National Bank at Wellington, and has, since his arrival in the colony, filled various posts in its service, including that of manager at the Port Chalmers and Tauranga branches respectively. Mr. Alexander was appointed manager of the Newton branch of the National Bank in 1896, but resigned that position in 1898, and set up in business on his own account. A year or two ago he was appointed auditor for the School Fund Accounts, and still retains the position.
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Arthur, Richard and Co.,
              (Thomas B. Arthur, auctioneer), Estate, House, Land and General Auctioneers and Commission Agents, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 201. P.O. Box 43. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This firm was founded by the late Mr Richard Arthur, who arrived in Auckland in the year 1857, and carried on business there almost continuously until his death in July, 1895. He served with the firm of Messrs Bam, Grahame and Co., for several years, and then entered business with his father under the style of Messrs C. Arthur and Son, as land agents, auctioneers and accountants. This firm continued in existence with varied success until about the year 1864, when Mr. Richard Arthur took over the business and carried it on in his own name. His ability as an auctioneer, and his unswerving rectitude, very soon secured him a large connection. In the year 1886 the business had assumed such large dimensions that it became necessary to reconstruct it; he was accordingly joined in partnership by Mr. J. F. Buddle, and the new firm became known as Arthur and Buddle. This arrangement continued until June, 1891, when the partnership was dissolved, and Mr. Arthur continued the business under his own name. In February, 1895, he was compelled through illhealth to give up selling, and was ordered to take a trip to Australia, in the hope that the change might restore him, but the malady from which he was suffering was too deep-seated, and he died the day following his return to Auckland. During his illness, his second son, Mr. T. B. Arthur, successfully conducted the business, and has continued to do so since his death. Mr. Arthur married, in 1863, the second daughter of the late Rev Thomas Buddle, and his widow, two sons, and two daughters survive him.
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Barr Brown, R.,
              Land and Estate Agent, Hotel and Share Broker, and General Commission Agent, Exchange Lane, Auckland; branch at New Plymouth (G. 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]. Mitchell, manager). P.O. Box 202. Telephone 1134. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Mr. Barr Brown was born and educated at Auckland, and is a son of the late Mr. Barr Brown, of Waiuku. He started his present business about 1895, having had a previous experience in valuation and general commission work—an experience which is now of inestimable value to him. His business increased so much that he was requested by a number of clients to start a branch at New Plymouth, where he has already formed a large connection. Mr. Barr Brown is known in Auckland as a most energetic and trustworthy business man, and he is sure to earn a similar reputation in Taranaki. He was well known in his earlier days as an athlete, and he is still a keen sportsman. Mr. Barr Brown is married and has one child.
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Carr, Robert Charles,
             
 Auctioneer and Commission Merchant, 63, Queen Street, Auckland. Private residence, Romuera. Telephone 45. P.O. Box 239. Bankers, National
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Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Carr was born at Manchester, England, in 1838, and is the eldest son of Mr. John Carr, corn merchant, of that city. He was educated at Lee's commercial school, one of the leading and old-established schools of Manchester. After leaving school Mr. Carr was engaged as warehouseman in the city, and left England, in 1861, by the ship “Black Eagle,” for Auckland. On his arrival he engaged in various pursuits until the outbreak of the Maori war in 1863, when he volunteered his services and served in the 5th company of the Auckland Rifles under Captain Derrom and Lieutenant Thompson (now Minister of Defence). After the action of the Gate Pa, he commenced storekeeping at Tauranga, but returned to Auckland in 1867, and joined the firm of Messrs Turrell and Tonks. He remained in the employment of the firm until Mr. Turrell retired, when he was taken into partnership, under the style of Messrs Benjamin Tonks and Co. In 1889 Mr. Carr took over the business, and continues to enjoy the support and confidence accorded to the old firm. Mr. Carr is a director of the New Zealand Accident Company, Northern Boot. Company, and various mining companies. He was initated into Freemasonry in Lodge Ara, 348, I.C., and is a vice-president of the Lancashire Society.
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Clayton, Matthew Thomas
              
              (Captain), Surveyor of Lloyd's Register and General Shipping Agent, 23, Palmerston Buildings, Auckland, was born at Selsey, Sussex, in England, in 1831, and is the fifth son of the late Mr. William Clayton, of Glynn House, Selsey. He was educated at the Northgate Chichester Boarding School. In 1844 he was apprenticed to the sea, and joined the ship “London” (Captain Gibson), but in 1846 was transferred to the “Statesman, on which he served until 1850. Mr. Clayton became third officer in 1819, second of the “Simla” in 1850, chief officer of the “King William” in 1851, chief officer of the ship “Hope” in 1858, chief officer of the ship “Kent” in 1856, and master of the same ship on the 1st of January, 1859. During those years he traded to all parts of the globe. In January, 1859, he became commander of the ship “Kent,” belonging to the celebrated Black wall Line, owned by Messrs Money Wigram and Sons, and held the command until 1863, when he was commissioned to bring the Australian Steam Navigation Company's paddle steamer “City of Brisbane” to Sydney. It was then his intention to settle in New South Wales, but in May, 1864, he arrived in Auckland and joined the New Zealand Insurance Company, as Marine Surveyor, a position which he has held ever since. In 1876, during the Premiership of Sir Julius Vogel, Captain Clayton was appointed examiner of Masters and Mates in Seamanship; also surveyor under the Wrecks Act. He held the former position for twenty years, and the latter until the Act became obsolete. In 1876 he was appointed surveyor to Lloyds Register for Shipping. Captain Clayton is a marine artist of considerable skill, and his pictures command a ready sale all over the Colony. He is a zealous member of the Anglican Church, and acts as Lay Canon of the Cathedral Chapter, and is also a member of the General Trust Board.
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                Cook, Thomas and Son
              
              (Robert Angus, manager), Auckland. The business of Thomas Cook and Son was originated in 1841 by Mr. Thomas Cook, through the simple idea of running an excursion train at very low prices in connection with a temperance conference. Thence it developed into “conducted parties” to Scotland and on the Continent, and gradually included the distant, and then little frequented parts of the globe, within the scope of its operations. Mr. Thomas Cook was the originator, but his son, Mr. John Mason Cook, developed the business and managed and conducted its affairs at the time of its rapid growth. Mr. J. M. Cook recently died, and the control of the business is now in the hands of his three sons, who are assisted by the heads of departments who have grown up in the business. The firm has offices and agents all over the world, and there is no ticket nor combination of tickets which Messrs Cook and Son cannot issue; whether the passenger wishes to take a simple drive round a town, or a tour round the world, the firm can with equal ease make the necessary arrangements. In 1888 the firm extended its business to New Zealand, and since then the whole of the colony's wonderland and beautiful scenic resorts have come under the scope of Cook's tickets. The head New Zealand office at Auckland controls nine offices and sub-agencies in the colony, and the present manager, Mr. Robert Angus, joined the firm's service at the opening of the business in this colony. The business in New Zealand is under the general control of Melbourne, which is the headquarters for the Australian colonies, and the general manager is Mr. George Hatch.
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Cotton, Henry E.,
              Licensed Custom House and Shipping Agent224 Queen Street, Auckland. This business was established by Mr. H. E. Cotton in 1889, and since then it has made steady progress.
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Craig, Joseph James,
             
 Shipping and Forwarding Agent and General Carrier, Coal Merchant and Coal Mine Owner; Lime Merchant and Lime Manufacturer; Brick, Tile and Pottery Manufacturer; Shipowner, etc. Head Office and Shipping Department, Victoria Arcade, Fort Street, Auckland; Receiving and Forwarding Office, Queen Street Wharf; Stores and Branches at Customs Street East, Breakwater Road, Beach Road and Newmarket; Dumping Stores, Quay Street and Breakwater Road; Brick and Pottery Works, Avondale; Lime Works, Mahurangi and Whangarei Heads; Coal Mines, Hikurangi; Wool Dumping Stores and Coal Yards, Breakwater Road and Railway Wharf; Stables, Beach Road; Seoria Pits, Mount Eden; Telephones, Head Office, Fort Street, 644; Queen Street Wharf, 362; Breakwater Road, 435; Beach Road, 797; Brick and Pottery Works, 205; Newmarket, 306; Symonds Street, 238; Grafton Road, 796; Customs Street, 794. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence of the proprietor, Beach Road. Mr J. J. Craig's business is probably for variety, colossal proportions and industrial enterprise, the champion concern of the Colony. The fleet includes the four-masted barque, “Falls of Garry,” 3,300 tons; “Helene,” barque, 1,050 tons; “Jessie Craig,” barque, 100 Al., 1000 tons; “Leon,” barque, 1050 tons, the “Royal Tar,” a barque of 1000 tons; steel barquentine “Margarita,” 100 Al., 850 tons; iron barque, “Quathlamba,” 100 Al., 750 tons; “Alecstis,” iron barque, 650 tons; the barquentine, “Lark,” 200 tons; “Waitemata,” a barquentine of 500 tons; the “Clio,” a ketch of 130 tons; “Empreza,” barque, 350 tons; the “Norval,” a schooner of 100 tons; the “Saucy Kate,” a schooner of 70 tons; scow “Pukapuka,” 40 tons; “Flora,” cutter, 30 tons; the “Huon Belle,” a ketch of 70 tons; “Lizette,” a ketch
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of 75 tons; “Leo,” cutter, 50 tons; the “Spitfire,” a cutter of 55 tons; and the “Four Sisters,” a cutter of 35 tons; not to mention shares in vessels and a chartered fleet of 2000 tons. The carrying business, the nucleus of the vast concern, which includes a most complete plant, was established in 1866 by the late Mr Joseph Craig, who successfully conducted it until his death in 1885, when it came into the possession of his son, the present proprietor, who has extended and improved its scope with astonishing rapidity. Some idea of Mr Craig's carrying trade may be gathered from the fact that 160 draught horses are kept going in town alone. They are splendid animals, and are stabled at the Beach Road stables. A blacksmith's shop and a wheelWright's shop are attached to the stables, for horse shoeing and repairs. The brick and pottery works are situated at Avondale, about seven miles from Auckland, on the Kaipara line. They are said to be the largest in the Colony, with a capacity of 90,000 bricks per day, besides fire-bricks, fire clay blocks, oven tiles, stove linings, drain pipes, chimney pots, roofing tiles, ridgings, sanitary appliances, filters, jam jars, acid jars, cornices and ornamental work, flower pots, etc., all of which were awarded a special gold medal at the Auckland Exhibition. The lime industry is equally extensive and must become still more important as the value of lime to the clay lands of Auckland becomes better understood. Of the hydraulic lime nothing need be said beyond quoting the testimony of Mr C. R. Vickerman, the Resident Engineer of the Public Works Department, who, in a letter to Mr Craig, said:— “I have much pleasure in stating that I have used your hydraulic lime for several years…. and in all cases with very satisfactory results. I would strongly recommend it to anyone requiring a good all-round hydraulic building lime. Several public buildings here have been erected of it, and the last one—the new 
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auxiliary asylum at Avondale—is a fair specimen for reference.” It was used also for that splendid specimen of solid brickwork—the six-storey building of the “New Zealand Herald”—and Mr James Heron, the builder, unreservedly recommends it. Many other branches of this truly wonderful business deserve special mention; but space cannot be given for all, and a few general remarks must suffice. Mr Craig pays about £150 per day in Wages, and his total turnover is about £130,000 per annum. Nearly 400 men are already employed, and the number increases almost daily. The recent acquisition of a freehold estate of 120 acres at Whangarei, in the North of Auckland, containing an enormous deposit of kaolin, promises well for a large increase in Mr Craig's demand for labour. Kaolin makes the finest china, and a fair proportion of it can can be used in the manufacture of paper. A granite quarry is also being opened on the same estate. Mr Craig, who, in enterprise and business capacity, has few if any equals, was born in Auckland on the 22nd of January, 1860, and was educated at the Carlton Academy and at Mr McVey Baird's (now Prince Albert) College, Queen Street. At the conclusion of his schooldays, Mr Craig entered his father's office and soon showed that he possessed in a rare degree the faculty for managing large concerns. Notwithstanding the multiplicity of business matters that must for ever be calling for his attention, Mr Craig has found a fair share of time for attending to public affairs. For ten years he was a member of the Licensing Bench, and for several years he has been a useful member of the Harbour Board. He is a director of the Waihi Consols Gold Mining Company, and of many other important mining companies. He is also a Master Mason and a member of the Oddfellows. Mr. Craig was married in 1888 to Miss J. Campbell, daughter of Captain Alex. Campbell, of Prince Edward Island, and has two sons and three daughters. Auckland has indeed reason to be proud of Mr J. J. Craig, for he is playing a prominent part in the development of the province. He is still quite a young man, and with a continuance of health, strength and prosperity, his power for usefulness must increase. Meanwhile the people of Auckland should emulate the example set by Mr Craig in developing the natural resources of their district and should also patronise him in every one of his enterprises. For the first both caution and capital are needed, for the second all that is required is a determination to appreciate and encourage the citizen who is perhaps doing more for Auckland than any other man in the province. The Southern Coal Mines of Auckland Province have been all amalgamated by Mr Craig. These mines have an output of between 80,000 and 90,000 tons per annum, and have a reserve fund of about £10,000 cash and £13,000 reserve shares. Under the new regime this amalgamation promises good returns to the shareholders, as there has been a saving in management alone of about £4000 a year. New warehouses, covering two acres of land near the Freezing Company's Railway Wharf, have just been erected for Mr Craig to enable him to concentrate all his varions businesses where there is a railway siding and water frontage.
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Davidge, William Thomas,
             
 Land, Estate, and Financial Agent, Hotel Broker, and Public Valuator, Coombe's Arcade, Auckland, and Queen Street, Onehunga. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Mr. Davidge was born in Auckland In 1864, and began his commercial life at the age of seventeen which he followed for several years. He was for about eleven years in the post office, Auckland. Retiring from the service on account of ill-health, Mr. Davidge established himself in Hamilton some six years
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ago, and has formed a large and increasing connection in the buying and selling of land, negotiating loans, etc., besides having had extensive experience in the grain trade and considerable business in mining interests. In 1900 Mr. Davidge removed from the Waikato to his present position in Coombe's Arcade, where he still carries on the greater part of his country business. He also does a considerable amount of business in special apartments at his private residence in Queen Street, Onehunga. Mr. Davidge was appointed Government valuator for Piako County in 1897
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Garland, George Joseph,
              Land, House, and Estate Agent, 6 Coombes' Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland. Private residence, Bond Street, Archhill.
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Grosvenor, Charles,
              A.N.Z.A.A., Public Accountant, Legal Manager, Mining and Financial Agent, Auckland. Mr. Grosvenor was born at Hunslet, a suburb of Leeds, England, in 1858, and was educated at Parnel College, near Harrogate. He is the eldest son of the late Mr. Bower Grosvenor, one of the firm of Charles Grosvenor and Son, ironmasters and colliery proprietors, Leeds, and a descendant of the late Mr. Joshua Bower, a president of the Chamber of Commerce, Leeds. Mr. Grosvenor was trained at Home for a civil engineer, but was prevented, through a combination of untoward circumstances, from obtaining his diploma. In 1884 he migrated to New Zealand, and was subsequently appointed confidential clerk and draughtsman to the Bay of Islands Coal Company at Kawakawa, but returned to Auckland in 1892, when he commenced business, as a public accountant and financial agent. Mr. Grosvenor is one of the patentees of the New Hydro-Carbon Gas Generator. He has been successful in forming a company to develop the patent in New Zealand and Australia, and occupies a prominent position in connection therewith. The name of the company is “The Premier, Light, Heat, and Power Company, Limited.” Mr. Grosvenor married Miss Effie Hipkins, daughter of the late Mr. David Hipkins, a retired Staffordshire ironmaster, and sister to the Rev. F. C. Hipkins, M.A., of Repton Priory, Derbyshire.
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Baldwin And Rayward
              (Ernest Smith Baldwin and Henrie Hampton Rayward; E. Brooke-Smith, manager), Chartered Patent Agents, Queen Street, Auckland. Head Office, Wellington.
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Mr. Edward Brooke-Smith,
              Manager of the Auckland Branch of the business of Messrs Baldwin and Rayward, was born in Birmingham, England. At an early age he went to Port Elizabeth, Cape was born in Birmingham, England. At an early age he went to Port Elizabeth, Cape Colony, and entered the service of a firm of merchants, in which he eventually became a partner. During a residence of about twenty-seven years in the colony he took a keen interest in public affairs. He was for many years honorary treasurer of the Port Elizabeth Club, and a member of the committee of the Chamber of Commerce, also a director of five local companies, including the Port Elizabeth and Uitenhage Railway Company, which initiated the first line of railway in the Eastern Province of the colony. The commercial depression which followed the retrocession of the Transvaal, depreciation in the value of his property, and a heavy loss in ostrich farming deprived him of the results of previous prosperous times, and in 1886 he came to New Zealand. For some time he was interested in mining operations on the West Coast of the South Island, and was the first to obtain special claims on the beaches for dredging purposes; the Hon. W. J. M. Laranch, Minister of Mines in 1887, granted him 200 acres on the Five Mile beach to assist him in initiating a new method of treating ground considered unworkable until that time. The Okarito Gold Dredging Company, Limited, was formed to exploit the venture, and Mr Brooke-Smith returned to Europe to procure the machinery. Owing to want of experience with the work, this plant was found to be far too small, and the company went into liquidation. While in England, Mr. Brooke-Smith promoted the New Zealand Beaches Limited Mining Company, and on its behalf took up a claim on the Three Mile Beach, which was worked by a powerful Welman hydraulic dredge. This plant proved perfectly satisfactory both as a dredge and as a gold saver, but, unhappily, the quantity of gold expected was not in the beach, and the enterprise was abandoned when almost within reach of success. Beach dredging thus received a check from which it has not yet (1900) recovered. After leaving the West Coast Mr. Brooke-Smith was for five years in business as a grain merchant in Oamaru, and in 1897, he visited America, Canada, England, and the Continent of Europe in connection with patent business. He returned to New Zealand about the end of 1898, when he settled in Auckland. Mr Brooke-Smith is married, and has one son and five daughters living.
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Lennox, James Marshall,
             
 Stock and Share Broker, National Insurance Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 702. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Lennox was born in Stirlingshire, Scotland, in 1842, and was educated in Leeds, Yorkshire. He came to Auckland in 1863 by the ship “Owen Glendower,” and was for three years connected with journalism in the “New Zealander” and the “Herald” offices. In 1866 he established himself in his present business. He has been for more than thirty years in active commercial life, and has been more or less prosperous throughout it all. Mr. Lennox has been six times chairman of the Auckland
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Stock Exchange, and has been connected with Auckland mining from its infancy. He was chairman of directors of about the first company formed; namely, the Karaka Goldmining Company, and was chairman of the Cale-donian, Hazelbank, and many other important and well-remembered companies. The passing of the Act prohibiting stockbrokers from sitting as directors of mining companies necessitated Mr. Lennox's retirement from these and similar positions. In the old military days Mr. Lennox went with the volun-teers to the front. He was for seven years a city councillor and was for a similar period a member of the Education Board and the Board of Governors of the Auckland College and Grammar School. He was also chairman of Trustees of the Remuera highway district, and of the Remuera school committee, and a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank, Commissioner of Education, Superintendent of St. Luke's Sunday School, Remuera, clerk of the session for fourteen or fifteen years, first president and then vice-president of the Auckland Chess Club. As an Oddfellows, he is attached to the Fountain of Friendship Lodge. Mr. Lennox was married in 1872 to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Scott, of Canada, who for many years was a member of the Canadian Parliament.
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                Lewis, Gabriel and Co.
              
              (Gabriel Lewis and Louis Lewis), Auctioneers, Indenters, Manufacturers' Agents, etc., 48 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone, 125. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Gabriel Lewis, the senior partner of this old-established firm, founded the well-known house of Messrs Lewis Bros., soft goods merchants, in the year 1861. The business afterwards merged into that of auctioneering, and now the firm ranks as one of the leading houses of Auckland. Messrs Lewis and Co. are also indenters, manufactures' agents, valuators and appraisers, and promoters and floaters of first-class mining properties on the London market through their bankers, Messrs Malcolm, Brunker and Co., St. Mary's Aix, London, E.C.
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Morrison, W. B. A.,
              F.S.A.A. (Eng.) Incorporated Accountant, Auckland Club Buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Morrison, son of the Rev. W. R. Morrison, M. A., who at the time of his death was vicar of St. Paul's, Canonbury, London, was educated in London, and spent some years in America before coming to New Zealand in 1878. He was for many years connected with the Bank of New Zealand, and was accountant to the Bank of New Zealand Estates Company, Ltd., at the time of his resignation to start in business as public accountant in Auckland in 1895. Mr. Morrison's office is the office of the Thames Gas Company, Ltd., of which he is secretary.
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                Stone Brothers
              
              (T. L. White and J. Bennett, successors), Shipbrokers, Licensed Custom House Agents and General Merchants, Fort Street, Auckland. Cable address, “Stone”; Code A.B.C. Telephone 37. P.O. Box 119. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This old and well-known firm was founded in 1852 by Mr. C. J. Stone, a highly esteemed citizen, who died about 1882. The business was carried on from 1864 to 1874 by Messrs C. J. Stone and Sons. Mr. C. J. Stone then retired, and Mr. C. B. Stone successfully continued the business until 1891, when the present partners took his place. The firm's ramifications extend over the Australasian colonies, in connection with grain, produce, shipping, and general merchandise. They are agents for Calley's Torbay Paints; Hayward's Sheep Dip, etc., and for Messrs William Schulze and Co., of Galashiels, Scotland, woollen manufacturers, and Messrs William Oddy and Co., Bradford, England, manufacturers.
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                Waymouth And Son
              
              (Oliver Bryant Waymouth), Public Accountants and Average Adjusters, 28 Shortland Street, Auckland. Private address, Avondale. Bankers, Bank of Australasia.
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                Mr. Waymouth
              
              was born in Auckland in 1863, and is the youngest son of the late Mr. John Waymouth, once well-known and highly respected as an accountant. Mr. Waymouth was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and spent two years in the employment of the South British Insurance Company, and subsequently joined his father as junior partner of the firm of Waymouth and Son. Since the death of Mr. Waymouth, senior, in December, 1892, Mr. O. B. Waymouth has successfully carried on the business, and has been favoured with his share of the general prosperity which has recently fallen to the lot of Auckland. Mr. Waymouth was one of the first members of the New Zealand Institute of Accountants, from which he has since, for private reasons, withdrawn. He is the local secretary of the Northern Union Steamboat Company, of which he became a director in 1897. Mr. Waymouth has acted as judge at the local regattas. His own yachts have been prize-winners, and on one occasion he won the championship prize of the New Zealand Yacht Racing Association, Wellington. He is a Freemason, and is well-known in cricket circles as a member of the West End Cricket Club, in which, for one sea-son, he obtained the best bowling average. Mr. Waymouth is married to a daughter of Mr. Charles E. Nelson, Whakarewarewa, and Las a family of five.
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Williamson, C. R. and Co.,
              Land, Estate, and Financial Agents, 93 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 78. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1876, in Vulcan Lane, by Mr. C. Williamson, who, in 1897, removed to the premises which the firm now occupies. In the early part of 1900 the founder of the firm retired, leaving his son, Mr. C. R. Williamson, who had gained a wide experience with his father, to carry on the business.
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Visitors to Auckland, February, 1901. The Indian Troops. 
Photos by F. A. Rosewarne.
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Including—Architects, Civil and Mining Engineers, Draughtsmen, Surveyors, Etc.

          

          

            
            


              

Baker, S. E. W.,
              Civil Engineer, Surveyor and Architect, Auckland. Mr. Baker is a son of Dr. Shirley Walderman Baker, D.D., LL.D., ex-Premier of Tonga. He was born at Tongatabu, Friendly Islands, in 1860, and was educated at Wesley College, Melbourne. After revisiting the Islands for a few months, he came to New Zealand in 1879, and engaged in the profession of surveyor and architect in Auckland and the surrounding districts for five years. Early in 1885, Mr. Baker returned to the Islands, and entered the service of the Tongan Government, under which he held several positions of great responsibility and trust. In 1887 an attempt was made by the natives on his father's life. In attempting to secure the would-be assassins, Mr. Baker, junior, was shot in the arm, the bones and muscles of which were shattered. Mr. Baker was laid up for many months, and came to New Zealand to obtain medical advice. He again returned to the Islands with his father at the end of the same year, and came back to this Colony in 1890. Since then he has spent several years in the Tauranga district farming and surveying. Subsequently he was engaged as a compiler for the Otago section of this Cyclopedia, and afterwards followed his profession on the Molyneux and in other parts of the colony. Mr. Baker is well-known in the Auckland provincial district and greatly esteemed by all his friends. He has recently made arrangements for the importation of dredging and mining machinery, and is removing his quarters to Oamaru.
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Bartley, Edward,
              Architect, Colonial Bank Buildings, 117 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Bartley was born in Jersey, Channel Islands, in 1839, and educated in his native place, where he also learned something of the building trade under his father, who was an architect and builder. In 1854 he came to this Colony, per ship “Joseph Fletcher,” in company with his elder brother, Mr. Robert Bartley, also a well-known and highly-respected Devonport resident. For upwards of twenty years, Mr. Bartley was in business as a builder, but for the past quarter of a century he has devoted his energies exclusively to architecture. The Auckland Savings Bank (one of the most beautiful buildings in Auckland), the Jewish Synagogue, the Opera House, Sailors' Home, Messrs Milne and Choyce's handsome block, Mr. Edson's, and many other noticeable buildings in Auckland, have been erected under the supervision and in accordance with the designs of Mr. Bartley. Of a large number of city and suburban churches, St. John's in Ponsonby Road and St. David's in Symonds Street, and Trinity Church, Devonport, may be mentioned as noteworthy specimens of his skill and judgment. He is diocesan architect for the Church of England, and has had a very wide experience of church architecture. Mr. Bartley is one of the founders of the Art Society. He is treasurer to that institution, and also chairman of the “Hanging” Committee of the City Art Gallery. As an original member of the Auckland Choral Society, established in 1855, Mr. Bartley has taken a very keen interest in musical matters, having been choirmaster of Trinity Church, Devonport, for fourteen years. Since 1871 Mr. Bartley has resided at the North Shore, and has taken a prominent part in all movements bearing on the welfare of the district, and particularly in church and educational matters. He is now and has been for many years a prominent member of the School Committee. Four years ago he started a boys' workshop in connection with the district school, and gave instruction on two nights a week for two years. This workshop is now a great success, and it took a first award at the Industrial Exhibition recently held in Auckland. Mr. Bartley is a devoted lover of science, and the scientific use of the microscope has been his hobby for over forty years. His has long been a familiar figure at social gatherings, where he has ever been ready to exhibit and explain the wonders revealed by the microscope.
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Bell, Edmund,
             
 Architect, Victoria Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr.
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Bell is not only well known as an architect, but as one who is identified with many Auckland enterprises. Born in London in 1841, he spent his early years in that city, and was educated in Essex, subsequently continuing his studies at the Toronto Commercial College. Leaving Canada in 1878, Mr. Bell settled in Auckland, where he has since practised his profession, and supervised the erection of numerous public and private buildings. He has been president of the Auckland Institute of Architects, and is also connected with a number of other public bodies and social and political organizations Mr. Bell for several years represented Birkenhead and Northcote on the Auckland Harbour Board. He was married in 1870, at Toronto, Canada, to Miss Jessie Oliphant, daughter of Mr. Walter Oliphant, formerly of Edinburgh, Scotland, and of the children born of the marriage, two sons are now living.

          

          

            
            


              

Goldsbro', George Selwyn,
              Architect, Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Mr. Goldsbro' was born in Auckland, and is a son of the late Dr. Charles Field Goldsbro'. He studied under Mr. R. Mackay Fripp, architect, from 1884 to 1888, in Auckland; but during the latter year he went to Melbourne, and in 1891 to Sydney. In Sydney he worked under Messrs Sulman and Power, architects for the Australian Joint Stock Bank, Mutua: Life Association of Australasia, Walker Hospital, and numerous large works in New South Wales; also winners of the Goulburn Asylum Competition (a work on which Mr. Goldsbro' spent some time). Mr. Goldsbro' also worked under Mr. Howard Joseland, architect of a number of picturesque houses in the suburbs of Sydney, and Mr. Theo. Kemmis, architect of Tooth's brewery, Sydney. He then returned to Auckland, where he commenced practice, and afterwards joined Mr. R. Mackay Fripp, F.R.I.B.A., in partnership, in 1896. Mr. Goldsbro' was awarded second premium against all comers from all the colonies, in a competitive design for the Auckland Stock Exchange. The firm was placed first in competition for the Taranaki Club, New Plymouth, and designed a great number of modern houses, and other works. The partnership was dissolved on the departure of Mr. R. Mackay Fripp, for British Columbia, in June, 1898.
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Keals, R. And Sons,
              Architects, Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Messrs R. Keals and Sons, the oldest firm of architects in Auckland, have designed and supervised the erection of many important works, public and private, in various parts of the colony. Mr. Richard Keals, the founder of the business, died in England, while on a visit to his native land. Mr. R. W. Keals is now the senior partner of the firm, of which the other member is his brother, Mr. Edwin Keals. He served his articles with Mr. Lloyd Taylor, a leading Melbourne architect, Mr. Keals is president of the Auckland Institute of Architects.
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Mahoney, E. And Sons,
              Architects, Mercantile Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Telephone 309. Mr. Thomas Mahoney, the surviving partner in the firm of Messrs E. Mahoney and Sons, was educated in Auckland, and studied architecture in his father's office, and he joined the firm in 1878. The firm commenced practice in 1870. In conjunction with his father, he has designed and superintended the erection of numerous public and private buildings in Auckland, and in some of the southern towns of the North Island. Amongst the most prominent of these are the Auckland Custom House, the design for which was chosen in a public competition; the former D.S.C. block, which was also a competitive design; the Auckland College and Grammar School; St. Benedict's Church, St. Patrick's Roman Catholic Cathedral; most of the principal hotels in the city; many of the branch buildings of the Bank of New Zealand; several of the largest schools belonging to the Board of Education, and numerous private buildings. Mr. Mahoney has been president of the Auckland Institute of Architects. A view illustrative of his professional talent is reproduced at page 
49 of this volume.

          

          

            
            

              

Stewart, James,
             
 M.Inst. C.E., Civil Engineer, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Stewart was born in Perthshire, Scotland, in 1832, and was educated there. He was then articled to Mr. Peter D. Brown, M.Inst., C.E., of Perth, and remained with that gentleman as pupil and chief assistant for eight years. During that time he was engaged in general engineering work, such as waterworks, railways, roads and bridges, besides executing much mechanical engineering. In 1859 he sailed for New Zealand, by the ship “Joseph Fletcher,” and arrived at Auckland on the 17th of August of that year. Mr. Stewart immediately started practising as a civil engineer and surveyor, and competed for and gained a premium offered by the Provincial Government for a design for the Auckland waterworks. He then surveyed the Auckland and Drury railway, in conjunction with Mr. Samuel Harding. In 1862–3 he was appointed engineer to the Auckland City Board of Works. At the outbreak of the Waikato war in 1864 he received a command in the second-class militia, and is still enrolled as an officer of that corps. In September of that year he was despatched to Sydney by the Minister of Defence for the purpose of procuring two towing steamers of light draft for service on the Waikato river. After returning and doing special work at the Waikato, the Railway Commissioners of the Provincial
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Government appointed him, in conjunction with Mr. Harding, engineer for the construction of the Auckland-Drury railway. This work was stopped in 1867 for want of funds, and was not resumed until 1872, when the Colonial Department of Public Works was established. Meantime Mr. Stewart was appointed by the Marine Department Inspector of Steamers and Examiner of Engineers at Auckland, He was at the same time also in private practice, and was engaged in designing the reconstruction of the boilers and machinery of various steamers, and devised the alterations in the engines of the s.s. “Stai of the South” to the compound principle, which was then in its infancy. The success of this installation and the consequent reduction of coal and increased carrying capacity had no small share in bringing about the universal adoption of the compound principle in the colonies. While in the marine department Mr. Stewart designed the lighthouse on the Bean Rocks opposite North Head, and also the lighthouse in the Ponui passage, half-way to the Thames. In 1872 he was appointed resident engineer of the Auckland and Mercer railway, and in May, 1874, the whole of the railway works in the Auckland provincial district were placed in his charge as district engineer. On the “roar” for retrenchment in 1881, he was retired from the department and re-entered private practice. Among the works then undertaken by him was the Thames Valley and Rotorua railway. He was engineer to the Te Aroha county tramways for the opening up the Waiorongomai mines, and was appointed consulting engineer to the Auckland city tramways. At that time Mr. Stewart was joined in partnership by Mr, Ashley Hunter, and the firm carried out these works. Mr. Stewart designed the new pumps for the Calliope Dock. In 1894 Mr. Hunter retired from the firm, and Mr. Stewart has carried on the business since that date, and has mainly devoted his attention to the electric traction of the Auckland city tramways, in connection with which he paid a visit to England in 1896, Mr. Stewart was married in Scotland, in 1859, and has a family of three surviving sons and four daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Wade, H. L.
             , Architect and Building Surveyor, Victoria Areade, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Wade is the eldest son of the late Mr. H. G. Wade, architect, so well known in the profession. He was born in Auckland in 1878, and educated at the Wellesley Street school, the Papatoitoi district school, and the Auckland College and Grammar School. Mr. Wade was articled to his father, who finally relinquished his business to his son, in November, 1899, and he has successfully retained and developed the large practice, which was so ably built up by his father. He was elected secretary of the Auckland Institute of Architects in September, 1900, Mr. Wade has followed in his father's footsteps, by becoming a member of the Ledges Waitemata, 689, E.C., Prince of Wales, 1338, E.C., and Harmony, E.C.(of Otahuhu). He also holds the office of N.G. in the Loyal Fountain of Friendship Lodge, Manchester Unity, Independent Order of Oddfellows.
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White, Thomas Henry,
              J.P., Architect, Victoria Areade, Auckland. Mr. White was born in Birmingham, England, in 1813, and educated there and at Paris, he went to Melbourne, and in 1863 came to New Zealand, and followed his profession in Waikato and Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Wilson, Arthur P.,
              Architect, 306 and 307 Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Mr. Wilson was born in London, and educated at the Godolphin school, Hammersmith. He was, first as a pupil, and afterwards as an assistant for ten years, with Mr. William Oakley, F.R.I.B.A., of 29 Charles Street, t. James Square, London. While Mr. Wilson was with him, Mr. Oakley carried on various large and important works in many parts of England. Mr. Wilson at the same time studied architecture at the London University, under the leading professors of the day. On leaving Mr. Oakley, he practised for two years on his own account at No. 3 Duke Street, Adelphi. He had always, however, had a wish to visit the colonies, and came to New Zealand. After spending some time in the principal cities of the North and South Islands, he decided to make his home in Auckland, and practise his profession. In this he has been most successful, and some of the most important buildings in the city of Auckland have been built from his designs. The list includes the Northern Steamship Company's new offices; the Strand Areade, probably one of the largest edifices in the city; Messrs Kempthorne, Prossor and Co,'s large warehouse, adjoining the Star Hote!; Messrs Sargood, Son, and Ewen's additional premises in Durham Street West; and Messrs Briscoe, Maeneil and Co.'s iron and metal warehouse. Mr. Wilson also acted as superintending architect for the “New Zealand Herald's” new offices and printing establishment, one of the finest newspaper offices in Australasia. He is architect for the Auckland Racing Club, and has erected many of the most striking private residences in the suburbs of Auckland.
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Baker, S. E. W.,
              Civil Engineer, Surveyor and Architect, Auckland. Mr. Baker is a son of Dr. Shirley Walderman Baker, D.D., LL.D., ex-Premier of Tonga. He was born at Tongatabu, Friendly Islands, in 1860, and was educated at Wesley College, Melbourne. After revisiting the Islands for a few months, he came to New Zealand in 1879, and engaged in the profession of surveyor and architect in Auckland and the surrounding districts for five years. Early in 1885, Mr. Baker returned to the Islands, and entered the service of the Tongan Government, under which he held several positions of great responsibility and trust. In 1887 an attempt was made by the natives on his father's life. In attempting to secure the would-be assassins, Mr. Baker, junior, was shot in the arm, the bones and muscles of which were shattered. Mr. Baker was laid up for many months, and came to New Zealand to obtain medical advice. He again returned to the Islands with his father at the end of the same year, and came back to this Colony in 1890. Since then he has spent several years in the Tauranga district farming and surveying. Subsequently he was engaged as a compiler for the Otago section of this Cyclopedia, and afterwards followed his profession on the Molyneux and in other parts of the colony. Mr. Baker is well-known in the Auckland provincial district and greatly esteemed by all his friends. He has recently made arrangements for the importation of dredging and mining machinery, and is removing his quarters to Oamaru.
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Bartley, Edward,
              Architect, Colonial Bank Buildings, 117 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Bartley was born in Jersey, Channel Islands, in 1839, and educated in his native place, where he also learned something of the building trade under his father, who was an architect and builder. In 1854 he came to this Colony, per ship “Joseph Fletcher,” in company with his elder brother, Mr. Robert Bartley, also a well-known and highly-respected Devonport resident. For upwards of twenty years, Mr. Bartley was in business as a builder, but for the past quarter of a century he has devoted his energies exclusively to architecture. The Auckland Savings Bank (one of the most beautiful buildings in Auckland), the Jewish Synagogue, the Opera House, Sailors' Home, Messrs Milne and Choyce's handsome block, Mr. Edson's, and many other noticeable buildings in Auckland, have been erected under the supervision and in accordance with the designs of Mr. Bartley. Of a large number of city and suburban churches, St. John's in Ponsonby Road and St. David's in Symonds Street, and Trinity Church, Devonport, may be mentioned as noteworthy specimens of his skill and judgment. He is diocesan architect for the Church of England, and has had a very wide experience of church architecture. Mr. Bartley is one of the founders of the Art Society. He is treasurer to that institution, and also chairman of the “Hanging” Committee of the City Art Gallery. As an original member of the Auckland Choral Society, established in 1855, Mr. Bartley has taken a very keen interest in musical matters, having been choirmaster of Trinity Church, Devonport, for fourteen years. Since 1871 Mr. Bartley has resided at the North Shore, and has taken a prominent part in all movements bearing on the welfare of the district, and particularly in church and educational matters. He is now and has been for many years a prominent member of the School Committee. Four years ago he started a boys' workshop in connection with the district school, and gave instruction on two nights a week for two years. This workshop is now a great success, and it took a first award at the Industrial Exhibition recently held in Auckland. Mr. Bartley is a devoted lover of science, and the scientific use of the microscope has been his hobby for over forty years. His has long been a familiar figure at social gatherings, where he has ever been ready to exhibit and explain the wonders revealed by the microscope.
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Bell, Edmund,
             
 Architect, Victoria Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr.
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Bell is not only well known as an architect, but as one who is identified with many Auckland enterprises. Born in London in 1841, he spent his early years in that city, and was educated in Essex, subsequently continuing his studies at the Toronto Commercial College. Leaving Canada in 1878, Mr. Bell settled in Auckland, where he has since practised his profession, and supervised the erection of numerous public and private buildings. He has been president of the Auckland Institute of Architects, and is also connected with a number of other public bodies and social and political organizations Mr. Bell for several years represented Birkenhead and Northcote on the Auckland Harbour Board. He was married in 1870, at Toronto, Canada, to Miss Jessie Oliphant, daughter of Mr. Walter Oliphant, formerly of Edinburgh, Scotland, and of the children born of the marriage, two sons are now living.
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Goldsbro', George Selwyn,
              Architect, Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Mr. Goldsbro' was born in Auckland, and is a son of the late Dr. Charles Field Goldsbro'. He studied under Mr. R. Mackay Fripp, architect, from 1884 to 1888, in Auckland; but during the latter year he went to Melbourne, and in 1891 to Sydney. In Sydney he worked under Messrs Sulman and Power, architects for the Australian Joint Stock Bank, Mutua: Life Association of Australasia, Walker Hospital, and numerous large works in New South Wales; also winners of the Goulburn Asylum Competition (a work on which Mr. Goldsbro' spent some time). Mr. Goldsbro' also worked under Mr. Howard Joseland, architect of a number of picturesque houses in the suburbs of Sydney, and Mr. Theo. Kemmis, architect of Tooth's brewery, Sydney. He then returned to Auckland, where he commenced practice, and afterwards joined Mr. R. Mackay Fripp, F.R.I.B.A., in partnership, in 1896. Mr. Goldsbro' was awarded second premium against all comers from all the colonies, in a competitive design for the Auckland Stock Exchange. The firm was placed first in competition for the Taranaki Club, New Plymouth, and designed a great number of modern houses, and other works. The partnership was dissolved on the departure of Mr. R. Mackay Fripp, for British Columbia, in June, 1898.
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Keals, R. And Sons,
              Architects, Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Messrs R. Keals and Sons, the oldest firm of architects in Auckland, have designed and supervised the erection of many important works, public and private, in various parts of the colony. Mr. Richard Keals, the founder of the business, died in England, while on a visit to his native land. Mr. R. W. Keals is now the senior partner of the firm, of which the other member is his brother, Mr. Edwin Keals. He served his articles with Mr. Lloyd Taylor, a leading Melbourne architect, Mr. Keals is president of the Auckland Institute of Architects.
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Mahoney, E. And Sons,
              Architects, Mercantile Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Telephone 309. Mr. Thomas Mahoney, the surviving partner in the firm of Messrs E. Mahoney and Sons, was educated in Auckland, and studied architecture in his father's office, and he joined the firm in 1878. The firm commenced practice in 1870. In conjunction with his father, he has designed and superintended the erection of numerous public and private buildings in Auckland, and in some of the southern towns of the North Island. Amongst the most prominent of these are the Auckland Custom House, the design for which was chosen in a public competition; the former D.S.C. block, which was also a competitive design; the Auckland College and Grammar School; St. Benedict's Church, St. Patrick's Roman Catholic Cathedral; most of the principal hotels in the city; many of the branch buildings of the Bank of New Zealand; several of the largest schools belonging to the Board of Education, and numerous private buildings. Mr. Mahoney has been president of the Auckland Institute of Architects. A view illustrative of his professional talent is reproduced at page 
49 of this volume.
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Stewart, James,
             
 M.Inst. C.E., Civil Engineer, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Stewart was born in Perthshire, Scotland, in 1832, and was educated there. He was then articled to Mr. Peter D. Brown, M.Inst., C.E., of Perth, and remained with that gentleman as pupil and chief assistant for eight years. During that time he was engaged in general engineering work, such as waterworks, railways, roads and bridges, besides executing much mechanical engineering. In 1859 he sailed for New Zealand, by the ship “Joseph Fletcher,” and arrived at Auckland on the 17th of August of that year. Mr. Stewart immediately started practising as a civil engineer and surveyor, and competed for and gained a premium offered by the Provincial Government for a design for the Auckland waterworks. He then surveyed the Auckland and Drury railway, in conjunction with Mr. Samuel Harding. In 1862–3 he was appointed engineer to the Auckland City Board of Works. At the outbreak of the Waikato war in 1864 he received a command in the second-class militia, and is still enrolled as an officer of that corps. In September of that year he was despatched to Sydney by the Minister of Defence for the purpose of procuring two towing steamers of light draft for service on the Waikato river. After returning and doing special work at the Waikato, the Railway Commissioners of the Provincial
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Government appointed him, in conjunction with Mr. Harding, engineer for the construction of the Auckland-Drury railway. This work was stopped in 1867 for want of funds, and was not resumed until 1872, when the Colonial Department of Public Works was established. Meantime Mr. Stewart was appointed by the Marine Department Inspector of Steamers and Examiner of Engineers at Auckland, He was at the same time also in private practice, and was engaged in designing the reconstruction of the boilers and machinery of various steamers, and devised the alterations in the engines of the s.s. “Stai of the South” to the compound principle, which was then in its infancy. The success of this installation and the consequent reduction of coal and increased carrying capacity had no small share in bringing about the universal adoption of the compound principle in the colonies. While in the marine department Mr. Stewart designed the lighthouse on the Bean Rocks opposite North Head, and also the lighthouse in the Ponui passage, half-way to the Thames. In 1872 he was appointed resident engineer of the Auckland and Mercer railway, and in May, 1874, the whole of the railway works in the Auckland provincial district were placed in his charge as district engineer. On the “roar” for retrenchment in 1881, he was retired from the department and re-entered private practice. Among the works then undertaken by him was the Thames Valley and Rotorua railway. He was engineer to the Te Aroha county tramways for the opening up the Waiorongomai mines, and was appointed consulting engineer to the Auckland city tramways. At that time Mr. Stewart was joined in partnership by Mr, Ashley Hunter, and the firm carried out these works. Mr. Stewart designed the new pumps for the Calliope Dock. In 1894 Mr. Hunter retired from the firm, and Mr. Stewart has carried on the business since that date, and has mainly devoted his attention to the electric traction of the Auckland city tramways, in connection with which he paid a visit to England in 1896, Mr. Stewart was married in Scotland, in 1859, and has a family of three surviving sons and four daughters.
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Wade, H. L.
             , Architect and Building Surveyor, Victoria Areade, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Wade is the eldest son of the late Mr. H. G. Wade, architect, so well known in the profession. He was born in Auckland in 1878, and educated at the Wellesley Street school, the Papatoitoi district school, and the Auckland College and Grammar School. Mr. Wade was articled to his father, who finally relinquished his business to his son, in November, 1899, and he has successfully retained and developed the large practice, which was so ably built up by his father. He was elected secretary of the Auckland Institute of Architects in September, 1900, Mr. Wade has followed in his father's footsteps, by becoming a member of the Ledges Waitemata, 689, E.C., Prince of Wales, 1338, E.C., and Harmony, E.C.(of Otahuhu). He also holds the office of N.G. in the Loyal Fountain of Friendship Lodge, Manchester Unity, Independent Order of Oddfellows.
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White, Thomas Henry,
              J.P., Architect, Victoria Areade, Auckland. Mr. White was born in Birmingham, England, in 1813, and educated there and at Paris, he went to Melbourne, and in 1863 came to New Zealand, and followed his profession in Waikato and Auckland.
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Wilson, Arthur P.,
              Architect, 306 and 307 Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Mr. Wilson was born in London, and educated at the Godolphin school, Hammersmith. He was, first as a pupil, and afterwards as an assistant for ten years, with Mr. William Oakley, F.R.I.B.A., of 29 Charles Street, t. James Square, London. While Mr. Wilson was with him, Mr. Oakley carried on various large and important works in many parts of England. Mr. Wilson at the same time studied architecture at the London University, under the leading professors of the day. On leaving Mr. Oakley, he practised for two years on his own account at No. 3 Duke Street, Adelphi. He had always, however, had a wish to visit the colonies, and came to New Zealand. After spending some time in the principal cities of the North and South Islands, he decided to make his home in Auckland, and practise his profession. In this he has been most successful, and some of the most important buildings in the city of Auckland have been built from his designs. The list includes the Northern Steamship Company's new offices; the Strand Areade, probably one of the largest edifices in the city; Messrs Kempthorne, Prossor and Co,'s large warehouse, adjoining the Star Hote!; Messrs Sargood, Son, and Ewen's additional premises in Durham Street West; and Messrs Briscoe, Maeneil and Co.'s iron and metal warehouse. Mr. Wilson also acted as superintending architect for the “New Zealand Herald's” new offices and printing establishment, one of the finest newspaper offices in Australasia. He is architect for the Auckland Racing Club, and has erected many of the most striking private residences in the suburbs of Auckland.
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Bartlett, Wiliam Henry,
              Art Photographer, Queen Street, Auckland. Branches: Whangarei and Dargaville, Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Bartlett's business is carried on is a fine three-storey brick building, situated in one of the busiest parts of Queen Street. The premises have been fitted up on the most complete scale, and in the vestibule on the ground floor—one of the finest in the city— specimens of Mr Bartlett's artistic work are exhibited in handsome show cases. Mr. Bartlett makes a specialty of enlarged portraits in oils, etc., and the artistic merits of his specimens attract hundreds of visitors. The office, reception rooms, dressing rooms, and photographic gallery are situated on the second floor. No expense has been spared in funishing the reception rooms. The gallery covers a floorage space of about 1000 square feet, and great attention has been paid to the lighting, which is regulated by a special system of blinds. All the accessories are quite up to date. The third floor contains three large rooms, which are used for printing, enlarging, and finishing. Six hands are employed, and three artists are engaged in executing oil paintings, in which a large business is done. The whole of the work is under the personal supervision of Mr. Bartlett, who carried off the Special Gold Medal for portraiture at the Auckland Exhibition in March, 1895. Enlargements can be framed on the premises, and Mr. Bartlett has an endless variety of mouldings, imported direct from the manufacturers. Mr. Bartlett was born in Auckland, in 1870. He was educated at the Auckland Grammar school, and had many years of experience at his business before establishing himself. Mr. Bartlett takes great interest in musical matters, and he is a Freemason and member of the West End Rowing Club. The Whangarei branch of his business is under the management of Mr. Bayne, who is well and favourably known throughout the district.
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Hanna, John Robert,
             
 Photographer, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 351. Mr. Hanna was born in Ireland, and arrived in New Zealand thirty-five years ago. He began work in his profession with Mr. R. H. Bartlett, of Auckland, whose business he subsequently managed for some time. For ten years after leaving Mr. Bartlett he was a member of the firm of Messrs Hemus and Hanna, and managed the business. In 1885 the firm was dissolved by mutual consent, and Mr. Hanna bought the business which was established by the late Mr. Crombie in 1855, and is the oldest in Auckland. The building is of brick, three stories in height, and has about 2500 square feet of floor space. A handsome vestibule, adorned with choice specimens of photographie art, leads to the reception room on the first floor. The studio, 16 feet by 40 feet, was built from Mr. Hanna's own designs, and is admirably adapted for the


[image: Mr. J. R. Hanna.]

Mr. 
J. R. Hanna.





purpose. The light is excellent, as the studio is glazed on both sides to within a few inches of the floor, and the appointments are elegant, the background scenery having been specially imported. Mr. Hanna's work is noted for excellence in quality, tone, and finish, and at the American Photographic Artists' Convention, in Washington, he secured a bronze medal in the foreign section. The “Photogram,” of May, 1894, devoted three pages to Mr. Hanna, his studio, and his work, in consequence of a packet of his photograms having been received in London. These were so beautiful that they were shown to the Photographic Club, and to the London and Provincial Photographic Association. The verdict was that no man in Britain was doing better all round portraiture, and Mr. Thomas Fall, the president of the Association, wrote to say that he had never seen such lovely work. Mr. Hanna employs seven assistants, his portraits go all over the world, and he recently completed for a London gentleman an order for 300. His trade mark is an autograph “Hanna.” There used to be on view in the vestibule of Mr. Hanna's studio a very fine shield, which contained the portraits of over 160 Aucklanders, deemed worthy of portraiture in connection with the district's jubilee in 1892. It is now in the Free Library, and will repay inspection as a specimen of fine photographic art, and as a collection of colonial and provincial worthies. Mr. Hanna has been thirty-five years in Auckland, and as a Freemason he is Provincial Grand Secretary for New Zealand under the Irish Constitution.
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Morton, John Carnduff,
              Photographer, the Balmoral Studio, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Morton is a native of Edinburgh, Scotland, and was brought up to the business of manufacturing photographic apparatus. He studied the art of photography in order to gain full technical knowledge, and was in business near Edinburgh for twelve months before leaving for New Zealand. He arrived in the colony by the s.s. “Orient,” via Melbourne, in 1881, and for two years was assistant to Mr. Morris in Dunedin. For seven years subsequently he was manager and operator for Mr. Josiah Martin in Auckland. The present business has been successfully carried on by Mr. Morton since 1891. His premises are three stories in height, and are built in brick, with cement facings. The ground floor has a large and commedious showroom, with a large room at the back, and the first floor upstairs contains a beautifully-lighted studio, 40 feet by 20 feet. There are also three well-appointed dressing-rooms. There is a complete suite of lofty, airy, and well-lighted workrooms on the top floor. Mr Morton makes a specialty of enlargements in bromide and on opal; he was, in fact, one of the first to do this class of work in Dunedin. He has erected a branch studio at his private residence, Glenmore House, New North Road, specially fitted for bridal parties.

          

          

            
            

              

Goldie, Charles Frederick,
             
 Artist, Auckland. Mr. Goldie is second son of Mr. David Goldie, so well known as a public man, a man of business, and as an ex-Mayor of Auckland, and on the paternal side he is a grandson of Mr. Partington, a celebrated English artist. He was born in 1871, and educated at the Auckland College and Grammar school. From his earliest days he gave promise of great artistic talent, and on leaving school studied art under Mr. L. J. Steele and the late Mr. Robert Atkinson, both



well-known and prominent artists in Auckland. In 1892 Mr. Goldie went to Paris, and studied in the Academie Julian, the celebrated French school, under Professors Bouguereau, Constant, Ferrier, and Baschet. He studied anatomy at the Beaux Arts, under Professor Duval, who has written a book which is regarded as a standard work on artistic anatomy. Under these gentlemen Mr. Goldie studied figure painting for five years and a half. He also studied and copied in the Louvre, the Luxembourg, and in nearly all the other famous art galleries in Europe—namely, at Antwerp, Rome, Florence, Venice, Milan, Naples, Amsterdam, the Hague, Rotterdam, Haarlem, Brussels, Bruges, Dusseldorf, and London. Mr. Goldie specially studied figure painting, in which he displays great and acknowledged talent. In a competition with 300 pupils at the Academie Julian, for a study from life, he was successful in obtaining a prize medal, with 150 francs. This work, which received the highest commendation from the professors, now adorns the walls of the Academie. In the portrait competition, which is held once a year, Mr. Goldie was successful in being placed twice second, and once third, and received numerous other mentions for other studies, also against 300 competitors. About 1898 Mr. Goldie returned to New Zealand, and in collaboration with Mr. Steele, one of his early masters, painted the celebrated picture, “The Arrival of the Maoris,” the conception and execution of which bear the stamp of genius. The picture was immediately secured for the Auckland Art Gallery, and was lent in 1900 to the Christchurch Exhibition, at which it won the greatest admiration for the talent of the artists, by whose permission it is reproduced in this work. Mr. Goldie is now (1901) engaged on a picture representing Christ disputing with the doctors or rabbis in the temple at Jerusalem. The subject is a most ambitious one, and embraces in all about fifteen figures. Its conception and colouring show that Mr. Goldie is a man of that kind of talent, which, sooner or later, makes its possessor notable, not only in his
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native land, but beyond it. Mr Goldie's studio, which is considered to be one of the most artistic south of the line, occupies the top flat of Hobson's Buildings, in Shortland Street. Mr. Goldie has a large number of pupils, many of whom come from the extreme ends of the colony. In his college days he was a well-known footballer and patron of other kindred sports. He was a member of the Olympic Football Club at Paris, and played against the Oxford University team, which was beaten by one point.
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Steele, Louis John,
              Artist, Auckland. Mr. Steele was born at Reigate, Surrey, England, in 1842. His father, Dr. John Sesson Steele, was a man of eminence in his profession, and was one of the Governors of the Medical College at Epsom. Mr. Steele was educated at Reigate Grammar School, and studied painting at the Royal Academy. Through the advice of his cousin, W. Haussoullier, an eminent French artist, he entered the Beaux Arts at Paris, and studied for some years. In 1867 he entered the Royal Academy at Florence, and after his return to England he made a name for himself in the art of etching. His etching of “Napoleon on the Bellerophon” received great praise, and was the largest etching done up to that time. On his arrival in Auckland, Mr. Steele took a foremost position in his profession, and his pictures, when exhibited, received great praise from art critics. That notable work, “The Arrival of the Maoris,” was produced by Mr. Steele in collaboration with Mr. Goldie, and now adorns the walls of the Auckland Art Gallery.
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Wright, Frank,
             
 Artist, 211 Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Mr. Wright was born in Nottingham, England, in 1860, and is descended from a talented artistic family, who have been for more than three generations lace designers in Nottingham. He studied at the South Kensington School of Art for three years, under Mr. J. S. Rawle, F.R.S.A., and was the winner of several competitions in designing. Mr. Wright came to New Zealand in 1877, and after going through a varied colonial experience, began in 1888 to teach in his profession, and soon had a large number of pupils. He has painted a number of pictures, which have been much admired by lovers of art. Two of his pictures in water colours—“At Matakana” a large picture 30 by 20) and “Karaka Creek”—were purchased by a bequest from the late Mrs Browning, and selected by the committee of the Auckland Art Society for the Auckland Art Gallery. The large oil painting (48 by 30), entitled “The Mill Valley,” was purchased for the Art Gallery by the trustees of the late Mrs Boyd. Some of Mr. Wright's pictures have been purchased for Ceylon, Russia, and England. A large painting, showing Maoris building a
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canoe, produced in collaboration with his brother, Mr. W. Wright, has attracted a great deal of attention. This picture, which measures 72 by 42 inches, contains seventeen figures, and shows great talent. Mr. Wright, in addition to being an artist of recognised talent, is a musician, and the possessor of a tenor voice. He has been chairman of the Auckland Liedertafel since its inception, with a break of one year. He is a member of the Savage Club, and one of the “Waita” Quartet Club of male singers. Mr. Wright is unmarried, and resides at Ponsonby.
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Bartlett, Wiliam Henry,
              Art Photographer, Queen Street, Auckland. Branches: Whangarei and Dargaville, Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Bartlett's business is carried on is a fine three-storey brick building, situated in one of the busiest parts of Queen Street. The premises have been fitted up on the most complete scale, and in the vestibule on the ground floor—one of the finest in the city— specimens of Mr Bartlett's artistic work are exhibited in handsome show cases. Mr. Bartlett makes a specialty of enlarged portraits in oils, etc., and the artistic merits of his specimens attract hundreds of visitors. The office, reception rooms, dressing rooms, and photographic gallery are situated on the second floor. No expense has been spared in funishing the reception rooms. The gallery covers a floorage space of about 1000 square feet, and great attention has been paid to the lighting, which is regulated by a special system of blinds. All the accessories are quite up to date. The third floor contains three large rooms, which are used for printing, enlarging, and finishing. Six hands are employed, and three artists are engaged in executing oil paintings, in which a large business is done. The whole of the work is under the personal supervision of Mr. Bartlett, who carried off the Special Gold Medal for portraiture at the Auckland Exhibition in March, 1895. Enlargements can be framed on the premises, and Mr. Bartlett has an endless variety of mouldings, imported direct from the manufacturers. Mr. Bartlett was born in Auckland, in 1870. He was educated at the Auckland Grammar school, and had many years of experience at his business before establishing himself. Mr. Bartlett takes great interest in musical matters, and he is a Freemason and member of the West End Rowing Club. The Whangarei branch of his business is under the management of Mr. Bayne, who is well and favourably known throughout the district.
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Hanna, John Robert,
             
 Photographer, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 351. Mr. Hanna was born in Ireland, and arrived in New Zealand thirty-five years ago. He began work in his profession with Mr. R. H. Bartlett, of Auckland, whose business he subsequently managed for some time. For ten years after leaving Mr. Bartlett he was a member of the firm of Messrs Hemus and Hanna, and managed the business. In 1885 the firm was dissolved by mutual consent, and Mr. Hanna bought the business which was established by the late Mr. Crombie in 1855, and is the oldest in Auckland. The building is of brick, three stories in height, and has about 2500 square feet of floor space. A handsome vestibule, adorned with choice specimens of photographie art, leads to the reception room on the first floor. The studio, 16 feet by 40 feet, was built from Mr. Hanna's own designs, and is admirably adapted for the
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purpose. The light is excellent, as the studio is glazed on both sides to within a few inches of the floor, and the appointments are elegant, the background scenery having been specially imported. Mr. Hanna's work is noted for excellence in quality, tone, and finish, and at the American Photographic Artists' Convention, in Washington, he secured a bronze medal in the foreign section. The “Photogram,” of May, 1894, devoted three pages to Mr. Hanna, his studio, and his work, in consequence of a packet of his photograms having been received in London. These were so beautiful that they were shown to the Photographic Club, and to the London and Provincial Photographic Association. The verdict was that no man in Britain was doing better all round portraiture, and Mr. Thomas Fall, the president of the Association, wrote to say that he had never seen such lovely work. Mr. Hanna employs seven assistants, his portraits go all over the world, and he recently completed for a London gentleman an order for 300. His trade mark is an autograph “Hanna.” There used to be on view in the vestibule of Mr. Hanna's studio a very fine shield, which contained the portraits of over 160 Aucklanders, deemed worthy of portraiture in connection with the district's jubilee in 1892. It is now in the Free Library, and will repay inspection as a specimen of fine photographic art, and as a collection of colonial and provincial worthies. Mr. Hanna has been thirty-five years in Auckland, and as a Freemason he is Provincial Grand Secretary for New Zealand under the Irish Constitution.
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Morton, John Carnduff,
              Photographer, the Balmoral Studio, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Morton is a native of Edinburgh, Scotland, and was brought up to the business of manufacturing photographic apparatus. He studied the art of photography in order to gain full technical knowledge, and was in business near Edinburgh for twelve months before leaving for New Zealand. He arrived in the colony by the s.s. “Orient,” via Melbourne, in 1881, and for two years was assistant to Mr. Morris in Dunedin. For seven years subsequently he was manager and operator for Mr. Josiah Martin in Auckland. The present business has been successfully carried on by Mr. Morton since 1891. His premises are three stories in height, and are built in brick, with cement facings. The ground floor has a large and commedious showroom, with a large room at the back, and the first floor upstairs contains a beautifully-lighted studio, 40 feet by 20 feet. There are also three well-appointed dressing-rooms. There is a complete suite of lofty, airy, and well-lighted workrooms on the top floor. Mr Morton makes a specialty of enlargements in bromide and on opal; he was, in fact, one of the first to do this class of work in Dunedin. He has erected a branch studio at his private residence, Glenmore House, New North Road, specially fitted for bridal parties.
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Goldie, Charles Frederick,
             
 Artist, Auckland. Mr. Goldie is second son of Mr. David Goldie, so well known as a public man, a man of business, and as an ex-Mayor of Auckland, and on the paternal side he is a grandson of Mr. Partington, a celebrated English artist. He was born in 1871, and educated at the Auckland College and Grammar school. From his earliest days he gave promise of great artistic talent, and on leaving school studied art under Mr. L. J. Steele and the late Mr. Robert Atkinson, both



well-known and prominent artists in Auckland. In 1892 Mr. Goldie went to Paris, and studied in the Academie Julian, the celebrated French school, under Professors Bouguereau, Constant, Ferrier, and Baschet. He studied anatomy at the Beaux Arts, under Professor Duval, who has written a book which is regarded as a standard work on artistic anatomy. Under these gentlemen Mr. Goldie studied figure painting for five years and a half. He also studied and copied in the Louvre, the Luxembourg, and in nearly all the other famous art galleries in Europe—namely, at Antwerp, Rome, Florence, Venice, Milan, Naples, Amsterdam, the Hague, Rotterdam, Haarlem, Brussels, Bruges, Dusseldorf, and London. Mr. Goldie specially studied figure painting, in which he displays great and acknowledged talent. In a competition with 300 pupils at the Academie Julian, for a study from life, he was successful in obtaining a prize medal, with 150 francs. This work, which received the highest commendation from the professors, now adorns the walls of the Academie. In the portrait competition, which is held once a year, Mr. Goldie was successful in being placed twice second, and once third, and received numerous other mentions for other studies, also against 300 competitors. About 1898 Mr. Goldie returned to New Zealand, and in collaboration with Mr. Steele, one of his early masters, painted the celebrated picture, “The Arrival of the Maoris,” the conception and execution of which bear the stamp of genius. The picture was immediately secured for the Auckland Art Gallery, and was lent in 1900 to the Christchurch Exhibition, at which it won the greatest admiration for the talent of the artists, by whose permission it is reproduced in this work. Mr. Goldie is now (1901) engaged on a picture representing Christ disputing with the doctors or rabbis in the temple at Jerusalem. The subject is a most ambitious one, and embraces in all about fifteen figures. Its conception and colouring show that Mr. Goldie is a man of that kind of talent, which, sooner or later, makes its possessor notable, not only in his
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native land, but beyond it. Mr Goldie's studio, which is considered to be one of the most artistic south of the line, occupies the top flat of Hobson's Buildings, in Shortland Street. Mr. Goldie has a large number of pupils, many of whom come from the extreme ends of the colony. In his college days he was a well-known footballer and patron of other kindred sports. He was a member of the Olympic Football Club at Paris, and played against the Oxford University team, which was beaten by one point.

            

              

[image: Mr. Goldie's Studio: Another View.]

Mr. Goldie's Studio: Another View.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Steele, Louis John



            
            


              

Steele, Louis John,
              Artist, Auckland. Mr. Steele was born at Reigate, Surrey, England, in 1842. His father, Dr. John Sesson Steele, was a man of eminence in his profession, and was one of the Governors of the Medical College at Epsom. Mr. Steele was educated at Reigate Grammar School, and studied painting at the Royal Academy. Through the advice of his cousin, W. Haussoullier, an eminent French artist, he entered the Beaux Arts at Paris, and studied for some years. In 1867 he entered the Royal Academy at Florence, and after his return to England he made a name for himself in the art of etching. His etching of “Napoleon on the Bellerophon” received great praise, and was the largest etching done up to that time. On his arrival in Auckland, Mr. Steele took a foremost position in his profession, and his pictures, when exhibited, received great praise from art critics. That notable work, “The Arrival of the Maoris,” was produced by Mr. Steele in collaboration with Mr. Goldie, and now adorns the walls of the Auckland Art Gallery.
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Wright, Frank,
             
 Artist, 211 Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Mr. Wright was born in Nottingham, England, in 1860, and is descended from a talented artistic family, who have been for more than three generations lace designers in Nottingham. He studied at the South Kensington School of Art for three years, under Mr. J. S. Rawle, F.R.S.A., and was the winner of several competitions in designing. Mr. Wright came to New Zealand in 1877, and after going through a varied colonial experience, began in 1888 to teach in his profession, and soon had a large number of pupils. He has painted a number of pictures, which have been much admired by lovers of art. Two of his pictures in water colours—“At Matakana” a large picture 30 by 20) and “Karaka Creek”—were purchased by a bequest from the late Mrs Browning, and selected by the committee of the Auckland Art Society for the Auckland Art Gallery. The large oil painting (48 by 30), entitled “The Mill Valley,” was purchased for the Art Gallery by the trustees of the late Mrs Boyd. Some of Mr. Wright's pictures have been purchased for Ceylon, Russia, and England. A large painting, showing Maoris building a
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canoe, produced in collaboration with his brother, Mr. W. Wright, has attracted a great deal of attention. This picture, which measures 72 by 42 inches, contains seventeen figures, and shows great talent. Mr. Wright, in addition to being an artist of recognised talent, is a musician, and the possessor of a tenor voice. He has been chairman of the Auckland Liedertafel since its inception, with a break of one year. He is a member of the Savage Club, and one of the “Waita” Quartet Club of male singers. Mr. Wright is unmarried, and resides at Ponsonby.
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Bakers and Confectioners, Etc.

          

            
Including—Bakers and Confectioners, Biscuit and Confectionery Manufacturers, Caterers, Pastry Cooks, Etc.

          

          

            
            


              

Barber, Robert,
              Baker, Confectioner and Pastrycook, Karangahape Read, Auck and. This business was originally established by Mr. Henry Brown, and has been only a few years in Mr. Barber's possession. The shop, which is of wood, is two stories in height, and a portion is set aside and fitted up as a refreshment room. Mr. Barber has a fine display of choice confectionery, and makes a specialty of wedding cakes, and all kinds of sugar work. Mr. Barber was born and educated in Edinburgh, but learned his trade with Mr. T. Scott, of Cumberland, England. He came to New Zealand in 1888, and after his arrival in Auckland, he entered the employment of Mr. Leigh, of Queen Street, and was his foreman for nine years, at the end of which he commenced business on his own account.
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Burton, J.,
              Baker, Confectioner and Family Grocer, Grafton Road, Auckland. Telephone 606. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Mr. Burton arrived in Auckland by the ship “Egmont,” in July, 1860. After spending eight years in the country districts, he returned to the city, and entered the employment of the late Mr. Charles Canning in Shortland Street. In 1875 he left Mr. Canning's service to start business in Hobson Street, in partnership with Mr. Bernie, another of Mr. Canning's employees. The firm experienced the difficulties that usually beset beginners, and the partnership was dissolved in 1878, when Mr. Burton removed to Grafton Road, where he has since carried on a steadily increasing business. His premises are freehold, and occupy one of the finest sites in or around Auckland. Mr Burton's business motto has been “Excelsior,” and he has found that by steadily facing difficulties he has been able to overcome them.
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Davis, James,
              Baker, Confectioner and Family Grocer, New North Road, Auckland. Mr. Davis was born in 1822, in Herefordshire, England, and was engaged at farm work for several years. He emigrated to New South Wales in 1848, and remained in Australia for six years, after which he returned to England, and took to farming again for seventeen years. In 1873 he left England for New Zealand, by the ship “Queen of the Age,” and arrived in Auckland, where he followed various occupations for five years. He established his present business twenty-three years ago, and for many years past has been assisted in the bakehouse by his sons. The main building is of two stories, of wood and iron, and the bakehouse is situated at the rear. At present five hands are employed, and three carts are kept busy delivering.
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Davis, Jabez,
              Baker and Confectioner, Wellington Street, Auckland. Mr. Davis was born in 1857, in Hereford, England. The early part of his life was spent on a farm, and he camo to New Zealand, with his parents, by the ship “Queen of the Age,” in 1874. After learning his trade with his father he was employed by the late Mr. Dixon, bakor, of Hobson Street, and by Mr. David Grubb, of Karangahape and, Road, for many years. In 1882 he entered into partnership with his father and brother in Mount Eden Road, and ten years later bought the business of Mr. C. Smith, Mount Eden. After remaining there two years he removed to Victoria Street, and later on left there for his present premises, which are in a good central position. He has two carts delivering goods, and is also assisted by his son. Mr. Davis is a member of the Church of England.

          

          

            
            

              

Everitt, William Benjamin,
             
 Baker, Confectioner and Caterer, “Glenmore,” New North Road, Auckland. Mr. Everitt was born and educated at the Thames, and in 1889 removed to Auckland, where he was employed by Mr. Ralph Wilson, Khyber Pass. On leaving Mr. Wilson's employment in 1894 he established himself in business, and by energy and personal attention to the wants of his customers, has succeeded in working up a very good connection. After some years of perseverance, he has been able to have a bakery erected with all the latest English improvements. The premises have been erected by the well-known builder, Mr. John Hough, Eden Terrace, and the oven does great credit to Messrs Moore and Herbert. Wedding


[image: Mr. W. B. Everitt.]
Mr. 
W. B. Everitt.





cakes are one of Mr. Everitt's specialties. He has a considerable connection for small goods, and is well-known throughout the city as a successful caterer. The window is tastefully laid out with all the latest delicacies of confectionery. Four hands are employed, and two carts are kept constantly going. Mr. Everitt supplies customers with malt, milk, and brown bread, and can supply anything in his line of business. He gained the first and special prize for bread at the Auckland Agricultural Show in 1895, also first and second prizes in 1899. Mr. Everitt is a Freemason, also a member of the Order of Oddfellows. He is always ready to help deserving cases of poverty, or distress of any kind, and his charitable and kindly disposition has won him many friends.

          

          

            
            


              

Jowers, Mrs E.,
              Wholesale Confectioner, 318 Queen Street, Auckland. This business was established by Mr. John Jowers, who was horn in London in 1863, and was apprenticed to Messrs S. and G. Coles, of Holloway, Islington, for six years. While in the employment of that firm he manufactured publicly in the Crystal and Alexandra Palaces, London. In 1882 he left England for Canada, and was employed for some time by Messrs Crowther Bros., confectioners, of Kingston, Ontario. He then went to Toronto, where he gained considerable experience with Messrs Robertson and Co., and Mr. W. Hessen, the largest confectioners in that place. In 1885 he came out to Australia, and landed at Melbourne, where he was in business for nine years. Mr. Jowers then came to New Zealand, and commenced business in Queen Street, Auckland, in January, 1894.

          

          

            
            

              

King, Thomas,
             
 Baker and Confectioner, 84 Ponsonby Road, Auckland. Mr. King was born and educated in Somersetshire, England, where his family conducted a flour mill for over thirty years. In 1865 he came to this Colony with his father, in the ship “Rob Roy.” He was for some time engaged in farming in the Walkumete and Waikato districts, and was ultimately apprenticed to the bakery trade for five year with Mr. David Grubb. On the expiration of his term he visited Australia, and was in the employment of several teading Melbourne bakers. He roturned to Áuckland in 1877, and was foreman for Mr. Hall, of Otahuhn, for six years, and, in 1884, he purchased
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the old established business of Messrs Easdown and Co., Queen Street. Mr. King afterwards removed to his present address, where he has established a good, sound business, his motto being “the best is always the cheapest.” The factory and bakehouse are situated in Lincoln Street, and are equipped with all the latest improvements. Several hands are employed, and three carts are constantly engaged in delivering bread in the city and suburbs. Mr. King is a member of the Masonic fraternity, and an adherent of the Church of England. He is ever ready to help deserving cases of poverty or distress of any kind, and his charitable and kindly disposition has won him many friends.

          

          

            
            

              

Laurie, Charles George,
             
 Steam Confectioner, Biscuit and Candied Peel Manufacturer, Jam and Preserve Maker, Auckland and Newmarket. Telephone 477. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Retail Branch, Queen Street. Private residence, Manukan Road, Newmarket. Mr. Laurie has one of the largest confectionery businesises in Auckland, and his name and goods are well and favourably known throughout the Colony. The business was first established in 1884 in a small building at the foot of Grey Street. Mr. Laurie soon found the premises too small for his rapidly increasing business, and in 1890 buit the works he at present occupies in Manukau Road, Of late years, several extensive alterations and additions have been made in order to meet the requirements of customers. The works are of two stories, are built of wood and iron, and are fitted throughout with all the latest improved machinery. A large portion of the second floor is used for the manufacture of fancy confectionery, such as jujubes, London mixtures, comfits, lozenges, etc. The floorage space of this department is about 2000 feet, and contains lozengo-mixing and marmalade machinery, all of the most improved type. Five hands are busy in this department alone. The rest of the second-storey is used as a drying room. On the ground-floor, are situated the biscuit bakehouse, jam making, peel and boiled lollies department, with offices, storerooms and tinsmiths' works. Mr. Laurie does a large trade in candied peel, and imports the skins and limes direct from Genoa at the rate of more than 130 barrels a year. He has only lately added peel-making to his business, and the rapid extension of the turn-over speaks, well for the quality of the article. The jam making is also carried on in this department, and the jams and preserves (which are put up in glass jars and tins) are very popular throughout the province. Only the purest and choicest fruit is used, and the supplies are drawn fresh picked from the Waikato and surrounding districts. The peel and jam factory covers a floorage space of about 700 feet, and several hands are kept busily employed. The excellent quality of the jam, marmalade and preserves made by Mr. Laurie is well known, and at present the demand for these articles is greatly in excess of the supply. The biscuit bakehouse covers a floorage space of 800 feet, and contains a continuous beat-oven with a reversible gear brake. The biscuit machinery is of the most modern type. It comprises mixing and cutting machinery, and what is known an the trade as a “rout” machine, and all are driven by steam. Seven hands are employed in the bake-house. All the tins used in the business are manufactured on the premises, and the tinsmithing is Quite an important branch. Four hands are constantly kept employed manufacturing jam and biscuit tins of all sizes. The manufacture of boiled lollies, etc., is carried on in a department on the ground floor, and thero, too, with all the latest rollers, steam revolving pans, water pouring plates, all kinds of confectionery are turned out. An idea of the extent of the growth of the business may be obtained from the fact that eight years ago Mr. Laurie had only eight hands employed, while at the present time no difficulty is found in keeping nearly thirty constantly going. The stables at the rear of the business premises accommodate three horses and vans, used daily for the delivery of goods in town and suburbs. Mr. Laurie has a traveller on the road, who calls
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regularly on country customers, and the firm is noted for its promptness in executing outside orders. Of its jams, “North New Zealand” is the best quality and, Auckland Jam Company's “Victory” jams, the second grade. All the materials used in connection with the business are imported direct, and considerably over 150 tons of sugar are used every year. One of the special lines made by the firm consists of Laurie's Eucalyptus Tablets, which are a pleasant remedy for coughs and colds. The retail branch in Queen Street carries a large stock of confectionery, including English-made sweets, as well as the firm's colonial goods. Mr. Laurie was born in Auckland in 1866. He was with Messrs William Gregg and Co., of Dunedin, for some years, and left them to establish his present business, which, with a combination of energy and tact, he has worked up to its present dimensions.

          

          

            
            


              

Mckeown, Edward,
              Baker and Confectioner, 5 Queen Street, Anckland. Mr. McKeown was born in Kent, England, and came to New Zealand in 1849. He learned his trade with Mr. Snodgrass and Mr. T. Douglas, of Queen Street, Auckland, and was for seven years in the French Bakery, In 1870, be commenced business for himself in Hobson Street, and seven years later removed to his present premises. Mr. McKeown has a fine two-storey brick building, which runs through to Little Queen Street; he employs about thirteen hands, and the daily turnover aggregates 2000 loaves. The restaurant attached to the premises is extremely popular, and about 200 people sit down daily to luncheon. Mr. McKeown has been contractor to British and foreign men-of-war, and also to the Union and Northern Steamship Companies. He is a Freemason, an Oddfellow, and a Forester. In 1883 he visited Melbourne as delegate from the Auckland lodges, but has been compelled latterly through ill-health, to retire from active connection with them.
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Marriott, James William,
              Wholesale and Retail Confectioner, 216 Karangahape Road, Auckland. Mr. Marriott was born in Sydney in the year 1858, and came to this Colony in 1860 with his parents. He was educated at Mowbray's Academy, Auckland, and after leaving school was apprenticed for five years to Messrs S. S. Griffith and Co., the once well-known Wellington confectioners, with whom he remained as journeyman for a few years. To gain experience in his business, Mr Marriott left for Sydney, and on arrival there obtained a situation with Messrs Enever and Appleton, who have one of the largest confectionery works in Sydney. In 1874 he returned to Wellington, and was with his old employers, Messrs S. S. Griffith and Co., for some time. He then went to Wanganui, where he filled the position of foreman at the confectionery works of the late Mr. James Payne. Finding there was not sufficient scope for him in Wanganui, he decided to remove to Auckland, and for two or three years he was in business in Queen Street. In 1884 Mr. Marriott was offered an appointment with Messrs C. G. Laurie and Co., Newmarket, and was with them for almost four years. For six years he was with Mr. J. Mennie (of Mennie and Dey), and in 1894 he purchased the business which he now carries on in Karangahapo Road. He commenced the manufacture of confectionery in a small shed at the rear of the shop, but his business increased to such an extent, that he found it necessary to remove his plant to a two-storey factory. Mr. Marriott employs three hands, and has a fine delivery van, which cost him over £100. He obtained two special gold medals for all-round confectionery at the Auckland Industrial Exhibition in 1896–7. Mr. Marriott carries a large stock of English goods, and imports direct from Fry and Co., Barratt and Co., etc, and has no fewer than 150 wholesale customers. He is a Freemason.
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                Mennie And Dey
              
              (James Milne Mennie), Wholesale Biscuit Manufacturers, Confectioners and Jam Makers, Lower Albert Street, Auckland; Branch, Queen Street, Thames. Telephone 303. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Mennie is a native of Aberdeen, Scotland, and on coming to New Zealand in 1869. he went to the Thames, where he began business as a bread and biscuit baker, and was soon joined in partnership by Mr William Dey, also formerly of Aberdeen. For ten or twelve years Messrs Mennie and Dey carried on a highly successful business at the Thames. Eventually Mr. Dey retired, and in 1884 Mr. Mennie removed



his headquarters to Auckland, and left the Thames business in the hands of a manager. Biscuits have been the firm's principal line from the outset, and confectionery takes the second place in the order of importance. The factory also does a large business in jams, jellies, and preserved fruit. Employment is given in the factory to between eighty and one hundred hands; about £6000 per annum is spent in wages, and the value of the goods manufactured is about £50,000 per annum. Some seasons over £5000 is paid away for fruit for preserving and jam-making purposes, the greater part of it to Auckland settlers. The tins required for packing goods are made on the premises, and six tinsmiths are kept constantly employed on this work. Messrs Mennie and Dey's business connection now extends all over the colony, and a considerable trade is also done with the South Sea Islands.

          

          

            
            


              

                Roberts, J. D. & Co.
              
              (Joseph Drayton Roberts). Manufacturing Confectioners and Biscuit Makers. Temporary premises, Excelsior Buildings, Customs Street; works, Stanley Street, Auckland. Mr. Roberts is a native of Leicester, England, and came to the Colony in 1893, for the benefit of his health, which has greatly improved by the warmer climate of Auckland. He had a very extensive experience in the Old Country, where he was director of several well-known English companios, and that and his thorough knowledge of the English and foreign markets, have been of great assistance to him in his colonial business. After his arrival in Wellington by the s.s. “Kaikoura,” Mr. Roberts made a tour through the whole island, and finally settled in Auckland, where, in order to note the difference between the English and Colonial trade, he obtained a position with Mr. J. Rigg, agent for Rowntree's cocoa, etc. Six months later, he took premises at No. 15, High Street, and became sole agent in Auckland and the Northern districts for Cadbury Bros., cocoa and chocolate manufacturers, Birmingham, and also agent for Messrs W. and D. Harvest, London, general drysalters; Messrs Grimble and Co., vinegar manufacturers, London; Messrs Hay Bros., the celebrated Scotch confectioners, of Glasgow; and he still holds these agencies. Mr. Roberts is also a large importer of English twine. Finding that his customers were enquiring for colonial confectionery, which is, of course, cheaper than English, he decided to enter into the manufacturing line, and took into partnership Mr. J. Jowess, but twelve months later, the partnership was dissolved by mutual consent, and Mr. Roberts continued to carry on the business. In 1896, finding his premises much too small for his fast increasing business, he decided to take a larger establishment, and removed to 36 to 38 High Street, where he carried on his business until its expansion compelled him to move to the well-situated and more commodious premises which he occupied in Stanley Street until the 12th of May, 1901, when the establishment was completely destroyed by fire. The loss thus caused amounted to quite £10,000, which was covered by insurances to the extent of only £2,500. However, in less than a month Mr. Roberts resumed business in temporary premises in the Excelsior Buildings, Customs Street, was erecting temporary works in Stanley Street, and stood prepared to execute all orders. Resourcefulness like this always deserves success, and almost always wins it. Mr. Roberts is in a position to supply retailers with every class of goods, from the highest English confectionery down to the cheapest colonial article. Besides largely importing from England, Mr. Roberts has frequent shipments from Philadelphia and New York, and all the latest American novelties can be obtained at his warehouse; in fact, there is nothing required by a retail confectioner that Mr. Roberts does not keep; paper bags, glass show bottles, scales and weights and all sundries are in stock in large variety. A special branch of the business consists in supplying the smaller manufacturing confectioners with essences, colourings, oils, gelatine, etc. Large stocks of Stevenson and Howell's and W. T. Bush and Co.'s essences are kept, as well as glucose and rollers and stands for manufacturing boiled lollies. Mr Roberts personally possesses the qualities necessary to make a good business man, and being courteous and attentive to his customers, he has secured a large and growing connection. He is a Freemason of the English Constitution, and a member of No. 1560, Art Edward Lodge, and St. George's Chapter attached, also a Mark Master Mason of No. 191 Simon de Montfort Lodge, all of Leicester.
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Sarney, Horace Joseph,
              West End Confectionery Works, Ponsonby Road; Factory, King Street, Ponsonby. Mr. Sarney came to New Zealand from London by the ship “Tweed,” in 1874, and was for fourteen years employed in a responsible position by Mr. R. K. Murray, of Dunedin. He commenced business in Auckland in 1892, when he took over his present works from Mr. John Buchanan, for whom he had acted as manager for about eight years. Mr. Sarney is now doing a steady and progressive trade throughout the colony. His main line consists in boiled sugar lollies of the purest kind. The factory is built of wood and iron, and is one storey; the shop, built of wood, is of two stories; and together they cover a floorage space of 7200 square feet. The plant at the factory consists of a two horse-power gas engine, with gaspan, rollers, marble slabs, sugar mill, etc., and is capable of a very large output. Mr. Sarney's trade mark is “Fair Play.”

          

          

            
            


              

Tremain, John,
              Biscuit Baker, 54 Wellesley Street, Auckland. Mr. Tremain was born in Cornwall, England, in 1843, and at the early age of five left with his parents for Victoria. He was educated in Geelong, where he was subsequently apprenticed to Mr. McCallum, and seven years later he commenced business on his own account, as a confectioner and caterer. Mr. Tremain came to New Zealand in 1873 in the s.s. “Hero,” and was in business for four years in the City Market, Auckland. He afterwards removed to his present three-storey building in Wellesley Street, where, with improved machinery and close personal attention to business, he has been successful in working up a good connection. As an Oddfellow, Mr. Tremain is a member of the Manchester Unity, and he takes an active interest in temperance matters. He is a member of the Wesleyan Church, and in his younger days, in Victoria, was a Sunday school teacher.

          

          

            


            
            


              

Wilson, Ralph,
              Baker and Confectioner, Khyber Pass, Auckland. Mr. Wilson is one of the oldest bakers in Auckland, and established himself in business in 1874. His premises are freehold, and large and roomy, and are specially adapted to the bakery trade. He has an extensive bread round, and two carts are constantly kept going. Mr. Wilson was born in Kirkintilloch, Scotland, in 1846, and arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Viola” in 1865. He commenced business in Khyber Pass in conjunction with Mr. J. Robertson, but the partnership was dissolved in 1886. Mr. Wilson is ably assisted in the business by his sons.

            

              

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. R. Wilson.]

Hanna, photo.
Mr. 
R. Wilson.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Wilson, Thomas,
              Baker and Confectioner, 49 Grey Street, Auckland. This business was founded by Mr. Wilson in 1867, in a small wooden building on its present site, but finding the premises too small for his fast increasing trade, he erected the fine concrete block which he now occupies. The bakehouse contains two large ovens, and is one of the finest in Auckland. Mr. Wilson employs four men, and has two carts delivering in the town and its suburbs. He is a native of Fifeshire, Scotland, and in 1853 he left his native land for Victoria, in the ship “Goldfinder.” After gaining considerable experience with leading Melbourne bakers, he came to Auckland in the ship “Invincible,” and established his present business. Mr. Wilson occupied the position of chairman of the Master Bakers' Association during the strikes of 1890 and 1894, and it is generally admitted that he was the only man capable of keeping the men together. He was for six years in the first-class militia, and was at the front for a few weeks during the Waikato war. Mr Wilson's residence is in Wolseley Road.
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Wright, George William,
              Pastry Cook and Confectioner, 220 Queen Street, Auckland, and Karangahape Road, Newton. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Private residence, Sherburn Road, Mount Eden. Mr Wright established his business in 1886. He has been fortunate in securing two of the best business sites in the city for his particular trade; the Karangahape Road shop faces the Foresters' Hall, and the Queen Street premises are exactly opposite the City Hall. A very extensive trade is done in small goods, and provides employment for over fourteen hands. A large portion of each shop is set apart for refreshment rooms, and so successful has Mr. Wright been in this branch of his business that he has had extensive additions and alterations made to his Queen Street branch, including two splendid dining-rooms for ladies and gentlemen, each room with a floorage space of 1250 feet, and all the latest improvements and conveniences. Mr. Wright is a native of King's Lynn, Norfolk, England, and came to New Zealand in the s.s. “Ionic.” On arriving in the colony he settled in Auckland, and was with his uncle, Mr. G. Wright, for five years as manager, and left that employment to establish his present business. He is well-known as a conchologist, and his collection of shells numbers many thousands. Mr. Wright is a florist of repute, and has a beautiful garden, with two fine greenhouses, at his private residence. He has been a member of the Auckland Daffodil and Bulb Society from its commencement, and recently exhibited a large number of pots of jonquils at the local flower show, where he secured two first prizes. Mr. Wright is president of the Newton District Football Club, and until lately was a member of the Auckland Rugby Union.
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Barber, Robert,
              Baker, Confectioner and Pastrycook, Karangahape Read, Auck and. This business was originally established by Mr. Henry Brown, and has been only a few years in Mr. Barber's possession. The shop, which is of wood, is two stories in height, and a portion is set aside and fitted up as a refreshment room. Mr. Barber has a fine display of choice confectionery, and makes a specialty of wedding cakes, and all kinds of sugar work. Mr. Barber was born and educated in Edinburgh, but learned his trade with Mr. T. Scott, of Cumberland, England. He came to New Zealand in 1888, and after his arrival in Auckland, he entered the employment of Mr. Leigh, of Queen Street, and was his foreman for nine years, at the end of which he commenced business on his own account.

            

              

[image: Mr. R. Barber.]
Mr. 
R. Barber.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Burton, J.



            
            


              
Burton, J.,
              Baker, Confectioner and Family Grocer, Grafton Road, Auckland. Telephone 606. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Mr. Burton arrived in Auckland by the ship “Egmont,” in July, 1860. After spending eight years in the country districts, he returned to the city, and entered the employment of the late Mr. Charles Canning in Shortland Street. In 1875 he left Mr. Canning's service to start business in Hobson Street, in partnership with Mr. Bernie, another of Mr. Canning's employees. The firm experienced the difficulties that usually beset beginners, and the partnership was dissolved in 1878, when Mr. Burton removed to Grafton Road, where he has since carried on a steadily increasing business. His premises are freehold, and occupy one of the finest sites in or around Auckland. Mr Burton's business motto has been “Excelsior,” and he has found that by steadily facing difficulties he has been able to overcome them.
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Davis, James,
              Baker, Confectioner and Family Grocer, New North Road, Auckland. Mr. Davis was born in 1822, in Herefordshire, England, and was engaged at farm work for several years. He emigrated to New South Wales in 1848, and remained in Australia for six years, after which he returned to England, and took to farming again for seventeen years. In 1873 he left England for New Zealand, by the ship “Queen of the Age,” and arrived in Auckland, where he followed various occupations for five years. He established his present business twenty-three years ago, and for many years past has been assisted in the bakehouse by his sons. The main building is of two stories, of wood and iron, and the bakehouse is situated at the rear. At present five hands are employed, and three carts are kept busy delivering.
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Davis, Jabez,
              Baker and Confectioner, Wellington Street, Auckland. Mr. Davis was born in 1857, in Hereford, England. The early part of his life was spent on a farm, and he camo to New Zealand, with his parents, by the ship “Queen of the Age,” in 1874. After learning his trade with his father he was employed by the late Mr. Dixon, bakor, of Hobson Street, and by Mr. David Grubb, of Karangahape and, Road, for many years. In 1882 he entered into partnership with his father and brother in Mount Eden Road, and ten years later bought the business of Mr. C. Smith, Mount Eden. After remaining there two years he removed to Victoria Street, and later on left there for his present premises, which are in a good central position. He has two carts delivering goods, and is also assisted by his son. Mr. Davis is a member of the Church of England.
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Everitt, William Benjamin,
             
 Baker, Confectioner and Caterer, “Glenmore,” New North Road, Auckland. Mr. Everitt was born and educated at the Thames, and in 1889 removed to Auckland, where he was employed by Mr. Ralph Wilson, Khyber Pass. On leaving Mr. Wilson's employment in 1894 he established himself in business, and by energy and personal attention to the wants of his customers, has succeeded in working up a very good connection. After some years of perseverance, he has been able to have a bakery erected with all the latest English improvements. The premises have been erected by the well-known builder, Mr. John Hough, Eden Terrace, and the oven does great credit to Messrs Moore and Herbert. Wedding
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cakes are one of Mr. Everitt's specialties. He has a considerable connection for small goods, and is well-known throughout the city as a successful caterer. The window is tastefully laid out with all the latest delicacies of confectionery. Four hands are employed, and two carts are kept constantly going. Mr. Everitt supplies customers with malt, milk, and brown bread, and can supply anything in his line of business. He gained the first and special prize for bread at the Auckland Agricultural Show in 1895, also first and second prizes in 1899. Mr. Everitt is a Freemason, also a member of the Order of Oddfellows. He is always ready to help deserving cases of poverty, or distress of any kind, and his charitable and kindly disposition has won him many friends.
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Jowers, Mrs E.,
              Wholesale Confectioner, 318 Queen Street, Auckland. This business was established by Mr. John Jowers, who was horn in London in 1863, and was apprenticed to Messrs S. and G. Coles, of Holloway, Islington, for six years. While in the employment of that firm he manufactured publicly in the Crystal and Alexandra Palaces, London. In 1882 he left England for Canada, and was employed for some time by Messrs Crowther Bros., confectioners, of Kingston, Ontario. He then went to Toronto, where he gained considerable experience with Messrs Robertson and Co., and Mr. W. Hessen, the largest confectioners in that place. In 1885 he came out to Australia, and landed at Melbourne, where he was in business for nine years. Mr. Jowers then came to New Zealand, and commenced business in Queen Street, Auckland, in January, 1894.
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King, Thomas,
             
 Baker and Confectioner, 84 Ponsonby Road, Auckland. Mr. King was born and educated in Somersetshire, England, where his family conducted a flour mill for over thirty years. In 1865 he came to this Colony with his father, in the ship “Rob Roy.” He was for some time engaged in farming in the Walkumete and Waikato districts, and was ultimately apprenticed to the bakery trade for five year with Mr. David Grubb. On the expiration of his term he visited Australia, and was in the employment of several teading Melbourne bakers. He roturned to Áuckland in 1877, and was foreman for Mr. Hall, of Otahuhn, for six years, and, in 1884, he purchased
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the old established business of Messrs Easdown and Co., Queen Street. Mr. King afterwards removed to his present address, where he has established a good, sound business, his motto being “the best is always the cheapest.” The factory and bakehouse are situated in Lincoln Street, and are equipped with all the latest improvements. Several hands are employed, and three carts are constantly engaged in delivering bread in the city and suburbs. Mr. King is a member of the Masonic fraternity, and an adherent of the Church of England. He is ever ready to help deserving cases of poverty or distress of any kind, and his charitable and kindly disposition has won him many friends.
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Laurie, Charles George,
             
 Steam Confectioner, Biscuit and Candied Peel Manufacturer, Jam and Preserve Maker, Auckland and Newmarket. Telephone 477. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Retail Branch, Queen Street. Private residence, Manukan Road, Newmarket. Mr. Laurie has one of the largest confectionery businesises in Auckland, and his name and goods are well and favourably known throughout the Colony. The business was first established in 1884 in a small building at the foot of Grey Street. Mr. Laurie soon found the premises too small for his rapidly increasing business, and in 1890 buit the works he at present occupies in Manukau Road, Of late years, several extensive alterations and additions have been made in order to meet the requirements of customers. The works are of two stories, are built of wood and iron, and are fitted throughout with all the latest improved machinery. A large portion of the second floor is used for the manufacture of fancy confectionery, such as jujubes, London mixtures, comfits, lozenges, etc. The floorage space of this department is about 2000 feet, and contains lozengo-mixing and marmalade machinery, all of the most improved type. Five hands are busy in this department alone. The rest of the second-storey is used as a drying room. On the ground-floor, are situated the biscuit bakehouse, jam making, peel and boiled lollies department, with offices, storerooms and tinsmiths' works. Mr. Laurie does a large trade in candied peel, and imports the skins and limes direct from Genoa at the rate of more than 130 barrels a year. He has only lately added peel-making to his business, and the rapid extension of the turn-over speaks, well for the quality of the article. The jam making is also carried on in this department, and the jams and preserves (which are put up in glass jars and tins) are very popular throughout the province. Only the purest and choicest fruit is used, and the supplies are drawn fresh picked from the Waikato and surrounding districts. The peel and jam factory covers a floorage space of about 700 feet, and several hands are kept busily employed. The excellent quality of the jam, marmalade and preserves made by Mr. Laurie is well known, and at present the demand for these articles is greatly in excess of the supply. The biscuit bakehouse covers a floorage space of 800 feet, and contains a continuous beat-oven with a reversible gear brake. The biscuit machinery is of the most modern type. It comprises mixing and cutting machinery, and what is known an the trade as a “rout” machine, and all are driven by steam. Seven hands are employed in the bake-house. All the tins used in the business are manufactured on the premises, and the tinsmithing is Quite an important branch. Four hands are constantly kept employed manufacturing jam and biscuit tins of all sizes. The manufacture of boiled lollies, etc., is carried on in a department on the ground floor, and thero, too, with all the latest rollers, steam revolving pans, water pouring plates, all kinds of confectionery are turned out. An idea of the extent of the growth of the business may be obtained from the fact that eight years ago Mr. Laurie had only eight hands employed, while at the present time no difficulty is found in keeping nearly thirty constantly going. The stables at the rear of the business premises accommodate three horses and vans, used daily for the delivery of goods in town and suburbs. Mr. Laurie has a traveller on the road, who calls
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regularly on country customers, and the firm is noted for its promptness in executing outside orders. Of its jams, “North New Zealand” is the best quality and, Auckland Jam Company's “Victory” jams, the second grade. All the materials used in connection with the business are imported direct, and considerably over 150 tons of sugar are used every year. One of the special lines made by the firm consists of Laurie's Eucalyptus Tablets, which are a pleasant remedy for coughs and colds. The retail branch in Queen Street carries a large stock of confectionery, including English-made sweets, as well as the firm's colonial goods. Mr. Laurie was born in Auckland in 1866. He was with Messrs William Gregg and Co., of Dunedin, for some years, and left them to establish his present business, which, with a combination of energy and tact, he has worked up to its present dimensions.
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Mckeown, Edward,
              Baker and Confectioner, 5 Queen Street, Anckland. Mr. McKeown was born in Kent, England, and came to New Zealand in 1849. He learned his trade with Mr. Snodgrass and Mr. T. Douglas, of Queen Street, Auckland, and was for seven years in the French Bakery, In 1870, be commenced business for himself in Hobson Street, and seven years later removed to his present premises. Mr. McKeown has a fine two-storey brick building, which runs through to Little Queen Street; he employs about thirteen hands, and the daily turnover aggregates 2000 loaves. The restaurant attached to the premises is extremely popular, and about 200 people sit down daily to luncheon. Mr. McKeown has been contractor to British and foreign men-of-war, and also to the Union and Northern Steamship Companies. He is a Freemason, an Oddfellow, and a Forester. In 1883 he visited Melbourne as delegate from the Auckland lodges, but has been compelled latterly through ill-health, to retire from active connection with them.
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Marriott, James William,
              Wholesale and Retail Confectioner, 216 Karangahape Road, Auckland. Mr. Marriott was born in Sydney in the year 1858, and came to this Colony in 1860 with his parents. He was educated at Mowbray's Academy, Auckland, and after leaving school was apprenticed for five years to Messrs S. S. Griffith and Co., the once well-known Wellington confectioners, with whom he remained as journeyman for a few years. To gain experience in his business, Mr Marriott left for Sydney, and on arrival there obtained a situation with Messrs Enever and Appleton, who have one of the largest confectionery works in Sydney. In 1874 he returned to Wellington, and was with his old employers, Messrs S. S. Griffith and Co., for some time. He then went to Wanganui, where he filled the position of foreman at the confectionery works of the late Mr. James Payne. Finding there was not sufficient scope for him in Wanganui, he decided to remove to Auckland, and for two or three years he was in business in Queen Street. In 1884 Mr. Marriott was offered an appointment with Messrs C. G. Laurie and Co., Newmarket, and was with them for almost four years. For six years he was with Mr. J. Mennie (of Mennie and Dey), and in 1894 he purchased the business which he now carries on in Karangahapo Road. He commenced the manufacture of confectionery in a small shed at the rear of the shop, but his business increased to such an extent, that he found it necessary to remove his plant to a two-storey factory. Mr. Marriott employs three hands, and has a fine delivery van, which cost him over £100. He obtained two special gold medals for all-round confectionery at the Auckland Industrial Exhibition in 1896–7. Mr. Marriott carries a large stock of English goods, and imports direct from Fry and Co., Barratt and Co., etc, and has no fewer than 150 wholesale customers. He is a Freemason.
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                Mennie And Dey
              
              (James Milne Mennie), Wholesale Biscuit Manufacturers, Confectioners and Jam Makers, Lower Albert Street, Auckland; Branch, Queen Street, Thames. Telephone 303. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Mennie is a native of Aberdeen, Scotland, and on coming to New Zealand in 1869. he went to the Thames, where he began business as a bread and biscuit baker, and was soon joined in partnership by Mr William Dey, also formerly of Aberdeen. For ten or twelve years Messrs Mennie and Dey carried on a highly successful business at the Thames. Eventually Mr. Dey retired, and in 1884 Mr. Mennie removed



his headquarters to Auckland, and left the Thames business in the hands of a manager. Biscuits have been the firm's principal line from the outset, and confectionery takes the second place in the order of importance. The factory also does a large business in jams, jellies, and preserved fruit. Employment is given in the factory to between eighty and one hundred hands; about £6000 per annum is spent in wages, and the value of the goods manufactured is about £50,000 per annum. Some seasons over £5000 is paid away for fruit for preserving and jam-making purposes, the greater part of it to Auckland settlers. The tins required for packing goods are made on the premises, and six tinsmiths are kept constantly employed on this work. Messrs Mennie and Dey's business connection now extends all over the colony, and a considerable trade is also done with the South Sea Islands.
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                Roberts, J. D. & Co.
              
              (Joseph Drayton Roberts). Manufacturing Confectioners and Biscuit Makers. Temporary premises, Excelsior Buildings, Customs Street; works, Stanley Street, Auckland. Mr. Roberts is a native of Leicester, England, and came to the Colony in 1893, for the benefit of his health, which has greatly improved by the warmer climate of Auckland. He had a very extensive experience in the Old Country, where he was director of several well-known English companios, and that and his thorough knowledge of the English and foreign markets, have been of great assistance to him in his colonial business. After his arrival in Wellington by the s.s. “Kaikoura,” Mr. Roberts made a tour through the whole island, and finally settled in Auckland, where, in order to note the difference between the English and Colonial trade, he obtained a position with Mr. J. Rigg, agent for Rowntree's cocoa, etc. Six months later, he took premises at No. 15, High Street, and became sole agent in Auckland and the Northern districts for Cadbury Bros., cocoa and chocolate manufacturers, Birmingham, and also agent for Messrs W. and D. Harvest, London, general drysalters; Messrs Grimble and Co., vinegar manufacturers, London; Messrs Hay Bros., the celebrated Scotch confectioners, of Glasgow; and he still holds these agencies. Mr. Roberts is also a large importer of English twine. Finding that his customers were enquiring for colonial confectionery, which is, of course, cheaper than English, he decided to enter into the manufacturing line, and took into partnership Mr. J. Jowess, but twelve months later, the partnership was dissolved by mutual consent, and Mr. Roberts continued to carry on the business. In 1896, finding his premises much too small for his fast increasing business, he decided to take a larger establishment, and removed to 36 to 38 High Street, where he carried on his business until its expansion compelled him to move to the well-situated and more commodious premises which he occupied in Stanley Street until the 12th of May, 1901, when the establishment was completely destroyed by fire. The loss thus caused amounted to quite £10,000, which was covered by insurances to the extent of only £2,500. However, in less than a month Mr. Roberts resumed business in temporary premises in the Excelsior Buildings, Customs Street, was erecting temporary works in Stanley Street, and stood prepared to execute all orders. Resourcefulness like this always deserves success, and almost always wins it. Mr. Roberts is in a position to supply retailers with every class of goods, from the highest English confectionery down to the cheapest colonial article. Besides largely importing from England, Mr. Roberts has frequent shipments from Philadelphia and New York, and all the latest American novelties can be obtained at his warehouse; in fact, there is nothing required by a retail confectioner that Mr. Roberts does not keep; paper bags, glass show bottles, scales and weights and all sundries are in stock in large variety. A special branch of the business consists in supplying the smaller manufacturing confectioners with essences, colourings, oils, gelatine, etc. Large stocks of Stevenson and Howell's and W. T. Bush and Co.'s essences are kept, as well as glucose and rollers and stands for manufacturing boiled lollies. Mr Roberts personally possesses the qualities necessary to make a good business man, and being courteous and attentive to his customers, he has secured a large and growing connection. He is a Freemason of the English Constitution, and a member of No. 1560, Art Edward Lodge, and St. George's Chapter attached, also a Mark Master Mason of No. 191 Simon de Montfort Lodge, all of Leicester.
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Sarney, Horace Joseph,
              West End Confectionery Works, Ponsonby Road; Factory, King Street, Ponsonby. Mr. Sarney came to New Zealand from London by the ship “Tweed,” in 1874, and was for fourteen years employed in a responsible position by Mr. R. K. Murray, of Dunedin. He commenced business in Auckland in 1892, when he took over his present works from Mr. John Buchanan, for whom he had acted as manager for about eight years. Mr. Sarney is now doing a steady and progressive trade throughout the colony. His main line consists in boiled sugar lollies of the purest kind. The factory is built of wood and iron, and is one storey; the shop, built of wood, is of two stories; and together they cover a floorage space of 7200 square feet. The plant at the factory consists of a two horse-power gas engine, with gaspan, rollers, marble slabs, sugar mill, etc., and is capable of a very large output. Mr. Sarney's trade mark is “Fair Play.”
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Tremain, John,
              Biscuit Baker, 54 Wellesley Street, Auckland. Mr. Tremain was born in Cornwall, England, in 1843, and at the early age of five left with his parents for Victoria. He was educated in Geelong, where he was subsequently apprenticed to Mr. McCallum, and seven years later he commenced business on his own account, as a confectioner and caterer. Mr. Tremain came to New Zealand in 1873 in the s.s. “Hero,” and was in business for four years in the City Market, Auckland. He afterwards removed to his present three-storey building in Wellesley Street, where, with improved machinery and close personal attention to business, he has been successful in working up a good connection. As an Oddfellow, Mr. Tremain is a member of the Manchester Unity, and he takes an active interest in temperance matters. He is a member of the Wesleyan Church, and in his younger days, in Victoria, was a Sunday school teacher.
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Wilson, Ralph,
              Baker and Confectioner, Khyber Pass, Auckland. Mr. Wilson is one of the oldest bakers in Auckland, and established himself in business in 1874. His premises are freehold, and large and roomy, and are specially adapted to the bakery trade. He has an extensive bread round, and two carts are constantly kept going. Mr. Wilson was born in Kirkintilloch, Scotland, in 1846, and arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Viola” in 1865. He commenced business in Khyber Pass in conjunction with Mr. J. Robertson, but the partnership was dissolved in 1886. Mr. Wilson is ably assisted in the business by his sons.
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Wilson, Thomas,
              Baker and Confectioner, 49 Grey Street, Auckland. This business was founded by Mr. Wilson in 1867, in a small wooden building on its present site, but finding the premises too small for his fast increasing trade, he erected the fine concrete block which he now occupies. The bakehouse contains two large ovens, and is one of the finest in Auckland. Mr. Wilson employs four men, and has two carts delivering in the town and its suburbs. He is a native of Fifeshire, Scotland, and in 1853 he left his native land for Victoria, in the ship “Goldfinder.” After gaining considerable experience with leading Melbourne bakers, he came to Auckland in the ship “Invincible,” and established his present business. Mr. Wilson occupied the position of chairman of the Master Bakers' Association during the strikes of 1890 and 1894, and it is generally admitted that he was the only man capable of keeping the men together. He was for six years in the first-class militia, and was at the front for a few weeks during the Waikato war. Mr Wilson's residence is in Wolseley Road.
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Wright, George William,
              Pastry Cook and Confectioner, 220 Queen Street, Auckland, and Karangahape Road, Newton. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Private residence, Sherburn Road, Mount Eden. Mr Wright established his business in 1886. He has been fortunate in securing two of the best business sites in the city for his particular trade; the Karangahape Road shop faces the Foresters' Hall, and the Queen Street premises are exactly opposite the City Hall. A very extensive trade is done in small goods, and provides employment for over fourteen hands. A large portion of each shop is set apart for refreshment rooms, and so successful has Mr. Wright been in this branch of his business that he has had extensive additions and alterations made to his Queen Street branch, including two splendid dining-rooms for ladies and gentlemen, each room with a floorage space of 1250 feet, and all the latest improvements and conveniences. Mr. Wright is a native of King's Lynn, Norfolk, England, and came to New Zealand in the s.s. “Ionic.” On arriving in the colony he settled in Auckland, and was with his uncle, Mr. G. Wright, for five years as manager, and left that employment to establish his present business. He is well-known as a conchologist, and his collection of shells numbers many thousands. Mr. Wright is a florist of repute, and has a beautiful garden, with two fine greenhouses, at his private residence. He has been a member of the Auckland Daffodil and Bulb Society from its commencement, and recently exhibited a large number of pots of jonquils at the local flower show, where he secured two first prizes. Mr. Wright is president of the Newton District Football Club, and until lately was a member of the Auckland Rugby Union.
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The Campbell And Ehrenfried Company,
             
 Ltd., Brewers, Bottlers and Cordial Manufacturers and General Merchants, Lower Queen Street and Elliot Street, Auckland. This company, which is the largest brewing business in the North Island, if not in New Zealand, was formed by the amalgamation of the firms of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co., and Messrs Ehrenfried Bros., and their incorporation in May, 1897, with a capital of £300,000. The firm of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co. was formed in May, 1839, by Dr. J. Logan Campbell and the late Mr. William Brown, who carried on business at Thames, and at the Crown and Domain breweries, New-market. The firm of Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. was established in 1868 by the late Messrs Louis Ehrenfried and Bernard Ehrenfried, and was conducted under the same style until the late amalgamation, the negotiations for which were initiated previous to the death of the late Mr Louis Ehrenfried, and after his demise were completed by Mr. Arthur M. Myers and Dr. Campbell. The three directors of the company are Dr. Campbell and Messrs Arthur and Leo Myers; Mr. Arthur Myers being managing director and Mr. A. S. Bankart, formerly with Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co., secretary. When Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. began business in 1868 their output amounted to about sixty hogsheads per month, or an average of 720 per year. In 1879, the output was 6440 hogsheads; in 1892, 6055 hogsheads; in 1893, 6598 hogsheads; in 1894, 7123 hogsheads; in 1895, 7376 hogsheads; in 1896, 8127 hogsheads; and at the date of the amalgamation in 1897, 10,238 hogsheads. The company's output for 1897 and 1898 reached 13,552 hogsheads. In addition to brewing both firms carried on a large wine, spirit, bottled ale and stout trade. The wines were imported from Europe and Australia, and the bottled ales and stout enjoyed
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a high reputation throughout the Colony. Since the company has been formed this branch has been largely increased, and there is a strong demand for its brands throughout the colonies. The Company has large malt-houses at Newmarket, where it malts its own barley. It purchases largely from Blenheim, Nelson, Canterbury and the Lake districts, and also a small quantity locally in order to encourage the growth of the grain; and it pays top prices for southern barley. In all, it uses about 12,000 sacks, or over 55,000 bushels of barley annually. It is also a large buyer of hops, and uses annually about 65,000 pounds; principally Nelson, and partly English; Bavarian and Californian hops are used for blending purposes. In 1895 the wine and spirit trade of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co, amounted to £37,000, and that of Messrs Ehrenfried Bros, to £37,874, while in the first year of the company's operations, the output nearly reached £100,000. In 1896 the bottled ale and stout trade of Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. amounted to 13,355 dozen, while the output of the company in 1897–8 reached 33,000 dozen. The company has erected a handsome four-storey building in Lower Queen Street; it runs right through Little Queen Street, and contains the offices, bottling and labelling departments, and the department for the manufacture of cordials, etc. Beneath the ground floor are extensive cellars containing the bins where the fresh brews of beer are kept for the purpose of maturing before bottling, and after being bottled, kept another three months before being delivered. Handsome offices for the manager, secretary and clerical staff abut on the front entrance on the ground floor. The rear portion is used for the storage and delivery of goods at the Little Queen Street entrance. The corking, labelling and capsuling are carried out on the second floor, and there are rows of racks filled with gross upon gross of bottles of ale and stout awaiting delivery, or to be packed in cases for export. The third floor is set apart for the wine, spirit and cordial department, and has a row of sixteen large vats, each containing 350 gallons of spirits and different wines, all duty paid, for small buyers. The foreman in charge is an expert, and is continually experimenting in the manufacture of cordials, bitters, tonics, etc. The company has placed its own brand of “Braemar” whisky on the market, with the most satisfactory results, as the sales last year reached 2500 gallons, and it also deals largely in “Goldeck,” a Hungarian claret which has become very popular. The company's Bavarian hop bitters find a ready market, and last season the output of lemon squash ran to over 3000 dozen bottles. The fourth floor is used principally for bottle washing. An elevator conveys the bottles in crates from below, and they pass into the hands of expert bottle-washers, who average fifty to sixty dozen a day. The board room is a comfortably fitted up apartment in the front portion of the second floor, and contains very handsome and speaking portraits of the late proprietors. The original Albert Brewery was built about fifty years ago; it passed through several hands, and was finally taken over by Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. in 1880. As it stands at present, the building forms two separate portions known as the “old” and “new” building. Each is provided with a complete brewing plant of sixty hogshead capacity, one auxiliary to the other, one being
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driven by gas-power and the other by steam. The two plants are connected by an auxiliary shaft, so that in the case of the failure of the gas or steam power, as the case may be, both can be run by either motive power alone. The brewery is built on the very latest elevation principle. When the malt is received at the brewery it is elevated to the top floor, where it is dumped into bins; thence it goes through a Boby rotary polishing machine, and all foreign substance is separated, thus allowing nothing but polished grain of a uniform size to enter the mill which crushes the malt and elevates it back to the top of the brewery, to be deposited in the crushed malt-bins. From these bins it passes through a Maitland masher, where it is saturated with water by means of a perforated double jacket, and thence conveyed to the mash tun. This tun has a capacity of 200 bushels, and is fitted with a Morton's patent slotted gun-metal false bottom, and a throe-arm ball-bearing sparge. After treatment in the mash tun the liquor is received in a 4000 gallon copper, where the hops and sugar are added, and is boiled for about two hours; then a valve allows it to escape into a “hopback” fitted with strainers, which permit the liquor to run clear into the cooler and keep the hops back to be pressed. The cooler has a capacity of 4000 gallons, and the beer continually passes through it and thence over a Morton's latest patent sixty-barrel refrigerator into the gyles. These gyles consist of eight vats of 800 gallons capacity, and here the liquor passes through the process of fermentation, which lasts for forty-eight hours. It next passes by gravitation into cleaners placed in the cellars to finish the process of fermentation, which takes about eight or nine days, when the beer is practically fit for consumption. The water used for the manufacture of the beer is pumped from an artesian spring in the brewery ground and from a depth of 1104 feet. One hundred feet below the surface there is a large reservoir, and the water consumption amounts to about 20,000 gallons per day. The cellarage capacity of the brewery is apportioned as follows:—No, 1 cellar has a capacity of 500 hogsheads; No. 2, 400 hogsheads; No. 3, 600 hogsheads; No. 4 cellar, 1000 hogsheads; and the stock cellar has a storage capacity equal to 2500 casks of beer. The average temperature is 60 degrees Fahrenheit, the roofs being insulated with pumice to preserve its uniformity. All the casks are made from imported oak staves, and the company keep four coopers regularly employed. On the second floor of the new building are the offices, and the forwarding department opening on Elliot Street. The machinery comprises three fifteen horse-power gas engines, a six-ton freezing machine, and one of Morton's sixty-barrel refrigerators; and the beer casks are raised from the cellars to the flooring stage of the delivery department by an endless chain elevator. The cask-washing department is at the main entrance from Elliot Street, its dimensions being 140 by 60 feet. There the casks are mechanically washed by steam and boiling water, and then put on drying stages, after which they are carefully examined and put down into the cellar by means of an automatic eage. The company owns ten delivery carts and provides two traps for travellers; and the brewery is under the supervision of Mr. Griffiths, an expert brewer, who has been with Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. for many years. About forty-two hands are employed in the brewery, and the company altogether employs about eighty-four men. The company also owns the well-known “Puriri Natural Mineral Water,” the consumption of which is rapidly increasing, and bids fair at no distant date to beat its rival “Apollinaris” in the larger markets of the world. The company is extremely popular owing to its honourable dealings with its clients and customers, and also on account of the practical interest taken by its managers in all works appertaining to the good of the city or to sporting and charitable organizations.
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Mr. Louis Ehrenfried,
              whose name was well known throughout New Zealand (but more particularly in the Auckland and Thames districts, where he founded his prosperous business as a wine and spirit merchant in 1868), was born at Hamburg, and emigrated with his brother Bernard to Australia over forty years ago. After a stay of some years in that continent, the brothers decided to try their fortune in New Zealand, the Colony having come into prominence owing to the outbreak of the Dunstan gold “rush” in Otago in 1862. The brothers went into various business ventures, and commenced packing stores to the goldfields. They acquired a valuable station property at Mataura, but later on were obliged to dispose of it, in consequence of having to meet a guarantee for a friend, for whom, without any consideration whatever, they had made themselves liable. When they left the district for the West Coast goldfields, the residents presented them with a piece of plate and an address expressive of regret at their departure. On the West Coast they



experienced the usual ups and downs of a goldfield, and their want of commercial success made it impossible for them to meet all their claims. Nevertheless, when they closed the business on the West Coast, Mr. Ehrenfried resolved that, sooner or later, he should meet all his engagements, amounting to several thousands of pounds. This he succeeded in doing in late years, and the creditors, in token of their appreciation of his highly honourable act, made him a handsome presentation. In 1868, the Ehrenfried Brothers came north and went to the Thames, where they established a brewery and laid the foundation of what has turned out to be one of the most successful businesses in the colony. On the death of his brother in 1869, Mr. Louis Ehrenfried continued the business and launched out into other districts, extending his operations to Auckland. In 1885, he purchased the well-known and old-established business of Messrs R. Whitson and Sons, Queen Street. The trade continued to increase, and Mr. Ehrenried's well-directed enterprise brought him the success which deservedly followed. He was ably assisted by his nephew, Mr. Arthur M. Myers, who managed the business for the last fifteen years of his uncle's life, and who is now its managing director. In 1897, on the 26th of February, Auckland lost one of its most respected citizons in Mr. Ehrenfried, who died at his residence in O'Rorke Street, from a complication of diseases, which defied successful treatment by his medical attendants, Mr. Ehrenfried was a generous, open-handed man, ever ready to assist any deserving case irrespective of denomination. He was a liberal supporter of the Hebrew synagogue, being a member of the Jewish faith. Rarely in the history of the Colony has there been seen such a spontaneous tribute to the excellence of a departed citizen, as that witnessed at the funeral of Mr. Ehrenfried. Thousands of citizens of all denominations assembled at the cemetery to pay a last tribute to the man who was so well loved by his fellows. When at the Thames, he served as a councillor for some years, and in 1880, was mayor of the borough. He filled other public offices and was made a justice of the peace. He was a member of the order of Foresters, and as a bowler was vice-president of the Auckland Bowling Club. The chief characteristic of Mr. Ehrenfriod was his well-known philanthropy; he not only gave, but gave gladly. In his death, Auckland suffered a great loss, for he had proved himself a good and worthy citizen.
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                The Captain Cook Brewery
              
             
 (Hancock and Co.; Moss Davis, proprietor), Auckland. The Captain Cook Brewery was founded in 1862 by Mr. Hancock, who subsequently took his son-in-law, Mr. S. Jagger, into partnership. Mr. Moss Davis, the present proprietor, came into the firm as a partner in 1885, but afterwards bought from the executors of the late Mr. S. Jagger their share of the business, and thus became the sole proprietor. Mr. Davis's unceasing industry and business tact have greatly increased the trade, and now the Captain Cook Brewery is one of the largest and most complete in the colony. The beer is brewed from the best malt and hops grown in New Zealand. In fact, all the articles used are colonial products, and, as these are abundant, there is no temptation to use any


[image: Messrs Hancock & Co.'s Brewery, Showing All The Buildings.]

Messrs Hancock & Co.'s Brewery, Showing All The Buildings.




[image: Messrs Hancock & Co.'s Brewery.]

Messrs Hancock & Co.'s Brewery.





extraneous substance in the brewing. New Zealand barley is well known for its good quality, and Nelson hops are at least equal to the famous production of the Kentish hop-grounds. The brewery is arranged upon the most modern principles, the aim of the proprietor being to obtain the best results by the simplest means. This brewery has a great advantage in the matter of its water supply, which is exceptionally pure, and derived from wells bored in the lava of Mount Eden. The brewery does its own malting and makes its own barrels, and it is the boast of the proprietor that the only foreign material used in the establishment is the cork bung. Only one quality of ale is brewed, and that is the best, popularly known as Hancock's celebrated XXXX. In the year 1900 a large and extensive plant for the manufacture of laager beer was erected. It is the first and only plant of the kind erected in the colony. The beer is known by the brand of “Bismarck,” and is already very popular throughout New Zealand. Anyone visiting Auckland should visit the Captain Cook Brewery.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Moss Davis,
              the Proprietor, is one of Auckland's most popular and highly-esteemed citizens. Though he is a prominent figure in business circles, he has not yet taken any active part in public life. He is an assiduous worker, and, having the responsibilities of a large concern on his shoulders, is necessarily a very busy man. Mr. Davis has assisted to improve the hotels in Auckland, and has also done much to raise the status of the trade by getting a good class of licensed victuallers into the houses, and securing a close observance of the licensing laws. He is assisted in the management of the business by two of his sons, Messrs Ernest and Eliot Davis, both of whom are popular in business circles.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Archdale Tayler,
              Accountant, was born on the 11th of May, 1855, at Weybridge, Surrey, England. He is the eldest son of the Rev. Archdale Wilson Tayler, M.A., of Trinity College, Dublin, and was educated at the Leeds Grammar school, Yorkshire. On leaving school, at the age of eighteen, he entered the employment of Robinson Clay and Co., cloth manufacturers and merchants, of Leeds. He landed at Wellington in August, 1880, by the ship “St. Leonard's,” and in March, 1883, removed to Auckland, where he entered the employment of William McArthur and Co., with whom he remained eleven years, till they gave up business in 1894. Mr. Tayler was for three years accountant at Cook and Gray's, and is at present accountant for the Captain Cook Brewery, Ltd. He is a Fellow of the Incorporated Institute of Accountants of New Zealand, and sometime local secretary for Auckland, and also sometime secretary of the Warehousemen's Association, and Insurers' Protection Association. Mr. Tayler was for many years a member and soloist of the Auckland Choral Society. He was one of the original founders of the Auckland Amateur Opera Club, in 1885, and played John Wellington Wells in the “Sorcerer,” Gaspard in “Les Cloches,” the Lord Chancellor in” Marquis de Pontsable in “Madame Favart,” Koko in the “Mikado,” the Duke of Plazatoro in the “Gondoliers,” and Sherwood in “Dorothy”; and has also acted as stage manager for the club during the last eight or nine years. He is well known on the concert platform. It has often been said that he mistook his vocation in life, and there is little doubt that, had he adopted the stage as a profession, he would have distinguished himself. In July, 1887, he married Lilias, eldest daughter of Mr James Gartside Culpan, and grand-daughter of Mr William Culpan, one of the pioneer settlers who arrived in Auckland by the ship “Jane Gifford,” in 1842.
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                Great Northern Brewery
              
             
 (Ltd.). At Khyber Pass, Newmarket, on the north side of Mount Eden, stands the well-built Great Northern Brewery. It is popularly known as “Seccombe's Brewery,” and was founded in 1860 by Mr. Richard Seccombe. In February, 1890, the business of the Great Northern Brewery was formed into a company, with a capital of £200,000, with Mr. John Mowbray as managing director, and Mr. H. M. Jervis, junior, secretary. Under the new company the business expanded, and extensive additions were made to the brewery. The output has since increased between sixty and seventy per cent.; a fine three-storey bottling department has been erected on the land opposite to the brewery; and a tower, five stories high, has, been put up to cope with the increased trade. The main buildings are situated on a commanding site, over six acres in extent. Shortly after Mr. Seccombe started business he had occasion to sink a well, and when sixty feet was reached the crowbar in use disappeared, and a great underground stream of water was tapped. In the driest seasons the flow of this pure spring water—cool and refreshing—remains unaffected in its volume; in fact, the city at one time drew part of its requirements from this well. The bottle store, a corrugated iron building 100 feet by 33 feet, is the sleeping house of what are known as the “dead marines.” Here between 4000 and 5000 sacks of bottles are seen, and frequently when supplies are coming forward freely there are as many as 10,000 sacks in store. The bottling building is a capitally designed three-storey brick structure, 150 feet long by 40 feet wide. The Great Northern Brewery has a reputation for supplying the best in the colony, and also for bottling in the summer time a light ale, which has no equal in its suitability for the Auckland climate. It allows the beer
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and stout to mature for from six to nine months before it permits a pint of it to be bottled. The Great Northern Brewery, in addition to its immense Auckland trade, does a large business with the Islands. To meet the demand for its famous bottled ale and stout, the brewery has to stock over 12,000 dozen. The company's bottled ales and stout are especially suitable for invalids, and for all who require an invigorating tonic, as well as a delicious, wholesome beverage. They are strongly recommended by the medical faculty, being the purest brewed in the world, next to the celebrated Burton-on-Trent ales and Guinness's stout. The rock cellar, 240 feet long and 35 feet wide, with its rows of “tunners,” is particularly well built of solid stone, and perfectly ventilated; and in the summer time it is a delightfully cool place in which to keep the beer. The offices of the company, on the second floor of the building, are well arranged, and contain a waiting-room, public office, and accountant's, secretary's, manager's, and managing director's rooms. Telephonic communication is provided for the manager and managing director, in addition to the public telephone. The malthouse, spotlessly clean, is 160 feet by 30 feet. It is here that some thousands of sacks of barley are annually converted into malt. The ground floor is of concrete, upon which is laid the soaked barley to promote germination. There is a boiler-house, where the water supply used for supplying the bottling department is heated. The brewery tower, of five stories in height, is of very handsome design. It is strongly built, and is fitted throughout with the most modern brewing appliances, and was designed by Mr. Charles Arnold, architect. The walls are of brick, with iron rail supports and girders, and the floors of concrete, so that the building is practically fireproof. From the very top of the tower, the spring water can be heard running into a huge iron tank, which holds 5000 gallons. Last season for the Great Northern Brewery's summer trade over 1000 hogsheads were stored in the cool rock cellars, and this year they will require 1500. The Great Northern Brewery's celebrated draught ale is a first-class production; it is absolutely pure and bright, and is now the best and most popular beer drawn in the colony. The best of hops and malt, and sparkling water—better cannot be drawn from any mountain spring in New Zealand—are the simple ingredients of this nutritious and invigorating tonic.
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Mr. John Mowbray,
              the Managing Director, is well known in business circles, and the senior partner of J. M. and J. Mowbray, sharebrokers and land agents, of Shortland Street. For years past, since the golden days of the Caledonian mine, in 1869, he has been connected with sharebroking in Auckland, and on the retirement of Mr. J. M. Lennox, he was elected to the important and onerous position of chairman of the Auckland Stock Exchange. He has the reputation of possessing special ability in all matters in connection with the brewing industry, in which he figures so prominently. Mr. Mowbray is in every way a popular and useful citizen of Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. A. Seccombe,
              a Director, is a son of the late Mr. John Carroll Seccombe, and has been closely identified with the brewery since his youth.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. H. M. Jervis,
              Junior, Secretary of the Great Northern Brewery Company, has been connected with the brewery for over thirteen years. The greater portion of the hotel work has been ably executed by him; and to his sterling business aptitude, tact, and courtesy, the prosperous state of the brewery at the present time is in a large measure due.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Philip Luckie,
              the Accountant, has an efficient staff under him.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Brewin,
              who has been connected with “Seccombe's” for twenty-seven years, is one of the most capable brewers in Australasia. He has a perfect knowledge of his business; both as a maltster and a brewer, he is up to date, and is in every way fitted to manage such an important branch of the business.

          

          

            
            


              

                Hipkins And Coutts
              
              (John Joseph Hipkins and Alfred Coutts), Wine and Spirit Merchants, Bottlers, and General Commission Agents, Elliot Street, Auckland. Established in 1895. The firm started as bottlers of Messrs Speight's celebrated Dunedin ale and stout, but owing to the wonderful expansion of its trade, and in order to meet the requirements of its numerous customers, it added the wine and spirit business. Messrs Hipkins and Coutts secured the sole agency of some of the most celebrated brands of whiskies, namely, Keith's Cadzow Old Liqueur Whisky, Baxter's Barley Bree, and P. Dawson's Perfection Scotch. These three brands are noted for their purity and age, and are guaranteed to be ten years old before shipment to the colony. Large bulk stocks of these whiskies are kept by the firm, and bottled and stored in its extensive cellars, whence it is forwarded to the firm's customers. Messrs Hipkins and Coutts bottle these whiskies from the wood in their natural purity, and they find that they are in great




request in town and country. The Adelaide wines, which are bottled by the firm, are known for their purity and excellence, and are highly recommended by the medical faculty to invalids. The Wanganui cider, of which the firm has the sole agency, is manufactured from the proper cider apples, grown by the Wanganui Cider Company. This beverage has the reputation of being the finest made in the colony, and is extensively consumed during the summer months. The business of the firm has increased so much that two travellers are now employed in the interests of the company in town and country. The premises in Elliot Street are fine brick and concrete buildings, with ample cool cellarage, where large stocks of bottled wines (Spanish, French, and Australian), ales and spirits, are kept maturing, previous to delivery to the firm's customers. About seven men are employed in the bottling department, and at times they are unable to supply the demand. Owing to the energetic commercial qualities of the two partners, the business of the firm is one of the most progressive in Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. John Joseph Hipkins
              
              is a native of West Bromwich, near Birmingham, England. He learned the iron trade with his father, who was a well-known ironmaster, and came to New Zealand in 1884. For a number of years he was with the Auckland Freezing Company, and in 1895, he and Mr. Coutts started their present business. Mr. Hipkins is very musical; he possesses a fine tenor voice, and is a member of St. Paul's church choir. He is an enthusiastis member of the Auckland Bowling Club. Mr. Hipkins is married, and has a family of four.
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Mr. Alfred Coutts
              
              is a son of Mr. John Coutts, the well-known superintendent engineer of the Northern Steamship Company. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and learned the ironmongery business in one of the large Auckland houses. After serving his apprenticeship he went to Australia, in 1884, and for a number of years was engaged there in various pursuits. Mr. Coutts returned to New Zealand in 1890, and for several years was travelling representative for a prominent ironmongery firm in Auckland. He severed his connection with that firm in 1895, when he and his partner, Mr. Hipkins, started their present flourishing business. Mr. Coutts is well known in musical circles, and is a member of the Auckland Amateur Opera Club, and of the Ponsonby Musical Society, and possesses a fine tenor voice. He is also a member of the Ponsonby Bowling Club. As a Freemason Mr. Coutts is a member of Lodge Ara, No. 1, New Zealand Constitution. He is married, and resides at Shelley Beach Road.
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The Campbell And Ehrenfried Company,
             
 Ltd., Brewers, Bottlers and Cordial Manufacturers and General Merchants, Lower Queen Street and Elliot Street, Auckland. This company, which is the largest brewing business in the North Island, if not in New Zealand, was formed by the amalgamation of the firms of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co., and Messrs Ehrenfried Bros., and their incorporation in May, 1897, with a capital of £300,000. The firm of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co. was formed in May, 1839, by Dr. J. Logan Campbell and the late Mr. William Brown, who carried on business at Thames, and at the Crown and Domain breweries, New-market. The firm of Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. was established in 1868 by the late Messrs Louis Ehrenfried and Bernard Ehrenfried, and was conducted under the same style until the late amalgamation, the negotiations for which were initiated previous to the death of the late Mr Louis Ehrenfried, and after his demise were completed by Mr. Arthur M. Myers and Dr. Campbell. The three directors of the company are Dr. Campbell and Messrs Arthur and Leo Myers; Mr. Arthur Myers being managing director and Mr. A. S. Bankart, formerly with Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co., secretary. When Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. began business in 1868 their output amounted to about sixty hogsheads per month, or an average of 720 per year. In 1879, the output was 6440 hogsheads; in 1892, 6055 hogsheads; in 1893, 6598 hogsheads; in 1894, 7123 hogsheads; in 1895, 7376 hogsheads; in 1896, 8127 hogsheads; and at the date of the amalgamation in 1897, 10,238 hogsheads. The company's output for 1897 and 1898 reached 13,552 hogsheads. In addition to brewing both firms carried on a large wine, spirit, bottled ale and stout trade. The wines were imported from Europe and Australia, and the bottled ales and stout enjoyed
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a high reputation throughout the Colony. Since the company has been formed this branch has been largely increased, and there is a strong demand for its brands throughout the colonies. The Company has large malt-houses at Newmarket, where it malts its own barley. It purchases largely from Blenheim, Nelson, Canterbury and the Lake districts, and also a small quantity locally in order to encourage the growth of the grain; and it pays top prices for southern barley. In all, it uses about 12,000 sacks, or over 55,000 bushels of barley annually. It is also a large buyer of hops, and uses annually about 65,000 pounds; principally Nelson, and partly English; Bavarian and Californian hops are used for blending purposes. In 1895 the wine and spirit trade of Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co, amounted to £37,000, and that of Messrs Ehrenfried Bros, to £37,874, while in the first year of the company's operations, the output nearly reached £100,000. In 1896 the bottled ale and stout trade of Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. amounted to 13,355 dozen, while the output of the company in 1897–8 reached 33,000 dozen. The company has erected a handsome four-storey building in Lower Queen Street; it runs right through Little Queen Street, and contains the offices, bottling and labelling departments, and the department for the manufacture of cordials, etc. Beneath the ground floor are extensive cellars containing the bins where the fresh brews of beer are kept for the purpose of maturing before bottling, and after being bottled, kept another three months before being delivered. Handsome offices for the manager, secretary and clerical staff abut on the front entrance on the ground floor. The rear portion is used for the storage and delivery of goods at the Little Queen Street entrance. The corking, labelling and capsuling are carried out on the second floor, and there are rows of racks filled with gross upon gross of bottles of ale and stout awaiting delivery, or to be packed in cases for export. The third floor is set apart for the wine, spirit and cordial department, and has a row of sixteen large vats, each containing 350 gallons of spirits and different wines, all duty paid, for small buyers. The foreman in charge is an expert, and is continually experimenting in the manufacture of cordials, bitters, tonics, etc. The company has placed its own brand of “Braemar” whisky on the market, with the most satisfactory results, as the sales last year reached 2500 gallons, and it also deals largely in “Goldeck,” a Hungarian claret which has become very popular. The company's Bavarian hop bitters find a ready market, and last season the output of lemon squash ran to over 3000 dozen bottles. The fourth floor is used principally for bottle washing. An elevator conveys the bottles in crates from below, and they pass into the hands of expert bottle-washers, who average fifty to sixty dozen a day. The board room is a comfortably fitted up apartment in the front portion of the second floor, and contains very handsome and speaking portraits of the late proprietors. The original Albert Brewery was built about fifty years ago; it passed through several hands, and was finally taken over by Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. in 1880. As it stands at present, the building forms two separate portions known as the “old” and “new” building. Each is provided with a complete brewing plant of sixty hogshead capacity, one auxiliary to the other, one being
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driven by gas-power and the other by steam. The two plants are connected by an auxiliary shaft, so that in the case of the failure of the gas or steam power, as the case may be, both can be run by either motive power alone. The brewery is built on the very latest elevation principle. When the malt is received at the brewery it is elevated to the top floor, where it is dumped into bins; thence it goes through a Boby rotary polishing machine, and all foreign substance is separated, thus allowing nothing but polished grain of a uniform size to enter the mill which crushes the malt and elevates it back to the top of the brewery, to be deposited in the crushed malt-bins. From these bins it passes through a Maitland masher, where it is saturated with water by means of a perforated double jacket, and thence conveyed to the mash tun. This tun has a capacity of 200 bushels, and is fitted with a Morton's patent slotted gun-metal false bottom, and a throe-arm ball-bearing sparge. After treatment in the mash tun the liquor is received in a 4000 gallon copper, where the hops and sugar are added, and is boiled for about two hours; then a valve allows it to escape into a “hopback” fitted with strainers, which permit the liquor to run clear into the cooler and keep the hops back to be pressed. The cooler has a capacity of 4000 gallons, and the beer continually passes through it and thence over a Morton's latest patent sixty-barrel refrigerator into the gyles. These gyles consist of eight vats of 800 gallons capacity, and here the liquor passes through the process of fermentation, which lasts for forty-eight hours. It next passes by gravitation into cleaners placed in the cellars to finish the process of fermentation, which takes about eight or nine days, when the beer is practically fit for consumption. The water used for the manufacture of the beer is pumped from an artesian spring in the brewery ground and from a depth of 1104 feet. One hundred feet below the surface there is a large reservoir, and the water consumption amounts to about 20,000 gallons per day. The cellarage capacity of the brewery is apportioned as follows:—No, 1 cellar has a capacity of 500 hogsheads; No. 2, 400 hogsheads; No. 3, 600 hogsheads; No. 4 cellar, 1000 hogsheads; and the stock cellar has a storage capacity equal to 2500 casks of beer. The average temperature is 60 degrees Fahrenheit, the roofs being insulated with pumice to preserve its uniformity. All the casks are made from imported oak staves, and the company keep four coopers regularly employed. On the second floor of the new building are the offices, and the forwarding department opening on Elliot Street. The machinery comprises three fifteen horse-power gas engines, a six-ton freezing machine, and one of Morton's sixty-barrel refrigerators; and the beer casks are raised from the cellars to the flooring stage of the delivery department by an endless chain elevator. The cask-washing department is at the main entrance from Elliot Street, its dimensions being 140 by 60 feet. There the casks are mechanically washed by steam and boiling water, and then put on drying stages, after which they are carefully examined and put down into the cellar by means of an automatic eage. The company owns ten delivery carts and provides two traps for travellers; and the brewery is under the supervision of Mr. Griffiths, an expert brewer, who has been with Messrs Ehrenfried Bros. for many years. About forty-two hands are employed in the brewery, and the company altogether employs about eighty-four men. The company also owns the well-known “Puriri Natural Mineral Water,” the consumption of which is rapidly increasing, and bids fair at no distant date to beat its rival “Apollinaris” in the larger markets of the world. The company is extremely popular owing to its honourable dealings with its clients and customers, and also on account of the practical interest taken by its managers in all works appertaining to the good of the city or to sporting and charitable organizations.

            

              

[image: Mr. Myers.]

Mr. Myers.


            

            

              

[image: Interior of Premises: Another View.]

Interior of Premises: Another View.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Louis Ehrenfried



            
            


              

Mr. Louis Ehrenfried,
              whose name was well known throughout New Zealand (but more particularly in the Auckland and Thames districts, where he founded his prosperous business as a wine and spirit merchant in 1868), was born at Hamburg, and emigrated with his brother Bernard to Australia over forty years ago. After a stay of some years in that continent, the brothers decided to try their fortune in New Zealand, the Colony having come into prominence owing to the outbreak of the Dunstan gold “rush” in Otago in 1862. The brothers went into various business ventures, and commenced packing stores to the goldfields. They acquired a valuable station property at Mataura, but later on were obliged to dispose of it, in consequence of having to meet a guarantee for a friend, for whom, without any consideration whatever, they had made themselves liable. When they left the district for the West Coast goldfields, the residents presented them with a piece of plate and an address expressive of regret at their departure. On the West Coast they



experienced the usual ups and downs of a goldfield, and their want of commercial success made it impossible for them to meet all their claims. Nevertheless, when they closed the business on the West Coast, Mr. Ehrenfried resolved that, sooner or later, he should meet all his engagements, amounting to several thousands of pounds. This he succeeded in doing in late years, and the creditors, in token of their appreciation of his highly honourable act, made him a handsome presentation. In 1868, the Ehrenfried Brothers came north and went to the Thames, where they established a brewery and laid the foundation of what has turned out to be one of the most successful businesses in the colony. On the death of his brother in 1869, Mr. Louis Ehrenfried continued the business and launched out into other districts, extending his operations to Auckland. In 1885, he purchased the well-known and old-established business of Messrs R. Whitson and Sons, Queen Street. The trade continued to increase, and Mr. Ehrenried's well-directed enterprise brought him the success which deservedly followed. He was ably assisted by his nephew, Mr. Arthur M. Myers, who managed the business for the last fifteen years of his uncle's life, and who is now its managing director. In 1897, on the 26th of February, Auckland lost one of its most respected citizons in Mr. Ehrenfried, who died at his residence in O'Rorke Street, from a complication of diseases, which defied successful treatment by his medical attendants, Mr. Ehrenfried was a generous, open-handed man, ever ready to assist any deserving case irrespective of denomination. He was a liberal supporter of the Hebrew synagogue, being a member of the Jewish faith. Rarely in the history of the Colony has there been seen such a spontaneous tribute to the excellence of a departed citizen, as that witnessed at the funeral of Mr. Ehrenfried. Thousands of citizens of all denominations assembled at the cemetery to pay a last tribute to the man who was so well loved by his fellows. When at the Thames, he served as a councillor for some years, and in 1880, was mayor of the borough. He filled other public offices and was made a justice of the peace. He was a member of the order of Foresters, and as a bowler was vice-president of the Auckland Bowling Club. The chief characteristic of Mr. Ehrenfriod was his well-known philanthropy; he not only gave, but gave gladly. In his death, Auckland suffered a great loss, for he had proved himself a good and worthy citizen.

            

              

[image: The Late Mr. Ehrenfried.]

The Late Mr. Ehrenfried.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Captain Cook Brewery



            
            

              

                The Captain Cook Brewery
              
             
 (Hancock and Co.; Moss Davis, proprietor), Auckland. The Captain Cook Brewery was founded in 1862 by Mr. Hancock, who subsequently took his son-in-law, Mr. S. Jagger, into partnership. Mr. Moss Davis, the present proprietor, came into the firm as a partner in 1885, but afterwards bought from the executors of the late Mr. S. Jagger their share of the business, and thus became the sole proprietor. Mr. Davis's unceasing industry and business tact have greatly increased the trade, and now the Captain Cook Brewery is one of the largest and most complete in the colony. The beer is brewed from the best malt and hops grown in New Zealand. In fact, all the articles used are colonial products, and, as these are abundant, there is no temptation to use any
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extraneous substance in the brewing. New Zealand barley is well known for its good quality, and Nelson hops are at least equal to the famous production of the Kentish hop-grounds. The brewery is arranged upon the most modern principles, the aim of the proprietor being to obtain the best results by the simplest means. This brewery has a great advantage in the matter of its water supply, which is exceptionally pure, and derived from wells bored in the lava of Mount Eden. The brewery does its own malting and makes its own barrels, and it is the boast of the proprietor that the only foreign material used in the establishment is the cork bung. Only one quality of ale is brewed, and that is the best, popularly known as Hancock's celebrated XXXX. In the year 1900 a large and extensive plant for the manufacture of laager beer was erected. It is the first and only plant of the kind erected in the colony. The beer is known by the brand of “Bismarck,” and is already very popular throughout New Zealand. Anyone visiting Auckland should visit the Captain Cook Brewery.
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Mr. Moss Davis,
              the Proprietor, is one of Auckland's most popular and highly-esteemed citizens. Though he is a prominent figure in business circles, he has not yet taken any active part in public life. He is an assiduous worker, and, having the responsibilities of a large concern on his shoulders, is necessarily a very busy man. Mr. Davis has assisted to improve the hotels in Auckland, and has also done much to raise the status of the trade by getting a good class of licensed victuallers into the houses, and securing a close observance of the licensing laws. He is assisted in the management of the business by two of his sons, Messrs Ernest and Eliot Davis, both of whom are popular in business circles.
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Mr. Archdale Tayler,
              Accountant, was born on the 11th of May, 1855, at Weybridge, Surrey, England. He is the eldest son of the Rev. Archdale Wilson Tayler, M.A., of Trinity College, Dublin, and was educated at the Leeds Grammar school, Yorkshire. On leaving school, at the age of eighteen, he entered the employment of Robinson Clay and Co., cloth manufacturers and merchants, of Leeds. He landed at Wellington in August, 1880, by the ship “St. Leonard's,” and in March, 1883, removed to Auckland, where he entered the employment of William McArthur and Co., with whom he remained eleven years, till they gave up business in 1894. Mr. Tayler was for three years accountant at Cook and Gray's, and is at present accountant for the Captain Cook Brewery, Ltd. He is a Fellow of the Incorporated Institute of Accountants of New Zealand, and sometime local secretary for Auckland, and also sometime secretary of the Warehousemen's Association, and Insurers' Protection Association. Mr. Tayler was for many years a member and soloist of the Auckland Choral Society. He was one of the original founders of the Auckland Amateur Opera Club, in 1885, and played John Wellington Wells in the “Sorcerer,” Gaspard in “Les Cloches,” the Lord Chancellor in” Marquis de Pontsable in “Madame Favart,” Koko in the “Mikado,” the Duke of Plazatoro in the “Gondoliers,” and Sherwood in “Dorothy”; and has also acted as stage manager for the club during the last eight or nine years. He is well known on the concert platform. It has often been said that he mistook his vocation in life, and there is little doubt that, had he adopted the stage as a profession, he would have distinguished himself. In July, 1887, he married Lilias, eldest daughter of Mr James Gartside Culpan, and grand-daughter of Mr William Culpan, one of the pioneer settlers who arrived in Auckland by the ship “Jane Gifford,” in 1842.
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                Great Northern Brewery
              
             
 (Ltd.). At Khyber Pass, Newmarket, on the north side of Mount Eden, stands the well-built Great Northern Brewery. It is popularly known as “Seccombe's Brewery,” and was founded in 1860 by Mr. Richard Seccombe. In February, 1890, the business of the Great Northern Brewery was formed into a company, with a capital of £200,000, with Mr. John Mowbray as managing director, and Mr. H. M. Jervis, junior, secretary. Under the new company the business expanded, and extensive additions were made to the brewery. The output has since increased between sixty and seventy per cent.; a fine three-storey bottling department has been erected on the land opposite to the brewery; and a tower, five stories high, has, been put up to cope with the increased trade. The main buildings are situated on a commanding site, over six acres in extent. Shortly after Mr. Seccombe started business he had occasion to sink a well, and when sixty feet was reached the crowbar in use disappeared, and a great underground stream of water was tapped. In the driest seasons the flow of this pure spring water—cool and refreshing—remains unaffected in its volume; in fact, the city at one time drew part of its requirements from this well. The bottle store, a corrugated iron building 100 feet by 33 feet, is the sleeping house of what are known as the “dead marines.” Here between 4000 and 5000 sacks of bottles are seen, and frequently when supplies are coming forward freely there are as many as 10,000 sacks in store. The bottling building is a capitally designed three-storey brick structure, 150 feet long by 40 feet wide. The Great Northern Brewery has a reputation for supplying the best in the colony, and also for bottling in the summer time a light ale, which has no equal in its suitability for the Auckland climate. It allows the beer
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and stout to mature for from six to nine months before it permits a pint of it to be bottled. The Great Northern Brewery, in addition to its immense Auckland trade, does a large business with the Islands. To meet the demand for its famous bottled ale and stout, the brewery has to stock over 12,000 dozen. The company's bottled ales and stout are especially suitable for invalids, and for all who require an invigorating tonic, as well as a delicious, wholesome beverage. They are strongly recommended by the medical faculty, being the purest brewed in the world, next to the celebrated Burton-on-Trent ales and Guinness's stout. The rock cellar, 240 feet long and 35 feet wide, with its rows of “tunners,” is particularly well built of solid stone, and perfectly ventilated; and in the summer time it is a delightfully cool place in which to keep the beer. The offices of the company, on the second floor of the building, are well arranged, and contain a waiting-room, public office, and accountant's, secretary's, manager's, and managing director's rooms. Telephonic communication is provided for the manager and managing director, in addition to the public telephone. The malthouse, spotlessly clean, is 160 feet by 30 feet. It is here that some thousands of sacks of barley are annually converted into malt. The ground floor is of concrete, upon which is laid the soaked barley to promote germination. There is a boiler-house, where the water supply used for supplying the bottling department is heated. The brewery tower, of five stories in height, is of very handsome design. It is strongly built, and is fitted throughout with the most modern brewing appliances, and was designed by Mr. Charles Arnold, architect. The walls are of brick, with iron rail supports and girders, and the floors of concrete, so that the building is practically fireproof. From the very top of the tower, the spring water can be heard running into a huge iron tank, which holds 5000 gallons. Last season for the Great Northern Brewery's summer trade over 1000 hogsheads were stored in the cool rock cellars, and this year they will require 1500. The Great Northern Brewery's celebrated draught ale is a first-class production; it is absolutely pure and bright, and is now the best and most popular beer drawn in the colony. The best of hops and malt, and sparkling water—better cannot be drawn from any mountain spring in New Zealand—are the simple ingredients of this nutritious and invigorating tonic.
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Mr. John Mowbray,
              the Managing Director, is well known in business circles, and the senior partner of J. M. and J. Mowbray, sharebrokers and land agents, of Shortland Street. For years past, since the golden days of the Caledonian mine, in 1869, he has been connected with sharebroking in Auckland, and on the retirement of Mr. J. M. Lennox, he was elected to the important and onerous position of chairman of the Auckland Stock Exchange. He has the reputation of possessing special ability in all matters in connection with the brewing industry, in which he figures so prominently. Mr. Mowbray is in every way a popular and useful citizen of Auckland.
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Mr. A. Seccombe,
              a Director, is a son of the late Mr. John Carroll Seccombe, and has been closely identified with the brewery since his youth.
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Mr. H. M. Jervis,
              Junior, Secretary of the Great Northern Brewery Company, has been connected with the brewery for over thirteen years. The greater portion of the hotel work has been ably executed by him; and to his sterling business aptitude, tact, and courtesy, the prosperous state of the brewery at the present time is in a large measure due.
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Mr. Philip Luckie,
              the Accountant, has an efficient staff under him.
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Mr. James Brewin,
              who has been connected with “Seccombe's” for twenty-seven years, is one of the most capable brewers in Australasia. He has a perfect knowledge of his business; both as a maltster and a brewer, he is up to date, and is in every way fitted to manage such an important branch of the business.
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                Hipkins And Coutts
              
              (John Joseph Hipkins and Alfred Coutts), Wine and Spirit Merchants, Bottlers, and General Commission Agents, Elliot Street, Auckland. Established in 1895. The firm started as bottlers of Messrs Speight's celebrated Dunedin ale and stout, but owing to the wonderful expansion of its trade, and in order to meet the requirements of its numerous customers, it added the wine and spirit business. Messrs Hipkins and Coutts secured the sole agency of some of the most celebrated brands of whiskies, namely, Keith's Cadzow Old Liqueur Whisky, Baxter's Barley Bree, and P. Dawson's Perfection Scotch. These three brands are noted for their purity and age, and are guaranteed to be ten years old before shipment to the colony. Large bulk stocks of these whiskies are kept by the firm, and bottled and stored in its extensive cellars, whence it is forwarded to the firm's customers. Messrs Hipkins and Coutts bottle these whiskies from the wood in their natural purity, and they find that they are in great




request in town and country. The Adelaide wines, which are bottled by the firm, are known for their purity and excellence, and are highly recommended by the medical faculty to invalids. The Wanganui cider, of which the firm has the sole agency, is manufactured from the proper cider apples, grown by the Wanganui Cider Company. This beverage has the reputation of being the finest made in the colony, and is extensively consumed during the summer months. The business of the firm has increased so much that two travellers are now employed in the interests of the company in town and country. The premises in Elliot Street are fine brick and concrete buildings, with ample cool cellarage, where large stocks of bottled wines (Spanish, French, and Australian), ales and spirits, are kept maturing, previous to delivery to the firm's customers. About seven men are employed in the bottling department, and at times they are unable to supply the demand. Owing to the energetic commercial qualities of the two partners, the business of the firm is one of the most progressive in Auckland.
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Mr. John Joseph Hipkins
              
              is a native of West Bromwich, near Birmingham, England. He learned the iron trade with his father, who was a well-known ironmaster, and came to New Zealand in 1884. For a number of years he was with the Auckland Freezing Company, and in 1895, he and Mr. Coutts started their present business. Mr. Hipkins is very musical; he possesses a fine tenor voice, and is a member of St. Paul's church choir. He is an enthusiastis member of the Auckland Bowling Club. Mr. Hipkins is married, and has a family of four.
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Mr. Alfred Coutts
              
              is a son of Mr. John Coutts, the well-known superintendent engineer of the Northern Steamship Company. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and learned the ironmongery business in one of the large Auckland houses. After serving his apprenticeship he went to Australia, in 1884, and for a number of years was engaged there in various pursuits. Mr. Coutts returned to New Zealand in 1890, and for several years was travelling representative for a prominent ironmongery firm in Auckland. He severed his connection with that firm in 1895, when he and his partner, Mr. Hipkins, started their present flourishing business. Mr. Coutts is well known in musical circles, and is a member of the Auckland Amateur Opera Club, and of the Ponsonby Musical Society, and possesses a fine tenor voice. He is also a member of the Ponsonby Bowling Club. As a Freemason Mr. Coutts is a member of Lodge Ara, No. 1, New Zealand Constitution. He is married, and resides at Shelley Beach Road.
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Including—Builders and General Contractors, Monumental Masons and Sculptors,

          

          

            
            


              

Grandison, Archibald,
              Builder and Contractor, Parliament Street and Beach Road, Auckland. Mr. Grandison was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1852, and was educated at the Free Church of Scotland schools at Scone, Perthshire. He was afterwards apprenticed with the well-known contractors, Messrs Murray and Sons, of Perth. He then removed to Glasgow, and was for a number of years in the employment of Messrs Watt and Wilson, contractors for the Glasgow Central Railway Station and Glasgow Board schools, and was for four or five years one of the foremen overseers of the firm. During the last two years of his residence in Glasgow he was engaged in business on his own account, in partnership with Mr. McAlpine, and the firm found plenty of work in the city. In 1882 Mr. Grandison came to New Zealand on the maiden trip of the s.s. “Ionic,” and in 1884 he established himself in business in his present quarters, and has been kept incessantly busy since his arrival. It was he who carried out the large additions to the City Market and Agricultural Hall, to the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company's offices, and the Auckland Museum. He also erected the Wesleyan parsonage at North Shore, a large residence at Mount Eden for Mr. Nicholson, and a residence at the North Shore for Mr. Mason. Wingate's buildings (afterwards burned, by which Mr. Grandison lost considerably) were also erected by him. The Egmont Hotel at Hawera, well-known to commercial men for its comforts and conveniences, was built by Mr. Grandison, who also had the contract for the buildings connected with the Rotorua railway, and carried out the work under the supervision of Mr. James Stewart, late provincial engineer. This work gave the Government great satisfaction, and at the banquet given on the successful opening of the line, Mr. Grandison was praised by the Premier and other Ministers, for the manner in which his contract had been carried out; the Premier expressing a hope that “it would not be the last job Mr. Grandison would do for them.” The contract for the Auckland Harbour Board's largest sheds on the Queen Street wharf was carried out by Mr. Grandison. He has for many years been an elder and Sunday school superintendent of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church. When a young man in the Old Country, Mr. Grandison was an enthusiastic player of cricket, bowls and golf; but since his arrival in the Colony he has had no time to attend to these matters. Mr. Grandison was married in 1886 to a daughter of the late Mr. James Kay, of Portland, and has three daughters and two sons.
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Harris, Frank,
              Monumental Mason and Sculptor, Victoria Street East, Auckland. Established 1870. This well-known business, which is now carried on by Mr. Harris, is one of the largest of its kind in Auckland, and gives employment to about six trained men. The very highest style of monumental sculpture is manufactured, from the ordinary tablet and headstone to the best class of artistic monuments. Large quantities of Italian marble and Aberdeen granite are kept in stock, and from these materials Mr. Harris manufactures those elaborate and artistic specimens of monumental work, for which the firm is celebrated. Mr. Harris's business connections extend from the provincial district of Wellington to the extreme north of Auckland, and also to Fiji and Raratonga. The monuments turned out by Mr. Harris are seen in the various cemeteries of the North Island, and as regards workmanship and style are acknowledged by competent judges to be equal, if not superior, to the best articles of the kind imported from Europe. Mr. Harris was born and educated in Auckland, where he was taught the business of a monumental mason. He then went to Sydney, where he obtained a complete knowledge and mastery of the more important and artistic branches of his business. On returning to Auckland Mr. Harris commenced his present business, which had been long established, and soon made a name for himself with the artistic quality of his workmanship.
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Hatcher, George,
              Builder and Contractor, Mount Roskill Road, Mount Eden. Mr. Hatcher was born at Tenterden, in Kent, in the year 1858, and received his early education in that county. He was apprenticed to the firm of Godfrey and Sons, and learned the business of a builder. In 1879 he came to New Zealand in the ship “Ben Nevis,” and after a year spent in working for leading builders, he established himself in his present business. Though never engaged on any large public works, Mr. Hatcher has always had his hands full of private contracts, and has erected residences for many prominent Auckland citizens. He has built a number of schools for the Education Board, notably at East Tamaki, Mangawai, and Hukenui. The fine concrete house of Mr. Frank White, in Khyber Pass, Mr. A. H. Morrisby's modern residence in Gladstone Street, Parnell, and Mrs. Isaacs' fine residence in Eden Terrace, overlooking the harbour, also Mrs. Kenderdine's



residence at Manukau Road, Parnell, were erected by Mr. Hatcher, who makes a specialty of private residences and villas. Modern villas designed and built by him are much admired, and find ready buyers. Though too busy a man to take an active part in public affairs, Mr. Hatcher has shown a keen interest in everything in connection with the good of the city, and has always given his hearty support to all schemes which have tended to the good of the community. He takes an active part in temperance reform, and has for many years been a steward and trustee of the Wesleyan Church, and a Sunday school teacher. Mr. Hatcher is a prominent member of the Auckland Builders' Association. He is married to the eldest daughter of the late Mr. John Morgan, who was well-known as a timber merchant in Auckland, and has a family of one son and four daughters.
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Holland, James Job,
              Builder and Contractor, Chapel Street, Auckland. Telephone, at private residence, City Road, 909. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Holland established himself in business in 1864, and has met with much success. He sat for Auckland City in the House of Representatives during the Parliament which closed with the session of 1899, and he is referred to elsewhere in that and in other capacities.

          

          

            
            


              

Hutchison, William E.,
              Builder and Contractor, Jervois Road, Ponsonby. Mr. Hutchison was born in Derry, Ireland, in 1858, and educated at the Model School in that town. He arrived at Auckland on the 1st of September, 1875, by the ship “Dover Castle,” and finished his time as a builder under Major Skinner. Mr. Hutchison then joined his father in partnership, and the firm was known as Hutchison and Son. A large number of private residences and buildings were erected by the firm, but upon the breaking out of the “boom” in Melbourne, the junior partner went across to that city, and acted as foreman for a Melbourne firm for some time. On his return to New Zealand he rejoined his father and has since been engaged in carrying out large contracts, such as Messrs Hellaby's store and freezing works, Shortland Street; factory at Richmond and shop in Karangahape Road; Huntly Hotel; the large brick additions to Messrs L. D. Nathan and Co.'s bonded store in Customs Street East; the Albert Brewery in Elliot Street, and other buildings too numerous to mention. The firm recently finished erecting the D.S.C. Block of Buildings, including additions to the Central Hotel, Queen and Victoria Streets. It also makes a specialty of private residences and villas. The firm's steam joinery works are in Lower Hobson Street, where the shop is fitted up with all the latest woodworking machines. Mr. Hutchison has acted for some time as secretary of the Ponsonby Lodge of Freemasons, and is secretary of St. John's Wesleyan Church. He is also a member of the Ponsonby Bowling Club, and is a member of the council of the Auckland Technical Schools' Association.
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Payne, John Joseph,
              Builder and Contractor, John Street, Ponsonby. Mr. Payne was born in Wales, England, in 1848, and came to New Zealand with his parents in 1859. He served his apprenticeship to the building trade in Auckland, and became a contractor in 1877. He has ever since had his hands full of business, and has erected a great deal of mining plant, especially in connection with the cyanide process. Mr. Payne erected the Cassels plant at Waihi, the Try Fluke, Kapai, Vermont, and Great Mercury at Kuaotunu and Talisman at Karangahako, all in first class style. He has also built a great number of residences in Auckland and suburbs, such as Mr. John Kneebone's house at Mount Eden, Mr. Faulder's at Archhill, and many others. Some years ago he visited Australia, where he carried out a number of contracts. He is a member of the committee of the Auckland Builders' Association, of St. Andrew's Masonic Lodge, 418, S.C., and is an Oddfellow of the American Order. Mr. Payne was married, in 1872, to Miss Wallace, daughter of Mr. George Wallace, a well-known old colonist of Auckland, and has seven sons and two daughters.

          

          

            
            

              

Rhodes, George,
             
 General Builder Office and Yard, 14 Customs Street West, Auckland; private residence, “Fernbank,” Collingwood Street. Mr. Rhodes was born in the City of York, England, in 1849. The business now carried on by him was founded by his father, the late Mr. George Rhodes, in 1862. Two years later Mr. John Gunn (formerly an apprentice to Mr Rhodes in Launceston, Tasmania) became a partner, under the style of Rhodes and Gunn, and the partnership continued until 1867. The firm constructed the major portion of the main sewer, the warehouses of Mr. Thomas Short, and Messrs Owen and Graham, Queen Street; the law offices of Mr. James Hill, Shortland Street, and other buildings. It was also under its supervision that the Bank of New Zealand buildings were erected while Auckland was the headquarters of the Bank; and for massiveness of construction, chasteness in design and boldness of relief, those buildings are said, by good critics, to be second to none in New Zealand. The front wall is 7 feet thick at the bottom, and 3 feet 6 inches thick at the top, in solid bluestone and sandstone respectively. There is probably no nobler banking chamber in the
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colonies than that of this bank. The chamber is 90 feet long by 30 feet broad, and over 30 feet in height. Its cornices and pediments are bold, and the immense segment of ceiling plaster in a series of deep square panels, with enrichments, throws the whole into bold relief. The floor of this chamber and of the long vestibule is of marble, and the fittings of cedar. With the opening of the Thames goldfield the firm dissolved partnership, and in 1873 the present principal joined his father under the style of Rhodes and Son; after which such buildings as the Theatre Royal (now City Hall), the New Zealand Loan Company's block; Somerville's Buildings, and others were erected. This union continued, with slight intermission, until the death of Mr. George Rhodes, senior, in 1883, shortly after the firm had commenced a large contract for an extensive addition to, and internal alterations of, the Bank of New Zealand block, at a cost of about £15,000. After the completion of this intricate under-taking—which lasted about sixteen months—Mr. Rhodes's health necessitated a change; and this he took in a visit to Australia, Tasmania, and the southern part of New Zealand, in company with his widowed mother. On his return Mr Rhodes resumed contracting, and in 1886 erected the large three-storey block in Newton for Dr. Purchas (in conjunction with Mr. J. W. Jones); also the factory buildings of Messrs F. and W. Fowler; a warehouse for Sargood and Co., and other buildings. When the great depression of 1888 set in Mr. Rhodes commenced to devote his attention to a private order trade (in lieu of public tendering), which has since steadily grown out of the character he has established for neatness and thoroughness of workmanship, and for the general satisfaction given by him. Mr. Rhodes keeps for his own use and for hire an extensive builder's plant; supplies the trade with mill-mortar, etc., and is sole agent for the expanded-metal (steel) lathing, etc. He has also established as a side industry, the manufacture of “Rough on Slugs” and “Poultry Grit,” which are placed on the market in a handy form, and supply a felt want. Mr. Rhodes keeps a permanent staff of skilled workers, and takes private contracts in the city and suburbs.
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Grandison, Archibald,
              Builder and Contractor, Parliament Street and Beach Road, Auckland. Mr. Grandison was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1852, and was educated at the Free Church of Scotland schools at Scone, Perthshire. He was afterwards apprenticed with the well-known contractors, Messrs Murray and Sons, of Perth. He then removed to Glasgow, and was for a number of years in the employment of Messrs Watt and Wilson, contractors for the Glasgow Central Railway Station and Glasgow Board schools, and was for four or five years one of the foremen overseers of the firm. During the last two years of his residence in Glasgow he was engaged in business on his own account, in partnership with Mr. McAlpine, and the firm found plenty of work in the city. In 1882 Mr. Grandison came to New Zealand on the maiden trip of the s.s. “Ionic,” and in 1884 he established himself in business in his present quarters, and has been kept incessantly busy since his arrival. It was he who carried out the large additions to the City Market and Agricultural Hall, to the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company's offices, and the Auckland Museum. He also erected the Wesleyan parsonage at North Shore, a large residence at Mount Eden for Mr. Nicholson, and a residence at the North Shore for Mr. Mason. Wingate's buildings (afterwards burned, by which Mr. Grandison lost considerably) were also erected by him. The Egmont Hotel at Hawera, well-known to commercial men for its comforts and conveniences, was built by Mr. Grandison, who also had the contract for the buildings connected with the Rotorua railway, and carried out the work under the supervision of Mr. James Stewart, late provincial engineer. This work gave the Government great satisfaction, and at the banquet given on the successful opening of the line, Mr. Grandison was praised by the Premier and other Ministers, for the manner in which his contract had been carried out; the Premier expressing a hope that “it would not be the last job Mr. Grandison would do for them.” The contract for the Auckland Harbour Board's largest sheds on the Queen Street wharf was carried out by Mr. Grandison. He has for many years been an elder and Sunday school superintendent of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church. When a young man in the Old Country, Mr. Grandison was an enthusiastic player of cricket, bowls and golf; but since his arrival in the Colony he has had no time to attend to these matters. Mr. Grandison was married in 1886 to a daughter of the late Mr. James Kay, of Portland, and has three daughters and two sons.
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Harris, Frank,
              Monumental Mason and Sculptor, Victoria Street East, Auckland. Established 1870. This well-known business, which is now carried on by Mr. Harris, is one of the largest of its kind in Auckland, and gives employment to about six trained men. The very highest style of monumental sculpture is manufactured, from the ordinary tablet and headstone to the best class of artistic monuments. Large quantities of Italian marble and Aberdeen granite are kept in stock, and from these materials Mr. Harris manufactures those elaborate and artistic specimens of monumental work, for which the firm is celebrated. Mr. Harris's business connections extend from the provincial district of Wellington to the extreme north of Auckland, and also to Fiji and Raratonga. The monuments turned out by Mr. Harris are seen in the various cemeteries of the North Island, and as regards workmanship and style are acknowledged by competent judges to be equal, if not superior, to the best articles of the kind imported from Europe. Mr. Harris was born and educated in Auckland, where he was taught the business of a monumental mason. He then went to Sydney, where he obtained a complete knowledge and mastery of the more important and artistic branches of his business. On returning to Auckland Mr. Harris commenced his present business, which had been long established, and soon made a name for himself with the artistic quality of his workmanship.
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Hatcher, George,
              Builder and Contractor, Mount Roskill Road, Mount Eden. Mr. Hatcher was born at Tenterden, in Kent, in the year 1858, and received his early education in that county. He was apprenticed to the firm of Godfrey and Sons, and learned the business of a builder. In 1879 he came to New Zealand in the ship “Ben Nevis,” and after a year spent in working for leading builders, he established himself in his present business. Though never engaged on any large public works, Mr. Hatcher has always had his hands full of private contracts, and has erected residences for many prominent Auckland citizens. He has built a number of schools for the Education Board, notably at East Tamaki, Mangawai, and Hukenui. The fine concrete house of Mr. Frank White, in Khyber Pass, Mr. A. H. Morrisby's modern residence in Gladstone Street, Parnell, and Mrs. Isaacs' fine residence in Eden Terrace, overlooking the harbour, also Mrs. Kenderdine's



residence at Manukau Road, Parnell, were erected by Mr. Hatcher, who makes a specialty of private residences and villas. Modern villas designed and built by him are much admired, and find ready buyers. Though too busy a man to take an active part in public affairs, Mr. Hatcher has shown a keen interest in everything in connection with the good of the city, and has always given his hearty support to all schemes which have tended to the good of the community. He takes an active part in temperance reform, and has for many years been a steward and trustee of the Wesleyan Church, and a Sunday school teacher. Mr. Hatcher is a prominent member of the Auckland Builders' Association. He is married to the eldest daughter of the late Mr. John Morgan, who was well-known as a timber merchant in Auckland, and has a family of one son and four daughters.
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Holland, James Job,
              Builder and Contractor, Chapel Street, Auckland. Telephone, at private residence, City Road, 909. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Holland established himself in business in 1864, and has met with much success. He sat for Auckland City in the House of Representatives during the Parliament which closed with the session of 1899, and he is referred to elsewhere in that and in other capacities.
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Hutchison, William E.,
              Builder and Contractor, Jervois Road, Ponsonby. Mr. Hutchison was born in Derry, Ireland, in 1858, and educated at the Model School in that town. He arrived at Auckland on the 1st of September, 1875, by the ship “Dover Castle,” and finished his time as a builder under Major Skinner. Mr. Hutchison then joined his father in partnership, and the firm was known as Hutchison and Son. A large number of private residences and buildings were erected by the firm, but upon the breaking out of the “boom” in Melbourne, the junior partner went across to that city, and acted as foreman for a Melbourne firm for some time. On his return to New Zealand he rejoined his father and has since been engaged in carrying out large contracts, such as Messrs Hellaby's store and freezing works, Shortland Street; factory at Richmond and shop in Karangahape Road; Huntly Hotel; the large brick additions to Messrs L. D. Nathan and Co.'s bonded store in Customs Street East; the Albert Brewery in Elliot Street, and other buildings too numerous to mention. The firm recently finished erecting the D.S.C. Block of Buildings, including additions to the Central Hotel, Queen and Victoria Streets. It also makes a specialty of private residences and villas. The firm's steam joinery works are in Lower Hobson Street, where the shop is fitted up with all the latest woodworking machines. Mr. Hutchison has acted for some time as secretary of the Ponsonby Lodge of Freemasons, and is secretary of St. John's Wesleyan Church. He is also a member of the Ponsonby Bowling Club, and is a member of the council of the Auckland Technical Schools' Association.
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Payne, John Joseph,
              Builder and Contractor, John Street, Ponsonby. Mr. Payne was born in Wales, England, in 1848, and came to New Zealand with his parents in 1859. He served his apprenticeship to the building trade in Auckland, and became a contractor in 1877. He has ever since had his hands full of business, and has erected a great deal of mining plant, especially in connection with the cyanide process. Mr. Payne erected the Cassels plant at Waihi, the Try Fluke, Kapai, Vermont, and Great Mercury at Kuaotunu and Talisman at Karangahako, all in first class style. He has also built a great number of residences in Auckland and suburbs, such as Mr. John Kneebone's house at Mount Eden, Mr. Faulder's at Archhill, and many others. Some years ago he visited Australia, where he carried out a number of contracts. He is a member of the committee of the Auckland Builders' Association, of St. Andrew's Masonic Lodge, 418, S.C., and is an Oddfellow of the American Order. Mr. Payne was married, in 1872, to Miss Wallace, daughter of Mr. George Wallace, a well-known old colonist of Auckland, and has seven sons and two daughters.
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Rhodes, George,
             
 General Builder Office and Yard, 14 Customs Street West, Auckland; private residence, “Fernbank,” Collingwood Street. Mr. Rhodes was born in the City of York, England, in 1849. The business now carried on by him was founded by his father, the late Mr. George Rhodes, in 1862. Two years later Mr. John Gunn (formerly an apprentice to Mr Rhodes in Launceston, Tasmania) became a partner, under the style of Rhodes and Gunn, and the partnership continued until 1867. The firm constructed the major portion of the main sewer, the warehouses of Mr. Thomas Short, and Messrs Owen and Graham, Queen Street; the law offices of Mr. James Hill, Shortland Street, and other buildings. It was also under its supervision that the Bank of New Zealand buildings were erected while Auckland was the headquarters of the Bank; and for massiveness of construction, chasteness in design and boldness of relief, those buildings are said, by good critics, to be second to none in New Zealand. The front wall is 7 feet thick at the bottom, and 3 feet 6 inches thick at the top, in solid bluestone and sandstone respectively. There is probably no nobler banking chamber in the
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colonies than that of this bank. The chamber is 90 feet long by 30 feet broad, and over 30 feet in height. Its cornices and pediments are bold, and the immense segment of ceiling plaster in a series of deep square panels, with enrichments, throws the whole into bold relief. The floor of this chamber and of the long vestibule is of marble, and the fittings of cedar. With the opening of the Thames goldfield the firm dissolved partnership, and in 1873 the present principal joined his father under the style of Rhodes and Son; after which such buildings as the Theatre Royal (now City Hall), the New Zealand Loan Company's block; Somerville's Buildings, and others were erected. This union continued, with slight intermission, until the death of Mr. George Rhodes, senior, in 1883, shortly after the firm had commenced a large contract for an extensive addition to, and internal alterations of, the Bank of New Zealand block, at a cost of about £15,000. After the completion of this intricate under-taking—which lasted about sixteen months—Mr. Rhodes's health necessitated a change; and this he took in a visit to Australia, Tasmania, and the southern part of New Zealand, in company with his widowed mother. On his return Mr Rhodes resumed contracting, and in 1886 erected the large three-storey block in Newton for Dr. Purchas (in conjunction with Mr. J. W. Jones); also the factory buildings of Messrs F. and W. Fowler; a warehouse for Sargood and Co., and other buildings. When the great depression of 1888 set in Mr. Rhodes commenced to devote his attention to a private order trade (in lieu of public tendering), which has since steadily grown out of the character he has established for neatness and thoroughness of workmanship, and for the general satisfaction given by him. Mr. Rhodes keeps for his own use and for hire an extensive builder's plant; supplies the trade with mill-mortar, etc., and is sole agent for the expanded-metal (steel) lathing, etc. He has also established as a side industry, the manufacture of “Rough on Slugs” and “Poultry Grit,” which are placed on the market in a handy form, and supply a felt want. Mr. Rhodes keeps a permanent staff of skilled workers, and takes private contracts in the city and suburbs.
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Coachbuilders, Wheelwrights, Etc.

          

            
Including—Coachbuilders, Coachpainters and Wheelwrights.

          

          

            
            

              

                The Cousins And Atkin Carriage Factory
              
             
; Messrs Atkin Bros., proprietors (Arthur Charles Atkin, William Henry Atkin, and Edward Rogers Atkin), Elliot and Albert Streets, Auckland. Telephone 298 Cable address, “Carriage”; trade mark, wheel on the horizontal. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Agencies throughout the North Island. The late Mr. Charles Atkin, the founder of this firm, is referred to elsewhere in this volume as an ex-councillor of the City of Auckland; and Mr. Arthur Charles Atkin's career is described on page 
120 as a member of the Auckland City Council. In May, 1864, Mr Atkin, in conjunction with Mr. J. S. Cousins, founded the present business in Cook Street, and at the expiration of the lease, the firm moved into a portion of the present premises. Machinery was introduced in 1872 to meet the requirements of the steadily increasing business, and has been added to from time to time, until the factory now contains the latest and most complete plant in the colony. Mr. Cousins died while his eldest son was still at school, and Mr. Atkin, having sons at the factory, purchased the widow's entire interest in the buildings, plant, stock, and goodwill, at her valuation, there being no deed of partnership. About two years afterwards the premises were found insufficient for the increased business, and Mr. Atkin secured an adjoining site, on which he erected a double-storey building fronting Elliot Street, and two single-storey buildings covering nearly the whole depth (220 feet) to Albert Street. In 1899, two sections fronting Albert Street were purchased, when the present block was completed and new buildings were erected. The factory now consists of three double-storey brick buildings, with about 100 feet of frontage to Elliot Street; one double-storey building, with 120 feet of frontage to Albert Street, and six single-storey annexes connecting with Elliot Street, covering, in all, about half an acre. Every description of vehicle is made on the premises, from a dray to a landau, omnibus, or tramcar; and the firm is constantly introducing new styles. Its two-wheelers are perfectly balanced; and special grade steel for springs, and special axles for this work, are imported by the firm. The firm issues an annual catalogue for the convenience of its customers, and, in addition to the trade done in Auckland city and province, it sends vehicles throughout New Zealand, but chiefly to Taranaki, Wanganui, Hawke's Bay, Poverty Bay, and the South Sea Islands. The raw material used in the business is imported direct from the manufacturers in England, and the firm holds a large stock of seasoned woodware, hardware, carriage trimmings and lamps, which enables it to turn out vehicles of any description at short notice. The firm is the designer and patentee of the Excelsior, Jubilee, Palace Jubilee, Triple-seat Jubilee omnibuses and road cars, so well known in the colonies, and designs
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most of the styles in Auckland, including landaus, the popular ralli cart, Clifton and McCullagh buggies, dux waggons, and others. The firm manufactures 250 vehicles, has about 3000 repair jobs annually, also makes 400 pairs of wheels and puts on 2000 tyres. About sixty hands are constantly employed in the factory. A special feature of the firm's business is wheel-making, and dressed wheel material is supplied largely to the trade. The proprietors are experts in the various branches of the business, and exercise personal supervision over the departments. Many of the present employees have been trained by them, and some of them have been in the service of the firm for thirty-five years. Messrs Cousins and Atkin exhibited at the Wellington Exhibition in 1885, and received a silver medal; at the Indian and Colonial Exhibition, London, in 1886, and received a bronze medal; also at the Auckland Exhibition, but not for competition; and they have taken over sixty first class prizes at Colonial shows. During the thirty-seven years the factory has been going, the proprietors have built up the largest carriage business in New Zealand, and are justly proud of their reputation throughout the colony for first-class work.

          

          

            
            


              

                Cousins And Cousins
              
              (W. J. Cousins and J. F. Cousins), Coach and Carriage Builders, Lorne Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1890 by Mr. W. J. Cousins, who was joined two years later by his brother, Mr. J. F. Cousins. When Mr. W. J. Cousins started the business, after he had personally gained valuable experience in England and elsewhere, his sole assistant was a boy, but now the firm constantly employs forty persons, many of whom are expert scientifically trained workmen, with the highest qualifications in their line of business. Thousands of pounds have been spent on machinery in the factory, which is one of the best of its kind in New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


              

                Flynn, D. and Co.
              
              (Daniel Flynn and Michael Flynn), Coach and Carriage Builders, Elliot Street, Auckland. This flourishing business was founded by Mr. D. Flynn in 1895. The firm occupies extensive premises fronting on Elliot Street, and covering the block right through to Albert Street. All classes of vehicles are manufactured on the premises, from the luxurious landau to the ordinary two-wheeled cart, and only the best of seasoned woods are used in their manufacture. The firm imports large quantities of hickory from America, as that is the best wood for shafts and rims, and from Australia ironbark and red gum for the manufacture of spokes and felloes. The axles, springs and general ironwork are imported from England. On account of its hardness and durableness pohutakawa, a New Zealand timber, is largely used as hubs, and kauri and mangoia are also used for panelling. At the present time (January, 1901) fifteen hands are constantly employed by the firm, which, although young, has progressed with very marked success.

            

              

[image: Messrs D. Flynn & Co.'s Factory.]
Messrs D. Flynn & Co.'s Factory.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Daniel Flynn,
              Senior Partner of the firm, was born in Ireland, and came to Auckland with his parents when twelve years of age. Two years after his arrival he was apprenticed to the firm of Messrs Gee and Potter, the well-known coachbuilders, and remained seventeen years in their employment, where he obtained a thorough knowledge of the trade. In 1895 Mr. Flynn severed his connection with the firm, and started business on his own account in the present premises, where he commenced with a man and a boy. His sterling personal character and genial manner, together with the superiority of his work, soon increased his connection, and he took his brother, Mr. Michael Flynn, a very skilful blacksmith, into partnership. The firm is making many alterations in its premises to meet the growing requirements of its trade. Mr. Flynn takes an active part in matters connected with Friendly Societies, and is a member of the Friendly Societies' Conference. He also takes a keen interest in the politics of the day, and is against New Zealand joining the Australian Commonwealth, as he believes a better future and greater prosperity await the country as an independent friendly state.
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Mr. Michael Flynn,
              the Junior Partner, learned the business of a general smith, and was engaged as principal blacksmith at the
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Tramway Sheds for several years. He left the Tramway Company's service in 1898 to join his brother as partner, and he superintends the blacksmithing department of the business. He takes a lively interest in athletics, and played with the crack Ponsonby Football Club for several years.

          

          

            
            


              

Patterson, John,
              J.P., Coachbuilder, Wheelwright, Farrier, and General Blacksmith, Corner of Upper Queen Street and Cross Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, England Street, Ponsonby. This business was established by the present proprietor in 1879 on a small scale as compared with its present dimensions. The building, which is freehold, has a floorage space of 7000 square feet. Mr. Patterson's trade is for the greater part confined to coachbuilding and wheelwrighting. The machinery on the premises is of the most modern type, and includes lathes, drills, benders, and all the necessary appliances for carrying on the business on a most complete scale. Nothing but the best timber is used in the coachbuilding and wheelwrighting, and it is obtained locally for the greater part. Mr Patterson is kept regularly supplied with all the latest trade journals, and is in a position to turn out any novelties in any branch of his business, from wheelbarrows to hansom cabs, fitted up in the latest and most improved style, according to designs patented by Mr Patterson himself. The cabs thus made are second to none of their kind in Auckland. A hansom made by Mr. Patterson weighs only seven hundredweight and a half. Mr. Patterson has a good shoeing trade; and he supplies a large number of Auckland builders with all the necessary ironwork used in their business. Mr. Patterson was born in Auckland in 1855, and is a son of the late Mr. John Patterson, who arrived by the ship “Duchess of Argyle,” in 1840, and died at the advanced age of eighty-seven. Mr. Patterson was educated at St. Peter's School, and was apprenticed to the Leahy Dock Ironworks, where he remained for about thirteen years. He first entered into business on his own account in Karangahape Road, but eventually purchased the present site. Mr. Patterson was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1894, and he has been for many years a member of the Auckland Licensing Committee. He was elected the first and only president of the Auckland Coachbuilders' and Farriers' Association, and was chairman of the Pon-sonby school committee for two years. During the existence of the Royal Irish Volunteers he was a lieutenant in the corps. Mr. Patterson was for twenty years connected with the Auckland Amateur Sports Association, of which he was vice-president and a handicap-per. In politics, Mr. Patterson is a staunch supporter of Liberalism. He is married to a daughter of the late Sergeant James Clarke. Mr. Patterson is referred to in another article as a member of the Auckland City Council.
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                The Cousins And Atkin Carriage Factory
              
             
; Messrs Atkin Bros., proprietors (Arthur Charles Atkin, William Henry Atkin, and Edward Rogers Atkin), Elliot and Albert Streets, Auckland. Telephone 298 Cable address, “Carriage”; trade mark, wheel on the horizontal. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Agencies throughout the North Island. The late Mr. Charles Atkin, the founder of this firm, is referred to elsewhere in this volume as an ex-councillor of the City of Auckland; and Mr. Arthur Charles Atkin's career is described on page 
120 as a member of the Auckland City Council. In May, 1864, Mr Atkin, in conjunction with Mr. J. S. Cousins, founded the present business in Cook Street, and at the expiration of the lease, the firm moved into a portion of the present premises. Machinery was introduced in 1872 to meet the requirements of the steadily increasing business, and has been added to from time to time, until the factory now contains the latest and most complete plant in the colony. Mr. Cousins died while his eldest son was still at school, and Mr. Atkin, having sons at the factory, purchased the widow's entire interest in the buildings, plant, stock, and goodwill, at her valuation, there being no deed of partnership. About two years afterwards the premises were found insufficient for the increased business, and Mr. Atkin secured an adjoining site, on which he erected a double-storey building fronting Elliot Street, and two single-storey buildings covering nearly the whole depth (220 feet) to Albert Street. In 1899, two sections fronting Albert Street were purchased, when the present block was completed and new buildings were erected. The factory now consists of three double-storey brick buildings, with about 100 feet of frontage to Elliot Street; one double-storey building, with 120 feet of frontage to Albert Street, and six single-storey annexes connecting with Elliot Street, covering, in all, about half an acre. Every description of vehicle is made on the premises, from a dray to a landau, omnibus, or tramcar; and the firm is constantly introducing new styles. Its two-wheelers are perfectly balanced; and special grade steel for springs, and special axles for this work, are imported by the firm. The firm issues an annual catalogue for the convenience of its customers, and, in addition to the trade done in Auckland city and province, it sends vehicles throughout New Zealand, but chiefly to Taranaki, Wanganui, Hawke's Bay, Poverty Bay, and the South Sea Islands. The raw material used in the business is imported direct from the manufacturers in England, and the firm holds a large stock of seasoned woodware, hardware, carriage trimmings and lamps, which enables it to turn out vehicles of any description at short notice. The firm is the designer and patentee of the Excelsior, Jubilee, Palace Jubilee, Triple-seat Jubilee omnibuses and road cars, so well known in the colonies, and designs
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most of the styles in Auckland, including landaus, the popular ralli cart, Clifton and McCullagh buggies, dux waggons, and others. The firm manufactures 250 vehicles, has about 3000 repair jobs annually, also makes 400 pairs of wheels and puts on 2000 tyres. About sixty hands are constantly employed in the factory. A special feature of the firm's business is wheel-making, and dressed wheel material is supplied largely to the trade. The proprietors are experts in the various branches of the business, and exercise personal supervision over the departments. Many of the present employees have been trained by them, and some of them have been in the service of the firm for thirty-five years. Messrs Cousins and Atkin exhibited at the Wellington Exhibition in 1885, and received a silver medal; at the Indian and Colonial Exhibition, London, in 1886, and received a bronze medal; also at the Auckland Exhibition, but not for competition; and they have taken over sixty first class prizes at Colonial shows. During the thirty-seven years the factory has been going, the proprietors have built up the largest carriage business in New Zealand, and are justly proud of their reputation throughout the colony for first-class work.
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                Cousins And Cousins
              
              (W. J. Cousins and J. F. Cousins), Coach and Carriage Builders, Lorne Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1890 by Mr. W. J. Cousins, who was joined two years later by his brother, Mr. J. F. Cousins. When Mr. W. J. Cousins started the business, after he had personally gained valuable experience in England and elsewhere, his sole assistant was a boy, but now the firm constantly employs forty persons, many of whom are expert scientifically trained workmen, with the highest qualifications in their line of business. Thousands of pounds have been spent on machinery in the factory, which is one of the best of its kind in New Zealand.
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                Flynn, D. and Co.
              
              (Daniel Flynn and Michael Flynn), Coach and Carriage Builders, Elliot Street, Auckland. This flourishing business was founded by Mr. D. Flynn in 1895. The firm occupies extensive premises fronting on Elliot Street, and covering the block right through to Albert Street. All classes of vehicles are manufactured on the premises, from the luxurious landau to the ordinary two-wheeled cart, and only the best of seasoned woods are used in their manufacture. The firm imports large quantities of hickory from America, as that is the best wood for shafts and rims, and from Australia ironbark and red gum for the manufacture of spokes and felloes. The axles, springs and general ironwork are imported from England. On account of its hardness and durableness pohutakawa, a New Zealand timber, is largely used as hubs, and kauri and mangoia are also used for panelling. At the present time (January, 1901) fifteen hands are constantly employed by the firm, which, although young, has progressed with very marked success.
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Mr. Daniel Flynn,
              Senior Partner of the firm, was born in Ireland, and came to Auckland with his parents when twelve years of age. Two years after his arrival he was apprenticed to the firm of Messrs Gee and Potter, the well-known coachbuilders, and remained seventeen years in their employment, where he obtained a thorough knowledge of the trade. In 1895 Mr. Flynn severed his connection with the firm, and started business on his own account in the present premises, where he commenced with a man and a boy. His sterling personal character and genial manner, together with the superiority of his work, soon increased his connection, and he took his brother, Mr. Michael Flynn, a very skilful blacksmith, into partnership. The firm is making many alterations in its premises to meet the growing requirements of its trade. Mr. Flynn takes an active part in matters connected with Friendly Societies, and is a member of the Friendly Societies' Conference. He also takes a keen interest in the politics of the day, and is against New Zealand joining the Australian Commonwealth, as he believes a better future and greater prosperity await the country as an independent friendly state.
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Mr. Michael Flynn,
              the Junior Partner, learned the business of a general smith, and was engaged as principal blacksmith at the
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Tramway Sheds for several years. He left the Tramway Company's service in 1898 to join his brother as partner, and he superintends the blacksmithing department of the business. He takes a lively interest in athletics, and played with the crack Ponsonby Football Club for several years.
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Patterson, John,
              J.P., Coachbuilder, Wheelwright, Farrier, and General Blacksmith, Corner of Upper Queen Street and Cross Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, England Street, Ponsonby. This business was established by the present proprietor in 1879 on a small scale as compared with its present dimensions. The building, which is freehold, has a floorage space of 7000 square feet. Mr. Patterson's trade is for the greater part confined to coachbuilding and wheelwrighting. The machinery on the premises is of the most modern type, and includes lathes, drills, benders, and all the necessary appliances for carrying on the business on a most complete scale. Nothing but the best timber is used in the coachbuilding and wheelwrighting, and it is obtained locally for the greater part. Mr Patterson is kept regularly supplied with all the latest trade journals, and is in a position to turn out any novelties in any branch of his business, from wheelbarrows to hansom cabs, fitted up in the latest and most improved style, according to designs patented by Mr Patterson himself. The cabs thus made are second to none of their kind in Auckland. A hansom made by Mr. Patterson weighs only seven hundredweight and a half. Mr. Patterson has a good shoeing trade; and he supplies a large number of Auckland builders with all the necessary ironwork used in their business. Mr. Patterson was born in Auckland in 1855, and is a son of the late Mr. John Patterson, who arrived by the ship “Duchess of Argyle,” in 1840, and died at the advanced age of eighty-seven. Mr. Patterson was educated at St. Peter's School, and was apprenticed to the Leahy Dock Ironworks, where he remained for about thirteen years. He first entered into business on his own account in Karangahape Road, but eventually purchased the present site. Mr. Patterson was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1894, and he has been for many years a member of the Auckland Licensing Committee. He was elected the first and only president of the Auckland Coachbuilders' and Farriers' Association, and was chairman of the Pon-sonby school committee for two years. During the existence of the Royal Irish Volunteers he was a lieutenant in the corps. Mr. Patterson was for twenty years connected with the Auckland Amateur Sports Association, of which he was vice-president and a handicap-per. In politics, Mr. Patterson is a staunch supporter of Liberalism. He is married to a daughter of the late Sergeant James Clarke. Mr. Patterson is referred to in another article as a member of the Auckland City Council.
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Grey, John And Sons,
              Cordial Manufacturers, Eden Crescent, Auckland. Telephone 127. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Agencies, Messrs Cummins and Co., Wanganui; Mr. Newbigin, Hastings, The well-known business of John Grey and Sons, ærated waters and cordial manufacturers, and bottlers of the famous mineral waters from the Te Aroha and other springs, was originally established fully forty years ago. To the energy and business tact of the late Mr. John Grey (father of the prasant members of the firm), through the various commercial ups and downs of the Colony, the solid building-up and continued success of the business may be attributed Mr. C. D. Grey and Mr. Walter Grey conduct the business in Auckland and Mr. Walter Grey also conducts the branch at the North Shore. Mr. John Grey, also a member of the firm, has charge of the branch at Coromandel, where there is a factory equal to the requirements of the district. The late Mr. John Grey had, for some few years previous to his death, practically handed over the control of affairs to Mr. C. D. Grey. The factory is supplied with a number of machines of the very latest patterns for preparing and bottling the waters, and can turn out 4000 dozen per day, ranging from the small soda bottles up to the quart beer bottles. One of the most important factors in the quality of all the various kinds of drinks manufactured by the firm is that the water used is taken from a spring yielding through all seasons of the year enough water to supply three factories. It is absolutely free from all impurities, but is, nevertheless, passed through the most approved filters previous to finding its way to the bottling machines. The firm holds patents for several kinds of drinks, much appreciated for their excellence and purity, and obtainable in nearly every refreshment establishment and shop in and around Auckland. For country requirements the firm supplies any kind of drink in quart and pint bottles, and at times the factory is heavily taxed to meet the demands for transit by rail and vessels, for this class of the firm's goods. At certain times in the year the town and suburban requirements for the ordinary supply to customers keep from five to six carts continually going; and, seeing that one cart can deliver 500 dozen per day, the extent of this branch of the business may be easily estimated. Mr. C. D. Grey has paid visits on two separate occasions to the European centres, including the famous Belfast ginger ale establishments, and no doubt his keenness for picking up any information likely to be of use, has, in no small degree, helped to bring the factory to its present state of perfection. Mr. Charles Grey and Mr. Walter Grey are held in high esteem in the commercial and social circles of Auckland; they both belong to the Masonic fraternity and have held high positions in their lodges. Mr. C. Grey is a member of the City Council, to which he was elected after the death of his father, who had represented his ward for many years.
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Dairy Industry.

          

            
Including—Dairy Factories and Associations, Dairy Produce Dealers, Etc.

          

          

            
            

              

                Ambury, English and Co.
              
             
 (S. J. Ambury, Thomas English, and Joseph Ambury), Karangahape Road, Auckland. This business was begun in a small way in Karangahape Road by Messrs S. J. Ambury and English, who were subsequently joined by Mr J. Ambury; and Mr. T. H. Martyn, since dead, was also for a time a member of the firm. The firm is now one of the first of its kind in New Zealand, but at the outset it did not receive very cordial assistance from some of those whom its operations were specially calculated to benefit. Two years after it began, a meeting of the farmers in and around Mangere was convened to ascertain if they were willing to give the firm special support in regard to regularly supplying milk to a creamery it intended to establish. The advantages of bringing the vast market of England within the radius of Mangere's trading circle were urged strongly. The settlers, however, did not fall in with the views advocated; but, nevertheless, Messrs Ambury and English erected an up-to-date creamery, and took the milk as they could get it. Sixteen years ago the firm shipped its first ton of butter to England, and at the present time (1901) its average annual export is 150 tons. At Mangere the creamery is of incalculable benefit to the district. The milk is delivered daily, and at the end of each month many a farmer has a cheque for a substantial sum to cash. No industry in New Zealand has done so much to place the settler in an independent position as that of modern dairying. Formerly, he was the slave of a storekeeper, and “contras” swollen by exorbitant prices, absorbed every copper he earned by his hard toil. Now, through the establishment of dairies and creameries, things have been so much changed that in Taranaki, for instance, bankers, instead of lending to farmers, have to take their money on deposit, and, thanks to firms like that of Ambury, English and Co., this is true, or becoming true, of other districts in New Zealand. Messrs Ambury, English and Co. have eight creameries, some of which are in the Waikato and some at Kaipara. As suppliers of milk they keep their own dairy farms at Remuera and Mangere, and the firm employs upwards of eighty persons. Messrs Ambury, English and Co. have a very large city retail milk trade, and, in justice to their customers, they determined that the process of dairying should be carried on under their personal supervision. It is for this reason that they keep their own dairy farms. They pay particular regard to the health of the cows; to the sanitary arrangements of the cow-houses and milking-sheds, and to the purity of the water given to the animals. Any milk they purchase is supplied only by the most reliable dairy farmers in the district, whose cows and premises are periodically and thoroughly inspected; and no contract for the supply of milk is
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Messrs Ambury, English & Co.'s Factory.





ever entered into where there is the slightest suspicion of any contaminating influence. The fresh milk is conveyed twice daily from the farms to the city depot, and is then put through the process of pasteurisation, which ensures its absolute immunity from all micro-organisms or bacterial matter; and it is delivered to the customers absolutely pure, without the addition of any chemical or artificial preservative of any kind whatever. Pasteurised milk is milk scientifically treated up to the high temperature of 180 degrees F., and is then, by a sudden process of cooling down to 36 degrees F., restored to its full natural flavour. Pasteurising is very strongly recommended by the highest scientific authorities, such as Professor Pasteur (after whom the process was named), and other eminent men, who have conclusively proved that disease germs in the milk are effectively destroyed by pasteurisation. Messrs Ambury, English and Co, still deliver milk at 3d per quart, despite the considerable outlay they have been put to in importing the plant, part of which they received from Denmark. The milk and butter factory, situated near Karangahape and Ponsonby Roads, is the most modern of its kind in the colony. The building is 80 feet long by 40 feet wide. On the first floor the packing of the firm's butter, the “Butterfly” brand, is undertaken. The clean wooden boxes, lined with parchment packing paper, hold 56 pounds weight of butter. There is a large tank into which the milk is poured as it is received from the farms; and from this tank the milk passes through pipes to the floor below to be pasteurised. In a large cylinder it is heated by steam to the high temperature already mentioned. To do the refrigerating or cooling to the low temperature of the milk one of the Linde British Company's ammonia machines is used. Every month over 30,000 gallons of the milk are sold to customers in the city and suburbs; this necessitates the employment of twenty-seven deliverers, and the firm also supplies the shipping of Auckland in addition. Butter-making is carried on on the same floor as pasteurisation. The continual splash, splash sound denotes that the churns in use are on the cherry-churn principle, fitted with improvements. Each churn turns out 650 pounds of butter at a time. A 30 horse-power Tangye steam engine, connected with a forty horse-power multitubular boiler of the same make supplies the motive power to turn this machinery. The work in the factory is admirably carried out by a highly-efficient staff of twelve employes. The cleanliness of the establishment is a noticeable feature; and there is very little waste of water, as after it has been used in the refrigerator it passes into the boiler, and the exhaust steam is then condensed and utilised for cleaning purposes. Milk is delivered by the firm's carts twice daily; and fresh butter, churned every day, can always be obtained from the depot in Karangahape Road, or at the branches in Symonds Street, Ponsonby Road, Hobson Street, and North Shore.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. S. J. Ambury
              
              is a native of Gloucestershire, England, and came to New Zealand in 1879. Mr English, who was born in Ireland, was a farmer in his native country. Mr. J. Ambury, like his brother, is a native of Gloucestershire, England.

          

          

            
            


              

                New Zealand Dairy Association
              
              (Wesley Spragg, general manager), Wellesley Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1886 by Mr. Spragg in conjunction with Messrs Bycroft and Co., by whom it was successfully conducted till 1894, when Mr. J. C. Lovell and Mr. Spragg acquired the business. The farmers throughout the country supply the milk, and the butter—about 1100 tons annually—is sent to London to the Lovell and Christmas Company, probably the largest butter importers in England. The premises in Wellesley Street are elaborately fitted up, and exceedingly clean, and well conducted. Under the offices there is a cool cellar of large dimensions. The principal factories are at Pukekohe and Ngaruawahia, with forty-two contributing creameries. Over one hundred hands are employed. The brands are the well-known “New Zealand Dairy Association” and “Anchor.”

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Wesley Spragg,
              the Manager, is the second son of the late Mr. Charles Spragg, of Auckland, and was born at Madeley, Shropshire, England, in 1848. He was educated at the Wesleyan school in his native town, and came to New Zealand with his parents by the ship “Ulcoates,” in 1863. Mr. Spragg was married, in 1872, to Miss Neil, daughter of the late Mr Robert Neil, of Epsom, Auckland, and has a family of five daughters and one son.
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                Ambury, English and Co.
              
             
 (S. J. Ambury, Thomas English, and Joseph Ambury), Karangahape Road, Auckland. This business was begun in a small way in Karangahape Road by Messrs S. J. Ambury and English, who were subsequently joined by Mr J. Ambury; and Mr. T. H. Martyn, since dead, was also for a time a member of the firm. The firm is now one of the first of its kind in New Zealand, but at the outset it did not receive very cordial assistance from some of those whom its operations were specially calculated to benefit. Two years after it began, a meeting of the farmers in and around Mangere was convened to ascertain if they were willing to give the firm special support in regard to regularly supplying milk to a creamery it intended to establish. The advantages of bringing the vast market of England within the radius of Mangere's trading circle were urged strongly. The settlers, however, did not fall in with the views advocated; but, nevertheless, Messrs Ambury and English erected an up-to-date creamery, and took the milk as they could get it. Sixteen years ago the firm shipped its first ton of butter to England, and at the present time (1901) its average annual export is 150 tons. At Mangere the creamery is of incalculable benefit to the district. The milk is delivered daily, and at the end of each month many a farmer has a cheque for a substantial sum to cash. No industry in New Zealand has done so much to place the settler in an independent position as that of modern dairying. Formerly, he was the slave of a storekeeper, and “contras” swollen by exorbitant prices, absorbed every copper he earned by his hard toil. Now, through the establishment of dairies and creameries, things have been so much changed that in Taranaki, for instance, bankers, instead of lending to farmers, have to take their money on deposit, and, thanks to firms like that of Ambury, English and Co., this is true, or becoming true, of other districts in New Zealand. Messrs Ambury, English and Co. have eight creameries, some of which are in the Waikato and some at Kaipara. As suppliers of milk they keep their own dairy farms at Remuera and Mangere, and the firm employs upwards of eighty persons. Messrs Ambury, English and Co. have a very large city retail milk trade, and, in justice to their customers, they determined that the process of dairying should be carried on under their personal supervision. It is for this reason that they keep their own dairy farms. They pay particular regard to the health of the cows; to the sanitary arrangements of the cow-houses and milking-sheds, and to the purity of the water given to the animals. Any milk they purchase is supplied only by the most reliable dairy farmers in the district, whose cows and premises are periodically and thoroughly inspected; and no contract for the supply of milk is
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ever entered into where there is the slightest suspicion of any contaminating influence. The fresh milk is conveyed twice daily from the farms to the city depot, and is then put through the process of pasteurisation, which ensures its absolute immunity from all micro-organisms or bacterial matter; and it is delivered to the customers absolutely pure, without the addition of any chemical or artificial preservative of any kind whatever. Pasteurised milk is milk scientifically treated up to the high temperature of 180 degrees F., and is then, by a sudden process of cooling down to 36 degrees F., restored to its full natural flavour. Pasteurising is very strongly recommended by the highest scientific authorities, such as Professor Pasteur (after whom the process was named), and other eminent men, who have conclusively proved that disease germs in the milk are effectively destroyed by pasteurisation. Messrs Ambury, English and Co, still deliver milk at 3d per quart, despite the considerable outlay they have been put to in importing the plant, part of which they received from Denmark. The milk and butter factory, situated near Karangahape and Ponsonby Roads, is the most modern of its kind in the colony. The building is 80 feet long by 40 feet wide. On the first floor the packing of the firm's butter, the “Butterfly” brand, is undertaken. The clean wooden boxes, lined with parchment packing paper, hold 56 pounds weight of butter. There is a large tank into which the milk is poured as it is received from the farms; and from this tank the milk passes through pipes to the floor below to be pasteurised. In a large cylinder it is heated by steam to the high temperature already mentioned. To do the refrigerating or cooling to the low temperature of the milk one of the Linde British Company's ammonia machines is used. Every month over 30,000 gallons of the milk are sold to customers in the city and suburbs; this necessitates the employment of twenty-seven deliverers, and the firm also supplies the shipping of Auckland in addition. Butter-making is carried on on the same floor as pasteurisation. The continual splash, splash sound denotes that the churns in use are on the cherry-churn principle, fitted with improvements. Each churn turns out 650 pounds of butter at a time. A 30 horse-power Tangye steam engine, connected with a forty horse-power multitubular boiler of the same make supplies the motive power to turn this machinery. The work in the factory is admirably carried out by a highly-efficient staff of twelve employes. The cleanliness of the establishment is a noticeable feature; and there is very little waste of water, as after it has been used in the refrigerator it passes into the boiler, and the exhaust steam is then condensed and utilised for cleaning purposes. Milk is delivered by the firm's carts twice daily; and fresh butter, churned every day, can always be obtained from the depot in Karangahape Road, or at the branches in Symonds Street, Ponsonby Road, Hobson Street, and North Shore.
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Mr. S. J. Ambury
              
              is a native of Gloucestershire, England, and came to New Zealand in 1879. Mr English, who was born in Ireland, was a farmer in his native country. Mr. J. Ambury, like his brother, is a native of Gloucestershire, England.
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                New Zealand Dairy Association
              
              (Wesley Spragg, general manager), Wellesley Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1886 by Mr. Spragg in conjunction with Messrs Bycroft and Co., by whom it was successfully conducted till 1894, when Mr. J. C. Lovell and Mr. Spragg acquired the business. The farmers throughout the country supply the milk, and the butter—about 1100 tons annually—is sent to London to the Lovell and Christmas Company, probably the largest butter importers in England. The premises in Wellesley Street are elaborately fitted up, and exceedingly clean, and well conducted. Under the offices there is a cool cellar of large dimensions. The principal factories are at Pukekohe and Ngaruawahia, with forty-two contributing creameries. Over one hundred hands are employed. The brands are the well-known “New Zealand Dairy Association” and “Anchor.”
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Mr. Wesley Spragg,
              the Manager, is the second son of the late Mr. Charles Spragg, of Auckland, and was born at Madeley, Shropshire, England, in 1848. He was educated at the Wesleyan school in his native town, and came to New Zealand with his parents by the ship “Ulcoates,” in 1863. Mr. Spragg was married, in 1872, to Miss Neil, daughter of the late Mr Robert Neil, of Epsom, Auckland, and has a family of five daughters and one son.
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Decorators, Oil and Colour Dealers.

          

            

Inclucing 
[sic: Including]—Artists' Colourmen, Gilders, Decorators, Fine Art Dealer, Glaziers, Oil and Colour Dealers, Painters and Paperhangers, Picture Framers.

          

          

            
            


              

Bennett, Matthew John,
              Oil and Colourman, Signwriter and General Decorator, 191–193, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Telephone, 936. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Newton Branch. Mr Bennett was born in London in 1861, and come to New Zealand, with his parents in the ship “Ironsides,” which landed at Auckland on the 21st of August, 1864. After receiving his education under the late Mr W. J. Addey, he served an apprenticeship with his father, who was in business in Freeman's Bay. After the death of his father, in 1885, he removed the business to Ponsonby Road, where for ten years he carried on a large and steadily increasing trade. In 1896 he removed to his present warehouse in Karangahape Road, where he has two large two-storied brick shops. With energy and steady perseverance Mr. Bennett has succeeded in working up a flourishing business, and specimens of his workmanship may be seen throughout the city of Auckland and the Waikato. Nearly all the contracts for the Harbour Board, City Council, the Auckland Hospital, Prince Albert College, Great Northern Company, Messrs Hancock and Co., P. Hayman and Co., L. D. Nathan, and he has painted and decorated many buildings for all the leading architects and buildings of Auckland. He keeps a staff of thirteen men constantly employed, and has specialties in every branch of the trade. Mr. Bennett imports direct from the leading manufacturers, and keeps a very extensive stock of white lead, oils, scrims, varnishes, window glass, all trade requisites, and the latest designs in wall papers and picture-moundlings, which are sold at the lowest possible prices. Signwritingand picture-framing are leading branches of the business. Mr. Bennett is treasurer of the Auckland Guild of Master Painters, in the formation of which he took an active part. He is one of the oldest members of Lodge Ponsonby No. 708, S.C., of which he is a Past Master. He was also Provincial Grand Senior Warden of the Grand Ledge for the North Island of New Zealand, S.C., and is a Mark Master Mason, a Royal Arch Mason now holding the office of H., and a member of the Southern Cross Chapter of Sovereign Princes, Rose Croix of H.R.D.M., No. 88. Mr. Bennett is also a Past Grand of Star of Eden Lodge, No. 54, Independent Order of Oddfellows, American Constitution. He takes a great interest in outdoor sport, and has been an honorary member of the Auckland Cycling Club since its commencement, and is member of the Old Chums and School-fellows' Association. Mr. Bennett was married in 1884 to the second daughter of the late Mr. James Lipsett, of Donegal, Ireland, and Mrs Bennett takes an active part in the retail branch of her husband's extensive business.
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Fricker And Sons,
              Signwriters, Decorators, House and Ship-painters, Picton Street, Ponsonby. This is one of the oldest businesses of its kind in Auckland, having been inaugurated by Mr. Fricker, senior, in 1863. Mr. Frickor's sons, Edmund Osborne, Walter Hampton, Charles Robert, Frederick William and Harry Ernest, are engaged in their father's business. All the members of the firm are well known and popular in the Auckland district, and are, therefore, always kept busy.
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Mr. Walter Fricker,
              the founder of the firm, was born in Somerset, England, in 1841, and received his education at Frome. Somerset. He learned his traue with his uncles, Messrs E. and J. Fricker, of Road, England, and after nine years of service with them, came to New Zealand in 1863, by the ship “Queen of the Mersey.” He established himself at Parnell, and subsequently moved to the Thames, where he carried on a successful business for seventeen years, but returned to Auckland fourteen years ago and founded present business. Mr. Fricker is a great pigeon fancier, and to him belongs the credit of initiating the pigeon service from the Great



Barrier to Auckland. There being no telegraphic communication between the Barrier and the city, this pigeon service is invaluable. Birds also have been trained from Auckland to the Island, and the circuit of communication thus made complete. There is a large number of valuable birds in Mr. Fricker's loft, and he has secured prizes at various exhibitions, including the ten Guinea Cup at the 1897 Champion Show for the best working homer. Mr. Fricker is treasurer of Lodge Ponsonby, 708, S C., and was one of the founders of the Pride of Parnell Court, A.O.F., 1864. He is also a member of the city schools committee, and vice-president of the Auckland Poultry and Canary Association.

          

          

            
            


              

Hansen, Carl C.,
              House, Ship and General Decorative Painter, Signwriter, Gilder, etc., 96 Upper Symonds Street, Auckland. Mr. Hansen is a native of Holstein, Germany, and was born in the year 1846. After receiving his education, he was apprenticed to Mr. W. Netzow, of Neumunster, for four years. He arrived in Australia by the ship “La Rochelle,” in 1864, and after one year's experience in Brisbane, Queensland, came to the Hokitika goldfields, where he met with fair success. In 1868, he joined the armed constabulary, and was wounded during active service in the Uriwera. On receiving his discharge at Lake Taupo, he came to Auckland and commenced working at his trade. Mr. Hansen was for ten years with Mr. Henderson, the greater part of the time as foreman, and in 1884 commenced business on his own account. He first opened in Grey Street, and afterwards removed to Karangahape Road. After being there for about a year, he left for Melbourne, where he was in business in Clarendon Street for six years. Six years ago, Mr. Hansen returned to the Colony, and recommenced buiness at his present address, and being a first-class tradesman, he has been successful in working up a good and increasing connection. Many fine specimens of Mr. Hansen's handiwork may be found about the city, and the decoration of his own shop is an excellent example. Several experienced hands are employed, and a full stock of oil, colours, paperhangings, and all painters' materials is kept. The shop covers a floorage space of about 850 square feet, and has two attractive windows. Mr Hansen has executed many large contracts in Auckland, and his work has always given the highest satisfaction.
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Henderson, John,
              Painter, etc., High Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Curran Street, Ponsonby.

          

          

            
            

              

Morris, A. H.,
             
 Oil and Colourman, 117 Hobson Street, Auckland. Telephone, 927. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Morris carries on his business in a fine three-storey brick and stone building, and everything pertaining to the painting trade is to be obtained from him. The building contains a roomy basement which is used for the storage of leads, oils, etc., and in the shop, which occupies a floorage space of about 1500 square feet, a large stock of paperhangings, glass, picture mouldings, painters' requisites, etc., is kept. Mr. Morris is a direct importer and draws his supplies from the leading English and Continontal firms. He is constantly in receipt of large shipments of material, and is able to supply all the latest novelties in wall papers, etc. In connection with his wholesale department he does a large business. Mr. Morris is a native of the Isle of Wight, and came to New Zealand in 1874. For three years he was with Messrs W. Gilchrist and Co., of Dunedin, and was for several years in business on his own account in Christchurch. In 1884 he removed
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to Auckland and commenced business in Newton, but subsequently went into his present premises, where he has worked up a fine connection. Mr. Morris is ably assisted by Mrs Morris, who, by her unremitting attention to customers, has contributed largely to the development of the business.

          

          

            
            


              

                Phillipps, W., And Son
              
              (John Phillipps and Frank Phillipps), Colour Merchants, 155 Queen Street, Auckland. This business dates from 1854, when it was established by the late Mr. William Phillipps and his son John; since the death of Mr. William Phillipps it has been carried on by his two sons, John and Frank. The firm deals in painters' supplies, paperhangings, plate glass, artists' requisites, etc., and has the most extensive connection in the trade in the Auckland province.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. John Phillipps
              
              was born in Birmingham in 1863. He left Home in 1849, for California, by the first vessel which sailed from Liverpool for the diggings. In 1852 he sailed for Melbourne in the “Ceres,” and had as a fellow passenger Mr. C. E. Ring, afterwards the discoverer of gold at Coromandel. The “Ceres” was wrecked about seventy miles from Fiji, and the survivors were brought on to New Zealand by the whaler “Daniel Watson.” Mr. Phillipps remained in New Zealand for a short time, and then went to Sydney, where he was joined by his father, with whom he proceeded to Auckland, in 1854, and established the business which has since become so well known. Mrs. Phillipps, who recently died, was a Miss White, and left six sons and two daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Simpson, Duncan Mcgregor,
              Painter, Paperhanger, Picture Framer, etc., Karangahape Road, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Newton branch. Mr. Simpson was born in Glasgow in 1859, and was apprenticed to Messrs G. J. and G. Raye, leading decorators, oil and colour dealers, of Glasgow, and after leaving them was for ten years with Messrs McKenzie and Mouchr, builders and engineers. During this time Mr. Simpson gained considerable experience, as much of his time was spent in travelling for the firm through England, Ireland, and Scotland. In 1886 he came to New Zealand in the ship “Alaska,” and twelve months after his arrival in Auckland, commenced business on his own account in North Street. He removed to his present address in 1889, and so successful has he been that he has found it necessary to enlarge his premises. Mr. Simpson has a very attractive and complete stock of wall papers, paints, oils, colours, mouldings, etc., and anything pertaining to the painting trade may le obtained from him. The shop covers a floorage space of about 500 square feet.
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Bennett, Matthew John,
              Oil and Colourman, Signwriter and General Decorator, 191–193, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Telephone, 936. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Newton Branch. Mr Bennett was born in London in 1861, and come to New Zealand, with his parents in the ship “Ironsides,” which landed at Auckland on the 21st of August, 1864. After receiving his education under the late Mr W. J. Addey, he served an apprenticeship with his father, who was in business in Freeman's Bay. After the death of his father, in 1885, he removed the business to Ponsonby Road, where for ten years he carried on a large and steadily increasing trade. In 1896 he removed to his present warehouse in Karangahape Road, where he has two large two-storied brick shops. With energy and steady perseverance Mr. Bennett has succeeded in working up a flourishing business, and specimens of his workmanship may be seen throughout the city of Auckland and the Waikato. Nearly all the contracts for the Harbour Board, City Council, the Auckland Hospital, Prince Albert College, Great Northern Company, Messrs Hancock and Co., P. Hayman and Co., L. D. Nathan, and he has painted and decorated many buildings for all the leading architects and buildings of Auckland. He keeps a staff of thirteen men constantly employed, and has specialties in every branch of the trade. Mr. Bennett imports direct from the leading manufacturers, and keeps a very extensive stock of white lead, oils, scrims, varnishes, window glass, all trade requisites, and the latest designs in wall papers and picture-moundlings, which are sold at the lowest possible prices. Signwritingand picture-framing are leading branches of the business. Mr. Bennett is treasurer of the Auckland Guild of Master Painters, in the formation of which he took an active part. He is one of the oldest members of Lodge Ponsonby No. 708, S.C., of which he is a Past Master. He was also Provincial Grand Senior Warden of the Grand Ledge for the North Island of New Zealand, S.C., and is a Mark Master Mason, a Royal Arch Mason now holding the office of H., and a member of the Southern Cross Chapter of Sovereign Princes, Rose Croix of H.R.D.M., No. 88. Mr. Bennett is also a Past Grand of Star of Eden Lodge, No. 54, Independent Order of Oddfellows, American Constitution. He takes a great interest in outdoor sport, and has been an honorary member of the Auckland Cycling Club since its commencement, and is member of the Old Chums and School-fellows' Association. Mr. Bennett was married in 1884 to the second daughter of the late Mr. James Lipsett, of Donegal, Ireland, and Mrs Bennett takes an active part in the retail branch of her husband's extensive business.
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Fricker And Sons,
              Signwriters, Decorators, House and Ship-painters, Picton Street, Ponsonby. This is one of the oldest businesses of its kind in Auckland, having been inaugurated by Mr. Fricker, senior, in 1863. Mr. Frickor's sons, Edmund Osborne, Walter Hampton, Charles Robert, Frederick William and Harry Ernest, are engaged in their father's business. All the members of the firm are well known and popular in the Auckland district, and are, therefore, always kept busy.
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Mr. Walter Fricker,
              the founder of the firm, was born in Somerset, England, in 1841, and received his education at Frome. Somerset. He learned his traue with his uncles, Messrs E. and J. Fricker, of Road, England, and after nine years of service with them, came to New Zealand in 1863, by the ship “Queen of the Mersey.” He established himself at Parnell, and subsequently moved to the Thames, where he carried on a successful business for seventeen years, but returned to Auckland fourteen years ago and founded present business. Mr. Fricker is a great pigeon fancier, and to him belongs the credit of initiating the pigeon service from the Great



Barrier to Auckland. There being no telegraphic communication between the Barrier and the city, this pigeon service is invaluable. Birds also have been trained from Auckland to the Island, and the circuit of communication thus made complete. There is a large number of valuable birds in Mr. Fricker's loft, and he has secured prizes at various exhibitions, including the ten Guinea Cup at the 1897 Champion Show for the best working homer. Mr. Fricker is treasurer of Lodge Ponsonby, 708, S C., and was one of the founders of the Pride of Parnell Court, A.O.F., 1864. He is also a member of the city schools committee, and vice-president of the Auckland Poultry and Canary Association.
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Hansen, Carl C.,
              House, Ship and General Decorative Painter, Signwriter, Gilder, etc., 96 Upper Symonds Street, Auckland. Mr. Hansen is a native of Holstein, Germany, and was born in the year 1846. After receiving his education, he was apprenticed to Mr. W. Netzow, of Neumunster, for four years. He arrived in Australia by the ship “La Rochelle,” in 1864, and after one year's experience in Brisbane, Queensland, came to the Hokitika goldfields, where he met with fair success. In 1868, he joined the armed constabulary, and was wounded during active service in the Uriwera. On receiving his discharge at Lake Taupo, he came to Auckland and commenced working at his trade. Mr. Hansen was for ten years with Mr. Henderson, the greater part of the time as foreman, and in 1884 commenced business on his own account. He first opened in Grey Street, and afterwards removed to Karangahape Road. After being there for about a year, he left for Melbourne, where he was in business in Clarendon Street for six years. Six years ago, Mr. Hansen returned to the Colony, and recommenced buiness at his present address, and being a first-class tradesman, he has been successful in working up a good and increasing connection. Many fine specimens of Mr. Hansen's handiwork may be found about the city, and the decoration of his own shop is an excellent example. Several experienced hands are employed, and a full stock of oil, colours, paperhangings, and all painters' materials is kept. The shop covers a floorage space of about 850 square feet, and has two attractive windows. Mr Hansen has executed many large contracts in Auckland, and his work has always given the highest satisfaction.
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Henderson, John,
              Painter, etc., High Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Curran Street, Ponsonby.
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Morris, A. H.,
             
 Oil and Colourman, 117 Hobson Street, Auckland. Telephone, 927. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Morris carries on his business in a fine three-storey brick and stone building, and everything pertaining to the painting trade is to be obtained from him. The building contains a roomy basement which is used for the storage of leads, oils, etc., and in the shop, which occupies a floorage space of about 1500 square feet, a large stock of paperhangings, glass, picture mouldings, painters' requisites, etc., is kept. Mr. Morris is a direct importer and draws his supplies from the leading English and Continontal firms. He is constantly in receipt of large shipments of material, and is able to supply all the latest novelties in wall papers, etc. In connection with his wholesale department he does a large business. Mr. Morris is a native of the Isle of Wight, and came to New Zealand in 1874. For three years he was with Messrs W. Gilchrist and Co., of Dunedin, and was for several years in business on his own account in Christchurch. In 1884 he removed
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to Auckland and commenced business in Newton, but subsequently went into his present premises, where he has worked up a fine connection. Mr. Morris is ably assisted by Mrs Morris, who, by her unremitting attention to customers, has contributed largely to the development of the business.
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                Phillipps, W., And Son
              
              (John Phillipps and Frank Phillipps), Colour Merchants, 155 Queen Street, Auckland. This business dates from 1854, when it was established by the late Mr. William Phillipps and his son John; since the death of Mr. William Phillipps it has been carried on by his two sons, John and Frank. The firm deals in painters' supplies, paperhangings, plate glass, artists' requisites, etc., and has the most extensive connection in the trade in the Auckland province.
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Mr. John Phillipps
              
              was born in Birmingham in 1863. He left Home in 1849, for California, by the first vessel which sailed from Liverpool for the diggings. In 1852 he sailed for Melbourne in the “Ceres,” and had as a fellow passenger Mr. C. E. Ring, afterwards the discoverer of gold at Coromandel. The “Ceres” was wrecked about seventy miles from Fiji, and the survivors were brought on to New Zealand by the whaler “Daniel Watson.” Mr. Phillipps remained in New Zealand for a short time, and then went to Sydney, where he was joined by his father, with whom he proceeded to Auckland, in 1854, and established the business which has since become so well known. Mrs. Phillipps, who recently died, was a Miss White, and left six sons and two daughters.
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Simpson, Duncan Mcgregor,
              Painter, Paperhanger, Picture Framer, etc., Karangahape Road, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Newton branch. Mr. Simpson was born in Glasgow in 1859, and was apprenticed to Messrs G. J. and G. Raye, leading decorators, oil and colour dealers, of Glasgow, and after leaving them was for ten years with Messrs McKenzie and Mouchr, builders and engineers. During this time Mr. Simpson gained considerable experience, as much of his time was spent in travelling for the firm through England, Ireland, and Scotland. In 1886 he came to New Zealand in the ship “Alaska,” and twelve months after his arrival in Auckland, commenced business on his own account in North Street. He removed to his present address in 1889, and so successful has he been that he has found it necessary to enlarge his premises. Mr. Simpson has a very attractive and complete stock of wall papers, paints, oils, colours, mouldings, etc., and anything pertaining to the painting trade may le obtained from him. The shop covers a floorage space of about 500 square feet.
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Drapers, Clothiers, Etc.

          

            
Including—Clothiers; Clothing, Hosiery, and Shirt Manufacturers; Drapers, Dyers and Cleaners; Milliners, Outfitters; Tailors.

          

          

            
Drapers.

            

              
              


                

                  McCullagh And Gower
                
                (John Gales McCullagh and Henry Gower), Drapers and Importers, Queen Street, Auckland. This business, which is one of the largest Auckland drapery establishments, was founded by Mr. Rattray. The firm's premises consist of a fine building in Queen Street; and are stocked with all the latest fabrics in ladies' wear, imported from the leading English and Continental markets. Goods of the newest and latest design are constantly forwarded by the firm's Home buyers, from the leading manufacturers.
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Mr. John Gales Mccullagh,
                the Senior Partner, is a native of Leitrim, Ireland, and commenced commercial life at Sligo. In 1877 he came to Sydney by the steamer “Lusitania,” and arrived in Auckland shortly afterwards. Mr. McCullagh started with Mr. Rattray, the original owner of the present business, but shortly afterwards, on the retirement of that gentleman, Mr. McCullagh and his late partner, Mr. Wilson, acquired the business, and traded under the name of Wilson and McCullagh. On the dissolution of that partnership in 1900, Mr. McCullagh was joined by Mr. Gower.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Henry Gower
                
                was born in 1864 at Tunbridge, Kent, England. After a business experience at Tunbridge Wells and in London, he went to Eastbourne, where he remained three years under Mr. Sutton, buyer for Cook, Son and Co., one of the largest wholesale drapery firms in London. Mr. Gower obtained a very large experience in this establishment, and came to New Zealand in 1888. Shortly after his arrival in Auckland he entered the service of Messrs Smith and Caughey, with whom he remained twelve years, and then joined Mr McCullagh. Mr Gower, on the formation of the Auckland Rifles, received the appointment of lieutenant to that corps. He is a member of the Order of Foresters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Mcmaster And Shalders
                
                (Thomas McMaster and Alfred Bertram Shalders), Drapers, 204 and 206 Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This is the oldest retail drapery business in Auckland, and was founded in 1851. The senior partner was for eighteen years, from 1868 to 1886, in business on his own account in Queen Street, and the present firm was established in 1886. The firm imports all kinds of drapery, and its premises are centrally situated and of considerable extent. It has a branch business at Whangarei.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Milne And Choyce
                
                (Mary Jane Milne and Henry Charles Choyce), Drapers and Milliners, Auckland House, Queen and Wellesley Streets, Auckland. Telephone, 412. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Miss Milne is a native of Ireland, and was brought up to the trade, and she arrived in New Zealand in 1863, by the ship “Queen of the Mersey,” from London. Mr. Choyce was born in England, and came to the colony by the “Mary Shepherd” in 1866. He was brought up to the wholesale drapery trade, and was for some years in the employment of Messrs A. Clark and Sons, whom he left to join Miss Milne in business. The firm was founded in 1874, and Miss Milne had been in business three years prior to that date. The business was established originally as a millinery and mantle trade, but in order to meet the demands of customers, it has been developed into a general drapery trade, with all classes of goods. The firm does a very large business in dresses, and has an extensive connection with the fashionable portion of the Auckland public. A large staff is employed in addition to heads of departments and counter attendants. In the dress-making, millinery, and mantle workrooms over 100 persons find regular employment, and the total number in the firm's employment is about 140. The splendid building occupied by the firm is built of stone and brick, and is four stories in height, including the basement, and there is a total floorage space of 14,400 feet available for business purposes. All classes of millinery, mantles, and general drapery are imported direct from the best markets of England and the Continent, and the firm can be depended upon to supply all the latest fashions each season. Its London buyer is Mr. Doust, of 103 Fore Street, E.C., and he has proved himself a capable representative. The goods of the firm are well known, and in demand from Hokianga to Westport.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Smith And Caughey
                
                (W. H. Smith and A. C. Caughey), Wholesale and Family Drapers, Queen and Elliot Streets, Auckland. The history of this firm is a record of what business aptitude will accomplish in the colonies. Within the compass of twenty years Messrs Smith and Caughey have built up a business which for magnitude and assured stability, has no rival in its particular line in the colony. In early life the principals of the firm were fellow-workers in the large drapery establishment of Messrs James Lindsay and Co., Be.fast, Ireland. Prior to meeting Mr. A. C. Caughey there, Mr W. H. Smith had gained valuable experience in Messrs A. T. Stewart and Co.'s establishment in New York. Mr. Caughey remained with Lindsay and Co. for about six years, and then left to accept the appointment of buyer for a large firm in the south of Ireland. Subsequently he gained a footing in business in London, and shortly afterwards was appointed



junior superintendent of the Compton House, in Liverpool, which was then the largest drapery firm in the United Kingdom. Mr. Caughey came out to Auckland in 1879. Mr. W. H. Smith arrived a year later, and took a small shop in Upper Queen Street, where Mr. Caughey subsequently joined him, and thus was launched the firm, whose name has become a synonym for commercial solidity and sound progressiveness. The partners alternately visit England and the Continent of Europe, and they also employ in the Old Country permanent buyers, whom they keep in constant touch with the requirements of the colonial public. The firm has the amplest business premises the city of Auckland. Every branch is run strictly on the cash system, and the firm pays away in wages £12,000 per annum. So large is the staff that a volunteer corps, named the Anckland Rifles, has been formed by the employees, with Mr. A. C. Caughey as captain. The corps is referred to in the military section of this volume.

            

          

          

            
Clothiers, Dyers, Hatters, Etc.

            

              
              


                
Belchamber and Co.,
                Wholesale and Retail Waterproof Manufacturers, Victoria Street West, Auckland. The founders of this firm learned their business at the famous Indiarubber, Guttapercha, and Telegraph Works, London. After acquiring at this place a thorough knowledge of the many and varied branches of the trade, their services were in great demand, not only in England, but in foreign countries, and the businesses of many firms which they started are now in a flourishing condition. Subsequently, they were at S. C. Cording's establishment at Charing Cross and Regent Street, London, but in 1889, M. Lane, one of the firm, was persuaded to come to Auckland, and was the first maker of a waterproof garment in the colony of New Zealand. Since that time the industry has increased, and many articles in the waterproof and indiarubber lines, hitherto unobtainable in the colony are imported and can now be procured from this firm. The firm not only supplies the retail trade, but tailors, storekeepers, and others find it to their advantage to deal with the manufacturers. In its production the firm endeavours to supply all classes of the population. For the general public it makes ladies' and children's waterproof clothing, gentlemen's leggings, rugs, carriage rugs, etc.; while tourists, sportsmen, and travellers are catered for with hunting suits and aprons, fishing trousers and stockings, sheeting for camping out, and specially made garments for riding and driving. The firm also keeps requisites for invalids, such as bed sheeting, hot water bags and bottles, and air and water cushions and beds. Football bladders, waterproof aprons, trousers for Baptist ministers, gas bags, gas tubing and hase, bathing caps, etc., are also produced by the firm.

            

            

              
              


                
Brown, D. And A.,
                Dyers, Shortland Street, Auckland. Works, Grafton Road. Established in 1866. This business, which now ranks as one of the leading dye works in the colony, was founded by the late Mr. Alexander Brown, father of the present proprietor. Mr. Brown, senior, was a dyer of sixty years' standing, and at his death Mr. A. D. Brown took over the management. Mr. A. D. Brown has had thirty years' experience, and the works cannot be excelled in the Auckland provincial district. The works are most picturesquely and conveniently situated in the “Glen” dividing Symonds Street and Grafton Road, and are well drained and abundantly supplied with water. They cover an area of about a quarter of an acre, and comprise eight sheds; and the largest and most-up-to-date plant is used. The firm is erecting a French dry-cleaning plant, which enables garments of all kinds to be cleaned without shrinking. It also imports all its dyes and dyeing material from Europe, and it can, therefore, produce all the latest and most fashionable shades.
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                  Cambridge Shirt And Clothing Factory
                
               
 (G. H. Powley, proprietor). Victoria Street West and Graham Street, Auckland. Telephone 1021. This business, which was first established about 1867 in Shortland Street, by Mr. Van Breda, was purchased by Mr. Powley in October, 1880. In 1892 the lease of the property in Shortland Street fell through, as it was a portion of the Costley estate, and the ground was purchased throughout by the Auckland Club. Mr Powley was, therefore, obliged to look for other quarters. He purchased land in Victoria Street West, and erected his present premises, which consist of two large buildings. Messrs Macky, Logan, Steen and Co. supply all the material for making up, and then dispose of the manufactured goods. The factory proper has a frontage of 100 feet to Graham Street, and a depth of 102 feet, and the other building has a frontage of 40 feet to Victoria Street, and a depth of 40 feet. The second building is two stories in height, and the upper portion is used by Mr. Powley for dwelling purposes. On the ground floor there are offices, and a lofty, well-ventilated, excellently-lighted cutting-room for shirts and Denim trousers. In addition to the ordinary shears, or tailor-cutting appliances, this room is provided with a double band knife, driven by engine power, for heavy cutting. It is of Irish make, and is capable of cutting sixty thicknesses (or thirty garments) at once. The power for this and the factory machines is supplied by two gas engines, respectively a four and two-horse power (nominal). Just over the entrance to Mr Powley's private office there is a clock,
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Cambridge Factory: Machining and Finishing Department.
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which is electrically connected with the factory, so that when lunch hour is over a bell rings the hands back to work. The factory itself consists of a huge room lighted by three domes, 21 feet from the floor. Each dome is fitted with twelve windows and two “Boyle's” ventilators, and the room also receives additional light from eighteen windows around the sides. It is provided throughout with gas for use during the dark afternoons in the winter season. In the storeroom a heavy stock of trimmings and other requisites is always kept on hand. The factory is divided into the shirt and Denim trouser-making department, and the general cutting and tailoring department. One hundred sewing machines (Singers) are in constant use, forty-two on shirt-making, and the balance on clothing. These machines are all driven by engine power, and can be independently disconnected instantly at the will of the operator. The shafting is carefully boxed in, so that there is not the slightest danger of an accident happening to any of the operatives through their clothes being caught in any way. There are also machines for riveting buttons of various kinds, and for the copper-riveting used in completing the Denim trousers. There are also button-hole machines for shirts, the process being first to sew the button-hole, which is automatically cut between the sewn lines when finished. One of the most convenient improvements is the gas-heated iron for pressing shirts. This iron works on an arm, is heated by gas, and an extra pressure can be obtainea by placing the foot upon a treadle connecting with a lever. In the shirt department all sorts of shirts, from the commonest variety to the finest silk, are manufactured. After being finished and pressed, they are labelled, folded, and packed for delivery. The tailoring department has a capacity of turning out over 300 suits weekly. The cutting is all done by men, from patterns, forty thicknesses being usually cut at a time, although as many as sixty-two have been done, and Mr. Powley is in negotiation with an American firm for a cutting machine which will save still more time and labour. After being cut the cloth goes to the tacking department, where it is tacked by hand before passing to the machines. The finishing is also done by hand. The button-holes in the suits are made by machinery, with this difference from the shirt department—that the holes are first automatically cut and then sewn. After being finished, the suits are hand-pressed, ticketed, buttoned, and folded, when they are ready for delivery. At each end of the tailoring department there are two large stoves for heating the pressing irons, heavy irons being provided for the men, and lighter ones for the female operatives. Below the factory room there is a well-ventilated, well-lighted luncheon room, provided with tables, benches, etc. Here those of the girls who do not go home can spend their dinner hour, and hot water is provided for those who want to make tea or coffee. There are four lavatories connected with the factory and luncheon room. Regular employment is given to about 150 operatives, and the wages account runs to nearly £5000 per annum, the amount having trebled in three years.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. G. H. Powley
                
                was born in Tasmania, and came as a child with his parents to New Zealand in the barque “Fanny Fisher,” from Hobart. Mr. Powley, senior, had been an English Army officer under the Government in Tasmania, and when he took his discharge he received a pension and a grant of land in New Zealand. Mr. G. H. Powley was educated at St. Matthew's Church, and after leaving school joined the Navy as a boy on H.M.S. “Niger.” He was invalided out of the service at the Chatham Hospital in 1866; and shortly afterwards he married, and returned to New Zealand in 1867. After an experience on the Thames goldfields, and in various mercantile pursuits, he started his present business in 1880. Mr. Powley joined the volunteers in 1867, and became second lieutenant of the Artillery, of which he is still a life member. He is referred to in another article as a distinguished Freemason.

            

            

              
              


                

Cooper, James Albert,
                Cap and Hat Manufacturer, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Cooper was born in Auckland in 1850, and educated at Cariton Academy under Mr C. B. Andrews, He was apprenticed to the well-known firm of Hill, Fenton, and Hulbert, hat manufacturers, and after completing his indentures worked as a journeyman in Melbourne and Sydney, Mr. Cooper returned to Auckland in 1882. He commenced business the same year, and now owns one of the leading establishments in Auckland. Mr. Cooper also takes an active interest in athletics generally, but more particularly in cycling and bowling. In 1802 he was initiated as a Freemason in Lodge Ponsonby, No. 51, N.Z.C., and since then he has filled the offices of J.G., J.W., S.W., and W.M., and he is now secretary of his Lodge.

            

            

              
              


                
Davey And Orpwood,
                Ladies' Underclothing Manufacturers, High Street, Auckland. Though no attempt is made at outward show, a really good business is being done by Messrs Davey and Orpwood, who have surmounted all the initial difficulties of founding a business in opposition to cheap English labour. Thirty hands are employed, and upwards of twenty-five sewing machines are kept constantly going. The machines favoured are the Wheeler, Wilson and Singer. In cases in which it is deemed to be advantageous, raw materials are imported direct from the Home markets. Only strictly wholesale houses are supplied, so, of course, the number of customers is limited, and confined to cities and large towns in the Colony. The business has been established for about twenty years.

            

            

              
              


                

Fowlds, George,
                Clothier and Importer, Victoria Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 336. Cable address, “Fowlds.” Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. London agents, B. S. Lloyd and Co., 40 King Street, Cheapside, London, E.C. Mr. Fowlds was born in 1860 in Ayrshire, Scotland, and was apprenticed to Messrs Stewart Bros., tailors, of Kilmarnock, and completed his term in 1878. For several years subsequently he was with the wholesale firm of Messrs William McLaren, Sons and Co., of Glasgow. In 1882, he left Scotland for South Africa, where he remained for three years, during which time he was with Messrs Wood and Co., and E. W. Tarry and Co., Limited, wholesale importers, at Kimberley, the famous diamond mining centre. Owing to his wife's health he decided to come to New Zealand in 1885, and arrived in the s.s. “Coptic.” The prevent extensive business was established in 1886, scott after his arrival. He began in a small way in Victoria Street, and in consequence of his having a thorough grasp of the business he speedily made a trade, and the



premises became too small for the business. In 1888 he secured the present premises in a handsome block of buildings, five stories in height. The portion occupied by Mr. Fowlds consists of a handsome shop at the corner of Fort and Queen Streets, and two other shops ironting Queen Street, and running right through into Victoria Arcade. He also occupies the basement beneath, and three large workrooms upstairs, the total floor space being equal to 9000 square feet. From twenty-five to thirty hands find regular employment behind the counter or in the workrooms, and about £200 per month is paid away in wages. A convenient dining room is provided for the comfort of the work-people. A large general stock of the goods usually kept by a first-class tailor and outfitter is always available, and supplies are obtained largely by importations from such firms as Rylands and Sons, of London, Stewart and McDonald, and William McLaren, Sons and Co., of Glasgow. The goods are sold chiefly locally and throughout the Auckland provincial district. Mr. Fowlds has retained the services of a first-class cutter, and employs only skilled labour in the workrooms, and thus he ensures excellence in the style, fit, and finish of all his workmanship. Mr. Fowlds believes in being abreast of the times in all matters connected with the trade. His London buyers have had large experience in business, and are in a position to procure the latest designs at the earliest moment, and this enables Mr. Fowlds to offer considerable advantage to his numerous customers. As a Freemason Mr. Fowlds has been Grand Superintendent of the Auckland Province for several years, and is a Past Deputy Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of New Zealand. Mr. Fowlds is referred to esewhere as one of Auckland's three representatives in Parliament.

            

            

              
              


                

Kemp, Benjamin John Major,
                Merchant Tailor, Outfitter, and Shirt Maker, 123 and 125 Queen Street, Auckland. This business was established in Mannkau Road, Parnell, in 1885, by the present proprietor, who, in October, 1900, removed to his present premises in Queen Street, where, with an already valuable connection, he carries on a rapidly-increasing trade. The various lines of goods and stock are shown to first-rate advantage, and, as a gentleman's complete outfitting establishment, Mr. Kemp's ranks among the best in Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Morran, John Manners,
                J.P., Clothing and Mackintosh Manufacturer, Lorne Street, Auckland. Mr. Morran was born in 1857, at Woolwich, Kent, England. At the age of fourteen he embarked in the ship “Eclipse,” and visited Portugal, Madeira, Cuba, and many places in the West Indies and America. On his return he was placed with the firm of Cook, Son and Co., clothing manufacturers, at Chatham, and afterwards with Messrs B. Cohen and Co., waterproof manufacturers, of Fore Street, London, for whom his brother was manager. He thus became familiar with the best class of mackintosh manufacture, as, indirectly, the firm made for Mossrs J. C. Cording and Co, of Picadilly, who have all the rulers of Europe on their books. Mr. Morran heid the position of cutter for Mr. Thomas Knight, Messrs H. E. and M. Moses, Messrs Ryland and Sons, and Messrs Thomas and Jones, all of London. About eleven years ago the emigrated to New Zealand to embark in the business of waterproof manufacture. He landed at New Plymouth, but finding no scope there, he commenced in Elliot Street, Auckland, at first only employing ten hands. In about a year the rooms became too small for Mr. Morran's extending business, and the extension was partly due to the Government imposing extra duty on imported goods. Two other removals were found necessary on account of expansion in business, and finally he took his present premises, opposite those of Sharland and Co., in Lorne Street, where he now employs nearly 200 hands, and has the largest mackintosh trade in the Colony. Mr. Morran had a magnificent show of clothing and mackintosh garments at the Auckland Exhibition, and was awarded five special gold and four silver medals and one bronze medal. He is a very considerate employer, and has the reputation of paying the best wages in his line in Auckland, as he holds the opinion that cheap labour is dear in the end. Mr. Morran's present factory is of three floors, 80 feet by 40 feet, and is fitted with all the most improved machinery.
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Seabrook, H. H.
               
, Shirt Manufacturer, Grafton Road Auckland. This business, which was established in 1886 in Newton Road, has been conducted since 1898 by its present proprietor, who, both in this and in other lands, has gained an experience in manufacturing which has contributed in no small degree to the marked success of his present business. Shortly after taking over the business, Mr Seabrook required additional spance to cope with his already increasing trade, and in the early part of 1900 he succeeded in purchasing the admirable site on which his commodious factory now stands, and where he carries on the business of the old familiar “Stitchwell Club.” When it was first stated that a shirt factory was to be erected in Grafton Road the news was received by the neighbouring residents with unconcealed expressions of indignation and disappointment, on the ground that the locality would be prejudiced by the advent of a factory. Such feelings were, however, soon dispelled when the handsome wooden building which now covers the site was completed, and now in the list of fine buildings which adorn the neighbourhood Mr. H. H. Sea-brook's Shirt Factory admittedly takes a prominent part. The building occupies 40 feet of frontage to Grafton Road, by 106 feet in depth, and is elevated some feet from the ground by a brick foundation. The premises contain six large rooms, including two commodious working departments; one of these is on the ground floor, while the other, in which all the cutting and machining are done, occupies the greater part of the second storey. These departments are fitted up, arranged and conducted in a manner which characterises the whole establishment. For the use of the employees, who now number about eighty, a large room has been set aside, and is provided with a handsome piano and other necessary furniture, so that the spare time of the workers may be made a source of general enjoyment. The proprietor intends to add the manufacture of clothing to his already extensive business. Mr. Seabrook, the enterprising proprietor of this business, was born in Auckland in 1859, and educated at a public school, which he left at the age of sixteen, to enter the drapery trade. At first he was employed by Mr. W. Wilson, and then by Mr. Harry Atkin, both well-known drapers of that time. In 1880 Mr Seabrook left Auckland for Australia, where, in some of the largest warehouses of Melbourne, Sydney, and
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Ipswich, he gained a wide experience in the trade he had chosen. He returned to Auckland in 1884, and travelled through the colony, but finally took up employment in Auckland with the firm of Messrs Sargood, Son and Ewen, by whom he was appointed manager of their mercery department. This position he held till 1898, when he started on his own account by purchasing the business formerly owned by Mr. A. E. Hatton, and familiarly known as the “Stitchwell Club.” Mr. Seabrook has always interested himself in the general welfare of the public, and for some time has been Grand Master of the Protestant Alliance Friendly Society of Australasia. Being an accomplished musician he has also taken great interest in musical matters, and for some years has been a member of the Auckland Liedertafel.
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                  Acme Tailoring Company
                
                (Emmanuel Martin, proprietor), 35 Victoria Street West, Auckland. Branch, College Road, Ponsonby. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Mr. Martin is a native of Auckland, and was apprenticed to Mr. C. Langsford, with whom he completed his term in 1882. After that he worked at his trade in Sydney, Melbourne, and Brisbane, and gained valuable experience. While he was in Sydney he became an expert cutter under Mr. A. Burnham, of the well-known firm of Messrs David Jones and Co., with whom he remained for thirteen months. Mr. Martin commenced his present business in 1892, with a single assistant, but he has developed a large trade by push and energy, and in consequence of the style and finish of all goods supplied by him. He now employs ten hands, and does a large business in the city and country districts. Mr. Martin's specialty is a system of self-measutrement, by which country customers may have suits made and a perfect fit guaranteed at town prices. By this means many people who have never met Mr. Martin personally have become his customers. Mr. Martin has agents in the chief towns throughout the Auckland provincial district. His business premises are of brick and two stories in height, and have a floorage space of 1300 square feet.

            

            

              
              


                
Browe, E. C., and Co.,
                Hatters and Mercers, Tailors and Importers of Boots and Shoes, Queen Street, Auckland. This firm's premises stand opposite the “New Zealand Herald” buildings in Queen Street, to which they have a frontage of 26 feet. The building is two stories in height, and is well set off in front with large, handsome windows, in which the firm displays various lines of its stock to excellent advantage. A large business is done by the firm, not only at its headquarters, but also at its branch shop, at 244 Queen Street.

            

            

              
              


                

Cash, Edward,
                Merchant Tailor, Outfilter and Importer, 6 Wellestey Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1868, and has been for nearly a quarter of a century in the hands of the present proprietor. A good city and suburban trade is done, and the styles and stock of the establishment are both excellent. Mr. Cash personally superintends the business, and every article passes through his hands or under his inspection Mr. Cash was born in Belfast in 1845, learned his trade with his father, and as early as 1869 was in business in Belfast on his own account. In 1875 he came to this Colony, by the “Star of Germany,” and shortly after landing he purchased his present business. He is a Freemason, a Rechabite of twenty years' standing, and a member of the Primitive Methodist Church.

            

            

              
              


                
Davey And Son,
                Tailors, No. 5 Wellesley Street East, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by the senior partner, Mr. James Davey, in 1866, in Albert Street, and was subsequently removed to its present fashionable site. Mr. Davey, senior, was born at Exeter, Devonshire, England, in 1830. He learned his trade in Exeter, and afterwards carried on business in London, until 1865, when he emigrated to Auckland by the ship “Queen of the North.” Mr. Frederick Davey, the junior partner, was born in Auckland in 1871, and educated at Wellesley Street East School and privately. He learned his trade under his father's instruction.

            

            

              
              


                

Erickson, Andrew,
                Tailor, Wellesley Street East, Auckland. Mr Erickson was born in Sweden, in 1850, and arrived in Auckland in 1872. After residing in the principal cities of New Zealand for several years Mr. Erickson went to San Francisco, where he resided for two years, during which he gained experience in the art of tailoring. In 1885 he returned to Auckland, and commenced business at his present address.

            

            

              
              


                
Foster, J. and Co.,
                Tailors and Outfitters. 145 Upper Symonds Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1892. The firm is a direct importer of all tweeds, worsteds, coatings, trimmings, and of every other article used in the trade. Its premises are conveniently situated, and consist of a two-storey brick building, with two work-rooms, where from fourteen to seventeen employees are kept constantly at work. Messrs Foster and Co. keep a traveller always “on the road” between the North Cape and Gisborne, and are well-known for their style and excellent fit. The business has greatly increased within recent years, and bids fair to be among the largest of its kind in Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. James Foster
                
                (formerly managing partner) was born in the North of Ireland in 1872, and is a son of Mr. William Foster, of Ihumata. He came to Auckland by the ship “Alastor” in 1881, and was subsequently apprenticed to the tailoring trade. He was in the employment of Mr. Johnston,



the well-known Gisborne tailor, for some time, and also gained afterwards, in various parts of the Colony, that experience which enabled him to open in business on his own account. Mr. Foster recently went to the Transvaal in South Africa.
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Murchie, Malcolm,
                Tailor and Habit Maker, corner of shortland and O'Connell Streets, Auckland. Telephone, 646. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Murchie has been in business as a leading Auckland tailor for upwards of thirty years. His premises are of brick and admirably situated, and occupy the historic building once well-known as “The Bank of Auckland.” Mr. Murchie imports his goods from the best English, Scotch and Irish markets, and does a first-class trade He employs in all twenty-two hands, and his cutter has been brought from the fashionable centres of England. Mr. Murchie was born in 1831, at Arrau, in Buteshire, Scotland, and was educated there, his father, Mr. John Murchie, being a farmer on the island. After serving an apprenticeship in Glasgow with Mr. Johnston, tailor, of Renfield Street, Mr. Murchie gained further experience in Kilmarnock, where he remained five years. In 1863 he sailed for New Zealand by the ship “Robert Henderson,” and landed at the Bluff. He worked in Inyercargill till the winter of the following year, and then removed to Auckland, where, after serving for a few months as a journeyman, he established himself in business on his own account, in 1865 Mr. Murchie takes the greatest pains to give satisfaction to his customers in the important matters of style and of style and while giving the business his most careful personal attention, he also employs competent managers. Mr. Murchie is a Freemason of long standing, and is attached to Lodge St. Andrews No. 418. He is a prominent member of the North Shore Bowling Club. In 1868 Mr. Murchie was married to Miss Buchanan, daughter of Mr. Alexander Buchanan, of Kaurihohore, and has two daughters. Mr. and Mrs. Murchie and family made a trip to the Old World in 1885 and were away almost a year.
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Possenniskie, Henry Louis,
                Tailor and Habit Maker, Victoria Arcade, 6 Shortland Street, Auckland. Telegraphic address, “Possenniskie,” Auckland, Telephone 1047. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Park Avenue. Mr. Possenniskie has been established since 1864, and for the past twenty years has occupied his present site, although the Arcade, of which the shop is a part, has not been re-erected more than fifteen years. The large workroom, where about twenty hands are employed, is on the top flat. Mr. Possenniskie's popularity as an employer may be inferred from the fact that several of his employees have been with him for nearly a quarter of a contury. A splendid stock of first-class tweeds, worsteds, etc., is kept, and Mr. Possenniskie attends personally to the cutting and to the general supervision of his business. Mr. Possenniskie was born in Warsaw, Poland, in 1842, and learned his business in his native land. When seventeen years of age he went to London, where for five years he was engaged at his trade and gained wide experience. He then came to this Colony, per ship “Portland,” Captain Peters, and landed in Auckland on the 31st of August, 1864, when he almost immediately began in business on his own account. Mr. Possenniskie was marriod in 1876 to a daughter of the late Mr. Myer Levy, and has three daughter, and a son; his eldest son having died in 1893.
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Potter, W. H.,
                Tailor, Hatter and Mercer, 246 Queen Street, Auckland, Mr. Potter's business is particularly that of a gentlemen's outfitter, and it is siad that his “specialty suits” have caused more happy marriages than all the matrimonial agencies put together.

            

            

              
              


                

Sankey, Henry,
                Tailor and Outfitter, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Private address, Tennyson Street. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by Mr. San-key in 1887, and has gradually increased. The present fine premises, which were erected some years since, are most central, and well situated in Karangahape Road. There is a handsome two-storey wooden building, with a frontage of about twenty-four feet. Mr. Sankey is a direct importer, and obtains goods in large quantities from English and Continental firms, besides being an extensive purchaser from the local warehouses. His trade extends throughout the whole of the Auckland province, and he has a number of customers residing in various other parts of the colony, even as far south as Christchurch. The work is for the greater part hand-sewn. Mr. Sankey was born in Kent in 1862, and came to Auckland at the early age of seven, with his parents, by the ship “Frenchman.” He was educated and brought up in Auckland, and subsequently decided to learn a trade for himself. After serving his apprenticeship with Mr. Arthur Wright, of Shortland Street, he went to Australia and gained further experience in the trade in both Queensland and New South Wales. He then returned to Auckland, and, having thoroughly learned the art of cutting, accepted the position of cutter to the late firm of Messrs Munro and Milligan, He held the position for seven years, and then he established his present business.
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Swales, K. Harry,
                Merchant and Military Tailor, 131 Victoria Street, Auckland Branch at Coromandel. Mr. Swales was born



in Ponsonby, Auckland, in 1863, and is a son of Mr. J. C. Swales, ex-councillor. He was first apprenticed to Mr. Ford, and subsequently served under Mr. J. Blackburn, of Queen Street, for four years, and was also foreman for Mr. A. Adams, of Grey Street. Mr. Swales was then in the employment of Mr. Wright, of Shortland Street, until 1890, when he commenced business on his own account. He is so popular with his customers that numerous orders come to him from those who have removed to distant districts. Mr. Swales is thoroughly attentive to his business, and is well qualified to work up a large connection. He has taken a prominent part in religious work, and is highly respected in that connection.
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Wright, Arthur,
                Tailor, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Wright is a native of Hammersmith, near London, and was apprenticed to Mr. Martin, of Tunbridge Wells, where he completed his term in 1853, and after that he worked at Poole's and Hill's in London. He arrived in New Zealand in 1859 by the ship “Nourmahal,” and founded the present business in 1860. Mr. Wright is an importer of tweeds, linings, etc., from Stewart and McDonald, and Arthur and Co., of Glasgow, Philip Evans and Son, of Stroud, and others. He makes a specialty of legal and clerical robes, and of breeches-making. During the Governorship of the Earl of Glasgow, Mr. Wright was tailor by appointment to his Excellency.
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                  McCullagh And Gower
                
                (John Gales McCullagh and Henry Gower), Drapers and Importers, Queen Street, Auckland. This business, which is one of the largest Auckland drapery establishments, was founded by Mr. Rattray. The firm's premises consist of a fine building in Queen Street; and are stocked with all the latest fabrics in ladies' wear, imported from the leading English and Continental markets. Goods of the newest and latest design are constantly forwarded by the firm's Home buyers, from the leading manufacturers.
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Mr. John Gales Mccullagh,
                the Senior Partner, is a native of Leitrim, Ireland, and commenced commercial life at Sligo. In 1877 he came to Sydney by the steamer “Lusitania,” and arrived in Auckland shortly afterwards. Mr. McCullagh started with Mr. Rattray, the original owner of the present business, but shortly afterwards, on the retirement of that gentleman, Mr. McCullagh and his late partner, Mr. Wilson, acquired the business, and traded under the name of Wilson and McCullagh. On the dissolution of that partnership in 1900, Mr. McCullagh was joined by Mr. Gower.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Henry Gower
                
                was born in 1864 at Tunbridge, Kent, England. After a business experience at Tunbridge Wells and in London, he went to Eastbourne, where he remained three years under Mr. Sutton, buyer for Cook, Son and Co., one of the largest wholesale drapery firms in London. Mr. Gower obtained a very large experience in this establishment, and came to New Zealand in 1888. Shortly after his arrival in Auckland he entered the service of Messrs Smith and Caughey, with whom he remained twelve years, and then joined Mr McCullagh. Mr Gower, on the formation of the Auckland Rifles, received the appointment of lieutenant to that corps. He is a member of the Order of Foresters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Mcmaster And Shalders
                
                (Thomas McMaster and Alfred Bertram Shalders), Drapers, 204 and 206 Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This is the oldest retail drapery business in Auckland, and was founded in 1851. The senior partner was for eighteen years, from 1868 to 1886, in business on his own account in Queen Street, and the present firm was established in 1886. The firm imports all kinds of drapery, and its premises are centrally situated and of considerable extent. It has a branch business at Whangarei.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Milne And Choyce
                
                (Mary Jane Milne and Henry Charles Choyce), Drapers and Milliners, Auckland House, Queen and Wellesley Streets, Auckland. Telephone, 412. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Miss Milne is a native of Ireland, and was brought up to the trade, and she arrived in New Zealand in 1863, by the ship “Queen of the Mersey,” from London. Mr. Choyce was born in England, and came to the colony by the “Mary Shepherd” in 1866. He was brought up to the wholesale drapery trade, and was for some years in the employment of Messrs A. Clark and Sons, whom he left to join Miss Milne in business. The firm was founded in 1874, and Miss Milne had been in business three years prior to that date. The business was established originally as a millinery and mantle trade, but in order to meet the demands of customers, it has been developed into a general drapery trade, with all classes of goods. The firm does a very large business in dresses, and has an extensive connection with the fashionable portion of the Auckland public. A large staff is employed in addition to heads of departments and counter attendants. In the dress-making, millinery, and mantle workrooms over 100 persons find regular employment, and the total number in the firm's employment is about 140. The splendid building occupied by the firm is built of stone and brick, and is four stories in height, including the basement, and there is a total floorage space of 14,400 feet available for business purposes. All classes of millinery, mantles, and general drapery are imported direct from the best markets of England and the Continent, and the firm can be depended upon to supply all the latest fashions each season. Its London buyer is Mr. Doust, of 103 Fore Street, E.C., and he has proved himself a capable representative. The goods of the firm are well known, and in demand from Hokianga to Westport.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Smith And Caughey
                
                (W. H. Smith and A. C. Caughey), Wholesale and Family Drapers, Queen and Elliot Streets, Auckland. The history of this firm is a record of what business aptitude will accomplish in the colonies. Within the compass of twenty years Messrs Smith and Caughey have built up a business which for magnitude and assured stability, has no rival in its particular line in the colony. In early life the principals of the firm were fellow-workers in the large drapery establishment of Messrs James Lindsay and Co., Be.fast, Ireland. Prior to meeting Mr. A. C. Caughey there, Mr W. H. Smith had gained valuable experience in Messrs A. T. Stewart and Co.'s establishment in New York. Mr. Caughey remained with Lindsay and Co. for about six years, and then left to accept the appointment of buyer for a large firm in the south of Ireland. Subsequently he gained a footing in business in London, and shortly afterwards was appointed



junior superintendent of the Compton House, in Liverpool, which was then the largest drapery firm in the United Kingdom. Mr. Caughey came out to Auckland in 1879. Mr. W. H. Smith arrived a year later, and took a small shop in Upper Queen Street, where Mr. Caughey subsequently joined him, and thus was launched the firm, whose name has become a synonym for commercial solidity and sound progressiveness. The partners alternately visit England and the Continent of Europe, and they also employ in the Old Country permanent buyers, whom they keep in constant touch with the requirements of the colonial public. The firm has the amplest business premises the city of Auckland. Every branch is run strictly on the cash system, and the firm pays away in wages £12,000 per annum. So large is the staff that a volunteer corps, named the Anckland Rifles, has been formed by the employees, with Mr. A. C. Caughey as captain. The corps is referred to in the military section of this volume.
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Belchamber and Co.,
                Wholesale and Retail Waterproof Manufacturers, Victoria Street West, Auckland. The founders of this firm learned their business at the famous Indiarubber, Guttapercha, and Telegraph Works, London. After acquiring at this place a thorough knowledge of the many and varied branches of the trade, their services were in great demand, not only in England, but in foreign countries, and the businesses of many firms which they started are now in a flourishing condition. Subsequently, they were at S. C. Cording's establishment at Charing Cross and Regent Street, London, but in 1889, M. Lane, one of the firm, was persuaded to come to Auckland, and was the first maker of a waterproof garment in the colony of New Zealand. Since that time the industry has increased, and many articles in the waterproof and indiarubber lines, hitherto unobtainable in the colony are imported and can now be procured from this firm. The firm not only supplies the retail trade, but tailors, storekeepers, and others find it to their advantage to deal with the manufacturers. In its production the firm endeavours to supply all classes of the population. For the general public it makes ladies' and children's waterproof clothing, gentlemen's leggings, rugs, carriage rugs, etc.; while tourists, sportsmen, and travellers are catered for with hunting suits and aprons, fishing trousers and stockings, sheeting for camping out, and specially made garments for riding and driving. The firm also keeps requisites for invalids, such as bed sheeting, hot water bags and bottles, and air and water cushions and beds. Football bladders, waterproof aprons, trousers for Baptist ministers, gas bags, gas tubing and hase, bathing caps, etc., are also produced by the firm.

            

            

              
              


                
Brown, D. And A.,
                Dyers, Shortland Street, Auckland. Works, Grafton Road. Established in 1866. This business, which now ranks as one of the leading dye works in the colony, was founded by the late Mr. Alexander Brown, father of the present proprietor. Mr. Brown, senior, was a dyer of sixty years' standing, and at his death Mr. A. D. Brown took over the management. Mr. A. D. Brown has had thirty years' experience, and the works cannot be excelled in the Auckland provincial district. The works are most picturesquely and conveniently situated in the “Glen” dividing Symonds Street and Grafton Road, and are well drained and abundantly supplied with water. They cover an area of about a quarter of an acre, and comprise eight sheds; and the largest and most-up-to-date plant is used. The firm is erecting a French dry-cleaning plant, which enables garments of all kinds to be cleaned without shrinking. It also imports all its dyes and dyeing material from Europe, and it can, therefore, produce all the latest and most fashionable shades.

              

                

[image: Mr. A. D. Brown.]
Mr. A. D. Brown.


              

            

            

              
              

                

                  Cambridge Shirt And Clothing Factory
                
               
 (G. H. Powley, proprietor). Victoria Street West and Graham Street, Auckland. Telephone 1021. This business, which was first established about 1867 in Shortland Street, by Mr. Van Breda, was purchased by Mr. Powley in October, 1880. In 1892 the lease of the property in Shortland Street fell through, as it was a portion of the Costley estate, and the ground was purchased throughout by the Auckland Club. Mr Powley was, therefore, obliged to look for other quarters. He purchased land in Victoria Street West, and erected his present premises, which consist of two large buildings. Messrs Macky, Logan, Steen and Co. supply all the material for making up, and then dispose of the manufactured goods. The factory proper has a frontage of 100 feet to Graham Street, and a depth of 102 feet, and the other building has a frontage of 40 feet to Victoria Street, and a depth of 40 feet. The second building is two stories in height, and the upper portion is used by Mr. Powley for dwelling purposes. On the ground floor there are offices, and a lofty, well-ventilated, excellently-lighted cutting-room for shirts and Denim trousers. In addition to the ordinary shears, or tailor-cutting appliances, this room is provided with a double band knife, driven by engine power, for heavy cutting. It is of Irish make, and is capable of cutting sixty thicknesses (or thirty garments) at once. The power for this and the factory machines is supplied by two gas engines, respectively a four and two-horse power (nominal). Just over the entrance to Mr Powley's private office there is a clock,
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which is electrically connected with the factory, so that when lunch hour is over a bell rings the hands back to work. The factory itself consists of a huge room lighted by three domes, 21 feet from the floor. Each dome is fitted with twelve windows and two “Boyle's” ventilators, and the room also receives additional light from eighteen windows around the sides. It is provided throughout with gas for use during the dark afternoons in the winter season. In the storeroom a heavy stock of trimmings and other requisites is always kept on hand. The factory is divided into the shirt and Denim trouser-making department, and the general cutting and tailoring department. One hundred sewing machines (Singers) are in constant use, forty-two on shirt-making, and the balance on clothing. These machines are all driven by engine power, and can be independently disconnected instantly at the will of the operator. The shafting is carefully boxed in, so that there is not the slightest danger of an accident happening to any of the operatives through their clothes being caught in any way. There are also machines for riveting buttons of various kinds, and for the copper-riveting used in completing the Denim trousers. There are also button-hole machines for shirts, the process being first to sew the button-hole, which is automatically cut between the sewn lines when finished. One of the most convenient improvements is the gas-heated iron for pressing shirts. This iron works on an arm, is heated by gas, and an extra pressure can be obtainea by placing the foot upon a treadle connecting with a lever. In the shirt department all sorts of shirts, from the commonest variety to the finest silk, are manufactured. After being finished and pressed, they are labelled, folded, and packed for delivery. The tailoring department has a capacity of turning out over 300 suits weekly. The cutting is all done by men, from patterns, forty thicknesses being usually cut at a time, although as many as sixty-two have been done, and Mr. Powley is in negotiation with an American firm for a cutting machine which will save still more time and labour. After being cut the cloth goes to the tacking department, where it is tacked by hand before passing to the machines. The finishing is also done by hand. The button-holes in the suits are made by machinery, with this difference from the shirt department—that the holes are first automatically cut and then sewn. After being finished, the suits are hand-pressed, ticketed, buttoned, and folded, when they are ready for delivery. At each end of the tailoring department there are two large stoves for heating the pressing irons, heavy irons being provided for the men, and lighter ones for the female operatives. Below the factory room there is a well-ventilated, well-lighted luncheon room, provided with tables, benches, etc. Here those of the girls who do not go home can spend their dinner hour, and hot water is provided for those who want to make tea or coffee. There are four lavatories connected with the factory and luncheon room. Regular employment is given to about 150 operatives, and the wages account runs to nearly £5000 per annum, the amount having trebled in three years.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. G. H. Powley
                
                was born in Tasmania, and came as a child with his parents to New Zealand in the barque “Fanny Fisher,” from Hobart. Mr. Powley, senior, had been an English Army officer under the Government in Tasmania, and when he took his discharge he received a pension and a grant of land in New Zealand. Mr. G. H. Powley was educated at St. Matthew's Church, and after leaving school joined the Navy as a boy on H.M.S. “Niger.” He was invalided out of the service at the Chatham Hospital in 1866; and shortly afterwards he married, and returned to New Zealand in 1867. After an experience on the Thames goldfields, and in various mercantile pursuits, he started his present business in 1880. Mr. Powley joined the volunteers in 1867, and became second lieutenant of the Artillery, of which he is still a life member. He is referred to in another article as a distinguished Freemason.

            

            

              
              


                

Cooper, James Albert,
                Cap and Hat Manufacturer, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Cooper was born in Auckland in 1850, and educated at Cariton Academy under Mr C. B. Andrews, He was apprenticed to the well-known firm of Hill, Fenton, and Hulbert, hat manufacturers, and after completing his indentures worked as a journeyman in Melbourne and Sydney, Mr. Cooper returned to Auckland in 1882. He commenced business the same year, and now owns one of the leading establishments in Auckland. Mr. Cooper also takes an active interest in athletics generally, but more particularly in cycling and bowling. In 1802 he was initiated as a Freemason in Lodge Ponsonby, No. 51, N.Z.C., and since then he has filled the offices of J.G., J.W., S.W., and W.M., and he is now secretary of his Lodge.

            

            

              
              


                
Davey And Orpwood,
                Ladies' Underclothing Manufacturers, High Street, Auckland. Though no attempt is made at outward show, a really good business is being done by Messrs Davey and Orpwood, who have surmounted all the initial difficulties of founding a business in opposition to cheap English labour. Thirty hands are employed, and upwards of twenty-five sewing machines are kept constantly going. The machines favoured are the Wheeler, Wilson and Singer. In cases in which it is deemed to be advantageous, raw materials are imported direct from the Home markets. Only strictly wholesale houses are supplied, so, of course, the number of customers is limited, and confined to cities and large towns in the Colony. The business has been established for about twenty years.

            

            

              
              


                

Fowlds, George,
                Clothier and Importer, Victoria Arcade, Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 336. Cable address, “Fowlds.” Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. London agents, B. S. Lloyd and Co., 40 King Street, Cheapside, London, E.C. Mr. Fowlds was born in 1860 in Ayrshire, Scotland, and was apprenticed to Messrs Stewart Bros., tailors, of Kilmarnock, and completed his term in 1878. For several years subsequently he was with the wholesale firm of Messrs William McLaren, Sons and Co., of Glasgow. In 1882, he left Scotland for South Africa, where he remained for three years, during which time he was with Messrs Wood and Co., and E. W. Tarry and Co., Limited, wholesale importers, at Kimberley, the famous diamond mining centre. Owing to his wife's health he decided to come to New Zealand in 1885, and arrived in the s.s. “Coptic.” The prevent extensive business was established in 1886, scott after his arrival. He began in a small way in Victoria Street, and in consequence of his having a thorough grasp of the business he speedily made a trade, and the



premises became too small for the business. In 1888 he secured the present premises in a handsome block of buildings, five stories in height. The portion occupied by Mr. Fowlds consists of a handsome shop at the corner of Fort and Queen Streets, and two other shops ironting Queen Street, and running right through into Victoria Arcade. He also occupies the basement beneath, and three large workrooms upstairs, the total floor space being equal to 9000 square feet. From twenty-five to thirty hands find regular employment behind the counter or in the workrooms, and about £200 per month is paid away in wages. A convenient dining room is provided for the comfort of the work-people. A large general stock of the goods usually kept by a first-class tailor and outfitter is always available, and supplies are obtained largely by importations from such firms as Rylands and Sons, of London, Stewart and McDonald, and William McLaren, Sons and Co., of Glasgow. The goods are sold chiefly locally and throughout the Auckland provincial district. Mr. Fowlds has retained the services of a first-class cutter, and employs only skilled labour in the workrooms, and thus he ensures excellence in the style, fit, and finish of all his workmanship. Mr. Fowlds believes in being abreast of the times in all matters connected with the trade. His London buyers have had large experience in business, and are in a position to procure the latest designs at the earliest moment, and this enables Mr. Fowlds to offer considerable advantage to his numerous customers. As a Freemason Mr. Fowlds has been Grand Superintendent of the Auckland Province for several years, and is a Past Deputy Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of New Zealand. Mr. Fowlds is referred to esewhere as one of Auckland's three representatives in Parliament.

            

            

              
              


                

Kemp, Benjamin John Major,
                Merchant Tailor, Outfitter, and Shirt Maker, 123 and 125 Queen Street, Auckland. This business was established in Mannkau Road, Parnell, in 1885, by the present proprietor, who, in October, 1900, removed to his present premises in Queen Street, where, with an already valuable connection, he carries on a rapidly-increasing trade. The various lines of goods and stock are shown to first-rate advantage, and, as a gentleman's complete outfitting establishment, Mr. Kemp's ranks among the best in Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Morran, John Manners,
                J.P., Clothing and Mackintosh Manufacturer, Lorne Street, Auckland. Mr. Morran was born in 1857, at Woolwich, Kent, England. At the age of fourteen he embarked in the ship “Eclipse,” and visited Portugal, Madeira, Cuba, and many places in the West Indies and America. On his return he was placed with the firm of Cook, Son and Co., clothing manufacturers, at Chatham, and afterwards with Messrs B. Cohen and Co., waterproof manufacturers, of Fore Street, London, for whom his brother was manager. He thus became familiar with the best class of mackintosh manufacture, as, indirectly, the firm made for Mossrs J. C. Cording and Co, of Picadilly, who have all the rulers of Europe on their books. Mr. Morran heid the position of cutter for Mr. Thomas Knight, Messrs H. E. and M. Moses, Messrs Ryland and Sons, and Messrs Thomas and Jones, all of London. About eleven years ago the emigrated to New Zealand to embark in the business of waterproof manufacture. He landed at New Plymouth, but finding no scope there, he commenced in Elliot Street, Auckland, at first only employing ten hands. In about a year the rooms became too small for Mr. Morran's extending business, and the extension was partly due to the Government imposing extra duty on imported goods. Two other removals were found necessary on account of expansion in business, and finally he took his present premises, opposite those of Sharland and Co., in Lorne Street, where he now employs nearly 200 hands, and has the largest mackintosh trade in the Colony. Mr. Morran had a magnificent show of clothing and mackintosh garments at the Auckland Exhibition, and was awarded five special gold and four silver medals and one bronze medal. He is a very considerate employer, and has the reputation of paying the best wages in his line in Auckland, as he holds the opinion that cheap labour is dear in the end. Mr. Morran's present factory is of three floors, 80 feet by 40 feet, and is fitted with all the most improved machinery.

              

                

[image: Hanna photo. Mr. J. M. Morran.]

                    
Hanna photo.
                    
Mr. 
J. M. Morran.
                  


              

            

            

              
              

                

Seabrook, H. H.
               
, Shirt Manufacturer, Grafton Road Auckland. This business, which was established in 1886 in Newton Road, has been conducted since 1898 by its present proprietor, who, both in this and in other lands, has gained an experience in manufacturing which has contributed in no small degree to the marked success of his present business. Shortly after taking over the business, Mr Seabrook required additional spance to cope with his already increasing trade, and in the early part of 1900 he succeeded in purchasing the admirable site on which his commodious factory now stands, and where he carries on the business of the old familiar “Stitchwell Club.” When it was first stated that a shirt factory was to be erected in Grafton Road the news was received by the neighbouring residents with unconcealed expressions of indignation and disappointment, on the ground that the locality would be prejudiced by the advent of a factory. Such feelings were, however, soon dispelled when the handsome wooden building which now covers the site was completed, and now in the list of fine buildings which adorn the neighbourhood Mr. H. H. Sea-brook's Shirt Factory admittedly takes a prominent part. The building occupies 40 feet of frontage to Grafton Road, by 106 feet in depth, and is elevated some feet from the ground by a brick foundation. The premises contain six large rooms, including two commodious working departments; one of these is on the ground floor, while the other, in which all the cutting and machining are done, occupies the greater part of the second storey. These departments are fitted up, arranged and conducted in a manner which characterises the whole establishment. For the use of the employees, who now number about eighty, a large room has been set aside, and is provided with a handsome piano and other necessary furniture, so that the spare time of the workers may be made a source of general enjoyment. The proprietor intends to add the manufacture of clothing to his already extensive business. Mr. Seabrook, the enterprising proprietor of this business, was born in Auckland in 1859, and educated at a public school, which he left at the age of sixteen, to enter the drapery trade. At first he was employed by Mr. W. Wilson, and then by Mr. Harry Atkin, both well-known drapers of that time. In 1880 Mr Seabrook left Auckland for Australia, where, in some of the largest warehouses of Melbourne, Sydney, and
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Ipswich, he gained a wide experience in the trade he had chosen. He returned to Auckland in 1884, and travelled through the colony, but finally took up employment in Auckland with the firm of Messrs Sargood, Son and Ewen, by whom he was appointed manager of their mercery department. This position he held till 1898, when he started on his own account by purchasing the business formerly owned by Mr. A. E. Hatton, and familiarly known as the “Stitchwell Club.” Mr. Seabrook has always interested himself in the general welfare of the public, and for some time has been Grand Master of the Protestant Alliance Friendly Society of Australasia. Being an accomplished musician he has also taken great interest in musical matters, and for some years has been a member of the Auckland Liedertafel.
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                  Acme Tailoring Company
                
                (Emmanuel Martin, proprietor), 35 Victoria Street West, Auckland. Branch, College Road, Ponsonby. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Mr. Martin is a native of Auckland, and was apprenticed to Mr. C. Langsford, with whom he completed his term in 1882. After that he worked at his trade in Sydney, Melbourne, and Brisbane, and gained valuable experience. While he was in Sydney he became an expert cutter under Mr. A. Burnham, of the well-known firm of Messrs David Jones and Co., with whom he remained for thirteen months. Mr. Martin commenced his present business in 1892, with a single assistant, but he has developed a large trade by push and energy, and in consequence of the style and finish of all goods supplied by him. He now employs ten hands, and does a large business in the city and country districts. Mr. Martin's specialty is a system of self-measutrement, by which country customers may have suits made and a perfect fit guaranteed at town prices. By this means many people who have never met Mr. Martin personally have become his customers. Mr. Martin has agents in the chief towns throughout the Auckland provincial district. His business premises are of brick and two stories in height, and have a floorage space of 1300 square feet.

            

            

              
              


                
Browe, E. C., and Co.,
                Hatters and Mercers, Tailors and Importers of Boots and Shoes, Queen Street, Auckland. This firm's premises stand opposite the “New Zealand Herald” buildings in Queen Street, to which they have a frontage of 26 feet. The building is two stories in height, and is well set off in front with large, handsome windows, in which the firm displays various lines of its stock to excellent advantage. A large business is done by the firm, not only at its headquarters, but also at its branch shop, at 244 Queen Street.

            

            

              
              


                

Cash, Edward,
                Merchant Tailor, Outfilter and Importer, 6 Wellestey Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1868, and has been for nearly a quarter of a century in the hands of the present proprietor. A good city and suburban trade is done, and the styles and stock of the establishment are both excellent. Mr. Cash personally superintends the business, and every article passes through his hands or under his inspection Mr. Cash was born in Belfast in 1845, learned his trade with his father, and as early as 1869 was in business in Belfast on his own account. In 1875 he came to this Colony, by the “Star of Germany,” and shortly after landing he purchased his present business. He is a Freemason, a Rechabite of twenty years' standing, and a member of the Primitive Methodist Church.

            

            

              
              


                
Davey And Son,
                Tailors, No. 5 Wellesley Street East, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by the senior partner, Mr. James Davey, in 1866, in Albert Street, and was subsequently removed to its present fashionable site. Mr. Davey, senior, was born at Exeter, Devonshire, England, in 1830. He learned his trade in Exeter, and afterwards carried on business in London, until 1865, when he emigrated to Auckland by the ship “Queen of the North.” Mr. Frederick Davey, the junior partner, was born in Auckland in 1871, and educated at Wellesley Street East School and privately. He learned his trade under his father's instruction.

            

            

              
              


                

Erickson, Andrew,
                Tailor, Wellesley Street East, Auckland. Mr Erickson was born in Sweden, in 1850, and arrived in Auckland in 1872. After residing in the principal cities of New Zealand for several years Mr. Erickson went to San Francisco, where he resided for two years, during which he gained experience in the art of tailoring. In 1885 he returned to Auckland, and commenced business at his present address.

            

            

              
              


                
Foster, J. and Co.,
                Tailors and Outfitters. 145 Upper Symonds Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1892. The firm is a direct importer of all tweeds, worsteds, coatings, trimmings, and of every other article used in the trade. Its premises are conveniently situated, and consist of a two-storey brick building, with two work-rooms, where from fourteen to seventeen employees are kept constantly at work. Messrs Foster and Co. keep a traveller always “on the road” between the North Cape and Gisborne, and are well-known for their style and excellent fit. The business has greatly increased within recent years, and bids fair to be among the largest of its kind in Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. James Foster
                
                (formerly managing partner) was born in the North of Ireland in 1872, and is a son of Mr. William Foster, of Ihumata. He came to Auckland by the ship “Alastor” in 1881, and was subsequently apprenticed to the tailoring trade. He was in the employment of Mr. Johnston,



the well-known Gisborne tailor, for some time, and also gained afterwards, in various parts of the Colony, that experience which enabled him to open in business on his own account. Mr. Foster recently went to the Transvaal in South Africa.
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Murchie, Malcolm,
                Tailor and Habit Maker, corner of shortland and O'Connell Streets, Auckland. Telephone, 646. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Murchie has been in business as a leading Auckland tailor for upwards of thirty years. His premises are of brick and admirably situated, and occupy the historic building once well-known as “The Bank of Auckland.” Mr. Murchie imports his goods from the best English, Scotch and Irish markets, and does a first-class trade He employs in all twenty-two hands, and his cutter has been brought from the fashionable centres of England. Mr. Murchie was born in 1831, at Arrau, in Buteshire, Scotland, and was educated there, his father, Mr. John Murchie, being a farmer on the island. After serving an apprenticeship in Glasgow with Mr. Johnston, tailor, of Renfield Street, Mr. Murchie gained further experience in Kilmarnock, where he remained five years. In 1863 he sailed for New Zealand by the ship “Robert Henderson,” and landed at the Bluff. He worked in Inyercargill till the winter of the following year, and then removed to Auckland, where, after serving for a few months as a journeyman, he established himself in business on his own account, in 1865 Mr. Murchie takes the greatest pains to give satisfaction to his customers in the important matters of style and of style and while giving the business his most careful personal attention, he also employs competent managers. Mr. Murchie is a Freemason of long standing, and is attached to Lodge St. Andrews No. 418. He is a prominent member of the North Shore Bowling Club. In 1868 Mr. Murchie was married to Miss Buchanan, daughter of Mr. Alexander Buchanan, of Kaurihohore, and has two daughters. Mr. and Mrs. Murchie and family made a trip to the Old World in 1885 and were away almost a year.
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Possenniskie, Henry Louis,
                Tailor and Habit Maker, Victoria Arcade, 6 Shortland Street, Auckland. Telegraphic address, “Possenniskie,” Auckland, Telephone 1047. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Park Avenue. Mr. Possenniskie has been established since 1864, and for the past twenty years has occupied his present site, although the Arcade, of which the shop is a part, has not been re-erected more than fifteen years. The large workroom, where about twenty hands are employed, is on the top flat. Mr. Possenniskie's popularity as an employer may be inferred from the fact that several of his employees have been with him for nearly a quarter of a contury. A splendid stock of first-class tweeds, worsteds, etc., is kept, and Mr. Possenniskie attends personally to the cutting and to the general supervision of his business. Mr. Possenniskie was born in Warsaw, Poland, in 1842, and learned his business in his native land. When seventeen years of age he went to London, where for five years he was engaged at his trade and gained wide experience. He then came to this Colony, per ship “Portland,” Captain Peters, and landed in Auckland on the 31st of August, 1864, when he almost immediately began in business on his own account. Mr. Possenniskie was marriod in 1876 to a daughter of the late Mr. Myer Levy, and has three daughter, and a son; his eldest son having died in 1893.

              

                

[image: Mr. H. L. Possenniskie.]
Mr. 
H. L. Possenniskie.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Potter, W. H.,
                Tailor, Hatter and Mercer, 246 Queen Street, Auckland, Mr. Potter's business is particularly that of a gentlemen's outfitter, and it is siad that his “specialty suits” have caused more happy marriages than all the matrimonial agencies put together.

            

            

              
              


                

Sankey, Henry,
                Tailor and Outfitter, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Private address, Tennyson Street. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by Mr. San-key in 1887, and has gradually increased. The present fine premises, which were erected some years since, are most central, and well situated in Karangahape Road. There is a handsome two-storey wooden building, with a frontage of about twenty-four feet. Mr. Sankey is a direct importer, and obtains goods in large quantities from English and Continental firms, besides being an extensive purchaser from the local warehouses. His trade extends throughout the whole of the Auckland province, and he has a number of customers residing in various other parts of the colony, even as far south as Christchurch. The work is for the greater part hand-sewn. Mr. Sankey was born in Kent in 1862, and came to Auckland at the early age of seven, with his parents, by the ship “Frenchman.” He was educated and brought up in Auckland, and subsequently decided to learn a trade for himself. After serving his apprenticeship with Mr. Arthur Wright, of Shortland Street, he went to Australia and gained further experience in the trade in both Queensland and New South Wales. He then returned to Auckland, and, having thoroughly learned the art of cutting, accepted the position of cutter to the late firm of Messrs Munro and Milligan, He held the position for seven years, and then he established his present business.
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Swales, K. Harry,
                Merchant and Military Tailor, 131 Victoria Street, Auckland Branch at Coromandel. Mr. Swales was born



in Ponsonby, Auckland, in 1863, and is a son of Mr. J. C. Swales, ex-councillor. He was first apprenticed to Mr. Ford, and subsequently served under Mr. J. Blackburn, of Queen Street, for four years, and was also foreman for Mr. A. Adams, of Grey Street. Mr. Swales was then in the employment of Mr. Wright, of Shortland Street, until 1890, when he commenced business on his own account. He is so popular with his customers that numerous orders come to him from those who have removed to distant districts. Mr. Swales is thoroughly attentive to his business, and is well qualified to work up a large connection. He has taken a prominent part in religious work, and is highly respected in that connection.
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Wright, Arthur,
                Tailor, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Wright is a native of Hammersmith, near London, and was apprenticed to Mr. Martin, of Tunbridge Wells, where he completed his term in 1853, and after that he worked at Poole's and Hill's in London. He arrived in New Zealand in 1859 by the ship “Nourmahal,” and founded the present business in 1860. Mr. Wright is an importer of tweeds, linings, etc., from Stewart and McDonald, and Arthur and Co., of Glasgow, Philip Evans and Son, of Stroud, and others. He makes a specialty of legal and clerical robes, and of breeches-making. During the Governorship of the Earl of Glasgow, Mr. Wright was tailor by appointment to his Excellency.
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                The Public Trust Department
              
              was formed by the Government in 1872 to act as an agent or attorney on behalf of trustees or private individuals, for the control and administration of their property. The Public Trustee may administer the estates of deceased persons; his administration is guaranteed by the State, and the funds are invested in Government or other safe securities. The charges made by this Department are practically nominal. District agents are appointed in the chief towns throughout the colony, and Mr E. F. Warren is the district agent at Auckland. This gentleman has offices in the Palmerston Buildings, Queen Street. An article on the Public Trust Department appears on page 644 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.

          

          

            
            


              
Auckland Stock Exchange.
              This association is, so far as is known, the oldest institution of its kind in the Colony, having been founded in 1872. The building in Queen Street, known as the “Exchange,” was erected in 1870, and at the time a number of gentlemen, who were engaged in mining, agreed to take offices in it. In the course of a year or two, as the interest in the mining industry increased, and the public grew more eager to invest and speculate, it became apparent to prominent and trustworthy men, who acted as middlemen or brokers, that to guard against outside and irresponsible speculators, it would be to their advantage as well as that of the investing public to inaugurate an association on the principle of the London Stock Exchange, and publish, by means of bulletin boards and through the Press, a daily list of quotations. In pursuance of this object about twelve gentlemen formed themselves into an association, and drafted rules to govern its proceedings. At first they met in a small room at the back of what is now known as the rotunda. Amongst the earlier members were Messrs J. Friar Clarke, John Mowbray, Samuel Vickers, Alex. Saunders, Joseph Newman, J. M. Lennox, Hugh Campbell and Charles Alexander. The first presidency or chairmanship cannot be identified, as the original minutes and records have unfortunately been lost or destroyed. At the start the members merely paid a subscription fee, just sufficient to cover the ordinary current expenses of the association, and admitted or refused to admit candidates for membership, after the manner of a club. In the course of time, however, the Exchange grew in importance, and a membership or “seat” attained a definite value. The entrance fee was then made £25, and shortly afterwards £100, and as the public began to recognise the benefit derived from the institution, the price rose still higher, and now a “seat” on the Auckland Stock Exchange is worth £500. The association deserves credit for the care with which it has guarded its reputation. It has been in existence for over twenty-five years, yet its total membership at the present time is barely thirty; but the members are men of sterling integrity, and the investor can depend upon absolutely fair treatment in any dealings which he or she may have with any of the members. There are three “calls” every day: at 9.30 o'clock, 12 o'clock, and a quarter past three o'clock, and so soon as the list has been ratified, the quotations are prominently posted by the various members. In this way the public is made aware of the business that has been transacted, and of the prices offered by buyers and demanded by sellers. The present (1901) members are:—Messrs G. A. Buttle (chairman), Alfred Oldham (secretary), William Clarke, D. B. McDonald, Francis Hull, R. G. Mackey, John Mowbray, H. S. Ruddock, V. J. Larner, R. Frater, Aitken Carrick, James Reid, G. F. Brimblecombe, Charles Alexander, D. McLeod, Duncan E. Clerk, J. T. Armitage, L. A. Levy, W. A. Knight, F. H. Masfen, J. M. Lennox, R. E. Issacs, E. Anderson, W. H. O. Johnstone and W. Frater.

          

          

            
            


              
Auckland Co-Operative Terminating Building Society,
              Union Bank Buildings, corner of Queen and Victoria Streets, Auckland. Board of Directors: Mr. A. J. Entrican, chairman; Mr. E. R. Jones, vice-chairman; and Messrs R. Walton, G. Rainey, W. Lambourne, J. J. Boak, J. F. Buddle, and T. Macky; with Mr. Robert Hood as secretary, and Mr. F. Wilson Smith solicitor. Bankers, the Bank of New South Wales. This society was established in March, 1897, and is incorporated under and in pursuance of “The Building Societies' Act, 1880.” Its objects are to raise, by the subscriptions of members, a fund for making advances to members, upon the security of freehold or leasehold property, by way of mortgage, to the extent allowed by law. The shares of the society are of the value of £200 each, and the number of shares is limited to 10,000; the fortnightly subscriptions are 2s per share. Shareholders are formed into ten groups, each group representing 1000 shares, and as often as the funds of a group justify an appropriation, one takes place; the appropriations are made by ballot and sale alternately. Six groups have been formed (1901), and are in satisfactory working order.

          

          

            
            


              
New Zealand Mortgage, Loan, And Discount Bank,
              28 High Street, Auckland. This business was established by its present proprietor, Mr Lewis Moses, in 1882, and although it has several times been moved into fresh premises, it has always occupied offices in the same street.

          

          

            
            


              
The Northern Estate Agency And Finance Company, Limited,
              Legal Chambers, 141 Queen Street, Auckland. The capital of this Company is £20,000, in 20,000 shares of £1 each. The institution was founded in 1898, for the purpose of advancing money on personal security, leasehold and freehold property, agricultural produce, stock, etc.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Jamison,
              the Manager, was formerly connected with the Bank of Australasia, but left that institution in 1897, and started sharebroking in Auckland. After the collapse of the mining boom, in 1898, he assisted in the formation of the Company, and was appointed its manager.

          

          

            
            


              
The New Zealand Commercial Exchange Company,
              Limited, 32 Grey Street, Auckland. Capital, £5000, in shares of £1 each; Mr. Laurence Johnstone, managing director. This Company, which was established in Wellington in the latter part of 1898 by Mr. Michael Flurscheim, is an Association of farmers, manufacturers, traders, and workers, who agree to issue to themselves (through directors and committees appointed by themselves) exchange notes and cheques for the purpose of facilitating their trade with one another. The Commercial Exchange Bank will be formed by a nucleus of several thousand members, comprising all trades and industries, who will deal among themselves (within limits) by means of the “Exchange” cheques and notes, which are payable in any goods or services. The Exchange Bank will perform the following main functions:—(1) Issue exchange paper as required; (2) act as a clearing-house for members' transactions; (3) institute a credit department for the accommodation of members. The Bank may thus be regarded as the heart, and the circle of members as the body of the organisation. A member accepting Exchange paper will, in his turn, use it in the Exchange circle like any other money. He will, as the case may be, either pay therewith his butcher, baker, tailor, or others, or he will use it to pay his various purveyors of stock, material, country produce, and so forth, according to the nature of his business. Special encouragement will be given to local manufacturers and those working on co-operative lines. At the time of writing (June, 1901) there were about 1000 members in the New Zealand Commercial Exchange, and all that is now needed to make it a gigantic success is the hearty support of the people generally.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Michael Flurscheim,
              the Promoter of an improved currency system, better known as the Commercial Exchange, has devoted considerable time, and a large sum of money, to the furtherance of the project, which will prove of great advantage among the trading and commercial section of the community. Both in England and on the Continent, Mr. Flurscheim has gained a wide experience of institutions of a somewhat similar character, and in the former country he was the propagator of a means of mutual exchange, which, in its development, is sure to afford the commercial facilities its pioneer had in view. As indicated by his name, Mr. Flurscheim is a native of Germany, and was born in 1844, at Frankfort-on-the-Maine. In literary circles he



has won wide renown and frank respect by the publication of several interesting and instructive works, all dealing in the main with his favourite subject—social reform. Leaving school at the age of sixteen, Mr. Flurscheim entered the well-known banking and exchange houso of his uncle, known as L. A. Hahn. There he remained for four years, and removed in 1864 to Berlin, where he was engaged in a similar capacity till the latter end of the same year, when he accepted a position in a stock-broking and exchange firm in Paris. Here he extended his experience of banking and exchange, and in 1867 embarked for America. In New York he ultimately became familiar with the business of a wholesale manufacturer and importer. In 1872 Mr. Flurscheim returned to his native city, and took a prominent part in the editing and publishing of the “American News,” issued for the benefit of Americans in Germany. In 1873 he purchased the now famous Gaggenau Iron Works, then carried on in a small establishment, employing only forty men, and from that lowly stage he developed the business till it became one of the largest and most renowned hardware manufactories in the Grand Duchy of Baden, employing over 1000 hands. After disposing of this large and valuable business, Mr. Flurscheim travelled through England and France, and finally, on account of his wife's health, settled in Switzerland, where he still possesses a beautiful estate on the banks of the world-renowned Lake of Lugano. Leaving Switzerland in 1896, Mr. Flurscheim visited England, with a view to inducing the inhabitants to form an exchange currency of their own, and thus form the nucleus of a money reform in England. Having successfully planted the germ of the scheme he advocated, Mr. Flurscheim left for New Zealand, and arrived on the 19th of February, 1898, at Wellington, where he immediately commenced his labours in connection with the Land Nationalisation and Currency Reforms. In the latter part of 1900 he removed to Auckland, where he temporarily resides, in an enviable spot in Arney Road, in the very respectable and highly favoured district of Remuera. As an addition to the many books which he has written, both in the English and German languages, the author of the well-known “Rent, Interest, and Wages,” and “Money Island, is now engaged in completing a work which he entitles “Clue to the Economic Labyrinth.”
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Mr. Laurence Johnstone,
              Managing Director of the Commercial Exchange Company, was appointed to his present position in June, 1900, as successor to Mr. Michael Flurscheim, the well-known and respected promoter of the improved currency system. During his brief term of office, Mr. Johnstone has done much, both by personal appeal and through the medium of terse and polished pamphlets, to bring home to the public mind, the great advantages which would accrue from the establishment of the mutual means of exchange he now advocates. Mr. Johnstone was born in 1871, in the Shetland Islands, where he resided for seven years, and then left for New Zealand accompanied by his father, who eventually entered the profession of school teaching in the provincial district of Wellington. In 1888 Mr. Laurence Johnstone entered the grocery trade, and after pursuing it with success for about ten years, he left it to establish a business as a wholesale seed merchant in Wellington. After having secured an extensive connection in the trade he had established, Mr. Johnstone became interested in the project of Commercial Exchange, and, desiring to help on a reform so advantageous to trade and the community, he sold his business and commenced work for the cause he long had wished to further.

            

              

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. L. Johnstone.]

Hanna, photo.
Mr. 
L. Johnstone.


            

          

          

            
            


              
The Auckland Farmers' Co-Operative Society, Limited,
              32 Grey Street, Auckland. Telephone 738. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Officers: Captain Mak Gill, president; Mr. S. A. Browne, secretary; and Mr. G. E. Thorley, manager. The capital of the Society is £1000, in £1 shares. In August, 1900, a number of eminent farmers, seeking to improve their position as tillers of the soil, and effect a long-needed improvement in the commercial position of producers and consumers, determined to bring to their aid the one thing needful to the public welfare—unity, or co-operation—and with this view formed what is now known as the Auckland Farmers' Co-operative Society, a body of producers and consumers who agree to buy and sell in a mart founded and maintained by their united powers. By this means they purpose regulating (within limits) the produce prices, and to become, as far as is possible or advantageous, their own masters. With such principles as the basis of its operations, the Society has experienced a well-deserved progress, and at the present time enjoys a very large membership.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. G. E. Thorley,
              Manager of the Auckland Farmers' Co-operative Society, Limited, has devoted many years to the study of the advantages which accrue from co-operation, and in the Auckland province has done much to open the eyes of producers and consumers to the great benefits which unity of operation can lead to. Mr. Thorley was born in 1870, at Bedford Leigh, Lancashire, England, and was educated there in the public schools. In Manchester he learned the business he is now pursuing, and was engaged there for eleven years in one of the leading co-operative societies. The experience and practical knowledge thus gained have been of inestimable benefit to him in connection with his present operations. Mr. Thorley is one of the directors of the New Zealand Commercial Exchange Company, Limited.
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                The Public Trust Department
              
              was formed by the Government in 1872 to act as an agent or attorney on behalf of trustees or private individuals, for the control and administration of their property. The Public Trustee may administer the estates of deceased persons; his administration is guaranteed by the State, and the funds are invested in Government or other safe securities. The charges made by this Department are practically nominal. District agents are appointed in the chief towns throughout the colony, and Mr E. F. Warren is the district agent at Auckland. This gentleman has offices in the Palmerston Buildings, Queen Street. An article on the Public Trust Department appears on page 644 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.
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Auckland Stock Exchange.
              This association is, so far as is known, the oldest institution of its kind in the Colony, having been founded in 1872. The building in Queen Street, known as the “Exchange,” was erected in 1870, and at the time a number of gentlemen, who were engaged in mining, agreed to take offices in it. In the course of a year or two, as the interest in the mining industry increased, and the public grew more eager to invest and speculate, it became apparent to prominent and trustworthy men, who acted as middlemen or brokers, that to guard against outside and irresponsible speculators, it would be to their advantage as well as that of the investing public to inaugurate an association on the principle of the London Stock Exchange, and publish, by means of bulletin boards and through the Press, a daily list of quotations. In pursuance of this object about twelve gentlemen formed themselves into an association, and drafted rules to govern its proceedings. At first they met in a small room at the back of what is now known as the rotunda. Amongst the earlier members were Messrs J. Friar Clarke, John Mowbray, Samuel Vickers, Alex. Saunders, Joseph Newman, J. M. Lennox, Hugh Campbell and Charles Alexander. The first presidency or chairmanship cannot be identified, as the original minutes and records have unfortunately been lost or destroyed. At the start the members merely paid a subscription fee, just sufficient to cover the ordinary current expenses of the association, and admitted or refused to admit candidates for membership, after the manner of a club. In the course of time, however, the Exchange grew in importance, and a membership or “seat” attained a definite value. The entrance fee was then made £25, and shortly afterwards £100, and as the public began to recognise the benefit derived from the institution, the price rose still higher, and now a “seat” on the Auckland Stock Exchange is worth £500. The association deserves credit for the care with which it has guarded its reputation. It has been in existence for over twenty-five years, yet its total membership at the present time is barely thirty; but the members are men of sterling integrity, and the investor can depend upon absolutely fair treatment in any dealings which he or she may have with any of the members. There are three “calls” every day: at 9.30 o'clock, 12 o'clock, and a quarter past three o'clock, and so soon as the list has been ratified, the quotations are prominently posted by the various members. In this way the public is made aware of the business that has been transacted, and of the prices offered by buyers and demanded by sellers. The present (1901) members are:—Messrs G. A. Buttle (chairman), Alfred Oldham (secretary), William Clarke, D. B. McDonald, Francis Hull, R. G. Mackey, John Mowbray, H. S. Ruddock, V. J. Larner, R. Frater, Aitken Carrick, James Reid, G. F. Brimblecombe, Charles Alexander, D. McLeod, Duncan E. Clerk, J. T. Armitage, L. A. Levy, W. A. Knight, F. H. Masfen, J. M. Lennox, R. E. Issacs, E. Anderson, W. H. O. Johnstone and W. Frater.
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Auckland Co-Operative Terminating Building Society,
              Union Bank Buildings, corner of Queen and Victoria Streets, Auckland. Board of Directors: Mr. A. J. Entrican, chairman; Mr. E. R. Jones, vice-chairman; and Messrs R. Walton, G. Rainey, W. Lambourne, J. J. Boak, J. F. Buddle, and T. Macky; with Mr. Robert Hood as secretary, and Mr. F. Wilson Smith solicitor. Bankers, the Bank of New South Wales. This society was established in March, 1897, and is incorporated under and in pursuance of “The Building Societies' Act, 1880.” Its objects are to raise, by the subscriptions of members, a fund for making advances to members, upon the security of freehold or leasehold property, by way of mortgage, to the extent allowed by law. The shares of the society are of the value of £200 each, and the number of shares is limited to 10,000; the fortnightly subscriptions are 2s per share. Shareholders are formed into ten groups, each group representing 1000 shares, and as often as the funds of a group justify an appropriation, one takes place; the appropriations are made by ballot and sale alternately. Six groups have been formed (1901), and are in satisfactory working order.
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New Zealand Mortgage, Loan, And Discount Bank,
              28 High Street, Auckland. This business was established by its present proprietor, Mr Lewis Moses, in 1882, and although it has several times been moved into fresh premises, it has always occupied offices in the same street.
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The Northern Estate Agency And Finance Company, Limited,
              Legal Chambers, 141 Queen Street, Auckland. The capital of this Company is £20,000, in 20,000 shares of £1 each. The institution was founded in 1898, for the purpose of advancing money on personal security, leasehold and freehold property, agricultural produce, stock, etc.
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Mr. James Jamison,
              the Manager, was formerly connected with the Bank of Australasia, but left that institution in 1897, and started sharebroking in Auckland. After the collapse of the mining boom, in 1898, he assisted in the formation of the Company, and was appointed its manager.
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The New Zealand Commercial Exchange Company,
              Limited, 32 Grey Street, Auckland. Capital, £5000, in shares of £1 each; Mr. Laurence Johnstone, managing director. This Company, which was established in Wellington in the latter part of 1898 by Mr. Michael Flurscheim, is an Association of farmers, manufacturers, traders, and workers, who agree to issue to themselves (through directors and committees appointed by themselves) exchange notes and cheques for the purpose of facilitating their trade with one another. The Commercial Exchange Bank will be formed by a nucleus of several thousand members, comprising all trades and industries, who will deal among themselves (within limits) by means of the “Exchange” cheques and notes, which are payable in any goods or services. The Exchange Bank will perform the following main functions:—(1) Issue exchange paper as required; (2) act as a clearing-house for members' transactions; (3) institute a credit department for the accommodation of members. The Bank may thus be regarded as the heart, and the circle of members as the body of the organisation. A member accepting Exchange paper will, in his turn, use it in the Exchange circle like any other money. He will, as the case may be, either pay therewith his butcher, baker, tailor, or others, or he will use it to pay his various purveyors of stock, material, country produce, and so forth, according to the nature of his business. Special encouragement will be given to local manufacturers and those working on co-operative lines. At the time of writing (June, 1901) there were about 1000 members in the New Zealand Commercial Exchange, and all that is now needed to make it a gigantic success is the hearty support of the people generally.
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Mr. Michael Flurscheim,
              the Promoter of an improved currency system, better known as the Commercial Exchange, has devoted considerable time, and a large sum of money, to the furtherance of the project, which will prove of great advantage among the trading and commercial section of the community. Both in England and on the Continent, Mr. Flurscheim has gained a wide experience of institutions of a somewhat similar character, and in the former country he was the propagator of a means of mutual exchange, which, in its development, is sure to afford the commercial facilities its pioneer had in view. As indicated by his name, Mr. Flurscheim is a native of Germany, and was born in 1844, at Frankfort-on-the-Maine. In literary circles he



has won wide renown and frank respect by the publication of several interesting and instructive works, all dealing in the main with his favourite subject—social reform. Leaving school at the age of sixteen, Mr. Flurscheim entered the well-known banking and exchange houso of his uncle, known as L. A. Hahn. There he remained for four years, and removed in 1864 to Berlin, where he was engaged in a similar capacity till the latter end of the same year, when he accepted a position in a stock-broking and exchange firm in Paris. Here he extended his experience of banking and exchange, and in 1867 embarked for America. In New York he ultimately became familiar with the business of a wholesale manufacturer and importer. In 1872 Mr. Flurscheim returned to his native city, and took a prominent part in the editing and publishing of the “American News,” issued for the benefit of Americans in Germany. In 1873 he purchased the now famous Gaggenau Iron Works, then carried on in a small establishment, employing only forty men, and from that lowly stage he developed the business till it became one of the largest and most renowned hardware manufactories in the Grand Duchy of Baden, employing over 1000 hands. After disposing of this large and valuable business, Mr. Flurscheim travelled through England and France, and finally, on account of his wife's health, settled in Switzerland, where he still possesses a beautiful estate on the banks of the world-renowned Lake of Lugano. Leaving Switzerland in 1896, Mr. Flurscheim visited England, with a view to inducing the inhabitants to form an exchange currency of their own, and thus form the nucleus of a money reform in England. Having successfully planted the germ of the scheme he advocated, Mr. Flurscheim left for New Zealand, and arrived on the 19th of February, 1898, at Wellington, where he immediately commenced his labours in connection with the Land Nationalisation and Currency Reforms. In the latter part of 1900 he removed to Auckland, where he temporarily resides, in an enviable spot in Arney Road, in the very respectable and highly favoured district of Remuera. As an addition to the many books which he has written, both in the English and German languages, the author of the well-known “Rent, Interest, and Wages,” and “Money Island, is now engaged in completing a work which he entitles “Clue to the Economic Labyrinth.”

            

              

[image: Mr. M. Flurscheim.]

Mr. 
M. Flurscheim.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Laurence Johnstone



            
            


              

Mr. Laurence Johnstone,
              Managing Director of the Commercial Exchange Company, was appointed to his present position in June, 1900, as successor to Mr. Michael Flurscheim, the well-known and respected promoter of the improved currency system. During his brief term of office, Mr. Johnstone has done much, both by personal appeal and through the medium of terse and polished pamphlets, to bring home to the public mind, the great advantages which would accrue from the establishment of the mutual means of exchange he now advocates. Mr. Johnstone was born in 1871, in the Shetland Islands, where he resided for seven years, and then left for New Zealand accompanied by his father, who eventually entered the profession of school teaching in the provincial district of Wellington. In 1888 Mr. Laurence Johnstone entered the grocery trade, and after pursuing it with success for about ten years, he left it to establish a business as a wholesale seed merchant in Wellington. After having secured an extensive connection in the trade he had established, Mr. Johnstone became interested in the project of Commercial Exchange, and, desiring to help on a reform so advantageous to trade and the community, he sold his business and commenced work for the cause he long had wished to further.
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The Auckland Farmers' Co-Operative Society, Limited,
              32 Grey Street, Auckland. Telephone 738. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Officers: Captain Mak Gill, president; Mr. S. A. Browne, secretary; and Mr. G. E. Thorley, manager. The capital of the Society is £1000, in £1 shares. In August, 1900, a number of eminent farmers, seeking to improve their position as tillers of the soil, and effect a long-needed improvement in the commercial position of producers and consumers, determined to bring to their aid the one thing needful to the public welfare—unity, or co-operation—and with this view formed what is now known as the Auckland Farmers' Co-operative Society, a body of producers and consumers who agree to buy and sell in a mart founded and maintained by their united powers. By this means they purpose regulating (within limits) the produce prices, and to become, as far as is possible or advantageous, their own masters. With such principles as the basis of its operations, the Society has experienced a well-deserved progress, and at the present time enjoys a very large membership.
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Mr. G. E. Thorley,
              Manager of the Auckland Farmers' Co-operative Society, Limited, has devoted many years to the study of the advantages which accrue from co-operation, and in the Auckland province has done much to open the eyes of producers and consumers to the great benefits which unity of operation can lead to. Mr. Thorley was born in 1870, at Bedford Leigh, Lancashire, England, and was educated there in the public schools. In Manchester he learned the business he is now pursuing, and was engaged there for eleven years in one of the leading co-operative societies. The experience and practical knowledge thus gained have been of inestimable benefit to him in connection with his present operations. Mr. Thorley is one of the directors of the New Zealand Commercial Exchange Company, Limited.
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Furnishing Trade.

          

            
Including—Billiard Table Manufacturers; Cabinet Makers and Upholsterers; Furniture Warehousemen; Undertakers.

          

          

            
            


              
Barton, Mcgill and Co.,
              Billiard and Bagatelle Table Manufacturers, 422, Upper Queen Street, Auckland. This flourishing business was established in 1893 by Messrs Barton and McGill and may be justly regarded as being an important industry. Messrs Barton, McGill and Co., make a point of using colonial woods in the manufacture of their tables, and find them answer most satisfactorily. The woods used in the construction are rimu, and totara, and they also import large quantities of Australian hardwood and cedarwood. Their slate comes direct from the quarries of Bangor in Wales, and is worked into shapes by themselves. The wood is kept in stock for at least three years before being used. Messrs Barton and McGill have a patent cushion of their own invention, for which exceptional advantages are claimed. They are the makers of the celebrated patent elevated billiard lever table, which is both cheap and ingenious. The composite dining and billiard tables are made in first-class style by the firm, which can be relied on to turn out really good work, as both partners are experts in their business. It was a table of their make that secured the gold medal at the last Auckland Exhibition, and it was on this table that the Australian champion made his unfinished break of 573. Mr. McGill learned his trade as a billiard-table maker in Melbourne. In the firm's patent table it is elevated by turning a handle, when the billiard table is found to be fitted up and ready for immediate use; when it is required as a dining table, all that has to be done is to turn back the handle. A large stock of sundries, billiard balls, etc., by the best makers is kept by the firm. Messrs Barton, McGill and Co. are rapidly making their way with the Auckland public, and they certainly deserve support.
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                George Bros.
              
              (W. H. George and J. R. George), Cabinetmakers and Upholsterers, Swanson Street, Auckland. This business is carried on in a two-storey brick building. The firm has made a name for itself by turning out a thoroughly good article, and having a complete up-to-date plant, it can execute high-class work in every branch. As a rule four hands are employed, but at busy times considerably more are kept going.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mr. W. H. George
              
              is a native of Auckland, and after receiving his education was apprenticed to Messrs T. and H. Cooke for five years. He was subsequently for about five years with Messrs Winks and Hall, with whom he gained further experience. In 1883 he commenced business in Shortland Street, in partnership with his brother, and two or three years ago the firm removed to its present address.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. J. R. George
              
              was born in Auckland, and was with Messrs Winks and Hall for nine years, at the end of which he left them to join his brother.

          

          

            
            

              

Little, Cornelius,
             
 Certificated Embalmer and Undertaker, Hobson Street, Auckland. Mr. Little is known throughout the provincial district of Auckland as the leading member of his trade, which has increased steadily ever since he commenced business in Hobson Street, in 1876. He is the only undertaker owning funeral plant in the city of Auckland, and has several hearses, mourning coaches, and sets of horses. Owing to his exertions in connection with the wreck of the “Walrarapa” in recovering and identifying the bodies of the ill-fated passengers, Mr. Little contracted a serious illness, from which he did not recover for some time. He was engaged by the General Government to bring to Auckland the body of the first officer of
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the s.s. “Hinemoa,” Mr. William Brown, who was drowned on the 2nd of June, 1899, whilst conveying stores to the workmen at the East Cape Lighthouse. Mr. Little is referred to elsewhere as an officer on the active reserved list of the New Zealand Volunteers.

          

          

            
            


              
Tonson Garlick Company, Ltd.,
              Cabinetmakers, Upholsterers, House and General Furnishers, Queen and Lorne Streets, Auckland. This extensive and flourishing business was established in 1876 by Mr. E. Holloway and the late Mr. J. Tonson Garlick. In the following year Mr. Robert Cranwell was taken into partnership, and the business was for about a year carried on under the style of Holloway, Garlick, and Cranwell. Mr. Holloway's interest was then purchased by his partners and his name was omitted, and for many years the firm of Garlick and Cranwell was one of the best known in the city. The business grew rapidly and the premises were several times increased in size. All the buildings between Queen Street and Lorne Street were appropriated, giving a frontage of 34 feet and a depth of 165 feet, with basement and upper stories. In course of time the large three-storey concrete building on the upper side of Lorne Street was erected and fitted with all the latest woodware machinery and other labour-saving appliances. This building alone contains 15,000 square feet of floorage, the frontage to Lorne Street being 100 feet. Elaborate and expensive catalogues with artistic illustrations have from time to time been issued, setting forth the many improvements and additions made since the preceding publication. In 1892 the late Mr. Garlick purchased the interest of his partner, and during the ensuing four years succeeded in doubling the returns of the business. This increase necessitating greater accommodation, Mr. Garlick purchased the adjoining premises, which for about thirty years previously had been the ironmongery store of Messrs J. and J. Dickey. The purchase of these premises and the alterations necessary to make the whole suitable to the business cost about £10,000, but Mr. Garlick was determined to have the finest display as well as the finest stock in the city, and neither expense nor trouble was spared to attain that object. This accomplished, a limited liability company was floated, with Mr. Garlick as managing director; but the smooth running of the business was for a time interrupted by a very disastrous fire which occurred on the 17th of September, 1897. The sympathy of the public with the company in this disaster was shown in the success of the great salvage sale, from which hundreds of persons were daily excluded. The restoration of the damaged premises occupied considerable time, but the concrete factory being untouched by the fire, no interruption in the manufacturing departments was occasioned, and with as little lost time as possible a complete reinstatement was accomplished. The carpets, linoleums and other floor coverings are all on the ground floor, and great facilities for inspection are provided. Furniture of all kinds made of the rich New Zealand woods, solid or veneered, is turned out in great quantities for drawing-rooms, dining-rooms, bedrooms, halls and offices, churches and public buildings. The manufacture of billiard tables is a branch recently added, and all the work in this department is carefully supervised by a thoroughly trained and experienced man. By means of a winding patent a combined billiard and dining-table has been most successfully devised. In the splendid new showroom for upholstered goods every variety of suites, occasional chairs and other articles is to be seen; and in the enlarged furnishing drapery show-room there are large assortments of curtains, table covers, muslins, sheetings, blankets, quilts, toilet-covers, tapestries, plushes, velvets, upholstering trimmings, Manchester goods, etc. Some idea of the immense stocks held by the firm may be gained from the fact that from 1000 to 1500 bedsteads are on hand. Woven-wire mattresses of every kind are manufactured on the premises.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Jonathan Tonson Garlick,
             
 who at the time of his death in 1898, was one of Auckland's best known men, was born in London in 1841, and was the son of Mr. Charles Garlick, draper, of Clapham. Mr. Garlick was educated in London, and arrived in Auckland in December, 1861. After a connection of some four years with the “Southern Cross” newspaper, during which time he rose to the position of manager of the financial department, Mr. Garlick entered into business on his own account as an accountant and sharebroker during the stirring times occasioned by the startling gold returns of the “Shotover,” “Caledonian,” “Golden Crown,” “Long Drive” and other mines. In this undertaking he was very successful, but the dulness of the mining interests in 1874 led him to turn his attention again to the calling which he had followed with his father in London. In conjunction with Mr. E. Holloway, Mr. Garlick purchased the branch drapery establishment of the firm of John Cosgrave and Co. Two years later Messrs Holloway and Garlick added the furniture branch to their already thriving business, and in 1877 Mr. Robert Cranwell, the well-known practical cabinetmaker, was taken into partnership. In the following year Mr. Garlick bought the senior partner's interest, and for three years thereafter, Messrs Garlick and Cranwell continued both branches. It was then, however, decided to relinquish the drapery branch in consequence of the very rapid growth of the furniture and furnishing business. In the drapery department alone, the turnover for three years averaged over twenty thousand pounds per annum; and yet the premises in which this large business had been conducted were soon insufficient for the ever-increasing furniture trade. As a business man, Mr. Garlick was energetic, attentive and enterprising to a very high degree. Prior to the removal of his private residence to Mount Albert he had been for several years a teacher in the Wellesley Street and Mount Eden Baptist Sunday Schools, and was for
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some time superintendent of the latter. At Mount Albert, there being no Baptist institution, Mr. Garlick held the position of superintendent of the Wesleyan Sunday School for a period of seventeen years. During his connection with the Baptist Church he filled many important offices, including that of deacon, and for several years prior to his death, he was the honorary treasurer of the Auckland Tabernacle, the New Zealand Baptist Union, and the Auckland District Home Mission Association. He was actively engaged as an executive committeeman on Mr Henry Varley's, Mr. Noble's, Mrs. Bayertz's, and Mr. Matthew Burnett's missions, and was one of the oldest members of the New Zealand Alliance. He was the originator and secretary of the Mount Albert branch of the Gospel Temperance Mission, and treasurer of the Auckland branch, and was also president of the latter for a period of five years. Of the Mount Albert Total Abstinence Society he was successively the originator, secretary, vice-president and president. He was president also of the Mount Albert Mutual Improvement and Literary Society, and of the Mount Albert Tennis Club. As a chess player he ranked among the prize winners of the senior division of the Mount Albert Club. He was at various times, member of the Point Chevalier school committee, secretary of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, director and chairman of the “Leader” newspaper, auditor of the Union Sash and Door Company, secretary to the Mount Albert Highway Board, a Master Mason in Lodge St. Andrew, treasurer of the Auckland District Gumdiggers' Mission, and of the Auckland branch of the Australasian Foreign Mission Society, etc., etc. In 1898 Mr. Garlick left the Colony on a visit to the Old Country, but contracted pneumonia and died quite suddenly, very deeply regretted by a large circle of friends and acquaintances. He was married in 1865 to the daughter of Mr John Houghton, a well-known Auckland resident, and left a widow, two daughters and three sons. All the sons are in the business of the Tonson Garlick Company, and two of them are married.
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Barton, Mcgill and Co.,
              Billiard and Bagatelle Table Manufacturers, 422, Upper Queen Street, Auckland. This flourishing business was established in 1893 by Messrs Barton and McGill and may be justly regarded as being an important industry. Messrs Barton, McGill and Co., make a point of using colonial woods in the manufacture of their tables, and find them answer most satisfactorily. The woods used in the construction are rimu, and totara, and they also import large quantities of Australian hardwood and cedarwood. Their slate comes direct from the quarries of Bangor in Wales, and is worked into shapes by themselves. The wood is kept in stock for at least three years before being used. Messrs Barton and McGill have a patent cushion of their own invention, for which exceptional advantages are claimed. They are the makers of the celebrated patent elevated billiard lever table, which is both cheap and ingenious. The composite dining and billiard tables are made in first-class style by the firm, which can be relied on to turn out really good work, as both partners are experts in their business. It was a table of their make that secured the gold medal at the last Auckland Exhibition, and it was on this table that the Australian champion made his unfinished break of 573. Mr. McGill learned his trade as a billiard-table maker in Melbourne. In the firm's patent table it is elevated by turning a handle, when the billiard table is found to be fitted up and ready for immediate use; when it is required as a dining table, all that has to be done is to turn back the handle. A large stock of sundries, billiard balls, etc., by the best makers is kept by the firm. Messrs Barton, McGill and Co. are rapidly making their way with the Auckland public, and they certainly deserve support.
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                George Bros.
              
              (W. H. George and J. R. George), Cabinetmakers and Upholsterers, Swanson Street, Auckland. This business is carried on in a two-storey brick building. The firm has made a name for itself by turning out a thoroughly good article, and having a complete up-to-date plant, it can execute high-class work in every branch. As a rule four hands are employed, but at busy times considerably more are kept going.
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                Mr. W. H. George
              
              is a native of Auckland, and after receiving his education was apprenticed to Messrs T. and H. Cooke for five years. He was subsequently for about five years with Messrs Winks and Hall, with whom he gained further experience. In 1883 he commenced business in Shortland Street, in partnership with his brother, and two or three years ago the firm removed to its present address.
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Mr. J. R. George
              
              was born in Auckland, and was with Messrs Winks and Hall for nine years, at the end of which he left them to join his brother.
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Little, Cornelius,
             
 Certificated Embalmer and Undertaker, Hobson Street, Auckland. Mr. Little is known throughout the provincial district of Auckland as the leading member of his trade, which has increased steadily ever since he commenced business in Hobson Street, in 1876. He is the only undertaker owning funeral plant in the city of Auckland, and has several hearses, mourning coaches, and sets of horses. Owing to his exertions in connection with the wreck of the “Walrarapa” in recovering and identifying the bodies of the ill-fated passengers, Mr. Little contracted a serious illness, from which he did not recover for some time. He was engaged by the General Government to bring to Auckland the body of the first officer of
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the s.s. “Hinemoa,” Mr. William Brown, who was drowned on the 2nd of June, 1899, whilst conveying stores to the workmen at the East Cape Lighthouse. Mr. Little is referred to elsewhere as an officer on the active reserved list of the New Zealand Volunteers.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Tonson Garlick Company, Ltd.



            
            


              
Tonson Garlick Company, Ltd.,
              Cabinetmakers, Upholsterers, House and General Furnishers, Queen and Lorne Streets, Auckland. This extensive and flourishing business was established in 1876 by Mr. E. Holloway and the late Mr. J. Tonson Garlick. In the following year Mr. Robert Cranwell was taken into partnership, and the business was for about a year carried on under the style of Holloway, Garlick, and Cranwell. Mr. Holloway's interest was then purchased by his partners and his name was omitted, and for many years the firm of Garlick and Cranwell was one of the best known in the city. The business grew rapidly and the premises were several times increased in size. All the buildings between Queen Street and Lorne Street were appropriated, giving a frontage of 34 feet and a depth of 165 feet, with basement and upper stories. In course of time the large three-storey concrete building on the upper side of Lorne Street was erected and fitted with all the latest woodware machinery and other labour-saving appliances. This building alone contains 15,000 square feet of floorage, the frontage to Lorne Street being 100 feet. Elaborate and expensive catalogues with artistic illustrations have from time to time been issued, setting forth the many improvements and additions made since the preceding publication. In 1892 the late Mr. Garlick purchased the interest of his partner, and during the ensuing four years succeeded in doubling the returns of the business. This increase necessitating greater accommodation, Mr. Garlick purchased the adjoining premises, which for about thirty years previously had been the ironmongery store of Messrs J. and J. Dickey. The purchase of these premises and the alterations necessary to make the whole suitable to the business cost about £10,000, but Mr. Garlick was determined to have the finest display as well as the finest stock in the city, and neither expense nor trouble was spared to attain that object. This accomplished, a limited liability company was floated, with Mr. Garlick as managing director; but the smooth running of the business was for a time interrupted by a very disastrous fire which occurred on the 17th of September, 1897. The sympathy of the public with the company in this disaster was shown in the success of the great salvage sale, from which hundreds of persons were daily excluded. The restoration of the damaged premises occupied considerable time, but the concrete factory being untouched by the fire, no interruption in the manufacturing departments was occasioned, and with as little lost time as possible a complete reinstatement was accomplished. The carpets, linoleums and other floor coverings are all on the ground floor, and great facilities for inspection are provided. Furniture of all kinds made of the rich New Zealand woods, solid or veneered, is turned out in great quantities for drawing-rooms, dining-rooms, bedrooms, halls and offices, churches and public buildings. The manufacture of billiard tables is a branch recently added, and all the work in this department is carefully supervised by a thoroughly trained and experienced man. By means of a winding patent a combined billiard and dining-table has been most successfully devised. In the splendid new showroom for upholstered goods every variety of suites, occasional chairs and other articles is to be seen; and in the enlarged furnishing drapery show-room there are large assortments of curtains, table covers, muslins, sheetings, blankets, quilts, toilet-covers, tapestries, plushes, velvets, upholstering trimmings, Manchester goods, etc. Some idea of the immense stocks held by the firm may be gained from the fact that from 1000 to 1500 bedsteads are on hand. Woven-wire mattresses of every kind are manufactured on the premises.
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Mr. Jonathan Tonson Garlick,
             
 who at the time of his death in 1898, was one of Auckland's best known men, was born in London in 1841, and was the son of Mr. Charles Garlick, draper, of Clapham. Mr. Garlick was educated in London, and arrived in Auckland in December, 1861. After a connection of some four years with the “Southern Cross” newspaper, during which time he rose to the position of manager of the financial department, Mr. Garlick entered into business on his own account as an accountant and sharebroker during the stirring times occasioned by the startling gold returns of the “Shotover,” “Caledonian,” “Golden Crown,” “Long Drive” and other mines. In this undertaking he was very successful, but the dulness of the mining interests in 1874 led him to turn his attention again to the calling which he had followed with his father in London. In conjunction with Mr. E. Holloway, Mr. Garlick purchased the branch drapery establishment of the firm of John Cosgrave and Co. Two years later Messrs Holloway and Garlick added the furniture branch to their already thriving business, and in 1877 Mr. Robert Cranwell, the well-known practical cabinetmaker, was taken into partnership. In the following year Mr. Garlick bought the senior partner's interest, and for three years thereafter, Messrs Garlick and Cranwell continued both branches. It was then, however, decided to relinquish the drapery branch in consequence of the very rapid growth of the furniture and furnishing business. In the drapery department alone, the turnover for three years averaged over twenty thousand pounds per annum; and yet the premises in which this large business had been conducted were soon insufficient for the ever-increasing furniture trade. As a business man, Mr. Garlick was energetic, attentive and enterprising to a very high degree. Prior to the removal of his private residence to Mount Albert he had been for several years a teacher in the Wellesley Street and Mount Eden Baptist Sunday Schools, and was for
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some time superintendent of the latter. At Mount Albert, there being no Baptist institution, Mr. Garlick held the position of superintendent of the Wesleyan Sunday School for a period of seventeen years. During his connection with the Baptist Church he filled many important offices, including that of deacon, and for several years prior to his death, he was the honorary treasurer of the Auckland Tabernacle, the New Zealand Baptist Union, and the Auckland District Home Mission Association. He was actively engaged as an executive committeeman on Mr Henry Varley's, Mr. Noble's, Mrs. Bayertz's, and Mr. Matthew Burnett's missions, and was one of the oldest members of the New Zealand Alliance. He was the originator and secretary of the Mount Albert branch of the Gospel Temperance Mission, and treasurer of the Auckland branch, and was also president of the latter for a period of five years. Of the Mount Albert Total Abstinence Society he was successively the originator, secretary, vice-president and president. He was president also of the Mount Albert Mutual Improvement and Literary Society, and of the Mount Albert Tennis Club. As a chess player he ranked among the prize winners of the senior division of the Mount Albert Club. He was at various times, member of the Point Chevalier school committee, secretary of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce, director and chairman of the “Leader” newspaper, auditor of the Union Sash and Door Company, secretary to the Mount Albert Highway Board, a Master Mason in Lodge St. Andrew, treasurer of the Auckland District Gumdiggers' Mission, and of the Auckland branch of the Australasian Foreign Mission Society, etc., etc. In 1898 Mr. Garlick left the Colony on a visit to the Old Country, but contracted pneumonia and died quite suddenly, very deeply regretted by a large circle of friends and acquaintances. He was married in 1865 to the daughter of Mr John Houghton, a well-known Auckland resident, and left a widow, two daughters and three sons. All the sons are in the business of the Tonson Garlick Company, and two of them are married.
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Hotels, Boardinghouses, Etc.

          

            
Including—Hotels, Boardinghouses and Private Hotels.

          

          

            
            

              

                Central Hotel
              
             
 (James Rolleston, proprietor), Victoria Street, Auckland. This house stands in the front rank of New Zealand hotels. Though it is in the heart of the city it is yet sufficiently removed from the bustle of Queen Street to have many of the most attractive characteristics of a private residence. It is a handsome three-storey brick building, and has a frontage with two entrances to Victoria Street, and another frontage with one entrance to High Street. Exclusive of the apartments of the servants, the Central Hotel has forty-four double and single bedrooms, but it is proposed to add another storey to the building to cope with the steadily increasing patronage which the house receives. When this is done guests will be conveyed in a lift to the upper stories. One of the distinctive features of the Central Hotel is its dining room, which comfortably accommodates upwards of eighty guests. In the daytime it is lighted by six large windows, and heavy chandeliers, with incandescent light, make it all brilliancy in the evening. The whole apartment is furnished with tete-a-tete or cafe tables, each of which accommodates from four to six persons. Good taste and good sense characterise the entire equipment and management of the hotel, where tourists, ravellers, and commercial men, as well as permanent guests with families, meet with every comfort and convenience. Electric bells and the incandescent light are used throughout the building, and each floor has its own lavatories, and bathrooms with hot, cold, and shower baths. The wines and spirits and the cookery at the “Central” are noted for their excellence. In the pantry, between the dining room and the kitchen, Mr. Rolleston has introduced
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improvements specially devised by himself to reduce the drawbacks which are generally associated with the conveyance of food from kitchens to dining-rooms. By spending a large sum of money he has fitted the pantry at the “Central” with a long oven, heated above and below with gas jets, so that the temperature can be regulated to a nicety. Then a tank filled with water, and placed above the upper tier of gas jets and the oven, is fitted with a surface frame, which has a number of different-sized holes for holding variously-shaped vessels or dishes, which rest in the hot or boiling water in the tank. By this means the perfect cookery at the Central Hotel is conveyed in a state of unimpaired perfection to the guests in the dining room.
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                Grosvenor Hotel
              
              (Alexander Schultze, proprietor), Hobson Street, Auckland. This commodious hotel, long known as the “Governor Browne,” was erected in 1888, on a site which commands unsurpassed views of the Auckland harbour and wharves. Since its establishment the hotel has been in various hands, but in none more capable than those of its present proprietor, who, since taking charge, has so completely renovated the entire building, that the hotel is now one of the most comfortable and attractive in the city. The house contains thirty rooms, including twenty bedrooms, a spacious and brilliantly lighted billiard room, a large dining room, two neatly arranged sitting rooms, and several smaller rooms, where the visitor can find privacy and quietude. Two fine pianos are kept on the premises, and the bathrooms are supplied with hot and cold water and showers. The management is excellent, and no pains are spared to make guests comfortable and to meet all their requirements.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Alexander Schultze,
              Proprietor of the Grosvenor Hotel, is a son of the late Mr. Henry Schultze, of Wellington, and was born in Forth Street, North Leith, Scotland, in 1844. He went to Australia with his parents in 1850, and after five years in Victoria came to New Zealand, landing in Wellington, where he followed various commercial pursuits till on going to Auckland, 1883, he took



over the Northcote Hotel, and afterwards conducted hotels in various parts of the Wellington province Mr. Schultze again left Wellington, intending to go to Sydney, but decided to remain in Auckland, where he had different hotels for a period of about ten years. Early in 1897 he went to Hikurangi and took over the hotel there, and in May, 1900, he became proprietor of the “Grosvenor.” Mr. Schultze was married in 1893, and has one son and two daughters.
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                Naval And Family Hotel
              
              (Robert Fawcett, proprietor), corner of Pitt Street and Karangahape Road, Auckland. The Naval and Family Hotel, as taken over by Mr. Fawcett in 1895, was a large wooden building. This, however, was destroyed by fire in 1897, when the present large brick establishment was built on the site.

          

          

            
            


              

                Royal Mail Hotel
              
              (Robert Scott, proprietor), Victoria Street, Auckland. This hotel is one of the most popular and best frequented in the city of Auckland. It offers excellent accommodation for visitors, and its cookery and liquors are of the best. In consequence of its popularity it was found necessary to increase the accommodation, and at present (June, 1901) an additional storey over the entire building is in process of construction, and is to be surmounted by an imposing tower. The main entrance, 20 feet wide, is to be under a spacious balcony, and when the additions are completed, the “Royal Mail” will rank among the leading hotels of the North Island. It will contain sixty-five well-ventilated bedrooms (exclusive of those used by the family), twelve beautifully-furnished sitting rooms, piano and smoking rooms, and twelve hot and cold water bathrooms, tiled throughout. The commercial room is being specially fitted up and adapted for the use of commercial travellers; and this room is always provided with all the latest periodicals and a good collection of standard and other works. There is also a large, well-appointed billiard room, and excellent sample rooms for commercial travellers. Besides the public bar there are two private bars, and these have been considerably improved since Mr. Scott became proprietor, and are comfortable, taste-fully-furnished apartments. The hotel will be lighted throughout with electric light, and it is well provided with fire escapes. By arrangements made with two livery stables, guests of the hotel can be provided with vehicles and horses at any moment. A night porter is always in attendance, and an express from the hotel meets all boats and trains. Mr. Scott is assisted in his business by Mrs Scott, who is very popular.
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Mr. Robert Scott,
              Proprietor of the Royal Mail Hotel, was born near the town of Omagh, County Tyrone, Ireland, where he received his early education. At the age of fourteen he was placed in a large mercantile house in Dublin, where he remained until the term of his apprenticeship expired. He was then appointed buyer for the firm, and his transactions were conducted principally in London. In 1878 he decided to leave the Old Country for New Zealand, and shortly after his arrival here was engaged by one of the largest mercantile firms in the Colony. In 1888 he went to Sydney, and followed a mercantile life there and in Melbourne for about three years, but returned to New Zealand in



1891 as the representative of five of the largest manufacturing firms in Great Britain. His business necessitated his travelling throughout the Colony, and during the four years he retained the position he formed a large circle of acquaintances and personal friends. In 1895, he retired from commercial life, and took over the Royal Mail Hotel, which he has spared neither trouble nor expense to make a popular house. That he has been successful in every way is proved by the many complimentary letters he has received from his patrons, and also by the fact that the “Royal Mail” has the reputation of never losing a customer.
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                Thames Hotel
              
              (Mrs E. Luks, proprietress), Queen Street, Auckland. Mrs Luks is the widow of ex-Councillor Luks, of whom a notice appears on another page. She was born in Liverpool, educated at Knowsley, and emigrated to Melbourne by the ship “Atalanta,” about 1860. Prior to her marriage to Mr. Luks at Castlemaine, Victoria, in 1863, she managed a store on the goldfields, and she afterwards kept stores at Macrae's Flat, Otago, and at Tokatea, Coromandel, besides being associated with her husband in the management of the White Horse Hotel, Hokitika, the Court House Hotel, Thames, and the Victoria Hotel, Auckland.
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                  Frogmore House
                
               
 (Mrs. G. Carter, proprietress), Lower Symonds Street, opposite Choral Hall, Auckland. Telephone 714.
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Frogmore House stands on one of the best sites in the city of Auckland. It is within a few minutes' walk of the post office, quite close to Government House, Albert Park, the Supreme Court, and the University College, and is served by 'buses from town at frequent intervals. It would, therefore, be difficult to improve upon the situation of “Frogmore,” while in all other respects it is also a first-class establishment, of solid brick-work throughout; with spacious halls, cheerful dining-rooms (comfortably accommodating thirty guests), large and lofty bedrooms, splendid bathroom and lavatory accommodation, verandah and balcony. The house is pre-eminently an inviting place of residence, and visitors to Auckland are fortunate if they happen to hit a time when there are vacancies at “Frogmore.” Mrs. Carter personally superintends all the household arrangements. The terms, while sufficiently high to ensure a comfortable and elegant home to boarders, are by no moans prohibitive, and the best testimonial in favour of “Frogmore” is this—that those who have been there once take care to go again.
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                  “Glenalvon,”
                
                Private Hotel, Symonds Street, Auckland, is one of the finest establishments of its kind in Auckland, and is admirably adapted for a first-class private residence for families, ladies, and gentlemen. There are thirty most comfortably-furnished rooms; everything has been done to make the house complete in every detail, and the comfort of the visitors is the first consideration. Situated in the centre of the city, and distant only ten minutes' walk from the Post Office, “Glenalvon” is, nevertheless, surrounded by six acres of private grounds, comprising fruit and flower gardens, fernery, tennis lawn and native shrubbery, always full of charm, and furnishing, in summer, a cool retreat. Being hidden from the street by a belt of trees, it combines all the advantages of a retired country residence with the conveniences of a central city establishment. The views from the house, especially of the harbour, are very fine. To all in search of high class accommodation, “Glenalvon” recommends itself. It is an ideal spot for ladies, for whom the extensive grounds constitute a great attraction. The cars and 'buses for the suburbs pass the entrance gates every few minutes.
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                  “Sonoma,”
                
                Alfred Street, off Princes Street, Auckland. This is one of the most comfortable and conveniently-situated boarding-houses in Auckland. It commands a most enchanting view of the Waitemata harbour, and of the Government House grounds. As it is within a few minutes' walk of Queen Street, and is situated in one of the healthiest and most fashionable parts of the city, “Sonoma” has naturally gained for itself a name which is thoroughly justified by its management and environment. The house contains twenty bedrooms, some of which open out to a wide balcony, whence the guests obtain views which add in no small degree to the attractiveness of the place. “Sonoma” also has a large dining-room, a drawing-room, and a lounge and smoking-room, all fitted up and arranged with the comfort and refinement which characterise the whole establishment.
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                Central Hotel
              
             
 (James Rolleston, proprietor), Victoria Street, Auckland. This house stands in the front rank of New Zealand hotels. Though it is in the heart of the city it is yet sufficiently removed from the bustle of Queen Street to have many of the most attractive characteristics of a private residence. It is a handsome three-storey brick building, and has a frontage with two entrances to Victoria Street, and another frontage with one entrance to High Street. Exclusive of the apartments of the servants, the Central Hotel has forty-four double and single bedrooms, but it is proposed to add another storey to the building to cope with the steadily increasing patronage which the house receives. When this is done guests will be conveyed in a lift to the upper stories. One of the distinctive features of the Central Hotel is its dining room, which comfortably accommodates upwards of eighty guests. In the daytime it is lighted by six large windows, and heavy chandeliers, with incandescent light, make it all brilliancy in the evening. The whole apartment is furnished with tete-a-tete or cafe tables, each of which accommodates from four to six persons. Good taste and good sense characterise the entire equipment and management of the hotel, where tourists, ravellers, and commercial men, as well as permanent guests with families, meet with every comfort and convenience. Electric bells and the incandescent light are used throughout the building, and each floor has its own lavatories, and bathrooms with hot, cold, and shower baths. The wines and spirits and the cookery at the “Central” are noted for their excellence. In the pantry, between the dining room and the kitchen, Mr. Rolleston has introduced
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improvements specially devised by himself to reduce the drawbacks which are generally associated with the conveyance of food from kitchens to dining-rooms. By spending a large sum of money he has fitted the pantry at the “Central” with a long oven, heated above and below with gas jets, so that the temperature can be regulated to a nicety. Then a tank filled with water, and placed above the upper tier of gas jets and the oven, is fitted with a surface frame, which has a number of different-sized holes for holding variously-shaped vessels or dishes, which rest in the hot or boiling water in the tank. By this means the perfect cookery at the Central Hotel is conveyed in a state of unimpaired perfection to the guests in the dining room.
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                Grosvenor Hotel
              
              (Alexander Schultze, proprietor), Hobson Street, Auckland. This commodious hotel, long known as the “Governor Browne,” was erected in 1888, on a site which commands unsurpassed views of the Auckland harbour and wharves. Since its establishment the hotel has been in various hands, but in none more capable than those of its present proprietor, who, since taking charge, has so completely renovated the entire building, that the hotel is now one of the most comfortable and attractive in the city. The house contains thirty rooms, including twenty bedrooms, a spacious and brilliantly lighted billiard room, a large dining room, two neatly arranged sitting rooms, and several smaller rooms, where the visitor can find privacy and quietude. Two fine pianos are kept on the premises, and the bathrooms are supplied with hot and cold water and showers. The management is excellent, and no pains are spared to make guests comfortable and to meet all their requirements.
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Mr. Alexander Schultze,
              Proprietor of the Grosvenor Hotel, is a son of the late Mr. Henry Schultze, of Wellington, and was born in Forth Street, North Leith, Scotland, in 1844. He went to Australia with his parents in 1850, and after five years in Victoria came to New Zealand, landing in Wellington, where he followed various commercial pursuits till on going to Auckland, 1883, he took



over the Northcote Hotel, and afterwards conducted hotels in various parts of the Wellington province Mr. Schultze again left Wellington, intending to go to Sydney, but decided to remain in Auckland, where he had different hotels for a period of about ten years. Early in 1897 he went to Hikurangi and took over the hotel there, and in May, 1900, he became proprietor of the “Grosvenor.” Mr. Schultze was married in 1893, and has one son and two daughters.
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                Naval And Family Hotel
              
              (Robert Fawcett, proprietor), corner of Pitt Street and Karangahape Road, Auckland. The Naval and Family Hotel, as taken over by Mr. Fawcett in 1895, was a large wooden building. This, however, was destroyed by fire in 1897, when the present large brick establishment was built on the site.
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                Royal Mail Hotel
              
              (Robert Scott, proprietor), Victoria Street, Auckland. This hotel is one of the most popular and best frequented in the city of Auckland. It offers excellent accommodation for visitors, and its cookery and liquors are of the best. In consequence of its popularity it was found necessary to increase the accommodation, and at present (June, 1901) an additional storey over the entire building is in process of construction, and is to be surmounted by an imposing tower. The main entrance, 20 feet wide, is to be under a spacious balcony, and when the additions are completed, the “Royal Mail” will rank among the leading hotels of the North Island. It will contain sixty-five well-ventilated bedrooms (exclusive of those used by the family), twelve beautifully-furnished sitting rooms, piano and smoking rooms, and twelve hot and cold water bathrooms, tiled throughout. The commercial room is being specially fitted up and adapted for the use of commercial travellers; and this room is always provided with all the latest periodicals and a good collection of standard and other works. There is also a large, well-appointed billiard room, and excellent sample rooms for commercial travellers. Besides the public bar there are two private bars, and these have been considerably improved since Mr. Scott became proprietor, and are comfortable, taste-fully-furnished apartments. The hotel will be lighted throughout with electric light, and it is well provided with fire escapes. By arrangements made with two livery stables, guests of the hotel can be provided with vehicles and horses at any moment. A night porter is always in attendance, and an express from the hotel meets all boats and trains. Mr. Scott is assisted in his business by Mrs Scott, who is very popular.
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The Entrance Hall, Royal Mail Hotel.
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Mr. R. Scott's Royal Mail Hotel, As It Appeared Prior to The Alterations.
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Mr. Robert Scott,
              Proprietor of the Royal Mail Hotel, was born near the town of Omagh, County Tyrone, Ireland, where he received his early education. At the age of fourteen he was placed in a large mercantile house in Dublin, where he remained until the term of his apprenticeship expired. He was then appointed buyer for the firm, and his transactions were conducted principally in London. In 1878 he decided to leave the Old Country for New Zealand, and shortly after his arrival here was engaged by one of the largest mercantile firms in the Colony. In 1888 he went to Sydney, and followed a mercantile life there and in Melbourne for about three years, but returned to New Zealand in



1891 as the representative of five of the largest manufacturing firms in Great Britain. His business necessitated his travelling throughout the Colony, and during the four years he retained the position he formed a large circle of acquaintances and personal friends. In 1895, he retired from commercial life, and took over the Royal Mail Hotel, which he has spared neither trouble nor expense to make a popular house. That he has been successful in every way is proved by the many complimentary letters he has received from his patrons, and also by the fact that the “Royal Mail” has the reputation of never losing a customer.
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Afternoon Tea Room, Royal Mail Hotel.
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                Thames Hotel
              
              (Mrs E. Luks, proprietress), Queen Street, Auckland. Mrs Luks is the widow of ex-Councillor Luks, of whom a notice appears on another page. She was born in Liverpool, educated at Knowsley, and emigrated to Melbourne by the ship “Atalanta,” about 1860. Prior to her marriage to Mr. Luks at Castlemaine, Victoria, in 1863, she managed a store on the goldfields, and she afterwards kept stores at Macrae's Flat, Otago, and at Tokatea, Coromandel, besides being associated with her husband in the management of the White Horse Hotel, Hokitika, the Court House Hotel, Thames, and the Victoria Hotel, Auckland.
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Mrs. E. Luks.
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                  Frogmore House
                
               
 (Mrs. G. Carter, proprietress), Lower Symonds Street, opposite Choral Hall, Auckland. Telephone 714.


[image: Frogmore House.]

Frogmore House.





Frogmore House stands on one of the best sites in the city of Auckland. It is within a few minutes' walk of the post office, quite close to Government House, Albert Park, the Supreme Court, and the University College, and is served by 'buses from town at frequent intervals. It would, therefore, be difficult to improve upon the situation of “Frogmore,” while in all other respects it is also a first-class establishment, of solid brick-work throughout; with spacious halls, cheerful dining-rooms (comfortably accommodating thirty guests), large and lofty bedrooms, splendid bathroom and lavatory accommodation, verandah and balcony. The house is pre-eminently an inviting place of residence, and visitors to Auckland are fortunate if they happen to hit a time when there are vacancies at “Frogmore.” Mrs. Carter personally superintends all the household arrangements. The terms, while sufficiently high to ensure a comfortable and elegant home to boarders, are by no moans prohibitive, and the best testimonial in favour of “Frogmore” is this—that those who have been there once take care to go again.
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Dining-Room, Frogmore House.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  “Glenalvon,”
                
                Private Hotel, Symonds Street, Auckland, is one of the finest establishments of its kind in Auckland, and is admirably adapted for a first-class private residence for families, ladies, and gentlemen. There are thirty most comfortably-furnished rooms; everything has been done to make the house complete in every detail, and the comfort of the visitors is the first consideration. Situated in the centre of the city, and distant only ten minutes' walk from the Post Office, “Glenalvon” is, nevertheless, surrounded by six acres of private grounds, comprising fruit and flower gardens, fernery, tennis lawn and native shrubbery, always full of charm, and furnishing, in summer, a cool retreat. Being hidden from the street by a belt of trees, it combines all the advantages of a retired country residence with the conveniences of a central city establishment. The views from the house, especially of the harbour, are very fine. To all in search of high class accommodation, “Glenalvon” recommends itself. It is an ideal spot for ladies, for whom the extensive grounds constitute a great attraction. The cars and 'buses for the suburbs pass the entrance gates every few minutes.
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“
Glenalvon,” the Property OF Mrs. Scherff.
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View from Glenalvon.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  “Sonoma,”
                
                Alfred Street, off Princes Street, Auckland. This is one of the most comfortable and conveniently-situated boarding-houses in Auckland. It commands a most enchanting view of the Waitemata harbour, and of the Government House grounds. As it is within a few minutes' walk of Queen Street, and is situated in one of the healthiest and most fashionable parts of the city, “Sonoma” has naturally gained for itself a name which is thoroughly justified by its management and environment. The house contains twenty bedrooms, some of which open out to a wide balcony, whence the guests obtain views which add in no small degree to the attractiveness of the place. “Sonoma” also has a large dining-room, a drawing-room, and a lounge and smoking-room, all fitted up and arranged with the comfort and refinement which characterise the whole establishment.

              

                

[image: A Portion of “Sonoma” Dining-Room.]
A 
Portion of “Sonoma” Dining-Room.
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                Bach, T., and Co.
              
              (T. Bach and R. Poulgrain), Boilermakers, Vulcan Ironworks, Albert Street, Auckland. The founders and present proprietors of the Vulcan Ironworks are Messrs T. Bach and R. Poulgrain. Business was first started in 1889, in Hobson Street, and the varied and splendid experiences which Mr. Bach had had in Birmingham, and the insight which both partners had obtained whilst occupying important positions in Messrs Fraser and Tinne's well-known foundry, enabled them almost at once to advance, and win for their works a reputation for first-class workmanship. Trade expanded so rapidly that Messrs Bach and Co. were obliged to obtain more commodious premises in Albert Street, where they are at present established. Workshops were then erected, and every convenience provided to cope with the ever extending connection. The main work and erecting shop is 50 feet by 38 feet, and contains the most modern machinery adapted for the heavy class of ironwork undertaken by the firm. Other shops also adjoin, where the same activity prevails—a busy staff giving blow for blow on the ringing iron. The recent mining boom in Auckland, disappointing as it was to the community as a whole, had one good effect in showing the people the resources possessed by the local engineers and ironfounders. Work of an extremely complicated character was executed on the goldfields, with promptitude and at reasonable prices. In this work, which redounded so much to the credit of the foundries, Messrs Bach and Co. participated. For the Whangamata Gold Corporation they manufactured its immense iron piping, and there is scarcely a large mining company for which they have not done jobs requiring skill and ingenuity. They manufactured the cyanide vats for the New Zealand Talisman Gold Mining Company, and several Government contracts for making iron trucks have been carried out by them with complete satisfaction to the engineer in charge. With Messrs Bach and Co. the manufacture of iron girders is a specialty, and the well-built D.S.C. warehouse and the Great Northern Company's brewery tower were “girdered” by them. In shipping repair work they are well to the fore. Frequently their staff is engaged night and day in effecting repairs to the Union Steamship Company's steamers, and a considerable portion of the iron fittings made locally for the Company's steamers is supplied from the Vulcan Ironworks. Every class of boiler-manufacturing is undertaken by Messrs Bach and Co., and they have done much in this department of the iron industry to render New Zealand independent of the Old Country and Australia. The firm keeps in constant employment upwards of thirty competent workmen.
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Mr. T. Bach
              
              is a native of Birmingham, England, and learned his trade in his father's workshops. Father and son came out to New land under engagement to the Government, to put together several steamers to be used on the Waikato. This was during the troublous times of the Maori wars. Mr. Bach then joined Messrs Fraser and Tinne's foundry, in which he rose to the position of foreman. He is a Freemason, and a member of the Auckland Industrial Association. Captain Daldy and Mr. Bach bought the wreck of the “Orpheus” in 1863. Mr. Bach is married, and has a family of two sons, who are working in the foundry.
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Mr. R. Poulgrain,
              who is a native of Cornwall, served his time in the works of Messrs Fraser and Tinne, and it was while he and Mr. Bach were employed there that they originated the idea of commencing operations on their own account.
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Broady, J. and 
Co.
              (John Broady, Charles Allan, and Alfred Martin), Wrought Iron Stove and Range Manufacturers, Plate Iron Workers and Locksmiths, Durham and Albert Streets, Auckland. Telephone 782. These extensive works were originally opened by Mr. John Broady in 1886 in rather a small way, but they




have progressed so satisfactorily that the firm is now recognised as a leading one of its kind in Auckland. Owing to the extension of the business Mr. Broady took Mr. Allan and Mr. Martin into partnership in 1892. Mr. Allan had been employed in the business almost from its foundation. Since the entry of the new partners the firm's progress has been so marked that fifteen men are now constantly employed in executing orders. Three furnaces are kept always going, and the machinery is of the newest and most improved design. The firm's wrought-iron stoves are well-known through-out the North Island, and are famous for their strength, design, and durability. Many of the largest hotels in the Auckland province have had their ranges supplied from the firm, and hey gave the utmost satisfaction. The Northern Steamship Company has for years used the firm's cooking ranges in its numerous steamers. The Grand Hotel at Rotorua has one of these ranges. This particular range is over 8 feet long, and possesses all the latest improvements; it also supplies hot water throughout the hotel. It is one of the firm's large ranges which is in use at the famous eating-house at Parihaka. Fire-proof iron safes are also specialties of this energetic firm; they are equal to the best imported safes; they vary in size from the largest to the smallest, and stand the strongest fire tests. The firm received the gold medal for its exhibits at the Auckland Industrial Exhibition of 1897, and has been most successful in obtaining awards at the various provincial agricultural shows.
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Mr. John Broady,
              the Senior Partner, is a native of Cheshire, England, where he learned the iron trade. On arriving in New Zealand in 1879, he entered the employment of Mr. D. Hyauiason, range manufacturer, with whom he remained for seven years. He then started his present business, which at first employed only himself and a boy; but Mr. Broady determined to succeed, and the business as it now flourishes is a tribute to his energy and that of the firm.

            

              

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. J. Broady.]

Hanna, photo.
Mr. 
J. Broady.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Charles Allan



            
            


              

                
Mr. Charles Allan
              
              is a native of Warwickshire, England, and accompanied his parents to New Zealand when he was a boy. He served his apprenticeship with Mr. H. H. Smith, then a well-known range manufacturer, but since retired from business. On completing his apprenticeship Mr. Allan entered the service of Mr. Broady, who had then been established about six months. In recognition of Mr. Allan's merit and abilit, Mr. Broady took him as partner in 1892, and his services have been of the most material advantage to the firm. Mr. Allan has taken a great interest in outdoor sports, and was for a number of years a member of the Auckland Athletic Club. He is also a prominent member of the Oddfellows, and Past Grand Master of the Good Intent Lodge, Manchester Unity.
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Mr. Alfred Martin
              
              is a native of Cambridgeshire, England, and learned his business with the old-established firm of Mr. Alexander Mackintosh, of Cambridge. He arrived in Auckland in 1881, and entered the service of Mr. Reuben Nicholls, the well-known range manufacturer of Upper Queen Street, Auckland. After working with several other colonial firms he entered into partnership with Messrs Broady and Allan, in 1892, and has helped to raiso the firm to its present prosperity.
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Chambers, John And Son,
             
Limited
, Engineers and Importers, Fort and Gore Streets, Auckland. Telephones 675 and 698, P.O. Box 323. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Branches at Dunedin and New Plymouth. Messrs John Chambers and Son, Limited, keep at their warehouses an exceptionally large and complete stock of machinery, specialties, engineers' requisites, and of mining, dredging and general machinery. Large engineering works have been undertaken and carried out by the firm. The fine battery and plant of the Barrier Reefs, Limited, was supplied by the firm in 1900. It erected in 1897 the plant of the Kathleen Gold Mine, at a cost of £8000, and the Success and Four-in-Hand Gold Mining Companies have been similarly equipped at a cost of £13,000. Large dairying machinery has been erected by the firm in various parts of the provincial district of Auckland; indeed, the firm makes a specialty of this branch of its business. The firm's well-merited success has been achieved solely by perseverance and integrity. The firm has been in existence since 1892, and is recognised as one of the leading and most progressive firms in New Zealand, with a name respected from Auckland to the Bluff. The expansion of the business was so great that, in 1899, it was formed into a limited company, under the title of John Chambers and Son, Limited, with Mr. John Chambers as chairman, Messrs J. M. Chambers and Seymour Thorne George, directors, and Mr. W. Stanley Cooper, secretary. The company has the sole agencies in New Zealand for Tangye's Ltd. (which employs 1600 hands), Asham Brothers and Wilson, Sheffield, for Bell's Asbestos Company, Limited, London, and Babcock and Wilcox's Water Tube Boilers, etc. The specialties of the firm are requisites and machinery for mines, waterworks, dairies and creameries. It not only keeps considerable stocks, but regularly receives the Sydney and Melbourne stock sheets of Tangye's, Ltd., and can secure any machine required at the shortest notice. The firm completed and erected the pumping plant for the Devonport Borough Council's waterworks, and it constantly has contracts in hand for the erection of dairies, engines, chaff-cutting plant, etc. It is in a position to enter into contracts for the supply of machinery of every description, and will undertake to erect and complete it in any part of the colony, and hand it over in good going order. The firm has a competent staff of men to undertake engine-fitting and all kinds of machine work. Its offices and warehouse are at the corner of
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Fort Street and Gore Street; the buildings are of brick and four stories in height, and the total floorage space is 32,400 square feet. The business of the firm extends over the whole colony, and, besides employing travellers, the partners themselves occasionally make business trips through the country towns and districts.
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Mr. John Chambers
              
              came to the colony in 1864, and became a partner in the firm of Messrs E. Porter and Co., ironmongers. In 1887 he withdrew from that partnership to take the managing directorship of Messrs T. and S. Morrin and Co., Limited. When that firm was reconstructed, he retired from the directorship, and he and his son then founded the present business. Mr. Chambers has been closely associated with the advancement of Auckland, and especially with the gold-mining industry. He is attorney for the Waihi Grand Junction Gold Mining Company, and managing director for the Tui Gold Mining Company at Te Aroha.
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Mr. J. M. Chambers
              
              came, when an infant, to New Zealand with his parents. His education began in New Zealand, and was completed in England, where he served his time in the celebrated engineering works of Messrs Tangye, where he qualified as an engineer. On coming back to New Zealand he brought out the Askham-Molloy and Parkes process of extracting gold from refractory ore, and erected plants at the Thames and Karangahake, and for the New Zealand Red Hill Gold Mining Company at Collingwood. He then returned to England to study more closely various other branches of his profession, and re-entered the employment of the Messrs Tangye. The knowledge and experience thus gained by him have been valuable factors in the success of the firm of John Chambers and Son, Limited.
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                Collings, C. And A.
              
              (Charles Collings and Arthur Collings), Iron and Brassfounders, Russell Street, Archhill, Auckland. Telephone 696. This business, although situated some distance from the centre of the city, is very extensive, and most up-to-date in all its appointments. The two main buildings are recent erections of corrugated iron of two stories and one storey respectively, and are lighted with electricity, generated by a powerful dynamo, the motive power being a 13 B.P. gas engine. The firm makes a specialty of cast and wrought iron tomb railings, verandah posts, and palisading, of 
which there are about 100 most artistic patterns to select from, the firm having one of the largest and most varied stocks in New Zealand. All descriptions of castings are made, including builders' iron work. The superiority of the firm's work is well recognised, as it has supplied the New Zealand Government for the past eight years with the cast iron work required on the Auckland railway sections. The tomb railings manufactured by the firm are to be seen in the principal cemeteries of New Zealand and all over the colony, the firm having a well-deserved reputation for good workmanship.
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Messrs C. And A. Collings' Foundry.
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Mr. Charles Collings,
              Junior, the Senior Partner, was born in 1857, at Wolverhampton, Staffordshire, England, and served his apprenticeship as a moulder, with Messrs T. and C. Clark, the well-known hardware manufacturers. After the completion of his apprenticeship Mr. Collings came in 1883 to Auckland, where he worked in several foundries. He was subsequently, for two years, in Sydney, where he was employed in the Atlas. Iron Works. On returning to New Zealand, in 1890, he started the present business in a small way, and with determination, energy, and industry, he has advanced it to its present state of prosperity. Mr. Collings has recently returned from a twelve months' visit to England, and has brought back with him the latest and most up-to-date designs obtainable.
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Mr. Arthur Collings
              
              was born in 1869, at Wolverhampton, Staffordshire, England, and came out to New Zealand with his parents in 1883. He served his apprenticeship as a moulder with Messrs Fraser and Sons, the well-known firm of engineers and ironfounders, whom he left on the expiration of his indentures, and joined his brother in the present business. Mr. Collings is well known as a very capable workman.
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Fraser, George And Sons,
             
Limited (George Fraser), Engineers, Boiler Makers, Iron and Brass Founders, etc., Auckland. Head office and branch foundry, corner of Albert Street and Customs Street West (opposite the Custom House); principal works, Stanley Street. Messrs George Fraser and Sons possess one of the largest industrial establishments in the Colony. The foundry in Stanloy Street covers nearly two acres of land, and in busy seasons about one hundred hands are employed. The business was established in the early days, and the firm soon acquired a widespread reputation; indeed, few industrial firms have been better known to the public than that of Fraser and Tinne. Many of the largest contracts executed in the Colony have been creditably carried out by Messrs Fraser and Sons, to whom nothing comes amiss. The machine shop is 132 feet in length, and contains a lathe, about 25 feet long, and an extra large one for turning anything up to 8 feet in diameter or three tons in weight. Planing, drilling, nibbing, and many other machines occupy the room, and tramways are laid down in all directions to facilitate the moving of the heavy weights. The largest planing machine will take in a piece of iron 10 feet long by 4 feet wide and high In the blacksmith's shop there are two steam hammers, besides, of course, all the ordinary appliances. In the moulding room there are three cupolas, and a single casting of six tons in weight can be made without difficulty. Messrs Fraser and Sons do a very large shipping trade, and many of the articles made at their works are of enormous weight. The erecting shop is fitted with a ten-ton crane, and other weight-lifting appliances. At the smaller foundry in Customs Street, a great deal of the lighter work is done, especially for the shipping, to which it is so very handy. Mr. G. Fraser, senior, having withdrawn from the firm, the whole of the works are now under the management of Mr. G. Fraser, junior, who is ably assisted by his brothers.
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Messrs G. Fraser & Sons' Head Office and Branch Foundry.
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Messrs G. Fraser & Sons' Principal Works.
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Mr. George Fraser,
              Managing Partner, is the eldest son of Mr. George Fraser, so long the head of the firm, and was born at Matakana, Auckland, in 1855. On completing his education, he was apprenticed to engineering with Messrs G. Fraser and Sons, and was in their employment for some eighteen years, working his way up from apprentice to the position of manager of the works. In 1890 he visited Sydney, and was engaged by the Mort's Dock and Engineering Company, as manager of outdoor work and naval repairs. In 1896 he received the appointment of Engineer to the Waitekauri Gold Mining Company. He is a member of the Engineers' Association of New South Wales.
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Mr. George Fraser,
              the Founder of the firm, had been a prominent Aucklander for over a third of a century, was born in Aberdeenshire, Scotland, in 1832. Educated in his native town, the qualified as a mechanical engineer, and when twenty years of age went to Glasgow to gain further experience. Two years later he came to Auckland in the barque “Cornubia,” in order to take the position of sub-manager of a flax mill at Matakana. This, however, lasted but two years, and 1856 found Mr. Fraser back in Auckland, working at his trade. For about five years he was engineer at Messrs. Thornton. Smith and Firth's flour mill, but was destined soon to enter upon a larger sphere of usefulness. Old Aucklanders remember with pride how rapidly the foundry in Mechanic's Bay developed into a huge concern, the names of Messrs. Fraser and Tinne becoming familiar to all classes. Since Mr. Tinne's retirement Mr. Fraser has conducted the business with the aid of his sons, and the successes which have been achieved in the flax industry are due in a large measure to Mr. Fraser's inventions. As a member of the Harbour Board, to which he was elected in 1884. Mr. Fraser did good service, but he was unable to continue long in the position as it was inconsistent with his connection with the Board in the capacity of contractor. During his term of office the graving dock question was discussed and settled, but in direct opposition to his views. He was in favour of a much larger dock, and the site of the present railway wharf was the position recommended by him. It is now fairly generally admitted that Mr. Fraser's suggestions merited more consideration than they received. Mr. Fraser is a Mason of many years' standing, and has been a member of the committee of the Auckland Technical School since its formation. Mrs. Fraser is a daughter of the late Mr. Alexander Davidson, of Glasgow, and their family consists of three daughters and seven sons. [As this sheet is going to press news comes of Mr. Fraser's death at Auckland on July 29, 1901.]
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Handley, Charles,
              Stove and Range Manufacturer and Locksmith, Elliot Street, Auckland. This business was founded in 1897. Mr. Handley has already acquired a name for his excellent workmanship, and has a very extensive connection throughout the whole of the Auckland provincial district. His cooking ranges, manufactured of wrought iron, and with steel tops, are highly prized for their endurance by all who use them, and for the ease with which they can be kept in order. Mr. Handley also supplies ships and steamers with cooking ranges, and many vessels trading to Auckland are supplied from his workshops. Four hands are kept constantly employed, and Mr. Handley fully expects that he will need a large number later on owing to the increasing prosperity of his business. The motive power employed in the workshop is supplied by a three and a-half horse power Otto gas engine. Two forges are kept constantly in use, and all the requistie machinery is of the newest and latest design. Mr. Handley was born in Auckland, and served his apprenticeship with Mr. H. H. Smith, then a well-known range manufacturer, but now out of business. He remained in the employment of Mr. Smith for nine years and a half, and then, in order to obtain a more extensive knowledge of the various branches of the iron trade, he served for two years at Mr. Parker's galvanised iron works. He was afterwards for eight years in the service of Mr. Hyauiason, range-maker, and for eight months with Messrs Broady and Co., whom he left to start his present business. Mr Handley's reputation as a thoroughly practical mechanic is well known and acknowledged in Auckland.
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Harvey And Sons,
              (Alexander Harvey), Tinsmiths and Dairy Utensil Manufacturers, Albert Street, Auckland. Mr. Harvey was born in Kilmarnock, Scotland, in 1841; went to Manchester, where he was in business for twenty years; came to New Zealand in 1884, and started business in Auckland in 1886. Having imported the most up-to-date machinery Mr. Harvey was able to supply all kinds of cans for preserving fruit, butter, etc. He has always been an importer of his own material, and now carries on business under the name of Harvey and Sons. Mr. Harvey's goods are well-known in the Auckland province, and the success of his business speaks for itself; all his goods give the greatest satisfaction for workmanship and durability.
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Henderson, Frank and Co.,
              Limited, Engineers, Manufacturers of Gas, Oil, and Marine Oil Engines, Oil and Gas Winches, Stamping and Hydraulic Presses, Dynamos, and Motors, Customs Street West, Auckland. Managing Director, Mr Frank Henderson; secretary, Mr William Murray. This firm's workshops have a frontage to Customs Street West, and extend to the Waitemata harbour at the back, where engines can be most conveniently fitted into the steam launches. The shops are furnished with machinery, specially manufactured in England to the order of the company. It comprises pattern workers' machinery, large lathes, drilling and slotting machines, planing and shaping machines, and is driven by a powerful gas engine manufactured by the firm. Oil and gas engines are designed and manufactured, and the firm's reputation for this class of work is such that considerable difficulty is experienced in carrying out its numerous orders. The firm supplies designs and estimates for any style of steam launch engines.
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Mr. Frank Henderson,
              Managing Director, was born in Staffordshire, England, and learned his profession as an engineer with one of the leading engineers in Manchester. After completing his apprenticeship he entered business as a consulting engineer and gas and oil engine specialist, but came to New Zealand in 1894, owing to a breakdown in his health. Mr. Henderson's business occupies a leading place amongst engineering firms in New Zealand.
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Hyauiason, David,
              Practical Locksmith and Range Maker, Durham Street, Auckland. Mr. Hyauiason established his business in 1871. He commenced in a small way, but has pursued a steady course, and his premises are now the scene of much activity.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

McCoskrie And Son



            
            


              
McCoskrie And Son,
              Engineers, Boilermakers, Iron and Brass Founders, Importers of Motor Cars, Motor Cycles, and all descriptions of Electrical Machinery, Chapel Street, Auckland. The firm of Messrs McCos-krie and Son has been in existence since 1885, but the business was first established by Mr. Samuel McCoskrie, in 1877. The premises, which have since been largely added to, were then on the present site, in Chapel Street. Originally the buildings were of wood, but in 1885, just after the completion of the Victoria Arcade, a large brick building was erected for offices and for the housing of new and improved machinery. The present premises have a frontage of 125 feet on Chapel Street, and a depth of 110 feet. Roughly speaking, there are five distinct departments —namely, fitting and erecting rooms, the main machine room, the pattern store, the smithy and the moulding room. The machinery in the main machine room and fitting shop includes seven lathes, five drilling machines, one planing machine, a shaping machine, key-seating machine, and three screwing machines for bolts and pipes. It is run by an eight horse-power engine; but the shop is also equipped with improved tools for hand work. To the novice the ease with which the iron and brass is turned, almost as though it were of wood, is especially interesting. The moulds in the moulding room consist of black sand, and the shape is formed by placing a wooden pattern in the sand and building around it. After the pattern is removed the molten metal is poured in and a cast taken from it. The room contains a huge casting pit, ten feet deep, for making hydraulic cylinders for 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible], so arranged that the cast can be made on end. Casting of all kinds of light and fancy work in iron and brass is turned out, as well as heavier work. There is a Root's blower in connection with the three furnaces, which are capable of casting up to three tons and a half, and in another portion of this department there is a large stove for drying the “cores” of pipes. When a cylinder or pipe is to be cast a mass of sand is hard-baked in the shape and size necessary for the hollow; this is called the “core,” and the cast is moulded around it. A large travelling crane is provided for the moving of the heavier casts. The patterns for the moulds are first drawn by a skilful engineer, and then taken to the pattern department, where models in wood are made from the drawings. The utmost care must be taken that the models are exact and true in every particular, as any deviation from the proportions given in the drawing would result in the cast proving a failure, and thus time, money, and material would be lost. It therefore follows that the carpentering work done here is of a delicate and mathematically correct type. The smithy is equipped with anvils, furnaces, forges, etc., etc., and with a huge steam hammer. Here the heavier work is done, including the completion of the various parts of the machinery turned out by the firm, which does a large business in stationary and machine engines, sawmill machinery, millwright and agricultural machinery, land and marine boilers, and makes a specialty of hydraulic machinery for lifts, etc. More than half the lifts in Auckland have been made and erected by Messrs McCoskrie and Son. In addition to the manufacturing business, a great deal of repairing is done to every variety of machinery and improved agricultural implements. The business has grown to be a very extensive one, and orders come from all parts of the colony. The manufacture of bolts, screws, and nuts forms no inconsiderable feature of the trade, and fancy brasswork is also a big item. Messrs McCoskrie and Son give continuous employment to twenty-six hands, but it is often found necessary when there is a rush of business to increase the number. The firm is one of the oldest in Auckland.
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Mr. Samuel Mccoskrie,
              the Founder of the business, was born in the north of Ireland, where he learned his trade. He arrived in Dunedin in 1863, but removed to Auckland in search of a milder climate, and accepted an engagement to take charge of a large foundry in the city. A year or two later he went to the Waikato district, where he worked for the Government for some time, principally at his trade on the steamers. After about a year and a half he returned to Auckland, and took up his former position, where he remained until 1877, when he started his present business. Although taking no active part in political life, Mr. McCoskrie has always been keenly interested in municipal and colonial affairs, and has given his aid in many a hardly-fought election. He is a thoroughly practical man, and is conversant with every detail of his trade.
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Mr. John Mccoskrie
              
              was a youth when he came with his father to New Zealand, and



was educated in the colony. He commenced learning his trade in a local foundry, and completed his knowledge of the business under his father. In 1885 he was admitted to the firm.
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Masefield, T. T. and Co.,
              Ironworkers, Ironfounders, and Engineers, Albert Street, Auckland. Telephone 341. This large business was established in 1862 by Mr. Masefield. The premises occupy nearly an acre of ground, and are replete with all the necessary machinery and fittings. The principal manufactures are marine and stationary engines, of all classes; machinery for sawmills, brick mills, and flax mills; and pipe fittings for waterworks. Dredging machinery can also be turned out, and castings up to six tons weight. Mr. Masefied is a member of the Auckland City Council.
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Nicholls, Reuben,
              Manufacturer of the celebrated and Unbreakable Steel-Top Cooking Ranges, 424-426-428 Queen Street, Auckland. Established in 1873. Telephone 497. This business was the first of its kind established north of Wellington. It is carried on in commodious premises, and in the welllighted show-room stoves and ranges bearing the Nicholls patent “Orb” brand are shown in great variety and profusion. Between fifteen and twenty persons, more or less, are employed in manufacturing and repairing, and the proprietor also keeps in stock large numbers of cast iron stoves of the newest pattern, manufactured at their foundry, Lorne Street, Auckland, by his two sons, under the title of Nicholls Brothers, patentees and manufacturers of Nicholls's patent Orb Cooking Range. Mr. Reuben Nicholls was born in Derbyshire, England, and is a son of Mr. Joseph Nicholls, of the Thames. The whole family came to New Zealand in September, 1863, by the ship “Tyburnia,” the first ship quarantined in Auckland. After some experience of military service during the troubles with the Maoris, Mr. Nicholls was employed with Mr. Hutton, engineer, etc., and also with Messrs White and Moody, engineers, Auckland. Shortly afterwards he removed to the Coromandel goldfields, and was employed at the Kapanga gold mine and battery, and at the Golden Crown at the Thames. After many vicissitudes common to gold mine speculators, he was successful in some of his ventures, and returned to Auckland in 1873, and started his present business at the corner of Alexandra Street. Mr. Nicholls carried out a contract for the ironwork on the Waikato railway bridges, and was occupied in this work for two years. He removed to his present premises in 1889. Mr. Nicholls has not been able to take any very active part in public affairs, but he is a prominent member of a number of institutions and associations.
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Phillips, Henry,
              Farrier and Black-smith, West Street, Auckland. Private residence, Paget Street, Ponsonby. Mr. Phillips established his business in 1879, and his shop occupies a convenient situation adjacent to the Karangahape Road. He has secured a good shoeing trade, and his work in that connection can be relied upon to give every satisfaction. Mr. Phillips is referred to elsewhere as secretary of the Auckland Master Ironworkers and Farriers' Association.
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Seagar Bros.
             
 (William, Charles, George, and Henry Seagar), Engineers, Boilermakers, Iron and Brass Founders, General Smith Workers; Manufacturers of Cyanide Percolating Vats, Wrought Iron Water Pipes, and Fluming, Steel Steam Launches of guaranteed speed; Designers and Makers of Steel Yachts, Ventilators, Tanks, Girders and Plate Iron workers, Hobson Street Wharf, Auckland. Telephone 583; Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. P.O. Box 513. This extensive business was established in 1866 by the late Mr. William Seagar, a gentleman well-known in the colony as having been at the head of his profession. He was succeeded by his four sons, the present proprietors, who, by their ability and energy, have made their foundry one of the foremost in the colony. The premises, which consist of a large block of iron buildings, are situated at Hobson Street Wharf, adjoining the Auckland Graving Dock. The site is most convenient for shipping purposes, and vessels of large tonnage can be loaded at all states of the tide. The foundry is fitted up with furnaces, and the newest and most complete machinery. Large hydraulic plants, both stationary and portable, have been fitted up at great expense for the manufacture of boilers and dredges. There are also punching machines, angle iron-cutting machines, and sets of plate-bending rollers, for pipe and boiler work. The whole plant is one of the most complete in the colony. Large numbers of men are constantly employed by the firm. Since cyanide has been introduced in the extraction of geld on the Upper Thames goldfields, all the large cyanide plants employed there, and miles of fluming and water pipes have been manufactured by Seagar Bros., whose work has invariably given the utmost satisfaction. Numerous mining batteries and gold crushing plants bear the firm's well-known name throughout the whole Hauraki Peninsula, and show the extent of its operations, and the superiority of its workmanship. Messrs Seagar Bros. are large manufacturers of gold dredges, and orders are being constantly received by the firm from the West Coast and other centres of the dredging industry in the South Island; in December, 1900, three were under construction for various companies. Marine repairing is a large and important branch of the firm's business, and such is the despatch used that little delay is caused to shipowners after they give their orders. Electric light of great power is used all over
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and throughout the premises, and thus, when necessary, work is effectively carried on by night as well as day. Latterly the building of steel yachts has been added to the firm's extensive business, and such yachts manufactured by it have attained a high reputation for superiority of workmanship and speed. The “[
unclear: H]
uia” and “Thetis,” well-known race-winners, testify to the firm's success in that line. Every branch of iron and brass work is carried on by Messrs Seagar Bros., whose highclass work is recognised throughout New Zealand, and whose well-merited success is due to their own energy and undoubted professional skill.
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Messrs William, Charles, George, And Henry Seagar,
              Members of the firm, are sons of the late Mr. William Seagar, who personally gave them their professional training. Their success proves that the father was a thorough teacher, and the sons diligent pupils.
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Mr. William Seagar,
              father of Messrs Seagar Brothers, Engineers, Auckland, was born at Portsmouth, England, in 1831. At the age of fifteen he was apprenticed to the SouthWestern Company, Engineers and Ironship Builders, Southampton. He remained in that employment for nine years, when he received an appointment with the Great Eastern Railway Company, and held it for several years. His ability as an engineer was so well recognised that he was requested to take charge of the contract for building the celebrated Albert Bridge at Saltash, Cornwall. Larger bridges have since then been constructed, but the Albert Bridge is still a monument to Mr. Seagar's skill. Mr. Seagar was afterwards engaged in several large ship-building and other contracts. In 1864, at the request of his brother, Mr. Charles Seagar, so well-known in Wellington, he came to New Zealand, accompanied by his family; and after remaining in Wellington for a few years, where he established a boiler-making factory, he removed to the Thames goldfields, where he started boiler-making. He was the first to establish that business at the Thames, where he remained for twelve years. Mr. Seagar then removed to Auckland, where he founded the extensive business now so successfully carried on by his sons.
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                Steuart And Fenn
              
              (W. Steuart and E J. Fenn), Electrical Engineers, Fort Street, Auckland, and Dowling Street, Dunedin. This business was started in Auckland in 1900 by Mr. Fenn, who had previously the management of the electrical department of Messrs John Chambers and Son. He took over the electrical business of that firm and entered into partnership with Mr. Steuart, who superintended the Auckland branch of the business, while Mr. Fenn took charge of the Dunedin branch. The firm contracts for every description of electrical work, power transmission, electrical tramways, and lighting. A large stock of electrical machinery is kept on hand, and a number of experienced workmen are employed in various parts of the colony on the important contracts undertaken by the firm. Several lighting contracts have recently been most satisfactorily completed. The Barrier Reefs Gold Mining Company, several gold mining dredges on the West Coast of the South Island, the Waitara Freezing Works, and Fuller's Theatre, Dunedin, have been supplied by Messrs Steuart and Fenn with machinery for electric light.
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Mr. W. Steuart,
              son of Mr. F. J. Steuart, of Hawera, of the well-known firm of Steuart and Corrigan, auctioneers, was born in Hawera. He was educated at Wanganui College, and afterwards studied at the Central Technical College, London, where he obtained the diploma for physics and electrical engineering. He went to Germany, and there made a thorough study of the electrical treatment of ores. On his return to England he entered the works of Messrs J. H. Holmes and Co., electrical engineers, manufacturers, and contractors, of Newcastle-on-Tyne, and in that firm gained a most thorough knowledge of his profession. On his return to New Zealand Mr. Steuart accepted the management of the Stratford Electrical Supply Company, and superintended the whole of its works. On leaving Stratford he came to Auckland, where he and his partner started their present business. In the beginning of 1901, Messrs Steuart and Fenn, in competition with other New Zealand firms, and with two of the largest firms in England and America, obtained the Government contract for lighting the Seacliff Lunatic Asylum, which will have about 1500 lamps. Mr. Steuart is an associate of the Institution of Electrical Engineers, and of the City Guilds of the London Institute.
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Mr. Ernest James Fenn,
              was born at Fletching, Sussex, England, in 1868, educated at Dover College and Borden School, Kent, and studied for his profession at Hanover Square College, London. He held positions with several English electrical engineering firms, was engineer to the Birmingham Exhibition of 1889, came to New Zealand in 1892, under engagement to the Gulcher Company of Wellington, and remained with it for two years. In 1894 he removed to Auckland, and established the electrical engineering business of Messrs John Chambers and Sons, of Fort Street, Auckland, and now has entire charge of the firm's electrical department. Mr. Fenn has lighted with electricity the “New Zealand Herald” office, the Auckland Freezing Company's works, Craig's brick works, and the Waihi, Crown, Waitekauri, Woodstock, Komata Reefs, Moanataiari and Talisman batteries, including in the last case, the transmission of power. He also supervised the lighting by electricity of the s.s. “Waimarie” and “Tani-wha,” the Auckland Exhibition of 1896, the new battery at Waikino for the Waihi Company, and the lighting of the power house and main chambers in the Crown mine.
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Tudehope, Robert,
              Plumber and Gasfitter, Wellesley Street West, Auckland. Private residence, Franklin Road. This business was established in 1875 in Grey Street, but removed to Upper Queen Street in the following year. In 1884, Mr. Tudehope transferred his business to the premises in Wellesley Street West, on a Corporation leasehold, where he has a two-storey brick front, containing a shop and office on the ground floor, and a store-room on the upper storey. Behind this building there is a large workshop of one storey. Mr. Tudehope is elsewhere referred to as a member of the City Council.
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Wilson, Walter,
              General Smith, Albert Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1893. Mr. Wilson, who is a practical tradesman and thoroughly understands mining, agricultural, and builders' iron-work, has had extensive business relations with the various ironmongers in Auckland, and has done the necessary ironwork for several bridges, the extension of the wharf at Paeroa, additions to Auckland hospital, for the pumping station and engine-room of the Devonport water-works, and for several large buildings in and around Auckland. Mr. Wilson was born in Auckland in 1872, is a son of Mr. A. Wilson, tailor, of Auckland, and has followed his own trade since leaving school. He was for two and a half years in the employment of the Kauri Timber Company, and afterwards with Mr. W. A. Reid for two years. He was for three years with Mr. Dickenson, and then established his present business, Mr. Wilson is a member of the Ancient Order of Druids, and is associated with the New Zealand Natives' Association.
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Ironmongers and Hardware Merchants.

            
Including—Cycle Importers and Manufacturers, Ironmongers and Hardware Merchants, Sewing and other Machine Importers.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Anderson, H. F., and Co.



            
            


              
Anderson, H. F., and Co.,
              Ship Chandlers, etc., 36 Queen Street, Auckland. This firm was originally founded by Messrs Lillewall and Rattray, about 1845, and was acquired by Captain Hugh Falconer Anderson in 1870. The business premises consist of three stories built of brick, and are well furnished with stock suitable for the requirements of the shipping trade. Captain Anderson has been identified with the welfare and progress of Auckland since 1854, and was at one time one of the largest shipowners in the city. He took a conspicuously active part in connection with the early work of the Auckland Harbour Board, and in initiating and establishing the Northern Steamship Company, the services of which have been of such signal benefit to the people of Auckland and the settlers in the northern districts. He was born at Aberdeen, Scotland, on the 10th of April, 1829, and is the eldest son of the late Captain James Anderson, one of the oldest steamship masters trading out of the north of Scotland. He served his apprenticeship with the well-known firm of Messrs Duthie and Co., shipchandlers and owners. After being engaged in the Australian coastal service, and on the Victorian goldfields, Captain Anderson came to Auckland in 1854 by the brigantine “Gazelle,” commanded by Captain Murdoch McKenzie.
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Briscoe and Co., Ltd.,
              Wholesale Ironmongers and Iron Merchants, Customs Street and Beach Road, Auckland. Telephone 636, Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. This firm, now occupying one of the most magnificent and spacious establishments which adorns the city of Auckland, was founded in Wolverhampton, England, over a century ago. There the well-conducted and healthy business rapidly grew, and, determining to apply the ability and the principles which had been so clearly maniteated in the prosperity of the parent firm, to new fields, the directors established a branch in Jamaica, in the West Indies. This remained the only offshoot till the fifties, when the finding of gold in the colony of Victoria, and the large immigration there, induced the firm to establish in Melbourne a branch, which is now the main centre of its colonial representative branches. In 1863 a branch was opened in Dunedin, under the management of the late Mr. Hugh Macneil, the firm there being known as Messrs Arthur Briscoe and Co. Soon after the opening of the Dunedin firm, a branch was established in Sydney, New South Wales, which of late years has been under the management of Mr. Hugh Macneil, junior. The Wellington branch was established in 1890, under Mr. Gellatly, who for some years had been assistant manager in Melbourne. In 1899 the Company opened its youngest branch in temporary premises in Commerce Street, Auckland, where its extensive business was carried on under considerable disadvantage till the erection of the huge four-storey brick building, which, commanding a well-chosen site, on the corner of Customs and Gore Streets, ranks amongst the best in the city. For the storage of the immense quantity of heavy goods always kept in stock, the Company erected a commodious brick building on Beach Road, about a mile from the main establishment. Taking into consideration the comparatively recent establishment of this branch, its present healthy condition certainly mdicates that the Auckland firm will enjoy the same marked success which has distinguished its ancient mother and older sisters.
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Mr. John Macneil,
              the well-known and respected Manager of the Auckland branch of the firm of Briscoe and Co., was born in Perthshire, Scotland, and apprenticed to the ironmongery trade, to the study of which he has devoted his life. Prior to leaving for the colonies in 1865, Mr. Macneil took up a position in Glasgow, where he somewhat extended his experience. He arrived in New Zealand in the latter half of 1865, and took up the position of chief assistant in the Dunedin branch of the firm, which he now represents in Auckland. Mr. Macneil remained in that position for ten years, when he entered into partnership with Messrs Edmond and Forsyth, of Dunedin, the firm being known as Edmond, Forsyth, and Macneil. After the dissolution of partnership in 1882, Mr. Macneil represented the firm of Briscoe and Co. in Wellington until 1899, when he was appointed to his present responsible position.
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Burns, John and Co.,
              Hardware and General Merchants, corner of Customs and Commerce Streets, Auckland; iron store, Mechanics' Bay; London House, Brown, Douglas and Co., 24 Fenchurch Street, E.C. This large colonial business was founded in 1882, as Wingate, Burns and Co., and since 1890, when Mr. Wingate retired, has been conducted under the style of John Burns and Co. The business is chiefly wholesale; and amongst its special lines it has carriage ware, and also mining machinery from the Union Ironworks Co., of San Francisco. The firm exports flax



extensively to London, New York, and even to Asia, and is also an exporter of kauri timber, gum, wool, and general produce. Besides the four-storey brick building at the corner of Customs and Commerce Streets, the firm has a large iron building at Mechanics' Bay, where it has an extensive stock of iron and bulk goods. Mr. Burns, the managing partner, is elsewhere referred as Consul for Belgium at Auckland.
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                Dexter And Crozier
              
              (Reuben Arthur Dexter and David Crozier), Cycle Importers, Victoria Street, Auckland. This well-known firm was founded in 1896. The business premises contain a large show-room, with offices at the front, and behind there is a large repairing shop, with lathes, a forge, and brazing and enamelling plant. Messrs Dexter and Crozier deal in “Rambler” cycles as a special line. These well-known machines are manufactured by Messrs Gormully and Jeffery, of Chicago, one of the oldest cycle manufacturing firms in the United States of America. The object of the manufacturers has been to turn out the very best bicycles, and they claim to have succeeded in this important aim. Messrs Dexter and Crozier do a large business in these well-known machines, which are deservedly popular amongst cyclists.
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Lambourne, Walter,
              Ironmonger and House Furnisher, Three Lamps, Ponsonby. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Lambourne was born in Newton. Auckland, on the 21st of March, 1863, and is the third son of Mr. Frederick Lambourne, of Newton, the well-known proprietor of the local hardware establishment. He was educated at the public schools, apprenticed for five years to Messrs Cousins and Atkin, coachbuilders, and remained with that firm for eighteen months as a journeyman. He took his late brother's position at the Newton establishment and remained there seven years, until 1890, when he commenced business on his own account at the Three Lamps. Since then the premises have been enlarged several times and they are now seven times the original size. The trade extends to Mongonui in the north, and to Hawera and Gisborne in the south, and Mr. Lambourne is in a position to furnish any house throughout. He is a director of the Auckland Co-operative Terminating Building Society, an Oddfellow (American Constitution), and a past secretary of the Baptist Sunday school. Mr. Lambourne also takes a great interest in cycling and yachting. He married Miss Audelia S. Dewar, daughter of Mr. Alexander Dewar, mining expert, by whom he has one son.
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Porter, E. and Co.,
              Wholesale and Retail Ironmongers, Hardware Merchants, and Importers, Etc., Queen Street, Auckland. The oldest-established firm of ironmongers in Auckland is that of E. Porter and Co. It was originally founded by Mr. Edward Porter, who now resides in London, some years before 1871, when it was taken over by Mr. Alfred Porter, son of Mr. Edward Porter, Mr. James Hardie, ana Mr. John Chambers, now of John Chambers and Son, Limited. At a later period, Mr. Chambers retired, leaving in partnership Messrs Alfred Porter and James Hardie. The growth of E. Porter and Co. from a small beginning to a firm with premises extending from Queen Street in High Street, and also with large stores in High Street, O'Connell Street, and William Street, is indicative of high business qualities in those who have guided the firm to a leading position in the mercantile world of New Zealand. In addition to the firm's retail shop in Queen Street, it has also branches in Upper Symonds Street and Newton, where large stocks are kept to supply the firm's suburban customers.
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Reynolds, E. and Co.,
              Importers of Bicycles, Athletic Goods, Etc., Victoria Street East, Auckland. This firm started business in a small way in Auckland in 1895, and has rapidly worked up to the front rank of cycle importers in New Zealand, branches of the house being now established throughout the whole colony. As sole New Zealand agent for Rudge Whitworth, Ltd., Coventry, England, and Black Manufacturing Co., Pennsylvania, America, the firm is able to supply the wants of all classes of riders, and the names of “Rudge Whitworth” and “Tribune” are now household words throughout New Zealand. Other lines handled by the firm are Wolverine, gasoline, stationary and marine motor engines; cricket, football, athletic goods, Whitely exercisers, etc. The workshop in connection with the bicycle business in Auckland employs a large staff in repairing, renewing, and building bicycles, etc.
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Mr. E. Reynolds,
              Principal of the firm, is well-known to the trade throughout the



colony, and his name is always coupled with the well-known “Rudge Whitworth” and “Tribune” bicycles. For some years he was champion cyclist of the colony, and in 1895 represented New Zealand in Australia, where he won the five mile amateur championship. During the last few years he has done very little racing, and retired from the track early in 1900. Mr. Reynolds is always pleased to welcome any visiting cyclists to Auckland and to attend to any of their wants.
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Thompson Bros.
             , and Co. (Alfred Thompson and W. A. Thompson), Sewing Machine Experts and Importers, 287 Queen Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1892, and has made rapid strides. The firm has a good country connection, and sends goods as far as the Islands. It makes a leading line of its own sewing machine, which is named the “Thompson,” and is manufactured specially for the firm. A large stock of gocarts, perambulators, and bicycles is also kept. Mr. A. Thompson is elsewhere referred to as secretary of the Ponsonby Cruising Club.
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White, Wilton J.,
              Cycle Expert, Auckland. Mr. White has had an extensive experience in connection with cycles of all kinds. He was formerly manager for the Viking Wheel Company, which carried on business at 290, Queen Street, Auckland, and he is now (1901) traveller for the Canada Cycle and Motor Company, for which Mr. W. Service, cycle importer, is the Auckland agent.
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                Auckland Steam Laundry
              
              (John Steer, proprietor), Ligar Place, Grafton Road, Auckland. Telephone 743. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This successful laundry was established fourteen years ago by Mr. Steer, and has from a small beginning worked its way to a foremost position in the city. The premises are large and lofty, and recent extensive alterations have made the laundry in every respect up to date. A delivery van and two carts are kept fully occupied, and drying-rooms and a boiler-room have been erected on account of the increased work thrown on Mr. Steer's hands. Originally there were three drying-rooms, each with a capacity of 150 shirts, and also a large packing-room. The laundry is well looked after by Mrs. Steer, who had a thoroughly practical training in the Home Country.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. John Steer
              
              was born in Sussex, in 1833, joined the army at an early age, and received his education in the regiment. He was on active service during the Indian Mutiny, took part in several of the leading battles and sieges, and holds a good conduct medal. After he was discharged from the army, he followed various occupations till 1884, when he decided to try life in New Zealand, and on settling in Auckland he established his laundry, which, with the alterations which he has carried out, is now one of the best appointed in the province of Auckland. Besides his large hotel trade, which includes the Grand Hotel, etc., Mr. Steer holds a special appointment from his Excellency the Governor.
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Wigg, Thomas,
              Auckland Steam Laundry, Upper Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 733. Private residence, Upper Queen Street. This business, which was established by the present proprietor in 1881, grew to such an extent that Mr. Wigg found it necessary to extend his premises, and some time ago he made alterations, which transformed the laundry into one of the best in Auckland. The machinery is of the latest type, and includes hydraulic washer, ironing machine, centrifugal wringer, etc. At first the motive power was supplied by a gas engine, which has now been superseded by a complete steam plant. Twenty hands are employed in the laundry, and three horses and vans used for delivering. Mr. Wigg has an extensive family connection, besides holding the contract for the Northern Steamship Company, and special appointments to the Governors of New Zealand for the last seventeen years. The laundry is under the supervision of Mrs. Wigg, who received her training in the Old Country. She served her apprenticeship to the New Shirt and Collar Dressing Company, of London, and has held responsible positions in several leading laundries. Mr. Wigg was born in London in 1851. He came to New Zealand in 1880, and twelve months afterwards established his present business.
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Wigg, Thomas,
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Leather Trade.

          

            
Including—Boot and Shoe Manufacturers, Importers, and Dealers; Boot Upper Manufacturers; Fellmongers, leather and Grindery Merchants, Portmanteau, Leather Bag and Trunk Makers; Saddlery and Harness Makers and Importers; and Tanners.

          

          

            
            


              

                Astley And Son
              
              (Elijah Astley and John Edward Astley), Tanners, Auckland; Store, Albert Street, Auckland; Tannery, Avondale. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. E. Astley was apprenticed to Mr. James Huberstey, of Chorley, Lancashire, England, and was subsequently in business for eighteen years on his own account. In 1880, both Mr. E. Astley and Mr. J. E. Astley came to New Zealand. Mr. E. Astley became manager of the leather dressing department of the tannery of Messrs B. Gittos and Sons, and held the position till 1888. Mr. J. E. Astley also completed his apprenticeship, which was begun in England, and worked as a journeyman currier at the same tannery for a number of years, and subsequently in Australia. The present business was commenced in 1888, and has been marked by a steady expansion of trade, the manufactures of the firm finding a ready market throughout New Zealand, and also in Sydney and London. Messrs Astley have always endeavoured to keep pace with the improved methods which have from time to time been introduced into the tanning industry, and, with this in view, have purchased a considerable amount of modern machinery. Their object has ever been to produce an article of uniform and reliable quality, and, if the demand for their goods is any proof, they have succeeded in doing so.

          

          

            
            


              

Crocker, Benjamin,
              Boot Manufacturer, 258 Queen Street, Auckland. Established in 1869. Bankers, Union Bank of Australasia. Mr. Crocker, who is a native of England, arrived in New Zealand in 1863, by the ship “Silver Eagle,” from London. Having made himself fully acquainted with all local requirements by employment in the trade, he determined, in 1869, to start in business on his own account, and opened in Victoria Street. There he conducted a flourishing business for twenty-five years, and gave the fullest satisfaction to all his customers. This he still continues to do in Queen Street, where he occupies a fine open front shop, with plate glass windows, in which he displays the newest and most fashionable styles. Mr. Crocker's stock is always replenished by direct importations, in addition to his own manufactures, and the fact that he caters for all classes has enabled him to withstand for over thirty years the many vicissitudes which beset business in the colony. The floorage space of Mr. Crocker's premises extends to 1332 square feet, and the building is of brick, two stories in height. The business is purely a local one, and as the proprietor does a strictly cash trade, he is able to give great advantages to his customers, as he makes a large turnover, and is satisfied with reasonable profits. A notable feature in the firm's methods is its endeavour to keep all new material up-to-date, and old stock is periodically cleared by clearance sales.

          

          

            
            


              

Davy, Henry,
              Crown Boot Factory, Grey Street, Auckland. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Mr. Davy came to New Zealand by the ship “Maori,” from London, in 1866, served his apprenticeship with Mr. John Trenwith, of Wakefield Street, and continued with him till 1879, when he founded the Crown Boot Factory, where the latest classes of machinery are in use, and over thirty hands are regularly employed. Mr. Davy makes a specialty of strong work, and has no difficulty in disposing of his goods through the wholesale houses of New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


Fleming, C. C.,  Leather Grindery, Boots, Shoes and Saddlery Importer, corner of Durham and High Streets, Auckland. Telephone, 312. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Fleming was born in Glasgow in 1837 and educated in Scotland. His first introduction into business life was as a clerk in the East India trade in his native city. His experience in that capacity enabled him to acquire a thorough fundamental knowledge of trade, which stood him in good stead in his after life. Having determined to try his luck in the colonies he engaged a passage early in 1857 on board the “Josephine Willis.” That vessel was wrecked, however, in the English Channel, and Mr. Fleming was fortunate to get back safely to London, although he lost his entire outfit. In no wise daunted by this unfortunate experience, he made his way to Glasgow, again fitted himself out for the voyage, and engaged a passage on the “Sanford, which arrived in New Zealand in the latter part of 1857. Mr. Fleming decided to settle at Onehunga, and shortly after his arrival accepted a position as assistant to his uncle, who was engaged in business as a general merchant. He remained with him for a few years, and then started in business for himself in conjunction with a Mr. Stevenson, the firm trading under the title of Fleming and Stevenson. The firm built a large two-storey building for its business, and the store had a depth of one hundred feet, with a frontage of thirty-six feet. The building is now used as the Onehunga Town Hall. In 1878, Mr. Fleming withdrew from the firm and purchased the business of Messrs J. W. Hoare and Co., in Auckland, which he carries on at the present time. He resides at Onehunga, where he has a very pretty home. Mr. Fleming has always taken a keen interest in public affairs, and has been once mayor and twice a councillor of Onehunga. About twenty-two years ago, he was a candidate for election to the old Provincial Council, and was defeated by only fourteen votes by Mr. (now Sir) Maurice O'Rorke. Although brought up as a Presbyterian in Scotland, Mr. Fleming, a few years after his arrival in New Zealand, joined the Wesleyan Church, and has several times acted as circuit steward. Mr. Fleming was married in 1862, and has six children.

          

          

            
            


              
Ireland Bros.
              (George Tarbutt, manager), Tanners, Fellmongers, etc. Head office, Vulcan Lane, Auckland; Tannery and Works, Panmure. P.O. Box 228. Telephones—Office 171; Works 172. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Few Auckland firms are better known than that of Messrs Ireland Bros. The business was established nearly forty years ago by Messrs Barton Ireland and George Ireland, and at a later date they were joined by their brother, Mr. Frederick Ireland. The offices and warehouse occupy a prominent site in Vulcan Lane, on a portion of which, in the early forties, stood the forge, which gained for the thoroughfare its present name. A splendid stock of all kinds of leathers from the tannery, and of saddlers' and bootmakers' machinery, English and foreign leathers, saddlery, saddlers' ironmongery, boot uppers, and grindery, mill belting, suction and delivery hose is kept on the premises. The works at Panmure are the finest of their kind in New Zealand. All the original members of the firm are dead, and the property is now in the possession of Mr. George Ireland, whose beautiful home forms part of the estate at Panmure. Mr. Barton Ireland died in 1884, Mr. George Ireland in 1890, and Mr. Frederick Ireland, who left the firm in 1890 for Palmerston North, died there in 1894.

          

          

            
            


              

                Kapai Boot Factory
              
              (George Alexander Coles, Frank Jagger, Alexander H. Walker, partners), Eden Terrace, Auckland. Telephone 1015. Cable and Telegraphic address, “Coles, Auckland.” The factory has a floor space of about 15,000 square feet. The motive power is a gas engine of fifteen horse-power, and the plant is of the very latest and most improved design. It includes the celebrated Goodyear welting machinery, lasting, slugging, sewing, finishing machinery, and, in fact, everything required for an up-to-date business. About 120 persons are employed in the factory, the monthly wage sheet amounts to about £700, and there is a monthly output of about 6000 pairs. Two travellers are employed by the firm in canvassing the whole of the North and South Islands for wholesale orders only. Mr. Coles has ceased importing English and Continental boots and shoes, as he believes that everything required in the trade can be made in the colony. The firm is daily demonstrating this at the Kapai factory, where goods are manufactured equal in quality, style and workmanship to the imported article. The specialties



of the firm are Goodyear welts and pumps on hand-sewn principles for walking and evening shoes, standard screws, machine-sewn fairstitch, and all other makes. The trade marks “Kapai,” “Sewn Welts,” “Featherweight,” and celebrated “C” are well-known all over the colony, and are a guarantee of the quality of the make.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. George Alexander Coles,
              the Senior Partner, is a native of Northamptonshire, the great boot manufacturing centre of England. Mr. Coles was educated at the Wellingborough Grammar School, and apprenticed to Messrs Sharman and-Ekins, of the same place. His apprenticeship was completed in 1871, and he afterwards worked as a journeyman with prominent firms in England. He was for seven years in business in Wellingborough as a manufacturer, but sold out, sailed for New Zealand, and arrived in Christchurch in the year 1882. On landing he was engaged by Messrs Toomer Bros., with whom he stayed one year, but left under an engagement for twelve months to Messrs W. Mc-Arthur and Co., of Auckland, as manager of their boot factory. 
[
unclear: H]e found things very disorganised, but with his knowledge of the trade, and by unremitting energy, he made the firm's factory the leading business of its kind in the North Island during his short term as manager, He afterwards transferred his services to the firm of Black and Co., but subsequently decided to start for himself, and he did so in 1885. When he began he employed only two or three hands, but he nevertheless founded in that way what is now the largest and best equipped boot factory in the North Island of New Zealand. Mr. Coles, by his extensive and practical knowledge of the trade, has done more than any other maker to improve the status of the boot trade in Auckland, and has demonstrated what an Auckland workman can do, the employees being nearly all native Aucklanders. Personally, and as president of the Auckland Boot Manufacturers' Association, he was recently—in conjunction with Mr. J. Trenwith, senior, and Mr. T. Hodgson—the means of bringing about a satisfactory settlement between masters and men in the Arbitration Court.
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Mr. Frank Jagger,
              Partner, is one of the best knownand most enterprising citizens in Auckland. He is a native of Halifax, Yorkshire, and arrived in Auckland, via Melbourne, in 1859. After a short stay in Auckland he proceeded to Coromandel, where he was engaged in bush contracts at the Matawai Creek. In 1864 Mr. Jagger entered into a contract to supply the Imperial troops at Tauranga with manuka firewood. After the war, he took charge of a coasting cutter, and in 1867, he and Mr. Parker commenced business at Freeman's Bay as coal and firewood merchants. Eventually this business was purchased by the New Zealand Timber Company, but Mr. Jagger retained the management, which he held until the formation of the Kauri Timber Company, about 1888, when the latter company absorbed the former. In the following year Mr. Jagger started the present tannery, which has grown to be one of the largest in the North Island. About 1897, he again embarked in the timber trade, and became a partner in the firm of E. Mitchelson and Co., Northern Wairoa and Kaipara. When the liquidation of the Northern New Zealand Woollen Mills Company took place, Mr. Jagger and several others formed a syadicate and purchased the property, which is now known as the Onehunga Woollen Mills. Since its reconstitution, the concern has proved the greatest success, the value of shares having increased seventy-five per cent. above par. Mr. Jagger is one of the promoters and directors of Murray's Pasteurised Milk Company and the Premier Timber Company; a director of the Northern Union Steamship Company, Hikurangi Coal Company. Mr. Jagger has never taken any special part in municipal or political life, but has given his time and business talents-to the commercial progress of Auckland.
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Knight, J. I.
             , Wholesale Manufacturer and Importer of Saddlery, Harness, Saddlers' Ironmongery, etc., etc., Lorne Street, Auckland. Telephone 933. P.O. Box 408. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Knight commenced business eleven years ago in premises situated in England Street, Ponsonby. He made a specialty of riding saddles of all kinds. In this he was very successful, and soon established a colonial reputation for his goods. The business, in consequence, increased so rapidly that he was compelled to seek premises more suitable for his expanding trade, and the result is his present factory. This is a handsome brick building, situated in the centre of the city, and in every way suitable for the requirements of Mr. Knight's extensive business, which now includes the manufacture of harness and collars of every description, from the most finished article to the commonest used for country requirements; also military and fire brigade accoutrements, firemen's helmets, bags and portmanteaux, and in fact, all kinds of leather work connected with the saddlery trade. Mr. Knight gives constant employment to between sixty and seventy hands. The machinery and laboursaving appliances in the factory are all of the latest and most approved kinds. Mr. Knight imports direct from Home factories the various materials required to complete the numerous lines in saddlery he now manufactures. He was a successful exhibitor at the Dunedin Exhibition of 1889 and 1890, and also at the Auckland Exhibition of 1900, Mr. Knight is also the patentee for an improved metal seat which is attached to most of the saddles he manufactures; it strengthens the tree, prevents the seat of the saddle from subsiding and forming into lumps, and ensures comfort to the rider as long as the saddle lasts. Altogether Mr. Knight's establishment represents one of the most up-to-date and promising industries in Auckland.
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                The Lion Boot Factory
              
              (Richard Walton, proprietor), Rutland and Lorne Streets, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business, which was established in 1884, was purchased by the present proprietor in 1888. all kinds of boots and shoes are manufactured on the premises, and specialties are made in ooze calf, Russian calf, box calf, and glace kid. The trade extends throughout the North Island, and even into the South Island.

          

          

            
            

              

                
Mr. Richard Walton
              
             
 was born in 1845, near Halifax, in Yorkshire, where his father was a boot manufacturer. He learned his trade with his father, with whom he worked for many years, and after manufacturing on his own account in Conway, North Wales, and Wigan, Lancashire, for fifteen years, came to New Zealand in 1884. In 1869 Mr. Walton married Miss Alice Rebecca Waring, of Chorley, Lancashire, and has four sons, three of whom assist in the factory, and the other teaches under the Board of Education. Mr. Walton is the organist
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and choirmaster at St. James's Presbyterian Church, the largest in Auckland, and is also a member of the Orchestral Union. Two of his sons are also very musical; the eldest, Mr. Edgar Walton, being a prominent bass singer, and Mr. Robert H. Walton, the youngest, one of Auckland's leading violinists. The last-named is now (1901) a medical student at Edinburgh University.

          

          

            
            


              
The Northern Boot And Shoe Manufacturing Company, Ltd.,
              (Thomas Hodgsons, manager and secretary), 5 and 7 Hobson Street, Auckland. P.O. Box, 391. Telephone 82. Cable address, “Aurora. Code, A.B.C. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This company was established in 1882, with a nominal capital of £15,000, of which about £13,000 worth of shares have been allotted. The trade extends throughout the North Island and also into the South, and the company has been of late years a regular dividend paying concern. Three travellers are always “on the road,” and such goods as cannot at present be satisfactorily supplied by the local leather manufacturers are imported from the best markets of the Old World; all the specially selected leather being branded “Kromoletta” and “Northern Light.” The premises are freehold, of three stories, and of brick throughout. Though but half the ground is covered, the floorage space is about 17,000 square feet. The machinery, to which additions are being constantly made, is driven by a nine-horse-power Otto gas engine, and over eighty hands are constantly employed by the company, which obtained first award and gold medal at the Auckland Industrial and Mining Exhibition of 1898–99, for ladies' and children's boots and shoes.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Thomas Hodgson,
              the Manager and Secretary of the Northern Boot and Shoe Manufacturing Company, Auckland, was born in Etherley, Durham, England, in 1854, and is a son of Mr. John Hodgson, contractor, of Durham. Mr. Hodgson was educated at Darlington, entered commercial life in that city, and was for ten years with the Darlington Iron and Steel Company. On comining to Auckland, in 1879, he accepted an appointment with B. Gittos and Son, tanners,and afterward with J. J. Austin and Co., boot manufacturers, as manager of their Wangnui branch. While thus situated, Mr. Hodgson mastered all branches of the trade, and when the Northern Company was started he was offered the secretaryship, and was afterwards appointed manager. When the Auckland boot trade decided to send a presentative to the tariff convention held at Wellington in 1895, Mr. Hodgson was chosen as the representative, and rendered special service in securing reductions on various lines. Mr. Hodgson has taken much interest in the cause of education, and has been a member of the comitttee of Newton East and West and Mount Eden schools; but it is in connection with Church and Sunday School work, that he has been best known. As circuit steward of Pitt Street Wesleyan Chureh, and representative to Wellington and Dunedin conferences, (superintendent of the Archhill Sunday



school; vice-president of the Kingsland Christian Endeavour Society, and a delegate to the Auckland Christian Endeavour Union Mr. Hodgson has done some hard and valuable work. He is a Rechabite of many years' standing, and an enthusiastic supporter of athletics. Mr. Hodgson held a seat on the Executive of the Auckland Industrial and Mining Exhibition; he was chairman of the advertising and printing committee, and a member of the finance committee. In 1876 Mr. Hodgson was married to Miss Wakerley, daughter of the late Mr. Wakerley, of Auckland, formerly of Darlington, and he has one daughter and two sons.
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Prosser, Thomas,
              Boot Importer and Manufacturer, Newton Boot Warehouse, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Telephone 579. bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was first established in Queen Street in 1865 by the late Mr. Thomas Prosser, who was born at Peterchurch, Hereford, England, in 1826, and was the only son of Mr. Thomas Prosser, farmer. He learned his trade in Dorlstone, and afterwards carried on business in the same town. Mr. Prosser came to Auckland by the ship “Ernestina,' (Captain Pilling). He met his death through a bicycle accident, which occurred on the 14th of May, 1901.

          

          

            
            


              
Schofield And Son,
              Boot Manufacturers, England Street, Ponsonby, Auckland. In 1887 Mr. H. Schofield, the senior partner of this firm, established the business in Parnell, where he carried on manufacturing in conjunction with a retail trade. The manufacturing branch, however, rapidly developed, and in 1896, Mr. Schofield relinquished the retail trade and secured premises in Victoria Street, where he conducted business on wholesale lines. Finding that extra room was required to cope with his speedily increasing trade, the proprietor entered his present premises in England Street, where he manufactures on an extensive scale, and competes favourably with the larger American firms. Upwards of twenty-five hands are constantly employed in the manufacture of the great variety of boots product by the firm.

          

          

            
            


              

Sexton, Charles Henry,
              Boot and Shoe Maker and Importer, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Mr. Sexton is a native of New Zealand, and was apprenticed to Mr. George Foster, of Auckland. In 1886 he decided to commence business on his own account, and he now has a handsome double-fronted shop, well stocked with a large variety of goods of colonial make, as well as with an assortment of imported brands. Mr. Sexton employs nine hands, and leather and grindery are imported direct to supply the workers with material. Boots and shoes also are imported from England and the Continent.

          

          

            
            


              

                Stone, S. and Co.
              
              (Samuel Stone), late R. Hannah and Co., Boot and Shoe Importers and Manufacturers, Queen Street, corner of Darby Street, Auckland. Branch, Coromandel. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1886 by Messrs Robert Hannah and Co., the well-known boot manufacturers of Wellington, by whom it was successfully carried on for a period of ten years. It was then purchased by the present proprietor, who had been in charge for some six years previously. The premises are of brick, plastered in imitation of stone, and form a corner of the block known as the buildings of the Working Men's Club. Mr. Stone does a good brisk town and country trade, sending his goods throughout the province. The proprietor has had a large experience of the boot trade, and may be depended upon to supply excellent goods in every class.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Samuel Stone
              
              was born in Exeter in 1842, and was educated in Birmingham. There also he learned his business, and was in leading establishments at that city for almost nine years. In 1864, he came to the Colony, by the ship “Portland,” and landed in Anckland, with his employer, the late Mr. Thomas Forgham, of Birmingham, but soon left Auckland, and was in the south for a quarter of a century, during which he was in business successively at Napier, Wellington, Lower Hutt and Nelson. Mr. D. Curle, formerly of Wellington and Hokitika, and now proprietor of the “Bush Advocate” at Dannevirke, is a brother-in-law, and Mr. S. Dawes the present proprietor of the “Hokitika Guardian,” is a nephew of Mr. Stone's. Mr. Stone was the first hand employed by the now noted firm of Messrs R. Hannah and Co., Wellington. In conjunction with the Wesleyan church, Mr. Stone has been an earnest worker privately, and for some time professionally, in Otago and Nelson, and on the West Coast, and is respected throughout the Colony as a church worker of more than thirty years' standing. The Masons, Oddfellows, Foresfers, and Protestant Alliance Association, all claim Mr. Stone as a member, and, generally, he has lent his aid to all movements having for their object the well-being of society. In 1872 Mr. Stone was married at the Hutt, Wellington, by the Rev. George Harper, to Miss Rebecca Witt, daughter of the Rev. P. Witt, then of Birmingham, and a member of Carr's Lane Chapel, whose pastors were the celebrated Rev. John Angel James and Dr. Dale; and has one daughter and four sons. A nephew of Mr. Stone's, the Rev. Granville Sharp, is a Congregational minister at Clifton, Bristol, England.
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Sutherland, W. and Co.,
              Limited, Tanners, Fellmongers, and Leather Dressers, Auckland and Onehunga. This business was established at Onehunga twenty years ago, and from small beginnings the company has increased its plant and works, till now (1901) fifty hands are employed. The buildings are of two and three stories high, and cover about two acres of land, and the machinery consists of many labour-saving modern appliances. Leathers manufactured by the company from the crude material are of the best in the market, and well-known throughout New Zealand. The chrome leathers are becoming so popularly known that they may be called the coming leathers. Most of the goods are sent to the firm's wholesale store, which is situated at the foot of Grey Street, Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Josiah Lawry,
              who is Secretary of W. Sutherland and Co., Limited, was born in 1855 at Mangere, Auckland, and is the third son of the Rev. H. H. Lawry, the eminent Wesleyan divine, so long connected with the Methodist Church of the province. He was educated at the Wesley College, under Mr. John Fletcher, and he also received private tuition. In 1873 he joined the New Zealand Insurance Company, and rose to the position of chief clerk in the head office, and in February, 1879, he received a similar appointment at the Nelson office. He was afterwards made agent at Oamaru, and then he returned to the head office, in Auckland, to occupy his old position as chief clerk, which he held until



1891, when he resigned. On leaving the New Zealand Insurance Company, the directors gave him a handsome bonus as a token of appreciation of his services. Mr. Lawry has always taken a keen interest in cricket, and was formerly a member of the West End Club. He represented the Auckland province against the first Australian eleven in 1872, and at Nelson in 1881, and played against the English eleven at Oamaru about 1882. Whilst stationed at Oamaru he played for that district against Auckland. In December, 1880, Mr. Lawry married the fifth daughter of the late Mr. C. J. Stone, one of the founders of the city of Auckland.
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Mr. William Sutherland,
              late of the firm of Messrs W. Sutherland and Co., was born at Wick, Scotland, in 1838. Mr. Sutherland was educated in his native town and apprenticed to the carpenter's trade. At the age of nineteen years he left the Old Country for Auckland, where he landed with the proverbial shilling, and engaged in his calling with constant employment in many parts of the country. In 1868, he started business as a fellmonger and wool-stapler, and in 1881 he founded the present firm at Onehunga, where he carried on the business until his death in December, 1896. Mr. Sutherland was an active member of the Wesleyan Church, but in later years attached himself to the Salvation Army, to which body he rendered much service. He was married to Mary Elizabeth, daughter of Mr. Bevan, of London, and had seven sons and five daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Trenwith, John,
              Pioneer Boot Factory, 37 and 39 Wakefield Street, Auckland. Telephone 114. Cable and Telegraphic address, “Trenwith, Auckland.” Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Trenwith is a native of Penzance, Cornwall. He served his time at the boot trade with his father, completed his term in 1847, and continued till 1865 to manage his father's business. In the latter year he came to New Zealand, and after gaining local experience he founded the present business in 1870. When he commenced only three hands were engaged, but as the business developed, additions to the number were constantly needed, and Mr. Trenwith now employs nearly one hundred. He is continuously obtaining the latest and most improved machinery, and obtains his motive power from two gas engines, Mr. Trenwith is a direct importer of American, English, and Continental boots and shoes which cannot be made in the colony; but all other kinds are made on the premises. The registered trade mark is “Pioneer Brand, Tren-with's. Make”—a brand which is almost a household word throughout the colony. Mr. Trenwith has been a member of the Auckland City Council for over twelve years. He was a member of the Harbour Board for over two years, and has likewise occupied a seat on the Charitable Aid Board. As Mr. Trenwith began wholesale boot manufacturing in 1870, and has continued it up to the present, he is now the oldest wholesale boot manufacturer in New Zealand.
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                Wallis And Caley
              
             
 (Robert Marten Wallis and Thomas Lace Caley), Saddlers and Harness Makers, 156 Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Telephone, 690. Private residences, Mr. Wallis, Mount Eden Road; Mr. Caley, Mount Eden Road. This business, which was founded in 1889, is conducted in a handsome two-storey brick building
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a large and growing trade is done in goods made by the firm. Previous to going into business both partners had a wide experience in all branches of the trade, and consequently they conduct their business in the way best suited to meet the varying demands of the general public. In the workroom a large number of hands are employed and up-to-date appliances are used. The firm's bag and portmanteau department has developed into considerable proportions, and every description of bag is made. In the collar department work of a superior order is manufactured, and collars in patent and plain leather are made after any pattern. Saddlery and harness of all kinds are repaired, and also portmanteaux, Gladstone bags, handbags, etc. A good stock of cycling sundries is kept, including cycling gaiters, touring and tool bags. Tennis racquets are repaired and restrung with the best English gut.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Wallis,
              the Senior Partner, is the son of the Rev. J. Wallis, who came to the Colony in 1833. Mr. Wallis was born at Raglan in 1844. He was employed by Messrs J. Wiseman and Co., with whom he remained until, in conjunction with Mr. Caley, he established the present business in 1889. Mr. Wallis has always taken a warm interest in church affairs. At one time he was morning superintendent of the Grafton Road Sunday school, and at present he is circuit steward and a trustee of the same church. In 1874 he married Miss Emily Wing, daughter of Captain Wing, of Onehunga, and has five children. His eldest son is first mate of the barque “Hertha.”

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. Caley,
              Junior Partner, was born in Auckland, and was educated at the Rev. Peter Mason's school, and also at the Cambridge school. After completing his education he was apprenticed to Messrs J. Wiseman and Co., with whom he remained ten years, and left in 1889 to enter into partnership with Mr. Wallis. Like his partner, Mr. Caley takes an interest in church matters, and is trustee and Sunday school teacher of the Pitt Street Wesleyan Church.

          

          

            
            


              

Whittington, Alfred James,
              Boot and Shoe Upper Manufacturer and Importer of Grindery, Shoe Lane, off Grey Street, Auckland. Mr. Whittington was born at sea, while his parents were emigrating to the colony, in 1864. He completed his apprenticeship with Mr. J. Trenwith, at Auckland, in 1881, and worked at McArthur's factory till commencing business on his own account in 1882. He is a direct importer of all kinds of grindery, and all kinds of boot uppers, school satchels, portmanteaux, Gladstone bags, etc., are made on the premises. By close personal attention, Mr. Whittington has achieved success for his various manufactures all over the North Island. He is the inventor and patentee of Whitting-ton's Perambulator Safety Straps for holding infants in perambulators or other vehicles. They have already proved to be very useful, as they are thoroughly effective in accomplishing their inventor's object. The plant includes machines of the latest and most approved patterns, and a competent staff of work people is regularly employed in the production of the various goods that are made at the establishment.

          

          

            
            


              
Wiseman, J. and Son,
              Wholesale Saddlers, Saddlers' Ironmongers, Leather Merchants, Importers, Etc., Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 226. This business, which is the oldest of its kind in Auckland, and one of the oldest in New Zealand, was first established about 1861 by the late Mr. James Wiseman, in Dunedin. He remained there for only a short time, however, and transferred his headquarters to Auckland in 1862. The business increased year by year, and additions were made and departments added, to such an extent that the premises in Queen Street now consist of three large three-storey and basement buildings, and the whole of the upper portion of the three buildings and the basement are used by the firm for storage room and for its various departments. The business is almost entirely wholesale, with the exception of a purely local retail trade, which is quite independent of the whole business. The wholesale trade extends throughout the colony, and to the South Sea Islands, with which a large and growing business is carried on. The factory is divided into five departments, including the retail branch, each department being under the supervision of a skilled and competent foreman. The bags, portmanteaux, and travelling trunks are manufactured in a separate factory belonging to the firm in Wellesley Street. The firm gives regular employment to about a hundred hands. The late senior partner of the firm, Mr. James Wiseman, had latterly taken very little active part in the conduct of the business, which has been controlled by Mr. John Wiseman, the surviving partner.

          

          

            
            


              

Brookes, Alfred H.,
              formerly a Boot and Shoe Dealer and Importer, Jervois Road, Ponsonby, but now a commercial traveller, was born in Auckland, in 1871, and gained experience under his father, the late Mr. C. Brookes, who was in business in Queen Street for many years. In 1887 the business was removed to Ponsonby, where it was carried on successfully by Mr. Brookes for a number of years. Mr. Brookes is a member of the Ponsonby Bowling Club, and has carried off many prizes and trophies, including the champion bowls of 1896–7, and a fine pair of bowls presented by the Auckland Bowling Association in 1897.
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                Astley And Son
              
              (Elijah Astley and John Edward Astley), Tanners, Auckland; Store, Albert Street, Auckland; Tannery, Avondale. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. E. Astley was apprenticed to Mr. James Huberstey, of Chorley, Lancashire, England, and was subsequently in business for eighteen years on his own account. In 1880, both Mr. E. Astley and Mr. J. E. Astley came to New Zealand. Mr. E. Astley became manager of the leather dressing department of the tannery of Messrs B. Gittos and Sons, and held the position till 1888. Mr. J. E. Astley also completed his apprenticeship, which was begun in England, and worked as a journeyman currier at the same tannery for a number of years, and subsequently in Australia. The present business was commenced in 1888, and has been marked by a steady expansion of trade, the manufactures of the firm finding a ready market throughout New Zealand, and also in Sydney and London. Messrs Astley have always endeavoured to keep pace with the improved methods which have from time to time been introduced into the tanning industry, and, with this in view, have purchased a considerable amount of modern machinery. Their object has ever been to produce an article of uniform and reliable quality, and, if the demand for their goods is any proof, they have succeeded in doing so.
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Crocker, Benjamin,
              Boot Manufacturer, 258 Queen Street, Auckland. Established in 1869. Bankers, Union Bank of Australasia. Mr. Crocker, who is a native of England, arrived in New Zealand in 1863, by the ship “Silver Eagle,” from London. Having made himself fully acquainted with all local requirements by employment in the trade, he determined, in 1869, to start in business on his own account, and opened in Victoria Street. There he conducted a flourishing business for twenty-five years, and gave the fullest satisfaction to all his customers. This he still continues to do in Queen Street, where he occupies a fine open front shop, with plate glass windows, in which he displays the newest and most fashionable styles. Mr. Crocker's stock is always replenished by direct importations, in addition to his own manufactures, and the fact that he caters for all classes has enabled him to withstand for over thirty years the many vicissitudes which beset business in the colony. The floorage space of Mr. Crocker's premises extends to 1332 square feet, and the building is of brick, two stories in height. The business is purely a local one, and as the proprietor does a strictly cash trade, he is able to give great advantages to his customers, as he makes a large turnover, and is satisfied with reasonable profits. A notable feature in the firm's methods is its endeavour to keep all new material up-to-date, and old stock is periodically cleared by clearance sales.
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Davy, Henry,
              Crown Boot Factory, Grey Street, Auckland. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Mr. Davy came to New Zealand by the ship “Maori,” from London, in 1866, served his apprenticeship with Mr. John Trenwith, of Wakefield Street, and continued with him till 1879, when he founded the Crown Boot Factory, where the latest classes of machinery are in use, and over thirty hands are regularly employed. Mr. Davy makes a specialty of strong work, and has no difficulty in disposing of his goods through the wholesale houses of New Zealand.
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Fleming, C. C.,  Leather Grindery, Boots, Shoes and Saddlery Importer, corner of Durham and High Streets, Auckland. Telephone, 312. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Fleming was born in Glasgow in 1837 and educated in Scotland. His first introduction into business life was as a clerk in the East India trade in his native city. His experience in that capacity enabled him to acquire a thorough fundamental knowledge of trade, which stood him in good stead in his after life. Having determined to try his luck in the colonies he engaged a passage early in 1857 on board the “Josephine Willis.” That vessel was wrecked, however, in the English Channel, and Mr. Fleming was fortunate to get back safely to London, although he lost his entire outfit. In no wise daunted by this unfortunate experience, he made his way to Glasgow, again fitted himself out for the voyage, and engaged a passage on the “Sanford, which arrived in New Zealand in the latter part of 1857. Mr. Fleming decided to settle at Onehunga, and shortly after his arrival accepted a position as assistant to his uncle, who was engaged in business as a general merchant. He remained with him for a few years, and then started in business for himself in conjunction with a Mr. Stevenson, the firm trading under the title of Fleming and Stevenson. The firm built a large two-storey building for its business, and the store had a depth of one hundred feet, with a frontage of thirty-six feet. The building is now used as the Onehunga Town Hall. In 1878, Mr. Fleming withdrew from the firm and purchased the business of Messrs J. W. Hoare and Co., in Auckland, which he carries on at the present time. He resides at Onehunga, where he has a very pretty home. Mr. Fleming has always taken a keen interest in public affairs, and has been once mayor and twice a councillor of Onehunga. About twenty-two years ago, he was a candidate for election to the old Provincial Council, and was defeated by only fourteen votes by Mr. (now Sir) Maurice O'Rorke. Although brought up as a Presbyterian in Scotland, Mr. Fleming, a few years after his arrival in New Zealand, joined the Wesleyan Church, and has several times acted as circuit steward. Mr. Fleming was married in 1862, and has six children.
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Ireland Bros.
              (George Tarbutt, manager), Tanners, Fellmongers, etc. Head office, Vulcan Lane, Auckland; Tannery and Works, Panmure. P.O. Box 228. Telephones—Office 171; Works 172. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Few Auckland firms are better known than that of Messrs Ireland Bros. The business was established nearly forty years ago by Messrs Barton Ireland and George Ireland, and at a later date they were joined by their brother, Mr. Frederick Ireland. The offices and warehouse occupy a prominent site in Vulcan Lane, on a portion of which, in the early forties, stood the forge, which gained for the thoroughfare its present name. A splendid stock of all kinds of leathers from the tannery, and of saddlers' and bootmakers' machinery, English and foreign leathers, saddlery, saddlers' ironmongery, boot uppers, and grindery, mill belting, suction and delivery hose is kept on the premises. The works at Panmure are the finest of their kind in New Zealand. All the original members of the firm are dead, and the property is now in the possession of Mr. George Ireland, whose beautiful home forms part of the estate at Panmure. Mr. Barton Ireland died in 1884, Mr. George Ireland in 1890, and Mr. Frederick Ireland, who left the firm in 1890 for Palmerston North, died there in 1894.
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                Kapai Boot Factory
              
              (George Alexander Coles, Frank Jagger, Alexander H. Walker, partners), Eden Terrace, Auckland. Telephone 1015. Cable and Telegraphic address, “Coles, Auckland.” The factory has a floor space of about 15,000 square feet. The motive power is a gas engine of fifteen horse-power, and the plant is of the very latest and most improved design. It includes the celebrated Goodyear welting machinery, lasting, slugging, sewing, finishing machinery, and, in fact, everything required for an up-to-date business. About 120 persons are employed in the factory, the monthly wage sheet amounts to about £700, and there is a monthly output of about 6000 pairs. Two travellers are employed by the firm in canvassing the whole of the North and South Islands for wholesale orders only. Mr. Coles has ceased importing English and Continental boots and shoes, as he believes that everything required in the trade can be made in the colony. The firm is daily demonstrating this at the Kapai factory, where goods are manufactured equal in quality, style and workmanship to the imported article. The specialties



of the firm are Goodyear welts and pumps on hand-sewn principles for walking and evening shoes, standard screws, machine-sewn fairstitch, and all other makes. The trade marks “Kapai,” “Sewn Welts,” “Featherweight,” and celebrated “C” are well-known all over the colony, and are a guarantee of the quality of the make.
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Mr. George Alexander Coles,
              the Senior Partner, is a native of Northamptonshire, the great boot manufacturing centre of England. Mr. Coles was educated at the Wellingborough Grammar School, and apprenticed to Messrs Sharman and-Ekins, of the same place. His apprenticeship was completed in 1871, and he afterwards worked as a journeyman with prominent firms in England. He was for seven years in business in Wellingborough as a manufacturer, but sold out, sailed for New Zealand, and arrived in Christchurch in the year 1882. On landing he was engaged by Messrs Toomer Bros., with whom he stayed one year, but left under an engagement for twelve months to Messrs W. Mc-Arthur and Co., of Auckland, as manager of their boot factory. 
[
unclear: H]e found things very disorganised, but with his knowledge of the trade, and by unremitting energy, he made the firm's factory the leading business of its kind in the North Island during his short term as manager, He afterwards transferred his services to the firm of Black and Co., but subsequently decided to start for himself, and he did so in 1885. When he began he employed only two or three hands, but he nevertheless founded in that way what is now the largest and best equipped boot factory in the North Island of New Zealand. Mr. Coles, by his extensive and practical knowledge of the trade, has done more than any other maker to improve the status of the boot trade in Auckland, and has demonstrated what an Auckland workman can do, the employees being nearly all native Aucklanders. Personally, and as president of the Auckland Boot Manufacturers' Association, he was recently—in conjunction with Mr. J. Trenwith, senior, and Mr. T. Hodgson—the means of bringing about a satisfactory settlement between masters and men in the Arbitration Court.
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Mr. Frank Jagger,
              Partner, is one of the best knownand most enterprising citizens in Auckland. He is a native of Halifax, Yorkshire, and arrived in Auckland, via Melbourne, in 1859. After a short stay in Auckland he proceeded to Coromandel, where he was engaged in bush contracts at the Matawai Creek. In 1864 Mr. Jagger entered into a contract to supply the Imperial troops at Tauranga with manuka firewood. After the war, he took charge of a coasting cutter, and in 1867, he and Mr. Parker commenced business at Freeman's Bay as coal and firewood merchants. Eventually this business was purchased by the New Zealand Timber Company, but Mr. Jagger retained the management, which he held until the formation of the Kauri Timber Company, about 1888, when the latter company absorbed the former. In the following year Mr. Jagger started the present tannery, which has grown to be one of the largest in the North Island. About 1897, he again embarked in the timber trade, and became a partner in the firm of E. Mitchelson and Co., Northern Wairoa and Kaipara. When the liquidation of the Northern New Zealand Woollen Mills Company took place, Mr. Jagger and several others formed a syadicate and purchased the property, which is now known as the Onehunga Woollen Mills. Since its reconstitution, the concern has proved the greatest success, the value of shares having increased seventy-five per cent. above par. Mr. Jagger is one of the promoters and directors of Murray's Pasteurised Milk Company and the Premier Timber Company; a director of the Northern Union Steamship Company, Hikurangi Coal Company. Mr. Jagger has never taken any special part in municipal or political life, but has given his time and business talents-to the commercial progress of Auckland.
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Knight, J. I.
             , Wholesale Manufacturer and Importer of Saddlery, Harness, Saddlers' Ironmongery, etc., etc., Lorne Street, Auckland. Telephone 933. P.O. Box 408. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Knight commenced business eleven years ago in premises situated in England Street, Ponsonby. He made a specialty of riding saddles of all kinds. In this he was very successful, and soon established a colonial reputation for his goods. The business, in consequence, increased so rapidly that he was compelled to seek premises more suitable for his expanding trade, and the result is his present factory. This is a handsome brick building, situated in the centre of the city, and in every way suitable for the requirements of Mr. Knight's extensive business, which now includes the manufacture of harness and collars of every description, from the most finished article to the commonest used for country requirements; also military and fire brigade accoutrements, firemen's helmets, bags and portmanteaux, and in fact, all kinds of leather work connected with the saddlery trade. Mr. Knight gives constant employment to between sixty and seventy hands. The machinery and laboursaving appliances in the factory are all of the latest and most approved kinds. Mr. Knight imports direct from Home factories the various materials required to complete the numerous lines in saddlery he now manufactures. He was a successful exhibitor at the Dunedin Exhibition of 1889 and 1890, and also at the Auckland Exhibition of 1900, Mr. Knight is also the patentee for an improved metal seat which is attached to most of the saddles he manufactures; it strengthens the tree, prevents the seat of the saddle from subsiding and forming into lumps, and ensures comfort to the rider as long as the saddle lasts. Altogether Mr. Knight's establishment represents one of the most up-to-date and promising industries in Auckland.
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                The Lion Boot Factory
              
              (Richard Walton, proprietor), Rutland and Lorne Streets, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business, which was established in 1884, was purchased by the present proprietor in 1888. all kinds of boots and shoes are manufactured on the premises, and specialties are made in ooze calf, Russian calf, box calf, and glace kid. The trade extends throughout the North Island, and even into the South Island.
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Mr. Richard Walton
              
             
 was born in 1845, near Halifax, in Yorkshire, where his father was a boot manufacturer. He learned his trade with his father, with whom he worked for many years, and after manufacturing on his own account in Conway, North Wales, and Wigan, Lancashire, for fifteen years, came to New Zealand in 1884. In 1869 Mr. Walton married Miss Alice Rebecca Waring, of Chorley, Lancashire, and has four sons, three of whom assist in the factory, and the other teaches under the Board of Education. Mr. Walton is the organist
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and choirmaster at St. James's Presbyterian Church, the largest in Auckland, and is also a member of the Orchestral Union. Two of his sons are also very musical; the eldest, Mr. Edgar Walton, being a prominent bass singer, and Mr. Robert H. Walton, the youngest, one of Auckland's leading violinists. The last-named is now (1901) a medical student at Edinburgh University.
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The Northern Boot And Shoe Manufacturing Company, Ltd.,
              (Thomas Hodgsons, manager and secretary), 5 and 7 Hobson Street, Auckland. P.O. Box, 391. Telephone 82. Cable address, “Aurora. Code, A.B.C. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This company was established in 1882, with a nominal capital of £15,000, of which about £13,000 worth of shares have been allotted. The trade extends throughout the North Island and also into the South, and the company has been of late years a regular dividend paying concern. Three travellers are always “on the road,” and such goods as cannot at present be satisfactorily supplied by the local leather manufacturers are imported from the best markets of the Old World; all the specially selected leather being branded “Kromoletta” and “Northern Light.” The premises are freehold, of three stories, and of brick throughout. Though but half the ground is covered, the floorage space is about 17,000 square feet. The machinery, to which additions are being constantly made, is driven by a nine-horse-power Otto gas engine, and over eighty hands are constantly employed by the company, which obtained first award and gold medal at the Auckland Industrial and Mining Exhibition of 1898–99, for ladies' and children's boots and shoes.
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Mr. Thomas Hodgson,
              the Manager and Secretary of the Northern Boot and Shoe Manufacturing Company, Auckland, was born in Etherley, Durham, England, in 1854, and is a son of Mr. John Hodgson, contractor, of Durham. Mr. Hodgson was educated at Darlington, entered commercial life in that city, and was for ten years with the Darlington Iron and Steel Company. On comining to Auckland, in 1879, he accepted an appointment with B. Gittos and Son, tanners,and afterward with J. J. Austin and Co., boot manufacturers, as manager of their Wangnui branch. While thus situated, Mr. Hodgson mastered all branches of the trade, and when the Northern Company was started he was offered the secretaryship, and was afterwards appointed manager. When the Auckland boot trade decided to send a presentative to the tariff convention held at Wellington in 1895, Mr. Hodgson was chosen as the representative, and rendered special service in securing reductions on various lines. Mr. Hodgson has taken much interest in the cause of education, and has been a member of the comitttee of Newton East and West and Mount Eden schools; but it is in connection with Church and Sunday School work, that he has been best known. As circuit steward of Pitt Street Wesleyan Chureh, and representative to Wellington and Dunedin conferences, (superintendent of the Archhill Sunday



school; vice-president of the Kingsland Christian Endeavour Society, and a delegate to the Auckland Christian Endeavour Union Mr. Hodgson has done some hard and valuable work. He is a Rechabite of many years' standing, and an enthusiastic supporter of athletics. Mr. Hodgson held a seat on the Executive of the Auckland Industrial and Mining Exhibition; he was chairman of the advertising and printing committee, and a member of the finance committee. In 1876 Mr. Hodgson was married to Miss Wakerley, daughter of the late Mr. Wakerley, of Auckland, formerly of Darlington, and he has one daughter and two sons.
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Prosser, Thomas,
              Boot Importer and Manufacturer, Newton Boot Warehouse, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Telephone 579. bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was first established in Queen Street in 1865 by the late Mr. Thomas Prosser, who was born at Peterchurch, Hereford, England, in 1826, and was the only son of Mr. Thomas Prosser, farmer. He learned his trade in Dorlstone, and afterwards carried on business in the same town. Mr. Prosser came to Auckland by the ship “Ernestina,' (Captain Pilling). He met his death through a bicycle accident, which occurred on the 14th of May, 1901.
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Schofield And Son,
              Boot Manufacturers, England Street, Ponsonby, Auckland. In 1887 Mr. H. Schofield, the senior partner of this firm, established the business in Parnell, where he carried on manufacturing in conjunction with a retail trade. The manufacturing branch, however, rapidly developed, and in 1896, Mr. Schofield relinquished the retail trade and secured premises in Victoria Street, where he conducted business on wholesale lines. Finding that extra room was required to cope with his speedily increasing trade, the proprietor entered his present premises in England Street, where he manufactures on an extensive scale, and competes favourably with the larger American firms. Upwards of twenty-five hands are constantly employed in the manufacture of the great variety of boots product by the firm.
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Sexton, Charles Henry,
              Boot and Shoe Maker and Importer, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Mr. Sexton is a native of New Zealand, and was apprenticed to Mr. George Foster, of Auckland. In 1886 he decided to commence business on his own account, and he now has a handsome double-fronted shop, well stocked with a large variety of goods of colonial make, as well as with an assortment of imported brands. Mr. Sexton employs nine hands, and leather and grindery are imported direct to supply the workers with material. Boots and shoes also are imported from England and the Continent.
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                Stone, S. and Co.
              
              (Samuel Stone), late R. Hannah and Co., Boot and Shoe Importers and Manufacturers, Queen Street, corner of Darby Street, Auckland. Branch, Coromandel. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1886 by Messrs Robert Hannah and Co., the well-known boot manufacturers of Wellington, by whom it was successfully carried on for a period of ten years. It was then purchased by the present proprietor, who had been in charge for some six years previously. The premises are of brick, plastered in imitation of stone, and form a corner of the block known as the buildings of the Working Men's Club. Mr. Stone does a good brisk town and country trade, sending his goods throughout the province. The proprietor has had a large experience of the boot trade, and may be depended upon to supply excellent goods in every class.
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Mr. Samuel Stone
              
              was born in Exeter in 1842, and was educated in Birmingham. There also he learned his business, and was in leading establishments at that city for almost nine years. In 1864, he came to the Colony, by the ship “Portland,” and landed in Anckland, with his employer, the late Mr. Thomas Forgham, of Birmingham, but soon left Auckland, and was in the south for a quarter of a century, during which he was in business successively at Napier, Wellington, Lower Hutt and Nelson. Mr. D. Curle, formerly of Wellington and Hokitika, and now proprietor of the “Bush Advocate” at Dannevirke, is a brother-in-law, and Mr. S. Dawes the present proprietor of the “Hokitika Guardian,” is a nephew of Mr. Stone's. Mr. Stone was the first hand employed by the now noted firm of Messrs R. Hannah and Co., Wellington. In conjunction with the Wesleyan church, Mr. Stone has been an earnest worker privately, and for some time professionally, in Otago and Nelson, and on the West Coast, and is respected throughout the Colony as a church worker of more than thirty years' standing. The Masons, Oddfellows, Foresfers, and Protestant Alliance Association, all claim Mr. Stone as a member, and, generally, he has lent his aid to all movements having for their object the well-being of society. In 1872 Mr. Stone was married at the Hutt, Wellington, by the Rev. George Harper, to Miss Rebecca Witt, daughter of the Rev. P. Witt, then of Birmingham, and a member of Carr's Lane Chapel, whose pastors were the celebrated Rev. John Angel James and Dr. Dale; and has one daughter and four sons. A nephew of Mr. Stone's, the Rev. Granville Sharp, is a Congregational minister at Clifton, Bristol, England.
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Sutherland, W. and Co.,
              Limited, Tanners, Fellmongers, and Leather Dressers, Auckland and Onehunga. This business was established at Onehunga twenty years ago, and from small beginnings the company has increased its plant and works, till now (1901) fifty hands are employed. The buildings are of two and three stories high, and cover about two acres of land, and the machinery consists of many labour-saving modern appliances. Leathers manufactured by the company from the crude material are of the best in the market, and well-known throughout New Zealand. The chrome leathers are becoming so popularly known that they may be called the coming leathers. Most of the goods are sent to the firm's wholesale store, which is situated at the foot of Grey Street, Auckland.
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Mr. Josiah Lawry,
              who is Secretary of W. Sutherland and Co., Limited, was born in 1855 at Mangere, Auckland, and is the third son of the Rev. H. H. Lawry, the eminent Wesleyan divine, so long connected with the Methodist Church of the province. He was educated at the Wesley College, under Mr. John Fletcher, and he also received private tuition. In 1873 he joined the New Zealand Insurance Company, and rose to the position of chief clerk in the head office, and in February, 1879, he received a similar appointment at the Nelson office. He was afterwards made agent at Oamaru, and then he returned to the head office, in Auckland, to occupy his old position as chief clerk, which he held until



1891, when he resigned. On leaving the New Zealand Insurance Company, the directors gave him a handsome bonus as a token of appreciation of his services. Mr. Lawry has always taken a keen interest in cricket, and was formerly a member of the West End Club. He represented the Auckland province against the first Australian eleven in 1872, and at Nelson in 1881, and played against the English eleven at Oamaru about 1882. Whilst stationed at Oamaru he played for that district against Auckland. In December, 1880, Mr. Lawry married the fifth daughter of the late Mr. C. J. Stone, one of the founders of the city of Auckland.

            

              

[image: Mr. J. Lawry.]

Mr. 
J. Lawry.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. William Sutherland



            
            


              

Mr. William Sutherland,
              late of the firm of Messrs W. Sutherland and Co., was born at Wick, Scotland, in 1838. Mr. Sutherland was educated in his native town and apprenticed to the carpenter's trade. At the age of nineteen years he left the Old Country for Auckland, where he landed with the proverbial shilling, and engaged in his calling with constant employment in many parts of the country. In 1868, he started business as a fellmonger and wool-stapler, and in 1881 he founded the present firm at Onehunga, where he carried on the business until his death in December, 1896. Mr. Sutherland was an active member of the Wesleyan Church, but in later years attached himself to the Salvation Army, to which body he rendered much service. He was married to Mary Elizabeth, daughter of Mr. Bevan, of London, and had seven sons and five daughters.
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Trenwith, John,
              Pioneer Boot Factory, 37 and 39 Wakefield Street, Auckland. Telephone 114. Cable and Telegraphic address, “Trenwith, Auckland.” Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Trenwith is a native of Penzance, Cornwall. He served his time at the boot trade with his father, completed his term in 1847, and continued till 1865 to manage his father's business. In the latter year he came to New Zealand, and after gaining local experience he founded the present business in 1870. When he commenced only three hands were engaged, but as the business developed, additions to the number were constantly needed, and Mr. Trenwith now employs nearly one hundred. He is continuously obtaining the latest and most improved machinery, and obtains his motive power from two gas engines, Mr. Trenwith is a direct importer of American, English, and Continental boots and shoes which cannot be made in the colony; but all other kinds are made on the premises. The registered trade mark is “Pioneer Brand, Tren-with's. Make”—a brand which is almost a household word throughout the colony. Mr. Trenwith has been a member of the Auckland City Council for over twelve years. He was a member of the Harbour Board for over two years, and has likewise occupied a seat on the Charitable Aid Board. As Mr. Trenwith began wholesale boot manufacturing in 1870, and has continued it up to the present, he is now the oldest wholesale boot manufacturer in New Zealand.
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                Wallis And Caley
              
             
 (Robert Marten Wallis and Thomas Lace Caley), Saddlers and Harness Makers, 156 Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Telephone, 690. Private residences, Mr. Wallis, Mount Eden Road; Mr. Caley, Mount Eden Road. This business, which was founded in 1889, is conducted in a handsome two-storey brick building
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a large and growing trade is done in goods made by the firm. Previous to going into business both partners had a wide experience in all branches of the trade, and consequently they conduct their business in the way best suited to meet the varying demands of the general public. In the workroom a large number of hands are employed and up-to-date appliances are used. The firm's bag and portmanteau department has developed into considerable proportions, and every description of bag is made. In the collar department work of a superior order is manufactured, and collars in patent and plain leather are made after any pattern. Saddlery and harness of all kinds are repaired, and also portmanteaux, Gladstone bags, handbags, etc. A good stock of cycling sundries is kept, including cycling gaiters, touring and tool bags. Tennis racquets are repaired and restrung with the best English gut.
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Mr. Wallis,
              the Senior Partner, is the son of the Rev. J. Wallis, who came to the Colony in 1833. Mr. Wallis was born at Raglan in 1844. He was employed by Messrs J. Wiseman and Co., with whom he remained until, in conjunction with Mr. Caley, he established the present business in 1889. Mr. Wallis has always taken a warm interest in church affairs. At one time he was morning superintendent of the Grafton Road Sunday school, and at present he is circuit steward and a trustee of the same church. In 1874 he married Miss Emily Wing, daughter of Captain Wing, of Onehunga, and has five children. His eldest son is first mate of the barque “Hertha.”
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Mr. Caley,
              Junior Partner, was born in Auckland, and was educated at the Rev. Peter Mason's school, and also at the Cambridge school. After completing his education he was apprenticed to Messrs J. Wiseman and Co., with whom he remained ten years, and left in 1889 to enter into partnership with Mr. Wallis. Like his partner, Mr. Caley takes an interest in church matters, and is trustee and Sunday school teacher of the Pitt Street Wesleyan Church.
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Whittington, Alfred James,
              Boot and Shoe Upper Manufacturer and Importer of Grindery, Shoe Lane, off Grey Street, Auckland. Mr. Whittington was born at sea, while his parents were emigrating to the colony, in 1864. He completed his apprenticeship with Mr. J. Trenwith, at Auckland, in 1881, and worked at McArthur's factory till commencing business on his own account in 1882. He is a direct importer of all kinds of grindery, and all kinds of boot uppers, school satchels, portmanteaux, Gladstone bags, etc., are made on the premises. By close personal attention, Mr. Whittington has achieved success for his various manufactures all over the North Island. He is the inventor and patentee of Whitting-ton's Perambulator Safety Straps for holding infants in perambulators or other vehicles. They have already proved to be very useful, as they are thoroughly effective in accomplishing their inventor's object. The plant includes machines of the latest and most approved patterns, and a competent staff of work people is regularly employed in the production of the various goods that are made at the establishment.
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Wiseman, J. and Son,
              Wholesale Saddlers, Saddlers' Ironmongers, Leather Merchants, Importers, Etc., Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 226. This business, which is the oldest of its kind in Auckland, and one of the oldest in New Zealand, was first established about 1861 by the late Mr. James Wiseman, in Dunedin. He remained there for only a short time, however, and transferred his headquarters to Auckland in 1862. The business increased year by year, and additions were made and departments added, to such an extent that the premises in Queen Street now consist of three large three-storey and basement buildings, and the whole of the upper portion of the three buildings and the basement are used by the firm for storage room and for its various departments. The business is almost entirely wholesale, with the exception of a purely local retail trade, which is quite independent of the whole business. The wholesale trade extends throughout the colony, and to the South Sea Islands, with which a large and growing business is carried on. The factory is divided into five departments, including the retail branch, each department being under the supervision of a skilled and competent foreman. The bags, portmanteaux, and travelling trunks are manufactured in a separate factory belonging to the firm in Wellesley Street. The firm gives regular employment to about a hundred hands. The late senior partner of the firm, Mr. James Wiseman, had latterly taken very little active part in the conduct of the business, which has been controlled by Mr. John Wiseman, the surviving partner.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Brookes, Alfred H.



            
            


              

Brookes, Alfred H.,
              formerly a Boot and Shoe Dealer and Importer, Jervois Road, Ponsonby, but now a commercial traveller, was born in Auckland, in 1871, and gained experience under his father, the late Mr. C. Brookes, who was in business in Queen Street for many years. In 1887 the business was removed to Ponsonby, where it was carried on successfully by Mr. Brookes for a number of years. Mr. Brookes is a member of the Ponsonby Bowling Club, and has carried off many prizes and trophies, including the champion bowls of 1896–7, and a fine pair of bowls presented by the Auckland Bowling Association in 1897.
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Meat Trade.

          

            
Including—Butchers, Fishmongers and Curers, Ham and Bacon Curers, Meat Freezing and Preserving Companies.

          

          

            
            


              

                Adam, J. and Co.
              
              (John Adam and John Munro Fraser), Bacon Curers, Mechanics' Bay, Auckland; Branch at Tawhiti, Hawera, Taranaki. Established 1894. Telephone 211, P.O. Box 520. This flourishing business, which is one of the largest in the North Island, was first started by the present firm in 1894. They rented from the Auckland Freezing Company a large space in its building, and carried on the business there, preparatory to erecting the present spacious premises. The progress of the business has been phenomenal from the first, and throughout New Zealand and Australia there is an ever increasing demand for goods bearing the firm's well-known brand of “A.B.C.” In fact, the demand in Sydney is so great that the firm is often unable to execute the orders. It has, therefore, been compelled to open new works at Hawera, in Taranaki, modelled in every respect on the Auckland establishment. The Auckland factory is a large building of wood and iron, with 130 feet of frontage and a depth of 120 feet. There are cooling, drying, and smoking chambers, and the factory has a twelve-and-a-half ton Hercules refrigerating engine, with a spraying machine, driven by a Babcock and Wilcock water tube-boiler of the latest design. There are large cooling and freezing chambers for butter, meat, eggs, fish, and poultry, and all sorts of produce. Ice-making is a branch of the work, and ice is supplied at the nominal price of one halfpenny per pound. The firm exhibited at Sydney in 1900 at the Royal Show, and won first prize for hams; and in the same year won three first prizes at Dunedin for the finest hams and bacon; and first prize at the Normanby Show. The firm put through 11,000 pigs in the year 1899. Only the finest quality of dairy-fed pork is used, and the utmost care is exercised in curing.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Adam,
              the Senior Partner, is a native of Devonshire, England, a county celebrated for its hams and bacon. He gained experience of bacon-curing in his native county, and was afterwards engaged for the greater part of seven years in the trade in London. Mr. Adam emigrated from England to Queensland, where he remained about a year before coming to New Zealand in 1888. On arriving in the colony he entered the service of the Christchurch Meat Company, largely engaged in meat freezing and bacon curing, and remained in its employment for six years. After spending a year in Wellington with Dy-mock and Co., bacon curers, he removed to Auckland in 1894, and started the present business, which has been developed through his exceptional knowledge and energy.
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Mr. John Munro Fraser,
              the other Partner, and Manager of the firm's Hawera Branch, was born in Ross-shire, Scotland, and came to New Zealand in 1870 by the ship “Otago.” On his arrival at Dunedin he went up country to gain experience, but shortly afterwards joined the Government service. He received the appointment of Private Secretary to Sir Donald McLean, and remained with that gentleman until 1876. Mr. Fraser then left the Government service and started as a native agent in Hawke's Bay, a calling which he still follows, although a considerable portion of his time is taken up in looking after the interests of the firm at Hawera. He joined his present partner on the initiation of the Auckland business.

          

          

            
            

              

                The Auckland Freezing Works
              
             
 (A. Bevins, manager), Auckland. In 1899 the business of these works was taken over by a private syndicate, with headquarters in London. The storage capacity has been largely increased; a slaughterhouse built at Wester-field, and a large manure manufacturing and fellmongery plant added since the works were taken over by the present proprietors. The business is carried on in commodious premises between the railway line and the railway wharf. At all seasons of the year, the company is kept busily employed, but when the weather is hottest, and the keeping of meat, fish, game,
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and butter fresh in the ordinary stores is impossible, the cool chambers of the company are invaluable, and are filled to their utmost capacity with perishable goods of this class from local tradesmen and hotels. The machinery includes a new Hercules seventy-ton ammonia machine, on the direct expansion system, capable of freezing 1600 sheep in twenty-four hours, and cool storage is provided for about 50,000 carcases of sheep, as well as for other goods. Under the cold air system, the regulation of the temperatures had to be adjusted in the rooms themselves, but under the new system the temperatures are regulated from the engine-room, and are thus under the control of the man in charge. So conveniently are the works arranged that the trucks from the company's slaughterhouse at Westerfield, eight or nine miles distant, come into the premises and discharge their freight of carcases direct into the freezing rooms. Again, when a cargo is being shipped, the trucks conveying the carcases run from the freezing chamber straight down to the oceangoing steamer's side. Thus, there is no risk to the mutton from unnecessary handling, while shipments are made without confusion and with exceptional expedition. Sections of the premises are leased by private firms for bacon-curing and condensed milk industries. Eight tons of ice can be produced by the plant in twenty-four hours. It is made from the city water supply, boiled and filtered, and a great trade in this commodity is done during the summer time with the shipping, the hotels and provision stores, and private individuals. The ice is delivered free at the nominal cost of one-halfpenny per pound.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. A. Bevins,
              the present Manager, is a native of London. He first came to the Colony about 1875, but has since made several trips to the Old Country. Mr. Bevins took charge of the Auckland Freezing Works when they changed their ownership in 1899.

          

          

            
            


              

                Fenton and Co.
              
              (William Albert Fenton, manager), Butchers, 20 Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Telephone, 487. The premises are situated at the bottom of Queen Street, in a three-storey imposing brick building. Besides doing an extensive cash business, the firm does a large trade in shipping circles, and supplies many of the vessels trading to Auckland. Messrs Fenton and Co. are also the contractors for the navy, which is a sufficient guarantee for the excellent quality of their meat. There are roomy premises, which include a commodious cellar used for salting and storing purposes. Messrs Fenton and Co. do a good trade with the leading hotels and boarding houses.
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                Mr. W. A. Fenton
              
              was born in London in 1841, and is a son of Mr. Francis H. Fenton, of an East Indian house. He was educated at Doncaster Grammar School and at Edenfield House, Yorkshire, and was apprenticed to the calling of a surveyor and engineer. In 1859 he came to Auckland, by the ship “Tornado,” and went farming at Matakana. After two years he came to Auckland, and established himself in business on the site where the Union Bank now stands. He then went to Coromandel, where he engaged in goldmining, and a year later he visited Australia. There he was for two or three years in business as a cattle dealer and grazier. After his return to Auckland Mr. Fen ton was foreman in the firm of Messrs Fisher and Co., of Queen Street, and took the management of that firm's outside business, which was carried out on a large scale, and employed nearly fifty men. On leaving the firm, he established his present business. Mr. Fenton is a Freemason, and is a Past District Grand Deacon; and at the installation of the first Grand Master in Auckland in the English Constitution, he was appointed Grand Pursuivant. He is also an Oddfellow of thirty years' standing in the American Order and the Manchester Unity. He is the father of coursing in Auckland, and owned and bred the celebrated dog “Sailor Boy,” the only Auckland dog that has ever won the much valued and envied Waterloo Cup.

          

          

            
            


              

Gray, George Henry,
              Butcher, Great North Road, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, adjoining the premises. This business, said to be one of the oldest on the Great North Road, was established about 1877, and taken over by Mr. Gray in 1892. Small goods are manufactured on the premises in an adjoining room, where salting operations are carried on. Mr. Gray was born in Great Chesterford in 1854, educated and brought up in Essex, and learned the butchery business in Derbyshire with his father-in-law. In 1883 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Aorangi,” landed at Wellington, and subsequently removed to Auckland, where he was for three years in the employment of Mr. Hume, of Queen Street. He then entered into business as a family butcher in Karangahape Road, but four years later removed to the Great North Road, where he purchased his present business.

          

          
          



            
            


              
Hellaby, R. And W.,
              Wholesale and Retail Family and Shipping Butchers, Tinned Meat Preservers, and Ice Manufacturers, Shortland Street, Auckland; Works, Richmond. Telephones 102, 111, and 859. This business was established over twenty years ago in a comparatively small retail way in Shortland Street. But in a few years the firm erected slaughter yards and extensive works at Richmond, and about twenty years ago purchased the Shortland Street property, where the present premises are situated. From that time, the business rapidly expanded, and now (1901) Messrs R. and W. Hellaby are the largest butchering firm in New Zealand, and the largest and most complete private firm in the colonies. As the trade continued to increase, they added meat preserving, bacon curing, freezing, and ice manufacturing departments, and some time back were obliged to purchase a further tract of land at the back of the Shortland Street buildings, in Chancery Lane. The main premises consist of two two-storey buildings, with cellarage, and have a frontage on Shortland Street of about 105 feet, and a depth of over 176 feet. The front portion of the ground floor is utilised for the retail and delivery shop, and for offices. Further back are the departments for meat preserving, ice manufacturing, tinning, and the freezing chambers. The premises are lighted with electricity throughout, by means of a 70-light dynamo. The properly at the back of the Shortland Street premises has a frontage of about 114 feet, and a depth of 184 feet, extending right back to Victoria Quadrant. On this have been erected stables, corn-sheds, wagon-houses, etc., and also a fine two-storey brick building, with a frontage of 40 feet, and a depth of about 100 feet. The ground floor, which is of concrete throughout, is used principally for corned beef storage, and the upstairs portion for the storage of bone dust and manure. The works at Richmond cover about three acres and a half, and are complete in every particular. They include a boiling-down establishment, bone-mills, fellmongery, tannery, stables, etc. The Richmond property comprises over 100 acres, and is utilised for paddocks, slaughter yards, etc. The firm slaughters weekly, on an average, over 200 head of cattle, about 1000 sheep and lambs (in addition to which it receives a large quantity of pork from the country), and from forty to fifty calves. It gives regular employment to some 200 men, and keeps about forty horses, and seventeen waggons and carts.

          

          

            
            


              

Knox, William,
              Wholesale and Retail Fish Curer, Freeman's Bay, Auckland. The fish are thoroughly cured before they are permitted to leave the establishment, and the process is supervised by Mr. Knox himself; schnapper, kaipara, and mullet are cured in very large quantities. Mr. Knox was born in Ireland, and is said to be the oldest fisherman in Auckland. He came to New Zealand in October, 1847. At the age of eleven he went to sea. After arriving in New Zealand he enlisted as a volunteer, served through the Waikato war in 1865–6, and was present at Rangiriri, and other engagements. At the close of the war Mr. Knox took to selling fish on the wharf and in the market, and after a successful run of five or six years, one of which he spent at the Thames, he established himself in business.

          

          

            
            


              

Lewis, Walter,
              Family Butcher, corner of Victoria and Chapel Streets, Auckland Bankers, Union Bank of Australia, Ltd. Mr. Lewis, who resides on the premises, took over the business in 1889. It had been established about fifteen years previously, and is carried on on a cash basis by Mr Lewis, who is now doing a steadily increasing trade. Mr. Lewis is a cash buyer of live stock in the open markets, and as the business is economically and systematically conducted, he claims to sell at prices that defy competition. All small goods are made directly under the watchful eye of the proprietor, who is ever on the alert to please his numerous customers. Mr. Lewis was born in Gloucestershire, England, and is a son of Mr. Joseph Lewis. He came to New Zealand by the barque “Easterhill” in 1881, and landed at Auckland, or eighteen months he was with Mr. John Goss, of Queen Street, and for about eight years at the well-known establishment of Messrs R. and W. Hellaby. Mr. Lewis has been secretary of the butchers' sports committee for some time past, and acts similarly for the master butchers' sports and picnic committee. He is well and favourably known as an active member of St. Paul's choir, the Choral Society, and the Liedertafel.

          

          

            
            


              

McElwain, George,
              Family Butcher, corner of Nixon Street, and the Great North Road, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1888 by the present proprietor. The premises consist of a two-storey wooden building, well adapted in every respect for Mr. McElwain's business. Mr. McElwain is a cash purchaser of live stock in the open markets, and has of late considerably increased his business connection. He was born in the South of Ireland in 1855, and followed farming on his father's land. In 1877 he came to Auckland with his wife and child, by the ship “Oxford,” and settled in Mangapai, where he successfully carried on farming for nearly six years. He, however, removed into Auckland, where his family could have the advantage of a better education. Whilst at Mangapai he devoted the greater part of his time to the breeding and rearing of stock, chiefly suitable for the trade. Mr. McElwain is an Oddfellow, and takes great interest in all outdoor sports. In his younger days he played as a three-quarter in the football field, but he now devotes whatever leisure time he possesses to shooting and fishing. He is married to a daughter of Captain Patterson.
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Norgrove, Charles,
             
 Family Butcher, Three Lamps, Ponsonby, Auckland. Private residence, John Street, Ponsonby. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Norgrove settled in Ponsonby in 1896, and purchased the business of Mr. Noah Wood, who had established it in 1869. After carrying on the business very successfully for two years, he then purchased the well-established business of Mr. Arthur Knight, and with the combined businesses has succeeded in obtaining the finest trade in the prosperous suburb of Ponsonby. The premises are all that can be desired for the effectual carrying on of a first-class trade, and the machinery is all of the latest pattern, and thoroughly up to date. The ice room, too, is greatly appreciated by the general public, and is of great importance in a climate like that of Auckland. Mr. Nor-grove was born in Oxfordshire, England, and came to New Zealand in 1878. He is a thorough tradesman in every branch of his business, is careful that his numerous patrons may receive their goods clean and promptly, and strives to give the utmost satisfication. Mr. Norgrove is an enthusiastic follower of hounds in the hunting field; and he piloted
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the Butchers' Foodball Club through the season of 1899, without suffering a defeat. He is also chairman of the present Butchers' Picnic Committee, and is a popular man in all circles.

          

          

            
            


              

Williams, Frank,
              Fish, Oyster, Game, Poultry and Fruit Dealer, Queen Street, Auckland. Established 1867. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Telephone 177; P.O. Box 297. Curing establishment, Auckland Fish Market, Railway Wharf. Mr. Williams has ten boats engaged in fishing, mostly in the Hauraki Gulf, and daily receives fresh supplies of Thames flounders, schnapper, mullet, trevalli, etc. He supplies the Union Steamship Company, Shaw, Savill and Company, New Zealand Shipping Company, Huddart, Parker's Line, the Tyser Line, and others. The curing establishment is of brick and three storeys in height. Mr. Williams was born near Naples in 1845. At the age of fifteen he left for America, and led a seafaring life until 1867, when he came to Auckland, New Zealand, and started in the fish business in a very small way; but he has gradually worked his way up, until his business is now the most successful of its kind in New Zealand. He has won several prizes at the Dunedin and Launceston Exhibitions for tinned, smoked and fresh fish. Mr. Williams is a member of the Druids, Foresters, Oddfellows and Masonic Lodges
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Young, Walter,
              Family Butcher, corner of Karangahape Road and Pitt Street, Auckland. Telephone, 838. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, East Street. Mr. Young's building is of brick, of three lofty stories, and is on one of the best business sites in Auckland. It has two frontages, together of nearly fifty feet. The premises are replete with all the latest labour saving appliances, and include all the machinery required in the trade. Adjoining the shop is the cutting-up room, which is also used for salting and other purposes. The delivering is carried out under the direction of Mr. Young's right-hand man, “Henry,” who is an acknowledged favourite among his many customers. Mr. Young is a cash purchaser in the open markets, carries on his trade on strictly cash principles, and is doing a good steady business. He was born in Auckland in 1871, and is a son of the late Mr. John Price Young, plumber. Mr. Young went to his trade at an early age, and was for four years with Mr. Cochrane, three years with Mr. Knight, and five years with Messrs Fisher and Co. He then went to Sydney, but remained there only nine months, and returning to New Zealand, he was in the employment of Messrs R. and W. Hellaby for a short while till he established his present business.

          

          

            
            


              

Christian, Nathaniel,
              formerly a butcher in Wellington Street, Auckland, but now a commercial traveller, was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1875, and was educated there. In 1890 he came to the colony, by the s.s. “Coptic,” and after five years' experience he entered into business. Mr. Christian takes an enthusiastic interest in coursing.
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                Adam, J. and Co.
              
              (John Adam and John Munro Fraser), Bacon Curers, Mechanics' Bay, Auckland; Branch at Tawhiti, Hawera, Taranaki. Established 1894. Telephone 211, P.O. Box 520. This flourishing business, which is one of the largest in the North Island, was first started by the present firm in 1894. They rented from the Auckland Freezing Company a large space in its building, and carried on the business there, preparatory to erecting the present spacious premises. The progress of the business has been phenomenal from the first, and throughout New Zealand and Australia there is an ever increasing demand for goods bearing the firm's well-known brand of “A.B.C.” In fact, the demand in Sydney is so great that the firm is often unable to execute the orders. It has, therefore, been compelled to open new works at Hawera, in Taranaki, modelled in every respect on the Auckland establishment. The Auckland factory is a large building of wood and iron, with 130 feet of frontage and a depth of 120 feet. There are cooling, drying, and smoking chambers, and the factory has a twelve-and-a-half ton Hercules refrigerating engine, with a spraying machine, driven by a Babcock and Wilcock water tube-boiler of the latest design. There are large cooling and freezing chambers for butter, meat, eggs, fish, and poultry, and all sorts of produce. Ice-making is a branch of the work, and ice is supplied at the nominal price of one halfpenny per pound. The firm exhibited at Sydney in 1900 at the Royal Show, and won first prize for hams; and in the same year won three first prizes at Dunedin for the finest hams and bacon; and first prize at the Normanby Show. The firm put through 11,000 pigs in the year 1899. Only the finest quality of dairy-fed pork is used, and the utmost care is exercised in curing.
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Mr. John Adam,
              the Senior Partner, is a native of Devonshire, England, a county celebrated for its hams and bacon. He gained experience of bacon-curing in his native county, and was afterwards engaged for the greater part of seven years in the trade in London. Mr. Adam emigrated from England to Queensland, where he remained about a year before coming to New Zealand in 1888. On arriving in the colony he entered the service of the Christchurch Meat Company, largely engaged in meat freezing and bacon curing, and remained in its employment for six years. After spending a year in Wellington with Dy-mock and Co., bacon curers, he removed to Auckland in 1894, and started the present business, which has been developed through his exceptional knowledge and energy.
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Mr. John Munro Fraser,
              the other Partner, and Manager of the firm's Hawera Branch, was born in Ross-shire, Scotland, and came to New Zealand in 1870 by the ship “Otago.” On his arrival at Dunedin he went up country to gain experience, but shortly afterwards joined the Government service. He received the appointment of Private Secretary to Sir Donald McLean, and remained with that gentleman until 1876. Mr. Fraser then left the Government service and started as a native agent in Hawke's Bay, a calling which he still follows, although a considerable portion of his time is taken up in looking after the interests of the firm at Hawera. He joined his present partner on the initiation of the Auckland business.
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                The Auckland Freezing Works
              
             
 (A. Bevins, manager), Auckland. In 1899 the business of these works was taken over by a private syndicate, with headquarters in London. The storage capacity has been largely increased; a slaughterhouse built at Wester-field, and a large manure manufacturing and fellmongery plant added since the works were taken over by the present proprietors. The business is carried on in commodious premises between the railway line and the railway wharf. At all seasons of the year, the company is kept busily employed, but when the weather is hottest, and the keeping of meat, fish, game,
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and butter fresh in the ordinary stores is impossible, the cool chambers of the company are invaluable, and are filled to their utmost capacity with perishable goods of this class from local tradesmen and hotels. The machinery includes a new Hercules seventy-ton ammonia machine, on the direct expansion system, capable of freezing 1600 sheep in twenty-four hours, and cool storage is provided for about 50,000 carcases of sheep, as well as for other goods. Under the cold air system, the regulation of the temperatures had to be adjusted in the rooms themselves, but under the new system the temperatures are regulated from the engine-room, and are thus under the control of the man in charge. So conveniently are the works arranged that the trucks from the company's slaughterhouse at Westerfield, eight or nine miles distant, come into the premises and discharge their freight of carcases direct into the freezing rooms. Again, when a cargo is being shipped, the trucks conveying the carcases run from the freezing chamber straight down to the oceangoing steamer's side. Thus, there is no risk to the mutton from unnecessary handling, while shipments are made without confusion and with exceptional expedition. Sections of the premises are leased by private firms for bacon-curing and condensed milk industries. Eight tons of ice can be produced by the plant in twenty-four hours. It is made from the city water supply, boiled and filtered, and a great trade in this commodity is done during the summer time with the shipping, the hotels and provision stores, and private individuals. The ice is delivered free at the nominal cost of one-halfpenny per pound.
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Mr. A. Bevins,
              the present Manager, is a native of London. He first came to the Colony about 1875, but has since made several trips to the Old Country. Mr. Bevins took charge of the Auckland Freezing Works when they changed their ownership in 1899.
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                Fenton and Co.
              
              (William Albert Fenton, manager), Butchers, 20 Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Telephone, 487. The premises are situated at the bottom of Queen Street, in a three-storey imposing brick building. Besides doing an extensive cash business, the firm does a large trade in shipping circles, and supplies many of the vessels trading to Auckland. Messrs Fenton and Co. are also the contractors for the navy, which is a sufficient guarantee for the excellent quality of their meat. There are roomy premises, which include a commodious cellar used for salting and storing purposes. Messrs Fenton and Co. do a good trade with the leading hotels and boarding houses.
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                Mr. W. A. Fenton
              
              was born in London in 1841, and is a son of Mr. Francis H. Fenton, of an East Indian house. He was educated at Doncaster Grammar School and at Edenfield House, Yorkshire, and was apprenticed to the calling of a surveyor and engineer. In 1859 he came to Auckland, by the ship “Tornado,” and went farming at Matakana. After two years he came to Auckland, and established himself in business on the site where the Union Bank now stands. He then went to Coromandel, where he engaged in goldmining, and a year later he visited Australia. There he was for two or three years in business as a cattle dealer and grazier. After his return to Auckland Mr. Fen ton was foreman in the firm of Messrs Fisher and Co., of Queen Street, and took the management of that firm's outside business, which was carried out on a large scale, and employed nearly fifty men. On leaving the firm, he established his present business. Mr. Fenton is a Freemason, and is a Past District Grand Deacon; and at the installation of the first Grand Master in Auckland in the English Constitution, he was appointed Grand Pursuivant. He is also an Oddfellow of thirty years' standing in the American Order and the Manchester Unity. He is the father of coursing in Auckland, and owned and bred the celebrated dog “Sailor Boy,” the only Auckland dog that has ever won the much valued and envied Waterloo Cup.
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Gray, George Henry,
              Butcher, Great North Road, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, adjoining the premises. This business, said to be one of the oldest on the Great North Road, was established about 1877, and taken over by Mr. Gray in 1892. Small goods are manufactured on the premises in an adjoining room, where salting operations are carried on. Mr. Gray was born in Great Chesterford in 1854, educated and brought up in Essex, and learned the butchery business in Derbyshire with his father-in-law. In 1883 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Aorangi,” landed at Wellington, and subsequently removed to Auckland, where he was for three years in the employment of Mr. Hume, of Queen Street. He then entered into business as a family butcher in Karangahape Road, but four years later removed to the Great North Road, where he purchased his present business.
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Hellaby, R. And W.,
              Wholesale and Retail Family and Shipping Butchers, Tinned Meat Preservers, and Ice Manufacturers, Shortland Street, Auckland; Works, Richmond. Telephones 102, 111, and 859. This business was established over twenty years ago in a comparatively small retail way in Shortland Street. But in a few years the firm erected slaughter yards and extensive works at Richmond, and about twenty years ago purchased the Shortland Street property, where the present premises are situated. From that time, the business rapidly expanded, and now (1901) Messrs R. and W. Hellaby are the largest butchering firm in New Zealand, and the largest and most complete private firm in the colonies. As the trade continued to increase, they added meat preserving, bacon curing, freezing, and ice manufacturing departments, and some time back were obliged to purchase a further tract of land at the back of the Shortland Street buildings, in Chancery Lane. The main premises consist of two two-storey buildings, with cellarage, and have a frontage on Shortland Street of about 105 feet, and a depth of over 176 feet. The front portion of the ground floor is utilised for the retail and delivery shop, and for offices. Further back are the departments for meat preserving, ice manufacturing, tinning, and the freezing chambers. The premises are lighted with electricity throughout, by means of a 70-light dynamo. The properly at the back of the Shortland Street premises has a frontage of about 114 feet, and a depth of 184 feet, extending right back to Victoria Quadrant. On this have been erected stables, corn-sheds, wagon-houses, etc., and also a fine two-storey brick building, with a frontage of 40 feet, and a depth of about 100 feet. The ground floor, which is of concrete throughout, is used principally for corned beef storage, and the upstairs portion for the storage of bone dust and manure. The works at Richmond cover about three acres and a half, and are complete in every particular. They include a boiling-down establishment, bone-mills, fellmongery, tannery, stables, etc. The Richmond property comprises over 100 acres, and is utilised for paddocks, slaughter yards, etc. The firm slaughters weekly, on an average, over 200 head of cattle, about 1000 sheep and lambs (in addition to which it receives a large quantity of pork from the country), and from forty to fifty calves. It gives regular employment to some 200 men, and keeps about forty horses, and seventeen waggons and carts.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Knox, William



            
            


              

Knox, William,
              Wholesale and Retail Fish Curer, Freeman's Bay, Auckland. The fish are thoroughly cured before they are permitted to leave the establishment, and the process is supervised by Mr. Knox himself; schnapper, kaipara, and mullet are cured in very large quantities. Mr. Knox was born in Ireland, and is said to be the oldest fisherman in Auckland. He came to New Zealand in October, 1847. At the age of eleven he went to sea. After arriving in New Zealand he enlisted as a volunteer, served through the Waikato war in 1865–6, and was present at Rangiriri, and other engagements. At the close of the war Mr. Knox took to selling fish on the wharf and in the market, and after a successful run of five or six years, one of which he spent at the Thames, he established himself in business.
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Lewis, Walter,
              Family Butcher, corner of Victoria and Chapel Streets, Auckland Bankers, Union Bank of Australia, Ltd. Mr. Lewis, who resides on the premises, took over the business in 1889. It had been established about fifteen years previously, and is carried on on a cash basis by Mr Lewis, who is now doing a steadily increasing trade. Mr. Lewis is a cash buyer of live stock in the open markets, and as the business is economically and systematically conducted, he claims to sell at prices that defy competition. All small goods are made directly under the watchful eye of the proprietor, who is ever on the alert to please his numerous customers. Mr. Lewis was born in Gloucestershire, England, and is a son of Mr. Joseph Lewis. He came to New Zealand by the barque “Easterhill” in 1881, and landed at Auckland, or eighteen months he was with Mr. John Goss, of Queen Street, and for about eight years at the well-known establishment of Messrs R. and W. Hellaby. Mr. Lewis has been secretary of the butchers' sports committee for some time past, and acts similarly for the master butchers' sports and picnic committee. He is well and favourably known as an active member of St. Paul's choir, the Choral Society, and the Liedertafel.
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McElwain, George,
              Family Butcher, corner of Nixon Street, and the Great North Road, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1888 by the present proprietor. The premises consist of a two-storey wooden building, well adapted in every respect for Mr. McElwain's business. Mr. McElwain is a cash purchaser of live stock in the open markets, and has of late considerably increased his business connection. He was born in the South of Ireland in 1855, and followed farming on his father's land. In 1877 he came to Auckland with his wife and child, by the ship “Oxford,” and settled in Mangapai, where he successfully carried on farming for nearly six years. He, however, removed into Auckland, where his family could have the advantage of a better education. Whilst at Mangapai he devoted the greater part of his time to the breeding and rearing of stock, chiefly suitable for the trade. Mr. McElwain is an Oddfellow, and takes great interest in all outdoor sports. In his younger days he played as a three-quarter in the football field, but he now devotes whatever leisure time he possesses to shooting and fishing. He is married to a daughter of Captain Patterson.
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Norgrove, Charles,
             
 Family Butcher, Three Lamps, Ponsonby, Auckland. Private residence, John Street, Ponsonby. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Norgrove settled in Ponsonby in 1896, and purchased the business of Mr. Noah Wood, who had established it in 1869. After carrying on the business very successfully for two years, he then purchased the well-established business of Mr. Arthur Knight, and with the combined businesses has succeeded in obtaining the finest trade in the prosperous suburb of Ponsonby. The premises are all that can be desired for the effectual carrying on of a first-class trade, and the machinery is all of the latest pattern, and thoroughly up to date. The ice room, too, is greatly appreciated by the general public, and is of great importance in a climate like that of Auckland. Mr. Nor-grove was born in Oxfordshire, England, and came to New Zealand in 1878. He is a thorough tradesman in every branch of his business, is careful that his numerous patrons may receive their goods clean and promptly, and strives to give the utmost satisfication. Mr. Norgrove is an enthusiastic follower of hounds in the hunting field; and he piloted
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the Butchers' Foodball Club through the season of 1899, without suffering a defeat. He is also chairman of the present Butchers' Picnic Committee, and is a popular man in all circles.
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Williams, Frank,
              Fish, Oyster, Game, Poultry and Fruit Dealer, Queen Street, Auckland. Established 1867. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Telephone 177; P.O. Box 297. Curing establishment, Auckland Fish Market, Railway Wharf. Mr. Williams has ten boats engaged in fishing, mostly in the Hauraki Gulf, and daily receives fresh supplies of Thames flounders, schnapper, mullet, trevalli, etc. He supplies the Union Steamship Company, Shaw, Savill and Company, New Zealand Shipping Company, Huddart, Parker's Line, the Tyser Line, and others. The curing establishment is of brick and three storeys in height. Mr. Williams was born near Naples in 1845. At the age of fifteen he left for America, and led a seafaring life until 1867, when he came to Auckland, New Zealand, and started in the fish business in a very small way; but he has gradually worked his way up, until his business is now the most successful of its kind in New Zealand. He has won several prizes at the Dunedin and Launceston Exhibitions for tinned, smoked and fresh fish. Mr. Williams is a member of the Druids, Foresters, Oddfellows and Masonic Lodges
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Young, Walter,
              Family Butcher, corner of Karangahape Road and Pitt Street, Auckland. Telephone, 838. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, East Street. Mr. Young's building is of brick, of three lofty stories, and is on one of the best business sites in Auckland. It has two frontages, together of nearly fifty feet. The premises are replete with all the latest labour saving appliances, and include all the machinery required in the trade. Adjoining the shop is the cutting-up room, which is also used for salting and other purposes. The delivering is carried out under the direction of Mr. Young's right-hand man, “Henry,” who is an acknowledged favourite among his many customers. Mr. Young is a cash purchaser in the open markets, carries on his trade on strictly cash principles, and is doing a good steady business. He was born in Auckland in 1871, and is a son of the late Mr. John Price Young, plumber. Mr. Young went to his trade at an early age, and was for four years with Mr. Cochrane, three years with Mr. Knight, and five years with Messrs Fisher and Co. He then went to Sydney, but remained there only nine months, and returning to New Zealand, he was in the employment of Messrs R. and W. Hellaby for a short while till he established his present business.
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Christian, Nathaniel,
              formerly a butcher in Wellington Street, Auckland, but now a commercial traveller, was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1875, and was educated there. In 1890 he came to the colony, by the s.s. “Coptic,” and after five years' experience he entered into business. Mr. Christian takes an enthusiastic interest in coursing.
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Kauri Gum Industry.

          

            
Digging for kauri gum is one of the rare industries of the world, and is carried on chiefly in the northern districts of the province of Auckland. The kauri gum itself is the solidified sap of a species of pine tree which is said to be indigenous to the North Island of New Zealand. The tree, once seen, can never be mistaken for any other of the same family. It is never found in the volcanic soils, but is confined almost entirely to the clay soils, and to the sandy loams. Its trunk frequently rises to a height of upwards of 100 feet, straight, smooth, and imperceptibly decreasing in girth until it spreads into branches. Trees from eight to twelve feet through are not uncommon. They are of soft wood, of slow growth, and the timber is easily worked. The trunk of the kauri exudes gum, but it is the top of the tree that is the main source of supply. The gum, as sap, adheres to the bark, and forms into lumps, which drop off by their own weight, or the action of the weather, and get buried in the soil. However, it often happens that cavities in the trees themselves become receptacles for the oozing sap. This is termed bush gum, and is obtained by climbing the trees, not by digging. Bush gum is not so valuable as that which has been buried for a long
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Kauri Tree.

time in the ground. Kauri trees are now found only in the northern portion of the North Island of New Zealand, but they are supposed to have flourished in the south during the remote past. As the kauri is slow of growth, long-lived, and of great size, and as gum on the northern gumfields has been, and still is, found at different depths in enormous quantities, the conclusion is that hundreds, nay, thousands of years ago, the face of the country was covered with magnificent kauri forests. Yet to-day the prevailing vegetation on an average gumfield consists, if the land is dry, of scrub and fern; if it is wet, of rushes, and the general aspect is that of a treeless waste. Here and there a charred stump or a mound of earth indicates where the latest survivors of the forest have stood, and all around, the soil, whatever it may have been formerly, is now almost without nutritious properties. It consists chiefly of sand, mixed on the surface with a decayed vegetable matter, and underneath it is generally as hard as concrete, and impervious to water. Some of the gum country is in private hands, and a royalty on the gum or conditions of some sort must be arranged between the proprietor and the diggers before the latter commence work. But most of the gum-bearing land is still owned by the Government, and may generally be worked by obtaining a gum license from the local body. The gum is obtained at depths varying from a few inches to several feet, and the pieces vary in size from a hazel nut to sixty and seventy pounds in weight. Subterranean supplies, different in age from those found near the surface, have already produced large quantities. Gum is prepared for market by being scraped, and if it is perfectly clean and of good quality, it is sold as re-scraped or first-class gum at nearly double the price of ordinary or half-scraped gum. Other grades are designated three-quarter-scraped, interior ordinary, and washed nuts. Much is done to the gum after it reaches the hands of the Auckland gum merchants, who employ a large number of men in sifting, sorting, and grading it into all the classes and qualities enumerated in the sale lists of New York or London. Since the industry began the provincial district of Auckland has produced gum worth £10,000,000, and still produces it regularly to the value of about £500,000 a year. This gives to the seven or eight thousand men employed in the industry wages averaging from 15s to 40s per week, and as there are nearly 2,000,000 acres of gumbearing land, it is not likely that the supply will be soon exhausted. All the gum raised in Auckland goes to America, England, or Germany, where it is manufactured into varnish, and as kauri gum is an important constituent in the best varnishes, Auckland practically holds a monopoly, which will no doubt by-and-by give rise to an important colonial industry.
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                Arnold, Cheney and Co.
              
              (L. A. Bachelder and R. T. Fowler, managers), Kauri Gum Merchants, carry on business in Customs Street East, Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              
Bond And Bell,
              Kauri Gum Merchants and Brokers, Commerce Street, Auckland. Telephone 976. P.O. Box 331. Bankers. Bank of Australasia. Mr. Bond is referred to as a member of the Auckland City Licensing Committee.

          

          

            
            


              
Carr, Johnston and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Brokers, Grain and Iron Merchants, Fort and Commerce Streets, Auckland. This firm is fully referred to under the heading of general merchants.

          

          

            
            


              

Edmonds, Henry,
              Kauri Gum Merchant, 31 Customs Street, Auckland. Telephone 564. P.O. Box 270. Bankers. Union Bank of Australia.

          

          

            
            


              
Garlick And Lyon,
              Kauri Gum Merchants, occupy large premises in Fort Street, Auckland, and carry on an extensive business.

          

          

            
            


              
Gilfillan, J. B. and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Merchants and Manufacturers Agents, Fort Street, Auckland. Telephone 297. P.O. Box 23. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Ltd. This business was established in 1888 by Mr. John Boyd Gilfillan, the third son of the late Hon. John Anderson Gilfillan, M.L.C. Mr. Gilfillan was born at Auckland on the 17th of August, 1858, and was educated at Mr Farquhar Macrae's high school, which was afterwards merged into the present Auckland Colege



and Grammar school. He commenced his mercantile life with Messrs John Reid and Co., merchants, with whom he remained for fourteen years, and then established his present business. Messrs Gilfillan and Co. are the sole representatives in New Zealand for several large English firms.
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Heather, Arthur,
              Kauri Gum Merchant, Customs Street West, Auckland. Mr. Heather was born in Auckland on the 11th of April, and is a son of Mr. D. H. Heather, who came to the Colony with the earliest Port Nicholson setters. Induced by the uusettled condition of the country, resulting from the war with Hone Heke at the Bay of Islands, Mr. D. H. Heather returned with his family to England, and left in the “Slains Castle” for Sydney, whence Mr. and Mrs. Heather and their four sons embarked in the “Mary”. But that ill-fated vessel was wrecked in Bass Strait, and by the catastrophe, Mr. Arthur Heather lost his mother and three brothers. The father and surviving son eventually reached England, where Mr. A. Heather remained to complete his education. In 1858, Mr. Arthur Heather returned to New Zealand to join his father in the Lower Waikato, but owing to the unsettled state of the country he was forced to come to Auckland where he entered the still well remembered firm of Owen and Graham. There he remained until his faithful service, and gentlemanly demeanour, gained for him admission into the firm as a partner. On the dissolution of the partnership, in 1879, Mr. Heather took over the wholesale grocery branch of the business and continued it solely on his own account. He now confines his operations to the purchase and export of kauri gum. Mr. Heather was president of the Chamber of Commerce as far back as 1878. He was for many years a very useful worker on the Harbour Board, to which he was at its foundation nominated by the Government. In church matters, Mr. Heather has always taken an active interest, filling important offices at All Saint's, St. Mark's, St. Sepulchre's, and now at St. Barnabas's, besides taking for many years a prominent part in the deliberations of the General and Diocesan Synods. Mr. Heather is an old member of Lodge Ara, I.C., and is now a past master unattached. His early experiences in the Waikato gave him a good knowledge of Maori matters, and this knowledge was of much use at the time of the Maori troubles. Mr. Heather was one of the those who attended the great meeting of disaffected natives at Kihikihi. In all innocent sport, Mr. Heather has taken a praiseworthly interest. He is president of the Association Football Club, and of the Eden and Epsom Tennis Club. This is the most successful tennis club in Auckland, and much of its popularity is due to the exertions of the president, who has occupied that office from the foundation of the society. Mr. Heather was married to Miss Browne, daughter of the late Mr. Joseph Browne, so well known to old Aucklanders, as the leader of the Choral Society and the organist of St. Matthews. Mr. and Mrs. Heather have a family of six sons and an only daughter. The eldest son, Mr. H. D. Heather, is well known in the city as the senior partner of Messrs Heather, Roberton and Co.; the second, Mr. A. B. Heather, is a farmer in the Waikato; the third, Mr. Charles Heather, is at Cambridge University, studying for the ministry; the fourth, Mr. William Heather, is associated with Mr. Thomas Macky in the management of the Northern Insurance Company; the fifth, Mr. Vincent Heather, was recommended by the Government for a commission in the Royal Field Artillery, and is now (1901) in England; and the youngest, Mr. Clande Heather, has charge of Heather, Roberton and Co.'s shipping department.
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                Heather, Roberton and Co.
              
              (H. D.) Heather and A. B. Roberton), Kauri Gum and General Merchants and Importers, Customs Street West, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Telephone 8. P.O. Box 231. This firm was founded in 1895 in succession to Mr. A. Heather, well-known and highly respected in Auckland, who purchased the business of Messrs Owen and Graham in 1879. The latter firm was one of the oldest mercantile houses in Auckland, and its reputation was worldwide in commercial circles. The present firm represents, amongst others, the following important houses:—Messrs Nelson, Moate and Co., tea importers; Tyser line of steamers; James Keiller and Sons, of Dundee; the San Jose Fruit Company of California; the United Fire and Marine Insurance Company, of Sydney; M. B. Fosters and Sons, Ltd., Bottlers, London; and Haig and Haig (whisky), London.

          

          

            
            


              
Henderson, J. W.
             , Kauri Gum Buyer, 71 Queen Street, Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              
Holmes And Grierson.
              Kauri Gum and Produce Brokers, Commerce Street, Auckland. Telephone 479. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


              
Hutchinson, C.J., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Merchants, Fort Street, Auckland. Telephone 515. P.O. Box 18. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


              

                Lichtenstein And Arnoldson
              
              (Max Lichtenstein and Louis Arnoldson), Kauri Gum Merchants, Importers, and General Storekeepers. Head Office and Gum Storekeepers. Head Office and Gum Store, 38 High Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 425. Telephone 1235. Cable address, “Lichen, Auckland.” A.B.C. code used. Branch stores and kauri gum depots, Matakohe and Port Albert. It speaks well for the prosperity of the Colony in general and the energy and ability of Messrs Lichtenstein and Arnoldson in particular, when one learns that this extensive business was established only five years ago. Other firms have met, probably, with equal success when extensive capital has been used in their inauguration, but, though it may seem incredible, it is, nevertheless, true, that when Mr. Lichtenstein arrived in this colony, just six years ago, his total capital was £5, and his partner, who followed him a few months later, was even less wealthy. Yet this result has been accomplished by fair and straightforward business transactions, coupled with the unabating energy necessary to success. In another matter usually considered to be an essentialed namely, commercial tuition, the two members of the firm were heavily handicapped, as they had had no commercial training whatever. Starting operations by dealing in a very small way, they soon bettered their financial position, and at the end of a year, they opened their present store at Matakohe, and established the present firm. The business extended rapidly, and within the following year a branch store was opened at Re Point, and very shortly afterwards another store was established at Opitonui. At this latter branch the local Post and Telegraph Office was conducted by Mr. Lichtenstein. Its first disaster



befel the young firm at this place, for within a year the Opitonui store was burned to the ground, and the partners sustained considerable loss. Confidence was not shaken, however, as they soon took up a lease of some 40,000 acres of native land, and set a large number of gum-diggers to work. Other leases were ultimately acquired, and the large quantities of gum obtained necessitated the opening of a kauri gum store in Auckland. Accordingly the firm's present premises, in High Street, were taken over in April, 1900. There is a large gum store on the upper floor, where an efficient staff of competent gum sorters is constantly employed; and the head office, situated on the ground floor, is in the same building. The gum is bought from the diggers at the country stores, and forwarded to the head store in the city, where it is graded and packed in boxes for direct shipment to the Home markets. In addition to the quantity thus sent, Mr. Lichtenstein makes frequent visits to the gum-fields throughout the Northern and Southern Wairoa, and purchases large quantities of gum from the diggers on the various fields. During the summer months over 100 men are usually engaged on the gum lands leased by the firm. As nothing succeeds like success, it is to be inferred that a prosperous future will crown the efforts of Messrs Lichtenstein and Arnoldson.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Max Lichtenstein,
              one of the Partners, was born in the town of Memel, North Germany, in 1874, and is a son of the late Dr. Joseph Lichtenstein, of that place. He was educated for the medical profession in his native town, and subsequently pursued his studies at the Hospital and Medical College, Ekaterinoslav, South Russia. Desiring to see the world, he left Russia in 1893, and took an extended trip throughout the United States, returning a year later to his native land. Thence he travelled through Belgium for some months, and then left Antwerp for Australia, in the s.s. “Somerfield,” by which he landed at Port Adelaide early in 1895. After visiting Melbourne, Sydney, and Brisbane, Mr. Lichtenstein arrived almost at the end of his financial tether, so he determined to give New Zealand a trial, and came to Auckland in May of the same year, when he landed with a sum of only £5; a fact which proves that ability and energy are equal in importance to capital itself. The portrait here given is a good likeness of Mr. Lichtenstein.
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Mr. Louis Arnoldson,
              Partner in the firm, is a native of Russia, and was born in the town of Ekaterinoslav, in 1873. He is a cousin of his partner, and, like him, comes from a medical family, his father being a well-known doctor. To give his career in detail would be to repeat that of Mr. Lichtenstein, for, since boyhood, the two cousins have studied together, toured the world in each other's company, and have been ever since inseparably associated. Mr. Arnoldson, however, secured an engagement for a few months in Adelaide, but learning from his cousin that New Zealand offered better scope for them, he soon rejoined him in Auckland. In December, 1900, he married Miss Belle Ludski, of Melbourne, and he and his wife now reside at Port Albert. An excellent portrait of Mr. Arnoldson is reproduced with this article.
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Miller, Henry,
              and Co., Kauri Gum Merchants, Fort Street, Auckland. Telephone 768. P.O. Box 526. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales.

          

          

            
            


              
Mitchelson, E., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum and Timber Merchants, Little Queen Street, Auckland. This firm, the operations of which are conducted on a large scale, is referred to in another section of this volume.

          

          

            
            


              
Morton, H. B., and Co.,
              General Merchants, Kauri Gum Exporters, Shipping and Commission Agents, Customs Street East, Auckland. Telephone 635. P.O. Box 11. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales.

          

          

            
            


              
Nathan, A. H.
             , General Merchant and Kauri Gum and Produce Broker. Customs Street, Auckland. Telephones 984 and 1121. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


              
Nathan, L. D., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Exporters, Shipping Agents, and General Importers, Shortland Street, Auckland. This firm's dealings in kauri gum are of a very extensive character. The firm itself is further referred to in another section.

          

          

            
            

              

Patterson, George Warren Shaw,
             
 Kauri Gum Merchant. Head office and stores, Auckland; branch office and stores at Kaikohe. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Cable Address, “Octagon, Auckland.” Mr Patterson's business, which is one of the largest of its kind in New Zealand, was established in Kaikohe in 1886 the Auckland office being opened in 1892. He hails from Coote Hall, Roscommon, Ireland, where he was born in 1862, receiving his education in his native town. In 1879, he came to New Zealand by the ship “Waikato,” landing at Auckland. Shortly after his arrival he received an appointment as bookkeeper in the firm of Messrs. L. C. Goffe and Co., kauri gum merchants, at the Bay of Islands. On the death of Mr. Goffe the business was split up, Mr. Patterson starting for himself and founding the present business in 1886. As trade increased, he appointed his brother William, who had attained a knowledge of the business in New York, to the management of the Auckland branch. His other brother, Mr. E. H. Patterson, is the representative of the firm in New York, to which
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market the gum is principally shipped. Mr. G. W. S. Patterson was married in 1886 to Miss Goffe, a daughter of his old employer, the late Mr. L. C. Goffe, and has four children. He resides at Kaikohe, and was made a Justice of the Peace in 1893. Mr. Patterson takes a great interest in military matters, and is mentioned in the military section of this volume as Lieut.-Commanding the Ponsonby Naval Artillery Volunteers.

          

          

            
            


              

Schischka, John,
              Kauri Gum and Wool Broker, Importer, Commission Agent, Coffee and Spice Merchant, Customs and Fort Streets, Auckland. Mr. Sehischka has conducted this business for several years with considerable success, and has recently erected a very large warehouse and offices in Customs and Fort Streets.

          

          

            
            


              
Whitley, W. S.,
              Kauri Gum Merchant and Broker, 9 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 280. P.O. Box 406. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


              
Wilson, P., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Brokers and General Commission Agents, Fort Street, Auckland. Telephone 1187. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


              
Winterbourne S., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Merchants, London, New York, and Auckland; Auckland representatives, H. P. Norton and J. F. Montague. Auckland office Lower Albert Street. Telephone 499.
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Digging for kauri gum is one of the rare industries of the world, and is carried on chiefly in the northern districts of the province of Auckland. The kauri gum itself is the solidified sap of a species of pine tree which is said to be indigenous to the North Island of New Zealand. The tree, once seen, can never be mistaken for any other of the same family. It is never found in the volcanic soils, but is confined almost entirely to the clay soils, and to the sandy loams. Its trunk frequently rises to a height of upwards of 100 feet, straight, smooth, and imperceptibly decreasing in girth until it spreads into branches. Trees from eight to twelve feet through are not uncommon. They are of soft wood, of slow growth, and the timber is easily worked. The trunk of the kauri exudes gum, but it is the top of the tree that is the main source of supply. The gum, as sap, adheres to the bark, and forms into lumps, which drop off by their own weight, or the action of the weather, and get buried in the soil. However, it often happens that cavities in the trees themselves become receptacles for the oozing sap. This is termed bush gum, and is obtained by climbing the trees, not by digging. Bush gum is not so valuable as that which has been buried for a long
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Kauri Tree.

time in the ground. Kauri trees are now found only in the northern portion of the North Island of New Zealand, but they are supposed to have flourished in the south during the remote past. As the kauri is slow of growth, long-lived, and of great size, and as gum on the northern gumfields has been, and still is, found at different depths in enormous quantities, the conclusion is that hundreds, nay, thousands of years ago, the face of the country was covered with magnificent kauri forests. Yet to-day the prevailing vegetation on an average gumfield consists, if the land is dry, of scrub and fern; if it is wet, of rushes, and the general aspect is that of a treeless waste. Here and there a charred stump or a mound of earth indicates where the latest survivors of the forest have stood, and all around, the soil, whatever it may have been formerly, is now almost without nutritious properties. It consists chiefly of sand, mixed on the surface with a decayed vegetable matter, and underneath it is generally as hard as concrete, and impervious to water. Some of the gum country is in private hands, and a royalty on the gum or conditions of some sort must be arranged between the proprietor and the diggers before the latter commence work. But most of the gum-bearing land is still owned by the Government, and may generally be worked by obtaining a gum license from the local body. The gum is obtained at depths varying from a few inches to several feet, and the pieces vary in size from a hazel nut to sixty and seventy pounds in weight. Subterranean supplies, different in age from those found near the surface, have already produced large quantities. Gum is prepared for market by being scraped, and if it is perfectly clean and of good quality, it is sold as re-scraped or first-class gum at nearly double the price of ordinary or half-scraped gum. Other grades are designated three-quarter-scraped, interior ordinary, and washed nuts. Much is done to the gum after it reaches the hands of the Auckland gum merchants, who employ a large number of men in sifting, sorting, and grading it into all the classes and qualities enumerated in the sale lists of New York or London. Since the industry began the provincial district of Auckland has produced gum worth £10,000,000, and still produces it regularly to the value of about £500,000 a year. This gives to the seven or eight thousand men employed in the industry wages averaging from 15s to 40s per week, and as there are nearly 2,000,000 acres of gumbearing land, it is not likely that the supply will be soon exhausted. All the gum raised in Auckland goes to America, England, or Germany, where it is manufactured into varnish, and as kauri gum is an important constituent in the best varnishes, Auckland practically holds a monopoly, which will no doubt by-and-by give rise to an important colonial industry.
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                Arnold, Cheney and Co.
              
              (L. A. Bachelder and R. T. Fowler, managers), Kauri Gum Merchants, carry on business in Customs Street East, Auckland.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Bond And Bell



            
            


              
Bond And Bell,
              Kauri Gum Merchants and Brokers, Commerce Street, Auckland. Telephone 976. P.O. Box 331. Bankers. Bank of Australasia. Mr. Bond is referred to as a member of the Auckland City Licensing Committee.
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Carr, Johnston and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Brokers, Grain and Iron Merchants, Fort and Commerce Streets, Auckland. This firm is fully referred to under the heading of general merchants.
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Edmonds, Henry,
              Kauri Gum Merchant, 31 Customs Street, Auckland. Telephone 564. P.O. Box 270. Bankers. Union Bank of Australia.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Garlick And Lyon



            
            


              
Garlick And Lyon,
              Kauri Gum Merchants, occupy large premises in Fort Street, Auckland, and carry on an extensive business.
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Gilfillan, J. B. and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Merchants and Manufacturers Agents, Fort Street, Auckland. Telephone 297. P.O. Box 23. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Ltd. This business was established in 1888 by Mr. John Boyd Gilfillan, the third son of the late Hon. John Anderson Gilfillan, M.L.C. Mr. Gilfillan was born at Auckland on the 17th of August, 1858, and was educated at Mr Farquhar Macrae's high school, which was afterwards merged into the present Auckland Colege



and Grammar school. He commenced his mercantile life with Messrs John Reid and Co., merchants, with whom he remained for fourteen years, and then established his present business. Messrs Gilfillan and Co. are the sole representatives in New Zealand for several large English firms.
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Heather, Arthur,
              Kauri Gum Merchant, Customs Street West, Auckland. Mr. Heather was born in Auckland on the 11th of April, and is a son of Mr. D. H. Heather, who came to the Colony with the earliest Port Nicholson setters. Induced by the uusettled condition of the country, resulting from the war with Hone Heke at the Bay of Islands, Mr. D. H. Heather returned with his family to England, and left in the “Slains Castle” for Sydney, whence Mr. and Mrs. Heather and their four sons embarked in the “Mary”. But that ill-fated vessel was wrecked in Bass Strait, and by the catastrophe, Mr. Arthur Heather lost his mother and three brothers. The father and surviving son eventually reached England, where Mr. A. Heather remained to complete his education. In 1858, Mr. Arthur Heather returned to New Zealand to join his father in the Lower Waikato, but owing to the unsettled state of the country he was forced to come to Auckland where he entered the still well remembered firm of Owen and Graham. There he remained until his faithful service, and gentlemanly demeanour, gained for him admission into the firm as a partner. On the dissolution of the partnership, in 1879, Mr. Heather took over the wholesale grocery branch of the business and continued it solely on his own account. He now confines his operations to the purchase and export of kauri gum. Mr. Heather was president of the Chamber of Commerce as far back as 1878. He was for many years a very useful worker on the Harbour Board, to which he was at its foundation nominated by the Government. In church matters, Mr. Heather has always taken an active interest, filling important offices at All Saint's, St. Mark's, St. Sepulchre's, and now at St. Barnabas's, besides taking for many years a prominent part in the deliberations of the General and Diocesan Synods. Mr. Heather is an old member of Lodge Ara, I.C., and is now a past master unattached. His early experiences in the Waikato gave him a good knowledge of Maori matters, and this knowledge was of much use at the time of the Maori troubles. Mr. Heather was one of the those who attended the great meeting of disaffected natives at Kihikihi. In all innocent sport, Mr. Heather has taken a praiseworthly interest. He is president of the Association Football Club, and of the Eden and Epsom Tennis Club. This is the most successful tennis club in Auckland, and much of its popularity is due to the exertions of the president, who has occupied that office from the foundation of the society. Mr. Heather was married to Miss Browne, daughter of the late Mr. Joseph Browne, so well known to old Aucklanders, as the leader of the Choral Society and the organist of St. Matthews. Mr. and Mrs. Heather have a family of six sons and an only daughter. The eldest son, Mr. H. D. Heather, is well known in the city as the senior partner of Messrs Heather, Roberton and Co.; the second, Mr. A. B. Heather, is a farmer in the Waikato; the third, Mr. Charles Heather, is at Cambridge University, studying for the ministry; the fourth, Mr. William Heather, is associated with Mr. Thomas Macky in the management of the Northern Insurance Company; the fifth, Mr. Vincent Heather, was recommended by the Government for a commission in the Royal Field Artillery, and is now (1901) in England; and the youngest, Mr. Clande Heather, has charge of Heather, Roberton and Co.'s shipping department.
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                Heather, Roberton and Co.
              
              (H. D.) Heather and A. B. Roberton), Kauri Gum and General Merchants and Importers, Customs Street West, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Telephone 8. P.O. Box 231. This firm was founded in 1895 in succession to Mr. A. Heather, well-known and highly respected in Auckland, who purchased the business of Messrs Owen and Graham in 1879. The latter firm was one of the oldest mercantile houses in Auckland, and its reputation was worldwide in commercial circles. The present firm represents, amongst others, the following important houses:—Messrs Nelson, Moate and Co., tea importers; Tyser line of steamers; James Keiller and Sons, of Dundee; the San Jose Fruit Company of California; the United Fire and Marine Insurance Company, of Sydney; M. B. Fosters and Sons, Ltd., Bottlers, London; and Haig and Haig (whisky), London.
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Henderson, J. W.
             , Kauri Gum Buyer, 71 Queen Street, Auckland.
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Holmes And Grierson.
              Kauri Gum and Produce Brokers, Commerce Street, Auckland. Telephone 479. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Hutchinson, C.J., and Co.



            
            


              
Hutchinson, C.J., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Merchants, Fort Street, Auckland. Telephone 515. P.O. Box 18. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand.
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                Lichtenstein And Arnoldson
              
              (Max Lichtenstein and Louis Arnoldson), Kauri Gum Merchants, Importers, and General Storekeepers. Head Office and Gum Storekeepers. Head Office and Gum Store, 38 High Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 425. Telephone 1235. Cable address, “Lichen, Auckland.” A.B.C. code used. Branch stores and kauri gum depots, Matakohe and Port Albert. It speaks well for the prosperity of the Colony in general and the energy and ability of Messrs Lichtenstein and Arnoldson in particular, when one learns that this extensive business was established only five years ago. Other firms have met, probably, with equal success when extensive capital has been used in their inauguration, but, though it may seem incredible, it is, nevertheless, true, that when Mr. Lichtenstein arrived in this colony, just six years ago, his total capital was £5, and his partner, who followed him a few months later, was even less wealthy. Yet this result has been accomplished by fair and straightforward business transactions, coupled with the unabating energy necessary to success. In another matter usually considered to be an essentialed namely, commercial tuition, the two members of the firm were heavily handicapped, as they had had no commercial training whatever. Starting operations by dealing in a very small way, they soon bettered their financial position, and at the end of a year, they opened their present store at Matakohe, and established the present firm. The business extended rapidly, and within the following year a branch store was opened at Re Point, and very shortly afterwards another store was established at Opitonui. At this latter branch the local Post and Telegraph Office was conducted by Mr. Lichtenstein. Its first disaster



befel the young firm at this place, for within a year the Opitonui store was burned to the ground, and the partners sustained considerable loss. Confidence was not shaken, however, as they soon took up a lease of some 40,000 acres of native land, and set a large number of gum-diggers to work. Other leases were ultimately acquired, and the large quantities of gum obtained necessitated the opening of a kauri gum store in Auckland. Accordingly the firm's present premises, in High Street, were taken over in April, 1900. There is a large gum store on the upper floor, where an efficient staff of competent gum sorters is constantly employed; and the head office, situated on the ground floor, is in the same building. The gum is bought from the diggers at the country stores, and forwarded to the head store in the city, where it is graded and packed in boxes for direct shipment to the Home markets. In addition to the quantity thus sent, Mr. Lichtenstein makes frequent visits to the gum-fields throughout the Northern and Southern Wairoa, and purchases large quantities of gum from the diggers on the various fields. During the summer months over 100 men are usually engaged on the gum lands leased by the firm. As nothing succeeds like success, it is to be inferred that a prosperous future will crown the efforts of Messrs Lichtenstein and Arnoldson.
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Mr. Max Lichtenstein,
              one of the Partners, was born in the town of Memel, North Germany, in 1874, and is a son of the late Dr. Joseph Lichtenstein, of that place. He was educated for the medical profession in his native town, and subsequently pursued his studies at the Hospital and Medical College, Ekaterinoslav, South Russia. Desiring to see the world, he left Russia in 1893, and took an extended trip throughout the United States, returning a year later to his native land. Thence he travelled through Belgium for some months, and then left Antwerp for Australia, in the s.s. “Somerfield,” by which he landed at Port Adelaide early in 1895. After visiting Melbourne, Sydney, and Brisbane, Mr. Lichtenstein arrived almost at the end of his financial tether, so he determined to give New Zealand a trial, and came to Auckland in May of the same year, when he landed with a sum of only £5; a fact which proves that ability and energy are equal in importance to capital itself. The portrait here given is a good likeness of Mr. Lichtenstein.
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Mr. Louis Arnoldson,
              Partner in the firm, is a native of Russia, and was born in the town of Ekaterinoslav, in 1873. He is a cousin of his partner, and, like him, comes from a medical family, his father being a well-known doctor. To give his career in detail would be to repeat that of Mr. Lichtenstein, for, since boyhood, the two cousins have studied together, toured the world in each other's company, and have been ever since inseparably associated. Mr. Arnoldson, however, secured an engagement for a few months in Adelaide, but learning from his cousin that New Zealand offered better scope for them, he soon rejoined him in Auckland. In December, 1900, he married Miss Belle Ludski, of Melbourne, and he and his wife now reside at Port Albert. An excellent portrait of Mr. Arnoldson is reproduced with this article.
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Miller, Henry,
              and Co., Kauri Gum Merchants, Fort Street, Auckland. Telephone 768. P.O. Box 526. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales.
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Mitchelson, E., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum and Timber Merchants, Little Queen Street, Auckland. This firm, the operations of which are conducted on a large scale, is referred to in another section of this volume.
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Morton, H. B., and Co.,
              General Merchants, Kauri Gum Exporters, Shipping and Commission Agents, Customs Street East, Auckland. Telephone 635. P.O. Box 11. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales.
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Nathan, A. H.
             , General Merchant and Kauri Gum and Produce Broker. Customs Street, Auckland. Telephones 984 and 1121. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.
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Nathan, L. D., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Exporters, Shipping Agents, and General Importers, Shortland Street, Auckland. This firm's dealings in kauri gum are of a very extensive character. The firm itself is further referred to in another section.
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Patterson, George Warren Shaw,
             
 Kauri Gum Merchant. Head office and stores, Auckland; branch office and stores at Kaikohe. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Cable Address, “Octagon, Auckland.” Mr Patterson's business, which is one of the largest of its kind in New Zealand, was established in Kaikohe in 1886 the Auckland office being opened in 1892. He hails from Coote Hall, Roscommon, Ireland, where he was born in 1862, receiving his education in his native town. In 1879, he came to New Zealand by the ship “Waikato,” landing at Auckland. Shortly after his arrival he received an appointment as bookkeeper in the firm of Messrs. L. C. Goffe and Co., kauri gum merchants, at the Bay of Islands. On the death of Mr. Goffe the business was split up, Mr. Patterson starting for himself and founding the present business in 1886. As trade increased, he appointed his brother William, who had attained a knowledge of the business in New York, to the management of the Auckland branch. His other brother, Mr. E. H. Patterson, is the representative of the firm in New York, to which


[image: Mr. G. W. S. Patterson.]

Mr. 
G. W. S. Patterson.





market the gum is principally shipped. Mr. G. W. S. Patterson was married in 1886 to Miss Goffe, a daughter of his old employer, the late Mr. L. C. Goffe, and has four children. He resides at Kaikohe, and was made a Justice of the Peace in 1893. Mr. Patterson takes a great interest in military matters, and is mentioned in the military section of this volume as Lieut.-Commanding the Ponsonby Naval Artillery Volunteers.
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Schischka, John,
              Kauri Gum and Wool Broker, Importer, Commission Agent, Coffee and Spice Merchant, Customs and Fort Streets, Auckland. Mr. Sehischka has conducted this business for several years with considerable success, and has recently erected a very large warehouse and offices in Customs and Fort Streets.
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Whitley, W. S.,
              Kauri Gum Merchant and Broker, 9 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 280. P.O. Box 406. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.
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Wilson, P., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Brokers and General Commission Agents, Fort Street, Auckland. Telephone 1187. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.
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Winterbourne S., and Co.,
              Kauri Gum Merchants, London, New York, and Auckland; Auckland representatives, H. P. Norton and J. F. Montague. Auckland office Lower Albert Street. Telephone 499.
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Merchants, Warehousemen, Etc.

          

            
Including—Exporters and Importers, General Merchants, Warehousemen, Wool Brokers, and Manufacturers.

          

          

            
            


              

                Abbott, Oram, and Co.
              
              (R. H. Abbott, J. W. Abbott, and Charles Murray Oram), Warehousemen and Importers, Strand Arcade, Auckland. The original style of this firm was R. H. Abbott and Co., and it was founded in 1891, when the Messrs Abbott started in Wellington as wholesale drapers. In 1893 Mr. R. Abbott went to London to make arrangements for systematic and continuous buying on the firm's behalf in the large primary markets, and the negotiations opened by him with that end in view resulted in Mr. C. M. Oram, who had for years been buyer for the large firm of Messrs W. McArthur and Co., joining the firm. Mr. Oram still resides in London, where his long experience and exceptional opportunities enable him to make those well-timed and discriminating purchases which place the firm in New Zealand in the very best position to supply the colonial market with the goods it most desires at the time it most needs them. The firm's Wellington branch is in charge of Mr. J. W. Abbott, and Mr. R. H. Abbott is at the headquarters in Auckland; and nine travellers are employed by the firm, chiefly in the North Island and in the northern districts of the Middle Island.

          

          

            
            


              

                Brown, Barrett and Co.
              
              (John Mckail Geddes), Tea, Coffee, and Spice Merchants, and General Importers, Customs Street East, Auckland. Telephone 626. P.O. Box 56. Cable address, “Coffee”; code, “Reuter's.” Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Geddes arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Nelson,” in 1862. The business was founded in 1868, and Mr. Geddes, who joined as a partner in 1870, became sole proprietor in May, 1892. The firm has made its name through the excellence of its productions in Excelsior coffee, coffee essence, Butterfly teas, and baking powder.
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Brown, Campbell and Co.,
              General Merchants, 29 Shortland Street, Auckland. Telephone 158. P.O. Box 31. Bankers. Bank of New Zealand. This, the first mercantile firm established in Auckland, was founded in 1840 by Messrs Brown and Campbell, who, in the following year, at the first town sales held in Auckland, purchased the allotment on which the business has ever since been conducted. At that time the shore-line, since far removed by reclamation, came up to what is now Shortland Street, and it was there, in the neighbourhood of sea waves and waste land, that Messrs Brown and Campbell built primitive premises for their business, then necessarily a small one. But as the settlement grew, so did the trade of the firm. In 1869 Dr. J. Logan Campbell was appointed by the Committee of Lloyds to represent it at the port of Auckland, and he held the position till 1900, when the business was transferred to the Campbell and Ehrenfried Company, Limited, of which Dr. Campbell is Chairman of Directors. Both Mr. Brown and Dr. Campbell are fully referred to in the section devoted to the Superintendents of Auckland.

          

          

            
            

              
Carr, Johnston and Co.,
             
 General Merchants, Fort and Commerce Streets, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. This business was established by Mr. Richard A. Carr in 1884, and Mr. Henry Johnston became a partner in 1888. The firm devotes its attention
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chiefly to Oriental, Island, and New Zealand produce, and is believed to be the largest importer in Auckland of rice, raw coffee, kapok, gunnies, castor and linseed oil, and Singapore goods. Its exports consist of copra, flax, coffee, lime-juice, and tanekaha bark. English and foreign manufactures, such as fencing wires of all descriptions, corrugated iron, wire nails, cement, and American canned fruits are largely dealt in. The firm's main building has a frontage to both Commerce Street and Fort Street, and the offices are handsome, well-lighted, and roomy. Additional premises are used for the storage of heavy goods, such as corrugated iron, cement, grain, etc. Mr. Carr is a director of the South British Fire and Marine Insurance Company of New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


              
Clark, Archibald And Sons. Ltd.,
              Warehousemen and Manufacturers, Shortland Street, Auckland. Directors; Messrs A. Clark, M. A. Clark, C. C. McMillan. A. M. Clark, and H. C. Clark; secretary, Mr. W. J. Rees. Branches at Wellington, Wanganui, Napier, and Gisborne. London offices: 7 Edmund Place, Aldersgate Street, E.C. This is one of the oldest firms in the Colony, and was founded by the late Mr. Archibald Clark on the 1st of January, 1850. A successful business man in his native town, Beith, Scotland, but fully realising the possibilities before the comparatively young colonies of Australia and New Zealand, Mr. Clark determined to emigrate, and was induced to come to New Zealand by Mr. Commons, a resident of Auckland, then on a visit to his native land, and who described in glowing language the climate, soil, and great prospects of his adopted country. After his arrival in New Zealand Mr. Clark took a great interest in all public affairs, was a member of the ola Provincial Council, and was several times elected to the House of Representatives. On taking his son, Mr. J. McCosh Clark, into partnership, the firm became Archibald Clark and Son, which again was altered to Archibald Clark and Sons when his son-in-law, Mr. J. Y. Stevenson, was admitted a partner. Subsequently Mr. Archibald Clark, junior, and Mr. M. A. Clark, became partners, and they are now the managing directors of the company, into which the business was converted on the death of Mr. J. M. Clark in 1898; Mr. Archibald Clark having died in 1875, and Mr. Stevenson in 1878. The company is a private one, there being no share-holders except the members of the family. In addition to its warehouse business, the company is a very large manufacturer of clothing and shirts, its trade marks being the “Chief Brand” in clothing, and “Zealandia” in shirts. It has just completed the erection of a large new factory at Grey Lynn, Auckland, for the manufacture of every description of shirts and collars. This building is 220 feet in length and 75 feet in width, and is capable of accommodating about 500 hands. The dining rooms, cloak rooms, etc., are all on the basement, which also contains the engines, shafting, etc. Archibald Clark and Sons, Ltd., is the first firm in the Colony to take up the manufacture of white shirts and collars on a wholesale scale, and its success is shown by the number of gold medals taken at the various Colonial Exhibitions and by the constantly expanding trade.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Matthew Anderson Clark
              
              is a member of the firm of Messrs. Archibald Clark and Sons, warehousemen, of Auckland. He was born in Auckland in 1851, is the fifth son of the late Mr. Archibald Clark, and was educated at Mr. Farquhar McRae's High school, Auckland, and at the Elmbank Academy, Glasgow. In 1869 he entered his father's warehouse to learn the business, and was admitted as a partner about six years later. Mr. Clark has been a member of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce for upwards of twenty years, and the beneficial influence he has exerted in that body was suitably acknowledged in 1895 by his election to the chairmanship, in 1897 the Chamber elected him to represent it on the Auckland Harbour Board. He was treasurer of the Chamber of Mines, and in many other ways Mr Clark has well earned the general esteem in which he is held. In connection with the s.s. “Wairarapa Relief Fund” he took a very active and liberal interest. As a hearty supporter of innocent outdoor sports, and as a member of the management committee for many years of St. Andrew's Church, Mr. Clark has exerted an influence for good, which has been far reaching in its effect. In 1885 Mr. Clark visited Europe a second time, and returned to New Zealand during the following year. Mr. Clark was married, in 1881, to Miss Beveridge, daughter of the late Mr. Andrew Beveridge, barrister, of Auckland, and has a family of three daughters.
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                Entrican, A. J. and Co.
              
              (Andrew Jack Entrican and James Cuthbertson Entrican), General Merchants, Tyrone Buildings, Customs Street, Auckland. P.O. Box, 122. Telephone 286. Cable address, “Entrican.” Code A.B.C., Fourth Edition. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residences, Mr. A. J. Entrican, Hepburn Street; Mr. J.C.Entrican, Stanley Street, Devonport. The business of Messrs A. J. Entrican and Co. was established by the senior partner in 1887, and about five years later, Mr J. C. Entrican joined the firm. The agencies include those of the Phænix Jam and Confectionery Co., Dunedin; Mr. John Newton, soap and candle manufacturer, Wellington; Mr. H. E. Shacklock, range-maker, Dunedin; Mr. T. Kincaid, bacon curer, Christchurch; Messrs Lichter and Co., manufacturing chemists, Sydney; Messrs De Carle and Son, manufacturing chemists, Norwich, England; Mr. Thomas Curr, essence of coffee manufacturer, Aberdeen; and Messrs Hobbs Bros., whose apiary is declared to yield the best honey produced in New Zealand. Messrs Entrican and Co. send this honey as far as Colombo. Mr. A. J. Entrican is referred to on pages 
118 and 119 of this volume, as a member of the Auckland City Council.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Cuthbertson Entrican,
              A member of the firm of A. J. Entrican and Co., was born near Sion, County Tyrone, Ireland, in the year 1864, and received his education at the Edward's National School, Castlederg, the headmaster, Mr. James McGranahan, being now the Rev. James McGranahan, M.A., of Townsend Presbyterian Church, Belfast. On leaving school Mr. Entrican was indentured to a Liverpool merchant, and, after completing his apprenticeship, he decided to go to the colonies. In 1885 he came to this Colony, in the s.s. “Tongariro,” and made Auckland his home. Shortly after his arrival he entered into partnership with Mr R. W. Gallaugher, under the style of Gallaugher and Entrican, grocers and Italian warehousemen, Victoria Street West, Auckland. At the end of seven years he retired from the firm and joined his brother, Mr A. J. Entrican, in the business founded by the latter some years



previously, and referred to in another article. Mr. J. C. Entrican resides at Stanley Street, Devonport, and occupied a sent in the local Borough Council for several years, He is a Sunday school teacher in connection with the Devonport Presbyterian Church and a member of the Kirk session; as an elder, he, in conjunction with the Rev. R. Ferguson, represented the church at the General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church of New Zealand, held in Christchurch. Mr. Entrican is an enthusiastic numismatist and philatelist, and his collections of coins and stamps are very fine.
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                Hayman, P., and Co.
              
              (Mr. Lionel N. Benjamin, manager), General Merchants, Customs Street East, Auckland. Head Office, Coleman Street, London, E.C. Head Office for the Colony, Dunedin; branches at Auckland, Wellington, and Christchurch. This firm does an extensive business throughout the Colony, and is a direct importer of everything in which it deals. The large warehouse in Customs Street is a substantial brick building, four stories in height. The firm's Wellington branch is referred to in the Wellington volume of this work.

          

          

            
            


              

                Henderson And Macfarlane
              
              (George Dunnet, junior, Auckland; and Henry William Henderson, Pitt Street, Sydney), General Merchants, Fort Street, Auckland. Messrs Henderson and Maefarlane are Proprietors of the Circular Saw Line of Vessels; Island traders; Agents for the Messageries Maritimes, Nippon Yusen Kaisha Imperial Japanese Line, London and Lancashire Fire Insurance Company, Canton Marine Insurance Company, and Correspondents for the Aberdeen Line; Representatives of the New York Board of Underwriters and of the Hamburg Board of Underwriters. London Agents: James Morrison and Co., Ltd., 4 Fenchurch Street (late agents for the New Zealand Government); Cable Code, A1, A.B.C., and private code. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Telephone 203. P.O. Box 125. This firm was established by the late Mr. Thomas Henderson, as far back as 1842. The business grew and expanded with the growth of the province, until the firm's connection extended over the Australasian Colonies, Polynesia, America, and Great Britain. The firm established and partly built the fleet of vessels known as the Circular-Saw line. This fleet includes the celebrated barque “Novelty,” built at Mechanics' Buy, Auckland, by the late Mr. Henry Niccol. The “Novelty” holds the record for a sailing vessel for the passage between Sydney and Auckland. Other crack liners owned by the firm were the “Alice Cameron,” “Kate Breadalbane,” “Sir George Grey,” “Neva,” “Thos. W. Howse,” and others, which were employed in carrying and bringing miscellaneous cargoes to and from California, Australia, and Polynesia. During the Maori war, the firm obtained the contract from the Imperial and Colonial Governments for the whole of the flour used by the troops, and imported it from Chili, California, and South Australia. Prior to the advent of steam between New Zealand and Australia, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane established the first regular line of packet vessels between Sydney and Auckland, and the service was carried on until the establishment of the Panama Steamship Company in 1865. The firm thereupon withdrew its vessels from the Australian trade and employed them as traders in various parts of the globe, and in 1870 they were confined exclusively to the South Seas. When the Panama Steamship Company went into liquidation, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane purchased several of its vessels, including the steamers “Claude Hamilton.” “Phoæbe”—now employed as a collier in Australian waters—and the “Lord Ashley,” and “Airedale,” subsequently wrecked. The steamers were employed in the interprovincial trade of the colony until the Union Steamship Company commenced operations, when Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane became its agents in Auckland, and continued to act as such up to the time when the Union Company opened its Auckland branch under the management of Mr. Thomas Henderson, junior, who retained the position until 1899, when he was transferred to Hobart to act as Tasmanian representative of the company. In September, 1898, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane sold their Western Pacific trade to the Pacific Island Company, which also acquired the s.s. “Archer,” and a few sailing vessels; the firm, however, still retains the Eastern Pacific trade, which produces large quantities of pearl shell, vanilla, cotton, copra, etc., the whole of which is exported to America and Europe. One noteworthy incident in the history of the firm is also worthy of note as an incident in the history of the Colony. In the early sixties, when the first, second, and third Waikato Regiments were being enlisted in Melbourne by Colonel Pitt, Mr. Henderson guaranteed the New Zealand Government to the extent of £40,000, and for this he was afterwards thanked by Parliament. It was Mr. Henderson, too, who first introduced pheasants to New Zealand, to which he brought the birds from China.

          

          

            
            


              

Hilion, George Philip,
              Importer and Commission Agent, 8 Ranfurly Buildings, 87 Queen Street, Auckland. Private residence, Hobson Street. Mr. Hilton was born in Liverpool, England, in 1844, and was educated in London and on the Continent. He became a civil and mining engineer, and travelled much before landing in Auckland, in 1860. Mr. Hilton was one of the pioneers of the Thames, and was second in command of the Big Pump for several years. He was engineer to the Moanataiari Company for six years, and designed and supervised the erection of several batteries. The Southern Cross Petroleum Company's works at Rotokautuku, Poverty Bay, were managed by him for two years, and he supervised the erection of the most modern boring apparatus. He was for over four years manager of the Cromwell Gold Mining Company's mine, where he erected pumping, winding, and electrical plants. Afterwards he was employed by the Castle Company as constructor of cyanide plants, and carried out extensive experiments to prove the suitability of this method of treatment for various ores. Mr. Hilton claims to have been one of the first to introduce rock drills driven by compressed air, and the electric lighting of mines; and was the inventor of five systems of aerial wire tramway, and also of the gravity arm. He is one of the patentees of improvements for overcoming the skin friction of vessels. While at the Thames he studied at the School of Mines, and became qualified as an assayet and mineralogist. Mr. Hilton was married, in 1864, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Blagden, of London, and has three sons.

          

          

            
            


              

Hodgson, James,
              Importer of Woollens, and Tailors' Trimmings, Victoria Street East, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. P.O. Box 185. Telephone 946. This firm was established by the present proprietor in 1887. Mr. Hodgson came to New Zealand in 1879 by the s.s. “Ionic, from London. After devoting himself for a year or two to the study of New Zealand trade, he recognised the importance of the tailoring trade, and determined to cater exclusively for it. His experience of manufacturing in Yorkshire enables him to purchase to the best advantage in the Home markets. He receives imported goods by every steamer, and so is able to keep up to date in everything connected with the tailoring trade, and to have supplies of the choicest and newest patterns. Mr. Hodgson also does a large business in New Zealand woollens, as he is desirous of fostering an industry of such importance to the colony. The premises are built of brick, and consist of two floors, with a total floorage space exceeding 5000 square feet. Though the business is of recent origin, its connection extends throughout New Zealand, and Mr. Hodgson's representatives regularly visit the various, towns. It is evident from the steady progress made in the past, and from the increase in trade year by year, that Mr. Hodgson's business will soon be one of the largest of its kind in New Zealand.

          

          

            
            


              

Hooton, John Peter,
              Importer and Manufacturers' Agent, 22 Durham Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 717, Telephone 112. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private address, Silverdale, Mount Eden. Mr Hooton was born at Macclesfield, Cheshire, England, and is the second son of Mr David Hooton, silk manufacturer, of Macclesfield. He was educated at the grammar school of his native city, and there gained the title of Associate in Arts of the University of Oxford. In 1879 he landed in Sydney, where he remained for a few months, and was appointed



judge of raw cotton at the Sydney Exhibition. Mr Hooton arrived in Auckland in 1880 and commenced business as importer and manufacturers' agent. He acquired numerous agencies from influential English and Continental firms and greatly extended his connection while on a visit to England in 1893. Mr Hooton, who is very musical, held the post of organist at the Beresford Street Congregational Church, and on his resignation, in 1896, he was appointed honorary organist in recognition of his past services.
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Hopkins, Richard Harris,
              Importer, Fort Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Telephone 720. P.O. Box 422. Cable address, “Emblem”; Code, A.B.C. Established in 1891. Mr. Honkins is a large importer of spices, of salt and butchers' requisites, and is the sole agent for the celebrated “Preservaline” and the “Swift” Silent Sausage Machines with enamelled bowls. A large connection is maintained throughout the colony, and Mr. Hopkins is doing a sound and lucrative business.

          

          

            
            


              
Macfarlane, J. B.,
              Commission Merchant and Grain Broker. Fort Street, Auckland. Cable address, “Tenax.” Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr Macfarlane carries on a large grain and produce business, which was established about fifteen years ago. He is agent for the Mataura Paper Mills, St. George's Preserving Works, Ireland and Co., millers, Oamaru, Symington's Essence of Coffee and Chicory, and several other general lines. He has correspondents in both England and America. The premises consist of a two-storey building, with a stucco frontage of eighty feet. The head offices are in the original building, which was purchased by Mr Macfarlane, the additions having been built by him. The storehouses have a capacity of one thousand tons. Mr Macfarlane was born in Glasgow and educated at Home. He came to New Zealand about twenty-five years ago from London, and after engaging in mercantile pursuits in Dunedin for some time he started his present business in Auckland.
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Macky, Logan, Steen and Co.,
              Warehousemen and Manufacturers, Victoria, Elliot, and Darby Streets, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Telephones, 968 and 133. P.O. Box 277. Cable address. “Telometrie.” Code, “Reuter's.” This firm was established by its present proprietors in 1882, and has made rapid strides to its present prominent position in the Colony. The main branch of the firm's business is that of soft goods warehousemen and importers, and it keeps a large stock of every kind of soft goods in every department. Great discretion is shown in the assortment and variety of the goods kept, and the firm is always among the first to introduce the latest British and Continental novelties. Purchases from the manufacturers are made direct from the firm's London office, at which there is always at least one of the partners. Every precaution is taken in shipping goods by the earliest mail steamers. The woollen branch, with all tailors' requisites, is a specialty, and contains a large stock with up-to-date patterns. The firm's factory makes up English and New Zealand woollens, and supplies the warehouse with all ready-made clothing; and the fact that this branch has increased to very large dimensions, speaks well for the quality of the goods. The firm manufactures the celebrated “Cambridge” brand of clothing and shirts, which are fast becoming famous all over the colony, for their superior finish, variety and value. The premises face three thoroughfares; they are built of brick and stone, and have two stories and a basement, and the principal entrance is from Victoria Street, where there is a stone frontage. The Elliot Street entrance gives immediate access to the Manchester department, and the Darby Street, to the clothing and mercery department; and the whole building occupies a floorage space of 28,000 square feet. To facilitate the dispatch and receipt of large quantities of heavy goods, a lift, driven by hydraulic power, is employed on the premises. The firm employs seven representatives, who visit even the remotest town in the Colony, with the industrial expansion of which the firm's business keeps a steady corresponding pace. Fifteen years ago the firm opened an important branch in Wellington, which has also grown rapidly, and now occupies fine commanding premises in Harbour Street. The managing partners in New Zealand are Messrs C. Macky and D. R. Caldwell. In London the firm is styled Steen, Macky, Logan, and Caldwell, and its office is Auckland House, Basinghall Street. E.C.

          

          

            
            


              

                Nathan, L. D. and Co.
              
              (Lawrence David Nathan and Nathan Alfred Nathan). Shortland Street, Auckland. This mercantile house was founded by the late Mr. David Nathan in January, 1840, simultaneously with the proclamation of New Zealand as a British possession. Mr. Nathan purchased the site of the present warehouse in Shortland Street as a quarter-acre section at one of the first Government land sales, and it has been the headquarters of the business ever since. Besides these rine premises, the firm had magnificent five-storey kauri gum and produce stores in Customs and Commerce Streets, and a commodious tea warehouse in Customs Street, fitted up with the latest machinery for tea blending and packing, but this block was recently destroyed by one of the most disastrous fires ever known in Auckland. The present members of the firm are the two sons of the founder, and they carry on the business of wine and spirit and general merchants, shipping, fire and marine insurance agents, and general produce brokers. As shipping and



marine insurance agents, they represent the Shaw, Savill, and Albion Company, Limited, and have also acted as local agents for the Messrs Huddart, Parker and Co. Proprietary, Limited, since this firm took up its running in the New Zealand trade, and for the China Traders' Insurance Co., Limited, a well-known and old-established company. As brokers, they are the largest handlers of kauri gum, for more than half the gum which reaches Auckland goes through their hands. They are also large traders in flax, maize, and all other classes of produce. They do a large trade in groceries of every kind, and in fancy goods, and are agents for, or importers of, the best wines and spirits the world produces. Their “Standard” brands of teas and coffees are popular in the market, and command a great sale. The ostrich farm at Whitford Park, which is about twenty miles from town, in the direction of Howick, is also owned by the Messrs Nathan, who, in their private capacity, are enthusiastic sportsmen, and notable breeders of thoroughbreds. They are the owners of a first-class farm at Sylvia Park, made famous as the home of Musket, and the birthplace of such celebrities of the turf as Carbine, Trenton, Nordenfeldt, Cuirassier, Hotchkiss, and Carnage.

          

          

            
            


              
The New Zealand Loan And Mercantile Agency Company,
              Limited (Mr. Frank Bodle, manager), Stock Salesmen, Wool and Produce Brokers, and General Commission Agents, corner of Albert and Custom Streets, Auckland. Telephone 417. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Head Office, London; Chief Office for the Colony, Featherston Street, Wellington. A descriptive article on this important company is given on page 716 of the Wellington volume. For many years the Auckland business was conducted in large offices in Queen Street, but, owing to increasing operations, more commodious premises became necessary. The present site was accordingly secured, and the company's large and imposing brick building was completed early in 1901. The building is of three stories in height, and has a floor space of 36,000 square feet. The business transacted throuth the Auckland branch is very extensive, and regular sales are held by the company in Auckland, Newmarket, Papakura, Pukekohe, Waiuku, and Tuakau. Periodical cattle, sheep, and horse fairs, and wool sales are also held, and are well attended. Large consignments of wool, tallow, maize, kauri gum, and agricultural produce, are received for disposal in the London and Colonial markets. The company has branches in every town of importance in New Zealand, and in the chief cities of Australia.

          

          

            
            


              
Sargood, Son, and 
Ewen
              (Messrs T. Finlayson and H. C. Tewsley, local managers), Warehousemen and General Importers, Victoria Street West, Auckland; also, London, Melbourne, Sydney, Perth, Wellington, Christchurch, and Dunedin; and agencies in every district. This old-established firm is one of the most important of its kind in the Colony, and its operations are very extensive. Not only is drapery and clothing of every description imported and held in large stocks, but also stationery, tobacconists', and chemists' goods, perfumery, cutlery, tennis, and cricket requisites, English and Colonial boots and shoes, grindery and leather of every description. A descriptive and historical article on the firm is given in the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia, at pages 716, 717, and 718, where there is also an engraving of the firm's Wellington house.

          

          

            
            


              
Seegner, Langguth and Co.,
              General Importers of Merchandise, and Exporters of New Zealand Produce, Fort Street, Auckland. Mr. Carl Seegner is Chief German Consul for the Colony in Auckland, and Mr. Eugene Langguth is Consul for Austria-Hungary. The firm began business in 1884, and amongst the many agencies held by it one of the principal is that of the North German Lloyd Steamship Company. The firm is also agent for the General Electrical Company of Berlin, and is in a favourable position to supply complete installation of electric light, on terms specially advantageous to the customer. Surgical instruments, dental materials, and chemists' sundries form a most interesting display in the firm's rooms. As a matter of fact, Messrs Seegner, Langguth and Co.'s business is of an exceptionally miscellaneous character, and the firm deals in a wider range of trade than ordinary merchants. This is largely to be accounted for by the fact that the firm buys and exports New Zealand produce extensively, and instead of sending money out of the colony to pay for their imports, Messrs Seegner, Langguth and Co. pay “in kind,” by exporting to the European markets kauri gum, tallow, grass seeds, fruits, etc
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                Abbott, Oram, and Co.
              
              (R. H. Abbott, J. W. Abbott, and Charles Murray Oram), Warehousemen and Importers, Strand Arcade, Auckland. The original style of this firm was R. H. Abbott and Co., and it was founded in 1891, when the Messrs Abbott started in Wellington as wholesale drapers. In 1893 Mr. R. Abbott went to London to make arrangements for systematic and continuous buying on the firm's behalf in the large primary markets, and the negotiations opened by him with that end in view resulted in Mr. C. M. Oram, who had for years been buyer for the large firm of Messrs W. McArthur and Co., joining the firm. Mr. Oram still resides in London, where his long experience and exceptional opportunities enable him to make those well-timed and discriminating purchases which place the firm in New Zealand in the very best position to supply the colonial market with the goods it most desires at the time it most needs them. The firm's Wellington branch is in charge of Mr. J. W. Abbott, and Mr. R. H. Abbott is at the headquarters in Auckland; and nine travellers are employed by the firm, chiefly in the North Island and in the northern districts of the Middle Island.
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                Brown, Barrett and Co.
              
              (John Mckail Geddes), Tea, Coffee, and Spice Merchants, and General Importers, Customs Street East, Auckland. Telephone 626. P.O. Box 56. Cable address, “Coffee”; code, “Reuter's.” Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Geddes arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Nelson,” in 1862. The business was founded in 1868, and Mr. Geddes, who joined as a partner in 1870, became sole proprietor in May, 1892. The firm has made its name through the excellence of its productions in Excelsior coffee, coffee essence, Butterfly teas, and baking powder.
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Mr. J. Mc K. Geddes.
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Brown, Campbell and Co.,
              General Merchants, 29 Shortland Street, Auckland. Telephone 158. P.O. Box 31. Bankers. Bank of New Zealand. This, the first mercantile firm established in Auckland, was founded in 1840 by Messrs Brown and Campbell, who, in the following year, at the first town sales held in Auckland, purchased the allotment on which the business has ever since been conducted. At that time the shore-line, since far removed by reclamation, came up to what is now Shortland Street, and it was there, in the neighbourhood of sea waves and waste land, that Messrs Brown and Campbell built primitive premises for their business, then necessarily a small one. But as the settlement grew, so did the trade of the firm. In 1869 Dr. J. Logan Campbell was appointed by the Committee of Lloyds to represent it at the port of Auckland, and he held the position till 1900, when the business was transferred to the Campbell and Ehrenfried Company, Limited, of which Dr. Campbell is Chairman of Directors. Both Mr. Brown and Dr. Campbell are fully referred to in the section devoted to the Superintendents of Auckland.
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Carr, Johnston and Co.,
             
 General Merchants, Fort and Commerce Streets, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. This business was established by Mr. Richard A. Carr in 1884, and Mr. Henry Johnston became a partner in 1888. The firm devotes its attention
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Messrs Carr, Johnston & Co.'s Premises.





chiefly to Oriental, Island, and New Zealand produce, and is believed to be the largest importer in Auckland of rice, raw coffee, kapok, gunnies, castor and linseed oil, and Singapore goods. Its exports consist of copra, flax, coffee, lime-juice, and tanekaha bark. English and foreign manufactures, such as fencing wires of all descriptions, corrugated iron, wire nails, cement, and American canned fruits are largely dealt in. The firm's main building has a frontage to both Commerce Street and Fort Street, and the offices are handsome, well-lighted, and roomy. Additional premises are used for the storage of heavy goods, such as corrugated iron, cement, grain, etc. Mr. Carr is a director of the South British Fire and Marine Insurance Company of New Zealand.
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Clark, Archibald And Sons. Ltd.,
              Warehousemen and Manufacturers, Shortland Street, Auckland. Directors; Messrs A. Clark, M. A. Clark, C. C. McMillan. A. M. Clark, and H. C. Clark; secretary, Mr. W. J. Rees. Branches at Wellington, Wanganui, Napier, and Gisborne. London offices: 7 Edmund Place, Aldersgate Street, E.C. This is one of the oldest firms in the Colony, and was founded by the late Mr. Archibald Clark on the 1st of January, 1850. A successful business man in his native town, Beith, Scotland, but fully realising the possibilities before the comparatively young colonies of Australia and New Zealand, Mr. Clark determined to emigrate, and was induced to come to New Zealand by Mr. Commons, a resident of Auckland, then on a visit to his native land, and who described in glowing language the climate, soil, and great prospects of his adopted country. After his arrival in New Zealand Mr. Clark took a great interest in all public affairs, was a member of the ola Provincial Council, and was several times elected to the House of Representatives. On taking his son, Mr. J. McCosh Clark, into partnership, the firm became Archibald Clark and Son, which again was altered to Archibald Clark and Sons when his son-in-law, Mr. J. Y. Stevenson, was admitted a partner. Subsequently Mr. Archibald Clark, junior, and Mr. M. A. Clark, became partners, and they are now the managing directors of the company, into which the business was converted on the death of Mr. J. M. Clark in 1898; Mr. Archibald Clark having died in 1875, and Mr. Stevenson in 1878. The company is a private one, there being no share-holders except the members of the family. In addition to its warehouse business, the company is a very large manufacturer of clothing and shirts, its trade marks being the “Chief Brand” in clothing, and “Zealandia” in shirts. It has just completed the erection of a large new factory at Grey Lynn, Auckland, for the manufacture of every description of shirts and collars. This building is 220 feet in length and 75 feet in width, and is capable of accommodating about 500 hands. The dining rooms, cloak rooms, etc., are all on the basement, which also contains the engines, shafting, etc. Archibald Clark and Sons, Ltd., is the first firm in the Colony to take up the manufacture of white shirts and collars on a wholesale scale, and its success is shown by the number of gold medals taken at the various Colonial Exhibitions and by the constantly expanding trade.
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Mr. Matthew Anderson Clark
              
              is a member of the firm of Messrs. Archibald Clark and Sons, warehousemen, of Auckland. He was born in Auckland in 1851, is the fifth son of the late Mr. Archibald Clark, and was educated at Mr. Farquhar McRae's High school, Auckland, and at the Elmbank Academy, Glasgow. In 1869 he entered his father's warehouse to learn the business, and was admitted as a partner about six years later. Mr. Clark has been a member of the Auckland Chamber of Commerce for upwards of twenty years, and the beneficial influence he has exerted in that body was suitably acknowledged in 1895 by his election to the chairmanship, in 1897 the Chamber elected him to represent it on the Auckland Harbour Board. He was treasurer of the Chamber of Mines, and in many other ways Mr Clark has well earned the general esteem in which he is held. In connection with the s.s. “Wairarapa Relief Fund” he took a very active and liberal interest. As a hearty supporter of innocent outdoor sports, and as a member of the management committee for many years of St. Andrew's Church, Mr. Clark has exerted an influence for good, which has been far reaching in its effect. In 1885 Mr. Clark visited Europe a second time, and returned to New Zealand during the following year. Mr. Clark was married, in 1881, to Miss Beveridge, daughter of the late Mr. Andrew Beveridge, barrister, of Auckland, and has a family of three daughters.
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Messrs A. Clark & Sons' Premises.
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                Entrican, A. J. and Co.
              
              (Andrew Jack Entrican and James Cuthbertson Entrican), General Merchants, Tyrone Buildings, Customs Street, Auckland. P.O. Box, 122. Telephone 286. Cable address, “Entrican.” Code A.B.C., Fourth Edition. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residences, Mr. A. J. Entrican, Hepburn Street; Mr. J.C.Entrican, Stanley Street, Devonport. The business of Messrs A. J. Entrican and Co. was established by the senior partner in 1887, and about five years later, Mr J. C. Entrican joined the firm. The agencies include those of the Phænix Jam and Confectionery Co., Dunedin; Mr. John Newton, soap and candle manufacturer, Wellington; Mr. H. E. Shacklock, range-maker, Dunedin; Mr. T. Kincaid, bacon curer, Christchurch; Messrs Lichter and Co., manufacturing chemists, Sydney; Messrs De Carle and Son, manufacturing chemists, Norwich, England; Mr. Thomas Curr, essence of coffee manufacturer, Aberdeen; and Messrs Hobbs Bros., whose apiary is declared to yield the best honey produced in New Zealand. Messrs Entrican and Co. send this honey as far as Colombo. Mr. A. J. Entrican is referred to on pages 
118 and 119 of this volume, as a member of the Auckland City Council.
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Mr. James Cuthbertson Entrican,
              A member of the firm of A. J. Entrican and Co., was born near Sion, County Tyrone, Ireland, in the year 1864, and received his education at the Edward's National School, Castlederg, the headmaster, Mr. James McGranahan, being now the Rev. James McGranahan, M.A., of Townsend Presbyterian Church, Belfast. On leaving school Mr. Entrican was indentured to a Liverpool merchant, and, after completing his apprenticeship, he decided to go to the colonies. In 1885 he came to this Colony, in the s.s. “Tongariro,” and made Auckland his home. Shortly after his arrival he entered into partnership with Mr R. W. Gallaugher, under the style of Gallaugher and Entrican, grocers and Italian warehousemen, Victoria Street West, Auckland. At the end of seven years he retired from the firm and joined his brother, Mr A. J. Entrican, in the business founded by the latter some years



previously, and referred to in another article. Mr. J. C. Entrican resides at Stanley Street, Devonport, and occupied a sent in the local Borough Council for several years, He is a Sunday school teacher in connection with the Devonport Presbyterian Church and a member of the Kirk session; as an elder, he, in conjunction with the Rev. R. Ferguson, represented the church at the General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church of New Zealand, held in Christchurch. Mr. Entrican is an enthusiastic numismatist and philatelist, and his collections of coins and stamps are very fine.

            

              

[image: Mr. J. C. Entrican.]

Mr. 
J. C. Entrican.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Hayman, P., and Co



            
            


              

                Hayman, P., and Co.
              
              (Mr. Lionel N. Benjamin, manager), General Merchants, Customs Street East, Auckland. Head Office, Coleman Street, London, E.C. Head Office for the Colony, Dunedin; branches at Auckland, Wellington, and Christchurch. This firm does an extensive business throughout the Colony, and is a direct importer of everything in which it deals. The large warehouse in Customs Street is a substantial brick building, four stories in height. The firm's Wellington branch is referred to in the Wellington volume of this work.
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                Henderson And Macfarlane
              
              (George Dunnet, junior, Auckland; and Henry William Henderson, Pitt Street, Sydney), General Merchants, Fort Street, Auckland. Messrs Henderson and Maefarlane are Proprietors of the Circular Saw Line of Vessels; Island traders; Agents for the Messageries Maritimes, Nippon Yusen Kaisha Imperial Japanese Line, London and Lancashire Fire Insurance Company, Canton Marine Insurance Company, and Correspondents for the Aberdeen Line; Representatives of the New York Board of Underwriters and of the Hamburg Board of Underwriters. London Agents: James Morrison and Co., Ltd., 4 Fenchurch Street (late agents for the New Zealand Government); Cable Code, A1, A.B.C., and private code. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Telephone 203. P.O. Box 125. This firm was established by the late Mr. Thomas Henderson, as far back as 1842. The business grew and expanded with the growth of the province, until the firm's connection extended over the Australasian Colonies, Polynesia, America, and Great Britain. The firm established and partly built the fleet of vessels known as the Circular-Saw line. This fleet includes the celebrated barque “Novelty,” built at Mechanics' Buy, Auckland, by the late Mr. Henry Niccol. The “Novelty” holds the record for a sailing vessel for the passage between Sydney and Auckland. Other crack liners owned by the firm were the “Alice Cameron,” “Kate Breadalbane,” “Sir George Grey,” “Neva,” “Thos. W. Howse,” and others, which were employed in carrying and bringing miscellaneous cargoes to and from California, Australia, and Polynesia. During the Maori war, the firm obtained the contract from the Imperial and Colonial Governments for the whole of the flour used by the troops, and imported it from Chili, California, and South Australia. Prior to the advent of steam between New Zealand and Australia, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane established the first regular line of packet vessels between Sydney and Auckland, and the service was carried on until the establishment of the Panama Steamship Company in 1865. The firm thereupon withdrew its vessels from the Australian trade and employed them as traders in various parts of the globe, and in 1870 they were confined exclusively to the South Seas. When the Panama Steamship Company went into liquidation, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane purchased several of its vessels, including the steamers “Claude Hamilton.” “Phoæbe”—now employed as a collier in Australian waters—and the “Lord Ashley,” and “Airedale,” subsequently wrecked. The steamers were employed in the interprovincial trade of the colony until the Union Steamship Company commenced operations, when Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane became its agents in Auckland, and continued to act as such up to the time when the Union Company opened its Auckland branch under the management of Mr. Thomas Henderson, junior, who retained the position until 1899, when he was transferred to Hobart to act as Tasmanian representative of the company. In September, 1898, Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane sold their Western Pacific trade to the Pacific Island Company, which also acquired the s.s. “Archer,” and a few sailing vessels; the firm, however, still retains the Eastern Pacific trade, which produces large quantities of pearl shell, vanilla, cotton, copra, etc., the whole of which is exported to America and Europe. One noteworthy incident in the history of the firm is also worthy of note as an incident in the history of the Colony. In the early sixties, when the first, second, and third Waikato Regiments were being enlisted in Melbourne by Colonel Pitt, Mr. Henderson guaranteed the New Zealand Government to the extent of £40,000, and for this he was afterwards thanked by Parliament. It was Mr. Henderson, too, who first introduced pheasants to New Zealand, to which he brought the birds from China.
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Hilion, George Philip,
              Importer and Commission Agent, 8 Ranfurly Buildings, 87 Queen Street, Auckland. Private residence, Hobson Street. Mr. Hilton was born in Liverpool, England, in 1844, and was educated in London and on the Continent. He became a civil and mining engineer, and travelled much before landing in Auckland, in 1860. Mr. Hilton was one of the pioneers of the Thames, and was second in command of the Big Pump for several years. He was engineer to the Moanataiari Company for six years, and designed and supervised the erection of several batteries. The Southern Cross Petroleum Company's works at Rotokautuku, Poverty Bay, were managed by him for two years, and he supervised the erection of the most modern boring apparatus. He was for over four years manager of the Cromwell Gold Mining Company's mine, where he erected pumping, winding, and electrical plants. Afterwards he was employed by the Castle Company as constructor of cyanide plants, and carried out extensive experiments to prove the suitability of this method of treatment for various ores. Mr. Hilton claims to have been one of the first to introduce rock drills driven by compressed air, and the electric lighting of mines; and was the inventor of five systems of aerial wire tramway, and also of the gravity arm. He is one of the patentees of improvements for overcoming the skin friction of vessels. While at the Thames he studied at the School of Mines, and became qualified as an assayet and mineralogist. Mr. Hilton was married, in 1864, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Blagden, of London, and has three sons.
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Hodgson, James,
              Importer of Woollens, and Tailors' Trimmings, Victoria Street East, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. P.O. Box 185. Telephone 946. This firm was established by the present proprietor in 1887. Mr. Hodgson came to New Zealand in 1879 by the s.s. “Ionic, from London. After devoting himself for a year or two to the study of New Zealand trade, he recognised the importance of the tailoring trade, and determined to cater exclusively for it. His experience of manufacturing in Yorkshire enables him to purchase to the best advantage in the Home markets. He receives imported goods by every steamer, and so is able to keep up to date in everything connected with the tailoring trade, and to have supplies of the choicest and newest patterns. Mr. Hodgson also does a large business in New Zealand woollens, as he is desirous of fostering an industry of such importance to the colony. The premises are built of brick, and consist of two floors, with a total floorage space exceeding 5000 square feet. Though the business is of recent origin, its connection extends throughout New Zealand, and Mr. Hodgson's representatives regularly visit the various, towns. It is evident from the steady progress made in the past, and from the increase in trade year by year, that Mr. Hodgson's business will soon be one of the largest of its kind in New Zealand.
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Hooton, John Peter,
              Importer and Manufacturers' Agent, 22 Durham Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 717, Telephone 112. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private address, Silverdale, Mount Eden. Mr Hooton was born at Macclesfield, Cheshire, England, and is the second son of Mr David Hooton, silk manufacturer, of Macclesfield. He was educated at the grammar school of his native city, and there gained the title of Associate in Arts of the University of Oxford. In 1879 he landed in Sydney, where he remained for a few months, and was appointed



judge of raw cotton at the Sydney Exhibition. Mr Hooton arrived in Auckland in 1880 and commenced business as importer and manufacturers' agent. He acquired numerous agencies from influential English and Continental firms and greatly extended his connection while on a visit to England in 1893. Mr Hooton, who is very musical, held the post of organist at the Beresford Street Congregational Church, and on his resignation, in 1896, he was appointed honorary organist in recognition of his past services.
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Hopkins, Richard Harris,
              Importer, Fort Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Telephone 720. P.O. Box 422. Cable address, “Emblem”; Code, A.B.C. Established in 1891. Mr. Honkins is a large importer of spices, of salt and butchers' requisites, and is the sole agent for the celebrated “Preservaline” and the “Swift” Silent Sausage Machines with enamelled bowls. A large connection is maintained throughout the colony, and Mr. Hopkins is doing a sound and lucrative business.
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Macfarlane, J. B.,
              Commission Merchant and Grain Broker. Fort Street, Auckland. Cable address, “Tenax.” Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr Macfarlane carries on a large grain and produce business, which was established about fifteen years ago. He is agent for the Mataura Paper Mills, St. George's Preserving Works, Ireland and Co., millers, Oamaru, Symington's Essence of Coffee and Chicory, and several other general lines. He has correspondents in both England and America. The premises consist of a two-storey building, with a stucco frontage of eighty feet. The head offices are in the original building, which was purchased by Mr Macfarlane, the additions having been built by him. The storehouses have a capacity of one thousand tons. Mr Macfarlane was born in Glasgow and educated at Home. He came to New Zealand about twenty-five years ago from London, and after engaging in mercantile pursuits in Dunedin for some time he started his present business in Auckland.
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Mr. J. B. Macfarlane's Premises.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Macky, Logan, Steen and Co.



            
            


              
Macky, Logan, Steen and Co.,
              Warehousemen and Manufacturers, Victoria, Elliot, and Darby Streets, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Telephones, 968 and 133. P.O. Box 277. Cable address. “Telometrie.” Code, “Reuter's.” This firm was established by its present proprietors in 1882, and has made rapid strides to its present prominent position in the Colony. The main branch of the firm's business is that of soft goods warehousemen and importers, and it keeps a large stock of every kind of soft goods in every department. Great discretion is shown in the assortment and variety of the goods kept, and the firm is always among the first to introduce the latest British and Continental novelties. Purchases from the manufacturers are made direct from the firm's London office, at which there is always at least one of the partners. Every precaution is taken in shipping goods by the earliest mail steamers. The woollen branch, with all tailors' requisites, is a specialty, and contains a large stock with up-to-date patterns. The firm's factory makes up English and New Zealand woollens, and supplies the warehouse with all ready-made clothing; and the fact that this branch has increased to very large dimensions, speaks well for the quality of the goods. The firm manufactures the celebrated “Cambridge” brand of clothing and shirts, which are fast becoming famous all over the colony, for their superior finish, variety and value. The premises face three thoroughfares; they are built of brick and stone, and have two stories and a basement, and the principal entrance is from Victoria Street, where there is a stone frontage. The Elliot Street entrance gives immediate access to the Manchester department, and the Darby Street, to the clothing and mercery department; and the whole building occupies a floorage space of 28,000 square feet. To facilitate the dispatch and receipt of large quantities of heavy goods, a lift, driven by hydraulic power, is employed on the premises. The firm employs seven representatives, who visit even the remotest town in the Colony, with the industrial expansion of which the firm's business keeps a steady corresponding pace. Fifteen years ago the firm opened an important branch in Wellington, which has also grown rapidly, and now occupies fine commanding premises in Harbour Street. The managing partners in New Zealand are Messrs C. Macky and D. R. Caldwell. In London the firm is styled Steen, Macky, Logan, and Caldwell, and its office is Auckland House, Basinghall Street. E.C.
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                Nathan, L. D. and Co.
              
              (Lawrence David Nathan and Nathan Alfred Nathan). Shortland Street, Auckland. This mercantile house was founded by the late Mr. David Nathan in January, 1840, simultaneously with the proclamation of New Zealand as a British possession. Mr. Nathan purchased the site of the present warehouse in Shortland Street as a quarter-acre section at one of the first Government land sales, and it has been the headquarters of the business ever since. Besides these rine premises, the firm had magnificent five-storey kauri gum and produce stores in Customs and Commerce Streets, and a commodious tea warehouse in Customs Street, fitted up with the latest machinery for tea blending and packing, but this block was recently destroyed by one of the most disastrous fires ever known in Auckland. The present members of the firm are the two sons of the founder, and they carry on the business of wine and spirit and general merchants, shipping, fire and marine insurance agents, and general produce brokers. As shipping and



marine insurance agents, they represent the Shaw, Savill, and Albion Company, Limited, and have also acted as local agents for the Messrs Huddart, Parker and Co. Proprietary, Limited, since this firm took up its running in the New Zealand trade, and for the China Traders' Insurance Co., Limited, a well-known and old-established company. As brokers, they are the largest handlers of kauri gum, for more than half the gum which reaches Auckland goes through their hands. They are also large traders in flax, maize, and all other classes of produce. They do a large trade in groceries of every kind, and in fancy goods, and are agents for, or importers of, the best wines and spirits the world produces. Their “Standard” brands of teas and coffees are popular in the market, and command a great sale. The ostrich farm at Whitford Park, which is about twenty miles from town, in the direction of Howick, is also owned by the Messrs Nathan, who, in their private capacity, are enthusiastic sportsmen, and notable breeders of thoroughbreds. They are the owners of a first-class farm at Sylvia Park, made famous as the home of Musket, and the birthplace of such celebrities of the turf as Carbine, Trenton, Nordenfeldt, Cuirassier, Hotchkiss, and Carnage.
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The New Zealand Loan And Mercantile Agency Company,
              Limited (Mr. Frank Bodle, manager), Stock Salesmen, Wool and Produce Brokers, and General Commission Agents, corner of Albert and Custom Streets, Auckland. Telephone 417. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Head Office, London; Chief Office for the Colony, Featherston Street, Wellington. A descriptive article on this important company is given on page 716 of the Wellington volume. For many years the Auckland business was conducted in large offices in Queen Street, but, owing to increasing operations, more commodious premises became necessary. The present site was accordingly secured, and the company's large and imposing brick building was completed early in 1901. The building is of three stories in height, and has a floor space of 36,000 square feet. The business transacted throuth the Auckland branch is very extensive, and regular sales are held by the company in Auckland, Newmarket, Papakura, Pukekohe, Waiuku, and Tuakau. Periodical cattle, sheep, and horse fairs, and wool sales are also held, and are well attended. Large consignments of wool, tallow, maize, kauri gum, and agricultural produce, are received for disposal in the London and Colonial markets. The company has branches in every town of importance in New Zealand, and in the chief cities of Australia.
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Sargood, Son, and 
Ewen
              (Messrs T. Finlayson and H. C. Tewsley, local managers), Warehousemen and General Importers, Victoria Street West, Auckland; also, London, Melbourne, Sydney, Perth, Wellington, Christchurch, and Dunedin; and agencies in every district. This old-established firm is one of the most important of its kind in the Colony, and its operations are very extensive. Not only is drapery and clothing of every description imported and held in large stocks, but also stationery, tobacconists', and chemists' goods, perfumery, cutlery, tennis, and cricket requisites, English and Colonial boots and shoes, grindery and leather of every description. A descriptive and historical article on the firm is given in the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia, at pages 716, 717, and 718, where there is also an engraving of the firm's Wellington house.
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Seegner, Langguth and Co.,
              General Importers of Merchandise, and Exporters of New Zealand Produce, Fort Street, Auckland. Mr. Carl Seegner is Chief German Consul for the Colony in Auckland, and Mr. Eugene Langguth is Consul for Austria-Hungary. The firm began business in 1884, and amongst the many agencies held by it one of the principal is that of the North German Lloyd Steamship Company. The firm is also agent for the General Electrical Company of Berlin, and is in a favourable position to supply complete installation of electric light, on terms specially advantageous to the customer. Surgical instruments, dental materials, and chemists' sundries form a most interesting display in the firm's rooms. As a matter of fact, Messrs Seegner, Langguth and Co.'s business is of an exceptionally miscellaneous character, and the firm deals in a wider range of trade than ordinary merchants. This is largely to be accounted for by the fact that the firm buys and exports New Zealand produce extensively, and instead of sending money out of the colony to pay for their imports, Messrs Seegner, Langguth and Co. pay “in kind,” by exporting to the European markets kauri gum, tallow, grass seeds, fruits, etc
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Including—Nurserymen and Seedsmen, Fruiterers.

          

          

            
            


              

Frick, William,
              Bayfield Nursery, Wharf Road, Ponsonby. Mr. Frick was born in Germany, in 1840, and was educated in his Fatherland, from which he emigrated to Melbourne in 1859, but subsequently went on to Sydney, where he was employed in the Botanical Gardens for three years. In 1863 he came to New Zealand, and on arrival in Auckland joined the 3rd Waikato Regiment as lance sergeant under Colonel Lyons. After three years' service in the Waikato, Mr. Frick enlisted with the Hawke's Bay military settlers for two or three years. In 1868 he returned to Auckland, and after varied experience commenced business for himself as a nurseryman. The Bayfield nursery is well situated, and consists of between three and four acres laid out in nursery stock, etc. There is a strawberry garden of one acre in extent, and the fruit is supplied to the leading, fruiterers of the city. Mr. Frick is a Freemason, and has held office as tyler.
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Yates, Arthur,
             
 and Co. (Arthur Yates and Ernest Yates), Wholesale and Retail Seed Merchants and Growers, Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Cable address, “Seedsman, Auckland.” Head establishment, Mr. Samuel Yates, 75 Shudehill Street, Manchester; Australian branch, 237 Sussex Street, Sydney, New South Wales, established 1887. This well-known business was first established by Mr. Samuel Yates in 1826, and is now one of the largest businesses of its kind in England. The Auckland branch was established in 1882, and to such an extent has the business grown that it has been found necessary to extend the premises, which now consist of a large three-storey warehouse with a thirty-three
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Messrs A. Yates & Co.'s Premises.





feet frontage to Queen and High Streets, and a depth of 200 feet, and a total floorage space of over 14,000 square feet. Machinery for seed cleaning has been especially imported from England, and fitted up in the new premises, and the firm claims to hold the largest stock of garden and farm seeds in the Colony. There are seed farms at Mangere and Papatoitoi under the management of Mr. E. Allan. There are agents of the firm in every town of importance in the Colony, and a complete catalogue of “Yates' Reliable Seeds” can be obtained free from any leading storekeeper, or direct from the head office in Auckland, as well as the firm's other publications, “Yates' Garden Guide,” and “How to Grow Onions for Market.”

          

          

            
            


              

Webster, Josiah Daniel,
              Fruit Importer, 39 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Webster started business in 1888, and has one of the best establishments of its kind in Auckland. Mrs Webster has the reputation of being the most skilful floral artiste in the city. Mr. Webster has long been connected with volunteering, as he joined the Thames Navai Brigade in 1876, and the A Battery of New Zealand Artillery in 1882, and is still connected with the latter corps. He is a “crack” shot, and has competed in most of the Rifle Association meetings held throughout New Zealand since 1882. In that year he won the English national medal for not missing a shot throughout the meeting at Nelsoa. At Wanganui, in 1886, he secured second prize for the Carbine Championship, putting up the world's record score of ninety-five out of a possible 105 at 200, 300, and 500 yards, and also winning first prize, in the Wanganui Citizens' match. At Christchurch, in 1887, he obtained third prize in the Carbine Belt competition. At the Napier meeting, in 1891, Mr. Webster shot brilliantly with the Martini-Henry, and finished second with only two points behind for the Rifle Championship. He had also competed at Sydney and Melbourne in the intercolonial contests, with varying success. Mr. Webster formed one of the first teams ever sent to England, in the Diamond Jubilee year, and shot in the contest at Bisley for the coveted Kalopore Cup. Sixteen teams from various colonies competed, and Victoria, the victor, beat New Zealand by only three points.
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Frick, William,
              Bayfield Nursery, Wharf Road, Ponsonby. Mr. Frick was born in Germany, in 1840, and was educated in his Fatherland, from which he emigrated to Melbourne in 1859, but subsequently went on to Sydney, where he was employed in the Botanical Gardens for three years. In 1863 he came to New Zealand, and on arrival in Auckland joined the 3rd Waikato Regiment as lance sergeant under Colonel Lyons. After three years' service in the Waikato, Mr. Frick enlisted with the Hawke's Bay military settlers for two or three years. In 1868 he returned to Auckland, and after varied experience commenced business for himself as a nurseryman. The Bayfield nursery is well situated, and consists of between three and four acres laid out in nursery stock, etc. There is a strawberry garden of one acre in extent, and the fruit is supplied to the leading, fruiterers of the city. Mr. Frick is a Freemason, and has held office as tyler.
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Yates, Arthur,
             
 and Co. (Arthur Yates and Ernest Yates), Wholesale and Retail Seed Merchants and Growers, Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Cable address, “Seedsman, Auckland.” Head establishment, Mr. Samuel Yates, 75 Shudehill Street, Manchester; Australian branch, 237 Sussex Street, Sydney, New South Wales, established 1887. This well-known business was first established by Mr. Samuel Yates in 1826, and is now one of the largest businesses of its kind in England. The Auckland branch was established in 1882, and to such an extent has the business grown that it has been found necessary to extend the premises, which now consist of a large three-storey warehouse with a thirty-three
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feet frontage to Queen and High Streets, and a depth of 200 feet, and a total floorage space of over 14,000 square feet. Machinery for seed cleaning has been especially imported from England, and fitted up in the new premises, and the firm claims to hold the largest stock of garden and farm seeds in the Colony. There are seed farms at Mangere and Papatoitoi under the management of Mr. E. Allan. There are agents of the firm in every town of importance in the Colony, and a complete catalogue of “Yates' Reliable Seeds” can be obtained free from any leading storekeeper, or direct from the head office in Auckland, as well as the firm's other publications, “Yates' Garden Guide,” and “How to Grow Onions for Market.”

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Webster, Josiah Daniel



            
            


              

Webster, Josiah Daniel,
              Fruit Importer, 39 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Webster started business in 1888, and has one of the best establishments of its kind in Auckland. Mrs Webster has the reputation of being the most skilful floral artiste in the city. Mr. Webster has long been connected with volunteering, as he joined the Thames Navai Brigade in 1876, and the A Battery of New Zealand Artillery in 1882, and is still connected with the latter corps. He is a “crack” shot, and has competed in most of the Rifle Association meetings held throughout New Zealand since 1882. In that year he won the English national medal for not missing a shot throughout the meeting at Nelsoa. At Wanganui, in 1886, he secured second prize for the Carbine Championship, putting up the world's record score of ninety-five out of a possible 105 at 200, 300, and 500 yards, and also winning first prize, in the Wanganui Citizens' match. At Christchurch, in 1887, he obtained third prize in the Carbine Belt competition. At the Napier meeting, in 1891, Mr. Webster shot brilliantly with the Martini-Henry, and finished second with only two points behind for the Rifle Championship. He had also competed at Sydney and Melbourne in the intercolonial contests, with varying success. Mr. Webster formed one of the first teams ever sent to England, in the Diamond Jubilee year, and shot in the contest at Bisley for the coveted Kalopore Cup. Sixteen teams from various colonies competed, and Victoria, the victor, beat New Zealand by only three points.
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Potters, Tile and Brick Manufacturers.

          

            
            


              
Wilson, J. and Co.,
              Manufacturers of Portland Cement, Hydraulic and Shell Lime. Office and Yard, Customs Street West, Auckland. A.B.C. code used. Portland cement was first made in Yorkshire in 1824; now it is made in nearly every civilised country. It is a compound of lime and clay. When these materials


[image: Black and white trademark logo for Wilson's Portland Cement]
are properly treated, the result is a true Portland cement, and every producer of such an article is entitled to use the name Portland. Messrs John Wilson and Co. are manufacturers of Portland cement, and hydraulic and shell lime. Their Portland cement stands the same tests as the imported, dries the same colour, answers the same purposes, and requires the same treatment. From May, 1897, to June, 1899, 5260 tons were used in the Napier breakwater; average seven day tensile test 445 pounds per square inch; twenty-eight days, 573. The Public Works Department has used large quantities, and the balance of the firm's extensive output is used by builders and others. The firm's


[image: Black and white trademark logo for Wilson's Hydraulic Lime]
hydraulic lime is a first-class lime for building purposes, free from waste, and fit for mortar, or concrete in wet or dry work. It produces a mortar, which in a few months becomes as hard as the bricks, resists the action of the weather, and insures dry buildings. Sea sand does not injure its setting properties. Concrete is unrivalled for stable, stockyard, cowshed, butter factory, barn, dripping pen and piggery floors; also for foundations, and all kinds of marine works, dams, piers and wings of bridges, culverts, tanks, dips, etc. Instructions, free. Encourage home industries. Messrs Wilson and Company secured the first award and gold medal at the Auckland Exhibition, 1899, for (1) Portland cement; (2) hydraulic lime; and (3) shell lime.
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Printers, Stationers, Paper Merchants, Etc.

          

            
Including—Account Book Makers; Bookbinders, Booksellers and News Agents; Engravers, Paper Makers, Dealers and Merchants, Publishers, Stationers, Etc.

          

          

            
            


              
Abel Dykes,
              Ltd., Indenters, Importers, Printers, Engravers, Manufacturing and Wholesale Stationers, Bookbinders, Etc., Shortland Street, Auckland. Telephone 572. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1887 by Mr. Abel, who was joined by Mr. Dykes about four years later. From a small beginning, a really fine business has been worked up. The firm has a wide reputation for high-class and commercial printing, and for the manufacture of account books. Its wholesale stationery trade extends throughout New Zealand and the islands of the South Pacific. The type, machinery, and plant are of an up-to-date character, and constantly being added to. A large assortment of plain and fancy stationery is kept in stock. At the beginning of the year 1901 the firm was transformed into a limited liability company, of which Messrs Abel and Dykes are the managing directors, with Mr. F. Rotherham in charge of the printing department. Under the guidance of its present directors and staff every success is anticipated for the company. Nearly forty hands are now employed, and there is no doubt that the popularity of the firm with its employees and the public generally is an important factor in its rapid rise. The esteem in which the company is held by British, Continental, and American exporters, enables it to buy in the best markets and on the most advantageous terms.
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Mr. R. S. Abel,
              the Founder of the firm of Abel Dykes, Limited, was eight years with Mudie's Select Library, Limited, of Oxford Street, London, where his father has been manager for over thirty years. Soon after coming to New Zealand in 1882, Mr. Abel secured an appointment with Messrs Champ-taloup and Cooper, well-known stationers, of Queen Street, Auckland, with whom he remained for three years, when he left to establish the present business.
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Mr. J. Dykes
              
              learned his trade with the firm of Messrs Waterlow and Son, London, and when, in 1885, Messrs Wilson and Horton, the proprietors of the “New Zealand Herald,” sent home for a manager for their bookbinding department, Mr. Dykes was selected for the post. After remaining for six years in the position he left to join Mr. Abel.
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                Brown And Stewart
              
              (T. G. Brown and Robert Leslie Stewart), Wholesale Manufacturing Stationers and Paper Merchants, Gore Street, Auckland. P.O. Box, 411. Telephone, 593. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1895 by Messrs Brown and Stewart to fill what they, as experienced stationers, considered to be a



want in the growing trade of New Zealand, and the success their efforts have met with has justified their anticipations. The firm imports largely from America and Europe, news and all kinds of printing paper, and also all descriptions of writing paper in the flat, thus saving the duty. These they rule, and cut and pack into five quire packets ready for the retail stationery trade. They make a specialty of manufacturing account books, in the hundred and one varieties required by the trade, from bakers' “penny memo.” up to the pretentions Russian bound “Imperial.” School exercises are also turned out in large quantities. For the purpose of these lines of their trade the firm has lately erected on a spacious flat some very fine ruling and other machinery, which enables them to more than compete in finish and price, with the imported article. Though the firm is yet young, the experience, skill and energy concentrated in the business have already made it an important factor in the trade.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mr. Brown
              
              was born and educated in Scotland, but received his business training in London, under Mr. J. Walker, head of the well-known firm of Messrs J. Walker and Co., of Warwick Lane, one of the most able of the many able men, connected with the manufacture of modern stationery. On coming to New Zealand in 1885, Mr. Brown joined the firm of Messrs Collins Bros. and Co., and was for eleven years their travelling representative.
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                Mr. Stewart
              
              is a native of Auckland and learned his trade with the local branch of Messrs Collins Bros. and Co., in whose service he remained until he joined Mr. Brown in the present business.
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Collins, William, Sons and Co., Ltd.,
             
 Printers, Publishers, etc., Glasgow; Collins Bros., Ltd., Sydney and Auckland. This is the largest stationery and publishing firm in the world, and its history is exceedingly interesting. In the early years of this century a wave of commercial energy swept over the whole of Scotland, and, centring its force in Glasgow, gave rise to a series of manufacturing and trading enterprises which have since become the admiration of the commercial world, and justified that city's claim to be the commercial metropolis of North Britain. It may be assumed that the far-seeing Scot, watching the Clyde flowing smoothly to the ocean, conceived that the whole world lay within its legitimate sphere of commercial activity, and thereupon determined that, in return for his skill and energy, that world should yield to Scotland some of the untold wealth of which all men were then dreaming. The array of masts and funnels now riding on the Clyde testifies to the success which has crowned his efforts. One of the men of those days was Mr. William Collins, a printer, whose name the largest stationery and publishing firm in the world is still proud to place at its head. To write the history of this business, from Mr. William Collins's modest start, with its wonderful growth until it was floated as a company under the style of William Collins, Sons, and Company, Limited, having branches in almost every centre of population where the English language is spoken, would, in a measure, be to write the social and industrial history of Glasgow. The business was started in 1819, and in those old days trade was hampered by many unwise restrictions and monopolies, amongst which was a monopoly of publishing the Bible; but in 1839 this was withdrawn, and the firm at once entered largely into printing the Scriptures, bringing out a great variety of different styles, both of binding and type, and at such reduced prices that the sale became enormous. Although millions have since been spent in the gratuitous circulation of the Bible, possibly no combination of philanthropists has done more to bring about the desired result than this firm, instigated principally by commercial motives; which shows that well directed commercial enterprise often results in more real benefit to humanity than efforts prompted by the purest philanthropy. Another important advance was made when the firm began to print and publish dictionaries, atlases, and a series of well-written school books; which have from time to time been revised and kept in every sense up to date, so that they have continued to hold a foremost position amongst this class of publications. About fifty years ago the firm decided to add a still more important branch, namely, manufactured stationery, to its growing trade. From that time the business advanced by leaps and bounds, and every advance has been held, until at present there is scarcely a commercial stationer in Great Britain or the Colonies that does not stock Collins's manufactured stationery, from the finest Russia imperial ledgers down to the grocer's
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William Collins, Sons & Co., Ltd., Herriot Hill Works, Glasgow.





modest “penny memo.” A later development, rendered necessary by the growing requirements of commerce and luxury, has been the diary. This line of manufactured stationery


[image: Mr. Grigsby.]
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has assumed enormous proportions, and Messrs Collins's two series of English and Colonial editions run into endless variety—from the smallest and most elegant volume for a lady's pocket to the large every-day article in use in every business house. This perfection in the production of the thousands of articles comprised in the term “Manufactured stationery” has not been brought about without the firm making a careful study of, and adopting every fresh improvement in machinery, as it has from time to time been brought to the notice of the trade. In this matter the company has had special advantages, from the fact that its present managing director, Mr. William Collins, has been a machinist of the first rank, and as far back as 1868 invented the automatic gumming and folding envelope machines. The company's magnificent Herriot Hill works at Glasgow constitute a typical factory, where the most delicate appliances, producing the most marvellous results, are in use, and the thoughtful observer realises the source whence springs Britain's commercial greatness. Then the workers form a community of themselves, with their dining rooms, reading rooms, billiard rooms and library; their sick nursing ambulance, music classes and concert rooms; in fact, everything required for their comfort, and likely to tend to their intellectual and physical advancement. In managing its colonial trade, the firm has always adopted wise and conciliatory methods, and in many respects its policy bears a striking resemblance to the later system used by Great Britain in governing her Colonial possessions. Having selected tried and able men to establish and work Colonial branches, the management not only encourages them to assume the responsibility of the position, but requires known as the Remuera Rifles. It was in the them to do so. So far from trying to monopolise the manufacture of goods in Glasgow, each branch is encouraged to start local factories or the production of goods specially required in its markets, and which circumstances permit of being produced at reasonable prices. By this means considerable labour is employed and money circulated in the district where the local branch does its trade; and as Messrs Collins Bros. are thus local producers, and become important factors in the growth of New Zealand industries, they deserve the best consideration of the Government and the good wishes of the Colony. Some years back the Auckland factory started with making school exercise books and the smaller kinds of account books, etc. At the present time the factory—equipped with the latest machinery, and manned by skilled workmen—is in a position to turn out all kinds of account books and manufactured stationery, not only at prices to compete with the parent factory, but with a completeness of finish and style to satisfy all the demands of the trade. Every circumstance points, therefore, to Messrs Collins Bros. becoming as historical in the Colonial commercial world as Messrs William Collins, Sons, and Company, Ltd., have in the Old Country, and to their enjoying corresponding confidence and respect.

          

          

            
            


              

Field, J.H.,
              Printer and Paper-bag Maker, Albert Street, Auckland. This business was established over thirty years ago by the father of the present proprietor, Mr. J. H. Field, senior, under whose management a number of papers and periodicals were printed, including the “Volunteer Gazette,” “Auckland Free Lance, “New Zealand Labour,” and “New Zealand Lantern.” A good deal of Government work has been done by the firm, and in one instance of alleged breach of contract on the part of the Government, Mr. Field placed his case repeatedly before the Public Petitions Committee, which, on five different occasions, recommended the Government to pay compensation, but without avail. The late Mr. Field was very well known in Auckland, and filled several positions of importance. His death occurred on the 5th of July, 1896. The present proprietor, Mr. John Henry Field, was born in 1862, at Northampton, England, and five years later came to the Colony with his parents by the ship “Siam.” He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. Mr. Field learned his trade under his father, and has been connected with the business in various capacities for more than twenty years. He recently spent a considerable amount of money in obtaining improved appliances for his business, and purchased an excellent site in Albert Street, opposite his original premises. A new printing office was erected by him, and it is noteworthy for the completeness of its equipment as a business establishment. In 1885, Mr. Field married a daughter of the late Mr. Robert Ford, one of Auckland's early colonists.

          

          

            
            


              
Given, Andrew, and Co.,
              Wholesale Paper Merchants, 22 Wyndham Street, Auckland. Head Office, Manse Street, Dunedin. The Auckland branch of this firm was opened in Ford Street in 1893, but owing to the rapid increase of its business it was soon found that larger premises were necessary, and the firm took possession of the premises in which its business is at present carried on. In addition to the commodious warehouse in Wyndham Street, the firm has also a bulk store in Albert Street.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. D. S. Cattanach,
              Manager for Messrs Andrew Given and Co., was born and educated in Scotland, and from his earliest youth was associated with the firm of Messrs Collins Bros. and Co., Limited, wholesale stationers, Glasgow. He remained in this firm's Glasgow house until 1880, when he was appointed head of the business in New Zealand. Mr. Cattanach was appointed to his present position in 1899.
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Mr. D. S. Cattanach.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Graham, Arthur,
              Bookseller and Stationer, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Mr. Graham was born in Westmoreland, England, in 1851, and accompanied his parents to Auckland at an early age; his father, the late Mr. John Graham, was for many years relieving-officer in Auckland. The subject under notice inherited his military tastes from his father, who was engaged during the Maori war with an old ride corps known as the Remuera Rifles. In the year 1893 Mr. Graham was offered and accepted the position of Captain of the Ponsonby Artillery, and he held it for several years. He has been closely connected with Volunteer movements for a number of years, and in shooting and rowing has always taken a keen interest.

          

          

            
            


              

                Leighton, J. F. And Son
              
              (James Francis Leighton, and Frank W. Leighton), Account Book Manufacturers, Paper Rulers, Bookbinders, Manufacturing and Commercial Stationers, Importers, etc., 6 and 8, High Street, Auckland. Telephone, 691. Bankers,



Bank of New Zealand. This well-known buisness was founded by Mr. J. F. Leighton, the senior partner, in 1855, and from that day to the present time has been the leading bookbindery establishment in the Province of Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. James Francis Leighton
              
              was born in the parish of Clerkenwell, London, on the 19th of April, 1830, and was educated at a private school. At the age of ten years he entered the employment of the well-known firm, Messrs Eyre and Spottiswoode, Printers to the Queen, and during the succeeding four years acquired some experience of the business he was destined to follow. He was afterwards apprenticed to his cousins, then trading under the title of Messrs Leighton and Son, bookbinders, of the Strand, London, but now well-known as partners in the firm of Messrs Leighton, Son and Hodge, of Shoe Lane, Fleet Street. Here he was thoroughly taught every branch of the bookbinding trade, the usual rule of keeping apprentices to one branch only being departed from in his favour. On emerging from his apprenticeship in 1851, Mr. Leighton was engaged by Messrs Samuel Bagster and Son of “Polyglot Bible” fame, and when with that firm, he was occupied in the binding of special editions of the Bible for the Royal Courts of Europe. Subsequently, when in the employment of Messrs Eeles and Sons, of Chancery Lane, he was engaged on the first issue of Dickens' works. Mr. Leighton left London in 1853, by the ship “Investigator,” and arrived in Sydney in August of that year. He was immediately engaged by the Church Press Office to inaugurate a bindery department, and remained in that position till 1855, but despite excellent inducements to stay longer, he found it necessary to seek a cooler climate, and acceded to the wishes of the proprietors of the Auckland “Southern Cross” by entering into a contract for the execution of their binding. Mr. Leighton arrived in Auckland by the “William Denny,” on the 10th of May, 1855, and began business in Shortland Street. It was afterwards that he secured his present premises in High Street. While Auckland remained the capital, Mr. Leighton was bookbinder for the Government, and also held the contract for the supply of stationery, etc., to the Imperial troops, during the Maori war. This latter fact, however, did not prevent him from occasionally serving his country as a volunteer in the days of the trouble. On the removal of the Government to Wellington, Mr. Leighton was urged to follow, but for domestic and other reasons he decided to remain in Auckland. Although a prominent and worthy citizen, Mr. Leighton has abstained from active participation in public affairs. He is still in the enjoyment of excellent health, but lives very quitly and supervises the practical part of the business. It is worthy of note that Mr. Leighton was the first to introduce ruling machines into the colony more than thirty years ago.
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Mr. Frank W. Leighton,
              the Junior Partner, is the eldest son of Mr. J. F. Leighton, and was born at Ponsonby, and educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He served a short term in his father's business, preparatory to entering upon a commercial life, and during a visit to England, he made the acquaintance of many of the leading manufacturers of stationery, thus forming a connection which has since proved exceedingly useful. On his way back, he remained in Sydney for about three years, and there gained very considerable commercial experience. He left Sydney for Auckland in October, 1894, by the “Wairarapa,” on what proved to be that vessel's final trip. It was his first return to New Zealand after an absence of nearly five years, and he was bringing home souvenirs of the many countries which he had visited and these were subsequently all lost in the wreck. Mr. Leighton was one of those who escaped death on that occasion. He revisited Sydney for a short time, but returned to New Zealand towards the end of 1895, and joined his father as manager of the commercial part of the business.
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Spencer, Albert,
              Printer, Bookbinder, Paper Ruler, etc., the Caxton Printing Office, Swanson Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1890 by Messrs A. Spencer, Probert and Co., but in 1895 the senior partner bought out Mr. Probert and became sole proprietor. The type and appliances are up-to-date and the quality of work executed is most excellent. Mr. Spencer's present premises in Swanson Street, a few doors from Queen Street, have been erected by him on his own freehold property Mr. Spencer was born in Auckland in 1866, and his father, Mr. Thomas Spencer, once a well known chemist at the Thames, was drowned at the wreck of the s.s. “Wairarapa,” on the 28th of October, 1894.
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Spencer, P. and Co.,
              Wholesale Stationers, Printers, Rubber Stamp Makers, Bookbinders, Paper Rulers, Stereotypers, and Process Block Manufacturers, Swanson Street, Auckland. This firm was established in 1881, and is well-known in connection with the stationery and allied trades. The warehouse, situated in Swanson Street, comprises three stories and a cellar, and was built specially with a view to the requirements of the trade. These newly-built premises were taken over



by the firm on the 1st of July, 1901, and since then the business has been carried on at them. The firm does a large trade in picture almanacs, and its operations cover the whole of the North Island. Messrs Spencer and Co. are also agents for reliable fireproof safes, cheap, and of good quality.

          

          

            
            


              
Wildman And Lyell,
              Booksellers, Stationers, Etc., Victoria Arcade, Auckland. This business was founded in 1886, on the completion of the Arcade, by the late Mr. W. Wildman, who secured the lease of the corner. At a later period, Mr. Alfred Kidd joined the firm, but in 1989 withdrew from the partnership. In 1890 the name was changed to Wildman and Lyell, by the addition of Mr. W. S. Lyell to the proprietary; and prior to the death of Mr. Wildman, whose health broke down at this time, Mr. J. A. Lyell, a brother of the original partner, and also Mr. W. E. Arey, who is now the sole manager, were taken into partnership. The business since its inauguration has grown by leaps and bounds, and at the present time it is one of the most important booksellers' and stationers' shops in Auckland. Messrs Wildman and Lyell always keep a first-rate assortment of the popular Colonial library, published in England. New Zealander, instead of having to pay about 6s a copy for a book, written by a leading author of the day, as they would have to if they were in England, are able, through the establishment of this library, to buy the work for 3s 6d, cloth bound, and 2s 6d, paper bound. Messrs Wildman and Lyell have a reputation for being the first to receive from England the very latest publications.
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Mr. George Hescott,
              Publisher and Proprietor of the East Coast and Hawkes Bay Directory, was born in London in 1852, was educated at Chignell House School, Ealing, Middlesex, at Finchley Collegiate School, near Barnet, and at Dr. White's, Chiswick College, between Turnham Green and Kew. He came out to New Zealand in 1870, and a year later joined the “Coromandel Mail” until 1875, when the paper ceased publication. He was next appointed shipping reporter on the “Wellington Times.” After this he entered the service of the National Bank and was transferred from Wellington to the Milton (Tokomairiro) branch, where he remained until the closing of that agency. He then joined the Colonail Bank, and was acting accountant and subagent at Outram for nearly four years, when the directors decided to close the branch. Since 1881. Mr. Heseott has been engaged as an insurance, commission, land, press, and patent agent, a sharebroker, and as a compiler for the Cyclopedia of New Zealand. Mr. Hescott was initiated into the Masonic order in Lodge Otago, 844, E.C., Dunedin, in 1881, and represented the “New Zealand Craftsman” for about fifteen mouths, during which period he visited nearly every lodge in the Colony, and considerably Increased the circulation of the journal, besides smoething away the asperities created by the New Zealand Grand Lodge movement. Possessed of decided musical taste, he is a member of the Auckland Choral Society and St. Paul's choir, is an ex-member of the Auckland Operatic Club, and frequently sings in public, having a good tenor voice. He also was treasurer of the old Societe Literaire Franciase, which fourished in Auckland some years ago. Mr. Hescott is an old Volunteer, having been a member successively of No. 6 Rifles, Auckland, Thames Engineers, Auckland Cavalry, A Battery of Artillery, and Invercargill Artillery. He also was honorary secretary and treasurer of the Invercargill Garrison Band, which was and is still one of the best bands in New Zealand.
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Abel Dykes,
              Ltd., Indenters, Importers, Printers, Engravers, Manufacturing and Wholesale Stationers, Bookbinders, Etc., Shortland Street, Auckland. Telephone 572. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1887 by Mr. Abel, who was joined by Mr. Dykes about four years later. From a small beginning, a really fine business has been worked up. The firm has a wide reputation for high-class and commercial printing, and for the manufacture of account books. Its wholesale stationery trade extends throughout New Zealand and the islands of the South Pacific. The type, machinery, and plant are of an up-to-date character, and constantly being added to. A large assortment of plain and fancy stationery is kept in stock. At the beginning of the year 1901 the firm was transformed into a limited liability company, of which Messrs Abel and Dykes are the managing directors, with Mr. F. Rotherham in charge of the printing department. Under the guidance of its present directors and staff every success is anticipated for the company. Nearly forty hands are now employed, and there is no doubt that the popularity of the firm with its employees and the public generally is an important factor in its rapid rise. The esteem in which the company is held by British, Continental, and American exporters, enables it to buy in the best markets and on the most advantageous terms.
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Account Books Manufactured By Messrs Abel, Dykes, Ltd.
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Mr. R. S. Abel,
              the Founder of the firm of Abel Dykes, Limited, was eight years with Mudie's Select Library, Limited, of Oxford Street, London, where his father has been manager for over thirty years. Soon after coming to New Zealand in 1882, Mr. Abel secured an appointment with Messrs Champ-taloup and Cooper, well-known stationers, of Queen Street, Auckland, with whom he remained for three years, when he left to establish the present business.
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Mr. R. S. Abel.
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Mr. J. Dykes
              
              learned his trade with the firm of Messrs Waterlow and Son, London, and when, in 1885, Messrs Wilson and Horton, the proprietors of the “New Zealand Herald,” sent home for a manager for their bookbinding department, Mr. Dykes was selected for the post. After remaining for six years in the position he left to join Mr. Abel.
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Mr. J. Dykes.
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                Brown And Stewart
              
              (T. G. Brown and Robert Leslie Stewart), Wholesale Manufacturing Stationers and Paper Merchants, Gore Street, Auckland. P.O. Box, 411. Telephone, 593. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1895 by Messrs Brown and Stewart to fill what they, as experienced stationers, considered to be a



want in the growing trade of New Zealand, and the success their efforts have met with has justified their anticipations. The firm imports largely from America and Europe, news and all kinds of printing paper, and also all descriptions of writing paper in the flat, thus saving the duty. These they rule, and cut and pack into five quire packets ready for the retail stationery trade. They make a specialty of manufacturing account books, in the hundred and one varieties required by the trade, from bakers' “penny memo.” up to the pretentions Russian bound “Imperial.” School exercises are also turned out in large quantities. For the purpose of these lines of their trade the firm has lately erected on a spacious flat some very fine ruling and other machinery, which enables them to more than compete in finish and price, with the imported article. Though the firm is yet young, the experience, skill and energy concentrated in the business have already made it an important factor in the trade.
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                Mr. Brown
              
              was born and educated in Scotland, but received his business training in London, under Mr. J. Walker, head of the well-known firm of Messrs J. Walker and Co., of Warwick Lane, one of the most able of the many able men, connected with the manufacture of modern stationery. On coming to New Zealand in 1885, Mr. Brown joined the firm of Messrs Collins Bros. and Co., and was for eleven years their travelling representative.
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Mr. T. G. Brown.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Stewart



            
            


              

                Mr. Stewart
              
              is a native of Auckland and learned his trade with the local branch of Messrs Collins Bros. and Co., in whose service he remained until he joined Mr. Brown in the present business.
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Collins, William, Sons and Co., Ltd.,
             
 Printers, Publishers, etc., Glasgow; Collins Bros., Ltd., Sydney and Auckland. This is the largest stationery and publishing firm in the world, and its history is exceedingly interesting. In the early years of this century a wave of commercial energy swept over the whole of Scotland, and, centring its force in Glasgow, gave rise to a series of manufacturing and trading enterprises which have since become the admiration of the commercial world, and justified that city's claim to be the commercial metropolis of North Britain. It may be assumed that the far-seeing Scot, watching the Clyde flowing smoothly to the ocean, conceived that the whole world lay within its legitimate sphere of commercial activity, and thereupon determined that, in return for his skill and energy, that world should yield to Scotland some of the untold wealth of which all men were then dreaming. The array of masts and funnels now riding on the Clyde testifies to the success which has crowned his efforts. One of the men of those days was Mr. William Collins, a printer, whose name the largest stationery and publishing firm in the world is still proud to place at its head. To write the history of this business, from Mr. William Collins's modest start, with its wonderful growth until it was floated as a company under the style of William Collins, Sons, and Company, Limited, having branches in almost every centre of population where the English language is spoken, would, in a measure, be to write the social and industrial history of Glasgow. The business was started in 1819, and in those old days trade was hampered by many unwise restrictions and monopolies, amongst which was a monopoly of publishing the Bible; but in 1839 this was withdrawn, and the firm at once entered largely into printing the Scriptures, bringing out a great variety of different styles, both of binding and type, and at such reduced prices that the sale became enormous. Although millions have since been spent in the gratuitous circulation of the Bible, possibly no combination of philanthropists has done more to bring about the desired result than this firm, instigated principally by commercial motives; which shows that well directed commercial enterprise often results in more real benefit to humanity than efforts prompted by the purest philanthropy. Another important advance was made when the firm began to print and publish dictionaries, atlases, and a series of well-written school books; which have from time to time been revised and kept in every sense up to date, so that they have continued to hold a foremost position amongst this class of publications. About fifty years ago the firm decided to add a still more important branch, namely, manufactured stationery, to its growing trade. From that time the business advanced by leaps and bounds, and every advance has been held, until at present there is scarcely a commercial stationer in Great Britain or the Colonies that does not stock Collins's manufactured stationery, from the finest Russia imperial ledgers down to the grocer's
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William Collins, Sons & Co., Ltd., Herriot Hill Works, Glasgow.





modest “penny memo.” A later development, rendered necessary by the growing requirements of commerce and luxury, has been the diary. This line of manufactured stationery
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Mr. Grigsby.


has assumed enormous proportions, and Messrs Collins's two series of English and Colonial editions run into endless variety—from the smallest and most elegant volume for a lady's pocket to the large every-day article in use in every business house. This perfection in the production of the thousands of articles comprised in the term “Manufactured stationery” has not been brought about without the firm making a careful study of, and adopting every fresh improvement in machinery, as it has from time to time been brought to the notice of the trade. In this matter the company has had special advantages, from the fact that its present managing director, Mr. William Collins, has been a machinist of the first rank, and as far back as 1868 invented the automatic gumming and folding envelope machines. The company's magnificent Herriot Hill works at Glasgow constitute a typical factory, where the most delicate appliances, producing the most marvellous results, are in use, and the thoughtful observer realises the source whence springs Britain's commercial greatness. Then the workers form a community of themselves, with their dining rooms, reading rooms, billiard rooms and library; their sick nursing ambulance, music classes and concert rooms; in fact, everything required for their comfort, and likely to tend to their intellectual and physical advancement. In managing its colonial trade, the firm has always adopted wise and conciliatory methods, and in many respects its policy bears a striking resemblance to the later system used by Great Britain in governing her Colonial possessions. Having selected tried and able men to establish and work Colonial branches, the management not only encourages them to assume the responsibility of the position, but requires known as the Remuera Rifles. It was in the them to do so. So far from trying to monopolise the manufacture of goods in Glasgow, each branch is encouraged to start local factories or the production of goods specially required in its markets, and which circumstances permit of being produced at reasonable prices. By this means considerable labour is employed and money circulated in the district where the local branch does its trade; and as Messrs Collins Bros. are thus local producers, and become important factors in the growth of New Zealand industries, they deserve the best consideration of the Government and the good wishes of the Colony. Some years back the Auckland factory started with making school exercise books and the smaller kinds of account books, etc. At the present time the factory—equipped with the latest machinery, and manned by skilled workmen—is in a position to turn out all kinds of account books and manufactured stationery, not only at prices to compete with the parent factory, but with a completeness of finish and style to satisfy all the demands of the trade. Every circumstance points, therefore, to Messrs Collins Bros. becoming as historical in the Colonial commercial world as Messrs William Collins, Sons, and Company, Ltd., have in the Old Country, and to their enjoying corresponding confidence and respect.
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Field, J.H.,
              Printer and Paper-bag Maker, Albert Street, Auckland. This business was established over thirty years ago by the father of the present proprietor, Mr. J. H. Field, senior, under whose management a number of papers and periodicals were printed, including the “Volunteer Gazette,” “Auckland Free Lance, “New Zealand Labour,” and “New Zealand Lantern.” A good deal of Government work has been done by the firm, and in one instance of alleged breach of contract on the part of the Government, Mr. Field placed his case repeatedly before the Public Petitions Committee, which, on five different occasions, recommended the Government to pay compensation, but without avail. The late Mr. Field was very well known in Auckland, and filled several positions of importance. His death occurred on the 5th of July, 1896. The present proprietor, Mr. John Henry Field, was born in 1862, at Northampton, England, and five years later came to the Colony with his parents by the ship “Siam.” He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. Mr. Field learned his trade under his father, and has been connected with the business in various capacities for more than twenty years. He recently spent a considerable amount of money in obtaining improved appliances for his business, and purchased an excellent site in Albert Street, opposite his original premises. A new printing office was erected by him, and it is noteworthy for the completeness of its equipment as a business establishment. In 1885, Mr. Field married a daughter of the late Mr. Robert Ford, one of Auckland's early colonists.
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Given, Andrew, and Co.,
              Wholesale Paper Merchants, 22 Wyndham Street, Auckland. Head Office, Manse Street, Dunedin. The Auckland branch of this firm was opened in Ford Street in 1893, but owing to the rapid increase of its business it was soon found that larger premises were necessary, and the firm took possession of the premises in which its business is at present carried on. In addition to the commodious warehouse in Wyndham Street, the firm has also a bulk store in Albert Street.
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Mr. D. S. Cattanach,
              Manager for Messrs Andrew Given and Co., was born and educated in Scotland, and from his earliest youth was associated with the firm of Messrs Collins Bros. and Co., Limited, wholesale stationers, Glasgow. He remained in this firm's Glasgow house until 1880, when he was appointed head of the business in New Zealand. Mr. Cattanach was appointed to his present position in 1899.
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Graham, Arthur,
              Bookseller and Stationer, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Mr. Graham was born in Westmoreland, England, in 1851, and accompanied his parents to Auckland at an early age; his father, the late Mr. John Graham, was for many years relieving-officer in Auckland. The subject under notice inherited his military tastes from his father, who was engaged during the Maori war with an old ride corps known as the Remuera Rifles. In the year 1893 Mr. Graham was offered and accepted the position of Captain of the Ponsonby Artillery, and he held it for several years. He has been closely connected with Volunteer movements for a number of years, and in shooting and rowing has always taken a keen interest.
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                Leighton, J. F. And Son
              
              (James Francis Leighton, and Frank W. Leighton), Account Book Manufacturers, Paper Rulers, Bookbinders, Manufacturing and Commercial Stationers, Importers, etc., 6 and 8, High Street, Auckland. Telephone, 691. Bankers,



Bank of New Zealand. This well-known buisness was founded by Mr. J. F. Leighton, the senior partner, in 1855, and from that day to the present time has been the leading bookbindery establishment in the Province of Auckland.
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Mr. James Francis Leighton
              
              was born in the parish of Clerkenwell, London, on the 19th of April, 1830, and was educated at a private school. At the age of ten years he entered the employment of the well-known firm, Messrs Eyre and Spottiswoode, Printers to the Queen, and during the succeeding four years acquired some experience of the business he was destined to follow. He was afterwards apprenticed to his cousins, then trading under the title of Messrs Leighton and Son, bookbinders, of the Strand, London, but now well-known as partners in the firm of Messrs Leighton, Son and Hodge, of Shoe Lane, Fleet Street. Here he was thoroughly taught every branch of the bookbinding trade, the usual rule of keeping apprentices to one branch only being departed from in his favour. On emerging from his apprenticeship in 1851, Mr. Leighton was engaged by Messrs Samuel Bagster and Son of “Polyglot Bible” fame, and when with that firm, he was occupied in the binding of special editions of the Bible for the Royal Courts of Europe. Subsequently, when in the employment of Messrs Eeles and Sons, of Chancery Lane, he was engaged on the first issue of Dickens' works. Mr. Leighton left London in 1853, by the ship “Investigator,” and arrived in Sydney in August of that year. He was immediately engaged by the Church Press Office to inaugurate a bindery department, and remained in that position till 1855, but despite excellent inducements to stay longer, he found it necessary to seek a cooler climate, and acceded to the wishes of the proprietors of the Auckland “Southern Cross” by entering into a contract for the execution of their binding. Mr. Leighton arrived in Auckland by the “William Denny,” on the 10th of May, 1855, and began business in Shortland Street. It was afterwards that he secured his present premises in High Street. While Auckland remained the capital, Mr. Leighton was bookbinder for the Government, and also held the contract for the supply of stationery, etc., to the Imperial troops, during the Maori war. This latter fact, however, did not prevent him from occasionally serving his country as a volunteer in the days of the trouble. On the removal of the Government to Wellington, Mr. Leighton was urged to follow, but for domestic and other reasons he decided to remain in Auckland. Although a prominent and worthy citizen, Mr. Leighton has abstained from active participation in public affairs. He is still in the enjoyment of excellent health, but lives very quitly and supervises the practical part of the business. It is worthy of note that Mr. Leighton was the first to introduce ruling machines into the colony more than thirty years ago.

            

              

[image: Mr. J. F. Leighton.]

Mr. 
J. F. Leighton.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Frank W. Leighton



            
            


              

Mr. Frank W. Leighton,
              the Junior Partner, is the eldest son of Mr. J. F. Leighton, and was born at Ponsonby, and educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He served a short term in his father's business, preparatory to entering upon a commercial life, and during a visit to England, he made the acquaintance of many of the leading manufacturers of stationery, thus forming a connection which has since proved exceedingly useful. On his way back, he remained in Sydney for about three years, and there gained very considerable commercial experience. He left Sydney for Auckland in October, 1894, by the “Wairarapa,” on what proved to be that vessel's final trip. It was his first return to New Zealand after an absence of nearly five years, and he was bringing home souvenirs of the many countries which he had visited and these were subsequently all lost in the wreck. Mr. Leighton was one of those who escaped death on that occasion. He revisited Sydney for a short time, but returned to New Zealand towards the end of 1895, and joined his father as manager of the commercial part of the business.
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Spencer, Albert,
              Printer, Bookbinder, Paper Ruler, etc., the Caxton Printing Office, Swanson Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1890 by Messrs A. Spencer, Probert and Co., but in 1895 the senior partner bought out Mr. Probert and became sole proprietor. The type and appliances are up-to-date and the quality of work executed is most excellent. Mr. Spencer's present premises in Swanson Street, a few doors from Queen Street, have been erected by him on his own freehold property Mr. Spencer was born in Auckland in 1866, and his father, Mr. Thomas Spencer, once a well known chemist at the Thames, was drowned at the wreck of the s.s. “Wairarapa,” on the 28th of October, 1894.
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Spencer, P. and Co.,
              Wholesale Stationers, Printers, Rubber Stamp Makers, Bookbinders, Paper Rulers, Stereotypers, and Process Block Manufacturers, Swanson Street, Auckland. This firm was established in 1881, and is well-known in connection with the stationery and allied trades. The warehouse, situated in Swanson Street, comprises three stories and a cellar, and was built specially with a view to the requirements of the trade. These newly-built premises were taken over



by the firm on the 1st of July, 1901, and since then the business has been carried on at them. The firm does a large trade in picture almanacs, and its operations cover the whole of the North Island. Messrs Spencer and Co. are also agents for reliable fireproof safes, cheap, and of good quality.
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Wildman And Lyell,
              Booksellers, Stationers, Etc., Victoria Arcade, Auckland. This business was founded in 1886, on the completion of the Arcade, by the late Mr. W. Wildman, who secured the lease of the corner. At a later period, Mr. Alfred Kidd joined the firm, but in 1989 withdrew from the partnership. In 1890 the name was changed to Wildman and Lyell, by the addition of Mr. W. S. Lyell to the proprietary; and prior to the death of Mr. Wildman, whose health broke down at this time, Mr. J. A. Lyell, a brother of the original partner, and also Mr. W. E. Arey, who is now the sole manager, were taken into partnership. The business since its inauguration has grown by leaps and bounds, and at the present time it is one of the most important booksellers' and stationers' shops in Auckland. Messrs Wildman and Lyell always keep a first-rate assortment of the popular Colonial library, published in England. New Zealander, instead of having to pay about 6s a copy for a book, written by a leading author of the day, as they would have to if they were in England, are able, through the establishment of this library, to buy the work for 3s 6d, cloth bound, and 2s 6d, paper bound. Messrs Wildman and Lyell have a reputation for being the first to receive from England the very latest publications.
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Mr. George Hescott,
              Publisher and Proprietor of the East Coast and Hawkes Bay Directory, was born in London in 1852, was educated at Chignell House School, Ealing, Middlesex, at Finchley Collegiate School, near Barnet, and at Dr. White's, Chiswick College, between Turnham Green and Kew. He came out to New Zealand in 1870, and a year later joined the “Coromandel Mail” until 1875, when the paper ceased publication. He was next appointed shipping reporter on the “Wellington Times.” After this he entered the service of the National Bank and was transferred from Wellington to the Milton (Tokomairiro) branch, where he remained until the closing of that agency. He then joined the Colonail Bank, and was acting accountant and subagent at Outram for nearly four years, when the directors decided to close the branch. Since 1881. Mr. Heseott has been engaged as an insurance, commission, land, press, and patent agent, a sharebroker, and as a compiler for the Cyclopedia of New Zealand. Mr. Hescott was initiated into the Masonic order in Lodge Otago, 844, E.C., Dunedin, in 1881, and represented the “New Zealand Craftsman” for about fifteen mouths, during which period he visited nearly every lodge in the Colony, and considerably Increased the circulation of the journal, besides smoething away the asperities created by the New Zealand Grand Lodge movement. Possessed of decided musical taste, he is a member of the Auckland Choral Society and St. Paul's choir, is an ex-member of the Auckland Operatic Club, and frequently sings in public, having a good tenor voice. He also was treasurer of the old Societe Literaire Franciase, which fourished in Auckland some years ago. Mr. Hescott is an old Volunteer, having been a member successively of No. 6 Rifles, Auckland, Thames Engineers, Auckland Cavalry, A Battery of Artillery, and Invercargill Artillery. He also was honorary secretary and treasurer of the Invercargill Garrison Band, which was and is still one of the best bands in New Zealand.
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Storekeepers, Grocers, Etc.

          

            
Including—Grain Merchants, Grain and Produce Brokers, Grocers, Millers, Provision Merchants, Tea Dealers, Storekeepers, etc.

          

          

            
            


              
City Flour Mills,
              Bycroft Limited (James Hume, manager), Flour Millers and Biscuit Manufacturers, Shortland Street, Auckland. The business of Bycroft, Limited, is the oldest established flour-milling industry in the Auckland province. Its inception dates back to over forty years ago, when Mr. John Bycroft started as a miller in the old windmill at Epsom, which is still in existence, serves as a landmark of the old times when the Maoris used to bring grain in kits to be ground at the mill. About 1854 Mr. Bycroft bought a mill at Onehunga, run by water power, the water supply being taken from the Onehunga springs. He carried on the business there until his death, when he was sucseeded by his son, Mr. John Bycroft, junior, who was shortly afterwards joined in partnership by Mr. C. J. Stone, the latter having bought an interest in the business previous to the death of its founder. The business increased rapidly under the management of the new firm, and it finally became apparent that, to keep pace with the times, and the growing trade, it would be necessary to move to Auckland, and arrange for larger premises and


[image: Black and white drawing of Snowdrift Roller Flour sack]
greater facilities for manufacturing. This course having been decided upon, the Shortland Street property was purchased about twenty years ago, and a large mill was erected. The firm continued in existence until 1884, when Mr. C. J. Stone died, and it was decided to turn the business into a limited liability company. This was accomplished in the early part of 1885. From that date the company's business was carried on by various managers, until lately, when it was thoroughly reorganised, and the management placed in the hands of Mr. James Hume, who controls affairs at present. In 1890 the stone process was discarded for the roller machinery, almost universally used at the present time, and the mill was refitted with the latest improvements and appliances. The premises, which have a frontage to Shortland Street of over 80 feet, and a depth of about 240 feet, consist of two large buildings, respectively two and three stories in height. There is also a celler or ground floor extending throughout the entire depth and width. The company manufactures two brands of flour, the “Snowdrift” and the “Tulip,” both of which are high in favour with the public. The biscuit factory is worked in connection with the mill, and is well equipped with the most modern plant and machins try, and the biscuits are well and favourably known in the Colony. At the Auckland Mining and Industrial Exhibition of 1898–9, the company was awarded a gold medal for its biscuits, with special mention for excellence and uniformity of quality. It was also awarded gold medals for its “Snowdrift” and “Tulip” flour, and for its wheatmeal.

          

          

            
            


              
Mr. James Hume,
              Manager for Messrs Bycroft, Limited, was for thirty-four years manager of the Hamilton branch and other Walkato agencies of the Bank of New Zealand. He was born at Selkirk, Scotland, In 1837, educated at the local Grammar School, and arrived in Auckland in 1858, per ship “Kingston,” Captain Weekes. Mr. Hume entered the service of the Bank of New Zealand in 1861, and remained at the Auckland office until the early part of 1864, when he was deputed so open the first Waikato agency at Ngaruawahia, where he remained until 1876. During that period he opened branches at Hamilton, Cambridge, and Te Awamutu, subsequently making the first-mentioned town, the Waikato headquarters of the bank. Mr. Hume took a deep interest in the welfare of the Waikato, and was president of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Association and chairman of the Hamilton West school committee.
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Mr. James Hume.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Doonin, Thomas William,
              Grocer and Tea Merchant, Hobson Street, Auckland. Mr. Doonin may be looked upon as one of Auckland's representative business men, as he has been engaged in trade in the city for about forty-two years. He was born in the North of Ireland in the year 1829, and educated and brought up to business in that country. In 1849 he came to New Zealand, and after some business experience, he served through the Waikato war with the rank of Garrison Quartermaster and Acting Paymaster to the Auckland militia. In 1856 he established himself in business in Queen Street, but after a while removed to Hobson Street,



where he remained till 1861. In that year he purchased a block of land at the corner of Victoria and Hobson Street, where he erected a commodious two storey building. Five years later, however, he sold that property and purchased the land on which his present premises are built. After the second Maori war was over he purchased another building in Queen Street, where he did a large wholesale and retail trade. In 1870 he disposed of the Queen Street property and afterwards purchased a brick building in Karangahape Road and conducted a large cash business till 1891, when he disposed of his brick store and resolved to content himself with the connection obtained in his Hobson Street shop. Since 1887 Mr. Doonin has conducted a purely retail trade. In common with all classes of the community, Mr. Doonin made heavy losses during the years of depression in Auckland, and also by the failure of the Bank of Auckland in 1865, but he has always been able to keep faith with all his business engagements; which is an honourable record for a man who has experienced the vicissitudes of over forty years of business in a new country. Mr. Doonin has always taken a prominent part in church matters, and has held office as vestryman of St. Matthew's Church for over forty years. He is a trustee of the Auckland Orphan Home, and has the respect and esteem of a large circle of friends who recognise him as a colonist of sterling worth.
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Ellyett, A. J.,
              Family Grocer and Provision Merchant, 52 Hobson Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Ellyett was born in Auckland, in 1863, and is a son of Mr. J. Ellyett, the well-known grocer of Queen Street, whose business he managed for ten years. The present business was established some years ago, and Mr. Ellyett rapidly acquired a good connection, one by no means confined to the city; in fact, he lately had to move from 170 Hobson Street into larger premises at his present address. He has a far reaching and growing connection with the country districts, north and south, and does besides a good trade with many of the best families in the city. He keeps full stocks of general groceries, provisions, etc. Mr. Ellyett is well known in musical circles, and has been an active member of several leading musical societies.
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Mr. A. J. Ellyett's Premises.


            

          

          

            
            


              
Gunson, W., and Co.,
              Grain and Produce Merchants and Commission Agents, Customs Street East, Auckland. Telephone 398. Mr. William Gunson was born in 1851, at Ayside, Lancashire, England, and is the son of Mr. James Gunson, timber merchant and bobbin manufacturer. He was educated at Stavely, and came to New Zealand in 1873. For some years Mr. Gunson was in the employ of the once well-known firm of Messrs. Jakins and Wilcox, grain and provision merchants, Customs Street, Auckland, and there he became familiar with the business which he has since followed. Establishing himself in 1881. Mr. Gunson has met with considerable success commercially, and socially is greatly respected. For twenty-one years he was a teacher in the Pitt Street Wesleyan Sunday School. He is now circuit steward of the Pitt Street Circuit, and trustee for several of the church properties. Mr. Gunson represented the same circuit at the annual conferences of 1896–97, and was a member of the general conference of the Wesleyan body, held in Auckland in 1897. As a member of the Mt. Eden School Committee and in a variety of other ways, Mr. Gunson has most unobtrusively done great service in promoting the welfare of the district in which he resides. Mr. Gunson was for several years a member of the Auckland Harbour Board. In 1877 he was married to Miss Burton, daughter of the late Mr Joseph Burton, of Bradbury, England, and has one daughter and three sons.

            

              

[image: Mr. W. Gunson.]

Mr. W. Gunson.


            

          

          

            
            


              
Laxon, Neill and Co.,
              Limited (John M. Laxon and Robert Neill), Grain and Produce Merchants, Gore Street, Auckland. The senior partner is elsewhere referred to as a member of the Borough Council of Newmarket, and as an ex-mayor of the borough.

          

          

            
            


              
The Northern Roller Milling Company,
              Ltd. This company's mill is what was known as the Eight Hours Roller Mill, which was built by the late Mr. J. C. Firth, and is now run in conjunction with the roller mills formerly known as John Lamb's, under the management of Mr. Peter Virtue. Both the mills are of the modern type, and both are up to date, but the Eight Hours 11 is much the finer of the two. The five floors of this immense establishment are closely packed with machines of American manufacture, all dependent upon each other and engaged in the one operation of preparing flour and other products of wheat. The process vividly shows the great advance flour-milling has made from the millstones and flour-dressers of a few years ago to the wonderful combination of roller mills, scalpers, purifiers, centrifugals, universal flour-dressers, dust-collectors, wheat-cleanes, brushers, graders, and elevators now in use. The wheat is shot from the sacks into a bin, whence it is elevated into automatic weighers, which record the weight of the wheat as it passes into bins with a capacity of 40,000 bushels. After going through separators, scourers, brushers, blowers, and cockle separators, in which all imperfect grains, weeds, chaff, and dust are removed, the cleaned wheat passes along a conveyer to the mill proper, where it is again automatically weighed, to show the exact loss in the cleaning operations. It is then deposited in a grader, where the large and small grains are separated and passed on to the respective roller mills for the first break operations. After traversing seven miles of elevators, spouts, and conveyors, the separations are finally made, and the flour of the various grades passes through the respective packers



into sacks and bags of the requisite sizes. Not a pound of wheat or flour is handled after the wheat is first shot from the sack. The capacity of the mills is 60 tons of flour per day, and, run on full time, they require about 900,000 bushels of wheat per annum. The machinery is driven by a Corliss double engine, of 250 horse-power nominal. The mills known as Lamb's are also very complete and efficient, but they differ from the Quay Street Mills to the extent that the machinery throughout is of the English pattern. The turnover of the two mins is equal to about £100,000 per annum.

          

          

            
            


              
Peet, W. And J.,
              Family Grocers, Tea Dealers, etc., Co-operative Store, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Telephone, 731. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1889 and since then very good progress has been made. The premises are of two stories, the frontage to Karangahape Road being thirty feet by a depth running through to Cross Street, from which there is a business entrance, and where the stables and stores are located. Ten assistants are employed in the business, four horses and two delivery vans are kept going, and a good trade is done in town and country. The “
Ok” is the firm's special brand of tea, and in this an increasing trade is done, three hands being constantly employed in this branch. Mr. William Peet, who was born in London, came to this Colony with his parents, and was educated in Auckland. He learned his trade with the late well-known grocery firm of Glanville and Ellyett. In 1884 he started business on his own account in Wellington Street, and five years later he removed to his present address, and was then joined by his brother who was born in Auckland and educated and trained for business in the city.
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Whitehead, Frederick,
              Tea Specialist and Grocer, 81 Victoria Street, Auckland. Private residence, Vincent Street. Telephone, 503. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Few colonist have had a wider experience than Mr. F. Whitehead. He was born at Doncaster, Yorkshire, England, on the 1st of July, 1840, educated at Edenfield House, under Principal John Croom Lane, and articled to the tea and provision trade with Mr. John Chesman, of Great Grimsby. Owing to lameness he was released at seventeen from his indentures and removed to Whitby, where he entered the employment of Messrs Corney and Andrew, wholesale and retail confectioners, as clerk and assistant. At eighteen he decided to try his fortunes in London, where he served three years in the wholesale tea house of Messrs R. A. Wilson and Co., of the Society of Friends. At twenty he was examining teas at the London Docks, and attending Mincing Lane market; but he resigned twelve months later, and again went into the country trade, taking in succession the management of branch houses at Bushey and Pinnen, for Mr. Henry Kingham, of Watford. At twenty-three he again returned to Grimsby to manage his brother-in-law's business. In 1864 Mr. Whitehead took ship for Auckland, where he landed on the 4th of November, by the “British Trident.” Early in 1865 he went to Hokitika, but soon returned



to Auckland, where he commenced business in Hobson Street, as partner in the firm of Whitehead and Airey. Business, however, proved to be on the down grade, and he went to Greymonth early in 1866, and spent his time in mining, until the Thames goldfields broke out, when he removed to the Thames. There he was made a Government mining assessor, and was also member of the Mining Conference under the Hon. J. Williamson, superintendent of the Province of Auckland, and manager of several properties. He afterwards left mining as a calling, and returned to commerce, in connection with which he successively represented Mr. Issac Phillips, Messrs W. J. Vance and Co., Mr. John Buchanan, and other leading merchants of Auckland, and holds first class certificates for his various services. Mr. Whitehead took over his present business in 1875, when he re-built the premises, and has since conducted a trade of varying magnitude. As a trader and citizen he is trusted and esteemed, and as a business expert his services have been requisitioned by the leading merchants of the city, where his labours have given the greatest satisfaction.

          

          

            
            


              

Winn, William,
              Family Grocer and Provision Merchant, 20, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Winn's premises are conveniently arranged, and cover an area of thirty feet by fifty feet, with good cellar storage. Mr. Winn devotes himself almost exclusively to his private affairs. He has secured a good connection, and does an extensive and ever-increasing business.
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Hallett, Henry John David,
              Head Assistant in the Dress Department of the Direct Supply Company, Auckland, was born in Gisborne in 1872, and educated at Alexandra. He has had exceptional experience in his calling, having been for eighteen months with Messrs. David Clarkson and Sons, warehousemen, Christchurch, six years with Messrs. T. and J. Thomson, the well-known drapers, of Timaru, and for two years in charge of the Manchester department of the Napier Drapery Company at Napier. In 1896 he accepted an engagement with the Direct Supply Company, and was for some time in the head establishment at Auckland. In May, 1897, Mr. Hallett was sent to Coromandel to take charge of the branch business there. He is now head assistant in the Company's dress department in Auckland.
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City Flour Mills,
              Bycroft Limited (James Hume, manager), Flour Millers and Biscuit Manufacturers, Shortland Street, Auckland. The business of Bycroft, Limited, is the oldest established flour-milling industry in the Auckland province. Its inception dates back to over forty years ago, when Mr. John Bycroft started as a miller in the old windmill at Epsom, which is still in existence, serves as a landmark of the old times when the Maoris used to bring grain in kits to be ground at the mill. About 1854 Mr. Bycroft bought a mill at Onehunga, run by water power, the water supply being taken from the Onehunga springs. He carried on the business there until his death, when he was sucseeded by his son, Mr. John Bycroft, junior, who was shortly afterwards joined in partnership by Mr. C. J. Stone, the latter having bought an interest in the business previous to the death of its founder. The business increased rapidly under the management of the new firm, and it finally became apparent that, to keep pace with the times, and the growing trade, it would be necessary to move to Auckland, and arrange for larger premises and


[image: Black and white drawing of Snowdrift Roller Flour sack]
greater facilities for manufacturing. This course having been decided upon, the Shortland Street property was purchased about twenty years ago, and a large mill was erected. The firm continued in existence until 1884, when Mr. C. J. Stone died, and it was decided to turn the business into a limited liability company. This was accomplished in the early part of 1885. From that date the company's business was carried on by various managers, until lately, when it was thoroughly reorganised, and the management placed in the hands of Mr. James Hume, who controls affairs at present. In 1890 the stone process was discarded for the roller machinery, almost universally used at the present time, and the mill was refitted with the latest improvements and appliances. The premises, which have a frontage to Shortland Street of over 80 feet, and a depth of about 240 feet, consist of two large buildings, respectively two and three stories in height. There is also a celler or ground floor extending throughout the entire depth and width. The company manufactures two brands of flour, the “Snowdrift” and the “Tulip,” both of which are high in favour with the public. The biscuit factory is worked in connection with the mill, and is well equipped with the most modern plant and machins try, and the biscuits are well and favourably known in the Colony. At the Auckland Mining and Industrial Exhibition of 1898–9, the company was awarded a gold medal for its biscuits, with special mention for excellence and uniformity of quality. It was also awarded gold medals for its “Snowdrift” and “Tulip” flour, and for its wheatmeal.
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Mr. James Hume,
              Manager for Messrs Bycroft, Limited, was for thirty-four years manager of the Hamilton branch and other Walkato agencies of the Bank of New Zealand. He was born at Selkirk, Scotland, In 1837, educated at the local Grammar School, and arrived in Auckland in 1858, per ship “Kingston,” Captain Weekes. Mr. Hume entered the service of the Bank of New Zealand in 1861, and remained at the Auckland office until the early part of 1864, when he was deputed so open the first Waikato agency at Ngaruawahia, where he remained until 1876. During that period he opened branches at Hamilton, Cambridge, and Te Awamutu, subsequently making the first-mentioned town, the Waikato headquarters of the bank. Mr. Hume took a deep interest in the welfare of the Waikato, and was president of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Association and chairman of the Hamilton West school committee.
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Doonin, Thomas William,
              Grocer and Tea Merchant, Hobson Street, Auckland. Mr. Doonin may be looked upon as one of Auckland's representative business men, as he has been engaged in trade in the city for about forty-two years. He was born in the North of Ireland in the year 1829, and educated and brought up to business in that country. In 1849 he came to New Zealand, and after some business experience, he served through the Waikato war with the rank of Garrison Quartermaster and Acting Paymaster to the Auckland militia. In 1856 he established himself in business in Queen Street, but after a while removed to Hobson Street,



where he remained till 1861. In that year he purchased a block of land at the corner of Victoria and Hobson Street, where he erected a commodious two storey building. Five years later, however, he sold that property and purchased the land on which his present premises are built. After the second Maori war was over he purchased another building in Queen Street, where he did a large wholesale and retail trade. In 1870 he disposed of the Queen Street property and afterwards purchased a brick building in Karangahape Road and conducted a large cash business till 1891, when he disposed of his brick store and resolved to content himself with the connection obtained in his Hobson Street shop. Since 1887 Mr. Doonin has conducted a purely retail trade. In common with all classes of the community, Mr. Doonin made heavy losses during the years of depression in Auckland, and also by the failure of the Bank of Auckland in 1865, but he has always been able to keep faith with all his business engagements; which is an honourable record for a man who has experienced the vicissitudes of over forty years of business in a new country. Mr. Doonin has always taken a prominent part in church matters, and has held office as vestryman of St. Matthew's Church for over forty years. He is a trustee of the Auckland Orphan Home, and has the respect and esteem of a large circle of friends who recognise him as a colonist of sterling worth.
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Ellyett, A. J.,
              Family Grocer and Provision Merchant, 52 Hobson Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Ellyett was born in Auckland, in 1863, and is a son of Mr. J. Ellyett, the well-known grocer of Queen Street, whose business he managed for ten years. The present business was established some years ago, and Mr. Ellyett rapidly acquired a good connection, one by no means confined to the city; in fact, he lately had to move from 170 Hobson Street into larger premises at his present address. He has a far reaching and growing connection with the country districts, north and south, and does besides a good trade with many of the best families in the city. He keeps full stocks of general groceries, provisions, etc. Mr. Ellyett is well known in musical circles, and has been an active member of several leading musical societies.
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Gunson, W., and Co.,
              Grain and Produce Merchants and Commission Agents, Customs Street East, Auckland. Telephone 398. Mr. William Gunson was born in 1851, at Ayside, Lancashire, England, and is the son of Mr. James Gunson, timber merchant and bobbin manufacturer. He was educated at Stavely, and came to New Zealand in 1873. For some years Mr. Gunson was in the employ of the once well-known firm of Messrs. Jakins and Wilcox, grain and provision merchants, Customs Street, Auckland, and there he became familiar with the business which he has since followed. Establishing himself in 1881. Mr. Gunson has met with considerable success commercially, and socially is greatly respected. For twenty-one years he was a teacher in the Pitt Street Wesleyan Sunday School. He is now circuit steward of the Pitt Street Circuit, and trustee for several of the church properties. Mr. Gunson represented the same circuit at the annual conferences of 1896–97, and was a member of the general conference of the Wesleyan body, held in Auckland in 1897. As a member of the Mt. Eden School Committee and in a variety of other ways, Mr. Gunson has most unobtrusively done great service in promoting the welfare of the district in which he resides. Mr. Gunson was for several years a member of the Auckland Harbour Board. In 1877 he was married to Miss Burton, daughter of the late Mr Joseph Burton, of Bradbury, England, and has one daughter and three sons.
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Laxon, Neill and Co.,
              Limited (John M. Laxon and Robert Neill), Grain and Produce Merchants, Gore Street, Auckland. The senior partner is elsewhere referred to as a member of the Borough Council of Newmarket, and as an ex-mayor of the borough.
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The Northern Roller Milling Company,
              Ltd. This company's mill is what was known as the Eight Hours Roller Mill, which was built by the late Mr. J. C. Firth, and is now run in conjunction with the roller mills formerly known as John Lamb's, under the management of Mr. Peter Virtue. Both the mills are of the modern type, and both are up to date, but the Eight Hours 11 is much the finer of the two. The five floors of this immense establishment are closely packed with machines of American manufacture, all dependent upon each other and engaged in the one operation of preparing flour and other products of wheat. The process vividly shows the great advance flour-milling has made from the millstones and flour-dressers of a few years ago to the wonderful combination of roller mills, scalpers, purifiers, centrifugals, universal flour-dressers, dust-collectors, wheat-cleanes, brushers, graders, and elevators now in use. The wheat is shot from the sacks into a bin, whence it is elevated into automatic weighers, which record the weight of the wheat as it passes into bins with a capacity of 40,000 bushels. After going through separators, scourers, brushers, blowers, and cockle separators, in which all imperfect grains, weeds, chaff, and dust are removed, the cleaned wheat passes along a conveyer to the mill proper, where it is again automatically weighed, to show the exact loss in the cleaning operations. It is then deposited in a grader, where the large and small grains are separated and passed on to the respective roller mills for the first break operations. After traversing seven miles of elevators, spouts, and conveyors, the separations are finally made, and the flour of the various grades passes through the respective packers



into sacks and bags of the requisite sizes. Not a pound of wheat or flour is handled after the wheat is first shot from the sack. The capacity of the mills is 60 tons of flour per day, and, run on full time, they require about 900,000 bushels of wheat per annum. The machinery is driven by a Corliss double engine, of 250 horse-power nominal. The mills known as Lamb's are also very complete and efficient, but they differ from the Quay Street Mills to the extent that the machinery throughout is of the English pattern. The turnover of the two mins is equal to about £100,000 per annum.
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Peet, W. And J.,
              Family Grocers, Tea Dealers, etc., Co-operative Store, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Telephone, 731. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1889 and since then very good progress has been made. The premises are of two stories, the frontage to Karangahape Road being thirty feet by a depth running through to Cross Street, from which there is a business entrance, and where the stables and stores are located. Ten assistants are employed in the business, four horses and two delivery vans are kept going, and a good trade is done in town and country. The “
Ok” is the firm's special brand of tea, and in this an increasing trade is done, three hands being constantly employed in this branch. Mr. William Peet, who was born in London, came to this Colony with his parents, and was educated in Auckland. He learned his trade with the late well-known grocery firm of Glanville and Ellyett. In 1884 he started business on his own account in Wellington Street, and five years later he removed to his present address, and was then joined by his brother who was born in Auckland and educated and trained for business in the city.
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Whitehead, Frederick,
              Tea Specialist and Grocer, 81 Victoria Street, Auckland. Private residence, Vincent Street. Telephone, 503. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Few colonist have had a wider experience than Mr. F. Whitehead. He was born at Doncaster, Yorkshire, England, on the 1st of July, 1840, educated at Edenfield House, under Principal John Croom Lane, and articled to the tea and provision trade with Mr. John Chesman, of Great Grimsby. Owing to lameness he was released at seventeen from his indentures and removed to Whitby, where he entered the employment of Messrs Corney and Andrew, wholesale and retail confectioners, as clerk and assistant. At eighteen he decided to try his fortunes in London, where he served three years in the wholesale tea house of Messrs R. A. Wilson and Co., of the Society of Friends. At twenty he was examining teas at the London Docks, and attending Mincing Lane market; but he resigned twelve months later, and again went into the country trade, taking in succession the management of branch houses at Bushey and Pinnen, for Mr. Henry Kingham, of Watford. At twenty-three he again returned to Grimsby to manage his brother-in-law's business. In 1864 Mr. Whitehead took ship for Auckland, where he landed on the 4th of November, by the “British Trident.” Early in 1865 he went to Hokitika, but soon returned



to Auckland, where he commenced business in Hobson Street, as partner in the firm of Whitehead and Airey. Business, however, proved to be on the down grade, and he went to Greymonth early in 1866, and spent his time in mining, until the Thames goldfields broke out, when he removed to the Thames. There he was made a Government mining assessor, and was also member of the Mining Conference under the Hon. J. Williamson, superintendent of the Province of Auckland, and manager of several properties. He afterwards left mining as a calling, and returned to commerce, in connection with which he successively represented Mr. Issac Phillips, Messrs W. J. Vance and Co., Mr. John Buchanan, and other leading merchants of Auckland, and holds first class certificates for his various services. Mr. Whitehead took over his present business in 1875, when he re-built the premises, and has since conducted a trade of varying magnitude. As a trader and citizen he is trusted and esteemed, and as a business expert his services have been requisitioned by the leading merchants of the city, where his labours have given the greatest satisfaction.
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Winn, William,
              Family Grocer and Provision Merchant, 20, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Winn's premises are conveniently arranged, and cover an area of thirty feet by fifty feet, with good cellar storage. Mr. Winn devotes himself almost exclusively to his private affairs. He has secured a good connection, and does an extensive and ever-increasing business.
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Hallett, Henry John David,
              Head Assistant in the Dress Department of the Direct Supply Company, Auckland, was born in Gisborne in 1872, and educated at Alexandra. He has had exceptional experience in his calling, having been for eighteen months with Messrs. David Clarkson and Sons, warehousemen, Christchurch, six years with Messrs. T. and J. Thomson, the well-known drapers, of Timaru, and for two years in charge of the Manchester department of the Napier Drapery Company at Napier. In 1896 he accepted an engagement with the Direct Supply Company, and was for some time in the head establishment at Auckland. In May, 1897, Mr. Hallett was sent to Coromandel to take charge of the branch business there. He is now head assistant in the Company's dress department in Auckland.
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Sundry Manufacturers.

          

            
Including—Brush and Broom, Gas and Electric Light Manufacturers; Waterproof Clothing; Straw Hat Manufacturers, and Jam and Preserve Manufacturers.

          

          

            
            

              

                The Auckland Gas Company, Ltd.
              
             
 Directors: Mr Thomas Buddle (chairman), Professor F. D. Brown, and Messrs J. H. Upton, Thomas Ching, Thomas Peacock, J.P., William Philcox, and J. L. Wilson. Mr. E. B. Parsons (secretary), Mr. Chenery Suggate, A.M.I.C.E. (engineer). Offices, Wyndham Street. Works, Freeman's Bay, Auckland. Cable address, “Hydrogen, Auckland.” Office telephone, 50; works telephone, 185. P.O. Box 81. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private address of secretary (Mr. E. B. Parsons), London Street, Ponsonby. The Auckland Gas Company occupies a place in the front rank of the city's institutions. Its history shows that capable management—and not high charges—is the great secret of success. The company supplied gas for the first time on the 15th of April, 1865. Since June, 1867, sixty-two half-yearly dividends have been paid, averaging 14s 11d per £5 share annually, or within a fraction of fifteen per cent, premium. In 1862 the company was formed with a capital of £20,000, and in 1898 it stood at £250,000. Many of the shares have been sold at a high premium, and the resulting profits have been devoted to the expensive work of extending the mains throughout the scattered suburbs of Auckland. The mains measure 112 miles, and extend to the Avondale Asylum on the west, Onehunga in the south, and Remuora on the east, the North Shore being supplied from the company's separate works at Devonport. These mains vary in diameter from 18 inches downwards, and throughout the extensive area mentioned gas is supplied at the uniform price of five shillings per thousand, cubic feet. These results could not have been attained without the aid of the premium capital, which amounted to half of the paid up capital. Though gas was supplied in 1865, it was not until 1871 that the Legisture assigned to the company its area of supply, which is comprised within a radius of ten miles from the Auckland Post Office. The company early recognised the advantages of conducting its operations on ordinary commercial principles, and, for the purpose of affording facilities to consumers, undertook the importation and sale of gas fittings and appliances of every description. Accordingly the agency for the sale of the Otto gas engine was accepted from Messrs Crossley Bros., of Manchester, and one of the first engines exported by the makers to the Australian Colonies was exhibited in a shop in Queen Street in full work. This did much to popularise gas as a motive power, and since then the company has assisted manufacturers and others to acquire engines, by letting them on hire and selling them on the deferred payment system. This method has also been largely adopted in supplying gas ranges and all other appliances for the combustion of gas. At the company's head offices in Wyndham Street, there is comfortable accommodation for about twenty clerks. There, too, the company has its handsomely appointed board-room; a large and convenient saleroom; an unpacking room, and work-rooms; and on the ground floor, in the rear of the large public office, there is a model kitchen, fitted with all the needful ranges and utensils for the conduct of classes in practical cooking. This room is under the management of a lady from the South Kensington School of Cookery, and her instructions and expositions are very helpful to the ladies and girls of Auckland. She is most attentive to all enquiries, explaining the intricacies and demonstrating the practical use of the innumerable appliances for cooking and heating by gas, and nothing is charged for her services to the public. It was in 1866, during the administration of the City Board, that Auckland was first publicly lighted by gas. Under the Borough Council, and subsequently the City Council, this branch of the Gas Company's business has greatly increased, more especially since the amalgamation with the city, of the Ponsonby, Karangahape and Grafton highway districts. The city is now lighted by about 500 Welsbach incandescent gas burners, each of the strength of sixty candle power. The first step taken by the company on accepting the Welsbach incandescent gas light was to make an offer to the City Council to substitute in the public library and reading room, full-sized incandescent burners for the common ones then in use, the condition being that after a three months' trial the Council might call upon the company to re-instate the old system free of all cost to the city. Instead of this, however, the Council willingly paid all costs of the new installation, for it was found that the consumption of gas had decreased from 1300 to 800 cubic feet per night, while there was a marked improvement in the lighting. The company further undertook the upkeep of the burners, mantles and chimneys, at a cost of £2 per month, including the labour of lighting, cleaning and repairing. At the end of the first year, however, only nine mantles
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Interior of Auckland Gas Co.'s Premises.





tles had been replaced out of the sixty-eight which had been in use every night. The Auckland Gas Company has ever been on the alert to secure for its customers all available gas-saving appliances, yet the demand for gas has constantly increased. For 1897 the consumption reached 195,000,000 cubic feet, and 208 millions were manufactured; the fourth largest output in Australasia. The price per thousand feet has steadily decreased from one pound to five shillings, which for the past two years has been the uniform charge in city and suburbs. The principal works are situated in Freeman's Bay, where the company's property covers an area of nine acres. There are two gasholders at Freeman's Bay, one at Epsom, and one at Onehunga. The main holder is of the kind known as telescopic, is 105 feet in diameter, with two lifts each thirty feet high, and a capacity of 520,000 cubic feet. The second holder at Freeman's Bay contains 104,000 feet; the Epsom holder, 50,000 feet, and that at Onehunga, 29,000 feet. The low level of Onehunga necessitates the pumping of the gas into the holder, and for this purpose a very fine gas engine is used. Of course, the manufacture of the gas is continuous, for the several holders contain less than one day's consumption. At the main works there are eleven beds, each containing seven through retorts, and each bed is capable of manufacturing 100,000 feet per day of twenty-four hours. The plant throughout is of the most approved description ordinarily used for the making of gas, the only special appliance being the sprayer for infusing oil in to the gas to keep in suspension the napthaline, which would, if allowed, crystallize and block all small apertures. The residual products are collected and disposed of to the best advantage, and the careful management of this department has greatly reduced the cost of the gas. Probably no company south of the line has done so much to popularise gas as a means of light, heat and power as the Auckland Gas Company Simultaneously with the introduction of the new Welsbach burner, it imported a variety of beautifully finished and admirably designed fittings, and the ponderous old-fashioned gasoliers have been entirely discarded in favour of delicately constructed furnishings suitable to the requirements of the new light. These are supplied to consumers at the very lowest remunerative prices, and all the work connected with the fitting and installing is undertaken by the company. The Auckland Gas Company has 7000 customers, and there are 175 gas engines in use. It is, therefore, an extensive employer of labour. In winter the staff numbers about 200 men, but during the summer months the total is reduced to about 170. The company's valuable property on the western side of Freeman's Bay has been excavated for the erection of handsome and extensive new buildings, and the unsightly and unhealthy “intake” filled up without expense to the city. These works have been carried out under the supervision of the company's new engineer, Mr. Chenery Suggate, whose experiences in the Old Land well qualify him for such duties. The Devonport gasworks are the property of the Auckland Gas Company, and the Devonport Fire Brick Works are the only works of the kind in New Zealand. The whole plant has recently been increased, and new kilns and large drying sheds erected to enable the company to cope with the ever increasing orders. The company supplies retorts and fire clay goods of the best description to every gasworks
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works in New Zealand, as well as fire goods for the many improved methods of treating ore.
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Mr. Edward Brendon Parsons,
              the Secretary of the Auckland Gas Company, has for fully thirty years been a devoted servant of the company, and has during the whole of that time carried out his onerous duties in a manner which has gained for him, on the one hand, the entire confidence of the directers, and of the public on the other. Mr. Parsons has not only refrained from seeking civic power for himself, but has constantly declined to exercise the voting power of the company registered in his name. Inasmuch as the Auckland Gas Company holds property in every ward of the city and in most of the suburbs, this self-denial is creditable in the highest degree. Mr. Parsons was born at Launceston, Cornwall, England, and was educated at Plymouth. He served under indentures, and on the completion of his apprenticeship left his native town for London, where he was engaged in a wholesale house until 1862. In that year he left for New Zealand by the ship “Devonshire,” and landed at Auckland on the 7th of February, 1863. Mr. Parsons went to Dunedin, where he was employed as corresponding clerk and ledger keeper in the firm of Messrs Dalgety, Rattray and Co. He entered the service of the Auckland Gas Company as accountant in February, 1868, and in the following year was appointed to the secretaryship, in consequence of the removal to Sydney of his predecessor, Mr. J. N. Wark. When Mr. Parsons joined the company, the staff consisted of the manager and secretary, Mr. Wark, the accountant (Mr. Parsons himself, who did the whole of the clerical work of the office), the foreman and four men, of whom one was but a casual labourer. Of that old staff Mr. Parsons only remains, though a fair number of the 200 men now employed have been for many years in the company's service.
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Mr. Isaac Watts,
              who entered the office in 1877, now holds the responsible position of general office manager and cashier.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Mortimer Fairs,
              the next senior officer, is chief counter clerk, and is well qualified to fill the position, as he has had a long experience with the company's customers.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Ernest Ashton
              
              controls the accountants' department, in which the records of the company's transactions are concentrated by double entry.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Chenery Suggate,
              A.M.I.C.E., Engineer for the Auckland Gas Company, is the son of Mr. Alfred Suggate, of London, and was born at Beccles, in Suffolk, educated at the grammar school in his native town, and studied engineering under several well-known gas engineers. After an exceptional experience in gasworks, he accepted an appointment as assistant engineer at Plymouth, passed second in honours in the “Gas Manufacture” examination and other kindred subjects, and was elected an Associate Member of the Institute of Civil Engineers. He was afterwards appointed superintendent of new works at the Sheffield Gas Works, where the output averaged ten million cubic feet per day. In April, 1897, Mr. Suggate arrived in Auckland, by way of Sydney, and immediately entered upon his present duties. One of his first acts was to recommend his directors to substitute the incandescent light throughout the city free of all cost to the town. The Council agreed to erect fifteen new lamp posts, and the improved light gives great satisfaction to everyone. Special lights were erected in Queen Street, making it—once one of the dimmest—one of the best lighted streets in the Colonies. Mr. Suggate is a Freemason, and was initiated at Plymouth in Harmony Lodge No. 156 E.C. In 1887, Mr. Suggate was married to Miss Greening, daughter of the late Mr. Benjamin Greening, of Liverpool, England, and they have two sons and one daughter. Mrs. Suggate was among the prize-winners at the Auckland “Floral Fete” of 1897, when her horse and gig were adjudged the best in their class.
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Colonial Sugar Refining Company,
              Ltd. This company's works are situated at Chelsea, with deep water frontage to the harbour, about two miles above the Queen Street wharf, and are owned by a company of Auckland capitalists, working in co-operation with the Colonial Sugar Refining Company, of Sydney. The extensive original refinery



was erected in 1883, and has been added to from time to time. The company has two fine wharves where large steamers may load and discharge, and numerous cottages for the accommodation of its workers. A large proportion of the sugar used in the Colony is manufactured at the works. When the industry was established, the output was 360 tons per week; now it is nearly 700 tons. Two hundred hands are constantly employed; Mr. W. J. W. Philson is manager in New Zealand, and Mr. E. V. Millar, manager of the works.

          

          

            
            


              

                Downs, W. H.
              
              (late W. Downs and Son), Oil and Skin Manufacturer, 44 Napier Street, Auckland. Telephone 1012. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. This is one of the largest and soundest businesses in its line in New Zealand. It was started in 1874, and was conducted for many years by the late senior partner, Mr. William Downs, who was joined afterwards by his eldest son, Mr. William Herry Downs, who now manages the whole business. The volume of trade increases year by year, and owing to the excellence of the firm's manufactures, the energy and sound business qualities of the proprietors, the firm's goods are widely used, not only in New Zealand, but all over Australia and the South Sea Islands, and on vessels trading to various parts of the world. The very best material is used in making the goods, and the firm employs none but the most skilled workers of both sexes, and pays them liberally and treats them well. Hence the firm's name stands high, and its goods are held in high esteem wherever they are used. Its specialties are patent riding coats and coats with capes. The “Waikato Times” says that “the firm's oilskin factory is one of the best and most flourishing industries of its kind in the Colony. Started in a small way twenty years ago by Mr. Downs, senior, the business has been developed to a great extent by that gentleman and his son, who is now sole proprietor. Steady industry, great skill, first-class oilskin goods of every kind, business capacity and civility, combined with strict integrity, have procured success for the firm. It owns very fine premises, and the factory has every facility for manufacturing all kinds of oilskin goods, including cart, waggon, and carry-all covers, tarpaulins and rick-covers, which are sold through the firm's agents all over the Colony and abroad.”

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William Downs,
              the late Senior Partner, was a native of Yorkshire, England, and arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Claremont” in 1863; his son, Mr. W. H. Downs, was born in New Zealand.

          

          

            
            

              

                The Kapai Corn Broom Company, Ltd.
              
             
 (Thomas J. Harbutt, managing director), Manufacturers of Corn Brooms, Bass Brooms, House Bellows, etc., corner Victoria Street East and Coburg Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. It is now nearly a quarter of a century since Mr. Harbutt concluded that the manufacture of corn brooms (known as ordinary American brooms) should be undertaken in this Colony, in order that the people might save the excessive freight on the imported article, and that the wages of those engaged in the manufacture might be paid and retained in the Colony instead of being, so to speak, sent away to America. In order that no loss might arise from want of knowledge of the industry, Mr. Harbutt sent one of his sons (Mr Lawrence Harbutt) to San Francisco to thoroughly learn the trade in all its branches. This done, Mr. Harbutt set his inventive genius to work on improvements which seemed to him to be necessary, and he produces
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brooms of a quality which cannot be equalled by any over-sea importations. Indeed, considering the superiority of Mr. Harbutt's brooms over the imported corn brooms it is surprising that any of the latter should still come to the Colony. The output of the Kapai Corn Broom Company amounts to about 100,000 brooms per annum, and the turnover would be doubled if this first-rate local article were bought by the public. Mr. Harbutt was awarded the silver medal at the Wellington Exhibition of 1885, and a bronze medal at the Indian and Colonial Exhibition, London, in the following year, and these honours prove the excellence of his goods. Many other articles are manufactured by the Kapai Corn Broom Company, but only a few can be mentioned here, such as the spiral chimney sweeper, a long-handled cobweb sweeper, a long-handled scrubber for verandahs, dairies, etc., and the ordinary house bellows. All these and many others were recently exhibited at the Auckland Exhibition, where they deservedly gained first prizes. At present the raw material is imported, but it is Mr. Harbutt's opinion that at least a thousand acres of good land might be profitably set aside for the growth of the corn required by his factory alone. Assuredly the Kapai Corn Broom Company should be encouraged by all who wish well to the Colony, as only those who have watched the growth of the industry can form an idea of the energy and perseverance exerted by Mr. Harbutt and his sons in bringing it to its present state of thorough-going efficiency.

          

          

            
            


              

Plummer, Charles Bernard,
              Straw Hat Manufacturer, Coburg Street, Auckland. This business was established by Mr. Plummer, senior, about 1876, and taken over by the present owner on the death of his father. The premises consist of a row of wooden buildings, where about fifty hands are employed; Mr Plummer having none but efficient workmen, who thoroughly understand their business. Mr. Plummer, who is the only straw hat manufacturer in Auckland, is doing a steadily increasing trade, and is proving that the colonial article compares very favourably in price and quality with the imported one. His business is chiefly with the wholesale houses, from which he receives some very heavy orders. The straw plaits are all imported, and consist of English, Chinese, and Japanese; the last named predominate considerably, but German ribbons are more used than any others. In 1889 Mr. Plummer took a trip Home, where he gained further experience in the straw hat industry. He is regularly supplied with all the trade journals, and is in a position to turn out the latest shapes in show hats. Mr. Plummer was born at Kaipara in 1869, and is a son of the late Mr. Charles Plummer, a member of the Port Albert nonconformists, and one of Auckland's oldest settlers. Mr. Plummer was at first in the Telegraph Department, which he left to join his father in business. He is an active member of the Orchestral Union, and plays on the drums, tymphani, etc. He was for some time a pupil of Mr. Paque, from whom he learnt the violoncello, which he plays for the Orchestral Union.
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Tyer, A. and Son,
              Jam and Preserved Fruit Manufacturers, College Hill, Auckland. Telephone 718. Bankers, Union Bank. This enterprising firm was established in 1892, and the present commodious premises were erected in 1898. They are built in brick, and consist of two stories and a cellar, with every appliance for carrying on the business of fruit preserving. A ten-horse power boiler supplies the steam to four jacketed boiling pans, and also to the large tank used for preserved fruits. In the season about twenty-five persons are employed in the factory. The fruit is obtained from various parts of New Zealand; the oranges used in the manufacture of marmalade are grown in the north of Auckland; and only the best and soundest fruit is used in the various manufactures. The firm is deservedly celebrated for its marmalades, and was the first to start the manufacture of this breakfast




luxury in New Zealand from locally grown oranges. At the Auckland Exhibition of 1899 Messrs Tyer and Son were awarded a gold medal for their exhibit of marmalade, against all comers, Preserved fruits are put up in tins varying in capacity from pounds to gallons, and comprise apples, plums, and peaches; which are so well known and appreciated throughout the Colony that the firm is greatly taxed to keep pace with the increasing demand. The firm's tomato sauce and jams are equally in favour.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. A. Tyer,
              the Senior Partner of the firm, was born in 1832, in Kent, England, and for years he owned one of the leading businesses in his native place. Attracted by the glowing accounts of New Zealand. Mr. Tyer disposed of his business, and came to Auckland, accompanied by a family of ten. His early anticipations were not realised; shortly after his arrival he started a large grocery business, but the premises were burned down five weeks afterwards, and Mr. Tyer lost everything. He, however, started again, but this time as a manufacturer of jam. His eldest son then went Home and brought out a large quantity of glass and earthenware to take the place of the tin boxes previously used in holding preserves. Mr. Tyer's business then began to increase, and a demand sprang up for his manufactures, on account of their purity. This demand went on increasing so much that Mr. Tyer found it necessary to erect the large premises now occupied by the firm. His son and partner, Mr. Arthur Tyer, joined the firm in 1892.
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                The Auckland Gas Company, Ltd.
              
             
 Directors: Mr Thomas Buddle (chairman), Professor F. D. Brown, and Messrs J. H. Upton, Thomas Ching, Thomas Peacock, J.P., William Philcox, and J. L. Wilson. Mr. E. B. Parsons (secretary), Mr. Chenery Suggate, A.M.I.C.E. (engineer). Offices, Wyndham Street. Works, Freeman's Bay, Auckland. Cable address, “Hydrogen, Auckland.” Office telephone, 50; works telephone, 185. P.O. Box 81. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private address of secretary (Mr. E. B. Parsons), London Street, Ponsonby. The Auckland Gas Company occupies a place in the front rank of the city's institutions. Its history shows that capable management—and not high charges—is the great secret of success. The company supplied gas for the first time on the 15th of April, 1865. Since June, 1867, sixty-two half-yearly dividends have been paid, averaging 14s 11d per £5 share annually, or within a fraction of fifteen per cent, premium. In 1862 the company was formed with a capital of £20,000, and in 1898 it stood at £250,000. Many of the shares have been sold at a high premium, and the resulting profits have been devoted to the expensive work of extending the mains throughout the scattered suburbs of Auckland. The mains measure 112 miles, and extend to the Avondale Asylum on the west, Onehunga in the south, and Remuora on the east, the North Shore being supplied from the company's separate works at Devonport. These mains vary in diameter from 18 inches downwards, and throughout the extensive area mentioned gas is supplied at the uniform price of five shillings per thousand, cubic feet. These results could not have been attained without the aid of the premium capital, which amounted to half of the paid up capital. Though gas was supplied in 1865, it was not until 1871 that the Legisture assigned to the company its area of supply, which is comprised within a radius of ten miles from the Auckland Post Office. The company early recognised the advantages of conducting its operations on ordinary commercial principles, and, for the purpose of affording facilities to consumers, undertook the importation and sale of gas fittings and appliances of every description. Accordingly the agency for the sale of the Otto gas engine was accepted from Messrs Crossley Bros., of Manchester, and one of the first engines exported by the makers to the Australian Colonies was exhibited in a shop in Queen Street in full work. This did much to popularise gas as a motive power, and since then the company has assisted manufacturers and others to acquire engines, by letting them on hire and selling them on the deferred payment system. This method has also been largely adopted in supplying gas ranges and all other appliances for the combustion of gas. At the company's head offices in Wyndham Street, there is comfortable accommodation for about twenty clerks. There, too, the company has its handsomely appointed board-room; a large and convenient saleroom; an unpacking room, and work-rooms; and on the ground floor, in the rear of the large public office, there is a model kitchen, fitted with all the needful ranges and utensils for the conduct of classes in practical cooking. This room is under the management of a lady from the South Kensington School of Cookery, and her instructions and expositions are very helpful to the ladies and girls of Auckland. She is most attentive to all enquiries, explaining the intricacies and demonstrating the practical use of the innumerable appliances for cooking and heating by gas, and nothing is charged for her services to the public. It was in 1866, during the administration of the City Board, that Auckland was first publicly lighted by gas. Under the Borough Council, and subsequently the City Council, this branch of the Gas Company's business has greatly increased, more especially since the amalgamation with the city, of the Ponsonby, Karangahape and Grafton highway districts. The city is now lighted by about 500 Welsbach incandescent gas burners, each of the strength of sixty candle power. The first step taken by the company on accepting the Welsbach incandescent gas light was to make an offer to the City Council to substitute in the public library and reading room, full-sized incandescent burners for the common ones then in use, the condition being that after a three months' trial the Council might call upon the company to re-instate the old system free of all cost to the city. Instead of this, however, the Council willingly paid all costs of the new installation, for it was found that the consumption of gas had decreased from 1300 to 800 cubic feet per night, while there was a marked improvement in the lighting. The company further undertook the upkeep of the burners, mantles and chimneys, at a cost of £2 per month, including the labour of lighting, cleaning and repairing. At the end of the first year, however, only nine mantles


[image: Interior of Auckland Gas Co.'s Premises.]

Interior of Auckland Gas Co.'s Premises.





tles had been replaced out of the sixty-eight which had been in use every night. The Auckland Gas Company has ever been on the alert to secure for its customers all available gas-saving appliances, yet the demand for gas has constantly increased. For 1897 the consumption reached 195,000,000 cubic feet, and 208 millions were manufactured; the fourth largest output in Australasia. The price per thousand feet has steadily decreased from one pound to five shillings, which for the past two years has been the uniform charge in city and suburbs. The principal works are situated in Freeman's Bay, where the company's property covers an area of nine acres. There are two gasholders at Freeman's Bay, one at Epsom, and one at Onehunga. The main holder is of the kind known as telescopic, is 105 feet in diameter, with two lifts each thirty feet high, and a capacity of 520,000 cubic feet. The second holder at Freeman's Bay contains 104,000 feet; the Epsom holder, 50,000 feet, and that at Onehunga, 29,000 feet. The low level of Onehunga necessitates the pumping of the gas into the holder, and for this purpose a very fine gas engine is used. Of course, the manufacture of the gas is continuous, for the several holders contain less than one day's consumption. At the main works there are eleven beds, each containing seven through retorts, and each bed is capable of manufacturing 100,000 feet per day of twenty-four hours. The plant throughout is of the most approved description ordinarily used for the making of gas, the only special appliance being the sprayer for infusing oil in to the gas to keep in suspension the napthaline, which would, if allowed, crystallize and block all small apertures. The residual products are collected and disposed of to the best advantage, and the careful management of this department has greatly reduced the cost of the gas. Probably no company south of the line has done so much to popularise gas as a means of light, heat and power as the Auckland Gas Company Simultaneously with the introduction of the new Welsbach burner, it imported a variety of beautifully finished and admirably designed fittings, and the ponderous old-fashioned gasoliers have been entirely discarded in favour of delicately constructed furnishings suitable to the requirements of the new light. These are supplied to consumers at the very lowest remunerative prices, and all the work connected with the fitting and installing is undertaken by the company. The Auckland Gas Company has 7000 customers, and there are 175 gas engines in use. It is, therefore, an extensive employer of labour. In winter the staff numbers about 200 men, but during the summer months the total is reduced to about 170. The company's valuable property on the western side of Freeman's Bay has been excavated for the erection of handsome and extensive new buildings, and the unsightly and unhealthy “intake” filled up without expense to the city. These works have been carried out under the supervision of the company's new engineer, Mr. Chenery Suggate, whose experiences in the Old Land well qualify him for such duties. The Devonport gasworks are the property of the Auckland Gas Company, and the Devonport Fire Brick Works are the only works of the kind in New Zealand. The whole plant has recently been increased, and new kilns and large drying sheds erected to enable the company to cope with the ever increasing orders. The company supplies retorts and fire clay goods of the best description to every gasworks
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works in New Zealand, as well as fire goods for the many improved methods of treating ore.
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Mr. Edward Brendon Parsons,
              the Secretary of the Auckland Gas Company, has for fully thirty years been a devoted servant of the company, and has during the whole of that time carried out his onerous duties in a manner which has gained for him, on the one hand, the entire confidence of the directers, and of the public on the other. Mr. Parsons has not only refrained from seeking civic power for himself, but has constantly declined to exercise the voting power of the company registered in his name. Inasmuch as the Auckland Gas Company holds property in every ward of the city and in most of the suburbs, this self-denial is creditable in the highest degree. Mr. Parsons was born at Launceston, Cornwall, England, and was educated at Plymouth. He served under indentures, and on the completion of his apprenticeship left his native town for London, where he was engaged in a wholesale house until 1862. In that year he left for New Zealand by the ship “Devonshire,” and landed at Auckland on the 7th of February, 1863. Mr. Parsons went to Dunedin, where he was employed as corresponding clerk and ledger keeper in the firm of Messrs Dalgety, Rattray and Co. He entered the service of the Auckland Gas Company as accountant in February, 1868, and in the following year was appointed to the secretaryship, in consequence of the removal to Sydney of his predecessor, Mr. J. N. Wark. When Mr. Parsons joined the company, the staff consisted of the manager and secretary, Mr. Wark, the accountant (Mr. Parsons himself, who did the whole of the clerical work of the office), the foreman and four men, of whom one was but a casual labourer. Of that old staff Mr. Parsons only remains, though a fair number of the 200 men now employed have been for many years in the company's service.
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Mr. Isaac Watts,
              who entered the office in 1877, now holds the responsible position of general office manager and cashier.
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Mr. Mortimer Fairs,
              the next senior officer, is chief counter clerk, and is well qualified to fill the position, as he has had a long experience with the company's customers.
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Mr. Ernest Ashton
              
              controls the accountants' department, in which the records of the company's transactions are concentrated by double entry.
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Mr. Chenery Suggate,
              A.M.I.C.E., Engineer for the Auckland Gas Company, is the son of Mr. Alfred Suggate, of London, and was born at Beccles, in Suffolk, educated at the grammar school in his native town, and studied engineering under several well-known gas engineers. After an exceptional experience in gasworks, he accepted an appointment as assistant engineer at Plymouth, passed second in honours in the “Gas Manufacture” examination and other kindred subjects, and was elected an Associate Member of the Institute of Civil Engineers. He was afterwards appointed superintendent of new works at the Sheffield Gas Works, where the output averaged ten million cubic feet per day. In April, 1897, Mr. Suggate arrived in Auckland, by way of Sydney, and immediately entered upon his present duties. One of his first acts was to recommend his directors to substitute the incandescent light throughout the city free of all cost to the town. The Council agreed to erect fifteen new lamp posts, and the improved light gives great satisfaction to everyone. Special lights were erected in Queen Street, making it—once one of the dimmest—one of the best lighted streets in the Colonies. Mr. Suggate is a Freemason, and was initiated at Plymouth in Harmony Lodge No. 156 E.C. In 1887, Mr. Suggate was married to Miss Greening, daughter of the late Mr. Benjamin Greening, of Liverpool, England, and they have two sons and one daughter. Mrs. Suggate was among the prize-winners at the Auckland “Floral Fete” of 1897, when her horse and gig were adjudged the best in their class.
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Colonial Sugar Refining Company,
              Ltd. This company's works are situated at Chelsea, with deep water frontage to the harbour, about two miles above the Queen Street wharf, and are owned by a company of Auckland capitalists, working in co-operation with the Colonial Sugar Refining Company, of Sydney. The extensive original refinery



was erected in 1883, and has been added to from time to time. The company has two fine wharves where large steamers may load and discharge, and numerous cottages for the accommodation of its workers. A large proportion of the sugar used in the Colony is manufactured at the works. When the industry was established, the output was 360 tons per week; now it is nearly 700 tons. Two hundred hands are constantly employed; Mr. W. J. W. Philson is manager in New Zealand, and Mr. E. V. Millar, manager of the works.
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                Downs, W. H.
              
              (late W. Downs and Son), Oil and Skin Manufacturer, 44 Napier Street, Auckland. Telephone 1012. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. This is one of the largest and soundest businesses in its line in New Zealand. It was started in 1874, and was conducted for many years by the late senior partner, Mr. William Downs, who was joined afterwards by his eldest son, Mr. William Herry Downs, who now manages the whole business. The volume of trade increases year by year, and owing to the excellence of the firm's manufactures, the energy and sound business qualities of the proprietors, the firm's goods are widely used, not only in New Zealand, but all over Australia and the South Sea Islands, and on vessels trading to various parts of the world. The very best material is used in making the goods, and the firm employs none but the most skilled workers of both sexes, and pays them liberally and treats them well. Hence the firm's name stands high, and its goods are held in high esteem wherever they are used. Its specialties are patent riding coats and coats with capes. The “Waikato Times” says that “the firm's oilskin factory is one of the best and most flourishing industries of its kind in the Colony. Started in a small way twenty years ago by Mr. Downs, senior, the business has been developed to a great extent by that gentleman and his son, who is now sole proprietor. Steady industry, great skill, first-class oilskin goods of every kind, business capacity and civility, combined with strict integrity, have procured success for the firm. It owns very fine premises, and the factory has every facility for manufacturing all kinds of oilskin goods, including cart, waggon, and carry-all covers, tarpaulins and rick-covers, which are sold through the firm's agents all over the Colony and abroad.”
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Mr. William Downs,
              the late Senior Partner, was a native of Yorkshire, England, and arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Claremont” in 1863; his son, Mr. W. H. Downs, was born in New Zealand.
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                The Kapai Corn Broom Company, Ltd.
              
             
 (Thomas J. Harbutt, managing director), Manufacturers of Corn Brooms, Bass Brooms, House Bellows, etc., corner Victoria Street East and Coburg Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. It is now nearly a quarter of a century since Mr. Harbutt concluded that the manufacture of corn brooms (known as ordinary American brooms) should be undertaken in this Colony, in order that the people might save the excessive freight on the imported article, and that the wages of those engaged in the manufacture might be paid and retained in the Colony instead of being, so to speak, sent away to America. In order that no loss might arise from want of knowledge of the industry, Mr. Harbutt sent one of his sons (Mr Lawrence Harbutt) to San Francisco to thoroughly learn the trade in all its branches. This done, Mr. Harbutt set his inventive genius to work on improvements which seemed to him to be necessary, and he produces
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Interior of Kapai Corn Broom Stores.
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Interior of Kapai Corn Broom Stores.


brooms of a quality which cannot be equalled by any over-sea importations. Indeed, considering the superiority of Mr. Harbutt's brooms over the imported corn brooms it is surprising that any of the latter should still come to the Colony. The output of the Kapai Corn Broom Company amounts to about 100,000 brooms per annum, and the turnover would be doubled if this first-rate local article were bought by the public. Mr. Harbutt was awarded the silver medal at the Wellington Exhibition of 1885, and a bronze medal at the Indian and Colonial Exhibition, London, in the following year, and these honours prove the excellence of his goods. Many other articles are manufactured by the Kapai Corn Broom Company, but only a few can be mentioned here, such as the spiral chimney sweeper, a long-handled cobweb sweeper, a long-handled scrubber for verandahs, dairies, etc., and the ordinary house bellows. All these and many others were recently exhibited at the Auckland Exhibition, where they deservedly gained first prizes. At present the raw material is imported, but it is Mr. Harbutt's opinion that at least a thousand acres of good land might be profitably set aside for the growth of the corn required by his factory alone. Assuredly the Kapai Corn Broom Company should be encouraged by all who wish well to the Colony, as only those who have watched the growth of the industry can form an idea of the energy and perseverance exerted by Mr. Harbutt and his sons in bringing it to its present state of thorough-going efficiency.
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Plummer, Charles Bernard,
              Straw Hat Manufacturer, Coburg Street, Auckland. This business was established by Mr. Plummer, senior, about 1876, and taken over by the present owner on the death of his father. The premises consist of a row of wooden buildings, where about fifty hands are employed; Mr Plummer having none but efficient workmen, who thoroughly understand their business. Mr. Plummer, who is the only straw hat manufacturer in Auckland, is doing a steadily increasing trade, and is proving that the colonial article compares very favourably in price and quality with the imported one. His business is chiefly with the wholesale houses, from which he receives some very heavy orders. The straw plaits are all imported, and consist of English, Chinese, and Japanese; the last named predominate considerably, but German ribbons are more used than any others. In 1889 Mr. Plummer took a trip Home, where he gained further experience in the straw hat industry. He is regularly supplied with all the trade journals, and is in a position to turn out the latest shapes in show hats. Mr. Plummer was born at Kaipara in 1869, and is a son of the late Mr. Charles Plummer, a member of the Port Albert nonconformists, and one of Auckland's oldest settlers. Mr. Plummer was at first in the Telegraph Department, which he left to join his father in business. He is an active member of the Orchestral Union, and plays on the drums, tymphani, etc. He was for some time a pupil of Mr. Paque, from whom he learnt the violoncello, which he plays for the Orchestral Union.
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Tyer, A. and Son,
              Jam and Preserved Fruit Manufacturers, College Hill, Auckland. Telephone 718. Bankers, Union Bank. This enterprising firm was established in 1892, and the present commodious premises were erected in 1898. They are built in brick, and consist of two stories and a cellar, with every appliance for carrying on the business of fruit preserving. A ten-horse power boiler supplies the steam to four jacketed boiling pans, and also to the large tank used for preserved fruits. In the season about twenty-five persons are employed in the factory. The fruit is obtained from various parts of New Zealand; the oranges used in the manufacture of marmalade are grown in the north of Auckland; and only the best and soundest fruit is used in the various manufactures. The firm is deservedly celebrated for its marmalades, and was the first to start the manufacture of this breakfast




luxury in New Zealand from locally grown oranges. At the Auckland Exhibition of 1899 Messrs Tyer and Son were awarded a gold medal for their exhibit of marmalade, against all comers, Preserved fruits are put up in tins varying in capacity from pounds to gallons, and comprise apples, plums, and peaches; which are so well known and appreciated throughout the Colony that the firm is greatly taxed to keep pace with the increasing demand. The firm's tomato sauce and jams are equally in favour.
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Mr. A. Tyer,
              the Senior Partner of the firm, was born in 1832, in Kent, England, and for years he owned one of the leading businesses in his native place. Attracted by the glowing accounts of New Zealand. Mr. Tyer disposed of his business, and came to Auckland, accompanied by a family of ten. His early anticipations were not realised; shortly after his arrival he started a large grocery business, but the premises were burned down five weeks afterwards, and Mr. Tyer lost everything. He, however, started again, but this time as a manufacturer of jam. His eldest son then went Home and brought out a large quantity of glass and earthenware to take the place of the tin boxes previously used in holding preserves. Mr. Tyer's business then began to increase, and a demand sprang up for his manufactures, on account of their purity. This demand went on increasing so much that Mr. Tyer found it necessary to erect the large premises now occupied by the firm. His son and partner, Mr. Arthur Tyer, joined the firm in 1892.
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Mr. A. Tyer.
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Panoramic View of Auckland Harbour.
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Wheel Traffic.

          

            
Including—Carriage, Coach and Tram Proprietors; Carriage and Forwarders; Express and Livery Stable Proprietors.

          

          

            
            

              
The Auckland Electric Tramways Company,
             
 Limited, Lower Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 318. P.O. Box 549. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Head Office, Donnington House, Norfolk Street, London, W.C. This company is a subsidiary of the British Electric Traction Company, Limited, which was registered in 1896. Its directors include such men as Sir Charles Rivers Wilson; Mr. J. S. Raworth, M.I.E.E., the well-known electric engineer; Lord Rathmore; and Mr. E. Garcke, M.I.E.E., the managing director, who has a world-wide reputation as a financier and engineer in connection with electrical undertakings. The British Electric Traction Company (more familiarly known in the land of its origin as the B.E.T.), has from forty to fifty sub-companies under its administration, and it has a capital of £2,000,000 in £10 shares. During the last few years the B.E.T. has been investigating the main centres of the Australasian Colonies with a view to securing concessions in the larger towns for electric traction and lighting undertakings, and thus establishing subsidiary companies


[image: Mr. W. G. Bingham (Representative of N.Z. Electric Light and Traction Company, Ltd., of London.)]

Mr. W. G. Bingham


(Representative of N.Z. Electric Light and Traction Company, Ltd., of London.)


in these Colonies. In 1898 it purchased the Auckland Tramway Company, and at about the same time the New Zealand Electric Light and Traction Company obtained a concession from the Auckland City Council to construct and run electric tramways. These two companies, namely—the B.E.T., represented by Mr. Paul M. Hansen, and the New Zealand Electric Light
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Mr. P. M. Hansen


(Representative of British Electric Traction Company, Ltd., of London.)


and Traction Company, represented by Mr. W. G. Bingham—vested their local interests in the company now known as the Auckland Electric Tramways Company, Limited, and now (May, 1901) that final arrangements have been made with the City Council and the various suburban bodies, the work of laying down the electric tramway will shortly be commenced. Auckland, the oldest and largest city of New Zealand will, therefore, enjoy the advantages of a thoroughly up-to-date electric tramway service. This service is to consist of about twenty miles (mostly double track) of lines, running through the city and various suburbs, so that many of the districts now suffering from the want of quick and efficient means of connection with the city and other places, will be greatly benefited by the possession of the most modern mode of communication now in existence.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Auckland Forwarding And Parcel Delivery Company
              
              (H. I. Simson, proprietor), Commerce Street, Auckland. Established 1882. Telephone 354. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This company, which has large commercial sample rooms on the premises, has agencies all through New Zealand. The proprietor also acts as local agent for the Vacuum Oil Co.; Foster's Parcel and International Express Co., London; Mullaly and Byrne, Melbourne; and Saunders and Co., Sydney.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Horace Ian Simson,
              the popular owner of this business, is a son of Mr. H. N. Simson, of Auckland. He was born in Victoria, came with his parents to New Zealand in 1874, and was educated at Dunedin. Shortly after leaving school he entered commercial life, and followed the profession of auctioneer and stock salesman in Southland with great success until 1897. The mining “boom” attracted him to Auckland, where he had a large connection on the Stock Exchange until he purchased his present business from Messrs Dunningham and Co. Under Mr. Simson's management the business has increased and is continually increasing. Mr. Simson has always taken great interest in athletics, and is a keen sportsman. He is a member of the Pakuranga Hunt Club. Mr. Simson married a Hawke's Bay lady, who has made herself very popular in Auckland.
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Mr. 
H. I.Simson.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Cammell, George Samuel,
              Receiving and Forwarding Agent and Carrier, Auckland.



Office, Queen Street Wharf; private residence, Paget Street, Ponsonby. Telephone 272. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. The proprietor of this business belongs to the men who, by steady and persistent industry, trading capacity, and thrift, have helped to make the Colonies what they are. He has been connected with the business for thirty-eight years, and was well trained as a very young man by the late Messrs H. J. Wadham and Robert Pollock. Mr. Wadham was the first person in Auckland to start as a receiving and forwarding agent, and Mr. Robert Pollock was well-known as a large carrier in those days, and with both Mr. Cammell filled the position of clerk and foreman at successive periods. After Mr. Pollock's death Mr. Cammell took over his business, and for a time was in partnership with Mr. James Ballentine, Mr. Pollock's son-in-law, and next with Captain Nearing, as receiving and forwarding agents and carriers. After the dissolution of these partnerships he began business on his own account, as a receiving and forwarding agent and carrier, and has conducted it with much success for many years. Mr. Cammell has a large connection, and in the course of each year he handles thousands of tons of goods from every part of the globe. He is, however, prepared to do even a larger trade, and will receive and forward goods from or to any part of the Colony or abroad. Mr. Cammell is a native of England, and arrived in New Zealand in 1854.
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Mr. 
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Tanner, H. C. N.,
              Livery Stable Proprietor, Elliot Street, Auckland. Mr. Tanner's stables are the most centrally situated in Auckland. They have an approach from Queen Street, through Darby Street and Victoria Street, and were formerly occupied by Messrs Andrews and Son. The premises are large and most convenient, with stalls for about forty horses, and a number of loose boxes. Vehicles of all sorts can be supplied at a moment's notice, from the luxurious landau to the ordinary buggy. The building, which is of brick and iron, with about fifty four feet of frontage, faces Darby Street, and affords ample space for the accommodation of the vehicles of Mr. Tanner's customers. A groom sleeps on the premises to attend at night to the requirements of the public, and the stables are patronised by a very large section of the leading country settlers. All telegrams are immediately attended to and answered. Mr. Tanner, the proprietor, who is a son of the Rev. William William Newel Tanner, Rector of Antrabus, was born at Stow, Buckinghamshire, England. He left home in 1869 for New Zealand by the ship “Electra,” and landed at Wellington, where he joined the Armed Constabulary. He was transferred to Auckland in 1873, and remained in the force until 1888. On retiring Mr. Tanner became connected with large contracts on the Main Trunk Railway, and in road-making, and was most successful in his undertakings. He erected a large boarding-house at Otarotonga, and carried it on for four years. Seeing the increasing importance of Te Kuiti, Mr. Tanner opened a large general store there, and shortly afterwards established another at Mokau. This business increased so much that he took in a partner, and the firm traded under the name of Tanner and Johnstone. The firm opened two other branch stores in the King Country, and the business was carried on with the greatest success for over three years. Owing to the partial failure of his sight, Mr. Tanner visited England and successfully underwent an operation which was performed by the celebrated oculist, Dr. Nettleship. On his return to New Zealand he disposed of his large business concerns, and in 1896 leased the Avondale Hotel, in which he remained for two years. On disposing of that property, Mr. Tanner bought out the Onehunga-Auckland 'bus line, which he afterwards sold to the Auckland Tramway Co. He then purchased a farm at Otahuhu, and eighteen months later sold out and commenced his present business. During the Maori troubles in the Uriwera Country Mr. Tanner was stationed and saw service there for a considerable period. On the formation of the Seddon Horse, he, with his military inclinations, joined that body. Mr. Tanner married Miss Kate Stewart, of Cambridge, who was the first white lady to pass over the Waititi Viaduct, and the issue, of the marriage is one daughter. During his term in the Armed Constabulary Mr. Tanner was orderly to two Governors—Sir James Ferguson and the Marquis of Normanby. He drove the first ladies—Mrs and Miss Tanner were of the party—who travelled from Te Kuiti to Ruapehu and Te Kamo, and during six weeks of the journey none of the party slept in a house.

          

          

            
            


              

                Winstone, W. And G.
              
              (William Winstene, George Winstone, and Fred. B Winstone), General Carriers. Forwarding Agents, and Coal Merchants, Customs Street, Auckland; Telephone 39; Yards, Customs Street West; Telephone 496; Stables and Depot. Symonds Street; Telephone 95. Mr. William Winstone, the founder of the firm, is fully referred to in the section devoted to Old Colonists.
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The Auckland Electric Tramways Company,
             
 Limited, Lower Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone 318. P.O. Box 549. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Head Office, Donnington House, Norfolk Street, London, W.C. This company is a subsidiary of the British Electric Traction Company, Limited, which was registered in 1896. Its directors include such men as Sir Charles Rivers Wilson; Mr. J. S. Raworth, M.I.E.E., the well-known electric engineer; Lord Rathmore; and Mr. E. Garcke, M.I.E.E., the managing director, who has a world-wide reputation as a financier and engineer in connection with electrical undertakings. The British Electric Traction Company (more familiarly known in the land of its origin as the B.E.T.), has from forty to fifty sub-companies under its administration, and it has a capital of £2,000,000 in £10 shares. During the last few years the B.E.T. has been investigating the main centres of the Australasian Colonies with a view to securing concessions in the larger towns for electric traction and lighting undertakings, and thus establishing subsidiary companies
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in these Colonies. In 1898 it purchased the Auckland Tramway Company, and at about the same time the New Zealand Electric Light and Traction Company obtained a concession from the Auckland City Council to construct and run electric tramways. These two companies, namely—the B.E.T., represented by Mr. Paul M. Hansen, and the New Zealand Electric Light
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and Traction Company, represented by Mr. W. G. Bingham—vested their local interests in the company now known as the Auckland Electric Tramways Company, Limited, and now (May, 1901) that final arrangements have been made with the City Council and the various suburban bodies, the work of laying down the electric tramway will shortly be commenced. Auckland, the oldest and largest city of New Zealand will, therefore, enjoy the advantages of a thoroughly up-to-date electric tramway service. This service is to consist of about twenty miles (mostly double track) of lines, running through the city and various suburbs, so that many of the districts now suffering from the want of quick and efficient means of connection with the city and other places, will be greatly benefited by the possession of the most modern mode of communication now in existence.
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                The Auckland Forwarding And Parcel Delivery Company
              
              (H. I. Simson, proprietor), Commerce Street, Auckland. Established 1882. Telephone 354. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This company, which has large commercial sample rooms on the premises, has agencies all through New Zealand. The proprietor also acts as local agent for the Vacuum Oil Co.; Foster's Parcel and International Express Co., London; Mullaly and Byrne, Melbourne; and Saunders and Co., Sydney.
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Mr. Horace Ian Simson,
              the popular owner of this business, is a son of Mr. H. N. Simson, of Auckland. He was born in Victoria, came with his parents to New Zealand in 1874, and was educated at Dunedin. Shortly after leaving school he entered commercial life, and followed the profession of auctioneer and stock salesman in Southland with great success until 1897. The mining “boom” attracted him to Auckland, where he had a large connection on the Stock Exchange until he purchased his present business from Messrs Dunningham and Co. Under Mr. Simson's management the business has increased and is continually increasing. Mr. Simson has always taken great interest in athletics, and is a keen sportsman. He is a member of the Pakuranga Hunt Club. Mr. Simson married a Hawke's Bay lady, who has made herself very popular in Auckland.
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Cammell, George Samuel,
              Receiving and Forwarding Agent and Carrier, Auckland.



Office, Queen Street Wharf; private residence, Paget Street, Ponsonby. Telephone 272. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. The proprietor of this business belongs to the men who, by steady and persistent industry, trading capacity, and thrift, have helped to make the Colonies what they are. He has been connected with the business for thirty-eight years, and was well trained as a very young man by the late Messrs H. J. Wadham and Robert Pollock. Mr. Wadham was the first person in Auckland to start as a receiving and forwarding agent, and Mr. Robert Pollock was well-known as a large carrier in those days, and with both Mr. Cammell filled the position of clerk and foreman at successive periods. After Mr. Pollock's death Mr. Cammell took over his business, and for a time was in partnership with Mr. James Ballentine, Mr. Pollock's son-in-law, and next with Captain Nearing, as receiving and forwarding agents and carriers. After the dissolution of these partnerships he began business on his own account, as a receiving and forwarding agent and carrier, and has conducted it with much success for many years. Mr. Cammell has a large connection, and in the course of each year he handles thousands of tons of goods from every part of the globe. He is, however, prepared to do even a larger trade, and will receive and forward goods from or to any part of the Colony or abroad. Mr. Cammell is a native of England, and arrived in New Zealand in 1854.
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Tanner, H. C. N.,
              Livery Stable Proprietor, Elliot Street, Auckland. Mr. Tanner's stables are the most centrally situated in Auckland. They have an approach from Queen Street, through Darby Street and Victoria Street, and were formerly occupied by Messrs Andrews and Son. The premises are large and most convenient, with stalls for about forty horses, and a number of loose boxes. Vehicles of all sorts can be supplied at a moment's notice, from the luxurious landau to the ordinary buggy. The building, which is of brick and iron, with about fifty four feet of frontage, faces Darby Street, and affords ample space for the accommodation of the vehicles of Mr. Tanner's customers. A groom sleeps on the premises to attend at night to the requirements of the public, and the stables are patronised by a very large section of the leading country settlers. All telegrams are immediately attended to and answered. Mr. Tanner, the proprietor, who is a son of the Rev. William William Newel Tanner, Rector of Antrabus, was born at Stow, Buckinghamshire, England. He left home in 1869 for New Zealand by the ship “Electra,” and landed at Wellington, where he joined the Armed Constabulary. He was transferred to Auckland in 1873, and remained in the force until 1888. On retiring Mr. Tanner became connected with large contracts on the Main Trunk Railway, and in road-making, and was most successful in his undertakings. He erected a large boarding-house at Otarotonga, and carried it on for four years. Seeing the increasing importance of Te Kuiti, Mr. Tanner opened a large general store there, and shortly afterwards established another at Mokau. This business increased so much that he took in a partner, and the firm traded under the name of Tanner and Johnstone. The firm opened two other branch stores in the King Country, and the business was carried on with the greatest success for over three years. Owing to the partial failure of his sight, Mr. Tanner visited England and successfully underwent an operation which was performed by the celebrated oculist, Dr. Nettleship. On his return to New Zealand he disposed of his large business concerns, and in 1896 leased the Avondale Hotel, in which he remained for two years. On disposing of that property, Mr. Tanner bought out the Onehunga-Auckland 'bus line, which he afterwards sold to the Auckland Tramway Co. He then purchased a farm at Otahuhu, and eighteen months later sold out and commenced his present business. During the Maori troubles in the Uriwera Country Mr. Tanner was stationed and saw service there for a considerable period. On the formation of the Seddon Horse, he, with his military inclinations, joined that body. Mr. Tanner married Miss Kate Stewart, of Cambridge, who was the first white lady to pass over the Waititi Viaduct, and the issue, of the marriage is one daughter. During his term in the Armed Constabulary Mr. Tanner was orderly to two Governors—Sir James Ferguson and the Marquis of Normanby. He drove the first ladies—Mrs and Miss Tanner were of the party—who travelled from Te Kuiti to Ruapehu and Te Kamo, and during six weeks of the journey none of the party slept in a house.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Winstone, W. And G



            
            


              

                Winstone, W. And G.
              
              (William Winstene, George Winstone, and Fred. B Winstone), General Carriers. Forwarding Agents, and Coal Merchants, Customs Street, Auckland; Telephone 39; Yards, Customs Street West; Telephone 496; Stables and Depot. Symonds Street; Telephone 95. Mr. William Winstone, the founder of the firm, is fully referred to in the section devoted to Old Colonists.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Watch and Jewellery Trade





          
Watch and Jewellery Trade.

          

            
Including—Chronometer Makers, Diamond Cutters, Mounters and Setters, Opticians, and Watchmakers and Jewellers.

          

          

            
            


              
Bartlett, Alfred G.,
              Chronometer Maker, Watchmaker and Jeweller, 222 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Bartlett is a native of Dulwich, England, and was apprenticed to Mr. W. Connell, chronometer maker, of Clerkenwell, London, in 1833. At the expiration of his term of indenture he obtained employment with Messrs Brockbank and Atkins, and later with Messrs Dent and Co., and spent nearly twenty years in the service of these firms. For the last three years of his London life Mr. Bartlett was occupied as chronometer examiner to Messrs John Fletcher and Sons, and during that period a very large number of instruments passed through his hands. A serious illness, culminating in brain fever, compelled him to relinquish business, and while convalescent, his attention was directed to New Zealand, to which the Kaipara special settlers were then making preparations to sail. He decided to throw in his lot with them, and accordingly departed from London in the ship “William Miles,” which arrived at Auckland in November, 1862. Circumstances deterred him from going on to the land, and he, therefore, commenced the business which he has since carried on with marked successs. Shortly after his arrival in Auckland he erected an observatory, and supplied the city with correct time through the medium of a time-ball and clock. He has erected public clocks in various parts of the district, as well as at Tonga and elsewhere. His establishment is one of the most complete in the Colony, being provided with every appliance requisite to the requirements of a large and progressive business, and his reputation, particularly in relation to chronometer and fine watch work, is more than local. The shop is artistically fitted, and contains, in addition to the regular lines of watches and clocks, a bewildering assortment of articles of the jeweller's and silversmith's craft, the extent and variety of which cannot be described in a brief article.

          

          

            
            


              

Howden, James,
              Watchmaker, Jeweller, and Optician, 92 Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Howden is a native of Climber Park, Sherwood Forest, Nottinghamshire, England. He learned his business with Messrs Simmons, Bunyan, and Gardner, of Manchester, completed his term in 1857, and subsequently worked in the same city till 1861, when he came to New Zealand by the ship “Black Eagle,” from London. Mr. Howden was all through the New Zealand war; he was on active service for about two years, and served as a volunteer for about five. He established the present business in 1862, and his plant comprises lathes and the latest and best machines and appliances for manufacturing jewellery of all descriptions, and for such delicate work as diamond-setting and engraving. There is also everything that is needful for the watch cleaning and repairing department. Mr. Howden is a direct importer of watches, clocks, jewellery, precious stones, optical goods, and pianos and organs. The shop, which is centrally situated in Queen Street, is built of brick, is one storey in height, and has a floorage space of 900 square feet. One of the largest mirrors in the Colony is fixed behind the counter, and reflects all the beautiful show cases from the other side of the shop, creating a pleasingly interesting illusion as to size. Mr. Howden's business connection extends throughout the whole of the North Island.

          

          

            
            


              

Larsen, N. F. B.,
              Lapidist and Jeweller, Albert Street, Auckland. Mr. Larsen was born in Denmark in 1852, and arrived in New Zealand in 1874. His present business was established in 1879, and has been steadily growing ever since. Mr. Larsen is noticed as a Past Master Mason at page 
244 of this work.

          

          

            
            


              

Maud, William,
              Watchmaker and Jeweller, Karangahape Road, Auckland. This business was established in 1883, by the present proprietor, who was born at Chagford, Devonshire, England. Mr. Maud was educated at his native village, and apprenticed at Bristol. He commenced business at Ryde, in the Isle of Wight, and was there for ten years. In 1883 he came to Auckland on account of illhealth, by the s.s. “British King.” After his arrival in Auckland he began business in Karangahape Road, and removed to his present handsome premises in 1890. Mr. Maud keeps a first-class stock of watches and jewellery. He makes specialties of watch repairing and manufacturing various kinds of jewellery.
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Slaney, Walter,
              Manufacturing Jeweller, corner of Queen Street and Vulcan Lane, Auckland. P.O. Box 128. Bankers, Union Bank of Australasia. Private residence, Vincent Street. Mr. Slaney, who is a native of Birmingham, England, founded his present business in 1881, since which it has pursued a steady course, and is now (1901) one of the best known and most thriving of its class in Auckland. All kinds of jewellery of the most up-to-date description are kept in stock. Diamond-mounting is a specialty of Mr. Slaney's business.
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Bartlett, Alfred G.,
              Chronometer Maker, Watchmaker and Jeweller, 222 Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Bartlett is a native of Dulwich, England, and was apprenticed to Mr. W. Connell, chronometer maker, of Clerkenwell, London, in 1833. At the expiration of his term of indenture he obtained employment with Messrs Brockbank and Atkins, and later with Messrs Dent and Co., and spent nearly twenty years in the service of these firms. For the last three years of his London life Mr. Bartlett was occupied as chronometer examiner to Messrs John Fletcher and Sons, and during that period a very large number of instruments passed through his hands. A serious illness, culminating in brain fever, compelled him to relinquish business, and while convalescent, his attention was directed to New Zealand, to which the Kaipara special settlers were then making preparations to sail. He decided to throw in his lot with them, and accordingly departed from London in the ship “William Miles,” which arrived at Auckland in November, 1862. Circumstances deterred him from going on to the land, and he, therefore, commenced the business which he has since carried on with marked successs. Shortly after his arrival in Auckland he erected an observatory, and supplied the city with correct time through the medium of a time-ball and clock. He has erected public clocks in various parts of the district, as well as at Tonga and elsewhere. His establishment is one of the most complete in the Colony, being provided with every appliance requisite to the requirements of a large and progressive business, and his reputation, particularly in relation to chronometer and fine watch work, is more than local. The shop is artistically fitted, and contains, in addition to the regular lines of watches and clocks, a bewildering assortment of articles of the jeweller's and silversmith's craft, the extent and variety of which cannot be described in a brief article.
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Howden, James,
              Watchmaker, Jeweller, and Optician, 92 Queen Street, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Howden is a native of Climber Park, Sherwood Forest, Nottinghamshire, England. He learned his business with Messrs Simmons, Bunyan, and Gardner, of Manchester, completed his term in 1857, and subsequently worked in the same city till 1861, when he came to New Zealand by the ship “Black Eagle,” from London. Mr. Howden was all through the New Zealand war; he was on active service for about two years, and served as a volunteer for about five. He established the present business in 1862, and his plant comprises lathes and the latest and best machines and appliances for manufacturing jewellery of all descriptions, and for such delicate work as diamond-setting and engraving. There is also everything that is needful for the watch cleaning and repairing department. Mr. Howden is a direct importer of watches, clocks, jewellery, precious stones, optical goods, and pianos and organs. The shop, which is centrally situated in Queen Street, is built of brick, is one storey in height, and has a floorage space of 900 square feet. One of the largest mirrors in the Colony is fixed behind the counter, and reflects all the beautiful show cases from the other side of the shop, creating a pleasingly interesting illusion as to size. Mr. Howden's business connection extends throughout the whole of the North Island.
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Larsen, N. F. B.,
              Lapidist and Jeweller, Albert Street, Auckland. Mr. Larsen was born in Denmark in 1852, and arrived in New Zealand in 1874. His present business was established in 1879, and has been steadily growing ever since. Mr. Larsen is noticed as a Past Master Mason at page 
244 of this work.
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Maud, William,
              Watchmaker and Jeweller, Karangahape Road, Auckland. This business was established in 1883, by the present proprietor, who was born at Chagford, Devonshire, England. Mr. Maud was educated at his native village, and apprenticed at Bristol. He commenced business at Ryde, in the Isle of Wight, and was there for ten years. In 1883 he came to Auckland on account of illhealth, by the s.s. “British King.” After his arrival in Auckland he began business in Karangahape Road, and removed to his present handsome premises in 1890. Mr. Maud keeps a first-class stock of watches and jewellery. He makes specialties of watch repairing and manufacturing various kinds of jewellery.
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Slaney, Walter,
              Manufacturing Jeweller, corner of Queen Street and Vulcan Lane, Auckland. P.O. Box 128. Bankers, Union Bank of Australasia. Private residence, Vincent Street. Mr. Slaney, who is a native of Birmingham, England, founded his present business in 1881, since which it has pursued a steady course, and is now (1901) one of the best known and most thriving of its class in Auckland. All kinds of jewellery of the most up-to-date description are kept in stock. Diamond-mounting is a specialty of Mr. Slaney's business.
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Including—Coopers, Sash and Door Manufacturers, Box Manufacturers, Sawmillers, Timber Merchants, and Woodware Manufacturers.

          

          

            
            


              
Bagnall Bros. and Co.,
              Limited (H. C. Bagnall, manager), Timber Merchants and Box Manufacturers; Box Factory, Wellesley Street West, Auckland; Sawing and Planing Mills and Box Factory, Turua, near Thames. In 1868 the Hauraki Saw Mill Company acquired an interest in the Turua forest, between the Waihou and Piako rivers, where it erected a sawmill. This was leaseu to the Messrs Bagnall Bros. in 1877, and they have since purchased the property. The business extending, the firm was formed into a Limited Liability Company in 1896, and a year later the factory for the manufacture of butter boxes and cases was opened in Auckland. The business is one of the largest of its kind in the Colony; and the company employs over 200 men, and £500 per week is paid in wages. The late Hon. George L. Bagnall, the founder of the firm, came to New Zealand with his family in 1864, from Canada, and eventually settled at Turua. After his death his five sons formed the business into a company, with the eldest, Mr. Lemuel J. Bagnall, as managing director. This gentleman is the Chairman of the Auckland Board of Education, and is fully referred to in that connection.

          

          

            
            


              

Goldie, David,
              Timber Merchant, Albert Street and Breakwater Road, Auckland. Telephones 58 and 96. P.O. Box 218. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Goldie was born in Hobart, Tasmania, and served an apprenticeship to carpentry with the well-known firm of Messrs Cheverton and Andrews. In 1863 he came to Auckland, New Zealand, and for a time worked at his trade in the city; but during the Waikato war he, in conjunction with some companions, took a contract for the erection of buildings for the use of the troops when they returned to Auckland at the close of the war. Mr. Goldie continued contracting for a time, but later on he took the management of the timber yard of Messrs G. Holdship and Co. After a few years he started in the timber trade on his own account, and from a small beginning the business has increased to such an extent that he has at the present time two mills fully employed; indeed, one mill works night and day, with two shifts of men, and the night shift carries on its operations by the electric light. Mr. Goldie is now busy erecting a third mill, more powerful than either of the other two. A large quantity of the timber cut at Mr. Goldie's mills is sent to the other Colonies, and to England. Mr. Arthur Goldie, the eldest son of the proprietor, manages the mills. The buildings in Albert Street, with a floorage space of 10,800 square feet, consist of a one-storey galvanized building and large galvanized iron sheds, and the machinery consists of planing machines and circular saw benches, etc. At this depot the planing and manufacturing are carried on, and the motive power is obtained from a steam engine of twelve horse-power. At the Oceanio mill there are a timber yard, and extensive galvanized iron sheds, with a total floorage space of 35,000 square feet. These premises adjoin the railway terminus goods depot, and are connected by short railway sidings, by which the logs can be run direct on the trucks to the breaking down saws without the extra labour of reloading. Labour-saving conveniences and appliances are much in evidence at the mills, which have their own wharf at the yard frontage on the shore of the Waitemata harbour. On this wharf galvanized iron sheds are provided for the safe storage of dry timber for export, and for preserving it from the wet weather. The machinery employed on the premises consists of breaking down saws, deal frame saws, wood lathes, fret saws, and all other necessary appliances of the newest type, and a powerful twenty-five horse-power engine and boiler drive the immense shafting. In addition to its special local and export trade, the firm imports timber from other countries, and ironmongery and nails from Great Britain and Belgium.

          

          

            
            


              
Kauri Timber Company,
              Limited, Auckland. This company was formed in 1888, with a capital of £1,250,000, paid up to £750,000, and its operations are of a very comprehensive nature. Besides the headquarters of the company in Melbourne and a branch in Sydney, there are sixteen branches in New Zealand, where milling operations are in active progress. The magnificent forests owned by the company form a most valuable asset, and assure steady supplies for its mills for many years. Between 300 and 400 men are engaged in the Auckland mill and factory, and throughout the whole of the company's operations in mills, stores, and forests, some five or six thousand people are employed. In its extensive export trade the company employs a large fleet of vessels, and is represented in the markets of Great Britain, Cape Colony, Australia, and the South Sea Islands. It is evident that in connection with the timber industry and those dependent upon it, the Kauri Timber Company is a most important factor, and that the welfare of the whole population in the districts over which its operations extend is intimately associated with that of the company.

          

          

            
            


              
Macklow Bros.
              (William Charles Macklow, Walter Joseph Macklow, and Thomas Macklow), Auckland. Sawmills, Mechanics' Bay. Telephone 598. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. The Messrs Macklow Bros. arrived in New Zealand as boys in 1864 by the ship “Eagle Speed,” from London. They are natives of England, and on arriving in the Colony they commenced farming at Mahurangi, and successfully carried on for a number of years in that line Having a large quantity of high-class timber on their land, and not finding a profitable market for it, they started a sawmill in 1888. Since that date the business of the firm has steadily increased, until it has reached its present large proportions. The firm's specially is kauri timber of the very finest quality, a soft mud wood, which is in great demand amongst all the joiners and cabinetmakers of Auckland. It has extensive machinery for the rapid manufacture of gum, fruit, and other boxes at a small cost, and is in an unrivalled position in regard to work of that description. Messrs Macklow have extensive kauri and kahikatea bushes which they work, and they bring the logs to the mill at Auckland by their own scows. The premises are two stories in height, and are built of wood and iron, with a floorage space exceeding 100,000 square feet. They are situated conveniently to the city, and have approaches from the harbour. The machinery employed comprises circular saws, deal frames, planing machines, moulding machines, re-cutting saws, band saws, fret saws, and numerous other wood-working machines, which are all driven by a 160 horse-power steam engine. The employees average fully forty in number, besides men employed in the bushes and on the scows. The firm does a large local trade, and also throughout New Zealand, but the principal business is an export one, and in this respect it may be considered one of the most extensive in the Auckland province. The firm is a direct importer of machinery, and of many other articles required in its business. Messrs Macklow Bros. still have their farm at Mahurangi. It is under the management of the junior member of the firm, Mr. Thomas Macklow, and, despite the fluctuation and depression of the produce market from time to time, they have, as farmers, held their own and proved themselves the right men in the right place.

          

          

            
            


              
Mander And Bradley,
              Queen Street, Auckland. Bush and Mills, Port Albert and Puhipuhi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Mr. Mander's. Water View, Avondale. The firm of Mander and Bradley came into existence about sixteen years ago, when it opened up at Pukikaroro a large bush, which was afterwards sold to the Kauri Timber Company. The partners then retired from business, but in consequence of some misunderstanding with the company as to some other bush areas, they were compelled to enter business again, and built a mill at Port Albert. This mill is still running. The firm also worked out a bush at Waitakerei, known as Worsley's bush, where it erected a mill, and constructed a tramway over the



ranges. By means of this tramway the timber was lowered about 900 feet in a mile, and the firm overcame great difficulties by its means. The Worsley bush mill has since been removed to the Great Puhipuhi forest, where the firm is now carrying on operations.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Mander,
              the Senior Partner, was born at Onehunga, in 1849, and his parents left for Wairoa South in 1856. At the age of ten years, he went out to work, and after working as an employee for twelve years, he secured a piece of bush land and commenced farming. In 1876 he married, and in 1881, he sold out his farm, as dairy farming in his case did not prove sufficiently remunerative to support a young family without assistance. He then purchased a mill and a small bush at Awitu, which was worked out in a little over a year, with fair success. In 1882 he went to Wellsford, in Albertland, where he carried on the kauri baulk trade, until the bush was exhausted, when he settled at Pukekararo, and took in Mr. Bradley as a partner. The partners there opened up a large bush and carried on the business until 1888, when it was sold to the Kauri Timber Company. In 1889 Messrs Mander and Bradley built a mill at Port Albert, which is still running, and in 1895, the firm erected another mill at Nihotapu, Waitakerei Ranges. The firm constructed a tram over the ranges, lowering the timber about 900 feet in a mile, and thus successfully overcame the difficulties that had previously kept the timber out of the market. Mr. Mander has not taken any active part in political or municipal affairs, although he is an enthusiastic member of the National Association, as his time has been fully occupied in fighting the battle of life; the only hobby he indulges in is the pursuit of art, and although he is not an artist by education, he has to some extent developed his artistic endowments.
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Mr. Samuel Bradley
              
              is well-known throughout the Colony amongst sportsmen as the owner of “Impulse,” “Swordfish II.,” and other well-known racers. “Impulse” won the New Zealand Cup in 1895, as well as the Auckland Easter Handicap in 1891 and 1893. In 1893 “Impulse” carried 8 stone 12 pounds, and won the race in the fast time of 2 minutes 37 seconds. Mr. Bradley's “Swordfish II.” also won the Egmont (Taranaki) and Wanganui Cups in 1898. Mr. Bradley was born at One-hunga, in 1852, and is the youngest son of one of the pioneers of that place—Mr. Joseph Bradley, who arrived in New Zealand about 1849. At an early age Mr. Bradley was engaged in running a ferry service between Mangere and Onehunga, and his brothers Joseph and William subsequently inaugurated a coastal line of cutters—“Willie Winkie,” “Andante,” and “Dawn”—trading from Onehunga to West Coast ports. Mr. Bradley afterwards separated from his brothers, and commenced business as a general carrier, timber and coal merchant; at the same time he owned the schooner “Agnes Donald,” which was employed in the interprovincial and South Seas trade. About the year 1882 he joined Mr. Mander, and the firm now owns some of the most valuable tracts of forest in the district of Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              
The Mitchelson Timber Company,
              Ltd., Auckland. This company was formed in December, 1898, when it took over the business of Messrs E. Mitchelson and Co., sawmillers and timber merchants, of Aoroa. The head office of the company is in Little Queen Street, Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Thomas Hulme Barstow,
              Secretary of the Mitchelson Timber Company Limited, was born at the Great Barrier in 1856, and is the son of the late resident magistrate, of Auckland, Mr. R. C. Bar-stow. He was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell, joined the civil service as apprentice in the Auckland railway workshops in 1876, and for two years was a draftsman in the district office. In May, 1885, he was promoted to district manager of the Picton section of New Zealand railways, which appointment he resigned in 1889 to take charge of the Kaihn Valley railway which was then owned by a private company. When the line was taken over by the Government in 1890, he was retained as district manager. His management was most efficient and successful, and Mr. Barstow earned a well-deserved popularity. He married in 1885 a daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Shepherd, of Auckland, by whom he has two sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

                Murdoch, C. P. And Sons
              
              (C. P. Murdoch, Charles Murdoch, Leslie Murdoch, David Murdoch, and William Murdoch), Woodware Manufacturers, Customs Street West, Auckland. This firm, which was founded by Mr. C. P. Murdoch in 1894, manufactures all classes of wheel wright's material, turnery of all descriptions, and supplies hardwoods suitable for the work of wheelwrights and coach builders. Large quantities of iron, blue, and spotted gums, and other hardwoods, and about 30,000 spoke blocks in the rough, are stored in the factory to undergo the process of seasoning. The premises are plain and unpretentious externally, but inside they are supplied with the finest and most perfect machinery procurable from America. The manufacture of spokes and hubs is a specialty with the firm. About one minute is occupied in the formation of a spoke, from the time it is taken in hand in the rough piece of unshaped wood, until it is turned out in its perfect state, ready for the coachbuilder, although it has to go through five different processes in five separate machines. After the wood is cut to the required length, it is carried to an automatically worked machine, which in a few seconds, through the deftness of the operator, shapes it into a completed spoke. This machine will shape absolutely square, round, oval, and flat; in fact, into any shape required, at the will of the workman, and any size of spoke, from the smallest to the largest, can be manufactured with equal facility. It is then tennoned, heated, and sandpapered, when it is ready for the market. The arm has a copying lathe, for making all classes of handles, swingle-bars, and gunstocks, and other irregular work. All classes of the firm's goods are in demand all over New Zealand, and are recognised as being of the highest class of workmanship. Twelve men are employed in connection with the firm's workshops.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Charles P. Murdoch,
              J.P., Head of the firm, was born in Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1850, and brought up to the sawmilling trade, which he followed until he left for Dunedin, by the ship “Peter Denny,” in 1870. On his arrival in New Zealand Mr. Murdoch entered the employment of Messrs Gibbs and Clayton, sash and door manufacturers, and remained with them for eight years, during which he rose to the position of manager in their employment. Subsequently he entered the service of Messrs Guthrie and Larnach, and went to Auckland as manager of their business there. On the reconstruction of that business, Mr. Murdoch continued as manager for the new firm, which was known as the Karekau Sawmilling Co. Some time afterwards he retired from this position and started sheepfarming, which he carried on until 1895, when, m conjunction with his four sons, he started the present flourishing business. Mr. Murdoch has been connected with several road boards and school committees, and was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1886. As a Freemason he is connected with Lodge Manukau. He married Miss Wallace, of Dunedin, in 1876, and has a family of five sons and four daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

                Parker, Lamb. and Co.
              
              (William Johnson Parker and James Alexander Lamb), Timber Merchants and Mill Owners, Customs Street West, Auckland. Telephone 826. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This firm succeeded the late Messrs Combes, Hazard and Co., early in 1898, but the senior partner, Mr. Parker, has been identified with the mercantile growth of Auckland since boyhood, and Mr. Lamb was formerly in the timber business at the railway wharf for four years. The mill possesses the latest and most improved machinery, and is capable of turning out 70,000 feet per week. The firm employs twenty-five men at the mill, besides bush hands working at Waikawa, Coromandel, and Ngunguru, and its business connections extend to England and Australia.
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Bagnall Bros. and Co.,
              Limited (H. C. Bagnall, manager), Timber Merchants and Box Manufacturers; Box Factory, Wellesley Street West, Auckland; Sawing and Planing Mills and Box Factory, Turua, near Thames. In 1868 the Hauraki Saw Mill Company acquired an interest in the Turua forest, between the Waihou and Piako rivers, where it erected a sawmill. This was leaseu to the Messrs Bagnall Bros. in 1877, and they have since purchased the property. The business extending, the firm was formed into a Limited Liability Company in 1896, and a year later the factory for the manufacture of butter boxes and cases was opened in Auckland. The business is one of the largest of its kind in the Colony; and the company employs over 200 men, and £500 per week is paid in wages. The late Hon. George L. Bagnall, the founder of the firm, came to New Zealand with his family in 1864, from Canada, and eventually settled at Turua. After his death his five sons formed the business into a company, with the eldest, Mr. Lemuel J. Bagnall, as managing director. This gentleman is the Chairman of the Auckland Board of Education, and is fully referred to in that connection.
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Goldie, David,
              Timber Merchant, Albert Street and Breakwater Road, Auckland. Telephones 58 and 96. P.O. Box 218. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Goldie was born in Hobart, Tasmania, and served an apprenticeship to carpentry with the well-known firm of Messrs Cheverton and Andrews. In 1863 he came to Auckland, New Zealand, and for a time worked at his trade in the city; but during the Waikato war he, in conjunction with some companions, took a contract for the erection of buildings for the use of the troops when they returned to Auckland at the close of the war. Mr. Goldie continued contracting for a time, but later on he took the management of the timber yard of Messrs G. Holdship and Co. After a few years he started in the timber trade on his own account, and from a small beginning the business has increased to such an extent that he has at the present time two mills fully employed; indeed, one mill works night and day, with two shifts of men, and the night shift carries on its operations by the electric light. Mr. Goldie is now busy erecting a third mill, more powerful than either of the other two. A large quantity of the timber cut at Mr. Goldie's mills is sent to the other Colonies, and to England. Mr. Arthur Goldie, the eldest son of the proprietor, manages the mills. The buildings in Albert Street, with a floorage space of 10,800 square feet, consist of a one-storey galvanized building and large galvanized iron sheds, and the machinery consists of planing machines and circular saw benches, etc. At this depot the planing and manufacturing are carried on, and the motive power is obtained from a steam engine of twelve horse-power. At the Oceanio mill there are a timber yard, and extensive galvanized iron sheds, with a total floorage space of 35,000 square feet. These premises adjoin the railway terminus goods depot, and are connected by short railway sidings, by which the logs can be run direct on the trucks to the breaking down saws without the extra labour of reloading. Labour-saving conveniences and appliances are much in evidence at the mills, which have their own wharf at the yard frontage on the shore of the Waitemata harbour. On this wharf galvanized iron sheds are provided for the safe storage of dry timber for export, and for preserving it from the wet weather. The machinery employed on the premises consists of breaking down saws, deal frame saws, wood lathes, fret saws, and all other necessary appliances of the newest type, and a powerful twenty-five horse-power engine and boiler drive the immense shafting. In addition to its special local and export trade, the firm imports timber from other countries, and ironmongery and nails from Great Britain and Belgium.
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Kauri Timber Company,
              Limited, Auckland. This company was formed in 1888, with a capital of £1,250,000, paid up to £750,000, and its operations are of a very comprehensive nature. Besides the headquarters of the company in Melbourne and a branch in Sydney, there are sixteen branches in New Zealand, where milling operations are in active progress. The magnificent forests owned by the company form a most valuable asset, and assure steady supplies for its mills for many years. Between 300 and 400 men are engaged in the Auckland mill and factory, and throughout the whole of the company's operations in mills, stores, and forests, some five or six thousand people are employed. In its extensive export trade the company employs a large fleet of vessels, and is represented in the markets of Great Britain, Cape Colony, Australia, and the South Sea Islands. It is evident that in connection with the timber industry and those dependent upon it, the Kauri Timber Company is a most important factor, and that the welfare of the whole population in the districts over which its operations extend is intimately associated with that of the company.
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Macklow Bros.
              (William Charles Macklow, Walter Joseph Macklow, and Thomas Macklow), Auckland. Sawmills, Mechanics' Bay. Telephone 598. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. The Messrs Macklow Bros. arrived in New Zealand as boys in 1864 by the ship “Eagle Speed,” from London. They are natives of England, and on arriving in the Colony they commenced farming at Mahurangi, and successfully carried on for a number of years in that line Having a large quantity of high-class timber on their land, and not finding a profitable market for it, they started a sawmill in 1888. Since that date the business of the firm has steadily increased, until it has reached its present large proportions. The firm's specially is kauri timber of the very finest quality, a soft mud wood, which is in great demand amongst all the joiners and cabinetmakers of Auckland. It has extensive machinery for the rapid manufacture of gum, fruit, and other boxes at a small cost, and is in an unrivalled position in regard to work of that description. Messrs Macklow have extensive kauri and kahikatea bushes which they work, and they bring the logs to the mill at Auckland by their own scows. The premises are two stories in height, and are built of wood and iron, with a floorage space exceeding 100,000 square feet. They are situated conveniently to the city, and have approaches from the harbour. The machinery employed comprises circular saws, deal frames, planing machines, moulding machines, re-cutting saws, band saws, fret saws, and numerous other wood-working machines, which are all driven by a 160 horse-power steam engine. The employees average fully forty in number, besides men employed in the bushes and on the scows. The firm does a large local trade, and also throughout New Zealand, but the principal business is an export one, and in this respect it may be considered one of the most extensive in the Auckland province. The firm is a direct importer of machinery, and of many other articles required in its business. Messrs Macklow Bros. still have their farm at Mahurangi. It is under the management of the junior member of the firm, Mr. Thomas Macklow, and, despite the fluctuation and depression of the produce market from time to time, they have, as farmers, held their own and proved themselves the right men in the right place.
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Mander And Bradley,
              Queen Street, Auckland. Bush and Mills, Port Albert and Puhipuhi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Mr. Mander's. Water View, Avondale. The firm of Mander and Bradley came into existence about sixteen years ago, when it opened up at Pukikaroro a large bush, which was afterwards sold to the Kauri Timber Company. The partners then retired from business, but in consequence of some misunderstanding with the company as to some other bush areas, they were compelled to enter business again, and built a mill at Port Albert. This mill is still running. The firm also worked out a bush at Waitakerei, known as Worsley's bush, where it erected a mill, and constructed a tramway over the



ranges. By means of this tramway the timber was lowered about 900 feet in a mile, and the firm overcame great difficulties by its means. The Worsley bush mill has since been removed to the Great Puhipuhi forest, where the firm is now carrying on operations.
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Mr. Mander,
              the Senior Partner, was born at Onehunga, in 1849, and his parents left for Wairoa South in 1856. At the age of ten years, he went out to work, and after working as an employee for twelve years, he secured a piece of bush land and commenced farming. In 1876 he married, and in 1881, he sold out his farm, as dairy farming in his case did not prove sufficiently remunerative to support a young family without assistance. He then purchased a mill and a small bush at Awitu, which was worked out in a little over a year, with fair success. In 1882 he went to Wellsford, in Albertland, where he carried on the kauri baulk trade, until the bush was exhausted, when he settled at Pukekararo, and took in Mr. Bradley as a partner. The partners there opened up a large bush and carried on the business until 1888, when it was sold to the Kauri Timber Company. In 1889 Messrs Mander and Bradley built a mill at Port Albert, which is still running, and in 1895, the firm erected another mill at Nihotapu, Waitakerei Ranges. The firm constructed a tram over the ranges, lowering the timber about 900 feet in a mile, and thus successfully overcame the difficulties that had previously kept the timber out of the market. Mr. Mander has not taken any active part in political or municipal affairs, although he is an enthusiastic member of the National Association, as his time has been fully occupied in fighting the battle of life; the only hobby he indulges in is the pursuit of art, and although he is not an artist by education, he has to some extent developed his artistic endowments.
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Mr. Samuel Bradley
              
              is well-known throughout the Colony amongst sportsmen as the owner of “Impulse,” “Swordfish II.,” and other well-known racers. “Impulse” won the New Zealand Cup in 1895, as well as the Auckland Easter Handicap in 1891 and 1893. In 1893 “Impulse” carried 8 stone 12 pounds, and won the race in the fast time of 2 minutes 37 seconds. Mr. Bradley's “Swordfish II.” also won the Egmont (Taranaki) and Wanganui Cups in 1898. Mr. Bradley was born at One-hunga, in 1852, and is the youngest son of one of the pioneers of that place—Mr. Joseph Bradley, who arrived in New Zealand about 1849. At an early age Mr. Bradley was engaged in running a ferry service between Mangere and Onehunga, and his brothers Joseph and William subsequently inaugurated a coastal line of cutters—“Willie Winkie,” “Andante,” and “Dawn”—trading from Onehunga to West Coast ports. Mr. Bradley afterwards separated from his brothers, and commenced business as a general carrier, timber and coal merchant; at the same time he owned the schooner “Agnes Donald,” which was employed in the interprovincial and South Seas trade. About the year 1882 he joined Mr. Mander, and the firm now owns some of the most valuable tracts of forest in the district of Auckland.
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The Mitchelson Timber Company,
              Ltd., Auckland. This company was formed in December, 1898, when it took over the business of Messrs E. Mitchelson and Co., sawmillers and timber merchants, of Aoroa. The head office of the company is in Little Queen Street, Auckland.
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Mr. Thomas Hulme Barstow,
              Secretary of the Mitchelson Timber Company Limited, was born at the Great Barrier in 1856, and is the son of the late resident magistrate, of Auckland, Mr. R. C. Bar-stow. He was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell, joined the civil service as apprentice in the Auckland railway workshops in 1876, and for two years was a draftsman in the district office. In May, 1885, he was promoted to district manager of the Picton section of New Zealand railways, which appointment he resigned in 1889 to take charge of the Kaihn Valley railway which was then owned by a private company. When the line was taken over by the Government in 1890, he was retained as district manager. His management was most efficient and successful, and Mr. Barstow earned a well-deserved popularity. He married in 1885 a daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Shepherd, of Auckland, by whom he has two sons and three daughters.
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                Murdoch, C. P. And Sons
              
              (C. P. Murdoch, Charles Murdoch, Leslie Murdoch, David Murdoch, and William Murdoch), Woodware Manufacturers, Customs Street West, Auckland. This firm, which was founded by Mr. C. P. Murdoch in 1894, manufactures all classes of wheel wright's material, turnery of all descriptions, and supplies hardwoods suitable for the work of wheelwrights and coach builders. Large quantities of iron, blue, and spotted gums, and other hardwoods, and about 30,000 spoke blocks in the rough, are stored in the factory to undergo the process of seasoning. The premises are plain and unpretentious externally, but inside they are supplied with the finest and most perfect machinery procurable from America. The manufacture of spokes and hubs is a specialty with the firm. About one minute is occupied in the formation of a spoke, from the time it is taken in hand in the rough piece of unshaped wood, until it is turned out in its perfect state, ready for the coachbuilder, although it has to go through five different processes in five separate machines. After the wood is cut to the required length, it is carried to an automatically worked machine, which in a few seconds, through the deftness of the operator, shapes it into a completed spoke. This machine will shape absolutely square, round, oval, and flat; in fact, into any shape required, at the will of the workman, and any size of spoke, from the smallest to the largest, can be manufactured with equal facility. It is then tennoned, heated, and sandpapered, when it is ready for the market. The arm has a copying lathe, for making all classes of handles, swingle-bars, and gunstocks, and other irregular work. All classes of the firm's goods are in demand all over New Zealand, and are recognised as being of the highest class of workmanship. Twelve men are employed in connection with the firm's workshops.
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Mr. Charles P. Murdoch,
              J.P., Head of the firm, was born in Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1850, and brought up to the sawmilling trade, which he followed until he left for Dunedin, by the ship “Peter Denny,” in 1870. On his arrival in New Zealand Mr. Murdoch entered the employment of Messrs Gibbs and Clayton, sash and door manufacturers, and remained with them for eight years, during which he rose to the position of manager in their employment. Subsequently he entered the service of Messrs Guthrie and Larnach, and went to Auckland as manager of their business there. On the reconstruction of that business, Mr. Murdoch continued as manager for the new firm, which was known as the Karekau Sawmilling Co. Some time afterwards he retired from this position and started sheepfarming, which he carried on until 1895, when, m conjunction with his four sons, he started the present flourishing business. Mr. Murdoch has been connected with several road boards and school committees, and was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1886. As a Freemason he is connected with Lodge Manukau. He married Miss Wallace, of Dunedin, in 1876, and has a family of five sons and four daughters.
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                Parker, Lamb. and Co.
              
              (William Johnson Parker and James Alexander Lamb), Timber Merchants and Mill Owners, Customs Street West, Auckland. Telephone 826. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This firm succeeded the late Messrs Combes, Hazard and Co., early in 1898, but the senior partner, Mr. Parker, has been identified with the mercantile growth of Auckland since boyhood, and Mr. Lamb was formerly in the timber business at the railway wharf for four years. The mill possesses the latest and most improved machinery, and is capable of turning out 70,000 feet per week. The firm employs twenty-five men at the mill, besides bush hands working at Waikawa, Coromandel, and Ngunguru, and its business connections extend to England and Australia.
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This section of the Cyclopedia of New Zealand will necessarily have a large number of readers; not only surviving old colonists themselves and their descendants, but all who take a sympathetic interest in the early colonisation of the country. It has, therefore, been made as full as opportunity and circumstances will admit, though there is no pretence at covering the whole ground by mentioning every man who came, saw, and overcame the formidable obstacles that lay in his way as a pioneer colonist. The section merely deals with typical men concerning whose lives and labours the conductors have been able to obtain trustworthy information. Had this information been obtainable in all cases, many other early colonists who endured hardships, overcame difficulties, and achieved success would have been brought into the category. But even as it stands, the section gives most interesting glimpses into the characters and careers of men who lived the life and did the work of the early days, and made it possible for the people of the present to lead the lives they lead and do the work they do. Young men of the present day in need of stimulating tonics calculated to nerve them on to enterprise, endurance, and achievement, can hardly fail to find inspiration in these brief biographies.

            
Many prominent old colonists mentioned in other parts of this volume are not referred to in this section, because they are dealt with in articles which are classified under other headings. Some who reside, or who formerly resided, in the suburbs and adjacent districts, are grouped here with city men, partly for the sake of convenience, but chiefly on account of those associations and memories which tend to bring all old colonists together on a footing of fraternity.
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Mr. John Abbott,
              Old Colonist, was born at Colsterworth, near Grantham, Lincolnshire, England, in 1832. He was educated at Halifax Place Academy, Nottingham. After leaving the Academy he joined the staff of the Bank of Craddock and Middleton, Lough borough, Leicestershire, and remained there for seven years. He then gave up that appointment and purchased the business of Mr. Thomas Danks, printer and stationer, and started and published the “Loughborough News.” Mr. Abbott came to New Zealand in 1864, in the ship “Caduceus,” with his wife and family, in order to enjoy a milder climate. It was his intention to have gone to the Middle Island and taken a sheep-run, but he had such a horror of the sea, and suffered so much from sea-sickness, that he elected to remain in Auckland. Shortly after his arrival, he entered into partnership with Mr. F. L. Prime, under the style of Prime and Abbott, as grocers, but after six months they dissolved partnership, and Mr. Abbott began buying large stocks of merchandise, and trading in a large way on his own account. Subsequently he entered into the business of a financial and mining agent, which he followed for over a quarter of a century. Mr. Abbott took an active part in public affairs, many of them of a philanthropic character. He was the originator and founder of the New Zealand Jubilee Institute for the Blind in 1890, and with that institution his name will always be associated. Mr. Abbott was chairman and treasurer at the time of his death, and had only been absent from two meetings throughout its career. He took an active interest in the welfare of the inmates of the institution, to whom his death was a serious loss; indeed, in him the blind of the Colony lost one of their best friends. Mr. Abbott was treasurer of the Queensland and Hawke's Bay Flood Relief Funds, and of the Queen's Statue Fund. In fact, there were few public movements in which he did not take a part, and with which his name was not associated. He took an interest in Colonial and municipal affairs, and was a frequent contributor to the Press on matters of local and general interest. Mr. Abbott died on the 15th of January, 1901, at his residence, “Hurstmere,” Lake Takapuna, and left a widow, six sons, and five daughters. The eldest son has been in South Africa for some years. Mr. C. E. Abbott and Claude Abbott were associated with their father in his business as a financial and mining agent. Mr. Lionel Abbott lately returned from England, where he had been studying engineering with Marshall and Sons, of Gainsborough and London. Mr. Reginald Abbott is one of the masters of St. John's College, and the youngest son is at school.
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Mr. William Aitken,
              Old Colonist, was one of the worthiest and kindliest men that ever breathed. He was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1826, educated at the Glasgow High School, and brought up to business with the firm of Boyd and Son, calico printers, Glasgow. In 1854 he arrived in Sydney, New South Wales, and in the year following came on to Auckland in the brig “Moa.” Shortly after his arrival he entered business as a land and estate agent, and personally he invested so largely in real estate that he became the owner of more than 150 properties in the provincial district of Auckland. Mr. Aitken was a quiet man, and took no public part in politics or municipal affairs, but he was very charitable, and subscribed generously to worthy objects and institutions. He offered to present General Booth with 7000 acres of land in the Kaipara district as a settlement for the industrially unsuccessful members of Anglo-Saxon society. Mr. Aitken was a member of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank, and a vice-president of the Auckland Club. He was never married, but he took upon himself the care of the widow and family of his brother Alexander, who had accompanied him from Glasgow, and died shortly after his arrival in New Zealand. Mr. William Aitken died at his residence, “Rockwood,” Mount Eden, Auckland, on the evening of the 1st of July, 1901.
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Mr. Albert James Allom,
              Old Colonist, was born in London on the 20th of December, 1825. His father, the late Mr. Thomas Allom, was an eminent London artist and architect, and one of the founders of the Royal Institute of British Architects. In the early forties, the original sketches sent Home by the New Zealand Company's draughtsman (Mr. Heaphy), Captain Smith, R.E., then Surveyor-General, and others, were handed over to Mr. T. Allom, who, selecting the most suitable, made beautiful lithographic views of the new settlements, and these views published for the company by Messrs Smith, Elder and Co., of



Cornhill, London, largely contributed to make New Zealand popular as a field for immigration. Mrs Thomas Allom was also an enthusiastic ally in the cause of colonisation, and many of the poorer class of colonists had reason to remember her kindly and energetic efforts on their behalf. In 1842, she sent out in the ship “Clifford,” to Nelson, a hive of honey bees, which arrived there safely. With such parents, and through the close personal intimacy between them and Edward Gibbon Wakerfield, the founder of South Australia and New Zealand, it was natural that Mr. A. J. Adom should embark upon a colonising career. Accordingly, when barely sixteen years of age, he joined the New Zealand Company's surveying staff as a cadet, and, sailing from Cowes, Isle of Wight, in the barque “Brougham,” on the 26th of October, 1841, arrived at Wellington on the 9th of February, 1842. At first he was employed on the survey of the Manawatn district. In 1843 and part of 1844, he was in charge of large parties of road men on the Karori end Porirua roads, and in the valley of the Hutt, near Wellington. In the winter of 1844 he was sent with a brother cadet, and a party of survey men to Otago, in the little schooner “Carbon,” 16 tons register. Captain Joyce. They were more than thirty days on the voyage, during which they touched at the newly established French settlement of Akaroa, and encountered many hardships and thrilling perils of the sea. The party was employed for the remainder of the year 1844 in laying out in ten-acre blocks the land now occupied by the city of Dunedin. Being ordered back to headquarters, Mr. Allom arrived at Wellington in the brig “Bee,” Captain Un-thank, in the begnning of the year 1845. In February of that year the whole staff, owing to the financial and other difficulties of the company, was disbanded. Mr. Allom then settled in the Wairarapa Valley with a brother cadet, Mr. John Tully, as partners in a cattle run, named Tauanui, leased from the natives at £10 a year, and thus, with Captain Smith, Messrs Bidwell, Clifford, Weld, Russell, Tiffen, and a few others, assisted to found the sheep and cattle industries of the Colony. Private affairs called him to England in 1848. Mr. Allom was shortly after his arrival invited to join Mr. Edward Gibbon Wakefield at Boulogne-sur-Mer, and up to the end of the year he was busily engaged as Mr. Wakefield's amanuensis in preparing “A View of the Art of Colonisation” for the press. During the ensuing three years Mr. Allom resided for the most part with Mr. Wakefield at Reigate, Surrey, and acted as his private secretary in making preparations for the projected Canterbury settlement. He was also associated with Mr. Frederick (afterwards Sir Frederick) Young, now one of the Vice-Presidents of the Royal Colonial Institute, in carrying out the shipping arrangements for the first body of Canterbury settlers, in the ships “Charlotte Jane,” “Randolph,” “Cressy,” and “Sir George Seymour,” and was present with his mother at the farewell breakfast given by the Canterbury Association at Blackwall, to celebrate their departure on the 30th of July, 1850. In December, 1851, Mr. Allom left England as Private Secretary to Mr. Dominick (afterwards Sir Dominick) Daly, the newly-appointed Lieutenant-Governor of Tobago, in the West Indies. In the following May Mr. Allom was appointed to act as Colonial Secretary during the absence of the holder of that office on leave, and the office soon becoming vacant, he was confirmed in the appointment by her Majesty. In 1853 he witnessed the evacuation of the forts in many of the Windward and Leeward Islands, and the concentration of their garrisons in Barbadoes and Antigua in preparation for the Crimean war; and at the Danish Island of St. Thomas, in 1855, when on his passage to England on leave, he first heard the news of the fall of Sebastopol. A few weeks later, he was present in Hyde Park and at Primrose Hill, to witness the grand displayes of fireworks on the occasion of the public rejoicings on the termination of the war. In July, 1856, Mr. Allom was married at Hartley Wintney, Hants, to Miss Eliza Horn, third daughter of Mr. George W. Horn, of Great George Street, Westminster, and Winchfield, Hants, and returned with his wife to Tobago in October. During a short tour in the Virgin Islands in November, 1858, he gained information which enabled him to be instrumental in preventing a serious insurrection of the negroes in the Island of Tortola, and he received the thanks of the President and Council of that Island for his action. In consequence of repeated attacks of low fever, Mr. Allom was again compelled to proceed to England, on leave, in 1859, and in June, 1860, he unwillingly resigned a promising career under the Colonial Office. Mr. Allom then accepted the appointment of general manager and agent of a London company with property in New Zealand, the Great Barrier Land, Harbour, and Mining Company, Limited, and, with his wife and three children, landed at Auckland, from the ship “Mermaid,” on the 16th of December, 1861. The affairs of the company were conducted successfully, till 1867, when the financial crisis of that time compelled the company to go into liquidation. Mr. Allom was subsequently connected with the Thames goldfields, officially and otherwise, from the date of its proclamation and Hunt's discovery in 1867 up to the year 1886. He held, from time to time, most of the appointments at the Thames, under the Provincial and General Governments, in the Departments of Mines and Justice, and always maintained the reputation of being an able, zealous, and energetic officer. However, when, in 1886, he had reached the age limit which involved compulsory retirement, he left the Colonial civil service without the slightest regret. Mr. Allom resided from 1889 till 1896 in Tasmania, where his son-in-law, Mr. Alexander Montgomery, M.A., was Government Geologist. Mr. Allom was honorary secretary in Auckland to the Hawke's Bay Floods Relief Committee in 1897, and very actively interested himself in the work of obtaining and erecting the Queen's statue for Albert Park, Auckland; in the preparation of the Jubilee address to the Queen, signed by 25,445 school children of the Auckland educational district; and in the establishment of the Auckland Scenery Conservation Society in 1899. He contributed considerably to Dr. Garnett s biography of Edward Gibbon Wakefield, published in London towards the close of 1898.
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Mr. Charles Atkin
              
             
 was born in 1831 at Louth, Lincolnshire, England, and learned the trade of a coach builder with his father, who had an extensive coach building business in that city. About the year 1862. Mr. Atkin left home, accompanied by his wife and young family, by the ship “Hanover,” which carried a number of what were known as the Albert-land settlers, and landed at Auckland. After a short sojourn at the Albertland settlement. Mr. Atkin removed to Auckland, where he started business in Cook Street in 1854, in conjunction with Mr. Cousins. This was the beginning of the well-known coach building
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business of Cousins and Atkin, now so ably carried on by Mr. Atkins' three sons. The business was conducted on the original premises until 1878, when, owing to the expansion of trade, the firm removed to Elliott Street. This second site is now covered by the present fine premises, which extend through to Albert Street, and cover half an acre of ground. Mr. Atkin was a most energetic man, and from his first arrival in Auckland he took a great interest in the development and welfare of the city. He was one of the first members of the celebrated Vigilance Committee, which was formed for the protection of the citizens at the time of the first influx of population on the opening of the Thames goldfields. He was also a member of the Town Board previous to the constitution of Auckland as a borough. In the year 1888 he was requisitioned to give his services again to the city, and was returned by a large majority for the North Ward, which he representea constantly until his death in 1895. In addition to his services in the City Council, Mr. Atkin was chairman of the Charitable Aid Board, and it was during his chairmanship that the Costley Home was built He was connected for years with the Agricultural Society, and took a prominent part in all the affairs of that body Mr. Atkin took a very keen interest in religious matters, and particularly in the Beresford Street congregation. He was Worthy Chief Templar of the Good Templars, when that society was flourishing in Auckland, and did good work in connection with the Union Street Sunday school. Although asked to stand for the Parliamentary representation of the city, Mr. Atkin was compelled to decline the honour owing to the other large claims on his time, and he retired in favour of a gentleman who held the same political views. During the latter part of his City Councillorship Mr. Atkin was Acting-Mayor. It wás while attending to his public duties, that he met with an accident, which resulted in his death on Easter Monday, 1895. His death was deeply regretted by a large circle of friends and by his fellow citizens; and his motto in life was to “do his duty to God, his family, and his country.”
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Mr. William Parr Baker,
              Old Colonist, residing at Mount Eden, was born at Wednesbury, Staffordshire, England, in 1857, and is the third son of Mr. Frederick Baker, one of the Albertland settlers, who arrived by the ship “Matilda Wattenbach” in 1862. Mr. Baker finished his education at the Auckland College and Grammar School, under Mr. Farquhar McRae, and afterwards entered the oldestablished firm of Messrs McArthur and Co., warehousemen, with whom he remained for twenty years, when they closed the Auckland branch of their business. Mr. Baker has been an enthusiastic follower and supporter of athletics generally; he is a vice-president of the Ponsonby District Football Club, and president of the Tabernacle Football Club. He is a deacon of the Tabernacle Baptist Church, and superintendent of its Sunday school, of which he was secretary for eleven years. He has been a vice-president of the Tabernancle Band of Hope for five years, and a member of the Y.P.S.C.E. Society; and he is on the committee, and was also for two years president, of the Auckland auxiliary of the New Zealand Baptist Missionary Society, labouring in India.
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Mr. R. C. Barstow,
             
 Old Colonist and sometime Resident Magistrate of Auckland, was born in 1820, at Skipton Bridge, York-shire, and was a member of a family which has been established in the neighbourhood of York for four centuries. The Barstow Hospital at York for indigent old men, was established in 1660 by Dame Alice Barstow, one of his progenitors. His great-grandfather, Sir Michael Barstow, was thrice elected Lord Mayor of York, an honour never conferred on any other man, save the Earl of Zetland Mr. Barstow received his early education at St. Peter's, York, and witnessed the burning down of York Minster, in January, 1829, by the incendiary, Jonathan Martin. In 1838 he went to Cambridge to Jesus College, of which he was a foundation scholar. After the usual college course and a year spent in travelling in Scotland, Ireland, and on the Continent, Mr. Barstow left London for Auckland by the ship “Bangalore,” on the 25th of June, 1843, taking with him three servants. The “Bangalore” called at Bahia, the Cape, and Sydney, and finally arrived at Auckland in December, 1843. Among the passengers for New Zealand were Governor and Mrs Fitzroy, General O'Brien (Mrs Fitzroy's father), Judge Chapman, and Mr. C. A. Harris. Mr. Barstow took up a section of land at Tamaki, and after establishing his servants upon it, he made sundry tours throughout the province of Auckland. Being interested in a cargo of sawn timber and spars shipped on board the “Bangalore” at Waiheke, he went on with the vessel to Valparaiso, and called, en route, at the Bay of Islands. On the passage the “Bangalore” lost all her topmasts by a tidal wave, which she encountered near the island of San Juan de Fernandez. After disposing of the cargo at Valparaiso, Mr. Barstow, intending to return to New Zealand, went up as far as Payta, hoping there to find a whaleship bound for the Colony, but failing in the attempt, he returned to Valparaiso, and sailed thence to Tahiti, where he arrived at Papeete in August, 1844. He shortly afterwards visited the Marquesas and Sandwich Island, and returned turned to New Zealand in 1845, immediately before the arrival of Sir George Grey, on his first governorship. Having again a strong desire to revisit and cruise among the islands of the South Pacific, Mr. Barstow had a schooner built at Auckland, by Messrs H. Niccol and Sharpe. This was the well-known “Undine, which was subsequently bought by Bishop Selwyn for work in connection with the Melanesian Mission. In August, 1846, Mr. Barstow married the eldest daughter of Colonel Hulme, of her Majesty's 96th Regiment, formerly officer commanding the troops in New Zealand, and whose gallantry in the Heke war is still remembered by old colonists. Prior to the passing of the Constitution Act Mr. Barstow was a member of the Legislative Council, to which he was called by Sir George Grey on the 9th of December, 1848. Owing to the exodus of working men in 1850 to the Californian goldfields, Mr. Barstow sold his farm at Tamaki, partly to St. John's College and partly to private persons, and left Auckland to reside at the Great Barrier Island, where for yours previously he had a cattle station. In January, 1859, he accepted the post of Resident Magistrate at the Bay of Islands, and held the office until May, 1872, when he became Resident Magistrate for the districts of Onehunga, Papakura, and Waiuku, in succession to Mr. Melsopp, who had died. On the death of Captain Beckham, in 1877, Mr. Barstow was appointed Resident Magistrate at Auckland, and held the position until 1881, when he retired on a pension. He died at Auckland in September, 1890, aged seventy years. Mr. Barstow took a special interest in the establishment of a reformatory for youthful criminals, and was for many years a member of the committee of the Howe Street Industrial Home, in connection with which his experience as a magistrate was of much service
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He had for fifty years made a special study of mumismatics, and his collection of coins constituted in itself an almost complete history dating back to 600 years before the beginning of the Christian Era.
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Mr. Robert Bartley,
              an old Colonist, was born in 1826, in Jersey, in the Channel Islands, where both he and his brother, Mr. Edward Bartley, were brought up to the building trade. After spending several years as clerk of works at the Victoria College and other buildings, he came out to New Zealand, in 1854, by the ship “Joseph Fletcher.” Mr. Bartley started in business in Auckland, and found plenty of work to keep him fully employed. For a number of years he held a prominent place amongst the contractors of Auckland, and many a solidly built erection stands as a testimonial to the manner in which he did his duty. In public affairs he has taken a keen and intelligent interest, and has always been willing to help forward any deserving cause brought under his notice. Mr. Bartley was married in Jersey, before coming to the Colony, to a daughter of Mr. Kerby, of that place, and has four sons and four daughters. One of the sons is manager of the Newton branch of the Auckland Savings Bank, and another holds a responsible position in the South Island. Mr. and Mrs. Bartley are now living in quiet retirement at the North Shore, in a pleasant house overlooking the harbour.
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Mr. Frederick Battley,
              J.P., Old Colonist, and sometime General Manager for New Zealand of the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Company, Ltd., was born in Suffolk, England, in 1843, and is the eldest son of Mr. F. Battly. He was educated at the Henley-on-Thames Grammar School, and afterwards learnt the trade of a printer in London. In consequence of illhealth he left England for Auckland in June, 1860, by the ship “Caduceus” (Captain John Cass), and arrived in October of the same year. On his arrival he joined the staff of Messrs Williamson and Wilson, proprietors of the “New Zealander,” and remained in that office for a year, when he entered the service of the Bank of New Zealand, which had started in October, 1861. He gradually rose to the position of chief accountant in the general manager's office, and in May, 1878, he Accepted the New Zealand secretaryship of the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company. Subsequently he became the company's Inspector, and in 1891 he was appointed general manager, but resigned the position in 1895 in consoquence of failing health. On leaving the Bank of New Zealand, Mr. Battley was presented by the staff with a handsomely illuminated address, and Mrs. Battley with a gold watch and chain and other presents. Mr. Battley has always taken an active interest in religious and philanthropic work in connection with the Auckland Baptist Church (late Weilesley Street), but now known as “The Tabernacle,” the Young Men's Christian Association, the Auckland Sunday School Union, Young Men's Mutual Improvement Society, the Sailors' Rest, and other kindred institutions. He was superintendent of the Baptist Sunday school for twenty-five years, and has been an officer of the church since June, 1868. Mr. Battley has filled every office in connection with the Young Men's Christian Association, and is now its vice-president, and also president of the Auckland Sunday School Union; in fact, his life has been devoted to Sunday school labours, and the social, moral and spiritual welfare of young men. He possesses several beautifully illustrated testimonials, which testify to the esteem of those for whom he has laboured. Mr. Battley was ever ably assisted by his wife, daughter of an early and respected colonist, who arrived in New Zealand in 1852; but Mrs. Battly was unfortunately killed in a railway accident on the 23rd of December, 1897. For ten years Mr. Battley was a volunteer, and belonged to the old Rutland No. 2 Company. He became lieutenant, and held the rank for four years. Owing to his connection with financial institutions, he has never taken part in political or municipal affairs. Mr. Battley is a director of the New Zealand Accident Company, and is associated with various other commercial enterprises.
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Mr. James Barclay Blaikie,
             
 sometime of Tower View, Churton Street, Parnell, and Victoria Street, Auckland, was born in Aberdeen, Scotland, in the year 1836. He learned the trade of a plasterer, and his talent as an artistic decorator secured him an engagement at the erection of Balmoral Castle, and he was for four years employed on the internal ornamental plastering of that favourite Royal residence. On the 30th of July, 1858, he was married at Stonehaven, to Miss Margaret Taylor, and the newly wedded pair left in the following month for Cape Colony. There Mr. Blaikie soon obtained employment at his trade, and was for six years engaged with Messrs Welchman and Reid, noted architects, of Capetown. On leaving Cape Colony in 1864, for New Zealand, Mr. Blaikie was presented by the firm with a most flattering testimonial. He and his family arrived in Auckland at the end of 1864. Attracted by the glowing accounts of the Thames goldfields, he went there, and was soon engaged in the alluring, but uncertain, occupation of the goldseeker. He remained at the Thames some time, lost his capital, and then returned to Auckland. With a never-failing courage, he braced himself afresh for the battle, and started in his own more certain line of business. Success soon followed his endeavours, and, in connection with his specialty of ornamental plastering, he soon succeeded in obtaining large building contracts. Shortly afterwards Mr. Blaikie added ironmongery to his business, and established in Victoria Street the business which is so successfully carried on by his son, Mr. W.
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A. Blaikie. He was accounted one of the best plasterers in Auckland, and his work still ornaments some of the finest public buildings in the city. During the later years of his busy life, his health began to fail, and finally he passed away on the 12th of February, 1898, through failure of the heart, at the age of sixty-three, leaving a widow, a son, and a daughter to mourn their loss. Mr. Blaikie attributed much of his success in life to the courage and attachment of his wife, who cheered him through all the worries of business, and over all the obstacles he met with in connection with his early pioneer work in Auckland. Although requested several times to take a part in the affairs of the city, he always declined, as his time was too fully occupied in looking after his own large business concerns. All through life he had an unblemished reputation, and died deservedly respected by a large circle of friends.
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Mr. Edmund Henry Bold,
              Old Colonist, and sometime Inspector or Telegraphs, Auckland, and Assoc. M.I.C.E., M.I.E.E., was born in Lancashire, England, and studied mechanical engineering and chemistry. Mr. Bold left England in 1861, for New Zealand, and was engaged in survey work in Otago, Canterbury, and Westland. In 1867, he was transferred to the General Government service as assistant telegraph engineer, and was appointed inspector of telegraphs in 1878. This position he held until his death, which took place on the 4th of May, 1900.
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Captain I. J. Burgess
              
              has been connected with Auckland almost from its foundation. He was born in London in 1824, completed his education at Greenwich Hospital Upper (Naval) School and then entered the merchant service, serving his apprenticeship in the ship “Forester,” Captain McArthur, trading between London and the WestIndies, Having subsequently made other voyages to Australia, South Africa, and North America, he salled for New Zealand, in March, 1846, as chief officer of the barque “Madras,” arriving at Nelson in July and thence to Wellington, Taranaki, and Auckland. He left the “Madras” at the latter port and entered the Government service as chief officer of H.M. Colonial brig “Victoria,” Captain Richards. The vessel left for the south shortly afterwards, and in August, 1847, while she was lying off Wanganui, in company with H.M.S. “Calliope,” Captain Richards, in attempting to communicate with the military authorities ashore, was accidentally drowned and Captain Burgess was appointed to the command of the brig, which he retained until 1850, when he resigned and was made chief pilot and acting-harbour master at Auckland, during the absence of Captain Rough; on the transfer of the latter to the Customs Department, Captain Burgess was permanently appointed harbour master, which position he held up to December, 1894, when he retired. For many years, up to the date of the abolition of the provinces, Captain Burgess was chief harbour master for the province of Auckland, with general supervision of Manukau, Kaipara, Hokianga, Thames, Tauranga, and other harbours. Captain Burgess had also a great deal to do with the preliminary work in connection with the erection of the Flat Rock beacon, Tiritirl, Sandspit, and Bean Rock light houses. In 1876 the “Alpha” dredge was secured by the Harbour Board, and the first dredging operations were carried on under Captain Burgess' supervision. In 1878, the Auckland graving dock was completed and Captain Burgess appointed dockmaster; in 1888 the Calliope graving dock was opened under his charge. On Captain Burgess' retirement after forty-four years direct service at the port of Auckland, and forty-eight years in the Colony, he was presented by the officers of the Auckland Harbour Board with an illuminated address, accompanied with a silver tea-set and salver. Captain Burgess has been the recipient of letters from the early Governors, including one from Sir George Grey, as well as from the Naval officers commanding the station, and from the mercantile marine, thanking him for his many valuable services. He was married on the 6th of June, 1848, to Miss Sarah Hammond, eldest daughter of Mr. James Hammond, of Freeman's Bay, and has a grown up family of sons and daughters.
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Mr. R. S. Carter,
              Secretary and Treasurer to the Mount Wellington Road Board, was born in Devonshire, England, in 1828, in the parish of East Budleigh, in Hayes' House, the birthplace of Sir Walter Raleigh. At the age of fifteen, Mr. Carter left England for Calcutta, where for twenty years he was engaged in the pilot service on the Hooghlev. On account of failing sight, he was obliged to retire on a pension, and returned to England, where, after recovering his sight, he joined the London and South Western Railway Company, and afterwards followed the occupation of a farmer for eight years in the north of Devonshire. In 1875 Mr. Carter came to New Zealand. He landed in Auckland, and after a few months went to Whangarei, and purchased a farm at Ruatangata, where he remained for seven years. In 1884 he removed to Ellerslie, and has been there ever since. He was elected a member of the Mount Wellington Road Board in 1888, and after one year of membership was appointed, secretary and treasurer. Mr. Carter married, in 1853, in Calcutta, and has four daughters and two sons.
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Mr. Archibald Clements,
              J.P., Hobson Park Road, Auckland, is a prominent and well-known colonist, and was born at Keadue, County Roscommon, Ireland, in 1840. He was educated at the national school of his native place, and when fourteen years of age he entered the service of an old-established business firm in Mohill, with whom he remained four years. Mr. Clements then went to the



city of Londonderry, where he obtained an appointment in the leading business firm, and displayed such marked aptitude and commercial knowledge that, although quite a youth, he was appointed manager, and held the position for over seven years with credit to himself and the proprietors. Wonderful accounts of the Australian goldfields were then appealing to the popular imagination, and Mr. Clements, with the enthusiasm and hope of youth, left his native country, with the determination of achieving success at the Antipodes. He landed in Melbourne in 1861, and remained for over eighteen months in a Melbourne office. About that time the Otagogoldfields were much talked about, and Mr. Clements determined to try his fortune in New Zealand. After his arrival in Otago he experienced ups and downs for a few years on the various goldfields. He first tried Hogburn (now Mount Ida) where he was fairly successful, but joined Clarke's “rush,” and was one of the first to peg out a claim on that field. Some time afterwards he left for Auckland, where he arrived in 1863, during the time of the Maori troubles, and joined the 3rd Waikato Militia, whence he transferred, later on, to the commissariat transport corps. He served his adopted country for a considerable time in that connection, and then entered into business as general storekeeper and merchant at Cambridge. In this sphere his early training and talent for trade were of great advantage, and in a short time his business became the leading one in the district. During the twenty-eight years of his residence in Cambridge Mr. Clements's name was intimately connected with every movement that had for its object the improvement and welfare of the town and district. His success enabled him to acquire large and valuable landed property. Clements' Park, of 250 acres, adjoining the town, forms part, of the Clements' Park Estate, on which he resided for over twenty years. Mr. Clements carried on an extensive business at the Thames in connection with his Cambridge business, and also built two fine hotels. During his long residance in Cambridge Mr. Clements occupied many public positions; the was one of the members of the first road board, and was also mayor of Cambridge. Mr. Clements has twice revisited his native land. On his first visit he married the eldest daughter of the late Mr. William Rose, of Ballinlee, County Longford, and sister of the late Rev. John Henry Rose, M.A., vicar and dean of Clerkenwell, London; and of the issue of the marriage, there is one surviving daughter. Before leaving the Colony on his second visit to Ireland, Mr. Clements suggested to the late Sir George Grey, a proposal for bringing out a number of superior immigrants, of both sexes. Sir George was highly pleased with the idea, and Mr. Clements brought out about fifty young men and women, the greater number of whom have become prosperous colonists. About 1891 Mr. Clements left Cambridge for Auckland, where be now leads a life of retirement. He has been a Justice of the Peace since 1877, when he and the late Mr. Andrew Diworth were the first two honoured with the commission on the late Sir George Grey coming into office. Mr. Clements is at present a visiting Justice of the Auckland gaol, and a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank, For some years he was a member of the Waikato Hospital Board. Mr Clements' name appears in the list of New Zealand war medallists, who are classified in the appendix to Gudgeon's “Defenders of New Zealand.”
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Mr. William John Conelly,
              Old Colonist, of “Summerhill,” Three Kings, Auckland, and brother to Mr. Stewart Conelly, the well-known wholesale and snipping merchant of Manchester, was born at Bally-donnelly, County Antrim, Ireland, in 1844. In his early youth he was engaged in farming, and came to Auckland by the ship “Romulus” in 1862. For some time after his arrival he was contracting and bushfelling about the Waitakerei district, but afterwards entered the employment of Mr. Sinclair, chief surveyor, at Remuera. Seeing the great future in store for farming around Auckland, Mr. Conelly leased a large tract of land in Remuera, and he successfully farmed it for over four years and a half. After the opening of the Thames goldfields Mr. Conelly went there, and established a general store, which he carried on for over nine years with the greatest success. After buying his fine estate at Three Kings, with its valuable gravel pits, he carried on dairying, and considerably improved his property, which is now one of the most charming homes around Auckland. Mr. Conelly also owns two other valuable estates, one of 2500 acres at Cambridge, and another at Maungaturoto. He is very energetic in looking after the welfare of his district, and has been for twenty-four years a member of the Mount Roskill Road Board, and has several times been asked to take the position of chairman. Mr. Conelly has been a member of the Three Kings school committee since its creation, and in conjunction with the late Mr. Greenwood, obtained the grant required for the establishment of the school. He is also an elder of the Onehunga Presbyterian Church, and has been one of the committee of management for a number of years. During the native troubles Mr. Conelly was a member of the Remuera Volunteers, under Captain David Graham. Mr. Conelly married Miss Jackson, of County Kildare, and they have a family of five sons and five daughters. The sons are engaged in responsible positions, and the daughters are all married.
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Mr. Michael Corcoran,
              Old Colonist, was born at Dunmore, Galway, Ireland, in 1834, and educated there. In early life he worked for eleven years at a mill in Roscommon and in 1860 sailed for Australia in the “Eagle,” landing in Melbourne. Three months later he joined the Otago “rush” and was with his brother at Gabriel's Gully. He afterwards engaged in road contracting, then went to the Molyneux, being the first man up the river after the receipt of Messrs. Hartley and Riley's report. He was also at Adam's Gully, Fraser's station, where he stayed for six months and averaged £250 a week. In 1863, Mr. Corcoran took the first hotel (the Galway Arms) on the Dunstan and conducted it for two years. His next move was to Havelock, where he built the theatre and ran a company for some time; the venture proved a most successful one, and he averaged £100 pernight. From Havelock Mr. Corcoran went to Wellington, where he spent eighteen weeks: then he went to Westport and opened a store, which he carried on for twelve months. The Charleston “rush” saw him again on the move, and he sailed a vessel called the “Constant Bay,” with which he made much money, carrying stores to the new fields. In 1868, he left Westport for Auckland and took over the Greyhound Hotel, in which three previous landlords had failed in one year. Like all his undertakings this turned out



successful, for he conducted the hotel for ten years, taking £10,000 per annum. Selling out in 1878, Mr. Corcoran took the Thames Hotel, from which he sold out three weeks later for £5470. His next venture was the old “Metropolitan,” where he stayed for two years, and then sold out for £3000. Mr. Cor-coran bought the Star and Garter Hotel at Coromandel, which was burnt down in the great fire and was replaced by a very fine large house. During the building of the Calliope Dock, he run the Flagstaff Hotel at the North Shore, and on selling out from there took over the Northern Wairoa Hotel at Dargaville. Mr. Corcoran new lives in retirement at Pa Road, Mount Roskill, Auckland.
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Mr. William Cruickshank
              
              was born at St. Andrews, Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1835. He migrated to Napier, Hawke's Bay, at an early age, and was engaged in sheepfarming until the outbreak of the Thames goldfield in 1868, when he settled in Auckland. There he carried on a receiving and forwarding agency for a great many years, but was compelled to retire owing to serious illness, which culminated in his death at the age of fifty-nine, at his residence, “Sonoma,” Auckland. Mr. Cruickshank did not take an active interest in public matters, but his genial disposition and integrity of character gained for him a host of friends, who deeply mourned his death.
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Captain Dacre,
              one of the earliest pioneers of New Zealand, was born in England in 1795, at Marwell Hall, Hampshire, the residence of his father, Colonel Dacre, of the Hampshire Light Fencibles, and High Sheriff of the county. He entered the navy as a mid-shipman at the age of twelve, and had for a fellow “middy” Captain Marryatt, the celebrated novelist. During the American war of 1812 he served on board a man-of-war, and assisted to blockade the American ports. About 1815 he resigned his commission to enter the mercantile marine. Whilst trading to the West Indies, he was chased and captured by a privateer and condemned to be thrown overboard. During the confusion he secreted a cutlass under his cloak, and determined to sell his life dearly; but the discovery of his naval pap rs by the privateer caused that person to release him. Captain Dacre made his first trip to New Zealand in 18£0, when he visited Whangaroa, in charge of a mission schooner. He then entered into a contract with the British naval authorities to supply them with spars and took his first cargo of these from Hokianga in 1827. About five years later he returned to Hokianga, where he started in the timber trade. In 1828 he retired from the sea, and opened a business in Sydney under the title of Dacre and Wiks. When the Union Bank of Australia was established in Sydney, Captain Dacre was one of its first directors. During his residence in Sydney, Captain Dacre developed the sandalwood trade, and obtained the timber from the Isle of Pines, where the natives were still in a savage state. The timber was brought in its rough state to Sydney, where it was shipped and forwarded to China and Manilla. Captain Dacre was also engaged in procuring greenstone for the Chinese markets, where it was then valued at about three times its weight in gold. This business venture, however, did not succeed, owing to the extreme hardness of the stone and the want of proper tools. Only about two tons were procured at Milford Sound, and in the blasting operations Captain Anglin, the master of Captain Dacre's vessel, lost his eyesight. Besides his business transactions in connection with whaling and sandalwood, Captain Dacre was engaged generally in the South Sea Island trade, and was one of the first to develop it. He was considerably interested in cattle and sheep in New South Wales, but owing to the great depression in 1842 he left Sydney to visit the South Sea Islands and New Zealand, where large sums of money were owing to him. This trip led to his settling in Auckland, where he went into partnership with Mr. Thomas Macky, now of Fort Street. The firm was then the largest in Auckland. Captain Dacre afterwards purchased about 4000 acres of land at Omaha, and while in the district he had an experience, which is worth mentioning as an illustration of the risks which had to be faced by pioneer settlers. A stalwart Maori endeavoured to cut off his head with a tomahawk, but the bravery and resource of Captain Dacre were more than a match for the impetuosity and strength of the truculent savage. As a citizen of Auckland, Captain Dacre took an earnest interest in social and religious affairs. It was through the exertions of himself and Colonel Moule, of the Royal Engineers, that St. Paul's Church was enlarged by the additions of the eastern and western wings. He was a member of the Auckland Synod, and a good friend to the Orphan Home. His wife, to whom he was married fifty-five years, was his companion in many of the trials of early colonisation. Captain Dacre died in 1882, and eleven months afterwards his widow followed him to his last resting place.
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Mr. Henry Ellis,
             
 Old Colonist, was born in Bundoran, County Donegal, Ireland, where his family have for many years owned a sanatorium, which is famous for its lovely surroundings, and the excellence and completeness of its medical appliances. He migrated during the fifties to Auckland, where he entered mercantile life, and took a keen interest in public matters. Mr. Ellis was elected to seat in the Auckland Provincial Council, and later on he was appointed assistant health officer, in conjunction with the late Dr. Phil-son. He also acted as immigration officer under the administration of Sir Julius Vogel, and held the appointment until the abolition of that department. Mr. Ellis also took a
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prominent part in the formation of the Vesey Stewart Special Settlement at Katikati. He subsequently removed to Canterbury, where he died in 1881, universally regretted.
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Mr. Edwin Fairburn
              
              was born at Paihia, the Bay of Islands Church Mission station, in 1827, and was a son of Mr. W. T. Fairburn, catechist of the Church Missionary Society. He was educated at the Church Mission school at Waimate, Bay of Islands. From 1842 to 1848 he was engaged in farming at Otahuhu, and then entered the Survey Office in Auckland. In his capacity as a surveyor he travelled the Colony, surveyed the town of Oamaru, and subsequently did good professional work on the Thames goldfields, and elsewhere. Mr. Fairburn is the author of a work entitled “Ships of Tarshish,” in which he advocates an entirely different form from that of the present for battle ships, and ships in general. He has also published a pamphlet entitled “Ships of the Future,” in which he shows now, in addition to the essentials of perfect stability in all weathers, and unsinkability, laid down as indispensable in the former work, great speed may be attained; and also suggests the utilisation of wave power as a motor.
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Mr. John Gordon,
              J.P., is one of the earliest pioneers of Auckland. He is a son of Mr. William Gordon, and a direct descendant of the historical Highland Gordons, and was born in Edinburgh in 1829. Mr. Gordon came with his parents to Sydney in 1838, and accompanied them in 1840 to the Bay of Islands, where his father received a Government appointment. He was educated at the Bay of Islands Government school, where he was presented with an English prayer book, awarded for merit and good conduct by Mrs Hobson, wife of the first Governor of New Zealand; this book bears the date of 1840, and is a memento which is highly prized by Mr. Gor-don. The family left the Bay of Islands for the embryo city of Auckland at the end of that year, and at the first Government land sale Mr. Gordon, senior, purchased the section on whom Mr. Gordon now resides in Waterloo Quadrant. Shortly afterwards his father purchased land at West Tamaki, where he started farming, and to which he removed his family. Later on he disposed of the property at Tamaki, and he acquired a valuable farm at Otahuhu, where Mr. Gordon, senior, died in 1853. Mr. John Gordon then took charge of the farm, which he afterwards let, and, removing to the village of Otahuhu, he there started a commission business. In 1859 he was returned as a member of the first Diocesan Synod of Auckland to represent the district of Papakura, which he represented for sixteen years. In 1860 he joined the troop of Royal Cavalry Volunteers under Colonel Nixon, and served with it during the Maori troubles of 1863–4. Mr. Gordon remained in the troop till 1871, when he was offered and accepted the command of the Otahuhu Rifle Volunteers; a command which he held till 1882, when the company was disbanded. He was elected a member of the Auckland Provincial Council for Raglan in 1868, and represented the district till 1873; and he was elected in 1878 a member of the Otahuhu Road Board, of which he was for some time chairman. Mr. Gordon was also a member of the Otahuhu school and licensing committees, and acted on both bodies until his departure from the district, towards the end of 1887, when he removed to Auckland to his present residence. He was appointed secretary to the New Zealand Agricultural Association in 1865, and held the position for a number of years.
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Mr. Robert Hall,
              J.P., of One Tree Hill, Old Colonist, and Trustee in the Estate of the late Mr. James Dilworth, was born in Ulster, Ireland, in 1832. He arrived in Auckland with other members of his family by the ship “Elora” in the year 1848. After his arrival he started farming in the Auckland district, and has carried it on successfully for over fifty-two years. During his long residence in Auckland Mr. Hall has taken a keen interest in local matters, and in the general welfare of the district. He has been for twenty-one years a member of the One Tree Hill Road Board, and was the Board's chairman for over fourteen years. He has been a member of the One Tree Hill Domain Board since its inception; is a member of the Munukau Licensing Committee, a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank, and is chairman of the Trustees of the Dilworth Estate Bequest. Mr. Hall is a brother-in-law of the late Mr. James Dilworth.
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Mr. Luther Halliwell,
              sometime Chief Clerk of the Auckland Post Office, was in the postal service about twenty-nine years. The second son of Mr. Thos. Halliwell, schoolmaster, of Victoria and Dunedin successively, Mr. L. Halliwell was born at Kyneton, Victoria, in 1854. He joined the Postal Department at Dunedin as junior clerk in 1871. Two years later he was promoted to the position of record clerk in the head office at Wellington, and in 1892 was appointed chief clerk at Auckland. Mr. Halli-well took an active interest in church work. He died on the 12th of July, 1900.
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Captain J. H. Rogers-Harrison,
             
 Late Of Her Majesty's 58Th Regiment, Was A Veteran Soldier And Sterling Old Colonist. He Was Born In Hertfordshire On 26Th Of December, 1820, And Joined The Chatham Division Of Marines In 1839, But Bought Out His Dis-Charge, And In 1842 Joined The 11Th Foot, With Which He Sailed For Sydney In 1846. He Was Transferred To The 58Th Regiment And Came To New Zealand In 1847, Was Promoted To Ensign In 1851, And Received The Queen's Good Conduct Bounty Of £100. He Served In The Bay Of Islands From 1853 To 1855, Then Proceeded To Taranaki As Paymaster And Quartermaster Under Major (Later General Nugent. He Accompanied The Regiment
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Home in 1858, and retired from the service in June, 1859, when he returned to Auckland and received a captaincy in the militia. At the outbreak of the Maori war, he was sent to Sydney to recruit for the Waikato regiments, and, subsequently, was appointed acting-quartermaster-general to the Colonial forces. He was a commissioner to adjust accounts between the Imperial and Colonial Governments, after which he retired into quiet private life. Captain Harrison died at his residence, Franklin Road, on the 24th of February, 1898, at the age of seventy-six years.
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Colonel the Hon. Theodore Minet Haultain
              
              has had a long and honourable connection with public affairs in New Zealand. From October, 1865, till June, 1869, he was Minister of Defence, and has also served the country in many other capacities. A sketch of his life appears on page 70 of the Wellington volume of this work. Colonel Haultain resides in St. Stephen's Avenue, Par-nell.
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Mr. James Hickson
              
              was an Old Colonist who did the State service in both Australia and New Zealand. He was born in Waterville, County Kerry, Ireland, and joined the police when a boy as assistant clerk in the County Inspector's office, Limerick, the police force in the County at that time numbering over 700. In 1859 Mr. Hickson resigned his position and went to Melbourne, by the ship “British Trident,” Captain ÔNeill. On his arrival in Melbourne he was appointed clerk to the Quartermaster at the Richmond Depot, and was subsequently transferred to Kilmore. In 1881 he was invited to join the Otago police department by Commissioner St. John Brani-gan. This he declined, as well as a similar offer from Commissioner Shearman of Canterbury. In 1863 Mr. Hickson was appointed chief clerk at the Police Office, Ballarat, where he remained two or three years. He afterwards resigned his position as a first class sergeant in the Victorian Police, to take charge of the Hokitika district in this Colony. In 1870 he moved to Grey mouth as sub-inspector, and he became Inspector in 1882. Six years later he left the West Coast to go to Christchurch, and after being two years there, he was transferred to Dunstan, Otago. In 1893, after controlling the police at various parts of Otago, Mr. Hick-son was appointed Inspector at Auckland, and held the position until he retired from the service in 1898. Mr. Hickson was married in Kil-more, in 1862, to Miss Madigan, daughter of the late Mr. John Madigan, of Melbourne, and left a surviving family of three daughters and four sons, seven children having died in infancy. The eldest son is the Rev. J. R. M. Hickson, S.M., of St. Patrick's College, Wellington; the second is in the insurance business in Australia, the third is a clerk in the Department of Justice, and the fourth is a clerk in the Railway Department at Auckland. Mr. Hickson died at Shelley Beach Road, Auckland, on the 8th of October, 1899.
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Mr. Henry Hirst,
              Old Colonist, has been associated with road board matters in his district for more than twenty years. It was in great part owing to his exertions that the Mount Roskill bridge was widened and repaired at a cost of nearly £1000. At his own expense he took a trip to Wellington and placed the whole matter before the Hon. Mr. Cadman, with satisfactory results. All the improvements of the Mount Eden district, gas supply and drainage, were carried out during Mr. Hirst's term on the road board, of which he was chairman for many years. He was born in Lancashire, England, in 1825, is a son of the late Mr. S. Hirst, and is for the greater part a self-taught man. Mr. Hirst was employed at the cotton mills in Radiham and Burnley up to the time of his coming to New Zealand by the ship “William Watson,” from which he landed at Auckland in February, 1859. Mr. Hirst followed the trade of a carpenter for a time, and also successfully carried on the business of a dairyman for a few years. At the time of the disturbances with the Maoris, Mr. Hirst served in the Militia for a year or two. During the years of depression he removed to the Thames, and was there employed in carpentering, whilst his two sons were engaged in battery work. Mr. Hirst afterwards returned to Auckland, and purchased a house and property at Mount Roskill, where he now lives in retirement. Mr. Hirst is a prominent working member of the Wesleyan Church, and his parents were both similarly engaged for very many years. As a life long total abstainer, Mr. Hirst has done a great deal to benefit the cause of temperance. He was one of the original members in Manchester of the Whole Total Abstinence Society when Sir Wilfred Lawson was its treasurer. Mr. Hirst was for a time chairman of the Auckland Licensing Committee, on which he represented Karangahape ward, and he also was a member of the old Mount Eden licensing committee, and of the school committee, for many years. He belongs to the order of Rechabites, and has been associated with the Wesleyan Sunday school. Mr. Hirst's only daughter is married to the Rev. John Nixon, and he has two sons; one of whom is farming at Te Aroha, and the other is head engineer at the Mount Morgan mine, Queensland. Both the sons are, like their father, staunch teetotallers.
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Captain Howard Hutton,
              J.P., who was born on the 18th of July, 1832, was the youngest son of Thomas Hutton, J.P., D.L., City of Dublin, who lived at Eden Park, County Dublin, and whose family had settled in Ireland at the time of Oliver Cromwell. Captain Hutton spent two years at a school in German Switzerland, where he acquired a good knowledge of the German and French languages. He also, as was the custom at the school, learnt the two trades of carpentering and saddlery, a knowledge which proved of great use to him all through his life. He also studied at an agricultural school in Hampshire, England. His father having, owing to the prevailing prejudice of the times, refused to purchase him a commission in the army, he decided, at the age of nineteen, to emigrate to New Zealand, and landed in Auckland in the early part of 1852, in the same ship as Colonel George M. Nixon. He lived with Colonel Nixon at Mangere for five years, during which he learned farming, and also acquired such a thorough knowledge of Maor: that he passed the Government examination for interpreter in that language. As a colonist, traveller and soldier, Captain Hutton had his full share of moving incidents by field and flood. On one occasion Colonel Nixon, Mr. Richmond (afterwards Judge Richmond), Mr. Virtue, and Captain Hutton were blown to sea outside the Manukau, with only a loaf of bread on board, and it was with considerable difficulty that they made Onehunga again, after several days starvation and knocking about. His health breaking down in 1857 from hard work, he was ordered Home, it was feared, to die. He took a passage in the “William Denny,” for Sydney, and was wrecked on the New Zealand coast, living with the other passengers on shell fish and anything else they could pick up for some time, until a vessel came and took them on to Sydney. Thence he shipped, via Cape Horn, to England, and found his health was quite restored on his arrival Home. In December, of the same year, he married Emma Kenrick, eldest daughter of Archibald Kenrick, J.P., of West Brom-wich, near Birmingham. After spending the winter in the south of Spain and Algeria, he and his wife sailed in the ship “Kingston” for New Zealand, in the autumn of 1858, and landed in January, 1859, at Auckland, where their first child was born soon after. Mr. Hutton was offered the appointment of Magistrate and Government Agent among the Waikato Maoris, but, foreseeing the racial troubles ahead, and being unwilling to expose his family to the dangers of the position, he declined the offer, and, purchasing a farm at Otahuhu, he engaged in the breeding of pure Leicester sheep, of which he had imported some choice specimens. On the outbreak of the Maori war, Captain Hutton joined the Otahuhu Cavalry, under Colonel Nixon (Colonial Defence Force), and was elected lieutenant. On the death of Colonel Nixon he was promoted to the command of a troop, and served till the end of the war in 1866, when he let his farm, and took his family to England. The following winter Captain and



Mrs Hutton visited Egypt, and ascended the Nile for some distance. In 1869 he returned to New Zealand by himself on private business, travelling via Panama, Peru, Chili, and Tahiti, and returned to England in 1870, across America. He lived with his family in Jersey, Channel Isles, from 1870 to 1875, and then at Wilsbridge, near Bath, till 1878. Having been ordered to take a complete change, and the Kaffir rebellion of that year having broken out, he sailed for the Cape, offered his services to Colonel Buller, commanding the Frontier Light Horse, was at once accepted, and made adjutant of the regiment. On the suppression of this rebellion he accompanied Colonel Buller's force on its march through Kaffraria, Pondoland, across Natal to Pieter-maritzburg, thence through the length of Natal, across the Transvaal to Pretoria, and on to Lydenburgh, where the regiment was employed against the chief Sekokuni. This was reputed the longest cavalry march which had ever been made. On the outbreak of the Zulu war the Frontier Light Horse marched to the Zulu border at Kambula, where they joined the column under Sir Evelyn Wood, who had his base at Utrecht. While there, the finances of the regiment requiring reorganisation, the paymaster's department was added to Captain Hutton's other duties, and the work was, as usual, carried out to the complete satisfaction of his superior officers. He was present with Colonel Buller on patrol at the finding of the Prince Imperial's dead body, afterwards handed over to the regular cavalry sent out to search for it, and also at the Hlobana affair, where, after storming the mountain, several corps were caught on its summit by the sudden appearance of a Zulu impi, and lost heavily, having to retreat down an almost precipitous native footpath, where the horses had often to jump down steps in the rock, six feet at a time, and where many of the wounded men, and, indeed, others too, blew out their brains rather than fall alive into the hands of the Zulus. Captain Hutton and others ably seconded Colonel Buller's efforts to keep the men cool and to get them safely away, and was one of the comparative few who succeeded in saving their horses. Once down the mountain, a running fight took place for some miles, the Zulus doing their best to cut off the troops, and those who still had horses conveyed those unhorsed well to the rear, and helped to keep back the pursuing enemy. It was on this occasion that Colonel Buller won the V.C. by saving the lives of six or seven men. The next day the battle of Kambula was fought, when the Zulu impi, 20,000 strong, the pick of Cete-wayo's army, made repeated and desperate assaults on the camp from early morning till four o'clock in the afternoon, and were so thoroughly defeated that they never again made anything like a determined stand. Captain Hutton was the last of the mounted men who were sent out to draw the enemy on, who entered camp as the Zulus came charging to the assault, and he led the pursuit which followed the breaking of the enemy, when ample reparation was exacted for the companions who had fallen the day before; he was mentioned in despatches by General Wood for his gallantry and distinguished services during the two days. He accompanied his regiment on the advance to Ulundi, and was present at the battle of that name, which ended the war. Captain Hutton returned to England in September, 1879. Already possessed of the New Zealand medal, he now received the South African one with clasp. On the breakdown of their son's health, in 1881, Captain and Mrs Hutton accompanied him to Auckland in the ship “Roman Empire” (Captain Adamson), and thence proceeded to Fiji, whence, some months later, they returned, via Australia, to Auckland, and, joining their son, settled on the old farm at Otahuhu till 1888, when, their son having married, they returned to England, via Canada. In 1890 Captain and Mrs Hutton again visited Auckland. They returned to England, via China, Japan, and Suez the following year, and lived in London with their daughter, Miss. C. A. Hutton, till the death of Captain Hutton on the 1st of January, 1891, on the eve of another proposed visit to his son in New Zealand. Captain Hutton was the brother-in-law of the Right Honourable Joseph Chamberlain, whose first wife was Miss Harriet Kenrick, a younger sister of Mrs Hutton.
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Mr. Edward Isaacs
              
              was an Old Colo-nist who took a prominent part in promoting the progress of Auckland. He was born in London in 1820, and left England for Tasmania during Sir John Franklin's Governorship of that Colony, where Mr. Isaacs was employed by a firm engaged in the whaling trade and the sandalwood traffic in the Islands. In 1844 he started on his own account in connection with a partner, and went to London, leaving his partner to manage the Colonial branch of the business. He returned to Tasmania, via Melbourne, in 1853. During his stay in London, he sent out his two younger brothers, George and Henry, to Auckland. These two young men started in business as wholesale merchants, and of this business Mr. E. Isaacs was for many years the senior partner. When trade was flourishing on the Victorian gold-fields, Mr. Isaacs, with his brother Henry, established a business in Melbourne. While in that city he identified himself with public, social, and charitable institutions, and on leaving for Auckland, in 1860, he was presented by various bodies with substantial tokens of their regard, in recognition of his labours in connection with them. Besides being a member of the Auckland City Council, in which he sat from 1875 to 1879, Mr. Isaacs was for many years a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, and generally took an active interest in local affairs. He was one of the promoters, in connection with his brother Henry, and a few other merchants, of the Auckland Shipping Company, which ultimately merged into the New Zealand Shipping Company. Mr. Isaacs was widely respected and had a large circle of friends. He died at his residence in Official Bay, on the 20th of August, 1891, leaving a widow, six daughters, and two sons to mourn their loss. His eldest daughter was married to the late Sir Saul Samuel, Bart., Agent-General for New South Wales, and two others are married to Drs C. H. Haines and Humphrey Haines. Of his two sons, Mr. 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]. E. Isaacs is dead, and Mr. R. E. Isaacs, who is widely known in business circles in Auckland, carries on business in Shortland Street as an auditor and accountant.
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Mr. Henry Mahon Jervis,
              Old Colonist, was born at Strood, Kent, England, in 1820, and came out to New Zealand at the inauguration of agricultural settlement in the Colony, with other young men of good family. He took part in the founding of Wellington, New Plymouth, Wanganui, and Nelson, and was through all the trying period of the last savageries of the notorious Tamenana Te Rau-paraha and his fighting chief, Rangihaeata Finally, Mr. Jervis decided to settle in Auckland, where, at the time, a few settlers were carrying on an unscrupulous fight against the Government by means of a newspaper, their aim being to secure large pieces of country from the natives, for a few articles of trade.

            


            
Owing to land ownership amongst the Maoris being tribal, it was practically impossible for those schemers to succeed, but they vented the spleen born of frustrated greed, in various methods of interference with Governor Hobson, until his death in 1842. Mr. Jervis entered commercial life and became a partner in the firm of D. Nathan and Co., and was several years actively engaged in promoting that business, which included an agency for the various troop and passenger ships, which visited Auckland throughout the war. After retiring from the firm, Mr. Jervis became agent for the intercolonial steamers engaged in the commercial, mail, and troop services of New Zealand. He also became the New Zealand manager of the Panama Company, whose service connected the Colony with England, until the tidal wave of disaster that befel the Royal Mail Company on the other side of Panama broke up the joint project. As the representative at Auckland of Hall's Californian line of steamers, Mr. Jervis conducted the faithful performances of those ships, always to contract time, until the Government gave Webb's old effete side-wheelers an enormous subsidy, £65,000 per annum, although the boats thus subsidised soon proved to be unfit for the traffic. As agent for the Australian and New Zealand Company's mail and commercial steamers, Mr. Jervis was instrumental in promoting trade between Fiji, Melbourne, and the southern ports of New Zealand. During all those years of important enterprise, Mr. Jervis and his principals upheld the high principles of commercial honour, in spite of threats of reductions, evasions, and attempts to repudiate by both the Colonial and Imperial Governments. The ruinous practice of those times in the spheres of mining, banking, commerce, and politics, are being historically treated by Mr. Jervis, with a view to their publication for the instruction and admonition of the present generation. Mr. Jervis is now residing at Brighton, Parnell, and enjoying a well-earned rest.
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Mr. John Kirkwood
              
              was born in 1838 in Ayrshire, Scotland, where his father, of the same name, was a prominent farmer, and famous as a prize-taker for Ayrshire cattle. Mr. Kirkwood came to New Zealand in 1860 by the ship “Mermaid,” and landed in Auckland. For several years he was a partner in the old firm of Messrs Graham, Kirkwood, and Co., drapers; but in 1867 he gave up that line of business and set up on his own account in the wine and spirit trade, as a wholesale merchant. In the early days Mr. Kirkwood was a pay-sergeant in the first class militia. As a Freemason he was initiated in Lodge Ara, in 1866, at Cambridge, where he built the first store and the first hotel in the Waikato. He has long been prominently connected with the Auckland Racing Club, in which he holds a life member's medal for services rendered, and was presented with a gold watch in appreciation of his integrity and judgment as handicapper. Mr. Kirkwood was a steward and committeeman for many years, and for four or five years, he held the position of judge. In 1867, Mr. Kirkwood was married to Miss Graham, sister of the late Mr. Robert Graham, sometime Superintendent of the province of Auckland. Mr. and Mrs Kirkwood have a family of three daughters.
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Mr. Charles Knox,
             
 one of Auckland's very early and prosperous pioneers, was born at Ardstraw, County Tyrone, Ireland, in 1809, and was descended from a well-known old Irish family in Ulster, a country which has given New Zealand men who, through ability and perseverance, have taken the front ranks in politics and enterprise. Mr. Knox was brought up to farming, and in the early forties left Ireland with his wife, and determined to acquire a fortune in the Colonies. He landed first at Sydney, where he remained two years, and then removed to Auckland, which was then a small assemblage of tents and huts, with very little promise of the noble city which now lies embosomed in the Waitemata harbour. Shortly after his arrival Mr. Knox, with his thorough knowledge and practical experience in farming, picked out and purchased about 500 acres of land between where St. John's College now stands and the Tamaki, a district known to possess some of the finest pastoral land about Auckland. Here he carved out from the native bush what in a few years he converted into a fine property, which supported hundreds of cattle, sheep, and horses. During the number of years Mr. Knox occupied the farm, he was continually improving and adding to its value. Mr. and Mrs Knox made two trips to the Old Country, and previous to his death Mr. Knox was contemplating a prolonged tour through America and Europe, when a stroke of paralysis seized him, and he never thoroughly recovered. He had a third stroke, which cut him off on the 5th of December, 1871, at the age of sixty-two years, and his widow was his sole survivor. Mr. Knox was a thorough colonist, who, undeterred by the early pioneer struggles and hardships, retired with a large fortune, acquired through perseverance and thrift. Previous to his last contemplated tour, he sold a considerable part of his estate, but a large position is still in possession of Mrs Knox. Although Mr. Knox abstained from taking part in public affairs, his well-known acts of kindness and of monetary help placed many a poor struggling colonist on the way to success. Mr. Knox married Miss Russel, of Ardstraw Bridge, who accompanied him to New Zealand. In her he possessed a worthy and devoted wife, who cheered him by her courage and sympathy, through all the vicissitudes and hardships of the early pioneer days, and also helped him in a practical way in the management of his tarm; in fact, her knowledge of


[image: Mrs. E. Knox.]
Mrs. E. Knox.





stock and farming was equal to that of her husband. Since the death of Mr. Knox she has lived in dignified retirement in her beautiful villa in Symonds Street, doing good in an unostentatious way, her right hand, in the words of the Scripture, not knowing what her left doeth. And although she is now (1901) over eighty years of age, she is a fine hearty old lady, and still retains the distinctive traits of her delightful countrywomen—keenness of wit and tongue, and robust health.
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Mr. Renke Friedreich Luks
              
              was born on the 14th of December, 1829, at Mworburg, Westerstede, Grand Duchy of Oldenberg, Prussia, where he spent the earlier portion of his life. In 1860, he sailed from London for Melbourne in a German vessel. Upon his arrival in Victoria he went to Ballarat and followed the varied fortunes of a miner there and elsewhere. He arrived at Dunedin in 1864, and opened a store on the newly discovered goldfield at Macrae's Flat, Otago. In 1866 he sold out his interest in the business to his brother, and took possession of the White House, afterwards known as the White Horse Hotel, at Hokitika, formerly owned by his brother. Mr. Luks afterwards went to the Thames goldfield, where he built the Court House Hotel. On the revival of the mining industry at Coromandel, in 1870, Mr. Luks cast in his lot in that district, and engaged in prospecting in company with “Bismarck Charley,” who presented him with his interest in the subsequently famous “Bismarck” claim. Mr. Luks thoroughly prospected and worked this claim at great cost and labour, and obtained a large amount of gold. At the same time Mrs Luks opened a store on the Tokatea Range, and subsequently added a hostelry known as the Bismarck Inn, which was the first licensed house in the district. Mr. Luks was instrumental in opening a telephone bureau as well as assisting to get the Coromandel County Council to construct a good graded track to the top of the Tokatea Range. He afterwards settled in Auckland, and in 1883 he became the proprietor of the Victoria Hotel in Victoria Street west, where he remained until within six weeks of his death, which occurred in July, 1833. Mr. Luks was instrumental in persuading the New Zealand Railway Department to plant all the railway reserves with trees and shrubs, on the German plan. At the time of his death Mr. Luks represented North Ward in the Auckland City Council. He was also a member of Lodge Ara, 348, I.C., one of the oldest and wealthiest Masonic Craft Lodges in New Zealand.
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Mr. Charles Mcdonald
              
             
 was born at Halifax, Yorkshire, England, in 1845. He is a son of Mr. John McDonald, and was educated at Park Place Academy, Halifax. In 1859 he came out to Auckland in the ship “Shalimahr” and early in 1860 he left Auckland with his father and the rest of the family for Wairoa South (now known as Clevedon), where his father had purchased a block of land. The roads then were very primative and the journey had to be made in a bullock waggon. By dint of energy and perseverance the family succeeded in spite of almost unsurmountable obstacles, in founding a very comfortable and picturesque home. On the breaking out of hostilities with the Maoris in July, 1863, it had, however, to be abandoned, and the subject of this sketch, then only seventeen years of age, joined the Wairoa Rifle Volunteers, one of the first volunteer corps raised in the Colony. He was at once placed on active service with his company, which after serving in different parts of the district was stationed in the stockade built by the volunteers on McNicol's farm on the right bank of the Wairoa river, whilst the Galloway Redoubt occupied by a detachment of the 65th Regiment and about 200 of the Auckland Volunteers and militia were opposite on the left bank, the whole under the command of the late Colonel Lyons. During the progress of the war he saw a great deal of active service in the field, and was frequently under fire On the 24th of July, when a settler named Cooper went to his homestead from the camp to milk his cows, firing was heard and young McDonald was oue of a party who were sent out to Cooper's assistance, and was also the first to find his body. The Wairoa Rifles lost another of their number the same morning in the person of young Calvert who was shot near his father's house, and died as he was being carried into the Redoubt by a party of Captain Ring's 18th Royal Irish. He was present at the attack by the Maoris on the Stockade on the 13th of September, when they fired into Mr. McNicol's house, which was occupied by some of the family, including women and children. Hearing shots fired, McDonald, though unarmed, proceeded to ascertain the cause and was met at McNicol's by the inmates rushing out in great terror, one little boy having a bullet hole in his cap Taking an infant from one of the women, he told them to run to the Stockade, about 300 yards off, when a Maori appeared at the end of the house and levelled his gun at McDonald. For a few seconds the two stood looking at each other, and then the Maori fired, the bullet just grazing McDonald's head. McDonald succeeded in reaching the Stockade in safety with the baby, though he had to pass through a shower of bullets; and he was afterwards complimented by Colonel Lyons for his coolness on the occasion. He was also with
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his company at the attack on the Otau Native Settlement on the 19th of September, when the Maoris were driven into the bush and one of their head chiefs was killed. On the 12th of August he formed one of an expedition, which, under Captain Steele, went from Wairoa through the dense bush of the Hunua Ranges and emerged at Drury; and on the 20th of November he was one of the storming party composed of a detachment of the 18th Royal Irish, under Captain Ring (afterwards killed at Orakau) and a party of the Wairoa Rifles under Captain Steele, at the attack and destruction of the Maori Pa situated in the ranges near the mouth of the Wairoa river, where the rebels sustained a crushing defeat, which practically closed the fighting in the Wairoa district. At the close of the war he was awarded the New Zealand war medal and other distinctions and also received a grant of land for his services. Mr. McDonald continued his connection with the Wairoa Rifles, was elected ensign of the company, and received his commission as lieutenant in November, 1872. In connection with the corps he founded a Rifle Association, which was the means of greatly improving the efficiency of the members as marksmen; after thirteen years of service, he resigned his commission and was unanimously elected an honorary member of the company with the rank of captain. In 1872 Mr. McDonald became one of the first settlers in the Piako district, where his father had acquired a thousand acre block of land known as Pakarau. In those days travelling to and from the Piako district was a matter of extreme difficulty and very considerable danger, and Mr. McDonald had many grim and stirring experiences in that connection.



However under his management the farm was rapidly brought under cultivation and large areas were annually ploughed, harrowed, and laid down in grass, and fat cattle were sent down to the Auckland market, where they always commanded good prices on account of the high quality of the beef. Mr. McDonald was for some time a member of the Wairoa Highway Board and rendered good service in that capacity in connection with the laying off and formation of roads, etc. Eventually his youngest brother succeeded him in the management of Pakarau, and in January, 1882, he himself took up his residence in Auckland, where he received an appointment as accountant in one of the leading manufacturing businesses in that City. He remained in that position for over eight years, and then he joined the staff of the firm of J. T. Arundel and Co., trading in the Pacific Islands. On the death of his father he became the owner of the family homestead at Wairoa. Mr. McDonald was a member of the Beresford Street Congregational Church and was married in 1881 to Miss Edith Rowe, daughter of Mr. James Rowe, who arrived in the Colony in 1853, and was one of the first settlers in the Pakuranga district, Auckland. Three sons were born of the union. Mr. McDonald died at Baker Island, in the South Pacific, on the 1st of April, 1900.
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Mr. Charles Cookman McMillan,
              J.P., of Ardstrath,” Remuera, is one of Auckland's most prominent citizens. He is a son of the late Rev. Gibson McMillan, of Belfast, nephew of Sir William McArthur, K.C.M.G., and brother of Sir William McMillan, K.C.M.G., of Sydney, and was born at Dublin in 1848. He was educated at the Wesleyan Education School, Dublin, and afterwards entered the firm of Messrs W. and J. McArthur, London. Mr. McMillan afterwards joined the firm as a partner, and came to New Zealand in 1869, to take the position of managing partner in the New Zealand firm of McArthur and Co., from which he retired in 1874. During his long residence in Auckland Mr. McMillan has taken a leading position in all local and general affairs, and has helped very much to promote the city's welfare. He is at present a director of the firm of Messrs A. Clark and Sons, warehousemen, of Auckland; a director of the South British Insurance Company, and a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank, and has at various times held the responsible positions of chairman of the Chamber of Commerce and Auckland Harbour Board. Mr. McMillan is a prominent member of the Masonic body, being District Grand Master of the English Constitution. He has taken three trips to the Old Country, and during his last he visited the Paris Exhibition, and made an extended European tour. Mr. McMillan married the daughter of the late Mr. Archibald Clark, and they have a family of one son and three daughters.
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Mr. George Main
              
              is a very Old Colonist, and also a very old pressman, but as he was a colonist first and pressman afterwards, he is brought into this section, though it is almost entirely as a pressman that he is here spoken of. On the 22nd of May, 1901, Mr. Main entered the fiftieth year of his connection with the Auckland newspaper press, of which he is popularly known as the father. It is doubtful if there is in the whole colony another journalist with such a long record. Mr. Main is now the sole surviving member of the original staff of the “New Zealand Herald.” He entered the service of Messrs W. C. Wilson and John Williamson, of the “New Zealander” (the former the founder of the “New Zealand Herald”) on the 22nd of May, 1852, and has ever since been in the service of that firm and its successors, Messrs Wilson and Horton. During this long career he has interested himself particularly in the study of old Auckland history, and has compiled an instructive and comprehensive “History of the Auckland Press from 1840 to 1891,” which he intends to bring up to date when released from his regular daily duties. Mr. Main was one of the “Herald's” representatives at the Tarawera eruption, and on his return to Auckland determined to illustrate, photographically, the story of that memorable catastrophe. It took him six years to complete the work, which consists of four large and interesting volumes, which he intends to bequeath to the Auckland Free Library—the Sir George Grey collection. Mr. Main is still a copious contributor to the pages of the “New Zealand Herald,” and his paragraphs and articles over the pen-name of “Mercutio,” are cleverly and humorously written.
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Mr. Albin Martin,
              Old Colonist, was born at Silton, Dorset, England, in 1813, and was the second son of the Rev. Harry Martin, rector of Silton. He was educated at Salisbury Grammar school, and completed his studies at Jesus College, Cambridge, where he became acquainted with Sir George Arney, afterwards Chief Justice of New Zealand. Being fond of art, Mr. Martin proceeded to London to study under John Tenniel, and afterwards studied at Rome, Naples, and Florence. In 1851, Mr. Martin sailed for New Zealand in the ship “Cashmere,” Captain Pearson. On his arrival in Auckland he took a farm in the East Tamaki district, and cultivated it until 1882, when he retired to Ellerslie. During the Maori war of 1861–66 Mr. Martin joined the Otahuhu Royal Cavalry Volunteers, under Colonel Nixon, but did not proceed to the front. He took an active part in politics, and was elected a member of the Auckland Provincial Council. Mr. Martin was one of the principal promoters of the first Art Society in Auckland, and was for some years its treasurer and also a vice-president. He was a member of the Auckland Anglican Synod, and was one of those who were instrumental in establishing a church at Ellerslie. Mr. Martin died in 1887.
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Mr. William Hurst Martin,
             
 J.P., “Martinborough,” Mount Albert, was born at Rosslea, County Fermanagh, Ireland, in 1836. On leaving school he worked with his father, who was an extensive dealer in cattle and horses, and in that way he gained such a thorough knowledge of stock that he enjoys the reputation of being one of the best judges in Auckland. In 1863, accompanied by his wife, Mr. Martin came to Auckland by the ship “Ida Zeigler,” commanded by Captain Reynolds. Immediately on landing he was engaged by the late General Taylor to go to St. Helier's Bay to eradicate scab from a flock of sheep whoch had previously defied treatment, and he succeeded in cleaning the flock in a few weeks. Shortly afterwards he accepted an appointment from the contractors for the Commissariat to deliver forage at Papakura for the use of the soldiers' horses. He then determined to devote his attention to farming, and proceeded to Waikumete, where he had received a grant of Government land previous to his departure for New Zealand. Mr. Martin set to work with his accustomed energy; in a short time he erected a house, and in a couple of years, he had carved out of the native bush a fine productive farm. Wishing



to live nearer the city, Mr. Martin sold his farm, and obtained a lease of his present fine property from the then owner, Captain Crawdie; but shortly afterwards he converted the
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lease by purchase into a freehold. He engaged successfully in cattle dealing, and invested so extensively in valuable freehold properties in the district, that he is now a ratepayer to seven highway boards, one county council, and one city council. On taking up his residence at Mount Albert Mr. Martin began to take a prominent part in the local affairs of the district, and was elected to the Mount Albert school committee, of which he is still a member, and has acted as chairman for several years. He has been intimately connected with the progress of the Mount Albert Road Board almost from its inception, and was for many years its chairman. He retired on the death of the late Mr. Allan Kerr Taylor, who had for years co-laboured with him on the board. Seven years later he was again requested to stand for election, as the board's finances were in a bad state, and there was a large deficit. He therefore again took office, and in the course of about three years extricated the board from its difficulties, and placed its finances on a sound footing, having wiped out the old debt, with £80 to the good, as well as provided a large quantity of road metal. Mr. Martin has also done good service to St. Luke's Church, Mount Albert, where he was churchwarden for several years, and was instrumental, with the assistance of Mr. Allan Kerr Taylor, Mrs Martin, and Mrs Kerr Taylor, in thrice enlarging the church, and clearing the debt off the parsonage and public hall. Mr. Martin has been a member of the licensing committee of the district for a number of years. Although several times requested to stand for the House of Representatives, he has so far declined, owing to his personal respect for the present member, Mr. Bollard. Mr. Martin has held the Commission of the Peace for a number of years. He still takes a keen interest in his general business, but his two sons, who follow in their father's footsteps, relieve him from a large amount of the responsibility connected with his dealings in cattle and horses, and they are recognised as being almost equal to their father in their judgment of horseflesh. Mr. Martin married, previous to his departure from Home, Miss Jane Hirst, of Rosslea Manor, who has been a worthy helpmate to him during his sojourn in the Colony. Three sons and two daughters have been born of the marriage, and are still alive; the eldest daughter is married to Mr. Harper, of the firm of Petty and Harper, merchants, Gisborne, and the sons are well-known and respected colonists.
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Mr. J. P. Du Moulin
              
              arrived in New Zealand in 1839, and was the second son of Dr. J. A. on Moulin, sometime senior surgeon of H.M. 50th Regiment. Mr. du Moulin was an officer of the commissariat staff, and served in the Heke war of 1845, and in the native wars in Wellington province, and at Wanganui. He was also in the Taranaki war of 1860, and the Waikato campaign of 1863–4. In his young days he was fond of sport, and rode as a gentleman rider in the military sports of the garrison, at Potter's Paddock, which was then the Auckland racecourse. Shortly after the Waikato campaign Mr. du Moulin retired from the service, and went into private life. He died in his 85th year, on the 1st of January, 1901, at his residence, Symonds Street, Auckland, and was survived by his widow, one son, and two grandchildren. His son, Major Louis du Moulin, went with the 1st Royal Sussex Regiment to South Africa.
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Mr. David Nolan,
              Old Colonist, and still associated in the public mind with the well-known firm of Hunter and Nolan, auctioneers, stock and station agents, Durham Street West, Auckland, was born in 1828 in Londonderry, Ireland, and is the eldest son of the late Mr. Robert Howal Nolan, C.E. He was educated at Foyle College, Londonderry, and afterwards went to sea as a midshipman with the celebrated firm of Messrs Green and Sons, the owners of the famous Blackwall line. After remaining in that service for several years, during which he attained the rank of second officer, Mr. Nolan decided to migrate to Australia, and arrived in Melbourne by the ship “Duke of Portland” (Captain Cubitt), in 1851. He did not remain long in Victoria, but went to New South Wales, where he was engaged in pastoral pursuits until he left for Auckland in 1866, by the barque “Novelty.” During his long connection with the Auckland provincial district Mr. Nolan has taken a keen interest in promoting its agricultural and pastoral growth. He was the first to introduce the Ayrshire breed of cattle into the district, and he has been a most successful prizetaker at the annual shows held throughout the province of Auckland. The name of the firm with which he was so long associated was justly celebrated throughout the Colony, and the founder, the late Mr. William Hunter, was one of the pioneer settlers of Auckland. He established the business in 1860, in association with Mr. Cheeseman, who afterwards gave place to Mr. Styak. Later on Mr. Nolan joined Mr. Hunter, after whose death he carried on the business with the assistance of Mr. Henry Octavius Nolan, who acted as auctioneer. The firm eventually sold its business to the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, Ltd., which retained the services of Mr. H. O. Nolan, as auctioneer. Messrs Hunter and Nolan acted as auctioneers for the late New Zealand Stud Company and Mr. Thomas Morrin at their annual sales of blood stock, which obtained such widespread fame. The firm's auctioneer at these annual sales was the late Mr. James Philson, who was considered unequalled in the Southern Hemisphere as a seller of thoroughbred horseflesh.
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Mr. Allan O'Neill,
             
 formerly a Member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and sometime of O'Neill's Point, Devonport, was born in Ireland, and was a direct descendant of the historical family of O'Neill. In the early forties he arrived in Taranaki, and after remaining there for a short time, travelled overland to Auckland. The trip occupied about six weeks, and in those days it was a difficult and dangerous undertaking, as there were neither roads nor tracks, and deep and rapid rivers had to be swum or forded, and hostile natives encountered by the way. Shortly after arriving in Auckland Mr. O'Neill, who was a surveyor by profession, obtained an appointment to survey the North Shore on behalf of the Government. This work was carried out most satisfactorily, and he also surveyed the district round Takapuna. He was appointed city surveyor, and laid out a number of Auckland streets. While he held that office he was sent by the Government to make a map of the district between Auckland and the Bay of Islands. The undertaking was an eventful one, for Mr. O'Neill was the first white man to make the journey, and, in walking overland, he had to zig-zag to the coast to get an outline. Mr. O'Neill was elected a member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and held the position of Provincial Secretary for three years. He was also a member of the Church Synod, chairman of the Takapuna Road Board,
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and chairman of the Lake school committee. Mr. O'Neill, with his brother, acquired the property on the Peninsula which bears the family name. After serving the country of his adoption with great ability, Mr. O'Neill died in 1886, leaving a family of three sons and four daughters. The eldest son is chairman of the Waitemata County Council, and the second, Mr. Allan Charles O'Neill, resides at the family residence at O'Neill's Point, Devonport.
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Mr. Robert Peace,
              Old Colonist, Shortland Street, Auckland, was born at Greenock, Scotland, in 1821. He was educated in his native town, where he learned the business of a copper and tin worker. In 1847 he went to Newfoundland, where he carried on the business of an ironworker and stove-dealer, and remained until 1865, when he came to Auckland. Shortly after his arrival he started business as a plumber in Shortland Street, and has ever since carried on a successful trade. In 1890, Mr. Peace took his son into partnership, and in 1898 retired from business altogether in favour of his son, Mr. Colin Archibald Peace. Mr. Peace was organiser of the Auckland Burns Club, which has since passed out of existence. In 1846, previous to his departure for Newfoundland, Mr. Peace married Miss Margaret Ferguson, a native of Greenock, and she has borne him a family of eleven children, of whom eight are now (1901) alive.
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Mr. George Patrick Pierce,
              for many years well known and greatly respected as the General Manager of the New Zealand Fire Insurance Company, was born at Plymouth, on the 21st of June, 1825, and died at Auckland on the 17th of May, 1891, deeply regretted by all classes of the community. He was a son of the late Captain Pierce, R.N. Mr. Pierce placed a memorial window in St. Sepulchre's Church in remembrance of his father and mother. While he was a lad his parents removed to Ireland, whither he accompanied them. Subsequently he was connected with the firm of Messrs Smith, Elder and Co., of London. About thirty-five years ago he arrived in Auckland and became a member of the firm of Messrs Bain, Pierce and Co., trading for a considerable period in Auckland. He retired from the connection, however, and became first local and then general manager of the New Zealand Insurance Company, and occupied both positions with conspicuous ability and success. From his first arrival in Auckland he identified himself with church work, and gained the respect and esteem of the Bishop of New Zealand. In 1865 he joined with four other gentlemen in building old St. Sepulchre's church, under the direction of Bishop Selwyn. From that date until his death he filled various church offices; as vestryman or churchwarden of St. Sepulchre's, Diocesan Nominator, Diocesan Trustee, and member of the Diocesan and of the General Synod. He was also one of the assessors of the Bishop's Court, and for many years secretary of the Orphan Home, Parnell, founded by Archdeacon Lloyd. Mr. Pierce was not only a veteran Freemason, but one of the most distinguished members of the craft in the Colony. ‘He was a member and subsequently worshipful master of the Ara Lodge, I.C., from the early days up to his death. On the retirement with the troops from New Zealand of Most Worshipful Brother De Burgh Adams, the first Provincial Grand Master of the Irish Constitution of Freemasonry, the choice fell upon Bro. Pierce, as his successor; and by his suavity and courtesy, combined with firmness, strict justice and impartiality, Mr. Pierce gained the love and esteem of every Mason belonging to the various constitutions. A Mason he lived and a Mason he died, and his funeral was attended by the members of the English, Scotch and New Zealand Constitutions, who paid their last tribute of respect to their deceased Brother at the Purewa Cemetery, and the occasion was marked by a most eloquent funeral oration delivered by the Grand Chaplain, the Rev. D. Kidd. Mr. Pierce was twice married, and his eldest surviving son by the first marriage, Mr. George Nelson Pierce, is the manager of the New Zealand Insurance Company at Auckland. He contracted his second marriage with Miss Eleanor Connell, who survives him.
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Mr. George Sinclair Reston,
              late Governor of the Auckland Gaol, and Probation Officer for the Auckland district, was born in Kent, England, in 1844, and came to the Colony in the ship “John Taylor” in 1853, landing at Lyttelton. He was educated in Canterbury, at the old Church of England School, and at the Rev. J. D. Fergusson's private academy. Mr. Reston entered the Public Works Department of the Canterbury Provincial Government and spent a year or two on the West Coast. In 1867, his father being at that time Governor of the Lyttelton Gaol, Mr. Reston joined the prison service in Lyttelton, and some eight years later, having in the meantime had control of the store, was placed in charge of the gaol at Addington, where he remained until 1883, when he was transferred to Auckland. Mr. Reston was married in 1873 to Miss Fanny Burston, daughter of Mr. Henry Burston, of Taunton, Somerset, and of ten children eight are sons. He resigned from the public service in January, 1900, and now lives in retirement in Auckland.
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Mr. Charles Ring,
             
 J.P., one of the oldest and most respected colonists of Auckland, was the first discoverer of gold in New Zealand. He has been identified with the growth of New Zealand from its earliest stages of settlement to its present state of prosperity and progress, and was one of the historical Forty- [
unclear: Ni]
ners at the discovery of the Californian fields. Mr. Ring was born in 1832 in Guernsey, one of the Channel Islands, and was the son of Mr. Charles Ring, a London



merchant, who was ruined through a bank failure, and the loss of his fleet of ships within a few months of each other. His father's disasters altered Mr. Ring's prospects, and he determined to leave the Old Country to make a fresh start in life in a new one. Accordingly at the age of fifteen, he went to Tasmania, which then offered good prospects to intending settlers on account of its liberal land laws. Mr. Ring, however, was not satisfied with that Colony, and went to Adelaide, where he started business on his own account, by opening a general store. Unfortunately, he was burned out, and about the year 1841 he decided to leave Australia, and try his luck in Maoriland. He landed at Port Nicholson, but came on to Auckland, and on his northward trip he had as a fellow passenger the Hon. Alexander Shepherd, the first Colonial Treasurer of New Zealand. A few raupo whares and tents then constituted the city of Auckland. Shortly after his arrival in Auckland Mr. Ring bought two farms, one near the Pa, Onehunga, known later as Hayr's farm, and the other at Mount Roskill. The transfer of property was simple in those days: the Maori chief who happened to be the vendor pointed out two boundaries; the purchaser handed over the consideration agreed on, and the affair closed without the intervention of law courts or lawyers. Mr. Ring stocked his farms with 500 sheep, obtained from Mr. Busby, of Waitangi. Owing to the great scarcity of cattle in New Zealand, he went to New South Wales and brought over two cargoes; but experiencing a difficulty in obtaining from the Government sufficient depasturing ground, he collected his imported stock and drove the mob into Messrs Connell and Ridings' saleyard (where Messrs Porter and Co.s premises now—1901—stand) and sold them on three, six, and nine months' bills, there being no money in the place. Mr. Ring then determined to make a bid for fortune in the Californian goldfields, which had then just broken out. He took passage in Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane's vessel, the brig “Fanny,” and was joined by his brother, Mr. Fred [
unclear: Ri]
ng. They purchased from Mr. Scott, at Epsom, a whaleboat, with which they intended to prospect the Californian rivers. After a three months' passage from Auckland, the “Fanny” arrived at San Francisco on a Sunday, and as soon as she cast anchor the crew seized the ship's boat and deserted the vessel to become goldseekers. There were fifty vessels in a similar fix in the harbour. The city presented a very stirring appearance, for although it was Sunday, work of every description was going on, and carpenters and builders were erecting warehouses, shanties, and huts. The city was crowded with gambling tables, grog shops, and shanties, and with all sorts and conditions of men. Mr. Ring was soon engaged in the exciting work of gold digging, in which he was fairly successful. He left the Yuba for Sacramento, whence he went to a “rush” on the coast, on the way to which he got shipwrecked, and lost all the stores which he had brought with the intention of storekeeping. Mr. Ring, disgusted with continued illluck, decided to return to New South Wales or Victoria, but never to New Zealand. Accordingly he left Sacramento for San Francisco to sail thence for Sydney. Mr. Hargreaves, the discoverer of gold in Australia (for which discovery he received £30,000) was an intending passenger with him to Australia by the Dutch brig Ceres, but was detained at the eleventh hour, though he followed in the next boat. The “Ceres,” which had 150 passengers on board, was, in consequence of an inefficient look-out, wrecked on a coral reef off Fiji. Scarcely any water or provisions were saved from the wreck. Mr. Ring and some other passengers made a gallant attempt to reach Queensland in an open boat, very ill-provisioned, and after enduring the greatest hardships, they were providentially rescued in mid-ocean by an American whaler. The captain, on hearing of the desperate straits to which the shipwrecked passengers were reduced through hunger and thirst, altered his course and picked up the balance of the shipwrecked people. He showed them great kindness, and landed them all in Auckland. The thrilling adventures of this shipwreck are embodied by Captain Mayne Reid in his celebrated novel,
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“Lost Lenore.” On landing at Auckland on the 23rd of September, 1852, Mr. Ring interviewed Mr. (afterwards Sir Frederick) Whitaker and Captain Heale, with regard to getting a bonus for the discovery of gold; there were a number of experienced miners from the shipwrecked “Ceres,” and Mr. Ring's idea was that they might be induced to prospect for the metal. The result was that a public meeting was held, and it appointed a committee, who offered a reward for the discovery of a goldfield between 35.40 and 38 south latitude. The proclamation was signed by Messrs Frederick Whitaker (chairman), David Nathan, W. C. Daldy, J. A. Gilfillan, Joseph Greenwood, John Williamson, John McFarlane, John Salmon, James Macky, Patrick Dignan, J. Henry, and T. S. Forsaith. Mr. Ring and his brother Fred, having been so disgusted with the obstacles put in the way of settlement, previous to their departure for California, intended to get away from New Zealand to Australia as soon as possible, but no vessel being on berth they determined to prospect the Coromandel and Thames ranges, which they thought would prove gold-bearing. In 1852 Mr. Ring and his brother discovered gold at Cabbage Bay, Coromandel, at McCaskill's Driving Creek, Ohinemuri, and at Te Aroha. In fact, they proved that the country was auriferous from Te Aroha to Cape Colville. On arriving at Coromandel Mr. Ring and his brother experienced a difficulty with the natives. At the Tiki they found the great Maori chief, Taniwha (Hooknose) with about thirty natives watching their arrival along the beach. A number of the natives came down to meet them, and demanded Mr. Charles Ring's double barrelled gun, which he refused to give up. When the chief heard this he called to the Maoris to bring the Pakehas before him. After asking the reason of refusing to deliver the gun as “utu” for being on tapued ground, Taniwha said: “I think these are good men; we will let them go;” and they parted the best of friends. Mr. Ring first found gold where Main's battery now stands, at what is known as Ring's Driving Creek, and next at Preece's Point. He returned to Auckland and reported the discovery to Mr. Whitaker, and the Goldfields Discovery Reward Committee, to whom he showed samples of the gold, and applied for the reward. Mr. Ring's statements were at first doubted, the committee thinking the samples of gold might be Californian. Mr. W. S. Graham placed the schooner “Undine” at the disposal of the committee, and the Native Secretary, Major Nugent, with Mr. Johnson, interpreter, were despatched to the scene of operations, accompanied by Mr. Ring, and a deputation from the Gold Reward Committee. The Messrs Ring then collected larger samples of gold, and the Government officers and committee were shown by Mr. Ring the places where the gold had been found. Thereupon the Gold Reward Committee returned to Auckland and reported at a public meeting that the existence of the gold was satisfactorily proved, but that further investigation was necessary to ascertain whether it was in sufficient quantities to prove payable. On the 31st of October, 1852, the Messrs Ring preferred their claim for the gold reward, and Mr. T. S. Forsaith, secretary to the committee, in acknowledging the application, which had been duly registered, and the specimens accompanying it, said: “I desire, in the absence of Mr. Whitaker, to express the satisfaction which the prospect of eventual success which you entertain affords the committee, and to tender their acknowledgment for the promise of further information.” Messrs de Thierry and Mr. Daniel, having, later on, put in a claim for the reward, were informed that it could not be entertained, as the committee had recorded a prior claim for the discovery of gold in the same locality—Coromandel. Although the immense importance of the gold discoveries of the Messrs Ring was recognised by the Government and the Gold Committee, these gentlemen were never recompensed for the incalculable benefit their discoveries conferred on New Zealand, as, beyond a paltry £200 paid for their actual expenses in their arduous prospecting, nothing further was given to them, although, in justice to several gentlemen on the Gold Discovery Committee, it should be mentioned that they offered to pay Messrs Ring their



individual subscriptions; but Messrs Ring, who were rather disgusted with the subsequent action of the Government relative to the matter, refused to accept these payments. They were, beyond all doubt, the first discoverers of gold in New Zealand, and a niggardly Government wriggled out of the payment of a just claim to two gentlemen whose enterprise, persisted in under severely trying and dangerous conditions, had brought extraordinary benefits to the Colony. Mr. Charles Ring now lives in affluent retirement in Auckland, surrounded by his family, and he is universally esteemed and respected by all those who have the privilege of his acquaintance. At his present age, eighty-three, Mr. Ring is hale and hearty, and his genial, friendly face is seen daily in Auckland. That his days may be prolonged is the hearty wish of all who know him.
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Mr. John Robertson
              
              is not only an Old Colonist, but also one of the oldest Volunteer officers in the Auckland district. He was born in Lanarkshire Scotland, in 1846, where he received his education and entered business in his native land. Shortly after attaining his majority he set sail for New Zealand, and on arrival established himself in the northern city. Having had some experience in the butchering and bacon-curing trades. Mr. Robertson was appointed inspector of city abattoirs, a position which he has filled to the satisfaction of the City Council and public since 1887. As a Volunteer, Captain Robertson commenced his career in 1871 by joining the Auckland Scottish Corps, which was disbanded eleven years later. In 1885, he assisted in the formation of the Newton Rifles, in which he received a commission as a lieutenant and was promoted to captain in 1887. In 1892, the corps amalgamated with the Auckland City Guards with the title of City Rifles, under the command of Captain Robertson. This corps, however, has since been disbanded. Though he has devoted a great deal of time and attention to the Volunteer service, Captain Robertson has not by any means neglected other public interests; he was for many years a member of the Grafton Road school committee, and in 1892 was president of the Auckland Caledonian Society, and now (1900) a member of its committee. He is also a trustee of the Auckland Rechabites, and is a leading member of St. David's Presbyterian church. Capt. Robertson has been a very busy man ever since his arrival in the Colony, and has the reputation, both in social and business circles, of being in all his various positions “the right man in the right place.”
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Mr. Charles Spooner
              
              was born at Lawford, Essex, England, in 1843, and educated at Manningtree. He served an apprenticeship to the sea, in vessels trading on the English coast and to the various continental ports, and afterwards made voyages to Africa, East and West Indies, China, etc. In 1867 he arrived in Auckland in the barque “Merrington, and was master of several vessels trading on the New Zealand coast and to New Caledonia, until the year 1879, when he retired from the sea in order to accept an appointment with the firm of Hancock and Co., of Auckland. In 1899, after being for twenty years with that firm, he took a few months' holiday, and, accompanied by Mrs Spooner, paid a visit to England; after which he returned to Auckland in 1900, and resumed his former position with Messrs Hancock and Co. Mr. Spooner was first elected a member of the Newmarket Borough Council in 1890, and resigned in 1900. As a Freemason he belongs to Lodge Eden, 1530, E.C., of which he has been a member since 1879. He also joined the Oddfellows, M.U., in 1870. Mr. Spooner has a family of six daughters and three sons.
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Mr. Charles Burrell Stone
              
             
 occupies a unique position in Auckland, and may be regarded as a living human epitome of its history. He was the first white male child born in the city, and was born on the 27th of March, 1841. His father was Captain James Stone, whose office he entered after being educated at the Auckland Wesley College. At the time of the gold fever, in 1852, the family left for Australia in the first steamer built in Auckland, the “Governor Wynyard,” which was commanded by Captain Harris. Three years later they returned to Auckland, and Mr. C. B. Stone entered into business with his father as a general merchant. In 1836 he became a partner in the firm, which then assumed the title of C. J. Stone and Son. This business grew to large proportions, and was subsequently carried on under the style of Stone Bros. Thirteen vessels were employed, and it was the largest shipping business in Auckland. Mr. Stone sold out of the firm in 1893, and has since carried on business as a mining and land agent in Queen Street, under the style of C. B. Stone and Co. Mr. Stone has taken a leading and prominent part in local politics, and has never lost an election. As a member of the Auckland Harbour Board he served twelve years, during which he occupied the position of chairman for two terms; the Harbour Board's building were erected on his casting vote, and the Calliope Dock was constructed during his term of office. Mr. Stone has also been a member of the Mount Albert Road Board, He has been a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank for eighteen years, and is this year (1901) its vice-president, the Governor being the president; Mr. Stone is also a director of the New Zealand Accident Insurance Company, of the Northern Boot Company, of several goldmining companies, and of the Thames Gas Company, of which he was chairman for over fifteen years. During the exciting period of
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the Maori war, in 1863 and 1864, Mr. Stone was on active service, and after the rebellion was quelled he took considerable interest in rifle shooting, and was for many years a vice-president of the Auckland Rifle Association. As a yachtsman no one is more popular or highly esteemed, and to this healthy pastime Mr. Stone has devoted most of his leisure time since boyhood. He was for two seasons commodore of the Auckland Yacht Club, and considerable sympathy was felt in the season of 1900, when Mr. Stone's yacht was unfortunately wrecked off Coromandel. In church matters he has taken a very active part, and as a Freemason he is a member of the Royal Arch Chapter. Mr. Stone married a daughter of Mr. John Douglas, of the Thames, in 1863, by whom he had a family of four children. In 1874 Mrs Stone died, and on the 1st of March, 1876, Mr. Stone married a daughter of Mr. Page, of Auckland. One daughter has been born of this marriage. All the children but two are married, and there are eleven grandchildren.
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Mr. Allan Kerr Taylor,
              Old Colonist, was the fourth son of General Taylor, H.M. E.I.S. He was born at Seringapatam in 1833, and was educated at the Edinburgh High school. In 1849 he came to New Zealand, whither his two elder brothers had preceded him. He bought land in the Mount Albert district, where he resided until his death. In the early days he was elected a member of the Provincial Council, of which he was a member until its last sitting. Mr. Taylor was for many years chairman of the Mount Albert Highway Board, and afterwards chairman of the road board. He was greatly respected in Mount Albert on Account of his personal integrity. He died in 1890.
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Mr. George Taylor,
              South Street, Newton, is an old colonist of over half a century's standing, and landed in Auckland in September, 1845. He was born in Colchester in 1829, and at the age of fifteen he enlisted in the 58th Regiment, and left for Sydney on board the ship “Anne.” Soon after arriving in Sydney in June, 1845, the regiment was sent to this Colony under Colonel Wynyard, and proceeded to Kirikiri and Kororareka, Bay of Islands, where a halt was made for a concentration of troops. When the Governor, Sir George Grey, arrived in New Zealand in November 1845, Mr. Taylor formed one of the guard of honour. The regiment then moved on to Ruapekapeka, where a force of some 1700 men stormed the pa, which they eventually captured. Mr. Taylor was also present, and saw active service with the natives under Tamiti Waka Nene. About the latter end of January, 1846, the forces returned to Auckland, and were given orders to move on to Wellington to check Rangihaeata, who had been guilty of cruel murders. Rangihaeata and Te Rauparaha were the principal chiefs who led the natives at the Wairau massacre. Mr. Taylor was present at the capture of Te Rauparaha at Porirua, and at the fight at Horikiwi Valley, when a bugle was recovered that had been captured by the natives when a guard and Bugler Allen were killed at the Hutt Valley. After a few skirmishes the regiment went to Wanganui, where Mr. Taylor was one of the first soldiers to land, and led the advance guard. As a member of the 58th Regiment in Wanganui, he took an active part in many engagements and assisted in building the Rutland Stockade whilst the 65th Regiment built the York Stockade. The battle of St. John's Hill—one of the biggest fights that took place in Wanganui—was one that Mr. Taylor well remembers as well as a skirmish under Colonel McLevetly, in which many were killed and wounded. Peace being made by Sir George Grey, the regiment went back to Auckland, and Mr. Taylor got his discharge. He then joined the General Post Office at Auckland, remained in the department for thirty-three years, and had charge of the mail room for twenty-two years, when he retired on a pension. Whilst occupying that position, he, as an old military veteran, never lost an opportunity of furthering volunteer movements. He was senior lieutenant of the Rutland Volunteer Company, and first lieutenant under Colonel Thomas Gore Browne and Sir George Grey, saw active service in the Papakura disturbances, and was always congratulated on all sides for keeping a smart lot of men. In 1850 Mr. Taylor, while in the Bay of Islands, volunteered and assisted Interpreter Duncan in taking the Maori census, as far south as Ngunguru, during which time he traversed the whole of that territory, and visited the famous Waimeo caves. In the early sixties, when Auckland was divided into districts for defence purposes, Lieutenant Taylor was placed by the late Colonel H. C. Balneavis, in command of the south-west portion of the city, and received the commendation of Brigadier-General Carey for the judicious manner in which he placed the men under his command.
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Mr. William Thomas,
             
 sometime of Victoria Street East and of Ponsonby, was born at Ludlow, Shropshire, England, in 1822. He was taught the trade of a stone cutter. In 1864 he came to New Zealand by the barque “Ballarat,” and landed at Auckland, where he remained about twelve months. Then he went to the Thames goldfields and had very in different success until 1867, when he and seven others took up the ground afterwards known as the Thames-Hauraki, and then as the “Queen of Beauty.” This proved a mine of wonderful richness, as Mr. Thomas received for his share £10,000. He then began to speculate in other parts of the field, and lost the greater part of the money which he had made
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out of the “Queen of Beauty.” With the remains of his fortune, he returned to Auckland, and started business as a monumental mason. He carried the business on until 1894, when he retired with a respectable fortune, and relinquished the business to his two sons, Mr. William Thomas, and Mr. Samuel Thomas, who had always ably assisted him. This business they still carry on with increasing prosperity. Mr. Thomas died at his residence, through an attack of paralysis, after three weeks of illness, at the age of seventy-eight. He left a widow and a family of two sons and three daughters. Mr. Thomas always stood aloof from party strife and politics, but took a great interest in religious matters. He identified himself throughout his life with the Primitive Wesleyan body, and was a constant attendant at the little church in Ponsonby. He was accounted a most estimable citizen, doing his duty all through life, and died deeply lamented by all classes. Mr. Thomas celebrated his golden wedding on the 1st of January, 1900, and died in June of the same year.
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Mr. George Robert Turner,
              who was the second son of the late Mr. Edward Turner, of Stoke Newington, London, was born on the 12th of September, 1828, and died at Parnell, Auckland, New Zealand, on the 30th of March, 1888, leaving a wife, three daughters, and a numerous circle of friends, to mourn his untimely death. He was educated at Walcot House school, Surrey, England, and entered the service of the London and Westminster Bank (Bloomsbury branch), where he remained until he sailed with a party of friends in the brig “Emily,” for Melbourne, in 1852. Turner resided at Castlemaine Victoria, for a number of years, and in 1863, he revisited London. His stay, however, was very brief, as he sailed for Auckland, New Zealand, in the “Chariot of Fame,” which conveyed troops to New Zealand, to suppress the Maori rebellion, then raging in the province of Auckland. Mr. Turner joined the service of the Bank of New Zealand in 1864, as gold buyer and agent at Wakamarina, Marlborough. He opened the Bank's Balclutha branch in 1869, and was afterwards transferred to Gisborne, and thence to Ngaruawahia, Waikato, Auckland, where he resigned his appointment in consequence of ill-health, which ultimately proved fatal. In 1874, Mr. Turner was married to the third daughter of Mr Archibald Anderson, of the Hermitage, Stirling, Otago, and his widow is now residing at Stirling with her daughters.
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Mr. Henry Greensmith Wade
              
              was born at Lenton, near Nottingham, England, in 1835; and came to Auckland by the ship “Ida Zeigler,” in 1863. Up to the time of his death, which occurred at Auckland, on the fourth day of April, 1900, he practised his profession in Auckland as one of the leading architects of the province. He also, during his long residence in the city, occupied various important commercial and civic positions, and was City Valuer for a period of ten years. Mr. Wade was one of the most prominent and exalted members of Free Masonry in Auckland. He was initiated in Lodge Waitemata, No. 689, E.C., in 1864, and held office as secretary for a period of over thirty years. He was a Past Master of his mother lodge, and was also at one time District Grand Secretary of the English Constitution for Auckland provincial district. Mr. Wade also held the office of recorder and treasurer of the Southern Cross Chapter, Rose Croix, 18th degree, and frequently held important offices in the Royal Arch Chapter, and Union Mark Masters Lodge. In connection with his own profession Mr. Wade was secretary and treasurer of the Auckland Institute of Architects.
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Mr. James Robert Walters,
             
 J.P., Onslow Road, Mount Albert, is the son of the late Mr. John Walters, an old and respected colonist, and was born in Cornwall, England, in 1843. He arrived in Auckland in 1848, with other members of his family, by the ship “Elora”; his father and eldest brother, the late Mr. William Walters, having preceded him to Auckland in 1845. Mr. J. R. Walters was educated in Auckland, and on leaving school, started farming and contracting with his father, who had been engaged in large road-making contracts around Mount Albert and Mount Eden. The stone used in constructing the main sewer in Queen Street, and for many of the large buildings in the city, including that of the Union Bank, was obtained from a quarry on Mr. Walters' property. Mr. Walters had a dairy farm on his property at Mount Albert, and carried it on successfully for about thirty years. In 1897 he disposed of his goodwill and stock, and now lives in comfortable retirement. Mr. Walters has always taken a prominent part in the local affairs of the district, and succeeded his father as a member of the Mount Eden Road Board, of which his father had been chairman. Mr. Walters was a most active member for several years, and devoted himself with energy to the many requirements of the district. After a short retirement he was re-elected, in 1885, and was for seven consecutive years chairman of the board. On his final retirement he was presented with an address and a purse of sovereigns as a token of the ratepayers' appreciation of the many benefits he had secured for the district. Mr. Walters was also for years a most energetic member of the Mount Roskill school committee, and on leaving that district, where he had resided eighteen years, was entertained at a social, and presented with an address. In 1861 he joined the Militia, and after serving a few years, joined the Auckland troop of
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Cavalry under Captain Hardington, and remained in it for nine years. On the amalgamation of the various troops it was then called the Nixon Light Horse, under Captain Isaacs, and Mr. Walters, who was appointed sergeant-major, held the position until the corps was disbanded. Mr. Walters has for many years been a member of the Manukau Lodge of Freemasons. He married, in 1870, a daughter of Mr. William Probert, of Auckland, and formerly of Manchester, and six daughters and three sons have been born of the marriage. Mr. Walters has held the Commission of the Peace for several years.
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Mr. Horatio Nelson Warner,
              one of the surviving pioneer colonists of Auckland, was born in London in 1819, educated at Highgate, and served an apprenticeship to his uncle, who carried on business as a wine merchant. In 1836 he left for Sydney, where he remained for three years, and then proceeded to the Bay of Islands, where he arrived on the 5th of March, 1840. Mr. Warner was engaged in survey work, and in that capacity came to Auckland in October, 1840. Dr. Logan Campbell was then living on Brown's Island, and the embryo capital consisted of only a few tents. In 1844 Mr. Warner joined the civil branch of the Royal Engineers Department; in 1853 he began surveying on his own account, and two years later joined the Provincial Government's service as draughtsman-in-charge, and Deputy Waste Lands and Crown Lands Commissioner. Mr. Warner took a part in the first volunteer movement, and was the first senior sergeant of the No. 1 Royal Company. Since 1867 Mr. Warner has been engaged in survey work on his own account, and still (1901) follows his profession. In 1850 he married the eldest daughter of Mr. Andrew Bent (father of the Tasmanian Press), and celebrated his golden wedding in 1900. Mr. Warner has a family of two sons and four daughters. The eldest son, Mr. Horatio Alfred Warner, is a Government surveyor, and the younger son, Mr. James Bent Warner, is engaged in the office of Messrs Buddle, Button, and Co., solicitors, Auckland.
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Mr. John White,
              A pioneer Colonist, was born at Cockfield, Durham, England, on the 3rd of January, 1826, and was the third son of the late Mr. Francis White, of Auckland, who arrived in New Zealand in 1835, and resided in the Hokianga district for about fifteen years. At an early age Mr. White cultivated the friendship of many of the leading tohungas, or prophet priests, and thus acquired a perfect knowledge of the Maori language. He was also initiated into all the priestly lore of Maoridom, with the sacred rites, mysteries and ceremonies, and obtained a complete knowledge of the customs, history and traditions of the Maori people. In 1850 he was appointed interpreter in the Native Land Office, Auckland, and acted as interpreter to Sir George Grey and Governor Gore Browne. Later on he was appointed to the Native Land Purchase Department, and was successful in extinguishing many native titles in Auckland. He acted as interpreter to Colonel Wynyard, Lieutenant Governor, in arranging for the Coromandel goldfields, and received his appointment as gold commissioner under Major Heaphy. Subsequently he was appointed Native Land Purchaser under Mr. Ligar, Surveyor General, and secured for the Government several large blocks of land in the vicinity of Auckland. On the outbreak of the war in Taranaki, in 1860, Mr. White was attached to the staff of General Pratt as Field Interpreter, and was present at the engagement at Pukeakawere. During Sir George Grey's second Governorship Mr. White was appointed resident magistrate at Wanganui, a post which he held for several years, during troublous times on the West Coast, and exercised great influence on the natives at Wanganui. In 1867, Mr. White returned to Auckland and was engaged in matters concerning Native Land claims. In 1874 he removed to Napier and took charge of a Maori newspaper named “Te Wananga.” In 1879 the New Zealand Government entrusted Mr. White with the onerous duty of writing a complete history of the Maori people, embodying all their ancient mythology and religion. The last years of his life were spent in working up this history. Six volumes have already been published, the remaining portions are in manuscript, and twelve volumes would make the “Ancient History of the Maori” complete. In 1891 Mr. White returned to Auckland, in connection with Government matters in regard to Native Land Courts, and was visiting one of his sons at Mount Eden, when he was seized with heart failure and expired before any help could be obtained. Mr. White was the author of “Te Rou,” or “The Maori at Home,” and had completed a Maori dictionary containing many thousands of words. He also wrote translations of many Maori legends and waiatas, and in the very early days of Auckland he gave two lectures at the Mechanics' Institute on “The Maoris.” As a public man, Mr. White left an untarnished reputation, and in positions of difficulty he acted with decision and success. In his private life he was respected and beloved by all, and was certainly one of New Zealand's most valuable pioneers. Mr. White was married in 1854 to Miss Mary E. Bagnall, of Parnell. He left four daughters and three sons, all of whom occupy responsible positions.
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Mr. Henry Christian Wick,
              Old Colonist, now resides at his villa, “Ake, Ake,” on the Esplanade, Mount Eden, Auckland. He was born at Marburg, in Hesse, Germany, in 1838, and at the age of seventeen he set out for the Antipodes. In 1856 he arrived in Victoria, and started direct for the goldfields at Pleasant Creek, where he was successful in working several alluvial mines. He then followed the first “rush” to Rockhampton in 1858. Miners from all parts of the Colonies arrived there by thousands, but most of them, not being provided sufficiently, had to be given a free passage back by the New South Wales Government. Mr. Wick remained at the goldfields and found coarse gold close under the surface, but, dissatisfied with the quantity, he set out for Brisbane and went thence to Tenterfield, where he got good payable gold. He visited all the mining districts up to Bathurst and travelled a distance of about 1400 miles on foot, but returned to Victoria in 1859, and was at Clunes and all the gold producing districts of that Colony. In 1862 he came to New Zealand, and took part in the “rush” to Gabriel's Gully, Otago. He returned to Australia in the following year, and came back to Auckland in 1866. When the Thames goldfields were discovered he turned his attention to mining and took a prominent part in opening up several mines. He proved the value of tailings and started a plant at Tararu with Mr. Blizard in the good old days of the Caledonian and other prominent mines, when tailings were bought at £5 per ton. Mr. Wick went to Ohinemuri at the time the “Waitekauri” and “Welcome” mines were at work and erected a battery of eight stampers, and crushed ore from the “Welcome” mine, which in those days yielded three ounces to the ton. The difficulty in getting to the mine was so great that he sold out after crushing two thousand tons. He was the first to buy ore from the various mines, whose products could not be treated by battery process, and shipped it to Freiberg and various other smelting works where it was treated with excellent results. Later on he applied himself to farming and resided for some years on his farm of 380 acres adjacent to the town of Paeroa. Mr. Wick was one of the promoters of the Ohinemuri Masonic Lodge, for which he was Master of Ceremonies and also a trustee. He is managing director of the Mountain Rimu Timber Company, Limited, which has its bush and mills at Mamaku.
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Mr. William Winstone,
              Mount Albert, is the founder of the well-known business of Messrs W. and G. Winstone, Forwarding Agents and Coal Merchants, Auckland. He was born at Barron Gurney, Somersetshíre, England, in 1843, and after being educated at Failand school, turned his attention to farming pursuits. On coming to New Zealand in 1860, by the ship “Spray of the Ocean,” he



began farming and contracting at Auckland, and followed these callings prosperously for three years and a half. He then started the large business now carried on by Messrs W. and G. Winstone. The prosperity of the firm was progressive from the first, and in 1869 Mr. Winstone was joined by his brother, Mr. George Winstone, from Queensland, with whom he entered into partnership, trading as Messrs W. and G. Winstone. In 1870, Mr. Winstone's sight was most seriously impaired, through an unfortunate explosion of gunpowder, and he also received other severe bodily injuries. He was compelled to seek the advice of spcialists in the Old Country, and his eyesight was partially restored. However, he retired from the firm in 1895, leaving his son as his successor in the business, and he now lives in his beautiful home at Mount Albert, where he has leisure and opportunity to devote himself to pursuits of usefulness. Mr. Winstone has been for three years a member of the Mount Albert Road Board. He married Miss Ellen Sperrin, of Backwell, Somersetshire, and they have a family of one son and one daughter. As stated, the son, Mr. Fred Winstone, succeeded his father in the business.
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Mr. Harry Wrigg
              
              (New Zealand Cross) was born at Carcur House, near Wexford, Ireland, and at an early age served in H.M. Dragoon Guards. While yet young he was articled to a leading civil engineer in the north of England, under whom he was engaged upon railways and waterworks. On his arrival in this Colony he saw service in the war of 1863, for which he was awarded the war medal and clasp; he was also decorated with the “Cross” for valour, for voluntarily carrying despatches ninety miles through the enemy's country. Mr. Wrigg was draughtsman by special appointment to H.R.H. the Duke of Edinburgh, and was chief draughtsman in the engineer-in-chief's department, Thames Goldfields, and in the New Zealand Public Works Department, from 1868 to 1888; for part of the period he had charge of the photo-lithographic and lithographic branches, as well as the drafting for the Marine and Railways Departments. He holds first awards for drawings, with silver medal, at the Sydney Exhibition (1879), Melbourne (1880), and Centennial Exhibition (1887). Mr. Wrigg retired on a pension through ill-health in 1887.
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Mr. Henry Wrigg,
              Old Colonist and sometime Member of the Institute of Civil Engineers, served his time under Sir John Rennie, the eminent engineer, and was under him when he was carrying out extensive irrigation and other works during the Irish famine. After that Mr. Wrigg was engaged in various large works, including a water supply for the borough of Preston, and embankment or reclamation works for retaining a portion of the river Dee. The land thus protected and reclaimed is now a large farming district. Mr. Wrigg was Borough Engineer at Preston, England, for many years, and also carried out large railway construction works in the north of England. In 1863 he came with his family to Auckland, and was immediately appointed by the Provincial Government to report upon the Naihotupu water supply, and was also engaged by the Auckland City Council to fix the permanent levels of the city of Auckland. Mr. Wrigg made the survey and plans for the railway from Auckland to Mercer, though the line was not strictly made upon the route laid down by him, as the estimate per mile was fixed lower than his, to come within certain limits. He was Provincial Engineer-in-Chief for the province of Auckland, and Goldfields Engineer, and was engaged by the Government to make a report upon a railway from Christchurch to Nelson. The Government also engaged him to make other reports, including an exhaustive one upon the irrigation of the Canterbury Plains. Mr. Wrigg's last work was the supply of water by gravitation for the town of Timaru, where he was Borough Engineer from 1877 up to the time of his death, in 1879.
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With its noble harbour, extensive wharfage accommodation, and its growing population, Auckland is naturally the centre of a large shipping trade; in fact, of the total number of vessels registered in New Zealand, about one-half have their headquarters at Auckland. Auckland, too, is the first and only port of call in the colony for the San Francisco mail steamers, and also the first port of call for the “round trip” inter-colonial steamers leaving Sydney. The purely local shipping trade is in itself very extensive, and the operations of the Northern Steamship Company extend to almost all the seaports on the coasts of the province, but especially to those north of Auckland. Then the Devonport Ferry Company's boats help to give the harbour a busy appearance; and the harbour is a favourite rendezvous with the warships of the Australian squadron.

            
Until the Main Trunk Railway is completed, visitors from districts beyond Auckland's own provincial boundaries can approach the city only from the sea, and this circumstance necessarily enhances the prominence of the city's shipping trade. At the same time, that trade must always be, in the nature of things, one of much magnitude and great importance. It is a trade which is subject to much scrutiny by many minds, but the companies who carry it on, and their officers and men, seldom, if ever, give occasion for reasonable complaint on the part of traders or travellers. Detailed information concerning the harbour, wharfage accommodation, and the commerce of the port is given at pages 
134, 135, 136 and 137 of this volume, in connection with the Auckland Harbour Board, and the articles in this section deal chiefly with the ships and the men engaged in the seafaring trade of the city.
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                New Zealand Shipping Company, Limited
              
              (C. V. Houghton, manager), 12 Queen Street, Auckland. Head Offices, 138 Leadenhall Street, London, E.C., and Christ-church, New Zealand. The New Zealand Shipping Company was founded in Christ-church in 1872. Its Auckland quarters are on the ground floor of a four-storey brick building, the property of the company, situated in Lower Queen Street, adjacent to the railway station and the wharves, and comprise a large general shipping room, manager's office and a store room. The company is fully referred to in the Canterbury volume of this work.
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Mr. Charles Vince Houghton,
              the Manager at Auckland, has had a large experience in shipping and general commercial matters. He was born in 1856 at Kettering, Northamptonshire, and is a son of the late Mr. John Houghton, formerly of Northamptonshire, England. Mr. Houghton was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and in 1872 he joined the staff of the New Zealand Freight Company under Mr. John Batger. Two years later Mr. Houghton entered the service of the New Zealand Shipping Company as junior clerk, and by steady advancement he attained in 1882 to the position of agent at Timaru. A year later, on being offered the management of the Waikato Coal and Shipping Company, Mr. Houghton resigned his position at Timaru and accepted the Waikato appointment, which he held to the satisfaction of all concerned until the 1st of March, 1886, when he rejoined the New Zealand Shipping Company as manager of the Auckland branch; and he still holds the position in conjunction with the management of the Waitara branch of the company's business. Mr. Houghton was elected to a seat on the Auckland Harbour Board as a representative of the shipping interest in 1891. Asfarashis busy life has allowed he has taken interest in all social matters. Mr. Houghton was married in 1886 to Miss Battley, eldest daughter of Mr. Frederick Battley, the late general manager of the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, and his family consists of an only son.
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Northern Steamship Company, Limited,
              Quay Street, Auckland. Board of Directors, Captain H. J. Anderson (chairman), and Messrs W. S. Wilson, A. H. Nathan, J. R. Gray and M. A. Clark; Mr. Charles Ranson, manager. Prior to 1881 the people of Auckland had no regularly organised well-equipped steam service to connect the numerous ports and coastal districts of the province with the capital. There were a number of boats owned by various private persons, and in their way and day these served the community in a manner calling for considerable thankfulness. But the joint causes of settlement and industry required more extensive, more systematic help, and a businesslike attempt to supply this was made by the syndicate, which afterwards developed into the Northern Steamship Company. A start was made by buying six steamers—namely, the “Argyle,” “McGregor,” “Rowena,” “Douglas,” “Staffa” and “Iona.” The “Wellington,” “Clansman,” “Gairloch” and “Glenelg” were added soon afterwards, but still, in 1888, when Mr. Ranson took the management, only nine steamers were employed by the company, which now (1901) has a fleet of twenty-eight steamers, the aggregate tonnage of which exceeds 5000 tons. In achieving the strong position which it now occupies, the company has had to face many drawbacks and difficulties. From 1881 to 1890, no dividend was paid on the large investment of capital, and even at the end of that period only a modest 2
1/2 per cent. That, however, was the turning point in the affairs of the company. In 1891, 5 per cent, was declared, from 1892 to 1896, 6 per cent., and since then 7 per cent.



This, though satisfactory, is not a large return on the capital invested, in view of the risks connected with an extensive inter-coastal trade. Still the main point is that the Northern Steamship Company is now an unqualified success. Its large, well-officered, well-manned, well-equipped fleet is one of the institutions of the country; and a tourist taking voyages over the routes its steamers cover would see many of the most interesting and beautiful parts of New Zealand.
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Mr. William Laird,
              Assistant-Super-intending Engineer in the Northern Steamship Company's Office, was born in Scotland in 1841. At an early age his parents removed to New York, where he served an apprenticeship as engineer at the works of Messrs C. H. Delamaker and Co. Early in the sixties, his family (having succeeded to a large estate left by an uncle, Mr. Robert Fife, an old New Zealand settler) removed to Wellington. Shortly after his arrival, Mr. Laird joined the New Zealand Steam Navigation Company, as engineer, and remained in its employment several years, when he left to take charge of a large property he had purchased from the Waikato natives. Then the Thames goldfields broke out, and finding life there more congenial to his tastes than farming, he sold out his estate in the Waikato, and settled at the Thames, where for many years he was a prominent figure, and had charge of the largest crushing plant there at that time. About 1872 he settled in Auckland, and became engineer on the s.s. “Rowena,” practically the nucleus of the Northern Company's fine fleet, and, with the exception of two years spent on the “Waikato, Mr. Laird has been in the company's employment ever since, a total period of twenty-five years. In fact, Mr. Laird may be said to have the record as a marine engineer on the New Zealand coast, as he joined the New Zealand Steam Navigation Company in 1863. For a time he held the position of chief engineer on the “Wakatere,” and he is now Assistant-Superintending Engineer for the Northern Steamship Company.
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Captain William Bettis,
              the well-known and popular Master of the Northern Steamship Company's “Waimarie,” was born in Hobart, Tasmania, in 1854. He came to Lyttelton with his parents in 1862, and left there for Auckland in 1864. As a boy he started in the coastal trade, and served in several sailing vessels till 1874, when he became chief officer of the p.s. “Tongariro,” a boat belonging to Messrs Holmes Bros., and then engaged in the Auckland-Thames trade. He remained on the “Tongariro” for about two years, and then joined the p.s. “Ruby,” of which he was master for some time, and left her to join the Thames Steam Navigation Company, under whose flag he served as master for several years. In 1890 he joined the Hauraki Steamship Company, for which he served as master in the “Ruby” and “Paeroa,” and finally joined the Northern Steamship Company in 1891, when he received the appointment of chief officer of the s.s. “Ohine-muri.” He remained in that position till 1893, and was then appointed master of the “Patiki.” Subsequently he commanded the “Paeroa,” and is now in charge of the “Waimarie.” Captain Bettis was married to an Auckland lady in 1875, and has four sons and three daughters.
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Captain H. A. Day,
              Master of the Northern Steamship Company's “Paeroa,” was born at Hampstead, England, in 1850. He first went to sea in the ship “Golden Fleece,” while she was trading to the Abyssinian coast during the war between England and Abyssinia, and remained in her about twelve months, after which he joined the ship “Mermaid,” commanded by Captain Rose, now of the New Zealand Shipping Company, Wellington. In 1869 Captain Day joined the West India trade, and remained in it till 1871, when he shipped on the barque “Colombo,” engaged in the China coasting trade. He came to New Zealand in 1874, and landed at Wellington, but shortly afterwards went to Melbourne, where he was for about two years chief officer on a vessel in the coasting trade. In 1876 he returned to New Zealand, and traded to various parts of the coast until 1881, when he joined the Northern Company's steamer “Rowena,” as second mate and remained in the service until 1885, when he left to engage in farming. He, however, rejoined the Northern Steamship Company as mate of the “Wellington” in 1889. Since then Captain Day has acted as chief officer on several of the company's steamers, and took command of his present boat in June, 1900. Captain Day is married and has a family of four.
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Captain William Farquhar,
              the well-known and deservedly popular Master of the s.s. “Clansman,” and Commodore of the Northern Steamship Company's fleet, was born at Peterhead, Scotland, in the year 1836. He went to sea at the age of thirteen, and served his time on the brig “Fortuna,” of London, Captain Currell, trading on the coast of Africa. In 1853, he arrived in Melbourne, and as the “Fortuna” was sold shortly after her arrival, he joined the brig “Diana” (Captain Lacey) trading to Sydney He sailed in the “Diana” for some time, and on leaving her joined the “Don Pedro” (Captain Grant). His next ship was the “Aurora” (Captain A. McKinnon). This was the first ship to take piles from Launceston to build the Hobson's Bay railway pier. He was in the “Aurora” till she was sold to new owners, and then he joined the “City of Hobart” (Captain Bentley), and sailed out of Hobart for several years in the “Cecelia” (Captain McDonald), “Abbey” (Captain Brown), brig



“Wee Tottie,” with the same master, “Creole” (Captain Carte), “Glencoe” (Captain Thoms), “Aladdin” (Captain Crucknell). He then joined the steamer “Champion” (Captain Helpman, R.N.), and was in her at the time the “Schomberg” was wrecked at Curdie's Inlet, Moonlight Head, and took off the remainder of the passengers left by the steamer “Queen.” In 1808 he left Melbourne for Auckland, and on his arrival he joined the schooner “Falcon,” whence he was transferred to the steamer “Duke of Edinburgh,” a well-known trader to the Thames, Whangarei, and Bay of Islands, and also had command of the “Go-a-Head” for the same owners. On the formation of the Auckland Steam Packet Company, Captain Farquhar was appointed to the “Royal Alfred,” running in the Thames and Coromandel trade. When she was sold Captain Farquhar took her over to Sydney and delivered her to Captain Hazeldean. On returning to Auckland he was appointed to the Auckland Steam Packet Company's “Star of the South,” then running in the Island trade and to the coastal ports, Dunedin being the terminus. When the “Iona” was built for Captain McGregor, Captain Farquhar took charge of her, and was in her about four years. He was then transferred to the “Glenelg,” and after the Northern Steamship Company purchased the steamer “Wellington, he was placed in command and remained in her two years. On the arrival of the steamer “Clansman,” in 1884, he took charge of her, and in 1896, he was sent Home by the Company to bring out its fine new paddle boat the “Wakatere.” In 1897, he was sent to Hobart by the Company to bring over its new purchase, the “Bellinger,” and then resumed command of his old ship the “Clansman.” Captain Farquhar married an English lady and has a family of ten; two of his sons occupy prominent positions in Australia.
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Captain Robert Huia Gibbons,
              the popular Master of the Northern Steamship Company's steamer “Rotomahana,” was born at Manukau in 1864. He was educated at the Thames, to which his parents had removed, and where his father, Mr. John Gibbons, started the first saw mill. At the age of fourteen he went to sea, and remained five years in the coastal trade. He afterwards joined the mission boat, “Southern Cross, which was engaged in the Island trade, and remained in her for three years; and for about two years afterwards he was employed in the intercolonial trade. Subsequently, for twelve months, he was in command of a steamer engaged in the Thames river trade, but left her to join the service of the Northern Steamship Company as second mate on the s.s. “Wellington.” He was afterwards transferred as chief officer to the s.s. “Ohinemuri,” on which he ultimately became master. Captain Gibbons took command of his present vessel at the beginning of 1897. He was married in 1893, and has one son.
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Captain Charles Hopkins,
              of the Northern Steamship Company's “Waimana,” was born in the Tower of London, in 1844, and is a son of the late Mr. Charles Hopkins of the 58th Regiment. He came to the Colony with his father's regiment in 1846, and received his early education at the Auckland Academy under the late Rev. John Gorrie. On completing his education he went to sea and followed the coastal trade with occasional spells on shore. For the last eighteen years he has been in the steam service, and was captain of the “Ohinemuri” in the Bay of Plenty trade for a number of years, after which he entered on his present command. Captain Hopkins is a member of Lodge St. Andrew, No. 418, S.C. He was for many years a member of the Auckland Rowing Club, and belonged to the champion four-oared crew, which was unbeaten for eleven years. In his early days he was one of Auckland's prominent athletes. Captain Hopkins, who resides at Norfolk Street, Ponsoaby, is married and has a family of three sons and two daughters. He was presented with the Royal Humane Society's silver medal for a gallant deed of bravery in saving life at Auckland.
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Captain Neil Taylor Robertson,
              Master of the s.s. “Ohinemuri,” was born in Dundee, Scotland, in 1862, and studied for four years in a chemist's shop, but took to the sea in 1878, and served his apprenticeship on the “Strathern,” a large barque of 1100 tons register. Captain Robertson was afterwards on the s.s. “Kainona,” a beautiful steamer of 4000 tons. He was also for eighteen months on the “Dracona,” and then shipped on the s.s. “Elderslle,” which, after being on her for two years, he left in New Zealand in 1888. Captain Robertson joined the “Glenelg” as second mate, and after a brief experience was transferred to the “Clausman,” on which, latterly, he occupied the position of mate for six months. He was afterwards mate of the “Glenelg” for four years, and occupied a similar position on the “Gairloch” for two years. Captain Robertson was in temporary charge of the “Glenelg” for a time, and was master of the “Argyle” for fifteen months. He afterwards commanded the “Ngunguru,” from which he was transferred to the “Ohinemuri.” Mrs Robertson is a daughter of Mr. George Wardell, of Ponsonby.
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Captain William Sullivan,
             
 of the Northern Steamship Company's steamer “Taniwha,” was born in New Zealand in 1848. He was educated in Auckland, and remained with his parents at their farm at Mahurangi Heads until he was twenty-four years of age, when he joined the coasting cutter, “Mahurangi,” which he left to take command of his father's schooner “Rosella.”
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He then left the sea and remained on shore five years to thoroughly learn the shipbuilding trade. In 1881 he again went to sea, and took charge of the “Janet Grey,” and subsequently of several other coasting vessels. He afterwards had command of the steamer “Kotukeo,” engaged in the Thames river trade, and remained in her until he left the sea to look after the farm and other property, to which he had succeeded through the death of his father. Having settled affairs in connection with his father's estate, Captain Sullivan again took charge of the “Kotukeo,” under the new owners, the Sugar Company. In 1891 he entered the service of the Northern Steamship Company, and became master of the “Te Aroha,” trading from the Thames to Paeroa, and eighteen months afterwards he took charge of the “Ohinemuri.” On the purchase of the “Paeroa” by the Northern Steamship Company, Captain Sullivan took command and remained in her three years, when he was placed in command of the “Waimarie,” from which he was transferred to the “Taniwha.” Captain Sullivan is very popular with his passengers. He is married, and has a family of one daughter.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Thomas Braidwood



            
            


              

Mr. Thomas Braidwood,
              Chief Officer of the Northern Steamship Company's s.s. “Gairloch,” was born in Stranraer, Scotland, in the year 1862, and shipped as an apprentice on the Albion Company's s.s. “Marlborough.” After serving in that steamer for four years he joined the Union Steamship Company's s. “Waihora” as fourth officer. He was in the “Waihora” for four years, during which he was promoted to second officer. After that he was successively in the “Southern Cross” and the s.s. “Oreti,” which were engaged in the Island trade. Two years later he joined the s.s. “Takapuna,” and then went to Scotland to act as chief officer of the Union Company's s.s.” Upolu” on her first trip out to New Zealand. Some time afterwards, Mr. Braidwood commanded in succession the s.s. “Kanieri” and s.s. “Moa,” trading between Auckland and Napier. He left the service of the Union Company in 1894, and look charge of the s.s. “Ngunguru.” Subsequently Mr. Braidwood purchased a large interest in the s.s. “Akaroa,” and brought her from Lyttelton to Auckland to engage in the Thames-Coromandel trade, in which he made himself and his boat very popular with the public. Mr. Braidwood afterwards catered the service of the Northern Steamship Company.
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Mr. Edward John Scott,
             
 Chief Officer of the Northern Steamship Company's “Wakatere,” was born at Hull in 1846, and was apprenticed at the age of fourteen on
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the barque “Bertha,” commanded and owned by his uncle Captain Becher. On the completion of his indentures Mr. Scott joined the service of Mr. Patrick Henderson and the Albion Company, shipowners, then trading to the East Indies and New Zealand. When he entered the Company's service he was before the mast, but at the end of ten years he left as chief officer of their ship “City of Auckland,” which was unfortunately wrecked at Otaki, Cook Strait. In 1867 Mr. Scott came to Auckland and entered the office of his brother-in-law, Captain W. E. Anderson, who was a receiving and forwarding agent, and remained with him for about eighteen months. But he found office life unsuitable, and joined the Northern Steamship Company as chief officer of the steamer “Glenelg.” He left that vessel to take command of the “Rowena,” belonging to the same company, and remained in her four years, trading on the West Coast. After having commanded several of the company's steamers, he left its service in 1887, and joined the “Janet Nicoll” as chief officer, and afterwards the “Richmond,” then engaged in the Island



trade and belonging to Messrs Donald and Edeaborough, of Auckland. On the purchase of these steamers by the Union Steamship Company, Mr. Scot rejoined the Northern Company in 1896, when he received the appointment of second mate on its new steamer “Wakatere,” In which he is now chief officer. He is a member of the Shipmasters' Association of New Zealand, is married and has a family of eight children, and three of his eldest boys are at sea.
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Mr. Thomas Taylor,
              Chief Officer of the Northern Steamship Company's s.s. “Rotomahana,” was born in 1841, in Essex, England. He joined a West Indian trader at he age of twelve, and remained for four years engaged in the coastal trade, but then joined the “Monsoon,” trading to Alagoa Bay. Afterwards he came to Melbourne in the “Norfolk,” one of Money Wigram's boats, and arrived in New Zealand in 1861. Not being satisfied with the prospects of New Zealand, he went to California, where he joined a coastal survey vessel, and afterwards entered the pilot service of San Francisco. In 1868 he went to England, but returned to Auckland in 1869, and was engaged in several vessels until he entered the service of the Northern Steamship Company in 1890. He was afterwards connected with various ships of the company, until he received his present appointment. He had been engaged in colonial waters but a short time, when he had the misfortune to be wrecked. It will be remembered that the Earl of Pembroke's yacht, “Albatross,” was lost at Fiji in 1870. Mr. Taylor was one of the officers of the “Albatross,” and in company with the rest of the party he had a very narrow escape. In 1873 Mr. Taylor married a lady of German extraction at Auckland, and has a family of one daughter.
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Mr. Alfred Everard Macindoe
              
              Chief Engineer of the Northern Steamship Company's paddle-steamer “Wakatere,” was born in Auckland in 1870. He was apprenticed to Messrs Fr
[
unclear: a]ser and Tinne, the well-known Auckland engineers, and after the completion of his articles in 1891, he became second engineer on the s.s. “Merhsworted,” then belonging to the Bulli Coal Company. After being in the company's service for about a year, Mr. Macindoe went to England, and joined the Gulf Line of steamers as fifth engineer. He served four years with that company, and left while second engineer of the “Martaban,” to fill a similar position in the Northern Company's “Wakatere”—of which he is now chief engineer—and arrived in Auckland in 1896. Mr. Macindoe is an enthusiastic rower, and was a member of the Ponsonby Rowing Club for a number of years. He was married in 1891.
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Mr. Arthur Mainland,
             
 Chief Engineer of the Northern Steamship Company's “Gairloch,” was born in London in 1849, and was apprenticed at the locomotive works of the North London Railway, under the locomotive superintendent, Mr. William Adams. In 1870 he went to sea, and joined the “Biela,” belonging to Messrs Lamport and Holt, of Liverpool, as fourth engineer; but left her to join the Great Eastern Railway Company's line of paddle steamers, running between Harwich and Antwerp. He remained in that services as second ongineer for eighteen months, and then entered the service of David Verbiste and Co., shipowners, of Antwerp, and was engaged in the Mediterranean and Black Sea trade for twelve months. Mr. Mainland then became second engineer on the s.s. “Francisco Calderon,” chartered for Brisbane, with the intention of afterwards carrying coolies between China and Callo. In 1875 he arrived in Auckland by the steamer “Llewellyn,” on which Mr. Harry Self, inspector of machinery in New South Wales, then chief engineer. Mr. Mainland then joined the Auckland Steam Packet Company's “Go-a-head,” trading between Manukan and West Coast ports, but left that service to join the steamer “Taranaki,” belonging to the Union Steamship Company, and remained in her as second engineer until she was wrecked in 1879. In 1881 he joined the Northern Steamship Company as chief engineer of the
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“Rowena,” and after serving in a similar capacity on the steamers “Argyle” and “Glenelg,” joined the “Rotomahana,” whence he was transferred to the “Gairloch.” Mr. Mainland is married and has a family of seven.
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Mr. S. J. Weston,
              Chief Engineer of the Northern Steamship Company's “Waiotahi, was born at Coventry, England, in 1859, and came with his parents to New Zealand in 1864. He was educated at the Auckland College, and served his apprenticeship with the well-known engineers, Messrs Fraser and Tinne. Mr. Weston joined the Northern Company's steamer “Iona,” as second engineer, in 1880. Two years later he was transferred to the “Douglas” as chief engineer. Since then he has had chief charge of various boats belonging to the Northern Company, and joined the “Waiotahi” in 1891. Mr. Weston is married and has a family of five.
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Mr. William Blackwood,
              Second Engineer of the “Clansman.” was born in 1857 at Greenock, Scotland, where he was educated. He served his apprenticeship in his native town, with the well-known firm of Rankin and Blackwood, engineers. In 1880, he went to sea as engineer in the steamer “Duke of Argyle,” then trading to Dublin, and afterwards served in the Mediterranean trade. He came to New Zealand in 1884 as second engineer in the Union Company's steamer “Tekapo,” and remained in that service for eleven years as chief engineer. In 1896, Mr. Blackwood purchased a share in the s.s. “Akaroa,” of which he was chief engineer, and he afterwards entered the service of the Northern Steamship Company. He was married in New Zealand in 1894.
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Mr. John Mcleod,
              Second Engineer of the Northern Company's “Coromandel,” was born in Auckland in 1859, and is a son of the late well-known Captain McLeod, who took a very active part in the Maori troubles at the Bay of Islands, served with the volunteers in Hone Heke's war, was present at the storming of Ohaeawai, and the taking of Ruapekapeka, and was the possessor of several medals for military service in New Zealand. Mr. McLeod served his apprenticeship in the well-known engineering shops of Messrs Fraser and Tinne, and on completion of his apprenticeship, went to Sydney to improve his knowledge and experience. He joined the service of the Union Steam-Shipping Company as fourth engineer on the “Rotomahana,” and after serving in several of the boats of that company and attaining the position of second engineer, he left its emploment with a good record for twelve years' service. In the year 1887 Mr. McLeod joined the Northern Company as second engineer, and now holds a position as such on the “Coromandel.”
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Mr. John Devere Marmion,
              Second Engineer of the Northern Company's s.s. “Ngapuhi,” was born at Richmond, New Brunswick, in 1871, and served his apprenticeship at Vancouver, British Columbia, he went to sea on the Hudson Bay Company's p.s. “Beaver,” celebrated as the first steamer to turn a wheel in the Pacific waters. Mr. Marmion was on board when she was totally wrecked on 
Liwash 
[sic: Siwash] Rock at the entrance to the Vancouver Harbour, fortunately with no loss of life. He was afterwards third engineer in the service of the Pacific Mail Steamship Company, then trading to South America, and remained with that company fourteen months, when he joined the Union Company's steamer 
“Kutch” 
[sic: "Cutch"] which was running in the British Columbia trade. Mr. Marmion then went to Scotland and passed his examinations in Glasgow, where he joined the “Craigendorran” trading in the Mediterranean. On the completion of the Northern Company's p.s. steamer “Wakatere,” he joined her as fourth engineer and arrived in Auckland in 1896. He was for some time second engineer on the “Wellington,” from which he was transferred to his present position.
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Mr. Edward Wrigley,
              was born in 1869 at Auckland, where he was educated and apprenticed to Messrs McCroskrie and Sons, the well-known engineers. On the completion of his apprenticeship, he went to England in 1890 and joined the firm of Messrs Richardson and Sons, engineers, of Hartlepool, where he remained for one year. Mr. Wrigley went to sea in 1891, as third engineer on the steamer “Lafona,” belonging to Liverpool, and trading to various foreign ports. He passed. He passed his examination in London as second engineer, and came out to Sydney in the “Damascus.” In 1893 he was appointed to the Northern Steamship Company's “Glenelg” as second engineer, and passed his examination as first Class Engineer in Auckland, in 1896. Mr. Wrigley is not now (1901) on the “Glenelg.”
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Union Steamship Company Of New Zealand, Limited,
              (A. B. J. Irvine, manager) 55 and 57 Queen Street, Auckland. Head Office, Dunedin. The Union Steamship Company of New Zealand was founded in Dunedin in 1877, and since then branch offices have been opened in the main centres throughout the colony of New Zealand and also in Australia. The business in connection with the Auckland branch of the company is carried on in commodious offices at the corner of Queen and Customs Streets. They occupy the greater part of the ground floor of a large four-storey brick building, and consist of a spacious and wellarranged shipping department and the



manager's office. The company is fully described in the Otago volume of this Cyclopedia.
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Captain John Abram,
              of the Union Company's fine new steamer “Hawea,” was born in 1849, at Letheringsett, Norfolk, England, was educated there, and afterwards apprenticed to Messrs Temple and Co., large shipowners trading from London to various foreign ports. On coming to Australia in 1871 he joined the service of Messrs McMeiken and Co. as officer on a boat then trading from Melbourne. He remained in that company's employment for five years, and left it to join the barque “Falcon,” then under the command of Captain Bendall, now of Wellington. Afterwards Captain Abram served as chief officer of the “Manaia,” trading from Napier, and as commander of the barque “Camillo Laurel,” and of the well-known whaler, “Isabella.” Captain Abram next took charge of the s.s. “Moa,” then used as a tow boat in Wellington, but afterwards altered by the late Captain Williams to the fine boat now flying the Union Company's flag. He remained in the “Moa” for sixteen years, during the last eight of which she traded between Wanganui and the West Coast, principally in cattle. During that period she carried fourteen thousand head of cattle in all weathers, with the loss of only five; a record for the steadiness of the boat and carefulness of the master. Captain Abram afterwards took charge of the Union Company's steamers “Ohau” and “Poherua,” and left the latter to take his present command. Captain Abram is well-known and deservedly popular in all New Zealand ports. He is married, has a family of four, and his home is in Wellington.
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Captain James Stewart Adams,
             
 of the Union Company's “Polerua,” was born in 1846 at Woodside, a suburb of North Aberdeen, where he was educated. He was apprenticed to the tea clipper ship “Star of China,” belonging to Mr. Henry Adams, ship-owner, and trading between London and China. On the completion of his articles he joined as second mate an Aberdeen ship in which he made a voyage to Peru. On his return trip he was appointed second mate to the ship “Lufra,” trading to China and commanded by Captain Hodge, under whom he had served his apprenticeship. He obtained his, chief mate's certificate in 1872 at London and his master's certificate two years later. Captain Adams sailed as chief officer on the ships “Allanshaw,” “Brodrick Castle,” and “Lady Ruthven.” In 1883 he made a trip to New Zealand in the “Norman McLeod,” then owned by Mr. C. W. Turner, of Christchurch, but left her on her return Home. In 1884, in consequence of the illness of his family then residing in London, Captain Adams determined to makes his future home in New Zealand, to which he was attracted by the climate and other advantages. He came to Dunedin with his wife and family in 1895, by the “Tainui,” on her first voyage to New Zealand. Shortly afterwards he removed to Oamaru, and for two years had charge of the schooner “Awaroa,” then belonging to Mr. Cross, of Nelson. On the death, by accident, at Napier, of Captain Rutter, of the Union Company's “Waihi,” Captain Adams, who was then trading to that port, was requested by the Union Company to bring the “Waihi” to Wellington. The “Waihi” was then placed in the Blenheim trade, with Captain Adams as her chief
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officer, and six months afterwards he took command as master. He was subsequently in charge of the “Kanieri” and the “Orawaiti, and left the latter vessel to assume command of the “Southern Cross,” Which was trading between Wellington and Auck land, via the East Coast ports, and took charge of the “Dingadee,” in 1894. He is now (May, 1901) in command of the Union Company's steamer “Poherua.” Captain Adams was married in London in 1874, and has a family of two sons and two daughters, and resides in Wellington. He is a Freemason and a member of the English Lodge at Wellington.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Captain Adolphus Martin



            
            

              

                
Captain Adolphus Martin
              
             
 is Master and Part Owner of the auxiliary trading schooner “Waiapu,” running between Auckland, East Coast ports, and Gisborne. This vessel is one of the Skinner Line of schaoners, which also includes the “Gisborne” and “Aotea.” The “Waiapu” is fitted up with a fifteen horse-power gasoline engine, manufactured by the Union Company of San Francisco, which propels the vessel in ordinary weather from five to six knots per hour. Captain Martin was born in Gothenburg, Sweden, on the 30th of October, 1859, and is the second eldest son of Mr. John Martin, watchmaker, of that city. After leaving school he was apprenticed as a mechanical engineer in the firm of Messrs Dixon and Co., engineers, of Gothenburg. Me remained with that firm for some time, and then decided to adopt the sea as a profession. He joined a German ship, the “Dolphine,” of Hamburg, which traded to London, and remained for several years on that vessel. Subsequently he was on the “Golden Horn,” of Boston, and the Liverpool liner, “Isle of Anglesea,” and arrived at Melbourne in 1877, by the “Dunnottar Castle.” Captain Martin then abandoned the sea for a year, and was engaged in various occupations, until he shipped upon the American ship “McNear,”
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of Boston, and made a voyage to Sydney in her. He afterwards shipped on the “Wave Queen,” of London, and upon that vessel's arrival at Lyttelton, he joined the New Zealand coastal service, sailed in various boats from 1878 to 1880, and was in partnership with Captain John Nicholas in the schooner “Minnie Hare.” This vessel was subsequently sold to Captain Thomas Hamilton Moore, a nephew of Mr. Moore, of Glenmark, Canterbury. Captain Martin was engaged from 1881 to 1884 in the South Sea Islands labour trade, during which time his experiences were most exciting and interesting. He returned to New Zealand and joined Captain James Smith, as part owner of the schooner “Saxon,” which traded to all parts of the Colony, and in 1892 he parted with his interest to his partner. Captain Martin then associated himself with Captain Skinner and became master of the schooner “Gisborne.” In 1894 he purchased a half share in the schooner “Waiapu,” which in September, 1895, was fitted up with one of the San Francisco Union Company's gasoline engines under his own personal supervision. During a cyclone, which swept over the southern portion of the North Island on the 17th of April, 1896, the schooner “Waiapu” was caught in the centre of the storm, but owing to the seamanship displayed by Captain Martin and his crew, she escaped the dreadful fate which befell the unfortunate ship “Zuleika” in Palliser Bay, and the “Pirate” off Portland Island. As a Freemason, Captain Martin was initiated in Lodge Kilwinning, No. 23, New Zealand Constitution, at Lyttelton, on the 19th of April, 1892, and took his third degree on the 21st of July, 1892. he is also a member of the Star of Auckland No. 26, American Order of Oddfellows, and joined his Lodge on the 30th of May, 1889. Captain Martin became naturalised on the 16th of April, 1885, during the Governorship of Sir William Jervois.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Captain David John Shaw



            
            


              

Captain David John Shaw,
              Master Mariner and Shipowner, Auckland. Captain Shaw was born in Queensland in 1868, and came to New Zealand with his parents when he was three months old. His family settled at the Thames, and were the first to live in a weather-board cottage at Tararu. Captain Shaw received his early education at the Thames, and having a natural liking for the sea, entered upon a seafaring life at the age of thirteen. He studied hard, as he was ambitious to rise in the profession he had adopted, and at the age of nineteen had mastered the principles of navigation sufficiently to enable him to successfully pass his examination as male. Shortly afterwards he purchased the schooner “Atalanta” and ran her in the intercolonial trade for about seven years. In 1895 he took charge of the steamer “Ngunguru” for a short time, and subsequently purchased and assumed command of the “Sturt.” This vessel was wrecked at Kennedy's Bay after Captain Shaw had left her to resume command of the “Atalanta.” He eventually sold the latter vessel, and accepted the captaincy of the paddle steamer “Terranora, in which he purchased an interest. This steamer ran for some time daily between Auckland and the Thames, and afterwards to Whakatane and Tauranga. In 1898, he resigned the position of master, and temporarily retired from a seafaring life to enjoy a well-earned rest. He still retains an interest in, the “Terranora,” and also owns the schooner “Croydon Lass.” Captain Shaw has been the means of saving several lives in the vicinity of Auckland; namely, that of a boy at Devonport in 1893, that of a girl at the graving dock in Auckland in 1895, and still more recently that of a man who fell off the Queen Street wharf; but, so far, the Humane Society has in no way recognised his bravery.
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Captain Edward A. Stenbeck,
              Master of the barque “Empreza,” was born in Sweden in 1866, went to sea at the age of fifteen, and was for three years in the employment of Shaw, Savill and Company. After spending a further period of three years under employers and masters of various nationalities, he came to New Zealand in 1889. Captain Stenbeck was on the “Terranora” for two years as mate; was mate and master of the “Stella” for a time; traded to Raratonga for two years in the “Linda Weber,” and was master of the ill-fated “Pirate,” wrecked during the heavy gale of Easter, 1896, in connection with which he was acquitted with honour, not the slightest blame being attached to him. Shortly after that he was placed in charge of the s.s. “Hercules,” which he commanded until 1899, when he secured his present position. Captain Stenbeck obtained his second mate's certificate in London, and passed for chief mate and master in Wellington.
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Mr. Thomas Gerard,
              Second Engineer of the s.s. “Cornwall,” was born at Montrose, Forfarshire, Scotland, in 1860, and received his education in his native place. He served his apprenticeship with Messrs Alexander Shanks and Son, the principal engineers of Arbroath, Scotland, and subsequently worked for Mr. Robert Stevenson and Sir William Armstrong at Newcastle-on-Tyne. In 1885, Mr. Gerard joined the Ross line of steamers, and was employed on it for five years, during which he filled various posts in the engine room, until he received the appointment of second engineer to the s.s. “Storm King,” which he left to take up a similar position on the s.s. “Lingfield,” a large cargo steamer engaged in trading to all parts of the world, and on which he remained for two years. In 1894 Mr. Gerard joined the “Star of England” as second refrigerator, and after his first voyage, was appointed chief refrigerator to the Company's new steamer “Star of New Zealand.”
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                Devonport Steam Ferry Company
              
             
 (E. W. Alison, managing director; Alexander Alison, general manager) Auckland and Devonport. The Messi's Alison are the main springs of the Devonport Ferry Company, and have made the service the best in the colonies. It is peculiarly fitting that Mr. Alec Alison should have the management of the service. When he was twelve years old, he was learning the ship-wright's trade, and, at fourteen, he built a comfortable 24-feet boat and actually commenced and carried on for years a regular and successful ferry service suitable to the times, and to-day he is remarkable for the characteristics that stamped him forty years ago, when he was the fourteen-year-old ferryman of Devonport. Then the era of steam commenced, but the management was in unenterprising hands. For many years no effort towards improvement was made by the easy going residents, who were chietly “old identities,” and who contentedly jogged on from year to year in the same old style. The



ferry service offered no encouragement to settlement. Not only were the steamers small and slow, but the service was inconvenient, unreliable and expensively and incompelently conducted. But in 1881 an agreeable change was suddenly brought about by the Messrs Alison, George Quick, J. Edson, W. Philcox, W. H. Fenton and others. The only roadway between Auckland and Devonport being the ferry, they argued that that means of communication should be made as effective, accessible and convenient as possible. With other residents, Mr E. W. Alison urged upon the directors of the old Auckland and North Shore Ferry Company the necessity that existed for an improved service and reduced fares and freights, but the directors refused point blank to grant any concessions. However, it was impossible to allow things to go on as they had been going. The ferry service was practically conducted by the captains of the steamers, who adopted a free-and-easy, go-as-you-please style. On an ordinarily rough day communication with Auckland was limited to a few trips in the morning and evening, and often the captains made the weather an excuse and would not cross at all. Then, again, in fine weather, it was a common occurrence to miss important trips on the plea of a breakdown of machinery or some other plausible excuse. In fact, what with the long intervals between trips, the uncertainty of their being made, and the high charges for fares and freight, only persons of leisure and means could afford to reside at Devonport. The return fare was 9d, available from 7.45 a.m. till 5.30 p.m.; after that, all passengers, including weekly ticket holders, paid 6d each way. Even if a weekly ticket holder remained in town after 5.30 p.m., sixpence extra had to be paid on the later return trip. So Mr. Alison and those who were associated with him did not allow the grass to grow under their feet after their bootless interview with the directors. The capital necessary for a new company was promptly subscribed, designs for an improved steamer were at once prepared, and the construction of the p.s. “Victoria” taken in hand. So vigorously did the promoters set to work, and so excellent were their prospects of success, that the directors of the old company threw up the sponge before they even commenced running, and sold to them their goodwill, plant and steamers. These consisted of the paddle steamers “Devonport” (long since condemned), “Tainui,” “Takapuna,” and a new vessel on the stocks, the “Alexandra.” Thus the new company commenced operations under very favourable auspices. Mr. E. W. Alison was appointed chairman of directors, and Mr. Alec Alison general manager, and these positions they hold with credit to themselves and advantage to the company until the present day. The Messrs Alison at the outset advised the adoption of the progressive policy they had all along advocated, and were given a free hand to carry it out. Operations were commenced by running half-hourly boats with strict regularity, the return fare being reduced to 6d, available day and night. Weekly tickets were issued, giving holders the privilege of
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travelling by them at all times. Then the night boat was run to a later hour, necessitating an extra crew, the old company having made the day hands run the night service, but not to a late hour, each alternate week. Freights were also cheapened by fully fifty per cent, a comfortable waiting-room was provided at Victoria Wharf, and other arrangements made to popularise the service and the district of Devonport. The new policy was so revolutionary that the consensus of opinion amongst the old directors and the general public was that the company could not succeed. Messrs Alison came in for a great deal of chaff and ridicule, and were told that age would bring them experience, whilst the public would smilingly enjoy the liberality of the shareholders. But the pessimists were doomed to disappointment, for the company paid a dividend of seven and a half per cent. the first year, and has continued to pay annual dividends of ten per cent ever since, in addition to which the assets of the company have been very largely increased. Now, the company's shares are looked upon as one of the soundest investment stocks in Auckland, and are at a high premium. In fact, the company stands out preeminently as one of the few successful commercial ventures promoted in Auckland. It has now a splendid fleet of twelve steamers, the larger ones of which are a credit to the company and the port. The company has also considerable landed investments, its own slip, shipyard, workshop, coal hulks, and all the plant necessary for efficiently and economically dealing with its business. The Devonport Ferry Company carries on the ferry services between Auckland and Devonport, Auckland and Northcote, Birkenhead and Chelsea, Auckland and St. Helier's Bay, and the towage of all vessels in Auckland harbour, towage of logs, and an extensive excursion trade to the many picturesque beauty spots near the city of Auckland. Many thousands of people travel by the ferry steamers on holidays across the harbour to St. Helier's, Takapuna, Motutapu, Pine Island and other charming places, while it is the custom of the promoters of large picnic parties to charter ferry steamers for their own purposes, which can be done on very reasonable terms. The liberal policy initiated by the company at the outset of its career has been maintained throughout, and to-day the residents of Devonport and Lake Takapuna can boast that the cost of travelling by steamer to Auckland and back is cheaper than the corresponding fares in any other part of the Australian colonies. The family annual ticket is issued at £25 (less than 2s a week), and the parents and all members of a family, however numerous, excepting sons over twenty-one years of age, can travel on it as often as they please. The outcome of this unique and enterprising, but unquestionably prudent, policy is that Devonport is now the most convenient and prosperous suburb of Auckland. This good management of the Devonport Steam Ferry Company is a theme of universal praise, and the civility and courtesy extended to all passengers by the whole of the employees is a constant subject of favourable comment by both regular and chance passengers. The company has an admirable traffic manager in Mr. Joseph Carrie, who is a capable and popular officer, while Mr. F. B. Bushnell, the secretary, is specially qualified for the position which he holds.

            

              

[image: Devonport Steam Ferry Company's P.S. “Osprey.“]

Devonport Steam Ferry Company's P.S. “Osprey.“


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. E. W. Alison



            
            


              

Mr. E. W. Alison,
              Chairman of Directors, in noticed in an article which appears on page 
146 of this volume, in the section devoted to the Waitemata County Council, of which he is a member.
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                Bailey And Lowe
              
              (Walter Bailey and William Lowe), Ship, Yacht, Steam, Launch, and Boat Builders, Customs Street West, Auckland. This business, although started only in 1898, has already taken its place as one of the most successful and prominent of its kind in Auckland. The firm has turned out some of the finest crack yachts in the colony, namely, the “Edna,” “Boomerang,” “Niobe” and “Bona.” At present (October, 1900) the firm has on the stocks, six boats, consisting of yachts and steam launches, which are all being built to order. Of the steam launches built by Messrs Bailey and Lowe, the “Hinemoa” is running on Lake Rotorna, and the s.s. “Tongariro” on Lake Taupo, and both these boats reflect the greatest credit on the builders. Orders for this class of boat are continually arriving from various parts of the colony.
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Mr. Walter Bailey,
             
 Senior Member of the firm, is the third son of Mr. C. Bailey, who is well known throughout the colonies as
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a builder of successful race-winning yachts. He was born in 1867, and learned his business in his father's yards, where he helped to build yachts, the records of which are known throughout New Zealand. In 1894, Mr. W. Bailey, and his brother, Mr. C. Bailey, junior, purchased the business from their father, and entered into partnership under the title of Messrs C. and W. Bailey. The brothers carried on the business until they dissolved partnership in 1898, when Mr. Walter Bailey, in conjunction with Mr. W. Lowe, who had been for some years employed with Mr. C. Bailey, senior, and Messrs Bailey Bros., started the present firm. At first the work was done by the two partners, but the extension has been so great that now nine men are employed.
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Mr. William Lowe,
              the Junior Partner, is a native of Auckland, and learned his business in the same yards as his partner. He afterwards spent some time in the ship yards of Messrs Lane and Browne, of Whangaroa, and left that firm to join Messrs C. and W. Bailey, and on the dissolution of partnership in that firm he joined his present partner.
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Bailey, Charles,
             
 Junior, Ship, Yacht and Boat Builder, Customs Street West, Auckland. Mr. Bailey's well known business was originally started by his father in 1870. The racing qualities of Mr. Bailey's boats are well known throughout the Australasian colonies, and a number of his yachts and racing boats with records are owned and compete, not only in New Zealand, but in Sydney and Melbourne. Some of the finest ferry boats belonging to the Devonport Steam Ferry Company of Auckland, such as the “Britannia” and “Victoria,” were designed and built by Mr. Bailey, senior, whose business has been taken over by his son, Mr. C. Bailey, junior. The following are the names and records of yachts, designed and built by Mr. C. Bailey, junior:— Champion two-and-a-half rater, “The Thelma,” owned in Dunedin; the intercolonial champion, “Meteor,” a 30-footer, which still holds the record as the best and fastest 30-footer in Sydney'; the intercolonial champion 1-rater “Laurel,” winner of the £100 intercolonial prize, as well as many others, now owned in Sydney; the 36-footer “Bona,” built in 1899 for Sydney, and considered to be one of the fastest boats in the
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colonies; the 30-footer “Zineta,” winner of a number of races in Auckland, now in Sydney; the crack 5-rater “Ida,” owned in Auckland; the crack 5-rater “Atalanta,” owned in Wellington; and the 5-rater “Uira,” winner of a number of races in 1898 and 1899 in Melbourne. These yachts and
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many others, such as the 20-rater “Viking,” “Rangitara,” “Daisy,” etc., are known throughout the Australasian colonies, as possessing every qualification for speed and comfort. At present (1900) two 30-feet lineal racing yachts have been completed for Sydney orders. The reputation of the race-winning qualities and good workmanship of Mr. Bailey's yachts stands high in yacht racing circles throughout the colonies. Mr. C. Bailey, junior, has been associated with the business since his boyhood, and he now has the reputation of being one of the leading designers and builders of Australia.
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                Henderson And Spraggon
              
              (Adam Henderson), Ship Builders and Spar Makers, vessels cleaned, docked and repaired, Customs Street West, Auckland. Established 1859. This business was one of the first established in Auckland, and the firm has turned out many well known vessels of the schooner class that now trade around Auckland, such as the schooners “Pacific” (60 tons), “Sea Breeze” (40 tons), “Ocean” (30 tons), “Jubilee” (40 tons), “Hikurangi” (75 tons), the s.s. “Kopurn,” built to the order of Dr. Logan Campbell for the Kaipara harbour, and many other vessels of repute. Owing to the advent of steam, the building of wooden vessels has become comparatively a thing of the past, and the firm now devotes its attention chiefly to repairing vessels and supplying spars and sails. The business was carried on by the two partners until the death of Mr. Spraggon in 1898, and has since been conducted solely by Mr. Henderson.
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Mr. Adam Henderson
              
              was born in Sunderland, England, in 1831, and learned his trade with a firm of large shipbuilders, with whom he served a seven years' apprenticeship. After two years' experience in other noted shipbuilding yards, Mr. Henderson went to sea as a ship carpenter, and two years later, in 1858, came to Auckland by the barque “Harwood.” After landing he worked for about twelve months on the first Auckland reclamation in Customs Street. He then, in conjunction with his late partner, Mr. Spraggon, started boat building at Smale's Point, where the Auckland graving dock now stands. The business soon won a leading position in Auckland. Mr. Henderson has been connected with church and school matters for a considerable number of years, and has been a member of the Pitt Street West and Devonport Sunday schools and church. He has also been a consistent temperance man since the age of fourteen. Mr. Henderson is married, and has a family of three sons and three daughters. The second son is associated with his father's business, and promises to equal, if not surpass him, in boatbuilding.
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Logan Brothers,
             
 Auckland. The name of this famous firm of yacht builders has become almost a household word among yachtsmen in the colonies. The firm was started in 1890 by Messrs Robert, Archibald and John Logan, and presents a typical instance of what may be achieved by business enterprise. From the very first the firm became popular owing to the high quality of the work produced, and, as the very latest ideas from England and the United States were always closely followed, the success of some of the boats turned out proved little short of wonderful. Among a long list of victorious racing yachts a few must be mentioned. The 36-footer “Rainbow,” after defeating all comers in Auckland, recently won the Intercolonial Championship in Sydney, where she also easily got the better of the Fyfe-designed “White Wings.” In the smaller classes, Messrs Logan Brothers built the one-rater “Mercia,” which has already won nine races in Sydney, although having to give large time allowance to her rivals, many of which hail from the most famous English yards. Other racers, which have been built by the firm and have stamped their names in yachting records, are the tenrater “Thelma,” the “Aoma,” winner of the Gascoigne Cup, and of Mr. Hordern's 100 Guinea Cup, Sydney; the pride of the Auckland fleet, “Gloriana,” a constant winner; “Muna,” the champion of the Islands; “Mahaki,” “Windward,” “Moana,” “Co-rinna,” the “Kotiri,” the fastest 30-footer in Auckland, and a host of others. Among the mosquito fleet most of the one-design Patiki class owe their origin to the firm, and have been large prize winners. Mes rs Logan Brothers also make a specialty of steam and oil launches, which they design and build to any draft and speed required
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One of the latter, built for the Wellington Harbour Board, is 65 feet long, and has a sixty horse-power oil engine. Another very shapely little model is “Thelma,” recently built as a tender to the yacht of that name. She is fitted with a two-and-a-half horsepower Union oil engine, and has attained a speed of seven knots. The firm is determined to keep well abreast of the times, and so long as good and conscientious work of an up-to-date nature, at strictly reasonable prices, can command support, it is safe to assume that in the very first flight amongst the names of shipbuilders will be found that of Logan Brothers.
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Logan, Robert,
             
 Senior, Designer and Builder of Yachts, Steamboats, Sailing Vessels, etc., Customs Street West, Auckland. Mr. Logan has been well named the Fyfe of Australasia, as, like his prototype in Scotland, he is unrivalled as a designer of champion yachts and coastal steamers. He was born in Dumbarton, Scotland, in 1837, and was educated in Glasgow, where he also learned his trade with a well known firm of shipwrights. In 1874 he migrated to Auckland by the ship “Zealandia,” and worked as a journeyman until 1879, when he began to build and design yachts, at the North Shore. Since then and up to the present time he has designed and built the following coastal steamers:—The s.s. “Neptune,” p.s. “Birkenhead,” s.s. “Kotiti,” s.s. “Kapanui,” s.s. “Kawaii,” “Waimarie” and “Taniwha,” and also the well known cutter-yacht “Jessie Logan,” and the celebrated yacht “Waitaugi,” now owned by a Wellington yachtsman, who has long annually come out first in the yacht races held at Port Nicholson. At present (1900) Mr. Logan is building a steamer of 120 tons register. She is to be named the “Dueal,” and is intended to be used as a ferry boat by the Wellington Steam Ferry Company. Mr. Logan has erected a new shed, with a capacity of 120 feet long by 50 feet wide; and this will enable him to
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build vessels under cover up to 120 feet long, and under most favourable conditions. The shed is fitted up with all the latest appliances, known to Mr. Logan as a past master in the art of designing and building vessels. Seasoned spars are always kept in stock, and all orders entrusted to Mr. Logan receive his best, attention, as everything is done under his own supervision in a thoroughly tradesmanlike manner, by experienced workmen.
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Niccol, George Turnbull,
              Shipowner and Shipbuilder, Customs Street West, Auckland. Telephone 1117; P.O. Box 353. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Established in 1842. Private address, “Cheltenham,” Beach Road. Mr. Niccol, who is a son of the late Mr. Henry Niccol, one of the early pioneers who arrived in the colony in the forties, and was well known in connection with the early shipping trade of Auckland, was born in Auckland, in 1860. After a short experience of office life, he joined his father, who was largely engaged in the shipbuilding trade. When his father died, he took sole charge of the business, which is now one of the largest of its kind in Auckland. The Devonport branch, where the shipbuilding was formerly carried on, is now closed, and the whole business is conducted in Auckland. Mr. Niccol is the owner of a large fleet of vessels, all busily employed in the intercolonial and coastal coal and timber trade. He holds a very large stock of every article required in connection with shipping—sails, spars and other ship furniture, and employs altogether about eighty men. The following are some of the vessels owned by Mr Niccol and engaged in the intercolonial trade:—The barques “Empreza,” “Alcestis,” “Neptune,” “Woosong,” “Vision” and the ship “Republic,” a vessel of 1400 tons. Owing to the calls on his time in connection with his extensive business, Mr. Niccol has not yet taken any part in public life, but he is a man who would acquit himself well in that sphere, if he entered it.
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In exploring for a gold-bearing region, the following particulars should be kept in view. They may be classed as of the first and of secondary importance. First, the country should be composed of clay, slate or metamorphic schists. In the North Island of New Zealand, volcanic tufa lying on primary rocks should be looked for. Second, the rocks should be traversed by quartz veins. Third, the rocks should be impregnated with iron pyrites. Fourth, they should be associated with other rocks, of igneous origin, especially granite or diorite. Fifth, among the rocks impregnated with iron pyrites, these portions should be more particularly examined in which the pyrites has been decomposed into the red oxide of iron. Quartz veins here will most probably contain gold, if any exists in the district. These particulars apply more especially to the North Island of New Zealand, as it is distinctly a quartz reef rather than an alluvial district. There are but three substances at all likely to be mistaken for the precious metal, namely, yellow mica, iron pyrites and copper pyrites. The former has been seldom, if ever, found on the North Island fields. Both iron and copper pyrites are compounds of sulphur, and, if the stone that is thought to contain gold is heated in
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a fire to a red heat for a few minutes, all the sulphur will be driven off, and the metal previously combined with it will be changed into an oxide, in which state it cannot be confounded with gold. The fact also that nitric acid will dissolve both iron and copper pyrites, but will not affect gold, is another test. The geology of the Coromandel Peninsula is even at the present time a debatable question. The main range, which divides the Hauraki Gulf and the valley of the Lower Thames from the Bay of Plenty, is composed of a series of green and blue slates and sandstones, belonging to the upper Palaeozic period. This formation runs from Cape Colville in a southerly direction to beyond Ohinemuri, where it is intersected by the volcanic area of Te Aroha, and deeply buried beneath volcanic ejections. The range has a bold serrated outline, varying in height from 1000 to 2600 feet. The slates of which it is composed are much disturbed and tilted up, being in places quite vertical, and their upper surface is worn into hills and valleys, which sometimes have different forms and directions from those at present existing. Upon the uptilted edges of these primary rocks, and filling up many of the valleys, rests a vast mass of trachytic tufa of various colours, and in different states of decomposition, from the hardest rock to a soft clayey mass, and varying from a fine-grained tufa to a coarse angular breccia. The decomposed tufa, when free from iron, would make an excellent clay for earthenware. The point north of Tararu is composed of felstone, and, a little beyond it and to the east, blue silicious primary slates are found, which, however, do not extend into the valley of the Tararu creek. With this exception, the whole of the country from what was known as Shortland to Tapu is composed of the trachytic tufa, and from Tapu it is found in patches as far as north of Coromandel. Above it lies another tufa, containing large boulders of a dark-coloured trachyte, which in its turn is capped by the trachytic breccia that forms the summit of Castle Hill. Both rocks contain veins of crystalline and drusy quartz, while cornelian, agate and jasper appear to be confined to certain localities in the upper layer. The whole of the rocks in the district (with the exception of a younger tufa than any of the foregoing, composed of a soft red and white sandy rock, which does not contain gold) are occasionally pierced by dykes, composed sometimes of igneous rocks, such as diorite and dolerite, and sometimes of a more silicious-like, compact trachyte or pitchstone. The greater number of the auriferous quartz veins discovered in the early days were found in the finer-grained portion of the tufa, and seldom, if ever, met with where it assumed a brecciated structure. Gold has also been found in the primary slates, of a very pure type, notably in the vicinity of Kennedy's Bay; this is probably of a much older date than the alloy of gold and silver found at Tapu and Coromandel, which was probably formed during the close of the miocene period. One peculiar fact about the quartz veins of the North Island is that their direction and duration are extremely variable. There is no point of the compass to which leaders may not be found running, and their bearing does not seem to have any effect on the quantity of gold they contain. Their want of regularity, however, is compensated by their great number. The origin of these veins is as follows:— The tufa in which they are found was evidently deposited under water; the long-continued heat which it afterwards underwent, as proved by its altered character, and the dykes of igneous rocks cutting through it would partly dry it; in drying it would contract and split in all directions. The remaining portion of the water, heated by volcanic fires, would dissolve the silica, and, percolating through the rocks, would deposit it as quartz in the cracks; as these cracks would have no particular direction, the quartz veins filling them would also have none, and would lead to no definite reefs. In some cases fissures are met with, caused by a fracturing of the rock on a larger scale. These leads often show on their casings “silken sides.” This is a marking or grooving in parallel lines, in the direction of the dip of the veins, and has been caused by a sliding or rubbing movement of the different sides of the veins against one another. The fact of an unequal movement of the two sides having taken place may be considered good evidence that the fissure is either of considerable extent or that two or more join together to insulate the piece that has moved. It is probable that the present configuration of the country is due to the valleys having been slowly scooped out by the action of water, and not to each of the hills having been violently thrust up, notwithstanding that the uptilted position of the older rocks naturally gives the idea that such has been the case. Some of the oldest mines in the world, namely, those of Northern Hungary, present a remarkable similarity to the geologic conditions found in the North Island goldfields.

            
The date of the first discovery of gold in New Zealand is not generally known. It took place as early as 1842, when, on the occasion of an exploring expedition from Nelson to Massacre Bay, a gentleman named McDonald is said to have discovered the precious metal. No notice was taken of the discovery, however, and no one ever thought of or believed in goldfields, until the wonderful discoveries in California and Australia rendered the phenomenon a startling fact. The discovery of gold in Australia reacted very sensibly on the adjacent colony of New Zealand, a large portion of the population migrating to the new goldfields; it also led people to prospect for gold in various parts of New Zealand, and in October, 1852, “A Beward Committee” was formed in Auckland, and promised a reward of £500 to the discoverer of a payable goldfield in the northern district of New Zealand. In the same month the reward was claimed by a settler named Charles Ring, a recent arrival in Auckland, from California, who asserted that he had discovered gold upon Cape Colville Peninsula, forty miles east of Auckland, and in the vicinity of Coromandel harbour. To be more exact, the find was on the Kapanga stream, in the neighbourhood of the present group of Kapanga and Hauraki mines. The specimens produced by Mr. Ring were pieces of



auriferous quartz, and some minute particles of gold dust. The commissioners sent to investigate the matter confirmed the existence of gold, but left it doubtful whether there was a goldfield extensive and rich enough to pay for the working. The excitement in Auckland was intense, and sanguine hopes of the commencement of a golden era in New Zealand were indulged in by the people. Everyone, including about 3000 miners, accordingly flocked to the scene of the discovery. The land upon which the gold was found belonged to the natives; but Colonel Wynyard, then Lieutenant-Governor of the Colony, interested himself in the matter, and in November, 1852, an agreement was made with the Coromandel chiefs for three years, by which the Provincial Government pledged itself to pay tha natives one pound (£1) a year for each square mile of land upon which gold was being dug, and for each gold digger two shillings per month. In consequence of this the Government was obliged to lay a tax on the diggers, granting an exemption for the first two months, but afterwards exacting from each digger thirty shillings per month for a digging license. About 3000 diggers set to work. On the Kapanga river, towards the north, the Coolahan diggings promised favourable results, as also the Waiau diggings, a short distance from the former, on the Matawai creek — a tributary of the Waiau river, which flows southwards into Coromandel harbour. The gold produced was sold in Auckland by public auction, but, when the taxes became due, there were only about fifty diggers who took out licenses; these also were not able to subsist under the heavy taxes demanded, and, nothing being heard of any encouraging results on a large scale, and more difficulties arising with the natives, the whole enterprise died out in about six months.

            
This was practically the first discovery of gold in New Zealand that led to any working for the metal. The verdict was that the field was too poor, and the promised reward of £500 was withheld from the discoverer. The whole produce of the goldfield was about £11,000, and the largest nugget found was a round piece of quartz about the size of an egg, which contained gold to the value of £10 or thereabouts. The Coromandel field was then abandoned and neglected for nearly nine years, but at the end of that time a reaction took place, probably brought about by the discovery of gold in the Otago district. In October, 1861, Coromandel again attracted attention, and in April of the following year, about 248 diggers assembled on the field, and, owing probably to a better knowledge of gold washing, the results were more promising than before. On the 28th of June, 1862, Coromandel was proclaimed a goldfield, and Mr. H. H. Turton was appointed Commissioner. On the Matawai and Tiki creeks, pieces of gold quartz weighing from thirty to forty ounces, and one even of eleven pounds in weight, were found, containing, it was supposed, fifty to sixty per cent of gold. A party who began to work a quartz reef on the Kapanga is said to have obtained from one ton of quartz, by crushing and washing, two ounces and a half of gold. It should be recollected that quartz reefs in Australia, even at that time, when treated systematically and with good machinery, yielded profits from stone carrying less than one ounce of gold to the ton.

            
In 1864, Colonel Chesney, R.E., reported that alluvial gold existed at Te Aroha, and in 1865 a rumour was circulated to the effect that gold had been discovered in the mountain range, which terminates in Cape Colville Peninsula; on account of the native war for supremacy, however, the discovery could not be followed up. Nevertheless, two men reported the circumstance to a gentleman connected with the “Auckland Herald,” and exhibited several specimens, which they had obtained from one of the creeks (Karaka) situated at the foot of the range, and bordering on the mouth of the Thames river, the distance being about thirty miles from Coromandel. The circumstance was also reported to the Superintendent (Mr. R. Graham), but nothing was done for some time, as the trouble with the natives was at the time assuming serious proportions. Some three years afterwards, through the energetic action of the Hon. Dr. Pollen and Mr. James Mackay, consent was obtained from the natives to allow mining on that portion of their lands bounded by the Kuranui stream on the north and the Kakaramata on the south. It was
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agreed to give the natives £1 for each miner's right issued for the block, and to pay them £1 5s in addition for each kauri tree used by the miners. Arrangements were concluded on the 27th of July, 1867, between the Auckland Provincial Government and the native owners, whereby a small portion of the ground from the Karaka to the Kuranui—a distance of not quite two miles—was opened up. Kauaeranga was the name of a Maori settlement upon which the township of Shortland (now a portion of the Thames borough) was laid out. On the 30th of July, 1867, these lands were proclaimed a goldfield, and, on the 10th of the following month, Messrs Hunt, White, Clarkson, Cobley and Alexander discovered a gold bearing leader in the Kuranui stream; the first miner's right was issued on the 12th of August—two days after the find. A short time subsequently Mr. Daniel Tookey marked out a valuable claim, near the mouth of the Moanataiari creek. In 1868 there were three townships, namely, Tookey's Flat, Shortland and Grahamstown, which are now all incorporated in the Thames borough. The importance of the discovery and opening up of the Thames goldfields can be gathered from the fact that, between August, 1867, and the 30th of June, 1869, duty was paid at Auckland on 129,211 ounces of gold, the value of which was estimated at £264,425. When it was found that the Thames was so rich, there was a great clamour for the opening up of the Ohinemuri district, but, on account of the opposition shown by the natives, it was not until the early part of 1875 that this portion of the country was declared a goldfield. In April of that year gold in payable quantities was found at Tairua. In August, 1880, traces of gold were again found at Te Aroha, and three months later the district was thrown open for prospecting and for the location of claims.

            
The first reefing claim taken up on the Thames goldfields was Hunt's “Shotover.” The extraordinary yields from this property in a comparatively brief space of time raised the shareholders from poverty to affluence. Some say that the claim was first discovered by Mr. Hunt—others, by Mr. Alexander—who, when passing over a small waterfall, situated near the mouth of the Kuranui creek, casually struck a piece of rock with his pick, and perceived that it contained gold. The original claim contained six men's ground, which was divided amongst four shareholders, namely, Messrs Hunt, Clarkson, White and Cobley—Alexander says he was left out under circumstances related elsewhere in his biographic sketch—two extra men's ground being allowed by the Commissioner as a reward for a prospecting claim. Several quarter sleeping shares were sold, previous to striking the rich deposits, for about £100 each; in fact, shares might have been obtained immediately after the ground was opened for a merely nominal price, in order to raise sufficient funds to work the claim. A quarter share, sold for £100, was repurchased by Mr. Hunt for £2500, and another was sold for £12,000. The reef in the claim was comparatively easy to work, the miners having simply to cut away the hill over which the little waterfall formerly ran, and shoot the decomposed quartz into the machine. There was nothing particular in the appearance of the reef except that rich “pockets” were frequently discovered; otherwise the colour gave no indication of the auriferous character of the reef. The average yield of the stone was fifty ounces of gold to the ton of quartz, but the rich “pockets” frequently met with in the reef yielded more than five times that quantity. At first the shareholders crushed their quartz at the battery of Messrs Fraser and Tinne (afterwards bought by the Kuranui Company), but, finding that they were losing a large amount of gold through the incompleteness of the machinery, they erected a battery of their own. To give an idea of the richness of the country, it may be stated that with the machinery then in use over 10,000 ounces of gold were obtained in ten months. In 1868, so high had the value risen that £20,000 was offered for a full share and refused. Shortly after the erection of the battery an incident occurred which very nearly deprived the shareholders of their right to this claim. Before the Supreme Court, in a case previously tried before the Warden, a mandamus was applied for, setting aside the Warden's judgment, and was granted. During the trial the Judge decided that miners' rights signed by the Commissioner and not by the Warden were illegal. Upon the news of this decision becoming known in Shortland great excitement ensued, it being understood that holders in “Hunt's” held miners' rights signed by the Commisioner. Arrangements were made to “jump” the claim, and matters at one time looked very serious, but it was ultimately proved that, the Commissioner being the representative of the Government, the rights held good although not signed by a Warden. Amongst other companies formed at this time may be mentioned the “Kuranui,” which at first only included “Barry's” claim (situated above “Hunt's” claim and beneath the claim known as the “Deep Lead” on the Kuranui Range), and was the second claim pegged out on the field. The company, however, comprised a number of wealthy and enterprising speculators, and, by buying up machinery and shares, it eventually secured interests all over the field. Other well-known claims in 1868 were the “Alburnia,” “Ballarat Star,” “Clyde,” “Cuckoo,” “Day Spring,” “Dixon's,” “Eureka,” “Happy-go-Lucky,” “Kentish,” “Khyber Pass,” “Lone Star,” “Middle Star,” “Nil Desperandum,” “Pretty Jane,” “Star of the South,” “Whau,” and “Golden Crown.” The first mill erected on the Thames goldfields was called the “Great Expectations.” It commenced working in November, 1867, and consisted of four wooden stampers, shod with plates of iron, the whole being worked by a donkey-engine.

            
The demonstration of the richness of the goldfields of the North Island naturally gave a great impetus to trade, and the Auckland of to-day may fairly be described as a product of the goldfields. Throughout the sixties and almost into the seventies the excitement lasted, and then it gradually cooled down. The mines were still working, and gold was still



being brought up from the depths of the earth, but the “boom” times had passed away, and it was not until the latter part of the eighties that there was a revival, when new country was opened up and the famous “Martha” lode gave a fillip to the industry. In 1887 the original Waihi Company was formed, and bought a number of small claims in the district, the principal of which were the “Union” and the “Rosemount;” four years later this company acquired the “Martha Extended” property, and then the excitement commenced which culminated in the “boom” of 1895 and 1896. Almost every available piece of ground in the vicinity of Waihi, Waitekauri, Karangahake and Coromandel was pegged out and innumerable companies were floated. Speculation and flotation became rife, and undeveloped properties were sold in the London markets for phenomenal prices. In 1894 the famous Hauraki Company was registered, and, by means of careful and scientific working, the property proved to be of exceptional richness. From January, 1895, to the 12th of December, 1896, bullion bars from this mine were sold to the Bank of New Zealand representing 62,853 ounces of gold (or 1 ton 18 cwts. 2 quarters and 23 lbs.), the amount realised being £193,677 17s 2d. From the start of operations in the Waihi mine up to the 20th of July, 1901, £1,746,527 worth of gold was taken out, and many other properties have yielded exceptional returns. The richness of the claims developed attracted the attention early in 1894 of both English and Continental capitalists, and shortly afterwards a number of companies were formed to take up or purchase properties. The influx of English capital caused an army of promoters to take the field, and claim after claim was thrown on the English market, with the result that the best and richest properties at the present time are controlled by English companies. Every credit, however, is due to these companies for the energetic and enterprising manner in which they have developed the North Island fields. They have sent out their best engineers, erected the most expensive and modern plants, and spared no expense to thoroughly exploit the country. The reward they have received is therefore deserved, and no one grudges it to them.

            
Since the introduction of the cyanide process a great saving in gold has been effected, and at the present time stone which a few years ago would have proved worthless can be treated with profit. Statistics compiled up to the 31st of March, 1900, show that the stone crushed in the Auckland district from the 1st of April, 1880, to the 31st of March, 1900, amounted to 1,914,747 tons, which yielded 2,932,876 ounces of bullion, the average yield of gold or bullion per ton being, since the introduction of the cyanide process, slightly over two ounces. The total output of gold from the Auckland district for the year which ended on the 31st of March, 1900, was £672,453 —an increase of £96,811 over the year 1899. The total amount of gold entered for export from New Zealand from the 1st of January, 1857, to the 31st of March, 1900, amounted to 14,608,901 ounces, valued at £57,406,100. There were, at the close of 1900, 1235 head of stampers in active work in the Auckland district and 265 in course of erection, and there were, in the latter part of the same year, eighty mines crushing regularly with results more or less profitable. These figures and statements demonstrate beyond the shadow of a doubt that the goldfields of the North Island of New Zealand rank amongst the richest in the world.

            
All mining articles connected with the provincial district of Auckland are classified under the names of the places to which they relate, and are brought into this section of the work, instead of being inconveniently dispersed, according to towns and districts, throughout the volume.
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The Waiotahi Gold Mining Company, Limited,
              was formed in 1871. Its property, consisting of about twenty acres, is situated on the Thames goldfields. Since its inception the company has been remarkably successful, having produced £180,000 worth of gold at a cost of £144,000. The company's capital is now £18,000, in £3 shares. The mine has been continuously worked, and up to the present time (1901) the company has paid away in dividends £38,000.
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Mr. George Schwartz Kissling,
              Secretary of the Waiotahi Gold Mining Company, Secretary and Attorney of the New Zealand and River Plate Land Mortgage Company, also carries on business as a General Agent at 6 Wyndham Street, Auckland. P.O. Box 360. Telephone 1007. Mr. G. S. Kissling, who is a son of the Venerable G. A. Kissling, sometime Archdeacon of Waitemata, was born in Welton, Yorkshire, England, in 1841. In 1842 he was brought out to New Zealand, and was educated at St. John's College, Auckland. When fourteen years of age he left the college to take up a position in the Union Bank, wherein he found employment for five years. He then entered the service of the Bank of New Zealand, and subsequently became manager of the Auckland branch. In 1889 Mr. Kissling resigned that position, and has since been engaged in general business on his own account. Throughout the mining boom period Mr. Kissling held the position of secretary to the Chamber of Mines, but resigned it when the boom was over. Mr. Kissling has always taken great interest in public affairs, and has been identified with many local bodies. For some time he was chairman of the Auckland Harbour Board and Mayor of Parnell. He has also been a member of the Charitable Aid Board and other local bodies.
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Abbott, Frederick William,
              Mine Owner, Auckland. Born in North Molton, Devonshire, England, in 1865, and educated at the national school of the district and privately, Mr. Abbott determined to follow the vocation of a farmer. He left England for Wellington in 1893, with the intention of becoming a sheep farmer, but the outbreak of the Westralian Goldfields lured him to Coolgardie. Owing to sickness he returned



to New Zealand, and, on the revival of mining in the Hauraki Peninsula, visited Kuaotunu, Tairna, and Whangamata. At the latter place, in conjunction with Mr. Withers, an old prospector, he had the good fortune to discover a valuable reef, which he named the “Luck at Last Reef,” and obtained 500 acres for mining purposes. A large portion—about 294 acres—of the “Luck at Last” property was successfully floated in London, and a company was formed entitled “The Whangamata Proprietary Company, Ltd.” This mine bids fair to become of great value, and may possibly rival the great Waihi Mine. Mr. Abbott, being so well pleased with the prospects of the district, secured 200 acres more in the vicinity. He considers that Whangamata will become a great mining centre. Possessing a splendid harbour, great water power, abundance of timber, and a genial climate, it affords exceptional facilities for the advancement of the industry. The district is greatly indebted to Mr. Abbott for his pluck and perseverence in promoting mining interests, and he can justly claim to be considered one of the practical pioneers of mining at Whangamata. In 1897 he entered on a course of study to qualify himself, in a knowledge of theory and practice, as a mining engineer.
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Argall, William Henry,
              General Mining Manager and Consulting Engineer, was born on the 8th of August 1855, at St. Austell, Cornwall, England He was educated mainly at the Church of England School at Breage, Cornwall, finishing at the Helston Grammar School. Captain Argall's first acquaintance with mining was in the year 1870, at the Great Wheal Vor United Mines, Cornwall. Whilst there, he attended the mining school, and studied mining, mineralogy, chemistry, and geology. In 1873 he went to South Wales, under engagement with Messrs Brogden and Sons, to acquire a knowledge of coal mining and the manufacture of iron. A year later found him at Linares Silver Lead Mines, in the south of Spain, being engaged by Messrs. John Taylor and Sons, London. While in that part of the world he gained a good experience of mining and smelting, staying in the country for seven years, when he was appointed assistant manager of some tin and copper mines in Cornwall; this position he held for some two years. In 1883 he was engaged by the Frontino and Bolivia Gold Mining Company, Ltd., London, to proceed to their mines (at that time nine in number) in the United States of Colombia, northern part of South America. With this company, he held the post of mining inspector for their several mines. On his return to England, Captain Argall was again sent to Spain on business connected with mining, and, after a stay of four months, was despatched to Mexico, as superintendent of a large silver mine. He first arrived in New Zealand in the beginning of January, 1888. His experience in the Colony has been very varied, and he has an intimate knowledge of the Coromandel Peninsula generally, and also of parts of the South Island. At one time Captain Argall was general manager and consulting engineer to the following companies:—Kapanga Gold Mining Company. Ltd., Blagroves' Freehold Gold Mining Company, Ltd., Kathleen Crown, Ltd., Preece's Point Proprietary (Hauraki), Ltd., Tararu Creek Gold Mining Company, Ltd., The Hauraki Golden Age Mines, Ltd., Komata Queen. Ltd. He is a member of the American Institute of Mining Engineers, the Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, London, and vice-president of the New Zealand Institute of Mining Engineers. His connection with the famous Hauraki Mine, Coromandel, is well known, as under his management the rich ore was first discovered. During his career Captain Argall has inpected mines in various parts of Europe, and in his travels throughout the world has had many opportunities of examining several countries. His experience in mining has been varied, embracing tin, copper, iron, lead, manganese, antimony, silver, and gold. Captain Argall was initiated into the mysteries of Freemasoury in Spain in 1878. the ceremony being conducted throughout in the Spanish language. He married Miss Emilie Allen Edmonds, of Penzance. Cornwall, who died in 1887. leaving him an only daughter.
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Gilfillan, Henry,
              Junior, Legal Manager, Exchange Building. Queen Street, Auckland. The subject of this notice is the fourth son of the late Mr. J. A. Gilfillan, who came out from Aberdeen. Scotland, in the early days, and carried on for many years a large business as a merchant. Mr. Gilfillan was born in Auckland in 1855, and was educated at the High School and Wesley College. At the age of twelve he entered the office of his uncle (Mr. H. Gilfillan, insurance agent and coal merchant), and six years later joined his father, who was secretary to the Bay of Islands Coal Company. On his father's death in 1874, he was appointed acting secretary, and was subsequently promoted to the position of secretary and manager, which he held till the company's liquidation in 1894. In 1888 he also engaged in gold mining, combining the business of legal manager with his other business. Mr. Gilfillan, who is a Fellow of the Institute of Accountants of New Zealand, is the manager of a number of gold mining companies, and a representative of several English companies. He is secretary and one of the founders of the Hikurangi Coal Company.
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MacDonnell, Dennis Gilmore,
             
 J.P., Legal Manager, Exchange Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. The subject of this notice is a native of Ireland, having been born at Limerick, in 1829. He was educated in Dublin, where for a time he studied for the law, and subsequently entered into the land and estate agency business. Owing to failing health, however, he was obliged to seek a warmer climate, and decided on visiting the Australian colonies, where he became interested in mining pursuits. Not quite liking the climate, and his attention having been drawn to New Zealand, he sailed for the Colony, reaching Duned'n in 1865. After spending a few years in Otago, he visited the West Coast of the South Island, and from there came to Auckland, where, on account of the excellent health he then enjoyed and the bright outlook which the goldfields presented to him, he resolved to make his home and settle down permanently. Mr. MacDonnell is well known as being possessed of large mining experience, and as one of the biggest mining investors in the Auckland Province. As a legal manager, his business is perhaps the most extensive in Auckland.
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Mr. MacDonnell was made a justice of the peace in 1884, and resides at “Avoca,” Vermont Street, Ponsonby, his residence being conspienous for the excellent view it affords, and for its tastefully laid out grounds.
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Macky, Samuel Cochrane,
              Legal Manager, Victoria Arcade, Auckland. The subject of this notice is the eldest son of the late Rev. John Macky, Presbyterian minister at Otahuhu, and the first moderator of the Presbyterian General Assembly of New Zealand, who came to the Colony in 1854. Mr. Mucky was born in Londonderry, Ireland, in 1844, was educated in New Zealand, and in 1859 was born sent to Victoria to study farming. Returning to New Zealand two years later, he was engaged in farming at the East Tainaki till 1873, when he sold out and entered into mining pursuits at the Thames. Through a severe illness he had to give up active participation in mining matters, and accepted the appointment of collector for the Thames County Council. Mr. Macky was business manager for the “Thames Advertiser” for some years, after which he received an engagement as traveller for the firm of Messrs. Ehrenfried Bros. When the late Mr. Ehrenfried removed the head office to Auckland, Mr. Macky was appointed manager of the Thames branch, and retained that position till 1887. He then settled in Auckland, and has been engaged in mining pursuits ever since. Mr. Macky is legal manager for a number of gold mining companies, and he floated the Victoria Gold Mining Company — claimed to be the first “no liability” company in Auckland. Mr. Macky is a resident of Devenport, is married, and has one son. He takes great interest in local affairs. He was a member of the Devonport Borough Council for three years, but, owing to pressure of business, did not seek reelection.
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Matthews, Seering Hall,
              Legal Manager, Hobson's Buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. Mr. Matthews was born at Dover, England, in 1840, and left for Hong Kong with his parents when he was a child. His father, the late Mr. E. I. Matthews, was in the Royal Engineers' Department, and came to Auckland to supervise the erection of the barracks and other Imperial Government works. Mr. S. H. Matthews was educated at Westley College, Auckland. After serving in the Colonial Secretary's Department for some time, he left and joined his father to learn the trade of a builder, and succeeded to the business on his father's retirement. When the wave of commercial depression swept over Auckland, Mr. Matthews retired from business and accepted an appointment in the Militia and Volunteer Department under the late major Gordon, and became at the same time superintendent of the Fire Brigade; both of these appointments he held for a number of years. Subsequently he was accountant to Messrs Thornton. Smith and Firth, millers, with whom he remained eighteen years. When a company took over the buisness, he continued in his old position for seven years longer, but several his connection with the firm in 1895, when he became the legal manager for over twenty mining companies and syndicates, carrying on as well the business of an accountant and auditor. Mr. Matthews has filled the positions of deacon and secretary in the Baptist Church for over twenty years, and was one of the founders of the Auckland Sunday School Union. He was elected president of the Union for 1900, and was re-elected to the office for 1901. Mr. Matthews is a member of the Independent Order of Oddfellows, Manchester Unity, and has held all the offices of the Lodge and District, and has been one of the trustees for twenty-one years. He is also a member of the American Order of Oddfellows, of which he has been auditor for twenty years, and lately received a substantial recognition of his services; he has been for many years special auditor of the books of all the lodges in the district. Mr. Matthews has been a member of the Young Men's Christian Association from its inauguration, and is a member of the Auckland Bible Society Committee. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Edward Wall, who settled at the Bay of Islands in 1842, and has four sons and five daughters.
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Morris, Georage Charles Waudby,
              Legal Manager and Mining Agent, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Morris is the eldest son of Captain the Hon. G. B. Morris, M.L.C., and was born in Gosport, Hampshire, England, in 1869. Coming to New Zealand with his parents in 1871, he was educated at Tauranga, Bay of Plenty. On completing his education, he went into the Government Telegraphs Department, remaining in the employ of the department for some months. Towards the close of 1885 Mr. Morris received an appointment in the Bank of New Zealand; this he held till September, 1895, when he resigned and started in business as a legal manager and mining agent. Although a comparatively young man, he has met with considerable success in his business, at the present time being legal manager for a number of companies. In athletics, Mr. Morris takes a keeu and active interest. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Robert Hornidge-Gledstanes, of Ireland, and has one daughter. Mr. Morris' private residence is situated in St. Stephen's Avenue, Parnell.
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Gray, William,
             
 formerly Legal Manager, Mercantile Chambers, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Gray hails from the Shetland Islands, where he was born in 1859. He arrived with his mother at Wellington in December, 1874, and in the following February went into the Government Audit Office. In 1883 he was transferred to Auckland
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land, when he was engaged, in conjunction with Mr. John Lawson, in looking after insolvent estates. In 1890 Mr. Gray joined Mr. William K. Cook, under the style of Cook and Gray, as accountants and trade assignees. The business, which was founded two years previously, grew with wonderful rapidly, the firm establishing offices In Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, Dunedin, and Invereargill, and agencies in all the smaller towns. The firm is referred to at length on page 561 of the Wellington volume of this work, but it no longer exists, and Mr. Gray now (1901) carries on business on his own account as an auditor and accountant in Hunter Street, Wellington. Mr. Gray is a Fellow of the Institute of Accountants of New Zealand, and a member of the council of that body. He is married and has seven children.
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Armstrong, Matthew Watson.
              Mining Speculator. Auckland. Mr. Armstrong was born in Yorkshire. England. In 1841. and was edneated at Bradford. In 1872 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Matilda Wattenbach,” landing at Auckland. During the Maori troubles he was in the commissariat office, and when the war was concluded went to Hokianga to undertake bush contracting, his first venture resulting in his bringing out by tramway 3,000.000 feet of timber for John Webster and Co. On the opening of the Thames Goldfields Mr. Armstrong gravitated thither, and was for many years prospecting throughout the district. He has met with a considerable amount of success, and is more or less interested in most of the mining districts of the Peninsula. Mr. Armstrong is looked upon as one of Auckland's most prosperous mining speculators. He resides at Whangarei where he owns what is claimed to be the prettiest homestead in the district, he was for fourteen years chairman of the Manun School Committee, and also a member of the local road board. Mr. Armstrong belongs to the Whangarci Lodge of Free masons. He was married to Miss Wharfe, who also came out to the Colony in the “Matilda Wattenbach.”
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Endean, John,
              Mining Speculator, Auckland, born in Cornwall, England, in 1844, Mr. Endean gained his experience of mining in that country. Arriving in the colonies in 1863, he engaged in mining pursuits in various parts of the Australian continent, and in the following year went to California, and was present at the White Pines “rush,” Nevada. Mr. Endean left San Francisco in 1870 for the Thames, where he was one of the first tributors on the field. His practical experience and ability stood him in good stead, enabling him to work the gold bearing country with considerable success. Deciding to settle in Auckland, he took the Waltemata Hotel, situate in Queen and Customs Streets, which he still conducts, Mr. Endean was married to a daughter of Mr. Harry Phillips, one of the oldest settlers on the Thames, and has seven children. Mrs. Endean also is largely interested in mining matters, and has successfully speculated in scrip, showing a shrewdness and ability possesses by few of her sex. Mr. Endean recently took a trip to the Old Country and America, and was much benefited by the change.
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Bewick, Moreing and Co.,
              Mining Engineers and Mine Managers, 26–28 Palmerston Buildings, Queen Street. Auckland. Cable address, “Bewitch,” Auckland. Telegraphic, address, Bewick, Moreing and Co., Auckland. P.O. Box 337. Telephone 987. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Head office, Broad Street House, London. Branches at Perth, Coolguradie, Lawlers and Cue. West Australia; and also at Vanconver, British Columbia, Tientsin, China, and at Johannesburg, South Africa. The New Zealand branch, which was established in 1896, is under the control of Mr. A. H. Curitis. Messrs Bewick, Moreing and Co. are managers of, and consulting engineers to, the London and New Zealand Exploration Company, Limited, the Talisman Consolidated, Limited, and the Whangamata Gold Corporation, Limited.
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Mr. Alfred Harper Curtis,
              B.A. (London University), F.G.S., Assoc. M. Inst. C.E., M. Inst. M.M., the representative of the firm in the colony, was born in England in 1863. He was articled for three years to a firm of engineers in the Swansea district, and subsequently pursued eivil engineering studies in Manchester, after which he studied at the Royal School of Mines, London. Mr. Curtis has had a very wide practical experience, having gained his earliest knowledge of mining in the metal mines of Cornwall, Devon, North Wales, the North West Counties of England, and in the Isle of Man. He has been professionally engaged in South Africa. Central America, the United States of America, Algeria, India, Borneo and other parts of the world. Mr. Curtis arrived in New Zealand in May, 1896.
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Cheal, Peter Edward,
              J.P., A.M.N., Z.M.E., M.N.Z.I.S., Mining Engineer and Authorised Surveyor, Government Life Insurance Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. P.O. Box. 478. Telephone, 1015. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Cable address, “Adit,” Auckland. Mr. Cheal hails from London, where he was born in 1846. and claims to have the “freedom” of that city by birthright. Educated at the City of London School, he served his indentures as a surveyor, and came to New Zealand in 1864. Joining the Government Survey staff soon after his arrival, he was connected with the transport department during the Waikato War. From 1867 to 1870 he was engaged in his profession at the Thames Goldtields, and when the interest in mining subsided, entered into native land surveys. For twelve



years, from 1874 onwards, he was again on the Government Survey staff. On the opening of the Walmate Plains, Taranaki district, he was in charge of a staff of six surveyors with working parties of 100 men, who were harassed and carted off the plains in bollock drays by the notorious Ts Whiti. Mr. Cheal then joined the Hawera Cavalry Volunteers, and served during the native troubles of that period; afterwards returning to the Waimate Plains with 400 Armed Constabulary, he ran the road lines under covering parties of Armed Constabulary, towards Parihaka, under Colonel Roberts, N.Z.C. On the restoration of peace, he returned to Auckland, and was placed in charge of the Government Survey Staff in the Thames district. He shortly afterwards retired from the service, and practised his profession on his own account. He He open his present offices in 1895, and has had a fair share of mining surveying business since that date. It may be mentioned that Mr. Cheal has, during his career in the Colony, collected some fine and very interesting specimens of ores and minerals, which may be inspected at his office.
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Fleming, Malcolm,
              Mining Engineer, Auckland. Mr. Fleming, who was born at the Thames in 1870, is the second son of Mr. Andrew Fleming, an old colonist who was identified with the Thames as early as 1868. Mr. Fleming received his education at the Thames High School, and served three years under Mr. Montgomery and Mr. Park, of the Thames School of Mines, passing examinations in assaying, mining surveying, and chemistry. On leaving the School of Mines, he started prospecting throughout the Thames district, and worked for two years in various mines, in order to gain practical experience in mining pursuits. In 1890 Mr. Fleming took up an old mining properly called the “Adeline,” adjoining the Crown Mine at Karangahake. This mine, which was supposed to have been worked out, he renamed the “Earl of Glasgow,” and, under considerable difficulties, managed to erect a five head stamp battery on the property. The first crushing yielded ten and a quarter ounces to the ton. Work was continued on this reef for eight months, with substantial results. The claim was then sold to the New Zealand Exploration Company, and Mr. Fleming took up the Waiorogomai Field of 300 acres. Discovering some very large reefs, he received a tempting offer from the New Zealand Exploration Company for this property, which he accepted. He in now engaged in opening up properties and reporting for the various companies requiring his services. Mr. Fleming resides at Cowes Bay, Waiheke. He was married in 1897 to Miss Maunsell, daughter of the Rev. G. Maunsell, of Opotiki, and granddaughter of the late Ven. Archdeacon Maunsell, of Auckland.
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Gordon, Henry A.,
             
 Assoc. M. Inst., C.E., F.G.S., Civil and Mining Engineer, Bank of New Zealand Buildings, Auckland. Mr. Gordon is a Scotchman by birth, and was brought up to mechanical and civil engineering. He went out to India in 1851, following his profession, and in 1853 came to Victoria in order to engage in mining pursuits, with which he has been connected ever since. He crossed over to New Zealand in 1861, and determined to devote the whole of his time to mining; he has occupied both in Australia and New Zealand responsible positions as mine manager and engineer of several large companies. In 1874 Mr. Gordon accepted an appointment as an assistant engineer in the Public Works Department, and in that capacity had charge of the construction of the Nelson Creek water-race, of which he was afterwards appointed manager. On representing to the Government that his time was not fully occupied, he was entrusted with the laying out and construction of roads and railways on the West Coast, and in 1880 was appointed engineer in charge of the construction of the Grey Harbour Works. When the Mines Department was formed in 1884, he was selected to fill the important position of Inspecting Engineer to that branch of the service, having all the various goldfields works undertaken by the Government under his control. Notwithstanding the manifold duties he had to fulfil, however, he was on many occasions selected to perform various duties for other departments of the public service, requiring ability and business capacity. Among his numerous official appointments, Mr. Gordon was a member of the Government Board of Examiners for mine managers', battery managers', and school of mines' examinations. He is well known as the author of a “Miners Guide and Engineering,” published by the Government printer, which is used as a standard text book in all the schools of mines in the Colony. This work has run into a second edition, and is highly appreciated by all miners and mine managers throughout the colonies, In his capacity as Inspecting Engineer of the Mines Department, Mr. Gordon had to submit annual reports to the Government on the mining industry of the Colony. Each of these reports occupies a large volume, and gives full information in regard to all the latest methods adopted in the working of mines, and in the treatment of ores. Having been largely circulated, these books have been the means of causing a large amount of European capital to be invested in the mines of this Colony. In Mr. Gordon, the public service lost a valuable officer and a high authority on mining in all its branches. Further particulars of Mr. Gordon's career are given on page 173
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of the Wellington Volume of the “Cyclopedia.”
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                Harrison and Foster
              
              (J. W. Harrison and A. L. Foster), Authorised Mining Engineers and Surveyors, 222 Victoria Arcade, Auckland. Telephone 578. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This firm was established in 1894, but prior to that date Mr. Harrison was engaged in private practice in Auckland for twelve years.
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Mr. J. W. Harrison
              
              is a native of Burnley, Lancashire, England. He arrived in Auckland in 1878 by the ship “Sam Mendel.” Mr. Harrison is an active member of Lodge St. Andrew's, 418 S.C., and having passed all the chairs, now holds the rank of Past Master. He is also an enthusiastic member of the Devonport Bowling Club, and won the special trophy as “Champion of Champions,” played for by the Auckland Association clubs during the season of 1899.
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Mr. A. L. Foster
              
              arrived in New Zealand in 1880, and came from Montreal, Canada, where he was born. He learned his profession as surveyor and mining engineer with Messrs Paul and Gould, surveyor and civil engineers. After several years of private practice Mr. Foster entered the Government Survey Department, and carried out some important surveys in the Wellington district.
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Kelly, A. M. and F. V.,
              Mining Surveyors, Vulcan Lane, Auckland. Branch, Coromandel. This enterprising firm was established in 1889, the business at that time mainly consisting of land transfer work and Government contract surveys. The proprietors rapidly worked up a large connection, and, when the mining boom brock out in 1895, turned their attention to the Coromandel and Knoatunu districts. After the first six months the firm were employing nine parties in the field, and had the largest number of survey nominations on the goldfields. Both the Messrs. Kelly were born in South Australia, and are sons of Mr. Adam Kelly, one of South Australia's early settlers. They received their education at Camden College, Sydney, and at the Auckland College, and served articles with the firm of Messrs. W. F. Hammond and sons, architeets and surveyors, of Auckland. Mr. A. M. Kelly, the senior partner, is very well known and popular in the province, being an enthasiast in all kinds of legitimate sport. Mr. F. V. Kelly, the junior partner, is well known in Auckland as a cricketer, having for several years represented the Auckland province in interprovineial cricket matches. He has the reputation also of being one of the best rifle shots in the district, having won innumerable trophies.
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McConnell, Quentin Addison,
              Mining Engineer, Tatarua Terrace, Parnell, Auckland. Mr. McConell was born at Wolverton, in 1848, and is the eldest son of the late Mr. James Edward McCoanell, M.I.C.E., who was for many years Chief Engineer of the London and North Western Railway, England. Mr. McConnell was educated at St. Andrew's University, Scotland, and in Germany, and was brought up to the engineering profession. He has spent many years in the far west of the United States of America, and has been engaged in opening up and developing the gold and silver mines of Nevada, Utah, and California. In 1871 he was appointed engineer and managing director of the Utah Mining and Smelting Company, a London Company, which was the first started by English capitalists to develop the mines of the now famous Wahsatch Rauge, Utah Territory. Mr. McConncil was for twelve years engaged in the ractice of his profession in London.
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Rich, Frank A.,
              B.Sc., M.A.I.M.E., A.M.I.E.E., M.I.M.E., and M.C.I.M.M., Mining, Electrical and Hydranlic Engineer, and General Manager of the Woodstock Gold Mining Company, Karangahake. Mr. Rich, who is the eldest son of Mr. E. F. Rich, formerly of Exmouth, Devonshire, England, was born in Otago in 1859. He was educated in Otago and Hawke's Bay, and took first place in the New Zealand civil service examinations in 1877. Mr. Rich entered the New Zealand Government Survey Department, and remained in the department's employment for some years as staff surveyor. He subsequently went to the United State of America, where he greatly extended his knowledge of engineering, graduated at the



College of Mining of the University of California, and practised his profession as a mining and electrical engineer in California and Colorado. Mr. Rich is a member of the American Institute of Mining Engineers, an Associate Member of the American Institute of Electrical Engineers, a member of the North of England Institute of Mining and Mechanical Engineers, and Member de Congres International des Mines et de la Metallurgie. In 1897 he returned to Auckland, and practised as a consulting mining engineer, and has been for the last three years general manager of the Woodstock Gold Mining Company. Mr. Rich was married, in 1890, to a daughter of Mr. Gerard Spooner, formerly of Elmdon, Warwickshire, England, and has one daughter.
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Wilson, Hugh Munro,
              Mining Engineer and Surveyor, 16 and 21 Palmerston Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. Established in 1890. Branch offices, Thames and Whangarei. Private residence, Devonport. When very young Mr. Wilson entered the Auckland Survey Office as a cadet, and before he attained his majority had qualified as an engineer and surveyor, and was appointed County Engineer to the Rodney County Council. Here he remained about eight years, and in 1889 accepted the position of Engineer to the Waitemata County Council, which he still retains. In 1890 he established himself in private practice, and now conducts a large and flourishing business. He has branch offices at the Thames and Whangarel, and undertakes work in all parts of the province. As showing the volume of business, it may here be mentioned that for quantity of work put through the Government Offices for 1896, Mr. Wilson headed the list of surveyors in Auckland for mining surveys. In addition to mining surveys, he undertakes road and land surveying, estimating for earthworks, bridge construction, etc. Some years ago he was appointed to report on the suggested railway routes between Auckland and Wellington. He specially reported on the Whangamata and other mining properties at the Thames, and thus brought them before the notice of the public. Mr. Wilson is referred to at page 
147 of this volume as engineer to the Waitemata County Council.
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Churton, William Henry,
              F.S.A.A. (Eng.), Incorporated Accountant and Mining Agent, 28 Shortland Street, Auckland. P.O. Box, 349. Telephone, 819. Cable address, “Avancez.” Codes, A B C, Moreing and Neal, and Bedford McNeill. Mr. Churton's offices are fitted up in excellent taste, and consist of a general office, board room, and private office, three clerks being employed. The proprietor is very well known as one of Auckland's leading accountants. He is a son of the late Rev. J. F. Churton, one of the earliest settlers in the Colony, and the Colonial Chaplain. Born at Auckland in 1846, the subject of this notice was educated in his native town. He first gained an insight into banking affairs, being for a number of years in the service of the National Bank, and subsequently receiving the appointment of Inspector of the Colonial Bank; this position he held till 1889, when he decided to start in business as an incorporated accountant and auditor. His services are much in request, and he holds the position of auditor for the Kauri Timber Company, Ltd., the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, Ltd., the Captain Cook Brewery Company, the Auckland Club, and the Auckland Dioeese of the Church of England. He is accountant to the Orphan Home Trust Board and Leslie's Orphanage Trust. In the Maori War, during 1863–4, Mr. Churton served as a Volunteer, and saw active service at Wairoa in 1863. He has always taken a prominent part in church matters in the Colony, having been a member of the Diocesan Synod of the Church of England from 1880 to 1895, and of the General Synod of New Zealand in 1886 and 1889. A member of the Auckland Chamber of Mines, Mr. Churton is legal manager for some twenty gold mining companies, both English and colonial.

            

              

[image: Mr. W. H. Churton.]
Mr. 
W. H. Churton.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Jackson, Joshua



            
            


              

Jackson, Joshua,
              Sharebroker and Mining Agent, 15 Stock Exchange, Auckland. P.O. Box, 26. Telephone, 847. Private residence, Northcote. Established 1869 (Thames); 1880 (Auckland). Mr. Jackson was born in Yorkshire, England, in 1841, and after receiving the usual primary education, finished his studies at the Spofforth Academy, near Harrogate, and for some years thereafter followed mercantile pursuits in Bradford. In 1869 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Electra,” landing at Wellington. Mr. Jackson immediately transhipped to Auckland, and went to the goldfields at the Thames. After a little practical experience of mining he was engaged as a special mining correspondent, and was occupied for ten years in reporting from the field on the daily output, when the gold excitement was at its greatest height. His excellent descriptions of such places as Waitekauri and Karangahake have had the value of Standard works for the colony. Mr. Jackson made use of carrier pigeons to forward his despatches, and, in describing the mines of the upper goldfields, travelled from camp to camp for twelve months, when bush tracks were the only means of communication. As one of the first writers on the mining industry, Mr. Jackson did much to direct public attention to such mines as the “Golden Crown,” “Manukau,” the famous “Caledonia,” and other mines of the day. He had large holdings, which he had to relinquish owing to the time it then took to work mines to a profitable stage. Mr. Jackson was interested largely in the original “Woodstock,” and floated the “Crown” mine, and was a large and original holder in the present Waih, Company. In 1877 he removed to Aucklan



where he continued to be a member of the staff of the “Herald,” but the mining industry possessed more charms than a journalistic life, and in 1880 Mr. Jackson established himself in business. His name is widely known throughout the Auckland district, and he is very frequently engaged in reporting on various mines for capitalists. Mr. Jackson is a very strong supporter of the Liberal party, and has done a great deal to benefit that cause, not only in his residential district, but throughout the province. He is a Justice of the Peace for the colony, and was lieutenant and acting-paymaster of the Naval Brigade at the Thames.
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King, Jesse,
              and Co. (Jesse King), Mining Agents, Jesse King's Buildings, 71 Queen Street, Auckland. Telephone, 832. Cable address, “Kingly,” Auckland. Born in London in 1847, Mr. King went to Australia at an early age, receiving an appointment in the Bank of Australasia at Melbourne in 1869. He was in the employment of the bank for many years, held positions in various branches in Victoria, Tasmania, New Zealand, and New South Wales, and rose from junior clerk to manager. He was sent to Bendigo in 1871 during the mining boom in that town. His business brought him in touch with mining, and, as an observer, he made a study of the underground working of the mines. In 1882 Mr. King was transferred to the Auckland branch, and was also for a time in charge of the Greymouth branch on the West Coast of the South Island. In 1884 he left the service of the bank to carry on the business of importer and mercantile agent, and on the revival of mining, established himself as a mining agent, his previously gained knowledge being of the utmost value to him. Mr. King is thoroughly conversant with the mining districts, and holds considerable interests in Auckland and on the West Coast of the South Island. He is a director of several important gold mining companies, and is well known in mercantile and banking circles throughout the colonies.
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Lusk, Newall Butler,
              Mining Agent, Shorthand Street, Auckland. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. The subject of this notice is a son of Major Lusk, was born at Auckland in 1874, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. On leaving school he entered the service of the Colonial Bank, but two years later resigned and engaged in surveying with his father and others for four years. In 1895 he started business as a mining agent, and in the following year was appointed, in conjunction with Mr. E. W. G. Rathbone, New Zealand agent for the South African Argosy Association, Ltd. As a cricketer and footballer. Mr. Lusk is not unknown to fame. He has been a member of the Taranaki representative football team, and is now (1901) associated with the Grafton Football Club, Auckland. He was also a member of the United Cricket Club's team which won the senior cup in 1896–7, and represented Auckland provincial cricket in the seasons of 1899–1900, and 1900–1901.
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Galbraith, D. R. Shirreff,
             
 F.I.C., Analytical and Consulting Chemist and Assayer, Palmerston Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. Mr. Galbraith was born in Edinburgh, Scotland, in the year 1852, his father being a timber merchant in that city. Left an orphan at an early age, he was brought up by his grandparents, receiving his primary education at a private academy in the Scottish Capital; later on he studied chemistry under Professor Stevenson Macadam, carrying off first class honours. For a short period he worked under Professor Alexander Crum-Brown, of Edinburgh University, and, on his recommendation and that of Professor Macadam and three other chemical lecturers of high standing, he was, at a later period, elected a Fellow of the Chemical Society, London. In addition to his chemical knowledge, Mr. Galbraith possesses considerable geological ability, having studied geology under the well-known lecturer and writer, Dr. Robert Brown. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chemistry of Great Britain and Ireland—the status required by the Imperial Government. After practising for some years in Edinburgh as analytical and consulting chemist, Mr. Galbraith, who had never been possessed of very robust health, emigrated to New Zealand in search of a more congenial climate, and settled down in Auckland in the year 1885. Ever since that time he has been associated with the gold mining industry of the North Island, and has had better opportunities than most men of forming an estimate of its possibilities in that section of the Colony. Descended from two old Scottish families—the Shirreffs and Maltlands of East Lothian, the latter related to the ducal house of Lauderdale—he has had the tenacity of purpose characteristic of Scottish blood, and is now beginning to reap the reward of his faith in the Northern Goldfields, being engaged as chemist and assayer by leading mining engineering firms, lately arrived from England for the purpose of “exploring” the Colony. Mr. Galbraith has devoted many years to the study of the metallurgy of gold and silver, and in the year 1887 patented a “Gas Shaft-Furnace” for the treatment of gold and silver ores by water-gas. Owing, however, to the dullness in everything connected with mining in the Colony, hitherto, this furnace never came into use. He has
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since patented several other inventions bearing upon gold and silver extraction, which all seem in a fair way of being tested, now that capital is forthcoming for the mining industry. It may be mentioned that the “ironsands” of the Colony early attracted his attention, and he is fully persuaded that these can be profitably wrought into mild steel at one operation. Careless and indifferent regarding money matters, Mr. Galbraith has experienced many hardships during his career in New Zealand. Although inclined to be cynical in talking of the colonies, owing to the “contemptible injustice” met with, he yet has better and more endearing things to say in the main, having found many “friends indeed” in all classes of the community. Mr. Galbraith was married shortly before leaving the Old Country.
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Mr. Cecil Hartridge,
             
 whose name is so well known in connection with the mining industry of New Zealand, is the second son of Mr. W. R. Hartridge, of the London Stock Exchange, and grandson of Mr. Deputy Hartridge, chairman of the Royal Swedish Railway Company, and vice-chairman of the Bombay-Baroda and Central India Railway Company. Mr. Hartridge was born in London in 1863, and educated by means of private tuition. He subsequently became a member of the London Stock Exchange, and succeeded to a partnership in the old established firm of stockbrokers, Messrs. W. R. Hartridge and Co. He is a member of the Court of Worshipful Company of Horners, and also a member of the Crouch Lodge of Freemasons, London. Mr. Hartridge is largely connected with the


[image: Mr. C. Hartridge.]
Mr. 
C. Hartridge.


gold mining industry of New Zealand, being a director of the famous Hauraki Gold Mine, which, in two years from its formation, paid over £200,000 upon a capital of £40,000. He is chairman of the Western Explorers, Ltd., a London syndicate interested in New Zealand, and has been instrumental in introducing over half a million of money into New Zealand mining ventures, the best part of which will be expended in the Colony, in the purchase of machinery and payment of wages. Mr. Hartridge is married to a daughter of Captain Bowen Pain, R.N.R., of Deal, England, and has two sons.
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Mr. Jules George Wilson,
              who was so closely identified with the mining industry in New Zealand, and particularly with the New Zealand Exploration Company, was born in Brittany, France, in 1835, and died on the 2nd of July. 1896. His education was carried on till he was fourteen years of age at Nancy, and was continued at the University of Ohio, United States of America. After completing his education he went into his uncle's warehouse in New Orleans, but it was not long before the gold fever seized him. On the outbreak of the “rush” in Australia he went to Rockhampton, Queensland, and visited all the goldfields of importance on that continent. Mr. Wilson came to New Zealand in 1861, and joined in the Dunstan “rush,” Otago; thence he gravitated northwards through the various goldfields of the Colony till, reaching the Thames, he took up the business of sharebroker to the “Crown” and “Caledonian” Mines. In conjunction with the late Baron de Hirsch, Mr. Wilson erected the first store at Grahamstown, and was largely instrumental in the development of the goldfields in New Zealand. In 1872 he married Miss Livina Cowell, third daughter of the late Mr. John Cowell—one of the first settlers in the Auckland province—, and granddaughter of the Rev. Mr. Cowell—one of the early missionaries. Mr. Wilson left a family of seven children.
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Mr. John McCombie,
              only son of the late Mr. Alexander McCombie, Aberdeen, Scotland, commenced goldmining at the Thames in July, 1867, when he was seventeen years of age. Thence he went to the West Coast alluvial diggings, and for some time travelled to and fro between the different mining centres in the South Island, and Australia, dividing his time between mining and cattle trading. In 1875 he returned to Auckland when Ohinemuri was opened for goldmining. He was one of the first on that field, and took part in the celebrated “rush” to Karangahake. In 1878 he discovered, opened up, and took out the first crushing from the now famous Waihi Company's lode, Waihi, and subsequently located the Silverton mine in the same district. He afterwards went prospecting at Karangahake, and, in the year 1882, unearthed the lodes now being worked upon in the Woodstock mine. When the Woodstock was floated into a company. Mr. McCombie was appointed managing director, and later on general manager, a position which he held till May, 1898—period of ten years. At present he is managing director of the Maratoto Gold Mining Company's property, upon which a mill comprising fifteen head of stampers has been erected, and the outlook for which is most promising. Throughout his career Mr. McCombie has been a constant contributor to the Press over the pen-name of “Aboriginal.” His articles have been devoted chiefly to mining subjects, but he has occasionally written short stories and sketches of life on the goldfields. Mr. McCombie was for years a member of the Thames County Council, in which he represented Ohinemuri, when that district was governed by that body. Mr McCombie is married, has five children, and resides at Rocky Nook, Auckland. He is a foundation member of the Australian Institute of Mining Engineers, and he is also a member of the New Zealand Institute of Mining Engineers.
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Hardy, Edwin Henry,
                Mining Engineer, Mine and Battery Proprietor, Waiorongomai. Mr. Hardy was for sixteen years in the New Zealand Civil Service as Government Surveyor in the provinces of Otago and Auckland. He was educated at the Dunedin High School and Otago University, and in England. Mr. Hardy recently purchased the mines, water races, and battery of the Aroha Gold Mines, Ltd., an English Company operating at Waiorongomai. This company spent £15,000 upon the ground, but retired, having failed to discover a payable lode in its lower levels. Mr. Hardy, after a careful examination, ascertained that these had not driven upon the gold-bearing reef exposed in the surface workings, but about 30 feet off, parallel thereto. A few months' work laid bare a fine reef, which, auring eighteen months, has gone from 3 feet to 9 feet in width, kept a ten stamper battery going day and night, and produced nearly £6000 worth of gold. The battery was originally arranged for dry crushing and cyaniding, but is now well equipped with the most modern wet crushing appliances; electroplates, grinding and amalgamating pans, concentrating vanners and berdans, in addition to a complete cyanide plant. To meet the increasing supply of quartz, an additional ten stampers and other appliances are now (1901) in course of erection. The motive power is furnished by four Pelton wheels, from 2 feet to 6 feet in diameter. Mr. Hardy is also attorney for the Waitaia Gold Mines, Ltd., Glasgow, and the Hampton Plains Exploration Co., Ltd., London.
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Hikutaia Gold Syndicate,
                Limited; Head Office, Lawrence, Poultney Hill, off Cannon Street, London; Mr. J. E. Perceval, secretary. This company's mine at Hikutaia consists of 390 acres, and is an amalgamation of seven old claims. A low level has been driven to a distance of 1700 feet on the reef, and an adit crosscut of 560 feet provides an entrance to this level. The capital of the company is £50,000, of which half has been called up.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Francis Roche,
                Attorney and General Manager of the Hikutaia Gold Syndicate, was born in Cork, Ireland, in 1865. He qualified as an engineer in the Old Land, and after four years in China and Japan in charge of mining machinery, he was for a time at Coolgardie, in West Australia. In 1896 he arrived in New Zealand, and was for a time on the staff of the New Zealand, Crown Mine at Karangahake. Afterwards he was chief engineer for Messrs John Chambers and Son, in Auckland, and was appointed to his present position in 1899. He is a member of the Institute of Mining Engineers, London.
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Thames School Of Mines.
                This important institution, which has been in active existence for about fifteen years, has buildings centrally situated in Grahamstown, and in close proximity to the chief mines of the Thames. The property is vested in a local committee of ten, with president, vice-president, secretary, and treasurer, elected annually at a meeting of subseribers and students. Several of the present members have held office from the inception of the Institution up to the time of writing, and were mainly responsible for, and deserve largely the credit of the foundation of the school. The school has done good work from the very beginning, and has proved a great boon to the mining community. In 1885 the idea of a mining school was first instilled into the minds of the mining population by Professor Black, and the preliminary lectures and advice then given by him bore good fruit. Meetings were held, a committee and president elected, and Mr. Albert Bruce, who still holds the position, appointed secretary, to arrange for the starting and carrying on of a school of mines. Early in 1886, Mr. Alexander Montgomery, M.A. (Otago University), who had accompanied Professor Black on his tours through the Colony, when lecturing on mining and arranging for the inception of schools in the various mining centres, was installed as director of the school under notice, and commenced lectures on mining, surveying, assaying, chemistry, and kindred subjects to attentive and appreciative classes. During these first years, however, the director had to divide his time between the Thames school and the several smaller schools at Coromandel, Te Aroha, and other places, which had been started at the same time. This plan was not found to work well, no one school being able to carry on its work to advantage, and a change was made, so that the director could devote his whole time to the larger institution. This has resulted in the formation of a thoroughly efficient school at the Thames, which has, by the support afforded to it by the Government and the mining community, been enabled to equip itself with the necessary appliances for the proper instruction of mining students, and also to collect together a fairly complete metallurgical plant for the experimental treatment of complex ores. In September, 1889, Mr. Montgomery received an appointment as Government Geologist for Tasmania, and Mr. James Park, F.G.S., Assistant Geologist for the New Zealand Government, took over his duties, and ably discharged them for close on seven years. As the school kept continually increasing in usefulness and importance, an assistant became necessary, and Mr. Alex. Purdie, M.A., filled the office for three months, when he left to take a position in Victoria. Mr. F. B. Allen, M.A., B.Sc., was appointed in his stead in 1893, and has been connected with the school ever since, taking over the directorship when Mr. Park resigned in May, 1896. The staff in 1900 consisted of Mr. F. B. Allen, M.A., B.Sc., director; Mr. W. H. Baker, B.Sc., assistant; Mr. A. B. Harding, M.E., drawing master; Mr. H. Gummitt, battery manager; and Mr. E. McLean, laboratory assistant. Since the end of 1895, the school has made exceptional strides, consequent largely on the increased activity in mining throughout the Peninsula.

              
The students consist largely of mining men, who attend classes and lectures after their daily work is finished, but there is also a number of younger students, who are qualifying for the positions of battery superintendents and mining engineers, and who are devoting most of their time to study at the school. The work of the school comprises:— (1) Assaying and chemistry; (2) metallurgy; (3) mining in all its branches; (4) mathematics and mechanical drawing; (5) land and mine surveying; (6) mineralogy and geology. Connected with the institution is a well equipped assaying and chemical laboratory, and a very large amount of practical work is done in these departments. The students, when they have finished their courses, find employment with someone or other of the mining companies, as assayers, superintendents of Cyanide plants, etc. As the school is situated directly in the heart of a large quartz mining district, exceptional opportunities are afforded to students of learning the practical details of mining operations. For this purpose and for instruction in the geological relations of the various strata, excursions are made each week across the hills or into the mines, while, in the surveying classes, field practice, either above ground or underground in the mines, is also arranged for every week. This gives an essentially practical turn to the instruction imparted by the institution, and its utility is now recognised on all sides. The school is examined annually, by examiners in Wellington appointed by the Government, and conducts classes preparatory for the mining managers' and battery superintendents' examinations, also held yearly by the Government. Many students have already successfully passed these examinations, and now hold lucrative positions in consequence. There is also offered yearly a School of Mines scholarship of the annual value of £40, tenable for three years. This has been



gained by two Thames School of Mines' students.

              
Attached to the school is an experimental plant, fitted with reverberatory furnace, stamps, plates, settling pits, pans, berdans, retorts, etc., and also a complete Cyanide plant. Here the complex ores of the Peninsula in all their varied forms are constantly being treated in test parcels of about one ton, and reports are made as to the best method of treating each particular class of ore. This plant has proved of great advantage to the mining community, in affording a ready means of ascertaining the adaptability or otherwise of any particular class of treatment to the ore of the mines. The method of crushing adopted is usually dry crushing, followed by pan amalgamation or Cyanide treatment, although sometimes it is necessary to chloridize roast the ore before treatment. Not only is the plant useful for testing and experimental purposes, but it affords an excellent object lesson to the metallurgical students, who are, subject to the director's permission, allowed to work in the battery, and so render themselves proficient in the actual working details of the metallurgical treatment of ores. As ore from all parts of the Peninsula, and also occasionally from other parts of New Zealand, is constantly being received for treatment, and as these ores vary in every conceivable way in their character and mineral contents, the mode of treatment has to be varied to suit each particular case, and consequently students are able, in a short time, to obtain an all-round experience in the extraction of bullion from complex ores. This could not be so easily obtained in a battery where only one class of ore is constantly being milled. Separate parcels pass through the plant and are subjected to dry crushing, pan amalgamation, chloridizing and cyaniding, as occasion warrants. The school has three distinct functions to perform, which, now that the work has so largely increased, might with advantage be made separate. First, it conducts classes for the instruction of students in assaying, mining, metallurgy, geology, surveying, drawing, etc., and provides practical work in these subjects. In this it has the hearty co-operation of the mine managers of the field, who allow the use of their mines for practical demonstration of the lectures. Next, the experimental plant is continuously employed in testing ton parcels of ore experimentally to the public; and, thirdly, the institution makes assays of ore for the public. The amount of public work in the shape of assays and experimental tests is very large, and an assay plant has recently been erected and equipped with a view to provide for complete assay tests apart from the class work of the school. An assay office and storeroom have also been erected, as well as a museum for the mining specimens which the headmaster has for several years been collecting. It is expected that this will prove of practical value to prospectors and miners by enabling them to discriminate all the different classes of country, rock, minerals and ore deposits found in the district. The school has been very successful, and many of its students have risen to important positions in the colony. Two of the students have gained Government mining scholarships, entitling them to study at the School of Mines in the University of Otago.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Francis Bowen Allen,
                M.A., B.Sc., Director of the Thames School of Mines, was born in 1867. He was educated at the Dunedin High School and Otago University, and held several provincial and University scholarships. In 1887 he gained the degree of M.A. with first class honours in mathematics and mathematical physics, and in 1888 that of B.Sc. In 1886 he entered the Public Works Department, but relinquished this work to study mining and metallurgy at the Otago School of Mines. After gaining his associateship, Mr. Allen had charge of two mining properties in Westland, and in 1893 joined the Thames School of Mines as assistant. In 1896 he was appointed director of the school and manager of the metallurgical experimental plant, and has successfully piloted the institution through the busiest period of its existence.
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Mr. William Henry Baker,
                B.Sc., Assistant Master at the Thames School of Mines, was born in 1876 at the Thames, and was educated at the High School and at the School of Mines, at which, in 1895, he took a scholarship, which entitled him to tuition at the Otago University. There he passed the first section for his B.Sc. degree in 1897, and completed his degree in the following year. He was appointed to his present position in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Thames Miners' Union
                
                was inaugurated in 1890. Officers for 1900: Messrs M. D. O'Keeffe, president; J. A. Hardman, vice-president; T. Paltridge, treasurer; W. H. Lucas, secretary; and J. McEnteer, A. W. Burns and W. Connon, trustees. There are about 1700 miners belonging to the union, and branches have been established at Waihi, Karangahake, Golden Cross, Waitekauri and Coromandel. The registered office and meeting hall, in Queen Street, Thames, was erected at a cost of £850, and has accommodation for 500 persons. A reading-room, with newspapers and periodicals, is open four nights a week. Halls have also been erected at Waihi and Golden Cross at a cost of £250 each; a reading-room at Coromandel cost £150, and a similar one at Karangahake £100. Members contribute a subscription of 6d per week, and become entitled to an allowance of £1 per week for the first year, in case of accident, and to 10s per week during the rest of their lives. A sum of £50 is payable on the accidental death of a member, in additon to a levy of 6d on each member, which brings in about £35.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Michael Dineen O'Keeffe,
                President of the Thames Miners' Union from 1898 to 1900, was born at Mitcheltown, County Cork, Ireland, in 1852. He was brought up to foundry work in the city of Cork, and was afterwards three years in Liverpool. In 1879 he came to Auckland by the ship “Earl Granville,” and worked for some time in Northern Wairoa. In 1880 Mr. O'Keeffe was at the opening of the Te Aroha goldfield, where he was engaged for twelve years in mining and farming. During his residence in Te Aroha Mr. O'Keeffe was unfortunate and became bankrupt. Thereupon he carried his swag to the Thames, and some time afterwards, having been successful in mining, called a meeting of his creditors and paid everyone twenty shillings in the pound.
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Having studied at the Thames School of Mines, he qualified as a first class mine manager and took his certificate. He has been very prominent in connection with the



Miners' Union, and was presented by the Golden Cross branch with a Miners' Union collar, richly chased, in recognition of his services. He was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr. J. O'Leary, of Queenstown, Ireland.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Henry Lucas,
                J.P., Secretary of the Thames Miners' Union, was born in Manchester, England, in 1851, and during his youth was employed in the office of an architect. In 1866 he came to Auckland, New Zealand, in the ship “Ironsides,” and was apprenticed to a carpenter. About a year later he went to the Thames, and, after finishing his time at his trade, embarked in business as a builder. He has also done considerable work as an architect, and has been engaged in mining in all its branches for the past twenty years. He has always taken an active interest in local affairs. He was one of the first members of the Thames Miners' Union, and filled the office of president for two terms. He was elected secretary of that union in November, 1894, and has been reelected annually since that time. Mr. Lucas has also been actively connected with military matters, serving in the Volunteers for some seventeen years in all, first in the Thames Scottish Volunteers, subsequently as lieutenant in the Hauraki Engineers, and still later as captain of the Thames Rifle Rangers, until they were disbanded. At the present time he holds the rank of lieutenant on the active unattached list of New Zealand Volunteers. He is a noted marksman, and won the Champion Ritle Belt for New Zealand in 1895.

              

                

[image: Mr. W. H. Lucas.]

Mr. 
W. H. Lucas.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Big Pump
                
                at the Thames is managed in Auckland by a Drainage Board, of which Mr. H. A. Gordon was chairman in 1900. The funds necessary for the continuance of pumping operations are contributed by various surrounding companies, including the New Moanataiari, Kuranui, Caledonian, Waiotahi, Victoria and May Queen-Hanraki. The engine, which is of the “Cornish Bull” type, has a cylinder of 82 inches diameter, while the pumps have a 24-inch lift. This fine plant, which was started about 1872, is capable of draining the ground to a depth of 640 feet, the total measurement of the shaft.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Joseph Brokenshire,
                Manager and Engineer of the Big Pump, was born in Adelaide, South Australia, in 1853, and has been connected with mining from his youth. He arrived in Auckland in 1871, settled at the Thames, and found employment as a miner until 1893, when he became pitman at the Big Pump, and four years later was promoted to his present position.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Eclipse Gold Mining Company
                
                (No Liability) was incorporated in 1896; and Mr. C. A. Harris, of 4 Wyndham Street, Auckland, is Managing Director. The mine, which is 100 acres in extent, is situated in the Upper Tararu district, and was worked about thirty years ago under the name of the Vulcan. Mining is carried on by shafts and tunnels, and no pumping is required. There is also a ten-stamper battery with six berdans situated about a mile and a half from the mine, and the quartz is carried thither by an aerial tram. The mine has already yielded satisfactory results.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Thomas,
                Mine and Battery Manager of the Eclipse Mine and Battery, was born in Glamorganshire, Wales, in 1853. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Columbus” in 1864, and has since devoted his time to mining in the Thames district, except for two years passed in Otago. Mr. Thomas was for fifteen years engaged in tributing, and for a large portion of the time took charge of the tribute parties. He was underground foreman in the Saxon mine for three years and a half, and afterwards for four years at the Victoria mine under the supervision of Mr. T. A. Dunlop. In June, 1896, he became mining engineer for the Thames Exploration Syndicate. The Eclipse mine is one of the properties on which he reported, and it has since proved a successful investment for the syndicate that floated the company. Mr. Thomas has had charge of the mine since April, 1899. He was connected with the Thames Navals for thirteen years, and was first class petty officer for ten years of that time. As a Freemason, he has been a member of Lodge Sir Walter Scott for twenty-four years, and has long been connected with the Loyal Charles Bruce Lodge of Oddfellows, Manchester Unity. He was married, in 1882, to a daughter of the late Mr. S. Gribble, of the Thames, and has two sons and three daughters.
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Ethel Reefs Gold Mining Company, Limited,
                Head Office, Auckland. Mr. T. C. Brown, Komata, is attorney and general manager in New Zealand for this company, which is an English corporation and was founded in 1896. Its mine consists of the Lord Nelson, Marcott and Souvenir licensed holdings, and it has a small battery of four head of stamps and a low-level tunnel extending about 1000 feet within its own ground, at Hape Creek.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Benney,
                Mine and Battery Manager for the Ethel Reefs Company, was born at the Thames in 1875. He has spent all his life in connection with mining, and took a second class certificate as mine manager in 1898. Mr. Benney was appointed to his present position in April, 1900. He is a member of the Loyal Charles Bruce Lodge of Oddfellows. Mr. Benney was married in 1896 to a daughter of Mr. W. K. Wills, of Coromandel, and has two sons.
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                  Fame And Fortune Mine
                
                (E. K. Cooper, proprietor), Thames. This mine,



which has been worked about fourteen years, includes the Pinafore, Gladstone, Australian, Gold Cup and other holdings. It is worked from a low-level tunnel 1600 feet long, and has been managed by Mr. W. A. Connon since 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Fame And Fortune Battery
                
                (E. K. Cooper, proprietor; Mr. L. Gordon, battery manager), Thames. This battery is a wooden building containing twenty stamps and a specimen stamper. The falling weight of the stamp is about seven hundredweight and a half. There are also berdans, and the plant is worked by a powerful Pelton wheel driven by the county water supply. The battery was originally known as the Caledonian. It was erected about 1870, and has been Mr. Cooper's property since 1880.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. E. Kersey Cooper,
                Proprietor, was born at Euston, Suffolk, England, in 1843. After leaving school he assisted his father, till twenty-one years of age, in agricultural work and the estate agency business. He then entered a stockbroker's office as an authorised clerk, and was thus enabled to get into the Stock Exchange, and form an idea as to whether he would like to follow such an occupation. Mr. Cooper decided against it, on account of the lack of continuity in the work. In 1865 he went to Hamburg, and superintended the shipping of that year's Saale barley for a large maltster and brewer; whilst so occupied he made the acquaintance of the late Mr. A. Nobel, who had then only recently discovered how to explode nitro-glycerine by the use of a strong detonator. For many years thereafter Mr. Cooper was engaged with that gentleman in experimenting with nitro-glycerine, and introducing it into the mines of England and Europe. He subsequently visited America, and engaged in various ventures, eventually finding his way to New Zealand in 1880. He was for some years prospecting in the Ohinemuri district with varying success, and, after experiencing the usual vicissitudes of a miner's life, was at last fortunate enough to become proprietor of the splendid property known as the “Royal Standard,” which he succeeded in floating on the London market.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Laurence Gordon,
                Battery Manager of the Fame and Fortune Battery, was born at Mercer in 1873. He was educated at the Thames, and gained knowledge of mining work in connection with rock drilling in the Tararu mine, and also had experience in general mining work. He was for some time employed in Comer's battery, afterwards at the Fame and Fortune battery, and subsequently at the Waitekauri battery. Mr. Gordon has been manager of the Fame and Fortune battery since the beginning of 1900. He is a member of the Loyal Waikato Lodge, I.O.O.F., M.U., and is connected with the Hauraki Rifles and the Hauraki Rifle Band. Mr. Gordon was married, in 1900, to a daughter of Mr. Pike, caretaker of the Thames County Water Works.
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The Ironcap Gold Mining Company,
                No Liability, was incorporated in September, 1893; Mr. S. C. Macky, of Victoria Arcade, Auckland, secretary. The mine was originally known as the Kaiser. It consists of seventy-six acres, and is in the Tararu district, about five miles from the centre of the Thames; 122 loads of quartz taken from the mine produced £478 worth of gold in July, 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Bowden Martin,
                Mine Manager of the Ironcap Mine, was born in Cornwall, England, in 1844. He was brought up to mining in South Australia, and settled at the Thames in 1870. During his residence in the district Mr. Martin has engaged in mining either as a tribulter or on his own account, and has been successful. He took charge of the Kaiser mine on the 29th of June, 1896, and has continued to manage the property since the new company came into possession. Mr. Martin has been a member of the Loyal Charles Bruce Lodge of Oddfellows since 1871, and has passed all the chairs. He was married, in 1865, to a daughter of the late Mr. S. Gribble, and has five sons and four daughters.
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                  The Kauri Freehold Gold Estates Company, Ltd.
                
                Tiis company, which is worked entirely by English capial, was registered on the 1st of June, 1896, with a capltalisation of £250,000 in share of £1 each, fully paid up. The working capital is £60,000. The property consists of 36,000 acres, including freehold land in the Coromandel and Thames counties. The land at Tairua, Taparahi, and Whangapona was bought outright from the Kauri Timber Company, with which the Kauri Freehold Gold Estates Company has no connection whatever. The object the promoters is to develop the land in their possession until it is fit for Halation on the London market. One section of 810 acres at Whangapona has been thoroughly exploited, the company having spent for a protracted period nearly £2000 per month in its development. The superintending engineer for all the properties is Mr. A. Montgomery (late Government Geologist of Tasmania). Mr. D. W. McArthur. A.G.G., the civil engineer, attends to the laying out of roads, construction of buildings, etc., and the practical mine manager is Mr. Edward Quinn. The local secretary is Mr. C. Rhodes, whose office is in Queen Street, and the London secretary is Mr. A. H. Singleton, G Draper's Gardens, E.C.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Alexander Montgomery,
               
 M.A., Superintending Engineer, Kauri Freehold Gold Estates Company, is a gentleman of extended colonial reputation. The son of
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the late Mr. Alex. Montgomery, for some years headmaster of the Normal School, Dunedin, the subject of this notice, who was born in Edinburgh in 1862, came to the Colony with his parents in 1865, and was educated at the High School, Dunedin, and at the Otago University and School of Mines. When eighteen years of age Mr. Montgomery gained his B.A. degree, and in the following year that of M.A. (with First Class Honours in Chemistry and Electricity). In 1882 he joined the Public Works Department in the South Island as a junior draughtsman, and was engaged in general engineering work until 1885, when he assumed charge of the Thames School of Mines. He retained that important position till 1890. when he was selected for the post of Inspector of Mines and Government Geologist for the Colony of Tasmania. In December, 1896, Mr. Montgomery returned to New Zealand to accept his present appointment, the duties of which are of the most important character. Several of the highest honours in the gift of his fellows have been bestowed upon Mr. Montgomery. In 1895 he was president of the Australian Institute of Mining Engineers, and is still a member of the council of that institute, also a member of the American Institute of Mining Engineers. He is a vicepresident of the Geological Society of Australia, and a member of the New Zealand Institute. In 1887 Mr. Montgomery was married to Miss Lisn Allom, second daughter of Mr. Albert Allom, an old and respected colonist who came to New Zealand in 1842, as a member of the staff of the New Zealand Company, and who is referred to in these pages under the heading of “Old Colonists.” Mr. and Mrs. Montgomery, whose town house is in Manukan Road, Parnell, have four sons.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Kuranui-Caledonian Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
                This is an English company, and was registered in London on the 24th of April, 1896. The property is situated at the Thames, and has an area of nearly thirty acres, it includes the famous “Caledonian” Mine, which in the old days helped to bring the Thames into prominence as a gold producing district. A battery of twenty head of stampers has been erected, and the monthly yields are of a most satisfactory nature. The capital is £175,000 in £1 shares—half-a-crown on application, and seven shillings and sixpence on allotment. The working capital is £25,000. Mr Matthew Paul is the nine manager. The London offices are at 20 Great Winchester Street, E.C., and the aceretary is Mr. P. G. Browning.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Matthew Paul.
                Mine Manager at the Kuranui-Caledonian Company's Mine, was born in Paisley, Scotland, in 1863. He arrived on the Thames goldfield with his parents soon after it opened, and was brought up to mining. In 1891 he obtained his certificate as a mine manager by examination at the School of Mines, and after being nine months manager of the Kaiser Mine, was appointed to his present position in 1895. Mr. Paul was married, in 1889, and has one son and one daughter.
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                  May Queen Extended Gold Mixing Company
                
                (No Liability), was incorporated about 1895; Mr. J. J. Macky, Victoria Arcade, Auckland, secretary. The mine consists of seventy acres, and embraces the holdding formerly known as the Adelaide, Onehunga, Hokianga, Crack Shot, and other small holdings. Prospecting work is being continned on the property; a shaft has been sunk to a depth of 180 feet, and cross cutting work is being carried on from the bottom of the shaft. Thousands of ounces of gold have been taken from different sections of this company's mine.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Richard Jenkins,
                Mine Manager of the May Queen Extended Mine, was born near Truro, Cornwall, England, in 1812. He was brought up to mining, and went to Italy in 1865 to manage two copper mines. In 1872 he came to Auckland, and settled at the Thames. Mr. Jenkins was for about twelve years working on one of the properties now held by the May Queen Extended Company. Prior to that he was working as a tributer in the Kuranni mine. Mr. Jenkins is a Past Grand Master of the Loyal Waikato Lodge of Oddtellows, and as a Freemason he is Attacheq to Lodge Corinthian. He was married, in 1877, to a daughter of the late Mr. S, Paill, of Cornwall, and has three sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The May Queen Extended Battery
                
                is the oldest on the Thames Gold fields, having been erected by Mr. George Bull early in 1868. It was purchased by the present proprietors in September, 1896. The battery is fitted with twenty-three stampers, and the power is sufficient to crush, on an average, about twenty-four tons daily. The machinery is driven by a Pelton water wheel supplied from the county witer race. There are fourteen berdans in the battery, which is lighted by electricity, generated by two dynamos. It is said that the battery was the first, on the field to be lighted by electricity.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Daniel Kennedy Redwood,
                Manager of the May Queen Extended Battery, was born in Onehunga, in 1871. His father, the late Mr. John Redwood, was one of the pioneers of the Thames in 1867. Mr. D. K. Redwood was educated at Kauaeranga. Boys' School, and was brought up to battery work by his father at the May Queen Extended battery. He afterwards gained further experience at the Great Mercury and Red Mercury batteries, Kuaotunu, and was subsequently employed in batteries at Whangapoua and Waitekauri, In 1898 Mr. Redwood became amalgamator at the May Queen Extended, and was appointed to his present position when his father died in 1899. Mr. Redwood is a member of the Hauraki Band, and as a Forester he belongs to Court Pride of the North, of which he was Junior Warden in 1900, He was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. H. Taylor, of the Thames, and has one son and one daughter.
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Mr. John Redwood,
                sometime Manager of the May Queen Extended Battery, was well known throughout the Thames for more than thirty years. Settling in the district in 1867, Mr. Redwood located himself in “block twenty-seven,” and engaged in mining pursults. Three years later he began to work at the “Una” Battery, and afterwards devoted himself entirely to that branch of the industry. He entered the service of Mr. Bull about 1880, and was with him mainly for sixteen years; at the time of purchase by the present owners of the battery Mr. Redwood undertook the management. Born in London in 1846. Mr. Redwood came with his father, Mr. John Redwood, to New Zealand in 1855, in the ship “Egmont.” He learned the trade of a carpenter in Auckland, and followed his calling for a short time. During the war he served for about two years in No. 2 Regiment



of the Waikato Militia, under Colonel Haultain. As a Forester, Mr. Redwood on several occasions represented his court in the position of delegate. He died on the 18th of September, 1899.
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May Queen Hauraki, Limited,
                The property, which is situated at the Thames, has an area of 184 acres 2 roods 36 perches. It includes the “Queen of the May” (L.H.) Hematite Claim, “May Queen Junction” Claim, “Trenton” (L.H.), “Hand of Friendship” (L.H.), “Saxon” (L.H.), “Hidden Treasure” Claim, and “St. Hippo” (L.H.). There is a battery of thirty-one head of stampers and a complete plant for the treatment of the ore. This is an English company, and was registered in London on the 2nd of July, 1896. The capital is £200,000 in £1 shares, which have been privately subscribed. Mr. W. Baker has charge of the mine, and the colonial attorney is Mr. H. A. Gordon, Mr. R. McDonald Scott being the local secretary of the company in Auckland. Mr. William Alfred Berry, the general secretary, has his office at 22 Austin Friars, London, E.C. The company has a working capital of £30,000.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Baker,
                Mine Manager of the May Queen-Hauraki, Limited, was born in the Bay of Islands in 1848, and is a carpenter by trade. Mr. Baker has been on the Thames since 1868, and has been engaged in mining either as a tributer or on his own account. He became a mine manager in 1888, and was for a year in charge of the Eureka mine, Otunui district. For seven years subqently he had charge of the Cambria mine, and was for some time engaged as confidential expert to the Anglo-Continental and New Zealand Exploration Company. Mr. Baker was appointed to the May Queen-Hauraki early in 1899. He is a member of the Loyal Waikato Lodge, I.O.O.F.,M.U. Mr. Baker was married, in 1873, to a daughter of the late Mr. C. Woodcock, sergeant of the commissiary department, Auckland, and has five sons and four daughters.
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Mr. Henry Stratford Leece,
                Engineer on the May Queen-Hauraki Company's Mine, was born in 1868 at Uralla, New South Wales, accompanied his parents to Otago in 1870, and was educated at Roxburgh. He was brought up as an engineer in New South Wales, whither he had returned in 1880, and was engaged in mining in the New England district for about eight years. Mr. Leece arrived in Auckland in 1896, when he settled at the Thames, and found employment as as engineer. He was afterwards employed by the Waihi Company for a short time, and for three years subsequently by the New Alburnia Company at the Thames. During his residence in Tararu, Mr. Leece took an interest in the local school committee, of which he was chairman in 1899 and 1900. While in New South Wales he was for some time a member of the Hillgrove Hospital Committee. As a Freemason, he is a member of Lodge Corinthian, and has taken several of the junior chairs. He has been a Forester since 1886, and passed all the chairs in Court White Star, New England, New South Wales. He was married, in 1891, to a daughter of Mr. T. O. Key, of Glen Innes, New South Wales, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Mr. William Henry Burch,
                for some time manager of the mine, is a native of Dawlish, Devonshire, England, where he was born in December, 1845. Some time after quitting school, he left the Old Country for the colonies, arriving in New South Wales in 1863, and in the early part of the following year he came to Auckland, New Zealand. In August, 1867, he moved to the Thames, and has since then had a large and practical mining experience in the Peninsula. Mr. Burch was the first mine manager to open up a mine at Waihi. In November, 1896, he was elected a member of the Thames Borough Council for a period of three years. He is also a member of the council of the Thames School of Mines, and in March, 1897, was elected to a seat on the Licensing Bench.
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The May Queen-Hauraki Battery,
                originally known as Goodall's, was one of the earliest batteries on the Thames. It has been several times enlarged, and contains thirty-two stamps and one specimen stamper. Each stamp has a fall of about eight hundred weight. The plant is worked by a Pelton water wheel, driven by the county water supply, and is contained in a wooden building.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Mr. Peter Weir,
                Battery Manager of the May Queen-Hauraki Battery, was born in Kilmarnock, Scotland, in 1853. He came to Auckland in 1869 by the ship “Mary Shepherd,” and settled at the Thames, where he has been engaged in battery work nearly the whole time of his residence in the district. For a while he worked at the Kuranui battery, and afterwards had charge of one of the shifts for about three years. He was employed for some time to superintend the crushing of the Golden Calf quartz at the Waiotahi, Souter's, and other batteries, and has been in his present position since 1895. As a volunteer he has served altogether about twenty years in the Thames Navals and Scottish companies. He was married, in 1897, to a daughter of Mr. A. Mercer, of Auckland.
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New Moanatairi Gold Mining Company, Limited;
                Head Office for the Colony, Thames. This company has its head-quarters in London, where it was incorporated on the 14th of August, 1899. Its capital is £300,000. The mine comprises the ground worked by the old Moanataiari company, and has a large battery of sixty stampers, with a cyanide plant and every appliance. It is considered the most up to date battery on the Thames. The colonial manager and attorney is Mr. James Park, and the secretary in New Zealand, Mr. Belworthy.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Park,
                F.G.S., was born near Aberdeen, Scotland. From 1875 to 1879, he was engaged in sheep farming pursuits in the East Coast district of the province of Wellington, and in the latter year he joined the scientific staff of the New Zealand Geological Surveys, under Sir James Hector. First as field assistant, and afterwards as geological surveyor and mining geologist. Mr. Park acquired an intimate acquaintance with every part of New Zealand. For ten years he carried on his geological explorations and mine examinations in all parts of the Colony, and his travels among the higher Alps and mountains of both islands would, if recorded in detail, fill a book, and, as a mountaineer, he has few rivals in New Zealand. His explorations among the trackless alpine regions of the South Island, extending from Mount Earnslaw to the West Coast Sounds, were of an exceptional, protracted and hazardous character, and stamp him as a man possessed of great energy and endurance. In 1889 the New Zealand Government appointed Mr. Park director of the Thames School of Mines,—a position he held till May, 1896, when he resigned. What he has done for that institution is now a matter of history. From the status of a village school, he claims to have raised it to the proud position of the leading mining school in the Australian colonies, and it is now well known to mining men throughout the world. Mr. Park proved himself an instructor of mining and metallurgy of exceptional ability, and numbers of the mine managers and metallurgists throughout the goldfields of the Colony owe their start in life to his help and encouragement. Besides acting as director of the School of Mines. Mr. Park was manager of the Government experimental and Cyanide works at the Thames, erected in connection with the school, and in that capacity acquired a knowledge of the different methods of treating the refractory ores met with in the Hauraki district. In addition to this work, Mr. Park continued his scientific and mining researches, and his memoir and map of the Thames Gold-fields form a classical work, which has, perhaps, done more than anything else to attract capital for the development of the Colony's resources. Besides his official geological and mining reports, Mr. Park has been a contributor to the transactions of the New Zealand Institute since 1880. He has also furnished many valuable reports, dealing with works to be undertaken to develop mines, and the treatment of ores. He is well known as the author of very useful books on “Practical Assaying,” “Cyanide Treatment of Ores,” and “Determination of Meridian,” which are now standard text books in all New Zealand and many Australian schools of mines. Among New Zealand geologists, Mr. Park has a reputation for keen and careful field observation, and certainly his judgments relating to mining properties have proved singularly accurate and well founded.
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Mr. William Belworthy,
                Secretary in New Zealand for the New Moanataiari Company, was born at Eton, England, in 1867. He was brought up to mercantile life, and came to Port Chalmers in 1886. Mr. Belworthy became secretary and accountant to the Anglo-Continental Syndicate, and subsequently received his present appointment, as well as the secretaryship of the May Queen-Hauraki Company.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Ezra Cartwright,
               
 Mine Manager of the New Moanatairi Gold Mining Company's Mine, was born in 1856 in Auckland, and educated there and at the Thames. His experience as a miner began when he was twelve years of age, and he was advanced by successive stages to the position of shift boss, foreman, and mine manager. He was for some time employed as foreman at the May Queen and Cambria mines, and was afterwards for two years mine manager at the Nonpareil mine, which he continued to manage until he was appointed to his present position, in November, 1898. Mr. Cartwright studied at the School of Mines, and gained a first-class mine manager's certificate in 1896. He is a Past Master of the Corinthian Lodge of the Order of Freemasons, and as a Forester is


[image: Mr. E. Cartwright.]

Mr. 
E. Cartwright.





attached to Court Pride of Parnell, Thames. Mr. Cartwright was married, in 1887, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Gentles, of the North of Ireland, and has two sons and three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The New Whau Gold Mining Company
                
                (No Liability), was incorporated about 1894. Its capital is £96,000, in £1 shares, and its offices are in Auckland; Mr. H. Gilfillan, junior, secretary. The area of the mine consists of ninety-nine acres, including the original holdings of the Old Whau, Black Angel, Sons of Freedom, Caliban, Wai-temata, Clunes, and Nordenfeldt. Some very rich reefs are known to exist in the property.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Sprange Jobe,
                Mine Manager of the New Whau, was born in 1853, in Devonshire, England, where he was educated and brought up to mining. After having had about ten years' experience, he came to New Plymouth, in 1877, by the ship “Hurunui.” In the same year Mr. Jobe found his way to the Thames, and has since been engaged in mining in the lower and higher levels of the field. For seven years he was underground boss at the Alburnia mine, of which he was also underground manager for three years. Afterwards he was underground boss of the Thames-Hauraki, and was one of the tributers of the Alburnia mine for five years, during which about 6000 ounces of gold were obtained. In 1891 Mr. Jobe became mine manager of the Flying Cloud mine, and was appointed to his present position in 1899. He comes of a well-known family of Devonshire mine captains, of whom the late Captain James Sprange, after whom he was named, was a type. As a Freemason, Mr. Jobe is attached to Lodge Corinthian, and has passed three chairs. He is also a member of the Loyal Waikato Lodge, I.O.O.F.,M.U. As a volunteer Mr. Jobe served seven years in the Thames Scottish No. 1 Company, and as a member of the band, took part in the band contest at Auckland in 1882, when the Thames Scottish Band was victorious, and each member received a medal. He was married, in 1883, to a daughter of the late Mr. H. Jenkin, of Cornwall, and has three sons and four daughters.
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                  Occidental Gold Mining Company
                
                (No Liability); Head Office, Victoria Arcade, Auckland; Mr. S. C. Macky, secretary. This company's mine, which was originally known as the Old Una, is situated on Una Hill, at the Thames, and is fifty acres in extent. The company was incorporated about 1895.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Moyle,
                Mine Manager of the Occidental Mine, was born at Forest Gate, Parish of Illogan, Cornwall, England, in 1850. He was brought up to mining, in which he was engaged until he left for New Zealand. Mr. Moyle arrived in Lyttelton in 1871 by the ship “Charles Gladstone,” but went to Auckland, where he stayed for a few months before settling at the Thames. There he worked for some years as a miner, and was afterwards a shift boss for five years, and ten years a mine manager, and was connected with the New Fear Not, Lone Hand, and St. Hippo mines. He was appointed to the management of the Occidental in March, 1895, and in January, 1898, he took over also the management of the Victoria. Mr. Moyle is connected with Court Pride of the North, A.O.F., 5575. He was married, in 1871, to a daughter of Mr. W. Andrew, of Cornwall, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Standard Exploration Company,
                Limited; Head Office, 43 Lothbury, London, E.C. Capital, £1.500,000. This large company purchased the properties lately held by the Thames-Hauraki Goldfields, Ltd. These mines include an area of 290 acres, and the holdings were originally known as Queen of Beauty, Deep Sinker, and Deep Levels Consolidated. The Government advanced a sum of £25,000 in consideration of the company's having undertaken to sink the main shaft 1000 feet, and the shaft has now (May, 1901) been sunk to a depth of 828 feet. The plant is the largest and the most up to date in the Colony. The size of the original shaft was 13 feet by 4 feet, and the present one is, 20 feet by 11 feet. Chambers 25 feet square have been made at 327 and 654 feet respectively. In these chambers sets of plungers are to be placed, and when the full depth is reached a draw lift will be put in. The cost of the plant, including engines, boilers, and pumping machinery, was £42,000 in London. An immense concrete block forms the foundation for the winding engine, and is said to contain 500 tons. The concrete for the main engine measures 20 feet in depth by 70 feet and 60 feet respectively, and includes 6000 tons of concrete. The estimated strength of the machinery is 2000 horse-power. There are ten fine boilers, each measuring 7 feet by 30 feet, capable of carrying a pressure of 120 pounds to the square inch. There is a Tangye winding engine of 40 horse-power, and it will work double cages, which can be moved at the rate of 1300 feet per minute. There is also an electric lighting plant, and an air compressor for working rock drills.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Aitken Dunlop,
                who is referred to in another article as Chairman of the Thames County Council, is the general manager for the Standard Exploration Company, Limited.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Tararu Creek Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
                This company was registered in London on the 7th of August, 1895, with a capital of £95,000 in shares of ten shillings each—one shilling on application, two shillings on allotment, and the balance as and when required. The company has a working capital of £15,000, and a reserve of £15,000. The secretary is Mr. W. J. Lavington, 97 Dashwood House, London. E.C., and the colonial attorneys are Mr. R. W. Powell and Mr. J. Mowbray. The property, which consists of about 155 acres, is situated on the left bank of the Tararu Creek, In the Hauraki mining district, and is in close proximity to the “Caledonia,” “Shotover,” and “Hauraki” Mines. It comprises the following licensed holdings:— “Norfolk,” “Norfolk, No. 1.” “Norfolk South,” “City of Dunedin,” “Opal,” “Sunbeam,” and “Excelsior.” The deeper workings are being systematically developed, and the crushings are regular. The mine was equipped with a forty stamp battery which was destroyed by fire in March, 1898, during which a new battery of thirty stampers was erected to replace it. The machinery is driven by a Pelton wheel, which is supplied from the company's water races, and there is an auxiliary steam engine.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert William Powell,
                General Manager and Attorney for the Tararu Creek Gold Mining Company, was appointed to the position in April, 1900. Mr. Powell had a large experience as a miner, mine manager, and owner, in Australia, where he arrived in 1855. He has for many years been a member of the Amalgamated Mine Managers'



Association of Victoria, and was a foundation member of the Australian Institute of Mining Engineers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Richard Tierney,
                Mine Manager of the Tararu Creek Mine since 1899, was born at Papakura, in 1868. He was educated at the Thames, and has been connected with mining from his early days. Having studied at the School of Mines, he obtained a first-class manager's certificate in 1894.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Claude Francis,
                Accountant at the Tararu Creek Mine, was horn in Colchester, England, in 1859, and educated at Bishop Stortford. He came out to Auckland in 1880, and arrived in Wellington three years later. After ten years of farming in the Ashurst district, he was appointed to his present position in 1895.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Lang Thorburn,
                Junior, Amalgamator at the Tararu Creek Battery, was born in 1854 in Auckland, where he was educated. He removed to the Thames in 1863, and has since been engaged in battery work. He was successively employed at the Wild Missouri, Old Tararu, Kuranui, Queen of Beauty (afterwards Cambria), and Anchor batteries. Mr. Thorburn was appointed to his present position at Tararu Creek battery in 1898. As an Oddfellow he is attached to Loyal Charles Bruce Lodge, in which he has passed the chair. He is also a member of the Corinthian Lodge of Freemasons.
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Mr. James McLean,
               
 sometime Mine Manager of the Tararu Creek Gold Mining Company, Ltd., was born at Wade, near Auckland, in July, 1864. The family moving to the Thames in 1872, and locating at Tararu Creek, the subject of this sketch began to earn his livelihood at the age of ten years in the mines of that district. Mr. McLean had a practical experience in mining of over twenty-five years.
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Commencing at the lowest grade, he rose gradually, by dint of using his energies and abilities. Mr. McLean was for a time battery manager in several mines, and in 1884 was appointed mine manager to the “Eureka” Mine; after that time he had charge of several mining properties, including the “Norfolk” and “City of Dunedin” Mines, and, when the latter was taken over in August, 1895, by the Tararu Creek Gold Mining Company, Ltd., was appointed mine manager. Mr. McLean was an active and enterprising man, and was highly esteemed in the mining community. He was drowned in the Piako river on the 2nd of April, 1899, whilst out on a shooting expedition.

            

            

              
              


                
Victoria Gold Mining Company,
                Limited; Head Office, Victoria Arcade, Auckland; Mr. S. C. Macky, secretary. Directors for 1900: Messrs J. S. Kissling (chairman), L. D. Nathan, and G. Aicken. This company's mine, originally the Old Prince Imperial, consists of forty-two acres, and is situated between Albert Street and Willoughby Street. Mr. Thomas Moyle is mine manager.

            

            

              
              

                

Crawford, Thomas Henry,
               
 Mine Manager, Thames. Mr. Crawford came to Australia in September, 1855, in the ship “Merlin,” and followed alluvial mining at Ballarat, Bendigo, and other fields, for some four years, when he joined in the “rush” to Otago, coming over the Tasman Sea in a vessel named “Lightning,” Settling on the Dunstan, Mr. Crawford, in common with many others, found food exceedingly scarce, and in consequence suffered many and great privations. After three years of fair fortune he went to the West Coast, and there also was engaged in alluvial mining. In 1867 he went to the Thames, and for about eighteen months practically engaged in quartz mining. For a similar period Mr. Crawford had charge of a very rich mine known as the
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“Belfast,” and then managed the “Cure” mine for some nine years, controlling, at times, as many as 160 men. During a portion of the last named period Mr. Crawford was also manager for the “Tookey” and “Golden Calf” Mines. Subsequently for five years he had charge of the “Hurunui Hill United” Mine, from which during the first six months he extracted 1100 ounces of gold. The “Saxon” was his next mine, but, when the amalgamation took place between the “Saxon” and the “May Queen,” he, in company with Mr. T. C. Bayldon, pegged out the “Crawford's Special” Mine, which was floated into a company. This Mr. Crawford managed for some eighteen months, when the company was wound up and refloated as the “St. Hippo,” of which he again took charge. He, however, resigned within the year, and since then has been mainly engaged in pegging out properties and floating them on the markets. The “Karaka” claim was pegged out by him and sold to Messrs. Harris, Haggard and Co., and the “Queen of Beauty” Mine was also pegged out by Mr. Crawford, who is still interested in many of the properties, notably that of the Hauraki Goldfields Company. Ltd. Mr. Crawford was born in County Monaghan, in the north of Ireland, in 1839, and is a brother of the Rev. Dr. James Crawford, of Belfast, and of the Rev. Dr. Joseph Crawford, of Liverpool, also cousin of General Sir Thomas Crawford, of London. The subject of this notice represented the North Ward in the Thames Borough Council for a period of three years, and has also been a member of the Harbour Board. He has taken a great interest in educational matters, and has been a Freemason for about forty years.

            

            

              
              


                

Hansen, Peter Christian,
                sometime Mine Manager, Thames. Mr. Hansen was born at Nyborg, Denmark, in 1838, and when quite a youth took to the sea a profession. His bent for a seafaring life was not surprising, considering the family from which he sprang, and the nation to which he belongs. As early as the age of sixteen, he visited England, and thereafter rose rapidly in his adopted profession. In 1857 he came to Australia in the American ship “John Cottle,” and, as the gold excitement was then at its height, left his ship to go to the fields. Not meeting with the success he anticipated, however, he returned to Melbourne and engaged in the coastal trade, afterwards running between Newcastle, New South Wales, and New Zealand. Mr. Hansen was in the Colony at the time of the Walkato War, and finally, in 1864, determined to make it his home. At first he engaged in trading with the natives, principally for gum, but in 1867, when the Thames Goldfields were opened up, he decided to join in the “rush,” and there his experience in Victoria stood him in good stead. Mr. Hansen worked for a few weeks as a miner, and then obtained a position in the “All Nations” Mine, of which he eventually became the manager, conducting it most successfully for three years. Shortly after leaving this mine he visited the South Island, and remained there for eleven years, the principal part of that time being engaged in quartz mining in Collingwood. On his return to the North Island he was soon engaged as a manager, and had charge of various valuable properties, ranging over the greater part of the Peninsula. Mr. Hansen always took an active interest in mining throughout the length and breadth of the Hauraki Goldfields, and was instrumental in opening up and working claims in new districts such as the Great Barrier. He was a certificated mine manager, and had about forty years' experience as a practical and theoretical miner. Mr. Hansen was a member of the committee of the Thames School of Mines. He died on the 29th of July, 1899.
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Hastings, Richard John,
                Mine Manager, Waihi. Mr. Hastings was born at the Thames in the year 1870, on the claim of the original Caledonia Gold Mine. His father, Mr. Charles Hastings, was one of the early settlers at the Thames, and was for a number of years Foreman of Public Works for the Thames Borough Council. The subject of this notice received his early education at the old Thames School, and at the age of about ten years began to work in the mines. He followed tributing work for about seven years, in which he was quite successful, and was subsequently employed in the well-known Moanataiari Gold Mine for a like period. In March, 1896 Mr. Hastings took charge of the mining property of the Apakura Syndicate, and remained in that employment for eight months. A year previously he had pegged out the Dover Castle claim, consisting of 100 acres, and in December, 1896, floated it into a company, and became mine manager. The Dover Castle Company is now out of existence. Although Mr. Hastings is a comparatively young man, ihe has had a large and extended experience in practical mining. He is a member of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge of Freemasons, No. 15, N.Z.C., also of Waikato Lodge, No. 5444, I.O.O.F.
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Loughlin, David John,
               
 Mine Manager, Thames. Mr. Loughlin was born at Cumber, near Belfast, Ireland, and emigrated to New Zealand with his father, Mr. John Loughlin, when quite young, arriving in Auckland about 1866. The family moved to the Thames shortly after the opening of the goldfields, and the subject of this notice began at the age of fifteen years to earn his livelihood in the mines of the district. He rose gradually till he was promoted to the position of amalgamator in the Prince Alfred Battery, which position he filled for two years. He was then in charge of the Kuranul Battery
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for twelve months, and subsequently engaged in tribute work with marked success. In 1890 Mr. Loughlin was appointed mine manager for the Junction Mine, of which he had charge for some two years, and was also at various times in charge of the “Little Nell,” “Prosperity,” and other mines, including the well-known original Great Barrier Mine. Mr. Loughlin is a thoroughly experienced miner, both in underground work and in charge of machinery, having been identified with mining in its various branches for about twenty-five years. He is well known throughout the goldfields for his skill and Industry. Mr. Loughlin was married at the Thames in January, 1896, to Miss Mary Wells.

            

            

              
              


                

Loughlin, Samuel Jameson,
                Mine Manager, Thames. Mr. Loughlin is a son of the late Mr. John Loughlin, who settled at the Thames a few months after the opening of the goldfields in 1867. At the age of fifteen, Mr. Loughlin began to earn his living by working in various mines on the Hauraki Goldfields, and followed that occupation for nearly thirty years. He was engaged in some of the principal batteries and mines at the Thames, first as amalgamator, then as battery manager, and finally as mine manager. Mr. Loughlin had charge of the Dart Battery, and the well-known Ivanhoe Battery, and was appointed manager of the McIsaacs Company's mine in September, 1896. He holds many letters from the companies by whom he has been employed, testifying to his ability as a competent miner and amalgamator, and is considered a thoroughly reliable manager. Mr. Loughlin was for five years a member of the Thames Volunteer Naval Brigade. He was married at Wairon South in 1893 to Miss Annie L. M. Wilson, daughter of Mr. James Sangster Wilson, an early settler of that district.
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Mcdonald, Ronald,
                Mine Manager, Thames. Mr. McDonald was born in Prince Edward Island, Dominion of Canada, in 1837. He is a great-grandson of the late Mr. Charles Ronald McDonald, who emigrated with Captain John McDonald in 1772 to that island with a large body of Scotch Catholics, and a son of Mr. J. C. McDonald, of Orwell. During his youth Mr. McDonald learned the trade of a shipbuilder, and for some years worked in his brother's shipyard at Orwell as a partner. In 1854 he sailed in the ship “Edward,” from New York to Victoria, where he followed mining on the goldfields of Ballarat and in other countries for ten years, and met with considerable success. He was mine manager of the North American Mine in Happy Valley for three years, and also of the Robin Hood Mine, of the same place. In 1864 he came to New Zealand in the s.s. “Omeo,” and subsequently engaged in mining on the West Coast of the South Island. He moved to the Thames in 1869, where he has ever since followed mining pursuits. Mr. McDonald has had a practical experience in his profession extending over a period of forty years, and has been a shareholder in and manager of some of the most important mines at the Thames, including the well-known Queen of Beauty, Golden Calf, and North Star Mines.

            

            

              
              


                

Williams, John,
                Mine Manager, Thames. Mr. Williams, who has been intimately associated with mining for more than a quarter of a century, was born in Wales in 1852, but when quite young went with his parents to South Africa. On coming to New Zealand, in 1864, by the ship “Alfred,” Mr. Williams joined his father in a farming investment at Wajuku; but in 1870 he relinquished his interest to follow mining at the Thames. Two years later he went to Australia, and was as far north as Charters Towers, in Queensland, where he remained about six months, and engaged in alluvial mining. He was afterwards coal mining at Woollongong, New South Wales, for about nine months, but ultimately returned to the Thames. From the position of an ordinary miner, Mr. Williams soon rose to that of underground foreman, and in 1884, he took charge of the Silvia mine. A year later he became manager for the Dives Gold Mining Company, and held the position for two years, when he removed to Whangapoua, near Coromandel, where, for eight months, he had control of the Hilda mine. He then took charge of the Jubilee mine, at Waitekauri, for a few months, and was afterwards manager of the Owera mine. Twelve months later, Mr. Williams returned to the Thames, and speculated in mines with fair success. In 1894 he became manager of the Sheridan mine. The management of the Golden Point mine was placed in his hands in September, 1895; but he resigned it in January, 1897. While managing the “Sheridan” he was also supervisor of the Club and Golden Band mines. In July, 1896, Mr. Williams was appointed manager for the Great Mercury Company, at Kuaotunu. He was the second member elected to the Oddfellows' Lodge at the Thames, in 1868.
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Eddowes, William,
                Mining Investor, Thames. P.O. Box, 29. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Eddowes, who has resided at the Thames since 1868, received his early education at Schofield's Grammar School. At the age of sixteen he began to follow mercantile pursuits, and while so engaged studied assiduously for some years at the Thames School of Mines, from which he received certificates for proficiency in the various branches of chemistry and assaying. For a number of years Mr. Eddowes has given his entire attention to mining, and has met with considerable success.

            

            

              
              

                

Adams, Ernest Feltus,
               
 Mining Engineer, Authorised and Licensed Surveyor,
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Thames. P.O. Box, 5. Telephone, 69. Mr. E. F. Adams was born in the Isle of Man in 1865, and came to New Zealand with his father, Mr. James Adams, B.A., in the S.S. “Great Britain” in 1871. The family settling in Auckland, he was mainly educated at the Church of England Grammar School, while his father held the position of headmaster of that institution, and completed his studies at the Thames High School, of which Mr. Adams, senior, is still the principal. The subject of this notice was employed in the Government Survey Department for about six years, working principally in the Hauraki Peninsula. He entered the service as a cadet, and passed his examination three years later. Mr. Adams resigned his position in the Survey Department to start business with Mr. James McLaren, formerly Inspector of Mines, as mining engineers and surveyors. After two years he purchased his partner's interest. The business he now carries on was established in 1867 by the late Mr. W. C. Wright, who disposed of his interest to Mr. D. H. Bayldon; that gentleman sold to Mr. Adams, who conducts a large and extensive business. The office's records of the goldfields date from 1867 to the present time, and the plans alone number over 3500.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Frederick Sims,
                B.C.E., was born in Melbourne in 1874. He was educated at State schools, at Scott's College, and at the Melbourne University, and took his degree in 1895. Mr. Sims had considerable experience at Broken Hill as assistant assayer, and was subsequently assayer and assistant cyanide manager at Padington Consols Mine, West Australia. He was appointed metallurgist at the Tararu Consolidated Mine, Thames, in June, 1900, but that mine has since then been closed down.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Samuel Alexander,
               
 who claimed the reward of £5000 for the discovery of payable gold at the Thames, was born in London in 1828. He came out to Victoria in 1852, and went to Bendigo and other goldfields. In 1863 he came over to Otago, but removed to Auckland during the same year, and was for some time in business on his own account in the furniture trade in Parnell. Prior to the declaration of the goldfields
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he made a trip down the Hauraki Gulf, and as an old digger judged from the appearance of the ranges that it was a quartz-bearing country. In the month of July, 1867, Mr. Alexander was on the Thames, and found his way up the Kuranui Creek, then surrounded by dense bush, including supplejacks. Having discovered a small waterfall about 10 feet high, he climbed to the top and scooped up some of the loose stuff. This he carried out to the open, and on panning off the dish, discovered a rich prospect of gold. The prospect was immediately taken to Auckland by Mr. Alexander himself, and when crushed there by him, it yielded 21 pennyweights of gold. On this circumstance Mr. Alexander based his application as the discoverer of gold. The ground on which he found specimens was afterwards well known as Hunt's Claim. Mr. Alexander afterwards alleged that it was originally arranged between Hunt, Clarkson, and himself that he (Alexander) should have a full share in the mine as the fifth shareholder in six men's ground, but that Hunt had sold that share to other persons before Alexander had had time to register his interest. The other shareholders made large fortunes, which they afterwards lost; and after that Mr. Alexander's claims were year after year pressed upon the Government, and at last, in 1896, he was awarded a sum of £50. Mr. Alexander is an old Forester, and opened the first court in New Zealand, Court City of Auckland, 3978, in 1863, and became



Chief Ranger of the Lodge. In 1871 Mr. Alexander became assistant court bailiff on the Thames, and continues to perform occasional services when required. He is often called the Father of the Thames goldfield, as well as the Father of Forestry. Mr. Alexander was married, in 1854, at Bendigo, Victoria, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Middleton, of Manchester, but that lady died in 1867. In 1868 he was married to a daughter of the late Mr. R. Brady, of Auckland, and four sons have been born of this union.
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                  Blagroves Freehold Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
                This company was registered in London on the 4th of May, 1895, the purpose of its formation being to acquire from the Kapanga Gold Mining Company what was known as the Blagroves Freehold section of 125 acres, adjoining the “Kapanga” on the Coromandel Goldfield. The capital consisted of £62,500 in 500,000 shares of half-a-crown each. The payment to the vendors was as follows:—£37,500 payable, £25,000 in cash, and £12,500 in shares. The “Kapanga” shareholders were offered pro rata 250,000 shares, with the option of taking up more if they desired. £25,000 was set aside for a working capital. The “Blagroves Freehold” is to all intents and purposes a subsidiary of the “Kapanga,” and is virtually owned by the same proprietary. The directors are Messrs H. Wilson, F. Brewer, S. Goldsmid, C. Hartridge, and F. G. Lane. The London office is at Dashswood House, E.C., and the secretary is Mr. W. J. Lavington.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Albert Edward Argall,
                M.N.Z. Just. M.E., Mine Manager of the Blagroves Freehold Gold Mining Company, Ltd., was born in Cornwall, England, in 1860, and is the second son of the late Mr. William Argall, of St. Agnes, Cornwall. Mr. Argall left his home and arrived in Johannesburg when that now flourishing town was but three years old. After staying there for about a year, and also visiting the Kimberley Diamond Fields, he came to New Zealand and entered into mining pursuits at Coromandel. He was for some years with the Kapanga Company, and was working in the Blagroves Mine in 1892. In that year he attended the Thames School of Mines for about three months, and afterwards took a trip to Australia. While on that Continent, he visited Bendigo and Castlemaine, Victoria, and worked in the mines at Broken Hill. New South Wales. There he suffered a mishap in being lead-poisoned, and had to return to New Zealand to recruit his health. On arrival in the Colony he was appointed one of the agents of the Kapanga Mine, and in 1895 took up the duties of the position which he still occupies. Mr. Argall is a member of the Coromandel Lodge of Freemasons and is on the committee of the School of Mines. He is also a member of the New Zealand Institute of Mining Engineers. Mr. Argall married in 1896 a daughter of the late Mr. Richard Clymo, who was manager of the Kapanga Mine as far back as 1873.

            

            

              
              

                

                  Bunkers Hill Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
               
 This mine is situated at Coromandel, and has an area of only four acres, consisting of a piece of ground wedged in between several other well-known mines. It adjoins the “Hauraki” claim on one side. There is a 330 feet shaft, and four levels, with winzes. At one time the mine was flooded and dams had to be erected, but since then extensive winding and pumping machinery has been procured. Mr. W. Moorcraft is the mine manager, and Mr. C. A. Stubbs the representative in Auckland.
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The company has a capital of 69,000 shares at five shillings each.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Walter Moorcraft,
                Mine Manager. Bunker's Hill Gold Mine. Coromandel, was born at Auckland, and is the fourth son of the late Mr. Charles Martin Moorcraft, who came to the colonies in the early sixties. Educated at the Thames, Mr. Moorcraft became a student at the School of Mines, and was initiated into mining in the famous Caledonian mine in that district. It was in that mine that he had a narrow escape from being suffocated by an inflow of gas, two lives being lost thereby. Mr. Moorcraft was one of the rescuing party, who were unfortunately too late to save the men. He has engaged in mining all through the Peninsula, his first experience as a mine manager being at Taupo. He then went to the Ohinemuri district, and was for six years working in and between Karangahake and Waihi. From there he went to take the position of foreman of the Bunker's Hill Mine, and, on the death of Mr. John T. Carter, he was appointed mine manager. Mr. Moorcraft was well known at the Thames as a rower, and had the stroke oar of the Thames crews that won the Auckland Amateur and Championship Whaleboat races in 1890 and 1891. He is a member of the Coromandel Lodge of Freemasons, and of the council of the School of Mines. Mr. Moorcraft was married in 1898 to Miss Juanita Lamb, eldest daughter of Mr. R. S. Lamb, a well-known Sydney merchant.
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                  The Golden Pah Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
                This company was registered in London on the 7th of August, 1896, with a capital of £62,500 in shares of half-a-crown each. There is a working capital of £30,000, and a reserve of £2,500. The London office is at 97 Dashwood House, E.C., and the secretary is Mr. W. J. Lavington. The property is a subsidiary of the Hauraki Gold Mining Company, and has an area of twenty-three acres. It is situated in Coromandel, adjoining the “Hauraki.”

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edward Arthur Daldy,
                Mine Manager to the Golden Pah Gold Mine and the Hauraki Main Lodes, Ltd., was born in Hobart in 1856, and is the second son of the late Dr. H. J. Daldy, for many years a magistrate in Tasmania, and a nephew of Captain Daldy, of Auckland, whose biography appears elsewhere in these pages. The subject of this notice came to New Zealand when eighteen years of age, arriving at Coromandel in May, 1875, where he was engaged in mining pursuits. Soon afterwards he went to Whangarei, conducting a store in that township for some little time. Selling out, Mr. Daldy went to the Thames, and worked some of the principal mines of that district, but, after spending a few years there, returned to Coromandel, working at the “Tokatea,” “Old Union Beach,” and other mines. About this time he essayed storekeeping again, but gave it up and directed all his energies to mining. He was for some years employed at the Kapanga Mine, and, while working there, became a member of the tributing party under Mr. George H. Legge, which discovered what is now historically known as “Legge's Reef.” Mr. Daldy is one of the most experienced of the mine managers now in Coromandel, and has had a very successful career. He is married and has nine children.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Hauraki (N.Z.) Associated Gold Mines, Ltd.
                
                This property, which is situated on the summit of the Tokatea Range—about four miles from the Coromandel wharf—consists of four claims, viz., the “Pride of Tokatea,” “Caledonian,” “Oriana,” and “Rising Sun Extended.” It has an area of eighty-six acres. A ten stamp battery has been erected, which can be worked by either water or steam power. The plant, which is complete in every particular, includes smithy, assay offices, and all the usual appointments of a well-equipped mine. The work is done almost entirely by means of drives and adit levels, the difference in altitude from the top to the bottom peg being about 1100 feet. Four leads have been worked with satisfactory results, gold being visible in all. The manager of the mine is Mr. H. F. Shepherd, and the secretary in Auckland is Mr. J. H. Porter. The capital of the mine is £100,000, in shares of four shilling each.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Franklin Shepherd,
                Assoc. N. Z. Inst. M. E., Mine Manager of the Hauraki Associated Gold Mines, Coremandel, was born at Auckland in 1868, and is the eldest son of Mr. Henry Medland Shepherd (now of Auckland), a native of Taranaki, whose parents were among the earliest settlers to arrive in that district. Mr. Shepherd was educated at the Auckland Public School, afterwards going through a course of study at the Thames School of Mines. Whilst there he obtained his first class mine manager's certificate, and also passed his examinations as battery manager, chemist, assayer, and authorized assayer of bullion under the Customs. His mining experience



was gained in different parts of the Thames district, where he was engaged for eight years. He was also for some time with the Cassel Company at Waihi, as a chemist and operator, thus gaining a good Cyanide experience. Mr. Shepherd was married in 1897 to Miss. Ella Patterson, daughter of Mr. James Patterson, the well-known grocer at the Thames.
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                  Hauraki Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
                This company was registered in London, on the 5th of December, 1894, with a capital of £40,000 in shares of half-a-crown each. The London office is at 97 Dashwood House, and the secretary is Mr. W. J. Lavington, the colonial attorneys being Messrs Argall and Hodge; the latter gentleman also acts as consulting engineer, and in that capacity supervises the working of the mine. The property, which has an area of forty-five acres, consists of what was originally the Coromandel section of the Kapanga Mine, and has proved exceptionally rich. The crushings yield, on an average, about 2000 ounces of gold per month. There is a battery of fifteen stamps working, and the mine is equipped with all the modern improvements. From January, 1895, to December, 1896, bullion bars from this mine were sold to the Bauk of New Zealand representing 62,853 ounces of gold (or 1 ton 18 ewts. 2 qrs. 23 lbs.), the amount realized being £193,677 odd.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Andrew N. Jamieson,
                Mine Manager of the celebrated Hauraki Gold Mine, was born in the Shetland Islands in 1844, and received his education in his native isle. Mr. Jamieson has had an exceptional experience in mining, extending over a period of thirty years, having been engaged both in alluvial and quartz workings in Australia and New Zealand. In this Colony he worked on the West Coast diggings of the South Island, and at the Thames during the “rush” of 1869. For the past twenty-five years he has been engaged in Coromandel in the employ of several companies, as mine and battery manager. In 1884 he received the appointment of manager to the Union Beach Company, and since that time has held the position of mine manager for the English companies under Captains Hodge and Argall. He has been for the past sixteen years in the “Haurak,” and every ounce of gold from this now famous mine has passed through his hands. Mr. Jamieson was married in Australia, and has three sons and two daughters.
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                  Hauraki Main Lodes, Ltd.
                
                The property is situated in Coromandel, and has an area of about 100 acres, including the old claims of the “Albion” and “Albion Extended.” It takes in the whole foreshore, and adjoins the famous “Hauraki” and “Golden Pah” properties. At a depth of 180 feet two cross-cuts have been driven, practically on a parallel line with the shore. These will eventually intersect the lodes, which run through the “Hauraki” and “Union Beach” Mines. An extensive winding plant has been provided, and other necessary appurtenances for pushing ahead with the work. The mine manager is Mr. E. A. Daldy, and the consulting engineer Captain Francis Hodge. Mr. H. W. Flint, of the Mines Corporation, is the representative in Auckland. This is an English company, and has a capital of £150,000' in shares of half-a-crown each. The London office is at 3 Princes Street, London, E.C.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain Francis Hodge,
                M.N. Eng. Inst. M.M.E., Mining and Consulting Engineer to the Hauraki group of mines and others at Coromandel, was born in Cornwall, England, and is a son of the late Captain Thomas Hodge, of the Wheal Grenville Mines of that county. When sixteen years of age he went to Portugal, where he spent twelve months. Returning to England, Mr. Hodge worked in his father's mines for several years, at the same time schooling himself in mining engineering. He then received an appointment as agent for the De Brooke Lead Mines, near Devil's Bridge, Wales, where he was settled for two years. After fulfilling an engagement in Nicaragua, he returned to the Old Country a few years later and was soon afterwards sent to New Zealand as superintending engineer to the companies he now represents. Captain Hodge resides at Coromandel, and is married, having three children.
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                  Kapanga Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
                This company was registered in London on the 3rd of October, 1893, and was originally known as the “Kapanga of New Zealand”; the present company is the result of the second reconstruction. It has a capital of £250,000 in £1 shares, which are largely held in England. The London office is at Dashwood House, E.C., and the secretary is Mr. W. J. Lavington. The property is situated in the Coromandel district, and has an area of about 100 acres. A battery of ten stamps has been erected, and considerable prospecting has been done by means of the diamond drill, a depth of over a thousand feet having been attained. The company sold forty acres of the Coromandel section to the Hauraki Gold Mining Company, and 125 acres to the Blagroves Freehold Gold Mining Company.
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Mr. Patrick Barry,
               
 Battery Manager to the Kapanga Gold Mine, was born in the south of Ireland in 1830, and left his native country for Victoria in 1855. While in that colony, he gained large experience on the many goldfields which were discovered about that time. Mr. Barry came to New Zealand in 1868, and, after visiting the West Coast diggings, made his way to the Northern Province



in the early part of the following year. Spending a few months at Puriri, he next
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went to Coromandel, and was prospecting in the Tokatea Range for some time. When the Kapanga Mine was pegged out in 1871, Mr. Barry was one of the party engaged on the work under Captain Thomas. He has been employed in the mine in various capacities ever since and has occupied his present position for many years.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Kathleen Crown Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
                This company was registered in London on the 27th of February, 1896, with a capital of £75,000 in 600,000 shares of half-a-crown each; all of these were offered on the 28th of February, 1896, payable one shilling on application, and one shilling and sixpence on allotment. The last lot were taken up on the 29th of July, 1896. The original object of the company was to acquire and develop a freehold property situated in the centre of the Hauraki mining district, locally known as the “Pukepoto Block,” and having an area of about ninety-two acres. The terms of payment to vendors were concluded as follows:—£50,000 payable, £6000 in cash, and £44,000 in cash or shares, or partly in each, at the discretion of the directors. A working capital of £25,000 was set aside. The directors of the company are Messrs. H. Wilson, A. J. Travers, and G. Hardie, J.P. The London office is at Dashwood House, E.C., and Mr. W. J. Lavington is secretary. Mr. Henry Battens is attorney in New Zealand, and also the General Manager.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Battens,
                C.M., M.I.M.E. (N.Z.), Attorney and General Manager of the Kathleen Crown Gold Mining Company, was born in West Cornwall, England, in 1860, and is a son of the late Mr. Charles Battens, a farmer of St. Erth, West Cornwall. He was educated in his native town, and served his apprenticeship to the engineering trade. On completing his time, he went into the tin mines in order to get a thorough knowledge of mining, and was for five and a half years working therein before leaving for New Zealand in 1886. On arrival in the Colony, he entered into mining pursuits in Coromandel. Mr. Battens erected the first pumping beam engine (direct acting) which was put up in New Zealand, on the Coromandel Gold Mining Company's property at Union Beach, this being afterwards re-erected at the Kapanga Mine. He was soon afterwards appointed mine manager of the latter mine, and was in charge for some years. Mr Battens is a mining and mechanical engineer of no mean merit, and is considered one of the very best in the mining district. He holds



a number of references from most authentic sources, testifying to his capabilities. Mr. Battens was the first to introduce compressed air into the North Island, as a motive power for driving a pair of winding engines at 1000 feet below the surface. Under his personal supervision and instruction, the pumping plants at the Blagroves' Freehold. Kathleen Crown, Preece's Point, and Hauraki Mines have been erected. During Captain Argall's absence from the Colony, Mr. Battens took the general management of the group of mines worked by the company. He was married to Selina Ellen, the eldest daughter of the late Captain Thomas Hodge, of the Wheal Grenville Mine, Cornwall, and a sister of Captain Hodge, of Coromandel. In 1891 Mr. and Mrs Battens visited England.
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                  The Kathleen Gold Mining Company
                
                was inaugurated in January, 1896. The area to be worked includes some fifty acres quite close to the township of Coromandel, and within a few yards of the famous Hauraki Mine. Early in 1897 a capital of many thousands of pounds was spent in a most complete mining plant, which, being worked by three eight-hour shifts, gives employment to forty persons, thirty miners working underground.
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Mr. Frank Vialoux,
               
 Accountant to the Hauraki, Kathleen, and Scotty's Haurak Gold Mines, was born in Hackney, London, and came to New Zealand with his
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parents when a child. He was educated at the Auckland Collegiate School under Dr. Kidd, and passed through a course of training for the architectural profession with his father. He has been associated with Captain Hodge since 1887, when that gentleman first came to the district to superintend the management of the Kapanga and Coromandel Mines. For some time previous to and during Captain Hodge's absence in England, he attended the School of Mines under the directorship of Mr. Park, taking the subjects of mining, assaying, and mine surveying. Mr. Vialoux now holds the New Zealand Government's certificate for a first class mine manager. During a visit to New South Wales he took charge of a mine at Wyalong. Shortly after resigning this he returned to New Zealand, taking up his present duties on Captain Hodge's return from the Old Country. Mr. Vialoux resides in one of the Hauraki Company's houses facing the beach, is married, and has six children.

            

            

              
              


                
The Opitonui Battery.
                It is at this battery that the gold from the large quantities of ore obtained from the three neighbouring mines, is extracted. The battery is the property of the Kauri Freehold Gold Estates, Limited. It is one of the best equipped and most complete in the colony, and is furnished with rock-breakers, ore-feeders, stampers, amalgamating plates, Huntingdon mills, cyanide vats for double treatment, agitators, and filter presses, with the numerous other appliances essential to gold extraction. The battery was erected in 1897, and is connected with the different mines—from which it is separated by three miles of railway—the property of the company.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Ogilvie Allom,
                Metallurgist, was born at Great Barrier Island, New Zealand, in 1886, and is the son of Mr. A. J. Allom, who arrived from England some years previously to take the management of the Great Barrier Gold Mining Company. The subject of this notice moved to the Thames with his parents in 1870, and was educated at the Thames High School. At the age of twenty-one he took a trip to Victoria and thence to New South Wales, where he entered the service of the famous Broken Hill Mining Company, and for over three years was employed at their enormous blast furnaces for reducing ore. He was then for a few months in the company's refineries at Port Pirie, South Australia, subsequently going to Tasmania, where he spent some months on the silver holds of Zeehan. Returning to New Zealand, he entered the employ of the Cassel Gold Extracting Company, remaining with them some two years, during which period he had charge of the practical working of the Cyanide plant owned by the company at Waihi. He was also for a time employed by the Waihi-Silverton Gold Mining Company in connection with the Cyanide Process. In June, 1896, he took charge of the Cyanide plant and battery of the Tararu Creek Gold Mining Company, Thames, whence he went to his present position at Opitonui, in the service of the Kauri Freehold Gold Estates Company. Mr. Allom has had a long practical experience as a metallurgist, and justly stands high in his profession.
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Harrison, Richard Herbert,
                J.P., Mine Manager; Coromandel. Mr. Harrison is one of the oldest mining managers in the district. Born at Liverpool, England, in 1846, and educated privately, Mr. Harrison left home and arrived in New Zealand in 1863. Joining the New Zealand Volunteers, he served in the Maori War, and was one of the youngest men to take part in the battle of Orakau. He has since been awarded the New Zealand War Medal for his bravery. When the Walkato War was over, he engaged in mining for three years on the West Coast of the South Island, going thence to Christ-church. Mr. Harrison subsequently joined the armed constabulary, and saw active service in the Wanganui and Poverty Bay districts, there being great excitement at that time over the massacre at Poverty Bay. When peace was restored, he came north and followed mining pursuits at the Thames. In 1869 he went to Coromandel, starting in business as a wine and spirit merchant and general storekeeper. Since that time he has been closely identified with the mining industry. He was for two years and a half manager of the Great Mercury Batteries at Kuoatunu, and previously to that was manager to the Woodstock and Stanley Gold Mines. More recently, Mr. Harrison was in charge of the Bunker's Hill and Southern Cross Mines, and of the New Goleonda and Zealandia Mines. In local polities, he has been a member of the Tiki Road Board, of the school committee, and of other public bodies, and he is now (1901) a member of the Coromandel County Council. Mr. Harrison married a daughter of the late Captain Ninnis, and has three daughters. He resides at a residence charmingly situated on the Tiki Road, the grounds being tastefully laid out with tennis courts, etc.
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Hornibrooke, Henry Pierce,
               
 Mine Manager, Coromandel. Mr. Hornibrooke was born in Bandon, County Cork, Ireland, in 1850, and arrived at Auckland, New Zealand, in 1867. After spending some time on a farm he was for four years engaged in coal mining, and in supervising the native flax industry at the Bay of Islands, after which he turned his attention to gold mining. Mr. Hornibrooke took the first management of the well-known Try Fluke and Kaipai Vermont Gold Mines, which he developed and brought to the front rank of gold-producing mines of the district, as well as others in the Te Aroha and Coro
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mandel districts. He was then invited by his Excellency Signor Ferdinand Martini to go over to the Erithrean Colony of Abyssinia to prospect for gold and other minerals, on behalf of the Italian Government. Mr. Hornibrooke accepted this invitation, and was most successful in finding a large number of reefs showing the precious metal. Before his departure from Erithrea he had the satisfaction of seeing a company formed, with a capital of £80,000, half English and half Italian, to develop his valuable discoveries, for which, as a bonus, Governor Martini promised him a mining concession in any other part of the Colony of Erithrea. Mr. Hornibrooke returned to his wife and family after a lapse of fully two years, during which he had a pleasant trip through England, Ireland, and the Continent. He has been a member of the Thames and Coromandel Licensing Bench, and secretary to the Coromandel school committee, and is a Freemason of many years' standing. Mr. Hornibrooke was married to Miss Millington, of Staffordshire, England, and has seven children.

            

            

              
              


                

Martin, William Goodman,
                Mine Manager, Coromandel. Mr. Martin has had a long and prominent career as a miner. Beginning in the famous mining county of Cornwall at the age of twelve years, he applied himself diligently for a period of two years to his adopted calling, and then left England for North America, where he spent about eighteen months in the copper mines of the Lake Superior district. Returning to England for a three months' visit, he decided to try the colonies, and, before attaining the age of sixteen, left his native land a second time, his destination then being the copper mines of South Australia. After two years there, Mr. Martin turned his attention to the Vietorian Goldfields, and spent a year in the Ballarat district. Leaving then for New Zealand, he arrived at the Thames in time to participate in the excitement caused by the rich find in the great Caledonia Mine, being employed in the drive where it was discovered. For several years thenceforward Mr. Martin worked in the “Caledonia” and other rich mines at the Thames, in varying capacities, and in 1881 was appointed mine manager for the New Golden Pah Gold Mining Company, at Coromandel. Though a fine yield was obtained, the claim was brought to a standstill in about a year's time, owing to the stoppage of the adjoining mine—now a section of the famous “Hauraki.” Since then Mr. Martin has been employed as mine manager and supervisor in various parts of the Colony, and has been singularly fortunate in securing good results in nearly all cases.
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Clarke, George Witchell,
                Engineer, Coromandel. Mr. Clarke was born near Stroud in Gloucestershire in 1845. He is the third son of Mr. John Webb Clarke, was educated at Dursley, Gloucestershire, came to New Zealand in the early sixties, and landed at Nelson. Thence he went overland to the Grey River “rush,” and stayed there for two years with varying luck. From the Grey, Mr. Clarke went to the Victorian diggings, and remained on the alluvial fields for some time. He then moved to Auckland, and hearing that the Thames was likely to be opened as a gold-field, he went there and was one of the earliest on the ground. After spending some time at the Thames, Mr. Clarke went to Fiji for the purpose of erecting some cotton-ginning machines. After an absence of fifteen months he returned to Auckland and proceeded to Coromandel, where he was prospecting for some time. From Coromandel he went to Kennedy Bay, where he was engineer at Messrs Cruickshank and Patterson's sawmill for eighteen months. He then returned to Coromandel, where be erected several mining plants, and then proceeded to the Thames, and erected the plant for the Saxon Gold Mining Company. Mr. Clarke's next move was to Waihi, where he was one of the party who found the gold which started the now famous Waihi mine. On returning to Coromandel he was engineer to the Coromandel Gold Mining Company until it closed down. He then went to Coolgardie, where he was mining for over twelve months; and he has been acting for the past few years at Coromandel, under Captain Hodge, for several English companies, one of which is the well-known “Hauraki.” Mr. Clarke is married and has six children.
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Rockliff, Joseph Bullen,
               
 J.P., Registered Mining and General Commission Agent, Kapanga Road, Coromandel. Mr. Rockliff is a son of the late Mr. Robert Rockliff, proprietor of the “Liverpool Journal,” and was born at Nice, France, in 1836, receiving his education at Ampleforth College and St. Edward's College, Liverpool, in the latter of which he was Latin Medallist. He went to Victoria in 1854, and engaged in alluvial and quartz mining in various parts of that colony, but afterwards devoted much of his time to erecting batteries for quartz crushing. In 1864 Mr. Rockliff came to New Zealand with the intention of joining the Wakamarino “rush,” but, instead of doing so, went to Chrrist-church, where he remained four years. In 1868 he was appointed to the charge of the Tapu Crushing Company's works. From Tapu he went to Coromandel in 1873, as manager of the New Zealand Crushing Company's plant. When the mining boom subsided in 1874, Mr. Rockliff was induced to accept the appointment of headmaster of the Diving Creek School, Coromandel, and remained in that position till 1894. On the revival
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of mining, he gave up teaching and established himself in his present business. Mr. Rockliff holds the office of secretary to the local Foresters' court, of which he has been a member since 1873.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. George Hart Legge
                
                has had experience welt entitling him to a place among the leading miners of Coromandel. Mr. Legge was born in Dorsetshire, England, in 1849, and is the son of Mr. Edward Legge, a Dorsetshire farmer. He was educated at St. Andrew's College, Chardstock, and the South Petherton Grammar School. Mr. Legge came to New Zealand in the ship “Rowena,” landing at Dunedin, and spent the first two years of his colonial life at Gabriel's Gully, the Molyneux, and other parts of the Otago goldfields. In 1869 he went Home to look after his interests in farming property there, and returned by way of Melbourne. For two or three years he travelled about the colonies, and particularly through the South Sea Islands. In 1872 he visited Auckland, and shortly afterwards settled down at Coromandel, where he has made a name for himself as an experienced and successful miner. For years he worked in the famous Hauraki mine; where, in 1894, his party discovered the lead since so well-known as “Legge's Reef,” As a volunteer Mr. Legge rose to the position of sergeant in the Coromandel Rifles, and was one of the half dozen of that corps who volunteered for active service at Parihaka. In all matters which could in any way promote the interests of mining, Mr Legge has ever been active, and he has earned for himself the esteem of the people with whom he has passed so many years. In 1870 Mr. Legge was married to Miss Tucker, daughter of the late Mr. William Tucker, of Broadenham House, near Bridport, Dorsetshire, and they have three sons and one daughter.
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Imperial Gold Mining Company,
                Limited (S. Howard, manager); Head Office Auckland; Mr. Henry Gilfiilan, secretary. This company's mine, which is situated at Karangahake, has an area of sixty acres. The company is engaged in developing and opening up its property, and large portions have been successfully operated since 1894. There are two sections, known as the Imperial and the United, and at present work is carried on in the latter section.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Howard,
                Mine Manager of the Imperial Mine, Karangahake, was born in Devonshire, England, in 1859. He was brought up as a miner in the north of England, and worked about eight years with his father. On arriving in Auckland on the 26th of September, 1870, by the ship “Jessie Readman,” Mr. Howard went to Huntly, and was afterwards at the Bay of Islands for five years. In 1885 he removed to the Thames, and became mine manager of the Orlando in 1895. He left the Thames on the 18th of February, 1897, to take up his present position. Mr. Howard is a Freemason, and was initiatea in Lodge Northern Light, Bay of Islands. He was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr. M. Maroney, bootmaker, of the Thames, and has three sons.
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                  The New Zealand Crown Mines Company, Ltd.
                
               
 Head office, 11 Cornhill, London, E.C. Directors, Sir Westby Perelval, K.C.M.G. (chairman), Messrs. J. E. D. Ryder, J. Wilson, M.P., J. Dunnachie, and Jacques Kulp, the Marquis d'Hautpoul, le Vieomte Charles du Peloux, Messrs. A. M. Mitechinson and W. A. Arrol; secretary, Mr. G. G. W. Hayward. This company's mines were capitalized by the New Zealand Exploration Company, Ltd., when they amalgamated the Earl of Glasgow claim with the old New Zealand Crown Mines Company, Ltd. The capital is £200,000, of which £50,000 is actual cash for developing and opening up the mines. When the company took over the mine in June, 1896, only twenty stamps were running; these have now been increased to forty, and there is a large water-race of ninety sluiceheads. This water power will drive a ten feet Pelton Water Wheel (3 nozzles), which is the largest in use in the Colony. The Pelton Wheel will drive an air compressor of 180 horse-power, the compressed air from which is used with a set of single cylinder pumping engines, 14 x 30, fitted to drive ten strokes per minute; the same power would also drive a pair of link motion geared hoisting engines, cylinders 12 1/2 x 15, with two drums fifty-nine lunches in diameter and four feet face. These are used for pumping and winding below the No. 6 level, and the compressor will also drive all the rock drills in the mine. The Crown Mines management intend to avail themselves largely of the rock drills, in order to expedite development. There are some 1600 feet of backs from the No. 6 level up to the Earl of Glasgow trig station at the top of the hill; but below this No. 6 level all the ore will have to be lifted by the winding plant, and water will have to be pumped from all levels below it. It is intended later on to drive the trucks by electric traction along the tramway to the battery, instead of the horse-power at present used. Electric power will also be conveyed to the battery from the same water-race, generated by the same water power, so that in the event of any accident to the Ohinemuri Race (belonging to the company), the battery would immediately be connected with the large Waitawheta water-race, and so there
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would be no stopping in the crushing process. As soon as the mine has been opened out more fully. It is intended to increase battery by another forty stamps. At present the ore is roasted and crushed dry, but the general manager, Mr. Daw, F.G.S. has succeeded in doing away with drying by crushing the ore wet, with a Cyanide solution passing through the stamper boxes, instead of water; the result in that there is a large saving in the cost of drying, and that about double the quantity may be crushed wet as against the dry process. In consequence of this success, it was decided to after the whole battery to crush wet, The mine is looking extremely well in all parts, and opening up beyond expectations. So soon as the capital now being expended in developments begins to bear fruit, It may fairly he expected that the mine will be a steady dividend producer for very many years to come. Mr. F. R. W. Daw is the general manager.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederick Richard William Daw,
                M.I.M.M., holds the position of Mining Engineer and General Manager to the New Zealand Crown Mines, Ltd. He was born in Devonshire, England, on the 25th of January, 1854, and is the second son of Mr. John Daw, of the Glen House, Stanmore, Middlesex. He received his education in Norway, where he was also trained in his profession of mining engineer and metallurgist. On returning to England, he worked at first principally in mines belonging to his father, afterwards serving under the late Lord Swansea. He was then appointed chief mining engineer of one of the largest departments under the Riotinto Company, of Spain. While with this company, Mr. Daw carried out one of the most extraordinary pieces of work ever executed in connection with mining, viz., laying a railway through the whole of the underground workings of the largest copper mine in the world, the mine affording employment to over 1500 hands. He came to New Zealand in November, 1895, and took up his present positions. Mr. Daw comes of a mining family, his aneestors on both sides having been connected with mining in Cornwall for centuries. He is married and has three sons.
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Mr. David Gardner Waddell,
                Accountant and Cashier to the New Zealand Crown Mines, Ltd., was born in Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1866. He was educated at Bathgate Academy, and, on leaving school, entered the employ of Messrs. Robert Addie and Sons, of Glasgow, his position with them gradually improving till he received an appointment in the head office. After a connection with the firm extending over a period of ten years, he left to take an appointment with Messrs. J. and W. Wood, as secretary to their Welsh and English collieries. This business being formed into a limited liability company, Mr. Waddell accepted an engagement with the Crown Mines Company, and left for New Zealand by the R.M.S. “Coptic” in February, 1894, to take up the duties of the position he now holds.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Gerorge Norman Mcgruer,
                Mine Manager to the New Zealand Crown Mines, Ltd., hails from Otago, where he was working for gold at the Lindis River, before “Gabriel's Gully” was opened up in 1862. As a pioneer miner, Mr. McGruer has been remarkably successful. He was one of those responsible for the discovery of the goldfields on the West Coast of the South Island, and was to the fore in the opening of the Brunner Coal Mine, in 1870 Mr. McGruer left the West Coast for the Thames district, and was working at Coromandel at the time of the Tokatea “rush.” He was one of the contractors for sinking the shaft of the Kapanga Mine, and, with others, discovered the goldfields at Preece's Point. Mr. McGruer claims to have been one of the pioneer miners on no less than nineteen separate fields. He was the first to discover gold in the present “Welcome” reef, and worked it for sometime for an Auckland company. Mr. McGruer opened up the Karanghake Gorge, where he had the singular and unenviable experience of prospecting for some years without a companion, with the solitary exception of a black cat. On the field becoming known, a company was formed to work the Crown Mine, and, when the New Zealand Exploration Company took it over, he was appointed to his present position. Mr. McGruer has been a member of the County Council for a number of years. He was gazetted a justice of the peace in 1894, and is a member of the Ohinemuri Masonic Lodge.
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Mr. James Napier,
               
 Metallurgist to the New Zealand Crown Mines, Ltd., was born in 1834 at Partick, near Glasgow, and was educated at the old Glasgow University. Mr. Napier has had a wide and varied experience. Starting life in a copper establishment near Swansea as assistant chemist, he soon afterwards went to Mexico, and was in the service of the Anglo-Mexican Mint Company as chemist and assayer. He wrote a series of papers dealing with metallurgical matters, some of which were published in the “Mining and Smelting Magazine” and the journal of the Chemical Society. Returning to England, Mr. Napier was with Messrs. Enthoven and Sons, metallurgists, of London, for nine years, and afterwards with the Tharsis Sulphur of Copper Company, Neweastle-on-Tyne. After spending three years in Africa at the Concordia Copper Mines, he again returned to London and entered the employment of Messers. Pontifex and Wood, engineers and chemical manufacturers, having charge of their chemical
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and metallurgical works for nine years. Mr. Napier came to New Zealand in 1885, and for two years was in the employ of the Endeavour Inlet Antimony Company. After a visit to the Thames he went to Karangahake, and shortly afterwards was engaged by the Cassel Company to conduct their early experiments with the Cyanide Process. Mr. Napier was subsequently for a short period with the To Aroha and Waihi Mining Companies, and in 1895 received his present appointment as metallurgist to the New Zealand Crown Mines.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Hutchison,
                Battery Manager, New Zealand Crown Mines, Ltd., was born in Edinburgh in 1848, and served his apprenticeship as a blacksmith and machinist with Messrs. Campbell, Smart and Co., of Glasgow. During the time he was with this firm, he carried out the iron work of the first machine for the Forth Bridge, also the iron work of the first of Sir William Thomson's deep sea sounding machines, and of the latter's patent compass. Mr. Hutch son left for India in 1882, under engagement with the Indian Gold Mines Company, of Glasgow, returning to Scotland in 1888, and two months later was sent to New Zealand by the same company, to erect the machinery at the Crown Mine. The company at first erected two of Lamberton's mills, and one of Lamberton's stonebreakers; these were used till August, 1892, when the company undertook the erection of the present plant, of which twenty head of stampers began work on the 29th of May, 1893, and an additional twenty head started to crush in August, 1896. Mr. Hutchison has charge of the ore, from the time it leaves the trucks till it is handed over to Mr. Napier for Cyanide treatment. An improved step furnace, which was designed by Mr. Hutchison, and has been in use at the battery for a few years, effects a saving both in time and fuel, and has given great satisfaction. The capacity of the furnace is four tons, and the consumption of fuel is one ton of firewood (rata) for every eight tons of ore. Mr. Hutchison is a member of the Ohinemuri Lodge of Freemasons, his mother lodge being St. Vincent, No. 553 S.C., Glasgow. He is married and has two sons.
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Mr. James Joseph Barratt,
                Foreman of the Cyanide Department of the New Zealand Crown Battery at Karangahake, was born in 1871, in County Cork, Ireland. He accompanied his parents to New Zealand in 1884, and after completing his school days, entered the Castle Company's battery at Karangahake, now owned by the New Zealand Crown Company. This battery was the first to adopt the cyanide process in New Zealand, and, entering it in 1888, Mr. Barratt steadily worked up from junior to the position of foreman, which he has held since 1893. Mr. Barratt's predecessor, who was poisoned in the battery, was an English expert, and took a great interest in him, giving him every assistance in his power.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Peter Conway,
                Assistant Foreman in the Cyanide Department of the New Zealand Crown Battery, was born in 1868, in Auckland, where he was brought up as a carpenter. He followed his trade till 1892, when he removed to the Ohinemuri district. On settling at Karangahake he was employed as a carpenter in connection with the Crown Battery, but he subsequently joined the staff as a general hand, and was promoted to the position of assistant foreman in 1896. Mr. Conway was married in May, 1896, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Conally, of the Thames, and has one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Douglass Little-John,
                Assayer of the New Zealand Crown Battery, Karangahake, was born in 1876, at the Thames, and was educated at Paeroa. In 1893, he joined the New Zealand Crown Company as junior in the assay department. He studied privately, and was promoted to the position of assayer in 1896. Mr. Littlejohn was married, in 1898, to a daughter of Mr. W. J. rower, of Paeroa, and has one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The New Zealand Talisman Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
                The plant on the company's machine site consists of an ore-breaker of reciprocating jaw type; a revolving ore-drier, capable of treating from forty to fifty tons per day (which is a great improvement on the kiln system of drying); ten head of 850 lb. stamps with single-discharge mortars; ten head of 1000 lb. stamps with double-discharge mortars; two wooden Cyanide vats, each sixteen feet in diameter, and four new Cyanide vats, each twenty-two feet in diameter (into which the pulverised ore is fed by means of a revolving ore-conveyor, thus obviating the necessity for the use of trucks, and greatly reducing the amount of dust in the atmosphere of the building). The tallings, after treatment by the Cyanide Process, rass over amalgamated copper plates for the extraction of the coarser gold, and the blanketings are subsequently treated in berdan pans, of which there are three, four feet in diameter, on the machine site. Water for the driving of the mill is conducted from the dam on the Waitawheta River, first through a short tunnel about ninety feet in length, then through an open cutting twenty feet in length, passing finally into a wrought iron pipe, four feet in diameter and 925 feet in length, which delivers the water into a concrete walled turbinepit, twenty-eight feet in depth. The motive power is generated by two Victor vertical turbines, twenty-one inches and twelve inches in diameter respectively, the latter being used for the operation of a dynamo, generating electric light for the works on the machine and special sites, offices, etc., and for transmitting power for various purposes to the special site. Such pulverised ore as cannot be dealt with by the Cyaniding plant on the machine site is conveyed by covered tram, across the Howe Truss Bridge erected over the Waitawheta River, to the entirely new Cyanide works on the company's special site—an area which had to be utilised owing to the limited size of the machine site. The Cyanide plant on the special site consists of eight wooden vats, each twenty-two feet in diameter, with the usual accessories, including amalgamated copper plates and three four feet berdans. The sumps are substantially built of concrete. The centrifugal and vacuum pumps on this site are driven by an electric motor operated by the dynamo on the machine site. Water for vat-sluicing, etc., is brought to the special site from the Hauraki Creek by means of a pipe three inches in diameter. It is expected that the mill will be able to treat a minimum of twenty-five tons a day, and it is hoped that the stamps will prove equal to as much as thirty tons per day. A No. 5 Krupp ball mill has, since its recent erection, largely increased the output of the works. In addition to the building, machinery and plant, bridge, etc., already referred to, suitable offices and residences for the mine manager (Mr. W. Goldsworthy) and the battery manager (Mr. C. H. Taylor) have been erected since the property was taken over by the new company. The consulting engineers and general managers of the property are Messrs. Bewick, Moreing and Co, of London, and these gentlemen are represented in the Colony by Mr. A. H. Curtis, who is the attorney of the company in New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Goldsworthy.
                Mine Manager to the New Zealand Talisman Gold Mining Company, Ltd., Karangahake, Ohinemuri district, was born at the Great Barrier, New Zealand, in 1844, his father having come to New Zealand under the auspices of the New Zealand Company in 1840. Mr. Goldsworthy was brought up as a miner in the copper mines at the Barrier and Kawau, and in 1862 started prospecting at Coromandel, continuing until the Maori War broke out. The Thames having been proclaimed a goldfield, he then directed his steps thitherwards, and, with his brother, met with considerable success at the Eureka and Nonparell Mines. The has been manager of the following principal mines:—“Homeward Bound,” “Una,” and “Dauntless,” at the Thames, and “Plutus,” Coromandel. When the Ohinemuri district was declared a goldfield, Mr. Goldsworthy was appointed manager to the Welcome Mine, Waitekauri,



and from this mine he brought ont the first gold return of the Upper Thames district, viz., 100 ounces from sixty tons of ore, the treatment being the wet crushing process. He has also been in all the mining centres of the Peninsula, his wide and varied experience and excellent character always winning a good position for him wherever he has been. After spending about fifteen months at the Welcome Mine, he decided to retire from mining pursuits, and so settled upon his estate at Mauku, in the Waikato district. While there he took an active part in local affairs, expending his energy in looking after the interests of all concerned. During the flax boom, Mr. Goldsworthy invested in a mill, and for two years went extensively into this branch of trade, but without any great success. The mining spirit being still strong within him, he could not content himself with a quiet, retired life, and therefore decided to again enter the fields and seek for the precious metal. Previously to doing so, however, he visited Australia, going through the principal mines in that part of the globe. On his return he accepted his present appointment. Mr. Goldsworthy, who resides near the mine, is married and has three children. He is a Freemason, his mother lodge being the Sir Walter Scott.
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Mr. Edward James Kitching,
                Accountant and Cashier to the New Zealand Talisman Gold Mines, Karangahake, was born in Auckland, where he also received his education. When the New Zealand Talisman Company was taken over by the English company in August, 1896, Mr. Kitching was appointed by Messrs. Bewick, Moreing and Co. to his present position.
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Mr. Charles Henry Taylor,
                M.I.M.E., N.Z., Battery Superintendent and Metallurgist to the New Zealand Talisman Gold Miniug Company, Ltd., Karangahake, Ohinemuri district, was born at Broughton, Lincolnshire, in 1866. He was educated at the Grammar School, Brigg, and at the University College, Nottingham, and served his apprenticeship with the firm of Hind and Son, machine and tool makers, Nottingham. He came to New Zealand by the S.S. “Ionic,” in 1885, then went to Kimberley and West Australia, and was for eighteen months engaged in exploring in New Guinea. After a visit to England, Mr. Taylor returned to the Colony, being one of a syndicate who had purchased the Kuranui Mine, Thames, where he worked for six years. Whilst at the Thames he studied at the School of Mines, and, having passed the necessary examinations, took the position of battery superintendent to the Monowai Mine, Waiomo, in which he found one of the most refractory ores ever submitted to the Cyanide Process. Mr. Taylor was one of the original shareholders and promoters of the Company. On leaving the “Monowai,” he took up the position of battery superintendent to the “Talisman,” and, when this property was bought by the English company, was appointed to his present position. All the new plant has been crected under Mr. Taylor's supervision.
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The Talisman Consolidated Gold Mining Company,
                Limited, is a London Company. It was established in 1900, and Mr. A. H. Curtis is attorney at the Auckland office. The company's mine consists of the Talisman Extended, the Crown Extended, and the Royal Mail licensed holdings, in all 198 acres in extent.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Goldsworthy,
                Mine Manager of the Talisman Consolidated Mine, was born in Parrnell, in 1851, and was educated in Auckland. He has had a mining experience of over thirty years, having been present at the first opening of the Thames goldfield. About 1880 he was underground manager at the Queen of May mine, Thames, and was afterwards mine manager of the Hit-or-Miss mine at Waiorongomai. He held other important and responsible positions between that time and the date of his present appointment. Mr. Goldsworthy was married in March, 1875, to a daughter of Mr. A. Rowe, of Adelaide, and has four sons and five daughters.

            

            

              
              


                
Waverley Gold Mining Company (N.L.).
                The property is situated at Kanrangahake, with an area of about sixty-three acres. Considerable work in the shape of driving has been done in the mine, which is under the supervision of Mr. William Tregoweth. Mr. D. G. MacDonnell is the legal manager. The capital is £6,500 in shares of two shillings each.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Mr. William Tregoweth,
                Mine Manager of the Waverley Mine, Karangahake, first saw the light in Cornwall, and set sail for New Zealand in March, 1865, in the ship “Bombay.” He landed at Auckland, and went to the Thames in October, 1867, being employed at the Prince Alfred Crushing Mill, which was the first public mill at the Thames. Here he assisted in the treatment of the first ore from the Golden Crown Mine, which gave a result of fifty-four ounces to the ton. He prospected and found the well-known Sylvia Mine, the ore in which was very rich, but of such a refractory nature that there was no known treatment for it. Mr. Tregoweth has prospected and worked all over the Peninsula. At Waiomo he prospected some years ago, finding the same refractory ore. He was one of the pioneers of the Waihi and Karngahake Goldfields, and one of the first owners of the Waihi-Martha Company. Mr. Tregoweth was a joint-owner of the Waihi mine many years ago, and for eleven years could only get working expenses out of it, as the process then in use was not suited to the class of ore to be treated. At present Mr. Tregoweth is managing the Waverley claim. He has been on the Coromandel Peninsula for over thirty years, principally at Waihi and Karangahake.
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The Woodstock Gold Mining Company, Ltd.,
                Karangahake, was registered on the 30th of July, 1895, and is essentially an English company, most of the shares being held in the Old Country. Its capitalisation is £150,000 in shares of £1 each, fully paid up. At the time of its registration it had a working capital of £40,000. The London office is at 6 Draper's Gardens, E.C., and the secretary is Mr. Alexander H. Singleton: the directors are Messrs. P. G. Hamilton Carvill. M.P., E. R. Simpson, and Leonard Welstead. Mr. Charles Rhodes, of the Kauri Freehold Gold Estates Company, Ltd., is the company's representative in New Zealand, having been appointed to that position in the early part of 1897. The property, which is situated at Karangahake, Ohinemuri district, consists of seventy-two acres, and is of such a nature that sinking is unnecessary, the whole of the work being carried on by means of adit levels, drives, and cross-cuts. A battery of forty stampers is driven entirely by water power, the position of the works affording an opportunity of utilising both the Ohinemuri River and the Waitawheta Stream, which runs through the Karangahake Gorge.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frank A. Rich,
                B.Sc., M.A.I.M.E A.M.I.R.E., M.I.M.E., and M.C.I.M.M., General Manager of the Woodstock Gold Mining Company, is referred to on page 
469.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Clement Augustus Cornes,
                Junior, Mine Manager of the Woodstock Gold Mining Company, was born in 1868 at the Thames, and has been engaged in mining since he was thirteen years of age. From 1885 to 1890 Mr. Crones was shift manager and blacksmith at Te Aroha. He left that district in 1890, and was for some time working in a tribute for his brother. Afterwards he had a contract in the Woodstock mine, and subsequently, worked on wages for tributers in the same mine. Mr. Cornes became an employee of the Woodstock Company in 1891, and was promoted to be leading band during the same year. Three years later he became underground manager, and succeeded Mr. McCombie as mine manager. Mr. Cornes' certificate as a mine manager was issued in 1898. He was married on Boxing Day, 1889, to a daughter of Mr. F. Morgan, of Waitekauri, and has one son and one daughter.
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Mr. Richard David Jones,
                Accountant and Cashier of the Woodstock Gold Mining Company, Karangahake, was born at the Thames, Auckland, in 1874, and educated at the Thames High School, from which he matriculated, and became a teacher under the Edcation Board, the service of which he left in 1895 to take his present position with the Woodstock Company. Mr. Jones is an able amateur photographer.
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The Victoria Battery,
                Waikino, the property of the Waihi Gold Mining Company, started in the early part of 1898. The buildings, of which there are a large number, are all constructed of corrugated iron, and concrete floors are in use throughout. The motive power of the battery is derived from (1) the Ohinemuri river, the fall being 50 feet, equal to 500 horse-power or 100 sluice heads; (2) the Waitekauri river, with a fall of 200 feet, equal to 200 horse-power or twenty sluice heads; and (3) the Owharoa Falls, having a fall of over 100 feet, which is equal to 100 horse-power, or twenty sluice heads. Turbines and Pelton wheels are in use in connection with the water power, and there is also a compound Fowler steam engine, with an indicated capacity of 150 horse-power, the steam for which is supplied from a Babcock water tube boiler, of 158 horse-power. In May, 1900, an additional hundred-head of stampers was being erected, and a new steam compound side-by-side jet condensing engine of 600 horse-power was being fitted up. The steam for this engine is to be produced in five Babcock boilers, with a working pressure of 150 pounds each, and the power will be transmitted from the engine by thirteen steel ropes. The stampers are in two sets of fifty, on the back-to-back principle, with hopper between them, and are intended for crushing by the wet process. Each stamper has a drop weight of 1250 pounds. The product from the stamps will be elevated 72 feet by four specially designed rain-pumps. Twenty head of the stampers are to be fixed with copper-plated tables, and a set of six Union concentrators, with six belts for treating the mineralised ore experimentally. The first hundred head of stampers at the Victoria battery is worked by the dry crushing process, the ore being first passed through a stone-breaking plant, consisting of two No. 5 and two No. 3 Gates' crushers, and one Blake-Marsden crusher. The stuff is reduced in these machines to inch and a half pieces, and is conveyed by an elevator to the top of the building, where it is taken by a cable-tram into hoppers, and is fed automatically to the stamps. The sand and slimes are passed on from the stamps to the treatment plant, where there are five vats, each 38 feet in diameter by 8 feet deep, capable of holding 480 tons each. After treatment by the cyanide process the produce passes through filter presses, and the solution containing the gold is treated in zinc towers, where the bullion is extracted. The entire plant is up to date in every respect. Mr. S. Fraser, the battery manager, designed the original mill, and has supervised its erection, and he has also largely designed now (1901) in course of completion.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Fraser,
                Engineer and Battery Manager, who has been in charge of the Victoria Battery since its opening, is a younger son of Mr. George



Fraser, engineer, of Auckland, and was born in Auckland in 1870, receiving his early education at Wellesley Street School, under Mr. Henry Worthington. On leaving school he was apprenticed to the engineering with Messrs. G. Fraser and Sons. During his connection with that firm he received a thorough course of training in the various branches of engineering, and for some years had charge of their experimental plant for gold and silver ores, thereby gaining a practical knowledge of the necessary treatment of the various classes of ore, he was also connected with several mining companies, conducting experiments on their behalf. In February, 1896, Mr. Fraser joined the Waitekauri Gold Mining Company, Ltd., prior to the erection of their new mill, on the completion of which he accepted an engagement with the Waihi Gold Mining Company, Ltd., to design the plans for their new 100 stamp mill, erected at Walkino. Since then he has been appointed to the position of superintending engineer for the new mill. Mr. Fraser, although a young man, has come into prominence, and has before him a brilliant professional career.
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Mr. Henry Benner,
                Accountant for the Victoria Battery, Waikino, was born in County Tipperary, Ireland, in 1868. He was educated in Cork, and was brought up to a mercantile life. Mr. Benner came to Wellington by the s.s. “Rumutaka,” and settled in Te Puke, where he was engaged in farming for several years. He was appointed to his present position in November, 1896, and had been for one year previously accountant at Brown's sawmills, Waihi.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Alfred McKenna,
                Battery Foreman at the Victoria Battery, Waikino, was born in 1873 at the Thames, where he was educated, and brought up to mining. In 1891 he settld at Waihi, where he entered the employment of the Waihi Company, and was engaged in the general work in the fitting shop and yards for about three years. He became assistant battery foreman at the Waihi battery in 1895, but owing to an accident at football, which, resulted in a broken leg, he was laid up for seven months. After his recovery he was appointed foreman at the Victoria battery on the 24th of January, 1898. Mr. McKenna still takes considerable interest in athletics, and is vice-president of the Waikino Football Club. He is also a Druid, and is attached to Lodge Pride of the Waihi.
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Mr. Thomas Archibald Dickson,
                Outside Foreman at the Victoria Battery, Waikino, was born in Bedfordshire, England, in 1870. He came to Wellington with his parents in 1880, was educated in the Rangitikei district, and was employed for some time as a flaxmiller in Te Aroha and the Rangitikei district. Mr. Dickson afterwards worked on his own account for some years in Rangitikei and in Hawke's Bay, and removed in 1896 to Waikino, where he has since occupied his present position. He was married on the 31st of January, 1900, to a daughter of Mr. W. McLaren, of Mary borough, Victoria.
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Mr. John Tracy Knight,
               
 Electrician at the Victoria Battery, Waikino, was born in London, in 1857. He gained his early education at Bishop Stortford, Herts, and in Zurich, Switzerland, where he served his time as a mechanical engineer with the firm of Escher, Wyss, and Company, with whom he was for four years; and also at the locomotive works, Winterthur, near Zurich. Mr. Knight was afterwards employed as a mechanical engineer at Geneva, where he got his first experience in electrical work, with a company formed for promoting and carrying out scientific investigations. In 1876. Mr. Knight was sent by the company to the South Kensington Science and Art Exhibition, London, in charge of exhibits of ice-making machinery, dynamos, and other exhibits. Two years later Mr. Knight came to Port Chalmers by the ship “Wanganui,” and was for eighteen months employed by Mr. John Anderson at his foundry in Christchurch. In 1880, Mr. Knight took up music as a profession, and found congenial employment for about fourteen years in Christchurch, Lyttelton, and Auckland. In 1895 he entered the service of Messrs John Chambers and Son, by whom he was sent to Ohinemuri and Thames, to fit up electrical instalments at
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various plants in the district. He afterwards entereu the service of the Waihi Company, became pattern-maker at the Victoria battery, and was appointed electrician in January, 1900. Mr. Knight was married, in 1885, to a daughter of Mr. J. Sandford, of Heath-cote Valley, Christchurch, but she died in 1886, leaving one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Edwards,
                Foreman Carpenter at the Victoria Battery, Waikino, was born in London in 1854. At the age of fifteen he went to the Brazils as a boy before the mast, but left his vessel at Rio, and went into the interior and worked for nine months on the Sandhurst and San Paulo railroad. Mr. Edwards afterwards rounded. Cape Horn and went to California, where he worked as a carpenter on the Central Pacific railway for eight years, and was for two years of that time foreman carpenter. After a year in the Eastern States of America, he came to Auckland in 1879, and was engaged in the building trade at Auckland and Cambridge. He was afterwards foreman for Mr. D. Fallon, contractor for the Thames Valley railway. Subsequently he went to Victoria, and was engaged in the building trade in Melbourne. On returning to Auckland in 1894, he was employed at Morrinsville and at Waitekauri, and has been at the Victoria battery since 1897. Mr. Edwards was married in October, 1882, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. P. Priestly, of Parnell, Auckland, and has two daughters and two sons.
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Mr. George Yearbury,
                who is one of the staff of carpenters at the Victoria Battery, was born in Adelaide, South Australia, in 1865. He came to Auckland with his parents in 1877, and learned his trade with Messrs Philcox and Son, builders. In 1889 he went to Melbourne and had two years' experience in connection with his trade, and on his return to the Colony he was on the Kuaotunu goldfield for three years. With a partner, he built the Kuaotunu Quartz Crushing Company's battery, and afterwards erected, on his own account, additions to the Try Fluke battery, and was engaged in other work in the district. After a year in Auckland, where he was engaged in housebuilding, Mr. Yearbury settled at Waihi. In 1891, he entered the employment of the Waihi Company, for which he built a number of cyanide vats, and was afterwards engaged in the building of the Waitekauri battery. In 1897 he was appointed to the position he still holds at the Victoria battery. He was married, in March, 1891, to a daughter of Mr. T. Barnaby, of Auckland, and has two sons and one daughter.

              

                

[image: Mr. G. Yearbury.]
Mr. 
G. Yearbury.


              

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Waitekauri



            
Waitekauri

            

              
              


                

                  The Waitekauri Branch Of The Thames Miners' Union
                
                was established in 1895. The office is in Jamaica Street, and there are about thirty members, including Mr. D. Davey, president, and Mr. R. G. Farrelly, steward.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Grace Darling Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                
                The property is situated at Waitekauri, and has an area of about seventy-four aeres. The company was formed on the 26th of January, 1894, and registered on the 30th of the same month. The nominal capital is £30,000 in shares of ten shillings each, upon which six shillings and sixpence has been paid up. The legal manager is Mr. J. B. Sheath, and the mine manager Mr. Samuel Draffin, under whose supervision considerable development has been made. The mine is worked by means of adit levels and drives. There is an abundance of backs, and a good supply of water. A mill with ten head of stampers has been erected, and some excellent stone has been obtained. The average number of men kept constantly at work is six.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Draffin,
                Mine Manager of the Grace Darling Gold Mine, Waitekauri, was born in Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1840. He was educated in his native county, and, when fourteen years of age, left with his parents for Australia. In 1854 he was engaged in mining with his father at Ballarat, and afterwards worked on most of the alluvial fields in Victoria. Seven years later he arrived in Otago, New Zealand, and was one of the first at Gabriels Gully and other “rushes” in that province. In the following year Mr. Draffin visited British Columbia, where he took part in the famous Cariboo “rush.” After two years, during which he visited the Western States of America, he returned to New Zealand, and again tried his fortune on various fields in Otago. When the “rush” to the West Coast took place, he was among the first to arrive there, and was engaged in prospecting along the coast, from Hokitika downwards, in country which, it is alleged, had never till then been trodden by the foot of a European. Subsequently he worked on almost every part of the West Coast of the South Island, and finally settled down at Fox's (now called Brighton), between Westport and Greymonth, where he remained for sixteen years. In 1882 he removed to the Thames, and was for many years mining in various parts of the Peninsula. On the outbreak of the Coolgardie “rush” in 1894, Mr. Draffin went to West Australia, but, owing to failing health, was compelled to return to New Zealand, and soon after his arrival he was appointed to his present position. Mr. Draffin is elsewhere referred to as a member of the Ohinemuri County Council, and as proprietor of the Hauraki Hotel, Waitekauri. He is married, and has seven sons and one daughter.
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The Waitekauri Gold Mining Company,
                Limited. This company was registered in London on the 6th of May, 1895, and has a capital of £150,000 in £1 shares, 143,000 of which were privately subscribed. The London office is at 11 Abchurch Lane,



E.C., and the secretary is Mr. Hubert Akers. The majority of the shares are held in England, from ten to fifteen thousand having been taken up in New Zealand. The property, which has an area of 1710 acres, comprises the Golden Cross section, of 1400 acres, the Komata section, 300 acres, and the old Waitekauri mine, about ten acres, containing large reefs of gold and silver. There are o tteries water-races, a cyanide department, assey offices, etc. Two shafts have been sunk in the Golden Cross section, both of which are equipped with winding and pumping engines. Atramway, five miles in length, connects the mine and the Waitekauri battery, which was started in 1896. The Golden Cross battery, which has ten heads of stampers, was started several years previously. A low level adit, which, when completed, will be 6200 feet in length, will connect with the 400 feet level at the Golden Cross mine. In May, 1900, this drive had been completed to a distance of 2300 feet. Another low level tunnel, driven from the Grace Darling creek, to connect with the Te Ao Marama mine of the Komata section, will, when completed, be 4300 feet, 1300 feet of which had been completed in May, 1900. There are from 350 to 400 men employed in connection with the Waitekauri mine and batteries, and up to May, 1900, over a quarter of a million pounds' worth of gold had been obtained.

              

                

[image: The Battery, Waitekauri Gold Mining Co. Ltd.]
The Battery, Waitekauri Gold Mining Co. Ltd.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Claude Purchas,
                Surveyor of the Waitekauri Gold Mining Company, is the fourth son of the Rev. Dr. Purchas, of Auckland, He was born at Onenunga in 1861, educated at the Church of England grammar school, and at the Auckland College; studied surveying in Auckland, and was for five years employed by the Colonial Sngar Company in Fiji. In 1895, he settled at Waitekauri, and was appointed to his present position. Mr. Purchas was married, in 1898, to a daughter of Mr. W. M. Eliot, of Auckland, and has one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Henry Christie,
                Mine Manager of the Waitekauri Limited Mine, of the Waitekauri Gold Mining Company, was born in Napier on the 21st of July, 1861, and was educated at Auckland. From Auckland he went to the Thames when sixteen years of age, and started his apprenticeship to mining, at the Alburnia mine, then under the management of Mr. James Gribble, and continued there also during the managerships of Messrs Hooper, Higgins, Hall, S. Gribble, and T. Radford. He then worked in the Prospectors' mine at Tairua, under the management of Mr. John Hall. After that he was successively employed at the Moanataiari mine, under Mr. R. Coomer, the Kuranui or Long Drive, under Mr. Walker, and again at the Alburnia mine under the management of Mr. T. Radford. During this period he took a portion of the Alburnia mine on tribute, and very successinlly worked a reef which is still known as Christie's reef. He then had a tribute in the Radical mine, Owharoa, where he obtained good specimens and ore that was worth sixteen ounces perton. After serving five years to the coach-making trade with Mr. J. Mackay, at Auckland, he returned to the Thames, and entered the coach-building business with a partner, but did not succeed in that undertaking. He then went to work at the Fame and Fortune mine, under the management of Mr. E. K. Cooper. Mr. Christie subsequently took Dickson's mine on tribute, from Mr. James Darrow, and had tributes in the Kuranui mine, and Tookey's mine, and again worked at the Fame and Fortune. Thence he was appointed manager for the New Zealand Jubilee Gold Mining Company at Waitekauri, and held the position for three years. He was then for another year at the Fame and Fortune mine, and was appointed to his present position on the 22nd of June, 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Murray,
                Accountant, Cashier, and Storekeeper to the Waite-kauri Gold Mining Company, was born in Edinburgh, Scotland, in 1856, and was educated partly in that city and partly in Otago, where he arrived in the early sixties, his parents having settled there in 1857. On completing his education, he was for a few years in the service of the Bank of New Zealand on the Otago Goldfields, and has been connected with mining and milling in the Otago and Auckland provinces ever since, with the exception of some five years. On the 1st of May, 1895, he was appointed to his present position, and is the oldest servant of the company at the works.
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Mr. Benjamin John Maclean,
                Mine Manager of the Te Ao Marama portion of the Waitekauri Gold Mining Company's Mine, usually called the Komata section, was born in England, and was educated at St. John's College, Auckland. He came to New Zealand with his father, the late Mr. Benjamin Maclean, Deputy Property Tax Commissioner, in the early days, Mr. Maclean commenced his mining career at the Thames in 1875, and was afterwards for a good many years on the West Coast. He has held the position of mine manager for several mines.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert Clarke,
                Battery Superintendent at the Waitekauri Battery, was born at Lorsova, near Moscow, Russia, in 1877, and was educated partly in England and partly in New Zealand, having arrived in Auckland with his parents in 1886. After three years at bush work, he went to the Thames, and having studied two years at the School of Mines, gained a certificate in assaying, metallurgy, chemistry, and surveying, In 1897, Mr. Clarke sat for his examination as battery as battery superintedent, and gained his certificate,



and also a certificate as assayer of bullion for the Customs Department.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Dance,
                Battery Foreman at the Waitekauri Company's Battery, was born in Queensland, in 1859. He settled at Waitekauri in 1883, was afterwards for four years foreman at the Waihi battery, and was appointed to his present position in June, 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Hunter,
                Shift Boss in the Cyanide Department of the Waitekauri Battery, was born in Lincoln, England, in 1857. He was educated at Dr. Boyer's Gos berton Hall School, and was brought up as a farmer. He came out to Australia in 1884, and six months later arrived in New Zealand. For several years he had charge of the Lincoln and Leicester flocks of the Auckland Stud Company, and was subsequently farming on his own account at Walton, Waikato. In 1896, he settled at Waitekauri, where he joined the battery staff, and was promoted in 1898 to his present position. Mr. Hunter was married, in 1884, to a daughter of the late Mr. Bulmer, of Lincoln.
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Mr. Augustus Bressan Watson,
                Shift Boss in the Cyamde Department at the Waitekauri Battery, was born in Auckland in 1874. After seven years of mercantile life in Queen Street he removed to Waihi in February. 1895, and worked for nearly a year at the Waihi battery, and afterwards at the Silverton battery for a short time. In March, 1897, Mr. Watson settled in Waitekauri, where he had nearly two years' experience in the assay department, and became a shift boss at the end of 1898. He is a member of the Loyal Waitekauri and Golden Cross Lodge of Oddfellows, and holds a New Zealand Government battery superintendent's certificate, gained by examination, in January, 1900, at the Waihi School of Mines.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Ernest Browne,
                who is an Assistant in the Cyanide Department at the Waitekauri Battery, was born at Hokitika, in 1872, and educated at the High School, Napier, and at Auckland grammar school. He served six years in the soft goods department with Messrs MeArthur and Co., in Auckland, and afterwards spent two years in sheep farming at Wanganui. In 1896, Mr. Browne removed to the Thames, and found employment as a miner, in the Darwin mine, for a year. For a short while subsequently, he was employed at the Kaponga mine, Coromandel, and afterwards at the Golden Falls mine, Whangamata, whence he returned to the Thames to take the position of manager of the Darwin gold mine. While at the Thames, he attended the Thames School of Mines for two years, and has been employed at the Waitekauri battery since May, 1899.
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Mr. Robert Boyd Kidd,
                Battery Foreman of the Golden Cross Battery, is the youngest son of the Rev. Dr. Kidd, of Auckland, where he was born in 1871. He entered commercial life and was for some time engaged in travelling. In 1895 Mr. Kidd commenced to study at the Thames School of Mines, where he gained a certificate for assaying by the wet and dry processes, and gained a partial pass in battery superintendence. He was appointed battery foreman at Golden Cross in 1899, and had worked previously for six months at the Ethel Reefs battery at the Thames.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Robert Hedge,
               
 Shift Boss at the Golden Cross Mine, was born in 1867 at Ross, Westland, where he was brought up to mining. After working about eight years on the West Coast he removed to Tasmania, in various parts of which he was engaged in silver, copper, and gold mining for about six years. On returning to New Zealand in 1895 he settled at the Golden Cross, and worked as a miner, but was promoted to his present position in 1897. He is a member of the Loyal Waitekauri and Golden Cross Lodge
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of Oddfellows. Mr. Hedge was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. G. Howard, of Devonport, Tasmania, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Mr. Lawrence Brown Tough,
                Foreman Carpenter of the Golden Cross Mine, was born in 1864 in Aberdeen, Scotland. He served his apprenticeship in his native place as a building carpenter, and came out to Melbourne in 1888. Five years later Mr. Tough removes to Dunedin, where he remained about two years. He subsequently settled at Waihi, where he worked a short time in connection with the Waithi battery, and was appointed to his present position in July, 1895. Mr. Tough is connected with the Kaitangata Lodge of Oddfellows, Otago, and was chairman of the Golden Cross branch of the Thames Miners' Union in 1900. He was married in November, 1897, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Sibley, of Geelong, Victoria, and has one daughter.
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Mr. Ralph Heron,
                Pitman in charge of the pumps at the Golden Cross Mine, was born in the north of England in 1856. He was brought up to mining, and went, in 1874, to Germany, where he followed that occupation. Mr. Heron came to Auckland in 1876, and was employed for two years at the Union Beach mine, Coromandel. He then entered the employment of the Bay of Islands Coal Company, and five years later settled in the Thames, district. Shortly afterwards Mr. Heron went to Kamo, where he remained for two years, and then he returned to the Thames, where he worked for three years, and was then for a year at Huntly. He settled in the Ohinemuri district in 1895, since which he has lived at Waihi and Waitekauri respectively, and was appointed to his present position at the Golden Cross mine in 1897. Mr. Heron owns a small farm of eighty-six aeres at Pukekohe, where he intends to make his permanent home. He was married, in 1877, to a daughter of the late Mr. Patterson, of Otahuhu, and has four sons and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. David Simpson,
                one of the Cyanide Staff at the Golden Cross Battery, was born in Auckland in 1860. and was appointed to his present position in 1897.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frank Rooney,
                formerly Mine Manager of the Waitekauri Gold Mine, is a native of Castleblayney, County Monaghan, in the north of Ireland, where he was born in 1842. After receiving his education, and spending some time in Cumberland, he sailed in 1863 for Vietoria, where he was engaged in gold mining pursuits, occupying the position of mine manger of the “New Chum United” Gold Mining Company at Bendigo. He, however, did not stay long in that colony. Crossing over to New Zealand, he first visited the Dunstan and other mining centres of Otago. He was then for three or four years mine manager of the All England Eleven Gold Mining and Sluieing Company. From Otago he proceeded to the West Coast, and was manager of the Steam Drainage Company at Kanierl. He afterwards went to the Grey Valley, and in 1873 was manager of the Band of Hope Mine at Reefton. Mr. Rooney was next appointed mine manager of the famous “Welcome” Gold Mine, retaining the position for fourteen years, and during that period the mine paid over £200,000 in dividends. Thence he entered the service of the Big River Gold Mining Company, and was afterwards for some time mine manager at the Waitekauri mine. Mr. Rooney may be said to have been engaged in mining all his life. He is married and has two sons and one daughter.
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Mr. William McLellan,
               
 formerly Battery Superintendent and Metallurgist to the Waitekauri Gold Mining Company, is a native of Glasgow, Scotland, where he was born In 1878. He was educated in his native elty and apprenticed to the profession of metallurgist and chemist with a very well known copper mining company (the Tharsis Sulphur and Copper Company). On completing his term he joined the Cassell Gold Extracting Company, and was for some time in their experimental laboratory In Glasgow, being then sent to South Africa as chemist and metallurgist for the African Gold Recovery Company, with whom he completed a four years' agreement. Mr. McLellan was for six years Cyanide manager of the Orion Gold Mining Company at Johannesburg. In February, 1897, he came to New Zealand. Mr. McLellan is a member of the Chemical and Metallurgical Society of South Africa.
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Mr. Alexander Spiers Thorburn,
                formerly Manager of the British Empire Gold Mine, Waitekauri (now closed down), was born at Auckland in 1858, and is a son of Mr. William Lang Thorburn, one of Auckland's earliest settlers, who came to the Colony in the ship “Grand Duchess” in 1842. After the goldfields were opened at the Thames, Mr. W. L. Thorburn engaged in mining pursuits, and was for a time manager of a mine at Tararu Creek. The subject of this notice gained his mining experience with his father, and was afterwards engaged in various mines, a period of three years being spent at the Waitekauri Battery, under the late Mr. E. M. Corbett. In 1893 he received the appointment of mine manager of the British Empire Mine. A member of the Masonic fraternity and of the order of Oddfellows, Mr. Thorburn takes also a great interest in athletics. He is married and resides at Waitekauri, where he is a member of the School Committee.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edward Man Corbett,
                sometime of Waitckauri, was one of the oldest and best known mining engineers on the Hauraki Goldfields. He was born at Appleton, Berkshire, in March, 1842, and was educated primarily at the Parish School, and afterwards at the Blue Coat School, Oxford. On leaving school he was apprenticed for seven years to Mr. Alfred White, agricultural implement maker, of Besselsleigh, Berks. After the expiration of his term he was for twelve months at Fifield, Berks, with Mr. William White, the wellknown engineer and agricultural implement maker, who offered to take Mr. Corbett into partnership. Mr. Corbett having decided, however, to try this colony, he, on the 2nd of August, 1864, left London by the ship “British Trident,” and arrived in Auckland on the 5th of November of the same year. Shortly after landing he accepted an engagement with Messrs. Vickery and Masenerd, the then well-known Auckland engineering nrm, and remained with them until the opening of the Thames Goldfields in 1867, when he resigned to follow the “rush” to that district. After working as a miner for about six months Mr. Corbett started in business as a mechanical and mining engineer. For some time he had charge of the “Homeward Bound” Battery at the Kuranui Creek, where he met with a serious accident. On recovering, he took charge of the pumping and winding machinery at the imperial Crown Company's shaft (now known as the “Big Pump” shaft). This position he held for about twelve months, when he was appointed by the Moanataiari Gold Mining Company to take charge of their battery (the “Victoria”) and pumping and winding machinery in the Moanataiari Creek. After about eighteen months his directors decided to build a larger and more complete battery on the beach, and Mr. Corbett was instructed to draw up a plan and prepare specmcations of a mill he thought best suited for their class of ore. The plans were duty completed and approved by the directors, and Mr. Corbett proceeded with the work of erection at once. The mill embodied all the then latest appliances for gold saving and the economy of labour, and is claimed to have been the first on the Thames with a complete assay plant. Mr. Corbett supervised and carried out this work to the entire satisfaction of his directors, at a time when materials were at their highest price, the cost of the whole plant being £13,500. He resigned the charge of the mill after twelve months. On the opening of the Oninemuri Goldfield, Mr. Corbett, in conjunction with some of his late directors, entered into an agreement with the shareholders of some of the Waitekauri claims to erect a forty-one stamp mill, and connect it with the mines by a tramway. After preparing plans and specifications, he carried out the erection and construction of this work to the entire satisfaction of all parties. In the meantime the whole concern had been floated into a company, and Mr. Corbett was placed in charge of the mill. After a year and a half he took charge of the mine as well, and held this position for over three years. During the whole of that period (five years) he took down to the Thames £100,000 worth of gold. Shortly afterwards it was decided to let the whole of the mine in sections on tribute. On the expiration of the term for which they were let, some of the sections were re-applied for and granted, others were abandoned. One of these latter was proved to contain a considerable quantity of low grade ore, and Mr. Corbett (at this time lessee of the mill) entered into an arrangement with two others to take charge of this section, he to crush the ore won on percentage. After about three months of ordinary work a rich reef was cut, from which, during the succeeding nine months, £24,000 worth of gold was won. For some time previously mining in the Waitekauri district had been at a very low ebb, but this revived the industry; prospecting operations were extended to the surrounding districts, and gold was discovered at Waihi, in the now famous “Martha” Lode. About six years after this discovery the present Waihi Company was formed, and Mr. Corbett, although suffering very much from rheumatism at that time, was appointed superintending engineer to the company, with instructions to prepare plans, etc., and to supervise the erection of a crushing and pan plant; he afterwards, on two occasions, undertook and carried out the erection of other important portions of their present mill at Waihi. Mr. Corbett was afterwards in business as a consulting and mining engineer. As he possessed a thorough knowledge of the goldfields of the Hauraki Peninsula, his services were constantly in demand. Mr. Corbett represented the Waitekauri Riding in the Ohinemuri County Council for many years. He was elected a member of the Goldfields' Committee in the first council of the Auckland Chamber of Mines, and was a member of the New Zealand Institute of Mining Engineers. Mr. Corbett had been twice married, and had ten surviving children—six sons and four daughters. He met his death on the 21st of January, 1898, through a buggy accident.
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Waihi School Of Mines.
                This school is supervised by a local committee of management. The director is Mr. P. G. Morgan, M.A.; Mr. E. G. Banks is the treasurer. The school was established in 1897, and is attended by a large number of students, most of whom are practical miners and battery men, who earnestly apply themselves to the study of the theoretical side of their daily work. Many of the students have passed examinations for mine managers and battery superintendents. The course of study includes (1) mining, (2) mathematics, (3) land and mine surveying, (4) mineralogy, (5) geology, (6) mechanical




drawing, (7) assaying, (8) practical and theoretical chemistry, and (9) metallurgy.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Percy Gates Morgan,
                M.A., Director of the Waihi School of Mines, was born at Richmond, near Hobart, Tasmania, in 1867, and came to New Zealand with his parents when a child. Educated in one of the public schools and at the Boys' High School, Dunedin, he in 1885 began his scholastic career at the University of Otago having gained a University Scholarship. He took the degrees of B.A. and M.A. (New Zealand University), and received diplomas from the Otago School of Mines in mining surveying and mining engineering. Mr. Morgan was engaged in coal mining for some years in Otago, but, on coming to the North Island, was placed in charge of a battery and Cyanide plant at Waitekauri. Leaving that position, he was appointed assistant lecturer to the Thames School of Mines, and in 1897 received the appointment of director of the Waihi School of Mines. Mr. Morgan is a certificated battery superintendent and an Associate of the New Zealand Institute of Mining Engineers.
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                  The Waihi Branch Of The Thames Miners' Union
                
                was established in 1892. A wooden building in Main Street is used as a meeting hall, secretary's office, and reading room by the branch, and the reading room, which is well supplied with periodicals and newspapers, is open three nights a week. The officers for 1900 are: Messrs F. Stewart (chairman), C. J. Molloy (secretary), and a committee of seven.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Farquhar Stewart,
                Chairman of the Waihi Branch of the Thames Miners' Union, was born in 1866, in Tasmania. Since 1888, he has followed mining successively in Tasmania, Victoria, New South Wales, and New Zealand. He arrived on the West Coast in 1894, and worked as a miner at Reefton. Two years later he removed to Waihi, and has been employed as a mining contractor and miner since his arrival. Mr. Stewart has been a member of the Miners' Union since settling in the district, and was elected to the chairmanship of the branch in August, 1899. He is one of the Waihi representatives of the Union's Executive Council, which meets at the Thames. Mr. Stewart, after studying at the Waihi School of Mines, sat for and passed his examination in February, 1900, as a first-class mine manager, and was elected by the Waihi School of Mines as a member of the Council of Management. He is an officer of the Loyal John Leyden Lodge of Oddfellows.
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Mr. Charles Joseph Molloy,
                J.P., Secretary of the Waihi Branch of the Thames Miners' Union, was born in County Roscommon, Ireland, in 1860. He was brought up to agriculture, and came to Auckland in the ship “Earl Granville,” in 1880. After mining at Coromandel for some years, he went successively to New South Wales, and Queensland, and carried on hotel-keeping in both of these colonies. He then returned to New Zealand, and engaged in mining at Waihi, where he was, three times in succession, elected secretary of the local branch of the Miners' Union, twice by large majorities.

            

            

              
              


                
Waihi Consolidated Gold Mining Company,
                Limited. Directors: Messrs L. D. Nathan (chairman), J. J. Craig, J. R. Gray, C. Chapman, and J. Thomas; Mr. G. C. Morris, Exchange Buildings, Auckland (legal manager). The property, which comprises the Favona and Brilliant special claims, has an area of 200 acres, and adjoins the Waihi Grand Junction and the Waihi Silverton mines. A considerable amount of sinking and driving work has been accomplished with encouraging results. A large Cornish plunger pump is used to compete with the water, and winding machinery, and other appurtenances have been provided to assist in the thorough development of the mine. The Waihi Consolidated was incorporated in 1899, after buying the mine and property of the Waihi Consolidated Gold Mines, Ltd., for £1200. The Ohinemuri licensed holding of one hundred acres was acquired at the same time, and thus the company's total area was brought up to 300 acres. The nominal capital is £200,000, in £1 shares, and the working capital is £50,000. Mr. Charles McLean is in charge of the mine, and Mr. C. E. Purchas is the colonial attorney. Mr. R. Gray Orr, the secretary, has his offices at 39 Lombard Street, London, E.C. The company was registered in London on the 10th of March, 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Charles
                  
McLean
                
               , who is in charge of the Waihi Consolidated Goldmining Company's mine at Waihi, was born in Perthshire, Scotland, in 1850, and came to Melbourne with his parents in 1854. Educated at Creswick, he followed farming and afterwards mining pursuits, and, although very young, visited the principal goldfields of Victoria. In 1863 he came to New Zealand, and was engaged on the West Coast at the principal alluvial fields during 1866–7. Coming north in 1868, about nine months after the first Thames “rush,” he has been at the opening of all the principal fields in the Peninsula, including Ohinemuri, Waihi, and Te Aroha. Mr. McLean has had thirty years of valuable experience on the goldfields, having spent a good deal of time in prospecting. He is a large shareholder in various companies and a director of many, and during the boom of 1895–6 was a promoter of several companies. He is also interested in a number of claims. As an athlete, Mr. McLean, or “Charley,” as he is familiarly called, is well known. In his younger days it was hard to beat him at wrestling, and, as a footballer, he had a place in the representative team. Mr. McLean is a powerfully built man of over six feet in height, and even now could hold his own in his own particular line of athletics.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Alexander Gordon,
                at one time Mine Manager of the Waihi Consolidated Gold Mines, Ltd., was born in Auckland in 1849. His father, the late Mr. W. Gordon, was one of the earliest settlers in the Auckland district, having arrived before New Zealand was proclaimed a Crown colony. The subject of this notice was educated at Auckland, and was apprenticed as a shipwright at Onehunga. He subsequently joined in the first “rush” to the Thames Goldfields, and for many years followed mining pursuits in that district. He received the appointment which he now holds in July, 1896. Mr. Gordon has been well known as a marksman. He won the Carbine Champion Belt in 1879, and in the years 1881 and 1882 won it twice in succession, thereby making the belt his own property. In Freemasonry he is a past master of the Corinthian Lodge, No. 1665, E.C., Thames.
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                  The Waihi Consols Gold Mining Company
                
                (No Liability) has its head office in Auckland, where Mr. Henry Gilfillan, junior, is its secretary. The company was incorporated



in 1897, and holds 250 acres of land.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Joseph Bunney,
                Mine Manager of the Waihi Consols Company, was born in Cornwall, England, in 1838, and was brought up to mining. He left England for Canada, where he remained one year, and then went to New York. For three years subsequently he was engaged in Lake Superior copper mines, and was afterwards for a year in California, where he worked at the Comstock mine, Nevada. Mr. Bunney was for a year mine manager of the Central mine, which was afterwards acquired by the Ophir Company, and in which he worked altogether for seven years. Mr. Bunney took passage to Australia in 1872, and having met Mr. Hunt, well-known in the early days at the Thames, he was induced to stay in New Zealand. For nine years he was foreman of the Kuranui mine, and afterwards held a similar position at the Tokatea mine, Coromandel. He was afterwards for nearly a year at Tairoa, and became foreman in the Ajax mine, Reefton. 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]er a short time spent in prospecting at Karangahake, he removed to Waihi, and worked in the Union Waihi mine, from which he took sixty tons of rock, which was sent to the Thames for treatment. Owing to an unfortunate accident to his hand Mr. Bunney was laid up for over two years. He was afterwards engaged in tributing in the Kuranui mine at the Thames. In 1895 he settled at Waihi, and worked in the Grand Junction mine till appointed to the charge of the Waihi Consols. Mr. Bunney was married, in 1891, to the widow of the late Mr. Charles Kerby, of the Thames, but she died in 1895.
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The Waihi Extended Gold Mining Company,
                Limited, Head Office, Auckland; Mr. J. W. Nichol, secretary. This company was established in 1895, and its mine at Waihi is 100 acres in extent. Prospecting has been carried on in the hilly ground, and three bores have been sunk, two of them to a depth of 330 feet, and the third to 350 feet. Quartz was intersected at a depth of about 300 feet, and the assay value was 36s per ton.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Johns,
                Mine Manager of the Waihi Extended Gold Mining Company, was born at Falmouth, Cornwall, England, in 1846. He came to Victoria in 1862, and in the following year to Auckland. Mr. Johns has been connected with mining on the Peninsula since the opening of the Thames goldfields, and has been employed in the City of London, Caledonian, Darwin, Old Whau, May Queen, and other mines. He settled at Waihi in 1895 as mine manager of the Zion Company. Eighteen months later he was employed by the Gold Stream Company, and was appointed to his present position in June, 1897. He served in the Thames Navals for eighteen years, and left as Chief Petty Officer, with a medal for sixteen years' continuous service.

            

            

              
              


                
Waihi-Gladstone Gold Mine.
                This property, which is situated in Waihi adjoining the old Waihi-Silverton Mine, has the same system of reefs running through it as the latter, and has an area of sixty-two acres. A number of reefs have been encountered, some of them coming in from the Union-Waihi shaft. Two cross-cuts have been driven, and the reefs that have been developed have given very satisfactory returns. Mr. J. Langford acts as mine superintendent, and Mr. H. Gilfillan, junior, is attorney and local secretary. The capital is £100,000 in £1 shares.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Langford,
                General Manager of the Waihi-Gladstone Gold Mining Company, Limited, was born in Yorkshire, in 1844. He was brought up as a civil engineer, and came to Auckland in 1863. As the Maori war was then on, Mr. Langford travelled over the Australian colonies, and was for a number of years engaged in mining. He was one of the pioneers on the West Coast, and at the Thames, and his home has been in Parnell, Auckland, since 1880. He visited England, the Continent of Europe, and America in 1896, and while in England he was appointed consulting engineer on mining properties generally to an English syndicate.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Radford,
                for some time Mine Manager of the Waihi-Gladstone Gold Mine, was born in 1847 in Devonshire, England, where he was educated and brought up to the mining from boyhood. In 1866 he went to Victoria, and began mining at the Port Phillip Company'£sA works at Clunes. Mr. Radford has had a large colonial experience in mining, having been employed at all the large centres in Australasia, and the exceptionally favourable testimonials which he holds from his numerous employers, show that he has given entire satisfaction. Under the supervision of Mr. Radford, who took his present position in 1896, the shaft of the “Gladstone” has been sunk to a depth of 157 feet, and cross-cuts made to a distance of 180 feet, the east cross-cut intersecting a lode six feet in width. There are now twenty-three men employed in the mine. Mr. Radford is a brother of Mr. Thomas Radford, at one time mayor of the Thames. He is married and has seven sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              

                
Waihi Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
               
 The original Waihi Company was formed in 1887, and bought a number of small claims in the district, the principal of which were the “Union” and the “Rosemount”; about four years afterwards the Martha Extended Company's claim was acquired. The extent of the property is now 346 acres, on the “Martha” section. Some time ago the company sold 250 acres to the Union-Waihi Company. The remaining area contains the
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whole system of the “Martha” and “Welcome” reefs, the portion sold comprising quite a different system of reefs. The mine is equipped with powerful pumping and winding engines, sufficient for all purposes to a depth of over 1000 feet. Since 1890 the bullion gained from this mine has been phenomenal, and, as the months and years pass by, there is not the slightest sign of any decrease in the output. Up to October, 1897, considerably over £600,000 worth of gold had been mined. The first general manager was Mr. Seymour Thorne George, who was succeeded in 1890 by Mr. Robert Rose, who died in 1900. The first mine manager was Mr. J. W. Walker, that position now being filled by Mr Thomas Gilmour. The original superintendent was Mr. T. H. Russell, his successors being Mr. Dale, who died shortly after taking up the position, and Mr. H. P. Barry, the present general superintendent. There is an extensive system of water-races on the property, connecting with the old battery and tramways, which run into the bush for the conveyance of firewood. When the company was registered in London in December, 1887, the capital was £106,000 in £1 shares; in 1890 it was increased to £150,000, in 1895 to £160,000, and in the latter part of 1897 to £320,000. The shares are mostly held in England, although, since the doubling of the capital, a number have been taken up in New Zealand. About 300 men are kept at work continually on and about the mine. No. 3 shaft has now been sunk below No. 3 level, and No. 4 shaft has been commenced, and (May, 1900) is down 150 feet. At that date arrangements were being made for sinking a new pump shaft, and equipping another powerful engine, then in course of construction in England. Several new reefs were discovered in the mine between April, 1898, and 1900, notably the Empire, a reef ranging up to 25 feet wide, and producing first class ore at the point of intersection. The total returns from the Waihi Gold Mining Company's mine up to the 5th of May, 1900, amounted in value to £1,279,872. At that date the officers were:—Messrs H. P. Barry (general superintendent); B. H. Stafford (assistant superintendent); H. Roche, C.E. (engineer); E. G. Banks (metallurgist); H. W. Hopkins (wet crushing specialist); T. P. Clarke (engineer of Waihi Battery); S. Fraser (engineer of Victoria Battery) Waikino; W. Dance (foreman of the Waihi Battery); J. A. McKenna (foreman Victoria Battery, Waikino); W. Ulph (accountant to the Company); T. Gilmour (mine manager); J. Gilmour (assistant mine manager).

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Hubert Barey,
                J.P., General Superintendent of the Waihi Gold Mining Company, Limited, has been in charge of the mines and batteries since 1891. He is elsewhere referred to as chairman of the Ohinemuri County Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Roche,
                C.E., who is in charge of the Engineering Works of the Waihi Gold Mining Company, was born in County Cork, Ireland. He was educated at Queen's University, Ireland, and at the Royal Engineering College, Cooper's Hill, near Windsor, England, where he graduated; and came to Auckland shortly after leaving college in 1881. Mr. Roche was engaged with Mr. James Stewart in laying out the Rotorua railway, and afterwards practised his profession in Auckland and in Sydney. He was subsequently for a year on the Government staff of surveyors in the Wellington provincial district, and, still later, for a time engineer to the Whakatane Road Board. Mr. Roche was appointed to his present position in 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edwin Gripper Banks,
                Assayer and Metallurgist to the Waihi and Union-Waihi Gold Mining Company, was born in Auckland in 1871. He received his preliminary education at the Thames, where he also spent four years at the School of Mines, under Mr. Montgomery and Mr. Park. He went all through the courses, obtaining first-class certificates in each subject. In 1889 he received his appointment with the Waihi Company, and has occupied the position of assayer and metallurgist ever since. Mr. Banks is an associate of the Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, London, and is gazetted as battery superintendent under the New Zealand Act, and gold assayer, to H.M. Customs.
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Mr. William Herbert Hopkins,
                Assoc. R.S.M., London, one of the Metallurgists engaged by the Waihi Company, was born in London, in 1859. He studied mining and metallurgy for five years at the School of Mines, London, and became an Associate of the Institute. Mr. Hopkins was for some years connected with the Sulman-Teed process of gold extraction, and after being employed in gold mining in Hungary, was engaged to come to Waihi to experiment in wet crushing processes. On his way to New Zealand Mr. Hopkins visited Johannesburg, and reached this Colony in August, 1898. In the following year he went to the West Australian goldfields in order to obtain the latest information regarding the processes followed in that Colony.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Thomas Plummer Clarke,
               
 Engineer and Battery Manager at the Waihi Gold Mining Company's works, Waihi, was born at Northwich, Cheshire, England. After completing his education he was apprenticed at the extensive works of the Union Foundry, Bolton, Lancashire. He passed through the drawing offices, pattern-making, and fitting rooms—in fact, every department, and gained a general knowledge that has been extremely useful to him in his colonial life, as it has enabled him to take control of the complicated machinery now used in gold saving. After finishing his apprenticeship, he was sent by the firm to Russia, to superintend the erection of an engine and gearing for working a large mill; and during a three years' residence in that country he erected, on behalf of the Union Foundry Company, three other mills for various manufacturers. After his return to England Mr. Clarke visited Canada, and spent twelve months in erecting machinery in the Dominion. On going back to England, he joined successively Messrs John Penn and Co., of London, and the Northern Iron Works and Shipbuilding Company, of Southampton, where he assisted to put in the engines of the “Minotaur,” up to that date the largest man-of-war in the navy, and afterwards the flagship in the Mediterranean at the bombardment of Alexandria. Subsequently Mr. Clarke revisited Russia as representative of Messrs John Musgrave and Sons, of the Globe Iron Works, Bolton, and erected and afterwards took charge of the large flax spinning mills of Messrs Cludoff and Sons, on the Volga. Later he was for two years and a half in charge of Messrs Karetnikoff and Sons' cotton spinning mills, at Teakora. Mr. Clarke then settled down, and for twelve years had the management of the flax spinning mills of Mr. Joseph Sinkoff, who, when Mr.
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Clarke left his employment, presented him with many valuable mementos of the estimation in which he held Mr. Clarke's services. Mr. Clarke's last occupation before he left for New Zealand, was the drawing of specifications, etc., for the completion of a coal-cutting machine. He arrived in Auckland in 1885, and for twelve months he locally represented several machinery makers in the Old Country. The Onehunga sawmills then fell into his hands, and after working the business for some time he floated it in England into a Limited Liability Company, of which he retained the management. This company was eventually absorbed by the Kauri Timber Company. In 1896, Mr. Clarke was temporarily employed in erecting the large pumping and winding plant at No. 2 shaft on the company's ground, and on the completion of that work he received his present appointment as mechanical engineer and battery manager of the great Waihi Gold Mining Company.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Ulph,
                Accountant and Controller of Stores for the Waihi and Union Waihi Gold Mining Companies, was born in Huntingdonshire, England. He came to New Zealand by the s.s. “Arawa,” in 1884, after which ne was about three years in Auckland. Mr Ulph was afterwards in Sydney for about eight years, and was appointed to his present position in 1895.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Gilmour,
                Mine Manager for the Waihi Gold Mining Company, was born in the County of Derry, Ireland, in 1841, and, at the age of twenty-one, left his native land for Victoria, where he settled in Castlemaine, and joined the great army of gold miners. In 1867 the gold discoveries on the West Coast of New Zealand drew him to this Colony, and he was engaged successively at Hokitika, Grey, Charleston, Addison's Flat, and up the Buller river. The excitement of Hunt's gold finds at the Thames drew Mr. Gilmour to that “rush,” and he remained at the Thames until he took charge of the Waihi Company's ground. During his stay on the Thames Mr. Gilmour was underground manager for many large workings, such as the Alabama, Moanataiari Extended, Hand of Friendship, etc. His large experience in quarts mining in the North Island has doubtless greatly assisted the Waihi Company in making its mine one of the largest and most regular dividend-paying claims in the world. Mr. Gilmour's brother is a Presbyterian minister in Ireland.

            

            

              
              


                
Waihi Battery.
                The old battery was commenced shortly after the formation of the company, the original plant consisting of ball mills; these, however, were proved to be unsuitable for the treatment of the ore, and a thirty stamp mill was ordered from San Francisco, and erected about 1890. This has been twice increased by thirty stamps, so that at the present time the number is ninety head. Up till about 1892 the pan amalgamation process was used, by which only sixty per cent. of the bullion contents of the ore was recovered. The Cyanide Processwas then adopted, and an extensive plant erected, with the result that an additional twenty to thirty per cent. of bullion was saved. By the Cyanide treatment, over ninety per cent. of gold was eventually recovered, and it was shown that there was about fifty per cent. of silver contained in the ore. The old battery and works are under the immediate command of Mr. Clark, the engineer in charge of the mill and pumps, and Mr. E. G. Banks, an expert practical chemist, supervises the treatment of the ore in the Cyanide department, and also holds the position of chief assayer. Between sixty and seventy men are employed at the old works. The new works are situated at Waikino—about six miles distant—and are connected with the Waihi Mine and the “old works” by steam tramway. There are 100 head of stamps at the new works, and it is the intention of the proprietary to increase this number as occasion may demand to 200 head or even more. There is a perfectly appointed Cyanide plant, as well as an assay department, and all equipments necessary for the most up-to-date manipulation of the ores. Over 100 men are directly employed on this plant, and between 100 and 200 are engaged as carters, navvies, cutters of firewood, etc. In fact, the Waihi Company claim to give employment to more men than any other two mines in the North Island.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Walter Dance,
                Foreman of the Waihi Battery, was born in Queensland, and came to New Zealand when he was nine years of age. He has been for about twelve years in the employment of the Waihi Company, and was with the Martha Company for five years. He has, therefore, seen all the “ups and downs” of the mine. For twelve months he was manager of the Silverton Battery, and at an earlier period worked the Martha Reef and Battery under tribute. Mr. Dance resides on the company's property.
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Waihi Grand Junction Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                The property is situated at Waihi, on the line of the old “Martha” reef, and is composed of the “Waihi West” and “Grand Junction” claims, the area being about 280 acres. It was originally capitalized at £150,000 in the same number of shares, fully paid up—10,000 preference and 110,000 ordinary. In December, 1897, the company was reconstructed on the basis of a capitalisation of 200,000 £1 shares, paid up to fifteen shillings. The mine is fitted with a pumping and winding plant, and all other necessary accessories for treating the ore. Mr. M. L. Simmons is general manager, Mr. R. Morgan, mine manager, Mr. H. Milner, engineer, and Mr. G. St. C. Heard, accountant. The Company's working plan provides for sinking the shaft to a total depth of 750 feet. In April, 1900, it had been sunk to a depth of 371 feet.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Latimer Simmons,
                the General Manager of the Waihi Grand Junction Gold Company, was born at Wigan, Lancashire, England, in 1852. When he was two years of age his parents came to Victoria, Australia, in which he received the early part of his education. When in his teens, he returned to England to complete his education, and afterwards went to the Royal School of Mines, Freiberg, Saxony, where he studied for four years and took his certificates as a mining engineer and metallurgist. He first held appointments in Cornwall, England, and subsequently in the United States, South America, and South Africa. In those countries he represented London firms and companies, and reported upon a large number of mining properties. He was elected a member of the Mineralogical Society in 1876, and of the Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, London, in 1892. Mr. Simmons was appointed to his present position in 1899. He is married, and has three daughters and three sons, who are now being educated in Europe.
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Mr. Robert Morgan,
                Mine Manager of the Grand Junction Company's Mine, was born in Glamorganshire, Wales, England. He was brought up to mining, and came out in



1865 to Victoria, where he followed the diggings till 1879, when He came over to New Zealand, Mr. Morgan was afterwards at the Blue Spur, Skippers, White Reef, and the Old Man Range, and settled in Waihi in 1896, when he was appointed mine manager to the Grand Junction Company. Mr. Morgan was married, in 1863, to the daughter of the late Mr. D. Morris, of Pembrokeshire, Wales, and has two sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Milner,
                Engineer of the Grand Junction Company's Mine, was born in West Heslerton, near Scarborough, England, in 1861. He was educated in his native place, and apprenticed as an engineer at Oldham, Lancashire. Mr. Milner was sent out on three different occasions to Brazil, South America, as supervising engineer for a firm of engineers, to erect engines and boilers on their account, and completed the erection of six plants during a term of six years. On his return to England, he was sent out to Waihi, under agreement to the Waihi Consolidated, as engineer for the erection of that company's pumping plant. Two years after the work was completed the company went into liquidation, and Mr. Milner was just about to return to England when he received his present appointment. He was married, in 1884, to Miss Pickup, and has one son.
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Mr. George St. Clair Heard,
                Assayer and Accountant at the Waihi Grand Junction Mine, was born at Colchester, Essex, England, in 1865, and arrived with his parents in Dunedin by the ship “Jessie Readman,” in 1874. He was brought up as a carpenter and worked at his trade in Dunedin and Auckland. After that he removed to the Thames, where he found employment at the Sylvia Company's batteries, and became foreman of works in the cyanide sheds. Mr. Heard studied at the Thames School of Mines, and took various certificates. He was afterwards for about nine months in the experimental laboratory of the Cassell Gold Extraction Company, and was sent as foreman of works to their tailings plant at Waihi. Nine months later, Mr. Heard became battery manager of the Grace Darling mine at Waitekauri, and afterwards went to Waiorongomai, to erect a cyanide plant for the Aroha Gold Mines, Ltd. He subsequently erected and worked a similar plant for the Great Western Gold Mining Company at Waiorongomai; and then removed to Waitekauri, in the employment of the New Zealand Jubilee Gold Mining Company. In 1895, Mr. Heard was sent to Junee, New South Wales, to erect a cyanide plant for a Thames syndicate. He was appointed to his present position in January, 1899. Mr. Heard was married, in 1892, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. Phillips, of the Thames, and has one son and one daughter.
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Mr. James Arthur Evans
                
                formerly Mine Manager of the Waihi Grand Junction Gold Mining Company, Ltd., is a very old New Zealand miner. He was born at St. Agnes, Cornwall, in 1855, and was educated in Victoria, Australia, to which colony his family had emigrated. In 1869 he came to New Zealand, his father having been appointed manager of the Phœnix Mine at the Skippers, Shotover. Mr. Evans, junr., having completed his education, started work in a milling establishment, and was for ten months in a battery, afterwards spending five years in farming pursuits. At the age of twenty-one Mr. Evans returned to the mining, and for fourteen years worked under his father; he took full charge of the mine for three years of that time, during his father's absence, having received his mine manager's certificate some years before. In June, 1896, he was appointed mine manager at the Waihi Grand Junction, where he was afterwards succeeded by Mr. R. Morgan. Mr. Evans is a member of the Australian Institute of Mining Engineers.
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Waihi South Gold Mining Company, Ltd.
                The property is situated at Waihi, adjacent to the Waihi Proprietary Mine, and on the trend of the old “Martha” reef. It has an area of something over 126 acres, a large portion of which is being and has been developed with satisfactory results. The mine is well equipped and carefully managed. It has a capitalization of 150,000 shares, of which 120,000 have been issued at three shillings each. The legal manager is Mr. D. G. MacDonnell.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Snow,
                Manager of the Waihi South Gold Mining Company, Waihi, was born in Yorkshire, England, in 1841. At an early age he went to Mr. Charies Mark Palmer's ironstone mines, Yorkshire, and followed mining pursuits there till 1886, when he came to Auckland, New Zealand. Mr. Snow was first engaged in the Kamo Coal Mine at Hikurangi, near Whangarei, going thence to the “Miranda” and working underground for three years, when he was appointed manager and worked the mine till it was closed up. He then received the position of manager of Messrs. Ralph Bros.' coal mine at Huntly, retaining this till 1896, when he was appointed manager of the Waihi South Gold Mine. Mr. Snow is married and has four children.

            

            

              
              


                
The Union Waihi Gold Mining Company, Ltd.,
                was registered in London in September, 1895, with a capital of £200,000 in £1 shares: 141,250 shares have been issued, of which 101,250 were fully paid, and the balance partly paid. The company purchased 250 acres from the Waihi Gold Mining Company, situated on the line of the “Big” Mine, and adjacent to it. The payment to vendors was £100,000 in fully paid up shares. The London office is at



11 Abchurch Lane, E.C., and the secretary is Mr. Hubert Akers. In December, 1899, the Company bought the Waihi-Silverton Extended Gold Mining Company's mine and battery. The property thus acquired extends over 174 acres, and is situated at Waihi, on the same line of reef as the Waihi Proprietary Mine. It has been extensively developed, and has fully justified the anticipations of its promoters. The mine is equipped with modern machinery, including a mill with forty head of stampers, and has sufficient water power under control to run fifty head. The assay offices, manager's residence, etc., are all fitted in a thoroughly up-to-date fashion. From a crushing of 800 tons of stone, which took place on the 26th of August, 1896, £1400 worth of bullion was obtained. The company was registered in London on the 1st of February, 1895, with a capitalization of £60,000 in shares of £1 each. Of these, 10,000 were offered on the 6th of February, 1895, half-a-crown being payable on application, seven shillings and sixpence on allotment, and the balance as required. £35,000 was paid to the vendors—£5,000 in cash, and the balance in fully paid up shares—and a working capital of £25,000 was set aside. On being purchased by the Union Waihi Company, considerable improvements were made in the working of the mine, and the battery was renovated and put into thorough working order. Mr. H. P. Barry is general superintendent, Mr. J. E. Wearne, mine manager, Mr. J. J. Wearne, engineer, Mr. W. M. Russell, battery manager, and Mr. W. Ulph, accountant.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Jaketh Eddy Wearne,
                Mine Manager Union Waihi Gold Mining Company, was born at St. Just, Cornwall, England, in 1839. He came to Ballarat, Victoria, to an uncle, in 1856, and was engaged in mining till the Dunstan “rush” of 1862, when he found his way to Otago. Four years later he went to the West Coast “rush,” and became a mine manager at the opening of the Reefton field. He was afterwards engaged by a Wellington company at the opening of the Terawhiti goldfield, where he acted as mine manager, and also as mining correspondent for the “New Zealand Times.” He next accepted an engagement with the New Zealand Antimony and Gold Mining Company at Endeavour Inlet, Queen Charlotte Sound, where he was for about nine years a general manager and engineer for the company. Mr. Wearne has several times been employed to report on mining plants and properties in Australia. After twenty-five years of hard work he settled in Wellington for three years, during which he visited several districts for the purpose of reporting on mining properties. In January, 1897, he accepted his present appointment. He was married, in 1862, in Victoria, to the daughter of the late Mr. C. Church, railway engineer, and has four sons and two daughters.
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Mr. J. J. Wearne,
                Sub-Manager and Engineer-in-charge of the Union Waihi Company, was born in Hokitika, educated at Reefton, and was apprenticed for five years to Mr. E. Seager, engineer, of Wellington. He was afterwards employed for eighteen months by the New Zealand Consolidated Gold Mining Company at Reefton. Mr. Wearne is prominent as a volunteer, and joined the Reefton School Cadets in 1886. He has been a member of the Ohinemuri No. 3 Rifles since 1897, and now holds the rank of lieutenant.
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Mr. William M. Russell,
                Battery Manager for the Union Waihi Gold Mining Company, was born in Invercargill in 1870. For four years prior to 1889, he was engaged with Walter Guthrie and Co., Ltd., in his native place. He afterwards went to London, where he studied mechanical engineering and electrical engineering for eighteen months at the London University College. After returning to New Zealand in 1898, he was for two years at the Victoria Battery, Waikino, and was appointed to his present position in January, 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry William Moore,
                M.N.Z. Inst. M.E., who was Manager of the Waihi-Silverton Extended Gold Mine, prior to its purchase by the Waihi Union Company, was born in the Isle of Man in 1844. Coming to Auckland with his parents in 1847, he received his education in that township. In 1867, when the Thames was opened as a goldfield, he went thitherwards, and engaged in mining pursuits for a few years at the Lower Thames. In 1885 be took the management of the Cambria Mine, Thames, which paid £79,357 in dividends while he was in charge, and subsequently of the “May Queen,” “Lone Hand.” “Komata,” and “Waitekauri” Mines. He was manager of the last named for three years, and was instrumental in opening it up for the present company. In December, 1896, he was appointed to the management of the Waihi-Silverton Extended, but the engagement terminated at Christmas, 1899. Mr. Moore is a member of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge of Freemasons, and was at one time a member of the Thames Borough Council. He is also a Member of the New Zealand Institute of Mining Engineers. Mr. Moore, who is married and has one daughter, is now (1900) carrying on business as a timber merchant at Waihi.
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Mr. Clement Dixon,
                Associate Member of the Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (London), Associate of the New Zealand Institute of Mining Engineers, Member of the Chemical and Metallurgical Society of South Africa, and Licensed Gold Assayer (by examination), is the second son of Mr. J. J. Dixon, who came to Lyttelton in 1862, and afterwards became well known in Auckland



mining circles. Mr. Clement Dixon was born in Christchurch in 1870, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar school. After gaining a commercial training in the Bank of New Zealand, he went, in 1893, to Johannesburg, South Africa, taking with him valuable introductions from Sir George Grey, so well known as a former Governor at the Cape. At Johannesburg he was fortunate enough to get an appointment on the metallurgical staff of the Rand Central Ore Reduction Company, under Mr. Charles Butters, the famous expert in the treatment of ores, and remained with that gentleman till the end of 1894. He was then appointed manager and metallurgist of the cyanide works of the New Kleinfontein Gold Mining Company, Ltd., where he treated over 4000 tons of ore per month by the cyanide process. Mr. Dixon next accepted the appointment of manager of the cyanide works of the Village Main Reef Gold Mining Company, Ltd., one of the most important companies incorporated in the “Consolidated Goldfields of South Africa, Ltd.,” of which Mr. Cecil Rhodes is chairman of directors. Whilst with this company he conducted extensive and successful experiments in the treatment of “dry crushed ores” and “slimes.” In 1895 Mr. Dixon was deputed by a powerful Johannesburg syndicate to visit New Zealand and report on the tailings deposited on the Thames foreshore, and on mining prospects generally. In conjunction with Professor Black, of the Otago University, he also made a report on the Whangamata Proprietary, Ltd., which resulted in the floating of that important gold mine. In 1897 he was appointed battery superintendent and metallurgist to the Waihi-Silverton Extended, since amalgamated with the Union Waihi Company; and in April of the same year was subpœnaed, and gave evidence as a cyanide expert, on behalf of the New Zealand Government, in connection with the Cassell Gold Extracting Company's appeal case.
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Mr. William Hollis,
                who was one of the early settlers of Waihi, has had an interesting and successful mining career. He was born in 1852, in Auckland, where he was brought up to engineering with his father, the late Mr. W. Hollis, who was for eight years engineer to Messrs Thornton, Smith, and Firth, and went as a youth to Coromandel, where he became engine driver to the Union Beach Gold Mining Company. Mr. Hollis settled in the Ohinemuri district in 1875, soon after the opening of the field, and worked in the Waitekauri mine for several years. He was one of the first tributers in the Ohinemuri district, and had the Young New Zealand mine at Waitekauri on tribute, and was very successful. Subsequently he worked a tribute in Waitekauri mine, and with a brother discovered Butler's Reef, containing a rich patch of gold, some of which yielded over twelve ounces to the ton, and the company took six ounces per ton out of the tailings by the berdan treatment. In one period of three weeks the tributers made as much as £763 per man, after all expenses had been paid. Mr. Hollis afterwards took the Waitekauri mine and battery on tribute, and worked it with success for two years and a half. After a successful career at Waitekauri, he removed to Waihi, and pegged out the Young Colonial, now one of the best parts of the Waihi mine. Before the Martha Company sold this property to the Waihi Company, Mr. Hollis worked it with success for two years. At one time Mr. Hollis had the Martha mine and battery on tribute, and was for nine months mine manager of the Waihi Martha mine. He afterwards went to Waitekauri to manage the Waitekauri mine for Mr. T. H. Russell, and left two years later to become manager of the Waihi South mine. Mr. Hollis opened up the Young New Zealand mine at Waitekauri, and after getting good gold, sold the property to the present company. For a year he was manager of the Norman Proprietary Company's mine. Mr. Hollis holds a first-class mine manager's certificate. When he left mining he settled at Te Puke, where he had purchased a farm of 544 acres, now leased to a tenant. Mr. Hollis is the proprietor of the leading blacksmith's and coachbuilding business in Main Street, Waihi, which he purchased in January, 1900, from Mr. R. Cannell. As a Freemason he is attached to the Lodge of Light at the Thames. Mr. Hollis was married, in 1882, to a daughter of Mr. G. Compston, of Waihi, and has three sons and three daughters.
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Parnell
                
                is the oldest suburb of Auckland, and is the residential quarter of many leading citizens. When entering the harbour and rounding the North Head, the borough of Parnell is the first portion of Auckland seen by the visitor. Situated on high ground overlooking the city and upper portion of the harbour, and commanding a noble prospect seaward, it has always been a favourite place of residence. In Parnell, in the very early days, the Anglican Church established its seat, and it still continues to be the residence of the Bishop (who is also Primate of New Zealand), while the Diocesan Library and other Church of England institutions and charities are also located in the place. The churches include St. Mary's Pro-Cathedral, which has a remarkably fine chime of bells, St. John the Baptist Boman Catholic Chapel, and Wesleyan and Presbyterian Churches.

              
The borough numbers amongst its institutions the Orphan Home, St. Stephen's Native School, where a good commercial education is provided for Native lads drawn from all parts of the provincial district and boarded at the establishment; Jubilee Institute for the Blind, Women's Home, and Children's Home. Parnell has also a fine public school, with a separate building for infants, a Roman Catholic Convent, and an Oddfellows' Hall. On the 12th of June, 1901, His Royal Highness the Duke of Cornwall and York, accompanied by the Duchess, laid the foundation stone of the Queen Victoria School for Maori Girls, at the site of the school, on the Native school estate in Glanville Terrace, Parnell, in the presence of a very large gathering of people.

              
Parnell is bounded on the east by Hobson Bay and the Remuera district, on the south by the borough of Newmarket, on the west by the Domain and the railway from Auckland to Onehunga, and on the north it is laved by the waters of the harbour, which form the charming St. George's and Judge's Bays. It possesses a mosquito fleet of yachts, a very successful rowing club, a lawn tennis club and a bowling club.

              
The Manukau Road is the main avenue of traffic and the scene of business life in Parnell, and gives the speediest access from the wharves and lower parts of the city to Newmarket, Remuera, and Epsom. Lines of omnibuses keep up communication between the city, Parnell, Newmarket and Remuera. The leading shops of the borough, its three hotels, as well as its churches and hall, are situated on the Manukau Road. St. Stephen's Avenue and Gladstone Road are fine thoroughfares, graced by many handsome residences. At the lower end of Gladstone Boad the fine mansion of Dr. Logan Campbell, the father of Auckland, stands within its spacious grounds, and has a captivating aspect from the harbour.

              
The Parnell borough was proclaimed in April, 1877, and Colonel Henry Matthew Nation, an old army officer, was the first to occupy the mayoral chair. He was followed successively by Messrs J. W. Melton, William Coleman, J. W. Robinson, J. Friar Clarke, Robert Walker, D. H. McKenzie, Jonathan Winks, S. Thorne George, John McCabe, G. S. Kissling, S. Von Sturmer, Joseph Thornes, and N. W. Pollard. The present Mayor is Mr. H. Campbell, and Mr. Benjamin Gilmer is the Town Clerk.

            

            

              
              

                

                  The Borough Of Parnell
                
               
 has an area of 480 acres, and contains 863 ratable properties, owned by 595 ratepayers. The rates levied by the Council consist of a general rate of 1s 3d in the £, special rates of 1s, and a water rate of four per cent., the water being supplied from the city of Auckland.
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The annual value of ratable property is £30,131, and the borough has a population of over 4571 persons.

            

            

              
              


His Worship The Mayor Of Parnell. 
Mr. 
Hugh Campbell , was born at Helensburgh, Scotland, and arrived in New Zealand in 1864. After being for some years in commercial life, he took to the study of the law as a pupil of the late Mr. J. B. Russell, and on being admitted as a barrister and solicitor, he joined that gentleman in partnership, under the style of Russell and Campbell. Mr. Campbell occupies a high position at the bar, and is now the senior member of his firm, which practises at Auckland and Wellington. He resides at Parnell, was first elected to the office of mayor in 1898, and had been previously a councillor of the borough. Since he has been mayor a complete scheme for the drainage of Parnell has been undertaken. Mr. Campbell is in favour of an amalgamation of Auckland with all the suburbs and local districts in its neighbourhood, under one local governing body, with large powers of self-government, to deal in a comprehensive manner with such questions as water supply, drainage, tramways, lighting, etc. He unsuccessfully contested Parnell at the last general election. Mr. Campbell is married to a daughter of the late Mr. R. C. Barstow, formerly resident magistrate at Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Charles John Brook,
                of the Parnell Borough Council, has served with credit to himself and benefit to the community on other local bodies. An outline of his career is given in connection with his business as a builder and contractor.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor George Cozens,
                a Member of the Parnell Borough Council, is a pioneer colonist, who has had a most varied and interesting career. He was born in Launceston, Tasmania, on the 2nd of May, 1838, and is a son of the late Mr. William Cozens, one of Tasmania's earliest settlers. On the 13th of January, 1847, the family left for England in the “Jane Francis” (Captain William Crosby), reached Home in the following May, and Mr. Cozens was put to school at Boughton, near Faversham, Kent, and at Lynn Regis, Norfolk. In 1850 he went to sea, and was trading in the Mediterranean during the insurroction in Sicily, but was in London to see the Duke of Wellington's funeral. Mr. Cozens then joined the “Jane Francis,” under Captain Denkin, trading to Tasmania, but left the ship to go to the Victorian goldfields, whence, after an experience of two years, he returned to Tasmania, to take up his duties as shipping clerk in a Launceston office, which was running the s.s. “Titania” to the North-west ports, as far as Circular Head. Three years later he made another change, and spent a few years trading between the Colonies and England. When the Tuapeka diggings broke out, he joined the Public Works Department of Southland, and was in that and in the Provincial Superintendent's office for three years. In 1861, Mr. Cozens tried his luck on the West Coast diggings, and was in the postal department at Hokitika for six months. He was then in business as an auctioneer, but in 1868, he removed to Auckland and turned his attention to the Thames goldfields. He invested in a cutter named the “Lapwing,” trading to the Fijis, but subsequently disposed of her, and returned to Tasmania, where he obtained a situation in Hobart in the employment of the Deloraine and Mersey Tramway Company. Twelve months later he returned to New Zealand and was articled for three years to Messrs Button and Reid, then a well-known firm of solicitors. Mr. Cozens then acted as a mining advocate for a local firm and made another trip to Tasmania, and on his return to Auckland, he acted as accountant for Mr. Binney, the auctioneer. Mr. Cozens was elected to the Parnell Borough Council when it was formed, but served only three years owing to his leaving the country. In December, 1896, he was again elected to a seat on the Council, and is still a member. Mr. Cozens is of the opinion that the Borough of Parnell would be placed in a better position and could be worked more economically if it were joined to Auckland, and when elected he moved for a committee to enquire and report, but the matter fell through. Subsequently he continued to advocate a scheme for the improvement of the water supply and drainage. In 1879, he took charge of a brick yard in Mechanics' Bay, and conducted it successfully till the depression of 1888, when he established himself in business as a customs and general agent. He is manager for Captain W. C. Daldy, is one of the local agents for the Pacific Island Company, Ltd., of London, and does the customs work of many of the leading importers of Auckland. Mr. Cozens is a Mason and an Oddfellow, and a member of the Parnell school committee. He is well known as an old athlete, is a prominent yachtsman, has been a member of the Auckland Chess Club for about seventeen years, and has been connected with the Auckland Tennis Club, the Remuera Bowling and Tennis Club, and the Auckland Bowling Club. On the 8th of February, 1901, Mr. Cozens was elected a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, on which he represents the Parnell Borough Council.
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Councillor John Fitt
                
                was first elected to the Parnell Borough Council in September, 1896, and was returned at the head of the poll by a large majority. He served the term of three years, and on being requested to offer his services again, he was re-elected in September, 1899, when he again headed the poll by an overwhelming majority. Mr. Fitt is a strong advocate of the drainage and water schemes, and has always held that public affairs should be dealt with as though they were a man's business concerns. Mr. Fitt was born in Auckland in 1845, and is a son of Mr. John Fitt, who came to New Zealand from Australia in that year. He was educated at the local public schools and privately until apprenticed for five years to the joinery trade. Mr. Fitt served in the New Zealand Militia, and belonged to the first Court of Foresters opened in Auckland. He spent two years in New South Wales, but came back to New Zealand, and worked on the Thames goldfields, whence he returned to Auckland, and spent four years learning soap manufacturing. In 1874 he entered into partnership with Mr. C. Wood, and erected buildings and plant at Hobson Bay, where they began soap making. After carrying on for a few years trade increased so rapidly that it became necessary to enlarge buildings and plant to meet the demands of the local and the export trade. Mr. Fitt still superintends the works, which are well-known as C. Wood and Co.'s soap works.
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Councillor James Gilmour,
                Member of the Parnell Borough Council, was originally elected in 1886. He has not been continuously a councillor since then, but has served for many years.

            

            

              


              
              


                

                  
Councillor Charles Edward
                
               
MacCormick was elected to the Parnell Borough Council in October, 1900. He is elsewhere referred to as a partner in the firm of Messrs Dufaur and MacCormick, barristers and solicitors. Mr. MacCormick resides in Cleveland Road, Parnell.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Petford,
                who was returned as a member of the Parnell Borough Council in April, 1901, had previously served in that capacity for a term, during which his services won for him the entire confidence of his constituents. Mr. Petford is a plumber by trade, and occupies suitable and commodious premises in Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Henry C. Tewsley
                
                has been a Member of the Parnell Borough Council since 1897. He is well known in commercial circles as manager of the Auckland branch of the firm of Messrs Sargood, Son, and Ewen. Mr. Tewsley resides in St. Stephen's Road, Parnell.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor William Thomas
                
                has served as a Member of Parnell Borough Council since 1894. He as a monumental mason, and carries on the business established in Victoria Street East by his father, the late Mr. W. Thomas, who is referred to in the Old Colonists' section of this volume.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Benjamin Gilmer,
                the Town Clerk and Treasurer of Parnell, has creditably filled these positions since 1893, the date of his appointment. For several years he has also been Returning Officer for the Eden electorate. Mr. Gilmer was born in Belfast, Ireland, in 1832, and in his twentieth year he left the Old Country in the ship “Waterlily,” for Adelaide. Thence he went to Melbourne, and on to the gold diggings, where he remained for eighteen months. He then returned to Melbourne and entered commercial life in a large stock and station agency business, and a few months later, in 1854, he came on to Auckland. After his arrival in New Zealand he went to Mahurangi, where he spent six years in the healthy occupation of bushfelling; and he afterwards followed the gold “rush” in Otago, at Gabriel's Gully and Waitahuna. On returning to Auckland Mr. Gilmer was engaged with some leading commercial firms for a few years, and he and the late Mr. John Waymouth subsequently started business on their own account, in partnership, as public accountants. This partnership lasted some years, and was dissolved when Mr. Gilmer accepted the position of secretary and manager of the Mercury Bay Timber Company—a position which he held until that company amalgamated with the Kauri Timber Company. After the amalgamation he entered the Kauri Timber Company's service, and remained in it until 1891, when he resigned to again start in business, as a legal manager for several gold mining companies. Two years later he accepted his present position, and his courtesy and ability have been felt and appreciated by all who have come into contact with him. Mr. Gilmer was married in Auckland, and has a family of nine children.
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Mr. John
                  
McCabe
                
               , 
J.P., was born in County Cavan, Ireland, in 1836. During the year 1856 he left home for India, where he stayed about four years, and then returned to the Old Country. In 1865 he again left home, this time for New Zealand, and landed in Auckland in May of the same year. Shortly after his arrival in Auckland the Thames goldfields were opened, and like many others, Mr. McCabe went there to try his luck. After a few years of the ups and downs of mining life, he was fortunate enough to become a shareholder in the famous Queen of Beauty gold mine. He then left the Thames, and settled in Parnell. For fourteen years he held a seat in the Parnell Borough Council, and was for two years mayor of the borough. During the years 1893–94, he was a member of the Auckland Harbour Board, and also of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Boards. Mr. McCabe has been for many years associated with St. John the Baptist's Roman Catholic Church in Parnell. He married a daughter of the late Captain Nolan, and they have four sons and four daughters.
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Mr. Arthur, Pearson Friend
                
                was born at Kingsbridge, near Plymouth, England, in 1856, and had twelve years' experience in the soft goods trade at Plymouth. In 1883 he went to London, as secretary of a large electrical company, in the employment of which he remained six years. He arrived in Melbourne in 1890, and joined the staff of Messrs L. Stevenson and Sons, Ltd., of Flinders Lane. Three years later he was selected by Sir F. Sargood to fill the position of secretary at Auckland to the Kauri Timber Company, Ltd., for which he was afterwards also attorney. In 1898 he retired, and entered into business as accountant and commission agent, and in June, 1899, he was appointed, district manager to the Ocean Accident and Guarantee Corporation, Ltd., at Auckland. Mr. Friend holds three Cambridge University certificates, and is a Fellow of the New Zealand Institute of Accountants. He has been a member of the Parnell Borough Council and also of the Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board.

            

            

              
              

                

                  
Mr. Ebenezer Waymouth
                
               
 occupied a seat on the old Parnell Road Board, prior to the town's being formed into a borough, and he also sat as a member of the Parnell Borough Council during 1884. He advocated the extension of the tramways to Parnell, so as to complete the circuit of the city and
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suburbs, but was out-voted, much to the subsequent regret of the inhabitants. Mr. Waymouth was born in Pembroke and educated at Plymouth under the Rev. John Jonas, M.A., senior wrangler of his year at Cambridge. He served in the Navy during the Russian war of 1854–6, and retired in 1863. Two years later he came out to New Zealand, and was for about thirteen years secretary and local manager of the late Union Sash and Door Company. Mr. Waymouth subsequently established himself in business as a general gum merchant, but has for the past thirteen years been engaged as a public accountant and general agent.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Wright,
                for many years a Member of the Parnell Borough Council, was born in Hammersmith, a suburb of London, in 1832. His father, the late Mr. John Wright, carried on a large business as a chemist and druggist. Mr. A. Wright was educated at Dr. Nichola's Academy in Ealing, was brought up to the tailoring trade, and while he was in London gaining a thorough knowledge of his business, a considerable portion of his time was spent in the employment of Mr. Poole, the celebrated tailor, of Saville Road. He landed in Auckland in the latter end of 1859, and at once started in business as a merchant tailor, and has been in harness ever since. Mr. Wright imports all his stuffs, has on hand at all times a large stock of the very latest material, and has now one of the leading tailoring establishments in Auckland. In 1890 he was elected a member of the Parnell Borough Council, and was reelected at several subsequent elections Mr. Wright has devoted much time to Freemasonry. He is a Past Master of the Waitemata Lodge (the oldest Lodge in the district) and was Worshipful Master for two terms. He is also a Past Master of the Ara Lodge. No. 348, and was for three years Senior Grand Warden in the Grand Lodge. As early as 1868 Mr. Wright became identified with mining and is now closely associated with sixty or seventy companies, of many of which he is a director. He resides in St. Stephen's Avenue, Parnell, is married, and has a family of two daughters.

              

                

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. A. Wright.]

Hanna, photo.
Mr. 
A. Wright.


              

            

            

              
              


                
Parnell Public School.
                In 1879, the householders of Parnell made a very spirited effort to provide adequate accommodation for the children attending school. At that time the school was held in St. Mary's Anglican schoolroom, Scarborough Terrace. A sum of money amounting to about £220 was collected, and the present site, which was originally a hospital reserve, was acquired from the Government. Among those who took a prominent part in the movement were Messrs J. W. Robinson (Mayor of Parnell), W. J. Speight, J. Winks, D. H. Mackenzie, Caleb Wood, and F. J. Moss, M.H.R. The Board of Education eventually undertook the erection of the building, which is designed to hold 600 pupils, and the school was formally opened in 1880 by the mayor, Mr. Robinson, Sir Maurice O'Rorke being one of the speakers on the occasion. In 1897 the school committee, supported by the householders, applied to the Board for a detached building as an infant school. The Board's architects, Messrs Mitchell and Watt, thereupon designed and prepared the plans of what is regarded as the most up-to-date infant school in the Auckland district. It is known as the “Diamond Jubilee Infant School,” and accommodates 200 children. The Board's permit allows an attendance of 800 pupils in the two buildings. There are 676 on the roll, and the average attendance is about 560 pupils.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Lyons Scott,
                Headmaster of the Parnell Public School, was born at Birkenhead, near Liverpool, England, in 1847, and is the eldest son of Mr. James Scott, of Birkenhead, but formerly of Dumfries, Scotland. Early in the fifties, he emigrated with his parents to Victoria, and received his primary education under Mr. John Main, late Victorian Secretary for Education. Mr. Scott crossed over to Dunedin in 1863, and resided in various parts of the Otago, West Coast, and subsequently Auckland goldfields. In May, 1879, he entered the service of the Auckland Board of Education, and, qualifying as a teacher, was shortly afterwards appointed headmaster at Matakana, where he remained three years. In December, 1882, he became headmaster of the Avondale school, and retained that position until May, 1894, when he was promoted to Parnell. Under its present management, the school has been enlarged by the erection of a separate infants' school of modern design. Mr. Scott has attended the University lectures in mathematics, chemistry, and geology and agricultural science, and holds certificates in these subjects He also holds a D' certificate under the Education Department. Mr. Scott takes interest in athletic sports, and is a member of the Auckland Bowling Club.
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St. Mary's Cathedral,
                Parnell. The first church in Parnell, dedicated to St. Mary, was built in 1863, and the late Venerable Archdeacon Kissling was the first incumbent. On his death, Bishop Selwyn took charge of the parish, assisted by the Rev. J. C. Patteson, afterwards Bishop of Melanesia, and the Rev. B. T. Dudley, afterwards Archdeacon of Auckland. The next incumbent was the Venerable Archdeacon Maunsell, under whom the building was repeatedly enlarged. The Rev. G. Walpole, D.D., now Warden of St. Bede's College, Durham, succeeded, and in his time a proposal was made to build a new church. Plans were made by Mr. Mountfort, of Christchurch, well known as a church architect of great ability, but, unfortunately, only half the building was then erected—namely, the choir and a small portion of the nave. The Rev. George Preston. M.A., was incumbent for a short time, and was succeeded by the Rev. George MacMurray, M.A., Canon of Ballarat Cathedral. Under his auspices the designs of Mr. Mountfort were carried out. The total length is 158 feet, the nave is 32 feet broad, and two side aisles are each 12 1/2 feet; the total height from floor to ridge is 48 feet. The pulpit and screen are handsome, and were the gift of Mr. M. J. Gay, of Parnell.
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The Rev. George MacMurray,
                M.A., Canon and Vicar of St. Mary's Cathedral, Auckland, was born in County Donegal, Ireland, on the 13th of August, 1855. He was educated at Trinity College, Dublin, and graduated as a Respondent in the B.A. Examination, subsequently taking the degree of M.A. He was ordained as deacon in 1878 by the Right Reverend Dr. Darley, Bishop of Kilmore, for the curacy of Aughrim-cum-Killukin, and was subsequently admitted to the priesthood in 1879, and transferred to the curacy of Cavan in 1880. In 1883 Mr. MacMurray was appointed rector of Killinagh and rural dean. He left Ireland in 1885, and was appointed to Ararat, in the diocese of Ballarat,



Australia. In 1887 he accepted the appointment of vicar of St. Paul's, Ballarat, and was elected canon of the cathedral. He retained those positions until 1892, when he was appointed vicar of St. Mary's Cathedral, Parnell, Auckland. During his ministry at St. Mary's, he has been instrumental in completing the cathedral, and building the parish hall adjoining the church, besides paying off the original church debt. Quite recently, with the view of completing the cathedral, his congregation raised one of the largest Sunday collections ever made in the province of Auckland. Mr. MacMurray is a great supporter of all athletic pursuits, and has set himself strongly against the gambling element which prevails so largely in New Zealand. He is a Governor of St. John's College, Tamaki, and a trustee of the Dilworth Ulster Institute, an institution founded by the late James Dilworth for the education of boys born in the Auckland province, and in Ulster; and he is also a member of the General Trust Board for the Diocese of Auckland, and a representative of the clergy in the General Synod. He was formally installed Canon of St. Mary's Cathedral, Parnell, on the 3rd of July, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                
Knox Church,
                Parnell. The history of this congregation is well-known to the people of Auckland. It began its career in the Oddfellows' Hall in April, 1898, and progressed so rapidly that in September, 1899, Knox Church itself was opened for public worship. The artistic internal arrangement of the building wins the admiration of all who see it, one of its features being the position of the choir gallery, the members of which are visible to the whole congregation; which possesses what is unique in the Presbyterian Church of New Zealand—namely, a large body of choristers, whose fresh young voices render valuable service in praise. The choir, which has upwards of fifly voices, is conducted by Mr. J. F. Bennett. The church has a fine two-manual organ, of seventeen stops, two of which are reeds. It is a well-built instrument, by Hill and Sons, of London. There is a staff of eight elders and fifteen managers; Knox Church has no pew rents, uses the sanitary communion cups, and in general keeps itself abreast of modern ideas. The pastor, the Rev. H. Kelly, M.A., who was formerly stationed at Waimate, in Canterbury, entered on the charge at Parnell in 1893, and is earnestly supported in his labours by his office bearers. Mr. Kelly aims at making the Bible a book for the times, and at bringing young men under Christian influence.

            

            

              
              

                

Rev. Hugh Kelly,
               
 M.A., Pastor of Knox Presbyterian Church, Parnell, was born in Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1859. He began his studies at the University of Glasgow, and continued them at the University of Otago after his arrival in New Zealand. In 1888 he was ordained to the ministry of Ravensbourne, and shortly afterwards was
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appointed resident minister at Woodlands, near Invercargill. After ministering there for some time he was appointed to Waimate, South Canterbury, a charge which he held till 1898, when he accepted a call to Knox Church, Parnell. Throughout his course of study Mr. Kelly proved to be a scholar of great ability, as he gained the Stuart Prize in Dunedin, and held a United Presbyterian Church Scholarship.

            

            

              
              


                
St. John The Baptist's Roman Catholic Church,
                Parnell, is administered by the Rev. Father Joseph Kehoe. The church, which is situated on the Manukau Road, in the centre of Parnell, was built in 1860, and enlarged to its present size in 1897. As a wooden building, with a rather plain exterior, it might escape the attention of visitors, but this lack of external beauty is more than made up for in the interior. The altar is beautifully furnished, and behind it, on the eastern wall, there is a large fresco painting, representing The Transfiguration, in which the figures are almost life size. On either side are oil paintings representing The Trinity and The Nativity. Herr Dittmer, the artist, has put forth all his skill in this work, and has been eminently successful. The church is usually decorated with flowers, with beautiful arum lilies to enhance the effect, and it has often been spoken of as being one of the prettiest little churches in the Colony. It has seats for 500 worshippers, and the choir occupies a gallery over the western part of the church. Miss Annie Lorrigan conducts the choir, and Miss Anderson is the organist. There is a small private chapel for the Sisters, leading off from the altar; and adjacent to the church, in a separate building, is the school of the Sisters of Mercy, which is attended by over 100 scholars.

              

The Rev. Father Joseph Kehoe, Administrator of St. John the Baptist's Church, Parnell, was born in County Carlow, Ireland, in 1841. He was educated at Mount Meleray, County Waterford, and at Rome, and laboured in both home and foreign missions for about thirty years. Father Kehoe was ordained at Rome as priest by Cardinal Patrinizzi, and proceeded thence to Australia, where he officiated in the archdiocese of Adelaide. He then removed to the diocese of Auckland and has ministered at St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland, Kaipara, Gisborne, and other places. Father Kehoe succeeded Dr. Lenihan, the present popular Bishop of the diocose, as administrator of St. John's, and has already endeared himself to his flock. He is very musical, and holds very liberal views upon the religious and political questions of the day.

            

            

              
Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

Brook, Charles John,
                  Builder and Contractor, Hobson Bay Road, Parnell. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Mr. Brook is one of the best known builders in Auckland, where he has carried on business for upwards of twenty years. He was born in London in 1844. In 1859 he came to New Zealand in company with his parents, and till the year 1866 followed a seafaring life. In that year he settled in London, where he served his time as a builder, and came back to Auckland in 1870. For several years thereafter he was engaged in agricultural pursuits. It was during his farming experiences that Mr. Brook became connected with local affairs, and acted in numerous capacities. He was for several years a member of the Manukau County Council; chairman of the licensing bench; member of the school committee, and also engineer to the Awhitu Road Board. Mr. Brook is at present a member of the Parnell Borough Council. Among the buildings erected by him, may be mentioned Wesley church at Waiuku, St. Mary's Sunday school at Parnell, and a large number of private residences in the city and suburban districts. Mr. Brook married a daughter of the late Mr. George Shaw, the well-known builder of London, and he has four sons and five daughters.
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Tapper, J. and 
C
                 ., Painters, Paperhangers, Oil and Colour Dealers, Manukau Road, Parnell. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Bath Street, Parnell. This flourishing business was established by Messrs Tapper Bros. about nine years ago, and since its inception has received a fair share of public support. Both brothers are well qualified for their business and take great pains with any work which may be entrusted to them. The premises are well situated in the Manukau Road, and are in the busiest part of the suburb of Parnell. Only the best materials are kept in stock, and the brothers carry on a large and increasing business in the city and surrounding districts.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. J. Tapper,
                  the Senior Member of the firm, was born in Auckland in 1863, and received his education under Mr. Taylor. On its completion he was appronticed to the wellknown painter and paperhanger, Mr. J. C. Robinson, of Ponsonby, from whom he received complete instruction in the various branches of his business. His brother, who is also an Aucklander by birth, served his time with Messrs C. G. Hill and Co. Both brothers show a keen interest in matters of sport, and have taken their part in everything of interest to the public. Mr. James Tapper is a member of the Fountain of Friendship Lodge of Auckland.
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Hogan, John,
                  Tailor, Manukau Road, Parnell. This business was established in January, 1897, and has already assumed extensive proportions. A full stock of all tweeds, worsteds, etc., is kept on the premises, and customers may rely on a good selection. Mr. Hogan is well patronised not only by residents of the city and suburbs, but also by the settlers of the surrounding country. He is a son of Mr. W. Hogan, the well-known shipowner, of Auckland, and was educated at the Marist Brothers' School, Auckland, and at the Parnell public school. He learned the art of cutting from experienced English cutters, and worked in several of the leading Auckland establishments prior to establishing his present business. Mr Hogan is a member of the St. George Rowing Club. He is also a cyclist, and was for some years a prominent footballer.

              

              

                
                


                  

Reid, Mrs. Martha W.,
                  Wholesale and Retail Fish and Oyster Dealer, Parnell. This business was established by the proprietress in 1891. The trade carried on is mainly wholesale, and Mrs Reid supplies many of the smaller shops in Auckland and suburbs. Mrs Reid attends personally to the business, and is ably assisted by her sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Reid, William,
                  Fishcurer, Mechanics' Bay, Parnell. Mr. Reid was born at Peterhead, Scotland, in 1849, and went to sea at the



age of fourteen. Up till 1880 his time was spent in the coasting trade, but in that year he went on a whaling expedition to the Far North. Mr. Reid made eight annual trips, and is credited with having, on one occasion found the second store of provisions that had been placed in readiness for the celebrated Arctic explorer, Sir John Franklin. That was in the year 1882, when three ships were frozen up, and had to be left by their companies. Mr. Reid was on the “Esquimaux,” under Captain Yule, for four years, for two years on the “Mizante,” under Captain John Grey, and for two years on the “Labrador,” under Captain David Grey. The territory explored was well up among “Greenland's Icy Mountains” and Lancaster Sound. Mr. Reid then returned Home, and spent nearly three years in fishing off the coast of Peterhead, the Shetland Islands, and as far south as Scarborough. In 1891 he landed at Wellington, New Zealand, by the ship “Kaikoura,” and moved on to Auckland. He lost no time in starting in the fishing industry, and purchased the six ton schooner “Ellen and Martha,” and a smaller fishing smack, the “Rainbow.”

              

              

                
                


                  

McIndoe, William,
                  St. Stephen's Nursery, St. Stephen's Road, Parnell. Established in 1880. This nursery, which comprises three and a half acres of land, is planted with a fine assortment of nursery stock, fruit trees, hardy shrubs, etc. Mr. McIndoe imports largely, and is constantly receiving trees and bulbs from the leading firms of England and America. He makes a specialty of Californian roses, and is a large exhibitor at the local flower shows. There is a fine flower garden adjoining the nursery, and Mr. McIndoe usually has 300 varieties of dahlias in bloom each season. Mr McIndoe was born and educated in Glasgow, and was brought up to the business in Scotland and England. He was for some time head gardener at the mansion of Grangewood, Upper Norwood, and after varied experiences in England and Ireland, he left his native country for New Zealand in 1865 by the ship “Empress,” which landed him at Auckland, where he entered the employment of the late Mr. Edward King. Mr. McIndoe also had charge of Dr. Fischer's grounds at Lake Takapuna, for two years and a half. In 1867 he went to the Thames goldfields, but returned to Auckland eighteen months later, and entered the employment of Mr. Reader Wood, for whom he was gardener for eight years. He commenced business at St. Stephen's nursery in 1880. Mr. McIndoe is a member of the committee of the Auckland Horticultural Society, and on the many occasions in which he has acted as judge at the local flower shows, his awards have always given satisfaction.
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Martin, James,
                  Livery and Bait Stable-keeper, Omnibus and Cab Proprietor, Manukau Road, Parnell. Telephone 472. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Russell Street, Parnell. This fine business was established in 1881 by Mr. Martin, who has, by the exercise of sterling commercial qualities, combined with energy, shrewdness, and wise thrift, brought it to its present prosperous condition. Mr. Martin has a large and capital staff of employees, to whom he pays good wages, amounting in all to £260 per month. The establishment covers an extensive area of land, and the buildings, which are rather imposing, form a conspicuous landmark in Parnell. Mr. George Fowler was the architect, and Messrs Gedye and Calver were the builders. Mr. Martin has 150 horses and fifty-one vehicles at his establishment. His well-known lines of 'buses, plying between Auckland and Parnell, and Auckland and Grafton Road, are noted for all that can be desired in the matter of drivers, horses, and vehicles. His cabs meet every principal steamer and train, and the words, “Martin, Parnell,” are conspicuously painted on the door panels. The best private carriages, properly equipped, can be hired from Mr. Martin's stables, where landaus, hansoms, hearses, mourning coaches, wedding carriages (fully dressed), double-hooded and single buggies, waggonettes, brakes for picnic parties, and, in fact, every modern vehicle now built can be obtained. The vehicles are all kept in thorough order, and have good and courteous drivers. Mr. Martin is a native of Melbourne, Australia, and arrived in New Zealand in the steamer “City of Auckland,” in 1872.
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Mr. John McElwain,
                  J.P., Rocky Nook, Auckland, was born at Killan House, Ballymascanlan, County Louth, in 1822. He was educated in Dublin, and was in the Government service in the county of Louth until he was about the age of twenty-six years. Attracted by the accounts from New Zealand he left his native country by the ship “Pekin,” and landed at Port Chalmers in 1848. Mr. McElwain went on to Auckland, where he joined the service of the Government, and remained in it for two years, and afterwards entered a merchant's office. After two years' experience there he turned his attention to farming, and purchased fifty-five acres of land at Kingsland. His brother, the late Mr. George McElwain, presented him with sixty acres, and so he entered on his new calling with every assurance of success. For over sixteen years he carried on farming with great prosperity. He then sold his land, and bought his present property at Mount Roskill where he has since led a life of ease and comfort. Mr McElwain has devoted both time and energy to the public affairs of the district, and was for ten years chairman of the Waitakerei Road Board, and one of the first members of the original Mount Albert Road Board, on which he served for twenty years. He has been a constant worker in the cause of education, and was chairman of the school committee during the years of his residence in the Mount Albert district; he presented the board with the acre of land on which the school now stands. Mr. McElwain has been a Justice of the Peace for over thirty years. Throughout the whole of his career he has been ably helped by Mrs McElwain, who is a daughter of the late Rev. John Whitley, whose murder at the White Cliffs by the Maoris, in the early days of colonisation, is a melancholy historical fact known to all pioneer colonists. Of Mr. and Mrs McElwain's family, three sons and two daughters are alive. Two of the sons are farming—one at Waiuku, and the other at Waitakerei, and the eldest daughter married Mr. H. H. Seabrook, the well-known manufacturer, of Grafton Road. Mr. McElwain's brother, Mr. G. McElwain, was the first Governor of Auckland Gaol, and was appointed to the position by Captain Hobson, the first Governor of New Zealand.
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Newmarket.

            

              
              

                

                  
Newmarket
                
               
 is a suburban borough lying to the south-east of Auckland, and adjoining the city. It has a population of 2060, and it bears the distinction of being in area the smallest borough in the Auckland province, but owing to the extensive traffic through its main streets, it always presents a very busy appearance. It is bounded on the north by the Auckland Domain, on the east by Remuera district, and on the west by Auckland city. Several churches are situated within easy distance of Newmarket, and within its own boundaries there is a Wesleyan Church, and another belonging to the Primitive Methodist connexion. The public institutions consist of the Town Hall, which contains the Borough Council's offices, and a large public school. The entrance to the Newmarket railway station is on the Manukau Road, and the large Government railway workshops are in the immediate vicinity. There is a borough reserve of three acres and a half, and on the northern flank of Newmarket is the Auckland Domain—as ample a pleasure ground as any borough can desire. The borough commands a panorama of mountain range, swelling uplands, pleasant glades and bosky dells, and the lofty
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cone of the volcanic island of Rangi-toto is visible in the distance. Along the main thoroughfares—the Khyber Pass and the Manukau Road—are found the chief business premises, the two most imposing buildings in the former road being the Great Northern Brewery and the Captain Cook Brewery. There are also four good hotels in the borough. The tramway service, commencing at the Auckland wharves, extends along these roads aud through the district of Epsom as far as Alexandra Park. There are also lines of coaches and omnibuses from the city, running through the borough, to Remuera, Epsom, Onehunga and the southern districts. In the residential portion of Newmarket there are many fine residences, notably in Park Road, Carleton Gore Road and Park Avenue. Newmarket, formerly a road board district, was proclaimed a borough in June, 1885, and Mr. W. J. Suiter was elected as its first mayor. Since then the Mayoral chair has been successively occupied by Messrs W. Morgan, George Kent, F. G. Clayton, J. M. Laxon, and the present mayor, Mr. John Laird McColl.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Borough Of Newmarket
                
                has an area of 150 acres, and contains 390 ratable properties, owned by 311 ratepayers. The rates levied by the council consist of a general rate of 1s 4d in the £, a special rate of 6d, and a water rate of from four to six per cent. The value of ratable property is £13,268.

            

            

              
              


                
His Worship The Mayor, 
Mr. John Laird McColl,
                is referred to in another article as an ex-president of the Auckland Builders' Association.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor James S. Angus
                
                was first elected to the Newmarket Borough Council in September, 1888, and has sat continuously since then. He has devoted special attention to the water supply, and a few years ago, when an excessive leakage took place he was one of a party that discovered the waste, and eventually succeeded in bringing the register from 65,000 gallons to 38,000 gallons a day. This meant a welcome saving to the Council, as the Auckland City Council charges 1 1/2d per 1000 gallons. Mr. Angus proposed a scheme, whereby the water could be obtained from Onehunga, and plans were prepared by Messrs Boylan and Lundon, but owing to difficulties in securing permission to erect pumping plant in the One-hunga district, the scheme fell through. Mr. Angus was born in Glasgow in 1857, and came to Auckland with his parents in 1865 by the ship “Nimrod.” After completing his education he went to Kaipara, was employed for three years in the timber trade, and after that he was apprenticed to the plumbing and tinsmithing business. Mr. Angus was first with Messrs Gaugheler and Paul, in Wyndham Street, but finished his time with Mr. Clement Witheford. He wont to Wellington, and was with Messrs J. E. Hayes and Co., and Mr. J. T. Love, of Manners Street, but returned to Auckland, and entered into partnership with Mr. N. Randell. The firm dissolved partnership after five years, and Mr. Angus then established his present business.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Francis Bennett
                
                was first elected a Member of the Newmarket Borough Council in 1900, when he gained the foremost place at the poll, and he was returned unopposed in April, 1901. Mr. Bennett was born in Midhurast, England, in 1847, and educated at the public school in that city. He was apprenticed to the business of nurseryman, and has followed that calling with success in the colonies.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Randell Caston,
                Member of the Newmarket Borough Council, is fully referred to in another article in connection with his business as a painter, paperhanger, and house decorator.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Ernest Davis,
                a Member of the Newmarket Borough Council, is well known in business circles, and is referred to in the military section of this work.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor William Edgerley,
                a Member of the Newmarket Borough Council, was first elected about fifteen years ago, when the Newmarket Road Board was changed to a Borough Council, and since then he has been repeatedly returned at the head of the poll. Mr. Edgerley is also a member of the licensing committee, and was chairman for five years. He was born in Newmarket, Auckland, in 1851, and saw active service as a member of the Armed Constabulary at the time of the Maori wars.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Kennedy,
                who became a Member of the Newmarket Borough Council for the first time in April, 1901, was born in Auckland in 1866, and educated at various public and private schools. He is a carpenter, and carries on business as a contractor in that trade.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John M. Laxon,
                a Member of the Newmarket Borough Council, has been mayor of the borough four times. He is the third son of the late Mr. W. A. Laxon, of Otahuhu. Mr. Laxon was born at Papa-toitoi, near Auckland, in 1863, was educated there and in Auckland, and was subsequently engaged for about sixteen months on his father's farm. In 1880 he entered the employment of the late Mr. John Lamb, and continued there and in the Auckland Roller Mills until 1890, when he commenced business as a grain and produce merchant. His partner is Mr. Robert Neill, and the firm trades as Laxon, Neill, and Co., in Gore Street. Mr. Laxon was a member of the Newmarket Borough Council for about five years before becoming mayor. He is president of the Newmarket Bowling Club, and takes great interest in sporting matters. Mr. Laxon is married, and has four children.
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Councillor Alfred Seccombe,
               
 Member of the Newmarket Borough Council, was first elected to that body in July, 1900, and was re-elected in April, 1901. During his term of office several important changes have been effected in the borough, and the granting of a concession for the establishment of the electric tramway service is one of them. Mr. Seccombe, although still a young man, possesses a practical business knowledge, and has evinced considerable interest in social affairs, and this, in addition to his progressive policy in the council, has won for him the confidence and respect of the ratepayers. The appreciation


[image: Councillor A. Seccombe.]
Councillor 
A. Seccombe.





of his services as a member of the Newmarket school committee was manifested at the election of 1901, when he was returned at the top of the poll. Mr. Seccombe was born in Auckland, in 1863, and is a son of the late Mr. J. C. Seccombe, the founder of the Great Northern Brewery. He was educated at colleges in Wellington and Nelson, and completed his studies at St. John's College, Auckland. Shortly afterwards he entered the well-known brewery, then owned by his father, and there acquired an experience in business and a thorough practical knowledge of the trade. On the death of his father, in 1898, Mr. Seccombe was appointed a trustee in the estate, and when the business was subsequently formed into a Limited Liability Company, he was promoted to his present position as manager. In this position his practical experience in every branch of the business has been of great benefit to the company, and his personal character has gained for him the respect and appreciation of all.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Arthur Shipherd
                
                was elected a Member of the Newmarket Borough Council in April, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. William Hogg,
                Town Clerk, Treasurer, and Rate Collector of the Newmarket Borough Council, was appointed on the 1st of October, 1895, and has proved a faithful servant to the borough. Mr. Hogg was born in Ireland in 1840, and educated at Market Hm National School, in the county of Armagh. He arrived in New Zealand in June, 1863.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. J. G. Carr,
                Valuator to the Newmarket Borough Council, carries on business as a builder. He resides in Vincent Road, Remuera.

            

            

              
              


                
Messrs Hesketh And Richmond,
                who are elsewhere referred to as barristers and solicitors, are solicitors to the Newmarket Borough Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Lumpkin,
                for many years the Senior Councillor of the Borough of Newmarket, was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1832. He emigrated in 1852 to Victoria, where he visited the principal goldfields. In 1862 he came to New Zealand, and joined in the famous Gabriel's Gully “rush” in Otago. Subsequently he visited Auckland and the Thames, and was engaged in mining during the “boom” of 1867. He afterwards started a butchering business at Newmarket, and still carries it on. Twelve months after Newmarket was made a borough, Mr. Lumpkin was elected a member of the Council, and held a seat continuously until 1901. He has been a member of the Newmarket Licensing Committee since its inception. Mr. Lumpkin is married and has one son.
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Mr. Nathaniel Randell
                
                occupied a seat on the Newmarket Borough Council for a term of three years. He was born at Cromer, in Norfolk, England, in 1850, is a son of Mr. Thomas Randell, and was educated at the Goldsmiths' school, Cromer. His father was a plumber, and he also followed that calling for four or five years; and after spending several years in Guildford and other parts of England, he came out to Auckland by the ship “Dorette,” in 1874. For some time he worked as a journeyman at his trade in Auckland, and then established his present business in Newmarket. Mr. Randell was one of the promoters of the Newmarket Brass Band. As a member of the Newmarket school committee, he has discharged the duties of its secrotary and treasurer. Mr. Randell is a Freemason. When Lord Onslow left New Zealand Mr. Randell took an active part in the arrangements for the send-off given to that nobleman, with whom he was acquainted, as he had worked on Lord Onslow's estates in England.
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                  The Newmarket Railway Station
                
                was originally the terminal station of the Auckland-Waikato section of Government railways. It is built of wood and iron, and contains a stationmaster's room, ticket and telegraph offices, waiting rooms, a ticket lobby, porter's quarters and other necessary accommodation. The station has a double platform and is the junction of the branch line of railway to Kaipara. About forty trains pass daily to and from Auckland, Waikato, Onehunga, and Kaipara.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Joseph Thomas Bevan Great-Batch,
                Stationmaster, was born in Wellington in 1862, and educated at Featherston, where he joined the Post and Telegraph Department in 1879, as messenger; but, two years later, he was transferred to the railway department as clerk. In 1885 he became parcels clerk and telegraphist at the Wellington station, and after two years of service there, he was removed to the traffic manager's office at Christchurch. He acted as chief clerk at Westport from 1889 until his promotion to the important office which he now holds. Mr. Greatbatch was married in October, 1891, to a daughter of Mr. T. Nathan, of Palmerston North, contractor, and has two sons.

            

            

              

Professional, Commercial

 and Industrial.

              

                
                

                  

Caston, John Randell,
                 
 Painter, Paperhanger, Decorator, etc., Khyber Pass, Newmarket. Mr. Caston was born in 1849 [
unclear: in]
 London, where he was apprenticed to Mr. Roper for six years, and had considerable experience with several of the leading London firms. In 1874 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Dorette,” and settled at Gisborne, where he worked as a journeyman for some time and afterwards commenced business on his own account. In 1878, Mr. Caston returned to England, and entered the employment
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of Messrs Hopewell, of London. Four years later he returned to Australia, and was in business in Sydney. In 1884 he came on to Auckland, and entered the employment of Mr. Dunn, and as his foreman, superintended many large contracts. About twelve years ago Mr. Caston commenced business in Khyber Pass, where he was joined in partnership by his late son. Mr. Caston has executed some large contracts, such as painting and paperhanging the Waverley Hotel, Messrs Nathan's buildings, and many others. As a Freemason he is a member of Lodge Manukau, No. 24, New Zealand Constitution, and has always taken an active interest in local matters affecting the welfare of the district. He is a member of the Newmarket Borough Council.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William George Caston,
                  son of Mr. J. R. Caston, was born in London, and brought up to the trade of a sign-writer, etc. He entered into partnership with his father, and was associated with him until the time of his sad death, which took place in May, 1897, when he was only twenty-three years of age. He was exceptionally gifted as a musician and clever with the brush, and his death was greatly regretted by a large circle of friends.
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Angus, James Stark,
                  Plumber, Gas-fitter, Tinsmith, and Metal Worker, Manukau Road, Newmarket. This business was established several years ago by Mr. Angus, when he dissolved partnership with Mr. Randell. The premises consist of a two-storey wooden building, with a frontage of over forty fect, and it and the adjoining shop are his own freehold property. The material used by Mr. Angus in his business is obtained chiefly in New Zealand, as he finds that the requirements of the trade can be met in that way. He keeps full stocks of all kinds of tinware, which is manufactured on the premises, and carries large quantities of all requisites necessary in his trade. Mr. Angus has a good business connection, in consequence of his energy and perseverance, and has executed some large contracts. He is referred to else where as a member of the Newmarket Borough Council.

              

              

                
                


                  

Blampied, Philip,
                  Boot and Shoe Manufacturer, Khyber Pass Road, Newmarket. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Blampied is a native of Jersey, and arrived in New Zealand in 1874 by the ship “Cartvaile,” from London. He first opened in business in Christchurch, and began in Auckland as a boot and shoe manufacturer in 1883. Mr. Blampied has a thorough knowledge of the business, and with perseverance he has succeeded in obtaining a large share of work from all parts of the colony. His factory gives employment to five regular hands, and he keeps the most improved sewing and eye-letting machines, presses, rollers, etc. The premises are built of wood, are two stories in height, and have a floorage space of 2400 square feet. Mr. Blampied's specialty is hand-sewn boots and shoes, for which he has a well-earned reputation.

              

              

                


                
                


                  

                    One Tree Hill Stud Stables
                  
                  (Leonard Marshall, owner), One Tree Hill, or Maungakiekie. The historical Maori stronghold, from which the stables derive their name, is one of the many picturesque extinct volcanoes which give such charm to the Auckland landscape, and its situation is about equidistant between the Waitemata and One-hunga harbours. Towards the east lies the Ellerslie racecourse, one of the most beautiful in New Zealand, and Mr. Marshall's stables, which have some of the finest and most fashionable stock in the Colony, are between the course and the base of the hill. Auckland has been proved to possess a climate second to none for the rearing of blood stock, and Mr. Marshall's establishment at One Tree Hill stud farm, supplies the very strongest evidence in that respect. The stud comprises about forty animals, including sires, mares, foals, the quality of which shows that the owner has displayed the greatest care and foresight in selecting from some of the finest strains of blood known in the racing world. In the selection of his sires, Mr. Marshall has shown the greatest judgment. At the outset he knew of many high-class sires to be obtained m the Australasian colonies, but he determined to secure, if possible, a horse of the hignest lineage to be procured in the Old Country. With that object he went to Great Britain, and after visiting all the celebrated stables, his choice fell on Cyrenian, a scion of the mighty St. Simon, owned by the Marquis of Londonderry. Cyrenian was secured at a very high figure, and shipped to New Zealand. Mr. Marshall afterwards visited Australia and purchased at the Tocal sale, a collection of nine mares of the highest lineage. With sires like Cyrenian, Eton, and Coronet, mated with purebred mares, the One Tree Hill stud farm has earned the greatest distinction, and has added further fame to Auck-land as a horse-breeding centre. The stables are under the supervision of Mr. Joseph B. Williams, who is well known in New Zealand as one of the leading trainers in the Colony. Numerous horses which have made successful records have been trained by Mr. Williams at One Tree Hill, and the establishment, under his management, is bound to maintain its high reputation.
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Cyrenian, imported by Mr. Leonard Marshall, and bred by Lord Londonderry, was got by St. Simon out of Daisy Chain, by Springfield out of Chatelaine; St. Angela, and Galopin. St. Simon's fame on the turf is world-wide, and Springfield, the sire of Daisy Chain, was recognised as a great horse. He won seventeen, races out of nineteen in which he started, and won in stakes during his career £14,952, which was then looked upon as a great amount. There is no doubt about the pedigree of Cyrenian. He looks a most perfect horse, standing about sixteen hands, with good shoulders, great girth, and powerful quarters, with plenty of muscle on the inner thighs. His head is very handsome, with a thoroughbred look, and his legs and feet are as strong and as clean looking as when he was a two-year-old. He is perfection from the tips of his ears to the points of his hoofs, the beau ideal of a racing horse. Cyrenian has the credit of accomplishing the fastest once round ever witnessed at Ellerslie. Before leaving England he won the Hardcastle Stakes at Ascot, Granby Stakes, and Welter Stakes at Newmarket, Belper Plate at Derby, and Johnston Plate at Stockbridge. Cyrenian is now rising seven years old.

                
Eton is a beautiful bay, showing great power all over. He is a son of Castor and Lady Walmsley, and grandson to Musket and Mersey. His dam. Lady Walmsley, is own sister to the renowned Carbine, winner of thirty-three races out of forty-three starts. Eton is the only descendant of this family in the Colony, and merits the attention of all
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breeders. His stock are full of promise, size, and quality. Eton has proved his good racing qualities by winning eight races against strong fields.
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Coronet is strikingly a beautifully shaped animal, and was got by Castor from Necklace; by Musket from Locket, by Thunderbolt from Keep Sake, by Daniel O'Rorke. He has made capital performances, winning, amongst other races, the Takapuna Cup (one mile and a half), Auckland Racing Club Summer Cup (one mile and three-quarters), Egmont Cup (one mile and three-quarters) twice, and the Taranaki Cup (one mile and a half). Coronet must be counted a valuable addition to the list of thoroughbreds in New Zealand. With three such high-bred sires, mated with some of the most aristocratic mares, the progeny must add to the reputation of their distinguished ancestors.

                
The following are some of Mr. Marshall's mares, with their pedigrees:—

                
Windmill, a handsome chestnut mare (bred by Mr. F. S. Reynolds, New South Wales), by Goldsbrough out of Merry-go-Round, by Hamlet from Whirlpool, by Fitzroland. In 1899 Windmill threw a chestnut colt by Gossoon, and in 1900 a bay colt by Cyrenian; both are very handsome, promising looking animals, and take after their respective sires.

                
Pit-a-Pat, a bay mare (bred by Mr. E. D. Mestre, New South Wales), by Rupert; her dam, Footprint, by Robinson Crusoe; Balkis, by Chieftain; Lauristina, by Scratch; Latona, by Skeleton; Miss Lane (imp.), by Rector.

                
Hinemoa, a bay mare (bred in 1896 by Sir Thomas Elder), by Gang Forward; her dam Primula (got in England, but foaled in New South Wales), by Merry Hampton; Paigle (imp.), by Springfield, Lilian, by Wingrave.

                
Kitty Flynn, a chestnut mare, by Trident; her dam Alcestis, by The Drummer; Arawata, by Chevalier; Queen of Sheba, by St. Giles (son of Sir Hercules); Queen of Beauty, by Dover; Tossina, by Toss; Penelope (imp.), by Phantom. In 1900 Kitty Flynn threw a bay filly to Eton.

                
Silk, a bay mare (bred by the Hon. J. Eales, New South Wales), by Grandmaster; her dam, Chrysophrase, by Rapid Bay; Chrysolite (imp.), by Stackwell.

                
Irma, brown mare (bred by Sir Thomas Elder), by Neckersgat; her dam, Perhaps, by Gang Forward; Peradventure, by Adventurer. In 1899 she threw a bay filly, Cygnet, by Cydnus.

                
Matakanui, a brown mare (bred by Mr. F. S. Reynolds, New South Wales, in 1895), by Churchill; her dam, Ruby, by Bras de Fer; Ruby, by Angler; Sandfly, by Fireworks; The Fly, by Fisherman; Marchioness (imp.), by Melbourne.

                
The nine mares purchased by Mr. Marshall at the Tocal sale are of the best blood, from sire and dam, in the Australasian colonies. They are a handsome and choice lot, showing breeding in every point, and they constitute a most valuable addition to a stud previously enriched from some of the choicest strains in the Southern Hemisphere.
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Remuera
                
                is about two miles from Auckland, and is bounded on the north by the Waitemata shore. The affairs of the district are administered by a public-spirited road board. There is railway communication between the city and Remuera, which has well kept roads and pleasant avenues, and is surrounded on three sides by the attractive sister suburbs of Newmarket, Parnell, Ellerslie and St. Helier's Bay. As a place of residence Remuera is very popular. The fertility of its volcanic land is everywhere apparent in the freshness of the verdure, which clothes roadside, avenue and hill. Electric trams are (August, 1901) expected soon to connect Remuera with Auckland.
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The Venerable Archdeacon Lonsdale Pritt,
                B.A., sometime Incumbent of St. Mark's, Remuera, and Archdeacon of Waikato, was the youngest son of Mr. George Ashley Pritt, of 10, Cleveland Gardens, Hyde Park, London, and of Wallasey, Chester. He was born in Lancashire, in 1821, or 1822, and was educated at the Charterhouse School, where he was contemporary with Sir George Bowen (afterwards Governor of New Zealand), Sir Charles Du Cane, and Dean Jacobs, of Christchurch, New Zealand. From Charterhouse he proceeded to Trinity College, Cambridge, where he took his B.A. degree in 1844. In 1845 he was ordained deacon by Dr. Monk, Bishop of Gloucester and Bristol, in the parish of St. Margaret, in the city of Westminster, and priest in 1848 by the same bishop. Not long afterwards he was attracted by Bishop Selwyn's labours in New Zealand, and on that prelate's advice he qualified himself for church work in the colony by gaining practical experience. When Bishop Hobhouse came to Nelson, in 1855. Mr. Pritt joined his staff and was appointed his chaplain. About 1858 he left Nelson, and joined the Melanesian Mission, the headquarters of which were then at Kohimarama, and for more than eight years he was right hand to Bishop Patteson in that important work. Under his care the central school, which had been but imperfectly organised, became a model, and his unremitting ministrations through more than one period of sickness and terrible anxiety are frequently alluded to in Miss Yonge's “Life of Bishop Patteson.” He was appointed Archdeacon of Waikato, in 1871, by Dr. Cowie, Bishop of Auckland, and now Primate of New Zealand, and was one of the Governors of St. John's College. Archdeacon Pritt was a man of much individuality, nicety of perception, and great power of organisation, and had one of the finest and most valuable libraries in the colony. In 1863 he married Miss Mary Ottersen, of Nelson. She died in the Waikato, and in 1876 he married the youngest daughter of Mr. Williams, of Fairfield, Auckland. Archdeacon Pritt was Incumbent of St. Mark's, Remuera, in 1872, and under his fostering care the parish increased rapidly, and became noted for its contributions to Home Mission work. After holding it for about thirteen years, he resigned his cure in consequence of ill health, and died on the 21st of October, 1885.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Montpellier Nursery
                
                (D. Hay and Son, proprietors), Hobson's Bay. Established 1855. Telephone, 761. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This beautiful nursery is one of the oldest and best known in Auckland, having been established by the late Mr. David Hay as far back as 1855. The present proprietor, Mr. David A. Hay, acquired the property on the death of his father in December, 1883, and has added largely to the gardens since that date. The property consists of about twelve acres of beautifully laid out gardens. In summer time when the sun is shining brightly over the waters of Hobson's Bay, and the many flower beds are aglow with gorgeous colours, the gardens present as pretty a picture as the eye can wish to see. They contain all kinds of strange fruits and flowers, for Mr. Hay imports from all quarters of the globe, and spares neither pains nor expense to place the latest orchids, fruit trees, etc., at the disposal of his clients. He was the first to introduce the now well-known Japanese plum, and also the Burbank and Wickson plums. The handsome catalogue issued by Messrs Hay and Son shows what a variety of dainty and delicious fruits are capable of growth in the Auckland province. That the firm is well known throughout Europe, America and the whole of the Australian colonies, is shown by the constant stream of correspondence from customers in every part of the world, and this connection has enabled Messrs Hay and Son to introduce many rare and valuable fruits and flowers. In addition to the nursery at Hobson's Bay, the firm has a branch nursery of eleven acres, near Orakei Road, Remuera, about two miles distant from the original Montpellier nurseries; and it also is replete with general nursery stock of every description.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Mr. Hay
                
                was born in Gloucestershire, England, and arrived in Auckland with his parents at an early age. He received his education at the Church of England Grammar School, and joined his father in the business, of which he assumed complete control at his father's death. At all the horticultural shows, the firm has been remarkably successful, and Mr. Hay's services as judge are eagerly sought by the various societies.
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                  Mount Eden Road District
                
                occupies the immediate background of Auckland city, and extends to the western foot of its crowning peak Mount Eden, which rises about 644 feet above the surrounding country. A few years ago the district was little more than a broken volcanic area of stone-covered land, but it is now (1901) one of the favourite residential suburbs of Auckland. This rapid advancement is due not only to the scenic attractions, with which nature has dowered the district, but also to wise and prudent administration ably conducted by a committee of five local men. The train passing through the district affords rapid communication with the city, and there is also a continuous omnibus service.

            

            

              
              


                
Mount Eden Public School.
                The recreation ground attached to the school is four acres in extent. The schoolhouse itself contains ten rooms, and the number on the roll is 617. Mr. Alfred Hosking is headmaster, and is aided by a staff of twelve assistant and pupil teachers. The school has been successful in winning the Rawlings, Grammar School, and District Scholarships. Mr. J. V. D. Connell, a member of the First Contingent in the Boer war, was sometime a pupil in the school, and in the class room in which he formerly worked, there is a memorial brass tablet, commemorating his death in the fight at Rendsburg, on the 15th of January, 1900. In the school grounds there is a flagstaff, 55 feet high. The movement of flying the flags in connection with the public schools was originated by Mr. Hosking, and the first public school flag was unfurled by his Excellency the Governor, the Earl of Ranfurly, on the 18th of May, 1900 (Mafeking Day).

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Alfred Hosking
                
                is an Englishman. He served five years as a pupil teacher in the Penzance Wesleyan day school, obtained a first-class Queen scholarship, and was tranted and certificated at the Westminster Training College, London. In 1868 he emigrated to Melbourne, where he filled the position of senior resident master at Wesley College for three years and a half, when he bought the St. Kilda College, which he successfully conducted for eight years. On coming to Auckland Mr. Hosking entered the service of the Board of Education, and was appointed to Pukekohe West school. In 1883 he was transferred to Mount Eden. Since he became headmaster the present school has been built, and twice enlarged, the attendance has increased from 137 in 1883 to 527 in 1900. Mr. Hosking was for twenty years an enthusiastic volunteer, and in 1874 won the Victorian Rifle Association's gold medal and Governor's prize, and consequently was champion shot of Victoria. This corresponds to the belt man in New Zealand and the Queen's prizeman in England.
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Rowley, John C.,
                  Painter, New North Road, Eden Terrace District.

              

              

                
                


                  

Edwards, Joseph,
                  Engineer, Mount Eden. Mr. Edwards was born in Cheshire, in 1848, and is a son of Mr. Joseph Edwards, engineer, of North Staffordshire, where he was brought up and educated. He was for some time employed under his father's successor, to whom he was apprenticed as an engineer. In 1869 he went to America, where he spent four years at his trade, and then returned to England. He served a term of five years with Messrs Hoe and Co., the noted printing machinery makers. After serving four years as engineer and machinist on the “Glasgow Herald,” Mr. Edwards came to New Zealand by the ship “Otago” in 1879, and landed at Port Chalmers. He and his brother set up in business at Ashburton as importers of agricultural machinery, but this employment did not prove congenial, and Mr. Edwards removed to Auckland in 1880, and accepted the position of engineer on the “New Zealand Herald.” He erected not only the first Webb machinery in Auckland, but the first of its kind in the Colony. Mr. Edwards is a Freemason.

              

              

                
                


                  
Hayle Bros.
                  (Frederick and Albert Hayle), Wholesale and Retail Family Butchers, Mount Eden Road, Mount Eden. This business was established by the Messrs Hayle Bros, in 1882. The freehold property of the firm has a frontage to the Mount Eden Road of forty-two feet, of which the shop occupies over eighteen feet. It is both a cash and family, but principally a cash trade, and was established on those lines. Messrs Hayle Bros, are doing a steadily increasing business. They are large purchasers at the markets, and as the expenses in connection with the business are on a small scale, they can supply meats at a low price, and at the same time of the best quality. They have complete machinery for the production of all the necessary small goods in the trade. The brothers are of English parentage, were born at Home, and came to New Zealand by the ship “British Empire” about 1880. Prior to opening their present business they were employed by one of the leading butchers of Auckland.
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                  Mount Albert Road District
                
                occupies the wide stretch of pleasant undulating country to the west of Mount Eden. It still has a rural aspect, but is being rapidly acquired by business men seeking suburban homes. The train conveys passengers through the heart of the district, and good roads afford an outlet to the more remote parts of the suburb.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Morningside Public School
                
                is situated at Mount Albert, and was erected about twenty years ago. It has 250 children on the roll, with an average attendance of 210. The staff consists of Mr. Whitham, headmaster, Misses Nicholson and Willerton, and three pupil teachers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert Currer Whitham,
                Headmaster of Mount Albert district school, was born near Leeds, Yorkshire, and is the eldest son of Mr. Joseph Whitham. He was educated at the Normal Training College, Christchurch. In 1876 he joined the Canterbury Board of Education, and began teaching at the East Christchurch school. He was appointed headmaster of the Kohimarama school, near Auckland, in 1881, and held the position until the school was dispensed with by the Government in 1882. Thereupon he entered the employment of the Auckland Board of Education, and became assistant teacher at Newton East school, afterwards headmaster at Parua Bay, Dome Valley, subsequently first assistant master at Devonport, and in 1891, he received his present appointment. Mr. Whitham devotes a portion of his spare time to local preaching, as he is a member of the local preachers' staff of the Wesleyan Church.
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Grey Lynn
                
                is a large suburban borough lying to the south-west of Auckland, and adjoining the city. It is divided into three wards—Sussex, Surrey and Richmond. The two first-named were formerly known as the Surrey Hills Estate, for many years the property of the late Hon. James Williamson. On the formation of the district into a borough, in 1885, it was named Newton, but recently the name was changed to



the more euphonious appellation of Grey Lynn. The borough comprises the district south of Cox's Creek, bounded by the Richmond, Ponsonby and Great North Road. It consists of undulating land, and is dotted with large clumps of trees. The average level is considerably higher than that of Auckland city, and it is recognised as a healthy suburb. One of the best views of the beautiful Mount Eden is obtainable from Grey Lynn; to the north, overlooking Ponsonby, the glimmering, placid waters of the Waitemata are seen; and on the south-west, the horizon is formed by the Waitakerei Ranges, which genially shelter the district from the cold southerly winds. The visitor is struck with the new and neat appearance of the buildings—not an old residence is to be seen, and in every part of the borough building is in full swing. This sign of progress is not to be wondered at, considering that, apart from its other advantages, sections are cheaper there than in any other district adjacent to the city. Yet as the land is being so rapidly taken up the prices of property are continually advancing, and local residents who bought sections a few years ago could now sell them at treble their purchase prices.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Borough Of Grey Lynn
                
                contains 800 ratable properties, owned by 720 ratepayers, and has an area of 900 acres. The rates levied are, a general rate of 1s in the £, a special rate of 4d, a charitable aid rate of 3d, and a water rate of from four to six per cent. The annual vatue of ratable property is £26,000, and the borough has a population of 4100 persons.

            

            

              
              


                
His Worship The Mayor, 
Mr. Robert Taylor Warnock,
                was born in Belfast, Ireland, in 1844, and arrived in Auckland on the 21st of October, 1862, accompanied by his two brothers, with whom, in the same year, he established the now well known firm of Warnock Brothers, soap and candle manufacturers. In 1874 Mr. Robert Warnock took office in the Newton Road Board, of which he was continuously chairman for thirteen years and a half. The district was then merged into the borough of Newton, of which Mr. Warnock was elected first mayor, and held the position for two years and a half. Mr. Warnock then became a councillor; and in 1899, shortly after the name of the borough was changed to that of Grey Lynn, and important changes were being urged, the services of Mr. Warnock were again sought, and he was elected mayor. When Mr. Warnock first entered public life, about twenty-seven years ago, there were only eighty people in the borough, as against 4100 who now reside in the district. At the election on the 24th of April, 1901, Mr. Warnock was again returned as mayor with a majority of 218.
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Councillor Thomas Booth,
                Member of the Grey Lynn Borough Council, was born in Yorkshire, England, in 1827, and arrived in Auckland in 1859, by the ship “Tornado.” He entered the flour mills of Mr. Firth as assistant engineer, and occupied that position till 1890, when he was compelled to retire in consequence of an accident whereby he lost his arm.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Alexander Donald,
                who was elected in 1887 to represent the Richmond Ward in the Grey Lynn Borough Council, has held that position ever since, and was re-elected at the top of the poll in April, 1901. Mr. Donald has always been a strong advocate for the introduction of a thorough drainage system, and during his long term of office has rendered faithful service to the borough. He was born in 1849, in Scotland, where he gained considerable experience in tanning and fellmongery; and has followed the business with great success.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Farrell,
                Member of the Grey Lynn Borough Council, was first elected for Sussex Ward in 1899, and was again returned at the election of the 24th of April, 1901. He is a son of Mr. John Farrell, well known as a member of the Auckland Education Board, and was born in Auckland in 1868, and educated at the Thames High school. Mr. Farrell was apprenticed to his father, with whom he gained a thorough knowledge of the carpentering trade.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Robert Foster
                
                was elected to the Grey Lynn Borough Council on the 21th of April, 1901. He was born in Auckland, in 1851, and, after receiving his education at the Wesley College, was apprenticed to the building trade, in which he has always been very successful.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Robert Hall,
                who was elected to the Grey Lynn Borough Council on the 24th of April, 1901, was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1871. He is a partner in the firm of Messrs Hall and Perkins, auctioneers, City Market, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Charles McMaster
                
                was elected to the Grey Lynn Borough Council on the 24th of April, 1901. He has been a member of the local school committee for seventeen years.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Arthur James Parker,
                Member of the Grey Lynn Borough Council, was first elected in October, 1900, and was returned at the top of the poll in April, 1901. Mr. Parker was born in the Thames, in 1869, and is an engineer by trade. He has always taken a great interest in football, and has played in several representative matches.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Rosser,
                who has been a member of the Grey Lynn Borough Council since 1899, was born in Swansea, Wales, England. He came out to the colonies in 1872, and is a contractor in connection with the building trade.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor R. W. White,
                Member of the Grey Lynn Borough Council, was elected on the 24th of April, 1901. He was born in Auckland, and has for many years been connected with the building trade.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Currie,
                Town Clerk, Treasurer, Valuator, and Rate Collector, of Grey Lynn, was appointed in 1885, when the Newton Road Board, of which he had been clerk for two years, was transformed into the Newton Borough Council. Throughout his long term of office Mr. Currie has fulfilled his duties—which recently have greatly increased through the rapid advancement of the district—with the utmost credit to himself and satisfaction to the borough. Mr. Currie was born in 1835, in Glasgow, Scotland, where he was educated. He arrived in New Zealand in 1863, and settled at Auckland in the early part of 1864.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Faulder,
                who was elected as a councillor of the Borough of Newton in 1889, was a man much respected by his fellow citizens. He was born on the 24th of June, 1838, at Braithwaite, near Keswick, Cumberland, England, and was educated at Cockermouth College. Mr. Faulder was apprenticed to the drapery trade with an uncle and at the age of nineteen years left England for Australia by the “Royal Charter, which was wrecked on the voyage. He was very successful for several years on the goldfields of Victoria, and sold out his interest there with the intention of returning to the land of his birth, but following the advice of friends he came to this Colony. After residing in Otago for a short time, and for three years in Christchurch, he went to Auckland in 1868, and established himself as a builder and contractor. In 1889 he retired to his residence “West Home,” Richmond, where he died on the 13th of February, 1897, after an illness patiently born for seven months. Mrs. Faulder was left with a family of five sons and five daughters.

            

            

              


              
              


                

                  
Mr. Andrew Holden
                
                was for five years a Member of the Newton Borough Council. At his second election he contested the seat with Mr. Charles Bates, and secured two-thirds of the votes polled, but when Mr Holden removed his private residence to Remuera he resigned his seat and was succeeded by Mr. T. C. Brown. He was born at Bradford, Yorkshire, and is a nephew of the late Sir Isaac Holden, Bart., of Keighley, who had the largest wool-combing mills in the world at St. Denis, Rheims and Croix in France, and at Bradford, Yorkshire. Mr. Holden was educated at the French Protestant school at St. Denis, France, and then went to Glasgow, where he learnt the trade of a watchmaker. In December, 1879, he came to Auckland by the barque “Inglewood,” and shortly afterwards established himself in business at the Thames. Two years later he returned to Auckland, and was appointed to the position of manager for Messrs Stewart, Dawson and Co., the well-known wholesale and retail watchmakers and jewellers. Mr. Holden was for some time secretary of the Auckland Bowling Club and was one of the promoters of the Remuera Bowling Club. In church matters he belongs to the Baptists; but filled many positions in the Old Country as a member of the Wesleyan Church. He has been a member of the Remuera school committee for four years, and is a life long total abstainer. Mr. Holden is married and has one daughter and two sons.
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Mr. Andrew Cooper Riggs,
                who was elected to the Newton Borough Council in 1885 when the borough was formed, sat till 1894, when he did not seek re-election. No other member of the council has, so far, sat for so many consecutive years. For nearly his whole term of office he was chairman of the streets committee, and he acted as mayor for a time. The water scheme was initiated and carried out during his term, and so were numerous contracts for road-making and drainage. Mr. Riggs was born in Dorsetshire in 1831, and was brought up to the building trade at Blandford. After finishing his apprenticeship he went to London, where he married and established himself in business as a builder and contractor. In 1860 Mr. Riggs came to New Zealand by the ship “Robert Small,” and landing at Lyttelton, went on to Christchurch, where he settled and started in the building trade. He removed to Wellington in 1866, was in business at Marton for sixteen years, during which he erected the Town Hall, Sir William Fox's residence at Westoe, and the whole of the township of Crofton also for Sir William Fox. In February, 1885, Mr. Riggs landed in Auckland, where he carried on business as a builder and contractor till 1892, when he established his present business, that of a land agent in Karangahape Road, Auckland. Mr. Riggs is a prominent member of the Rechabites, and other temperance societies, and has held the position of District Chief Ruler, and secretary. While he was at Marton, he organised a branch of Rechabites in that town. Mr. Riggs filled the post of past master and past grand treasurer to the Orange institution of New Zealand, and was at different times chairman, secretary, and treasurer of the Marton and Crofton public schools. His volunteer experience extended over sixteen years in Christchurch and at Marton; and while at Marton he was a member of the vestry of the Anglican Church Mr. Riggs is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Henry Richardson, of Tottenham Court, London, and has three sons and two daughters.
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                  Newton West Public School
                
                contains seven class-rooms, besides rooms for the head-master and his assistant. The number of children on the roll is 602, with an average attendance of 545. The teaching staff consists of the head-master and six assistants, four of these being ladies. The school has been considerably enlarged since it was erected.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alfred Webber,
                Headmaster of the Newton West Public School, was born at Lewisham, Kent, in 1860, and received his education at Dulwich College. Leaving school, he visited France and Scotland, and afterwards travelled through New Zealand and some of the Pacific Islands. Having settled down in the Colony, Mr. Webber was engaged in teaching at Riverton under the Southland Education Board, and afterwards at the South Dunedin school under the Otago Board. About 1880 he moved to Auckland, and filled the positions successively of first assistant at Waiokaraka school, Thames, head-master at Rangiaohia, Waikato, and first assistant master at Parnell, receiving his present appointment in 1889. Mr. Webber devotes a great deal of his time to the teaching of science in the school, and has spent a considerable sum in procuring the necessary apparatus. He is an old footballer and cricketer, having represented Dulwich College in days gone by.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Campbell,
                First Assistant at Newton West Public School, was born in Bolton, Lancashire, in 1866, and educated at the Manchester Grammar School. After teaching for three years in Bolton, he went to London for a two years' course of studies. In 1888 he came out to Australia and crossed over to New Zealand. Since that time Mr. Campbell has been in the service of the Auckland Education Board, his first school having been at Opuawhanga. He paid a year's visit to the Old Country, and returned to the colony in 1892.

            

            

              
              


                
St. Peter's Presbyterian Church.
                This church, which now stands at the corner of the Great North Road and Brisbane Street, was erected in 1884 in Rose Road, Surrey Hills. Fourteen years later the Presbytery removed the building from its original site to its present position. The church is well arranged in every respect, and has seat accommodation for 350 persons. It was completed at a cost of £700, including the site; and on the 5th of February, 1899, the new church was opened under the charge of the Rev. R. Sommerville.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Robert Sommerville,
                of St. Peter's Presbyterian Church, Grey Lynn, was born at Banksfoot, Perthshire, Scotland, where his father was minister of the United Presbyterian Church. He arrived in Auckland in 1863, and was shortly afterwards sent by the Presbytery to take charge of the Whau district. Whilst engaged in his duties there he unfortunately met with an accident, which caused hemorrhage of the lungs, and,



acting under medical advice, he tendered his resignation to the Presbytery. For some years he engaged in commercial pursuits, but when his health improved he resumed ministerial work, and was placed in charge of Devonport, where he remained for eighteen months. The members of that congregation were so satisfied with his labours that they petitioned the Presbytery to appoint Mr. Sommerville as their permanent pastor. In the meanwhile the Whau church also presented a similar call, and he was appointed to that charge in February, 1876. In 1879 he was appointed Moderator of Auckland Presbytery, and in December of the same year was elected Clerk of Presbytery, and still holds that office. In 1883 Mr. Sommerville was appointed Moderator of the General Assembly, and has since held various offices in his church. He is one of the trustees under the Presbyterian Church Property Act, 1885, and manages the Church properties in the Auckland provincial district. In 1885 Mr. Sommerville was called and inducted to the newly formed charge of St. Peter's, Surrey Hills, and has ever since officiated there with much acceptance. Mr. Sommerville was for ten years editor of the “Presbyterian Church News,” but was compelled to relinquish the position on account of ill-health.

            

            

              
              


                
The Bank Of New Zealand,
                Grey Lynn. The Grey Lynn branch of the Bank of New Zealand is domiciled in a two-storey brick building, which was erected in 1900 m Karangahape Road. The upper floor is let for offices.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Francis Henry Templer,
                Manager of the Grey Lynn Branch of the Bank of New Zealand, was born in Wellington, Somersetshire, England, educated at Norwich, and brought up to banking in London, where he joined the staff of the Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Templer came out to Australia in 1870, in the service of that Bank and was in Melbourne and Queensland before coming to New Zealand in 1875. In 1882, Mr. Templer joined the Bank of New Zealand, and was appointed to the managership of the Grey Lynn branch in 1893. He was married, in 1883, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Connell, and has one son.

            

            

              
              


                
National Bank Of New Zealand,
                Limited (Newton branch), corner of Karangahape Road and Howe Street. The bank building is of two stories, in brick, and the bank's business premises are on the ground floor.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alexander Mchardy,
                Manager of the Newton Branch of the National Bank of New Zealand, Ltd., was born in Aberdeensure, Scotland, in 1866. He came to Port Chalmers by the s.s. “Kaikoura,” in 1885, and engaged in farming in Taranaki for a short time. In 1887 he joined the National Bank as a clerk at New Plymouth, and in eighteen months was transferred to Auckland. A year later he returned to New Plymouth, but in 1891, was again called to Auckland, where he became sub-accountant in 1897. Mr. McHardy has been manager at Newton since September, 1899. He was married, in 1899, to the only daughter of the late Mr. Robert Whyte, of Wauchope House, Lanarkshire, Scotland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Auckland Savings Bank
                
                (Grey Lynn Branch), Ponsonby Road, opposite Reservoir. The building was erected in 1885, and was renovated at a cost of £400 in 1900. It is of two stories, is of brick and cement, and contains eleven rooms, including a large banking chamber. On the 30th of June, 1900, there were 6000 depositors at the branch, with credit balances aggregating £63,000.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Clement Bartley,
                Manager of the Grey Lynn Branch of the Auckland Savings Bank, is referred to in another article as an ex-councillor of the Borough of Birkenhead.

            

            

              
              


                

Jamieson, James,
                Hairdresser and Tobacconist, Karangahape Road, Auckland. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This business was established by Mr. Jamieson, senior, in 1890, and the hairdressing saloon is under the management of his son, Mr. William F. Jamieson, who served his time with Mr. Coleman, of Auckland, and is thoroughly proficient in his business. The saloon is a good one, and being in a central position in Newton, it secures its fair amount of public support, and the Mutual Cigar Divan is well and favourably known to a large circle of customers in that part of the city Mr. Jamieson, senior, is well known in connection with municipal matters. The firm imports directly and extensively from the Home country, and the best brands of tobacco are stocked. The saloon is fitted with all the latest appliances, including two American saloon chairs.
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Birkenhead
                
                is a large residential suburb situated about three miles to the north-west of Auckland, across the Waitemata Harbour. The first settlers established themselves there over fifty years ago, and one of these hardy pioneers, Mr. Henry Hawkins, who has resided in the district for over half a century, is still alive, though now (July, 1901) over ninety years of age. Birkenhead is a large tract of undulating country, well wooded, and dotted with pretty patches of native bush. Although the land is unsuitable for growing grain, it is unsurpassed for fruit growing, and this industry is cultivated by over 200 settlers, strawberries being raised in large quantities. In order to encourage fruit culture, and successfully export the produce, a canning factory has been established near the Birkenhead wharf. At the present time (1901) apples, plums, pears, quinces, and tomatoes are being canned and sent all over the colony, and very shortly peaches will be similarly treated. Some years ago the Colonial Sugar Refining Company, Limited, established large sugar works at Birkenhead, and the rapid development of the industry has materially helped the progress of the district, as the majority of the persons employed at the works are residents of the borough.

              
Birkenhead is bounded on the east by the district of Northcote, and on the north-east by the outlying district of Birkenhead; otherwise it is surrounded by the Waitemata Harbour, where it is indented with charming little bays. The main public school of the district is situated on the boundary of Birkenhead and Northcote, and is attended by an average of over 250 scholars. Birkdale, the north-western portion of the borough, over which wild cattle were running a few years ago, has a public school, attended by about seventy scholars, under the tuition of Miss Bowen; and the Mayfield public school is outside the borough boundary, in the outlying district of Birkenhead. There is a Wesleyan church in Birkenhead, and the Church of England and Presbyterian



denominations have places of worship in the adjoining district of Northcote. The only public halls in the district at present are the Gladstone Hall and Tarry's Hall, both of which are in Northcote; but the Birkenhead Borough Council has purchased a site for a town hall, council chambers, and public library, and the buildings will be put up in due course. Mr. Witheford, M.H.R., the Mayor of Birkenhead, has recently given a grant towards the library. There is a post and telegraph office in both Birkenhead and Northcote.

              
Near the Ferry Wharf, and on the surrounding high land, many of Auckland's business men have large and handsome residences, surrounded by well laid out gardens, and this portion of the borough commands a magnificent view of Auckland and the whole of the Waitemata Harbour. The Devonport Ferry Company maintains an efficient and continuous service, from early morning to nearly midnight, with Northcote and Birkenhead.

              
Birkenhead was proclaimed a borough in 1887, and Mr. C. E. Button, who was elected the first mayor, occupied that position until November, 1900, when Mr. J. H. Witheford, M.H.R., the present mayor, succeeded him. The Council is moving in the matter of a more efficient water supply, and is endeavouring to bring the water from Lake Takapuna. It is also considering the establishment of borough gas works, which would also supply Northcote. One important feature that reflects great credit on the council, and cannot escape the attention of strangers, is that throughout the whole of the borough well formed footpaths have been constructed; and, there being no hard metal in the district, the council employs scows to bring this necessary material from Rangitoto Island for the roads.

              
Near the landing wharf there is a large boardinghouse where visitors are hospitably received; but there is no hotel in the borough, though there is one at Northcote. There are three stores doing business in Birkenhead.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Birkenhead
                
                is a borough with an area of 2697 acres. It contains 278 ratable properties, owned by 252 ratepayers. The rates levied by the Council consist of a general rate of 1s 3d in the £, a special rate of 3d in the £, and a separate rate of 2 1/4d, and the annual value of ratable property is £7312. The Borough has a population of 1087 persons.

            

            

              
              


                
His Worship The Mayor, 
Mr. Joseph H. Witheford,
                M.H.R., succeeded Mr. C. E. Button as Mayor of Birkenhead in November, 1900, and through his intimate knowledge of public affairs he has been enabled to render valuable assistance to this progressive borough. Prior to the mayoral election in Auckland, in April, 1901, he was requisitioned to stand as mayor of the city, but he courteously retired in favour of Dr. J. Logan Campbell—an act which enhanced his popularity. Mr. Witheford is referred to in other parts of this volume as a member of the House of Representatives, and as a member of the Auckland Harbour Board.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Patrick Donahoe
                
                was elected a Member of the Birkenhead Borough Council in September, 1900, and re-elected in April, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Hadfield,
                the Senior Member of the Birkenhead Borough Council, was born in Lancashire, England, and came out to the colonies in 1882.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Tom Hadfield
                
                was a Member of the first Borough Council of Birkenhead in 1887. He has not been continuously a member, but was re-elected in April, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor John G. Kay
                
                is well known as a progressive Member of the Birkenhead Borough Council, and has been repeatedly elected by the ratepayers on account of his public spirit and valuable services. Mr. Kay is a native of Lancashire, England, and came out to New Zealand in 1880. Shortly after his arrival he went to Birkenhead, where he quickly discerned the natural suitability of the soil for the successful growth of fruit, and immediately set up as an orchardist. His untiring energy and practical knowledge of fruit growing have made him supremely successful in business.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Alexander Keyes
                
                was elected to the Birkenhead Borough Council in September, 1898, and has ever since been the advocate of many necessary public works, such as the introduction of an efficient water supply, the establishment of gasworks, and the improvement of main roads. Mr. Keyes was born in Donegal, Ireland, in 1859. He was educated at the High School of Castlefen, and at the age of seventeen went to Glasgow, where he spent two years studying the profession of engineering. In 1878 he embarked for New Zealand, and since his arrival in the Colony he has been very successful as a builder and contractor.
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Councillor Harry Percival Taylor,
               
 the youngest Member, was first elected at the head of the poll, to the Birkenhead Borough Council in September, 1900, and returned again at the election of April, 1901. During his short term of office Mr. Taylor has evinced considerable activity in supporting such improvements as the proposed water scheme, the introduction of gas, and an improved ferry service, in addition to giving attention to the general requirements of the borough, and anything likely to make it a favourite suburban residential district. Mr. Taylor was born in Auckland on the 4th of February, 1869, and educated at the public schools, at which he gained a district scholarship, entitling him to three years' free tuition at the Auckland College and Grammar School. On leaving college in 1887 he entered a lawyer's office, with the intention of following
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the legal profession, but after an experience of eighteen months he decided to go into business, and entered the service of Messrs John Burns and Co., Auckland. He has been with that firm ever since, and has, in connection with his duties, represented it in Australia on several occasions.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor William Thompson
                
                was a Member of the original county council, which included Birkenhead within its sphere of operations. He has not been continuously a member of the Borough Council, but has always watched with keen interest the development of his district. He landed on the broken shore of the district in 1871, in a rowing boat—the only means by which he then could reach his adopted home. Beginning at once as a market gardener, Mr. Thompson gradually extended his business, first to that of a nurseryman, and, finally, when the making of roads and bridges facilitated the carriage of fruit, he set up as an orchardist, and has met with great success. In 1899 he established a canning factory, in which he preserves about twelve tons of choice fruit from his own well-known orchard, together with about twenty tons obtained from neighbouring sources. Mr. Thompson thus affords an admirable outlet for the staple product of the district, and has established an industry, for which Birkenhead, as a fruitgrowing centre, promises ample and increasing scope. Mr. Thompson is certainly a man who deserves well of the community, for whose municipal management and industrial progress he has done so much.
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Councillor William Wallace,
                of the Birkenhead Borough Council, was elected at the head of the poll in 1899. He is a native of Armagh, Ireland, came out to New Zealand in 1879, and has resided in Auckland since that date.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Edward James White,
                who had been for some years a Member of the Birkenhead Road Board, was elected a member of the Borough Council in 1886, when the council superseded the road board. Councillor White has witnessed and contributed to the borough's development, from a place of fern-clad ridges and undrained valleys to the cultivated and settled seaside resort of to-day. Mr. White held office continuously till 1898, when he retired for a time, but in April, 1901, he was again elected to his old seat in the council. He has always been a consistent advocate of road-making and of other improvements, which have made and are making Birkenhead so pleasant a place. Mr. White was born in Auckland on the 3rd of June, 1855, and educated at the Western Academy and at Dr. Kidd's Collegiate School. When fifteen years of age he entered the drapery firm of Mr. Richard Hobbs, with whom he remained for seven years, when he joined his brothers, Messrs F. A. and A. L. White, in a mining agency business, which then assumed the style of F. A. White and Bros. On the dissolution of the partnership, some years later, Mr. Edward White started for himself as an accountant and financial agent, and still carries on business as such in a convenient and neatly arranged office in the Colonial Bank Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland.
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Mr. Alfred Lovell White,
                Town Clerk, Valuator, Treasurer, and Rate Collector, for the Birkenhead Borough Council, was appointed to these positions by a unanimous vote of the council on the 7th of June, 1900, as successor to Mr. George Johnston, who resigned his position in that year. During his brief term of office, Mr. White has done much, by dint of hard labour, to further the best interests of the Council, and at the present time (June, 1901) enjoys the full confidence of all concerned. He was born at Auckland in 1859, and was educated under the Rev. Peter Mason, of the Auckland Western Academy. On leaving school at the age of fifteen years, he was apprenticed to the drapery trade, which he followed until 1880, when he entered the employment of his brother, Mr. F. A. White, who occupied offices in Queen Street as a legal manager and general agent. In 1892 Messrs A. L. and F. A. White and other brothers entered into partnership and carried on the business, which Mr F. A. White had founded, under the style of F. A. White and Bros. The firm was dissolved in 1897, and Mr. A. L. White then went into business on his own account as legal manager and general agent. In 1896 the borough of Birkenhead had a population of 690, which has now (1901) increased to 1087, and it has also advanced in other ways; and since his appointment, Mr. White has done much by the application of untiring energy and marked ability to keep its municipal administration abreast with the times.
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Mr. C. E. Button,
                Solicitor to the Birkenhead Borough Council, is a partner in the well-known firm of Messrs Buddle, Button, and Co., barristers and solicitors, referred to in another section of this volume.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Walter Thomas Bagot,
                formerly of the Birkenhead Borough Council, is a native of Tipperary, Ireland, and arrived in New Zealand in August, 1875. Three years later he purchased land at Birkenhead, where he has ever since resided.
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Mr. Clement Bartley
                
                was elected to the Birkenhead Borough Council in September, 1893, and represented the Birkdale District till September, 1869. He was born in Auckland in 1862, is a son of Mr. Robert Bartley, retired builder, of Devonport, and was educated at the Grammar School and at Mr. Josiah Martin's Training College. After four years of clerical experience in Mr. F. G. Ewington's office, Mr. Bartley entered the Auckland Savings Bank, at the head office in Queen Street. Five year later he was appointed to his present position of manager of the Newton branch of the savings Bank, Mr. Bartley has conducted the choir of St. John's Wesleyan Church, and afforded ample assistance at the Zion Church Sunday School, Birkenhead. He was a founder of the Auckland Bicycle Club, and imported one of the first high machines which came to Auckland. As a fowl fancier, Mr. Bartley has repeatedly won trophies at the annual shows with his Minorca, and he periodically imports the best birds from Great Britain. Close to his residence he has a fine paddock, fitted up for breeding on a large scale. Mr. Bartley is also in amateur photographer.
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Clow Bros.
                (John Clow and Laurence Mitchell Clow), Bakers, Confectioners, and Caterers, Northcote. Established in 1884. Messrs Clow Bros, have rapidly increased their business, and now have the leading bakery in Northcote. They have an output of 300 loaves per week, have two carts constantly going, and keep five hands employed. An important branch of the business is catering. Mr. John Clow, who has charge of the bakehouse, was born in Glasgow, in 1867, and came to the Colony to 1883. He learned his business with Messrs Gee and Rowlinson, of Auckland, and seven years later he left them to enter the employment of Mr. J. Davis, of Eden Terrace. In 1893 he and his brother commenced business in the city, but afterwards opened at Northcote. Mr. L. M. Clow has charge of the outside work.
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Parrish, Mark,
                Horticultures t and Fruitgrower, Northcote. Mr. Parrish has long been known as a most progressive resident of the district. His garden, and especially the large strawberry beds, in which long experience and practical knowledge are well displayed, may be said to be features in the landscape. The fruit from his orchard, consisting chiefly of strawberries, lemons, apples, peaches, and plums, has long found favour with buyers in the city marts. Mr. Parish was born in 1832, in Lincolnshire, England, and arrived in Auckland at the latter end of 1876. He quickly discerned the suitability of Northcote for the successful growth of fruit, and, with that end in view, he purchased ten acres on the summit of one of the district's undulating hills. The result is his very fine and prolific orchard. Mr. Parrish has many times been elected a member of local governing bodies, and his familiarity with the needs of the district has enabled him to contribute intelligently to the work of its development.

            

            

              
              

                
Wilson Bros.
               
 (William Wilson and Charles Wilson), Fruitgrowers, “Betsland,”
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Birkenhead. The Messrs Wilson have overten acres of land which they devote to fruit growing. Their original stock was carefully selected from the leading Auckland nurseries. Peaches and plums are extensively grown; a large patch of land is devoted to lemon cultivation, and two acres are used for strawberries, which thrive exceedingly well at “Bestsland.” A large glass-house is used entirely in the production of tomatoes. Both brothers have been for the greater part of their lives on the farm, and they are sons of Mr. Alexander Wilson. They are non-smokers, and take great interest in the Birkenhead Temperance Society.
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Devonport.

            

              
              


                

Devonport,
                on the North Shore, is a popular residential borough lying about two miles to the north of Auckland, and separated from the city by the Waitemata Harbour. Its progress is due to the untiring efforts and capability of its leading residents, and the efficient ferry service has helped in no small measure in this connection. Nature has been very kind to Auckland, and particularly so to Devonport, in giving the country a beautiful configuration, and dowering it with sandy beaches and rocky inlets, and has crowned her gifts with the noble Mount Victoria, whence a view of unsurpassed loveliness is obtainable. The panorama includes the whole of the borough in the surrounding foreground; Takapuna, Birkenhead, the upper reaches of the Waitemata; the whole of Auckland city with the commanding Mount Eden in the background; the Hauraki Gulf, with its many islands; the Coromandel Peninsula in the distant east, Motutapu and Rangitoto Islands near at hand; and, away to seaward, Tiritiri Island is plainly visible, while Kawau Island, the Little Barrier and Great Barrier Islands may also be discerned. From the time the sun rises over the Coromandel Peninsula and disperses the shimmering haze on the Hauraki Gulf, until the bosom of the harbour reflects its evening glow in a million ruddy sparkles, Devonport is surrounded by a panorama unexcelled in beauty anywhere in the world. The Italian says, “See Naples and die,” but the New Zealander might add, “See the view from Mount Victoria, and live for ever.” Little wonder that Captain John Fisher, who watches all day in his cosy signal station house on the top of the Mount, wears an expression on which contentment is indelibly stamped.

              
Devonport may be termed the warrior warden or protector of Auckland, as there the three main forts are constructed, and deftly concealed from any outside enemy. The borough is a peninsula, bounded on the north by the Old Lake Road, but otherwise it is surrounded by the sea. Recreation and sport of all kinds are amply provided for, as the borough contains nine reserves of a total area of over 110 acres. These include the Domain, where separate portions of the ground are set apart for tennis, football, cricket and bowling; also Cheltenham Beach, facing the Island of Rangitoto, where, on sunny days, myriads of happy children may be seen merrily disporting themselves. The pretty Takapuna racecourse and the spacious Calliope Dock are also in the borough. The main residential streets, comprising Beach Road, Calliope Road, Vauxhall Road, Cheltenham Road and Victoria Road, contain many large and handsome residences, occupied chiefly by the families of city men who have made their homes there, as being entirely removed and differing in aspect from the scene of their labours.

              
The district was proclaimed a borough in 1886, and Mr. Malcolm Niccol, the present mayor, who is now completing his sixth term of office, was elected as the first occupant of the mayoral chair. Mr. E. W. Alison was Mayor for five consecutive years, and Mr. J. C. Macky, who succeeded him, remained in office for a similar period. These gentlemen have been well supported by their colleagues in the council, and, as showing their progressive spirit, it must be mentioned that Devonport has the honour of being the first borough in the provincial district of Auckland to adopt the principle of rating on unimproved values. This example was quickly followed by Grey Lynn and Hamilton, and the principle is likely soon to be in force throughout New Zealand.

              
An unfailing supply of pure water is pumped from Lake Takapuna into a large reservoir on Mount Victoria, capable of holding about 300,000 gallons, and an effective drainage scheme has recently been completed at a cost of about £23,500. With such a beginning, and with a promising future, Devonport cannot fail to maintain its position amongst the romantic suburbs of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              

                

                  The Borough Of Devonport
                
               
 has an area of 640 acres, and contains 1,090 ratable properties, owned by 663 ratepayers. The rates levied by the Council amount to 3 3/4d
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in the pound. The value of ratable property is £212,464, and at the census of April, 1901, the borough had a population of 3,817.

            

            

              
              


                
His Worship The Mayor, 
Mr. Malcolm Niccol,
                who is now (July, 1901) completing his sixth term of office, is fully referred to on pages 
139 and 140 of this volume, in an article on the Auckland Harbour Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Ewen William Alison,
                Member of the Devonport Borough Council, was for five consecutive years mayor of the borough. Mr. Alison is referred to elsewhere in this volume in an article on the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, and also on pages 
145 and 146, as a member of the Waitemata County Council.
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Councillor Henry John Baulf
                
                was first elected to the Devonport Borough Council on the 18th of September, 1900, and was again returned at the election of April, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                
Councillor Robert H. Duder,
                the Senior Member of the Devonport Borough Council, is a Partner in the well-known firm of Messrs R. and R. Duder.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor William Handley
                
                has been a Member of the Devonport Borough Council since 1897. Mr. Handley has, since 1889, carried on an ærated water factory in Wellington Lane, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor J. W. Harrison,
                Member of the Devonport Borough Council, is also the authorised surveyor of the borough. He is elsewhere referred to as a partner in the firm of Messrs Harrison and Foster, surveyors.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor R. Logan,
                of the Devonport Borough Council, is a Partner in the well-known shipbuilding firm of Messrs Logan Brothers, and is referred to in that capacity.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Frank E. Mason
                
                was elected to the Devonport Borough Council in April, 1901. He was born in England, and came out to New Zealand in 1884. After spending ten years in the service of the New Zealand and River Plate Land Mortgage Company, he became accountant to the firm of Messrs Buddle and Button, solicitors.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor William John Willmet Philson,
                Member of the Devonport Borough Council, is noticed on page 
140 as a member of the Auckland Harbour Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John A. Walker,
                who became a Member of the Devonport Borough Council in September, 1900, was again returned in April, 1901. He is chairman of the Streets and Works Committee of the council.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Croom Webster,
                Town Clerk and Treasurer of Devonport, has faithfully carried out the duties of his position since his appointment in 1898. He is a son of Mr. John Webster, of Opononi, one of the most noted pioneer colonists of New Zealand, and was born in Hokianga. After receiving a sound education in Auckland, he entered the service of the National Bank of New Zealand, with which he remained for sixteen yearrs, during three of which he was stationed at Tauranga. Just prior to the collapse of the Auckland mining boom, Mr. Webster started in business as a sharebroker in Auckland. He gained a practical acquaintance with municipal work during the eighteen months he was employed in the office of the Auckland City Council, and this experience, coupled with his natural ability, has been of considerable benefit to the borough of Devonport during his term of office. Mr. Webster is peculiarly fitted for a public position, on account of his frank cordiality and freedom from affectation.
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Mr. James Mays
                
                served as one of the early members on the Devonport Road Board, and, after the road district was merged into the borough, he occupied a seat on the council for some years. He then resigned, and was valuator for the Borough Council for several years. As such he gave great satisfaction, and barely one per cent, of the properties dealt with by him came in for re-valuation. Mr. Mays also accepted the position, of assessor for the Government under the Land and Income Tax Department. He was born In 1850 and came to New Zealand in 1860 with his parents, who settled in Devonport, where he was educated and has resided ever since. After a five years' apprenticeship to Mr. F. F. Gilbert, builder, Mr. Mays started in business on the North Shore in 1870, and carried on till 1887, when he made way for others to take his place. He has not only been successful as a builder and contractor, but fortunate in mining speculations, and is, therefore, in a position of independence. Mr. Mays helped to start the Good Templar Lodge in Devonport, and is a Past Master amongst the Masons. He was one of the first committee of the Takapuna Jockey Club, and in his younger days he held an almost unbeaten record as an untrained runner. Mrs. Mays is a daughter of the late Mr. Henry Thode, of Coromandel.
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Mr. Willam Hoile Brown
                
                was for fifteen years a Member of the Devonport Highway Board, and when that body merged into the Devonport Borough Council, he was elected as one of its first members. Mr. Brown also represented the Council on the Harbour Board for several years. Owing to pressure of business, he resigned his seat in the Council in 1894, but is still a member of the Devonport Domain Board. He took an active interest in the water scheme, which was carried out whilst he was in the Council. Mr. Brown is referred to elsewhere, under his business notice.
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Wesleyan Church,
                Church Street, Devonport. This church originally stood upon



the Beach Road, and was moved to its present site in 1885, when it was enlarged; the outlay for land, removal, and enlargement being £1450. In 1894 a schoolroom was built at a cost of £209. The church holds 400 worshippers, and the school 200 scholars. There is an efficient choir under the leadership of Mr. Broughton, The Sunday school, with its 170 children, is conducted by Mr. J. W. Fordham and Mr. E. R. Jones, with whom are associated sixteen teachers. The Rev. J. S. Rishworth, as pastor of the church and superintendent of the circuit, is assisted by the Rev. A. B. Chappell, who resides at Birkenhead, and by the Rev. J. G. Chapman.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Devonport Congregational Church
                
                is a spacious wooden building, on a concrete foundation. It was erected about fifteen years ago, and occupies the back portion of a halfacre allotment, bounded in front by the Victoria Road, and overlooked by Mount Victoria. The church will accommodate about 150 persons, and is so arranged as to be available as a Sunday school class room.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Rev. Benjamin Lewis Thomas
                
                formerly Paster of the Devonport Congregational Church, was born at Fishguard, Pembrokeshire, Wales, and is the eldest son of Mr. David Thomas, farmer. Mr. Thomas received his primary education in his native town, and his secondary and ministerial training at the Memorial College, Brecon, Wales In 1882, he entered the ministry and was ordained to the pastoral charge of the English Congregational Church at Glamorgan Street, Brecon, where he ministered for four years. In 1886, he left for Auckland, New Zealand, and on his arrival was appointed to the pastorate of the Thames Church, where he remained for twelve months. He then became pastor of the Mount Eden Church, at which he ministered for eleven years; namely, from 1887 to 1898. In 1895, Mr. Thomas was appointed chairman of the Congregational Union of New Zealand, and retained the position for the usual term. His pastorate at Devonport, the picturesque suburb of Auckland, commenced in 1898. Mr. Thomas has been transferred to Wellington, and his successor has not yet (July, 1901) been appointed.
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The Takapuna Jockey Club.
               
 The New Zealand Racing Conference has divided the clubs under its control into two classes, respectively designated metropolitan clubs and country clubs. It is to the latter class that the Takapuna Club belongs, and statistics for the season 1899–1900 place it at the head of its class, as the Auckland Racing Club figures at the head of the metropolitan class. It was at a meeting held in the Masonic Hotel, Devonport, on the 16th of November, 1881, that the club was formed, and the first committee consisted of Messrs E. W. Alison, R. H. Duder (both of whom have been in harness ever since), R. Mackay, C. G. Quick, W. Branston, W. H. Fenton, and C. C. Dacre, Mr. H. Ellis was appointed secretary, and Mr. H. Vosper, treasurer. The site of the present course was then a swamp, the marsh lands were covered by a tall scrub, the water pools were the home of wild fowl, and the rising ground over which the steeplechasers now career, was covered with Maori whares, The swamp has given place to a beautiful racecourse, furnished with a very fine grandstand, under which there is a capacious bar, an excellent dining room, ladies' room, etc. At the entrance to the saddling paddock, there is a wooden building, which provides offices for the secretary, committee, telegraph officials, press representatives, and officials of the club. The totalisator office is conveniently situated in the rear, and the saddling paddock is suitably furnished with well-ventilated horse boxes. At the rear of the grandstand, there is a prettily laid out lawn, fringed with flowers. A terraced hill overlooks the straight
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running, and thence the general public can obtain an excellent view of the races. The racing track is completely drained, and is in exceptionally good order. The steeplechase course includes a portion of the flat track, and then traverses the stiff hill at the rear of the terraces and grandstand, and there is a water jump in the gully. The first meeting held by the club after its formation was on the 27th of December, 1881, when stakes to the amount of £255 were given away. In June, 1882, Mr. C. C. Dacre was appointed secretary in lieu of Mr H. Ellis, and was succeeded by Mr. T. Peel in January, 1883. In August, 1885, the position of secretary was conferred upon Mr. Robert Wynyard, who has ever since held the office. Mr. E. W. Alison has been chairman of the club's committee since its inauguration, and it is chiefly owing to his judgment and careful attention to the club's business that the club is now the leading country club in New Zealand. Three race meetings are held every year at Takapuna, the principal event being the Takapuna Cup Handicap, of 400 sovereigns; distance, one mile and a half. The attendance on the 29th of January, 1900, numbered over 10,000; and the totalisator receipts for the seven days' racing reached £54,074, a sum exceeded only by the corresponding receipts of the metropolitan clubs of Auckland, Canterbury, and Wellington. This progressive and popular club has lately increased its stake money considerably.

            

            

              
              


                

Johnston, George,
                Baker and Confectioner, Victoria Road, Devonport. Mr. Johnston is a native of Edinburgh, and came to this Colony in the ill-fated “Halcione.” After his arrival in Auckland he was for some time with his brother, who is in business in Parnell, and in 1883 he commenced in Karangahape Road, Auckland, as a baker and confectioner. After remaining there about six years he bought out the old-established business of Mr. Oliver Mays, Devonport, and has increased the business threefold. He employs a good many hands, and has two carts delivering bread over Devonport and the Lakeside. One of his carts carried off the first prize for the best “turn-out” at one of the recent shows of the Auckland Agricultural Society. Mr. Johnston is one of the few who make hand-made biscuits. He is a Forester and a Freemason.

            

            

              
              

                

                  Duder, R. And R.
                
               
 (Robert Duder and Richard Duder), Provision Merchants, Coal and Firewood Dealers, Brick, Tile, and Pottery Manufacturers, etc., Devonport. It is more than twenty years since Messrs Duder Brothers began to trade at Devonport as grocers and provision merchants. They still carry on the old business on extended lines, and have added to it coal and firewood dealing, and the manufacture of bricks, tiles, and pottery. The business is now so extensive that the firm has its own wharf at Devonport, and a shed capable of storing 1000 tons of merchandise, and it also keeps its own cutter constantly plying between Devonport and Auckland. The firm's grocery stores are extensive and well stocked, and in the wood and coal yards, Newcastle, Westport, Grey-mouth, and other coals are always on hand in large quantities. Scoria ash obtained from a pit owned by the firm, and sand and lime, are on sale by the Messrs Duder, who are the agents for J. Wilson and Co., of the Hydraulic Lime and Cement Works. The firm's pottery, brick, and tile works are situated at Shoal Bay, where they occupy an acre of ground, and a wharf has been erected to enable vessels to land coal at the gate and take away bricks, tiles, and pottery with equal convenience. There are various qualities of clay for the firm to work with, and there is thus a prospect of a variety of manufactures being turned out in the future. In the meantime, the Messrs Duder make common and ornamental bricks, pipes of all kinds, including salt-glazed inspection pipes, flower-pots, garden edgings, Buchan, P., and Herald traps, yard sinks, and special bricks for chimney heads and basements, border tiles, and tiles for bakers' ovens. The clay from which all these manufactures are made contains no rock, and thus the firm is enabled to turn out articles of the very best quality. The plant consists of a horizontal brick machine, with a capacity of 5000 bricks per day, and a pipe machine, all driven by a six horsepower Tangye boiler and engine; and there are two kilns, each with a capacity of 20,000 bricks. Messrs Duder are also house and land agents, and they have the Devonport agency for the Commercial Union Fire Insurance Company. Both members of the firm take a keen interest in racing, and have been members of the Takapuna Jockey Club since its inception. Mr. Richard Duder is also a member of the Auckland Racing Club. For over twelve years Mr. Robert Duder has been a member of the Devonport Borough Council. He is also a member of the licensing bench, and has been on the Domain Board for more than twenty years. The equine portrait produced with this article is that of the firm's magnificent stallion Cuirassier, by Musket—Frailty, full brother to the great horse
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Trenton, sold to go the England, for 7000 guineas. Cuirassier stands at Devonport, Auckland, where all particulars can be obtained from the firm.

            

            

              
              


                
Brown, William Hoile,
                Ship and Boatbuilder, Devonport. Mr. Brown was born in Kent in 1838, and went to California in 1855 in company with his father. At Samoa he was wrecked on the American barque “Elvira,” and taken on to Sydney by a son of the missionary, Mr. John Williams He then crossed over to New Zealand by the brig “Moa,” and landed in Auckland towards the end of 1855. Mr. Brown served in the Maori war as a volunteer. For more than thirty years he has resided at the North Shore, where he has carried on the occupation of a ship-builder. In his time he has built nearly fifty vessels, all turned out to the satisfaction of the owners. The barquentine “Falcon,” built for Messrs Watt Bros., of Napier, is worthy of special mention, and for his latest success, the “Manaroa,” built for Captain Cross, he received very flattering notices from the Press. Mr. Brown was a part owner of the “Leading Wind,” and assisted materially in the regattas of bygone days for schooners and cutters. He is a Past Master of the order of Freemasons, and has been for over thirty years superintendent of the Devonport Sunday school of the Church of England. Mrs Brown is a daughter of Mr. Binns.
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Motutapu Island.

            

              
This arcadian island, which is situated in the Hauraki Gulf within a few miles of Auckland, is one of the most lovely of the many beautiful islands which dot the seascape, and add such attraction to the Auckland Harbour. Motutapu lies adjacent to the island of Rangitoto, from which it is separated at high water by a narrow channel, but at low water it adjoins that island. It comprises 3700 acres of the most fertile soil, and is indented with bays, accessible at all states of the tide. The best known of them is Home Bay, which possesses a fine jetty, at which steamers of large size can lie in perfect safety in all weathers. The island is beautifully diversified by hill and dale, and dotted with fine clumps of English trees and fringed on the sea border by the romantic pohutakawa or Christmas tree of New Zealand. Motutapu is a perfect paradise to the lovers of sport, as it abounds with fallow deer, wallabies, emus, buffaloes, land birds and water fowl, dear to the sportsman's heart. Rock oysters are plentiful on the shores of the island, and the sea teems with the most delicious fish. Sheltered from the prevailing cold south-west winds by the venerable Rangitoto, crowned with his crater cone, towering 900 feet above sea level, and seemingly placed as a sentinel to guard the Waitemata, Motutapu possesses an exquisite climate seldom disturbed by boisterous winds or other elemental roysterers. Motutapu is indeed happily named, for, in the Maori language, the word means the Sacred Island. There, too, the sacred rites of hospitality are observed by Mr. Reid, the owner of the island, with a liberality so distinguished that his name is held in the highest respect by every individual in Auckland, and by large numbers of world tourists, who, on their visit to Auckland, experience the unaffected graciousness with which Mr. Reid fulfils the duties of host and master in his island kingdom. An invitation to visit the island is easily obtained from Mr. Reid, who is good nature personified, and the invitation often carries permission to shoot deer and other game. Various societies in Auckland have long held their annual picnics at Home Bay, as permission to do this has always been courteously granted by Mr. Reid. The homestead, situated at Emu Bay, is an ideal home, sheltered in a charming nook; it is surrounded by tree-dotted hills, and is easily approached by a walk of two miles from Home Bay, where the jetty is situated. In addition to the large number of game it carries for its owner, Motutapu depastures between 4000 and 5000 sheep, 300 head of well bred cattle, and about fifty horses, and these are all eagerly sought after by buyers. Communication with Auckland is most convenient, as steamboats ply several times a week between the city and the island. Motutapu was originally purchased by the late Mr. Robert Graham, who, in 1869, disposed of his interest of several hundred acres to Messrs Reid Bros., and the remaining portion was purchased at the same time from the Messrs Maxwell Bros., who were part owners. The island was then in its native state, but the energy of Messrs Reid Bros. soon converted the ti-tree and scrub covered hills to a fertile pastoral paradise.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. James Reid,
               
 Proprietor of Motutapu, the youngest and surviving brother of Messrs Reid Bros., and twin brother to the late Mr. John Reid, who died from the effects of blood poisoning on a trip to the South Sea Islands, was born at Hayston, Campsie, Stirlingshire, Scotland, in 1837. On the completion of his education, which took a comparatively short time, and after gaining some first prizes in the various branches of school work, he started farming with his brother, who gave him an excellent training. He then left Scotland, in 1865, for Melbourne. His first colonial experience was on the Murrumbidgee, where Mr. Reid determined to go in for sheep farming. He took a partner, who possessed nothing but a great knowledge of sheep, Mr. Reid supplying the other indispensable requisite—money. The partners purchased the Pine Plain station, on the Mallce Plains. It carried about 12,000 sheep, which were unfortunately scabby, but Mr. Reid cured them in a few months. He remained at Pine Plain for one year and a half, when he found that he had gained colonial experience to the tune of the loss of £3500. Then he disposed of his interest in the station, and joined his elder brother, the late Mr. William Reid, who had arrived in Australia two years after Mr. James Reid, on a journey of discovery to Queensland. The two brothers travelled on horseback for over 1000 miles, and suffered extreme hardships from both hunger and thirst. They saw no properties that pleased or suited them, and they then determined to visit New Zealand on a tour of inspection. Messrs William, John, and James Reid reached Auckland in 1869, and tried to buy Motutapu, but could not come to terms with the then owners. They then went to Nelson, but, seeing nothing there to suit them, returned to Melbourne. Very shortly after their arrival they received a letter from the owners of Motatapu, offering
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terms which Messrs Reid Brothers accepted, and they then returned to Auckland. The brothers immediately set to work clearing and fencing, and their labours resulted in making Motutapu an island elysium. Messrs William and John Reid are both dead, and Mr. James Reid, the youngest and surviving brother, honourably sustains the reputation of the lairds of Motutapu for graceful and unstinted hospitality. Mr. Reid has never had the opportunity of taking part in the political and general affairs of the day, as most of his time is devoted to beautifying and improving his ideal island home. On the 22nd of April, 1901, in recognition of his continued extreme kindness to the Oddfellows, he was made an honorary life member of that body.
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Mr. John Craig,
                Manager of Motutapu, has occupied the position for about ten years. He is a gentleman in whom Mr. Reid reposes the greatest confidence, and he looks after the general management of the property. Mrs Craig and Miss Craig, whose extreme kindness is known and appreciated by the numerous visitors to the island, ably help Mr. Reid in discharging his duties as a hospitable host.
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Waiheke Island.

            

              
              


                

                  
Waiheke
                
                is the largest island in the Hauraki Gulf. It lies about midway between Auckland and Coromandel, and covers an area of about 26,000 acres. Its shores are extremely broken, and contain many picturesque bays. The land, most of which is covered with healthy grass or native bush, is particularly suitable for sheep, of which large flocks are fattened there yearly. At the census of April, 1901, the population was 162—81 males and 81 females. Sheepfarming is the chief industry, and some of the holdings contain 5000 or 6000 acres. A store, post office, boardinghouse, a public hall, and school constitute the township. As a watering place Waiheke has long been popular and its scenic beauties, rural aspect, fishing grounds in sheltered waters, and shores clothed in native bush, attract hundreds of townspeople, who make it their summer haunt, while thousands patronise the excursions thither on summer holidays. Cowes Bay, on the eastern side of the island, where a jetty meets the steamer in deep water, and where sports are frequently held, is a favourite spot for excursionists, and on a summer's day crowds of pleasure yachts throng the waters of the bay, where a commodious boardinghouse provides accommodation for visitors, and there is a bicycle track in the neighbourhood.

            

            

              
              


                

Grey, Eliezer Birch,
                Settler, Waiheke Island; Post Office, Cowes. This gentleman, who is a relation of the late Sir George Grey, was born at Cloverhill, Moira, County Antrim, Ireland, in 1831, and was educated at Soldierstown in that county. His father intended him for the legal profession, and with that intention he entered the employment of Mr. John Rae, the celebrated Belfast solicitor, but remained with him only a short time. In 1852 he went to New York, America, and was engaged in business there for a couple of years. He then returned to Ireland, and remained there for two years, during which he married. In 1860 he emigrated to New Zealand, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Northern Bride.” With the intention of devoting himself to farming, Mr. Grey bought a farm at Kaipara, but seeing better possibilities by being nearer the city, he afterwards sold his land and purchased his present estate at Waiheke Island, one of the most charming of the many beautiful places around Auckland. He owns about 1200 acres, on which he has erected a pretty homestead, where he and Mrs Grey dispense hospitality to their numerous Auckland friends. Mr. Grey worked most indefatigably at fencing and reclaiming his property, and in all this he was duly assisted by his family, as they grew up, a family consisting of two sons and two daughters. Mrs Grey was a thorough helpmate to her husband during the early struggles of his pioneer work, and is known and respected as one of the kindliest ladies on the island. Mr. Grey has been a consistent Liberal all through his life, but owing to his comparatively isolated position, he has not been able to take part in the political contests of the day.
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The Northern Districts of Auckland have characteristics dear to all who inhabit them, and fascinating to those who know them by hearsay or history. It was in the Far North that the colonisation of New Zealand was cradled, and almost every bay, river and valley has its haunting bit of tradition, story, or romance. Whalers and free lance traders frequented the Bay of Islands as early as the beginning of the nineteenth century, and it was there, too, that the Rev. Samuel Marsden began his apostleship in the year 1814. It was also there, in 1840, that the arikis or paramount chiefs of New Zealand ceded their sovereign rights to Great Britain by signing the Treaty of Waitangi submitted to them by Captain Hobson, the first Governor of the colony, which had its first capital in the same district. Then Heke's war, which signalised the first serious trouble between the Maoris and the colonists, was carried on there in 1845–46.

          
These and many other happenings on land and water, connected with the early settlement of the country, and with the Maoris themselves long before the days of colonisation, have scattered the seeds of romance hither and thither in the province of Auckland, and especially throughout its northern districts. Those districts themselves contain some of the best land in New Zealand, and they have many resources. Hitherto the kauri gum trade has been the chief industry, but fruit-growing and sawmilling have also been well to the front in that respect. Agriculture, sheep-farming and cattle-breeding will increase very largely as the gumfields become worked out, and in proportion as settlement is adequately helped by means of roads and railways. A deplorable deficiency in this respect has hitherto grievously retarded the progress o
[
unclear: f] Auckland's northern districts, but the configuration and geographical features of the country have been very considerable factors in this connection.

          
However, the movement to supply the northern districts with sufficient roads and railways has never at any time been without life, and it must ere long succeed in securing complete railway communication between the city of Auckland and the rich far away country beyond Whangarei, and in adequately intersecting the intervening districts with the roads which are indispensable to the progress of settlement and the prosperity of the settlers. Happily, both coasts of the peninsula possess many excellent harbours, and apart from local enterprise in the various adjacent districts, business men in the city of Auckland have built up fleets of steamers and small sailing vessels, by means of which settlement and inland industries have been able to move ahead with very considerable success. This communication by sea has, in fact, been the mutual mainstay of Auckland and the inland districts, and it will probably never cease to be necessary or beneficial, for roads and railways, by promoting settlement, will at the same time add to the value of the coastal harbours and give the shipping more to carry to and fro.

          

            

[image: A Woodland Waterfall.]
A 
Woodland Waterfall.


          

          
An assured future therefore awaits Auckland's northern districts. The kauri gum trade not only may, but almost certainly will fall off, but industry in connection with coal and other minerals will increase, and fish-curing, saw-milling, ship-building, agriculture, dairying, cattle-rearing, and sheep-farming, will cover the country and feed the towns with a prosperity far ahead of anything experienced or dreamt of in the past. This anticipation is justified by what has been and is being done in and for Auckland's northern districts, and by a consideration of what they produce under comparatively unfavourable conditions, and what their native and enduring resources will enable them to yield, with increased and improved opportunities supplied by industrial science and the continued fostering care of man. Of things as they are at present the articles drawn together in this section of the Cyclopedia give a fairly comprehensive view, with indications of what the past has been and intimations of what the future will be. Neither the completeness of a catalogue nor the minuteness of a diary is aimed at, but of the people, places, and industries within the boundaries of the area dealt with more may be learned from this section than from any other single source at present in existence.
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Takapuna.

          

            
            


              

                
Takapuna
              
              is a fashionable resort on the western shore of the Rangitoto Channel, at a distance of about four miles from Devonport, and is within the jurisdiction of the Waitermata County Council. A first-class metalled road and a reliable and up-to-date line of omnibuses connect Takapuna with Devonport, and in the summer time there is an efficient ferry service with Auckland. The district consists of first-class land, and is dotted with thriving homesteads, gardens, villas and picturesque heights. There is a crescent-shaped shelly beach, washed by the waters of a sheltered channel, and pohutakawas with their crimson bloom overhang the roads. Immediately at the back of the beach—at a distance of about ten chains in a western line—is the famous Lake Takapuna, formed, as the Maori legend says, by some mighty force hurling inverted Rangitoto from the site of the lake, which immediately filled with water. This large body of fresh water, covering an area of one square mile, and filling the cavity of an ancient crater, is seven feet above the level of the neighbouring ocean. The lake is surrounded by brilliantly coloured native bush, and the reflection of the tall crimson-blossomed pohutakawas in the water produces magical effects. There are many fine houses on the shore of the lake and in its neighbourhood, and a commodious hotel and convenient boardinghouses on the narrow isthmus which divides the lake from the channel, afford good accommodation for tourists and pleasure-seeking visitors. Takapuna has stores, a post and telegraph office, churches, and a public school. Devonport obtains its water supply from Lake Takapuna, which has a pumping station on its southern shore.

            

              

[image: Lake Takapuna.]

Lake Takapuna.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Robertson, Henry S.,
              Grocer, Baker and Confectioner, Lake Store, Takapuna, Auckland. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Mr. Robertson was born in Auckland in 1856. He learned his trade with Mr. Waddell, baker, of Hobson Street, and was for some time with some of the leading Napier bakers as a journeyman. In 1875 Mr. Robertson established the first bakery in Suva, Fiji, and for fourteen years carried on a successful business. He then sold out and returned to Auckland, and after trying the grocery business in Symonds Street, removed to Howick, where he carried on business as a baker for some years. Later on he took a lease of his present premises, and has worked up a satisfactory



factory connection. Mr. Robertson is well known in the district as a first-class baker, and his services as a caterer are greatly in demand.

          

          

            
            


              
Mackay, Robert,
              Farmer, Takapuna. Mr. Mackay, a man of wide practical knowledge, has always taken a keen interest in the welfare of his district, and the county of Waitemata, of the council of which he was for twenty years. Mr. Mackay was born in Auckland, in 1844, and educated at Mr. John Gorrie's school and at St. Mary's College, Takapuna. He is a most successful farmer.
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Mr. R. Mackay.
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Wade,
              situated on the Weita river, lies twenty-four miles to the north of Auckland, in a district which grows yearly in importance. Although in the immediate vicinity the ground is unsuitable for pastoral purposes, it is well adapted for vine and fruit growing, and the surrounding districts are rapidly becoming a large pastoral area, through the introduction of the danthonia grass, which thrives wonderfully well in the neighbourhood. Gum digging, fruit growing, dairying and wool growing are the chief industries. Two rival steamers ply between Auckland and the town, one twice and the other thrice weekly. They offer excellent accommodation, and every opportunity for communication with the leading centre, for the small charge of one shilling and sixpence return. A large hall belonging to Messrs Thomas Lees and Sons is used for entertainments, dancing, skating, etc. There is also an agricultural hall, which is used for floral and agricultural shows, which are of annual occurrence, and are largely patronised and are improving considerably every year. Wade has a post office and telephone bureau, and a tri-weekly mail service; and the Waiwera district registry office for births, deaths and marriages is attached to the post office. There are three churches—Church of England, Presbyterian and Wesleyan—in the immediate neighbourhood.

          

          

            
            


              
Lees, Thomas, and Sons,
              General Storekeepers, Gum and Produce Merchants, Family Butchers and Bakers, Wade. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Telegraphic address, “Lees, Wade.” This firm was established in 1883 by Mr. Thomas Lees, the senior partner, and the business assumed such proportions that they found it necessary to extend their operations as universal providers and caterers. Each department is under separate management and contains complete stocks of every class of merchandise procurable in the Colony, at prices which compare favourably with those ruling in larger cities. A reading-room is attached to the premises for the use of the surrounding settlers, and is furnished with a good supply of English and Colonial periodicals. The Wade Accommodation House, also the property of Messrs. Lees and Sons, is fitted up with all the comforts of a home and has an excellent table. Mr. Thomas Lees, the senior partner of the firm, was born in Worcestershire in 1839. and brought up to the gunsmiths' trade in Birmingham. After a few months' experience in Canada, he arrived in Auckland per ship “John Duncan” in 1865. Mr. Lees was engaged in store-keeping in Auckland for a time and in Waikato for two years. In 1870, he took up his residence in the Wade district, where he has a farm of 200 acres, a few miles from the township, and has cultivated it for the last eighteen years, giving special attention to fruitgrowing, the soil being found very suitable.
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Mr. T. Lees.
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Puhoi,
              on the Puhoi river, thirty-five miles north from the city of Auckland, is settled chiefly by Germans, of whom there are five or six hundred in the district. The settlers are for the most part small farmers. In some of the neighbouring districts fruitgrowing and the wine industry are carried on extensively. The nearest township is Waiwera, which is about five miles away on the sea coast. There are well known hot springs, and a post, telegraph and money order office at Waiwera, which is connected by coach and steamer with Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              
Puhoi Public School.
              This school was founded for the purpose of educating the children of the special settlers who arrived from Bohemia many years ago and settled at Puhoi. The school is situated on rising ground, facing the Puhoi river, and thence one can obtain a magnificent view of the surrounding country, which is not unlike the Upper Wanganui district. The schoolhouse is built of wood, and contains one large class room, besides lavatories. There are seventy scholars on the roll, and there is an average attendance of fifty-six. The master, Mr. T. D. Rice, is ably assisted by Miss Keaney.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Thomas Dominic Rice,
              Master of Puhoi Public School, is the youngest son of Mr. Stephen Daniel Rice, late of Lisloughton Abbey, Tralee, Kerry, Ireland. He was born at Hakaru, in the county of Rodney, Auckland, and was educated at various public schools as well as privately. In 1887 he entered the service of the Auckland Board of Education, as a pupil teacher, and was subsequently appointed master successively at Redhill, Northern Wairoa, and at Hobsonville, and in November, 1898, he received his present appointment. Mr. Rice takes a active interest in cricket, has been captain of the Puhoi Cricket Club for some years, and is secretary of the Waitemata Cricket Association.
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Warkworth
              
              is the county town of Rodney, and lies at the head of the Mahurangi river, forty-two miles from Auckland. The district is noted for its fine fruit-growing qualities, and as the seat of an important industry in the manufacture of hydraulic lime and Portland cement. There is a considerable population in the township, which has a post and telegraph office, a courthouse, public school, and three churches—Church of England, Presbyterian and Wesleyan—a hotel, two temperance boardinghouses, three large general stores, a blacksmith's shop and carriage factory, a livery stable, and a newspaper office which prints the “Rodney Times.” Two steamers ply to and from Wark-worth, and it has also a line of mail coaches, which run thrice a week both ways, between it and Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. John Sheehan
              
              first entered the Parliament in New Zealand in 1872 as member for Rodney, which he represented until 1879. He was then elected for the Thames, for which he sat until 1881. At the general election of that year he stood against Mr. J. D. Ormond in Hawke's Bay, but was defeated by that gentleman. On Captain Morris, member for Tauranga, being called to the Legislative Council in 1885, Mr. Sheehaw became a candidate for the vacant seat, in opposition to Mr. William Kelly, whom he defeated by twelve votes, after a severe contest. He never entered Parliament again, however, for just as he was preparing to leave for Wellington he became ill at Petane, near Napier, and died there of inflammation of the brain on the afternoon of the 12th of June, 1885. His death caused great regret, for he was not only fluent and effective as a speaker on political subjects, but possessed exceptional ability as a public man and a lawyer, and had those personal qualities of good humour, liberality, and general social agreeableness, which endear a man to his friends and make him popular with the public. Mr. sheehan was not thirty-six when he died, for he was born at Auckland in 1850. His father, Mr. David Sheehan, was one of the early settlers, and was for many years a member of the Auckland Provincial Council. He gave his son the best education which was obtainable in Auckland in those days, and articled him to the study of the law, in the practice of which he afterwards achieved distinction, especially in its relation to business in the Native Land Courts of the colony. When a mere boy, young Sheehan served as a sergeant in the Auckland Cavalry Volunteers during the Waikato campaign, he was, also, barely twenty when he entered the stirring though limited arena of provincial politics and was returned for the Northern District, which had formerly been represented in the Provincial Council by his father. In the year in which he entered the Council, 1869, Mr. T. B. Gillies was elected Superintendent of the Province, and notwithstanding Mr. Sheehan's youth, his talents were even then so apparent and so generally acknowledged, that he became one of the members of Mr. Gillies' Executive Council, as Secretary for the Gold-fields. Before entering provincial politics Mr. Sheehan had been a prominent member of the Auckland Catholic Institute, which had really been a training school for his native talents as a debater and speaker on public subjects. Those talents were rther educated by his experience in the Provincial Council, and when he entered Parliament he had, as an orator and debater, a reputation, which he succeeded in maintaining in that assembly. When Sir George Grey entered Parliament in 1875 as member for Auckland City West, Mr. Sheehan's position in the House was such that he became Sir George's lieutenant in the organisation of New Zealand Liberalism; and when Sir George Grey's administration was constituted on the 15th of October, 1877, Mr. Sheehan became Native Minister and Minister of Justice, and held both portfolios until the Ministry went out of office on the 8th of October, 1879. Some time afterwards Mr. Sheehan settled at Napier, and extensively practised his profession as a lawyer in the Native Land Courts throughout the North Island. He was well acquainted with Maori character and customs, and had great influence with the aboriginal natives of the country, of which he himself was one of the most brilliant of the early European natives. Mr. Sheehan was the first European born in New Zealand to sit in the Parliament of the colony.

          

          

            
            


              
Warkworth Post And Telegraph Office,
              which includes a Money Order Office, Post Office Savings Bank, Advances to Settlers Office, and an office for the registration of births, marriages, and deaths, is situated a short distance from the wharf. The building is of wood and was erected twenty years ago. Mr. John Ramsay is the postmaster.
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Post and Telegraph Office, Whangarei.


            

          

          

            
            


              
The Warkworth Courthouse And Police Station,
              which was erected in 1880, is a wooden building with a lock-up at the rear and is situated about a quarter of a mile from the wharf. Sittings of the Stipendiary Magistrate's Court are held quarterly, and the local justices of the peace sit when required.

          

          

            
            

Mounted Constable 

Samuel Stacey,  Officer-in-Charge of the Warkworth Police Station, has had a varied experience both at Home and in the Colonies. He was born in Dublin, and when sixteen years of age, joined the Royal Irish Constabulary, and three years later entered the London police force. In 1862, he joined the Life Guards and served for ten years, during five of which he was Corporal of Horse.



Mr. Stacey next emigrated to Queensland, and was a member of the police force of that colony for seven years, for a part of that time as sergeant and as cavalry drill instructor in the mounted branch. Owing to ill-health, he removed to New South Wales, and after remaining in the force there for about a year, he took a trip to Suva. A year later, he came to New Zealand, and in 1882. joined the police force under Colonel Reader. Mr. Stacey has been successively stationed at Christchurch, Dunedin, Duntroon, Wanganui, and Hunterville, and in 1895, received his present appointment.
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Wilson, J. and Co.,
              (Nathaniel Wilson and James T. Wilson), Proprietors of the Portland Cement Works, Warkworth. Mr. Nathaniel Wilson first established this industry in 1872, and he was joined by his two brothers in 1885. By consistent perseverance and hard work, the firm has built up a very successful business and overcome the early prejudice against the colonial manufacture. The firm always puts the qualities of its cement to practical tests, and in spite of competition and reverses, it has proved equal to the imported article, as well as cheaper. The firm has executed large orders for the New Zealand Government and for the Napier Harbour Board, to which the Messrs Wilson supplied 100 tons weekly for about a year. The firm also supplied 700 tons of cement to the Waihi battery, Upper Thames goldfields.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Nathaniel Wilson
              
              was born in Glasgow, in 1836, and came out to New Zealand by the ship “Duchess of Argyle,” which arrived at Auckland in 1842. He afterwards visited Victoria, where he had five years' experience on the various fields. Returning to Auckland, he subsequently settled down at Warkworth in 1859, where he began limemaking, and from the beginning then made grew the large business of the present firm. Mr. Wilson was for twelve years a member of the Rodney Council, and eight years chairman of that body, and for some years he has been the chairman of the Upper Mahurangi Road Board. He also takes an active interest in the temperance movement, and is an honorary member of the Rechabites. Mr. Wilson is married to a daughter of Mrs James Snell, of Matakana, and has five sons and five daughters. Four of the sons are employed in the cement works, and the fifth is a school teacher in Auckland.
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Mr. James T. Wilson
              
              was born at sea in 1842 in the schooner “Duchess of Argyle.” He began life in New Zealand as a blacksmith in Auckland under his father. Subsequently he was engaged at the copper mines at the Kawau and Great Barrier Islands for twelve years. Mr. Wilson then established himself in business at Warkworth, and then joined his brother, Mr. N. Wilson, at the cement works, where they have one of the most successful industries in the colony.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William J. Wilson,
              Engineer-in-charge of the Portland Cement Works, Warkworth, is the eldest son of Mr. N. Wilson, the senior partner, and was born in Warkworth in 1864. He served his apprenticeship with the firm and has been in charge of the engineering department since 1884. The greater part of the machinery has been erected under his supervision, Mr. Wilson making a special study of cement machinery in general. He takes an active interest in the Band of Hope, Rechabites, and local Wesleyan churches. Mr. Wilson is married to a daughter of Mr. Isaac Phillips, of Mahurangi.
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Warkworth
              
              is the county town of Rodney, and lies at the head of the Mahurangi river, forty-two miles from Auckland. The district is noted for its fine fruit-growing qualities, and as the seat of an important industry in the manufacture of hydraulic lime and Portland cement. There is a considerable population in the township, which has a post and telegraph office, a courthouse, public school, and three churches—Church of England, Presbyterian and Wesleyan—a hotel, two temperance boardinghouses, three large general stores, a blacksmith's shop and carriage factory, a livery stable, and a newspaper office which prints the “Rodney Times.” Two steamers ply to and from Wark-worth, and it has also a line of mail coaches, which run thrice a week both ways, between it and Auckland.
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Mr. John Sheehan
              
              first entered the Parliament in New Zealand in 1872 as member for Rodney, which he represented until 1879. He was then elected for the Thames, for which he sat until 1881. At the general election of that year he stood against Mr. J. D. Ormond in Hawke's Bay, but was defeated by that gentleman. On Captain Morris, member for Tauranga, being called to the Legislative Council in 1885, Mr. Sheehaw became a candidate for the vacant seat, in opposition to Mr. William Kelly, whom he defeated by twelve votes, after a severe contest. He never entered Parliament again, however, for just as he was preparing to leave for Wellington he became ill at Petane, near Napier, and died there of inflammation of the brain on the afternoon of the 12th of June, 1885. His death caused great regret, for he was not only fluent and effective as a speaker on political subjects, but possessed exceptional ability as a public man and a lawyer, and had those personal qualities of good humour, liberality, and general social agreeableness, which endear a man to his friends and make him popular with the public. Mr. sheehan was not thirty-six when he died, for he was born at Auckland in 1850. His father, Mr. David Sheehan, was one of the early settlers, and was for many years a member of the Auckland Provincial Council. He gave his son the best education which was obtainable in Auckland in those days, and articled him to the study of the law, in the practice of which he afterwards achieved distinction, especially in its relation to business in the Native Land Courts of the colony. When a mere boy, young Sheehan served as a sergeant in the Auckland Cavalry Volunteers during the Waikato campaign, he was, also, barely twenty when he entered the stirring though limited arena of provincial politics and was returned for the Northern District, which had formerly been represented in the Provincial Council by his father. In the year in which he entered the Council, 1869, Mr. T. B. Gillies was elected Superintendent of the Province, and notwithstanding Mr. Sheehan's youth, his talents were even then so apparent and so generally acknowledged, that he became one of the members of Mr. Gillies' Executive Council, as Secretary for the Gold-fields. Before entering provincial politics Mr. Sheehan had been a prominent member of the Auckland Catholic Institute, which had really been a training school for his native talents as a debater and speaker on public subjects. Those talents were rther educated by his experience in the Provincial Council, and when he entered Parliament he had, as an orator and debater, a reputation, which he succeeded in maintaining in that assembly. When Sir George Grey entered Parliament in 1875 as member for Auckland City West, Mr. Sheehan's position in the House was such that he became Sir George's lieutenant in the organisation of New Zealand Liberalism; and when Sir George Grey's administration was constituted on the 15th of October, 1877, Mr. Sheehan became Native Minister and Minister of Justice, and held both portfolios until the Ministry went out of office on the 8th of October, 1879. Some time afterwards Mr. Sheehan settled at Napier, and extensively practised his profession as a lawyer in the Native Land Courts throughout the North Island. He was well acquainted with Maori character and customs, and had great influence with the aboriginal natives of the country, of which he himself was one of the most brilliant of the early European natives. Mr. Sheehan was the first European born in New Zealand to sit in the Parliament of the colony.
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Warkworth Post And Telegraph Office,
              which includes a Money Order Office, Post Office Savings Bank, Advances to Settlers Office, and an office for the registration of births, marriages, and deaths, is situated a short distance from the wharf. The building is of wood and was erected twenty years ago. Mr. John Ramsay is the postmaster.
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The Warkworth Courthouse And Police Station,
              which was erected in 1880, is a wooden building with a lock-up at the rear and is situated about a quarter of a mile from the wharf. Sittings of the Stipendiary Magistrate's Court are held quarterly, and the local justices of the peace sit when required.
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Mounted Constable 

Samuel Stacey,  Officer-in-Charge of the Warkworth Police Station, has had a varied experience both at Home and in the Colonies. He was born in Dublin, and when sixteen years of age, joined the Royal Irish Constabulary, and three years later entered the London police force. In 1862, he joined the Life Guards and served for ten years, during five of which he was Corporal of Horse.



Mr. Stacey next emigrated to Queensland, and was a member of the police force of that colony for seven years, for a part of that time as sergeant and as cavalry drill instructor in the mounted branch. Owing to ill-health, he removed to New South Wales, and after remaining in the force there for about a year, he took a trip to Suva. A year later, he came to New Zealand, and in 1882. joined the police force under Colonel Reader. Mr. Stacey has been successively stationed at Christchurch, Dunedin, Duntroon, Wanganui, and Hunterville, and in 1895, received his present appointment.
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Wilson, J. and Co.,
              (Nathaniel Wilson and James T. Wilson), Proprietors of the Portland Cement Works, Warkworth. Mr. Nathaniel Wilson first established this industry in 1872, and he was joined by his two brothers in 1885. By consistent perseverance and hard work, the firm has built up a very successful business and overcome the early prejudice against the colonial manufacture. The firm always puts the qualities of its cement to practical tests, and in spite of competition and reverses, it has proved equal to the imported article, as well as cheaper. The firm has executed large orders for the New Zealand Government and for the Napier Harbour Board, to which the Messrs Wilson supplied 100 tons weekly for about a year. The firm also supplied 700 tons of cement to the Waihi battery, Upper Thames goldfields.
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Mr. Nathaniel Wilson
              
              was born in Glasgow, in 1836, and came out to New Zealand by the ship “Duchess of Argyle,” which arrived at Auckland in 1842. He afterwards visited Victoria, where he had five years' experience on the various fields. Returning to Auckland, he subsequently settled down at Warkworth in 1859, where he began limemaking, and from the beginning then made grew the large business of the present firm. Mr. Wilson was for twelve years a member of the Rodney Council, and eight years chairman of that body, and for some years he has been the chairman of the Upper Mahurangi Road Board. He also takes an active interest in the temperance movement, and is an honorary member of the Rechabites. Mr. Wilson is married to a daughter of Mrs James Snell, of Matakana, and has five sons and five daughters. Four of the sons are employed in the cement works, and the fifth is a school teacher in Auckland.
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Mr. James T. Wilson
              
              was born at sea in 1842 in the schooner “Duchess of Argyle.” He began life in New Zealand as a blacksmith in Auckland under his father. Subsequently he was engaged at the copper mines at the Kawau and Great Barrier Islands for twelve years. Mr. Wilson then established himself in business at Warkworth, and then joined his brother, Mr. N. Wilson, at the cement works, where they have one of the most successful industries in the colony.
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Mr. William J. Wilson,
              Engineer-in-charge of the Portland Cement Works, Warkworth, is the eldest son of Mr. N. Wilson, the senior partner, and was born in Warkworth in 1864. He served his apprenticeship with the firm and has been in charge of the engineering department since 1884. The greater part of the machinery has been erected under his supervision, Mr. Wilson making a special study of cement machinery in general. He takes an active interest in the Band of Hope, Rechabites, and local Wesleyan churches. Mr. Wilson is married to a daughter of Mr. Isaac Phillips, of Mahurangi.
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Waipu,
              in the county of Whangarei, is ninety-two miles from Auckland. It is a large farming district, and was specially settled, in the first instance, by immigrants from Nova Scotia. There is a tri-weekly mail service, with a post office savings bank and a telegraph service.

          

          

            
            


              

Mcleod, Donald Murray,
              Coach Proprietor and Boardinghouse-keeper, Waipu. Mr. McLeod was born at Cape Breton, British North America, in 1850, and came with his parents to New Zealand ten years later. After spending some years in Auckland he visited the Thames goldfields, where he resided about five years, and afterwards was employed on a sheep and cattle run near Gisborne for a similar period. Mr. McLeod then went to Waipu, where he started his line of coaches conveying the mails from Marsden Point to Waipu. He has also a comfortable well-conducted bearding establishment of fourteen rooms under the direct supervision of Mrs. McLeod. Mr. McLeod takes a great interest in sporting matters, and is a prominent member of the Waipu Jockey Club of which he was the original promoter. He is a fine vocalist and takes part in all the local concerts. He is married and has seven children.
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Mcleod, Donald Murray,
              Coach Proprietor and Boardinghouse-keeper, Waipu. Mr. McLeod was born at Cape Breton, British North America, in 1850, and came with his parents to New Zealand ten years later. After spending some years in Auckland he visited the Thames goldfields, where he resided about five years, and afterwards was employed on a sheep and cattle run near Gisborne for a similar period. Mr. McLeod then went to Waipu, where he started his line of coaches conveying the mails from Marsden Point to Waipu. He has also a comfortable well-conducted bearding establishment of fourteen rooms under the direct supervision of Mrs. McLeod. Mr. McLeod takes a great interest in sporting matters, and is a prominent member of the Waipu Jockey Club of which he was the original promoter. He is a fine vocalist and takes part in all the local concerts. He is married and has seven children.
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Whangarei
              
              is an important town on the Hoteo river, fifteen miles from Whangarei Heads and eighty miles from Auckland. The surrounding district contains fine agricultural land, and is mostly suitable for fruit growing. Coal, lime, timber, kauri gum, wool, butter and cheese are its more important products, and there are some fine limestone caves and waterfalls of very great interest in the neighbourhood. The town is picturesquely situated, and possesses some excellent buildings. It has a fruit canning factory, one bank, four churches, a high school, two public schools, a weekly newspaper, public halls, and several societies, and is lighted by means of gas. The climate is a most salubrious one, and many pleasant excursions to points of interest in the neighbourhood can be conveniently made by visitors. Mails are received and despatched daily between Auckland and Whangarei.
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Sir Samuel Osborne Gibbes
              
              was born in England in 1803. After serving as a page of honour to George IV., he entered the Royal Military College at Sandhurst, and received a commission in the 96th Regiment. Subsequently he was A.D.C. to the Governor of Nova Scotia, but did not remain long in the army as he had a considerable estate in the West Indies, and took up its management. Sir Samuel was one of the early colonists of New Zealand, and settled at Whangarei. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1855, and resigned in 1863. His social qualities made him a favourite with all classes, and when he died at Whangarei in 1874, the Bishop of Auckland conducted the funeral; Freemasons, old soldiers and settlers from all parts of the district attended, and he was buried with military and Masonic honours. He was succeeded in the baronetey by his eldest son, Sir Edward Osborne Gibbes, now of Wellington.
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Mr. Henry Walton
              
              was called to the Legislative Council in 1863, and was a member till 1866, when he resigned. He was one of Auckland's early colonists, and was always held in the very highest esteem. His father was one of the leading crape manufacturers in England. Mr. Walton and his brother Cuarles came to New Zealand in the forties and took up a large tract of native country at Maungatapere, near Whangarei, and brought it to a high state of cultivation. Both brothers were Justices of the Peace. They supplied the Kaipara Timber Mills with the bulk of the timber used in building in those early days, and started the lime kiln on Limestone Island, Whangarei Harbour, where the industry has since developed into a large business. Mr Walton went Home about 1885 to conduct his father's business, and died in England in 1896. He was married, but had no family.
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View of Whangarei, Showing Town Wharf.
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Mr. Robert Thompson,
              Member for Marsden in the House of Representatives, was born in 1840, at Newtown Butler, County Fermanagh, Ireland, and is the eighth son of Mr. William Thompson, who was a farmer in that district. In 1859 he was sent out to some relatives who were sugar planters, in the Danish Island of St. Croix, West Indies, to learn sugar planting. After a residence there of five years, he determined to try his fortune in Australia, and after visiting the United States, Canada, and Ireland, he arrived in Australia in the early part of 1864. He had four years' experience of sheep-farming on the Yanko Station, New South Wales, but was then induced to visit New Zealand, and was so captivated by the climate and future prospects of the colony, that he determined to become a settler. In 1870 Mr. Thompson bought a farm close to Whangarei, and after a few years of the usual monotonous life of a settler in those days he determined to commence business in Whangarei as an auctioneer, and land and commission agent, and there for twelve years he carried on a fairly successful business. At the same time Mr. Thompson took an active part in local politics, and became chairman of the local body, then chairman of the Town Board, and was afterwards chairman of the County Council for six years previous to his election to the House of Representatives, in 1887, as member for Marsden. Since then he has continuously represented the Marsden electorate, and his majority at the election of 1899, exceeded that of all previous elections. It was above 1300. Mr. Thompson's home is within the borough of Whangarei, and consists of twenty-five acres, half of which is planted with lemon and orange trees, now in full bearing. On his election in 1887 Mr. Thompson retired from business, and he now humorously calls himself a fruitgrower.
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                The Borough Of Whangarei
              
              has a population of 1500, and is an exceedingly pleasant town. The capital value of property in the municipality is £130,000, on which a general rate of 1 1/2d in the £ is levied, and the annual revenue of the borough from all sources is £1400. Members of the Borough Council for 1901: The Mayor, Mr J. M. Killen, who was elected in April, 1901, and Councillors McClintock, Clark-Walker, Field, Mason, Hutchings, McGregor, Weaver, and



R. and J. R. Reyburn. Mr. James McKinnon is town clerk and treasurer, and Mr. A. Thomas, borough inspector.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

His Worship The Mayor, Mr. James Miller Killen



            
            

              
His Worship The Mayor, 
Mr. James Miller Killen,
             
 M.A., was the first Mayor of Whangarei, and after being out of the Council for some time, he was again elected to the chief magistrateship in April, 1901. At his installation on the 8th of May he outlined a progressive policy for the borough, including the acquisition of rights to waterfalls in the neighbourhood for the generation of electricity for lighting and other purposes, and to surrounding hills for
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Mr. 
J. M. Killen.


a public domain, and the adjacent mangrove flats as sites for future factories. A drainage service, a properly equipped fire brigade, corporation offices and public reading rooms were other items in the municipal programme sketched by the Mayor. Mr. Killen is referred to in another article in his professional character as a barrister and solicitor.
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Councillor Thomas McClintock,
              who was a member of the first Whangarei Borough Council, is a son of the late Mr. William McClintock, of Carnstrone, Ireland, where he was born in 1853. In 1878 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Halcione,” and found his way to Kawakawa. He revisited the Old Country in 1889, and on his return to New Zealand established himself in business as a tailor in Cameron Street, Whangarei. Mr. McClintock was a member of the old Town Board for five years, and has always taken a keen interest in matters affecting the welfare of the district. He is a supporter of the water supply scheme which is now (1901) under the consideration of the Whangarei Borough Council.
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Councillor George Clark-Walker,
              of the Whangarei Borough Council, was elected to that body at the incorporation of the Borough in October, 1896. He had been previously a hard working member of the old road board, and hopes to continue his public services until the town is systematically drained, provided with the electric light, and has an efficient water supply. Mr. Clark-Walker was born in 1852 in Doncaster, and is a son of Mr. George Clark-Walker, formerly mayor of that town, an honour gained by four preceding generations of the family. He was educated at Victoria College, Jersey, was originally intended for the Navy and passed his examination for a midshipman. He arrived in Auckland in 1866 with his parents per ship “Chili,” and was for some time engaged at Whitford Park station under Mr. Joseph Osborne. Subsequently, when that gentleman established himself in business in Auckland, Mr. Clark-Walker remained in his employ. In 1876 he went to Whangarei and entered the service of the late Mr. Cafler, a French gentleman conducting a large business in Whangarei, which Mr. Clark-Walker managed till 1885, when he purchased it. Shortly afterwards a disastrous fire occurred that almost ruined him, leaving him to make a new beginning, and he then established himself as a native land and mining agent, in which he has succeeded in forming an excellent connection, especially with the Puhipuhi mines, in which he was at one time the largest shoreholder. Mr. Clark-Walker was captain commanding the Whangarei Rifle Volunteers in 1883 and with Capt. Storey arranged the defences of the town of Whangarei against a threatened attack by the Maoris in 1884. He is now captain of the Marsden Mounted Rifles. He is a master Mason and has been associated with the order since 1877, has been a vestryman of the Church of England, chairman of the Whangarei School Committee and School Committee Union for some years, and was for years chairman of the Whangarei Liceasing Committee. Mr. Clark-Walker is secretary of the Park Racing Club, Whangarei Turf Club and judge for other racing clubs, secretary of the East Divisional Committee of the North Auckland Racing Association, secretary of the Whangarei Farmers' Club, New Zealand Farmers' Union, and Whangarei School of Mines. He has been connected with the Philharmonic Society for some years as stage manager. Mr. Clark-Walker is also secretary to the North Auckland Athletic Association, of the Whangarei Gymnastic Club, Whangarei Caledonian Society, chairman of the North Auckland Rugby Union, and a great lover of all outdoor sports generally. In his younger days he was an amateur rider over “sticks,” and even now sometimes mounts the pig-skin to advantage, having only a year or two ago won the Ladies' Bracelet on “Voltigeur II” at Whangarei. He is married to a daughter of Mr. David Hay, of Remuera.
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Mr. James McKinnon,
              Town Clerk, Whangarei Borough Council, is a son of the late Mr. John McKinnon, who was one of the oldest settlers in Whangarei County. He was brought up on his father's farm at Whareora, and the first position he held was as clerk of the Whareora Road Board in 1883. The following year he was appointed clerk and treasurer of the Whangarei County Council, and was clerk to the Whangarei Town Board for some years before the borough was proclaimed. Besides the above positions, which are still held by Mr. McKinnon, he is secretary of the Maunu Road Board, Whangarei Harbour Board, and High School Board of Governors. He is returning officer for the Whangarei County, valnator under the Government Life Insurance Department,



valuator under the Lands Valuation Act—receiving the latter appointment in June, 1877—and census enumerator for the Marsden electorate. Mr. McKinnon is a member of the Masonic fraternity. In musical matters he has always taken more than a general interest, and as an amateur photographer has produced admirable work, some of his views of the district being found in this volume.
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The Whangarei County Council.
              Members for 1901. Mr. W. Carter, J.P., chairman, and Messrs R. Cutforth, G. Gunson, N. McKenzie, A. G. McKenzie, G. H. Minchin, G. Ross, and H. Wolf. Officers: J. McKinnon, clerk and treasurer; D. C. Wilson, engineer; H. Cheeseman, road inspector; and W. A. Carruth, solicitor. The capital value of property in the county is £554,905, unimproved value £328,973, and the value of improvements is £225,932. Its area is 928 square miles, and its population about 7000. The council levies a general rate of 3/4d in the £, and a separate rate for the same amount.
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Councillor George Ross,
              J.P., for some time Chairman of the Whangarei County Council and Whangarei Harbour Board, was first elected to the former body in 1885. He retired in 1887 and did not again seek re-election till 1893, and he was chairman for 1896-97-98. Mr. Ross now (1901) represents Manaia riding on the council, and he is also a member of the North Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and of the Marsden Licensing Board. In conjunction with Mr. Mason (ex-chairman) and others. Mr. Ross worked unceasingly to obtain the bridge across the Whangarei river, being successful in their endeayours through Mr. Robert Thompson, M.H.R., who secured a subsidy from the Government for that purpose. For eleven years Mr. Ross was chairman of the Parua Bay Road Board, and in 1885 received his commission as a Justice of the Peace. Mr. Ross was born in London in 1831 and is self-educated. He arrived in Victoria with his parents in 1842 per barque “Samuel Boddington,” was four years in Melbourne, then went to South Adelaide, where he was employed in the Burra Burra copper mines for three years. In 1840 Mr. Ross left South Australia for Auckland, where he soon found employment with the Ben Accord Company at the copper mines at Kawau—Sir George Grey's island. At the outbreak of the New South Wales diggings in 1852 Mr. Ross was smitten with the gold fever, but returned to New Zealand twelve months later, and subsequently lived at Whangarei where his father owned some property. He now resides at Taranui, Parua Bay, on a property of 340 acres, which is pleasantly situated and suitable alike for grazing and agricultural purposes. Mr. Ross has been a deputy returning officer for the electoral district of Marsden since 1858. He is an amateur photographer and very enthusiastic in sporting matters. As an amateur book-binder he turns out work that would do credit to some of the leading establishments of Auckland. Mrs. Ross died in 1887 leaving one daughter and four sons, one of whom assists his father on the farm.
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Mr. Daniel Cook Wilson,
              Engineer of the Whangarei County Council, was born in County Tyrone, Ireland, in January 1841, and came out to Australia when twelve years of age. After four years' residence in Geelong and Ballarat he came to Auckland in 1857 and studied land surveying with his brother, Mr. J. I. Wilson, and has since been continuously engaged in that occupation and in road engineering for over forty years Mr. Wilson has resided in the county of Whangarei since 1858, and in the early days experienced all the hardships incidental to a surveyor's life, when it was customary to camp in rough country for months at a time with no better provisions than wild pork, black tea, and “damper.” Mr. Wilson was appointed to his present position in 1883 and during the eighteen years he has been in office the county roads have increased from 150 miles to 550 miles in length, of which over fifty miles are permanently metalled.

            


            
On these roads five tons of timber is quite a common load. There is no more familiar face to the residents of the county than that of their engineer, who though he has borne the beat and burden of the day, still seems in the prime of life and good for another quarter of a century.
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Mr. Thomas Alfred Crisp,
              Ex-Member of Whangarei County Council, of Te Rongo, Parua Bay, was born in Bath in 1826 and is a son of the late Mr. James Crisp, alderntan of Bath, who took a prominent part in connection with the Reform Bill of 1832. He received his education in Bath and in 1843 went to Liverpool and served three years with Messrs, Bury, Curtis and Kennedy. He was, subsequently, employed in the Shrewsbury and Chester Railway locomotive department, and engineering in various parts of England till 1857, when he went to America for about three years. In 1862 he landed at Melbourne per “Lord Raglan,” and came to New Zealand in 1864 from Queensland. Mr. Crisp was offered and accepted a position in the Waste Lands Office, Auckland, but resigned in 1866 to take up land in the Parua Bay district. He subsequently sold his property. Mr. Crisp was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1874, but resigned in 1880. As a county councillor he initiated the erection of the jetty at Parua Bay. Mrs. Crisp landed in Auckland per ship “Ida Ziegler” in November, 1867, and now resides at Lake Takapuna.
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Mr. Joseph Mallabond,
              J.P., who was a Member of the Whangarei County Council for many years, and at one time Chairman of the North Auckland Charitable Aid Board, was born at Attleborough, Warwickshire, in 1840, and is a son of Mr. William Mallabond, a retired soldier. He was educated at Nuncaton and joined the 36th Regt., but just missed being sent to the Crimean War. At a very early period of service, he was ordered to proceed to the Hythe School of Musketry, where he became a drill-instructor. In 1863 the regiment departed for India and Mr. Mallabond remained with his colours till 1867, being stationed at Benares, Lucknow, and Shahjehanpore, and was a member of the regimental band. In 1867 Mr. Mallabond came to Auckland, via Melbourne, went to the Thames at the outbreak of the diggings and roughed it there for four years. In 1871 he went to Parua Bay and purchased the property which has been his homestead ever since, and where he has made himself a useful public man as a member of the Whangarel County Council, local highway board, school committee, and as chairman of the North Auckland Charitable Aid Board for five years. Credit is given to Mr. Mallabond for his being the first to excite public opinion in favour of “Old Age Pensions,” he having forwarded a scheme to the late Hon. John Ballance, then Premier. All matters affecting the welfare of the district have found in Mr. Mallabond an active and energetic supporter. He has been chairman of the Parua School Committee for eleven years, has taken a leading part in musical matters in the district and was appointed a Justice of the Peace by the Seddon Government in 1892. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. John Lambert, a highly respected pioneer settler of Parua Bay.
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Whangarei Railway Station.
              Trains are run between Whangarei and Opua, the port, at irregular intervals to suit the shipping trade. Whangarei is the head station of the section. The traffic consists largely of coal from the mines at Ruatangata and Waro, and timber, mostly logs and sawn timber, from the famous Puhi Puhi forest.
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Mr. Andrew Duncan,
              Stationmaster, Whangarei (1900), was born in Canterbury in 1862, and educated at various schools in that district. He entered the Railway Department as cadet in 1878 at Christchurch. After two years he was transferred to the Traffic Superintendent's office, Dunedin, then removed to Auckland as parcels' clerk, and afterwards spent another two years in the Traffic Superintendent's office. He was Traffic Inspector in Auckland for two years and stationmaster at Newmarket for seven years. In April of 1895 he was appointed stationmaster in charge of the Picton section, where he remained about two years, and in February, 1897, was appointed to Whaugarei. Whilst in Picton, Mr. Duncan was actively connected with the Literary Institute, and he is an excellent amateur actor. He was married in 1885, and has seven children.
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The High School, Whangarei
             , was incorporated and duly gazetted under the Act of 1878, was opened in 1881 by Mr. G. N. H. O. Smeeton, who remained in charge till 1883, when he was succeeded by the Rev. J. H. Hawkes, of Dublin University, who filled the position till the end of 1884. Government having withdrawn the annual grant of £200, the latter gentleman tried to continue the school, but found it an impossible task. Accordingly the school was closed till 1892, at which date Mr. Duxfield, M.A., of Trinity College, Dublin, succeeded in getting a number of pupils together and conducted the school for some



time in Cubitt's Hall. Finding the numbers increasing and with the co-operation of many leading townsmen, he prevailed upon the Whangarei County Council, into whose hands the Kieroa Reserves had fallen, to hand them back to the Board of Governors—which had been reformed—and the subject of a secondary school was fully gone into. The result was that from the rents derived from these estates, the board was able to purchase the present site of two acres in Cross Street, upon which a handsome and commodious wooden building was erected. Mr. Duxfield, who had worked hard in its interests, took charge of the school which his energy and perseverance had so largely contributed to establish. After a successful term of service, Mr. Duxfield resigned his position as headmaster in May, 1896, to take an appointment at Christ's College, Christchurch, and Mr. Roger Lupton succeeded him. Mr. Lupton has the aid of an assistant teacher, and Mrs Lupton has charge of an adjoining junior department. Pupils are prepared for matriculation, junior and senior Civil Service examinations, as well as the teachers' examinations; one of the scholars who won a scholarship under the Auckland Education Board is now reaping the advantages conferred by the Whangarei High School. The Governors grant two free scholarships annually, tenable for three years, and in cases where scholars have to board away from home, a sum of £10 may be granted as board allowance. The annual fee is £8 8s. per annum for day scholars, and £30 for boarders. The school is in a prosperous condition and the outlook most assuring.
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Mr. Roger Lupton,
              Headmaster of Whangarei High School, is one of a family who have been engaged in the scholastic profession many years. He was educated partly at the Hoddesdon Grammar School and partly by his father, one of the earliest and best known “coaches” for Army and Civil Service examinations and author of several standard school books. Mr. Lupton occupied successively posts as assistant-master in the Nottingham High School and science master in the Macelesfield Grammar School, giving up the latter position to study biology at the Normal School of Science, Kensington. On completing his course in that institution he devoted himself to preparing pupils for the various public examinations and was for three years mathematical tutor with the Rev. W. Hiley, M.A., a well-known “coach.” His health falling, Mr. Lupton went to California and spent two years there at fruitgrowing. While returning to England in 1891, via the Australian Colonies, he determined to remain in New Zealand, and after being five years in the colony accepted his present position.
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Bispham, Mrs. C.,
              Teacher of Singing and Pianoforte, Kamo Road, Whangarei. Although Mrs. Bispham commenced her profession in Whangarei as recently as February, 1896, she has been most successful in establishing herself as an instructor; recognising that the musical talent of Whangarei was above par, she devoted her energies to working up a valuable connection. Mrs. Bispham was born of English parentage and was a pupil for many years of Sir Julius Benedict. She afterwards followed her profession for some years in the West Indies, and came out to New Zealand in 1880, where she further pursued her studies under Mr. Gordon Gooch and Madame Walpole, of Parnell. She was subsequently at Otahuhu, Coromandel, and the Waikato, teaching successfully at each place.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Triphook, John Robert



            
            


              

Triphook, John Robert,
              Teacher of the Piano and Violin, Grey Street. Whangarei. Since Mr. Triphook's arrival in Whangarei at the beginning of 1895 he has gradually secured for himself a good number of pupils, whom he relies on obtaining firsthand to enable him to thoroughly ground them in the rudimentary exercises of a musical training. Mr. Triphook thoroughly satisfies the parents of his pupils and there are many instances in which the latter call for special mention, as in the case of Miss Adelaide Bryers of Hokianga, who when only nine years old took first prize in a competition for children under twelve years of age. Mr. Triphook was born in Wellington in 1860, and served twelve years in Spensley's music warehouse, Christchurch. He was afterwards in business at Oamaru, whence he removed to Kawakawa on account of ill-health. In Christchurch, as elsewhere, Mr. Triphook took a leading part in musical matters, and in Whangarei he is choirmaster of the Anglican church.
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                The Whangarei Brass Band
              
              (C. H. Chissell, bandmaster, was formed about 1883, and was originally brought and has latterly been restored to a state of excellent efficiency by Mr. Chissell. When he resumed control early in 1900 the membership had fallen to six, but he has now (March, 1901) increased it to twenty-four, and has sixteen of the new members under his special instruction. Mr. Chissell has also been instrumental in obtaining a first-rate uniform for the band, which is now in a position creditable to itself as the garrison band of Whangarei.
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Field, Edward Thurlow,
              M.A., LL.B., Barrister and Solicitor, Whangarei. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Whangarei and Auckland. Agent for the Sun Insurance Company. Mr. Field established his practice in Kawakawa early



in 1896 and towards the end of the same year opened a branch in Whangarei, which is now (1901) his headquarters. He is a son of the late Mr. J. H. Field, of Auckland, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, completing his course at the Auckland University College, and passed his M.A. examination with honours in 1893. Two years later he gained his LL.B. degree, and was for some time engaged in teaching at various schools under the Auckland Education Board. Mr. Field was admitted to the Bar in 1895.
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Steadman, Thomas Herbert,
              Solicitor, Whangarei. Mr. Steadman was born in Kent, England, in 1862, and came with his parents to New Zealand in 1863, landing in Auckland. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and succeeded in winning two scholarships. On leaving college he was for several years in the Government survey office, and in 1881, decided to study for the law. Entering Mr. William Thorne's office he passed all the necessary examinations in 1884 and settled at Whangarei, where he went into partnership with the well-known solicitors, Messrs. Hughes and George. After Mr. Hughes' death he successfully managed the business until he ultimately took it over on his sole account. Mr. Steadman is very popular in the district. He is a Freemason and holds office as senior warden, is also an enthusiastic yachtsman, and as an amateur photographer has taken many splendid local views. He has been captain of the Whangarei Rifle Club since its formation, is a good shot, and has attended many of the New Zealand Rifle Association's meetings, at which he has been well up on the list for the championship, and has carried off many valuable prizes.
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Killen, James Miller,
              M.A., Barrister and Solicitor, Whangarei. Mr. Killen is a native of Ulster, where he was born in 1847, and is a son of the Rev. Dr. Killen of Comber. He received his education at the Royal Academical Institution, Belfast, and completed his studies at Queen's College, Belfast, where he gained a scholarship each year of his course, was included amongst the first-class honours men at the final sessional examination, and holds the degrees of B.A. and M.A. from the Queen's University in Ireland, having gained both with honours. Mr. Killen was educated for the Presbyterian ministry. After being licensed to preach, he joined the Church of Scotland, and was for a time parish minister at Birsay, and, later, at Bellshill. Being threat ened with chest disease, he came to New Zealand in 1881. For a time he resided at Tauranga and subsequently moved to Whangarei. Having by private study qualified himself for the law, he passed the necessary examination in 1885, during which year he began the practice of his present profession. He acts as solicitor for the Government Advances to Settlers Department. Mr. Killen was chairman of the town board for six years prior to the formation of the borough, and was elected the first mayor in 1896. He has been chairman of the Board of Governors of the Whangarei High School for many years. Mr. Killen resides on his farm “Woodlands,” Whangarei, his business premises being in Bank Street. He has always taken an active interest in public matters, and has done much for the advancement of the district.
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Sweet, Geoffrey Bruton,
              M.B., C.M., Physician and Surgeon, Whangarei.
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Pickmere, A. R.,
              Dentist, Whangarei. Mr.Pickmere was born in Awanui North in 1869, and is the eldest son of Mr. R. Pickmere, of Remuera, Auckland. He received his education at the Auckland College and Grammar School and adopted the profession of a dentist, for which he served his apprenticeship with Mr. Windsor, of Auckland, passed his examinations at Dunedin, and was duly qualified in 1892. The following year he began practice in Whangarei and has succeeded in establishing an excellent connection. Mr. Pickmere takes an active interest in aquatic and athletic sports, as well as in musical matters. He was married in December, 1896, to a daughter of Mr. D. C. Wilson, county engineer of Whangarei.
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Cowdell, Joseph T..
              Art Photographer, Stationer, and Fancy Goods Repository, Cameron Street, Whangarei. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private address, Dent Street, Mr. Cowdell established his business in 1893, and conducts it in premises which are suitably fitted up and well stocked with stationery, all kinds of books, fancy goods, etc., sufficient to thoroughly satisfy the demands of his numerous customers. The studio adjoining the shop is very well lighted and is furnished with all the necessary requisites; it is one of the best north of Auckland and is recognised by all who have seen it to be equal to any country studio in the Colony. Mr. Cowdell has in the space of a few years made remarkable strides in his business, having formed a wide connection. He was born in Rutlandshire in 1862, and after a few years of clerical life came to Australia



where he spent three years as a travelling photographer, finally establishing himself at Broken Hill very successfully for seven years. His health failing, he was obliged to seek a more equable climate, and coming to New Zealand, travelled through the greater part of this Colony, and eventually settled at Whangarei. His work is decidedly creditable and the views of Whangarei, which these pages contain, are specimens of his skill as a photographer.
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Hoey, Samuel,
              Cordial Manufacturer. Whangarel. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private address, Kamo. Business established in 1883. Mr. Hoey's premises, situated near Kamo township, contain the only complete plant of the kind north of Auckland, being the latest pattern by Barnett and Foster. A general aspect of cleanliness prevails throughout, the basement being built of concrete with a floor space of 600 square feet. Very pure water is pumped from a deep spring and Mr. Hoey has a special process of filtration through which all the water passes before being brought into requisition. McEwen's bottlers are used, each capable of bottling forty dozen per hour. Chemicals are imported direct from Home, whereby the middleman's profit is saved. Mr. Hoey does a large hotel business whilst his family trade is steadily on the increase. He was born in Belfast in 1843, and worked as an engineer for twenty-two years before coming to Melbourne per ship “Orient” in 1881. Crossing over to New Zealand, Mr. Hoey established the cordial factory at Whangarei two years later. He takes no active part in local politics.
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                Whangarei Hotel
              
              (Samuel McMahon, proprietor), Cameron Street, Whangarei. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This house is a fine two-storey building erected in 1891 and was taken over by the present proprietor in August of that year. It is very centrally situated in the main street of the borough and contains twenty-five rooms, including a billiard room furnished with a full-sized table by Alcock. The dining-room is considered the largest in the district and can comfortably accommodate forty persons, and an excellent table being kept, it receives a large amount of patronage. The cellars of the Whangarei Hotel are stocked with none but the best brands of wines and spirits. A sixteen stall stable, which has a number of loose boxes, provides good baiting accommodation for horses.
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Mr. 
McMahon,
              the genial and popular host, was born in Onehunga in 1859, and has followed various occupations throughout New Zealand. He first took to hotel-keeping in 1893, when he leased the Helensville Hotel for twelve months; after that came the Pahia Hotel, which he successfully conducted for eighteen months; and, lastly, he entered into possession of the Whangarei Hotel. The familiar figure of Mr. McMahon is to be found wherever sport is in progress in the district, and he is also an excellent judge of horse-flesh.
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                Allaways Temperance Hotel
              
              (J. Allaway, proprietor), Cameron Street, Whangarel. This hotel has been established about eighteen years and was taken over by the present proprietor in 1893. The house, which is a fine two-storey wooden building, has been thoroughly renovated by Mr. Allaway and is one of the best temperance hotels in the district. There are twenty rooms including private sitting-rooms, smoking-room and large dining-room. Mrs. Allaway personally attends to the comfort of patrons and keeps a first-class table; therefore visitors to Whangarei can rely on finding the best accommodation at “Allaway's.” Mr. Allaway is also proprietor of the well-known Whangarei Falls, illustrated in this work, to which conveyances supplied by him take parties of sightseers.
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                Langham House
              
              (Mrs. Woolcock, proprietress), Walton Street, Whangarei. This establishment is a two-storey building situated on a section adjoining the Whangarei railway station and is one of the leading houses of its kind in the district. From its proximity to the station it is very convenient to the travelling public and the neat appearance of the house and grounds is attractive to both strangers and permanent residents. There are twelve bed-rooms, whilst on the ground floor are to be found a handsome and spacious hall, large commecial room, comfortably furnished sitting room, and a dining-room with seating accommodation for thirty persons. The charges are very moderate and an excellent table is provided. The hostess, assisted by her daughter, does all in her power to make her guests feel at home. As a private family hotel it is perhaps unsurpassed, no expense having been spared in refitting and furnishing the establishment. The large lofty stables are a feature worthy of mention in connection with Langham House; they were originally intended by Dr. Purehas (who at one time lived here) for a private hospital, and were afterwards converted to their present use. Visitors to Whangarei are confidently recommended to pay a visit to Langham House.
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Chissell, Charles Henry,
              Hair-dresser and Tobacconist, Cameron Street, Whangarei. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand.
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Mr. Chissell commenced business in January 1891, in a two-storey building, where he keeps a full stock of pipes, many brands of tobacco, cigars and cigarettes, besides an endless variety of sundries. He also imports direct a large and varied stock of musical instruments, such as violins, flutes, accordions, etc., and also does exceedingly well at repairing umbrellas. Mr. Chissell was born in London in 1864, where he was apprenticed to his trade, but emigrated to Australia in 1882. Eighteen months later he came to New Zealand, and after spending a short time in Napier, started business in Walpawa, where he had a successful career of five years. In January 1891 he came to Whangarel and established his present business. Musical matters have always been a source of interest to Mr. Chissell. Whilst in Napier he was a member of the Garrison Band, and is now the capable and energetic bandmaster of the Whangarei Garrison Band. He is a member of the Philharmonic Society and has taken a prominent part in the production of operas, oratorios, and cantatas. Mr. Chissell is a Mason and an Oddfellow, and takes more than a general interest in sporting matters, particularly cycling, in which latter connection he acts as local agent for the best makers in the world, and has a well-fitted workshop for executing necessary repairs to machines. He also keeps a complete stock of bicycle accessories.
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Courtney, Alfred Charles.
              Bootmaker, Cameron Street, Whangarei. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Courtney's business, said to be the oldest of its kind in Whangarel, was established by him in 1870. and he has gradually built up an excellent trade, chiefly bespoken work, during the last thirty years, till it extends throughout the Marsden electorate. Mr. Courtney was born in Sydney in 1846, and is a son of the late Mr. Harry Courtney, well known in Auckland, where the subject of this notice was educated. He learnt his trade from his father, who had a shop for many years in Parnell. Coming to Whangarel in 1870, Mr. Courtney started business in Walton Street, but removed to his present more suitable premises six years later, conducting also a grocery business in the adjoining shop. He has been a vestryman of the Church of England for many years, and gives general support to all athletic sports.
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                Burroughs, W.
              
              and J. (William Henry Burroughs and James Edward Burroughs, Butchers and Graziers, Whangarei. Branch at Kamo. Bankers. Bank of New Zealand. Established in 1894. Messrs. Burroughs Bros, do a good steady business throughout the County of Whangarei, and are gradually extending their trade. Live stock is bought at the local saleyards and turned out to graze on the firm's farm till required. None but the primest meat is allowed to leave their establishment, which has, in consequence, gained an excellent reputation. The Messrs. Burroughs were born in Devonshire, lauded in the Colony per ship “Lancashire Witeh” with their parents in 1864, and were engaged in farming and contracting at Whangarei for many years. In 1891 they took up their present property near Kamo, which is admirably suited for a sheep and cattle run.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Halliday, George



            


            
            


              

Halliday, George,
              Watchmaker and Jeweller,Cameron Street,Whangarei. MrHalliday was born at Pakaraka in 1871, finished his education in Auckland, and after being in the Kawakawa post and telegraph office for a time adopted his present trade of a jeweller and was seven years with Mr. Alexander Mundy of Auckland. He is an ardent lover of all sports and for two years was secretary of the Orange Lodge, Kawa-kawa, and afterwards worshipful master. Mr. Halliday, who conducts a flourishing business, married a daughter of Mr. J. P. Horner, of Auckland.
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The New Zealand Portland Cement Company, Ltd.,
              limestone Island, Whangarei. Directors: Messrs Charles Haynes, J.P., John Blair (late of Nimmo and Blair), John Peterson, Merchant, Matthew Begg, M.E., C. A. Ziele, J. R. Gray, and J. B. Macfarlane. Bankers: Bank of New Zealand. Solicitor: Mr. J. F. M. Fraser. Secretaries: A. J. C. Brown, Dun-edin, and H. R. Cooke, 76, Victoria Arcade, Auckland, Capital, £10,000 in 10,000 shares of £1 each. The New Zealand Portland Cement Company was formed in September, 1896, and subsequently registered under “The Companies Act of 1882.” It purchased the business previously carried on by Messrs Rutherfurd and Co., lime, cement and hematite manufacturer, at Limestone Island, Whangarei, Auckland, New Zealand. The property, sitnated seven miles from Whangarei and half a mile from Grahamstown, contains about ninety-three acres and is help under a lease which expires in 1908. Owing to the small rental, £80 per annum, and to the fact that the lease contains a clauses giving the company the right to purchase at the price of £2000 at any time during the currency of the lease, the company does not intend to purchase the freehold till the expiration of the term. The plant consists of buildings, machinery, kilns and wharf, with every adjunet and accessory for the weekly manufacture of forty-five tons of cement, and from fifty to sixty tons of hydraulic lime and three tons of hematite. A first class plant on the latest lines for the manufacture of Portland cement has been erected. This has been fitted up in a thoroughly systematic manner, and shows that Mr. Hall (who supervised the construction) thoroughly understands the business. The foundations throughout are of concrete, and an eighty horse-power engine (with surface condensing apparatus) by the New Zealand Engineering Company, Dunedin, supplies the motor power, the boiler being by Morgan and Cable of Port Chalmers. The buildings are lofty, roomy, and well equipped and include boiler-house, engine-room, mill-house, stone-sheds and store houses, together with a brick-making department. The island is situated on the East Coast of the Colony about eighty miles from Auckland and has an unequalled position. It is served by the Northern Steamship Company, whose boats call at Whangarei three times a week. The tidal river in which the island is situated forms a natural harbour, and vessels drawing twelve feet of water can come alongside the wharf. This admits of coal and other necessaries being brought to the island and the cement manufactured taken away by the cheapest means of conveyance, with only one handling. The stone is even in texture and contains no impurities or any substance injurious to cement. So much is this the case that it is unnecessary to make any selection, and the stone can be taken as it comes from the face. Sir James Hector describes the island thus:—“Limestone Island composed of upper cretaceous strata mostly suitable for hydraulic cement—namely, Portland Cement; supply practically unlimited.” The stone is obtained by quarrying and the face of the quarry is only twenty yards from the works, and rises gradually for about 200 feet. The deposit is in an ideal situation in point of economy of production. From the various collieries on the mainland an excellent bituminous coal can be landed at 12s a ton. The raw material is delivered by gravitation at the works. Vessels drawing twelve feet can be loaded at the island wharf, and with an extension of forty feet the ordinary trading steamer could call for cargo with ease. Water carriage can thus be secured to all parts of the Colony at small expense—a great consideration in handling a bulk product. The climate is exceptionally mild and agreeable, and permits of the manufacture being proceeded with the whole year round—a very great advantage. From a careful estimate the cost of production should not exceed 35s a ton f.o.b., a rate that cannot be touched in the Colony, and at the present selling price, £3 18s per ton, the profits of the Company, after deducting freight, etc., should yield a handsome dividend on capital invested. In addition to freight, insurance, and other expenses incidental to imported cement, all cement made in New Zealand has the benefit of the duty, 2s per barrel—about 12s per ton, now handicapping foreign competitors. This estimate of cost is based on an output of thirty-five tons a week. By working two shifts, the cost of manufacture would be reduced to 30s per ton. There is a large and increasing demand for Portland cement for building, mining and public works generally. From official statistics the average annual importation of cement into the Colony is about 67,110 casks (about 215 tons per week). The House of Representatives has recently instructed the Public Works Department that cement made in New Zealand shall have the preference over all imported cement, quality and price being equal.
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Mr. Alan Hall,
              M.E., Manager of the New Zealand Portland Cement Company, Ltd., is a son of the late Mr. Charles Hall, who was



the well-known manager of the Rugby Portland Cement Company. He was born in Warwickshire in 1867, and educated at Rugby, and subsequently studied for a year at Leicester where he learnt mechanical engineering, and became acquainted with the principles of cement-making. He then joined his father at the Rugby Portland Cement Works, and gained wide experience in the manufacture of cement in all its branches. In 1894 Mr. Hall came out to New Zealand in the s.s. “Doric,” as cement-maker to the Milburn Lime and Cement Company. At the close of his engagement with that company, he was offered the Limestone property and went Home to see Mr. Rutherfurd (then in England), with whom he completed arrangements. At the same time he had the stone tested and the results proved it to be highly satisfactory for cement-making purposes. Mr. Hall returned to New Zealand in April, 1896, and was successful in forming in Dunedin the New Zealand Portland Cement Company, Ltd. Mr. Hall was at first a provisional director but he resigned that position to take up his duties as the company's manager at Limestone Island. He prepared all the drawings for the works and has carried out all the details in a thoroughly systematic manner. Mr. Hall is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Blundell, of Coventry, England.
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Mr. Henry Archibald Going,
              Foreman of the New Zealand Portland Cement Company, Limestone Island. Postal address, “Limestone Island, Auckland.” Private address, Grahamstown. Mr. Going was born in Essex in 1853, and is a son of Captain Going of Kamo. In company with his parents he came to New Zealand in 1859, and received his education at the Whangarel public school and by private tuition. For some years Mr. Going followed a seafaring life, but settled down to farming and worked in the timber trade for some years. In 1889 he entered upon his occupation at Limestone Island, and afterwards carried on the works for twelve months in the interests of the proprietors, Messrs. Rutherford and Begg. When the business was assumed by the New Zealand Portland Cement Company, Mr. Going was appointed working foreman for the company.
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Foote Bros.
              (Frederick Foote and William Gibbons Foote), Sawmillers and Timber Merchants, Whakapara, near Whangarei. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Whangarei. The original mills were started in 1889 and subsequently were removed to the present site at Whakapara in 1897. Messrs. Foote Bros. (who are large contractors for the Kauri Timber Company, Auckland) have taken up extensive blocks of land in the Puhipuhi bush and have transformed the township of Whakapara into one of some importance by giving employment to a great number of men. The logs are hauled from the bush to the mills by means of a traction engine specially procured for the work, and the timber is forwarded by rail to Whangarel for shipment to Auckland.
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                Rawnsley, S., and Co.
              
              (Samuel Rawnsley), Gum Merchants and Exporters, Cameron Street, Whangarei. This firm's commodious premises serve as a central depot for receiving and shipping consignments of kauri gum. The main building has a frontage of forty-two feet to Cameron Street and a total floor space of over 3000 square feet. The greater part of the building is used for storing the gum after it has been carefully graded, packed and marked for shipment. In-coming supplies in great quantities are received, bought and weighed in this store, which is also used for the large grain and produce trade. The rear portion of the premises is two-stories in height, the upper part being also used for storing grain and the ground floor serving as the sorting place of gum chips and where cases for packing this product for export are put together.
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De Boutillier, E.,
              Farmer, Waikaraka, Whangarei. Mr. Le Boutillier's property lies six miles from Whangarei, on the road to Parua Bay and Whangarei Heads, and consists of about 300 acres of superior undulating country. He possesses a very neat and compact dairy. In addition to this Mr. Le Boutillier is devoted to fruit culture, in which he has been engaged since he settled at Whangarei. His orchard comprises four acres of land, and he has the reputation of growing the best pears the north can produce. The fertility of Mr. Le Boutillier's trees is specially noteworthy, and the whole of his property is well watered with a never failing stream. Mr. Le Boutillier was born in Jersey in the year 1853, and followed farming on his father's property till 1877, when he made up his mind to come to New Zealand. He landed at Auckland and made his way to Whangarei, where he settled in his present home. Mr. Le Boutillier takes great interest in public affairs. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Edward Mattby, formerly of H.M. Customs, Ceylon, India.
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Edwards, John Adams,
              Farmer, “Devonia,” Waikaraka. Mr. Edwards' property is 300 acres in extent and lies on the sea coast; about a hundred acres have been cleared and laid down in English grass, which thrives well and serves for grazing Shorthorn cattle. An orchard of nearly three acres is planted with choice fruit trees, including oranges and lemons. Mr. Edwards was born in Devonshire in 1827, was educated in Cornwall and spent over seven years with his uncle, a wine merchant
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at Teignmouth. He then went into business as a ship-chandler at Salcombe, Devonshire, where he conducted a prosperous trade for twelve years, including an interest in ship ping. At Christmas, 1859. he landed in Auckland per ship “Harwood” and went up to Waikaraka, where he has resided ever since. Mr. Edwards has passed several properties through his hands and owns Limestone Island, ninety-three acres in extent, where the New Zealand Portland Cement Company are now in active operations and have extensive works. Public affairs have never had any attraction for Mr. Edwards, although he holds the honorary position of conservator of the river. He is married and has two daughters and two sons—the latter being well-known boat builders.
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Goodall, William,
             
 Orchardist, Raumanga, Whangarei. Mr. Goodall is a native of Bridgenorth, England, and was born in 1848. After receiving his education he worked with his father, Mr. Samuel Goodall, bullder, until 1874, when he came to this


[image: Mr. W. Goodall.]
Mr. 
W. Goodall.


Colony per ship “Hereford,” landing in Canterbury. He was for several years employed in various callings, and after gaining a good knowledge of colonial life he purchased a farm of 150 acres at Paparoa, but selling the land in 1896, he decided to settle in Whangarei on his present property. Mr. Goodall has a fine orchard and vinery, shipping most of his fruit, consisting of grapes, apples, pears, peaches, plums, oranges, and lemons, to the southern markets. He was connected with the Paparoa School Committee and Road Board for several years, and is a member of the Church of England. Mr. Goodall is married and has three sons and three daughters.
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Mr. Edouard Eugene Cafler,
             
 sometime of “Sans Souci,” Whangarei Mr. Cafler was born in 1798 near Douai in France, and was the youngest of a family of thirteen. His father was the founder of the beet-root sugar industry, and a staunch supporter of the First Napoleon, by whom he was commissioned to prosecute inquiries into the manufacture of sugar from beet. The English navies having swept French commerce from the seas, sugar was a searee commodity in France and large bounties were offered for its production. Several of his sons fought and fell in the wars of the great Emperor, and Mr. Cafler was himself included in the ceaseless levies which France poured forth so dauntlessly against Europe. When only eighteen he served in the ambulance corps at the Battle of Waterloo. After the overthrow of Napoleon, the Cafler family suffered great misfortunes and they saw their home and sugar-factory destroyed. In 1830 Edouard Eugene, the subject of this notice, who had received a good education at the Ecole de Commerce, left France for the Mauritius, and until the year 1840 was engaged in mercantile pursuits. His practice was to freight a vessel with Mauritius sugar and sail as his own supercargo to some eastern
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port where the market was favourable, sell it and return to Mauritius laden with merchandise. In this way he visited Manilla, Canton, Macao, Singapore, Caleutta, Cape of Good Hope, Swan River, Hobart, Launceston, and New Caledonia, amassing during those ten years considerable wealth. An attack of yellow fever in China having seriously affected his health, he was advised to come to New Zealand and landed at Kororareka (now Russell), which block he purchased In 1840. There he enjoyed such robust health that he went to Australia and returned with all the necessary materials for building and improving his property. He enjoyed friendly relations with the Maoris and carried on a successful trade with them till 1845, when Heke's war broke out and Kororareka was sacked, every house except Bishop Pompallier's church being burned. Mr. Cafler remained in his house until it was riddled with bullets, but Heke afterwards conducted him through the Maori camp, which was filled with plunder, and undertook to restore whatever belonged to him as well as to indemnify him to the utmost of his power. After Mr. Cafler had removed to Auckland, Heke fulfilled his promise by returning three valuable horses, but it was not in the chief's power to make good the heavy loss Mr. Cafler had sustained. Leaving Auckland in February, 1846, in the French corvette, “Le Rhin,” commanded by Admiral Berard, he proceeded to Akaroa, where he possessed considerable interests. His claim, however, was subsequently ignored by the Government and he received no compensation. Mr. Cafler returned to France with the corvette, visiting en route the tomb of Napoleon at St. Helena, and arrived at Marseilles in August, 1846, He again left France In 1848 for Mauritius, where he remained until 1803, when he sailed for Sydney and during the next two years made several voyages between that port and Auckland and the Kaipara. He had decided to settle at the latter place, but was induced to give preference to Whangarel where he afterwards resided. Establishing himself in business he soon gained the esteem of all who came in contact with him and gradually extended his connections till he did nearly the whole trade of the district. Owing to a disastrous fire and other losses Mr. Cafler sold out his business and took up his residence at “Sans Souel,” where his house and tastefully laid out grounds were for years one of the principal attractions of Whangarei. Though ninety-five years of age he retained his health and good spirits and was able to ride his horse to within a short time prior to his death, with the agility of a much younger man. Mr. Cafler suffered from no physical disease beyond a gradual failure of strength and occasionally would complain that he felt “so tired.” He died on the 20th of February, 1893. peacefully and without a pang, in the presence of his sorrowing family, dying as he had lived “sans peur et sans reproche” through a very eventful career. About 1867, Mr. Cafler married a second time and by that marriage he left a son and daughter. The deceased was buried in the cemetery of the Church of England, to which faith he had become a convert in late years.
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Mr. Robert Usher Harden,
              who is a retired settler, was born in Clontarf, County Dublin, Ireland, in 1844. After receiving a liberal education he entered the service of the National Bank, Wexford, in 1863, and served in their Dublin, Limerick, and other branches, then as accountant in the Dungarvan, Killarney, and Mitchelstown branches. In 1877 he was compelled to resign on acount of ill-health, having contracted congestion of the lungs in Sweden, where he had gone to seek a beneficial change. For four years he lived in the south of France and Italy. He was offered lucrative positions in Australian banks, but being in poor health was unable to accept them. His medical adviser in London urged him to give up all sedentary work and go to New Zealand, therefore he decided to try the climate (as he could not live in England or Ireland) and arrived in the Colony in 1879 per ship “Eastern Monarch” via Melbourne. For six months he visited his friends in the Waikato and ultimately decided to settle in Whangarel, where he purchased a farm of fifty acres a few miles out of the town, but after disposing of this property he built his present residence, “Brighton Villa,” where he has now settled down to a quiet life. Mr. Harden is of a naturally retiring disposition, and has on more than one occasion refused to accept public positions.
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Mr. Thomas Coyle,
              Old Colonist, was born in Dublin in 1819, and at the early age of two years came with his parents to Sydney per ship “Nautilus.” He was bound to the stonemasons' trade for five years, and afterwards went up-country in the New England district. Nine years later he was sent to Neweastle in charge of a cargo of sheep, cattle and horses. After crossing over to New Zealand, Mr. Coyle was employed in the Thames district for over six years, when he enlisted and served with the commissariat through the Waikato war. In 1867 he moved to Whangarei and was engaged in various occupations till he received the situation of nightwatchaman in 1887. For an old man of eighty-two Mr. Coyle is remarkably hale and hearty, and describes his early experiences in the Colonies with characteristic animation.
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Whangarei Heads,
                in the county of Marsden, is the name given to the small farming settlement which has been formed on the land at the entrance of Whangarei harbour. It lies seventy-five miles to the north-west of Auckland, with which it is connected by steamer. The climate is very agreeable, and to those who delight in fresh air, sea bathing and retirement, the locality has many attractions. There is a post and telephone office at the Heads, and the settlement also has a public hall and a Presbyterian church.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Whangarei Heads Public School
                
                is situated about four miles from Parua Bay and sixteen miles from the town of Whangarei. The school grounds occupy an acre and are well planted with trees. The building will accommodate about forty scholars. There are now forty-three on the roll, and the average attendance for the March quarter of 1901 was 35.5. The present master, Mr. A.M. Rust, took charge in 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alexander Mearns Rust,
                the Headmaster of the Whangarei Heads Public School, was born in Whangarei in 1859, and is the only son of the late Mr. John Stewart Rust, who for many years held the office of Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages a Whangarei, and who settled in the Colony before Heke's war broke out in 1845 at the Bay of Islands. Mr. A. M. Rust was educated at Whangarei, was engaged in commercial pursuits from the age of fifteen, and began to teach in September, 1881, at Kaurihohore. Four years later he was transferred to Pokeno, where he spent a similar period. He then returned to Whangarei to open the Horahora school, and after conducting it for three years he accepted his present position. His teaching capabilities are far above the average, and during the last four years in succession has secured 100 per cent. of passes in the standard examinations. He was a footballer of some prominence, a ten-second 100 yards sprinter, and a good all-round athlete. Mr. Rust was a lieutenant in the Whangarei County Rifles under the late Captain Storey, and has passed



the examination for a captainey, having had ten years' military training in the volunteer service of New Zealand. Mr. Rust was for a time the conductor of the Whangarei Philharmonic Society and was the founder and conductor of the Kamo Choral Society, now defunct. As a Freemason, he is a Past Master of Lodge Star of the South, 1647, E.C. Mr. Rust's ancestors belonged to Aberdeen and were for generations connected with the China tea trade.
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Parua Bay.
              This district has been settled for many years. Its scenery is perhaps unequalled for peculiarity of features and ever changing beauties. This advantage and the wonderful climate which it enjoys must in time make it a seaside resort. Through its proximity to the ocean, it escapes both the severe frost of winter and the extreme heat of summer prevalent further inland. The bay abounds in fish, chiefly mullet and schnapper, There is little, if any, cultivation of grain for export, but maize, wheat, and oats are grown for home consumption for horse and fowl food. A beginning has lately been made to grow vines for wine making, and the soil and climate are favourable for semi-tropical fruits, lemons especially flourishing in sheltered situations. Ti-tri firewood is shipped to Auckland to a small extent. Gold prospects have been obtained in many places and in some parts quartz-reefs crop out, but nothing payable has been proved. Manganese was formerly obtained largely, but has not been worked for many years. Mr. P. B. Le Clerc has commenced ostrich farming at Patana, and the industry is likely to be taken up largely in the north.
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The Parua No. 2 
School
             , four and a half miles from Grahamtown school, was formerly worked at half-time with the Kirikiri school. It is one of the oldest schools in the district. The building has accemmodation for thirty scholars, and is situated on an acre of play-ground, planted with pine trees. The roll numbers sixteen with an upward tendency. Miss V. Kingsford is the teacher.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Grahamtown Public School
              
              is situated at the top of Grahamtown Hill and about four and a half miles from Parua No. 2 school. It was erected in 1893, is a one-roomed building with porch, capable of holding thirty children, and is surrounded by a play-ground of two acres. There is also an education reserve of about twelve acres in connection with the school. The roll numbers twenty, with a steadily increasing attendance.

          

          

            
            


              

Miss Violet Kingsford,
              Teacher of the Grahamtown and Parua No. 2 schools, attends to them on alternate days. She took up her duties in July, 1897, and formerly had charge of the Owhiwa school.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Settlers' Club
              
              was formed in October, 1895. The committee consists of five members, with Mr. D. Davidson as see retary. The object of the club is to meet monthly in the Parua Bay Public Hall to discuss matters of general interest, social, political, agricultural, etc., and to afford interchange of ideas on matters affecting the welfare of the settlers.

          

          

            
            


              

Davidson, Daniel,
              Settler, Kohinui, Parua Bay. Mr. Davidson's homestead has an area of fifty-four acres of freehold land fronting the bay. The soil is very suitable for the cultivation of oranges and lemons, the “St. Michael” variety of oranges doing best. Mr. Davidson also grazes a few cattle and horses. He was born in Sydney in 1862 and sent to Scotland at an early age to receive his education at Hamilton Academy. Mr. Davidson returned to Sydney in 1883 and was in business there for four years prior to coming to Auckland in 1887. He



then purchased his present property. Mr. Davids actsas Government meterorological observer and is an amateur photographer.
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Robinson, Thomas Edward,
              Settler, Walparera, Parua Bay. Mr. Robinson was born in Guernsey in 1862, and came out to Auckland in 1865, with his parents in the “Andrew Jackson.” The family went to Onehunga, but moved to Taiharuru in 1867. After spending over five years in that locality, they removed to Parua Bay and in 1894 took up their present property at Walparera. Mr. Robinson confines his energies in a great measure to poultry raising with a view to egg-production for the Auckland markets. The land being formerly a swamp but now thoroughly drained, the soil is very rich and well adapted for grape growing, Mr. Robinson is trying lemon culture, which also bids fair to succeed. He is a good artist in oils and an excellent amateur photographer.
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Woodlands,
              Parua Bay, is a farm of some 500 acres situated In a pleasant valley. The homestead and other farm bullings are picturesquely placed near the main road. The present owner, Mr. H. L. Squires, purchased the property in 1895 from Mr. S. A. Miller, who removed to the Waikato. The land extends on both sides of the creek for nearly two miles and is partly sown in permanent grass. There is a good orchard, which has been recently extended. The schoolhouse site given by Mr. Miller is on the property.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Horace Lyne Squires,
              residing at “Woodlands,” is a native of Liverpool, Lanneashire, where he was born in 1840, and is the son of Dr. Richard Squires, M.B.,M.R.C.S. (Eng.). He came to Otago in 1861 and was engaged in farming and stock raising, first at Tokomairiro and later at Mataura. In 1870, he removed to Lawrence (Tuapeka), where he carried on business as a conveyaneer under the Land Transfer Act, accountant in bankruptey, land and insurance agent, and was also largely interested in mining pursuits. In 1878 Mr. Squires returned with his family to England to supervise an extensive estate in North Wales, the property of his uncle, Mr. Joseph Evans, J.P., D.L., on whose death subsequently, in 1889, the estates were sold. Mr. Squires then became a director of the colliery firm of Rich and Evans and Company. Ltd.—a large concern with an output of about 1,250,000 tons of coal per annum. In 1895, he retired from the board in favour of his elder brother, who had returned from Otago for this purpose. Mr. Squires' family accompanled him back to the Colony in 1895, and in December of the same year, he purchased his present home from Mr. S. A. Miller. He married in 1864 the eldest daughter of Mr. John Dewe, Resident Magistrate of Tokomairiro, Otago.

            

              

[image: Mr. H. L. Squires.]
Mr. 
H. L. Squires.


            

          

          
          



            
            


              

Captain Donald MacLeod,
              who was well known in Auckland as a successful Islands trader, was born in Nova Seotia in 1844, and died at Noumea in 1894. His early life was spent assisting his father on his farm, in 1857, the family came to New Zealand per ship “Breadalbane,” arriving in Auckland. When quite a youth he took to a seafaring life and eventually had charge of the cufler “Rob Roy” for Messrs. Cruickshank and Co., of Auckland, and later sailed in the “Woodstock” to the New Hebcides, where he established himself in trade with the natives and had an immense area of land under cultivation in cocoanut, coffee, cotton, and maize. The natives from the first regarded him as a friend, and perfeet harmony reigned between them with the best results, Capt. Maeleod had several vessels trading with his produce to and from the New Hebrides. Besides these plantations he owned some valuable town sections in Noumea, his own private residence being situated in Havannah Harbour. After a most successful career of sixteen years, he sold his interest to the New Hebrides Company, and nine years later fell a victim to island fever. Referring to his visit to the New Hebrides, “Vagabond” in “The Australasian” of September, 1883, wrote:—“Captain Maeleod is a tall, powerful quiet-spoken man and impresses you with the idea that he is, above every thing, ‘level headed’: not one to be led away by impulse. He is a Nova Scotian by birth; for sixteen years he has been trading to the Islands on his own account, and is so well-known, and has acquired such interests and influence, that the first proceeding of the New Hebrides Company was to buy him out for a very handsome sum, and retain his services as resident manager. Captain Macleod, who for many years traded in labour to New Caledonia, is certainly a very good authority on the subject. He has always borne—and few men are better known in the Islands— a character for humanity, and it is said he would take the part of the natives against the whites in many eases of ill-usage. He strongly condemus the Queensland labour traffic, as having assumed such enormous dimensions that it cannot be kept under proper control.”
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Mr. William James Macleod,
              Old Colonist, Taiharuru, Parua Bay. The late Mr. MacLeod, who was a farmer for twenty-eight years at Taiharuru, was born at Cape Breton, Nova Seotia, in 1830. With others of the family he came to New Zealand per ship “Breadalbane,” landing at Auckland in 1857. Having learnt the trade of a boat-builder he found it useful in Auckland, where he was for about ten years in the employ of Mr. Carr. About 1867, Mr. Macleod bought 323 acres at Taiharuru, which he farmed successfully till his death in November, 1895. At the same time he engaged in boat-building and sent several small craft to his brother in the South Sea Islands. Mr. Macleod was laid up for nearly five years with an internal complaint, the result of an accident, from which he never rallied.
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Parua Bay.
              This district has been settled for many years. Its scenery is perhaps unequalled for peculiarity of features and ever changing beauties. This advantage and the wonderful climate which it enjoys must in time make it a seaside resort. Through its proximity to the ocean, it escapes both the severe frost of winter and the extreme heat of summer prevalent further inland. The bay abounds in fish, chiefly mullet and schnapper, There is little, if any, cultivation of grain for export, but maize, wheat, and oats are grown for home consumption for horse and fowl food. A beginning has lately been made to grow vines for wine making, and the soil and climate are favourable for semi-tropical fruits, lemons especially flourishing in sheltered situations. Ti-tri firewood is shipped to Auckland to a small extent. Gold prospects have been obtained in many places and in some parts quartz-reefs crop out, but nothing payable has been proved. Manganese was formerly obtained largely, but has not been worked for many years. Mr. P. B. Le Clerc has commenced ostrich farming at Patana, and the industry is likely to be taken up largely in the north.
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Miss Violet Kingsford,
              Teacher of the Grahamtown and Parua No. 2 schools, attends to them on alternate days. She took up her duties in July, 1897, and formerly had charge of the Owhiwa school.
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Davidson, Daniel,
              Settler, Kohinui, Parua Bay. Mr. Davidson's homestead has an area of fifty-four acres of freehold land fronting the bay. The soil is very suitable for the cultivation of oranges and lemons, the “St. Michael” variety of oranges doing best. Mr. Davidson also grazes a few cattle and horses. He was born in Sydney in 1862 and sent to Scotland at an early age to receive his education at Hamilton Academy. Mr. Davidson returned to Sydney in 1883 and was in business there for four years prior to coming to Auckland in 1887. He



then purchased his present property. Mr. Davids actsas Government meterorological observer and is an amateur photographer.
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Robinson, Thomas Edward,
              Settler, Walparera, Parua Bay. Mr. Robinson was born in Guernsey in 1862, and came out to Auckland in 1865, with his parents in the “Andrew Jackson.” The family went to Onehunga, but moved to Taiharuru in 1867. After spending over five years in that locality, they removed to Parua Bay and in 1894 took up their present property at Walparera. Mr. Robinson confines his energies in a great measure to poultry raising with a view to egg-production for the Auckland markets. The land being formerly a swamp but now thoroughly drained, the soil is very rich and well adapted for grape growing, Mr. Robinson is trying lemon culture, which also bids fair to succeed. He is a good artist in oils and an excellent amateur photographer.
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Woodlands,
              Parua Bay, is a farm of some 500 acres situated In a pleasant valley. The homestead and other farm bullings are picturesquely placed near the main road. The present owner, Mr. H. L. Squires, purchased the property in 1895 from Mr. S. A. Miller, who removed to the Waikato. The land extends on both sides of the creek for nearly two miles and is partly sown in permanent grass. There is a good orchard, which has been recently extended. The schoolhouse site given by Mr. Miller is on the property.
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Mr. Horace Lyne Squires,
              residing at “Woodlands,” is a native of Liverpool, Lanneashire, where he was born in 1840, and is the son of Dr. Richard Squires, M.B.,M.R.C.S. (Eng.). He came to Otago in 1861 and was engaged in farming and stock raising, first at Tokomairiro and later at Mataura. In 1870, he removed to Lawrence (Tuapeka), where he carried on business as a conveyaneer under the Land Transfer Act, accountant in bankruptey, land and insurance agent, and was also largely interested in mining pursuits. In 1878 Mr. Squires returned with his family to England to supervise an extensive estate in North Wales, the property of his uncle, Mr. Joseph Evans, J.P., D.L., on whose death subsequently, in 1889, the estates were sold. Mr. Squires then became a director of the colliery firm of Rich and Evans and Company. Ltd.—a large concern with an output of about 1,250,000 tons of coal per annum. In 1895, he retired from the board in favour of his elder brother, who had returned from Otago for this purpose. Mr. Squires' family accompanled him back to the Colony in 1895, and in December of the same year, he purchased his present home from Mr. S. A. Miller. He married in 1864 the eldest daughter of Mr. John Dewe, Resident Magistrate of Tokomairiro, Otago.
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Captain Donald MacLeod,
              who was well known in Auckland as a successful Islands trader, was born in Nova Seotia in 1844, and died at Noumea in 1894. His early life was spent assisting his father on his farm, in 1857, the family came to New Zealand per ship “Breadalbane,” arriving in Auckland. When quite a youth he took to a seafaring life and eventually had charge of the cufler “Rob Roy” for Messrs. Cruickshank and Co., of Auckland, and later sailed in the “Woodstock” to the New Hebcides, where he established himself in trade with the natives and had an immense area of land under cultivation in cocoanut, coffee, cotton, and maize. The natives from the first regarded him as a friend, and perfeet harmony reigned between them with the best results, Capt. Maeleod had several vessels trading with his produce to and from the New Hebrides. Besides these plantations he owned some valuable town sections in Noumea, his own private residence being situated in Havannah Harbour. After a most successful career of sixteen years, he sold his interest to the New Hebrides Company, and nine years later fell a victim to island fever. Referring to his visit to the New Hebrides, “Vagabond” in “The Australasian” of September, 1883, wrote:—“Captain Maeleod is a tall, powerful quiet-spoken man and impresses you with the idea that he is, above every thing, ‘level headed’: not one to be led away by impulse. He is a Nova Scotian by birth; for sixteen years he has been trading to the Islands on his own account, and is so well-known, and has acquired such interests and influence, that the first proceeding of the New Hebrides Company was to buy him out for a very handsome sum, and retain his services as resident manager. Captain Macleod, who for many years traded in labour to New Caledonia, is certainly a very good authority on the subject. He has always borne—and few men are better known in the Islands— a character for humanity, and it is said he would take the part of the natives against the whites in many eases of ill-usage. He strongly condemus the Queensland labour traffic, as having assumed such enormous dimensions that it cannot be kept under proper control.”

            

              

[image: Thr Late Captain D. MacLeod.]
Thr Late Captain 
D. MacLeod.


            

            

              

[image: Residence of Captain D. MacLeod, Havannah Harbour, New Hebrides.]
Residence of Captain D. MacLeod, Havannah Harbour, New Hebrides.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. William James Macleod



            
            


              

Mr. William James Macleod,
              Old Colonist, Taiharuru, Parua Bay. The late Mr. MacLeod, who was a farmer for twenty-eight years at Taiharuru, was born at Cape Breton, Nova Seotia, in 1830. With others of the family he came to New Zealand per ship “Breadalbane,” landing at Auckland in 1857. Having learnt the trade of a boat-builder he found it useful in Auckland, where he was for about ten years in the employ of Mr. Carr. About 1867, Mr. Macleod bought 323 acres at Taiharuru, which he farmed successfully till his death in November, 1895. At the same time he engaged in boat-building and sent several small craft to his brother in the South Sea Islands. Mr. Macleod was laid up for nearly five years with an internal complaint, the result of an accident, from which he never rallied.
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Kamo
              
              is a considerable agricultural settlement in Whangarei County, and is also a large coal producing district. It has a number of business places and a good hotel. Cattle sales are held periodically, and there is a post and telegraph office with a bi-weekly mail.
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                Kamo Pioneer Warui Mineral Springs
              
             
 (James J. Taylor, proprietor). These valuable springs were discovered by Mr. Taylor in 1889 and have been open to the public since 1894. There are two baths, one a large, well-lighted swimming basin, 12 by 20 feet and about 4 feet deep, the other—the electric bath—which is rather smaller, is so heavily charged with gas that the water appears to be violently boiling. Bathers in the latter experience a most pleasant sensation as the gas “pricks” the skin, and produces an electric friction all over the body. Its curative properties are unique and very effectual in stubborn cases of rheumatism, dyspepsia, and other complaints, affording also a refreshing and invigorating tonic. The springs are now visited daily by large numbers of people, who spenk in the highest praise of their medicinal value. Rheumatic patients, who have had to be carried to the baths, have been completely cured in a fortnight and able to take long rides on horseback. Good accommodation is provided at the house adjoining the baths for visitors and invalids, Mr. and Mrs. Taylor doing all in their power to make their patrons comfortable. The temperature of the baths is 80o Fahr., and the following analysis of the waters was made by Mr. J. A. Pond, F.C.S., Government Analyst. “No. 1 sample, total solids, 164.54 grains per gallon. Silica, 10.08; alumina, trace; oxide of iron, 28; carbonate of lime, 57.68; carbonate of magnesia, 17.05; bi-carbonate of soda, 38.64; chloride of sodium, 38.01; chloride of potassium, 2.80; sulphates, nil; boron, traces; lithium, traces; total, 164.54. Specific gravity at 71o Fahr., 1.00026. No. 2 sample, total solids, 149 grains per gallon. The salts thus shown to be present are held in solution owing to the water being super-saturated with carbonic acid, which on being liberated precipitates some of these salts in a crystalline form. The water is interesting in the entire absence of sulphuricaeid and in the presence of traces of boron and lithium, as evidenced by the spectroscope. This is a very pleasant drinking water and may prove of value medicinally in dyspepsia, rheumatism, and urinary diseases. The estimation of lithium would be of interest, as this is a valnable curative agent, but a large amount of water would be required for this purpose, the
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evaporation of which would be advisably carried out on the spot”

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Taylor,
              the Proprietor, was born in London, in 1848, came to this Colony in 1865, and five years later purchased and settled on his present property. He holds many vaulable testimonials from prominent men of the benefits derived from the baths; His Excellency Lord Glasgow spoke in high terms of the springs.
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Sissons, Richard,
              M.R.C.S. (Lond.), Physician and Surgeon. The late Dr. Stssons was a native of Hull, England, and was born in 1819. He graduated as a member of the Royal College of Surgeons in 1842, came to the Colony in 1866 and commenced practice in Kamo. Dr. Sissons, who was highly respected in the district, was chairman of several road boards and was for many years a member of the Whangarel County Counell. He took an active interest in church affairs and in all matters pertaining to the welfare of the district, in 1868, Dr. Sissons was married to a daughter of the late Mr. Gilbert Mair, and died in 1803 leaving no family. Mrs. Sissons has erected a pretty villa in Kamo, which is one of the landmarks of the neighbourhood.
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Meinnes, Murdoch,
              Farrier and General Blacksmith, Kamo. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Whangarel. The business was established in 1874 and taken over by Mr. MeIunes in 1874. His premises have a total floor space of 600 square feet, and are favourably and centrally situated on the main road, and having resided in the locality for some years, Mr. McInnes is Widely known as a good tradesman. He was born in Kaurihohore in 1873. After farming for some years he joined his father under whom he served five years and learned his trade, eventually taking over the business when the former retired, Mr. MeInnes is an enthusiastic cricketer.

          

          

            
            


              

                Barnes And Sissons
              
              (Thomas Barnes and —— Sissons), General Storekeepers and Produce Merchants, Kamo, Branch Store at Kiripaka. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Whangarei. Established by the original partners (Messrs Bessell and Barnes) in 1893. This firm's business in acknowledged to be the largest in Kamo. The premises are situated on the Bay of Islands and Grant roads, with a frontage of sixty-five feet, embodying a shop well and methodically stocked with groceries, drapery, boots, ironmongery, etc. Adjoining is the crockery and glassware store, which forms a specialty of the business, and contains all the latest novelties and fancy designs. All articles are sold by this enterprising firm at city prices, therefore a targe trade is carried on with the town and surrounding districts. Mr. Walter Bessell was born in London in 1856, where he spent several years in an accountant's office. He came to New Zealand per “Rimutaka” in 1875 and was accountant for Messrs. Whitelaw and Day, of Kamo, for eleven years, on the conclusion of which period the present business was established by himself and Mr. Barnes. Mr. Thomas Barnes halls from Dublin and was educated at Strathallen, Isle of Man, where he followed the occupation of a draper in Douglas for four years. Mr. Barnes landed at Auckland per ship “Fern Glen” in 1879, was in the employment of Messrs A. M. Rust and Co., Kamo, for two years, and subsequently with the firm of Messrs. J. Mitehelson and Co., for a like period, followed by a term of ten years in the employment of Messrs Whitelaw and Day.

          

          

            
            


              

Whitelaw, James,
              General Storekeeper, Gum and Produce Merchant, Kamo. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Whangarel. Mr. Whitelaw established his business in 1880. His shop has a frontage of fourteen feet to the main road and does a very steady trade. Formerly he had a very extensive business, but through the Bank of New Zealand crisis, he had the misfortune to lose the larger portion of his property and connections. Mr. Whitelaw is now gradually re-building his fortunes.

          

          

            
            


              

Tremaine, George,
              settler. Mr. Tremaine is a native of Devonshire, England, and was born in 1853. Shortly after his marriage he came to New Zealand by the s.s. “Northumberland,” landing at Wellington in 1880. After visiting Christchurch he lived for twelve months in the Waikato, then went to Kamo and took up 200 acres of land on which he worked for eight years, spending a considerable amount in improvements, in 1890 he bought the Kamo Hotel to which he made large additions and two years later he became his own landlord with a perfectly free business; but he has since left the hotel. Mr. Tremaine was for some years a member of the Kamo town board, and also of the school committee.
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Mr. Taylor,
              the Proprietor, was born in London, in 1848, came to this Colony in 1865, and five years later purchased and settled on his present property. He holds many vaulable testimonials from prominent men of the benefits derived from the baths; His Excellency Lord Glasgow spoke in high terms of the springs.
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Sissons, Richard,
              M.R.C.S. (Lond.), Physician and Surgeon. The late Dr. Stssons was a native of Hull, England, and was born in 1819. He graduated as a member of the Royal College of Surgeons in 1842, came to the Colony in 1866 and commenced practice in Kamo. Dr. Sissons, who was highly respected in the district, was chairman of several road boards and was for many years a member of the Whangarel County Counell. He took an active interest in church affairs and in all matters pertaining to the welfare of the district, in 1868, Dr. Sissons was married to a daughter of the late Mr. Gilbert Mair, and died in 1803 leaving no family. Mrs. Sissons has erected a pretty villa in Kamo, which is one of the landmarks of the neighbourhood.
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Meinnes, Murdoch,
              Farrier and General Blacksmith, Kamo. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Whangarel. The business was established in 1874 and taken over by Mr. MeIunes in 1874. His premises have a total floor space of 600 square feet, and are favourably and centrally situated on the main road, and having resided in the locality for some years, Mr. McInnes is Widely known as a good tradesman. He was born in Kaurihohore in 1873. After farming for some years he joined his father under whom he served five years and learned his trade, eventually taking over the business when the former retired, Mr. MeInnes is an enthusiastic cricketer.
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                Barnes And Sissons
              
              (Thomas Barnes and —— Sissons), General Storekeepers and Produce Merchants, Kamo, Branch Store at Kiripaka. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Whangarei. Established by the original partners (Messrs Bessell and Barnes) in 1893. This firm's business in acknowledged to be the largest in Kamo. The premises are situated on the Bay of Islands and Grant roads, with a frontage of sixty-five feet, embodying a shop well and methodically stocked with groceries, drapery, boots, ironmongery, etc. Adjoining is the crockery and glassware store, which forms a specialty of the business, and contains all the latest novelties and fancy designs. All articles are sold by this enterprising firm at city prices, therefore a targe trade is carried on with the town and surrounding districts. Mr. Walter Bessell was born in London in 1856, where he spent several years in an accountant's office. He came to New Zealand per “Rimutaka” in 1875 and was accountant for Messrs. Whitelaw and Day, of Kamo, for eleven years, on the conclusion of which period the present business was established by himself and Mr. Barnes. Mr. Thomas Barnes halls from Dublin and was educated at Strathallen, Isle of Man, where he followed the occupation of a draper in Douglas for four years. Mr. Barnes landed at Auckland per ship “Fern Glen” in 1879, was in the employment of Messrs A. M. Rust and Co., Kamo, for two years, and subsequently with the firm of Messrs. J. Mitehelson and Co., for a like period, followed by a term of ten years in the employment of Messrs Whitelaw and Day.
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Whitelaw, James,
              General Storekeeper, Gum and Produce Merchant, Kamo. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Whangarel. Mr. Whitelaw established his business in 1880. His shop has a frontage of fourteen feet to the main road and does a very steady trade. Formerly he had a very extensive business, but through the Bank of New Zealand crisis, he had the misfortune to lose the larger portion of his property and connections. Mr. Whitelaw is now gradually re-building his fortunes.
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Tremaine, George,
              settler. Mr. Tremaine is a native of Devonshire, England, and was born in 1853. Shortly after his marriage he came to New Zealand by the s.s. “Northumberland,” landing at Wellington in 1880. After visiting Christchurch he lived for twelve months in the Waikato, then went to Kamo and took up 200 acres of land on which he worked for eight years, spending a considerable amount in improvements, in 1890 he bought the Kamo Hotel to which he made large additions and two years later he became his own landlord with a perfectly free business; but he has since left the hotel. Mr. Tremaine was for some years a member of the Kamo town board, and also of the school committee.
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Poroti
              
              is situated about twelve and a half miles from Whangarei. It was formerly a native settlement, and is now the centre of a considerable kauri gum trade. The total area of the gumfields is upwards of 24,000 acres, and they have been known for many years past as affording the best diggings north of Auckland. A large portion of the soil is of a volcanic character, and ranks with the best class of land to be found in the county for agricultural purposes. The whole district was formerly in the hands of the natives, and it was not till Mr. Rawnsley's advent at Poroti, and by dint of energy and perseverance on his part, that he succeeded in obtaining the gum rights over the land, at a cost to him of over £3700. The deposits on this field are of a superior quality, known as East Coast, and have always been worked in a systematic manner with a limited number of men. Poroti is situated at the junction of the Mangakahia and Wharekohe roads, and on the Ngairua and Wairoa rivers. The surrounding country is more or less covered with native bush, so that in years to come, when one portion of Poroti is a worked-out gumfield, the remainder will be available for development and will keep a number of settlers fully employed. The Whatiti Block, on the southern boundary of Whangarei, has become a place of verdant pastures which surround the small township, consisting of the schoolhouse with master's residence, and post office, in addition to the dwellings of the settlers. There is telephone connection and regular mail communication, besides the ordinary savings bank and money order facilities.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Poroti Native School
              
              was opened in 1881, and is situated on two acres of land. Forty-three scholars are on the roll with an average attendance of thirty-four. All the standards are taught, and the pupils display very intelligent aptitude in their studies.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Jack H. Broughton,
              Teacher at the Poroti school, was appointed in 1888. After his arrival in New Zealand he entered the service of the Auckland Education Board, and in 1885 transferred his services to native schools.

          

          

            
            


              
Rawnsley, Samuel, and Co.,
              Exporters of Kauri Gum, Flour, Grain, and General Produce Merchants, Poroti. Central Mart, Whangarei. Branch Store and Gum Depot, Mangarei. Private address, Poroti. English Bankers, J. S. Morgan and Co., Old Bond Street, London. Cable address, “Valour.” Code, A.B.C., Colonial Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Whangarei. Telegraphic address, “Rawnsley, Poroti.” The business premises of the firm are very complete throughout and consist of a large wood and iron building, having a floor space of over 1000 square feet; the produce store, which is a separate building, contains 750 square feet of space. The number of men employed on the gum-field varies from 150 to 250 in equal proportions of British, Maoris, and Austrians. Speaking of the latter, Mr. Rawnsley considers them as a class, honest and straightforward, and by them he has never been put to the loss cf a single penny. The firm have bullock and horse team continually on the road, conveying stores to the fields and bringing in the gum to Poroti and Mangarei. As a private purchaser and exporter of kauri gum, Mr. Rawnsley has exceptional opportunities, having his own fields and thorough knowledge of the trade. The gum stores are roomy and well adapted for preparing and packing the article for export. The process of grading requires great care and discernment, and Messrs. Figgis and Co., of 44 and 45 Fenchurch Street, London, commenting upon one of their sales, singled out Messrs. Rawnsley's mark “S.R.” as pre-eminently superior in all the different grades. Mr. Rawnsley is a cash purchaser of kauri gum both in small and large quantities dealing very extensively with most of the gum



buyers in the district within a radius of fifty miles. He is also a familiar figure at the gum sales in Auckland, buying large parcels of superior classes of gum which are systematically graded prior to being shipped to the Home markets.
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Owen, Arthur,
              Settler, was born in Sleaford, Lincolnshire, in 1858, and completed his education in Norfolk, where he engaged in farming pursuits for two years. Mr. Owen came to New Zealand per ship “Orari” in 1876, and found employment on a sheep run at the Wairan, afterwards farming at the Kaitara. He next became engaged in storekeeping at Manganarewa for a year, afterwards at Kaitaia for twelve years, and two years later took over the Poroti Hotel, which he gave up after a time.
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Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Poroti Native School



            
            


              

                The Poroti Native School
              
              was opened in 1881, and is situated on two acres of land. Forty-three scholars are on the roll with an average attendance of thirty-four. All the standards are taught, and the pupils display very intelligent aptitude in their studies.
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Mr. Jack H. Broughton,
              Teacher at the Poroti school, was appointed in 1888. After his arrival in New Zealand he entered the service of the Auckland Education Board, and in 1885 transferred his services to native schools.
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Rawnsley, Samuel, and Co.,
              Exporters of Kauri Gum, Flour, Grain, and General Produce Merchants, Poroti. Central Mart, Whangarei. Branch Store and Gum Depot, Mangarei. Private address, Poroti. English Bankers, J. S. Morgan and Co., Old Bond Street, London. Cable address, “Valour.” Code, A.B.C., Colonial Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Whangarei. Telegraphic address, “Rawnsley, Poroti.” The business premises of the firm are very complete throughout and consist of a large wood and iron building, having a floor space of over 1000 square feet; the produce store, which is a separate building, contains 750 square feet of space. The number of men employed on the gum-field varies from 150 to 250 in equal proportions of British, Maoris, and Austrians. Speaking of the latter, Mr. Rawnsley considers them as a class, honest and straightforward, and by them he has never been put to the loss cf a single penny. The firm have bullock and horse team continually on the road, conveying stores to the fields and bringing in the gum to Poroti and Mangarei. As a private purchaser and exporter of kauri gum, Mr. Rawnsley has exceptional opportunities, having his own fields and thorough knowledge of the trade. The gum stores are roomy and well adapted for preparing and packing the article for export. The process of grading requires great care and discernment, and Messrs. Figgis and Co., of 44 and 45 Fenchurch Street, London, commenting upon one of their sales, singled out Messrs. Rawnsley's mark “S.R.” as pre-eminently superior in all the different grades. Mr. Rawnsley is a cash purchaser of kauri gum both in small and large quantities dealing very extensively with most of the gum



buyers in the district within a radius of fifty miles. He is also a familiar figure at the gum sales in Auckland, buying large parcels of superior classes of gum which are systematically graded prior to being shipped to the Home markets.
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Owen, Arthur,
              Settler, was born in Sleaford, Lincolnshire, in 1858, and completed his education in Norfolk, where he engaged in farming pursuits for two years. Mr. Owen came to New Zealand per ship “Orari” in 1876, and found employment on a sheep run at the Wairan, afterwards farming at the Kaitara. He next became engaged in storekeeping at Manganarewa for a year, afterwards at Kaitaia for twelve years, and two years later took over the Poroti Hotel, which he gave up after a time.
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Hikurangi,
              in Whangarei County, is rapidly coming to the front as a coal producing district. It is connected by rail with Whaugarei, from which it is fourteen miles distant, and 109 miles from Auckland. There are some very interesting spots in the locality. Hikurangi, which has a population of about 400 persons, has a combined postal and railway office, a post office savings bank and a telephone service.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Hikurangi School
              
              shows a steady increase in the number of its pupils, and of late years the attendance has nearly doubled itself. Mr. J. Wooller is the teacher.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Joseph Wooller,
              Headmaster of the Hikurangi Public School, was born in Auckland in 1866, was educated at Auckland schools and finished at the University, where he gained the gold medal presented by Professor Posnett for oratory in 1888. After completing his education he was employed in the Education Board office in Auckland for six years. He has been assistant-master in several of the town schools, headmaster at the school at Mahurangi Heads and was appointed to his present position in 1895, when there was an attendance of about fifty pupils, now increased to over 120. Mr. Wooller is worshipful master of the Masonic Lodge “Star of the North.” He has represented Auckland in five football matches, in all of which his side was victorious. Mr. Wooller is married and has one son.
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Hikurangi Coal Company.
              This company owns the largest mine in the district, covering 800 acres of freehold and 150 acres leasehold. The coal is semibituminous and of the same geological age as the Greymouth and Westport coal. The mine is equal to a production of 500 tons per day, but the present output averages 600 or 700 tons per week. There are three openings; one is on the level of the outcrop, the second is worked by a self-acting incline, and the third is a dip, from which the coal is hauled by a twenty horse-power steam engine. The main drive is fully half a mile long, and is under a cover varying from



thirty to fifty feet thick, while the seam of coal varies from seven to sixteen feet thick and is free from bands. The mine is entirely self-drained, and employs forty men, the output last year being 30,000 tons.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Thomas Pearson Moody.
              C.E., M.E. etc., General Manager of the Hikurangi Coal Company, was born at Killingworth, Westmoor, Newcastle-on-Tyne, in 1841, and served his apprenticeship to the profession of a civil and mining engineer at Crawshay's mines in South Wales. He is a life member of the Geologists' Association of London, a member of the Geological Society of Australasia, the New Zealand Institute, the South Wales Institute of Civil, Mining, and Mechanical Engineers, New Zealand Institute of Mining Engineers, and of the North of England Institute of Mining Engineers. Mr. Moody was chief superintendent in 1872 of Mr. W. B. Tooth's Clifton station, Darling Downs, Queensland, of 100,000 acres freehold and 200,000 leasehold land, carrying 220,000 merino sheep and 8000 head of cattle, besides a large meat preserving establishment. He was general manager for the Hon. R. Towns' South Queensland estates, including sawmill, meat-preserving works and steamers on the Brisbane river, and in 1878, he was manager of the Waratah Coal Company, Newcastle, N.S.W. and engineer-in-cheif of the Australian Railway Company. Mr. Moody was manager of the Bay of Islands Coal Company for eighteen years. He has been connected with the management of coal and gold mines for over thirty-three years, and has never lost a man by accident, a record almost unique in the history of mining in the Colonies. He is a pioneer of the industry, and one who fills a worthy place in the history of colonial enterprise.
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Howie, Robert.
              General Storekeeper, Hikurangi. Mr. Howie was born in Barnard Castle, Durham, in 1846 and is a son of Mr. John Howie of Kilmarnock. Ayrshire, who was a descendant of one of three brothers of the name of Huet belonging to the Albigenses in the South of France, who were compelled by religious persecution to seek refuge in Scotland. The family has resided in Lochgoin, parish of Fenwick, between Glasgow and Kilmarnock, for about 700 years. Mr. J. Howie was an active Chartist, which fact ultimately caused him to leave his district. Mr. Robert Howie came to New Zealand in 1880, landing in Otago and after a visit to the Old Country he went coal mining at Kawakawa till 1893, when he commenced his present business. His store is a wooden building at the north end of the township and is well stocked with groceries, boots and shoes, hardware, crockery, saddlery, and general furnishing. He supplies the coal mines in the district and, also, has a magazine at Hikurangi for the safe storage of powder and dynamite.
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Carter, William,
             
 Settler, Hikurangi. Mr. Carter was born in Devonshire, England, and is the fourth son of the late Mr. Richard Carter. He came to New Zealand in 1863 and after being a number of years in Auckland went to the Thames goldfields in one of the early “rushes,” After a few years' experience of goldmining he moved to Hikurangi in 1870 and entered into farming pursuits, Cultivating 700 or 800 acres of land in Whangarie County. Mr. Carter, in
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addition has established a butchery in Hikurangi. He was elected to the Whangarei County Council, of which body he is still a member. He is also chairman of the Hikurangi Road Board and School Committee, and chairman of the North Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He was for some years president of the Whangarci Farmers' Club.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Donald MacLeod
              
              was born at Cape Breton in Nova Scotia, in 1838, was educated ton in Nova Scotia, in 1838. was educated there and came to New Zealand in 1860, landing in Auckland. He soon afterwards moved to Whangarei, and took up his present holding at Hikurangi in 1863, since which time he has given his fullest attention to its cultivation. Mr. MacLeod is an ex-chairman of the road board, has been member of the school committee for many years, was a member of the county council from 1878 to 1881, has been a Justice of the Peace since 1888, and is past master of the Masonic Lodge, “Star of the North,” E.C. Mr. MacLeod was instrumental in developing the Hikurangi coal mines and in 1890, in conjunction with two others, had the first contract to deliver local coal. He holds a considerable interest in the West Bryen Coal Mine.
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Mr. John Williams,
              Old Colonist, sometime of Helena Bay, near Hikurangi. Mr. Williams had a property of 857 acres of freehold land purchased from Mr. Greenway in 1885, and grazed sheep and cattle of a remarkably healthy stamp. A large portion of the property is covered with valuable puriri and kauri timber. A fine eight-roomed dwelling with nice gardens and orchard constitute the substantial homestead, the grounds being tastefully laid out, with oranges and lemons growing abundantly. Mr. Williams was born in Somersetshire in 1833, educated at St. Edmund's College, Donai, France, and had spent some fifty years of his life at farming. His family have dwelt for generations in Somersetshire. He came to New Zealand in 1881 by the ship “Warwick,” landing at Auckland, where he resided for three years before settling at Helena Bay, in 1895, Mr. Williams was seized with a paralytic stroke, which somewhat incapacitated him from active work, and he died in January, 1899. He was married to a daughter of the late Mr. J. B. Toovey, manager of Friar's Bank, Wolverhampton, for over forty years, and had two sons and two daughters.
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Mr. Joseph Wooller,
              Headmaster of the Hikurangi Public School, was born in Auckland in 1866, was educated at Auckland schools and finished at the University, where he gained the gold medal presented by Professor Posnett for oratory in 1888. After completing his education he was employed in the Education Board office in Auckland for six years. He has been assistant-master in several of the town schools, headmaster at the school at Mahurangi Heads and was appointed to his present position in 1895, when there was an attendance of about fifty pupils, now increased to over 120. Mr. Wooller is worshipful master of the Masonic Lodge “Star of the North.” He has represented Auckland in five football matches, in all of which his side was victorious. Mr. Wooller is married and has one son.
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Hikurangi Coal Company.
              This company owns the largest mine in the district, covering 800 acres of freehold and 150 acres leasehold. The coal is semibituminous and of the same geological age as the Greymouth and Westport coal. The mine is equal to a production of 500 tons per day, but the present output averages 600 or 700 tons per week. There are three openings; one is on the level of the outcrop, the second is worked by a self-acting incline, and the third is a dip, from which the coal is hauled by a twenty horse-power steam engine. The main drive is fully half a mile long, and is under a cover varying from



thirty to fifty feet thick, while the seam of coal varies from seven to sixteen feet thick and is free from bands. The mine is entirely self-drained, and employs forty men, the output last year being 30,000 tons.
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Mr. Thomas Pearson Moody.
              C.E., M.E. etc., General Manager of the Hikurangi Coal Company, was born at Killingworth, Westmoor, Newcastle-on-Tyne, in 1841, and served his apprenticeship to the profession of a civil and mining engineer at Crawshay's mines in South Wales. He is a life member of the Geologists' Association of London, a member of the Geological Society of Australasia, the New Zealand Institute, the South Wales Institute of Civil, Mining, and Mechanical Engineers, New Zealand Institute of Mining Engineers, and of the North of England Institute of Mining Engineers. Mr. Moody was chief superintendent in 1872 of Mr. W. B. Tooth's Clifton station, Darling Downs, Queensland, of 100,000 acres freehold and 200,000 leasehold land, carrying 220,000 merino sheep and 8000 head of cattle, besides a large meat preserving establishment. He was general manager for the Hon. R. Towns' South Queensland estates, including sawmill, meat-preserving works and steamers on the Brisbane river, and in 1878, he was manager of the Waratah Coal Company, Newcastle, N.S.W. and engineer-in-cheif of the Australian Railway Company. Mr. Moody was manager of the Bay of Islands Coal Company for eighteen years. He has been connected with the management of coal and gold mines for over thirty-three years, and has never lost a man by accident, a record almost unique in the history of mining in the Colonies. He is a pioneer of the industry, and one who fills a worthy place in the history of colonial enterprise.
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Howie, Robert.
              General Storekeeper, Hikurangi. Mr. Howie was born in Barnard Castle, Durham, in 1846 and is a son of Mr. John Howie of Kilmarnock. Ayrshire, who was a descendant of one of three brothers of the name of Huet belonging to the Albigenses in the South of France, who were compelled by religious persecution to seek refuge in Scotland. The family has resided in Lochgoin, parish of Fenwick, between Glasgow and Kilmarnock, for about 700 years. Mr. J. Howie was an active Chartist, which fact ultimately caused him to leave his district. Mr. Robert Howie came to New Zealand in 1880, landing in Otago and after a visit to the Old Country he went coal mining at Kawakawa till 1893, when he commenced his present business. His store is a wooden building at the north end of the township and is well stocked with groceries, boots and shoes, hardware, crockery, saddlery, and general furnishing. He supplies the coal mines in the district and, also, has a magazine at Hikurangi for the safe storage of powder and dynamite.

            

              

[image: Mr. Howie's Store.]

Mr. Howie's Store.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Carter, William



            
            

              

Carter, William,
             
 Settler, Hikurangi. Mr. Carter was born in Devonshire, England, and is the fourth son of the late Mr. Richard Carter. He came to New Zealand in 1863 and after being a number of years in Auckland went to the Thames goldfields in one of the early “rushes,” After a few years' experience of goldmining he moved to Hikurangi in 1870 and entered into farming pursuits, Cultivating 700 or 800 acres of land in Whangarie County. Mr. Carter, in
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addition has established a butchery in Hikurangi. He was elected to the Whangarei County Council, of which body he is still a member. He is also chairman of the Hikurangi Road Board and School Committee, and chairman of the North Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He was for some years president of the Whangarci Farmers' Club.
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Mr. Donald MacLeod
              
              was born at Cape Breton in Nova Scotia, in 1838, was educated ton in Nova Scotia, in 1838. was educated there and came to New Zealand in 1860, landing in Auckland. He soon afterwards moved to Whangarei, and took up his present holding at Hikurangi in 1863, since which time he has given his fullest attention to its cultivation. Mr. MacLeod is an ex-chairman of the road board, has been member of the school committee for many years, was a member of the county council from 1878 to 1881, has been a Justice of the Peace since 1888, and is past master of the Masonic Lodge, “Star of the North,” E.C. Mr. MacLeod was instrumental in developing the Hikurangi coal mines and in 1890, in conjunction with two others, had the first contract to deliver local coal. He holds a considerable interest in the West Bryen Coal Mine.

            

              

[image: Mr. D. MacLeod.]

Mr. 
D. MacLeod.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. John Williams



            
            


              

Mr. John Williams,
              Old Colonist, sometime of Helena Bay, near Hikurangi. Mr. Williams had a property of 857 acres of freehold land purchased from Mr. Greenway in 1885, and grazed sheep and cattle of a remarkably healthy stamp. A large portion of the property is covered with valuable puriri and kauri timber. A fine eight-roomed dwelling with nice gardens and orchard constitute the substantial homestead, the grounds being tastefully laid out, with oranges and lemons growing abundantly. Mr. Williams was born in Somersetshire in 1833, educated at St. Edmund's College, Donai, France, and had spent some fifty years of his life at farming. His family have dwelt for generations in Somersetshire. He came to New Zealand in 1881 by the ship “Warwick,” landing at Auckland, where he resided for three years before settling at Helena Bay, in 1895, Mr. Williams was seized with a paralytic stroke, which somewhat incapacitated him from active work, and he died in January, 1899. He was married to a daughter of the late Mr. J. B. Toovey, manager of Friar's Bank, Wolverhampton, for over forty years, and had two sons and two daughters.
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Opuawhanga
              
              is situated in the county of Whangarei, and is 118 miles from Auckland by steamer to Whangarei, thence by rail to Otonga or Whakapara, which is five miles from the post office. The main road to Whananaki, Helena Bay and Whangaruru runs through the district. The chief occupation of the settlers is grazing, combined with dairying and fruit growing. Nearly all European and semi-tropical fruits grow to perfection. The timber industry is being extensively worked, but, unfortunately, will soon be a thing of the past, especially in regard to kauri and totara, which are fast disappearing. Opuawhanga has a school, post office, public hall, and general store, and a bi-weekly mail. Minerals of various sorts have been found in the district, including gold, iron stone, manganese, etc.
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Whimp, Henry,
              Storekeeper, Opuawanga. Mr. Whimp was born in Yorkshire in 1833, spent his early days in agricultural employment in various parts of England, and emigrated to Australia in 1864. He was in business in Victoria for a while, then removed to North Queensland. Owing to illness and the extreme climate, Mr. Whimp sold his business and came to New Zealand in 1869. He was one of the first to settle in Opuawhanga, where he established his present business in 1880. He owns a farm of 229 acres on which he has carried out considerable improvements. Mr. Whimp has for years been an active member of the local school committee and road board, and has been chairman on several occasions. At one time he represented the Ngunguru riding on the Whangarei County Council.
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                Hope Station
              
              (William Foote, proprietor), Opuawhanga, is 850 acres in extent, of which 590 is freehold, the balance being leasehold. The greater portion of the heavy kauri timber which formerly abounded has long since disappeared; the land has been laid down in grass and now grazes a fine herd of about 200 head of well-bred Shorthorn cattle. The grasses used are principally Poverty Bay and rat-tail, although cocksfoot and other English grasses have been largely sown. The homestead and grounds have been well built and tastefully laid out.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. William Foote
              
              was born in New foundland in 1822. and was engaged in the fishery trade till he came to New Zealand in 1867, arriving at the Manukau in his own vessel, the “Clara,” a brigantine of 160 tons. He worked at the Huia sawmills for twelve months and then went to Greymouth, where he erected a sawmill and remained for eighteen months. Returning to the Manukau, Mr. Foote was engaged for a few years in sawmilling, but subsequently sold out his business to Messrs. Guthrie and Larnach in 1881 and removed to Opuawhanga where he took up his land. He is a member of the school committee and secretary of the Anglican church committee. Mr. Foote is married to a daughter of late Mr. John Gibbons, of Manukau, and has five sons and six daughters.
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Whananaki.
              It is a relief after riding through miles of uninteresting country to come suddenly upon the pretty little settlement of Whananaki, which is one of the most flourishing in the north. The land is of excellent quality, and work in the locality being constant, the settlers have succeeded in creating comfortable homes with well grassed and securely fenced properties. Mr. J. C. Johnson, who arrived just before the village settlement was formed, has done a great deal to secure its prosperity, as Messrs Galbraith and Johnson's mill provides regular employment. That gentleman's own homestead has a pretty English appearance, surrounded by shelter trees which with orchard and flower garden together make a very pleasing rural picture. His farm consists of some 900 acres, carrying splendid stocks of sheep or cattle. The township has stores, a comfortable boarding-house and a public hall. The school, with teacher's residence attached, occupies a prominent position, and is used for divine service when opportunity offers. Monthly communication is provided by steamer with Auckland, and there is a good summer buggy road via Whangarei and Opuawhanga.

          

          

            
            

              

Morris, Thomas Henry Winwood,
             
 General Storekeeper and Produce Merchant, Importer of Groceries, Drapery, Iron, China, and Glassware, Whananaki. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. The business, originally established by Messrs. Johnson and Galbraith in 1883, was taken over by Mr. Morris in 1890 and is conducted in premises situated on the southern side of Whananaki harbour — the Kauri Timber Company's old position. Heavy stocks of general merchandise and seasonable goods are always kept in hand. Mr. Morris was born in Colombo, Ceylon, in 1831. Proceeding to England he was in the shipping trade in Gloucester, and subsequently served sixteen years with the Midland Railway Company and Messrs. Chaplin and Horne, the great railway agents and carriers, being stationed at Gloucester and Birmingham. Mr. Morris landed in Auckland per ship “William Miles” in 1862, and followed the occupation of a carpenter; afterwards, he kept a store at Hamilton during the Waikato War for ten years and afterwards followed various pursuits, such as farming, etc., for some eight or nine years before finally settling down in Whananaki. Mr. Morris is chairman of the school committee, domain, and cemetery boards, and takes an active part in general politics, calling himself a “true Liberal.” In company with two others he founded the Hamilton school before the Education Act came into force. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Joseph Page, steel-toy manufacturer, Birmingham
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Palmer, John,
              Farmer, Whananaki, Mr. Palmer was born on the Great Barrier in 1843 and is a son of late Mr. James Palmer, the well-known ship builder of that island. On his mother's side the family inherited several large blocks of land, which are now supervised by Mr. Palmer. He removed to Whananaki in 1890 to manage a fine property there of 400 acres. Besides that, Mr. Palmer has a considerable interest in other blocks containing valuable growths of the finest kauri timber, and runs a large number of cattle both at the Barrier and Whananaki. Mr. Palmer is married and has three sons and five daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Willowbank,
              Whananaki, is considered to be the finest block of land in the district, and contains an area of 900 acres. It is well-watered undulating country, sub-divided throughout, and grazes some 700 sheep and a small herd of cattle. Mr. John on has expended a considerable sum in bringing his farm into a high state of cultivation, whilst his homestead and grounds are exceedingly fine, the former being a handsome building of fourteen rooms.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Charles Johnson,
              J.P., Proprietor of “Willowbank,” was born in the Isle of Wight in 1851, and educated at the Bedford Grammar School. He came to New Zealand per ship “Edinburgh Castle” in 1870, landing in Wellington, where he afterwards served two years in the Armed Constabulary. In 1871 he engaged in contracting in the Waikato, After a visit to England in 1884, Mr. Johnson, on his return to New Zealand the following year, settled in Whananaki, where he conducted large sawmill for some time in partnership with Mr. C. Galbraith. Mr. Johnson has the welfare of the whole district at heart and is ever ready to forward its interests. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1891.
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              J.P., Proprietor of “Willowbank,” was born in the Isle of Wight in 1851, and educated at the Bedford Grammar School. He came to New Zealand per ship “Edinburgh Castle” in 1870, landing in Wellington, where he afterwards served two years in the Armed Constabulary. In 1871 he engaged in contracting in the Waikato, After a visit to England in 1884, Mr. Johnson, on his return to New Zealand the following year, settled in Whananaki, where he conducted large sawmill for some time in partnership with Mr. C. Galbraith. Mr. Johnson has the welfare of the whole district at heart and is ever ready to forward its interests. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1891.

            

              

[image: Mr. J. C. Johnson's Homestead.]

Mr. 
J. C. Johnson's Homestead.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Puhipuhi



          
Puhipuhi.

          

            
            


              

                
Puhipuhi
              
              is the name given to an extensive district, about 124 miles to the north of Auckland, with which it has communication twice a week by steamer, via Whangarei. Puhipuhi is in the Bay of Islands County.

          

          

            
            


              

Eruera Nehua,
              was baptised at Pakaraka by Archdeacon Williams, in the year 1837. He belongs to the Ngatirahiri branch of the great Ngapuhi tribe. Ngatirahiri was the branch of the Ngatirahiri was the branch of the Ngapuhi from which the famous fighting chief Hone Heke sprang, and the mother of Eruera Nehua was a younger sister of Hone Heke's mother. Eruera Nehua came to reside in the Puhipuhi district with his mother and other members of the tribe at the time of the fight at Ruapekapeka After the fight was over Eruera with some of his relatives went to reside at Ruatangata at the Ngamako settlement, whence they moved to Pehiawiri. In 1860 he removed to his present residence at Taharoa, Puhipuhi. There were no roads from Whangarei at that time and he cut the first road himself. The Puhipuhi block was afterwards surveyed at Eruera Nehua's instigation by the late Sydney Taiwhanga, and was adjudicated upon by the Native Land Court before which Eruera Nehua proved the claim of himself and his tribe to 20,000 acres, and 5000 acres were adjudicated to the late chief Kawiti Maihi of Waiomio. Eruera Nehua has reserved to himself and his family 2000 acres. The railway is now constructed to Puhipuhi and great advances have been made in civilization. Eruera Nehua is much respected by his fellow settlers. In 1862 he married Te Tawaka, the grand daughter of the famous chief, Tamati Waka Nene, the friend of the white man in the early days of the settlement of New Zealand. Mr. and Mrs. Eruera Nehua have had fourteen children, nine of whom are alive, and the chief lives in friendship with all his Pakeha neighbours.
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Russell,
              in the Bay of Islands County, was the first settlement and is the oldest town in New Zealand, and is situated on the shores of the beautiful island-studded bay. It was originally known by its native name of Kororareka, and as such it was sacked by the chief Heke in 1845. The Bay was a resort for whalers from the very early times of the fishery, and is also full of many interesting reminiscences. It was there that the first missionary station was established in 1814 by the Rev. Samuel Marsden, and the famous Treaty of Waitangi, which converted New Zealand into a British Colony, was signed in 1840 at Waitangi, a mission place on the shore opposite to Russell, which was also the seat of Government for some time. The chief resources of the Bay are coal from the mines of Kawakawa, kauri gum, timber, and whale fishing, though the latter is not so flourishing as it was in former times. There is very little general farm cultivation in the district, but both soil and climate are favourable to the growth of subtropical fruits, which will probably become the staple of a considerable industry in the near future. To tourists and holiday seekers, Russell presents many attractions in the way of scenery, fishing, inland excursions, and generally an easy enjoyment of life without care. Russell has comfortable hotels, a bank, four churches, and a public hall, library and school. Steamers call frequently, and the town possesses all postal and telegraph facilities.

          

          

            
            


              
The Post And Telegraph Office,
              Russell, Bay of Islands, is a single storey wooden building. Kawakawa is thirty miles distant and Opua four miles by water.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Hollywood,
              Postmaster at Russell, was born in Dublin in 1859, and came to New Zealand per ship “May Queen” in 1873. He entered upon his duties at Russell in 1895.
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Blow Hole, Hokianga Heads.


            

          

          

            
            

              
Masefield Bros,
             
 (John Masefield and Alexander Masefield), Fish, Fruit, and Meat Preservers, Russell, Bay of Islands. Auckland agents, Seegner, Langguth and Co. Branch at Batley. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. This firm's business was established by Mr. Joseph Masefield at Helensville in 1883, but he removed the following year to Batley. In 1885 the business was taken over by Messrs. Masefield Bros., who carried on a steadily increasing trade there for four years, when they in turn removed to Russell. The freehold comprises 200 acres on which are erected the residences of the brothers, and the works which consist of six buildings occupy an acre of ground. The factory is built of wood and iron with a total floor space of 1600 square feet. It is fifted up with all the latest American machinery and all the requisites for carrying on large operations. The machine-room adjoining the factory has a five horse-power engine by Masefield, of Auckland; there are also machines, presses and dies for making tins of all shapes and sizes, such as guillotines, rolling, seaming, floating and crimping machines. All the cooking is performed by steam in a separate room, where the tins are filled, washed and thoroughly tested by a special process; they are then
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sent on to the store-room, where they are lacquered, labelled, and packed ready for export. There is storage capacity for 1000 cases, but the demand for Messrs. Masefield Bros.' “Star” brand mullet is so great that the store-room never gets full. The most popular size is the one pound tins, of which a stock of over 10,000 is kept ready for filling. The firm import all the necessary materials for preparing their products for the market. The fish-house is twenty-five feet in length and well fifted up with benches and vats. Very special atten tion being given to the cleansing department, salt water is pumped into the fishhouse and the fish thoroughly washed and inspected before being sent to the smoke-house. Smoked fish forms a not inconsiderable portion of the firm's trade, their “Star” brand kippered mullet and schnapper being well known. Besides preparing fish for the market, Messrs. Masefield Bros, can beef and fruit to a large extent, but though they are in a position to preserve all the raw materials placed in their hands, the want of sufficient supply is the main difficulty. They have succeeded in working up a fine trade, not only in New Zealand, but with the South Sea Islands and the Old Country; their products have stood the test of the extremes of climate and have reached a very high standard of excellence. Messrs. John and Alexander Masefield, the proprietors, are sons of Mr. Joseph Masefield, the founder of the firm, and were born at Kaipara in the years 1866 and 1869, respectively. They there entered the business which subsequently became known as Messrs. Masefield and Sons, and in 1885 the firm having removed to Batley, the brothers took over the concern. Prior to their arrival on the East Coast of the North Island, fish canning had long been looked upon as a most unprofitable industry. Messrs. Masefield Bros., however, succeeded in dispelling that illusion for their “Star” brand is a household word throughout the North and in many other parts of New Zealand.
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Joyce, Thomas,
              Settler, Paihia, Russell. Mr. Joyce was born in the Bay of Islands in 1832, and spent the first twenty years of his life at the mission stations, chiefly under the care of Rev. T. Burrows. During Heke's war, Mr. Joyce was an eye witness of many stirring scenes; he saw the cutting down of the Flag Staff at Russell, and also the engagements at Ruapekapeka. Mr. Joyce has a vivid recollection of the landing of Bishop Selwyn in 1846, and his progress to Waimate. He has about 200 acres of land at Paihia and also two fine cottages which are brought largely into requisition during the summer months, by visitors to the seaside. Mr. Joyce is married and has five sons and seven daughters.
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Mrs. Hannah King Letheridge,
              who resides near Russell, and is said to be the oldest living white woman born in New Zealand, was born at Ohihi, Bay of Islands, in 1815, and is the daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Hansen, whose father brought the first missionaries from Sydney to New Zealand



in 1814, per brig “Active.” Mrs. Letheridge's father was associated with the Rev. Samuel Marsden and the early missionaries, and was highly respected by the natives, who in times of tribal warfare protected his family from molestation. It was no uncommon thing for Mrs. Letheridge to be an eye-witness of the cannibalism of the Maoris, who, after a fight, brought captives to their feasting ground on the beach adjoining the residence of the Hansens, and there killed and cooked their victims. Mrs. Letheridge resided at Ohihi till 1830, when she went to live at a native settlement called Koutu. Her first husband was the late Captain Clapham, to whom she was married in 1837. They bought land in Kerikeri, where they lived peaceably till Heke's war broke out and put the whole country in a blaze. Captain Clapham returned to Sydney with his wife and for many years was a successful whaler, but he was lost with his ship in 1855. Two years later his widow was married in Sydney to Mr. Jeremiah Letheridge, who purchased a large piece of land at Purerua, which he farmed up to the time of his death in 1881, when Mrs. Letheridge removed to her present residence. For a woman of her years, Mrs. Letheridge is remarkably active. She does all her own work, and a well-kept kitchen garden bears evidence to her industry.
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Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

The Post And Telegraph Office



            
            


              
The Post And Telegraph Office,
              Russell, Bay of Islands, is a single storey wooden building. Kawakawa is thirty miles distant and Opua four miles by water.
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Mr. John Hollywood,
              Postmaster at Russell, was born in Dublin in 1859, and came to New Zealand per ship “May Queen” in 1873. He entered upon his duties at Russell in 1895.
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Masefield Bros,
             
 (John Masefield and Alexander Masefield), Fish, Fruit, and Meat Preservers, Russell, Bay of Islands. Auckland agents, Seegner, Langguth and Co. Branch at Batley. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. This firm's business was established by Mr. Joseph Masefield at Helensville in 1883, but he removed the following year to Batley. In 1885 the business was taken over by Messrs. Masefield Bros., who carried on a steadily increasing trade there for four years, when they in turn removed to Russell. The freehold comprises 200 acres on which are erected the residences of the brothers, and the works which consist of six buildings occupy an acre of ground. The factory is built of wood and iron with a total floor space of 1600 square feet. It is fifted up with all the latest American machinery and all the requisites for carrying on large operations. The machine-room adjoining the factory has a five horse-power engine by Masefield, of Auckland; there are also machines, presses and dies for making tins of all shapes and sizes, such as guillotines, rolling, seaming, floating and crimping machines. All the cooking is performed by steam in a separate room, where the tins are filled, washed and thoroughly tested by a special process; they are then
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sent on to the store-room, where they are lacquered, labelled, and packed ready for export. There is storage capacity for 1000 cases, but the demand for Messrs. Masefield Bros.' “Star” brand mullet is so great that the store-room never gets full. The most popular size is the one pound tins, of which a stock of over 10,000 is kept ready for filling. The firm import all the necessary materials for preparing their products for the market. The fish-house is twenty-five feet in length and well fifted up with benches and vats. Very special atten tion being given to the cleansing department, salt water is pumped into the fishhouse and the fish thoroughly washed and inspected before being sent to the smoke-house. Smoked fish forms a not inconsiderable portion of the firm's trade, their “Star” brand kippered mullet and schnapper being well known. Besides preparing fish for the market, Messrs. Masefield Bros, can beef and fruit to a large extent, but though they are in a position to preserve all the raw materials placed in their hands, the want of sufficient supply is the main difficulty. They have succeeded in working up a fine trade, not only in New Zealand, but with the South Sea Islands and the Old Country; their products have stood the test of the extremes of climate and have reached a very high standard of excellence. Messrs. John and Alexander Masefield, the proprietors, are sons of Mr. Joseph Masefield, the founder of the firm, and were born at Kaipara in the years 1866 and 1869, respectively. They there entered the business which subsequently became known as Messrs. Masefield and Sons, and in 1885 the firm having removed to Batley, the brothers took over the concern. Prior to their arrival on the East Coast of the North Island, fish canning had long been looked upon as a most unprofitable industry. Messrs. Masefield Bros., however, succeeded in dispelling that illusion for their “Star” brand is a household word throughout the North and in many other parts of New Zealand.
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Masefield Bros.' “Star” Preserving Works.


              

[image: Trade Mark.]

Trade Mark.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Joyce, Thomas



            
            


              

Joyce, Thomas,
              Settler, Paihia, Russell. Mr. Joyce was born in the Bay of Islands in 1832, and spent the first twenty years of his life at the mission stations, chiefly under the care of Rev. T. Burrows. During Heke's war, Mr. Joyce was an eye witness of many stirring scenes; he saw the cutting down of the Flag Staff at Russell, and also the engagements at Ruapekapeka. Mr. Joyce has a vivid recollection of the landing of Bishop Selwyn in 1846, and his progress to Waimate. He has about 200 acres of land at Paihia and also two fine cottages which are brought largely into requisition during the summer months, by visitors to the seaside. Mr. Joyce is married and has five sons and seven daughters.
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Mrs. Hannah King Letheridge,
              who resides near Russell, and is said to be the oldest living white woman born in New Zealand, was born at Ohihi, Bay of Islands, in 1815, and is the daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Hansen, whose father brought the first missionaries from Sydney to New Zealand



in 1814, per brig “Active.” Mrs. Letheridge's father was associated with the Rev. Samuel Marsden and the early missionaries, and was highly respected by the natives, who in times of tribal warfare protected his family from molestation. It was no uncommon thing for Mrs. Letheridge to be an eye-witness of the cannibalism of the Maoris, who, after a fight, brought captives to their feasting ground on the beach adjoining the residence of the Hansens, and there killed and cooked their victims. Mrs. Letheridge resided at Ohihi till 1830, when she went to live at a native settlement called Koutu. Her first husband was the late Captain Clapham, to whom she was married in 1837. They bought land in Kerikeri, where they lived peaceably till Heke's war broke out and put the whole country in a blaze. Captain Clapham returned to Sydney with his wife and for many years was a successful whaler, but he was lost with his ship in 1855. Two years later his widow was married in Sydney to Mr. Jeremiah Letheridge, who purchased a large piece of land at Purerua, which he farmed up to the time of his death in 1881, when Mrs. Letheridge removed to her present residence. For a woman of her years, Mrs. Letheridge is remarkably active. She does all her own work, and a well-kept kitchen garden bears evidence to her industry.
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Waitangi Falls,
              on the shores of the Bay of Islands, opposite to Russell, is a landing-place for goods for the back country settlements. It is famous, also, as being the locality where the historic Treaty of Waitangi was signed by the assembled chiefs of the Maori people. There is some interesting scenery in the vicinity.

          

          

            
            


              

                The “Wairoro,”
              
              a staunch steam riverbeat of fourteen tons, plies regularly between Russell and Waitangi Falls, calling at Opua as occasion requires. This fine little vessel was launched on the Wairau in 1883 and is fitted with high-pressure engines with ten-inch cylinders, is neat in appearance and makes seven knots an hour in smooth water. She connects with the “Clansman” at Russell weekly, forwarding transhipments to Waitangi Falls, the distributing centre of a large area of back country, including Kaikohe, Ohaeawai, Waimate, and Okaihau.
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Monument to Archdeacon Williams, Paihia Church.


              


            

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Louis Clifford Goffe,
              Owner and Master of the s.s. “Wairoro,” resides at Waitangi Falls. He is the son of the late Mr. L. C. Goffe, founder of the firm of Goffe and Co., was born in Auckland in 1863, and educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell. He made a tour of the United States in 1881, combining business with pleasure, and was presented with an illuminated address on his departure by the employees of Goffe and Co. He returned to New Zealand at the latter end of 1882 after the death of his father, which took place in September of that year. Later on he took over the Ohaeawai Hotel, which he conducted for three years, when he purchased the “Wairoro.” Mr. Goffe was at one time a member of No. 3 Company, Auckland Volunteers. He continues to take an interest in outdoor pastimes, especially cricket, and is associated with the American Order of Knights of Pythias.
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Waitangi Falls,
              on the shores of the Bay of Islands, opposite to Russell, is a landing-place for goods for the back country settlements. It is famous, also, as being the locality where the historic Treaty of Waitangi was signed by the assembled chiefs of the Maori people. There is some interesting scenery in the vicinity.
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                The “Wairoro,”
              
              a staunch steam riverbeat of fourteen tons, plies regularly between Russell and Waitangi Falls, calling at Opua as occasion requires. This fine little vessel was launched on the Wairau in 1883 and is fitted with high-pressure engines with ten-inch cylinders, is neat in appearance and makes seven knots an hour in smooth water. She connects with the “Clansman” at Russell weekly, forwarding transhipments to Waitangi Falls, the distributing centre of a large area of back country, including Kaikohe, Ohaeawai, Waimate, and Okaihau.
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Mr. Louis Clifford Goffe,
              Owner and Master of the s.s. “Wairoro,” resides at Waitangi Falls. He is the son of the late Mr. L. C. Goffe, founder of the firm of Goffe and Co., was born in Auckland in 1863, and educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell. He made a tour of the United States in 1881, combining business with pleasure, and was presented with an illuminated address on his departure by the employees of Goffe and Co. He returned to New Zealand at the latter end of 1882 after the death of his father, which took place in September of that year. Later on he took over the Ohaeawai Hotel, which he conducted for three years, when he purchased the “Wairoro.” Mr. Goffe was at one time a member of No. 3 Company, Auckland Volunteers. He continues to take an interest in outdoor pastimes, especially cricket, and is associated with the American Order of Knights of Pythias.
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Kawakawa
              
              is the chief town in Bay of Islands County and the centre of an important coal-mining industry, as well as of a large kauri gum trade. It is fourteen miles from Russell, four miles by water and the remainder by rail from Opua, at which the inter-colonial steamers call for coal. Kawakawa has many stores and offices, hotels, churches, hall, and public school, besides post and telegraph office, court-house, and police station. It also supports a weekly newspaper named the “Northern Luminary.” There is a bi-weekly mail service with Auckland.

          

          

            
            

              

                Bay Of Islands County
              
             
 is one of the most interesting divisions of the colony, both for its historical reminiscences and for its salubrious climate and natural resources. The area of country under the jurisdiction of the County Council is 826 square miles, and the population is nearly 2600. The ratable value of property is set down at £37,441, and
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there is a general rate of 1d in the £. Members for 1900–1901:—Mr P. McAlester, chairman, and Messrs H. S. Williams, J. A. L. Hall, W. Stewart, J. B. Clarke, H. S. Ludbrook, R. B. B. Willis, and A. W. Edwards. Clerk and treasurer, V. H. Reed; engineer, H. C. Blundell. The County office is at Kawakawa.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Councillor J. A. L. Hall
              
              has been a Member of the Bay of Islands County Council for fifteen years. He was born at Dungaunon, Ireland, in 1855, and came to the Colony with his parents in 1866 per ship “Mary Shepherd,” landing at Russell. After several years' experience as a settler, Mr. Hall established himself in business in Kawakawa as a commission agent. His farm is situated at Ohaeawai and consists of 350 acres all cleared and stocked with cattle and sheep. He is a son of the late Rev. R. A. Hall, who was for many years a Church of England clergyman at Howick. Mr. Hall was made a Justice of the Peace in 1893.

          

          

            
            


              

Councillor H. S. Ludbrook,
              Member of the Bay of Islands County Council, is referred to at length on another page of this section.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Vernon Herbert Reed,
              Clerk and Treasurer to the Bay of Islands County Council, was born in Auckland in 1871, and educated at Victoria College, Jersey, Dulwich College, London, and the University of Sydney, New South Wales. Mr. Reed visited England in 1878 and returned in 1887. Two years later he joined the literary staff of the Melbourne “Daily Telegraph” and subsequently the “Sydney Morning Herald” on each of which he remained two years. He returned to New Zealand at the close of 1893, and settled in the Bay of Island, where he began his legal studies. Mr. Reed was initiated into Masonry in 1896, joining the local lodge. He is a member of the Kawakawa Domain Board, and during 1896 was chairman of directors of the New Bay of Islands' Coal Company. As a footballer, Mr. Reed represented Auckland Province in 1889, Victoria in 1890, New South Wales Colony in 1891–92, Hawke's Bay Province in 1895, and captained the Waipara Branch Union in the same year.
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Kawakawa Railway Station,
              opened in 1884, connects the most northerly township in the Colony with the railway system, the port of Opua being situated eight miles distant with two intervening stations, Taumarere and Te Ake Ake, three and four miles respectively from Kawakawa. The Kawakawa-Opua section was constructed at a cost of £90,000 and has been chiefly used for coal transport, immense quantities having been exported from the Kawakawa mines during the past eighteen years. The line is also largely used for conveying general merchandise to Kawakawa, which is the centre of a populous district. The station at Kawakawa consists of offices, ladies' and general waiting-rooms, cattle and sheep pens, and goods sheds. Bi-weekly trains run between Opua and Kawakawa, or as occasion requires.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Robert Betts Peat,
              Stationmaster in charge of the Kawakawa-Opua section of the New Zealand Railways, received his present appointment in 1879. He was born in Bombay in 1859, was educated at Margate, England, and came to New Zealand per ship “Tiburnia,” landing at Auckland in 1863. He was engaged in storekeeping at Whangamata for three years and spent a like term surveying in the Napier, Wellington and Pahiatua districts, and subsequently in the Waikato under Mr. Lawrence Cussen, the well-known Government surveyor. He joined the railway department in 1878 and was first stationmaster at Ohaupo, was then transferred to Penrose, and was over eight years at Frankton Junction, when he received his present appointment. Owing to irregular hours he is prevented taking any active part in public affairs, but is associated with the Masonic Order. Mr. Peat is married to a daughter of the late Mr. John Bishop, of Titirangi, Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Herbert Cummings,
              formerly of the Station Staff at Kawakawa, was appointed at the opening of the section in 1884. He was born at Ramsgate, Kent, England, in 1857.

          

          

            
            


              

                The “Northern Luminary”
              
              (Francis Mackenzie, proprietor), Kawakawa, was established in 1879 by Mr. Mackenzie. The journal is issued weekly and has a good circulation in the northern districts. Its tone is free, with political views of a liberal character.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Francis MacKenzie,
              Proprietor of the “Northern Luminary,” was born of Scotch and English parents in London in 1846, and apprenticed to Messrs. Witherby and Co., law stationers and printers of Birchin Lane, Lincoln's Inn Fields and Middle Row Place, Holborn. He came to Auckland with his parents in 1863, and after finishing his training at the office of the “New Zealander” he visited Australia and the goldfields. After serving a term with the Government Printer in Sydney, Mr. MacKenzie returned to Auckland with his family, and was employed as an overseer on the “Southern Cross” newspaper. When that journal was wound up, he started the “Northern Luminary.”
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Reed, Vernon Herbert,
              Solicitor, Kawakawa. Mr. Reed has been at Kawakawa since 1895, and is clerk and treasurer to the Bay of Islands County Council.

          

          

            
            


              

Dowling, William Patrick,
              Tailor, Kawakawa. Mr. Dowling, who is well and favourably known among leading cyclists North of Auckland, claims to have been the first wheelman in the Bay of Islands, and promoter of cycle racing in the district. He commenced racing in 1894, and competed unsuccessfully at Auckland in March, 1895. Coming to the Bay of Islands the same year to open a tailoring establishment with Mr. G. Hodge at Ohaeawai, Mr. Dowling was as enthusiastic at cycling as ever, and succeeded in having a bicycle race added to the athletic programme at Waimate on the 24th of May, 1896. This proved a “big draw,” although those whose duty it was to handicap lacked the necessary knowledge, so that Mr. Dowling, the scratch man, was not “in it.” He also competed with a fair amount of success at Kawakawa on Boxing Day, 1896, and a week later at Ohaeawai. Mr. Dowling's colours are well known on the Auckland Domain, where he has competed on several occasions as a member of the Auckland Amateur Athletic and Cycling Club, scoring two seconds and one third. He is agent for



Rambler bicycles in the Bay or Islands district. As a tailor and habitmaker he is extensively patronized, his style and make comparing favourably with city work.
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                Ngaheia Station
              
              (James Close, proprietor), Kawakawa, consisting of 1800 acres, formed part of the original Pakaraka Estate, and was formerly owned by the late Mr. Joseph Williams. This fine property is one of the best in the district and has undergone many improvements since it was taken over by Mr. Close in 1894. By fully stocking the property and continually moving the cattle from paddock to paddock the troublesome fern has been to a large extent eradicated. The Waitangi river has its source on the estate and flows through the larger portion of it. The station possesses numerous volcanic hillocks, the Walotapu Falls and a fine natural spring of mineral water. Over 500 head of shorthorn cattle and 2000 sheep, chiefly of the Romuey strain, are grazed on one run. Mr. Close's residence and grounds are most pleasantly situated.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Close,
              Proprietor of Ngaheia Station, was born in Reeth, Yorkshire, in 1843, and was educated at an academy in Leeds, in which town he afterwards followed the calling of a grocer and provision merchant. He came to New Zealand per ship “Persia” in 1860 with his parents, who settled at Te Arai, near Mongonui. Removing to Auckland soon afterwards, he, in conjunction with his brother, established the firm of Messrs. Close Bros., and after a successful career of thirty years, and owing to the death of his brother, Mr. Close disposed of the business and removed to the north to a climate better suited to his health. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. John Harding of Mount Vernon, Hawke's Bay, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Kawakawa
              
              is the chief town in Bay of Islands County and the centre of an important coal-mining industry, as well as of a large kauri gum trade. It is fourteen miles from Russell, four miles by water and the remainder by rail from Opua, at which the inter-colonial steamers call for coal. Kawakawa has many stores and offices, hotels, churches, hall, and public school, besides post and telegraph office, court-house, and police station. It also supports a weekly newspaper named the “Northern Luminary.” There is a bi-weekly mail service with Auckland.
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                Bay Of Islands County
              
             
 is one of the most interesting divisions of the colony, both for its historical reminiscences and for its salubrious climate and natural resources. The area of country under the jurisdiction of the County Council is 826 square miles, and the population is nearly 2600. The ratable value of property is set down at £37,441, and
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there is a general rate of 1d in the £. Members for 1900–1901:—Mr P. McAlester, chairman, and Messrs H. S. Williams, J. A. L. Hall, W. Stewart, J. B. Clarke, H. S. Ludbrook, R. B. B. Willis, and A. W. Edwards. Clerk and treasurer, V. H. Reed; engineer, H. C. Blundell. The County office is at Kawakawa.
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Councillor J. A. L. Hall
              
              has been a Member of the Bay of Islands County Council for fifteen years. He was born at Dungaunon, Ireland, in 1855, and came to the Colony with his parents in 1866 per ship “Mary Shepherd,” landing at Russell. After several years' experience as a settler, Mr. Hall established himself in business in Kawakawa as a commission agent. His farm is situated at Ohaeawai and consists of 350 acres all cleared and stocked with cattle and sheep. He is a son of the late Rev. R. A. Hall, who was for many years a Church of England clergyman at Howick. Mr. Hall was made a Justice of the Peace in 1893.
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Councillor H. S. Ludbrook,
              Member of the Bay of Islands County Council, is referred to at length on another page of this section.
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Mr. Vernon Herbert Reed,
              Clerk and Treasurer to the Bay of Islands County Council, was born in Auckland in 1871, and educated at Victoria College, Jersey, Dulwich College, London, and the University of Sydney, New South Wales. Mr. Reed visited England in 1878 and returned in 1887. Two years later he joined the literary staff of the Melbourne “Daily Telegraph” and subsequently the “Sydney Morning Herald” on each of which he remained two years. He returned to New Zealand at the close of 1893, and settled in the Bay of Island, where he began his legal studies. Mr. Reed was initiated into Masonry in 1896, joining the local lodge. He is a member of the Kawakawa Domain Board, and during 1896 was chairman of directors of the New Bay of Islands' Coal Company. As a footballer, Mr. Reed represented Auckland Province in 1889, Victoria in 1890, New South Wales Colony in 1891–92, Hawke's Bay Province in 1895, and captained the Waipara Branch Union in the same year.
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Kawakawa Railway Station,
              opened in 1884, connects the most northerly township in the Colony with the railway system, the port of Opua being situated eight miles distant with two intervening stations, Taumarere and Te Ake Ake, three and four miles respectively from Kawakawa. The Kawakawa-Opua section was constructed at a cost of £90,000 and has been chiefly used for coal transport, immense quantities having been exported from the Kawakawa mines during the past eighteen years. The line is also largely used for conveying general merchandise to Kawakawa, which is the centre of a populous district. The station at Kawakawa consists of offices, ladies' and general waiting-rooms, cattle and sheep pens, and goods sheds. Bi-weekly trains run between Opua and Kawakawa, or as occasion requires.
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Mr. Robert Betts Peat,
              Stationmaster in charge of the Kawakawa-Opua section of the New Zealand Railways, received his present appointment in 1879. He was born in Bombay in 1859, was educated at Margate, England, and came to New Zealand per ship “Tiburnia,” landing at Auckland in 1863. He was engaged in storekeeping at Whangamata for three years and spent a like term surveying in the Napier, Wellington and Pahiatua districts, and subsequently in the Waikato under Mr. Lawrence Cussen, the well-known Government surveyor. He joined the railway department in 1878 and was first stationmaster at Ohaupo, was then transferred to Penrose, and was over eight years at Frankton Junction, when he received his present appointment. Owing to irregular hours he is prevented taking any active part in public affairs, but is associated with the Masonic Order. Mr. Peat is married to a daughter of the late Mr. John Bishop, of Titirangi, Auckland.
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Mr. Herbert Cummings,
              formerly of the Station Staff at Kawakawa, was appointed at the opening of the section in 1884. He was born at Ramsgate, Kent, England, in 1857.
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                The “Northern Luminary”
              
              (Francis Mackenzie, proprietor), Kawakawa, was established in 1879 by Mr. Mackenzie. The journal is issued weekly and has a good circulation in the northern districts. Its tone is free, with political views of a liberal character.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Francis MacKenzie



            
            


              

Mr. Francis MacKenzie,
              Proprietor of the “Northern Luminary,” was born of Scotch and English parents in London in 1846, and apprenticed to Messrs. Witherby and Co., law stationers and printers of Birchin Lane, Lincoln's Inn Fields and Middle Row Place, Holborn. He came to Auckland with his parents in 1863, and after finishing his training at the office of the “New Zealander” he visited Australia and the goldfields. After serving a term with the Government Printer in Sydney, Mr. MacKenzie returned to Auckland with his family, and was employed as an overseer on the “Southern Cross” newspaper. When that journal was wound up, he started the “Northern Luminary.”
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Reed, Vernon Herbert,
              Solicitor, Kawakawa. Mr. Reed has been at Kawakawa since 1895, and is clerk and treasurer to the Bay of Islands County Council.
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Dowling, William Patrick,
              Tailor, Kawakawa. Mr. Dowling, who is well and favourably known among leading cyclists North of Auckland, claims to have been the first wheelman in the Bay of Islands, and promoter of cycle racing in the district. He commenced racing in 1894, and competed unsuccessfully at Auckland in March, 1895. Coming to the Bay of Islands the same year to open a tailoring establishment with Mr. G. Hodge at Ohaeawai, Mr. Dowling was as enthusiastic at cycling as ever, and succeeded in having a bicycle race added to the athletic programme at Waimate on the 24th of May, 1896. This proved a “big draw,” although those whose duty it was to handicap lacked the necessary knowledge, so that Mr. Dowling, the scratch man, was not “in it.” He also competed with a fair amount of success at Kawakawa on Boxing Day, 1896, and a week later at Ohaeawai. Mr. Dowling's colours are well known on the Auckland Domain, where he has competed on several occasions as a member of the Auckland Amateur Athletic and Cycling Club, scoring two seconds and one third. He is agent for



Rambler bicycles in the Bay or Islands district. As a tailor and habitmaker he is extensively patronized, his style and make comparing favourably with city work.
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                Ngaheia Station
              
              (James Close, proprietor), Kawakawa, consisting of 1800 acres, formed part of the original Pakaraka Estate, and was formerly owned by the late Mr. Joseph Williams. This fine property is one of the best in the district and has undergone many improvements since it was taken over by Mr. Close in 1894. By fully stocking the property and continually moving the cattle from paddock to paddock the troublesome fern has been to a large extent eradicated. The Waitangi river has its source on the estate and flows through the larger portion of it. The station possesses numerous volcanic hillocks, the Walotapu Falls and a fine natural spring of mineral water. Over 500 head of shorthorn cattle and 2000 sheep, chiefly of the Romuey strain, are grazed on one run. Mr. Close's residence and grounds are most pleasantly situated.
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Mr. James Close,
              Proprietor of Ngaheia Station, was born in Reeth, Yorkshire, in 1843, and was educated at an academy in Leeds, in which town he afterwards followed the calling of a grocer and provision merchant. He came to New Zealand per ship “Persia” in 1860 with his parents, who settled at Te Arai, near Mongonui. Removing to Auckland soon afterwards, he, in conjunction with his brother, established the firm of Messrs. Close Bros., and after a successful career of thirty years, and owing to the death of his brother, Mr. Close disposed of the business and removed to the north to a climate better suited to his health. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. John Harding of Mount Vernon, Hawke's Bay, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Opua
              
              is a coaling station in the Bay of Islands for intercolonial and coastal steamers, which berth at the wharf and receive coal brought by rail from the Kawakawa mines. It is 151 miles from Auckland and a few miles from Kawakawa, and has a telephone service and a combined post and railway office.

          

          

            
            


              

Morris, Antonio,
              General Storekeeper and Proprietor of the Accommodation House, Opua. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Mr. Morris carries on a very comfortable business throughout the district. He has been a settler in the Bay of Islands for nearly thirty years and is well and favourably known. His accommodation house is a two-storey building, well furnished throughout, and contains a number of pleasant bedrooms, and a good table is provided to meet the wants of the general travelling public. Mr. Morris was born in Lisbon, Portugal, in 1846, and from the age of twelve led a seafaring life till he came to New Zealand in 1869. In 1875, he removed to the Bay of Islands and opened his establishment at Opua.
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                Te Ahuahu
              
              is 175 miles north of Auckland, and has a weekly mail service. It has also a telephone office.

          

          

            
            


              

Knox, Thomas,
              Mail Contractor, Te Ahuahu. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Mr. Knox was born in Howiek, near Auckland, in 1856, and spent ten years in the Walkato carrying out ploughing and other contracts. He next established a line of coaches in the Bay of Islands and drove the first team to Hokianga in 1882, but two years later he discontinued the service, there being no mail subsidy, and worked for Mr. Pierce Lannigan at the Calliope dock. Returning to the Bay of Islands, he secured the postal contract in 1897 and again took up the coaching line. A coach leaves Kawakawa on Tuesday morning on the arrival of the Auckland mail and reaches Horeke the same evening, returning on Thursday morning in time to catch the outgoing mail for Auckland. Travellers and tourists can not do better than go through to Hokianga by the Royal Mail route, as the scenery is very interesting. In racing circles Mr. Knox has been successful in running horses at the Thames and Walkato. An illustration of the first coach which ran on the road in 1882 accompanies this notice.
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Ngawha
              
              is a trading-place on the northern gum fields twenty-two miles from Kawakawa. It is celebrated as the scene of a fierce struggle with the Maoris in 1845, when 100 British and Colonial soldiers were killed or wounded in an attack made upon the Ohaeawai Pa during Heke's war. The churchyard contains a monument gracefully erected by the Maoris in honour of the troops who fell in the attack on their pa. There is a public school for Maori children, and also a church for Maoris who belong to the Church of England. The Maoris depend chiefly on the kauri gum, collected in the district or near it. They do but little in the way of cultivation, but they have a goodly number of horses and cattle.

          

          

            
            


              

                Dickeson Bros.
              
              (F. Dickeson, proprictor), General Storekeepers and Gum Buyers, Ngawha Branch. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. This important business was established by the late Mr. W. E. Goffe, and taken over by Messrs. Dickeson Bros, in 1890, with headquarters at Kaikohe.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John McNamara.
              Manager for Messrs. Dickeson Bros, at Ngawha, took up his present position in 1895 and has been in that firm's employment since 1885. He was born in Auckland in 1850 and educated at St. Paul's school, afterwards finding employment in Walker's gum store, Auckland. He joined the Armed Constabulary in Wellington and saw active service in Taranaki in quelling the native disturbances at Burley's Farm, Opunake. In 1875, he left the force and went to Russell, where he was engaged in Messrs. Salmon and Co.'s store, and in 1885 went to Kaikohe and joined the service of Messrs Dickeson Bros. Mr. McNamara takes great interest in sporting matters and is enthusiastic in athletics being secretary of the Kaikohe Football Association. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Whittingham, of Mahurangi.
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Ohaeawai.
              The township of Ohaeawai, 173 miles from Auckland, is situated on the coach road between Kawakawa and Hokianga. It is the centre of a rich volcanic district, and when more of the adjoining country, which is at present in the hands of the Maoris, is opened up for European settlement, there is every probability that Ohaeawai will grow into a busy town. There is a large and commodious hotel, and the central post office for the district is situated in the township, which has also, many other places of business.

          

          

            
            


              

                
The Hon. Henry Williams
              
              was born at Paihia, in the Bay of Islands, in the year 1823, three weeks after the arrival of his parents in New Zealand. He is the third son of the late Archdeacon Henry Williams, who came to New Zealand in 1823, as missionary under the Church Missionary Society, and he was educated in the Mission School, under the late Bishop of Waiapu. In 1842 Mr. Williams joined his brothers on their land at Pakaraka, where he has resided ever since. During Heke's war in 1845, he and his brothers were left in undisturbed possession by Heke, who maintained that his quarrel was against the Government and not against the settlers. Mr. Williams has been a Justice of the Peace since the year 1858, and was chairman of the Bay of Islands County Council continuously from 1876 to 1899, when he retired and did not seek re-election. He was called to the Legislative Council by the Whitaker Administration in 1882. Mr. Williams is one of the few who have seen the gradual development of New Zealand from the savage state it was in in 1823, to its colonisation in 1840, and its present position as one of the company of nations—offshoots of, and under the aegis of the great British people. He is an ardest imperialist, and the position that New Zealand took up in connection with the war in South Africa, going as a young whelp to the assistance of the mother lion, had his heartiest support. His aspirations are to see not merely the federation of England and her colonies, but the federation of the whole Anglo-Saxon race; a consummation which he believes to be in the near future.
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The Ohaeawai Sale Yards,
              the property of Mr. George F. Dickeson, are very centrally situated and substantially constructed of puriri and heart of kauri. Monthly sales are held by the auctioneer, Mr. G. F. Dickeson, and are largely attended by farmers and dealers from the district lying between Whangarei and the North Cape. Sheep and cattle in great numbers are penned and find a ready market, and the yards are considered the best in the north of Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              
Stanton, Joseph,
              Boot and Shoemaker, Ohaeawai. Mr. Stanton established his business on “The Coruer” in September, 1895, and has gained a wide circle of patrons, his business extending over a large radius, especially in bespoken work, which he always turns out most satisfactorlly to his customers. He was born in Auckland in 1870, where he was educated and followed his trade for eight years. In aquatic matters he has taken a leading part.

          

          

            
            


              

Woods, George Henry,
              General Storekeeper, Gum Buyer, and Licensed Native Interpreter, Ohaeawai. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Auckland kauri gum agents, Messrs. Garlick and Lyon. The business was established in 1887 and taken over by Mr. Woods in 1894. His premises, situated on the corner of the Waimate and Kawakawa roads, have a total frontage of over 100 feet and the main building contains 1200 feet of floor space, with a shop well-stocked in each of its respective departments. Mr. Woods keeps pack-horses and carts employed in conveying merchandise to and from the gumfields, is a cash buyer of wood and makes advances on the season's clip. His fine large gum-sheds form a not inconsiderable feature of his business. Mr. Woods was born in Awnui North in 1873, and is a son of Mr. G. E. Woods, schoolmaster of Ngawha. He was for twelve months with Mr. G. W. S. Patterson, five years with Messrs. Dickeson Bros., and two years in the employ of Mr. W. E. Goffe at Ngawha. Mr. Woods is secretary and treasurer of the Ohaeawai Brass Band and takes a lively interest in the football and athletic clubs.
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Bindon, John Waller,
              “Pahake Farm,” Ohaeawal. Mr. Bindon's property, has been popularly known as the “Model Farm” of Bay of Islands County. It is of rich alluvial pastoral land, and for agricultural purposes is unsurpassed. There is a fine commodious two-storey dwelling which was erected in the early sixties, and is picturesquely situated in front of a pretty artificial lake and



playing fountain. A view of part of the property accompanies this notice. Mr. Bindon, who was born in Tipperary in 1849 is a son of the late Dr. Bindon, and was educated at the Dungannon Royal School, Tyrone. Coming to New Zealand per ship “Mary Shepherd,” he landed at Russell in February, 1865, and shortly afterwards settled down at Whangai, where the family had each received a grant of forty acres. Mr. Bindon stuck to the land with indomitable pluck for twenty years, but ultimately was compelled to relinquish it. In 1890 he purchased “Pahake Farm,” and in 1877 became engaged in carrying on a coaching business with various parts of the Hokianga and Bay of Islands county. He is married to a daughter of Mr. James L. Kinsella, of Wellington, and has three sons.
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                Pouerua Station
              
              (Hon. H. Williams, M.L.C., proprietor), Pakaraka, consists of 2700 acres. It is now leased to Mr. H. S. Ludbrook, of Tupetupe, Ohaeawal. The country is of a rich volcanic soll and undulating nature, and grazes two sheep to the acre. The stock are of a high class Lincoin Romney strain, with a fine herd of Shorthorns, all of a remarkably healthy character. Wheat and oats readily yield heavy crops, but the land is more suitable for sheep and cattle.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William Williams Ludbrook,
              Manager of the Pouerua Estate, Pakaraka, took possession in 1895. He was born at Ohaeawai in 1865, educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell, and is a son of the late Mr. S. B. Ludbrook. He entered the civil service in Wellington and served nine years in the property-tax department. Preferring a country life, he left the service. Mr. Ludbrook was for nearly three years on Mr. J. N. Williams' estate at Frimley, Hawke's Bay. In 1895, he returned to the north and took the management of the Pouerua estate, leased by his brother, Mr. H. S. Ludbrook, from the Hon. Henry Williams, M.L.C. When in Wellington Mr. Ludbrook was a member of the Star Boating Club and rendered yeoman's service to his crew. He is an ardent supporter of all kinds of healthy sport.

          

          

            
            


              
Tupetupe Station,
              the freehold property of Mr. H. S. Ludbrook, contains 2000 acres and extends through to Pakaraka, with a frontage to the main road nearly the whole distance. The run originally belonged to the late Mr. S. B. Ludbrook. It is of a volcanic nature and, with the Pouerua station, runs 5000 Lincoin and Romney sheep, besides 750 Shorthorn cattle. It is stated that, in former times when the Maoris were numerous, the native owners had over 5000 acres of this property under cultivation, their only means of tilling the soil being the old Maori wooden spade.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Henry Samuel Ludbrook,
              Proprietor of Tupetupe Estate, is the eldest son of the late Mr. S. B. Ludbrook, who was one of the first European settlers in Ohaeawai. Born in Auckland, the subject of this notice was educated at the Parnell Grammar School, after which he spent three years in farming pursuits on his cousin's (Mr. J. N. Williams) estate at Frimley. Hastings. Mr. Ludbrook then returned to Ohaeawai and took over the property on his father's death, and has leased the Pouerna station since 1895. He is a Justice of the Peace, a member of the Bay of Islands County Council, vice-president of the Bay of Islands Agricultural and Industrial Society and has filled many positions in connection with local affairs. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Kinsella, of Wellington.
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The Ohaeawai Sale Yards,
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Woods, George Henry,
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Bindon, John Waller,
              “Pahake Farm,” Ohaeawal. Mr. Bindon's property, has been popularly known as the “Model Farm” of Bay of Islands County. It is of rich alluvial pastoral land, and for agricultural purposes is unsurpassed. There is a fine commodious two-storey dwelling which was erected in the early sixties, and is picturesquely situated in front of a pretty artificial lake and
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                Pouerua Station
              
              (Hon. H. Williams, M.L.C., proprietor), Pakaraka, consists of 2700 acres. It is now leased to Mr. H. S. Ludbrook, of Tupetupe, Ohaeawal. The country is of a rich volcanic soll and undulating nature, and grazes two sheep to the acre. The stock are of a high class Lincoin Romney strain, with a fine herd of Shorthorns, all of a remarkably healthy character. Wheat and oats readily yield heavy crops, but the land is more suitable for sheep and cattle.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. William Williams Ludbrook



            
            


              

Mr. William Williams Ludbrook,
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Tupetupe Station,
              the freehold property of Mr. H. S. Ludbrook, contains 2000 acres and extends through to Pakaraka, with a frontage to the main road nearly the whole distance. The run originally belonged to the late Mr. S. B. Ludbrook. It is of a volcanic nature and, with the Pouerua station, runs 5000 Lincoin and Romney sheep, besides 750 Shorthorn cattle. It is stated that, in former times when the Maoris were numerous, the native owners had over 5000 acres of this property under cultivation, their only means of tilling the soil being the old Maori wooden spade.
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Mr. Henry Samuel Ludbrook,
              Proprietor of Tupetupe Estate, is the eldest son of the late Mr. S. B. Ludbrook, who was one of the first European settlers in Ohaeawai. Born in Auckland, the subject of this notice was educated at the Parnell Grammar School, after which he spent three years in farming pursuits on his cousin's (Mr. J. N. Williams) estate at Frimley. Hastings. Mr. Ludbrook then returned to Ohaeawai and took over the property on his father's death, and has leased the Pouerna station since 1895. He is a Justice of the Peace, a member of the Bay of Islands County Council, vice-president of the Bay of Islands Agricultural and Industrial Society and has filled many positions in connection with local affairs. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Kinsella, of Wellington.
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Waimate North
              
              lies in the Bay of Islands County, and is 177 miles north of Auckland. It was a missionary district in the early days of the colony, is charmingly situated, and has a considerable extent of rich, productive soil, in addition to a very genial climate. The local post office receives and despatches two mails a week.

          

          

            
            


              

                Waimate North Public School
              
              stands on ground said to be the first land in the Colony which was farmed by the early European settlers. The school contains two rooms and has accommodation for eighty scholars, and there are thirty-three on the roll. Miss E. M. Ryan, the present teacher, was formerly in charge of the Mokan school in the King Country, and was appointed to her present position in 1899.

          

          

            
            


              

The Rev. Richard Taylor,
              M.A., was born in the year 1805 at Letwell, in Yorkshire, England. He graduated at Cambridge, and after his ordination was stationed at Coveney, in the Isle of Ely. In 1829 he married Mary Caroline Fox, of Huntingdon, and in 1835 he joined the Church Missionary Society and left England for New Zealand. Upon his arrival at Sydney he was asked to take charge of a church at Liverpool, New South Wales, for a short time, and undertook the work. In 1837 he went on to New Zealand with his two sons; the rest of the family joined him during the same year. Mr. Taylor landed at the Bay of Islands, and went thence to Waimate, where he opened a school for the sons of missionaries and settlers. While stationed there he visited Tauranga and other places and took sketches of anything worthy of note. In 1842, the Rev. I. Mason, who was in charge of the church at Wanganui, was drowned in the Turakina river, and Mr. Taylor was sent by the Society to take his place. He sailed in the “Columbine” schooner, and took with him kauri timber for a mission house. On arriving at Wanganui he found that there was no church in the township, and his first work was to collect funds for one, which was shortly afterwards erected in Victoria Avenue, not far from the site of the present building. In 1859 Mr. Taylor visited England, with a view to publishing a work which he had just completed on New Zealand. He took with him Hoani Wiremu Hipango, a native chief, who was the bearer of a number of native curios as a present to the Queen. Her Majesty graciously granted them an audience, and Mr. Taylor acted as interpreter. They went to Windsor Castle at the time appointed, and the Queen came in very simply dressed in a morning gown, and Prince Albert was present in a shooting jacket. The Queen and Prince asked the chief a great many questions about his country, and the uses of the different weapons, all of which he answered with quiet dignity. After a long interview, the royal couple retired, and Hipango, turning to Mr. Taylor, asked him when the Queen was coming. On learning that it was the Queen who had just retired, he was horrified, and said he had intended to throw himself on the ground before the Queen, and kiss her feet. This friendly chief was afterwards killed by the Hauhaus, while defending the town of Wanganui against them. After his return to New Zealand Hipango was fond of telling all that had happened at his interview with the Queen. Her Majesty, he said, was very curious to know how a Maori chief used his mere or greenstone weapon of war, and, using Mr Taylor as the lay figure, Hipango showed her how a chief executed a rebellious tribesman, by seizing him by the hair with one hand and forcibly thrusting the front end of the mere into his head with the other. The demonstration was doubtless very dramatic, for Hipango used to state that the Queen started back with a little cry and exclaimed, “Oh, dear me!” The Prince Consort expressed surprise that the mere was used with a kind of push instead of with a downward stroke as with a tomahawk, and questioned To Hipango further on this point, finally remarking that it was evident the Maoris were well acquainted with the soft spots in the human head. In 1866 Mr. Taylor paid a second visit to England, to publish another work, and his son, the Rev. Basil K. Taylor, M.A., was appointed to his charge. After his return to New Zealand Mr. Taylor's health failed, and he died in the year 1873. His widow survived him many years, and died at the advanced age of eighty-three. She was much beloved by all the natives, and a great tangi was held at her grave by 400 or 500 of them. A son and daughter of Mr. Taylor's are now (June, 1901) residing in the suburbs of Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Clarke, Henry Tacy,
              Retired Civil Servant, Waimate North. Mr. Clarke was born at Kerikeri, Bay of Islands, in 1825 and is a son of the late Mr. George Clarke, of Waimate. He was educated at the mission school and completed his studies at King's School, Parramatta, near Sydney. In New Zealand he first began life as a farmer, and later entered the service of the Government in which he remained till 1879. After having filled several responsible appointments, he accompanied the troops as native interpreter to the attack on Ohaeawai pa on the 1st of July. 1845, where he received a gun-shot wound. Mr. Clarke was interpreter for the old Native Land Commission and afterwards a clerk in the Native Department, and was subsequently engaged with the troops. In 1860 he was appointed Resident Magistrate at Tauranga and Civil Commissioner in 1873; was afterwards transferred to Wellington in 1874, when he was promoted to be Under-Secretary of the Native Department. He was next appointed a Judge of the Native Lanus Court, and successfully conducted a special commission to adjust the land claims of the Rotorua natives. Mr. Clarke was for several years a member of the Bay of Islands County Council from which he retired in 1879 and settled down peaceably at his old home in Waimate. His farm of 450 acres is in a state of excellent cultivation, carrying a fine flock of Lincolns and a herd of Shorthorns and Hereford cattle, with which he has been very successful as an exhibitor at the local shows.
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The Rev. Richard Taylor,
              M.A., was born in the year 1805 at Letwell, in Yorkshire, England. He graduated at Cambridge, and after his ordination was stationed at Coveney, in the Isle of Ely. In 1829 he married Mary Caroline Fox, of Huntingdon, and in 1835 he joined the Church Missionary Society and left England for New Zealand. Upon his arrival at Sydney he was asked to take charge of a church at Liverpool, New South Wales, for a short time, and undertook the work. In 1837 he went on to New Zealand with his two sons; the rest of the family joined him during the same year. Mr. Taylor landed at the Bay of Islands, and went thence to Waimate, where he opened a school for the sons of missionaries and settlers. While stationed there he visited Tauranga and other places and took sketches of anything worthy of note. In 1842, the Rev. I. Mason, who was in charge of the church at Wanganui, was drowned in the Turakina river, and Mr. Taylor was sent by the Society to take his place. He sailed in the “Columbine” schooner, and took with him kauri timber for a mission house. On arriving at Wanganui he found that there was no church in the township, and his first work was to collect funds for one, which was shortly afterwards erected in Victoria Avenue, not far from the site of the present building. In 1859 Mr. Taylor visited England, with a view to publishing a work which he had just completed on New Zealand. He took with him Hoani Wiremu Hipango, a native chief, who was the bearer of a number of native curios as a present to the Queen. Her Majesty graciously granted them an audience, and Mr. Taylor acted as interpreter. They went to Windsor Castle at the time appointed, and the Queen came in very simply dressed in a morning gown, and Prince Albert was present in a shooting jacket. The Queen and Prince asked the chief a great many questions about his country, and the uses of the different weapons, all of which he answered with quiet dignity. After a long interview, the royal couple retired, and Hipango, turning to Mr. Taylor, asked him when the Queen was coming. On learning that it was the Queen who had just retired, he was horrified, and said he had intended to throw himself on the ground before the Queen, and kiss her feet. This friendly chief was afterwards killed by the Hauhaus, while defending the town of Wanganui against them. After his return to New Zealand Hipango was fond of telling all that had happened at his interview with the Queen. Her Majesty, he said, was very curious to know how a Maori chief used his mere or greenstone weapon of war, and, using Mr Taylor as the lay figure, Hipango showed her how a chief executed a rebellious tribesman, by seizing him by the hair with one hand and forcibly thrusting the front end of the mere into his head with the other. The demonstration was doubtless very dramatic, for Hipango used to state that the Queen started back with a little cry and exclaimed, “Oh, dear me!” The Prince Consort expressed surprise that the mere was used with a kind of push instead of with a downward stroke as with a tomahawk, and questioned To Hipango further on this point, finally remarking that it was evident the Maoris were well acquainted with the soft spots in the human head. In 1866 Mr. Taylor paid a second visit to England, to publish another work, and his son, the Rev. Basil K. Taylor, M.A., was appointed to his charge. After his return to New Zealand Mr. Taylor's health failed, and he died in the year 1873. His widow survived him many years, and died at the advanced age of eighty-three. She was much beloved by all the natives, and a great tangi was held at her grave by 400 or 500 of them. A son and daughter of Mr. Taylor's are now (June, 1901) residing in the suburbs of Auckland.
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Clarke, Henry Tacy,
              Retired Civil Servant, Waimate North. Mr. Clarke was born at Kerikeri, Bay of Islands, in 1825 and is a son of the late Mr. George Clarke, of Waimate. He was educated at the mission school and completed his studies at King's School, Parramatta, near Sydney. In New Zealand he first began life as a farmer, and later entered the service of the Government in which he remained till 1879. After having filled several responsible appointments, he accompanied the troops as native interpreter to the attack on Ohaeawai pa on the 1st of July. 1845, where he received a gun-shot wound. Mr. Clarke was interpreter for the old Native Land Commission and afterwards a clerk in the Native Department, and was subsequently engaged with the troops. In 1860 he was appointed Resident Magistrate at Tauranga and Civil Commissioner in 1873; was afterwards transferred to Wellington in 1874, when he was promoted to be Under-Secretary of the Native Department. He was next appointed a Judge of the Native Lanus Court, and successfully conducted a special commission to adjust the land claims of the Rotorua natives. Mr. Clarke was for several years a member of the Bay of Islands County Council from which he retired in 1879 and settled down peaceably at his old home in Waimate. His farm of 450 acres is in a state of excellent cultivation, carrying a fine flock of Lincolns and a herd of Shorthorns and Hereford cattle, with which he has been very successful as an exhibitor at the local shows.
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Kaikohe
              
              is situated in the Bay of Islands County and on the coach road from Kawakawa to Taheke (Hokianga). The journey is a very interesting one, as the traveller passes through Pakaraka and Ohaeawai en route, and, besides, Kaikohe itself is one of the finest settlements in the north of Auckland. The land is first class, and consists in beautiful level country to the extent of about 100,000 acres, but its being locked up by the natives is a bar to the progress of one of the finest inland towns in New Zealand. Kaikohe is about 135 miles from Auckland. It has a telephone office and mails twice a week, a European school, a native school, and a first-class hotel. It is surrounded by gum fields, and the gum industry is its principal trade. The population consists of about 100 whites and 300 Maoris.
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                The Kaikohe Post Office
              
              receives a mail every Tuesday and Saturday from Auckland, and closes a return mail for that city every Thursday and Saturday evening. It has a telephone service and a savings bank department.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Edward Routh Coxhead,
              Post-master and Telegraphist, was born in Chard, Somerset, England, in 1867, and is the son of Mr. W. R. Coxhead, now of Hokianga. He was educated at the Devon county school, with a view to following the banking profession, and joined the Somerset Bank, in which he served for two years. In the year 1886, the family emigrated to Auckland, and settled in Rangiahua, where they have resided ever since. In 1894 Mr. E. R. Coxhead joined the telegraph service, and has been stationed at various places. In March, 1899, he took charge of the Kaikohe office.

          

          

            
            


              

                Mrs W. H. Wallis
              
              took charge as Postmistress at Kaikohe when the office was first opened, and occupied the position for a number of years.
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Purdy, James,
             
 Farrier and General Blacksmith, Kaikohe. Established in 1889. Mr. Purdy's connection is a wide one, his trade for the greater part consisting of the manufacture of agricultural implements and vehicles of every description. He was born in Morpeth, Northumberland, in 1829, and followed his trade from his earliest days, working at Earsden, near Morpeth, for seven
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years and for some time as a journeyman Mr. Purdy came to Victoria per ship “Eagle” in 1856 at the time of the gold discoveries and worked at Ballarat, Bendigo, and Black Forest. After eleven years' experience in Australia. Mr. Purdy came to New Zealand in 1867 and tried his luck on the Thames. Giving up gold-mining he proceeded to Kawakawa as engineer for the coal company. Mr. Purdy next spent two years at sawmilling in the Hokianga district, then returned to Kawakawa to take up his former occupation with the coal company. After other changes he finally established himself at Kaikohe. Mr. Purdy takes no part in public affairs. He is married and has two daughters and two sons.

          

          

            
            


              

Guerin, Thomas,
              Saddler and Harness Maker, Kaikohe, Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. This business, which had been established in 1877, was taken over by Mr. Guerin in 1884. The premises have a floor space of 400 square feet where the manufacture of saddlery and harness of every description is carried on. Mr. Guerin makes a specialty of horse-rugs with which he does a very good business. He was born in Sydney in 1865 and learned his trade from his father, the late Mr. John Guerin, a well-known saddler, came to Auckland in 1881, and before establishing himself at Kaikohe was for twelve months with Mr. Hogan. Mr. Guerin gives his ready assistance to all athletic, sporting, and theatrical movements. He is married to a daughter of Mr. C. Alderton, of Remuera, and has one son and two daughters.
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Dickeson, G. F.,
              Gum Buyer, Wool Broker and General Merchant, Kaikohe, Mr. Dickeson's premises rank amongst the largest and most commodious in the Far North. The general store has a frontage of 40 feet, and is stocked with everything required in a country business, down to patent medicines. There are also, in addition to the main building, large gum-sorting and storing premises, fitted for doing a large trade in the staple article of the north. Close by there is a spacious hall, which Mr. Dickeson lets for dancing, theatrical performances, and public gatherings. Mr. Dickeson is the principal stock auctioneer of the north, and holds monthly sales on the last Thursday of each month, at Ohaeawai.
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Edwards, Alfred William,
              General Storekeeper and Gum Buyer, Kaikohe. Branch stores at Rakautoa and Whate-whateanga. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. The business was established by Mr. C. E. Smith in 1885 and taken over in 1888 by Mr. Edwards, who has since extended its operations and opened two branch stores. He keeps several packhorses, besides two bullock-teams employed in carrying provisions to the gumfields. Mr. Edwards is a capital man of business and has made himself thoroughly popular throughout the district. He was born in London in 1853, and followed the trade of a house furnishing salesman for ten years in the City and on the Edgware Road. He landed in Australia per ship “Lusitania” in 1880 and crossed over to Auckland, where he started as a grocer in Newton Road and afterwards at Newmarket. Mr. Edwards settled at Kaikohe in 1888, when he took over his present business, and, later on, he acquired that of Mr. G. W. S. Patterson. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Charles Alderton, of Remuera, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Mr. Arthur Holyoake Morrison,
              Accountant to Mr. A. W. Edwards, was born in Brooklyn, New York, in 1855, and is a son of the late Mr. William Morrison, merchant, of New York. At the age of seventeen he went to India, where he followed mercantile pursuits. Later, he was for six years in the employment of Messrs. J. T. Simes and Co., of Coleman Street, London, an old-established firm of colonial wool brokers. At the dissolution of their partnership, Mr. Morrison came out to New Zealand, landing at Auckland per ship “Dorie” in 1886. After various occupations he finally took up his present employment.



Mr. Morrison takes no part in local affairs.
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Wright, Albert,
              General Storekeeper and Gum Buyer, Kaikohe. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland. Mr. Wright established his business in 1895. His shop has a frontage of twenty-four feet, and though of unpretentious aspect a good steady business is carried on therein. Mr. Wright has energetically worked up a capital trade in gum and general supplies of stores to the fields. He was born in Suffolk, England, in 1863 and followed farming pursuits there during his younger days. Arriving in Auckland per ship “Carnatic” in 1874, he came to the Bay of Islands and entered the employ of Messrs. Goffe and Co., remaining at Waaitangi Falls for three years. He was subsequently transferred to Kaikohe for five years, when he established the present business on his own account. Mr. Wright has reaped the reward of his perseverance and his fine home is among the best to be found in Kaikohe. He is married to the eldest granddaughter of Mr. H. T. Kemp, of Kerikeri, and formerly Civil Commissioner of Auckland.
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Kaikohe
              
              is situated in the Bay of Islands County and on the coach road from Kawakawa to Taheke (Hokianga). The journey is a very interesting one, as the traveller passes through Pakaraka and Ohaeawai en route, and, besides, Kaikohe itself is one of the finest settlements in the north of Auckland. The land is first class, and consists in beautiful level country to the extent of about 100,000 acres, but its being locked up by the natives is a bar to the progress of one of the finest inland towns in New Zealand. Kaikohe is about 135 miles from Auckland. It has a telephone office and mails twice a week, a European school, a native school, and a first-class hotel. It is surrounded by gum fields, and the gum industry is its principal trade. The population consists of about 100 whites and 300 Maoris.
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                The Kaikohe Post Office
              
              receives a mail every Tuesday and Saturday from Auckland, and closes a return mail for that city every Thursday and Saturday evening. It has a telephone service and a savings bank department.
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Mr. Edward Routh Coxhead,
              Post-master and Telegraphist, was born in Chard, Somerset, England, in 1867, and is the son of Mr. W. R. Coxhead, now of Hokianga. He was educated at the Devon county school, with a view to following the banking profession, and joined the Somerset Bank, in which he served for two years. In the year 1886, the family emigrated to Auckland, and settled in Rangiahua, where they have resided ever since. In 1894 Mr. E. R. Coxhead joined the telegraph service, and has been stationed at various places. In March, 1899, he took charge of the Kaikohe office.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mrs W. H. Wallis



            
            


              

                Mrs W. H. Wallis
              
              took charge as Postmistress at Kaikohe when the office was first opened, and occupied the position for a number of years.
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Purdy, James,
             
 Farrier and General Blacksmith, Kaikohe. Established in 1889. Mr. Purdy's connection is a wide one, his trade for the greater part consisting of the manufacture of agricultural implements and vehicles of every description. He was born in Morpeth, Northumberland, in 1829, and followed his trade from his earliest days, working at Earsden, near Morpeth, for seven
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years and for some time as a journeyman Mr. Purdy came to Victoria per ship “Eagle” in 1856 at the time of the gold discoveries and worked at Ballarat, Bendigo, and Black Forest. After eleven years' experience in Australia. Mr. Purdy came to New Zealand in 1867 and tried his luck on the Thames. Giving up gold-mining he proceeded to Kawakawa as engineer for the coal company. Mr. Purdy next spent two years at sawmilling in the Hokianga district, then returned to Kawakawa to take up his former occupation with the coal company. After other changes he finally established himself at Kaikohe. Mr. Purdy takes no part in public affairs. He is married and has two daughters and two sons.
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Guerin, Thomas,
              Saddler and Harness Maker, Kaikohe, Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. This business, which had been established in 1877, was taken over by Mr. Guerin in 1884. The premises have a floor space of 400 square feet where the manufacture of saddlery and harness of every description is carried on. Mr. Guerin makes a specialty of horse-rugs with which he does a very good business. He was born in Sydney in 1865 and learned his trade from his father, the late Mr. John Guerin, a well-known saddler, came to Auckland in 1881, and before establishing himself at Kaikohe was for twelve months with Mr. Hogan. Mr. Guerin gives his ready assistance to all athletic, sporting, and theatrical movements. He is married to a daughter of Mr. C. Alderton, of Remuera, and has one son and two daughters.
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Dickeson, G. F.,
              Gum Buyer, Wool Broker and General Merchant, Kaikohe, Mr. Dickeson's premises rank amongst the largest and most commodious in the Far North. The general store has a frontage of 40 feet, and is stocked with everything required in a country business, down to patent medicines. There are also, in addition to the main building, large gum-sorting and storing premises, fitted for doing a large trade in the staple article of the north. Close by there is a spacious hall, which Mr. Dickeson lets for dancing, theatrical performances, and public gatherings. Mr. Dickeson is the principal stock auctioneer of the north, and holds monthly sales on the last Thursday of each month, at Ohaeawai.
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Edwards, Alfred William,
              General Storekeeper and Gum Buyer, Kaikohe. Branch stores at Rakautoa and Whate-whateanga. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. The business was established by Mr. C. E. Smith in 1885 and taken over in 1888 by Mr. Edwards, who has since extended its operations and opened two branch stores. He keeps several packhorses, besides two bullock-teams employed in carrying provisions to the gumfields. Mr. Edwards is a capital man of business and has made himself thoroughly popular throughout the district. He was born in London in 1853, and followed the trade of a house furnishing salesman for ten years in the City and on the Edgware Road. He landed in Australia per ship “Lusitania” in 1880 and crossed over to Auckland, where he started as a grocer in Newton Road and afterwards at Newmarket. Mr. Edwards settled at Kaikohe in 1888, when he took over his present business, and, later on, he acquired that of Mr. G. W. S. Patterson. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Charles Alderton, of Remuera, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Mr. Arthur Holyoake Morrison,
              Accountant to Mr. A. W. Edwards, was born in Brooklyn, New York, in 1855, and is a son of the late Mr. William Morrison, merchant, of New York. At the age of seventeen he went to India, where he followed mercantile pursuits. Later, he was for six years in the employment of Messrs. J. T. Simes and Co., of Coleman Street, London, an old-established firm of colonial wool brokers. At the dissolution of their partnership, Mr. Morrison came out to New Zealand, landing at Auckland per ship “Dorie” in 1886. After various occupations he finally took up his present employment.



Mr. Morrison takes no part in local affairs.
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Wright, Albert,
              General Storekeeper and Gum Buyer, Kaikohe. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland. Mr. Wright established his business in 1895. His shop has a frontage of twenty-four feet, and though of unpretentious aspect a good steady business is carried on therein. Mr. Wright has energetically worked up a capital trade in gum and general supplies of stores to the fields. He was born in Suffolk, England, in 1863 and followed farming pursuits there during his younger days. Arriving in Auckland per ship “Carnatic” in 1874, he came to the Bay of Islands and entered the employ of Messrs. Goffe and Co., remaining at Waaitangi Falls for three years. He was subsequently transferred to Kaikohe for five years, when he established the present business on his own account. Mr. Wright has reaped the reward of his perseverance and his fine home is among the best to be found in Kaikohe. He is married to the eldest granddaughter of Mr. H. T. Kemp, of Kerikeri, and formerly Civil Commissioner of Auckland.
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Okaihau,
              which, being interpreted, means a dinner or meal of wind, was first settled under the Homestead Act by special settlers from Canada, North America, in 1864. It is a very pleasant locality, and the land is used chiefly for pastoral purposes. Dairying has hitherto been the mainstay of the district, which should become the centre of a large dairy factory, as there are two fine valleys in its immediate neighbourhood. Okaihau has a post, telegraph and money order office and savings bank, and all are under the charge of Mr. H. S. Robinson, storekeeper. There are two churches, an Anglican and a Wesleyan, and a site has now (May, 1901) been laid off for a Roman Catholic chapel. An interesting circumstance connected with the recent history of Okaihau is that, through the efforts of the Rev. Canon Walsh, the remains of some soldiers who were killed during the Heke war of 1844–45 have been removed from near Lake Omapere and re-interred in the English churchyard, where a neat headstone has been erected to their memory. Okaihau has a public hall, and also a public school, which is under the charge of Mr. Thomas Read. The Waihoa Valley branches off at the entrance to the settlement, and forms part of the parish. The flats are of extra good quality for agricultural purposes, but are mainly in the hands of the Maoris; and the land in the occupation of Europeans is of medium quality, and used for pastoral purposes. It carries grass well, and its adaptability for fruit-growing is proved by the orchards of Messrs James McKenzie, J. White, A. Alexander and R. Blundell. The lower portion of the valley is called Rangiahua, where there is a post and telegraph office in charge of Mr. Ogle, storekeeper, hotelkeeper and bush contractor. The tidal waters of Hokianga reach Rangiahua, where a strongly constructed bridge spans the river and leads to Victoria Valley and the northward.

          

          

            
            


              

Buchanan, Thomas George.
              Mr. Buchanan was born in Russell in 1869, and is a son of the Rev. S. Buchanan. He began life at Russell, where he remained for fourteen years, and was afterwards at Ponsonby, Auckland, for two years, and then at Pukekohe. Removing to Patea, he was in the employment of Messrs J. Donovan and Co. for twelve months, and then, in 1897, he took over the business which had been established at Okaihau, in 1879, by Captain H. C. Burleigh. Mr. Buchanan is well known in football, cricket, and tennis circles.
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Okaihau,
              which, being interpreted, means a dinner or meal of wind, was first settled under the Homestead Act by special settlers from Canada, North America, in 1864. It is a very pleasant locality, and the land is used chiefly for pastoral purposes. Dairying has hitherto been the mainstay of the district, which should become the centre of a large dairy factory, as there are two fine valleys in its immediate neighbourhood. Okaihau has a post, telegraph and money order office and savings bank, and all are under the charge of Mr. H. S. Robinson, storekeeper. There are two churches, an Anglican and a Wesleyan, and a site has now (May, 1901) been laid off for a Roman Catholic chapel. An interesting circumstance connected with the recent history of Okaihau is that, through the efforts of the Rev. Canon Walsh, the remains of some soldiers who were killed during the Heke war of 1844–45 have been removed from near Lake Omapere and re-interred in the English churchyard, where a neat headstone has been erected to their memory. Okaihau has a public hall, and also a public school, which is under the charge of Mr. Thomas Read. The Waihoa Valley branches off at the entrance to the settlement, and forms part of the parish. The flats are of extra good quality for agricultural purposes, but are mainly in the hands of the Maoris; and the land in the occupation of Europeans is of medium quality, and used for pastoral purposes. It carries grass well, and its adaptability for fruit-growing is proved by the orchards of Messrs James McKenzie, J. White, A. Alexander and R. Blundell. The lower portion of the valley is called Rangiahua, where there is a post and telegraph office in charge of Mr. Ogle, storekeeper, hotelkeeper and bush contractor. The tidal waters of Hokianga reach Rangiahua, where a strongly constructed bridge spans the river and leads to Victoria Valley and the northward.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Buchanan, Thomas George



            
            


              

Buchanan, Thomas George.
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Utakura Valley,
              which is 184 miles from Auckland, is situated to the west of Okaihau on the main Kawakawa and Horeke road. As far back as 1883 a block of land was opened in the valley for settlement on the system of deferred payments. To reach the valley three-quarters of a mile of steep hill has to be descended—so steep that, in some places, the descent is one foot in seven; but a new grade, now (early in 1901) in course of formation, will afford an outlet to the westward of Okaihau. The valley contains good agricultural and pastoral land, of fine sandstone formation, and has been proved to be well adapted to the growth of grapes and sub-tropical fruits. Utakura has a post office and a weekly mail, and there is a telegraph office at Okaihau, four miles away. A general store is kept by Mr. Joseph Gower. There is a public hall, which was built by the settlers for school purposes. Much of the land is still in the possession of the natives, who make a living by growing kumeras and corn—two crops that return an extra good profit.

          

          

            
            


              

Gower, Joseph,
              Farmer and Storekeeper, Utakura. Mr. Gower was born in Kent, England, in 1840. He was brought up to a mercantile life, and was for four years in a large London house. In 1863 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Telegraph,” and landed at Auckland. The Waikato war was then on foot, and martial law being in force. Mr. Gower was sworn into the militia, and served through the Waikato and Taranaki campaigns. On the forces being disbanded Mr. Gower went to farm on military land at Kihikihi. A roving disposition and some reverses of fortune led him ere long to enter the Armed Constabulary and he was present at Ngutu-o-te-Manu, where Major Von Temp-sky, two other officers, and several comrades were killed. After that campaign Mr. Gower went gold seeking, and followed the life with varying success for seventeen years, during which he worked at the Thames and in Otago and Queensland. In 1883 he bought 233 acres at Utakura. At that time the greater part of the land was covered with bush, but after the bush was felled and the land cleared and sown in mixed grasses, it proved to be one of the richest pastoral farms in the district. Mr. Gower thinks the success of his farm is largely due to the fact that he left several clumps of bush standing for shelter. Mr. Gower has always taken a prominent part in all local projects connected with the good, of the district in which he has his home.
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Gower, Joseph,
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Kerikeri, 
              Bay of Islands, is a small seaport at the head of a tidal river, ten miles from Waimate North and sixteen miles from Kaeo. Steamers drawing twelve and fourteen feet of water can berth at the wharf at low tide. The oldest wooden building in New Zealand, erected in 1815, is at Kerikeri, and also the oldest stone building in the colony. This was erected by the Church Missionary Society of England in 1833, and was used originally by the missionaries as a store depot. It was strongly built to resist any hostile attack from natives, and it was there that Bishop Selwyn had a fine library. Before Heke's war there was a fairly large number of settlers in the locality, but Kerikeri is now sparsely populated, and the inhabitants gain a livelihood by fishing and gum-digging. Illustrations of both the old buildings spoken of are given on page 63 of this volume.

          

          

            
            


              

Black, John,
              General Storekeeper and Gum Buyer, Kerikeri. It was in 1888 that Mr. Black took over his present business (originally established in 1840 by his predecessor) which is conducted in a massive three-storey stone building erected in 1833 by the Church Missionary Society, and was used by the Rev. Mr. Marsden and the early missionaries. It is said to be the oldest stone building in New Zealand, and there is an interesting association attached to it in the room occupied by Bishop Selwyn as a study and library, the book shelves being still in an excellent state of preservation. The building was constructed to withstand a siege, the massive rafters, 14 x 6 feet,



heart of kauri, together with the rest of the woodwork being even now quite sound. Mr. Black uses part of the basement for storage purposes, the other half forming his general store, and is completely stocked with merchandise. Gum sorting operations are conducted on the upper floor. Mr. Black does a good steady business and has an extensive connection throughout the district. He was born in Louisiana, United States, in 1851. In his early life he engaged in various occupations such as gold-mining, sugar-planting, pearl-fishing, etc., and came to New Zealand per “Meg Merrilies,” landing at Auckland in 1878. Proceeding later to the Bay of Islands, Mr. Black commenced storekeeping in Towai, but sold out his interest there to Mr. R. Marshall in 1890 and removed to Kerikeri, where he had already established his business two years previously.

          

          

            
            


              

Hearn, William,
              General Storekeeper, Kerikeri. Auckland agents, Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co. Mr. Hearn established this business in 1888, since which time it has grown to considerable dimensions. The premises comprise three large buildings one of which is used as a gum store, the second for storing bulk goods, and the third forms the general business store. Mr. Hearn's connection extends for a wide radius and necessitates the employment of a number of carts and pack-horses. He was born in Barnstaple, Devonshire, in 1839, and spent his early life in farming; afterwards, being attracted by the gold discoveries in Victoria, he sailed in the “Star of England” for Melbourne in 1863. Having tried his fortunes for about two years in Gippsland, Mr. Hearn crossed to New Zealand and spent some years on the West Coast. He was for nearly fourteen years on the Thames with indifferent luck; then moved north to the Bay of Islands, where he constructed the Kawakawa railway tunnel. He returned to the Thames, but again made his way back to the Bay and engaged in the gum industry at Kerikeri.
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Hearn, William,
              General Storekeeper, Kerikeri. Auckland agents, Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co. Mr. Hearn established this business in 1888, since which time it has grown to considerable dimensions. The premises comprise three large buildings one of which is used as a gum store, the second for storing bulk goods, and the third forms the general business store. Mr. Hearn's connection extends for a wide radius and necessitates the employment of a number of carts and pack-horses. He was born in Barnstaple, Devonshire, in 1839, and spent his early life in farming; afterwards, being attracted by the gold discoveries in Victoria, he sailed in the “Star of England” for Melbourne in 1863. Having tried his fortunes for about two years in Gippsland, Mr. Hearn crossed to New Zealand and spent some years on the West Coast. He was for nearly fourteen years on the Thames with indifferent luck; then moved north to the Bay of Islands, where he constructed the Kawakawa railway tunnel. He returned to the Thames, but again made his way back to the Bay and engaged in the gum industry at Kerikeri.
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Whangaroa.

          

            
            

              

                
Whangaroa
              
             
 is the seaport of the county bearing the same name. It is about 150 miles north of Auckland, and is one of those picturesque harbours rarely to be met with, and probably has no equal in the whole of the colonies, except Sydney, as for safety it is unsurpassed, for beauty it cannot be exceeded, and it has room to hold the whole of the British navy. Its history is a mixture of many sad and pleasing reminiscences. It was here the crew of the ill-fated ship “Boyd” was massacred in 1809, and the Rev. Samuel Marsden established his first mission at Whangaroa in 1814. Amongst the picturesque objects connected with the harbour there is the rocky prominence called the Duke of Wellington's profile, the majestic solid granite dome known as St. Paul's, and another, less conspicuous, named the St. Peter's, of Whangaroa. All round the harbour there are many remarkable rocks, and very many sequestered nooks where the picnicker and the tourist can enjoy the serene and pleasant prospects of the place. Whangaroa has a population of about 170, all apparently comfortable and happy. There are two large sawmills, which employ a goodly number of men. Lane and Brown's shipyard, the largest in the colony, is at Whangaroa, and in March, 1901, the firm was building an auxiliary oil-engine schooner for the New Zealand Government. There are two public schools, four stores, three places of worship, and also many nice private dwellings. The County Council Chambers are situated in the township, and the Council meets on the last Monday in every month. Anyone wishing a pleasant trip and a week's rest can have it assured by leaving Auckland by the s.s. “Clansman,” which
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steams from Auckland on every Monday at 7 p.m., and arrives in Whangaroa on Tuesday at 4 p.m. Mr. Gothard, the hotelkeeper, provides an excellent table, and lays himself out to make tourists feel at home.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Whangaroa County
              
              was formerly a riding of Mongonui County and is one of the smallest counties in New Zealand. It is bounded on the north by Mongonui County, on the south and west by Hokianga, and on the east by the Bay of Islands. There are 260 ratepayers, with 450 ratable properties valued at £50,634, on which a rate of 1d in the £ is levied; unoccupied Crown and native lands are valued at £2,797. The annual income is about £450, to which Government grants are added for special works from time to time. The control of the public wharf is vested in the Council, and the dues received are expended in keeping the wharf and goods shed in repair.

          

          

            
            


              
Whangaroa County Council.
              Members for 1901: Mr Joseph Hare, junior, chairman; Messrs James Christie, T. M. Lane, John G. Shepherd, T. G. Hayes, C. Nisbet, and W. H. Saies; with Mr. John Begg as clerk and treasurer.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Begg,
              County Clerk, has resided in the district since 1863. He landed in Auckland by the ship “Nimroud” in 1863, and after a short stay there, went to Whangaroa. He has held the position of clerk to the County Council since its inception in 1896.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Whangaroa Post And Telegraph Office
              
              is situated 168 miles north of Auckland and six miles from Kaeo. The postmaster is also registrar of births, deaths, and marriages, agent for the New Zealand Government Life Insurance Department, and conducts money order and savings bank business. The telegraph office does a fair amount of transmitting work for the Kaeo, Totara and Sales stations with which it is connected by telephone, but the postmaster's residence attached is certainly not in keeping with the times.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Joseph Francis Fabian,
              Postmaster at Whangaroa, was appointed to his present position in April, 1895. He was born in Jersey in 1843, and followed the sea from the early age of twelve, being engaged in trading to England, France, Spain, Portugal, America, and Russia. He then joined one of the Royal Mall Company's steamers running to the West Indies. After trading to India, China, and Australia in Dunbar's employ and rising to third officer when only eighteen, he went to San Francisco in 1862 and in the following year came to New Zealand viã Australia. Mr. Fabian spent several years in the coastal trade, during which time he was captain of the “Amateur” and mate on the “Falcon” and “Stormbird,” but he gave up seafaring life in 1870 and in the same year joined the Post and Telegraph Department. He was appointed to the Castle Point station in 1874, and was afterwards in charge at Tenui and Takaka (Nelson). On leaving the last-named place, Mr. Fabian was presented by the residents with an illuminated address. He has been associated with the Masonic fraternity for some years and has given his assistance to Sunday school and Church work, wherever he has resided.
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Campbell, Robert,
              Licensed and Authorized Surveyor, Whangaroa. Mr. Campbell was born in Canada West, below Toronto, and came to Melbourne in the ship “Crystal Palace” in 1855, and thence to Auckland in the schooner “Grafton.” The family had an interest in 1500 acres of land in Oruru Valley, near Mongonui North. After remaining on the land for some years, Mr. Campbell joined Mr. Richardson, Government surveyor, and remained with him about two years, afterwards going to Australia. On his return he spent three years on the Thames goldfields, then came back to Mongonui and joined his brother Mr. S. Campbell, a Government surveyor, with whom he remained about four years, since which time he has been surveying on his own account.
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Shepherd John Goodwin,
              Native Interpreter, Whangaroa. Mr. Shepherd was born at Kirikiri, Bay of Islands, in 1838, and is a son of the late Rev. James Shepherd, one of the early missionaries who landed in 1819. Mr. Shepherd was educated at Wesley College, Auckland. He went to Australia in 1858 and was employed with his brother in an orange orchard at Ryde, on the Parramatta river. Returning to New Zealand two years later, Mr. Shepherd entered upon the work of a settler at Inumia, near Kaeo, till the death of his father in 1881, and after the death of his brother, Mr. S. E. Shepherd in 1882, he took over the old homestead and its hundred acres of land, to which he has added by purchase, and most of which he has cleared and grassed and on which is a large dwelling partly erected by his father in 1838. In public affairs he has always taken a leading part, having been a member of Whangaroa County Council since 1890, and for many years a member of the old Kaeo Roard Board. Mr. Shepherd was also one of the first members of the Mongonui County Council. He is a Past Master in Freemasonry, and the portrait produced herewith shows Mr. Shepherd in the regalia of a senior warden.
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                The Kauri Timber Company's Sawmills
              
              at Whangaroa (Mr. Robert Pengelly, manager) cover an area of three acres on the foreshore which is leased from the Government. The mills were originally owned by Messrs. Wigmore and Co. and were afterwards purchased by the Whangaroa Sawmills Company, but when the Kauri Timber Company came into existence the property was taken over by it with others. The main building has a floor space of nearly 14,000 square feet, whilst there is a large drying-shed with 3000 square feet of superficial space, besides offices, blacksmith's shop and other buildings. The machinery includes a forty-five horse-power engine with a Cornish boiler, vertical saw, travelling circle bench saws, drag bench, small benches for box-making, and cut and rip saws. Seventeen men are continually employed and the monthly output averages 220,000 feet of sawn timber. The wharfage and shipping accommodation cannot be excelled, there being seventeen feet of water at low tide. The company's “booms” at the months of the Kaeo and Pupuke river are very massive, and the logs are brought down from the bush at the periodical “floods”; they are then formed into rafts containing from 100 to 200 logs and towed to the mill by the sturdy steam paddle-boat “Yankee Doodle.” This steamer acts also as a tug for towing vessels in and out of the harbour.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Thwaytes Bramley,
              Bush Manager for the Kauri Timber Company's Whangaroa and Mongonui branches, residing at Totara North, was born in Whangaroa in 1862, his father being Mr. William Bramley, now a resident of Kaeo. From his youth Mr. Bramley has been familiar with the timber trade and was appointed to his present position in 1895. He has always taken part in matters affecting the welfare of the district, is a Freemason and a member of the Oddfellows (Star of Auckland lodge).
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Mr. Curtis Moore,
              formerly manager of the Kauri Timber Company's saw mills at Whangaroa, was born in New Hampshire in 1839, and throughout his life has been associated with the timber industry. At an early age he was in charge of a mill in the United States turning out 40,000 feet of sawn timber per day. Leaving America in 1862, Mr. Moore was wrecked on Baker's Island and was brought on to New Zealand in an American whaler, and since that time he has spent forty years in connection with kauri timber. After being a while in Auckland he started a mill in the Kaipara district and in 1864 took charge of Mr. McLeod's mill at Helensville for three years. Mr. Moore was engaged in mill work on the Thames goldfields for nearly four years, and after being at the Shortland Sawmills for eleven years, he returned to Helensville and again took charge of what are now the Helensville Timber Company's Mills. Five years later he returned to the Shortland Sawmills, remained in charge of them after the Kauri Timber Company took them over, and was some time after removed to Whangaroa. Mr. Moore had the misfortune to lose three of his fingers by an accident at the Manukau in 1863, and has met with other painful accidents. Public affairs have always found in him a sincere worker. He has been associated with road boards and school committees, was instrumental in establishing a lodge of the I.O.O.F. at Helensville and has been a Mason for fifteen years. Mr. Moore was for a time chairman of the Whangaroa School Commissioners, and whilst at the Thames he was superintendent of the local fire brigade for several years. Some time ago he was transferred from the management of the Kauri Timber Company's Whangaroa mills to that of their mills at Aratapu.
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Shepherd, Henry George,
              Farmer, “Tauranga” (six miles distant from Whangaroa). Mr. Shepherd has 900 acres of freehold property, besides 500 acres which he leases from the Natives. The land is for the greater part broken, but there are about 200 acres of level alluvial country, and 1200 sheep and 130 head of cattle are depastured on the property. About 500 acres have been cleared of the titri and fern which are so frequently a source of annoyance to the farmer in the district, and the land so cleared has yielded as much as forty bushels of wheat to the acre. Mr. Shepherd was born at Waitangi, Whangaroa, in 1843, and is a son of the late Mr. James Shepherd, and has been all his lifetime in the district. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Hooker, of Auckland, and has a family of six sons, all of whom have helped in no small degree to make the farm a decided success. A fine ten-roomed house has been erected, with complete outbuildings. Mr. Shepherd was for a time a member of the Whangaroa County Council.
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steams from Auckland on every Monday at 7 p.m., and arrives in Whangaroa on Tuesday at 4 p.m. Mr. Gothard, the hotelkeeper, provides an excellent table, and lays himself out to make tourists feel at home.
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Whangaroa County
              
              was formerly a riding of Mongonui County and is one of the smallest counties in New Zealand. It is bounded on the north by Mongonui County, on the south and west by Hokianga, and on the east by the Bay of Islands. There are 260 ratepayers, with 450 ratable properties valued at £50,634, on which a rate of 1d in the £ is levied; unoccupied Crown and native lands are valued at £2,797. The annual income is about £450, to which Government grants are added for special works from time to time. The control of the public wharf is vested in the Council, and the dues received are expended in keeping the wharf and goods shed in repair.
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Whangaroa County Council.
              Members for 1901: Mr Joseph Hare, junior, chairman; Messrs James Christie, T. M. Lane, John G. Shepherd, T. G. Hayes, C. Nisbet, and W. H. Saies; with Mr. John Begg as clerk and treasurer.
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Mr. John Begg,
              County Clerk, has resided in the district since 1863. He landed in Auckland by the ship “Nimroud” in 1863, and after a short stay there, went to Whangaroa. He has held the position of clerk to the County Council since its inception in 1896.
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                The Whangaroa Post And Telegraph Office
              
              is situated 168 miles north of Auckland and six miles from Kaeo. The postmaster is also registrar of births, deaths, and marriages, agent for the New Zealand Government Life Insurance Department, and conducts money order and savings bank business. The telegraph office does a fair amount of transmitting work for the Kaeo, Totara and Sales stations with which it is connected by telephone, but the postmaster's residence attached is certainly not in keeping with the times.
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Mr. Joseph Francis Fabian,
              Postmaster at Whangaroa, was appointed to his present position in April, 1895. He was born in Jersey in 1843, and followed the sea from the early age of twelve, being engaged in trading to England, France, Spain, Portugal, America, and Russia. He then joined one of the Royal Mall Company's steamers running to the West Indies. After trading to India, China, and Australia in Dunbar's employ and rising to third officer when only eighteen, he went to San Francisco in 1862 and in the following year came to New Zealand viã Australia. Mr. Fabian spent several years in the coastal trade, during which time he was captain of the “Amateur” and mate on the “Falcon” and “Stormbird,” but he gave up seafaring life in 1870 and in the same year joined the Post and Telegraph Department. He was appointed to the Castle Point station in 1874, and was afterwards in charge at Tenui and Takaka (Nelson). On leaving the last-named place, Mr. Fabian was presented by the residents with an illuminated address. He has been associated with the Masonic fraternity for some years and has given his assistance to Sunday school and Church work, wherever he has resided.
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Campbell, Robert,
              Licensed and Authorized Surveyor, Whangaroa. Mr. Campbell was born in Canada West, below Toronto, and came to Melbourne in the ship “Crystal Palace” in 1855, and thence to Auckland in the schooner “Grafton.” The family had an interest in 1500 acres of land in Oruru Valley, near Mongonui North. After remaining on the land for some years, Mr. Campbell joined Mr. Richardson, Government surveyor, and remained with him about two years, afterwards going to Australia. On his return he spent three years on the Thames goldfields, then came back to Mongonui and joined his brother Mr. S. Campbell, a Government surveyor, with whom he remained about four years, since which time he has been surveying on his own account.
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Shepherd John Goodwin,
              Native Interpreter, Whangaroa. Mr. Shepherd was born at Kirikiri, Bay of Islands, in 1838, and is a son of the late Rev. James Shepherd, one of the early missionaries who landed in 1819. Mr. Shepherd was educated at Wesley College, Auckland. He went to Australia in 1858 and was employed with his brother in an orange orchard at Ryde, on the Parramatta river. Returning to New Zealand two years later, Mr. Shepherd entered upon the work of a settler at Inumia, near Kaeo, till the death of his father in 1881, and after the death of his brother, Mr. S. E. Shepherd in 1882, he took over the old homestead and its hundred acres of land, to which he has added by purchase, and most of which he has cleared and grassed and on which is a large dwelling partly erected by his father in 1838. In public affairs he has always taken a leading part, having been a member of Whangaroa County Council since 1890, and for many years a member of the old Kaeo Roard Board. Mr. Shepherd was also one of the first members of the Mongonui County Council. He is a Past Master in Freemasonry, and the portrait produced herewith shows Mr. Shepherd in the regalia of a senior warden.
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                The Kauri Timber Company's Sawmills
              
              at Whangaroa (Mr. Robert Pengelly, manager) cover an area of three acres on the foreshore which is leased from the Government. The mills were originally owned by Messrs. Wigmore and Co. and were afterwards purchased by the Whangaroa Sawmills Company, but when the Kauri Timber Company came into existence the property was taken over by it with others. The main building has a floor space of nearly 14,000 square feet, whilst there is a large drying-shed with 3000 square feet of superficial space, besides offices, blacksmith's shop and other buildings. The machinery includes a forty-five horse-power engine with a Cornish boiler, vertical saw, travelling circle bench saws, drag bench, small benches for box-making, and cut and rip saws. Seventeen men are continually employed and the monthly output averages 220,000 feet of sawn timber. The wharfage and shipping accommodation cannot be excelled, there being seventeen feet of water at low tide. The company's “booms” at the months of the Kaeo and Pupuke river are very massive, and the logs are brought down from the bush at the periodical “floods”; they are then formed into rafts containing from 100 to 200 logs and towed to the mill by the sturdy steam paddle-boat “Yankee Doodle.” This steamer acts also as a tug for towing vessels in and out of the harbour.
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Mr. James Thwaytes Bramley,
              Bush Manager for the Kauri Timber Company's Whangaroa and Mongonui branches, residing at Totara North, was born in Whangaroa in 1862, his father being Mr. William Bramley, now a resident of Kaeo. From his youth Mr. Bramley has been familiar with the timber trade and was appointed to his present position in 1895. He has always taken part in matters affecting the welfare of the district, is a Freemason and a member of the Oddfellows (Star of Auckland lodge).
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Mr. Curtis Moore,
              formerly manager of the Kauri Timber Company's saw mills at Whangaroa, was born in New Hampshire in 1839, and throughout his life has been associated with the timber industry. At an early age he was in charge of a mill in the United States turning out 40,000 feet of sawn timber per day. Leaving America in 1862, Mr. Moore was wrecked on Baker's Island and was brought on to New Zealand in an American whaler, and since that time he has spent forty years in connection with kauri timber. After being a while in Auckland he started a mill in the Kaipara district and in 1864 took charge of Mr. McLeod's mill at Helensville for three years. Mr. Moore was engaged in mill work on the Thames goldfields for nearly four years, and after being at the Shortland Sawmills for eleven years, he returned to Helensville and again took charge of what are now the Helensville Timber Company's Mills. Five years later he returned to the Shortland Sawmills, remained in charge of them after the Kauri Timber Company took them over, and was some time after removed to Whangaroa. Mr. Moore had the misfortune to lose three of his fingers by an accident at the Manukau in 1863, and has met with other painful accidents. Public affairs have always found in him a sincere worker. He has been associated with road boards and school committees, was instrumental in establishing a lodge of the I.O.O.F. at Helensville and has been a Mason for fifteen years. Mr. Moore was for a time chairman of the Whangaroa School Commissioners, and whilst at the Thames he was superintendent of the local fire brigade for several years. Some time ago he was transferred from the management of the Kauri Timber Company's Whangaroa mills to that of their mills at Aratapu.
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Shepherd, Henry George,
              Farmer, “Tauranga” (six miles distant from Whangaroa). Mr. Shepherd has 900 acres of freehold property, besides 500 acres which he leases from the Natives. The land is for the greater part broken, but there are about 200 acres of level alluvial country, and 1200 sheep and 130 head of cattle are depastured on the property. About 500 acres have been cleared of the titri and fern which are so frequently a source of annoyance to the farmer in the district, and the land so cleared has yielded as much as forty bushels of wheat to the acre. Mr. Shepherd was born at Waitangi, Whangaroa, in 1843, and is a son of the late Mr. James Shepherd, and has been all his lifetime in the district. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Hooker, of Auckland, and has a family of six sons, all of whom have helped in no small degree to make the farm a decided success. A fine ten-roomed house has been erected, with complete outbuildings. Mr. Shepherd was for a time a member of the Whangaroa County Council.

            

              

[image: Mr. H. G. Shepherd.]

Mr. 
H. G. Shepherd.


              

[image: Horeke, Hokianga.]

Horeke, Hokianga.
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Totara North
              
              is a settlement in Whangaroa County in the neighbourhood of extensive gumfields. It is 169 miles from Auckland, with which it has communication by steamer and a weekly mail service.

          

          

            
            


              
Totara North Public School,
              one of the best situated schools in the province, stands on an eminence overlooking Whangaroa Harbour. It was erected in 1872, and has one class-room with accommodation for about seventy scholars. There are seventy-five on the roll and an excellent average attendance is maintained; the numbers have considerably increased during the last two years and it is probable the school-house will soon need extension. Mr. G. Wilson, the headmaster, is assisted by Miss Bertha Lane and Miss Amy Copland.

          

          

            
            


              

                Molesworth And Saies
              
              (William Henry Saies), Merchants, Gum-buyers, and General Storekeepers, Totara North, Whangaroa. Branches at Te Kao, Parengarenga, Awanui, Taipa, Takakuri, Otongaroa, Kauriputete, Pupuke, Matauri, Ngaire, Omawhapuka, Te Mata, Waieri, and Waihapa. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. This firm have an extensive business which Mr. Saies established in conjunction with the late Mr. Molesworth in 1890 and to which the partners devoted their united energies. Owing to the rapid increase of trade they decided from time to time to open branches on the gumfields as occasion required, and now they have in all fifteen of these establishments carrying full stocks of general merchandise. The conntry operated upon by the firm extends from the Bay of Islands on the south to the extreme north of the island, and from coast to coast. As gum-buyers Messrs. Molesworth and Saies have probably few equals in New Zealand, their purchases averaging over 400 tons annually, or about five per cent, of the total exports from the colony. This at £60 per ton shows an annual turnover in this commodity alone of £24,000. Formerly the firm used to ship direct to London and New York,



but owing to the fluctuations in the Home markets, it was deemed more advantageous to effect a speedy and certain realization in Auckland. They now, therefore, deal with Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co., of that city, to whom they consign the whole of their gum and of whom they speak in high terms. Messrs. Molesworth and Saies hold the gum rights from the Kauri Timber Company for the whole of that company's properties situated in Whangaroa County and throughout the whole of the North; the firm have 700 acres at Pupuke, and some valuable ground at Te Mata. The largest leasehold, consisting of 30,000 acres, is at Te Kao, over which they hold a seven years' right. The stock of merchandise kept on hand by the firm at their headquarters, Totara North, and the several branches, is very large and comprises every class of goods suitable for a rough country business. Over forty hands are kept continually employed, exclusive of the many hundred diggers, whilst twenty pack-horses are used at their various depots for forwarding stores to the depths of the kauri forests, where the gum-digger and bushman live and labour, and find Messrs Molesworth and Saies always willing to give them a helping hand. The late Mr. Molesworth was drowned in Whangaroa Harbour on the 11th of June, 1897. He was a man of sound common sense, an accomplished Maori linguist and one in whom the natives placed great confidence. Mr. Saies is also thoroughly conversant with the Maori language.
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Messrs Molesworth & Saies' premises, Totara North.
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Messrs Molesworth & Saies' Employees.


Wi Ngatau. Robt. Bell, junr. John Sherman. F. Sanderson.
(Accountant.) D. Molesworth.
(Late Partner.) W. Saies.
(Proprietor.) G. Foley.


W. Saies, junr. Geo. Andrews. Thos. Fleming 
(Head Gum Classer). R. Sherman.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. W. H. Saies,
              Sole Proprietor of the business, is a son of the late Mr. Robert Saies, formerly well known in commercial circles in South Wales. He was born in 1848, was privately educated, and began life as a clerk in the offices of Messrs. Clayton, Rooke and Co. Two years later he came to New Zealand per ship “Lancashire Witch,” landing at Auckland in 1865. After a short farming experience he obtained employment in the kauri timber industry, at which he continued for nearly six years, when he undertook the management of Mr. A. T. Knee's general store at Whangaroa. Three years later, when Mr. Knee sold out, Mr. Saies found employment at Totara with the late Mr. D. Sanderson, in whose employment he continued till he joined Mr. Molesworth in 1890. Mr. Saies was for over five years in the Whangaroa County Council, has been chairman of the Totara School Committee, and chairman of the Totara Road Board. He has filled various offices in Freemasonry, being attached to Lodge Zealandia. His favourite pastime is cricket. Mr. Saies married a daughter of Mr. Robert Bell, of Totara, and has one son.
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Mr. W. H. Saies.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Dover Nassau O'Doyer Molesworth,
              J.P., late Senior Partner of the firm of Molesworth and Saies, was born at Porchester,



Southampton, in 1860, and was a son of Dr. T. B. Molesworth, surgeon of H.M.S. “Mersey.” He was educated at King William's College with a view to entering the navy, but owing to defective eyesight he was compelled to abandon that career and came out to New Zealand about the year 1880, in company with his brother. He was for two or three years in the Waikato district and afterwards went to Whangaroa, where he worked at the kauri timber trade and was storeman to Mr. Haggar, of Waipuna, for nearly six years, at the expiration of which time he established himself in business in partnership with Mr. Saies. With a character for determination combined with energy and excellent business principles, he soon succeeded in making the firm's name a household word throughout the “Far North.” His kind-hearted and generous disposition made him a general favourite and universally respected, and when he was cut off in the prime of life by the capsizing of a boat in Whangaroa Harbour on the 11th of June, 1897, his untimely death cast a deep gloom over the country. The respect in which he was held may be gathered from the fact that his funeral was the largest which had taken place in Whangaroa. Mr. Molesworth was foremost in matters affecting the public welfare; he was a member of the Whangaroa County Council, Licensing Committee, and Acclimatization Society. In Freemasonry he was a past master, and he was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1892. Mr. Molesworth was married in 1882 to a daughter of Mr. G. T. Fergusson, of Waipuna, and left a widow with two sons and a daughter to mourn the loss of a loving husband and affectionate father.
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Mr. Albert Smith,
              Baker for Messrs. Molesworth and Saies, Totara North, who has been in that firm's employment since July, 1897, was born in 1877, and is a son of Mr. J. Smith, of Auckland. He was educated at Parnell, and apprenticed to Mr. R. Forgie, baker, with whom he remained over three years, and was then in Mr. Cross's employment for about six months. Mr. Smith's favourite pastime is yachting.

          

          

            
            


              

                Lane And Brown
              
              (Thomas Major Lane and William Brown), Shipbuilders and Timber Merchants, Totara North, Whangaroa. Cable address, “Lane, Totara North.” Code, A.B.C. London agents, Messrs. Macdonald, Scales and Co. Bankers. Union Bank of Australia, Auckland. Private residences, Totara North. The extensive business of this firm may be regarded as the leading shipbuilding establishment in New Zealand and was established in 1870. The total floor space of the premises is over 15,000 square feet. There are two building sheds measuring over 140 x 40 feet, 120 x 30 feet respectively, the larger affording facilities for the construction of vessels up to 350 tons, and the smaller for building vessels of 100 tons and under. The machinery, which is very complete, includes two vertical, one band, and five circular saws, besides machines for planing, trunelling, moulding, turning, etc. The motive power consists of a Marshall's semi-portable engine. The timber is wholly cut on the premises, kauri being largely used, but the harder woods, such as puriri and pohutukawa, and the imported woods blue gum and iron bark, are also much used. Messrs. Lane and Brown take special care in having the harder woods used for frames cut during the winter and wellseasoned for at least twelve months before being brought into requisition, consequently they have never had any complaints that the vessels built by them have been otherwise than satisfactory. It is their opinion, formed by extensive experience and from tests after twenty years' hard wear, that pohutukawa under these conditions is one of the best of timbers for the framework of wooden vessels. The whole of the iron work, too, is done on the premises, only competent tradesmen being employed. The offices are situated at the back of the yards, where there is a store set apart for the necessary fittings, which are all imported direct from English and Continental firms, specially to the order of Messrs. Lane and Brown. Nothing but the very best materials are used with most skilful workmanship in shipbuilding. No vessel is launched until guaranteed in every respect, thus ensuring reasonable prices for their vessels. Messrs. Lane and Brown have a wide reputation not only in New Zealand but also in the sister Colonies. They have supplied vessels for Sydney and other parts of Australia, South Sea Islands, New Guinea, and constructed a fleet of fourteen pearling boats for Messrs. James Clarke and Co., of Thursday Island, who, in a letter to the builders expressed in glowing terms their complete satisfaction with the faithful manner in which the contract had been executed. Up to September, 1900, the firm had turned out seventy vessels from pearling craft of twelve tons to sailers of 320 tons. The first large vessel was the “Active” of 157 tons register, built in 1878 and afterwards lost at Samoa. The “Alert” was launched in 1870, followed by the “Rainbow,” a fine schooner of 320 tons. The “Maile' a beautiful three-masted schooner of 270 tons, won universal admiration. The illustration accompaying this article will convey to readers some idea of the taste and finish displayed by this firm. They have built to the order of Captain Skinner, of Auckland, the “Ebenezer,” “Minnie Hare,” “Gisborne,” “Waiapu,” “Awanui,” and “Aotea,” the last named being the first auxiliary in the Colony piopelled by oil-engines. Messrs. Lane and Brown built also four vessels to the order of Mr. James Subritzky, the last of which was the well-known auxiliary schooner “Greyhound.” Some of the workmen at the yards have been in the employ of the firm since its inception, which is evidence of the good understanding always existing between employers and employees. In all about sixty men are employed, whose average monthly wages total £450. Messrs. Lane and Brown have done a large amount of experimental work with regard to the construction of vessels both as to style and fittings with very satisfactory results, as in the case of the “Whangaroa,” a fine three-masted sea-going scow, which was in every way a decided success. A telephone and post office is situated on the premises, so that no delay is occasioned in the delivery of telegrams and letters to the firm.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Thomas Major Lane,
              Senior Partner, hails from the Cotswold Hills, Gloucestershire, where he was born in 1847, and received his education at the Northleach



Grammar School. He came with his parents to Auckland per ship “Persia” in 1860, and eventually went to Waiapu, Bay of Islands, where he was apprenticed to the shipbuilding trade in the yards of the late Mr. W. P. Brown. After completing his apprenticeship Mr. Lane engaged in house-building, bridge contracts, etc., till 1870 when in conjunction with Mr. W. Brown he established the flourishing concern reviewed above. In public affairs Mr. Lane has rendered yeoman service to Whangaroa. He was long chairman of the Whangaroa County Council after its creation in 1886, and was previously chairman of the Mongonui County Council; he is a member of the Rechabites and has been associated with the local school committee for many years.
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Mr. William Brown,
              Junior Partner, is a New Zealander by birth and a son of the late Mr. W. J. Brown, of Waiapu, Bay of Islands, where he was born in 1850. He followed the trade of a ship-builder under his father, afterwards trading in his vessels with coal and produce to the South Sea Islands. When twenty years of age he joined Mr. Lane in establishing their present business. Mr. Brown is associated with the order of Rechabites, and is married to a daughter of the late Mr. William Lane.
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Mr. John Gow,
             
 Shipwright for Messrs. Lane and Brown, served his apprenticeship with the firm, after which he learned the trade of a “saw doctor” at Holdship's mill, Whangaroa. He was subsequently in the
employment of Messrs Wigmore and Co at the Whangaroa sawmills, but went to Melbourne
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Schooner “Toroa,” 162 Tons, Fitted With 50-Horse Power Auxiliary Hercules Oil Engine. Built By Lane and Brown, Totara North.





in 1886 and gained considerable knowledge of the building trade there. Thirteen months later he came back to New Zealand and in 1889 returned to his former employers, Messrs. Lane and Brown. Mr. Gow is well-known as a tradesman throughout Totara North and Whangaroa, nothing in the manufacture of woodware coming amiss to him. In this respect he is much patronised by the inhabitants, and his leisure hours are therefore well occupied. He is married to a daughter of Mr. John Bradley, late of Birmingham.

          

          

            
            


              

                Lawrence, W. R., and Co.
              
              (William Richard Lawrence, Thomas Major Lane, and William Brown), General Storekeepers and Gum Buyers, Totara North. Telegraphic address, “Lawrence, Totara North.” A.B.C. Code. London agents, Messrs. Macdonald, Scales and Co. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia Ltd., Auckland. This firm's business was established in 1882 and has been conducted by the present partners conjointly since 1884. The firm's connections extend over a wide area of country, and as the members are direct importers they do a large wholesale trade with local storekeepers. Messrs. Lawrence and Co. are large gum buyers, and ship considerable quantities regularly to Auckland. The facilities offered for shipping are excellent as vessels of 100 tons can without any difficulty berth alongside the premises.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Lawrence,
              the Senior Partner, was born in Leitrim, Ireland, in 1860, and educated at Mohill where he served three years in Mr. Robert Stratton's drapery warehouse. In 1882 he came to New Zealand in the “Weathersfield.” After a brief stay in Auckland he went on to Totara North and was under engagement to Mr. A. T. Knee till 1884 when he bought out Mr. Graham and joined Messrs. Lane and Brown in the business. Mr. Lawrence is fully occupied with his business and has no time for public affairs. He is, however, an enthusiastic cricketer, is associated with the Rechabites, and identifies himself with the Wesleyans. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Hare, senior, of Kaeo.
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Mr. E. G. Douglas,
              Accountant for Messrs W. R. Lawrence and Co., was born in Dunedin in 1875. He accompanied his parents to Auckland, and was educated at the Mount Eden public school and also attended the Auckland Grammar school for three years. After being for some time in the service of the Bank of Australasia, he removed to Totara North, where he has since been in the employment of Messrs W. R. Lawrence and Co.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. W. P. Brown,
              Old Colonist, Bay of Islands. Mr. Brown was one of those early Colonists who have had a very varied experience of life in New Zealand. He died in September, 1896, at his residence, Te Wahapu, at the ripe old age of eighty-two years. The late Mr. Brown first landed in the Bay of Islands in 1836, a shipmate and fellow-apprentice of his being the late Captain Oakley. For three and a half years after landing in New Zealand, Mr. Brown was mate of the Church Mission schooner. “Columbine,” and during his cruises in that vessel he gained a considerable insight into the various phases of Maori character. At the outbreak of the native war in 1845, be with his wife and two little children, had to abandon their home at Te Wahapu. Before this, in 1840, he had engaged in ship-building in the Bay of Islands, much frequented then by English and American whalers, as many as thirty or forty often lying in the harbour at one time. Of his four sons, two are connected with the firm of Messrs. Lane and Brown, shipbuilders at Totara, another is following the same trade at Fremantle, West Australia, and the fourth is living at Te Wahapu.
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Mr. Patrick Campbell,
              sometime Old Settler, Totara North, was born in Donegal, Ireland, in 1839. The son of a farmer, he followed agricultural pursuits till he came to New Zealand in 1866 per ship “Alexander.” At Auckland he was engaged in the construction of water-works, afterwards following the calling of a brickmaker for a few months, when he went to Whangaroa and resided in the old mission house and engaged in timber work. He purchased 200 acres and continued to farm the property up to the time of his death. Being a most industrious worker, Mr. Campbell improved his farm wonderfully and having a retiring disposition never mixed up in public affairs. He was a conscientious, religious man, and a regular attendant at the district church, in which he took more than usual interest, and was on friendly terms with all his fellow-settlers, by whom his death was deeply regretted. He left a wife and four sons and two daughters.
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Totara North
              
              is a settlement in Whangaroa County in the neighbourhood of extensive gumfields. It is 169 miles from Auckland, with which it has communication by steamer and a weekly mail service.
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Totara North Public School,
              one of the best situated schools in the province, stands on an eminence overlooking Whangaroa Harbour. It was erected in 1872, and has one class-room with accommodation for about seventy scholars. There are seventy-five on the roll and an excellent average attendance is maintained; the numbers have considerably increased during the last two years and it is probable the school-house will soon need extension. Mr. G. Wilson, the headmaster, is assisted by Miss Bertha Lane and Miss Amy Copland.
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                Molesworth And Saies
              
              (William Henry Saies), Merchants, Gum-buyers, and General Storekeepers, Totara North, Whangaroa. Branches at Te Kao, Parengarenga, Awanui, Taipa, Takakuri, Otongaroa, Kauriputete, Pupuke, Matauri, Ngaire, Omawhapuka, Te Mata, Waieri, and Waihapa. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. This firm have an extensive business which Mr. Saies established in conjunction with the late Mr. Molesworth in 1890 and to which the partners devoted their united energies. Owing to the rapid increase of trade they decided from time to time to open branches on the gumfields as occasion required, and now they have in all fifteen of these establishments carrying full stocks of general merchandise. The conntry operated upon by the firm extends from the Bay of Islands on the south to the extreme north of the island, and from coast to coast. As gum-buyers Messrs. Molesworth and Saies have probably few equals in New Zealand, their purchases averaging over 400 tons annually, or about five per cent, of the total exports from the colony. This at £60 per ton shows an annual turnover in this commodity alone of £24,000. Formerly the firm used to ship direct to London and New York,



but owing to the fluctuations in the Home markets, it was deemed more advantageous to effect a speedy and certain realization in Auckland. They now, therefore, deal with Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co., of that city, to whom they consign the whole of their gum and of whom they speak in high terms. Messrs. Molesworth and Saies hold the gum rights from the Kauri Timber Company for the whole of that company's properties situated in Whangaroa County and throughout the whole of the North; the firm have 700 acres at Pupuke, and some valuable ground at Te Mata. The largest leasehold, consisting of 30,000 acres, is at Te Kao, over which they hold a seven years' right. The stock of merchandise kept on hand by the firm at their headquarters, Totara North, and the several branches, is very large and comprises every class of goods suitable for a rough country business. Over forty hands are kept continually employed, exclusive of the many hundred diggers, whilst twenty pack-horses are used at their various depots for forwarding stores to the depths of the kauri forests, where the gum-digger and bushman live and labour, and find Messrs Molesworth and Saies always willing to give them a helping hand. The late Mr. Molesworth was drowned in Whangaroa Harbour on the 11th of June, 1897. He was a man of sound common sense, an accomplished Maori linguist and one in whom the natives placed great confidence. Mr. Saies is also thoroughly conversant with the Maori language.
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Messrs Molesworth & Saies' premises, Totara North.
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Messrs Molesworth & Saies' Employees.


Wi Ngatau. Robt. Bell, junr. John Sherman. F. Sanderson.
(Accountant.) D. Molesworth.
(Late Partner.) W. Saies.
(Proprietor.) G. Foley.


W. Saies, junr. Geo. Andrews. Thos. Fleming 
(Head Gum Classer). R. Sherman.
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Mr. W. H. Saies,
              Sole Proprietor of the business, is a son of the late Mr. Robert Saies, formerly well known in commercial circles in South Wales. He was born in 1848, was privately educated, and began life as a clerk in the offices of Messrs. Clayton, Rooke and Co. Two years later he came to New Zealand per ship “Lancashire Witch,” landing at Auckland in 1865. After a short farming experience he obtained employment in the kauri timber industry, at which he continued for nearly six years, when he undertook the management of Mr. A. T. Knee's general store at Whangaroa. Three years later, when Mr. Knee sold out, Mr. Saies found employment at Totara with the late Mr. D. Sanderson, in whose employment he continued till he joined Mr. Molesworth in 1890. Mr. Saies was for over five years in the Whangaroa County Council, has been chairman of the Totara School Committee, and chairman of the Totara Road Board. He has filled various offices in Freemasonry, being attached to Lodge Zealandia. His favourite pastime is cricket. Mr. Saies married a daughter of Mr. Robert Bell, of Totara, and has one son.
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Mr. W. H. Saies.
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Mr. Dover Nassau O'Doyer Molesworth,
              J.P., late Senior Partner of the firm of Molesworth and Saies, was born at Porchester,



Southampton, in 1860, and was a son of Dr. T. B. Molesworth, surgeon of H.M.S. “Mersey.” He was educated at King William's College with a view to entering the navy, but owing to defective eyesight he was compelled to abandon that career and came out to New Zealand about the year 1880, in company with his brother. He was for two or three years in the Waikato district and afterwards went to Whangaroa, where he worked at the kauri timber trade and was storeman to Mr. Haggar, of Waipuna, for nearly six years, at the expiration of which time he established himself in business in partnership with Mr. Saies. With a character for determination combined with energy and excellent business principles, he soon succeeded in making the firm's name a household word throughout the “Far North.” His kind-hearted and generous disposition made him a general favourite and universally respected, and when he was cut off in the prime of life by the capsizing of a boat in Whangaroa Harbour on the 11th of June, 1897, his untimely death cast a deep gloom over the country. The respect in which he was held may be gathered from the fact that his funeral was the largest which had taken place in Whangaroa. Mr. Molesworth was foremost in matters affecting the public welfare; he was a member of the Whangaroa County Council, Licensing Committee, and Acclimatization Society. In Freemasonry he was a past master, and he was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1892. Mr. Molesworth was married in 1882 to a daughter of Mr. G. T. Fergusson, of Waipuna, and left a widow with two sons and a daughter to mourn the loss of a loving husband and affectionate father.
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The Late Mr. D. N. O'D. Molesworth.
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Mr. Albert Smith,
              Baker for Messrs. Molesworth and Saies, Totara North, who has been in that firm's employment since July, 1897, was born in 1877, and is a son of Mr. J. Smith, of Auckland. He was educated at Parnell, and apprenticed to Mr. R. Forgie, baker, with whom he remained over three years, and was then in Mr. Cross's employment for about six months. Mr. Smith's favourite pastime is yachting.
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                Lane And Brown
              
              (Thomas Major Lane and William Brown), Shipbuilders and Timber Merchants, Totara North, Whangaroa. Cable address, “Lane, Totara North.” Code, A.B.C. London agents, Messrs. Macdonald, Scales and Co. Bankers. Union Bank of Australia, Auckland. Private residences, Totara North. The extensive business of this firm may be regarded as the leading shipbuilding establishment in New Zealand and was established in 1870. The total floor space of the premises is over 15,000 square feet. There are two building sheds measuring over 140 x 40 feet, 120 x 30 feet respectively, the larger affording facilities for the construction of vessels up to 350 tons, and the smaller for building vessels of 100 tons and under. The machinery, which is very complete, includes two vertical, one band, and five circular saws, besides machines for planing, trunelling, moulding, turning, etc. The motive power consists of a Marshall's semi-portable engine. The timber is wholly cut on the premises, kauri being largely used, but the harder woods, such as puriri and pohutukawa, and the imported woods blue gum and iron bark, are also much used. Messrs. Lane and Brown take special care in having the harder woods used for frames cut during the winter and wellseasoned for at least twelve months before being brought into requisition, consequently they have never had any complaints that the vessels built by them have been otherwise than satisfactory. It is their opinion, formed by extensive experience and from tests after twenty years' hard wear, that pohutukawa under these conditions is one of the best of timbers for the framework of wooden vessels. The whole of the iron work, too, is done on the premises, only competent tradesmen being employed. The offices are situated at the back of the yards, where there is a store set apart for the necessary fittings, which are all imported direct from English and Continental firms, specially to the order of Messrs. Lane and Brown. Nothing but the very best materials are used with most skilful workmanship in shipbuilding. No vessel is launched until guaranteed in every respect, thus ensuring reasonable prices for their vessels. Messrs. Lane and Brown have a wide reputation not only in New Zealand but also in the sister Colonies. They have supplied vessels for Sydney and other parts of Australia, South Sea Islands, New Guinea, and constructed a fleet of fourteen pearling boats for Messrs. James Clarke and Co., of Thursday Island, who, in a letter to the builders expressed in glowing terms their complete satisfaction with the faithful manner in which the contract had been executed. Up to September, 1900, the firm had turned out seventy vessels from pearling craft of twelve tons to sailers of 320 tons. The first large vessel was the “Active” of 157 tons register, built in 1878 and afterwards lost at Samoa. The “Alert” was launched in 1870, followed by the “Rainbow,” a fine schooner of 320 tons. The “Maile' a beautiful three-masted schooner of 270 tons, won universal admiration. The illustration accompaying this article will convey to readers some idea of the taste and finish displayed by this firm. They have built to the order of Captain Skinner, of Auckland, the “Ebenezer,” “Minnie Hare,” “Gisborne,” “Waiapu,” “Awanui,” and “Aotea,” the last named being the first auxiliary in the Colony piopelled by oil-engines. Messrs. Lane and Brown built also four vessels to the order of Mr. James Subritzky, the last of which was the well-known auxiliary schooner “Greyhound.” Some of the workmen at the yards have been in the employ of the firm since its inception, which is evidence of the good understanding always existing between employers and employees. In all about sixty men are employed, whose average monthly wages total £450. Messrs. Lane and Brown have done a large amount of experimental work with regard to the construction of vessels both as to style and fittings with very satisfactory results, as in the case of the “Whangaroa,” a fine three-masted sea-going scow, which was in every way a decided success. A telephone and post office is situated on the premises, so that no delay is occasioned in the delivery of telegrams and letters to the firm.
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Mr. Thomas Major Lane,
              Senior Partner, hails from the Cotswold Hills, Gloucestershire, where he was born in 1847, and received his education at the Northleach



Grammar School. He came with his parents to Auckland per ship “Persia” in 1860, and eventually went to Waiapu, Bay of Islands, where he was apprenticed to the shipbuilding trade in the yards of the late Mr. W. P. Brown. After completing his apprenticeship Mr. Lane engaged in house-building, bridge contracts, etc., till 1870 when in conjunction with Mr. W. Brown he established the flourishing concern reviewed above. In public affairs Mr. Lane has rendered yeoman service to Whangaroa. He was long chairman of the Whangaroa County Council after its creation in 1886, and was previously chairman of the Mongonui County Council; he is a member of the Rechabites and has been associated with the local school committee for many years.
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Mr. William Brown,
              Junior Partner, is a New Zealander by birth and a son of the late Mr. W. J. Brown, of Waiapu, Bay of Islands, where he was born in 1850. He followed the trade of a ship-builder under his father, afterwards trading in his vessels with coal and produce to the South Sea Islands. When twenty years of age he joined Mr. Lane in establishing their present business. Mr. Brown is associated with the order of Rechabites, and is married to a daughter of the late Mr. William Lane.
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Mr. John Gow,
             
 Shipwright for Messrs. Lane and Brown, served his apprenticeship with the firm, after which he learned the trade of a “saw doctor” at Holdship's mill, Whangaroa. He was subsequently in the
employment of Messrs Wigmore and Co at the Whangaroa sawmills, but went to Melbourne
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Schooner “Toroa,” 162 Tons, Fitted With 50-Horse Power Auxiliary Hercules Oil Engine. Built By Lane and Brown, Totara North.





in 1886 and gained considerable knowledge of the building trade there. Thirteen months later he came back to New Zealand and in 1889 returned to his former employers, Messrs. Lane and Brown. Mr. Gow is well-known as a tradesman throughout Totara North and Whangaroa, nothing in the manufacture of woodware coming amiss to him. In this respect he is much patronised by the inhabitants, and his leisure hours are therefore well occupied. He is married to a daughter of Mr. John Bradley, late of Birmingham.
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                Lawrence, W. R., and Co.
              
              (William Richard Lawrence, Thomas Major Lane, and William Brown), General Storekeepers and Gum Buyers, Totara North. Telegraphic address, “Lawrence, Totara North.” A.B.C. Code. London agents, Messrs. Macdonald, Scales and Co. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia Ltd., Auckland. This firm's business was established in 1882 and has been conducted by the present partners conjointly since 1884. The firm's connections extend over a wide area of country, and as the members are direct importers they do a large wholesale trade with local storekeepers. Messrs. Lawrence and Co. are large gum buyers, and ship considerable quantities regularly to Auckland. The facilities offered for shipping are excellent as vessels of 100 tons can without any difficulty berth alongside the premises.
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Mr. Lawrence,
              the Senior Partner, was born in Leitrim, Ireland, in 1860, and educated at Mohill where he served three years in Mr. Robert Stratton's drapery warehouse. In 1882 he came to New Zealand in the “Weathersfield.” After a brief stay in Auckland he went on to Totara North and was under engagement to Mr. A. T. Knee till 1884 when he bought out Mr. Graham and joined Messrs. Lane and Brown in the business. Mr. Lawrence is fully occupied with his business and has no time for public affairs. He is, however, an enthusiastic cricketer, is associated with the Rechabites, and identifies himself with the Wesleyans. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Hare, senior, of Kaeo.
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Mr. E. G. Douglas,
              Accountant for Messrs W. R. Lawrence and Co., was born in Dunedin in 1875. He accompanied his parents to Auckland, and was educated at the Mount Eden public school and also attended the Auckland Grammar school for three years. After being for some time in the service of the Bank of Australasia, he removed to Totara North, where he has since been in the employment of Messrs W. R. Lawrence and Co.
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Mr. W. P. Brown,
              Old Colonist, Bay of Islands. Mr. Brown was one of those early Colonists who have had a very varied experience of life in New Zealand. He died in September, 1896, at his residence, Te Wahapu, at the ripe old age of eighty-two years. The late Mr. Brown first landed in the Bay of Islands in 1836, a shipmate and fellow-apprentice of his being the late Captain Oakley. For three and a half years after landing in New Zealand, Mr. Brown was mate of the Church Mission schooner. “Columbine,” and during his cruises in that vessel he gained a considerable insight into the various phases of Maori character. At the outbreak of the native war in 1845, be with his wife and two little children, had to abandon their home at Te Wahapu. Before this, in 1840, he had engaged in ship-building in the Bay of Islands, much frequented then by English and American whalers, as many as thirty or forty often lying in the harbour at one time. Of his four sons, two are connected with the firm of Messrs. Lane and Brown, shipbuilders at Totara, another is following the same trade at Fremantle, West Australia, and the fourth is living at Te Wahapu.
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Mr. Patrick Campbell,
              sometime Old Settler, Totara North, was born in Donegal, Ireland, in 1839. The son of a farmer, he followed agricultural pursuits till he came to New Zealand in 1866 per ship “Alexander.” At Auckland he was engaged in the construction of water-works, afterwards following the calling of a brickmaker for a few months, when he went to Whangaroa and resided in the old mission house and engaged in timber work. He purchased 200 acres and continued to farm the property up to the time of his death. Being a most industrious worker, Mr. Campbell improved his farm wonderfully and having a retiring disposition never mixed up in public affairs. He was a conscientious, religious man, and a regular attendant at the district church, in which he took more than usual interest, and was on friendly terms with all his fellow-settlers, by whom his death was deeply regretted. He left a wife and four sons and two daughters.
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Kaeo
              
              is one of the most northern settlements in New Zealand, and is situated close to Whangaroa harbour, in the midst of the timber industry. Its distance from Auckland is 174 miles. Kaeo has a weekly mail, and also a telephone service. The place itself is one of the pleasantest little corners to be found north of Auckland. The scenery is enchanting, and a beautiful tidal river empties into Whangaroa harbour. This river runs through a very fertile valley, which produces a great variety of choice fruits and beautiful flowers. For persons broken down in health, no better place could be found in which to recuperate and grow strong again. The settlers are kind and hospitable, and the stranger soon finds himself among friends. It was in this valley that the captain and crew of the ship “Boyd” were killed and eaten by the natives in the year 1809. One at least of the old natives who witnessed the slaughter still (1901) lives and is quite strong and healthy, and enjoys a talk about the old times. Several relics of those bygone days are still to be found in the possession of some of the settlers, though the times themselves, with all their associations, such as missionary work amongst the Maoris, have given place to modern life and civilisation. Kaeo has two day schools, which are very well attended, and there are two churches —a Wesleyan and a Seventh Day Adventist. It also has a public library, three stores and one hotel. The natives are just now (April, 1901) about to open a church for themselves, and the building does great credit to the Maori people. Specimens of copper have been found, and mining for this ore may in the near future develop a rich industry and make the prosperous valley yet more prosperous. Many indications of coal exist; a good shale has also been discovered, and may prove valuable. Anyone desiring an Arcadian home, and a healthy locality to live in, should not overlook Kaeo.

          

          

            
            


              
Kaeo Public Library,
              established in 1875, is situated in the centre of the township and contains over 1000 volumes of current literature. The subscription is 1s. 6d. a quarter, with 2s. 6d. entrance fee, and the library is well patronised by local residents. Mr. James Halliday is secretary and treasurer of the institution.

          

          

            
            


              

                Kaeo Football Association
              
              (Mr. James Halliday, secretary.) This association was formed for the purpose of encouraging football in the district. A sum of £30 was voted as a prize, and in 1897 six teams entered for competition, viz., Ngawha, Kaupurangi, Kenana, Kaeo, Tokirau, and Raukura. With the exception of Kaeo they were all native teams. It is said that Maoris play a most friendly game and can teach European players a good lesson in that respect. Neatly attired to a man in the colours of their respective clubs, the Maori footballers are a credit to their several districts.

          

          

            
            


              

Nisbet, Alexander,
              Contractor, Kaeo. Mr. Nisbet was born in Prince Edward Island, British North America, in 1829, and followed farming pursuits till 1848, when he took to a seafaring life. He came to New Zealand per ship “South Boston,” landing at Mongonui in 1850 and was for nearly two years engaged in the kauri timber trade, when he was smitten with the universal gold fever and joined the Australian “rush.” After trying his fortune on the Castlemaine, Ballarat, and Bendigo fields, he returned to New Zealand in 1853. Since that time Mr. Nisbet has executed numerous contracts in the district for the construction of roads, bridges, etc. He was on the Commission of the Peace for over thirty years, and at the time of his resignation was the senior Justice in Whangaroa County. Mr. Nisbet is a trustee of the Wesleyan church, an Oddfellow, and a Mason, and was formerly a prominent Orangeman for many years, having also filled many local offices, including that of chairman of Kaeo Road Board. Mr. Nisbet was married in 1854 to a daughter of the late Mr. Spikeman—who came to New Zealand with the early missionaries—and has a grown-up family of six sons and four daughters.
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Nisbet, William Arthur,
              Farrier and General Blacksmith, Kaeo. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Mr. Nisbet's business was established in 1882 by Mr. Daniel Hayes and taken over by the former in 1892. He is well and widely known as a farrier and liberally patronized by the travelling public, and is an excellent manufacturer of agricultural implements and haulage “gear” for bush work. Mr. Nisbet was born in Kaeo in 1870, and on the completion of his apprenticeship commenced business on his own account. He has been for the past five years secretary of the local Oddfellows' lodge, and is a member of the Rechabites. Mr. Nisbet is married to a daughter of Mr. Prior, who is well-known in the district.

          

          

            
            


              

Halliday, James,
              Shoemaker and Hairdresser, Kaeo. Bankers, Bank of Australasia, Auckland. Established in 1887. Mr. Halliday carries on a good country trade in bespoke and hand-sewn work, of which he makes a specialty. He was born in Belfast in 1864, and is a son of Mr. Samuel Halliday of Kawakawa, having come to New Zealand with his parents when quite young. After following the trade of a shoemaker for several years, he



added the business of hairdressing. Mr. Halliday takes great interest in athletics and is secretary of the Kaeo Football Association. Kaeo Public Library, School Committee, and at the annual sports is entrusted with carrying out the necessary arrangements. He is a member of the order of Oddfellows and an Orangeman. Mr. Halliday is married to a daughter of Mr. Alexander Nisbet, of Kaeo.

          

          

            
            


              
Hare Bros.
              (Joseph Hare and Wesley Hare), Shipowners and General Merchants, Kaeo. Branch at Tairairi. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Established 1875. Among the agencies held by the firm of Hare Bros., that for the Sintz gas engines stands foremost. Messrs Hare Bros. are now the representatives for New Zealand, and are pushing the sale with great success owing to the small cost and great utility. The firm also holds the agency for the Manson Cycle Company of Chicago, United States of America.
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Mr. Joseph Hare,
              Junior, is a son of Mr. Joseph Hare of Kaeo, and was born in Armagh, Ireland, in 1849. He came to New Zealand with his parents in 1865 per ship “Lancashire Witch,” landing at Auckland on the 12th of May of that year. In the following month they came to Whangaroa, and Mr. Hare engaged in road contracting at Kaeo, eventually going into the timber industry and adding the business of general merchants a few years afterwards. Messrs. Hare Bros. have for several years past been actively engaged in the shipping trade. Mr. Hare is deeply interested in the welfare of the whole county, which he at present represents as chairman of the council.
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Mr. Joseph R. Hare,
              sometime Accountant for Messrs Hare Bros., was the eldest son of Mr. Joseph Hare, Junr., J.P., of Kaeo, where he was born in 1874 In 1891 he went to America per mail steamer “Alameda” and finished his education at Healdsburg College, California. On the completion of his studies he travelled through the States, gaining further knowledge and mercantile experience. In August, 1894, he returned to New Zealand viâ Australia, and afterwards served in the firm of Messrs Hare Bros., with charge of the business during the manager's absence. He and his brother Oliver—who obtained No. 1 certificate for oil engines in New Zealand—met their death while on a trip in the ill-fated schooner “Wolverine.” “Lovely and pleasant in their lives, in death they were not divided;” and they will long be mourned by their sorrowing family.
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                Halliday, Mrs. S.
              
              General Storekeeper, Kaeo. This lady, who is the mother of Mr. James Halliday referred to elsewhere, established her business in 1890 in large freehold premises, with a very complete stock of general merchandise. Being a cash purchaser, Mrs. Halliday is able to sell at prices that defy competition and, therefore, commands an extensive trade.

          

          

            
            


              

Hayes, Thomas,
              Farmer, Kakaparere, Te Moari, three miles from Kaeo. The freehold property of Mr. Hayes embraces 500 acres of broken land and 100 acres of first-class land, of which about one-third is sown in English grasses and carries some 400 crossbred sheep and about 50 head of cattle. The flat alluvial land is admirably suited for crops and fruitgrowing, but the larger portion of the farm is “broken.” Mr. Hayes was born in the district in 1850, and has all his life been associated with the kauri timber trade, chiefly as a contractor during the past thirty years. In 1880, he bought 490 acres of his present homestead, supplementing it with an additional 110 acres four years later. The cattle and sheep fattened on the property are amongst the primest sent to the markets. Mr. Hayes was for six or seven years a member of the Whangaroa County Council, was superintendent of the Wesleyan Sunday school for several years, as well as a steward of the church, and is associated with the Oddfellows and Recha bites. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. T. H. Skinner.
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Woodside Farm,
              six miles from Kaeo, is the freehold property of Mrs. W. Murray and contains 300 acres of fine level country. Over 600 well-bred Lincoln sheep, besides some forty head of cattle, graze on the property, which is for the greater part



cleared, grassed, and well-watered throughout. Adjoining the property are 240 acres of land recently taken up by Mrs. Murray's sons. “Woodside” homestead is a fine nine roomed house, pleasantly situated and well-sheltered by ornamental trees.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William Murray,
              sometime of “Woodside,” was born in Aberdeen in 1837 and was brought up to the trade of a butcher under his father. He came to New Zealand in 1864 and during the Waikato war took a contract for supplying the troops with meat, after which he established himself in business at the corner of Wellesley and Queen Streets, Auckland. In 1870, he went to the Bay of Islands and lived for ten years close to “Woodside Farm,” then took a two years' lease of Cavalli Island, grazing thereon over 400 head of cattle and about the same number of sheep. In 1882, Mr. Murray bought “Woodside Farm” and worked it with great industry till his death in 1886, which was caused by a tumour, the result of a kick from a horse. He left a widow and family of seven sons and seven daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Bramley, William,
              “Sheriff Park,” Kaeo, County Whangaroa. The subject of the present article was born near Bury, Lancashire, on the 12th of October, 1822. He received his early education from his father, a talented and successful teacher in the Old Country, afterwards attended a course of instruction at the Warrington Model School, then went to the Battersea Training College, London, and finally finished his education at the Chester Training Institution for Teachers. During the time he remained in England he held several lucrative situations. He was appointed headmaster of the Dunham Hill Government school, Nottinghamshire, on leaving which he became private tutor to Lord Tamworth, eldest son of Earl Ferrers, of Chartley Castle, Staffordshire. Previous to his coming to New Zealand he was master of the Caldbeck Grammar School (near Carlisle. Cumberland) for four years. With his wife and family he left England for New Zealand on the 10th of June, 1859, in the ship “Tornado” of the White Star line, which arrived in Auckland on the 25th of September of the same year. After remaining in Auckland a short time Mr. Bramley proceeded to Kaeo, where he conducted a private school for fifteen months. Holding excellent testimonials, he received the appointment of master of the Kaeo public school under the Board of Education, which he held for nearly ten years. When he came to Kaeo he took up land under the forty-acre system, receiving 180 acres in all, eighty-seven acres of which he handed over to his eldest son. Mr. Bramley was chairman and treasurer of the Kaeo Road Board, secretary of the Kaeo School Committee, secretary of the Independent Order of Oddfellows (American constitution), and has been associated with the Freemasons for many years. His wife dying on the 3rd of February, 1890, at the ripe old age of seventy-three years, he was left a widower, with a family of six sons and two daughters, one of whom has since died.

            

              

[image: Mr. W. Bramley.]
Mr. 
W. Bramley.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Richard Edward Gibbs,
              Old Colonist, Kaeo. The late Mr. Gibbs, who was for several years a successful storekeeper at Kaeo, was born in the Isle of Wight in 1838, and was employed at his father's grocery business till he came to New Zealand per “John Duncan” in 1860, when he engaged in bush work at Whangaroa for about two years. In 1872 he established himself in business, also taking over the duties of local postmaster. His enterprise and attention to business gave promise of a very successful future, when four years later his career was unfortunately cut short by drowning on the 6th of June, 1876. The deceased dealt largely in Kauri gum, and on this fatal occasion was engaged in taking a load to Whangaroa for transhipment when the boat upset. Mr. Gibbs was the Baptist local preacher during the early days of Kaeo and superintendent of the Sunday school, which he was instrumental in forming. He also instituted and took an active interest in the Band of Hope. His widow still resides in Kaeo with her daughter; and of her sons, Richard is a captain in the Salvation Army at Stratford, Taranaki, William, a farmer at Paparoa, and Edward, a captain in the Salvation Army in Melbourne.
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Hare, Joseph
, Senior, Settler, Kaco. Mr. Hare, who was born in County Armagh in 1820, was engaged as a school-teacher for twelve year at the Duke of Manchester's ca-tle, Tan-deragee. He landed in New Zealand per ship “Lancashire Witch,” in 1865, and shortly afterwards came to the Kaeo district, where he took up land and settled at Kukuparere, where he remained for twenty years. Mr. Hare is an elder in the sect of “Seventh Day Adventists,” has conducted services in the district since his arrival and subsequently a mission chapel was erected. He was for seven or eight years master of the Orange lodge, and has been associated with the Good Templars.
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Kaeo
              
              is one of the most northern settlements in New Zealand, and is situated close to Whangaroa harbour, in the midst of the timber industry. Its distance from Auckland is 174 miles. Kaeo has a weekly mail, and also a telephone service. The place itself is one of the pleasantest little corners to be found north of Auckland. The scenery is enchanting, and a beautiful tidal river empties into Whangaroa harbour. This river runs through a very fertile valley, which produces a great variety of choice fruits and beautiful flowers. For persons broken down in health, no better place could be found in which to recuperate and grow strong again. The settlers are kind and hospitable, and the stranger soon finds himself among friends. It was in this valley that the captain and crew of the ship “Boyd” were killed and eaten by the natives in the year 1809. One at least of the old natives who witnessed the slaughter still (1901) lives and is quite strong and healthy, and enjoys a talk about the old times. Several relics of those bygone days are still to be found in the possession of some of the settlers, though the times themselves, with all their associations, such as missionary work amongst the Maoris, have given place to modern life and civilisation. Kaeo has two day schools, which are very well attended, and there are two churches —a Wesleyan and a Seventh Day Adventist. It also has a public library, three stores and one hotel. The natives are just now (April, 1901) about to open a church for themselves, and the building does great credit to the Maori people. Specimens of copper have been found, and mining for this ore may in the near future develop a rich industry and make the prosperous valley yet more prosperous. Many indications of coal exist; a good shale has also been discovered, and may prove valuable. Anyone desiring an Arcadian home, and a healthy locality to live in, should not overlook Kaeo.
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Kaeo Public Library,
              established in 1875, is situated in the centre of the township and contains over 1000 volumes of current literature. The subscription is 1s. 6d. a quarter, with 2s. 6d. entrance fee, and the library is well patronised by local residents. Mr. James Halliday is secretary and treasurer of the institution.
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                Kaeo Football Association
              
              (Mr. James Halliday, secretary.) This association was formed for the purpose of encouraging football in the district. A sum of £30 was voted as a prize, and in 1897 six teams entered for competition, viz., Ngawha, Kaupurangi, Kenana, Kaeo, Tokirau, and Raukura. With the exception of Kaeo they were all native teams. It is said that Maoris play a most friendly game and can teach European players a good lesson in that respect. Neatly attired to a man in the colours of their respective clubs, the Maori footballers are a credit to their several districts.
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Nisbet, Alexander,
              Contractor, Kaeo. Mr. Nisbet was born in Prince Edward Island, British North America, in 1829, and followed farming pursuits till 1848, when he took to a seafaring life. He came to New Zealand per ship “South Boston,” landing at Mongonui in 1850 and was for nearly two years engaged in the kauri timber trade, when he was smitten with the universal gold fever and joined the Australian “rush.” After trying his fortune on the Castlemaine, Ballarat, and Bendigo fields, he returned to New Zealand in 1853. Since that time Mr. Nisbet has executed numerous contracts in the district for the construction of roads, bridges, etc. He was on the Commission of the Peace for over thirty years, and at the time of his resignation was the senior Justice in Whangaroa County. Mr. Nisbet is a trustee of the Wesleyan church, an Oddfellow, and a Mason, and was formerly a prominent Orangeman for many years, having also filled many local offices, including that of chairman of Kaeo Road Board. Mr. Nisbet was married in 1854 to a daughter of the late Mr. Spikeman—who came to New Zealand with the early missionaries—and has a grown-up family of six sons and four daughters.
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Nisbet, William Arthur,
              Farrier and General Blacksmith, Kaeo. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Mr. Nisbet's business was established in 1882 by Mr. Daniel Hayes and taken over by the former in 1892. He is well and widely known as a farrier and liberally patronized by the travelling public, and is an excellent manufacturer of agricultural implements and haulage “gear” for bush work. Mr. Nisbet was born in Kaeo in 1870, and on the completion of his apprenticeship commenced business on his own account. He has been for the past five years secretary of the local Oddfellows' lodge, and is a member of the Rechabites. Mr. Nisbet is married to a daughter of Mr. Prior, who is well-known in the district.
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Halliday, James,
              Shoemaker and Hairdresser, Kaeo. Bankers, Bank of Australasia, Auckland. Established in 1887. Mr. Halliday carries on a good country trade in bespoke and hand-sewn work, of which he makes a specialty. He was born in Belfast in 1864, and is a son of Mr. Samuel Halliday of Kawakawa, having come to New Zealand with his parents when quite young. After following the trade of a shoemaker for several years, he



added the business of hairdressing. Mr. Halliday takes great interest in athletics and is secretary of the Kaeo Football Association. Kaeo Public Library, School Committee, and at the annual sports is entrusted with carrying out the necessary arrangements. He is a member of the order of Oddfellows and an Orangeman. Mr. Halliday is married to a daughter of Mr. Alexander Nisbet, of Kaeo.
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Hare Bros.
              (Joseph Hare and Wesley Hare), Shipowners and General Merchants, Kaeo. Branch at Tairairi. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Established 1875. Among the agencies held by the firm of Hare Bros., that for the Sintz gas engines stands foremost. Messrs Hare Bros. are now the representatives for New Zealand, and are pushing the sale with great success owing to the small cost and great utility. The firm also holds the agency for the Manson Cycle Company of Chicago, United States of America.
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Mr. Joseph Hare,
              Junior, is a son of Mr. Joseph Hare of Kaeo, and was born in Armagh, Ireland, in 1849. He came to New Zealand with his parents in 1865 per ship “Lancashire Witch,” landing at Auckland on the 12th of May of that year. In the following month they came to Whangaroa, and Mr. Hare engaged in road contracting at Kaeo, eventually going into the timber industry and adding the business of general merchants a few years afterwards. Messrs. Hare Bros. have for several years past been actively engaged in the shipping trade. Mr. Hare is deeply interested in the welfare of the whole county, which he at present represents as chairman of the council.
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Mr. Joseph R. Hare,
              sometime Accountant for Messrs Hare Bros., was the eldest son of Mr. Joseph Hare, Junr., J.P., of Kaeo, where he was born in 1874 In 1891 he went to America per mail steamer “Alameda” and finished his education at Healdsburg College, California. On the completion of his studies he travelled through the States, gaining further knowledge and mercantile experience. In August, 1894, he returned to New Zealand viâ Australia, and afterwards served in the firm of Messrs Hare Bros., with charge of the business during the manager's absence. He and his brother Oliver—who obtained No. 1 certificate for oil engines in New Zealand—met their death while on a trip in the ill-fated schooner “Wolverine.” “Lovely and pleasant in their lives, in death they were not divided;” and they will long be mourned by their sorrowing family.
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                Halliday, Mrs. S.
              
              General Storekeeper, Kaeo. This lady, who is the mother of Mr. James Halliday referred to elsewhere, established her business in 1890 in large freehold premises, with a very complete stock of general merchandise. Being a cash purchaser, Mrs. Halliday is able to sell at prices that defy competition and, therefore, commands an extensive trade.
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Hayes, Thomas,
              Farmer, Kakaparere, Te Moari, three miles from Kaeo. The freehold property of Mr. Hayes embraces 500 acres of broken land and 100 acres of first-class land, of which about one-third is sown in English grasses and carries some 400 crossbred sheep and about 50 head of cattle. The flat alluvial land is admirably suited for crops and fruitgrowing, but the larger portion of the farm is “broken.” Mr. Hayes was born in the district in 1850, and has all his life been associated with the kauri timber trade, chiefly as a contractor during the past thirty years. In 1880, he bought 490 acres of his present homestead, supplementing it with an additional 110 acres four years later. The cattle and sheep fattened on the property are amongst the primest sent to the markets. Mr. Hayes was for six or seven years a member of the Whangaroa County Council, was superintendent of the Wesleyan Sunday school for several years, as well as a steward of the church, and is associated with the Oddfellows and Recha bites. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. T. H. Skinner.
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Woodside Farm,
              six miles from Kaeo, is the freehold property of Mrs. W. Murray and contains 300 acres of fine level country. Over 600 well-bred Lincoln sheep, besides some forty head of cattle, graze on the property, which is for the greater part



cleared, grassed, and well-watered throughout. Adjoining the property are 240 acres of land recently taken up by Mrs. Murray's sons. “Woodside” homestead is a fine nine roomed house, pleasantly situated and well-sheltered by ornamental trees.
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Mr. William Murray,
              sometime of “Woodside,” was born in Aberdeen in 1837 and was brought up to the trade of a butcher under his father. He came to New Zealand in 1864 and during the Waikato war took a contract for supplying the troops with meat, after which he established himself in business at the corner of Wellesley and Queen Streets, Auckland. In 1870, he went to the Bay of Islands and lived for ten years close to “Woodside Farm,” then took a two years' lease of Cavalli Island, grazing thereon over 400 head of cattle and about the same number of sheep. In 1882, Mr. Murray bought “Woodside Farm” and worked it with great industry till his death in 1886, which was caused by a tumour, the result of a kick from a horse. He left a widow and family of seven sons and seven daughters.
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Bramley, William,
              “Sheriff Park,” Kaeo, County Whangaroa. The subject of the present article was born near Bury, Lancashire, on the 12th of October, 1822. He received his early education from his father, a talented and successful teacher in the Old Country, afterwards attended a course of instruction at the Warrington Model School, then went to the Battersea Training College, London, and finally finished his education at the Chester Training Institution for Teachers. During the time he remained in England he held several lucrative situations. He was appointed headmaster of the Dunham Hill Government school, Nottinghamshire, on leaving which he became private tutor to Lord Tamworth, eldest son of Earl Ferrers, of Chartley Castle, Staffordshire. Previous to his coming to New Zealand he was master of the Caldbeck Grammar School (near Carlisle. Cumberland) for four years. With his wife and family he left England for New Zealand on the 10th of June, 1859, in the ship “Tornado” of the White Star line, which arrived in Auckland on the 25th of September of the same year. After remaining in Auckland a short time Mr. Bramley proceeded to Kaeo, where he conducted a private school for fifteen months. Holding excellent testimonials, he received the appointment of master of the Kaeo public school under the Board of Education, which he held for nearly ten years. When he came to Kaeo he took up land under the forty-acre system, receiving 180 acres in all, eighty-seven acres of which he handed over to his eldest son. Mr. Bramley was chairman and treasurer of the Kaeo Road Board, secretary of the Kaeo School Committee, secretary of the Independent Order of Oddfellows (American constitution), and has been associated with the Freemasons for many years. His wife dying on the 3rd of February, 1890, at the ripe old age of seventy-three years, he was left a widower, with a family of six sons and two daughters, one of whom has since died.
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Mr. Richard Edward Gibbs,
              Old Colonist, Kaeo. The late Mr. Gibbs, who was for several years a successful storekeeper at Kaeo, was born in the Isle of Wight in 1838, and was employed at his father's grocery business till he came to New Zealand per “John Duncan” in 1860, when he engaged in bush work at Whangaroa for about two years. In 1872 he established himself in business, also taking over the duties of local postmaster. His enterprise and attention to business gave promise of a very successful future, when four years later his career was unfortunately cut short by drowning on the 6th of June, 1876. The deceased dealt largely in Kauri gum, and on this fatal occasion was engaged in taking a load to Whangaroa for transhipment when the boat upset. Mr. Gibbs was the Baptist local preacher during the early days of Kaeo and superintendent of the Sunday school, which he was instrumental in forming. He also instituted and took an active interest in the Band of Hope. His widow still resides in Kaeo with her daughter; and of her sons, Richard is a captain in the Salvation Army at Stratford, Taranaki, William, a farmer at Paparoa, and Edward, a captain in the Salvation Army in Melbourne.
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Hare, Joseph
, Senior, Settler, Kaco. Mr. Hare, who was born in County Armagh in 1820, was engaged as a school-teacher for twelve year at the Duke of Manchester's ca-tle, Tan-deragee. He landed in New Zealand per ship “Lancashire Witch,” in 1865, and shortly afterwards came to the Kaeo district, where he took up land and settled at Kukuparere, where he remained for twenty years. Mr. Hare is an elder in the sect of “Seventh Day Adventists,” has conducted services in the district since his arrival and subsequently a mission chapel was erected. He was for seven or eight years master of the Orange lodge, and has been associated with the Good Templars.
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Otoroa.

          

            
            


              

                
Otoroa
              
              is situated in Whanga-roa County, 180 miles north of Auckland, and six miles from Kaeo. It receives and despatches a weekly mail.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Frederick Ernest Fairburn
              
              was born in Waimate, Bay of Islands, in 1861, and is a son of the late Mr. R. A. Fairburn. He was educated at the Parnell Grammar School, then spent twelve years in survey work, first with his father and afterwards under Mr. W. H. Wheeler, Government surveyor. Mr. Fairburn established himself in business as a storekeeper and gum buyer at Otoroa, and succeeded in working up a very fair connection.
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Otoroa
              
              is situated in Whanga-roa County, 180 miles north of Auckland, and six miles from Kaeo. It receives and despatches a weekly mail.
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Mr. Frederick Ernest Fairburn
              
              was born in Waimate, Bay of Islands, in 1861, and is a son of the late Mr. R. A. Fairburn. He was educated at the Parnell Grammar School, then spent twelve years in survey work, first with his father and afterwards under Mr. W. H. Wheeler, Government surveyor. Mr. Fairburn established himself in business as a storekeeper and gum buyer at Otoroa, and succeeded in working up a very fair connection.
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Mongonui
              
              (or Mangonui), in the county of that name, is 134 miles from Auckland. It has a fairly good harbour, which was visited by Captain Cook. The country is poor in character as a rule, though there are the rich valleys of Oruru and Victoria. Mongonui possesses a good hotel, a church and a public school, and has weekly communication with Auckland. It also has a telegraph and money order office, and a post office savings bank.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. R. M. Houston,
              Member in the House of Representatives for the Bay of Islands, is the son of a clergyman, and was born at Belfast, Ireland, in 1846. He arrived in New Zealand when he was about twenty years of age, and was for several years school teaching at Otahuhu. After that he became a storekeeper at Mongonui, where he was afterwards chairman of the county council. Mr. Houston first entered Parliament in 1890. At the general election of 1900 he was opposed by Mr. N. A. McLeod, and the voting was—Houston, 2002; McLeod, 1935.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mongonui County
              
              is the most remote northern subdivision in the Colony and has an area of 934 square miles, with a population of 2,262. The capital value of property is about £200,000, on which there is a general rate of 3/4d in the £.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Henry Havelock Thompson
              
              was born in Southern Wairoa in 1866. and is a son of Mr. W. F. Thompson, of Victoria Valley. As a young man he followed farming, but afterwards carried on business for some ten years as a road and bridge contractor. Until 1895 he was in partnership with his brother, since when he has confined



his operations to smaller contracts. In November, 1896, Mr. Thompson was elected a member of Mongonui County Council, and he consistently agitated for the appropriation of money for the improvement of the roads in the district. In February, 1897, he was appointed assistant inspector of roads. Mr. Thompson is fond of athletic sports and is an ardent cricketer.

          

          

            
            


              
The Post And Telegraph Offices,
              Mongonui, were erected about 1873 and constitute an important northern station, with seven telephones along the coast connected with it. These latter are the lighthouse at Cape Maria, ninety miles distant, and intervening wires at Taipa. Kaitala, Awanui, Waipapakauri. Hohoura, and Parengarenga. The arrival of the s.s. “Clansman” at noon every Wednesday necessitates the making up and despatching of mails to many small country townships, situated in a northerly direction, the closing hour being six p.m., at which time southern mails are closed for Whangaroa, Kawakawa, Russell, and Auckland. The post office is an unpretentious wooden building, certainly not what it should be for a station of its status.
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Mr. Alexander Dougal Clemett.
              Postmaster, Telegraphist, and Registrar of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, was appointed to the Mongonui office in 1889. He was born in Ballarat, Victoria, in 1857, came at an early age to New Zealand and received tuition in Wellington under the Rev. Mr. Porritt, completing his education at Kalkoura, where he joined the post and telegraph service. Mr. Clemett served two years at Wanganui and a like term at Marton. He was first appointed postmaster at Te Kopuru, North Wairoa, and five years later was removed to Ohaupo, Waikato. Mr. Clemett was afterwards stationed at Ohaeawai for four and a half years, when he was appointed to his present position. He is the founder of Lodge Mongonul and a past master of Freemasonry, and also takes a lively interest in tennis, being president of the Mongonui Tennis Club.
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O'Neill, William Campbell,
              Licensed and Authorised Surveyor, “Moana,” Mongonui. Bankers, Bank of Australasia, Auckland. Mr. O'Neill was born in Inverary, Scotland, in 1847, and came out to Victoria in 1862, followed the “rush” to the Otago goldfields, subsequently tried his luck on the West Coast, and afterwards at Coromandel, where he experienced the privations and rough camp life which fall to the lot of a surveyor, a profession Mr. O'Neill had elected to follow. For twelve months he was in partnership with Mr. R. Campbell, of Whangaroa, but has now for about thirty years been practising on his own account,



and during that time has surveyed many thousands of acres of country. Mr. O'Neill makes astronomy his special hobby and is a lover of tennis; the view accompanying this notice shows one of the best laid out and prettiest lawn tennis grounds to be found in the Colony. His fine residence is situated on the top of Mongonui Hill, overlooking the harbour and commands an extensive view. Mrs. O'Neill is a daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Shaw, architect.
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Irvine, John,
              Baker, Confectioner, and Boardinghouse-keeper, Mongonui. Mr. Irvine established his business in 1895 and it has continued to expand till it is acknowledged as the leading bakery in Mongonui, with a wide country trade. A popular private boardinghouse is also in the hands of Mr. Irvine, assisted by Mrs. Irvine, and they do all in their power to make settlers and strangers feel perfectly at home. It contains twelve lofty bedrooms affording accommodation for eighteen lodgers. Mr. Irvine was born in Belfast in 1842, was brought up as a baker and followed his trade in Ireland for twelve years, when he went to Liverpool. For fifteen years he was ship's baker on the Cunard, Inman, White Star, and London National steamers. In 1877 Mr. Irvine came to New Zealand per s.s. “Otaki,” and subsequently joined the Union Steamship Company for a few years. He then established himself in business as a baker in Khyber Pass, Auckland, but after two years returned to the sea for another twelve months, when he finally settled at Mongonni.
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                The Settler's Hotel
              
              (Thomas Berg-han, proprietor), Mongonui. This hotel was erected in 1842 and is the oldest wooden building in the Auckland province. It is of two storeys with twelve rooms, is nicely situated and commands a good view of the harbour. There is a pleasant dining-room, and an excellent table always affords a complete welcome to the hungry traveller.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Thomas Berghan,
              Proprietor of the Settler's Hotel, was born in Mongonui in 1859, and spent his early life at farming. Subsequently, he took up 240 acres of land on Cooper's beach, two miles from the township, which he continues to farm. The land is flat, ploughable, good for cropping, and carries a small flock of Lincoln sheep. There is also a fine little homestead. Mr. Eer-ghan has many friends and acquaintances throughout the district, and is the right man in the right place as host of the Settler's Hotel. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Evans, of Waipapakauri, and has a family of two sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Garton, William,
              General Storekeeper, Mongonul. Agent for the National Fire Insurance Company. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland. Mr. Garton took over this old-established business as a going concern in May, 1895. The premises are well-situated in close proximity to the wharf and consist of a two-storey building with a frontage of forty feet. Large stocks, including goods of almost every description are kept on hand. Mr. Garton was born in the East Riding of Yorkshire in 1835, and followed farming pursuits till his departure for Auckland per ship “Matoaka” in 1859. At Awanui he purchased á farm of 200 acres and after spending nearly four years there he sold out owing to the difficulty of communication with Auckland and the natives at times being troublesome. He then commenced farming in the Oruru Valley on a thousand acres of rich land. After twenty years of farm life Mr. Garton turned to the more congenial occupation of storekeeping. He was for eight years a member of the Mongonui County Council, was secretary to the Oruru Road Board, and at various times secretary, treasurer, or chairman of the Oruru School Committee (filling the latter position for fifteen years). He has always given his best assistance to different clergymen visiting the district. Mr. Garton is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Edward Skelton, of Barnetby, in Lincolnshire, and has a grown up family of six sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            

              

Wake, Charles Augustus,
             
 Gum Buyer and General Storekeeper, Mongonui. Branch at Terairi. Mr. Wake purchased this business in 1897 from Mr. A. S. Holmes, by whom it was first established in 1886. There are several buildings occupying many
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hundreds of square feet of floor space with a street frontage of thirty feet. Mr. Wake has by hard work and perseverance succeeded in greatly extending his business, especially the kauri gum trade, of which he has had considerable experience. Several pack-horses are kept continually on the road delivering goods on the gumfields and returning laden with gum. Mr. Wake is a son of Mr. W. H. Wake, formerly schoolmaster at Timaru. He finished his studies at the Normal School, Christchurch, then went to sea for eight years, trading between Australia and New Zealand, and for a like term to foreign ports. In 1894 he went to Rorua and assisted his brother in his store there till 1896, when he moved northwards and established himself at Whangaroa as a gum-buyer and afterwards bought his present business. Mr. Wake is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Henry Rosleur, a well-known old identity of Mongonul.
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Wyles, Robert,
             
 J.P., General Storekeeper, Mongonui. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland. Agent for the Northern Steamship Company and South British Insurance Company. Mr. Wyles established his business as far back as 1862 and it now occupies one of the best positions in Mongonui, on a fine section facing the harbour. The premises are of two stories, with a total floor space of over 1600 square feet. There are also commodious sheds. During the seventies Mr. Wyles had a partner and the business was on a very extensive seale, the firm keeping a small fleet of vessels engaged in trading between the Bay of Islands and North Cape. On the retirement of his partner, Mr. Wyles sold out his business branches at Awanul and Whangaroa, and has since only carried on the one at Mongonui, where by reasonable prices and strict attention he has been more than ordinarily successful. Mr. Wyles was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1833, and educated at the borough school, followed the calling of a draper in Kirkealdy, afterwards in Dublin and later was buyer for a Glasgow firm. He landed in Auckland per ship “Matoaka” in 1859 and took up land outside
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the township of Mongonui. Finding this life uncongenial he gave up farming after three years' trial and established himself in business. Mr. Wyles is a past master in Freemasonry and has been a Justice of the Peace for over twenty years. He sat as a member of the first Mongonui County Council and occupied a seat on the local road board for many years.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Reid Hendry,
              Clerk to Mr. R. Wyles, District Agent of the Northern Steamship Company and United States Consular Agent, Mongonui, was born in Perth, Scotland, in May, 1837, and arrived in Auckland as an Albertland settler by the ship “Hanover” in 1862. He served with the Mauku Forest Rangers through the Waikato war of 1863–4, and received the New Zealand medal. He took an active interest in volunteer matters at Thames, Onehunga, and Otahuhu. Mr. Hendry is a Mason of long standing and an office-bearer in the Provincial Grand Lodge, S.C. He has been connected with various friendly societies, is a past master of the Orange Institution and a Forester. For many years he was connected with the sawmilling and timber industries. Mr. Hendry is married to a daughter of the late Mr. T. J. Blakey, J.P., ex-mayor of Onehunga, and has a son and daughter.

            

              

[image: Mr. J. R. Hendry.]
Mr. 
J. R. Hendry.


            

          

          

            
            


              

                Kauri Timber Company's Sawmills
              
              (Robert Smith, manager), Mongonui. Formerly the property of the Auckland Timber Company, these mills were erected about 1880 and taken over by the Kauri Timber Company in 1888. They are situated on ten acres of land in the northern part of Mongonul harbour, and consist of a two-storey wooden and iron building with floor space of over 10,000 square fect. The mills are capable of turning out 300,000 feet of sawn timber monthly, but are now worked at half-time. Motive power is supplied by a sixty-four horse-power Marshall steam-engine for driving the “break down” and four circular saws. When in full work some twenty-five hands are employed, two of whom are engaged in rafting the logs from the company's booms at the mouth of the Mongonui river, where as many as 2000 or 3000 logs are usually caught, and which have been brought down by means of freshes and dams for a distance of thirty miles.
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Mimiwhangata Station,
              the extensive freehold property of Mr. R. J. Corbett, borders the east coast for five miles and faces the bay from which it takes its name. The area is 1692 acres, and, with the exception of 400 acres, is fenced throughout and subdivided into ten paddocks. Full half the property is of an undulating character, is cleared and rich in grass and graces over 1000 healthy sheep and about 150 head of cattle. Mr. Corbett forwards his produce to Auckland, there being monthly communication with that city, and obtains the best market prices. The homestead is a very complete one with numerous outbuildings, etc., giving an air of solid prosperity to Mimi-whangata. Puriri and pohutukawa timber abounds and is of considerable commercial value.

          

          

            


            
            


              

Mr. Roger John Corbett,
              the owner of Mimiwhangata, took over the property from Mr. Greenway in January, 1897. He is a son of Mr. John Corbett, of Black Horse salt fame, was born in Worcestershire in 1863 and completed his education at Christ Church College, Oxford. For some two or three years he assisted his father at the salt mines and in 1886 came out to the Colonies. Mr. Corbett has paid several visits to the Old Country, the last occasion being 1896, on returning from which he stayed in Auckland for a time before settling down at Mimiwhangata.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Kitchen,
              Old Colonist, Mongonui. The late Mr. Kitchen was a well-known settler and shoemaker in Mongonui. He was born in Grimsby in 1831, and was apprenticed to the shoemakers' trade. He came to New Zealand in 1860 in the ship “Phoenix,” landed in Auckland, and went on to Victoria Valley soon after, being one of the first settlers in that district. At first, he followed his trade in Mongonnui, but he afterwards purchased 171 acres there, and 120 acres at Uruaiti, and turned his attention to farming. He was a member of the Mongonui County Council and Road Board and for some time kept the local post office. Mr. Kitchen was a popular man and respected throughout the district, and when he died of a tumour in 1891, his loss was generally regretted.
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Mongonui
              
              (or Mangonui), in the county of that name, is 134 miles from Auckland. It has a fairly good harbour, which was visited by Captain Cook. The country is poor in character as a rule, though there are the rich valleys of Oruru and Victoria. Mongonui possesses a good hotel, a church and a public school, and has weekly communication with Auckland. It also has a telegraph and money order office, and a post office savings bank.
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Mr. R. M. Houston,
              Member in the House of Representatives for the Bay of Islands, is the son of a clergyman, and was born at Belfast, Ireland, in 1846. He arrived in New Zealand when he was about twenty years of age, and was for several years school teaching at Otahuhu. After that he became a storekeeper at Mongonui, where he was afterwards chairman of the county council. Mr. Houston first entered Parliament in 1890. At the general election of 1900 he was opposed by Mr. N. A. McLeod, and the voting was—Houston, 2002; McLeod, 1935.
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Mongonui County
              
              is the most remote northern subdivision in the Colony and has an area of 934 square miles, with a population of 2,262. The capital value of property is about £200,000, on which there is a general rate of 3/4d in the £.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Henry Havelock Thompson



            
            


              

                
Mr. Henry Havelock Thompson
              
              was born in Southern Wairoa in 1866. and is a son of Mr. W. F. Thompson, of Victoria Valley. As a young man he followed farming, but afterwards carried on business for some ten years as a road and bridge contractor. Until 1895 he was in partnership with his brother, since when he has confined



his operations to smaller contracts. In November, 1896, Mr. Thompson was elected a member of Mongonui County Council, and he consistently agitated for the appropriation of money for the improvement of the roads in the district. In February, 1897, he was appointed assistant inspector of roads. Mr. Thompson is fond of athletic sports and is an ardent cricketer.
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The Post And Telegraph Offices,
              Mongonui, were erected about 1873 and constitute an important northern station, with seven telephones along the coast connected with it. These latter are the lighthouse at Cape Maria, ninety miles distant, and intervening wires at Taipa. Kaitala, Awanui, Waipapakauri. Hohoura, and Parengarenga. The arrival of the s.s. “Clansman” at noon every Wednesday necessitates the making up and despatching of mails to many small country townships, situated in a northerly direction, the closing hour being six p.m., at which time southern mails are closed for Whangaroa, Kawakawa, Russell, and Auckland. The post office is an unpretentious wooden building, certainly not what it should be for a station of its status.
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Mongonui Harbour, Looking West.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Alexander Dougal Clemett



            
            


              

Mr. Alexander Dougal Clemett.
              Postmaster, Telegraphist, and Registrar of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, was appointed to the Mongonui office in 1889. He was born in Ballarat, Victoria, in 1857, came at an early age to New Zealand and received tuition in Wellington under the Rev. Mr. Porritt, completing his education at Kalkoura, where he joined the post and telegraph service. Mr. Clemett served two years at Wanganui and a like term at Marton. He was first appointed postmaster at Te Kopuru, North Wairoa, and five years later was removed to Ohaupo, Waikato. Mr. Clemett was afterwards stationed at Ohaeawai for four and a half years, when he was appointed to his present position. He is the founder of Lodge Mongonul and a past master of Freemasonry, and also takes a lively interest in tennis, being president of the Mongonui Tennis Club.
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O'Neill, William Campbell,
              Licensed and Authorised Surveyor, “Moana,” Mongonui. Bankers, Bank of Australasia, Auckland. Mr. O'Neill was born in Inverary, Scotland, in 1847, and came out to Victoria in 1862, followed the “rush” to the Otago goldfields, subsequently tried his luck on the West Coast, and afterwards at Coromandel, where he experienced the privations and rough camp life which fall to the lot of a surveyor, a profession Mr. O'Neill had elected to follow. For twelve months he was in partnership with Mr. R. Campbell, of Whangaroa, but has now for about thirty years been practising on his own account,



and during that time has surveyed many thousands of acres of country. Mr. O'Neill makes astronomy his special hobby and is a lover of tennis; the view accompanying this notice shows one of the best laid out and prettiest lawn tennis grounds to be found in the Colony. His fine residence is situated on the top of Mongonui Hill, overlooking the harbour and commands an extensive view. Mrs. O'Neill is a daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Shaw, architect.
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Irvine, John,
              Baker, Confectioner, and Boardinghouse-keeper, Mongonui. Mr. Irvine established his business in 1895 and it has continued to expand till it is acknowledged as the leading bakery in Mongonui, with a wide country trade. A popular private boardinghouse is also in the hands of Mr. Irvine, assisted by Mrs. Irvine, and they do all in their power to make settlers and strangers feel perfectly at home. It contains twelve lofty bedrooms affording accommodation for eighteen lodgers. Mr. Irvine was born in Belfast in 1842, was brought up as a baker and followed his trade in Ireland for twelve years, when he went to Liverpool. For fifteen years he was ship's baker on the Cunard, Inman, White Star, and London National steamers. In 1877 Mr. Irvine came to New Zealand per s.s. “Otaki,” and subsequently joined the Union Steamship Company for a few years. He then established himself in business as a baker in Khyber Pass, Auckland, but after two years returned to the sea for another twelve months, when he finally settled at Mongonni.
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                The Settler's Hotel
              
              (Thomas Berg-han, proprietor), Mongonui. This hotel was erected in 1842 and is the oldest wooden building in the Auckland province. It is of two storeys with twelve rooms, is nicely situated and commands a good view of the harbour. There is a pleasant dining-room, and an excellent table always affords a complete welcome to the hungry traveller.
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Mr. Thomas Berghan,
              Proprietor of the Settler's Hotel, was born in Mongonui in 1859, and spent his early life at farming. Subsequently, he took up 240 acres of land on Cooper's beach, two miles from the township, which he continues to farm. The land is flat, ploughable, good for cropping, and carries a small flock of Lincoln sheep. There is also a fine little homestead. Mr. Eer-ghan has many friends and acquaintances throughout the district, and is the right man in the right place as host of the Settler's Hotel. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Evans, of Waipapakauri, and has a family of two sons and three daughters.
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Garton, William,
              General Storekeeper, Mongonul. Agent for the National Fire Insurance Company. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland. Mr. Garton took over this old-established business as a going concern in May, 1895. The premises are well-situated in close proximity to the wharf and consist of a two-storey building with a frontage of forty feet. Large stocks, including goods of almost every description are kept on hand. Mr. Garton was born in the East Riding of Yorkshire in 1835, and followed farming pursuits till his departure for Auckland per ship “Matoaka” in 1859. At Awanui he purchased á farm of 200 acres and after spending nearly four years there he sold out owing to the difficulty of communication with Auckland and the natives at times being troublesome. He then commenced farming in the Oruru Valley on a thousand acres of rich land. After twenty years of farm life Mr. Garton turned to the more congenial occupation of storekeeping. He was for eight years a member of the Mongonui County Council, was secretary to the Oruru Road Board, and at various times secretary, treasurer, or chairman of the Oruru School Committee (filling the latter position for fifteen years). He has always given his best assistance to different clergymen visiting the district. Mr. Garton is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Edward Skelton, of Barnetby, in Lincolnshire, and has a grown up family of six sons and three daughters.
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Wake, Charles Augustus,
             
 Gum Buyer and General Storekeeper, Mongonui. Branch at Terairi. Mr. Wake purchased this business in 1897 from Mr. A. S. Holmes, by whom it was first established in 1886. There are several buildings occupying many
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hundreds of square feet of floor space with a street frontage of thirty feet. Mr. Wake has by hard work and perseverance succeeded in greatly extending his business, especially the kauri gum trade, of which he has had considerable experience. Several pack-horses are kept continually on the road delivering goods on the gumfields and returning laden with gum. Mr. Wake is a son of Mr. W. H. Wake, formerly schoolmaster at Timaru. He finished his studies at the Normal School, Christchurch, then went to sea for eight years, trading between Australia and New Zealand, and for a like term to foreign ports. In 1894 he went to Rorua and assisted his brother in his store there till 1896, when he moved northwards and established himself at Whangaroa as a gum-buyer and afterwards bought his present business. Mr. Wake is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Henry Rosleur, a well-known old identity of Mongonul.
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Wyles, Robert,
             
 J.P., General Storekeeper, Mongonui. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland. Agent for the Northern Steamship Company and South British Insurance Company. Mr. Wyles established his business as far back as 1862 and it now occupies one of the best positions in Mongonui, on a fine section facing the harbour. The premises are of two stories, with a total floor space of over 1600 square feet. There are also commodious sheds. During the seventies Mr. Wyles had a partner and the business was on a very extensive seale, the firm keeping a small fleet of vessels engaged in trading between the Bay of Islands and North Cape. On the retirement of his partner, Mr. Wyles sold out his business branches at Awanul and Whangaroa, and has since only carried on the one at Mongonui, where by reasonable prices and strict attention he has been more than ordinarily successful. Mr. Wyles was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1833, and educated at the borough school, followed the calling of a draper in Kirkealdy, afterwards in Dublin and later was buyer for a Glasgow firm. He landed in Auckland per ship “Matoaka” in 1859 and took up land outside


[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. J. R. Wyles.]

Hanna, photo.


Mr. 
J. R. Wyles.


the township of Mongonui. Finding this life uncongenial he gave up farming after three years' trial and established himself in business. Mr. Wyles is a past master in Freemasonry and has been a Justice of the Peace for over twenty years. He sat as a member of the first Mongonui County Council and occupied a seat on the local road board for many years.
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Mr. James Reid Hendry,
              Clerk to Mr. R. Wyles, District Agent of the Northern Steamship Company and United States Consular Agent, Mongonui, was born in Perth, Scotland, in May, 1837, and arrived in Auckland as an Albertland settler by the ship “Hanover” in 1862. He served with the Mauku Forest Rangers through the Waikato war of 1863–4, and received the New Zealand medal. He took an active interest in volunteer matters at Thames, Onehunga, and Otahuhu. Mr. Hendry is a Mason of long standing and an office-bearer in the Provincial Grand Lodge, S.C. He has been connected with various friendly societies, is a past master of the Orange Institution and a Forester. For many years he was connected with the sawmilling and timber industries. Mr. Hendry is married to a daughter of the late Mr. T. J. Blakey, J.P., ex-mayor of Onehunga, and has a son and daughter.
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                Kauri Timber Company's Sawmills
              
              (Robert Smith, manager), Mongonui. Formerly the property of the Auckland Timber Company, these mills were erected about 1880 and taken over by the Kauri Timber Company in 1888. They are situated on ten acres of land in the northern part of Mongonul harbour, and consist of a two-storey wooden and iron building with floor space of over 10,000 square fect. The mills are capable of turning out 300,000 feet of sawn timber monthly, but are now worked at half-time. Motive power is supplied by a sixty-four horse-power Marshall steam-engine for driving the “break down” and four circular saws. When in full work some twenty-five hands are employed, two of whom are engaged in rafting the logs from the company's booms at the mouth of the Mongonui river, where as many as 2000 or 3000 logs are usually caught, and which have been brought down by means of freshes and dams for a distance of thirty miles.
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Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mimiwhangata Station



            
            


              
Mimiwhangata Station,
              the extensive freehold property of Mr. R. J. Corbett, borders the east coast for five miles and faces the bay from which it takes its name. The area is 1692 acres, and, with the exception of 400 acres, is fenced throughout and subdivided into ten paddocks. Full half the property is of an undulating character, is cleared and rich in grass and graces over 1000 healthy sheep and about 150 head of cattle. Mr. Corbett forwards his produce to Auckland, there being monthly communication with that city, and obtains the best market prices. The homestead is a very complete one with numerous outbuildings, etc., giving an air of solid prosperity to Mimi-whangata. Puriri and pohutukawa timber abounds and is of considerable commercial value.
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Mr. Roger John Corbett,
              the owner of Mimiwhangata, took over the property from Mr. Greenway in January, 1897. He is a son of Mr. John Corbett, of Black Horse salt fame, was born in Worcestershire in 1863 and completed his education at Christ Church College, Oxford. For some two or three years he assisted his father at the salt mines and in 1886 came out to the Colonies. Mr. Corbett has paid several visits to the Old Country, the last occasion being 1896, on returning from which he stayed in Auckland for a time before settling down at Mimiwhangata.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. John Kitchen



            
            


              

Mr. John Kitchen,
              Old Colonist, Mongonui. The late Mr. Kitchen was a well-known settler and shoemaker in Mongonui. He was born in Grimsby in 1831, and was apprenticed to the shoemakers' trade. He came to New Zealand in 1860 in the ship “Phoenix,” landed in Auckland, and went on to Victoria Valley soon after, being one of the first settlers in that district. At first, he followed his trade in Mongonnui, but he afterwards purchased 171 acres there, and 120 acres at Uruaiti, and turned his attention to farming. He was a member of the Mongonui County Council and Road Board and for some time kept the local post office. Mr. Kitchen was a popular man and respected throughout the district, and when he died of a tumour in 1891, his loss was generally regretted.
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Oruru
              
              is an outlying place in Mongonui County, five miles from the port of Mongonui and 189 miles from Auckland. It has a weekly mail service and a telephone office.

          

          

            
            


              

Maria, Nicholas,
              Farmer, Oruru. Mr. Maria's property is situated midway in the Oruru Valley and contains 214 acres of fine country, excellently adapted for maize-growing, sheep and cattle grazing, as well as dairying. Mr. Maria was born in Portugal in 1850, and came to New Zealand per ship “Eliza” in 1866. Proceeding to Monugoni, he engaged in farming pursuits, and was afterwards two years on the Thames goldfields. He then went to California, where he had some additional mining experience. Returning to New Zealand, Mr. Maria purchased his present fine property in Oruru Valley. He met with a painful accident in 1892 by falling off his dray, the wheel passing over and fracturing his leg, necessitating its amputation. Mr. Maria is married to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Evens, of Awanui, and has four sons and three daughters.
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Wilkinson, George,
              Farmer, “Park Farm,” Oruru. Mr. Wilkinson was born in Mongonui in 1864, where he owns a fine property; there is a splendid orchard, planted with a variety of choice healthy trees. The buildings include dwelling, barn, machineryshed, stables, cow-sheds, chaff-house, blacksmith's shop, cart-house, bacon-curing sheds, and four large corn-cribs. Mr. Wilkinson is married to a daughter of Mr. W. Rhodes, formerly of the Kauri Timber Company, Auckland.
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Wilkinson, William,
              Farmer, “Mount Pleasant,” Oruru. Mr. Wilkinson's leasehold property is situated eight miles from Mongonui. He was born in Oruaiti in 1868, and has followed farming pursuits all his life.
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Oruru
              
              is an outlying place in Mongonui County, five miles from the port of Mongonui and 189 miles from Auckland. It has a weekly mail service and a telephone office.
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Maria, Nicholas,
              Farmer, Oruru. Mr. Maria's property is situated midway in the Oruru Valley and contains 214 acres of fine country, excellently adapted for maize-growing, sheep and cattle grazing, as well as dairying. Mr. Maria was born in Portugal in 1850, and came to New Zealand per ship “Eliza” in 1866. Proceeding to Monugoni, he engaged in farming pursuits, and was afterwards two years on the Thames goldfields. He then went to California, where he had some additional mining experience. Returning to New Zealand, Mr. Maria purchased his present fine property in Oruru Valley. He met with a painful accident in 1892 by falling off his dray, the wheel passing over and fracturing his leg, necessitating its amputation. Mr. Maria is married to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Evens, of Awanui, and has four sons and three daughters.
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Wilkinson, George,
              Farmer, “Park Farm,” Oruru. Mr. Wilkinson was born in Mongonui in 1864, where he owns a fine property; there is a splendid orchard, planted with a variety of choice healthy trees. The buildings include dwelling, barn, machineryshed, stables, cow-sheds, chaff-house, blacksmith's shop, cart-house, bacon-curing sheds, and four large corn-cribs. Mr. Wilkinson is married to a daughter of Mr. W. Rhodes, formerly of the Kauri Timber Company, Auckland.
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Wilkinson, William,
              Farmer, “Mount Pleasant,” Oruru. Mr. Wilkinson's leasehold property is situated eight miles from Mongonui. He was born in Oruaiti in 1868, and has followed farming pursuits all his life.
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Peria.

          

            
            


              

                
Peria
              
              is a gum field trading place, ten miles from Mongonui by sea and land. It is 194 miles from Auckland, with which it has weekly mail communication.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Peria Public Hall
              
              (William Hazard, proprietor). This large hall was erected by Mr. Hazard some years ago, and has seating accommodation for 140 people. It is well patronised by travelling companies, and is used by the residents for local entertainments.

          

          

            
            


              

                Peria Accommodation House
              
              (William Hazard, proprietor). This large two storey building is well and conveniently furnished and offers excellent accommodation for the travelling public. The house contains fourteen rooms including a fine sitting-room, dining-room capable of seating about seventy people, and nine bedrooms. The grounds are tastefully laid out, and there is also a capacious stable.

          

          

            
            


              

Flavell, Joseph,
              Saddler and Harness-maker, Peria, near Oruru. Mr. Flavell established himself as above in 1804, and has gained an excellent connection. He is a thoroughly experienced tradesman, and popular with both Europeans and natives. Visitors to the neighbourhood of Peria, who may be in need of saddlery, are recommended to give him a call. Mr. Flavell was born at Rangiaohia in 1841 and is a member of the Rarawa tribe. He can remember the great fight in 1845 between the chiefs Nopera and Pororna, which resulted in the death of the two principal combatants and many of their followers. Mr. Flavell learned his trade at Mongonui, Kawakawa, and Hokianga.
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Hazard, William,
              Gum Buyer and General Merchant, Peria. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Mr. Hazard established his business in 1882. His present premises comprise a fine two-storey building with shop having thirty feet frontage and total floor space of over 400 square feet, and are well stocked with goods, with a large business throughout the district. Mr. Hazard is the manufacturer of the “Key Brand” baking powder. He was in the 57th Regiment, in which he enlisted in 1858, and saw over eight years' hard service in New Zealand, going through the whole of the Taranaki war and being present in several engagements. After the war he went to Australia and spent some time roughing it in the back country. Returning to New Zealand in 1881, he moved north and established his business at Peria. Mr. Hazard is married to a daughter of Mr. W. F. Thompson, of Victoria Valley.
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Peria
              
              is a gum field trading place, ten miles from Mongonui by sea and land. It is 194 miles from Auckland, with which it has weekly mail communication.
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                The Peria Public Hall
              
              (William Hazard, proprietor). This large hall was erected by Mr. Hazard some years ago, and has seating accommodation for 140 people. It is well patronised by travelling companies, and is used by the residents for local entertainments.
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                Peria Accommodation House
              
              (William Hazard, proprietor). This large two storey building is well and conveniently furnished and offers excellent accommodation for the travelling public. The house contains fourteen rooms including a fine sitting-room, dining-room capable of seating about seventy people, and nine bedrooms. The grounds are tastefully laid out, and there is also a capacious stable.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Flavell, Joseph



            
            


              

Flavell, Joseph,
              Saddler and Harness-maker, Peria, near Oruru. Mr. Flavell established himself as above in 1804, and has gained an excellent connection. He is a thoroughly experienced tradesman, and popular with both Europeans and natives. Visitors to the neighbourhood of Peria, who may be in need of saddlery, are recommended to give him a call. Mr. Flavell was born at Rangiaohia in 1841 and is a member of the Rarawa tribe. He can remember the great fight in 1845 between the chiefs Nopera and Pororna, which resulted in the death of the two principal combatants and many of their followers. Mr. Flavell learned his trade at Mongonui, Kawakawa, and Hokianga.
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              Gum Buyer and General Merchant, Peria. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Mr. Hazard established his business in 1882. His present premises comprise a fine two-storey building with shop having thirty feet frontage and total floor space of over 400 square feet, and are well stocked with goods, with a large business throughout the district. Mr. Hazard is the manufacturer of the “Key Brand” baking powder. He was in the 57th Regiment, in which he enlisted in 1858, and saw over eight years' hard service in New Zealand, going through the whole of the Taranaki war and being present in several engagements. After the war he went to Australia and spent some time roughing it in the back country. Returning to New Zealand in 1881, he moved north and established his business at Peria. Mr. Hazard is married to a daughter of Mr. W. F. Thompson, of Victoria Valley.

            

              

[image: Mr. W. Hazard.]
Mr. 
W. Hazard.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Fairburn



          
Fairburn.

          

            
            


              

                
Fairburn
              
              is situated in Mongonui County, and is twenty miles from the township of Mongonui and a total distance of 207 miles from Auckland. There is a weekly mail service.

          

          

            
            


              

Mckay, Alexander,
              Storekeeper, Fairburn. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland. Mr. McKay was born in London and was a book-keeper there for fourteen years, after undergoing a previous mercantile experience of four years in Montreal, Canada. He made up his mind to emigrate to New Zealand, and in 1892 arrived in the s.s. “Ionic” Shortly after his arrival he went north and took up 150 acres of partly improved land. Mr. McKay, finding there was a good opening for business at Fairburn, established his present store in 1893, and has now a rapidly increasing trade.
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Fairburn
              
              is situated in Mongonui County, and is twenty miles from the township of Mongonui and a total distance of 207 miles from Auckland. There is a weekly mail service.
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Mckay, Alexander,
              Storekeeper, Fairburn. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland. Mr. McKay was born in London and was a book-keeper there for fourteen years, after undergoing a previous mercantile experience of four years in Montreal, Canada. He made up his mind to emigrate to New Zealand, and in 1892 arrived in the s.s. “Ionic” Shortly after his arrival he went north and took up 150 acres of partly improved land. Mr. McKay, finding there was a good opening for business at Fairburn, established his present store in 1893, and has now a rapidly increasing trade.
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Victoria Valley
              
              is situated between Hokianga and Mongonui Counties, and forms a stretch of very rich country, with a steadily increasing number of industrious settlers. The soil can grow anything, and sub-tropical fruits should develop into an important local industry. There is a regular weekly mail with Auckland via Mongonui, which is twenty-six miles distant.

          

          

            
            


              
Thompson. William Frederick,
              Farmer, Victoria Valley. Mr. Thompson was born in Manchester in 1829, educated at the Grammar School, and was for four years engaged in newspaper work in London, but relinquished that occupation to enlist in the 78th Highlanders, with which regiment he went to India in 1852. He served through the Persian campaign and was actively engaged during the whole of the indian Mutiny, being at the first real engagement at Futtypore and took part in some thirty-three others down to the battle of Bareilly in May, 1858. Mr. Thompson fought with the defenders of Lucknow, was present at the final relief by Sir Colin Campbell, was twice wounded at the sortie from the Alumbagh, and was also at Cawnpore. He received the Persian medal, and the Indian medal (with clasps) together with the thanks of the Governor-General of India (Lord Canning) for his gallantry at Lucknow. Mr. Thompson returned to England in 1859 and received his discharge after completing ten years of service. In 1864 he came to New Zealand in the “Viola,” landing at Auckland, and settled at Wairoa South, where he resided about twelve years. Sometime thereafter he removed to Victoria Valley, where he purchased 250 acres of land and finally settled there taking an active interest in local affairs as member of the road board and chairman of the school committee for fourteen years. Mr. Thompson is married and has four sons and six daughters. He is a hearty, hale old man, over seventy years of age, and declares he is fit to fight all his old battles over again.
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Thompson. William Frederick,
              Farmer, Victoria Valley. Mr. Thompson was born in Manchester in 1829, educated at the Grammar School, and was for four years engaged in newspaper work in London, but relinquished that occupation to enlist in the 78th Highlanders, with which regiment he went to India in 1852. He served through the Persian campaign and was actively engaged during the whole of the indian Mutiny, being at the first real engagement at Futtypore and took part in some thirty-three others down to the battle of Bareilly in May, 1858. Mr. Thompson fought with the defenders of Lucknow, was present at the final relief by Sir Colin Campbell, was twice wounded at the sortie from the Alumbagh, and was also at Cawnpore. He received the Persian medal, and the Indian medal (with clasps) together with the thanks of the Governor-General of India (Lord Canning) for his gallantry at Lucknow. Mr. Thompson returned to England in 1859 and received his discharge after completing ten years of service. In 1864 he came to New Zealand in the “Viola,” landing at Auckland, and settled at Wairoa South, where he resided about twelve years. Sometime thereafter he removed to Victoria Valley, where he purchased 250 acres of land and finally settled there taking an active interest in local affairs as member of the road board and chairman of the school committee for fourteen years. Mr. Thompson is married and has four sons and six daughters. He is a hearty, hale old man, over seventy years of age, and declares he is fit to fight all his old battles over again.
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Kaitaia.

          

            
            


              

                
Kaitaia
              
              is situated in Mongonui County, and is one of the chief distributing and trading centres of the gumfields. It lies 213 miles north of Auckland, with which it has postal communication twice a week, and it has also a full telegraphic service. The township of Kaitaia is prettily situated, and has a population of about 130. It has an agricultural hall and grounds, a school, hotel, and temperance hotel. The district is pastoral and agricultural, and the township is five miles from the port and ten miles from Ahipara Bay on the west coast, between which and Mongonui lies Lake Tangonge.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Post Office
              
              at Kaitaia is conducted at the premises of Mr. R. H. Matthews, J.P., builder and contractor.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Richard Henry Matthews,
             
 J.P., Postmaster, Kaitaia, was born in Kaitaia in 1835, and is a son of the late Rew. Joseph Matthews, who came to New Zealand in the early thirties and was therefore one of the oldest settlers of the district. Mr. Matthews was appointed superintendent of native schools in the northern districts by Sir George Grey in 1864. These schools, after the plan of the Irish hedge-schools, were opened in all the principal native settlements from Mongonui northwards, under Maori teachers, but were closed five years later for lack of attendance. After having worked amongst the Maores for a few years he bought 1400 acres of land and engaged in farming. For a long time Mr. Matthews did fairly well, but desirous of too rapidly accumulating a fortune, he started a flax-mill, a venture which proved a failure and he suffered considerable loss. Being, however, a man of ready resource and having had some mechanical experience, he took to building very successfully and put up most of the Government structures in the district. In 1870 Mr. Matthews, with many others stricken with gold-fever, went to the Thames where he remained for about two years. On his return to Kaitaia he again became interested in the production of flax, but with no better results. He was appointed in 1869 by the Superintendent of Auckland, a member of the board of health
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for the port of Mongonui. For some years he was president of the Mongonui Agricultural and Pastoral Association, member of the Kaitaia Road Board and Mongonui County Council; as postmaster he performs the duties of the post office, telephone, savings bank, and money order branches, is registrar for births, deaths, and marriages, and collector of sheep rates, property, land, and income taxes. Mr. Matthews is a past-master in Masonry and has acted as grand steward of the Grand Lodge of New Zea-land. He is married to a daughter of the Rev. C. B. L. Dunn (who came to New Zealand in 1860), and has five sons.
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Church Of England,
              Kaitaia. The first building used for worship at Kaitaia was made of raupo, but in 1840, or a year or two later, that was replaced by a large wooden building, 30 feet by 60 feet, with a tower and steeple, 60 feet high. At that time there was only one team of bullocks in the place, and most of the timber required for the church was not only sawn by the native, but drawn by them from the bush, a distance of four miles It was pulled down in 1886. The present pretty little church, 40 feet by 24 feet, not including the chancel, was then built by Mr. R. H. Matthews and his son—the son and grandson of the venerable vicar, since dead—and was consecrated by the Primate, Bishop Cowie, in March, 1887. The late Rev. Joseph Matthews was incumbent till 1888, and the present vicar is the Rev. C. J. Merton.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. William George Puckey,
              Choirmaster at the Kaitaia Anglican Church, is one of the oldest settlers and a son of the late Mr. W. G. Puckey. He was born in 1835 and brought up to farming. Mr. Puckey acquired his present property, called “Woodville,” in 1855; it consists of a freehold of 770 acres of level country and is partly cleared. The soll is of a rich alluvial character, splendidly adapted for growing fruit, maize oats, etc. Mr. Puckey was a prominent member of the school committee and has been for some time connected with the agricultural association. He married a daughter of the late Mr. Hunt, of Carlisle, England, and has two sons and four daughters.
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                Redan Hotel
              
              (Thomas Taaffe, proprictor) Kaitaia. This hotel was erected in 1883 and is situated at the junction of Ahipara with the main north road. It contains twelve rooms, including dining-room, sitting-room, parlour, and smoking-room, with bar adjoining. There is comfortable accommodation for visitors with the additional satisfaction of a good table, the best of wines and spirits. Mr. Taaffe was born in Sydney in 1870 and educated there. After following the trade of a blacksmith intermittently for about seven years, he came to New Zealand in 1892, and went to Whangarel, where he was employed in various branches of business until February, 1896, when he took over the management of the Redan Hotel. He is a member of the Kaitaia Agricultural Association and takes a great interest in sports.

          

          

            
            

              

Grigg, William Robert,
             
 Saddler and Harness-maker, Kaitaia. Mr. Grigg was born at the Thames in 1872 and is the son of Mr. John Grigg, a well-known resident of that town. He was educated at the Kauearanga Boys' School and Thames High School, and was first employed in the jewellery trade, then as a saddler with Mr. George Allen for four years and with Mr. Jones for nineteen months, in order to gain more experience he went to Christchurch and entered the employ of Mr. Howell, and later, to still further increase his knowledge of the trade, he visited Melbourne, where he was in the employ of Mr. Bragg, of Elizabeth Street. On his return to New Zealand,
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Mr. Grigg travelled the Auckland province for awhile and finally settled at Kaitaia, where he started his present business in 1896. To meet the requirements of the district he has recently added a boot and shoe department to his business. He is essentially a cash trader, pays cash and insists on being paid in current coin, claiming that by so doing he can turn out better work at less price than if he followed the credit system. Mr. Grigg has been connected with a number of debating and musical societies.

          

          

            
            


              
Grassmere Station.
              This valuable freehold property consists of 500 acres, half of which is under cultivation and the other half listed for depasturing purposes. On that portion of the land devoted to agriculture the soil is of a rich loamy brown character with a gravel and elay sub-soil. The property is excellently watered and no difficulty is experienced in growing fine crops of wheat, oats, and maize. About 300 sheep are grazed or the farm, chiefly cross-bred Lincoln-Merinos, besides a few shorthorn dairy cows. The homestead, which formerly belonged to Dr. Trimnell, is a single-storey building, very prettily situated on a slight elevation surrounded by ornamental trees, and approached by a winding avenue. The stables, barn, granary, and other outbuildings are complete in every detail and the machinery and farming plant of modern type. “Grassmere” is about three and a half miles from Kaitaia, and seven miles from Ahipara, close to the mative settlement of Pukepoto, the only drawback being the bad state of the roads.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. George Edward Hollis,
              Proprietor of “Grassmere,” was born at Sable in the midlands of France, is the son of the late Mr. Lytton Hollis (master mariner and professor of French), and grandson of Captain Hollis, of the British Army, who served at Waterloo. Mr. Hollis was educated at Marseilles by his father, and in 1885 came to New Zealand in the iron clipper “Turakina” with his parents, who resided at One-hunga for twelve months and afterwards removed north to Awanui, where Mr. Hollis, senior, eventually purchased “Grassmere and lived there till 1894. Mr. George Hollis has considerable musical and literary tastes and he is an excellent violinist.

          

          

            
            


              

Shannon, William Joseph,
              Farmer, Kaitaia. Mr. Shannon, who is a son of the late Mr. E. Shannon, was born in Kaitaia in 1861, and has spent all his life in the district. His farm consists of a freehold of 200 acers, formerly a raupo swamp, but now thoroughly drained and one of the best properties in the country. The breaking up of the ground proved the existence of good alluvial soil all over the farm. There are twenty head of cattle, five draught horses, and about 150 sheep, mostly crossbreds with some pure Lincoins and a few carefully selected stud sheep. He was first elected to the Mongonui County Council in 1884, and sat for many years as the representative of Kaitaia Riding. Mr. Shannon is a popular man and takes great interest in public affairs. He was for a number of years a member of the licensing committee for the Bay of Islands, a member of the agricultural society, vice-president of the acclimatisation society, and member of the North Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, representing the counties of Whangaroa and Mongonui.
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Kaitaia
              
              is situated in Mongonui County, and is one of the chief distributing and trading centres of the gumfields. It lies 213 miles north of Auckland, with which it has postal communication twice a week, and it has also a full telegraphic service. The township of Kaitaia is prettily situated, and has a population of about 130. It has an agricultural hall and grounds, a school, hotel, and temperance hotel. The district is pastoral and agricultural, and the township is five miles from the port and ten miles from Ahipara Bay on the west coast, between which and Mongonui lies Lake Tangonge.
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                The Post Office
              
              at Kaitaia is conducted at the premises of Mr. R. H. Matthews, J.P., builder and contractor.
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Mr. Richard Henry Matthews,
             
 J.P., Postmaster, Kaitaia, was born in Kaitaia in 1835, and is a son of the late Rew. Joseph Matthews, who came to New Zealand in the early thirties and was therefore one of the oldest settlers of the district. Mr. Matthews was appointed superintendent of native schools in the northern districts by Sir George Grey in 1864. These schools, after the plan of the Irish hedge-schools, were opened in all the principal native settlements from Mongonui northwards, under Maori teachers, but were closed five years later for lack of attendance. After having worked amongst the Maores for a few years he bought 1400 acres of land and engaged in farming. For a long time Mr. Matthews did fairly well, but desirous of too rapidly accumulating a fortune, he started a flax-mill, a venture which proved a failure and he suffered considerable loss. Being, however, a man of ready resource and having had some mechanical experience, he took to building very successfully and put up most of the Government structures in the district. In 1870 Mr. Matthews, with many others stricken with gold-fever, went to the Thames where he remained for about two years. On his return to Kaitaia he again became interested in the production of flax, but with no better results. He was appointed in 1869 by the Superintendent of Auckland, a member of the board of health
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for the port of Mongonui. For some years he was president of the Mongonui Agricultural and Pastoral Association, member of the Kaitaia Road Board and Mongonui County Council; as postmaster he performs the duties of the post office, telephone, savings bank, and money order branches, is registrar for births, deaths, and marriages, and collector of sheep rates, property, land, and income taxes. Mr. Matthews is a past-master in Masonry and has acted as grand steward of the Grand Lodge of New Zea-land. He is married to a daughter of the Rev. C. B. L. Dunn (who came to New Zealand in 1860), and has five sons.
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Church Of England,
              Kaitaia. The first building used for worship at Kaitaia was made of raupo, but in 1840, or a year or two later, that was replaced by a large wooden building, 30 feet by 60 feet, with a tower and steeple, 60 feet high. At that time there was only one team of bullocks in the place, and most of the timber required for the church was not only sawn by the native, but drawn by them from the bush, a distance of four miles It was pulled down in 1886. The present pretty little church, 40 feet by 24 feet, not including the chancel, was then built by Mr. R. H. Matthews and his son—the son and grandson of the venerable vicar, since dead—and was consecrated by the Primate, Bishop Cowie, in March, 1887. The late Rev. Joseph Matthews was incumbent till 1888, and the present vicar is the Rev. C. J. Merton.
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Mr. William George Puckey,
              Choirmaster at the Kaitaia Anglican Church, is one of the oldest settlers and a son of the late Mr. W. G. Puckey. He was born in 1835 and brought up to farming. Mr. Puckey acquired his present property, called “Woodville,” in 1855; it consists of a freehold of 770 acres of level country and is partly cleared. The soll is of a rich alluvial character, splendidly adapted for growing fruit, maize oats, etc. Mr. Puckey was a prominent member of the school committee and has been for some time connected with the agricultural association. He married a daughter of the late Mr. Hunt, of Carlisle, England, and has two sons and four daughters.
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                Redan Hotel
              
              (Thomas Taaffe, proprictor) Kaitaia. This hotel was erected in 1883 and is situated at the junction of Ahipara with the main north road. It contains twelve rooms, including dining-room, sitting-room, parlour, and smoking-room, with bar adjoining. There is comfortable accommodation for visitors with the additional satisfaction of a good table, the best of wines and spirits. Mr. Taaffe was born in Sydney in 1870 and educated there. After following the trade of a blacksmith intermittently for about seven years, he came to New Zealand in 1892, and went to Whangarel, where he was employed in various branches of business until February, 1896, when he took over the management of the Redan Hotel. He is a member of the Kaitaia Agricultural Association and takes a great interest in sports.
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Grigg, William Robert,
             
 Saddler and Harness-maker, Kaitaia. Mr. Grigg was born at the Thames in 1872 and is the son of Mr. John Grigg, a well-known resident of that town. He was educated at the Kauearanga Boys' School and Thames High School, and was first employed in the jewellery trade, then as a saddler with Mr. George Allen for four years and with Mr. Jones for nineteen months, in order to gain more experience he went to Christchurch and entered the employ of Mr. Howell, and later, to still further increase his knowledge of the trade, he visited Melbourne, where he was in the employ of Mr. Bragg, of Elizabeth Street. On his return to New Zealand,
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Mr. Grigg travelled the Auckland province for awhile and finally settled at Kaitaia, where he started his present business in 1896. To meet the requirements of the district he has recently added a boot and shoe department to his business. He is essentially a cash trader, pays cash and insists on being paid in current coin, claiming that by so doing he can turn out better work at less price than if he followed the credit system. Mr. Grigg has been connected with a number of debating and musical societies.
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Grassmere Station.
              This valuable freehold property consists of 500 acres, half of which is under cultivation and the other half listed for depasturing purposes. On that portion of the land devoted to agriculture the soil is of a rich loamy brown character with a gravel and elay sub-soil. The property is excellently watered and no difficulty is experienced in growing fine crops of wheat, oats, and maize. About 300 sheep are grazed or the farm, chiefly cross-bred Lincoln-Merinos, besides a few shorthorn dairy cows. The homestead, which formerly belonged to Dr. Trimnell, is a single-storey building, very prettily situated on a slight elevation surrounded by ornamental trees, and approached by a winding avenue. The stables, barn, granary, and other outbuildings are complete in every detail and the machinery and farming plant of modern type. “Grassmere” is about three and a half miles from Kaitaia, and seven miles from Ahipara, close to the mative settlement of Pukepoto, the only drawback being the bad state of the roads.
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Mr. George Edward Hollis,
              Proprietor of “Grassmere,” was born at Sable in the midlands of France, is the son of the late Mr. Lytton Hollis (master mariner and professor of French), and grandson of Captain Hollis, of the British Army, who served at Waterloo. Mr. Hollis was educated at Marseilles by his father, and in 1885 came to New Zealand in the iron clipper “Turakina” with his parents, who resided at One-hunga for twelve months and afterwards removed north to Awanui, where Mr. Hollis, senior, eventually purchased “Grassmere and lived there till 1894. Mr. George Hollis has considerable musical and literary tastes and he is an excellent violinist.
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Shannon, William Joseph,
              Farmer, Kaitaia. Mr. Shannon, who is a son of the late Mr. E. Shannon, was born in Kaitaia in 1861, and has spent all his life in the district. His farm consists of a freehold of 200 acers, formerly a raupo swamp, but now thoroughly drained and one of the best properties in the country. The breaking up of the ground proved the existence of good alluvial soil all over the farm. There are twenty head of cattle, five draught horses, and about 150 sheep, mostly crossbreds with some pure Lincoins and a few carefully selected stud sheep. He was first elected to the Mongonui County Council in 1884, and sat for many years as the representative of Kaitaia Riding. Mr. Shannon is a popular man and takes great interest in public affairs. He was for a number of years a member of the licensing committee for the Bay of Islands, a member of the agricultural society, vice-president of the acclimatisation society, and member of the North Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, representing the counties of Whangaroa and Mongonui.
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Awanui.

          

            
            


              

                
Awanui
              
              is an important trading and distributing centre in Mongonui County, and in touch with the extensive gum and timber industry of that extreme portion of the north. Its total distance from Auckland is 218 miles by sea and land. There is telephone connection with Mongonui, and a weekly mail service with Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Awanui Public School
              
              was opened as it has school about 1875, but since 1889 it has been a Board school for both Maori and European children, and the former are nearly equal to the latter in numbers and general ability. The school grounds occupy an acre and a half, and the building will accommodate fifty-six scholars. There are forty-nine on the roll, with an attendance, varying from thirty in the winter to forty-five in summer. Two scholars in 1898 did well in scholarship examinations; a European obtaining a certificate of proficiency in the Board examination, and a Maori was placed fourth in that for the Te Maharini.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. J. H. Hudson,
              Headmaster, is a son of Mr. J. H. Hudson, J.P., of Kaipara Flats. He was born at Kaukapakapa in 1866, and was educated mainly at the Warkworth school. After a short trial at farming, during which he was following up his scholastic studies, Mr. Hudson began teaching at the Port Charles school, from which he was transferred to Waiheke Island in August, 1894, and was appointed to his present position in October, 1897. He devotes his leisure to University study and literature. Mrs. Hudson, who conducts the local post office, is a daughter cf the late Captain Beckend, well known as a trader to the South Sea Islands.
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Subritzky, Ludolph Anton,
              Gum Merchant and General Storekeeper, Awanul. Branch store in California. Mr. Subritzky has a property of about seventeen acres, adjoining the wharf, where he has erected commodious business premises, including a store 24 x 18 feet. He carries a heavy stock of general provisions, and owing to his being a cash purchaser and having an interest in the boat “Medora,” is enabled to supply his customers with the best of goods at fair prices. He has an extensive connection amongst the gum-diggers and settlers of the district. He is a son of Mr. J. A. Subritzky, and was born at Mount Maldon, Victoria, in 1856, and first came to



New Zealand in the old barque “Prince Alfred” in 1867. He engaged in cattle-farming and flax-milling at Hohoura; afterwards he followed a seafaring life for about fifteen years, during which time he was skipper of the “Venture” and the old “Medora;” and in 1888 he commenced business, Mr. Subritzky has large property interests in the district, but takes no part in public affairs. He is married to a daughter of Mr. William Lloyd, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Glaudet, Lionel Henry,
              Awanui. Mr Claudet was born in San Francisco in 1861 and is the son of Mr. F. Claudet, assayer at the Bank of England. His grandfather, Mr. George Antoine Claudet, worked with Daguerre, and was one of the first to introduce the art of photography. On his mother's side he is a grandson of Mr. Stone, famous as one of the leading members of the Beefsteak Club, London, is a cousin of Messrs. Martin Bros., well-known bankers in Lombard Street, and is also cousin of Rear-Admiral Crozier, of the Isle of Wight. Mr. Claudet was educated at Highgate College, and was with his father for four years in the assay department of the Bank. He landed in Auckland per ship “Oxford” in 1880, and served a cadetship at Katiknti with Mr. V. Stewart: afterwards he went to the goldfields at Te Aroha, where he remained for twelve months and then went to Cambridge and Piako for eighteen months. His next move was to Mongonui, where he was for a time an employee of the Auckland Timber Company as tally and shipping clerk; then he joined Mr. S. Yates of Parengarenga in whose store he served twelve months. About this time he became interested in the gum trade and was connected with it, off and on, for about ten years, visiting the various gumfields at intervals and gaining practical knowledge of the business. He served as a special constable during the time there were some native disturbances. In 1889 he went to England for about twelve months, returning to New Zealand in 1890. Mr. Claudet is very fond of athletc sports, especially cricket and football. He was a member of the Mongonui County Coun cil for six years, and during two years of that time filled the office of chairman; he was at one time chairman of the licensing bench, and is at present a prominent member of the Kaitaia Agricultural Society, of which he was one of the first committee. He is married to a daughter of Mr. George Richards, of Awanui.
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Awanui
              
              is an important trading and distributing centre in Mongonui County, and in touch with the extensive gum and timber industry of that extreme portion of the north. Its total distance from Auckland is 218 miles by sea and land. There is telephone connection with Mongonui, and a weekly mail service with Auckland.
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                The Awanui Public School
              
              was opened as it has school about 1875, but since 1889 it has been a Board school for both Maori and European children, and the former are nearly equal to the latter in numbers and general ability. The school grounds occupy an acre and a half, and the building will accommodate fifty-six scholars. There are forty-nine on the roll, with an attendance, varying from thirty in the winter to forty-five in summer. Two scholars in 1898 did well in scholarship examinations; a European obtaining a certificate of proficiency in the Board examination, and a Maori was placed fourth in that for the Te Maharini.
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              Gum Merchant and General Storekeeper, Awanul. Branch store in California. Mr. Subritzky has a property of about seventeen acres, adjoining the wharf, where he has erected commodious business premises, including a store 24 x 18 feet. He carries a heavy stock of general provisions, and owing to his being a cash purchaser and having an interest in the boat “Medora,” is enabled to supply his customers with the best of goods at fair prices. He has an extensive connection amongst the gum-diggers and settlers of the district. He is a son of Mr. J. A. Subritzky, and was born at Mount Maldon, Victoria, in 1856, and first came to
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              Awanui. Mr Claudet was born in San Francisco in 1861 and is the son of Mr. F. Claudet, assayer at the Bank of England. His grandfather, Mr. George Antoine Claudet, worked with Daguerre, and was one of the first to introduce the art of photography. On his mother's side he is a grandson of Mr. Stone, famous as one of the leading members of the Beefsteak Club, London, is a cousin of Messrs. Martin Bros., well-known bankers in Lombard Street, and is also cousin of Rear-Admiral Crozier, of the Isle of Wight. Mr. Claudet was educated at Highgate College, and was with his father for four years in the assay department of the Bank. He landed in Auckland per ship “Oxford” in 1880, and served a cadetship at Katiknti with Mr. V. Stewart: afterwards he went to the goldfields at Te Aroha, where he remained for twelve months and then went to Cambridge and Piako for eighteen months. His next move was to Mongonui, where he was for a time an employee of the Auckland Timber Company as tally and shipping clerk; then he joined Mr. S. Yates of Parengarenga in whose store he served twelve months. About this time he became interested in the gum trade and was connected with it, off and on, for about ten years, visiting the various gumfields at intervals and gaining practical knowledge of the business. He served as a special constable during the time there were some native disturbances. In 1889 he went to England for about twelve months, returning to New Zealand in 1890. Mr. Claudet is very fond of athletc sports, especially cricket and football. He was a member of the Mongonui County Coun cil for six years, and during two years of that time filled the office of chairman; he was at one time chairman of the licensing bench, and is at present a prominent member of the Kaitaia Agricultural Society, of which he was one of the first committee. He is married to a daughter of Mr. George Richards, of Awanui.
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Mangatete
              
              is in Mongonui County, near Awanui, which is 218 miles from Auckland.

          

          

            
            


              

Burgoyne, William,
              General Store-keeper and Gum Buyer, Mangatete. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Burgoyne was born at Newcastle-on-Tyne in 1861, and is a son of Mr. Alfred Burgoyne. He was educated in London and came to New Zealand at the age of fifteen in the “Blairgowric,” on her maiden trip, and landed at Lyttelton. Shortly after his arrival he entered the telegraph department, where he remained for about two years, and was afterwards engaged in various employments in the South Island. He then came north and was at Parihaka during the Te Whiti trouble, after which he joined the constabulary for some time, then took a situation in a store in Auckland for about two years. After that he took up a village settlement at Herekino, and finally after some experience on the gumfields and qualifying as an expert in the gum trade, he started business in 1893 in Mangatete, where he has remained ever since. He keeps an extensive stock on nand of groceries, boots, drapery, etc., etc. His principal interest, however, is in gum, in which he deals largely through his Auckland agents, Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co. Mr. Burgoyne is an active member of the English church of Kaitaia. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Martin, of Mongonui.
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Burgoyne, William,
              General Store-keeper and Gum Buyer, Mangatete. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Burgoyne was born at Newcastle-on-Tyne in 1861, and is a son of Mr. Alfred Burgoyne. He was educated in London and came to New Zealand at the age of fifteen in the “Blairgowric,” on her maiden trip, and landed at Lyttelton. Shortly after his arrival he entered the telegraph department, where he remained for about two years, and was afterwards engaged in various employments in the South Island. He then came north and was at Parihaka during the Te Whiti trouble, after which he joined the constabulary for some time, then took a situation in a store in Auckland for about two years. After that he took up a village settlement at Herekino, and finally after some experience on the gumfields and qualifying as an expert in the gum trade, he started business in 1893 in Mangatete, where he has remained ever since. He keeps an extensive stock on nand of groceries, boots, drapery, etc., etc. His principal interest, however, is in gum, in which he deals largely through his Auckland agents, Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co. Mr. Burgoyne is an active member of the English church of Kaitaia. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Martin, of Mongonui.

            

              

[image: Mr. W. Burgoyne.]
Mr. 
W. Burgoyne.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Waipapakauri





          
Waipapakauri.

          

            
            


              

                
Waipapakauri
              
              is a remote gumfield station in the county of Mongonui. The gum industry of the district is carried on chiefly under the energetic direction of Mr. Joseph Evans, who employs a large number of men and has large gum sheds and general stores at various places throughout the county.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Traveller's Rest Hotel
              
              (Joseph Evans, proprietor), Waipapakauri, was established in 1890 by Mr. Evans, and is a two-storey wooden building containing seventeen rooms. There are twelve bedrooms, two parlours (one a private parlour), large dining-room, and a billiard-room fitted up with a first-class table by Alcock. The dining-table can comfortably seat thirty-five people and the bedrooms are lofty and nicely furnished, the domestic management being conducted by Mrs. Evans assisted by her daughter. The house is well patronised by commercial travellers generally and adjacent settlers, as well as being the favorite stopping-place for gum diggers.
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Traveller's Rest Hotel, Waipapakauri.


            

          

          

            
            

              

Evans, Joseph,
             
 Hotelkeeper, Gum Buyer, General Merchant and Storekeeper, and Landed Proprietor, Waipapakauri. Branches at Awanui, Hohoura, Tekao, and Waiharara. Mr. Evans' store is the central distributing depot for the various outlying districts within a radius of fifty miles. Mr. Evans deals very largely in kauri gum, and generally has large stocks on hand waiting to be sorted and shipped to Auckland. When out buying he often rides fifty or sixty miles a day; his principle is invariably to pay in cash (usually gold) immediately on delivery of his purchase, and so heavy are some of his transactions, taken in the aggregate, that he has earned the name of the “Gum King.” He has erected at the head station at Waipapakauri, two large stores, or gum sheds as they are called locally, for storing and classification. Gum is bought at prices ranging from six shillings to 100s. per cwt., sugar gum being the lowest grade, followed by block, good, brown, ordinary, white, re-scraped white—bright amber-coloured—and, finally, dial gum, which is only obtained in small quantities. The fields extend from the east to the west coasts, on which there are about 500 Austrians at the present time, the largest number of them being at Tekao. Mr. Evans ships fortnightly to Auckland, his shipments occasionally amounting in value to over £1100, the well-known firm of Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co. being his agents, and to whom he attributes much of his success. Mr. Evans' monthly freight charges range from £70 to £95, and as an illustration of the extent of his purchases, from the end of February to the end of May, 1897, his disbursements were £7000, and he often makes advances on gum to the diggers, without interest. His head gum-classer is Mr. James Beasley. The gum when purchased from the diggers is collected by means of Mr. Evans' bullock drays, for which he has sixty working bullocks. With regard to the question of the Austrians on the gum-fields, Mr. Evans says that ground will not be worked out for very many years, and he believes in the Austrians, as he finds them strictly honest, sober, and upright in all their dealings. They have never been known to defraud the storekeeper, and as a rule live fairly well; he has had as many as 500 working for him and their transactions have always been perfectly satisfactory. On the whole they dig good gum and work in gangs of from three to six. He estimates that there are about 500 Austrians, 200 other Europeans, and 300 natives digging in and around the country from shore to shore. There has been a recent rush to Waiharara, where the gum is expected to hold out for at least twenty years. Some few years ago, Mr. Evans was successful in petitioning the Government to have the land at Hohoura opened up, the result being that at the present time there is a prosperous little settlement there, the settlers having nice houses pleasantly situated, and as a rule are hard-working and industrious, many of them with considerable property. Mr. Evans has a freehold of about 6000 acres at Tekao and employs a number of diggers there. The branch store at Hohoura is about the same size as the one at Waipapakauri, and the amount of gum purchased ranges from £400 to £500 monthly. The adjacent land is suitable for farming, if it were only cut up, but the settlers seem more inclined to stock it with cattle and sheep than turn to agriculture. Mr. Evans has recently bought a fine property there, and has also purchased about 6000 acres from Mr. Cousins, of Auckland. The branch business at Waiharara has been making great strides for the time it has been in existence. On that field, which is Crown land, the gum is of an excellent quality and very plentiful, and the diggers are mostly Europeans, with a sprinkling of natives and Austrians. The 6000 acres bought from Mr. Cousins lies between Hohoura and the coast; a great deal of it is flat, good cropping country, about one-third of the property being really good land yielding as much as fifty bushels of maize to the acre, besides fine crops of oats. Mr. Evans has about 150 head of cattle on the run,
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mostly used for breeding purposes, young steers being forwarded annually to the sales at Oruru. Mount Camel, which forms part of his run, is a fine picturesque mountain, formerly owned by Messrs Subritzky Bros. During Mr. Evans' occasional absence from the head branch at Waipapakauri, the business is managed by his son, Mr. George Evans, who resides on his freehold property of 170 acres, a beautiful farm bearing the reputation of being the best in the district. The Hohoura branch is in charge of the second son, Mr. William Evans, assisted by Mr. Walter Evans who superintends the carting of gum and delivery of stores over the fields. The Waiharara branch is under the control of Mr. Oscar Evans, Mr. Joseph Evans was born in Stockport, Lancashire, in 1833, and is a son of the late Mr. Robert Evans, who was in the employ of the great contractor Mr. Brassey, father of Lord Brassey, and was principally engaged in the construction of side-walls and arches of tunnels. The subject of this sketch was self-taught and spent most of his early life in Staffordshire as an ironworker, chiefly at Hauley for Earl Granville, and for Lord Ward at South Staffordshire, including three years at Brown and Frear's scarp furnace at the later place. In 1865 he came to New Zealand in the “Andrew Jackson,” bringing with him two daughters and one son; he left one son at home, but sent for him six years later. He landed in Auckland, where he remained for two months, then went on to Mongonui, where he started work in the kauri bush for Messrs. Drury and Fletcher, and where now are nothing but gumfields. After being there for about eighteen months, he was burnt out and removed to Mangatete, where he took up his forty-acre grant, as he had emigrated under that system. He was at Mangatete until 1885, during that time contracting for the county council and road board. By degrees Mr. Evans increased his holding until when he left the district he had 100 acres of freehold land, the whole of which was cleared, laid down in grass, and mostly under cultivation. He has recently further purchased 260 acres of freehold property, which has the making of a nice place; the land is slightly undulating, much of it being very suitable for cropping and fruit-growing. The property at Waipapakauri was taken up in 1885 and the hotel acquired about 1890. Mr. Evans declares that, although he is well and favourably known throughout the north, he has not yet reached the top of the tree, and as he is an energetic man and never happier than when hard at work, he is steadily and successfully building up his fortunes. Mr. Evans is a member of the Mongonui County Council to which he was first elected in 1888, having been re-elected on every occasion since, for Awanui Riding. He has, through the agency of Mr. Houston, M. H. R., succeeded in obtaining a Government grant for the road from Hohoura to the west coast. When he first came to Waipapakauri there was no road to Awanui; now there is one bridged, drained, and well-constructed. Mr. Evans is married to a daughter of the late Mr. John Cox, of Staffordshire, and has reared a family of seven sons and five daughters, all the former being employed at the various branches of the business. Four of the daughters are married, and reside in the district; namely, Mrs. Thomas Berghan at the Settler's Hotel. Mongonui, Mrs. Nicholas Maria, of Oruru valley, Mrs. Robert Williams at Oruru, and Mrs. White at Victoria Valley.
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Waipapakauri
              
              is a remote gumfield station in the county of Mongonui. The gum industry of the district is carried on chiefly under the energetic direction of Mr. Joseph Evans, who employs a large number of men and has large gum sheds and general stores at various places throughout the county.
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                The Traveller's Rest Hotel
              
              (Joseph Evans, proprietor), Waipapakauri, was established in 1890 by Mr. Evans, and is a two-storey wooden building containing seventeen rooms. There are twelve bedrooms, two parlours (one a private parlour), large dining-room, and a billiard-room fitted up with a first-class table by Alcock. The dining-table can comfortably seat thirty-five people and the bedrooms are lofty and nicely furnished, the domestic management being conducted by Mrs. Evans assisted by her daughter. The house is well patronised by commercial travellers generally and adjacent settlers, as well as being the favorite stopping-place for gum diggers.

            

              

[image: Traveller's Rest Hotel, Waipapakauri.]

Traveller's Rest Hotel, Waipapakauri.
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Evans, Joseph,
             
 Hotelkeeper, Gum Buyer, General Merchant and Storekeeper, and Landed Proprietor, Waipapakauri. Branches at Awanui, Hohoura, Tekao, and Waiharara. Mr. Evans' store is the central distributing depot for the various outlying districts within a radius of fifty miles. Mr. Evans deals very largely in kauri gum, and generally has large stocks on hand waiting to be sorted and shipped to Auckland. When out buying he often rides fifty or sixty miles a day; his principle is invariably to pay in cash (usually gold) immediately on delivery of his purchase, and so heavy are some of his transactions, taken in the aggregate, that he has earned the name of the “Gum King.” He has erected at the head station at Waipapakauri, two large stores, or gum sheds as they are called locally, for storing and classification. Gum is bought at prices ranging from six shillings to 100s. per cwt., sugar gum being the lowest grade, followed by block, good, brown, ordinary, white, re-scraped white—bright amber-coloured—and, finally, dial gum, which is only obtained in small quantities. The fields extend from the east to the west coasts, on which there are about 500 Austrians at the present time, the largest number of them being at Tekao. Mr. Evans ships fortnightly to Auckland, his shipments occasionally amounting in value to over £1100, the well-known firm of Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co. being his agents, and to whom he attributes much of his success. Mr. Evans' monthly freight charges range from £70 to £95, and as an illustration of the extent of his purchases, from the end of February to the end of May, 1897, his disbursements were £7000, and he often makes advances on gum to the diggers, without interest. His head gum-classer is Mr. James Beasley. The gum when purchased from the diggers is collected by means of Mr. Evans' bullock drays, for which he has sixty working bullocks. With regard to the question of the Austrians on the gum-fields, Mr. Evans says that ground will not be worked out for very many years, and he believes in the Austrians, as he finds them strictly honest, sober, and upright in all their dealings. They have never been known to defraud the storekeeper, and as a rule live fairly well; he has had as many as 500 working for him and their transactions have always been perfectly satisfactory. On the whole they dig good gum and work in gangs of from three to six. He estimates that there are about 500 Austrians, 200 other Europeans, and 300 natives digging in and around the country from shore to shore. There has been a recent rush to Waiharara, where the gum is expected to hold out for at least twenty years. Some few years ago, Mr. Evans was successful in petitioning the Government to have the land at Hohoura opened up, the result being that at the present time there is a prosperous little settlement there, the settlers having nice houses pleasantly situated, and as a rule are hard-working and industrious, many of them with considerable property. Mr. Evans has a freehold of about 6000 acres at Tekao and employs a number of diggers there. The branch store at Hohoura is about the same size as the one at Waipapakauri, and the amount of gum purchased ranges from £400 to £500 monthly. The adjacent land is suitable for farming, if it were only cut up, but the settlers seem more inclined to stock it with cattle and sheep than turn to agriculture. Mr. Evans has recently bought a fine property there, and has also purchased about 6000 acres from Mr. Cousins, of Auckland. The branch business at Waiharara has been making great strides for the time it has been in existence. On that field, which is Crown land, the gum is of an excellent quality and very plentiful, and the diggers are mostly Europeans, with a sprinkling of natives and Austrians. The 6000 acres bought from Mr. Cousins lies between Hohoura and the coast; a great deal of it is flat, good cropping country, about one-third of the property being really good land yielding as much as fifty bushels of maize to the acre, besides fine crops of oats. Mr. Evans has about 150 head of cattle on the run,
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mostly used for breeding purposes, young steers being forwarded annually to the sales at Oruru. Mount Camel, which forms part of his run, is a fine picturesque mountain, formerly owned by Messrs Subritzky Bros. During Mr. Evans' occasional absence from the head branch at Waipapakauri, the business is managed by his son, Mr. George Evans, who resides on his freehold property of 170 acres, a beautiful farm bearing the reputation of being the best in the district. The Hohoura branch is in charge of the second son, Mr. William Evans, assisted by Mr. Walter Evans who superintends the carting of gum and delivery of stores over the fields. The Waiharara branch is under the control of Mr. Oscar Evans, Mr. Joseph Evans was born in Stockport, Lancashire, in 1833, and is a son of the late Mr. Robert Evans, who was in the employ of the great contractor Mr. Brassey, father of Lord Brassey, and was principally engaged in the construction of side-walls and arches of tunnels. The subject of this sketch was self-taught and spent most of his early life in Staffordshire as an ironworker, chiefly at Hauley for Earl Granville, and for Lord Ward at South Staffordshire, including three years at Brown and Frear's scarp furnace at the later place. In 1865 he came to New Zealand in the “Andrew Jackson,” bringing with him two daughters and one son; he left one son at home, but sent for him six years later. He landed in Auckland, where he remained for two months, then went on to Mongonui, where he started work in the kauri bush for Messrs. Drury and Fletcher, and where now are nothing but gumfields. After being there for about eighteen months, he was burnt out and removed to Mangatete, where he took up his forty-acre grant, as he had emigrated under that system. He was at Mangatete until 1885, during that time contracting for the county council and road board. By degrees Mr. Evans increased his holding until when he left the district he had 100 acres of freehold land, the whole of which was cleared, laid down in grass, and mostly under cultivation. He has recently further purchased 260 acres of freehold property, which has the making of a nice place; the land is slightly undulating, much of it being very suitable for cropping and fruit-growing. The property at Waipapakauri was taken up in 1885 and the hotel acquired about 1890. Mr. Evans declares that, although he is well and favourably known throughout the north, he has not yet reached the top of the tree, and as he is an energetic man and never happier than when hard at work, he is steadily and successfully building up his fortunes. Mr. Evans is a member of the Mongonui County Council to which he was first elected in 1888, having been re-elected on every occasion since, for Awanui Riding. He has, through the agency of Mr. Houston, M. H. R., succeeded in obtaining a Government grant for the road from Hohoura to the west coast. When he first came to Waipapakauri there was no road to Awanui; now there is one bridged, drained, and well-constructed. Mr. Evans is married to a daughter of the late Mr. John Cox, of Staffordshire, and has reared a family of seven sons and five daughters, all the former being employed at the various branches of the business. Four of the daughters are married, and reside in the district; namely, Mrs. Thomas Berghan at the Settler's Hotel. Mongonui, Mrs. Nicholas Maria, of Oruru valley, Mrs. Robert Williams at Oruru, and Mrs. White at Victoria Valley.
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The Lighthouse, Cape Maria Van Dieman.
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Ahipara
              
              is a gum digging district in the county of Mongonui, and is 224 miles from Auckland. There are several stores and a school in the township, and gum digging throughout the district is carried on chiefly by the Maoris. A weekly mail leaves Auckland every Monday, and reaches the local post office on Thursday afternoon. Ahipara is forty miles from the town of Mongonui, and travelling between the two places is done chiefly on horseback.

          

          

            
            


              
Berghan, Mrs. James,
              Storekeeper and Proprietress of Seaview House, Ahipara. Mrs. Berghan is the widow of the late Mr. James Berghan (referred to elsewhere) and carries on the business formerly conducted by him. The general store was established in 1875 and its connections extend locally over a radius of more than twenty miles. The principal feature of the business is the purchase of gum and wool, which are consigned to Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co., Auckland. A general stock of supplies is kept on hand and a large retail trade is done. The building has a thirty feet frontage.

          

          

            
            


              

Bowman, John,
              General Storekeeper and Gum Buyer, Ahipara. Mr. Bowman was born at Bangor, County Down, North of Ireland, in 1824, and followed the business of a butcher and cattle-dealer until 1852 when he left for Australia by the “James Carson,” landing in Melbourne. On his arrival he went to the gold diggings and spent nearly six years at Ballarat and Bendigo, where he did very well. In 1858 he visited the Old Country and on his return to the Colony in 1861, he left almost immediately for the “rush” at Gabriel's Gully and afterwards went to the Coromandel field, where he worked with success on the Kapanga claim for some time, he and his three mates being the first to erect machinery. In 1866, he removed to Ahipara and started his present business.
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Mr. James Berghan,
             
 Old Colonist, Ahipara. The late Mr. Berghan was born in Hokianga in 1832 and spent the greater portion of his early life in Mongonui.
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The Late Mr. 
J. Berghan.


He adopted a seafaring life and served in an American whaler and afterwards on a ship running to Newcastle. When the gold rush broke out in Victoria he left the sea and went to the fields, spending some time at Ballarat and Bendigo. Afterwards, he was on the West Coast of New Zealand for a time, finally returning to Mongonui in 1867. He married the daughter of Mr. William Frear, of Mongonui, in 1868, and two years later moved to Ahipara, where he entered into business. He conducted a hotel for nine years, and in 1891 made his headquarters at Kaitaia where he remained until his death in November, 1893. Mr. Berghan was a quiet man of a very retiring disposition and took very little interest in public affairs. He left a widow with six sons and four daughters. Mrs. Berghan is referred to elsewhere in connection with her business.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Work Reid,
              Old Colonist, Ahipara. Mr. Reid, who for many years conducted a successful business at Ahipara, was born in Vestrey, Orkney Islands, in 1830, and after having been engaged for some years on Lord Balfour's estate as overseer, gave up that employment and emigrated to New Zealand, arriving at Auckland in the “Lord Burleigh” in 1862. After undergoing some of the trials of colonial life, Mr. Reid wended his way to the “Far North,” where he made arrangements with the natives for the purchase of kauri gum. Mr. Reid, finding his business increasing beyond expectation, was of necessity compelled to build extensive premises to provide storage room for gum, etc. Through close attention to business combined with perseverance and a natural aptitude for dealing with the natives, he very soon acquired a competency which enabled him during his life-time to make ample provision for his wife and large grown-up family. Mr. Reid died on the 29th of July, 1897, much regretted by Europeans and natives by whom he was held in great respect. For six years he was a member of Mongonui County Council and for three years was chairman; and during the long term of thirty-two years he held the position of postmaster of Ahipara with satisfaction to the general public.
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Mr. James Work Reid,
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Waihopo
              
              is sixty-eight miles from Mongonui and 252 from Aucklann. It is situated on the gumfields, which provide its principal staple. A weekly mail arrives and departs every Friday, and the local post office transacts savings bank business and has a telephone bureau.

          

          

            
            


              

Tynan, John Magee,
              Runholder, Cattle Dealer, Gum Buyer, and General Storekeeper, Waihopo, Bankers, Union Bank of Australia, Auckland. Mr. Tynan has an extensive property comprising 2400 acres freehold of partly reclaimed swamp, and 20,000 acres leased from the Government. The run is one of the best in the North and comprises first-class feeding and grazing country. There are about 350 head of cattle on the run and a considerable portion of the land is devoted to the cultivation of maize, wheat, oats, etc. The beauty of the property is enhanced by a luxuriant growth of plantations of the Australian silver wattle. Mr. Tynan has a very large store 43 x 25 feet, with a gum-shed 33 x 30 feet in extent, and his extensive business includes the purchase and sale of gum, ambergris, horses, cattle, and general merchandise. Although employing a large staff of sorters and experts, he always personally attends to the gum buying branch, which amounts to about £8000 annually. The gum is usually shipped to Mr. W. S. Whitley and sold in Auckland, seldom if ever being stored in the city for any length of time. Tekao settlement is distant about twelve miles north and Hohoura about five miles south from Mr. Tynan's headquarters, but his trade extends considerably beyond these limits. For the convenience of many of his customers, he has added butchering to the general business. Mr. Tynan was born at Monaghan, north of Ireland, in 1855, and as a young man worked at Ballinasloe in the west. He came to New Zealand in 1876 by the “Orari” and was for two years engaged in the baking trade, after which he started farming, gave that up for bus-driving, and finally entered the service of the Union Sash and Door Company by which he was given charge of its Tairua store, where he remained for nearly two years, leaving to proceed to Fiji. On his return from the Islands he worked at Aratapu and was associated with Messrs. Jackson and Co., for eight years, during which period he went to Whangaroa and had charge of their branches at Awanul Heads, Waipapakauri, Tekao, and other places. In 1888 he sold out his interest and started his present business. Mr. Tynan is a member of the school committee, secretary of the Waihopo Racing Club, and has been a prominent Mason for many years. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. J. A. Subritzky, reliet of the late Mr. Moore, and has three sons and three daughters.
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Reid, John Maloney,
              Farmer, Hukatere Farm, near Hohoura, North Cape, Auckland. Mr. Reid has a fine freehold property of 400 acres. It has a frontage to the sea for a considerable distance, and is admirably adapted for cattle grazing purposes, in connection with a large tract of leasehold property held by Mr. Reid. The stock turned out from Mr. Reid's run are fine healthy animals and command good prices at the saleyards. Mr. Reid crops a small piece of land for his own immediate requirements. He also keeps an accommodation house, which is so situated that it is a boon to travellers, who have to pass along the “Seventy Mile Beach.” It is plainly visible from the sandy beach, and the weary wayfarer finds in Mrs. Reid an admirable hostess. Horses, too, are well fed and cared for at the adjoining stables. Mr. Reid was born in the Cape of Good Hope, in 1864, and came to New Zealand with his parents, when he was four years of age. He spent the early part of his life in Auckland, and afterwards became engaged in stock dealing at Ahipara. Mr. Reid took up “Hukatere” in 1892.
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Herekino
              
              is a trading place on the gumfields, twenty-one miles from Kaitaia in Mongonui County. It is 234 miles from Auckland, and has a weekly mail service.

          

          

            
            


              

Gardiner, Christopher P.,
              General Storekeeper, Herekino. Mr. Gardiner was born in Connecticut, United States of America, in 1828, and came to New Zealand in 1845. He worked as a sawyer for three or four years in the north, then took to a sea-faring life for over twenty years, and for many years had charge of the “Waipa” steamer on the Waikato river. Later, he entered the employment of Mr. Gibbons and became manager of his saw-mills at the Manukan Heads for five years, after which he went to the Waikato and became proprietor of the Orakau mills. Two years later, he contracted to erect a mill for Mr. Gibbons at Swanson, and afterwards took the management of it. In 1889, he established his present business at Herekino, where he has built up an excellent trade, and is also interested in farming pursuits.
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Parengarenga.

          

            
            

              

                
Parengarenga
              
             
 is the most northerly settlement in the Colony of New Zealand, with the village of Kapo Wairua in the shadow of Maungapiko at the eastern extremity of Spirit's Bay. Almost all the country north of Tekao was controlled or owned by Mr. Samuel Yates (“King of the North”) whose sheep and cattle ran over about 150,000 acres of land. Mr. Yates died on the 14th of September, 1900, and his property is now owned and controlled by his widow, Mrs. Samuel Yates. Cape Maria Van Diemen lighthouse is situated on an island twenty miles distant of about seventy acres in extent, which was presented to the Government by Mr. Yates. The district produces the very best mutton and beef, fish, oysters, game of many sorts, excellent pork, and the choicest fruits, to say nothing of about a hundred cases of gum per week. There are also some valuable mineral resources. In fact Parengarenga is a little kingdom in itself. The population consists of about 150 natives and about 200 Europeans, 150 of whom are Austrian gum-diggers. The first settler was Mr. James Busby, who was sent from Sydney on behalf of His Majesty, William IV., to represent British interest in then little known New Zealand. He bore the title of British Resident, equivalent in these days to that of colonial governor. He was succeeded in 1840 by the late Mr. Owen who in conjunction with Mr. Graham was the first gum-buyer in the Colony. The country when it was first visited by Mr. Samuel Yates in 1853 consisted mostly of titri fern, and scrub, but no grass; now, however, there is no scarcity of excellent feeding and grazing ground. The estate includes 68,000 acres at the North Cape station, stocked with sheep and cattle, and is, geographically speaking, bounded by three oceans. On the West Coast for sixty miles there is a succession
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Mr. G. Yates.


of grand hills, at back of which is a well watered district of over 10,000 acres of level pasture relieved by undulating country. In sheltered values and stretches of flats. In the immediate vicinity of the head station sowing and ploughing have been carried on with the most gratifying results. There is
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Mr. Yates' Homestead, North Cape.





a leasehold of about 82,000 acres, the whole of which is an extensive gum county, which, it is estimated, cannot be worked out for many years. For nearly forty years now it has yielded on an average 400 tons of gum annually and shows no signs of exhaustion. The gum passes through the hands of Mrs Samuel Yates. On the run there are about 2000 head of cattle, mostly Herefords, and over 8000 sheep, including Shropshires and half and full bred Merinos. These produce on an average 600 calves and three thousand lambs annually, and by careful weeding out and judicious sales and importations
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Mr. L. Yates.


the breed is being gradually improved. The Herefords find the best market, and used to be driven overland to Whangarei, Kamo, Kaitohe, Oruru, and so on to Auckland, but stock can now be shipped direct by the s.s. “Glenelg.” Some 2000 acres of the land have been ring fenced. During the busy season there is always a small army of station hands and shearers. The homestead station, “Paki,” is the residence of Mrs. Yates' manager, and is eight miles from Parengarenga; the soil here is best suited for the growth of rattail and poa brownie grasses. A good deal of sandy and swampy land has been reclaimed in this vicinity. The celebrated Maori Chief, Hongi Keepa, was killed on this station about sixty years ago, and from the number of skulls and variety of bones found on the west coast, it is evident that the country round about was the scene of many a hard fought battle. The southern boundary of the property is the old native track, which has never been surveyed, and runs for about forty or fifty miles to the harbour. In addition to the traces of gold and silver, coal, iron, copper, and manganese are also found. There is a nice little church in the district capable of holding 150 persons, which was built by Messrs. Bell and Sons, and paid for by the natives; a Maori minister has officiated since 1871. Steam communication is maintained direct weekly with Auckland, by the steamer “Glenelg,” and there is also a telephone and post office station.
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Cattle Mustering, North Cape Station.
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Mr. Samuel Yates,
             
 who acquired the Parengarenga property in 1863, was born in 1829, in London, where his father was a well-known solicitor. The subject of this sketch was educated in Liverpool and Paris, and on the completion of his studies, at the request of a number of his relatives who lived in New Zealand, came to this Colony by the ship ‘Monarch,” in 1852, and started a general store business in Mongonui in 1853, which he carried on for ten years. The business was afterwards bought by Mr. R. M. Houston, M. H. R. Mr. Yates went to Parengarenga in 1862 with the idea of stopping there for six months, but he remained there till he died in September, 1900, lamented by all who knew him. His widow now owns thousands of acres of land, and practically has a monopoly of the gum trade in the immediate district. She carries on a large general store and in the sorting establishment employs five hands. There are about 300 diggers on the fields, including Austrians, other Europeans, and natives, and the entire output, amounting to about 400 tons annually, passes through Mrs. Yates’ hands, her principle being to take delivery on the field. The gum is chiefly of the better class, there being very little poor stuff. The opinion is that the fields will not be worked out for thirty, possibly a hundred years. The homestead, which was erected in 1863 and completed about ten years ago, consists of a fine one-storey building,
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The Late Mr. 
S. Yates.





45 feet by 18, with eleven rooms, three small residences occupied by employees, stables, outhouses, and a boarding-house belonging to the property. There are forty acres of excellent paddocks adjoining the houses. Butchering is done on the premises for the accommodation of the whole establishment. Mr. Yates was a gentleman of culture, and a thorough French scholar, and took great interest in art societies. He was personally acquainted with the late Emperor Louis Napoleon, and saw him a prisoner in 1814. The Emperor presented Mr. Yates with his autograph, which his family still possesses. In 1887 he was appointed a Justice of the Peace by the Stout-Vogel Government.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Hemi Taitimu,
              sometime Maori Missionary of Parengarenga, first engaged in mission work in 1890, and exerted much beneficial influence among his own people. He was instructed by the late Rev. Joseph Matthews, and advanced the mission work in the district, where he was highly spoken of by natives and Europeans alike, as a sincere and indefatigable labourer in the good cause of civilisation. Mr. Taitimu died, much lamented, in October, 1900.
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Yates, Mrs. Samuel,
              Gum Buyer, Runholder and General Merchant, Parengarenga, Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Auckland agents, Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co. Telegraphic address, “Yates, Parengarenga.”
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Mrs Yates' Mustering Station, Tapotupotu.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Evans, Edward,
              Storekeeper, etc., Te Kao. Mr. Evans was born at Mangatete in 1873, and has spent the greater part of his life in Awanui. In 1896, he took charge of his father's store at Te Kao, where the gum 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]rade alone soon eclipsed the business done by Mr. Evans at his other branch stores.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Mr. Timoti Puhipi
              
              (Timothy Busby), Pukepoto, is one of the immediate descendants of the old Busby family. He was born at Te Rarawa in 1830, and when he was baptised at the age of ten years, had the honour of having Governor Hobson for his godfather. Mr. Puhipi saw many tribal disturbances in his day, notably one at Oruru, when the Tararawa and Ngapuhi tribes became engaged in actual warfare, and it was a question of supremacy between the north and the natives of the southern portion of the island. He was appointed a native assessor, but resigned in 1888, when he stood unsuccessfully as a candidate in the Northern Maori electorate for the House of Representatives. Mr. Puhipi is a prominent chief of the north, and his immediate relatives were parties to the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi.
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of grand hills, at back of which is a well watered district of over 10,000 acres of level pasture relieved by undulating country. In sheltered values and stretches of flats. In the immediate vicinity of the head station sowing and ploughing have been carried on with the most gratifying results. There is


[image: Mr. Yates' Homestead, North Cape.]

Mr. Yates' Homestead, North Cape.





a leasehold of about 82,000 acres, the whole of which is an extensive gum county, which, it is estimated, cannot be worked out for many years. For nearly forty years now it has yielded on an average 400 tons of gum annually and shows no signs of exhaustion. The gum passes through the hands of Mrs Samuel Yates. On the run there are about 2000 head of cattle, mostly Herefords, and over 8000 sheep, including Shropshires and half and full bred Merinos. These produce on an average 600 calves and three thousand lambs annually, and by careful weeding out and judicious sales and importations
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the breed is being gradually improved. The Herefords find the best market, and used to be driven overland to Whangarei, Kamo, Kaitohe, Oruru, and so on to Auckland, but stock can now be shipped direct by the s.s. “Glenelg.” Some 2000 acres of the land have been ring fenced. During the busy season there is always a small army of station hands and shearers. The homestead station, “Paki,” is the residence of Mrs. Yates' manager, and is eight miles from Parengarenga; the soil here is best suited for the growth of rattail and poa brownie grasses. A good deal of sandy and swampy land has been reclaimed in this vicinity. The celebrated Maori Chief, Hongi Keepa, was killed on this station about sixty years ago, and from the number of skulls and variety of bones found on the west coast, it is evident that the country round about was the scene of many a hard fought battle. The southern boundary of the property is the old native track, which has never been surveyed, and runs for about forty or fifty miles to the harbour. In addition to the traces of gold and silver, coal, iron, copper, and manganese are also found. There is a nice little church in the district capable of holding 150 persons, which was built by Messrs. Bell and Sons, and paid for by the natives; a Maori minister has officiated since 1871. Steam communication is maintained direct weekly with Auckland, by the steamer “Glenelg,” and there is also a telephone and post office station.
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Cattle Mustering, North Cape Station.
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Mr. Samuel Yates,
             
 who acquired the Parengarenga property in 1863, was born in 1829, in London, where his father was a well-known solicitor. The subject of this sketch was educated in Liverpool and Paris, and on the completion of his studies, at the request of a number of his relatives who lived in New Zealand, came to this Colony by the ship ‘Monarch,” in 1852, and started a general store business in Mongonui in 1853, which he carried on for ten years. The business was afterwards bought by Mr. R. M. Houston, M. H. R. Mr. Yates went to Parengarenga in 1862 with the idea of stopping there for six months, but he remained there till he died in September, 1900, lamented by all who knew him. His widow now owns thousands of acres of land, and practically has a monopoly of the gum trade in the immediate district. She carries on a large general store and in the sorting establishment employs five hands. There are about 300 diggers on the fields, including Austrians, other Europeans, and natives, and the entire output, amounting to about 400 tons annually, passes through Mrs. Yates’ hands, her principle being to take delivery on the field. The gum is chiefly of the better class, there being very little poor stuff. The opinion is that the fields will not be worked out for thirty, possibly a hundred years. The homestead, which was erected in 1863 and completed about ten years ago, consists of a fine one-storey building,


[image: The Late Mr. S. Yates.]

The Late Mr. 
S. Yates.





45 feet by 18, with eleven rooms, three small residences occupied by employees, stables, outhouses, and a boarding-house belonging to the property. There are forty acres of excellent paddocks adjoining the houses. Butchering is done on the premises for the accommodation of the whole establishment. Mr. Yates was a gentleman of culture, and a thorough French scholar, and took great interest in art societies. He was personally acquainted with the late Emperor Louis Napoleon, and saw him a prisoner in 1814. The Emperor presented Mr. Yates with his autograph, which his family still possesses. In 1887 he was appointed a Justice of the Peace by the Stout-Vogel Government.
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Mr. Hemi Taitimu,
              sometime Maori Missionary of Parengarenga, first engaged in mission work in 1890, and exerted much beneficial influence among his own people. He was instructed by the late Rev. Joseph Matthews, and advanced the mission work in the district, where he was highly spoken of by natives and Europeans alike, as a sincere and indefatigable labourer in the good cause of civilisation. Mr. Taitimu died, much lamented, in October, 1900.
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Yates, Mrs. Samuel,
              Gum Buyer, Runholder and General Merchant, Parengarenga, Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Auckland agents, Messrs. L. D. Nathan and Co. Telegraphic address, “Yates, Parengarenga.”
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Evans, Edward,
              Storekeeper, etc., Te Kao. Mr. Evans was born at Mangatete in 1873, and has spent the greater part of his life in Awanui. In 1896, he took charge of his father's store at Te Kao, where the gum 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]rade alone soon eclipsed the business done by Mr. Evans at his other branch stores.
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Mr. Timoti Puhipi
              
              (Timothy Busby), Pukepoto, is one of the immediate descendants of the old Busby family. He was born at Te Rarawa in 1830, and when he was baptised at the age of ten years, had the honour of having Governor Hobson for his godfather. Mr. Puhipi saw many tribal disturbances in his day, notably one at Oruru, when the Tararawa and Ngapuhi tribes became engaged in actual warfare, and it was a question of supremacy between the north and the natives of the southern portion of the island. He was appointed a native assessor, but resigned in 1888, when he stood unsuccessfully as a candidate in the Northern Maori electorate for the House of Representatives. Mr. Puhipi is a prominent chief of the north, and his immediate relatives were parties to the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi.
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Rawene,
              182 miles from Auckland, is the original native name of the chief settlement on the Hokianga river, which also bears its old European appellation of Herd's Point, after Captain Herd. There is a small mixed population with no important local industry, the place being almost wholly a distributing centre, and there is regular communication with Auckland by steamer. Rawene has a post and telegraph office, court-house, three hotels, a public school, and a weekly mail service.
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Mr. Hone Heke,
              who represents the Northern Maori Electorate in the House of Representatives, was born at Kaikohe, in the Auckland province, in 1869, and is a grandnephew of the historic Hone Heke, who sacked the town of Kororareka on the 30th March, 1845. Mr. Heke was educated at St. Stephen's, Auckland, and on completing his studies, engaged for some time in farming pursuits. He acted as Maori interpreter for the Hon. A. J. Cadman at the meeting of natives held at the Bay of Islands some years ago; and held an appointment in the Native Lands Office in Wellington until 1893. This position he resigned some months before the general election of that year to contest the Northern Maori seat in the House of Representatives. He was returned at the head of the poll, and was re-elected in 1896 and 1899. Mr. Heke has always taken an active part in the advancement of native interests, and is busy in and out of sessions attending to the wants of his constituents, and of the Maori race generally. He does not, however, confine himself to native matters only, but takes an intelligent interest in all the leading political questions of the day. Mr. Heke does not avail himself of the interpreter when he addresses the House; he always speaks in the English language, in which he is well versed, and is a most fluent speaker.

          

          

            
            


              

Hokianga County,
              on the opposite coast to Bay of Islands, has an area of 972 square miles and a population of about 1800 Europeans, and about 2000 natives. The capital value of property within the jurisdiction of the Council is £457,000; rate, 2£ 1/2d on the unimproved value. The total revenue with grants is about £1500, and the council meetings are held at Rawene on irregular dates. Members 1900–1901: Mr. W. Carr, chairman, and Messrs C. W. P. Seon, A. S. Andrews, G. Glover, Joseph Vaughan, E. Warnington, H. C. Powell, and B. E. Williams; clerk, treasurer and engineer, E. McLeod.

          

          

            
            


              

Councillor Cornelius William Pellatt Seon,
              who represents Kohukohu Riding in the Hokianga County Council, was first elected to the seat in 1888 and has held it almost continuously since, and acted as chairman for part of the time. Mr. Seon also represents Hokianga as a member of the North Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He was for several years a member of the local licensing bench, acting as chairman for three years, and he attended as a delegate the conference to consider the interests of colonial agriculture.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. Alfred Cooke Yarborough,
             
 formerly chairman of Hokianga County Council, was born in 1847 at Campsmount, the country seat of Mr. George Cooke Yarborough, J.P., in the County of York. Until fourteen years of age he was at Woodcote School, near Reading, where his greatest friend was the late Commander Marks, R. N., an officer well known in the Colonies. Then he went to Eton, where he spent three years, the late Lord Randolph Churchill being one of his intimate friends, while Lord Rosebery was in the upper classes of the school at the same time, besides others whose names are now distinguished. In 1866 he
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went to Lincoln College, Oxford, under the rectorship of the late Dr. Paterson. He attained considerable fame on the river. In 1867 he won sixty-three races out of a possible sixty-eight, and was one of the best oars the University ever had. At Henley and the Metropolitan Regatta he gained both his College and the University Sculls three years in succession. In the University Eight he was one of the winning crew against Cambridge each year he rowed, and in 1869 pulled second in the famous four-oared race against the American team from Yale College. Oxford was coached by the Rev. E. Warre (now headmaster of Eton College) and by Mr. Morrison, also a famous coach. The Yale crew were by no means to be despised, but were no match for the splendid team of Oxonians. In 1871 Mr. Yarborough came out in the ship “Excelsior” to Auckland, and after travelling the Colony for some time, started a flax mill in Hokianga, which like many others of the kind proved an unsuccessful venture. He went into the kauri timber trade in the same district and founded the township of Kohukohu, which bids fair to become an important centre of population. He was elected a member of the Hokianga County Council in 1876 and was for some time chairman or member, taking a warm interest in local politics for twenty years. Mr. Yarborough lives there in a picturesque cottage commanding a pleasant view of the waters of the Hokianga river. He visited England and France in 1887, and again in 1900.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Ernest Mcleod,
              Clerk, Treasurer, and Inspector, Hokianga County Council, is a son of Mr. James McLeod of Rawene, and was born in Auckland in 1866. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and on removing to Rawene became a contractor, and was elected a member of the Hokianga County Council in 1893. In the following year he was appointed to his present position. He is secretary to the Oddfellows' lodge, a member of the floral association, and a steward of the Wesleyan circuit.
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Mr. George Gardiner Menzies,
              Inspector of County Roads in the counties of Mongonui, Hokianga, Marsden, and Bay of Islands, has his head-quarters at Rawene, in the county of Hokianga. Mr. Menzies was born at Bannockburn, Stirlingshire, Scotland, in 1845, and came to New Zealand by the “Evening Star” in 1858, landing at Auckland. Shortly after his arrival he visited an uncle who owned a property called “Blink Bonnie” at Papakura, after which he was for a time engaged in various enterprises in Auckland, finally apprenticing himself to the building trade, which he followed until 1877. Ultimately, Mr. Menzies entered the Government service and later received the appointment of county engineer in Hokianga and Government surveyor. His duties are to lay out roads and generally supervise works in the district over which he is inspector. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Frear, of Auckland, and has six sons.
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                Hokianga Pilot Service
              
              (pilot-master, George Martin), Hokianga.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. George Martin,
              Pilot-master of Hokianga, entered upon his duties in 1886. He was for some time previously signalman under Captain Seon, then pilot, on whose death, Mr. Martin succeeded to the position.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Martin,
              sometime of Omapere, Old Colonist, was the first pilot stationed at Hokianga, and was appointed by Governor Fitzroy in 1845. He was born in 1800 and for some years was chief officer of the “Mermaid,” which vessel came to Hokianga in 1826. Taking up his residence in that district, the late Mr. Martin established himself as a pilot and experienced great difficulty in erecting a flagstaff on South Head owing to the troublesome natives. He was a man of ready courage and with a high sense of duty, which he faithfully fulfilled during his thirty years of active as pilot. His death was due to rheumatism hastened by apoplexy. Mr. Martin was a member of the Masonic Grand Lodge of Ireland, No. 266, and in 1826 was transferred to the Leinster Marine Lodge of Australia. His son, Mr. George Martin, is pilot master at Hokianga.

          

          

            
            


              
The Rawene Post Office,
              which is the chief distributing and transmitting office in Hokianga, was opened in 1875. It is five miles from Kohukohu and Omanaia post offices, respectively. Mails arrive weekly on Tuesday at nine p.m. and are despatched at midnight on Wednesday. The postmaster's private quarters adjoin the offices and form a pleasant residence.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Thomas Lumsden Millar,
              Postmaster at Rawene, who opened the offices in 1875, was born in Leith, Scotland, in 1850, received his education at Aberdeen and came to New Zealand per ship “Carabou” in 1864. He spent several years on the West Coast diggings and joined the telegraph department in 1873, being stationed at Greymouth for some time, then at Hokitika and 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible] Bealey. Mr. Millar is also the registrar of births, deaths, and marriages.

          

          

            
            


              
Lester Bros.
              (Charles Bertram Lester and Robert Ernest Lester), General Storekeepers and Produce Dealers, Rawene, Head establishment at Kohukohu, Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland, Messrs Lester Bros, established their business in 1894, and have succeeded in making it one of the best in the district. The premises are well situated immediately opposite the Rawene Wharf, with a well-arranged shop, and an excellent stock of general merchandise. Messrs Lester formerly conducted a grocery business in Pitt Street, Auckland, for five years, after which they established their present business.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Charles B. Lester,
              the Managing Partner at Rawene, of the firm of Lester Bros., was born in Auckland in 1867. He is a son of Mr. Robert Lester of Mount Roskill and received his education at Port Albert. Mr. Lester is a member of the Independent Order of Oddfellows, and is married to a daughter of Mr. James Flavell, of Waiuku.

          

          

            
            


              

The Rev. James Buller,
              who left England as a missionary of the Wesleyan Church, landed at Hokianga on the 21st of April, 1836, and remained in the district for three years. He was afterwards at Kaipara for fifteen years, at Wellington five years, and at Christchurch six years, and after that he was superintendent minister at the Thames.



Altogether he was for more than forty years engaged in missionary and church work in New Zealand. During that time he was successively president of the Australian and New Zealand Wesleyan Conference. In his work “Forty years in New Zealand” he has a great deal that is interesting to say concerning the characteristics of the Maoris and the labours and the lives of the early missionaries and colonists. Shortly after his first arrival at Hokianga Mr. Buller set himself to master the Maori language. He had neither lexicon nor grammar, but the language had been reduced to writing, and with the aid of some printed translations of church manuals and of some portions of the Bible, and by daily intercourse with the Maoris, he prepared a grammar and vocabulary for his own use, and in that way fitted himself to help in missionary school work. At the end of his first year's residence at Hokianga he made his first attempt to preach in Maori. His sermon aroused much interest amongst his native hearers, who were profusely polite in their appreciation of his efforts to instruct them and open their minds to new ways of looking at life. This encouraged Mr. Buller, and must have been of great value to him at the outset of his long, arduous, yet vigorous, and in the main, successful apostleship. His work is still much more than a memory in the Hokianga and Kaipara districts, and the charm it had for himself, notwithstanding all its dangers and drawbacks, given the attraction of a fine atmosphere to much of his “Forty years in New Zealand. During his later years Mr. Buller lived in retirement in the neighbourhood of Christchurch, where he died on the 6th of November, 1884.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Alexander Chapman,
              Old Colonist, Hokianga. Mr. Chapman, who was one of the earliest settlers in Hokianga, was an Englishman by birth. He was born in 1805 and when a boy sailed with Captain Parry (afterwards Sir Edward Parry) in search of the North-West passage. Subsequently, he served several years under Mr. William Yatman, of St. Paul's Dockyards, Deptford, where he received his education and served seven years' apprenticeship. Obtaining a shipwright's certificate. Mr. Chapman came out to Sydney about 1826 with letters of introduction to Mr. Alexander Cunningham, with whom he obtained employment. In 1831 Mr. Chapman came to New Zealand under engagement to Captain McDonnell, who had a contract for supplying spars to the navy. Afterwards he established himself in business in Hokianga as a shipwright and in 1857 took a trip Home in the ship “Signet,” laden with kauri gum and baulk timber for the English market. Combining business with pleasure. Mr. Chapman saw his relatives in various parts, and gained further knowledge of his trade. He returned to New Zealand in 1858 by the ship “Mary Ann” and continued at his trade in the Hokianga district till 1866, when he retired and resided with his only daughter, Mrs. George Martin, at Omapere, till his death, which took place at her residence in 1886.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Mcleod,
              Old Colonist, was born in Elgin, Morayshire, in 1816, served his apprenticeship to the engineering trade, was for two years with Messrs. Moseley, Son and Field, Lambeth, London, and came to New Zealand per ship “Westminster,” landing at Auckland in 1813. After trying various occupations he began business on his own account in 1846 and gave the name “Vulean Lane” to the street where his shop once stood. In 1860, he sold out, and was employed in the erection of sawmills at Cabbage and Kennedy's Bays, and a flour-mill at Upper Thames. He next undertook the contract for keeping the Auckland roads in repair and for two years had a stone-crushing machine at Mt. Eden. Then followed employment in different localities and Mr. McLeod ultimately started business as a blacksmith at Russell, and in 1876 at Kohukohu, removing to Rawene two years later. Mr. McLeod has always assisted in public matters; in the Old Country in 1852 he sided with the Chartists in the interest of the workers. He was one of the first trustees of the Independent Order of Oddfellows and is said to be the third oldest member of that body in New Zealand. Mr. McLeod's son is referred to as clerk of the Hokianga County Council.
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Mr. Frederick Edward Maning,
             
 sometime Native Land Court Judge, New Zealand, was the eldest son of Frederick Maning, of Dublin, Ireland, and was born in that city on the 5th of July, 1812. His father, attracted by the free grants of land to settlers in Van Dieman's Land, emigrated with his family to that colony, and arrived at Hobart in the ship “Ardent” on the 24th of May, 1824. Young Maning, being of an adventurous spirit, went to New Zealand in 1833, when twenty-one years of age. New Zealand was not then a British colony, but Mr. Maning acquired land from the Ngapuhi tribe at Hokianga, and took up his residence among the natives at Onoke, and rapidly acquired a thorough acquaintance with the laws and customs of the Maoris. The exceptional knowledge thus acquired led subsequently to his being appointed a Judge of the Native Land Court, in which capacity he served for many years. He had lived among the natives and looked upon himself as a Pakeha Maori, by which name he was generally known, and which he used as his pen-name when he published his celebrated book “Old New Zealand,”
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which is a classic in its way, on account of its literary piquancy and the unique value of its author's insight into Maori character, and knowledge of Maori life and customs. There is nothing equal to “Old New Zealand” in this connection in existence. This book was republished in London in 1876, with a preface by the Earl of Pembroke, who was himself an enlightened observer of the Maoris and of other native races in the South Pacific. Lord Pembroke's own book, “Roots,” reproduces with true sympathetic insight much of the haunting charm of the early colonial days and of the romance that then appertained to peaceful social intercourse between the better kind of settlers and the Maoris. “Old New Zealand” has passed through various editions. It and “The War in the North”—also by Judge Maning—were reprinted in one volume in September, 1900, in Macmillan's Colonial Library. “The War in the North” gives an account of the first Maori insurrection, under Heke, and of its suppression by the Imperial forces. The story is told from the Maori point of view, and is of real value as a historical document on that side of the subject. Judge Maning married a Maori woman. He rendered considerable service to the English in the Heke war in 1845, and later in the war of 1861; which he was well able to do from his great influence with the Ngapuhi tribe, the most powerful and advanced tribe in New Zealand, and of which he was a naturalised member. Judge Maning died in July, 1883, in England, whither he had gone for special medical treatment, and his remains were sent out to New Zealand for burial. The following epitaph, written by his friend, Dr. John Logan Campbell, is inscribed on his tombstone in the Church of England cemetery, Symonds Street, Auckland: “In memory of Frederick Edward Maning, known to colonial fame as the author of ‘Old New Zealand.’ He came to this land in his youth; he lived in it to the verge of old age. In New Zealand's first native war he served his country well in the field; in later life as a Judge of her Land Court, he did the State good service on the Bench. When full of years, yet full of strength, stricken with a painful malady, he sought relief in the Mother Country, where he died on the 25th of July, 1883; aged seventy-two years. His last words were: ‘Let me be buried in the land I love so well.’ Here, therefore, loving friends interred him in his last resting place, in the land of his adoption, and have raised this memorial to one of New Zealand's earliest colonists and most faithful sons.”
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Rawene,
              182 miles from Auckland, is the original native name of the chief settlement on the Hokianga river, which also bears its old European appellation of Herd's Point, after Captain Herd. There is a small mixed population with no important local industry, the place being almost wholly a distributing centre, and there is regular communication with Auckland by steamer. Rawene has a post and telegraph office, court-house, three hotels, a public school, and a weekly mail service.
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Mr. Hone Heke,
              who represents the Northern Maori Electorate in the House of Representatives, was born at Kaikohe, in the Auckland province, in 1869, and is a grandnephew of the historic Hone Heke, who sacked the town of Kororareka on the 30th March, 1845. Mr. Heke was educated at St. Stephen's, Auckland, and on completing his studies, engaged for some time in farming pursuits. He acted as Maori interpreter for the Hon. A. J. Cadman at the meeting of natives held at the Bay of Islands some years ago; and held an appointment in the Native Lands Office in Wellington until 1893. This position he resigned some months before the general election of that year to contest the Northern Maori seat in the House of Representatives. He was returned at the head of the poll, and was re-elected in 1896 and 1899. Mr. Heke has always taken an active part in the advancement of native interests, and is busy in and out of sessions attending to the wants of his constituents, and of the Maori race generally. He does not, however, confine himself to native matters only, but takes an intelligent interest in all the leading political questions of the day. Mr. Heke does not avail himself of the interpreter when he addresses the House; he always speaks in the English language, in which he is well versed, and is a most fluent speaker.
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Hokianga County,
              on the opposite coast to Bay of Islands, has an area of 972 square miles and a population of about 1800 Europeans, and about 2000 natives. The capital value of property within the jurisdiction of the Council is £457,000; rate, 2£ 1/2d on the unimproved value. The total revenue with grants is about £1500, and the council meetings are held at Rawene on irregular dates. Members 1900–1901: Mr. W. Carr, chairman, and Messrs C. W. P. Seon, A. S. Andrews, G. Glover, Joseph Vaughan, E. Warnington, H. C. Powell, and B. E. Williams; clerk, treasurer and engineer, E. McLeod.
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Councillor Cornelius William Pellatt Seon,
              who represents Kohukohu Riding in the Hokianga County Council, was first elected to the seat in 1888 and has held it almost continuously since, and acted as chairman for part of the time. Mr. Seon also represents Hokianga as a member of the North Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He was for several years a member of the local licensing bench, acting as chairman for three years, and he attended as a delegate the conference to consider the interests of colonial agriculture.
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Mr. Alfred Cooke Yarborough,
             
 formerly chairman of Hokianga County Council, was born in 1847 at Campsmount, the country seat of Mr. George Cooke Yarborough, J.P., in the County of York. Until fourteen years of age he was at Woodcote School, near Reading, where his greatest friend was the late Commander Marks, R. N., an officer well known in the Colonies. Then he went to Eton, where he spent three years, the late Lord Randolph Churchill being one of his intimate friends, while Lord Rosebery was in the upper classes of the school at the same time, besides others whose names are now distinguished. In 1866 he
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went to Lincoln College, Oxford, under the rectorship of the late Dr. Paterson. He attained considerable fame on the river. In 1867 he won sixty-three races out of a possible sixty-eight, and was one of the best oars the University ever had. At Henley and the Metropolitan Regatta he gained both his College and the University Sculls three years in succession. In the University Eight he was one of the winning crew against Cambridge each year he rowed, and in 1869 pulled second in the famous four-oared race against the American team from Yale College. Oxford was coached by the Rev. E. Warre (now headmaster of Eton College) and by Mr. Morrison, also a famous coach. The Yale crew were by no means to be despised, but were no match for the splendid team of Oxonians. In 1871 Mr. Yarborough came out in the ship “Excelsior” to Auckland, and after travelling the Colony for some time, started a flax mill in Hokianga, which like many others of the kind proved an unsuccessful venture. He went into the kauri timber trade in the same district and founded the township of Kohukohu, which bids fair to become an important centre of population. He was elected a member of the Hokianga County Council in 1876 and was for some time chairman or member, taking a warm interest in local politics for twenty years. Mr. Yarborough lives there in a picturesque cottage commanding a pleasant view of the waters of the Hokianga river. He visited England and France in 1887, and again in 1900.
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Mr. Ernest Mcleod,
              Clerk, Treasurer, and Inspector, Hokianga County Council, is a son of Mr. James McLeod of Rawene, and was born in Auckland in 1866. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and on removing to Rawene became a contractor, and was elected a member of the Hokianga County Council in 1893. In the following year he was appointed to his present position. He is secretary to the Oddfellows' lodge, a member of the floral association, and a steward of the Wesleyan circuit.
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Mr. George Gardiner Menzies,
              Inspector of County Roads in the counties of Mongonui, Hokianga, Marsden, and Bay of Islands, has his head-quarters at Rawene, in the county of Hokianga. Mr. Menzies was born at Bannockburn, Stirlingshire, Scotland, in 1845, and came to New Zealand by the “Evening Star” in 1858, landing at Auckland. Shortly after his arrival he visited an uncle who owned a property called “Blink Bonnie” at Papakura, after which he was for a time engaged in various enterprises in Auckland, finally apprenticing himself to the building trade, which he followed until 1877. Ultimately, Mr. Menzies entered the Government service and later received the appointment of county engineer in Hokianga and Government surveyor. His duties are to lay out roads and generally supervise works in the district over which he is inspector. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Frear, of Auckland, and has six sons.
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                Hokianga Pilot Service
              
              (pilot-master, George Martin), Hokianga.
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Mr. George Martin,
              Pilot-master of Hokianga, entered upon his duties in 1886. He was for some time previously signalman under Captain Seon, then pilot, on whose death, Mr. Martin succeeded to the position.
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Mr. John Martin,
              sometime of Omapere, Old Colonist, was the first pilot stationed at Hokianga, and was appointed by Governor Fitzroy in 1845. He was born in 1800 and for some years was chief officer of the “Mermaid,” which vessel came to Hokianga in 1826. Taking up his residence in that district, the late Mr. Martin established himself as a pilot and experienced great difficulty in erecting a flagstaff on South Head owing to the troublesome natives. He was a man of ready courage and with a high sense of duty, which he faithfully fulfilled during his thirty years of active as pilot. His death was due to rheumatism hastened by apoplexy. Mr. Martin was a member of the Masonic Grand Lodge of Ireland, No. 266, and in 1826 was transferred to the Leinster Marine Lodge of Australia. His son, Mr. George Martin, is pilot master at Hokianga.
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The Rawene Post Office,
              which is the chief distributing and transmitting office in Hokianga, was opened in 1875. It is five miles from Kohukohu and Omanaia post offices, respectively. Mails arrive weekly on Tuesday at nine p.m. and are despatched at midnight on Wednesday. The postmaster's private quarters adjoin the offices and form a pleasant residence.
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Mr. Thomas Lumsden Millar,
              Postmaster at Rawene, who opened the offices in 1875, was born in Leith, Scotland, in 1850, received his education at Aberdeen and came to New Zealand per ship “Carabou” in 1864. He spent several years on the West Coast diggings and joined the telegraph department in 1873, being stationed at Greymouth for some time, then at Hokitika and 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible] Bealey. Mr. Millar is also the registrar of births, deaths, and marriages.
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Lester Bros.
              (Charles Bertram Lester and Robert Ernest Lester), General Storekeepers and Produce Dealers, Rawene, Head establishment at Kohukohu, Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland, Messrs Lester Bros, established their business in 1894, and have succeeded in making it one of the best in the district. The premises are well situated immediately opposite the Rawene Wharf, with a well-arranged shop, and an excellent stock of general merchandise. Messrs Lester formerly conducted a grocery business in Pitt Street, Auckland, for five years, after which they established their present business.
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Mr. Charles B. Lester,
              the Managing Partner at Rawene, of the firm of Lester Bros., was born in Auckland in 1867. He is a son of Mr. Robert Lester of Mount Roskill and received his education at Port Albert. Mr. Lester is a member of the Independent Order of Oddfellows, and is married to a daughter of Mr. James Flavell, of Waiuku.
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The Rev. James Buller,
              who left England as a missionary of the Wesleyan Church, landed at Hokianga on the 21st of April, 1836, and remained in the district for three years. He was afterwards at Kaipara for fifteen years, at Wellington five years, and at Christchurch six years, and after that he was superintendent minister at the Thames.



Altogether he was for more than forty years engaged in missionary and church work in New Zealand. During that time he was successively president of the Australian and New Zealand Wesleyan Conference. In his work “Forty years in New Zealand” he has a great deal that is interesting to say concerning the characteristics of the Maoris and the labours and the lives of the early missionaries and colonists. Shortly after his first arrival at Hokianga Mr. Buller set himself to master the Maori language. He had neither lexicon nor grammar, but the language had been reduced to writing, and with the aid of some printed translations of church manuals and of some portions of the Bible, and by daily intercourse with the Maoris, he prepared a grammar and vocabulary for his own use, and in that way fitted himself to help in missionary school work. At the end of his first year's residence at Hokianga he made his first attempt to preach in Maori. His sermon aroused much interest amongst his native hearers, who were profusely polite in their appreciation of his efforts to instruct them and open their minds to new ways of looking at life. This encouraged Mr. Buller, and must have been of great value to him at the outset of his long, arduous, yet vigorous, and in the main, successful apostleship. His work is still much more than a memory in the Hokianga and Kaipara districts, and the charm it had for himself, notwithstanding all its dangers and drawbacks, given the attraction of a fine atmosphere to much of his “Forty years in New Zealand. During his later years Mr. Buller lived in retirement in the neighbourhood of Christchurch, where he died on the 6th of November, 1884.
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Mr. Alexander Chapman,
              Old Colonist, Hokianga. Mr. Chapman, who was one of the earliest settlers in Hokianga, was an Englishman by birth. He was born in 1805 and when a boy sailed with Captain Parry (afterwards Sir Edward Parry) in search of the North-West passage. Subsequently, he served several years under Mr. William Yatman, of St. Paul's Dockyards, Deptford, where he received his education and served seven years' apprenticeship. Obtaining a shipwright's certificate. Mr. Chapman came out to Sydney about 1826 with letters of introduction to Mr. Alexander Cunningham, with whom he obtained employment. In 1831 Mr. Chapman came to New Zealand under engagement to Captain McDonnell, who had a contract for supplying spars to the navy. Afterwards he established himself in business in Hokianga as a shipwright and in 1857 took a trip Home in the ship “Signet,” laden with kauri gum and baulk timber for the English market. Combining business with pleasure. Mr. Chapman saw his relatives in various parts, and gained further knowledge of his trade. He returned to New Zealand in 1858 by the ship “Mary Ann” and continued at his trade in the Hokianga district till 1866, when he retired and resided with his only daughter, Mrs. George Martin, at Omapere, till his death, which took place at her residence in 1886.
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Mr. James Mcleod,
              Old Colonist, was born in Elgin, Morayshire, in 1816, served his apprenticeship to the engineering trade, was for two years with Messrs. Moseley, Son and Field, Lambeth, London, and came to New Zealand per ship “Westminster,” landing at Auckland in 1813. After trying various occupations he began business on his own account in 1846 and gave the name “Vulean Lane” to the street where his shop once stood. In 1860, he sold out, and was employed in the erection of sawmills at Cabbage and Kennedy's Bays, and a flour-mill at Upper Thames. He next undertook the contract for keeping the Auckland roads in repair and for two years had a stone-crushing machine at Mt. Eden. Then followed employment in different localities and Mr. McLeod ultimately started business as a blacksmith at Russell, and in 1876 at Kohukohu, removing to Rawene two years later. Mr. McLeod has always assisted in public matters; in the Old Country in 1852 he sided with the Chartists in the interest of the workers. He was one of the first trustees of the Independent Order of Oddfellows and is said to be the third oldest member of that body in New Zealand. Mr. McLeod's son is referred to as clerk of the Hokianga County Council.

            

              

[image: Mr. J. McLeod.]

Mr. J. McLeod.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. Frederick Edward Maning



            
            

              

Mr. Frederick Edward Maning,
             
 sometime Native Land Court Judge, New Zealand, was the eldest son of Frederick Maning, of Dublin, Ireland, and was born in that city on the 5th of July, 1812. His father, attracted by the free grants of land to settlers in Van Dieman's Land, emigrated with his family to that colony, and arrived at Hobart in the ship “Ardent” on the 24th of May, 1824. Young Maning, being of an adventurous spirit, went to New Zealand in 1833, when twenty-one years of age. New Zealand was not then a British colony, but Mr. Maning acquired land from the Ngapuhi tribe at Hokianga, and took up his residence among the natives at Onoke, and rapidly acquired a thorough acquaintance with the laws and customs of the Maoris. The exceptional knowledge thus acquired led subsequently to his being appointed a Judge of the Native Land Court, in which capacity he served for many years. He had lived among the natives and looked upon himself as a Pakeha Maori, by which name he was generally known, and which he used as his pen-name when he published his celebrated book “Old New Zealand,”
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which is a classic in its way, on account of its literary piquancy and the unique value of its author's insight into Maori character, and knowledge of Maori life and customs. There is nothing equal to “Old New Zealand” in this connection in existence. This book was republished in London in 1876, with a preface by the Earl of Pembroke, who was himself an enlightened observer of the Maoris and of other native races in the South Pacific. Lord Pembroke's own book, “Roots,” reproduces with true sympathetic insight much of the haunting charm of the early colonial days and of the romance that then appertained to peaceful social intercourse between the better kind of settlers and the Maoris. “Old New Zealand” has passed through various editions. It and “The War in the North”—also by Judge Maning—were reprinted in one volume in September, 1900, in Macmillan's Colonial Library. “The War in the North” gives an account of the first Maori insurrection, under Heke, and of its suppression by the Imperial forces. The story is told from the Maori point of view, and is of real value as a historical document on that side of the subject. Judge Maning married a Maori woman. He rendered considerable service to the English in the Heke war in 1845, and later in the war of 1861; which he was well able to do from his great influence with the Ngapuhi tribe, the most powerful and advanced tribe in New Zealand, and of which he was a naturalised member. Judge Maning died in July, 1883, in England, whither he had gone for special medical treatment, and his remains were sent out to New Zealand for burial. The following epitaph, written by his friend, Dr. John Logan Campbell, is inscribed on his tombstone in the Church of England cemetery, Symonds Street, Auckland: “In memory of Frederick Edward Maning, known to colonial fame as the author of ‘Old New Zealand.’ He came to this land in his youth; he lived in it to the verge of old age. In New Zealand's first native war he served his country well in the field; in later life as a Judge of her Land Court, he did the State good service on the Bench. When full of years, yet full of strength, stricken with a painful malady, he sought relief in the Mother Country, where he died on the 25th of July, 1883; aged seventy-two years. His last words were: ‘Let me be buried in the land I love so well.’ Here, therefore, loving friends interred him in his last resting place, in the land of his adoption, and have raised this memorial to one of New Zealand's earliest colonists and most faithful sons.”

            

              

[image: Rawene, Hokianga.]

Rawene, Hokianga.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Taheke





          
Taheke.

          

            
            


              

                
Taheke
              
              is a settlement in Hokianga County on the coach road from Kawakawa to Rawene. It is 190 miles north of Auckland, and has a weekly mail service.

          

          

            
            


              

Glover, George,
              J. P., Gum Buyer and General Storekeeper, Taheke. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Business established by the present proprietor in 1887. Mr. Glover, who does an excellent gum trade, has premises covering 700 square feet of floor space, besides gum sorting and packing sheds specially constructed for the purpose. A most complete stock of goods required for a country store is kept always in hand. Mr. Glover was born in London-derry in 1855, and served several years in a general store before coming to New Zealand via Australia per ship “Chimborazo” in 1880. He was for two years in business at Kaikohe. Mr. Glover was elected a member of the Hokianga County Council in 1895, and received his commission as a Justice of the Peace in 1898.
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Mr. Robert Davidson,
              Manager of Mr. G. Glover's Branch Store at Kaniga Kuwharu, was born in Derry, Ireland, in 1853, educated at the Royal Academical School, Belfast, and served six years in the linen trade in that city, having charge of the sample rooms of Messrs. William Spotten and Co., a large export firm. Mr. Davidson then tried farming, afterwards coming to the Colonies per ship “Rimutaka” in 1893 and two years later removed to Taheke to take charge of Mr. Glover's branch business.
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              is a settlement in Hokianga County on the coach road from Kawakawa to Rawene. It is 190 miles north of Auckland, and has a weekly mail service.
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Glover, George,
              J. P., Gum Buyer and General Storekeeper, Taheke. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Business established by the present proprietor in 1887. Mr. Glover, who does an excellent gum trade, has premises covering 700 square feet of floor space, besides gum sorting and packing sheds specially constructed for the purpose. A most complete stock of goods required for a country store is kept always in hand. Mr. Glover was born in London-derry in 1855, and served several years in a general store before coming to New Zealand via Australia per ship “Chimborazo” in 1880. He was for two years in business at Kaikohe. Mr. Glover was elected a member of the Hokianga County Council in 1895, and received his commission as a Justice of the Peace in 1898.
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Mr. Robert Davidson,
              Manager of Mr. G. Glover's Branch Store at Kaniga Kuwharu, was born in Derry, Ireland, in 1853, educated at the Royal Academical School, Belfast, and served six years in the linen trade in that city, having charge of the sample rooms of Messrs. William Spotten and Co., a large export firm. Mr. Davidson then tried farming, afterwards coming to the Colonies per ship “Rimutaka” in 1893 and two years later removed to Taheke to take charge of Mr. Glover's branch business.
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Opononi
              
              is situated on the south side of the Hokianga River, three miles from Hokianga Heads and fifteen miles from Rawene, the township, which is also known as Herd's Point. Opononi is part of the property owned by Mr. John Webster, and is a convenient landing-place for goods for distribution in the surrounding scattered districts. The land is used for grazing sheep, but Mr. Webster has a fine orchard; the place is, however, chiefly a trading centre. The Canterbury and Auckland special settlements are about twelve miles from Opononi. There is very good anchorage, where vessels drawing twenty feet can lie safely; the largest sailing vessels have crossed the Hokianga bar and lain off the Opononi wharf on their way up the river to the sawmills at Kohukohu. Some fine scenery is to be found in the neighbourhood. The Blow Hole at the Heads is a grand sight, and the Pakanae Gorge on the road to the Waimamaku settlement is worth a visit, besides numerous waterfalls easily accessible. The climate is healthy, and good shooting and fishing can be found in abundance. There is regular steam communication with Auckland and a weekly overland mail service by coach by way of Horeke, to and from Kawakawa, at the Bay of Islands. A hotel near the beach offers good accommodation for travellers. There are several native settlements in the



small, rich valleys formed by numerous tidal creeks on the Hokianga river, in which the easy-going inhabitants do a limited amount of cultivation. Europeans settled on the Hokianga in the earliest period of the colony, and at one time both Maoris and pakeha settlers grew wheat and maize to a considerable extent, and did a good export trade with Sydney. Of this there is now no trace, and the principal industry at the present time is timber, very extensive forests of kauri, totara, and other valuable trees existing over a large area of country. There is also a large trade in kauri gum, and the Government obtains its principal supply of puriri sleepers from the district.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Opononi Post And Telephone Office
              
              is situated eight miles from Whirinaki, and two miles from Omapere and was opened in 1892. There is a regular mail service despatched on Tuesday at three p.m., the incoming mail arriving at midnight, and an occasional mail service from Onehunga by West Coast steamers.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Bernard George Howe,
              Postmaster at Opononi, entered upon his duties in 1894, having for many years been previously stationed at Omapere. Mr. Howe served in the militia during the Waikato War and came to Hokianga in 1865, eventually entering the employ of Mr. A. S. Andrewes, storekeeper, in whose store the Opononi post and telephone office is located.

          

          

            
            


              

                Opononi Hotel And Sanatorium
              
              (A. S. Andrewes, proprietor). Bankers, Union Bank of Australasia. This hotel was acquired by the present proprietor in 1894, and is claimed to be the finest anywhere to be found in the “Far North.” Its situation is a very salubrious one and commands a fine view of the heads and harbour bar, as well as of the upper reach of the splendid estuary with its surrounding scenery. There is a beautiful beach below the hotel affording charming opportunities for bathing, boating, fishing, riding, or cycling, whilst the broad waters of Hokianga offer splendid cruising ground for yachts. The neighbouring natural scenery, and rides to many adjacent settlements are most interesting; and for sportsmen, pheasants, wild duck, quail, pigeons, etc., abound in plenty. The hotel is very commodious and tastefully furnished, has good attendance and an admirable table; in fact, is just the ideal place for a quiet holiday away from the worry and cares of restless civilisation. A qualified medical man resides in the district and can be summoned by telegraph in case of necessity.
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Mr. Alfred Spry Andrewes,
              Proprietor of the Opononi Hotel and Sanatorium, was born in London in 1852, and is a son of the late Mr. Thomas Andrewes, barrister, of Lincoln's Inn. He received his education in London and came out to Auckland per ship “Queen Bee” in 1869, where he shortly afterwards entered upon a mercantile life. After twelve months' residence in Auckland, Mr. Andrewes went to Dargaville, and was an employee of the late Mr. J. M. Dargaville at the same time as the Hon. E. Mitchelson, late Minister of Public Works. A year later he proceeded to Hokianga and started business at the age of nineteen on his own account at the Hokianga Heads, and two years subsequently admitted Mr. A. C. Yarborough into partnership under the style of Andrewes and Yarborough. The business of the firm grew into a very extensive one with several branches. In 1874



it took over the business of Mr. John Webster at Kohukohu, where it established its head-quarters. Messrs. Andrewes and Yarborough also erected hotels at Kohukohu, Rawene, Omapere, and Horeke. The firm successfully carried on the Kohukohu sawmills and practically built the township. It was succeeded by the Kauri Timber Company in 1891, at which date the firm dissolved partnership, and brought to a close the largest trading concern in Hokianga County. Mr. Andrewes then began afresh as auctioneer, land agent, and Government valuer, and in 1894 took over the Opononi hotel and store, in conjunction with his land agency and general business. In local politics he has been a member of Hokianga County Council for many years and for a period chairman, and he generally interests himself in all matters tending to advance the locality.
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Mr. John Webster,
             
 Owner of the Opononi Estate of 700 acres, was born in 1818, at Montrose, Scotland. His father, Mr. Andrew Webster, was a merchant, and young Webster was educated at the Montrose Academy. In 1833 he went to Glasgow, where he entered the office of Mr. J. H. Patterson, general merchant and exporter. Like other land of his nation, young John Webster neglected neither business nor books, and he was especially fond of reading Robinson Crusoe, and other works bearing upon adventure and travel. These books gave so strong a bias to his mind that by the time he was twenty he was fully determined to visit other lands. Accordingly, on the 23rd of August, 1838, he left Glasgow, in the emigrant ship “Portland,” Captain Coubra, bound for Sydney, New South Wales, which they reached in December, after a passage of 138 days. Always an observer and a recorder of what he observed, Mr. Webster wrote an account of the outward voyage. Of those aboard the “Portland,” only Mr. Webster and the late Mr. Peter Monro paid passage money. Sydney was but a small place in December, 1838, and when Mr. Webster landed at the foot of George Street, the first sound that fell on his ear was the clanking of the chains of the convicts who were at work on the formation of that part of the street, and at that time the barracks of the soldiers occupied the greater part of the north side of George Street. He could have obtained employment in an office in Sydney, but he preferred to go up country, and went several hundreds of miles inland to work on the sheep station of Mr. E. Howe, of Glen Lee, on the Murrumbidgee river. It was an arduous journey, and several tribes of blacks were met on the way, but they were all friendly, and the smell of the gum trees, the novel aspects of the country, and the sight of wild men, naked and not ashamed, were elements of romance in the situation. At Mr. Howe's station ticket-of-leave shepherds took the flocks out to graze and brought them back at night to be yarded at the various out stations. A great drought set in, and grass became so scarce that the sheep scraped the ground for roots, and gum trees had to be felled so that they might eat the leaves. At the end of the year Mr. Howe sold his sheep and station, and brought 1000 head of cattle with the intention of taking them overland to Adelaide. To do this a number of men were needed, and Mr. Webster and James McLaurin, another young Scotsman, joined the party, which consisted chiefly of ticket-of-leave men. Many adventures were met by the way on account of hostile blacks killing the cattle and horses. When the neighbourhood of Adelaide was reached the party camped at the Gawler river, and the Governor himself visited the camp, which was left in charge of Mr. Webster. After the cattle were sold the party returned to Melbourne by the first steamer which had come to Australia, a small paddle boat with a speed of five knots an hour. As they went up the harbour they passed two or three square-rigged immigrant ships with people for the new settlement, and the little steamer was hailed with cheers as she passed them. The steamer anchored off Liardet's Beach, whence Mr. Webster walked through swampy ground, and crossed the Yarra in a boat to Melbourne, which was then a small struggling place, with a blockhouse, a police station, and very few private houses. There were stocks at the police station,
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and when Mr. Webster was going the rounds on his arrival, he found that the steamer's cook and carpenter, who had gone ashore before him, were already imprisoned in these ancient instruments, probably to restrain them from painting the infant metropolis in lurid red. Mr. Howe formed a new station at Broken River, nearly 200 miles from Melbourne, and engaged Mr. Webster and Mr. James McLaurin to drive fat cattle into town. This was rough works, as wild country, peopled by warlike blacks had to be traversed, sometimes with insufficient rations and badly cooked food. In 1840 Mr. Howe arranged another trip with cattle from Sydney to Adelaide, and again engaged Mr. Webster and Mr. James McLaurin. It started from the head waters of the Murray river and the party was the first to try that route. Mr. Webster was entrusted with preparing the necessary outfit, drays, supplies, etc., and conveyed them to the Murray to await the arrival of the cattle. One of the articles in the equipment for the journey was a water-tight punt on wheels. When a large river had to be crossed stores and other things were placed in this punt, which was then launched and ferried over to the other side; horses and cattle swam across. This trip was in charge of Messrs John and Edward Howe. On the 29th of August a start was made with 1000 head of cattle, and the long, dangerous journey of 1302 miles was finished by the end of January, 1841. Three hundred cattle were lost by the way, some through being drowned in crossing rivers, and some through being speared by the blacks, who sometimes attacked them from ambush. Mr. Websters own horse was speared, and also one of the men of the party; on one occasion the party had a fierce fight with the natives, and more than once they killed several through having to fire on them. Webster and McLaurin usually went ahead to look for a good camping ground. On one occasion they discovered a river entering the Murray from the north, and Mr. Webster named it the Edward, after Edward Howe. In after years Mr. James McLaurin became a wealthy squatter on the river Edward, but he has been dead for some years, and Mr. Webster is now (1901) the last survivor of that overland party. Few, if any, people living know the origin of the name Edward, as applied to the river in question. On returning to Sydney, Mr Webster shipped in the “Jupiter,' for New Zealand, and landed at the Bay of Islands during 1841. His brother, Mr. William Webster, had two years previously arrived in the colony in connection with Mr. Gibbon Wakefield's colonisation scheme, and had brought out a sawmill plant and been the first colonist to start a sawmill in New Zealand. Mr. John Webster joined him at Hokianga. The Maoris were then peaceful, for though they were a fine race of warriors, the missionaries had obtained a beneficent influence over them. Dr. Logan Campbell was then at Hokianga, and he and Mr. John Webster used to pull in a canoe together to visit the Maori chiefs. Dr. Campbell's first visit to Hokianga was made in the barque “Bolina,” Captain Daldy, chartered by Brown and Campbell to load spars and other produce for England. Dr. Campbell has ever been held in the highest esteem by Mr. Webster, and is now (1901) his oldest living friend. In those days a good deal of trading was done with the Maoris. Mr. Webster was at Hokianga through all the troublous time of Heke's war in 1845, being with the friendly native allies under Tamati Waka Nene, and he and the late Judge Maning were much together during that period. Mr. Webster has written a history of the war, which students of the subject hope will be published some day. After Heke' war Mr. Webster went to Auckland, and in 1849 was supercargo for a vessel belonging to Messrs Brown and Campbell, and as such visited California. He then joined Mr. Benjamin Boyd, of the “Wanderer,” a fine yacht which carried twelve guns, and her midship gun, “Long Tom,” is now in Albert Park, Auckland. During a cruise amongst the Solomon Islands, a fight took place at Guadacanar, on the 15th of October, 1851, between the natives and Mr. Boyd's men, and Mr. Boyd himself was killed; an incident which is referred to at some length in the general introduction to this volume. Shortly after Mr. Boyd's death the “Wanderer” was wrecked at Port Macquarrie, and Mr. Webster went to Sydney, whence he proceeded to the Turon goldfields. Subsequently he visited the Victorian diggings. He discovered a valuable reef at Mount Alexander, but could not work it without machinery. He, however, filled a candle box with specimens, one of which was twenty-one pennyweights. With that he went to London, where he visited Mr. Boyd's friends, by whom he was lionised, and was introduced to notabilities at the house of Lord Rosse, and had the honour of showing his sketches of the islands to her Majesty the Queen and Prince Albert. He also attended the meetings of the Royal Society where he met Sir George Grey, who had been recalled from the Cape, and he saw British troops embarking for the Crimea. Mr. Webster returned to Hokianga in 1855, when he married the daughter of his old friend, Mr. George Frederick Russell, of Kohukohu. Mr. Russell died shortly afterwards, and Mr. Webster entered extensively into the timber trade with his younger brother, Mr. A. S. Webster, who had offices in Sydney, and who received and sold tea cargoes from China, shipped in return timber vessels, and traded to India, China, South America, England, Sydney, Melbourne, and Adelaide. The timber they dealt in was all in long lengths; spars for three-deckers of the British navy, Chinese junks, etc. The brothers were in the business from 1855 to 1874, when they sold out their timber areas and ships to various purchasers. Mr. Webster had previously bought 700 acres of land at Opononi. It was then so bleak as to be little better than a wilderness, and for several years all his efforts at planting were frustrated by the winds. However, by persevering with thickly planted trees, Mr. Webster at last succeeded in making Opononi an ideal idyllic homestead and pastoral farm, where he has for years entertained distinguished visitors to the district, and has had for his guests the Earls of Glasgow and Ranfurly, and other New Zealand Governors. There he himself, too, after his strange eventful history, filled with moving incidents by field and flood, has for years been spending in genial quietude the evening of his long life. Mrs Webster died some years ago, and for some time one of the sons, Mr. George Webster, has managed the property, and acted as agent for the Northern Steamship Company, in which his father is a large shareholder. Mr. and Mrs. Webster had a family of four sons and three daughters. Though living in retirement Mr. Webster has never ceased to take an actively intelligent part in matters bearing upon industrial progress or intellectual movement, and he has long been a member of the New Zealand Institute, the Polynesian Society, and the Australasian Association for the Advancement of Science.
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Opononi
              
              is situated on the south side of the Hokianga River, three miles from Hokianga Heads and fifteen miles from Rawene, the township, which is also known as Herd's Point. Opononi is part of the property owned by Mr. John Webster, and is a convenient landing-place for goods for distribution in the surrounding scattered districts. The land is used for grazing sheep, but Mr. Webster has a fine orchard; the place is, however, chiefly a trading centre. The Canterbury and Auckland special settlements are about twelve miles from Opononi. There is very good anchorage, where vessels drawing twenty feet can lie safely; the largest sailing vessels have crossed the Hokianga bar and lain off the Opononi wharf on their way up the river to the sawmills at Kohukohu. Some fine scenery is to be found in the neighbourhood. The Blow Hole at the Heads is a grand sight, and the Pakanae Gorge on the road to the Waimamaku settlement is worth a visit, besides numerous waterfalls easily accessible. The climate is healthy, and good shooting and fishing can be found in abundance. There is regular steam communication with Auckland and a weekly overland mail service by coach by way of Horeke, to and from Kawakawa, at the Bay of Islands. A hotel near the beach offers good accommodation for travellers. There are several native settlements in the



small, rich valleys formed by numerous tidal creeks on the Hokianga river, in which the easy-going inhabitants do a limited amount of cultivation. Europeans settled on the Hokianga in the earliest period of the colony, and at one time both Maoris and pakeha settlers grew wheat and maize to a considerable extent, and did a good export trade with Sydney. Of this there is now no trace, and the principal industry at the present time is timber, very extensive forests of kauri, totara, and other valuable trees existing over a large area of country. There is also a large trade in kauri gum, and the Government obtains its principal supply of puriri sleepers from the district.
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                The Opononi Post And Telephone Office
              
              is situated eight miles from Whirinaki, and two miles from Omapere and was opened in 1892. There is a regular mail service despatched on Tuesday at three p.m., the incoming mail arriving at midnight, and an occasional mail service from Onehunga by West Coast steamers.
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Mr. Bernard George Howe,
              Postmaster at Opononi, entered upon his duties in 1894, having for many years been previously stationed at Omapere. Mr. Howe served in the militia during the Waikato War and came to Hokianga in 1865, eventually entering the employ of Mr. A. S. Andrewes, storekeeper, in whose store the Opononi post and telephone office is located.
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                Opononi Hotel And Sanatorium
              
              (A. S. Andrewes, proprietor). Bankers, Union Bank of Australasia. This hotel was acquired by the present proprietor in 1894, and is claimed to be the finest anywhere to be found in the “Far North.” Its situation is a very salubrious one and commands a fine view of the heads and harbour bar, as well as of the upper reach of the splendid estuary with its surrounding scenery. There is a beautiful beach below the hotel affording charming opportunities for bathing, boating, fishing, riding, or cycling, whilst the broad waters of Hokianga offer splendid cruising ground for yachts. The neighbouring natural scenery, and rides to many adjacent settlements are most interesting; and for sportsmen, pheasants, wild duck, quail, pigeons, etc., abound in plenty. The hotel is very commodious and tastefully furnished, has good attendance and an admirable table; in fact, is just the ideal place for a quiet holiday away from the worry and cares of restless civilisation. A qualified medical man resides in the district and can be summoned by telegraph in case of necessity.
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Mr. Alfred Spry Andrewes,
              Proprietor of the Opononi Hotel and Sanatorium, was born in London in 1852, and is a son of the late Mr. Thomas Andrewes, barrister, of Lincoln's Inn. He received his education in London and came out to Auckland per ship “Queen Bee” in 1869, where he shortly afterwards entered upon a mercantile life. After twelve months' residence in Auckland, Mr. Andrewes went to Dargaville, and was an employee of the late Mr. J. M. Dargaville at the same time as the Hon. E. Mitchelson, late Minister of Public Works. A year later he proceeded to Hokianga and started business at the age of nineteen on his own account at the Hokianga Heads, and two years subsequently admitted Mr. A. C. Yarborough into partnership under the style of Andrewes and Yarborough. The business of the firm grew into a very extensive one with several branches. In 1874



it took over the business of Mr. John Webster at Kohukohu, where it established its head-quarters. Messrs. Andrewes and Yarborough also erected hotels at Kohukohu, Rawene, Omapere, and Horeke. The firm successfully carried on the Kohukohu sawmills and practically built the township. It was succeeded by the Kauri Timber Company in 1891, at which date the firm dissolved partnership, and brought to a close the largest trading concern in Hokianga County. Mr. Andrewes then began afresh as auctioneer, land agent, and Government valuer, and in 1894 took over the Opononi hotel and store, in conjunction with his land agency and general business. In local politics he has been a member of Hokianga County Council for many years and for a period chairman, and he generally interests himself in all matters tending to advance the locality.
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Mr. John Webster,
             
 Owner of the Opononi Estate of 700 acres, was born in 1818, at Montrose, Scotland. His father, Mr. Andrew Webster, was a merchant, and young Webster was educated at the Montrose Academy. In 1833 he went to Glasgow, where he entered the office of Mr. J. H. Patterson, general merchant and exporter. Like other land of his nation, young John Webster neglected neither business nor books, and he was especially fond of reading Robinson Crusoe, and other works bearing upon adventure and travel. These books gave so strong a bias to his mind that by the time he was twenty he was fully determined to visit other lands. Accordingly, on the 23rd of August, 1838, he left Glasgow, in the emigrant ship “Portland,” Captain Coubra, bound for Sydney, New South Wales, which they reached in December, after a passage of 138 days. Always an observer and a recorder of what he observed, Mr. Webster wrote an account of the outward voyage. Of those aboard the “Portland,” only Mr. Webster and the late Mr. Peter Monro paid passage money. Sydney was but a small place in December, 1838, and when Mr. Webster landed at the foot of George Street, the first sound that fell on his ear was the clanking of the chains of the convicts who were at work on the formation of that part of the street, and at that time the barracks of the soldiers occupied the greater part of the north side of George Street. He could have obtained employment in an office in Sydney, but he preferred to go up country, and went several hundreds of miles inland to work on the sheep station of Mr. E. Howe, of Glen Lee, on the Murrumbidgee river. It was an arduous journey, and several tribes of blacks were met on the way, but they were all friendly, and the smell of the gum trees, the novel aspects of the country, and the sight of wild men, naked and not ashamed, were elements of romance in the situation. At Mr. Howe's station ticket-of-leave shepherds took the flocks out to graze and brought them back at night to be yarded at the various out stations. A great drought set in, and grass became so scarce that the sheep scraped the ground for roots, and gum trees had to be felled so that they might eat the leaves. At the end of the year Mr. Howe sold his sheep and station, and brought 1000 head of cattle with the intention of taking them overland to Adelaide. To do this a number of men were needed, and Mr. Webster and James McLaurin, another young Scotsman, joined the party, which consisted chiefly of ticket-of-leave men. Many adventures were met by the way on account of hostile blacks killing the cattle and horses. When the neighbourhood of Adelaide was reached the party camped at the Gawler river, and the Governor himself visited the camp, which was left in charge of Mr. Webster. After the cattle were sold the party returned to Melbourne by the first steamer which had come to Australia, a small paddle boat with a speed of five knots an hour. As they went up the harbour they passed two or three square-rigged immigrant ships with people for the new settlement, and the little steamer was hailed with cheers as she passed them. The steamer anchored off Liardet's Beach, whence Mr. Webster walked through swampy ground, and crossed the Yarra in a boat to Melbourne, which was then a small struggling place, with a blockhouse, a police station, and very few private houses. There were stocks at the police station,
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and when Mr. Webster was going the rounds on his arrival, he found that the steamer's cook and carpenter, who had gone ashore before him, were already imprisoned in these ancient instruments, probably to restrain them from painting the infant metropolis in lurid red. Mr. Howe formed a new station at Broken River, nearly 200 miles from Melbourne, and engaged Mr. Webster and Mr. James McLaurin to drive fat cattle into town. This was rough works, as wild country, peopled by warlike blacks had to be traversed, sometimes with insufficient rations and badly cooked food. In 1840 Mr. Howe arranged another trip with cattle from Sydney to Adelaide, and again engaged Mr. Webster and Mr. James McLaurin. It started from the head waters of the Murray river and the party was the first to try that route. Mr. Webster was entrusted with preparing the necessary outfit, drays, supplies, etc., and conveyed them to the Murray to await the arrival of the cattle. One of the articles in the equipment for the journey was a water-tight punt on wheels. When a large river had to be crossed stores and other things were placed in this punt, which was then launched and ferried over to the other side; horses and cattle swam across. This trip was in charge of Messrs John and Edward Howe. On the 29th of August a start was made with 1000 head of cattle, and the long, dangerous journey of 1302 miles was finished by the end of January, 1841. Three hundred cattle were lost by the way, some through being drowned in crossing rivers, and some through being speared by the blacks, who sometimes attacked them from ambush. Mr. Websters own horse was speared, and also one of the men of the party; on one occasion the party had a fierce fight with the natives, and more than once they killed several through having to fire on them. Webster and McLaurin usually went ahead to look for a good camping ground. On one occasion they discovered a river entering the Murray from the north, and Mr. Webster named it the Edward, after Edward Howe. In after years Mr. James McLaurin became a wealthy squatter on the river Edward, but he has been dead for some years, and Mr. Webster is now (1901) the last survivor of that overland party. Few, if any, people living know the origin of the name Edward, as applied to the river in question. On returning to Sydney, Mr Webster shipped in the “Jupiter,' for New Zealand, and landed at the Bay of Islands during 1841. His brother, Mr. William Webster, had two years previously arrived in the colony in connection with Mr. Gibbon Wakefield's colonisation scheme, and had brought out a sawmill plant and been the first colonist to start a sawmill in New Zealand. Mr. John Webster joined him at Hokianga. The Maoris were then peaceful, for though they were a fine race of warriors, the missionaries had obtained a beneficent influence over them. Dr. Logan Campbell was then at Hokianga, and he and Mr. John Webster used to pull in a canoe together to visit the Maori chiefs. Dr. Campbell's first visit to Hokianga was made in the barque “Bolina,” Captain Daldy, chartered by Brown and Campbell to load spars and other produce for England. Dr. Campbell has ever been held in the highest esteem by Mr. Webster, and is now (1901) his oldest living friend. In those days a good deal of trading was done with the Maoris. Mr. Webster was at Hokianga through all the troublous time of Heke's war in 1845, being with the friendly native allies under Tamati Waka Nene, and he and the late Judge Maning were much together during that period. Mr. Webster has written a history of the war, which students of the subject hope will be published some day. After Heke' war Mr. Webster went to Auckland, and in 1849 was supercargo for a vessel belonging to Messrs Brown and Campbell, and as such visited California. He then joined Mr. Benjamin Boyd, of the “Wanderer,” a fine yacht which carried twelve guns, and her midship gun, “Long Tom,” is now in Albert Park, Auckland. During a cruise amongst the Solomon Islands, a fight took place at Guadacanar, on the 15th of October, 1851, between the natives and Mr. Boyd's men, and Mr. Boyd himself was killed; an incident which is referred to at some length in the general introduction to this volume. Shortly after Mr. Boyd's death the “Wanderer” was wrecked at Port Macquarrie, and Mr. Webster went to Sydney, whence he proceeded to the Turon goldfields. Subsequently he visited the Victorian diggings. He discovered a valuable reef at Mount Alexander, but could not work it without machinery. He, however, filled a candle box with specimens, one of which was twenty-one pennyweights. With that he went to London, where he visited Mr. Boyd's friends, by whom he was lionised, and was introduced to notabilities at the house of Lord Rosse, and had the honour of showing his sketches of the islands to her Majesty the Queen and Prince Albert. He also attended the meetings of the Royal Society where he met Sir George Grey, who had been recalled from the Cape, and he saw British troops embarking for the Crimea. Mr. Webster returned to Hokianga in 1855, when he married the daughter of his old friend, Mr. George Frederick Russell, of Kohukohu. Mr. Russell died shortly afterwards, and Mr. Webster entered extensively into the timber trade with his younger brother, Mr. A. S. Webster, who had offices in Sydney, and who received and sold tea cargoes from China, shipped in return timber vessels, and traded to India, China, South America, England, Sydney, Melbourne, and Adelaide. The timber they dealt in was all in long lengths; spars for three-deckers of the British navy, Chinese junks, etc. The brothers were in the business from 1855 to 1874, when they sold out their timber areas and ships to various purchasers. Mr. Webster had previously bought 700 acres of land at Opononi. It was then so bleak as to be little better than a wilderness, and for several years all his efforts at planting were frustrated by the winds. However, by persevering with thickly planted trees, Mr. Webster at last succeeded in making Opononi an ideal idyllic homestead and pastoral farm, where he has for years entertained distinguished visitors to the district, and has had for his guests the Earls of Glasgow and Ranfurly, and other New Zealand Governors. There he himself, too, after his strange eventful history, filled with moving incidents by field and flood, has for years been spending in genial quietude the evening of his long life. Mrs Webster died some years ago, and for some time one of the sons, Mr. George Webster, has managed the property, and acted as agent for the Northern Steamship Company, in which his father is a large shareholder. Mr. and Mrs. Webster had a family of four sons and three daughters. Though living in retirement Mr. Webster has never ceased to take an actively intelligent part in matters bearing upon industrial progress or intellectual movement, and he has long been a member of the New Zealand Institute, the Polynesian Society, and the Australasian Association for the Advancement of Science.

            

              

[image: In Mr. Webster's Grounds.]

In Mr. Webster's Grounds.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Waione





          
Waione.

          

            
            


              

                
Waione
              
              (Sandy Water), the property of Mr. C. F. Bolton, is situated between Opononi and Whirinaki in Hokianga county. It has a frontage to the estuary and comprises an area of 400 acres, composed principally of fertile volcanic land, which formerly was partly under heavy bush but is now in excellent cultivation. A flock of over 200 crossbred sheep and a number of shorthorn cattle are depastured, and nearly four miles of permanent net-fencing have been erected. There is a fine twelve-roomed house overlooking the harbour, with out-buildings, concrete sheep-dips, shearing sheds, &c.

          

          

            
            


              

Bolton, Charles Frederick,
              Farmer, General Storekeeper, Gum Buyer, and General Produce Merchant, Waione. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland, Postal and telegraph address, “Bolton, Opononin.” Mr. Bolton, who established his business in 1892, keeps a general stock of merchandise, chiefly for domestic consumption. He was born in Warrington, Lancashire, in 1852, and was educated at the grammar school of that town. He entered the service of and subsequently became a partner in, the firm of Edward Bolton and Sons, glass manufacturers and exporters. After being ten years in the business, and still retaining an interest in it, he came out to the Australian Colonies and New Zealand. After a trip Home he established himself in business in Sydney and Queensland as a general importer, representing his own English firm for ten years, and exhibiting their products at the Sydney and Melbourne Exhibitions. In 1892, he again came to New Zealand, and subsequently settled down in Waione. He is married to a daughter of Mr. William Oakden, of Warrington, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Bolton, Charles Frederick,
              Farmer, General Storekeeper, Gum Buyer, and General Produce Merchant, Waione. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales, Auckland, Postal and telegraph address, “Bolton, Opononin.” Mr. Bolton, who established his business in 1892, keeps a general stock of merchandise, chiefly for domestic consumption. He was born in Warrington, Lancashire, in 1852, and was educated at the grammar school of that town. He entered the service of and subsequently became a partner in, the firm of Edward Bolton and Sons, glass manufacturers and exporters. After being ten years in the business, and still retaining an interest in it, he came out to the Australian Colonies and New Zealand. After a trip Home he established himself in business in Sydney and Queensland as a general importer, representing his own English firm for ten years, and exhibiting their products at the Sydney and Melbourne Exhibitions. In 1892, he again came to New Zealand, and subsequently settled down in Waione. He is married to a daughter of Mr. William Oakden, of Warrington, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Whirinaki
              
             
 is a native settlement in Hokianga, 208 miles north of Auckland and sixteen miles from Rawene. The population consists almost entirely of natives, who cultivate a large extent of land and possess a number of live stock of all kinds. The dwellings of the natives are numerous and grouped together in a beautiful valley about 700 acres in extent. Large quantities of maize and potatoes are grown, as the natives are more than usually industrious, and they also show great interest in the education of their children. Whirinaki Valley is formed of rich alluvial deposit yielding splendid crops; and sub-tropical fruits, especially oranges and lemons, grow to great perfection. The settlement is one of long standing and of great tribal importance, being an ancient ancestral burial place of many noted warriors and chiefs of the Ngapuhi nation. Now
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there is a semi-Europeanised appearance about it with its fine new native school-house, post and telephone office, all of which are in the charge of Mr. C. P. Winkelmann, who displays uncommon interest in the Maori population. Many of the natives, who are nearly all half-castes or quarter-castes, have comfortable, well-built houses.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Whirinaki Native Technical School
              
              is a substantial building situated on a hill, and has accommodation for seventy scholars. There are more than sixty children on the roll, and the average attendance is fifty. The Government has recently converted the school into a technical school, and a large and substantial workshop has been fitted with all the tools necessary for the instruction of classes in carpentry and joinery. Metal working will also receive attention, and form part of the instruction for pupils. The master, Mr. Winklemann, who is a registered pharmaceutical chemist, has fitted up two laboratories, in which there are valuable and instructive apparatus appertaining to almost all branches of science. As an old medical student, he has also established a complete surgery and dispensary for the benefit of the Maori people, and this has done much to bring about a decided improvement in the general health of the settlement.
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Mr. Charles Peter Winkelmann,
             
 who was appointed to the Whirinaki Native School in 1897, was born at Bradford, Yorkshire, was at Askern College, near Doncaster, and finished his education under a private tutor. He came out to New Zealand per ship “British Empire” in 1877, intending to engage in sheep farming, but obtained an appointment at Te Aute College as assistant master. After five years' service he resigned his position, entered the Native School Department, and was given charge of the school at Kaipara, where he remained seven years, and was subsequently at Waimamaku for a like period. Whirinaki was always considered a troublesome school to manage, and it was not in a peaceful condition when Mr. Winkelmann was asked to take charge of it. However, he has succeeded in overcoming all difficulties and has placed the school on an excellent footing.
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Mr. Charles Peter Winkelmann,
             
 who was appointed to the Whirinaki Native School in 1897, was born at Bradford, Yorkshire, was at Askern College, near Doncaster, and finished his education under a private tutor. He came out to New Zealand per ship “British Empire” in 1877, intending to engage in sheep farming, but obtained an appointment at Te Aute College as assistant master. After five years' service he resigned his position, entered the Native School Department, and was given charge of the school at Kaipara, where he remained seven years, and was subsequently at Waimamaku for a like period. Whirinaki was always considered a troublesome school to manage, and it was not in a peaceful condition when Mr. Winkelmann was asked to take charge of it. However, he has succeeded in overcoming all difficulties and has placed the school on an excellent footing.
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Kohukohu
              
              is the chief centre of the timber industry on the Hokianga river, and the Kauri Timber Company has large mills and offices at the township. Vessels of heavy draught can sail up the indented estuary from the Heads and find berthage at the mill wharves. Kohukohu has churches, a good hotel, several stores, hall and public school, post and telegraph office, and a population of about 300. The timber industry is in itself of great immediate importance, but it also means that as the bush is cleared off thousands of acres of excellent land will become available for settlement. Mr. Breidecker has a vineyard close to the township and produces many hundreds of gallons of excellent wine, and this industry bids fair to be eminently successful in that part of the district. The Hokianga Fruit Association has its headquarters at Kohukohu, and there are many excellent orchards in the neighbourhood.
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Seon, Cornelius William Pellatt,
              Accountant, Auctioneer, Estate, Native and General Agent, Kohukohu, Branch at Rawene. Postal and telegraphic address, “Seon, Kohukohu.” Bankers, Union Bank of Australia, Ltd., Auckland. Agencies, Northern Steamship Company and National Fire and Marine Insurance Company. Mr. Seon, who conducts a large and gradually extending business, is well known throughout the whole of the Hokianga and adjoining counties. As a public man he is a prominent figure and has done a great deal to forward the interests of Kohukohu. Being an expert Maori linguist, his valuable services in that direction have been of much public use, both as a valuer and in native land transfer work, which is very extensive. Mr. Seon was born in Whangarei in 1864, and is a son of the late Capt. Seon, harbour master of Hokianga. He received his education in Auckland and adopted the profession of an accountant; was four years at Gisborne and afterwards at Napier, where



he was native interpreter and secretary to the late Hon. John Sheehan. On the death of his father, Mr. Seon returned to Kohukohu, where he established himself in his present business. He initiated the scheme for the reclamation of the sports ground, is secretary and treasurer of the Hokianga Settlers' Association, librarian of the Hokianga Public Library and chairman of the Regatta Committee. During the general election of 1896 Mr. Seon received a large and influentially signed requisition to allow himself to be nominated for a seat in the House, but for private reasons declined. He is married to Miss Harrison, of Waimate, to whose exertions the success of the Hokianga Floral Association has been largely attributed. Like her husband, Mrs. Seon is thoroughly conversant with the native language.
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Halliwell Bros.
              (George Edwin Halliwell, Frederick Halliwell, and Herbert Halliwell), Butchers, Kohukohu. Branch at Rawene. This firm's business was established in 1882 by the late Mr. G. Halliwell, father of the present partners, and taken over by them in 1893. Their trade extends throughout the whole of the Hokianga district, live stock is bought chiefly in Bay of Islands County, grazed on Messrs. Halliwell Bros,' property of 250 acres at Kohukohu, and slaughtered as required. The firm do the entire trade of Kohukohu and Rawene, and ship meat weekly to Hokianga Heads and Mangamuka. Their slaughter-yards, situated at Bankfield, are of modern construction and thoroughly up-to-date. Mr. George Edwin Halliwell, the senior partner, was born in Halifax, England, in 1870, and came with his parents to New Zealand, landing at Auckland, per ship “Orari,” in 1877. Some few years of his life were spent in that city, after which he assisted his father in conducting the butchery he had established at Kohukohu. On his father's decrease, the business was taken over by him and his two brothers.
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Lester Bros.
              (Robert Ernest Lester and Charles Bertram Lester), General Storekeepers and Traders, Kohukohu. Branch at Rawene. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Messrs. Lester Bros. established their flourishing business in 1892 in premises containing a floor space of 2500 square feet and replete with a varied stock of merchandise systematically arranged according to the respective departments of the trade. There are large store-rooms at the rear of the premises for bulk goods, and a commodious grain house adjoining.
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Mr. Robert Ernest Lester,
              the Managing Partner at Kohukohu, was born in Leicester, England, in 1856, and is a son of Mr. Robert Lester, of Mount Roskill, Auckland. After carrying on farming pursuits in the Port Albert district for ten years, Mr. Lester returned to Auckland, where he began commercial life establishing himself in business as a grocer in Karangahape Road. Subsequent to making a travelling engagement in Australia, Mr. Lester started the store at Kohukohu for the Kauri Timber Company, but left the company shortly afterwards to manage a store for Mr. S. H. Godden. Eighteen



months later, Mr. Lester conjointly with his brother, established the present firm of Lester Bros. His favourite pastime is orchard work. In 1900 he built a large sanatorium of sixteen rooms at Kohukoha, and laid out five acres in a vinery and orchard. He now conducts this property conjointly with his business. Mr. Lester is married to a daughter of Mr. M. Scott, of Manurewa, and has two daughters.
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Wallace, David Brown,
              General Storekeeper and Provision Dealer, Kohukohu, Telegraphic address, “Wallace, Kohukohu.” Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland, Mr. Wallace's business was originally established by Messrs. Andrewes and Yarborough in 1861 and taken over by Mr. Wallace in 1891. The premises are large and commodious and contain a first-class stock of general merchandise. An excellent connection is maintained on “The River” and over a very wide area. Mr. Wallace was born in Dundee in 1845, came with his parents to New Zealand in 1855 per ship “Bank of England” and finished his education in Auckland, where he entered upon a mercantile life. In 1866 he established himself as a timber merchant at Greymouth, but gave it up two years later and returned to Auckland. After spending six years on the Thames, Mr. Wallace was engaged at a mill at Whangapoua, belonging to Mr. J. S. Macfarlane. He subsequently went to Turua, where he managed for two years the mill now owned by Messrs. Bagnall Bros. Coming next to Kohukohu, Mr. Wallace was appointed secretary to the Hokianga Sawmills Company, which post he filled for five years and, subsequently, managed the company for twelve months. He then took charge of the Waiotu sawmills for a year, but returned to Kohukohu to take charge of the Kauri Timber Company's mills. Three years later he purchased his present business from Mr. Godden. Mr. Wallace was the first master of the Masonic lodge in the district and is secretary of the local school committee.
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Kohukohu
              
              is the chief centre of the timber industry on the Hokianga river, and the Kauri Timber Company has large mills and offices at the township. Vessels of heavy draught can sail up the indented estuary from the Heads and find berthage at the mill wharves. Kohukohu has churches, a good hotel, several stores, hall and public school, post and telegraph office, and a population of about 300. The timber industry is in itself of great immediate importance, but it also means that as the bush is cleared off thousands of acres of excellent land will become available for settlement. Mr. Breidecker has a vineyard close to the township and produces many hundreds of gallons of excellent wine, and this industry bids fair to be eminently successful in that part of the district. The Hokianga Fruit Association has its headquarters at Kohukohu, and there are many excellent orchards in the neighbourhood.
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Seon, Cornelius William Pellatt,
              Accountant, Auctioneer, Estate, Native and General Agent, Kohukohu, Branch at Rawene. Postal and telegraphic address, “Seon, Kohukohu.” Bankers, Union Bank of Australia, Ltd., Auckland. Agencies, Northern Steamship Company and National Fire and Marine Insurance Company. Mr. Seon, who conducts a large and gradually extending business, is well known throughout the whole of the Hokianga and adjoining counties. As a public man he is a prominent figure and has done a great deal to forward the interests of Kohukohu. Being an expert Maori linguist, his valuable services in that direction have been of much public use, both as a valuer and in native land transfer work, which is very extensive. Mr. Seon was born in Whangarei in 1864, and is a son of the late Capt. Seon, harbour master of Hokianga. He received his education in Auckland and adopted the profession of an accountant; was four years at Gisborne and afterwards at Napier, where



he was native interpreter and secretary to the late Hon. John Sheehan. On the death of his father, Mr. Seon returned to Kohukohu, where he established himself in his present business. He initiated the scheme for the reclamation of the sports ground, is secretary and treasurer of the Hokianga Settlers' Association, librarian of the Hokianga Public Library and chairman of the Regatta Committee. During the general election of 1896 Mr. Seon received a large and influentially signed requisition to allow himself to be nominated for a seat in the House, but for private reasons declined. He is married to Miss Harrison, of Waimate, to whose exertions the success of the Hokianga Floral Association has been largely attributed. Like her husband, Mrs. Seon is thoroughly conversant with the native language.
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Halliwell Bros.
              (George Edwin Halliwell, Frederick Halliwell, and Herbert Halliwell), Butchers, Kohukohu. Branch at Rawene. This firm's business was established in 1882 by the late Mr. G. Halliwell, father of the present partners, and taken over by them in 1893. Their trade extends throughout the whole of the Hokianga district, live stock is bought chiefly in Bay of Islands County, grazed on Messrs. Halliwell Bros,' property of 250 acres at Kohukohu, and slaughtered as required. The firm do the entire trade of Kohukohu and Rawene, and ship meat weekly to Hokianga Heads and Mangamuka. Their slaughter-yards, situated at Bankfield, are of modern construction and thoroughly up-to-date. Mr. George Edwin Halliwell, the senior partner, was born in Halifax, England, in 1870, and came with his parents to New Zealand, landing at Auckland, per ship “Orari,” in 1877. Some few years of his life were spent in that city, after which he assisted his father in conducting the butchery he had established at Kohukohu. On his father's decrease, the business was taken over by him and his two brothers.

            

              

[image: Mr. G. E. Halliwell.]

Mr. G. E. Halliwell.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Lester Bros



            
            


              
Lester Bros.
              (Robert Ernest Lester and Charles Bertram Lester), General Storekeepers and Traders, Kohukohu. Branch at Rawene. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland. Messrs. Lester Bros. established their flourishing business in 1892 in premises containing a floor space of 2500 square feet and replete with a varied stock of merchandise systematically arranged according to the respective departments of the trade. There are large store-rooms at the rear of the premises for bulk goods, and a commodious grain house adjoining.
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Mr. Robert Ernest Lester,
              the Managing Partner at Kohukohu, was born in Leicester, England, in 1856, and is a son of Mr. Robert Lester, of Mount Roskill, Auckland. After carrying on farming pursuits in the Port Albert district for ten years, Mr. Lester returned to Auckland, where he began commercial life establishing himself in business as a grocer in Karangahape Road. Subsequent to making a travelling engagement in Australia, Mr. Lester started the store at Kohukohu for the Kauri Timber Company, but left the company shortly afterwards to manage a store for Mr. S. H. Godden. Eighteen



months later, Mr. Lester conjointly with his brother, established the present firm of Lester Bros. His favourite pastime is orchard work. In 1900 he built a large sanatorium of sixteen rooms at Kohukoha, and laid out five acres in a vinery and orchard. He now conducts this property conjointly with his business. Mr. Lester is married to a daughter of Mr. M. Scott, of Manurewa, and has two daughters.
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Wallace, David Brown,
              General Storekeeper and Provision Dealer, Kohukohu, Telegraphic address, “Wallace, Kohukohu.” Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand, Auckland, Mr. Wallace's business was originally established by Messrs. Andrewes and Yarborough in 1861 and taken over by Mr. Wallace in 1891. The premises are large and commodious and contain a first-class stock of general merchandise. An excellent connection is maintained on “The River” and over a very wide area. Mr. Wallace was born in Dundee in 1845, came with his parents to New Zealand in 1855 per ship “Bank of England” and finished his education in Auckland, where he entered upon a mercantile life. In 1866 he established himself as a timber merchant at Greymouth, but gave it up two years later and returned to Auckland. After spending six years on the Thames, Mr. Wallace was engaged at a mill at Whangapoua, belonging to Mr. J. S. Macfarlane. He subsequently went to Turua, where he managed for two years the mill now owned by Messrs. Bagnall Bros. Coming next to Kohukohu, Mr. Wallace was appointed secretary to the Hokianga Sawmills Company, which post he filled for five years and, subsequently, managed the company for twelve months. He then took charge of the Waiotu sawmills for a year, but returned to Kohukohu to take charge of the Kauri Timber Company's mills. Three years later he purchased his present business from Mr. Godden. Mr. Wallace was the first master of the Masonic lodge in the district and is secretary of the local school committee.
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Dargaville,
              named after its founder, the late Mr. J. M. Dargaville, is a pretty and prosperous township on the Wairoa, about 104 miles from Auckland. It is the terminus of the Helensville steamers, the upper reaches of the river being plied by smaller boats. It is also the central station of the Kaihu Valley railway, and owing to its unique position, almost in the centre of the county, and its being the converging centre for the main roads, it must soon become a town of considerable importance. Dargaville possesses a county wharf and a railway wharf, a post and telegraph office, a branch of the National Bank, an Anglican Church, a public school, Magistrate's Court, police station, railway station, a Masonic and two other halls, a library, two commodious hotels, besides boarding-houses, numerous stores, and other adjuncts characteristic of a rising township. Travellers remaining overnight in Dargaville may resume their journey, either by train up the valley, or by steamer up the river as far as Tangiteroria, and will pass, en route, several prosperous homesteads and two sawmills.

          

          

            
            


              
Dargaville Post And Telegraph Office.
              A new post and telegraph office is (March, 1901) to be erected at once, close to the Dargaville wharf. Telephone communication is established between Dargaville and Kaihu, and also between Dargaville and Tangiteroria. The money order and savings bank transactions at the office are very considerable, which is accounted for to some extent by the great number of Austrians employed in gum digging.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Joseph Hay,
              Postmaster, Telegraphist, Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages, and Customs Officer, at Dargaville, was born at Bendigo, Victoria, in 1862, and educated at the Lawrence High School, Otago. He joined the Telegraph Department as a cadet, was afterwards stationed as an operator at Dunedin, Blenheim, and Napier, and was appointed to his present position in 1898. Mr. Hay is also secretary of Lodge St. George, E. C., and chairman of the Dargaville school committee.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Abraham Absolum,
              formerly Postmaster, Telegraphist, and Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages at Dargaville, was born in Otahuhu in 1857, and educated at a private school. He joined the telegraph department as a cadet, was appointed to the Washdyke station, transferred to Timaru, and after acting as postmaster, etc., at various small townships, was made relieving-officer. Later he served as mail agent on the San Francisco line, then was on the West Coast for about eight years, and finally in 1891 was appointed to Dargaville, whence he was afterwards transferred to Kaikoura. Mr. Absolom is married and has three sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

                Dargaville Public School
              
              was opened in 1877 with about forty scholars. It is one of the largest schools north of Auckland. Since it was established a number of additions have been made to the school. The staff consists of the headmaster, two female assistants and two pupil-teachers.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Frank Percy Burton,
              B.A., Headmaster, was born at Papatoitoi in 1865, and educated in the Wellesley Street school and Auckland Grammar School and took his B.A. degree at the University College. He was appointed to his present position in 1893.

          

          

            
            


              
St. George Lodge,
              No. 1801, E.C., Dargaville, was inaugurated on the 19th of June, 1878. The hall where it meets at the present time was consecrated in February, 1890. The lodge is now a flourishing institution and has a membership of fifty-seven; it meets on or before the full moon on a Wednesday in each month.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Norman Alexander McLeod,
              Master of the Lodge St. George, No. 1801 E.C., Dargaville, was born in Waipu in 1868, and educated there. He studied for the law and in 1889 was admitted to the Supreme Court. He started practice at Dargaville in 1890 and in 1892 was appointed solicitor to Hobson County. In March, 1900, he was elected a member of the Auckland Education Board, and of the Bay of Islands Licensing Committee. Mr. McLeod holds rank as the district grand superintendent of works in the Auckland District Grand Lodge. He is the eldest son of the late Mr. Murdoch McLeod, formerly chairman of sessions of the peace and member of the Provincial Council in the early days. His grandfather, the Rev. Norman McLeod, was one of the early settlers and induced nearly a thousand people to emigrate to the Colony. Mr. McLeod is married to a daughter of Mr. W. H. Ennis Pinching, and has three sons and two daughters.
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National Bank Of New Zealand,
              Dargaville. The Dargaville branch of this bank was established in 1895, since which time the business has increased fully fifty per cent.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Herbert Gould,
              Resident Manager, is the son of Canon Gould and was born at Otahuhu in 1863. He was educated at the Parnell Grammar School, joined the bank service in 1880, and in 1894 was transferred to Dargaville.

          

          

            
            


              

Brown, William John,
              Contractor, Dargaville. Mr. Brown was born at Onehunga in 1861, and since the time he was a young man has been employed at bush work. In 1875, he started in business with his brother, under the style of Brown Bros. and Co. The firm put through some big contracts for the Kauri Timber Company and Dr. Campbell. On the death of his brother, Mr. Brown gave up the business, and took a farm of 400 acres up the river, where he spent three years, and then joined Messrs Finlay on Brcs. in carrying on bush contracts. He is a member of Lodge St. George 1801 E.C., and is well known as an oarsman and runner, having won a number of whaleboat races in his younger days. He is married to a daughter of the late Captain Stanvenny, of Tokatea.
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Spiers, William Archibald,
              Builder and Contractor, Dargaville. Mr. Spiers was born in Perthshire in 1848, and educated at Home. He served his time with his father, who was well known in the building trade in Perthshire. In 1872, he came to Sydney by the ship “Holmesdale” and after remaining in New South Wales for a short time went to Fiji, where his brother had been murdered some time previously, and took an active part in quelling the native disturbances. He remained in Fiji for about two years, during which time he built the first bank in Levuka for the Fiji Banking Company, afterwards taken over by the Bank of New Zealand. In 1874, Mr. Spiers came to New Zealand, went to Kaipara, then travelled south to Dunedin, where he remained in business as a builder for two years, after which he returned north and settled in Dargaville. Most of the township was built by him, many of the buildings being a credit to his workmanship. Mr. Spiers is chairman of the Hobson County Council; he was chairman of the Dargaville School Committee for six years, is a member of the licensing bench, has acted as chairman and treasurer of the racing club, and is treasurer of St. George's Foresters' Court. Mr. Spiers is a splendid performer of Scotch dances for which he has been presented with a number of medals, one being by the Prince of Wales at the Crystal Palace. He has also danced before Lord Glasgow in New Zealand. Mr. Spiers is married and has three children.
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Matthews, Frederick William.
              Mill Owner and Timber Merchant, Tatarariki, near Dargaville. Mr. Matthews was born in Hong Kong, in 1845, was a son of the late Mr. E. J. Matthews, formerly of the Royal Engineers Department, and came to Auckland with his parents in 1848. His father superintended the erection of the Albert Barracks and wall, the present Government House, and many other prominent buildings. He also superintended the formation of the pension settlements at Panmure, Howick, and Onehunga, and also the main sewer in Queen Street. Mr. Frederick W. Matthews was educated at the Auckland Academy under Mr. J. Gorrie. In 1858 he entered the service of Mr. W. Morrin, with whom he remained for ten years. He then accepted an engagement with Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., and in 1878 was given charge of their Kopuru sawmills and business in Northern Wairoa, retaining the position until 1888; on leaving he received a presentation from the employees of the firm. His next position was as manager of Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co.'s Mangawhare business, where he remained until 1893, when he left them to take over his present business, which had been established in 1891. Mr. Matthews was chairman of the Hobson County Council for seven years, during which time he interested himself strongly in favour of the movement for separate counties for Otamatea and Hobson. During his term of office the roads between Dargaville and Tatarariki and other main roads were made. He has been a local preacher in the Wesleyan Church since 1878 and from 1878 until 1888 was superintendent of the Sunday School and organist for the Anglican and Wesleyan choirs. Mr. Matthews was the first to bore artesian wells in the district and obtain a good supply of water. There are three bores on his property, with a flow of 3000 gallons per day. His example has been followed by other settlers. Mr. Matthews is married to a daughter of Mr. Alexander Black, builder, of Auckland, and has two daughters and five sons.
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Mitchelson, E., and Co.,
              General Merchants, Mill-owners, and Timber Merchants, Dargaville. This old established Auckland firm, which has a number of branches, bushes, and mills throughout North Wairoa, has its central depôt at Dargaville. The Hon. E. Mitchelson, the senior partner, is referred to elsewhere in this volume, and in the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia,



as a former member of the House of Representatives and Minister for Public Works.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Robert George Bramley,
              Bush Manager for Messrs. E. Mitchelson and Co., was born in Cumberland, England, in 1856, and came to New Zealand with his parents per ship “Tornado” in 1859. The family removed to Whangaroa, where Mr. Bramley resided for many years. Probably few men have had such experience of the kauri timber industry as Mr. Bramley, who has been a successful bush contractor, and in 1889 was appointed by the Kauri Timber Company, bush inspector for the whole of its bush work in the Auckland province. He retired from the company's service through illness in 1897, and after a short residence in the city of Auckland entered the employment of the Hon. E. Mitchelson as bush manager. Mr. Bramley was twice elected a member of the Whangaroa County Council, sat on the district licensing committee for two terms, and is a Mason of many years' standing.

            

              

[image: Mr. R. G. Bramley.]

Mr. 
R. G. Bramley.


            

          

          

            
            


              

Trounson, James,
              Timber Merchant, Dargaville, Mr. Trounson was born in Cornwall in 1839 and educated at Home. He came to New Zealand in 1862 in the ship “Hanover” in company with the Albertland settlers, and went to Paparoa, where he purchased 2400 acres of bush land, which he cleared. He afterwards purchased some 3400 acres of bush land up the Kaihu Valley. Mr. Trounson was a member of the Hobson County Council for three years, and was also a member of the licensing committee. He was one of the earliest settlers at Paparoa, and always took a great interest in local affairs. In 1890, he offered himself as a candidate for Parliament, but was defeated by nine votes. He stood again unsuccessfully in 1893, being defeated by a narrow majority.
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Dargaville,
              named after its founder, the late Mr. J. M. Dargaville, is a pretty and prosperous township on the Wairoa, about 104 miles from Auckland. It is the terminus of the Helensville steamers, the upper reaches of the river being plied by smaller boats. It is also the central station of the Kaihu Valley railway, and owing to its unique position, almost in the centre of the county, and its being the converging centre for the main roads, it must soon become a town of considerable importance. Dargaville possesses a county wharf and a railway wharf, a post and telegraph office, a branch of the National Bank, an Anglican Church, a public school, Magistrate's Court, police station, railway station, a Masonic and two other halls, a library, two commodious hotels, besides boarding-houses, numerous stores, and other adjuncts characteristic of a rising township. Travellers remaining overnight in Dargaville may resume their journey, either by train up the valley, or by steamer up the river as far as Tangiteroria, and will pass, en route, several prosperous homesteads and two sawmills.
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Dargaville Post And Telegraph Office.
              A new post and telegraph office is (March, 1901) to be erected at once, close to the Dargaville wharf. Telephone communication is established between Dargaville and Kaihu, and also between Dargaville and Tangiteroria. The money order and savings bank transactions at the office are very considerable, which is accounted for to some extent by the great number of Austrians employed in gum digging.
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Mr. Joseph Hay,
              Postmaster, Telegraphist, Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages, and Customs Officer, at Dargaville, was born at Bendigo, Victoria, in 1862, and educated at the Lawrence High School, Otago. He joined the Telegraph Department as a cadet, was afterwards stationed as an operator at Dunedin, Blenheim, and Napier, and was appointed to his present position in 1898. Mr. Hay is also secretary of Lodge St. George, E. C., and chairman of the Dargaville school committee.
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Mr. Abraham Absolum,
              formerly Postmaster, Telegraphist, and Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages at Dargaville, was born in Otahuhu in 1857, and educated at a private school. He joined the telegraph department as a cadet, was appointed to the Washdyke station, transferred to Timaru, and after acting as postmaster, etc., at various small townships, was made relieving-officer. Later he served as mail agent on the San Francisco line, then was on the West Coast for about eight years, and finally in 1891 was appointed to Dargaville, whence he was afterwards transferred to Kaikoura. Mr. Absolom is married and has three sons and three daughters.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Dargaville Public School



            
            


              

                Dargaville Public School
              
              was opened in 1877 with about forty scholars. It is one of the largest schools north of Auckland. Since it was established a number of additions have been made to the school. The staff consists of the headmaster, two female assistants and two pupil-teachers.
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Mr. Frank Percy Burton,
              B.A., Headmaster, was born at Papatoitoi in 1865, and educated in the Wellesley Street school and Auckland Grammar School and took his B.A. degree at the University College. He was appointed to his present position in 1893.
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St. George Lodge,
              No. 1801, E.C., Dargaville, was inaugurated on the 19th of June, 1878. The hall where it meets at the present time was consecrated in February, 1890. The lodge is now a flourishing institution and has a membership of fifty-seven; it meets on or before the full moon on a Wednesday in each month.
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Mr. Norman Alexander McLeod,
              Master of the Lodge St. George, No. 1801 E.C., Dargaville, was born in Waipu in 1868, and educated there. He studied for the law and in 1889 was admitted to the Supreme Court. He started practice at Dargaville in 1890 and in 1892 was appointed solicitor to Hobson County. In March, 1900, he was elected a member of the Auckland Education Board, and of the Bay of Islands Licensing Committee. Mr. McLeod holds rank as the district grand superintendent of works in the Auckland District Grand Lodge. He is the eldest son of the late Mr. Murdoch McLeod, formerly chairman of sessions of the peace and member of the Provincial Council in the early days. His grandfather, the Rev. Norman McLeod, was one of the early settlers and induced nearly a thousand people to emigrate to the Colony. Mr. McLeod is married to a daughter of Mr. W. H. Ennis Pinching, and has three sons and two daughters.
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National Bank Of New Zealand,
              Dargaville. The Dargaville branch of this bank was established in 1895, since which time the business has increased fully fifty per cent.
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Mr. Herbert Gould,
              Resident Manager, is the son of Canon Gould and was born at Otahuhu in 1863. He was educated at the Parnell Grammar School, joined the bank service in 1880, and in 1894 was transferred to Dargaville.
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Brown, William John,
              Contractor, Dargaville. Mr. Brown was born at Onehunga in 1861, and since the time he was a young man has been employed at bush work. In 1875, he started in business with his brother, under the style of Brown Bros. and Co. The firm put through some big contracts for the Kauri Timber Company and Dr. Campbell. On the death of his brother, Mr. Brown gave up the business, and took a farm of 400 acres up the river, where he spent three years, and then joined Messrs Finlay on Brcs. in carrying on bush contracts. He is a member of Lodge St. George 1801 E.C., and is well known as an oarsman and runner, having won a number of whaleboat races in his younger days. He is married to a daughter of the late Captain Stanvenny, of Tokatea.
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Spiers, William Archibald,
              Builder and Contractor, Dargaville. Mr. Spiers was born in Perthshire in 1848, and educated at Home. He served his time with his father, who was well known in the building trade in Perthshire. In 1872, he came to Sydney by the ship “Holmesdale” and after remaining in New South Wales for a short time went to Fiji, where his brother had been murdered some time previously, and took an active part in quelling the native disturbances. He remained in Fiji for about two years, during which time he built the first bank in Levuka for the Fiji Banking Company, afterwards taken over by the Bank of New Zealand. In 1874, Mr. Spiers came to New Zealand, went to Kaipara, then travelled south to Dunedin, where he remained in business as a builder for two years, after which he returned north and settled in Dargaville. Most of the township was built by him, many of the buildings being a credit to his workmanship. Mr. Spiers is chairman of the Hobson County Council; he was chairman of the Dargaville School Committee for six years, is a member of the licensing bench, has acted as chairman and treasurer of the racing club, and is treasurer of St. George's Foresters' Court. Mr. Spiers is a splendid performer of Scotch dances for which he has been presented with a number of medals, one being by the Prince of Wales at the Crystal Palace. He has also danced before Lord Glasgow in New Zealand. Mr. Spiers is married and has three children.
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Matthews, Frederick William.
              Mill Owner and Timber Merchant, Tatarariki, near Dargaville. Mr. Matthews was born in Hong Kong, in 1845, was a son of the late Mr. E. J. Matthews, formerly of the Royal Engineers Department, and came to Auckland with his parents in 1848. His father superintended the erection of the Albert Barracks and wall, the present Government House, and many other prominent buildings. He also superintended the formation of the pension settlements at Panmure, Howick, and Onehunga, and also the main sewer in Queen Street. Mr. Frederick W. Matthews was educated at the Auckland Academy under Mr. J. Gorrie. In 1858 he entered the service of Mr. W. Morrin, with whom he remained for ten years. He then accepted an engagement with Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., and in 1878 was given charge of their Kopuru sawmills and business in Northern Wairoa, retaining the position until 1888; on leaving he received a presentation from the employees of the firm. His next position was as manager of Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co.'s Mangawhare business, where he remained until 1893, when he left them to take over his present business, which had been established in 1891. Mr. Matthews was chairman of the Hobson County Council for seven years, during which time he interested himself strongly in favour of the movement for separate counties for Otamatea and Hobson. During his term of office the roads between Dargaville and Tatarariki and other main roads were made. He has been a local preacher in the Wesleyan Church since 1878 and from 1878 until 1888 was superintendent of the Sunday School and organist for the Anglican and Wesleyan choirs. Mr. Matthews was the first to bore artesian wells in the district and obtain a good supply of water. There are three bores on his property, with a flow of 3000 gallons per day. His example has been followed by other settlers. Mr. Matthews is married to a daughter of Mr. Alexander Black, builder, of Auckland, and has two daughters and five sons.
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Mitchelson, E., and Co.,
              General Merchants, Mill-owners, and Timber Merchants, Dargaville. This old established Auckland firm, which has a number of branches, bushes, and mills throughout North Wairoa, has its central depôt at Dargaville. The Hon. E. Mitchelson, the senior partner, is referred to elsewhere in this volume, and in the Wellington volume of the Cyclopedia,



as a former member of the House of Representatives and Minister for Public Works.
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Mr. Robert George Bramley,
              Bush Manager for Messrs. E. Mitchelson and Co., was born in Cumberland, England, in 1856, and came to New Zealand with his parents per ship “Tornado” in 1859. The family removed to Whangaroa, where Mr. Bramley resided for many years. Probably few men have had such experience of the kauri timber industry as Mr. Bramley, who has been a successful bush contractor, and in 1889 was appointed by the Kauri Timber Company, bush inspector for the whole of its bush work in the Auckland province. He retired from the company's service through illness in 1897, and after a short residence in the city of Auckland entered the employment of the Hon. E. Mitchelson as bush manager. Mr. Bramley was twice elected a member of the Whangaroa County Council, sat on the district licensing committee for two terms, and is a Mason of many years' standing.
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Trounson, James,
              Timber Merchant, Dargaville, Mr. Trounson was born in Cornwall in 1839 and educated at Home. He came to New Zealand in 1862 in the ship “Hanover” in company with the Albertland settlers, and went to Paparoa, where he purchased 2400 acres of bush land, which he cleared. He afterwards purchased some 3400 acres of bush land up the Kaihu Valley. Mr. Trounson was a member of the Hobson County Council for three years, and was also a member of the licensing committee. He was one of the earliest settlers at Paparoa, and always took a great interest in local affairs. In 1890, he offered himself as a candidate for Parliament, but was defeated by nine votes. He stood again unsuccessfully in 1893, being defeated by a narrow majority.
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Mangawhare,
              situated on the Wairoa river, at a distance of about 103 miles from Auckland, is the oldest established trading station in Hobson County. Until recently this district was the property of Dr. J. Logan Campbell, who sold it to Messrs A. E. Harding and Co. Mangawhare has a post and telephone office, a large hotel, a store with a gum shed, Roman Catholic and Wesleyan churches, two halls, and a county wharf. The village is a small one, as, until lately, the land has been withheld from sale, but as it is divided from Dargaville only by the Kaihu creek—which is already bridged—the two townships will in course of time become one.

          

          

            
            


              

Norton, Frederick,
              J.P., Medical Practitioner, Mangawhare. Mr. Norton was born in Northampton in 1842, and educated at Oundle Public School. He walked St. George's Hospital for three years and in 1863 came to New Zealand in the “Helvellyn,” obtaining a position in the Government service in which he remained for a short period. In 1868, he was appointed dispenser and house-surgeon at the Auckland provincial hospital. He retained the position for nine years and then removed to Dargaville. He was chairman of the Dargaville Town Board, judge for the local racing club, has been a Justice of the Peace for over twenty years, and was one of the founders of the Masonic lodge, of which he is at present a member. He was also chairman of the school committee. Mr. Norton married a daughter of the Rev. Thomas Brown Brady, M.A., County Clare, Ireland, and has two sons and one daughter living.
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Mansill, Charles Henry,
              Builder and Contractor, Mangawhare. Mr. Mansill was born in Wellington in 1859 and educated at the Te Aro school. He learned his trade with Mr. F. W. Richards, of Wellington, where he spent a number of years, and afterwards undertook contracts on his own account. He visited Australia for some time and eventually in 1891 settled at Mangawhare, where he purchased a property



and has resided ever since, doing a good business. Amongst the buildings he has erected may be mentioned Mr. Harding's house, the Mangawhare Hall, the Aoroa school, and Mr. Downey's house, Mr. Mansill is a member of the Order of Oddfellows and secretary of the Mangawhare Cricket Club. He is married to a daughter of Mr. H. E. Stehr, formerly manager of the Aratapu sawmill, and has two sons.
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Brown, Campbell and Co.,
              General Merchants, Importers, etc. The headquarters of this firm, which is one of the oldest in the province, are in Auckland, and Mangawhare is one of its numerous country branches.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Frederick Friend Day,
              Manager for Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., Mangawhare, was born in Illinois, United States of America, in 1852. He went to England when a child and came to Auckland with his parents in 1857, and was educated at Mr. Gorrie's Academy and at St. Paul's. For a number of years he acted as general manager for the Una Quartz Mining Company at the Thames, then went to Coromandel, where he put down the shaft at the Conquering Hero and Premier mines. He afterwards became general manager of the Kamo Colliery Company, which position he held for eight years. In 1894 he left Kamo and was appointed general manager for Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., at Mangawhare. Mr. Day was chairman of the Kamo Town Board for ten years, and also for a long time chairman of the school committee and licensing board. Both at the Thames and at Kamo, he was treasurer and a vestry-man of the Episcopal church at those places, and superintendent of the Sunday school at the Thames. He is a commissioner of the school and chairman of the library committee at Dargaville, and a Justice of the Peace for the Colony. He is also president of the Mangawhare Football Club and Choral Society, and vice-president of the Mutual Improvement Society. Mr. Day is married to a sister of the Hon. A. J. Cadman, formerly Minister of Mines, and has two daughters and one son.
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Marriner, William Arthur,
              General Storekeeper, Mt. Wesley, Mangawhare. Mr. Marriner was born in Hokianga in 1839, and ten years later accompanied his parents to Mangawhare. He was educated at Wesley College, Auckland, and subsequently had five years experience at sea and was second mate of the barque “Signet.” Deciding to give up seafaring life, he became manager of the native business at Mr. Atkins' store. In 1862 Mr. Atkins retired, and the business was taken ever by Dr. Campbell. In 1879 Mr. Marriner left the employ of Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., leased a gumfield of 2000 acres at Port Albert, Kaipara, at which place he carried on business for one year, and then removed to Mt. Wesley, where he erected a large store. He also leased from the Government a block of land called Maungonui Bluff for two years, where he put up branch stores. At the expiration of this lease, he then leased from Mr. A. Harding the right to dig and remove gum from his Aoroa block of 14,000 acres. In 1895 he had the misfortune to be burnt out, after which he decided not to go into business again but to go into practice as a licensed interpreter. Mr. Marriner resides at Mt. Wesley, where he has a beautiful residence, being also a very popular man and much esteemed in the district; but though often pressed to enter public life, has always refused to do so. Mr. Marriner has been twice married; firstly, to Emily Boult, daughter of Mr. E. Boult, of Whangarei. This lady died through an accident received by falling from a horse, and left three young sons. Mr. Marriner's second wife was Mary Douglas, daughter of Mr. W. J. Douglas, of Tauranga. She died on the 1st of November, 1895, leaving four sons and one daughter.
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Mangawhare,
              situated on the Wairoa river, at a distance of about 103 miles from Auckland, is the oldest established trading station in Hobson County. Until recently this district was the property of Dr. J. Logan Campbell, who sold it to Messrs A. E. Harding and Co. Mangawhare has a post and telephone office, a large hotel, a store with a gum shed, Roman Catholic and Wesleyan churches, two halls, and a county wharf. The village is a small one, as, until lately, the land has been withheld from sale, but as it is divided from Dargaville only by the Kaihu creek—which is already bridged—the two townships will in course of time become one.
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Norton, Frederick,
              J.P., Medical Practitioner, Mangawhare. Mr. Norton was born in Northampton in 1842, and educated at Oundle Public School. He walked St. George's Hospital for three years and in 1863 came to New Zealand in the “Helvellyn,” obtaining a position in the Government service in which he remained for a short period. In 1868, he was appointed dispenser and house-surgeon at the Auckland provincial hospital. He retained the position for nine years and then removed to Dargaville. He was chairman of the Dargaville Town Board, judge for the local racing club, has been a Justice of the Peace for over twenty years, and was one of the founders of the Masonic lodge, of which he is at present a member. He was also chairman of the school committee. Mr. Norton married a daughter of the Rev. Thomas Brown Brady, M.A., County Clare, Ireland, and has two sons and one daughter living.
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Mansill, Charles Henry,
              Builder and Contractor, Mangawhare. Mr. Mansill was born in Wellington in 1859 and educated at the Te Aro school. He learned his trade with Mr. F. W. Richards, of Wellington, where he spent a number of years, and afterwards undertook contracts on his own account. He visited Australia for some time and eventually in 1891 settled at Mangawhare, where he purchased a property



and has resided ever since, doing a good business. Amongst the buildings he has erected may be mentioned Mr. Harding's house, the Mangawhare Hall, the Aoroa school, and Mr. Downey's house, Mr. Mansill is a member of the Order of Oddfellows and secretary of the Mangawhare Cricket Club. He is married to a daughter of Mr. H. E. Stehr, formerly manager of the Aratapu sawmill, and has two sons.
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Brown, Campbell and Co.,
              General Merchants, Importers, etc. The headquarters of this firm, which is one of the oldest in the province, are in Auckland, and Mangawhare is one of its numerous country branches.
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Mr. Frederick Friend Day,
              Manager for Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., Mangawhare, was born in Illinois, United States of America, in 1852. He went to England when a child and came to Auckland with his parents in 1857, and was educated at Mr. Gorrie's Academy and at St. Paul's. For a number of years he acted as general manager for the Una Quartz Mining Company at the Thames, then went to Coromandel, where he put down the shaft at the Conquering Hero and Premier mines. He afterwards became general manager of the Kamo Colliery Company, which position he held for eight years. In 1894 he left Kamo and was appointed general manager for Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., at Mangawhare. Mr. Day was chairman of the Kamo Town Board for ten years, and also for a long time chairman of the school committee and licensing board. Both at the Thames and at Kamo, he was treasurer and a vestry-man of the Episcopal church at those places, and superintendent of the Sunday school at the Thames. He is a commissioner of the school and chairman of the library committee at Dargaville, and a Justice of the Peace for the Colony. He is also president of the Mangawhare Football Club and Choral Society, and vice-president of the Mutual Improvement Society. Mr. Day is married to a sister of the Hon. A. J. Cadman, formerly Minister of Mines, and has two daughters and one son.
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Marriner, William Arthur,
              General Storekeeper, Mt. Wesley, Mangawhare. Mr. Marriner was born in Hokianga in 1839, and ten years later accompanied his parents to Mangawhare. He was educated at Wesley College, Auckland, and subsequently had five years experience at sea and was second mate of the barque “Signet.” Deciding to give up seafaring life, he became manager of the native business at Mr. Atkins' store. In 1862 Mr. Atkins retired, and the business was taken ever by Dr. Campbell. In 1879 Mr. Marriner left the employ of Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., leased a gumfield of 2000 acres at Port Albert, Kaipara, at which place he carried on business for one year, and then removed to Mt. Wesley, where he erected a large store. He also leased from the Government a block of land called Maungonui Bluff for two years, where he put up branch stores. At the expiration of this lease, he then leased from Mr. A. Harding the right to dig and remove gum from his Aoroa block of 14,000 acres. In 1895 he had the misfortune to be burnt out, after which he decided not to go into business again but to go into practice as a licensed interpreter. Mr. Marriner resides at Mt. Wesley, where he has a beautiful residence, being also a very popular man and much esteemed in the district; but though often pressed to enter public life, has always refused to do so. Mr. Marriner has been twice married; firstly, to Emily Boult, daughter of Mr. E. Boult, of Whangarei. This lady died through an accident received by falling from a horse, and left three young sons. Mr. Marriner's second wife was Mary Douglas, daughter of Mr. W. J. Douglas, of Tauranga. She died on the 1st of November, 1895, leaving four sons and one daughter.

            

              

[image: Mr. W. A. Marriner.]

Mr. 
W. A. Marriner.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Aratapu





          
Aratapu.

          

            
            


              

Aratapu,
              on the west bank of the Wairoa river, about ninety-eight miles from Auckland, claims to be the main centre of commerce in the Hobson County, but Dargaville is running it close for this coveted honour. The town is the extended development of a timber milling settlement, founded in the early days by Mr. Bonnar, but now the property of the Kauri Timber Company, under the management of Mr. Curtis Moore. The double mill, with its extensive wharfage accommodation, adds considerably to the traffic on the river. Hobson County Council has its offices at Aratapu, and the town has a post and telephone office, a public school, a hall, Anglican and Wesleyan churches, a branch of the National Bank, a Masonic Lodge, a hotel, several boardinghouses, a skating rink and billiard saloon. The country surrounding the town is flat and fertile, and maintains a number of well-to-do settlers.

          

          

            
            


              

Hobson County,
              which comprises an area of 688 square miles, with a population of about 5000, exclusive of Maoris, extends from the Kaipara Heads—its most southerly point—to Maunganui Bluff. On the west its borders are laved by the Tasman Sea, and the Tangihua Range forms its most easterly extremity. Hitherto in Hobson county sawmilling and gum digging have proved more popular than the settlement of the land. Recently, however, a change has taken place, and land is being so eagerly sought after, and the country is progressing so favourably, that, when the timber and gum have been worked out, it is expected that the land will be well stocked with cattle and sheep, for which the country is well suited. At present (July, 1901) the principal industry is sawmilling, and the county has seven sawmills, which cut up annually about sixty millions of superficial feet of timber, which is mainly exported to Australia and the southern ports of New Zealand. The industry employs a large number of men, supports the various small towns in the county, and keeps in addition to numerous rafting steamers, a fleet of steam and sailing vessels trading in and out of Kaipara harbour. Kauri gum digging supports a large floating population, and is also a source of wealth to the country stores, where the gum is bought from the diggers and shipped to Auckland for export. The Kaipara harbour is the best port on the west coast north of Auckland, and has never less than 30 feet of water on the bar at low tide. A large lighthouse stands on the North Head, and a powerful tug steamer is employed in towing sailing vessels, but the port requires more attention from the authorities, as there are not sufficient buoys to mark the channel, nor beacons to mark the sand banks. The Wairoa river, which flows into the Kaipara harbour, is an extensive sheet of water, navigable for vessels up to 1000 tons for a distance of forty miles, and for smaller craft for ninety miles; while, with a fresh in the river, which often occurs, launches are enabled to reach Mangakahia, a distance of 110 miles from the river's mouth. In the upper reaches of the Wairoa the river is made beautiful by the romantic weeping willows (planted by the early missionaries) overhanging its banks, which are backed by picturesque native bush, and overlooked by the Tangihua Ranges in the background. Along the banks of the lower Wairoa, in addition to the general bush country suitable for grazing, there is a large extent of flat land, of first-class quality, which, when drained, will be eminently suitable for agricultural purposes. Communication between Auckland and Hobson county is regular and frequent, the main route being by train to Helensville, and thence by steamer across the Kaipara harbour and up the winding Wairoa river, calling first at the North Heads (Pouto), which is the southernmost part of the county, and distant from Auckland sixty-five miles. The county is managed solely by the Hobson County Council, into which the Town and Road Boards were merged years ago, so as to reduce the cost of administration. The first meeting of the Council was held on the 21st of February, 1877. Mr. David Balderston was the first chairman, and the other first members were Messrs Thomas S. Webb, Edwin Mitchelson, Thomas N. Wilson, John Kurndall, and George Skelton. At present (July, 1901) the members of the Council are Mr. W. A. Spiers, chairman, and Messrs A. E. Harding, J.P. (lately chairman for eight years), Thomas Bassett, J.P., John Dennin, Edwin Harding, M. N. Downey, J.P., and Samuel Dodd. Mr. Horace Hammond is the county engineer, Mr. M. G. Lambert, the county clerk, and Mr. N. A. McLeod the county solicitor. The Council chambers are situated at Aratapu, but as Dargaville is more central and fast increasing in population, it is intended to remove the offices shortly to Dargaville and make it the county town. With that end in view sketch plans have already been prepared by the county engineer.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Councillor William Archibald Spiers
              
              has for many years been a member



of Hobson County Council, of which he is at present (1901) the chairman. His career is more fully referred to on another page.

          

          

            
            


              

                
Councillor Alfred Ernest Harding
              
              was Chairman of the Hobson County Council for eight years. Mr. Harding was born at Waipukurau in 1861, and educated first in Napier, afterwards at the Wellington Grammar School and at Mr. W. Bowden's High School. He was on his father's station for two years, after which he moved up to Mangawhare and took charge of a large run of over 14,000 acres. Mr. Harding was one of the first members of the Dargaville School Committee. Three years after his election to the Hobson County Council as representative for Aratapu he was appointed chairman, and till lately retained that position. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1891, and is also a member of the Aoroa School Committee He always takes a keen interest in football and cricket. Mr. Harding is married to a daughter of Mr. W. Astley, of Avondale, and has three sons and one daughter.
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Mr. Horace Hammond,
              C.E., Engineer to the Hobson County Council, resides at Aratapu, was born in London in 1862, and educated in Brisbane and Auckland. His father, Mr W. F. Hammond, is a well-known architect and civil engineer in Auckland. The subject of this sketch acquired his professional training under his father, obtained his diploma as an authorised surveyor in 1884, and in 1889 was appointed to his present position. Mr. Hammond is a member of Lodge St. George, E.C., and being a lover of outdoor sports is always ready to assist in local events, especially aquaties. He married a daughter of Mr. R. Masefield, of Arapohae, and has three sons.
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Mr. Benjamin Charles New
              
              (formerly a member of Hobson County Council), Belle Vue, Mititai, Northern Wairoa, was born at Nottingham in 1856 and educated at Home. He came to New Zealand with his parents on the ship “Victory,” and lived with them at Pahi till about 1887, when he took up 600 acres of land at Arapohue, 300 acres of which was cleared ground and now in good grass. He stocked the farm and has at present about 800 sheep, and over 100 head of cattle. Mr. New is a great lover of good horses, and a successful breeder, having run his own thoroughbreds under his own colours. Among other well-known horses owned by him were “Play-boy,” “Investment,” “Nannie” and “Butcher Boy.” “Play-boy” took twenty-one first prizes at various shows. Mr. New is a member of the Auckland Agricultural Society, and also of the Northern Wairoa Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and aided materially in the formation of the first show held in that district. He was elected member of Hobson County Council for the Okahu riding in 1897. As a Freemason, he belongs to Lodge St. George, Dargaville, and he is also a member of the Dargaville Court of Foresters. He is married to a daughter of the late Dr. James Gelston, of Ireland.
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Mr. Thomas Webb,
              J.P., Coroner, Aratapu, was born and educated in Staffordshire. In 1863 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Gertrude,” and engaged in farming on the Kaipara. His father, Mr. Thomas S. Webb, was coroner before him; he succeeded him in 1889 and was made a Justice of the Peace for the Colony at the same time. He is a member of the licensing bench and school committee. Mr. Webb is interested in the temperance movement, having been district chief ruler of the Auckland Rechabites, and also president of the Aratapu Mutual Improvement Society and Band of Hope. Mr. Webb married a daughter of the late Mr. J. B. Massey, at one time Government engineer, and has two daughters and one son.
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The Church Of England,
              which is represented in North Wairoa by Rev. A. J. Beck, exercises spiritual supervision over a wide and scattered extent of country,



often very difficult of access. The headquarters of the parish are at Te Kopuru.

          

          

            
            


              

Rev. Arthur James Beck,
              Minister of the Church of England and Vicar of Northern Wairoa and districts, was born at Wellington in 1869, educated partly in that city and afterwards completed his studies at St. John's College, Auckland. He was ordained deacon in June, 1895, and priest in September of the following year. His first appointment was as curate at St. Sepulchre's, Auckland, where he remained fifteen months, and was then transferred to his present charge. Mr. Beck's district extends seventy miles from point to point as the crow flies, and includes All Saints' Church at Aratapu and Holy Trinity at Dargaville, where there are also Sunday schools. He is married to a daughter of Capt. Sandin, of Helensville.

          

          

            
            


              

Welham, Alfred Robert,
              Auctioneer, Aratapu. Mr. Welham was born in London in 1858, and educated at St. Paul's School. He was for three years on the London Stock Exchange and in 1882 came to New Zealand in the ship “Akaroa,” landing in Dunedin, where he spent some five years, and then removed to Christchurch. In 1889 he moved north and established himself as an auctioneer at Te Kopuru, holding stock sales monthly and produce sales fortnightly. He takes a keen interest in local affairs, and is also fond of cycling. He has introduced a number of Rambler bicycles in the district, being agent for those machines. Mr. Welham is very fond of music, and was for some time leader of the orchestral society.

          

          

            
            


              

Harrison, Edward,
              Steamboat Owner, Aratapu. Mr. Harrison was born in the Kaipara river district in 1870. As a young man he was rafting and bushfelling for a number of years, for most of the time in partnership with his brother. In 1893 he purchased the “Tangi,” a rafting steamer, plying on the river, and shortly afterwards bought a half interest in the steamer “Pilot,” also used for rafting and passenger traffic. Mr Harrison is a lover of athletic sports, particularly football, and from 1894 to 1897 acted as representative for the district in the New Zealand team, in which he played as a forward. Mr. Harrison is also an exceptionally good oarsman.
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Thompson, Erik,
              Boat-builder, Aratapu, Mr. Thompson was born in Sweden in 1844 and educated in Finland, where he learned his trade and was nine years at sea as ship's carpenter. He came to New Zealand in 1869 by the barque “Haversham” and shortly after his arrival went to the Kaipara, where he has remained ever since. He first engaged in running a flax-mill, but after a twelve months' trial gave it up for his own trade. Mr. Thompson was married to Miss Kidd, of Auckland, and has one son and one daughter.

          

          

            
            


              

Bassett, Edward,
              Farmer, Fernside, Aratapu. Mr. Bassett was born in the North of Ireland in 1826 and brought up to farming. In 1862 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Indian Empire,” and spent some time at the Thames. He afterwards took a place at Mangere and in 1874 removed to his present residence. Mr. Rassett was a member of the county council for nine years and has also been a prominent member of the school and licensing committees. He was married to Miss Leonard and has five daughters and four sons.
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Morgan, John,
              Farmer, Clifton, Aratapu. Mr. Morgan was born in Liverpool in 1842, and as a young man worked in sail-making and rigging lofts. He afterwards led a seafaring life for several years and in 1860 came to Melbourne and was in the intercolonial trade for some time. When the Otago gold “rush” broke out he came across and proceeded to Tuapeka. After that he again went to sea, trading between Australia and New Zealand, and on the North Island coast. Eventually, Mr. Morgan gave up the sea and took up some land at Aratapu, where he also was employed at the sawmills. He bought the property on which he now resides in 1875, and many of the old settlers, who are now his neighbours, were brought up the river by him in the early times. Mr. Morgan married Miss Dodd and has two sons and four daughters.
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Mr. Thomas Stirrup Webb,
              Old Colonist, is one of the oldest settlers in the Aratapu district, and after surmounting all the difficulties of the pioneer days, he is now, at the ripe age of eighty-four, surrounded by descendants to the third generation, and in the enjoyment of peace and plenty. Mr. Webb was born in Leicestershire, England. He was the son of the Rev. Samuel Webb, a Wesleyan minister, and was educated at Kingswood school, Bristol. Mr. Webb afterwards settled at Boston in Staffordshire, where he carried on the business of a chemist, and was one of the township commissioners. He came to Auckland in 1863, and has occupied many honourable positions in the colony. He has been in his time a Justice of the Peace, a coroner, a returning officer, county councillor, and licensing commissioner, but on account of his advancing years, he has not for some time held any public position.
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Aratapu,
              on the west bank of the Wairoa river, about ninety-eight miles from Auckland, claims to be the main centre of commerce in the Hobson County, but Dargaville is running it close for this coveted honour. The town is the extended development of a timber milling settlement, founded in the early days by Mr. Bonnar, but now the property of the Kauri Timber Company, under the management of Mr. Curtis Moore. The double mill, with its extensive wharfage accommodation, adds considerably to the traffic on the river. Hobson County Council has its offices at Aratapu, and the town has a post and telephone office, a public school, a hall, Anglican and Wesleyan churches, a branch of the National Bank, a Masonic Lodge, a hotel, several boardinghouses, a skating rink and billiard saloon. The country surrounding the town is flat and fertile, and maintains a number of well-to-do settlers.
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Hobson County,
              which comprises an area of 688 square miles, with a population of about 5000, exclusive of Maoris, extends from the Kaipara Heads—its most southerly point—to Maunganui Bluff. On the west its borders are laved by the Tasman Sea, and the Tangihua Range forms its most easterly extremity. Hitherto in Hobson county sawmilling and gum digging have proved more popular than the settlement of the land. Recently, however, a change has taken place, and land is being so eagerly sought after, and the country is progressing so favourably, that, when the timber and gum have been worked out, it is expected that the land will be well stocked with cattle and sheep, for which the country is well suited. At present (July, 1901) the principal industry is sawmilling, and the county has seven sawmills, which cut up annually about sixty millions of superficial feet of timber, which is mainly exported to Australia and the southern ports of New Zealand. The industry employs a large number of men, supports the various small towns in the county, and keeps in addition to numerous rafting steamers, a fleet of steam and sailing vessels trading in and out of Kaipara harbour. Kauri gum digging supports a large floating population, and is also a source of wealth to the country stores, where the gum is bought from the diggers and shipped to Auckland for export. The Kaipara harbour is the best port on the west coast north of Auckland, and has never less than 30 feet of water on the bar at low tide. A large lighthouse stands on the North Head, and a powerful tug steamer is employed in towing sailing vessels, but the port requires more attention from the authorities, as there are not sufficient buoys to mark the channel, nor beacons to mark the sand banks. The Wairoa river, which flows into the Kaipara harbour, is an extensive sheet of water, navigable for vessels up to 1000 tons for a distance of forty miles, and for smaller craft for ninety miles; while, with a fresh in the river, which often occurs, launches are enabled to reach Mangakahia, a distance of 110 miles from the river's mouth. In the upper reaches of the Wairoa the river is made beautiful by the romantic weeping willows (planted by the early missionaries) overhanging its banks, which are backed by picturesque native bush, and overlooked by the Tangihua Ranges in the background. Along the banks of the lower Wairoa, in addition to the general bush country suitable for grazing, there is a large extent of flat land, of first-class quality, which, when drained, will be eminently suitable for agricultural purposes. Communication between Auckland and Hobson county is regular and frequent, the main route being by train to Helensville, and thence by steamer across the Kaipara harbour and up the winding Wairoa river, calling first at the North Heads (Pouto), which is the southernmost part of the county, and distant from Auckland sixty-five miles. The county is managed solely by the Hobson County Council, into which the Town and Road Boards were merged years ago, so as to reduce the cost of administration. The first meeting of the Council was held on the 21st of February, 1877. Mr. David Balderston was the first chairman, and the other first members were Messrs Thomas S. Webb, Edwin Mitchelson, Thomas N. Wilson, John Kurndall, and George Skelton. At present (July, 1901) the members of the Council are Mr. W. A. Spiers, chairman, and Messrs A. E. Harding, J.P. (lately chairman for eight years), Thomas Bassett, J.P., John Dennin, Edwin Harding, M. N. Downey, J.P., and Samuel Dodd. Mr. Horace Hammond is the county engineer, Mr. M. G. Lambert, the county clerk, and Mr. N. A. McLeod the county solicitor. The Council chambers are situated at Aratapu, but as Dargaville is more central and fast increasing in population, it is intended to remove the offices shortly to Dargaville and make it the county town. With that end in view sketch plans have already been prepared by the county engineer.
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Councillor William Archibald Spiers
              
              has for many years been a member



of Hobson County Council, of which he is at present (1901) the chairman. His career is more fully referred to on another page.
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Councillor Alfred Ernest Harding
              
              was Chairman of the Hobson County Council for eight years. Mr. Harding was born at Waipukurau in 1861, and educated first in Napier, afterwards at the Wellington Grammar School and at Mr. W. Bowden's High School. He was on his father's station for two years, after which he moved up to Mangawhare and took charge of a large run of over 14,000 acres. Mr. Harding was one of the first members of the Dargaville School Committee. Three years after his election to the Hobson County Council as representative for Aratapu he was appointed chairman, and till lately retained that position. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1891, and is also a member of the Aoroa School Committee He always takes a keen interest in football and cricket. Mr. Harding is married to a daughter of Mr. W. Astley, of Avondale, and has three sons and one daughter.
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Mr. Horace Hammond,
              C.E., Engineer to the Hobson County Council, resides at Aratapu, was born in London in 1862, and educated in Brisbane and Auckland. His father, Mr W. F. Hammond, is a well-known architect and civil engineer in Auckland. The subject of this sketch acquired his professional training under his father, obtained his diploma as an authorised surveyor in 1884, and in 1889 was appointed to his present position. Mr. Hammond is a member of Lodge St. George, E.C., and being a lover of outdoor sports is always ready to assist in local events, especially aquaties. He married a daughter of Mr. R. Masefield, of Arapohae, and has three sons.
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Mr. Benjamin Charles New
              
              (formerly a member of Hobson County Council), Belle Vue, Mititai, Northern Wairoa, was born at Nottingham in 1856 and educated at Home. He came to New Zealand with his parents on the ship “Victory,” and lived with them at Pahi till about 1887, when he took up 600 acres of land at Arapohue, 300 acres of which was cleared ground and now in good grass. He stocked the farm and has at present about 800 sheep, and over 100 head of cattle. Mr. New is a great lover of good horses, and a successful breeder, having run his own thoroughbreds under his own colours. Among other well-known horses owned by him were “Play-boy,” “Investment,” “Nannie” and “Butcher Boy.” “Play-boy” took twenty-one first prizes at various shows. Mr. New is a member of the Auckland Agricultural Society, and also of the Northern Wairoa Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and aided materially in the formation of the first show held in that district. He was elected member of Hobson County Council for the Okahu riding in 1897. As a Freemason, he belongs to Lodge St. George, Dargaville, and he is also a member of the Dargaville Court of Foresters. He is married to a daughter of the late Dr. James Gelston, of Ireland.
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Mr. Thomas Webb,
              J.P., Coroner, Aratapu, was born and educated in Staffordshire. In 1863 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Gertrude,” and engaged in farming on the Kaipara. His father, Mr. Thomas S. Webb, was coroner before him; he succeeded him in 1889 and was made a Justice of the Peace for the Colony at the same time. He is a member of the licensing bench and school committee. Mr. Webb is interested in the temperance movement, having been district chief ruler of the Auckland Rechabites, and also president of the Aratapu Mutual Improvement Society and Band of Hope. Mr. Webb married a daughter of the late Mr. J. B. Massey, at one time Government engineer, and has two daughters and one son.
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The Church Of England,
              which is represented in North Wairoa by Rev. A. J. Beck, exercises spiritual supervision over a wide and scattered extent of country,



often very difficult of access. The headquarters of the parish are at Te Kopuru.
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Rev. Arthur James Beck,
              Minister of the Church of England and Vicar of Northern Wairoa and districts, was born at Wellington in 1869, educated partly in that city and afterwards completed his studies at St. John's College, Auckland. He was ordained deacon in June, 1895, and priest in September of the following year. His first appointment was as curate at St. Sepulchre's, Auckland, where he remained fifteen months, and was then transferred to his present charge. Mr. Beck's district extends seventy miles from point to point as the crow flies, and includes All Saints' Church at Aratapu and Holy Trinity at Dargaville, where there are also Sunday schools. He is married to a daughter of Capt. Sandin, of Helensville.
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Welham, Alfred Robert,
              Auctioneer, Aratapu. Mr. Welham was born in London in 1858, and educated at St. Paul's School. He was for three years on the London Stock Exchange and in 1882 came to New Zealand in the ship “Akaroa,” landing in Dunedin, where he spent some five years, and then removed to Christchurch. In 1889 he moved north and established himself as an auctioneer at Te Kopuru, holding stock sales monthly and produce sales fortnightly. He takes a keen interest in local affairs, and is also fond of cycling. He has introduced a number of Rambler bicycles in the district, being agent for those machines. Mr. Welham is very fond of music, and was for some time leader of the orchestral society.
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Harrison, Edward,
              Steamboat Owner, Aratapu. Mr. Harrison was born in the Kaipara river district in 1870. As a young man he was rafting and bushfelling for a number of years, for most of the time in partnership with his brother. In 1893 he purchased the “Tangi,” a rafting steamer, plying on the river, and shortly afterwards bought a half interest in the steamer “Pilot,” also used for rafting and passenger traffic. Mr Harrison is a lover of athletic sports, particularly football, and from 1894 to 1897 acted as representative for the district in the New Zealand team, in which he played as a forward. Mr. Harrison is also an exceptionally good oarsman.
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Thompson, Erik,
              Boat-builder, Aratapu, Mr. Thompson was born in Sweden in 1844 and educated in Finland, where he learned his trade and was nine years at sea as ship's carpenter. He came to New Zealand in 1869 by the barque “Haversham” and shortly after his arrival went to the Kaipara, where he has remained ever since. He first engaged in running a flax-mill, but after a twelve months' trial gave it up for his own trade. Mr. Thompson was married to Miss Kidd, of Auckland, and has one son and one daughter.
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Bassett, Edward,
              Farmer, Fernside, Aratapu. Mr. Bassett was born in the North of Ireland in 1826 and brought up to farming. In 1862 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Indian Empire,” and spent some time at the Thames. He afterwards took a place at Mangere and in 1874 removed to his present residence. Mr. Rassett was a member of the county council for nine years and has also been a prominent member of the school and licensing committees. He was married to Miss Leonard and has five daughters and four sons.
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Morgan, John,
              Farmer, Clifton, Aratapu. Mr. Morgan was born in Liverpool in 1842, and as a young man worked in sail-making and rigging lofts. He afterwards led a seafaring life for several years and in 1860 came to Melbourne and was in the intercolonial trade for some time. When the Otago gold “rush” broke out he came across and proceeded to Tuapeka. After that he again went to sea, trading between Australia and New Zealand, and on the North Island coast. Eventually, Mr. Morgan gave up the sea and took up some land at Aratapu, where he also was employed at the sawmills. He bought the property on which he now resides in 1875, and many of the old settlers, who are now his neighbours, were brought up the river by him in the early times. Mr. Morgan married Miss Dodd and has two sons and four daughters.
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Mr. Thomas Stirrup Webb,
              Old Colonist, is one of the oldest settlers in the Aratapu district, and after surmounting all the difficulties of the pioneer days, he is now, at the ripe age of eighty-four, surrounded by descendants to the third generation, and in the enjoyment of peace and plenty. Mr. Webb was born in Leicestershire, England. He was the son of the Rev. Samuel Webb, a Wesleyan minister, and was educated at Kingswood school, Bristol. Mr. Webb afterwards settled at Boston in Staffordshire, where he carried on the business of a chemist, and was one of the township commissioners. He came to Auckland in 1863, and has occupied many honourable positions in the colony. He has been in his time a Justice of the Peace, a coroner, a returning officer, county councillor, and licensing commissioner, but on account of his advancing years, he has not for some time held any public position.
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Kaukapakapa
              
              is a progressive district on the Kaipara, in the county of Waitemata. There are many settlers with comfortable farms in the district, in which the land is of good quality, and there are numerous orchards. There are two churches—Presbyterian and Wesleyan—two hotels and two stores, daily communication by rail, and a daily mail service. The place is also connected with Helensville by telephone.

          

          

            
            


              

                Kaukapakapa Post Office, Money Order, Savings Bank And Telegraph Office
              
              is located at Mr. Dye's store, and is under the management of Mr. T. Marks.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Kaukapakapa Public School
              
              opened in 1873 with seventeen pupils. It now has a roll of over ninety-four, with a staff of two pupil-teachers and a probationer, besides the headmaster.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. G. W. Murray,
              Headmaster, was born in Dumbartonshire in 1840, and received his education in the Old Country. He came to New Zealand in 1863, and about twenty-three years ago decided to enter the teaching profession.

          

          

            
            


              

Dye, Frank,
              General Storekeeper, Gum and Timber Merchant, Kaukapakapa. This well known colonist was born in Suffolk, England, in 1847, and educated partly in London and partly at Dorset House Academy, Essex. At the age of thirteen years he came to New Zealand with his parents in the “Nimroud,” landing in Auckland in January, 1860. The late Mr. G. Dye, his father, having selected some land at Kaukapakapa, Mr. Dye went with his parents to settle on it. After some time he left home and eventually went to Auckland, where he learned the building trade. Whilst in Auckland he joined the first class militia, and served through the Waikato war. Some time after Mr. Dye again returned to Kaukapakapa and started business as a storekeeper on his own account. He has for a number of years carried on a large trade in kauri gum and timber, sometimes shipping the former to London and the latter to Melbourne, Auckland, and other ports. In public matters he has taken a prominent part, having been for many years chairman of the Kaukapakapa Road Board and a member of the school committee. He gratuitously acts as organist for both the Wesleyan and Anglican churches, and has always proved a willing helper in any scheme for the benefit of the district. Mr. Dye has been married twice, his first wife being a daughter of Mr. Allison, of Auckland, and the second a daughter of Mr. Marks, a local settler. His family consists of four sons and three daughters.
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Shine, Patrick,
              Storekeeper, Kaukapakapa. Mr. Shine was born in Tipperary in 1852, and came to the Colonies in 1854. He was educated in Auckland, and at the age of sixteen served as a volunteer under Col. Harrington against the rebels at Tauranga. His experience in the Colony has been a varied one; he was in business in Christchurch for a while and was afterwards on the Thames goldfields, but when hard times set in there he turned his attention to the gum trade, with which he has been connected ever since. He was with the Walker Gum Company for a time, and since then has been interested in general store-keeping, and the purchase and sale of gum in the Great Barrier Island, Tekao, Awanui, Hohoura, Kauaeranga, Mercury Bay, Tairua, Kaukapakapa, and Waiharera, where his headquarters are at present situated. His business operations extend over a radius of some twenty miles, and not infrequently include large transactions in general produce. He married the daughter of Mr. Neil McLennan, shipbuilder, of Auckland, and has three sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            

              

Clinkard, Cecil Henry,
             
 Timber Merchant, Kaukapakapa. Mr. Clinkard was born in 1862 in Oxfordshire, where the family have been freehold farmers for generations, his uncle still occupying the old farm lands. He came to New Zealand with his parents in 1867, and was educated in the Colony. His father was the first settler at Makarau, where for three years his mother did not set eyes on a white woman. Being brought up to bush work, he commenced as a bush contractor at the age of sixteen, and has since then principally confined his attention to the timber industry. He takes up large tracts of bush country and then works out the timber. At present he employs some fifteen hands in the bush
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at Makarau, from which timber is towed to Wairoa. Mr. Clinkard is in partnership with Messrs J. and W. Drinnan in working a bush at Mangapai, Whangarei County. He generally ships his timber direct to London, Sydney, Adelaide, and the southern ports of New Zealand. Mr. Clinkard takes a keen interest in local affairs. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Charles Hooper, of Somersetshire, England, and has five sons.

          

          

            
            


              
Dawson, William,
              Farmer, Phœnix Farm, Kaukapakapa. Captian Dawson was born in Norwich in 1830, and after receiving his education went to sea at the age of fourteen. In 1854 he was married to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Blyth, farmer, of Weybourne, and in February of the same year was appointed master of the barque “Auxiliar,” bound Home from India. His next ship was the “Unicorn,” in connection with which there were some very remarkable incidents. The “Unicorn” left Swansea with coal for Coquimbo, whence she went to the Cnincha Islands, where she loaded guano for Europe. After being three days at sea, she sprang a leak, and, making one foot of water per hour, she returned to Callao, where she was condemned, and her cargo was shipped into the “Cingalese.” After sailing this vessel also sprang a leak and returned to Valparaiso where she was condemned, and the cargo was transferred into the Chilian ship “Rosario.” This vessel got so far as the Horn, where she sprang a leak. The crew took to the boats and were eventually picked up, but the “Rosario” foundered while they were in sight of her. Thus the cargo of the “Unicorn,” after being in three different vessels, went to the bottom in the Chilian ship “Rosario.' Mr. Dawson then joined a Peruvian barque on the coast of Peru, and next had command of the barque “Sebastopol,” trading to Australia for two years. He then gave up a seafaring life and left for New Zealand in the ship “Phœnix” (after which his farm is named), arriving in Auckland in 1860. Shortly after his arrival he purchased a property of 200 acres of bush land at Kaukapakapa, and settled on it with his wife and adopted daughter. Captain Dawson has taken an active part in all local affairs during his residence of forty-one years, and has been eighteen years superintendent of the Sunday School, and for twenty years President of the Blue Ribbon Army.
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Drinnan, James,
              Farmer, Kaukapakapa. Mr. Drinnan was born in Ayrshire in 1855, came to New Zealand with his parents in the ship “Commodore Perry” in 1860, and was educated in Auckland. His father went to the Hokitika diggings, where he disappeared and was never heard of again. Mr. Drinnan finally settled in Kaukapakapa, where he entered into business as a store keeper. Some years ago he acquired his present property. “Waikaitea Estate,” which consists of 2000 acres, 1000 of which are under cultivation, the whole carrying about 1400 sheep and 150 head of cattle. The homestead is a one storey wooden building of nine rooms. Mr. Drinnan has been a member of the Kaukapakapa Road Board 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]nce its formation, and is also a member of the school committee. He has been for over twenty years engaged in the timber trade and ships cargoes direct to the Old Country; during that period he has shipped several million feet of timber. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Gavin B. Shanks, formerly of Glasgow, but now a settler in the district.
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Sinclair, Robert,
              J.P., Farmer, Eden Vale Farm, Kaukapakapa. Mr. Sinclair is referred to on page 
144 of this volume as a member of the Waitemata County Council.

          

          

            
            


              

Walsh, Martin,
              Farmer, Kaukapakapa. This old and respected settler was born at Kilkenny in 1830 and received his education by private tuition. His ancestors for many generations had been tenant farmers in the county and Mr. Walsh was brought up to agriculture. In 1860, he resolved to come to the colony and sailed for Auckland per ship “Northern Bride.” Kaukapakapa was a new district at that time and Mr. Walsh was one of its pioneer settlers. His residence occupies a prominent site on a farm of 360 acres, besides which he has another property of 700 acres up the main road. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1884. Mrs. Walsh is also a native of Ireland and her maiden name was the same as her husband's. They have a family of two sons and four daughters. Mr. Walsh, who has proved himself a sterling colonist, is a hale and hearty old gentleman.
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Kaukapakapa
              
              is a progressive district on the Kaipara, in the county of Waitemata. There are many settlers with comfortable farms in the district, in which the land is of good quality, and there are numerous orchards. There are two churches—Presbyterian and Wesleyan—two hotels and two stores, daily communication by rail, and a daily mail service. The place is also connected with Helensville by telephone.
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                Kaukapakapa Post Office, Money Order, Savings Bank And Telegraph Office
              
              is located at Mr. Dye's store, and is under the management of Mr. T. Marks.
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                The Kaukapakapa Public School
              
              opened in 1873 with seventeen pupils. It now has a roll of over ninety-four, with a staff of two pupil-teachers and a probationer, besides the headmaster.
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Mr. G. W. Murray,
              Headmaster, was born in Dumbartonshire in 1840, and received his education in the Old Country. He came to New Zealand in 1863, and about twenty-three years ago decided to enter the teaching profession.
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Dye, Frank,
              General Storekeeper, Gum and Timber Merchant, Kaukapakapa. This well known colonist was born in Suffolk, England, in 1847, and educated partly in London and partly at Dorset House Academy, Essex. At the age of thirteen years he came to New Zealand with his parents in the “Nimroud,” landing in Auckland in January, 1860. The late Mr. G. Dye, his father, having selected some land at Kaukapakapa, Mr. Dye went with his parents to settle on it. After some time he left home and eventually went to Auckland, where he learned the building trade. Whilst in Auckland he joined the first class militia, and served through the Waikato war. Some time after Mr. Dye again returned to Kaukapakapa and started business as a storekeeper on his own account. He has for a number of years carried on a large trade in kauri gum and timber, sometimes shipping the former to London and the latter to Melbourne, Auckland, and other ports. In public matters he has taken a prominent part, having been for many years chairman of the Kaukapakapa Road Board and a member of the school committee. He gratuitously acts as organist for both the Wesleyan and Anglican churches, and has always proved a willing helper in any scheme for the benefit of the district. Mr. Dye has been married twice, his first wife being a daughter of Mr. Allison, of Auckland, and the second a daughter of Mr. Marks, a local settler. His family consists of four sons and three daughters.
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Shine, Patrick,
              Storekeeper, Kaukapakapa. Mr. Shine was born in Tipperary in 1852, and came to the Colonies in 1854. He was educated in Auckland, and at the age of sixteen served as a volunteer under Col. Harrington against the rebels at Tauranga. His experience in the Colony has been a varied one; he was in business in Christchurch for a while and was afterwards on the Thames goldfields, but when hard times set in there he turned his attention to the gum trade, with which he has been connected ever since. He was with the Walker Gum Company for a time, and since then has been interested in general store-keeping, and the purchase and sale of gum in the Great Barrier Island, Tekao, Awanui, Hohoura, Kauaeranga, Mercury Bay, Tairua, Kaukapakapa, and Waiharera, where his headquarters are at present situated. His business operations extend over a radius of some twenty miles, and not infrequently include large transactions in general produce. He married the daughter of Mr. Neil McLennan, shipbuilder, of Auckland, and has three sons and three daughters.
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Clinkard, Cecil Henry,
             
 Timber Merchant, Kaukapakapa. Mr. Clinkard was born in 1862 in Oxfordshire, where the family have been freehold farmers for generations, his uncle still occupying the old farm lands. He came to New Zealand with his parents in 1867, and was educated in the Colony. His father was the first settler at Makarau, where for three years his mother did not set eyes on a white woman. Being brought up to bush work, he commenced as a bush contractor at the age of sixteen, and has since then principally confined his attention to the timber industry. He takes up large tracts of bush country and then works out the timber. At present he employs some fifteen hands in the bush
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at Makarau, from which timber is towed to Wairoa. Mr. Clinkard is in partnership with Messrs J. and W. Drinnan in working a bush at Mangapai, Whangarei County. He generally ships his timber direct to London, Sydney, Adelaide, and the southern ports of New Zealand. Mr. Clinkard takes a keen interest in local affairs. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Charles Hooper, of Somersetshire, England, and has five sons.
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Dawson, William,
              Farmer, Phœnix Farm, Kaukapakapa. Captian Dawson was born in Norwich in 1830, and after receiving his education went to sea at the age of fourteen. In 1854 he was married to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Blyth, farmer, of Weybourne, and in February of the same year was appointed master of the barque “Auxiliar,” bound Home from India. His next ship was the “Unicorn,” in connection with which there were some very remarkable incidents. The “Unicorn” left Swansea with coal for Coquimbo, whence she went to the Cnincha Islands, where she loaded guano for Europe. After being three days at sea, she sprang a leak, and, making one foot of water per hour, she returned to Callao, where she was condemned, and her cargo was shipped into the “Cingalese.” After sailing this vessel also sprang a leak and returned to Valparaiso where she was condemned, and the cargo was transferred into the Chilian ship “Rosario.” This vessel got so far as the Horn, where she sprang a leak. The crew took to the boats and were eventually picked up, but the “Rosario” foundered while they were in sight of her. Thus the cargo of the “Unicorn,” after being in three different vessels, went to the bottom in the Chilian ship “Rosario.' Mr. Dawson then joined a Peruvian barque on the coast of Peru, and next had command of the barque “Sebastopol,” trading to Australia for two years. He then gave up a seafaring life and left for New Zealand in the ship “Phœnix” (after which his farm is named), arriving in Auckland in 1860. Shortly after his arrival he purchased a property of 200 acres of bush land at Kaukapakapa, and settled on it with his wife and adopted daughter. Captain Dawson has taken an active part in all local affairs during his residence of forty-one years, and has been eighteen years superintendent of the Sunday School, and for twenty years President of the Blue Ribbon Army.
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Drinnan, James,
              Farmer, Kaukapakapa. Mr. Drinnan was born in Ayrshire in 1855, came to New Zealand with his parents in the ship “Commodore Perry” in 1860, and was educated in Auckland. His father went to the Hokitika diggings, where he disappeared and was never heard of again. Mr. Drinnan finally settled in Kaukapakapa, where he entered into business as a store keeper. Some years ago he acquired his present property. “Waikaitea Estate,” which consists of 2000 acres, 1000 of which are under cultivation, the whole carrying about 1400 sheep and 150 head of cattle. The homestead is a one storey wooden building of nine rooms. Mr. Drinnan has been a member of the Kaukapakapa Road Board 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]nce its formation, and is also a member of the school committee. He has been for over twenty years engaged in the timber trade and ships cargoes direct to the Old Country; during that period he has shipped several million feet of timber. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Gavin B. Shanks, formerly of Glasgow, but now a settler in the district.
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Sinclair, Robert,
              J.P., Farmer, Eden Vale Farm, Kaukapakapa. Mr. Sinclair is referred to on page 
144 of this volume as a member of the Waitemata County Council.
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Walsh, Martin,
              Farmer, Kaukapakapa. This old and respected settler was born at Kilkenny in 1830 and received his education by private tuition. His ancestors for many generations had been tenant farmers in the county and Mr. Walsh was brought up to agriculture. In 1860, he resolved to come to the colony and sailed for Auckland per ship “Northern Bride.” Kaukapakapa was a new district at that time and Mr. Walsh was one of its pioneer settlers. His residence occupies a prominent site on a farm of 360 acres, besides which he has another property of 700 acres up the main road. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1884. Mrs. Walsh is also a native of Ireland and her maiden name was the same as her husband's. They have a family of two sons and four daughters. Mr. Walsh, who has proved himself a sterling colonist, is a hale and hearty old gentleman.
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Aoroa,
              on the bank of the Wairoa river, about two miles north of Aratapu, is essentially a sawmilling settlement, and came into existence with the erection of the Mitchelson Timber Company's mill about 1895. The private village established on the company's property has a post and telephone office, public school, store and boardinghouse. The Timber Company, for which Mr. William Smith is the local manager, carries on a considerable export trade in kauri and kahikatea timber. Almost the whole of the surrounding country is owned by Mr. A. E. Harding, whose estate comprises an area of about 13,000 acres.

          

          

            
            


              

Hossack, Arthur,
              Engineer and Saw-miller, Aoroa Sawmill, Aoroa. Mr. Hossack was born at Bruntlands, Orton, Morayshire, in 1840, and educated at Home. He is a son of the late Mr. Arthur Hossack, timber merchant of that locality, and served his time first to sawmilling and then to engineering at Dundee, having been connected with Kerr and Co., of the Douglas Foundry, Dundee, the Dundee Sawmill Company, and Millard Bros. of Montrose. He spent ten years at this occupation, and finally decided in 1864 to seek his fortune in the Colonies, coming to New Zealand in that year by the ship “Mataura.” He first started milling at Sawyer's Bay, but after a twelve months' experiment there, he shifted to Auckland and accepted employment in the Cornwallis Mills, where he remained for several years. His next move was to Hokitika, where he made a stay of eight years, leaving to accept a position at the Dunedin Building Mills for Messrs. Finlay and Co., sawmillers, of Dunedin. He ran the mill for them for six or seven years and then joined Messrs. Jagger and parker, of Auckland, as assistant in erecting the works for the New Zealand Sawmills Company in Auckland. He next joined the Kauri Timber Company and was manager of the Lower Flat Sawmill for nearly twelve months, building Goldie's mill in Auckland during that period. After leaving the Kauri Timber Company he built Mr. Matthews' mill at Tatarariki and had charge of it for six years. In 1895, he joined Messrs Mitchelson Bros, at Aoroa. While on the West Coast, Mr. Hossack was engaged in building several mills in different places. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Black, of Boharm, Banffshire, and has two daughters and one son.
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Aoroa,
              on the bank of the Wairoa river, about two miles north of Aratapu, is essentially a sawmilling settlement, and came into existence with the erection of the Mitchelson Timber Company's mill about 1895. The private village established on the company's property has a post and telephone office, public school, store and boardinghouse. The Timber Company, for which Mr. William Smith is the local manager, carries on a considerable export trade in kauri and kahikatea timber. Almost the whole of the surrounding country is owned by Mr. A. E. Harding, whose estate comprises an area of about 13,000 acres.
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Hossack, Arthur,
              Engineer and Saw-miller, Aoroa Sawmill, Aoroa. Mr. Hossack was born at Bruntlands, Orton, Morayshire, in 1840, and educated at Home. He is a son of the late Mr. Arthur Hossack, timber merchant of that locality, and served his time first to sawmilling and then to engineering at Dundee, having been connected with Kerr and Co., of the Douglas Foundry, Dundee, the Dundee Sawmill Company, and Millard Bros. of Montrose. He spent ten years at this occupation, and finally decided in 1864 to seek his fortune in the Colonies, coming to New Zealand in that year by the ship “Mataura.” He first started milling at Sawyer's Bay, but after a twelve months' experiment there, he shifted to Auckland and accepted employment in the Cornwallis Mills, where he remained for several years. His next move was to Hokitika, where he made a stay of eight years, leaving to accept a position at the Dunedin Building Mills for Messrs. Finlay and Co., sawmillers, of Dunedin. He ran the mill for them for six or seven years and then joined Messrs. Jagger and parker, of Auckland, as assistant in erecting the works for the New Zealand Sawmills Company in Auckland. He next joined the Kauri Timber Company and was manager of the Lower Flat Sawmill for nearly twelve months, building Goldie's mill in Auckland during that period. After leaving the Kauri Timber Company he built Mr. Matthews' mill at Tatarariki and had charge of it for six years. In 1895, he joined Messrs Mitchelson Bros, at Aoroa. While on the West Coast, Mr. Hossack was engaged in building several mills in different places. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Black, of Boharm, Banffshire, and has two daughters and one son.
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Parkhurst.
              This district, which, in its original state, was mostly swamp and heavy ti-tree flat, was opened for settlement by the Government in 1880, and has since then made rapid progress owing to its position and the extra good quality of the land. Parkhurst school is about four miles from the township of Helensville, and the road is now metalled most of the distance. Midway is Messrs Ambury and English's creamery, which gets a large supply of milk from those who find that dairying suits them better than fattening cattle. Nearly opposite the creamery are the Hot Spring baths, the development of which only awaits the encouragement of capital and enterprise. From the rising ground there are very pretty views of the Kaipara harbour, and with its advantage of easy communication with Auckland by either road or rail, there are few places in the North Island to compare with Parkhurst. The road going through it terminates at the Kaipara Heads, where Mr. Alfred Buckland owns a large station. Parkhurst is forty-two miles from Auckland, and it has a bi-weekly mail service.

          

          

            
            


              

Archibald, James,
              Farmer, Parkhurst. Mr. Archibald was born in Nairnshire in 1851 and educated in the Old Country. He learned the trade of a shipwright, and was



for six years at sea. He then came to the Colonies and carried on business as a shipbuilder at Port Pirie in South Australia, for six years. In 1882 he came to New Zealand and purchased his property “Glencairn,” at Parkhurst. The farm consists of 140 acres and carries about forty head of cattle, nine or ten horses and about sixty sheep. Mr. Archibald is some-what of an experimental farmer and has tried various crops on his land, many of which have been unsuccessful, but on the whole his property has proved a profitable investment.

          

          

            
            


              

Ferrall, Robert,
              Farmer, “Te Whareti Farm,” Parkhurst, Kaipara. The subject of this notice is a son of the late Mr. George Ferrall, who was for many years a member of the Auckland Provincial Council from 1863 up to the time of his death. Mr. R. Ferrall was one of the first that went into the “King Country” before and after it was opened to Europeans. He has executed many large works in the North Island, but what he looks back upon with most pleasure is being the builder of the first water-works in the town of Onehunga, the place he was brought up in. Mr. Ferrall, who has six sons and three daughters, married the daughter of Dr. Hamilton, of Waikato, one of the oldest colonists in New Zealand. Dr. Hamilton took an active part in the Waikato war, and on one occasion his life was saved by the celebrated chief Rewi.
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Captain James Alexander MacMahon,
              J.P., who is a retired English military officer, resides at “Woodlands,” Parkhurst, where he owns a fattening farm of about 300 acres. The homestead is a picturesque building with twelve is a picturesque building with twelve commodious rooms. Near the house are two acres of a flourishing orchard. Captain MacMahon was born at Newry, North of Ireland, in 1841, and educated at Trinity College, Dublin, with a view to entering the army. His father, the late Mr. James MacMahon, was a magistrate of the county. On finishing his collegiate course Capt. MacMahon joined the 30th Regt. in 1861, as ensign, and went to Canada. On his return to England in 1865 he retired and went into the shipping business in Liverpool, where he remained until 1878, when through ill-health he sold his interest in the firm and came to New Zealand by the ship “Famenoth,” and soon after his arrival purchased his present property. Capt. MacMahon was a member of the Waitemata County Council for many years, and acted as chairman for three years. He was also, to the time of his retirement as member, chairman of the Parkhurst School Committee, and may be considered the virtual founder of the school, as he was the first man to agitate for its inauguration. Capt. MacMahon is also a member of the licensing committee, and an old Master Mason. He is married to a daughter of Mr. W. A. MacFarlane, o Montreal, formerly of Inverness.
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Parkhurst.
              This district, which, in its original state, was mostly swamp and heavy ti-tree flat, was opened for settlement by the Government in 1880, and has since then made rapid progress owing to its position and the extra good quality of the land. Parkhurst school is about four miles from the township of Helensville, and the road is now metalled most of the distance. Midway is Messrs Ambury and English's creamery, which gets a large supply of milk from those who find that dairying suits them better than fattening cattle. Nearly opposite the creamery are the Hot Spring baths, the development of which only awaits the encouragement of capital and enterprise. From the rising ground there are very pretty views of the Kaipara harbour, and with its advantage of easy communication with Auckland by either road or rail, there are few places in the North Island to compare with Parkhurst. The road going through it terminates at the Kaipara Heads, where Mr. Alfred Buckland owns a large station. Parkhurst is forty-two miles from Auckland, and it has a bi-weekly mail service.
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Archibald, James,
              Farmer, Parkhurst. Mr. Archibald was born in Nairnshire in 1851 and educated in the Old Country. He learned the trade of a shipwright, and was



for six years at sea. He then came to the Colonies and carried on business as a shipbuilder at Port Pirie in South Australia, for six years. In 1882 he came to New Zealand and purchased his property “Glencairn,” at Parkhurst. The farm consists of 140 acres and carries about forty head of cattle, nine or ten horses and about sixty sheep. Mr. Archibald is some-what of an experimental farmer and has tried various crops on his land, many of which have been unsuccessful, but on the whole his property has proved a profitable investment.
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Ferrall, Robert,
              Farmer, “Te Whareti Farm,” Parkhurst, Kaipara. The subject of this notice is a son of the late Mr. George Ferrall, who was for many years a member of the Auckland Provincial Council from 1863 up to the time of his death. Mr. R. Ferrall was one of the first that went into the “King Country” before and after it was opened to Europeans. He has executed many large works in the North Island, but what he looks back upon with most pleasure is being the builder of the first water-works in the town of Onehunga, the place he was brought up in. Mr. Ferrall, who has six sons and three daughters, married the daughter of Dr. Hamilton, of Waikato, one of the oldest colonists in New Zealand. Dr. Hamilton took an active part in the Waikato war, and on one occasion his life was saved by the celebrated chief Rewi.
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Captain James Alexander MacMahon,
              J.P., who is a retired English military officer, resides at “Woodlands,” Parkhurst, where he owns a fattening farm of about 300 acres. The homestead is a picturesque building with twelve is a picturesque building with twelve commodious rooms. Near the house are two acres of a flourishing orchard. Captain MacMahon was born at Newry, North of Ireland, in 1841, and educated at Trinity College, Dublin, with a view to entering the army. His father, the late Mr. James MacMahon, was a magistrate of the county. On finishing his collegiate course Capt. MacMahon joined the 30th Regt. in 1861, as ensign, and went to Canada. On his return to England in 1865 he retired and went into the shipping business in Liverpool, where he remained until 1878, when through ill-health he sold his interest in the firm and came to New Zealand by the ship “Famenoth,” and soon after his arrival purchased his present property. Capt. MacMahon was a member of the Waitemata County Council for many years, and acted as chairman for three years. He was also, to the time of his retirement as member, chairman of the Parkhurst School Committee, and may be considered the virtual founder of the school, as he was the first man to agitate for its inauguration. Capt. MacMahon is also a member of the licensing committee, and an old Master Mason. He is married to a daughter of Mr. W. A. MacFarlane, o Montreal, formerly of Inverness.
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Captain J. A. McMahon.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Helensville





          
Helensville.

          

            
            


              

                
Helensville
              
              is situated on the banks of the Kaipara, and is connected by rail with Auckland, thirty-eight miles distant. Steamers leave regularly for North Wairoa and other branches of the Kaipara. There are many pleasant farms and homesteads in the neighbourhood. It supports three hotels, four churches, two halls, and public library. There are a public school, post and telegraph office, and a daily mail service.
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Mr. Richard Monk,
              who represents Waitemata in the House of Representatives, first stood for Parliament for Parnell, in 1881, but was defeated. He was elected for Waitemata in 1887, but was defeated at the general election of 1890. Mr. Monk was again elected for the same district by a large majority at the general election of 1893, but was unseated on petition. He, however, again stood for the district at the general election of 1896, and was returned by 1715 to his opponent's 1544 votes. Mr. Monk had two rivals at the election of December, 1900, but he received 1713 votes, and the next man on the list polled only 1263. Mr. Monk has been a member of the Auckland Board of Education and of the Waitemata County Council. He is now sixty-nine years of age, and arrived at Hokianga with his parents when he was too young to be aware of his advent in that romantic and historic region. He therefore stands in the front line of seniority amongst the European colonists of New Zealand. Mr. Monk's father and mother both came of old Lancashire families, and he was educated by his father who, in 1819, took him to California, whence, after a time, the father went to England, and the son, who was much impressed with American methods, returned to Auckland via Australia. After his return to New Zealand Mr. Monk worked at carpentry, and started the joinery factory of Monk and Morgan. In 1866 he went to England and procured plant for the Union Sash and Door Company, with which he was identified until 1881, when he first stood for Parliament. After that Mr. Monk was connected with the Mercury Bay Timber Company until 1887. Mr. Monk has a thorough knowledge of the Maori langauge and is well versed in Maori lore and well acquainted with the character of the Maori people. In politics he is a conservative Liberal, and is opposed to Mr. Seddon on account of what he considers his political recklessness. As a public man, Mr. Monk is just and fearless, and he is an effective speaker. He has an enthusiastic appreciation of the value and glamour of the Union Jack as a symbol of British unity, and as an incentive to and preservative of British patriotism, on account of its associations with immeorial national development and achievement. For similar reasons Mr. Monk has a corresponding regard for the blue ensign of New Zealand with its impressive badge of the Southern Cross, and never tires of visiting schools and adressing the children on its claims to devotion as the flag of their country. One of his speeches on the subject, delivered in Parliament during the session of 1900, was so highly thought of, that many thousands of copies were specially issued from the Government Printing Office for distribution amongst the public schools of the colony.
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The Helensville Town Board District has 135 ratable properties, on which a general rate of 3d. in the £ is levied. The annual value of ratable property is about £2700; the total annual revenue from all sources is about £277.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. C. H. Spinley,
              who has been elected Chairman of the Helensville Town Board for he fourth term, has brought about many improvements in the township, including street channelling and other necessary works. He has been secretary to the school committee,



chairman of the library committee, and circuit steward to the Wesleyan church for many years. Being an old English Volunteer and a good shot, he tried to organise a corps at Helensville, but was unable to arouse sufficient enthusiasm to make the movement a success.
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Helensville Railway Station, Post And Telegraph Office,
              is a building of the ordinary pattern of country stations, with waiting-rooms, public lobby, and offices. There are also goods sheds and an engine-house, and a platform at the wharf for facilitating traffic by the river steamers.
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Mr. David Aitken Wright,
              Postmaster, Customs Officer, and Stationmaster, Helensville, was born in Essex, England, in 1846, and came to New Zealand when very young, being afterwards employed in farm work in the Taranaki district. When the war broke out he joined the Taranaki Mounted Volunteers, and served with credit through the entire campaign, being present at most of the engagements. Mr. Wright received the New Zealand medal, and, after leaving the volunteers, entered the armed constabulary, remaining in the force until 1874, when he resigned and joined the post and telegraph service. At the opening of the Hastings office he was appointed to the charge of the post, telegraph, and railway station, and remained there for nearly nineteen years, when he was transferred in 1893, to his present position. He was married to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Goodwin, of England, but she died, leaving two daughters.
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                The Helensville Public School
              
              was established in 1878. Since then owing to the increase of the population and demand for greater accommodation, two more class-rooms have been added, making the present building a complete school of its kind. There are about 150 pupils on the roll with an average attendance of about 135. The staff consists of a headmaster, two assistant teachers, two pupil-teachers, and one probationer.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Joseph Robert Whitaker,
              Headmaster, was born in Auckland in 1866 and educated at the Thames High School. He received his present appointment in 1900. Mr. Whitaker is married and has one son and one daughter.

          

          

            
            


              

Spinley, Charles Henry,
              Engineer and General Smith, Helensville. Mr. Spinley was born at Great Grimsby, England, in 1853, where also he was educated and brought up to the trade of a general smith. Later, he decided to try his fortune in the Colonies, and in 1880, departed for New Zealand in the ship “Wanganui.” Early in 1881 he went to Helensville and established himself in business there, was very successful, and becoming popular, was elected to the town board in 1884. At the present time he is serving his fourth term as chairman. Mr. Spinley was married to a daughter of Mr. Edward Ingham, farmer, Middle, Rasen, Lincolnshire, and has five sons and four daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Downer, William,
              Timber Merchant, Helensville, Mr. Downer, who is a well-known timber merchant in the Wairoa district, was born in London in 1844, and educated at Home. After leaving school he was apprenticed to a shipwright and thoroughly mastered the trade. He came to New Zealand at the age of seventeen per the ship “John Duncan” and landed in Auckland, where he entered the yards of Mr. Taylor and Captain Solomon. Afterwards he went to Riverhead, where he worked as a contractor for two years, then went with the first “rush” to the Thames goldfields, and was for some time manager of the “Never Too Late to Mend” mine. He finally settled in Helensville, where he has been a resident off and on for more than thirty years. Mr. Downer has taken a prominent part in local affairs, having been a member of the town board, and the school committee, and chairman of the domain board. He owns a very fine property on the river, of about 4000 acres, stocked with over 200 head of cattle. The homestead, called “The Pah,” is



prettily situated. Mr. Downer is married to a daughter of Sergeant-Major Inglis, and has six sons and two daughters.
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Mcleod, Isaac,
              Settler, Helensville. Mr. McLeod, who is one of the pioneers of the district, was born in New Brunswick in 1845, educated there, and brought up to farming. Being ambitious to see the world, he came to new Zealand in the ship “Seagull,” in 1862, in company with his brother. They first went to Coromandel and afterwards to Helensville, and were the first Europeans to settle in that district. Here they opened a timber trade and carried on the business for a number of years. They also carried on a general store, bakery, and smithy. Mr. McLeod was one of the promoters of the Helensville Timber company, Soap Works, and the Flour Mill Company. He was the pioneer of local self-government in those parts. Helensville being the first township in the district to come under the Act, and he was chairman of the Town Board for a considerable period; he was also member of the Waitemata County Council for six years, and local postmaster for some time. Mr. McLeod conducted a line of coaches running from Riverhead to Helensville and had cutters to distribute goods along the many scattered settlements on the Kaipara. In fact Helensville (which was named after a relative of his) to a very great extent owes its present position to the energy of Mr. McLeod. He takes a lively interest in colonial politics, but although several times urged to stand for Parliament, has hitherto refused the honour. He has been married twice, his present wife, a daughter of the later Mr. William Little, of Paparoa, being his first wife's sister. He has one son by the prior marriage, and a son and two daughters by his second wife.
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                Makiri Farm
              
              is one of the prettiest properties in Helensville, and is situated near the railway, It comprises 2000 acres, half of which is grass land and carries 600 sheep and about 250 head of cattle. The property has been kept in excellent condition and is very English-like in its aspect, the homestead being a two story wooden building of nine rooms, commanding a splendid view of the surrounding landscape. The property was purchased some twenty years ago by the late Mr. James Hand, father of the present proprietor.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. James Hand,
              Proprietor of “Makiri Farm,” is the eldest son of the late Mr. James Hand, and was born in Helensville in 1877. He was educated at St. Joseph's College, Sydney, on leaving which he returned to the farm, and together with his brother, Mr. John Hand, has worked there ever since, with a sister.
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Reynolds, John Joseph,
              Farmer, Helensville. Mr. Reynolds was born in Dublin in 1851 and educated at the Irish National School. He came to New Zealand when a boy and gained experience in country pursuits, was engaged in the timber industry and subsequently was manager for Messrs. P. and I. McLeod, Messrs Metcalf Bros, and other employers in that trade. During 1867 and 1869 he identified himself at the Thames with goldmining at a time when there was great activity on the fields. Ultimately, he took to farming, and settled in Helensville, where he is now well and popularly known. He has been a member of the Helensville Town Board for a number of years, is member of the school committee, and for some time has represented Helensville on the Waitemata County Council. His farm is pleasantly situated and consists of some 350 acres mostly in grass. Mr. Reynolds was appointed a Justice of the Peace some years ago, and in 1898 became district valuer under the Government Valuation of Land Act, 1896, for the counties of Manukau, Eden, Waitemata, and Rodney, and still (1901) holds the office. He is married to a daughter of Mr. William Snook, an old Auckland settler, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Slatter, John,
              Farmer, Kiwitahi, Helensville. The subject of this sketch was born in 1860, received his early education at Home, and completed it at the Auckland



Grammar School. When only thirteen years of age, his parents came to Auckland in the ship “Queen Bee” and settled for a time in that city. Mr. Slatter visited Australia and gained some experience of sheep farming in South Australia. On returning to New Zealand, he purchased his present property at Kiwitahi, which consists of about 3000 acres, and is mostly in grass, and devoted chiefly to the breeding and fattening of cattle. Mr. Slatter is a member of the Waitemata Licensing Committee, on which body he has done good service. He is an enthusiastic amateur photographer, and some of his work is reproduced in this volume. Mr. Slatter is married to a daughter of the late Mr. R. J. Duncan, once a well-known auctioneer of Wellington, and has two sons and three daughters.

          

          

            
            


              

Stewart, Daniel,
              Farmer, Helensville. Mr. Stewart, who has had rather varied experiences in the Colonies, was born in Fifeshire, where he also was educated. In 1858, he came to New Zealand on the last voyage of the “Joseph Fletcher,” and served his time to the joiners' trade. About the time of the Snowy River “rush,” he went to Australia, and was on the goldfields for nearly a year, when he returned to New Zealand and was at Gabriel's Gully, in Otago, for a time. In 1866, he moved north to the Thames and was in charge of the Lucky Head battery until it closed down. Mr. Stewart then settled at Helensville, where he has been a resident for thirty years, cultivating his property most successfully. The farm contains about 390 acres of cleared land and meadows, carrying over 800 sheep and several head of cattle. For a number of years Mr. Stewart carried on a general store, but afterwards retired from the business, which is now conducted by his sons under the style of Stewart Bros. Mr. Stewart has been a member of the town board for several years, and was chairman for two years. He is a leading Freemason and past master of Lodge 2073, E.C. Mr. Stewart is married and has five daughters and three sons.
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Wilson, John Alexander,
              Farmer, Helensville. Mr. Wilson was born in Wairoa South, and is a son of Mr. J. S. Wilson, of that place. He was educated at the local school and remained with his father for some years, until he acquired the property at Helensville on which he now resides, and of which he has been in possession for about sixteen years. The farm consists of 350 acres of level grass land, and carries over 200 sheep and about 200 head of cattle. Mr. Wilson has always taken an active interest in local affairs, and was a member of the Wairoa Rifles until the corps was disbanded. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Charles Simcock, of Kaukapakapa, and has one son and one daughter.
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                Northern Union Steam Boat Company, Ltd
              
              (James Stewart, Manager), Head Office, Helensville.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John D. Stuart,
              Chief Engineer of the Northern Union Steamship Company's s.s. “Aotea,” was born in Dumbartonshire, Scotland, and came to New Zealand in 1867 by the s.s “Midge,” owned and commanded by his father, the late Captain Stuart. After being with the “Midge” in the coastal service, Mr. Stuart was apprenticed to the well-known Auckland firm of engineers, Messrs Fraser and Tinne. On the expiration of his indentures he entered the service of the French Government at Tahiti, but finding the island life uncongenial, he returned to Auckland and joined the late Auckland Steam Packet Company, as assistant engineer. On the sale of the vessel in which he was employed, Mr. Stuart joined the Anchor Steamship Company at Nelson, and remained with it for some time. He then went to Sydney, and joined the Eastern and Australian Mail Steamship Company, trading to India and China. Not liking the trade. Mr. Stuart returned to Auckland in 1876, and rejoined the Auckland Steam Packet Company as chief engineer of the pioneer inter-island steamer “Star of the South,” trading to Fiji. In 1887, he was appointed chief engineer at the Waitara Freezing Works, but left some time afterwards to embark in a venture which ended in the total loss of the steamer. Mr. Stuart was for many years popularly known as the chief engineer in Messrs Donald and Edenborough's island steamer “Richmond,” and was the first New Zealand bred engineer to receive a sea-going engineer's certificate as a second and, also, as a first-class engineer.
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Mr. John Harrison,
              Formerly Managing Director of the Northern Union Steam Boat Company, was born at Wairoa in 1862, and served his apprenticeship to the boot and shoe business. For some years, Mr. Harrison had a most varied experience, and at different times followed the occupations of gum digging, billiard marking, and trading on the river in a small yacht. He was then employed by Dr. Campbell in the river trade for about six years, and on the Kauri Company buying the business, he engaged in bush contracting, in which he still conducts extensive operations. For some years he ran a line of steamers on the Wairoa river in opposition to the Northern Rivers Company, and in 1897 he purchased



half the interests of that company, in which he afterwards held the position of managing director. Mr. Harrison resides at Aratapu. He is married, and has a family of three children.
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Rawson, Thomas,
              Master Mariner, Helensville. Captain Rawson, who is now residing in Helensville, is one of the oldest skippers in the Auckland province. He was born in Hull in 1843, educated there, and took to the sea at an early age, his first voyage being on board the “Prince.” He was afterwards on the “Meteor,” and came to Melbourne by the ship “Robert Small;” moving thence to Invercargill and finally to Auckland. For four years Capt. Rawson traded between Auckland and Mercury Bay as master of the s.s. “Gemini,” and afterwards as master of the s.s. “Lily” between Auckland and Helensville. He then entered the service of the Northern Steamship Company, and has had charge of various of the company's boats on the river between Helensville and Dargaville. In June, 1897, he retired and settled down to a well-earned repose. Captain Rawson is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Gavin, of H.M.'s service, and has eight daughters and six sons.
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Helensville
              
              is situated on the banks of the Kaipara, and is connected by rail with Auckland, thirty-eight miles distant. Steamers leave regularly for North Wairoa and other branches of the Kaipara. There are many pleasant farms and homesteads in the neighbourhood. It supports three hotels, four churches, two halls, and public library. There are a public school, post and telegraph office, and a daily mail service.
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Mr. Richard Monk,
              who represents Waitemata in the House of Representatives, first stood for Parliament for Parnell, in 1881, but was defeated. He was elected for Waitemata in 1887, but was defeated at the general election of 1890. Mr. Monk was again elected for the same district by a large majority at the general election of 1893, but was unseated on petition. He, however, again stood for the district at the general election of 1896, and was returned by 1715 to his opponent's 1544 votes. Mr. Monk had two rivals at the election of December, 1900, but he received 1713 votes, and the next man on the list polled only 1263. Mr. Monk has been a member of the Auckland Board of Education and of the Waitemata County Council. He is now sixty-nine years of age, and arrived at Hokianga with his parents when he was too young to be aware of his advent in that romantic and historic region. He therefore stands in the front line of seniority amongst the European colonists of New Zealand. Mr. Monk's father and mother both came of old Lancashire families, and he was educated by his father who, in 1819, took him to California, whence, after a time, the father went to England, and the son, who was much impressed with American methods, returned to Auckland via Australia. After his return to New Zealand Mr. Monk worked at carpentry, and started the joinery factory of Monk and Morgan. In 1866 he went to England and procured plant for the Union Sash and Door Company, with which he was identified until 1881, when he first stood for Parliament. After that Mr. Monk was connected with the Mercury Bay Timber Company until 1887. Mr. Monk has a thorough knowledge of the Maori langauge and is well versed in Maori lore and well acquainted with the character of the Maori people. In politics he is a conservative Liberal, and is opposed to Mr. Seddon on account of what he considers his political recklessness. As a public man, Mr. Monk is just and fearless, and he is an effective speaker. He has an enthusiastic appreciation of the value and glamour of the Union Jack as a symbol of British unity, and as an incentive to and preservative of British patriotism, on account of its associations with immeorial national development and achievement. For similar reasons Mr. Monk has a corresponding regard for the blue ensign of New Zealand with its impressive badge of the Southern Cross, and never tires of visiting schools and adressing the children on its claims to devotion as the flag of their country. One of his speeches on the subject, delivered in Parliament during the session of 1900, was so highly thought of, that many thousands of copies were specially issued from the Government Printing Office for distribution amongst the public schools of the colony.
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The Helensville Town Board District has 135 ratable properties, on which a general rate of 3d. in the £ is levied. The annual value of ratable property is about £2700; the total annual revenue from all sources is about £277.
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Mr. C. H. Spinley,
              who has been elected Chairman of the Helensville Town Board for he fourth term, has brought about many improvements in the township, including street channelling and other necessary works. He has been secretary to the school committee,



chairman of the library committee, and circuit steward to the Wesleyan church for many years. Being an old English Volunteer and a good shot, he tried to organise a corps at Helensville, but was unable to arouse sufficient enthusiasm to make the movement a success.
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Mr. C. H. Spinley.
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Helensville Railway Station, Post And Telegraph Office,
              is a building of the ordinary pattern of country stations, with waiting-rooms, public lobby, and offices. There are also goods sheds and an engine-house, and a platform at the wharf for facilitating traffic by the river steamers.
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Mr. David Aitken Wright,
              Postmaster, Customs Officer, and Stationmaster, Helensville, was born in Essex, England, in 1846, and came to New Zealand when very young, being afterwards employed in farm work in the Taranaki district. When the war broke out he joined the Taranaki Mounted Volunteers, and served with credit through the entire campaign, being present at most of the engagements. Mr. Wright received the New Zealand medal, and, after leaving the volunteers, entered the armed constabulary, remaining in the force until 1874, when he resigned and joined the post and telegraph service. At the opening of the Hastings office he was appointed to the charge of the post, telegraph, and railway station, and remained there for nearly nineteen years, when he was transferred in 1893, to his present position. He was married to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Goodwin, of England, but she died, leaving two daughters.
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                The Helensville Public School
              
              was established in 1878. Since then owing to the increase of the population and demand for greater accommodation, two more class-rooms have been added, making the present building a complete school of its kind. There are about 150 pupils on the roll with an average attendance of about 135. The staff consists of a headmaster, two assistant teachers, two pupil-teachers, and one probationer.
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Mr. Joseph Robert Whitaker,
              Headmaster, was born in Auckland in 1866 and educated at the Thames High School. He received his present appointment in 1900. Mr. Whitaker is married and has one son and one daughter.
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Spinley, Charles Henry,
              Engineer and General Smith, Helensville. Mr. Spinley was born at Great Grimsby, England, in 1853, where also he was educated and brought up to the trade of a general smith. Later, he decided to try his fortune in the Colonies, and in 1880, departed for New Zealand in the ship “Wanganui.” Early in 1881 he went to Helensville and established himself in business there, was very successful, and becoming popular, was elected to the town board in 1884. At the present time he is serving his fourth term as chairman. Mr. Spinley was married to a daughter of Mr. Edward Ingham, farmer, Middle, Rasen, Lincolnshire, and has five sons and four daughters.
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Downer, William,
              Timber Merchant, Helensville, Mr. Downer, who is a well-known timber merchant in the Wairoa district, was born in London in 1844, and educated at Home. After leaving school he was apprenticed to a shipwright and thoroughly mastered the trade. He came to New Zealand at the age of seventeen per the ship “John Duncan” and landed in Auckland, where he entered the yards of Mr. Taylor and Captain Solomon. Afterwards he went to Riverhead, where he worked as a contractor for two years, then went with the first “rush” to the Thames goldfields, and was for some time manager of the “Never Too Late to Mend” mine. He finally settled in Helensville, where he has been a resident off and on for more than thirty years. Mr. Downer has taken a prominent part in local affairs, having been a member of the town board, and the school committee, and chairman of the domain board. He owns a very fine property on the river, of about 4000 acres, stocked with over 200 head of cattle. The homestead, called “The Pah,” is



prettily situated. Mr. Downer is married to a daughter of Sergeant-Major Inglis, and has six sons and two daughters.
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Mcleod, Isaac,
              Settler, Helensville. Mr. McLeod, who is one of the pioneers of the district, was born in New Brunswick in 1845, educated there, and brought up to farming. Being ambitious to see the world, he came to new Zealand in the ship “Seagull,” in 1862, in company with his brother. They first went to Coromandel and afterwards to Helensville, and were the first Europeans to settle in that district. Here they opened a timber trade and carried on the business for a number of years. They also carried on a general store, bakery, and smithy. Mr. McLeod was one of the promoters of the Helensville Timber company, Soap Works, and the Flour Mill Company. He was the pioneer of local self-government in those parts. Helensville being the first township in the district to come under the Act, and he was chairman of the Town Board for a considerable period; he was also member of the Waitemata County Council for six years, and local postmaster for some time. Mr. McLeod conducted a line of coaches running from Riverhead to Helensville and had cutters to distribute goods along the many scattered settlements on the Kaipara. In fact Helensville (which was named after a relative of his) to a very great extent owes its present position to the energy of Mr. McLeod. He takes a lively interest in colonial politics, but although several times urged to stand for Parliament, has hitherto refused the honour. He has been married twice, his present wife, a daughter of the later Mr. William Little, of Paparoa, being his first wife's sister. He has one son by the prior marriage, and a son and two daughters by his second wife.

            

              

[image: Mr. I. McLeod.]

Mr. 
I. McLeod.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Makiri Farm



            
            


              

                Makiri Farm
              
              is one of the prettiest properties in Helensville, and is situated near the railway, It comprises 2000 acres, half of which is grass land and carries 600 sheep and about 250 head of cattle. The property has been kept in excellent condition and is very English-like in its aspect, the homestead being a two story wooden building of nine rooms, commanding a splendid view of the surrounding landscape. The property was purchased some twenty years ago by the late Mr. James Hand, father of the present proprietor.
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Mr. James Hand,
              Proprietor of “Makiri Farm,” is the eldest son of the late Mr. James Hand, and was born in Helensville in 1877. He was educated at St. Joseph's College, Sydney, on leaving which he returned to the farm, and together with his brother, Mr. John Hand, has worked there ever since, with a sister.
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Reynolds, John Joseph,
              Farmer, Helensville. Mr. Reynolds was born in Dublin in 1851 and educated at the Irish National School. He came to New Zealand when a boy and gained experience in country pursuits, was engaged in the timber industry and subsequently was manager for Messrs. P. and I. McLeod, Messrs Metcalf Bros, and other employers in that trade. During 1867 and 1869 he identified himself at the Thames with goldmining at a time when there was great activity on the fields. Ultimately, he took to farming, and settled in Helensville, where he is now well and popularly known. He has been a member of the Helensville Town Board for a number of years, is member of the school committee, and for some time has represented Helensville on the Waitemata County Council. His farm is pleasantly situated and consists of some 350 acres mostly in grass. Mr. Reynolds was appointed a Justice of the Peace some years ago, and in 1898 became district valuer under the Government Valuation of Land Act, 1896, for the counties of Manukau, Eden, Waitemata, and Rodney, and still (1901) holds the office. He is married to a daughter of Mr. William Snook, an old Auckland settler, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Slatter, John,
              Farmer, Kiwitahi, Helensville. The subject of this sketch was born in 1860, received his early education at Home, and completed it at the Auckland



Grammar School. When only thirteen years of age, his parents came to Auckland in the ship “Queen Bee” and settled for a time in that city. Mr. Slatter visited Australia and gained some experience of sheep farming in South Australia. On returning to New Zealand, he purchased his present property at Kiwitahi, which consists of about 3000 acres, and is mostly in grass, and devoted chiefly to the breeding and fattening of cattle. Mr. Slatter is a member of the Waitemata Licensing Committee, on which body he has done good service. He is an enthusiastic amateur photographer, and some of his work is reproduced in this volume. Mr. Slatter is married to a daughter of the late Mr. R. J. Duncan, once a well-known auctioneer of Wellington, and has two sons and three daughters.
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Stewart, Daniel,
              Farmer, Helensville. Mr. Stewart, who has had rather varied experiences in the Colonies, was born in Fifeshire, where he also was educated. In 1858, he came to New Zealand on the last voyage of the “Joseph Fletcher,” and served his time to the joiners' trade. About the time of the Snowy River “rush,” he went to Australia, and was on the goldfields for nearly a year, when he returned to New Zealand and was at Gabriel's Gully, in Otago, for a time. In 1866, he moved north to the Thames and was in charge of the Lucky Head battery until it closed down. Mr. Stewart then settled at Helensville, where he has been a resident for thirty years, cultivating his property most successfully. The farm contains about 390 acres of cleared land and meadows, carrying over 800 sheep and several head of cattle. For a number of years Mr. Stewart carried on a general store, but afterwards retired from the business, which is now conducted by his sons under the style of Stewart Bros. Mr. Stewart has been a member of the town board for several years, and was chairman for two years. He is a leading Freemason and past master of Lodge 2073, E.C. Mr. Stewart is married and has five daughters and three sons.
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Wilson, John Alexander,
              Farmer, Helensville. Mr. Wilson was born in Wairoa South, and is a son of Mr. J. S. Wilson, of that place. He was educated at the local school and remained with his father for some years, until he acquired the property at Helensville on which he now resides, and of which he has been in possession for about sixteen years. The farm consists of 350 acres of level grass land, and carries over 200 sheep and about 200 head of cattle. Mr. Wilson has always taken an active interest in local affairs, and was a member of the Wairoa Rifles until the corps was disbanded. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Charles Simcock, of Kaukapakapa, and has one son and one daughter.
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                Northern Union Steam Boat Company, Ltd
              
              (James Stewart, Manager), Head Office, Helensville.
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Mr. John D. Stuart,
              Chief Engineer of the Northern Union Steamship Company's s.s. “Aotea,” was born in Dumbartonshire, Scotland, and came to New Zealand in 1867 by the s.s “Midge,” owned and commanded by his father, the late Captain Stuart. After being with the “Midge” in the coastal service, Mr. Stuart was apprenticed to the well-known Auckland firm of engineers, Messrs Fraser and Tinne. On the expiration of his indentures he entered the service of the French Government at Tahiti, but finding the island life uncongenial, he returned to Auckland and joined the late Auckland Steam Packet Company, as assistant engineer. On the sale of the vessel in which he was employed, Mr. Stuart joined the Anchor Steamship Company at Nelson, and remained with it for some time. He then went to Sydney, and joined the Eastern and Australian Mail Steamship Company, trading to India and China. Not liking the trade. Mr. Stuart returned to Auckland in 1876, and rejoined the Auckland Steam Packet Company as chief engineer of the pioneer inter-island steamer “Star of the South,” trading to Fiji. In 1887, he was appointed chief engineer at the Waitara Freezing Works, but left some time afterwards to embark in a venture which ended in the total loss of the steamer. Mr. Stuart was for many years popularly known as the chief engineer in Messrs Donald and Edenborough's island steamer “Richmond,” and was the first New Zealand bred engineer to receive a sea-going engineer's certificate as a second and, also, as a first-class engineer.
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Mr. John Harrison,
              Formerly Managing Director of the Northern Union Steam Boat Company, was born at Wairoa in 1862, and served his apprenticeship to the boot and shoe business. For some years, Mr. Harrison had a most varied experience, and at different times followed the occupations of gum digging, billiard marking, and trading on the river in a small yacht. He was then employed by Dr. Campbell in the river trade for about six years, and on the Kauri Company buying the business, he engaged in bush contracting, in which he still conducts extensive operations. For some years he ran a line of steamers on the Wairoa river in opposition to the Northern Rivers Company, and in 1897 he purchased



half the interests of that company, in which he afterwards held the position of managing director. Mr. Harrison resides at Aratapu. He is married, and has a family of three children.
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Rawson, Thomas,
              Master Mariner, Helensville. Captain Rawson, who is now residing in Helensville, is one of the oldest skippers in the Auckland province. He was born in Hull in 1843, educated there, and took to the sea at an early age, his first voyage being on board the “Prince.” He was afterwards on the “Meteor,” and came to Melbourne by the ship “Robert Small;” moving thence to Invercargill and finally to Auckland. For four years Capt. Rawson traded between Auckland and Mercury Bay as master of the s.s. “Gemini,” and afterwards as master of the s.s. “Lily” between Auckland and Helensville. He then entered the service of the Northern Steamship Company, and has had charge of various of the company's boats on the river between Helensville and Dargaville. In June, 1897, he retired and settled down to a well-earned repose. Captain Rawson is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Gavin, of H.M.'s service, and has eight daughters and six sons.
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Te Kopuru,
              on the west side of the Wairoa river, ninety-six miles from Auckland, is one of the early sawmilling settlements founded by Mr. Walton, afterwards owned by Dr. J. Logan Campbell, and now the property of the Kauri Timber Company. There are three jetties belonging to the company, and the residence of the manager, Mr. H. L. P. Tucker, and the cottages of the workmen, stand on the mill property. There is also a county wharf, which is the best loading berth on the river, as there are 24 feet of water at low tides. The town of Te Kopuru surrounds the mill property, and possesses a post and telegraph office with a savings bank, Customs, and registration departments. The township has a public school, a Roman Catholic church, a public hall, a library, stores, a boardinghouse, and the recently-established shipbuilding yards of Messrs Brown and Son. Te Kopuru is situated on high ground, commanding a fine view of the river and the surrounding country, and ranks as one of the best residential sites in the county. There is a good road to Dargaville and other centres, also to Red Hill, about seven miles distant, all passengers for which land at Te Kopuru.

          

          

            
            


              
Te Kopuru Post And Telegraph And Customs Office.
              A post office was established in 1881, but was then carried on in private business premises. The public departments are now domiciled in a Government building.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Charles Archer Wells,
              Postmaster and Telegraphist of the Te Kopuru Post Office, has been in the public service for over twenty years. Born in Taranaki in 1853, where his father, Mr. Benjamin Wells, resided, the subject of this notice was educated at the Nelson College and the Auckland High School. After spending about a year in a solicitor's office, Mr. Wells entered the Telegraph Department in Wellington in 1875, and was soon transferred to Greytown North, subsequently being promoted to the charge of the Southbridge Post Office in Canterbury. He then spent some years at Helensville, New Plymouth, and Palmerston North, being transferred from the latter town to Auckland, where he was stationed for six years. He was then placed in charge at Warkworth, whence he was transferred to Te Kopuru. In his youth Mr. Wells was a member of the Taranaki Militia, and at a later date of the Egmont Rifles. During his residence in Southbridge he was organist of the Presbyterian Church. Mr. Wells spends his leisure hours in literary pursuits, and has contributed several articles to colonial journals, and also to the “Boy's Own Annual.” He is a master Mason, his mother lodge being Mount Egmont, New Plymouth, E. C. In 1883 Mr. Wells married a daughter of the Rev. Joseph Long, of New Plymouth, and has four sons and two daughters.
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                Te Kopuru Public School
              
              was founded in 1882 and at the present time has a roll call of 140 with an average attendance of 125. The staff consists of the headmaster, Mr. J. E. Elliott, a lady assistant, and two pupil teachers.

          

          

            
            


              

Lindley, John,
              Aerated Water Manufacturer, Te Kopuru. Mr. Lindley was born in Shropshire, England, in 1828, and educated at Doncaster and York. In 1858 he went to India, and was employed in the office of the traffic manager for the East India Railway Company in Calcutta. He was afterwards for some years manager of the School-book Society of Calcutta, and also a bill and sharebroker in that city. In 1878 he came to New Zealand in the s.s. “Hero,” and was appointed master of Te Kopuru school, where he remained for fourteen years, when he retired and established his present business in 1892, it being the only one of the kind on the North Wairoa river. Mr. Lindley is a past master in Masonry of the Lodge of “True Friendship” in Calcutta, also past principal of “Royal Arch” chapter in the same city, and was second master of Lodge St. George at Dargaville. He has acted as Lay Reader for the Church of England at Te Kopuru for over twenty-two years.
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Seymour, Joseph,
              General Store-keeper, Te Kopuru. Mr. Seymour was born in London in 1845, and educated there. He came to New Zealand in 1860 by the “Phœnix,” and followed a seafaring life for twenty years, during which time he was



master of the cutters “Alarui” and “Three Brothers,” Mangawai being his headquarters. He eventually purchased a small steamer, which was built at Mangawai, and traded with her on the Wairoa river for a considerable time, being first in partnership with the late Mr. J. M. Dargaville, and then with Mr. E. Mitchelson in rafting operations, afterwards joining Mr. Weymouth in a store at Scarrott's. He next took charge of the s.s. “Osprey” for about a year, and in 1894 started his present business on the main road. Mr. Seymour has been a member of the Te Kopuru School Committee, and was junior deacon of Lodge St. George. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Keddy, of Wicklow, and has two sons and two daughters living, one daughter having died.
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Andrew, Alexander,
              Farmer, Marybank, Te Kopuru. Mr. Andrew was born in Lanarkshire in 1835, and was brought up to farming. In 1862 he came to New Zealand by the ship “Indian Empire,” landing in Auckland, where he remained some three years. In 1866 he removed to Te Kopuru, and immediately started farming in up-to-date style and with the most modern machinery. His property consists of about 700 acres of land of a good quality for cultivation. He is married to a daughter of Mr. Boyd, of Scotland, and has four daughters and six sons.
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Wordsworth, William,
              Farmer, “Lilac Villa,” Te Kopuru. Mr. Wordsworth was born in Yorkshire in 1852, and learned the trade of plate-rolling under Sir John Brown and Co., iron-workers of Sheffield. In 1877, he came to New Zealand by the ship “Horrah,” landing in Wellington, where he stayed only a short time, and then went to the Kaipara, accepting a situation as sawyer at the Aratapu Mills, where he remained for fourteen years. On leaving this, he started farming in the district and now owns a property of about 325 acres of good land. Mr. Wordsworth is an advocate of temperance, and is treasurer of the Rechabites' lodge. He has three daughters and eight sons living, two of the latter being by his first wife; the present Mrs. Wordsworth was a Miss West.
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              Postmaster and Telegraphist of the Te Kopuru Post Office, has been in the public service for over twenty years. Born in Taranaki in 1853, where his father, Mr. Benjamin Wells, resided, the subject of this notice was educated at the Nelson College and the Auckland High School. After spending about a year in a solicitor's office, Mr. Wells entered the Telegraph Department in Wellington in 1875, and was soon transferred to Greytown North, subsequently being promoted to the charge of the Southbridge Post Office in Canterbury. He then spent some years at Helensville, New Plymouth, and Palmerston North, being transferred from the latter town to Auckland, where he was stationed for six years. He was then placed in charge at Warkworth, whence he was transferred to Te Kopuru. In his youth Mr. Wells was a member of the Taranaki Militia, and at a later date of the Egmont Rifles. During his residence in Southbridge he was organist of the Presbyterian Church. Mr. Wells spends his leisure hours in literary pursuits, and has contributed several articles to colonial journals, and also to the “Boy's Own Annual.” He is a master Mason, his mother lodge being Mount Egmont, New Plymouth, E. C. In 1883 Mr. Wells married a daughter of the Rev. Joseph Long, of New Plymouth, and has four sons and two daughters.

            

              

[image: Mr. C. A. Wells.]

Mr. 
C. A. Wells.


            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Te Kopuru Public School



            
            


              

                Te Kopuru Public School
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Paparoa.

          

            
The Paparoa district, situated on the Kaipara, at the junction of the Pahi and Arapaua rivers, was first settled in 1862. The pioneer settlers took their land under the land grant system for immigrants paying their own passages from England; and each adult received forty acres of land, and children twenty acres. The intending settlers arrived in Auckland in September, 1862, by the ships “Matilda Wattenbach” and “Hanover,” and belonged to a large party formed under what was then known as a Nonconformist Colony scheme, originated by a Mr. John Brame. The Government put three blocks of land—the Orauwharau, Paparoa, and Matakohe blocks—apart for this special scheme. The first land selection sales took place at Mangawai, on the east coast, in December. Some of the newcomers had been to see the land, but in most instances intending settlers selected by the map only. No roadmaking had been done, and surveys were incomplete, and many had to live at Pahi, the deep water port of the Paparoa block, for some months before they could get on to their land. The district was in an isolated condition for some years, and it was only the productiveness of the good land in which their lot had fallen, and the help they received through judicious expenditure in road making, by Mr. Williamson, Superintendent of Auckland, and Mr. Allwright, the Provincial Engineer, that saved the settlers. Later, in 1884, under the Homestead Act, all Crown lands on the far side of the Paparoa block were quickly taken up. This made Paparoa one of the most thriving districts north of Auckland. The district is solely a grazing one, and partly, of limestone, partly of sandstone soil, and most of the land has been in forest and light bush. There are some good orchards, and vine growing for wine-making has been under way during the last two or three years; a Co-operative Wine-making Company is (July, 1901) in the course of formation at Wakapirau, on the opposite side of the Pahi river, where Mr. Jackson has been wine-making in a large way for a number of years. Pahi, the port, about four miles from the Paparoa village, is visited by vessels from all parts to load with timber from Messrs Chandwick and Sons' mill. There is a Government post and telegraph office, stores, a public hall, school, police station, and a butcher's and a blacksmith's shop. Paparoa village, four miles and a half by road, has also water communication with Pahi by the Pahi and Paparoa rivers, and all heavy goods are taken that way; coaches running for the passenger traffic. It has Church of England and Wesleyan places of worship, with parsonages, a school, a cheese factory, stores, and the shops of saddlers, butchers, and blacksmiths. Paparoa is the headquarters of the Otamatea Mounted Rifles, and the orderly-room and rifle range, 1000 to 1200 yards, are close to the village. The post and telegraph office has been carried on for years at one of the business places, but the Government has just (July, 1901) bought a section of land on which to erect buildings. Regular monthly auction sales of stock are held at Mr. Wakelin's yards. Communication has so far been by rail from Auckland to Helensville and then by steamer to Pahi, but in the course of a few years the north of Auckland railway will, though not touching the village, give a better and more direct mode of communication.

          

          

            
            

              

Mr. John Butterill Ariell,
             
 J.P., Coroner of Otamatea, and Sheepfarmer at Paparoa, is the son of the late Mr. Whittaker Ariell, J.P., Coroner of Otamatea and Government Valuer, and was born in London in 1854. He was educated at the celebrated Forrest School, and, at the age of eighteen, accompanied his parents to New Zealand in 1872. His father having purchased what is now a
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fine estate at Paparoa, though the land was then in its native wilderness, Mr. Ariell settled there, and experienced all the difficulties of pioneer life. He carved out of the native forest the Thorne estate, now considered one of the finest properties in the district, as it supports a large number of sheep and cattle. In 1897 Mr. Whittaker Ariell died, and his son, the subject of the present article, succeeded to the estate, and to the various offices held by his father, except that of Government valuer which he declined to accept, as the duties necessitated long absences from home. Mr. Ariell, who is a very prominent man in the district, was for a number of years on the school committee, and took a most active part in 1900 in the formation of the Otamatea Mounted Rifles, a splendid corps in which Mr. Ariell occupies the position of sergeant-major. A member of the corps accompanied the Sixth Contingent to South Africa. Mr. Ariell is a Freemason of long standing, and a member of the Whangarei Lodge. He married Miss Mary Thompson, of Faskin, Matakohe, and has a family of six children; the two eldest boys, in 1901, entered St. John's College, Tamaki.

          

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

[introduction]



            
The Paparoa district, situated on the Kaipara, at the junction of the Pahi and Arapaua rivers, was first settled in 1862. The pioneer settlers took their land under the land grant system for immigrants paying their own passages from England; and each adult received forty acres of land, and children twenty acres. The intending settlers arrived in Auckland in September, 1862, by the ships “Matilda Wattenbach” and “Hanover,” and belonged to a large party formed under what was then known as a Nonconformist Colony scheme, originated by a Mr. John Brame. The Government put three blocks of land—the Orauwharau, Paparoa, and Matakohe blocks—apart for this special scheme. The first land selection sales took place at Mangawai, on the east coast, in December. Some of the newcomers had been to see the land, but in most instances intending settlers selected by the map only. No roadmaking had been done, and surveys were incomplete, and many had to live at Pahi, the deep water port of the Paparoa block, for some months before they could get on to their land. The district was in an isolated condition for some years, and it was only the productiveness of the good land in which their lot had fallen, and the help they received through judicious expenditure in road making, by Mr. Williamson, Superintendent of Auckland, and Mr. Allwright, the Provincial Engineer, that saved the settlers. Later, in 1884, under the Homestead Act, all Crown lands on the far side of the Paparoa block were quickly taken up. This made Paparoa one of the most thriving districts north of Auckland. The district is solely a grazing one, and partly, of limestone, partly of sandstone soil, and most of the land has been in forest and light bush. There are some good orchards, and vine growing for wine-making has been under way during the last two or three years; a Co-operative Wine-making Company is (July, 1901) in the course of formation at Wakapirau, on the opposite side of the Pahi river, where Mr. Jackson has been wine-making in a large way for a number of years. Pahi, the port, about four miles from the Paparoa village, is visited by vessels from all parts to load with timber from Messrs Chandwick and Sons' mill. There is a Government post and telegraph office, stores, a public hall, school, police station, and a butcher's and a blacksmith's shop. Paparoa village, four miles and a half by road, has also water communication with Pahi by the Pahi and Paparoa rivers, and all heavy goods are taken that way; coaches running for the passenger traffic. It has Church of England and Wesleyan places of worship, with parsonages, a school, a cheese factory, stores, and the shops of saddlers, butchers, and blacksmiths. Paparoa is the headquarters of the Otamatea Mounted Rifles, and the orderly-room and rifle range, 1000 to 1200 yards, are close to the village. The post and telegraph office has been carried on for years at one of the business places, but the Government has just (July, 1901) bought a section of land on which to erect buildings. Regular monthly auction sales of stock are held at Mr. Wakelin's yards. Communication has so far been by rail from Auckland to Helensville and then by steamer to Pahi, but in the course of a few years the north of Auckland railway will, though not touching the village, give a better and more direct mode of communication.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Mr. John Butterill Ariell



            
            

              

Mr. John Butterill Ariell,
             
 J.P., Coroner of Otamatea, and Sheepfarmer at Paparoa, is the son of the late Mr. Whittaker Ariell, J.P., Coroner of Otamatea and Government Valuer, and was born in London in 1854. He was educated at the celebrated Forrest School, and, at the age of eighteen, accompanied his parents to New Zealand in 1872. His father having purchased what is now a


[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. J. B. Ariell and Sons.]

Hanna, photo.
Mr. J. B. 
Ariell and 
Sons.
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Matakohe,
              about eighty-seven miles north of Auckland, on a branch stream from the Otamatea river, is an old Nonconformist settlement, founded about 1862. Among its early pioneers were Messrs R. C. Smith—whose sons still reside in the district—Thompson, Rentone, Isbister, and Ovens. The district has a population of about 548 persons, most of whom are engaged in cattle farming, gumdigging, or bush-felling. Matakohe is reached by train to Helensville and thence by steamer. Though shallow and inconvenient for navigation, the harbour, like many northern inlets, presents many pretty sights, and wooded hillsides. Matakohe has a post and telegraph office, two boardinghouses, a church, public school, public library, a hall, stores, and a goods shed.

          

          

            
            


              

Carolan, James Frederick,
              M. R. C. S. (Eng.), Physician and Surgeon, Matakohe. Dr. Carolan was born in Surrey in 1851 of Irish extraction, is the son of the late Mr. James Ward Carolan of H. M. Customs, London, and nephew of the late Capt. Fred. W. Wilson, R. N. He was educated at St. Mary's Hospital, London, and became duty qualified at the Royal College of Surgeons of England in 1872. After practising in London for many years he was for a time surgeon in the Ocean and British India steamship companies sailing to China, East Indies and Queensland. From the latter place Dr. Carolan proceeded to New Zealand and has practised in the Auckland province for the past nineteen years, during which period he has held the appointments of medical officer to the New Zealand Railway Provident Society, the A. O. F., I. O. O. F. Manchester Unity and I. O. Rechabites. In 1890 he succeeded Dr. Rowley at Bombay, removing from Warkworth, his new practice extending to Pukekohe, Papakura and Waiuku. He was gazetted surgeon-captain to the Waiuku Cavalry in December, 1890. Dr. Carolan removed to Kawakawa in 1895 and was appointed native medical officer and public vaccinator for the Bay of Islands district; likewise surgeon to the new Bay of Islands Coal Company. He is on the medical staff of the New Zealand Defence Force and also lecturer to the St. John Ambulance Association. Dr. Carolan is a past master of the Masonic order (E.C.) and P. C. T. I. O. G. T. In March, 1899, he removed to Matakohe, Kaipara, where his residence, “High Combe,” is conducted as a private hospital and Convalescent Home. Dr. Carolan is Medical Officer of Health for the county of Otamatea, and was elected surgeon-captain to the recently formed Otamatea Mounted Rifles, which have their headquarters at Paparoa. Possessing a fine tenor voice he has been much in requisition at all leading concerts and entertainments. Dr. Carolan is married to a daughter of Mr. S. H. Reid, J. P., of Papakura Valley, and niece of the late Rev. Alex. Reid, principal of Three Kings College, Auckland, and has four sons.
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                Lichtenstein And Arnoldson
              
              (Max Lichtenstein and Louis Arnoldson), General Storekeepers, Importers and Kauri Gum Merchants, Matakohe. Head Office and Gum Stores, Auckland. This flourishing business is well known throughout the whole of the Northern Wairoa, and the premises occupied rank among the largest of their kind in the country north of Auckland. Notwithstanding its distance from the capital, almost every article of merchandise is as fully stocked as in the large stores in Auckland. The premises are in three divisions, one devoted to the general store, another to produce of all kinds, and the third to kauri gum. The prosperity of the business is due to the courtesy and attention to, and fair dealing with, the residents of the district, and the marked business ability of the proprietors. The firm is fully referred to in connection with Auckland city in the section devoted to the kauri gum industry.
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Carolan, James Frederick,
              M. R. C. S. (Eng.), Physician and Surgeon, Matakohe. Dr. Carolan was born in Surrey in 1851 of Irish extraction, is the son of the late Mr. James Ward Carolan of H. M. Customs, London, and nephew of the late Capt. Fred. W. Wilson, R. N. He was educated at St. Mary's Hospital, London, and became duty qualified at the Royal College of Surgeons of England in 1872. After practising in London for many years he was for a time surgeon in the Ocean and British India steamship companies sailing to China, East Indies and Queensland. From the latter place Dr. Carolan proceeded to New Zealand and has practised in the Auckland province for the past nineteen years, during which period he has held the appointments of medical officer to the New Zealand Railway Provident Society, the A. O. F., I. O. O. F. Manchester Unity and I. O. Rechabites. In 1890 he succeeded Dr. Rowley at Bombay, removing from Warkworth, his new practice extending to Pukekohe, Papakura and Waiuku. He was gazetted surgeon-captain to the Waiuku Cavalry in December, 1890. Dr. Carolan removed to Kawakawa in 1895 and was appointed native medical officer and public vaccinator for the Bay of Islands district; likewise surgeon to the new Bay of Islands Coal Company. He is on the medical staff of the New Zealand Defence Force and also lecturer to the St. John Ambulance Association. Dr. Carolan is a past master of the Masonic order (E.C.) and P. C. T. I. O. G. T. In March, 1899, he removed to Matakohe, Kaipara, where his residence, “High Combe,” is conducted as a private hospital and Convalescent Home. Dr. Carolan is Medical Officer of Health for the county of Otamatea, and was elected surgeon-captain to the recently formed Otamatea Mounted Rifles, which have their headquarters at Paparoa. Possessing a fine tenor voice he has been much in requisition at all leading concerts and entertainments. Dr. Carolan is married to a daughter of Mr. S. H. Reid, J. P., of Papakura Valley, and niece of the late Rev. Alex. Reid, principal of Three Kings College, Auckland, and has four sons.
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                Lichtenstein And Arnoldson
              
              (Max Lichtenstein and Louis Arnoldson), General Storekeepers, Importers and Kauri Gum Merchants, Matakohe. Head Office and Gum Stores, Auckland. This flourishing business is well known throughout the whole of the Northern Wairoa, and the premises occupied rank among the largest of their kind in the country north of Auckland. Notwithstanding its distance from the capital, almost every article of merchandise is as fully stocked as in the large stores in Auckland. The premises are in three divisions, one devoted to the general store, another to produce of all kinds, and the third to kauri gum. The prosperity of the business is due to the courtesy and attention to, and fair dealing with, the residents of the district, and the marked business ability of the proprietors. The firm is fully referred to in connection with Auckland city in the section devoted to the kauri gum industry.
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Towai
              
              is in the Bay of Islands County, and lies 121 miles to the north-east of Auckland, with which it is connected by a twice-a-week mail service. The district is devoted to farming, and may be reached by two routes: by steamer to Opua, then by rail to Kawakawa, and thence by coach; or by steamer to Whangarei, then by rail to Whakapara, and thence also by coach. The distance covered by coach by each route is ten miles. There is a telephone service connected with the local post office.

          

          

            
            


              

                The Towai Public School
              
              serves a farming settlement, which lies 121 miles to the north-east of Auckland in the Bay of Islands county. The school itself, which has been in charge of Mr. R. J. Harris since 1897, has acommodation for eighty children. There are seventy names on the roll, and the average attendance is fifty-seven. Mr. Harris is assisted by Mr. H. W. Crawford.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Richard John Harris,
              Headmaster, was born at Onehunga, in 1866, and educated at the Auckland Grammar School. He entered the service of the Auckland Education Board in 1891, and was successively engaged in teaching at Wellesley Street, Beresford street, Avondale, Mount Eden and Pukekohe schools. Mr. Harris was afterwards in charge of the school at Ruapekapeka, and the Hukerenui North school before entering on his present appointment. He was a member of the Onehunga Volunteer Corps, is captain of the Towai Cricket Club, and takes much interest in athletic sports and pastimes. Mr. Harris is also a Freemason, and belongs to Lodge Northern Light, Kawakawa.
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                Port Albert
              
              is sixty-five miles north-west from Auckland, and is situated on the Oruawharo river, which flows into the sea south-east of Kaipara harbour. The township consists of two stores, two boardinghouses, one public hall and a few private houses. The district was first opened up by the Albertland settlers, but a large number of them left, and are now engaged in business in Auckland. Those who remained have made, for themselves and families, comfortable homes on what was once a waste of ti-tree and fern. There is no hotel in the district, as the temperance principles of the settlers are very decided. Communication with Auckland is kept up by the steamers of the Northern Steamship Company, which leave Helensville every Thursday on arrival of the 7 a.m. train from Auckland. The steamer takes about five hours to reach Port Albert. Auckland can also be reached by coach from Port Albert to Warkworth on the east coast, thence by steamer. The Port Albert mails arrive, and are despatched on Mondays, Thursdays and Fridays. The post office has a savings bank department, and there is telephone communication with Warkworth, whence messages are telegraphed to Auckland. The Stipendiary Magistrate's Court is held in the hall every three months, and minor cases are taken by the local Justices when necessary. The chief



industries are cattle and sheep rearing, gum digging and fruit growing, and the latter is rapidly rising in importance. A large and commodious wharf runs out into commodious wharf runs out into deep water, and is kept in repair by the County Council. Timber is also exported from two mills, one owned by Messrs Bradley and Mander, the other by Mr. Gibbons. The school and Wesleyan church are situated about a mile and a half from the wharf. The Christian Brethren have a meeting house, and Anglican Church services are held quarterly. The districts adjacent to Port Albert are: Wellsford, distant about four miles—the proposed local terminus for the North Auckland railway; Hoteo North, distant fourteen miles; Wharehine, the same distance; and Tauhoa, about fourteen miles, on the west coast road. Albertland is situated north of Wellsford, and is about eight miles from Port Albert. The settlers in these districts are engaged chiefly in farming and gum digging, and some of the land is especially suitable for the rearing of cattle. The only hindrance to the advancement of Port Albert and the surrounding districts is the want of cheap and quick railway communication with Auckland. This obtained, these districts will be second to none in the Auckland province.

          

          

            
            


              

                Lichtenstein And Arnoldson
              
              (Max Lichtenstein and Louis Arnoldson) General Storekeepers, Importers, and Kauri Gum Merchants, Port Albert. Head Office and Gum Stores, Auckland. This recently established business is the latest development of the well known firm to which it belongs, and was opened in April, 1901. The large premises were erected by Messrs Lichtenstein and Arnoldson, and specially adapted to meet the requirements of their extensive trade. Like those at the parent store at Matakohe, the Port Albert buildings are divided into three departments—one for the general store, one for produce, and one for kauri gum. Mr. Arnoldson resides at Port Albert, and personally supervises the business of the branch. The history of the firm is given at some length under the heading of the Kauri Gum Industry.

          

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Port Albert



            
            


              

                Port Albert
              
              is sixty-five miles north-west from Auckland, and is situated on the Oruawharo river, which flows into the sea south-east of Kaipara harbour. The township consists of two stores, two boardinghouses, one public hall and a few private houses. The district was first opened up by the Albertland settlers, but a large number of them left, and are now engaged in business in Auckland. Those who remained have made, for themselves and families, comfortable homes on what was once a waste of ti-tree and fern. There is no hotel in the district, as the temperance principles of the settlers are very decided. Communication with Auckland is kept up by the steamers of the Northern Steamship Company, which leave Helensville every Thursday on arrival of the 7 a.m. train from Auckland. The steamer takes about five hours to reach Port Albert. Auckland can also be reached by coach from Port Albert to Warkworth on the east coast, thence by steamer. The Port Albert mails arrive, and are despatched on Mondays, Thursdays and Fridays. The post office has a savings bank department, and there is telephone communication with Warkworth, whence messages are telegraphed to Auckland. The Stipendiary Magistrate's Court is held in the hall every three months, and minor cases are taken by the local Justices when necessary. The chief



industries are cattle and sheep rearing, gum digging and fruit growing, and the latter is rapidly rising in importance. A large and commodious wharf runs out into commodious wharf runs out into deep water, and is kept in repair by the County Council. Timber is also exported from two mills, one owned by Messrs Bradley and Mander, the other by Mr. Gibbons. The school and Wesleyan church are situated about a mile and a half from the wharf. The Christian Brethren have a meeting house, and Anglican Church services are held quarterly. The districts adjacent to Port Albert are: Wellsford, distant about four miles—the proposed local terminus for the North Auckland railway; Hoteo North, distant fourteen miles; Wharehine, the same distance; and Tauhoa, about fourteen miles, on the west coast road. Albertland is situated north of Wellsford, and is about eight miles from Port Albert. The settlers in these districts are engaged chiefly in farming and gum digging, and some of the land is especially suitable for the rearing of cattle. The only hindrance to the advancement of Port Albert and the surrounding districts is the want of cheap and quick railway communication with Auckland. This obtained, these districts will be second to none in the Auckland province.

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Lichtenstein And Arnoldson



            
            


              

                Lichtenstein And Arnoldson
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Riverhead
              
              is situated on one of the tidal rivers of the Waitemata, fifteen miles from Auckland by steamer, and twenty-four miles by road. It is within three miles of Kumeu, the nearest railway station on the Auckland and Helensville line, and is in the Waitemata County. There is a population of about 120 persons, who are engaged chiefly in gum digging, but the systematic cultivation of strawberries is becoming general as a local industry, which promises to assume large proportions. The soil, of which considerable areas are still in their virgin state, is similar to that of Birkenhead, whence Auckland has hitherto received the greater portion of the strawberries for which there is a large demand in the city. At Riverhead, in midwinter, 1901, magnificent ripe strawberries were growing luxuriantly in the open in several favoured spots, sheltered from the cold westerly winds, and there is no doubt that, with an increase of population, the comparatively barren country will be covered with flourishing orchards, vineyards, and strawberry plantations. Riverhead, about the sixties, was of some importance as the landing place between Auckland and the Kaipara, where a large timber and gum trade was carried



on, but the advent of the railway diverted the traffic from the district, and diminished its prosperity. In the summer months a daily steam service is maintained, and there are numerous excursions to Riverhead, which is a charming place to spend a holiday in. Though laid out as a township, little has been done in the way of building. There is a public school, with an average attendance of about twenty-eight scholars, and a paper mill, and Riverhead also possesses a hotel which would do credit to places of greater pretentions.

          

          

            
            


              

                Riverhead Hotel
              
              (Thomas William Deacon, proprietor) Riverhead. This hotel, would, in every respect, do credit to a much more populous place than Riverhead. The host and hostess, Mr. and Mrs Deacon, are noted for their courtesy, and for their studious regard to everything which bears upon the comfort of visitors to their house, which is situated close to the river, and within a minute's walk of the boat landing.
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Mr. Thomas William Deacon,
              Hotelkeeper and Storekeeper, was born in Cornwall, England, in the year 1823, and joined the Royal Navy at an early age. He came to Auckland in 1843 in H.M.S. “Calliope,” commanded by Captain Edward Stanley, and was stationed with her at the Bay of Islands until the end of the war with Heke. After that the “Calliope” proceeded to Wellington, where she had Te Rauparaha, the celebrated Maori chief, on board as a prisoner of war. Mr. Deacon then left the “Calliope” and joined a barque going to Hokianga to load spars; Dr. Logan Campbell was on board the same barque. On his return to Auckland Mr. Deacon left the sea, and after travelling around the country for a considerable time, he settled at Riverhead, where he started storekeeping and built his present hotel, which was the first in the district. Riverhead was then the outlet of an extensive timber trade from Kaipara, whence the timber was brought overland and shipped to Auckland. The return cargo was landed at Riverhead and taken in bullock drays to Kaipara. Mr. Deacon then purchased a boat, in which he carried passengers from Riverhead to Auckland, but when steamers came on the scene that means of travelling ceased to be necessary. Mr. Deacon's hotel is replete with every comfort and luxury, and all the accessories of a first class houses, and is much frequented in the summer months by visitors from Auckland. The large store, from which all the supplies in the district are obtained, is also owned by Mr. Deacon, who also owns a large hotel, store, bakery, and blacksmith's shop at Kumeu, where his son has the management. Mr. Deacon married Mrs Ellis, widow of Captain Ellis, and has a family of eight children, and about forty grandchildren.

            

              

[image: Mr. T. W. Deacon.]

Mr. 
T. W. Deacon.


            

          

          

            
            


              
The Riverhead Paper Mills.
              About 1898 a company was formed in Auckland for the purpose of manufacturing brown and grey paper, and after considerable difficulty in finding a suitable place within a moderate distance of the capital, with conveniences in the way of water carriage, the company selected the site on which the mills now stand at Riverhead. The site had the advantage of possessing extensive buildings which could be easily converted to the requirements of the company. They were originally erected for the purpose of a flour mill, and during the early prosperity of the district the mill did a considerable business, but it had been closed for several years previous to its acquisition by the Riverhead Paper Mills Company. Large additions and altertions were made to the buildings, and the paper mill is now a most prosperous concern, furnished with the latest and most improved machinery, and giving employment to about thirty hands. The process of paper manufacturing is most interesting, from its first stage when all sorts of rags, pieces of ropes, and various discarded odds and ends, are thrown together, down to its final production as a strong, handsome glazed paper.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. John Greenhalg,
              the Manager, is a gentlemen who has had extensive experience in England and in the colonies, in the manufacture of paper, and the company is fortunate in having his services.

          

          

            
            


              

Mr. Mark Thompson,
              Engineer of the Riverhead Paper Mills, is a native of Berwickshire, Scotland. He served three years in the well known foundry of Messrs Brown Brothers, engineers and ironfounders, and completed his apprenticeship with Messrs Bertrams, engineers, Edinburgh. These firms possessed a great reputation for the manufacture of paper making machinery. At the expiration of his apprenticeship Mr. Thompson went to Newcastle-on-Tyne, where he worked in the foundry of Hawthorne, Les
[
unclear: l]ie and Co., engineers. After a considerable experience in Edinburgh and Glasgow foundries, noted for the manufacture of paper machinery, Mr. Thompson came to Australia, in 1886, and landed at Melbourne, where he worked for three years at Longland's foundry, one of the largest firms of engineers in Australia. He received the appointment of engineer at Barwon's paper mills, Victoria, where he was for nine months in charge. In 1893 he came to New Zealand, under a special engagement for the Mataura paper mills, where he superintended the erection of all the extensive machinery, and where he remained for eighteen months. He left the Mataura mills to accept the position of engineer for the Southland Frozen Meat and Produce Co., with which he remained five years. In 1899 Mr. Thompson removed to Auckland, under a special engagement to superintended the erection of the splendid up-to-date machinery in the Riverhead Paper Mills. Mr. Thompson is associated with the Oddfellows, but has not been an active member since his arrival in New Zealand. He has been vice-president of the Amalgamated Society of Engineers in Australia, and has been much connected with school committees since his arrival in New Zealand, and has also been secretary of various cricket clubs. Mr. Thompson is married, and has a family of four children.
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The Riverhead Paper Mills.
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As the cradle of colonisation, the north has historic and romantic associations which are peculiarly its own, and also characteristics in climate and scenery which differentiate it from the southern districts, but these, too, have strikingly distinctive features. The southern portion of the province is much more extensive than that which lies northward from the city of Auckland. It has a greater number of actively busy towns, and a far larger area of settled land, and of land yet to be settled, all fit for the heavier crops and more enduring demands of agriculture. The great valley of the Waikato river, which is navigable for seventy-five miles by small steamers, is noted for the extent and quality of its land, its coal, its pastures, its crops, its cattle, its creameries, and kindred industries. This rich region is within forty-three miles of Auckland, with which it is connected by railway, and with adjacent districts by numerous sideroads. Prior to 1864, when the struggle between the Maoris and Europeans was brought to a close with the capture of Orakau, the Waikato was closed against settlement, but since then it has made such advances that it is now one of the chief agriculture areas in New Zealand. It is especially noted for dairying and for fattening stock, but as the soils include clay, deep swamp, alluvial, sandy and limestone, and the level of the land itself varies from flat to undulating, the Waikato affords ample scope for diversified farming. Flaxmills flourish in the district; even the pumice of the grassless areas is utilised for the manufacture of insulating material, and also of soap, and the coalmines of Huntly have a colonial reputation.

          
Other southern districts are also remarkable for their fertility. The alluvial flats of Opotiki and Whakatane grow magnificent and Whakatane grow magnificent crops of maize, and about Tauranga, and in other Bay of Plenty districts, wheat grows excellently, with yields that average from twenty-two to twenty-five bushels per acre. The maize crops average from forty-five to sixty bushels per acre, and oats run at about thirty bushels an acre. In the neighbourhood of Tauranga, oranges, lemons, figs, grapes, and other subtropical fruits all grow in the open air. Cattle and sheep thrive in almost all the settlements, and the Poverty Bay, or Gisborne district, is one of the finest and wealthiest pastoral areas of the colony.

          
It is the southern districts, too, which contain the celebrated goldmining areas. Thames, Coromandel, Waihi, Karangahake, Paeroa, Waitekauri, and other places in the Hauraki Peninsula have added millions upon millions to the wealth of the colony, and have been ample contributors to the prosperity of the provincial district of Auckland. As an industry goldmining is, no doubt, subject to serious fluctuations, but it has, nevertheless, the effect of contributing to the permanent prosperity of the country through the impetus it gives to the cultivation of the land, and the markets it creates for the products of the farmer and the pastoralist in the earlier stages of settlement. Hence, though the mining industry were to collapse utterly, the good it has done would long survive it; but it is still full of life, and of promise that it will continue to add to the prosperity of Auckland for many a long day. An examination of the mining section of this work—placed for convenience within the limits of the city of Auckland—will show that faith is justified by works in this matter.

          
Auckland's crowning claim to fame with the world at large lies in its southern districts, in the hot springs region and geyserland between the lakes of Rotorua and Taupo. There are thermal and volcanic areas outside of these limits, but the district mentioned is the heart of wonderland. The Aroha, with its mineral baths, its public domain, and romantic forest-clad mountain—the name means Mountain of Love—the hot springs at Waiwera, Okoroire, Waingaro, and the Waitomo caves, are all in the southern districts, and would make them famous independently of the Rotoura-Taupo country; but this is such a region of marvels, that, to it, they are as the stars to the sun. Unrivalled forest scenery, great mountains, romantic gorges and gullies, lakes of unsurpassed loveliness, active geysers, and extinct and unextinct volcanoes, steam vents and boiling pools—these are the prevailing features of the Hot Lakes districts, which have, besides, mineral springs and baths capable of curing well nigh all the physical ailments of humankind. These benefits, too, are made available under the advanced conditions of science and civilisation, so that invalids may regain health and tourists enjoy nature, in one of the weirdest regions of the earth, with as much personal convenience as they could at a German spa or in an English valley. With such sanatoria and such scenic wonders, and extensive forests, great areas of rich and still unsettled land, and other resources possessed by them, there is, beyond all doubt, a very exceptional future before the southern districts of the great province of Auckland.
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Onehunga.

            

              
              


                

                  
Onehunga
                
                is a maritime borough on the Manukau harbour, and lies about eight miles south from Auckland. It is of historic interest, inasmuch as it was originally settled by military pensioners, but its progress has not been so rapid as many other provincial towns, owing, probably, to its nearness to Auckland, with which it is connected by rail and road, and a coach line and a tram service successfully compete with the railway. It is connected with the south by a road across the Mangere bridge, which spans the Manukau, and by rail, via Penrose Junction. The surroundings of Onehunga are very beautiful. Mount Mangere rises on the southern portion of the Manukau, One Tree Hill stands high on the northern horizon, and on the west the Waitakerei Ranges run down to the sea. The broad expanse of the Manukau harbour stretches for eighteen miles to the heads, and it was in these waters that the ill-fated H.M.S. “Orpheus” was wrecked, on the 7th of February, 1863, with the loss of 181 lives. The pastoral country surrounding the town is clothed in a smiling green; the soil is volcanic, and there are many substantial farms in the vicinity.

              
Within the borough there are many handsome private residences. Building is being industriously carried on; and in July, 1901, a new post and telegraph office, and a new public school were in course of erection. Among the churches there are St. Peter's Anglican Church, the Church of the Assumption (Roman Catholic), Presbyterian, Wesleyan, and Congregational Churches, and a Salvation Army Barracks. The large public school has over 600 scholars on the roll, with an average attendance of about 560. There is also St. Mary's (Roman Catholic) Boys' School, and the Sisters of Mercy conduct a school at the Convent. The industries in and about the town include a woollen factory, tanneries, sawmills, and iron


[image: Onehunga Wharves.]

Onehunga Wharves.





foundries. Extensive ironworks were erected for treating the Taranaki iron-sand, but they did not prove a success. The harbour of Manukau is under the control of the Government Marine Department, but there is a strong feeling in Onehunga that it should be managed by the Auckland Harbour Board. There is considerable shipping at the port, and at the present time (July, 1901) the wharfage accommodation is far from being sufficient. Steamers and other vessels ply constantly between Onehunga and other New Zealand ports.

            

            

              
              


                

Sir George Maurice O'Rorke,
                K. Bach., Speaker of the House of Representatives, has sat in parliament for Manukau for many years. He was first elected speaker in 1879, in succession to Sir William Fitzherbert, K.C.M.G. He was speaker of the house in five successive parliaments until replaced in the new parliament of 1891 by Hon. Major Steward. He was, however, reelected to his old honourable post in the parliaments of 1893 and 1899. Sir Maurice O'Rorke has always enjoyed the confidence of all sides of the house, not only for his firmness and impartiality, but also through his entensive knowledge of parliamentary procedure and legislative jurisprudence.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Borough Of Onehunga
                
                has an area of 1200 acres and the estimated annual value of the ratable property is £16,512. A general rate of Is in the £ is levied, and the total annual revenue is about £3400. Onehunga has the distinction of being the first town in the British dominions to be presided over by a lady mayor. It was proclaimed a borough in 1877, and Mr. D. Jackson was elected the first mayor. He was followed by Messrs Waller, Codlin, Dr. Scott, Dr. Erson, Messrs C. C. Fleming, Michael Yates, Mrs Yates, and the present mayor, Mr. D. A. Sutherland. Mr. R. Richardson has filled the positions of Town Clerk, Valuator, Treasurer, and Rate Collector for the past eight years. Mr. Alfred Hunt is the Borough Inspector, Dr. W. G. Scott, the Health Officer, and Captain J. Neale, the Harbourmaster. At the census of April, 1901, the borough had a population of 3015.
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His Worship The Mayor, Mr. 
Donald Alexander Sutherland,
                was Mayor before from 1895 to 1897, and proved himself one of the best mayors that ever administered the affairs of the borough. He worked hard to carry a loan to supply the outside districts with water, and several necessary reforms were accomplished during his term of office. But for the firm stand taken by Mr. Sutherland the present cemetery would have been lost to the district, as some of the residents did their best to get the reserve set aside as a sports ground. Mr. Sutherland was born in Onehunga, and is a son of the late Mr. D. A. Sutherland. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and afterwards went to Australia, whence he subsequently returned and settled on his farm at Te Papa, Onehunga. Mr. Sutherland is well and favourably known in the district, and takes great interest in yachting.
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Councillor William Colledge
                
               
 has held a seat on the Onehunga Borough Council since 1890, having been re-elected each time he has offered his services, and has proved himself to be an energetic and straightforward representative of the burgesses. During his various terms of office the township has seen the introduction of gas and water, and miles of new footpaths have been formed under his personal supervision as chairman of the streets committee. Mr. Colledge is a son of the late Mr. John Simpson Colledge, a very old and respected settler in Onehunga. He was born in Derbyshire, England, came to New Zealand with his parents in 1847, and has resided continuously in Onehunga. He was brought up to a farming life. Mr. Colledge has been one of the most progressive members of the council, and has always warmly supported anything to assist in the advancement of Onehunga. He has in the past been connected with the local Friendly Societies. Mr. Colledge has now retired from active employment. He resides
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on his property, “Seaview,” Neilson Street, and devotes the greater part of his time to the affairs of the borough.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor William Henry Edwards
                
                was elected to the Borough Council of Onehunga in January, 1901. He is a native of Tasmania, and has been settled since 1866 in Onehunga, where he follows the building trade.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor C. V. Hill
                
                has been associated with the advocacy of the water supply scheme for Onehunga, and with other good work in the Council. He resides at Ellerslie, where he is caretaker of the racecourse.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Edmond Kelsall,
                who headed the poll at the Onenunga Borough Council election, on the 24th of April, 1901, is a new member of that body. Mr. Kelsall carries on business in Queen Street, Onehunga, as a painter and house decorator.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor Colin McLeod
                
                was elected to the Onehunga Borough Council in 1898. He was born in Ontario, Canada, and was for some time engaged in railway construction. He settled in Onehunga in 1895, and his residence, “Dunvegan,” is situated in Upper Queen Street.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor John Norman Rishworth
                
                was elected as a Member of the Onehunga Borough Council at the election of April, 1901. He is referred to elsewhere as a dentist.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Rowe,
                J.P., has, with the exception of about two years, been continuously a member of the Onehunga Borough Council since the year 1883. At the election of 1900 he was elected at the head of the poll, although absent from the district at the time. He has always taken an intelligent and keen interest in anything appertaining to the progress and welfare of the town, and was one of the principal promoters of the water works scheme, which he materially helped to bring to a successful issue. Mr. Rowe was also prominently identified at a subsequent period with the proposal to extend the water supply to the outlying districts, and, as a memento of his energies in that direction, was presented with a pictorial souvenir illustrative of the highly successful poll of the ratepayers taken in connection with the question. Mr. Rowe is a native of Cornwall, England, where he served an apprenticeship as a joiner. In 1874 he came out to New Zealand and worked as a journeyman for about three years, when he started in business for himself at Onehunga as a contractor. Few men in his line have been more successful. His strict integrity and devotion to the interests of his clients soon brought him into the front rank, and his name is a synonym for straightforward dealing and faithful workmanship. A large number of the leading places of business and public buildings in Onehunga, including the Borough Council Chambers, as well as numerous residences, have been erected by him. More recently he has been kept fully occupied with extensive building contracts in the country, and mining districts, and always employs a large staff of workmen. In addition to filling public positions, Mr. Rowe has served the cause of education in his own district as a member of the public school committee. He is a member of the Finance, the Streets, and the Cemetery Committees of the Borough Council, and, in the absence of the Mayor, is almost invariably chosen to preside over meetings of the Council, a position which he fills with marked efficiency. Mr. Rowe was made a Justice of the Peace in 1901.
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Councillor James Shaldrick,
               
 a progressive member of the Onehunga Borough Council, was elected in 1888, and has worked hard for the welfare and advancement of the
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town. It was on Mr. Shaldrick's motion that the necessity for dredging the approaches to the wharf was brought before the Government, with the result that the Westport Harbour Board's dredge was chartered, and the depth of water at the wharf considerably increased. Mr. Shaldrick was born and educated at Onehunga, and served for two years in the grocery business. He then spent twelve months at sea, which he left to gain a knowledge of the timber business, under the late Mr. M. H. Roe. In 1881 he joined Mr. Alfred Barnes, agent for the Union and Northern Shipping Companies, as shipping clerk, and has remained with him ever since. As a member of the Ancient Order of Foresters, Court No. 5261, Mr. Shaldrick has been through all the chairs, and is the delegate to the Auckland District Court, in which he is a P.D.C.R. He also represents the strength of the Foresters' Courts at the United Friendly Societies' conference, which meets monthly.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Stoupe,
                Member of the Onehunga Borough Council, was returned at the election of April, 1901. He was formerly a member of the Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Dickenson Jackson,
                first Mayor of Onehunga, was born at Edmonton, Middlesex, England, in 1821, and was the second son of Mr. Samuel Jackson, a member of the London Stock Exchange. He arrived in Auckland in March, 1859, by the ship “Excelsior,” which was 107 days on the voyage. Before Onehunga became a borough, Mr. Jackson held the position of clerk and chairman of the road board. In 1868, he made the first valuation of the town which was incorporated into a borough in 1877. Mr. Jackson was elected the first mayor without opposition; subsequently he held the office again and was also a councillor. In connection with St. Peters, Onehunga, he held the office of people's churchwarden for fourteen years, and was lay secretary of the Auckland Diocesan Synod from 1873 to 1899, when he resigned.

            

            

              
              


                

Dr. William Robert Close Erson,
                M.D., occupied the Mayoral Chair of Onehunga for seven years, and during that time he made important improvements in connection with the Council's business. It was during his first year of office, in 1887–8, that the sum of £5000 was borrowed to complete the water supply—a most successful and necessary undertaking. The Council Chambers were erected during his term of office, and the decision to proceed with them was arrived at on the casting vote of the mayor. In all public matters Dr. Erson was careful and prompt, and in social functions exceptionally happy. As Mayor of Onehunga he paid official visits to the Earl of Onslow, Earl of Glasgow, Admiral Fairfax and other distinguished personages. Dr. Erson was Mayor in 1898–9, and in November, 1899, when he was opposed by Mrs. Yates, he was reelected by a majority of two to one. In 1886 Dr. Erson was appointed a Justice of the Peace by the Atkinson Government, but about the middle of 1901 he resigned that and other public appointments.
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Captain Michael Yates
                
                was elected to the Onehunga Borough Council in 1885 and sat till 1888, when he was elected Mayor, but owing to ill-health he was compelled to resign the chair in January, 1892. Captain Yates deserves credit for many improvements effected during his long connection with the Council. Many very important works were carried out, without resort to borrowing. He claims to have considerably improved the financial position of the borough, as well as to have inaugurated the system of lighting the town with gas. Captain Yates was born in Larnock, Scotland, and on his voyage to Victoria in 1852 was shipwrecked in the Gulf of St. Vincent, near Port Adelaide. The following year he came to New Zealand, where he engaged in the coastal trade and afterwards with the South Sea Islands, in connection with which he was in command of the “Industry” and, subsequently, of the “Jessie Nicol,” which was built at the North Shore for the firm of Messrs Nicol and Yates. Captain Yates was also at one time owner and master of the brig “Coronet.” In 1874, owing to ill-health, he gave up the sea after a most successful career, during which he neither lost a life nor a ship. In 1879 he took charge of the brigantine “Clansman,” for a trip to Melbourne, and with that exception he has led a retired life for nearly a quarter of a century. Captain Yatos is a member of the Masonic fraternity.

            

            

              
              


                

Mrs. Elizabeth Yates,
                Ex-Mayor of Onehunga, has probably excited more public interest than any other lady in New Zealand. She was not only the first of her sex to fill a civic chair in New Zealand, but she can also claim to have been the only lady mayor in the British Empire. During her term of office she received many distinguished visitors from other parts of the world, and has received letters in different languages testifying to the widespread interest taken in the circumstance of a lady fulfilling the function of a chief magistrate. By virtue of her office Mrs. Yates was a Justice of the Peace, the only lady Justice in the British dominions. This fact was referred to in a letter which Mrs. Yates received from Queen Victoria, who expressed her satisfaction at the position achieved by women in New Zealand. Mrs. Yates was born in Caithness, Scotland, and is the daughter of the late Mr. Oman, who emigrated with his family to New Zealand when she was quite young. Subsequent to the death of her father in 1875, she married Captain Yates, and has resided within a few yards of the old homestead ever since. At the expiration of one of Dr. Erson's terms as mayor of Onehunga, she contested the election, and, as a local paper phrased it, “went in with flying colours.” It is stated that the council was in debt at that time to the extent of £800, which was liquidated and a sinking fund established and increased to £200 in the twelve months. The fire brigade, which had been disbanded, was reorganised, and the returns show that more money was spent on roads and footpaths during Mrs. Yates' mayoralty than in any previous term.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Joseph Hastie,
                who sat on the Onehunga Borough Council in 1882, has been connected with public life for many years. He was chairman of the Highway Board, and was connected with that body for twenty-six years. Mr. Hastie is a native of London-derry, Ireland, and came out to Australia with his wife in 1855. He returned to his native land in 1856, but came back to New Zealand three years later, when he took up land at Te Papa, where he has remained ever since. Mr. Hastie has done much for Onehunga, and had his share of the rough life the early pioneers were subject to. Both Mr. and Mrs Hastie are well known in the district, and are deservedly popular.
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Mr. George Hankins James
                
                was a Member of the Onehunga Borough Council from 1884 to 1886, and he also served for a few months in 1900, when he resigned the position. Mr. James was amongst the proposition. Mr. James was amongst the progressive members who introduced the water scheme, which was eventually carried against strong opposition. He was born in Onehunga in 1859, and brought up to the trade of a builder, which he followed as a journeyman until 1880, when he commenced business on his own account. Mr. James has erected several of the prominent business places at Onehunga, such as the bank, Rishworth's Buildings, and many other places. Mr. James still takes a lively interest in public matters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. George Vause
                
                was a Member of the Onehunga Borough Council in 1899–1900, when he strongly advocated many progressive works of great advantage to the district. He was an independent member of the council, and to show his disapproval of the action of the council in letting the park for grazing purposes, instead of making improvements and encouraging sport, he resigned his position as a councillor in 1900. Mr. Vause was born in the King Country, and is a son of the late Mr. G. Vause, a well known settler of the Raglan district. He received his education from a private tutor, and completed his studies under the Rev. G. Brown. For some time he followed a seafaring life, but afterwards turned his attention to sawmilling, and for twenty-five years he has been connected with various mills in the Auckland district. Mr. Vause came to Onehunga in 1888, and has the contract for cutting and dressing timber at the Kauri Timber Co.'s mill. He is a member of the Onehunga school committee, and a director of the Onehunga Perpetual Land Building and Investment Society.
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Onehunga Rifle Volunteers.
                The services of this corps were accepted by the Government in July, 1898, and it is now one of the most efficient corps in the Auckland district. Through the personal efforts of the members they have made a rifle range, and obtained a good drill hall. The officers of the corps are Captain W. N. McIntosh, Lieutenants James Robb and John Ward. Non-commissioned officers: Colour-Sergeant J. T. Williams, Sergeants Richardson, N. Browne, Ormrod, and Whyte; Corporals Barker, Brown, Strong, and Jackson. The Rey. Canon Haselden is honorary chaplain to the corps, and Dr. W. R. Close Erson is surgeon-captain. There are eleven marksmen in the company and twenty first class shots. Nine members of the company went with the New Zealand contingents to the war in South Africa. The company's finances show a substantial balance to its credit after providing for all liabilities. Corporal Browne was appointed Regimental Sergeant-Major to the Fourth New Zealand Contingent, and Private Colhoun Sergeant in the Fifth, for South Africa.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Harbour Of Manukau
                
                is not controlled by a Board, but is under the supervision of the Marine Department. Captain J. Neale is the present harbour master.

            

            

              
              


                
Post Office.
                Onehunga was established originally as a pensioners' settlement on the shores of the Manukau, and, fifty years ago it did not require a very large staff to deal with its mail matter, which consisted, perhaps, of half-a-dozen letters a month. At the present day, in consequence of its being the chief medium of communication between Auckland and the south, the mails which pass through the Onehunga post office average some thousands of bags a month, besides the local correspondence for about 3000 inhabitants. The office has the customary money order, savings bank, and telegraph branches, and old military pensioners have given way to Old Age pensioners as recipients of monthly payments. The present postmaster, Mr. George J. Browne, is one of the oldest officers in the service, having joined in 1861, and passed in succession through the offices at Dunedin, Hokitika, Auckland, Gisborne and Napier. His staff consists of two clerks, two letter carriers, and two messengers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George J. Browne,
                eldest son of Mr. Joseph Browne, sometime conductor of the Auckland Choral Society, was born in 1840. He assisted his father in establishing the Auckland Choral Society, and has been organist and choirmaster of St. Mark's, Remuera; St. Paul's and All Saints, Dunedin; All Saints, Hokitika; St. Mary's, Auckland; Holy Trinity, Gisborne; and St. John's, Napier. He has also conducted musical societies and concerts in each of these towns. Mr. Browne is a prominent Freemason, and takes great interest in the welfare and prosperity of the province of Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                
Onehunga Public School.
                This school was one of the first suburban schools established under the Auckland Board of Education. It was opened by Mr. Alexander Grant, M.A., who held the position of headmaster for several years. The school was very successfully conducted by him; the children doing good work and obtaining scholarships. After Mr. Grant's appointment to the High School at Waimate, Mr. John Gurr was appointed to the headmastership, and ably conducted the school up to the time of his death. Mr R. D. Stewart was the next headmaster, and under him the school kept up its reputation for good work and for obtaining scholarships. In 1897 Mr. Stewart was appointed headmaster of the Wellesley Street school, Auckland, and Mr. William N. McIntosh, the present headmaster, who conducted the Epsom school with marked success for eleven years, was appointed to succeed him. Under Mr. McIntosh's management the school has fully kept up its reputation in every respect. The Board is now (1900) on the point of erecting a new school building with class-rooms, lighted and ventilated on the most scientific principles. The school has a flag staff with a brass plate, containing the names of the sixteen men, volunteers and civilians, who went to the war in South Africa, from Onehunga and Mangere. Its cost was subscribed by the school children, the Onehunga Rifles, and the Onehunga Fire Brigade.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William N. McIntosh,
                the Headmaster of the Onehunga Public School, is a native of Auckland. He joined the Auckland Education Board in 1880, and was appointed to his present position in 1896. Mr. McIntosh was one of the founders of the Onehunga Rifles, of which he is captain.

            

            

              
              


                
St. Peter's Church,
                Onehunga. This church is one of the oldest in the diocese of Auckland, and was built in 1848. It is seated for 300 adults and has a distinctively ecclesiastical aspect. The present vicar is the Rev. Canon Haselden. Adjacent is a stone schoolhouse, which was the first stone school erected in the diocese, and has accommodation for 150 adults. Under the present vicar the church, school, and the fine parsonage of sixteen rooms, have been put into excellent order.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. John Haselden,
                Vicar of St. Peter's Church, Onehunga, and Canon of Auckland Cathedral, was born at Notting Hill, London, in 1854, and arrived in Auckland with his father in 1860. He was educated at the Rev. Dr. Kidd's collegiate school, and passed through a three-years' course as a theological student at St. John's College, Auckland, under the Rev. John Kinder, D.D. He was ordained deacon by Bishop Cowie in 1877, and priest in 1879. Mr. Haselden was assistant minister of St. Sepulchre's parish for three years, incumbent of St. Luke's Church, Mount Albert, for five years, and was Organising Clergyman and Diocesan Missionary for eleven years, when he accepted the cure of St. Peter's, Onehunga. When the s.s. “Wairarapa” was wrecked in 1894, on the Great Barrier, Canon Haselden accompanied the police rescue party to the scene of the disaster, and remained there for three weeks, during which eighty-five bodies were recovered from the sea and received Christian burial. Canon Haselden was married in 1882 to a daughter of the late Hon. J. A. Gilfillan, M.L.C.

            

            

              
              


                
Wesleyan Church,
                Onehunga. The original church, which was afterwards used as the school, was erected as early as 1850, and replaced by the present building in 1877. It is situated in Grey Street, Onehunga, and can accommodate 250 persons. An efficient choir, under the leadership of Mr. J. Laking, is assisted by an American organ. The Onehunga church is the headquarters of the Manukau circuit, in which there are four other churches; namely, Otahuhu, Mangere, Woodside and Flat Bush. The Sunday school recently erected is one of the best appointed buildings of the kind to be found in the Auckland district. It comprises a large assembly hall with six class-rooms besides adequate provision for the duties of the secretary and librarian. Here the work of the school, Christian Endeavour Society and Band of Hope is vigorously carried out. The parsonage, which adjoins the church, is an historical dwelling, built at Mangungu, Hokianga, in 1839, for the late Rev. Mr. Bumby, a pioneer missionary, and removed to its present site in 1856.

            

            

              
              


                
The Rev. Cornelius Griffin,
                who succeeded the Rev. S. Lawry in the charge of the Onehunga Wesleyan Church, was ordained to the ministry with Mr. Lawry at Nelson. Mr. Griffin was born in Birmingham, and became a probationer at Bedford. Arriving in New Zealand in 1879, he went to Auckland, and the Waikato, where he was stationed for about two years, during which he was ordained at Nelson, which he visited for the purpose. Mr. Griffin ministered at Waimate, Lawrence, Greymouth, Hokitika, Invercargill, Springston, and Leeston, prior to taking up his present charge.

            

            

              
              

                

Rev. Samuel Lawry,
               
 formerly Minister of the Wesleyan Church at Onehunga, and Superintendent of the Manukau Circuit, was born in Cornwall in 1854, and is the third son of Mr. Walter Lawry, of Springston, Canterbury — an octogenarian pioneer Colonist and a local
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Methodist preacher for upwards of fifty years. Mr. Lawry is descended from a clerical stock. He was educated specially for the ministry by the Rev. J. B. Richardson, of the Hutt, Wellington, afterwards became one of the first divinity students at the Wesley College, Three Kings, Auckland, and entered the ministry in 1877. His first charge was at Marton, and he has been successively stationed at Dunedin, Hokitika, Pukekohe, Te Aroha, Ashburton, Grafton Road, Onehunga, and his present charge at Palmerston North. Mr. Lawry takes an active interest in temperance work and the Christian Endeavour movement. He is a past member of the New Zealand Alliance, and introduced the Christian Endeavour movement in Ashburton, in 1892, and has since been president of the local society in every circuit where he has been in charge.

            

            

              
              


                
Congregational Church,
                Onehunga. The first Congregational Church at Onehunga was built in 1861. The late Mr. John Rout, senior, of Auckland, presented the congregation with a free gift of the ground, and a substantial building to seat 200 people. In February, 1861, the opening services were held, and the late Rev. R. Laishley became the pastor. He was succeeded by the late Rev. Thomas Hamer, who remained many years. On the resignation of Mr. Hamer, the church, not being in a position to maintain a pastor, depended on the services of supplies. In November, 1883, a call was tendered to and accepted by the Rev. H. Miller, now of Napier, and, the cause prospering, it was agreed to purchase the building now used in Queen Street. This building and the necessary alterations cost over £1000. The present pastor is the Rev. C. A. Lyon, late of Gore.

            

            

              
              


                
Lodge Manukau,
                No. 24, N.Z.C., Onehunga, has passed through many trials and troubles. It was established in 1872, and did some good work, but to pay off debts and accumulated interest, the Lodge had to part with the hall which it had built. However, the members managed to keep the Lodge alive, and it is now making good progress. In fact, Masonry at Onehunga is doing its duty in connection with the cultivation of universal good will, the brotherhood of man, works of charity and the relief of distressed brethren; and the Lodge is practically free from debt.

            

            

              
              


                
Rishworth, J. N.,
                Dental-Surgeon, Queen Street, Onehunga. Mr. Rishworth was born in Blenheim in 1876 and educated at the Nelson College. He served a three years' apprenticeship with Mr. A. W. Tatton, and finished his dental education with Mr. C. J. Deek, formerly of the London Dental Hospital. He then acted as 
locum tenens for Mr. Gresham in Gore, Southland, until he sat for his examination, which he passed in Dunedin in 1897, and then came to Onehunga to commence the practice of his profession. Mr. Rishworth makes a specialty of gold filling and artificial teeth. His offices are tastefully fitted up and equipped with every modern appliance incidental to dental surgery. Mr. Rishworth is a member of the Borough Council; and also holds the position of Worshipful Master of Lodge Waiuku, No. 90, and Grand Master of the Loyal Manukau Lodge, I.O.O.F.,M.U.
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Smith, Tilson,
                Chemist, Onehunga. This flourishing business was established many years ago by Mr. T. B. Hill, and was purchased in 1889 by the present proprietor, under whose management it has made notable advances. In the dental branch of his business Mr. Smith has made a discovery by which teeth can be extracted by an entirely new process, which is absolutely painless. The following testimonial was written by a patient of Mr. Smith's, and as the writer was an entire stranger, what he says is all the more valuable as a testimony to Mr. Smith's skill and ability: “I, Richard White, as a traveller through the colony, hereby desire to take this way of showing my gratitude to Mr. Tilson Smith, chemist, of Onehunga, for having relieved me of intense pain from a badly ulcerated tooth, which was threatening to cause an abcess in the jaw. I could not resist my inclination to cheerfully give this testimonial as a slight recognition of his ability in his profession; and especially when I say that the operation of removing the tooth was entirely painless. Besides this, the charge for his consummate skill is most reasonable. I have had need of similar professional assistance in some of the chief cities of America, and have also travelled in Canada. China, and Japan, but I have never met with greater ability than Mr. Smith has proved himself to possess.” Mr. Smith is a native of Nottingham, England, and after receiving his education at Great Grimsby, he served his apprenticeship in Manchester. He came to New Zealand in 1881, and landed at Auckland. After spending twelve months in Mangere for his health, Mr. Smith joined Mr. Gardner (whose business is now owned by Mr. Haslett), as managing assistant. Mr. Smith subsequently filled various positions in his profession, in the first place at Blenheim in the South Island, and subsequently at Napier, and Wanganui. Finally he commenced business on his own account at Onehunga. As a Freemason Mr. Smith is a P.M. of the Onehunga Lodge. He has always taken a prominent part in musical circles, and is well known locally as an accomplished writer of verse.
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The Onehunga branch of the 
Auckland Savings Bank is a handsome two-storied building situated in Queen Street, and was erected in 1886 of red brick with Oamaru stone facings. It contains eight rooms, including a spacious banking chamber, office and private quarters for the manager. The cost of the premises was about £1500, and they were built to the design of Mr. E. Bartley, architect. The bank is open every afternoon and on Saturday mornings and evenings.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James William Watts,
                Agent of the Onehunga branch of the Auckland Savings Bank, was born in Sydney in 1865, and is the eldest son of Mr. W. J. Watts, of that city. He arrived in Onehunga at an early age and received his education at the district public school, was engaged in mercantile pursuits for five years, and in 1882 entered the service of the bank as a junior clerk, gradually working up to his present position, which he received at the opening of the branch in 1887. Mr. Watts is a member of the Onehunga Musical Society, and secretary of the Onehunga Congregational Church. In 1886 he married the eldest daughter of Mr. James Rout, of Te Papapa.

            

            

              
              


                

Jones, Adam,
                Architect and Builder, Queen Street, Onehunga. This business was



established by the proprietor in 1886. Mr. Jones has done a good deal of building in the district. The residence of Dr. Erson, long Mayor of Onehunga, and several of the leading business premises have been designed by him, notably Mr. F. Prime's fine shop, the block occupied by Mr. A. Hughes, and many other buildings. He was born in Yorkshire, England, and attended the Wakefield School of Art, where he gained several certificates and prizes for freehand geometry and building construction. Mr. Jones came to New Zealand in 1884, and since settling in Onehunga has worked up a good, and still steadily increasing business.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Hibernian Hotel
                
                (Robert Ternahan, proprietor), Queen Street, Onehunga. Mr. Ternahan is a native of Belfast, Ireland, and came to New Zealand in 1861 by the ship “Northern Bride.” In 1875 he settled in Onehunga, and has since then occupied the Hibernian Hotel. The “Hibernian” has a good name in the district, and Mr. Ternhan is well known as a courteous and hospitable landlord.

              

                

[image: Hibernian Hotel.]

Hibernian Hotel.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  Onehunga Boot Factory
                
                (Albert Hughes, proprietor), Onehunga. Branches: Ellerslie; and Hawera, Taranaki. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This extensive business has been worked up from a very modest beginning, and it speaks well for the energy and ability of Mr. Hughes that it is now one of the leading industries of Onehunga. The shop is built of brick, with double-fronted windows, in which splendid assortments of English and colonial boots and shoes are displayed. The factory is situated at the rear of the building, and has been specially erected by the proprietor to suit the boot manufacturing business. It has a floorage space of over 5000 feet, and all the latest machinery has been imported by Mr. Hughes, in order to cope with his fast increasing trade. Thirty-five hands are employed, and 25,000 pairs of boots are manufactured yearly. A traveller is kept constantly employed, and goods are sent as far south as Masterton.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Albert Hughes,
                the Proprietor, is a native of London, and came to New Zealand with his parents in 1867. He received his education in Auckland, and afterwards served his apprenticeship with Messrs Trenwith Bros., with whom he remained eleven years. Mr. Hughes is a prominent Forester, has been through all the chairs, and enacts the part of Robin Hood at the annual gala of the Order.
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                  The Onehunga Woollen Mills
                
                (James Park, manager), were erected in 1885 and were taken over by the existing company in 1889. The various departments of the factory are supplied with all the latest machinery. Fabrics such as blankets and tweeds manufactured at Onehunga have gained a high reputation in the colonial markets. The factory employs about ninety hands, and its annual output is valued at between £25,000 and £30,000. In Mr. J. Park the company has a very efficient and painstaking manager for its factory.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Park,
                Manager, was born at Galashiels, Selkirkshire, Scotland, in the year 1838. He served his apprenticeship in the Buckholm Spinning Mills and remained there four years after the completion of his articles, when he became foreman over the self-acting mules in Messrs P. and R. Sanderson's mills at Galashiels, a position he filled for fourteen years. In 1876, he was engaged by the Warrnambool Woollen Mill Company, of Victoria, to erect and take charge of its spinning and carding machinery. After the destruction of these mills by fire, Mr. Park obtained an appointment in the mills of Messrs Ross and Glendining at Dunedin. Some time afterwards he left their employment to take charge of the spinning and carding branch in the Oamaru Woolen Mills, where he remained for two years. On the establishment of the Onehunga Woollen Works in 1885, Mr. Park was appointed to fit up the carding and spinning machinery and continued at the works until the formation of the present company in 1889, when he was appointed manager. Mr. Park was married in the Old Country in 1860 and has six children.
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Wren, Charles Thomas,
               
 Nursery, man, Pah Road, Mount Roskill. Mr. Wren formerly owned the Mount Hobson Nursery, at Remuera, where he has four acres well stocked with nursery goods of every description, including permanently
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planted marmalade oranges, with which he had good success. From two to six men were constantly employed in the nursery. Mr. Wren was born in Hertfordshire in 1833, and educated at the Monnoux Grammar School, at Walthamstow, in Essex. Disliking the calling of his father, that of coach-building, he was, when fourteen years of age, placed to the gardening profession. In this he was very successful, and on completion of his apprenticeship he was placed as an improver and ultimately as a foreman in the celebrated gardens of the Duke of Sutherland at Trentham. While quite a young man he was entrusted with the management of some new gardens in Cheshire, and successfully carried them on for three years. He was then appointed to superintend the gardens of the Duke of Leinster at Carton, in Ireland, but relinquished the position after three years of approved management, to enter upon the duties of garden superintendent at Trentham. In 1859, Mr. Wren came to New Zealand and settled in Auckland as a nurseryman, and under his personal supervision the Mount Hobson nurseries earned a first-class reputation. He afterwards sold his Mount Hobson property, which was continued as an orangery, and he established himself at Mount Roskill on a portion of the Pah estate.

            

            

              
              


                

Jackson, George Joseph,
                Bookseller, Stationer, Fancy Goods Dealer, Queen Street, Onehunga, Agent for the London and Berlin Piano Company, Mutual Life Association of Australasia, Messrs A. Yates and Co, and the Norwich Union Fire Insurance Company. Telephone 486. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Jackson was born at Rotherham, Yorkshire, in 1834, and is the second son of Mr. Joseph Jackson, of Derbyshire. He was educated at various schools in England, and afterwards entered the great firm of Messrs Guest and Chirmes, brass-founders, etc., of Rotherham, in whose employment he remained for twenty-four years, until leaving England for Auckland in 1885, when he commenced business at Onehunga.
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The Kauri Timber Company,
                Onehunga, is a branch of the Auckland Kauri Timber Company. The branch manager is Mr. John Neill; the contractor for cutting and dressing, Mr. George Vause. About seventy hands are employed at the mill, twenty-eight by Mr. Vause, and over forty by the Kauri Timber Co. The output is about 70,000 feet of sawn timber and 35,000 to 40,000 feet of dressed timber weekly. Most of the kauri logs come from the Kaipara, and the company goes a large export business to the Raglan and Taranaki districts. Mr. George Vause is referred to elsewhere as an ex-councillor of the Onehunga Borough Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Neill,
                the popular Manager of the Onehunga Branch of the Kauri Timber Company, was born at Greenoch, Scotland, and learned the timber business under his father. When he came to New Zealand Mr. Neill found the condition of the timber trade and the kinds of timber handled, entirely different from those he had been accustomed to in the Old Country, and in order to master the whole business afresh in the colony, he started again at the bottom of the ladder, and has, since joining the Kauri Timber Company, in 1899, worked his way up to his present position. Mr. Neill is well known in Onehunga and districts, and takes an interest in all matters bearing on the welfare and advancement of the community.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain John Robertson,
                Old Colonist, was born at Dundee, Scotland, in 1859. After receiving his education he was apprenticed to the Thompson Company line of sailing ships, and on completing his apprenticeship he obtained a second mate's certificate. When nineteen years old he was appointed second mate of the “Downie Count,” trading to America. He went to Canada and sailed as an officer on board several of the lake vessels there. Captain Robertson sailed to Australia as second mate of the “Assayer,” which was lost at the Chatham Islands in 1883. Shortly afterwards he came to Auckland and received an engagement with the Northern Steamship Company, first as officer, and subsequently as master. During the time he was in the Company's steamship “Iona,” that vessel broke her shaft, while at the Chesterfield Group, and he volunteered to set out in an open boat to Noumea, in New Caledonia—a distance of 600 miles—for assistance; and, after a perilous voyage of twelve days, he successfully accomplished his task, and brought a French man-of-war to the relief of the disabled vessel. In 1894 he was appointed harbour master at Manukau, and held the position for a number of years. He left Wellington in February, 1898, for Vancouver, bound for the Klondyke, and after many adventures there and elsewhere, returned to New Zealand in July, 1901. Captain Robertson has always taken a great interest in yachting, and he is a member of the Masonic Lodge at Manukau. He resides in Selwyn Street, Onehunga, is married, and has a family of three.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Archibald Smith,
                an old Auckland Colonist, residing at Te Papapa, Onehunga, was born in the parish of Jedburgh, Roxburghshire, Scotland, in 1839, and is the eldest son of Mr. Turnbull Smith, farm bailiff. Mr. Smith was educated at the South Dean School, Roxburgh, and afterwards was employed in farming until leaving his native land in 1859, per troopship “Sir George Pollock,” which brought out a detachment of the 65th Regiment to New Zealand. Mr. Smith landed in Auckland in September, 1859, and was engaged by the well-known firm of Messrs Henderson and Macfarlane, to work at their bush and mills, at Henderson. He remained with that firm until engaged by Mr. David, sawmill owner, of Titirangi. In 1860, he proceeded to Cabbage Bay to assist in erecting a mill and to open up the bush. He went to Mercury Bay in 1861 under engagement to Messrs Schappe and Ansenne, millowners, and remained in that district for twenty-four years as employee and afterwards bush contractor. The mills were taken over by the Kauri Timber Company in 1888, and Mr. Smith was appointed bush and mill manager to the company. He retained that position until 1891, when he purchased his present property at Te Papapa, near Onehunga, and has ever since lived in retirement. Mr. Smith was closely identified with mining ventures, and assisted Kawhera, a native prospector, to develop the celebrated Try Fluke claim at Kuaotunu; subsequently he became director of the company at its formation in 1890, and retained office until the mine was sold to an English company. He also held large interests in the Kapai—now the Kapai-Vermont mine, in the Great Mercury, and is a large shareholder in the Waita Mine, Kuaotunu. Mr. Smith was a member of the Coromandel County Council for a number of years.
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Ellerslie.

            

              
              


                

                  
Ellerslie
                
                is situated about two miles to the east of Mount Eden, and borders on the eastern extremity of Remuera, of which it is really a continuation even in the matter of its scenic characteristics. The Ellerslie racecourse, situated on the western boundary of the district, and occupying a small area of level country amidst surrounding hills, is reputed to be one of the best in the colony. There is one commodious hotel in the district, which all round gives promise of a prosperous future.

            

            

              
              


                
Ellerslie Public School.
                This school has been established ever since the Education Act came into force. A number of years ago the old building was sold, as it proved too small to accommodate the children of the district. A new site consisting of three acres was purchased by the Board of Education and a new school erected at a cost of over £1000. The building contains three large rooms and two class rooms, and the former are built to accommodate eighty scholars in each. The number on the roll at present is 158, with an average attendance of 128. The staff consists of the headmaster, an assistant, and two pupil-teachers. Ellerslie was the only public school that gained the gold medal (first and special award) for freehand, model and geometrical drawing, at the Auckland Exhibition of 1898–99.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Evan Richards Lillington,
                Headmaster, Ellerslie School, is a native of Southampton, and was trained for the teaching profession at a very early age at the Wareham national school. At the time of his passing the preliminary examinations he was only thirteen. After passing the usual examinations, he went to South Africa, where he remained for five years as headmaster of the Paarl and Kaffir College, Cape Town. On his return to England, he was engaged as assistant and headmaster respectively in large London schools. After ten years of London experience, he sailed for Sydney, New South Wales, where he was appointed assistant master to the Wesley College, Parramatta River. Thence he was appointed first assistant to the model school, South Australia, but he found the climate too trying, and decided to come over to New Zealand, where he has been engaged for more than twenty years. His last school under the Wellington Board, was the largest in the province, namely, the Newtown school, which he gave up to visit England. On his return to the Colony, he decided to make Auckland his home, and was appointed to the Tauranga school, which he left to enter his present appointment at Ellerslie. Many of Mr. Lillington's old boys are in prominent positions in various parts of the world.
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                  Ellerslie Hotel
                
                (Thomas Enwright, proprietor), Ellerslie. This hotel is situated opposite the Railway Station, in the pretty suburban township of Ellerslie, about five miles from the city of Auckland, on the man south line. The building is of two stories, with a promenade balcony. There are stables attached to the hotel. Under the capable management of its proprietor, the Ellerslie Hotel has become very popular with visitors and travellers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Enwright,
                the present Proprietor, was born in Kerry, Ireland, in 1859, and when he came to New Zealand in 1877 he made the province of Auckland his home. He was engaged in various callings for some years, and his first experience in hotel keeping was at Mercury Bay. After selling his business there he went to the Thames, where he engaged in mining, but returned to Auckland a few years later. He was then for some time in charge of the Northcote Hotel, whence he went to the Thames, where he took the Duke of Edinburgh Hotel, which he sold at the end of twelve months, to buy the Wharf Hotel, which he carried on till 1897, when he again sold out, and took over the Thistle Hotel in Queen Street, whence he moved into his present house. Mr. Enwright has for many years been a prominent member of the Waikato Lodge of Oddfellows, and he takes a great interest in football and athletics generally. He married Miss O'Reilly, an early resident of the Thames, and they have seven children.
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Howick.

            

              
              


                

                  
Howick
                
                is situated on a beautiful bay facing the sunrise, ten miles south-east from Auckland, the distance by road, via Panmure and Ellerslie, being thirteen miles. It was one of the Pensioner villages founded in 1847 for the defence of Auckland, and the earthworks of the old redoubt still remain on Stockade Hill, overlooking the village. From this hill there is a magnificent view of the surrounding country and the Hauraki Gulf. In October, 1863, the Maoris killed two boys of eleven years and eight years of age—sons of a settler, named Trust, at the head of the bay, Turanga Creek—but no fighting occurred at Howick itself. The opening of the Thames goldfields caused Howick to become literally a deserted village, but it is now again prospering and bids fair to be the favourite watering place of the city of Auckland, its great need being quicker and better means of communication. A wharf of 900 feet long has been erected, but cannot be used at low tide until a further extension of 300 feet is added. There are Anglican, Roman Catholic, and Presbyterian Churches, two public schools—one in the village and the other situated at Pakuranga—a public library, and an Institute with good reading and recreation rooms. The Marine Hotel is a large and well conducted house, with fine views both seaward and landward. Howick has a population of about 250 persons. There are many handsome buildings in the vicinity, among them being the old Melanesian College, erected originally at Kohimarama by Bishop Patteson, and removed and re-erected at Howick in 1899 by the present vicar, who is always pleased to allow visitors to inspect this interesting building, so closely connected with the early history of New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

The Hon. Every Maclean,
                some-time of Bleak House, Howick, Auckland, was born in Cornwall, England, in 1819, and came to New Zealand, along with his brother, the late Mr. Robert Maclean, by the ship “Constantinople,” in 1840. The vessel was bound for Canterbury, but put into Auckland for repairs, and the Messrs Maclean, meeting acquaintances in Auckland, decided to settle there. They acquired a large property in East Tamaki, and, in conjunction with Messrs James Williamson and Thomas Russell, carried on extensive farming operations in the Cambridge district, Waikato, under the style of Maclean and Co., afterwards the Auckland Agricultural Company, Limited. Mr. Every Maclean formed and commanded the Howick Yeomanry Cavalry Corps during the war. He was a Justice of the Peace, was for many years a member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and was at one time Acting-Superintendent of the Province. Mr. Maclean was called to the Legislative Council in 1873, but ceased to be a member, through absence, in 1876. For nearly fifty years his name has been a household word throughout New Zealand and the Australian colonies, as that of a successful breeder and importer of Hereford and Shorthorn cattle, Clydesdale horses, and Leicester and Down sheep. Mr. Maclean died at Auckland on the 12th of August, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Hon. Colonel Stephen Ponsonby Peacocke
                
                was the eldest son of Colonel Stephen Peacocke, of the Scots Fusilier Guards, and was born in England in 1813. He entered the army and served with his regiment, the 25th (King's Own Borderers), in India. On obtaining his commission as Major he exchanged into the 59th Regiment, and shortly afterwards retired from the army. In 1858 he came out with his wife and family to New Zealand, and after a short stay in the province of Canterbury he removed to Auckland in 1859. He bought some land near the Pensioner Settlement of Howick, East Tamaki, where he lived until his death in 1872. When the Maori war broke out in the Waikato, Major Peacocke, as an ex-military officer, offered his services to the Government, and was given command of the 3rd Battalion of the Auckland Militia with the rank of Colonel. He commanded the district extending from Wairoa South to Otahuhu, a line which at the beginning of the war was practically “the front,” defended by Galloway's and St. John's redoubts. After the war was over Colonel Peacocke entered the Auckland Provincial Council, and became Crown and Waste Lands Commissioner. He was called to the Legislative Council in 1866 and attended several sessions of Parliament in Wellington, where he became known as a polished and effective speaker. Colonel Peacocke left four sons and two daughters. Three of the sons and one daughter are at the present time residents of Auckland, and the fourth son has been for many years settled in New South Wales. Colonel Peacocke was one of those early settlers who devoted to the public service highly cultivated minds, guided by those principles of public honour and integrity, which are characteristic of English gentlemen.
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All Saints Church,
                Howick, is one of the oldest church buildings now in use in New Zealand; both in appearance and situation it is strikingly picturesque. The framework, windows, etc., were all prepared at St. John's College, and then brought by water to the Howick beach in 1848, when Bishop Selwyn himself carried much of the material ashore. In 1862 a south aisle was added, but it was not until 1898 that the church was actually finished by the inner lining being completed, and it became what it now is—the quaintest and prettiest of Auckland churches. The building and churchyard are admirably cared for. The first vicar was the Rev. F. Fisher, who was succeeded, in 1850, by the Rev. V. Lush, afterwards Archdeacon of Waikato. Then, in 1866, came the Rev. R. A. Hall, who remained in charge until March, 1882, when the Rev. R. O. C. Biggs became vicar for one year, and was followed in February, 1883, by the Rev. Thomas Farley. In 1888 the Rev. A. C. Fox was appointed, and in 1893 the Rev R. G. Boler succeeded him, and is still



(1900) in charge. The east window—subject, “The Transfiguration”—was erected by the parishioners as a memorial of the late Mr. Robert Maclean, of Bleak House.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Robert Gooddine Boler,
                Vicar of Howick, was born at Sheffield, England, in 1850; educated at the private school of the Rev. L. Incledon, M.A. (afterwards headmaster of Southwell Grammar school) and at the Manchester Grammar school. At the age of sixteen he had reached the Upper Remove of that school and it appeared probable that he would shortly proceed to Oxford to read for Holy Orders. He had, however, to take his place as manager of the Richmond Street Engineering Works, Manchester, which were at that time the property of his father, and remained there until the continued ill-health of his father compelled the family to emigrate to New Zealand in 1871. At the request of the present Primate, Mr. Boler entered St. John's College, Auckland, and was ordained deacon in 1883, and priest in 1884. His first charge was Coromandel, of which district he was appointed minister in 1884. His first charge was Coromandel, of which district he was appointed minister in 1884; he afterwards removed to Waikato West, in 1886, and having suffered severely by exposure and work in the King Country, was compelled to move northward to Wairoa North in 1890. He was appointed vicar of Howick in January, 1893. Although Mr. Boler still feels the effects of former overwork, he is so fortunate as to have the help of a large staff of seven lay readers, and other zealous coadjutors, so the church's work in his large district is well cared for.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Hugh Kerr Gilmour,
                “The Beach,” Howick, is a retired manufacturer, who resides at this fashionable and salubrious marine suburb of Auckland. He was born in Glasgow, in the year 1842. and educated at a private school and the Irvine Academy. After finishing his education, he engaged in the manufacture of brushware, and followed that business in Scotland until 1881, when he migrated to Auckland. On his arrival, he immediately took up his old business and carried it on with success for four years, when he settled at Howick. In 1890 he purchased a large estate at Buckland, Lower Waikato, and entered on its cultivation with his sons, to whom he afterwards gave up the entire management of his property. In 1871 Mr. Gilmour married Eliza Dickie, daughter of Mr. James Templeton, carpet manufacturer, of Ayr, Scotland, and they have had four sons, one of whom died in 1887. The eldest son joined the Wesleyan Church in 1896, and was in charge of the Dannevirke Circuit, Hawke's Bay in 1900. Both Mr. and Mrs Gilmour are prominent members of the temperance cause, and they jointly started the first local Band of Hope at Howick, in August, 1888. Mr. Gilmour has shown his faith in the future of Howick by erecting one very handsome residence “Ingledell,” since sold, and is (1900) about to erect another as his own home.
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Mangere.

            

              
              


                

Mangere,
                on the Manukau, a few miles from Onehunga, and eleven miles from Auckland, is one of the most fertile and interesting farming districts in the north of the colony. The soil is of a rich volcanic nature, and yields heavy crops and perennial feed for stock. All the farms have a substantial, prosperous look, with very English — like surroundings. There is a daily mail and also a telephone service.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Mangere Public School
                
                is situated about three miles from Mangere Bridge, and was erected about eighteen years ago. It contains two class-rooms. The number of scholars on the roll is sixty-five and the average attendance fifty-seven. The school is under the charge of Mrs. James Mellsop, who is assisted by Miss Plumley.

            

            

              
              


                

Hall, Roy,
                Storekeeper, Mangere. This store was established in 1877, and was taken over by the present proprietor in 1898, in conjunction with Mr Arthur Taylor. Mr. Hall bought out his partner in July, 1899, and has since considerably increased the business. The Mangere post and telegraph office has been connected with the store for some years. Mr. Hall has worked hard to make the business a success, and keeps a superior stock of groceries, and general store goods. He was born at Ellerslie, and is a son of Mr. William Hall, a well known settler in Mangere. Mr. Hall was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Auckland, and under Mr. T. H. Giles. He afterwards joined Messrs Sargood, Son and Ewen, with whom he remained six years, and then commenced business on his own account at Mangere.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Gooseman, Samuel,
                Farmer, Mangere. This settler was one of the pioneers of this district, and was born in Tetney, Lincolnshire, England, in 1827, being the second son of Mr. Robert Gooseman, farmer, of Tetney. He was educated at Umberston Grammar School, near Grimsby, and worked on his father's farm until 1861, when he left London, per ship “Indian Empire,” and arrived at Auckland in October of that year. Mr. Gooseman, like the majority of early colonists, has engaged in various callings. In 1872 he bought a farm in Mangere and was the first grower of cereals in the district. Mr. Gooseman is an old member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board and of the local school committee. In 1848, he married Miss Ellen Lidgett, and has had eighteen children, of whom five sons and one daughter are living.

            

            

              
              


                

Robinson, Albert,
                Farmer, Ihumata, Mangere. Mr. Robinson was born in London in 1840. He is the eldest son of Mr. Samuel Robinson, solicitor, and was educated at Boston, Lincolnshire, where he learnt agriculture. In 1866, he left England, per ship “Pegasus,” and on arrival in Auckland obtained employment at Mr. Thomas Russell's “Pah Farm,” Epsom, where the remained for ten years. About 1867, Mr. Robinson purchased his present farm of 156 acres from Mr. Matthew Fleming. Mr. Robinson does not take any active part in politics or local affairs, as he devotes all his energies to his property, but as a member of the Church of England he takes a warm interest in its welfare. He was married in 1877 to a daughter of Mr. Robert Macinder, of Boston, Lincolnshire, and has six sons and four daughters.
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Taylor, John Edward,
                Settler, “Water Lea,” Mangere. Mr. Taylor was born at Bradford, Yorkshire, in 1848, is the eldest son of Mr. Gideon Taylor, provision merchant, of Bradford, and was educated at Watson's Academy, Bradford, and Greave's Boarding School, Spofforth, near Wetherby. In 1868 he joined the service of the Consolidated Bank of London. From 1869 to 1881, he was engaged as a fancy dress goods manufacturer, trading under the name of Northend, Taylor and Cullen, the last mentioned of whom afterwards became manager of the Kaiapoi Woollen Company. In 1881 Mr. Taylor left England, per “John Elder,” for New Zealand, via Sydney, and arrived in Auckland, per “Hero,” in June of the same year. After his arrival he bought a partnership in the Auckland Dairy Company, but subsequently sold out his interest. Mr. Taylor is a Liberal in polities, and takes an active interest in all local affairs. He is chairman of the Mangere Domain Board, president of the Mutual Improvement Society and of the Manukau Prohibition League. He likewise has been successful in obtaining motive power from the action of the tides, and hopes to see the plan applied in raising fresh water for the use of the city and suburbs on a much larger scale than that which at present exists. Mr. Taylor and his family are very musical, and their services are frequently given at local concerts.

            

            

              
              


                
Wallace, James,
                Farmer, “Crook Haven,” Ihumata, Mangere. This settler was one of the pioneers of Mangere, and a member of the much respected Wallace family. He was born in 1824 in the parish of Campbell-town, Argyleshire, was educated there and worked on his father's farm until emigrating to Australia, in 1853, with his brother Archibald. The brothers settled at Shoalhaven, New South Wales, for some years. In 1865 Mr. James Wallace came over to Mangere, whither some of the family had already preceded him and became a partner in a block of land with his brother, Archibald, who had also come. Subsequently, he purchased his “Crook Haven” farm of 165 acres, which he carried on very successfully until his death on the 25th of September, 1895. Mr. James Wallace was a breeder of Clydesdale horses, which gained numerous prizes at the Auckland agricultural and pastoral shows. He took great interest in the local government of the district, and was on the road board and school committee for several terms. Mr. Wallace was connected with the Wesleyan Church, and was a liberal supporter of all good works. He was married in 1863 to Janet, fifth daughter of Mr. Archibald Dunlop, of Campbelltown, Argyleshire, and had an only daughter.
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Wallace, Robert,
               
 Settler, Mangere Point. Mr. Wallace, who is an old and successful Colonist, has resided for over forty years in the Mangere district. He was born at Tirfergus, Argyleshire, Scotland, in 1828, and is a son of Mr. William Wallace, farmer, whose sons were among the earliest settlers at Mangere, and by their efforts assisted to make the settlement one of the most flourishing in the province of Auckland. Mr. Robert Wallace was educated in his native town and worked with his father until 1855, when he emigrated to Melbourne, per ship “Donald McKay,” one of the largest sailing ships of her time. He went to Sydney and afterwards worked with his brother at Shoalhaven for some years. In 1857, he arrived in Auckland, where he joined his eldest brother John and bought 500 acres of unimproved land. The property has been brought to a splendid state of cultivation, and when Mr. Wallace retired from active work in 1896, his sons continued to conduct operations. Amongst the objects of interest on the property there is a cave, which is supposed to be an ancient Maori burial place. Mr. Robert Wallace has been a member of the local road board, school committee and
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domain board, and is an active and liberal supporter of the Presbyterian church, of which he is an elder, and for which he gave the land whereon it is built.

            

            

              
              


                

Westney, William,
                Farmer, Ihumata, Mangere. Mr. Westney, who is one of the oldest settlers in the district, was born in 1814, in Sheffield, Yorkshire, where he was educated, and prior to leaving England he was engaged in agriculture. In 1844, Mr. Westney left London, per ship “Sydney,” for Auckland, via Wellington, and on his arrival he settled at Tamaki for several years. About 1853 he purchased his present farm of 120 acres, which he has cultivated ever since. Mr. Westney has been identified with the Wesleyan Church and also with the road board and school committee during his residence in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Westney,
                youngest son of Mr. William Westney, now carries on his father's farm with the assistance of his brothers. He was born in Remuera in 1847, educated at Mangere, and has been engaged in agricultural pursuits from boyhood. He is also greatly interested in Church work, in the local affairs of the district, and is chairman of the Mangere school committee, vice-president of the Auckland Agricultural and Pastoral Asociation, and circuit steward of the Wesleyan church.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Adam James Dickey,
                J.P., is a very old colonist. He was the eldest son of Mr. James Dickey, and was born in Hollybrook House, Randelstown, County Antrim, Ireland, on the 20th of May, 1836, and educated at Grace Hill Academy near Ballymena. Mr. Dickey came out in the ship “Troubadour,” to Melbourne, where he joined the Mounted Police, as a cadet, and did escort duty in 1852. He arrived in Auckland in December, 1853. In 1855 he joined the Colonial Secretary's office as an extra clerk, and subsequently became Clerk of the Records. On the removal of the seat of Government to Wellington, in January, 1865, Mr. Dickey was promoted to the chief clerkship of the Native Land Court, in which he subsequently became the Registrar, and filled this office until his retirement. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1875 by Sir Frederick Whitaker. Mr. Dickey resides at Mangere.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Ellett,
                Old Colonist, and formerly of “Ihumata” Farm, South Mangere, was born in Somersetshire, England, in 1834, and was the second son of Mr. James Ellett, farmer, of Milverton, in that county. Leaving England in 1859, per ship “Tornado,” he arrived in Auckland in September of that year, and obtained the management of Chamberlain's Island, where he remained for twelve months, when he took up a small farm at the Three Kings. He afterwards purchased land in Epsom district, but eventually sold it. In 1862, Mr. Ellett went to Mangere, where he acquired a block of land adjacent to Mr. McCrae's property, and in 1864 he bought a farm of 258 acres from the Maoris. Mr. Ellett carried on mixed farming until his death, and since then his widow has continued the cultivation of the property. Mr. Ellett was married in 1859 to Miss Mary Ann Greenway, daughter of Mr. George Greenway, of Somersetshire, and had eleven children, nine of whom survive him.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Donald Hugh Mckenzie,
                Old Colonist, Mangere, was at one time a master mariner and merchant. He was born in 1836 in Lochinchard, parish of Eddrachilles, Sutherlandshire, Scotland, and is the son of Mr. Robert McKenzie, formerly in the British Army. He was educated in Nova Scotia, to which colony he was taken at the early age of twelve years, and where he remained eleven years, engaged in storekeeping with his cousin, now the Hon. W. Ross. In 1859 he left Nova Scotia as an officer of the barque “Helen Lewis” (Capt. Ross) which arrived at Auckland in May, 1860. Capt. McKenzie continued his seafaring career and sailed his own vessels in the coastal and intercolonial trade for six years. He commenced business in Auckland in 1867 as ship-chandler, shipping agent, grain and flour merchant, and carried on till 1889. Captain McKenzie always took a keen interest in general and local politics, has been a strong supporter of the Liberal interests, and acted as chairman of Sir George Grey's central committee, when the Knight of Kawau first contested an Auckland constituency. He was a member of the Auckland Harbour Board for fourteen years continuously and chairman for two years; he is also an ex-mayor and councillor of the borough of Parnell, a strong advocate of temperance, and has long been an adherent of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church.
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Panmure.

            

              
              


                

Panmure,
                originally a Pensioner settlement, is pleasantly situated on the west bank of the Tamaki river, having on its south side the Waipuna lagoon, which communicates with the Tamaki. The Maoris once inhabited the place in great numbers, but they were almost exterminated by the raids from the north, led by the notorious Ngapuhi chief, Hongi. It has not altered in character, and much of the village is still occupied by the widows or descendants of the original pensioners. The tannery of Messrs Ireland Brothers gives employment to many workmen, but this is the only manufacture in the village. The Anglican church is built on a hill, whence may be obtained a beautiful view of the surrounding country, including the windings of the Tamaki and its lagoon, and the handsome bridge across the river, on the way to Howick, about five miles distant. The church itself is a small but handsome structure, with sittings for about 120 worshippers. Like nearly



all the country and suburban churches, it is built of wood, but with a solid stone foundation. The cost of the tower was defrayed by the family of the Rev. James Hamlin, who was one of the old missionary body that worked among the natives of New Zealand years before the country became a British colony; and it was men of his stamp that made it possible for colonists to settle here. The other places of worship are the Roman Catholic and the Wesleyan. The slopes of the volcanic hill, Mount Wellington, on the eastern side of Panmure, form a mass of rock and scoria which can be utilised for grazing purposes only; but between the mountain and the Tamaki there are farms containing as rich land as any in the province of Auckland, and the farm of the late Mr. Cawkwell has yielded an average of twenty tons of potatoes to the acre. The distance of Panmure from the railway, three miles, shuts it out from being suburban to Auckland, which is nine miles off. If this difficulty were removed, the village would, no doubt, become a favourite place of residence for those engaged in the city.

            

            

              
              


                
Wellington Park Stud.
                Auckland became famous many years ago for the successful breeding of thoroughbreds by the Sylvia Park Stud, and this fame has been perpetuated by the scarcely less successful Wellington Park stud farm, which is owned by Mr. Thomas Morrin, and which now ranks as the greatest breeding establishment in these colonies. Mr. Morrin was the founder of the Sylvia Park stud, and for some time the managing director of the company, and before and at the period of its liquidation acquired the nucleus of his present establishment by judicious purchase. Wellington Park is situated about six miles from Auckland in the direction of Tamaki, and is an ideal farm for breeding purposes. The estate consists of about 500 acres, and the soil, a rich volcanic, furnishes luxuriant pasturage. There are four thorough bred stallions of the highest reputation in the stud, St. Leger, Hotchkiss, Castor, and Phœbus Apollo, and as many as fifty admirably bred brood mares. The progeny of the stud has won £175,000 in stakes during the last fifteen years, in New Zealand and Australia, to say nothing of cups and other trophies. St. Leger was bred by the late Lord Falmouth. During his stud carrer, his offspring have won £63,499 in stakes, £8283 of which was won during the 1898–99 season, by twenty-four winners. Ninety per cent. of St. Leger's progeny prove to be racers, and the stud fee of fifty guineas is therefore, not a high one. St. Leger is the sire of Waiuku, St. Paul, St. Hippo, Nestor, Hermosa, St. Crispin, St. Simon, St. Kilda, St. Cyr, Doris, Rex, St. Ursula, Sylvia Park, St. Laura, Lady Anna, Clanranald, Blue Jacket, Woodstock, and many other winners. Hotchkiss was got by Musket, out of Petroleuse, and is considered by competent judges to be the best Musket stallion in the Australasian colonies. He is sire of the champion Multiform, who headed the list of winning horses for the 1897–98 season; Uniform, which won the Wellington Cup, and was subsequently bought by Mrs Langtry; Swordfish, True Blue, Oscular, Waiorongomai, Forma, Screw Gun, Formula, and Battleaxe. Castor, the third of these splendid stallions was himself a great performer on the turf in his racing days, having won twenty-two races out of twenty-eight in which he started. He was sired by Zealot, from Lady Yardley, thus being half-brother to Disraeli, the winner of the Two Thousand Guineas, in 1898, and was bred by Mr. Graham, of the Yardley Stud, England. During 1898 his progeny won twenty races, to the value of £6880, an improvement on the record for any previous twelve months. He is the sire of Antares, an Auckland Cup winner, Casket, a Dunedin Cup winner, Coronet, Altair, Dayntree, Armilla, and the brilliant Sydney-owned Cravat. Of the fifty brood mares on the farm, it may be said that nearly every one has bred a winner, while many of them are the dams of winners of classical races on the New Zealand and Australian turf. Mr. Morrin holds a sale of Wellington Park yearlings after the Auckland Cup of each year; it attracts the chief racehorse-owners from Australia and all parts of New Zealand, and there is always strong competition for the treasures of the stud nursery.
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Mr. Thomas Morrin,
               
 Proprietor of Wellington Park Stud, was born in the County of Two Mountains, Montreal, Canada. He came to Auckland in the year 1865, and has always been one of the leaders in all matters pertaining to the welfare and advancement of the town and district. Mr. Morrin established the large business of T. and S. Morrin and Co., and was the successful contractor for the Auckland water works. To him was also due the credit of promoting the Auckland Stud Company and the Sylvia Park Stud Company. He was one of the originators of the Auckland Tramway Company, and was one of the pioneers of the Thames goldfields
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and a promoter of the famous Waihi mine. Mr. Morrin was also instrumental in opening up large tracts of country in the North Island. He and others had large estates in Waikato and Hawke's Bay, but unfortunately could not make them pay, and like many others, who invested in land in the north, he lost very heavily. Mr. Morrin has always been a great lover and breeder of purebred stock. He has in many ways given freely and worked hard to secure the advancement of his adopted country. Mr. Morrin is noted for his Shorthorn cattle, sheep, etc., and at his homestead, Wellington Park, he has the world-wide known stud of thoroughbred horses, which he has carried on successfully for so many years. He was one of the chief promoters, and is one of the oldest members and supporters of the Auckland Racing Club, and has occupied the position of chairman for many years.
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Otahuhu.

            

              
              


                

                  
Otahuhu
                
                is situated on a neck of land between the Manukau harbour on the west, and Tamaki inlet on the east. It is thus on the narrowest part of the North Island, and a canal of about a mile would connect the east and west coast. The tide in the Manukau is full about three hours after the full tide at Tamaki. It was originally a Pensioner village, one of the four that were created during Sir George Grey's first Governorship of New Zealand. These villages were established about 1847 and 1848, and were intended to form a cordon of defence around Auckland in the event of trouble with the Maoris. Otahuhu, with Panmure and Onehunga, were well placed with this object in view, all being about the same distance from Auckland, seven to nine miles, and four or five from each other. But Howick was quite misplaced; had it been at Mount Albert the cordon would have been complete. However, during the seven years in which the pensioners were liable to serve, they were called out only once when some Maoris in force threatened Auckland. There was no fighting, however, as the natives thought better of it and retired. Nearly all the original pensioners have died, and in Otahuhu there is now (1900) but one remaining, a fine old man of eighty-five years. The Bishop of New Zealand, George Augustus Selwyn, on the arrival of the pensioners, at once took steps for their welfare, and made use of his staff of deacons and students at St. John's College to visit the settlements and to hold Sunday services, himself going whenever he had an opportunity. After a while he was able to purchase five acres of land at Otahuhu and at Panmure, and very soon a little church was put up at each place. Handsome churches have replaced these, but in both cases the old churches have been removed, and form parts of the Sunday school buildings. The present church at Otahuhu was opened by the Bishop of New Zealand—who was accompanied by Bishop Patteson, of Melanesia—on Sunday, the 27th of December, 1863. The church is capable of seating about 150 persons, and was built after the pattern of Holy Trinity Church at Mauku. In the tower there is a fine clear-toned bell, weighing over five hundredweight; its mellow tone can be heard for miles round. The population of Otahuhu is about 1000, a large proportion of whom are Roman Catholics. There are also churches belonging to the Wesleyan Methodists, Baptists, and Salvation Army. The Rev. S. Ward was the first Church of England clergyman resident at Otahuhu; he was succeeded by Mr. Carter, after whom Mr. Johnstone took temporary charge till the beginning of 1861, when the present vicar, Canon Gould, was removed from the Bay of Islands, and appointed to the charge of Otahuhu and Panmure, together with the out-districts of Mangere and Woodside. The two latter have been for some years a separate charge, under the Rev. M. Kirkbride. Otahuhu, up to 1861, remained a quiet little village, surrounded by farms, where pensioners and their sons could always get work. Early in that year things underwent a change. A farm of about 100 acres was let to the Government for a military station. The first to pitch their tents on the ground were the men of the 70th Regiment, from India. These were followed by other regiments till about 3000 men were congregated at the camp, while five regimental bands made the place lively. By degrees the men were sent off in different directions to put down Maori opposition, but there were troops, more or less, at Otahuhu for some years. They were finally withdrawn when there was little danger of further trouble with the natives. Then things returned to their old state, and for a time there was much stagnation in the Auckland province. Gradually better times came, and Otahuhu has gone on every year adding a little to its population. The chemical and the freezing works, together with the soap and candle manufactory, give employment to a large number of workmen. Otahuhu would undoubtedly become a suburb of Auckland, but for the fact that there is no train communication from the city after 6.20 p.m.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Captain The Hon. George Bentham Morris,
                Member of the Legislative Council, was called to that branch of the Legislature on the 15th of May, 1885. He had previously been a member of the House of Representatives and was Commissioner of Trade and Customs in the short-lived Stout-Vogel Ministry of August, 1884. Captain Morris is further referred to on page 82 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia. When not attending Parliament in Wellington, Captain Morris resides at Otahuhu.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Ferguson Massey,
                Member of the House of Representatives for Franklin, was born in Londonderry, Ireland, in 1856, and is the eldest son of Mr. John Massey, a retired settler, residing at Mangere Bridge. He was educated at Londonderry, and arrived in Auckland (his parents having preceded him by about nine years) in the ship “City of Auckland,” commanded by the well-known and popular Captain Ashby. The future politician assisted on his father's farm until 1881, when he commenced farming for himself. About 1890, he purchased the farm of 220 acres, upon which he now resides; and he also occupies his original farm, as well as another property of 450 acres of swamp land, situated in the Waiuku district. Mr. Massey is the proprietor of a traction engine and complete threshing plant, in the Mangere district. Mr. Massey has at various times held public positions in connection with agriculture and many local bodies, and there is no resident of the district who is more widely respected, or more highly esteemed than he is for his general worth. He was president of the Auckland Agricultural and Pastoral Society during the years 1890–93; is an ex-member of the Mangere Road Board, an ex-chairman of the school committee, and a member of the Presbyterian Church. As a Mason, he was initiated in Lodge Manukau, New Zealand Constitution, and has held the rank of senior warden. Mr. Massey, however, is better known throughout the colony as a politician and an opponent of the Seddon Government. In 1893 he contested the Franklin seat against Major Harris (now a member of the Legislative Council), but was defeated by a small majority. Early in the following year, however, he was successful in winning the Waitemata seat at a by-election, and was returned, notwithstanding the strenuous efforts of the Government, by a majority of 183 votes. At the general election of 1896 Mr. Massey again contested Franklin against his old opponent, Major Harris, and was triumphantly returned by the large majority of 474 votes. Great excitement was shown over this election, as Mr. Massey was the Opposition Whip, and Major Harris the Government Whip. More votes were polled, proportionately, at the Franklin election than at any other country constituency in New Zealand. At the election of 1899, Mr. Massey was opposed by Mr. F. Wilson, but won easily, as he defeated his opponent by 1180 votes. Mr. Massey claims to be a Liberal in the truest sense of the term, though opposed to experimental and class legislation. He was married in 1882 to Miss Paul, daughter of a well-known and respected settler of Mangere, and has three sons and two daughters.
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Mr. Richard Hobbs,
               
 J.P., is one of Auckland's most widely known and best respected citizens, and was born in Hokianga in 1833—a year for ever memorable in the history of New Zealand, as that in which the first “British Resident,” Mr. James Busby, arrived to watch over these islands in the interests of the Imperial Government. Mr. Hobbs is a son of the late Rev. John Hobbs, who came to this then uncivilized country in 1823 as a missionary in connection with the Wesleyan body. After an educational course at the school of the Church Missionary Society at Waimate North, under the Rev. Richard Taylor, and subsequently under the private tutorship of the late Dr. Day, Mr. Hobbs accompanied his father on a voyage to Tasmania en route for Sydney, where it was intended that he should enter the service of one of the banks. On arrival at “Hobart Town,” as the city of Hobart was called in those days, the missionary and his son were met by old friends, and it was decided that instead of journeying further, the youth should learn the business of a draper in the establishment of Messrs. Waterhouse Bros. Mr. Hobbs has certainly had no cause to regret that decision. He learned a business by which he many years ago made a handsome competence, and, when he returned to the land of his birth, brought with him as his wife the sister of one of his employers. Since those days the name of Waterhouse has become very familiar to New Zealanders. While in Tasmania, Mr. Hobbs identified himself with the Volunteer movement, rising to the position of lieutenant. On his return to Auckland he soon found himself a captain in the Militia, and, when Otahuhu marked the frontier, Captain Hobbs and his men saw active service there. Starting at first in a small way of business, and in premises near the present site of the Auckland Savings Bank, Mr. Hobbs was rewarded with success from the beginning. As far back as 1873 he retired on a competence, selling the business, but keeping the freehold property. On his retirement he went to the “Springs” near Pokeno, where he bred and raised both cattle and horses, and cultivated one of the finest orchards in the province. This estate he sold when he returned to reside in Auckland. Mr. Hobbs first entered Parliament in 1878, being elected unopposed for Franklin, in succession to Mr. H. H. Lusk. In 1882 he was elected for the Bay of Islands, ousting his predecessor, Mr. John Lundon. Mr. Hobbs was a consistent supporter of the Atkinson party throughout his parliamentary career, which closed in 1890, he being re-elected for the Bay of Islands in 1884 and 1887. His own private business then demanding all his time and attention, he declined to be again nominated. As a member of the Native Affairs Committee, Mr. Hobbs was especially useful, his intimate acquaintance with the language and customs of the native race being of great value. For whatever moral and material advantages it enjoys as the result of the passing of the Gaming and Lotteries Act, 1881, the Colony is indebted to the perseverance and determination of Mr. Hobbs, the author and father of the bill. Other public services rendered by Mr. Hobbs include membership of the Auckland City Council (many years ago), the Manukau County Council, the Pokeno Road Board and School Committee, and the Auckland Education Board. On the latter, Mr. Hobbs rendered most valuable service for several years, and for two terms held the onerous position of chairman. At the election of 1897 he was re-elected to a seat on the Board, after an absence from
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Its deliberations of some years. Mr. Hobbs has been a justice of the peace for the past twenty years or more, and is a trustee of the Auckland Savings Bank. In religious matters. Mr. Hobbs adheres to the church for which his father was so ardent and useful a worker. In the early days, when the Wesleyans worshipped in what is now the S.M. Court building, High Street, Mr. Hobbs was superintendent of the Sunday school, and, when the move to Pitt Street was made, he continued a prominent supporter, and was for many years on the Board of Trustees. He was also hon. treasurer of Wesley College, Auckland, for thirty years, and is now connected with St. John's, Ponsonby. Mrs. Hobbs is a daughter of the late Rev. John Waterhouse, formerly well known as the General Superintendent of the Wesleyan Polynesian Mission, and a sister of the late Rev. Joseph Waterhouse and the Hon. G. M. Waterhouse—for many years a well-known resident of Wellington, and now quietly retired in Devonshire. Mr. and Mrs. Hobbs have no family.

            

            

              
              


                
Otahuhu Public School.
                This school was originally started in the Church of England Sunday School under the supervision of Mr. Cholmondeley Smith, and became a public school when the Act came into force. The reserve on which the present building stands consists of four acres and a half of rich volcanic soil. The schoolhouse contains four large class rooms, which have accommodation for 250 children. There are 200 names now on the roll, with an average attendance of 168. Mr. Tom Wilson is headmaster, and there are two assistants and two pupil teachers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Tom Wilson,
                who has a D1 certificate, was born at Sheffield, Yorkshire, England, in 1855. He was educated at the People's College, Sheffield, and trained as a teacher at the British and Foreign School Society's College, Boro' Road, London. He entered the service of the London School Board, and occupied several important positions until 1884, when he was compelled by failing health to resign. Immediately after his arrival in Auckland he accepted an engagement under the Auckland Education Board, and was appointed headmaster of the Henderson public school. He was subsequently transferred to Dargaville, and eight years later received his present appointment.

            

            

              
              


                

Bewes, Edward Anstis,
                M.R.C.S., (Eng.); L.R.C.P., (Edin.), Otahuhu. Dr. Bewes was born in 1858 at Yealmton, Devonshire, at the residence of his father, Colonel Wyndham Bewes, sometime of the 73rd Regiment. He was educated at Repton, Derbyshire, studied medicine at St. Bartholomew's, London, and qualified for his degrees at the College of Surgeons, London, and at Edinburgh. In 1885 Dr. Bewes arrived in Auckland, and commenced practice at Otahuhu, where he has ever since followed his profession.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Luke,
                J.P., Old Colonist, is Coroner for the Otahuhu district. He was born at Royston, Cambridge, England, on the 23rd of September, 1832. In 1857 he arrived in Auckland by the “Anne Longton,” (Captain Kirby). Mr. Luke purchased a farm at Pukekohe, and carried it on until 1864, when he removed to Otahuhu, where he has resided ever since. Mr. Luke encountered many vicissitudes in the early days of settlement, especially during the exciting and perilous times of the Maori war. He has long been prominently identified with church and school work, and has been a member of the Anglican Synod since 1875, Assessor of the Bishop's Court, member of the General Trust Board, and Licensed Lay Reader to Canon Gould, vicar of Holy Trinity, Otahuhu. Mr. Luke has been continuously a member of the Auckland Education Board, since 1878, and has been several times its chairman, and has also been elected by the Board as one of the Commissioners of Education Reserves. Before the present Education Act came into force in 1877, Mr. Luke took an active interest in assisting in the establishment of a school at Otahuhu. He is one of the oldest members of the Board of Governors of the Auckland Grammar school.
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Clevedon,
               
 also known as Wairoa South, is one of the most charming and prosperous districts around Auckland, and although one of the earliest settlements, its scenic beauties and attractions are still comparatively unknown to a large number of Aucklanders. It is easy of access by both land and water, as it lies twenty-eight miles to the south of Auckland, on the Waitemata, and is within seven miles of the Papakura railway station. Wairoa South, of which Clevedon is the post office town, forms part of the lovely and fertile valley which stretches from the Hauraki Gulf to the Manukau harbour, and is about four miles across at its broadest part. The river Wairoa meanders through the valley, taking its rise from the high ranges towards the coast, and discharges into the Hauraki Gulf. Clothed on both sides with the lovely toi-toi and weeping willows,
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every bend of the river opens up new scenes of beauty, and the hills on both sides are covered with bush and tree ferns. The fertility of the valley is evidenced by the remarkable luxuriance of the grass and the sleek, fat appearance of the cattle, and the prosperity of the district is apparent in the well kept farms and handsome residences which dot the landscape. Deposits of sulphur, coal, manganese, iron, and limestone have been found in the surrounding hills, and probably the time is not far distant when large companies will open and develop the rich mineral resources of Wairoa South. In 1853 the two first pioneers of the district, the late Mr. Duncan McNicol and Mr. George Hoye, after landing in Auckland from Australia, went in a canoe to inspect the valley, with the object of taking up land and making a home. They were impressed with the evident fertility of the soil, and purchased about 1100 acres on the east side of the river. The land was then covered by dense and heavy bush, and the low lying parts were in the condition of a swamp. A large number of Maoris then lived in the district, of which they were, in fact, the owners. After a visit to Auckland, the pioneers returned to Wairoa in their canoe, accompanied by Mrs McNicol, who is still (July, 1901) hale and hearty, and held in the greatest esteem and veneration by all who have the pleasure of her acquaintance. Undeterred by the numerous hardships and difficulties of early pioneering, with no roads, and every requisite to be brought from Auckland, Messrs McNicol and Hoye persevered, and in a few years fenced paddocks, covered with grass and carrying both sheep and cattle, began to intersperse the bush with open sunny spaces. The fertility of the soil soon attracted a population, and after years of patient toil Wairoa became transformed and is now a proof of the perseverance of the early pioneers; and those of them who have not passed away now enjoy a well-earned rest among the scenes of their early difficulties, which included trouble with the Maoris, accompanied with danger and many hair breadth escapes. Clevedon is a pretty little village, about seven miles from the mouth of the Wairoa river, and contains several fine stores, a first-class well-kept hotel, public hall and library, a Masonic hall, an Anglican church, fine schools, and a post and telegraph and money order office. It is expected that it will shortly be connected by telephone with Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Wairoa Road Board
                
                held its first meeting in 1861, when Mr. Cochrane was elected chairman. A levy of 6d per acre was struck, and returned £240 on the 9628 acres. Ten years later rates collected on the value of the property at 1d per pound realised £161; rates now collected at £3/4d per £ bring in £277. There are eighty miles of roads in the district, and about thirty miles are metalled. The district's present ratable value is £90,000. Mr. Henry Walsh, J.P., is chairman; Mr. Samuel Browne, clerk; and Mr. William Coates, treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Walsh,
                J.P., Chairman of the Wairoa Road Board, “Kauri Clump, Wairoa, son of the late Mr. Patrick Walsh, was born at Howick in 1852. On leaving school he started farming at Maraetai, where he successfully farmed for seven years. He then disposed of his farm, and went to Gisborne, where he became a successful contractor on a large scale. After seven years' prosperous contracting, Mr. Walsh removed to Wairoa, and purchased his present fine estate, which was then covered with heavy bush. About 600 acres of his property have been cleared and sown in grass, on which he now rears mobs of sheep and cattle. His residence commands an extensive and beautiful view of the valley. Mr. Walsh has been for years a member of the Wairoa school committee. He was first elected a member of the Wairoa Road Board in 1893, and in 1896 he was elected chairman, and again re-elected in 1900 and 1901. During his chairmanship Mr. Walsh has looked well after the roads, the condition of which reflects the greatest credit on him and his fellow members and their predecessors. He was the principal promoter of the prosperous Steam Navigation Company, and in its early days was its managing director. The company has been a great boon, and has greatly helped the material prosperity of the district. Mr. Walsh is a member of Lodge Wairoa, has passed through all the chairs, and at present holds office in the Grand Lodge. He is married, and has a family of ten children. His two eldest sons are also married, and own large farms in the district.
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Mr. Samuel Browne,
                Clerk to the Wairoa South Road Board, and son of the late Mr. F. H. Browne, one of the pioneers of the colony, was born in 1865 at Wairoa. After leaving school, he spent two years in Australia, and on his return to New Zealand started farming at Wairoa. He is a very energetic and representative settler, and has been connected with the Wairoa South Road Board for several years. Mr. Browne has been clerk of the Board, and during three years of that period, has held the position of secretary to the conference of Road Boards since its initiation. The conference is held at Papakura, that being the most central town for the county of Manukau. Mr. Browne has been honorary secretary of the Auckland Farmers' Cooperative Society, Limited, since its formation, and is the honorary treasurer to the New Zealand Farmers' Union, and a member of the Fruitgrowers' Association. He has also been a member of the Wairoa Public Hall and Library Committee for a number of years.

            

            

              
              


                
Franklin Mounted Rifles.
                This corps was gazetted on the 16th of May, 1900, and the present officers are: Captain Leddra Wallis, and Lieutenants W. J. Hyde, A. C. Shaw, and R. R. Martin; total strength, seventy-nine. In 1868 the Wairoa Rifle volunteer Corps was formed, and continued in existence till 1892, when, owing to the want of inducement on the part of the Government to the volunteer cause, the Wairoa Volunteers disbanded. Captains Cochrane, Wallis, Bain, Crawford, and Crighton were successively in command. A revival in volunteering took place previous to the Transvaal war, and on the 31st of March, 1900, a meeting was held at Clevedon to consider the advisability of forming a volunteer corps in the Wairoa South district; Mr. Leddra Wallis occupying the chair. A motion was unanimously carried to form a Mounted Rifle Corps, and at the meeting forty-six gave in their names as being willing to join. A committee was formed to canvass the district, and, when sufficient names were obtained, to offer the company's services to the Government. On the 2nd of June, 1900, a meeting of intending members of the Franklin Mounted Rifles was held, when Captain Reid was present, and sixty men were sworn in. Captain Fawcett was elected captain, but resigned in February, 1901, and was succeeded by Captain Wallis, who had previously held the rank of first lieutenant in the corps. In connection with the old volunteer corps there was a drum and fife



band, which went out of existence on the disbandment of the corps. The present brass band comprises eighteen instruments, and the members are instructed once a fortnight by Bandmaster Hulse. The funds for the band were raised by public subscription, and the proceeds are vested in five trustees, of whom Captain Wallis is one.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain Leddra Wallis,
                of the Franklin Mounted Rifles, is the youngest son of the late Mr. T. L. Wallis, an old and much respected resident of the Wairoa district. He was born in 1867, and after receiving his education at Wairoa, he started farming. On the death of his father in 1889, Mr. Wallis managed the estate, which he succeeded to on the death of his mother in 1900. Mr. Wallis has been one of the progressive spirits of the district, and has taken his share in all matters for the advancement of Wairoa. With the volunteer movement he has been long identified, and first joined the Wairoa Rifles movement in March, 1885. He left that corps on its disbandment, with the rank of lieutenant, and shortly after the formation of the present corps he was unanimously elected captain, being recognised as a thoroughly good and painstaking officer. He has been treasurer of the Wairoa South Public Hall since 1892. Captain Wallis has been connected with all local sports, and is still (1901) unmarried.
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Lieutenant William John Hyde,
                of the Franklin Mounted Rifles, is the only son of Mr. Thomas Hyde, one of the pioneers of the district. He was born at Wairoa in 1870, brought up to farming, and is now known as one of the most successful and enterprising young settlers in the district. Mr. Hyde joined the Wairoa Rifles in 1887, and when they were disbanded in 1892 he held the rank of colour-sergeant. On the formation of the present corps, Mr. Hyde was appointed second lieutenant, and advanced later on to the rank of the lieutenant. He is a well known shot, and holds two medals won in shooting competitions; and he has always been identified with local sports and athletic games. Mr. Hyde has been a member of the Wairoa Road Board. He married Miss No
[
unclear: bl]e, a young lady of the district, and has a family of two. Mr. Hyde resides at “Riversdale,” Wairoa.
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Lieutenant Andrew Shaw,
                of the Franklin Mounted Rifles, is a son of the late Mr. Thomas Shaw, one of the early settlers of Wairoa South. He was born in Auckland in 1865, and educated at Wairoa. Since leaving school he has been successfully engaged in farming, and succeeded to his present fine property on the death of his father. Mr. Shaw has been an ardent volunteer. He served for twelve years in the late Wairoa Rifle Volunteers, and when that corps was disbanded in 1892, he held the rank of sergeant. On the formation of the present corps he was elected sergeant-major, and was promoted to the rank of lieutenant in 1901. He has been a member of the Wairoa school committee since its inception. Mr. Shaw is a well known athlete, and holds the record in New Zealand for the mile race. Of football and cricket he is an enthusiastic patron, and has been handicapper to the Wairoa Athletic Club since its formation in 1893. This club was first formed by a donation of £27 handed over by the late Wairoa Rifles. It holds its annual sports on New Year's Day, and the large attendance testifies to the popularity of the games. Mr. Shaw is married, and has one child.

              

                

[image: Hanna, photo.Lieutenant A. Shaw.]

Hanna, photo.


Lieutenant A. Shaw.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Wairoa South Farmers' Club
                
                was started in November, 1900, with the object of fostering agricultural and pastoral interests in New Zealand, more especially in the Wairoa South and surrounding districts, also to promote, support, or oppose legislative or other measures affecting the agricultural and pastoral interests; to collect and circulate statistics or other information relating to agricultural and pastoral industries; and exchange information with similar clubs, societies, or the Government Departments of Agriculture in this and other countries; to establish a library or museum of models, specimens, or drawings of articles of interest to farmers; to promote the means of communication, and to place the sale, conveyance, and the purchase of materials required by agriculturists on a satisfactory basis; to act as agents on behalf of members of the club, especially in regard to the sale and purchase of farmers' tools and requisites. This club, which is registered, has at present (July, 1901) 100 members. Mr. J. S. Wilson is chairman; Mr. Harold Burgoyne, secretary; and Mr. A. Schmitt, treasurer. At present the club is affiliated with the New Zealand Farmers' Union, the Waikato Farmers' Club, and the Auckland Agricultural Association. So far considerable concessions have been obtained from various merchants and tradesmen in Auckland, in regard to the purchase of goods and centralising the disposal of farm produce. Steps are being taken for procuring suitable stud stock to improve the breed of stock in the district. Meetings are held monthly at the Clevedon Public Hall, and the propects of the club are most promising.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Aloys Schmitt,
                Treasurer of this Club, is the eldest son of the late Professor Carl Schmitt, and was born at Ballarat, Victoria, in 1866, and educated at Launceston Church Grammar School. He came with his parents to New Zealand in 1883, and entered commercial life, first in the office of Messrs A. Buckland and Son, and afterwards in the National Insurance Company. In 1887 Mr. Schmitt went to Wairoa to carry on farming. His farm of about 280 acres, which he carries on in conjunction with his brother, Mr. C.



Schmitt, is one of the most fertile in the district, and although comparatively unimproved when taken possession of, the industry of the Messrs Schmitt has converted the estate into rich pasture land, and the property has the reputation of being a splendid dairy farm. Clumps of native bush have judiciously been left, both for ornament and shelter. Mr. A. Schmitt since his arrival in Wairoa South has taken a keen and prominent part in all affairs relating to the progress and advancement of the district. He originated the Wairoa carrying business, which was successfully carried on until it was supplanted by the Clevedon Steam Navigation Company; he was also one of the principal initiators of the Farmers' Club, and without doubt a great amount of the success of the club is due to his efforts. At present, in conjunction with his brother, Mr. C. Schmitt, he has started a bacon curing establishment, which promises to be a great success, and ought to prove a boon to the district. The bacon, in appearance and flavour, is equal to the best Canterbury. Mr. Schmitt is possessed of considerable literary ability, and is the Wairoa correspondent of the “New Zealand Herald.” He is also secretary to the Clevedon school committee; is a Mason of some years' standing, and has held the position of secretary to Lodge Wairoa, No. 55, for a number of years. Mr. Schmitt is married to a daughter of the late Dr. Hale, who was one of the most prominent residents of the Wairoa district, and has a family of four children.

            

            

              
              


                
Wairoa South Butter Factory,
                Clevedon. Registered Brand: A mitre—No. 96. The buildings, which are very spacious, were originally built for a cheese factory but have since been converted into a butter factory. The main building, 90 by 30 feet, has fine concrete floors, and an unlimited supply of the purest water. There are two creameries to supply the factory, and two more are being erected for next season; the district extends over a radius of eight miles, and the output in 1900–1901 amounted to forty-five tons. The power is derived from a six horse-power engine, working two Alpha de Laval separators, capable of separating 260 gallons per hour. The farmers are paid at per pound of butter fat, and also receive the skimmed milk. The butter is shipped to London, and sold locally, where the brand holds a high reputation. It is packed both in bulk and pound squares, in neat 56-pound boxes. The factory has had a varied career, and, after passing through several hands, it was ultimately acquired by Mr. McKnight in 1893, and under his capable management it has been a complete success and a boon to the settlers.
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Mr. James McKnight,
                Proprietor of the Factory, is a native of Ayrshire, Scotland, where he learned the profession of a mechanical engineer. He left Scotland for America, where he worked as a mechanical engineer in various States, and subsequently held the position of engineer in a large sugar plantation in Peru. After returning to Glasgow, about 1880, he went to the Sandwich Islands, where he erected large sugar-planting machinery. Then, after a trip Home, he went to Fiji, where he also erected sugar planting machinery. Mr. McKnight came to New Zealand in 1886 on a visit from Fiji. He then went from Fiji to Queensland, where he remained one year. Returning to New Zealand, he married Miss McNicol, daughter of the late Mr. Duncan McNicol, one of the pioneers of Wairoa South, and by this marriage he has two daughters. Mr. McKnight revisited North Queensland, where he was first engaged in a sugar plantation, and afterwards started the importation of New Zealand butter, and remained there four years, working a very successful trade. On finally returning to New Zealand in 1892, he went to Clevedon, and, acquiring the butter factory, started operations in September, 1894. Through great initial difficulties he worked the business into the thoroughly successful reputation it now holds. Mr. McKnight has been chairman of the local school committee for four years.

            

            

              
              


                

Waters, Captain Alfred,
                “Riverside,” Clevedon. Captain Waters is the youngest son of the late Thomas Waters, of Stratford Sub-Castle, Wiltshire, England. His early life was passed in the mercantile marine service in the East Indian trade. After coming to Australia, he remained in the coastal trade for some years, and afterwards went to California, on which coast he remained until 1878. On retiring from the sea he returned to England, where he spent these years. Captain Waters came to New Zealand in 1880, and passed two years in Dunedin, and the two following years in Timaru. He removed to Auckland in 1885, and after residing for about two years in the city, he removed to Hoteo, where for seven years he carried on farming. In 1894 Captain Waters moved to Clevedon, and purchased his present property at Riverside. Captain Waters was chairman of the school committee, a churchwarden in the Church of England, and Deputy Registrar at Hoteo, but since his arrival at Clevedon, he has steadily held aloof from local matters. He married, in 1879, Miss Alice Waldby (a lady possessing great musical abilities), eldest daughter of Thomas Waldby, Margate, England, and cousin to the late Lord Leighton, and also to the late Sir Michael Faraday. Twelve children were the issue of this marriage, of whom nine are now alive—four sons and five daughters.

            

            

              
              


                
Wilson, James Edward,
                Farmer, “Rowan Deer,” Wairoa South. Mr. Wilson is a son of Mr. Robert Wilson, M.A., teacher of the parish school at Deer, Aberdeenshire, Scotland, and brother of Dr. Wilson, of Deer; Mr. Douglas R. Wilson, stockbroker, of San Francisco; Mr. G. J. Wilson, brewer and distiller, of Deer; Mr. W. S. Wilson, M.A., teacher of Languages at St. Petersburg; Mr. H. B. Wilson, M.A., Aratapu; and Miss Wilson, an accomplished musician, of Vienna. Mr. Wilson was born in the parish of Deer, Aberdeenshire, in 1858, and educated under his father. He was brought up to farming, and, as he intended coming to New Zealand, learned the building trade at Home, previous to his departure for this colony. He came to Auckland by the ship “May Queen,” to take up his present farm at Wairoa, which had been previously purchased in Scotland by his father, who had intended coming personally to New Zealand. On his arrival in Wairoa he joined his brother, Mr. Fred Wilson, who had arrived there five years previously. His brother subsequently disposed of his interest in the farm, and entered mercantile life in Auckland. Mr. Wilson stumped fenced, cleared, and drained the farm, and built his present house and outbuildings, and now carries on mixed farming on 214 acres, one of the choicest farms in the district. He was connected with the volunteers for over sixteen years, and when he left the Wairoa Rifles, he held the rank of sergeant. Mr. Wilson is a good shot, with rifle and fowling piece, and won a prize of £4 10s and a hand some clock, for the best score for a period of eighteen months, besides obtaining other minor prizes in subsequent competitions. He is also a member and one of the originators



of the Wairoa Farmers' Club. Mr. Wilson married a daughter of Mr. John Dow, of Wairoa, but she died in September, 1897, leaving a family of three sons and one daughter. His eldest son is the bugler of the Franklin Mounted Rifles.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Dow,
                of “Whiteside,” Wairoa, one of the most prominent of the district's pioneer settlers, is a son of the late Mr. Dow, chief partner in the firm of Messrs Dow, Cooper, and White, a well known firm in Glasgow, and a grandson of the late Rev. Mr. Dow, of Glasgow. Mr. Dow was born in 1822, and educated in various schools and colleges, and was afterwards engaged in a Glasgow merchant's office, where he remained three years. Not liking indoor life, Mr. Dow started farming. He came to New Zealand in 1853, by the ship “Joseph Fletcher,” calling first at Taranaki. After spending seven months in pursuit of suitable land, he made Wairoa his future home, and purchased his present extensive farm. On his arrival in 1853, the country possessed neither roads nor bridges, and was covered with heavy bush; but, undeterred by these difficulties, he started the hard work of pioneering, and gradually made a home for himself. After some time, when prosperity began to crown his efforts, Mr. Dow was joined by his wife and child, who had remained behind in Scotland. Since then he has continued to prosper, and his farm is now noted for its rich fattening qualities. Mr. Dow has always been a leading spirit in the progress of the district, and was for several years on the road board, and for some time treasurer to that body. He has been asked several times to accept the Commission of the Peace, but has always declined. His knowledge of cattle is known throughout the province, and he has on three occasions been a judge at the Auckland Cattle Show. Mr. Dow married Miss McConnel, of Ayrshire, and of the marriage there is a surviving family of one son and three daughters, and twenty-one grandchildren.
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Mr. George Hoye,
                Old Colonist, New Mains,” Clevedon, Wairoa South, one of the first pioneers of the district, was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1826. He was brought up to farming, and went to Victoria in 1851. There he met Mr. Duncan McNicol, his fellow pioneer in the Wairoa. In 1853 he came with Mr. McNicol to Auckland, with the intention of settling on the land. Having selected Wairoa as their future home, they started to clear the virgin bush. No white people were nearer than Papakura, and their only neighbours were Maoris, whose language and customs they had no knowledge of. The pioneers purchased over 1000 acres at 10s per acre, and, having previously settled the location of their farms by lot, started the hard task of clearing a heavily timbered country, and getting a portion of their land fit for ploughing. The Maoris, who proved very friendly, built a raupo whare for the new arrivals. About a year later settlers began to arrive; Mr. Thorp and his family first, and Messrs John Dow and Wilson next. Other settlers continued to arrive, attracted by the fertility of the soil, and they increased in prosperity until the breaking cut of the Maori war. The settlers then banded together, and formed a corps for their protection, which was first commanded by Captain Sinclair, and afterwards by Captain Steel. Block-houses were built by the soldiers of the 18th Regiment, who, with the Militia, protected the district. The families of the principal settlers fled to Auckland for safety. After a time things became quiet, and the settlers returned to their peaceful avocations. On the breaking out of the Thames goldfields, Mr. Hoye tried his luck at gold mining, but after six months' trial returned home without having been successful as a miner. He then devoted his attention to his fine farm, which he stocked with a schooner load of cattle. Mr. Hoye has been a sufferer from rheumatism, contracted during the early years of his hard work as a pioneer, and has been compelled to relinquish the management of his farm in favour of his two sons. Mrs Hoye has been dead for some years, and left a family of four sons and three daughters.
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Mr. Thomas Hyde,
               
 one of the pioneer settlers of Wairoa, was born at Buckden, Huntingdonshire, England, in 1832. He was brought up to farming, and left with his uncle, Mr. Henry Hyde, in 1852, for Adelaide, South Australia. Thence they went to the gold diggings at Forrest Creek, and Bendigo, where for about one year and nine months their efforts in search of gold were most successful. After that uncle and nephew came to New Zealand, and landed at Auckland, whence they proceeded to Wairoa, where they purchased a large area of land, and started farming. Their land was in its native state, and only about ten settlers were then living in the district. Mr. Hyde and his uncle encountered the troubles which generally beset pioneering. They, however, carried on prosperously until 1863, when Mr. Henry Hyde, the uncle, returned Home, after disposing of his interest in the farm to his nephew. Mr. Hyde, seeing the advantage of trading, started in partnership with Mr George Couldrey, and built the cutter “Rapid,” trading between Wairoa and Auckland, and Wairoa and the Thames, and carrying produce to the various markets. He then added storekeeping to trading, and built the fine store alongside the Clevedon wharf. The partners continued their business most successfully until the advent of the steamer “Transit,” when they sold the cutter. Mr. Hyde then devoted his attention to his store, to which a large trade was attached, and shortly afterwards
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he purchased the fine farm on which he now resides. In 1885 he retired from storekeeping, and devoted his attention to his various large landed properties. About 1870 Mr. Hyde sent Home for his brother, Mr. C. Hyde, who now resides at Tuakau, with his two sisters, Mrs Crawford and Mrs Poynter. Mr. Hyde joined the Wairoa volunteers during the Native troubles, and holds the New Zealand war medal. His first wife, whom he married in 1870, bore him one son, now known as Lieutenant Hyde; and by his present wife, he has one daughter, who is married to Mr. M. Perry, head teacher of the Kihikihi school.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Duncan McNicol,
               
 sometime of Wairoa South, and one of the first two pioneers of the district, was born in the Isle of Arran, Scotland, in the year 1825, and was brought up to farming. In 1847 he and his wife left Glasgow for Australia by the ship “Melbourne,” and landed at the city of that name, while it was, comparatively, a straggling village. Mr. McNicol soon obtained an engagement with Mr. John Thompson, a large squatter, with whom he remained for two years and a half. He then started farming on his own account, on a farm which he purchased near Geelong. On the discovery of gold Mr. McNicol left Mrs McNicol in town, and went to the diggings. His partner, Mr. Hoye, looked after their claims, while he (Mr. McNicol) carted provisions from Geelong to the fields. The partners were most successful in their search for gold, but, owing to the ill-health of Mrs McNicol, who was recommended by the doctors to leave for a more temperate climate, they disposed of their claims, and, accompanied by Mrs McNicol and three children, they came to New Zealand about 1853. Having decided on Wairoa as their future home, Messrs McNicol and Hoye each purchased a farm, and, helped by his wife, Mr. McNicol started the hard work of clearing and making a home. Undeterred by many difficulties and dangers, he persevered, and in a short time saw the success of his efforts. The pioneers travelled from Auckland to Wairoa in a canoe, which also carried their belongings, and the Maoris built a raupo whare to accommodate their new neighbours. Mr. McNicol then designed a more commodious home, and after sawing the timber he built the first wooden house in the district, into which he brought the first cattle. His knowledge of cattle was well known afterwards; he was recognised as one of the best judges, and his decisions always gave the utmost satisfaction at cattle shows. His reputation as a breeder of fine sheep, too, was acknowledged throughout the province, and the prizes he obtained at the various New Zealand shows were innumerable. Mr. McNicol was of a most generous disposition, but very retiring, and refrained from taking any active part in the public affairs of his district. About the year 1864, Mr McNicol went to the Waikato, where he took up land, commenced farming, and bred the Lincoln sheep which the late Mr. John McNicol owned at the time of his death, and which were noted all over the province. Mr. Duncan McNicol died, after a very active and useful life, on the 27th of August, 1895, leaving Mrs McNicol with three sons and three daughters, out of a family of eleven, to mourn thir loss. Mrs McNicol, though beyond the Scriptural alloted span, is still (July, 1901) hale and hearty, and is held in the greatest esteem by both young and old who have the pleasure of her acquaintance. She was Miss Marian Bannantyne, and married her late husband at Arran in 1845. All through her life she has been a worthy and devoted wife.
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Her cheerful disposition and sympathy helped her husband to overcome many of the hardships and troubles incidental to their eventful life. Although she speaks in the highest terms of the great kindness of the natives in the earlier days of settlement, she experienced her share of danger when the native troubles broke out. On one memorable occasion, during an attack by the Maoris, she snatched up her son, and ran with him in her arms for shelter to the house. On entering, a bullet grazed the arm of the officer who held the door open for her entrance. She has been a wonderfully active woman throughout her life, and helped her husband so effectively in the early hard work of pioneering that she contributed substantially to his material prosperity.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Charles William Stephens
                
                is a son of Captain George Stephens, of the Honourable East India Company's service, and was born at Stoke Gabriel, on the river Dart, in the county of Devon, England, in 1837. He was brought up to a seafaring life, and served his apprenticeship with the firm of George Marshall and Son, London, large shipowners, who had then a contract with the Government to carry emigrants to Australia. Mr. Stephens arrived in 1858 at Rockhampton, at the time of the “rush,” one of the most calamitous rushes of that period. After remaining a short time, he worked his passage to Sydney, whence he went to the “rush” at Lemon's Flat, and was present during the Chinese riots. After three years of prosperity, Mr. Stephens left the diggings, spent some time in Sydney and Melbourne, and then returned Home, and started farming with his brother. In 1865 he determined to come to New Zealand, and arrived by the ship “Mary Shepherd,” landing first at Captain Daldy's special settlement at the Bay of Islands. He and his wife each received a grant of forty acres at Matakohe, but he was not satisfied with the land, and purchased from the Maoris 750 acres at Maraetai, which was originally set apart as a Maori reserve by Governor Hobson. Mr. Stephens was the pioneer settler in that district, which was then in its wild uncultivated state, without roads or bridges, and his only neighbours were the Maoris. Under these conditions Mr. Stephens set to work to make a home for himself and family. He built a whare, cleared and cultivated the land, and in a short time could foresee the ultimate success of his labours. There was, however, no school at Maraetai, and for the sake of the education of his children, Mr. Stephens bought his present beautiful home at Clevedon, from Mr. John Dow, in 1878. From his earliest pioneer days Mr. Stephens has taken a very prominent part in the affairs of his district. He was the means of getting Maraetai its first school, and after his arrival in Clevedon he was appointed treasurer to the Wairoa South Road Board, and was shortly afterwards elected its chairman—a position he held for thirteen years. The state of the public roads shows how thoroughly he did his duty. Mr. Stephens was for years chairman of the licensing committee, and for twenty years secretary, treasurer, and minister's warden for the Anglican Church. He took an active part in forming the Clevedon Steam Navigation Co., Limited, and was its first secretary. The settlers in the neighbouring district are the shareholders, and the steam service has been entirely successful in ensuring rapid communication between the various districts themselves and between them collectively and the outer markets. Mr. Stephens is a Freemason of old standing, and member of the Lodge Wairoa. He married Miss Wilkes, and of a family of five sons and five daughters, two sons and three daughters are married.
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Drury.

            

              
              


                

                  
Drury
                
                was selected as a settlement early in the history of Auckland. It is connected by rail with the city, from which it is distant twenty-two miles southward, on the sea coast, and in the county of Manukau. The district is agricultural, and dairying is carried on by the settlers with much advantage. Flaxmilling, too, is successful as a local industry. Game abounds in the district, which has a public school, a post, telegraph and money order office, and a daily mail service.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Hon. Henry Chamberlin
                
                was born at “The Close,” Norwich, England, on the 31st of July, 1825, and was the eldest son of Mr. Henry Chamberlin, of Narborough Hall, Norfolk. He first came to Auckland in 1853, and soon after his arrival bought part of the Waihoihoi estate, Drury, and a large block of land at Raglan. He subsequently went to other parts of New Zealand, and then returned to England, visiting Palestine, and the East on his way. His father died in 1857, leaving him ample means. In 1859, he married Elizabeth Catherine, second daughter of Mr. George Hammond Heard, of Norfolk, and shortly afterwards the newly-married couple sailed for Auckland, via Melbourne, by the s.s. “Great Britain.” Soon after his arrival in Auckland Mr. Chamberlin bought a large block of land at Hobsonville, extending to Riverhead. In 1863 he again visited England, and he returned to New Zealand in 1866. It was then that he bought more land, including the Drury coalfields. Of this he sold a considerable portion before he died, but retained about 1250 acres, upon which his widow sometimes resides. Mr. Chamberlin spent over £7000 upon his Drury property, but knowing nothing whatever of farming, it was a total loss to him, though his outlay helped the surrounding small settlers. In 1869 Mr. Chamberlin was called to the Legislative Council by Sir Edward Stafford's Government, and remained a member until his death in 1888. Mr. Chamberlin cordially supported the Deceased Wife's Sister 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]l, and he advocated the abolition of the employment of barmaids in hotels. As a private citizen and public man, he shunned public giving, but he was a silent and liberal benefactor in deserving cases and causes in his native and in his adopted country. None of his benefactions were made public during his lifetime, but after his death some or them were mentioned in Norfolk and New Zealand newspapers. One noteworthy instance is recorded in the following letter written by Sir Francis Bateman: “Norwich, October 13, 1888. Dear Mrs Chamberlin—I was deeply grieved at seeing the announcement of the death of Mr. Chamberlin. I know how coldly words of sympathy fall upon the ear in times of such crushing bereavement, but as he was one of my oldest friends, and as we were schoolfellows, I cannot refrain from tendering you my warmest sympathy. The city in which he was born has also lost a substantial friend, for thirty years ago he gave the large sum of £500 to the Norfolk and Norwich Hospital, and a similar sum to the Norwich Blind Asylum. These acts of charity are tangible proofs of his benevolent character. Trusting you may be comforted and sustained in this great trial, I am, dear Mrs Chamberlin, yours very sincerely, F. Bateman, M.D., Senior Physician to the Norfolk and Norwich Hospital. To Mrs Henry Chamberlin.” When Mr. Chamberlin died in 1888, he was survived by his widow and one daughter, married to Mr. J. A. Laing, now Dr. J. A. Laing, of Devonport, Auckland. Mrs Chamberlin resides at “Fir Grove,” Gladstone Road, Parnell, Auckland.
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Pukekohe.

            

              
              


                

                  
Pukekohe
                
                is a flourishing farming district on the Waikato line, about thirty miles from Auckland. The land is rich and there is a considerable industry in dairy produce. It is a post and telegraph town and has a daily mail service. The district was settled about the year 1865, chiefly in five-acre and ten-acre blocks. For a number of years it was governed by one local body, the Pukekohe Road Board, but owing to the progress of settlement and the consequent increase of roads, it was found necessary to divide the district into two, now known as the Pukekohe East and Pukekohe West road districts respectively. Most of the country was covered with dense bush when it was first opened up. The land is undulating, and well adapted



for dairy farming. Pukekohe is the centre of an extensive district, and there is coach communication from it to Mauku, Waiuku, and other outlying settlements. The local railway station is 215 feet above sea level, but on each side of the township considerable hills have to be passed to reach the various parts of the district, which is in the county of Franklin.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Pukekohe West Road Board
                
                was formed about 1886, when the original Pukekohe road district, which was established in 1865, was divided into two districts. The total ratable value of the district in 1900 was £113,000; a rate of £3/4d in the £ is usual. The revenue of the board for 1900 was £554, including the Government subsidy of £169. Members for 1900; Mr. Charles Shipherd, chairman, and Messrs J. H. Wright, J. Latimer, T. Moore, and J. Hart.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Latimer,
                who has been for many years a Member of the Pukekohe West Road Board, and was previously a Member of the original Pukekohe Road Board, is an old settler in the district. He has been identified with the local school committee for about twenty years, and been chairman for a considerable portion of the time. Mr. Latimer was born at Ashfield, County Cavan, Ireland, in 1841, and was brought up to agriculture on his father's farm. He arrived in Auckland on the 14th of February, 1865, by the ship “Ganges,” found employment with the late Mr. James Dilworth, and had charge of that gentleman's stud of draught horses for about three years. After a short stay at the Thames, Mr. Latimer settled in the Pukekohe district in 1868, and purchased 100 acres of land, which he has since worked as a dairy farm. Mr. Latimer was married, in 1871, to a daughter of the late Mr. Robert Hanna, of Auckland. This lady died in 1891, leaving three sons and two daughters. In December, 1893, Mr. Latimer was married to a daughter of the late Mr. Charles Burton, of Auckland, and there are two daughters by this marriage.
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Mr. Thomas Moore,
                who has for many years been a Member of the Pukekohe West Road Board, was born in County Monaghan, Ireland, in June, 1817. He was farming for twenty years on his own account in his native country, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Ganges” on the 14th of February, 1865, when he secured a ten-acre grant in the Pukekohe district, where he has resided almost continuously since his arrival.
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Mr. Jacob Henry Wright,
                J.P., who is a Member of the Pukekohe West Road Board, and was for about seven years consecutively chairman of that body, was born near Penzance, Cornwall, England, in 1840. His father was a shipowner and captain, and brought him up to a seafaring life, and he successfully passed an examination in navigation in 1856. Subsequently he gave some attention to farming, but afterwards went to sea to complete his time. The accounts received in England from New Zealand attracted him, and, deciding to become a settler, he left England in the ship “Bombay,” which arrived in Auckland on the 18th of March, 1865. Mr. Wright was fortunate in securing a special grant of 100 acres for himself and his wife, and, having selected this property on Pukekohe Hill, he became one of the first settlers in that part of the district, which was at that time all bush. In 1875 he returned to England after selling his land. Eighteen months later he returned to the colony, and purchased the property which he now holds, under the name of “Boscarne,” which is 303 acres in extent, and is now in a high state of cultivation. Mr. Wright has taken a great interest in the progress of the district in educational matters. He served on the Pukekohe West school committee for many years, and was appointed by the Government to convene the first meeting under the Education Act of 1877. He was also for four years a member of the Auckland Board of Education. As long ago as 1870 he was secretary and collector for the Pukekohe Road Board, which then included the two districts known as Pukekohe East and Pukekohe West. Afterwards he was for several years secretary of the Pukekohe West Board, and is at present, and has been for many years, a member of the Franklin Licensing Committee. As a volunteer, he has served as second lieutenant in No. 1 Company Pukekohe Rifles, and received his commission from Sir G. F. Bowen on the 10th of February, 1873. Mr Wright has been a lay reader in connection with the Church of England for some years, and has been local correspondent for the New Zealand Herald since 1880. He has also been treasurer for the Auckland district of the New Zealand Farmers' Union since its inception. In the early sixties he started the Onehunga Racing Club, and about twenty years later the Pukekohe Club. Mr. Wright was married, in 1861, to a daughter of Mr. R. Bilkey, of Buckland, and has five sons and three daughters, and twelve grandchildren living, and one dead. In a word, Mr. Wright belongs to the honourable legion of pioneer settlers, who penetrate the backwoods to carve new homes out of the primeval forests, and sow the seeds of well high all that is prosperous and pleasant in the condition of their adopted country.
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Mr. Thomas Grey Usher,
                Secretary and Treasurer of the Pukekohe West Road Board, was born in 1839, in the County of Durham, England. He came out to Queensland in 1865, but two years later removed to Newcastle, New South Wales, where he resided for twelve years. In 1879 Mr. Usher came to the Bay of Islands as underground manager at the coal mine, and was afterwards in business as a butcher at Kawakawa. He settled in the Pukekohe district in 1884, and keeps a boardinghouse in a central position in the township.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Pukekohe Mounted Rifles
                
                were formed in 1900, and have a membership of eighty-four. The officers are: Lieutenants H. Dell, A. Connell, and J. W. Johns. Mr. A. White is secretary and quartermaster.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Henry Dell,
                of the Pukekohe Mounted Rifles, was born in Auckland in 1864. He is a saddler by trade, and has been in business in the district since 1885.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Pukekohe Railway Station And Post And Telegraph Office
                
                was established in 1875. It is of wood and iron, and contains a ladies' waiting room, public vestibule, railway and postal room, and porter's room; and there is a large goods shed with a space of 1800 square feet. There are four sidings in connection with the station, and the staff consists of the stationmaster, two cadets, a messenger, and a porter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Booth Fleming,
                Stationmaster and Officer-in-charge of the Post and Telegraph Department, was born at Longford, Ireland, and came to New Zealand with his parents by the ship “England,” in 1865. He was brought up to mercantile life, but entered the Government service as a cadet in Auckland in 1881. In 1887 he was appointed stationmaster at Hamilton, and four years later was transferred to Pukekohe.

            

            

              
              


                
Pukekohe West Public School,
                which was established about 1870, stands on a five-acre section in the old township. The building has been twice enlarged, and now contains three class rooms, with accommodation for 250 children, of whom there are 120 on the roll, and the average attendance is 105. Two certificated teachers assist the headmaster.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Casper Semadeni,
                Headmaster of Pukekohe West Public School, holds a O certificate, and was born at Waipu in 1868. He was appointed to his present position in 1899, and had before that been stationed successively at Newton West for two years, Tauranga, one year, Newmarket, one year, Woodside (Papatoitoi), three years, and at Devonport, five years.

            

            

              
              


                
St. Andrew's Church,
                Pukekohe, which was erected about 1875, is of wood and iron, and has accommodation for 125 persons. There are thirty scholars attending the Sunday school, which is conducted by four teachers. The church is under the charge of the Rev. F. B. Dobson, vicar of Bombay and Pukekohe, who resides at Bombay.

            

            

              
              


                
The Pukekohe Presbyterian Church,
                which was opened at the beginning of 1898, occupies a central position in the township. The church is a handsome building of wood and iron, with a bell tower; it will hold 250 persons, and there is a vestry and a small hall at the back. The manse, a seven-roomed building, was erected before 1880. Services are conducted at East Pukekohe, Mauku, Puni, Bombay, Pokeno, Tuakau, Kauawa, Maramara, Maungatawhiri Valley, Onewhero, Pukekawa, and at Waiau.
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The Rev. William Findlay,
                who has charge of the Presbyterian cause in the Pukekohe district, was born in Forfarshire, Scotland, in 1855. He was educated at the parish school, and at the Free Church College in Glasgow University. Mr. Findlay arrived in New Zealand in 1886 by the s.s. “Coptic,” and was assistant to the Rev. J. G. Paterson, at Napier, for two years before he removed to Pukekohe, where he was ordained in 1888. Mr. Findlay was married, in 1886, to a daughter of the Rev. D. Farquhar, some time of Broomielaw Free Church, Glasgow, and has one son.

            

            

              
              


                
St. James' Church,
                Pukekohe, which is the principal church in the Pukekohe district, belongs to the Roman Catholics, and its district extends from Drury to Mercer and from Ararimu South to Maioro, including Waipipi, Waiuku, and Awhitu. Besides St. James', the presbytery and the convent of St. Mary the Immaculate, stand on the site, which consists of five acres. The church has seat accommodation for 100 worshippers, and the convent can accommodate twenty boarders, in addition to the Sisters of the Mission in charge.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Joseph Loughlin Ahern,
                Priest in charge of the Pukekohe District, was born at Meelin, County Cork, Ireland, in 1848. He was educated at Rock Chapel and at the classical schools of Kanturk and Castleisland, Ireland, and subsequently at All Hallows College, Dublin. His ecclesiastical course was finished at St. Mary's College, Cleveland, Ohio, United States of America, and he was ordained on the 4th of July, 1875, at St. John's Cathedral, Cleveland, Ohio. After that he had charge of the churches at Alliance, Tiffin, and Toledo, all in Ohio, and left America in August, 1879, invalided to Ireland. Having recovered his health, Father Ahern came to Wellington in 1881, and after serving three months in Blenheim, he was removed to Nelson, where he ministered for a similar term. He then had charge of Waipawa, Hawke's Bay, for seven years, and was for a corresponding period at Grafton, New South Wales. In 1895 Father Ahern returned to New Zealand, and after ministering for two years at Gisborne, he was appointed to Pukekohe in 1897.
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                  The Wesleyan Church
                
                at Pukekohe, which is considered the headquarters of the Franklin circuit, was erected in 1878, and the building was removed to its present site in 1891. There are five acres of land, on which stands the parsonage, an eight-roomed building erected in 1882. The church itself is a wooden building with an iron roof, and there is seating accommodation for 120 worshippers. The Sunday school is held in the church, and there are sixty scholars, and seven teachers. There are several other churches in the Franklin circuit; namely, at Waiuku, Tuakau, Mauku, Bombay, Paparata, and Pokeno; and there are ten other preaching places, at which services are held chiefly in the public schools. The resident minister is assisted by a Home Missionary, who is stationed at Waiuku.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. George Thomas Marshall,
                Wesleyan Minister in charge of the Franklin Circuit, resides at Pukekohe. He was born at Leamington, England, in 1853, and held a position as book-keeper and cashier to a firm of English merchants, until he left for New Zealand, in which he arrived in January, 1881, by the ship “Loch Urr.” Before coming to the colony Mr. Marshall was a local preacher in connection with the Wesleyan Church, and became a candidate for the ministry in 1882. He was for one year at the Three King's Institute, as a student at his own expense, and for a second year by direction of the Conference. Mr. Marshall has been engaged in the work as a minister since 1883, when he was appointed to the



Upper Thames circuit. Subsequently he was at Kawakawa, Northern Wairoa, Paparoa, Tauranga, and Opunake respectively, and was afterwards at Richmond for four years. He was stationed at Pukekohe in April, 1899. Mr. Marshall was married, in 1887, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. P. Brown, a very old settler in the Bay of Islands, and has four sons and three daughters.
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Lodge Franklin,
                No. 58, N.Z.C. This lodge was established in 1885. Officers for 1900: Bro. H. M. Johnston, W.M.; Bro. H. Hockin, P.M., secretary; Bro. W. Roleston, S.W.; Bro. D. Jamieson, J.W.; Bro. C. Shipherd, P.M., treasurer; Bro. J. G. Rutherford, P.M., chaplain; and Bro. H. Dell, P.M.D.C. There are thirty-six members, and the Masonic Hall, which belongs to the lodge, is a twostorey building erected in 1886 at a cost of £600. Under the lodge room there is a large hall, which is used for public meetings.

            

            

              
              


                
The Franklin Rugby Union,
                which controls football in the Franklin district, was established in 1898. The clubs connected with the Union are Pukekohe, Tuakau, Waiuku, and Southern Wairoa. Officers for 1900: Messrs H. Hockin, president, and J. Patterson, secretary, with three delegates from each club. The winner of the senior and junior championships for 1900 was the Waiuku Club. Pukekohe has won the championship four times, and Southern Wairoa thrice.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Franklin Agricultural Society
                
                was established in 1886. Officers for 1901: Messrs C. Shipherd, president: G. Ballard and A. J. Laurie, vice-presidents; Messrs J. G. Rutherford, J. Johns, J. Roulston, junior, D. Jamieson, R. Madill, James Potter, H. Wily, S. Wildblood, J. McDonald, J. Kennelly, W. Booker, and R. Wilkinson, executive committee; R. McCowen, treasurer; J. Roulston, senior, and J. H. Wright, auditors; J. Patterson, secretary. The society's grounds almost adjoin the Pukekohe railway station, and consist of eight acres and a half, purchased in 1900. Suitable buildings have been erected, and the annual show, held in March, is considered one of the important shows held in the Auckland province. Prizes to the value of £300 in cash and kind are distributed. The entries of exhibits for the 1901 show were very nearly 800 in number.

            

            

              
              


                
The Pukekohe Musical And Dramatic Society,
                which was established in 1897, gives periodical entertainments in the Masonic Hall for charitable and other local purposes. Officers for 1900: Mr H. Dell, chairman and business manager; Mr. T. B. Fleming, secretary; Mr. H. M. Johnston, treasurer; and Mr. A. J. Laurie, stage manager. There are about forty members.

            

            

              
              


                
The Magistrate's Court and Police Station,
                Pukekohe. The courthouse includes the court room and rooms for the magistrate and clerk. The police station is a seven-roomed building, with a lock-up and stable. The Magistrate's Court was established in 1883, the police station two years later; the district in charge of the local constable covers an area of thirty square miles, and has a population of from 3000 to 4000. It extends from Onewhero to Wairamara, and from Karaka near Drury to a point about half way to Raglan, and includes the district between Waiau and Paparata.

            

            

              
              


                

Smyth, Andrew Crawford,
                Chemist and Druggist, Pukekohe. Mr. Smyth was born in Ireland in 1853. He studied for his profession in London, and was registered at Apothecaries' Hall. He was three years in business on his own account at Peckham, came to Auckland by the ship “Halcione,” in 1881, and established his business in Pukekohe in 1894.

            

            

              
              


                

Goodwin, Daniel,
                Coachbuilder and Wheelwright, Main Road, Pukekohe. Mr. Goodwin has a large workshop and paintshop adjoining his boardinghouse, and has conducted the wheelwright business since May, 1883. He was born in County Fermanagh, Ireland, learned the trade of a carpenter, and came to New Zealand by the ship “Dauntless,” as ship's carpenter, in 1866. Mr. Goodwin commenced business in Parnell, but removed in 1867 to Onehunga. He was for sixteen years in business at Otahuhu, and removed to Pukekohe in 1883. Among his early experiences in the colony he can recall work in connection with the railway traffic at Newmarket, and the construction of clay waggons for Messrs Brogden and Sons.
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The Pukekohe Central Factory,
                which belongs to the New Zealand Dairy Association, is an extensive building of wood and iron, and has a large brick chimney stack 60 feet in height. It is about two miles from Pukekohe township on the main road. The motive power consists of a 30 feet Cornish boiler by Fraser and Tinne, of Auckland, and two twelve-horse power Tangye engines. There are three 400-gallon Alpha separators, and a complete butter-making plant, including four box churns and one butter worker. The temperature is regulated by a powerful refrigerator, aided by water coolers. For the season of 1900–1901 the output of butter was estimated at from 500 to 550 tons. The cream from nineteen creameries is treated at the factory, which employs ten hands in addition to the manager. There is a special department for testing the butter-fat value of all the milk received, not only at the factory but at forty-two creameries situated in various parts of the Upper and Lower Waikato. The testing plant consists of two testers; one known as a Russian Babcock, and the other as a “Facile” milk-tester. Samples of the milk sent in by each supplier to the forty-two creameries are sent down for testing purposes regularly, and so that no injustice may be done to the suppliers, each one is paid according to his milk's value in butter-fat.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Sydney Morris,
                the Manager of the Pukekohe Central Dairy Factory, was born in the Isle of Wight in 1861. Before coming to New Zealand he gave special attention to the dairy industry. He was engaged by the New Zealand Diary Association in 1890 to take a position in connection with its business as a foreman. Mr. Morris is well known as a capable manager, and exercises a wise supervision over the whole work of the Pukekohe Central Factory. He was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. J. E. Ackroyd, farmer, of Temuka, Canterbury, and has four daughters and two sons.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alexander Stevenson,
                the Officer in charge of the Testing Department of the Pukekohe Central Dairy Factory, was born in 1859 in Glasgow, Scotland, and came when he was four years of age to Auckland, with his parents, in the ship “Ganges.” He was brought up as a carpenter, and followed his trade for seven years in Auckland. In 1885 he joined the butter department of the New Zealand Freezing Company under Mr. Spragg, and had charge of the churns at the Pukekohe Factory for two years, and was subsequently in charge of the creamery for a similar



period. He then returned to Pukekohe, and was in the butter room for two years before he was appointed to his present position.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Pukekohe Hotel
                
                (William Clarke, proprietor), Pukekohe. This hotel was established in 1863. It is a two-storey building of wood and iron, has a verandah and balcony, and contains about fourteen rooms. Stables, loose-boxes, and a paddock adjoin the hotel.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Goodwin's Boardinghouse
                
                (Daniel Goodwin, proprietor), Main Road, near railway station, Pukekohe. This establishment consists of two buildings of one and two stories respectively, and contains altogether twelve rooms, including the bathroom. The dining room, measures 30 feet by 20 feet, and has chairs for about fifty persons. The establishment has been conducted as a boarding-house since 1894. Mrs Goodwin, who takes the management is very attentive and considerate to her visitors. Behind the house there is a large stable, with eleven stalls and two loose boxes.

            

            

              
              


                

Webster, Robert Fellowes,
                Saddler, Pukekohe. Mr. Webster was born at Bermuda, in October, 1846, and educated at Chichester, and at Edinburgh. Mr. Webster came to New Zealand in 1859, by the ship “Persia.” and was employed for nine months at the New Zealander Office in Auckland. He learned his business as a saddler in Auckland, and afterwards worked seven years with the late Mr. J. Wiseman. He then commenced on his own account in premises next to the Union Bank in Queen Street. Three years later he removed to Waiuku, and after a stay of twelve months, removed to Pukekohe, where he has been in business since 1879. Mr. Webster's premises are in the main street, and consist of a substantial shop and a dwelling of seven rooms. As a volunteer he served for six years in the Waiuku Cavalry, and was for about ten years lieutenant of the South Franklin Mounted Rifles. Mr. Webster was married, in 1881, to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Potter, merchant, of Auckland, and has three daughters. He is a Justice of the Peace, and has been chairman of the Pukekohe school committee, and also a member of the local road board.
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McCowen, Richard,
                General Store keeper, corner of Main and Pukekohe Hill roads, Pukekohe. This business, which has been conducted by the present proprietor since 1884, was carried on for some years previously by Mr. Buchanan. The buildings, which are ereced on a large corner section, half an acre in extent, consist of a commodious shop and dwelling, besides two wood and iron stores, where stocks of grain and produce are stacked.

            

            

              
              


                
Roulston Bros.
                (William Roulston), General Storekeepers and Butchers, Pukekohe. Mr. Roulston was born in Auckland and was educated at the Grammar School. He started business for himself some years ago, securing his present store from Mr. Sanderson. The building is the principal one in the main street, to which it has a frontage of sixty feet and forty feet to Hall Street. The buildings are used for a corn store, and general store purposes such as grocery, clothing, boots, ironmongery, etc. The firm imports direct from the Home markets and supplies the surrounding country as far as Mercer and Huntly. Mr. Roulston takes a prominent part in the athletic clubs of the country districts, and is vice-president of the Pukekohe Football Club.
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Johns, John,
               
 Farmer, “Vale Farm,” Pukekohe. Mr. Johns' holding consists of a well-laid out farm of 350 acres, fifty of which are in cultivation and the remainder in grass. He runs 100 sheep, sixty head of cattle, and twelve horses, and is assisted by his six sons. His residence, a well-built eight-roomed weatherboard house, is surrounded by two acres of orchard, planted with the choicest fruit trees. Mr. Johns was born in Devonshire in 1830 and left England in 1866 in the s.s. “Liverpool,” landing at Auckland. On arrival, he obtained employment as manager of a farm at Penrose, and commenced farming pursuits on his own account at Mangere in 1869, remaining there
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until 1880, when he took up his present holding at Pukekohe. Mr. Johns is an excellent judge of cattle and is vice-president of the Franklin Agricultural Society.

            

            

              
              


                

Laurie, Alexander Jack,
                Settler, Pukekohe. Mr. Laurie was born in Dunscore, Dumfries-shire, Scotland, and received his education in that town; some time afterwards he sailed for the colonies in the s.s. “John Elder,” landing at Melbourne. He came over to Auckland in November, 1881, in the s.s. “Arawata.” After being in that city about three years, Mr. Laurie started contracting, but went back to Melbourne, where he continued business. He returned to Auckland in 1895, when he purchased his present holding in the Pukekohe district. The farm consists of 178 acres, eighty of which are in grass, the remainder under cultivation. The greater portion of the land is of a rich swampy nature and may be said to comprise some of the choicest country in the Pukekohe district. There are seventy head of cattle and eight horses on the farm, which has a very comfortable homestead surrounded by extensive outbuildings.

            

            

              
              


                

Roose, Elijah,
                Farmer, Pukekohe. The subject of this sketch was born in Cornwall, England, and came to the Colony with his father in 1859 by the ship “Excelsior,” landing at Auckland. When his father died in 1864, Mr. Roose continued farming on his own account, and now holds 500 acres, 400 of which are under cultivation; and forty head of cattle and 400 sheep are grazed on the land. The farm has been nearly all cleared by Mr. Roose, who found it covered with scrub and mixed bush. There is a comfortable dwelling of seven rooms. Mr. Roose is married and has seven children.
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Roulston, James,
                Farmer, “Belmont.” Pukekohe. This gentleman, whose handsome residence is one of the prominent homesteads of the district, was born in Donegal, Ireland, and came to Australia in 1861 in the ship “Oceanica,” landing at Melbourne. He started farming at Broad-meadows, about eight miles from Melbourne, where he remained for six months, and then went on to Bacchus Marsh. He stayed in that district about nine months and when the gold “rush” broke out at Gabriel's Gully, he went to Tuapeka, Otago, and after meeting with fair success followed the “rush” to Wakamarina, where he remained nine months and then went to Wairoa. Mr. Roulston removed to Auckland in 1865, went to the Thames and was eight years at Punga Flat as hotel and storekeeper. He then took over the Pukekohe Hotel and store which he owned for ten years. After that he engaged in farming and has been eighteen years on his present holding of 200 acres. Mr. Roulston has always taken great interest in blood stock and owns the famous brood mare “Winnie,” dam of the hurdler “Belmont,” whose record in winning the Grand National Hurdles at Ellerslie has not been beaten.
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Routly, John,
                Farmer. Aldercombe, Pukekohe. Mr. Routly was born at his present residence in 1868. In 1866 his father, the late Mr. W. Routly, purchased the estate, which consists of about 208 acres of fine agricultural land. It is now in a high state of cultivation, and has one of the finest flocks of Lincoln sheep in the district, besides cattle. Mr. Routly uses all the modern appliances for agricultural operations. After receiving his education at Pukekohe he succeeded to the management of the estate in 1887 on the death of his father. He is a thoroughly practical farmer, taking a deep interest in matters pastoral and agricultural. The farm runs about 300 Lincoln longwool sheep, and thirty head of cattle, and about fifty or sixty acres are under crop annually. The dwelling-house, which is a commodious and comfortable residence of nine rooms, is situated on a gentle rise off Pukekohe Hill, and commands a magnificent view of the surrounding country. Mr. Routly is vice-president of the Franklin Agricultural Society and is unmarried. His mother is the oldest lady settler in the district and during the Waikato war had to flee for her life from the natives. She arrived at Pukekohe in 1859, when she came out from England with her brother, Mr. E. Roose. At that time the district was a trackless waste, covered with bush, and practically without signs of civilisation for twelve miles around.
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Routly, M. B.,
                Farmer, Pukekohe. The subject of this sketch was born in Cornwall. England, and came to the Colony in 1865, in the sailing ship “Lancashire Witch.” On arrival Mr. Routly went to Rama Rama, where he learnt colonial farming under Mr. John Martin, with whom he remained over six years. He then removed to Pukekohe, to manage his father's farm which he now occupies. It consists of 100 acres, and is situated about two miles from Pukekohe. When Mr. Routly took up the land it was virgin bush, there not being sufficient clearing to grow a dozen cabbages. Now there are twenty-five acres under crop with the balance in grass. The farm runs 130 sheep with lambs, and twenty head of cattle. There is a homestead of six rooms with large sheds and stable. Mr. Routly is unmarried



and resides with his mother and sister.
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Mr. James Fraser,
                who is a retired civil officer of the Government of India, was born in 1833, in Ross-shire, Scotland. He went to India in 1857, served in the Army during the Mutiny till 1859, and attained the rank of sergeant-major. Mr. Fraser was present at the siege and capture of Lucknow, at the battle of Bareilly, and at minor engagements, and holds the Mutiny medal and clasps for Lucknow. He became a civil officer of the Indian Government in 1861, and occupied a position in the Administration Department of the Province of Kumaon for thirty years. At the end of 1891 he retired from the service on a pension. He came to New Zealand early in 1893, and settled at Pukekohe in 1894.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Wilkinson,
                J.P., Old Colonist, “The Woodlands,” Pukekohe, was born in Cumberland, England, in 1830. He was the only son of an old North of England yeoman, was brought up to farming, and before coming to the colony held responsible positions under some well known noblemen. He arrived in Auckland in 1880, rented a house in Parnell for four months, and in 1881 he settled in the Pukekohe district, where he purchased the Woodlands estate. Mr. Wilkinson was made a Justice of the Peace in 1883.
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Waiuku
                
                is situated on one of the many arms of the Manukau harbour, about thirty miles from Onehunga by steamer, and fourteen miles from the Pukekohe railway station. The district has a population of 460 inhabitants, some fine general stores, a first-class hotel, Anglican, Presbyterian and Wesleyan churches—where weekly services are held—a Magistrate's Court, Masonic and public halls, post and telephone offices, and creameries, and all the other adjuncts of a provincial town. Its history dates from the early days of the colony, as in the fifties it was a very thriving little township, the centre of a large trade between Auckland and the Waikato, on the only route then existing between the latter place and Onehunga. The Waikato natives were then growing large quantities of wheat, which was conveyed down the Waikato river and up the Awaroa tributary, and thence by bullock teams along the portage road for two miles to Waiuku, for shipment to Onehunga. A large industry was carried on also in flax, and a number of flaxmills were working in the district, giving employment to numerous settlers, and the wages thus earned enabled them to carry on the improvement of their farms. The progress of the district has been very marked, and its prosperity is most patent. The land is very fertile on the higher grounds, and the swamp land, which contains thousands of acres, is being thoroughly drained and laid down in pasturage; the flats are recognised as being amongst the richest in New Zealand, and in times of the greatest drought the grass is still luxuriant. There is a great demand for land on the Aka Aka and Awaroa swamp, and very high prices are given, as the land's remarkable fattening qualities are well known. On the western side of the Waiuku, on the higher land, there is a large and fertile tract of grass country, extending from the Waikato river to the Manukau Heads, that has long been recognised as being second to none for grazing purposes, and there thousands of cattle are fattened yearly for the Auckland markets. The surrounding country is very charming, with its hills, ornamented with clumps of the beautiful native bush, miles of rich pasture land, and the broad Waikato flowing along the flats; and from the higher ground an anchanting view of the Tasman Sea, and the placid waters of the Manukau, is obtainable. The visitor may be disappointed on his first visit to Waiuku, but a short trip into the country will amply repay the trouble. The main street of Waiuku is the boundary line dividing the districts controlled by the Waiuku and Waipipi Road Boards. Formerly the Mauku, Waiuku and Waipipi Road Boards were one body, but owing to the increasing importance of Waiuku and Waipipi, these places were formed into separate road districts.
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Mr. Henare Kaihau,
                Member of the House of Representatives for the Western Maori Electorate, and a son of the late influential chief, Mr. A. Kaihau, of Waiuku, was born in 1855. He was educated at Archdeacon Maunsell's School, Waikato. At the early age of twenty-four, he began to take a great interest in all matters relating to the welfare of his people, and to show that ability which has since marked his political career. For years he was a leading spirit at all the meetings of the Native Parliament, in which he was accustomed to speak with the fluency which is a marked characteristic of his race. In 1896 Mr. Kaihau was elected member to represent the Western Maori district in the New Zealand Parliament, and was re-elected at the general election of 1899, when there were six other candidates; but Mr. Kaihau received 2685 votes of the total number recorded—5096. Mr. Kaihau is well known as a



cultivated man of great ability, and is most painstaking in looking after the interests of the large district he represents.
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                  The Waiuku Road Board
                
                district is bounded by Waiuku and Awaroa creek to the Waikato, east by the Pukokohe road district, south and south-east by the Waikato, and north and north-east by the Mauku road district. In the earlier days of settlement, an acreage rate of 6d per acre was struck. The present ratable value is £82,773, and a revenue of £260 is collected from a rate of £3/4d in the £, and the ratepayers number 238. Mr. C. T. Barriball is chairman, and Mr. W. J. King is collector and secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Thomas Barriball,
                J.P., Chairman of the Waiuku Road Board, is the third son of the late Mr. Charles Barriball, one of the most prominent and respected of the pioneer settlers of Waiuku. He was born in 1845, near Auckland, where he was educated, and came with his parents, in 1860, to Waiuku, where he started farming with his father—an occupation which he has since carried on successfully. At an early age he began to take a keen interest in the general affairs of the district, and at the age of twenty-four was elected a member of the Waiuku Road Board, to which he gave his services until 1899—a period of over twenty years—and was chairman of the Board for the greater part of that time. In 1901 Mr. Barriball was again requested to give his services to the Board, and he was again elected chairman. There are now twenty miles of good roads in the district, and six miles are metalled. Mr. Barriball is a member of the school committee, of which he has been for nine years continuously chairman. He is also chairman and trustee of the Temperance and Public Hall, and a member of the Domain Board. He was long connected with the volunteers, and was one of the original members of the Waiuku Cavalry for about thirty years. For the first half of that period he was sergeant, and for the remaining half sergeant-major, and holds the long service medal. Mr. Barriball has for years devoted his attention to the welfare of the Wesleyan church, and was instrumental in collecting funds for the erection of the present church in 1883, the Barriball family contributing most liberally to that object. It is a fine building, capable of seating 200 worshippers. Mr. Barriball is a well known breeder of Lincoln sheep, and an exhibitor and prize-taker at the leading shows in the province, having won numerous certificates, championships, and silver cups. He has always taken a leading part in the various agricultural and pastoral associations, and was three years successively president of the Franklin Agricultural and Pastoral Association. For over thirty years he has been a strong advocate of temperance. In 1872 Mr. Barriball married Miss Hodge, and they have a family of three sons and seven daughters.
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Mr. William J. King,
                Secretary and Collector of the Waiuku Road Board, and Secretary and Treasurer of the Aka Aka Drainage Board, Returning Officer and Government Valuator, is a son of the late Mr. P. H. King, Clerk of the Court and Interpreter for Waiuku, and grandson of Mr. John King, of the Church Missionary Society at the Bay of Islands, who landed with the Rev. Samuel Marsden in 1814. Mr. King was born at the Bay of Islands, and educated at Waiuku. On leaving school he started farming and contracting, and still successfully follows these occupations. He was first elected a member of the Road Board in 1881, and held the position of treasurer for that year. Mr. King received his present appointment on the Waiuku Road Board in 1897, and on the Drainage Board in the previous year. He was a member of the Waiuku Volunteers, and held the rank of lieutenant under the late Major Hamlin. Mr. King is chairman of the Domain Board, and he is an Oddfellow, and secretary of the Waiuku Lodge. His mother, Mrs King, landed in New Zealand in 1840, and, though now in her eighty-sixth year, she is still (1901) hale and hearty, and lives with her son, who remains unmarried.
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                  The Aka Aka Drainage Board
                
                was formed in 1895, with the object of draining the Aka Aka swamp, containing about 10,000 acres. The first chairman was Mr. Caleb Hosking. The present chairman is Mr. R. Allen Bent, and Mr. W. J. King is treasurer and secretary. A differential rate was struck in 1901, dividing the land into four classes: First class, 1£1/4d; second, 1d; third, £3/4d; and fourth, exempt. A special rate on the money borrowed is levied at two-thirds of a penny in the £. The rates collected amount to £1109, and on the special loan to £26. Two large main drains, 6 feet deep, and about 12 to 13 feet wide, are respectively five and four miles in length, and there are also several miles of auxiliary branch drains.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waipipi Road Board
                
                controls a district which originally formed part of the Mauku and Waiuku road districts, but became a separate district in 1879. The first chairman was Mr. Walter John Harris. The ratable value of property in 1900 was £115,000, and the rates collected, at £3/4d in the £, amounted to £292 8s 9dh. The district is bounded on the south by the Waikato river, on the west by the Tasman Sea, on the north by the Pollock road district, and on the east by the Waiuku estuary, village of Waiuku, and the Awaroa stream through the Awaroa swamp to the Waikato. Mr. A. M. Barriball is chairman, and Mr. A. E. Mellsop, secretary and collector.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. A. M. Barriball,
                Chairman of the Waipipi Road Board, is referred to in another



article as captain of the Waiuku Mounted Rifles.

            

            

              
              


                
The Waiuku Mounted Rifles,
                Waiuku. Officers: Captain A. M. Barriball, Lieutenant Makgill, Lieutenant Bent, and Lieutenant Herrold. The corps has a total strength of eighty-four. Waiuku enjoys the distinction of having formed one of the first volunteer corps in the colony. The Waiuku Royal Cavalry Volunteer Corps was established in 1866, when the officers were Captain Harris, Lieutenant E. Hamlin and Lieutenant Mellsop. The corps continued to exist till 1895, when, owing to the want of encouragement by the Government, it disbanded, much against the wish of the members. On the revival of interest in volunteering, caused by the war in South Africa, the present corps was formed in Waiuku, in October, 1900. The company is composed of the picked men of the district, and is one of the finest bodies of volunteers in the colony. At the military sports held in Potter's Paddock (now Alexandra Park), in the presence of His Excellency Lord Onslow, then Governor, the Waiuku Cavalry were successful in carrying off a great number of the honours. Lord Onslow presented Lieutenant Barriball with the cup won by his squad in the Lloyd Lindsay Competition, Major Hamlin was congratulated on the success of his men, and Trooper Flexman was presented with the medal won by him in the Victoria Cross competition. In several other events the Waiuku Cavalry were also successful. With such a record established by the old corps, the success of the Waiuku Mounted Rifles is not to be wondered at. At the military gymkhyna, held on the 15th of June, 1901, in Potter's Paddock, during the visit of their Royal Highnesses the Duke and Duchess of Cornwall and York, the majority of events were won by the members of the Waiuku Mounted Rifles, who made a record, and established their reputation as being one of the finest bodies of mounted infantry in the Auckland provincial district.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain Alfred Martyn Barriball,
                of the Waiuku Mounted Rifles, is the youngest son of the late Mr. Charles Barriball, one of the earliest settlers in the district. Captain Barriball was born at Epsom in 1856, and was educated at Auckland and Waiuku—at Waiuku, under Mr. Henry Worthington, afterwards head teacher of the Wellesley Street School, Auckland. He went with his parents to Waiuku in 1861, and, on leaving school, started farming, an occupation which he has since successfully carried on. From an early age Mr. Barriball took a great interest in volunteering, as well as in the general affairs of his district. He first joined the volunteers in 1871, and after various promotions in the old corps, received his commission as lieutenant in 1883, and continued with the corps until the disbandment in 1895. Mr. Barriball holds the long service medal. On the formation of the present corps he was appointed to the position of captain. In all local matters Mr. Barriball has taken a prominent and leading part. He has been connected with the Waipipi Road Board since 1893, and has held the position of chairman of that body for a number of years. In educational and church matters he has always taken a prominent position, and has long been a member of the Waiuku school committee. He is a trustee of the Wesleyan church, and has held the position of secretary and reasurer of the Trust since the building of the church. Mr. Barriball is an Oddfellow, and was the first Noble Grand in the Star of Waiuku Lodge. He married Miss Cons
[
unclear: table] and has a family of twelve children, six sons and six daughters.
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Lieutenant Robert Allen Bent
                
                of the Waiuku Mounted Rifles, Pukeroa, Waipipi, is the second son of Mr. Robert Bent now of Remuera, a pioneer settler in the Waiuku district. He was born at Epsom, Auckland, in 1862, and was educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell. After serving four years to the building trade, he went to Waiuku and joined his father, who then owned and farmed what is known as the Lamb Hill estate. Mr. Bent continued with his father until 1891, when he first leased his present fine Pukeroa property of nearly 2000 acres. This property was owned by his father, but Mr. Bent has since acquired the freehold by purchase. It is a noted fattening farm, and was picked out in the early days of settlement for its evident fertility, and joined part of what was known as the Lamb Hill estate. The farm at present carries about 400 head of cattle, but the sandhills are rapidly being converted into fine grass lands, and eventually the property will be capable of fattening twice the present number. Mr Bent has been a member of the Waipipi Road Board for some years, and is at present chairman of the Aka Aka Drainage Board. He was appointe d
[
gap —  
reason: illegible] lieutenant on the formation of the present corps. He is a member of the Auckland and Franklin Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and has been an exhibitor and prizetaker at the various shows. In 1901, he took first prize for the best troop horse, out of twenty-six competitors. He has also been a member of the Anglican church committee for some years. Mr. Bent married, in 1891, Miss Mary Leighton, daughter of Mr. Leighton, of Auckland, cousin of the late Lord Leighton, and has a family of two sons and two daughters.
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Lieutenant John Herrold,
               
 of the Waiuku Mounted Rifles, and of “St. Michael's,” Waiuku, is a son of the late Captain Herrold, of Remuera, and was born at Calcutta in 1877. He came to Auckland with his parents in 1880, and was educated at St.
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John's College, but afterwards studied for two years at the Lincoln Agricultural College, Canterbury, and then started farming at Maungaturoto, where he remained one year. In 1900 he went to Waiuku, and in conjunction with his partner, Mr. Roche, purchased “St. Michael's,” a splendid property of two or three thousand acres. This property is celebrated for its rich pastures, and carries numerous herds of fine cattle. Mr. Herrold has been connected with volunteering since his college days, and was a member of St. John's College Cadets and College Rifles. On the formation of the Waiuku Mounted Rifles, he was appointed lieutenant. He has been an ardent footballer, and is at present captain of the Waiuku Football Club, which won the District Cup in 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant John Edward Makgill,
                of the Waiuku Mounted Rifles, and of “Lucklaw,” Waiuku, is a son of Captain Makgill, and was born in Edinburgh in 1874. In 1830 he came out to New Zealand with his parents, and was educated at St. John's College, and the Auckland Grammar School. He afterwards started farming, and his present property is one of the finest in the district. Mr. Makgill was a member of the Waiuku Cavalry until its disbandment, and was elected lieutenant on the formation of the present corps. He has been a member of the Waipipi Road Board for some time, is a trustee of the Waiuku Racecourse Reserve, and a director of the waiuku Steam Navigation Company. Mr. Makgill was married in 1897 to Miss Devereux, daughter of the Hon. de Bohun Devereux, of Auckland.
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                  Holy Trinity Church
                
               
 (Rev. William Henry Webster, B.A., vicar), Waiuku. This is a handsome little church, built of wood, capable of holding 200 worshippers, and services are held twice on Sundays. It is of recent construction, the original church being at Mauku, where worshippers attend from Waiuku and the outlying districts; but owing to the increasing population, a more central position was fixed upon, and Holy Trinity church was built during the incumbency of the Rev. Mr. Taylor, and the residence of the clergyman removed to Waiuku, owing to the great increase of population. The parish extends from the Manukau Heads to the Waikato Heads, and eastward to near Pukekohe. Services are held at Otaua, Brookside, Waipipi, and Puni. St. Bride's church, Mauku, possesses a historical interest, as during the Maori war it was used for less peaceful purposes than Christian worship. As early as 1859 the idea of building this church was conceived, but considerable time elapsed before a suitable site was selected, and one was ultimately chosen on the only road in the district. The three acres around the present church were conveyed by a Crown grant to Bishop Selwyn, in trust for the Anglican Church of New Zealand. After the site was chosen, vigorous efforts were made to collect funds for building, which came in freely. A building committee was formed, and plans and specifications were supplied by the Rev. A. G. Purchas, who promised a donation of £25 if his plans were accepted. On the acceptance of the plans, tenders were invited for building the church, and the lowest—£70—was accepted, but after proceeding for some time with the work, the contractor left it uncompleted. A fresh tender was accepted, and Mr. Cox completed the building. In the meantime subscriptions were collected far and near, and £160 was obtained from England and the Cape of Good Hope. When the church was completed £25 was still required, but help came from an unexpected quarter—China. A young man who had been in the district, and who afterwards held a good position in China, hearing of the want of funds, sent £25, thus clearing off the debt. Previous to this meetings had been held at private houses, or in a shed on the school grounds. On the 16th of July, 1861, services were first held by the Rev. A. G. Purchas. They were held once a month, and as there was no other place of worship near, the Presbyterian and Wesleyan ministers were permitted to use it for their meetings. During the Maori disturbances the church was made a place of refuge for the settlers, and was stockaded by large split logs, and loopholed. Many anxious nights were spent by men, women, and children, who had gathered within its walls for safety. The natives living at Patumahoe were ordered by the Government to take an oath of allegiance, and it was anticipated they would take vengeance on the settlers. After some time the women and children were removed to Auckland, and the church and its grounds were used for military purposes. At one time 600 men, composed of volunteers, militia, and Imperial troops of the 14th, 50th, 65th, 68th, and 70th Regiments, were camped around, also a body of defence force mounted troops.
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When the settlers returned they found that the church, like their own homes, had greatly suffered. On the erection of a parsonage, and the appointment of a resident minister—the Rev. E. R. Otway—regular services were held; but it was not until 1882 that a minister was appointed to live at Waiuku. The present vicar entered on the charge in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. W. H. Webster,
                B.A. (Cambridge), was born at Upton Hall, Cheshire, and entered the Royal Navy in 1864, retiring with a pension in 1873. He entered St. John's College, Cambridge, where he graduated, and was ordained in 1876. After holding various curacies in England, he was appointed chaplain at Bonn, from 1882 till 1889, and from 1889 till 1892, he was Organising Secretary of the Additional Curates' Society. In 1892 Mr. Webster went to Tasmania, where he received the appointment of curate to Holy Trinity Church, Launceston, and held that position till 1896, when he was appointed vicar of Bothwell, Tasmania. He accepted his present charge in August, 1899. Mr. Webster married the niece of the late Dr. Stubbs, Bishop of Oxford, and has a family of five children.
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Clouston, John,
                M.B., C.M., Waiuku. Dr. Clouston was born in Sheerness, Orkney Islands, Scotland, in 1854; was educated at Edinburgh University, and graduated in 1879 with honours. He practised in his native islands for four years, then in Fifeshire, Scotland, where he held several public appointments. In 1893 he came to New Zealand, and began his practice in Waiuku.

            

            

              
              


                

Rossiter, Samuel Thomas,
                Builder, Contractor, and Undertaker, and District Agent for the New Zealand Insurance Company, Waiuku. Mr. Rossiter is a son of Mr. Edward Rossiter, of Ashley, Canterbury, formerly a well known builder and undertaker. He was born at Christchurch in 1860, and learned his business with his father. In 1883, Mr. Rossiter went to Waiuku under an engagement to build the courthouse, and two years later moved to Auckland, where he remained for six years, during which he was engaged in erecting some of the city's finest buildings, amongst them Mr. Brett's beautiful residence at Lake Takapuna. In 1891 he returned to Waiuku, and since then his career has been one of great success, his operations in all branches of his business being the largest in the district. Mr. Rossiter has been identified with the volunteers since his first arrival at Waiuku. He joined the Waiuku Cavalry in 1885, but resigned in the following year, owing to his departure for Auckland. On his return in 1891 he rejoined the corps and remained in it until its disbandment. When the present local corps was formed, he joined it, and holds the rank of sergeant and troop secretary. He is a prominent Freemason, was one of the founders of Lodge Pierce, Waiuku, and at present is Worshipful Master. Mr. Rossiter was one of the founders of the Oddfellows' Lodge at Waiuku, and occupies the position of District Deputy Grand Master. He is also secretary of the Waiuku school committee. Mr. Rossiter married, in 1887, Miss Barriball, daughter of Mr. John Barriball, and has a family of five.
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McFadyen, James Morrison,
               
 Ironmonger and Commission Agent, Waiuku. Mr. McFadyen is the third son of the late Mr. Hugh McFadyen, who arrived by the ship “Mariner” at Dunedin in 1849. He was born at Dunedin in 1854, was educated there, and learned the trade of a blacksmith—a trade which he afterwards carried on at Oamaru and Timaru. About 1882 Mr. McFadyen went to the North Island, and was for two years engaged as horse-shoer for the Otahuhu Stud Company. He then started business at Mauku, and in 1886 went to Waiuku, where he has become one of the most noteworthy men of the district. In addition to his business of ironmongery and blacksmithing, he owns some of the finest properties in and around Waiuku, and also in the King Country. On his property on the well known sandhills, Mr. McFadyen carries on dairying. Like a number of successful men, he is self-made, but his keen business qualifications and readiness in grasping matters have contributed to the success of his undertakings. He has been a member of the school committee for some years,
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and, in conjunction with Mr. G. Potter, he was the means of starting the gum industry in Waiuku, where for several years they employed over sixty men in their various gumfields, and so increased the prosperity of the district. Mr. McFadyen owns a well known draught stallion “Better Times,” bred by Mr. Boag. He is a Freemason of old standing, and with the late Major Hamlin and Captain Waterman was one of the first three chartered Freemasons in the district. Mr. McFadyen is the owner of the finest billiard room in Waiuku. He married Miss Crawford, of Patumahoe, and has had a family of five, of whom four are still alive.

            

            

              
              


                

Bailey, William,
                Farmer, Otaua, Waiuku. Mr. Bailey was born on the 26th of February, 1837, in Sussex, England. He followed a seafaring life in his early days, and remained engaged in the coastal trade for four years. In 1855 he landed in Victoria, Australia, at the time of the Ballarat riots. He went up country, and was engaged on a sheep station for twelve months, and went thence to the Ararat goldfield. Mr. Bailey remained on the goldfields for about three years, and afterwards purchased a team of bullocks and started carting. He then disposed of his bullock team and plant, and started storekeeping and butchering, a business he carried on for some time. Having sold it he went to Queensland, where he remained for twelve months. In 1875 he came to Auckland, and purchased a property at Otana. He has since gradually added to his area, and now owns also a portion of the Otaua swamp land. Mr. Bailey carries on dairy farming on his property. He married, in 1863, Miss Mary Fahey, of Galway, Ireland, and has had eight children, three of whom are now alive.

              

                

[image: Mr. W. Bailey.]

Mr. 
W. Bailey.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Hosking, Caleb,
                Farmer, “Fernleigh,” Waiuku. Mr. Hosking was born in Devonshire, in 1833. He was educated at his native place, and afterwards brought up to farming. He left his native country for New Zealand, in 1851, by the ill-fated ship “Polar Star,” which was burned at sea. She had on board a number of passengers, and a detachment of sappers and miners, and when twenty-two days out from London, she got on fire. After burning for three days, the “Hanna Mooka,” on a voyage from Callao to Cadiz, came in sight, and rescued the passengers from the burning ship. They were landed at St. Helena, and after remaining there a week, were conveyed back to London. After great trouble with the company, who refused to convey them back to New Zealand, except by payment of the ordinary passage money, the passengers arranged that by paying half the ordinary fare they should be carried to their original destination. Landing in 1855 by the ship “Rock City,” after a passage of eighty-eight days, they were first boarded by Dr. Logan Campbell, who was then agent of the Shipping Company. Mr. Hosking, after some weeks in Auckland, determined to try New Plymouth, where numbers of his countrymen were settled, but, owing to its disturbed state through native troubles, he returned to Auckland, and settled down at Waiuku. The district was then in its native state, but he was not deterred by its unpromising appearance, and after considerable hardships incidental to those days, he cleared his property of bush and scrub, and his endeavours and perseverance were crowned with success, as by his practical knowledge of farming he has converted his land into a fertile and valuable estate. During his long residence in Waiuku, Mr. Hosking has taken his share in all the general public administration of his district. He was a most energetic member of the Road Board for a great number of years, and during that time was for three years chairman. He has also taken a great interest in the social questions of the day, has acted on the school committee for some time, and has done good service in the cause of temperance. As a member of the Wesleyan body he has given his time and labour for its advancement, and at present he is a trustee of that church. When Mr. Hosking arrived in New Zealand he was accompanied by his brother, Mr. Charles Trick Hosking, who, in conjunction with his uncle, Mr. Trick, started the flour mill at Riverhead for the late Mr. John Brigham. Mr. C. T. Hosking, who was afterwards connected with Messrs Thornton, Smith and Firth, of Auckland, and was subsequently farming for some years at Waiuku, now resides with his brother. Mr. Caleb Hosking married, as his second wife, Miss Barriball, daughter of the late Mr. Charles Barriball, one of the pioneers of the district, and of this union there is a family of six daughters and two sons.
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Kidd, Alfred John,
                Farmer, “Brookfield,” Waiuku. Mr. Kidd, who is the eldest son of Mr. Alfred Kidd, at present (August, 1901) Mayor of Auckland, was born at Ngaruawahia, in 1875. He was educated at St. John's College, and the Auckland Grammar School, and afterwards studied at the Agricultural College at Lincoln, Canterbury. On leaving the Grammar School he went to Te Akau station, where, in four years, he acquired a practical knowledge of stock and farming. After studying at the Agricultural College at Lincoln, Christchurch, he entered the firm of Messrs Hunter and Nolan, and obtained a further experience of stock. Mr. Kidd then went to Waiuku, where he had purchased the beautiful estate of “Brookfield.” He resides at the homestead, and superintends the large interests of his father in the Aka Aka swamp, where Mr. Kidd, senior, owns about 1500 acres of the pick of that land, and annually fattens about 500 cattle for the Auckland markets, in which they command the highest prices. Dairy farming, too, is to be taken in hand on



a large scale, and a creamery is being erected near the swamp property. Mr. Kidd married Miss Packer, of Waiuku, and has a family of two children.
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                  Motion Brothers
                
                (William Claude Motion and Ivan Anbrey Motion), Farmers, Waiuku.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Claude Motion,
                of the Otaua Swamp, was educated at St. John's College, and afterwards under Dr. McArthur, at the Queen's College, Auckland. He had two years' commercial experience in the office of Messrs Nathan and Co., and was for a similar period with Mr. John McHardie, of Black Head Station, Napier, where he gained a thorough knowledge of sheep farming. Mr. Motion is a well known athlete, and won the two principal events at the Auckland Exhibition of 1898, besides being the winner of numerous other prizes and trophies. He is a musician of great ability, both on the piano and violin, and an admirable comic singer. Mr. Motion and his brother own a large property on the Otaua Swamp, where they carry on extensive farming operations with great success. He married Miss Sellers, daughter of Mr. H. J. Sellers.
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Mr. Ivan Aubrey Motion
                
                was, like his brother, educated at St. John's College, and at the Queen's College under Dr. McArthur. On leaving school, he went to Waiuku, and with his brother, purchased their present fine estate. Mr. Motion is also a good musician, and a talented performer on the piano. He is unmarried.
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Reid, Thomas Dickson,
                Farmer, “Reid Park,” Waiuku. Mr. Reid, who is the only son of the late Mr. Thomas Reid, was born in 1868, at “Reid Park,” Waiuku. He was educated at the state school, Waiuku, and studied farming at the Lincoln Agricultural College. Canterbury. On leaving college he assisted his father in the Reid Park estate, and on the second marriage of his father he leased the property, and ultimately acquired the freehold. Mr. Reid is a well known breeder and exhibitor of shorthorn pedigree stock and Clydesdales. At present he owns three sires, “Doctor Seddon,” “Salisbury Zet,” and “Federation,” now travelling around the Auckland province, and acknowledged as being among the finest sires in the whole provincial district. Mr. Reid has secured numerous prizes with high bred stock at the various Auckland cattle shows. He took first, special, and champion prize for the best heavy draught stallion at the Auckland Agricultural and Pastoral Show of 1890, and lately took the first prize for the best brood mare and two-year-old filly at the same Association's show. He was formerly a well known prize taker for shorthorns, but now devotes his attention to horse breeding. So far Mr. Reid has, like his late father, refrained from taking any part in local affairs, but devotes his time to the management of his extensive business. He married Miss Brown, a lady from Cambridge.
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Smith, Henry Walter,
                Farmer, Hillside, Waiuku. Mr. Smith was born in Gloucestershire, England, in 1840, and was brought up to farming. He came to New Zealand by the ship “Red Jacket,” and arrived in Auckland in 1861. He followed various pursuits, and was afterwards engaged in farming and bush clearing at Henderson, and again in farming at Ring's Point, Three Kings. In 1866 Mr. Smith moved to Waiuku where, having purchased part of his present farm, which was totally unimproved, he started clearing. Since his arrival prosperity has smiled on him, and he has continued to add to his property, which now comprises 360 acres of fertile land, where he carries on grazing and mixed farming. Mr. Smith served in the Auckland Militia and in the Waiuku Rifle Volunteers under Major Hamlin. He was for some time a member of the Waiuku Road Board, but has latterly devoted his attention to the cultivation of his valuable property. In 1896 he visited the Old Country, where he spent many a happy day in revisiting the scenes of his early youth. Mr. Smith married Miss Georgina Thompson, who bore him nineteen children, of whom eighteen are still alive—eleven daughters and seven sons. Eight daughters and one son are married, and are all settled in the colonies. One married son is settled on a farm at Waiuku, and two other



sons are settling on 700 acres at Makarau, north of Auckland.
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Smith, William Alfred,
                Farmer, “Bothwell Park,” Waiuku. Mr. Smith was born at Salisbury, Wiltshire, England, in 1842, and was brought up to farming. In 1864 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Royal Stuart.” He began business in Karangahape Road, where he established a large butchery, which he carried on prosperously for four years, then sold it, and went to the Thames goldfields, where for over four years he successfully carried on business as a butcher, and at the same time speculated in mining shares, which proved less remunerative. He then left the Thames, and in partnership with his brother, carried on large farming operations at New Brighton, Miranda. After fifteen years' farming, Mr. Smith disposed of his share in the property, returned to Auckland, and again started a butchering business in Ponsonby Road, which he carried on until 1891. He then retired, and purchased his present beautiful property of 2000 acres and a mansion at Waiuku, known as “Bothwell Park,” originally owned by the late Mr. John Wallace. Mr. Smith has since disposed of part of his property, but has retained about 600 acres around the homestead. His estate is one of the most desirable properties in the district. Mr. Smith has never taken part in any public affairs, but has been a member of the Waiuku Anglican Church committee for three years. He married Miss Holliday, of Yorkshire, in 1885, at Bishopscourt, Auckland, and has a family of three daughters and one son.
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Mr. Edward Constable,
               
 one of the pioneers of Waiuku, was born in Maidstone, Kent, England, and arrived in Wellington by the ship “Adelaide,” in 1840. He soon made friends with the natives, including the late Wi Taka. On Auckland being declared the seat of Government, he went there and was a purchaser at the two first land sales. He continued to work in Auckland until the first land sales were held in Waiuku, and, in company with Mr. William Currie, he went there in 1851. Working with characteristic energy, Mr. Constable soon transformed his property from its wild state to a prosperous homestead. In 1856 he visited England, and returned to the colony a year later, bringing his mother out with him. He made a second trip Home, in 1858, but his large interests necessitated his immediate return. Mr. Constable was one of the original members of the Waiuku volunteers, a body in which he took great interest, and was sworn in by the late Major Speedy, in 1866. During the great depression in 1868 Mr. Constable was amongst the first to start flaxmills, of which he had three, and in that way he afforded help to many who have since then attained prosperity. He was a member of the Road Board from its start, and was for many years chairman of the Waipipi Road Board. Mr. Constable was a well known judge of stock, and a successful breeder, and was a judge at the various shows in Auckland and Napier. He built the Kentish Hotel, at Waiuku, and successfully carried it on for many years. During his active
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life, Mr. Constable was one of the most prominent and progressive of the early pioneers, a man of most generous disposition, always ready, and always kind enough to help any one deserving of his assistance. In his death Waiuku lost one of its best settlers. He died on the 28th of May, 1893, and was accorded a military funeral by Lieutenant-Colonel Dignan, at the request of Captain Manning.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert Craig,
                “Tapuika,” Waipipi, near Waiuku, is a native of Biggar, Lanarkshire, Scotland, and was born in 1835. He followed farming in his native place, and in 1854 left for the gold diggings in Australia, where he went to the Ovens, and for two years followed the uncertain pursuit of gold seeking. Mr. Craig succeeded fairly well, and returned Home, whence he proceeded to America, with the intention of settling. Not satisfied with the prospects there, Mr. Craig returned to Melbourne, and after a short stay went back to Scotland, and in 1859 came to Auckland by the ship “Tornado.” After spending some time looking for land he bought a partly improved farm near Papakura. At the first sale of the confiscated land in Waiuku, in 1865, he purchased his present fine property. It was then in its wild and native state, and portions of it were covered with heavy bush. He, however, soon improved the land by cultivation, and it is now laid down in good grass Messrs Craig and W. J. Harris were the first purchasers of land in the district. Mr. Craig's property contains about 351 acres of fine country, and carries a large flock of Lincoln sheep, besides numerous cattle and horses. Mr. Craig was for years a member of the Waipipi Road Board, but although requested to stand for re-election, the state of his health compelled him to refuse. He was a member of the old Forest Rifles, and during the Maori troubles was a member of the Otahuhu Cavalry Volunteers, under the late Captain Hutton. Mr. Craig married Miss Wallace, of the Otahuhu district, in 1866, and has a family of four sons and six daughters, of whom one daughter is married.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Currie,
                Old Colonist, was born in North Leith, Scotland, in 1821. At the age of thirteen he was apprenticed on the yacht “Earl of Whims,” which was wrecked on the rancaster coast of Norfolk, and eleven of the passengers were drowned. He left Home in 1838, for Sydney, by the barque “Cornwall,” which conveyed one of the first batches of emigrants to the Antipodes. Shortly after arrival, the vessel was chartered to take troops to quell a riot in the Norfolk Island settlement; five of the ringleaders were brought back, and suffered the extreme penalty of the law at Sydney. On his return from Norfolk Island, Mr. Currie was engaged in trading to Adelaide, Sydney and Melbourne; and in getting the vessel to the landing place at Melbourne, they had to cut the limbs of the overhanging native trees. In 1840 Mr. Currie arrived at the Bay of Islands, from Sydney, by the schooner “Kate,” belonging to Mr. Joseph, a merchant of that place. On arriving in Auckland he went to Wade, where he was engaged in the timber trade, and took contracts to supply timber at the Waikato Heads (where there was a Mission Station), timber for Dr. Maunsell's house, and at Orua Bay, Manukau Heads, timber for the erection of the house of the late Rev. Mr. Hamlin, and also for the Rev. Mr. Whitley, at Kawhia. Captain Currie purchased the schooner “Victory,” and for some years carried on a very successful trade between Kawhia, Raglan, and Auckland. After disposing of the “Victory,” he purchased a cutter and took a contract from the Government to supply timber to the Pensioners' Settlement at Otahuhu. He and Captain Rough were employed by the Government to survey the Waiuku creek and township. On the completion of this contract, Captain Currie, with his partner, Mr. Cummings, went to Sydney, and purchased a brigantine, which they named the “William and James,” and brought back a cargo consigned chiefly to Mr. David Nathan, and carried also potatoes and timber, and a number of passengers. After discharging he sailed for San Francisco, where he had to remain some time awaiting a return cargo. Mr. Cummings subsequently sold out his interest in the schooner to Mr. Edward Constable, who was afterwards a prominent figure in Waiuku. Returning to Auckland, Captain Currie purchased the corner allotment of Victoria and Chapel Streets and erected the Aurora hotel in 1851, first opening it as a grocer's shop, and obtaining a license in the following year. Here he carried on a prosperous business until 1857, when he leased the premises to Mr. John Rule, and afterwards disposed of the freehold. He then purchased that fine block of land at the corner of Wellesley and Hobson Streets, which he still owns. In 1857 he went to Waiuku, and was soon busily engaged in the cartage of native produce on the portage road from Awaroa river to Waiuku, employing a number of teams. The business continued to prosper until the Maori war broke out, when the settlers fled to Onehunga. On the settlement of the native trouble, Captain Currie purchased his present property, then in its wild state, but now in perfect cultivation. Captain Currie married, in 1850, Miss. Watson, eldest daughter of Mr. James Watson, civil engineer, Sydney, and out of a family of fourteen, eleven are still alive and prospering in various parts of the country. Two of his sons—the youngest—Captain S. D. Currie and Trooper George Currie, served with the New Zealand troops during the South African war. All his daughters are married, except Miss Currie, who lives with her parents.
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Mr. John Hull,
                J.P., Park Farm, is one of the pioneers of the district, and was born in 1826, in Somerset, England, and educated in Germany. He came to Auckland in 1854, and learned farming with the late Hon. John Salmon, at Wairoa South. In 1855 he went to Waiuku, and purchased his present property, which was then covered with ti-tree and fern. During the boom at the Thames goldfield, in 1896, Mr. Hull was smitten with the gold fever, but unfortunately his speculations proved anything but successful. He has been for many years connected with local matters, and was for some time chairman of the road board. Mr. Hull is one of the oldest Justices of the Peace in the district. In 1858 he married Miss Cann, and five sons and five daughters were born of the union.
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Captain Arthur Wellesley Manning,
                J.P., Taurangaruru, Waiuku, is the son of Mr. Thomas Manning, of Corballis Castle, and grandson of Lieutenant Robert Manning, of Mount Corballis, Wicklow, Ireland. He was born in 1837, and educated at a private school at Rathdrum, in County Wicklow. In 1857, attracted by the accounts from Australia, he left his native land, and joined his brother, Mr. Edwin Manning, who was the owner of a cattle and horse farm near Mount Alexander, Victoria. About 1862 Mr. Manning arrived in Dunedin with a team of horses and a regular outfit for a store, and went carting, packing, and gold-buying in company with a cousin, Mr. William Manning. Mr. Manning was one of the first to erect a store at Fox's, and later on he built another



at Stoney Creek. He was one of those who promoted the project of turning the Arrow river, near Fox's, so as to make a new water course for the purpose of getting gold from the river bed. On selling his interest in the stores Mr. Manning took charge of a lot of horse teams and had them shipped at Port Chalmers for Auckland. Later on he had charge of and an interest in a number of horses which had been brought from Sydney. The owner of the shipment became ill, and went back and died, and some of the horses were sold to the Government for the Land Transport Corps. The horses were a fine lot, eighty in number, and some of them sold as high as £120 per head. Later on Mr. Manning went to Waiuku, where he joined the late Mr. Constable, and took charge of a large store on the Awaroa, near the Waikato river. After that Mr. Manning bought the land on which he now lives. In 1866 he joined the Waiuku Volunteer Cavalry, and was connected with that corps for about thirty years, during twelve of which he held a commission, and was captain for the last five of the period. He was presented with the long service medal. Captain Manning has held the commission of a Justice of the Peace for over nine years. He has long been connected with the Waippi Road Board, and was for several years its chairman. While he held that position he and Major Hamlin, M.H.R., and Mr. J. T. Mellsop, the Board's secretary, promoted the draining and roading of the now famous swamp land near Waiuku, and was the first to prove its grass-growing value, even in its wettest parts. Captain Manning has been a member of the Manukau Licensing Committee for twenty-five years, and he is a trustee and one of the original promoters of the Waiuku recreation ground. Captain Manning has always taken a great interest in the local sports, of which he has generally been either chairman or promoter. As a Freemason he belongs to the Grand Lodge of New Zealand, and is a member of Lodge Waiuku, No. 90. In the year 1900 he was the means of forming the present Waiuku Mounted Rifles. Captain Manning is married, but has no family.
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Mr. John McNaughten,
                J.P., Taurangaruru, Waiuku, one of the pioneer settlers, was born in County Armagh, Ireland, in January, 1828. In his early years he was brought up to farming, but before leaving Home, he learned the building trade. He came to New Zealand in 1864, by the ship “Scimitar,” and landed at Auckland, where he remained about six months. Mr. McNaughten, who was in the possession of considerable means, determined to settle at Onehunga, where he purchased several allotments and proceeded to build, and there he was actively engaged in building and carpentering for about eighteen months. However, as he saw better future possibilities for his growing family in farming, he sold his interests at Onehunga and removed to Waiuku, where he purchased his present fine farm. The land was in its native state, and a considerable portion was covered with heavy bush, which he started to clear. He had numerous difficulties and hardships to contend with in the early pioneer days, but he persevered, and his farm is now one of the finest around Waiuku. Cattle are fattened on the luxuriant pastures, and dairy farming is also extensively carried on. Mr. McNaughten, since his arrival in Waiuku, has taken a prominent part in the general affairs of the district. He was for some time a member of the committee of the Church of England. He has been a member of the Waipipi Road Board for over ten years, and was for seven years chairman, and was also a member of the Waiuku school committee for some years. As a member of the old Rifle Volunteers he received the £30 scrip, which entitled him to the possession of land valued to that amount. Mr. McNaughten takes great interest in the politics of the day, and closely studies public affairs. Before leaving Home, he married Miss Redpath, of his native place, and by her cheerfulness of disposition and her courage, she helped him to overcome the many difficulties and hardships of the early pioneer days. Of the family there are six sons and three daughters now living, and one of the sons, Mr. James McNaughten, served in the Natal Light Horse with General Buller, from Ladysmith to Pretoria, in the South African war.
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Captain John Makgill,
               
 Taurangaruru, Waiuku, a son of Mr. George Makgill, of Kemback, Fifeshire, Scotland, comes from a very old and distinguished Scottish
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family. He was born at Edinburgh, in 1836, received his early education at Peebles, and at Cheltenham College, and completed his studies at the East India Company's Military College at Addiscombe. On leaving college, Captain Makgill obtained a commission in the East India Company's Engineers, and proceeded to Madras, where for ten years he occupied the position of engineer in the Department of Public Works. On leaving India, he returned to Scotland, where he resided for some time. In 1881 he came to Auckland, and purchased from Captain Ferguson and from Mr. Bent, and others, a valuable estate at Waiuku, containing about 1700 acres. On taking possession Captain Makgill started to improve and ornament his property, which is now known as one of the finest estates around Waiuku, and carries large numbers of sheep and cattle. Captain Makgill took considerable interest in the local affairs of his native place, but he has kept aloof from all such matters in New Zealand. Of Captain Makgill's family, nine are alive, two of the elder sons being Dr. Makgill, who did good service in the Transvaal war, and Lieutenant Makgill, of the Waiuku Volunteers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Motion,
                one of the earliest pioneers of Auckland, and a prominent and most successful colonist, was born at Broughty Ferry, Forfarshire, Scotland, in 1820, and came to Australia in 1838, with Mr. Low, afterwards his partner. In 1839 he arrived at the Bay of Islands, and was present at the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi, on which his name appears as that of a witness. In the latter end of 1839, he came to Auckland, and with his partner, Mr. Low, started the first flour mill in Auckland at Mechanic's Bay, under the style of Low and Motion. There the partners carried on a successful business for years, when they purchased land at Western Springs, erected extensive mills, and carried on a most prosperous and successful business there until 1874. The property was then acquired by the Auckland City Council for supplying the city water. On the sale of his property, Mr. Motion retired from business, and lived at his residence, Western Springs Lodge, until his death in 1894. Mr. Motion, during his long connection with Auckland and its progress, was held in the highest esteem by his numerous friends, and was respected by all for his many good qualities. He married Miss Low, daughter of his partner. She died in 1865, leaving a family of six children. He again married, in 1869, a daughter of the late Mr. John Cowie, of the Provincial Bank at Londonderry, Ireland, a very prominent man of that city, and by that marriage there were two sons, Mr. William Motion and Mr. Ivan Motion.
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Mr. Alexander Muir,
                Old Colonist, “Pehiakura,” Waipipi, near Waiuku, is a native of Scotland. He was brought up to farming, and came to Auckland with his parents by the “Duchess of Argyle,” in 1842. His first work in the colony was driving a winze at the copper mine. Kawau Island. After working in Webb's Hotel, Wyndham Street, Auckland, he managed Dignan's Clanricarde Hotel for three years. He then went farming, and superintended the planting of 180 acres of potatoes at Panmure for Messrs Brown, Campbell and Co. After that he became a dealer in horses, and carried on the business until the end of the Maori war. He was farming for several years at Papatoitoi, and in the Waikato, and then removed to Waipipi, where he took a lease of his present farm of 3700 acres. Three years later he acquired the freehold of this estate, 1800 acres of which are now laid down in grass, while the balance, as gum land, gives employment to about thirty gum diggers. Mr. Muir owns other large estates in the Waikato and Papatoitoi. He has been connected with the Waipipi Road Board for several years. Mr. Muir is well known as a judge of cattle and horses, and has acted as judge at the agricultural and pastoral shows at Auckland, Waikato, and Pukekohe for over thirty years. He married Miss Blunt, in 1865, and there is a family of eleven.
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Mr. Thomas Reid,
               
 some time of Waiuku, was a native of Dungannon, County Tyrone, Ireland, where he was born in 1826. When a young man he left the land of his birth to try his fortunes on the Australian
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goldfields, which were then becoming famous. After a short experience in New South Wales, he came to New Zealand, and settled first at Howick, and eventually at Waiuku, where he purchased a farm which formed the nucleus of the fine estate now known as Reid Park, and became largely interested in sheep and cattle grazing. In 1860 he married Miss Williamson, sister to the late Hon. J. Williamson, by whom he had a son, Mr. T. D. Reid, of Reid Park, and a daughter, Mrs Crawford, of Mairoro. His first wife died in 1889, and three years later he married Miss Elizabeth Robertson, of Aberdeenshire. Mr. Reid was one of the most respected of the pioneer settlers, and lived in the district for over forty years. About 1880 he revisited the scenes of his early youth, and returned to New Zealand after a year's absence. Mr. Reid took a great interest in cattle breeding, and was for several years a member of the Auckland Agricultural and Pastoral Association. He died at Grafton Road, Auckland, in September, 1899, after a short and painful illness.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Sanday,
                Old Colonist, “Sanday Heath,” Waiuku, was born at Lostwithiel, Cornwall, England, in 1837. He was brought up to farming, and acquired a most intimate knowledge of stock. In 1861 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Zealandia” (Captain Foster), and went to Waiuku, where he was employed in bush felling and fencing. Subsequently he was employed by the late Mr. Samuel Browning, whose extensive estate at Waiuku he managed for over twenty years. During the period of this engagement, he purchased his present valuable property of about 410 acres, which he cleared and improved by outside labour. In 1890 Mr. Sanday severed his connection with Mr. Browning, and went to reside on his own property, which contains 300 acres of the Aka Aka swamp land. Through his untiring efforts, the property has been thoroughly cleared (except that some pretty clumps of bush have been left for shelter), fenced, drained, and laid down in grass for fattening stock. Mr. Sanday is a well known breeder of blood stock; the celebrated racehorse “Waiuku,” by St. Leger out of Musket Maid, was reared by him, and also “Okoari,” full sister to “Waiuku.” Many valuable young animals running in his paddocks will do equal credit to Mr. Sanday as a breeder. During his long residence in Waiuku, Mr. Sanday has taken a prominent part in local matters, and has been for over twenty-seven years a member of the Waiuku Road Board. He has been a member of the Aka Aka Drainage Board since its formation. Mr. Sanday is unmarried.
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Mr. John Scott,
                Waiuku, was born at Cupar, Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1826, and brought up to the profession of gardening, which he has followed in Scotland, England, and New Zealand. For about forty years previous to his arrival in this colony he was engaged with the Makgill family in Scotland, and in 1882 came to Waiuku under engagement to Captain Makgill. For some years after his arrival in New Zealand he superintended the management and ornamentation of Captain Makgill's estate at Limehill, Waiuku. In 1886 Mr. Scott retired to his present property, and now devotes his leisure hours to the various local affairs of the village. He has been a large shareholder in the Waiuku Steam Navigation Company since its early days, and has for fourteen years been a director, and half of that time, chairman of directors. Mr. Scott is a widower, and has no family.
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Bombay.

            

              
The Bombay district was taken up originally about the year 1865, by special settlers under the ten-acre grant system, and was named after the vessel which brought them out to New Zealand. It is, however, not a suitable name for an inland district with extensive hills, like Razorback. The district is devoted to farming and dairying, and is twenty-five miles south of Auckland, on the main South Road, which was used in the early days as a coach road to the Waikato. There is daily coach communication with Drury railway station, seven miles distant. Bombay is in the county of Manukau, and is connected by telephone from the local post office with Pukekohe. The settlement has a public hall and library, a public school, and three churches.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Bombay Post And Telephone Office
                
                is conducted at the store of Mr. J. Evans, at the corner of the Great South Road and Paparata Road. There are daily mails by coach to Drury. Mr James Evans,



Postmaster and Telephonist at Bombay, is the proprietor of a general store, which is centrally situated in the township.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Bombay Public School
                
                is situated on a section of five acres, and stands in a high position on the Paparata Road. The original schoolhouse, which is still standing on a portion of the property, was erected in 1870 at the expense of the settlers, and is now used as a public hall. The new school, which is of wood with a shingle roof, was erected in 1884. It contains two class-rooms and has accommodation for about 150 children. There are eighty-six on the roll, and the average attendance is sixty-five. There is a capital playground, with a large shelter shed. The schoolhouse is a commodious residence of eight rooms, with a verandah. Mr. H. Hockin, the headmaster of the Bombay public school, is the holder of a D1 certificate.

            

            

              
              


                
St. Peter's Church,
                Bombay, is situated on the Great South Road on a site of ten acres. It is a wooden building with an iron roof, and has accommodation for nearly 200 worshippers. The Sunday school in connection with the church is managed by five teachers, and there are thirty scholars. There is a glebe of twenty-five acres. The minister in charge has supervision over the Pukekohe district, and also Buckland and Harrisville, where services are held in a mission hall.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Frank Barker Dobson,
                Vicar of Bombay and Pukekohe, was born in Picton, Marlborough, in 1861. He was educated in the colony, studied for the church at Bishopdale, Nelson, and was ordained deacon in Wellington in 1891, and priest at Nelson in 1893. Mr. Dobson was stationed for one year at Grey Valley, West Coast, and after serving four years at Waimangaroa, was stationed at Bombay in February, 1897. He was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. J. W. Easson, of Greymouth, merchant, and has four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                
The Bombay Presbyterian Church,
                which is under the control of the minister residing at Pukekohe, is of wood and iron, and has accommodation for 100 worshippers.

            

            

              
              


                
The Bombay Wesleyan Church,
                which was erected in 1881, has seat accommodation for 150 persons. This is a portion of the Franklin Circuit, and is under the charge of the minister who resides at Pukekohe.

            

            

              
              


                

Flay, William,
                Farmer, Bombay, Mr. Flay is a son of Mr. Charles Flay, of Bombay settlement, and was born in 1874. He was trained to farm work on his father's farm at Bombay, but entered the employment of Messrs Rutherford Bros., in 1887, and was appointed manager of their estate in 1895. Under his skilful care the estate reached its present high-class condition. Mr. Flay is married and has two children.

            

            

              
              


                

Rutherford, James Gilling,
                Sheepfarmer, “Pukewhau,” Bombay. Mr. Rutherford is a prominent settler in the Bombay district, which is about thirty miles to the south of Auckland. He was born in Auckland in 1819, and was educated at Wesley College under Mr. J. Fletcher, and at Mr. McCrae's High School. After leaving school he engaged in farming, and has resided since 1865 at “Pukewhau,” a splendid farm of 1000 acres lying between the Great South Road at Bombay, and the East Pukekohe road district. Mr. Rutherford keeps a flock of stud Lincoln sheep, besides cattle and horses. He has always taken a great interest in agricultural associations, and has long been a member of the Franklin and Auckland societies. In February, 1900, he was elected president of the Auckland Provincial Agricultural Association, and he has been several times president of the Franklin Agricultural Society. As a volunteer Mr. Rutherford served in the Otahuhu and Te Awamutu Cavalry troops altogether for about ten years. He is a member of the Maungatawhiri Road Board, and also holds a seat on the Bombay school committee. Mr. Rutherford married in 1882 a daughter of the late Mr. N. Simms, who was one of the very early settlers of Auckland.
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Harrisville.

            

              
The district known as Harrisville is a portion of the East Pukekohe road district, and was named after Major Harris, who owned the land, of which he sold considerable areas. Most of the settlers have small holdings, and are Danes. The district, undulating in character, lies to the east side of the railway station from Tuakau and Buckland, and is about eight miles from the Great South Road.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Harrisville Public School
                
                was originally established in 1875 by the settlers of the district, and the native bush had to be cut down before the schoolhouse could be built. The old building was ultimately taken over by the Board of Education, which has since enlarged it. It now contains two class rooms and a porch, and has accommodation for about eighty children; there are forty on the roll, and there is an average attendance of thirty-three. There is a playground, with shelter sheds, and the headmaster's residence is of six rooms.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alfred Ernest Hill,
                Headmaster of the Harrisville Public School, who holds a D2 certificate, was born in Cheshire, England, in 1853. He was educated at the Limm Grammar School, and came to Auckland in the ship “Sam Mendel,” in 1878. After farming for seven years in the Waikato, he entered the service of the Auckland Board of Education. He taught successively at the Pokeno Hill school, Cambridge, Waitemarama, and Kariaotahi, and was appointed to Harrisville in 1895.
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Tuakau.

            

              
The first settlement at Tuakau was on the banks of the Waikato river, about a mile and a half from the railway station. A punt has been constructed by the Government, and communication with the opposite side of the river is available by this means, but it is intended to build a traffic bridge at an estimated cost of £10,000. When this is completed it will be the most direct means of communication between Auckland and the county of Raglan, where there are large areas of agricultural land awaiting settlement. Since the opening of the railway line the business portion of Tuakau has gravitated towards it. There are large saleyards in the township, which has important monthly sales. Tuakau railway station is thirty-five miles from Auckland, and the district is in the county of Manukau and part of the East Pukekohe road district. The railway station is 117 feet above the level of the sea.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Hon. Benjamin Harris
                
                is the eldest son of the late Mr. George Harris, an early pioneer, of East Tamaki, Auckland. He was born at Lisburn, Ireland, in 1836. When quite young he went with his people to America, but returned to England a few years later, and resided there till late in 1846, when the family sailed for New Zealand, and arrived in Wellington in the early part of 1847. Four years later they moved to Auckland, where Mr. George Harris commenced farming on land which he took up at East Tamaki. In 1860 Mr. Benjamin Harris started farming on his own account at Pukekohe, which was then so unsettled a district that Mr. Harris's nearest neighbours were the natives at Tuakau. Owing to native disturbances he was obliged to leave the place, and he joined the Otahuhu Cavalry Volunteers under the late Colonel Nixon. In 1862 he returned to his farm, and made another effort to bring it under cultivation, but was again disturbed in the following year. The 60th Regiment arrived and camped one night on his farm, and early next morning were led by Mr. Harris into the native settlement at Tuakau. Mr. Harris then rejoined the Otahuhu Cavalry, and was appointed lieutenant. He volunteered for the front, and received his baptism of fire at Paterangi, and served in several engagements. In 1866 he left the force and returned to his farm, and found it destroyed and his house burnt down. He was appointed to take charge of the newly arrived immigrants, located at Pokeno, Tuakau and Pukekohe. Mr. Harris was elected captain of the Pukekohe Rifles and the Tuakau Rifles, holding both appointments at the same time, and was subsequently appointed major. In 1885 Major Harris raised the first mounted corps in Auckland—the Franklin Mounted Infantry, which he commanded for several years. He holds the New Zealand war medal, the long service medal, and the Victoria decoration medal. Major Harris has received many valuable presents and illuminated addresses from the volunteers, members of Parliament, and his fellow settlers. In 1879 he was returned to Parliament in which he sat for Franklin, off and on, until 1896, Formerly he was a member of the Auckland Provincial Council, and of the Manukau County Council, and has represented Pukekohe as a member of the Church of England Synod. He has also been for several years a member of the Auckland Land Board. Major Harris was called to the Legislative Council in 1897. His only son went as a member of the Fourth New Zealand Contingent, which left in March, 1900, to serve in the war against the South African and Orange Free State republics.
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Tuakau Post Office, Telegraph Office, And Railway Station.
                This station was opened in 1875. The building is of wood and iron, and contains a ladies' waiting room, and a public and ticket office, as well as the post and telegraph department. There is a large asphalt passenger platform.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frank Pullman,
                Stationmaster and Officer-in-charge of the Post and Telegraph Department at Tuakau, was born in Auckland, in 1865, and entered the railway department there as a cadet in 1879. Ten years later he was appointed to the position he has since held in Tuakau. Mr. Pullman was married, in 1887, to a daughter of Mr. W. Lodder, late of Auckland, but since of Sydney, and has three daughters and one son.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tuakau Public School
                
                is situated on a section of about an acre in the old township. It is built of wood and shingle, contains one class room and a porch, and was established in 1870. There is accommodation for 120 children; the number on the roll is forty-one, and the average attendance, thirty. There is a covered shelter-shed in the playground, and the schoolhouse has five rooms.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. David Lowson Smart,
               
 Headmaster of Tuakau Public School, to which he was appointed in July, 1900, was born in 1868 at Mauku. He
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was educated in Auckland, joined the Board of Education as a probationer, in 1887, served two years at the Bay of Islands, was then for two years assistant at Nelson Street School, Auckland, and thereafter became sole teacher at Karamu. Two years and a half later he removed to Tamahere, where he had charge for three years, and was afterwards at Tamaki West for a similar period before being appointed to Tuakau. Mr. Smart was married in September, 1891, to a daughter of Mr. W. C. Good, of Auckland, and has two sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tuakau Presbyterian Church
                
                is of wood with a shingle roof, and seats 100 persons. The services are conducted by the minister resident at Pukekohe.

            

            

              
              


                
St. Andrew's Roman Catholic Church,
                Tuakau, was erected in 1882. It is built of wood and iron, and stands on two acres of land near the public school. There is accommodation for 120 adults. The church is under the direction of the Rev. Father Ahern, Pukekohe.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tuakau Wesleyan Church
                
                is a wooden building, with a class room, and has accommodation for 130 persons. The Sunday school has sixty scholars, and six teachers. This church is supplied under the direction of the circuit minister, who resides at Pukekohe.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Thomas Fulljames,
                who is a retired minister of the Congregational Church, was born in 1815, at Portsmouth, England. He was educated privately, studied for the ministry at Newport, Pagnall, Buckinghamshire, and was stationed successively at Leeds and Chelmsford, in Essex, and Maidstone, in Kent, during the ensuing eleven years. In 1862 he came to New Zealand by the ship “William Miles.” He was for eighteen months at Cabbage Bay, for some time in Auckland, three years at Coromandel, and twenty-nine years at the Thames. For fourteen years of that time Mr. Fulljames had charge of the Thames Orphanage, and supplied frequently as a minister at various churches. He settled at Tuakau in 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tuakau Creamery
                
                is the property of the New Zealand Dairy Association. It was one of the earliest creameries established, and was erected in 1888. The building is of wood and iron, with a concrete floor, and the machinery is driven by a four-horse power Tangye engine. There are two Alpha separators, each capable of treating 260 gallons per hour. The suppliers in the district number thirty-nine, and from 1000 to 1200 gallons of milk are dealt with daily in the season.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Oldham,
                Manager of the Tuakau Creamery, was born at Mangawai, in 1860. For about fifteen years he was engaged in the flax trade as a member of the firm of Oldham and Sons, Tuakau, and became manager of the Tuakau creamery about 1892.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Tuakau Family Hotel
                
                (William James Priest, proprietor), Main Road, Tuakau. This hotel, which was established in 1882, has twenty-one rooms, and is within a stone's throw of the railway station.

            

            

              
              


                

Brown, George,
                Butcher, Tuakau. Mr. Brown, who has been a settler in the district for a number of years, was born in New South Wales, in 1842, and was educated at Erlscolne Grammar School, near Colchester, Essex, England. He returned to his native land in 1855, and was brought up to farming. In 1873 he came to Auckland, and shortly afterwards settled in Tuakau, which was then mostly all bush, ti-tree, and fern. He made an experiment in the culture of tobacco, but the climate proved too moist for that plant. In 1877 Mr. Brown established his business as a butcher, and has since conducted it, either solely or in partnership with his brother. About 1876 he commenced to purchase, kill, and clean dairy-fed pork for the Auckland market. In this branch of his business he has been successful in developing a considerable industry, and now sends regular supplies to the city. His premises consist of a two-storey house and shop in a central position in the township, and his slaughterhouse, with a paddock of six acres, is situated on the main road. Mr. Brown was chairman of the local school committee for a good many years. He is a member of the Anglican Church, and holds a license as a lay reader from the Bishop, and in 1899 was lay representative from the Bombay district in the Auckland Diocesan Synod. Mr. Brown was Chief Templar of the Blue Banner Lodge 134, in 1900. He has taken a considerable interest in athletics, and was at one time captain of the local cricket team. Mr. Brown was married, in 1871, to a daughter of Captain Potter, late of her Majesty's 28th Regiment, and grand-daughter of the late Major Lockyer, the first military Governor of West Australia, and has four sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Franklin Roller Mills
                
                (Robert Bycroft, proprietor), Tuakau. These mills are situated alongside the railway station at Tuakau, with which they are connected by tramway. The machinery consists of a full roller plant, is driven by a ten horse-power turbine wheel, and the brand of flour is known as “Pearl.” The proprietor is the fourth son of the late Mr. John Bycroft, senior, who was one of the first millers in Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Madill And Collier
                
                (Adam Madill and Arthur Bertram Collier) Bone Millers, Main Road, Tuakau.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Adam Madill,
                Senior Partner, was born in 1845, in County Monaghan, Ireland. He was brought up to farming, which he followed for a number of years. In 1888 he went to Canada, where he was farming and contracting for five years. On coming to Auckland in 1896 he settled in Pukekohe, but removed to Tuakau, three years later. Mr. Madill is known as a successful farmer. He owns 263 acres in the Tuakau district, and all his land is in a high state of cultivation. He was also the proprietor of a threshing and sawing plant, now owned by his son, Mr. Adam Madill, junior, of Tuakau. Mr. Madill was elected a member of the East Pukekohe Road Board in 1900, and has served for a number of years on the Franklin Agricultural Society as one of the outside committee.
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Mr. Arthur Bertram Collier,
                Junior, was born in London in 1876, and was educated at Mill Hill school. He was brought up to mercantile life in England, and came out to New Zealand in 1895, when he settled in Tuakau, and purchased land, which he farmed for several years. He became associated with Mr. Madill in connection with the Tuakau Bone Mills. Mr. Collier is a member of the Pukekohe Mounted Rifles. He was married in March, 1900, to the eldest daughter of Mr. A. Madill, of Tuakau.
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Booker, William,
               
 Farmer and Fruit Grower, “Alma Cottage,” Tuakau. Mr. Booker was born in Geelong, Victoria, in 1846, and



was brought up as a gardener and farmer. He arrived in Auckland in 1863, and after a short stay at Drury removed to Tuakau, which was then a dense bush. Mr. Booker
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subsequently purchased land, which he has increased to sixty-six acres, including his five acres of orchard. For some years he served on the Tuakau school committee. He has been a member of the Good Templar Order since 1883, and as a member of the Blue Banner Lodge, 134, has been several times through the chairs, and holds the position of Lodge Deputy. He was married, in 1870, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Murray, of Tuakau, and has three sons and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Cole Brothers
                
                (Walter Reginald Cole and Herbert Eden Cole), Farmers and Orchardists, Tuakau. The property owned and worked by this firm consists of 120 acres of freehold land. The Messrs Cole have an orchard of twenty acres, and they annually produce a large quantity of fruit, some of which they send ripe into the markets of the colony, besides preserving a considerable quantity in tins.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Messrs Walter Reginald And Herbert Eden Cole
                
                were born at Mount Eden, Auckland, in 1877, and 1879 respectively. Mr. W. Cole gained his experience as an orchardist and nurseryman with the firm of D 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]ay and Son, Hobson Bay Nursery, Auckland, and Mr. H. Cole has been engaged in farming since leaving school. As a volunteer he is a member of the Pukekohe Mounted Rifles.
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Lapwood, Alfred Octavius,
                Farmer, Tuakau. Mr. Lapwood was born at Newington Green, Stoke Newington, England, in 1844. In 1858 he entered the Royal Navy and went to sea. After serving four years and three months he bought his discharge, and came out to Auckland in 1864, as a seaman in the ship “Ganges.” On leaving that ship he served for a few mouths on the s.s. “Ladybird,” and became a settler in the Waikato in 1865. He was engaged for a good many years in the bush, and purchased a section in the Tuakau South township, where he now holds 131 acres of freehold. Mr. Lapwood was in a volunteer corps, and received his land scrip for the full term of service. He was married, in 1870, to a daughter of the late Mr. H. Holland, of Raglan, and has eight sons and three daughters.
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Madill, David Henry,
               
 Farmer, “Valdon,” Tuakau. The property owned by Mr. Madill consists of 115 acres of freehold, all in good cultivation, with the exception of about fifteen acres of puriri bush. Besides carrying on his business as a farmer, Mr. Madill has become an importer of American patent portable folding bath cabinets. These baths are invaluable, and have been proved most useful for the relief of many ailments. A hot air or steam bath can be obtained by their use in any private house, at an infinitesimal expense, and their enterprising importer has introduced them into the country
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districts of Auckland with considerable success. Mr. Madill was born in County Monaghan, Ireland, in 1867, and went out to Canada with his parents in 1881. Four years and a half later the family removed to New Zealand, and settled in Pukekohe. Mr. Madill bought his land at Tuakau in 1896, and works it as a cropping and grazing farm.

            

            

              
              


                

Walker, Thomas,
                Farmer, Tuakau. Mr. Walker has served for several years on the Pukekohe East Road Board, and was for some time its secretary and collector. He was born near Bristol, England, in 1840, and brought up as a carpenter and builder. In 1862 he landed in Otago, and followed his trade at Queenstown and Invercargill till 1864, when he took up 130 acres at Tuakau, which has since become the site of the railway station, and the older portion of the business township. He was one of the earliest to start flax milling in the district, and the site of his mill is now occupied by a flour mill. Mr. Walker was the principal storekeeper in Tuakau for about twenty years. He disposed of his business in 1895, and has since engaged in farming. Mr. Walker has 510 acres of land.
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Whangarata.

            

              
              


                

                  
Whangarata
                
                is a flag station thirty-eight miles south of Auckland, and is 202 feet above sea level. The settlement is a part of the East Pukekohe road district. It has a creamery, a public school, and a post office, and dairy farming is general in the district, which is of the usual undulating type. The land is good, and in the near future there must be a further considerable increase in the population.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Whangarata Post Office
                
                is situated at the public school. It was established in 1886, and was conducted for years by the local school master. There are two mails in and out each day. Miss Jane Reston, post mistress in charge, was appointed to the position in October, 1900.
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The Whangarata Public School,
                established in 1886, has two class rooms and a porch, with accommodation for 100 children. There are seventy-two on the roll, and there is an average attendance of sixty. The school premises stand on a section of four acres; there is a playground, a covered she
[
unclear: d] for the use of the children, and the teacher' house is a five-roomed cottage.

            

            

              
              


                

Ewing, George Proudfoot,
                Farmer, Whangarata. Mr. Ewing, who was born in Glasgow, Scotland, was brought up to mercantile life, and came to New Zealand in search of health in 1881. After a short stay in Auckland, he settled in Whangarata. Mr. Ewing was for many years a member of East Pukekohe Road Board, served on the Whangarata school committee, and was also a member of the Licensing Committee for the district. His farm is known as “Glencairn,” and consists of 200 acres of good grazing land, on which a fair number of cattle are depastured, and about sixty acres are in crop. Mr. Ewing is a Justice of the Peace.
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Hartley, John,
                Farmer, Whangarata. Mr. Hartley was born in Leeds, Yorkshire, England, in 1852, but when he was six years of age he arrived in New Zealand with his parents by the ship “Red Jacket.” Mr. Hartley gained an insight into farming on the estate of Mr. John Grigg, of Longbeach, Canterbury. In 1874 he went to Queensland, and was for some years engaged there in goldmining, as well as in New South Wales, and other parts of Australia. After returning to New Zealand he spent two years and a half at Waihi, and five years at Waitekauri. In February, 1879, Mr. Hartley settled at Whangarata, where he had purchased a property



of 187 acres. Mr. Hartley has been a member of the East Pukekohe Road Board since 1899.
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Pirrit, James Russell,
                Farmer, Whangarata. Mr. Pirrit was born in Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1855, and is a son of Mr George Pirrit, ironmonger, of Victoria Street, Auckland. The family arrived with the Pokeno settlers by the ship “Helenslea” in 1864, and were among the earliest settlers in the district. After a short experience on the Thames, Mr. Pirrit returned to Pokeno, where he had leased a farm, which he worked for six years. In 1887 he purchased his holding at Whangarata. It covered 656 acres; about 300 acres have been cultivated, and about 100 head of cattle are depastured, in addition to a few sheep. Mr. Pirrit has taken an interest in the local school committee, of which he was chairman for six years. He was married, in 1880, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Blair, of Pokeno, and has four sons and seven daughters.

              

                

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. and Mrs J. R. Pirritt.]

Hanna, photo.


Mr. and Mrs 
J. R. Pirritt.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Helier Bree
                
                is an Old Colonist, who landed in Auckland in 1863 by the ship “Telegraph.” He was born in 1837 in Jersey, where he was farming until he left for New Zealand. Soon after his arrival he entered the militia, in which he served until disbandment, and received a fifty acre grant at Alexandra in consideration of his military services. Mr. Bree purchased the first portion of his property at Whangarata in October, 1874, and after working it for three years removed to Raglan. In 1889 he returned to Whangarata, where he has since farmed his estate of over 600 acres. Mr. Bree was married, in 1870, to a daughter of Mr. D. Young, who arrived in Auckland by the “Duchess of Argyle,” and has four sons and six daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William John Young,
                who is one of the oldest settlers in the Whangarata district, was born in County Armagh, Ireland, in 1833. He was accustomed to farming and outdoor work from his early days, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Ganges,” in 1864. In the same year he settled at Whangarata, and has increased his original holding to 110 acres. Mr. Young has served on the Whangarata school committee. He was married, in 1857, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. Running, of County Armagh, and has one daughter.

              

                

[image: A Bush Road.]
A 
Bush Road.


              

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Pokeno





            
Pokeno.

            

              
              


                

                  
Pokeno
                
                was settled in 1865, soon after the close of the war, by settlers who came out in the ship “Helenslea,” and received ten-acre grants. The first township, which was known as McLean township, was close to the site of the railway station, but the settlement was afterwards re-classified and re-surveyed, and sold as suburban land. It is almost entirely a dairy farming district, and is within the jurisdiction of the Pokeno Road Board. The station is forty miles south of Auckland, and there is a local post office. A public school, a public hall, and an Anglican church, all situated on some of the more elevated parts of the district, are within about a mile of the railway station.

            

            

              
              


                
The Pokeno Road Board,
                established about 1870, has jurisdiction over a district bounded on the north by the Paparata road district, on the south by the Mercer road district, on the east by Mangatangi, and on the west by the Maungatawhiri road district. Members for 1900: Messrs F. W. Pyne, chairman, D. C. Sheffield, P. McIntyre, W. Dean, and J. Keith.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Francis William Pyne,
                B.A., who has been Chairman of the Pokeno Road Board since 1895, was born in London in 1866. He was educated at Bromsgrove, and at Worcester College, Oxford, where he took his degree in 1887. He arrived in New Zealand by the s.s. “Coptic,” in 1889, and settled in 1890 in Pokeno, where he purchased a grazing farm of nearly 700 acres in extent. There is a splendid apple and peach orchard of thirty-six acres on the property. Mr. Pyne was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. G. Picken, of Plymouth, England, and has one daughter.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Dean,
               
 who is a Member of the Pokeno Road Board, on which he has held a seat almost continuously, and has also served on the school committee for many years, was born in 1836 in County Fermanagh, Ireland, which he left when very young, and was brought up as a mechanical engineer in Scotland. Mr. Dean followed his profession until he decided to come to New Zealand. He arrived in Auckland in 1864 by the ship “Helenslea,” and settled at Pokeno, where he found employment from time to 
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time, on small steamers engaged in the Waikato, Thames, and Auckland trade. Mr. Dean is an excellent farmer, and owns a farm of 350 acres, which he utilises largely for dairy purposes, and he also mills flax, the whole of which is grown on his own property. Mr. Dean has been more or less engaged in this industry since about 1868. His mill is worked by water power, and produces about forty tons of dressed flax per annum. He was married, in 1860, to a daughter of the late Mr. James Welsh, of Lanark, Scotland, and has five daughters and two sons.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Keith,
                who has been a Member of the Pokeno Road Board since 1891, was born at Staxton, near Seaborough, England, in 1858. He arrived in Auckland with his parents in January, 1864, by the ship “Ulcoats,” went into the country, and was for some years in the Remuera district. In 1884 he settled in Maungatawhiri Valley, and holds 100 acres of good alluvial land, which he works as a dairy farm. Mr. Keith was married, in 1882, to a daughter of Mr. J. Biddick, of Kohimarama. Mrs. Keith died in October, 1894, leaving five daughters and one son.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Peter McIntyre,
                who has been a Member of the Pokeno Road Board since 1898, was born in Scotland, in 1837, and brought up to agriculture. He came out in the “Helenslea,” in 1864, and received a ten-acre grant. Mr. McIntyre has resided in the Pokeno district since 1868, and has been in business as a general storekeeper and farmer.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Duncan Campbell Sheffield,
                who has been for many years a Member of the Pokeno Road Board, and was for several years chairman of the local school committee, was born in Middlesex, England, in 1847. At the age of twenty he arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Ida Zeigler,” and settled in Port Albert, where he was farming for four years. After residing for ten years in the Bombay district, Mr. Sheffield settled in Pokeno in 1881. He was married, in 1870, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Hazeldean, of Thames, and has four sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James McPherson,
                Secretary and Treasurer of the Pokeno Road Board since 1890, was born in 1849, in Aberdeen, Scotland, where he was educated and brought up to agriculture. In 1864 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Helenslea,” and acquired sixty acres of freehold land in the Manngatawhiri Valley, which he works as a dairy farm. Mr. McPherson was married, in 1891, to a daughter of Mr. C. Stewart, of Pokeno, and has one daughter.
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                  The Pokeno Railway Station And Post And Telegraph Office
                
                has been in existence since 1875. The buildings, which are of wood and iron, contain a ladies' waiting room, a public vestibule, and an office for the postal and railway departments. There is also a goods shed and stationmaster's residence. The whole of the duties of the station are performed by the resident stationmaster.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Pokeno Public School
                
                was established about the year 1870. The original building was burnt down, and the present was erected in 1895. It contains a class room and a porch, and has accommodation for eighty pupils; there are sixty on the roll, the average attendance is fifty-two, and the master in charge is assisted by a pupil teacher. There are fourteen acres of land attached to the school premises, and there is a six-roomed schoolhouse on the property.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Lippiatt,
                M.A., who holds an A2 certificate, is in charge of the Pokeno Public School. He was born in 1864 at Penge, Surrey, England, and came to New Zealand with his parents in the following year in the ship “Belgravia.” He graduated B.A. at the Auckland University in 1889, and M.A. with honours in science in 1890. Mr. Lippiatt entered the service of the Auckland Board of Education in 1882. He was afterwards for four years science master at the Auckland Grammar School, and was appointed to Pokeno in April, 1898.

            

            

              
              


                
St. Mary's Anglican Church,
                Pokeno, which was erected in 1899, cost, with the land, £1000, and was presented to the district by Mrs. Harriet Johnston. Services had previously been held in Pokeno by visiting clergymen. The church is built of wood and shingle, and has a spire which contains a peal of bells. There are some beautiful stained glass windows in the church. The Rev. H. B. Wingfield, vicar at Pokeno, is in charge of the district.

            

            

              
              


                
The Pokeno Presbyterian Church,
                which will seat 150 persons, is a wooden building, with a shingled roof, and is supplied by the clergyman residing at Pukekohe.

            

            

              
              


                
The Pokeno Wesleyan Church,
                erected in 1881, was removed to its present site in 1897. It has accommodation for 100 people, and is under the charge of the resident minister at Pukekohe.

            

            

              
              


                
The Pokeno Public Hall,
                erected in 1898, cost about £600, and was presented to the district by Mrs Harriet Johnston. It stands on an acre of land, and has accommodation for 180 persons.

            

            

              
              


                
Pokeno Creamery,
                the property of the New Zealand Dairy Association, is situated on the Valley road. The machinery, which consists of two Alpha De Laval separators of 440 and 260 gallons' capacity respectively, is driven by a twelve horse-power portable steam engine. There were twenty-four suppliers in November, 1900, and over 3000 gallons of milk were put through each week.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Herbert Oldham,
                Manager of the Pokeno Creamery, was born in 1857 at New Bedford, Nottinghamshire, England. For many years he was engaged in the flax business at Tuakau, as a member of the firm of Oldham and Sons. After a year at Mercer in charge of the company's creamery there he was appointed to Pokeno. Mr. Oldham was married, in 1896, to a daughter of the late Mr. E. Gill, of the Bank of England, in London, and has two sons.

            

            

              
              

                

Brown, James,
               
 Senior, General Storekeeper, Railway Store, Pokeno. This business has been conducted by the proprietor since 1875. Mr. Brown was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1854, and was brought up to mercantile pursuits near that city. He arrived in Auckland in November, 1870, by the ship “Pride of the Thames,” and after spending several years in Auckland, he settled at Pokeno in March, 1875, when he established
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his present business. He has taken an interest in local affairs as secretary and treasurer of the Maungatawhiri Road Board. Mr. Brown was married, in 1872, to the daughter of Mr. Thomas Boyde, late of Auckland, and has five sons and four daughters.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Clark, James John,
                Farmer, Pokeno. Mr. Clark, who has been a member of the Pokeno Road Board at different times, and was chairman of the local school committee for several years, was born, in 1838, in Inverness, Scotland. He was educated at Bell's Institute, Inverness, and worked at his calling as a carpenter in Scotland and England for a number of years. Mr. Clark arrived in Auckland by the ship “Chili” in 1866, and followed his trade in Auckland and at Papatoitoi until 1868, when he entered into the flax dressing business. Two years later he settled in the Pokeno district, and purchased the first portion of the fine farm which he now works. His property consists of 350 acres of freehold land, and about thirty or forty cows are milked each season. Mr. Clark's farm is known as “Hillside,” and it has a registered dairy. He has a separator on the estate, and finds an excellent market for his butter in Auckland, but exports the occasional surplus. Mr. Clark has spent a considerable amount of money in draining swamp land. He has on his property a small timber and flaxmill, which is driven by water power. Mr. Clark was married, in 1878, to a daughter of Mr. C. Bathgate, one of the original Pokeno settlers, who came out in 1864 by the ship “Helenslea,” and has seven daughters.
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Pirrit, William Russell,
                Farmer, “Frankfield,” Pokeno. Mr. Pirrit, who was born at Coatbridge, near Glasgow, Scotland, in 1848, came to Auckland with his father by the ship “Helenslea,” in 1865. The family settled at Pokeno Hill, and Mr. Pirrit learned the trade of a blacksmith at that place. For about six years Mr. Pirrit was at the Thames, where he was employed as an engine-driver at one of the batteries. He afterwards worked as a heel-tip maker. In 1890 he bought his farm of 140 acres at Henderson in the Pokeno district, and has since then worked on his property. Mr. Pirrit was married, in 1895, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. McCracken, of Glasgow, and has three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Caldwell Mcneish,
                Old Colonist, served for a number of years as a member of the Pokeno Road Board and Pokeno school committee. He was born in 1842, in West Kilbryde, Ayrshire, Scotland, came to Auckland in 1864 by the ship “Helenslea,” and was one of the original Pokeno settlers. Mr. McNeish was well known as a practical farmer, and as a breeder of Clydesdale and other horses. He was the owner of the entire “Blair Athol,” a heavy draught, and of “Carbineer,” a well known racehorse, and was an authority on sheep, cattle, and horses. Mr. McNeish was married, in 1863, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Moffatt, of Ayrshire, and at his death, in 1894, left two daughters.
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Pokeno Valley.

            

              
              


                

                  
Pokeno Valley
                
                is forty-two miles south from Auckland, and two miles distant by road from Pokeno railway station. It is in the Manukau County, and is a portion of the Pokeno road district. Like Pokeno, the valley is a rich dairy farming locality, and is peopled with successful settlers.

            

            

              
              


                

Elliott, George William,
                Farmer, “Meadow Head,” Pokeno Valley. Mr. Elliott was born in Bedford, England, in 1869, and came out to New Zealand by the ship “Jessy Osborne,” when he was ten years of age. After attending the Parnell Grammar School, he learned the business of a butcher, and established himself at Mercer in 1889. Since 1894 Mr. Elliott has resided on the property of 165 acres, which he at present farms under lease. He was married, in 1892, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. C. McNeish, of Pokeno Valley, and has two sons and three daughters.
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Razorback.

            

              
              


                

                  
Razorback
                
                is thirty-six miles from Auckland on the Great South Road, which was originally the principal means of communication with the Waikato. It is two miles from the Pokeno railway station, and takes its name from a steep hill which was christened in the days of the early settlers. It is in the Manukau County, and is a portion of the Maungatawhiri road district. A creamery, which is a great convenience to the dairy farming community, has been established at Razorback.

            

            

              
              


                
Razorback Post Office.
                This post office has been established for many years, and is conducted at the store of Mr. James Brown, junior, who acts as postmaster. The mail days are Monday, Wednesday, and Friday.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Brown,
                Junior, Postmaster at Razorback, was born in Auckland in 1875, and was brought up to mercantile pursuits by his father, Mr. James Brown. He has conducted the Razorback general store and bakery since 1897.

            

            

              
              


                
The Razorback Creamery,
                which was erected in 1900 on a section of three acres and a half, is the property of the New Zealand Dairy Association. It has a four-horse power steam engine, which drives an Alpha de Laval separator. It started with sixteen suppliers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Morgan,
                Manager of the Razorback Creamery, was born in South Wales, England, in 1862. He was engaged in mining principally, until he left for Australia in 1883. After being five years in Queensland, Mr. Morgan same to New Zealand in 1899. In September, 1900, he joined the New Zealand Dairy Association at the Pukekohe Central Factory, and became manager at Razorback on the initiation of that creamery.

            

            

              
              


                

Capt. Thomas Jackson,
                J.P., and Old Colonist, who served as an officer of the Department of Justice for many years, was born in Providence Green, near York, on the 2nd of December, 1833. He was educated in Yorkshire, and was apprenticed to the sea in 1849, and became captain of the Great Northern steamship in 1855. In 1857 Capt. Jackson arrived in New Zealand waters, and was engaged in the coastal trade for about five years. He settled in 1866 at Razorback, where he purchased 600 acres of land. In November, 1875, Capt. Jackson was appointed a Resident Magistrate, and carried out the duties of that office between Auckland and the Waikato until his retirement in June, 1900.
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Paparata.

            

              
              


                

                  
Paparata
                
                is a fertile valley traversed by a road, which starts from the Great South Road at Bombay, and extends for several miles through the district. A very few years ago the entire valley was a dense bush, but it has been taken up by enterprising settlers who are working the land chiefly as dairy farmers, and some idea of the extent of the settlement may be gathered from the fact that there are forty-six suppliers of milk to the local creamery. Paparata is a forty-three miles south of Auckland, and a coach runs from the valley to the Drury railway station. The valley is in the county of Manukau, and is part of the Paparata road district.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Paparata Road District
                
                is bounded on the north by the Opaheke road district, on the west by the Maungatawhiri road district, and on the south by the Pokeno district; the eastern boundary is the crown of a range of hills. For the year 1900 the value of the total ratable property of the district was £37,932. Members of the Board for 1900: Mr G. Balme, chairman and treasurer; Messrs W. Mattimore, P. Reynolds, J. Sturgeon, H. J. Flay; with Mr. W. Caie as clerk and collector.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Balme,
                Chairman of the Paparata Road Board, of which he has been a member for many years, was born in Halifax, Yorkshire, England, in 1853. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Warwick,” in 1873, and settled in Bombay. After carrying on business for some years, he purchased a farm of forty-eight acres at Paparata in 1882. This property has been fully improved, and is worked as a dairy farm.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Caie,
                Clerk and Collector to the Paparata Road Board, was born in Kincardineshire, Scotland, in 1839. In 1865 he came out with the Bombay settlers in the ship of that name, and has since been a resident in the district. Mr. Caie was appointed to his present position in March, 1887.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Paparata Post Office
                
                is situated on the main road near the public school, at the house of Mr. S. Lindsey, who has acted as postmaster since 1898. The post office was opened in 1892, and there is a weekly mail every Saturday.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Paparata Public School
                
                stands on an eminence near the main road through the valley. It was established in 1870, and is a wooden building with a shingle roof, one class room and a porch. There is accommodation for sixty pupils, that number is on the school roll, and the average attendance is forty-eight. Mr. G. A. Worsley, who has



been in charge of the school since 1889, holds a D2 certificate.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Paparata Wesleyan Church
                
                was erected in 1890, and has accommodation for 100 persons. The resident minister at Pukekohe is in charge.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Paparata Creamery
                
                (William Vant, manager), the property of the New Zealand Dairy Association, was erected in 1892. The building is of wood and iron, with a solid concrete floor. A six horse-power Tangye engine is used to work the machinery, which consists of two Alpha-Laval All separators, which are capable of treating 400 gallons of milk per hour. There are forty-six suppliers in the locality, and over 1200 gallons of milk are treated daily, the average for the entire season being about 6000 gallons per week. The manager arranges the work of this creamery so as to ensure the Sunday's rest, and he has proved that, by working late on Saturday evening, no inconvenience arises to either the suppliers or the company.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Vant,
                Manager of the Paparata Creamery, was born in Kent, England, in 1870. He came with his parents to Auckland in 1874 in the ship “Alumbagh,” and was educated at Ngaruawahia, where he became a wheelwright by trade. After working at his trade for a number of years, he joined the staff of the Dairy Association in 1892, and became manager of the Puni Creamery in the same year. Mr. Vant was manager of the creamery at Pokeno from 1893 to 1900, and was then stationed at the Paparata creamery. He was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. Robert Craig, late of Pokeno, and has two sons.
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Patridge, William,
                Farmer, Paparata. Mr. Partridge was born in Devonshire, England, in 1845, and was brought up to a country life. When he was twenty years of age he arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Bombay,” and received a ten-acre grant, as an original settler in the Bombay district. Subsequently he purchased 116 acres of virgin bush in the Paparata Valley. This property has all been brought into cultivation, and is worked as a dairy farm. Mr. Partridge has for a number of years served on the local school committee. During the time of the Maori troubles he served in the Razorback volunteers, and afterwards in the Drury Light Horse, and was one of the expedition which went to the Waikato to intercept Te Kooti. Mr. Partridge was married, in 1876, to a daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Gee, of Paparata, and has four sons and one daughter.
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Sturgeon, John,
                Farmer, Paparata Valley, was born in Lanarkshire, Scotland. He was brought up as a miner, and having arrived in New Zealand in 1865 by the ship “Bombay,” became one of the original settlers in the district of that name, and received a ten-acre grant. In 1883 Mr. Sturgeon purchased 113 acres in Paparata Valley, then a dense bush. About eighty acres of this property have been cleared and brought into cultivation. During the Maori disturbances, Mr. Sturgeon, served as a volunteer in the Razorback Rangers, and afterwards in the Drury Light Horse. During the Te Kooti scare he was one of the party who went up the Waikato. In 1874 Mr. Sturgeon won the Drury Light Horse Belt for shooting, and has been a member of the Paparata Road Board since 1898. He was married, in 1893, to a daughter of the late Mr. C. Waugh, of Paparata, and has two sons and three daughters.
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Mr. Christopher Waugh,
                Old Colonist, who died in 1895, was one of the original party of settlers, who came out in the ship “Bombay,” in 1865. He was born at Penrith, Cornwall, England, in 1839, and was brought up as a coal miner. On his arrival in New Zealand, he secured a ten-acre grant in the Bombay district, and bought seventy-one acres near the school in Paparata in 1873. This property was all brought into cultivation during Mr. Waugh's lifetime. He took considerable interest in educational matters, and served for some time on the local school committee. Mr. Waugh was married, in 1862, to a daughter of Mr. Walton Smith, sometime of Cambridge, and left four sons and four daughters.
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Maungatawhiri Valley.

            

              
              


                

                  
Maungatawhiri Valley
                
                is situated forty-eight miles south from Auckland, and is eight miles from the Pokeno railway station beyond Pokeno Valley. It is in Manukau County, and is included in the Maungatawhiri road district. The district is not only very pretty, but very fertile, and is chiefly a centre for the dairy industry. There is a post office and a public school in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Maungatawhiri Road Board
                
                governs a district which was originally part of the Pukekohe road district, from which it was cut off about 1875. It is bounded by the East Pukekohe road district on the north and west, the Waikato river on the south, the Mercer road district on the south east, and by the Maungatawhiri creek and Great South Road on the east. It embraces ten miles of the Great South Road, including the celebrated hills known as Razorback and Pokeno. Members for 1900; Messrs F. G. Austin, chairman, E. H. Mackay, J. G. Rutherford, S. S. Smith, and A. Batty.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Knowles Cornthwaite,
                Clerk and Treasurer of the Maungatawhiri Road Board, was born at Brookhouse, Lancashire, England, in 1842. He was one of the Bombay settlers, who arrived in 1865, and he opened the first hotel in Mercer as its manager. Afterwards he held a similar position at the Delta Hotel, Ngaruawahia. Mr. Cornthwaite was married, in 1865, to a daughter of Mr. R. Worden, of Newcastle-on-Tyne, and has nine sons and five daughters. His eldest son was the first European born in Mercer.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Maungatawhiri Valley Post Office
                
                has been conducted at the public school for many years. The three mail days are Monday, Wednesday, and Friday, and the local teacher, Mr. Howard J. Ellis, acts as postmaster.

            

            

              
              


                
Maungatawhiri Valley Public School,
                which was established in 1875, has accommodation for forty children, and contains one class room and a porch. There are thirty-two names on the roll, and the average attendance is thirty. The schoolmaster's residence, of four rooms, is situated at the back of the school. Mr. Howard J. Ellis, the Headmaster, holds a 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]l certificate, and was appointed to the position in 1898.

            

            

              
              


                
The Maungatawhiri Valley Creamery,
                which is worked by the New Zealand Dairy Association, was established in 1895. The building is situated just off the main road up the valley, and on the banks of the Maungatawhiri creek. It is built of wood and iron, and an Alpha separator, capable of treating 400 gallons of milk per hour, is driven by a four-horse power Tangye engine. The building is the property of the suppliers, who number fourteen, and supply about 600 gallons daily.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Walter Vinson,
                Manager of the Maungatawhiri Valley Creamery, was born in Kent, England, in 1870. He was educated partly in his native county, and partly in New Zealand, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Sydenham,” in 1881. After gaining a general experience of country life, Mr. Vinson joined the Dairy Association, and became manager at Maungatawhiri in 1895.
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Appleby, William,
                Farmer, Maungatawhiri Valley. Mr. Appleby, who was for some years a member of the Maungatawhiri Road Board, and also served on the school committee, was born in 1843, at Belper, Derbyshire, England. He came to Australia in 1854, and for a short time engaged in gold mining at Ballarat. In the following year he settled in the East Tamaki district, where he found employment for about ten years. After living for five or six years in Drury, Mr. Appleby commenced farming at Razorback. He purchased land in the Maungatawhiri Valley in 1876, and has since increased his holding to 400 acres. Mr. Appleby was married, in 1863, and has nine sons and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “Cloverlea,”
                
                Maungatawhiri Valley. This property is owned by Mrs Maragaret E. Motion, widow of the late Mr. W. Motion. It consists of 180 acres, nearly all improved, and is utilised as a sheep and dairy farm.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. William Motion
                
                was born in West Kilbryde, Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1848. He was brought up to agriculture, and engaged in farming in Ayrshire for some years. In 1882 he arrived in New Zealand, and settled in Pokeno, where he purchased a farm of 155 acres, known as “Ferndale,” on which he resided until his death in 1893. He was a member of the Maungatawhiri Road Board and school committee for several years, and also served for some time on the Auckland Board of Education. Mr. Motion was married, in 1872, to a daughter of Mr. W. Dunlop, of Ayrshire, and has two daughters and three sons.
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Mercer.

            

              
              


                

                  
Mercer
                
                is prettily situated on the banks of the Waikato river. In the early days of settlement in the colony it was the shipping port communicating with the Waikato delta, and small steamers, including the “Rangiriri,” “Gundegai,” “Bluenose,” “Gymnotis,” “Delta,” “Waikato,” and others, arrived and departed almost daily. During the war troops used to be shipped at Mercer. The settlement was originally known as Point Russell. For many years Mercer was the terminus of the railway from Auckland, and consequently the starting-place for the Waikato coaches. A large transhipping business was then done, and the period was perhaps the most prosperous in the history of Mercer. After the railway was completed to Waikato, the river trade dropped off considerably, and now (1901) there are only four small steamers plying from Mercer—two trading up the river, and the other two to the heads. Mercer has a creamery, which the dairy farmers supply by rail, by road, and by river communication. In 1900 a sawmill was commenced in the township, and there are several flaxmills within a few miles of the settlement. The Mercer railway station is forty-three miles from Auckland, and 22 feet above sea level. The district is popular for its annual Maori regatta, held on the noble Waikato, which is most suitable in every respect for that purpose.
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Maori Burial Caves.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Mercer Township Road Board
                
                governs a district bounded on the north and north-east by the Koheroa Road and part of the Maungatawhiri river, on the west by the Waikato, river, on the south and south-east by the Maramarua stream, and on the east by the Koheroa Road and the Maungatangi stream. Members for 1900; Messrs F. Freeman, chairman; M. Gallery, M. Hunter, S. Hunter, and R. Macfarlane; and R. E. Beamish, secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederick Freeman,
                Chairman of the Mercer Road Board, became a member in 1896, and has been chairman since August, 1897. He was born at Great Grimsby, Lincolnshire, England, in 1860, and educated at Louth, where he learned the trade of a baker. Mr. Freeman arrived at Port Chalmers by the s.s. “Tongariro,” in 1883, but removed to Auckland and was in business at Kamo for two years. Subsequently he was some time in Auckland, and in February, 1891, he settled in Mercer, where he took charge of the bakery of Messrs M. and S. Hunter's business. As a volunteer, Mr. Freeman served in England for seven years in the First Lincoln Artillery, and he retired with the rank of sergeant. Mr. Freeman was treasurer of the Auckland Operative Bakers' and Pastry Cooks' Society, and a member of the Auckland Trades and Labour Council, of which he became vice-president on the retirement of the Hon. Mr. Jennings, and retained the position until he left Auckland in July, 1890. He was married, in 1887, to a daughter of the late Mr. Edward William Crocker, of Bridgewater, Somersetshire, England.
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Mr. Michael Gallery,
                who has been a Member of the Mercer Road Board since 1883, and has served on the Domain Board for over ten years, was born at sea in 1850, and arrived with his parents in Auckland during the same year. He has been a settler in Mercer since 1883, when he commenced business as a butcher. Mr. Gallery has served in the Pokeno Rifles for about ten years. He was married, in 1882, to a daughter of Mr J. Dean, of Pokeno, and has three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Matthew Hunter,
                who is a Member of the Mercer Township Road Board,has for many years been a member of the Mercer Domain Board, and has been continuously a member of the local school committee, is a native of Derry, Ireland, and the descendant of a well known Derry family. He was born in 1838, educated at the district school, and brought up to mercantile life. In 1870 Mr. Hunter arrived in New Zealand, and after a short stay in Auckland, he went gold mining at the Thames. Three years later he settled at Mercer, where he took a position under Mr. T. Wells, storekeeper. When that gentleman left Mercer, Mr. Hunter purchased the business, in which he has since been interested in conjunction with his brother. Mr. Hunter was married, in 1880, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Moore, of Cornwallis, Manukau. Mrs Hunter died on the 21st of June, 1900, leaving one son and three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Scott Hunter,
                who is a Member of the Mercer Township Road Board, has for many years been a Member of the Mercer Domain Board, and has for fifteen years occupied a seat on the local school committee, was born in County Derry, Ireland, in 1850, and educated at Queen's College, Belfast. He was brought up as a civil engineer, graduated as a Bachelor of Engineering, and arrived in Auckland in July, 1870, by the barque “Santon.” Mr. Hunter engaged in mining at the Thames for about eight years, and left to join his brother in the firm of M. and S. Hunter, general storekeepers, bakers, and farmers at Mercer. Mr. Hunter was married, in 1876, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Moore, of Cornwallis, Manukau, and has five sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Richard Evanson Beamish,
                Secretary of the Mercer Township Road Board, was born at Epsom, Auckland, in 1865. For five years he was in the service of Messrs W. McArthur and Co., of Auckland. He has resided in the Mercer district since 1890. Mr. Beamish was married, in 1890, to a daughter of Mr. A. Maxwell, of Mercer, and has two sons and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Mercer Domain Board
                
                controls a reserve of sixty acres on the river bank, and the property has been fenced, cleared, and laid down in grass. Committee of management for 1900: Messrs V. Roberts, chairman, M. and S. Hunter, H. Hodge, M. Gallery, R. G. Tregoweth, and F. T. Martin.

            

            

              
              


                
The Mercer Post And Telegraph Office,
                which occupies a portion of the railway station buildings, has been conducted as a separate department since 1862. It is a large distributing office, and there are from three to four mails in and out per day.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Vernon Roberts,
                Postmaster and Telegraphist at Mercer, was born in London, England, in 1847. He served for a short time in the British Post and Telegraph Department, and came to Auckland by the ship “Ulcoats,” in 1865, and joined the post and telegraph department about 1873. Mr. Roberts was appointed to Mercer in March, 1890, and has been chairman of the Domain Board since 1898. He has been twice married.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Hodge,
                the Officer-in-charge of the Telegraph lines between Huntly and Drury and Drury and Manukau Heads, was born at Dulheath, England, in 1842. When he was ten years of age he arrived in Victoria with his parents, and was afterwards apprenticed to a draper, at Creswick. In 1862 he came to Otago, and was for a time engaged in gold mining at Gabriel's and Weatherstone's. Shortly afterwards he returned to Victoria, but in 1863 came back to the Dunstan “rush,” and was also at Hartley and Riley's “rush,” and on the Arrow river. For two years subsequently Mr. Hodge was in the grocery business in Dunedin on his own account, and afterwards for six months in Have lock, Marlborough. He then removed to Hokitika, and went into business at Waimoa, whence he went two years later to Greymouth, which he left in a few months, with the intention of returning to Victoria, but after arriving at Nelson he changed his mind, and remained mining in that district for seven years. In 1872 Mr. Hodge joined the construction department of the New Zealand Telegraphs, and was engaged for four years on the Warkworth line. He was afterwards for six months at Mercer, whence he was transferred to Auckland. There he remained for four years, when he was reappointed to Mercer in 1886. Mr. Hodge was married, in 1873, to a daughter of the late Mr. Berry, of H. M. Customs, Auckland, and has two sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                
The Mercer Railway Station,
                which was opened about 1872, consists of a long wood and iron building, which contains a large refreshment room and bar, ladies' room, public room, booking office, stationmaster's room, and post and telegraph department. There is also a large engine shed, besides a pump house and coalshed, and there are eight cottages in the immediate vicinity. The station buildings were destroyed by fire in 1900, but have been re-erected. About eleven trains per day pass through Mercer, in addition to specials. The staff consists of the stationmaster, a cadet, and a porter, and there are two engine drivers, two firemen, and two greasers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Seaborn,
                Stationmaster in charge of the Mercer Railway Station, was born in London, in 1830, and educated in Middlesex. He was for three years at sea, and in 1850 joined the Great Northern Railway. Five years later he went to Ireland as superintendent of the Midland and Great Western Railway, and continued in that employment till 1870, when he came to Auckland. After two years of bush life Mr. Seaborn joined Messrs Brogden and Sons, who were constructing the railway line from Auckland. When the Government took over the line Mr. Seaborn became an officer of the department, and has been stationed at Mercer since 1882, having been for eight years previously in charge of the Drury station. Mr. Seaborn was married, in 1860, to a daughter of the late Mr William Markcroft, of Sprotbors, near Doncaster, England, and has two daughters.
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The Mercer Public School,
                which was established about 1875, is built of wood and shingle, and has one class room and a porch. There is accommodation for eighty scholars, and there are sixty-eight on the roll, with an average attendance of fifty-five. The master in charge is assisted by one pupil teacher. There are ten acres of land attached to the school premises, and besides the playground there is a large garden and orchard. There is a schoolhouse of six rooms on the property.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Thomas Edwards,
                Headmaster of the Mercer Public School, who holds a D2 certificate, was born at Ashford, Kent, England, in 1865. He arrived in the colony in 1876 by the ship “Waitangi.” For some time he was assistant teacher at the Wellesley Street school, Auckland, and was afterwards at Avondale. Mr. Edwards was appointed to his present position in 1885. He takes considerable interest in local matters, and has been prominent as one of the secretaries of the Mercer Regatta Committee.

            

            

              
              


                
St. James' Roman Catholic Church,
                Mercer, is built of wood and iron, and stands in a prominent position on an acre of land. It has seat accommodation for eighty-five persons, was erected in 1891, and the priest in charge resides at Pukekohe.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Mercer Maori Regatta And Aquatic Sports Committee
                
                holds the combined regatta with the Northern Rowing Union of Auckland, in the early part of December each year. The event attracts thousands, who take advantage of the cheap excursions from the city. There is a splendid still water course for the regatta on the Waikato



river, and about £200 is distributed in prizes. Committee of management for 1900: Messrs S. Hunter, T. Hallett, M. Gallery, D. Sheffield, F. W. Pyne, J. Keith, H. Hodge, C. T. Edwards, T. Collins, C. Vinson, J. Wilson, J. Brown, and A. Coge. Messrs J. Thompson and A. C. Edwards act as joint secretaries.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Mercer Magistrate's Court And Police Station
                
                is situated on the corner of Miranda Road close to the local railway station. The outbuildings were erected in 1888, and consist of the courthouse, with two cells attached, together with a seven-roomed residence and stable. The stipendiary magistrate holds court once a month, and minor cases are dealt with by the local justices. The district under the control of the local constable extends from Tuakau to within a mile of Rangiriri and from Miranda towards Raglan over the Waikato.

            

            

              
              


                

Constable Charles Stanyer,
                who is in charge of the Mercer Police Station, and acts as Bailiff of the Magistrate's Court and Inspector of Factories, was born at Brighton, England, in 1860. He joined her Majesty's Navy in 1873, at Plymouth, was for some time on the training ship “Lion,” went to sea in H.M.S. “Triumph,” and served with the Channel and Mediterranean squadrons. Subsequently he was transferred to the “Raleigh,” which took out a relief crew for the “Wolverine” on the Australian station. Mr. Stanyer was under Admiral Hornsby at the Dardenelles, at the occupation of Cyprus. He went to Egypt in the “Orion,” was at Ismailia at the occupation of that town, was one of the party of gunners marched through to Cairo, and was present at the battles of Kasasian and Tel-el-Kebir, for which he gained the Egyptian medal with bar and star. Mr. Stanyer was bought off at Malta, but joined the “Superb” on a fresh term of service. On his return to England he left the navy. In 1887 he came to Auckland by the s.s. “Tainui,” joined the permanent artillery, and was stationed at Fort Takapuna. Two years later he was transferred to the police department, under which he was stationed in the King Country, and was appointed to Mercer in 1900. At the time of the wreck of the s.s. “Wairarapa” on the Great Barrier, Constable Stanyer was one of the party of police sent to recover the bodies. Mr. Stanyer was married, in 1891, to a daughter of Mr. G. Healand, Parnell, and has three daughters and one son.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Mercer Creamery
                
                (S. R. Cox, manager). This creamery belongs to the New Zealand Dairy Association, and was established in 1896. The building is of wood and iron, and is erected on a site adjoining the road, railway, and river. There were eleven suppliers in 1900, when the machinery consisted of a four-horse power portable engine and an Alexandra separator with a capacity of 300 gallons.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Robert Cox,
                Manager of the Mercer Creamery, was born at Mauku, on the 24th of October, 1879. For seven years he was employed in a saw mill at Hunua. He entered the employment of the New Zealand Dairy Association at Ngaruawahia, in 1899, and became manager at Ararimu in August, 1900, and at Mercer, on the 15th of September of the same year.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Mercer Railway Hotel
                
                (James Edward Hallett, proprietor), opposite the railway station, mercer. This well known hotel is a new wooden building, re-erected in 1898. It is two stories in height, and contains twenty-one rooms, including fifteen bedrooms, three sitting rooms, a dining room, with seating capacity for fifty guests, a bathroom, and other offices. The refreshment rooms at the Mercer railway station are conducted by the management of the hotel.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Edward Hallett,
                the Proprietor, who has had the hotel since 1894, and who also farms 600 acres at Churchill, was born in Devonshire, England, in 1857. He had a number of years' experience as a bank clerk, and came out to the colonies as an officer of the Bank of Australasia, in connection with which he was stationed for seven years in New South Wales and Queensland. About 1888 he left the service of the bank, and after spending three years on the Queensland gold diggings, he arrived in Auckland in 1891. For a short time Mr. Hallett had the Park Hotel in Auckland, and settled at Mercer in 1894. He was married, in 1893, to the widow of the late Mr. A. Stewart, of Riverhead.

            

            

              
              


                
Hunter, M. and 
S.
                (Matthew Hunter and Scott Hunter), General Storekeepers, Bakers, and Farmers, Mercer. This well known business was established about 1870, and has been conducted by the present firm for about a quarter of a century. The building is of wood with a verandah, and contains a large shop with one residence attached. Messrs Hunter own about 1150 acres of land, which they farm in addition to managing their large business. Both partners are referred to elsewhere as members of the Mercer Township Road Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Coultas, Thomas Henry,
                Farmer, Mercer. Mr. Coultas was born at Retford, Lincolnshire, England, in 1868, shortly before his parents left for New Zealand. He was educated in the Mercer district, where he was brought up to country pursuits. Mr. Coultas is considered a good judge of cattle, and takes the active management of his father's estate, which is nearly 600 acres in extent.

            

            

              
              


                

Lee, John Henry,
                Farmer, the Bee Hive, Mercer. Mr. Lee was born in the United States of America, in 1854, and brought up to agriculture. He went to sea for three years, and was for a short time in the South Seas in 1876, when he settled in Australia. Mr. Lee was engaged in farming in the colony of Victoria until 1889, when he came to New Zealand, and has since been a settler in the Mercer district. His holding consists of 219 acres, which he works as a dairy farm. Mr. Lee was married, in 1891, to a daughter of Mr. T. C. McIlroy, of Mercer, and has four sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Coultas,
                J. P., who is one of the oldest settlers in the Mercer district, was born in Grantham, Lincolnshire, England, in 1826. Mr. Coultas was brought up to the implement trade in Grantham, and became a member of the firm which owned the Perseverance Iron Works. In 1868 he arrived in Wellington by the ship “Asterope,” but removed to Auckland, and about the New Year of 1869 settled in the Mercer district on a portion of the property which he still owns. Mr. Coultas took an active part in the establishment of the Mercer public school, which he actually erected, and also the school at Pokeno, together with the teacher's house. He was married, in 1864, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Hiley, of Gainsborough. This lady died on the 21st of June, 1894, leaving two daughters and one son.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. G. McAnnalley
                
                is one of the oldest settlers in the Mercer district. He was born in County Antrim, Ireland, and went in 1851 to America, where he became a fireman, and afterwards an engine-driver at sugar factories and on steam boats. In 1861 Mr. McAnnalley arrived in Southland, but soon afterwards removed to Auckland, where he found employment for some years in connection with saw milling. In 1896 he joined the Telegraph Department as lineman in Auckland, and served at the Thames and Mercer until 1883, when he retired from service. Mr. McAnnalley has been twice married.
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Rangiriri.

            

              
In the early days of the Waikato Rangiriri was a well known stopping place for the coaches. It is the scene of a historic siege during the native troubles of the sixties, and two cenotaphs are erected in the cemetery to the memory of soldiers and sailors killed on that memorable occasion. Rangiriri is a favourite place for sportsmen during the shooting season, and the creek connecting Lake Waikare with the Waikato river at this point is navigable for steam launches. Lake Whangape, a fine sheet of water, is not far away from the settlement, but is on the other side of the river. There are several stores and a hotel, and the township is about a mile from the Rangiriri station, which is a flag station, fifty-six miles from Auckland, and only 30 feet above the sea level.

            

            

              
              


                
Pumice Works,
                near Rangiriri, Auckland. These works were originally established by the late Mr. J. C. Firth for the purpose of manufacturing pumice insulation, and are now owned by the Firth Pumice Co., Ltd. Pumice is used for insulating frozen meat steamers, frozen meat works, dairy factories, bacon factories, and cool storage chambers of all kinds. The use of Firth's Calcined Sterilized Pumice Insulation eliminates all risk from spontaneous combustion, while charcoal, which was used as an insulator prior to the introduction of pumice, is well known to be liable to fire spontaneously; many fires in frozen meat steamers and cool storage rooms, having been traced directly to it. Pumice insulation, being an inorganic sterilized substance, no germs, microbes, mildew, fungoid growth, or vegetable organism can breed or exist in it. In this respect it is again the exact opposite of charcoal. Pumice is now recognised as the most efficient insulator, for the exclusion or retention of heat, cold or sound, when prepared in the manner perfected by this company. The several processes of manufacture and use of the finished article are covered by various patents, held exclusively by the company.

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Ohinewai



            
Ohinewai.

            

              
              


                

                  
Ohinewai
                
                is the name of a flag station on the Auckland-Waikato railway, and is sixty miles from the city, and 33 feet above sea level. There is a post office at the house of one of the settlers communicate with the other side of the Waikato by a punt. The district has a local school, but no church. There is a pumice-mill, which works an extensive deposit and employs about twenty hands, and there is said to be an increasing demand for the mill's output. Old seams of coal exist in the district, and in boring recently for that mineral a sodawater spring with a temperature of 75 degrees was tapped. Ohinewai is in the Waikato County, and fifteen miles from the farming settlement of Matahuru.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Ohinewai Post Office
                
                is conducted at the homestead of Mr. George Silvester, who acts as postmaster. His residence is about a mile and a half from the railway station, close to the bank of the Waikato river. Daily mails are received and despatched, and the postmaster has the contract for carrying the mails between the post office and the station.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Ohinewai Public School
                
                has oneclass room and a porch, with accommodation for forty pupils. There are sixteen on the roll, and there is an average attendance of twelve. The enclosure is well planted with shelter pines and ornamental trees, and there is a large playground, and a schoolhouse of four rooms.

            

            

              
              


                

Miss Annie Krippner,
                who is in charge of the Ohinewai Public School, was born at Ohaupo. She served her pupil teachership at Mangere, was afterwards for three years at Ohaupo school, and had charge of Tauwhare for eighteen months, and of Maratai for four years. Miss Krippner received her present appointment in September, 1900.
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Huntly.

            

              
              


                

Huntly,
                on the Waikato line, is sixty-five miles south from Auckland. The station is 65 feet above sea level, and the settlement is situated on the banks of the Waikato river. It is connected by punt with the native settlement of Waatu. Huntly was originally known by the Maori name of Rahuipakeka. In the early sixties the late Mr. Anthony Ralph became the first settler. For some years the coalmine known as the Waikato was worked by the Government on the west side of the river opposite Huntly, and from it the steamers plying on the river received their supplies. The late Mr. Anthony Ralph is said to have been the discoverer of coal on the Huntly side of the river. About 1875 a coal company was formed to work deposits at Huntly. Other mines were subsequently opened up, and later on the whole of the mines were amalgamated under the title of the Taupiri Coal Mines, Limited. From those mines there is a large output. The township of Huntly is a growing one. There is one large hotel close to the railway station, and there is a considerable number of business people in the place. Most of the Christian churches are represented in the district. The township, which is picturesquely situated, has a public library, a post and telegraph office, a daily mail service, and a population of about 600 persons.

            

            

              
              


                
The Huntly Rifle Corps.
                This corps, which was established in October, 1889, is composed principally of coal miners. The full strength of the company is sixty-three. The officers are: Mr. R. Ralph, captain; Messrs Elliott and Blank, lieutenants. Mr. Laing, M.H.R., is patron.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain Robert Reilly Ralph,
                who is at the head of the Huntly Rifle Corps, in which he takes a deep interest, was born at Onehunga, in 1850. He is a son of the late Mr. Anthony Ralph, who took up about 200 acres of land at Huntly, the property on which coal was first found in the district. Mr. Ralph was the prospector and discoverer of the seam of coal, and sank the first shaft into the seam, which is 70 feet thick. He was for nearly twenty years connected as underviewer with the Taupiri Extended Mine, and he is still a large shareholder in the Taupiri Coal Mine Company. Mr. Ralph is settled on a farm of 1000 acres of land at Kimihia, and the railway station is on his property. He was married on the 16th of December, 1874, to a daughter of Mr. Robert Muir, and has seven sons and four daughters.
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Huntly Railway Station And Post And Telegraph Office.
                The Huntly railway station, which was established about 1880, is built of wood and iron, and contains a large waiting room, ladies' waiting room, a lamp and luggage room, and the post and telegraph office. There is also a goods shed, and an engine and coaling shed for the engine. About ten trains daily pass through the station, and the staff consists of five hands, besides the stationmaster. There is a large coal export, and from 60,000 and 70,000 tons are sent away annually.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Henry Cottam,
                Stationmaster, Postmaster and Telegraph Officer, was born in London in 1853. He was educated at the London University, and came out to Nelson in 1872 in the barque “Chawdiere.” After working in Nelson for some time he went to Wellington, and started in business as a commission agent. In 1874, he joined the railway service in Wellington, working in the Store Department, and at the end of six months was transferred to Foxton, where he remained for twelve months in a similar capacity. He was then appointed stationmaster at Palmerston North, on the opening of the railway there, and remained three years. Subsequently he held similar appointments at Kai-iwi, Waverley, New Plymouth, Mercer, and Papakura. He was next appointed chief clerk at Greymouth, and remained there for six years, when he was transferred to Christchurch, where he had charge of the delivery of the north and south goods for another six years. In 1895 he was appointed to Pleasant Point, South Canterbury, and was transferred to Huntly in October, 1900.
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Mr. Noah Harry,
                who is one of the Engineers in charge of the Coal Pumping Department of the Huntly Railway Station at Huntly, was born in Cardiff, Wales, in 1852. He engaged in railway work in the Old Country, and was an engine driver until he left for New Zealand in 1884. Soon after his arrival



in the colony he joined the New Zealand railways, and was driving for the contractor of the Rotorua section for one year. Afterwards he was engaged as a fireman and driver by the Government till 1890, when he was appointed to Huntly. Mr. Harry is well known as a poultry fancier. He has imported pure black Spanish fowls, has frequently competed at the Auckland and local shows, and has on several occasions taken special prizes. He is also a breeder of Pekin ducks, and has imported several fine specimens. Mr. Harry was married, in 1889, to a daughter of the late Mr. L. James, of Mercer, and has two sons and two daughters.
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The Huntly Public School,
                which was established about 1880, has been several times enlarged. It is built of wood and shingle, and has three class rooms and a large porch, with accommodation for 300 children. There are about 180 children on the roll, with an average attendance of 140. The headmaster is assisted by two certificated teachers and a pupil teacher. The school stands on an acre of land, and the schoolhouse is on a separate section of three-quarters of an acre.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Elliot,
                Headmaster of the Huntly Public School, holds a C1 certificate, and was born in 1865 at Jedburgh, Roxburghshire, Scotland. He studied in Edinburgh and at Glasgow University, and gave himself up to literary pursuits for some years. In 1891 Mr. Elliot arrived in Wellington by the s.s. “Rimutaka,” and after removing to Auckland became an officer of the Board of Education. He was two years at Waipu Cove school, and nearly four years at Kohukohu, Hokianga, before being appointed to Huntly in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                
St. Paul's Anglican Church,
                Huntly, was erected about 1893. It is a wooden building, and has accommodation for 200 worshippers. The vicar, the Rev. H. Mason, makes periodical visits to Ngaruawahia.

            

            

              
              


                
The Huntly Presbyterian Church,
                which stands on a quarter acre section on the Great South Road, is built of kauri wood and iron, and has accommodation for one hundred persons. There is a church hall at the back with seats for sixty. The minister in charge, the Rev. J. Egerton Ward, supplies at Kimihia, Matahura, Matahura Gorge, Wairenga, Whangamarino, Churchill, Glen Murray, Pukerimu, and Woodleign, and also does some work amongst the Maoris, besides acting as chaplain to the local volunteer corps.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Huntly Wesleyan Church
                
                is built of wood and iron, and stands on a quarter of an acre section adjoining the railway. It was built in 1898, has accommodation for 150 worshippers, and services are held each Sunday. A Sunday School and Band of Hope are conducted in connection with the church. Huntly is the headquarters of the Wesleyan Home Mission district, which extends from Taupiri to Whangamarino, and in connection with which services are held periodically at Taupiri, Kimihia, Ohinewai, Rangiriri, Churchill, Whangamarino and Matahura.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Cyril Randerson,
                Home Missionary in charge, is the son of Mr. J. R. Randerson, and grandson of the late Rev. John Randerson, sometime missionary in Jamaica and member of the British Wesleyan Conference. He was born at Coromandel, Auckland, in 1877, and was educated at the public schools of Auckland, Wellington and Christchurch, and at the Boys' High School, Christchurch, where he matriculated. After several years on the staff of the Cyclopedia Company, he entered Home Mission work in the Methven district, Canterbury, and, having been accepted for the ministry at the Conference of 1901, was appointed to his present position pending a vacancy at the connexional training college. He is an ardent temperance worker, and holds the position of D.D.G.C.T. in the Good Templar Order.

            

            

              
              


                
Lodge Taupiri,
                No. 118, N.Z.C. This Masonic lodge was founded in September, 1900, when the officers were: Bro. J. Elliot, W.M.; Bro. D. McKinnon, S.W.; Bro. S. Governor, J.W.; Bro. H. H. Gould, treasurer; and Bro. J. R. Hetherington, secretary.

              

                

[image: A Maori Whare.]
A 
Maori Whare.


              

            

            

              
              


                
Huntly Cricket Club.
                This club was originally known as the Huntly Cricket Club, but in 1900 the name was changed to that of the Taupiri. Officers for 1900; Messrs J. Elliot, E. Ellison, W. Ellison, C. Gleeson, and N. Hill (secretary).

            

            

              
              


                
The Huntly Football Club,
                which was re-organised in 1899, has a senior and junior team. Officers for 1900: Messrs F. W. Lang, M.H.R., president; J. Elliot, vice-president; and N. Hill, secretary. Mr. J. Clout is captain of the senior team, and Mr. J. McIntosh, of the junior team.

            

            

              
              


                
The Huntly Orchestral Society,
                which was established at Christmas, 1899, has eight performing members. The society is popular in the district, and gives entertainments, in addition to performing at public functions. It is under the presidency and conductorship of Mr. R. Skellern.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Huntly Rifle Volunteer Brass Band
                
                was established in January, 1901, and has a membership of eighteen. Its members wear the uniform of the corps, but the band is to all intents and purposes a public band, and plays and performs for charitable and other purposes, as well as in connection with volunteer parades. Officers for 1900: Messrs R. Skellern, bandmaster; W. Shera, secretary; and A. Turner, treasurer.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Richard Skellern,
               
 Bandmaster of the Huntly Brass Band, was born in 1855 in Staffordshire, England, where he was educated and brought up as an engineer. He came out to Auckland in 1878, and after five years' service as an engineer at the Bay of Islands Coal Mine, he entered the service of the Waikato Coal and Shipping Company, also as an engineer. He has resided for some
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years at Huntly, and acts as one of the engineers for the Taupiri Coal Mines. Mr. Skellern is also a general storekeeper, and has been in business as such since April, 1899. He was married, in 1873, to a daughter of Mr. John Clarke, late chief engineer for Sir George Elliot and Company's Harecastle Collieries, North Staffordshire, and has two sons and three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Huntly Public Library
                
                has a considerable number of books, and there is a reading room with the usual newspapers. Officers for 1900: Messrs E. Coxon, chairman, M. Friar, treasurer, W. Bailey, secretary, and J. A. Parkes, H. R. Porter, J. S. Clout, and J. Elliot, trustees.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Karaka Kereru Tarawhiti,
                Native Assessor, Huntly, was born in 1848 at Taupiri, in the Waikato. His father, the Rev. Heta Tarawhiti, who was related to King Tawhiao, was overseer of the Native school at Taupiri, where one Rev. B. V. Ashwell, a clergyman of the Church of England, was in charge. When only about three years of age K. K. Tarawhiti attended the school with his father, and continued in attendance till 1862, when it broke up. In 1859, Mr. Heta Tarawhiti went to St. Stephen's, Parnell, Auckland, to train for the ministry of the Church of England, and was in due course admitted to orders by Bishop Selwyn. When Mr. Ashwell returned to Auckland in 1862, the Rev. H. Tarawhiti took charge of the mission station at Taupiri. During the Maori war of 1863 the Imperial troops under General Cameron passed through Taupiri, to Ngaruawahia, and the war steamers “Pioneer” and “Avon,” under Commodore Sir William Wiseman, were stationed at Taupiri for a time. On one occasion, about December, 1863, young Tarawhiti and William Turner, a Pirongia half-caste, who acted as interpreter to the Commodore, rode a whole night from Taupiri to Te Rore with horses—supplied without pay by the Rev. H. Tarawhiti—for Sir William Wiseman's use in connection with the war at Te Awamutu, Rangiaohia, Hairini, and Orakau, whither the Commodore had gone with his force in the steamer “Avon.” Then from February to May, 1864, Mr. K. K. Tarawhiti and other natives, with Tewheoro, were engaged in transporting supplies for the troops from Whatawhata to Te Rore, and in bringing down the prisoners in canoes, as the Waipa river was unnavigable by the war steamers during those months. Mr. Tarawhiti was one of those who brought Colonel Nixon from Te Rore to Maungatawhiri, in a canoe, when that gallant officer received his death wound at Rangiaohia on the 23rd of February, 1864. When the war was over in 1864–65, Mr. Tarawhiti accompanied the Rev. B. V. Ashwell, when the latter officially visited the various military camps in the Waikato, and was subsequently a member of a survey party in 1868. He was storekeeping and farming from 1870 to 1873; was native policeman in 1879–80 for Taupiri, Huntly, and Rangiriri, and afterwards became a member of the Native Committee for Waikato and the King Country under the Act of 1883. In 1885 Mr. Tarawhiti was appointed to a Native Assessorship for the Native Land Court of New Zealand under the Acts of 1880, 1886, and 1894, and also for the Stipendiary Magistrate's Court of the Waikato, under the Acts of 1852 and 1862; and he still (August, 1901) fulfils the duties of the dual position.
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                  The Huntly Police Station
                
                is situated in a central position in the township, and consists of a six-roomed residence, with a lock-up. It was established in 1890, and the district includes the country between Rangiriri and Taupiri, about twenty-five miles.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edward Howell,
                Constable in charge of the Huntly District, was born in the County of Durham, England, in 1870. In 1891 he arrived in Wellington by the s.s. “Kaikoura,” and entered the Permanent Artillery. After two years' service he was transferred to the Police Department in 1895. He was stationed at Christchurch and Auckland prior to his appointment to Huntly in 1898. Mr. Howell was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. P. Walsh, of County Kerry, Ireland, and has one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

MacLachlan, Hugh Kennedy,
                L.R.C.P. (Edin.) and LL.B. and S. (Glas.), Physician and Surgeon, Huntly. Dr. MacLachlan is a son of the late Dr. Thomas MacLachlan, J.P., D.L., of Rothesay, and brother of the late Major-General J. I. MacLachlan, of the Royal Horse Artillery. He was born in 1842 at Rothesay, Isle of Bute, and after receiving his early education at a private school, entered Glasgow University and Anderson's School of Medicine. On taking his degrees, Dr. MacLachlan joined for a short time the 74th Highlanders (now 2nd Battalion Highland Light Infantry) and served in the Mediterranean. Subsequently he served in Jamaica and in the Bombay Presidency, with intervals of Home service. After being in private practice for a short period he came to New Zealand in 1877, landing at Wellington, and has been practising at Huntly for some years. Dr. MacLachlan is a member of the Masonic body, is married and has an only child.
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Cadman, John Charles,
                Chemist and Druggist, Huntly. This business was established in 1894 by the proprietor, who was born in London in 1860, and arrived in Port Chalmers by the ship “Dallam Tower,” in 1878. Mr. Cadman was for some time engaged



in mercantile life. He gained his experience as a chemist in Christchurch and Auckland, and was for some years in business at Parnell before settling in Huntly.

            

            

              
              


                

Gleeson, Charles,
                Baker and Confectioner, Great South Road, Huntly. Established in 1889. Mr. Gleeson was born in Auckland in 1845, and on leaving school was apprenticed to the late Mr. Canning for five years; he afterwards had further considerable experience with leading bakers of Auckland. Mr. Gleeson first commenced business on his own account in Newton, Auckland, but eventually established himself in Huntly, where he now has a good connection and is well known.
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The Taupiri Coal Mines,
                Ltd. Messrs E. W. Wilson, W. J. Ralph, H. A. Gordon, G. Winstone, and R. Walker, directors; Mr. F. Scherff, secretary. The present company was incorporated in April, 1899, to acquire the coal mines in the Huntly district, known as Ralph's Taupiri, Taupiri Reserve at Kimihia, the Taupiri Extended Mine, and the Waikato Coal Mine. Since then the machinery of the Waikato mine has been dismantled, and the company now works two mines—namely, Ralph's and the Taupiri Reserve at Kimihia. The Ralph's Mine at Huntly is worked by means of a pair of shafts, and that at Kimihia by an adit, with one ventilating shaft. The works at Kimihia extend for a considerable distance under the lake, and the mine is connected by two miles of private line with the main line of railway. The output of the mines for the years 1899 and 1900 was between 80,000 and 90,000 tons for each year. There has been a gradual increase in the output since opening, and 170 men and boys are employed, there being no night work.
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Mr. Edward Septimus Wight,
                Manager of the Taupiri Coal Mine, was born in Sunderland, England, in 1863. He was educated in his native town, and was brought up to coal mining in South Wales and Durham. In 1887 he arrived in New South Wales, where he found employment at Newcastle, and was subsequently manager of South Greta, near Maitland. Mr. Wight came to New Zealand in 1894, and was for three years and a half at the Ngunguru Coal Company's Mine at Kiripaka, but left that employment to take charge of the Taupiri Reserve mine, in May, 1897. He was married, in 1891, to a daughter of Mr. T. Riley, of Sydney, and has one daughter and one son.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Roper Porter,
                Engineer in charge of the Machinery at the Taupiri Coal Mines, Limited, was born in Auckland, in 1866. He qualified as an engineer in 1888, and after being employed at the Thames for some years, was for a time engaged as a fitter at the Onehunga Iron Works. Mr. Porter has been in the employment of the Taupiri Coal Company as engineer since 1890, and has been in full charge since 1897. As a member of the Anglican Church, he holds office as minister's churchwarden. Mr. Roper was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr. W. Smith, of Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederick William Soppet,
                Engineer in charge of the Kimihia Section of the Taupiri Coal Mine, was born in Auckland in 1865, and educated at the Auckland Grammar School. Having become an engineer, he was for four years employed by the Waikato Coal and Shipping Company at Ngaruawahia, and also worked for fifteen months at the Miranda Coal Mines, after which he re-entered the employment of the Waikato Coal and Shipping Company as an engineer. Subsequently he became engine driver at the extended section of the Huntly Coal Mine, and was appointed to his present position at Kimihia in August, 1899. Mr. Soppet is a member of the committee of the Huntly Presbyterian Church. He was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr. A. Nicoll, shipbuilder, at Onehunga, and has two sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Abraham Dorricott,
                Underviewer of Ralph's Section of the Taupiri Coal Mines, was born in 1848 in Shropshire, England, and commenced to work as a coalminer when he was only ten years of age. He followed that employment until he left for New Zealand in the s.s. “Triumph,” in 1882. After he arrived in Auckland, he went to Hobsonville, where he was engaged in the local pottery for four years. He then worked for three years as a coalminer at Miranda, and settled at Tuakau, where he purchased a farm of 100 acres, on which he resided for several years, and which is still his home. Mr. Dorricott was appointed to his present position in May, 1898. He served for some time as a member of the Whangarata school committee. Mr. Dorricott was married, in 1869, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Alder, of Shropshire, and has two sons and five daughters.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. William Samuel Evans,
               
 Underviewer at the Kimihia Section of the Taupiri Coal Mines, is a native of Glamorganshire. South Wales, where he was born in 1860. He arrived at Port Chalmers in 1864, with his parents, and was educated at Hokitika, Auckland, and Coromandel. From 1879 to 1886 Mr. Evans was in the Coromandel district, where he engaged chiefly in gold mining. In 1886 he removed to Miranda, where he found employment in the coal mine; he has been working at Kimihia since 1887, and was promoted to the position of underviewer in January, 1900. Mr. Evans is chairman of the Kimihia school committee, of which he has been a member since its inception. He owns and works a farm of about 200 acres in the district. Mr. Evans was married, in 1884,
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to a daughter of Mr. Pooley, builder, of Auckland, and has three daughters and two sons.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. A. Turner,
                Underviewer at the Extended Mine, Huntly, was born at Rotherham, near Sheffield, England, in 1867. His father's family came to Auckland in the ship “Ben Nevis,” in 1879, and went farming at the Bay of Islands. In 1883 Mr. Turner was mining in New South Wales, and in the same year he returned to New Zealand, and settled at Huntly. Mr. Turner has been engaged in coal mining since 1878, and in September, 1898, he was appointed to his present position. His tastes are musical; he is a member of the local band, and plays the cornet in the orchestra. Mr. Turner was married, in 1892, to a daughter of Mr. J. H. Sampson, of Waihi, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Harrison, Jonathan,
                J.P., M.E.F.G.S., Mine Manager, Huntly. Mr. Harrison was born at Eastwood, Nottingham, England. He belongs to a very old Nottingham family and received his training under his uncle, Mr. Robert Harrison, general manager and mining engineer of the firm of Barber, Walker and Co., of Eastwood, Nottingham. The output from this company's mines amounted to 20,000 tons per week. In 1863 Mr. Harrison went to Central India as manager and engineer for the celebrated Nerbudda Coal and Iron Company, whose mines he opened out. After his return to England he was again appointed mine manager under the firm of Barber, Walker and Co. In a few years he was offered a position as manager under the Wombwell Main Coal Company in Yorkshire, and was there until he was sent for to be manager and mining engineer for the Whitwick Colliery, Leicestershire. He was there over six years, when he decided, in November, 1879, to come to New Zealand by the “British Empire.” On his arrival in the Colony he went to the West Coast to take charge of the Brunner mine, but left in twelve months, much to the regret of the owner, to take charge of the Westport Wallsend mine, where he designed and superintended the erection of all the machinery and remained about six years. Mr. Harrison then took charge of the Cobden Dredging Gold Mining works and held one-fifth interest in the North Beach Gold Company. In 1890 he left goldmining as he had been appointed manager of the Taupiri Reserve Colliery Company, in whose service he remained for over seven years. After that he was asked to take the management of Ralph's Taupiri mine, Huntly, and remained in that position until the amalgamation of the mines took place in April, 1899. Mr. Harrison has written several essays on scientific subjects. As a geologist he has contributed valuable articles, and was a competitor for the Herman prize offered for the best article on “How to Prevent Explosions in Coal Mines.” In connection with this subject Mr. Harrison's contributions have always received favourable criticism.
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Horwood, George Thomas,
                Butcher, Great South Road, Huntly. Mr. Horwood was born in 1870, at Hammersmith, England. He learned the business of a pork butcher, and came to Auckland in 1888 by the ship “Tainui.” After working in Auckland at his trade for three years, he engaged in farming for a year in the Nelson provincial district, but subsequently settled in Huntly. Mr. Horwood is a successful fowlfancier and breeder of white Leghorns, and also an importer of Pekin ducks. He was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. R. Johnson, of Huntly, and has one son and one daughter.
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Collins, William,
               
 Fire Brick and Pipe Manufacturer, Huntly. Mr. Collins was born in 1840 in Warwickshire, England, where he was educated, and afterwards learned coal mining. He holds the highest testimonials from various mines in Warwickshire, Derbyshire, Flintshire and Glamorganshire, where he acted as assistant engineer, fitter and engineer. He also holds a first-class certificate for mine manager. In 1873 Mr. Collins arrived in Melbourne by the ship “Great Britain,” and afterwards came by the “Alhambra” to
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the West Coast of the Middle Island. He moved thence to the Bay of Islands, where he was engineer and fitter to the Bay of Islands Coal Company till 1875. He was afterwards manager to the Waikato Steam Navigation Coal Mines Company, which he left in 1877 owing to the expiration of the company's lease. Mr. Collins then opened up the old Taupiri Extended Mine. He surveyed and superintended the branch line and sidings from the main line to the iron cylinder shaft, and the erection of the foundations of the winding engines and boilers, and on two separate occasions the directors presented him with a cheque for £20 as a token of their appreciation of his skill and ability. In 1891 he also received a testimonial from the miners, as a tribute to the carefulness and efficiency of his management. Mr. Collins served his connection with the coal mines in 1890, when he purchased the brick yards from Mr. Metcalf. Under his ownership the output of the yards has been greatly increased. Mr. Collins supplies the Government with the majority of the fire bricks required for railway locomotives. He has been a member of the Order of Odd-fellows for over thirty-five years, and is married and has six children.

            

            

              
              


                
Friar, Davies and Co.,
                Storekeepers, Huntly. Head Office, Ngaruawahia. Mr. Matthew Friar, the managing partner of this firm, is a native of Ireland, and was born in 1860. After receiving his education, he gained considerable commercial experience with leading business houses in Ireland, and was traveller for Messrs. J. Little and Sons, of Belfast, on leaving whom in 1876, he came to New Zealand per ship “Dover Castle.” Mr. Friar was for some time in business at Kawakawa, eventually joining his present firm in 1877. He has taken no active part in local matters, devoting the whole of his attention to business. Mr. Friar is well known and very popular throughout the district.

              

                

[image: Mr. M. Friar.]

Mr. M. Friar.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Hubbard, Frank,
                Farmer, Huntly. Mr. Hubbard was born in Essex, England, in 1849. When he was five years of age he arrived in Lyttelton, with his parents, by the ship “Royal Stuart,” and was educated and brought up as a farmer in Canterbury. In 1883 Mr. Hubbard moved north, and settled in the Whangamarina district. Nine years later he purchased a property of 16,000 acres at Moarangi, where he was the first settler. At that time there were no roads in the district, and swamps had to be crossed to get to his land. As a Freemason, Mr. Hubbard is a Master of the Taupiri lodge. He was married, in 1870, to Miss Mair, of Edinburgh, but she died four years later, leaving two sons. Mr. Hubbard has represented the outlying districts on the Huntly Road Board since 1895. In October, 1875, Mr. Hubbard married a daughter of Mr. W. Lancaster, of Liverpool, and one son, since dead, was born of this union.

              

                

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. F. Hubbard.]

Hanna, photo.


Mr. F. 
Hubbard.


              

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Kimihia



            
Kimihia.

            

              
              


                

Kimihia,
                in the county of Waikato, is a flag station, sixty-three miles from Auckland, on the Waikato line. The settlement, two miles distant, is connected with the station by a private railway owned by the Taupiri Coal Mines, Limited, which works a large area of coal bearing land. There is a schoolhouse at Kimihia settlement, and a considerable mining population.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Kimihia Public School
                
                was established in 1897. It is erected on a section of four acres of land, is of wood and iron, and has one porch and a class room, with accommodation for sixty pupils. There are thirty-seven on the roll, with an average attendance of thirty-two.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Maurice Priestly,
                who holds a D certificate, has been Headmaster since the opening of the school. He was born in Bradford, England, in 1877, and came to Auckland, in the s.s. Doric,” when he was seven years of age. Mr. Priestly served his pupil-teachership at Point Chevalier and Mount Auckland, near Auckland, and was at Te Aroha prior to receiving his present appointment.
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Taupiri.

            

              
The township of Taupiri is situated at the junction of the Waikato river and the Mangawhare creek. Up this creek there is a large bush, whence logs are floated during freshets to the local sawmill. A small mountain close to the settlement has a picturesquely situated Maori burial ground at the top. It is the site of an old Maori pa, and holds the grave of Tawhiao, the Maori king. The Freshfields and Woodlands stations lie on the road, via Hukenui, to Hamilton. In the neighbourhood there is a large kauri gum field, which can be worked only in the summer months. The railway station is seventy-five miles from Auckland on the Waikato line. It is 145 feet above sea level, and is a flag station. The local post office is conducted in one of the railway cottages. There is a hotel close to the station, and there are a few business people in the township. On the other side of the Waikato River there is a small native settlement, where the remains of an old church and mission building, erected in the early days of the colony, are still visible. Many years ago the settlement had splendid groves of peach trees, which have now vanished and given place to thick acacia scrub.
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Taupiri Post And Telegraph Office.
                The business of this office is conducted in one of the railway cottages near the station. Six mails are received and despatched daily. There is a telephone service with Huntly, and a private telephone communicates with Woodlands.

            

            

              
              


                

Mrs Emily Barker,
                Postmistress, who has been in charge since 1898, is a native of Sheffield, Yorkshire, England, and was married to the late Mr. John Barker, in 1880. Mr. Barker was killed by a railway accident in January, 1898, and his widow was left with a family of five daughters and three sons.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Taupiri Public School
                
                dates back to 1880. It is erected on four acres and a half of land, is built of wood and iron, and contains two class rooms and a porch. There is accommodation for one hundred scholars, the number on the roll is eighty, and the average attendance sixty-seven. There is a playground, with a covered shelter-shed. Adjoining the school there is a residence of six rooms, and there is a capital tennis court on the property. The headmaster is assisted by two pupil-teachers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Thomas Gostick Cox,
                Headmaster of the Taupiri School, was born in Auckland in 1870. He was educated in his native city, and served his pupil-teachership at Kingsland. Mr. Cox was placed in charge of two half-time schools in the Whangarei district, where he continued for two years. After being for five years in charge of the Bay of Islands school, he went on the relieving staff, prior to his appointment at Taupiri, in July, 1898. Mr. Cox takes an interest in local pastimes, and is secretary of the local tennis club. He was married in June, 1899, to a daughter of Mr. A. W. Armstrong, of Whangarei, and has two sons.

            

            

              
              


                
Taupiri District Cricket Club.
                Officers for 1900: Mr. T. C. Williams, president; Messrs E. V. Ralph, J. W. Bailey, and R. F. Bollard, vice-presidents; Mr. E. R. Cox, captain; and Mr. Glen, secretary and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Gleeson And Sons
                
                (Charles Gleeson and Charles Matthew Gleeson), Bakers and Confectioners, Taupiri; principal establishment, Huntly. This branch was established in 1894, and is under the management of the junior partner, Mr. C. M. Gleeson, who has been associated with his father in business since 1888. He was married, in 1898, to a daughter of Mr. W. Miller, of Taupiri.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Taupiri Hotel
                
                (Mrs R. E. Lovell, proprietress), Taupiri. This fine hotel, which is close to the railway station, is the only hotel in the district. The late Mr. W. H. N. Lovell, who established it, settled in the district about 1871, and kept a store and accommodation house on the river bank for many years before the hotel was built in 1885. Mrs Lovell, who has managed the hotel since the death of her husband in 1890, is a daughter of the late Mr. A. Ralph, pioneer, and originally owner, of the Huntly coal mines.

            

            

              
              


                

Waring, Arthur Henry,
                Butcher and Farmer, Taupiri. Mr. Waring was born at Aston-on-Clun, Shropshire, England, in 1863, and was educated at Diddlebury, Ludlow, and Stratford-on-Avon, where he was brought up to country pursuits. His father was a cattle dealer and grazier. In October, 1883, Mr. Waring arrived at Port Chalmers by the steamship “British Queen,” and afterwards removed to Auckland, and settled in the Waikato, where he found employment as stockman for the late Hon. James Williamson, at Rukuhia, and was afterwards butcher for about four years on Woodlands station. In 1891 Mr. Waring commenced business as a butcher in Taupiri, where he has a convenient, well-ventilated shop, and a detached residence of eight rooms. He farms 230 acres in the district, is one of the cemetery trustees, and has long served as a member of the local school committee. Mr. Waring is also a churchwarden of the Anglican church. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. T. Speake, of the Lea, Shropshire, and has four sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mellars, George Frederick.
                Flaxmiller, Taupiri. Mr. Mellars was born in Worksop, Nottinghamshire, England, in 1832. He served for about fifteen years at sea, before arriving in Lyttelton by the ship “Gannonoak” in 1860, when he resigned his position as third mate of that vessel and settled at Woodend, where, and at Oxford, he was for several years engaged in the timber business. At the time of the West Coast “rush,” Mr. Mellars went to Hokitika, where he engaged in goldmining for about six months. In 1868 he went to the Thames, but after a short time he removed to Auckland, and eventually settled at Ohaupo in 1869. For several years afterwards Mr. Mellars engaged in sawmilling, and in 1888 he bought 1000 acres at Taupiri, where he established a sawmill, which he conducted till 1899. Since that time Mr. Mellars has been engaged in the flax business. The machinery of his mill,



which was erected at the end of 1899, is driven by a fourteen horse-power steam engine, and the flax is purchased under contract from the natives. Mr. Mellars was married, in 1863, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. Gibbs, and has seven daughters and five sons.
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                  Bailey And Bollard
                
                (John William Bailey and Richard Francis Bollard), Sawmillers, Taupiri Mills, Taupiri. These mills were established in 1898, and were purchased by Messrs Bailey and Bollard in the following year. There is a complete sawmilling plant, which is driven by an eighty horse-power steam engine, and a new mill was erected early in 1901. The weekly output of the mill amounts to about 75,000 feet of timber, which is chiefly sent to Auckland, though some is exported to Australia. There is also a large local consumption.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. J. W. Bailey
                
                was born in Burnley, Lancashire, England, in 1863, and was educated in his native place. He was brought up as an engineer, and came to Auckland in the ship “Kaikoura” in 1885. After being engaged in battery work at the Thames for some time, he became interested in sawmilling as an employee of the firm of Leyland, O'Brien and Co., with whom he continued for seven years. During that time he became a partner in the firm, and subsequently joined Mr. Bollard in the present business. Mr. Bailey was married, in 1888, to the eldest daughter of Mr. John Bollard, M.H.R., and has four sons.

            

            

              
              


                

                  “Freshfield”
                
                (Mr. E. B. Cox, manager) is the property of Mr. T. C. Williams, and consists of 11,000 odd acres of freehold land. The whole is ring-fenced, and divided into convenient subdivisions, nearly 3000 acres being in grass. Over 4000 sheep and about 600 head of cattle are now on the property, and it is estimated that by a judicious expenditure of capital the carrying capacity of the place will be more than doubled in a few years.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edmund Blachford Cox,
                who is the eldest surviving son of Mr. A. Cox, of Christchurch, was born in 1853 in New South Wales. He was educated at the Dunedin High School and at Nelson College, and was brought up to country life in Canterbury. Mr. Cox has supervised the whole of the improvements of the Freshfield estate, having been sent to take charge of the property in January, 1887, for the first proprietor, Mr. Ernest Gray, of Canterbury. He has continued as manager since Mr. Williams became proprietor. Mr. Cox holds office as chairman of the Taupiri school committee and domain board, and is also one of the cemetery trustees. His services are in request as a judge of stock, and he has acted in that capacity at various shows. Mr. Cox is vice-president of the Taupiri Agricultural and Pastoral Society. He was married, in 1877, to a daughter of the late Mr. R. Wilkin, of Christchurch, and has five sons and three daughters.
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Taylor William,
                Farmer, Steam Threshing and Chaff Cutting Machine Proprietor, “Elvers Green,” Taupiri. Mr. Taylor was born in Warwickshire, England, in 1843, and was educated at Coventry, where he was brought up to a country life by his father, who was a large farmer. In 1874 he came to Auckland, and settled in Taupiri, where he purchased the first portion of the 279 acres of land now held by him. Mr. Taylor brought out farming implements with him to the colony, and has several times since then imported machines, the last being a large traction engine, at a cost of £800. He has all sorts of agricultural implements, and with the assistance of his sons he undertakes a large number of contracts. Mr. Taylor has served on the local school committee for a number of years. He was married, in 1864, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Shannon, of Walsall, Staffordshire, and has three sons and three daughters.
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                  Woodlands Estate
                
                (John Gordon, manager) belongs to the New Zealand Land Association, and is a splendid property of about 88,000 acres. It is a portion of the lands confiscated by the Crown at the conclusion of the Maori war in 1864. A considerable proportion of the confiscated land was granted for services rendered to military settlers, and other areas were sold at comparatively low prices for special settlement, but there still remained in the Waikato-Piako delta, an extensive area of swamp, with occasional islands of dry land. This property was purchased in 1872 by an association of capitalists, at 5s per acre, subject to conditions as to the construction of about twenty-five miles of road, towards the cost of which the Government was to contribute out of the purchase money a sum not exceeding one half-crown per acre. The work of reclamation then commenced, and may fairly rank as one of the largest and most serious connected with pioneer settlement in New Zealand. The country to be dealt with covered an area of twenty miles by ten, and most of it was swamp of unknown depth and quality. The property has been well known throughout the colony as the Piako swamp. Many drains were constructed across the property in various directions, some of them measuring 12 feet at the top, 6 feet at the bottom, and 10 feet in depth. Notwithstanding the immense sums of money thus expended in main and branch drains, about 60,000 acres of the estate may still be considered a swamp. It is estimated that years will pass before this swamp becomes dry land, which will then require the action of sun and wind for some years to make it fertile. So far, about 28,000 acres have been reclaimed, and



on this area about 40,000 sheep, 3000 head of cattle, and 160 horses are depastured. Splendid mutton and beef and large quantities of wool are sent away as the produce of the estate every year.
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Mr. John Gordon,
                Manager of the Woodlands Estate, is referred to in another article as chairman of the Kirikiriroa Road Board.
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Ngaruawahia.

            

              
              


                

                  
Ngaruawahia
                
                (Meeting of the Waters) is situated at the confluence of the Waikato and Waipa rivers. It was the residence of the first Maori King, Potatau, and it contains his grave. For a time Ngaruawahia was the centre of steam traffic on the rivers in connection with the settlements in the Waikato and on the Waipa, but the extension of the railway deprived it of much of its trade. On account of its being near the coal mines it was officially called Newcastle, but the Maori name is still used. The distance from Auckland by rail is seventy-four miles. Ngaruawahia was evacuated by the Maoris in December, 1864, after their defeat at Rangiriri, and immediately occupied by General Cameron as his headquarters for further operations. The country above Ngaruawahia, spreading out in fan shape between the Waipa and Waikato, is known as the Delta. There are two excellent hotels, a bank, four churches, and a public school. There is also a post and telegraph office with a daily mail service. A fine road-and-railway cylinder bridge spans the Waikato river just above the point of its junction with the Waipa. Ngaruawahia is one of the prettiest settlements in the Waikato. A large amount of transhipping business is done in connection with goods consigned to, or received from, the Waingaro district, an extensive country lying round the head of Raglan harbour. On the Waipa river, not far from the township, there is a fine traffic bridge which connects the settlements in Raglan county with Ngaruawahia.

            

            

              
              


                
The Ngaruawahia Town Board,
                which was established about 1884, has jurisdiction over part of the delta formed by the junction of the Waipa and Waikato rivers, on which stands the picturesque township of Ngaruawahia. The main road through the township is maintained by the Waipa County Council, and the side streets by the town board. A bridge has recently been erected over the Waipa river, and by this means Ngaruawahia is connected with the important over-river settlement in Raglan county. The town board took the initiative in getting this bridge built, and the Raglan county contributed fifty per cent, and the Waipa county



and Ngaruawahia Town Board twenty-five per cent, of the cost, exclusive of a pound for pound Government subsidy. In 1899 the town board spent £500 in altering and renovating a public building, which is now used as the offices of the town board and the Raglan County Council, and the hall is available for local public meetings. Members of the Board for 1900: Mr. G. F. Dickeson (chairman), and Messrs E. Fitzpatrick, E. Simmelhag, T. W. Davies, and E. J. Moffitt. The estimated population of the town district in March, 1900, was 300. There were seventy dwellings, and 130 ratepayers, owning 146 ratable properties. A rate of £3/4d in the £ was struck, and the total revenue of the board at the same time from every source, was £346.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Frederick Dickeson,
                Chairman of the Ngaruawahia Town Board, was born in Oxford, England, in 1827. After being at sea and in South Australia, and again in England, he came to Auckland in 1870 by the ship “Sydenham.” He settled in Ngaruawahia in 1875 as manager of the local orewery, of which he afterwards became sole owner.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Woodwall Davies,
                who is a Member of the Ngaruawahia Town Board, is a member of the firm of Friar, Davies and Co., with which he has been connected for some years.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Edmond Fitzpatrick
                
                was one of the first Members of the Ngaruawahia Town Board, on which he has almost continuously held a seat. He is a member of the firm of Friar, Davies and Co., and was one of the earliest storekeepers in Ngaruawahia.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edmund John Moffitt,
                who has been a Member of the Ngaruawahia Town Board since 1891, was born in Cork, Ireland, in 1844, his father being a military officer. Mr. Moffitt arrived in Auckland by the ship “Red Jacket,” in 1860, and has been a resident at Ngaruawahia since 1873. For five years he has held the contract to convey cream and butter to and from the local dairy factory, and he farms about fifty acres of land and milks a number of cows. Mr. Moffitt was married, in 1875, to a daughter of Mr. W. H. Goodwin, of Firewood Creek, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Mr. Emil Simmelhag,
                who has been a Member of the Ngaruawahia Town Board since 1887, was born in Denmark, in 1842, and arrived at Auckland in 1870. He is well known as the proprietor of the Delta Hotel at Ngaruawahia.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Paterson,
                Secretary and Treasurer of the Ngaruawahia Town Board, was born at Strathaven, Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1845, and was brought up to farming. He came out to Wellington in 1870 in the ship “Firth of Clyde.” Soon afterwards Mr. Paterson settled in Auckland, and in 1876 he bought land in the Waikato. He held a position for some time as clerk at a flaxmill, and was for several years subsequently bookkeeper to the Waikato Steam Navigation Company. In 1885 he joined his brothers in Auckland in the firm of Paterson and Co., coach proprietors, and continued in the business till 1893. Since then Mr. Paterson has been settled at Ngaruawahia, and farms about 500 acres of freehold on the side of the river opposite the township. Mr. Paterson has been a member of the Kirikiriroa Road Board since 1898, and is treasurer of the Ngaruawahia Regatta Committee. He was married, in 1873, to a daughter of the late Mr. P. McDonald, of Kawau, and has four sons and three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                
The Ngaruawahia Railway Station And Post Office,
                which was opened in August, 1877, stands in the centre of the settlement. The building is of wood, and contains a ladies' waiting room, a public waiting room, the stationmaster's office, and the post office, with twenty-four private boxes. The station has a large asphalt passenger platform, goods shed, lamp and luggage rooms, and eight trains pass daily through it.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Ernest Burr,
                Stationmaster and Postmaster at Ngaruawahia, was born in 1860 at Foxton. In 1878 he became a cadet at the Foxton railway station, and was appointed stationmaster at Marton in 1883. Two years later he was removed to Halcombe, and in the following year to Waverley, where he continued for about nine years. After a year at Frankton Junction, Mr. Burr was appointed to Ngaruawahia in 1898.

            

            

              
              


                
Holy Trinity Church,
                Ngaruawahia, is of some historic interest. It was built during the time of the war with the natives, in the years 1864–65, by the soldiers of the 12th Regiment, and the plans were drawn out by Private Shepherd of the Royal Engineers. The timber was all hand-sawn, and the carved work in the interior shows evidence of great care and patience. Unfortunately, white pine was the timber used, its properties not being so well known in those early days, and consequently the building is not in such a good state of preservation as one would wish. The tower had to be removed a short time since, and has been replaced by a substantial porch. Around the church are the graves of many of the soldiers who helped in its erection, and also laid down their lives for Queen and country.

            

            

              
              


                
The Rev. 
Harry Mason
               , Vicar of Ngaruawahia and Huntly, resides in Huntly, where a new vicarage has lately been built for the parish. He was born in Staffordshire, England, in 1868, and is the son of Mr. J. Mason, of Newcastle. Mr. Mason came to New Zealand in 1894, was made a deacon in 1897, and ordained priest in the following year. He is an amateur surgeon, and his assistance was frequently required in the Okato district, in Taranaki, where he was in charge before being appointed to Ngaruawahia and Huntly in the latter part of the year 1900. Mr. Mason was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. William Squire, of East Finchley, London, and niece of Sir Hugh Owen, K.C.B.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Augustus McInnes Bradbury,
                formerly Vicar of Ngaruawahia and Huntly, who is the fifth son of Mr. Edward John Bradbury, of Bradbury, Greatorex and Co., Aldermanbury, E.C., London, was born in London in 1864. He was educated privately, and also at St. John's College, Southend. In consequence of ill-health Mr. Bradbury left London in 1884, by the ship “Soukir,” for Dunedin, where he engaged in studying the fine arts, and eventually underwent a course of training to qualify him for holy orders. In 1891, he was ordained deacon at St. Paul's Pro-Cathedral, Wellington, by Bishop Hadfield, then Primate of New Zealand, and was appointed assistant curate to the vicar of St. Mark's, Wellington. In 1893, he was ordained priest at Napier Cathedral, by the Right Rev. Dr. Stuart, late Bishop of Waiapu, and then took charge of St. Augustine's, Napier, where he remained until 1895, when he was selected as locum tenens at Tauranga. In October of the same year he was installed as vicar of Ngaruawahia and Huntly.
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                  The Ngaruawahia Regatta
                
                was established in 1896, largely in consequence of the efforts of Mr. T. U. Wells, then headmaster of the public school. The first regatta was held on St. Patrick's Day, 1897, and it was so successful that it has been continued each year since. That held in 1900 was attended by 8000 people, and the total receipts amounted to £416, including £170 handed over by the Railway Department. The course is on the Waikato river, and the races finish in the Waipa, about 200 yards from its confluence with the Waikato. The events include the ordinary rowing races and native canoe races, which are specially attractive. Officers for 1900: Mr. F. W. Lang, M.H.R., president; Messrs E. Fitzpatrick, A. Morris, E. Simmelhag, P. Guthrie, S. Wilson, T. Paterson, and J. Smith, vice-presidents; Mr. T. Paterson, treasurer, and Mr. M. N. Skelton, secretary.
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                  The Ngaruawahia Central Dairy Factory
                
                is a well equipped establishment, and thoroughly up-to-date with its appliances. Mr. A. Morris is manager.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Morris,
                Manager of the Ngaruawahia Central Dairy Factory, was born in the Isle of Wight. He came to this Colony with his parents in 1879, and was educated in Canterbury. Mr. Morris gained his experience in the management of dairy factories at Chew Chong's Jubilee Dairy Factory, Eltham, Taranaki, then under the management of his brother, Mr. Sydney Morris. He then became manager of the Mangatoki Factory, and was appointed by Messrs Reynolds and Co. to take charge of their butter factories at Tauranga, Inglewood, and Ngaruawahia. He received his present appointment in 1893. The position he now holds proves his business capabilities. Mr. Morris takes an active interest in public matters and is a member of several local institutions.
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Mr. Charles Gillander,
                Engineer to the New Zealand Dairy Association, was born in Canada in 1848. When very young he came to New Zealand, and was educated in the Auckland provincial district. He qualified as an engineer in Auckland, and after engaging in general work for a number of years, was appointed to his present position in 1884. Mr. Gillander has practically erected the whole of the Association's plant throughout the district. He was married, in 1877, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Fraser, of Auckland, and has five sons and three daughters.
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Mr. Adolphus James Park,
                Engineer to the New Zealand Dairy Association, was born at Hamilton in 1867. He was educated in Auckland, and served as an engineer, and became a marine engineer in 1888. For a time he was employed on the big dredge in Auckland, and afterwards on river steamers plying on the Waikato. He was subsequently employed for four years by Mr. G. F. Mellars, and later by the New Zealand Kauri Timber Company, and at Smythe's Mills, Waitakerei, and at Mount Eden station. Mr. Park was for two years employed at Ralph's Coal Mines. Huntly, and then joined the New Zealand



Dairy Association. He was married, in 1890, to the daughter of Mr. J. Karl, Ohaupo, and has two sons and three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Delta Hotel
                
                (Emil Simmelhag, proprietor), Ngaruawahia. This hotel was originally established about 1864. In November, 1899, the house was destroyed by fire, and the new building was opened in June, 1900. It has two stories, a verandah and balcony, and contains thirty-two rooms. Mr. Simmelhag, the proprietor, is referred to in another article as a member of the Ngaruawahia Town Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Vant, William,
                Wheelwright, Coach Builder and Undertaker, Ngaruawahia. This business was established by the proprietor in 1878. The premises, which consist of wheelwright's and blacksmith's shops, are erected on freehold land centrally situated in the township. Mr. Vant was born in 1846 in Kent, England, where he was brought up as a wheelwright. He came to Auckland in the ship “Alumbagh” in 1875, and shortly afterwards removed to the Waikato, where he was for some time engaged in building work, prior to establishing his present business. He has served as a member of the school committee, is an old Oddfellow of the English Order, and held office as G.M. at the time of his leaving the Old Land. Mr. Vant was married, in 1866, to a daughter of the late Mr. S. Mumery, of Kent. This lady died in January, 1879, leaving three daughters and one son, and in 1900 Mr. Vant contracted a second marriage with a daughter of the late Mr. Thomas Cope, of Cheapside, London.
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Paddy, William James,
                Blacksmith, Ngaruawahia. This business was established in 1883 by Mr. J. Paddy, father of the present proprietor, who has conducted it since 1897. The premises are erected on the Government railway reserve. Mr. Paddy was born in 1868, in Queensland, and was educated in Auckland, where he arrived in 1874 with his parents. He learned the business with his father. Mr. Paddy is a member of the Ngaruawahia school committee. He was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. G. Hall, of Pukete, and has two sons.

              

                

[image: Mr. W. J. Paddy.]

Mr. 
W. J. Paddy.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Graves, George William,
                Butcher, Ngaruawahia. Mr. Graves was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1857, landed at Nelson from the ship “Camperdown” in 1876, and, after living at Palmerston North six years, he removed to Te Aroha, and in 1886 commenced business as a butcher, in partnership with Mr. H. Baskeville, at Waiorongomai. In 1891 Mr. Graves removed to Ngaruawahia, where he engaged in butchering. Five years later he discontinued the butchery business, and engaged in farming, but restarted in 1900. Mr. Graves has served as a member of the local school committee. He was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. Dawson, of Whatawhata, and has four daughters and two sons.

            

            

              
              


                
Friar, Davies and Co.,
                Storekeepers, Merchants, etc., Ngaruawahia. Branches at Huntly and Te Awamutu. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This firm's fine business was established in Ngaruawahia by Mr. Fitzpatrick in 1866, and enjoys one of the most extensive commercial connections in the Waikato. Very full stocks of every description of merchandise are always kept at the different stores. The Ngaruawahia establishment is under the management of Messrs Fitzpatrick and Davies, and the Huntly branch is superintended by Mr. M. Friar.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. P. McDonald,
                sometime of Kawau, died on the 4th of March, 1879, and was born in Scotland in the year 1800. He arrived in New Zealand by the ship “Jane Gifford” in 1862, and was engaged for a number of years in copper mining on the Great Barrier Island. In 1866 Mr. McDonald instituted Caledonian games in Auckland. During the last seven years of his life he was a schoolmaster on the island of Kawau, and was a favourite companion of the late Sir George Grey.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Richard Rathborne,
                J.P., resides at “Ballymore,” where he has 253 acres of land. Mr. Rathborne was born at Ballymore, County Galway, Ireland, in 1830, and was educated in Wexford. He served thirty-five years in the Civil Service, and was for some time in the General Post Office, London. In 1880 he retired on a pension, and came to Auckland in the ship “Lady Jocelyn.” Soon after settling in the Ngaruawahia district, Mr. Rathborne was placed on the Commission of the Peace. He was married in 1857, to a daughter of the late Capt. Davy, of South Wales, and has two sons and six daughters.
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Waingaro.

            

              
This district consists of a large tract of country in the county of Raglan. It is bounded on the north and east by the Waipa and Waikato rivers, on the west by the ocean beach, and its southern boundary touches the harbour of Raglan. The land, though of a somewhat broken character, is good for pasture. The centre of the district is about eighty miles from Auckland, and may be reached by travelling by rail to Ngaruawahia, and thence sixteen miles by coach, and across the bridge over the Waipa river at that township. There are also roads which converge from Tuakau, Churchill and Huntly to the Hot Springs, which have the most important attractions for tourists. A large number of persons have settled in the district within recent years, and well built, commodious homsteads testify to the comfort of the settlers and the prosperity of the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Allen, John,
                “The Cliffs,” Waingaro. Mr. Allen was born in Leamington, Warwickshire, England, in 1848, and educated at the Manor House Academy in that town. He came to the colony with his father, the late Mr. Edward Allen, of Mount Albert, Auckland, by the ship “Black Eagle” in 1861. For a few months the family was on land to the north of Auckland acquired under the forty-acre grant system, but then returned to the city, and Mr. Allen, senior, purchased property at Mount Albert, which he farmed successfully for many years, and ultimately subdivided and sold at satisfactory prices for suburban residences. Mr. J. Allen became a settler at Pukekohe, where he purchased a farm facing the Waikato river, and worked it for over twenty years, during which he changed it from a virgin forest to a well cultivated and subdivided farm. He was a breeder of Jersey cattle and horses, and one of the largest exhibitors at the local shows, always securing many prizes. In 1891 Mr. Allen took up a holding of 1800 acres of limestone country at Waingaro. The property was dense bush, and he at once let large contracts for felling and ring-fencing; and, after selling out at Pukekohe in 1895, he built a large dwellinghouse, woolshed, and other necessary outbuildings entirely from the timber sawn on the land. He then removed his family on to the property, and since then he has been steadily getting it into grass and subdividing it. Mr. Allen is now breeding a good class of cattle and sheep, sufficient for the requirements of the estate, and making it nearly self-sustaining.
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Pukete.

            

              
              


                

                  
Pukete
                
                is the name of a flag station seventy-eight miles from Auckland, on the Auckland-Waikato railway, and stands 77 feet above sea level. There is a growing agricultural settlement, which extends for several miles in each direction round the station. The district has a public school.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Pukete Public School
                
                was established in the early seventies. It is situated on the Great South Road, and contains one class room and a porch. There are thirty acres of land attached to the school premises, and a teacher's house of five rooms stands on the property. There is accommodation for thirty-five pupils; the number on the roll is twenty-three, and the average attendance twenty.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Marcus Noble Skelton,
                who holds a D4 certificate, is the Master in charge of Pukete Public School. He was born in 1875, at Paparoa, where he was educated, and had five years' experience in farming. After serving two years as a pupil teacher (six months at Pahi No. 2 school, and eighteen months at Ngaruawahia) Mr. Skelton was appointed to Pukete school in 1898. He takes a considerable interest in local matters, and acts as secretary for the regatta club and the local debating society. Mr. Skelton is also a member of the Ngaruawahia Football Club, of which he was secretary for two years.
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Whatawhata.

            

              
              


                

Whatawhata,
                in Waipa County, is situated on the Raglan Road and is ninety-one miles from Auckland, and within six miles of Frankton Junction, on the railway line. It was at one time a large native settlement, which came within the confiscated area taken after the war. There is a tri-weekly mail service with Auckland, and the district has many farms with lands in excellent cultivation and devoted to dairying.

            

            

              
              


                

Laxon, William Donald,
                “Owate Farm,” Whatawhata. Mr. Laxon is the owner of a compact dairy farm on the road between Ngaruawahia and Whatawhata. He was born in Auckland in 1852 and learned farming in the Tamaki district, where he afterwards managed a property and also held a leasehold farm for about five years. In 1891 he acquired his present property of 187 acres, most of which is down in crops. Mr. Laxon has been a member of the local school committee for a considerable time, and takes a good deal of interest in the Waikato generally. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. James Foley, of Otahuhu, and has two sons and three daughters.
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Swanson, George,
                Farmer, “The Willows,” Whatawhata. Mr. Swanson is the third son of the Hon. William Swanson, M.L.C. He was born in Auckland in 1853 and received his education at the old Auckland Grammar School. He was for five years in the service of Messrs. T. and S. Morrin, of Auckland, but having a bent for farm life, he left the firm's employment and purchased his farm at Whatawhata, which is regarded as one of the most productive in the district. Mr. Swanson was well known in athletic circles in Auckland, especially on the football field. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Smith, settler, Manukau, and has two daughters.
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Raglan.

            

              
              


                

Raglan,
                which lies south-east of Auckland, on the west coast, is connected with Auckland by steamer, and with Hamilton by coach. In summer the steamer makes a weekly trip, in winter it goes fortnightly; and the coach from Hamilton leaves at least twice a week, and returns next day in each case. As a scene for settlement, the county of Raglan is full of promise. The land is well fitted for farming and grazing. There are large areas of good limestone country, somewhat broken on the surface, but with rich black soil which yields very luxuriant pasturage. There are two hotels in the township, and flax-dressing and sawmilling are carried on in the district. The rivers are stocked with trout, and there is also good sea fishing. Ducks, pigeons, curlews, rabbits and pheasants abound. The scenery of the district has much that is distinctive, and includes Mount Kariori, the Waingaro Hot Springs, and the Bridal Veil Falls.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Raglan County Council
                
                holds jurisdiction over the territory bounded on the north by the Waikato river from the heads to Ngaruawahia, thence up the course of the Waipa river to Pirongia, formerly known as Alexandria; on the south by the old confiscation line to Aotea harbour, and by the sea coast on the west. The town of Raglan was originally the county town, but the offices have recently been removed to Ngaruawahia. There are seven ridings; namely, Onewhero, Whangape, Waingaro, Te Akau, Karioi, Karamu, and Pirongia. The total ratable value of the district, exclusive of the Crown and native land, is about £340,000, and a general rate of £3/4d in the £ is struck, and £1/8th of a penny for the hospital and charitable aid. The area of the district is 824 square miles, and at the census of 1896, the population, including that for interior areas, was 1545. There were 438 holdings of one acre and upwards, and for the year 1899–1900, there were 87,524 acres in cultivation. Members of the Council for 1900–01: Messrs B. Hewitt (chairman), G. S. Whiteside, A. McKinnon, J. R. Lowry, R. C. Matthias, W. M. Bankhart, J. A. Latrobe, W. Bruce, and J. McGuirk. The Raglan County Council acts also as a harbour board for Raglan harbour, where there is a wharf about five chains long, in charge of Mr. C. Sutton, wharfinger. The Council has obtained special loans of £700 and £150 respectively for the wharf at Raglan, and £600 for the Ngaruawahia-Waipa bridge, and proposes borrowing £3000 for the Ngaruawahia-Waimai Road.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Inglis Conradi,
                County Clerk, Treasurer and Engineer, was born in Melbourne, Victoria, in 1857, and is the second son of the late Capt. C. G. Conradi. He was educated in London and Edinburgh, went to sea on leaving school, and three years later landed in Dunedin from the ship “Araby Maid.” Mr. Conradi was in the Rock and Pillar district, near Clyde, trying his luck on the goldfields for two or three



years, and from 1876 to 1891 was well known in Clinton, where, after working for nine months under Mr. W. G. Kerle, Resident Engineer for the Public Works Department, he inaugurated the town board and acted as secretary for nine years, and he was also secretary and treasurer of the local jockey club, and for a few years of the Oddfellows' Lodge in that settlement, where he carried on business as a land and commission agent. After residing for a short time in Hawke's Bay. Mr. Conradi settled in Raglan, and was appointed to his present position. He is also secretary of the Huntly Road Board, to which he was appointed in May, 1900. Mr. Conradi was married in 1881, to Rachel Wright Melrose, second daughter of Mr. Andrew Melrose, of Wairuna, near Clinton.
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Ohaupo.

            

              
              


                

                  
Ohaupo
                
                is the centre of the cattle and sheep trade in the Waipa and Waikato Counties, and possesses very extensive stockyards and sheeppens. It is situated in the county of Waipa, ninety-four miles from Auckland, and seven from Hamilton, with which it is connected by rail. The township is surrounded by a wide extent of good farming country, in which there are many well cultivated holdings. Ohaupo has a public school, a good hotel, a post and telegraph office, and a daily mail service. It is eight miles from Te Awamutu, the road to which runs over a succession of low hills, from which much fine country is visible, and there are several pretty lakes not far from Ohaupo. The township of Ohaupo is scattered, and resembles an English village more than any other Waikato settlement. It extends for the greater part of three miles along the main road, with the public school and Presbyterian Church at one end, and the Roman Catholic Church at the other. It is a dairy farming and fruit growing district, and there is a prosperous creamery close to the railway station. Ohaupo was originally settled by members of a German regiment of the Waikato Militia. Few of the original settlers now remain, but their names are perpetuated in their successors, the present owners of the soil. The railway station is 170 feet above the level of the sea.
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Mr. Edward Lake,
               
 at one time Member of the House of Representatives for Waipa, resides on his farm, “Fernside,” at Ohaupo. “Fernside” consists of 1170 acres, and farming is carried on upon it on a large scale. The property has been in Mr. Lake's occupation for over twenty years. Mr. Lake was born in Kent, England, in 1838. After taking his degree at Wadham College, Oxford, he was for many years engaged in farming in his native county. He came to New Zealand in 1875, and settled at “Fernside” in 1877. Mr. Lake was for many years chairman of the Waipa
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County Council, and only retired from the position on entering political life in 1884, when he was elected member for Waipa as an opponent of the Stout-Vogel Government. He again represented Waipa in 1892–3, and was in opposition to the late Mr. Ballance. Mr. Lake was for many years a member of the Auckland Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and also of the local road board.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Ohaupo Railway Station And Post Office
                
                has a ladies' waiting room, public vestibule, ticket lobby, a stationmaster's office, where the business of the post office is conducted, and a large asphalt platform for passengers. A goods sned adjoins the station, and there is a stationmaster's house of seven rooms.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Horsnell,
                the Officer in Charge of the Ohaupo Railway Station and Post Office, was appointed to the position in June, 1900. He had previously served as stationmaster at Waverley for three years and a half, and fuller particulars of his career will be found at page 1153 of the Wellington volume of this work.

            

            

              
              


                
The Ohaupo Public School,
                which stands on an elevated section of five acres off the Ohaupo-Pukerimu Road, is built of wood and iron, and has two class rooms and a porch, with accommodation for 150 children. There are seventy-one names on the roll, and the average attendance is sixty-five. A school-house of five rooms occupies a portion of the property, and there is a large playground for the children and a paddock for their horses. The headmaster is assisted by one pupil teacher.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Colhoun,
                who holds a D2 certificate, is in charge at Ohaupo school. He was born near Londonderry, Ireland, in 1868, and came to Auckland by the ship “City of “Agra” in 1879. After serving a pupil teachership he was for some time in the Auckland Training College, and, before taking up his duties at Ohaupo in 1896, had been in charge of half-time schools in the Auckland district.

            

            

              
              


                

Hunter, William James,
                Auctioneer, Ohaupo. This business was established by Messrs Hunter and Nolan in 1880. Mr. William Hunter, one of the founders of the firm, was a well known colonist and popular auctioneer, and died in 1897. The present proprietor, who had for some time managed the business, took it over on his own account in 1888. He was born in Auckland in 1850.

            

            

              
              


                

Roche, Hungerford,
                Land and Estate Agent, Ohaupo. Mr. Roche, who served for three years as a Member of the Waipa County Council, in which he represented Mangapiko riding, represented the Waikato district in the Auckland Provincial Council for three sessions in the early days, and has generally served on road boards and school committees during his long residence in the Waikato. He is the eldest son of the late Mr. Thomas Hungerford Roche, of Glandire Castle, County Cork, Ireland; was born in 1841, in Dublin; and completed his education at the Albert Model Farm Training College, Glasnevin, near Dublin. In 1863 Mr. Roche arrived in Auckland by the ship “Ida Zeigler.” He obtained an appointment in the Commissariat Department in connection with operations against the Raglan Maoris, and at the conclusion of the war settled in the Waikato as a farmer. In 1879 Mr. Roche contested the Waipa seat for the House of Representatives in the interest of the Liberal party as headed by Sir George Grey, but was defeated. In 1891 he established himself as a land and estate agent at Ohaupo, having previously sold his farm, and from his long experience in farming, he is well qualified to give an opinion on the merits of the Waikato lands. Mr. Roche was married, in 1876, to the eldest daughter of the late Mr. Neil Malcolm, barrister of the Inner Temple, and of Regent's Park, England, and cousin of Lord Malcolm of Poltalloch, and has four daughters and five sons.
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                  Ohaupo Hotel
                
                (John Teddy, proprietor, Ohaupo. This hotel is a two-storey wooden building, which was erected about 1880. It contains about thirty rooms, including a dining room, which will seat seventy-five guests. It is the only hotel in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Edwards, James Thomas,
                Storekeeper, Ohaupo. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Edwards' store is centrally situated and contains a large and well-assorted stock of the class of goods needful for a farming population; he is also a large buyer of produce, grain, etc. Mr. Edwards was born in London, in 1840, and was educated there. For several years he was employed in a large city warehouse and had considerable commercial experience. He came to New Zealand in 1862 per ship “William Miles,” and during the Waikato War, served with the troops and was present at the engagements near Wairoa South, for which he received the New Zealand medal. For a considerable time he followed the occupation of storekeeper to the troops and was at Te Rore. He then became proprietor of the Alexandra Hotel, but on the “rush” to the Thames he removed there and kept the Star Hotel. Eight years later he became the proprietor of the Ohaupo Hotel, and afterwards built the store in which he now carries on a flourishing business. In all public matters he has shown that he has the welfare of the district at heart, and has given much of his time to various local bodies. For many years he was chairman of the Ohaupo School Committee and member of the Highway Board. He was also instrumental in promoting the successful creamery at Ohaupo, near which place he has a farm. The gifts of sites for the county council chambers and the Anglican church were due to the liberality of Mr. Edwards. He married Miss Annie Krippner, daughter of Mr. Michel Krippner, a well-known settler of the district, and has three sons and eight daughters.
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Cowley, Thomas,
                Farmer, Ohaupo. Mr. Cowley was born in Warwickshire, England, in November, 1840, and was brought up as a farmer. He came to Auckland in the ship “Alhambra,” in 1875, and settled at Ohaupo, where he purchased the first portion of his holding, which he has since increased to 202 acres of freehold. Mr. Cowley milks thirty cows during the season. During his residence in the Waikato he has completed a considerable number of carting contracts for public bodies. He was married, in 1863, to a daughter of Mr. J. Pope, of Gloucestershire, and has four daughters and seven sons.
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Gane, Joseph,
                Farmer, Ohaupo. Mr. Gane was born in Somersetshire, England, in 1837, and was educated in his native place, and brought up to a country life. He was afterwards apprenticed as a draper in London, and after some years' experience, came to Auckland by the ship “Harwood” in 1859. For fifteen years he was in business as a draper in Otahuhu. He then settled in the Pukerimu district, where he purchased his property of 400 acres, and built a residence near the river. Mr. Gane has served on two or three occasions as a member of the Pukekura Road Board.
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Holmwood,
                the property of Mrs William Lyn Martyn, is a fine farm of 600 acres, situated on the Ohaupo-Te Awamutu Road. It is worked chiefly as a dairy farm, and about eighty milch cows are kept, besides a large number of young stock.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. William Lyn Martyn
                
                was born in 1844, in Cornwall, England, and was brought up to agriculture. About 1860 he settled at Runciman, but had to leave his farm at the time of the Maori war. For many years he was a prominent farmer in the Waikato, and went to West Australia in 1879. Mr. Martyn died there in 1886, and five years later Mrs Martyn with her family returned to New Zealand, and settled at Holmwood, Ohaupo. Mr. Martyn, who was married, in 1874, to a daughter of Mr. William J. Young, left four sons and three daughters. Mr. Young was well known as a very early settler at Otahuhu, and was in business as a merchant in Auckland. In the early days, during the war, he held contracts for provisioning the troops, and settled at Ngaruawahia, where he built the Delta Hotel, and was one of the founders of the Ngaruawahia brewery.
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Kusabs, Henry,
                Farmer, Ohaupo. Mr. Kusabs, who served for some time as a Member of the Waipa County Council, and was for six years on the Waikato Hospital Board, was born in Prussia, in 1832. He was brought up to country life, but went to sea at the age of twenty, and served before the mast for eight years. Mr. Kusabs visited Auckland in 1858 for the first time, and, after trading for a year or two on the coast, left the sea. For two years he engaged in building at the Thames, and bought the first portion of his holding in Ohaupo in 1872. Mr. Kusabs has 400 acres of land, and milks from fifty to sixty cows. He took an active part in connection with the foundation of the Anglican Church at Ohaupo, and has been a clergyman's warden for twenty-seven years. Mr. Kusabs was married, in 1865, to a daughter of the late Mr. Prentice, of London, and has three sons.

            

            

              
              


                

Morrison, Kenneth,
                Farmer, Ohaupo. Mr. Morrison was born at Cape Breton, Nova Scotia, in 1844, and came to Auckland by the ship “Breadalbane” in 1858. Till 1876 he led a country life at Waipu, at a place named the Caves, between Waipu and Mangapai. Mr. Morrison then settled in Ngaruawahia, and remained there till 1885, when he acquired his farm of 270 acres at Ohaupo.
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Steele, Samuel,
                Farmer, “Runymeade,” Ohaupo. Mr. Steel's farm consists of 650 acres of first-class land under successful cultivation—about 100 acres being under crops—and grazing a herd of 100 head of cattle. Mr. Steele and his family have resided at “Runymeade” for the past twenty-five years. He is a native of Shropshire, where he was born in 1838, and in the early fifties visited Australia, spending some years on the Bendigo diggings. Visiting New Zealand in 1854 for a couple of years, he returned to Australia and passed the next seven years on various diggings, being present at the memorable flood on the Darling River which lasted thirteen weeks. On the outbreak of the Maori war, he joined the forces and in 1864 received the rank of ensign in the Waikato Militia. For his services he received a Government grant of land on which he resided for about eight years, adding to it by degrees till he acquired his present valuable property. Local politics have found an ardent supporter in Mr. Steele, who was a member of the first Rangiaohia Road Board and has been for many years a member of the Waipa County Council. He is chairman of the Tamahere School Committee, and a member of the Waikato Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. Mr. Steele is married to a sister of the late Mr. John McNicol, the popular auctioneer, and has eight sons and two daughters. Mrs. Steele's parents were amongst the earliest settlers in the Wairoa. She was present when the stockade was attacked by the natives, and with her brothers and sisters had to run from their house to the stockade under a shower of bullets, her brother Archie receiving a bullet through his cap.
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Paterangi.

            

              
              


                

                  
Paterangi
                
                is a good farming district in Waipa County, six miles from Ohaupo and 100 miles from Auckland by rail. During the Waikato war the troops were encamped in a redoubt at Paterangi. The district has a post office, and a daily mail service, by a mounted mailman, with Ohaupo. It has also a public school, a creamery, and a public hall, in which a religious service is held every Sunday.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Paterangi Creamery
                
                (New Zealand Dairy Association, proprietors) was established in 1881, and was one of the first erected in the district. It contains two Alexandra separators, driven by five horse-power Tangye engines, and each of 300 gallons capacity. There are over twenty suppliers, and about 900 gallons daily were received in the height of the season 1900–1901, the average for the previous year having been 760 gallons. The cream is sent daily to the Ohaupo railway station, six miles distant.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Herbert Thorpe,
                Manager of the Paterangi Creamery, was born in London in 1868. He came to Auckland by the s.s. “Tongariro” in 1884, and was two years at the Waiuku creamery, and six months at the Wairoa cheese factory. He has been in charge at Paterangi since 1894.

            

            

              
              


                

Kay, Robert,
                Settler, Paterangi. Mr. Kay was born in Scotland in 1833 and when quite a boy went with his parents to Ontario. Canada, where he was educated, and learned his trade as a waggon builder and blacksmith. He came to New Zealand in 1859 per ship “Caduceus,” landing at Auckland. Shortly afterwards, he settled at Whangarel, where he worked at his trade for twenty years. Mr. Kay purchased his present property in 1881. It is a nice farm of 158 acres, all of which is broken up and fenced, and a portion laid down in grain. For the last fourteen years, he has acted as postmaster at Paterangi, and carries on his trade as opportunity offers. Mr. Kay is married, and has four sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Ryburn, James,
                Settler, “Greenbank,” Paterangi. Mr. Ryburn is a native of Scotland, where he was born in 1836. He came to New Zealand by the shin “Mary Shepherd,” landing at Auckland in 1866. For some time, Mr. Ryburn assisted his brother on his farm near Auckland, and bought his present residence in 1874. He has been a member of the road board for several years, and is chairman of the school committee.

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Te Awamutu





            
Te Awamutu.

            

              
              

                

                  
Te Awamutu
                
               
 has a population of about 450 persons. It occupies the site of an old Church of England mission station, and may be said to be the chief business centre of the Upper Waipa. It lies 100 miles by rail to the south-west of Auckland, and is surrounded by some of the very best land in the whole of the Waikato. A great deal of business is therefore transacted at the town, which, however, preserves a sedateness which well befits its old traditions, and dignifies the memory of the heroism of those who fought and fell near it, and found in the mission churchyard a last resting place. During the closing days of the war, Te Awamutu was General Cameron's headquarters, and it was in a skirmish with the natives when they turned at bay at Rangiaohia, that the gallant Colonel Nixon and several other intrepid members of the Colonial Defence Force lost their lives. To the memory of those who were killed in this affair, and at Hairini and Orakau, the scene of the final conflict, the Government have erected a plain but striking obelisk in the churchyard. Some of the business places at Te Awamutu are imposing buildings. Trades of all sorts are suitably housed, and there are two large hotels. The Bank of New Zealand has an agency in the town, and there is a post, telegraph, and money order office. The Anglican incumbent for Waikato West formerly had his residence in Te Awamutu, and worked from that point the districts of Kihikihi, Alexandra, Rangiaohia, and the King Country. Both the Presbyterian and Wesleyan bodies have neat and roomy churches in the town. Te Awamutu has the largest public hall in the Waikato. The building is 100 feet by thirty feet wide; dancing floor, sixty feet by thirty feet; club room at side, thirty feet by thirteen feet; dining room, forty feet by fourteen feet; kitchen, fourteen feet by ten feet; armoury, twelve feet by ten feet; also two cloak rooms and lavatory, etc. The hall will seat 700 persons and the stage is twenty feet by thirty feet. Te Awamutu has an excellent library and reading room under efficient management. Music and drama have enthusiastic devotees in the town and neighbourhood, and the Musical Society is a successful institution. Local affairs are managed by a Town Board, but the town also pays a county rate. Messrs Reynolds and Co. have a creamery in full work, and there is also a roller flour mill. A large new courthouse was erected in 1900. The story of the place, too, is intimately associated with the heroic stand made by the Maoris under Rewi at Orakau, a few miles out of the town. It was at that fight that Rewi raised his famous battle cry of “Ka whawhai tonu, ake, ake, ake.” (“We will fight for ever, and ever, and ever.”) Just beyond is the historic river Punui, which formed for many years the aukati line, beyond which the Queen's writ did not run. Not far away is Pirongia, named after the great mountain which overshadows it, and which is indissolubly bound up with the history of the war and the story of the King movement. Here, too, is Paterangi (Pa-te-rangi: the pa near heaven), the stronghold that General Cameron chose to evade rather than assault; nearer is the bathing place in the Waiere Creek where Major Heaphy won his Victoria Cross; Kaipiha, where the late Sir Donald McLean first met the King after his long isolation; and Kopua, made memorable by Sir George Grey's meeting with Tawhiao. In a clearing on the long slopes of Pirongia, visible from the township, poor Todd, the surveyor, fell in his tent, the victim of Nuku Whenua's bullet, and
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just across the river are the remains of the mad exploit of the fanatic Mahuki.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Waipa County
                
                covers an area of over 282 square miles of country, and has a population of about 5000, chiefly engaged in farming pursuits. The total value of real property within the county limits is £475,000. A general rate of £3/4d, and two separate rates of £1/2d and £3/4d in the £ in special districts, are levied. The total county revenue exceeds £2100 per annum. The county is divided into six ridings, three of which return one member each—namely, Hamilton, Newcastle, Tuikaramea, and three return two members each—namely, Pukekura, Raigiaohia and Mangapiko. The county has obtained loans for about £1200, of which £250 was on account of the bridge at Ngaruawahia over the Waipa river. Members for 1901: Mr. J. Fisher (chairman), and Messrs W. Scott, P. Connor, G. Mackinder, G. Finch, J. Bell, D. Fullerton, S. Steele, and E. J. Vickers. Mr. C. Bowden is clerk, and Mr. W. H. Mandeno, superintendent of works.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Fisher,
                who has been Chairman of the Waipa County Council since 1899, and has represented the Pukekura riding for a number of years, was born in Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1837. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Lord Burleigh” in 1856, and commenced farming in the Otahuhu district, where he continued about eleven years. In 1866 he purchased land at Pukerimu, and has resided on the property since 1867. He served twenty-one years as a volunteer, was a member of Colonel Nixon's Royal Cavalry Corps, and holds the New Zealand war medal for active service. Mr. Fisher has been four times a member of the Pukekura Road Board, and has been president of the Waikato Farmers' Club and the Waikato Agricultural Association. He has a property of 373 acres of freehold land, which is in a high state of cultivation, and is utilised as a dairy, fattening, and cropping farm.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Councillor J. Bell
                
                represents Mangapiko riding on the Waipa County Council.

            

            

              
              


                
Councillor G. Finch,
                who represents Paterangi riding on the Waipa County Council, is also a member of the Ngaroto Drainage Board.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor D. Fullerton
                
                represents Newcastle riding on the Waipa County Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor George Mackinder,
                who has represented the Kihikihi riding on the Waipa County Council since 1899, was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1839. He has always been engaged in farming, and came to Auckland by the ship “Armstrong” in 1864. Two years later he removed to the Waikato, and has spent most of his life in the Kihikihi district. The dairy farm on which he lives is 150 acres in extent, and, in addition to this property, he has 500 acres at Puketarata, in the King Country. He has served on the Rangiaohia Road Board for a number of years, and is also a member of the cemetery trustees. Mr. Mackinder was married, in 1861, to a daughter of the late Mr. S. Robinson, of Gravesend, and has five sons and six daughters.
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Councillor Patrick O'connor,
                who represents Rangiaohia riding on the Waipa County Council, is referred to in another article as a member of the firm of J. and P. O'Connor, farmers, “The Pines,” Te Awamutu.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor William Scott,
                who is a Member of the Waipa County Council, on which he has represented Pukekura riding since 1896, was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1844. He was brought up to agriculture, and settled in the Waikato in 1877, having been previously in the Tamaki and Mangere districts. His property at Pukerimu, which is known as “Strathmore,” is 250 acres in extent. Mr. Scott has served on the local school committee and has taken a prominent part for a number of years in connection with the management of the Presbyterian church. He was married, in 1866, to a daughter of the late Mr. M. Douglas, of Perthshire, and has two sons and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Samuel Steele,
                who represents Hamilton riding on the Waipa County Council, is referred to in another article as a farmer at Ohaupo.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Councillor E. J. Vickers
                
                sits on the Waikato County Council as member for Tuhikaramea riding.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Bowden,
                Clerk of the Waipa County Council, Rangiaohia Road Board and Te Awamutu Town Board, is a native of Devonshire, England, and was born in 1858. He came to this Colony when a lad with his parents and received his education at the Parnell Grammar School. For some years he worked on his father's farm at Otahuhu, but in 1880 the family removed to the Waikato and Mr. Bowden worked on the farm at Te Awamutu until 1895, when he took up his present duties. Mr. Bowden is married, and is extremely popular in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Henry Mandeno,
                Supervisor of Works under the Waipa County Council, of which he was chairman for a number of years, was born in Norhtamptonshire, England, in 1852. He settled at Oakland Farm in the Rangiaohia district in 1885, and has brought the property into a high state of cultivation. Mr. Mandeno has always taken a lively interest in local matters, and was for several years chairman of the Rangiaohia Road Board.

            

            

              
              


                
The Te Awamutu Town Board.
                Members for 1901: Messrs J. L. Mandeno, F. Gibson, G. Ahier, W. North, and J. B. Teasdale. The population of the township is about 400, and the total receipts from a rate of £3/4d in the £, licenses, and Government subsidy amount to about £200; the ratable value of the district is about £20,000. A town hall was erected by the board in 1897. It contains the board's offices, and has seats for from 400 to 500 persons. Mr. Charles Bowden is the board's clerk and sole officer.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. James Lloyd Mandeno,
               
 formerly Chairman of the Te Awamutu Town Board, is a native of Shropshire, England, and was born in 1824. He was partly educated at the Latin Grammar School, Newport, and finished at Holloway, near London. Mr. Mandeno was apprenticed to the building trade at Bedford and after serving his time came to New Zealand in 1855. Landing in Auckland, he commenced business as builder and contractor, carrying on successfully for many years. Mr. Mandeno went to the Waikato in 1873, and purchasing land settled there. His qualifications as a builder and architect are well known; he prepared the plans for Lewis' Hotel, Te Awamutu. Star Hotel, Kihikihi, and many of the best buildings in Ohaupo and elsewhere. Mr. Mandeno is a member of the library committee, has
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been a lay reader in the Church of England for more than ten years and takes a lively interest in all matters affecting the welfare of the district. Mr. Mandeno is married and has five sons and seven daughters, all of whom are living.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Punui Domain Board
                
                consists of Messrs J. Walton, chairman, R. Cunningham, W. Johns, P. O'Connor, and M. Twiney, with Mr. D. Bockett as secretary. This board has been established several years, and has control over a number of reserves in the Punui district. The principal is the Jubilee Park at Te Awamutu, where the local athletic sports take place. A pavilion recently erected by the board at a cost of £220 will seat 200 people, and the board is generally making tracks, planting shrubs, and sowing grass seed. It has a good revenue, and its available funds are invested.

            

            

              
              


                
The Mangahoe Drainage Board,
                which dates back to August, 1898, has jurisdiction over an area of 4699 acres, with a capital value of £20,000. The properties in the district are divided into three classes, and general rates of 1d, £1/2d, £1/4d, and special rates of 1£1/2d, 1d, and £1/2, in the £, are struck. A loan of £1000, under the Government Loans to Local Bodies Act, has been obtained for draining and improving the Mangahoe river. Members of the Board for 1900: Messrs W. North, F. R. Gibson, W. Ashly, J. M. Ingham, and J. Kewish; with Mr. D. Bockett as clerk and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William North,
                J.P., who is Chairman of the Mangahoe Drainage Board and Chairman of the Te Awamutu Town Board, was born at Lymington, Hampshire, England, in 1840. In 1875 he came to Auckland by the barque “Dillaree.” Three years later he went to Te Rahu, and in 1883 settled in Te Awamutu district, where he purchased 240 acres of land, which he works as a dairy and general farm. Mr. North is one of the oldest members of the Te Awamutu Town Board. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1898, and as an Oddfellow, he is attached to Lodge Loyal Good Intent, I.O.O.F.,M.U., Auckland. Mr. North was a member of the Order before leaving England. He was married, in 1859, to a daughter of Mr. J. Griffen, of Wootton St. Lawrence, Basingstoke, and has five sons and seven daughters.
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                  The Ngaroto Drainage Board
                
                was constituted in 1898. It has jurisdiction over an area of 5519 acres, the capital value of which is £18,168. The district is divided into three classes of land, on which the Board levies ordinary rates of 1£1/2d, 1d, and £1/2d respectively in the £, and special rates of 1d, £1/2d, and £1/8d. There is a Government loan of £500, which has been expended in lowering Lake Ngaroto, and it is to provide the interest on this loan that the special rates are struck. There are thirty-two dwellings in the drainage area, and thirty-eight ratepayers, owning forty properties. The members of the board for the year ending March, 1900, were Messrs T. Fry (chairman), W. J. Hunter, D. Cavanagh, E. Ellis, and G. Finch, with Mr. D. Bockett as clerk and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Te Awamutu Post And Telegraph Office
                
                was one of the earliest Waikato stations. It is a wooden building, and includes a residence of seven rooms, the public office, the post office and operating room, and postmaster's room. The postmaster is also Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages, and his assistants are a clerk and a messenger.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John P. Vause,
                Postmaster and Telegraphist at Te Awamutu, was born in 1860 at Kawhia. He entered the post office as a junior in 1877. Four years later he was appointed to the charge of the Monganui office, and after serving five years at Te Aroha, was appointed to Te Awamutu in 1889. Mr. Vause, besides filling other local offices, has been chairman of the local library committee for several years.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Te Awamutu Railway Station
                
                was opened on the 1st of July, 1880, and the line from this point to Otorohanga, in the King Country, was opened for traffic in March, 1887, and to Te Kuiti in September of the same year. The station is of wood and iron, and contains a public vestibule and waiting room, ladies' waiting room, and general office. It has also a long passenger platform and a convenient goods shed. The stationmaster is assisted by a junior porter and a guard, and two gangers are resident in Te Awamutu.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Harrison,
                Stationmaster at Te Awamutu, was born in England in 1863. He came to Auckland in 1883, and became an officer of the railway department in 1883. Before taking up his duties in Te Awamutu, he was successively in charge at Tirau, Lichfield, and Mount Eden.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Te Awamutu Public School
                
                building is of wood and iron, and was erected towards the end of the seventies. It contains two main class rooms and two smaller class rooms, with accommodation for 150 pupils. There are 106 scholars on the roll, the average attendance is 96, and the headmaster is assisted by one certificated teacher and pupil teacher. The teacher's residence of seven rooms adjoins the school, and the buildings stand on a section of two acres and a half.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Herbert Ernest Ford,
                Headmaster of Te Awamutu Public School, was born at the Wade in 1872. He served his pupil teachership at Napier Street School, Auckland, and at Dargaville, and was in charge at Awanui and Otorohanga before being appointed to his present position in 1900.

            

            

              
              


                
St. John's Anglican Church,
                Te Awamutu, is a very old mission church, which was built in the thirties. It is one of the oldest churches built by the Church of England Mission. The old mission station adjoins the church; five acres are reserved for the church and mission house, and eight acres are let in sections. St. John's Church has been renovated and re-roofed from time to time. In the graveyard surrounding the church a number of old soldiers, privates and officers, who fell in battle or died while the war was in progress, are at rest. One corner of the churchyard is devoted to the graves of friendly Maoris, who fell fighting for the British. A monument in memory of the soldiers was erected by the Government in the churchyard a number of years ago. The Rev. Frank Latter, vicar of Te Awamutu, has been in charge since 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waikato Presbyterian Church
                
                at Te Awamutu was erected in 1870, and stands on a section of half an acre. It is a wooden building, with accommodation for 100 worshippers. The manse, which is near the church, has a glebe of six acres of land. The minister in charge holds service at Kihikihi and Ohaupo, where there are church buildings, and at other settlements in the immediate vicinity.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Walter Smith,
                Minister in charge of the Waikato Presbyterian Church at Te Awamutu, was born in Dumbartonshire, Scotland, in 1864, and educated at the Glasgow University and Free Church College. Mr. Smith had a highly successful college career, distinguishing himself particularly in Latin and Hebrew, and gaining several scholarships in Arts and Divinity. He arrived in Auckland in 1898, and soon afterwards took up his duties at Te Awamutu.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Wesleyan Church
                
                at Te Awamutu stands on a section of about three-quarters of an acre. It is a wooden building, with accommodation for 100 persons, and was erected about 1884. Services are held regularly by the home missionary in charge, who officiates also at the schoolhouses at Mangapiko and Te Rahu.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Thomas McFarlane,
                sometime Home Missionary in charge of Te Awamutu Home Mission Station, but now (1901) agent for the Citizens' Life Assurance in Masterton, was born at Motueka, Nelson, in 1875. He was educated at the Motueka public school, and served some time as an accountant. At the age of eighteen he entered the Salvation Army Training Home, and was subsequently commissioned as an officer, and stationed in various parts of the colony. He was then appointed as Home Missionary for



the Wesleyan Methodist Connexion, but, owing to ill-health, extending over a period of several years, was compelled to cease from public speaking and preaching. He then took an appointment as general agent for the Citizens' Life Assurance Company, and resides in Masterton.
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Te Awamutu Amateur Athletic Club,
                which dates back to 1892, holds annual sports on the 9th of November at the Te Awamutu domain. Committee for 1900: Messrs C. Bowden, W. Taylor, junior, H. H. Burton, S. Bond, J. S. Clarke, H. E. Ford, H. Weai, and E. Churches, with Mr. D. Bockett as secretary and treasurer. There has from the first been a steady increase in the membership of the club, which is now recognised as being, financially and otherwise, the strongest amateur athletic club in the Waikato.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Te Awamutu Cricket Club
                
                has about thirty members. Committee for 1900: Mr. J. Cotterell, president; Mr. C. Bowden, captain, secretary and treasurer; and Messrs H. Lewis, S. Bond, and T. Bond. The club's ground is situated at Jubilee Park.

            

            

              
              


                
The Waipa Rugby Union,
                which controls football throughout the county, has five associated clubs, namely, Te Awamutu, Kikikihi, Paterangi, Pirongia, and Otorohanga. There are senior and junior clubs at each place. The committee of management consists of two delegates from each club, four forming a quorum, and Mr. H. E. Ford is secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Te Awamutu Musical Society
                
                was established in 1889. The society produces capital entertainments for local objects. Officers for 1900: Mr J. Cotterill, president; Messrs J. Goodfellow, P. O'Connor, C. J. Storey, W. Taylor, and C. A. Taylor, vice-presidents; with a large committee, and Mr. F. Potts as treasurer, and Miss M. Mitchell as secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Te Awamutu Public Library And Reading Room
                
                was established in August, 1874. There are about 1650 volumes in the library, which is open three days in the week. Office bearers for 1901: Mr W. F. Lang, M.H.R., president, and Messrs J. P. Vause (chairman), J. L. Mandeno, J. F. Andrew, C. Bowden and H. H. Burton; Miss Ida M. Vause, secretary and librarian. The reading room is open daily, and is supplied with most of the leading colonial and British newspapers and magazines.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Te Awamutu Magistrate's Court and Police Station
                
                occupies a prominent position in the township. The courthouse was erected in 1900, and stands on an acre and a quarter of ground fronting Roche Street—the site of the redoubt during the war. Besides a good court room, there are offices for the magistrate and clerk of the court, and a witnesses' room. The police district, which is part of the Hamilton subdistrict, extends from Ohaupo to Pirongia, and from Te Awamutu as far as Te Rau-a-Moa, about thirty miles away. Monthly sittings of the magistrate's court are held at Te Awamutu. This court has obtained notoriety in consequence of the number of sly grog cases from the King Country, which have been heard at it. On the 1st of August, 1900, fifty-eight cases against various defendants were heard before Mr Northcote, S.M., and fines amounting to £375, with costs amounting to nearly £60, were recorded against fifteen defendants on that day.
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Mr. Archibald McPhee,
                Constable in charge of the Te Awamutu Police Station, Clerk of the Magistrate's Court, Inspector of Factories, and Probation Officer for the district, was born in 1866, in Hokitika, where he was educated. He was engaged in mining for some years, but joined the police force at the Thames in 1892, and was appointed to his present station in 1898. Mr. McPhee was married, in February, 1895, to a daughter of Mr. J. Kerr, of Howick.

            

            

              
              


                

Pairman, Adam Wyld,
                Medical Practitioner, Te Awamutu. Mr. Pairman was born at Biggar, Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1842. He went to South Africa in 1889, and was for two years and a half practising as a medical man in Pretoria. In 1892 he arrived in New Zealand, and settled in Te Awamutu.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Bank Of New Zealand
                
                at Te Awamutu was established about 1880. It consists of a convenient banking chamber, with residence attached, and the staff consists of the manager and one clerk.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Arthur Taylor,
                Manager of the Te Awamutu Branch of the Bank of New Zealand, was born in Leicestershire, England. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Empress” in 1865, and joined the staff of the bank in 1876 at Auckland. Mr. Taylor has occupied his present position since 1892.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Te Awamutu Dairy Factory
                
                (Ambury, English and Co., proprietors). This establishment is at present a creamery. It was built in 1882 as a cheese factory. The machinery, which consists of three Alpha separators, each of 300 or 400 gallons capacity, is driven by a ten horse-power portable steam engine. In the year 1900, 3000 gallons per day were treated at the flush of the season.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Barker,
                Manager, is a native of Yorkshire, England, and was educated at Hare Park Academy, Hightown, and was brought up to dairy farming. He arrived in Wellington by the ship “Caroline” in 1880, and was appointed to his present position in 1893.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Te Awamutu Creamery
                
                (New Zealand Dairy Association, proprietors). This creamery was founded in 1896. The machinery



consists of two Alpha separators, capable of treating 660 gallons of milk per hour, and is driven by a portable steam engine of nine horse-power. For the season of 1900 there were about twenty-five suppliers, and about 1200 gallons were treated daily.
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Mr. Harding Hawken Burton,
                Manager of the Te Awamutu Creamery, was born in 1868 in Auckland. He was employed by Mr. Spragg in the butter department of the Auckland Freezing Works in 1883; was subsequently in charge of creameries at Wairoa South, Manku, Bombay, and Waiuku; and was appointed to his present position in 1898.

            

            

              
              


                
Williams, George L.,
                Draper and Fancy Goods Dealer, Te Awamutu. Bankers. Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Williams' business was established in 1894 in a portion of the building he at present occupies, and his trade increasing to a large extent he found it necessary to augment his premises. The shop is now one of the best in the Waikato and has a floorage space of over 2000 feet. In the drapery department a large stock of new seasonable goods is kept and the fancy goods department is replete with all the latest novelties. Mr. Williams is a native of London and learned his trade in the Old Country, and had many years' experience with leading drapery firms both in England and America. He came to New Zealand in 1894, and shortly afterwards established his present business.
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Bain, David Robb,
                Tailor, etc., Te Awamutu. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Bain conducts his business in premises situated in the centre of the township. The shop is fitted up on a very complete scale with a large stock of tweeds, etc. Mr. Bain has established an excellent connection, due to the attention he pays to the cut and finish of his work. He is a native of Auckland and was born in 1866. After receiving his education, he was apprenticed for five years to Mr. J. Blackburn, of that city. For some years he was working at his trade in Hamilton and was a long period foreman for Mr. H. Salmon, but started for himself in 1892. Mr. Bain is bandmaster of the Te Awamutu Brass Band, of which he was the promoter. He has always taken great interest in musical matters, and was connected with several bands in Auckland. Mr. Bain is married and has a family.

              

                

[image: Mr. D. R. Bain.Hanna, photo.]

Mr. 
D. R. Bain.


Hanna, photo.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  Te Awamutu Hotel
                
                (M. S. Laurie, proprietor), Te Awamutu. This well known hotel was established in 1866. It was burnt down in 1888, when the present building was erected. It is built of wood, and has two stories, and a verandah and balcony on both sides. There are twenty-two rooms, including sixteen bedrooms, four sitting rooms, and a large dining room; and there is a good sized stable at the back.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Lewis,
                formerly Proprietor, was born in Russian Poland in 1830. At the time of the Crimean war, 1854 Mr. Lewis went back to England, wher



he continued for two years. He was one of the passengers by the ship “Oriental,” to Wellington, in 1857, and carried on business in that city as a storekeeper on his own account for about fourteen years. He then removed to Auckland and settled at Ohaupo in 1872. Four years later he removed to Te Awamutu, and erected the first good hotel in that township. Mr. Lewis was married, in 1863, to a daughter of the late Mr. Davis, of London, and has five sons and five daughters.
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Gibson, Frank Robinson,
                Butcher, Te Awamutu. Mr. Gibson was born in Auckland in 1859, was educated there and brought up to farming by his father, Mr. John N. Gibson, of Mangere. The family removed to the Waikato in 1874. Mr. Gibson bought his present business in 1883, and eleven years later removed to the large premises now occupied by him. He was elected a member of the Te Awamutu Town Board in 1893.
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                  Aubin and Co.
                
                (George Ahier, M.A.), Storekeepers and Produce Merchants, Te Awamutu. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Established 1886. Mr. Ahier's business is well known in Te Awamutu and district and he has a good connection with the leading settlers and farmers. Large stocks are kept of groceries, ironmongery, drapery, clothing, boots, and all goods necessary for the requirements of an extensive country business, the bulk of the goods being imported from the manufacturers direct. Mr. Ahier is agent for the “New Zealand Herald,” “Weekly News,” and “Waikato Argus,” and also holds the agency of the Commercial Union Assurance Company. He comes of an old Norman family and was born in Jersey in 1856. He received his education mainly at Avranches College, France, and finished at the Victoria College in Jersey. Coming to New Zealand per ship “Lutterworth” in 1875, he went to Alexandra, where for eleven years he assisted in his uncle's store. Mr. Ahier entered into possession of his present business in 1886 and has since successfully carried on a largely increasing trade. In public matters, he has always been prominent and is a member of the Te Awamutu Town Board, of which he was acting chairman for several years. It was chiefly through his efforts that the fine town hall was erected, and he has held the position of chairman of the Te Awamutu Town Hall Committee for nearly twelve years.
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Friar, Davies and Co.,
                Merchants and General Storekeepers, Te Awamutu. This is a branch of the firm's business, which is further referred to in connection with Ngaruawahia, where the firm has its headquarters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William James Culver,
                Manager of Messrs Friar, Davies and Co.'s Branch Store, Te Awamutu, was born in London in 1865, and is a son of the Rev. James Culver, Congregational minister. His earlier education was with the view of fitting him for a minister of that denomination. Suffering from very ill-health, however, this project had to be abandoned and he came to New Zealand in 1880, landing in Lyttelton. Three years later he removed to Auckland and established himself in business as a manufacturing chemist. In 1894, Mr. Culver went to Te Awamutu and was engaged as traveller for Messrs. Friar, Davies and Co., subsequently opening and taking charge of the branch as above. He has always been closely connected with religious matters and was superintendent of the Gospel Mission in Upper Pitt Street, Auckland, for several years. He is well known as the founder of the New Zealand Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Women and Children, which is still in existence and doing a great deal of good. In Te Awamutu, Mr. Culver has acted as local preacher for the Presbyterian church and was actively connected with the temperance society, but his health being so precarious he has now to devote all his energies to his business and takes very little interest in outside matters.
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Teasdale, John Burgess,
                Livery Stable Keeper and Farmer, Te Awamutu. Mr. Teasdale, who was one of the earliest members of the Te Awamutu Town Board, and was in office in 1890, was born in Cheshire, in 1846. He was brought up to mercantile life in Manchester, and came to Auckland by the ship “Zealandia” in 1866. Mr. Teasdale was for some time in Hawke's Bay, and subsequently spent ten years on the Thames goldfield, where he engaged in mining and had several tributes. In 1878 he settled in Te Awamutu as a storekeeper and carrier, and conducted his business till 1894, when he sold his interest to Messrs Friar, Davies and Co., who now carry on the business. Since that year Mr. Teasdale has been in business as a livery stable keeper and farmer. For fifteen years he served on the Waipa County Council, and he also served as a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He has held office as loan valuer for the Government since 1898. Mr. Teasdale was married, in 1874, to a daughter of Mr. W. Ricket, of Te Awamutu, and has three sons and one daughter.
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Bowden, Charles A.,
                Farmer, Te Awamutu. Mr. Bowden's property consists of 800 acres leasehold of fine rich land, conveniently situated near the township of Te Awamutu, and is all under cultivation. He divides his attention between dairying and mixed farming, and sends the milk of forty cows to the creamery. The subject of this sketch is a native of Devon, England, and was born in 1832, was brought up to farming and came to New Zealand per ship “Royal Charlie” in 1862. On arrival in Auckland he was for some time employed by Mr. Alfred Buckland and afterwards leased a farm at Otahuhu, where he resided for twenty-five years. Mr. Bowden then went to the Waikato, was for six years farming at Paterangi, then leased his present property in 1896. In local matters Mr. Bowden was chairman of the Otahuhu Road Board for many years, and has also been on various school committees. He is married, and has five sons and five daughters. One of the sons, Mr. C. Bowden, is referred to elsewhere as clerk of the Waipa County Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Gibson, John Nettleham,
                Farmer, Te Awamutu. This old settler is a native of Lincolnshire, where he was born in 1825, and learned the trade of a ropemaker in that county. He arrived in New Zealand per ship “Joseph Fletcher” in 1851, and purchased a farm at Mangere, where he resided for a period of twenty years. He then removed to Te Awamutu, where he purchased a first-class farm, on part of which he has now retired after a long and hardworking colonial career. His farm contains about 300 acres and is a picked place. Mr. Gibson is married and has four sons and four daughters, the former being all married and settled down round the old people. Though an old man now, Mr. Gibson still retains much of his former vigour and is a fine hearty specimen of the old school.
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Goodfellow, Hugh And John,
                Farmers. Te Awamutu. The property on which the Messrs. Goodfellow reside contains 1142 acres of valuable pastoral land, considered by experts to be one of the best farms in Wakato. They are well known throughout the Auckland district as breeders of pure-bred Lincoln sheep and Clydesdale horses. The brothers are sons of the late Mr. William Goodfellow, who arrived in New Zealand in the early days.

            

            

              
              

                

Irvine, Hugh,
               
 Farmer, “The Planes,” Te Awamutu. This property, which consists of 103 acres, is situated close to the township of Te Awamutu. The proprietor has 8000 acres of freehold land, which is largely bush, at Puketiti. About 500 acres of bush is felled each year, and 2500 acres have already been cleared; and each year not less than £1000 is spent in improvements. Mr. Irvine was born in 1836 in Perthshire, Scotland, and came out in 1854 to Victoria, where he engaged in gold mining for some years. In 1864 Mr. Irvine settled in the Wanganui district, and was engaged in farming in the Upokongaro Valley for about ten years. He then removed to Urunui, near New Plymouth, and was afterwards at Waitara. He sold his properties in Taranaki in 1891, and bought the large block of land which he is now working. During his stay on the west coast of the North Island, Mr.


[image: Botteley, photo.Mr. H. Irvine.]

Botteley, photo.


Mr. H. 
Irvine.





Irvine served on several road boards, and was for some time chairman of the Clifton County Council, and of the Clifton Road Board. He was married, in 1861, to a daughter of the late Mr. Meehan, of Ireland, and has five sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Jones, Wallace,
                Farmer, Puniu Flats, Te Awamutu. Mr. Jones' farm, one of the finest in the county, consists of 310 acres, on which a large herd of fine dairy cows are depastured. Mr. Jones is a native of Somerset, where he was born in 1849 and brought up to farm and dairy work in the Old Land. He came to New Zealand in 1875 per ship “St. Oseph” and acquired his present property soon after his arrival. Starting in a small way he soon became known for the excellent way in which he conducted his dairy farm, and rapidly made it the show place of the neighbourhood. He has taken a considerable part in local matters and shows himself keenly alive to the varied interest of his adopted home. His family numbers three sons and four daughters.
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O'Connor, John and Patrick,
                Farmers. “The Pines,” Te Awamutu. “The Pines” is a splendid farm of 585 acres, is well laid out, well stocked, and well managed. The genial brothers who own it, Messrs, J. and P. O'Connor, are men who have proved themselves as workers and athletes. They are the sons of Mr. Daniel O'Connor, of County Kerry, Ireland, who brought his family to the Colony in 1868. The subjects of this sketch had four years' experience on the West Coast goldfields, and then went to New South Wales, where during the next seven years, they were at all the important “rushes” in that Colony. Subsequently they moved to Northern Queensland, where for fifteen years the brothers engaged in the exciting search for gold. They were lucky in their quest, returned to Auckland and settled there for four years, then subsequently purchased “The Pines,” to which they removed accompanied by their parents. Mr. Patrick O'Connor in his younger days was a noted wrestler and all-round athlete. In the rough and ready mining camps in which he found himself so often, his skill and strength in manly sports frequently stood him in good stead, whilst his name was known far and near.
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Storey, Charles James,
                Farmer, “Woodstock,” Te Awamutu. “Woodstock” farm contains 1621 acres of which about 700 is swamp and 650 ploughable. It has been occupied since 1870, and is noted for its splendid flock of 300 stud Lincoln sheep, which was started in 1874 by Mr Storey from stock purchased from the Auckland Agricultural Company, Messrs. Wallace, Tanner, and Mr. Reid of Elderslie, Otago, all well-known flock-owners. The flock has been kept pure, valuable additions being made from time to time, and has been signally ortunate in the prize ring. A large herd of cattle and some fine horses are also on this farm. The owner of this fine property is a native of Northumberland, where he was born in 1834. He came to New Zealand in 1857 per ship “Kenilworth,” and roughed it on the Collingwood diggings for a while. In company with a shipmate he walked from Wellington to Auckland in 1857—no small undertaking in those days. For the next few years he was employed by Messrs. A. Buckland and Son, auctioneers, and on the outbreak of the war took the management for supplying stock for contractors for army supplies. On the conclusion of hostilities he became lessor of a farm at East Tamaki, where he resided for eight years and in 1873 acquired the “Woodstock” estate. He has taken considerable part in local affairs being chairman of the Tamaki Road Board for many years and occupying many other public positions. Mr. Storey is justly regarded as a sterling colonist. His family numbers four sons and six daughters.
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Taylor, William,
                Farmer, “Greenhill,” Te Awamutu. This gentleman's fine property of 2500 acres consists of mixed land, about 1700 acres being first-class pastoral country. It was acquired by the late Mr. W. I. Taylor at the conclusion of the Waikato



war, and his eldest son, the subject of this notice, has now occupied the farm for a number of years. As a breeder of Short horns and draught horses. Mr. Taylor is very well known throughout New Zealand. He commenced cattle-breeding in 1876 with the imported bull “Abraham,” and the herd now numbers close on 150. More than forty years ago, the late Mr. W. I. Taylor was a prizewinner in Auckland with his draught horses, and his son has continued the strain since most successfully. In 1891, he became owner of the celebrated Clydesdale, “General Fleming” whose stock is so favourably known in the North Island. On the farm are to be found three grand entires, viz.:—“Royal Conqueror,” “Better Times,” and “Rob Roy,” besides the horses, “Clydesdale Willy,” and “Lochinvar,” an Australian horse. There are about twenty draught mares, of which the most noteworthy is “Christina Fleming McCormack,” a frequent prizetaker, and “Lass o' Gowrie.” These horses have all won splendid records at the various shows. The champion Shorthorn bull “Duke of Clydevale” has never been beaten, and has taken prizes at all the principal shows in both Islands. The owner of this magnificent stock and excellent farm is a native of New Zealand, being born at Tamaki, near Auckland, in 1855, and was educated at the Auckland Grammar School under Mr. Farquhar MeCrae. He was manager of the property for several years, and later on became the sole owner. Mr. Taylor has twice held office in the Waipa County Council, has been chairman of the Rangiaohia Road Board and Licensing Committee, and has assisted all matters of local interest. Mr. Taylor is married to a daughter of the late Mr. William Proud, of Yorkshire, a well-known stockbreeder, and has six sons and one daughter.
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Champion Shorthorn Bull, “Duke of Clydevale,” and Cow, “Lady Summerton.” (Mr. 
W. Taylor.)


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  Thorncombe Estate
                
                (John Anderson, manager), Te Awamutu. This property consists of 730 acres of freehold, which is all fenced, and all except 140 acres is in a state of cultivation. A fine flock of sheep, and cattle and horses are depastured on the property, and there are six acres in orchard.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Anderson,
                Manager of Thorncombe Estate, was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1874, and educated partly in his native place and partly in New Zealand. He arrived in Auckland by the s.s. “Tongariro” in 1887, and was brought up to country pursuits. Mr. Anderson was manager of Surrey Farm, Pokeno, and afterwards had charge of Mr. A. Buckland's run at the South Heads for over a year. On recovering from an accident to his ankle at the end of 1899, he was appointed to his present position.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Richard Bosanko,
                sometime Justice of the Peace and Farmer, Te Awamutu. The property formerly owned by Mr. Bosanko is one of the best farms in the Te Awamutu district. It consists of about 400 acres of good land, and carries 100 head of cattle and horses, including an excellent stud flock of 200 Lincoln sheep descended from imported pure-bred rams. The flock is one of the heaviest wool producers in Waikato, and its members have achieved numerous successes at the local sheep fairs. Mr. Bosanko was born in Cornwall, England, in 1843, received his education at Falmouth, and after some time in a mining office, devoted his attention to farming. In 1872, he came to New Zealand per ship “Celina,” and his parents following next year, he purchased his own homestead and the one now owned by his brother. The farm was carried on in company with his brother for about seven years and then was equally divided between them. The property has been brought from its natural state to its present attractive appearance by dint of energy and perseverance, Mr. Bosanko, who married Miss Gibson, daughter of an old settler, died in November 1899.
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Mr. John Fisher,
                Old Colonist, was born in 1832 in Nottingham, England, brought up



as a butcher, and arrived in Auckland in 1862 by the ship “Matilda Wattenbach.” Soon afterwards he established business in Auckland under the style of John Fisher and Co., and during the early days of the Thames the firm had steamers, which carried supplies of meat to the goldfields. Mr. Fisher was also owner of the steamship “Southern Cross,” which was specially built for the cattle trade, and he chartered the steamer “Go Ahead” for a similar purpose. He retired from business in Auckland in 1892, and settled on “Clivedale,” a fine farm of 100 acres, in the Te Awamutu district.
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Kihikihi,
                in the county of Waipa, is about four miles from the railway station at Te Awamutu. It is a fine agricultural district, devoted to farming, and has a waggon factory amongst its industries. The great chief Rewi resided at Kihikihi after the war, and Orakau, where he and his warriors made their last and most heroic stand against the British forces, is in the locality. The township has hotels, stores, a public school, and a post and telegraph office, with a daily mail service. Kihikihi is on the Puniu river, and is only two miles from the Te Puhi railway station on the main trunk line. It was originally a military settlement, but no appearances of a warlike nature are now in evidence. The site of the township is on rising ground, from which one obtains splendid views of the surrounding country and the central hills and mountains of the North Island. There are a great many fine dairy farms in the neighbourhood, and a well equipped creamery is in operation throughout the season. The district is also well known for its production of good fruit, and a great deal of land is laid down in orchards.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Kihikihi Town Board
                
                was constituted about 1884. Members for 1900; Mr. J. G. Elmsly, chairman, and Messrs J. G. Tristram, W. Thomson, F. R. Moody, and F. Corboy, with Mr. R. Mainwaring as clerk and treasurer. The population of Kihikihi town district was estimated in March, 1900, at 238. There were sixty-one dwellings, ninety-seven ratepayers, and 137 ratable properties. The annual rate is 3/4d in the £, and produces a revenue of about £170.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John George Elmsly,
                Chairman of the Kihikihi Town Board, is referred to in another article as a storekeeper and general merchant in Kihikihi.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Francis Daniel Corboy,
                who has been a Member of the Kihikihi Town Board since 1897, was born in Kihikihi in 1875. For some time he assisted in the management of the Alpha Hotel, which was founded by his father, the late Mr. W. Corboy. He has been engaged in farming since the hotel changed hands in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Francis Rolfe Moody,
                who has been a Member of the Kihikihi Town Board since 1897, and had served for six years prior to that year, was born in Hampshire, England, in 1857. He arrived in Auckland in 1875, and was for fourteen years gardener to Major Jackson. Mr. Moody has a small nursery of two acres in Kihikihi, and takes a general interest in the progress of the district. He has been a member of the Kihikihi school committee for three years.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Thomson,
                who is a Member of the Kihikihi Town Board and of the local school committee, was born in London in 1836. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “African” in 1859, became one of Major Jackson's Forest Rangers, and served during the Waikato war, during which he took part in the engagements at Paterangi, Irene, and Orakau. For some time he was storekeeping in the Rangiaohia district, and was afterwards on the Thames goldfield, where he had the Grand Junction store, bakery, and hotel. Mr. Thomson removed to Kihikihi to take, on behalf of the Government, charge of the house of the famous chief Rewi Maniopoto, and filled the position for six years. He was married, in 1866, to a native woman, and has five sons and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Rowland Mainwaring,
                Clerk and Treasurer of the Kihikihi Town Board, was born in 1845 in Cheshire, England. He came to Queensland in 1859, and six years later arrived in Auckland. Mr. Mainwaring has been a settler at Kihikihi since 1884.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Kihikihi Domain Board
                
                consists of the members of the Town Board for the time being. The domain contains forty-two acres of land situated at the north-east side of the township. A portion of the property is leased, but ten acres have been, improved and form the recreation ground, on which there is a grand stand with seating accommodation for 200 persons. Mr. R. Mainwaring is secretary to the board.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Kihikihi Post And Telegraph Office
                
                is connected with the building in which the postmaster, who is a chemist and druggist, has his pharmacy.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Andrew Ogle,
                Postmaster and Telegraphist, was born in Lancashire, England, in 1862. In 1883 he came to Auckland by the ship “Scottish Lassie,” and having qualified as a chemist and druggist, he established himself in Kihikihi in 1887. Two years later he was appointed postmaster.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Kihikihi Public School
                
                has two class-rooms with accommodation for over 200 scholars; there are eighty on the roll, and the average attendance is sixty-five.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Mant Perry,
                who holds a D2 certificate, is in charge of Kihikihi Public School. He was born in Torquay, Devonshire, England, in 1864, and was brought up as a veterinary surgeon. After arriving in Auckland in 1884, he entered the service of the Board of Education, and was appointed to a position at Wellesley Street school. He was successively at Newmarket, Tararu, Paparata, Mahurangi Heads, Ararimu and Buckland, before being appointed to Kihikihi in April, 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Roman Catholic Church
                
                at Kihikihi is a neat little building situated in the centre of the township. The late Rev. Father Luck, who was an accomplished wood carver and turner, embellished the interior of the church with work done by his own hands, while he was priest of the parish, which is now in charge of the Rev. Father O'Carroll. Five acres of land are attached to the property, which includes a presbytery adjoining the church, and the grounds have been tastefully



improved by the planting of native trees, the laying down of grass, and the construction of walks. The district, which is worked from Kihikihi as a centre, includes the counties of Waipa, Kawhia, Raglan, West Taupo, and the townships of Huntly and Ngaruawahia.
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The Rev. Father O'Carroll,
                whose biography is given on page 
227 of this volume—where he is referred to as assistant curate at St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland—was appointed to the parish of Kihikihi, in February, 1901, in succession to the Rev. Father Croke.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Father William James Croke,
                who was formerly Parish Priest at Kihikihi, was born in Tipperary, Ireland, in 1873. He was educated at the Ecclesiastical College of Thurles, and was ordained on the 21st of June, 1896. Father Croke came to Auckland in the year of his ordination, and became curate at St. Patrick's Cathedral on the 21st of November of that year.

            

            

              
              


                

Rev. Father Francis Augustine Luck,
                sometime Parish Priest of the Waipa District, and a brother of the late Right Rev. Dr. Luck, Roman Catholic Bishop of Auckland, was a native of Kent, and was educated at St. Edmund's College, Hertfordshire, and at Rome. He was ordained in 1869 at Subiaco, near Rome, and came to New Zealand in 1880. Shortly after his arrival in the Colony he was appointed to the Kihikihi cure and during his long residence there endeared himself to the settlers of all classes by his gentle disposition and kindly manner. Father Luck's special hobby was wood turning and carving, in which he took great delight and was wonderfully skilful, his little workshop at the presbytery being quite a model of its kind. He greatly embellished his own churches at Kihikihi and Rangiaohia, and the priest's residence at Hamilton with specimens of his handicraft; and also enriched the appointments of St. Benedict's church in Auckland with a beautiful altar, turned and carved in chaste design entirely by his own hands. It contains no less than twenty-two different kinds of native woods, and was a labour of love that occupied the accomplished priest some years of patient construction. Father Luck died on the 18th of February, 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

Wilson, Thomas,
                Wheelwright and Blacksmith, Kihikihi. This business, which was established by Mr. J. Clarke, was acquired in 1900 by the present proprietor, who had previously worked for seven years in connection with it. Mr. Wilson was born at Parnell, Auckland, in 1868, and learned his trade at Otahuhu and Newmarket. He has served as a member of the local school committee, and was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr G. Mackinder, of Kihikihi, and has three daughters.
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                  The Kihikihi Creamery
                
                (New Zealand Dairy Association, proprietors), Kikikihi. This creamery was erected about 1881. It is built of wood and iron, and the machinery consists of two alpha separators, driven by a four horse-power Tangye engine, and each capable of treating 410 gallons per hour. At the beginning of the season of 1900–1901 there were thirty suppliers, and it was expected that the quantity treated daily would be about 2000 gallons. The cream is sent by road every day to Te Awamutu railway station.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Henry Oldham,
                Manager of Kihikihi Creamery, was born at Maungatoroto in 1871, and was educated at Tuakau. He was for some time engaged in the flax trade, and became manager of the Bombay creamery in 1892. After completing seven seasons at that place, Mr. Oldham was appointed to Kihikihi. He was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. W. Cole, of Mount Eden, Auckland, and has one son.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Alpha Hotel
                
                (James Richard Dowers Baker, proprietor), Kihikihi. This old established house, which has recently been renovated, contains twenty-four rooms, a dining room which will seat thirty guests, and a good billiard room.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James R. D. Baker,
                the Proprietor, who has conducted the business since May, 1900, was born in 1839, at Deal, Kent, England. He joined the navy in January, 1855, and served in the Crimea. After two years and seven months he left the service of his own desire, at Sheerness, and then took a trip to the West Indies in a merchant barque. In 1858 he arrived in Melbourne, where he joined her Majesty's 40th Regiment. In six weeks he was promoted to the rank of corporal, and five years later became Colour-and-Pay-Sergeant. Mr. Baker served all through the Taranaki and Waikato war in New Zealand, and when his regiment was ordered home, he purchased his discharge and remained in the colony. He resided for two years in Drury, and after being a short time at the Thames he became a warder at Mount Eden Gaol, where he was employed for three years altogether, for most of the time as second overseer. He then joined the water police in Auckland, and was a sergeant for two years. After a short term of service under the Auckland Harbour Board, he was appointed manager of the Devonport Steam Ferry Company, and was well known and respected in that capacity for twenty-six years. At the end of that long period of service, he



settled at Kihikihi. Mr. Baker was married, in 1861, to a daughter of the late Mr. F. Callagher, of Ireland, and has six sons and four daughters.
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Elmsly, John George,
                Storekeeper and General Merchant, Kihikihi. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Te Awamutu. This popular business man established himself in 1881 in his present premises, which cover a floor space of about 1500 square feet and comprise a large general store, butchery, and baker's shop, all of which are conveniently situated and fitted up. Six hands are employed and as many as twelve horses used in the conduct of the business, which has a wide connection in the district. Mr. Elmsly possesses a fine orchard of three and a half acres adjoining the store stocked with peach, plum, walnut trees, and other fruits. He is a native of Nova Scotia, where he was born in 1854, came to this Colony in 1860 with his parents in the ship “Helen Lewis” and was educated at Otahuhu. After leaving school he was apprenticed to Mr. J. Hall, storekeeper, with whom he remained seven years. Having gained further experience with other leading firms, he commenced a business of his own in Cambridge, but had the ill-luck to be burnt out on St. Patrick's Day, 1876, and lost the savings of seven years, being uninsured. He then went to Opotiki, where he was engaged in various commercial pursuits until establishing himself at Kihikihi, and where he always takes an active interest in the welfare of the district. He has been chairman of the Kihikihi Town Board and School Committee and a member of the Waipa County Council. Mr. Elmsly received his commission as Justice of the Peace by public request in 1889. He is married and has four sons and three daughters.

              

                

[image: Mr. J. G. Elmsly and Children.Hanna, photo.]

Mr. 
J. G. Elmsly and Children.


Hanna, photo.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Cockerline, Robert,
                Farmer, “The Poplars,” Kihikihi. Mr. Cockerline has occupied his present property for thirty-five years. The farm consists of 232 acres all in grass and is devoted chiefly to dairying purposes, about forty-five cows being milked and supplies disposed of at the local creamery. Mr. Cockerline is a native of Yorkshire, England, was born in 1835 and was brought up as a farmer. He came to New Zealand in 1860, landing in Auckland, and shortly afterwards leased 1500 acres at the Bay of Islands. In 1862 he was attracted to the Coromandel goldfields, but after a short stay there joined the 2nd Waikato Regiment, and for his services in the war received a grant of land at Paterangi. At the conclusion of hostilities Mr. Cockerline kept the Alpha hotel at Kihikihi for some years, but took up his permanent residence on the farm in 1865.

            

            

              
              


                

Elmsly, Charles J.,
                Farmer, “The Hill,” Kihikihi, Mr. Elmsly is a son of the late Dr. Elmsly, of Otahuhu, and was born in 1867, was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and was afterwards four years in the office of Messrs. Devore and Cooper, solicitors. He was assistant master at St. John's College for two years, but indoor life not suiting him, he decided to follow farming pursuits and in 1892 leased the above property of 454 acres, where he has carried out extensive improvements and made it one of the finest and best-stocked farms in the Waikato. There are as many as sixty dairy cows and a valuable high-class Shorthorn bull purchased from the Woodlands Association. Mr. Elmsly's crops are always excellent, barley, wheat, oats, maize, etc., yielding splendid returns; the agricultural machinery is of the latest type, including a Massey-Harris reaper and binder, with which he does a good deal of work for neighbouring farmers. He was at one time fairly prominent in athletic sports and holds a number of trophies and medals. Mr. Elmsly is married to a daughter of Mr. Hutchinson, of Rangiaohia, and has three sons.

            

            

              
              


                
Kay, Andrew,
                Farmer, Parewere, Kihikihi, Mr. Kay is a native of Perthshire, where he was born in 1841 and learned the grocery business. Coming to New Zealand in 1860 per ship “Phœnix,” he established himself at Drury and had a store at Mercer for about a year before the outbreak of the war. He had a Government contract for the supply of provisions to the troops and whilst engaged in this occupation owned, with his



partner Mr. Young, the first steamer on the Waikato river. At the close of the war Mr. Kay went to the Thames, where he engaged in mining and storekeeping for a number of years. From thence he returned to the Waikato, purchasing a farm at Orakau on which he resided till about five years ago. He then acquired his present property of 100 acres on which he resides and also a run of 2000 acres in the King Country, upon which some members of his family are doing well. Mr. Kay was a member of the first road board formed in Waikato and for a long time was chairman of the Kihikihi Town Board and School Committee. He married a daughter of Captain Runciman, and has eight sons and seven daughters.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. William Corboy,
                Old Colonist, sometime of Kihikihi, was born in County Tipperary. Ireland, in 1837. He was brought up to farming in the Old Country, and came to Auckland in 1867, when he settled in the Kihikihi district. With his brother he became proprietor of the Alpha Hotel in Kihikihi, and conducted the business till his death in 1882. The hotel was conducted by his widow till 1899. Mr. Corboy was married to a daughter of Mr. P. Donovan, of Rosscarbery, County Cork, Ireland, and left three sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. M. Dalton Dinneen,
                Old Colonist, was born in Ireland in 1834, joined the Army in 1852 and served through the Indian Mutiny with the 81st and 70th Foot, was present at several engagements in the North-west of India and for his services received the Indian Mutiny and North-west Frontier medals and clasps. Mr. Dinneen came to New Zealand with the 70th Regt. in 1861 and served throughout the Waikato and Taranaki wars as sergeant. In 1868 he joined the Armed Constabulary with the rank of sergeant-major and remained in the force until it was disbanded and settled in Kihikihi in 1887. Mr. Dinneen has the New Zealand war medal as well as the long service and good conduct medals. His homestead occupies twenty-six acres, but his farm at Ohaupo consists of about 200 acres mainly under cultivation. He is married to a daughter of Mr. James Given (a descendant of the Castle Stewart family—originally a noble French family named La Vie, who left their country owing to religious persecution, and settled in Ireland) and has three daughters and two sons. One of his daughters studied at the Auckland University College, having won a scholarship at the Kihikihi public school, and his other children have also given promise of scholastic distinction. Mr. Dinneen was elected to the Kihikihi Road Board in 1890, and is highly respected in the district.
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Mr. James Quick Tristram
                
                is a native of Taunton, Somerset, where he was born in 1835. He joined the band of the 40th Regt. and remained in the army till 1865, when he left the service at Otahuhu at the conclusion of the Waikato war. Mr. Tristram holds the New Zealand medal, having been present at most of the engagements in Waikato and Taranaki. He was in Major Von Tempsky's Forest Rangers for a while and after the termination of the war was connected with the Te Awamutu Cavalry for eighteen years, for which he received the long service medal. Mr. Tristram saw many stirring incidents during the war and can relate lively experiences of those times. He settled many years ago at Te Awamutu, afterwards moving to Kihikihi, where he made himself very useful in local affairs and was for some time chairman of the Kihikihi Road Board. Mr. Tristram is married and has three sons and two daughters.
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Orakau.

            

              
              


                

                  
Orakau
                
                is a pastoral district on the Puniu river, about three miles from Kihikihi. The land is good, to judge by the numerous herds of cattle and sheep to be seen in passing through the settlement. It adjoins the old confiscation boundary of the King Country, into which settlement is extending. It was at Orakau that the Maoris, under Rewi, fought their last battle with the British troops under General Cameron. They made a memorable stand, and when asked to surrender, they shouted back defiantly that they would fight for ever and ever, and that the women, sooner than accept any concession, would fight too. But even such heroism had to give way to superior numbers and weapons, and trained military talent.

            

            

              
              


                

Corboy, Joseph Augustine,
                Farmer, Orakau. Mr. Corboy, who served for some time as a member of the Kihikihi Town Board, was born in 1871 at Kihikihi. He served as a volunteer in No. 3 Waikato Mounted Rifles. Mr. Corboy, who is farming 200 acres of land at Orakau, was married, in 1894, to a daughter of the late Mr. M. Cullen, of Onehunga, and has two daughters and one son.

            

            

              
              


                

Hutchinson, John,
                Farmer, “Braystones,” Orakau. Mr. Hutchinson's farm contains about 600 acres of good land laid down in English grasses, and is admirably adapted for rearing stock. It is memorable as being the scene of the last battle of the Waikato war, when the gallant chief Rewi made his famous defence against the British troops and from whose words of defiance footballers have adopted their familiar cry of “Ake Ake.” Many warlike curios, such as rusty bayonets, shako-plates, bullets, etc., are often ploughed up on the field. The owner of this historic spot is a native of Cumberland, where he was born in 1848, and brought up to farming. His family have been dwellers in the county since the days of “Queen Bess,” and his father, who is



living still, owns the land that the family have held for upwards of 300 years. Mr. Hutchinson arrived in this Colony in 1877, and soon after commenced farming on his present land with marked success. He has taken an active part in local affairs, and has been chairman of the Mangahoe Drainage Board and a member of the committee of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Society. He was for some years on the Waipa County Council. Mr. Hutchinson is married and has one son and seven daughters.
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Rangiaohia.

            

              
              


                

                  
Rangiaohia
                
                was originally an old mission station, and is situated about two miles from the township of Te Awamutu. It is now a rich and fully settled farming district, considered by many to contain some of the most fertile land in the Waikato. The Puniu river flows along the southern boundary of the district. In this river considerable quantities of salmon ova have been placed by the Auckland Acclimatisation Society, and are said to be thriving. The district was, like others near it, settled by the military at the close of the war, and has since then attained celebrity for its stock and its potatoes. It was in a skirmish at Rangiaohia that the gallant Colonel Nixon and several of his companions lost their lives. The fight at Hairini also took place in the same district, on a portion of Mr. Cottrell's Matai Hall Estate.

            

            

              
              


                

Cottrell, James,
                Farmer. “Matai Hall,” Rangiaohia. Mr. Cottrell is a native of the West of England. He came out to Australia in 1855, and followed commercial pursuits in New South Wales for a number of years, but settled in New Zealand in 1884. Shortly after his arrival he purchased his property of eighty acres of land in Rangiaohia, and has since increased it to nearly 200 acres. During his residence in New South Wales Mr Cottrell was Justice of the Peace for that colony. He was first mayor of Yass, and was re-elected for a second term and was Under-Sheriff for the district of Yass for some time.

            

            

              
              


                

Kay, Roger,
                Farmer, “Woodbine Farm,” Rangiaohia. Mr. Kay's farm contains 550 acres of good stock-carrying country and runs a flock of about 600 longwool sheep and 150 head of cattle. The property was bought and broken up about twenty-five years ago. Mr. Kay is a native of Radcliffe, Lancashire, where he was born in 1832 and brought up to farming. He came to this Colony in July, 1854, after visiting New South Wales, Tasmania, and Victoria, and having studied the tanning business, he established himself at Mechanics' Bay, Auckland, as a tanner and fellmonger. In 1860 he sold out to Messrs. Ireland Bros., who removed the works to Panmure. Mr. Kay was head manager for this firm (which in 1890 took first prizes against allcomers at Dunedin Exhibition for thirty-one years. He retired about eleven years ago to reside on his farm, where he has taken a great interest in the district and is a member of the road board and other local bodies. Mr. Kay is married to a daughter of the late Mr. M. Hurley of Auckland, a respected pioneer settler, and has seven sons and six daughters, all of whom are grown up.
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Te Rore.

            

              
              


                

                  
Te Rore
                
                is in the county of Waipa, 108 miles to the southward of Auckland. The district is devoted to farming, and is one of the pleasantest in the Waikato. It is within eight miles of Te Awamutu, with which it is connected by a coach service.

            

            

              
              

                

Hall, Robert,
               
 Junior, Farmer, Te Rore. Mr Hall's property is one of the most beautiful spots in the Waikato. It was purchased by Mr. Robert Hall, senr., of One Tree Hill, over thirty years ago; it consists of 630 acres of fine rolling country, and carries a magnificent flock of Shropshire stud ewes. The homestead is situated on the top of a hillock with an extensive view of the Paterangi and Pirongia districts. One of the natural boundaries of the property is the Waipa river, which winds round a considerable portion of it. Turnips, oats, and potatoes are grown and yield excellent crops. Mr. R. Hall, junr., is a native of Auckland, where he was born in 1869, and was educated at Parnell Grammar School. After remaining a few years with his father he settled at Te Rore. Mr. Hall is married to a daughter of the late Mr. Scott, of Paterangi.
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Hodgson, Isaac,
                Farmer, “Homewood,” Te Rore. Mr. Hodgson's property consists of rich land, and is in an excellent state of cultivation, with many valuable horses which have received numerous awards at various shows. Mr. Hodgson's services as a judge of cattle are much sought after. He was born in Cumberland in 1837, and was brought up to farming. Coming to the Colony in 1857 per ship “Heroes of Alma,” and staying a short time in Wellington, he started a sawmill at Duvauchelles Bay which he carried on for eighteen years. Mr. Hodgson subsequently purchased “Homewood Farm,” and has since then devoted himself to agricultural pursuits. He was one of the earliest members of the Raglan County Council, and was chairman of the local road board prior to the formation of the council. Mr. Hodgson is a member of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Society, besides other local institutions. He is married to Miss Donnett, a native of Scotland, and has five sons and four daughters.
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Te Kuiti.

            

              
              


                

Te Kuiti,
                in the county of Kawhia, is 126 miles to the southward of Auckland, on the railway line. The county of Kawhia, of which Te Kuiti is one of the business centres, is noted for the great extent of its excellent limestone land, some of which is heavily timbered, and for the number of its genial and sheltered valleys. Te Kuiti receives and despatches mails twice a week, and it has a post office savings bank and a telephone service.

            

            

              
              


                

Rountree, John,
                Auctioneer, Te Kuiti. Mr. Rountree was born in the North of Ireland in 1852, and arrived in Lyttelton when he was ten years of age by the ship “Ivanhoe,” with his parents. He learned the trade of a butcher and from 1868 to 1872 was on the Thames goldfields, where he was in business on his own account. On returning to Christchurch, he established the first boiling down works in the colony, and conducted the business for four years. For four years subsequently he was engaged in the grain and produce business, and then removed to the West Coast, where he became a mining advocate. Three years later he removed to the North Island, and went into the cattle trade, as a member of the firm of Wylie and Rountree at Waitara. Mr. Rountree settled in Te Kuiti in 1898, and established himself in business as a storekeeper and dealer in live and dead stock. He has since taken up the business of an auctioneer and farmers' agent. In 1900 he succeeded in getting the Kawhia County gazetted by an Order-in-Council under the Auctioneers' Licensing Act, and took out the first license as an auctioneer in the district. During Mr. Rountree's residence in Christchurch he served for a number of years as a member of the St. Albans Borough Council. He was married, in 1879, to a daughter of Mr. G. Sergeant, of Auckland. This lady died in 1898, leaving four sons and four daughters, and in 1899 Mr. Rountree contracted a second marriage with a daughter of Mr. J. McKay, of Millbrook, Waipu.
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A Carved Maori Whare, Te Kuiti.
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Hamilton.

            

              
              


                

                  
Hamilton
                
                is the chief town of the Waikato. It is built on both banks of the river of that name, and lies partly in the county of Waikato and partly in that of Waipa. The town is eighty-six miles south of Auckland, on the Auckland-Waikato railway, and stands on high ground and is extremely picturesque. It is in communication by rail with Cambridge, Te Aroha, and the intervening towns, as well as with the King Country, and is an excellent place to stop at to break the journey to the Hot Lakes. Two fine bridges span the river at Hamilton—one the railway, and the other the ordinary traffic bridge. The principal business street of the town is on the west side of the river. The road is wide, and there are some very fine business premises with handsome verandahs, and two very fine hotels. The growth of the town has been one of uniform progress. It is an exceedingly pretty spot, the river being one of the principal features in the landscape. Hamilton is popular as a health resort, though not quite so high as Cambridge, a few miles further up the river. The town possesses a brewery, cheese and butter factory, soap factory, brick and pottery, and other industrial works. There are several fine buildings and public parks in both parts of the



town. The Waikato hospital, about two miles distant, is a fine and well-conducted institution, very pleasantly situated and possessing an extensive view of the country. Hamilton has two newspapers, four churches, two public schools, a public library, lodges, courthouse, police station, and post and telegraph offices, and the Bank of New Zealand has one of its largest branches in the town. The surrounding country consists of fine agricultural land.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Hon. John Blair Whyte
                
                was called to the Legislative Council in 1891, but soon ceased to be a member on account of his absence in England. For many years he was a well known farmer in the Waikato district. He was mayor of Hamilton for two years. When the Bank of New Zealand was in difficulties Mr. Whyte was appointed referee as to land values, and he went to England in connection with banking matters. He returned again to Auckland as the representative of a wealthy English syndicate to report on goldmining in the Auckland province. Subsequently he went to New South Wales in a similar capacity, and afterwards returned to England, where he still (1901) resides.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederick William Lang,
                Member of the House of Representatives for Waikato, was born at Blackheath, Kent, in 1852, and is the youngest son of the late Mr. Oliver Lang, of Vanburgh Park, Blackheath. He was educated at the local school, in his native place, and at the age of nineteen years left England for Auckland. Shortly after his arrival, he settled in the Waikato district, and began farming near the Waipa River. In 1893, Mr. Lang was elected to a seat in the General Assembly for Waipa, by a majority of 905 votes over Mr. Gerald Peacock, and three years later was returned for the electorate of Waikato by an overwhelming majority. At the general election of 1899 he polled 2337 votes to his opponent's 2015. Mr. Lang was for more than ten years a member of the Waipa County Council, of which he was chairman for six years, and was for some time on the Waikato Hospital and Charitable Aid Board.

            

            

              
Borough of Hamilton.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Borough Of Hamilton
                  
                  covers an area of 1000 acres, and at the census of April, 1901, it had a population of 1246. It has about 650 ratable properties with a ratable annual value of £7780, on which a rate of is in the £ is levied. Hamilton is not divided into wards. It has no drainage scheme, no water supply, nor a fire brigade, but these matters are likely to receive attention from the corporation at an early date. The borough has a domain and reserves, which comprise the town belt on both sides of the river and a good many allotments in the town, as well as Sydney Square and Lake reserve. A revenue of £158 per annum is derived from rentals, and the money is spent in improving the domain, on which £1500 has already been expended. Sydney Square on the east side of the river is a very fine cricket, football, and general recreation ground. The lake reserve consists of from thirty to forty acres on the west side of the river, and it is well planted with ornamental trees. The present members of the Council are Mr. R. W. Dyer, Mayor, and Messrs J. S. Bond, E. J. Davey, W. Dey, A. Coyle, T. Slade, R. Parr, I. Coates, G. W. Sare and J. R. E. Hatrick.
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His Worship The Mayor 
Mr. Robert William Dyer,
                  who is a Member of the Hamilton Borough Council, is also a barrister and solicitor at Hamilton. He was born at Mahurangi in 1859, educated at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell, and at St. John's College, Tamaki; was articled to Mr. E. A. Mackechnie, and admitted to the bar in 1881.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor James Shiner Bond,
                  who was elected to the Hamilton Borough Council in September, 1900, is referred to in another article as the proprietor of the “Waikato Times.”

              

              

                
                

                  

Councillor Isaac Coates,
                 
 who was one of the first councillors of the borough of Hamilton, and occupied the mayoral chair for the five consecutive years ending in 1892, has been generally prominent as a public man in the Waikato. For some time he held a seat on the Waikato County Council, the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and for about three years was chairman of the Kirikiriroa Road Board. Mr. Coates was born near Richmond, Yorkshire, England, in 1840, and was brought up to farming. In 1867 he arrived in Lyttelton by the ship “Lancashire Witch,” and in the following year removed to Auckland and bought land near Hamilton, where he now lives on the bank of the Waikato, within the borough. He had a short experience of about a year at the Thames goldfields, and except while absent on a trip to England has been continuously a settler in the Waikato since returning from the Thames. Mr. Coates has about 700 acres in the Kirikiriroa district, adjoining the borough of Hamilton, which he still farms. During his experience in the colony he has undertaken large drainage works and railway contracts, sometimes singly and sometimes with a partner. He has been engaged in the flaxmilling industry for a long time, and has a mill at Hamilton, another at Morrinsville, and one at
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Maketu on the east coast. Mr. Coates was one of the first to introduce mowing machines, reapers and binders, threshing and chaff-cutting plants into the Waikato district. He was married, in 1875, to a daughter of the late Mr. P. Coleman, of Kirikiriroa, and has four sons and four daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Edwin J. Davey,
                  who was returned as a Member of the Hamilton Borough Council in 1900, is a general storekeeper in Victoria Street, Hamilton. He was born in London in 1872, and accompanied his parents to Auckland in 1876.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor James Robert Ellison Hatrick,
                  who served as a Member of the Hamilton Borough Council about 1885 for a short time, was born in Londonderry, Ireland, in 1852, and came to Auckland in 1880, by the ship “Inglewood.” In 1881 he settled in Hamilton as a draper, and is still in business, and again a member of the Council.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Robert Parr,
                  who was elected a Member of the Hamilton Borough Council in April, 1901, is referred to elsewhere.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Thomas Slade,
                  who has held a seat on the Hamilton Borough Council since 1890, was born at B-oxwich, Staffordshire, England, in 1858. He was brought up as a blacksmith and coachbuilder in his native place, and arrived in Auckland in 1880 by the ship “Ben Nevis.” After living for about a year at Ohinemuri Mr. Slade settled in Hamilton where he worked for about four years at his trade. In 1885 he established himself in business as a coachbuilder and general smith. His premises are erected on a corner section of about two acres and a half, on the east side of the river at Hamilton. The buildings include a blacksmith's shop, a wheelwright's shop, a paint shop and a show room. Mr. Slade undertakes all classes of coachbuilding and paint work. On the opposite side of the road he has a freehold section of three acres and a half, on which he has his private residence. Mr. Slade has taken an interest in local affairs for many years. He took a leading part in connection with the formation of the racing club, and has long been a member of the committee. He is a Master Mason of Lodge Beta-Waikato, No. 12. Mr. Slade was married, in 1883, to a daughter of the late Mr. S. E. Richards, of the Thames, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Charles John Wright Barton,
                  Town Clerk, Treasurer, Valuer, Collector, and Inspector of Nuisances for the Borough of Hamilton, was born in Daventree, Northampton, England, in 1852, and arrived in Auckland with his parents by the ship “North Fleet” in 1854. For about eighteen years he followed farming, and was appointed to his present offices in July, 1889. He also acts as secretary for the Waikato Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and for the public library and the domain, which are under the control of the Council. As a Freemason, he is a Past Master of Lodge Beta, No. 12, N.Z.C.

              

            

            

              
Ex-Mayors.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Edgecumbe,
                  formerly Mayor of Hamilton, was born in 1845 in Chippenham, Wiltshire, England, and came to Auckland in 1864 by the ship “John Duncan.” In the following year he settled in the Waikato, where he was employed by the late Mr. W. Y. Young, merchant, in whose service he continued for two years. In 1867 Mr. Edgecumbe commenced business at Ngaruawahia as a storekeeper and timber merchant, but removed to Hamilton ten years later, and soon after joined the staff of the “Waikato Times,” of which he became successively manager, part proprietor with the late Mr. F. A. Whitaker, and then sole proprietor. On the sale of the “Waikato Times,” Mr. Edgecumbe, in 1896, established the “Waikato Argus.” Mr. Edgecumbe has been well known in public life in the Waikato. He became a member of the Borough Council in 1877, afterwards held the position of acting mayor for some time, and became mayor in December, 1899. As a Freemason he is a Past Master of Lodge Beta, Hamilton, of which he was secretary for about thirteen years. He is also a member of the Grand Lodge and of the Board of Benevolence. He is treasurer of the South Auckland Racing Club president of the Waikato Rugby Union and of the Hamilton Cricket Club. Mr. Edgecumbe was married, in 1871, to a sister of Mr. James Hume, who was well known for many years in Hamilton as manager of the Bank of New Zealand, and has three sons and six daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Australia Graham,
                  who was Mayor of Hamilton for 1884–87 inclusive, is the third son of the late Mr. George Graham, who is referred to in the political section of this volume as one of the prominent public men of Auckland. Mr. W. A. Graham was born on the 22nd of November, 1841, in Auckland, and was educated there and at the Clewer House School, Windsor, and Exeter Heles Grammar School, England, whence he returned to New Zealand in 1854. Mr. Graham is a surveyor by profession, but is well known throughout the colony as one who has a great influence with the Maoris. He has on many occasions acted in the capacity of mediator, and has often been instrumental in preventing unpleasantness, and acted as interpreter for General Carey and Mr. George Graham at the signing of peace and submission to the Queen's authority by Tamehana te Waharoa, which ended the Waikato war. Mr. Graham is much respected and trusted by the natives, and his advice is often sought on important public matters. He was presented by King Mahuta with the royal Patuparaoa, which means that its possessor is a man of equity—a peacemaker or mediator. It is a white mere, as distinguished from the greenstone mere, which means war. Mr. Graham has resided in Hamilton since 1882, and during his mayoralty was presented with a silver cradle in recognition of the birth of one of his children. He was married, in 1872, to the eldest daughter of the late Mr. Walter Coombes, of the old firm of Coombes and Daldy, and a grand-daughter of Captain Pulham, of the East India service, and has three sons and six daughters.
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Mr. John Knox,
                  J.P., who was Mayor of the borough of Hamilton for the years 1880 to 1882, and served about seventeen years as a councillor, was born in County Down, Ireland, in 1833. He came out to the colonies in 1852, and was an auctioneer in Victoria from 1857 to 1863. He joined the 4th Waikato Militia in Melbourne, and served through the campaign as colour-sergeant till disbandment in 1866. Mr. Knox has been an auctioneer in the Waikato district for thirty-five years. He was appointed a J.P. in 1880.

              

            

            

              
Waikato County Council.

              

                
The land in the county of Waikato is of a mixed character, but much of it is well adapted for pastoral purposes. It has an area of 591 square miles, and according to the census taken in April, 1901, has a population of 3,184. The capital value of the property in the county in July, 1900, was £574,884, and there is a general rate of £1/4d in the £. The county debt amounted on the 31st of March, 1901, to £1158 18s 2d, and the revenue for the year ending on the same date, was £1103 5s 8d. The ridings are Huntly, Kirikiriroa, Tamahere, Cambridge, and Whangamarino, in each of which there are road boards. To these boards the Council has delegated all its powers in respect to roads and bridges, except in the case of bridges which have more than a span of 30 feet. Members for 1901–02: Mr. A. Primrose, chairman, and Messrs J. P. Bailey, A. McRae, J. Gordon, S. T. Seddon, A. T. F. Wheeler and W. H. Thomas. The council meets at Hamilton on the fourth Friday in the months of March, May, July, September, November, and January. Captain James McPherson is county clerk, and Mr. E. Fairburn, engineer.

              

              

                


                
                


                  

Councillor Andrew Primrose,
                  who has been Chairman of the Waikato County Council since 1884 and represented Kirikiriroa riding for some years previously, was also for many years prior to 1898 chairman of the Waikato Hospital Board. He was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1825, and was brought up to country life. In 1849 he removed to Ireland, where he was engaged in farming for a number of years. Mr. Primrose arrived in Auckland by the ship “King of Italy, in 1865. Two years later he settled in the Waikato, and purchased 500 acres of land, which has since been known as Cherrybrook Farm. Mr. Primrose also owns 450 acres at Hukanui.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor John Powell Bailey,
                  J. P., who represents the Huntly Riding on the Waikato County Council, has also been a member of the Huntly Road Board since 1895. He was born in Dublin, Ireland, in 1862, and came to New Zealand in the following year with his parents. In 1883 he settled in the Huntly district, where he has 150 acres of land. Mr. Bailey was married, in 1883, to a daughter of Mr. J. Arkell, of Auckland, and has three daughters and two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor John Gordon,
                  who is a Member of the Waikato County Council, on which he represents Kirikiriroa riding, is referred to in another article as chairman of the Kirikiriroa Road Board, and as manager of the Woodlands estate.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Councillor A. McRae
                  
                  is a Member of the Waikato County Council, on which he represents Whangamarino riding.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Samuel Thomas Seddon,
                  who has represented the Kirikiriroa riding on the Waikato County Council for a good many years, and has served on many other public bodies, was born in Leicestershire, England, in 1830. In 1860 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Excelsior, and after ten years at Howick, purchased his fine property in the Hamilton district. Mr. Seddon married a daughter of the late Rev. T. Aulezark, vicar of Stafford, and has two sons and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor William Henry Thomas,
                  who has represented Cambridge riding in the Waikato County Council since 1895, and served for six years on the Cambridge Road Board, was born at Penryn, Cornwall, England, in 1862. He is a stonemason by trade, and came to Auckland in the “Earl Granville, in 1880. Mr. Thomas settled in Cambridge and worked as a contractor till 1883, when he commenced farming on his own account. He has served as a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and as a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Alpha. Mr. Thomas was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr. A. Donaldson, of Okaihau, Bay of Islands, and has two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Councillor A. T. F. Wheeler
                  
                  is a Member of the Waikato County Council on which he represents Tamahere riding, and is referred to in another article as chairman of the Tamahere Road Board.

              

              

                
                


                  

Capt. James McPherson,
                  Clerk and Treasurer of the Waikato County Council, landed in Auckland in 1861 with his regiment, the 70th Surrey, from India. He served with the 93rd Highlanders throughout the Eastern campaign of 1854–5, including the battles of Alma and Balaclava, capture of Kertch and Yenikale, siege and fall of Sebastopol, and the assaults of 18th June and 8th September (medal with three clasps and Turkish medal). He was also in the Indian Mutiny campaign of 1857–9, including the relief of Lucknow by Sir Colin Campbell and the assaults on the Secundrabagh (slightly wounded), battle of Cawnpore on 6th of December, 1857, and pursuit of the rebels to Seraighat, the action of Khodagunge, storming of the Begum's palace, and capture of Lucknow. He took part in the attack on Fort Royea and in the campaign of Rohileund, including the battles of Allygunge and Bareilly, Capt. McPherson was through the Oude campaign of 1858–9, including the action at Pusgaon and took part in the attack on Fort Mitowlee and at Biswa (medal with two clasps). In New Zealand Capt. McPherson served with the 70th Regiment and Commissariat Transport Corps during the war in 1861–5, for which he has the New Zealand medal. He settled near Hamilton, Waikato, in 1866, and re-received his present appointment in 1877.
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                    The No. 1 Waikato Mounted Rifles
                  
                  were established about 1887 as an infantry corps, but in 1897 the corps was changed to a mounted troop. The officers for 1900 were Captain W. H. Hume and Lieutenants A. B. Heather and G. C. Ramsey. The strength of the troop, including officers, is ninety-one.

              

              

                
                


                  

Captain William Hamilton Hume,
                  of the No. 1 Waikato Mounted Rifles, was born in Hamilton in 1877. He is the third son of Mr. J. Hume, who was for many years manager of the Bank of New Zealand, Hamilton, Mr. Hume was educated at the Thames High School, joined the staff of Messrs McNicol and Co., as clerk in 1893, and has continued in the employment of that firm. He joined the volunteers as a private in 1897, was promoted to a lieutenancy in 1899, and became acting-captain in March, 1900. Mr. Hume is a member of several local athletic clubs.
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General Government Offices.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Hamilton Post And Telegraph Office
                  
                  was established about 1870, but the original building was destroyed by fire in October, 1899. The office is considered one of the most important in the Waikato. A large number of mails are received and despatched daily, and within the radius of one mile on each side of the river, there are two deliveries of letters every day. A subsidiary post office is stationed on the east or Kirikiriroa side of the river.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Julian Francis Long,
                  Postmaster in charge at Hamilton, was born in South Australia in 1847, was brought to Auckland when an infant, and was educated at Prince Albert College. On returning to Australia after being seventeen years in New Zealand, Mr. Long joined the Telegraph Department in Tasmania, but came back to Auckland in 1870, and entered the department there as a cadet. He was appointed to Hamilton in 1895.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Hamilton Railway Station
                  
                  is of wood and iron, and has a ladies' waiting room, a public lobby, stationmaster's room, a long passenger platform, and a large goods shed. Four trains pass the station daily, each way.

              

              


              

                
                


                  

Mr. James William Oldham,
                  Stationmaster at Hamilton, was born in Dublin in 1853, and arrived with his parents in Auckland by the ship “Northumberland” in 1860. He entered the service of Messrs Brogden and Sons, railway contractors, was afterwards transferred to the public service, and was appointed to Hamilton in 1892.

              

              

                
                


                  
Government Stock Department.
                  This department for the Waikato special division has its office in Hamilton, and supervises the district lying between the mouth of the Mokau river and the Waikato Heads, thence from Mercer by Miranda to the Bay of Plenty, and includes the whole of the King Country.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. David Ross,
                  Inspector of Stock for the district, was born in Otago in 1865. He entered the Government's service in 1890 as a rabbit inspector in Central Otago, and three years later he was appointed to take charge of the Waikato special division.

              

            

            

              
Charitable Institutions.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Waikato Hospital And Charitable Aid Board
                  
                  controls the expenditure on charitable aid for the counties of Piako, Waikato, Waipa, and Raglan, and for the boroughs of Hamilton, Te Aroha, and Cambridge, and raises contributions from these bodies for the maintenance of the Waikato Hospital. The Old Men's Home is under the Board's management. Members for 1900: Mr. W. Dey, chairman, and Messrs W. P. Chepmill, A. J. Farmer, A. Primrose, A. T. F. Wheeler, J. P. Bailey, J. Fisher, F. J. Vickers, P. O'Connor, B. Hewitt, G. S. Whiteside, W. F. Buckland and E. Gallagher; with Mr C. J. W. Barton as secretary and treasurer.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Waikato Hospital
                  
                  occupies a beautiful site on an elevated position, whence fine views of lake, river, and country are obtainable. The site consists of eight acres of well kept land; and the hospital, which was erected in 1892, contains five wards with thirty-two beds. It is of one storey, built of wood, and has a verandah on the north side. There is a well lighted, well equipped operating room, and two small fever wards, with eight beds. The nurses' house, which adjoins the hospital, has accommodation for eight nurses, besides the matron. The medical officer's residence is also on the property and contains five large rooms. The Old Men's Home stands within the hospital grounds.

              

              

                
                


                  

Dr. Hugh Douglas,
                  M.B.C.M., is the Medical Officer-in-charge of the Waikato Hospital. He was born at Newcastle-on-Tyne, England, in 1870, and educated at Edinburgh, where he took his degree. In 1896 he came to Auckland as surgeon on board the s.s. “Moana,” and after a short time at the Auckland Hospital, commenced practice at Devonport. In March, 1899, he was appointed to his present position.

              

              

                
                


                  

Miss Elizabeth Margaret Rothwell,
                  Matron of the Waikato Hospital, was born at Killinimanagh, Ireland, and when an infant came with her parents to Auckland by the ship “Caduceus.” Miss Rothwell was educated privately in Hamilton, and joined the staff of the Hospital as probationer in 1891. Two years and three months later she passed her full examination as a qualified nurse, and having served for three years as charge nurse, occupied the position of head nurse till she was promoted to the matronship in 1896.
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The Waikato Old Men's Home,
                  which is situated on a portion of the Hospital grounds, was erected in 1899. It has accommodation for twenty inmates, and the number in residence in 1900 was seventeen. A good vegetable garden and a small orchard, which adjoins the Home, furnishes some employment for the old men, and most of the vegetables for the Home and the Hospital are produced in this way.

              

            

            

              
Educational.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Hamilton High School
                  
                  (Frederick Evison Gibbons, principal) was founded in 1900. The usual High School curriculum is followed in connection with the school, and pupils are trained with a view to their presenting themselves for Civil Service and University examinations. Book-keeping and shorthand are taught. There is accommodation for ten boarders, and about forty pupils are in attendance, including those who come to the night classes. The High School is situated at the lake near the hospital, and is a large eight-romed house specially built for the purpose. There is every accommodation for pupils, including a gymnasium and a playground, and the lake affords facilities for boating and bathing.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. Frederick E. Gibbons,
                 
 the Principal, was born in India in 1866. He was educated at Uppingham, England, and at London University, where he matriculated. In 1887 he came out to New South Wales, and, entering the Imperial-Colonial service, was stationed at the New Hobrides. About four years later he left the service for reasons of health, and returned to New South Wales, where he became a teacher. In 1896 Mr. Gibbons arrived in the Waikato, and afterwards became founder of the Hamilton High School. He was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. J. C. Guy, of Uppingham, where Mrs Gibbons was born. She was educated


[image: Playground, Mr. Gibbons' School.Botteley, photo.]

Playground, Mr. 
Gibbons' 
School.


Botteley, photo.





there and in London, and has given special attention to vocal and instrumental music. For some time Mrs Gibbons was teacher at the Remuera Ladies' College, and had private pupils for some years.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Hamilton West Public School
                  
                  has three class rooms and three porches, with accommodation for 220 children. There are 158 names on the roll with an average attendance of 130. The master is assisted by one certificated teacher and two pupil teachers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Harold Worsley,
                  Headmaster of Hamilton West Public School, was born in 1865 near Manchester, England. He arrived in Auckland in 1880, and served his time as a pupil teacher in that city. Prior to his appointment to Hamilton West in 1900 Mr. Worsley was for seven years in charge at Warkworth.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Hamilton East Public School
                  
                  is situated on the banks of the Waikato river, immediately facing Hamilton West. The building is a wooden structure containing various class-rooms with all necessary appointments. There is an average attendance of about 120. The teaching staff consists of the headmaster, Mr. Stevens, and two assistants. A residence for the headmaster is in close proximity to the school building.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Percy E. Stevens,
                  Headmaster of the Hamilton East School, was born in Jersey, Channel Islands, and educated at the Victoria College, Jersey. He left his native land for Auckland, New Zealand, in 1875, in the ship “Lutterworth.” On his arrival he received an appointment as junior teacher at the Beresford Street school, and afterwards filled the position of headmaster successively at Paterangi and Tauranga, and obtained his present appointment in 1886.

              

              

                
                


                  
St. Mary's Convent,
                  Hamilton, stands on a section of two acres in extent. It was established about 1886 by Bishop Buck, and is of two stories and contains fifteen rooms. Eight sisters, who belong to a French order of sisterhood, are in charge, and there were twenty-one pupils in attendance during 1900. A parochial school, adjoining the convent, is attended by about sixty children.

              

            

            

              
Ecclesiastical.

              

                
                


                  
St. Peter's Church,
                  Hamilton, was built and consecrated in 1887, and has accommodation for 230 worshippers. The office bearers are Mr. I. Coates, clergyman's warden, Mr P. Stevens, people's warden, and Messrs Atkinson, Birnie, Dyer, Edgecumbe, Gwynne, Salmon, Sandes, Sare, and Swarbrick, vestrymen. The Rev. H. D. A. Major is the vicar, and the parish, which is in the archdeaconry of Waikato, comprises the sub-districts of Whatawhata (St. Barnabas), Tuhikaramea Kirikiriroa, Marshmeadows and Tauwhare.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Henry Dewsbury Alves Major,
                  M.A., who has been Vicar of St. Peter's Church, Hamilton, since Easter, 1900, was born at Stoke, Devonshire, England, in 1871. He arrived in Auckland with his parents by the ship “Lady Jocelyn,” in 1879, and studied at St. John's College, Tan aki, and at the Auckland University College, where he graduated B.A. in 1894 and M.A., with first class honours in geology, in the following year. He was also successful in gaining the Natural Science Senior Scholarship of the New Zealand University in 1895. He became assistant curate at St. Mark's, Remuera, in Advent, 1895, and in 1899 was appointed curate-in-charge-of-Waitotara, where he remained until he was appointed to Hamilton.

              

              

                
                


                  

Rev. Robert O'Callaghan Biggs,
                  sometime Minister of the Church of England and Vicar of St. Peter's, Hamilton, was born at Bandon, County Cork, Ireland, in 1826, being the second son of Mr. Thomas Joseph Biggs of that town. He was educated at various schools in County Cork, and left his native land in 1862 for Auckland in the ship “Claremont,” arriving in March, 1863. From that time until 1882 Mr. Biggs was engaged in farming and mercantile pursuits, but in the latter year commenced to study for holy orders. He was ordained deacon in 1877 and priest in 1882, receiving the rites of ordination from Bishop Cowie, now Primate of New Zealand. Mr. Biggs was successively curate at Howick, Papakura, and Wairoa, prior to his appointment as vicar of St. Peter's, Hamilton. He died in October, 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  
St. Mary's Catholic Church,
                  Hamilton, is a neat wooden building with a spire, and has accommodation for about 200 worshippers. It stands on a section of two acres, and the presbytery adjoins the church. The priest in charge celebrates Mass at St. Peter's, Cambridge, every Sunday as well as at St. Mary's, Hamilton.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Father Joseph Croke Darby,
                  who is the present Rector of St. Mary's, was appointed to the charge in February, 1901. Father Darby was born on the 27th of August, 1872, in the city of Auckland. He made his preliminary studies at St. Joseph's College, Hunter's Hill, Sydney, and completed his academical course at St. Patrick's College, Manly, New South Wales. Shortly after his return to Auckland he was ordained at St. Patrick's Cathedral, on the 19th of December, 1897. Prior to entering on his present charge, Father Darby was stationed successively at St. Francis' Church, Thames, and St. Benedict's, Auckland. He is one of a family of ten—seven sons and three daughters—and is a son of Mr. P. Darby, of Ponsonby, one of Auckland's oldest, most respected and most successful citizens. Dr. W. J. Darby, of Auckland, and Messrs P. B. Darby and B. F. Darby, of Wellington, are brothers of the Rev. Father Darby.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Wesleyan Church
                  
                  is a neat well-built building situated in Hamilton West, and it has a large body of adherents. The church property includes a fine block of land with a frontage to Victoria Street. On this frontage there are several good shops, including those occupied by Messrs Tudehope and Griffiths, E. Jones, Castleton, and others. The present church was erected in 1882 at a cost of £600, and the old building is now used as a schoolroom. There is accommodation for 250 worshippers, and there are seventy scholars in attendance at the Sunday School, which is managed by eight teachers. The parsonage was destroyed by fire in March, 1899, but was re-erected the same year at a cost of £400. The minister in charge at Hamilton holds services periodically at Tauwhare, Hukanui, Ngaruawahia, Whatawhata, Te Kowhai, Marshmeadows and Pukete.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Henry Lawrence Blamires,
                  Minister in charge of the Hamilton Circuit, was born in 1871 and educated at Wesley College, Melbourne. He became a local preacher in Christchurch in 1894, and a candidate for the ministry in 1896. Mr. Blamires served his probation at Inglewood and Westport, and was ordained at the conference of 1900, when he was appointed to the charge of the Hamilton Circuit. He was married, in 1900, to a daughter of Mr. T. C. Collier, of Christchurch. Miss Collier was for several years head of the teaching department of the Jubilee Institute for the Blind at Parnell, Auckland.

              

              

                
                

                  

Rev. John Hosking,
                 
 D.D., formerly Minister of the Wesleyan Church, Hamilton, was born at Copperhouse, West Cornwall, in 1860, was educated at the Redruth public school, Owen's College or Victoria University, Manchester, and was received into the College of the United Methodist Free Churches in Manchester in 1883. After passing successfully all the examinations, he declined a call to Southport, England, and offered his services to the Committee for Colonial Methodist Missions and was appointed to supply the Peel Street church, Ballarat, Victoria, in 1886. He also ministered for a few months in Melbourne in 1887, where he married and was appointed
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to Brisbane in 1888, remaining there for three years. He arrived in Christchurch, New Zealand, in 1891, having accepted a call to the St. Asaph Street church, where he remained for over five years. The amalgamation of the United Free Methodist and Bible Christian Churches with the Wesleyan body brought the ministers into the one church and Mr. Hosking was appointed to Hastings where he remained for twelve months, receiving his second appointment in the United Church at Hamilton, Waikato, in 1897. Whilst a minister of the late United Methodists, Dr. Hosking was president of the New Zealand churches in 1893 and secretary of the Queensland and New South Wales district in 1890; he also held the office of chapel secretary in the latter district. He established a Christian Evidence Society and a Moral League in Christchurch which did good work. As an author he has published several theological and other works; notably a book of 566 pages entitled the “Elements of Christian Theology, Philosophy, Morals, and History,” besides some stories of the narrative and romantic type. He is also a rather energetic temperance advocate. His Hebrew scholarship did him good service some years ago in debating various intricate Hebrew matters, affecting temperance, in the columns of the “Christchurch Press” with the Jewish rabbi; the letters have since been issued in pamphlet form and circulated widely. His voice is often heard on public platforms, in connection with the temperance question. Few public speakers in the colonial ministry tread in so unfrequented paths of thought. During his ministry in Christchurch he gave a course of twenty-five lectures on Church History on successive Sabbath evenings; then a dozen followed on Comparative Religions; then about a score on Science. These were greatly appreciated by many intelligent men, who heard them. His popular lectures on astronomy, geology, biology, logic, “How we got the Bible,” “The Lands of the Rose, Shamrock, and Thistle,” “From Saltash Bridge to the Land's End,” “Dick Hampton,” etc., are much in requisition and are appreciated by many readers. Dr. Hosking is now (July, 1901) pastor of a Congregational Church at Fitzroy, Melbourne, Australia.

              

              

                
                


                  
Lodge Beta-Waikato,
                  No. 12, was established in December, 1865. Officers for 1901: Bro. A. S. Brewer, I.P.M.; Bro. M. A. Going, W.M.; Bro. J. E. Hammond, S.W.; Bro. J. S. Colhoun, J.W.; Bro. G. Edgecumbe (P.M.), D.M.; Bro. R. J. Gwynne (P.M.), secretary. This lodge meets in a hall which was built in 1877. The ground was presented to the lodge, and the building, which is of brick, cost over £400.

              

              

                
                


                  
Waikato Rugby Union.
                  Officers for 1900: Mr. G. Edgecumbe, president; and Mr. H. E. Tristram, secretary and treasurer. There are two senior clubs—namely, Hamilton and Huntly, and four junior clubs—Hamilton, Huntly, Ngaruawahia, and Te Rapa. This union's colours are maroon and blue, and it controls all football events for the Waikato.

              

              

                
                


                  
South Auckland Racing Club.
                  Officers for 1900: Mr. W. H. Herries, M.H.R., president; Mr. F. W. Lang, M.H.R., vice-president; Messrs F. W. Browning, C. J. W. Barton, E. B. Cox, W. Cussen, I. Coates, E. M. Dickey, G. Edgecumbe, A. Furze, M. G. Farrer, R. J. Gwynne, H. Haseler, R. Noble, H. E. Tristram, T. Slade, A. Swarbrick, R. C. Mathias, and O. F. Pilling, stewards; Mr. L. Cussen, judge; Mr. J. O. Evitt, handicapper; Mr. A. Furze, clerk of scales; Mr. W. H. Hume, clerk of course; Mr. C. Barton, starter; and Mr. A. J. Storey, secretary. The racecourse, which is ninety-nine acres in extent, is situated at Claudelands, alongside the Kirikiriroa railway station, and is owned by the Waikato Park Syndicate, by whom it is leased to the club. There is a well kept grandstand, which will seat about 600 people, and there is a steeplechase course in addition to the ordinary course; a beautiful bit of native bush of about fifteen acres, on the background, makes this one of the prettiest recreation grounds in the province. The Waikato agricultural show is held on the course.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Hamilton Public Library
                  
                  dates back to 1888, but the convenient building now occupied was not completed till 1899, the foundation stone having been laid in the previous year by his Excellency the Governor. It contains a reading room, which is well stocked with papers and periodicals, and a library of 789 volumes.

              

              

                
                


                  

Miss Charlotte Amy Carey,
                  Librarian, is the second daughter of the late Dr. John Carey, of Forest Lake, Hamilton, one of the pioneer settlers in the district. She has acted as librarian since October, 1890.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    “The Waikato Times,”
                  
                  Hamilton, was first published at Ngaruawahia in 1872, by Mr. George Jones, now the Hon. George Jones, M.L.C. It then passed successively under the management of Messrs Langbridge and Silver, E. M. Edgecumbe, and George Edgecumbe. The headquarters of the journal were removed to Hamilton at the time of the railway extension, that being the chief distributing centre of the Waikato. Mr. J. S. Bond, the present proprietor, purchased the paper in July, 1896, and shortly afterwards converted it from a tri-weekly to a penny daily, availing himself to the utmost of the value of the Press Association service, and the splendid railway facilities for distribution throughout the districts. The “Times” has a large and increasing circulation, and is popular with all classes. Mr. Bond also carries on a book-selling and stationery business in connection with the paper.
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Mr. James Shiner Bond,
                  Proprietor of the “Waikato Times,” is a practical and experienced printer. He is a native of Dorsetshire, England, and at the age of thirteen years was employed in a large



job printing office, where he learned his trade, in which he has now been engaged for over thirty years. Coming to New Zealand in 1878, he had charge of the job printing department of the “Rangitikei Advocate.” In 1880, he removed to Cambridge to take charge of the printing department of the “Waikato Mail.” A year later, when that paper ceased to exist, he opened a general printing establishment, which he still carries on there, and to which he added a book and stationery business, enjoying a large and extensive connection throughout the district. In July, 1895, he started the “Waikato Advocate,” a weekly journal, which was merged into the “Waikato Times” when he purchased the latter paper. Mr. Bond until recently resided at Cambridge and took an active interest in all local matters. He was one of the first members of the Cambridge Borough Council, and served on that body for nine years, retiring in 1895, and during that period was mayor for three successive years.
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Mr. Sydney Edward Grevillesmith,
                  at present Editor of the “Waikato Times,” was born and educated in Glamorganshire, South Wales. He arrived in Auckland as a youth, in 1870, and seven years later became connected with journalism in Otago, where he was for some time reporter on the “North Otago Times” at Oamaru. He afterwards edited the “Waikato Times,” and, later still, the Auckland “Evening Bell.” Mr. Greville-Smith spent five years in Australia, during which he was on the editorial staff of the “Melbourne Herald,” and for two years editor of the “Toowoomba Chronicle” in Queensland. At the time of the Melbourne Exhibition of 1888, he was special correspondent for the “New Zealand Herald.”

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The “Waikato Argus”
                  
                  was first published under its present name on the 11th of July, 1896, with Mr. George Edgecumbe, who had for many years managed the “Waikato Times,” as the proprietor, and Mr. H. Holloway, editor. The politics of the “Argus” are constitutional, and its columns are largely devoted to the interests of the farmers, amongst whom it has a wide circulation. Since December, 1899, it has been issued as a daily paper.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry Holloway,
                  Editor of the “Waikato Argus,” was born at Wanstead, Essex, in 1837. He was educated at Hackney Grammar School, London, and had a mercantile experience in that city for about eight years. In 1863 Mr. Holloway arrived at Port Chalmers, by the ship “Mystery, and, after a short experience at mining, removed to the North Island. He joined the Taranaki Militia, in which he served for about three years, and was one of the force which was surrounded for about eleven days at Pipiriki. Later on he served at Opotiki, and then settled in Wanganui, where he gave his attention to journalism, and became editor of the “Wanganui Herald.” He was afterwards for a year on the staff of the old “Independent” in Wellington, now the “New Zealand Times.” Mr. Holloway became one of the originators of the “Daily Telegraph” at Napier, and, on removing to Auckland, was appointed editor of the “Waikato Times.” In 1875 Mr. Holloway joined the staff of the Colonial Mutual Insurance Company in Sydney, and was for a time an inspector in connection with that office. On returning to New Zealand, he held a position on the staff of the “Evening Bell,” in Auckland for a short time, and went back to Hamilton as editor of the “Waikato Times” in 1895. On the establishment of the “Argus” Mr. Holloway became its editor. He was married, in 1873, to a daughter of the late Dr. Bestwick, of Ngaruawahia, and has three sons and two daughters.

              

            

            

              
Legal.

              

                
                


                  
Hamilton Magistrate's Court.
                  There has been a magistrate's court at Hamilton since 1865. The present building, which is centrally situated opposite the Wesleyan Church, was erected in 1874. It contains, besides the courthouse, rooms for the magistrate and clerk of court. Hamilton is the centre of a large magisterial district, including Ngaruawahia, where the court is held in the town hall, Huntly, in the public hall, and at Mercer, Pukekohe, and Waiuku, at each of which there is a courthouse. Mr. H. W. Northcroft is the stipendiary magistrate for the Waikato district. Mr. Thomas Kirk, Clerk of the Court for the Waikato District, entered the public service in 1869, and has been stationed at Hamilton since 1875.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry William Northcroft,
                  Stipendiary Magistrate for the Waikato, is a colonist of high standing. He was born in Essex, England, on the 28th of August, 1846, and is the son of Mr. William Northcroft, engineer and surveyor, who came with his family to this Colony in 1851, in the ship “Cresswell.” Mr. Northcroft was educated first at New Plymouth, and subsequently at Nelson, and, at the age of fourteen, joined the Volunteers, just when Volunteering involved active service of a very serious and dangerous nature. That was, of necessity, many years ago, and Mr. Northcroft is now only known to the younger generation as a stipendiary magistrate of high repute; in the old days, however, he was famous as a soldier, and earned for himself the distinction of being one of the bravest of “our defenders.” He joined the colonial forces on the outbreak of the rebellion in Taranaki, and for eighteen years was seldom out of the field. Though more than fifty times under fire, he was never even wounded. How he, on three occasions, carried off a wounded comrade under fearfully heavy fire, is graphically told in Brett's “Heroes of New Zealand” by Mr. J. H. Wilks and Major Scannell, who were eye-witnesses of those and many other acts of bravery performed by Captain Northcroft, for which he will ever be remembered by readers of New Zealand history. Captain Northcroft was awarded the New Zealand war medal in 1868. When peace was restored, he had some experience in connection with mining at the Thames, and, in 1877, was appointed Resident Magistrate for the Waikato district. Mr. Northcroft for some time held the position of Goldfields' Warden and Magistrate at the Thames, prior to his appointment in November, 1892, as Stipendiary Magistrate at Auckland. Four years later, he, in company with various other stipendiary magistrates of the Colony, was called upon to make another move; and the Government's action in the matter called forth demonstrations of regret and indignation from the citizens, who entertained the very highest respect for Mr. Northcroft's character and conduct. After he left Auckland, Mr. Northcroft was stationed successively at Wanganui and Masterton, and was then transferred to his old magisterial district in the Waikato, with Hamilton as his headquarters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Hamilton Police Sub-District
                  
                  includes Cambridge, Te Awamutu, Kihikihi, Otorohanga, Te Kuiti and Poro-o-taroa, with a constable at each of these places, and a sergeant and a constable at Hamilton. The district, as at present constituted, dates from 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

Sergeant Richard Stapleton,
                  the Officer in charge of the Hamilton Police Sub-District, was born in Auckland in 1844. Mr. Stapleton joined the police force in Wellington in 1871, and was afterwards stationed in the Waikato, at Auckland and the Thames. He was promoted to the rank of sergeant in January, 1898, and in the following year was placed in charge at Hamilton.

              

              

                
                


                  

O'Neill, Lewis,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, Victoria Street, Hamilton. Mr. O'Neill was born in Auckland in 1847, went to England and studied for his profession in London, and was called to the bar at the Middle Temple in 1874. He was admitted a barrister and solicitor in New Zealand in 1875, and commenced to practise in the same year at Hamilton.

              

              

                


                
                


                  

Swarbrick, Arthur,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, Hamilton. Mr. Swarbrick was born in Derby, England, and studied for his profession in the Old Country. He arrived in New Zealand in 1877, served his articles with Mr. W. M. Hay, and was admitted as a barrister and solicitor in 1889. Mr. Swarbrick has acted as lay reader of the Anglican church for several years.

              

              

                
                


                  

Brewis, Andrew Seymour,
                  M.D., M.B., B.S., M.R.S.E., and L.S.A., (London), Physician and Surgeon, “Jesmond,” Victoria Street, Hamilton. Dr. Brewis was born at Newcastle-on-Tyne, England, and educated at the Durham University and at St. Thomas's Hospital, London, and took his degrees in 1886 and 1889. He arrived in the colony in 1891, and established his practice in the Waikato in the following year.

              

              

                
                


                  
Young, James Alexander,
                  Dental Surgeon, Hamilton West. Mr. Young was born in Auckland, in 1875, and after leaving school, became a student under Mr. A. M. Carter, a well known dentist, with whom he remained about three years. Subsequently he went to Dunedin, and in December, 1893, passed his dental surgery examination with a specially high commendation from the examiners. After returning to Auckland he took charge of Mr. Carter's practice and also visited the country districts on his behalf. Early in July, 1894, he began business in Hamilton on his own account, and has built up an extensive practice throughout the Waikato. Mr. Young, who takes an active interest in political and literary subjects, was a member of the Waikato Parliamentary Union, in which he was leader of the Opposition. He was elected at the top of the poll to the Waikato Licensing Committee, and has been chairman of the Hamilton West school committee, and a member of the Borough Council. Mr. Young is a frequent contributor to the press.
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Manning, Edward,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Waikato, Pharmacy, Victoria Street, Hamilton. Mr. Manning served his apprenticeship in Auckland and had four years' experience in Victoria prior to settling in Hamilton in 1896.

              

              

                
                


                  
Bank Of New Zealand,
                  Hamilton. This handsome two-storey building is situated in Victoria Street, the main thorough-fare of Hamilton West, and is an architectural ornament to the town. The premises comprise a large banking chamber, manager's office, strong-room, and a commodious private residence. The staff consists of Mr. K. Brookfield (manager), Mr. W. N. Von Sturmer (accountant), and three other officials. The manager visits the Ngaruawahia branch every Tuesday.

              

            

            

              
Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

Edgecumbe, John Sloper,
                  House, Land, and Estate Agent. Hamilton West. Mr. Edgecumbe was born in Wiltshire, England, in 1849, and came out to New Zealand, per ship “John Duncan,” early in 1864, landing at Auckland. He assisted his father on his farm at Waiau until 1867 when he moved to Ngaruawahia, where his brother carried on a general store. Subsequently, he engaged in farming and milling at Karakariki for about two years, after which he came to Hamilton. Until 1880 he was employed in the office of the “Waikato Times,” when he established his present lucrative business. Mr. Edgecumbe was a member of the Hamilton Light Infantry Volunteers, and held the rank of lieutenant.
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Jones, William,
                  Commission Agent and Valuer, Hamilton. Mr. Jones was born in County Cork, Ireland. During his youth he assisted his father in farming, and later was connected with the management of large estates. He came to New Zealand in the ship “Winterthur” in 1866, and settled in Hamilton where he purchased an acre of town land and fifty acres upon which he engaged in agricultural pursuits. He has now a fine property of 206 acres, besides conducting business as a commission agent and valuer under the Government Advances to Settlers Act and for Land and Income Tax purposes. Mr. Jones has always taken an active interest in municipal affairs. He was a member of the Hamilton Road Board for some years, and was chairman for a time. In 1882 he was appointed clerk to the New-castle Road Board, which position he filled until 1897. He is a Justice of the Peace, and was for many years a member of the Hamilton Borough Council and was mayor for a period of four months.
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McNicol and Co.,
                  (Arthur James Storey), Auctioneers and Stock Agents, Hamilton; sale yards, Ohaupo, Cambridge and Waihou. This well known auctioneering firm was established by Mr. Alfred Buckland, and was afterwards conducted for some years by the late Mr. John McNicol, who died in 1893. Since then the business has been conducted under the same style by the present proprietor. Regular cattle sales are held by the firm at Ohaupo fortnightly, and at Waihou, Hamilton and Cambridge every four weeks, and special sales as required. Special horse fairs are held every three months, and the annual spring horse fair, held at Cambridge, is attended by buyers from all parts of the colony. At the last one 810 horses were offered and 730 sold, amongst them being 250 good draughts, which averaged £23 each, and sold as high as £56.
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Mr. Arthur James Storey
                  
                  was born at Tamaki in 1867. He entered the service of Mr. Buckland in 1884, and has been associated with the business since that time. Mr. Storey is secretary of the South Auckland Racing Club, and a member of the committee of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Association.

              

              

                
                

                  

Rendell, James,
                 
 Commercial Traveller, Claudelands, Hamilton. Mr. Rendell was
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born in Dorsetshire, England, in 18[
gap —  
reason: illegible]
5, and was brought up to the soft goods trade. For some years he was in business as a draper on his own account near Bristol. In 1880 he arrived in Auckland, and settled at Paterangi, where he engaged in farming for a short time. He resided at Te Awamutu about two years, but then removed to Auckland, and was for three years in business in Hobson Street. Subsequently he removed to Raglan, where he was storekeeping and farming for ten years. In 1899 Mr. Rendell settled at Hamilton, as the representative of the Auckland D.S.C. in the Upper Waikato and Thames Valley districts. He was married, in 1871, to a daughter of the late Mr. I. Orchard, of Dorsetshire, England. This lady died in January, 1880, leaving two sons and four daughters. Mr. Rendell afterwards married a daughter of Mr. J. Lepper, of Auckland, and has three daughters and one son by this marriage.

              

              

                
                


                  

Botteley, Claude Lester,
                  Photographer, Victoria Street, Hamilton. The studio first occupied by Mr. Botteley was formerly known as Reid's, and was established about 1890. Mr. Botteley came into possession in 1900 and remained there until the end of December of the same year. Increase of business then made a large studio desirable, and this he fortunately obtained at Howden's Buildings, in the same street. The studio has been re-fitted with modern improvements. Mr. Botteley was born in Birmingham, England, in 1874, educated at Lytham, and was brought up as a printer. While working at that trade he took up photography as a hobby, and has since adopted it as a profession. He arrived in Wellington in 1899, and after acting as a Government insurance agent for eighteen months, established his present business.
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Innes, C. L. and Co.,
                  (Charles Lewis Innes), Brewers and Aerated Water Manufacturers, Waikato, Brewery, Hamilton. This business was founded by the late Mr. C. Innes, father of the present proprietor, in 1870, at Ngaruawahia. The business was afterwards removed to Te Awamutu, and in 1888 to Hamilton. The brewery, which was erected in 1897, contains a five hogshead plant. The aerated water department is conducted in a separate building, where the office of the firm is situated. The entire plant is worked by a gas engine.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. C. L. Innes
                  
                  was born at Te Awamutu in 1877, and was educated in the Waikato, and brought up to business by his father. He has conducted the business since the 31st of July, 1899, the day of his father's death. Mr. Innes is a member of No. 1 Waikato Mounted Rifle Volunteers, and takes an interest in outdoor sports as a member of the Hamilton football and cricket clubs.

              

              

                
                


                  

Evans, Thomas,
                  Builder and Contractor, Hamilton. Mr. Evans was born in 1844 in North Wales, where he was brought up to business. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Louisa” in 1865. For some time he was employed in connection with buildings in the neighbourhood of Auckland, and afterwards had an experience of gold mining at Coromandel, Thames, and Charleston. After a visit to Queensland, Mr. Evans returned to New Zealand, and was for a time in Hawke's Bay, and afterwards in Poverty Bay. He has been a settler in Hamilton since 1878, and has erected a good many buildings within the borough and in various parts of the Waikato. In 1896 Mr. Evans built a large boarding: house almost opposite the railway station in Hamilton. This building contains twenty-two rooms, is well furnished, and well managed under the care of Mrs Evans. Mr. Evans was married, in 1876, to a daughter of Mr. C. Hayes, of Auckland, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Watts, Albert,
                  Carpenter, Hamilton. Mr. Watts was born in Gloucestershire, England, in 1861, and was educated and brought up as a carpenter in his native land. He arrived in Auckland by the s.s. “Ionic,” in May, 1894, under engagement to Mr. Henry Reynolds, as butter maker for the Newstead factory, which he afterwards managed for two years. During his experience in England Mr. Watts had worked for a large firm which manufactured separators. On retiring from the dairy business, he commenced carpentering in Hamilton. Mr. Watts was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr. S. French, of Gloucestershire, England, and has four daughters and three sons.

              

              

                
                


                  
Menzies and Co.,
                  (R. Pike, manager), Cordial Manufacturers, Hamilton; head office, Thames. The Hamilton branch of this well known firm was established in October, 1899. The factory, which was built for the business, is a wooden building, and contains a gas engine, and the usual aerated water and bottling plant.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Reginald Pike,
                  Manager of Messrs Menzies and Co.'s Hamilton Branch, was born at Norwich, England, in 1876, and came to Auckland with his parents in the ship “Ben Nevis” in 1880. He was brought up to country life at Papakura. In 1898 he removed to Hamilton in connection with the flaxmilling business, and at the opening of Messrs Menzies and Co.'s branch, was appointed to the management. Mr. Pike served for some time in the Wairoa Rifle Volunteers.
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Cox, Noah Roper,
                  Draper and Clothler, “London House,” Hamilton West. Mr. Cox was born at Grantham, Lincolnshire, England, in 1837, and since the age of thirteen years has been connected with the drapery business in various capacities. He came to New Zealand in the ship “Slam” in 1867, and went to the Thames goldfields where he followed mining pursuits for about three years. Subsequently he settled for a period of six years in Auckland and was employed in a large drapery establishment. In 1876 Mr. Cox moved to Hamilton where he purchased a general store and conducted it for some years, when he sold off the general stock and has since confined his attention to drapery and clothing. He keeps a large and well selected assortment of goods to meet the requirements of the excellent trade he has built up throughout the district. Mr. Cox was elected a member of the Hamilton Borough Council at its formation and served two years. An active church worker, he has for the past nineteen years been a member of Trinity Wesleyan church, Hamilton, and has filled various offices in connection therewith. He is one of the oldest members of the Hamilton Cricket Club.
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Hallenstein Bros. and Co.,
                  (New Zealand Clothing Factory), Victoria Street, Hamilton. The premises consist of a large one storey wooden building, which has a double-fronted shop with a verandah. The branch was established in 1891, and is under the management of Mr. Joseph Varney.

              

              

                
                

                  

                    Hamilton Hotel
                  
                 
 (William Bright, Proprietor), Hamilton West. Telegraphic address, “Bright, Hamilton,” Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This hotel was established in 1860, and has always held a high position in Hamilton. The original building was of wood and contained about fifty rooms, which were comfortably furnished. It was burnt down on the 16th of July, 1898, but a new building was completed and in occupation by the 1st of March, 1899. The new house is of two stories, and has a verandah and a balcony. It contains forty-six rooms, of which twenty-four are bedrooms; there are seven sitting rooms, and the handsome dining room has seats for sixty guests. As a commercial house, “Bright's” has no superior. A first class cook is employed by Mr. Bright. There is a cottage situated in a charming garden at the rear of the hotel, and this is specially suitable for the accommodation of families and invalids. The hotel is bounded on one side by the Waikato river, and therefore, bathing and rowing may be enjoyed by guests. Mr. Bright has had the grounds well laid out with plants and flowering shrubs of all kinds, and in spring and summer the blaze of colour is exceedingly attractive. First class livery and bait stables
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adjoin the hotel, and coaches meet all the trains. Mr. Bright, the proprietor, is a native of Belfast, Ireland, and was educated and brought up there to the linen business. He came to the Colony in 1882, and for five years was in the drapery business in Auckland. In 1887 he joined his father in the Commercial Hotel at Hamilton, and remained with him until he took over the hotel at Northern Wairoa. Mr. Bright is well known at the Thames, where he kept the Queen's Hotel for two years. He took over the Hamilton Hotel in 1897. Mr. Bright has always been ready to give his support and assistance in connection with sporting matters, and takes an active interest in all local affairs.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Waikato Hotel
                  
                  (Phillip Le Quesne, proprietor), Heaphy Terrace, Hamilton. This hotel is built of brick and cement, has a slate roof, is three stories in height, and contains about thirty-five rooms.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. P. Le Quesne,
                  Proprietor, is an old settler in the Waikato, and was born in Jersey on the 7th of October, 1836. He arrived in Auckland on the 10th of May, 1860, by the ship “Avon,” and opened a store in Karangahape Road. Six years later Mr. Le Quesne removed to Hamilton, where he opened the settlers' General Store, and has ever since then been prominently connected with the district. He was for several years a member of the East Hamilton Highway Board.

              

              

                
                


                  

Hammond, John Edwin,
                  Plumber, Gasfitter, and Cycle Repairer, Hamilton West. Mr. Hammond was born in Kent, England, in 1866, and came to New Zealand with his father, Mr. David Hammond, in the ship “Warwick,” landing in Auckland in 1870. At the age of twelve years he was apprenticed to Messrs. Branston and Foster, plumbers, with whom he remained some nine years, gaining a thorough knowledge of plumbing, brass finishing, etc. He then worked as a journeyman, and in 1891 moved to Hamilton and established himself successfully. Mr. Hammond has executed a considerable amount of work for the borough council, hospital, and schools, and is a thoroughly practical man at his trade. He keeps a stock of bicycles and is an expert at repairs. Mr. Hammond takes and active interest in athletic and cycling sports, is captain of the Waikato Amateur Athletic and Cycling Club, and a member of the committtee of management.
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Dymock, H.,
                  Wholesale and Retail Boot and Shoe Manufacturer, Victoria Street, Hamilton.

              

              

                
                


                  

Salmon, Daniel,
                  Bootmaker, Hamilton. Mr. Salmon was born in London in 1841 and after leaving school learned the trade of a shoemaker in Edgeware Road. He was engaged in the boot and shoe business in Harrow Road, London, for some years, and sold out to come to New Zealand in 1877 in the ship “Apelles” as doctor's assistant. Shortly after landing at Auckland he settled in Hamilton where he at once established himself at his trade and which he has successfully conducted for over twenty years. He was for some years a member of the Hamilton Borough Council, to which he was, in the first instance, elected by the largest majority ever polled by any single candidate in the town. Mr. Salmon was married in London in 1862 to Miss Mary A. Pritchard, and has four children.
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Jones, Edward,
                  Saddler and Harnessmaker, Victoria Street, Hamilton; branches at Paeroa, Morrinsville, Waihi and Ngaruawahia. The premises consist of a large double-fronted shop, which is centrally situated in the main street, and in which Mr. Jones keeps a large stock of saddlery and harness of all descriptions imported direct from the Home manufactures, as the large turnover which he is now doing through the medium of the different branches enables him to buy in the best markets. Mr. Jones also keeps a large staff of workmen, who manufacture on the premises anything required in the trade.
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Bettley, John,
                  Butcher, etc., Hamilton. Mr. Bettley is a native of Aigburh Vale, near Liverpool, and received his education at Linden House School, Littlemore, near Oxford. His father's trustee being engaged in the butchering trade at Edgehill, Liverpool, he assisted him in conducting the business and at the age of twenty-one years joined him at farming in Oxfordshire and Gloucestershire. This venture, however, proved unsuccessful owing to the oppressive rents and system of landlordism prevailing from 1879 to 1886, and Mr. Bettley lost very considerably. Disposing of his interests, he came out to New Zealand in the s.s. “Rimutaka,” in 1886, landing at Port Chalmers, thence to Auckland and Waikato, and was for about six months employed in agricultural work. Subsequently, he removed to Hamilton and established a butchery business. Mr. Bettley's commodious premises were built in 1894, and he carries on an extensive wholesale and retail trade. He also has a large coffee palace, a two-storey building very comfortably furnished, with the Temperance Dining Rooms, which are well patronised. Mr. Bettley is an active and enterprising man, is a strong socialist, and takes great interest in all matters beneficial to the community. He was married in Oxfordshire, England, in 1882, to Charlotte Hollier, and has seven children.

              

              

                
                


                  

Qualtrough, Thomas,
                  Butcher, Hamilton. Mr. Qualtrough, who served for six years as a member of the Hamilton Borough Council, was born in 1851 in the Isle of Man. He accompanied his parents to Auckland in 1858, and has been established in



business as a butcher in Hamilton since 1879. His premises consist of a brick building of one storey, and are erected on his freehold section. The slaughterhouse is near the Franklin railway station, and stands on a section of fifteen acres of freehold. Sixty acres of leasehold ground adjoining the property is used for farming purposes. Mr. Qualtrough was married, in 1885, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. T. Prince, of Ohaupo, and has one son and five daughters.
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New Zealand Loan And Mercantile Agency Company.
                  This corporation opened a branch of its business in Hamilton some years ago for the special convenience of its large Waikato connection. Mr. G. W. Sare has been in charge since that date.
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Davis, Silvester,
                 
 Brickmaker, Hamilton. Mr. Davis, who was, except for one year, a member of the Hamilton Borough Council from 1893 till September, 1900, was born in Buckinghamshire, England, in 1840. He was brought up to sawmilling work, and afterwards learned brickmaking. In 1875 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Alumbagh,” and settled in the Waikato, where he soon commenced
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brick making, and made the bricks for Le Quesne's Hotel. Mr. Davis, who is an old member of the Order of Oddfellows, was married, in 1859, to a daughter of Mr. E. Goodman, of Buckinghamshire, and, of a family of eighteen, has four sons and four daughters surviving.

              

              

                
                


                  
Horne, J. Thornton,
                  Grocer, Baker, and Confectioner, Hamilton West. Mr. Horne was born in Gloucestershire, England, and after leaving school was employed in a large wholesale grocery establishment in Bristol. He came out to New Zealand in the barque “Ada” in 1876, and settled at Hamilton, where he entered the employ of Mr. Thomas Trewheelar, confectioner, as assistant, and some years later purchased the concern, subsequently adding the grocery business. He has built up a large and extensive trade, and on his shop being destroyed by fire, in December, 1895, he built his present commodious premises, in which he has ample refreshment rooms. Mr. Horne is an energetic worker in the temperance cause.

              

              

                
                


                  

Maunder, Thomas Willis,
                  Storekeeper, Victoria Street, Hamilton. Mr. Maunder was born in London in 1852, came to Auckland in 1867, by the ship “England” and founded his present business in 1888.

              

              

                
                


                  
Parr Bros.
                 , (Robert Parr and George Parr), General Storekeepers, Hamilton. This business was established in 1882 as the New Zealand Co-operative Farmers' Association, and was acquired by Messrs Parr Bros. two years later. The premises consist of a large brick and concrete store, which contains a well assorted stock of general merchandise.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Hamilton Gas Company,
                  Limited, was established in 1895. Directors: Messrs H. Atkinson (chairman), S. W. Wilson, J. L. Wilson and J. M. Mennie, with Mr. H. R. Jones, of Albert Street, Auckland, as secretary. The gas plant has a capacity of 15,000 feet daily, and gas is supplied throughout the borough of Hamilton, to the Waikato hospital, and as far as Sydney Square, Kirikiriroa. There are 119 consumers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Lewis Blackman,
                  Manager of the Hamilton Gasworks, was born in London in 1859. He came to Auckland in 1881, served for a number of years in connection with the Auckland gasworks, and was appointed to his present position in April, 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  
Pearson and Co.,
                  (George S. Pearson, Mrs R. Williamson, and H. E. Tristram), Carbolic Sand Soap Manufacturers, Grey and Cook Streets, Hamilton. This business was established in 1886 by Mr. E. J. Pearson, who died ten years later. The soap manufactured by the firm is patented, and is shipped to all parts of the colony.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. Henry Exford Tristram
                  
                  was born in Melbourne, and came to New Zealand when quite young with his father, Mr. James Quick Tristram, who was in the band of the 40th Regt. of Foot. The family finally settled in the Waikato district, and the subject of this sketch assisted on the farm during his youth. In 1870 he moved to Hamilton East and opened a butcher's shop and shortly afterwards, another on the west side, conducting both places successfully for seventeen years. He sold his business in 1887 to take the management of Pearson's Carbolic Sand Soap Factory, at East Hamilton, in which he is largely interested. This industry has greatly increased under Mr. Tristram's competent management and the concern has an extensive sale for its manufactures throughout New Zealand and New South Wales. Mr. Tristram takes a great interest in athletic sports, was for some years secretary of the Hamilton Football Club, and also secretary of the Waikato Rugby Union. He is also secretary and member of the Hamilton Brass Band, is an active Mason of over twenty years' standing, and a member of Lodge Beta, N.Z.C., Hamilton. Mr. Tristram was for some years a member of the Hamilton Borough Council.
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                    Harwood and Co.
                  
                  (James Harwood), Livery Stable Keepers, Omnibus and Coach Proprietors, Hamilton. Mr. Harwood was born in the county of Lurgan, Ireland, in 1869. At ten years of age he came with his parents to New Zealand, and landed at Auckland, which the family left at once to settle at Hamilton, in the Waikato, where Mr. Harwood was educated. He began business as a carter and general contractor, but in 1893 he opened a livery stable, which at once proved a success. At the close of 1887, Mr. Harwood started a branch at Paeroa, but afterwards sold his interests there to the Ohinemuri Coaching Company. At Hamilton there are two lines of coaches—one to the railway station, and one to Franklin Junction, besides a large general livery stable business. There are two stables of twenty stalls each, and about twenty loose boxes. Messrs horses and from twenty to twenty-five drags, buggies, etc.

              

              

                
                


                  

Howden, Henry Herbert,
                  Watchmaker and Jeweller, Victoria Street, Hamilton. Mr. Howden's premises consist of a two storey wooden building erected on freehold land. The proprietor is a son of Mr. James Howden, of Queen Street, Auckland.

              

              

                
                

                  

Chitty, Walter,
                 
 Farmer, “Brooklyn,” Hamilton. Mr. Chitty is a native of Dover, Kent, England, and received his education
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at Neuweld, on the Rhine, Germany. On leaving school he returned to Dover, and was for some years assisting in his brothers' business (Messrs. Chitty and Co.), one of the largest firms of flour millers in the South of England. Having a taste for farm life he decided to come to this Colony and arrived in New Zealand in 1872 per ship “Bulwark” after a protracted voyage of seven months. He purchased “Brooklyn,” which consists of 750 acres of native land and now has the whole of the estate under cultivation and stocked with cattle, horses, etc. In all matters affecting the welfare of the district, Mr. Chitty takes an active interest, and is considered one of the best judges of stock in the Waikato, officiating frequently in that capacity in the horse and cattle sections at agricultural shows in various parts of the Colony.

                

                  

[image: Mr. W. Chitty.]

Mr. 
W. Chitty.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

Farrer, Matthew George,
                  Farmer, Hamilton. Mr. Farrer, who is the third son of the Rev. M. J. Farrer, of Ingleborough, Yorkshire, was born in London in 1852. He was educated at Eton and at Brazenose College, Oxford, and was called to the bar. Mr. Farrer, farmed for about twelve years in the Old Land, and came out to New Zealand in 1892, when he settled at Claudelands, Hamilton, where he holds 260 acres. Mr. Farrer was married, in 1883, to a daughter of Mr. R. C. Hanbury, at one time M.P. for Middlesex, England, and has five sons and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Lake,
                  Hamilton, the property of Mr. Thomas Walter, is an estate of 725 acres. The lake itself is a pretty sheet of water, and is surrounded by considerable plantations of ornamental trees.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Walter,
                  was born in London in 185 and was educated at Eton College. After following the profession of an engineer for twenty years he came to New Zealand, and, choosing the Waikato as his home, purchased this beautiful estate. Mr. Walter was married, in 1894, to the eldest daughter of Mr. R. B. Gore, of Wellington, and has one daughter.

              

            

            

              
Old Colonists.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Millington Hill,
                  Old Colonist, was born in Herefordshire, England, in 1834. In his early days he had a considerable experience of seafaring life, and landed in Victoria in 1854. After following the diggings in that colony for some years, he came to Otago in 1863. Hill's Creek, in the Mount Ida district, was named after him. By trade Mr. Hill is a butcher, and he established himself as such in Hamilton in 1866, and conducted his business for about thirty years. He was married, in 1866, to a daughter of the late Mr. Fitzpatrick, of Ireland, and has eight daughters and seven sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. G. J. Mann,
                  Old Colonist, is a native of Peterborough, England, and arrived in Melbourne in 1860 by the Black Ball liner, “Eagle.” After experiencing many phases of Australian life, he came to Auckland in 1863, when he found the Waikato war in full operation, was enrolled in the militia, and sent to the front. He served in several engagements under General Cameron, and after two years' active service was appointed commissariat-issuer to the troops at the Miranda Redoubt. He received the New Zealand medal. At the conclusion of the war Mr. Mann took up a farm section in Cambridge, which he afterwards sold. After a visit to England in 1891 he bought one of the best farms in Cambridge, which he sold in 1897. His next venture was the Commercial Hotel, Hamilton West, but he has since left that business. Mr. Mann was married in 1864 to Miss Elizabeth Dalton, and has nine children.
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Mr. James Soppet,
                  Old Colonist, was born in Northumberland, England, in 1834, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Caduceus.” He settled at Hamilton in 1884, and became manager of the Ngaruawahia flour mill.

              

              

                
                


                  

Captain William Steele,
                  J. P. and Old Colonist, was a prominent Waikato settler for many years. He was born in Willey, Shropshire, England, in 1831, and came out to Australia in 1847. Two years later he went to California, an shortly afterwards returned to the New South Wales goldfields. He went to Victoria in 1852, and was at the Eaglehawk and other fields. In 1853 he settled at Lucas' Creek, twelve miles from Auckland, and afterwards removed to Southern Wairoa. For a short time he was on the Otago goldfields but returned to Wairoa at the commencement of hostilities with the Maoris. He became lieutenant of the Wairoa volunteers, and was shortly afterwards commissioned by the Government to visit Sydney to raise men for the Waikato campaign. On returning with his troop, afterwards known as the 4th Waikatos, he settled at Hamilton and held the rank of captain. For many years before his death, on the 20th of September, 1898, Captain Steele had been in business as a land and estate agent. He was married, in 1854, to a daughter of Lieutenant W. Reid, of Lisburn, Ireland. Mrs Steele died in 1887, leaving one son and also one daughter who became Mrs Henry Reynolds. In 1894 Captain Steele was married to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Runciman. Mrs Steele resides near Hamilton on “Linley,” a property of 200 acres, worked as a dairy farm.
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Mr. John McNicol,
                  sometime of Hamilton, was the second son of Mr. Duncan McNicol, of Clevedon, Wairoa. Some years ago he purchased Mr. S. Buckland's auctioneering and stock agenc
[
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business, into which he put an immense amount of energy and had successfully established a wide and valuable connection when his career was cut short in his prime. His death occurred at the Waikato Hospital on the 9th of April, 1893, as the result of a neglected cold. At one time he was in partnership with Mr. William Taylor, of Greenhill, in horse breeding on a large scale at “Lochiel Farm.” Mr. McNicol was a very keen sportsman as well as breeder, and it was mainly through his efforts that the South Auckland Racing Club was established on its existing sound basis. Under the name of “Mr. Malcolm,” he ran his own horses, among which were “Lottie Yattafeldt,” “Gipsy King,” and others, which often carried his colours to the winning post. Mr. McNicol was one of the most popular men in the Waikato, and his untimely end was the cause of deep sorrow to his wide circle of friends and the community as a whole. Generous and open-hearted to a degree, his kind and genial manners gained him the respect and friendship of all with whom he was brought in contact. He was married to a daughter of the late Mr. W. J. Young, of “The Grange,” Otahuhu, and left six children. Since her husband's death, Mrs. McNicol has managed “Lochiel Farm,” which consists of about 900 acres.
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Mr. Charles Tippin,
                  Old Colonist, was born at Watford, Herts, England, in 1846. When he was quite young his parents emigrated to New South Wales and settled in Sydney. In 1864 he enlisted in the 4th Waikato Militia for New Zealand and during the following three years saw a good deal of service. He received the military land grant after the war and turned his hand to bush work, etc., finally going into business as a carrier and carter for some twenty-five years. Since 1893 he has been employed in Pearson's Carbolic Sand Soap Factory, Hamilton East. Mr. Tippin is an old identity of Hamilton, having resided there since 1864, always taking an active interest in the welfare of the place, and was one of the first members of the Hamilton East Town Board. When that body was merged into the borough council in 1881, he was elected to the council, in which he had a seat for over sixteen years. He was also for several years a member of the Kirikiriroa Highway Board, and was on the licensing committee.
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Kirikiriroa.

            

              
              


                

                  
Kirikiriroa
                
                consists of that portion of the borough of Hamilton which lies on the east side of the Waikato river and the surrounding district extending for several miles to the northward. The South Auckland Club and the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Association hold their meetings in Kirikiriroa district at Claudelands, not far from the railway station, which is a flag station, eighty-seven miles south of Auckland, and stands at an elevation of 128 feet above sea level. The local post office at Kirikiriroa is at Mr. W. Dey's store, and there is a creamery in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Kirikiriroa Road District
                
                includes the district on the east side of the Waikato river from Tamahere in the south to Taupiri in the north. The rate is £1/2d in the £, but varies, and yields, at £1/2d, with the Government subsidy, £663 a year. Present members: Mr. John Gordon, chairman, and Messrs M. G. Farrer, John Primrose, T. Paterson, and F. R. Seddon; Captain McPherson, clerk and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Gordon,
                who has been Chairman of the Kirikiriroa Road Board since 1894, and has, during the same period, occupied a seat on the Waikato County Council, on which he represents the Kirikiriroa riding, is the well known manager of Woodlands Estate. He was born in Aberdeen, Scotland, in June, 1846, educated at a private school in Gamire, and was brought up to country pursuits. In 1878 he came to Lyttelton by the ship “Piako,” and was for three years at Oamaru. Four years afterwards he managed a property at Hakataramea, and subsequently managed the Newlands Estate near Timaru for two years. Mr. Gordon was appointed to the management of Woodlands Estate on the 18th of March, 1885. He has been actively connected with the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and has been continuously on the committee. At each yearly show he has had from fifty to sixty entries, and has consequently gained a large number of prizes. Mr. Gordon was married, in 1882, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. Houston, of Busby, Glasgow. This lady died in 1892, leaving two sons. In 1898, Mr. Gordon was married to a daughter of Dr. Elmsly, of Otahuhu.
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Mr. Thomas Paterson,
                who is a Member of the Kirikiriroa Road Board, is referred to in another article as a member of the Ngaruawahia Town Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. J. Primrose,
                who is a Member of the Kirikiriroa Road Board, is a son of Mr. Andrew Primrose, a prominent settler in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederick Richard Seddon,
                who has been a Member of the Kirikiriroa Road Board since 1898, was born at Howick in 1869. He was brought up to agriculture by his father in the Waikato, and has managed his father's farm since 1890.

            

            

              
              

                

Hay, James Cameron,
               
 Baker and Confectioner, Kirikiriroa. This business was established in 1897. The premises include a shop, a dwellinghouse, and stable, and are centrally situated at Hamilton East. Mr. Hamilton was born in Dumbartonshire, Scotland in 1851. For some time he was employed in railway work, and afterwards served an apprenticeship as a baker in Glasgow. After arriving in Wellington in 1875, by the ship “Cartvale,” he spent a short time in Wanganui. He then removed to Bulls, in the Rangitikei district, where he was farming for a few years, and was afterwards engaged at his trade at Shannon and Turakina. In Bell Block, Taranaki, he was in business as a general storekeeper and baker, but was burnt out after carrying on the business for twelve months. For three years subsequently he was in Waiuku, and settled in Hamilton in 1897. Mr. Hay was married, in 1879, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Fergusson, of
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Halcombe, and has five daughters and four sons.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Kirikiriroa Creamery
                
                (New Zealand Dairy Association, proprietors) is close to the railway station. It contains two 300-gallon Alpha-Laval separators, driven by a portable engine of eight horse power. The creamery, which was started in August, 1900, daily puts through about 1000 gallons of milk, sent in by twenty-eight suppliers, who milk about 300 cows.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James May Jones,
                Manager of the Kirikiriroa Creamery, was born in Monmouth, Wales, England, and came to New Zealand when he was a child. He was employed at Newstead creamery for two years, and became manager of the Hamilton creamery in 1891.

            

            

              
              


                

Davies, John,
                Dairyfarmer, Kirikiriroa. Mr. Davies is one of the earliest settlers in the district. He was born in Birmingham England, in 1843, and came out to Victoria in 1858. Five years later he was gold-mining at Gabriel's Gully in Otago. He joined the 4th Waikato Militia at the time of the Maori disturbances, served about two years, and obtained a military land grant in Kirikiriroa, where he has been settled since 1865. Mr. Davies holds 100 acres of freehold, which he works as a dairy farm. He was married, in 1871, to a daughter of the late Mr.



R. Henry, and sister of Mr. D. Henry, and has two sons and seven daughters.
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Henry, David,
                Farmer, Dryfield Farm, Kirikiriroa. Mr. Henry's property consists of 100 acres of freehold land, which is in an excellent state of cultivation, and is worked as a dairy farm, on which twenty milking cows and a considerable number of young stock are depastured. Mr. Henry was born in 1854, in Glasgow, Scotland, and arrived in New Zealand with his father, the late Mr. Robert Henry, in 1863. Mr. Henry, senior, served with the militia during the Maori disturbances, and received a fifty-acre military grant. He died in 1898 at the age of seventy-nine. Mr. David Henry was married on the 25th of April, 1879, to a daughter of the late Mr. E. O'Neill, of Kirikiriroa, and has five sons and one daughter.
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McInnes, Malcolm,
                General Farmer, Hukanui Road, Kirikiriroa. Mr McInnes farms 250 acres, of which 150 acres are freehold, and he milks about thirty cows during the season. He was born in Inverness-shire, Scotland, in 1846, and having been brought up to agriculture, he was engaged in farming on his own account prior to leaving his native land in 1873. Mr. McInnes arrived in Auckland by the ship “St. Leonards,” and settled in the Waikato. After being for several years at Alexandra he removed to Tauwhare, and settled in the Kirikiriroa district in 1896.
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Mr. John Crosby,
                Old Colonist, was born at Drumgoon, County Cavan, Ireland, in 1825. He enlisted in the 99th Regiment stationed at Hobart, Tasmania, where he served for over seven years. Having volunteered for the 65th Regiment, Mr. Crosby came to New Zealand and served in Wellington, Taranaki, and Auckland, taking his discharge at the latter place as sergeant. He received a grant of eighty acres for his military services, and has long been settled at Mount Pleasant, Kirikiriroa, where he has about 140 acres of freehold land.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edward Gyles Hobbs,
                Old Colonist, is the second son of the late Rev. John Hobbs, one of the first Wesleyan ministers to settle in New Zealand. He was born in 1839 near Hokianga Heads, and was educated in Auckland. For some time Mr. Hobbs was in the soft goods trade in Whangarei, and then became a settler in the Pokeno district, where he remained for twenty-six years. In 1892 he removed to Hamilton, Waikato, and has settled on a fine section of fourteen acres on the east side of the river near Kirikiriroa railway station. Mr. Hobbs was for some time a member of the Pokeno Road Board, and acted as honorary secretary for some years.
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Marshmeadows.

            

              
              


                

                  
Marshmeadows
                
                is a flourishing farming district which takes its name form the well known estate formerly owned by the late Captain J. Runciman. Originally the land was very marshy—hence its name—and was thickly covered with flax and heavy ti-tree. As a result of draining and cultivation, smiling homesteads now greet the traveller. The district is bordered by the famous Piako swamp, which extends for many miles.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Marshmeadows Public School
                
                was established in 1890. It contains one class room and a porch, and has accommodation for forty-five children. There are sixty-three names on the roll, and the average attendance is forty-six. Twenty acres of land are attached to the school premises, and ornamental trees have been planted on the property. On Jubilee Day, 1897, a row of oak trees, half a mile long, was planted by the children.

            

            

              
              


                

Miss Margaret Jane Allely,
                who holds an E1 certificate, is in charge of Marshmeadows school. She was born in County Monaghan, Ireland, came to Auckland by the ship “Queen of Nations,” in 1879, was trained as a teacher in the colony, and has had charge at the Marshmeadows school since 1892.
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Hukanui.

            

              
              


                

                  
Hukanui
                
                is a settlement close to the Woodlands Estate, and about eight miles from Hamilton and eight from Taupiri. It is really a Maori settlement, but a number of the employees on Woodlands Estate have their homes in the district, and there are a few other settlers. There are about 100 Maoris resident at Hukanui, which has a public hall and a Government school.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Hukanui Public School
                
                dates from October, 1891. The building contains two class rooms and has accommodation for fifty pupils. There are thirty-seven names on the roll, and the average attendance is thirty-five.

            

            

              
              


                

Mrs Magdalen Laura Russell,
                who holds an E2 certificate, has been in charge of the school since its establishment. She was born at Hautapu, near Cambridge, served her pupil-teachership at the Cambridge and Hamilton East schools, and was assistant at Cambridge West school for two years prior to her appointment to Hukanui.
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Newstead.

            

              
              


                

                  
Newstead
                
                is a dairy farming and pastoral district, six miles from Hamilton, in the county of Waikato, and ninety miles from Auckland by rail. It has a butter factory and post office. The nearest telegraph office is at Hamilton, which is six miles off.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Newstead Station Creamery
                
                (New Zealand Dairy Association, proprietors) was established in 1900. An eight horse power portable engine by Clayton and Shuttleworth drives the plant, which consists of an Alexandra separator of 300 gallons' capacity. During the first season there were about ten suppliers, who sent the produce of 350 cows daily to the creamery.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Runciman,
                Manager of the Newstead Station Creamery, was born at Papatoitoi in 1871. He is the son of Mr. Robert Runciman, of Papatoitoi, and settled in the Waikato in 1891. Mr. Runciman was working at the Pukerimu creamery from 1892 to 1900, when he took the management of the Newstead station creamery.

            

            

              
              


                

Levis, Richard John,
                Farmer, Newstead. Mr. Levis was born in County Cork, Ireland, in 1852, and was brought up to country life. He arrived in Auckland in 1876 by the ship “Brodrick Castle,” and after a few months at Waiuku, removed to the Waikato, where he entered the service of the late Captain J. Runciman, in whose employment he continued for six years. At Newstead Mr. Levis has a property of over 153 acres, on which he settled in 1884. He has served as a member of the Marshmeadows school committee. Mr. Levis was married, in 1883, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Taylor, of County Tyrone, Ireland, and has four sons and five daughters.

            

            

              
              


                
Newstead Station,
                the property of Mr. Henry Reynolds, is situated partly in Kirikiriroa and partly in the Tamahere district, and contains 1600 acres of freehold land. About 400 cows are in milk during the season, and the Newstead Creamery, established in 1830, contains an Alpha and an Alexandra separator, each of 200 gallons capacity. About 1000 gallons of milk are treated daily.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Edward Clark,
                Manager of Newstead Station, was born at Cambridge, Waikato, in 1867. He was educated at Cambridge and at Onehunga, and served an apprenticeship of five years to the cabinet making trade with the late Mr. J. T. Garlich in Auckland. At the close of his apprenticeship he removed to the Waikato, and two years later went to Hawke's Bay. After gaining experience for some years in agricultural and pastoral matters in that district, he was appointed manager of Newstead Station early in 1899. Mr. Clark was married in February, 1899, to a daughter of Mr. Joseph Gane, of Pukerimu.
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Mr. Robert Kay,
                Manager of Newstead Homestead Creamery, was born in Whangarei, in 1876. He was educated chiefly at Paterangi, where he was brought up to farming. In 1894 he found employment at the Paterangi Creamery, and a year later became manager of the Waihou Creamery. For two years subsequently he had charge of a creamery at Pirongia, and has occupied his present position since 1898.
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                  “Woodside”
                
                is a pastoral property owned by the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, in the Newstead district, county of Waikato. It carries between 2000 and 3000 sheep, and is managed by Mr. J. J. Graham.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. John James Graham,
               
 Manager, Woodside Estate, Newstead, is a native of County Tyrone, Ireland, where he was born in 1850, and arrived in New Zealand, per ship “Andrew Jackson,” in 1865, with his parents, who took up a farm at Mangatete. On this farm he remained for a period of eleven years, and acquired a thorough knowledge of stock, etc. During the next three years he carried on ploughing contracts in various districts of the Waikato, and finally purchased a
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farm of about 200 acres in the Paterangi district, where he resided for seven years. In 1886, he was appointed manager of the Woodside estate, by the Bank of New Zealand. He has always taken considerable interest in local matters of every kind, and has been an energetic member of various local bodies. Mr. Graham is married to a daughter of Mr. Finlayson, an old Waipu settler, and has three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Captain James Runciman,
                sometime of “Marshmeadows,” Newstead, near Hamilton, was born in the south of Scotland in 1829, and came with his parents to New Zealand by the ship “Nimrod,” in 1839, when the family settled in the Whangarei district. In 1845, however, they were driven out by the Maoris, and Mr. Runciman, senior, then took up a run of 2000 acres at Drury. Here the subject of this notice continued with his father until the Waikato war broke out, when he joined Colonel Nixon's Light Horse and went all through the Waikato campaign, at the close of which he retired with the rank of captain. During his residence in the district, Captain Runciman took an active interest in local politics. He was a member of the Waikato County Council for six years, chairman of the Tamahere Road Board for nineteen years, and was a firm advocate for the introduction of sugar beet, with great faith in that product as an industry in New Zealand. Captain Runciman was married, and had two sons and three daughters.
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Tamahere.

            

              
              


                

                  
Tamahere
                
                is on the main road from Hamilton to Cambridge, at the junction of the road leading on the one hand from Tauwhare and the railway station, and on the other to the Narrows Bridge. It is a flourishing farming settlement, and there is a creamery belonging to the New Zealand Dairy Association situated close to the railway station—a flag station on the Ruakura Junction-Cambridge branch, distant ninety-four miles from Auckland, and standing at an elevation of 172 feet above sea level. The local governing body is a road board, and the district is within the Waikato County.

            

            

              
              


                
Tamahere Road Board.
                The district includes the greater portion of the parish of Tamahere, and a small part is in the Cambridge road district. A rate of £3/4d in the £ is levied, and the revenue from rates and subsidies is about £275. Present members: Mr. Aston T. F. Wheeler, chairman, and Messrs A. Furze, A. Ramsay, J. Barugh, and E. Rhodes, with Captain McPherson as clerk and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Aston Thomas Foxhall Wheeler,
                Chairman of the Tamahere Road Board, was born in 1846, at Broom Park, near Cleobury, Mortimer, Shrophsire, England. He is a son of Mr. George Wheeler, of Eardington, Shropshire, who died in 1891. Mr. Wheeler was brought up to farming, and came in 1866 to Queensland, where he was for some years a grazier, but owing to Mrs Wheeler's health, he removed to Auckland in 1879. After being a year at Onehunga, he settled at Tamahere. Mr. Wheeler has for fully twenty years been connected with the local road board, of which he has been chairman for several years. He is a lay reader at the local Anglican church, and people's warden; also a member of the Waikato County Council and of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and chairman of the Tamahere branch of the Waikato Farmers' Club, and of the local school committee. Mr. Wheeler's farm at Tamahere is named “Eardington” and contains 130 acres. He was married, in 1879, to a daughter of Mr. R. E. Livingstone, of Lanarkshire, Scotland.
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Mr. Joseph Barugh,
                noticed in another article in connection with Wartle Farm, is a member of the Tamahere Road Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Furze,
                noticed in another article as a member of the Waikato County Council, is a member of the Tamahere Road Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Andrew Ramsay,
                who has served on the Tamahere Road Board since 1898, was born in County Donegal, Ireland, in 1842, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Nimrod” in 1863. He was engaged in farming at Rangiaohia for about twenty years, but removed in 1892 to Tamahere, where he has a farm, and is proprietor of the local accommodation house.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edward Rhodes,
                who has been a Member of the Tamahere Road Board since 1880, was born in Sheffield, Yorkshire, England, in 1830. He came out to Victoria in 1852, and had three years' experience at the diggings. In 1855 he arrived in Auckland, found employment in survey and bush work at Drury, and was afterwards a road contractor and made a portion of the first road to Mercer. Mr. Rhodes became a settler at Pokeno, and was compelled to leave his farm in 1862 on account of the Maori disturbances. He then leased some land and engaged in storekeeping at Drury for about five years, when he returned to his farm at Pokeno. In 1880 he sold out his property and settled in the Tamahere district, where he has a property named “Wentworth, and 230 acres in extent. Mr. Rhodes was married, in 1859, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Runciman, who is said to have been the first settler to cross Slippery Creek, and has three sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tamahere Post And Telegraph Office
                
                is centrally situated on the Hamilton-Cambridge Road. It is connected by telephone with Hamilton, and a daily mail is received and despatched. The building used is a cottage of four rooms, and the public office is in one corner.

            

            

              
              


                

Mrs Priscilla McChesney,
                Postmistress and Telephonist at Tamahere, was born near Bristol, England. Mrs McChesney, who has been twice married and is a widow, arrived in Auckland, in 1881, by the ship “Lady Jocelyn.”

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tamahere Public School
                
                contains a large class room and two porches, and has accommodation for sixty children. There are fifty pupils on the roll, and the average attendance is forty. A good playground surrounds the school, and there is a covered shelter shed. The master in charge is assisted by a pupil teacher.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. James Harvey Johnston
                
                has been in charge of the Tamahere School since May, 1900. He was born at Larne, in the north of Ireland, in 1869, arrived in Auckland at an early age with his parents, and was brought up as a teacher.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tamahere Creamery
                
                (New Zealand Dairy Association, proprietors) was erected in 1900, and is close to the Tamahere railway station. It is built of wood and iron, with a concrete floor, and contains a six horse power portable steam engine, which drives two Alexandra separators.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Smeaton Blackmore,
                Manager of the Tamahere Creamery, is the eldest son of Mr. J. C. Blackmore, Government Pomologist, Christchurch, and was born at Whangarei in 1869. He was for some time engaged in the grocery business, and afterwards became a compositor at Gisborne. In 1887 he settled in the Waikato, and became a dairy farmer. Subsequently he had charge of the Newstead Creamery for two years, and was afterwards for three years at the Pukekura Creamery, and for one year manager of the Grey Valley Butter Factory, one year first assistant at the Ballance Dairy Factory, Wellington, and was for two years in charge of the butter department of Messrs Murray and Co.'s Factory at Whangarei. He accepted his present appointment in 1900. Mr. Blackmore has a farm of 141 acres in the Tamahere district, where he milks about twenty cows, besides attending to the creamery. He was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. W. Baker, of Newstead, and has two daughters and one son.
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Tamahere Butter Factory,
                the property of Mr. Cornelius Day, is situated on the Cambridge-Hamilton Road, near the junction of the cross roads. The machinery consists of a three-and-a-half horse-power stationary engine, which drives an Alpha-Laval separator. There is a complete butter-making plant, and the produce of the factory finds a ready sale in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Care, George,
                General Storekeeper, Tamahere. The premises occupied by Mr. Care were erected in 1898, and consist of a two storey building, containing a shop and dwellinghouse, in which accommodation is provided for the travelling public. Mr. Care was born in 1842, in Kent, England, and was brought up to farming. He arrived in Auckland in 1874, and found employment for some time in road work at Mahurangi. Since 1875 Mr. Care has been a settler in the Waikato. He was married, in 1871, to a daughter of Mr. H. Rogers, of Hautapu, and has two sons and six daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Barugh, Joseph,
                Farmer, “Wartle Farm,” Tamahere. Mr. Barugh is a native of Yorkshire, England, and was born in 1857. He left the Old Country per ship “Paeroa” and arrived in New Zealand in 1880. Mr. Barugh, after looking round the various farming districts in the North Island, decided to settle in the Waikato, and purchased his present property of 950 acres in 1881. This is now one of the best farms in the district with fine stud flocks of Lincoln and Romney sheep, which have been very successfully exhibited at the various agricultural and pastoral shows. Mr. Barugh takes a prominent part in all agricultural and local matters.

            

            

              
              


                

Day, Albert William,
                Farmer, Tamahere. Mr. Day formerly farmed about 113 acres of arable land, in the Te Awamutu district, but has been farming at Tamahere since 1899. He is third son of the well-known Mr. C. Day, the Jersey cattlebreeder, was born at Razorback in 1879, and educated in the Waikato. He was for a number of years employed on his father's farm. Mr. Day is married to a daughter of a well-known Waikato settler, Mr. James Wells.
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Day, Cornelius,
                Farmer, “Pencarrow,” Tamahere. Mr. Day's farm, which consists of 1000 acres of splendid land, is one of the most admirably cultivated properties in the Waikato. Mr. Day makes a specialty of Jersey cattle, and in 1893 imported two valuable cows of that breed from Mr. Fowler, of Southampton, England, at a



cost of over 230 guineas. With these he has been successful in carrying off several champion and special prizes. There is also a stud flock of Shropshire Down ewes, which have been equally successful as prize-takers. Mr. Day has a very complete creamery on his farm, furnished with a small steam-engine and supplied with the milk of fifty cows daily. The farm products are sent to the Auckland markets; a year's turnover in bacon alone sometimes amounts to over £1000. A fine new and well-ventilated byre has been erected and everything is carried out on scientific methods. Each week the milk is weighed and tested, so that the yield from every cow can be compared. One cow one season gave a total of 1200 gallons of milk. Mr. Day was born in Kent, England, in 1836, and attributes the success of his operations to the sound knowledge of farming he gained at Home. He came to this Colony by the ship “Persia,” landing in Auckland. For some years he was engaged in farming in the Razorback and Whatawhata districts, and purchased “Pencarrow,” his present property, in 1886. He has devoted much of his time to local matters in which he has always been willing to assist, has been chairman of the Cambridge Road Board for many years, and generally connected with the school and various other committees. He is a well-known and much respected settler. Mr. Day is an excellent authority on stock and was chosen judge of Jersey cattle at the Hawera and Christchurch Shows in 1897.
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Ewen, Charles,
                Settler, “Claremont,” Tamahere. This old colonist, who has resided in the district for over twenty-eight years, was born in Cambridgeshire, England, where he received his education and agricultural training. He came to this Colony in 1853 per ship “Agra,” and was farming for ten years in Otahuhu; he then removed to Panmure, and after spending another ten years there, decided to settle in the Waikato, where he purchased Claremont farm in 1873. Mr. Ewen has a nice compact place of 300 acres, all under cultivation. He married a sister of Mr. Charles Lewis, of Remuera, and has seven sons and one daughter; two of his sons assist him on the farm.
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Furze, Arthur,
                Farmer, Tamahere. Mr. Furze was born at Ipswich in 1857, and was educated at Secford College, subsequently studying law for a few years. Visiting Australia, he filled up a period of about seven years in New South Wales, gaining experience on various stations. In 1886 he crossed over to New Zealand and purchased his farm of “Warawara,” at Tamahere, a property of about 330 acres, on which he carries on general farming operations. Mr. Furze, who was for some time a member of the Waikato County Council, of the Waikato Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and of the Tamahere Road Board, takes a general interest in all local affairs.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Milne And Son
                
                (Alexander Davidson Milne and Joseph Alexander Milne), Farmers, Tamahere. The property held by Messrs Milne and Son consists of 460 acres of freehold, which is all under cultivation, and is worked as an agricultural and sheep farm. Further particulars concerning the members of the firm appear on page 1056 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.

            

            

              
              


                

Petersen, Rasmus,
                Sheep and Cattle Farmer, “Rooholt,” Tamahere. Mr. Petersen's property, which is nearly 800 acres in extent, carries about 700 sheep and fifty head of cattle. Mr. Petersen was born in 1850 at Rooholt, Denmark, where he was educated and brought up to farming by his father. He came to Hawke's Bay in 1876 by the ship “Fritzreuter,” and two years later removed to Stratford, in Taranaki, where he was engaged in farming for about twenty years. In March, 1898, he sold his interest at Stratford, and settled in the Tamahere district. Mr. Petersen became a Freemason in Stratford, but is unattached in the Waikato. He was married, in 1877, to a daughter of Mr. J. Cook, of Sydney.
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Way, George,
                Farmer, “The Narrows,” Tamahere. Mr. Way was born in the Isle of Wight in 1859, and was educated in London. He arrived in Auckland in 1879 by the ship “Ironsides,” and settled in the Waikato. After eighteen months in the Te Awamutu district he bought property at Tamahere, where he has 350 acres. Mr. Way was married, in 1890, to a daughter of the elate Mr. J. J. Barugh, and has one son and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Joseph Johnson Barugh,
                Old Colonist, came of an old farming family, and was born at Brachen, Yorkshire, England, in 1818. He and his brothers were the first Yorkshire farmers to introduce steam threshing machinery, and he made the first straw elevator in England; he also introduced the first reaping machine into the district, and originated the seven course system of cropping, which proved a great success, crops of all kinds being much better than under the old four course system. Mr. Barugh made chemistry a special study, and was one of the first men, if not the first man, in England to make superphosphate, and manufactured this fertiliser, now considered indispensable, before there was a factory in England. He was well read on almost all subjects, and was looked upon as a kind of walking cyclopedia by his fellow Yorkshire farmers. Mr. Barugh



took a leading part in the original volunteer movement in England, and remained an officer almost up to the time of his leaving for New Zealand. In 1880, on his arrival in the colony, he took up land in the Waikato, and farmed it in the most scientific style. He became a member of the local governing bodies; his politics were Liberal, and he was frequently requested to put up for election as member for the district. Mr. Barugh died at the age of seventy-eight, a much missed and universally respected man.
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Mr. Henry Reynolds,
                Old Colonist, who is well known in the Waikato district, is generally regarded as one who has done a great deal more than his share towards advancing the farming interest. It was mainly owing to Mr. Reynolds' energy and perseverance that the numerous creameries and dairy factories were established in so many localities. Whilst manager of the celebrated “Piako Swamp” estate, he established the first creamery at Tamahere. Mr. Reynolds was then twenty-five years of age, and managed an estate of 90,000 acres, which was by no means a light undertaking for so young a man. On resigning that position, he turned his attention to dairying on a large scale and established a factory on his own account. This venture proved highly successful, and was quickly followed by factories in various parts of the district. The settlers were not slow to take advantage of the enterprise displayed by Mr. Reynolds, and entered heartily into the new industry. Having seen the scheme placed fairly on its feet in the Colony, Mr. Reynolds went to London, where he opened his cool storage depôt, and for the next ten years passed about six months of each year in the Old Country superintending the disposal of factory produce as it arrived from the Colony. In 1896, whilst in England, he was approached by the directors of “The Dairy Association of New Zealand” (Messrs. Lovell and Christmas, of London) with a view to taking over the business, an idea which was at once acted upon and the transfer of interests was made. Since that date, Mr. Reynolds has been engaged in furthering the development of mining properties in the Hauraki Peninsula, with which he is largely concerned. Mr. Reynolds is a native of Cornwall, where he was born in 1850, and received his education. He came to the Colony with his father, the late Mr. William Reynolds, in 1868, per ship “Maori.” His father was one of the first of the settlers who resumed possession of their lands after the Maori war. Mr. Reynolds is married to a daughter of Captain Steele, a well known Waikato colonist and has two children.
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Tauwhare.

            

              
              


                

                  
Tauwhare
                
                is the name of a district in the Waikato. It is reached by coach from Tamahere railway station, ninety-eight miles from Auckland, and has a scattered population.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Tauwhare Public School
                
                is conducted in a wooden building with a class room and a porch, and has accommodation for forty pupils. There are twenty-two names on the roll, and the average attendance is eighteen.

            

            

              
              


                

Miss Agnes Graham Kerr,
                who holds an E5 certificate, is the teacher in charge of the Tauwhare public school. She was born in Whangarei, where she was educated and passed her examination. Miss Kerr was appointed to her present position in 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tauwhare Cheese Factory
                
                was established by Mr. H. Reynolds, the well-known promoter of this industry in the Waikato. The process of cheddar cheese-making is a simple one. After receipt of the milk it is weighed and rennet added in the vats to make it coagulate, then it is heated to ninety-eight degrees until it becomes curd. In the curd stage (after the whey is drained off) it is transferred to wooden racks, where it is stirred till all the whey is extracted, after which it is allowed to cool into blocks, this process being the “cheddarising.” After cooling for a couple of hours, it is run through the curd-cutting mill. The cheese is next aerated to the extent required, then salt is added and the blocks placed in wooden hoops and pressed. It is then stored in the cool chamber for about six weeks, when it is considered matured. The New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, Limited, owns and works the Tauwhare Cheese Factory.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Alexander Beange,
               
 Manager of the Tauwhare Cheese Factory, was born at Mosgiel, Otago, in 1867, and educated at Wyndham, where he was brought up to farming. He has been connected with the dairy industry since 1890, when he gained his first experience at Wyndham Dairy Factory, and acted as assistant for four seasons. Then he removed to the Stratford Dairy Factory, Taranaki, and there he held the position of butter and cheese maker for two seasons. He was appointed to his present position at
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Tauwhare on the 1st of January, 1898. Mr. Beange was married, in 1891, to a daughter of Mr. D. Murphy, of Ireland, and has three sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alexander Milne,
                formerly Manager of the Tauwhare Cheese Factory, was born in Otago in 1873, and gained his experience at the Wyndham and Oamaru cheese factories. He attended the Government dairy schools at Edendale and Stratford in order to gain further experience. Mr. Milne was afterwards for a number of years manager of the Tauwhare Cheese Factory.
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Hobbs, John Close,
                Apiarist, Tauwhare. About fifteen years ago Mr. A. E. Hobbs began bee-keeping in quite a small way at Tamahere, but the industry has increased so steadily that there are now more orders than the present proprietor can supply. Mr. Hobbs adopts the best American methods for extracting honey, which is principally exported to London, an average of five tons being the annual output and realising about £40 per ton. Italian queen bees are both imported and reared. After the honey is taken from the comb, it is packed in 56-lb. tins, two tins to the case, for export. For family use there are 2-lb. tins with attractive labels and sold in the Auckland market. Bee-farming pays better in some districts than others, but the situation of the Tauwhare apiary is one of the best that could be found in Waikato for clover honey. Mr. Hobbs' apiary shows every evidence of skill and knowledge.
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Tickelpenny, Samuel,
                Farmer, Tauwhare. Mr. Tickelpenny was born at Keddington, near Louth, in England, in 1829, and was brought up to country life. In 1854 he arrived in Auckland by the barque “Ashmore,” but spent about four years in the Nelson district, and was afterwards farming in Otago. At the time of the native disturbances he served in the Waikato Militia, and, as a corporal, received a sixty-acre grant. In 1871 he settled in the Waikato, and, after being about six years at Claudelands, Hamilton, he removed to Morrinsville, where he was engaged in farming for twelve years. It was in 1885 that Mr. Tickelpenny settled in Tauwhare, where he holds 250 acres, which he works as a dairy farm. He was married, in 1859, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Hughes, of Otago, and has six sons and six daughters.
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Fencourt
                
                takes its name from a fine estate which for a number of years has been administered by the Assets Company. It has recently been subdivided into a number of farms, many of which have been sold, and the population of the district has thus been increased by the advent of new settlers. The flag station bearing the same name is on the Cambridge-Ruakura Junction branch railway, distant ninety-seven miles from Auckland, and 197 feet above sea level. The borough of Cambridge is four miles from Fencourt.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Fencourt Homestead
                
                (Miss Amy L. Gibbons, proprietress) was originally the centre of the large property of Fencourt, which has recently been subdivided for closer settlement. The house is surrounded by some fine orchards, and the estate is utilised for sheep-farming.

            

            

              
              


                

Miss Amy L. Gibbons,
                Proprietress, was born in Nelson, and educated in Gisborne and at Napier College. She is sister of Mrs John Thorpe, of Paeroa, and was for some years a teacher by profession, and acquired the Fencourt Homestead, with 495 acres, in 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Gibbons,
                Manager of Fencourt Homestead, was born at Napier in 1879, and was educated in Sydney. Having studied at Sydney Agricultural College for four years, he returned to New Zealand, and took up his present position.
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Hautapu
                
                is a postal district in the county of Waikato, seven miles from Hamilton and the same distance from Cambridge, on an excellent road. The land in the neighbourhood is of superior quality, and there are many flourishing farms. There is a public school, a daily mail, and a telephone service, a flag railway station, and a bacon and cheese factory. Hautapu is ninety-eight miles from Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Cambridge Dairy Association
                
                (James Hally and George Watt, proprietors), Hautapu railway station, Hautapu. This business was established in 1885 by a local company, and the present proprietors bought it in 1889. The buildings, which are of wood and iron, are erected on freehold property close to the railway station. There are concrete floors throughout, and there are two cool chambers, each 18 feet by 20 feet. The factory has a first rate refrigerating plant, and butter and cheese are made, and bacon is cured and smoked in separate departments. There are two Alpha-Laval separators, each with a capacity of 440 gallons, and of the large quantity of milk passed through daily, half is made into cheese and the rest into butter. The motive power is a six horse nominal Tangye engine. A great deal of bacon is made at the factory, and about 5000 pigs are killed annually. An eight-roomed house for the resident partner stands close to the factory.
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Mr. George Watt,
                Managing Partner of the Cambridge Dairy Association, was born in Aberdeenshire, Scotland, in 1845. He came out to Lyttelton by the ship “Blue Jacket” in 1866, and after living about four years in Canterbury, settled in Cambridge, where he has since been engaged in farming on his own account. Mr. Watt owns two freehold properties, one of 200 acres and the other of 150 acres, in the district. He was married,



in 1873, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. McCandlish, of Oxford, Canterbury, and has five sons and six daughters.
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Mr. Alfred Harold East,
                Manager of the Butter Department at the Cambridge Dairy Association's Factory, and formerly manager of the Te Aroha West Creamery, was appointed to his present position in 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

Cowling, Samuel,
                Farmer, “Bearhook,” Hautapu. Mr. Cowling was born in Cornwall, England, where he was educated and brought up as a farmer. He went out to America in 1870, and after eight years of farming experience there came to Lyttelton by the ship “Hereford,” in 1880. Mr. Cowling removed to the North Island, and settled at Hautapu, where he carries on mixed farming on his property of 200 acres. He has served as a member of the Hautapu Drainage Board and of the Hautapu school committee, and holds office as church steward in the Wesleyan Church. Mr. Cowling was married, in 1869, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Kingdon, and has three daughters and two sons.
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Gane, Alfred William,
                Farmer, Hautapu. Mr. Gane was born at Otahuhu in 1865, received his education at the Auckland Grammar School, and afterwards learned farming with his father at Pukerimu. He leased his farm of 520 acres in 1889, and now has it all fenced, sub-divided, and down in grass. He fattens a number of cattle for the Auckland market, besides dealing considerably in stock. Mr. Gane takes an active interest in local matters, and was a member of the Waikato County Council for some time, and of the Waikato Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He married a daughter of Mr. G. Clark, of Cambridge.
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Main, Alfred,
                Farmer, Hautapu. Mr. Main was born near Ely, Cambridgeshire, England, in 1863, and received his education at a private school. After some experiences in farming he came to New Zealand in 1880 with his parents, and for some time assisted his father, who purchased a farm in the Hamilton district. Thirteen years ago, Mr. Main purchased his present farm, Te Whanaki, consisting of 500 acres all under cultivation. Mr. Main is a breeder of pure-bred Lincoln sheep and draught horses.

            

            

              
              


                

Main, Ambrose,
                Senior, Farmer, Hautapu. Mr. Main was born in England in 1828 and was trained on his father's farm in Huntingdonshire, and after farming in Cambridge and Lincoln counties for twenty years he left his native land for New Zealand in 1880. On arrival in Auckland, after a look round, he decided to settle in the Waikato, and purchased his present farm, which consists of 500 acres, all under cultivation and well stocked, chiefly with cross-bred sheep.
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May, John,
                Farmer, Hautapu. Mr. May was born in 1844 in Auckland, educated at St. John's College, brought up to country life in the neighbourhood of Auckland, and was farming on his own account for about twenty years at Waiuku. After residing for a few months at Mount Albert, near Auckland, he settled in Cambridge, and now resides on 300 acres of freehold land known as “Springwood,” Hautapu. Mr. May is a member of the Waikato Farmers' Club, of the Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and has been a member of the Cambridge Road Board since 1899. He was married, in 1881, to a daughter of Mr. R. Bent, of Remuera, previously of Waiuku. Mrs May died in 1882, leaving one son. In 1893 Mr. May was married to a daughter of the late Mr. F. Hosking, of Cornwall, England, and has two daughters by this union.

            

            

              
              


                

Pickering, Martin Herbert.
                Farmer, “Fermando,” Hautapu. Mr. Pickering's farm consists of 250 acres of rich land, all fenced, drained, sub-divided, and laid down in grass. He owns a stud flock of Lincolns, and has a fine lot of horses and cattle. Mr. Pickering, who is a native of Yorkshire, England, was born in 1859, and was educated and gained his farming experience in that county. He came to this Colony in 1879, purchasing his present property very soon after his arrival. Mr. Pickering has been a member of the Cambridge Road Board and Tamahere School Committee for many years. He married a daughter of the late Mr. Barugh, and has one son and five daughters.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Selby, William,
                Farmer, “The Poplars,” Hautapu. Mr. Selby was born in 1829 in London, was educated in Kent, and brought up to a commercial life. He first came to Auckland in 1853 by the ship “Joseph Fletcher,” but returned to England in the following year, and came back again in 1855 by the same vessel. Mr. Selby took up 400 acres of land at Pokeno, where he resided till warned by General Cameron in 1863 to leave his home. On the very day on which Mr. Selby with his family left for safety, an escort was attacked and seven soldiers were killed by the Maoris, but fortunately for himself, he with his wife and family of four drove out of the escort, not more than fifteen minutes before the attack. For several years Mr. Selby resided in Auckland, and in 1870 removed to Cambridge as manager of the store of the late Mr. L. Bucholz. Two years later, the business being sold, Mr. Selby commenced farming at Hautapu, where he has 200 acres of land known as “The Poplars.” In the early days Mr. Selby was one of the promoters of the local Church of England, in connection with which he acted as a vestryman, and was chairman of the Cambridge Road Board for several years. He was married, in 1855, to a daughter of the late Mr. S. Selby, of Stoughton, near Leicester, England, and has had six sons and six daughters, of whom three sons and five daughters are living.
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Mr. William Russell
                
                is an Old Colonist, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Ganges” in 1863. He was born in Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1835, and was brought up to agriculture. For three years after his arrival he served in the Militia and received a fifty-acre grant on the Cambridge-Hamilton Road. He was married, in 1870, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Sharp, of Waikomite, and has four sons and three daughters.
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Cambridge
                
                is on the Waikato river at its navigable termination. It is one of the most picturesquely situated country towns in New Zealand, with wide, clean, well-formed streets, and well cultivated lands around it. There is an extensive stretch of agricultural country of the best quality in the district, and the farms and runs exhibit every evidence of substantial success. Cambridge is 101 miles from Auckland by rail. It saw some exciting times during the Waikato war, when it was an important military outpost. The town is the natural centre for the fertile districts of Hautapu and Tamahere and Fencourt, on the one hand, and Karapiro and Taotaoroa, on the other, and also for Pukerimu and Pukekura. It stands on an elevated plateau lying between the Waikato river, Lake Te Koutou, and the Karapiro stream, and medical men frequently recommend their patients to visit the town on account of its dry and bracing climate. The natural drainage is perfect, and the roads, being metalled with fine gravel, are never muddy. In the early days of settlement Cambridge was the terminus of the river steamers, which plied regularly to and from the township of Mercer, then known as Point Russell. According to the census of April, 1901, the population of the borough was 988. The local industries include a flourmill, a brewery, and a cheese factory.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Borough Of Cambridge
                
                has a population of about 1000, with 250 ratepayers. There are 688 ratable properties, on which a general rate of one shilling is levied, the ratable value of property being set down at about £7200. The total revenue of the council is about £600, £30 of which is derived from the rental of two saleyards owned by the Corporation and situated within the borough. The ratepayers have authorised a loan of £6000 for the purpose of bringing in a water supply, which is to be obtained from the Maungakawa Range, about five miles distant from the borough. It is expected that the borough will be lighted by acetylene gas, unless advantage is taken of some of the water power in the district for the generation of electric light. The Borough Council offices, in Victoria and Lake Streets, opposite the Jubilee Gardens, were destroyed by fire on the 23rd of July, 1900, and the new office is situated near the Post Office in Victoria Street. The town has a fine public hall, owned by the Borough Council, which controls the cemetery, which contains an area of twenty acres, at Hautapu. The members of the Council for 1901 were: Mr. W. F. Buckland, mayor, and Messrs C. W. Arnold, C. Boyce, R. Davies, J. Ferguson, W. Escott, C. Roberts, G. E. Clark, T. Wells, and J. R. S. Richardson.

            

            

              
              


                
His Worship The Mayor,
Mr. W. F. Buckland,
                is a solicitor by profession. He has for many years taken an exceptionally active and intelligent interest in public affairs, and represented Franklin North in 1884–87, and Manukau in the Parliament of 1890–93. The 1892 session of that Parliament was a particularly active one, and Mr. Buckland was one of the most insistent and trenchant critics on the Opposition side of the House. In fact, he made the session memorable in a way quite unusual within the precincts of a serious legislative assembly by introducing, with the full though unwitting cognisance of the Speaker, one of the cleverest and most curious political satires ever published—namely the Washers and Manglers' Bill. By means of this measure, Mr. Buckland, as a party politician, contrived to ridicule the new legislation to which he was opposed, by satirically proposing that “soiled linen of all varieties, articles of apparel, and the various household utilities that are capable of renovation, improvement, and restoration by the application of hot or cold water in conjunction with soap or other like ingredient, accompanied by a violent and continued rubbing between the hands, or in some equivalent artificial piece of machinery,” should be treated only by licensed washer-women and manglers, subject to the authority or supervision of the Minister of Public Works, Minister of Labour, Auditor-General, and an army of inspectors, etc. The jeu d'esprit attracted notice far beyond the colony, and Mr. Buckland's fellow townsmen in Cambridge do not find that he is a bit less practical, enlightened, and energetic as a local administrator, for having played the part of the most satirical wag that ever sat in Parliament.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Charles William Arnold,
                who has been a Member of the Cambridge Borough Council since 1892, was born in Cambridge in 1866. He was brought up to the trade of a butcher by his father, Mr. J. Arnold, and took over the business on his own account in 1891. As an Oddfellow Mr. Arnold is a member of the Loyal Cambridge District Lodge, Manchester Unity, in which he has for some time held the office of treasurer. He is a member of the Cambridge Athletic Club, and was for a number of years its secretary. Mr. Arnold was married, in 1892, to the daughter of the late Mr. Bach, and sister of Mr. A. Bach, formerly a mayor of the borough, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Councillor George Edward Clark,
                a Member of the Cambridge Borough Council, is referred to on another page as one of the business men of Cambridge.

            

            

              
              


                
Councillor 
Richard Davies
               , Member of the Cambridge Borough Council, was born in Shropshire, England, in 1845, and learned the saddlery trade at Munslow. After completing his time, he embarked in business for himself, and had a large saddlery and harness shop in that place for some ten years, when he sold out to come to the Colonies. He arrived in New Zealand per s.s. “British Queen” in 1883 and settled in Cambridge where he worked at his trade as a journeyman. In 1885 he began business on his own account, and has built up a large connection. He gives employment to several hands, carries a large and assorted stock of saddlery, harness, whips, spurs, etc., and



does the leading business in his line in the district. Mr. Davies has been a member of the Cambridge Borough Council since 1893.
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Councillor William Escott,
                who served five years prior to 1898 as a member of the Cambridge Borough Council, and who was again elected in 1901, was born in England. He came out to New Zealand in 1883, and has been in business as a storekeeper in Victoria Street, Cambridge, since 1892.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Ferguson,
                who is a Member of the Cambridge Borough Council, is noticed on another page as a coachbuilder and wheelwright.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor John Ramsay Stewart Richardson,
                who is a Member of the Cambridge Borough Council, was born in Edinburgh, Scotland, in 1846. He was educated at Trinity College, Glen Almond, and engaged in mercantile life before coming to the colonies in 1879, when he settled at Cambridge, where he has a farm of 600 acres. Mr. Richardson is captain of one of the local volunteer corps.

            

            

              
              


                

Councillor Thomas Wells,
                J.P., who holds a seat on the Cambridge Borough Council, is referred to in other articles as chairman of the Cambridge Domain Board, and as a merchant.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Hartly,
                Town Clerk and Clerk of the Domain Board, Cambridge, came to this Colony in 1885 and entered into business in Cambridge as a general commission agent. He was appointed to his present position in 1892, and is land valuator for the Government, and a press correspondent. Mr. Hartly is a native of Birmingham where he was brought up and employed in mercantile occupations. He left Home for Australia in 1880 and afterwards came to New Zealand.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Bach,
                formerly Mayor of Cambridge, but now (1901) manager of the Palace Hotel. Rotorua, was born at Munslow, Shropshire, in 1855. He came to New Zealand in 1878, and after residing in Auckland a few weeks went to Cambridge, and was employed in the Criterion Hotel until 1882, when he went to Hamilton and took over the Royal Hotel, carrying it on for four years. Mr. Bach was a member of the Hamilton Borough Council for two years and on the school committee for a like period. In 1886, he returned to Cambridge and took the Criterion Hotel, conducting it until 1889, when he took possession of the National Hotel Mr. Bach was secretary of the Waikato Hunt Club, and was for six years on the school committee. He was a member of the Cambridge Borough Council for many years, and was first elected mayor in November, 1895. Mr. Bach was a member of the Beta Lodge, Hamilton, and worshipful master of Alpha Lodge, N.Z.C., Cambridge. As an Oddfellow of Loyal Duke of Cambridge lodge he is past grand master. Mr. Bach was a member of the Cambridge Athletic Club for many years, and also its secretary and treasurer.

              

                

[image: Mr. A. Bach.]

Mr. 
A. Bach.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Hally,
                who served for about eight years as a Member of the Cambridge Borough Council, and was Mayor of the borough in 1888, is a well known settler in the Waikato. He is a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court, and was admitted in 1887, under Sir George Grey's Act.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Kerr,
                formerly a member of the Cambridge Borough Council, was born at Howick, near Auckland, in 1856, and after leaving school at the age of thirteen years, was employed in agricultural pursuits. In 1874, he moved to the Waikato district and for several years worked as a farmer for Messrs. McLean and Co., of “Fencourt,” after which he took up his residence in Cambridge and for fully thirteen years was employed in driving the coach between Hamilton, Cambridge, and Rotorua for Mr. W. K. Carter. He next became proprietor of the Masonic Hotel, and carried it on successfully three and a half years. In 1894, he took over the “Criterion,” which he afterwards left. Mr. Kerr was a popular landlord.
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Mr. James King Peirce,
               
 who served for three years as a Member of the Cambridge
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Borough Council, was born in Lancashire, England, in 1837, and is a butcher by trade. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Alumbagh” in 1875, and commenced business in his trade at Alexandra, where he resided for three years, and was a member of the Alexandra Road Board and school committee. Mr. Peirce has long been settled in Cambridge, where he has at times worked as a butcher and at other times has been in business in the fancy goods, fruit and confectionery lines. He is a member of the Salvation Army, of which he is a sergeant-major. Mr. Peirce was married, in 1865, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Cowley, of Wardington, near Banbury, Oxfordshire, England, and has two adopted children, one son and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Robertson,
                who served as a Member of the Cambridge Borough Council for some time, was born in 1826 in Stepney, London, and is a baker by trade. In 1852 he arrived in Victoria, and two years later came to Auckland, where he established himself in business in Wakefield Street. In 1857 he went to the Victorian gold diggings, and returned to New Zealand in 1864 to follow the goldfields in Otago. He was afterwards in business in Auckland, and at Coromandel, whence he went in 1880 to Cambridge, where he was in business as a baker till 1899.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. James Young,
                who served for three years as a Member of the Cambridge Borough Council, and was elected a member of the local school committee in 1900, was born in Belfast, Ireland, where he was apprenticed to his trade as blacksmith and wheelwright and arrived in Auckland in 1859 by the ship “Northern Bride.” He commenced business on his own account in 1863, but had to abandon it and serve in the Militia. Soon after the opening of the Thames goldfields in 1867, Mr. Young went there and was for eight years engaged in mining. He then went to Matamata, and was employed for two years on the estate in connection with his trade. In 1877 he removed to Cambridge, and commenced business with a partner under the style of Young and Nixon, and as Mr. Nixon subsequently retired, he has carried on the business for a number of years on his own account.
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The Domain
                
                at Cambridge lies in a deep hollow or depression, with a pretty lake in the centre. The slopes and borders of the lake have been beautifully cultivated and laid out in walks and flower-beds, and planted with fine shrubberies of ornamental trees, and the gardens are amongst the finest of their kind in the colony. They contain a bowling green, a croquet lawn, and an asphalt tennis court. The domain is managed by a Board, partly appointed by the Government, and the members for 1901 were Mr. T. Wells, J.P., chairman, and Messrs E. Hewitt and J. Fisher; and the Mayor of Cambridge and the chairman of the Pukekura Road Board, who are members ex officio.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Wells,
                J.P., Chairman of the Cambridge Domain Board, has always taken a leading part in public affairs. In early life he served in the Royal Navy and came to New Zealand in 1860 in H.M.S. “Harrier,” and served in the naval brigade until the close of the Waikato war. He was one of the storming party at the attack on Raugiriri, where he was wounded. He went back to England in 1865, but the same year returned to the Colony and entered into mercantile pursuits. From 1868 to 1874 he was on the Thames goldfields and largely interested in mining, and later had a timber mill and store at Mercer. Coming to Cambridge in 1878, Mr. Wells erected large and handsome premises, where he has since carried on one of the most extensive businesses in the district. He was one of the originators of the Waikato Horticultural Society and of the Cambridge Chrysanthemum Society, of which he is president. He has for many years been a member of the school committee, a trustee of the public library, and a prominent member of the Waikato Farmers' Club. As member and chairman of the old town board he took a leading part in grading, draining, and planting the principal streets and forming the present broad footpaths. He, however, will be longest remembered in his connection with the domain, of which the citizens are very proud Twenty years ago, it was a wilderness of swamp, briars, and gorse; now it is, in the words of Lord Glasgow, “one of the prettiest domains in the Colony.” Its present condition is mainly due to Mr. Wells' taste ability, and labour, to which fact his colleagues have always borne public witness. Mr. Wells' other special work was the part he took in the erection of the Anglican church. He has rendered invaluable assistance to the vicar and parish for the past twenty years as churchwarden, treasurer, and member of the diocesan synod, and has been also several times a member of the general synod. Mr. Wells has been on the Commission of the Peace since 1880.
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                  The Cambridge Road Board
                
                has jurisdiction over the district embraced in the parish of Hautapu and a small portion of the parish of Tamahere. The rate varies from £1/4d to £3/4d in the £.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Taylor,
                who has for many years been Chairman of the Cambridge Road Board, was born at West Tamaki in 1856, and was educated at St. John's College and at Mr. McRae's High School. He is the second son of the late Mr. W. I. Taylor, was brought up to country pursuits, and after being for a short time in the Bank of New Zealand, he settled in Cambridge in 1875. Mr. Taylor resides on his Cambridge estate, known as “Bardowie,” which consists of 750 acres of freehold. Mr. Taylor also farms a freehold property of 1700 acres, known as “Te Miro,” at the foot of the Maungawaka Hills, and a large leasehold property of 7500 acres at Piako, known as “Te Au-o-Waikato.” He is well known as an extensive breeder of horses, cattle, and sheep. Mr. Taylor is a member of the general committee of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and has taken many prizes for his exhibits. Mr. Taylor served in the volunteers as a member of the Te Awamutu troop. He was married, in 1881, to a daughter of the late Rev. John Whewell, of Auckland, and has two sons and five daughters.

              
No. 3 
Waikato Mounted Rifles was established some years ago, and in 1900 consisted of about eighty members, including officers; namely, Captain J. R. S. Richardson and Lieutenants W. Wallace and C. C. Buckland. Captain Richardson is referred to in another article as a member of the Cambridge Borough Council.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant William Wallace,
                who is the Senior Lieutenant of No. 3 Company, Waikato Mounted Rifles, is a son of Mr. Archibald Wallace, and was born near Otahuhu in 1868. He was brought up to



agriculture on his father's farm, “Glenside,” Pukerimu, which he now works on his own account.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Cambridge Post And Telegraph Office
                
                was established in the early sixties, and the building, which is situated in Victoria Street, has been enlarged from time to time. It includes a postal and operating room, the postmaster's residence of six rooms, and there are thirty private boxes There is a sub-office at Cambridge West.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Jeffries,
                Postmaster at Cambridge, was born in Norfolk, England, in 1848. He came to Nelson in 1863 by the ship “Magnum Bonum,” joined the staff of the post office at Blenheim in 1872, was removed fifteen months later to Waipu where he continued for six years, and was afterwards successively at Port Albert, Kihikihi, Mercer, Helensville, and Kawakawa. Mr. Jeffries was appointed to Cambridge in February, 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Cambridge Railway Station
                
                is the terminus of the Rurakura Junction, Cambridge branch. It has a public vestibule, ticket office, ladies' waiting room, lamp room, luggage room, large public waiting room and offices. There are also goods and engine sheds. The traffic is chiefly in farm produce, and there is only one train in and one train out daily.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Francis Roskruge,
                Stationmaster in charge at Cambridge, was born in Cornwall, England, in 1833. He arrived in Victoria in 1852, and engaged in quartz mining for seven years. After that he returned to England and came out to Otago in 1862 and became a general storekeeper at Tokomairiro. Four years later he was appointed mine manager of the Scandinavian Company at Skippers. He entered the Government service in 1879, at Invercargill, and was successively in charge at Kingston, Otautau and Thornbury, prior to his appointment to Cambridge, in 1894.

            

            

              
              


                
The Cambridge Public School,
                which was established in the sixties has accommodation for 280 pupils, of whom there are 250 on the roll, with an average attendance of 192. The headmaster is assisted by two certificated and two pupil teachers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert Coates Dyer,
                Headmaster of the Cambridge Public School, holds a D1 certificate. He was born in India and was educated at Cheltenham College, England. In 1853 he came to Auckland by the ship “Joseph Fletcher,” and was farming in the Mahurangi district for about seventeen years. In 1880 he entered the service of the Auckland Board of Education, and has been in charge at Cambridge since 1889.

            

            

              
              

                
St. Andrew's Church,
               
 Cambridge. This church is one of the leading features of the picturesque town of Cambridge, Waikato, and also one of the most pleasing of country churches in New Zealand. It is built of kauri timber, is of cruciform shape, and of simple yet elegant design. Although the greater part of the nave has yet to be erected, the church, as it stands at present, has none of the appearance of an unfinished work. The length over all is eighty feet, and the breadth fifty-five feet. The tower and spire together are 107 feet in height, and are well proportioned to each other and to the whole structure. The spire is more than usually graceful. The tower is not a mere ornament, but contains a ring of six steel bells, which are hand-chimed by a guild of ringers on Sunday's and other holy days. The tenor bell is four feet in diameter. The church was built during the administration of the present vicar, Ven. Archdeacon Willis, and the foundation stone laid in January, 1881, by his Excellency, Sir Arthur Gordon, then Governor of the Colony. The consecration ceremony took place in August of the same year, the townspeople closing their shops and observing the day throughout as a holiday. The cost of the work, including land, fencing, bells, and church furniture, was about £3000. The whole of this sum, with the exception of about £200, was subscribed or raised by the people of the district, the burden being widely and fairly distributed, so that the building is truly a people's work. The church is seated only for 300 persons, but is capable of holding
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500. It occupies a well-chosen and one of the best positions in Cambridge, being on the main approach to the town from the north, either by road or rail. The church grounds are laid out with ornamental trees and flower beds, which are always well kept, and the site being in close proximity to the domain, enhances the beauty of its general aspect. On the same block of two and a half acres stands a substantial schoolroom 44 feet by 22 feet, which was the church from 1872 to 1881. The same enclosure contains the vicarage, built in 1878, and picturesquely situated in the midst of trees and shrubs, all planted by the present vicar.

            

            

              
              


                

The Venerable Archdeacon William Newcombe De Laval Willis,
                Vicar of St. Andrew's Cambridge, and Archdeacon of Waikato, is a member of a clerical family, his grandfather, his father, and five uncles all being clergymen of the Church of England. He was born in Limerick, Ireland, in 1846, and was educated by his father. After leaving home he spent two years in London in the service of the Great Northern Railway Company. He came to New Zealand in 1866, and in 1872 began to prepare for ordination. After studying for three years at St. John's College, Auckland, he was ordained by the present primate. Bishop Cowie. His first appointment was that of assistant minister of the parish of the Holy Sepulchre, Auckland, in which he remained for three years. He was appointed first resident minister of the Cambridge parochial district in January, 1878, and was instrumental in building the handsome new church in Cambridge, and also churches at Ohaupo and Tamahere, within the first five years of his residence. He was made Archdeacon of Waikato in 1882.

            

            

              
              


                
Trinity Presbyterian Church,
                Cambridge, was erected in 1877 and the Rev. William Evans became pastor. Under his care the congregation made steady progress until 1896, when he retired from active duty and accepted the position of pastor emeritus. Mr. Evans was succeeded by the Rev. Thomas Scott, M.A., who resigned in 1899 owing to ill-health. Some time ago a larger church was built to meet the requirements of the congregation, which is now (1901) ministered to by the Rev. John Erwin.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. John Erwin,
                B.A., Minister of Trinity Presbyterian Church, Cambridge, was born in Belfast, Ireland. He was educated at Queen's College, Belfast, and at the Royal University of Ireland, where he graduated. Mr. Erwin was ordained in Ireland in 1899, and appointed to his present charge on the 20th of December in the same year.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. W. Evans,
                a retired Presbyterian Minister, was born in 1817, in Pembroke, Wales, and was ordained to the ministry in 1840. He was called to Chester, and was for twenty-five years pastor of City Road Presbyterian Church. For five years he was appointed to officiate at Hoylake, a watering place near Liverpool, where he raised a new church and large congregation. In 1877 he came to Auckland, and was called to the pastorate of Trinity Church, Cambridge, from which he retired in 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Wesleyan Church
                
                in Cambridge stands on a section of three acres of land fronting Queen Street, and Wesleyanism has been represented in the Waikato since the early sixties. There is accommodation in the building for 200 worshippers, and the Sunday School is held in a large vestry behind the church. A gymnasium, erected on the property, has proved very beneficial to the young people. The parsonage, which is an eight roomed building, adjoins the church. The minister in charge at Cambridge conducts services at Pukerimu, Cambridge West, and Ohaupo. There is a small church at Pukerimu and Cambridge West, and the services at Ohaupo are conducted in the Presbyterian Church.
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The Rev. Samuel John Gibson
                
                is the Minister in charge of the Cambridge Circuit, to which he was appointed by the Conference of 1900. He was born at Woollongong, New South Wales, in 1859, and was educated there and at Stanmore College, Sydney. After three years' probationery work in New South Wales, he was ordained in 1884, when he went to Fiji as a missionary and spent six years in the Islands. In 1899 he was transferred to Hokitika, and thence to Gisborne and Greytown. From Greytown, where he remained three years, he went, in 1896, to Mangawhare, in the county of Hobson, Auckland, where his circuit covered an area of about thirty-five miles. Mr. Gibson was a leader of the temperance movement in the district, president of the mutual improvement society and editor of the local edition of the “Home Messenger,” a British monthly magazine, which circulates in the north of New Zealand. He is married to a daughter of Mr. W. Brown, of Newcastle, New outh Wales, and has one son and two daughters.
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                  The Salvation Army
                
                has been represented in Cambridge since 1889. The Oddfellows' Hall in Duke Street is used as a barracks, and there is seating accommodation for 200 persons. There are thirty-five soldiers in the Cambridge corps, which is under the control of Ensign Isaac Lomas.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waikato Farmers' Club
                
                was established in 1889 and holds monthly meetings for the discussion of matters of interest to farmers. The Club holds an annual Station Parade and a Root and Produce Show. Its offices are at Cambridge, and Mr. Martin Butler is secretary and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Martin Butler,
                Secretary and Treasurer of the Waikato Agricultural and



Pastoral Association, also of the Waikato Farmers' Club, was born in Somersetshire, England, in 1864, and after receiving a good education, entered the service of a large mercantile firm in Bristol, remaining with it about five years. He came out to New Zealand in the ship “Sydenham,” in 1881, remaining only a few months in Auckland, when he removed to Cambridge, and engaged in agricultural pursuits. He has now a nice farm of one hundred acres, and gives his attention principally to the raising of cattle and sheep. Mr. Butler was clerk for some time to the North New Zealand Farmers' Co-operative Association, and nine years with Mr. G. J. Neal, seedsman. He has filled the position of secretary and treasurer of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Association, since its establishment in 1892, and has also, since 1890, been secretary and treasurer of the Waikato Farmers' Club.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Cambridge Orchestral Society
                
                is a popular institution, and is under the management of Mr. M. McDermott, as secretary, and Mr. J. H. Edwards, as conductor.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Henry Edwards,
                Conductor of the Cambridge Orchestral Society, was born in Oxford, England, in 1860. He landed in Auckland from the ship “Famenoth” in 1883, and settled in Hamilton in 1896, as sub-editor of the “Waikato Times.” Mr. Edwards afterwards removed to Cambridge, where he now has a stationery business.

            

            

              
              


                
The Cambridge Public Library,
                which was established about 1870, contains the librarian's office, public library, and free reading room. In 1900 there were 2753 volumes of which about 2500 were in good order. The library is maintained by public subscription and by Government subsidy. Committee for 1900; Messrs G. Dickenson (chairman), R. C. Dyer, J. Hally, C. Boyce, and W. G. Collins.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Dickenson,
                Chairman of the Cambridge Public Library Committee, was born in Auckland in 1858. He was for twenty years a traveller, and was afterwards in business as a bookseller, and was afterward in business as a bookseller in Cambridge and Hamilton. Mr. Dickenson was previously chairman of the library committee, during the years 1894–96.

            

            

              
              


                

Major Charles Goring Minnitt,
                Librarian of the Cambridge Library, was born in Tipperary, Ireland, in 1836. He joined the Militia Regiment as ensign in 1855, afterwards served in the 3rd Lancashire Militia, and joined the 18th Royal Irish in April, 1858, as an ensign. In 1860 he became lieutenant, in 1873, captain, and brevet-major on his retirement in 1878. Major Minnitt served with his regiment in New Zealand from July, 1863, to February, 1870. He subsequently served for five years in the Armed Constabulary. For eight years afterwards he was engaged in coal mining at Huntly, where he was incapacitated by an accident in 1892. He has held his present position since December, 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Cambridge Police Station
                
                is situated at the lower end of Victoria Street and consists of a comfortable cottage, with a lock-up cell behind. It is within the Hamilton sub-police district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alexander McGilp,
                Constable-in-Charge at Cambridge, was born in Scotland in 1855, and spent several years at shepherding, and was afterwards employed in a bonded store in Glasgow for nearly five years. In 1876, Mr. McGilp came to New Zealand per ship “Orari” and the day after landing joined the police force, doing duty in Auckland city till 1881, when he was transferred to Russell, at which station he remained eleven years, when he was removed to Rawene to succeed the local constable who was drowned in the harbour. From Rawene he was transferred to Cambridge. For over twenty years, Mr. McGilp has been associated with the Oddfellows; he is also an ardent admirer of Robert Burns, and is thoroughly conversant with the works of Scotland's favourite poet.
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Cave, Charles White,
                Barrister and Solicitor, Victoria Street, Cambridge. Mr. Cave was born in Surrey, England, in 1842, and was educated at Totteridge, Herts, England. Having studied for the law, he was admitted in England, and commenced practice as a solicitor in 1863. He practised his profession in the Home and Midland Counties till 1880, when he emigrated to New Zealand with his family, arriving in Wellington by the ship “Rakaia.” Joining Mr. W. L. Travers, he was a member of the firm of Travers and Cave for two years. In 1883 he removed to Auckland and joined the Hon. J. A. Tole under the style to Tole and Cave. About four years later he retired from the firm and practised on his own account in Auckland until he removed to Cambridge in 1899. Mr. Cave was married, in 1865, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Reynolds, of Highgate, London, and has three sons and seven daughters.

            

            

              
              

                

Roberts, Edward Evan,
               
 Surgeon, M.B., C.M., (Edin.), Cambridge, Dr. Roberts was born at Manchester, England, in 1863, and is the third son of the Rev. R. J. Roberts, of the Welsh Church. He was educated at Dumfries, Scotland, received his medical training at the University of Edinburgh, and afterwards became assistant to his brother, Dr. J. B. Roberts, of Nottingham. In 1891 he arrived in Auckland, and commenced practice at the North Shore, where he became surgeon to the local Court of Foresters, and honorary
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surgeon to the Devonport Naval Volunteers. As a disciple of the association game of football, Dr. Roberts represented the University of Edinburgh in Scotland, and played for Auckland at the interprovincial tournament, held at Auckland, in 1895. He was also selected for the carnival of 1896, but, owing to his professional engagements, he was unable to proceed to Dunedin. Dr. Roberts, for reasons of health, removed to Cambridge in 1900, and established his present practice. He was married, in 1890, to a daughter of Mr. H. Atfield, of Shrewsbury, England.

            

            

              
              


                

Poole, Robert Shand,
                Surgeon Dentist, Duke Street, Cambridge. Mr. Poole was born in Edinburgh, in 1838, and was educated in Aberdeen. He is the son of an Edinburgh physician, and served an apprenticeship to Dr. Dewar, of Aberdeen, and qualified as a dentist in 1878, after which he practised for several years at Montrose. In 1894 Mr. Poole settled at Cambridge, and has since then practised his profession in the Waikato. He is a member of the Dental College of Great Britain. Mr. Poole is a nephew of Dr. Words worth Poole, physician to the British Legation at Pekin, and also of Captain F. G. Poole, an officer in one of the relieving forces which went to Pekin in 1900. He was married, in 1861, to a daughter of Mr. T. Woolfield, of Auckland. Mrs Poole died in 1896, in the Old Country.
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Little, Walter,
                Chemist and Druggist, Duke Street, Cambridge. This business was established about 1880 by Mr. Tennent, of Waitekauri, and has been conducted by the present proprietor since 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Bank Of New Zealand
                
                at Cambridge was established in 1875. It is a two storey building with twelve rooms altogether, and contains the manager's private residence as well as the banking office. The bank serves a large agricultural district, extending from Cambridge to Rotorua, and including Lichfield and Matamata. The manager is assisted by two officers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frank Jefcoate Brooks,
                Manager of the Bank of New Zealand at Cambridge, was born in Kent, England, in 1846. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Victory” in January, 1865, and joined the staff of the bank in 1868. Mr. Brooks was appointed manager at Cambridge in October, 1875.

            

            

              
              


                
Clark, George Edwards,
                Commission Agent, Cambridge. Mr. Clark came to New Zealand in 1864 in the ship “Jumua” with the intention of farming, but not securing the land he desired he embarked in mercantile pursuits at Auckland. In 1867, he moved to the Waikato district, purchasing about 300 acres of land near Cambridge, and engaged in agricultural pursuits in which he was very successful until 1894, when he disposed of his property and went into business as a commission agent, doing extensive trade in farm products. Mr. Clark was born in Cambridgeshire, England, in 1840, and comes from a good old yeoman stock. He was trained on his father's farm, and previous to leaving home had managed it for five years. He has always taken an active interest in agricultural matters, and was the organiser of the Waikato Farmers' Club, of which he was chairman for the first two years and has always been an active member of the association. He was a member of the Waikato County Council for six years, of the Cambridge district Road Board of several years, and is an active member of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Association. Mr. Clark is also a member of the Cambridge Borough Council.
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McNicol and Co.,
                Stock and Station Auctioneers, Cambridge; head office. Hamilton. The Cambridge branch of this well known firm is under the management of Mr. G. F. McCullagh, who also acts as auctioneer for the firm throughout the Waikato.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Fenton McCullagh,
                Auctioneer for Messrs McNicol and Co., was born in County Leitrim, Ireland, in 1860. He was brought up to country pursuits, came to Auckland in 1879, and settled in the Waikato district, where he found employment during the first three years at the celebrated Piako swamp. After a trip to Sydney, Port Darwin, and Kimberley, extending altogether for over three years, Mr. McCullagh returned to New Zealand, and afterwards paid a visit to his native land. Mr. McCullagh met Mr. McNicol in 1879, and ever afterwards regarded him as a friend. He has been associated with the firm since Mr. McNicol commenced business, and has acted as auctioneer for a number of years.

            

            

              
              


                

Saulbrey, Thomas Lewis,
                Baker and Confectioner, Cambridge Bakery, Duke Street, Cambridge. Private residence, Alpha Street. This business was established in 1892. Mr. Saulbrey was born in 1865 in London, where he was educated and apprenticed to his trade. In 1887 he arrived in Auckland by the s.s. “Kaikoura,” and commenced business on his own account at Ngaruawahia. Five years later he removed to Cambridge. His premises in Duke Street are erected on freehold land and contain a shop and bakehouse. As an Oddfellow Mr. Saulbrey is attached to the Loyal Duke of Cambridge Lodge, in which he has passed all the chairs, and held office as V.G. in 1900. Mr. Saulbrey was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr. T. Dalton, of Pukekohe, and has two daughters and one son.
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Ferguson, John,
                Coachbuilder, Wheelwright, etc., Cambridge. Mr. Ferguson was born in Glasgow in 1846, and there he learned the trade of carpenter. In 1864, he came out to New Zealand per ship “Helenslea,” and resided near Pokeno with his father. On coming of age he went to Napier where he was employed as a builder. Then he was for a time at Thames and subsequently went to America and learned the trade of coach building in California. In 1873, he returned to New Zealand and was for a time engaged in agricultural pursuits in the Waikato district, where he also did good work in house-building. Mr. Ferguson entered business as a coachbuilder, etc., in Cambridge in 1883, and built up a large and extensive trade. He also has a coal and wood-yard. He is agent for Cousins and Atkin, the well known coach builders of Auckland, and the Standard Insurance Company. Mr. Ferguson's three sons are now in the business. The eldest, Hugh, has charge of the coach-painting department, and Herbert and Robin assist in the blacksmithing and wood shops.
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Walker, Thomas,
                Wheelwright, Chapel Street, Cambridge. Mr. Walker was born in 1873 in Pukekohe, where he was brought up. He learned his trade in Auckland, and after completing his apprenticeship, worked for six years as a journeyman. In 1892 he came to Cambridge, and after being employed by Mr. Ferguson for three years, went into business on his own account. He was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. J. Bell, of Cambridge, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Hally, George Jacque,
                Cordial and Aerated Water Manufacturer, and Fruit Evaporator, Brewery Street, Cambridge. Private residence, Alpha Street. Mr. Hally was born in 1837 at Auchterarder, Perthshire, Scotland. His father was a woollen manufacturer, and Mr. Hally gained experience of wool sorting in connection with that business. In 1862 he landed in Auckland by the ship “Hanover,” and was drafted into the Auckland Militia and served with his corps through the Waikato campaign. Subsequently he purchased 100 acres of land between Taupiri and Rangiriri, where he resided for about two years. In 1868 he removed to the Thames, where he had two years' experience in goldmining. He returned to the Waikato in 1870, and settled in Cambridge, where he built the brewery which he worked for a number of years in conjunction with his two brothers. Since 1895 Mr. Hally has carried on business as a cordial manufacturer and fruit evaporator. He was married, in 1887, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Fleming, of Clonmell, county Tipperary, Ireland, and widow of the late Mr. H. M. D. Pearson. Mrs Hally had three sons and two daughters.
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Craig, Charles,
                Tailor, Duke Street, Cambridge. Mr. Craig, who was born at Coolaney, County Sligo, Ireland, in 1858, was educated and apprenticed in his native place. He arrived in Port Chalmers by the ship “Napier,” in 1879, and was one of the Parihaka expedition under the Hon. J. Bryce. After being a year—1881–2—in the Armed Constabulary, he established his present business in Cambridge. Mr. Craig was for some time a member of the licensing bench in Cambridge, and served on the local school committee. He was married, in 1882, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. Smart, of Dunedin, and has three sons and four daughters.
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Riley, William,
                Tailor, Victoria Street, Cambridge; private residence, River View Cottage. Mr. Riley entered business on his own account in 1874. His shop in Victoria Street is erected on his own freehold, and also his nine-roomed residence. Mr. Riley was born at Uiverston, Lancashire, England, in 1830, and learned his trade in Liverpool. He joined the 99th Regiment, and came out to Tasmania, in 1851. Five years later he volunteered to join the 65th Regiment in New Zealand, where he served till July, 1863. After taking his discharge, he commenced to work at his trade with Mr. Possenniskie, and afterwards with Mr. Langford, in Auckland. In 1874 he removed to Cambridge to take charge of the tailoring department of Messrs H. and J. P. Campbell's establishment, and shortly afterwards set up his present business. Mr. Riley was for a number of years connected



with the Order of the Good Templars, and held the office of District Deputy. He was married, in 1863, to a daughter of Mr. Matheron, late of Canada, and has two sons and two daughters.
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                  Masonic Hotel
                
                (Victor Cornaga), Duke Street, Cambridge. This hotel is one of the oldest in the Waikato, and dates from the sixties. It is a two storey building, and contains twenty bedrooms, six sitting rooms and a large dining room capable of seating about sixty guests. There is a billiard room adjoining in separate building, and there is also a good stable with eight stalls and four loose boxes.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Victor Cornaga,
                the Proprietor, is a native of Malta, where he was born in 1857. He came to New Zealand in 1881, and had the Britomart Hotel in Auckland for seven years. In February, 1900, he purchased the freehold of the Masonic Hotel. Mr. Cornaga was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr. T. Ryan, of Archbill, Auckland, and has four sons.

            

            

              
              


                

Bell, Henry,
                Horseshoer and General Blacksmith, Victoria Street, Cambridge; private residence, Duke Street. Mr. Bell was born in 1864 at Woodend, Canterbury. He was apprenticed to Mr. T. Gemmill, of Cambridge, by whom he was employed for twenty-one years, and established a business on his own account in August, 1900. Mr. Bell owns the shop in Victoria Street, and also his six-roomed private freehold residence in Duke Street. He is a member of the local Oddfellows' Lodge, in which he is Past Grand. Mr. Bell was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. J. A. Hjorth, master mariner, Cambridge, and has two daughters and one son.
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Gemmill, Thomas,
                Blacksmith, Cambridge. Mr. Gemmill was born at Fenwick, Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1838. After learning the trade of a blacksmith, he came to New Zealand per s.s. “Lord Ashley” in 1857, and entered the employ of Mr. James Wallace, blacksmith, at Otahuhu, with whom he remained about nine years. he then took a trip to the Old Country, being absent about a year, and on returning to the Colony was for a time in Dunedin, again at Otahuhu for twelve months, and finally settled in Cambridge in 1866, where he established his present business, which is the oldest in his line in the district. He is assisted by his son, Mr. John Gemmill. For a time he maintained branch shops at Oxford and Waotu, but these he recently sold. During the Maori war, Mr. Gemmill served for two years in the militia and was also for a time in the Cambridge cavalry.
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Wells, Thomas,
                Merchant, Cambridge. The large business conducted by Mr. Wells was established in 1866 by Mr. W. Johns. It was afterwards purchased by Mr. James Hally, who sold out to Messrs Tuck and Steward, who in turn re-sold to Mr. Hally, from whom Mr. Wells purchased the business in 1878. The large premises occupied by Mr. Wells have a total floor space of about 6000 square feet, and are erected on a freehold section in Duke Street. They are splendidly fitted up, and the departments, which are well arranged, include ironmongery and furniture, drapery with clothing, boots and shoes, and grocery, with crockery and produce. Mr. Wells conducts an extensive wholesale business throughout the country, and acts as agent for the Colonial Mutual and South British Insurance offices. He is referred to in another article as chairman of the Cambridge Domain Board.

            

            

              
              

                

Neal, George Jesse,
               
 Seedsman, Cambridge. Mr. Neal was born near Biggleswade, Bedford, England, in 1840, came to New Zealand in 1864 in the ship “Ulcoates,” landing at Auckland, where he was employed in mercantile pursuits for some years, and for some months during 1867 was on the Thames goldfields. After serving as providore in coastal steamers, he proceeded to Cambridge in 1874 and for ten years acted as agent for the Waikato Steamship Company, besides being employed in other commercial occupations. About 1890, Mr. Neal commenced business as a seed-merchant, and on being burned out, moved to his present block of buildings, which he purchased, and also erected a bakery. He owns a small farm of forty acres near the town, including eight acres of orchard. Mr. Neal
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is interested in the study of phrenology and has lectured on the subject.

            

            

              
              


                

Sharp, John,
                Nurseryman and Florist, Cambridge. Mr. Sharp's very fine farm and nursery consists of about fifty acres, planted with the best and most popular varieties of fruit trees and plants. Mr. Sharp imports the greater part of his stock direct from America and Great Britain, and the nursery has been for the past twenty-five years under cultivation. He was born in Glasgow in 1837, and worked with his father (who was also a nurseryman) till he attained his majority. In 1863 he came to Auckland per ship “Harwood,” and after some experience at farming, established himself on his present property.
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Popple, Frederick,
                Storekeeper, Phoenix Store, Cambridge. Mr. Popple was born in Nottingham, England, in 1853, and came to Auckland by the ship “Flying Foam,” in 1864. Until 1879 he resided in Coromandel where he gained a general business experience in the local stores. In that year he settled at Ngaruawahia, where he continued for two years, and then went to Cambridge, where he was employed for six years and a half in Mr. Merrick's store. His present business at Cambridge was established by him in 1888. Mr. Popple was married, in 1881, to a daughter of Mr. R. Hogg, of Ngaruawahia, and has six sons and three daughters.
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                  Souter, W. and Co.
                
                (Joseph William Souter and Edwin Neville Souter), Grain and Timber Merchants, Duke Street, Cambridge. This firm was established by the late Captain W. Souter, at the Thames, about 1860, and was removed to Cambridge in 1882.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Davys And Son
                
                (Henry John Davys and Henry Edwin Davys), Timber Merchants and Boardinghouse Proprietors, Cambridge. Mr. Davys, senior, was born in Somersetshire, England, in 1851. He arrived in Auckland in 1862 by the ship “Hanover, and subsequently went to the Thames, where he was engaged in mining for about eight years. In 1876 Mr. Davys settled as a farmer at Tuhikaramea in the Waipa district. Fourteen years later he and his brother established a sawmill at Rukihia, and afterwards acquired a bush at Taupiri, where they erected a mill. This property was sold in 1899, when Mr. Davys settled in Cambridge. His present property, which is not far from the railway station, is known as “Kingston.” The house is a large building, with fourteen rooms, well furnished, and provides comfortable accommodation for visitors. Mr. Davys was married, in April, 1878, to a daughter of Mr. T. L. Norman, of Freborough, Somersetshire, England, and has one son and one daughter.
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Mr. and Mrs H. J. Davys and Son and Daughter.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Henry Edwin Davys
                
                was born in Hamilton on the 2nd of July, 1879, and was brought up at first to country pursuits by his father, and has since become a builder. He became a member of the firm on its establishment in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Miss L. C. Davys
                
                daughter of Mr. H. J. Davys, was born at Tuhikaramea on the 24th of November, 1884.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Allwill, Jared,
                Farmer “Redwood,” Cambridge. This settler's farm contains about 240 acres, on which the usual operations with sheep cattle, and crops are conducted. Mr. Allwill is a large supplier of the local creamery. He is a native of the North of Ireland, where he was born in 1843. Coming to the Colony in 1862, he for about four years managed a farm near Auckland, and on the outbreak of the native war served with the militia for a considerable time. On the conclusion of hostilities he purchased his present property and has resided there for more than thirty years. He was the first man to import a threshing machine, reaper and binder into the Waikato, and now owns a traction engine for chaff-cutting, etc., with which he has cut over 2000 tons of chaff in a year. “Allwill's Wine” is well known in the district, and he has the satisfaction of showing what New Zealand can produce in that respect.
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Arnold, John,
                Farmer, Cambridge. Mr. Arnold is a settler of many years' standing, having resided on his present farm for about the third of a century. He was born in Eccleston, Lancashire, England, in 1833, and went out to Australia in 1852. After eight years on the goldfields, he was attracted to New Zealand and was for about three years on the Otago fields with varied success. He next went to the Waikato, joined the 3rd Waikato Regiment and served through the war. In 1864, he received his discharge and settled on his present farm, forty acres of it being a Government grant. Mr. Arnold has now a nice property of 240 acres all under cultivation; he grazes a few pure-bred Lincoln sheep and carries on general farming.

            

            

              
              


                

Banks, Norman,
                Farmer, “Gwynnelands,” Cambridge, “Gwynnelands” consists of about 500 acres and carries a large and well bred stock of sheep, cattle, etc., whilst a considerable portion of the land is under cultivation. About 1000 lambs are taken off the place each season. This farm is generally regarded as one of the best in the Waikato. Mr. Banks is a son of the late Mr. Joseph Banks, who was well known in Auckland from the time of his arrival in the Colony over forty years ago. Mr. Banks, senior, was for many years in partnership with Mr. A. McHardy, of Hawke's Bay, in the cattle trade at the Thames, and was subsequently manager of the New Zealand Freezing Company till his death in 1888 from the bursting of a blood vessel. He was much esteemed and his death was a great blow to a large circle of friends. His son, the subject of this sketch, was born in 1876 and is a grandson of Mr. A. Buckland, the well known auctioneer. He was educated at St. John's College and spent four years at Longbeach, near Ashburton, one of the most complete estates in New Zealand, and there he gained a thorough knowledge of station life. Since taking over “Gwynnelands,” Mr. Banks has devoted a good deal of attention to the breeding of hunters, a class of horse with which he has been most successful.
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Croxford, William,
                Farmer, “Littlegreen,” Cambridge. Mr. Croxford was born in Hampshire, England, in 1873. After leaving school he engaged in farming pursuits for several years in the Old Country. He came to this Colony for the benefit of his health, arriving in Lyttelton in 1893. For two or three years, Mr. Croxford travelled through the Colony, finally deciding to settle in Cambridge. His farm consists of 200 acres, all under cultivation; he devotes his energies chiefly to dairy farming, and supplies the local creamery.
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Day, Cornelius Gabriel Stafford,
                Farming Contractor, Cambridge. Mr. Day was born in Kent, England, in 1858, and arrived in Auckland with his parents in 1860. He worked with his father, Mr. Cornelius Day, for a number of years and had considerable experience in connection with his father's creamery and butter factory. In 1896 Mr. Day settled in Cambridge, where he has since taken contracts for farm work. He was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. E. Stewart, of Auckland, and has three daughters and one son.

            

            

              
              


                

Douglas, William Muir,
                Farmer, “Bruntwood,” Cambridge. Mr. Douglas came to New Zealand in 1873, and purchased his present farm of 713 acres in partnership with his brother, Mr. J. A. Douglas. The area of the property has been increased and now comprises 1000 acres. Mr. Douglas purchased his brother's interest in 1884, and carries on the rearing of cattle, horses, sheep, etc. He is a member of the Waikato Hunt, and master of the hounds.
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Meeting of the Waikato Hounds at “Bruntwood,” Cambridge.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Gray, William,
                Farmer, Cambridge. Mr. Gray was born in Belfast, Ireland, in 1861, and came to this Colony with his parents in 1866, landing in Auckland per ship “Columbus,” He was educated in Auckland and gained his agricultural experience on his father's farm at Otahuhu. He purchased his present property, which consists of 125 acres freehold and fifty acres leasehold some years ago, and engages in general farming. Mr. Gray has not taken any active part in local matters, but has devoted the whole of his time to improving his farm. He is married and has three children.
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Maungakawa Estate,
                the Property of Mr. William Thornton, consists of about 6000 acres of land, and includes the top of Maungakawa mountain. The property was originally purchased by the late Mr. D. Thornton,



father of the present proprietor, and one of the founders of the well known firm of Thornton, Smith and Firth. The late Mr. Thornton was a very early colonist in New Zealand, and died in Russia about 1875. The estate is used principally for grazing and fattening cattle, and was for a number of years under the charge of a manager until taken over by the present proprietor. In 1890 a fine residence was erected on the property, whence excellent views of the Waikato, Mount Egmont, Ruapehu, and the Matamata waterfall are obtainable in clear weather.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Thornton,
                the Proprietor, was born in Auckland in 1870 and was educated in England. He was married, in 1895, to a daughter of Captain H. E. Worsp, of Auckland, and has one son.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Roto-O-Rangi (Lake of Heaven) Estate
                
                (J. and R. Grice, proprietors), Cambridge. This valuable estate is the property of Messrs. J. and R. Grice, of Cumberland, England. It contains 18,000 acres, a large proportion being swamp land. There are about sixty miles of drains on the property made at great cost and trouble. The working stock consists of 8000 three-quarter Lincoln sheep with a justly celebrated Lincoln stud flock kept up to the standard by selection of sires from the best breeders of New Zealand, such as Messrs Sutton, Menlove, and Tanner. A few stud Romney Marsh sheep are also bred. The cattle are of an undeniable strain and were originally imported from the Circular Head Company, of Tasmania, and are kept pure by judicious selection and constant use of registered sires, notable among these being “Butterfly 37th,” “Wild Eyes Duke,” and “Harmony 5th,” imported from Victoria; “Cadmus,” bred by Mr. John Grigg, of Longbeach; “May Duke IV.,” purchased from Mr. E. Menlove, of Oamaru; and “Duke of Kent,” lately acquired from the famous Te Aute herd of Archdeacon Williams, of Napier. The run cattle are 1200 in number and mostly of a Shorthorn type, with a few Herefords and Polled Angus. A pure Clydesdale entire is usually kept on the property and the stock are much valued in the district. The proprietors of this estate have been remarkably successful at shows, their animals having carried off a large number of prizes in all classes—sheep, cattle, and horses. Roto-o-Rangi was established in the year 1874 and



is situated half way between Te Awamutu and Cambridge.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Grice Park,
                the Manager of Roto-o-Rangi Estate, is a native of Cumberland and cousin to the owners. He was born in that county and educated at Lancaster and Birkenhead, trained to practical farming in England and Wales for a few years. He came out to Australia in the early eighties and spent a short time in Victoria and South Australia. Crossing to New Zealand in 1882 he started on his present occupation, and became manager of the estate about nine years ago Mr. Park is a good judge of stock and well up in practical farming. He was for many years an enthusiastic member of the Te Awamutu Cavalry, and captain of the Cambridge Cricket Club. He takes a general interest in all matters connected with the district, and a special one in the station under his control.
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Mr. 
W. G. Park's Champion Broadlock Lincoln Ram.
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Mr. Elijah Beere,
                one of the Old Settlers in the Waikato, was born in Cornwall, England, in 1839, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Devonshire” in 1863. He settled in the Cambridge district in 1866, and has now a freehold farm of 250 acres.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Benjamin Bland Booth,
                A very Old Settler in the Waikato, was born in Boston, Lincolnshire, England, in 1835, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “William Miles.” He went to the Waikato in 1864, served as a member of the 3rd Waikato Regiment throughout the war, and gained a fifty-acre grant, which he has since increased to 150 acres.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Stephen Lodder
                
                is an Old Colonist, and still carries on business as a wheelwright and undertaker. He was born in Dorsetshire, England, in 1823, and came out to Auckland by the ship “Ashmore” in 1856. Mr. Lodder settled in Cambridge in 1873, served in the Militia at Onehunga, and afterwards joined the Old Veterans' Corps, in which he served till it was disbanded.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. John William Merrick
                
                is an Old Colonist, who was born in 1827, at Halifax, Nova Scotia, educated in Canada, and brought up to the soft goods trade. He came to Victoria in 1852 and was for several years at Bathurst, New South Wales. In 1857 he became associated with the firm of J. H. Burnside and Co., warehousemen, and was for ten years resident partner of the firm in Auckland. After retiring from the business in 1867 he resided in Australia for eight years but returned to New Zealand, and settled at Cambridge as a general storekeeper in 1875. Mr. Merrick retired from business in 1888.

            

            

              
              


                

Rout, William,
                J. P., Old Settler, Cambridge. Mr. Rout was born in Essex County, England, in 1830, and after leaving school, his mother being a widow, managed a large furniture and carpet business that she owned. He came to New Zealand early in 1853, in the ship “Maori,” landing at Nelson, and engaged in house-building at Richmond, eight miles from that place, in partnership



with Mr. Nathaniel Leaper. Retiring eighteen months later, he purchased land at Massacre Bay and engaged in farming. This not being to his liking he, a year later, returned to Nelson and entered into the manufacture of furniture, and also carried on business as a builder for a few years. In 1862 he opened a land, estate, and commission agency, and in 1880 took his two sons, William and George, into partnership, He business being now carried on by them. Mr. Ront was appointed provincial treasurer for the province of Nelson in 1873, which office he filled until it was abolished, and he assisted in winding up the financial affairs of the province. On the introduction of the land-tax he was appointed Government valuator for Nelson district, which position he held until 1887, when he resigned, his son William receiving the appointment in his stead. He has not been actively engaged in business for a number of years, and finding the climate agreeable, has resided in Cambridge since January, 1894. Mr. Rout was appointed a Justice of the Peace during the administration of Sir George Grey, and has always taken an active interest in educational matters, being the founder of the technical school at Cambridge, in the management of which he continued to take a lively interest. Mr. Rout was married in Cheltenham, England, in 1853, to Miss Harriet Mann, who died on board the P. and O. steamer “Paramatta,” on 8th April, 1888, while accompanying him on a trip to England. She left three sons and four daughters. He was married again in London in 1890, to Mrs Mary A. Watkins, and of this marriage one son has been born.

              

                

[image: Mr. W. Rout.]

Mr. 
W. Rout.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Archibald Wallace,
                Cambridge. Mr. Wallace is a native of Ayrshire, where he was born in 1812, and came to Auckland per ship “Duchess of Argyle.” After receiving his education he lived with his parents in the Tamaki West district, where they were among the earliest settlers, and were farming at Otahuhu for some time. About thirty years ago he purchased his well-known farm “Glenside,” at Pukerimu, which is now worked by his son, Mr. William Wallace. Mr. Wallace was connected with most of the local bodies at different times during his residence in the Pukerimu district. The late Mrs. Wallace was the daughter of Mr. David Thomson, an early settler at Flat Bush. The family numbers seven, three sons and four daughters.
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Karapiro
                
                is a farming district on the east side of the Waikato river, on the Cambridge-Oxford road adjoining the borough. A good deal of the land has latterly been thrown open for close settlement, and has been well taken up, and a creamery, established by the New Zealand Dairy Association, is well supported.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Karapiro Creamery
                
                (New Zealand Dairy Association, proprietors) was established in 1899. It is built of wood and iron, and contains a seven horse-power portable steam engine, which drives an Alexandra separator capable of treating 300 gallons per hour. The cream is sent daily to the Cambridge railway station. In the season of 1900–1901 there were fourteen suppliers, who milked about 250 cows.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Joseph William Tarry,
                Manager of the Karapiro Creamery, was born at Kumara, Westland, in 1878. He was educated in Auckland and was brought up to the trade of a bootmaker. For reasons of health he left his trade, and turned his attention to dairy work, and in 1898, he was employed at the Kapukanui Butter Factory in Taranaki. Two years later he was appointed to his present position.

            

            

              
              


                

Keeley, Gyles,
                Farmer, Karapiro. Mr. Keeley was born in 1851 in Warwickshire, England, where he was educated and brought up to agriculture, but he also served for several years as a railway guard on the Great Western Railway. He came to Auckland by the ship “Alumbagh” in 1875, and lived for eighteen years at Cambridge West, where he engaged in farming and also took contracts for road construction. Mr. Keeley's property at Karapiro consists of 200 acres of land and was bought in 1898. It is worked as a dairy farm, and Mr. Keeley milks thirty cows. Mr. Keeley was married, in 1884, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Perkins, of Tenby, Wales, and has one son.
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Cambridge West,
                which is under the jurisdiction of the Pukekura Road Board and the Waipa County Council, is connected with the borough of Cambridge by a traffic bridge over the Waikato. The districts known as Pukekura, Pukerimu and Monavale are in the neighbourhood. There are a number of houses in the settlement, together with a public hall, a Wesleyan church, and a public school.

            

            

              
              


                
The Cambridge West Public School,
                established about 1880, has seven acres of land attached, contains two class rooms and a large porch, and has accommodation for 100 pupils. There are about ninety names on the roll, and the average attendance is sixty-eight. The master is assisted by one certificated and one pupil teacher.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Dean,
                Headmaster of the Cambridge West Public School, holds a D1 certificate, and was born in 1863. He qualified as a teacher at Cape Town, South Africa, arrived in Auckland in 1887, joined the staff of the Education Board, and was successively at Onehunga, Matakana, Newmarket, and Tamahere, before being appointed to his present position in 1894.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Jarrett Brothers
                
                (Charles Jarrett and John Jarrett), Traction Engine and Threshing Machine Proprietors, Cambridge West. This firm runs two fine traction engines and two threshing mills, together with grain crushers, chaff cutters and circular saws. It has imported a good deal of its plant.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Jarrett,
                Senior Partner of the firm, was born in Broad Marston, Gloucestershire, England, in 1852. He is a wheelwright by trade, and after several years' experience in Birmingham came to Auckland by the ship “Avona,” in 1881. He settled in Cambridge, where he has developed his business into its present character and dimensions. Mr. Jarrett has served for some time as a member of the Cambridge West school committee, and as a Freemason he is a member of Lodge Alpha. He was married, in 1875, to a daughter of the late Mr. S. Loseley, of Bedford, England, and has five sons and five daughters.
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Five Prize Heifers (Belonging to Mr. C. A. Davis).
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Pukekura
                
                is a fine farming district on the west side of the Waikato river, adjoining Cambridge West. It is principally a dairying country, and there is a large creamery in the district. There are several very fine orchards in Pukekura, and a number of first-rate farms. Settlement is extending from Pukekura in the direction of Maungatautari. The district is under the control of a road board, and lies in the county of Waipa.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Pukekura Road Board
                
                has jurisdiction over the Pukekura riding of the county of Waipa. Members for 1900: Mr. R. Fisher, chairman, and Messrs E. Allen, R. Reynolds, T. Walker and W. White, with Mr. H. Fitzgerald as clerk and treasurer. The capital value of the properties in the district is £133,669, and the average rate is 1/2d in the £. There is a population of about 1000; and there are about 200 dwellings, and about 400 ratable properties owned by about 400 ratepayers. The total revenue of the Board for the year ended March, 1900, was £270. There are about thirty miles of roads in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert Fisher,
                Chairman of the Pukekura Road Board since 1899, was born in 1848 in Ayrshire, Scotland, and came to Auckland with his parents by the ship “Lord Burleigh” in 1856. He holds 240 acres in a high state of cultivation. Mr. Fisher has served in the Cambridge Cavalry Volunteers, in which he held the rank of sergeant-major for some years.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edward Allen,
                who is a Member and was for some time chairman of the Pukekura Road Board, is referred to in another article as the owner of Warwick Farm, Pukekura.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Richard Reynolds,
               
 who is a Member of the Pukekura Road Board and served for some time on the Waipa County Council, is a well known and prominent settler in the Waikato. He resides at Trecarne, Cambridge, where he has 800 acres of land. Mr. Reynolds also holds 1400 acres at Monavale, and 2000 acres at Maketu. He has long been prominent as a grazier and breeder of Hereford, Aberdeen-Angus and Jersey cattle. His herd of Herefords were sold to a settler of Hawke's Bay in 1900. Mr. Reynolds has been a large importer of stud stock, both cattle and Lincoln sheep, and in conjunction with his brother, Mr. Henry Reynolds, worked up a considerable trade with the Argentine in Lincoln rams. The business was temporarily checked by the outbreak of foot and mouth disease in the Argentine, but when the ports were open again, Mr. Reynolds sent a further consignment of 100 from the Auckland district. Mr. Reynolds has probably broken up and brought into cultivation more
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Prize Herefords bred by Mr. 
R. Reynolds.
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Jersey Cattle bred by Mr. 
R. Reynolds.





land in the district than any other individual settler. He also superintends for his brother Newstead estate, which is about twelve miles from Cambridge, and seven from Hamilton. It is exclusively a dairying place; fully 400 picked cows are milked, and their produce enables the proprietor to employ a large amount of labour for improvements, etc. Mr. Reynolds is a strong advocate for dehorning, especially dairy cows, and for many years no cow on the Newstead estate has been allowed to retain her horns. Mr Reynolds says that horns are instruments of cruelty, and should be removed.
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Aberdeen Angus Cattle Bred By Mr. 
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Mr. Thornton Walker,
                who is a Member of the Pukeura Road Board, is a son of Mr. E. B. Walker, of Monavale estate.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Pukekura Creamery
                
                (New Zealand Dairy Association, proprietors), Cam bridge West, was established in 1886. It was the first butter factory erected by Mr. Henry Reynolds and has been worked by the Association since 1896. A six horse-power stationary engine drives two Alexandra separators, each of 300 gallons' capacity. It is claimed that the first separator used in the North Island was set up at this factory. There are about thirty suppliers in the district, and the total quantity put through daily is nearly 2000 gallons. Mr. R. Melville, who has been manager of the Pukekura Creamery since 1896, was previously in charge at Paterangi and Te Aroha.

            

            

              
              


                

Allen, Edward,
                Farmer, “Warwick Farm,” Pukekura. This settler's property consists of 250 acres of good grazing country, and is used principally for fattening stock and dairying, the milk being sent to the local creamery. A portion of the land is set apart for growing wheat, oats, and other grain. Mr. Allen is a native of Warwickshire, where he was born in 1817, educated at a grammar school in Northampton-shire and came with his parents to New Zealand in 1861 per ship “Black Eagle.” After farming at Mt. Albert for about eighteen years, he purchased his present property, and has resided there with his family since that date. In public matters. Mr. Allen has been active; he is chairman of the Pukekura Road Board, has been a member of the Waipa County Council for a number of years, is a member of Waikato Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and vice-president of the Waikato Farmers' Club. He is married to a daughter of the late Mr. John Soutgate, of Warkworth, and has six sons and three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Blackwood. J. And J.
                
                (John Blackwood and James Blackwood), Farmers, “Kilellan,” Pukekura. The Messrs Blackwood have a dairy farm of 155 acres, on which from twenty to thirty cows are kept, and their milk is supplied to the local creamery.

            

            

              
              


                

Comer, Benjamin,
                Settler, Pukekura Mr. Comer was born in Somersetshire in 1830, and gained his agricultural experience on his father's farm. He was attracted to Australia by the goldfields in 1852 and was mining in Victoria with varied success until 1860, after which he came to New Zealand and engaged in mining in Otago for several years. In 1868, Mr. Comer returned to his native land, but the attractions of this Colony proving irresistible, he came back and settled in Pukekura in 1874.
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Hicks, Francis,
                Farmer, Pukekura. This old Colonist was born in Cornwall. England, in 1839, and was engaged in farming with his father. Mr. Hicks came to New Zealand per ship “William Watson” in 1860, and after looking round for a few months, decided to settle in Hawke's Bay. He founded the township of Hastings in that province in 1868 and gave sites for the railway station, public hall, etc. He then came to the Waikato and purchased “Trelawney” (now in the possession of Mr. T. W. Hicks), and some time afterwards he purchased his present farm, which consists of 900 acres, mostly down in grass and stocked with cattle. Mr. Hicks is always active in local matters, and has been connected with the local school committee and road board for many years. He has been a prominent member of the Farmers' Club since its inception. Mr. Hicks is married to a daughter of the late Mr. John Allen, and has three sons and eight daughters.
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Hicks, Hart,
                Farmer, “Tremore Farm.” Pukekura. Mr. Hicks has occupied this property for more than twenty years. It consists of about 150 acres of good land. and though now a smiling farm, it was when taken up in a wild and exceedingly rough state. The proprietor is a native of Cornwall, England, where he was born in 1835, and was brought up to farming. In 1864, accompanied by his wife, he came to New Zealand by the ship “Mary Warren.” His first situation in Auckland was with Mr. Young, collector of customs, where he remained for about two



years, leaving there to join his brother in Hawke's Bay. For the following nine years he had a farm at Clive and another at Hastings, with the early history of which town he was closely connected. His departure from the Hawke's Bay province was much regretted by a large circle of friends. Since his arrival over twenty years ago in Waikato, Mr. Hicks has taken a keen interest in all local matters. He is married and has one son and four daughters.
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Hicks, Tobias William,
                Farmer, “Trelawney,” Pukekura. Mr. Hicks was born in Cornwall, England, in 1815, and was trained on his father's farm. He came to New Zealand in 1870 by the ship “Somersetshire” and shortly afterwards went to Hastings, where he had charge of the post office. Two years later Mr. Hicks decided to return to country life, and purchased his present farm of 217 acres, in the Waikato. Mr. Hicks devotes his energies chiefly to dairy farming and fruit growing. He has done a good deal to advance the dairy industry in the district. Mr. Hicks is married and has a family of three sons and two daughters.
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Pukerimu
                
                is a noted farming district, whence a great many fat bullocks are sent every year to supply the Auckland market. The splendid turnip fields on which the cattle are fattened are much admired by visitors. The New Zealand Dairy Association has a creamery at Pukerimu. The district, which is 100 miles from Auckland, lies between Pukekura and Ohaupo, and adjoins Monavale, which has but recently been subdivided for closer settlement. Pukerimu has a triweekly mail service.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Pukerimu Public School
                
                is a wooden building with one class room and a porch. There is accommodation for fifty scholars, there are eighteen on the roll, and the average attendance is about fifteen. The schoolhouse has six rooms.

            

            

              
              


                

Miss Jessie F. P. Davis,
                who holds an E2 certificate, is the mistress in charge of the Pukerimu public school. She was born in Wellington, educated at private and public schools, and appointed to her present position in 1897.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Pukerimu Creamery
                
                (New Zealand Dairy Association, proprietors) was established in 1892, and removed in 1900 to its present position on a portion of Mr. Greenslade's property. It is built of wood and iron, and contains a four horse-power stationary steam engine and two large Alexandra separators, each capable of treating 350 gallons per hour. In the year 1900–1901 there were eighteen suppliers, who sent in about 1150 gallons of milk per day.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Richard Josiah Graham,
                Manager of the Pukerimu Creamery, was born in 1876 at Monganui. He was educated at Chaupo, and became assistant at Ngaruawahia Dairy Factory in October, 1899. From February to May, 1900, he was in charge at Kihikihi, and became manager at Pukerimu on the 1st of August, 1900.
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Anderson, James,
               
 Farmer, “Lilybank,” Pukerimu. Mr. Anderson is a native of Scotland and was born in 1844. He arrived.
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in New Zealand in 1866 per “King or Italy,” and after spending three years as a carpenter purchased a farm at Mangere, where in company with his brother he remained for twenty years. Messrs. Anderson brothers were noted for their Lincoln stud flocks, which were among the most successful at the various shows in different parts of the province, and gained many prizes. His services as judge are much sought after. He was an active member of the Waipa County Council for about five years, and was also a member of the Hospital and Chartable Aid Board, local road board, school committee, and other bodies. Mr. Anderson has been vice-president of the Farmers' Club, and is a member of the committee of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Society. He married a daughter of the late Captain D. McKenzie, and has five sons and three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Atkinson, William,
                Farmer, Pukerimu. Mr. Atkinson's farm consists of some 169 acres of first-class land and is worked for dairying purposes, with about twenty-five acres in crops, etc. He is a native of Yorkshire, where he was born in 1830, and brought up to farm life; went to Australia in 1857 and spent four years on the Bendigo diggings, then crossing to Otago, he was at the Shotover diggings for a considerable time. Mr. Atkinson went Home early in 1870, and having married there returned to New Zealand, and purchased fifty acres of land, on which the homestead now stands. Since that date he has added to his farm gradually, and now has a most comfortable and picturesque homestead. He has three sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

Freeman, Richard,
                Farmer, Pukerimu. Mr. Freeman was born near Retford, Nottinghamshire, England, in 1839, and is a carpenter and wheelwright by trade. He was employed for about twenty years in the Ashbury Railway Carriage and Iron Works where there is a staff of 2500 men. He entered as a workman, but was soon promoted to the position of foreman, and after fifteen years became manager, but resigned the position in two years on account of ill health. Mr. Freeman came to Auckland by the s.s. “Tongariro,” on her first trip, in 1883. He took a position in connection with the Auckland Tramway Company as foreman of rolling stock and engineer, and held it until he retired in 1894. Mr. Freeman was married, in 1864, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Baylis, of Leeds. Mrs. Freeman died in 1873, leaving three sons, and Mr. Freeman contracted a second marriage in 1875 with a daughter of Mr. W. Ellaby, of Elton, Huntingdonshire, and sister of the Rev. J. Ellaby, Free Methodist minister of Hindley Green, Lancashire.
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                  “Glengariff”
                
                (Mr. H. J. Greenslade, J.P.), Pukerimu. This fine property consists of 713 acres, and was purchased by Mr. Greenslade in April, 1900, from Mr. Lake, ex-M.H.R. for Waikato. Mr. greenslade has gone in extensively for dairy farming, and over 120 cows are milked on the estate. The Pukerimu Creamery, belonging to the New Zealand Dairy Association, has been erected at one corner of the estate. Mr. Greenslade's personal career is described in connection with the Thames, where he was mayor, and was long known as a journalist.
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“Glenside,”,
                (Archibald Wallace, proprietor), Pukerimu. This property, which is a little over 200 acres in extent, is now farmed by Mr. William Wallace, son of the owner. It is situated in the centre of the Pukerimu district, and admitted to be one of the most fertile properties in the Waikato. Mr. Archibald Wallace now resides at Cambridge, and is referred to in connection with that town, and Mr. William Wallace is noticed in another article as senior lieutenant of No. 3 Company, Waikato Mounted Rifles.

            

            

              
              


                

Heather, Arthur Burgoyne,
                formerly of “Te Kainga,” Pukerimu, near Cambridge. Mr. Heather is a son of Mr. Arthur Heather, the well-known Auckland merchant, and was born in that city in 1869. He received his education at Christ's College, Canterbury, and after returning to Auckland, entered into business as an ironmonger. Mr. Heather was for some considerable time in his father's warehouse, but turning his attention to farming, he purchased a property of 340 acres in 1891, and devoted all his time to its improvement. He afterwards sold his land, and visited South Africa.

            

            

              
              


                

Jones, Alexander Owen,
                Farmer, “Te Kainga,” Pukerimu. Mr. Jones was born in Remuera, in 1855, and was educated in Auckland and at Papatoitoi. He was brought up to a country life, and was for thirteen months manager of the Newstead Dairy Factory. For a number of years he worked for Messrs F. Andrews and Son at Papatoitoi, and afterwards settled at Ararimu South, where he was engaged in bush-farming for ten years. During part of that time he was secretary of the local school committee and clerk and collector of the road board. In 1889 he removed to the Waikato and had a farm in Pukerimu, but he subsequently sold it and purchased his present property. Mr Jones has served as a member of the Ohaupo school committee since 1892. He was married, in 1877, to a daughter of Mr. D. Brisbane, of Ararimu. This lady died in 1887, leaving four daughters and one son. Mr. Jones contracted a second marriage in 1893 with a daughter of Mr. H. Hughes, of Pukerimu, and three sons have been born of this union.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. William Sturgess
                
                is an old Waikato settler, and was born in Bedfordshire, in England, in 1841, and brought up to a country life. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Egmont” in 1860, and during the Maori disturbances he served with the military in the Waikato, and took part in several engagements. Mr. Sturgess has a farm of 450 acres at Pukerimu.
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Morrinsville.

            

              
              


                

                  
Morrinsville
                
                has a post, telegraph and money order office, and a Government Savings Bank, and its population numbers about 150 persons. The country around abounds in good agricultural and pastoral land. Morrinsville is on the railway line and is the junction for the Rotorua and Te Aroha lines. It lies about 103 miles to the south-east of Auckland by rail, and its distance from Hamilton is sixteen miles. Lockerbie Estate in the neighbourhood, now the property of the Assets Realisation Board, was formerly owned by Messrs Morrin, whose name is perpetuated in that of the district.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waitoa Road Board
                
                was established in 1875. Members for 1900: Messrs A. Aitken, A. J. Farmer, F. Cole, J. Borrie and W. P. Chepmell (chairman). The population of the district is 1317; 732 males and 585 females. There are 240 dwellings and 300 ratepayers, who own between 300 and 400 ratable properties. The total revenue of the Board for the year which ended March, 1900, was £908. A loan of about £2000 has been obtained by the district under the Loan to Local. Bodies Act. The ordinary rate is 1£2d in the £.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alexander Bremner,
                Clerk and Collector to the Waitoa Road Board, is an old settler in the Kiwitahi district, where he holds 200 acres, part of the Waikuku block. Mr. Bremner was born in 1819, in Banffshire, Scotland, and was educated at the Normal School, Edinburgh, where he became a teacher. For eleven years he had a school in the south of Scotland, and came to Auckland in 1860 in the ship “Red Jacket, under engagement with the Provincial Government's Education Department, and was appointed teacher at Waitoa South, where he continued for eight years. He then resigned his position, and went on a farm for several years, but in consequence of an accident, he reentered the service of the Board of Education and was appointed to Cambridge, where he remained from 1870 to 1875, when he settled at the Wiakuku block. Mr. Bremner was married, in 1863, to a daughter of Mr. W. Johnstone, late of Ruapuke, Raglan. Mrs. Bremner died in 1869, leaving two sons and two daughters.
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Lieutenant Francis Joseph Marshall,
                of the Piako Mounted Rifles, was born in 1851 near Banbury, Oxfordshire, England, and was educated in Bedford. He was brought up to country life, and came out to Auckland in the ship “Brinhilda,” in 1883, in charge of stock for the New Zealand Stud Company. Mr. Marshall afterwards took cattle to San Francisco on behalf of the same company. On his return to the colony he took charge, for Messrs T. and S. Morrin, of the sheep and cattle on Locherbie station, and about 1888 he commenced business as a butcher and farmer at Morrinsville. Mr. Marshall is well known as a breeder of thoroughbreds and draught horses. He has been a churchwarden of the local Anglican church since May, 1895, and has served as a member of the local school committee. Mr. Marshall was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. J. Turnbull, of Morrinsville.
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Morrinsville Junction Railway Station,
                which was opened about 1880, is the junction of the Auckland-Te Aroha and Rotorua railways. There are two asphalt passenger platforms, and the station buildings contain a ladies' waiting room, a large general waiting room, a post office lobby with post and telegraph offices, a ticket office, and offices for the Inspector of Permanent Way. There are also large goods and engine sheds, and cattle loading yards. Five workmen's cottages adjoin the station, and the Bank of New Zealand Estates Company has a large building connected with the siding for seed-cleaning and storage purposes. On three days in the week eight trains pass through the station, and six trains on the remaining three days.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert James Walter Schofield,
                Stationmaster, Postmaster, and Telegraphist at Morrinsville Junction, was born in London in 1863. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “St. Leonard's” in 1874, and three years later joined the railway department as a cadet. Mr. Schofield became stationmaster at Taupiri, where he continued for seven years, and was appointed to Morrinsville in January, 1880.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Morrinsville Public School
                
                originally established in 1875, is now conducted in a building which was erected in 1898. The two-acre section attached to the new building is planted with ornamental trees, and a portion of the land is laid out in flower beds. The school has accommodation for eighty pupils, and the average attendance is sixty-four. Two pupil teachers assist the headmaster.

              
Mr. 
DOn Roderick Frank Campbell. Headmaster of Morrinsville Public School, who holds a D2 certificate, was born at Waipu in 1872. He served his pupil teachership at Onehunga and at the Auckland



city schools, and was for three years master at Otakeo near Tapu, Thames, three years second assistant at Beresford Street School, Auckland, and was appointed to Morrinsville in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

Waddington, Edward,
                L.R.C.P. (Edin.), L.R.C.P. (Ireland), M.R.C.S.E., M.D., (Edin. and London), L.A.C., Fellow Royal Medico-Chirurgical Society, London, Physician and Surgeon, Morrinsville. Dr. Waddington was born in the city of Lincoln, England, matriculated at University College, London, and gained his degrees between 1849 and 1862. He joined the militia in 1853 as staff medical officer, and served in the military transport service to and from the Crimea. In 1864 he arrived in Auckland, and settled in the Waikato as senior surgeon to the 2nd Waikato Regiment under Colonel Haultain. Dr. Waddington has resided in Morrinsville since 1893. He was married, in 1847, to a daughter of the late Mr. Ellice Bristowe, and has two sons surviving.

            

            

              
              


                

Hedley, Joseph William,
                Coach-builder, Wheewirght, and Blacksmith, Morrinsville. This business was originally established about 1883 by Messrs T. and S. Morrin, and Mr. Hedley bought the freehold in 1899. The large buildings are of wood and iron, and include a wheelwright's shop, a paint shop, a smithy, and an engineering department. Mr. Hedley was born at West Woodburn near Newcastle-on-Tyne, England, came to Auckland by the ship “Jessie Readman,” in 1882, and served an apprenticeship in the north of Auckland. He acted as smith to the Kauri Timber Company, and after two years in Sydney, settled himself at Wade in 1895. Three years later he established himself in business, but sold his interest, and removed to Morrinsville, where he found employment with his predecessor, from whom he bought the business. Mr. Hedley has served on the local school committee. As a Freemason, he is a Past Master of Lodge Rodney, 1711 E.C., Warkworth, and was also connected with the Loyal Warkworth Pioneer Lodge, I.O.O.F., M.U.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Nottingham Castle Hotel
                
                (Wenzl Schollum, proprietor), Morrinsville. This hostelry is a two storey building, with a verandah and balcony on two sides. It contains eighteen rooms, including eleven bedrooms and three sitting rooms, and a dining room that will seat twenty-five guests. It was established in 1880 and has been conducted by the present proprietor since 1897.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Railway Boardinghouse
                
                (William Charies Pickett, proprietor), Morrinsville Junction Railway Station, Morrinsville. This comfortable establishment was founded in 1898. The building is of one storey, and contains ten rooms, including a sitting room and a large dining room.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Charle Pickett,
                the Proprietor, was born in 1861, in Oxfordshire, England. He came as a boy to New Zealand with his parents, had some experience on New Zealand railways, and was afterwards engaged in railway construction work in New South Wales and Victoria. Before leaving Melbourne he had charge of a steam engine for some time. In 1890 Mr. Pickett returned to New Zealand and became a fireman on the Midland Railway line at Belgrove. Three years later he was appointed by the Bank of New Zealand Estates Company to the charge of the large seed cleaning establishment at Morrinsville, and still holds that position. Mr. Pickett was married, in 1892, to a daughter of Mr. Brooks, of Nelson, and has three daughters and one son.
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                  Clifford, H. And J.
                
                (Henry John Clifford and John Miles Clifford), General Merchants, Bakers, and Storekeepers, Morrinsville. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Hamilton. Established 1883. This well-known firm has carried on a large and successful business for the last fourteen years. The premises, which are built of wood, contain a floor space of about 5000 square feet, well fitted up, and divided into various departments. The stock, which includes goods imported direct from the manufacturers, is one of the most complete in the Waikato, and the firm's business connection extends throughout the district, some of the customers living as far as seventy miles away. Messrs H. and J. Clifford hold several important agencies; namely, Kempthorne,



Prosser and Co.'s manures, Cooper's sheep dip, Reid and Gray's agricultural implements, Norwich Union Insurance Company, Mamaku Mountain Rimu Company, and several others.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. H. J. Clifford,
                J.P., is a native of Gloucestershire, England, where he was born in 1853, and was brought up to the tea trade. He came to New Zealand in 1881 and established the firm's business in 1883. Mr. Clifford is married to a daughter of Mr. U. J. Davis, of Court House, Painswick, and has four children.
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Mr. J. M. Clifford
                
                was born in Gloucestershire in 1865. He was educated at King Edward's Grammar School, Cheltenham, and was brought up to the wholesale drapery trade in London. Mr Clifford came to this colony and joined his brother in 1885. He is a Justice of the Peace, is married, and has four children.
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                  Kereone
                
                (Alexander Aitken, manager) is the property of Mr. William Aitken, and is 7500 acres in extent. Of the total area 2000 acres are in cultivation, and the balance is a rough run. The whole estate carries, on an average, 5000 sheep and 250 head of Polled Angus cattle.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Alexander Aitken
                
                was born in 1851, in Glasgow, Scotland. He was educated in Auckland, to which he came from Sydney with his parents by the ship “Moa,” the figure-head of which is still to be seen at the North Shore, near the wharf. Mr. Aitken was well known in business circles in Auckland for about twenty years, when he was connected with the seed and auctioneering business, which is still conducted under the name of Alexander Aitken, Ltd. He retired from business in 1890 and took up his residence at “Kereone,” of which he has been manager since 1893. He has been a member of the Waitoa Road Board since 1893, and was for three years a member of the Piako County Council, on which he represented the Piako riding. He was married, in 1881, to a daughter of the late Mr. Aquartier, of Auckland, and has two sons.

            

            

              
              


                
Locherbie Station,
                at Morrinsville, is the property of the Assets Realisation Board, for which Mr. John McCaw is the general superintendent. “Locherbie” is further referred to in connection with Matamata.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Isaac Trust,
                Head Shepherd in charge of Locherbie Station, was born at Howick, near Auckland, in 1860. He was brought up to farm work and entered the service of the Auckland Agricultural Company in March, 1881, as stockman at Fencourt estate, where he remained until that estate was subdivided and sold. He was appointed to his present position at Locherbie station in 1900. As an Oddfellow Mr. Trust is attached to the Howick Lodge. He was married, in 1883, to a daughter of the late Mr. F. Harris, of Pakurangi, and has one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Thomas Heath
                
                formerly had the management of the three well known properties, Locherbie, Waitoa and Rangatea, in the Waitoa district. The three estates contained in all about 50,000 acres, and carried 45,000 sheep and 3000 head of cattle. These properties were the first in the North Island to use the Wolseley sheep-shearing machines. Mr. Heath was born at Howick, near Auckland, in 1853, and entered the service of the company in 1875, as manager of a property near Cambridge. He remained in that position for several years and was then transferred to Waitoa, which he managed for ten years. Some time later “Locherbie” was added to his charge, and he then superintended the three estates, which were managed in a most systematic manner.

            

            

              
              


                

McDonald, James,
                Farmer, “Sunnybrae,” Morrinsville. This settler's fine compact farm contains about 482 acres and carries 500 crossbred sheep and fifty head of cattle, and about twenty acres are laid down in crop each year. The property has been occupied for the past twenty years by Mr. McDonald, who is a native of Halifax, Yorkshire, where he was born in 1856, and he accompanied his parents to New Zealand in 1860. His father, the late Mr. John McDonald, settled at Wairoa South, where he owned a fine property, known as “Woodlands,” for many years. On the death of his father, Mr. McDonald acquired his present property, on which he has since resided, in a charming house with beautiful gardens, and where he takes a great interest in the welfare of the district. He is married and has two daughters.
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McDonald, Thomas,
                Farmer, Pakarau, Morrinsville. Mr. McDonald's farm consists of 416 acres, all down in grass and well subdivided, and carried about 150 crossbred sheep, besides horses and cattle. The property was originally part of one block, but on the death of the late Mr. John McDonald, of “Woodlands,” it was apportioned between two brothers. Mr. Thomas McDonald, the second son, was born in Halifax, England, in 1849. After the arrival of his parents in the Colony he remained on his father's property at “Woodlands,” Wairoa South, till 1874, when he took over the management of the Pakarau farm. In 1879, he travelled through the various farming districts of New Zealand for three years to increase his agricultural knowledge, and after his father's death he settled with his wife and family on the portion of land that became his at Pakarau. He was one of the earliest settlers in the district, and experienced some rough times. Mr. McDonald has four children.
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                  Motumaoho Estate
                
                (Frederick Cole, manager), Morrinsville. This large estate is the property of Mr. Arundel, of Patea, and is situated on the main road from Morrinsville to Te Aroha. The property contains in all 5050 acres, 3000 of which consist of rich swamp land, capable of running a large number of stock. At present there are about 450 head of cattle and 375 crossbred sheep, and about 100 acres are down in turnips for sheep feed. The property has been occupied for more than twenty years, and has a pleasantly situated homestead surrounded by tasteful plantations.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederick Cole,
                the Manager of Motumaoho Estate, is a son of the late Mr. J. C. Cole, of Karori, Wellington, who was one of the pioneer settlers of that city. He was born in 1858 and was brought up to farming in Carterton. He then carried on a carting business between Wellington and Karori and subsequently purchased a farm at Patea. Afterwards he entered the employment of Mr. Arundel, of Patea, and about six years ago he was appointed by that gentleman to manage the Motumaoho Estate.
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Turnbull, John,
                Farmer, “Springdale,” Morrinsville. Mr. Turnbull's fine farm contains about 800 acres of land in an excellent state of cultivation. He was born in Perthshire. Scotland, in 1835, and was brought up to farming. In 1863 he came to New Zealand, per ship “Gertrude,” and landed in Auckland. He joined the Waikato Militia during the war and was engaged principally in the hard work of road-making through the enemy's country. At the conclusion of the war he purchased a farm at Tamaki East, where he resided for four years. In 1870, he acquired “Springdale Farm, and was the first white man to settle in the district. The land was all in titri and fern, and for a number of years Mr. Turnbull underwent much rough pioneering, as it took five days to pack stores from Hamilton to the farm. Mr. Turnbull was a member of the Waikato road board for eleven years, and was also on numerous other local bodies. He was married before leaving Scotland, and has three sons and three daughters.
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Piako.

            

              
              


                

                  
Piako
                
                is within a short distance of Morrinsville, in the county of Piako, and 104 miles south-east by rail from Auckland, with which it has daily postal communication.

            

            

              
              


                

Allen, William Shepherd,
                M.A., “Annandale,” Piako. Mr. Allen's beautiful property contains about 4300 acres, all, except 1000 acres, capable of cultivation. The sheep number 2000, including a fine stud flock of Romney Marsh, which for quality are not easily surpassed, and there is also a herd of 600 mixed cattle. Mr. Allen has resided in New Zealand, off and on, for the past twelve years, and is well known both in the Old Country and the Colony. He is a native of Manchester, where he was born in 1831, and was educated at Wadham College, Oxford, where he obtained his degree of M.A. In 1865 he was returned to the House of Commons as Liberal member for Newcastle-under-Lyne and occupied the seat till 1886. Mr. Allen was unable to agree with the leaders of the party on the Home Rule question, and became a Unionist. It was in 1885 he first visited the Colony with his family, and he then decided to settle in New Zealand. In 1890, he made his entry into colonial politics, and was returned for the Te Aroha electorate, but was unseated owing to an irregularity. He after wards contested the electorate of Parnell, but was unsuccessful. He occupied a seat on the Piako County Council for some time, but resigned on returning to England for a trip. In reference to Mr. Allen's connection with English politics, it is interesting to note that his eldest son now represents his old constituency, and had the distinction of being, at the time of his election in 1891, the youngest member of the House of Commons. Mr. Allen was married to a daughter of Mr. John Candish, M.P. for the Borough of Sunderland, and has six sons and four daughters, most of whom are settled in New Zealand.
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Kiwitahi.

            

              
              


                

                  
Kiwitahi
                
                is about four miles by road from the Kiwitahi flag railway station on the Morrinsville-Rotorua line. It has some very fine grazing farms. The station is sixty-three miles from Rotorua, six miles from Morrinsville, and 108 miles from Auckland, and stands 123 feet above the sea.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Tahuroa Estate
                
                (W. W. Lindsey, manager). This estate is the property of Mr. George Bayntun Starkey, and consists of 4080 acres of freehold in the Kiwitahi district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William West Lindsey,
                Manager of the Tahuroa Estate, was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1864, and came out to Nelson at the age of twelve in the ship “Camperdown.” The family afterwards removed to Picton, and subsequently settled at Mauku in the Auckland district. Mr. Lindsey was for several years at the Kereone estate, and afterwards managed a dairy and cheese factory for Messrs J. and C. Gould for several years. Subsequently he was employed at Woodlands station, and afterwards at Lichfield before being appointed to his present position in March, 1898. Mr. Lindsey was married, in May, 1890, to a daughter of Mr. S. Willis, of Somerset, England, and has two sons and three daughters.
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Walton.

            

              
              


                

                  
Walton
                
                is a flag station on the Morrinsville-Rotorua branch railway, and is fifty-seven miles from Rotorua and 114 from Auckland. It stands 163 feet above the sea level, and takes its name from the Walton Estate close by.

            

            

              
              


                
The Walton Post Office,
                established in 1886, is conducted on a portion of the goods shed of the Walton railway station. There are three mails daily, and Mrs Ella Hunt has been postmistress since 1895.

            

            

              
              


                
The Walton Public School,
                which is held in one of the railway cottages near the station was established in April, 1896. There is accommodation for thirty pupils, and the average attendance is seventeen. Mr. Charles Gribble, who holds an E1 certificate, has been in charge since April, 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

Burnett, Frederic Walton,
                Sheep-farmer, Walton Estate, Walton. The estate consists of 1243 acres of freehold and 854 acres of leasehold land. The proprietor has a fine flock of Shropshire sheep, and herd of shorthorn cattle. He was born in Surrey, England, in 1858, was educated at Harrow, joined the 23rd Royal Welsh Fusiliers as lieutenant, and served about a year, when his health broke down. In 1879 Mr. Burnett arrived in Lyttelton by the ship “Merope,” and settled in the Waikato. He afterwards removed to Walton with a brother, who has since returned to England. For about four years Mr. Burnett served on the Waitoa Road Board. He was married, in 1895, to a daughter of the late Mr J. Hunt, of Walton, and has two sons and one daughter.

            

            

              
              


                
Lansdowne Estate,
                the property of the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency



Company, consists of between 3000 and 4000 acres, mostly improved land. The station carries about 3600 crossbred sheep, and nearly 400 head of shorthorn cattle.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Teague,
                Manager of the Lansdowne Estate since 1888, was born in 1847, at Auckland. As a lad he entered the employment of the late Mr. J. C. Firth, with whom he continued for nearly twenty years, and had charge of the stock at Matamata station for about thirteen years.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Hunt,
                Old Colonist, was born in Yorkshire, England, in 1837. He arrived in Auckland in 1860, and after considerable experience in various parts of the North Island settled at Walton in 1880. He was married, in 1868, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Duffus, of Mongonui, and at his death, in 1893, left two daughters and one son. Eversley estate, which consists of 850 acres of improved land, is the property of his widow.
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Waharoa.

            

              
              


                

                  
Waharoa
                
                is 118 miles by rail from Auckland and fifty-four miles from Rotorua. The flag station is 175 feet above the sea, and the district was originally a portion of the Matamata Estate. The settlement dates from about 1884; some of the settlers lease their properties, and others are acquiring freeholds. A large cheese and butter factory, connected with the Matamata Estate, is not far from the railway station.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waharoa Post And Telephone Office
                
                was established in 1886. Telephone communication with Rotorua and Morrinsville has since been established, and daily mails are received and despatched.

            

            

              
              


                

Miss Emily Elizabeth Howe Latimer,
                Postmistress and Telephonist at Waharoa, was born in County Cavan, Ireland. She was educated partly in her native land and partly in New Zealand, and arrived in Auckland by the s.s. “Ionic” in 1888. Her father settled in the Waharoa district, where Miss Latimer became a dressmaker, and as such she has conducted business since 1892, and has done duty at the post office as well since April, 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waharoa Cheese Factory
                
                (J. S. Paget, manager) is owned by the Assets Realisation Board, and is worked under the general superintendence of Mr. J. McCaw, of Matamata estate. It is a wooden building with an iron roof, is divided into five departments, and the machinery is driven by a three and a half horse power stationary engine. In the cheese-making department there are two vats and two presses capable of treating 1100 gallons of milk daily. Then there are two store rooms and a large cheese room for curing. The company has 120 milking cows, and there are in addition ten suppliers, who milk in the aggregate about double that number. The cheese from the factory is exported to the markets of the Old World.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Strang Paget,
                Manager of the Waharoa Cheese Factory, was born at Mataura, Southland, in 1877. He was educated at Ferndale, near Mataura, and served three years in the Edendale Dairy Factory. Mr. Paget, who is unmarried, was appointed to his present position in January, 1898.
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Forsman, Axel Leonard,
                Farmer, Waharoa. The property farmed by Mr. Forsman consists of 153 acres of land, which is utilised as a dairy farm and for breeding purposes. Mr. Forsman has an Alpha-Laval separator on the premises. He was born in 1871 at the Thames, and, having been brought up to country life, settled in Waharoa in 1899. Mr. Forsman was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. W. Johnson, of Taupiri, and has three sons.

            

            

              
              


                

Scelley, Daniel,
                Farmer and Butcher, Waharoa. Mr. Scelley was born in 1850, at Onehunga. He was educated in his native place and at Drury, and was brought up to country life. In 1868 he entered the employment of the late Mr. J. C. Firth, of Matamata, and remained with him till 1885, prior to which he had been for eight years one of Mr. Firth's foremen. In 1885 Mr. Scelley settled at Waharoa, where he took up 100 acres of land known as “Laurelgrove,” which he has since farmed, and where he also conducts the business of a butcher. Mr. Scelley has been closely connected with the local school committee, and has occupied the position of chairman for several years. Mr. Scelley was one of the first members of the Matamata Road Board, on which he occupied a seat for a number of years. He is returning officer for the Board. Mr. Scelley was married, in 1875, to a daughter of Mr. W. Lockley, of Nelson, and afterwards of Cambridge, and has four sons and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Ross,
                J.P., one of the Oldest Settlers in the district, was born in Nova Scotia in 1840, became a teacher, and followed that calling for about twelve years. He arrived in Auckland in 1882, settled in Onehunga, and was subsequently farming at Pukekohe till 1886, when he became one of the pioneer settlers at Waharoa. He farms eighty-nine acres of land near the railway station and has a comfortable little homestead, at which visitors to the district find acommodation. Mr. Ross has served on the local school committee. He was married, in 1886, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. M. Kennedy, of the Bay of Islands, who came to New Zealand in 1837, and his wife in 1842.
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Matamata.

            

              
              


                

                  
Matamata
                
                is a flag station 121 miles south by rail from Auckland, on the Morrinsville-Rotorua branch railway, and fifty-six miles distant from Rotorua. The station, which is 211 feet above the sea, is a mile and a half from the tower of the Matamata homestead, whence it takes its name. The whole of the neighbouring country consists of excellent agricultural land, and within a few miles of the homestead there are some fine hot springs. One of the sights of the districts is the waterfall named Wairere, which leaps from a point in the surrounding ranges for a distance of 451 feet, with one small break.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Matamata Road Board
                
                has jurisdiction over a district in the county of Piako. The district has a population of about 300 persons, about fifty dwellings, sixty ratepayers, and eighty ratable properties. The board levies a rate of a halfpenny in the £.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John McCaw,
                who has been Chairman of the Matamata Road Board since 1895, and is a member of the Piako County Council, on which he represents Matamata riding, was born in the parish of Kirkoswald, Ayrshire, Scotland, in 1849. He was educated at the parish school, the Ayr Academy, and the Glasgow University, and was brought up to farming. At the age of sixteen Mr. McCaw began his career as a farm manager on one of his father's farms. In 1874 he arrived in Port Chalmers by the ship “Oamaru.” Three years later he became manager of one of Mr. J. M. Ritchie's stations in South Canterbury. Mr. McCaw became manager of the Three Springs Estate in the Fairlie Creek district in 1880, and six years afterwards entered the employment of the New Zealand and Australian Land Company, with which he remained till he was appointed superintendent of the Bank of New Zealand Estates Company's properties in the North Island. When the Bank took over the Auckland Agricultural Company's estates, Mr. McCaw became superintendent of the Waikato properties. He is a member of the general committee of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Society, and a member of the Farmers' Club. Mr. McCaw was married, in 1881, to a daughter of the Rev. A. B. Todd, of Oamaru. This lady died in 1890, leaving one son and one daughter. In 1893 Mr. McCaw was married to a daughter of Mr. A. Buckland, the well known auctioneer of Auckland, and three sons have been born of this union.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Benjamin Browne,
                who has been a Member of the Matamata Road Board since 1889, was born in 1845 in Wells, somersetshire, England, where he was educated and brought up as a dairyfarmer. In 1865 he came to Auckland by the ship “Victory,” and after two years in the Wainui district north of Auckland, went to the Thames at the opening of that goldfield. During the nine years that he spent in connection with mining, Mr. Browne narrowly escaped being killed on three separate occasions. In 1876 he settled in Taupiri, and after a year commenced farming on his own account. Ten years later he went to Waharoa, for Messrs Friar and Davies, as manager of their store, and commenced business on his own account at Matamata in 1893. Mr. Browne was one of the promoters of the Waharoa school, on the committee of which he served for some time. He was married, in 1876 to a sister of the Hon. J. McGowan, Minister of Justice and Mines, and has three daughters.
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Mr. Robert Axel Forsman,
                who has been a Member of the Matamata Road Board since 1896, and is also a member of the local school committee, of which he was secretary for three years, was born in Auckland in 1867. He was educated at the Thames, where he was brought up to the trade of a carpenter. For some years Mr Forsman found work in connection with battery building at Karangahake, Waihi, Waitekauri. In June, 1894, he settled in Waharoa, and established himself as a general storekeeper and farmer. His premises at Waharoa consist of a large double-fronted shop, with a five-roomed dwelling-house, and the usual outbuildings. Mr. Forsman was married, in 1895, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Capill, of the Thames, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Mr. Edward Dudley Murray,
                who has been a Member of the Matamata Road Board since 1896, was born in 1854 in the Isle of Man. When he was eighteen years of age he came to Auckland by the ship “Queen Bee,” and was a cadet at Mongonui for about a year. After a short time on an estate near Cambridge, Mr. Murray bought land at Walton in 1876. His property, which is 414 acres in extent, is known as “Otterburn.” It is all improved, and carries a considerable number of cattle and sheep. Mr. Murray is a member of the Waikato Agricultural and Pastoral Association.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Matamata Post And Telephone Office
                
                has been conducted since 1893 at the store of Mr. B. Browne, close to the Matamata railway station. There are





two mails in and out daily. Miss Bessie Browne acts as postmistress and telephone officer.

            

            

              
              


                
Matamata Public School,
                established in February, 1900, is conducted in a building belonging to the Assets Realisation Board, and has accommodation for twenty-six pupils. There are twenty-three names on the roll, and the school has been taught from the first by Miss A. Jane, who served her pupil teachership at the Beresford Street School, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Matamata Boardinghouse
                
                was established in 1899, and is conducted by Mr. Robert Joseph Kerr, who was born in Dublin in 1847, and has been in New Zealand since he was three years of age. He has been a carpenter at the Matamata estate since 1895.

            

            

              
              


                

Higgins, Samuel,
                Farmer, “Peria,” Matamata. Mr. Higgins was born in Worcestershire, England, in 1847. He was brought up to farming, and came to Wellington by the ship “Orari” in 1877. Shortly afterwards Mr. Higgins removed to Auckland, and found employment with the late Mr. J. C. Firth, as engineer in charge of machinery at Matamata. He commenced farming on his own account about 1887. His farm, known as “Peria,” consists of 230 acres of frehold land. Mr. Higgins has served on several occasions as a member of the Matamata Road Board. He was married, in 1894, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Moon, of Sussex, England, and sister to Mrs H. Brett and Mrs A. Porter, of Auckland.

            

            

              
              

                
Matamata Estate,
               
 which is the property of the Assets Realisation Board, is situated between the Waihou and Piako rivers. It consists of 50,000 acres of flat land; 22,500 acres are in English grasses or turnips, and the balance is in natural grasses. About 2000 acres are cropped with turnips every year. There are large plantations of English trees upon the estate. The property was originally taken up by the late Mr. J. C. Firth, who was the pioneer settler of the district. Mr. Firth erected the homestead known as “The Towers,” which serves as a residence for the general superintendent of the “Matamata” and several other estates belonging to the Assets Board. It is probable that “The Towers” is the only bullet-proof, loop-holed, fortified residence in New Zealand. The proprietors of “Matamata” are also the owners of several other large stations, which are all under the management of the general superintendent, Mr. John McCaw The other properties consist of the Mangawhero Estate of 6000 acres, the Okoroire Estate of 9000 acres, situated at Tirau, the Mangapouri Estate of 3000 acres, which lies towards Lichfield from Okoroire, and the Tiran estate of 6500 acres. On this property, in the early days, there was a strong Maori pa, which is still to be seen, and it was the scene of fighting during the Maori disturbances. There is also the Paparumu estate of 7000 acres, which adjoins Tirau estate towards the Lower Waikato river; also the Paeroa estate, which fronts on to the Waikato river, and is 8800 acres in extent, and lies between the Matamata estate and the Horo-Horo estate, which also has an area of 8800 acres. Then there is the Richmond Downs estate, of 13,000 acres, and the Waitoa estate of 23,000 acres, near Te Aroha. There is also the Locherbie estate of 21,000 acres, in the centre of which stands the township of Morrinsville. The total area of the properties managed from Matamata as a centre is 156,100 acres. The two years 1898–1900 were very successful years on these properties, which showed a good percentage on the total capital value. These estates carry 103,000 growing sheep, and between 30,000 and 40,000 lambs are also shorn annually. Pure bred flocks of Leicester and Lincoln shop are kept for breeding purposes, and there is also a fine stud of pure bred Clydesdale horses, including the well known Clydesdale entire, “Red Gauntlet,” and about seventy Clydesdale mares. Numerous good hacks, in addition to the Clydesdales, are raised every year. There are from 12,000 to 13,000 head of cattle on the estates, mostly of the shorthorn breed. About 120 cows are milked at “Matamata,” and the produce is sent to the Board's cheese factory, at Waharoa, mentioned in another article. Portions of the estate at Waharoa are let to dairy farmers, who avail themselves of the cheese factory. On all the properties supervised from “Matamata,” about 6500 acres of Swede turnips are sown annually. About
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1000 head of fat bullocks, and 500 to 600 head of fat cows are sent to the market each year, and 17,000 to 20,000 freezers are supplied to the Auckland market. The surplus of the estates in sheep amounts to about 40,000 per year. Most of the ploughing on the estate is done by four-furrow ploughs, capable of turning over about seven acres per day each, with four horses and one man. About fifty hands are frequently employed in connection with these fine properties, in addition to casual hands and shearers; and during the shearing time sixty-two Wolseley shearing machines are in use.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John McCaw,
                who, since 1889, has been Superintendent at “Matamata” of the Assets Realisation Board's estates, is referred to in another article as chairman of the Matamata Road Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edward Averill,
                Assistant Manager on the Matamata Estate, was born at Stafford, England, in 1864, and educated at King Edward VI.'s School. He served for three years in Lloyd's Bank, Lichfield, where he gained considerable experience, and came to Port Chalmers by the s.s. “Aorangi,” in 1885. Mr. Averill entered the service of the Bank of New Zealand, and was stationed about eight months at Woodville. He was engaged for over ten years subsequently at Mangatoro station near Dannevirke. For a short time afterwards he was on the Himatangi station near Foxton, and was appointed assistant manager at “Matamata” in 1897. Mr. Averill was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. N. Newcome, of Fitzherbert, near Palmerston North.
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Hinuera.

            

              
              


                

Hinuera,
                A flag station on the Morrinsville-Rotorua branch line of railway, is 126 miles from Auckland and forty-five from Rotorua. It stands 258 feet above the sea. The district lies in the Piako county and is good for farming.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Hinuera Post Office
                
                is conducted at the residence of Mr. W. C. Ring, not far from the Hinuera railway station. Mails are received on Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays, and are despatched on Tuesdays, Thursdays, and Saturdays. Miss Ethel Ring acts as postmistress.

            

            

              
              


                
The Hinuera Public School,
                which was established in 1892, is conducted in a building belonging to the railway department, and stands near the railway station. There is one class room and a porch. The school has accommodation for twenty-six pupils; there are twenty-two names on the roll, and the average attendance is seventeen.

            

            

              
              


                

Miss Marion Constance Holder,
                who is in charge of the Hinuera Public School, was born and educated in Auckland. She served her pupil teachership at Mount Eden and Ohaupo public schools, and was appointed to the charge o the Hinuera school in February, 1899. Miss Holder is a daughter of Mr. T. Holder, farmer, at Lucas Creek.
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Okoroire.

            

              
              


                

                  
Okoroire
                
                is a flag station on the railway line from Auckland to Rotorua. It is forty miles from Rotorua, 112 from Auckland, stands at an elevation of 314 feet above the sea, and is about three miles from the Okoroire Hotel and sanatorium, with which it is connected by road. Near the sanatorium the Waihou river passes through a very remarkable natural bridge which is well worth a visit. There are a number of scattered settlers in the Okoroire district.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Okoroire Public School
                
                was established in 1896, and has accommodation for forty pupils. There are thirty-nine names on the roll, and the average attendance is thirty-three. About half the children are Maoris. The land attached to the school, three acres in extent, was given by the Thames Valley Land Company.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. A. E. Jackson,
                Headmaster of the Okoroire Public School, entered the service of the Education Board in 1893 as a pupil teacher, and was appointed to Okoroire in March, 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Okoroire Hotel And Sanatorium
                
                (Laurence Callaghan, licensee), Okoroire. This popular health resort is about three miles from the Okoroire railway station, with which it is connected by a good road. The commodious buildings contain about forty rooms, and have accommodation for seventy visitors. There is a large hall. 40 feet by 25 feet, adjoining the hotel, and a store, with the post and telephone office attached to it. The grounds are well laid out in lawns and flower beds, and there is a splendid kitchen garden and nursery. The hotel stands on an eminence, whence visitors obtain fine views of the surrounding country, and the district is noted on account of the splendid hot water baths which have been constructed on the estate. There are four of these baths, which are well kept and have proved very beneficial in the case of many human ailments. The flow from the spring is at the rate of 4100 gallons per hour. There is plenty of game in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Laurence Callaghan,
                who is in charge of the Sanatorium, was born in County Cavan, Ireland, in 1845. He was educated at the Model School, Bailieborough, and at Glasnevin School, Dublin. In 1865 Mr. Callaghan arrived in Auckland by the ship “Dauntless.” He has been in charge of the Okoroire Hotel since 1895. For a time he resided at Maketu, near Drury, where he was chairman, and also for some time secretary of the local school committee. Mr. Callaghan was married, in 1866, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. McCab.
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Tirau.

            

              
              


                

                  
Tirau
                
                is a flag station on the Morrinsville-Rotorua branch line of railway, thirty-eight miles from Rotorua and 131 from Auckland. It stands at an elevation of 335 feet above sea level. The surrounding district was originally named Oxford, and was for a number of years the terminus of the railway from Auckland. A hotel and a few stores constitute the township. The Okoroire homestead is rather more than a mile from the station, and there are a few scattered settlers in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tirau Post And Telephone Office
                
                was established as a post office about the time the railway line was opened at Tirau. It is connected by telephone with all the stations from Rotorua to Morrinsville, and the room originally occupied by the stationmaster at Tirau is set apart for this purpose. Mrs. McIlwraith is postmistress and telephonist at Tirau.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tirau Railway Station
                
                is a wooden building of the usual type, and includes a ladies' waiting room, a public vestibule, and an office with a lobby. It has a goods shed and the usual passenger platform. There is no stationmaster and the office is at present used by the Post and Telegraph Department.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tirau Public School
                
                was established about 1888. It has accommodation for sixty pupils, and there are now (1901) twenty-seven names on the roll. Miss M. Cossey, the teacher, was appointed in 1895.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Oxford Royal Hotel
                
                (Frank Rose, proprietor), Tirau. This hotel was built in 1880, and was purchased by the present proprietor in 1883. The building has been several times enlarged, and now contains about twenty rooms.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frank Rose,
                the Proprietor, was born in County Mayo, Ireland, in 1853, and came to Auckland by the ship “Benvenue,” in 1876. He was the proprietor of the Masonic Hotel, Cambridge, for seven years before settling at Tirau. Besides managing the hotel, Mr. Rose has a general store and butchery, and a saddler's shop.

            

            

              
              


                

Benton, William Paterson,
                Blacksmith, Tirau. This business was established in 1884 by Mr. T. Gemmill, of Cambridge. Mr. J. L. Begg afterwards took it over and the present proprietor has owned it since February, 1895. Mr. Benton was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1869, was educated at Hamilton near that city, and came to Auckland in 1883 by the s.s. “Westmeath.” He was four years at Kihikihi and came to Tirau in 1891, to work for his uncle, the previous proprietor of the business. Mr. Benton's residence is on the main road, where he holds five acres of land. He was married, in 1895, to a daughter of Mr. W. Howie, formerly of Cambridge, and later of Paeroa, and has one son and one daughter.
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                  The Waimakariri Trout Hatchery
                
                at Tirau (F. D. Smale, manager) was established in 1893. The property, which is thirty-five acres in extent, is owned by the Auckland Acclimatisation Society, which conducts the hatchery. There are about 1200 breeding stock of rainbow trout, which are capital sporting fish, and are very active and hardy. About half a million eggs are gathered every year, and in the season of 1900 over 200,000 were sold, and about 150,000 young fish were sent off to various parts of the colony. The Waimakariri affords splendid water all the year round, and never floods at the hatchery. There are seven beautiful trout streams, within a radius of eight miles of the hatchery, where good catches are made every season, and there is first-class accommodation for anglers at Okoroire, Tirau, and Putaruru, overlooking the different streams.

            

            

              
              


                
Okoroire Station,
                which is one of the estates under the supervision of Mr. John McCaw, of Matamata, adjoins the railway line between Tirau and Okoroire station.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. David Goodwin,
                Shepherd in charge at Okoroire Station, was born in Limerick, Ireland, in 1856. After some experience in Queensland, he came to Auckland, in 1878, and took a position under Messrs Maclean and Co., at Okoroire. He continued to hold a position on the property during the ownership of the Auckland Agricultural Company, and since the Assets Realisation Board took over the management, has remained on the Board's estates. For nine years he held the position of sub-manager at Horo-Horo, and for four years he had charge of Paeroa and Horo-Horo stations. He has been in charge of Okoroire station since 1898, and also supervises the stock on several of the other stations belonging to the board. Mr. Goodwin was married, in 1882, to a daughter of the late Mr. William Pearson, of County Limerick, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Putararu.

            

              
              


                

                  
Putararu
                
                is 140 miles from Auckland and thirty-two from Rotorua. It stands 525 feet above the sea, and is the only station between Morrinsville and Rotorua that is in charge of a stationmaster. There are a few scattered settlers in the district; Lichfield is five miles distant, and Waotu fourteen miles; and the traffic from these two places comes to Putararu. Hares, pheasants and quail, as well as fine trout, abound in the district. There is a comfortable hotel convenient to the railway station, and a refreshment room at the station is managed by the hotelkeeper.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Putararu Railway Station And Post And Telephone Office
                
                was opened in 1886. It has the customary accommodation for the staff and the pubic, and there are also landing yards for cattle.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Jenkins,
                Stationmaster and Postmaster at Putararu, was born in London in 1872. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “East Lothian,” in 1883, entered the public service in September, 1886, as a cadet, and was appointed to his present position in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Putarau Junction Hotel
                
                (James Sherley, proprietor), Putararu. This house was established in December, 1895. It is a one-storey wooden building with ten rooms, five of which are bedrooms. There is a comfortable dining room, and behind the hotel there are stables containing six stalls and three loose boxes.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Sherley,
                the Proprietor, is an old colonist, and was born near Windsor, England, where he became a commercial traveller at the age of eighteen. In 1852 he landed in Sydney, and had his first goldmining experiences at the Rocky river. A year later he removed to Victoria, where he was on the Castlemaine, Bendigo, and other diggings. In 1863 Mr. Sherley came to Otago, and went to the Shotover. He removed to Auckland in 1864. During the early coaching days Mr. Sherley was well known at Rangiriri, where he built the hotel in 1866, and conducted it till 1881. For six years afterwards he was engaged in farming in the same district. Mr. Sherley then acted for five years as a commercial traveller in the Auckland district, and was subsequently for two years licensee of the Okoroire Hotel. He then removed to Lichfield, where he managed the Lichfield Hotel for two years, and has been at Putararu since the opening of the house, and also conducts a store, which adjoins the hotel. While at Rangiriri, Mr. Sherley was for ten years returning officer and postmaster for the district.
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Lichfield.

            

              
              


                

                  
Lichfield
                
                is the name of a fine estate, and is the headquarters of the Thames Valley Land Company, proprietors of the large property once widely known as Paterere. It is situated on the main road from Putaruru to Taupo. There are very few property owners in the district.

            

            

              
              


                
The Lichfield Post And Telephone Office,
                which is conducted at the public school, was established in 1885. It is connected by telephone with all stations between Rotorua and Morrinsville, and mails are received and despatched each week.

            

            

              
              


                

Miss Isabella F. R. Kells,
                Postmistress and Telephonist, and Teacher in charge of the Public School, was born at Pakuranga, near Auckland. She was educated partly at Panmure and partly at Onehunga, and entered the service of the Auckland Board of Education as an assistant in 1878. Miss Kells was stationed at Panmure for eleven years, and has had charge of Lichfield school since 1898.
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The Lichfield Public School,
                which stands on a portion of the Lichfield station, was established in 1886. It is a wooden building, and has accommodation for thirty pupils. There are eighteen names on the roll, and the average attendance is fifteen.

            

            

              
              


                
The Lichfield Public Library,
                which was established in 1888, is lodged in the public school building. It contains 850 volumes, including a considerable number of



recent works, and is a great boon to the somewhat scattered settlers of the district. Mr. Thomas Freeman, who has been chairman of the committee, acts also as secretary and librarian.

            

            

              
              


                

Freeman, Thomas,
                Farmer and Carrier, the “Moorlands,” Lichfield. Mr. Freeman was born at Reedness, near Goole, Yorkshire, England, in 1849, and was brought up to country work on his father's farm. He came to Auckland in 1889 by the ship “British Empire,” and settled near Cambridge, and, two years later, he was for a few months on the Te Aroha goldfield. When the constabulary had completed the road from Oxford to Rotorua, Mr. Freeman started a team and was the first to drive a waggon through to Rotorua; and subsequently he became the pioneer of a line of waggons from Taupo to Lichfield, a distance of fifty-four miles. Since the railway line was removed between Putararu and Lichfield, Mr. Freeman has had to deliver and receive goods at the former station. He has been a settler in the Lichfield district since 1886, and bought the Moorlands property—567 acres of freehold—in 1896. Mr. Freeman runs 250 sheep, twenty head of cattle and fourteen horses on his property, and has two five-horse teams regularly plying on the road. He has been a member of the Lichfield school committee for many years, and its chairman for five years. Mr. Freeman was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr. T. B. Ward, of Ruapuke, near Raglan, and has one adopted daughter. He is referred to in another article in connection with the Lichfield public library.
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Lichfield Station,
                the property of the New Zealand Thames Valley Company, consists of 165,000 acres, and is under the management of the Assets Realisation Board. About 60,000 acres of the estate are in bush. The property is about forty miles by twenty-two miles in extent, and is worked as a sheep and cattle station.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Mark Harrison,
                Manager of the Lichfield Station, is referred to in another article as a member of the Piako County Council.
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Mamaku.

            

              
              


                

                  
Mamaku
                
                was opened as a settlement about 1894. There is a village reserve in acre sections around the railway station, and a large area of good land held under perpetual lease, with the right to purchase, is mostly covered with rimu and tawa bush. There are two large saw mills in the district, worked respectively by the Mountain Rimu Timber Company and Mr. A. W. Roe. About thirty settlers reside within a short distance of Mamaku station, and hold from 250 to 1000 acres each. The district, which is about 2000 feet above the level of the sea, is remarkably healthy, and will very likely become a health resort in the near future. On each side of the railway approaching Mamaku there is a reserve 15 chains in width, and as the land is covered with thick bush, the traveller sees no signs of settlement. The railway station is at the highest point reached on the journey to Rotorua—namely, 1884 feet above sea level, and is fourteen miles from the terminus, and 158 from Auckland. Besides large quantities of timber, Mamaku sends away cocksfoot grass seed in considerable quantities, and Maori women and children collect ferns and vegetable caterpillars, which they offer for sale to the tourist en route.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Mamaku Settlers' Association
                
                was established in 1896 to take any steps deemed necessary to promote the welfare of the district by the opening up of roads and similar works. Officers for 1900: Messrs A. W. Roe, chairman, and J. J. Ross, secretary and treasurer. Twenty-five miles of roads have already been opened in the district.

            

            

              
              


                
The Mamaku Cricket Club,
                which was established in 1896, has two very good teams with a membership of thirty-five. The recreation ground near the Mountain Rimu Company's mill is used for practising. Officers for 1900: Messrs F. Henderson, president, A. W. Roe, vice-president, A. McColl, secretary, and A. Jackson, treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Mamaku Football Club
                
                was established in 1897, and holds its practices and sports at the recreation ground at Mamaku near the Mountain Rimu Company's mill. There is a strong team of about forty members. Mr. W. H. Herries, M.H.R., is president, and Mr. A. McColl, secretary and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

Ross, James Joseph,
                Butcher and Farmer, Mamaku. Mr. Ross was born at Kaiwaka



in the north of Auckland in 1870, brought up to agriculture in his native place, and has had a large experience in the management of cattle. He settled in 1896 at Mamaku, where he bought 500 acres of land, and founded the butcher's business since conducted by him. Mr. Ross takes an interest in local affairs generally, and has for some time acted as secretary of the Mamaku Settlers' Association. He was married, in 1899, to a daughter of Mr. E. O. Amoore, of Ngaire, Taranaki.
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Mountain Rimu Timber Company,
                Limited. Directors: Messrs H. C. Wick, chairman, C. Rhodes, W. G. Nicholls, J. S. Hope, and F. Barling; Mr. F. Henderson, manager; Head Office and mills, Mamaku. This company was incorporated on the 24th of January, 1898, to purchase the mills of Messrs Kusabs Brothers. It owns 4000 acres of splendid rimu bush, and the mills and the head office are situated about three miles and a half from the railway station, with which it is connected by a tramway. The machinery is driven by a twenty-five horse power stationary engine. There is a full sawing and planing plant, capable of turning out 12,000 feet of sawn and dressed timber daily. A market for the timber is found throughout the Auckland district, and a good deal is exported to Australia. A large quantity of firewood is cut and shipped to Rotorua.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Francis Henderson,
                Manager of the Mountain Rimu Timber Company, was born in 1862, in Dunedin, where he was apprenticed as a carpenter. For about fourteen years Mr. Henderson took contracts for railway construction, and was subsequently for seven years at Masterton. He then removed to the Thames and started a mill at Grahamstown, and at a later date he bought the Dalefield mill. Mr. Henderson was afterwards milling at Hosking's Bush, and his firm, D. Henderson and Co., was subsequently incorporated as a limited company. Mr. Henderson was appointed manager at Mamaku in June, 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Alexander McColl
                
                Secretary of the Mountain Rimu Timber Company, Límited, was born in 1873, in Wellington, and is the youngest son of the late Mr. Ewen McColl, Parliamentary Librarian. After a farming experience of six years in the Wairarapa and Hawke's Bay districts, Mr. McColl became clerk to Mr. A. Hall, of the Wellington City Tramway, and held the position for two years. He was then for three years in the Colonial Bank at Wellington. In 1897 he removed to Auckland, where he had some experience in mining, and became clerk to Messrs Kusabs Brothers, at Mamaku. On the formation of the Mountain Rimu Company he became accountant, and was promoted to the position of secretary in February, 1899.
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Roe, Alfred William,
                Sawmiller and Timber Merchant, Mamaku, near Rotorua. This business was established in 1898. The machinery, which includes a full saw and planing plant, is driven by a 24-horse power steam engine, and the mill has a capacity equal to 70,000 feet per week. It is erected in the centre of one of the best rimu forests in New Zealand. The timber secured for this mill is estimated at not less than thirty millions of feet, and as much more is available. The bush is close to the highest railway station in New Zealand—a station which stands 1894 feet above the level of the sea; and the timber is of the best quality, very lofty, and averages four feet in diameter, and is full of heart. The picked timber for cabinet work comes from this forest. Mr. Roe is a son of the late Mr. M. H. Roe, of Onehunga. Mr. Roe's father was one of the oldest and largest sawmillers of his day, and he brought his son up to his own business. In the early days of the Ohinemuri goldfields in 1883, Mr. A. W. Roe and his brothers erected a sawmill at Waihi, and cut the timber for the first Martha battery and water-race, and while thus engaged they had great trouble with the Maoris of the neighbourhood. Mr. Roe afterwards started a sawmill for Mr. John Read at the Thames river, and was manager for Mr. Read for over fifteen years. In 1898 he removed to Mamaku, and established a business for himself. Mr. Roe was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. F. Cock, of Paeroa, and has two daughters and one son.
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Mr. James Napier Lavery,
                at one time a partner in the firm of A. W. Roe and Co., was born at Napier in 1869. He was educated at the Thames, served an apprenticeship as a carpenter at Te Aroha, and afterwards worked at his trade in the Ohinemuri district. He is a son of Mr. James Lavery, of Te Aroha.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Joseph Edward Morland,
                who was formerly a partner in the firm of A. W. Roe and Co., of which Mr. Roe is now sole proprietor, was born in Essex, England, in 1856. He arrived in Auckland with his parents by the ship “Golconda” in 1864. As a lad, he joined the late Mr. M. H. Roe, at Onehunga, and remained with him till he retired from business, after which he had full charge of the Onehunga mill for about fourteen years, and he and a partner subsequently rented it on contract for two years. Mr. Morland then removed to the Thames, where he found employment with Messrs Bagnall Brothers, and was for two years with that firm. Mr. Morland was married, in 1880, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Goodman, of Nelson, and has two daughters and one son.
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Rotorua.

            

              
              

                

Rotorua,
               
 also called Ohinemutu, on the shores of the large lake of Rotorua, is the most celebrated sanatorium of the Southern Hemisphere, as well as its greatest wonderland. There is a mixture of Maori and European civilisation, the Government township being at Rotorua and the native settlement at Ohinemutu. A large and handsome runanga, or meeting house, with all the characteristics and grotesque carvings of Maori architecture, is one of the attractions of Ohinemutu. Bath houses connected with the various sulphur and mineral springs, and a fine hospital or sanatorium, have been put up by the Government. Every arrangement is made for the comfort and convenience of invalids or visitors. There is communication by rail from Auckland, also by steamer to Tauranga, and thence back forty miles by a coach road, which passes through the Oropi bush and some picturesque mountain scenery. A considerable number of natives reside in the neighbourhood, and there is a Government school, which is largely attended by their children. There are several large and well conducted hotels. The district abounds in notable localities, trips, and scenes, such as Wai-o-tapu Valley, about twenty miles from Ohinemutu; the drive to Bungalow, ascending the slopes of Pareheru, en route to see the district destroyed by the eruption of Tarawera, in 1886; boiling pools, mud pools, volcanoes, teapots, green, blue and multi-coloured miniature lakes, the multi-coloured hill, Maungakakaramea; and sulphur fumaroles, alum cliffs, incipient terraces, etc. Tarawera Lake and Mountain, via Wairoa, are distant about ten miles by land to Wairoa, then by boat across Lake Tarawera. One long whole day is required if Tarawera is to be ascended and the craters seen. The sites of
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Lake Rotorua, Showing Mokoia Island.





the village of Ariki, and the pink and white terraces, are pointed out by the guide. The ascent of Tarawera well repays the toil, as the view is fine, and the actual craters which did the mischief can be inspected. The lakes trip includes Lakes Rotorua, Rotoiti, and Rotoma. Camping out requisites, provisions, and boats for a party of four, cost about £1 per day. There is good shooting for sportsmen. Mokoia Island lies in the centre of Lake Rotorua, and is the scene of the finest romance in Maori story. In Maori legend, Hinemoa, swimming from Owhata near the old mission station of Te Ngae, landed on this island to meet her lover. It also was the scene of some of Hongi's slaughterous and cannibalistic exploits. In visiting Te Ngae, Tikitere, and Whakarewarewa, it is best, instead of making a separate trip, to have a buggy sent round to Te Ngae, and sail thither from Mokoia Island—a pleasant half hour's journey. From Te Ngae the buggy is taken to Tikitere, celebrated for its wonderful boiling pools (excellent for chronic rheumatism), whence a short walk leads to Lake Rotoiti. On the homeward drive Whakarewarewa is visited. There are fine new baths here, and a comfortable hotel, a Maori village, boiling springs, terrace formations, and geysers. Sodom, Gomorrah, Bainbridge's Grave, Sulphur Point, and other shorter excursions can be made in half a day, or the places themselves can be visited when returning from Whakarewarewa. It should be added that wonderful progress has been made in the Rotorua district within recent years. The original settlement, which clustered round Pukeroa Hill on the banks of the lake, and was known as Ohinemutu, dates from about 1870. Since then the flat land near the baths and sanatorium has been laid out in fine streets and squares, known as Rotorua proper, which contains the principal hotels, business premises and residences in the district. The railway line was opened to Rotorua in December, 1894, and since then there has been a marked increase in the traffic. A train arrives daily from Auckland, and is run as an express to Rotorua on three days in the week, and similarly from Rotorua on the alternate days. The splendid reserve of fifty acres, known as Pukeroa Hill, has been laid out by the Government with the object of making it a popular resort for tourists. The township of Rotorua is lighted by electricity, which is also used for the purpose of working the sewerage station.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Rotorua Town Board
                
                is the local governing body of a special town district under the Thermal Springs District Act of 1881. Its first meeting was held on the 23rd of April, 1883. Members for 1900: Mr. S. T. Brent (acting chairman), Dr. G. G. Kenny, Captain A. C. Turner, and Messrs G. A. Empson and H. Kirk. The district under the jurisdiction of the board is bounded by Lake Rotorua on the north, the Utuhia stream on the west, the Puarenga stream on the east, and Whakarewarewa on the south. The board has control of all public works in regard to streets, of which there are about eight or nine miles, all at least one chain and a half wide; and the principal roadway. Fenton Street, is a chain and a half and 6 feet in the clear, in addition to footpaths of 30 feet each.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Benjamin Simpson Penney,
                Clerk to the Rotorua Town Board, was born in 1856 at Hazel Grove near Stockport, England, and arrived with his parents in Auckland, in 1862, by the ship “Violet.” He was brought up to commercial life. For about twenty-five years Mr. Penney resided in the Nelson and Marlborough districts, and was for a number of years in business at Blenheim as a fancy goods dealer. In October, 1895, he settled in Rotorua, and was appointed clerk to the board and clerk of works in 1898. As a Freemason, Mr. Penney is a member of Lodge Unanimity, Blenheim. He was married, in 1881, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Brent, of Nelson, and sister to Mr. S. T. Brent, of Rotorua, and has two sons and five daughters.

            

            

              
Baths and Government Departments.

              

                
                

                  

                    The Government Sanatorium And Baths
                  
                 
 at Rotorua are under the control of a resident medical officer. The sanatorium building was erected in 1890. It is of wood, with a shingle roof, stands on concrete foundations, and has twenty-one beds, nine for females and twelve for males. There are separate sitting rooms for the sexes, the staff, and the medical officer. The Sanatorium is not a hospital in the ordinary acceptation of the term, but is a resort for convalescents. The accommodation is far too small for the large number who desire to take advantage of it, and it is probable that more room will be provided in the near future. The baths which are prescribed by the medical officer are situated in three different spots. Nearest to the Sanatorium is the celebrated Blue Bath, so named from the colour of its water. This is a warm swimming bath, 62 feet by 21 feet, built in stone and concrete, and containing 30,000 gallons of water maintained at a temperature of 90 degrees. The bath is devoted entirely to the use of the male sex. There is also a cold shower and a very powerful hot douche. In connection with the Blue Bath, and under the same roof, is the famous sulphur vapour bath, which is available for both sexes. The Pavilion Bath House, a short distance away, contains a number of baths supplied with the Priest and Rachel waters. The water in the Priest Bath is of an acid nature, while that in the Rachel bath is highly alkalised. The pavilion containing these baths is but a few feet from the edge of the lake. The Priest water is said to have been discovered in 1878 when Father Mahony,
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of Tauranga, came to Rotorua for treatment for rheumatism. A tent was pitched for him alongside the spring, and a hole having been dug in the ground, the priest bathed in its water, and camped at the side until he obtained complete relief from his rheumatism. Hence this bath has since been know as the Priest's Bath or Te Pupunitanga. The Pavilion Baths are under the charge of two male and two female attendants, and there are private and public baths for both sexes, supplied from different waters. Within the walls of the same building there is a ladies public swimming bath—a magnificent concrete basin, supplied with Rachel water. The new Duchess Bath, built specially for their Royal Highnesses, the Duke and Duchess of Cornwall and York, forms now one of the centres of attraction at Rotorua. It was formally opened by the Royal visitors on the 14th of June, 1901. About ten minutes' walk outside the Sanatorium grounds, is the most powerful bath in Rotorua, known as the Postmaster. Mr. Isbister, an official of the Postal Department, visited Rotorua on leave about 1892. He pitched a tent close to a bath which had been dug in the open by some local residents, and derived so much benefit from bathing in its waters, that the bath has since been known by its present designation. There are numerous other baths, such as the Painkiller. Coffee-pot, and others. The Sanatorium grounds are beautifully kept, and considerable sums of money have been spent in making footpaths, and in planting ornamental trees and flower borders. There are several hot pools and basins in the grounds, into one of which two intermittent geysers have been induced to play through artificial orifices.
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George Geils Kenny,
                  M.B., Resident Medical Officer in charge of the Rotorua Sanatorium and Baths, was specially appointed by the Government to give the necessary advice concerning the thermal waters to all who visit Rotorua. He is the second son of the late Colonel Kenny of the 13th Madras Native Light Infantry, and was born in India, in 1853. Dr. Kenny was educated at Windermere College, Westmorland, and Glasgow University, where he graduated M.B. and C.M. in 1883. He came out to Wellington as medical officer of the s.s. “Tainui” in 1885, and after a few months in charge of the Wellington Hospital, established himself in private practice at Devonport, Auckland. Later on he started the Waikato District Hospital, and was for twelve years Surgeon Superintendent of that institution, for which he earned a widely appreciated reputation for good work and discipline. Dr. Kenny was appointed to his present position in 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Kirwen Purcell,
                  Mechanician at the Rotorua Baths, was born in 1847, in Athlone, Ireland. In the same year he was brought by his parents to Auckland by the ship “Ramilies.” The family settled in Onehunga, where Mr. Purcell was brought up as a carpenter and worked at his trade for a number of years. In 1863 he joined the Waikato Militia, in which he served throughout the campaign and gained the New Zealand war medal. Mr. Purcell was a passenger by the third boat which went to the Thames after its opening as a goldfield, and he remained there till 1878. He settled in the Rotorua district in 1879, and has been employed in connection with the baths since 1882. Mr. Purcell is a vice-president of the local library, and has been chairman of the local school committee. During his residence at the Thames, Mr. Purcell served for about three years as a member of the Thames Scottish Volunteers. He was married, in 1885, to a daughter of Mr. James Boyd, of Katikati, and has four sons and three daughters.
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Mr. Thomas Edward Pearson,
                  Landscape Gardener in charge of the Rotorua Government Domain, was born in 1857 at Prestbury, Cheshire, England, where his father was a nurseryman and landscape gardener under Mr. John Shaw, of Shale, Cheshire. After gaining experience at Philadelphia, America, for eighteen months Mr. Pearson returned to England, and worked for a time on a part of Lord Vernon's estate “Barrowfield,” where he had fifty men under his management, and was engaged in laying out a place for the late Mr. William Turner, a large cotton manufacturer. In 1885 Mr. Pearson went out to Tasmania under engagement to the Government, as foreman in charge of the grounds at Hobart, where he had twenty men under his supervision. Subsequently he commenced work on his own account as a landscape gardener, and at the same time had Government work, and was very successful. On returning to England in 1893, he followed his calling for five years in the Old Land, and then came out to New Zealand under engagement to Mr. R. H. Rhodes, of Canterbury. He afterwards visited Hobart, and on returning to Wellington was appointed to his present position, and has been in charge at Rotorua since 1898.

              

              

                
                


                  

Ginders, Alfred,
                  M.D., L.R.C.P. (Edin.), F.F.P.S. (Glas.), Physician, and sometime Resident Medical Officer of the Government Sanatorium, Rotorua. Dr. Ginders was born at Sandon, Staffordshire, England, in 1831, and was the son of Mr. Jeremiah Ginders, formerly agent to the Earl of Shrewsbury. He was educated at a private school in Stafford, and at Ashbourne Grammar School, Derbyshire; he entered Glasgow University in 1862, took his F.F.P.S., and subsequently



his degree of L.R.C.P. at Edinburgh. In 1874 he gained his M.D. at St. Andrew's, Glasgow. Dr. Ginders practised at Surinam. Dutch Guiana, during 1866–7 and afterwards at Normanton, Yorkshire, until May, 1878, when he left for Auckland and settled at Tauranga, where he practised up to 1884. The late Hon. John Ballance then appointed him to the position of Resident Medical Officer at Rotorua, where he designed and carried out most beneficial plans for the convenience, comfort, and skilful treatment of the numerous patients attending the wonderful sanatorium of Rotorua. Dr. Ginders was made a J.P. in 1889, became a member of the Rotorua Town Board on arrival in the district, and was one of the chief promoters of the improved sanitary arrangement of the township. He was a Freemason, having been initiated in 1866 in Commercial Lodge of Glasgow, S.C., at an emergency meeting prior to his leaving Scotland for Dutch Guiana. Dr. Ginders died in the early part of November, 1898.
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Malfroy, Jean Michel Camille,
                  late Resident Engineer of the Government Sanatorium, Rotorua. Mr. Malfroy was born at Lons-le-Saunier, Department of Jura. France, in 1839, and was the son of Jean Baptiste Malfroy, a respected miller, of that town. The subject of this notice came to Victoria with his father in the early fifties, and worked with varying fortunes at Bendigo and Ballarat, and other mining localities. Still bent on gold-seeking, he arrived on the West Coast of New Zealand in the sixties. There he imbibed a taste for local politics, and was for some time mayor of Ross, being associated with the present Premier of the Colony. In 1886, immediately after the eruption of Tarawera, Mr. Malfroy was appointed Resident Engineer of the Rotorua district, and in that capacity had to report upon the changes which might take place in the hot springs and geysers. Those at Whakarewarewa attracted his greatest attention, and he set himself to formulate a theory which would account for their irregularity of action. He made a long and exhaustive examination, during which he experimented with several of the minor geysers at Whakarewarewa, and embodied his deductions in a paper, which was read before the Auckland institute in 1891. After the quiescence of the great Waiketi Geyser, Mr. Malfroy conceived the idea of once more bringing it to a state of activity, and had his health permitted there is little doubt he would have accomplished it. In 1889, Mr. Malfroy was appointed to represent the Colony at the Paris Exhibition, and he then received the distinction of “Chevalier de la Legion d'Honneur.” Whilst in Europe he visited most of the Continental and English Spas, and on his return submitted a report thereon to the Government. In 1890 he proposed to convert the two springs in the Orouawhata Pool, near the Blue Bath, into active geysers, and nothwithstanding his exposure to the hot steam, cold air, and other difficulties, he successfully accomplished this, as the Malfroy geysers today testify. In 1893, Mr. Malfroy was sent to Hanmer, in Canterbury, to report on the springs there, and on his return, it was found that his health which had been seriously impaired during his experiments at the Sanatorium, had not improved, and he was persuaded to try the drier climate of New South Wales. He, however, experienced no benefit from his visit, and ultimately, about thirteen months afterwards, succumbed to his various complicated disorders, and died from sheer exhaustion, a martyr to his duty, though he had been previously offered retirement by the Government. The deceased gentleman was buried with public and Masonic honours, his funeral being attended by the Governor of Tahiti (representing Count d'Abbans, Consul-General of France, who was a relative of Mr: Malfroy), the aide-decamp of the Governor, and a numerous section of influential citizens, settlers of Auckland, Kalgoorlie, Brisbane, and Rotorua. In 1874, Mr. Malfroy was married to Miss Ellen Alice Jones, of Hobart, Tasmania, and was survived by his wife and several children.
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                    The Rotorua Post And Telegraph Office
                  
                  has a mail room, public office, postmaster's room, operating and telephone rooms, and there are fifty private boxes. Mails arrive daily from Auckland, four times a week from Tauranga and Taupo, and weekly from Galatea and Te Whaiti, but there is no postal delivery in Rotorua.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Augustus Empson,
                  Postmaster-in-charge at Rotorua, was born near Blenheim, Marlborough, where his father, the late Mr. Charles Empson, arrived early in the forties. Mr. G. A. Empson became a cadet in the post office at Havelock in 1874, and after serving in various parts of the colony, he was appointed to Rotorua in February, 1900.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. John Cross,
                 
 who has held the position of District Telegraph Lineman at Rotorua since 1895, was born in 1844 in London, where he was brought up to the business of a cabinetmaker. In 1861 he went out to South America, and came to Port Chalmers in 1863. For several years he was engaged in goldmining or in working at his trade, but in 1867 he turned his attention to telegraphy and joined the Construction Branch of the Telegraph Department in Dunedin in 1869. He was soon removed to Auckland, where he became foreman of a working party, and he was engaged in the erection of the lines between
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Auckland and Opotiki, Auckland and the North Cape, and Auckland and Manukau Heads. In 1874 Mr. Cross was married to a daughter of the late Mr. F. Moore, of Dublin, and has two sons and two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Roads Branch Of The Land And Survey Department
                  
                  at Rotorua is under the direct control of the head office in Wellington. The whole of the roads and bridges in the thermal springs district, extending from Tokaanu to Tauranga and including Opotiki on the East Coast, are under the control of the department, together with the Government nursery and sanatorium grounds and baths at Rotorua. All tree planting on roads and reserves, and general improvements, are under the control of this office. Officers for 1900; Captain A. C. Turner, district road surveyor; Mr. D. I. Barron, assistant surveyor; Mr. H. J. Fox, chief clerk and bookkeeper; Mr. C. B. Turner, assistant road surveyor; Messrs J. A. Brownlie, inspector of roads at Taupo; W. Fairley and B. Stubbing, overseers; E. A. Vine, foreman bridge builder; and Mr. B. S. Corlett inspector of works and baths at Rotorua. There are 435 miles of roads under the control of the department, and there are fifty-two surfacemen, each with a special section of from eight to twelve miles in extent.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. David Innes Barron,
                  Assistant Surveyor under the Lands and Survey Department at Rotorua, was born in Dunedin in 1869. He was educated partly in his native city and partly in Wellington, and studied at the Dunedin University, where he passed an examination in science. Mr. Barron joined the Lands Department in Wellington in 1886 as a cadet, and eighteen months later was sent into the field. In 1889 he gained his certificate as a surveyor, and became assistant surveyor. Mr. Barron was engaged in surveys at Amuri, and Cheviot, in Canterbury, on the water race survey at Oxford, and was afterwards in the Nelson provincial district, where he surveyed land in many of the Sounds. He has been at Rotorua since September, 1899. Mr. Barron was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. R. J. Whittle, of Christchurch, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Harry James Fox,
                  Chief Clerk in the Roads Branch of the Land and Survey Department at Rotorua, was born in 1861, in Cheshire, England. Mr. Fox was educated in Liverpool, where he was brought up to the brewing trade. He arrived in Auckland, in 1883, by the s.s. “Doric,” on her maiden trip to the colony, and spent several years in Otago. After a trip to England, Mr. Fox returned to the colony at the time of the Dunedin Exhibition in 1890, and shortly afterwards joined the Land and Survey Department, and was out in the field with a survey party. He has held his present position in Rotorua since 1895. Mr. Fox was married, in 1892, to the daughter of Mr. W. Murcott, of Hampden, Otago, and has three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Charles Barker Turner,
                  Assistant Road Surveyor, was born in Canada in 1856, and is the eldest son of Captain A. C. Turner. He entered the Public Works Department in Wellington in 1874, and has been in the Rotorua district since 1895.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Benjamin Stubbing,
                  Road Overseer, resides at Ruatahuna, about thirty miles beyond Galatea, and his postal address is Te Whaiti. He has charge of a large section of the roads in the district. Mr. Stubbing is the eldest son of the late Mr. B. Stubbing, a Waikato farmer, and was born in Middlesex, England, in 1844. He arrived in Auckland with his parents by the ship “John Scott” in 1859, and was brought up to country life in the Waikato. On the outbreak of the war, the family went to Auckland, but Mr. Stubbing joined the 2nd Waikato Regiment, served throughout the war, was present in several skirmishes, and gained the New Zealand war medal. He was two years on the Thames shortly after the opening of the field, but then joined the Armed Constabulary, and was stationed in Wairoa South. In that district he took part in the last expedition after the rebel Te Kooti to Lake Waikaremoana. For four years Mr. Stubbing was farming at the Taupiri, and for two years subsequently he was road overseer in the Raglan district. He then removed to Tokaanu, where he supervised the construction and maintenance of a great many roads, during the succeeding twelve years, and was appointed to his present position in 1895. Mr. Stubbing was married, in 1872, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. McKay, of the Lower Waikato, and has four daughters and eight sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Edward Alfred Vine,
                  Bridge Foreman under the Roads Branch of the Land and Survey Department, Rotorua, was born in Victoria, in 1862, educated in Dunedin and Wellington, and apprenticed as a carpenter in the latter city. He made a specialty of bridge work and took contracts on his own account for six years before joining the department in 1893. After being bridge foreman in the Pahiatua district, he was appointed to Rotorua in 1895.
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Mr. Benjamin Stott Corlett,
                  Inspector of Government Works at Rotorua, was born in 1841 in Manchester, England. He was brought up as an architect, and came to Auckland by the ship “Annie Wilson” in 1863. The war had just commenced, and Mr. Corlett offered himself as a substitute for a sick person who had been called upon to serve, but was never himself called on to join the militia. He commenced business as an architect in Auckland, and continued for a number of years in that city. In 1877 he removed to Tauranga, where he followed his profession, and visited Rotorua periodically until he settled in the district in 1885. Mr. Corlett still acts as an architect and supervises Government works, including buildings, baths and water supply, and the springs and geysers at Whakarewarewa. He was married, in 1861, to a daughter of the late Captain Hawke, of the Madras 97th Sepoys. Mrs Corlett died in 1881, leaving three sons and two daughters. In 1885 Mr. Corlett was married to a daughter of Mr. Burge, of Yeovil, Somersetshire, England, and has two daughters and one son by this union.

                

                  

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. B. S. Corlett.]

Hanna, photo.


Mr. B. S. 
Corlett.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Rotorua Electrical Works
                  
                  are situated at Okere Falls, thirteen miles and a half from Rotorua, and are under the control of the Roads Branch of the Lands and Survey Department. There is a splendid body of water—the outlet of Lakes Rotorua and Rotoiti and the commencement of the Kaituna river—which is utilised in driving two turbines, each 100 horse-power, and two large alternating dynamos, each capable of producing energy for 800 sixteen candle power lamps. These machines are low current generators at a high voltage—4200 volts. The current travels over wires for the whole distance, and transformers are then used to reduce the power to 100 volts. The Government sanatorium and public buildings, as well as boarding and private houses, are lighted by means of the electric current, which also works the sewage-pumping machinery in a large brick building erected in the sanatorium grounds. The generator



station at Okere is a large iron building, and the fluming which brings the water to the machinery is 15 feet wide by 9 feet deep. There are two cottages at the works for the convenience of the staff. The entire plant and installation was erected under contract by an engineer and staff in the employment of the Brush Electrical Engineering Company of London.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Robert Cameron White,
                  Officer in charge of the Rotorua Electrical Works at Okere, was born in Victoria, in 1867. His parents having come to Otago in 1870 he was educated in Dunedin, where he also served an apprenticeship as an electrical engineer with Messrs Watt and Co. He afterwards commenced business on his own account in George Street, and several years later became manager and electrician to the Sandhills Dredging Company, which owned the first and only dredge worked by electricity. Mr. White supervised the dredge's subsequent removal to Miller's Flat. He was appointed to his present position in 1900, after having acted as inspector for the erection and installment of the electric plant at Okere. Mr. White was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. J. Aspinall, of Skippers, Otago, and has one son and one daughter.
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Mr. Dupair Edward Burrel Beal,
                  Engineer in charge of the Rotorua Electric Lighting and Sewerage Plant, was born in 1867, in London, where he was educated and trained as an engineer. He was with the firm of Benham and Son, Wigmore Street, London W., and was afterwards at Chatham, where he was in the employment of Messrs Armstrong, Mitchell and Co. and the Government Constructing Department. Mr. Beal then joined the staff of the Brush Electrical Engineering Company in London, and was employed in connection with various installations in England, including the city of London, and came out in 1893 to Sydney, where he was engaged for two years and a half on his own account, and then joined the firm of Messrs Edge and Edge, electrical engineers. He then removed to Melbourne, where he was contracting in connection with sewerage work until February, 1900, when he came to Auckland, and was engaged by the Brush Electrical Company, as foreman of works on the contract for supplying electric light and power to Rotorua. On the completion of the work he received his present appointment. Mr. Beal was married, in 1890, to a daughter of Mr. W. C. Tymms, of Ryde, Sydney, but he had the misfortune to lose his wife, who died on the 2nd of March, 1901, of enteric fever.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Land Purchase Department,
                  Rotorua, which is under the control of the head office in Wellington, has its offices in the courthouse, Rotorua. It has been connected with the district since 1894.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Fox Maule Carnachan,
                  Assistant Land Purchase Officer at Rotorua, was born in Manchester, in 1857. He arrived in Auckland with his parents by the ship “Helenslea” in 1864, and has had a general experience in farming, storekeeping, surveying, and colonial life. For some years he was in business as a storekeeper at Maketu, and joined the land purchase department in 1894, at Rotorua, where he has resided since 1882, as a native interpreter.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Rotorua Railway Station
                  
                  was opened on the 10th of December, 1894. It is a wooden building of the usual type, and with the customary apartments, and adjacent sheds, and a large verandah covers a portion of the asphalt platform. Messrs Nathan and Co. have a large sulphur shed close by, and the stationmaster's house of seven rooms adjoins the line. Besides the stationmaster, two guards, a driver, fireman, a porter and a cadet reside at Rotorua.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Henry Woodhouse,
                  Stationmaster at Rotorua, was born in 1855, at Auckland, where he was brought up to mercantile life. In 1875 he joined the railway department in Auckland as a cadet, and was stationed eighteen years in Wellington, during six of which he was in charge of the goods department. Mr. Woodhouse was afterwards stationmaster for three years at Woodville, and for two years subsequently at Feilding, and was appointed to his present position in August, 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Alfred Warbrick,
                  the well-known Guide of the Hot Lakes and Thermal Springs District, was born at Rotomahana, near the famous but lost White Terraces, in 1860, and is the second son of Mr. Abraham Warbrick, native interpreter and land purchaser. He was educated first at the Lake Takapuna Roman Catholic College, and at the Three Kings College, finishing at St. Matthew's parish school. He then went to Tauranga where his father was living and remained with him for some time. On the advice of the late Sir Donald McLean, he was apprenticed to the boat-building trade and worked for Mr. C. Bailey, senior, for ten years. Mr. Warbrick afterwards commenced for himself as yacht and boat builder at which he continued for four years, when he returned to Te Wairoa. Lake Tarawera, to look after the interests of the land which his mother possessed in that district. In 1886, Mr. Warbrick set up as a tourist guide, at the suggestion of the late Hon. John Ballance, and during the terrible eruption of Tarawera he took an active part in rescue work and in leading expeditions formed to save the sufferers.

              

            

            

              
Educational.

              

                
                


                  
The Rotorua Public School,
                  established in 1886, has three class rooms and a porch, with accommodation for 180 scholars. There are 140 names on the roll, and the average attendance is 110. The teacher in charge is assisted by one certificated and one pupil teacher.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Joseph William Webber,
                  who holds a D2 certificate, is in charge of the Rotorua school. He was born in Torquay, Devonshire, England, in 1864, and came to New Zealand in 1884, when he settled in Tuakau. Mr. Webber soon afterwards entered the service of the Board of Education as a probationer. He was married, in 1891, to a native of the Arawa tribe.

              

              

                
                


                  
Ranana (London) Native School,
                  Te Ngae, near Rotorua. This school was established in 1896 under the direct control of the Minister for Education. It contains one class room and a porch, and is situated on three acres of land. A six-roomed residence is erected on the property, there is accommodation for fifty pupils, and there is an average attendance of about forty.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Charles Crisp Brown,
                  Headmaster, was born in 1848, in London, and educated at the City of London School. He studied for the ministry under the late Rev. C. H. Spurgeon, was ordained at the Tabernacle in London in 1873, went to India as a Baptist missionary in 1874, but after three years returned to England with broken health, and came out to New Zealand in 1884. Mr. Brown was in charge of the Baptist Church at Timaru for ten years, and after a year in Christchurch, was appointed to his present position in July, 1896. Mr. Brown was married, in 1875, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. Burnett, of Aberdeen, Scotland, and Mrs Brown assists in the duties of the school.

              

            

            

              
Ecclesiastical.

              

                
                


                  
St. Luke's Anglican Church,
                  Rotorua, was opened in November, 1899. It is prettily finished inside, and has accommodation for about 200 persons. The building cost about £600, and stands on a section of half an acre. St. Luke's parish is included in the diocese of Waipu; three services are held every Sunday and two daily services throughout the week. The vicar of Rotorua is the Rev. H. G. Blackburne, M.A., Cantab, who was appointed to the position in 1901.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Rotorua Presbyterian Church
                  
                  was opened in February, 1897. It is a wooden building with a bell tower, with accommodation for 200 people, and occupies an elevated site on three-quarters of an acre of land in Pukuatu Street. The building cost about £450. Though the property belongs to the Presbyterian Church it is worked on undenominational lines, by the Presbyterian, Wesleyan, Congregational and Baptist



denominations from Auckland, the ministers changing fortnightly.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    St. Michael's Roman Catholic Church
                  
                  was erected in 1888 for Maori services. The priest in charge visits Rotoiti and other Maori settlements in the district, and services are held in St. Michael's in both Maori and English.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Very Rev. Dean A. Lichardt,
                  Vicar of Maori Missions in the Auckland Diocese, is under the direction of Bishop Lenihan. Dean Lichardt belongs to St. Joseph's Society of Millhill, London, N.W., and has been in charge for some years.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Caspar Smiers,
                  Priest at Rotorua, was born in Holland in 1867. He went to St. Joseph's Society at Millhill, London, and was there ordained in 1898. In the same year he came out to Auckland, and was engaged for eight months in Maori work at Whangaroa. He has been stationed at Rotorua since June, 1900.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Salvation Army
                  
                  has been represented at Rotorua since 1897. The barracks are at Ohinemutu and have accommodation for sixty persons, and services are held in both Maori and English. There are twelve soldiers, and Captain J. Foster Kells and Lieutenant Joseph McCarthy are now (1901) in charge.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Rotorua Football Club,
                  established about 1886, is well supported, and has many Maoris among its members. Officers for 1900: Mr. W. H. Herries, M.H.R., patron, Dr. Kenny, president, Messrs D. I. Barron, H. J. Fox, and Judge Johnston, vice-presidents; Mr. C. A. Clarke, treasurer, and Mr. J. W. Webber, secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Rotorua Brass Band,
                  established in 1892, has twenty-two active members. It performs weekly in the Sanatorium grounds at the band rotunda. Mr. H. Stewart has been bandmaster since 1898, and Mr. J. W. Webber is secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Victoria Institute
                  
                  in Rotorua was founded about 1888 in Ohinemutu. Its present domicile is in Arawa Street, and was erected in 1900, at a cost of over £400, towards which the Government contributed £250. The institute has a fine library containing 1300 volumes, and there is a large reading room, which is well supplied with papers. There are also committee rooms, a ladies' room, and a museum room, which contains a few specimens of Maori carvings. The late Mr. J. C. Blythe, road surveyor, was the originator of the institution, which was formerly managed by a committee, but is now controlled by the Town Board.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Hot Lakes Chronicle
                  
                  (M. F. Watt, proprietress), Hinemoa Street, Rotorua. From 1895 to the 4th of December, 1900, this journal was owned and conducted by the late Mr. F. F. Watt, who made it a first class weekly chronicle of all matters pertaining to the thermal district. During the tourist season of 1901 it was published as a bi-weekly, on Wednesdays and Saturdays, but reverted to the Saturday issue for the winter months. It is double demy, and has eight columns of reading matter, apart from advertisements. The paper is now edited and the business conducted by Mr. Watt's widow, who has a jobbing plant and does the local printing trade, besides carrying on the business of general stationer and news agent.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Rotorua Magistrate's Court
                  
                  was erected in 1894, and contains the courtroom, offices for the magistrate, clerk, and bailiff, as well as an office for the land purchase department.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Rotorua Police Station And Gaol
                  
                  adjoins the courthouse. There are five rooms in the residence, and two cells behind. The district extends about thirty miles from Rotorua on each side, and Tauranga is the nearest police station.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Bern,
                  Constable in charge and gaoler, and Clerk of the Magistrate's Court, was born in 1858, at St. John's College, Auckland. He entered the Government service as a member of the Armed Constabulary in 1878, and four years later was transferred to the police department. He has been in charge at Rotorua since 1898.
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Medical.

              

                
                


                  

MacLoughlin, Thomas James,
                  L.R.C.P., L.R.C.S., (Edinburgh) Physician and Surgeon, Rotorua. Dr. MacLoughlin was born in County Meath, Ireland, in 1847, and educated at Trinity College, Dublin. He took his degrees in Edinburgh in 1878, and after travelling in various parts of the world settled in Sydney in 1886. He practised in that city for three years, and has practised in Rotorua since 1898.

              

              

                
                


                  

Russell, Barry Taylor,
                  L.R.C.S., L.K., and Q.C.P., L.M. (Dublin), Physician and Surgeon, Rotorua. Dr. Russell was born in Dublin in 1855, educated at Trinity College, and gained his degrees in 1883. He practised in West Maitland, New South Wales, for several years before settling in Rotorua in 1888.

              

              

                
                


                  

Maxwell, Arthur Augustus,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Hinemoa Street, Rotorua. Private residence, Pukeatua street. This business was established in 1897, and the premises consist of a shop, consulting room and laboratory. Mr. Maxwell was born in Auckland, and educated at the Parnell Grammar School. He learned his business with Mr. Graves Aickin, in Auckland, and became a chemist by examination in 1886. After eighteen months in the service of Messrs Sharland and Co., he commenced business in Newmarket, where he remained for eight years. In 1895 Mr. Maxwell acted as medical officer for the Government in the King Country, and subsequently established the present business. As a Freemason he is a member of Lodge Remuera. Mr. Maxwell was married, in 1895, to a daughter of the late Captain Hussey, of Wanganui, and has two daughters and one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

Spencer, Robinson,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Fenton Street, Rotorua. Mr. Spencer acquired this business, which had been established for some years, in the beginning of 1900. He was born in Derbyshire, England, in 1842, came to Auckland in 1863 by the ship “Annie Wilson,” and during the war was a dispenser in a military hospital.

              

            

            

              
Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

Griffiths, David,
                  Land, Estate and Commission Agent, Arawa Street, Rotorua. This business was established in 1890, and the proprietor is local agent for the “New Zealand Herald” and for the Royal Exchange Insurance Company. Mr. Griffiths was born in 1851, at Shrewsbury, England, and was educated at King Edward's Grammar School. For seventeen years he was in the service of the London and North Western Railway Company. He came out to New Zealand in 1882



as one of a special party of settlers to Te Puke, by the ship “May Queen,” and settled on land which he had purchased before leaving England. After being engaged in farming for five years he entered the service of the New Zealand Railway Department, in which he reamined for about five years. In 1890 Mr. Griffiths settled at Rotorua, where he bought the “Hot Lakes Chronicle,” which he conducted for two years. Mr. Griffiths was employed by the Government Valuation of Land Department in 1897 to make a special valuation of the Rotorua district, and received a bonus for satisfactory work. He claims to have been the first to issue illustrated maps of the North and South Islands of New Zealand. Mr. Griffiths was married, in 1875, to a daughter of the late Mr. E. C. Pratt, of Oswestry, Shropshire, England, and has four sons and four daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  
Raymond, W. T.,
                  (Christopher F. Naden, manager), Auctioneer and General Storekeeper, Tutanekai Street, Rotorua. Head Office, Tauranga. This branch was opened in 1898. The premises are large and convenient, and contain a considerable stock of general merchandise, besides produce. Auction sales are held periodically as required.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Christopher Frederick Naden,
                  Manager of Mr. Raymond's business, was born in Lussex, England, in 1868. He came to Auckland by the ship “Dunedin” in 1875, and was brought up to a mercantile life in the colony. For two years Mr. Naden was manager of Mr. J. M. Williams' store at Waipiro Bay, and afterwards, for a similar period, of Mr. Moate's store at Tokomaru Bay. He was for a year in business as a fancy goods dealer and tobacconist at Mount Eden Road, Auckland, and was appointed to his present position in 1900. Mr. Naden was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr. Devlin, of Whangarei. Mrs Naden died in 1894, leaving one daughter.

                

                  

[image: Mr. C. F. Naden.]

Mr. 
C. F. Naden.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

Rogers, William,
                  Licensed Interpreter, Ohinemutu, Rotorua. Mr. Rogers was born at the Thames in 1857, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and having entered the Government service, was for several years an accountant in the post office savings bank at Wellington and Nelson. Subsequently he had a trip to San Francisco in charge of the New Zealand mails, but had to leave the post office on account of his health. After a few months' residence in Gisborne, where he was farming, he became an interpreter, and afterwards established stores at Ohinemutu, Maketu, Te Puke and Waitekauri. Mr. Rogers afterwards built the Geyser Hotel, Whakarewarewa, which he conducted for some time. For a number of years he has been resident in Ohinemutu as a storekeeper and licensed interpreter. He was married, in 1881, to a grand-daughter of the late chief Waharoa of Waikato, whose greenstone mere, which has killed hundreds of his enemies, is in Mr. Rogers's possession. Mr. Rogers traces his descent from the famous Tamati Kapua, who came over from Hawaiki in the historical canoe Te Arawa, and he is now the leading young chief of that tribe.
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Thom, Percival,
                  Accountant, Rotorua. Mr. Thom, who has been a settler in Rotorua since 1881, was born in 1852 at Kensington. London, and was educated at Elm Grove, Ealing. He landed at Port Chalmers in 1875 by the ship “Lennox Castle,” and was altogether six years in Otago, and resided in the Tokomairiro and Wainori districts. After settling in Rotorua Mr. Thom was for four years with Mr. J. H. Taylor, whose store he bought in 1895, and after conducting it for five years, resold it to that gentleman. He then continued in Mr. Taylor's employment for three years, when the business was sold to Mr. W. Rogers. After this Mr. Thom was manager of Mr. Taylor's carrying business for one year, and for two years, subsequently, of his auctioneering business. In 1897 Mr. Thom joined Mr. Samson, storekeeper, as accountant. He was married, in 1900, to a daughter of Mr. W. A. Butt, of Ohinemutu.

              

              

                
                


                  

Hall, William,
                  Confectioner and Fruiterer, Fenton Street, Rotorua. Mr. Hall, who established his business in 1899, was for seventeen years well known in connection with the baths. He was born in the Brazils, in 1841, and was taken at an early age to Liverpool, where he received his education. For about nine years he went to sea, and, having landed in Victoria, was present at the Ballarat riots in the fifties. Mr. Hall followed goldmining for about eight years, and arrived in Marlborough in 1876. After a short experience at the Wakamarino diggins he went to Picton, where he was farming for five years. For eighteen months afterwards he had the charge of the Picton Hospital, of which Mrs Hall was the matron. He was then appointed to the charge of the Pavilion Baths at Rotorua, and on leaving that position in July, 1899, he commenced his present business. Mr. Hall was married, in 1874, to a daughter of the late 
Mr. W. 
Pilford 
[sic], of Wellington. Mrs Hall died in 1899.

              

              

                
                

                  

Bell, Robert Morr,
                 
 Builder, Fenton Street, Rotorua. Mr. Bell was born in 1828, in the Isle of Man, where he was apprenticed. He arrived in Victoria in 1854, and for a good many years worked at his trade in that colony. In 1862 he came to Otago and was at the Hartley and Riley “rush” on the Molyneaux. After two years in Dunedin he went to Invercargill, where he built some railway bridges. He was afterwards for a short time in Wellington, and subsequently at Tauranga.
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In 1885 Mr. Bell settled in Rotorua, where he has since continuously resided except during a trip he made to England in 1898. Mr. Bell has erected a great many buildings in Tauranga and in Rotorua, and superintended the erection of two bridges for the Government, one at Tokaanu and the other at Awaha on the Tauranga Road. He was married, in 1860, to a daughter of the late Mr. Field, of London, and has one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

Keys, John James,
                  Builder, Rotorua. Mr. Keys is one of the earliest settlers in the Rotorua district. He was born in Essex, England, in 1831, and came to Auckland in the ship “Forfarshire” in 1875. A year later he established himself as a builder in Rotorua, and since that time has erected many buildings in the district.

              

              

                
                


                  

Sloane, Thomas Henry,
                  Builder and Contractor, Rotorua. Mr. Sloane was born in 1868 at Ruakaka, near Whangarei, and was apprenticed in Auckland. On returning to the Whangarei district, he found employment at his trade and in contracting, and was afterwards farming at Mangapai. He then removed to Ohinemuri, where he was employed for fifteen months at Karangahake, and for three months subsequently at one of the Mamaku sawmills. In 1898 Mr. Sloane settled in Rotorua, where he established himself as a builder and contractor. He had the contract for the erection of the electrician's house and dynamo house at Okere.
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Corbett, William Henry,
                  Coach-builder, Blacksmith and Wheelwright, Coach and Carriage Factory, Tutanekai Street, Rotorua. This business, which was established in 1895, is conducted in a large wood and iron building divided into three compartments—a smithy, wheelwright's shop, and a painting room. Close by there is a comfortable five-roomed residence. Mr. Corbett was born in Birmingham, England, in 1858, arrived in Lyttelton with his parents by the ship “Chariot of Fame” in 1862, and was educated in Christ-church and at Timaru. He learned his business in Timaru, and removed in 1881 to Auckland, where he found employment with leading coachbuilders, until he settled at Rotorua and established his present business. He married a daughter of Mr. W. Hume, of Auckland, but she died in 1891, leaving one son. Mr. Corbett was married, in 1895, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. Pollock, of Auckland, and there is one son by this marriage.

              

              

                
                


                  

Oldfield, James,
                  Hairdresser, Tobacconist, Stationer, and Cycle Agent, Arawa Street, Rotorua. Mr. Oldfield was born in 1872, in Arrowtown, Otago, and learned his profession as a hairdresser in Dunedin. Having gained a general mercantile experience in various parts of New Zealand, he was for eighteen months manager of Mr. J. Cullen's store at Kaponga, Taranaki. In 1893 he commenced business with a partner at Hawera, and three years later removed to Karangahake, and was subsequently for a short time in business in Cambridge before establishing himself at Rotorua. Mr. Oldfield was married, in 1900, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Shaw, of Helensville.
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Grand Hotel,
                  Hinemoa and Fenton Streets, Rotorua. This large wooden building is of two stories and has a verandah and balcony. It contains eighty rooms, including about sixty bedrooms, private and public drawing rooms, smoking and reading rooms. The dining room will seat 100 guests.

              

              

                
                


                  
Lake House,
                  Ohinemutu, Rotorua, is the oldest hotel in the district. It was re-erected several years ago, and has accommodation for about fifty guests. There are some private hot baths on the property.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Palace Hotel,
                  Tutanekai Street, Rotorua, is a fine building with forty rooms and accommodation for the same number of visitors. The house was removed from Ohinemutu several years ago.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Brent's Bathgate House
                  
                  (Stephen Thomas Brent, proprietor), Rotorua. This is an admirably appointed house of ninety rooms, including two dining-rooms, smoking and sitting rooms, a large social hall and bedrooms capable of accommodating eighty visitors. The menu is excellent and the tariff reasonable, every attention being paid to the wants and comfort of tourists by the proprietor, who is ably assisted by his wife and a competent staff of servants.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Stephen Thomas Brent,
                  J.P., Proprietor of Brent's Bathgate House, was born in Prince Edward's Island. Canada, in 1834, and is the son of Mr. William Brent, contractor and farmer. In 1854, Mr. Brent left with his parents in the schooner “Lady Grey” for Nelson, New Zealand, and arrived there in 1855. He commenced business as builder and carpenter in that town, where he remained until 1865, when the West Coast gold “rush” set in and he went to Hokitika. Whilst there he built the supreme courthouse, district hospital, and asylum. On the discovery of gold at the Thames in 1867, he



removed there and was similarly occupied at his trade until 1874, when he proceeded to Rotorua and was in business as a builder for two years. Later, he was appointed to manage a store for Mr. Thomas Wigley, of Tauranga, in which he continued until 1883, when he began the construction of Bathgate House. Mr. Brent takes an active interest in local affairs, is a member of the Rotorua Town Board, a Justice of the Peace, and has been secretary of the local branch of the New Zealand Alliance since 1891.

                

                  

[image: Mr. S. T. Brent.]

Mr. 
S. T. Brent.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Langham
                  
                  (Charles Hawker Wilson, proprietor), Hinemoa Street, Rotorua. This well known boardinghouse is centrally situated in Rotorua, very near to the Sanatorium grounds. It is a two-storey wooden building, with verandah and balcony, and is deservedly popular with tourists and visitors.

                

                  

[image: “The Langham” (Belonging to Mr. C. H. Wilson).]

“The Langham” (Belonging to Mr. C. H. Wilson).


                

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Pines
                  
                  (James Grieves Peace, proprietor), Rotorua. This well known boardinghouse was established in 1897, and at present can accommodate thirty guests. It is (1901) intended to build a large two-storey building, which will contain thirty-two rooms, including a large dining room, to seat close on fifty guests. The premises are central, and visitors may rely upon receiving every courtesy, attention and comfort.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Grieves Peace,
                  the Proprietor, who also conducts business as a photographer and dealer in native curios in a separate building, was born at St. John's, Newfoundland, in 1848. He arrived in 1866 in Auckland by the ship “Clara,” which was owned by his father, Mr. Robert Peace, well known as a plumber and gasfitter in Auckland. After a short time at Parua Bay Mr. Peace was three years at the Thames. In 1870 he went to Queensland, and was for some time on the Palmer goldfield. During the succeeding twenty years he travelled in various parts of the world, including New Caledonia, New Guinea, New Hebrides, South Sea Islands, and most parts of Australia and America. While he was in America Mr. Peace obtained diplomas and two medals at the Chicago Exhibition for a collection of South Sea Island curios, which he subsequently sold for £1000. In 1897 he returned to Auckland and settled at Rotorua. Mr. Peace was married, in 1893, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. G. Hewitt, of Pennsylvania, United States of America.
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                    Rocky Nook Boardinghouse
                  
                  (John Cross, proprietor), Wahakaue Street, Rotorua. This establishment dates from 1899. The building contains twenty-two rooms and has acommodation for thirty-five visitors. There is a comfortable sitting room, and a large dining room, which will seat thirty-five guests. Mrs Cross manages the house and attends to the comfort of visitors.

              

              

                
                


                  

McAuley, George,
                  General Mechanic, Tutanekai Street, Rotorua. This business was established in 1891, and is conducted in workshops adapted for engineering and mechanical work, and supplied with all needful machinery and appliances. Mr. McAuley was born in 1829 at Larne, County Antrim, Ireland, and when two years of age accompanied his parents to New Brunswick. He was brought up to shipbuilding and storekeeping, in which he found employment till the end of 1862, and in the following year he arrived in Victoria, by the barque “Our Hope,” 251 tons, which he had built. Mr. McAuley took a cargo of horses and coal to Invercargill, and afterwards traded between Melbourne and Newcastle for some years. In 1872 he settled in the Auckland provincial district, and was shortly afterwards engaged in bridge-building between Tauranga and Taupo. In 1874 he built a bridge across the Mohaka river near Napier, and for about four years, subsequently, was engaged on the Napier harbour works in building the breakwater. He has been employed on many contracts, including the erection of small steamers. Mr. McAuley settled in Ohinemutu in 1882, but subsequently removed to the new township. He was married, in 1855, to a daughter of the late Mr. Wilson, of County Derry, Ireland. This lady died in 1874, leaving four sons and two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Parker, Alfred Stephen,
                  Plumber and Sanitary Engineer, Fenton Street, Rotorua. This business was founded in 1898, and Mr. Parker has a workshop and showroom adapted to the needs of the trade. His was the first plumbing business established in the district, and, in addition to the ordinary plumbing work, Mr. Parker also undertakes



electric light installations. He was born in 1867 in Sydney, New South Wales, and served his apprenticeship in his native city. Mr. Parker was in business for eighteen months at Waverley, in New South Wales, and came to Auckland in 1892. He was for some time at Paeroa and Te Aroha, and began business on his own account at Rotorua in 1898. Mr. Parker was married, in 1889, to a daughter of the late Mr. C. Holmes, of Sussex, England.

              

              

                
                


                  

Harp, James George,
                  Cycle Engineer, Rotorua. Mr. Harp was born at Cambridge, in 1874, and was educated to be a teacher at Devonport, Auckland. Having served an apprenticeship with Messrs Masefield and Co., Auckland, he passed as a marine engineer, and has had considerable experience in connection with the cycle trade in Auckland, Wellington, and Sydney. For two years Mr. Harp acted as engineer of the various steamers on Lake Rotorua, and was engineer of Messrs Ryan and Co.'s fine tourist steamer on Lake Taupo. As a Forester he is attached to Court Victoria, Auckland. Mr. Harp was married, in 1900, to the fourth daughter of Mr. J. Taylor, foreman of works, Auckland Harbour Board.

              

              

                
                


                  

Fordyce, Samuel Edgar,
                  Boot and Shoe Maker and Dealer and General Agent for Bicycles, Sewing Machines and Pianos, Tutanekai Street, Rotorua. Mr. Fordyce is agent for the Massey-Harris Company's bicycles and for the Singer Sewing Machine Company.

              

              

                
                


                  

Dando, Sydney,
                  Storekeeper, Ohinemutu, Rotorua. Mr. Dando arrived in Wellington by the ship “Wild Duck,” in 1866. He served in the Armed Constabulary as defence storekeeper at Hamilton, and in the office of the inspector of stores at Wellington. He was also railway storekeeper at Auckland for some time. In 1871 he married a daughter of the late Mr. T. Maunder, of Hamilton, and has two daughters and one son. He established his present business in 1895.

              

              

                
                


                  

Manson, William,
                  General Storekeeper and Baker, Fenton Street, Rotorua. This business was established in 1897. The proprietor, who was born in Dunedin, in 1867, was brought up to commercial life in that city.

              

              

                
                


                  

Munro, Joe,
                  General Storekeeper, Tutanekai and Arawa Streets, Rotorua. This business was established in 1870 by the proprietor at Ohinemutu, where it was conducted till 1898, when the present store was erected. Mr. Munro is a native of Victoria, and came to New Zealand when he was very young and settled at Onehunga.

              

              

                
                


                  

Samson, Thomas,
                  Storekeeper and Baker, Ohinemutu, Rotorua. This business was established about 1861, by Mr. T. Wrigley, formerly of Tauranga, and was acquired by Mr. Samson in 1894. The premises contain the Ohinemutu post office and telephone bureau. Mr. Samson is a native of Kent, England, where he was born in 1852. He came out to New Zealand by the barque “Sydenham” in 1881, and commenced business in Wellington Street, Auckland.

              

              

                
                


                  

Williams, William Adams,
                  General Storekeeper, Tutanekai Street, Rotorua. This business was founded in 1863 by Mr. T. Wrigley, of Ohinemutu, and is said to have been the first store removed to the new township in 1891. Mr. Williams managed the business for three years before becoming its owner. The premises consist of a large two storey building with a verandah and balcony, and include a store and a large accommodation house known as Thirwell House. There are twenty-seven rooms, exclusive of the shop, and the dining room will seat thirty guests. Mr. Williams was born in 1863 in London, where he was brought up to mercantile life, and had experience in three large wholesale houses. He arrived in Auckland by the s.s. “Doric” in 1885. Mr. Williams was married, in 1890, to a daughter of the late Sergeant M. Downey, of Tauranga, and has two sons and two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Lakin, John Henry,
                  Collector of Maori Curios and New Zealand Ferns, Ohinemutu, Rotorua. Mr. Lakin, who has been well known in Rotorua for many years as a dealer in curios, was born in France in 1838. He came out to Australia in 1861, and served for three years in the 1st Waikato Regiment during the native disturbances. His business in Rotorua was established about 1883.

              

              

                
                


                  

Goodson, Frederick,
                  Carter and Carrier, Pukuatua Street, Rotorua. This business was established in 1890, and Mr. Goodson is the Rotorua agent of the New Zealand Express Company. He is the fourth son of Mr. C. W. Goodson, of Auckland, was born in 1874, in Norfolk, England, arrived in Auckland with his parents in 1879, and was educated at the Wellesley Street School. Having been brought up to agriculture, he settled in Rotorua in 1889, and established his carting and carrying business in the following year. He employs about ten horses and as many carts and waggons, and finds plenty of general work in the district, and a good deal of special work in the carting of sulphur. Mr. Goodson was married, in 1895, to a daughter of Mr. H. Gill, of Waipu, and has one son and three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  
Robertson, E. and Co.,
                  (Edwin Robertson, managing partner), Coach Proprietors, Tutanekai Street, Rotorua. This is the headquarters of the large coaching business which has for many years been well known throughout the Hot Lakes district. The firm possesses stables on the roads to Tauranga, Te Puke, and on both roads to Taupo, as well as Tauranga, Taupo and Te Puke. Coaches run regularly twice a week to Tauranga by the bush road, twice a week to Te Puke, twice a week to Taupo, via Waiotapu and Wairakei, and once a week to Taupo, via Ateamuri. About one hundred horses and thirty-five coaches and conveyances are used in connection with the business, and from sixteen to twenty-five men are employed in working the trade.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Edwin Robertson,
                  Managing Partner, was born in 1854 at Castlemaine, Victoria. He came to New Zealand in 1863, and gained general experience during the first few years. In 1869 Mr. Robertson had a good deal to do with the management of pack-horses in the Bay of Plenty, and in the following year he started on his own account at Tauranga. From the small beginning then made the present large business has been built up. The first coach was run between Napier and Taupo in 1872, and Mr. Robertson's connection with wheel traffic commenced about three years later. During the time that he has been a coach proprietor he has bought out no fewer than fourteen opposition lines.
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Washing Day at Rotorua.


                

              

              

                


                
                


                  

                    Kusabs Brothers
                  
                  (Andrew Ernest Kusabs and Charles Edmund Kusabs), Timber Merchants, Sawmillers, Builders and Contractors, Rotorua. This firm has been connected with the timber industry for a number of years and founded the large sawmills now conducted by the Mountain Rimu Timber Company at Mamaku. The Messrs Kusabs still have sawmills at Maroa and Rotorua; the Maroa mill sawing principally totara and matai.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Steele Brothers
                  
                  (Duncan William Steele, George Steele, Walter Steele, and Alfred Steele), Sawmillers and Building Contractors, Tutanekai Street, Rotorua. This business was established in 1888. The premises, erected on Government leasehold sections, include a drying shed capable of storing 200,000 feet of timber, shop, workshop, an eight roomed residence, and a large hall—the Rotorua Assembly Hall—the largest and best outside of any large city in New Zealand. The hall is beautifully fitted up and finished, and has a complete stage with scenery of all descriptions, and a supper room attached. It is well furnished, has seating accommodation for 600 persons, and a dress circle with seats for one hundred. The building cost about £1200, and is lighted with electric light. The firm's mill is fourteen miles from Rotorua on the Oxford-Rotorua Road. There is a sixty-horse-power steam engine and a full plant of all the latest machinery procurable, also a six horse-power locomotive for hauling timber to the mill. The firm owns a fine farm of 1500 acres, known as the Maraeroa-Otura block, all of which has been cleared, fenced, and laid down in grasses. There is a dwellinghouse of ten rooms, as well as necessary outbuildings, such as wool shed, yards, etc. The land was all virgin forest when taken up, but the bush has all been sawn into timber and sold at Rotorua and Waikato. The timber taken off paid for clearing, fencing and grassing. Grass grows on the land to a height of five or six feet.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Duncan William Steele,
                  the Senior Partner, was born in 1868 at Ohaupo. He was educated in the Waikato, was brought up to agriculture, and was the founder of the firm's business. He is ably assisted by Mr. W. Christie, of Scotland, as foreman in connection with the firm's works. Since settling in Rotorua as manager of the firm's extensive business. Mr. Steele has taken an active part as a member of the school committee, also in connection with the temperance movement, and as superintendent of the Presbyterian Sunday School. Mr. Steele is a cordial promoter of such sports and pastimes as cricket and football, and is an active member of the Rotorua Rifle and Gun Clubs. He was married, in 1895, to a daughter of Mr. T. J. Robinson, J. P., and has two sons.
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Mr. Henry Walker Mitchell
                  
                  is a very old colonist. He was born in 1835 at Dollar, Clackmannashire, Scotland, was educated at the local academy, and came to Port Chalmers by the ship “Jura” in 1858. After being eight years in Invercargill Mr. Mitchell practised as a surveyor under the late Mr. J. T. Thompson, who became Surveyor-General of New Zealand. He was a year in Wellington, and then joined the service of the Native Land Court in 1867, and was afterwards engaged in survey work between the Bay of Islands and Tongariro. In 1873 Mr. Mitchell joined the Land Purchase Department, and in the following year settled at Rotorua. He has carried on private practice as an authorised surveyor since 1893, and has often been employed by the Government. Mr. Mitchell has served as a member of the Tauranga County Council, on which he represented Rotorua riding, and has been a member of the Rotorua Licensing Committee. He was married, in 1874, to a member of the Arawa tribe, and has two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Joseph Robinson,
                  J.P., has been well known in the Rotorua district for many years. He is the son of the late Rev. W. Robinson, of Langrick, near Boston, Lincolnshire, England, and was born there in 1833, and educated at Lincoln. Mr. Robinson came to Auckland in 1858 by the barque “William Watson,” and settled at Mauku, where he remained till the outbreak of the war, when he enlisted as a volunteer and served till the close of the disturbance. For some time he acted as a schoolmaster under the Board of Education, and was appointed by the Government to the charge of a native school, which he taught for thirteen years, at Awahau near Rotorua. On retiring he removed to Rotorua, where he built Tarawera House, which he conducted as a first class boardinghouse for some time and still owns. Mr. Robinson has for some years been a lay reader in the local Anglican Church. He was married, in 1860, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Crisp, J.P., an old Mauku settler, and has three sons and two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Stanley,
                  who is an Old Colonist, was born in 1845, in Tasmania, where he was brought up to an outdoor life. In 1863 he came to Auckland and joined the 3rd Waikato Militia, with which he served throughout the campaign. He settled in Cambridge in 1866, and five years later he was one of the first to walk overland from Cambridge to Tauranga, and afterwards to Maketu. For several years afterwards he was employed by Mr. F. E. Hamlin, R.M., and settled in Rotorua in 1874. Mr. Stanley commenced business as a butcher in 1877, but in 1878 he sold his interest to Mr. W. Kelly, and became driver for the line of coaches run by that gentleman between Tauranga, Rotorua and Wairoa. When



the business was sold to Mr. E. Robertson, Mr. Stanley commenced a dairy farm in Rotorua, and conducted it for three years. In 1891 he joined Mr. Robertson as a driver, and has since been employed in that way.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Seddon,
                  who is one of the oldest Settlers in Rotorua, was born in Manchester, England, in 1831. He came out to Victoria in 1870, and was engaged in goldmining in that colony, New South Wales, and Queensland for about five years. After being in business in Dunedin as an auctioneer for about seven years, he settled at Rotorua in 1881. He was afterwards a storekeeper at Ohinemutu, and for some years past has been proprietor of “Lake View” boardinghouse. Mr. Seddon took a prominent part in the establishment of the local library, for which he worked very hard, and acted as secretary of the committee for several years.

                

                  

[image: Royal Visit, June, 1901: Scenes and Incidents at Rotorua.]

Royal Visit, June, 1901: Scenes and Incidents at Rotorua.


                

              

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Whakarewarewa





            
Whakarewarewa.

            

              
              


                

                  
Whakarewarewa
                
                is two miles and a half from the town of Rotorua. Its main attraction is its large geyser, one of the largest in the thermal springs district. It is named Pohutu, and throws a column of 100 feet in height, but is intermittent in its action. There are other geysers, but their action is irregular and inconstant. There are two baths—one known as the Oil Bath, which is highly alkaline; and the other known as the Spout Bath, which is free. The Government nursery is in the immediate neighbourhood. Another attraction at Whakarewarewa is its splendid Maori house.

              

                

[image: Whakarewarewa.]

Whakarewarewa.


              

            

            

              
              


                
The State Forest Nursery,
                which is situated at Whakarewarewa, is thirty acres in extent, and the plantation reserve is 840 acres. In addition to the manager six men are permanently employed in working the nursery, which is maintained to raise plants and young trees for ornamental grounds at Rotorua, and other places where extensive planting is carried on by the Government. In the season of 1900, 170,000 forest trees were planted out from the State Forest Nursery on lands belonging to the Crown, and it was anticipated that half a million young plants would be available for planting in the season of 1901. Hitherto a considerable number of Maoris, including many women, have been employed in tree planting, and a large number of prisoners have recently been sent to the locality where they will be employed for several years to come, in planting useful timber trees on the barren hills and plains between Rotorua and Taupo.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Edward Barrett,
                Nurseryman in charge of the State Forest Nursery since its inception, 1897, was born at Sydenham, Christchurch, in 1874. He gained his experience of the nursery business with Messrs Guntrip and Line, and afterwards with Messrs Kerr and Barnett, and Nairn and Sons, of Christchurch, who are well known in New Zealand in connection with nursery business.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Geyser Hotel
                
                (Charles Edwin Nelson, manager), Whakarewarewa, Rotorua. This hotel was established in 1892. It is a wooden building of two stories with a verandah and balcony, and has about fifty rooms, of which forty are bedrooms. There are comfortable sitting rooms, and visitors may rely upon every comfort.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Edwin Nelson,
                Manager of the Geyser Hotel, was born in 1829 in Stockholm, Sweden, and is a son of the well-known Swedish naturalist and anthropologist,



Mr. Sven Nilsson, who was a professor at Lund University from 1831 to 1856, and wrote, among other works, “The Origin of the Inhabitants of Scandinavia” and “The Fauna of Scandinavia.” Professor Nilsson was born in 1807 and died in 1883. Mr. C. E. Nelson went to sea in 1844, and during his twenty-one years' experience sailed under the flags of fifteen countries,—namely, Sweden, Denmark, German Confederation, Hamburg, Bremen, England, France, Portugal, Austria, Turkey, Russia, Greece, Arabia, United States of America, and Brazil. At the age of nineteen Mr. Nelson qualified as a mate of a ship, and in the same year passed as master in the extra first class at Malmol, Sweden. He first touched New Zealand in a whaler in 1852, and remained a few months in Auckland. After cruising about the Pacific he again visited Auckland in 1857, and was afterwards on the coast for about three years. Upon settling in Auckland Mr. Nelson worked as a surveyor under the Government. He afterwards entered the Native Land Purchase Department, and held the position of Native Land Purchase Officer in the north of Auckland for about thirteen years. Mr. Nelson settled at Rotorua in 1891 to complete researches into ancient Maori history. He has long been interested in the traditions of the native race, and is a great student of all matters that tend to show its origin. Mr. Nelson is a clever linguist and can speak a number of languages. He claims to have at least 3000 Maori words which do not appear in any extant Maori dictionary. His name has been prominently associated with a very fine Maori house, which he has had erected in the immediate neighbourhood of the hotel, and is said to be the only complete Maori house in existence. Some of the leading pieces date back at least fifty years if not more, to the period when Maori artificers were at their best. It has been completed under his supervision, and one piece in particular—the headpiece—has been reproduced from a photograph of an old doorway from the East Coast district, and now in the Auckland Museum. Mr. Hamilton, registrar of the Otago University, says of the carved house, which is named Raura: “I have seen a very large number of carvings, ancient and modern, but I know of none more perfect or more beautiful, and it is a truly representative work of Maori art.” It is understood that this Maori house has been purchased for the Ethnological Museum of Berlin. Mr. Nelson was married, in 1863, to a daughter of the late Captain Stanaway, of Kaipara. Mrs Nelson died in 1887 leaving two sons and two daughters, and Mr. Nelson contracted a second marriage, in 1888, with a daughter of the late Mr Heavey, of Galway, Ireland.
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Waiotapu
                
                is one of the attractive spots in the Hot Lakes district. It is twenty-one miles from Rotorua on the new road, via Wairakei to Taupo. Such prominent mountains as Paeroa, Kakaramea, Maungaongaonga, and Waiotapu surround this weird spot. The principal sights of the place are under Maori management, and comprise the Primrose Fall, with beautiful terrace formations; the Mustard Pot, a cold green lake, nine acres in extent and said to be sixty fathoms deep; the Devil's Porridge Pot, and the Hot Sulphur Pool, constantly boiling up; a remarkable rock named the Queen's Seat, approached by the Queen's Walk; a cold alum pool; a sulphur blowhole; an explosive crater, where a big slip occurred at the time of the eruption; a sulphur cave; a paddle-wheel blowhole; Champagne Pool; numerous boiling lakes and holes; various pools, some coloured black, some sulphur coloured, some cream, and some white; and there is a pretty blue lake of eight acres in extent, surrounded by high alum cliffs, with cold and hot springs bubbling up in various parts; and numerous other marvels. The Government holds an area of about 4000 acres in the immediate neighbourhood of the hotel, and is developing the place by making footpaths and other conveniences for tourists. Mud geysers and volcanoes, sulphur pools and caves, boiling porridge pots and the usual thermal springs and hot lakes are found on the property. The district is a very remarkable one, and has come into notice since the destruction of the wondrous terraces at Rotomahana. About a mile before arriving at Waiotapu, a detour in the road leads to a large mud volcano standing about ten or twelve feet in height.
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Alum Cliffs, Waiotapu.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  Waiotapu Hotel
                
                (John Falloona, proprietor), Waiotapu. This comfortable hotel was opened in 1897. It occupies an elevated position, whence visitors obtain excellent views of the surrounding country. The building is of wood and iron with a large verandah, and contains fifteen rooms, including a dining room with seats for about thirty persons.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Falloona,
                the Proprietor, was born in 1851 at Belfast, Ireland, and is a draper by trade. He came to Tauranga in 1880 by the ship “Lady Jocelyn,” and was for some time engaged as a storekeeper at Te Puke, and subsequently as a hotelkeeper at Tahake. Later on he was storekeeping at Rotorua, and then took the management of a hotel at Maketu. In 1884 Mr. Falloona took the management of a store at Wairoa, where he remained till the place was desolated by the eruption. For six years afterwards he had charge of a hotel in Rotorua, and subsequently bought the Rotorua Hotel from Mr. George Crosby. Mr. Falloona started a line of coaches to run between Rotorua and Waiotapu and Tikitere. He afterwards ran them between Tauranga and Taupo and is still the proprietor of a coaching plant and stables at Rotorua. Mr. Falloona was married, in 1891, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. J. Thomson, of Auckland.
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Wairakei.

            

              
              

                

                  
Wairakei
                
               
 is one of the most marvellous places in the thermal springs region of the North Island. It is six miles from Taupo and fifty from Rotorua, and is situated on the new road between these places. Within two miles of the hotel and homestead is the weird Geyser Valley, which was not affected by the disturbances at Tarawera and Rotomahana, in 1886. The wonders of the district include the Dragon's Mouth, an intermittent geyser, which plays every five minutes, and reaches its highest point every two hours; it makes a roaring sound, and the rock from which it emerges has a jaw resembling that of a crocodile; the lightning pool, Heron's Nest, and Black Geyser, the latter playing every minute; a mud volcano, accompanied with constant thuds; a coloured mud spring, boiling like porridge; a blue boiling pool; the Twins Geyser, one part of which plays every four minutes and the other every fifteen; hot cave with alum deposits; the Prince of Wales's Feather Geyser, over the orifice of which there is a piece of petrified wood, which splits the jet as it rises to a height of from 30 to 40 feet. Altogether the valley is an extremely
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The Twins Geyser, Wairakei.





uncanny and other-worldish place. The Arateatea Rapids of the Waikato river are three miles from the hotel at Wairakei. These rapids are over half a mile in extent, and have a fall of about 150 feet. They zig-zag down a very fine incline, and may be seen from four different points of the road, which leads through beautiful fern bush. The Waiora Valley is another interesting point, which is only a mile and a half from the hotel. In this valley there is a very strong sulphur bath, and plenty of boiling pools and mud holes. There are some blue and green lakes. The celebrated Huka Falls, on the Waikato river, are on the road from Wairakei to Taupo, and are grand and beautiful beyond description. The noble river, which takes its rise in Lake Taupo, is here compressed between two solid walls of rock, forming rapids for a distance of about 300 yards. A suspension bridge has been erected over these rapids, and the tourist obtains a grand view of the seething torrent as it takes its final leap. Kerapiti, sometimes known as the Devil's Trumpet, is a wonderful steam blowhole of twelve inches in diameter, which is constantly emitting a heavy pressure of steam, estimated to be of the force of 180 pounds to the square inch. This blow-hole is called by Sir James Hector the safety-valve of New Zealand, an ascription which suggests that if it were to become clogged the country would, in its turn, become an exploded volcano, with all its people and industrial glory, distributed in space. Wairakei may be reached from Wanganui, via Pipiriki and Tokaanu, weekly, or from Rotorua thrice a week, or Napier twice weekly. The North Island trunk railway is expected to pass at a point within about thirty miles of the scene.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Geyser House Hotel
                
                (Mrs Grierson, proprietress), Wairakei. This well known house was established in 1881 by the late Mr. Robert Graham. Since 1897 it has been considerably enlarged, and besides a large number of bedrooms, there are two sitting rooms, a smoking room, and a dining room that will seat thirty-six guests. There is altogether accommodation at the establishment for from forty-five to fifty persons. There is a very fine hot swimming bath, with a hot douche and a cold shower, also a very good ladies' bath, 12 feet by 6 feet, and several hot douche baths. The grounds surrounding the hotel are beautifully laid out and well kept, and it would be hard to imagine a more lovely retreat for tourists or persons worn out with business or other cares. Wairakei Geyser Valley has already an established fame for its unique and wonderful sights, and geyser displays at regular intervals, and no visitor is ever disappointed with a visit to Wairakei.
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Geyser House Hotel.
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Huka Falls, Waikato River.
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Taupo
                
                is a remote township on the shores of the great lake, and is 227 miles from Auckland, and 103 from Napier. The region is full of thermal wonders, geysers, mineral baths, and grand scenery. Game abounds near the lake, on which trips can be made in steam launches, and there are good hotels in the township and neighbourhood. Taupo is the starting point for numerous interesting excursions. Tokaanu, about twenty-six miles across the lake, can be reached in four hours by means of a steam launch; or by buggy round the lake in from five to six hours. Wairakei is seven miles from Taupo, via the Huka Falls. Rotokawa, a bitter lake, about one mile in diameter, with sulphur holes and fine crystals round the banks, is about nine miles distant by horseback. Glen Lofley, in which Joshua's Spa is situated, is celebrated for its mineral baths, and numerous natural wonders lying between it and the Waikato river, the most noteworthy being on the river's banks; and the spa, within two miles of the township, has a number of fine baths, some of which are noted for their curative properties in respect to various ailments. Altogether Taupo, which can be reached from Auckland and Napier, is a place which, once visited, can never be forgotten.
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Crow's Nest Geyser.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Taupo Domain Board
                
                was established about 1895. Members for 1900; Mr. J. Gallagher, chairman, Messrs W. G. Noble, J.P., J. Crowther, J. Rickit, and R. Ross. The domain, which is over six acres in extent, is situated in the township and is completely fenced and planted with ornamental trees. There is also a reserve of fourteen acres known as Taharepa, which is under the control of the Board.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Taupo Post And Telegraph Office
                
                was originally within the redoubt in the early days, but the old building is now occupied by the telegraph lineman, and the premises in use in 1900 were erected in the early days for school purposes. They include a public office, mail and operating room, and a dwellinghouse of seven rooms.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Government Roads Department
                
                for the East Taupo District is domiciled at Rotorua, but the resident inspector has his headquarters in Taupo. The district covers an area of 170 miles in extent.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James A. Brownlie,
                Road Inspector for the East Taupo District, was born in Perthshire, Scotland, and was educated there and in Glasgow. He first came out to Victoria, where he resided for some time, and then came over to New Zealand, and settled in Tauranga, where, for a few years, he carried



on business as an agricultural implement manufacturer under the style of J. A. Brownlie and Co. He has been an officer of the Roads Department for many years, has resided in Taupo since 1890, and held the position of inspector for a number of years. Mr. Brownlie is married, and has a family of three sons and one daughter.
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                  The Taupo Public School
                
                contains one class room and a porch. There is accommodation for thirty pupils, there are nineteen names on the roll, and the average attendance is sixteen.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles E. O. H. Tobin,
                who holds an E4 certificate, is the teacher in charge of the Taupo public school. He became a probationer at the Epsom public school, where he was assistant for nearly three years, and was then appointed to Taupo in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Henry James Fletcher,
                Minister in charge of the Presbyterian Maori Mission in Taupo, was born in Kent, England, in 1868. He arrived with his parents in Wellington by the ship “La Hogue,” in 1874, was educated in Rangitikei, and studied under the Rev. John Ross, at Turakina, and the Rev. J. Doull, at Bulls. Mr. Fletcher was ordained in September, 1898, and was placed in charge of the Taupo district in January, 1895. For several years past he has been chairman of the Taupo school committee. He was married, in 1895, to a daughter of Mr. G. W. D. Morris, of Hunterville.

            

            

              
              


                
Taupo Magistrate's Court and Police Station.
                The old building used as a courthouse was originally erected about 1870 for the use of the constabulary. It is now used not only as a courthouse, but also for concerts, amusements and religious services, and the meetings of the Native Land Court. The Magistrate's Court is held half yearly, and special sittings, when necessary, are conducted by the local justices. The police station is a seven-roomed house situated in a garden, and was built by the constabulary on the banks of the Waikato river, near its rise in Lake Taupo, and was formerly used by the officers of the Armed Constabulary. There are two cells in the Magistrate's Court, and the police district extends from about half way to Rotorua to a point nearly half way to Napier.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Tureiti Te Heuheu,
                Native Assessor, was born at Taupo in 1864, and comes of a very warlike tribe. His father, Te Heuheu, was a noted warrior possessed of great mana, and his mother was Tahuri, a daughter of Te Uaki, another influential Taupo chief. Although his father was such a renowned warrior, it is said that he never made war unless he was sure he had justice on his side and even then always endeavoured to settle the dispute amicably, but when his judgment and advice were over ruled by others, he fought with a courage and skill worthy of his race.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Ryan,
                Officer in charge of the Police District, Clerk of the Magistrate's Court, etc., was born in Limerick, Ireland in 1846. In 1867 he joined the Royal Irish Constabulary, and served as a constable during the Fenian riots of the same year. After arriving in Auckland in 1875, he joined the police force, and was stationed successively at Mercer, Te Awamutu, Raglan, and Dannevirke before being appointed to Taupo in 1827.

            

            

              
              


                
Prinn, R. W.,
                Chemist, Taupo. This business grew out of Mr. Prinn's appointment as native dispenser by the Government in 1887. The appointment is still held by Mr. Prinn, but in 1889 he thought it best to hold, on his own account, a small stock of drugs, etc., for sale to the public. He studied in Melbourne under Professor McAdam with a view to being a chemist, came to New Zealand in 1878 and has been engaged in the profession since 1880.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Lake Hotel
                
                (Joseph Gallagher, proprietor), Taupo. This well-known house was erected by the present proprietor in 1878, and has since then been continuously conducted by him. It is a two-storey wooden building, with nineteen rooms for the use of the public—fourteen bedrooms and three sitting rooms. There are two very fine dining rooms, capable of seating respectively eighteen and fourteen guests. At the back of the hotel there is a fine ten-stalled stable. In connection with the hotel, Mr. Gallagher has a store, in which he keeps a full stock of general goods.
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Mr. Joseph Gallagher,
                the Proprietor, was born in 1850 at Otahuhu, and was brought up to agriculture. He has been a resident in Taupo since 1869, when there were no European buildings in the district, which was inhabited by about 300 friendly natives. Mr. Gallagher joined the Armed Constabulary in 1868, and took part in the fighting in the Wanganui district under Colonel Whitmore. After serving eight years he met with an accident, which incapacitated him from service, and, taking his discharge, he commenced storekeeping at Taupo with Mr. J. Rickit, under the style of Gallagher and Rickit. Mr. Gallagher is well known as a prominent settler in the district, and has been chairman of the local domain board since its inception. He was married, in 1883, to a daughter of Mr. T. B. Noble, and has five sons and five daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Spa
                
                (Joseph Gallagher, proprietor), Taupo. This convenient and attractive place is about a mile and three-quarters from the settlement of Taupo, off the main road. It is situated in a sheltered valley, through which a hot creek runs. A large swimming bath



has been constructed, partly under cover and partly in the open, and there is also a fine warm bath, with a hot douche and a cold shower. The buildings, which are seven or eight in number, form an irregular circle and include a Maori carved house, which is fitted up for a dining and refreshment room, with a kitchen attached. There is accommodation for thirty-two guests, and the wonders of the Crow's Nest Geyser and other marvels are to be seen within a short distance.
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                  Taupo Hotel
                
                (Thomas Balfour Noble, licensee), Taupo. This hotel was established about 1870, when it had only five rooms, but the present building has fourteen rooms, including eight bedrooms, and there is capital stabling behind the hotel. Noble has been licensee since 1876.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Balfour Noble,
                the Licensee, was born near Athy, County Kildare, Ireland, in 1836. In 1858 he joined the 5th Royal Lancers, and held an appointment as paymaster's sergeant in the King County Militia. He arrived in New Zealand as sergeant with the 14th Regiment in 1860, served in the Waikato campaign, and was afterwards attached to the Commissariat Department as storekeeper. Mr. Noble purchased his discharge in 1868 as sergeant from the Commissariat Staff Corps, and served for eighteen months as a member of the Armed Constabulary in Auckland. He then settled in Taupo, where he was book-keeper for the contractor for stores to the Armed Constabulary, and had charge of his store, prior to taking the Taupo Hotel. Mr. Noble was married, in 1864, to a daughter of the late Mr. R. Marshall, of Auckland, and has four sons and four daughters.
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                  Terrace Hotel
                
                (Thomas McKinley, proprietor), Taupo. This fine hotel occupies a commanding position on the Terrace, about two miles from the centre of the Taupo settlement, on the Napier Road. It is two-storey wooden building, with balconies on each side, and contains twenty rooms, of which sixteen are bedrooms. There are two sitting rooms, and a large dining room with seats for forty guests. There is also an eight-stalled stable, with buggy and coach house. Magnificent views of Lake Taupo, with Tauhara Mountain, Ngauruhoe, Ruapehu, and Tongariro are obtainable from the balcony. In the valley, 100 feet below the hotel, there are some very fine hot springs, including two beautiful hot baths, at which separate buildings have been erected. There is also a large hot water bath several chains long and over two chains wide. There are some very curious black Terraces, over which water impregnated with iron and iodine runs. These parts are intersected with boiling holes and cold water holes, and the analysis of the water taken from them shows fifteen different minerals. There is also a cold soda spring on the property. The Terrace Hotel and its wondrous baths are well worth a visit by the ordinary tourist, and those who are in search of health and rest could not found a more suitable place, as the hotel itself is entirely free from either steam or objectionable smells. The fact, too, that it is built on pumice soil, 1500 feet above the level of the sea and in the centre of the island, makes the air and the drainage perfect, and gives the place quite exceptional advantages as a resort for persons suffering from chest complaints, such as consumption, asthma, etc.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Rickit And Adams
                
                (Joseph Rickit and Robert Adams), Storekeepers, Taupo. This firm was established in 1883, and its trade extends over a distance of twenty miles round Taupo.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Joseph Rickit
                
                was born in Lincolnshire, England, and, having come to New Zealand at an early age, was brought up to agriculture. After settling in Taupo, he joined Mr. Adams in establishing the firm. Mr. Rickit has from the first been a member of the Taupo Domain Board. He was married, in 1882, to a native of the Arawa tribe, and has five sons and four daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert Adams,
                one of the Partners in the firm of Rickit and Adams, was born in 1843, in Belfast, Ireland, where he was brought up to commercial life. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Annie Wilson,” in 1863, and, after gaining experience of colonial life in Auckland and Poverty Bay, settled in 1883 at Taupo, where he and Mr. Rickit became partners. Mr. Adams was married, in 1896, to a Taupo native.

            

            

              


              
              


                

Crowther, Joseph,
                Manager of the Taupo Branch for Messrs Crowther and McCauley, Coach Proprietors. Mr. Crowther was born in 1862, in Wellington. In 1883 he established himself in Taupo as a butcher, and conducted the business for sixteen years. Since 1896 Mr. Crowther has been in charge of the business of the firm at the Taupo end. He has been a member of the Taupo Domain Board since its commencement. Mr. Crowther was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. G. Hobbs, of Napier, and has one son and one daughter.
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Mr. William George Noble,
                J.P., was born in Kildare, Ireland, in 1838, and at the age of twenty joined the 5th Royal Lancers. He arrived in New Zealand in 1860 as colour sergeant in the 14th Regiment, and served throughout the Waikato campaign, and afterwards served in the Armed Constabulary at Uriwera and Taupo. Mr. Noble has been acquainted with the Taupo district since 1868, as he was stationed there on despatch work prior to the arrival of the main body of the troops. For some time he was connected with the Commissariat Department, and became a sergeant in 1874. Soon afterwards he retired, and went into business on his own account as a storekeeper in Taupo. He has held the Commission of the Peace since 1892, and has been a member of the Taupo Domain Board from its inception. During part of his military career Mr. Noble had a splendid dog, which always accompanied him on his rounds, and obtained the name of the “Man Eater.”
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Ateamuri.

            

              
              

                

                  
Ateamuri
                
               
 is a secluded spot on the old road between Rotorua and Taupo; it is twenty-eight miles from Rotorua, twenty-five from Taupo, and twenty-two miles from Wairakei. It is on the banks of the Waikato river and has a weekly coach service. There is fine trout fishing close by in the Waikato river and the Tarangatara and Maungaharakiki streams. The Rainbow Falls on the Waikato are about two miles from the hotel. They are about fifty feet wide, and beautiful rainbow effects are seen in the spray. The Government is opening up a road from this point to Orakeikorako, which is about eight miles distant, and is said to abound in thermal wonders. As it is necessary to cross the Waikato river to reach Orakeikorako, the Maoris keep a ferry for the purpose. About two miles away on the road to Ongaroto, a native settlement, there is a row of stones,


[image: Ateamuri from the Bridge.]

Ateamuri from the Bridge.





set upright in the ground, which are of considerable interest in native history. It is said that at this spot the Maoris of the Ngatikaupungapunga tribe made their last stand against the Ngatiraukawa tribe, and were all killed with the exception of five, who made their escape to Horohoro, where their descendants live. The cause of the quarrel was the murder of a native woman, who was given in marriage to the chief of the Ngatikaupungapunga tribe, and the stones were set up at the heads of the bodies of the chiefs as they lay in a row preparatory to being consigned to the ovens. The fight is said to have taken place ten generations ago, and the spot is known to the Maoris by the name of Te Urupa o Ngatikaupungapunga. About two miles from Ateamuri there are two large hot springs named MokuTuhana; and about a quarter of a mile from the Ateamuri Hotel there is the long stone named Pohaturoa, which is situated at an altitude of about 4000 feet above the river. The spot, as fortified by the Maoris, is understood to have stood a good many sieges, and never to have been captured.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Ateamuri Hotel
                
                (George Parsons, proprietor) is situated at the rise of the Rotorua-Taupo Road, near the bridge over the Waikato river, and is a relief to the eye after many miles of fern-clad hills and grass plain. There are several hot springs and points of interest within easy access, and Pohaturoa rears its steep and rocky sides some 500 feet above the river. A row of stones, a short distance down the river, marks the spot where the original native inhabitants were killed and eaten by the ancestors of the Ngati Whaita, who now live at Ongaroto, about three miles from Ateamuri. At Ateamuri is the starting point for Orakei Korako, where some of the finest sights in the thermal district are to be seen; the Alum Cave is worth going round the world to see. Money has been voted by Parliament on two occasions to make a buggy road, but most of it has been spent on surveys, and tourists still have to use the bridle track; but it is hoped that the driving road will be finished this year (1901). As a sporting resort Ateamuri is hard to beat, and those who can shoot make good bags of both pheasants and ducks; deer also abound in the district. Visitors will find in Mr. Parsons a true sportsman and a crack gun and rifle shot. The cuisine is under the personal superintendence of Mrs Parsons, which is a guarantee of quality. A cup of tea and a meal can be had at any time, which is a consideration to those who may be on the road, early or late. Stables and paddocks are attached to the hotel, and buggy and saddle horses are obtainable on hire.
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Tokaanu.

            

              
              


                

                  
Tokaanu
                
                is close to Lake Taupo, the queen of the North Island lakes, and as it is on the tourist route, and has extensive attractions in the shape of large hot springs and geysers, it is likely to become important as a sanatorium. It is from Tokaanu that tourists start to make the ascent of Ngauruhoe and Ruapehu. It is not long since the Government acquired the site of the township from the Maoris. This acquisition has of course removed what was previously a hindrance to the progress of the place. At present the population of Tokaanu consists chiefly of natives, and there is an excellent native school, which is well attended by Maori boys and girls.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Tokaanu Native School
                
                is situated on the south-west corner of Lake Taupo and stands on the river Tokaanu, half a mile from the lake. It was opened at the beginning of 1898, and has ninety-six pupils on the roll. Mr. A. G. Hamilton is the headmaster and he has two assistants. The children are very tractable and are eager to learn, and the parents take the greatest interest in the school and their children's progress.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Alfred Gaspar Hamilton
                
                was appointed to the mastership of the Tokaanu Native School in 1898. He was born near Leeds in 1851, and was educated at the St. John's Clergy School, London. He followed the leather trade in London with Messrs Stead and Simpson for seven years. In 1870 he came to New Zealand in the ship “Ballochmyle,” and followed his trade at Christchurch and Dunedin. He was for five years in partnership with his brother in the sawmilling line at Oxford, Canterbury, but gave that up for school teaching. In 1881 he was teaching at the Akaroa Native School, and in 1886 he went to Akauku, Waipiro Bay, where he was for five years. Mr. Hamilton was then appointed principal of the Government College at Tonga and he conducted that institution for three years. In 1893 he was appointed master of the Native School at Kaikohe, whence he moved in 1898 to Tokaanu, and was succeeded by Mr. T. B. Hawkins, formerly of the Native School at Waitapu, Hokianga. Mr. Hamilton is an enthusiast in cricket, and wherever he has been stationed he has lent a willing hand in musical matters. Mrs. Hamilton is a daughter of Mr. T. Woodfield, of Eyreton, Canterbury.
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Tatua.

            

              
              


                

Tatua,
                on the Auckland-Thames railway line, is a flag station, 74 feet above the level of the sea. It is forty-one miles from the Thames, and 107 miles south-east from Auckland. Settlement is steadily progressing in the district, and the ground, formerly all ti-tree and swamp, brought into cultivation. The district is within the county of Piako.

            

            

              
              


                

Larney, Nicol Ashton,
                Sheepfarmer, “Lauriston,” Tatua. Mr. Larney's estate adjoins the Tauta flag station, and consists of nearly 3000 acres of freehold land, on which he runs about 5000 sheep, nearly 300 head of cattle, and about forty horses. Mr. Larney was born near Edinburgh, Scotland, in 1842, was educated in that city, and was brought up to agriculture by his father, who had several farms in Scotland. In 1861 Mr. Larney went to America and enlisted in the United States Engineer Army Corps, and served during the war on the Federal side. He was with the army of the Potomac under Generals McLennan, Burnside, Hooker, Mead and Grant altogether for about four years. At the conclusion of the war Mr. Larney returned to Scotland invalided, and about eighteen months later arrived in Auckland, by the ship “British Empire.” For about five years he was engaged by Messrs R. and E. Maclean, the well-known flock owners. Subsequently he went to the East Coast, and was for about three years in the Whakatane Valley, to which he took the first sheep on behalf of Mr. J. S. McFarlane and others. About 1876 Mr. Larney took the management of a station at Tamahere, and about three years later removed to Ohaupo, where he engaged in farming on his own account for two years. He then took charge of the stock on the Agricultural Company's Waitoa estate, and held that position for five years. Having purchased the first 300 acres of his holding at Tatua in 1887, Mr. Larney settled on the property, which has since increased to its present area. He has long been well known as an excellent judge of sheep, and his services have been in demand at various agricultural shows in the country. He was for two years a member of the Piako County Council, on which he represented the Waitoa riding. Mr. Larney was married, in September, 1861, at Brookland, United States of America, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Grant, of Edinburgh, and has had five sons and seven daughters, of whom two sons and one daughter are dead.
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Waihou.

            

              
              


                

                  Waihou
                
                is the name of a railway siding and settlement 112 miles from Auckland, and within about two miles of Te Aroha. It is in the county of Piako, and has a population of about 100 persons. The township has daily mails, a telephone service, and a post office savings bank.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waihou Public School
                
                has accommodation for eighty children. There are 110 names on the roll, and the average attendance is 92. There is an area of eight acres attached to the school. The teacher in charge is assisted by one pupil and one ex-pupil teacher.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Herbert Cousins,
                Master of the Waihou School, was born in 1872, in Auckland, where he served a pupil teachership at the Beresford Street school. He was for a short time engaged in relieving work, and was in charge of half-time schools at Pungareri and Iaumea. He was again engaged in relieving work for two years, and was appointed to Waihou in 1897.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waihou Creamery
                
                (Ambury and English, proprietors), Waihou. This creamery was opened on the 10th of September, 1899. The plant consists of an eight-horse power steam engine, and two 400-gallon de Laval separators. There are thirty-one suppliers, who daily bring in the milk of about 700 or 800 cows. Mr. Thomas Wilson is the manager.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waihou Hotel
                
                (Oswald Francis Pilling, proprietor), Waihou. The original Waihou hotel was erected in 1877, but was burnt down in 1888. As rebuilt, the hotel is of wood, is of one storey, and has seventeen rooms, nine of which are bedrooms, and there are three sitting rooms. The present proprietor has conducted the business since 1897.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Oswald Francis Pilling
                
                was born in India in 1853. His father was a captain in the 70th Regiment, and he was brought to the colony by his parents when he was five years of age. Mr. Pilling joined the Militia at Howick in 1867, and he afterwards served in the Waikato Cavalry at Hamilton for about seven years. He began hotelkeeping at Raglan in 1896. Mr. Pilling was married, in 1892, to a daughter of Mr. J. Hemphill, of Mangarata.

            

            

              
              


                

Hemphill, Edmond,
                General Storekeeper, Waihou. This store was established about 1875, and has been conducted by Mr. Hemphill since 1898. The business of the local post, money order, telephone office, and savings bank is conducted on the premises. Mr. Hemphill was born in County Derry, Ireland, in 1871. He arrived in Auckland in 1886 by the ship “British Empire,” and was for five years employed in the Survey Department. After being three years in the Taranaki and Wellington districts, and for two years at Kaipara, he settled at Waihou.

            

            

              
              


                

Taylor, Thomas,
                Settler, Waihou. Mr. Taylor was born in 1827 in Croughton, Northamptonshire, England, and was brought up to the trade of a wheelwright. After coming out to Auckland in 1863, he joined the second Waikato Militia, and was transferred to the Commissariat Transport Corps stationed at Penrose, and then at Papakura, Drury, and Meremere. He served altogether three years till the corps was disbanded, when he received for his services the New Zealand war medal and also a section of land at Alexandria, where he settled for a time. Mr. Taylor was at the Thames from 1868 to 1880, when he removed to Waihou, and purchased 146 acres then in a valuable farm. Mr. Taylor has served several times on the local school committee. He was married on the 29th of May, 1849, to a daughter of the late Mr. R. Mason, of Walsoken, England, and has two sons and four daughters, all of whom are married, and there are forty-one grandchildren.
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Pink Terraces, Rotomahana.


              

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Te Aroha





            
Te Aroha.

            

              
              


                

                  
Te Aroha
                
                is one of the most favoured and most famous places in the North Island. It is situated on the bank of the river Thames in Piako county, and is celebrated for its fine thermal springs and the beautiful Te Aroha mountain, which rises above the township to a height of 3126 feet. It is a goldfields township, and the district was proclaimed on the 18th of November, 1880. It can hardly be said that the local gold mines have been a success, though at Waiorongomai, which is referred to elsewhere, goldmining is still carried on with remunerative results. Te Aroha, however, has come into prominence in recent years as a resort for tourists and invalids on account of the marvellously curative effects of its hot mineralised springs. It is a borough and has a local water supply. There are three fine hotels, and a large number of boardinghouses, and plenty of business premises. The Waihou river winds picturesquely round the township, and splendid views of the surrounding country can be obtained by climbing the mountain. For a number of years Te Aroha railway station was the terminus of the line from Auckland. The Anglican, Wesleyan, Presbyterian, and Roman Catholic churches are represented in the district. Te Aroha has a large public hall and a flourishing Government school, a post and telegraph office, and a newspaper, and had a population of 888 persons at the census of April, 1901.

            

            

              
Borough of Te Aroha.

              

                
                


                  
The Borough Of Te Aroha.
                  This borough was constituted on the 2nd of May, 1898 and for ten or twelve years prior to that date the township was under the jurisdiction of a Town Board. As now constituted, the borough has an area of about 1000 acres, and occupies the slope which extends from the banks of the picturesque river Waihou to the forest-clad sides of Te Aroha mountain. It contains ratable properties, including 200 dwellings, with a total ratable annual value of £5500; and the annual general rate is 9d, and the water rate for domestic supply 7d, in the £. Within the boundaries there are about ten miles of roads and streets, mostly formed, and a large proportion is also metalled. At the constitution of the borough the council took over from the Piako County Council a loan of £840, as its proportion of the loan due by the Te Aroha riding. Besides this loan, the Council has obtained for waterworks a sum of £3000; both amounts, borrowed from the Government, bear interest at the rate of 3£1/2 per cent. The supply of water is obtained from the Tutumangeo stream and branch, and a reservoir with a capacity of 70,000 gallons has been constructed at an elevation of 260 feet. Mains are laid in all the principal streets, and all dwellings are connected with the supply. The Hot Springs Domain, described in another article, is situated within the limits of the borough, and is the main attraction for invalids and tourists. The council meets on the third Wednesday of each month at the Council Chambers in the office of the Domain Board, of which the Mayor and councillors are, ex officio, chairman and members respectively.
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His Worship The Mayor, 
Mr. Walter Henry Wright,
                  who was elected in April, 1901, was born in Tasmania in 1853, and came to New Zealand in April, 1893, by the s.s. “Monowai.” After being a year in Auckland he went on to Cambridge, where he purchased 250 acres of improved land, including two acres of orchard, a mile from the town. To facilitate the sale of his stock, he opened a butcher's shop in Cambridge. Before coming to New Zealand he farmed 300 acres of the best-known land in Tasmania, principally growing potatoes and rearing cattle. Mr. Wright was elected a member of the Cambridge Borough Council in September, 1896, and was a member of the Cambridge Road Board and school committee. He is now in business as a storekeeper at Te Aroha and Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Hill,
                  Town Clerk and Treasurer of the Borough of Te Aroha, and Secretary and Treasurer of the Hot Springs Domain Board, was appointed to these offices on the constitution of the borough. He was born near Glasgow, Scotland, and was brought up to mercantile life. In 1890 he came to New Zealand by the s.s. “Kaikoura,” and was employed in Auckland at clerical work till 1896, when he removed to Te Aroha, and became a partner in the firm of McIndoe and Hill, saddlers. Mr. Hill is secretary of Lodge Te Aroha, No. 52.

              

              

                


                
                


                  

Mr. Francis Pavitt,
                  C.E. and J.P., is Engineer for the Te Aroha Borough Council and for the Waitoa Road Board. He was born in Essex, England, in 1834, served his apprenticeship as a civil engineer in London, and came out to Akaroa by the barque “Monarch,” in 1850. For ten years after his arrival in the colony, he was engaged in sawmilling on the Akaroa Peninsula, but in 1860 he removed to Christchurch, where he followed his profession till 1882, and since then he has been a resident of Te Aroha. Mr. Pavitt was a member of the Christchurch Engineer Volunteers from 1864 to 1875, and retired with the rank of captain. He was one of the founders of the Te Aroha Masonic Lodge, and became its first Master, having previously been W.M. of Lodge St. Augustine, Christchurch. Mr. Pavitt is chairman of the Te Aroha Cemetery Board, and is a member of the Waihou Domain Board. He has been a Justice of the Peace since 1888. Mr. Pavitt was married, in 1855, to the daughter of the late Mr. John Cuff, who sat for Akaroa in the House of Representatives during 1856–58, and has two sons and three daughters. Mrs Pavitt died in November, 1899.
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                    The Te Aroha Hot Springs Domain
                  
                  is vested in the Te Aroha Hot Springs Domain Board, which dates from 1884. The members of the Board were elected by the inhabitants until the establishment of the local Borough Council, the mayor and councillors of which are now, ex officio, members of the Board. The domain is about sixty acres in extent, and has twelve chains frontage to the main road at Te Aroha. The lower portion of the domain is beautifully laid out in lawns, flower borders, and shady walks. There is a fine band rotunda in the centre of the main lawn, and the bath-houses are located in various parts of the grounds. The principal bath-house, which occupies the central position in the domain, was opened on the 24th of May, 1879, by the Hon. A. J. Cadman whose designs were carried out in the erection of the building, which cost the Government over £3000 for its erection. There are nineteen private baths in this building, which is considered the best appointed of its kind in the Southern Hemisphere. It is fitted on the most approved thermo-therauptic method. The reservoir of hot, clear, colourless water, which supplies this building, is distant about 200 feet from it, and contains about fifteen thousand gallons of water. In addition to the private bathhouses, there are a number of public bathhouses, the temperature of which varies from 92 to 102 degrees. The Te Aroha waters are also available for drinking purposes, and there are several springs having various medicinal qualities. The famous octagon contains eight hot drinking springs. It is well known to all visitors, and the water has a temperature of 109 degrees. Throughout the greater portion of the year the Hot Springs Domain presents a lively scene, games of tennis, croquet, and bowls being engaged in by convalescent invalids, visitors, and tourists. The upper portion of the domain extends up the slopes of the Te Aroha mountain, and is visited by numbers of travellers, who climb the shady walks, and are well repaid by the beautiful native bush and the magnificent peeps that are gained from time to time of the surrounding country. The office fronts the main road at the entrance to the domain, and so does the reading room, which is well supplied with newspapers and periodicals. There is also a private waiting room for ladies. Some idea of the popularity of Te Aroha as a bathing place may be gathered from a comparison of the revenue received by the Board for the four years, 1896 to 1899 inclusive, as follows; 1896, £720; 1897, £869; 1898, £907; 1899, £1041. The Board holds its meetings on the first Wednesday in each month.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Muir,
                  Hydropathic Specialist (1900) to the Te Aroha Hot Springs Domain Board, was born in Kilbarchan, Renfrewshire, Scotland, in 1870, and was educated at the public school. For about seven years he was employed in connection with the soft goods manufacturing trade in Glasgow. Owing to ill-health Mr. Muir went to Matlock in 1891, and after deriving great benefit from the treatment there, he decided to adopt hydropathy as a profession, with the conviction that those who intended to administer the treatment, should first of all go through the process themselves. He devoted himself closely to the study of the subject under the most prominent medical men and hydropathists in Great Britain. Since then he has occupied almost every position in leading hydropathic establishments, from that of bath attendant to that of manager; he has travelled with patients to such institutions, and for six months had the care of an invalid medical man. In 1898 he was appointed to take charge of Sir Thomas McIlwraith, ex-Premier of Queensland, on a voyage to Queensland, but the arrangement was cancelled owing to the patient being too ill to travel. As Mr. Muir himself had made full preparations to come out to the colonies, he left by the s.s. “Ormuz,” and his departure was thus noted in the “British Australian” of May, 1898: “Amongst the outward passengers of the ‘Ormuz’ is Mr. James Muir, who is proceeding to New Zealand, with the view to taking up the management of a hydropathic establishment or sanatorium in that colony Mr. Muir possesses the highest testimonials, and has had an almost unrivalled experience in all departments of hydropathic work in this country. He should prove an acquisition to the colony.” Three weeks after his arrival in Wellington Mr. Muir was appointed manager of the Seatown hydropathic establishment, and held the position for six months. He held an appointment for a similar period at the Postmaster and Pavilion baths at Rotorua, and afterwards acted as specialist, giving advice to invalids. Mr. Muir was appointed to his present position in February, 1900. He makes a speciality of hydropathic packing, known as the “Smedley” system, including liver-packs and the crisis treatment for dyspepsia, which is highly recommended by leading Auckland doctors. Since Mr. Muir's appointment to his present position the “packing” treatment has proved to be most efficacious, numerous testimonials from well-known people having been received to that effect, as many as 500 in four months. The following from the Premier will be read with interest: “Te Aroha, April 26th, 1900. Dear Mr. Muir.—I have much enjoyed the ‘Pack’ baths which I took under your direction. They had the same effects as Turkish baths, without causing the inconvenience or the endurance of the trying heat inseparable from the Turkish system. I very much regret that time will not permit my taking a proper course of your baths.—Yours truly, R. J. Seddon.”
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Piako County Council.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Piako County Council
                  
                  was established in 1876. Members for 1900. Messrs W. P. Chepmell, chairman, A. J. Farmer, J. Jackson, H. Cox, J. Brady, M. Harrison, W. C. Ring, J. McCaw, C. C. Buckland; P. Gilchrist, Clerk. The county is



divided into five ridings—namely, Waitoa, which returns three members; Te Aroha, two members; Patetere, two members; and Matamata and Taotaoroa, which return one member each. The county has an area of 1095 acres, with a total ratable value of £773, 482. The annual revenue derived from a rate of £1/2d in the £, amounted, together with Government subsidies, to £3725 in 1899. The Waiorongomai tramway, a public work which cost the Government over £15,000, is controlled and worked under the authority of the Council. At the census of 1901 the county had a population of 2432.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor William Philip Chepmell,
                  who has been Chairman of the Piako County Council since 1888, represents the Waitoa riding, and has been continuously a member of the Council since its commencement, on the 1st of January, 1877. Mr. Chepmell is also chairman of the Waikato Road Board, and a member of the Waikato Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He was born at Sandhurst, in Berkshire, England, in 1842, and arrived in Auckland in 1861. His property, which is 685 acres in extent and nearly all in cultivation, is known as “Wairama.”

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Councillor John Brady
                  
                  has represented Te Aroha riding on the Piako County Council since 1899, and has served on the Gordon school committee since 1892. He was born in County Galway, Ireland, in 1855, and arrived in Auckland, in 1867, by the ship “Orari.” Mr. Brady has resided in Gordon since 1886. His property, of about 1600 acres, was all in its native state when he took it in hand, but about 600 acres are now in grass, and some 400 head of cattle are depastured on the estate.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Hubert Cox,
                  who was elected to the Piako County Council in November, 1899, as a representative of Te Aroha riding, is the son of Mr. Edward Young Cox, sometime of Shaftesbury, and now of Papanui Road, Christchurch He was born in 1866, in Surrey, England, and brought up to country pursuits. At Shaftesbury Mr. Cox is engaged in sheep and cattle farming on his father's estate of 3000 acres. He is a member of the Te Aroha Mounted Troop of Volunteers. In 1896 he married a daughter of Mr. H. Bankart, of Auckland, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Andrew Joseph Farmer,
                  who has represented the Waitoa riding on the Piako County Council since 1893, was born in 1866. When he was ten years of age he came with his parents to Auckland. His father settled at the Thames, where Mr. Farmer remained till 1889, and was for a number of years in the employment of Messrs S. Hetherington and Co., drapers. In 1889 he settled at Te Aroha West, where he remained till 1895, when he sold his interest, and bought about 2500 acres of land at Manawaru. Mr. Farmer subdivided this property, and sold a considerable portion of it, but retained 1000 acres, on which he has erected a large and commodious dwelling. Mr. Farmer is a member of the Waitoa Road Board and of the Waikato Hospital Board. He was married, in 1891, to a daughter of Mr. J. West, of Te Aroha. Mrs Farmer died in 1894, leaving one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Mark Harrison,
                  who has represented Patetere riding on the Piako County Council for a number of years, was born at Horncastle, Lincolnshire, England, in 1855. He was brought up to agriculture in his native country, and came to Auckland in 1880 by the ship “Lady Jocelyn.” He entered the service of Messrs Maclean and Co., and has resided ever since in the Morrinsville and Lichfield districts. For about eight years he was manager of Locherbie estate, and has been in charge of Lichfield station since 1891. Mr. Harrison has served as a member of the Bay of Plenty Licensing Committee. He was married, in 1879, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Baker, of Norfolk, and has one son and one daughter.
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Councillor James Jackson,
                  who has represented Waitoa riding on the Piako County Council since 1899, was born in 1866, in Auckland. He was brought up to agriculture, and has resided since November, 1880, at Te Aroha West, where he farms a property of 425 acres.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor William Charles Ring,
                  who has been a Member of the Piako County Council, on which he represents Patetere riding, since 1896, and served for two years on the Waikato Hospital Board, was born in Auckland in 1858. He was educated in his native place, brought up to country life, and became one of the first settlers in the Hinuera district, where he has resided since 1880. His property, which is known as “Berkley,” consists of 813 acres of freehold land, of which about 600 acres are in cultivation. Mr. Ring was married, in 1881, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Gerrans, of Cambridge, and has seven daughters and two sons.

              

            

            

              
General Government Offices.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Te Aroha Post And Telegraph Office
                  
                  is situated at the corner of Rewi and Boundary Streets, and was built about the year 1885. The building contains postmaster's residence and offices for the department. Sub-offices at Waiorongomai, Gordon, Shaftesbury, and Manawaru report to the Te Aroha office. About fourteen mails are despatched daily from the office, but there is no town delivery of letters. There are, however, thirty-six private boxes for the convenience of the public, and telegrams are promptly delivered in the borough. The staff consists of the postmaster, a cadet, and a messenger.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Edward Clough,
                  Postmaster, Telegraphist, and Registrar of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, at Te Aroha, is an old colonist. He was born in London in 1843, and arrived at Lyttelton in October, 1864. After ten years of general colonial experience, gained at the Wakamarina diggings, in Westland, and elsewhere, he joined the telegraph department in Wellington. In 1876 Mr. Cough was transferred to Waipukurau for six months, and was then appointed postmaster at Te Awamutu, where he remained for twelve years. He has held office in Te Aroha since 1888.

              

              

                
                


                  
Te Aroha Railway Station.
                  The main line of railway from Auckland to Te Aroha was opened in 1885, and the line was completed through to the Thames at the end of 1898. The station buildings at Te Aroha are of wood, and include a ladies' waiting room, a public waiting room, a vestibule, stationmaster's office, ticket office, and parcels office. There is a long asphalted platform at the station, and there are three trains each way every Tuesday, Thursday, and Saturday, and two each way every Monday, Wednesday and Friday.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Evan Rackley,
                  Stationmaster in charge of the Te Aroha Railway Station, was born at Motueka, Nelson, in 1871, and was educated at Picton. In 1887 he became a cadet at the Picton railway station, where he remained six years. Mr. Rackley was transferred to the goods department at Christchurch, where he continued till September, 1899, when he was appointed relieving stationmaster, and took up his duties at Te Aroha on the 27th of January, 1900. Mr. Rackley was married, in 1897, to the daughter of the late Mr. W. Harding, of Christchurch, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Te Aroha Goldfields District School,
                  which was originally opened in June, 1881, has been conducted in the present building since 1897. A large playground surrounds the school, which is well sheltered, and there are two covered sheds for wet weather. The class-rooms are well fitted up and thoroughly ventilated, and have accommodation for 250 children. The number now (1900) on the roll is 212, with an average attendance of 197. The headmaster is assisted by two certificated teachers and two pupil teachers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Alfred Fordyce Burton,
                  Headmaster of the Te Aroha Goldfields District School, was born at Ruatanga, Whangarei, in 1866, and was educated at public schools and at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He commenced his scholastic career in 1886 as a student at the late Auckland Teacher's Training College; has been on the



staff of the Auckland Education Board since 1888; and was appointed to Te Aroha in 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Te Aroha West Public School
                  
                  dates from 1883. It is a wooden building, with one class-room and a vestibule, and has accommodation for forty-eight children. There are fifty-seven scholars on the roll, and the average attendance is forty-five. The playground is completely sheltered by some very large pinus insignus trees, and the school grounds are about three acres in extent. The master is assisted by a pupil teacher.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Francis David Wood,
                  Headmaster of the Te Aroha West Public School, was born in 1875 at the Thames. In 1891 he matriculated from the Thames High school. After serving a pupil teachership for three years and a half at the Te Aroha school, Mr. Wood was appointed to the Mahurangi Heads West school as sole teacher, and took up his duties at Te Aroha West in 1897. He is a member of all the athletic clubs in Te Aroha, and was one of the Piako Rugoy representatives in 1899.

              

            

            

              
Ecclesiastical.

              

                
                


                  
St. Mark's Church,
                  Te Aroha, is situated in Kenrick Street. It was built about 1886, and the adjoining vicarage in 1898. The church is of wood, and has accommodation for 140 worshippers. Services are held morning and evening each Sunday, and at the Sunday school in the afternoon, seventy-five children are frequently in attendance. The district to which the local vicar ministers includes Morrinsville.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Edgar James Mcfarland,
                  B.A., Vicar at Te Aroha, was born in 1857, in Londonderry, Ireland, and accompanied his parents to Auckland in 1862. He was educated at the Thames and the Auckland Grammar school, and graduated in the New Zealand University, in which he took his degree in 1882. He was ordained deacon in the same year, and priest in the following year. Mr. McFarland's first charge was Paeroa-cum-Katikati, where he was for one year. He was also for one year at the Bay of Islands, and after being for eleven years at Bombay (Pukekohe) he removed to Te Aroha in 1896. Mr. McFarland is a Freemason and a Past Master of the English Constitution. He was married, in 1888, to a grand-daughter of the Rev. Richard Taylor, of Wanganui, and has three sons and one daughter.
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St. David's Presbyterian Church,
                  Whitaker Street, Te Aroha, was built in 1898. There is seating accommodation for 150 persons, and services are held each Sunday evening. The resident minister holds services likewise at Waihou, Gordon, Walton, Manawaru, Morrinsville, and Waharoa. The Sunday school has sixty children on its roll.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Thomas Walls,
                  M.A., Minister in charge of the Presbyterian Church at Te Aroha, was born in Dunfermline, Fifeshire, Scotland. He graduated in arts, and studied theology at the University of Edinburgh, and was licensed by the Edinburgh Presbytery in 1880. Mr. Walls arrived in Wellington in 1893 by the s.s. “Ionic.” He was appointed to Woodville, but eighteen months later he took a trip to Scotland, and on his return in 1898 settled at Huntly, and subsequently at Te Aroha. Mr. Walls was married, in 1886, to a daughter of the late Mr. Lister, of London, and has two daughters and one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Te Aroha Roman Catholic Church
                  
                  is situated in Whitaker Street, not far from the Hot Springs Domain. It is a wooden building, and has accommodation for about 130 worshippers. The district, which is under the control of the Rev. Father Kehoe, extends from Paeroa Gorge to Matamata, and includes Morrinsville.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Thomas Kehoe,
                  Priest in charge of the Te Aroha District, was born in Wexford, Ireland, educated at St. Peter's College in his native county, and, having gone through a five years' theological course in Maynooth, was ordained priest in 1871. After nearly three years of duty at Home, he came to New Zealand in 1875, on account of his health, and has derived great benefit from his residence in the colony. Father Kehoe was stationed successively at Cromwell, Otago, and at Riverton, Southland, and was appointed to Te Aroha in 1885. In 1894 he removed to Tauranga, where he continued for two years. He then visited Europe, and on his return to the colony in 1897, he was re-appointed to the Te Aroha district.
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The Wesleyan Church.
                  The Upper Thames circuit of the Wesleyan Church has its headquarters at Te Aroha. The local church is situated at the corner of Bridge and Church Street, and the parsonage in Whitaker Street. The Upper Thames circuit includes Paeroa, Waihi, Karangahake, and Morrinsville, in addition to the districts immediately surrounding Te Aroha. There are sixteen preaching places, and three ministers in connection with the circuit, of which the Rev. C. Abernethy is (1901) superintending minister.

              

              

                
                

                  

The Rev. Samuel Griffith,
                 
 formerly Superintending Minister of the Upper Thames Circuit, was born in Brentford, Middlesex,
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England, in 1859, and was educated at private schools near London and at King's College, Strand. Mr. Griffith came to Wellington by the ship “Western Monarch,” in 1880. He became a private student at the Three Kings college, Auckland, and was received as a candidate for the ministry in 1881. After six months he was called out of college, and was appointed to Wellington to supply during a serious illness of the Rev. R. Bavin. Mr. Griffith was subsequently stationed at Palmerston North and during his two years' residence there had the pleasure of seeing the local church built. He was afterwards stationed in the Grafton Road Circuit, Auckland, for two years, and at Tauranga for a similar period. In 1888 he removed to Te Awamutu and in 1890 to Mahurangi. Three years later he went to Pukekohe, in the Franklin Circuit, where he continued till 1895, when he visited England with his family. On returning in 1896, he was appointed to Te Aroha. While Mr. Griffith was settled in the district, new churches were erected at Waihi and Karangahake, and new buildings projected for Te Aroha, Waitekauri, and Golden Cross. Mr. Griffith, who is now (1901), in charge at Mount Albert, Auckland, was married, in 1886, to the daughter of Mr. James Gribble, of Hamilton, and has three sons and one daughter.
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Lodge Te Aroha,
                  No. 52, N.Z.C., was established in 1884. It has a membership of fifty, and holds its monthly meetings on the Monday nearest the full moon, in the Masonic Hall, Bridge Street. The officers (for 1900) are Messrs J. W. Anderson (W.M.); F. Pavitt (D.M.); H. Ross (S.W.); S. L. Bygrave (J.W.); J. W. May (treasurer); Rev. E. J. McFarland (chaplain); and W. Hill (secretary).

              

              

                
                


                  
Court Te Aroha,
                  A.O.F., No. 7599, was formed in 1899. It has twenty members, and meetings take place on the second Thursday in each month at the court room, Whitaker Street. Messrs S. L. Bygrave (C.R.), G. G. White (S.C.R.); J. T. Maingay (S.W.); J. B. Johnson (J.W.); G. R. Dansey (treasurer), and F. G. Lawn (secretary) were the officers for 1900.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Te Aroha Agricultural And Horticultural Society
                  
                  was established in 1892. Officers for 1900: Mr. Herries, M.H.R. (patron); Mr. A. Bowler (president); Messrs H. Cox, S. L. Hirst, T. Gavin, W. H. Wright, Alex. Aitken, J. McNicol, T. Heath, John Allen, and W. Hetherington (vice-presidents); Mr. A. W. Edwards (treasurer); and Mr. F. M. Strange (secretary). The annual show, which includes both departments of the Society's work, is held in the month of February each year. It takes place at Waihou Domain, and is well patronised and supported by the residents of Te Aroha and surrounding districts.

              

              

                
                


                  
Te Aroha Musical Society.
                  Mr. W. H. Herries, M.H.R. (president); Messrs H. O. and F. G. Lawn, S. L. Hirst, J. W. May, M. Maingay, F. Woods (committee); A. J. Burton (treasurer), and W. Hill (secretary). This society was founded in 1889, and has a membership of about sixty, including an orchestra of ten. The society has been successful with various classes of music, and it is intended if possible to give four concerts annually; the society is at all times ready to give its services for local charitable objects.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James McGregor,
                  Conductor of the Te Aroha Musical Society and Orenestra, was born in 1868 in Auckland, where he was educated and brought up to a mercantile life. He was in business in the Mount Reskill district for about eighteen years. After a short sojourn in Sydney he returned to Auckland, where he was employed by Mr. R. W. Gallagher for a time, and subsequently became foreman of Mr. Robert Rew's business. He settled at Te Aroha in 1898, and has since occupied the position of manager of Mr. W. H. Wright's store. Mr. McGregor gained his musical education in Auckland and Sydney; he was a pupil of the late Herr Schmidt, and took lessons from Madame Trebelli during his residence in Sydney. He was a member of the Auckland Choral Society and the Auckland Amateur Operatic Club, and was for five years conductor of St. Alban's Anglican choir. Mr. McGregor has accumulated a valuable musical library, which includes an excellent selection of works by popular authors. He was married, in 1898, to a daughter of the late Mr. Edward Parker, of Auckland.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Featon, Miss E. L.
                  
                  This young lady is a vocalist of no mean order; she is a daughter of Mr. John Featon who wrote “The Waikato War,” and who is well known in mining circles. She was a pupil of Prof. Carl Schmitt for two years, and in order to seek further tuition went to Australia, where she was for eighteen months under M. Recardi. Miss Featon returned to Auckland in 1892, and has appeared before the Auckland public on many occasions. She sang with Mr. Gee up to the time of his departure from the Colony. At the early age of 15 years she was a soloist in the Choral Society. Miss Featon took the contralto solos in “The Woman of Samaria,” and made a successful appearance in “Judas Maccabeus.” She took a prominent part in “Princess Ida,” when she was as usual accorded a good reception.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    “The Te Aroha And Ohinemuri News,”
                  
                  which was founded in 1883, was at one time owned by Mr. William Wilkinson, and subsequently by Mr. Henry Brett, of Auckland. The present proprietor, Mr. John C. Allen, has owned the journal since 1899. The “News” is printed thrice a week, and is a double demy sheet, with seven columns on each page. It circulates in the Waikato and Ohinemuri districts, and is well supported by the public. In politics the paper professes Independent Liberal principles. The offices, which are in Whitaker Street, contain an adequate newspaper and jobbing plant.
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Mr. James Tenison Maingay,
                  Manager and Editor of the “Te Aroha and Ohinemuri News,” was born in 1872 at the Thames, where he was educated. He entered the local newspaper office as a lad in 1884, and has worked his way through every grade to the position he now occupies. Mr. Maingay has served as a member of the local school committee, and was one of the earliest to enroll himself in the Te Aroha Rifles, of which he is lance-sergeant. He is a Freemason, and acts as organist of Lodg Te Aroha, and he also takes a general interest in athletics.
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Legal.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Te Aroha Magistrate's and warden's court
                  
                  is situated in Rewi Street. The building, which is of wood, contains a large court-room, with offices for the magistrate, clerk of court, and bailiff. It was erected in 1880, when the district was proclaimed a goldfield.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
The Te Aroha Police Station
                  
                  is situated in Rewi Street, and was erected in 1883. The building is of wood, with a verandah, and contains six rooms for the use of the officer in charge, and a lock-up with two cells behind the station building. The first police station in the district was a mere hut, and was opened at the commencement of the goldfields in 1880. The district extends from Matamata to Tehce-o-Tainui (Tainui's paddle), and from Morrinsville to Te Aroha Mountain, and is forty miles long by twenty miles wide.

              

              

                


                
                


                  

Mr. Frederick A. Wilde,
                  Constable in charge of the Te Aroha Police District, Bailiff of the Magistrate's Court, Inspector of Factories and Slaughterhouses, was born in Landport, Portsmouth, Hampshire, England, in 1846. He arrived in Auckland in June, 1863, by the ship “Aloe,” and served in the militia and volunteers during the Waikato war. In 1868, he joined the Armed Constabulary, and was for ten years a trooper in the Waikato. He was then transferred to the Police Department, and was stationed in Hamilton for over ten years, and went to Te Aroha in 1888. Ten years later, he was transferred to Devonport, where he continued for one year, and returned to Te Aroha in 1899. Mr. Wilde was married, in 1871, to the daughter of the late Mr. W. White, of Looe, Cornwall, and has six sons and six daughters.
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Robson, George,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. This business was established in 1882 by the proprietor, who keeps a complete stock of toilet goods and drugs.

              

            

            

              
Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

Hirst, Samuel Luther,
                  General Agent, Te Aroha. Mr. Hirst was born in Lancashire, England, in 1851, and when he was five years of age he accompanied his parents to Auckland by the ship “William Watson.” In 1872, Mr. Hirst settled at the Thames, and engaged in battery work as an amalgamist. Up till 1888 he was employed at the Victoria and Moanataiari batteries, and left the Thames to take charge of the Martha battery at Waihi. Six months later he removed to Waiorongomai to take charge, as amalgamator, of Messrs Firth and Clark's battery. Three years later he opened business in Te Aroha as a cordial manufacturer, and subsequently sold out and took up the agency of the Northern Steamship Company, for which he still acts. Mr. Hirst is agent at Te Aroha for the National Insurance Company and New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, and undertakes general agency work. He holds a farm of 200 acres at Manawaru, where he keeps cattle and sheep. In the days of the Te Aroha Town Board, Mr. Hirst was at one time chairman, and was for a long time a member of that body. He is a Freemason, and is attached to the local lodge. He was for seven years a member of the Thames Navals, under Captain Wildman. Mr. Hirst was married, in 1874, to a daughter of the late Mr. James Gribble, of Hamilton, and has four sons and four daughters.
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Crombie, Robert Edward,
                  General Photographer, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. Mr. Crombie's studio is centrally situated in the township. He undertakes all classes of photography, including landscape, portraiture, and enlargements. Mr. Crombie is of Scottish descent, but gained his experience in his profession in England. On coming to New Zealand he settled in Te Aroha, and established his present business.

              

              

                
                


                  

Bygrave, Samuel Leonard,
                  Baker and Storekeeper, corner of Bridge and Whitaker Streets, Te Aroha. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Ohinemuri. This business was established by the proprietor in 1895. The premises consist of a shop, dwelling, and bakery. Mr. Bygrave does a large trade, and has a considerable connection. Mr. Bygrave was born at Stotfold, Staffordshire, England, in 1865, and was educated and brought up to the business of a baker and storekeeper in his native place, where he was for a time in business on his own account. He came to New Zealand by the ship “Kaikoura,” in 1887, and settled in the Auckland provincial district, where he followed various occupations for several years. In 1895 he removed to Te Aroha, and established himself in business as a baker and storekeeper. Mr. Bygrave was elected a member of the Te Aroha Town Board in 1895, and continued to hold his seat until the establishment of the Borough Council, of which he was one of the original members. He is attached to the local Foresters' Court, and held office as Chief Ranger in 1900. As a Freemason he is Junior Warden of the local lodge. Mr. Bygrave was married, in 1891, to the daughter of Mr. J. Bew, brickmaker, Te Aroha, and has one daughter.
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Dibsell, William,
                  Baker and Storekeeper, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Dibsell's premises consist of a double shop and dwelling, with a large verandah, with bakehouse at the rear. Mr. Dibsell does a bakery trade, which covers over ten miles of country. He was born in Middlesex, England in 1835, and learned his trade in London, where he continued until 1862, in which year he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Ironside.” In the year 1865–6, he was baking for the troopship “Tauranga,” and in 1868 he settled at the Thames, where he was for five years in business in partnership with Mr. G. A. Douglas. In 1879 he commenced business as a hotelkeeper at Waihou, and settled in Te Aroha in 1884, when he established his present business. For two years Mr. Dibsell was a member of the Te Aroha licensing bench. He is interested in farming, and owns about 100 acres in the district.
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Mills, James,
                  J.P., Builder, Te Aroha. Mr. Mills was born near Rechdale, England, in 1833, brought up to the trade of a builder, and arrived in Auckland in January, 1880, by the ship “Ben Nevis.” Mr. Mills settled in Te Aroha in 1882, and has erected many dwellings in the district. He served for six years as a member of the Town Board, and was the leader of the movement in favour of the municipal form of government. Mr. Mills has also been a member of the Piako County Council and Waikato Hospital and Charitable Board.

              

              

                
                


                  
Wallace, David Mclean,
                  Coachbuilder and General Blacksmith, Te Aroha; Agricultural Implement and Coachbuilding Works, corner of Whitaker and Bridge Streets, Te Aroha. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Koromiko. Mr. Wallace established his business in 1893. The buildings are extensive, and were adapted for a business with such separate departments as general blacksmithing, engineering, coachbuilding, painting, and horse-shoeing. Mr. Wallace employs six assistants in connection with the establishment. Mr. Wallace was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1852. In 1872 he came to Auckland in the ship “Durham.” He settled in the Waikato, where he had two years' experience as a blacksmith, and during the preceding seven years, he was successively with Messrs Cousins and Atkin, of Auckland, Mr. Wallace, of Otahuhu, and Mr. McIntyre, of Onehunga. In 1881, he became blacksmith at the Huntly coal mines, and four years later he joined the firm of Paddy and Wallace at Ngaruawahia. In 1889 he removed to Waiorongaomai and began on his own account, and has been in business at Te Aroha since 1893. Mr. Wallace has long been a member of the local school committee, and is a member of Lodge Te Aroha, No. 52, N.Z.C. He was married, in 1832, to a daughter of Mr. A. Dawson, of Ngaruawahia, and has four sons and two daughters.
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                    Menzies and Co.
                  
                  (G. Sherlock, manager), Cordial Manufacturers, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. Head office, Thames. Branches, Waihi, Paeroa, and Hamilton. The plant of the Te Aroha branch of this well-known firm's business consists of a four-horse-power steam engine, with aerated water machinery, J. Tyler and Son's quart bottler and McEwan's patent bottler. The district supplied from this centre includes Waiorongomai, and extends towards the Waikato.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Sherlock,
                  Manager of the Te Aroha Branch of Messrs Menzies and Co.'s business, was born in 1853, in Staffordshire, England. He came to Auckland with his parents by the ship “William Miles,” in 1861, and was for several years employed in connection with the crockery trade in Auckland. At the opening of the Thames goldfield he found employment in mining, and afterwards in battery work till 1880. Mr. Sherlock was afterwards for about three years a partner in the firm of Sherlock Brothers, butchers. After having about eight years' experience in connection with the cordial manufacturing business, he was appointed to his present position in 1896. Mr. Sherlock was married, in 1876, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. G. Nichol, of Auckland. This lady died in 1879, leaving two daughters, and Mr. Sherlock contracted a second marriage with a daughter of Mr. H. Crawley, of Napier, and by her he has two sons and two daughters.
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Edwards, Alexander Watson,
                  Draper, corner of Boundary and Whitaker Streets, Te Aroha. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1887 by the present proprietor. The premises are large and centrally situated in the main street, and the building comprises two shops and an office. There are separate departments for drapery and boots, and each department contains a large and well-assorted stock. Mr. Edwards is interested in farming at Waiorongomai and Te Aroha, and has about 200 acres altogether. He breeds thoroughbreds and cattle. Mr. Edwards is an honorary member of the Te Aroha Rifles. Born in Forfarshire, Scotland, in 1858, he came to Victoria with his parents when he was ten years of age. Two years later the family came to Auckland, and settled at the Thames, where he was apprenticed to the drapery business. Mr. Edwards afterwards had five years of Australian experience, and was one year in Melbourne, and four in Sydney. On his return to New Zealand he settled at Te Aroha, and founded his present business. Mr. Edwards is a member of the Waihou Domain Board, and is treasurer of the Te Aroha Agricultural Association and of the local jockey club. He was married, in 1892, to a daughter of Mr. Lipsey, of Te Aroha, and has one son and four daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  
May, John William,
                  Draper, Boot and Shoe Importer, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. This business was established in 1898. Mr. May was born at Reading, England, and came to Otago in 1875. He learned his business in Dunedin, and after being a commercial traveller for some years, he settled in Te Aroha.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Grand Hotel
                  
                  (Patrick O'Meagher, proprietor), Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. This fine building, which is of wood, and two stories in height, with a verandah and balcony, has from forty to fifty rooms, including thirty-seven bedrooms, seven sitting rooms, a large dining room with seats for fifty guests, and baths supplied with hot and cold water. The Grand Hotel is situated opposite the Hot Springs Domain, and is one of the most popular hostelries in the township.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Patrick O'Meagher,
                  the Proprietor, was born in Tipperary, Ireland, in 1854. He enlisted at the age of seventeen in the 98th Prince of Wales Foot, saw service in the Ashantee war of 1874, under Lord Wolseley, and served altogether twelve years, including a period in Jamaica. While in the West Indies, he was for four years butler to the Hon. John Devereaux, and for a short time to Viscount Valencia, late of the 10th Hussars. During his residence in Jamaica, he was for two years in charge of the officers' mess.



For a time he served in Malta, where he was one of the men selected to wait on the Prince of Wales on his return from India, and on that occasion the Prince presented the regiment with new colours. Mr. O'Meagher was one of the original members of the Te Aroha Borough Council. He was married, in 1877, to the daughter of the late Mr. Cripps, of Brighton, England and has three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Hot Springs Hotel
                  
                  (William Henry Knock, proprietor) Whitaker and Boundary Streets, Te Aroha. This is a large two-storey building, with a verandah and balcony on two sides. It has sixty rooms, forty of which are bedrooms, and there are five sitting rooms, exclusive of the bar parlours. The dining room has seating accommodation for one hundred guests, and there is a large billiard room.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Palace Hotel
                  
                  (Mrs Anna Rose Smardon, proprietress), Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. The “Palace” is the oldest hotel in the borough. It was built in 1880 by Mr. J. W. Walker, who conducted it for a time. In 1890, the late Mr. S. J. Smardon became proprietor, and conducted the business until his death in 1899. Since that time it has been carried on by his widow. The hotel is a two-storey wooden building, with verandah and balcony. It contains sixty rooms, of which fifty are bedrooms. The sitting rooms number eight, and the dining room has accommodation for one hundred persons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Johnson, John Benjamin,
                  Plumber, Tinsmith, Ironmonger, etc., Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. The business was established in 1882 by the firm of Bedford and Johnson, but Mr. Johnson afterwards became sole proprietor. Mr. Johnson was born at Capetown in 1864. When he was two years old his parents came to New Zealand, and he was brought up to the trade of a plumber at the Thames, where he worked till settling at Te Aroha. He has served on the Te Aroha Licensing Bench, school committee, Town Board, and Hot Springs Domain Board, and was one time sergeant of the Te Aroha rifle corps.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    McIndoe And Hill
                  
                  (Thomas McIndoe, J.P., and William Hill), Saddlers and Harness Makers, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. This business was established in the early days of the goldfield, by Mr. David Brigham. The present proprietors have owned it since 1891.

              

              

                
                


                  

Roberts, William Ascot,
                  Butcher, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. Mr. Roberts was connected with the trade in Te Aroha for several years, in conjunction with Mr. John Rowe, under the style of Roberts and Rowe, but since 1894, he has been in business on his own account. His premises are in the main street, and consist of a shop and dwelling, and the slaughterhouse is situated on a section of 100 acres of leasehold land. Mr. Roberts was born in 1864 at Howick, where he was educated and learned his trade and began business in 1899 as a butcher and farmer at Pakarangi with a brother, under the style of Roberts Bros. He settled in Te Aroha two years later. Mr. Roberts is a member of the Te Aroha Jockey Club. He was married, in 1892, to a daughter of Mr. Charles Pye, Pakarangi, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Rowe, John,
                  Butcher, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand, Ohinemuri. This business was founded by Mr. James Rowe, father of the present proprietor, who has conducted it since 1896. The site of the premises was acquired in 1897, and a new building was completed in January, 1900. It is a large and handsome shop, with plenty of ventilation, and has a fine verandah in front. Behind the main shop there is a room for the preparation of small goods, the usual plant being employed in the work. The private residence adjoining has five rooms. Mr. Rowe's slaughterhouse is situated at Te Aroha West, where there are paddocks extending over 350 acres. Mr. Rowe has customers in the large agricultural districts surrounding Te Aroha. He is a member of the local Masonic Lodge, and held office as Inner Guard in 1900. Mr. Rowe was in the Te Aroha Rifles for some time. He takes an interest in sport, and is one of the stewards of the Te Aroha Jockey Club.
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Hetherington, William, and Co.,
                  Importers and Drapes, Te Aroha. This business is the largest of its kind in the district, and was established in 1889 by Mr. William Hetherington in conjunction with his brother. Mr. Samuel Hetherington, of Thames. The business has largely increased since then, and the premises have several times been extended to meet the demands of the trade. Messrs Hetherington and Co. carry a large and well-assorted stock, and import largely from English manufacturers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Hetherington,
                  the resident managing partner, is a man of large experience. Born at Lurgan, Ireland, he, at fifteen years of age, became employed in the soft goods trade, and spent about fifteen years in large wholesale and manufacturing houses. In 1874 he sailed for New Zealand, in the ship “Loch Awe,” and on his arrival he entered the employment of his brother, Mr. S. Hetherington, who carries on a large drapery establishment at the Thames, and continued with him until he embarked in his present enterprise. Mr. Hetherington has been an active member of the Wesleyan Church for many years, and on his arrival at Te Aroha he became associated with that church. He is now one of the trustees and circuit stewards.
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                    Lawn, Mrs H. A.
                  
                  (F. Lawn, manager), Stationer, Fancy Goods Dealer and Tobacconist, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by the late Mr. Charles Balcke in 1885. Mr. Balcke died in 1892, and the business was subsequently conducted by his widow until 1898, when Mrs Balcke married Mr. F. Lawn, who has since occupied the position of manager. The premises consist of a double fronted shop in a central position in Te Aroha, and a large and general stock of stationery and fancy goods, including clocks, is kept by the proprietress. There is a large connection throughout the district.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. F. Lawn,
                  the Manager, was born in Greymouth, in 1884, and was educated at Reefton, where he was brought up as a miner. In 1896 he removed with his parents to Te Aroha, and was engaged in mining until his marriage. Mr. Lawn is a member of the Te Aroha Musical Society and Orchestra. He holds the office of sergeant in the Te Aroha Brass Band, and is a member of the local Foresters' Court, of which he is senior beadle.

              

              

                
                


                  

Williams, John,
                  Wholesale and Retail Storekeeper, Te Aroha. Mr. Williams was born in County Kerry, Ireland, in 1842. His father was a dyer and manufacturer of woollen goods, and he learned that business. In January, 1863, he came to New Zealand, in the ship, “Captain Cook,” landing at Lyttelton. For a while he worked in the bush, but he afterwards went to the alluvial gold diggings



in the province of Marlborough, where he embarked in mining, and subsequently removed to the West Coast goldfields, where he was very successful. In 1882 he went to Wellington, and for two years was engaged in general mercantile pursuits. He was then in Auckland for a short period, and he finally settled at Te Aroha in 1890, and built up a large and extensive trade. In 1893, he was burned out, and a year later he built large and commodious premises. Mr. Williams sold his business in 1899 to Mr. Henry Wright, but opened another store in Whitaker Street, Te Aroha. He is largely interested in mining, and was associated with the Rev. Joseph Campbell in the Montezumas and Mount Morgan Special Claims.
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Wright, Walter Henry
                  
                  (James McGregor, manager), General Storekeeper and Produce Merchant, Whitaker Street, Te Aroha; chief establishment, Normanby Street, Paeroa. The business conducted by Mr. Wright as a branch at Te Aroha was formerly owned by Mr. John Williams. It was bought by Mr. Wright in 1899, and has since then been carried on by him. Mr. James McGregor, the manager, is referred to in another article as the conductor of the Te Aroha Musical Society and Orchestra.

              

              

                
                


                  

Gallagher, E.,
                  Coach Proprietor, Te Aroha. Mr. Gallagher was born in Ireland, in 1842, and accompanied his parents to Auckland when he was only two years old. The Auckland provincial district has ever since been his home. Mr. Gallagher has had much to do with horses, and has for the greater part of his lifetime been engaged in carting contracts or as a coach and livery stable proprietor. He removed to the Thames in 1867, and became the pioneer of the coach line to Paeroa and Te Aroha. Subsequently for many years he run a line of coaches to Morrinsville from Te Aroha. In 1878 he acquired a farm at Puriri, and worked it for about six years. He established his business as a coach and livery stable proprietor in Te Aroha in 1881, and has been intimately connected with the town since that time. Mr. Gallagher entered into the work of local government as a member of the Te Aroha Town Board in 1886, and was almost continuously member or chairman till the establishment of the Borough Council, of which he was one of the original members. For a number of years he was chairman of the Te Aroha licensing bench, and was a member of the local cemetery trust and recreation reserve board. In the troublcus days of the Maori war Mr. Gallagher served with the Colonial Defence Force under Colonel Nixon from July, 1863, to September, 1864. He was present at all the engagements in the Waikato campaign, and holds the New Zealand war medal for his services. As Mayor of Te Aroha (1900) he was, ex officio, chairman of the Hot Springs Domain Board. Mr. Gallagher was married, in 1865, to a daughter of the late Mr. Lamph, of Armagh, Ireland. There are no children of the marriage.
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Baine, Peter,
                  Timber and Coal Merchant; Yards, corner of Brick and Whitaker Streets, Te Aroha. This business, which has been in existence for many years, includes the agency of the Mountain Rimu Timber Company, Limited, which has a bush at Mamaku, near Rotorua. Mr. Baine keeps a large stock of timber generally, including kahikatea, kauri and rimu, in his yards. He supplies wholesale and retail throughout the district, and employs about half a dozen teams in connection with his carrying and general trade. Mr. Baine was born in County Wexford, Ireland, in 1865. At the age of fifteen he went to America. Two years later he came to New Zealand, via San Francisco. He was engaged in mining in the Cromwell district, Otago, from 1882 to 1889, and settled at Te Aroha in August, 1889, and established his business as a timber and coal merchant in 1890. Mr. Baine married a daughter of Mr. M. Hotchin, of Te Aroha, and has three daughters and one son.
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Bailey, Benjamin,
                  Settler, Te Aroha West. Mr. Bailey was well known in Auckland as the headmaster of the Ponsonby public school, from November, 1874, to February, 1900. He has forty acres of freehold in Te Aroha West, and has built a comfortable residence. Mr. Bailey was married, in 1876, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Lawrence, of Bristol, England, and has one son and one daughter.

              

              

                
                

                  

Brunn, Charles,
                 
 Farmer, Te Aroha West. Mr. Brunn was born in 1835, in Heligoland, a small rocky island in the North Sea, then owned by Great Britain, but since ceded to Germany. His parents left Heligoland for Denmark when he was three years of age, and he was brought up in Denmark to a country life. He came out to Victoria in 1860, and a year later arrived in New Zealand, and worked as one of the earliest miners at Gabriel's Gully and Waitahuna Flat, and later on in the Otago upper Lake districts. In 1867, Mr. Brunn went to the West Coast, and was for a time at Westport, and was in business as a storekeeper in Reefton. In 1872, he visited California and other States of the American Union, also Canada, and engaged in mining and farming for three years. After a tour of England, France, Germany, and Denmark he returned to New Zealand in 1876, and again settled in Reefton, where he engaged in mining speculation till 1880. On the opening of the Te Aroha goldfield, in November of that year, he became one of the earliest settlers in the district, and purchased twenty acres of land in Te Aroha West. Of his holding six acres
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are taken up with a well developed orchard which is surrounded by sheltering macrocarpa and pine trees. Mr. Brunn was for some time a member of the Te Aroha West school committee.

              

              

                
                


                  

Caudwell, Heber,
                  Farmer, Te Aroha West. Mr. Caudwell was born in Surrey, England, and was brought up to agriculture. He came to Lyttelton by the ship “Durham” in 1880, and settled at Te Aroha West in the same year. His farm consists of 355 acres of freehold, and has been reclaimed from the wilderness by his own exertions. The beautiful trees which grow on the property were planted by him, and most of the improvements have been effected under his personal supervision. Mr. Caudwell has for a long time been a member of the Te Aroha West school committee, of which he was chairman for four years, and now holds office as secretary. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of the late Mr. H. W. Reynolds, of Te Aroha West, and has four sons.
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Lipsey Charles,
                  Farmer, Te Aroha. Mr. Lipsey was born in County Leitrim, Ireland, in 1846, and was brought up to agriculture. He landed in Auckland in 1865, and remained in the city till the Thames was declared a goldfield. Mr. Lipsey then became proprietor of the Bendigo Hotel, and about two years later took over the Paeroa Hotel, which was the first licensed house in that township. Two years afterwards he settled in Te Aroh, and built the first hotel, the Hot Springs, which he conducted for about a year. He built the first weatherboard house in Te Aroha—a cottage of four rooms. Mr. Lipsey cultivates about 115 acres, part of Lipseytown, which covers a large portion of the borough of Te Aroha, and is the property of Mrs Lipsey and her son and daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Morrison, Archibald,
                  Farmer, Te Aroha West. Mr Morrison was born in Glasgow, and brought up to mercantile life. In 1861 he came to Auckland by the ship “Wigtonshire,” and settled at Te Aroha West in 1889. He has 170 acres of land, which is devoted chiefly to sheepfarming. Mr Morrison is chairman of the Te Aroha West school committee, and is a member of the Te Aroha chess club. He was married, in 1897, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Addison, of Glasgow.

              

              

                
                


                  

Rowe, Henry James,
                  Farmer, Te Aroha West. Mr. Rowe was born in Cornwall, in October, 1830, and was brought up to agriculture. He came out to Victoria in 1854, and settled in Auckland in the following year. Until 1879 he resided in East Tamaki, but in that year he became one of the earliest settlers in the Te Aroha district, where he purchased a portion of his present farm of 390 acres, of which 260 acres are devoted to dairyfarming. Mr. Rowe served on the Waitoa Highway Road Board for three years, and has been a member of the Te Aroha Agricultural Society since 1898. For eleven years he was in business in Te Aroha as a butcher, but has devoted himself to farming since 1890. During the Maori war he served in a cavalry corps. At one time during his absence on duty, Mrs Rowe and three little children had to flee for safety on account of the Maoris. Mr. Rowe was married, in 1857, to a daughter of the late Mrs Roberts, of Cornwall, and has six sons and four daughters. Seven of his children are married, and there are thirty-three grandchildren.
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Sheat, James,
                  Farmer, Te Aroha West. Mr. Sheat was born at Baltonsborough, Somersetshire, England, in 1839, and was brought up to agriculture. He came to Lyttelton by the ship “Lady Jocelyn,” in December, 1879, and after spending eighteen months in Canterbury, settled at Te Aroha West, where he purchased land from the Government, and has since planted and improved it. Mr. Sheat is a member of the Te Aroha West school committee. He was married, in 1863, to the daughter of the late Mr. George Pickford, of West Pennard, Somersetshire, and has three sons and three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Stanley, Thomas,
                  Farmer, Te Aroha West. Mr. Stanley was born in Penzance, Cornwall, in 1847, and came to Auckland by the ship “Merrie May,” in 1869. Fifteen months later he removed to the Thames goldfields, where he became one of the first country settlers in the district, and built the first hose in it. In October, 1879, Mr. Stanley bought land at Te Aroha West, and has since considerably improved his holding, which now amounts to 500 acres of freehold. He has been a member of the Te Aroha West school committee since 1883. Mr. Stanley was married, in 1873, to a daughter of the late Mr. James Farmer, of Canada, and has three sons and five daughters.
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Tattersall, James,
                  Farmer, Te Aroha West. Mr. Tattersall was born in Manchester, England, in 1871. With his parents he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Miltiades,” in July, 1873. The family settled in Ponsonby, Auckland, where Mr. Tattersall's father was in business as a boot-upper manufacturer. In September, 1899, the family removed to Te Aroha West. Mr. Tattersall worked for a time on the farm, and was subsequently employed in farming work in the King Country, but returned to Te Aroha district in 1897. Mr. Tattersall has served for some time in the Te Aroha Rifles.
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Walker, John Watson,
                  Farmer, Te Aroha. Postal address, Thames. Mr. Walker was born in Aberdeen, Scotland, in 1827. He served a term in a merchant's office, and came out to Port Phillip, Victoria, in 1849, two years before the opening of the goldfields in that colony. Mr. Walker was at Bathurst,



and was at the first “rush” of the Turon river, in 1869. He came to the Thames by arrangement to report on the mines, and was afterwards induced to take charge of the Long Drive mine; hence his soubriquet of “Long Drive Walker.” Mr. Walker was subsequently for several years in charge of the Kuranui Hill mine, and he afterwards went to Reefton on behalf of the Bank of New Zealand. In 1885 he turned his attention to Waihi, and, in conjunction with the Hon. Thomas Russell, he was successful in floating the Waihi Goldmining Company, which has since won more than a million pounds worth of gold. Mr. Walker personally managed the Waihi mine for about four years. In 1894 he went to London, and was again successful in floating the Waihi Grand Junction. Mr. Walker was a volunteer in Auckland for a number of years, and has been a leading rifle shot in both New Zealand and Australia. His farm in the Thames Valley consists of 638 acres of freehold land, and is utilised for cattle, sheep, and pig farming. Mr. Walker was married, in 1854, to the daughter of the late Mr. James Foote Dow, of Langlands Foundry, Melbourne, and has three sons and five daughters surviving.
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Mr. Thomas Gavin,
                  J.P., of Te Aroha, was born at Howick, near Auckland, on the 10th of October, 1850. Until he was fifteen years of age he assisted his father, Mr. James Gavin, and followed the occupation of farming. In November, 1867, he moved to Thames, where he engaged in mining, and worked in some of the principal mines of that district. When the goldfields opened at Te Aroha, he went thither and pegged out a claim at Waiorongomai, called the “Colonist,” which was subsequently floated into a company at Auckland, and which Mr. Gavin managed very successfully for about two years. He has been identified with some of the largest and most important mines in the Te Aroha district, and has spent his money and time in developing properties, that have proved most valuable to investors. He was for some time mine manager to the Te Aroha Gold Mines Company, Ltd., which has since been bought out by Mr. Hardy, of Waiorongomai. Mr. Gavin is a thoroughly experienced and competent mine manager. During his residence at Thames he was for thirteen years a member of the Thames Volunteer Naval Brigade, and for nine years of that period he held the rank of first lieutenant. Mr. Gavin has always taken a very active interest in the municipal affairs of Te Aroha and district. When the Te Aroha Domain Board was formed, the Government appointed him one of its members, and he was for years its chairman, and also chairman of the Te Aroha Town Board, since superseded by the Borough Council. Mr. Gavin was for several years a member of the Piako County Council, and was re-elected in November, 1896, to represent the Te Aroha riding. During his tenure of that office he was one of the representatives of the county on the Waikato Hospital Board, and is at the present time one of the commissioners of the Ohinemuri Licensing Bench.
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Waiorongomai.

            

              
              


                

                  
Waiorongomai
                
                is between two and three miles from Te Aroha, close to the foot of the mountains, at the point where the Government tramway delivers quartz from the mines on the hills above. In the early days of the field, Waiorongomai was a place of some importance; it had a considerable population, and there was a local representative of the post office resident in the district. But in consequence of the output of gold having decreased, the population has dwindled, and the business of the local post office is conducted by the wife of one of the settlers. The township has a hotel, one or two business places, and a public school.
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                  The Waiorongomai Post And Telephone Office
                
                is conducted in the private residence of Mr. William Jeffray. The office was established in 1895, and for several years there was a permanent official resident in the district. Since the decline of the mining industry, Mrs Agnes Jeffray has acted as postmistress.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waiorongomai Hotel
                
                (John Bertie, proprietor), Main Street, Waiorongomai. This hotel is a two-storey wooden building of twenty-eight rooms, twenty of which are bedrooms. There are four sitting rooms, and the dining room will seat 100 guests.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Bertie,
                the Proprietor, was born on the Lincolnshire fens, England, in 1842, and was educated at Gravesend, where he was brought up to the wine and spirit trade. He came to the colonies in 1861, and was for five years in Wellington. During the native disturbances he served with the Wellington Rifles, and was present at the engagement where Major Von Tempsky was shot. Mr. Bertie was afterwards in Wellington as the proprietor of several hotels, and, after being four years in Sydney, he settled in the Te Aroha district in 1899.
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Manawaru.

            

              
              


                

                  
Manawaru
                
                is a farming district in the county of Piako. It is 122 miles from Auckland. There is a bi-weekly mail, and the nearest telegraph office is at Te Aroha, seven miles away.

            

            

              
              


                
The Manawaru Creamery.
                This creamery, which is the property of the New Zealand Dairy Association, is situated at Manawaru on the main road to Matamata. The building was removed in 1899 from Te Aroha West, where it had been in use for two years. There is a four horse-power boiler and a six horse-power engine, with two Alexandra separators; No. 1 has a capacity for 300 gallons per hour, and No. 2 for 200 gallons per hour. There were fifteen suppliers in the season of 1900, representing about 400 cows. Cream is sent daily to the Te Aroha railway station, and thence to Ngaruawahia.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Samuel Whitburn,
                Manager of the Manawaru Creamery, was born in Cornwall, in 1856, and educated in London. He was a bricklayer by trade, and worked for about six years for one firm, and followed his trade in the Old Country for fifteen years altogether. In 1883, Mr. Whitburn came by the ship “Tongariro,” to Auckland, where he worked at his trade for some time, and then removed to Northern Wairoa. There he was unfortunate enough to break his arm, in consequence of which he was compelled to discontinue following his own trade. He then went to Melbourne, where he found employment in “slating and pointing,” for about two years. In 1891 he went to London with a patent, and worked intermittently at his trade in the Old Country. Mr. Whitburn then returned to New Zealand by the s.s. “Ionic,” and joined the New Zealand Dairy Association. He went through a course of training at the Central Factory, Ngaruawahia, and was sent out the same season, to take charge of the creamery at Te Kohia. Subsequently Mr. Whitburn was in charge of the Pirongia creamery, and afterwards the Te Aroha West creamery, which was removed under his direction to Manawaru. He was married, in 1896, to the daughter of the late Mr. James Little, of Auckland.
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Osborne, Henry Hewlitt,
                Farmer, Manawaru. This settler was born in Geelong, Victoria, in 1856. At the age of sixteen, he left home and visited various parts of New South Wales and Victoria. He worked on farms till 1887, and was for twelve years on the Murray river. During his residence in Australia, Mr. Osborne was farming on his own account for about eighteen years, and was engaged at Golconda, Tasmania, for seven years. He settled in New Zealand in 1894, and, after being four years in the Waikato, he removed to Manawaru, and purchased his farm of 311 acres. Mr. Osborne was married, on the 13th of February, 1878, to a daughter of Mr. J. E. Dalton, of Cohuna, and has two sons and three daughters.
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Shaftesbury.

            

              
              


                

Shaftesbury,
                in the county of Piako, is within forty-three miles of the Thames, with which it is connected by a bi-weekly mail service. Wairongomai is four miles away, and the settlement is connected by coach with Te Aroha, eight miles distant.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Herbert Herries,
                M.H.R. for the district of the Bay of Plenty, was born in London in 1859, and was educated at Eton and at Trinity College, Cambridge, where he graduated B.A. in 1880. He came to Auckland by the s.s. “Tararua” in 1881, and after travelling about for twelve months, settled in the Shaftesbury district, where he has 900 acres of land. For eight years he represented Te Aroha riding in the Piako County Council, and for three years he was a member of the Waikato Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. Mr. Herries was elected to the House of Representatives in 1896, and re-elected in 1899. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. E. F. Roache, late of Shaftesbury.

            

            

              
              


                

Gage-Brown, William Percy,
                Settler, Shaftesbury. Mr. Gage-Brown is the second son of Sir Charles Gage-Brown, M.D., and was born in London, England. He studied medicine and surgery at the Edinburgh University for three years, but had to abandon his studies owing to ill-health, as he was given up by the doctors. In 1882, he came to Auckland, and became one of the original settlers in the Shaftesbury district, where he holds 540 acres of freehold, and several hundred acres of native land. Mr. Gage-Brown was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr E. F. Roache, one of the old settlers of Shaftesbury, and late of “Ohineroa,” and has two daughters and two sons. He was for one year a member of the Piako County Council.
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Thomson, William,
                Farmer, “Ohineroa,” Shaftesbury. Mr. Thomson was born in 1856, and came to New Zealand in 1893. He was some time settled at the Oaks, Hawera, Taranaki, where he farmed 1000 acres. In 1898 he removed to Te Aroha district, and leased “Ohineroa,” with a right to purchase. It consists of 950 acres, and Mr. Thomson carries on mixed farming. Before coming to the colony Mr. Thomson was engaged in farming in Roxburgshire, Scotland.

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Gordon





            
Gordon.

            

              
              


                

                  
Gordon
                
                is the centre of a special settlement in the county of Piako, and there is a population of about 100 persons in the district. It is within fifty miles of the Thames, with which it is connected by a bi-weekly mail.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Gordon Public School
                
                was established in 1893, and has accommodation for fifty scholars. There are fifty-four children on the roll, and the average attendance is forty-five. A large playground surrounds the school building. The headmaster is assisted by a certificated teacher.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frank Clement Brooks,
                Headmaster of the Gordon School, was born in Perthshire, Scotland, in 1869, and was educated as a teacher. He arrived in Auckland in 1884, obtained employment from the Auckland Board of Education, and was appointed to his present position in 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Gordon Creamery
                
                (T. H. Ashford, manager) is owned by the New Zealand Dairy Association, and was erected in 1897. The building, which is of wood and iron, occupies a position close to the main road, and the machinery is worked by a four horse-power stationary steam engine. It includes an Alexandra separator, capable of treating 300 gallons of milk per hour. There are ten suppliers, who milk from two to three hundred cows, and the quantity of milk is steadily increasing. The cream is sent daily under contract to the Waharoa railway station, seven miles distant.
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Mr. Thomas Henry Ashford,
                Manager of the Gordon Creamery, was born in London, in 1872. He was brought up to the provision trade, and arrived in New Zealand by the s.s. “Aorangi,” in 1893. He had been engaged in London by Mr. Henry Reynolds to take a position in connection with the dairy factory at Ngaruawahia and after eighteen months at that place, Mr Ashford went to the Pukekura factory, where he was for four months. Mr. Ashford was afterwards manager at Te Kowhai for three seasons, and, later on, was also at Whatawhata. He was appointed manager of the Gordon creamery in May, 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

Franklyn, William Moore,
                Farmer, Waikeikei, Gordon. Mr. Franklyn was born at Wimbledon, Surrey, England, in 1870, and remained in his native place till he was thirteen years of age. He came to Auckland by the ship “Tithonus,” in 1883. After a while he went to Wairoa, and found employment at the Wairoa battery for some time. In July, 1899, he settled at Waikeikei, where, in conjunction with a brother, he holds 660 acres of leasehold land, which is worked as a dairy farm. He was married, in January, 1898, to the daughter of Mr. S. B. Brown, of Whangaroa, and has one daughter.

            

            

              
              

                

Foughey, David,
               
 Farmer, Gordon. Mr. Foughey was born in County Cork, Ireland, in 1855, and was brought up to country pursuits. He came to Sydney by the first trip of the s.s. “Norfolk,” at the end of 1879, and


[image: Crombie, photo.Mr. and Mrs D. Foughey.]

Crombie, photo.


Mr. and Mrs 
D. Foughey.





arrived in New Zealand fourteen days later. After three years in Auckland Mr. Foughey settled at Shaftesbury, where he found employment with Mr. E. F. Roache for eight years. In July, 1887, he purchased land at Gordon, and now holds 244 acres of freehold. He was one of the earliest settlers in the district, and planted every tree in the beautiful avenue which leads to his homestead. Mr. Foughey was married, in June, 1881, to a daughter of Mr. John Squirrell, of Shaftesbury, and has three daughters and one son.

            

            

              
              


                

Montague, Bernard,
                Dairy Farmer, “Springfield,” Gordon. Mr. Montague was born in 1852 in Belfast, Ireland, and is a flax dresser by trade. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Queen of Nations” in 1874, and joined the militia engaged in the construction of the railway from Mercer towards Hamilton. Later on he entered the service of the Auckland Agricultural Company, as a contractor for various works, and became foreman for the training operations at Fancourt. Afterwards he went to Oxford, and built the Royal Hotel, which he conducted there for about two years. In 1882 he removed to Waiorongomai, where he engaged in goldmining, and subsequently became one of the promoters of the Gordon settlement, of the association of which he was chairman for the first seven years. He was also for the first three years chairman of the local school committee, in the formation of which he took an active part. Mr. Montague was married, in 1878, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Griffen, of County Kerry, Ireland, and has two daughters and four sons.
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Owharoa.

            

              
              


                

                  
Owharoa
                
                is about three-quarters of a mile nearer to Paeroa than Waikino is. It has a mine and battery owned by the Ohinemuri Syndicate. There are no stores at Owharoa, and there is only one boardinghouse.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Owharoa Public School
                
                occupies a site of four acres, a short distance from the township of Waikino, on the other side of the river, over which there is a suspension bridge for foot passengers. The school has accommodation for seventy children; the exact number on the roll is sixty-eight, and the average attendance is about forty-five. The headmaster is assisted by one pupil teacher.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederick Elmsly,
                Headmaster of the Owharoa Public School, was born in 1862, at Otahuhu, and was educated at the public schools. He was for six years in the Telegraph Department at Ashburton. In 1886 he commenced teaching as a probationer at the Ponsonby school, Auckland, and became a certificated teacher under the Board. After holding office as relieving teacher at Bombay, and afterwards at Huntly, he was appointed sole teacher at Waitangi. A year later he studied for six months at the Auckland Training College, and was then appointed to the charge of the Queen's Redoubts school. He was then for a time relieving teacher at Grafton Road, and subsequently at Helensville. After being in charge at Awanui for four years, and at Hunua for seven years, he was appointed to Owharoa in February, 1900. Mr. Elmsly was married, in 1892, to a daughter of Mr. R. H. Dunn, late native teacher at Pamapuria.
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Paeroa.

            

              
              


                

Paeroa,
                fifteen miles from Waihi and twenty-two from the Thames, is the county town of Ohinemuri and a transhipping port, connected by means of steamers and a railway with Waihi, Waitekauri, Waikino, and Karangahake. The original settlement was on the Esplanade, along the banks of the Ohinemuri river, immediately adjoining the township; and formerly steamers loaded and unloaded their cargoes at the town wharf. This, however, has long ceased to be possible, as owing to the discharge of tens of thousands of tons of tailings from the batteries at Waihi, Waikino, Karangahake and Waitekauri, the river has silted up, and the Junction Wharf, which is seven miles down the river, and one mile from the township, is now (1900) the nearest point at which steamers can load and unload. Hotels and business places formerly on the Esplanade have been removed to Normanby Street and Belmont Road, the centre of the town. The public buildings consist of the post office, court house and police station. Paeroa is lighted by gas, supplied by the Ohinemuri Light and Power Company. There is also a water supply, which is laid on to the houses, as well as being available for fire suppression. Streets and footpaths have been formed by the County Council, and there are public halls and churches. The Northern Steamship Company maintains a splendid service between Auckland and Paeroa, and there is a large traffic by the railway, which connects Paeroa with Auckland and the Thames.
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                    The Ohinemuri Electoral District
                  
                  embraces the Ohinemuri County, the whole of the Kauaeranga and Parawai Ridings and parts of the Totara and Hastings Ridings of the County of Thames, the Te Aroha Riding of the County of Piako, and Slipper Island. At the general election of 1899 there were twenty-seven polling places in the district, and there were 8035 names on the roll, an increase of over 4000 as compared with the roll of 1897.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. Jackson Palmer,
                 
 Member for the Ohinemuri electorate in the House of Representatives, was the successful candidate of the seven who contested that seat at the general election of 1899. In this capacity Mr. Palmer is the successor of the Hon. A. J. Cadman, C.M.G., who, on account of ill health, resigned his seat, and was called to the Upper House. Mr. Palmer sat for Waitemata in the House of Representatives from 1890 till 1896, when he was defeated by the present member for that electorate, Mr. R. Monk. Born in Belfast, Ireland, in December, 1867, Mr. Palmer came to New Zealand while he was an infant, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He was articled at the age of twenty-one to the late Hon. John Sheehan, formerly Minister of Justice and Native Minister, with whom Mr. Palmer remained for four years, and was then admitted as a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of New Zealand. Later on he was admitted as a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Samoa, in which, as well as in the Court of the High Commissioner for the Western Pacific, and also in New Zealand, he has gained a
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wide experience in his profession. Mr. Palmer has a talent for literary work, and has contributed largely to “Brett's Handy Guide to New Zealand,” and other publications.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Frederick Duncan Fergusson,
                  Returning Officer and Registrar of Electors for the Ohinemuri District, was born in Perthshire, Scotland, in 1856. He was educated at Owen's College, Manchester, and became a pupil teacher in his father's school in that city. From 1872 to 1876 he was employed in his father's school and then became a visiting master to private schools for four years. He subsequently came out to New Zealand to his uncle the Rev. J. D. Fergusson to take charge of a school in Christchurch, and after two years and a half he became a junior master in the Christchurch Boys' High School, and held the position from 1883 to 1885. During this period he raised a cadet corps, and also a company named the Christchurch Rifles. Mr. Fergusson then became a teacher under the North Canterbury Board of Education for two years, and was for six years subsequently in charge of the Makatuka school in Hawke's Bay. In 1893 he joined the service of the Auckland Education Board, and was relieving teacher for about two years. In November, 1895, Mr. Fergusson accepted an appointment to represent the Government Insurance Department on the Auckland goldfields, and continued in that position till the end of 1898. He was first appointed a returning officer in 1896, and became a local valuer under the Valuation Department in the following year. In October, 1899, he was appointed to his present position. While he was in England Mr. Fergusson was connected with the first Manchester volunteers for seven years. He was the originator of the three Ohinemuri Rifle Corps—No. 1 Paeroa, No. 2 Karangahake, and No. 3 Waihi. At the Takapuna camp of 1898, Capt. Fergusson was in command of the attacking infantry. He is referred to in another article as having been captain of the Paeroa Rifles.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Paeroa Volunteer Fire Brigade
                  
                  dates from the 23rd of October, 1895. Officers for 1900: Messrs J. E. Hunt (captain), T. Casley (lieutenant) and J. Howie (secretary). The station at Belmont Road contains the usual appliances, which consist of a reel-hose, and a hose of 900 feet. There is a firebell tower in the centre of the town, and the brigade has twelve members, including officers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Edwin Hunt,
                  Captain, was born in Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, England, in 1871, and was brought up to the trade of a coachbuilder, in his native place. He afterwards gained experience in various towns in England, and arrived at Auckland by the s.s. “Coptic,” in 1890. After a short residence in Auckland he settled in the Waikato, and was for two years in business on his own account at Cambridge. In 1895 he settled at Paeroa, where he entered into business with a partner; but about a year later the firm sold out to Mr. J. Ellis, for whom Mr. Hunt manages the coachbuilding department of that gentleman's business.
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                    The Fire Prevention Committee
                  
                  of Paeroa was established in 1899, and in 1900 it was under the management of Messrs Bastings (chairman), Burgess, Searle, Nathan, and F. Pratt (secretary). Messrs Bastings and Burgess are trustees for the funds of the committee, which was formed with the object of assisting the local fire brigade.

              

            

            

              
Ohinemuri County.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Ohinemuri County
                  
                  is divided into five ridings, and is bounded by the counties of Thames, Waikato, Piako, and Tauranga. The ridings of the county are Waihi, Paeroa, Karangahake, Waitoa, and Waitekauri. The first four return two members each, and the last, one member. Members for 1900: Mr. H. P. Barry, chairman, and Messrs C. Saunders, S. Draffin, R. Stackpole, junior, M. Marrinan, H. Poland, A. Cassrels, W. Moore, and A. Bowler. The officers of the county are: Mr. N. Kenny, county clerk and treasurer; Mr. A. Armstrong, county engineer; Mr. W. Corbett, assistant engineer; Mr. R. W. Evans, assistant clerk; and Mr. F. Beattie, Inspector of slaughterhouses and nuisances. The new slaughterhouse erected in 1899, at a cost of about £900, is situated on the Karangahake Road, and has already proved a great boon to the district. Ohinemuri is distinctively a mining district, with Paeroa as its headquarters, and the Waihi, Woodstock, Waitekauri, and other celebrated mines are within its boundaries.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Hubert Percy Barry,
                  J.P., who (1900) has been for upwards of five years Chairman of the Ohinemuri County Council, had a good many years' experience in engineering works in the Old Country, before leaving for South Africa. He was for a few years in Swaziland, South Africa, where he was employed in connection with mining concessions, and was appointed to the general superintendency of the Waihi Company's mine in 1891. Soon after his arrival Mr. Barry became chairman of the Ohinemuri County Council, and with the exception of the period during which he was away on a visit to England, he has since held that important position.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Councillor Samuel Draffin
                  
                  was elected to represent the Waitekauri Riding on the Ohinemuri County Council in April, 1900. He has long taken an interest in local sports and pastimes, and holds office as patron of the Ohinemuri Cricket Association, as president to several local football, cricket, and athletic clubs, and as judge to the Waitekauri Jockey Club.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor William Moore,
                  who is a Member of the Ohinemuri Council for the Paeroa riding, was born on the 10th of November, 1842, in County Down, Ireland. He was brought up to farming, and came to Auckland in the ship “Red Rover,” in 1869. After a short experience of three months at Mercury Bay sawmills, he settled at the Thames, and was engaged for two years in mining and for ten years in connection with the ore reduction works. In 1880, Mr. Moore settled at Netherton, and purchased a farm of 185 acres, which he has since increased to 590 acres. Mr. Moore was first elected to the county council in 1896, and has a seat on the Thames Harbour Board. He is also a member of the Charitable Aid Board, and one of the trustees of the Thames hospital. Mr. Moore was married, in 1873, to a daughter of the late Captain Tregoweth, of Cornwall. This lady died in 1893, leaving three sons and four daughters, and in 1894 Mr. Moore contracted a second marriage with a daughter of the late Mr. Wylie, of County Derry, Ireland.
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Councillor Hugh Poland,
                  who is a Member of the Ohinemuri County Council, Ohinemuri Licensing Committee, and School Committee, was born in 1868 at Tuakau. He



was educated at the public school in his native place, and took the district scholarship, entitling him to three years' tuition at the Auckland Grammar school. Mr. Poland was successful in passing the Junior and Senior Civil Service examinations, in the latter of which he took first place in the colony; he matriculated at the end of his term, and became a teacher under the Board of Education. Mr. Poland held the D certificate, but after two years in charge of the Parkhurst school, he retired from the teaching profession. Subsequently he was for two years engaged in flax milling at Helensville, and was a storekeeper successively at Rotorua and Paeroa. Since 1895 he has been the Auckland “Evening Star” newspaper's agent for the Ohinemuri district, and has his office in Normanby Street, Paeroa, where he also acts as agent for the Royal Insurance Company. Mr. Poland was a prominent Auckland athlete and won the Auckland Grammar School Cup and Ladies' Bracelet at the Auckland Amateur Association sports, besides other events. He was a member of the Gordon Football Club, and represented Auckland in the years 1887–88–89–90–91–94. Mr. Poland was married on the 10th of August, 1892, to a daughter of the late Mr. James Hand, of Helensville, and has four sons and one daughter.
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Councillor Charles Judd Saunders,
                  who has (1900) represented Waihi riding in the Ohinemuri County Council since November, 1897, was born in Perth, West Australia, in 1869, and educated at the public school at the Thames where his parents had arrived in the early days. Mr. Saunders was brought up to the grocery business, and settled in Waihi in 1892, when he commenced business as a general storekeeper. Four years later he sold out to Mr. McWatters, of Paeroa, and since then has conducted business as a stationer and news agent.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Robert Stackpole,
                  Junior, who has been one of the Representatives for Karangahake Riding on the Ohinemuri County Council, since February, 1898, was born in Onehunga, in 1860. He was educated in his native town and at the Thames, and commenced his mining career at the Moanataiari battery. Two years later he became assistant amalgamator, and had the handling of most of the gold obtained from the “Big Patch” in 1877. At the time of the reduction of hands he was balloted out after seven years' service, and subsequently worked for the Government on the Hikutaia Road. Mr. Stackpole was one of a party of contractors to the late Mr. Manukau Jones at the Waihi mine in 1881. In the following year he went to Te Aroha and was employed in the Premier mine for six months, and in the “Colonist” for two years. During the last year of this term he was underground boss. He was afterwards a contractor in the “New Find.” In 1884 Mr. Stackpole returned to the Thames, where he had a successful tribute in the Kuranui mine. Later on he was engaged in tributing at Waitekauri for a short time, and then went to Charters Towers in North Queensland. After returning to New Zealand he was prospecting successively at Maratoto and at Whangamata. In 1891 he became amalgamator at the Sylvia battery, Tararu Creek, and eighteen months later he returned to Waitekauri for a short time. Mr. Stackpole subsequently worked for six months in the Alburnia mine, at the Thames, and settled at Karangahake in January, 1893. He worked for the Woodstock Company for two years, and afterwards pegged out the Marmion claim. This and the Golden Treasure claim were amalgamated under the name of the Talisman Extended Gold Mining Company, Limited, for which Mr. Stackpole was mine manager from 1895 to 1898. In the following year he pegged out the Crown Extended mine, which he sold for £800 cash to the London and New Zealand Exploration Company, Ltd., and secured appointment as mine manager. Mr. Stackpole was a member of the Karangahake school committee, and is a member of the committee of the School of Mines. He was married, in December, 1896, to a daughter of Mr. P. J. Byrne, of County Kerry, Ireland, and has one son and one daughter.
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Mr. Nepean Kenny,
                  Clerk and Treasurer to the Ohinemuri County Council, and Secretary to the Ohinemuri Cemetery and River Boards, was appointed to these offices in March, 1887. He came to New Zealand in 1861 to engage in sheep farming in the province of Marlborough, having left the Imperial service for that purpose. After a few years in this occupation he joined the Armed Constabulary, and was subsequently transferred to the police branch of the force. On retiring from the Government service he took up land surveying as a profession, which he still carries on as a partner in the firm of Kenny and Son.

              

            

            

              
Military.

              

                
                


                  No. 1 
Ohinemuri Rifle Volunteer Corps
                  was founded in July, 1897, and forms a part of the No. 2 Battery of Auckland Rifles. The Company has the full strength of sixty-three members, including its officers, Captain D. McArthur and Lieutenant A. C. Hubbard.

              

              

                
                


                  

Captain Duncan McArthur,
                  of the No. 1 Ohinemuri Rifles, was born in 1877, in Invercargill, and was educated on the West Coast and in Australia, where he attended school at Horsham, Victoria. He was for about four years in an auctioneer's establishment, and in 1895 he settled at Paeroa, where he became managing clerk for Messrs Clendon and Mueller. Captain McArthur joined the volunteers soon after his arrival in Paeroa. He held the position of lieutenant for eighteen months, and was promoted to the rank of captain in February, 1900.

              

              

                
                


                  

Captain Frederick Duncan Fergusson,
                  formerly in command of the No. 1 Company, Ohinemuri Rifle Volunteers, Paeroa, was born in Perthshire, Scotland, and educated at Owen's College, Manchester. He was engaged as a teacher in the Old Country, and on his arrival in New Zealand, in 1880, he joined the staff of the Christchurch Boys' High School, and was afterwards headmaster of a district school in Hawke's Bay, where he remained for six years, until 1893, when he removed to Auckland. Captain Fergusson has long been connected with the volunteer movement. In 1874 he joined the 6th Lancashire (now 2nd Battalion Manchester Regiment) and served till 1880. He became identified with volunteering soon after his arrival in New Zealand, and raised and drilled the Christchurch Rifles, afterwards amalgamated with the City Guards, and also the Cadet Corps of the Boys' High School, Christchurch. After settling at Ohinemuri, Mr. Fergusson raised the Paeroa (No. 1) Karangahake (No. 2), and Waihi (No. 3) Rifles. Men went from the Paeroa company to the Transvaal war in South Africa; and one of them, Colour-Sergeant Bradford was the first New Zealander who fell in the war. Captain Fergusson in



his younger days was a well known athlete, and holds several medals won by him in Lancashire.
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No. 3 Ohinemuri Rifles.
                  The full strength of this company is sixty-three, and the officers are: F. J. Walmsley (captain), James L. Gilmour and Jacob Wearne (lieutenants), Colour-Sergeant Crawford, Sergeants Bulbot, Gardner, Callan, and Clews; J. M. Wood (bandmaster).

              

              

                
                


                  

Captain Francis John Walmsley,
                  of the No. 3 Ohinemuri Rifles, is the son of a well known old colonist, Mr. F. J. M. D. Walmsley, of the Property Tax Department, Wellington. Mr. Walmsley was born at Hamilton, in 1875, and educated at St. Patrick's College, Wellington. Ever since leaving school he has followed mining, and was for about three years on the West Coast before he settled at Waihi. Mr. Walmsley always took an interest in volunteering, and on the formation of the Ohinemuri Rifles he was appointed the company's first captain. His grandfather was a captain in the 56th Regiment before coming to the colony in the early sixties, and settled in Nelson, where he long held the position of postmaster and sheriff.

              

            

            

              
General Government Offices.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Paeroa Post Office
                  
                  has a vestiblue with thirty private boxes, a public lobby, an operating room, mail room, and postmaster's office, and a six roomed residence behind. About seventy-five bags of mails pass daily through the office, which is the distributing centre for the Upper Thames district. The postmaster is assisted by three cadets, a letter carrier, and two messengers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Brown,
                  Postmaster and Registrar of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, at Paeroa, was born in 1852 at Belturbet, County Cavan, Ireland. He joined the postal department in Ireland in 1869, and after serving six years came to Port Chalmers by the ship “Oamaru,” and soon afterwards received an appointment in Dunedin. From 1877 to 1881 he was postmaster at Turakina, and was afterwards at Otaki, till 1884. After a short time in the Wellington Telegraph office, he went to Waikaia, where he continued till 1889, when he was transferred to Wyndham, whence he removed to Katikati in 1891. Mr. Brown has been stationed in Paeroa since 1893.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Paeroa Railway Station
                  
                  is 120 miles from Auckland, and is situated about half a mile from the centre of the township. It was opened in December, 1895, and comprises offices, waiting-rooms, luggage-room and goods and engine sheds.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John William Woodbury,
                  the Stationmaster, was born in London in 1871, and came to New Zealand when a child. His parents settled in Canterbury, and his father. Mr. John Woodbury, is a driver on the Hurunui-Bluff section. Mr. J. W. Woodbury was educated at Southbridge, Canterbury, and entered the Railway Department as a cadet at the Southbridge station, where he remained for two years. He afterwards spent seven years in the booking office at Lyttelton, and filled several other appointments before being sent to Paeroa as stationmaster in 1896. Mr. Woodbury is married to the daughter of Mr. S. Derbridge, of the Lyttelton Harbour Board staff, and has one daughter. He is a member of the Masonic fraternity.
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                    The Thames And Coromandel District Charitable Aid Board
                  
                  is represented in Paeroa by a deputy relieving officer, who has power to deal with local cases of distress.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Garcia,
                  Deputy Relieving Officer of the Thames and Coromandel District Charitable Aid Board, was born at Richmond, near Melbourne, in 1877. He was educated at Yarra Park state school, Melbourne, and at the Thames high school, and entered the joint offices of the Thames “Star” and “Advertiser,” for which he afterwards became agent at Paeroa. Mr. Garcia is interested in local outdoor sports, and acts as secretary and treasurer to the Paeroa Cricket Club. He is accountant and manager for Mr. W. Forrest, timber merchant. Mr. Garcia is a member of the vestry of the Church of England, and superintendent of the Sunday school.
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                    The Paeroa Public School
                  
                  building is of wood, and is surrounded by an extensive playground. Since the school was established in 1875, the building has been enlarged on three different occasions. There are 283 children on the roll, with an average attendance of 215. The headmaster is assisted by a certificated master, two certificated mistresses, and three pupil teachers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Walter Sullivan,
                  Headmaster of the Paeroa Public School, was born in 1853 at Walsall, Staffordshire, England, and educated in Liverpool, where he was brought up to mercantile life. He arrived in Auckland in 1880, when he joined the service of the Board of Education. After being at Mackaytown, Waitekauri, and at Te Puke, Mr. Sullivan was appointed to his present position at Paeroa in 1884.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Mansfield Gelling,
                  Assistant Master at Paeroa Public School, was born at Hamilton, Waikato, in 1870, and is the eldest son of Mr. James Gelling, late town-clerk of Hamilton. He was educated at the Hamilton High School and entered the service of the Education Department in 1887, commencing teaching at Nelson Street school, Auckland, at the age of seventeen. Mr. Gelling afterwards became second assistant at Wellesley Street school, and acting head master at Chapel



Street school. He has been successively assistant master at Epsom, Huntly, Tuakau, Miranda, and Warkworth, and also a relieving teacher. Mr. Gelling is a footballer, cricketer and swimmer, and has gained several prizes in swimming contests.

              

            

            

              
Ecclesiastical.

              

                
                


                  
St. Paul's Parish,
                  Paeroa, which includes Hikutaia, Netherton and Karangahake, and originally included Waihi and Waitekauri, is under the care of the Rev. W. H. Wilson. The church occupies a site of fully half an acre in the centre of the town, near the post office and courthouse. It is a wooden building, with seats for 150 persons, and was established soon after the opening of the goldfield. About seventy scholars attend the Sunday school. The vicarage is situated in Te Aroha Road, and the glebe is five acres in extent.

              

              

                
                

                  

The Rev. William Henry Wilson,
                 
 Vicar of St. Paul's, was born at Burton-in-Lonsdale, Yorkshire, England, in 1855. He was educated at the Bentham Grammar school,
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at Owen's College, Manchester, and at Cheshunt College, Herts, and was ordained deacon and priest in 1889. Mr. Wilson went out under the London Missionary Society, to Samoa, where he remained for four years, during part of which he was Her Majesty's Consul and Deputy Commissioner for Samoa. He came to Nelson in 1888, and was stationed at Reefton-with-Lyell, for four years and a half. After being stationed for three years at Te Awamutu, Waikato, he was appointed to Paeroa in 1896. Mr. Wilson is an enthusiastic Freemason, and was initiated in Lodge Pacific, E.C., 1453. He is chaplain of the Ohinemuri Lodge, 107, and of the Waihi Lodge, 112. While on the West Coast he was Grand Chaplain of the Grand Lodge of Westland. He has also taken the degree of Mark Master, Royal Arch Royal Ark Mariner, and Knight of the East and West. Mr. Wilson has been associated with the volunteer movement in the colony since his arrival in 1888. He holds the position of chaplain to the Ohinemuri Rifle Volunteers, Corps No. 1, and was formerly chaplain to the Mangahua Rifles and the Te Awamutu Mounted Rifles. Mr. Wilson was married, in 1883, to a daughter of the Rev. W. M. Anstey, late of Tollsbury, Essex, England, and has three sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Paeroa Presbyterian Church
                  
                  is a wooden building with seating accommodation for 176 worshippers, and about 100 children attend the Sunday school. Services were held in the district prior to the opening of the present building in 1896. The minister in charge conducts services also at Netherton, and Karangahake.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Frank Rule,
                  Minister in charge of the Paeroa Presbyterian Church, was born at Falkirk, Scotland, in 1863. He was brought up as an ironmonger and worked for years at his business before settling in New Zealand in 1895. Mr. Rule became a lay preacher in Hawke's Bay; he was engaged in evangelistic work for the church at Ormond, Poverty Bay, for about three years, and was appointed to Paeroa in 1899. He was married, in 1887, to a daughter of the late Mr. McCabe, of Invercargill, and has six sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Ohinemuri Parish Of The Roman Catholic Church
                  
                  embraces the entire county, including Waihi, Waitekauri, Karangahake, Waikino and Paeroa. The church property at Paeroa occupies an elevated section of five acres at the entrance of the township, on the Waihi-Tauranga Road. The church, which is of wood, has accommodation for 200 worshippers, and a school has recently been completed at a cost of £500, for the Josephite Sisters, who arrived from Sydney at Easter, 1900. The church at Karangahake is capable of seating 300, that at Waitekauri 200, and that at Waihi 150 persons.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Very Rev Dean Hackett,
                  Priest in charge of the Ohinemuri Parish, was born at Moate, West Meath, Ireland, in 1858. He was educated at the Propaganda College, Rome, and ordained in that city in 1883. Father Hackett came out to Bishop Luck at Auckland, and after two years at Northern Wairoa, was stationed as Administrator at St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland, for eight years. In 1893 he was transferred to Paeroa, and since his residence in the district has had three churches and schools built, and the churches at Paeroa and Karangahake are free from debt.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Paeroa Wesleyan Church
                  
                  stands on a half acre section at the corner of Normanby Street and Thames Road, Paeroa. It is a wooden building, with accommodation for 150 persons, and was built about 1883. Services are held twice every Sunday, and the Sunday school is attended by about seventy scholars. The Paeroa church is a portion of the Upper Thames circuit, to which reference is made in another part of this volume.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. William Greenslade,
                  Minister at Paeroa, was born in 1875, in Nelson, and was educated at Greymouth. He is the eldest son of Mr. William Greenslade, of Greymouth, tanner. While following the coachbuilding trade at Nelson, Mr. Greenslade commenced as a local preacher in connection with the Wesleyan church, and was afterwards appointed a home missionary, and stationed at Riverton for nearly twelve months. He was then for twelve months at Broad Bay, near Dunedin, and was accepted as a candidate by the Conference in 1899; and after a year at Prince Albert College, Auckland, was appointed to Paeroa in 1900.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Salvation Army
                  
                  in Paeroa holds services in a rented hall in Wharf Street, no barracks having yet (1901) been erected. The Army has been represented in the district since 1896, and services are held also at Karangahake, Te Aroha, Hikutaia, and Omata. The officer in charge is Captain Ella Pearn.

              

            

            

              
Social.

              

                
                


                  
Loyal Jubilee Lodge,
                  I.O.O.F., M.U. Officers for 1900; J. W. Woodbury (N.G.), T. Finch (V.G.), B. King (treasurer), D. C. Potts, junior (permanent secretary). This lodge was established in 1897. It has a membership of eighty-two, and holds fortnightly meetings at the Masonic Hall.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. David Carnegie Potts,
                  Permanent Secretary of the Loyal Jubilee Lodge of Oddfellows, was born in Dundee, in 1879, and arrived with his parents in Auckland in June, 1886. He was educated principally in the colony, and has been settled at Paeroa since November, 1894, as tally clerk at the Junction Wharf. He has been a member of the Loyal Jubilee Lodge since 1898, and was elected to the secretaryship on the 19th of February, 1900.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Ohinemuri Cricket Association,
                  which was established in February, 1898, governs cricket in the county of Ohinemuri. The officers for 1900 were: Messrs



Draffin (patron), W. C. Brown (president), G. F. Clarke, J. Hope, and B. H. Stafford, and T. Lawless (vice-presidents), and E. T. Conolly (secretary and treasurer). There are four associate clubs, namely the Waihi, Waitekauri, Karangahake, and Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Edwin Tennyson Conolly,
                  Secretary of the Ohinemuri Cricket Association, is the sixth son of Judge Conolly. He was born in Picton in 1873, and was educated at the Picton and Auckland grammar schools. Mr. Conolly entered the Colonial Bank at Blenheim in 1893, and continued an officer of that institution till the business was taken over by the Bank of New Zealand. He then joined the National Bank in Auckland as clerk, and a year later was appointed to the position of accountant at the Paeroa branch. Mr. Conolly has long been connected with outdoor sports. He played in the senior team at Picton in 1888, and has never lost his interest in the game. He has been enthusiastic in tennis, rowing, cricket and football, and represented Marlborough in all four sports in 1894.
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The Paeroa Cricket Club,
                  which was established several years ago, and plays under the Ohinemuri Cricket Association, has a membership of about thirty. Mr. W. C. Brown is (1900) president of the club, Mr. J. Butler captain of the team, and Mr. J. Garcia secretary and treasurer.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Paeroa Brass Band
                  
                  was established in 1894, and has ten performing members. The officers (1900) are Messrs F. Plescher (bandmaster) and Mr. T. Finch (secretary). The band is ever ready to assist at local events, and at efforts for the benefit of charitable institutions.

              

              

                
                

                  

Harston, G. Loversidge,
                 
 Teacher of Vocal and Instrumental Music, Wood Street, Paeroa. Mr. Harston is a son of an organ builder, at Newark, England, where
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he was born in 1865. He was for eight years a chorister of the Newark parish church, and was a pupil of Mr. Samuel Reay, Mus. Bac. Oxon., its organist; and for five years before coming to the colonies, Mr. Harston was head chorister and soloist. He came out to Sydney in 1884, and six months later arrived in New Zealand and settled at Tauranga, where he was organist of Trinity church during his residence in the district. After being there four years, during which he was also teaching music and tuning pianos and organs, Mr. Harston removed to the Thames, where he remained from 1889 to 1894. During his residence at the Thames he was engaged in connection with his profession, and was also a performing member of the Thames Orchestral Society. In 1894, Mr. Harston settled in Paeroa, where he accepted the position of organist and choirmaster in St. Paul's church. He also holds office as conductor of the Paeroa Orchestral Society, and is the district representative of the London College of Musicians. Mr. Harston has been successful in his profession in Paeroa, and a large percentage of his pupils have passed the examinations of the college, many of them with honours. He has seven brothers in England, all following the musical profession. Mr. Harston was married, in 1880, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. F. Sirdefield, barrister, of Liverpool, England, and has two sons.

              

            

            

              
Press.

              

                
                


                  
New Zealand Herald And Auckland Weekly News,
                  Ohinemuri Agency, Normanby Road, Paeroa; James Reid, Agent. Mr. Reid was born at the Thames in 1869, and was educated there at St. George's Grammar school. While working in his father's store he diligently devoted his evenings to the study of shorthand, and succeeded so well that he was asked to take up the position of reporter on the “Thames Advertiser,” on which he worked for seven years. In 1895 he was sent to Paeroa as agent for the New Zealand Herald and Mining Reporter for the Ohinemuri district. Mr. Reid is a member of the Wesleyan Church and leader of the choir. He was married, in 1898, to a daughter of Mr. F. MacKenzie, of Onehunga.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    “The Ohinemuri Gazette”
                  
                  is a biweekly paper, published at Paeroa on Wednesday and Saturday mornings. It is owned by Mr. Edwin Edwards, and leased by Messrs Nicholas and Lyes.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Edwin Edwards,
                  the Proprietor of the “Ohinemuri Gazette,” was born in London in 1862. He was educated at Rutland College, London, and after a course of commercial life, went to America. On returning to Europe, he determined to visit the colonies, and came to New Zealand. After rambling through the South Island in various capacities, and doing many things, from coal heaving to lecturing, he went to Paeroa, where in time he founded two newspapers, firstly the “Mining Journal,” and secondly the “Ohinemuri Gazette.” The last-named was started in 1891, and is now the standard goldfields journal in its part of the colony. Later on Mr. Edwards started the “Te Aroha Times.” Mr. Edwards is a practical geologist, and is well acquainted with the rocks and strata of the Ohinemuri goldfields. At one time he was part owner of the celebrated Waihi Mine, and held nineteen acres on the cap of the Martha Hill, Waihi, with his partners. He has been clerk, member and chairman of the Ohinemuri County Council; member of the local school committee, licensing bench, harbour and hospital boards, etc. In 1896 he contested unsuccessfully the Ohinemuri seat with the Hon. A. J. Cadman, then Minister of Mines.
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Legal.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Paeroa Warden's and Magistrate's court
                  
                  occupies a central position in the township, and adjoins the post office. It was erected in 1895, and opened in February, 1896, and is a wooden building with a verandah, a court-room, warden's room, clerk's room, public office, solicitors' and witnesses' room and a plan room. The warden sits on two days in each fortnight, and the district controlled by the court includes the Ohinemuri county, and the Thames county as far as the Hikutaia river.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. William Forrest,
                 
 J.P., is District Coroner for Ohinemuri. He was born in Argyleshire, Scotland, in 1855, and educated at Carmichael Academy, Lanarkshire. After completing his apprenticeship with his father as a stonemason at Carmichael he went to Glasgow to learn the best branches of the trade. There he attended the School of Arts in Sauchiehill Street for several sessions, and studied architectural drawing. He also attended evening science classes for a year. After two years' residence in Glasgow he returned to Carmichael, where he started with his brother James, building and contracting, under the style of J. and W. Forrest. The firm carried out several important works, notably one section of the Lanark Water Works, Westport new schools, etc. Mr. Forrest then went to America, where he travelled through



most of the Northern States and worked at his trade for some time in Denver City, Colorado, and at Lonaconing, Washington. Returning to Scotland, he married Jessie, youngest
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daughter of the late Mr. P. Gibson, Lanarkshire, in December, 1882, and he and his wife sailed for New Zealand in January, 1883, in the first direct steamer, the “British King.” Mr. Forrest settled in Auckland and carried on business for several years a a builder and contractor. In 1890 he removed with his family to Palmerston North and with partners carried out the drainage works of Palmerston and the Manganoho section of the North Island Trunk Railway. Mr. Forrest went to West Australia in 1895, but, disliking the climate, returned the same year. He settled at Paeroa in 1896, and began business as a timber merchant. Mr. Forrest was appointed Justice of the Peace and district coroner in 1897. He is an enthusiastic and prominent Freemason, and was mainly instrumental in founding Lodge Rangitira No. 71 at Hunterville, and Lodge Ohinemuri No. 107 in Paeroa. He takes a great interest in politics and municipal matters, and is superintendent of the Presbyterian Sunday school at Paeroa. Mr. Forrest has a family of three daughters and two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Tracy Archer Moresly,
                  Clerk of the Warden's and Magistrate's Court, Mining Registrar, and Receiver of Gold Revenue at Paeroa, was born in 1869, at Plymouth, Devonshire, England. In 1887 he arrived in Auckland where he studied law, and was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court in 1890. Mr. Moresly entered the Government service in the same year that he arrived in Auckland. He served four years in the office of the clerk to the Resident Magistrate, and was then transferred to the Supreme Court office. Two years later he was appointed assistant clerk of the court at Masterton. He was then employed for two or three years as a relieving officer, and was appointed to Paeroa in January, 1896. Mr. Moresly is a Freemason, and in 1900 he was W.M. of Lodge Ohinemuri 107. He was married, in 1895, to a daughter of Mr. J. Halliday, of Auckland, and has two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Paeroa Police Sub-District,
                  which includes Te Aroha, Karangahake, Waitekauri, Waihi and Paeroa, was established in 1877. The police station adjoins the courthouse, and consists of an office, a lock-up with two cells, and a residence of six rooms for the officer in charge.

              

              

                
                


                  

Sergeant William Brenan,
                  Officer in Charge of the Paeroa Sub-District, was born in Dublin in 1848. He served three years as a compositor in Dublin, and came to Canterbury in 1866 by the ship “King Canute.” Two years after his arrival he joined the Armed Constabulary in Canterbury, and served in Poverty Bay during the time of the Te Kooti and Titokowaru disturbances. In 1877 he was transferred to the Police Department, and was stationed at Cambridge, where he continued till 1898, when he was transferred to Paeroa and promoted to the rank of sergeant.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Clendon And Mueller
                  
                  (Edwin Clendon and Frederick Henry Mueller), Solicitors, Criterion Chambers, Normanby Street, Paeroa; Head office, Albert Street, Thames. This branch was established in 1896.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Frederick Henry Mueller,
                  the Resident Partner, was born in 1871, at Hokitika, where he served his articles with Mr. James Park. He afterwards settled at Gisborne, where he was admitted to the bar in 1893, and was for three years managing clerk for Mr. H. J. Finn. Mr. Mueller then joined Mr. Clendon in partnership.

              

              

                
                


                  

Jackson, William M.,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, Paeroa. Mr. Jackson was born at Razorback in the Auckland province in 1869. He is a son of Captain Jackson, sometime Stipendiary Magistrate for the Waikato, and a nephew of Mr. Samuel Jackson, of the firm of Messrs Jackson and Russell, solicitors, Auckland. Mr. W. M. Jackson was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and served his articles in Messrs Jackson and Russell's office. He passed his final examinations in 1892 at Auckland, and was admitted to practice as a barrister and solicitor in August, 1896. In April, 1894, he was appointed Judge's Associate to Mr. Justice Conolly, with whom he stayed till May, 1896, after which he held the same position with Mr. Justice Williams of Dunedin. Mr. Jackson began to practise in Paeroa in September, 1897. His Auckland agents are Messrs Jackson and Russell.

              

              

                
                

                  

McVeagh, James,
                 
 Solicitor, Criterion Chambers, Normanby Street, Paeroa, and Main Street, Waihi. Mr. McVeagh was born at Cambridge, Waikato, in December, 1867, educated in his native town, and studied for his profession with Mr. M. R. Keesing and Mr. R. W. Dyer. He was admitted in June, 1899, and commenced to practise in Te Aroha. Mr. McVeagh subsequently spent four years in Victoria, where he was a managing clerk for part of the time in Melbourne, and afterwards in Goulburn Valley. Upon his return to New Zealand he settled at Paeroa in January, 1895, and established his present practice. Mr. McVeagh is an honorary


[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. J. McVeagh.]

Hanna, photo.


Mr. 
J. McVeagh.


solicitor to the Society for the Protection of Women and Children, and for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Miller And Porritt
                  
                  (Edmund William Porritt), Solicitors, Paeroa; (James A. Miller, notary public), Thames.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. Edmund William Porritt,
                 
 who is the firm's representative at Paeroa, is the
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son of the Rev. Thomas Porritt, of Featherston, a very early settler, and was born in 1865 at Kekerangu. He received his education at the public schools and at the English High school, Wellington. In 1884 he entered the Justice Department at Masterton, and afterwards travelled over most of the colony as the Department's relieving officer. Mr. Porritt then passed the law examinations, and was admitted to practice in 1894. In 1896 he resigned his Government appointment and entered into partnership with Mr. J. A. Miller. Mr. Porritt holds a militia captain's certificate from the Central Board of Examination, and was for four years a lieutenant in the Wellington Guards. He was promoted to be major on the 6th of June, 1900, and to the command of the 2nd Battalion of the Auckland Infantry; and the rank of Lieutenant-Colonel in July, 1901.

              

              

                
                


                  

Moss, Edward George Britton,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, Normanby Road, Paeroa. Mr. Moss is the second son of Mr. F. J. Moss, of Parnell, and was born at Longwood on the Island of St. Helena. In 1859 he arrived in the colony with his parents by the ship “Zealandia,” and was educated at the Dunedin High School, and the Church of England Grammar school, Parnell. Mr. Moss was articled to Mr. Andrew Beveridge, Provincial Solicitor, Auckland, and was admitted to the Bar on the 15th of October, 1877. He afterwards practised at Greymouth and Tauranga, and established his present practice in Ohinemuri in 1895. Mr. Moss unsuccessfully contested the Ohinemuri seat at the general election of 1899.

              

            

            

              
Medical.

              

                
                


                  

Buckley, Arthur Grey Heslerigge,
                  L.F.P., S.Q., and L.M., Physician and Surgeon, Normanby Road, Paeroa. Dr. Buckley was born in the Midland Counties of England. He studied for his profession in Glasgow, and obtained his diplomas in 1876. After an experience in various parts of the world, Dr. Buckley came to Auckland as surgeon on the ship “Hermione,” in 1883. He was for about six years surgeon at the Patea Hospital, and settled at Paeroa in 1896.

              

              

                
                


                  

Smith, Gilbert Thomas,
                  M.R.C.S.E., Physician and Surgeon, Paeroa. Dr. Smith was born in Bedford, England, in 1853, and studied at St. Bartholomew's Hospital, London, where he gained his diploma in 1880. After practising for about ten years in London, he came to Auckland, and practised at Whangarei for two years, and at Mercury Bay, for fifteen months. He was then appointed medical officer of the Te Aroha Hot Springs Domain Board, and resided in Te Aroha till January, 1900, when he removed to Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

Hobbs, William,
                  Dental Surgeon, Normanby Street, Paeroa. Mr. Hobbs was born in Pokeno, in 1874. He studied his profession at the Thames, qualified in 1896 and commenced his present practice in 1897. Mr. Hobbs has been to Philadelphia and London, where he studied the higher branches of his profession, and returned to the colony in 1900.

              

              

                
                


                  
De Castro, George Percival,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Normanby Road, Paeroa. This business was established in 1893 by Mr. J. W. Hall. Mr de Castro was born in Wellington, and apprenticed to Mr. W. C. Fitzgerald, chemist of that city. After eighteen months in Dunedin and five years in Sydney, he passed his examinations, and gained a diploma in New South Wales, entitling him to practise in any of the Australian colonies, New Zealand, and South Africa.

              

              

                
                


                  

Fraser, William,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Normanby Street, Paeroa. Branch at Karangahake. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Fraser was born in Geelong, Victoria, in 1854, and accompanied his parents in 1859, to Dunedin, where he served his apprenticeship as a chemist and druggist and afterwards qualified in Victoria. In 1881 he became manager of Messrs Teed and Co.'s business at Stratford, in Taranaki, and subsequently commenced business on his own account at Eltham. After being there he removed to Paeroa, where he established his present business in 1897. Besides doing an extensive trade, Mr. Fraser prepares a large number of proprietary medicines, such as the la grippe remedy, known as Balm of Gilead, cough medicines and hair restorers. He is registered under the Pharmaceutical Societies of Victoria and New Zealand. Mr. Fraser was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. J. Hamilton, of Kumara, and has one daughter.
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Banking.

              

                
                


                  
Bank Of New Zealand, Paeroa
                 . This branch was opened in 1881. The whole of the Bank's business for the Ohinemuri goldfields district is transacted at the branch, and the manager is assisted by a teller, a ledgerkeeper, and two juniors.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Augustus Burgess,
                  Manager of the Bank of New Zealand, Ohinemuri, is a son of Captain Burgess, of Auckland, where he was born in 1858. He entered the Bank's service in 1874, and three years later was transferred to the Thames, as ledgerkeeper and teller. In 1881 he was sent to Paeroa to open the Ohinemuri branch. In the following year he opened Te Aroha agency, and was stationed successively at Wairoa, Hawke's Bay, Te Awamutu, Carterton, Reefton, and Masterton, and re-appointed to Paeroa in 1896. Mr. Burgess is treasurer of the Ohinemuri Agricultural and Horticultural Society. He was married, in 1884, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Probert, of Auckland, and has four daughters and one son.

              

              

                
                


                  
The National Bank Of New Zealand,
                  Paeroa. This branch is situated in Normanby Street, Paeroa. It is a wooden building, and comprises the banking chamber, the manager's room, a fire-proof safe in concrete, and residence for the local officer-incharge. The manager, Mr. William Crawford Brown, is assisted by an accountant and clerk. An agency of the bank has been opened at Waihi, where an officer is in attendance on Wednesday and Thursday in each week.

              

            

            

              
Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

                    Hazard And Johnston
                  
                  (Norman Frederick Hazard and Walter Herbert Johnston) Authorised Surveyors, Paeroa; Branch office, Waihi. This firm acquired the practice of Mr. G. Purchas, in June, 1895. Besides doing private work, the members are surveyors for the Waihi, the Waihi Grand Junction, and Waihi Union mines, at Waihi.

              

              

                
                


                  

Tetley, William,
                  Architect and Farmer, “Chellow Grange,” Paeroa. Mr. Tetley was born in 1887 at Chellow Grange, Heaton, Yorkshire, England. He was brought up on a farm but also studied architecture, which he has since followed as a profession. Mr. Tetley arrived in Sydney in 1879, and came to Auckland in the following year. After being engaged in mining at the Thames for a short time, he settled in 1880 in the Ohinemuri district, where he has since practised his profession as an architect, as well as carrying on business as a farmer. During his residence in Paeroa Mr. Tetley has designed and supervised the erection of several buildings, including the residences of Mr. J. W. Nichols and Dr. Smith, the County Council chambers, Mr. Millar's office, and the Wesleyan churches of Karangahake and Waihi. For about four years Mr. Tetley was engineer to the Ohinemuri County Council. He served for one year on the local school committee. Mr. Tetley was married, in 1872, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Gill, of Heaton, and has three sons and two daughters. One of Mr. Tetley's sons went as a member of one of the New Zealand Contingents to South Africa.
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Scott, Thomas Sydney,
                  Photographer, Normanby Road, Paeroa. Mr. Scott was born in London, in February, 1866. He is the second son of the late Captain J. Scott of the barque “Hampton Court,” and went to sea as an apprentice in the “John Duthie,” an Aberdeen clipper. During his first year he left the ship at Sydney, and came to Dunedin, and became manager of the Wertheim Sewing Machine Company's branch at Invercargill, where he remained for eight years. Mr. Scott afterwards commenced business on his own account in Dunedin as an importer of machinery. Four years later he commenced as an amateur photographer, and finding the work congenial, persevered and became efficient in the art. In 1897, he began business at the Thames, and fifteen months later removed to Waihi, where he was unfortunately burnt out in November, 1899. His business in Paeroa was established in 1900. Mr. Scott served as a volunteer for about four years. He has long been interested in temperance work, and was a member of the Prohibition League in Otago for about fifteen years. Mr. Scott was one of the delegates who, with Mr. J. W. Jago, visited Wellington in February, 1893, and interviewed the Premier regarding temperance legislation. As a Freemason Mr. Scott is attached to the Southern Star Lodge, 753, E.C., Nelson.

              

              

                
                


                  

Bromwich, Edward,
                  Baker and Confectioner, Belmont Road, Paeroa. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Bromwich was born in New South Wales in 1874, and was brought by his parents to New Zealand, when he was two years of age. He was educated and apprenticed to his business in Panmure. In 1894 he removed to Paeroa, where he worked for Mr. Robson, as a journeyman, and afterwards for Mr. Price. In January, 1900, he purchased the bread trade of his employers. He uses two horses in connection with his business and does a good local trade. Mr. Bromwich is a member of the Star of Paeroa Lodge, U.A.O.D. He was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. O. Lorrensen, of Paeroa, and has two daughters and one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Goldfields Brewery
                  
                  (Walter Horatio Phillips, Joseph Brenan and Henry Moore), Paeroa. This brewery was established in 1897 by Mr. Henry Wagstaff, who conducted the business till November, 1899, when it was acquired by the present proprietors. The buildings, which stand on half an acre of land, are of wood, and comprise the brewery and a five-roomed house. A five-horse power engine and boiler provide the power for working the plant, and there is an additional boiler for brewing purposes. This brewery is the only one on the Ohinemuri goldfields. Prizes have been taken with the beer, which is supplied in bulk and bottles throughout the district.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry Moore,
                  the Managing Partner of the Goldfields Brewery Company, was born in Northampton, England, in 1859. He was brought to Auckland by his parents in 1862, and gained a general experience of colonial life in Auckland and at the Thames. After a short time at Messrs Hancock and Co.'s brewery, Auckland, Mr. Moore settled in Paeroa and joined his partners in taking over the Goldfields Brewery. As a volunteer, he was a member of the Hauraki Rifles at the Thames for about six years. He is a Druid and a member of the Star of Paeroa Lodge. Mr. Moore was married, in 1888, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Mills, of Auckland, and has two sons and three daughters.
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Brennan, Joseph,
                  Coachbuilder and General Blacksmith, Coach and Carriage Works, Normanby Road, Paeroa. This business was established in 1890 by Mr. Brennan, who was born in Dublin, Ireland, in 1861, and came to New Zealand with his parents in 1865. He worked for seven years for Messrs Gee and Potter, Auckland, and was afterwards employed for ten years by Messrs Cousins and Atkin.

              

              

                
                


                  

Ellis, William Jackson,
                  Coach and Carriage Builder, General Blacksmith and Horseshoer, Ohinemuri Carriage Factory, Belmont Road, Paeroa; Branch at Karangahake. Established in 1885. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. The Paeroa business is conducted in large premises erected on freehold and leasehold land. A smithy and showroom front the street, and the wheelwright and coachbuilding establishments and office are behind. Mr. Ellis acts as agent in Ohinemuri for the Red Bird Cycles, and for Messrs Reid and Gray's farm implements. He was born at Brigg, Lincolnshire, England, in 1857, and came with his parents to Auckland, by the ship “Matoaka,” in 1859. Mr. Ellis served an apprenticeship as horseshoer and general blacksmith at the Thames, partly with the Moanataiari Company, and partly with Mr. John West. In November, 1881, he commenced business on his own account in Waiorongomai, and conducted a successful trade till shortly before starting in Paeroa. The Karangahake branch was opened on the 1st of June, 1899. Mr. Ellis served for three years as a member of the Ohinemuri licensing bench, and was for several years a member of the Paeroa school committee. As a Rechabite, he is a member of Tent Star of Hauraki, Thames, and as a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Ohinemuri, 107. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. J. Ritchie, of Paeroa, and has three sons.
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Menzies and Co.,
                  Cordial Manufacturers, Francis Street, Paeroa. Branches, Te Aroha, Waihi and Hamilton. Head office, Thames. The Paeroa branch of this firm's business was established in 1895, and is conducted in a wooden building, opposite the



railway station. The plant consists of a five horse-power marine engine, and a boiler and a full supply of aerated water and bottling machinery. The firm supplies the districts of Karangahake, Hikutaia, etc. Mr. E. C. Morgan is the manager at Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Paeroa Creamery
                  
                  is the property of the New Zealand Dairy Association, and was established in October, 1899. It is situated on the Thames Road, and is a wooden building of the usual type. The plant consists of an eight horse-power Tangye engine and an Alexandra separator, with a capacity of 300 gallons per hour. The building has a concrete floor, and is equipped with every necessary appliance. In the season of 1900 there were ten suppliers, and the milk from about 250 cows was treated daily.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry Hector Hutt,
                  Manager of the Paeroa Creamery, was born in Oxfordshire, England, in 1869. His family arrived in Auckland in 1875 by the ship “Assay,” and settled at Ngaruawahia, Waikato, where he was educated and brought up to country pursuits. Mr. Hutt joined the Central Factory at Ngaruawahia, and was appointed manager of the Paeroa creamery in October, 1899. He was married, in 1892, to a daughter of Mr. Wyatt, of Hamilton, and has one son and four daughters.
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                    Edwards And Towers
                  
                  (John Edwards and William John Towers), Painters and Decorators, Paeroa; Branches at Waihi and Te Aroha. This business was established by Mr. Edwards in 1889, and Mr. Towers joined the firm in 1897. The Waihi branch was established in 1894, and that at Te Aroha three years later. Mr. Edwards, the senior partner, recently visited England for the benefit of his health.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. William John Towers
                  
                  was born at the Thames in 1867, and was apprenticed to Mr. H. D. Driver, with whom he worked as a journeyman for about two years, after completing his term. On moving to Paeroa he was employed by Mr. Edwards, and after being with him for about five years, he was admitted to the firm. Mr. Towers is a Freemason, and is attached to Lodge Ohinemuri, 107. He was married on the 8th of June, 1898, to a daughter of Mr. J. L. Stevens, of Waihi, and has one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Cullen and Co.,
                  
                  (W. Cullen, managing partner), Drapers, Normanby Street, Paeroa. This business was established in 1895 in Queen Street, Auckland, and was transferred to Ohinemuri in 1897, with its headquarters at Paeroa; branches were subsequently established at Karangahake and Waihi.

              

              

                
                


                  

Crowle, John,
                  Tailor, Belmont Road, Paeroa. This business was established in May, 1897, and is carried on in a one-storied wooden building, which contains the shop and dwellinghouse. Mr. Crowle was born in 1869, at St. Austell, Cornwall, England, and served his apprenticeship as a tailor. He settled in New South Wales, in 1892, and was for a time in business in Somerhill, Sydney. In February, 1894, he came to Auckland, and after working at his trade for two years, he visited California, Colorado, Illinois. Chicago, New York, Liverpool, and Cornwall, and then returned to Auckland. Mr. Crowle is a Druid, and is attached to the Paeroa Lodge. He was married, in 1897, to a daughter of Mr. C. Morton, of Thames, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Nelson, Samuel,
                  Tailor, Normanby Street, Paeroa. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Nelson was born in London in 1862, and came with his parents in 1864 to Auckland, where he learned his trade with his father, the late Mr. S. Nelson. He worked in Auckland till 1895, when he removed into his present large double-fronted shop, which is centrally situated in the township. Mr. Nelson is a member of Lodge Ohinemuri, 107, N.Z.C., and of the Loyal Jubilee Lodge, I.O.O.F., M.U. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. H. Williams, of Portsmouth, and has three sons and two daughters.
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                    The Commercial Hotel
                  
                  (William Shaw, proprietor), corner of Normanby and Arney Streets, Paeroa. This is a two-storey wooden building, and contains fifty-four rooms, of which thirty-two are bedrooms; and there are three sitting rooms, two commercial rooms, and two dining rooms, capable of seating sixty guests. There is a large sample room in connection with the hotel, and a thirty-stall stable, which is used as a terminus in connection with Messrs Thompson and Co.'s Waihi line of coaches.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Shaw,
                  Proprietor, was born in Dublin on Christmas Day, 1855, and came to Auckland by the barque “Ismay,” at the age of fourteen. With the exception of four years spent at the Thames, Mr. Shaw has since been a resident of the Ohinemuri district. He has had a good experience in mining, and holds a mine manager's certificate. Till 1895 he was engaged in mining, but he then settled at Pacroa and became proprietor of the “Commercial.” Mr. Shaw is an old volunteer, is president of the Paeroa Football Club, and has been a member of the Ohinemuri Jockey Club since its establishment. He was married, in 1877, to a daughter of Mr. J. Ritchie, well known in the early days in connection with educational establishments at the Thames, and has nine sons.
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                    Criterion Hotel
                  
                  (Edwin Bastings, proprietor), Paeroa. This first-class hotel is situated in Normanby Road, and is a fine two-storey building containing on the ground floor a commercial room, twenty-five by twenty-nine feet, a dining room, twenty-nine by



thirty feet, a bar, three parlours, and seven bedrooms. A splendid staircase leads to the first floor, on which there are twenty-four bedrooms, drawing-room, smoking-room, three sitting-rooms, bath-room, lavatories, etc. The present building is practically new, as it was opened only in February, 1897, and it will be found to contain every feature of the modern hotel. The private drawing and sitting-rooms, combined with a first-class cuisine, make it an ideal family hotel, while for commercial purposes the sample-rooms are the most commodious in Paeroa. A large and newly-furnished billiard-room is connected with the hotel.
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Mr. Edwin Bastings,
                  the Proprietor, is a son of Mr. Horace Bastings, who was a member of the House of Representatives for Tuapeka, Otago. Mr. Bastings was born in Melbourne and came with his parents to Otago when two years old. He was educated at the Dunedin High School, and was afterwards associated with his father in the business of Messrs Bastings, Leary and Co., auctioneers, of Dunedin. He afterwards went to Australia, where his father was engaged in constructing the cable tramway at the North Shore, Sydney. Mr. Horace Bastings also had the contract for the construction of the Bacchus Marsh-Ballan railway, the last link in the line which now connects Ballarat with Melbourne. Mr. E. Bastings was actively engaged under his father in the carrying out of both these contracts. He is a member of the Ohinemuri Lodge of Masons, and is also one of the committee of the Ohinemuri Jockey Club. Mr. Bastings is married and has two children.
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                    Ohinemuri Hotel
                  
                  (Maurice Goggan Power, proprietor), corner of Normanby and Arney Streets, Paeroa. This house was established in 1876, at the opening of the goldfield, on a site in Cassrels Street, overlooking the river, and the present building was erected in 1896.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Paeroa Hotel
                  
                  (Matthew Delaney, proprietor), corner of Normanby and William Streets, Paeroa. This hotel was established in 1897, when the license was transferred from Rotorua. The building is of two stories, with a verandah and balcony, and contains fifty-two rooms, thirty-three of which are bedrooms. There are three sitting rooms upstairs, and a large dining room, a commercial room, and three sitting rooms on the ground floor. The dining room has seating accommodation for seventy guests.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Royal Mail Hotel
                  
                  (Samuel John Atkins, proprietor), corner of Normanby and Wharf Streets, Paeroa. This prominent hostelry was established in 1895, and has been conducted by the present proprietor since 1899. The building is of wood, is two stories in height, has a balcony on two sides, and contains



fifty rooms, of which forty are bedrooms. There are two private sitting rooms on the first floor and five on the ground floor. The dining room is a handsome apartment measuring 40 by 70 feet. There is a fine billiard room with an excellent table by Messrs Wright, Ránish and Co., of Wellington. The “Royal Mall” is the largest hotel in Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Samuel John Atkins,
                  Proprietor of the Royal Mail Hotel, was born in London in 1869, and had an experience of four years in several large London hotels; but he subsequently went to sea, and served in the White Star, Peninsular and Oriental lines. On coming to New Zealand he joined the Union Steamship Company, with which he remained for six years, and was several times chief steward. In 1897 he settled in Auckland, where he was appointed steward of the Working Men's Club. He held the position for three years when he acquired the Royal Mail Hotel, Paeroa. Mr. Atkins is a Druid, and is attached to the Star of Paeroa Lodge. He was married in July, 1899, to a daughter of Mr. R. Leader, of the Star of Freedom Hotel, Sydney.
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                    Smith, J. Hague and Co.,
                  
                  (H. T. Torrens, manager), Hardware Merchants and Importers, Normanby Street, Paeroa. Head office, Thames. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. The business of the Paeroa branch of this well known firm is carried on in a centrally situated building with a large verandah and a double-fronted shop. In addition to a large stock of all classes of hardware and general mining requisites, the firm keeps a stock of the explosives used in mining.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Hugh Thomas Torrens,
                  Manager of Messrs Smith and Co.'s Paeroa Branch, was born in Londonderry, Ireland. He was apprenticed to the ironmongery trade, and had seven years' experience at Ballymena, in County Antrim. In 1875 Mr. Torrens arrived in Dunedin by the ship “Aldergrove,” and soon afterwards settled at Coromandel, where he was for three years in business as an ironmonger and general storekeeper. For two years subsequently he was manager of a store at Tararu, Thames, and became accountant for Messrs Mennie and Dey. Four years later he became manager of Mr. McCaul's plumbing business at the Thames. He entered the service of Messrs Smith and Co., in 1890, and was appointed to his present position in 1898. Mr. Torrens is an Oddfellow, and is attached to Lodge Charles Bruce, Thames. He was married, in 1879, to a daughter of Mr. Thomas Taylor, of Waihi, and has four sons and six daughters.
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Jones, Edward,
                  Saddler and Harnessmaker, Normanby Road, Paeroa; branches at Hamilton and Morrinsville. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Jones was born in Hamilton, Waikato, in 1869, and was educated in his native place. He served his apprenticeship with Mr. J. Wiseman, in Auckland, and purchased the old established saddlery business of the late Mr. Robert Peat, in 1889. Two years later he established a branch at Morrinsville, and extended his connection to the Ohinemuri Goldfields district in 1896, when he made Paeroa the distributing centre. Mr. Jones still carries on business at Hamilton and Morrinsville and has resident managers at each of the branches. He does a large manufacturing and importing business. His principle is to sell for small profits and thereby secure a large turnover, which he is now in a position to carry out through the medium of his different branches. Mr. Jones also makes the patent Acme covers for horses and cattle, now so well known all over New Zealand.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Searle Brothers
                  
                  (Henry Oakford Searle and William James Searle), Boot and Shoe Makers, and Importers. Normanby Street, Paeroa; branch at Karangahake. This business was established in Paeroa in 1896, and the Karangahake branch was opened a year later.

              

              

                
                


                  

Walls, James,
                  Butcher and Cattle Dealer, Arney Street, Paeroa. Mr. Walls was born in Scarborough, England, in 1858, and learned his trade in Hull, where he was afterwards in business as a cattle dealer and commission agent. In 1891, Mr. Walls arrived in Melbourne, and two years later he came to Auckland, where he was in business in Eden Terrace for nine months. After working at his trade in Paeroa, Mr. Walls established his present business in 1898. He was married, in 1899, to a daughter of Mr. William Bullian, farmer, of Mangapai.

              

              

                
                

                  

Price, Alfred Edwin,
                 
 General Merchant and Importer, Paeroa; branch at Karangahake. Mr. Price was born in Herefordshire. England, in 1859, and is the son of Mr.
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James Price, of Leominster. He came to New Zealand in 1881, and first started in business in the Waikato. In 1894 he purchased his present old established business from Mr J. M. Robson, and since then he has, by perseverance and judgment, increased the trade five-fold. His business relations now extend all through the Ohinemuri district. Mr. Price became a Freemason in 1896, when he joined Lodge Te Aroha, 52, but he is now affiliated to Lodge Ohinemuri, 107.
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Nathan, Joseph,
                  Stationer and Fancy Goods Dealer, Normanby Street, Paeroa. Established in 1895. Mr. Nathan was born in Manchester, England, and arrived in New Zealand in 1883. While residing at Inglewood, Taranaki, Mr. Nathan was, in 1893, placed on the Commission of the Peace. He has served in the Ohinemuri Rifles, and was elected a member of the local school committee in 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

Evans, David James,
                  General Storekeeper, Belmont Road, Paeroa. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Evans was born in Montgomeryshire, Wales, England, in 1861, and was brought up to the drapery business at Newton, Wales. In 1881 he arrived in Auckland, and was for six years a member of the firm of Evans and Jamieson, storekeepers, Epsom. He was subsequently engaged for about eight years in the carrying business in Auckland, and settled at Paeroa, in 1895, when he commenced his present business. Mr. Evans was one of the first members of the Star of Paeroa Lodge, U.A.O.D. He was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr. B. A. Bishop, of Kingsland, and has two sons and three daughters.
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Keller, Peter,
                  General Storekeeper, Normanby Road, Paeroa. Mr. Keller was born in Germany in 1837, and came out to Victoria in 1859. In 1862 he arrived in Otago, and after a trip to the Old Country, settled at Ross, on the West Coast, where he resided till 1890. While at Ross, he served several terms as a member of the Borough Council, and was twice Mayor of the borough. He was also a member of the local school committee, and at one time of the licensing bench. In 1896 he removed to Paeroa, and established his present business.

              

              

                
                


                  

McWatters, William John,
                  General Storekeeper and Baker, Normanby Road, Paeroa; branches at Karangahake, Waihi and Waitekauri. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. The business conducted by Mr. McWatters was established at Paeroa in 1893, and extended to Waihi in September, 1895, and to Karangahake and Waitekauri in 1898. The principal establishment in Paeroa consists of two stories, one of which is devoted to the grocery branch of the business and the other to general stores, including groceries and boots. Mr. McWatters does a considerable trade. For the first six years he did a credit business, but as this did not answer, he decided to close his books and do only a cash trade, which has proved very satisfactory. Mr. McWatters was born in 1866 at Wade, twenty-four miles to the north of Auckland, and was educated at the Thames, where his parents had settled in the early days. He learned is trade under Mr. J. Forgie, with whom he was for two years, and he was afterwards with Mr. W. Scott for four years. Mr. McWatters worked in Paeroa with Messrs Philips and Son for three years before entering business on his own account. He was married, in 1890, to a daughter of Mr. W. McKenna, of Owharoa, and has one son and three daughters.
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Phillips, Walter,
                  Storekeeper, Paeroa. Mr. Phillips was born at Maryborough in Victoria, in 1871, and came to New Zealand with his parents. In 1878 his father was appointed headmaster of the Kumeroa state school. Later on he was transferred to the Thames, to fill a similar position, and young Philips finished his education at the Thames High School. Mr. Phillips served his time in the hardware trade with Messrs Hague, Smith and Co., of the Thames, and with the exception of four years, during which he was accountant at the Waihi Company's mines, he was with the firm from his youth, till recently when he entered business on his own account. Mr. Phillips became a Freemason in 1896 in Lodge Ohinemuri, No. 107.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Wright, Walter Henry
                  
                  (A. St. G. Forbes, manager), General Storekeper and Produce Merchant, Normanby Road, Paeroa; Branch, Te Aroha. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by the proprietor in 1897. It is centrally situated in the main road, and there are two shops, one devoted to groceries, and the other to the produce department. Mr. Wright has an extensive business throughout the Ohinemuri goldfields.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mr. Arthur St. George Forbes,
                  Manager of Mr. W. H. Wright's store in Paeroa, was born in France in 1840, and educated at Barnstable and in France. He came to the colonies in 1856, and learned farming in Adelaide, South Australia, whence he came to Otago in 1861. After an experience on the goldfields he entered the military service at the end of 1862, and was present at the Gate Pa fight at Tauranga, and afterwards at Cambridge, Waikato. At the close of the Maori disturbances, Mr. Forbes was travelling in the grocery trade for four years, and established himself in business in Auckland, and afterwards at Pukekohe where he conducted a general store and an auctioneering business for about eight years. For over five years subsequently Mr. Forbes was travelling for Mr. John Buchanan, wholesale merchant, and was subsequently with Mr. Wells at Cambridge for eight years. He was appointed manager of Mr. Wright's business in January, 1899. Mr. Forbes was married, in



1869, to a daughter of the late Mr. Ryan, Templemore, Tipperary, Ireland. Mrs Porbes died in 1895, leaving two daughters. In 1896, Mr. Forbes married the widow of the late Mr. Richard Sim, of Cambridge, and has one daughter by his second marriage.
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The Ohinemuri Light And Power Company,
                  Ltd., Messrs H. Hirt (chairman), H. Atkinson, R. Wilson, J. Winstone, W. Bailey and J. Coleman (directors); Mr. M. H. Hamilton (manager). The head office of this Company is at Insurance Buildings, Queen Street, Auckland. The Company was originally known as the Paeroa Gas Syndicate Company, which was formed in 1897, but in 1898 it was incorporated under its present title. The property consists of six acres and a half of freehold land on the Puke Road, and the plant is built on the very latest principles. There are two benches of retorts built on the slow combustion principle, capable of producing six times as much gas as will be required to supply the district for a considerable period. The plant comprises a large gasholder, the latest automatic and purifying machines, and gas governors to regulate the pressure in the town. There is a six roomed residence for the manager at the works.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Matthew Henry Hamilton,
                  J. P., Manager of the Ohinemuri Light and Power Company, Ltd., was born in 1859, in Belfast, Ireland, and brought up as a blacksmith. He came to Auckland by the ship “Rangitikei,” in 1882. Soon after his arrival he joined the staff of the Auckland Gas Company, with which he remained till he was appointed to his present position in 1899. During the period of his employment in Auckland, Mr. Hamilton held various positions in almost every branch of the works, and at the time of leaving was one of the foremen. Mr. Hamilton takes a general interest in local matters, and acts as a local preacher in connection with the Wesleyan church. He was married, in 1879, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Park, of Crumulin, near Belfast, and has eight daughters.
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                    Gordon Brothers
                  
                  (John and James Gordon), Coach Proprietors, Paeroa Stables, Belmont Road, Paeroa; headquarters at Waitekauri. This coach line was established by the late Mr. T. Gordon, father of the present proprietors, in 1893. Two coaches run daily from each end of the Waitekauri-Paeroa section.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Mclennan And Hope
                  
                  (J. S. Hope, proprietor; W. Innes, manager), General Carriers and Contractors, Paeroa and Waitekauri; Head office, Belmont Road, Paeroa. The stables and offices of this firm are situated not far from the railway station, at Paeroa. There is accommodation for from thirty-five to forty horses in the Paeroa stables. The proprietor, Mr. Hope, who is referred to in another article, resides at Waitekauri.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Innes,
                  Manager at Paeroa for Messrs McLennan and Hope, was born in 1873, at Mercer. He was educated chiefly at Morrinsville, and was engaged in farming at his native place for the greater portion of eighteen years. In 1895, he entered the service of Messrs McLennan and Hope at Paeroa, and was promoted two years later to his present position. Mr. Innes is a member of the local Lodge of Oddfellows. He was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. J. Bew, of Te Aroha, and has two daughters.
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Ohinemuri Coaching Company,
                  Ltd., (G. Crosby, managing director), Head Office, Belmont Road, Paeroa; Stables, Normanby Road, Paeroa, and at Karangahake, 
[
unclear: Waihi], Katikati and Tauranga. This Company was incorporated on the 7th of August, 1899, having purchased the coaching lines formerly run between Paeroa and Tauranga by Messrs G. Crosby, G. Johnstone, W. L. Hunter, and Short and Company. About 120 horses, ten coaches and twenty-eight hands, including drivers and stablemen, are employed in connection with the line. A regular service is maintained between Paeroa and Karangahake, Waihi and Tauranga. Six coaches run daily each way between Paeroa and Karrangahake, three between Paeroa and Waihi, while between Waihi and Tauranga a coach runs one way each alternate day, and returns on the following day. There is a special service between Paeroa and Karangahake on Sundays. In addition to the coaching business, the Company maintains a large plant of buggies



and other vehicles for hire. The Company has two stables at Paeroa, one of forty and the other of fifty stalls. There is one stable at Karangahake, two at Waihi, one at Katikati and one at Tauranga. The stables connected with the head office in Paeroa are most complete in every respect.
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Interior of the Ohinemuri Coaching Co.'s Stables.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Crosby,
                  Managing Director of the Ohinemuri Coaching Company, was born in 1855 in County Meath, Ireland. He arrived in Auckland, in 1873 by the ship “Waitangi,” and was engaged in station life at Cambridge for three months, and at Whakatane for two years. On removing to Tauranga he commenced business with a dray in the carrying line between that town and Rotorua, and subsequently added bullock-waggons, which he drove through to Taupo; and he remained in the business for about six years. He and Mr. Crimmons purchased Mr. Fenton's waggons, which were worked between Tauranga and Rotorua for a year. The firm then dissolved partnership, and Mr. Crosby purchased Robertson and Gallagher's plant, running between Paeroa and Tauranga, and worked the line for about seven years. He then entered a hotel at Rotorua, and continued to run the mail coaches to Tauranga and afterwards to Okoroire as well for two years. Having sold his business, he settled at Paeroa in 1894, and purchased Messrs Bradley and Co.'s line and other lines of coaches. Mr. Crosby afterwards built the Royal Mail Hotel, of which he was landlord for some time and still is the owner. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Dawber, of Ballarat, and has three sons and three daughters.

                

                  

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. G. Crosbie.]

Hanna, photo.


Mr. 
G. Crosbie.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Phillips,
                  Accountant, was born in Devonshire, England, in 1857, arrived in Auckland with his parents by the ship “Queen of Beauty,” and was educated at Wahangauri and at the Thames. Mr. Phillips settled at Paeroa with his father in August, 1877, and was a member of the firm of John Phillips and Son, who conducted a large business as general storekeepers on the Ohinemuri goldfields from that year till the end of 1892. For three years subsequently Mr. Phillips conducted business under the same style. He was then a mining agent and accountant till October, 1899, when he was appointed accountant to the Ohinemuri Coaching Company, Ltd. Mr. Phillips has been prominent in mining in the Ohinemuri district. He represented Waitekauri riding in the Ohinemuri County Council for three years, and held the office of chairman for one year. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Ohinemuri, 107. He was married, in 1884, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. S. Parry, of Dunedin, and has three daughters and two sons.

              

              

                
                

                  

Law, Alexander,
                 
 Watchmaker and Jeweller, Normanby Road, Paeroa. Mr. Law
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was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in May, 1863, and while an infant came to the colony with his parents in the ship “Helenslea.” He learned his trade at the Thames, and established his present business at Paeroa in 1897. Mr. Law is an honorary member of No. 1 Ohinemuri Rifles, and an old member of the Thames Lodge of Good Templars. During his residence at the Thames he studied for two terms at the School of Mines. Mr. Law's premises are leasehold, and consist of two shops and dwellings centrally situated in the main street. Mr. Law was married in March, 1880, to a daughter of Mr. G. Riplery, and has one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

Forrest, William,
                  Timber Merchant, Builder and Ironmonger, Paeroa. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Mill Road. This business was established by the proprietor in 1895. Mr. Forrest holds a large stock of building timber and general ironmongery. He acts as agent for Wilson's hydraulic lime and cement, for the Mountain Rimu Timber Company, and as a general receiving, forwarding, and commission agent. Mr. Forrest has a large trade connection with all parts of the Ohinemuri goldfields, and along the Thames river. He is referred to elsewhere as District Coroner for the Ohinemuri county.

              

              

                
                


                  

McAndrew, James,
                  Timber Merchant, Paeroa. Mr. McAndrew was born at Turriff, Aberdeenshire, in 1839. He was educated at his native place, and learned his business as builder with his father. Mr. McAndrew came to New Zealand, per ship “Annie Wilson,” in 1863, and landed in Auckland, where he stayed for four years. He went to the Thames in 1867, and after following mining pursuits for three years, he commenced business as builder. At this he continued till 1893, when he removed to Paeroa, where he extended his original business by opening a timber-yard, and he now conducts extensive operations as a timber merchant. Mr. McAndrew served two terms of three years on the Thames County Council. While at the Thames he also successfully contested the mayoralty election in 1889, and the following year he was returned unopposed. He was also a member of the school committee at the Thames, and chairman of the Harbour Board. In 1893 he was elected to a seat in the Ohinemuri County Council, but on a protest the election was upset, and on a second poll being taken, Mr. McAndrew was defeated by a narrow majority. In the meantime he had attended a meeting of the Council and taken part in the election of Mr. Barry as chairman. Mr. McAndrew contested the election again in 1896, and was returned by an overwhelming majority; he polled within three or four of half of the total votes recorded, and the other half was divided between his opponents.
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Farmers.

              

                
                


                  

Cock, Frederick,
                  Farmer, “Willowbank,” Paeroa. Mr. Cock was born at Putney, England, in 1833, and served an apprenticeship to the trade of builder and joiner. He came to New Zealand in 1884, by the ship “Ernestina,” landed in Auckland shortly after the Maori war, and went into business at the North Shore in the Masonic Hotel, which was built for him. In 1867, Mr. Cock went to the Thames, but left there in the following year for Paeroa, where he bought a farm from the natives and planted a large orchard, and at the same time followed his trade as builder. He induced the Thames and Hauraki Company—now the Northern Steamship Company—to extend its service to Paeroa, where he has been its agent for many years. Mr. Cock took a leading part in the formation of the Ohinemuri County, and was its first chairman. He lives at Paeroa on his farm, which he has named “Willowbank,” and actively interests himself in any local movement. As a member of the Church of England, he has been clergyman's warden for a number of years, and is a Mason, his mother lodge being the “Rose of Denmark, Mortlake, England. Mr. Cock is married and has three sons and five daughters.
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Cooper, George,
                  Farmer, Paeroa. Mr. Cooper was born in Aberdeenshire, Scotland, in 1829, and was brought up to farming. In 1850 he went to Upper Canada, and was engaged in farming on his own land at Bentinck and Proton, but returned to Scotland in 1866. After spending a year in his native land, he came to Lyttelton by the ship “Blue Jacket,” in 1867. Shortly afterwards he removed to Auckland, and was for about thirteen years on the Thames. In 1880 he took up land at Paeroa, and has 285 acres of freehold on the Mill Road.
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                    Hubbard Brothers
                  
                  (John Arthur Charles, Walter, and Percy Richard Hubbard), Farmers, Komata South and Thames Road. Paeroa. The members of this firm are sons of the late Mr. John Charles Hubbard, who was born in London, in 1843. Mr. Hubbard came to Lyttelton, New Zealand, about 1856 or 1857, with his father, and settled at Cashmere, where he resided for a number of years. Subsequently he removed to Lake Ellesmere, where he remained about seven years, and was afterwards for two years in the Ashburton district. On removing to Auckland, he settled, first, at Mount Roskill, and afterwards at Mangere. Mr. Hubbard was well known in Canterbury and Auckland as a practical farmer. He was married, in 1870, to a daughter of Mr. John Jebson, of Malvern, Canterbury, and at the time of his death, in 1897, he left five sons and two daughters. The farm which is now managed by his sons consists of 660 acres of freehold land.

              

              

                


                
                


                  

                    
Mr. A. C. Hubbard
                  
                  is Lieutenant of the Ohinemuri Rifles, and Messrs Walter Hubbard and P. R. Hubbard went to South Africa with the New Zealand Contingents in 1900.
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The Late Mr. J. C. Hubbard.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

Marsh, William,
                  Farmer, “Otara,” Paeroa. Mr. Marsh was born at Cheswardine, Shropshire, England, in 1837, and was brought up to a country life. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Ida Ziegler,” on the 4th of October, 1863. Four years later he removed to the Thames, where he remained for eight years. In 1875, he settled in Paeroa, where he became a carting contractor, and had the contract for the carting of the materials for the first battery at Karangahake. Soon afterwards he acquired a portion of his property known as “Otara,” which is over sixty acres in extent, and he has also forty acres at Mackaytown. Mr. Marsh was for about five years a member of the Paeroa school committee. During his residence at the Thames he became one of the early members of the Protestant Alliance Benefit Society. Mr. Marsh was married, in 1867, to a daughter of the late Mr. Byron, of Nottingham, England. This lady died in June, 1893, and in December, 1898, Mr. Marsh contracted a second marriage with a daughter of the late Mr. J. Newnham, of the Isle of Wight.
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Thorp, John Wullanora,
                  Farmer, “Doneburne,” Puke Road, Paeroa. Mr. Thorp is the son of the late Mr. Joshua Thorp, Government surveyor and architect of Sydney, and was born in 1838, at Wullanora, near Cook's river, New South Wales. He was educated at Wesley College, Auckland, and was brought up to country life. Previous to the Waikato war, Mr. Thorp was offered the position of Resident Magistrate in the Thames district by Dr. Shortland, who was Native Secretary—under Sir George Grey—but he declined the offer for the simple reason that the Native Office was then in such a state that no magistrate could carry out the law. On Mr. Thorp's return from the Otago goldfields in May, 1862, he, accompanied by Te Kepa Raharuhi, the native chief, went prospecting on Kepa's land and found gold at Rotokohu and also near Karangahake. That was the first gold found in that part of the district, and when Mr. James Mackay opened the Ohinemuri and Te Aroha goldfields Mr. Thorp gave him valuable assistance. Mr. Thorp acted as Upper Thames correspondent to the Southern Cross and Herald newspaper just after the Waikato war, when a section of the natives were in a disturbed state. When Mr. Thorp settled at Puke, he bought property from the natives, and lived on it a good many years. He planted a splendid orchard, and subsequently disposed of the property, “Doneburne,” where he now resides, consists of eighty-four acres of freehold, which was purchased in 1880. Mr. Thorp has also fifty-four acres on the opposite side of the road. He has planted eleven acres of his property as an orchard. As a volunteer, Mr. Thorp served under Captain Jackson at Raglan and at Waipa. He was married, in 1884, to the eldest daughter of Mr. R. J. McFarland, surveyor, of Auckland. Mrs Thorp died in 1890, leaving two sons and one daughter. In 1891, Mr. Thorp married a daughter of Mr. Robert Gibbons, of Patea, and has three daughters by his second marriage.
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Dickey, Nathaniel,
                 
 Settler and Contractor, Mount Pleasant, Paeroa. Mr. Dickey is a native of Ireland, and was born in 1850. He came to New Zealand with his parents in 1864, landing at Auckland, and was for some years on his father's farm at Waitakerei. In 1874, Mr. Dickey went to the Thames, and after six years of mining decided to settle at Paeroa. He was one of the first to settle in the town, and was for many years engaged in conveying machinery to the various mines in the district. Mr. Dickey took all the machinery to the “Waitekauri” Mine before the roads were finished, and when it was necessary to employ as many as eight horses to haul a fair load over the rough country. The batteries for the “Waihi” and “Crown” mines were also conveyed by him. Mr. Dickey takes a great interest in racing, and several well known horses have come from his stables, amongst them “Recruit,” “Tetford,” “Libeller,” “Try Fluke,” the stallion “Brookly,” etc. He has on his farm at Otumatia “Brookly,” “Swiftsure,” “Lady Sterling,” “Boadicea,” “Captivity,” “Victor” and several others. Mr.
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Dickey has several horses in training and is well known throughout the colony for his thoroughbred stock. He has always taken a great interest in the welfare of his district; he is the owner of the racecourse at Paeroa, and he gave the Paeroa Volunteers a rifle range, for which they made him an honorary life member. For nine years Mr. Dickey was a member of the Ohinemuri Licensing Bench, before it was merged into the Bay of Plenty district, and he has since held a seat for several years.

              

            

            

              
Old Colonists.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Ascher Cassrels,
                  of Paeroa, is one of the oldest settlers in the district. He was born in 1841, in Wilno, Russia, where he was educated in Hebrew. He is a cabinetmaker by trade, and arrived in England in October, 1861. Mr. Cassrels came to Auckland by the ship “Scimitar,” in March, 1864, and after a short time at his trade, he commenced business as a traveller, and continued as such till 1867. In that year he went to the Thames, and began business as a storekeeper. He first visited Ohinemuri in October, 1868, and after a short sojourn in Napier, he established himself in November, 1869, as a storekeeper in Ohinemuri, where he carried on business till 1896, when he retired. Mr. Cassrels owns property in the Paeroa district, and has taken a very prominent part in the district's history and development.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James McGimpsey Robson,
                  Old Colonist, was born in County Down, Ireland, in 1847, educated at Belfast, and brought up to business as a storekeeper. He was for some time after his arrival in Auckland employed by Mr. John Hall, of Otahuki. Mr. Robson removed to Paeroa in 1874, when he began business as a storekeeper. He was a member of the Ohinemuri County Council for six years. In February, 1895, he disposed of the business and bought a farm of 400 acres on the Thames Road, and worked it till the time of his death. He was married, in 1868, to a daughter of the late Mr. David Kelly, of County Cavan, Ireland, and left five sons and six daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Colonel Charles Cecil Rookes,
                  one of the few surviving old veterans of the Maori war, was born in Exeter, Devonshire, England, on the 10th of October, 1819. He was educated partly at Bath and partly in France, was in the Royal Navy for two years, and entered the Army in 1839, when he joined the Second West India Regiment, in which he served twenty years. Colonel Rookes was with his Regiment on the West Coast of Africa, on the Gold Coast, and in the West Indies. The ability and success with which he conducted the expeditions entrusted to him as an Imperial officer won for him the thanks of Lord Panmure, Minister of War, Lord Hardings, Commander-in-Chief, the Duke of Newcastle, Secretary of State, and of the French and Dutch Governments, whose interests on the Gold Coast were benefited by the British operations conducted by Colonel Rookes. In 1859 Colonel Rookes sold out of the Army, and, coming to New Zealand, settled at Howick, near Auckland. When the Maori rebellion of 1860 broke out, Colonel Rookes was employed by the Government of New Zealand to organise the Department of Defence, and in recognition of the ability with which he did this, he was placed, as the deputy of Governor Sir George Grey, in command of the Wanganui military district, which extended from Patea to Manawatu. From 1860 to 1869 Colonel Rookes served under Sir George Grey, during the native disturbances, and will be remembered as having captured the Wereroa Pa with 200 natives. While residing in Wanganui Colonel Rookes raised, organised and personally drilled seven companies of rifle volunteers and six troops of cavalry volunteers. For three years afterwards he was Staff Adjutant of Militia Volunteers at Christchurch. Colonel Rookes was married, in 1855, to a sister of General Cafe, V.C. Mrs Rookes died in 1890, leaving two sons and one daughter. The sons have since died, and the daughter is married to Dr. Forbes, of Waihi.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. A. J. Thorp
                  
                  was born at Coromandel in 1842, and is a son of Mr. Joshua Thorp, formerly chief of the engineering department of New South Wales, under Governor Sir Charles Darling. Mr. Joshua Thorp came to New Zealand in 1839, and after being in Coromandel he removed his family to Ohinemuri on the Thames river, where he was the first settler. The last cannibal feast that took place in New Zealand was held near Ohinemuri a short time before Mr. Thorp settled there. Mr. Alfred Joshua Thorp served in the Wairoa Rifles during the New Zealand war and received a medal. He represented the Ohinemuri riding in the first council of the county of Thames and Netherton riding in the Ohinemuri county. In 1870 he settled at Oaklands, Paeroa, where he still resides.
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Mr. Charles James Fox
                  
                  was born in London in 1863, and arrived in New Zealand in 1874. Shortly after his arrival in the Colony he joined the service of the Northern Steamship Company in its shipping office at Tauranga, and remained there some years. He received promotion, and was appointed the company's wharf manager in Auckland in 1886. Mr Fox is now stationed at Paeroa.
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Hikutaia.

            

              
              


                

                  
Hikutaia
                
                is principally a farming district, but mining operations are carried on in the ranges. The flag station bearing its name is on the Thames-Auckland railway, fourteen miles from Thames and 134 miles south-east from Auckland. There is a hotel and schoolhouse in the district, which has a local postmistress. A good deal of gum is brought to market from Hikutaia, which is in the county of Thames.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Hikutaia Public School
                
                was erected in 1880. It has accommodation for about eighty pupils, there are seventy-five names on the roll, and the average attendance is sixty-one. The school is used for services on Sundays. Mr. E. J. Walters, who holds a D2 certificate, is the headmaster, and was appointed to the position in 1897.
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Kopu.

            

              
              


                

                  
Kopu
                
                is a farming and sawmilling district on the Thames-Auckland railway. All trains stop at Kopu, which is five miles from Thames on the banks of the Thames river, and steamers call regularly at the local wharf. A large quantity of timber is exported from Kopu, and some of the residents find employment in fishing.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Kopu Hotel
                
                (Joseph Cornwell Williams, proprietor), Kopu. This hostelry is conveniently situated in the small town of Kopu, on the Thames River, communication being by daily lines of mail coaches and steamers. Accommodation is provided at all hours, and visitors may rest assured of the most assiduous attention to their requirements. The Post and Telegraph Offices are situated at the hotel, the proprietor being the officer in charge.
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Mr. J. C. Williams,
                the Proprietor, was born at Tenby, Pembrokeshire, South Wales, England, in 1847, and came out in the ship “Queen of the Mersey” to New Zealand in 1863, landing at Auckland. He passed through many hardships, and, like all the pioneers, had to turn his hand to various kinds of employment. Amongst other things, he, together with his brothers, carried out a Government contract soon after landing. After about two years Mr. Williams went to the West Coast Goldfields, where he followed alluvial mining for a few years. He then returned to the north and spent some time at prospecting in the Waikato, and was also engaged as an assistant in bridge building in that district. Mr. Williams went to the Thames in July, 1867, and ever since that date has been intimately associated with mining and mining enterprises. In 1870 he took the Provincial Hotel at the Thames, and conducted it successfully for twenty-four years. About 1880 he purchased land at Kopu, a few miles from the Thames, on which he erected an hotel building. Experiencing great difficulties in getting a license through the objections of the Maoris (it being at that time a native licensing district), Mr. Williams did not finally settle at Kopu until about 1892, but since that time has made himself widely and popularly known to travellers and residents throughout the fields and surrounding country. Mr. Williams was one of the organizers of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade, was a member for nearly twenty years, and was at two different periods captain of that body. He was also connected, in 1868, with the Thames Volunteer Engineers, and was appointed one of the Guards of Honour in connection with the reception of the Duke of Edinburgh, on the latter's visit to Auckland. Mr. Williams was married at the Thames on the 31st of December, 1869, to Miss Phyllis E. Nicoll, who, however, died on the 29th of May, 1896, leaving ten children. Mr. Williams was a director of the Young American Gold Mining Company until its amalgamation with the Caledonia. He was chiefly instrumental in discovering the junction of the two reefs, which yielded about ten tons of gold in ten months, and enabled the company for a whole year to declare fortnightly dividends of from £10 to £25. All this came from the Young American portion of the property. The company collapsed about twenty-seven years later, and during all that time Mr. Williams paid calls.
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Parawai.

            

              
              


                

                  
Parawai
                
                is a suburb of the Thames, three miles distant. Its flag station, on the Thames-Auckland railway, is 143 miles south-east from Auckland.
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The Parawai Public School,
                which stands on a section of half an acre in Banks Street, is a wooden building with two classrooms, two vestibules, and the headmaster's room. The school is one of the oldest on the Thames, and has accommodation for 200 children. There are 157 on the roll, and the average attendance is 127. The teacher in charge is assisted by one certificated and two pupil teachers.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. William John May,
                Headmaster of the Parawai Public School, holds a D2 certificate. He was born in Waiuku, in 1865, and was educated on the Thames, where he had arrived with his parents in 1871. He was one of the first to attend the Kauaeranga Boys School, originally held in the old volunteer hall. Mr. May served his pupil teachership at the Thames, and went to the Auckland Training College in 1884. After two years' study. Mr. May was appointed to the charge of Hikutaia school, where he remained for three years. After being eighteen months at Puriri he was appointed to the Parawai school in 1891. Mr. May has taken an interest in breeding and rearing poultry since 1895, and especially Orpingtons, with which he has been successful in winning a number of prizes, including two Orpington cups, one at Auckland and one at the Thames, two separate cups for two successive years. Mr. May was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. F. Ashman, of the Thames. Mrs May died in 1897, leaving one son and two daughters.
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Thames.

            

              
There was a time when no place in New Zealand was more talked of throughout the colony and beyond it, than the Thames. The cause of this was the extraordinary richness of the goldfield which was opened in 1867 and almost at once acquired a world-wide celebrity. The first claim which became famous was the Shotover, owned by Messrs Hunt and Party. Some of the picked quartz from this mine yielded half its weight in gold, which was eventually counted by tons. Within three years eleven thousand miners' rights had been taken out for the field. The Golden Crown mine, the Long Drive, the Moanataiari, the Manukau and the Alburnia mines all yielded splendid returns, and the Golden Crown paid £200,000 in dividends in one year. It was, however, the Caledonia mine which scored the most brilliant success, for in twelve months it yielded fully ten tons of gold, and paid within the same period dividends amounting to £600,000. All this wealth led to exceptional developments in connection with the mines. Quartz crushing machinery of the most perfect description was procured and erected, and a Drainage and Pumping Association was formed to drain the deeper levels of the field, and to enable quartz to be taken from them. The Big Pump used in this connection has an Australasian reputation. Mining as an industry in the place has, however, fluctuated from time to time, and population has varied accordingly. At one time there must have been fully 20,000 people on the field, most of them within the borough. In 1880 the population of
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the borough was about 5000, and in subsequent years it fell still lower. At the census of March, 1901, it was 4004.

              
The large amount of machinery used at the mines, not only at the Thames itself, but throughout the Peninsula, has led to the establishment of some large and well-equipped iron foundries in the town, which is also extensively connected with the timber industry. Thames has furniture, biscuit, cordial and pickle factories, and Auckland is extensively supplied with fish by Thames fishermen. There are the usual churches, schools, hotels, places of business, Friendly Societies, a School of Mines and public library. The climate is delicious; fruit, ordinary and sub-tropical, thrives and abounds in the gardens of the miners and throughout the district; and the scenery consists in harmonious proportions of hill and flat, forest and sea, and far-stretching mountains. Steamers ply daily between Auckland and the Thames, which, now that the railway has been completed, has also daily direct communication with Auckland via the Waikato and the intervening districts.

              
A word may be added here concerning the original discovery of gold at the Thames. Early in the year 1867, through the influence of some Auckland people, Messrs Walter Williamson, Joe Smallman and William Middleton were permitted to prospect in the Karaka Creek, but they met with no success, because they were expecting to find alluvial deposits which did not exist. At the same time Mr. Alexander Hogg, who had a small store at Shortland, had some Maoris sluicing for him in the same creek for alluvial gold. The result of six weeks' working proved nonpayable, as only three pennyweights of gold were obtained. The first substantial return of gold from the Thames was obtained by Mr. Samuel Alexander in August, 1867, from six hundredweight of stone sent up to Auckland for treatment by him on behalf of himself and the other owners of the Shotover claim. Forty-five pounds of quartz were crushed by the late Mr. Beck, and yielded a return of ten ounces twelve pennyweights of gold. The remainder of the quartz was treated by Mr. Alexander by means of a dolly and stamper, which he had erected in Mrs. Grant's back yard, next door to the Governor Browne Hotel in Hobson street, then occupied by Mr. David Sheehan, father of the late Hon. John Sheehan. This first crushing was completed on Saturday, the 12th of September, 1867, and resulted in fifty-eight ounces two pennyweights of smelted gold. This small beginning was followed by the immense returns which were subsequently obtained from the Shotover, Long Drive, Golden Crown and Caledonia, which were the principal means of making the fame of the Thames, and were all within an area of little more than a quarter of a mile square.

              
Thames, as a town, had, of course, a small beginning. The first miners' tents were pitched in Eyre street, which led from the Shortland wharf to the ground set apart for the diggers' camp on land which has since been well known as Block 27. The small area of ground first set apart was shortly afterwards extended, and about the end of 1868, Mr. Robert Graham, at one time Superintendent of the Province of Auckland, secured from the natives the lands lying between Karaka and Waiotahi creeks, which he had laid off in allotments under the name of Grahamstown. The sale of this property was most successful, and was held by the late Mr. Samuel Cochrane on the 17th of September, 1869. After that time the business population of the town gravitated to Grahamstown.

            

            

              
              


                

The Hon. James McGowan,
                Member for Thames in the Houses of Representatives, and Minister of Justice, 
[
unclear: M]ines, and Administrator of the Prisons Department, was born in Maxwell's Court, County Down, Ireland, in 1841, and was educated under the National School system of his native land. When he was fifteen years of age his father died and young McGowan commenced work on his own account by learning the trade of a baker, confectioner and storekeeper. Till 1864 he followed this occupation, and then, having saved some money, he decided to emigrate. Early in the following year he landed in Auckland from the ship “Liverpool.” He remained five years in Auckland, and then removed to the Thames goldfields, where he has long occupied a position in trade and politics. Mr. McGowan founded a large store, to which he added a bakery, and conducted an extensive business until he retired in 1897. Soon after settling on the Thames Mr. McGowan began to take an active interest in public matters, and it was not long before his services were in requisition generally in connection with local affairs. He became a member of the Hospital Board, a Governor of the High School, and a member of the Borough Council, and was several times mayor of the town. Mr. McGowan was returned to Parliament in 1893 in the interests of the goldfields, including those of the Coromandel Peninsula. He was elected Whip of the Liberal party in the House in 1896. Three years later Mr. McGowan was selected as Minister of Mines and Justice.

            

            

              
Borough of Thames.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Borough Council Of Thames
                  
                  has jurisdiction over an area which includes the contiguous towns and suburbs of Grahamstown, Shortland, Parawai, Tararu, and Kauaeranga, with a total population of 4004 persons, according to the census of March, 1901. There is an area of 2560 acres within the borough, which has about 1560 ratable properties, and about 900 ratepayers. The general rate is 1s 2d, and there is a special rate of 4d, a water rate of 2£1/2d, and a library rate of 1d in the £. In March, 1899, the estimated annual value of ratable property in the borough was £30,759. The Council has formed twelve miles of streets. Loans amounting to £3500 have been raised for various improvements, and there is a good water supply, for which the council has borrowed specially to the extent of £6500. The town is supplied with gas by a gas company, which charges consumers at the rate of 10s per 1000 feet. The fire brigade at the Thames is under the control of the Borough Council, and has two branches—one at Shortland, and one at Grahamstown. Mr. R. R. Menzies is superintendent of the Shortland branch, and Mr. E. Gibbons is captain of the branch at Grahamstown. There are three wards in the borough—South, Middle, and North, and each ward returns three members to the Council, and the three wards together elect the Mayor. For the year 1901 the Council consisted of Mr. Frank Trembath, Mayor; and Messrs R. R. Menzies, Theodore Wood, and James Loughlin, South Ward; Messrs Thomas Radford, William Davey, and William Burton, Middle Ward; and Messrs J. W. Poulgrain, W. J. Deeble, and Archibald Burns, North Ward. Mr. Albert Bruce is Town Clerk.

                

His Worship The Mayor, 
Mr. Francis Trembath, who was elected for the year 1900, and again returned in April, 1901, was born in 1856 in the West of Cornwall, England. He arrived in Auckland in 1874 by the ship “Assay,” settled at the Thames, and in 1880 commenced a dairy business on his own account. Fourteen years later he added a baking and confectionery business, which he has since successfully conducted in addition to the dairy. Mr. Trembath first entered the Thames Borough Council in 1892, served for four years, and after being out for two years, was again elected, and held office till returned unopposed as mayor. Mr. Trembath is, ex officio; chairman of the Board of Governors of the Thames High School, and



is also a trustee of the Thames Hospital and a member of the committee of the Thames Library and of the Harbour Board.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor William Davey,
                  who has been a Member of the Thames Borough Council since 1893, and has represented the Council on the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, was born in Cornwall, England, in 1852. He is a blacksmith by trade, and came to Auckland by the ship “Miltiades” in 1874, and settled at the Thames in the same year.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor William Henry Lucas,
                  who holds a seat on the Thames Borough Council, is referred to in another article as secretary of the Thames Miners' Union.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Robert Robertson Menzies,
                  who is a member of the Thames Borough Council, is referred to in another article as the proprietor of the well-known aerated water factory of Menzies and Co.

              

              

                
                


                  
Councillor 
John William Poulgrain
                 , who represents the North Ward on the Thames Borough Council, was born at Gisborne, New Zealand, on the 16th of August, 1859. He received his early education in Auckland, and, removing with his father to the Thames in 1869, finished at a private school in that town. In December, 1871, he entered the employ of Messrs. Macdonald and Miller, barristers and solicitors, Thames. Mr. Macdonald retired from the firm in 1878, and Mr. Poulgrain, whose connection with the business extends over a period of thirty years, has acted as managing clerk to Mr. Miller ever since the dissolution. He was elected in September, 1895, to represent the North Ward on the Thames Borough Council, and was shortly afterwards appointed one of the Board of Governors of the Thames High School. Mr. Poulgrain takes considerable interest in friendly societies; he has been for many years identified with the order of Foresters, and is one of the trustees of Court Pride of Parnell, No. 4409, Thames, which position he has occupied for about seventeen years. Mr. Poulgrain has also held a seat on the committee of management of the Thames Permanent Land, Building and Investment Society for over twenty years.
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Councillor 
Thomas Radford
                 , J.P., who represents the Middle Ward on the Thames Borough Council, and was until recently the popular mayor of that municipality, is a gentleman of large colonial experience. He was born in the famous county of Devonshire, England, in 1833, and received his education in the public schools of his native place. When yet a youth he received employment in the Tammer Silver Lead Mines, and followed that occupation until twenty-three years of age, when he went to Chili and worked in the copper mines at Tambillions for some three years. Returning to his native land, he again entered into mining pursuits, and about 1864 emigrated to Australia in the S.S. “Great Britain,” engaging in the search for the precious metal in various fields of that continent for some seven years. He was for two years of that period mine manager for the Clunes United Gold Mining Company at Clunes, Victoria. Mr. Radford crossed the Tasman Sea in 1872, and, locating at the Thames, was for seven years employed in the Caledonia Gold Mine as underground foreman, afterwards becoming mine manager for the Piako and Queen of Beauty Gold Mining Companies. While in the “Caledonia,” he, together with three other men, was instrumental in preventing what might have proved a sad fatality. Three miners, while working underground, were overcome by the fumes of a deadly gas, and would probably have been suffocated had not Mr. Radford and his comrades risked their lives in a gallant effort to rescue them. They were successful in bringing them to the surface, though the victims of the escape were in a very exhausted condition, and more dead than alive. For this act of bravery Mr. Radford was presented with a gold watch at the hands of the Thames and Auckland public. In 1881 he resigned his positions to assume the management of the Alburnia Mine, which at that time was producing 4000 ozs, per month; this position he successfully filled for a period of five years. He then had charge of the Moanataiari Mine for three years, after which he was again in the employ of the Alburnia Gold Mining Company until he resigned on account of ill-health. Mr. Radford afterwards became mine manager for the New Whau Gold Mining Company. Always taking an active interest in municipal affairs, Mr. Radford was elected in November, 1885, to represent the Middle Ward on the Thames Borough Council, and retained this seat till November, 1893, when he was installed in the mayoral chair. Having filled the responsible position of chief magistrate of the borough for four successive terms, he was intending to retire from active participation in municipal affairs, but, receiving a anumerously signed requisition from the ratepayers of the Middle Ward to allow himself again to be nominated as their representative, he consented, and was returned by a large majority. Mr. Radford has also been a member of the Thames Harbour Board and of the Thames High School Board of Governors, and chairman of both bodies, and chairman of the Thames Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and Waiotahi school committee, besides belonging to other bodies connected with the good government and progress of the borough.
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Councillor 
Theodore Wood
                 
, J.P., of the Thames Borough Council, was born at Kalish, Poland, in 1843, of distinguished German parentage. His mother, Franlein Rose Traumann, was a native of Breslau, and through her he is closely related to several well-known advocates, now practising
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in Germany. His father's name was Marcus Holz, but Mr. Wood has adopted the English signification of the word. When quite young he went to Breslau, and learned the tailoring trade, which he followed in various towns of Germany. In 1861 he crossed over to London, and was engaged in the manufacture of clothing until 1864, when he sailed for Auckland, New Zealand, in the ship “Jumma,” taking with him a large stock of merchandise. This he soon disposed of, and then settled down to a mercantile life in Auckland for two years. Mr. Wood next embarked in business on the West Coast (South Island), but in 1869 sold out; thence he gravitated northwards, and, after a brief stay at Ohinemuri, opened his present business at the Thames, Mr. Wood is a prominent Freemason, having been a member of the Corinthian Lodge, No. 1655, since 1878, and occupying the position of Master in 1889. He received the degree of Royal Arch Mason in 1882. Mr. Wood was elected to the Thames Borough Council to represent the South Ward in 1884, and is the oldest sitting member of that body. During the years 1895–6 he was chairman of the Harbour Board, and is now a member of the Board of Governors of the Thames High School.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Albert Bruce,
                  Town Clerk and Treasurer to the Thames Borough Council, was born in Sydney, New South Wales, in 1848, and when quite young came to Auckland with his father. Mr. Charles Bruce, who entered into business as a builder in that city. The subject of this notice was educated in Auckland, and, after leaving school, learned the trade of a watchmaker, and carried on business for several years in Queen Street. In 1867 he opened business at the Thames as a dealer in fancy goods, jewellery, etc., and continued the same for about five years. During a portion of that time he was manager of the battery of the Waiotahi Gold Mining Company, which consisted of twenty stampers. Shortly after the inception of the “Hospital and Charitable Institutions Act, 1885,” Mr. Bruce was appointed secretary and treasurer of the Thames and Coromandel Hospital and Charitable Aid Boards, which position he resigned to accept that of Town Clerk in May, 1896. He is also secretary to the Thames Harbour Board and School of Mines' Council, and for about eighteen years has been secretary of the Sir Walter Scott Masonic Lodge, No. 15, N.Z.C.
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Mr. Thomas William Clark,
                  A Clerk in the office of the Thames Borough Council, was born in Sunderland, Durham, England, in 1838, and was brought up to clerical work. Coming to Auckland in 1865, Mr. Clark was variously engaged until January, 1868, when he went to the Thames, and for twenty years thereafter he was busy with mining pursuits. He then went into business as an accountant and general agent. In 1889, he was appointed Valuer to the Thames Borough Council; in the following year he was appointed Returning Officer for the Kauaeranga district, and since May, 1894, he has been agent for the Official Assignee in the Thames district, and agent also for the South British Insurance Company. In 1895, Mr. Clark was also appointed Returning Officer for the Borough of Thames and for several wards thereof, and a year later the Government appointed him Returning Officer for the electoral district of the Thames. He is not now Valuer for the borough, but a clerk in the office.
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The Thames Public Library,
                  which was established about thirty years ago, is under the management of a committee consisting of the Mayor with three councillors, and three citizens, with Mr. A. Bruce as secretary. The building was erected in the early days as a Mechanics' Institute, and contains a public reading room, supplied with the leading papers, and a library of 3300 volumes, besides a refer!--  -->ence library of 242 volumes. It is a very popular and well managed institution.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Edwin Wass Lowe,
                  Librarian of the Thames Public Library, was born in 1836 at Sherwood, Nottinghamshire, England. He spent a number of years in his early days on the Victorian goldfields, but returned to England in 1860. Three years later he came to Auckland by the ship “Tyburnia,” with the Albertland settlers. For a time he was engaged in mining at Coromandel, and arrived at the Thames on the 4th of September, 1867. For twenty years Mr. Lowe was well known in the Thames and Ohinemuri districts as a mine manager, and took his certificate in 1883, before the establishment of the School of Mines. He had to give up mining on account of ill health, and was appointed librarian in April, 1892. Mr. Lowe was one of the promoters of the Thames Miners' Union, having called the first meeting prior to its establishment, and was its first president. In 1900 he was the Union's auditor. As an Oddfellow he has passed all the chairs in the Loyal Waikato Lodge; he is also a Freemason and a member of Lodge Sir Walter Scott, N.Z.C. Mr. Lowe was married, in 1863, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Clarke, of Nottingham, and has four sons and one daughter.
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Mr. John Sydney Waterman,
                  formerly Captain of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade (south division), was born at Invercargill, New Zealand, in May, 1862. He came to the Thames with his parents in 1868, and at the age of nine years began his business career as an errand boy in a grocery shop, which position



he filled for some three years. Subsequently he served an apprenticeship of three years with Mr. Robert Stowe, shipbuilder, and then worked for some years as a carpenter. Mr. Waterman was for ten years in the employ of the Thames Borough Council as asphalter, resigning in April, 1896, to engage in business as a builder, contractor, and practical asphalter. He has been a member of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade for about twenty-one years, and has received one five years' service silver medal, and seven two years' service bars from the New Zealand Fire Brigade Association. He was elected captain of the south division of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade in 1895, but has since been succeeded by Mr. E. Gibbons.
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Ex-Mayors.

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. Henry James Greenslade
                  
                  retired from the position of Mayor of the Thames on the 31st of May, 1900, having served eighteen months. He was born in Auckland in 1867, was taken, when only eighteen months old, to the Thames by his father, the late Mr. James Greenslade, and has always been looked upon as a Thames boy. He was educated at the Thames, and was well known for nineteen years as a journalist connected with the Thames “Star.” Mr. Greenslade served his time as a compositor on that paper; then he was its mining reporter, and was afterwards its editor and manager for seven years. In 1899 Mr. Greenslade unsuccessfully contested the Thames seat for the House of Representatives. He was prominently connected with most of the public bodies, and held office as chairman of the Board of Governors of the Thames High School, as a member of the Harbour Board, public library committee, and as one of the trustees of the cemetery and hospital. Mr. Greenslade was for many years a steward of the Thames Jockey Club, and took a prominent part in connection with outdoor amusements as vice-president of the Rugby Union and president of the St. Albans and other cricket clubs. Mr. Greenslade was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. Thomas Penk, of Manchester, England, and has two sons. His property of “Glengarith” at Pukerimu, in the Waikato, is referred to in another section of this volume.
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Mr. James Renshaw,
                  an ex-mayor of the Thames, and a well-known ironmonger and leather merchant, was born at Sheffield, Yorkshire, England, in 1833, and after leaving school learned the trade of a cutler. He came to New Zealand in 1863, settling at Auckland, and six months after his arrival entered into business as an ironmonger. In 1867 he took up his residence at the Thames, and established his present business, which is said to be the oldest of its kind in the district. Mr. Renshaw was one of the first members of the Thames Borough Council, and served in all some seventeen years, for one year of which period he occupied the mayoral chair. He has been a member of the Thames Public Library Committee since its inception. Mr. Renshaw represents the Thames district on the Land Board, and was for six years a member of the Charitable Aid Board, being the first chairman of that body. He has always been an active member of the Thames Baptist Church, having held the position of trustee for a number of years, and for about thirty years that of superintendent of the Sunday School.
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Ex-Councillors.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Alfred Price,
                  who has served as a Member of the Thames Borough Council, and was at one time a member of the Harbour Board, was born in Gloucestershire, England, in 1838. He was brought up to the iron trade from boyhood, and came to Auckland in 1863. Mr. Price afterwards visited England, but returned to the colony in 1868. He and his brother founded the business.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. George Price
                  
                  has at different times served as a Member of the Thames Borough Council. He was born in 1841 in Gloucestershire, England, accompanied his brother to Auckland in 1868, and is well known on the Thames as a partner in the firm of A. and G. Price.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. W. D. Reid,
                 
 who was for some time a Member of the Thames Borough Council, has generally taken his part as a citizen and has held many public positions. He was for
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some time one of the hospital trustees, and at one time was chairman of the local licensing bench. Mr. Reid has always taken a keen interest in education, and has for many years been a member of the Waiotahi and Waiokaraka school committees. He was born in Belfast, Ireland, in 1838, and had some years' experience in Liverpool before coming to Auckland in 1863. Soon after the opening of the Thames goldfields he took his place as one of the pioneers, and has since been closely connected with the progress of the district. Mr. Reid was married, in 1864, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. Hardy, of the North of Ireland. This lady died in 1896, leaving three sons and six daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Joseph Roberts,
                  who was formerly a member of the Thames Borough Council, was born in Cornwall, in 1864, and went to school when four years of age, but at the age of seven had to leave it and go to work owing to his father's death. His first occupation consisted in carrying a mail to a small settlement, for which he received two shillings a week. In 1875 Mr. Roberts landed in Auckland from the ship “Dilharrie.” He bought a small grocery business in Richmond Road, Auckland, in 1897, and was subsequently in business at Onehunga for three years and a half, for the greater part of which he was a member of the local school committee. Mr. Roberts settled at the Thames in 1896, and bought Mr. J. Cook's business in Mary Street. With his brother Stephen he founded the firm of J. and S. Roberts, and subsequently bought the business in Pollen Street conducted by Mr. Gavin Wallace. The firm now has branches at Waihi and Waikino.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Matthias Whitehead,
                  who was for some time a member of the Thames Borough Council, is exceedingly well known as a thriving manufacturer and retailer of boots and shoes in Pollen Street. Mr. Whitehead was born at Elsham, Lincolnshire, England, in 1848, and came out to New Zealand eleven years later in the sailing vessel “Matoaku.” His father, Mr. William Whitehead, was one of the first settlers at Mongonui. The subject of this notice commenced his business life at Auckland as an errand boy, and, after following that occupation for two years, served an apprenticeship in a boot and shoe making establishment. He was subsequently employed in that business as a journeyman and salesman, and in 1868 removed to the Thames to take charge of a boot and shoe store, eventually, about 1872, commencing business with a Mr. McLeay under the style of Whitehead and McLeay. After a few years the latter withdrew, and since that time Mr. Whitehead has conducted the business solely. Some six years ago he built large and commodious premises, and began to manufacture on a small scale. The business has grown so rapidly that still larger premises are in contemplation. Mr. Whitehead was elected in September, 1895, to represent the Middle Ward in the Thames Borough Council, and is a member of the Board of Trustees of the Thames Hospital. He has been for many years connected with the Baptist Church, and holds the position of secretary to the church committee. Mr. Whitehead, who has for years been a total abstainer, was married at Auckland in 1870 to Miss Hannah M. Hewson, only daughter of Mr. Chas, Hewson, of Mongonui, and has six sons and one daughter. His eldest son, Charles, manages the boot factory, which is situated behind the main business premises, and other sons are employed in the shop in Pollen Street.
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Thames Harbour Board.

              

                
                


                  
Thames Harbour Board.
                  Members for 1900: Mr. W. Deeble, chairman, and Messrs H. C. Gillespie, E. McDonnell, W. H. Potts, W. Davey, R. W. Bignall, W. H. Moore, F. Trembath, and J. Paterson. Mr. Albert Bruce, the town clerk, is secretary, and Captain T. C. Bayldon is harbour-master. The Board has borrowed to the extent of £10,000, and has an annual income of £1,700. A wharfage rate is charged of one shilling per ton, port charges are made of twopence per ton, and pilotage charges at the rate of sixpence per ton for sailing vessels, and fourpence per ton for steamers. Vessels are berthed at the wharf up to a register of 217 tons, and up the river to a tonnage of 480. The depth of water at the wharf at high tide is nine feet, and at neap tide seven feet. There is a bar outside the river, which is five feet below the surface at low tide, and sixteen feet at high tide.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry Cameron Gillespie,
                  J. P., who represents the Government on the Thames Harbour Board, was born in Cork, Ireland, and comes of a military family. Educated in his native place, he was employed for several years in mercantile pursuits in Ireland, and afterwards in Manchester, London, and other English cities. Mr. Gillespie came to New Zealand in 1859, as a passenger on the troopship “Spirit of Trade,” and settled at Manukau, where he engaged in the timber business with Messrs. Gibbons and Co., sawmillers, etc., and soon rose to the position of manager, which he held for seven years. Shortly after the opening of the Thames goldfields in 1867 he gravitated thitherwards, becoming financial manager for Mr. John Gibbons, who had sawmills at Keri Keri and other places, for about three years; during this period he was also actively engaged in mining pursuits, managing the “Flora McDonald,” “Russell,” and other batteries. Mr. Gillespie held the lease of the Tararu Creek Tramway from the Government for six years, and was manager of the Grahamstown and Tararu Railway for some four or five years. About 1885 he became associated with Mr. R. R. Gibbons in the Junction Sawmills, and remained with him for nine years, when they dissolved partnership. About this time, in conjunction with Mr. Robert Blair, he purchased the Keri Keri Sawmills, and he and his partner conducted them for some three years, when they sold out to the Kauri Timber Company. Nine months later he took the management of the mills for that company, retaining it until May, 1897. Mr. Gillespie has also been identified with the shipping interests of the Thames; over twenty years ago he entered into partnership with Mr. W. Sauter as agents for all Auckland steamers. They continued in partnership for four years, when Mr. Gillespie took over the business which he has since carried on solely. As representative of the Government on the Thames Harbour Board for the past seven or eight years, chairman of the Licensing Committee for six years, visiting justice to the Thames Gaol for the past five years, and a present member of the Board of Governors of the Thames High School, Mr. Gillespie has cheerfully given his time and ability to the public service, and takes a keen interest in the advancement of the district.
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Mr. Edward McDonnell,
                  J.P., who is one of the two Members of the Thames Harbour Board elected by the payers of dues, has held a seat on the Board since 1882, except while he was absent from the colony on a visit to England. He was born in Galway, Ireland, in 1838, apprenticed as an ironmonger in his native place, and came out to Melbourne in 1863. After being eighteen months in Victoria, Mr. McDonnell went to New South Wales, where he remained six months, and was subsequently a year in Queensland. In 1866 he came to the West Coast of New Zealand, and there had his first digging experience in the colony. Mr. McDonnell returned to Queensland in 1867, when he came back to New Zealand on the discovery of gold at the Thames, of which he became one of the pioneers and has been closely associated with its progress and development as a merchant, a mining investor and a public man. He is vice-president of the School of Mines, has been a member of the Thames Licensing Committee since 1884, and his name has been on the Commission of the Peace since 1888. Mr. McDonnell has taken a keen interest in sport as a member of the Thames Jockey Club, of the committee of which he is chairman. He was married, in 1882, to a daughter of the late Mr. John McIntyre, solicitor, of Londonderry, Ireland.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mr. William Henry Potts,
                  who is a Member of the Thames Harbour Board, on which he has held a seat for a good many years, and who served for six years as a member of the Borough Council, was born at Belfast, Ireland, in 1843. He arrived in Victoria in 1858, and after three years' experience on the goldfields, came to the Otago diggings, and was afterwards for several years on the West Coast. Mr. Potts was one of the pioneers of the Thames and has taken considerable interest in mining, and for a number of years acted as mine manager. He has been prominently connected with volunteering since 1874, and has for many years been captain of the Thames Navals.

              

              

                
                


                  

Captain Thomas C. Bayldon,
                  Harbourmaster, Pilot and Officer in Charge of the Customs at the Thames, was born in Devonshire, England, in 1849, and at the age of fourteen went to sea. Three years later—in 1866—he sailed for New Zealand, in the ship “Mermaid, under Captain Rose, now so well known in Wellington as manager for the New Zealand Shipping Company. At the conclusion of his apprenticeship in 1869, Captain Bayldon decided to remain in New Zealand, and settled at the Thames. There for three years he was engaged in surveying, and then he again took to the sea, this time as a master, trading on the coast and between this Colony and New South Wales, and in service on board the Government steamers “Sturt” and “Luna. In 1880–1 he was chief officer of the s.s. “Hinemoa,” of which the late John Fairchild was then commander. Among the vessels commanded by Captain Bayldon may be mentioned the s.s. “Emu,” “Oreti,” “Star of the South,” and “Wanganui.” In February, 1883, Captain Bayldon received his appointment as harbourmaster and pilot at Thames, and seven years later he undertook the duties of officer-in-charge of the Customs. Captain Bayldon is a Mason of high standing. He is a member of the Grand Lodge, E.C., and a past master of the Corinthian Lodge, of which he was for some years secretary.
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Mr. Richard Edmund Schofield,
                  Deputy Harbourmaster at the Thames, was born in Hobart, Tasmania, in 1836. He was brought up to a seafaring life, and went to sea from Hobart for fifteen years. In 1862 he settled on Onehunga. Since settling at the Thames he has engaged in mining on his own account and as a tributer. In 1877 he entered



the service of the Thames Harbour Board, and has since held his present position. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Sir Walter Scott. He was married, in 1862, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Finney, of the Thames, and has three sons and three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Scott,
                  formerly Chair, man of the Thames Harbour Bord is a son of the late Mr. Robert Scott, farmer, of Whangarei, and was born in that district in April, 1857. In May, 1870, he went to the Thames, and there learned the bakery trade, subsequently working as a journeyman for about eight years with Messrs. Hamilton and Nash. In 1880 Mr. Scott purchased the business of that firm, and has since very much enlarged and improved it by the addition of the latest machinery for the manufacture of confectionery, etc., thus giving employment to a large number of men. In 1888 he added the produce business, and in this branch also does a large and extensive trade. Mr. Scott has always taken an active interest in municipal affairs. He was elected to represent the Middle Ward in the Thames Borough Council in 1893, and, after a three years' term, was re-elected in 1896. For a number of years he represented the shippers and importers on the Thames Harbour Board, and was elected chairman of that body in March, 1897. He was elected Mayor of the Thames in November of the same year.
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Thames County Council.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Thames County Council
                  
                  controls a district with an area of 496 square miles. At the census of April, 1901, the county had a population of 5030, and it has about 1320 ratable properties, with an annual ratable value £278,000, carrying a rate of 1£1/2d in the £. The county's liabilities are slight, and its assets are valued at about £7000. There are five ridings in the county—namely, Hastings, Kauaeranga, Waiotahi, Totara, and Parawai. The members of the Council for 1900–1901 were: Mr. T. A. Dunlop, chairman, and Messrs James Corbett, William Deeble, James McEnteer, W. W. Otter, J. D. Steedman, T. Kilgour, J. H. Taylor, and R. W. Bagnall, Mr. E. W. Hollis is clerk, collector and treasurer, and Mr. James McLaren, engineer.

              

              

                
                


                  
Councillor 
Thomas Aitken Dunlop
                 , the Chairman of the Thames County Council, was born in Edinburgh, Scotland, in 1844. At the age of ten years he was apprenticed to a mechanical engineer, and, after serving three years, was employed in various iron and coal mines in Scotland and the north of England, thus gaining a thorough knowledge of practical mining. Mr. Dunlop came out to the colonies in 1863, and, proceeding to Coromandel in the following year, engaged in quartz mining at the “Kapanga” and other mines, and subsequently also on the West Coast of the South Island. In 1868 he gravitated northwards again, and settled at the Thames. For two years Mr. Dunlop was underground foreman in the “Golden Crown” Gold Mine, and was afterwards in charge of the “Duke of Edinburgh” Mine for two years. He also had charge of the “Waitemata” Gold Mine, and when, twelve months later, it was formed into a joint stock company, took the upper workings of the “Golden Crown” on tribute; these he worked with considerable success for about two years, when he took charge of the “Bird in Hand” Gold Mine. Four years later he assumed the management of the “Manukau” Gold Mine, and had at the same time the supervision of the “Golden Calf” Mine. Mr. Dunlop in 1878 became manager of the “Piako” Gold Mine, and had charge of it for three years, during which time he worked the shaft to a depth of 560 feet. He then again took up the “Golden Crown” Mine on tribute, and when, twelve months later, this property was sold at auction, purchased it and re-floated it into a company, which he managed until 1887. He afterwards had charge of the “Saxon” Gold Mine until 1892, when he undertook the management of the “Alburnia” and “Victoria” Mines. Mr. Dunlop erected the machinery on these properties, and continued to successfully conduct both mines until March, 1896, when he resigned to fill the position of general manager of the Thames Hauraki Goldfields, Ltd., which is one of the most important mining properties at the Thames. Mr. Dunlop is thus one of the oldest and most practical miners on the Peninsula. He takes an interest in all matters relating to the welfare of the district, and was in November, 1887, elected a member of the Thames County Council. Mr. Dunlop was chosen to preside over the deliberations of that body in November, 1892, and has since been re-elected annually.
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Councillor James McEnteer,
                  who has represented the Waiotahi riding on the Thames County Council since 1892, and has held a seat on the Thames and Coromandel Charitable Aid Board for the same period, was born in County Cavan, Ireland, in 1842. In 1865 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Ernestine,” and was for about eighteen months on the Great Barrier Island. He removed to the Thames in the early stage of the goldfield; he has been mine manager at the Eclipse, and is now (1900) manager at the New Alburnia mine. Mr. McEnteer is a member of the Hibernian Friendly Society, in which he has filled all the chairs. He was married, in 1864, to a daughter of the late Mr. M. Muldoon, of County Cavan, Ireland, and has four sons and six daughters.
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Councillor William Walton Otter,
                  who is a storekeeper in Franklin Street, Block 27, Thames, was born at Caistor, Lincolnshire, England, in 1853, and came out to New Zealand with his parents in October, 1859. The family resided for some time in Auckland, and Mr. Otter received his early education in the schools of that city. His father, Mr. Robert Otter, removed to the Thames in 1868, and opened a general store at Grahamstown; he died in 1880, and the business is still carried on by his widow. The subject of this notice, on his arrival at the Thames with his father, engaged in mining pursuits, and in January, 1885, entered into business as a storekeeper at his present address. Mr. Otter was a member of the Thames County Council from 1893 to 1896, and is now (1901) again a member of that body. In friendly society matters, he is a member of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge of Freemasons, No. 15, N.Z.C., has been for many years a member of Loyal Waikato Lodge, I.O.O.F., M.U., and is one of the trustees of the latter.
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Councillor 
James Donaldson Steedman
                 , the representative of the Hastings Riding in the Thames County Council, was born in Waikato, New Zealand, in 1866, and is a son of Mr. James B. Steedman, who came to New Zealand in 1859, and moved to Tararu, Thames, in 1872. After leaving school, the subject of this notice assisted his father on his farm at Waikawau for some time, and about 1893 took over the entire property on his own account; he has since carried on a large business in sheepfarming and fruit-growing. He has about 570 acres of land, and devotes about twenty-five of acres to an orchard, the product of which enables him to do a considerable trade in the local market in preserved and canned fruits. Mr. Steedman has long taken an active interest in local affairs. He has been a member of the Tapu School Committee for some years, was elected a member of the Thames County Council in November, 1896, and is one of the representatives of the Council on the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board.
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Councillor John Henry Taylor
                  
                  has represented Waiotahi riding on the Thames County Council since November, 1899, and at the election three years previously, lost the seat only on the casting vote of the returning officer. He was born in 1852 at Arundel, Sussex, England, and was educated at Greenwich, where he served five years to the carpentering trade. In 1870 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Chili,” settled at the Thames, and has since been mining, or tributing on his own account, or on wages. Mr. Taylor is one of the tributers in the Moanataiari mine. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Sir Walter Scott, and as a Forester to Court Pride of the North.
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Mr. Edwin Wise Hollis,
                  Clerk and Treasurer of the Thames County Council since its constitution in February, 1877, was born in Hampshire, England, in 1825. He came to Lyttelton under the auspices of the Canterbury Association by the ship “William Hyde” in 1851, but removed to Taranaki, where he took up land on which he settled till the outbreak of hostilities, when he joined the Taranaki Bush Rangers, and was on active service till the conclusion of the war, during which he lost everything, but received a small compensation from the Government. Mr. Hollis settled at the Thames in 1868, as a professional draughtsman and architect.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. James Monteith McLaren,
                 
 Engineer to the Thames County Council, is a native of Glasgow, and was educated at the local high school, and afterwards attended the Glasgow University. After serving five years with a civil and mining engineering firm in his native city, Mr. Mclaren came to New Zealand early in 1864, in the ship “Brechin Castle,” landing at Dunedin. There he was for a short time in the employ of the Otago Provincial Government, after which he followed mining pursuits in Otago and on the West Coast, until the latter part of 1868. In that year he removed to the Thames, and was shortly afterwards appointed
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by the Auckland Provincial Government to the post of engineer in charge of the Thames district. In 1874 he was placed in charge also of the Ohinemuri district, and continued to fill these positions until the abolition of provincial government in 1876. Mr. McLaren was then for a short time in the Government Survey Department, engaged in compiling maps of the goldfields, etc. In 1878 he was appointed by Sir George Grey, then Premier of the Colony, as inspector of coal and gold mines in the North Island, which position he filled with great credit for ten years. He then engaged in the practice of his profession for some two years. Mr. McLaren has for many years taken an active interest in Masonry; he is past master of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge, N.Z.C., Thames, and is a member of the Hauraki Royal Arch Chapter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Joseph Lewis Walton,
                  J.P., is a native of Yorkshire, England, having been born near Thurgoland, Sheffield, in December, 1848. At the age of sixteen he emigrated with his father, Mr. Joseph Walton, to New Zealand, and was employed in mining at Coromandel until early in 1869; he then removed to the Thames, where he continued to follow mining pursuits for some years. His father, on his arrival at the Thames, opened a grocery establishment, and carried on business in that line until his death on the 2nd of January, 1874. The subject of this notice then took over the business, and has conducted it up to the present time, although of late years he has not given it his entire attention, having devoted a large portion of his time to the management and improvement of his real estate. In 1887 Mr. Walton was elected for a period of three years to a seat on the Thames County Council. In November, 1896, he again offered himself as a candidate, and was duly returned. Mr. Walton has always taken an active interest in the management of the local schools, and has for many years been connected with the Wesleyan Church, in which body he is a member of the board of trustees. Mr. Walton was married at the Thames to a daughter of Captain Cleveland; Mrs. Walton died on the 21st of December, 1893, leaving seven children—four boys and three girls.
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                    The Thames Naval Volunteer Corps
                  
                  dates back to the 8th of October, 1868. The corps in 1900 numbered sixty-six rank and file, and the band consisted of twenty-eight active members. Captain W. H. Potts is in command of the corps, and Mr. G. D. 
[
unclear: S]mith is bandmaster.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Hauraki Rifle Volunteer Corps
                  
                  was established about 1897. Its strength is sixty, and it has a brass band with twenty-five members. Officers for 1900; Captain E. F. Adams, and Lieutenants W. H. Lucas and J. Swindley; with Mr. E. Williams as bandmaster.

              

            

            

              
General Government Offices.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Post And Telegraph Office
                  
                  at the Thames occupies eight rooms in the Government Buildings in Queen Street. The Thames postal district extends eastward to Raukokore, south to Gordon settlement, and west to Miranda. The staff, in addition to the chief postmaster, includes five postal officers, two telephone exchange officers, nine telegraph operators, five telegraph messengers, two telegraph counter clerks, four letter carriers, one distributor, one post office message boy, and two linemen.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Emilius Coney,
                  Chief Postmaster at the Thames, was born in London, in 1839, and arrived in New Zealand with his parents in 1845. He entered the post office in 1859, was promoted to the position of chief clerk in 1870, and has been in charge at the Thames since 1877. Mr. Coney was married, in 1862, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Davis, of Waimate, Bay of Islands, and has three sons and two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Registry Office For Births, Deaths And Marriages
                  
                  at the Thames is situated in Mary Street, next to the County Chambers. The district extending from Hikutaia to beyond Tapu is controlled from the office.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Edward Honiss,
                  Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages for the Thames District, was born at Hastings, Sussex, England, in March, 1827. He was educated in his native land, and was brought up to business as a grocer. In 1852 he landed in Australia, where he followed goldmining for five years, and was afterwards in business on his own account for three years. Mr. Honiss landed in Auckland in 1860, and went in the following year to Coromandel. During the Waikato war he served in the militia in Auckland and suburbs, and subsequently became tide-walter in the Customs Department at Auckland. On the discovery of gold at the Thames Mr. Honiss became one of the pioneers of the field, and continued to take an active part in goldmining for a number of years, till his health broke down. For a good many years he conducted a commission and insurance business. He was the first secretary of the Kauaeranga Highway Board, and became secretary of the Thames Hospital on its foundation, and held the office till 1887. Two years later he was appointed to his present position as registrar. Mr. Honiss was married at Islington, London, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Smith, an officer of the Bank of England. Mrs Honiss died in 1898, leaving two sons and two daughters.
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                    The Thames Railway Station
                  
                  was opened on the 18th of December, 1898, and is the terminus of the Auckland-Thames railway. It is built of wood, and contains the customary rooms and offices for the staff and the public, with goods and engine sheds, a turntable, and a large asphalt passenger platform. Trains run between the Thames and Auckland and the Waikato.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Shortland Railway Station
                  
                  was opened in December, 1898, and consists of the customary offices, platform and sheds. The stationmaster, Mr. C. Bell, was born in Dublin, in 1878, and arrived in Napier with his parent in 1884. He was educated in that town, and after filling various positions in the railway department, was transferred to Shortland in 1899.

              

            

            

              
Charitable Institutions.

              

                
                


                  
The Thames And Coromandel United Charitable Aid Board.
                  Members for 1900: Mr. J. M. Foy, chairman, Messrs T. Radford, T. A. Dunlop, R. R. Menzies, W. W. Otter, J. D. Steedman, W. Mcore, N. Gow, and S. James, Mr. T. Cantley is secretary and treasurer. By levying on the Thames Borough Council, and the Thames. Ohinemuri and Coromandel County Councils the Board raises a sum sufficient, with the Government subsidy, for the purpose of



charitable aid in its districts. The amount required for the year 1900 was £1600, one half of which was contributed by the local bodies, and the balance by the Government. Mr. Cantley is relieving officer for the Thames district, and there are deputy relieving officers at Paeroa and Coromandel.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Thames District Hospital Board
                  
                  was established in 1886. Members for 1900: Mr. J. M. Foy, chairman, Messrs T. Radford, W. Davey, J. McEnteer, W. W. Otter, J. D. Steedman, and W. Moore; with Mr. T. Cantley as secretary and treasurer. The Board is charged with the duty of levying the amount required for the maintenance of the Thames Hospital, and the contributory bodies are the Thames Borough Council, and the Thames and Ohinemuri County Councils. The amount raised in 1899 was £1406, and in 1900, £1447.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Thames Hospital
                  
                  is managed by a board of trustees, who, in the year 1900, were the Right Rev. Monsignor O'Reilly (chairman) and Messrs T. A. Dunlop, W. Deeble, T. Radford, J. M. Foy, R. R. Menzies, W. Moore, and F. Trembath, with Mr. T. Cant
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]ey as secretary. The old hospital was founded about 1869, and was superseded by the new building in 1900. It was a single storey wooden structure, and had three wards, including a fever ward, and there was accommodation for about thirty males and thirteen females. The new hospital building was completed in 1900 and has four wings with accommodation for fifty patients. It is equipped with all the most modern appliances and fittings, and has apartments for the matron, medical officer, nurses and servants. The enlargements were made at a cost of about £500. There is a separate residence for the medical officer at the Baillie Street end of the section.

              

              

                
                


                  

Dr. Emile Dupont Aubin,
                  B.A., the Resident Surgeon of the Thames Hospital, was born at Alexandra, (now known as Pirongia) in the Waipa district, in 1869. He was educated at Parnell Grammar School, and graduated Bachelor of Arts in 1890 at the Auckland University. In the following year Dr. Aubin went to England and studied in London, where he took his degrees as M.R.C.S., and L.R.C.P., M.B., and B.S., London University, in 1895. He was for about a year House Physician at the Middlesex Hospital, and returned to Auckland in 1897. After practising for a time in Ponsonby, Auckland, he was appointed to his present position in November, 1899.
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Miss Matilda Stewart,
                 
 Matron of the Thames Hospital, was born at Port Stewart, in the North of Ireland. She came
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to Auckland in 1880, and served for five years and a half at the Auckland Hospital, where she gained her certificate as a nurse. Miss Stewart was appointed to her present position at the Thames Hospital in September, 1890.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Cantley,
                  the Secretary of the Thames Hospital Trustees, was born at Edinburgh, Scotland, in December, 1866, and, after leaving school, took to the law as a profession. He followed this pursuit for a period of five years, during which time he succeeded in passing the ordinary law examinations. Mr. Cantley came to New Zealand in 1885, settling at the Thames, and engaged in the gold mining industry. Four years later he again pursued the study of the law, and followed that profession in the office of a prominent solicitor until 1894, when he returned to the Thames, and turned his attention again to mining. Mr. Cantley was, in June, 1896, appointed secretary to the Thames Hospital Trustees, to the District Hospital Board, and also to the Thames and Coromandel United Charitable Aid Board. He has for some years been a member of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge of Freemasons, N.Z.C., Thames, and is a past master of Lodge St. Andrew, S.C., Auckland; he is also a member of Loyal Charles Bruce Lodge, I.O.O.F., M.U., Thames.

                

The Old Men's and Old Women's Home is situated at Tararu, Thames. It is one of the institutions under the control of the Thames-Coromandel Charitable Aid Board, and has been in existence for a number of years. The site covers thirteen acres of land. There is a main building with three small wards, and there are three small buildings which are used as sick wards. Besides this, there is a large two storey building of fourteen rooms, used by the master and matron, and for the women inmates. A large garden, laid out in walks and flower borders, and in which the vegetables used at the institution are mostly grown, surrounds the buildings. In the paddocks belonging to the establishment four cows are kept for the use of the Home.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. William Spong,
                 
 Master of the Old Men's Home, was born in Kent, England, in 1842. He was brought up in London to the furnishing and upholstering business, and came to Lyttelton in 1856 by the s.s. “Airedale.” Mr. Spong was engaged for twelve years in the telegraph department in New Zealand, and was afterwards employed in construction work on the Taupo-Tauranga line. Subsequently he went to Canterbury where he became lineman at Leithfield, and was afterwards stationed at Cheviot in the Nelson district. He put up the line between Nelson and the Lyell. Mr. Spong was for about twenty-five years in Cambridge, where he took building and fencing contracts, and occasionally undertook work for the telegraph department. While travelling as a witness in an arbitration case, Mr. Spong happened to be within sight of the eruption of Tarawera in
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1886, and he describes the sight as one of thrilling awfulness. A considerable extent of telegraph line was destroyed by the eruption and Mr. Sprong was put on by the department to assist in the repairs. He was appointed master of the Thames Old Men's Home in 1897. Mr. Spong was married, in 1880, to a daughter of the late Mr. E. Curtis, of the West of England, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mrs Spong,
                  Matron of the Thames Old Women's Home, was born in Falmouth, Cornwall, where she was educated. She came to Auckland by the ship “Loraine” in 1872, and was appointed to her present position in 1897.
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Educational.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Thames High School
                  
                  is managed by a Board of Governors, who, in 1901, consisted of the Mayor, who is chairman, ex officio, and Messrs H. C. Gillespie, J. Hague Smith and Rev. J. McKenzie, M.A., appointed by the Government, and Councillors Poulgrain, Radford and Wood representing the Borough Council; with Mr. S. Carter, as secretary and treasurer. The school dates from 1881, and occupies a well chosen site of over an acre between Baillie Street and Karaka Road. It consists of two buildings, one for the senior, and one for the junior scholars, and a chemical laboratory is attached to the senior division. The playground, which is well sanded and provided with the necessary appointments, is divided into two portions, one for the girls and the other for the boys, and the house of the headmaster is on the same site. The school has accommodation for 100 pupils, and in 1901 there were thirty-five in attendance; eighteen boys, and seventeen girls. Competitive scholarships are offered yearly and the winners of these receive free tuition at the school, which is open to all who pay the customary fees. The school is maintained by the income derived from an endowment of land at Waiorngomai, the ordinary fees, and occasional Government grants. Several pupils from the school have gained distinction at the New Zealand University. One of them has become Government geologist in Queensland, and several have gained scholarships at the Thames School of Mines. The school is under the management of Mr. James Adams, B.A., headmaster, with Mr. B. H. Low, B.A., as assistant, and Miss Foy, as mistress.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. Benjamin Harris Low,
                 
 B.A. (N.Z.  University), Assistant Master at the


[image: Foy Bros., photo.Mr. B. H. Low.]

Foy Bros., photo.


Mr. B. H. 
Low.


Thames High School, was born in Horndon, Essex, England, in 1871, and is the only son of Mr. Benjamin Low. Accompanying his parents to New Zealand at the age of four years, the subject of this notice received his primary education at the Willowby District School, near Ashburton, Canterbury, of which his father was headmaster. Gaining a district scholarship, Mr. Low continued his education at the Ashburton High School, and subsequently became a pupil teacher under the Canterbury Board of Education. In that capacity he taught at the Ashburton Borough School for nearly four years, and then held the position of assistant master at the Ashburton High School for a year. Mr. Low next entered the Normal Training School, Christchurch, and obtained the first section of his B.A. degree. After teaching at the Temuka District High School for three years he went to the Canterbury College, and completed his B.A. degree in 1895. Mr. Low then acted as locum tenens at the Timaru High School, and in June, 1896, was appointed first assistant master at the Prince Albert College, Auckland. This he resigned towards the end of 1897 to assume his present position at the Thames High School. Mr. Low takes a great interest in athletics, and whilst at the Prince Albert College had charge of the Cadet Corps.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Samuel Carter,
                  B.A., Secretary of the Thames High School Board of Governors and Accountant at the Thames-Hauraki mine, was born in Leeds, England, in 1856, and was educated at the Dublin University, where he graduated in 1882, and had ten years' experience as a teacher in England. He arrived in Auckland in 1895, and was appointed accountant at the Thames-Hauraki mine in the same year.

              

              

                
                


                  
Kauaeranga Boys' School,
                  which was formerly known as the Kauaeranga Baillie Street School, was established about 1870, and is said to have been the first school on the Thames. The building has six class rooms, with headmaster's and teachers' rooms, and appropriate vestibules and lavatories. It has accommodation for 450 children, has that number of names on the roll, and the average attendance is 405. The headmaster is assisted by eight certificated teachers and two pupil teachers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Henry Pasco Marsdon,
                  who holds a D1 certificate, is in charge of the Kauaeranga Boys' School. He was born in London in 1859, and educated in Dublin and at Rochester Cathedral Grammar School, where he was a King's scholar. In 1880 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Lady Jocelyn” and joined the staff of the Board of Education as first assistant at Mount Eden. Prior to his appointment to the Thames, in 1899, he had been stationed at Whangarei and Te Aroha.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Hammond,
                  First Assistant Teacher at the Kauaeranga Baillie Street School, has filled this position since the 1st of July, 1893. His father, Mr. Thomas Hammond, came to New Zealand in 1863, and the subject of this sketch was born at the Thames on the 24th of April, 1870. He attended the local



schools for several years and completed his education under Mr. Adams at the Thames High School. At the age of sixteen years he began his career as a pupil teacher, and was so employed for about three years. He subsequently had charge of different schools in the country, for about three and a half years, and then he entered upon his present duties. Mr. Hammound has been a member of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade for some years, and since October, 1895, has filled the position of honorary secretary to that body.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Kauaeranga (Sandes Street) Public School
                  
                  has four large class rooms in addition to the headmaster's room, vestibules and lavatories. There is accommodation for 400 children; there are 260 names on the roll, and the average attendance is 232. The master is assisted by three certificated, two ex-pupil teachers, and one pupil teacher.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Fisher,
                  Headmaster of Sandes Street School, holds a D1 certificate. He was born in Stockport, England, in 1853, is an English trained certificated teacher, and was teaching for fourteen years before coming to New Zealand. Mr. Fisher arrived in Auckland in 1881, when he entered the service of the Board of Education. He was stationed at Waipu for three years, and at Pukekohe West fourteen years, before his appointment to the Thames, in 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Tararu Public School
                  
                  was one of the earliest schools opened at the Thames. It contains four class rooms, and has accommodation for 300 children; there are 178 names on the roll, and the average attendance is 161.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Henry Newton,
                  who holds a D1 certificate, is Headmaster in charge of the Tararu school. he was born in Leeds, England, in 1865, and arrived in the colony with his parents in 1875. He served his pupil teachership at Thames schools, and after two years at the Auckland Training College, was appointed to Waiotahi Creek as first assistant. After some experience in Newton East and West schools in Auckland, he was appointed to his present position in 1890.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Waiokaraka Public School
                  
                  contains five class rooms, with accommodation for 500 children. There are 430 on the roll, and the average attendance exceeds 400. There is a teaching staff of nine members.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Isemonger,
                  Headmaster of the Waiokaraka School, was born and educated in England, and, after arriving in Auckland, became a teacher under the Board of Education. He had the charge of several country schools before being appointed to the Thames in 1887.

              

            

            

              
Ecclesiastical.

              

                
                


                  

                    St. George's Church
                  
                  stands on an ample section at the corner of Mackay and Mary Streets, Thames. The building is in the Gothic style of architecture, is erected of wood, with a spire, and has accommodation for 750 persons. There is a powerful pipe organ, said to be the only one on the Thames. St. George's was opened in 1872, and the old church in Rolleston Street, which was built in 1868, and has accommodation for 300 persons, is used as a sunday school, and the old Maori church at Parawai is used as a branch Sunday school. The vicar in charge of the Thames holds services at St. John's, Tararu, and at Tapu, Puriri, and other outlying places.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Thaddues O'Callaghan,
                  D.D., Vicar of St. George's, Thames, was born in County Cork, Ireland, on the 8th of September, 1846. He was educated in Dublin, and, having studied at the University at Salamanca in Spain, he gained his degree there in 1869, in which year he was also ordained deacon and priest. Dr. O'Callaghan laboured for some years in Victoria, came to Dunedin in 1883, and was in charge of Epiphany Church, Newton—which he built—for five years prior to his appointment to the Thames in 1886, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Errington, of Auckland, and has two daughters.
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St. James Presbyterian Church, Thames,
                  Shortly after the opening of the goldfields in 1867, fortnightly services were commenced in connection with the Presbyterian Church at Shortland. On the 18th of February, 1868, a meeting of Presbyterians was held in the commercial-room of Butt's Hotel, Rev. James Hill in the chair, when it was resolved that steps be taken to raise subscriptions for the erection of a church. On the 25th of March following, a tender was accepted from Mr. G. Heron to build a church on allotments in Richmond Street (presented by Mr. W. H. Taipari) at a cost of £150. The new church was opened on the 3rd of May of the same year by the Rev. James Hill, and it was arranged shortly afterwards that weekly services be held in the church, Mr. James McKee to conduct alternate services. On the 1st of June following a meeting was held in the church (Rev. D. Bruce, of St. Andre's Church, Auckland, presiding), when a petition was prepared to be forwarded to the Auckland Presbytery, praying that the members and adherents of the Presbyterian Church located in Shortland and adjoining district be constituted a regular congregation as soon as possible. Towards the end of the same month the petition previously adopted was rescinded, and another petition prepared as follows:—“To the Rev. the Presbytery of Auckland, to meet on the 1st of July, 1868. The Presbyterians residing at Shortland, Grahamstown, and neighbourhood pray that a clergyman be located in the district as soon as possible, and that the Presbytery make arrangements for giving a call to a minister.” At a meeting held in the Presbyterian Church on the 28th of July, 1868, the Rev. J. U. Taylor presiding, the Rev. James Hill, of St. James' Church, Wellington Street, Auckland, was elected as the minister to be called. This call, which was signed by 175 persons, was duly sustained by the Presbytery, and in October, 1868, the Rev. J. Hill was inducted to the pastoral charge of the Thames district by a commission consisting of the Revs. D. Bruce and J. Wallis, of Auckland. In the early part of 1871 a new church, costing £450, was built on allotments at the corner of Pollen and Pahu Streets, and a pulpit was presented by Mr. Robert Sommerville (now the Rev. R. Sommerville, of St. Peter's Church, Surrey Hills, Auckland). In May, 1877, the Rev. James Hill received and accepted a call from the Presbyterian Church, Lyttelton, and in July following the Rev. S. J. Neill, of Cambridge, Waikato, was called to the pastorate of the church, and was inducted a month later. The Rev. John Mackenzie, M.A., licentiate of the Timaru Presbytery, succeeded in 1895, being ordained in the church on the 2nd of October of that year. In 1897 it was resolved to erect a new church, and plans were accordingly prepared by Mr. W. H. Skinner, of Auckland. The old building was removed from its original site, and replaced by the present handsome structure, which cost £2000.

              

              

                
                


                  
St. Francis' Roman Catholic Church.
                  This church was established early in the history of the Thames. The church, presbytery and convent stand on a section of two acres of land at the corner of Willoughby and Baillie Streets. The church itself has accommodation for 600 worshippers. There is a parochial school, which fronts Queen Street. The Roman Catholic Church has been represented at the Thames since 1868, and the Rev. Father O'Reilly, now the Right Rev. Monsignor O'Reilly, was in charge of the parish for twenty-two years.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. William Henry Mahoney,
                  Priest in charge at the Thames, is a son of the late Mr. E. Mahoney, architect, of Auckland, where Father Mahoney was born in 1857. He was educated in Ireland, and afterwards in the North of France, and was ordained in 1884 at Oscott, near Birmingham. During the same year he returned to New Zealand and was stationed at Puhoi, where he remained till 1899, when he was appointed to the Thames.

              

              

                
                


                  
Wesleyan Methodist Church,
                  corner of Mary and Pollen Streets, Thames. The first Wesleyan church at the Thames was erected early in 1868 in Willoughby Street, Shortland, and was opened by the Rev. G. S. Harper. In 1869, during the ministry of the Rev. James Buller, a commodious building was erected in Grahamstown, and was enlarged a year later. The cause was carried on in these two churches until the year 1885, when they were amalgamated into one central church on the present site. The Rev. E. Best was minister at that time. The attendance has since considerably increased and now there is a regular congregation of 400, under the spiritual guidance of the Rev. D. J. Murray. In 1898 the central hall adjoining the church was erected at a cost of upwards of £1200. It has accommodation for 400 adults, and eighteen class rooms opening out into the main hall serve admirably for Sunday school purposes. At the inner end of the building there are two very large vestries. The Sunday school has 400 names on the roll, with an average attendance of about 300, and there are thirty-three teachers. The minister in charge at the Thames holds services periodically at Omahu, Puriri, Kopu and waiomo.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Daniel James Murray,
                  Wesleyan Minister in charge at the Thames, was born in Cambridge, England, in 1851, and was educated at Peterborough. He entered the ministry in England, and was ordained in May, 1879. In the same year he arrived at Port Chalmers, and was appointed to Wanganui. He was successively stationed at Milton, Tapanui, Mornington, Hutt, Woodend, St. Albans, Waimate and Lyttelton before being placed at the Thames in 1899. Mr. Murray has been secretary of the New Zealand Conference for six consecutive years—1895 to 1901—and before taking up the duties of the position, he acted for seven years as assistant secretary. Mr. Murray was married, in 1883, to a daughter of the late Mr. C. Holder, of Tong, Salop, England, and has two daughters and one son.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Primitive Methodist Church,
                  situated in Mackay Street, has seats for 280 people, and there is a Sunday school with accommodation for 250 children. There are 200 children on the roll, and the school is worked by sixteen teachers. The minister in charge holds services at several of the outlying settlements.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Edward Drake,
                  Minister in charge of the Primitive Methodist Church at the Thames is referred to at page 399 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia. He left Wellingtoa in 1897, and after two years in Dunedin, settled at the Thames in March, 1899. In that year Mr. Drake was married to a daughter of Mr. Alfred Hanson, of Dunedin.

              

              

                
                


                  
Thames Baptist Church.
                  Soon after the opening of the Thames goldfields in August, 1867, a number of the members of the Baptist Church in Auckland removed to the Thames, and, as soon as a convenient room could be obtained, met for worship each Sabbath morning. Their numbers gradually increasing, they took steps to erect a chapel, and a freehold site at the corner of Willoughby and Baillie Streets was generously presented by the native chiefs, Taipari and Rapana. In January, 1869, the Rev. Stuart Wilson, a Baptist minister from Victoria, arrived in Auckland, and, having made the acquaintance of the Rev. P. H. Cornford, the pastor of the Baptist Church in that city, was by him introduced to the brethren at the Thames, the result being that they invited him to assist them in establishing a church. By earnest and united efforts the chapel, which seats 200 persons, was erected, and opened for public worship on Sunday, the 9th of May, 1869. On the 27th of September, in the same year, the members, numbering twenty-five, were formally united as a church by the Rev. P. H. Cornford, a letter of dismissal for that purpose having been obtained from the parent church in Auckland. A Sabbath school in connection with the church was established on the 11th of July, 1869, a Tract Distributors' Society in 1871, and a Cottage Meeting Society in 1875. The Rev. S. Wilson was the first minister of the church, and retained the pastorate for about two years. In 1889 the Baptist and Congregational Churches




united for work and worship, and the Rev. W. R. Woolley, who settled at the Thames in 1883 ministered for many years to both churches.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Arthur Dewdney,
                  Minister in charge at the Thames Baptist Church, was born in Surrey, England, in 1864. He received his theological education at Spurgeon's College, in London, and his first charge was at Spreydon, Canterbry, where he commenced to minister on the 1st of May, 1887, having come to Wellington in the s.s. “Aorangi.” Five years later to a day, Mr. Dewdney took up his duties in Oamaru, where he became prominently engaged in the Prohibition movement, and was president of the Oamaru branch of the Prohibition League. He entered on his present charge at the Thames in July, 1899. Mr. Dewdney was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. J. Sayers, of Dorking, Surrey, and has one son.
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Congregational Church,
                 
 Mary Street, Thames. On the 25th of August, 1871, a few friends met for the purpose of establishing a Congregational Church at the Thames. A schoolroom was duly secured, and on the first Sunday in October, 1871, divine service was held, the Rev. B. C. Butland being the first pastor. About this time a very suitable and valuable building site was presented by two of the members of the congregation, Messrs. Richard and John Hudson, and within a few months a contract was let for a building to cost £478, with seating capacity for 300. Unfortunately a fire swept the block in the year 1876, demolishing the church, which was only insured for £200. Great sympathy was shown by other denominations, however, and immediate steps were taken towards rebuilding, the result being the erection of the present building at a cost of £917, with seating accommodation for about 350. This property has recently been handed over by the local trustees to the Congregational Union of New Zealand, who are the present trustees. In September, 1874, the Rev. Richard Laishley, of Melbourne, succeeded the Rev. B. C. Butland, and in January, 1883, the Rev. T. Adams assumed charge for about eighteen months, when Mr. Laishley, who had just returned from England, again took up the work. He retained the pastorate until September, 1886, when he was succeeded by the Rev. B. L. Thomas, from Wales, who remained about twelve months. The church was then, for the first time since its formation, without a pastor for several months, but in February, 1888, the Rev. E. Hampden-Cook, B.A., took charge, and continued in the circuit till May, 1889. In the following month of that year the church united with the local Baptist cause, and since that date the united Sunday services have been conducted in the Mary Street Church, under the pastorate of the Rev. W. R. Woolley, Baptist minister, the body being now known as the Baptist and Congregational Church. The building is free from debt, and has been so for some years. There is a Sunday school in active operation in connection with the church, and a Christian
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Endeavour Society and mission to the local Chinese—held in conjunction with the Baptists.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Salvation Army Barracks,
                  in Pollen Street, can seat 500 people, and at the back there is a junior soldiers' barracks with accommodation for 150 persons. The strength of the corps, which was founded in 1884, is about ninety.

              

            

            

              
Social.

              

                
                


                  
Lodge Of Light,
                  454, I.C. Officers for 1900: A. Wells, W.M., F. J. Smith, S. W., J. F. Inglis, J.W., W. Johns, S.D., W. P. Johnson, J.D., J. Shand, I.G., and G. Page, secretary and treasurer. This lodge was established in 1870, and has about sixty members. Its fine hall, built in brick and plaster at the cost of £800, is in Queen Street, Thames.

              

              

                
                


                  
Lodge Sir Walter Scott,
                  No. 15, N.Z.C. Officers for 1900: J. P. Williams, W. M., W. H. Lucas, S.W., N. A. Pearce, J.W., J. West, P.M., treasurer, and A. Bruce, secretary. The lodge had 127 members in 1900. Monthly meetings are held in the Freemasons' Hall, Owen Street.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Loyal Waikato Lodge,
                  I.O.O.F., M.U. Officers for 1900: W. G. Lang, N.G., W. H. Freeman, V.G., J. Lang, G.M., R. W. Rowe, elective secretary, J. Rowe, permanent secretary, and R. W. Akers, treasurer. This lodge has 266 members and its accumulated funds exceed £4000.

              

              

                
                


                  
Court Pride Of Parnell,
                  A.O.F., 4409, was established in 1863 at the Thames. Officers for 1901: Messrs D. Henderson, C.R., G. W. Clark, senior, S.C.R., G. W. Clark, junior, S.W., T. Burritt, J.W., J. Duggan, treasurer, and W. A. Carter, secretary. There are about 120 members, and the accumulated funds amount to £4900.

              

              

                
                


                  
Court Pride Of The North,
                  5575, A.O.F., was established at the Thames in 1875. Officers for 1900: T. W. Somerville, C.R., J. Redwood, S.C.R., T. Johnston, S.W., D. Redwood, J.W., W. R. Galbraith, S.B., D. H. Redwood, J.B., G. Gribble, treasurer, and H. Kennerley, secretary. This court has 114 members, and its accumulated funds amount to £340.

              

              

                
                


                  
Grahamstown Branch,
                  No. 35, H.A.C.B.S., was established in 1870. Officers for 1900: Messrs R. Kenny, junior, president, W. J. Nolan, vice-president, J. M. Foy, secretary, G. Kenny, treasurer, H. P. Farrely, warden, J. Twohill, guardian; Messrs R. Kenny, senior, J. McIntyre, and J. Twohill, trustees; and Drs Callan and Bond, medical attendants. The society's hall in Pollen Street will seat 300 persons.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Excelsior
                  
                  No. 6, L.O.L. Officers for 1900: Messrs J. McDonald, W.M., G. S. Clark, D.M., J. Johnston, treasurer, R. Scott, chaplain, and J. Patterson, secretary. This lodge was established in 1868.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Prince Of Wales Lodge
                  
                  of the Protestant Alliance Friendly Society of Australasia, was established at the Thames in 1873. Officers for 1900: W. B. McDonald, W.M., J. W. Gwilliam, D.M., R. Scott, treasurer, and J. McDonald, secretary. The accumulated funds amount to about £1300, and there are 124 members.

              

              

                
                


                  
Hauraki Rowing Club.
                  Officers for 1900: Messrs A. M. Myers, commodore, J. M. Foy, president, T. Somerville, captain, and H. G. Gillespie, secretary and treasurer. The club was established many years ago; it owns a large shed at the Shortland wharf, and has a fair plant, chiefly whaleboats.

              

              

                
                


                  
Thames Cricket Association.
                  Officers for 1900: Mr. N. Pearce, chairman, and Messrs J. Pratt, N. Bowden, P. Watson, T. Aitken, W. Rudkin, W. Donavan, and J. Ryan, committee of management; Mr. W. A. Carter, treasurer, and Mr. H. G. Nicoll, secretary. The associated clubs are the Tararu, St. Alban's and Foundry senior and junior clubs.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    St. Alban's Cricket Club
                  
                  dates from 1868, when it was a junior body, but on account of the large number of its players it soon became a senior club. Officers for 1900: Messrs H. J. Greenslade, patron, W. Scott, president, Rev. D. J. Murray and Messrs R. R. McGregor, J. Renshaw, J. Loughlin, A. Court and C. Brown, vice-presidents; J. Pratt, captain, W. Renshaw, junior captain, and B. H. Low, secretary and treasurer. The club in its first year won both senior and junior championships under the local association.
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                    The Thames Rugby Union
                  
                  is an old established body. Officers for 1900: Mr J. McIntyre, chairman, Messrs D. Twohill, F. Ladner, W. McGregor, T. Scott and H. Koefoed, trustees; Mr. H. G. Nicoll, secretary. There are three senior clubs—namely, the Thames, Native Rose, and Rovers, and three junior clubs—True Blue, Carlton, and Nelson, belonging to the Union. In football the Thames is very strong, and has the distinction of being the only union in the colony which has beaten Auckland, the champion provincial union, for three consecutive years.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Thames Jockey Club
                  
                  was established about 1875. Officers for 1900: Hon, J. McGowan, president, Mr. A. Smith, vice-president, Mr. C. J. Winder, treasurer, Mr. E. McDonnell, clerk of the course, and Mr. W. H. Potts, secretary. The racecourse is situated at Parawai, where the club owns thirty acres of land, on which it has spent about £2000 in grassing, draining, and erecting new buildings since 1896. The grandstand is erected on a hill and has seating accommodation for 500 persons. There are two annual meetings—namely, on the 26th and 27th of December, and on the 1st Monday in March.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Thames Poultry, Pigeon And Canary Club
                  
                  was established in 1895. An annual show is held, and at the fifth, which took place on the 21st of July, 1900, there were 423 separate entries for exhibition.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Thames-Hauraki Brass Band
                  
                  was established early in 1899, and has twenty-five active members. Officers for 1900: Mr. E. G. Williams, bandmaster, Mr. T. B. Booth, sergeant and secretary, Mr. A. Henderson, corporal, and Mr. J. Lang, treasurer. The services of the band are available for public functions and charitable performances.

              

              

                
                


                  

Wildman, Thos.
                 , Teacher of Violin and Orchestral Instruments, Pollen Street, Thames. Mr. Wildman was born in 1850 at Settle, West Riding of Yorkshire, and was educated at the Giggleswick Grammar School. He came out to Australia in the “Superb” in 1887, and crossing the Tasman Sea established himself in business at the Music Warehouse, Alexandra Hall, New Plymouth. After being five years in business there, Mr. Wildman followed his profession for two years in Gisborne, whence he moved, in 1894, to Whangarei. He now (1901) resides at Thames, and is well known as a successful teacher.

              

              

                
                


                  
Wildman, Mrs.
                 , Teacher of Pianoforte, Thames. Mrs Wildman is a daughter of the late Mr. Francis, Chief Surveyor to the Corporation of Manchester. She received the groundwork of her musical training from Madame Etinrant, and was for some time a member of Sir Charles Halle's Chorus. Mrs. Wildman was for a few years a private governess at the Thames, and is now a teacher of the pianoforte.

              

            

            

              
Press.

              

                
                


                  

                    The “Thames Advertiser”
                  
                  appeared for the first time on the 11th of April, 1868. It was for some time published by Messrs Wilkinson and Horton, who were succeeded by Mr. W. Wilkinson, the senior partner, who published the paper for a number of years. A public company called the Thames Newspaper and Printing Company was then established to purchase the paper. About three years later Colonel William Fraser became the proprietor, and in the end of 1894, it was bought by the present owner, the Hon. W. McCullough. The “Advertiser” is a four page double demy sheet of twenty-eight columns, of which about fifteen are devoted to reading matter, and the balance to advertisements. Cables are received and published daily. The paper is Liberal in politics, and is printed at the office of the proprietor in Albert Street.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Ernest Vivian Hall,
                  Editor of the “Thames Advertiser, was born at the Thames in 1878, and was educated at public schools and at the Thames High School. Mr. Hall was brought up to journalism, and became a reporter on the “Evening Star” in 1894. Three years later he was appointed to the position of editor of the “Thames Advertiser.” Mr. Hall takes an interest in football and cricket and has been associated with various football clubs and with the school of Mines Cricket Club.
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                    “Evening Star.”
                  
                  This journal was established about 1869, and was originally printed in Willoughby Street. For a number of years it belonged to the firm of Hopcraft, McCullough and Co. Since Mr. Hopcraft's death Mr. McCullough has conducted the paper as sole proprietor. The “Evening Star” and “Advertiser” are published in a single storey wooden building, which contains editorial, publishing, and jobbing offices, and machine and composing rooms. The plant is driven by a Pelton water wheel, and consists of two Wharfdale presses, two hand presses for jobbing work, a full book-binding plant, and large fonts of type. Electric light is laid on throughout the building, and is produced by a dynamo on the premises. The “Evening Star” is a double royal sheet of thirty-two columns of which twelve are reading matter. The politics of the paper are Liberal.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Leonard Walter Parsons,
                  Editor of the “Evening Star” at the Thames, was born in Kenilworth, England, in 1860. He was educated at Bishop Vesey's Grammar School, Sutton Coldfield, near Birmingham, and was brought up to journalism in England. Mr. Parsons arrived in Auckland in 1879 by the ship “City of Agra,” and for a short time acted as reporter on the “Auckland Star.” Since 1880, when he arrived at the Thames, he has been connected with the “Thames Advertiser” or “Evening Star, except for two years, while he was editing the Gisborne “Herald.” Mr. Parsons has worked for the “Evening Star” since 1896, and has been its editor since January, 1900. He was married, in 1882, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Enson, of the Thames, and has one son and five daughters.

              

            

            

              
Legal.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Thames Warden's and Magistrate's Court
                  
                  was established about 1870. The building, which is of two stories, contains, besides the courthouse, offices for the inspector of mines, district surveyor, warden's private room, clerk's room, public room and strong room, and the police station and post and telegraph offices are in another part of the same building. The court has jurisdiction over the counties of Thames, Ohinemuri, and Coromandel. Mr. Robert Smelt Bush is the stipendiary magistrate and warden.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Jordan,
                  Clerk of the Magistrate's and Warden's Court, was born in County Kerry, Ireland, in 1864. He was educated at the Auckland Grammar School, and entered the Government service in 1884 as a cadet in the Magistrate's Court. In 1892 he became Clerk of the Court for Paeroa and Te Aroha, and was promoted to the Thames in 1896. Mr. Jordan was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. J. W. Walker, well known on the Thames, and has two sons and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Thames Police District
                  
                  extends from Hikutaia to beyond Tapu. The staff consists of the sergeant in charge a detective, and six constables.

              

              

                
                


                  
Sergeant Andrew Clarke,
                  Officer in charge of the Thames Police District, was born in County Armagh, Ireland, in 1838. He came to Auckland by the ship “Ganges” in 1863, joined the police force in 1864, and was appointed to the Thames in April, 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Shortland Police Station
                  
                  was originally used as a police gaol for a good many years. The building is of wood and contains seven rooms, and there are six cells behind the building.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Richard James Hodgson,
                  Constable-in-charge of the Shortland Police Station, was born in Canterbury in 1870. He joined the police force in 1892, and was stationed two years in Auckland and four years at Eden Terrace, before being appointed to the Thames in 1898.

              

              

                
                


                  

Clendon, Edwin John,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, Thames. Mr. Clendon is a son of



Mr. James Stephenson Clendon, who came to this colony in 1840, and settled at the Bay of Islands, where he was for many years the Stipendiary Magistrate of the district, and was very highly esteemed by the Maoris and his fellow-settlers. Mr. E. J. Clendon was born at the Bay of Islands in 1865, and was educated at the Government schools, Auckland, and at the Whangarei High School, in which he won two gold medals as dux of the school. For twelve years Mr. Clendon was with Messrs Devore and Cooper, the well-known barristers of Auckland. He was admitted to the Bar in 1887, and settled at the Thames during the early part of 1892.
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Day, Victor Grace,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, sometime of Thames. Mr. Day, who came to the colony in 1879, settled at Napier, where he was articled to his uncle, Mr. W. L. Rees, the well-known solicitor of Napier and Gisborne. In 1884, Mr. Day was admitted a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court by Mr. Justice Gillies, and in the following February he began practice at Tapanui, Otago. Before the close of the year, however, Mr. Day removed to Gore, where he practised until March, 1887, when he entered into partnership with Mr. Rees in Gisborne. In November, 1886, this partnership was dissolved, and Mr. Day established a business at the Thames, where he had a large practice, principally in native land work. Mr. Day was born in London School and at St. Matthew's Grammar School. His father, Mr. William Day, being a member of the Haberdasher's Company of London, Mr. Day was entitled to compete for the Ask Scholarship, which he gained when at the age of fourteen years. This qualified him for a three years' course at King's College School, and at the conclusion of his term there, Mr. Day entered the London and South-Western Bank, where he remained three years. As he is a relative of the world-renowned Graces, it need hardly be said that Mr. Day takes a great interest in cricket. Mr. Day is now District Land Registrar and Registrar of Deeds and Deputy Commissioner of Stamps for Westland, and, as such, he resides at Hokitika.
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                    Miller And Son
                  
                  (James Armstrong Miller and Ernest Napier Miller), Barristers, Solicitors, and Notaries, Albert Street, Thames. This firm was constituted in the beginning of 1900, but the business had been previously conducted for many years by the senior partner.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Armstrong Miller,
                  Senior Partner in the firm of Miller and Son, was born at Tonga, in the Friendly Islands, in 1848, his father, Mr. G. H. Miller, M.D., being engaged as a Wesleyan missionary amongst the natives of those islands. The subject of this notice came to New Zealand with his parents in 1854, and attended school at Auckland. Shortly after reaching the age of twelve he was articled to Mr. Andrew Beveridge, solicitor, and was subsequently in the office of Mr. T. B. Gillies (afterwards Mr. Justice Gillies), solicitor, for a period of about three years. Mr. Miller passed his examination early in 1869, but, not being of age, was not admitted to the Bar until a year later. He removed to the Thames in July, 1869, and, immediately after being admitted, commenced the practice of his profession in conjunction with Mr. A. Beveridge, with whom he was connected for two years. He then became associated with Mr. J. E. Macdonald, the style of the firm being Messrs. Macdonald and Miller. Six years later the former was appointed Chief Judge of the Native Land Court, and consequently retired from the firm. Mr. Miller was appointed a notary public about 1876. In church matters, Mr. Miller has for many years been a member of the Wesleyan body, and for the past twenty-nine years has acted as secretary to the board of trustees of the Thames Wesleyan Church.
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Mr. Ernest Napier Miller
                  
                 
 is the eldest son of Mr. J. A. Miller, and was born at the Thames in 1872. He was educated at the Thames High School, where he passed the general knowledge examinations for solicitors and barristers; studied for his profession in his father's office, and was admitted as a solicitor in 1899. Mr. Miller is prominent in church and temperance work at the Thames, is a trustee of the Wesleyan Church, and was circuit steward in 1900–1901. He is at present the President of the Thames Sunday School Union, and for about four years he held the position of secretary to the Thames Prohibition
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League, of which he is a vice-president. Mr. Miller was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. W. D. Reid, of the Thames, and has one daughter and one son.

              

            

            

              
Medical.

              

                
                


                  

Bond, Joseph Henry,
                  L.R.C.S.I., L.R.C.P.I., L.M., Physician and Surgeon, Queen Street and Sealey Street, Thames. Dr. Bond was born in Dublin, in 1856, and took his degrees there in 1879. After practising for five years at Brighton, England, he settled in Auckland in 1891, and, five years later, removed to the Thames.

              

              

                
                


                  

Callan, Patrick,
                  L.K.Q.C.P.I., L.R.C.S.I., Physician and Surgeon, Mary Street, Thames. Dr. Callan was born in County Louth, Ireland, in 1842, and was educated in Dublin, where he took his degrees in 1869. Having practised for a number of years, he came to Auckland by the ship “Ben Nevis” in 1880, and shortly afterwards settled at the Thames. He was married, in 1869, to a daughter of the late Mr. H. Stewart, County Wexford, and has four sons and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Lapraik, George,
                  M.B., C.M., (Glassgow University), Physician and Surgeon, Pollen Street, Thames.
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Thomas, Henry William Earp,
                  Surgeon Dentist, Pollen Street, Thames. Mr. Thomas, who is a dental surgeon by examination, established his business in 1894.

              

              

                
                


                  

Wright, Harry Lambert,
                  Surgeon Dentist, 139 Pollen Street, Thames. This practice was founded in 1888 by Mr W. H. Wright, of Auckland, and was taken over by the present proprietor in 1891. Mr. H. L. Wright was born in Parnell in 1863, and was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School. He commenced the study of his profession with his brother, the late Mr. A. L. Wright, in Shortland Street, Auckland, passed his examination under the Dental Board of New Zealand in Dunedin, and was registered as a surgeon dentist on the 3rd of April, 1888. Mr. Wright was married, in 1888, to a niece of the Rev. B. V. Ashwell, of Taupiri, and has one son and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Denby, George,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Pollen Street, Thames. This business dates from 1869, and the premises consist of a large double-fronted shop of two stories, and with a verandah. The proprietor was born in Yorkshire, England, in 1834. He was brought up to the business in his native land, arrived in Wellington in 1867, and became one of the earliest settlers at the Thames.

              

              

                
                


                  

Hall, John William,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Owen Street, Thames. This business was established by the proprietor soon after the opening of the Thames goldfield in 1867. Mr. Hall was born in 1830, in Leicestershire, England, where he was educated and apprenticed to his profession. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Egmont” in 1858, and engaged in farming at Otahuhu till the opening of the Thames goldfields, when he established his present business. Mr. Hall has always taken a great interest in the botany and flora of New Zealand and in the cultivation of indigenous trees and ferns.

              

              

                
                


                  

Ray, Frederick James,
                  Chemist, Pollen Street, Thames. This business has been conducted since 1896 by Mr. Ray, who was born in Berkshire, England, in 1861, educated in London, and served his apprenticeship at Maidstone, Kent. He was in business on his own account about six years, and came to New Zealand in 1896.

              

            

            

              
Banking.

              

                
                


                  
Bank Of New South Wales, Thames
                 . An agency of this bank was first opened at the Thames in July, 1868, under the management of Mr. H. Jones, at Shortland. Subsequently an agency was also opened at Grahamstown (in March, 1869), but about eighteen months later (in August, 1870) the Shortland agency was closed, since which time the agency at Grahamstown has continued to be the sole Thames branch. At first the premises were leased, but in 1882 the freehold was purchased by the bank. Goldbuying has been a feature of the business, and all the necessary appliances for melting and treating the bullion, from retorted up to refined gold, are in use in the branch.
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Mr. Reginald Smith,
                  Manager of the Thames Branch of the Bank of New South Wales, was born in 1861 in Middlesex, England, and was educated at Palace School, Engfield, near London. He arrived in Port Chalmers in 1876, and shortly afterwards joined the staff of the National Bank of New Zealand, in which he served at Dunedin and elsewhere, and became accountant at Napier in 1883. Three years later Mr. Smith accepted a position as relieving manager in the inspector's department of the Bank of New South Wales, and served in upwards of twenty-five of the Bank's branches in the colony. In 1891 he became manager at the Thames. He was married in the same year, to a daughter of Mr. H. F. Hardy, architect, of Dunedin, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Bank Of New Zealand. Thames
                 , This is said to be the leading bank on the Thames Goldfields, and to do the largest business in the district. The imposing buildings, built in brown stone, are undoubtedly the finest in the place. The bank first opened an agency at Shortland in 1868, but closed it up about two years later. The present branch was established in February, 1869, and has extensive premises, and all the modern appliances for assaying, etc.
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Mr. Alfred Smith,
                  Manager of the Thames branch of the Bank of New Zealand, entered the service of the bank in August, 1873, as a junior clerk at Wanganui. He has since successively filled the positions of teller, accountant, relieving officer, and manager in various parts of the Colony. Mr. Smith was manager for a year at Wanganui, and for two years at Gisborne, and was appointed to the management of the Thames branch of the bank in October, 1894. Mr. Smith is a native of New Zealand, having been born at Wanganui in 1857, where he received his education at the Collegiate School.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Robert Tobin Bush,
                  Assayer and Accountant at the Bank of New Zealand, Thames, is the eldest son of Mr. R. S. Bush, Stipendiary Magistrate and Warden for the Hauraki Peninsula. He was born in 1872 in Auckland, and educated at Opotiki, where, after a year of private study, he entered the service of the Bank in 1886.

              

            

            

              
Professional, Commercial, and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

Baggott, James,
                  Sharebroker, Davey Street. Thames. Mr. Baggott was born in Limerick, Ireland, in 1842, landed in Victoria in 1859, and was engaged in goldmining in that colony till 1862, when he visited Otago. Three years later he went to the West Coast of the South Island, and settled in 1871 at the Thames, where he has conducted business as Thames, where he has conducted business as a sharebroker.

              

              

                
                


                  

Kilgour, Richard,
                  Sharebroker, Albert Street, Thames. This business was established in the early days by Messrs Frater Brothers, who conducted it till May, 1900, when the present proprietor took it over. Mr. Kilgour is the second son of the late Dr. J. Kilgour, of Thames and Auckland, who died in September, 1897. He was born in Geelong, Victoria, in 1856, and after a good many years' experience in the Bank of New Zealand, he retired from the service in March, 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

McGregor, Roderick Ross,
                  Auctioneer and Gum Merchant, Queen Street opposite Government Buildings, Thames. This large business was established many years ago, and the proprietor maintains a considerable stock of household furniture and furnishing, besides carrying on a general auctioneering business. He has been on the Thames since the early days of the field, and has declined to accept public offices in consequence of his time being absorbed in his own business. Mr. McGregor has taken a great interest in mining, and has done much to foster the industry.

              

              

                
                


                  

Melhose, Louis Rudolph Wilhelm,
                  sometime Stock and Share Broker, Exchange Buildings, Albert Street, Thames. Mr. Melhose was born at Stettin, Prussia, on the 20th of April, 1841.
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During his youth he followed a seafaring life and passed his examination as chief mate at the age of eighteen years. In 1862 he sailed from London in the ship “Queen of the Mersey” for Auckland, New Zealand, and engaged in mercantile pursuits for a short period after his arrival. In 1863 he joined Major Von Tempsky's Forest Rangers, in which he served about three years, after which he entered the employment of Mr. Jerome Cadman, who was engaged in the timber business. In July, 1867, Mr. Melhose removed to the Thames, where he joined Mr. James Mackay, junior, and Dr. Pollen in prospecting; but not being successful, he engaged in quartz mining in which he speculated largely and with considerable success. Mr. Melhose embarked in the sharebroking and land agency business in May, 1871, in partnership with Mr. William Mierhouse, but the partnership was dissolved six months later. After that Mr. Melhose continued the business on his own account, and his became the oldest business of its kind on the Thames. He was for many years agent for the Norwich Union Insurance Company, and the Mutual Life Association of Australasia, and was also the local representative of Messrs James Speight and Co., City Brewery, Dunedin. He was one of the oldest members of the Thames Stock Exchange, and was chairman of that association. Mr. Melhose was a member of Corinthian Lodge A.F. and A.M. No. 1655 E.C. He was treasurer of the Lodge for about ten years, and on resigning that office, the members presented him in April, 1894, with a very handsome jewel as a token of their esteem. Mr. Melhose died on the 5th of April, 1900, and the business is now carried on, on behalf of the widow and family, by his daughter, Miss Adeline Melhose.

              

              

                
                


                  

Styak, William Silvester,
                  Share-broker, Albert Street, Thames. Mr. Styak is the eldest son of the late John Styak, J.P., of Green Mount, East Tamaki, New Zealand, and was born in New South Wales, in 1844, and when four years of age came with his father to Auckland, where Mr. Styak, senior, became a large farmer at East Tamaki. Mr. W. S. Styak joined Colonel Nixon's cavalry in the early sixties, and served two years. Having transferred into one of the Waikato Regiments, he obtained a commission as lieutenant, and was afterwards transferred to the commissariat transport corps, in which he served till the close of the war, throughout the Wanganui, Taranaki and Waikato campaigns, and received the New Zealand war medal. Mr. Styak visited the Thames in the early days, and followed mining for a short time. For two years afterwards he was in business as a sharebroker in San Francisco, and returned to Auckland to manage the late Mr. J. Dilworth's properties. On the death of his father, Mr. Styak was for about four years on his farm at East Tamaki, but, having sold the property, he returned to the Thames in 1880, and for some years managed the local brewery, which was, however, destroyed by fire. Since 1882 he has



conducted business on the Thames as a sharebroker. He was married, in 1869, and has a family of two—one daughter and one son. His son is at present (1901) a solicitor in Auckland.
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                    Mountain And Newton
                  
                  (Thomas John Mountain and Alexander Davis Newton), Surveyors, Albert Street, Thames. Mr. Mountain was born in Wellington in 1861, and was educated in that city. He learned his profession as a surveyor in Napier, where he commenced practice on his own account about 1888. Mr. Mountain was afterwards in business in Woodville and Gisborne, before settling at the Thames in 1895. Messrs Mountain and Newton are surveyors for the Mahara Royal, Eclipse, Karaka, Monowai and Golden Belt mines.

              

              

                
                


                  
Foy Bros.
                  (Joseph Michael Foy), Photographers, Pollen Street, Thames. This is claimed to be the oldest business of its kind at the Thames, having been established in 1872. The studio is replete with all the latest improvements, and the proprietor is ever on the alert for anything fresh in his line. Many samples of his work are to be seen in the illustrations of this portion of the present volume of the Cyclopedia.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. J. M. Foy
                  
                  was born in London in 1847, and came with his father, the late Mr. James Foy, to New Zealand in 1849. After leaving school he assisted his father in the building trade at Onehunga. In 1867 he entered the employ of Mr. Webster, photographer, of Auckland, and eighteen months later commenced business in that line on his own account. Mr. Foy joined his brother, Mr. James Joseph Foy, in 1872, in establishing the present business at the Thames. The latter died early in 1890, and since that date the subject of this notice has thrown all his time and energies into the improvement of the business. Mr. Foy has for many years been a member of the H.A.C.B.S., Grahams-town branch, and has filled various offices in that body, including those of president, vice-president, and secretary, the latter of which he has held for the past twelve years. He was elected in 1894 to represent the South Ward on the Thames Borough Council, and was re-elected in 1896, but is not now a member. On the death of Mr. Mulligan, one of the trustees of the Thames Hospital, in 1896, Mr. Foy was appointed to fill the vacancy, and, at the annual meeting of the subscribers to the Hospital in 1897, was unanimously elected to represent their interests on the Board.
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Learmouth, William,
                  Baker and Confectioner, Brown Street, Thames. This well known business was established about 1880, and has been conducted by Mr. Learmouth since 1896. The premises include a large shop and refreshment room, with a bakery and dwelling. It is a two storey wooden building, with a verandah, and an extensive local trade is carried on. Mr. Learmouth was born at Falkirk, Scotland, in 1861, and learned the trade with his father, who was in business for a great many years. Landing in Sydney in 1876. Mr. Learmouth worked there at his trade for over three years, when he came to New Zealand, and was in partnership with a brother at the Bay of Islands for over ten years. He settled at the Thames in 1890, and worked in connection with Mr. Elijah Rollerson's trade till he took over his present business. Before settling at the Thames, Mr. Learmouth was in business in the Auckland district for over four years. He was married, in 1890, to the youngest daughter of Mr. E. Rollerson, of the Thames, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Mennie And Dey
                  
                  (James Milne Mennie), Bakers and Confectioners, Queen Street, Thames. Head Office and Factory, Albert Street, Auckland. This business was established at the Thames in 1874, and was extended to Auckland ten years later.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Rowe,
                  Manager of the Thames Branch of Messrs Mennie and Dey's business, is the eldest surviving son of the late Mr. W. Rowe, once prominently connected with the celebrated Caledonia mine. He has managed the business since 1896, and is secretary of the Loyal Waikato Lodge of Oddfellows.

              

              

                
                


                  

Chappell, Francis,
                  Builder and Contractor, Thames. Mr. Chappell has been well known at Auckland, Thames, and Coromandel for the third of a century. Born in Nottingham, England, in 1835, he was apprenticed when fifteen years of age, to a builder of Grantham, in Lincolnshire. Five years later he returned to his native town, where he was employed at his trade till 1863, when he came to Auckland, per ship “Tyburnia.” He was then for three years under Mr. Robert Ridley, architect, of Auckland, and in that capacity assisted in the erection of the first building occupied by the “New Zealander” newspaper, Shortland Street. For a further period of three years, Mr. Chappell was engaged principally in the erection of batteries at Coromandel, and he afterwards went to the Thames, to assist Mr. John Goodall, civil engineer, in the building of a large battery at Tookey's Flat. For nine years, Mr. Chappell remained in Mr. Goodall's employment, attending to all the carpentry work in connection with numberous batteries, and then he went into business on his own account. Among a number of prominent public and private buildings erected by Mr. Chappell may be mentioned the Convent, Queen's Chambers, the new Thames County Chamber, the Primitive Methodist Church, and the private house of Mr. Court.



draper. Mr. Chappell was a member of the Thames Borough Council for a short time, and for several years did good service on the licensing committee and the Parawai School Committee. In Oddfellowship he is probably the oldest member in the district, having been initiated more than forty years ago, and his present lodge is the “Fountain of Friendship,” Auckland. In 1862, Mr. Chappell was married at Grantham to Miss Ann Bristol, but this lady died in 1874, leaving an only child (now Mrs. C. T. Saunders, of Waihi). Five years later, Mr. Chappell married Miss Ann Hawkes, and has four daughters and two sons.
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Donovan, Thomas,
                  Builder and Carpenter, Thames. Mr. Donovan was born in London in November, 1840, and learned his trade and followed it in the great metropolis. In 1863 he came out to New Zealand, in the ship “Tyburnia,” and on arrival in Auckland experienced the miseries of quarantine, which were not lightened by the fact that his ship was the first quarantined in the port. He soon found employment at his trade, and in 1867 went to the Thames. After a short experience of mining, Mr. Donovan established his present business. He has erected many of the finest edifices in the district, including the Old Men's Home, two of the public schools, the original Baptist Church, his own house in Pollen Street, and many others. Some very fine houses in Auckland also have been erected by Mr. Donovan, who has had a large experience in removing and rebuilding large and small structures. For many years, Mr. Donovan has been actively connected with the Thames Baptist Church.

              

              

                
                


                  

Hay, William Matthew,
                  Contractor and Builder, Pollen Street, Thames. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Hay came to New Zealand with his parents in 1860, his father following mining pursuits in Otago for some years. The subject of this notice learned his trade at Tuapeka, Otago, serving an apprenticeship of five years with Messrs. Henderson and Amers, and remaining some two years subsequently with Mr. Henderson, thus gaining a knowledge of cabinetmaking. After following his trade as a journeyman for a few years he began business as a contractor, and, removing to Blenheim about 1882, carried on a large and extensive business for some fourteen years, during which time he erected many schools, churches, and other public as well as private buildings. He went to the Thames in January, 1896, and now carries on a considerable contract business in the district, giving employment to a large number of hands. Mr. Hay was born at Sandhurst, Victoria, in 1854, and has had a large experience as a builder.
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Twentyman, Robert,
                  Builder and Undertaker, Pollen Street, Thames. This business was established in 1875 by the late Mr. W. Twentyman, father of the present proprietor. When Mr. Twentyman died in 1888, the business was taken over by two of his sons, under the style of R. and W. Twentyman. In 1897 the junior partner retired, and the business has since been conducted by Mr. Robert Twentyman, who was born in Onehunga in 1866, educated at public schools and at the Thames High School, and was brought up to business by his father. As a Forester Mr. Twentyman belongs to Court Pride of Parnell. He was married, in 1893, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. Peace, of Auckland, and has two daughters.
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                    Menzies and Co.
                  
                 
 (Robert Robertson Menzies), Thames Aerated Water Factory, Pollen Street, Thames. Mr. Menzies was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1854, and came out to New Zealand with his mother in 1859, in the ship “Evening Star.” The family settling in Auckland, the subject of this notice attended school in that city for several years, and began his business career as an errand boy. In 1869 he moved to the Thames, and was employed in the first aerated water factory opened in that town. Subsequently he went to the Fiji Islands, and for some years worked at the same employment. Returning to Auckland, he served an apprenticeship with Messrs. Fraser and Tinne, mechanical engineers, and after five years entered the service of Messrs Gledhill and Co., aerated water manufacturers. He afterwards took the management of the
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Te Aroha Mineral Water Company, and held the position until 1890, when he purchased the business in which he had formerly been employed at the Thames. Since coming into his hands the business has undergone a very marked change—the latest improved machinery has been added, and many important additions to the premises, etc., have also been made. Mr. Menzies has a thorough knowledge of his business, and has also the advantage of being a mechanical engineer. The trade of the firm is very large, and is rapidly increasing in the town and surrounding districts. It manufactures all kinds of summer and winter refreshing drinks, and its cordials have a high reputation throughout the Thames district. There are branches of the business at Paeroa, Te Aroha, and Waihi, and constant employment is found for a large staff of hands. Mr. Menzies was elected to the Thames Borough Council in 1893, but after serving two years was compelled to resign on account of pressure of business.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Puriri Co-Operative Dairy
                  
                  (John Jessop, proprietor), Pollen Street, Thames. This establishment was founded in 1898. Fresh milk and dairy produce come in daily from Puriri and other districts, and the milk is delivered throughout the town.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Jessop,
                  the Proprietor, was born near Wakefield, Yorkshire, England, in 1862. He was brought up to a country life with an uncle, and came to Auckland in 1884 by the s.s. “Ruapehu” on her maiden trip. Mr. Jessop had experience in the Waikato with Mr Henry Reynolds, and afterwards at Devonport with Mr Stark. He was for some time in business in the stationery and fancy goods line in Hobson Street, Auckland, and then established the Puriri Co-operative Dairy. Mr. Jessop was married, in 1884, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Scholey, of Wakefield, and has three sons and two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

McDonald, William Bramwell,
                  Painter and Decorator, Queen Street. Thames. Born at the Thames on the 1st of March, 1873, Mr. McDonald is a son of Mr. John McDonald, sailmaker, one of the earliest settlers in the district. Receiving his education at the Kauaeranga Boys' School, under Mr. Horatio Phillips, the subject of this notice, at the age of sixteen years, entered the service of Mr. H. D. Driver, painter and decorator, and with him learned his trade, serving some four years. Subsequently he worked as a journeyman painter, and in June, 1896, entered into business on his own account. Mr. McDonald is a young man, but is already well known throughout the district as a skilful and industrious tradesman. He has had quite a number of contracts for decorating and finishing large buildings in the district, including the new Thames County Council Chambers.
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                    Phillipps, W. And Son
                  
                  (John Phillipps and Frank Phillipps), Thames Branch, Pollen Street; head office, Queen Street, Auckland. This business was established in 1867. The premises are large and convenient, and the business has long been under the management of Mr. Nathaniel Payne.
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Rae Bros.
                  (Arthur Campbell and Herbert Lewis Rae), Decorators and Painters, Pollen Street, Thames. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. A. C. Rae, the senior partner, was born at Tauranga in 1865, and moved when quite young with his father, Mr. Lewis Rae, to the Thames. After leaving school he learned the trade of a painter with Mr. P. J. Burch, and subsequently perfected himself at his calling in Auckland. He then worked as painter and decorator in various parts of the Hauraki Goldfields. For some years past he has been associated with his brother, Mr. Herbert L. Rae, at their present address, where they carry on a large and lucrative business. Mr. A. C. Rae has for many years been a member of A.O.F. Court Pride of Parnell, No. 4409, and also of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge of Freemasons, N.Z.C. He has always taken an active interest in athletics, having been an early member of the Thames Football Club, one of the organizers of the Football Association, and a delegate for that organization on three different occasions. He has been for many years an active member of the Hauraki Rowing Club, holding the position of secretary for a lengthy period. Mr. Rae is also a life member of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade.
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Court, Alfred,
                  Draper and Clothier and Direct Importer, Mary and Pollen Streets. Thames. Mr. Court's business was established in 1896, and is conducted in a one storey shop with a verandah, and three large windows to Mary Street and three to Pollen Street. There are seven departments, including clothing, Manchester goods, millinery, fancy goods, mantles, dresses, and underclothing. Mr. Court was born at Bradley Green, near Redditch, Worcestershire, England, in 1855. He was educated at Feckinham, and apprenticed as a draper in Birmingham, where he was in business with a partner for two years, and afterwards with a brother for five years in Coleshill Street, Birmingham; but he took over the last-mentioned business on his own account in 1879, and conducted it till 1896, when he came out to New Zealand, and shortly afterwards established his present business at the Thames. For four years before coming to



Auckland, Mr. Court was London buyer for the well known firm of Court Bros., of Auckland. He was married, in 1879, to a daughter of the late Mr. E. Pomfret, of Birmingham, and has one son and one daughter.
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                    Cullen, G. and Co.
                  
                  (George Cullen), Importers and Cash Drapers, Pollen Street, Thames. This firm established its business in 1896, and conducts it in a large double-fronted shop, with a verandah. There is a full stock, and the departments include drapery, millinery, and furnishings. The greater portion of the stock is imported direct from the best markets of the world, and the volume of trade has steadily increased.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Cullen,
                  who is a son of the late Mr. Cullen, General Manager of the Kaiapoi Woollen Company, was born in Limerick, Ireland, in 1867, and was educated in Bradford, Yorkshire, England. He learned his trade in New Zealand, and settled at the Thames in 1896, when he established his present business. As a Freemason Mr. Cullen is attached to Lodge of Light, I.C. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. G. Meachem, and has two daughters.
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                    Hallenstein Bros. and Co.
                  
                  (New Zealand Clothing Factory), Thames Branch, Albert Street, Thames; Mr. George Page, manager. This branch of the well known firm of Hallenstein Bros. and Co., has been established for many years, and the premises, a two-storey building, contain a shop and office.

              

              

                
                

                  

Hetherington, Samuel,
                 
 Draper, Pollen Street, Thames. This extensive business was established by Mr. Hetherington in 1874, in a very small way as compared with its present dimensions. For fully a quarter of a century the business has been steadily growing. The premises are of two stories, the frontage being 60 feet and the depth 120 feet. All departments of the drapery trade are represented, inclusive of millinery and furnishing. Mr. Hetherington, who was born in the North of Ireland, came to this Colony in the early days. Settling in Auckland, he found employment in the line of business which he has followed up to the present. He went to the Thames in 1868, and gained further experience before establishing himself on his own account. Mr. Hetherington occasionally visits England to buy for his business, and during his absence his eldest son, Mr. Samuel A. Hetherington, has entire charge—a responsibility for which he is well fitted, as he has been associated with the business for the past fourteen years. The branch at Te Aroha, which has been established about eleven years, and is the principal establishment of
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its kind there, is under the management of Mr. William Hetherington, brother of the proprietor. Mr. Hetherington has been for many years connected with the Wesleyan body and is a trustee of the Wesleyan Church. He is the attorney in New Zealand for the Waitekauri Cross Gold Mining Company, and for the New Zealand and General Mining Syndicate.

              

              

                
                


                  

Wood, Robert,
                  Draper and Clothier, Caledonian House, Albert and Davey Streets, Thames. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by Mr. Wood in October, 1896, when he arrived at the Thames. The premises are large and handsome, of great depth, and with a very fine front. A very large stock is carried, comprising drapery, millinery, clothing, hats, caps, men's mercery, etc. The interior is fitted handsomely with double counters, and the millinery department and show-room are elaborately decorated. Mrs. Wood, who is a thoroughly experienced milliner, has charge of this branch of the business. Mr. Wood does all his own buying, and personally manages the business. A very large strong-room, for the safe keeping of some of the most valuable portions of the stock, is a feature of the establishment. Mr. Wood is a native of Berwick-on-Tweed, Northumberland, England, and learned his business in Glasgow, where he spent about fifteen years in acquiring a thorough knowledge of the drapery business in all its branches. He came to this colony in 1892, and was engaged in some of the principal establishments in New Zealand, prior to entering into business on his own account at the Thames.

              

              

                
                


                  

Wylie, William Smyth,
                  Draper, Pollen Street, Thames. Mr. Wylie was born in the County of Londonderry, Ireland, in 1855. He learned his trade in his native place, and afterwards became acquainted with some of the leading factories and warehouses of Great Britain. For four years he was employed in Lurgan, the chief centre of the linen industry. In 1881 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Lady Jocelyn,” and almost immediately settled at the Thames, and commenced business in a small shop, which was soon considerably enlarged to meet a steadly growing business, which was afterwards connected with more commodious and more central premises. Mr. Wylie now conducts two shops, which are both fully stocked with drapery, clothing, mercery, millinery and furnishing goods, and dress-making is also carried on. He is a large buyer of colonial manufactured goods, and from the local warehouses, and also imports direct from the best Home markets. Mr. Wylie was married to a daughter of the late Mr. Henry Driver, Pollen Street, Thames, and has now a family of seven children.
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Milnes, Edward James,
                  Tailor, Pollen Street, Thames. Private residence, Sealey Street. This business has been conducted by the proprietor since its establishment in 1890. The premises consist of a single fronted shop with a verandah, and with workrooms behind. Mr. Milnes, who was born in Staffordshire, England, in 1865, was brought as an infant to Auckland by his parents by the barque “Bolivar, and he was educated in Auckland and at the Thames. He served an apprenticeship as a tailor at the Thames, and after a short experience in Auckland, returned and worked for employers until he founded his present business. As a Freemason Mr. Milnes is a Past Master of Lodge Sir Walter Scott, N.Z.C., and as a Forester he has passed the chairs in Court Pride of the North. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. John Brumby, of Te Aroha, and has three daughters.
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Muir, John,
                  Merchant Tailor, Corner of Brown and Williamson Streets, Thames. Mr. Muir claims to have the oldest established business in his line at the Thames. He was born at Douglas, Scotland, in 1835, and learned his trade at the village of Bothwell, a few miles from his birthplace. After serving an apprenticeship of five years he worked as a journeyman tailor in Glasgow, and also for a short time in London, subsequently sailing from Liverpool in the ship “Red Jacket,” bound for Melbourne, Victoria. Mr. Muir came to New Zealand in 1864, and commenced colonial life by trying his fortunes on the goldfields of Otago; ten months later he went back to Victoria, but, after remaining about six months, returned to settle down in New Zealand, and engaged in business at Invercargill as a merchant tailor. Selling out about four years later, he again went in quest of gold, this time to Hokitika. He gravitated to the Thames in 1869, for three years followed mining pursuits in that district, and subsequently opened a small tailoring establishment in Owen Street. Moving to his present commodious premises some twenty-six years ago, his business has steadily advanced towards prosperity, and now he carries a large and varied stock of tweeds, etc., and gives employment to a numerous staff of skilled hands. Mr. Muir has been for many years an active member of St. James' Pres-byterian Church. He takes an interest in friendly societies, being a member of A.O.F. Court Pride of Parnell, while he has also been connected for a number of years with the Sir Walter Scott Lodge of Freemasons, No. 15, N.Z.C. Mr. Muir was married at Auckland in August, 1874, to a daughter of Mr. John Flett, an early settler of that city, and has five children.
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The Thames Land, Building And Investment Society (Permanent),
                  was established on the 26th of July, 1871.



Directors for 1900: Messrs J. Renshaw, E. Rollerson, J. Danby, J. L. Walton, J. W. Poulgrain, J. Read, J. Patterson, T. Donovan, R. B. Hudson, and J. Kernick; Mr S. T. Whitehouse, Secretary. This Society has had a long and successful career, and is in a strong position. Its offices are in Albert Street, in the building originally owned by the Bank of Australasia.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Samuel Thomas Whitehouse,
                  Secretary of the Thames Building Society, was born in Staffordshire, England, in 1843, and was educated at Birmingham, where he became an accountant. He arrived in Auckland in 1864 by the ship “John Duncan,” and was for a time at the Albertland Settlement. Mr. Whitehouse has been on the Thames since 1869, and has held his present position since 1887.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Bane Brothers
                  
                  (William Bane), House Furnishers, corner of Pollen and Mary Streets, Thames. This business was established in 1874 by Mr. A. Cullen, and has been conducted under the style of Bane Brothers since 1885. The premises consist of a large corner shop, with several show windows, and has workrooms upstairs. The firm imports furniture and other lines, and does a considerable business in the manufacture of furniture.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Bane,
                  Proprietor, was born in Wellington in 1865, and came to the Thames in 1874. He was brought up to the trade in connection with the business of which he is now proprietor. Mr. Bane is a member of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade, and as a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Sir Walter Scott.

              

              

                
                


                  

Dann, Frederick,
                  Cabinetmaker, Upholsterer, and General House Furnisher, Pollen Street, Thames. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1872, and since then it has increased to such an extent that the single shop of that date has given place to three extensive compartments. The first is occupied by bodding, linoleums, etc., the second with carpets, furniture, etc., and the third is the factory, which is fitted with all the latest machinery and improvements. Mr. Dann manufactures all his furniture and imports carpets, linoleums, and such things as cannot be produced in the Colony. The premises have a frontage of 110 feet by a depth of 165 feet.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Governor Bowen Hotel
                  
                  (Samuel Thomas Speer, licensee), Owen Street, Thames. This hotel is one of the oldest at the Thames. It consists of two buildings, one of one storey, and one of two stories, and contains over sixty bedrooms, six sitting rooms, and a large dining room capable of seating 200 guests. The hotel stands on a large section of ground, and is conveniently situated in the borough.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. Samuel Thomas Speer
                  
                  was born in Oamaru in 1877, and was educated in Auckland. He was brought up to business as a saddler, and took over his present business at the death of his father in 1899. Mr. Speer was married, in 1898, to a daughter of Mr. T. Bowden, of the Thames.

              

              

                
                


                  
Junction Hotel,
                  Thames (Alfred Rogers, proprietor). Mr. Rogers was born at King's Laughley, in Buckinghamshire, England, in 1851. He served his apprenticeship in London to the wine, spirit, and bottling trade, after which he took the Prince Albert Hotel, Brushfield Street, Bishopsgate; from there he went into the Alma Hotel, New North Road, Kingsland; and afterwards the White Lion in High Street, Islington. In 1884 he visited New Zealand, and, on his return to England, again took possession of the “White Lion.” He, however, was so favourably impressed with New Zealand that he decided to make it his future home. He came out again in 1892, and took over the Kaihu Hotel, Dargaville, Northern Wairoa. Mr. Rogers has always taken a deep interest in local affairs, and while in Dargaville was a prominent Freemason, a member of the Hobson County Council and Dargaville school committee, and also a trustee of the race-course. While Mr. Rogers was in the Kaihu Hotel, Lord Glasgow (then Governor of the colony) stayed with him, and His Excellency afterwards expressed his entire satisfaction with the hotel management, and remarked that the comfort and convenience could not have been excelled. In 1897 Mr. Rogers left Dargaville to take over the proprietorship of the “Junction” at the Thames. The Junction Hotel is situated at the corner of Pollen and Pahu Streets, and is the principal house for commercial men and tourists. It has lately been considerably enlarged and refurnished throughout, and for convenience cannot be surpassed.
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                    Pacific Hotel
                  
                  (William Woodward, proprietor), Corner of Brown and Albert Streets, Thames. This hostelry occupies a leading position at the Thames, being provided throughout with commodious and handsomely furnished rooms, including a spacious dining-room, while the catering is first class, and the attention all that could be desired. The upper portion of the house is under the direct supervision of Mrs. Woodward, who is most assiduous in her attention to the wants of her patrons. The hotel has been favoured by the patronage of many of the leading mining and other visitors to the goldfields. For the convenience of travellers and others arriving late, a night porter is in attendance.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. William Woodward,
                 
 Proprietor of the Pacific Hotel, was born at Hamilton, Waikato, in 1865, and when ten years of age, besides keeping up his school attendance, commenced to learn the trade of baker and confectioner with his father, who was then in business in Queen Street, Auckland. Losing his parents at an early age, he went into the service of Mr. D. Grubb, Karangahape Road, Newton, where he remained about five years, and completed his knowledge of the business he had elected to follow. Desiring a change from the dull routine of a baker's life, he went to the Thames, and was for some time employed in coaching between that town and Paeroa. Being a general favourite, he met with considerable success, and subsequently started “tributing” at the “Prince Imperial” Mine. After about twelve months of this he returned to his old trade, entering the employ of Mr. T. Douglas, Thames, with whom he remained some three years. He then went into the hotelkeeping business, taking possession of the Provincial Hotel, Grahamstown, which he held until the house was closed. Removing to Auckland, he became proprietor of the business known as the Glasgow Bakery. Wellington Street, and eventually, in March, 1895, took charge of the hotel where he still reigns as a most genial “boniface.” Mr. Woodward was for some time an instructor in the Thames Gymnasium, and is at the present time not only a good athlete, but the most popular baritone singer in the district.
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Nor are his accomplishments confined to music and gymnastics, for in racing, boating, and all descriptions of sport, he takes a prominent part. Mr. Woodward has ever been actively interested in anything pertaining to the welfare of the town, and is well and popularly known throughout the Hanraki Peninsula. He has for some years been identified with football, and is at present vice-president of the Thames Rugby Union. He was also a member of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade for a period of about twelve months. Mr. Woodward was married at the Thames in January, 1890, to Miss Rose Ellen Williams, daughter of Mr. J. C. Williams, an early colonist and now a resident of Kopu.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Warwick Arms Hotel
                  
                  (John Brooks Mason, proprietor), Pollen Street, Shortland, Thames. This hotel was established in 1868, and has been conducted by the present proprietor since 1886. Mr. Mason was born in Leicestershire, England, in 1830, came out to the Cape of Good Hope in 1858, to Auckland in 1863, and has been well known on the Thames since the opening of the field in 1867.

              

              

                
                


                  

Hart, John Sanders,
                  Gunsmith, Pollen Street, Thames. Mr. Hart is a native of Ireland, and learned the trade of a gunsmith with Messrs. Richardson and Sons, of Cork. He has followed that occupation ever since 1854. From 1860 to 1867 Mr. Hart was in Her Majesty's service, serving in the special corps of Armourers, and was attached to the 34th Regiment of Foot. He held the rank of Armourer's Sergeant, and on leaving for the colonies received very high testimonials from the officers of his regiment. Mr. Hart came out to New Zealand in the ship “Racehorse” in July, 1868, as a military settler. For a short time he carried on business in Auckland, and in the following September moved to the Thames, establishing himself in his present business in Pollen Street. He claims to be the oldest gunsmith at the Thames, and is well known to the sporting fraternity. Mr. Hart does an extensive business in manufacturing and repairing firearms, and is a direct importer of sportsmen's requisites from the leading manufacturers of England.

              

              

                
                

                  

Battson, Francis,
                 
 Plumber, Gasfitter, Tinsmith, Sheet Metal Worker, and Electric Bell Fitter, Pollen Street, Thames. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This is claimed to be the oldest established business in the line at the Thames. The shop and offices, with workshop at rear, are centrally situated, and the proprietor does a large and increasing business throughout the district. He has all the latest improved machinery required to carry on the work of the various branches, and trades largely with the mines in ventilating appliances, etc. The business has grown so much of late years that in May, 1895, a branch establishment was opened at Coromandel. Mr. F. Battson was born in Dunedin, and after leaving school learned his trade in that city, subsequently travelling in order to gain experience. Arriving at the Thames in 1888, for some two years he acted as foreman for Mr. William Newman,
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plumber, etc., and in 1890 purchased the business which he has since conducted with considerable success. Although but a young man Mr. Battson has had a large and practical experience in his business, and, being withal personally popular, will doubtless continue to do well.
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Paterson, James,
                  Tinsmith, Plumber, etc., Pollen Street, Thames. Mr. Paterson was born in Melbourne, Victoria, in 1865, and, when only four years of age, came to New Zealand with his father. Mr. W. K. Paterson, who was specially engaged to erect a mining battery at Tapn Creek. The family, shortly after arrival, settled at the Thames, and the subject of this notice received his education at the Hauraki Grammar School. At the age of fourteen he was apprenticed to Mr. G. McCaul, tinsmith and plumber, with whom he served his time (five years). As he was desirous of perfecting himself in his trade, at the expiration of his term of apprenticeship he moved to Auckland, where he remained for fifteen months for the purpose of acquiring a thorough knowledge of lead work. On his return to the Thames Mr. Paterson started for himself, and has built up a large and extensive business. His premises are most commodious, and admit of his carrying a heavy plant for manufacturing purposes. He makes a specialty of iron piping for the Cyanide Process, lead head nails, iron chimneys, etc., and does a large wholesale trade. He is also an expert in the ventilation of mines. His father, Mr. W. K. Paterson, is associated with him in the business. Several years ago the subject of this notice purchased a small paint manufacturing business from Messrs. T. and S. Morrin and Co., Ltd.; this has since been very much enlarged, new buildings, machinery, etc., having been added. The style of the firm is now the Thames Paint Manufacturing Company. A specialty is made of producing hematite paints, which are largely used for shipping and ironwork. These paints are made in several colours, and are used almost exclusively by the Union Steamship Company, as well as by the Government Railways of the North Island. The proprietor employs in all from thirty-five to forty hands, and has branches of the tinsmith, plumbing, and galvanized iron works at Waitekauri and Paeroa. Mr. Paterson became a member of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade in September, 1884, and in 1889 was elected captain; at the same time he was presented with a medal by the United Fire Brigades Association of New Zealand, and again in September, 1897, for a similar term of service. In 1894 he was delegate to the annual meeting of the Fire Brigades Association, held in that year at Napier. In February, 1896, Mr. Paterson received the appointment of fire inspector for the Thames; he has also during his term of service acted as treasurer for five years. In 1893 he resigned the captaincy of the brigade, and was promoted to the superintendency—a position which he holds at the present time. Mr. Paterson takes an active interest in friendly societies; he is a prominent member of the A.O.F. Court Pride of the North, and is also a member of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge of Freemasons.
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                    Price, A. And G.
                  
                  (Alfred Price and George Price), Engineers and Ironfounders, Thames. This well known firm dates from 1868, when it established a business in Onehunga. Four years later it removed to the Thames, where its works front Beach, Burke, Brown, and Abraham Streets. The Messrs Price are well known as large iron and brass founders, general engineers, and boilermakers, and their extensive wood and iron buildings occupy almost the whole of two acres of land centrally situated in the borough of Thames. They are manufacturers of marine and stationary engines, and undertake repairing work as well as original construction. The workshops are well equipped with all the most modern appliances; the boilermaking plant is a very fine one; and the machinery is driven by a combination of engines propelled by water, steam, and gas, and equal to about fifty horse-power. The members of the firm are elsewhere referred to in connection with the Thames Borough Council.
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                    Thames Iron Works
                  
                  (Charles Judd, proprietor), Queen Street and Kirkwood Street, Thames. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This extensive business was established about 1869 in a small way, by the present proprietor, and through his ability as a practical mechanist, combined with energetic business capacity, has been brought up to its present proportions. The premises have a frontage of 300 feet to Queen Street and a depth of over 130 feet to Kirkwood Street. On this area are erected several large buildings, which are divided for practical purposes into five departments. Each department is under the direction of an experienced foreman, and the entire works are personally supervised by Mr. Judd himself. The machinery and appliances throughout are of the latest and most improved designs. There are from fourteen to fifteen machines in constant use, including lathes, screwing, planing and drilling machines, fans and blowers, plate rolling and punching machines. Most of the welding is done by a huge steam hammer, with an exceptionally heavy striking force, and yet capable of very delicate manipulation. The heavier pieces of machinery operated upon are moved about by means of a powerful steam travelling crane, which can easily be handled by an apprentice. The machinery is driven by steam and water power, and the manufactures turned out consist chiefly of winding, pumping, sawmilling and general mining machinery. Many of the principal batteries on the goldfields, including one at Waihi, and one at Waitekauri, were manufactured by Mr. Judd. From twenty to thirty skilled workmen are employed in accordance with the amount of business in hand. Mr. Judd is a native of Hertfordshire, England, and learned his trade as engineer and ironfounder in Derbyshire. He came to New Zealand in 1859, and worked at his trade in Auckland for about ten years. He has had a thoroughly practical experience in his business, extending over forty years, and stands high in the esteem of his fellow workers.
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West, John,
                 
 Blacksmith, Corner of Pollen and Cochrane Streets, Thames. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. West was born in Forfarshire, Scotland, in 1838, and in 1853 emigrated in the ship “Thames” to Melbourne, Victoria, where he served an apprenticeship to the blacksmithing trade with his father. He was also for a time engaged in mining on the goldfields of that colony. In 1862 Mr. West crossed over to New Zealand in the ship “Hussar,” and for two years worked at his trade in Otago, subsequently moving to the West Coast, where he claims to have opened the first blackmith's shop on the Kanieri goldfield. The year 1867 found him at the Thames, engaging in business in Willoughby Street, from which address he moved to his present place of business about 1889. Mr. West claims to be the proprietor of the oldest established blacksmith's shop at the Thames, and does a large trade in the repairing of mining and agricultural implements, in horse-shoeing, and in the manufacture of ploughs. For the second of these he has taken several first class prizes at the Auckland Agricultural
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Shows. Mr. West was superintendent of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade for some fifteen years, and, when he resigned in February, 1896, received from the Borough Council for long and efficient service a handsome silver watch, and, from the members of the Brigade, a valuable gold chain and pendant. He is now one of the fire inspectors for the borough. Mr. West was a member of the Thames Licensing Committee some years ago, and was in March, 1897, again elected for a term of three years. He is a member and past master of the Prince of Wales Lodge, No. 20 (Protestant Alliance), and past grand master of the Grand Lodge of New Zealand, and is treasurer of both lodges. As a Freemason he is past master of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge, N.Z.C

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Smith, J. Hague and Co.
                  
                  (John Hague Smith), Hardware Merchants, Owen and Burke Streets, Thames. This large and prominent business was established by Messrs T. and S. Morrin, of Auckland, soon after the opening of the Thames goldfield in 1867. Subsequently Mr. C. J. Stone bought the business, which was repurchased a few years later by the founders, and conducted continuously till taken over by the present firm in 1889. The firm has a branch business at Paeroa, and another at Waihi, and both are separately mentioned in other articles. The firm extensively imports all classes of hardware, and does a very large trade in explosives and mining material.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Hague Smith,
                  A Colonist of over forty years' standing, was born at Grantham, Lincolnshire, England, in September, 1846, and came to Auckland in 1859 by the ship “Mataoka.” For a number of years Mr. Hague Smith was with his brother, Mr. S. Hague Smith, hardware merchant, in Auckland, and removed to Thames in 1874, on behalf of the late Mr. C. J. Stone, as manager of the large hardware business, which he conducted for about fifteen years, when he himself became proprietor. During his residence at Thames, Mr. Hague Smith has been largely interested in mining matters, and has been a director on numerous boards. He has also been for many years a Governor of the Thames High School, and was for several years a member of the Thames Harbour Board. Mr. Hague Smith has been connected with the Thames School of Mines from its inception, and for the past five years (1901) has occupied the position of treasurer of that institution. As a Freemason, Mr. Hague Smith has been connected with Lodge Sir Walter Scott, in which he held office as treasurer fourteen years. He married, in 1870, and has a family of three sons and two daughters.
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Buckley, Roland,
                  Saddler and Bootmaker, Brown Street, Thames. This business was established in 1896, in Albert Street, and was removed to Brown Street in 1900. There is a convenient shop with a large show window, and a workshop behind. Mr. Buckley keeps a well assorted stock of boots and saddlery, and undertakes the manufacture of either line on the premises. He was born in 1874 at the Thames, where he learned his business.
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Scott, Robert,
                  Bootmaker, Rolleston Street, Thames. Mr. Scott is an old pioneer settler, and was born in 1821 near Donegal, Ireland. His parents removed to Glasgow in 1830, and there he was apprenticed as a bootmaker. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Jane Gifford” in 1842, and worked as a journeyman at his trade in the Bay of Islands for a year. Until the breaking out of Heke's war Mr. Scott was working as a bootmaker at Waimate, but in 1845 he removed to Auckland and commenced business on his own account in Queen Street. He settled at the Thames in October, 1867, and soon after the discovery of gold in the district, engaged in gold mining for a short time, but established his business as a bootmaker in 1868. Mr. Scott has been for twenty-one years a member of the Kauaeranga school committee and of the Kauaeranga Highway Board, of which he was at one time chairman. During the Waikato war he was forced into the Militia, and served afterwards in No. 6 Company as a volunteer—as private, corporal, and sergeant—for sixteen years. He was sergeant, and subsequently lieutenant, in the Thames Rifle Rangers. Mr. Scott was married, in 1842, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Kerr, of County Tyrone, Ireland, and has six sons and one daughter, over fifty grandchildren, and five great-grandchildren.

              

              

                
                


                  

Pyne, Charles Stuart,
                  Butcher, Queen Street, Thames. This business was established in 1879, and has been conducted by the present proprietor since 1896. Mr. Pyne was born in London in 1840, and was brought up to business at Wolverhampton. He came out to Australia in 1855, but soon afterwards returned to England for a brief visit. In 1858 he arrived in Port Chalmers by the ship “Nourmahal,” and for some years he followed the goldfields in various part of the colony. At the time of the native troubles Mr. Pyne threw up good employment to join the 3rd Waikato Volunteers, and at the conclusion of the war, he settled at the Thames. Before entering on his present business he was for eight years storekeeping at Te Aroha. He was married, in 1868, to a daughter of Mr. W. Wright, of Ireland, and has one daughter—Mrs J. Parslow, of Waihi.
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Walsh, James Henry,
                  Butcher, Thames. Mr. Walsh was born at Otahuhu, Auckland, on the 28th of October, 1851 After leaving school he learned the trade of shoemaker with his father, who had a large establishment, and carried on an extensive business. The subject of this notice moved to the Thames in 1867, and was for four years employed at his trade; he then purchased an interest in the bakery business of Messrs. Adriane Warren and Co., and acted as manager up to the time he sold out some years later. Mr. Walsh then entered the employ of Mr. W. Bobbett, butcher, and, remaining with him some years, acquired a thorough knowledge of the business in which he subsequently engaged on his own account at Owharoa. After two years he sold out, and purchased the Owharoa Hotel, which he conducted for seven years, and about 1890 took over the extensive butchering establishment of Mr. John Neal, Owen Street, Thames, which he has since successfully conducted. Mr. Walsh became a member of the Thames Volunteer Fire Brigade on its organization, but, owing to business engagements, resigned a few years later. Rejoining in July, 1893, he was at once elected captain, but has since been succeeded by Mr. R. R. Menzies. Mr. Walsh was one of the first members of the Ohinemuri County Council, to which he was elected by a large majority, and claims to have been the first representative from that county to assist in the organisation of the Thames Hospital and Charitable Aid Boards.
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Wells, Thomas George,
                  Butcher, Brown Street. Mr. Wells was born at Onehunga in 1868, and accompanied his parents to the Thames when he was two years of age. He was educated in the district, and learned his business with his father, Mr. Frederick Wells. After an experience of some twelve years in the Napier district, in connection with his own trade, Mr. Wells established his present business in 1897. He was married, in 1881, to a daughter of Mr. D. Clark, of Peebleshire, Scotland, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Burra, Robert,
                  Bookseller and Stationer, Fancy Goods and Music Dealer, Brown Street, Thames. Private residence, Queen Street. This business was established in 1870, and has been conducted by Mr Burra since 1874. The premises are erected on freehold land, and consist of a two-storey wooden building, with a very large shop and storeroom. Mr. Burra was born, in 1840, in Westmorland, England, and was educated in his native county and in Manchester, where he learned his trade. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Portland” in 1863, found employment for six years in various parts of the provincial district, and went, in 1869, to the Thames, where, five years later, he established his present business. As a Freemason, Mr. Burra is attached to Lodge Sir Walter Scott, N.Z.C.
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Nodder, John,
                  Bookseller and Stationer, Pollen Street, Thames. Mr. Nodder was born in Sheffield, England, in 1836, and was educated at the Lancastrian School. He served nine years as an apprentice to the file manufacturing trade, and came to Auckland in 1858 by the ship “Caduceus.” After a short stay in Auckland he went to the Thames, where he found employment in road-making. He was afterwards in Wellington, and subseqently for four years in the Nelson district, where he and three other men drove the first sheep from the Awatere Valley to the head of the Grey River. In 1864 he started for Auckland, but went ashore at New Plymouth while the steamer was discharging cases, and was requisitioned under martial law and sworn in as a volunteer. He was engaged with the Taranaki Bush Rangers, in which he became a sergeant, and served till 1869. At the time of the White Cliff's massacre Mr. Nodder gained the New Zealand war medal for active service. He settled at the Thames



in 1869, and was employed as a teacher for two years. In 1872 he founded his business as a bookseller and stationer, in connection with which he has since been well known at the Thames. Mr. Nodder has taken a prominent part in all temperance movements, and has been active in the formation of Orders of Rechabites and Good Templars. He has passed all the chairs in the Star of Hauraki Tent, I.O.R., and was its secretary for ten years. He was a Past District Chief Ruler of the New Zealand District No. 1, and Deputy of the Grand Lodge, I.O.G.T. for twenty years. Mr. Nodder was for twenty-six years Superintendent of the Juvenile Tent of Rechabites, and was presented with an inscribed watch in recognition of his services. He was married, in 1867, to a daughter of the late Mr. S. Howell, of New Plymouth, and has four sons and four daughters.
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                    Browne, M. and Co.
                  
                  (Edward McDonnell, J.P.), Grain and Produce Merchants, Albert Street, Thames. Private residence, Shortland. This business was founded in 1868 by Mr. Michael Browne, whose name it still bears. Mr. McDonnell, who bought the business in 1875, and is the sole proprietor, is referred to in another article as a member of the Thames Harbour Board.

              

              

                
                


                  

Ellis, Charles Jackson,
                  Storekeeper, Tararu Road, Thames. Mr. Ellis is an old settler, and was born at Canwick, near Lincoln, England, in 1834. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Mataoka in 1859, was for four years at a special settlement at Mongonui, north of the Bay of Islands, and afterwards spent about two years at a copper mine on the Great Barrier, and two years in Auckland in the engineering shops. In August, 1867, he arrived at the Thames with the pioneers in the cutter “Severn.” Mr. Ellis has had a large experience in mining in the district, as an engineer and a battery manager, and his business as a storekeeper dates from 1869. It has been managed for several years by his family.

              

              

                
                


                  

Ellis, Richard Henry,
                  Storekeeper, Tararu, Thames. Mr. Ellis is a son of Mr. Charles Jackson Ellis, who came to New Zealand in 1859, settled at Mongonui for a few years, and in 1868 moved to the Thames, where he began his business life at the age of 15 years. He was employed in various stores, and also assisted his father in the conduct of a grocery business. In 1880 Mr. Ellis, senior, purchased a general store at Tararu, and his son assisted in its management until about 1887, when he took over the business from his father. Since that time he has conducted it very successfully, and has worked up a considerable connection. Mr. Ellis is a native of Lincolnshire, England, where he was born in 1859—a few months before his parents sailed for New Zealand. He has been a member of the Corinthian Masonic Lodge, No. 1655, E.C., for over fifteen years, and has passed through the various chairs of that lodge, including that of master. He was for many years a member of the Tararu School Committee, holding the position of hon. secretary for several years. and that of chairman for one year. Mr. Ellis is a vestryman of St. George's Anglican Church, Thames.
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Hansen Brothers,
                  General Storekeepers, Pollen Street, Thames. This business was founded by the father of the present owners, Mr. J. E. Hansen, a native of Denmark, who came out to the Australian colonies when nearly twenty years of age. Landing in Victoria in 1858, he followed mining pursuits on the goldfields of Bendigo, and was also for a time employed in the building of railroads. In 1861 Mr. Hansen crossed over to New Zealand in the S.S. “Tasmania” with a large number of others, with the intention of joining in the Gabriel's Gully “rush.” After engaging in mining pursuits on that and other goldfields of Otago, Mr. Hansen gravitated to the Thames in 1868, and opened a general store; this he carried on till recently, when he was succeeded by his sons in what is now claimed to be the oldest established business of its kind in the town. The Telephone and Telegraph Offices for the Shortland district are located in the store. Mr. Hansen represented the South Ward in the Thames Borough Council in 1878–79, but, his private business requiring his whole attention, he did not seek re-election. He now (1901) lives in retirement at Parawai, Thames.
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Loughlin, James Mcgowan,
                  Produce and Provision Merchant, and Commission Agent, Pollen Street, Central Thames. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Loughlin is a son of the late Mr. John Loughlin, who came to New Zealand about 1866. The subject of this notice was born in 1868, and went to the Thames with his parents shortly after the opening of the goldfields. He began his business life in the employ of Mr. Alexander Carl, grocer, and two years later, when Mr. James McGowan purchased that business, continued in the latter's employ, managing various of his grocery shops for some five years. Subsequently Mr. Loughlin engaged in mining pursuits, devoting a large portion of his time to prospecting and working claims of his own. He has had a varied and practical experience upon the goldfields, and, being of an observant nature, has acquired a thorough knowledge of gold mining in all its aspects. In May, 1893, Mr. Loughlin purchased his present business premises, and established the nuclens of his now large and extensive



trade as wholesale and retail provision merchant; he also deals largely in horses, buggies, waggons, etc., besides which his business place is the emporium for large quantities of produce from the outlying agricultural districts. Mr. Loughlin takes considerable interest in all local matters, and was at one time the popular captain of the boating club. Being one of the most enlightened and practical young men of the Thames, he is likely to make his mark in the future.
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Patterson, James,
                  Storekeeper, Owen Street, Thames. This business dates back to the 21st of May, 1868, when it was established by the proprietor, who has since been well known on the Thames, and prominently as a Freemason under the Irish Constitution, and as a member of the Orange Lodge.

              

              

                
                


                  
Reid, W. D.
                 , Wholesale and Retail Grocer, and Insurance and Commission Agent, Pollen Street, Thames. Mr. Reid, accompanied by his wife, settled at the Thames in 1867, established his present business in the following year, and has ever since conducted it. He acts as agent for the Standard and North Queensland Insurance Companies, and for the New Zealand Accident Company. Mr. Reid is further referred to in another article as an ex-member of the Thames Borough Council.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Roberts, J. And S.
                  
                  (Joseph Roberts and Stephen Roberts), General Storekeepers, Pollen Street, Thames. Branches at Waihi and Waikino. Bankers. Bank of New South Wales. This business was conducted by Mr. Gavin Wallace for some years before it was purchased by the Messrs Roberts in 1899. Mr. Joseph Roberts is elsewhere referred to as an ex-member of the Borough Council, and the firm's branches are noticed under Waihi and Waikino respectively.

              

              

                
                


                  

Wood, William,
                  General Storekeeper, Pollen Street, Thames. Mr. Wood was born in London in 1847, and was educated in South Africa, where he lived for thirteen years. He came to Auckland in 1866, and settled at the Thames in the following year, soon after the opening of the goldfield. During the first few years of his colonial life Mr. Wood was engaged in mining, and was interested in mines in New South Wales, on the Palmer, and in other parts of Australia. In 1876 he established himself in business at the Thames as a fruiterer, and has since then built up a substantial trade. His premises consist of three buildings, which are devoted to the sale of crockery, seeds, produce, grocery, and fruit. As a member of the Independent Order of Rechabites. Mr. Wood is attached to the Star of Hauraki Tent. A few years ago he went to England, via America and Canada, and saw the Chicago Exhibition, and on the return journey he visited South Africa. He was married, in 1879, to a daughter of Mr. S. Herringshaw, of Lincoln, England, and has three sons and two daughters.
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The Thames Gas Company,
                  Limited, Head Office, Queen Street, Auckland. This Company possesses a capital of £25,000 in 10,000 shares of £2 10s each, of which £1 18s 6d per share has been called up. Dividends have been paid regularly from the first year, and six per cent. has been the ruling rate for a number of years. The works are crected on a freehold section one acre in extent, at the corner of Mary and Queen Streets. There is a complete gas making plant, a large holder 50 feet in diameter, with a capacity of about 30,000 feet. Mains are laid throughout the borough, and in the immediate suburbs, to the extent of about seven miles, and there are 450 consumers.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mr. Robert Wilson,
                  the Manager of the Thames Gas Company, was born in Lanarkshire, Scotland, and, after receiving a good education at the public schools, served his time to the building trade. He came to New Zealand in January, 1864, by the sailing vessel “Aboukir,” and resided for a few months at Dunedin, where he worked at his trade. In December of the same year he removed to Auckland, and entered the employ of the Auckland Gas Company, with which he had a long experience, and thus acquired thorough knowledge of the manufacture and distribution of gas. On the formation of the Thames Gas Company in 1872, Mr. Wilson proceeded to that district, and, after erecting the works, assumed his present position. He is a thoroughly practical man in his particular line of business, and has by his ability and energy made the company a pronounced success. Mr. Wilson formerly identified himself with municipal matters, but of late years has given his entire attention to his business duties. He was a member of the Thames Borough Council for four years, and of the Thames Harbour Board for a like period, but resigned both offices.
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                    Rickit and Co.
                  
                  (James Rickit), Livery Stable Keepers, Brown Street, Thames. This firm dates from 1875. The premises contain fifty stalls and five loose boxes, and about forty horses and thirty conveyances are used in connection with the business.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Gillespie And Son
                  
                  (H. C. Gillespie, J.P., and H. G. Gillespie, F.I.A.N.Z.), Timber Merchants, Shipping and Commission Agents and Valuers, Brown Street, Thames. This partnership has existed since 1897, when the firm was appointed by the Government to value the borough of Thames. Messrs Gillespie and Son act as agents for Messrs Parker, Lamb and C., and the Mountain Rimu Timber Company, and for the Northern



Steamship Company, the Colonial Mutual Life, Imperial, and Liverpool and London and Globe Fire Insurance Companies.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. H. Gibbons Gillespie,
                  F.I.A.N.Z., was born in 1871 at the Thames, and was educated at the Parawai School and Thames High School. His commercial life began in his father's office, where he served for five years; he was for some time afterwards accountant at the office of the Thames “Star.” In 1896 he began business on his own account, and became a member of the Thames Stock Exchange, entering the firm of Gillespie and Son in the following year. In 1899 Mr Gillespie passed his examination as a Fellow of the Institute of Accountants of New Zealand. He has taken a general interest in athletics in the district, and was secretary of the Thames Athletic and Gymnastic Club, and also of the Hauraki Rowing Club.
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                    The Kauri Timber Company, Ltd.
                  
                  (Robert Barlow Hudson, manager), Thames. Head Office, Customs Street West, Auckland. Mills, East and West Coast. This company carries on an extensive colonial and intercolonial trade, and holds the largest stock of seasoned kauri timber in New Zealand. The business as a whole is referred to at page 
421 of this volume.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Robert Barlow Hudson,
                  Local Manager for the Kauri Timber Company at Thames, was born in Auckland in 1859. He is a son of the late Mr. Richard Hudson, an old mining identity, who came to the Colony in the early days. Mr. Hudson was educated at the public schools of Auckland, and when seventeen years of age he entered the public service in the Postal Department. He was soon removed to the Thames, where he served in the department for five years, when he returned to Auckland, and after a further period of two years, he withdrew from the service and established himself as a fruit grower at the Thames. Mr. Hudson has nearly five acres of land laid out in a fine orchard, which annually yields many tons of fruit, for which there is a ready sale. In 1890 he entered the service of the Kauri Timber Company, Ltd., as accountant at the Thames branch, and was afterwards advanced to the position of manager. As an active member of the Congregational Church, Mr. Hudson has for several years held the post of secretary and treasurer to that body.

              

              

                
                


                  
Lamb Bros.
                  (Peter Lamb and Alexander Lamb), Timber Merchants, and Builders' Ironmongers, Mary and Queen Streets, Thames. This business was established in 1870. The partners, who were born in Scotland, came to New Zealand in the early fifties, and have been prominent in connection with the timber trade.

              

              

                
                


                  

Steedman, James Bramwell,
                  Farmer, Waikawau, County of Thames. Mr. Steedman was born in 1838, in Perth, Scotland, where he also received his education. Apprenticed to the engineering with the Scottish Central Railway Company, he served under that company for eight years. Influenced by the growing importance of New Zealand, he set sail for the Colony in the good ship “Joseph Fletcher,” arriving at Auckland in 1859. Here he followed his profession in various capacities until the Maori War broke out in the Waikato, when, accepting an engagement under the Government as assistant to Mr. James Stewart, C.E., he proceeded to Waikato Heads to assist in the erection of the Government gunboats, which had been designed by Mr. Stewart and built in Sydney, and had been brought over in sections. The War being over, Mr. Steedman entered into business in the Waikato, and subsequently, on the discovery of the Thames Goldfields, proceeded thither, being among the first to arrive. He then followed a “rush” to Tapu, meeting with considerable success. In the following year he was appointed manager and confidential adviser to Messrs. Brown, Campbell and Co., in their mining business, retaining that position for over twenty years, until, in fact, the firm closed this branch of their business. He then took other managements, including the “Golden Gem” and other mines in the Waiomo district. The “Golden Gem” having been sold, he retired to his farm at Waikawau, where he engaged largely in fruit-growing for some years. The mining boom of 1895 commencing, however, his services were again in request. After opening up several mines in the Waitekauri district, he received the appointment of manager of the Hauraki North Mine, and materially assisted in bringing that property again into prominence. Mr. Steedman is a member of the Sir Walter Scott Lodge of Freemasons, Thames. Amongst other positions, he was chairman of the school committee for over ten years, also a member of the Thames County Council and other local bodies for a number of years, while he has always taken an active part in the advancement of his district. As a cricketer. Mr. Steedman is still remembered. At the age of eighteen he was selected as one of Scotland's twenty-two against an All England eleven. He represented Auckland against All England in the match played at Ellerslie, and it might also be mentioned that as far back as 1860, when the first interprovincial cricket match between Auckland and Wellington was played at Wellington, he represented Auckland, and contributed largely towards winning the match for his province. Mr. Steedman is at present (June, 1901) devoting himself to his farm at Waikawau.
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Mr. Williams Culpitt,
                  Old Colonist, has been in business as a saddler on the Thames since 1869. He was born in Alderborough, Suffolk, England, in 1826, and was brought up to his trade in Ipswich. In 1864 he came to Auckland by the ship “Columbus,” and after working as a journeyman in that city for a short time, removed to the Thames in 1867 with the pioneers of the district. He was married, in 1853, to a daughter of Mr. Perkins, of Bury, St. Edmonds. This lady died in 1855, leaving at son. At Dublin in 1859, Mr. Culpitt entered into a second marriage, and Mrs Culpitt was spared for forty years, but died in 1895, leaving five sons and two daughters. In 1897 Mr. Culpitt was married to a daughter of Mr. J. McLaren, of Glasgow, and sister of Mr. J. M. McLaren, well known on the Thames.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. James Darrow
                  
                  has long been prominent as an enterprising colonist. He was born in 1840 in Belfast, Ireland, came out to Victoria in 1858, and after following the goldfields in that colony for four years, removed to Otago, where he was at Gabriel's Gully and Weatherstones. After a year he returned to Victoria, and having sold out his interest in Inglewood, returned to Otago, and was at the Hartley and Riley “rush.”



Subsequently he went into the carting and carrying business between Dunedin and the Dunstan, when £120 a ton was charged for the trip. Subsequently Mr. Darrow built stables at Invercargill, and came to the Thames in September, 1867. For three years he was manager of the Una battery, and subsequently of the Tararu Creek, Flora Macdonald, and Queen of Beauty batteries. About 1880 he had a contract for reclamation under the Government, and afterwards contracted for the supply of 100,000 sleepers, which he floated down a water-race four miles in length, constructed by himself. Since that Mr. Darrow has been largely engaged in the timber business. As a public man he served for five years on the licensing bench, and as a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Sir Walter Scott. Mr. Darrow has always taken a deep interest in the progress of mining in the district. He was married, in 1869, to a daughter of Mr J. Taylor, of the Thames, and has seven sons and two daughters.
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Mr William Lang Thorburn
                  
                  is one of the very Old Settlers of the colony. He was born in Glasgow in 1819, and accompanied his parents to America. Two years later the family returned to Scotland, and Mr. Thorburn became an engineer and practical mechanic in Glasgow. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Duchess of Argyle” in 1842, and settled in Mechanics' Bay, where he continued for ten years. In 1850 he went to California as a digger, but returned to Auckland after a few months. Subsequently he had three years' experience on the New South Wales and Victorian goldfields. In July, 1868, having returned to the colony, he settled at the Thames, and was for many years actively engaged in mining. He was for a number of years mine manager of the Wild Missouri mine, and was afterwards mining successfully on his own account. Subsequently he was engineer at the celebrated Caledonian mine, and was afterwards battery manager at the Golden Crown battery for about ten years. Mr. Thorburn was married, in 1839, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. Spiers, of Glasgow. This lady died in 1893, leaving seven daughters and five sons, and one daughter has since died. Mr. Thorburn has over 100 grandchildren.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mr. George Wilson,
                  sometime Inspecting Engineer to the Mines Department, was born in 1837 in the north of Scotland, and emigrated to Victoria in 1855. There he was engaged in mining pursuits until he volunteered at the outbreak of the Waikato War in 1863, and came to this Colony. Shortly after his arrival in Auckland he joined the 1st Waikato Militia and afterwards joined the Forest Rangers under Major Von Tempsky, serving with them until they were disbanded. Mr. Wilson proceeded to the Thames in 1868 and engaged in mining. He entered the Government service in 1879, filling various positions in connection with mining, until 1896, when he was appointed Inspecting Engineer to the Mines Department. Mr. Wilson resigned in 1897, and now resides at the Thames.
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Mr. William Ferguson,
                  who acts for the Northern Steamship Company at the Thames wharf, was born in 1834 in Belfast, Ireland. He was brought up as a wholesale grocer, and was engaged in mercantile life in his native place till 1859, when he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Whirlwind.” Mr. Ferguson spent ten years at Whangarei as a general contractor, and settled at the Thames in 1869, when he commenced business in carting and delivering goods. He has been for the last fourteen years in the Northern Steamship Company's employment. Mr. Ferguson was married, in 1859, to a daughter of the late Mr. N. White, of Belfast, and has four sons.
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Mercury Bay.

            

              
              


                

Mercury Bay,
                in the county of Coromandel, is the name given generally to a district which includes the thriving settlements of Kuaotunu and Whitianga. The harbour itself is small, and lies to the north-east of the Thames, and is about eighty-five miles by steamer from Auckland. Quartz mining on an extensive scale is carried on at Kuaotunu. The Mercury Bay district has a population of about 600 persons.

            

            

              
              


                

Hodge, Gregor Alexander,
                Tailor and Clothier, Mercury Bay. Mr. Hodge's business was originally established by Messrs Dowling and Hodge in 1895, and taken over by Mr. Hodge on the dissolution of partnership in 1897. The premises are centrally situated with a floor-space of 270 square feet, and possess every convenience for a first-class trade, which extends through the whole of the district north of Whangarei. Mr. Hodge guarantees first-class work and as he subscribes to all the principal tailors' journals is in a position to supply his customers with up-to-date fashions. He was born in Auckland in 1874, is a son of Mr. R. P. Hodge, of Mercury Bay, who was born on board the “Jane Gifford” in 1842, during her voyage from England to New Zealand. Mr. R. P. Hodge served through the Waikato and Taranaki campaigns, and was invalided home. His son, Mr. G. A. Hodge, served his apprenticeship with Messrs Davey and Sons, tailors, of Wellesley Street, his cutting experience being gained from Mr. John White, of the North Shore. Mr. Hodge was for eighteen months with Mr. M. Murchie, and then in conjunction with Mr. W. P. Dowling went to the Bay of Islands and established the firm of Dowling and Hodge at Ohaeawai in 1895. Later on he removed to Mercury Bay. Mr. Hodge is an enthusiastic cricketer and takes a lively interest in all sporting matters.
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Mercury Bay, where Captain Cook observed the Transit of the Planet Mercury.
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Coromandel,
                known formerly as Kapanga, has a population of between 400 and 500, and is a quartz-mining township on the Firth of Thames, forty-two miles eastward from Auckland, with which it has daily communication by steamer It is the county town, and has a post, telegraph, money order, and other Government offices. The Bank of New Zealand and the National Bank of New Zealand have branches in the town, which possesses several hotels and boarding-houses, and has a tri-weekly newspaper. There are opportunities for shooting and fishing in the neighbourhood, and the roads are sutable for cycling. The prosperity of the place varies with the activity in the mines, in which large amounts of English capital are from time to time invested. Gold was first discovered in the hills near Coromandel in 1852 by Mr. Charles Ring, but the land belonged to the natives, who objected to the presence of miners. Only one chief freely allowed the Europeans to dig, but very little gold could be found on his land, and it was not until 1867 that goldfields were formally opened on the peninsula. The county of Coromandel has a population of between six and seven hundred Maoris, and, at the census of March, 1901, its European population was returned as 4168.
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                  The Coromandel County Council
                
                has jurisdiction over an area of 424 square miles, and on the western coast of the Hauraki Peninsula, extends from Cape Colville to the Waikawau River, and to Tairua on the eastern coast. There are 1138 rate-payers, and 2022 ratable properties in the county, an don the 31st of March, 1900, the ratable value of proper was assessed at £261,289, on which a rate of 1£1/2d in the £ was levied. The county's assets then amounted to £1571, and its liabilities to £2675. At the census of April, 1901, theere were 4168 persons in the county. In 1900–1901 the County Council consisted of Mr. Robert McEwen (chairman), and Messrs S. James, R. H. Harrison, A. R. H. Swindley, N. Cow, G. W. Horn, and C. O'Brien; R. Simmons (clerk, collector, and treasurer), and F. H. Turner (engineer).

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Richard Simmonds,
                the popular County Clerk and Treasurer, holds a variety of offices. He is secretary and treasurer of the Coromandel Harbour Board, the Coromandel Hospital Board, the Buffalo Domain Board, and the Buffalo Cemetery Trustees, secretary to the Licensing Bench, registrar of births, deaths, and marriages, and receiver of auctioneers' license fees. Born in Kent, England, in 1863, Mr. Simmonds came to the colonies in 1883, and, aftr spending three years in New South Wales in mining and other occupations, crossed over to New Zealand. Removing subsequently to Coromandel, he was appointed county clerk in October, 1894. Mr. Simmonds has been successful in mining speculations. He is an honorary member of many of the local clubs, but his time is too much occupied to admit of his taking any active part in social functions. In 1891 he was married to Miss Preece, daughter of Mr. Alfred Preece, of Coromandel, and has three daughters and a son.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles M. McFarlane,
                formerly Chairman of the Coromandel County Council and Hospital Board, was born in 1848 on the Clyde, Scotland, where he was also educated. Landing at Auckland in 1865, he followed his trade of carpenter for some time, subsequently prospecting with considerable success on the Thames and Coromandel goldfields. He is now a mine owner, and holds a registered mining manager's certificate. At the request of the ratepayers, Mr. McFarlane consented to be nominated for a seat on the County Council; he was duly elected, and was subsequently chosen to fill the office of chairman of that body. In 1896 he assumed the chair of the Hospital Board, and filled both offices for several years. Mr. McFarlane has been a resident of Coromandel for the past twenty-six years.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Drew Colebrook,
                sometime a member of the Coromandel County Council, died on the 25th of March, 1897, was one of Coromandel's earliest settlers, and was born in Cheam, Surrey, England, in 1840. His father, also the late Mr. John Drew



Colebrook, was a land steward of Surrey, and died when his son was a youth. Consequently the subject of this notice lived with his uncle on the Tangley Estate (belonging to the Onslow family) till 1859, when he set sail for New Zealand, landing in the same year. Mr. Colebrook resided in Auckland and Wanganui for short periods, but afterwards went to the Thames, and thence to Coromandel, where he was one of the earliest prospector, and found what is claimed to have been the first piece of gold in the driving creek at Coromandel. He then gravitated to the Dunstan diggings, Otago, and thence to Australia; returning to New Zealand soon afterwards, he and others took up a shaft on Tiki Road, but, owing to an over-abundance of water, had to abandon it. At the time of the Thames “rush” Mr. Colebrook was on a farm at Pukekohe, but he, with Mr. S. C. Macky and others, thereupon returned to the Thames, and worked there for some time. His next engagement was at Coromandel, where he was mining manager for three claims on the Tokatea. He went into business at Coromandel, eventully sold out, and started again in one of the lower townships in 1879. In 1873 Mr. Colebrook married Miss Elizabeth Harvey Hender, a stepdaughter of the late Mr. Joseph West—an early settler in the Colony. In the early part of 1897, he, together with one of his sons, succumbed to an attack of typhoid fever, leaving a widow and six children. Mr. Colebrook was one of the first to pass the mining manager's examination, and held a mining manager's certificate. He was a member and for some time chairman of the Coromandel County Council, and was also a past master in the Coromandel Masonic Lodge.
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Mr. Harold Gilbero Gatland
                
                is a native of Coromandel, and had the distinction of being the first native county councillor. His father, the late Mr. James Brown Gatland, who formerly held the position of Receiver of Goldfields' Revenue for the Coromandel district, came to the Colony in the fifties, and was engaged in active service throughout the Maori war. The subject of this notice was born in 1872, received his education in his native town, and was apprenticed to the printing business. He was engaged for three years in the “Coromandel County News” office, and for two years in the “Evening News” office, Napier. In 1895 Mr. Gatland returned from Napier to Coromandel, and took the position of manager of the “Coromandel County News.” He was elected a member of the Coromandel County Council in October, 1896. Mr. Gatland is a Freemason and a Forester, and a member of the local school committee and racing club.

            

            

              
              

                
Coromandel Harbour Board.
               
 This board is vested in the Coromandel
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County Council, and the position of secretary and treasurer is held by the County Clerk. The board was established in 1897, and no time was lost in setting about the improvement of the harbour and wharfage accommodation, as several important works were put in hand early in the same year.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Frederick Audley,
                Harbour-master at Coromandel, was born at Clonmel, in the south of Ireland, in 1854, and was educated at Tramore College. On the completion of his education he took to the sea as a profession, serving in the Peninsular and Oriental Company for some years. He arrived in New Zealand in 1882, and, proceeding shortly afterwards to Coromandel, followed mining pursuits, experiencing the vicissitudes usually attending that occupation. Mr. Audley had the good fortune to be a member of Mr. Legge's tribute party which discovered “Legge's Reef,” whereby he received a substantial send-off towards prosperity. When the Coromandel Harbour Board came into existence, he received his present appointment, having previously held the position of harbour traffic manager. Being a practical seaman, and holding a mate's certificate, Mr. Audley is well qualified for the duties of his present position. He is married and has six children.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Coromandel Post Office
                
                has been in existence since the earliest days of settlement on the Peninsula, but the present building was not erected until 1873. It is one of the finest buildings in the town, and the staff includes the postmaster and seven assistants.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Simeon Inder,
                Postmaster at Coromandel, was born at Bothwell, Tasmania, in 1858, and is the son of the late Mr. Walter Inder, auctioneer, of Naseby, Otago. Educated at the Naseby Public School, Mr. Inder joined the Telegraph Department in that township in 1873. A year later he was promoted to a clerkship in the Dunedin office, and in 1878 was removed to Mongonui as postmaster, being transferred to Coromandel about two years subsequently. Mr. Inder is a past master of the Coromandel Masonic Lodge, and has held the position of grand steward. He is chairman of a number of local societies, including the Coromandel Mutual Improvement Society. In 1880 Mr. Inder was married to Miss Jessie Bruce Wyles, daughter of Mr. Robert Wyles, of Mongonui, and his family consists of a daughter and three sons.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Coromandel District School
                
                was established in the seventies, shortly after the introduction of the free education system. The building has been enlarged from time to time, and now comprises four large class rooms. The present headmaster, Mr. T. B. Tanner, was appointed in 1901 upon the death of Mr. A. J. Litten, who had been in charge for thirteen years. There are now (July, 1901), 280 names on the roll, and the average attendance is 240.

            

            

              
              

                

Mr. Thomas B. Tanner,
               
 Headmaster of the Coromandel District School, is a native of Bandon, Ireland, and was born in 1858. He received his education at Trinity College, Dublin, and left Home in 1883, on account of ill-health. He came to New Zealand by one of the New Zealand Shipping Company's direct steamers and landed in Auckland. In 1884 the Education Board appointed him as probationer to No. I. school, Tauranga, and six months later he was removed to Newmarket, Auckland, Mr. Tanner had charge of the school at the Great Barrier for eight months, and was also headmaster of the Little Omaha and Pakaru schools for some years. He was then appointed to the Pakuranga school, and held the position for five years. Mr. Tanner received his appointment in Tauranga in 1892, and on the
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establishment of one central school, in February, 1898, he was re-appointed headmaster. He went to Coromandel in 1901.
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                  School Of Mines, Coromandel
                
                This institution was established in 1887, in a small way, with very limited accommodation and appliances, and without a regular instructor. But in 1896 a general effort led to the present fine school being built, with its lofty lecture hall, chemical laboratory and assaying plant. The main building is sixty feet by twenty feet, the chemical laboratory and lecture hall forty feet by twenty feet, and there is a good assay room with furnaces and muffles complete, and an instructor's room, etc. The cost of the building, furniture, and chemicals, together with the theodolite and balances, was approximately, £500, and the yearly expenditure is estimated at about £300. Towards this the Mines Department provides so much per annum, and the balance is raised by class fees, assay charges and subscriptions. The syllabus embraces geology, mineralogy, mathematics, surveying, mechanics, assaying, chemistry, machine drawing, etc. The number of students for the year 1898 was sixty, with an average attendance of sixteen for each subject. The school is managed by a committee of eleven members, who are elected annually. Mr. James McLaren, formerly director of the school, is now (July, 1901) in England, pursuing his studies under an Exhibition Science Scholarship of £150 a year, tenable for three years. Mr. D. V. Allen, B.Sc., a student of the Otago School of Mines, is the present director at Coromandel; the Rev. C. F. Harrison is drawing master, and Mr. T. B. Tanner, instructor in mathematics.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. William A. Thomas
                
                is Secretary and Treasurer to the School of Mines at Coromandel, and Accountant to a section of the Hauraki Group of Mines. He is a member of an old West of England mining family, was born at Camborne, Cornwall, educated at a private academy in his native town, and is the eldest son of Captain William Thos, late manager of North Wheal Crofty and New Cook's Kitchen Tin and Copper Mines, in the Camborne district. Before leaving Home, about thirteen years since, Mr. Thomas received a course of general practical mining instruction, and was one of the first members of the Camborne School of Mines to pass examinations in chemistry, mineralogy, machine construction and drawing, and the principles of mining. On his arrival in the Colonies he first visited the Gilgarn goldfields in West Australia and was practically connected there with the South Fraser's Gold Mines for about eighteen months. Subsequently he removed to Broken Hill, and worked for about twelve months in the underground department at the Proprietary Mine, where exceptional facilities are given in the study of all mining developments. He also visited various other mining fields in the Australian Colonies, and on coming to New Zealand about nine years ago he became connected with the Hauraki Gold Mines, with which, in conjunction with other mines of the Hauraki Group, he has been practically associated to the present period.
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Rev. Arthur Mitchell,
                Wesleyan Minister of the Coromandel Circuit, Auckland, was born at Truro, Cornwall, England, in 1866, and is the son of Mr Michael Mitchell, of that city. He was educated at Truro Central School and also received private tuition. He left England in December 1886 and arrived in Melbourne in 1887. He entered the Bible Christian ministry the same year and remained in Victoria until 1893, when he was appointed to the Bible Christian church, Ferry Road, Christchurch, N.Z. After the union of the Methodist Churches he was appointed colleague with the Rev. H. R. Dewsbury of the Grafton Road circuit. Mr. Mitchell is an enthusiastic musician and possesses a magnificent bass voice; he is an ex-member of Cowen's Melbourne Exhibition choir. He won the gold medal for singing at the musical competition, Foundation Day, Horsham, Wimmera, Victoria. During his residence in Auckland he took prominent parts in connection with the Auckland Choral Society and other kindred associations. He was the initiator of the scheme for the amalgamation of the Wesleyan Methodist Church choirs throughout the Auckland province. Mr. Mitchell is a member of Lodge Ara, No. 1., N.Z.C. and of Lodge Victoria I.O.G.T. and takes a keen interest in temperance and other social reforms.
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                  The Coromandel Stipendiary Magistrate's and Warden's Court
                
                occupies a position in the centre of the town, adjacent to the post office. The Stipendiary Magistrate and Warden is Mr. R. S. Bush, and Mr. David Banks is Clerk of the Court, Mining Registrar, and Receiver of Goldfields Revenue. Police and special business is transacted by local justices of the peace as occasion requires. Sittings of the Stipendiary Magistrate's and Warden's Courts are held monthly.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Theodore Minet Lawlor,
                formerly Clerk of the Court, Mining Registrar, and Receiver of Goldfields' Revenue for the Coromandel district, was born in Gippsland, Victoria, in 1854. He is the third son of the late Mr. Henry Charles Lawlor, one of New Zealand's earliest colonists, who arrived at Manukau as far back as 1841, and was Warden and Resident Magistrate at Coromandel in 1863; he retired from the service on a pension in 1868, and, after living to a good old age, died on the 4th of December, 1894.



The subject of this notice was sent to the Old Country in 1865, and was educated at the Edinburgh Institution, returning to New Zealand in 1871. He then engaged in mining pursuits at the Thames, Tairua, and Owharoa, and entered the Government service in 1880 as assistant clerk at Marton. Thence he was transferred to various stations in the Colony till 1888, when he received the appointment of Clerk of the Court, etc., at Te Aroha. In October, 1892, he was appointed to Coromandel, whence he was subsequently transferred to Kumara, in Westland. Mr. Lawlor is married and has three sons.
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                  The “Coromandel County News”
                
                (Thomas William Rhodes, J.P., proprietor) was established in 1887. This journal, which is published tri-weekly, is well known in and out of the district, and has a proportionately wide circulation.
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Mr. Thomas William Rhodes,
                J.P., Proprietor of the “Coromandel County News,” is the eldest son of the late Mr. Richard Rhodes—one of Auckland's early colonists, and one of those who assisted to get the Thames opened as a goldfield. Born at Auckland in 1860, the subject of this notice received his education at the Hauraki Grammar School, Thames, and took to journalism as a profession. Mr. Rhodes has been identified with the press of New Zealand for a number of years, and has been a newspaper proprietor since 1883. Settling at Coromandel in 1887, he established the “Coromandel County News,” which he has succeeded in working up to its present prosperous position. In addition to his journalistic duties, Mr. Rhodes practises in the Warden's Court as a registered mining agent. He has been identified with most local bodies, and has never lost an election. Mr. Rhodes is a director of several companies, and belongs to the local lodge of Freemasons. He is married, and has five children.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Bank Of New Zealand
                
                has had a branch at Coromandel for about thirty years. During that time a great quantity of the precious metal has been bought up and milled. From the “Hauraki” Mine alone over two tons of gold has passed through the furnaces of the Bank of New Zealand. The premises of the bank are well adapted to the business, fairly imposing, and most centrally situated. The manager, Mr. A. T. Kenrick, takes more than a passing interest in all movements for the welfare of the district, but more especially in matters connected with technical and mining education.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Tom Kenrick,
                the Coromandel Manager of the Bank of New Zealand, was born in Greymouth in 1867, and is a son of the late Mr. Harry Kenrick, well known for many years as Warden on the Thames Goldfields. Educated at the Thames High School, the subject of this notice studied chemistry and metallurgy under Mr. Alex. Montgomery, who was then in charge of the Thames School of Mines, but is now the superintending engineer of the Kauri Freehold Gold Estates Company. Joining the Bank of New Zealand as a junior in 1885, at Auckland, Mr. Kenrick was soon promoted to the “ledgers” at the Thames, and shortly afterwards to the position of accountant at the Ohinemuri, Paeroa. His next move was to Reefton, on the West Coast of the South Island, where he had a large experience in buying and assaying the gold of the whole coast. In March, 1895, Mr. Kenrick was transferred to Coromandel, where his knowledge of the special business of a goldfields' banker has been of much service. As an outdoor sportsman. Mr. Kenrick has been prominent in rowing, gymnastics, tennis, football, and cricket, on several occasions representing the Thames in football in the position of “full-back.” Mr. Kenrick is President of the Coromandel School of Mines, and takes a great interest in the welfare of that institution, for which a new building has been lately erected at a cost of some £300. It is but fair to say, that Coromandel is mainly indebted to Mr. Kenrick for the benefits resulting from the establishment of its school of mines. A public battery, worked by a nine-horse-power oil engine, has been erected in connection with the School of Mines at a cost of £1200. Mr. Kenrick has been captain of the Coromandel Rifles since the formation of the corps.
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Reilly, John,
                Civil Engineer and Authorised Surveyor, Kapanga Road, Coromandel. The youngest son of the late Mr. John Reilly, of Tamnagharrie, County Down, Ireland, Mr. Reilly was born in that county in 1846, and received his early education at the Royal School, Enniskillen. He afterwards entered Trinity College, Dublin, where he took the degrees of B.A. and C.E. Mr. Reilly arrived in New Zealand in 1867, and followed his profession for three years, after which he went to the Friendly Islands and engaged in planting. There he remained till 1886, when he returned to the Colony, making Coromandel his headquarters in 1888. Mr. Reilly's prompt attention to the professional duties entrusted to him at Coromandel has resulted in his securing a large share of the business done in the district. He is a member of the N.Z. Institute of Surveyors.
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Middleton, Thomas,
                Photographer, Elite Studio, Coromandel. Mr. Middleton, who is the principal photographer in the Coromandel district, was born in Leeds, Yorkshire, England, in 1870, and educated at Bradford. On completing his education in 1884, he left England for Australia, and on arrival in that country, joined Mr. W. D. Solomons, of Armidale, New South Wales, one of the first artists of the day. After remaining with him four years, he started business for himself at Hillgrove, a well-known mining town ten miles from Armidale. Thence he went to Tamworth, where he remained twelve months. After that he went travelling, and visited many stations, towns, etc., in the course of his rambles, thus gaining an exceptional insight into outdoor photography. Mr. Middleton arrived at Auckland in 1895, and went thence to Coromandel, where he opened his present business. His studio is in the centre of the town, and has all the latest appliances for the successful carrying out of his profession.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Royal Mail Hotel
                
                (Thomas Carroll, proprietor), Kapanga Road, Coromandel. This hotel, which is the property of Mr. Carroll, is a very pleasant and commodious hostelry of some twenty-two rooms—including the bar and sitting-room,—and is situated in the centre of the town, opposite the Warden's Court and Post Office.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Carroll,
                the Proprietor, hails from the south of Ireland, where he was born in 1840. He came to New Zealand via Melbourne in 1865, by the ship “Royal Dane,” after being in the Victorian capital for two years. On reaching this colony he joined in the “rushes” to the West Coast of the South Island, but in 1868 determined to seek “fresh woods and pastures new” at the Thames. In the following year he was attracted to Coromandel in the “rush” to Tokatea, where he remained for three years, and was afterwards engaged in prospecting in the Ohinemuri district, prior to the “rush” of 1875. Mr. Carroll returned to Coromandel in 1877, and soon afterwards determined to enter the hotel business, his first house being the “Star and Garter.” After conducting this for ten years he purchased the freehold of the “Royal Mail,” which he still successfully carries on. Mr. Carroll has been a member of the Coromandel school committee for the past seventeen years, and a member of the Convent School Committee for twenty-eight years. He was also a member of the Coromandel County Council for three years. Mr. Carroll is married and has six children.
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                  Star And Garter Hotel
                
               
 (Walter N. Stehr, proprietor), is situated in Kapanga Road, Coromandel, and is a handsome and commodious building, which offers to travellers all the comforts of an English house. It shared in the disastrous fire of Christmas Eve, 1895, when Coromandel was levelled to the ground, to rise from its rains into the era of prosperity that came with the mining revival, which began in January of the ensuing year. The hotel itself is furnished throughout in the most elaborate style, convenience and utility having been thoroughly studied, and with its bath-rooms, cosy bedrooms, smoking-rooms, lounging parlours, and balcony commanding a view of the beautiful harbour, it stands unrivalled as the premier hotel of the goldfields. Indeed, complimentary remarks without limit have been passed upon its all-round efficiency—an efficiency reflected not only in the management, and in the cuisine, but even in the
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minor details of the writing-room. On many occasions the “Star and Garter” has been the home of mining experts and London visitors, and whenever these have tendered surprise or complimentary banquets to their friends or mine managers, it has been found equal to the severe tolls levied in all departments. The spacious and handsome hall attached to the hotel, establishes and completes the list of requirements.
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Mr. Walter N. Stehr,
                the Proprietor, is a man of the world, versatile in matters of mining, and in general information, as those who come in contact with him find to their entertainment and satisfaction. Mr. and Mrs. Stehr are indefatigable in their attention to the requirements of all—to say nothing of personal sacrifice, when necessity or charity demands—and they are universally popular and esteemed throughout the district.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Coromandel Plumbing And Sheet Metal Works
                
                (Charles Frederick Battson, proprietor), Rings Road, Coromandel. This business is said to be the most important of its kind in the township. The work carried on is most comprehensive, embracing plumbing, electric and pull-bell fitting, and tin plate and iron-working. A large assortment of galvanised chimneys, tanks, plunge, hip and sponge baths, and tin ware of all descriptions is constantly kept in stock. Estimates are given and workmanship guaranteed, while orders are promptly attended to by competent workmen. Mr. Charles F. Battson, the proprietor, was born in Dunedin in 1870, and is the third son of Mr. Francis Battson, one of Otago's earliest settlers, who was for many years stationmaster at the Dunedin Railway Station. He was educated in Dunedin, and was afterwards apprenticed to Messrs Anderson and Morrison, the well-known firm of that city, with whom he was engaged for eight years. He then worked for his brother, Mr Francis Battson, who was then and is still in business at the Thames, and in 1895 opened the present business in Coromandel. He keeps six hands in constant employment throughout the year. Mr Battson was one of the originators of the Coromandel Choral Society, and now holds the position of secretary.
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James, Samuel,
               
 General Ironmonger. Kapanga Road, Coromandel. This well-known an prosperous business was established by Mr. James in 1889, and since that time has grown to large proportions. The business done is chiefly with the mines, the shop being well stocked with every class of mining requisites. Mr. James was born in London, and served his apprenticeship to the building trade in that city. In 1870 he came to New Zealand by the ship “City of Auckland,” Captain Ashby. When he landed in Auckland, the building trade was very quiet, and Mr. James set up as a builder and wheelwright at Newmarket. Then when the discovery of gold attracted the attention of the public to Coromandel, Mr. James joined in
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the “rush” thitherwards, and experienced the usual “ups and downs” of a goldfields' life. He carried out a large amount of prospecting at the Tiki, where he spent four consecutive years, and then followed various callings—sometimes at his trade of carpentering and sometimes at mining—until he started the present concern in 1889. By dint of hard work and assiduous attention to his business, he has succeeded in working up a large connection, and is now looked upon as one of the most successful men in the district. He has been most successful in his mining ventures, being a large property holder in and around Coromandel. Mr. James was married in the Colony. His private residence is situated in Rings Road, Coromandel, between the upper and lower townships. In church matters, he is a trustee of the Coromandel Wesleyan Church. Mr. James is a member of the Coromandel County Council and of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and a Justice of the Peace.

              

                

[image: Kikowhakarere, Coromandel.]

Kikowhakarere, Coromandel.


              

            

          








Victoria University of Wellington Library




The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District]

Karangahake





            
Karangahake.

            

              
              


                

                  
Karangahake
                
                is situated on the bank of the Ohinemuri river. The main road to Waihi passes through the township. On the opposite side of the river are the batteries of the New Zealand, Talisman, Woodstock, and New Zealand Crown mines. Like Waitekauri, Waihi and Waikino, Karangahake is under the jurisdiction of the Ohinemuri County Council. A street water supply has been laid on, and the township has a public hall, two hotels, and a fair number of stores and business places. Numerous coaches run daily through the township, which is situated in a gorge formed by the Ohinemuri river, the hills on each side being close and fairly high. Karangahake is five miles from Paeroa, and four miles from Waikino.
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                  The Karangahake Fire Brigade
                
                was instituted in October, 1898, and occupies



a station which is centrally situated in the town. The plant consists of the usual hose and reel appliances, and a plentiful supply of water has been laid on by the Ohinemuri County Council. The officers for 1900 were Messrs Guthrie (captain), E. S. Cock (lieutenant), and W. J. Ellis (secretary).

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant Edward Stevens Cock,
                of the Karangahake Fire Brigade, was born at the Thames in 1873, and was educated at Paeroa. He is the second son of Mr. F. Cock, who has long been well known as chairman of the Ohinemuri County Council and agent for the Northern Steamship Company. After being apprenticed at Paeroa to Mr. Brenan, with whom he served eight years, he joined Mr. W. Ellis in 1895, and worked with him till 1899, when he removed to Karangahake, and opened a branch for the Ohinemuri Coaching and Carriage Company. Mr. Cock is a member of the Loyal Jubilee Lodge, I.O.O.F.M.U.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Karangahake Post Office
                
                building is situated in Main Street, and has a public office, an operating and sorting room, and a residence for the postmistress and her family. Mrs Jane Airey is postmistress.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Karangahake Public School
                
                was originally situated at Mackaytown, but now stands on the hill overlooking the valley which holds the township. It was removed to its present site in 1890, has been twice enlarged, and has accommodation for 180 pupils; there are 245 on the roll, and the average attendance slightly exceeds 200. Three certificated teachers and one pupil teacher assist the headmaster. There is a capital playground and shelter shed.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Augustus Nixon Scott,
                Headmaster of the Karangahake Public School, was born near Armidale, New South Wales, in 1866. He arrived in Auckland with his parents in 1869, and was educated in Hamilton. After two years at the Auckland Training College he was stationed successively at various places, and was appointed to his present position in 1890.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Karangahake Roman Catholic Church
                
                is a wooden building which was erected in 1898, and has seating accommodation for about two hundred persons. The Very Rev. Dean Hackett, of Paeroa, has spiritual charge, and holds services every alternate Sunday.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Karangahake Wesleyan Church
                
                is a pretty wooden building which stands on an eminence at the Paeroa entrance to the township. It was built in 1898, and has seating accommodation for 150 worshippers. The services are supplied by the minister of the Upper Thames circuit, of which Karangahake forms a part.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The “Goldfields Advocate”
                
                (Alfred William Ellis, proprietor), Karangahake. This newspaper is a demy sheet, with six columns to a page, and is issued twice a week. It was established in 1897. The proprietor has a general jobbing plant, and undertakes ordinary printing work.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Alfred William Ellis,
                the Proprietor, was born at Mortlake, in Surrey, in 1856. He was educated at Westminster School, and came to Port Chalmers in the ship “Pareora.” Soon afterwards he settled in Auckland, and followed various pursuits for a number of years. Mr. Ellis settled at Karangahake in 1896, and established the “Goldfields' Advocate,” the first issue of which bears the date of the 20th of January, 1897. Mr. Ellis has been a member of the Karangahake school committee, and its secretary, since settling in the district. He was one of the prime movers in the establishment of the local fire brigade, of which he is the secretary.

            

            

              
              


                

Fraser, William,
                Chemist and Druggist, Main Road, Karangahake; principal establishment, Paeroa. The premises at this branch consist of a shop and residence in the centre of Karangahake.

            

            

              
              


                

Stephenson, Frederick,
                Chemist and Druggist, Main Road, Karangahake. Mr. Stephenson was born in Geelong, Victoria, in 1855, and was educated in Auckland. He has had twenty-eight years' experience as a chemist and druggist.

            

            

              
Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

                    
Ellis, William Jackson
                  
                  (E. S. Cock, manager), Coachbuilder and General Blacksmith, Ohinemuri Coaching and Carriage Company's Factory, Karangahake branch. Head office, Paeroa. The Karangahake branch of this business was established in 1899. The principal establishment is referred to under Paeroa, and the manager is mentioned in connection with the Karangahake Fire Brigade.

              

              

                
                


                  
Adams Brothers,
                  Drapers and Importers, Karangahake. Branch at Waihi. These enterprising brothers established their present businesses early in 1892 on the first gold rush to Karangahake and Waihi, where they at once took the premier position in each locality, and have held it ever since. The three brothers were born in Auckland, where they were educated; and they learnt the drapery trade in some of the best houses in Auckland and at the Thames. They are, therefore, well versed in all the requirements of a goldfields business.
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                    Johnstone, J. and Co.
                  
                  (James Brown Johnstone and George Fallon), Tailors, Main Street, Karangahake. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1899, and occupies premises which are centrally situated in the township.
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Mr. James Brown Johnstone
                  
                  was born in 1874 at the Thames, where he was educated and served his apprenticeship. He worked at his trade there, too, till 1898, when he removed to Karangahake, and soon afterwards established the business now carried on by him and his partner.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. George Fallon
                  
                  was born in 1867 at Waipipi, about forty-seven miles south-west from Auckland. He served his apprenticeship at Waimate, South Canterbury, where he worked for four years as a journeyman. Subsequently he removed to Hawke's Bay, and was successively at Hastings, Wairoa, Napier, Wanganui, Patea, Hawera, and Opunake, and he has been in Karangahake since February, 1898. Mr. Fallon joined Mr. Johnstone in the establishment of the firm. He was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. E. Holthem, of Patea, and has one son and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    McCready And Davey
                  
                  (Hugh McCready and William Davey), Tailors, Main Road, Karangahake. This business was established in August, 1899, by Mr Davey, who was joined by Mr McCready in 1900.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr Hugh McCready
                  
                  was born in 1875, at Kawakawa, and learned his trade at Opotiki. He commenced business on his own account in 1897 at Kawakawa, but a year later he removed to Queen Street, Auckland, and settled in Karangahake in 1899. He is an old member of the Order of Oddfellows. Mr McCready was married, in 1897, to a daughter of Mr W. McDuff, of the Thames, and has one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. William Davey
                  
                  was born in 1867 in Auckland, where he was educated and learned his trade. He entered into business on his own account in Auckland in 1887, and was subsequently in Gisborne, Wellington, and Napier. In 1896, he settled in Karangahake, where he managed Mr. M. J. Purcell's branch business for eighteen months, and then began on his own account.

              

              

                
                


                  

Bracken, James Hope,
                  Hairdresser and Tobacconist, Main Street, Karangahake. This business was established in 1897 by Mr C. Huett, who conducted it till 1899, when it was acquired by the present proprietor. Mr. Bracken was born in Victoria in 1875, and was brought up to the hairdressing trade in Ballarat, where he worked at his business till coming to Auckland in 1896. He was employed for about two years in Coromandel, whence he removed to Karangahake, where he worked for his predecessor until he himself acquired the business.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Karangahake Hotel
                  
                  (William Shore Montgomery, proprietor), Main Street, Karangahake. This hotel was established in 1884. The original building, which was of small dimensions, has been considerably enlarged, the foundations having been excavated to provide for a lower storey. The house contains eighteen rooms, eleven of which are bedrooms. The dining room has accommodation for about twenty guests, and there are four sitting rooms.
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Mr. William Shore Montgomery,
                  the Proprietor, who is also owner of the Waikino Hotel, which is managed by his son, was born in Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1862. He was brought up to the hotel business, and assisted his father and mother until he left for New Zealand in 1874, by the ship “Hydaspes.” After his arrival in Auckland, Mr. Montgomery went to the Thames, where he was engaged in mining for four years. He subsequently went to Huntly, and was employed in coalmining, and he resided with his family for a number of years in that locality. After an absence of twelve months, during which he visited British Columbia and California, he returned to New Zealand, and resided for about six months at Westport, but then visited his old home in Scotland. On again returning to New Zealand Mr. Montgomery lived at Greymouth, settled in the Ohinemuri district in 1893. He and afterwards at the Bay of Islands, and became licensee of the Owharoa Hotel, which has since been removed to Waikino, and in 1897 he was licensee of the Royal George Hotel, Newmarket, Auckland, for about three months. Since the end of that year Mr. Montgomery has conducted the Karangahake Hotel. During his residence at Huntly he was a member of the local school committee. He was married, in 1871, to a daughter of the lat Mr. W. Blakely, of Lanarkshire, Scotland, and has had nine daughters and seven sons, one of his sons being dead.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Tramway Hotel
                  
                  (W. E. Ryan, proprietor), Karangahake. This hotel is of two stories, is built of wood, and contains thirty rooms. The large dining room has seats for twenty-five guests. There are fifteen bedrooms and four sitting rooms. The hotel was established about 1880, and has been conducted by Mr. Ryan since 1898.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. William Earle Ryan,
                 
 the Proprietor, was born in Victoria, in 1864, and came to New Zealand with his parents when he was two years of age. He was brought up to business as a draper and grocer in Ross and Kumara on the West Coast. In 1890 he started business on his own account in Mercury Bay, where he had for two years previously been managing for L. D. Nathan and Co., and in 1894 he removed to Auckland, where he became licensee of the Newmarket Hotel. He removed to the Rising Sun Hotel, Newton, Auckland, in 1897, and after six months on the Stock Exchange as a broker, settled in Karangahake. During his residence at Mercury Bay Mr. Ryan served for three years as a member of the Coromandel County Council, and also represented Mercury Bay on the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board for a similar period. He is a member of the Karangahake school committee. Mr. Ryan was married, in 1889, to
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a daughter of Mr. John Lynch, and has three sons and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Walters, George,
                  Ironmonger, etc., Karangahake. Mr. George Walters is the son of Mr. John Walters, draper, of Wanganui, and was born in that town in 1868. He served his time to the ironmongery business with Messrs Dawson, of Wellington. After the expiration of his apprenticeship he spent some years in Poverty Bay, but returned to Wellington and accepted a position with the old established mercantile firm of Messrs Joseph Nathan and Co. The “rush” to the Karangahake goldfields tempted him to visit the district, and early in 1897 he started his present business, which has grown steadily, and he is now well known in the trade, and successful. Mr. Walters is a lieutenant in No. 2 Company, Ohinemuri Rifles.

              

              

                
                


                  

Ott, Francis,
                  Butcher, Main Street, Karangahake. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Ott was born in 1875 near Invercargill, and was brought up to farming. In 1893 he removed to Hawke's Bay, and was engaged in driving and contracting for four years. He settled in the Paeroa district in 1897, and worked at his trade till 1899, when he commenced business on his own account in Karangahake. Mr. Ott is a member of the Star of Paeroa Lodge of Druids, and of the Ohinemuri Lodge of Oddfellows at Karangahake. He was married on the 11th of August, 1897, to a daughter of Mr. J. McMechan, of Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

Tetley, Joshua William,
                  Butcher, corner of Bridge and Main Streets, Karangahake. This business, which has been conducted by the present proprietor since 1898, was established by Mr. John Kelleiher in 1892. Mr. Tetley, who is a son of Mr. F. Tetley, of the Thames, was born on that goldfield on the 3rd of September, 1870. He was brought up to the business by his father, and afterwards had five years' experience in Wellington with the Gear Meat Company. His father claims to have established the original business, which was taken over by Mr. Gear, and out of which the present successful company has been evolved. Mr. Tetley has a pig farm at Mackaytown, where he usually has at least 200 pigs in various stages of growth. He has been very successful in his business, and in the rearing of pigs, and is arranging to put down a small freezing plant on his own account. Mr. Tetley was married, in 1895, to a daughter of Mr. D. Cottie, of the Thames, and has two daughters and one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

Vuglar, George,
                  Butcher, Karangahake. This business was established on the 1st of March, 1900. Mr. Vulgar was born in Otahuhu, in 1880, and was brought up to the butchering business by his father, at Otahuhu. To Aroha, and Paeroa. He worked with his father till he established his present business on his own account.

              

              

                
                


                  

Wight, Albert Edward,
                  Butcher, Main Road, Karangahake. This is one of the oldest businesses in the district, and was established by Mr. Barrett about 1880. There are customers all over the goldfields, and the premises are well adapted for the business, in connection with which Mr. Wight employs five hands, three saddle horses and a cart. Mr. Wight was born in 1862 in East Tamaki, where he was educated at the Scotch Church School. He was brought up to country pursuits by his father, the late Mr. Robert Allen Wight, well known as a journalist and entomologist, who died in November, 1896. Mr. Wight commenced business as a butcher in Waitekauri in 1896, but sold out satisfactorily in about two years, and purchased his present business in March, 1899. He has had large experience in fat cattle, and his business is a successful one. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Waihi, N.Z.C. Mr. Wight married a daughter of Mr. T. Gibbons, of Onehunga, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Ohinemuri Coaching Company,
                  Ltd. (M. Munro, manager), Karangahake branch, Main Street, Karangahake. The premises occupied by this company comprise a stable of twenty stalls, an office, and a waiting-room. The office serves as the Paeroa-Karangahake terminus, and as the changing place for the Waihi and Tauranga coaches. Ten coaches leave and arrive daily, and there are extra ones on Saturday. The company has a large and complete plant of buggies and saddle horses, which are available for hire at any time.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Murdoch Munro,
                  Manager of the Ohinemuri Coaching Company at Karangahake, was born in Victoria. At an early age he accompanied his parents to Canterbury, and gained general experience on a bury, and gained general experience on a sheep station in Hawke's Bay. In 1887 he settled in Paeroa, and was for two years with Messrs Phillips and Son. Afterwards he engaged in carting and express work on his own account, till 1898, when he sold out and went to the Thames. A year later Mr. Munro returned to Karangahake, and took up the duties of his present position.
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Mr. Alexander Hogg,
                  Old Colonist, was born at Montrose, Scotland, in 1838, and received his education at the Montrose Academy. In 1855 he left his native land in company with his mother and grandfather, in the barque “Chatham,” bound for Auckland, the voyage taking 124 days. On arrival he was engaged as shipping clerk to the firm of Messrs, Bain, Pierce and Co., and held that



position for five years. In 1860 he joined the Auckland Naval Volunteers, and took part in all their engagements in the Maori War, gaining the New Zealand Medal and a grant of land. When the Thames Goldfields were opened in 1867, Mr. Hogg started in business there as a general storekeeper. He afterwards joined the firm of Messrs. Mackay, Taipairi and Co., land agents, and was also engaged in flax-dressing. In 1870, at the time of the commercial depression, he went to the South Sea Islands, and was for two years successfully engaged in trading. Returning about the end of that time, he again started storekeeping at Karangahake, and was interested in the working of the Lamonte and Railey treatments of ores. He then took up several claims, two of which, the “Monastery” and “Abbey Priory,” are now merged in the New Zealand Crown Mines, Ltd. Mr. Hogg, who has encountered many vicissitudes during his career, has now retired from business, and resides at Karangahake.
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Mackaytown.

            

              
              


                

                  
Mackaytown
                
                is in the county of Ohinemuri, so noted for its mines, which have given an impetus to settlement in localities where the land gives fair promise of paying returns. The township has a population of about fifty persons.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Mackaytown Hotel
                
                (Harry Priston, proprietor), Mackaytown. This well known hostelry is situated at the junction of the old road to Waihi and the present main road. It is now the only hotel in its locality, where there were once fifteen licensed houses. The old original building was constructed almost entirely of packing cases, and the present wooden building, which is of two stories, and has a verandah, was erected in 1898. It contains eighteen rooms, of which eight are bedrooms, and there are three sitting rooms, a commercial room, and a dining room with accommodation for sixty guests. Behind the hotel there is stabling accommodation for fifteen horses.
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Mr. Harry Priston,
                the Proprietor, was born in 1869, in Christchurch. He became a pupil teacher at Ashburton Public School, and took a certificate, but abandoned teaching, and was for about a year with the D.I.C. in Christchurch at the time of the opening of that branch. After travelling the colony for about a year, Mr. Priston took the Star and Garter Hotel, Christchurch, and was subsequently landlord successively of the Caledonian, Gladstone, and Foresters' Arms Hotels, till 1897. In that year he went to Rotorua as manager of “Lake House,” and in May, 1898, removed to Mackaytown, where he took his present hotel. Mr. Priston is a Freemason, and is attached to Lodge Conyers, E.C., Sydenham, Christchurch. He is a steward of the Ohinemuri Jockey Club, and was at one time secretary of the Rotorua Jockey Club. Mr. Priston was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr J. Whiteford, of Torquay, Devonshire, England, and has one son.
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Waikino.

            

              
              


                

                  
Waikino
                
                is about six miles from Waihi on the road to Karangahake and Paeroa, and at the junction of the road which branches off to Waitekauri. It has sprung up in connection with the Victoria battery, which has been placed in the neighbourhood, in consequence of the large supply of water available. The township has a hotel, two stores, two butcheries and a bakery, and several boarding-houses. It is in a gorge formed by the Ohinemuri river, on the same side as the main road, and is connected with the battery by a bridge.
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Lever, John,
                Baker, Confectioner, and Storekeeper, Waikino. Mr. Lever was born at Cambridge, England, in 1839, and was apprenticed at Exeter to the confectionery business, including sugar-working, pastry, and cakes. He arrived in Wellington by the ship “Hastings” in 1856, and was in business on his own account in Wanganui from 1861 to 1863. From 1864 to 1875 he was in business in the Hawke's Bay district, and after a short residence in Wellington he was settled in Inglewood, till 1888. Mr. Lever was subsequently in Wairarapa, at Palmerston North, Feilding, and Stratford, and established his present business in Waikino in 1897. He joined one of the first volunteer companies in Wanganui in 1861. While in Hawke's Bay he served in the Militia at different times, and was in the Omaranui engagement under Colonel Whitmore.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Owharoa Hotel
                
                (Ralph Montgomery, proprietor), Main Street, Waikino. This hotel was removed from Owharoa on the 1st of July, 1896. It is a wooden building of two stories, with a balcony, and contains twenty-five bedrooms, four sitting rooms and a dining room, with sitting accommodation for thirty-two guests. There is a stable for nine horses. The house is owned by Mr. W. S. Montgomery, and the licensee is a son of the proprietor.

            

            

              
              


                

Cotter, Richard Joseph,
                Butcher. Main Road, Waikino. Headquarters, Waitekauri. The Waikino branch of this business was established on the 1st of February, 1900. It is carried on in a new building erected near the junction of the Waitekauri and Waihi roads, and Mr. C. Healey is manager.

            

            

              
              


                
Jones, Frederick Alfred,
                General Storekeeper, Main Road, Waikino. This business was established in 1896. The business of the local post office and telephone has been conducted on the premises since 1897. Mr. Jones was born in Dublin, Ireland, in 1856, and was married, in 1884, to a daughter of the late Captain Pettey, of Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Roberts, J. and S.
                
                (J. Smith, manager), General Storekeepers, Waikino branch, Waikino. This business was established by Messrs R. Montgomery and Co., who sold out to the present firm on the 25th of March, 1900. The premises, which are situated in a central position in the main street, are well adapted for the purpose of the business.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Joseph Smith,
                Manager of the Waikino branch of Messrs. J. and S. Roberts' business, was born on Boxing Day, 1878, at the Thames. He was educated at the Kauaeranga Boys' School, and was brought up to the storekeeping business with Mr. W. Wood, with whom he remained for five years. Mr. Smith joined Mr. Gavin Wallace at the end of 1898 at the Thames, and continued in his employment till the business was bought over by Messrs J. and S. Roberts. In November, 1899, he was sent to the Waihi branch, and was appointed manager at Waikino on the firm acquiring that business. Mr. Smith is attached to Loyal Waikino Lodge, I.O.O.F., M.U.
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Waitekauri.

            

              
              


                

                  
Waitekauri
                
                nestles among the hills, by which it is completely surrounded. In 1876 the township consisted of a 41-head stamper battery which had then been recently erected by Messrs Brown and Bleazard. The late Mr. E. M. Corbett was one of the pioneer settlers of the district, and at first the residences consisted of not more than half a dozen huts and shanties, which were dotted here and there in the bush, that then covered the entire township. Mr Thomas Gordon, who subsequently established a coach line to Paeroa, and erected a fine boardinghouse, which since his death has been conducted by his widow, settled in the district in the same year as Mr. Corbett. The district has advanced with the development of the Waitekauri and adjacent mines, and has progressed rapidly since 1896. There are two hotels in the township, a number of business places, a public hall, and a small church belonging to the Roman Catholics.
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The Waitekauri Volunteer Fire Brigade,
                which was established in April, 1899, has twelve members, including officers. It has the usual appliances for subduing fires, and the officers for 1900 were: Messrs C. J. Collings (captain), J. Gordon (lieutenant), and J. Mines (secretary).

            

            

              
              


                

Captain Charles James Collings,
                of the Waitekauri Fire Brigade, is well known as an architect and builder. He was born in Wellington in 1870, but removed to Auckland, where he was apprenticed to Mr C. E. Cook, civil engineer, and continued in that gentleman's employment for four years. Mr. Collings afterwards worked at boat-building for Mr. R. Logan, of Auckland, and was subsequently engaged in the building trade at Northern Wairoa. In 1894 he removed to Waitekauri, where he established himself in business as an architect and builder. He gained a first-class certificate at the Auckland Exhibition of 1898–1899 for the design of a yacht, and also as the designer and builder of the one-rater yacht “Waitekauri,” built at Waitekauri, and which raced at Auckland in the summer of 1898–1899 for the one-rater championship. Mr. Collings was married in September, 1897, to a daughter of Mr. J. Nicholson, of Auckland, and has one son and one daughter.
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Mr. William Charles Kennedy,
                Secretary of the Waitekauri Volunteer Fire Brigade, was born at the Thames in 1874, and was educated at Owharoa. He has been connected with the local fire brigade since September, 1899, and has held office as secretary since January, 1900.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waitekauri Post Office
                
                was erected in August, 1897, prior to which the postal business was conducted at local stores. The building contains a public vestibule, with a lobby, which contains forty-two private boxes, the postmaster's room, an operating and postal room, and the postmaster's residence. Two mails are daily received and despatched to Paeroa, and one to Golden Cross. Thames is the chief office for the district. The postmaster is assisted by a cadet and a messenger, and telegrams are delivered, but there is no house-to-house delivery of letters.
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Mr. William Alfred Harding,
                Postmaster at Waitekauri, was born at Wanganui in 1856. Three years later his parents removed to Hawke's Bay, where he served his time as a printer in the “Times” office at the Spit. At the close of his term, in 1873, he joined the Telegraph Department as a messenger at the Spit, and two years later gained his cadetship. He was appointed to Temuka in 1875, and after being there six months, was removed to Napier, where he continued for two years. Mr. Harding was afterwards stationed for ten years as



postmaster at Castlepoint, two years at Tenui, and seven years at Cullensville, Marlborough. After a year at the Lyell he was appointed to Waitekauri in 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waitekauri Public School
                
                occupies a high position in the township, and faces Corbett Street. The original school building, which was erected about 1880, forms a portion of the present enlarged school premises. There are two class rooms and a porch, and accommodation for 106 children, but there were 140 on the roll with an average attendance of 120 in the January quarter of 1900. The headmaster is supported by one certificated assistant and two pupil teachers.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Simmonds,
                Headmaster of the Waitekauri Public School, was born in 1870 at the Thames, where he was educated under Mr. Schofield, and at Waiokaraka. Public School. He served his apprenticeship as pupil teacher at Te Aroha and at the Thames, and was appointed sole teacher at Punakitere, on the Hokianga River, where he continued for three years and a half, and was appointed to Waitekauri in 1893. Mr. Simmonds is secretary of the local Oddfellows' Lodge, and vice-president of the Ohinemuri Rugby Union. In his early days he was an enthusiastic footballer. He was married, in 1897, to a daughter of Mr. J. S. Hope, of Waitekauri, and has one daughter.
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The Waitekauri And Golden Cross Lodge,
                I.O.O.F., M.U., was established in July, 1899. Officers for 1900: Messrs C. E. Mace (N.G.), W. Rockell (V.G.), and W. Simmonds (secretary). There are 125 members, and meetings are held fortnightly in the Waitekauri Public Hall.

            

            

              
              


                
Court Pride Of Waitekauri,
                A.O.F., was established in June, 1899. Officers for 1900: Messrs A. A. Sutton (C.R.), C. J. Johnson (S.C.R.). P. Corbett (S.W.), R. J. Cotter (J.W.), R. Walker (S.B.), T. W. Hunt (J.B.), P. C. Elliott (treasurer), W. S. Morrin (secretary). There are about fifty members, and meetings are held each alternate Tuesday in the Waitekauri Hall.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Somerville Morrin,
                Secretary of Court Pride of Waitekauri, and of the Waitekauri Jockey Club, was born at Remuera. Auckland, in 1876. He is the eldest son of the late Mr. Samuel Morrin, and was educated at St. John's College, Tamaki. After serving three years at the soft goods trade with Messrs McArthur and Co., he went to Waihi, and engaged in mining for a year. He then removed to the Thames, where he was employed by the Thames Hauraki Company, and studied at the Thames School of Mines, in which he obtained certificates as battery manager, assayer, and amalgamist. In June, 1898, he settled in the Waitekauri district, and was appointed superintendent of the Golden Cross battery, and foreman of the Waitekauri battery. Mr. Morrin is one of the managing committee of the Ohinemuri Rugby Union.

            

            

              
              


                
Waitekauri Jockey Club.
                Messrs R. Walker (chairman), W. S. Morrin (secretary) were the officers for 1900. The annual meeting of the Club is held in February of each year at the Waitekauri racecourse, which has a circle of 66 chains. The ground has been ploughed and laid down in grass.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert Walker,
                Chairman of the Waitekauri Jockey Club, was born in the North of Ireland in 1859. He came to Auckland in 1873, and has resided at the Thames and at Paeroa. Mr. Walker was appointed in 1898 to the position of storekeeper at the Waitekauri battery. He was one of the promoters of the local jockey club, with which he has been connected since its inception.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The “Golden Age” Newspaper
                
                (H. L. Snow, proprietor), Jamaica Street, Waitekauri. This journal was established in 1897; it is printed on a double demy sheet, and has four pages of seven columns each. It circulates chiefly in Waitekauri and Golden Cross, and is issued twice a week.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Harry Longueville Snow,
                J.P., was born at Clifton, Bristol, England, in 1859. He was educated at St. Peter's College, Westminster, London, and came to Lyttelton by the s.s. “Durham” in 1897, when he became a cadet on a station in the Rakaia district. Two years later he went to the West Coast, where he was for six years sub-editor of the “West Coast Times. Mr. Snow then purchased the “Kumara Times,” and conducted that journal for five years. He went to West Australia, and after touring the colonies for a time returned to New Zealand, and established in Wellington an evening paper named the “Echo,” which was short-lived. Mr. Snow then went to Waitekauri, and established the “Golden Age.” He was married, in 1880, to the daughter of Mr. A. Jaouen, of Brittany, France.

            

            

              
              


                

Tennent, Charles Fleetwood Emerson,
                Chemist and Druggist, Main Road. Waitekauri. This business was established in 1899. Mr. Tennent, who was born in Liverpool in 1872, came to the colony from Chicago at an early age with his parents. He learned his trade in Auckland, and after passing his examination as a chemist, in 1892, was in business in Auckland and Cambridge, and has now settled at Waitekauri.
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Farrelly, Robert Goodfellow,
                  News Agent and Stationer, Jamaica Street. Waitekauri. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1896. Mr. Farrely represents the most important newspapers in Auckland and district, and acts as agent for the Imperial Fire Insurance Company. He was born in County Cavan, Ireland, in 1857, and was brought up to mercantile life. Mr. Farrelly came to Port Chalmers by the ship “Indiana,” and settled in Canterbury, where he was for ten years engaged chiefly in farming; and he was for a similar period employed in farming and mining in the Marlborough provincial district. In the end he settled in the Ohinemuri district, and established his present business. Mr. Farrelly is returning officer for the Waitekauri Riding of the Ohinemuri County Council. He was married, in 1881, to a daughter of Mr. J. Luxton, of Rangiora, and has three sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Johnston, Christopher,
                  Baker and Confectioner, Jamaica Street, Waitekauri. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established about 1892, and was acquired by the present proprietor in 1898. The premises are centrally situated in the township, and Mr. Johnston's private residence occupies an elevated position not far from the post office. Mr. Johnston was born in 1872 at the Thames, where he was educated, and served an apprenticeship with Mr. W. Scott. He commenced business at the Thames in conjunction with a partner, and the firm was known as that of Johnston and Billings. After selling out his interest, Mr. Johnston removed to Waihi as baker for Mr. J. Darrow, and in due course acquired his present business. He is a member of the Loyal Waitekauri and Golden Cross Lodge of Oddfellows. Mr. Johnston was married, in 1890, to a daughter of Mr. Ensor, of the Thames, and has three sons and one daughter.
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Hunt, Thomas William,
                  Builder and Contractor, Plumber and Ironmonger, Main Street, Waitekauri. Mr. Hunt established his business in 1896, and the premises were built for the purpose. He was born at Thorningham, Northumberland, England, in 1868, came to Wellington with his parents in 1880, and was brought up as a carpenter.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Mccarthy And Sutton
                  
                  (Thomas McCarthy and Alfred Sutton), Tailors, Jamaica Street, Waitekauri. This firm also carries on business at Waihi. The Waitekauri branch was established in May, 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Alfred Sutton,
                  the Resident Partner, was born in Launceston, Tasmania, in 1866. In June, 1897, he settled at Waihi, and became a member of the firm of McCarthy and Sutton.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Hauraki Hotel
                  
                  (Samuel Draffin, proprietor), Main Street, Waitekauri. This hotel was established in 1896, and was acquired by the present proprietor in December, 1899. It is a two-storey, wooden building, with verandah and balcony, and contains forty-three rooms, available for the public, including thirty bedrooms, three sitting rooms and a commercial room.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Samuel Draffin,
                  the Proprietor, is referred to in other articles as mine manager of the Grace Darling Company's mine, and as a member of the Ohinemuri County Council.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Gordon's Boardinghouse
                  
                  (Mrs Gordon, proprietress), near the Post Office, Waitekauri. This well known accommodation house occupies a very prominent position in the township. It is a comfortable place to stay at, and is carefully managed. Mrs Gordon is widow of the late Mr. Thomas Gordon, who died in 1898, leaving five sons and five daughters. The building is of wood, and of two stories, with a verandah and a balcony. It contains over thirty rooms, of which three are sitting rooms. There are twenty-seven bedrooms, and the dining room will seat from thirty to forty persons.
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Mr. Thomas Gordon
                  
                 
 was born in County Tyrone, Ireland. He was brought up to country pursuits, and came out to New
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South Wales in 1864. In 1870 he was married to a daughter of the late Mr. Alexander Mackenzie, of Woolongong, New South Wales, and came to New Zealand in 1871. After being about five years on the Thames gold-fields, Mr. and Mrs Gordon settled in Waitekauri, where they purchased 100 acres of land. Mr. Gordon engaged in mining in the district up till almost the date of his death. He established a line of coaches between Waitekauri and Paeroa, and it is still continued by his sons. He also built and established the boardinghouse which still bears his name. Mr. Gordon occupied a prominent position in the town, and at one time held, in conjunction with others, the Waitekauri Mining Battery on tribute.

              

              

                
                


                  

Norris, Arthur Hayward,
                  Saddler and Harness-maker, Jamaica Street, Waitekauri. Mr. Norris was born in 1872 at the Bay of Islands. He was educated in Auckland, and served his apprenticeship there to the saddlery trade with Mr. W. S. Jones, with whom he worked as a journeyman for two years. After completing his term, he lived at Lake Takapuna with a brother, and took work at his trade during that time. For three months subsequently Mr. Norris was at sea. He settled in Waitekauri in 1897, and was engaged in mining for six months before establishing his present business. Mr. Norris is a member of the local Foresters' Court.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Rowe, W. and Co.
                  
                  (William Wesley Rowe, proprietor), Boot and Fancy Goods Importer, Jamaica Street, Waitekauri. Branch at Golden Cross. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This flourishing drapery business was established in 1896, and the building now occupied was erected a year later. The premises consist of a corner shop with a verandah, two show windows, and a residence at the back.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Wesley Rowe,
                  Proprietor, was born in 1870 at the Thames, where he served his apprenticeship, and worked at his business until he established himself at Waitekauri. He is a nephew of the late Mr. William Rowe, of Caledonia mine fame.
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Collings, Charles Alexander,
                  Pork Butcher, Main Street, Waitekauri. Mr. Collings was born in London in 1841, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Bombay” in 1865. He was for two years on board the Panama Company's boats, and was subsequently storekeeper for the same company in Wellington. In 1869 he commenced business in Wellington on his own account, and carried it on for seven years. He was afterwards farming in the Hutt Valley for four years, was in the employment of Messrs Fisher and Co., in Queen Street, Auckland, for about nine years, and settled at Waitekauri in 1890.

              

              

                
                


                  

Cotter, Richard Joseph,
                  Butcher, Main Road, Waitekauri. Branches, Waikino and Golden Cross. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in May, 1897; the Golden Cross branch was opened in July of the same year, and that at Waikino in February, 1900. The building at Waitekauri was built for the purpose of the business, and a considerable trade is done by Mr. Cotter throughout the goldfields. Mr. Cotter was born in Cork, Ireland, and came to Auckland by the ship “Doratta”' in 1874. He was educated in the colony, and learned his trade with Mr. C. Mills, at Coromandel, where he commenced business on his own account in 1891. Fourteen months later he removed to Kuoatunu, where he was in business for fifteen months. He was afterwards manager of Mr. McLeod's shop at Coromandel, and was subsequently in business on his own account in Waikato, and at Rotorua, whence he removed to Waitekauri, and established his present business. Mr. Cotter is a member of the Order of Foresters, and is Sub-Chief Ranger of Court Pride of Waitekauri, 7598.
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Mace, Charles Edward,
                  Butcher, Jamaica Street, Waitekauri. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in June, 1897, and was conducted by Mr. A. E. Wight up to the 1st of January, 1899, when Mr. Mace bought it. The premises are centrally situated, and consist of a large shop with an office and a small goods room, and accommodation for the men on the lower floor. Mr. Mace and his family occupy an adjoining residence of four rooms. Mr. Mace was born in 1870 at the Thames. He was educated at the public schools in Auckland, and learned his trade at Waitekauri. Mr. Mace is a member of the Loyal Waitekauri and Golden Cross Lodge, I.O.O.F., M.U., and held office as N.G. in 1900. He was married in January, 1898, to a daughter of Mr. James Pocock, of Waitekauri.
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Darrow, John,
                  General Storekeeper, Jamaica Street, Waitekauri. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business, which was purchased by Mr. Darrow in 1893, was originally established by Messrs J. Phillips and Son. The premises, which have been considerably enlarged from time to time, comprise two large shops and an office, with residential quarters behind. A large stock is maintained, and a considerable trade is done in the Waitekauri, Golden Cross, and surrounding districts. Mr. Darrow



was born in 1871 at the Thames, where he was educated and apprenticed to the drapery business. For a time he was manager at Paeroa for Messrs Hudson and Pitcaithly's business. He and a partner then bought the Waitekauri business of Messrs J. Phillips and Son, and the firm was known as that of O'Tool and Darrow. After twelve months Mr. Darrow bought his partner out, and conducted the business singly till 1896, when he disposed of his interest to Mr. W. Rogers. Six months later the business was sold to Mr. P. Cullen; and a year afterwards Mr. Darrow again bought it back. He is a member of the local Court of Foresters, and takes a general interest in athletics and local sport. Mr. Darrow was married in February, 1896, to a daughter of Mr. P. W. Ryan, of Waitekauri, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  
Goldfields Co-Operative Stores,
                  Ltd., (T. W. Simpson, manager). Branch, Golden Cross. Messrs E. B. Dufaur (chairman of directors), A. C. Harrison (secretary). S. H. Matthews (auditor). Head office, Hobson's buildings, Shortland Street, Auckland. The premises occupied by this well-known company were erected for the purpose of the business which was established in July, 1896. They have been twice enlarged, and consist of a large double-fronted shop with a verandah, and a bulk store situated at the back. The departments are devoted respectively to boots, groceries, ironmongery, explosives, mining requisites, crockery, and drapery.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Wetherall Simpson,
                  Manager of the Goldfields Co-operative Stores, Ltd., was born in Glasgow in 1864, and came to Auckland with his parents when between two and three years of age. He was educated in Auckland. He joined the Telegraph Department, and remained in the service three years, but left in order to accept a clerkship in the New Zealand Freezing Company, Ltd., with which he remained five years. Mr. Simpson then removed to Ngaruawahia, and entered the service of the well-known firm of Messrs Friar, Davies and Co., in whose service he held a senior position for a period of ten years, during which he filled the offices of secretary and treasurer to the local polo club—of which he was also a player—and honorary secretary to the Ngaruawahia Racing Club. He was also an active member of the rowing, football, and dramatic clubs. Mr. Simpson severed his connection with Messrs Friar, Davies and Co. to start on his own account in Cambridge, Waikato, where he remained three years, during the last two of which he was a member of the Cambridge Borough Council. Subsequently he took the management of Mr. W. H. Wright's wholesale business at Paeroa, and remained in it until he was appointed to his present position on the 2nd of January, 1899. Mr. Simpson was married in September, 1896, to the only daughter of the late Mr. Josias Thurstan Gard, of Exeter, England, and grand-daughter of Mr. G. F. Dickeson, brewer, Ngaruawahia, Waikato.
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Mr. Percival Cumming Elliott,
                  Accountant to the Goldfields Co-operative Stores Company, Ltd., was born in 1870 in Auckland. After being for four years in a solicitor's office, he was employed by Messrs Garlick and Cranwell for a year, and then became a receiving and forwarding agent on his own account on Queen Street Wharf, Auckland. Three years later he sold the business to Messrs A. B. Wright and Sons, with whom he continued for two years. Mr. Elliott was afterwards at Okoroire, storekeeping for Mr. T. C. Urquhart. He became accountant to Mr. H. McCleland in January, 1896, and on the business being sold to the Goldfields Co-operative Stores Company he was appointed to his present position. Mr. Elliott is treasurer of Court Pride of Waitekauri, A.O.F., and occupied the position of secretary till February, 1900.
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McWatters, W. J.,
                  General Storekeeper, Main Road, Waitekauri. The principal branch is at Paeroa, and there are branches at Waihi, Waitekauri, and Karangahake. Manager at Waitekauri, Mr. J. Mines. Mr. McWatters established this branch in April, 1900, when he purchased the connection of Mr. W. Gardiner, who had conducted business for two years in the district.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    McLennan And Hope
                  
                  (John Sommerville Hope), Carriers and Contractors, Jamaica Street, Waitekauri. Head office, Paeroa. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This large business was established about 1893 by Mr. John McLennan. He was joined by Mr. Hope, the present proprietor, in 1896, and at the end of March Mr. Hope purchased his partner's interest. Mr. Hope carries on a large trade in the Ohinemuri district, and employs from forty to eighty horses and about a dozen waggons and drays.

              

              

                
                

                  

                    
Mr. John Sommerville Hope
                  
                 
 was born in Glasgow in 1845. His father and mother having died, he left Scotland in 1858, and landed at Sandridge, Victoria, with six pennies in his pocket. In 1861 he came to Otago to go to Gabriel's Gully “rush,” and subsequently served under Colonel Whitmore in the Hawke's Bay Defence Force until its disbandment. After that he ran coaches between Napier and Waipawa for a considerable time, and was subsequently for two years in the Timaru district. In 1868 he removed to the Thames, where he was engaged in mining till 1896, and was for seven years employed as shaftman and engine-driver at the Big Pump. He was also employed at
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amalgamating work, was several times a battery manager, and worked the first experimental plant at the Thames. When Mr. Hope left the Thames School of Mines experimental plant he took charge of the Waihi Gold Mining Company's battery under Mr. T. H. Russell for about three years, and left that to take charge of the Waitekauri Company's battery, also under Mr T. H. Russell. He was one of the first to receive a battery superintendent's certificate. As a Freemason Mr. Hope is attached to Lodge Sir Walter Scott at the Thames, and to Lodges Ohinemuri and Paeroa. He was a member of the Thames Navals for a number of years, as a private and bandsman. Mr. Hope was married, in 1871, to a daughter of the late Mr. Hanlon, a military man, and has one son and two daughters, the latter being married.
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Golden Cross.

            

              
              


                

                  
Golden Cross
                
                is a mining camp on the site of the Golden Cross section of the Waitekauri Company's mine. It sprang into existence as a township about 1896, and is connected by road with Waitekauri, and also by a tramway constructed about 1895. The township has a hotel, one store, a draper's shop, a bakery, two butcheries, a billiard saloon, a public hall, and a public school. A recreation ground has already (1900) been carved out of the bush, and means are being taken to make it available for sports and gatherings. The population of Golden Cross is about 400. The Golden Cross mine was prospected about 1895 by Messrs Lowrie Bros., who found payable gold.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Golden Cross Public School
                
                contains one class-room and a porch, and has accommodation for sixty children; there are fifty-six on the roll, and the average attendance is fifty-two. The school site adjoins the recreation reserve, where there is plenty of opportunity for the physical exercise of the scholars.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. David McNaughton,
                Headmaster of the Golden Cross Public School, was born at Riverton, Southland, in 1873. He was educated at Tauranga, where he served his pupil-teachership. Mr McNaughton became assistant master at Waihi, and after being nearly two years in that position he was appointed to the mastership of the Golden Cross School.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Golden Cross Hotel
                
                (G. H. Archer, proprietor), Rata 
[
unclear: s]treet, Golden Cross. This hotel was built in 1899, and occupies a commanding position in the mountain camp which constitutes the township of Golden Cross. It is a two-storey wooden building of seventeen rooms, of which ten are bedrooms, and three are sitting rooms, and there is a dining room with accommodation for fifty guests. The license was granted in 1899.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Henry Archer,
                Proprietor, was born in 1874 at the Bay of Islands, and was educated in Auckland. He was brought up to storekeeping in Cambridge, Waikato, and other places, and was employed by the Goldfields Co-operative Stores Company before becoming licensee of the Golden Cross Hotel.

            

            

              
              


                
Rowe, W. and Co.,
                (William Wilson Rowe; J. E. Johnston, manager), Golden Cross. Headquarters, Waitekauri. The handsome building in which the Golden Cross branch of this firm's business is conducted, was erected in 1898. There is a convenient shop, and a four-roomed residence with a verandah.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Eric Johnston,
                Manager of the Golden Cross branch of the firm's business, was born at Hampden, Otago, in 1870, but was educated in Auckland, where he was brought up to the drapery business. He joined Mr. Rowe in Waitekauri, in 1897, and when the Golden Cross branch was opened he was appointed its manager. Mr. Johnston takes an interest in all local affairs, and is a member of the Waitekauri Lodge of Oddfellows. He was married on the 30th of April, 1900, to a daughter of Mr. Brownett, of the Thames.
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The Goldfields Co-Operative Stores,
                Ltd., (H. F. Rogers, manager.) Golden Cross branch, Main Street, Golden Cross. Head office, Waitekauri. This branch was established in 1895. The building is of iron, and consists of a large double-fronted shop, with a store, an office, and a residence; and the business of the local post office is conducted on the premises.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry Francis Rogers,
                Manager of the Golden Cross branch of the Goldfields Co-operative Stores, Ltd., was born in 1875 at Tapu. He was educated in Auckland, and gained his first experience in storekeeping at Helensville with Mr. D. Stewart, with whom he remained for six years and a half. Mr. Rogers then removed to Paeroa, where he was employed with Messrs J. Phillipps and Son for two years, and settled at Waitekauri in 1896. He was in the employment of Mr. J. Darrow for a year, and was appointed to his present position in 1897. Mr. Rogers is a member of the Waitekauri Court of Foresters, and is also postmaster at Golden Cross.
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Waihi.

            

              
              


                

                  Waihi
                
                is about 300 feet above the level of the sea, and is situated on the Waihi Plains, in the county of Ohinemuri. The settlement of the district commenced in 1878, when Mr. George Compston and his wife crossed the Waitekauri river, and took up land in the Huaia block, where they have since resided. Mr. Compston was the first settler in the district, and as far as can be gathered was followed successively by the brothers Walmsley, Messrs W. Hollis, and H. C. Savage. In 1880 Waihi town consisted of Messrs J. Phillips and Son's store, and the Waihi Hotel, then a mere shanty, erected by Mr. T. Corbett. In the early eighties the town began to come into prominence, owing to the discovery of gold, and the now celebrated Waihi Company was formed in 1887. In May, 1900, miners' huts and cottages were spread over an area of about three miles each way. The poppet heads of the mines are conspicuous in every direction, and the batteries of the Waihi and Union Waihi Companies are features in the scene. Streets in the township are intercepted at many points by the tramlines communicating between various mines and batteries; and the Waihi Company's tramline extends from its mine to its large Victoria battery at Waikino. The main street of the township is contiguous to the celebrated Martha Hill, the first portion of the Waihi mine to be worked, and out of the top of this hill a huge slice has been taken out and put through the mills. Conical hills and cones surround the settlement, and there are mountain ranges in the distance. Waihi is on the main coach line, connected with Katikati and Tauranga. In reality the township is a gold mining camp, but it appears likely that it will continue to increase. The Ohinemuri County Council has done much in the way of cutting, forming, and metalling roads, and in making footpaths. Local residents wish the township to be declared a borough, and, no doubt, this will be done sooner or later.

            

            

              
              


                
The Waihi Improvement Committee,
                which was appointed in 1897 at a meeting of the residents, has been successful in effecting considerable improvements in the condition of the township. At the instance of the Committee, the County Council has completed the street water supply, established the local fire brigade, and generally improved the roads, foot-paths, etc. The ultimate object of the Committee is the establishment of a local borough council.

            

            

              
              


                
The Waihi Volunteer Fire Brigade,
                which is registered under the Unclassified Societies Act, was established on the 28th of February, 1899. There are sixteen effective members in the Brigade, and Mr. C. E. Brown is captain, Mr. T. Wells foreman, and Mr. T. McCarthy secretary. The station is in Main Street, opposite the Stirling Hotel, and the plant consists of a reel with 850 feet of two-inch-and-a-half canvass hose, two hydrants, four branches, and a union. The site measures 20 by 16 feet, and was presented to the Brigade by Mr. J. L. Stevens.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Charles Brown,
                Captain of the Waihi Volunteer Fire Brigade, was born at Papakura in 1866, and educated at the Thames High School. He was brought up as an engineer and amalgamist at the Thames battery, and has been connected with battery work since 1891. He was amalgamator at the Jubilee battery, Waihi, for a year, and afterwards battery manager at the Silverton mine, and held that position when the battery was acquired by the Union Waihi Company. Mr. Brown was married, in 1892, to the daughter of the late Mr. Scott, of Hamilton, and has one son and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas Wells,
                Foreman of the Waihi Volunteer Fire Brigade, was born in 1876, in Dunedin, and educated at Devonport, Auckland. He learned his trade as a boat-builder with Mr. R. Logan, senior, of Auckland. After being six months in Fiji, he removed in 1896 to Waitekauri, where he worked as a carpenter for a year. He then returned to Waihi, where he was engaged in building, mostly on his own account, and has erected a large number of cottages and dwellings in the district. Mr. Wells joined the first Devonport Fire Brigade, and served eighteen months as fireman. He has been connected with the Waihi brigade since its inception, and was appointed foreman at the outset. Mr. Wells was one of the first members of the Devonport Torpedo Corps, in which he served four years, and gained two certificates for submarine mining and signalling. He was the promoter of the Waihi branch of the New Zealand Natives' Association, and as a Forester he is attached to Court Waihi.
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Mr. Thomas McCarthy,
                Secretary of the Waihi Fire Brigade, was born at Valparaiso, South America, in 1870, and was educated partly in his native place, and partly at Castlemaine, Victoria. Mr. McCarthy became a pupil-teacher in Victoria, but after an experience of eighteen months he commenced, at the age of nineteen, to learn tailoring in Melbourne. He was afterwards in business on his own account for four years in New South Wales, and for two years in Tasmania. He came to New Zealand in 1897, and settled at Waihi, where he entered into business under the style of McCarthy and Sutton. His partner. Mr. Alfred Sutton, conducts a branch of the business at Waitekauri. Mr.



McCarthy is G.M. in the Order of Oddfellows.

              

                

[image: G. J. Foy, photo.Mr. T. McCarthy.]

G. J. Foy, photo.


Mr. T. 
Mc
Carthy.


              

            

            

              
General Government Departments.

              

                
                


                  
The Waihi Post Office.
                  A large business is transacted at this office, two mails being received and despatched daily to Paeroa, Auckland, and Thames, etc., and three mails weekly to and from Tauranga. The postmaster has a staff of three assistants, two letter carriers and two messengers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Albert Benner,
                  Postmaster at Waihi, Officer for the Issue of Miners' Rights, and Registrar of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, was born at Kilmore, in the south of Ireland, in 1854. He came to Port Chalmers in 1874 with the idea of farming; but after an experience of three or four months he joined the post office at Wellington, and was placed in charge of the Bowentown Post Office at Katikati Heads. Mr. Benner had, before leaving Ireland, been in the telegraph department for three years at Dublin, Limerick, and other towns. After three years at Bowentown Mr. Benner was transferred to Auckland, where he was stationed for twelve months before being appointed relieving officer for the northern portion of the colony. This position he held for six years, when, his health breaking down, he applied for the postmastership at Maketu, Bay of Plenty, where he remained till 1897, when he was transferred to Waihi.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Robert Thomas Henderson,
                  Senior Cadet in the Waihi Post Office, was born in 1876 at Mercury Bay, where he joined the Post Office in June, 1890, as a messenger. He continued in that position till 1896, when he passed the Civil Service examination, and gained a cadetship, and was transferred to Auckland. About a month later, Mr. Henderson was removed to Waihi, to the position which he still (1900) holds. He is a Druid, and is connected with the Pride of Waihi Lodge No. 20. As a volunteer he has been connected with the No. 3 Ohinemuri Rifles since the formation of that company, in December, 1897.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Denis O'Leary,
                  Cadet at the Waihi Post Office, was born in 1879 at Ngaruawahia, Waikato, where he joined the Civil Service as a telegraph messenger in 1895. Two years later he was transferred to Waihi.
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                    The Waihi District School
                  
                  is a fine building, which is erected on five acres of land situated near the main road and in the centre of the town. A large playground, with shelter sheds, is attached to the school, which has four class-rooms with accommodation for 500 children, and there is an average attendance of about 400 pupils. The headmaster, who is supported by six certificated assistants and two pupil-teachers, resides in a six-roomed house adjacent to the school.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Alfred Benge,
                  Headmaster of the Waihi District School, was born in 1856, at Wadhurst, Sussex, England, where his father was engaged in farming. On his parents removing to Kent, he went to the National school at Notting Hill in the west end of London, where he passed through a course of training and was afterwards appointed a master in the Metropolitan City Police Orphanage, Twiekenham. He holds a first class drawing certificate from the Science and Arts Department at South Kensington, and has received special mention in practical chemistry from Professor Brown, of Auckland University College. In 1879, Mr. Benge came to Auckland and obtained a position under the Auckland Board of Education. He was headmaster of Devonport school, North Shore, for eleven years, and was transferred to Waihi at his own request in October, 1896. Mr. Benge has been engaged in the profession of a schoolmaster for twenty-eight years without a break. As a Freemason he was worshipful master of the Albion Lodge No. 45 N.Z.C., North Shore. He has also gained distinction as a cricketer and takes a great interest in that pastime at Waihi. He is a member of the committee of the Waihi School of Mines. Mr. Benge married Miss Good, of Ponsonby, formerly first assistant at Ponsonby school and a prominent member of the choir of All Saint's Church, and has seven children.
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Mr. William Lloyd,
                  Assistant Master at the Waihi Public School, was born at Treorky, near Cardiff, Wales, in 1873. When but two years of age he arrived in Otago with his parents, and was educated at the Blue Spur Public School, Lawrence, and at Denniston, on the West Coast. He served a pupil-teachership of over four years, and after teaching at various schools he was appointed to his present position in September, 1898.

              

            

            

              
Ecclesiastical.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Church Of England
                  
                  at Waihi occupies a prominent position in the main street. The original building was put up in 1894, and was enlarged in 1897. The church has a site of about an acre in extent, and can seat about 200 worshippers. The Sunday School is attended by about fifty children, and is held in the church. Until recently Waihi was included in the district under the charge of the Rev. W. H. Wilson at Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Henry Harvey,
                  Organist of St. John's Church, Waihi, was born at St. Just, Cornwall, England, in 1872, and was educated in his native place. He is a shoemaker by trade, and came by the s.s. “Aotea” to Wellington. Since settling in Waihi he has worked as a miner in the Union Waihi mine. As a child he showed a taste for music, and took lessons from Mr. Simons, of St. Just, and afterwards



from Mr. Seller, organist of St. Just parish church, of the choir of which he was a member. Mr. Harvey became organist of the Christian Bible Church in St. Just, and afterwards was for two years in the orchestra in St. Just Parish Church as a violinist. He was also a member of the St. Just string and reed band. Mr. Harvey has occupied the position of organist in St. John's Church, Waihi, since he settled in the district in January, 1899.
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                    The Waihi Presbyterian Church
                  
                  is situated in Morsby Avenue, Waihi, and was erected about 1896. It is a wooden building with seating accommodation for 150 persons. The Sunday School, which is held in the same building, has eighty scholars. The minister in charge of the district holds service also at Katikati, Golden Cross, Waitekauri, Owharoa, Waikino, and Whangamata.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. John James Bates,
                  Minister in charge of the Waihi district, was born on Banks' Peninsula in 1868, and educated in Christchurch at the Boys' High School and Canterbury College. He attended as a student at the Theological Hall, Dunedin, and commenced to preach in 1890. Mr. Bates was stationed at Amberley for two years, at Patea two years, Hunterville six months, Mayfield one year, Cheviot one year, and at Waikari for eighteen months, and has resided at Waihi since November, 1898. He was married on the 30th of July, 1894, to a daughter of the late Mr. Joseph Bates, of Banks' Peninsula, and has two sons and one daughter.
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The Roman Catholic Church,
                  Waihi, occupies a position fronting the main street, not far from the Waihi Hotel. It is a wooden building, was erected in 1896, and has seating accommodation for 150 worshippers. Services are held every alternate Sunday by the Very Rev. Dean Hackett, of Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Waihi Wesleyan Church
                  
                  is a commodious wooden building in Hazard Street. It was erected in 1898, and has accommodation for 250 worshippers. The Sunday School attached to the church has about 140 children on its roll. Two services are held every Sunday. The Waihi district forms a part of the Upper Thames circuit.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. David Weatherall,
                  Resident Minister in charge at Waihi, was born in 1876 at Blue Spur, near Lawrence, Otago, and was educated at the local school and at Prince Albert College, Auckland. He commenced his ministerial career as assistant to the Rev. Mr. Rothwell in 1893, and in the following year was appointed home missionary at Hokianga. In April, 1895, he was transferred to Whangaroa, and was accepted as a candidate for the ministry at the Conference the following year. For two years and a half subsequently, Mr. Weatherall studied at Prince Albert College, Auckland, and in August, 1898, was called out to take charge of Waipawa, Hawke's Bay, where he continued till taking up his duties at Waihi, in 1900.
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                    The Waihi Primitive Methodist Church
                  
                  is situated in Tauranga Road, opposite the Post Office, Waihi. The building, which is of wood, and will accommodate 200 worshippers, was built in 1898. The Sunday School is attended by fifty children. A Primitive Methodist congregation was first formed in Waihi in 1895. Services are held at Waitekauri, Katikati, and Golden Cross.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Jacob Featherston,
                  Minister in charge of the Waihi Primitive Methodist Church, was born in the County of Durham, England, in 1864, and was educated at board schools. He commenced as a local preacher in 1890, and came out to New Zealand in the following year. Mr. Featherston was a home missionary in connection with the Wesleyan Church at Tapanui, Otago, for three years, and at Nightcaps, Southland, for one year. He was subsequently stationed at Dannevirke, Hawke's Bay, for six months, and was settled at Masterton for four months. In 1900 he joined the Primitive Methodist Church as a probationer, and was appointed to his present position. Mr Featherston was married, in 1898, to a daughter of Mr. F. Abelstide, of Dunedin, and has one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Salvation Army Barracks
                  
                  occupy a prominent position in the main street of Waihi. The Army has been represented in the district since 1894, and a large wooden building, seated for 250 persons, with officers' quarters behind, was erected three years later. There are fifty soldiers in the local corps, and a good band has been established. The Sunday School is attended by forty scholars. The officer in charge of the district holds occasional services at Waitekauri.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Marcus Jansen,
                  Officer in charge of the Salvation Army Barracks at Waihi, was born in Denmark in 1863, and came to Wellington with his parents by the ship “Humboldt” in 1876. He is a wood turner by trade, and worked at his business for about fourteen years. Mr. Jansen joined the Army in 1883. Later on he gave up business, and in 1892 he went into the Training Home at Christchurch, whence he was shortly afterwards sent out as captain. He had many appointments before being sent to Waihi in January, 1900. Mr. Jansen was married to a daughter of Mr. J. Sutherland, of Wellington.

              

            

            


            

              
Social.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Waihi Club
                  
                  was established in 1897, and is domiciled in an annexe specially added to the Waihi Hotel for the club in 1898. The club has a large reading room, supplied with the latest newspapers and magazines, a billiard room, in which there is a capital table, smoking room, writing room, and a private bar. There are 100 members, and the business of the club is managed by a committee of eleven; Mr. T. Gilmour (president), Mr. H. Croucher (treasurer), and Messrs Allen and Whyte (honorary secretaries).

              

              

                
                


                  
Lodge Waihi,
                  No. 112, N.Z.C. This Masonic Lodge was established in 1898. The first W.M. was Mr. R. S. Ready. The officers for 1900 were: Messrs T. P. Clark (W.M.), J. Hume (S.W.), St. Clair (J.W.), D. Campbell (treasurer), and H. Benner (secretary). The Lodge owns a beautiful hall in Kenny Street, erected at a cost of £300.

              

              

                
                


                  
Loyal John Leyden Lodge,
                  I.O.O.F., M.U., Waihi. This Lodge was established in June, 1897, and has about 212 members. The officers for 1900 were: Messrs T. McCarthy (G.M.), W. Keely (N.G.), D. Saunders (treasurer), and A. Katz (permanent secretary).

              

              

                
                


                  
Court Waihi,
                  A.O.F., 7597. The officers for 1900 were: Messrs A. Cathey (C.R.), H. Hartley (S.C.R.), W. Cullen (S.W.), A. Sneddon (J.W.), G. Harvey (S.B.), G. W. Gregory (J.B.), A. H. Clark (treasurer), and T. E. Palmer (secretary), This Court was established in 1895, and has a membership of over 150.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Ernest Palmer,
                  Secretary to Court Waihi, was born at Meridon, near Coventry, England, in 1871. He was educated at King Henry the Eight's School at Warwick, was brought up as an architect, and obtained a thorough insight into the building trade during six years. In 1893 he arrived in Auckland, and settled at Waihi, where he has erected a considerable number of buildings, including the club room at the Waihi Hotel, Tanner's block of buildings, and a good many of the shops in Main Street, besides numerous dwellings. Mr. Palmer was married, in January, 1899, to a daughter of Constable Whelan, of Waihi, and has two daughters—the first twins born in Waihi.
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Pride Of Waihi Lodge,
                  U.A.O.D., 20, was established in 1897. Officers for 1900: Messrs J. Malcolmson (P.A.), A. J. Proctor (A.D.), R. Henderson (V.A.), J. Sanders (treasurer), and E. M. Joll (secretary). There are fifty-four members, and fortnightly meetings are held at the Waihi Hall on alternate Wednesdays.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Waihi Cycling And Touring Club
                  
                  was established on the 30th of July, 1898. Officers for 1900:—Messrs A. M. Myers (patron), R. S. Ready (president), T. Stewart (captain and treasurer), E. D. McRae (deputy-captain), and D. Morgan (honorary secretary). There is a membership of nearly fifty, and the club holds annual sports for cycling and running.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Evan Morgan,
                  Secretary of the Waihi Cycling and Touring Club, was born in 1871 at Ballarat, Victoria. When he was only seven years of age he came with his parents to Otago, and was educated at the Blue Spur. He was taught the trade of a tailor at Lawrence and in Dunedin, where he worked altogether about ten years, and was employed by Messrs Herbert, Haynes and Co. in Dunedin and Invercargill for upwards of two years. In 1898 he settled in the Waihi district, and established himself in his present business. Mr. Morgan was one of the first members of the cycling club. He is a Forester, and is attached to Court Enterprise, Dunedin. Mr. Morgan was married, in September, 1898, to a daughter of the late Mr. Ockwell, of Dunedin.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Waihi Jockey Club
                  
                  evolved from an old club which had existed for several years previously, was established in 1899, when the officers were: Messrs Jackson Palmer, M.H.R. (patron), D. Campbell, J.P. (president), W. Corbett (clerk of scales), D. Carmichan (clerk of course), J. Graham (starter), J. Flett (treasurer). The club holds an annual summer meeting on the racecourse on the Tauranga Road, and there are about sixty members.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Waihi Brass Band,
                  which was established in 1895, has twenty-eight performing members. It is a good band, and won the contest at Te Aroha in 1897. The band is attached to the North Island Brass Band Association, and competed at the Napier and Palmerston North contests in 1899. Mr. E. A. Johns is secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    “The Waihi Miner”
                  
                  (Galbraith and Co., proprietors), Waihi. This journal, the first copy of which was published in October, 1895, is now issued bi-weekly, and enjoys a large circulation. The manager is Mr. James Galbraith, who also edits the paper. Mr. J. M. Wrigley attends to the outside business, including canvassing and collecting, and the staff of the printing office is under the supervision of Mr. David J. Pearson.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Marsden Wrigley,
                  who is one of the staff of “The Waihi Miner,” was born at Talbot, Victoria, in 1871, and came with his parents to New Zealand when a child. He was educated at the Collegiate School. Tauranga, where his father, the late Mr. Thomas Dale Wrigley, was the proprietor of the Springwell Brewery. On completing his education Mr. Wrigley took a position in a grain and produce merchant's office at Tauranga, and, after twelve months, went to take up a position in the brewery of his uncle. Mr. George Ellis, of Hastings, Hawke's Bay. He was afterwards for five years manager of the Napier branch of the business, which position he relinquished to join the staff of “The Waihi Miner.” Mr. Wrigley is greatly esteemed throughout the district, and to his untiring efforts are largely due the success of the paper which he represents.
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                    The Waihi Police Sub-District
                  
                  is about thirty miles across. The station, which is situated in Kenny Street, consists of a six-roomed residence, office, and lock-up with two cells. There is a large section of land, which extends to the corner of Hazard Street, where it is intended to erect the courthouse.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Whelan,
                  Constable in charge of the Waihi Sub-District, and Clerk to the Magistrate's Court, was born in New South Wales in 1845, and was brought up in Sydney, Melbourne, and Hobart, his father being Sergeant Whelan, who was in charge of the mounted orderlies at the Government Houses in those three capitals. Mr. Whelan joined the British Army in June, 1863, and served in the first battalion of the 12th Regiment in New South Wales and New Zealand for three years and two hundred and nine days. He was bought out in 1867,



and joined the Armed Constabulary in Auckland. Mr. Whelan was then transferred to the Police Department, and was stationed successively at Opotiki, Tauranga, and Port Awanui. He was appointed to Waihi in June, 1897.

              

              

                
                


                  

Haslett, Hamilton McDowell,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, Waihi. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Kenny Street. Mr. Haslett was born in 1860 in Auckland, where he was educated, and served his articles to Mr. J. C. MacCormick. He was admitted in 1889, and practised at Picton for four years, and at Pahiatua for two years. He then returned to Auckland, where he was manager of the common law department in Mr. W. Coleman's office for about three years, and established his present practice in February, 1899. Mr. Haslett was married, in 1895, to a daughter of the late Mr. A. 
[
unclear: S]. Duncan, of Picton, and has one daughter.
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Medical.

              

                
                


                  

Forbes, Francis Courtney Sutherland,
                  M.B. (Aberdeen), Surgeon and Physician, Waihi. Dr. Forbes was born at Fyzabad, Oudh, India, in 1867, and was educated at Newton Abbot, South Devon, England. He studied at Mariechal College, Aberdeen, where he resided with his guardian, Dr. Matthew Hay, professor of medical jurisprudence at the Aberdeen University. Dr. Forbes graduated in 1889, and came to Auckland in the same year by the s.s. “Kaikoura.” He was house surgeon at the Auckland Hospital in the years 1889 and 1890, and from 1892 to 1894 he practised his profession in Tauranga. He then settled in Paeroa, where he commenced to practise on the 1st of July, 1895, and continued till November, 1899, when he removed to Waihi. As a Freemason Dr. Forbes is connected with Lodge Ohinemuri. He was married in January, 1896, to a daughter of Colonel C. C. Rookes, of Auckland, and has one son.
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Porter, Albert Harding,
                  L.R.C.P., L.R.C.S. (Edin), L.F.P.S. (Glasgow), Physician and Surgeon, Rosemont Road, Waihi. Dr. Porter was born at Tarnagulla, Victoria, in 1869. He received his primary education in Auckland, and studied in Edinburgh and Glasgow for his medical degrees, which he obtained in 1894. On returning to New Zealand he settled at Tauranga, where he practised his profession, but removed to Waihi in October, 1898. Dr. Porter is medical officer of the local lodges of Oddfellows. Druids, and Rechabites, and was married in 1894.

              

              

                
                


                  

Cranwell, Ruskin Burritt,
                  Dental Surgeon, corner of Kenny Street and Tauranga Road, Waihi. This business was established in 1896 by Mr. W. Hobbs, who disposed of it on the 1st of May, 1900, to the present proprietor. Mr. Cranwell was born in Auckland, educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, apprenticed to Mr. A. W. Chatfield, and is registered under the Dentists' Act of 1898.

              

              

                
                


                  

Robins, William,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Main Street, Waihi. This business was established in 1896, and has been conducted by the present proprietor since the end of 1898. Mr. Robins is the son of the late Mr. J. Robins, of Dunedin, where he was born in 1864. He was educated at the Middle District school, and finished his course at the Otago University. In 1889 he passed his pharmaceutical examinations, and was duly registered under the Pharmacy Act. Mr. Robins was apprenticed to Mr. Bernard Isaacs, of Dunedin, with whom he remained thirteen years, acting as manager for four years. He then removed to Timaru to take charge of the Friendly Societies' Dispensary. After four years and a half, he returned to Dunedin, and managed Mr. Carroll's business for two years. In 1897 he removed to Auckland under engagement to Mr. Colin Henderson. Mr. Robins was well known as a vocalist in Dunedin and Timaru, where he assisted the musical community in many ways, especially in comic opera and dramatic productions. He was a member of the Timera Operatic Society, took part in the Liedertafel, Choral Society, and was in church choirs in Dunedin and Timaru. In May, 1899, Mr. Robins was married to a daughter of Mr. S. Dumont, of Sydney, and has one daughter.
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Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

Alexander, George Erskine,
                  Land, Estate and Commission Agent, Accountant and Sharebroker, Main Street, Waihi. Private residence, Main Street. Mr. Alexander does a considerable business in real estate in Waihi, and is agent for Messrs J. Spencer and Co., wholesale stationers, Auckland, Messrs McKay and Pratt, auctioneers at Paeroa, and Messrs Fenwick and Anderson, Auckland. He was born at Carrickfergus, Ireland, in 1819, educated at the Royal Academical Institution, Belfast, and was brought up to the linen manufacturing business. Subsequently he went to the United States, and was for six years accountant in a large pork packing factory. He then returned to Belfast, and was an accountant in the Northern Bank for two years. In 1878 he came to Auckland by the ship “Lady Jocelyn, and was engaged in various work for about twenty years, latterly in the Te Puke district. In 1897, Mr. Alexander removed to Waihi, where he established his present business. He is a member of the Advance Lodge, Independent Order of Rechabites, and is secretary to the committee of the Presbyterian Church.
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Gooch, Richard,
                  Stock and Sharebroker, Land and Estate Agent, Victoria Street, Waihi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Bedford McNiell's code is used by Mr. Gooch, who is district agent for the Norwich Union Fire Insurance Society, the Standard Fire and Marine Insurance Company, the North Queensland Insurance Company, and for the Official Assignee in Bankruptcy. Mr. Gooch has business and residence sites for sale in Waihi, which is a rapidly growing town, with every promise of increased values in the near future. He buys and sells shares on commission. As a sharebroker, he does a considerable business, and has agents in London, Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, and Dunedin.

              

              

                
                


                  

Ross, Andrew Young,
                  Auctioneer and Sharebroker, Main Street, Waihi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in March, 1899. Mr. Ross acts as local agent for the Official Assignee in Auckland. He was born in Taranaki, in 1865, and was educated at Gisborne. For seven years he was assistant clerk to the Gisborne Borough Council, and assistant secretary to the Gisborne Harbour Board. After ten years' general experience in the United States, Mr. Ross returned to New Zealand, in 1898, and settled at Waihi. He has held office as honorary secretary to the Waihi Literary and Debating Society, and to the Waihi Progressive League.

              

              

                
                


                  

Foy, George,
                  Photographer, Hazard Street, Waihi. This business was established by Mr. T. E. Price, of Tauranga, in 1899. He sold out in May, 1900, to the present proprietor, who is the eldest son of the late Mr. J. J. Foy, photographer, of the Thames. Mr. Foy was brought up to photography by his uncle. Mr. J. M. Foy, with whom he continued until he took over his present business.

              

              

                
                


                  

Newdick, John,
                  Baker and Confectioner, Waihi Street, Waihi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1895 by Mr. Newdick, who built the present shop and residence in 1898, the old building having been burnt down. The bakehouse, which occupies the back portion of the allotment, was built for the purpose of the trade. Mr. Newdick was born at the Thames in 1870. He was educated in that town, and apprenticed to Mr. W. Scott, for whom he worked altogether seven years. After an experience of eighteen months in Zeehan, Tasmania, he returned to New Zealand, and settled in the Ohinemuri district, and commenced business at Waitekauri in 1894. About a year later he removed to Waihi. As a Freemason Mr. Newdick is a member of Lodge Waihi, 112, and he is a member of the local Oddfellows' Lodge. He is musical, and is prominently connected with the Waihi Brass Band, and was one of the contesting bandsmen at the Palmerston North contest in 1899. Mr. Newdick was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. A. McIntyre, of Thames, and has two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Roberts, William Edward,
                  Baker and Confectioner, Kenny Street, Waihi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in September, 1897, when the bakehouse and adjoining dwelling-house were erected for the purpose. The proprietor superintends the delivery, and an expert baker, who has been twenty-five years at the trade, is employed in the bakehouse. Mr. Roberts was born in Auckland, in 1874, and was brought up with his parents at Henderson. Subsequently he removed to the city, and remained there until he settled in Waihi in 1895. Mr. Roberts bought teams and worked in the bush till he established his present business. He is well known in athletic circles, and is one of the fastest men in the colony for long distances.

              

              

                
                


                  

Aspinall, John,
                  Builder, Contractor, and Estate Agent, Main Street, Waihi. This business was established in 1896, and Mr. Aspinall has erected, on his own account and to order, a considerable number of cottages and small residences in the district. He acts as agent for Messrs Bouskill and McNab, cemetery railling and tombstone manufacturers, Symonds Street, Auckland. Mr. Aspinall was born near Halifax, England, in 1837, and was sent to work in a stone quarry at the age of seven years. When he was twenty-two, he went to Manchester, and was five years in charge of the Corporation Stone Yards at Newton Street, Ancoats. Afterwards he had a stone yard of his own in Sackville Street, off Portland Street, and was building and contracting on his own account for fifteen years, during which period he erected about £10,000 worth of property for himself. Whilst he was in the Old Country Mr. Aspinall took great interest in Ragged Schools. He was a member of the Friends Adult Sunday Schools for nearly twenty years, and worked with the Society of Friends all through the memorable Lancashire cotton famine. He was for several years a director of the Cornbrook Orphanage, founded by the late Mr. William Birch, so noted in connection with the Free Trade Hall Sunday evening services, and latterly of the Auckland Tabernacle, New Zealand. In 1884, Mr. Aspinall arrived in Auckland by the ship “Northumberland,” and, after contracting for several years in that city, he went to Hawke's Bay, where he was engaged as a general contractor for eight years, and carried out works at the sea-wall and Marine Parade. In 1896 he removed to Waihi, and established his present business. He was married on his birthday, the 22nd of May, 1859, to a daughter of the late Mr. Jaggor, of Queensberry. This lady died in Sydney, in 1895, leaving two sons and four daughters, and in August, 1896, Mr. Aspinall contracted a second marriage with the widow of the late Mr. C. G. H. Sergent, of Portsmouth, and daughter of the late Mr. Charles Malvern, of Worcester, England.
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                    Menzies and Co.
                  
                  (J. Calderwood, manager), Aerated Water and Cordial Manufacturers, Martin Street, Waihi; Head Office, Thames. The Waihi branch of this business was established in 1896. It is conducted in a wood and iron building, with a complete plant, consisting of a two-horse-power gasoline engine, aerator, and two bottlers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Calderwood,
                  Manager, was born in Williamstown, Victoria, in 1863, and was brought up in Hamilton, Waikato. Before settling in Waihi he was manager of Messrs Menzies and Co.'s Te Aroha branch for about three years. Mr. Calderwood was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr T. Gatherale, of Mahurangi, and has two sons and two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Edwards And Towers
                  
                  (J. Edwards and W. J. Towers; J. D. Wells, manager), Painters and Decorators, Main Street, Waihi. Headquarters, Paeroa; branch at Te Aroha. This business was established in Paeroa about 1889, and the Waihi branch was opened in 1894, after business had been carried on for some time in the district.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Dunedin Wells,
                  Manager of the Waihi Branch of Messrs Edwards and



Towers, was born in 1875, in Dunedin. He was educated at Devonport, Auckland, and learned his business with his father. Mr J. T. Wells, in Queen Street. After being about six months in Sydney and Melbourne he started business on his own account in 1895, and two years later settled at Waihi, where he received his present appointment. Mr. Wells is a member of the New Zealand Natives' Association, which he joined in Auckland, and is attached to the Waihi branch.
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                    Cullen and Co.,
                  
                  (W. Shotbolt, manager), Drapers and Importers, Main Street, Waihi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business, which is a branch of the firm's business at Paeroa, was established in 1898. The shop has a workroom behind, and a considerable local trade is done with the firm's well assorted stock of drapery goods.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Walter Shotbolt,
                  Manager for Messrs Cullen and Co.'s business, was born at Pinchback, near Spalding, Lincolnshire, England, in 1873. He was educated at Willersby school, near Spalding, served his apprenticeship to the drapery trade with Mr. Tidd, of Stamford, and was afterwards four years with Messrs Cullen Bros., in Nottingham. Mr. Shotbolt came to Wellington by the s.s. “Kaikoura,” and went to Auckland, where he was in the service of Messrs Court Bros., in Queen Street, for a year. He then joined the Auckland firm of Messrs Cullen and Co., and has been successively its manager at the Thames, Te Aroha, Paoroa, Karangahake, and at Waihi, where he has been in charge since 1898.
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Morgan, Evan,
                  Tailor, Hazard Street, Waihi. Mr. Morgan's business was established in October, 1898. He himself is referred to elsewhere as honorary secretary to the Waihi Cycling and Touring Club.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Rob Roy Hotel
                  
                  (John Flett, proprietor), corner of Waihi and Tauranga Roads, Waihi. This well known hostelry, which was established in 1896, is a two storey wooden building, with a verandah and balcony, and contains sixty rooms, forty of which are bedrooms, and there are four sitting-rooms on each floor. One hundred guests can be seated comfortably in the dining room, and there is stabling behind the hotel for twelve horses.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Flett,
                  the Proprietor, was born in 1835 in the Orkney Islands, where he was brought up to country pursuits. He came out to Australia in 1856, and arrived in New Zealand at the time of the Gabriel's Gully “rush.” Mr. Flett was afterwards on the West Coast diggings, and settled at the Thames in 1868. He was well known as the proprietor of the Rob Roy Hotel, Parawai, till 1895, and during his residence at the Thames he was for a time a member of the Parawai Highway Board. Mr. Flett was married, in 1868, to a daughter of the late Mr John Flett, of Auckland, and has five sons and three daughters. There are three grandchildren.
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Adams, E. and Co.,
                  (Edward Adams), Plumbers, Tinsmiths and Ironworkers, Main Street, Waihi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by Mr. Adams in 1893. His premises consist of a shop and large workroom, which is fitted with rollers for the machinery required in a considerable business. Mr. Adams manufactures, in connection with his trade, tanks, baths and other articles too numerous to mention.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. Edward Adams
                  
                  was born in Auckland in 1870, and was educated at the Thames, where he learnt his trade with Mr. Fagg, and, after having several years' experience with other firms, he established the present business on his own account. He is a member of the Wesleyan choir, and is always ready to assist in any local charitable object. Mr. Adams was married, in 1898, to the daughter of the late Mr. T. Gibbons, sawmiller, of the Thames.
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Laurie, William,
                  Mechanical Engineer, Waihi. Mr. Laurie was born in Glasgow in the year 1844, and, after leaving school, served his time with Messrs Isaac and William Whitesmith, the well-known firm of engineers of that city. He left their employ in 1864, and came out to Auckland, New Zealand, in the ship “Pegasus” in the same year Not



finding any employment at his trade, he worked for a time for Messrs. Gillies and McIsaacs, timber merchants. Coromandel, but subsequently served under Messrs. Fraser and Tinne, the well-known Auckland engineering firm, for two years, and was then for a short period engineer on the steamer “No. 1 Enterprise,” plying to the North Shore. Mr. Laurie went to the Thames early in 1867—previous to the opening of the goldfields—in a small cutter, and engaged in prospecting for some months; he then, with three others, took up a claim called the “Bendigo,” in which he worked for some time. In 1868 he was appointed to the position of engineer on the steamer “No. 2 Enterprise,” running between Thames and Auckland, but six months later resigned and became engineer on several steamers plying up the Waitako River; he was also for a short time employed in erecting machinery in connection with various mines at the Thames. Mr Laurie was engaged for about nine months under Mr. Herrington, the well-known engineer, in erecting what is known as the “Big Pump” at the Thames. In 1871 he was appointed by Superintendent Gillies, of the province of Auckland, to the position of turncock for the Thames water supply, and, when the Borough Council assumed control, he remained in their employ in the same capacity for some twenty years. After 1889 he was for some years contractor to the Thames County Council for the keeping in good order and condition of the race, fluming, tunnels, etc., of the water supply. Mr. Laurie is a thoroughly competent engineer, having had a large and varied experience extending over forty years.
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                    Phillips, Walter and Co.
                  
                  (T. Sheen, manager), Wholesale and General Ironmongers and Hardware Merchants, corner of Main Street and Rosemont Road, Waihi. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in June, 1899. It is carried on in a large two storey building, which comprises a dwellinghouse and a corner shop, with double windows, and a large verandah, extending across the footpath. There is a well selected clock on the premises.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Sheen,
                  Manager of Messrs Phillips and Co.'s store, at Waihi, is the eldest son of the late Mr. John Sheen, commercial traveller. He was born in Dunedin, in 1875, educated at the Wellesley Street School, Auckland, and entered the service of Messrs T. and S. Morrin and Co. Subsequently he was with Mr. G. J. White, of Tokomaru Bay, near Gisborne, and afterwards with Messrs J. Hague Smith and Co., at Paeroa. For some time prior to receiving his present appointment, Mr. Sheen was with the Woodstock Goldmining Company at Karangahake, but was entrusted with the management of Messrs W. Phillips and Co.'s business on its establishment. Mr. Sheen is an Oddfellow, and has gone through the various offices in the Loyal Jubilee Lodge. I.O.O.F.,M.U., at Paeroa. As a Freemason, he is attached to Lodge Ohinemuri. He is also a member of the New Zealand Natives' Association, one of the committee of management for the Waihi Rugby Union, and an active member of the local volunteer fire brigade. Mr. Sheen was married, in 1899, to a daughter of Mr. G. Seymour, of Mercury Bay.
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                    Smith, J. Hague and Co.
                  
                  (F. J. Sanders, manager), Main Street, Waihi; Head Office, Thames. The Waihi branch of this well known firm's business was opened in July, 1899, and occupies a fine shop, with a special show window, in a central position in Main Street. Behind the shop, there is a large shed, measuring 60 by 16 feet, for the storage of goods. The establishment is supplied with a thoroughly well assorted stock of hardware and miners' requisites.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Frederick James Sanders,
                  Manager of Messrs Smith and Co.'s Waihi branch, was born in London, in 1855. When he was three years of age he arrived in Auckland with his parents, and received his education in that city. He entered the service of Messrs Cruickshank, Miller and Co., of Queen Street, and gained a knowledge of the hardware business. Subsequently he was with Mr. T. Wells, of Cambridge, and afterwards with Messrs John Houghton and Son, of the same town, and later still he was for four years in business on his own account. He then returned to Mr. Wells, and became manager of the hardware department of his business. When he first entered the employment of Messrs Smith and Co., it was as manager of the retail department of the firm's Paeroa branch. On the firm deciding to open the Waihi branch. Mr. Sanders was entrusted with its management. Mr. Sanders is a member of the Anglican Church, and superintendent of the local Sunday school. He was married, in 1883, to the daughter of Mr. J. Kingdon, of Cambridge, and has two sons and five daughters.
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McLeay, Ernest Alexander,
                  Boot and Shoe Manufacturer and Dealer, Main Street, Waihi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by Mr. McLeay in 1894, and was one of the first in the district. He has had the misfortune to be burnt out twice since that year. The present shop is well situated, and the proprietor keeps a large stock of imported goods. Mr. McLeay was born on the 11th of December, 1875, at the Thames, and was brought up by his uncle, Mr. H. Whitehead. He is a son of Mr. Daniel McLeay, late of the firm of Whitehead and McLeay, and worked at his trade at the Thames, until establishing his present business. Mr. McLeay is an Oddfellow, and is attached to the Loyal Charles



Bruce Lodge, Thames. He was married, in 1898, to a daughter of the late Mr. Bulls, of the Thames.
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Colebrooke, George,
                  Butcher, Main Street, Waihi. Bankers, National Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Hollis Road. This business was established by Anderson and Co., in 1897, and was acquired by Mr. Colebrooke in January, 1900. The shop is centrally situated in the main street, and the slaughterhouse is at the junction of the Waitekauri and Ohinemuri creeks. Mr. Colebrooke was born in the parish of Beneden, Kent, England, in 1856, and when he was eight years of age he came to New Zealand with his parents by the ship “Armstrong.” He was brought up as a carpenter at Tauranga, and worked at his trade until he purchased his present business. Mr. Colebrooke settled in the Ohinemuri district in 1878, and was engaged in building for a number of years at Te Aroha, where he erected the public school and public hall. At Waihi he erected the first poppet heads, and was engaged for a number of years as a mining carpenter. Mr. Colebrooke is a Forester, and belongs to the Waihi Court. He was married. in 1883, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Mangan, of the Thames, and has five sons and four daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Vuglar, Thomas Perceval,
                  Butcher, Main Street, Waihi. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was the first of its kind in Waihi, and was established in 1888, in a small shanty on the side of Tuthill's new buildings, at the corner of Tauranga Road and Main Street, when there were only two other business places in Waihi. About twelve months later the shop was closed, but it was re-opened again in 1892. The large double-fronted shop now occupied by the business was erected for Mr. Vuglar, and is well adapted for the purposes of the trade. Mr. Vuglar was born at Otahuhu, in 1871, was educated at Paeroa, and brought up to the business by his father, Mr. J. Vuglar. He carried on business extensively in Waihi till 1897, when he became involved during the mining boom, and was consequently unfortunate. Notwithstanding this, however, he has continuously conducted the business since 1892. Mr. Vuglar was married on the 5th of September, 1898, to a daughter of the late Mr. Robson, of Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

Clark, Archibald Hugh,
                  Storekeeper and Fruiterer, Main Street, Waihi. Mr. Clark was born on the 8th of September, 1845, in Tasmania, and came to Nelson in 1856 by the brig “Harp.” After being about six years at sea, he was for a time on the West Coast diggings, and settled at the Thames in 1869. He was for many years engaged in mining and speculating, and afterwards acquired a public house and a gum store at Katikati. In 1892 he settled in Waihi, and shortly afterwards established his present business. He is a member of Court Waihi, A.O.F., and holds office as treasurer. Mr. Clark was married, in 1879, and has four sons and one daughter.
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Dick, Alexander John,
                  Storekeeper, Main Street, Waihi. This business was established in 1895 by the proprietor, who was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, in 1861, and learned the grocery business in his native land. He came to New Zealand in 1894, and, after some experience at Gore, in connection with his trade, he settled at Waihi, and established his present business.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
McWatters, W.
                  
                  (Robert Henry Holmes, manager), General Produce Merchant, Waihi. Head Establishment, Paeroa.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Robert Henry Holmes,
                  Manager, was born in Belfast, Ireland, and served his time to the grocery business in Armagh. He came to New Zealand in 1883. After carrying on business in Wellington for several years, he decided to visit Auckland, and was engaged by Mr. McWatters to manage his Waihi branch business.
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Ryburn, Ernest Stewart,
                 
 Grain and Produce Merchant, Main Street, Waihi. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established in 1896, and the store is centrally situated in the town. Mr. Ryburn obtains his produce from the best colonial markets, and does a considerable trade. He was born in Auckland, in 1870, educated in his native place, and brought up to farming by his father. Mr. Ryburn is a member of
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No. 3 Ohinemuri Rifles, and also of the Loyal John Leyden Lodge of Oddfellows.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Roberts, J. And S.
                  
                  (Joseph and Stephen Roberts), General Storekeepers, Waihi. Head office, Thames; branch at Waikino. Bankers. National Bank of New Zealand. The Waihi branch business was established in the early days by Mr. J. Chandler, and was purchased by the Messrs Roberts in November, 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Stephen Roberts,
                  Resident Partner, was born in the West of England, in 1868, and arrived in New Zealand in 1874. About 1880, he went to the Thames, where he gained his business experience, and was for some years engaged in the plumbing trade. He and his brother founded the firm in 1896. Mr. Roberts was married, in 1895, to a daughter of the late Mr. McKenzie, of London, and has one son.
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Tailor, John Ede,
                  General Storekeeper, Waihi. This business, which is one of the oldest on the goldfields, was originally established by Messrs John Phillipps and Son, and has been conducted by the present proprietor since 1896. Mr. Taylor was born in Birmingham, England, in 1863, and served an apprenticeship of five years in Messrs Wilkinson and Riddel's drapery establishment. He came to Wellington by the s.s. “Ruapehu,” in 1884, and served successively with Thompson, Shannon and Co., Wellington, Blythe and Co., Napier, Thompson and Co., and the D.I.C., Wellington, and afterwards acquired his present business at Waihi. Mr. Taylor was elected to the Ohinemuri licensing bench in 1900.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Ohinemuri Coaching Company,
                  Ltd., Waihi Branch. This branch has two stables in the township, both wooden buildings, with twelve stalls each. Buggies and other conveyances are kept for hire, as required, and there are three coaches daily between Waihi and Paeroa, and a coach runs three times a week between Tauranga and Waihi.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Johnston,
                  Manager of the Waihi Branch of the Ohinemuri Coaching Company, was born at Leitrim, in County Leitrim, Ireland, in 1871, and was brought up to agriculture. He came to Wellington by the s.s. “Rimutaka” in 1891, and settled in Auckland, where he was for about five years on the Matamata station. In 1896 Mr. Johnston removed to Waihi, and in partnership with Mr. Alfred Rowe, under the style of Rowe and Johnston, started a line of coaches between Waihi and Paeroa. Two years later Mr. Johnston bought his partner's interest, and conducted the business singly till August, 1899, when the plant was acquired by the Ohinemuri Coaching Company, and Mr. Johnston took the position of manager at Waihi. He is a Freemason, attached to Lodge Waihi, 112; a member of the John Leyden Lodge of Oddfellows, and is also an honorary member of the local Court of Foresters.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mr. George Smith,
                  Driver of the Royal Mail Coach for the Ohinemuri Coaching Company between Waihi and Paeroa, was born in Auckland on the 4th of November, 1873. He is the son of Mr. Harry Smith, now in Melbourne, who drove the first coach between Te Aroha and Paeroa, and was educated at Te Aroha, where he was practically brought up among horses. He has had large experience in Te Aroha, in Waikato, and in the Ohinemuri district, and was frequently entrusted with four and five horse teams before leaving school. For about seven years he was driver on a line of coaches between Te Aroha and Morrinsville, and for over three years between Te Aroha and Paeroa, and claims to have driven the last coach between these two places. Since 1894 Mr. Smith has handled the ribbons on the Paeroa-Waihi line.

              

              

                
                


                  
Thomson, A. and Co.,
                  (Archibald Thomson), Coach Proprietors. Stables, Sterling Hotel, Waihi; Commercial Hotel, Paeroa. The line of coaches owned by this firm dates from the 2nd of April, 1900. Two coaches and fourteen horses are engaged in the trade. The departures from the Waihi terminus are made at 8 a.m. and 2.30 p.m., and from the Paeroa terminus at 10.30 a.m. and 5.30 p.m. daily.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Mr. Archibald Thomson
                  
                  was born at Warkworth, Mahurangi, in 1865. In his early days he was brought up partly to baking, and partly to plumbing, but has been engaged mostly in country work and coaching. He commenced as a driver between Tauranga and Te Puke for Mr. J. Fenton in 1888, and was afterwards on the Tauranga-Paeroa line. For about two years before commencing his present line Mr. Thomson had a waggon plant in conjunction with a partner.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Waihi Public Baths
                  
                  (Joseph Slevin, proprietor), Kenny Street, Waihi. The proprietor completed and opened these baths in April, 1900. There are in all eight rooms, one of which is a waiting and another a store room. Each of the six bathrooms is well finished, and in each there is a most comfortable modern bath, supplied with hot and cold water and shower. The heating apparatus is at the back of the building, and consists of a high pressure water jacket, with a two-hundred gallon tank for hot, and a six-hundred gallon tank for cold water obtained from the local supply. The baths are a great boon to the residents of Waihi.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. Joseph Slevin,
                 
 the Proprietor, was born at Kingscourt, County Cavan, Ireland, in 1858, and was brought up to agriculture. He came to Auckland in 1876 by the ship “Carisbrook Castle,” with the first batch of Vesey Stewart settlers, and took up land at Katikati, and farmed it till 1891. In that year he removed to Waihi, and acquired property at Bulltown, where he has since had his home. He has a valuable property at the corner of
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Main and Kenny Streets, Waihi, on which there are five shops, besides a dwelling-house. Mr. Slevin was for some time a member of the Katikati school committee during his residence in that district. He was married on the 8th of May, 1884, to a daughter of the late Mr. C. Lockington, of Cootehill, County Cavan, Ireland, and has four sons and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Tamaki Sawmill Company
                  
                  (Benjamin Leonard Knight, proprietor; G. McGlashan, manager; Yards, Main Street, Waihi; Mills at Waimata and Katikati. This large sawmilling business was established about 1895 by Mr. J. A. Brown, who conducted it till October, 1893, when he sold his interest to the present proprietor. The premises at Waihi are of iron and wood. There are stacking and drying sheds and the usual sawing and planing plant at the yards, and a considerable stock is maintained for the retail trade.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George McGlashan,
                  Manager of the Tamaki Sawmilling Company at Waihi, was born at Clive, Hawke's Bay, in November, 1876. He was educated at Clive and in Napier, and has been engaged in the timber business with Mr. Knight, of Dannevirke, since 1892. For three years Mr. McGlashan was manager of Mr. Knight's branch at Eketahuna, and took charge of the Waihi branch in March, 1900.
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Savage, Henry Charles,
                  Farmer, Waihi. Mr. Savage has been a settler in Waihi since 1880, when he took up 150 acres of agricultural land on deferred payment. He was born in Queen's County, Ireland, in 1854, and served two years in the Tenth Hussars before leaving for Wellington in the ship “Hindostan,” in 1875. After his arrival he was for some time engaged in mining at the Thames. Mr. Savage has done a good deal of prospecting in the district, and was for two or three years on the West Coast.
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Brown, John Anderson,
                  Settler, Waihi. Mr. Brown has been well known in connection with the growth and development of the district. He was born in 1856 in Auckland, where he was educated and served his time at boatbuilding with Mr. V. Savage, of the Thames. After that he took contracts for felling kauri bush and building dams, and was so occupied for about ten years. He removed to Waihi in 1891, and contracted to construct large dams for the Waihi Company. After a year at Mercury Bay, where he was in business as a bush contractor, he returned to Ohinemuri, and, in conjunction with two brothers, erected the Crown battery at Karangahake. In 1893 Mr. Brown entered the timber trade at Waihi, built a mill, and purchased a bush at Waititi creek. He afterwards erected the Waimea mill, and conducted an extensive trade as a timber merchant and contractor, till November, 1899, when he sold the business to Mr. B. L. Knight, of Hawke's Bay. During his career at Waihi Mr. Brown erected many important buildings in the district, and supplied the timber for large numbers of others. As a Freemason he was initiated in Lodge Sir Walter Scott, Thames, where he took the Royal Arch degree. He is also attached to Lodge Waihi, 112. Mr. Brown was married, in 1882. to a daughter of the late Mr. C. Campbell, of Scotland, and has two sons and three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Daniel Campbell,
                  J.P., is one of the earliest settlers in the Waihi district. He was born in Belfast, Ireland, in 1862, and was an infant when he arrived with his parents in Auckland. Mr. Campbell was educated at the Thames, where he was brought up to storekeeping, and he removed to Waihi in 1882 as manager for Messrs J. Phillipps and Son. Four years later he took over the business of that firm in Waihi, and conducted it for a number of years in conjunction with the coaching business between Waihi and Paeroa. Mr. Campbell was the first to run a public conveyance on the road, and had the first mail contract between Waihi and Paeroa. He also ran a coach between Waihi and Tauranga. In 1893 Mr. Campbell retired from the storekeeping business, and occupied himself entirely with the management of the coaching and livery stable, till 1898, when he sold out to Mr. Hunter. Mr. Campbell has been a member of the licensing bench, to which he was returned at the top of the poll in 1896. He is a Freemason, and treasurer of Lodge Waihi, 112. Mr. Campbell was married, in 1886, to a daughter of the late Mr. Edward Lambert, of Parawai, Thames, and has six sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. George Cumpston
                  
                  may fairly be regarded as the pioneer settler of the Waihi district, in which he arrived in 1878. He was the first settler to cross the Waitekauri river, and Mrs Cumpston was, for two years, the only lady resident in the district. Mr. Cumpston was born in the North of Ireland, in 1828, and was brought up to the stone manufacturing business. He went to America at the age of twenty-four, and about eleven years later came to New Zealand. Mr. Cumpston was for about eleven years in the Manukau district, and settled at the Waihi in 1878, when he acquired 200 acres of land, then in its natural condition. He has taken an active interest in the local school committee since its establishment, and occupied the position of chairman for about nine years. Mr. Cumpston was married, in 1852, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Ochiltree, of County Armagh, Ireland, and has three daughters surviving; namely, Mesdames Kinsella, Nichols, and Hollis, who all reside in the district; and there are eighteen grand-children.

              

              

                
                

                  

Harley, Charles,
                 
 Settler and Storekeeper, Waihi. Mr. Harley was born in Warwickshire, England, in 1838, and was apprenticed to the building trade. He emigrated to Queensland in 1862, and was at once attracted to New Zealand by the goldfields in Otago. On arriving in Dunedin he started in business as a builder and contractor, and did an extensive trade. In 1866 he removed to Auckland, just after the Maori war was over, and engaging in his business, erected a number of buildings in Queen Street and other parts of
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the city. It was he who built the Star Hotel, but while carrying out the work he met with an accident, which compelled him to go to Tauranga to recruit his health. While at Tauranga he built a block of houses and other buildings for the Government, and then went to Katikati Heads, where he had a store and accommodation house. Sir George Bowen and other leading men stayed as guests at Mr. Harley's house. At one time Mr. Harley did a large business in gum buying. He now has a store at Waihi, and three farms at the Heads. Mr. Harley is an Oddfellow, and has been in the Order since he was a boy. He is married, and has a family of three sons and two daughters, and has had the good fortune to be successful throughout his career in the colony.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Sheriff Benjamin Frederick Walmsley,
                  who is one of the early settlers in the Waihi district, came when very young to Nelson with his parents in the year 1849. Mr. Walmsley resided in Nelson for about thirty years, during which he was engaged chiefly in office work. His brother, Mr. Horatio Agars Walmsley, settled in Waihi in 1879, when he took up land, and was joined two years later by Mr. S. B. F. Walmsley. The brothers engaged chiefly in rearing and breeding cattle, and their purebred Ayrshires were from imported stock. The leasehold land, which they took up, was afterwards declared auriferous, and a freehold could not be obtained. Messrs Walmsley were engaged for many years afterwards in the business of timber contractors.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mr. J. L. Stevens,
                  Old Colonist, Waihi, was born in London and educated at St. Paul's school. He came to Auckland in 1863, by the ship “Tyburnia,” and like all other able-bodied men at that time, he was engaged in the Waikato war, and saw the last stand of the Maoris at Orakau. He afterwards bought a piece of kauri bush at Coromandel, and was engaged for some time in the timber trade. Having sold out his business, he turned his attention to mining and assisted at the first battery crushing of quartz from the Thames field. This consisted of three tons of ore from the Tookey claim, and the crushing yielded one hundred and sixty-seven ounces of melted gold. Mr. Stevens then left Coromandel with the battery plant from the Waihau Gold Mining Company and the plant was erected on Tookey's Flat at the Thames and named the Prince Alfred. He was afterwards engaged as manager of Souter's battery. The returns of this mill during the first year of his management were published in the “Daily Southern Cross” newspaper of the 29th of September, 1869, and showed a yield of 27,486 ounces 8 dwts 14 grains, from 2765 tons of quartz from sixty different claims. The mill was afterwards sold and Mr. Stevens went farming. He afterwards became successively a gum buyer, storekeeper and hotelkeeper. Mr. Stevens has a family of three sons and seven daughters.
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Katikati.

            

              

The Township Of 
Katikati is situated within the county and on the bay of Tauranga. It is connected by rail with Paeroa, which has communication by rail with the town of Thames. Fruit—growing, market gardening and farming are the chief industries of the Katikati district, which is the scene of one of Mr. Vesey Stewart's special settlements.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Vesey Stewart,
                J.P., was born at Brighton, England, in October, 1832, and is the eldest surviving son of the late Captain Mervyn Stewart, D.L., of Martray, County Tyrone, Ireland, and grandson of the Right Hon. Sir John Stewart, Bart., P.C., and M.P. for Tyrone. He graduated at Trinity College, Dublin. Mr. Stewart is the founder of the five “Stewart Special Settlements,” at Katikati, Te Puke and at Tauranga, and arrived at Auckland in September, 1875, with the first party of the Katikati settlers in the ships “Carisbrook Castle” and “Dover Castle,” which had been specially chartered for the purpose, and brought from London to Belfast for embarkation of his North of Ireland party. Mr. Stewart resides at “Martray,” Katikati, where he has a freehold farm of over 500 acres. On the 9th of May, 1876, he was elected chairman of the first road board and school committee at Katikati, and, excepting occasional absences from the colony, he has held both positions uninterruptedly, and up to the present time, since his first election. Mr. Stewart was elected first Mayor of Tauranga when that town was constituted a borough. He was also for some years chairman of the Tauranga County Council, and he still is a member of that body, to which he was elected at the time of the adoption of the Counties Act. Mr. Stewart is a Justice of the Peace for County Tyrone, Ireland, and for the colony of New Zealand, and married Margaret Miller, daughter of Rowley Miller, D.L., County Derry, by whom he has five sons and three daughters, all living, with the exception of his second son, George Vesey, who was drowned when fishing off the Katikati Heads.
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Gray, William John,
                Builder, Flourmiller and Contractor, Katikati. Mr. Gray is a native of Belfast, where he was born in 1850, and served his time in a large building yard in the Old Country. He came to the Colony in 1875, per ship “Yalumba,” and went to reside at Ngaruawahia for some years. About twenty-three years ago he settled at Katikati and was engaged in constructing the bridges on the road to Waihi. As an energetic business man it would be hard to find his equal, either as builder, contractor or flourmiller. He became a member of the Tauranga County Council in 1897 and has shown himself an energetic councillor. Mr. Gray promoted the Katikati Public Library, which is an excellent one for so small a place, and is secretary of the local Orange lodge, of which he was one of the founders. He was married in Ireland and has four daughters and three sons.
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                  The Talisman Hotel
                
                (Alfred Shephered, proprietor), Katikati, is one of the most comfortable and commodious on the Coast.
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Mr. Alfred Shepherd,
                Proprietor of the Talisman Hotel, who is a well known mining authority, is a native of Yorkshire, where he was born in 1847. He arrived in the Colony in 1868 and went to the West Coast diggings, where he did well, and then took a trip to England. On his return to New Zealand he went to the Thames goldfields, and was mining till 1880, when he acquired a store and hotel at Waitekauri, which he conducted for about two years and then bought the Tramway Hotel, at Karangahake, where he resided for thirteen years. Mr. Shepherd was one of the original holders of the celebrated Talisman Mine, and the equally well-known Woodstock property. He holds extensive mining interests in the various fields, including the Roderick Dhu claim at Karangahake, and he has had large experiences as a manager of several mining companies. Mr. Shepherd is generally acknowledged to be as good an authority on mining matters as can be met with. He has conducted the Talisman hotel since 1896.

            

            

              
              


                

Smith, Fred,
                Farmer, Katikati. Mr. Smith was born at Wanganui in 1860. On leaving school he engaged in farming, which he carried on with considerable success until 1872, when he went to Whangarei with his parents, and purchased a considerable tract of land, which he prosperously farmed until 1886. At that time the now celebrated Waihi mine began to receive a great amount of public attention, and also the whole of the Upper Thames district, as a rich goldfield, and Mr. Smith left farming, and started prospecting in the Waihi district. He was the lucky discoverer of several reefs, which have since been developed by English capital, and now pay regular dividends. He also speculated in various mining shares, and his speculations turned out most successfully. Mr. Smith was one of the discoverers of the Golden Cross Waitekauri gold mine, but has since sold his interest to the present company. During the years he was on the goldfields, Mr. Smith was engaged in large contracts, in which he was invariably successful. However, in 1900, he determined to settle down again to the quiet life of farming, and purchased his present fine property of about 800 acres at Katikati. His land is the pick of the block, secured for special settlement by Mr. George Vesey



Stewart in 1876, but previous to its purchase by Mr. Smith, it had, through want of cultivation, reverted to its original wild state. But, knowing the fertility of the land, Mr. Smith energetically set to work to re-erect the broken and decayed fences, and to cultivate the rich volcanic soil, which, when broken up, grows the most luxuriant grass. Although at present (1901) Mr. Smith has only been in possession of his property a short time, a large area has already been cultivated, and is now supporting numbers of fine fat cattle. The property has a large water frontage on the Katikati inner harbour, and is within sixteen miles, by a good road, of the rising town of Waihi, where there is an excellent market for all produce and stock. Mr. Smith is a Freemason, also a member of the Oddfellows' Lodge (Manchester Unity) at Wanganui. He is married, and has one son and two daughters.
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Tauranga.

            

              
              


                

                  
Tauranga
                
                is a borough which, at the census of March, 1901, had a population of 945 persons. It lies 120 miles to the south-east of Auckland, and is situated on one of the finest harbours in New Zealand. The surrounding district is fertile and extensive, and is noted for agriculture, stock-rearing, dairying, and cheese factories. Winged game abounds, there is trout in the river, and the harbour teems with fish. The town has a post, telegraph and money order office, a branch of the Bank of New Zealand, and two newspapers. Tauranga is connected by a coach service with Rotorua and Paeroa. The district has many localities associated with memorable historic incidents, chiefly connected with Maori traditions and the fighting between the Maoris and the British and Colonial forces. Te Renga Pa and the celebrated Gate Pa are within a few miles of the town.

              

                

[image: Tauranga in 1866.]

Tauranga in 1866.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Tauranga Borough Council.
                As constitute by the elections in April, 1901, the Tauranga Borough Council consists of the Rev. J. A. Jordan, Mayor, and Messrs R. J. Allely, W. M. Commons, Ascott Marsh, Jeremiah Murphy, P. J. H. Munro, M. Spence, G. F. Spooner, and Thomas Stuart, councillors.

            

            

              
              


                
His Worship The Mayor, 
The Rev. Charles Jordan,
                is well known as an old colonist and clergyman, and is referred to in another article as vicar of Tauranga.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Charles Augustus Clarke,
                ex-Mayor of Tauranga, was born at Salisbury, England, in 1837. In 1852 he entered into business in London, where he remained until 1868, when he and several others left for New Zealand, and arrived in Nelson about the end of the year. After visiting almost every place in New Zealand and witnessing many stirring scenes amongst the Maoris and on the goldfields, he decided in 1872 to settle in Tauranga, where he became the proprietor of the aerated water business, a branch of which he has established at Rotorua. Almost from the first Mr. Clarke took a great interest in local matters. He has been a vestryman and churchwarden in the Episcopalain Church, and has for many years served as secretary, member, and chairman of the school committee. In March, 1881, he became a member of the Tauranga Town Board, which ceased to exist when the borough was formed. Mr. Clarke stood as candidate for the borough council in 1889 and was duly elected. He served as councillor without intermission until 1893, when he was elected mayor, and continuously filled the position for five years with credit to himself and advantage to the borough. Mr. Clarke, who is esteemed even by those whose opinions are opposed to his, has always studied the advancement of the community as a whole.
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Mr. David Lundon,
                J.P., was Mayor of Tauranga for four years, and was elected three times unopposed. He was born in Sydney, New South Wales, in 1846, and when two years old he came with his parents to this colony, and was educated at St. Patrick's School, and the Rev. John Gorrie's Academy, Auckland. Mr. Lundon was apprenticed to Messrs Percy and Kennerd, saddlers, with whom he served four years, but finding that inside work did not suit him, he decided to learn the building trade. After serving five years' apprenticeship, he worked on his own account as a builder and contractor for many years, in Auckland and Tauranga. Mr. Lundon served through the Waikato war with the Auckland militia, and on arriving in Tauranga in 1867 he joined the Bay of Plenty cavalry and witnessed some exciting incidents. In 1888 Mr. Lundon established himself in business as an auctioneer and general merchant, and was joined by Mr. Raymond in 1896. Both as a member of the council and as mayor, Mr. Lundon has done much for the



advancement of Tauranga. He was instrumental in securing valuable endowments for the borough, and was also successful in obtaining Mount Mangonui as a recreation reserve. He was a member of the first town board, has been chairman of the Tauranga County Council for some years, and has several times been a member of the school committee and of the licensing bench. He is also a member of the Auckland Waste Lands Board. Mr. Lundon received his commission as a Justice of the Peace in 1887. Socially, he is greatly respected, and is without doubt one of the fathers of the prosperous borough of Tauranga.
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Mr. 
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                  The Tauranga Post Office
                
                has the usual telegraph and money order branches, and receives and despatches mails from and to Auckland, Thames, Rotorua, Napier, etc. Mr. Ernest Northcroft is the postmaster.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Ernest Northcroft,
                the Postmaster at Tauranga, agent for the Public Trustee, and officer in charge of the Lands for Settlement office, was born in 1854, at New Plymouth, where he was partly educated. He finished his education at Wellington College, and joined the telegraph service at Patea, where he remained eighteen months. He was also for two years postmaster at Hurunui, North Canterbury. After serving several years in the telegraph offices at Blenheim and Wellington as operator and finally as supervising officer, Mr. Northcroft was appointed assistant officer in charge at the telegraph office at Blenheim in 1888. He subsequently held a similar position in the Christchurch office for four years, and was transferred to Tauranga in 1895. Mr. Northcroft takes a great interest in athletics, but his favourite pastime is floriculture. He is a member of the Tauranga Club, and is generally very popular.
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Mr. James Baber,
                District Surveyor, Tauranga, is a native of Auckland, where he was born in 1855. He was educated partly at the Church of England Grammar School, and finished his school career at the Auckland Grammar School. Mr. Baber first learned his profession with his father, Mr. J. Baber, who is well known in Auckland, and gained considerable experience under the recent Surveyor-General, Mr. Percy Smith. He was employed on the Auckland field staff for several years, and was for some time in the Wellington and Hawke's Bay districts. In 1879 he was permanently appointed in the Auckland Survey Department, and was removed to Tauranga in 1889. Mr. Baber has seen a good deal of rough life up and down the coast, but he has not taken an active part in public matters.
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                  The Church Of England
                
                at Tauranga is in one of the oldest parishes in the North Island; the present incumbent alone has been in charge for about thirty years.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Charles Jordan,
                B.A., Minister of the Church of England, Tauranga, is a native of Kerry, Ireland, and was born in 1838. He received his education at Trinity College, Dublin, graduated in 1866, and was ordained by the Bishop of Tuam in 1867. Five years later he came to New Zealand, having been appointed to the charge of the Church of England at Tauranga. Mr. Jordan was elected mayor of Tauranga in 1887, and again in November, 1900, and was re-elected in April, 1901, without opposition; and he has been chairman of the Charitable Aid Board (except for brief intervals) since 1887. He is a member of the Bay of Plenty Licensing Bench and has been a member of the local Good Templars lodge since its inception. Mr. Jordan takes great interest in all that appertains to the welfare of Tauranga, and in politics he is a strong supporter of the Liberal party.
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Rev. G. Jordan.


              

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Venerable Archdeacon Alfred Nesbitt Brown
                
                was born on the 23rd of October, 1803. At the age of twenty he gave up the study of the law, for which he was intended, in order to prepare for the work of a missionary, to which he devoted the whole of a long life. At this time the Church Missionary Society's Institution at Islington had not been founded, and he, with a few other young men, were taken by the Rev. Edward Bickersteth, a leading member of the Church Missionary Society, into his house to be prepared for the mission field. In 1825, as soon as it was opened, he entered the Church Missionary Society Institution at Islington under the Rev. W. Pearson. He was ordained deacon and priest by the Bishop of London, and married in 1829. Immediately



after his marriage he sailed with his wife for New Zealand, stopping for some time on the way in Sydney, where he became well acquainted with the Rev. Samuel Marsden, the apostle of New Zealand, and landed at the Bay of Islands towards the close of that year. The New Zealand mission was then in its infancy, and had not extended beyond the immediate neighbourhood of the Bay of Islands. The headquarters were at Paihia, where Mr. Brown joined the brothers Henry and William Williams, and formed one of the only three clergymen of the Church of England at that time in New Zealand; the rest of the missionaries were laymen sent out by the Church Missionary Society at the instance of the Rev. Samuel Marsden. After working some time at Paihia and stations to the north, he removed, in 1835 to Mata-mata on the Waihou (Thames) to open a new station there, at the request of Te Waharoa, the great chief and warrior of Ngatihaua. Waharoa himself died a heathen, but his son Tarapipipi or William Thompson (afterwards known as the kingmaker) became a sincere and consistent convert under the instruction of Mr. Brown, and always entertained the greatest regard and respect for his teacher. War breaking out, the station had to be abandoned, and Mr. Brown returned for a short time to Paihia. In 1838, he went to Tauranga in the Bay of Plenty, where he spent the reminder of his life labouring among the numerous native villages in that populous district. There he died and was buried in 1884 at the age of eighty-one. It should be here mentioned that Mr. Brown was one of the chief benefactors of St. John's College, Auckland, founded by Bishop Selwyn. His only son was one of the first students at the College, and on his death in 1844, he founded the Marsh Scholarship in memory of his son who was so named after the Rev. William Marsh, D.D., the well known vicar of St. Peter's, Colchester (the town in which Mr. Brown had spent his early years) to whom he was most warmly attached. Mr. Brown was made Archdeacon of Tauranga by Bishop Selwyn in 1844.

              

                

[image: The Late Ven. Arch. Brown.]

The Late Ven. Arch. Brown.


              

            

            

              
              


                
The Stipendiary Magistrate's Court,
                Tauranga, is presided over by Mr. J. M. Roberts, who is also Warden for the adjacent goldfields.
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Tauranga: A Later View.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Thomson,
                sometimes Clerk of the Tauranga Stipendiary Magistrate's Court, Registrar of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, Clerk of the Warden's Court, Mining Registrar, and Receiver of Gold Revenue, was a native of Campbelltown, Scotland, where he was born in 1842. He was educated in his native town, which he left for Sydney in 1862. After two years of colonial life in Australia, Mr. Thomson crossed the Tasman Sea and settled in New Plymouth, where he joined the Taranaki military settlers, and saw active service in many of the local engagements with the Maoris. In 1867 Mr. Thomson went to the West Coast goldfields and was for some time mining with varied success. He joined the armed constabulary (No. 6 Company) in 1868, and was present at the engagement at Moturoa in the Patea district. In 1869 he removed to the East Coast, and was appointed assistant clerk of the court at Tauranga, and held the office for five years. In 1876 he was transferred to the Civil Service as clerk of the court at Opotiki, where he remained eight years. After filling a similar position in Cambridge he was some months assistant clerk in the Magistrates' Courts at Auckland and Timaru, and was eventually appointed clerk of the Court at Tauranga in 1891. Mr. Thomson was clerk of the Bay of Plenty Licensing Committee, and also Maori interpreter. (He died some time after this article was first printed.)
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The Late Mr. 
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                  The Bank Of New Zealand
                
                at Tauranga was established many years ago, and is one of the most flourishing branches of the parent institution.
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Bank of New Zealand, Tauranga.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Richard Westenra,
                Manager of the Bank of New Zealand, Tauranga, is a native of Canterbury, and was born in 1856. He received his education at Christ's College, Christchurch, and joined the Bank there in 1875. Mr. Westenra has filled a great many appointments in the various branches in the



colony. He was for two years junior clerk of the Bank at Timaru, and in 1878 he was appointed teller at Ashburton, where he remained two years. He occupied a similar position in the Napier branch, and it was he who opened the branch at Hastings. He acted as relieving agent at Wairoa, Waipawa, and various other towns, and was teller at Gisborne for six months. In 1887 he was appointed to Lyttelton as accountant, and held that position for six years. After a short service in the banks at Akaroa and Geraldine, he was appointed in 1896 as manager at Tauranga. Mr. Westenra is very popular, and takes a great interest in all matters affecting the welfare of the people.
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Mr. 
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Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

Clark, John Angus,
                  Land and Commission Agent, Agent for the New Zealand Accident Insurance Company, the Phœnix Insurance Company, etc., Spring Street, Tauranga. Mr. Clark is a native of Hobart, Tasmania, and was born in 1847. He came to the colony in 1857 and received his education at Nelson. After leaving school he entered the office of Mr. Henry Adams, then Crown Prosecutor, with whom he remained until 1871. He then removed to Auckland, where he entered the office of the late Mr. Henry Kissling, solicitor. Four years later Mr. Clark went to Katikati, where he erected and carried on a hotel, which he afterwards disposed of and began as a land and commission agent in 1882. He was agent for the Public Trustee for fourteen years, and is chairman of the school committee and secretary of the Tauranga Domain Board. Mr. Clark has always taken an active part in athletic sports, and as a footballer he played for Nelson in the first provincial match between that city and Wellington in 1867. Mr. Clark is a married man with a family of ten children. His eldest son, Mr. John Archibald Clark, was born in Auckland in 1876, and has had many years' experience on the Thames goldfields. He is at present in charge, at Te Puke, of mining operations, in which his father has been interested for some years, and manages the mine known as “Clark's Freehold.”
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Mr. 
J. A. Clark and Son.


                

              

              

                
                

                  

Raymond, William Theobald,
                 
 Auctioneer, Tauranga. Mr. Raymond is a native of Dorsetshire, and was educated at King's School, Sherbourne, and St. John's College, Cambridge. Intending to enter the army, he read for a time with a famous army “coach” at Ealing, but owing to ill-health he was unable to adopt that career and left England in 1874 for Australia. There he gained considerable experience among stock of all classes, and was engaged on large runs in Queensland for some years. He had some rough times travelling with cattle, and many exciting experiences in the interior of Queensland. He twice crossed the great open country between the Landsborough and Diamentina rivers by the aid of the compass, and that was in the days when the wild blacks were numerous and hostile. In those journeys, Mr. Raymond saw the Opal ranges and subsisted
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Mr. 
W. T. Raymond.





partly on the “Nardoo” or desert pea, notable in connection with the explorations of Burke and Wills. In 1879 he came to New Zealand and acquired a property in Taranaki, where he remained for some time. Disposing of his land, he resided near Auckland for a few years, but he then turned to pastoral pursuits and purchased a farm in the Tauranga district. In 1896 he became a partner with Mr. D. Lundon in his well-known auctioneering business, of which Mr. Raymond became sole proprietor in 1898. His stock sales are held at Tauranga, Te Puke, Katikati, Whakatane, and Opotiki. A Weekly auction sale of poultry, produce, etc., is held on Saturday at his business premises in Devonport Road, known as the Haymarket, established in 1871.

              

              

                
                


                  

Seddon, Robert,
                  Auctioneer and Commission Agent, Tauranga. Mr. Seddon was born in Auckland, in 1859, received his education at Hamilton, Waikato, and afterwards entered the Union Bank. In 1877 he decided to try farming, and for some years was thus engaged in the Waikato. He then entered the Bank of New Zealand as ledger-keeper at Hamilton, and was eventually sent to Tauranga, first as accountant and then as acting agent. In 1890 Mr. Seddon joined the Estates Company, and it was under his management that the Matai Estate was brought to its present condition of perfection. He established himself in his present business in 1896. Mr. Seddon holds regular stock sales throughout the district, and takes a great interest in agricultural shows and the advancement of the district.
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Burrows, Arthur Washington,
                  Architect and Surveyor, Tauranga. Mr. Burrows is a native of Norfolk, England, and was born in 1836 He received his education at King Edward VI. Grammar School, Norwich, under Dr. Woolley, and was articled to Mr. W. Brown, architect and surveyor for the county of Norfolk. In 1865 Mr. Burrows came to New Zealand, per ship “Victory;” he landed at Auckland, and moved in 1866 to Tauranga. He saw active service with the Tauranga militia towards the close of the Maori war, and received the New Zealand war medal awarded by the Government to those who had been in action. He was afterwards captain of the Tauranga Rifle Volunteers until they were disbanded in 1877. In 1871 Mr. Burrows entered the Civil Service in the Public Works and Survey Department at Tauranga as draughtsman, and was also appointed land officer and receiver of revenue, which office he held until 1885. He was then appointed Government architect at Rotorua, and under his supervision the sanatorium was laid out, springs enclosed, buildings erected, and the blue bath constructed. In 1887 he returned to Tauranga and has since been in business as an architect and surveyor. Mr. Burrows is a Mason (E.C.) and has been president of the local tennis club. He was a member of the Auckland Acclimatisation Society and has been a member of the Tauranga Acclimatisation Society since its inception. Mr. Burrows was for some time a member of the Tauranga Borough Council.
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Spooner, G. and W.
                  (George and Walter Spooner), Coachbuilders, Tauranga. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This successful business was originally established at Te Puke in 1891 by Mr. G. Spooner, assisted by his son. Messrs Spooner are well known all along the coast for the excellent vehicles they manufacture, and they have gained numerous prizes at various shows. Mr. Spooner is a thoroughly practical man, well versed in every branch of his trade. He was born in Worcester, England, in 1843, and received his training at the establishment of Messrs McNaughton, Smith and Co., one of the best firms in their own line in the county.


[image: Black and white photograph of a wagon]
He also had experience in Wolverhampaton and Manchester. Mr. Spooner came out to New Zealand in 1874, per “Duke of Edinburgh,” landing at Lyttelton, and for the ensuing eleven years he was foreman for Mr. William Moor, the well-known coachbuilder, of Christchurch. He was also engaged at his trade in Wellington and Auckland, and in 1891 he established a business at Te Puke, whence he moved his headquarters to Tauranga, where he occupies the premises formerly held by Parker and Haua. Mr. Spooner takes great interest in local matters, and has ably assisted in every movement calculated to benefit the district.
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                    Commercial Hotel
                  
                  (George Wrigley, proprietor), Tauranga. This well-known hostelry was built in 1875, and has been in Mr. Wrigley's possession since 1894. It contains twenty bedrooms, billiard-room, dining-room, and sample-rooms, and is comfortably furnished throughout. There is also an extensive brewery plant in operation in connection with the hotel, and Mr. Wrigley bears a good reputation as a successful brewer.

              

              

                


                
                


                  

Mr. George Wrigley,
                  the Proprietor, was born in Victoria in 1860, and after completing his education he learned the brewing trade. He came to New Zealand in 1875 with his brother to establish the brewery in Tauranga and he continued to carry it on after his brother's death. Mr. Wrigley is a member of the Tauranga Jockey Club, and at one time owned several good horses, which carried his colours to the winning post on many occasions. In all sporting and athletic matters, Mr. Wrigley takes a keen interest and is a popular host.
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Gilmore, John,
                  General Merchant and Storekeeper, Cameron Road, Tauranga. Mr. Gilmore was born in Belfast, Ireland, in 1844, came to New Zealand by the ship “Bebbington,” and landed at Auckland. He afterwards joined his brother in Tauranga, and they carried on a successful business as coach builders and wheelwrights for many years. In 1880 Mr. Gilmore established himself in Cameron Road as a storekeeper and general merchant, and has since carried on a flourishing business. Mr. Gilmore is always to the fore in all matters pertaining to the welfare of the district, and has frequently been requested by the ratepayers to stand for election. Mr. Gilmore was elected to a seat in the Tauranga Borough Council in 1894.

              

              

                
                


                  

Spence, Moses,
                  Merchant, Tauranga and Maketu. Mr. Spence was born in County Armagh, Ulster, where he was educated and learned the linen trade before coming to the Colony in 1881, per ship “Lady Jocelyn,” as one of Mr. G. Vesey Stewart's special settlers at Te Puke, and carried on farming for about five years. In 1888 he established a grain, produce and seed business in Tauranga in partnership with Captain Bennett of Te Puke; but in 1893 Captain Bennett retired from the firm and Mr. Spence has carried on the business alone since that date. He is agent for Kempthorne, Prosser and Co.'s manures, Yates and Co.'s seeds, for the Colonial Mutual Life Assurance Association, the North British Fire Insurance Company, for Reid and Gray's agricultural implements, and for D. Hay and Son, nurserymen, Auckland. Mr. Spence has taken considerable interest in public affairs, and was elected to a seat on the borough council in 1898.

              

              

                
                

                  

Gilman, Arthur Charles,
                 
 Livery Stable and Mail Coach Proprietor, Spring Street, Tauranga. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Cameron Road. The proprietor of these well-known stables is a native of Birmingham, England, where he was
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Mr. Gilman's Premises.





born in 1860. He received his education at Leamington and came to the colonies in 1879. After considerable experience in Australia he established himself in Tauranga about thirteen years ago. He is the agent in Tauranga district for Messrs Thomas Cook and Son, and regularly runs the mail coaches between Tauranga, Katikati, Waihi, and Te Puke, connecting with the through coaches to Paeroa and Rotorua. Horses and buggies may be obtained for all parts of the district. Mr. Gilman is very well known, and having been engaged in the carrying trade for the whole district for some years previous to acquiring his present business, he thoroughly understands the roads and the requirements of his customers. All letters and telegrams receive his prompt attention. Mr. Gilman takes a great interest in football and racing matters, and at the time this sketch was written he had a filly in training.

              

              

                
                


                  

Davidson, John A. M.,
                  Farmer, “Rangikura Farm,” Tauranga. This settler's farm contains 300 acres of good grass country, and for the past eighteen years it has been devoted principally to fattening store sheep and cattle for the Waihi market. Mr. Davidson was born in Jamaica, in 1856, and received his education there and in London, where he was employed in a bank for some years. He came to New Zealand in 1880, and about twenty years ago acquired his present property. Mr. Davidson has taken an active part in local matters since his arrival in the colony, and is at present (1900–1901) chairman of the Tauranga County Council. He has been chairman of the Te Puna Road Board since his arrival in the district, and has taken a general interest in local matters.

              

            

            

              
Old Colonists.

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. John Conway
                  
                  is one of the oldest settlers in Tauranga. He was elected a member of the Town Board in 1872, and was re-elected yearly till the Board was abolished, and when Tauranga was constituted a borough in 1882, Conway was elected a member of the first council. He retired in 1887. Mr. Conway was born in Jersey, in 1836, and was brought up as a builder. He came out to the colonies in 1854, and after a stay of twelve months in Melbourne, he removed to Auckland, where he was for twelve years in business as builder. In 1867 he was attracted to the Thames goldfields, but three years later he decided to settle in Tauranga, where he established himself in business as a builder, and has remained there ever since. He was a member of the local school committee for twelve years. Mr. Conway is married, and has a grown up family.
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Mount Mongonui and Mammoth Redoubt, Tauranga.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. John Maxwell
                  
                  was one of the early councillors for the Borough of Tauranga, as he took his seat in September, 1882, and retired in September, 1885. He is an Ulster man, and was born in the city of Armagh on the 25th of June, 1835. In February, 1859, he enlisted in the 40th Regiment, which—Colonel Leslie commanding—sailed from Melbourne in March, 1860, by the “City of Hobart,” for Taranaki, then the seat of war in New Zealand, with Major-General Pratt commanding the operations. After serving with his regiment throughout the Taranaki campaign—for service in which he received the New Zealand war medal, Mr. Maxwell went to Auckland in 1862, and was attached for duty as clerk in the Commissariat Department, in which branch of the service he served for four years and occupied a position of great responsibility. Mr. Maxwell purchased his discharge on the 13th of May, 1866, went to Tauranga in the following month, and since then he has resided in the place. Mr. Maxwell has always taken an active interest in all matters affecting the welfare of the district and is well-known and highly respected. He is a Good Templar of many years' standing
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Mr. Thomas Edward Price,
                  J.P., was born at Builth, Breaconshire, Wales, England, in 1844, and accompanied his parents to Melbourne, Victoria, in 1852. He came to New Zealand in 1863, and was married in 1894 to Annie, daughter of Mr. W. D. Meares, of Canterbury, Kent, England. Mr. Price was appointed to the Commission of the Peace in 1890.
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The Hon. Randolph Thomas Rowley
                  
                  is a son of the late Baron Langford, and a brother of the present Baron Langford of Summer Hill House, County Meath, Ireland. He was born at Summer Hill House, Ireland, was trained for the navy at Stubbington House, Hampshire, England, and served several years in H.M. ships “Bristol” and “Lord Warden,” “Minotaur” and “Ariadne.” He came to New Zealand in 1879, to Mr. Vesey Stewart's special settlement No. 2 at Katikati, but eventually decided to settle in Tauranga. His residence, “Hillsden,” is situated in Cameron Road, and is a pretty place with extensive grounds. Mr. Rowley has latterly been living at Wanganui.
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Mr. Edward Samuel,
                  J.P., Cameron Road, Tauranga. Mr. Samuel is a native of London, and was born in 1850. He received his education at University College, and for some years lived and travelled with the late Sir Moses Montefiore in the Holy Land and elsewhere. In 1875 he came to New Zealand, per s.s. “Warwick,” and landed in Wellington. For many years Mr. Samuel has been interested in educational matters and has held many important appointments under the Education Board, including the headmastership of the large school at Carterton. In 1879 Mr. Samuel established the Wairarapa Daily Times” with Mr. Joseph Payton, but eventually disposed of his interest. He edited the Catalogue of the General Assembly Library and also compiled the “New Zealand Reader” for the Minister of Education. When in the Wairarapa he was president of the Teachers' Association, and has twice acted as delegate at the annual conference of the Institute. He was one of the original directors of the “New Zealand Times,” when it became a Government paper in 1892. Mr. Samuel went to Tauranga in 1895 on account of his health, and is now living at “Briarley,” Cameron Road. He takes a great interest in social matters and has always willingly devoted his time to their advancement. He has been a member of the Borough Council and of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and holds a great number of offices in the various clubs; he is president of the Tauranga Football Club, vice-president of the cricket club, president of the Bay of Plenty Lawn Tennis Club and the Tauranga Musical Society, and is a member of other societies and associations too numerous to mention. As a Mason he held office at Greytown as secretary of his lodge. Although Mr. Samuel has been in Tauranga only a short time, he has done much for the district and has the welfare of the people at heart. In 1883 Mr. Samuel married Anne Maude, eldest daughter of the late Mr. Grosvenor Miles, of Christchurch, and grand-daughter of the late Mr. Henry Phillips, of Rockwood, one of the “Pilgrim Fathers.” He has a family of six children.
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Mr. Thomas Henry Tims,
                 
 late captain of the 20th Middlesex Volunteers, comes of a very old Oxfordshire family. His great-grandfather was Mr. Thomas Tims, of Cropredy, and his grandfather, Mr. Thomas Tims, J.P., was first mayor of Banbury, and held the office three times. He married Miss Martha Chamber in, daughter of Mr. Thomas Chamberlin, Squire of Adderbury. Mr. T. H. Tims is the eldest son of Mr. John Chamberlin Tims, B.A., who married Miss Harriette Anne Rolls (whose ancestors held lands at Priors Marstoa for over five hundred years), and was born in London in 1832. He was educated by his father in New Jersey, United States of America, and in 1874 he entered the employment of the London and North Western Railway Company, with which he remained for nineteen years, and then entered the employment of the North London Railway Company, where he became head of the Audit Office, and retired in 1881. Mr. Tims became captain of the 20th Middlesex in 1860, and was for fourteen years connected with the volunteers. He has won many valuable prizes, amongst which may be mentioned the Duke of Sutherland's prize to all riflemen in the employment of the North Western Railway, between London and Stafford; the Brighton all-comers, in which Captain Tims tied with a Mr. Waterman; and Bass's prize at Wimbledon, in connection with which Captain Tims made nineteen points out of a possible twenty at 500 yards, with a Snider rifle. Captain Tims,
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on obtaining his first commission in the volunteers, was presented to the Queen by the Marquis of Salisbury at a levee held by Her Majesty on the 8th of March, 1860. Mr. Tims came to New Zealand early in 1882, and took up land at Te Puke, where he erected the substantial dwellinghouse known as “Clifford Lodge.” Subsequently he decided to remove to Tauranga, and lives at his residence “Charlecote.” In 1856 Captain Tims was married to Miss Clara Anne Meyer, who was a daughter of Mr. Henry Meyer, of London, well known as an engraver, and grand-daughter of Mr. Bernard Geary Snow, of Southam, Warwickshire. His eldest son and only surviving child, Mr. Thomas Chamberlin Tims, was born in London on the 17th of November, 1866, and received his education at Llandovery College, Carmarthenshire, South Wales, under the Rev. A. G. Edwards, now Bishop of St. Asaph. Mr. T. Chamberlin Tims is descended from the ancient family of Lucy on both sides of his house, the paternal and maternal.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. G. H. Whitcombe,
                  Old Colonist, is a native of Dorsetshire, England, where he was born in 1844. After completing his education at Sutton, he served seven years with the Goldsmith's Company of London, where he learned the trade of surgical silversmith, and obtained the freedom of the city. In 1866 he came to Wellington, per ship “Wild Duck,” and was employed there for several years as a clerk in the office of the Panama Shipping Company. He afterwards resided in Auckland, but removed in 1875 to Tauranga, where he acquired property.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mr. J. Wright,
                  sometime Draper and Clothier, the Strand, Tauranga, established his business in 1879, and it was one of the most flourishing of its kind in the Bay of Plenty. The premises had a frontage to the Strand and Hamilton Street of 66 feet, and contained over 4000 square feet of floor-age space. Eighteen hands were employed, including those in the dressmaking department. A traveller was kept constantly employed in the district, and the connection extended about eighty miles inland and up and down the coast. Mr. Wright was born in County Tyrone, Ireland. After leaving school he had considerable experience with the leading drapers in the Old Country, and coming to this colony as a young man, he established himself in business at Tauranga. The success he met with was entirely due to his own perseverance and business tact, and his name became a household word in Tauranga and the Bay of Plenty district. Mr. Wright died on the 4th of January, 1900.
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Te Puke.

            

              
              


                

                  
Te Puke
                
                occupies a pleasant north-easterly aspect on a gentle slope. From the upper part of the settlement an extensive panoramic view of the Bay of Plenty is obtainéd, with White Island in the distance. Te Puke was originally established as a “Special Settlement” by Mr G. V. Stewart, under arrangement with the New Zealand Government. The first batch of settlers landed at Tauranga on the 4th of January, 1881, having arrived by the ship “Lady Jocelyn,” which was the first vessel to reach that port direct from Great Britain. As a settlement Te Puke has been a success in every sense of the word. Many of the original settlers still occupy their selections, which have been converted from tutu and fern to smiling homesteads. It is as a grazing district that Te Puke claims distinction, its fat bullocks being much in demand for the Thames and Auckland markets; large mobs of prime cattle are regularly sent away, and over 3000 were sent during the year 1900. The cattle sales held in the township are the most important of the kind in the Bay of Plenty. The cheese factory, recently taken over by the settlers on the co-operative principle, has given such promise of prosperity under its present management that the directors contemplate the extension of the buildings. Te Puke is the centre of a very large district, which extends about twenty miles to the eastward, and Tauranga is to the north, some eighteen miles distant. Most of the land from the township to the beach, about five miles, in a direct line, is swamp, but in several instances draining has been commenced with most promising results, so that many may see the present flax and raupo flats rich in verdant pasture within the present decade. The Te Puke goldfields have acquired more than local fame. Capital, however, is necessary to erect the requisite plant to extract the ore, and an effort is now (August, 1901) being made in this direction. A number of men are now working one of the claims, of which there are several. The township of Te Puke has a first-class hotel, post and telegraph office, four large general stores, three blacksmiths' and wheel wrights' shops, two butchers' shops, a timber yard, etc. It has also a fine school, with an average attendance of ninety children, a commodious public hall, a mission hall, and police station. St. John the Baptist Church, a neat edifice, has recently been erected on a good site near the township, at a cost of £500. This building belongs to the Church of England. The road board controls local public affairs. Maize is largely grown at Te Puke, and the turnip crops are of excellent quality. There is a large scattered native population, who at present find remunerative employment at the flax mills, two of which are working in the district. Rotorua railway station is about forty miles from Te Puke. Mails from Auckland, Rotorua, Tauranga, Thames, and the East Coast arrive and depart on three days a week.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Te Puke School
                
                serves a rising settlement near Tauranga. It is a wooden building with accommodation for 120 scholars. There are 110 names on the roll, and the average attendance is ninety-seven. Mr. Charles Bishoprick has been headmaster since January, 1898.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Charles Bishoprick
                
                was appointed to the charge of the Te Puke school in 1897. He was born in Yorkshire in 1862 and was educated at the Beverley Grammar School, where he also served a term as pupil-teacher. For over two years, Mr. Bishoprick was assistant master at the Westminster Abbey Choir School. He came to New Zealand per ship “Tainui,” landing at Auckland in 1886, and very shortly after was appointed second assistant at the Beresford Street school, Auckland, where he remained for four years, then took charge of the Waimate North school, whence he was appointed to Te Puke. All matters of interest in cricket, football, and athletics generally find in Mr. Bishoprick a warm supporter.

            

            

              
              


                

Galbraith, John Cameron,
                General Storekeeper, Te Puke. Mr. Galbraith was born at Singapore in 1860, was educated in Glasgow, and brought up to the grain trade. He came to New Zealand in 1881, per ship “Lady Jocelyn,” and established the first store in Te Puke, styling it “The Pioneer.” Since his arrival in the district, Mr. Galbraith has identified himself largely with the development of gold mining, in which he places great faith as a factor of progress. He takes a fairly active part in public matters, and was chairman of the Te Puke Drainage Board, which he was instrumental in establishing. He has also a seat on the licensing committee, and was placed on the commission of the peace in 1894.

            

            

              
              

                

Boucher, Ernest,
               
 Settler, “Kempsey,” Te Puke. Mr. Boucher's farm contains 350
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acres in all, but is mostly sub-let to other farmers in the neighbourhood. Mr. Boucher retains one section for his own residence, and also holds several properties in the township. He was born in Staffordshire in 1862, was educated at Uppingham College, and was intended for the legal profession. However, after studying for the Bar for some time, a desire for a freer life led him to New Zealand, whither he came by the ship “Hormione” in 1881. His father purchased a farm from Mr. Vesey Stewart, and to this he devoted his attention, after serving six months as a cadet. Mr. Boucher carries on general farming operations, and is successful in fattening a large number of stock annually for the Waihi market. A fine hydraulic ram on his farm supplies the four adjacent farms with abundant water. His land is very productive, and has yielded as much as eighty-seven bushels of maize to the acre. Mr. Boucher was a member of the Te Puke Road Board for about seven years, and took an active interest in the Agricultural and Pastoral Society and Tauranga Jockey Club. He married Miss Vercoe, daughter of Mr. H. W. Vercoe, one of the best known settlers in Te Puke, and has a family of three sons. Laterly he has resided at Remuera, Auckland.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Joseph Hetherington,
                sometime of Te Puke, was a much-respected settler of that district, in which he resided for sixteen years prior to his death. He was born in Northumberland in 1835, and was trained for the life of a farmer. His thoroughness of character gained for him in his adopted country the respect and esteem of his fellow-settlers. Though his health was not good, he took a great interest in local church matters up to the time of his death, which occurred in 1896, and was mourned by a wide circle of friends, and a widow, three sons and one daughter.
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Kenealy, M. V.
               , Farmer, Te Puke. Mr. Kenealy is a native of County Cork, Ireland, and was born in 1868. He was educated at Newmarket, Ireland, and was for some time on the farms of his father, the late Mr. D. Kenealy, at Knockduff and Glenlara, Ireland. Mr. Kenealy came to New Zealand in May, 1882, per ship “Hermione,” and landed at Auckland. He took possession of the Star Hotel, Tauranga, in 1887, and conducted it successfully for several years. Mr. Kenealy takes an active interest in public matters, and is well known for his geniality.
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Mr. Robert King,
                J.P., of Te Puke, was born at Dunoon, Argyleshire, Scotland, and educated at the Dunoon parish school. About five years prior to coming to New Zealand he removed to Helensburgh, where he was in the employment of Messrs Waddle and Jack. On the 4th of January, 1881, Mr. King arrived at Tauranga by the ship “Lady Jocelyn,” the first vessel to arrive direct from the Old Country at Tauranga. Soon after his arrival Mr. King secured a situation in one of Mr. William Kelly's stores at Rotorua, where he remained for fully ten years. While at Rotorua Mr. King took an active part in public matters, and in sport generally, and, was correspondent for the “Auckland Herald” and other newspapers. In 1894 he removed to Opotiki, shortly after the death of his uncle, the late Mr. Robert King, and there he became secretary of the Opotiki Agricultural and Pastoral Association, chairman of the Opotiki school committee, and Waioeka Domain Board, member of the Bay of Plenty licensing committee, and a representative of the Whakatane county of the Bay of Plenty Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. In 1898 Mr. King entered into business as a general merchant, shipping and commission agent at Maketu, and shortly afterwards he extended his business to Te Puke, where he has a store and bakery, both of which he is carrying on in conjunction with his Maketu business. Mr. King is a member of the Tauranga County Council, and as a Freemason he is Past Master of Lodge Opotiki, 1930, E.C. In 1894 he married the eldest daughter of the Hon. William Kelly, M.L.C., and has one son and one daughter. Mr. Kelly represented the Bay of Plenty in the House of Representatives for many years prior to being called to the Legislative Council in February, 1897.
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Witherow, Joseph,
                “Riverside,” Te Puke. This well-known colonist has been a resident of Te Puke for some years, and in the early days had some rough and stirring experiences as a gold digger. He was born in Londonderry in 1834, and came to Victoria, per ship “Guiding Star,” at the age of eighteen, in quest of gold. He was at Bendigo first, and in 1853 he went to the Goulburn “rush,” and thence to Ballarat, where he was in 1854, when the miners resisted the military force sent to compel them to comply with the obnoxious gold-license regulations of the time. He engaged with success in mining till the year 1879, when he crossed to New Zealand and settled for awhile at Tauranga. He was among the first settlers to take up land in the Te Puke district, where he now owns several properties. Nine years ago Mr. Witherow was elected to represent the Maketu riding on the Tauranga County Council, and Charitable Aid Board, and has proved a valuable member of that body. He has also been prominent for a long time in connection with the local road boards and school committees. Mr. Witherow has a family of six sons and two daughters.
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Matata.

            

              
              


                

                  
Matata
                
                is in the county of Whakatane, and in 193 miles from Auckland, from which it receives mails by every steamer to Tauranga, with which Matata is connected by a coach service. The district is devoted to sheepbreeding and farming. There is a population of about 100 persons in the township.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Horse Shoe Inn And Store,
                
                (A. H. Ferguson, proprietor), Matata, Bay of Plenty. Mr. Ferguson landed in New Zealand in 1861 at Nelson, where he was on a station for two years. On the breaking out of the goldfields on the West Coast he went droving there, and continued at that work for seven years. He then settled at Tauranga, and commenced farming and storekeeping at Maketu, where he stayed for twenty-three years, and has now been the proprietor of the Horse shoe Inn and storekeeper at Matata for two years.
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Whakatane.

            

              
              


                

                  
Whakatane
                
                is the county township of the county of Whakatane in the Bay of Plenty. It is built on a serviceable small harbour, which is connected with Auckland by steamer, via Tauranga. The town is also connected by coach and train, and a twice-a-week mail service, with the Thames, 150 miles away to the south-east. It has a post, telegraph, and money order office, hotels and stores, and a population of about 150 persons. Opotiki is eighteen miles, and Auckland 208 miles away. There is a great deal of flat alluvial land in the district which is highly cultivated, and the settlers are prosperous. At the census of March, 1901, the white population for the whole county was returned as 781, but Whakatane has a larger Maori population than any other county in New Zealand; namely, between 3000 and 4000.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Whakatane Road Board
                
                has jurisdiction over district roads in the neighbourhood of Opotiki, where it has its headquarters. The ratable property is valued at £70,000, and there are 270 ratepayers and a population of 470 in the district.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Simpkins,
                Chairman of the Whakatane Road Board, is a native of Wiltshire, where he was born in 1856, and arrived in New Zealand with his parents in 1858, per ship “Egmont.” His people settled for a time at the Three Kings and afterwards at Onehunga. He was educated in Auckland, and in 1871 joined his uncle, who was one of the earliest settlers on the coast and certainly one of the first storekeepers at Whakatane. Having spent seven years with his uncle. Mr. Simpkins entered into business at Auckland and the Thames, but returned to take over his uncle's business in 1879. He retained the store for several years, but finally disposed of his interest and acquired a run of about 1300 acres, on which he grazes about 1000 sheep, besides cattle and horses. In 1883 he was elected a member of the road board, and he has now for many years been the chairman of that body. Mr. Simpkins also represented his district on the county council for some time. He was on the county council for some time. He was on the licensing committee, and generally takes an active part in any popular movement.
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Mr. Charles Marshall Buckworth,
                Secretary and Treasurer of the Whakatane Road Board, government Valuer under the Advances to Settlers Act, and Land and Commission Agent at Whakatane, who by his many public offices is one of the best known men in the Bay of Plenty, is a native of Shropshire, England, where he was born in 1857. He was educated at Appleby High School, Leicestershire, and studied engineering for some time. Coming to New Zealand in 1882, he landed at Auckland, where he found employment with Messrs Buckland and Sons and with Messrs Macky, Logan and Steen for some years. Shortly after his arrival in Whakatane, fifteen years ago, he became secretary and treasurer to the Whakatane Road Board, a position he has filled with great credit. As a sportsman Mr. Buckworth is well known, and no keener shot is to be found in the district. He was married to Miss Fulloon, only daughter of the late Mr. James Fulloon, Government Native Agent, who was murdered by Maoris at Whakatane in 1865 while on board the Government cutter “Kate.”
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Brown, Bernard,
                General Storekeeper, Whakatane. Mr. Brown's flourishing store was established by him after he had a long and varied commercial experience in several parts of the Colony. He is an extensive buyer and shipper of maize, the staple product of the district. Mr. Brown was born and educated in Invercargill, and was afterwards employed in the general drapery business of Mr. Samuel coombes, Auckland, for whom he opened branches in various towns in the North Island. After being eight years with Mr. Coombes he joined the Northern Drapery Company of Marlborough, and opened and managed branches for it at Nelson, Takaka, Motueka, Collingwood, Pieton, Havelock, Cullenville, Hamilton, Cambridge, Te Aroha and Opotiki. He was two years at the last-mentioned town, and then opened at Whakatane.

            

            

              
              


                

McGarvey, Daniel,
                General Storekeeper, Whakatane. This well-known colonist is a native of Auckland, where he was born in 1851, and received his education. He served as a compositor on the “Southern Cross” newspaper, and was afterwards in a sharebroker's office for several years. In 1872 he moved to Tauranga and was with Messrs Samuels and Jacobson for a couple of years, and was at Matata for a similar period. After a few years' further experience in Napier and Opotiki, he established himself in business at Whakatane in 1882, and has been closely indentified with, the progress of the settlement since that date. He was chairman of the first school committee in the district, and has been an active member of the Whakatane Road Board for the past sixteen years. Mr. McGarvey is secretary of the local racing association and owner of several good winners.

            

            

              
              


                

McAlister, John,,
                Settler, Whakatane. Mr. McAlister was born in Buteshire, Scotland, in 1848, and educated at Glasgow. In 1864 he sailed to India in a ship belonging to his father, who was master and part-owner. After serving three years at sea, he came to New Zealand by the “Countess of Kintore,” landed at Auckland, and spent some time farming in the Waikato. He then proceeded to



the Thames and Coromandel, where he busied himself in various callings. For many years he was engaged in the coastal trade, and was mate of the s.s. “Southern Cross,” in which he owned a share. Mr. McAlister has been for the last twenty-four years in business at Whakatane, where he is also a large property-owner. He has always taken a great interest in horse-racing, and has run some well-known horses to victory. He is also a past master in the Masonic Order. Mr. McAlister is married to a daughter of the late Mr. George Simpkins, an old settler, and has three sons living.
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Peebles, Alexander,
                Settler, “Neidpath,” Whakatane. Mr. Peebles is a recent settler at Whakatane, and is better known in the mining world than as a farmer, though in “Neidpath” he possesses a good, compact farm of 300 acres, on which he keeps 700 sheep and twenty head of cattle. The property has been occupied only for a comparatively short while, though purchased some time back. Mr. Peebles was born in Fife, Scotland, in 1856, came out to the Colony with his parents in the ship “John Bunyan,” and was educated in Hawke's Bay. He occupied a farm at Waipawa for five years. In 1880 he went to the gold mines at Te Aroha, and was afterwards a bush contractor at Mercury Bay for eight years. He then went mining again, and was the discover of the Kuaotunu goldfield, besides being the prospector and promoter of the well-known Great Mercury and Invicta mines, and manager of several important mining properties till 1896. Finally he obtained the position of manager of prospecting parties for the Kauri Freehold Gold Estates Company, and resigned only in order to take up his farm at Whakatane. As a public man, Mr. Peebles has proved himself useful and energetic. For several years he occupied a seat on the Coromandel County Council and was a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He is one of the charatered members of the Auckland Chamber of Mines, holds a certificate as a duly qualified mine manager, and was made a Justice of the Peace for the Colony in 1892. Mr. Peebles is already taking an active part in public matters at Whakatane, where he is bound to come to the front.
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Thom, David Meikle,
                Farmer, “Springhill,” Opouriao, Whakatane. Mr. Thom was born at Edinburgh in 1862, and came to the Colony when quite a boy, per ship “Ida Ziegler.” He entered the employment of Messr Schapp and Ansenne of Mercury Bay, timber merchants, and was with them for a considerable time, but left to go to the goldfields at Kuaotunu, where gold was discovered by his brother-in-law. He remained on the fields for about five years, and was one of the original promoters of the Invicta Mine. Mr. Thom acquired his present property in 1897, and he takes considerable interest in local affairs. He is married and has three sons and two daughters.
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Opotiki
                
               
 is in the county of Opotiki, in the provincial district of Auckland, and lies between the Waireka and Otara rivers, and about one mile from the coast. It is connected by steamer with Auckland, from which it is distant 226 miles, via Tauranga. The population of the town district is about 700, and the neighbouring country consists of rich alluvial lands, noted for their maize-producing qualities; indeed, between 50,000 and 60,000 sacks of maize are annually exported from the district. Opotiki is the most easterly settlement in the Bay of Plenty district, and consists of a triangular plain enclosed by mountains. The hills are noted for their pasturage, and it is on the rich lands of the plain that the celebrated maize crops are raised. There are flour mills and a brewery in the township; several hotels, a branch of the Bank of New Zealand, a newspaper, a public school, a public reading-room, churches, and several Friendly
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Society lodges; also a post, telegraph, money order office, and Government savings bank. The county roads are good, and the district has much to attract the sportsman and interest the tourist. Maori villages abound, and the famous Uriwera country is within reach. There is a good bridle track from Opotiki to Gisborne, and White Island, with its celebrated sulphur deposits and crater-lake, can be visited by steamer at small expense. Many of the Opotiki Maoris still cling to the Hauhau superstition, which once flourished in the place. It was at Opotiki that the Rev. Karl Volkner was hanged by fanatical Hauhaus in 1866.

            

            

              
              


                
Opotiki Road Board.
                This board maintains various district roads within the county of Whakatane, and has its offices in Opotiki. The district has a population of 800, and the ratable property is valued at £106,000.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Hubert Roughton Hogg,
                Chairman of the Opotiki Road Board, was born in Kent, England, in 1865. After receiving his education, Mr. Hogg entered the office of one of the leading houses in London, but finding commercial life distasteful, he decided to come to the Colonies, and arrived in New Zealand in 1881, per ship “Hermione.” He then went in Opotiki as cadet on Mr. Murray's farm, and three years later purchased the property, which since has been improved considerably, and is now without doubt one of the best farms in the district, 460 acres being under cultivation, chiefly in maize. Besides being a successful maize growers, Mr. Hogg engages in sheep breeding, and runs a flock of 2000 crossbred sheep, the clip from which is worth about £600 per annum. Mr. Hogg has been a member of the Whakatane County Council for nine or ten years, and has been similarly connected with the Opotiki Road Board, of which he is chairman. He is president of the Opotiki Agricultural and Pastoral Association, and has held various offices in the Masonic order. Mr. Hogg is married and has five children.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur J. Parkinson,
                formerly a member of the Whakatane County Council, Opotiki road board and school committee, was born in Bristol, England, in 1845. He went to Australia with his parents in 1853, and started life on the goldfields when only ten years old. He enlisted under Colonel Pitt when that officer was recruiting in Australia for this Colony, and came to New Zealand in 1863 with the 1st Waikato Regiment, with which he saw some exciting service during the Maori was in the Waikato and Tauranga districts. In 1866 he retired with the rank of lieutenant in the Bay of Plenty Cavalry, and settled in Opotiki on land granted by the Government. His farm now consists of 550 acres, well stocked with cattle and sheep. Mr. Parkinson holds the New Zealand war medal for his military services. He is married, and has five sons and two daughters.
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The Rev. Karl Sylvius Volkner
                
                was a native of Hesse Cassel, in Germany. When quite a young man he was sent out by a German Missionary Society to New Zealand, and began his labours among the natives somewhere in the province of Taranaki. Here he was entirely unsupported by the society which sent him out, and underwent great hardship and privations. He was a most devoted missionary, and sincerely loved the natives among whom he lived, but alone, unaided and unordained, he could do little. In or about 1851 he offered himself to the Church Missionary Society, and was appointed as catechist to assist the Rev. Robert Maunsell at Kohanga on the Waikato, near its mouth. He next occupied a similar post under the Rev. Thomas Lanfear, at Kauearanga, on the Waihou (Thames), where, in 1854, he married Miss Lanfear. In 1855 he was removed to Tauranga in the Bay of Plenty as assistant to Archdeacon Brown. In all these station he laboured most assiduously and energetically, but it was not till 1860 or thereabouts that he had a station of his own. About that time he was appointed to Opotiki, in the Bay of Plenty, and ordained deacon and afterwards priest by the Bishop of Waiapu. There he resided and laboured till his death which took place on the 2nd of March, 1865, under revolting circumstances. He had been on a visit to Auckland, and was returning home, the bearer of medicines and nourishing food for the sick and fever stricken among his people. On landing he was seized by a gang of fanatic Hauhaus under Kereopa, who had just come to Opotiki on their way through the country; they hanged him a day or two after from a willow tree with circumstance of revolting inhumanity, while his own people, carried away by the infatuation of the fanatics, looked on without an attempt to save him. The Rev. Mr Grace, who happened to be with him at the time, was kept a prisoner, but, aided by a European settler, managed to make his escape on board the man of war “Eclipse,” which had been sent from Auckland on the news of the tragedy. Mr. Volkner's body (the head had been carried off) was buried at Opotiki, and a monument has since been erected to his memory in the Cathedral at Napier.
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                  The Opotiki Herald
                
                is published at Opotiki on Tuesday and Friday evenings, and circulates extensively throughout the county



of Whakatane and in other East Coast districts.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Stewart Bates,
                J.P., Proprietor and Editor of the “Opotiki Herald,” was born in the North of Ireland, in 1846. At an early age, Mr. Bates showed great inclination for literary work, and was corresponding with papers when but a boy. He came to this Colony, per ship “Queen Bee,” in 1868, and landed at Auckland. For some time Mr. Bates was on the Thames goldfields, and afterwards started a large flax mill in the Waikato, and employed as many as thirty hands. He went to Opotiki in 1871, and carried on a successful storekeeping business for nine years. In 1882 he bought the “Opotiki Herald,” and has greatly improved the paper and increased its circulation. Mr. Bates has taken an active part in local matters, and has been a member of the county council, the road board and the school committee. He is a member of the Domain Board, and is coroner for the district. Mr. Bates is one of the founders, and a Past Master of the Masonic Lodge, Opotiki, and has always been willing to assist in anything bearing on the welfare of the district.

              

                

[image: Mr. S. Bates.]

Mr. 
S. Bates.


              

            

            

              
              


                

Elliott, Henry Edward,
                Solicitor, Main Street, Opotiki. Private residence, Huntress Creek Road. Mr. Elliott was born at the Bluff in 1864, and went to Opotiki with his parents in 1874. On leaving school he was appointed to the Telegraph Department at Napier, and shortly afterwards was removed to the Auckland office, but deciding to study for the law, he left the service and was articled for five years to Mr. A. E. Whittaker, solicitor, of Auckland. Passing the necessary law examinations, he returned to Opotiki in 1889 and commenced practice. Mr. Elliott is clerk of the Whakatane County Council and Opotiki Town Board. He is a Freemason of many years' standing and P.M. of Lodge Opotiki, of which he has been secretary for a number of years.
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Abbot, R. T.,
                General Storekeeper, Merchant, etc., Opotiki. Agent for the Northern Steamship Company, South British Insurance Company, Kauri Timber Company, and for Messrs Buckland and Sons, auctioneers. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Established in 1885. Mr. Abbot conducts one of the leading businesses in the district, in very extensive premises, which include large stores for produce and grain, a timber yard, etc. Ten men are employed and a large stock of goods of all kinds is kept. Mr. Abbot is a native of Dundee, Scotland, and left that city at the age of nineteen, when he entered the employment of the Inman Steamship Company of New York, and visited most of the large cities of the Union in the interests of his employers. In 1872 he went to Canada, visiting Toronto and Winnipeg with the intention of settling there, but finding the winters too serve, he decided to try New Zealand, and finally established himself in business with Mr. James White at Opotiki. For many years Mr. Abbot has taken a lively interest in all matters affecting the welfare of the district, and he devotes a great deal of attention to local politics. Mr. Abbot was chairman of the Whakatane County Council for a number of years. He is also a Mason, and was initiated in Lodge Dundee, No. 47. He was one of the founders of the local lodge, Opotiki No. 1930, E.C., in which he has held office on various occasions.
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Geary, James Francis,
                Storekeeper, Opotiki. Mr. Geary was born in Fermoy, County Cork, Ireland, in 1862, and learned his trade as a shoemaker with his father. In 1877, Mr. Geary decided to try his fortune in the United States, where he remained for over six years, when he returned to his native land. Coming to New Zealand in 1885, he settled in Opotiki, where he has remained ever since. Mr. Geary is a member of the Opotiki Cemetery Trust Board and Opotiki Town Board, and takes a lively interest in all local affairs.
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Appleton, John,
               
 “The Willows,” Opotiki. This old settler's farm is situated close to Opotiki, and contains 136 acres devoted to general farming. Mr. Appleton is a native of Kent, where he was born in 1837. At the age of thirteen he went to sea for six years. Attracted by the stories of the gold discoveries in Australia, he proceeded to Ballarat in 1857, and remained there till 1861, when he joined the “rush” to Gabriel's Gully in Otago. He returned to Australia, but in 1863 enlisted in Colonel Pitt's Australian Contingent for service in the Waikato war, and being a trained
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seaman, he was attached to the water transport service. In 1866 he came to Opotiki and settled on his farm. Mr. Appleton has been a member of the Opotiki Road Board on several occasions, and takes an active part in all local affairs, and in the local Agricultural and Pastoral Society, at whose shows he has won prizes for stock. He is married, and has seven sons and three daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Thomas Black
                
                was a well-known settler in Opotiki, and had been in New Zealand for over fifty years. He was born in the Old Country, resided in Australia for some years prior to coming to New Zealand, and settled in the Bay of Islands for a considerable time. His home being broken up at the time of the war, he came to Auckland with his wife and family and settled on the coast. Being the owners of several vessels, he and his four sons, Robert, William, Thomas and Sanderson, carried on a considerable coasting trade. Some years before his death, Mr. Black settled on land at Otara with his sons, William and Sanderson. He always took an active part in local affairs, especially in educational and church matters. On his death at the age of eighty-three, his sons carried on the farm, and on the death of Mr. William Black, some years ago, Mr. Sanderson Black took the management of the whole estate for the benefit of his brother's widow and children. The late Messrs Black, father and son, were sterling colonists and hard-working, intelligent members of the community.
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Dawson, Thomas,
                “Stirling Farm,” Opotiki. This vigorous and well-known colonist is a native of Stirling, Scotland, where he was born in 1829. After completing his education he was engaged by a Scotch Fishery Company to look after salmon fisheries in the Solway Firth and other places, and remained in its service for five years. Being smitten with the gold-fever, he sailed in 1851, by the ship “Marco Polo,” for Victoria, and went to Bendigo, where, as digger, teamaster, and prospector, he had a rough and varied experience. In 1860, after being six months in New South Wales, he left for British Columbia, and was at the Sierra Nevada diggings. After two years in that almost Arctic region, Mr. Dawson returned to the Colonies, and was at various fields in Otago, but was chiefly engaged as a teamaster between Dunedin and Dunstan, and Lake Wakatipu and Invercargill, when the later place was but a small township. On the outbreak of the Waikato war he enlisted in No. 9 Company 3rd Waikato Regiment, and was present at the famous Gate Pa as orderly to the interpreter, Mr. Baker, and had, perhaps, one of the best views of that historic engagement. On the conclusion of the war he received a Government land grant, on which he settled in 1867, and has resided there ever since. Mr. Dawson has taken an active part in public affairs, and was a member of the first Road Board until 1896, when he finally retired. He was a member of the Whakatane County Council for three years and also a member of the local school committee. He is an enthusiast in acclimatization, having been president of the local society from its formation, and the district has to thank him for the introduction of imported fish and birds.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edward Percy Dumergue,
                who was in business as an auctioneer and commission agent at Opotiki, was born in London in 1858 and educated at Rugby. His father, who was a captain in the British army, intended him for the navy, but owing to an unfortunate accident, by which he lost the sight of an eye, he was compelled to abandon that career. He came to New Zealand about twenty years ago, and resided in the Bay of Islands for some time, but afterwards purchased a farm at Opotiki, and lived on it for several years. He then established himself in business as an auctioneer and commission agent, and had built up a rapidly improving connection at the time of his death, which occurred in March, 1895. He was chairman of the county council for one term, and for several years acted as secretary and treasurer of that body. He took a prominent part in all public matters and was foremost in every scheme for the advancement of the district. He married in 1887 a daughter of Mr. William Tackaberry, of County Wexford, and left a son and a daughter to mourn his death. Both in public and private life the late Mr. Dumergue was extremely popular, and his early death was deeply regretted by his numerous friends.
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Gow, James Burnham,
                Farmer, Opotiki. Mr. Gow is a son of the Rev. J. Gow, and was born in Scotland in 1862. He came to this colony at an early age with his parents, and was educated in Dunedin. Mr. Gow was for eighteen months in the Civil Service, but resigned his position to commence farming. He went in 1878 to Opotiki, where he has a property of 400 acres suitable for mixed farming. Besides this he has another farm of 1200 acres at Waiotahi, and his time is fully occupied with the two places. Mr. Gow was connected with the old Whakatane County Council for some years, was a member of the Opotiki Road Board for two years, and is now (1901) a member of the Opotiki Dairy Company, and has always been foremost in local matters. Mr. Gow is a teetotaller and is vice-president of the local temperance society.
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Hedley, Anthony,
                Farmer, Opotiki. Mr. Hedley's farm contains 170 acres, on which he has a beautiful homestead. He is a native of Yorkshire, where he was born in 1850, and came to the Colony in 1880, by the Orient line. After spending some time in the South Island, and on a farm further down the coast, he purchased his present property about sixteen years ago. Mr. Hedley was a member of the Whakatane County Council and Opotik Highway Board for several years, but, owing to an accident he has not latterly been able to devote much time to public affairs.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Robert King,
                Old Colonist, of Opotiki, came to Opotiki in 1866, and remained there till the year of his death, 1893, when the district lost one of its most prominent residents. Mr. King was a native of Kilninver, Argyleshire, Scotland, and in his early manhood he acted as a schoolmaster in his native glens, long before school boards, school committees or schoolhouses under State control became recognised as requisite accessories in the education of the young. In his time the custom was for the teacher to go from one farm house to another, making a circuit, as it were, within a certain area, and primitive as the system was, it resulted in large numbers of young people being well educated. In the early fifties Mr. King emigrated to Victoria, and followed gold digging with varied success for some years, first in Australia and afterwards in New Zealand. While in Melbourne in 1863 Mr. King joined the First Waikato Militia. The First Waikatos were stationed for some time at Tauranga and Maketu, but some of them afterwards went to Opotiki, where the Maoris had murdered the Rev. Karl Volkner. When the native disturbance was subdued, the militia were disbanded, and Mr. King, in common with the other members of the force, received a grant of land, and settled in the district, where he entered into business. Mr. King filled almost every position of trust and responsibility in which his fellow settlers could place him, and when he retired from business, he devoted his ample leisure ungrudgingly to the interest of the public. He was chairman of the County Council for a term of thirteen years, and also occupied a seat on almost every local body in the place. About a quarter of a century ago he was deputed to proceed to Wellington for the purpose of bringing the requirements of the district before the Government, and as a result of his visit the Otara bridge was erected. On that occasion Mr. King urged upon the authorities the advisableness of changing the name of the county from Whakatane to Opotiki, which has been done, but only concurrently with the division of the county. Mr. King was on one occasion presented with a requisition, bearing the signature of almost every elector in the district, asking him to stand for Parliament, but for various reasons he declined the honour. As a Freemason his services as Installing Master were frequently in demand, and the brethren of his lodge presented him with a Past Master's jewel and with his portrait. Mr. King was a Justice of the Peace, and also coroner for the district for many years. He was an ardent supporter of the Presbyterian church, and showed a whole-hearted thoroughness in connection with all matters in which he took an interest. Mr. King died at Auckland on the 5th of September, 1893, deeply regretted, and was buried in the Purewa cemetery, Auckland.
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Lewis, Thomas Morgan,
                Farmer, “Pen-otara,” Opotiki. Mr. Lewis was born at Lanvaches, Monmouthshire, South Wales, in 1847, and brought up to farming. He came to New Zealand in 1870, per ship “Asterope,” and after a year in Wanganui, established himself as a maltster in Ngaruawahia. After remaining there four years, he removed to Opotiki, where he purchased his present property of 426 acres, where he carries on general farming operations. He has been a member of the local Road Board intermittently since his arrival in the place. Mr. Lewis takes considerable interest in acclimatization. He is vice-president of the local society, and has on his own property a fine trout-hatchery, from which the various streams in the district are being gradually stocked. He is active in all local matters and movements for the benefit of the district. Mr. Lewis is prosecuting a series of experiments with grasses with a view to ascertaining the best suited for permanent pasture on the hills adjacent to Opotiki. Before leaving Wales Mr. Lewis married the eldest daughter of Mr. William Williams, of Clytha, Monmouthshire, and has three sons and three daughters.
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Thomson, Charles,
                “Hikutaia Farm,” Opotiki. This gentleman's property contains 500 acres of ploughable land, on which he carries on general farming and dairying. The place was the site of one of the earliest mission station, and afterwards fell into the hands of the Hon. W. Kelly, from whom it was purchased over twenty years ago by Mr. Campbell Thomson, the well-known stock inspector of Gisborne. It has been managed by his son, Mr. Charles Thomson, for a number of years. The homestead is beautifully situated and commands a magnificent view of the surrounding country.

            

            

              
              


                

White, James,
                Opotiki. Mr. White is a native of Whakatane, and was born in 1850. After leaving school, Mr. White served his apprenticeship to Mr. George Geddis, boat-builder, North Shore, Auckland. In 1869, he took charge of a coasting steamer for his uncle, and twelve months later joined his brother, Mr. William White, in boat-building at Mercury Bay. Mr. White afterwards commenced boat-building at Whakatane, and of a number of fine vessels built by him, one of the best was for the Hon. William Kelly, M.L.C. In 1872, he removed to Opotiki, and after three years at contracting, began storekeeping in partnership with Mr. Abbot. Mr. White takes great interest in all matters affecting the welfare



of his district; he is a member of the Opotiki Domain Board, and for some years he has been on the licensing committee. He holds the Royal Humane Society's silver medal and certificate for saving life, and has on several occasions shewn gallantry in successfully rescuing persons from drowning. In athletics Mr. White has been well-known from boyhood, and has won many rowing races n Auckland and on Lake Takapuna. He is a general favourite throughout the Bay of Plenty.
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Hick's Bay.

            

              
              


                

                  
Hick's Bay
                
                is the name generally applied to a pastoral coastal district in the Waiapu county. It is situated 118 miles north-west from Gisborne, and has communication by steamer with Port Awanui, thirty miles off. There is a Maori settlement at Hick's Bay, and also a harbour, which gives the flockowners of the district all the accommodation which they need in connection with the bringing in of stores and the sending out of produce.

            

            

              
              


                

Henderson, Everard Hannam,
                Sheepfarmer, Matakaoa, Hick's Bay. Mr. Henderson, was born at Worth, Kent England, in 1852, and is the fifth son of Mr. John Henderson, of Upton House, Worth, Kent, who has three other sons who are post captains in the Royal Navy. Mr. E. H. Henderson was educated principally in France and at King's School, Canterbury, and in 1875 he arrived at Melbourne, per ship “Carpathian,” en route for New Zealand. On his arrival in this Colony, he became a cadet on sir George Whitmore's and Colonel Herrick's stations. In 1880, he purchased a run in Whakatane in conjunction with Messrs Swindley and Co. Some time afterwards he took up his present run of 3000 acres of leasehold land at Hick's Bay. The property carries from 1500 to 2000 crossbred Lincolns and eighty head of cattle and horses. The wool clip is shipped to Auckland from Hick's Bay, as that harbour affords excellent shipping accommodation. Mr. Henderson was the first chairman of the Waiapu County Council.
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Te Karaka.

            

              
              


                

                  
Te Karaka
                
                is in Cook county in the Auckland provincial district, and is about twenty miles distant from Gisborne. It has a hotel, a store, and a sawmill, a post office savings bank, money order office and telephone office, and telephone connection with all the principal stations in the district. There is daily communication with Gisborne, and mails are received and despatched three times a week. The roads are in good order, and it is expected that there will very shortly be railway communication with Gisborne as the line is now (November, 1901) being completed as far as Ormond, which is eleven miles from Te Karaka. A new school has lately been built, and adds much to the appearance of the township. Te Karaka will in the near future be an important centre. Its central situation and the fact of its being the railway terminus, must help to open up the back country, which is extensive, and so push the township into prominence.

            

            

              
              


                

King, William,
                Timber Merchant, Makauri, and Sawmill Proprietor, Te Karaka, poverty Bay. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. King was born at Blaby, Leicestershire. He is the eldest son of Mr. Thomas King, and was educated at Leicester. Mr. King was apprenticed to Messrs Johnson, Kinder and Co., railway coach builders, Bromsgrove, Worcestershire, where he finished his time, and afterwards, worked as a journeyman for two years. In 1862 Mr. King migrated to Auckland, per ship “Ida Zeigler,” and on landing, started work as a carpenter. He worked as a journeyman for two years, and then commenced as a master builder. In August, 1866, he took up a contract in Poverty Bay, where he settled down, and worked as a builder until 1872. He then commenced sawmilling at Makauri, and subsequently extended his business to Ormond, Te Arai, and the karaka district. The present mill at Karaka is fitted up with the latest and most improved breaking-down plant, and is capable of executing the largest contracts. On the outbreak of the rebels under Te Kooti in 1868, Mr. King joined the Poverty Bay Cavalry Corps, and saw active service. Prior to that, in the year 1860, he had belonged to the volunteers raised in Auckland, and took part in the Waikato war. Mr. King has always taken a very prominent part in local government, and was elected one of the members of the first local Road Board of the Poverty Bay district, and now holds the position of chairman of the same board. He formerly represented a riding in the Cook County Council, and has held various other appointments, including that of worshipful master of Lodge Turanganui, 1480, E.C., Gisborne, Mr. King has been twice married. His first wife was Miss Boffy, of Oldbury, Lancashire, and by her he had nine children, some of whom lived to mourn their mother, who died about 1891. On the 28th of June, 1893, Mr. King married his second wife, Mrs. Shelton, mother of Mr. F. J. Shelton, of the firm of Messrs Common and Shelton, of Gisborne.
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Orr, James,
                Sheepfarmer, Te Karaka Mr. Orr was born in Renfrewshire, Scotland in 1845, and is the eldest son of Mr. William Orr, of Clive, Hawke's Bay. Mr. Orr was educated in Perthshire, Scotland, and came to Otago in 1863, per ship “Mystery.” He remained only a short time in Otago, and in 1864 removed to Hawke's Bay, where he served as a cadet on a station for some years. He subsequently became manager of “Hedgley Station,” Petane, for six years, and in 1878 he was appointed manager of Rangitira Station. During Mr. Orr's residence in Hawke's Bay he belonged to No. 1 Company of the local militia, and took part at the capture of Omaranui pah, at which the maoris were defeated, and many of them were deported to the Chatham Islands. Mr. Orr has also identified himself with the local government of the district, and in 1888 he was elected a councillor of Cook County. He is a member of the committee of the Poverty Bay Turf Club and a member of the Waikohu Road Board and School Committee. In 1887 he married Miss Torr, daughter of the late Mr. Joseph Torr, runholder, of Petane, and their family numbers eight.
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The Rangitira Station,
                belonging to the City of Glasgow Bank Assets Company, is situated about twenty-two miles from Gisborne, in the Te Karaka district. Its area is 43,000 acres, mostly freehold, with a few thousand acres held under lease from the Maoris. — portion of the land—about 28,000 acres—is still in a virgin state, owing to bad roads and other difficulties of access. The remainder is in an improved condition, sown down with English grass, and carries 20,000 crossbred Lincoln sheep, with 500 head of horses and cattle. The manager also crops on an average about 150 acres of oats, fifty acres of maize and pumpkins (combined), and the latter crop is extensively and profitably used for winter feed for the sheep. The run is well watered, and has timber which affords ample shelter for the stock as well as fencing for the property. The wool clip averages 387 bales, and this yield will annually increase as the run is more and more laid down in grass.
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Ormond.

            

              
              


                

                  
Ormond
                
                is a picturesque little village situated on the banks of the Waipa river. Settlement in the district dates from about 1870, prior to which it was known as an old mission station. It has Presbyterian and Roman Catholic churches, a fine Government school, a public hall, a hotel, three stores and a blacksmith's shop. The settlement is within the Ormond road district, the office for which is in the village. There is daily coach communication with Gisborne, twelve miles distant, and it is expected that the Gisborne-Ormond railway will be completed and in working order by February, 1902. A fine sheepfarming country surrounds the township of Ormond.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Ormond Road Board
                
                controls the district surrounding the settlement of Ormond. The district has 105 dwellings and 159 ratable properties owned by 105 ratepayers, and a rate of £1/2d in the £ is struck. In the year 1900 the total revenue, including subsidy, was £190, and the total liabilities amounted to £35. In 1900 Mr. J. A. A. Cæsar was chairman, and Mr. J. Gordon, J. P., secretary to the Board.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Julius Adolphe Albert Cæsar,
                J.P., Chairman of the Ormond Road Board, was born in London in 1863, and was educated at Dulwich College. He was brought up to commercial life, and was for two years in Germany and France, and for three years in the United States of America. In 1889 he became manager of Te Karaka, a grazing run of 3360 acres at Kaitangiti. He settled in Ormond in 1896, and his place, known as “Riverside,” is 350 acres in extent. Mr. Cæsar has been chairman of the Ormond Road Board since 1896, and served for about three years on the Waikohu Road Board. He is also a member of the school committee, a trustee of the cemetery, and president, secretary, and treasurer of the Ormond Cricket Club. In addition to his Riverside property Mr.Cæsar has the Te Karaka grazing run. He has altogether about 7000 sheep, and 350 head of cattle and recently imported several Hereford bulls. Mr. Cæsar was married, in 1898, to a daughter of the late Mr. Heeney, of Belfast, Ireland, and has one son.
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                  The Ormond Public School
                
                was established about 1889. It was doubled in size in 1899, and has room for 140 pupils; the average attendance is over ninety. There are about four acres attached to the school premises, and these are divided into a playground, paddock, and garden. The flower borders surrounding the school are remarkably well kept, and very pretty, and the children are taught to take a pride in the garden. There is no schoolhouse attached to the school, and the headmaster is assisted by one certificated and one pupil teacher.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edmund Jardine,
                Headmaster of the Ormond Public School, holds a D2 certificate. He was born in Liverpool, England, in 1857, and was educated at Rugby and at Brazenose College, Oxford. Mr. Jardine was originally intended for the army, but the idea was abandoned, and he arrived in Wellington by the s.s. “Doric” in 1884. Some years afterwards he became an assistant master at the Te Aute College. In 1890 he entered the service of the Hawke's Bay Education Board, and was stationed for seven years at Mangaatua, near Woodville. Mr. Jardine was appointed to Ormond in June, 1898. During his residence in Hawke's Bay he was a member of the Woodville Rifle Club. He is captain of the Ormond Cricket Club.

            

            

              
              

                

                  The Ormond Roman Catholic Church
                
               
 was erected in 1866. It is built of wood and iron, stands on a section of one acre, and has accommodation for eighty worshippers.
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Services are held periodically by the priests who live in Gisborne.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Ormond Cricket Club
                
                was established in 1899, and has a membership of fifty-four. Officers for 1900: Messrs J. A. A. Cæsar, president, secretary and treasurer; and Mr. E. Jardine, captain.

            

            

              
              


                
The Ormond Police Station.
                The district lying between Ormond and Motu, some fifty miles in extent, and including Ngatapa, Kanikanane and Patutahi, is worked from Ormond. The station consists of a four-roomed residence, with an office and lock-up at the back, and stands on an acre of ground. There has been a station at Ormond since 1885, and previous to that time the old constabulary barracks, which have since disappeared, were used for the purpose.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Farmer,
                Constable in charge of the Ormond district, was born in Bristol, England, in 1839. He entered the Imperial Army in the 65th Foot in England in 1855, and in the following year arrived in Wellington by the ship “Lancashire Witch.” He was stationed for two years in Wellington, and afterwards served in the Auckland and Taranaki and Waikato campaigns. In 1865 Mr. Farmer took his discharge, and joined the police two years later in Hawke's Bay. After thirteen years' service in Napier he was transferred to Poverty Bay in 1880, and was placed in charge at Ormond five years later.

            

            

              
              


                

McMillan, Duncan ,
                Blacksmith, Ormond. Mr. McMillan was born in Argyleshire, Scotland, in 1849. He came to Auckland by the ship “Hydaspes” in 1873, and settled at Ormond in the following year, when he established his present business. Mr. McMillan served a short time in the militia, and was for some years in the Gisborne Rifle Volunteers.

            

            

              
              


                

McCoomb, Robert,
                General Storekeeper, Ormond. This old settler, who was born in Ireland in 1833, served in the Crimea in 1855, and became instructor of volunteers to the artillery in Sydney in 1863. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Wood Lark” in 1873, and served with armed navvies on the construction of the Mercer-Hamilton railway. He has been a storekeeper in Ormond since 1882.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Teat And Friar
                
                (W. A. Friar), Storekeepers, Ormond; Headquarters, Gisborne. Mr. James Friar is manager of the Ormond branch, which was established in 1895. The premises consist of a large double-fronted shop, with bulk stores, stabling, and a dwellinghouse, and the local post office is conducted at the store.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Friar,
                Postmaster at Ormond, and Manager of Messrs Teat and Friar's business, was born near Belfast, Ireland, in 1840. He had a long experience in connection with goldmining and mercantile life in Australia, and settled in Poverty Bay district in 1897, when he took his present position.
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Kempthorne, Arthur,
                Sheepfarmer, Ormond. Mr. Kempthorne was born in London in 1841, and in 1842 he came to the Colony with his father, who landed at Auckland. He was educated at the Auckland Grammar School under Dr. Kinder, and was afterwards engaged for three years under the late Bishop Williams (first Bishop of Waiapu), in teaching at the native training college at Waerenga-a-hika, in Poverty Bay. In 1860, Mr. Kempthorne went to Hawke's Bay, where he remained till the end of 1864 on the Kereru station, engaged in learning the business of sheepfarming. In January, 1865, in partnership with Mr. Roskruge, he leased 10,000 acres of native land at Ormond, and the partnership lasted five years. Mr. Kempthorne now has 1100 acres of freehold land, on which he runs 1500 sheep, and eighty head of cattle. In common with other settlers in this district, he has suffered considerably from the unfriendly Natives. In October, 1865, he was forced to abandon his run to serve in the militia, and was at the siege and fall of the pa at Waerenga-a-hika. He was afterwards a member of the mounted volunteers, and was engaged against Te Kooti. Mr. Kempthorne has been a tenant of Native lands for more than twenty-five years. In 1891, he built his present residence, which occupies one of the prettiest sites in Poverty Bay. Mr. Kempthorne has done good service to his district in the capacity of member of the Waikohu Road Board. In 1872 he was married to Miss Wood, of Bradford, Yorkshire, and has one son and one daughter living.

            

            

              
              


                

McKenzie, Alexander,
                Sheepfarmer. Seaforth, Ormond, Poverty Bay. Mr. McKenzie was born at Strathpeffer, near Inverness, in 1834, is the youngest son of Mr. John McKenzie, farmer, of Strathpeffer, and was educated in his native village. About 1857 he migrated to Wellington in the ship “Indian Queen,” and was in the employment of a runholder as head shepherd for three years. He then, in conjunction with Mr. Alexander Shennan, commenced



shipping sheep to Oamaru, and during one year about 60,000 sheep were landed at that port. Mr. McKenzie then became overseer of the Woodland Run, Hawke's Bay, and held the position until his employer sold the property. He then purchased the Te Harota Estate, Mohaka, Hawke's Bay, and after working it for some time disposed of it to a Waikato gentleman. Thereupon he engaged in cattle dealing for three years, and afterwards leased the native run “Akawa,” near Ormond. About 1875, Mr. McKenzie purchased his present property, which consists of 750 acres of rich pastoral land, and carries 2500 pure bred stud Romneys and Lincolns. In 1865 Mr. McKenzie married Miss Catherine Ferguson, daughter of Mr. John Ferguson, of Argyleshire, and has eleven children.

            

            

              
              


                

Parsons, Alexander,
                Horse Trainer, Ormond. Mr. Parsons was born in 1858 in Auckland, and was educated in Hawke's Bay and at Wanganui. Always fond of horses, he has had thirty-two years' experience as a trainer, and, having studied as a veterinary surgeon, he is regularly consulted in connection with horses, their nature, and their ailments. Mr. Parsons was two years in the Rangitikei district, and nine years in Hawke's Bay. In 1880 he settled at Ormond, and has a farm of fifty acres in the Waimata district. He is well known also as a breeder of horses, and is the owner of the trotting entire. “The Baron.” At agricultural shows in the district he has been a frequent prize taker, and at the Poverty Bay show of 1892 he took the first prize with the well-known horse “Wakatipu,” with “Strowan” in 1894, and with “The Baron” in 1900. Mr. Parsons, who served for thirteen years as a member of the Ormond Road Board, and was for about five years on the school committee, was married, in 1880, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. A. Maxwell, of Ireland, and has two sons and six daughters.
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Patutahi.

            

              
              


                

                  
Patutahi
                
                is ten miles from Gisborne, on the road which leads through Makaraka and Matawhero. It is about twenty years since the settlement was begun, and it has a Roman Catholic Church, a public school, and a public hall; and a flour mill and a saw mill are at work not far from the settlement. There are two good stores in Patutahi, a large bakehouse, and also a hotel. A coach runs between the settlement and Gisborne three times a week, and returns the same day. Patutahi is in the Patutahi road district, and is in Cook county. A quarry of very good stone has been opened up on the Patutahi Valley road, and is likely to prove of great value to the Cook county council, which owns and works it. A considerable settlement surrounds the township, and the chief industry is sheepfarming.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Patutahi Road Board
                
                was established in 1882. The district is bounded by the Waikohu, Te Arai, and Hangaroa road districts. It has twenty-one miles of formed roads, which are to a considerable extent metalled. The ratable value of the district is £237,563. No general rate is levied, but a subsidy of about £200 a year is granted by the county, and a special rate of 
[
unclear: ⅜]d in the £ is collected to provide repayments on a loan of £806. The total receipts for the year 1900 were £552, and the total liabilities included a loan of £914. There are about 100 dwellings in the district, and 266 ratable properties, owned by 112 ratepayers. Members for 1900: Mr. J. Clark, chairman, Messrs J. McKenzie, W. J. Mossman, J. W. Dobbie, and J. Ferguson; with Mr.T. W. Bilham as secretary and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Patutahi Domain Board
                
                was established in 1896. Members for 1909: Messrs J. C. Woodward, chairman, T. Thomson, T. Eade, W. Manson; with Mr. E. J. Harrison as secretary. The reserve consists of nine acres in the township. It is all fenced and planted with ornamental trees. A large hall was built on a portion of the property in 1885, and was enlarged about three years subsequently; it will hold 400 people, and is under the control of the board.

            

            

              
              


                
The Patutahi Public School,
                which dates back to 1880, stands on a section of five acres and a half in extent. It contains two class rooms and a large vestibule, with accommodation for 140 scholars. There are 130 children on the roll, and the average attendance is 116. The teacher in charge is assisted by a certificated mistress, and two pupil teachers. A large playground surrounds the school, and there are well tended flower borders. There are also two shelter sheds for the children to play in rough weather. The teacher's residence stands on a section of three-quarters of an acre on the opposite side of the road, and contains seven rooms.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Charles Woodward,
                Headmaster, was born in 1864 in Cambridgeshire, England. He arrived in Lyttelton with his parents in 1875. His education, begun at a private school in North London, was continued in the Ellesmere district in Canterbury; he then became a pupil teacher in the Leeston school, and then studied for a year at the Christchurch Training College. In 1885 Mr.



Woodward entered the service of the Hawke's Bay Education Board at Gisborne, and held the position of second assistant until he was appointed to Patutahi in November, 1889. As a Freemason Mr. Woodward is a Past Master of Lodge Abercorn, N.Z.C. He is chairman of the Patutahi Domain Board, and a member of the Church of England local committee. Mr. Woodward is also prominently connected with the Gisborne Operatic Society, the services of which are frequently available for local purposes. He was married, in 1889, to a daughter of Mr. M. Hall, of Matawhero, and has three daughters and two sons.
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                  The Roman Catholic Church
                
                at Patutahi was erected in 1900, and was opened on the 11th of November of that year. It is built of wood and iron, and has accommodation for 100 worshippers. It belongs to the Gisborne parish.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Patutahi Hotel
                
                (Robert Craill, proprietor), Patutahi. This hotel was established in 1884, and is the only one in the township. It has been conducted by the present proprietor since 1890. The building is of wood and iron, and is two stories in height.

            

            

              
              


                

Thomson, John,
                Blacksmith, Patutahi. Mr. Thomson was born at Peterhead, Scotland, in 1872, and accompanied his father, Captain Thomson, of Gisborne, to New Zealand in 1876. He was educated in Gisborne, where he served an apprenticeship to the business of a blacksmith and farrier. Mr. Thomson, who is a member of the Patutahi Domain Board, entered into business on his own account at Patutahi, in 1894, and is well known throughout the district.
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Steven, Mrs Mary Ann
                
                (E. J. Harrison, manager), General Storekeeper, Baker, and Coach Proprietress, Patutahi. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This business was established in 1882 by the late Mr. L. Steven, who died in July, 1895. The premises are freehold, and consist of a store, ten-roomed dwelling, bakehouse, stables, and three cottages in the township, there being eight acres



of land in all. A very large bread trade is done, and three carts are employed in distributing for a distance of thirty miles round.
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Mr. Edward James Harrison,
                Manager of Mrs Steven's business since the 1st of October, 1895, was born at Sherley, near Southampton, England, in 1856. He was educated in his native place, brought up as a teacher, and was employed as such for five years in England. He came out to the colonies in 1881, and was for twelve years in Australia, where he was employed as bookkeeper and storekeeper at Mount Battery Station, the property of the Australian Mortgage and Agency Company. In 1893 Mr. Harrison settled in Poverty Bay, and has resided since then chiefly at Patutahi. He was married, in 1878, to a daughter of Mr. J. Martin, of Southampton, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Faulkner, James,
                Sawmiller and Sheepfarmer, Belmont Farm, Patutahi Valley. This property is 200 acres in extent, and carries about 700 sheep. There is also a sawmill, which was established in 1899 by the proprietor, and the machinery of which is driven by an eight-horse-power portable engine. With this mill Mr. Faulkner works about fifty acres of kahikatea bush on his property, and there is a good demand for the timber. Mr. Faulkner was born in Peterborough, Northumberland, England, in 1852. He is a blacksmith by trade, and came to Auckland by the ship “Waitangi,” in 1874. For about fifteen years he was engaged in farming and fruit growing at the North Shore, and settled in Poverty Bay in 1889. Mr. Faulkner took up a leasehold section at Hangaroa, and seven years later, having considerably improved it, sold his interest satisfactorily, and settled in the Valley. He has been chairman of the Patutahi school committee for three years, and was for three years, during his residence at the North Shore, a member of the Northcote Road Board. He was married, in 1872, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Steel, of Peterborough, and has five sons and two daughters.
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Atkins, Robert,
                Sheep and Dairy Farmer, “Willow Grove,” Patutahi. Mr. Atkins was born at Howick, near Auckland, in 1848, and was brought up to country life in his native place. In 1862 he joined the Waikato Militia, and, after serving three years, was transferred to the Commissariat Transport Corps. He was in Turanganui in 1866, and at the time of the Poverty Bay massacre was at Waerenga-a-hika, from which he fled for safety. Mr. Atkins settled in Patutahi in 1880, and has served on the local school committee. He was married, in 1868, to a daughter of Mr. W. Sharp, one of the old settlers, who arrived in 1842, in the “Duchess of Argyle,” and settled in Pukekohe, and has seven sons and three daughters.
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Ferguson, John,
                Sheepfarmer, “Glencoe,” Patutahi. Mr. Ferguson was born in Glencoe, Argyleshire, Scotland, in 1838. He was educated at local schools, and brought up to quarry work. Mr. Ferguson arrived in Wellington in December, 1862, by the ship



“Constant.” He was employed for six years in Hawke's Bay on Mr. Gollan's station, and then settled at “Opn.” a Maori run, in partnership with Mr. Henry Herries, under the style of Herries and Ferguson. At the time of the Poverty Bay Massacre, Mr. Ferguson was obliged to flee to Mahia on the coast, and thence to the Kaiti Redoubt. With Mr. Herries drove the first sheep overland from Hawke's Bay in March, 1868. Mr Ferguson sold his interest in the firm in 1879 and bought his property of “Glencoe” at Patutahi, where he has 700 acres, and has resided since 1880. The land, taken up while in its wild primitive state, has been so highly improved that it carries 1600 sheep and 160 head of Hereford cattle. Mr. Ferguson is a member of the Poverty Bay Agricultural and Pastoral Society, and has been a member of the Patutahi Road Board since 1883. He was married, in March, 1874, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Ramsay, of Dublin, and has four daughters and three sons.

            

            

              
              


                

Hills, Joseph Edward,
                Farmer and Traction Engine Proprietor, Patutahi Valley. Mr. Hills was born at Maidstone, Kent, England, in 1848, and was educated at the Bluecoat School. He became an engine driver on the South Eastern Railway, where he was employed for nine years. In 1874 he came to Auckland by the ship “Waitangi,” and afterwards settled in Poverty Bay. Mr. Hills was the first settler in Patutahi Valley, then all in its natural state. He served for about fourteen years as a member of the Patutahi Road Board, and was also for a time on the school committee. Besides working his farm of forty-five acres and a half, he finds plenty of employment for himself and tree sons in connection with his portable engines and threshing and flour-making plant. He was married, in 1877, to a daughter of the late Mr. O. Gallagher, of County Donegal, Ireland, and has three sons and five daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Kirkpatirick, David,
                Sheepfarmer, Linns, Patutahi, near Gisborne. Mr. Kirkpatrick was born in Dumfriesshire, Scotland, in 1862, and is the third son of Mr. D. Kirkpatrick, one of the largest sheep and agricultural farmers in the south of Scotland. He was educated at Dumfries College and afterwards worked upon his father's farm until 1883, when he left Scotland, per s.s. “British King,” for Port Chalmers, New Zealand. Mr. Kirkpatrick reached Gisborne the same year, and began as head shepherd with Mr. John Clark, with whom he remained for about eighteen months. He then became manager of the Ponparae Station, belonging to Messrs Smith Bros., who afterwards sold the estate to Mr. Donner. Mr. Kirkpatrick then shipped sheep to Auckland for the some months, and eventually purchased his present freehold of 152 acres of grazing land, which is utilised for rearing pure bred Lincolns. In this business Mr. Kirkpatrick has been most successful, and has invariably taken prizes at the Poverty Bay Agricultural and Pastoral Association's annual shows.
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                  Ngatapa Station
                
                (Messrs Williamson Bros. and Rose, proprietors; Mr. Murray Hingston, manager), Patutahi Valley. This fine property consists of 37,000 acres of freehold situated in the Waikohu riding of the Cook County. About 30,000 sheep and 3000 head of cattle, mostly Herefords, are depastured on the estate.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. Sydney Williamson
                
                is the youngest son of the late Hon. James Williamson, and one of the proprietors of the Ngatapa run. He was born in London in 1866, and educated partly near Oxford, but chiefly at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and at Christ's College, Christechurch, as he came out to New Zealand at the end of 1978. For four years he was in the office of Messrs Whitaker and Russell, in Auckland, and after a few months' experience on a station in Australia, he acquired an interest in the Ngatapa run. Since then he has resided on the estate, except for about a year, during which he was absent on a visit to England. He takes a general interest in sport, and is a member of the Proverty Bay Jockey Club.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Murray Hingston,
                Manager of the Ngatapa Run, was born in the Norta of Ireland, where he was educated. He became a station manager in New Zealand in 1879, when he was placed in charge of Pourererea Station. Two years later he took charge of Pourererea Station. Two years later he took charge of Mohaka Station in Hawke's Bay, and in 1844 was transferred to “Oakburne,” also in Hawke's Bay. He has been in charge of “Ngatapa” since 1889. As a Freemeson, Mr. Hingston is attached to Lodge Heretaunga, Hawke's Bay. N.Z.C. He was married, in 1881, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. G. Burgess, of Hawke's Bay and has one son and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Smith, William Wilkinson,
                sheep-farmer, Waitaria, Patutahi, Gasborne. Mr Smith was born in Dulbin, Ireland, in 1839, and was the eldest son of the late Mr. W. W. Smith, of Liffey Bank, Islandbridge, Dublin. He was educated in Dublin, and in 1861 let his native land in the ship “Commodore Perry,” (Captain Williams) for Auckland, via Melbourne and Sydney, and arrived at his destination early in 1862. He at once went on to Hawke's, Bay, where he was engaged for some time in looking after cattle at Napier. In 1863 Mr. Smith decided to try his fortunes on the newly opened up Otago goldfields, but after a very brief stay returned to Napier, and accepted a position as shepherd on Mr. H. S. Tiffen's run. Mr. Smith arrived at the Turanganui settlement, now known as Gisborne, at the end of 1864. In the following year hostilities with the Hauhaus commenced, and Mr. Smith joined the Voluntear force, and was engaged at Waerenga-a-hike pah, under Captain Wilson, who was badly wounded. A great number of Maoris were taken prisoners, and eventually deported to the Chatham Islands. When the notorious rebel, Te Kooti, who had escaped from imprisonment, landed at Wharehungahunga, between Young Nick's Head and Whangawai (Happy Jacks), Mr. Smith joined the Mounted Volunteers, who were sent to capture him. The volunteers were, however, repulsed, until reinforced by Colonel Whitmore, who eventually took up his stand at Tiniroto. At this place the Colonel gave permission to the volunteers to return home, and Mr. Smith lived quietly on a small farm until the massacre of Major Biggs, Captain Wilson, Sergeant Walsh and others took place on the 10th of November, 1868. He then abondoned his property, and became Corporal of No. 1 Company of the Militia; he remained with the force until 1870, and on returning he received the New Zealand war medal. In 1872 he received his commission as sub-lieutenant of the New Zealand Militia. Mr. Smith first leased and afterwards purchased his present small property of rich pastoral land, then in its rough state, but now carrying five sheep to the acre. The land also carries a number of horses and cattle, and the property is considered to be one of the best in Poverty Bay. In 1871, Mr. Smith, who is one of the oldest residents of the Patutahi flats, married a daughter of Mr. William Griffin, of Auckland.
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Waerenga-O-Kuri.

            

              
              


                

                  
Waerenga-O-Kuri
                
                is a pastoral district in Cook County, Poverty Bay, and lies eighteen miles to the westward of Gisborne, with which it has weekly communication by coach. It is on the overland mail coach route from Gisborne to Wairoa and Napier. The country is hilly, and exceptionally suitable for sheep, large numbers of which are sent to the freezing works every year, and are often the top weights for the season.
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Bluff at Waikaremoana.


              

              
The main Gisborne-Auckland road, via Hangaroa and Lake Waikaremonana, now (May, 1901)being made by the Government, Passes through Waierenga-o-Kuri, and seventy-seven miles further on, on the Gisborne-Wairoa Road, are the beautiful Te Reinga Falls, which are to be harnessed for motive power to supply electriclight to both Gisborne and Wairoa. As a health resort for Gisborne. Waerenga-o-kuri has already become noted, owing, no doubt, to its elevation above the level of the sea—namely, 1100 feet. Waerenga-o-kuri has a post and telegraph office.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Henry H. Wall,
                J. P., is an old colonist who came from Stroud, Gloucoster, shire, with his parents, in 1852. He was made a Mason in Scinde Lodge, I.C., in Napier, in 1874, was inner guard and senior warder, and became worshipful masteer in 1881. He was also one of the founders of Victoria Lodge, E.C., and was the first treasurer of that lodge. He was a borough councillor in Napier for several years, and chairman of the public works committee until he left Napier in 1883, for his sheep run at Waerengaokuri, in Poverty Bay. He was mayor of Napier for a short while in 1882, until Dr. Spencer took office. Mr. Wall always took an active part in political, religious, and social matters.
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Gisborne.

            

              
              

                

                  
Gisborne
                
               
 stands upon historic ground. Close to the mouth of the river upon the banks of which the town is prettily built, is a boat harbour, where the famous navigator, Captain Cook, made his first landing in New Zealand, and away across the bay, glittering in the sunshine, are the white cliffs of Young Nick's Head, actually the first land sighted by Captain Cook, and so named because it was first land sighted by Captain Cook, and so named because it was first observed by a lad named Nicholas. Cook did not receive a favourable reception upon his first visit to this locality, and owing to the hostility of the natives, which prevented him from obtaining supplies of wood and water, he conferred upon it a name which the productiveness of the district has since belied—Poverty Bay. The first white settlers in the district were a few old whalers and Pakeha — Maoris, but in later years an extensive trade was opened up by various traders with the natives, who grew large crops of wheat and corn, which were exported to other parts of the Colony and to Australia. Then more history came to be made in Poverty Bay by the outbreak of that remarkable fanaticism, called Hauhauism, the object of which was to drive all Europeans from New Zealand. In 1865 the prophets of Hauhauism reached Gisborne, which in those days consisted of a dense wilderness of manuka scrub. An old pa stood where the present courthouse is located, and there was another and larger pa on the kaik side of the river, whilst a trading store belonging to Captain Read, the pioneer merchant of Poverty Bay, stood near the site of the present freezing works opposite the Gisborne wharf. The nearest settler lived at Makaraka, four miles distant, where and in the direction of Waipaoa river mouth, there were a few scattered homesteads. The Poverty Bay tribes embraced the new religion, and but for the prompt measures taken by Sir Donald McLean, and the assistance rendered by the loyal chief Ropata and his people from Waiapu, northward, there would have been a serious rebellion, which might have resulted in the complete extermination of the white man. Hauhauism was put down in Poverty Bay, as elsewhere, only by severe fighting. In November, 1865, after 1200 rebels had been besieged for seven days at the mission station, from which they had driven the missionaries, and after many sanguinary encounters, 800 Maoris were taken prisoners at Waerenga-a-hika, and swore allegiance to the Queen. Three hundred of the worst offenders against law and order were deported to the Chatham Islands, among them being the notorious Te Kooti, who subsequently organised an escape on the schooner “Rifleman,” and returned to Poverty Bay with a load of cut throats in July, 1868, when he commenced to write his name in letters of blood over the face of the country. A strong force of military was sent to the district to intercept his march, and Matawhero was the headquarters of the troops, as it was then the principal settlement in the district. At eleven o'clock on the night of the 8th of November, Te Kooti stealthily descended from the hills with about eighty men, and committed that series of shocking atrocities memorable in New Zealand history as the Poverty Bay massacres. Te Kooti was chased to the mountains, and for a number of years, in the Poverty Bay district, in the Uriwera Country, and in the Bay of Plenty, military expeditions hunted him from stronghold to stronghold, and many a fierce and bloody battle was fought. The
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Te Reinga Falls, near Gisborne.





result was that the power of the rebel was completely broken, and he fled, an outcast, to the King Country, his principal fighting men and supporters being captured, tried, and punished for their crimes. Then there settled a reign of peace and prosperity upon the fruitful district of Poverty Bay. Settlers began to pour in, native land was bought up, the bush and fern were cleared to make way for grass and sheep, and gradually the district became established as one of the leading pastoral areas in the Colony. Very strong indications of petroleum exist in various parts of the country, and for some years subsequent to 1874 active boring operations were carried on by several companies but without commercial success. In the early eighties the settlers, hampered by the inconveniences and expenses of shipment at their bar harbour, decided upon building a breakwater, and a loan of £200,000 was raised for the purpose. As much as £90,000 was spent in carrying a pier about 800 feet out to sea; then a sand encroachment difficulty was met with and the work was stopped. Now the idea of constructing an outer harbour has been abandoned, and efforts are being directed to make an inner harbour by dredging, with good prospects of success. There is also a strong agitation to have the district connected by a light railway with Auckland and Napier. The district is undoubtedly fertile, and depastures about threequarters of a million of sheep, which draw a golden stream of sovereigns from the London market. Two freezing works are in active operation, and two dairy factories. Maize and barley are largely grown, and Poverty Bay ryegrass has long been famous in Colonial markets. The population at the census of March, 1901, was 7,109 for Cook and Waiapu counties, and 2,733 for Gisborne. The Government buildings at Gisborne are near the south end of the town and close to the wharf and river. They accommodate the post and telegraph office, the telephone exchange, the customs department, the native land court, validation court, and the survey office. At the rear of these buildings there is a volunteer drill shed. The scenic attractions of the district are the Nuhaka Hot Springs, twenty-five miles from Gisborne; Waikaremoana Lake, about fifty miles away, described as second only in grandeur to Lake Manapouri and Te Reinga falls, twenty miles on the road to Waikaremoana.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Cecil Albert 
De
Lautour,
                ex-Member of the House of Representatives, who represented Mount Ida, Otago, from 1876 to 1884, is a well-known barrister and solicitor of Gisborne. He was born in India in 1845, and is a son of Mr. Edward de Lautour, of the Indian Civil Service, who, at the time of his death in 1862, was a Judge of the High Court at Calcutta. Mr. de Lautour was educated at Cheltonham College, and held an appointment for Addiscombe, the Military College of the East India Company. On Addiscombe being done away with, about 1863, when the old East India Company's army was amalgamated with the Queen's troops, Mr. de Lautour decided to come out to New Zealand, to which he had been attracted by a book named “The Britain of the South,” written by one of the Hursthouses of Nelson. He landed in Auckland in June, 1863, from the ship “War Spirit.” This vessel also brought out about 200 Germans, who settled at Puhoi near Waiwera. In consequence of the war which was then going on, there was no opening in Auckland, and Mr. de Lautour went to Otago a few months later and engaged in pastoral pursuits for several years. Having been disabled by an accident from following an active life, he became editor and part proprietor of the “Mount Ida Chronicle.” While editing the “Chronicle” in 1874, he contested the district of Mount Ida for the Provincial Council of Otago, on the same platform as the Hon. James Oliver, against the two sitting members, Messrs J. P. Armstrong and David Hunter Mervyn. Both he and Mr. Oliver were returned, and he sat in the Council until the abolition of the provinces came into force. In 1876 Mr. de Lautour was returned as member for the Mount Ida district to the House of Representatives. He continued to sit for Mount Ida until 1884, and was returned unopposed twice. Having resided at Napier and Gisborne for some years, Mr. de Lautour intimated to his old constituents of Mount Ida that he would not seek re-election for a southern district, and at the next general election, at the request of the 
[
unclear: Lib]eral Party, he contested the Newton district against Mr. Peacock, who was returned. In 1893 Mr. de Lautour contested the district of Waiapu against the Hon. James Carroll, but was again defeated. Since then he has stood aside from politics, attending to his business as a lawyer. Mr. de Lautour has always taken an active part in municipal and educational affairs, and was returned to the first Education Board for the Otago provincial district. He has been mayor of Naseby, and mayor of Gisborne, and has sat as a councillor for the borough and as a member of the Gisborne Harbour Board. Mr. de Lautour has always been regarded as a Liberal in politics.
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Borough of Gisborne.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Borough Of Gisborne
                  
                  has an annual revenue of £5000, and has a debt of £16,000, contracted for town improvements. The annual value to let is £33,150, and there is a general rate of 1s 9d in the £, and a special rate of 3d. The town is supplied with gas, not, however, by the Corporation, but by the Gisborne Gas Company, at a charge of 11s 4d net per 1000 feet. Gisborne itself is pleasantly situated on the sea coast between two rivers, and it has, with its suburbs, a population of about 5000, exclusive of Maoris. The area of the borough is 1260 acres. It is bounded on the south by the sea, on the east by the Turanganui river, on the north by the Taruheru river, and on the west by the Poverty Bay road district. The town is well lighted by twenty incandescent gas lamps, and a large loan for town improvements, including water supply and drainage, has been sanctioned by the residents. The local fire brigade is supported largely by contributions from the Borough Council, which has supplied and maintained all the plant. Members for 1901: Mr. J. Townley, mayor; and Messrs R. N. Jones, J. W. Bright, W. D. Lysnar, W. Miller, D. Hepburn, J. Whinray, J. A. Harding, T. Morrison, and A. F. Kennedy; Mr. R. D. B. Robinson, town clerk and treasurer; Mr. E. J. Chrisp, borough solicitor; Mr. M. Morgan, road overseer; and Mr. J. R. Little, inspector of nuisances.

              

              

                
                


His Worship The Mayor Of Gisborne, 
Mr. John Townley , was born at Warrington, Lancashire, in 1837, and like many other men from that county, he has made his mark in his adopted country, and especially in the town of Gisborne, which owes a great deal of its civic prosperity to his energy. Mr. Townley is the eldest son of Mr. Richard Townley, of Warrington, and was educated at Preston, Lancashire, and at the Church of England Sunday schools in Manchester. He served his apprenticeship at cabinetmaking in Manchester and subsequently worked at



Shrewsbury for three years. In July, 1863, he landed in Napier, via Auckland, and worked as a carpenter for nine years, when he joined Mr. Large and the firm started as furniture manufacturers and house furnishers. In consequence of the rapid growth of Gisborne, the firm decided to open a branch there, and in 1873 Mr. Townley removed thither and has since carried on one of the most successful establishments in Poverty Bay. During his residence in Napier, Mr. Townley was connected with the volunteers and was present in 1867 at the capture of the Omaranui Pah, where the Maoris made such a gallant stand against their Pakeha foes. On the formation of the borough of Gisborne Mr. Townley was elected one of the first councillors, and has been elected mayor yearly since 1892. He has also been chairman of the Harbour Board for about ten years, and superintendent of the Fire Brigade, and chairman of the local Building Society since 1897. Mr. Townley's business is referred to in another article.
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Councillor J. W. Bright
                  
                  is referred to elsewhere as manager for the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor John Alfred Harding,
                  of the Gisborne Borough Council, was born in Tipperary, Ireland, on the 11th of January, 1853. He is the second son of Mr. William Holmes Harding, and arrived at Auckland with his parents when he was about fourteen years of age. Mr. Harding was educated at Dr. Kidd's school, and at St. Matthew's Church of England school, Hobson Street, Auckland, and decided to follow the surveying profession. In this calling he was engaged for fourteen years in Auckland and on the East Coast of the North Island, but owing to ill-health he relinquished the work, and carried on storekeeping at Waipiro Bay for about nine years. Mr. Harding then engaged in the timber and shipping trade for some time. He has been a member of the Gisborne Corporation since 1888, is vice-president of the Gisborne Racing Club, and treasurer of the local hospital and trustee of the Druids Lodge. In sporting matters he takes a keen interest and occupies the position of Master of the Poverty Bay Hunt Club. Mr. Harding is a past master of Lodge Turanganui, E.C., has passed through all the chairs, and now holds the office of treasurer of that lodge.
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Councillor Duncan Hepburn,
                  who has been almost continuously a Member of the Borough Council since 1883, and has also served on the Hospital and Charitable Aid and harbour Boards since 1894, was born in Auckland in 1844. After five years' experience in farming, he went to sea, and qualified as a captain. Mr. Hepburn was for three years at Greymouth, where he was engaged in coal mining, and he afterwards had some experience of mining on the Thames goldfield. For four years subsequently he was brickmaking in Auckland, and in 1874 he settled in Gisborne, where he established himself in business as a brickmaker, and has made the greater portion of the bricks used in buildings in the district. He served for six years as a member of the Cook County Council. In Freemasonry he is attached to Lodge Montrose, of which he is a Past Master, and as a Forester he has been through all the chairs in Court William Gladstone. Mr. Hepburn was married, in 1869, to a daughter of the late Mr. R. Jackson, of Lyttelton, and has six sons and four daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Councillor Robert Noble Jones
                  
                  is referred to elsewhere as a solicitor.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Alexander Francis Kennedy,
                  F.I.A.N.Z., who is a Member of the Gisborne Borough Council and a Trustee of the Hospital, has held a seat on the Charitable Aid Board since 1894. He was born in 1862 in Napier, where he was educated, and joined the service of the Union Steamship Company in 1878. In 1881 he entered the service of Mr. F. W. Williams, the founder of the firm of Williams and Kettle, Ltd. For ten years he was employed as accountant by the firm in Napier, and in 1891, when it was decided to open a branch of the business at Gisborne, Mr. Kennedy was entrusted with the duty of opening the office, and became its manager. He still holds that position. Since settling in Gisborne he has always taken an interest in the progress of the district, and is president of the Gisborne Horticultural Society and Gisborne Rowing Club, and vice-president of the Gisborne Beautifying Association and Caledonian Society. As a Freemason he is a Past Master of Lodge Abercorn, and Past Grand Senior Deacon of the Grand Lodge of New Zealand. Mr. Kennedy was married, in 1885, to a daughter of Mr. W. Adair, of Gisborne, and has two daughters.
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Councillor Cecil Francis Lewis,
                  who has been a member of the Gisborne Borough Council since 1899, and holds a seat on the Charitable Aid Board, was born on the 12th of September, 1866, and is the eldest son of Mr. Henry Lewis, a well known and respected merchant of Gisborne. He was educated at the Auckland College and Grammar School, and also at the Rev. Peter Mason's private school in the same city. On leaving school Mr. Lewis worked with his father and remained in his employment for nine years. From 1881 to about 1883, he was in the office of Mr. T. D. McDougall, an old English barrister, who formerly practised in Gisborne. About 1885 Mr. Lewis started as an auctioneer, etc., and has acquired an extensive and flourishing connection. He was the Government Valuator for the borough of Gisborne, has been Census Enumerator since 1887, and has acted as collector of agricultural statistics for Cook County for six years. Mr. Lewis was initiated into Freemasonry in Lodge



Montrose S.C. and now holds the rank of Senior Warden. He has taken great interest in football, volunteering, rowing, and other local affairs, and as a member of the Gisborne Football Club, represented Poverty Bay for several years. He was a member of the Gisborne Artillery Corps, and afterwards held the rank of sergeant and trumpeter in the East Coast Hussars during the Te Kooti raid. In 1900 he became first lieutenant in the Gisborne Rifles. Mr. Lewis was the promoter of the Gisborne Poultry Fanciers' Club, in which he takes great interest, and he is secretary of the Gisborne branch of the New Zealand Natives' Association, in connection with which he has been a prominent worker. In 1892 Mr. Lewis married the daughter of Mr. Russell, of Hokitika, and has three children.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Councillor W. D. Lysnar
                  
                  is elsewhere referred to as a barrister and solicitor.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Councillor Thomas Morrison
                  
                  is referred to in another article as founder and senior partner of the firm of Morrison Bros.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor James Whinray,
                  a member of the Gisborne Borough Council, is the well-known proprietor of the Furnishing Warehouse, Gladstone road. He was born in Lancashire in 1845, and was educated in his native county. When fourteen years of age, Mr. Whinray was apprenticed as cabinetmaker, wheelwright, and house carpenter. After working in London for ten years, he came to New Zealand, and landed in Napier in 1874. He afterwards went to Australia and remained there two years, when he returned to New Zealand, and was for six months at the gold diggings at Kumara. After visiting New Plymouth, Auckland, and Taurana, Mr. Whinray went to Gisborne, and started business in Gladstone Road in 1877. 1884 he took a trip to England, and on his return built his present large and handsome brick and stone warehouse. Mr. Whinray is an ardent supporter of the scheme for cutting a cattle track through the Uriwera Country to Rotorua, and prospecting the back country. He has been over a considerable portion of the ground himself, and has been the means of cutting the track as far as it has gone (thirty miles). He married in 1872, and has five children.
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Mr. Reginald D. B. Robinson,
                  Town Clerk, Valuator, Treasurer and Collector, also Secretary of the Chamber of Commerce, Gisborne, was born in Auckland in 1871, and is the eldest son of Mr. W. R. Robinson, barrister and solicitor. He was educated at Gisborne, and in 1888 entered the service of the corporation as junior clerk. In 1891 he was elected to his present position at the early age of twenty years, being probably the only town clerk ever appointed at that age in New Zealand. During the same year he was also in charge of the Gisborne Harbour Board office for four months. Mr. Robinson has been identified with athletics since his boyhood, and still takes an active interest especially in connection with rowing, in which he represents Poverty Bay against Hawke's Bay in their annual aquatic contests. He was a keen exponent of the Rugby game of football, and acted as secretary for the Poverty Bay Rugby Union, besides representing Gisborne for several years. In 1896 Mr. Robinson married Miss Johnston, daughter of Mr. D. Johnston, Collector of Customs at Invercargill.
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Mr. Edmund James Chrisp,
                  Borough Solicitor of Gisborne, was born in Auckland in 1863, and was educated in England. He served his articles in Gisborne, and was admitted a barrister and solicitor in 1885, when he established his practice. As a volunteer Mr. Chrisp served in the J Battery for several years. He was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr. J. Townley, of Gisborne, and has three sons and two daughters.

              

            

            


            

              
Ex-Mayors.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Charles Debenham Bennett,
                  Ex-Mayor of Gisborne (and partner in the firm of Messrs Bennett and Sherratt), was born in the historic town of Worcester, England, in 1835, and is a son of Mr. Joseph Bennett, draper, of that place. Mr. Bennett was educated at the celebrated Blue Coat School, London, where he remained until he was fifteen years of age, and then was apprenticed to the well-known firm of Messrs Copestake and Co., warehousemen, of Bow Church Yard, London, in whose employment he remained until 1857. In 1858 Mr. Bennett joined a cavalry corps, attached to the East India Company's service, and arrived in India just on the termination of the Indian Mutiny in August of the same year. In 1859 the corps was transferred to the British Crown, and merged into the regiment known as the 21st Hussars, and Mr. Bennett remained in the service until 1863, when he purchased his discharge. In 1864 he emigrated to Canterbury, New Zealand, per ship “Ivanhoe,” but on arrival at Lyttelton went to Taranaki, where he joined the Military Settlers, and was engaged in active service against the Maoris in that province. In 1868 he joined the Armed Constabulary as a private, but shortly obtained his commission as sub-inspector, and took part in nearly every engagement throughout the East and West Coast campaigns, being twice mentioned in Colonel McDonnell's despatches for services rendered. Mr. Bennett finally retired from the service in 1878, and on the formation of the borough of Gisborne, received the appointment of town clerk, which he retained until joining Messrs Ferris and Pitt, auctioneers. In 1879 Mr. Bennett was elected councillor, and became mayor of Gisborne in 1882. In 1865 he married a daughter of Mr. James Dunlop, of Gisborne, and has six children.
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Mr. William F. Crawford,
                  Ex-Mayor of Gisborne, is a native of Tipperary, Ireland, where he was born in 1844. He is the eldest son of the late Mr. Thomas Crawford, and was educated at Home. He came to New Zealand, per ship “Statesman,” in 1863, and landed at Auckland, where he remained for two years, and then left to go to the West Coast goldfields, where he was engaged, in the first instance, as manager for Mr. C. Petchler, storekeeper; but in 1868 he went to the Thames, where, a year later, he accepted an appointment at Whitson's (later, Ehrenfried's) brewery. There he learned the brewing business, and in 1874 he was appointed to take charge of a brewery at Gisborne. In the following year he took over the business, and when a company was formed in 1895 to run the brewery, Mr. Crawford was appointed manager. He was a member of the first borough council elected in Gisborne, and subsequently held the office of mayor for two successive years. He is an ex-member of the Harbour Board, and during the Te Kooti scare he enrolled himself among the volunteers. Mr. Crawford is a most successful amateur photographer, and has taken a large number of very artistic pictures in Gisborne and its neighbourhood. On the occasion of the celebration of the Queen's Record Regin he exposed no fewer than seventy-two plates in one day.

              

              

                
                


                  

Captain W. H. Tucker,
                  an Ex-Mayor of Gisborne, was born at Auckland in 1844, and is the only surviving son of Captain Henry Tucker, R.N., who was formerly attached to the “Buffalo,” a vessel well known in New Zealand waters during the Maori war, and wrecked in Kennedy or Mercury Bay many years ago. Captain W. H. Tucker was educated at Wesley College, Auckland, and went in 1859 to Hawke's Bay, where he became a cadet at Woodlands Station, of which he was manager during the years 1863–4–5. He settled down in Poverty Bay in 1866 as a sheep-farmer, but had to abandon his run in consequence of the Hauhau rebellion, and other attendant causes. During 1858 Captain Tucker joined Captain Eley's Battery of Volunteer Artillery in Auckland, and on its disbandment, he transferred his services to the Victoria Rifles (Captain Howell), and remained with that corps until leaving for Hawke's Bay. On the outbreak of hostilities with the Waikato Natives in 1863, the Waipawa Cavalry Corps, Hawke's Bay, was formed, and Captain Tucker joined as a private trooper, but subsequently rose to the position of lieutenant. When Te Kooti made his celebrated and blood-thirsty raid upon the inhabitants of Poverty Bay in July, 1868, the militia were called out, and Captain Tucker was attached to No. 1 Company, of which he was appointed commander in 1869. When the rebel chief was driven to Te Karetu, and thence to Ngatipu, Captain Tucker, amongst a number of other settlers, joined the colonial forces, and served with them until the capture of the pa at Ngatipu, whence Te Kooti escaped to the Waikato. For some time the refractory Maori remained quiescent, but in August, 1870, he made another raid on Tolago Bay, and all the available forces were sent from Gisborne to protect the residents. Captain Tucker proceeded with a party of 120 friendly Maoris to Mangatio, in order to intercept Te Kooti, but, owing to intelligence having been secretly imparted to the rebel, he was enabled to avoid the pursuing party, who followed him for three days and nights through a hitherto impenetrable forest. At a place called Makihoi the chase had to be abandoned, and the men under Captain Tucker, who had been without food and shelter of any kind for three days, returned to Gisborne without achieving their object. During Captain Tucker's residence in Poverty Bay, he has been identified with almost every movement for the welfare of the district. He has been twice elected mayor of Gisborne, and has held the chairmanship of the Gisborne Harbour Board, by virtue of his occupancy of the civic chair. He is a prominent member and ex-president of the Poverty Bay Prohibition League. In 1865 Captain Tucker married Miss Elizabeth Randall, of Taranaki, and their family consists of one son and four daugthers.

              

            

            

              
Ex-Councillors.

              

                
                

                  

Mr. William Adair,
                 
 who was a Member of the first Borough Council of Gisborne, was born in County Down, Ireland, in 1838. He was brought up to the drapery business, and came out to Victoria in 1860. For six years he was in the service of the well-known firm of Buckley and Nunn, in Melbourne, and came to Otago in 1866, when he engaged in gold mining on the Shotover for several years. He then removed to Addison's Flat, near Westport, and was in business there as a storekeeper for three years. For five years subsequently he was traveller for Messrs McArthur, Shera and Co., Auckland, and became warehouse manager for the firm for one year during the absence of one of the partners in England. In 1875 Mr. Adair removed to Gisborne, and bought a general store, which had been previously conducted by Captain Read. Mr. Adair was well known in Gisborne
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for twenty-two years in connection with this large business, which he sold in 1897. Since that time he has been in business as an insurance and commission agent in Lowe Street. He has been a member of the Poverty Bay Club for twenty-five years, and is a director of the local Park Company. In Freemasonry he is a member of Lodge Turanganui, 1480, E.C. Mr. Adair went to England with his eldest daughter in 1886, and visited the Indian and Colonial Exhibition. He was married, in 1870, and has five sons and three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Adams,
                  who served for a time as a Member of the Gisborne Borough Council, has long been known as a bookseller and stationer in Poverty Bay. He was born at Portglenone, County Antrim, Ireland, where he was educated and brought up to country life. Mr. Adams landed in Victoria in 1851, and came to New Zealand twelve years later; he was two years in Westport, whence he removed to Auckland. In 1870 Mr. Adams settled in Poverty Bay, and took a position in the late Captain Read's store. After being four years there he founded his present business.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Charleston Dunlop,
                  who served for nine years as a Member of the Gisborne Borough Council, and was also a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, was born in Gisborne, in 1858. He was educated at Wesley College, Auckland, was brought up to mercantile life, and served three years with the Union Bank in Gisborne. For ten years Mr. Dunlop was in business as a wine and spirit merchant, and for six years subsequently was manager of the Farmers' Association. He established the business which he now conducts as an estate and financial agent in 1900. Mr. Dunlop is generally interested in athletic sports, and is a member of the local racing club. He was married, in 1883, to a daughter of the late Mr. P. Bourke, of Gisborne, and has two sons and two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Robert Johnston,
                  J.P., who entered the Gisborne Borough Council in 1891, and also became a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board and the High School Board of Governors, was born at Falkirk, Scotland, in 1851, and was brought up to the trade of a tailor. Mr. Johnston came to Auckland by the ship “Duneraig” in 1880, and shortly afterwards settled in Poverty Bay, where he established the business which has since borne his name. Mr. Johnston served for about six years as a corporal in the East Coast Hussars. In Freemasonry he is a Past Master of Lodges Montrose, S.C., and Turanganui, E.C. He was one of the founders of the local lodge of Druids, and has held office as Senior District President. Mr. Johnston was married, in February, 1880, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Foster, of Inniskillen, Ireland, and has three daughters and one son.
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Mr. Edward Pattricks Joyce,
                  who has been a Member of the Gisborne Borough Council for nearly twenty years, is also a hospital trustee, and a member of the Charitable Aid Board, and was for some time chairman of the Whataupoko Road Board. Mr. Joyce was also one of the first members of the Gisborne Harbour Board. He is a son of Edmond Joyce, of Tiernakiel House, County Galway, Ireland, was born in 1845, and settled in Gisborne in 1873. Mr. Joyce has for years carried on a commission agency business. At the general election of 1899 he was a candidate for a seat in the House of Representatives, but withdrew before the election. Mr. Joyce is president of the Liberal Association in Gisborne, and is a Past Master of the Masonic Order. He was proprietor of the Poverty Bay Independent for over three years.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry Lewis,
                  J.P., who was for eighteen years a member of the Gisborne Borough Council, was born in London in 1833, and left England for Australia when he was twenty-one years of age. He landed in Sydney, and after spending a few months there, came to New Zealand and reached Auckland in January, 1855. Mr. Lewis and his brothers were in business as soft goods merchants, and he remained in Auckland for twenty years, when he went to Gisborne. He started business in Gladstone Road in 1878, and at first occupied temporary premises, which he replaced in 1893 by a large warehouse. Shortly after his arrival in Gisborne Mr. Lewis was elected to a seat on the school committee, but resigned after several years' service. He was mayor of the town for a term and has been a Justice of the Peace for many years. For thirteen years Mr. Lewis was a member of the Poverty Bay Licensing Committee, and its chairman for eleven years. Mr. Lewis was president of the Chamber of Commerce in 1896–97. While he was on the Borough Council he succeeded in carrying a resolution which resulted in Gisborne being lighted by kerosene lamps prior to the introduction of gas. Mr. Lewis resigned his seat on the council in 1898, on removing into the country. In 1864 he married Miss Mary Reid, lately arrived from England. Mrs Lewis died several years ago, leaving four sons.

              

            

            

              
Gisborne Harbour Board.

              

                
                

                  

                    The Gisborne Harbour Board
                  
                 
 is incorporated by Act of Parliament, and has power to raise loans and levy rates and expend the proceeds in connection with the construction and management of harbour works. The board has already raised a loan of £200,000,
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with interest at five per cent., for the construction of a breakwater, and it raises £5,000 a year by rates and has an annual income of £8,000, Vessels of 300 tons can be berthed at the wharf, and steamers up to 2500 tons can enter the roadstead. Inside the harbour the depth of water at high tide is 21 feet; at low tide, 15 feet; at high tide the depth on the bar varies from 8 feet to 11 feet. The board levies pilotage and port charges amounting to 3d per ton. At present (May, 1901) it is constructing a groin parallel to the breakwater, with the intention of carrying it out to a distance of 50 feet beyond it. Messrs Anderson and Co., of Christchurch, have a contract for a powerful twin screw hopper dredge, capable of carrying 150 tons, and with this the board intends to dredge a channel fifteen feet deep at low water, right up to the wharf. When this is done, it is hoped that medium draught steamers may be able to come into the port. Since the commencement of the groin the scour has taken out all the soil in the channel down to the rock. The town wharf is to be extended right up to the Turanganui bridge. Members of the Board for 1901: Mr. J. Townley, chairman; Messrs W. H. Tucker and J. W. Whinray, representing the borough. Messrs J. Macfarlane (chairman of Cook County Council), D. Hepburn and W. Cooper, representing the county; and Messrs W. Sievwright, G. Mathewson, and J. Clark, representing the Government. The total assets of the board at the 31st of December, 1900, amounted to £198,734, and the total liabilities, including the loan, to £206,525. The total credit balances, including unexpended balance of loan at the same time, amounted to £104,164.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mr. James William Witty,
                  Secretary and Treasurer to the Gisborne Harbour Board, was born in Wiltshire, England, in 1838, and is a son of the Rev. John F. Witty, Vicar of St. Matthew's, Sheffield. He served his articles as a solicitor in London, but owing to failing health, left England for the Colonies, and arrived in Melbourne in 1861. After a sojourn in Australia he came to New Zealand, and landed in Otago, at the time of the Dunstan “rush,” in 1862. He joined a prospecting party which went into the interior of Otago, and was on one occasion snowed in for five days. The party, in fact, suffered great hardships, and Mr. Witty himself had to be taken to the Dunedin Hospital, where he was for twenty-six weeks. He went to Hawke's Bay in 1865, and was enrolled among the military settlers. Mr. Witty acted as private secretary and orderly sergeant to Lieut.-Colonel Fraser, and accompanied him through his East Coast campaign, at Poverty Bay, Wairoa, Petane, and Waikaremoana. After serving under Colonel Whitmore at Taupo, the military settlers were marched to Wairoa, and then disbanded and placed on their land. On the return of Te Kooti from the Chatham Islands, Mr. Witty was placed in charge of the militia in the Wairoa district. He then went with an expedition to Waikaremoana, and met the advance guard of Te Waru, who was attacking Wairoa. The Maoris were repulsed, and the force, hearing that Mohaka was attacked by Te Kooti, formed an expedition for its relief. Mr. Witty was left in charge at Mohaka, and followed Te Kooti to Waikaremoana, where he recovered sixty-six horses, which had been stolen by the rebel. After another visit to Waikaremoana under Colonel Herrick, Mr. Witty had charge of the Transport Corps at Taupo, and had 135 pack horses loaded with stores and ammunition. Then he had command of an expedition which Sir Donald McLean organised from the friendly tribe of the Ngatipawhero Maoris, and was at Waikaremoana for five months engaged in conflict with the Uriwera natives. Ultimately, having “dug out” two canoes, he crossed the lake and attacked the pa from the rear, when the defenders surrendered, and the hostile chiefs were marched to Wairoa to meet Sir Donald McLean. After this Mr. Witty was put on the unattached list, and settled at Napier. He then engaged in sheepfarming in the Wairoa district for four years, and experimented in hop-growing. Mr. Witty then went to Gisborne, where for seven years he held the position of wharfinger, and in 1890 he was appointed secretary and treasurer to the Harbour Board.
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Captain Alexander Thomson,
                  Harbourmaster and Pilot at the Port of Gisborne, was born at Aberdeen, Scotland, in 1836, and is the second son of Mr. Alexander Thomson, a prominent Arctic explorer, who died at the ripe age of ninety-two years. Captain Thomson was educated at Poterhead, and afterwards studied navigation in London, and passed his examination as master before the Metropolitan Board of Trade. Mr. Thomson joined the merchant navy in 1854, when he shipped as carpenter upon the barque “Leonidas,” and sailed under three masters for seven years to various parts of the globe. Subsequently he served on the Arctic whaler “Columbus,” and then transferred to the s.s. “Iniut,” a whaler, Captain Allardice. This vessel was wrecked in the Arctic regions, and the crew was rescued by the brig “Lady Franklin,” and landed at Peterhead. On returning to London, Mr. Thomson again shipped under Captain Allardice, trading to Brisbane, and was afterwards engaged in the intercolonial trade between Java, Sydney, Melbourne, Mauritius and New Zealand. In 1861, Captain Thomson returned to the Old Country, where he remained until 1863, when, as chief officer, he joined the ship “Prospector,” trading to Valparaiso and Australia, and in 1867 he was appointed master of the vessel. Later he had command of the “William Cargill,” trading to the west coast of South America. In 1876, the Union Steamship Company of New Zealand employed Captain Thomson to bring out the s.s. “Waitaki” from Glasgow to Dunedin, via Suez. After his arrival in New Zealand he traded to Kaipara, Newcastle and Dunedin as master of coastal vessels until 1890, when he was offered and accepted his present post.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John King,
                  Engineer to the Gisborne Harbour Board, was born in Perthshire, Scotland, in 1842. He came to Lyttelton by the ship “Chrysolite” in 1861, and qualified as a surveyor in Wellington. For a time he took survey contracts under the Government, and was for many years engineer to the counties of North and South Wairarapa. Mr. King has held his present position in Gisborne since July, 1897. As a volunteer he served in the Masterton Cavalry Corps for five years.

              

            

            

              
County of Cook.

              

                
                


                  

                    
The County Of Cook
                  
                  was created with other counties in 1876, and its boundaries extended from Cape Runaway in the north to Paretu Bluff, south of Poverty Bay. The capital value of its ratable property at that time was £260,000, but owing to the rapid increase of population and settlement, the ratable value of property occupied by Europeans in 1890 was £1,720,000. In that year the settlers in the north successfully petitioned Parliament to constitute a new county, to consist of what was known as the “Waiapau Riding,” and to be called Waiapu County, extending from Cape Runaway to Anaura, forming nearly one half of the County of Cook, and leaving an area of 1,000,000 acres to Cook County. Progress was still, however, the order of the day, and at the close of 1896, the ratable value of property occupied by Europeans was £1,720,000, its value prior to the partition of the county, and in 1900 it stood at £2,581,000. Owing to the scarcity of stone suitable for road metal, the county council has a difficulty in constructing roads for the constantly increasing traffic; as it is, much of the stone used on the main roads costs from 14s. to 16s. 6d. per yard, and is not of a durable quality. There are ninety miles of metalled roads, 180 miles of formed and drained roads, and about 100 miles of half-formed roads and tracks under the care of the council. The bridges throughout the county are built of timber, and represent a very large outlay, every penny of which has been raised by local taxation. The timber used is for the most part kauri, imported from Auckland, very little serviceable timber being available within the settled portion of the county. The revenue of the county in 1900 was £9,200, and the expenditure £10,200. The present indebtedness of the county is £25,000 for loans, and £6,000 in overdraft.

              

              

                


                
                


                  
Cook County Council.
                  This council controls the affairs of the extensive county of Cook, which is divided into six ridings, namely, Tolago, Waikohu, Whatanupoko, Waimata, Arai, and Gisborne. The first chairman of the council was Mr. James Woodbine Johnson, of Maractaha. He was succeeded by Mr. Andrew Graham (afterwards Member of the House of Representatives for the East Coast), and then, in order of succession, by Messrs W. K. Chambers, of Repongare, John Clark, of Opua, Charles Gray, of Waiohika, and lastly James Macfarlane, of Takapau, the present chairman. All these gentlemen have given their time and attention to the county's business without salary or travelling allowances. The members for 1900 were: Mr. J. Macfarlane (chairman), and Messrs W. Cooper, W. King, T. Jex-Blake, W. Graham, A. Hutchinson, W. J. Mossman, and J. Tombleson; with Mr. J. Warren as clerk and treasurer. The council chambers, which are in Lowe Street, are leased from the Gisborne Library Committee, and consist of a portion of a fine wooden building erected in 1883.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor James Macfarlane,
                  J.P., who has been Chairman of Cook County since 1895, and has represented Tolago riding since 1892, is also a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid and Harbour Boards. He was born in North Canterbury in 1853, educated at the Old High School, Christchurch, was brought up to station life, and became a runholder at Amuri. Mr. Macfarlane removed to Gisborne in 1892, and has acquired 10,500 acres of freehold land, 4,500 acres of leasehold land, on which he runs 22,000 sheep and about 1300 head of Shorthorn cattle. Mr. Macfarlane is president of the Agricultural and Pastoral Society. Before leaving Canterbury he served for a good many years on the Amuri County Council, and was for nine years its chairman.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor W. Cooper,
                  a Member of the Cook County Council, is referred to elsewhere as a sheepfarmer.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor Thomas Jex-Blake,
                  of the Cook County Council, was born at Norwich, England, in 1857, and is the only son of the Rev. C. Jex-Blake, M.A., vicar of Lammas, Norfolk, England. He was educated at Repton School and Trinity College, Cambridge, and came out to New Zealand in the s.s. “Tongariro,” landing at Wellington. Mr. Jex-Blake resided with his uncle, Mr. Woodbine Johnson, of Wairakaia Station, Poverty Bay, for about twelve months, and then became manager for Mr. R. J. Reynolds, of Tauraka Station, where he remained until purchasing the Waerengaokuri property, consisting of 1600 acres, principally hilly country, which is well watered and sheltered. The run carries generally about 2300 cross-bred Lincolns, whose average fleece weighs seven and a half pounds per sheep, and the whole clip produces forty-five bales of wool. There are also seventy head of cattle and several horses grazing upon the land. In 1897, Mr. Jex-Blake purchased another property of 2000 acres, called Mangakioro, in the Te Arai district, part of which was shortly afterwards broken up, but the balance was left in its virgin state. Mr. Jex-Blake married Miss Green, daughter of the late Mr. W. Abbott Green, sometime Inspector General of Hospitals in India, and sister of the late Colonel Green, C.B., of the Indian Army. Mr. Jex-Blake was elected a member of the Cook County Council in 1896, and is also a member of the Poverty Bay Pastoral and Agricultural Society.

              

              

                
                


                  

Councillor John Tombleson,
                  who has represented Waimata Riding on the Cook County Council since 1896, is also a member of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board. He was born in 1866 at Barton-on-Humber, Lincolnshire, England, educated at Eastbourne, and brought up to country life. Mr. Tombleson arrived in Wellington by the s.s. “Ionic” in 1883, and after two years' experience as a cadet in Hawke's Bay, he revisited England for a few months. On returning to the colony he purchased 1500 acres of land from the Government at Waimata, where he carries on farming operations. In 1898 Mr. Tombleson purchased 160 acres at Makaraka from Mr. J. E. Espie, together with his mob of 500 purebred Lincoln ewes, and has since resided on the property. This property is remarkable for the immense quantity of natural gas which rises with the artesian water. On the estate there are three wells from which gas is obtainable, and in one of the troughs in the paddock, the gas on the surface of the water will burn if a lighted match is applied. Mr. Tombleson has had the gas laid on to his home, where it is used for lighting and cooking purposes. In one of the bores a gas-bearing strata, of pumice was met with at a depth of 100 feet, and the exhalation gave an estimated measurement of 2000 feet per day. It is probable that, in the near future, this wonderful supply of natural gas may be more extensively utilised than it is at the present time. Before his election to the County Council Mr. Tombleson served for about seven years as chairman of the Waimata Road Board. He was married, in 1891, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. Johnstone, of Gisborne, and has four sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Warren,
                  Clerk and Treasurer of Cook County Council, was born at Woolwich, England, in 1844, and is the only son of Mr. John Warren, of the Royal Engineers. In 1847 he arrived at Auckland with his parents, and received his education at the Academy of the Rev. John Gorrie. He was apprenticed as a carpenter, and worked at his trade until 1880. During the Maori war of 1863–65 he served with the Victoria Rifles under Captain Derrom, saw active service, and in 1887 received the long service medal. In 1873 he settled in Gisborne as a builder, and successfully followed that occupation until 1880, when he joined the Cook County Council as Clerk and Treasurer. Mr. Warren is an enthusiastic Oddfellow and was the founder of the Gisborne and Ormond Lodges. He has been connected with the Presbyterian Church since 1873, as elder and treasurer, and has held the office of superintendent of the Sunday school since 1888. In 1867 Mr. Warren married Miss Elizabeth, Inglis, daughter of Mr. James Inglis, of Glasgow, and has had a family of thirteen children. Two sons have unfortunately been drowned. Mr. Warren is a skilful worker of inlaid woodwork, and has exhibited at the Wellington and local exhibitions.
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Mr. Charles William Ferris
                  
                 
 was for many years a Member of the Cook County Council and of the Poverty Bay and Ormond Road Boards. He is a son of Mr. Henry Ferris, merchant, of New South Wales, and was born in that colony in 1842. Mr. Ferris was educated in France and England,
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but returned to Sydney in 1856, and had some years' experience in the soft goods business in that city. In 1863 he came to Dunedin. Having joined the Hawke's Bay Defence Force, he served on the East Coast for a number of years, and was slightly wounded at the fight at Waerenga-a-hika. When the arch-rebel Te Kooti landed in Poverty Bay, Mr. Ferris was one of a party seat to intercept him, and was wounded a second time. he was in Gisborne during the terrible period of the Poverty Bay Massacre, and on the morning of the fatal day, he, as sergeant-major, had the duty of collecting the people into the Kaiti redoubt. In 1869 Mr. Ferris was commissioned as sub-inspector in the Armed Constabulary, and took a force of 200 natives to Patea, Taranaki, where they took the Pakakohe tribe prisoners. These natives were taken down to Wellington by Mr. Ferris troop, who guarded them in a bulk in Wellington Harbour, till they were tried for treason and deported to Dunedin gaol, whither Mr. Ferris and his party escorted them. After returning to Wellington Mr. Ferris for some time had charge of the Armed Constabulary depot. He was afterwards in charge of the Armed Constabulary station at Waikaremoana in the Wairoa district, and with ten men and four native guides, was entrusted with an expedition to follow Te Kooti into the bush. Mr. Ferris was engaged for six months in this hazardous expedition, and the rebel ultimately escaped to the King Country, via the Kaingaroa Plains. The Defence Minister, Sir Donald McLean, thanked Mr. Ferris in a flattering letter, for the services he had rendered, and he also received the New Zealand war medal. Mr. Ferris subsequently became an auctioneer and stock and station agent in Gisborne, and conducted the business for many years. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Turanganui, N.Z.C., and as a volunteer, he served for two years as captain of the Cook County Rifles. Mr. Ferris was married, in 1892, to a daughter of Mr. J. Abbott, of Wallarabba, New South Wales.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Charles Gray,
                  who represented Waimata riding on the Cook County Council between 1884 and 1896, was born at Godmanchester, near Huntingdon, England, in 1840. He spent eleven years at sea, and rose to the position of captain. After being a grazier in Queensland for seven years. Mr. Gray came to Auckland in 1877, and soon afterwards settled in Poverty Bay district, where he has a property, named “Waiohika,” of about 3000 acres in extent. Mr. Gray takes a great interest in all local matters, and is a member of the Poverty Bay Agricultural and Pastoral Society, of which he was president for two years. He was married, in 1868, and eleven years later Mrs Gray died. In 1882 Mr. Gray was married to a daughter of Bishop Williams, of Waipau, and has five sons and three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Whataupoko Road Board
                  
                  was established in 1882, and the district is often called North Gisborne. It lies to the north and north-east of the borough, and is bounded by the Waimata river on the north and by the Taruheru river on the east; there are two bridges, a traffic bridge and a foot-bridge, over the Taruheru river. The Pouawa road district lies on the north, and the Taruheru road district on the west. The total value of ratable property in 1900 carried a general rate of £3/4d in the £, and a special rate of 41/2d. The total loans of the district amount to £3553, and the gross revenue from all sources for 1900 was £575; the total liabilities, including loans, were £812. The population is over 1000, and there were about 200 dwellings and 300 ratable properties owned by 260 ratepayers. There are about twenty miles of roads in the district. Members for 1900: Mr. A. F. Matthews, Chairman, and Messrs E. P. Joyce, W. T. Ranger, T. McConnell, and W. Sievwright.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Alfred Forde Matthews,
                  Chairman of the Whataupoko Road Board since 1897, was vice-president of the Gisborne Chamber of Commerce in 1900. He was born in Auckland in 1851, but was educated chiefly in Otago, where he studied as an engineer and surveyor. He entered the Government Lands and Survey Office in Invercargill as a cadet, and was engaged in engineering work on the construction of the Invercargill-Bluff railway, and became an assistant surveyor in 1878. Mr. Matthews was stationed in Wellington as computer and draughtsman for two years. He then retired from the department and went into private practice in 1881, in Gisborne. During his long residence in the district Mr. Matthews has laid off a number of estates, and has done engineering work for various road boards. He holds the office of engineer to the Kaiti Road Board. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Turanganui.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas McConnell,
                  who was elected a Member of the Whatupoko Road Board in 1900, was born in Auckland in 1853, and learned his trade as a butcher with Messrs Hellaby Brothers, with whom he remained for seven years. He settled in Gisborne in 1878, and worked at his trade till the establishment of the firm of McConnell and Millington, in 1895. As a Forester Mr. McConnell is a member of Court William Gladstone, of which he is a Past Sub-Chief. He was married, in 1881, to a daughter of Mr. J. Millington, of Auckland, and has three sons and three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Poverty Bay Road Board
                  
                  governs the district bounded on the north and east by the Taruheru road district, on the north by the Ormond district, on the west by the Waipara river, and on the south by the Awapuni lagoon. The board has about eleven miles of roads to attend to, and the total revenue for the year 1900 was £160, on which it received a subsidy from the County Council. The total liabilities of the district consist in a loan of £300 raised under the Loans to Local Bodies Act, and a rate of one-sixteenth of a penny is levied for its liquidation. Members for 1900: Mr. John Allan (chairman), and Messrs W. King, W. Jobson, A. M. Gray, and T. Finnucane; with Mr. A. F. Cuff as secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Arthur Francis Cuff,
                  Secretary of the Poverty Bay Road Board, was born at Kilburn, near London, in 1842. He was educated partly at Derby, England, and partly at Pigeon Bay, Canterbury, having arrived with his parents at Lyttelton in the barque “Minerva” in 1853. In 1869 Mr. Cuff was sawmilling at Banks' Peninsula, and afterwards took the management of a flaxmill at Saltwater Creek near Kaiapoi. In the same year he removed to Hawke's Bay, and started a flaxmill near Wairoa for his brother, Mr. F. Cuff. In 1870 Mr. Cuff became manager of Mr. King's sawmill at Makauri. Afterwards he leased the Mangatu run from the natives, and held it for twelve years. Since that time Mr. Cuff has been farming at Waerenga-a-hika on part of the mission property. He has fourteen acres at Te Kaiparo, and forty-two acres, part of the Willows estate, in the Poverty Bay district. For two years Mr. Cuff served in the Poverty Bay Cavalry. He was appointed secretary to the board in 1897. Mr. Cuff married a half caste, sister of Mr. Wi Pere, M.H.R. Mrs Cuff died in 1873, leaving one daughter; and in 1874 Mr. Cuff married a daughter of the late Mr. T. Younger, of the North of England, and two daughters and two sons have been born of this union.
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                    The Kaiti Road Board
                  
                  was established in 1887. It is a suburban district adjoining the borough of Gisborne, from which it is divided by the Turanganui river, which forms the eastern boundary. The district was originally included in the area of the Titirangi road district, from which it was cut off in 1898, and with which it is connected by a bridge. The ratable value of the district is about £60,000, on which a general rate of £3/4d in the £ and a special rate of £2/4d in the £ are struck. An amount of £3700 has been obtained from the Government for road construction, and a special rate is levied to provide payments on account of this loan. The



total revenue from all sources for the year 1900 was £595, and the total liabilities, including loan, £3854. The population is about 700, and there are about 120 dwellings and 150 ratepayers, who own altogether 220 ratable properties. Members: Mr. G. Matthewson (chairman), and Messrs J. H. Colebourne, G. O. Wylie, J. A. Harding, and F. C. Bull.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Ngatapa Road Board
                  
                  was founded in 1893. Members for 1900: Mr. W. K. Chambers, chairman, and Messrs D. Dobbie, P. Barker, F. Hall, and J. Hutchison; Mr. H. M. Porter, secretary. The Board has jurisdiction over the district generally known as Motu, which adjoins Waikohu and Patutahi districts, on the main road from Gisborne to Opotiki. It levies no rates, and is subsidised by the County Council out of the fund for the maintenance of district roads. There is a special loan of £2000, and the district has received a special grant of £1000 to construct a dray road to connect with the Opotiki road.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Knox Chambers,
                  Chairman of the Ngatapa Road Board, served as a member of the Cook County Council for ten years, and was its chairman for two years. He has been a member of the Harbour Board for some years, and has also served on the Ormond and Waikohu Road Boards. Mr. Chambers was born in South Australia in 1850, and was educated in Hawke's Bay, whither the family had removed when he was about four years of age. He was brought up to sheep farming, and settled in the Poverty Bay district in 1873, when he acquired a fine property of 6000 acres, known as “Repongaere” at Waerenga-a-hika. This fine estate is in a good state of cultivation, and maintains 10,000 sheep during the winter and 500 head of cattle. During his residence in Hawke's Bay Mr. Chambers served in the local volunteers. He was married, in 1880, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. R. Arthur, of Hereford, England, and has one son and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Taruheru Road District,
                  which was established in 1897, lies generally to the east of the Taruheru river, and to the west of the Whataupoko road district. It is also partly on the west of Gisborne borough, and adjoins the Poverty Bay road district on the east. The district includes the Park Company's ground and Messrs Nelson Brothers' Freezing Works. The ratable value is £35,000; no general rate is levied, but a special rate of £1/2d in the £ is collected to provide for a portion of an original loan to the Whataupoko Road Board, from which this district was severed. There are forty-five dwellings in the district, and fifty-three ratable properties, owned by a like number of ratepayers. The total revenue for the year 1900 was £259. Members: Mr. J. Macfarlane, chairman, and Messrs A. Dewing, W. H. Tucker, F. Tietjen, and H. Tucker.

              

              

                
                

                  

                    The Pouawa Road District
                  
                 
 lies to the north and west of the Whataupoko district, and to the east of the Kaiti district. Its ratable value in 1900 was £120,000, and there was a loan of £3672. The district includes some large holdings worked as sheep farms, and no general rate is levied, but various special rates are collected to provide payments on account of loans. The total revenue of the district from all sources for 1900 was £263, and the total liability, including
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loans, £3724. The population is under 100, and there are about fifty dwellings and 110 ratable properties owned by about eighty ratepayers. There are eighteen miles of road in the district, seven of which are maintained by the county. Members for 1900; Mr. W. G. Maclaurin, chairman, and Messrs A. Wethered, W. R. Barker, T. Holden, and T. Fraser.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Holden,
                  who has been a Member of the Pouawa Road Board since 1896, was born in 1856, near Preston, Lancashire, England. When he was ten years of age he came to Wellington with his parents, was brought up to farming in Hawke's Bay, and was for a number of years farming with two brothers in the county of Waipawa. In 1893 he removed to Gisborne, and bought in the Pouawa district, a station of 6000 acres, known as Rumurua, on which he depastures 6000 sheep and 300 head of Shorthorn cattle. Mr. Holden served as a member of the Ruataniwha Road Board for several years. He was married, in 1895, to a daughter of Mr. E. D. Collison, of Hastings, Hawke's Bay, and has two sons and one daughter.
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Mr. Arnold Wethered,
                  who has been a Member of the Pouawa Road Board since 1897, lives at Makahakaha, in the Waimata district, where he has a property of 2948 acres. Mr. Wethered was born at Clifton, near Bristol, England, in 1865, and arrived at the Bluff by the s.s. “Rimutaka” in 1884. Four years later he settled in Poverty Bay, and bought his present property. Mr. Wethered was married, in 1890, to a daughter of Mr. J. Dunlop, of Gisborne, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Aroha Road Board
                  
                  was established in 1898. The district under the jurisdiction of this body was originally part of the Te Arai road district. The valuation is about £60,000, but no rates are levied, a subsidy of £50 per annum being granted by the Cook County Council. Members for 1900; Messrs F. Morice (chairman), W. Morice, A. Hegarty, and C. Cameron; with Mr. D. Morice as clerk. The district contains only ten dwellings, and seven ratable properties, owned by ten ratepayers.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The East Coast Mounted Rifles
                  
                  date from the 24th of February, 1900. The strength of the corps is eighty-four, and the officers for 1900 were: Captain G. J. Winter, and Lieutenants J. H. Colebourne, W. Miller, and W. Hutchinson.

              

              

                
                


                  
Lieutenant John Henry Colebourne,
                  of the East Coast Mounted Rifles, was born in 1861 at Bodenham Court, in Herefordshire, England, where he was educated and apprenticed to the hardware business. He arrived in Auckland in 1877 by the ship “Jessie Osborne,” and after being for six years in the employment of Messrs T. and S. Morrin, removed to Gisborne in 1885. Mr. Colebourne had charge of the hardware department of Messrs Graham, Pitt and Bennett's business for some time, and in 1891 he entered the employment of Messrs Williams and Kettle, Ltd., Gisborne, to take charge of the goods department. His experience as a volunteer extends over a number of years. He joined the East Coast Hussars in 1887, and held the rank of sergeant-major until November, 1891, when he was elected lieutenant, and remained in the corps till it was disbanded in 1895. On the establishment of the East Coast Mounted Rifles in January, 1900, Mr. Colebourne became senior lieutenant. He has always been interested in athletic sports, and has been associated with the Rugby Union and Athletic Sports Committee for some years. He is a member of the Gisborne Rowing, Cricket, and Football Clubs, and was secretary and treasurer of the first-named for several years. Mr. Colebourne was one of the founders of the Gisborne Club, of which he is a trustee. He was married, in 1887, to a daughter of the late Mr. Ambridge, of London.
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The Gisborne Rifles,
                  a foot company, was established in October, 1900, and has a strength of sixty-three members. Weekly drill takes place at the Gisborne Drill Shed, and the officers are Captain J. Warren and Lieutenants C. F. Lewis and A. Bold.

              

              

                
                

                  

                    Major Ropata
                  
                 
 (Robert) Wahawaha, who died at his residence near Gisborne on the night of the 1st of July, 1897, aged ninety years, was one of the most notable fighting chiefs of New Zealand, famous not only for his personal courage but his generalship, and for his unwavering friendliness to the British colonists. So great were his services in this connection that the New Zealand Cross was bestowed upon him, he received a pension of £100 a year, was called to the Legislative Council, accorded the rank of Major in the colonial forces, and the Queen herself sent him a sword of honour. When he died, the Government in a telegram to his relatives, fittingly said of the departed chief: “He was ever loyal to the Queen and to the Government, and the brave deeds he performed in the war will never be forgotten. His death is a great loss to the Colony, and it will be lamented alike by European and Maori. He fought for and upheld the name of our Queen Victoria, who recognised his services by presenting him with a sword of honour, and for his valour he received the decoration of the New Zealand Cross. He was the friend of the Government, and the upholder of law amongst his people. His memory will be treasured not only by the Maoris, but also by the Europeans, in whose
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cause he did such good service.” A great tangi or time of mourning was held in connection with the chief's death, and it was not till the afternoon of the 13th of July that the burial took place. The funeral was held at Waiomatatini, Ropata's residence near Gisborne, and the chief was laid to rest near the grave of his forefathers, on a rocky fortress, which had been in olden times the scene of many fierce conflicts. The funeral was conducted with military honours, and the pallbearers were Colonel Porter, Major MCredie, Major Finn and Lieutenant Hislop. At the grave the burial service of the Church of England was read by the Rev. J. Williams, who was assisted by five Maori clergymen. A force of Permanent Artillery, under Major Messenger, were present on parade, the Gisborne Brass Band played the “Dead March” and a firing party fired three volleys over the grave. When Parliament met on the 23rd of September, 1897, special reference was made in the Governor's speech to Major Ropata's death and the services which he had rendered to the country, and the Premier and the Leader of the Opposition both eulogised the military character and career of the dead chief. It was in fighting the hostile natives in the Hawko's Bay and Poverty Bay districts, that Major Ropata rendered special services to the colonists, and he especially distinguished himself in checking the spread of the anti-European fanaticism known as Hauhauism, and in pursuing the notorious Te Kooti, and punishing his followers and supporters. Major Ropata never shirked danger in pursuing his enemies or in meeting them face to face. Very often he carried nothing but a walking stick, and on a certain occasion he thrashed the backs of his men with one in order to compel them to face and overcome the foe. He was often in the midst of carnage and hurtling bullets, but he seemed to bear a charmed life and was never wounded. On one occasion he and his men seemed to have a hopeless task on hand in attacking a strongly entrenched force of hostile natives, and as a means of accomplishing his purpose, Ropata marched alone towards the pa and hurled at the opposing leader a torrent of those uncomplimentary epithets in which the Maori language abounds; with the result that, unable to bear the insult, the rival chief came out from his pa to fight Ropata. The duel did not last long. It began with defiant words and gesticulations, and soon ended in Ropata seizing his adversary by the hair and knocking out his brains with his mere. On thus losing their chief the opposing force became panic stricken, and Ropata added one more to his list of important victories. It was all rough work, requiring unswerving loyalty, boundless personal courage, and mature generalship in its doer, and it was done by Major Ropata. Without it colonisation could not have proceeded, and therefore New Zelanders must ever hold in grateful remembrance the distinguished deeds of Major Ropata Wahawaha, of the sub-tribe of the Ngatiporou Te Aowera.
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General Government Departments.

              

                
                


                  
The Post Office,
                  Gisborne. This office faces the main street which is named Gladstone road, and the postal and telegraph work is carried on on the ground floor. The public office is at the side of the main entrance, and from it branch the mail-room, instrument-room, and the chief postmaster's room. It is noticeable that, to a greater extent than is customary in other parts of the Colony, the people of Poverty Bay come to their main town to transact business. This makes postal and telegraphic work busier in the main centre. No better indication of the progress that Poverty Bay has made during the past ten years can be seen than in the increase of its postal and telegraph business, which now requires double the staff it did ten years ago. The office employs a chief postmaster, senior clerk, six telegraphists and clerks, three telephonists, one lineman, and six letter-carriers and messengers. The whole of the telegraph work is carried by one wire connected with Napier. This wire is worked on the “Duplex”



principle when necessary, which makes it equal to two wires. The telephone exchange was opened in March, 1897.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Gerard William Sampson,
                  the Chief Postmaster at Gisborne, is the eldest son of the late Mr. Gerard de Thierry Sampson, of Wellington. He is a native of the Colony, and was born at Parnell, Auckland, in 1853, and entered the Telegraph Department at Wellington in 1866, when the Cook Strait cable was laid. He has filled various positions in connection with the post and telegraph service. He was postmaster at Brighton in 1871, and subsequently at Roefton and Port Chalmors, and was promoted to his present position as chief postmaster at Gisborne early in 1897. In 1880 Mr. Sampson married Fanny, daughter of Mr. Richard Chattock, of Chatford, Reefton, by whom he has one son and two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Edward William Pasley,
                  Collector of Customs, Gisborne, was born in the Bengal Presidency, India, in 1836, and is the third son of Colonel G. J. Pasley, of the 49th Foot. Mr. Pasley was educated at Bath, England. In 1851 he came to this Colony in the ship “Maori,” and landed at Nelson. He remained with his uncle (who was farming) until 1855, and was afterwards sheepfarming in the Wairau district until 1863. In 1864 he joined the Customs Department at Nelson as junior clerk, and subsequently worked up to the position of landing waiter at that port. In August, 1876, he received the appointment of Collector at Blenheim, where he remained till December, 1894, when he was transferred to Gisborne. He has always been connected with the Church of England, and has held various lay offices during his residence in the Colony. Mr. Pasley was married in 1858 to Miss F. L. Huddleston, of Nelson, by whom he has had a family of ten children.
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Mr. Llewellyn Smith,
                  District Surveyor and Land Officer for the Poverty Bay district, was born in Shropshire in 1840, and arrived in New Zealand in 1852. He was educated at the old Nelson College, and in 1863 entered the Government Survey Department as a cadet. He was afterwards stationed as district surveyor on the West Coast goldfields, where he remained for eighteen months, when he returned to Canterbury, and was subsequently transferred to the head office at Wellington. After a long and arduous service of twenty-five years, Mr. Smith received his present appointment in March, 1897. He married Miss Bannister, of Wellington, and has a family of two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry Gaunt Price,
                  Chief Draughtsman in the Lands and Survey Office at Gisborne, was born at Beechworth, Victoria, in 1857, and is the fourth son of the late Mr. Matthew Price, S.M., who was many years on the West Coast of the South Island, and afterwards at Gisborne, where he died. Mr. H. G. Price was educated at Invercargill, at Scott's School, Hokitika, and at the Rev. Mr. Alabaster's School in Christchurch, and entered the public service as a cadet in March, 1874, at Hokitika. For about fourteen years he served on the field staff in the Westland and Hawke's Bay districts, and was appointed to his present position in 1891. Mr. Price was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. J. W. Bancroft, of Lincolnshire, England, and has five daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Land And Deeds Registry Office
                  
                  for Poverty Bay is domiciled in a portion of the ground floor of the Post Office buildings, fronting Gladstone Road.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Charles Henry Walter Dixon,
                  Assistant Registrar of Lands and Deeds, was born in Christchurch in 1864. He entered the Stamp Office in Christchurch, and subsequently served at Auckland, Wellington, and Dunedin, and was appointed to his present position in Gisborne in 1897.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Stock Department
                  
                  at Gisborne is a branch of the Department of Agriculture. Its quarters are in the Post Office building, and it has charge of the whole of the Poverty Bay district.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Campbell Thomson,
                  Inspector of Stock for the District of Poverty Bay, was born in 1832 in St. Andrew's, Fifeshire, Scotland. In 1847 he accompanied his father to Melbourne, and served for some years in a merchant's office in that city. Afterwards he had two years' experience on the goldfields, and came to Otago in 1858. For ten years Mr. Thomson had a sheep and cattle station at Strath Taieri. In 1868 he took the management of the Ashley Downs Station, and four years later bought a station near Mataura. Owing to ill-health in 1873, Mr. Thomson sold out and settled at Opotiki, where he bought property and was engaged in sheep-farming for seven years. In 1878 he was appointed inspector of sheep for Opotiki, and in 1881 was transferred to Warkworth. Since January, 1883, Mr. Thomson has had charge of the Poverty Bay district. During his residence in Otago he served for a short time in the volunteers. He was married, in 1861, to a daughter of the late Rev. C. Jeffreys, of Otago, and has seven sons and two daughters.
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Charitable Institutions.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Cook Hospital And Charitable Aid Board
                  
                  was established in 1886. It is charged with the duty of raising funds for the maintenance of the hospital and charitable aid in the district. In 1900 it levied in all £860 on the local bodies within its jurisdiction, and received a Government subsidy of £ for £. The Board also supplies the funds for the Old Men's Home. The members are: The Mayor of Gisborne, who is chairman, ex-officio, and the members of the Borough Council and County Council.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry McKay,
                  Secretary of the Cook Hospital and Charitable Aid Board and of the Kaiti, Whataupoko, Taruheru, and Pouawa Road Boards, was born in 1850 in India, and was educated at Simla. He arrived in Auckland in 1861, and was brought up to mercantile life. From 1867 to 1878 he was on the Thames goldfield, and was for two years of that time a storekeeper at Mackaytown. In 1879 he removed to Gisborne, and became editor of the local newspaper, but entered business on his own account as an accountant and commission agent in 1884. As a volunteer Mr. McKay served in the J Battery. He was married, in 1882, to a daughter of the late Mr. C. R. McKenzie, of Melbourne, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Gisborne Hospital,
                  which was founded in 1878, is under the management of a Board of Trustees, and is supported by public subscriptions, patients' fees, Government grants, and an amount raised by levy on the local bodies by the Charitable Aid Board. For the year ended March, 1901, the receipts were £1971, including the Government grant of £623. The expenditure on the building for the same year was £715, and on ordinary expenditure £1407. Dr. J. Craig is the medical officer, and Miss C. H. G.



Stewart is the matron. The daily average number of patients is nineteen. The building is erected on a site of eight acres on the banks of the Taruheru river. It is built of wood, with an iron roof, and includes a private ward, men's ward, surgical and operating ward, female ward, matron's room, and nurses' quarters. There is a fine dining hall, and the usual kitchen and out offices, with baths, lavatory and laundry. At present (1901) the hospital has accommodation for thirty patients. The trustees are making further additions to the buildings, and expect to be able during the present year to provide forty beds. The Hospital is surrounded with tastefully laid out gardens and walks. Trustees for 1901: Mr. J. W. Nolan, chairman, Mr. J. A. Harding, treasurer, and Messrs A. Dewing, R. Johnston, E. P. Joyce, A. F. Kennedy, James Macfarlane, A. Tohy, and John Warren. The secretary of the Hospital is Mr. T. A. Coleman.
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                    The Old Men's Home
                  
                  at Gisborne was established in 1886, and is situated in Roebuck Road. About four buildings are utilised for the purpose of the Home, seven of the inmates of which in 1900 were old age pensioners. The average cost of maintenance per head is about 10s per week, including all charges. Mr. G. Heslop is custodian of the Home.

              

            

            

              
Educational.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Gisborne High School Board
                  
                  was incorporated by Act of Parliament in 1885, with a view to the consolidation of the revenues arising from educational reserves in Poverty Bay district. It was intended that when sufficient funds had accrued a first-class secondary school should be established in the district. So far, however, secondary education has been provided for by the Board subsidising the Education Board of Hawke's Bay to maintain the Gisborne public school as a district high school, and by providing scholarships supplementary to the school grants made by the Education Board. Pupils have thus been enabled, without expense, to qualify for matriculation at Gisborne. This scheme has answered well, so far, in supplying the wants of the district, but with the progress of settlement and increase of population the Governors are looking forward to establishing secular education on an enlarged basis, at an early date, and, with this end in view, they are husbanding their finances, which are steadily accumulating. If, however, the Government follows out an expressed intention to aid district high schools, the Governors' resources will then be devoted to the establishment of substantial scholarships and bursaries, to enable brilliant pupils to attend the colleges which are affiliated with the University of New Zealand. Members of the Board for 1900: Mr. W. Morgan, chairman and treasurer; Messrs J. Warren, J. Coleman, J. W. Nolan, R. Johnson; and Mr. C. A. de Lautour, honorary secretary. Mr. de Lautour is now the only Governor who has been continuously a member of the Board.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Morgan,
                  Chairman of the Gisborne High School Board of Governors, has held the position as well as that of treasurer, since 1891, and was a member of the Gisborne Borough Council for about two years. He was born in County Kildare, Ireland, in 1851, and was brought up to business in Galway as a saddler. In 1874 Mr. Morgan landed in Port Chalmers from the ship “Dunfillan,” and found employment in Dunedin for about two years. He started in business on his own account in Roxburgh in 1876, but for reasons of health he removed to Gisborne in 1883, when he established his present business. During his residence in Roxburgh Mr. Morgan was a member of the Borough Council for some years, and was also



chairman of the school committee. As an Oddfellow Mr. Morgan is connected with Lodge Roxburgh, Manchester Unity, in which he has passed the chairs. Since 1886 he has been a member of the Gisborne school committee, and was chairman for eight years. Mr. Morgan was president of the Gisborne Chamber of Commerce in 1900–1901. He was married, in 1876, to a daughter of the late Mr George Browne, of H.M. Customs, Liverpool, and has four daughters and three sons.
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The District High School,
                  Gisborne, was erected in 1870, and is located in Derby street. It consists of a fine wooden building, containing seven large rooms, and an infant school of two large rooms. The playgrounds are extensive and well kept. The staff consists of the headmaster, six assistants, and seven pupil teachers. A gold medal, presented many years ago, for annual competition among the scholars in the Hawke's Bay educational district, has been won only twice by scholars attending other schools. There are over 600 names on the school roll.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Robert Cole,
                  Second Assistant Master at the Gisborne District High School, holds a D2 certificate. He was born in 1872 at Greymouth, and served his pupil teachership at Forbury School, Dunedin. After studying for eighteen months at the Normal Training College, he became relieving teacher at the North School, Oamaru, and in 1893 was appointed to his present position in Gisborne. Mr. Cole has acted as secretary and treasurer of the Gisborne Rowing Club, the Poverty Bay Rugby Union, and the Poverty Bay Cricket Association. He was married, in 1900, to a daughter of Mr. L. Dawson, of Milton.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr Edward H. Mann,
                  B.A., who holds a B1 certificate, is the master in charge of the secondary classes at the Gisborne District High School. Mr. Mann was born in London in 1862, educated at private schools, and studied at the London University, where he graduated B.A. in 1886. He was assistant at Christ College, Finchley, from 1885 to 1887, and arrived in Wellington in the latter year. After a short time at Greymouth Mr. Mann received an appointment at Wellington College, but resigned his position after a few weeks to take charge of the secondary work at the Gisborne District High School. As a Freemason Mr. Mann is a Past Master of Lodge Abercorn, N.Z.C. He is secretary of the Poverty Bay Golf Club, vice-president of the Gisborne Tennis Club, and also a member of the Bowling Club.

              

              

                
                


                  
Church Missionary Society Native Training College,
                  Te Rau Kahikatea, Gisborne. The college for training native candidates for ordination is under the control of the New Zealand Mission Trust Board, to which the Church Missionary Society has handed over the management of its work in New Zealand. The foundation of the College dates from 1883, when the Rev. A. O. Williams was appointed tutor, although Archdeacon Williams (now Bishop of Waiapu) continued to act as Principal, and had had candidates under his care at Gisborne from time to time. The need for a college was soon practically demonstrated by the number of students, and in 1884 the erection of a larger building—the present college—was undertaken. In 1885 the Rev. A. O. Williams removed to Wanganui, and was succeeded by the Rev. E. Jennings, who held the post till his appointment in 1890 as headmaster of the Waeranga-a-hika Native School, when he in turn was followed by the Rev. H. W. Williams, who is now assisted in the work by Mr. H. A. Hawkins. The students are drawn from all parts of the North Island. Of those who have passed through the college many are now working as clergy in the various Anglican dioceses.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    St. Joseph's Convent Of Mercy
                  
                  (Superior, Mother M. Xavier), Gisborne. The convent was founded in Gisborne in 1893, as an offshoot of the parent society stationed at Greymouth. Mother Xavier and seven other Sisters conduct the select parochial schools attached to the parish, with the zeal and ability which are characteristic of the order to which they belong. The convent contains eight rooms, including dormitories, and a reception room, and there are two roomy class-rooms, which are occupied by the pupils of both schools. The curriculum, apart from the syllabus required by the Government standards, includes French, Latin, algebra, euclid, music, singing, and calisthenics. There are thirty day scholars at the select school, and seventy children in the parochial school.
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Convent of Mercy, Gisborne.


                

              

            

            

              
Ecclesiastical.

              

                
                


                  

                    The Anglican Church
                  
                  in Gisborne is a cruciform wooden building, dedicated to the Holy Trinity. It is built in the early English style of Gothic architecture, though when a chancel and transept were added a few years ago, some details of the decorative style were introduced by the architect, Mr. Finneran. There are 450 sittings in this church, all of which are free, the services being entirely maintained by freewill offerings. The organ, a small but sweet-toned instrument, presented to the church by the late Captain Read, is ably presided over by Mr. William Marr. The



service is semi-choral in the morning, and there is a full choral service at night.
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Interior of Holy Trinity Church, Gisborne.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

The Reverend Canon Anthony S. Webb,
                  who was born at Portsmouth, England, is a Master of Arts of St. John's College, Cambridge. He was ordained deacon in 1861, by Charles Richard Sumner, Bishop of Winchester, and priest in the following year by the same bishop. After serving in curacies at Portsmouth, Bath, Ripley, Surrey, and Birmingham, he was appointed Vicar of Stockingford, Nuneaton, Warwickshire, in 1871. Stockingford lies in what is known as the George Eliot Country, and is described in the “Scenes from Clerical Life,” under the name of Padiford Common. In July, 1884, Canon Webb (having resigned the Vicarage of Stockingford) landed in New Zealand, and commenced his colonial life in the Seventy Mile Bush, where he had charge of the townships of Ormondville, Makotuku, Norsewood, Matamau, and Kopua. During his charge of that district, the church of St. Saviours, Makotuku, was built, and the church of the Epiphany, Ormondville, was re-built and greatly enlarged. After being appointed several times on the Standing Committee of the Diocese of Waiapu, and an Assessor of the Bishop's Court, Mr. Webb was appointed Canon of the Diocese of Waiapu in 1890, and in 1892 vicar of Gisborne. In 1895 he was elected a clerical representative to the General Synod, which met at Nelson that year.
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Mr. William Marr,
                  Choirmaster of the Anglican Church, Gisborne, was born in 1861 in Edinburgh, Scotland. He was a choir boy at St. Peter's Church, and sang in Edinburgh Cathedral, and afterwards in Salisbury Cathedral, as a counter-tenor. Mr. Marr came to Wellington by the s.s. “Aorangi” in 1884. Soon afterwards he settled in Poverty Bay, and was farming at Patutahi for twelve years. In 1896 he resumed his profession, as a teacher of music, in Gisborne.

              

              

                
                


                  
St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church,
                  Gisborne. The pioneer minister of the Presbyterian Church in Poverty Bay was the Rev. George Morice, who spent a few months in the district about the end of 1871. Mr. Morice held services throughout the district, and succeeded in getting together a congregation, for which the little church still in use at Matawhero was procured. The Rev. William Hevingham Root was appointed to the charge about a year later, and resided at first at Matawhero, the most populous part of his district. Mr. Root removed to Gisborne in 1873, and held regular services in the old courthouse. He at once set about raising funds to build a church, and in March, 1874, had so far succeeded as to justify the managers in proceeding with the erection of St. Andrew's Church—a wooden building forty-four by twenty-two feet—which was finished and opened on the 18th of October, 1874. Mr. Root's ministry was eminently successful; in 1878 a manse was erected adjacent to the church, at a cost of £450, and by July of that year it was decided to double the size of the church. Almost immediately thereafter Mr. Root received a call to Greymouth, and accepted it. The church was then without a settled minister until May, 1879, when the Rev. John McAra was called from Balclutha. Under



his ministry, church services were conducted in many remote parts of the district, and in 1885 an assistant minister was appointed. Owing, however, to commercial depression, the services of the assistant had to be discontinued. In January, 1890, Mr. McAra was killed on the Palmerston road by a fall from his buggy, and his loss was severely felt by all sections of the community. In October, 1890, the Rev. Robert Middleton Ryburn, M.A. (New Zealand University), was ordained as minister of St. Andrew's. He was a zealous and sincere pastor, an effective preacher, and sought out the distressed and suffering of all classes, and made himself generally beloved. On the 7th of September, 1879, he was called to Wanganui, and in June, 1898, the Rev. James G. Paterson, formerly of St. Paul's, Napier, was called to the pastorate, and since his appointment a debt of £270 has been paid off, and the church has been enlarged at a cost of £300. A Sunday school was established in 1874, under the superintendency of Mr. William Teat, a Gisborne merchant, and it steadily increased until, in 1884, there were thirteen teachers and 150 scholars on the roll. Mr. Teat died in October, 1888, and was succeeded by Mr. John Warren, the present superintendent. A branch of the Christian Endeavour Society was opened in 1892, and now has a membership of forty.
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St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, Gisborne.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. James Gillies Paterson,
                  Minister in charge of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, Gisborne, was born in 1841, in Forfarshire, Scotland. He was educated at Aberdeen University and at the Free Church Divinity Hall of the same place, and was licensed by the Presbytery of Strathbogie in 1873. Mr. Paterson came to Port Chalmers by the ship “Auckland” in 1874, and was stationed for two years at Waihola. He was then called to St. Paul's Church, Invercargill, and was its pastor for seven years. During his residence at Invercargill Mr. Paterson had the satisfaction of seeing large additions made in connection with his church, and on leaving was presented with an illuminated address, testifying to the value of his work in the district; a new church capable of holding about 800 people having been erected during his ministry. Mr. Paterson left Invercargill in response to a call to St. Paul's church, Napier, where he was in charge for nearly fifteen years, during which the church was twice enlarged, and the congregation grew very considerably. Mr. Paterson has been stationed at Gisborne since June, 1898. He was married, in 1878, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. Joyce, a squatter of Plaistow, Victoria, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. Robert Middleton Ryburn,
                  M.A., formerly Minister of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, Gisborne, whence he was transferred to St. Paul's, Wanganui, is a native of Auckland. He was born in 1865 and is the second son of Mr. R. N. Ryburn, an old and respected settler of Auckland provincial district. The reverend gentleman received his early training at Panmure, Newmarket, and City East Schools, and was a pupil at the Auckland College and Grammar School for five years, during which he held the district and open scholarships. Later on he attended the Auckland University College, where he obtained his B.A. degree and a Senior College Scholarship, and finished his studies at the University of Otago, where he took his M.A. degree. Mr. Ryburn was also a student at the Theological Hall, Dunedin, and held a Somervell Scholarship during his theological training. He afterwards was licensed by the Auckland Presbytery, and in 1890 he was ordained and inducted to the charge of St. Andrew's, Gisborne, but resigned in September, 1897, in consequence of receiving a unanimous call to St. Paul's, Wanganui. During the reverend gentleman's ministry, the congregation steadily retained its adherents, and a new church was built at Ormond and the Matawhero sanctuary was enlarged. Mr. Ryburn's departure from Gisborne was appropriately commemorated by a splendid farewell gathering in the Theatre Royal, and leading clergymen and citizens of all denominations gave expression to their respect and esteem for Mr. Ryburn's sterling qualities as a minister of the Gospel and a Christian man. At this gathering a beautiful illuminated address, signed by the members of St. Andrew's congregation, was presented to the reverend gentleman, and a very handsome reference Bible was subscribed by the members of the Ormond congregation. Mr. Ryburn was a member and an ex-president of the Prohibition League of Waiapu, and he has long taken an active interest in Maori missionary work.

              

              

                
                


                  
St. Mary's Star Of The Sea Roman Catholic Church,
                  Gisborne, stands on a section of an acre and a half at the corner of Lowe and Childer's Road. It was erected in 1878, and is a wood and iron building with accommodation for 300 worshippers. The presbytery, which 
[
gap —  
reason: illegible]joins the church is a fine two storey building, with nine rooms. A separate building used as a school by the Sisters of Mercy, also adjoins the church, and has accommodation for 140 pupils. Services organised at St. Mary's are held at Ormond and Patutahi, where there are churches, and also at Murewai, Te Arai, Matawhero, Makuri, Waerenga-a-hika, Te Karaka and Tolago Bay, generally in school rooms.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Rev. Father Mulvihill,
                  of the Star of the Sea Church, Gisborne, was born in County Kerry, Ireland, in 1868. He was educated at Maynooth and Killarney Colleges, and ordained at Maynooth in 1892 by the Right Rev. Dr. Walsh, Archbishop of Dublin. Father Mulvihill went to Edinburgh and officiated at St. Patrick's Church in that city until the end of 1895, when he left for New Zealand, and arrived in Auckland, via Wellington, to take up an appointment in St. Patrick's Cathedral. In 1898 he was appointed to his present position at Gisborne.

              

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. William O'Connor,
                  Assistant Priest at St. Mary's, Gisborne, was born in Queen's County, Ireland, in 1869. He was educated at Rockwell College, Ireland, at the French College, Black Rock, Ireland, and at the University Gregoria at Rome. Father O'Connor was ordained in 1899, at Dublin, and arrived at Auckland also in 1899, when he almost immediately took up his duties in Gisborne.

              

              

                
                


                  
Wesleyan Church,
                  Gisborne. This church was completed in 1891, and is a wooden building with sitting accommodation for about 220 worshippers. There is also a schoolroom, which seats 160 persons, and was formerly the church. Both buildings are situated in Bright



Street. The Wesleyan body has two other preaching places in the district, though the church has no property in those places. At Waimata service is held in a public hall, and at Ormond in the schoolroom. The number of adherents returned to last Conference was 356; members, fifty-three; and Sunday School scholars, 120. There is a good parsonage of eight rooms situated in Palmerston Road. Both church and parsonage were built during the ministry of the Rev. Josiah Ward.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
The Rev. B. F. Rothwell
                  
                  is now minister in charge of the Wesleyan Church at Gisborne, to which he was transferred by the Conference of March, 1901, in succession to the Rev. F. B. Oldham, transferred to Australia.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Salvation Army Barracks
                  
                  at Gisborne were erected in 1898, and stand in a good position in Gladstone Road. The corps was established in the district in 1866, and for some time occupied a wooden building, which was taken down and replaced by the fine brick structure now in use. There are two halls, which are respectively used by the senior and junior soldiers; that of the seniors seats 300, and the other 150 persons. The Army possesses a good band in Gisborne, and Captain James McKay is now (1901) in command.

              

            

            

              
Social.

              

                
                


                  
The Poverty Bay Club,
                  which is situated at the corner of Childers' Road and Customs Street, stands on a section of half an acre of land. The club dates back to 1870, and in 1900 had 110 members. For a number of years it was conducted in a wing of the Albion Club Hotel, in Gladstone Road, but a special building was afterwards erected by Mr Crawford in Gladstone Road, and was occupied for eleven years. The fine building now occupied was erected in June, 1898. It is of wood and iron, two stories in height, and has a large balcony around the front and two sides. There are eleven rooms, a billiard room, a bar, and a large reading room. The dining room will seat thirty persons, and there are three sitting rooms, besides comfortable accommodation for the stewards; and the grounds surrounding the club are tastefully laid out. Mr. T. Chrisp is president; Mr. J. Macfarlane, vice-president; Mr. A. Rees, honorary treasurer, and Mr. G. Grant, honorary secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Grant,
                  C.E., Honorary Secretary of the Poverty Bay Club, was born in London. He was educated in his native city and in Germany, and was brought up as an engineer in London. Having served some time with Sir Charles Fox, he came to Port Chalmers by the ship “Otago” in 1871. Two years afterwards he joined the Public Works Department and served in Otago and Southland. During the construction of the Blueskin section of the Government railways Mr. Grant was in charge for the contractors; he afterwards had charge of the Kaitangata railway, and also supervised the opening up of the Kaitangata coal mine. For about seven years Mr. Grant was a partner in the firm of Dennison and Grant, engineers in Oamaru. He settled at Gisborne in 1881, and after working for some years in connection with the Native Lands Settlement Company, engaged in general practice, after retiring from the firm of Dennison and Grant, about 1886. For twelve years Mr. Grant was Government valuator in the district. He acts as engineer for the Patutahi, Waikohu, and Ngatapa road districts.
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Loyal Gisborne Lodge,
                  I.O.O.F., M.U., 6087, was established in 1873. Officers for 1900: C. H. Hyett, G.M.; G. Goldsmith, N.G.; B. Quigley, V.G.; A. Kirk, elective secretary, and C. H. Ambridge, permanent secretary. Messrs J. T. Evans, A. W. Rees, and W. C. McLean are trustees. There are 119 members, and the accumulated sick and funeral funds of the lodge are put down at £2000. The surplus funds amount to £785, and the management funds to £20.

              

              

                
                


                  
Turanganui Lodge,
                  No. 7, U.A.O.D., Gisborne, was established in 1882. Officers for 1900: J. A. Eaton, A.D.; G. W. Primrose, treasurer, and H. McKay, secretary. There are about 300 members on the roll, and the accumulated funds exceed £2000.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Poverty Bay Rowing Club
                  
                  was established in 1884. Officers for 1900: Mr. E. Murphy, president; Mr. J. Webb, captain; Mr. J. H. Warren, treasurer, and Mr. W. Fraser, secretary. There are forty-five members, and the club owns two good sheds on the Taruheru river. Its property consists of twelve fine boats, and annual matches are held with the Gisborne Club and the two Napier Clubs.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Gisborne Bowling Club
                  
                  has over one hundred members. Officers for 1900–1901: Mr. J. W. Bright, president; Mr. W. Pettie, vice-president; Mr. C. W. Ferris, treasurer, and Mr. C. H. W. Dixon, secretary. The green is situated at Kaiti. It is beautifully laid out into two lawns, and affords ample space for thirteen rinks at the same time. The lawns are divided by a wooden pavilion containing three rooms and out offices. The Whataupoko and Kaiti clubs are subsidiary to the Bowling Club, the members of which have the privilege of joining. The Champion Fours Tournament was held on the Gisborne green in January, 1901.

              

              

                
                

                  

                    The Poverty Bay Cricket Association
                  
                 
 was established in 1896. Officers
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for 1900: Mr. J. Macfarlane, president, and Messrs R. Cole and J. Massey, joint secretaries and treasurers. There are four clubs in the district connected with the Association, namely, Urenui, Gisborne, Ormond, and Ranginui. The association governs all cricket events in Poverty Bay. During the season two contests are held each week, on Thursdays and Saturdays.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Gisborne Cricket Club
                  
                  was established in 1888. Officers for 1900: Mr. W. O. Skeet, president; Mr. R. Cole, secretary and treasurer, and Mr. A. J. Massey, captain. There are fifty members, and practices are held in the Victoria Domain. The club has two senior elevens, who usually give a good account of themselves during the season.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Poverty Bay Golf Club
                  
                  was established in 1893. Officers for 1900: Mr. G. Maclean, president; Mr. R. J. Reynolds, vice-president, and Mr. E. H. Mann, secretary and treasurer. There are about eighty members, and the links consist of a good eighteen-hole course in the vicinity of the borough. Contests are held regularly between the Gisborne and Hawke's Bay Clubs.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Gisborne Poultry Fanciers' Club
                  
                  dates from 1893. Officers for 1900: Mr. H. M. Porter, chairman, and Messrs W. Gault, G. R. Moore, W. Green, C. Ferris, R. Moore, H. Williams; Mr. W. Ranger, secretary and treasurer. The annual show takes place in July, and in 1900 there were over 900 exhibits. There are about ninety members, and it is considered that the show is among the best of its kind held in New Zealand.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Poverty Bay Park Company,
                  Ltd., was established in 1888. The park is situated on the Makaraka Road, opposite the cemetery, and consists of 112 acres. There is a large, well laid out racecourse, on which the Gisborne Racing Club holds its meeting, and the Caledonian and other athletic sports are held on the ground. Mr. H. M. Porter is secretary to the company.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Gisborne Racing Club,
                  which was formed in 1889 by some of the leading commercial men of Gisborne, holds two race meetings during the year, one in January and the other in July. The course is situated upon the Gisborne Park grounds, and the club is in a flourishing condition.

              

              

                
                


                  
Poverty Bay Turf Club,
                  Gisborne. This club was founded in 1870 by some leading Poverty Bay settlers; the first meetings were held under somewhat exciting circumstances, a troop of armed constabulary being drawn up behind the stand in case of friction between the Europeans and Maoris. For some years the club held its race meetings at a very pretty spot, called the “Island,” at Waerenga-a-hika, but, on the settlement of the Makauri block, this property was sub-divided, and the club moved its racecourse to its present site at Makaraka. The grounds are beautifully laid out, over £2000 having been spent in improvements. Two meetings are held annually, the spring meeting in October, and the summer carnival in January. The membership of the club, which is in a flourishing condition, stands at about fifty.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The New Zealand Natives' Association
                  
                  (Poverty Bay Section) was established in 1899. Officers for 1900: Rev. H. Williams, president; N. G. Nasmith, junior, treasurer, and C. F. Lewis, secretary. There are over 200 members, and the club rooms, situated in Gladstone Road over the premises of Messrs R. Johnston and Co., are well furnished, and consist of a reading room and card room. There is a piano, and the latest colonial and British papers are filed. During the winter months lectures on intellectual and social subjects are delivered, and no gambling or drinking is allowed on the premises. The branch is in a good financial position, and there is no debt on the furniture.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Poverty Bay Agricultural And Pastoral Society
                  
                  dates from 1879. Officers for 1900: Mr. J. Macfarlane, president; Mr. W. W. Smith, vice-president; Mr. J. W. Bright, honorary treasurer, and Mr. G. R. Wyllie, secretary. There is also a committee of twelve. Annual shows are held at the Gisborne Park Company's ground, and the attendance is usually about 5000. The catalogue for the show of 1900 contained 571 exhibits, and the show, which is held in October, is one of the events of the year in Poverty Bay.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Gisborne City Band
                  
                  was established in 1876. Officers for 1900: Mr. T. Morrison, bandmaster, and Mr. C. Adair, secretary. It is a full brass band of twenty-four members, and is ever ready to perform on public occasions, and especially for charitable purposes. The band owns a practice room in Palmerston Street; it was erected in 1876, and enlarged in 1888, and measures 20ft by 20ft.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Turanganui Public Library
                  
                  was established about 1875. It contains 3000 volumes, and has a large reading room supplied with daily and illustrated papers, and magazines, and is domiciled in a large building, which was erected in Lowe Street by the Library Trustees some years ago. Portions of the building are leased to the County Council and Borough Council for offices. A small museum is attached to the library. Mr. C. P. Davies is treasurer, and Mr. L. T. Symes, secretary.

              

              

                
                


                  
Gisborne Orchestral Society,
                  This society was founded in February, 1892, under the conductorship of Mr. Thomas Wildman, the honorary secretaryship being in the hands of Mr. M. Foster, who has held the position ever since. The first conductor was succeeded by Mr. H. G. Spackman, late organist of Napier Cathedral, and he continued to wield the baton until November, 1896, when he was succeeded by Mr. William Marr. The orchestra numbers about twenty-two members, and the performances are highly appreciated by the general public.

              

              

                
                


                  

East, Charles James,
                  Music Teacher, Gisborne. Mr. East was born at Gisborne in 1875, and is the eldest son of Mr. James East of that town. He was educated in his native place, and afterwards engaged in business with his father, but developing marked musical abilities, it was decided that he should follow that profession. Mr. East studied the theory of music, pianoforte and organ, under Mr. R. S. Airey, R.A.M., and holds a first-class certificate with senior honours from Trinity College, London. Since 1891, Mr. East has devoted himself to teaching. He has a good connection, and is still assiduously practising and studying his art.
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Lewis, Cecil Francis,
                  Importer of Musical Instruments, General Commission and Insurance Agent, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 75. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Mr. Lewis has been census enumerator since 1887. He has convenient premises centrally situated in Gladstone Road, and is well known throughout the district.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Poverty Bay Herald,
                  a daily paper, was established in 1874 by Messrs Dinwiddie and Walker, of the Hawke's Bay Herald. It has been published regularly without intermission ever since, and, like Tennyson's brook, bids fair to go on for ever. From Messrs Dinwiddie and Walker it passed to a company, and subsequently into other hands, but became the property of the present proprietor, Mr. A. R. Muir, in 1884.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. A. R. Muir
                  
                  was born in Wellington and has been identified from his boyhood with New Zealand journalism, his father having been one of the founders and for many years a proprietor of the “New Zealand Independent,” afterwards “The New Zealand Times,” one of Wellington's first papers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. A. L. Muir,
                  the Editor of the paper, is a son of the proprietor, and was born in



Wellington. He was educated at Nelson College, and entered journalism soon after his father's arrival at Gisborne in 1884. After a steady course of training in his profession, including attendance for six sessions in the Press Gallery, at Wellington, Mr. Muir assumed control of the literary department of the paper in May, 1896.

              

            

            

              
Legal.

              

                
                


                  
Supreme Court,
                  Gisborne. Periodical sittings of the Supreme Court are held at Gisborne by Mr. Justice Conolly, whose head-quarters are at Auckland.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George John Alexander Johnstone,
                  Deputy Registrar and Deputy Sheriff of the Supreme Court, and Clerk of the Magistrate's Court, was born in 1865, in Stirling, Scotland. In 1882 he entered the Magistrate's Court at Gisborne as a cadet, and was promoted to the position of assistant clerk in 1893, when he was also appointed clerk of the Native Lands Court. In 1899 he was appointed Deputy Registrar of the Supreme Court and Deputy Sheriff and Clerk of the Magistrate's Court in June, 1900. As a volunteer he served for three years in the J Battery, which was subsequently disbanded. Mr. Johnstone accompanied the expedition which was organised to prevent the archrebel Te Kooti coming to Gisborne.

              

              

                
                


                  
Stipendiary Magistrate's Court,
                  Gisborne. This court serves the whole of the Poverty Bay district, and was presided over by Mr. James Booth from 1883 until the time of his death, which occurred on the 14th of May, 1900. Mr. Booth was succeeded by Mr. W. A. Barton, who had been Clerk of the Court, and also Registrar and Sheriff of the Supreme Court at Gisborne. The Court stands on a section of about three-quarters of an acre of land with frontages to Read's Quay and Customhouse Street. It is built of wood and iron, and contains a large court room with offices for the Magistrate, or Judge, and rooms for the clerk, bailiff, jury, ladies, and prisoners. The court has also a large public office, and convenient strong rooms, and the law library is situated in one of the wings.
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Mr. William Alfred Barton,
                  Stipendiary Magistrate, Registrar of the Supreme Court and Sheriff and Returning Officer for the district of Poverty Bay, was born at Birmingham on the 3rd of December, 1852, arrived in Australia at the early age of ten years, and was educated partly in Queensland and later in Hokitika, New Zealand. Mr. Barton entered the Department of Justice at Hokitika as a cadet in 1867, and in 1870 he was appointed assistant clerk at Hokitika. In 1879 he was made Receiver of Gold Revenue and Clerk of the Magistrate's and Warden's Court at Kumara, where he remained until October, 1882, when he received a similar appointment at Greymouth, where he acted also as Clerk of the District Court. He held these offices until 1891, when he was transferred to Gisborne as Clerk of the Stipendiary Magistrate's Court, etc. On leaving Kumara, the citizens of that goldmining centre presented Mr. Barton (through the Mayor, Mr. O'Hagan) with a gold watch and chain and an illuminated address, the Premier, Mr. Seddon, being one of the chief promoters of the function. A similar testimonial was presented to Mr. Barton when he left Greymouth. He was appointed to his present position on the 1st of June, 1900, as successor to the late Mr. James Booth. Mr. Barton was married in March, 1878, to Miss Hawkins, second daughter of Mr. George F. Hawkins, solicitor, Hokitika, and has had three sons.
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Mr. Lionel Fitzherbert Williams,
                  Assistant Clerk of the Court, and Deputy Registrar of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, at Gisborne, was born in 1877 at Wairoa, Hawke's Bay, where he was educated, and at Te Aute College. He is the eldest son of Mr. H. J. Williams, sometime of the Wairoa County Council. Mr. Williams joined the public service in December, 1897, as assistant at the Magistrate's Court, Gisborne. He has been a member of the East Coast Mounted Rifles since the inception of the corps, and he is a member of the New Zealand Natives' Association. His mother is a sister of the Hon. James Council. Native Minister.
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Mr. Francis Thomas Hewitt Bullen,
                  Bailiff of the Magistrate's Court, Gisborne, was born in Cork, Ireland, in 1834. In 1852 he came out to Australia, where he served six years in the Victorian police, and was occasionally on the Mounted Gold Escort. He arrived in Otago in 1862, when he joined the Mounted Police, and was stationed in various parts of Otago. In 1890 he left the police force and accepted his present position.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Booth,
                  sometime Stipendiary Magistrate, Commissioner of the Native Land Court, and Coroner for Poverty Bay District, was born in Westmorland, England, and is the eldest son of Mr. Richard Booth, of that county. He was educated in Westmorland and London, and in 1852 came to New Zealand in connection with the Church Missionary Society, per ship “Slains Castle, and arrived at Wanganui on Christmas Eve. In consequence of ill health Mr. Booth revisited England in 1854, but returned to the Colony in 1856, when he settled down at Pipikiri, in the Upper Wanganui district, and engaged in pastoral pursuits and teaching until 1864. Early in that year the Hauhaus broke out in rebellion and came overland from Taranaki to Pipikiri, with the intention of ultimately attacking the town of Wanganui. Mr. Booth, with his wife and family, were made prisoners, and for three days and nights were kept in constant fear of being murdered, but owing to the friendly influence of the young chieftain Hori Patene, their lives were spared and they were allowed to escape, after losing everything they possessed, except the clothes they wore. A few days after this miraculous escape, a great fight took place between the Friendly Natives and the Hauhaus at Moutoa, where the rebels were defeated and dispersed. Mr. Booth then went to Wanganui, but returned shortly afterwards in company with Dr. Featherston, then Superintendent of the Province of Wellington, who was escorted by an armed force, which captured several Hauhaus and eventually took them to Wellington, to stand their trial for sedition and rebellion. Mr. Booth was left in military charge of the Upper Wanganui, and in October, 1864, he was present at a fight at Ohoutahi, between the Friendly Natives and the rebels, where the celebrated chief John Williams was slain. The Upper Wanganui Natives had then joined the Hauhaus and again threatened to attack Wanganui, with the object of driving the pakeha out of the country. However, before attempting to carry out that threat, they wrote to the Friendly Natives, informing them that they had no ill-feeling towards their own countrymen, but wanted permission to pass down the Wanganui River in their canoes, without landing at any of the villages belonging to the Friendly Natives. These loyal Maoris replied to the effect that they would protect the Wanganui settlers, and resist the threatened expedition, and with that object they assembled at Hiruharama or Jerusalem, near Ohoutahi, where the fight of October, 1864, took place. Both parties were armed with flintlocks and double-barrelled guns, the Government never having up to that time supplied either arms or ammunition to the Friendly Natives, who fought the colonists' battles at the cost of their lives and pockets. During the contest the ammunition of the Friendly Natives ran low and Mr. Booth with a native crew paddled to Wanganui, a distance of fifty miles, for a fresh supply. A meeting of the Justices of the town was held, and the serious position of affairs being explained, it was decided to apply to the military authorities quartered in Wanganui, and these supplied the necessary ammunition. The return of Mr. Booth and party happily saved the allies, whose ammunition was on the point of exhaustion. Thus was brought about the defeat of the rebel Hauhaus, and for this important service Mr. Booth received the thanks of the Native Minister, then the Hon. Mr. Mantell. Shortly afterwards Pipiriki and three other posts were occupied by the Imperial troops, and the town of Wanganui was thus placed beyond the risk of attack. In September, 1865, Mr. Booth was appointed Resident Magistrate of the Wanganui district, and a year later was made Judge of the Native Land Court. In 1867 the Patea district was placed under his jurisdiction, and the Imperial troops were withdrawn. After their departure, the natives shewed much discontent in consequence of the settlers being placed upon their confiscated lands. They burned the settlers' homes, destroyed their sheep and cattle, stole horses, and threatened to rise up in arms throughout the district. Mr. Booth took immediate steps for the recovery of the stolen property, and for the protection of the settlers, and in the performance of his duties he was in constant danger of being murdered. On one occasion near the Ketemarae Settlement, he escaped the fate which over took three settlers, Messrs Cahill, Squire and Clark, who were killed and shockingly mutilated. Immediately afterwards the Ngatiruanui natives rose up in open rebellion under the notorious Titokowaru, who was eventually captured, but not until the lapse of many years. In 1876 Mr. Booth was transferred to the Native Land Purchase Department, as Commissioner, and in 1883 he was appointed Magistrate in the Poverty Bay district. He held office until he died on the 14th of May, 1900.
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                    The Gisborne Police Sub-District
                  
                  includes the country extending for fifty miles south from the East Cape. The sergeant in charge, five constables, and one detective, are stationed in Gisborne, and there are three constables in the outlying districts, and two Maori constables. The station is located in Childers' Road, and consists of iron buildings, including two dwellinghouses of four and six rooms respectively. There are two cells attached to the station.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Siddells,
                  Sergeant in charge of the Gisborne District, was born in Nelson in 1859. He entered the police force at the age of eighteen, and was stationed at Wellington, Porangahau, Ormondville, and Dannevirke, before taking up his present position at Gisborne in 1900. Sergeant Siddells was promoted to his present rank in 1898.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Native Land Court And Native Land Validation Court
                  
                  (Mr. James Meacham Batham, Judge). A notice of Mr. Batham, as Land Registrar, etc., appears in the Wellington volume. He has, however, since its publication been appointed Judge of the Native Land Court and of the Native Land Validation Court at Gisborne.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. John Brooking,
                 
 Registrar of the Native Land Court at Gisborne, was born in Dartmouth, Devonshire. He is a son of Mr. Henry Brooking, who was Collector of Customs at Brixham, and a nephew of Captain Arthur Brooking, of the “Proserpine” (H.E.I.C. Navy), who distinguished himself during the Burmese war, as mentioned in “Grant's British Battles.” Coming to New Zealand in 1857, Mr. Brooking joined the Hawke's Bay Colonial Defence Force in 1863, and in 1865 went to
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Poverty Bay, where he was engaged in the siege of Waerenga-a-hika. Mr. Brooking afterwards went to the Chatham Islands as one of the guard sent there with the Hauhau prisoners. When Te Kooti escaped from the Chathams, Mr. Brooking was a member of a volunteer corps, and was among those who, having been without food for several days, and having expended their ammunition, suffered a disastrous defeat at Paparatu. After the massacre in 1868, the corps to which Mr. Brooking belonged acted as scouts for the protection of the district till 1872, when they were struck off pay. He then joined the Armed Constabulary, and was engaged in expeditions against Te Kooti in the vicinity of Waikaremoana and in the Uriwera Country. In 1875, fighting being over, he accepted an appointment as extra clerk and interpreter in the Native Land Court under Judge Rogan. This he held till 1877, and in 1879 he obtained an appointment as clerk and interpreter in the Government Land Department. On the retirement of Lieutenant-Colonel Porter, Mr. Brooking took charge of Land Purchase work, and all Native work in the district, until the purchase of Native land was discontinued, and he was then appointed clerk and interpreter to the Native Land Court. In 1886 he was appointed Registrar of the Native Land Court, Gisborne district, and from September, 1893, till January, 1894, he was detached from the Court for the purpose of acquiring Native land in the East Coast district for the Government, and he succeeded in acquiring a large area. In March, 1897, he was appointed a sub-commissioner of the Native Land Court under the Native Land Court Act, 1896.

              

              

                
                


                  

De Lautour, Cecil Albert,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, Gisborne. Guided by the advice of Mr. Wilson Gray, so long and so honourably known as a District Court Judge in Otago, Mr. de Lautour about 1879 decided to qualify for the bar. Mr. W. L. Rees, then a member of the House of Representatives, who was in business at Napier, offered to aid him by allowing him to join his office, and so he became articled to Mr. Rees for three years. Having passed all the examinations then required of barristers, he applied for admission, but was refused by the Supreme Court on the ground that his attendance in Parliament was inconsistent with the position of an articled clerk. Exclusion from the bar of one who had passed all examinations and had been engaged for many years in making laws was felt to be a hardship, and facilitated the passing of the Law Practitioners' Act, 1882, which did away with articles in the case of barristers and solicitors. With the concurrence of the Hon. Mr. Whitaker, then Attorney General, this provision was made retrospective, and Mr. de Lautour was at the close of the session at once admitted to practice. He commenced practice at Gisborne, where he has since continued. In 1872 Mr. de Lautour married the daughter of Mr. Bust, formerly of Waikouaiti, Otago, by whom he has a large family. Mr de Lautour is further referred to elsewhere as an ex-member of Parliament.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Albert McKay,
                  Licensed Interpreter and Managing Law Clerk to Mr. C. A. de Lautour, was born at Port Waikato on the 14th of February, 1852. He was educated under the late Archdeacon Maunsell at the Kohanga Mission Station, near Port Waikato. In 1877 Mr. McKay removed to Napier, where he was engaged as compositor on the Maori newspaper “Te Wananga,” until towards the end of 1879, when he left and entered the office of Mr. W. L. Rees, as Licensed Interpreter and law clerk, in Napier until 1882. In that year he removed to Gisborne, where he still remained in the same employment until 1885, but in 1886 he entered the Native Land Court Office at Gisborne as Government Interpreter and Clerk of the Court, and held the position till 1888. Since that year he has occupied his present position in Mr. de Lautour's office. Mr. McKay has been a member of the Order of Rechabites since 1894, and is attached to the Gisborne Tent. He was married, in 1890, to Cecelia Kathleen, a daughter of Mr. William Greening, of Mahia, Hawke's Bay, and has two daughters and one son.
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Finn, Hugh Joseph,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, Union Bank Buildings, Gisborne. Mr. Finn was born at Kilkenny, Ireland, in the year 1847. His education was commenced by private tuition at home, and when he was about twelve years of age it was continued at the French College, Blackrock, near Dublin, afterwards at the Jesuit College, Amiens, France, subsequently at the Church of England Grammar School, Melbourne, under the late Dr. Bromby, and thence he entered the Melbourne University. In 1869 he entered the office of Mr. George Godfrey, one of the leading solicitors of Melbourne, as an articled clerk, and successfully passed his law examinations. In March, 1874, Mr. Finn arrived in Dunedin, and in August of that year he was called to the New Zealand Bar, before His Honour the late Mr. Justice Chapman, and immediately afterwards commenced the practice of his profession at Queentown, Otago. In 1877, Mr. Finn married Miss E. McLean, the youngest daughter of the late Mr. John McLean, of the Kurow Station, near Oamaru. In 1879 he successfully contested the Wakatipu seat in the House of Representatives as a Liberal candidate, his opponent being the ex-member, Mr. Manders, and Mr William Mason, the first Mayor of Dunedin; and he occupied the seat until the expiration of the seventh parliament in 1882, when he declined to offer himself for re-election, as he had ceased to reside in the district. In 1881 he visited Poverty Bay to conduct some legal business there, with the result that he has made Gisborne his home. He is a commissioner of the Supreme Courts of Victoria and of South Australia. During the early period of Mr. Finn's career he joined the Pontifical Zouaves in Italy and was associated with the late Sir Patrick Buckley, who was attached to the famous Irish Brigade. In the year 1873 he received his commission as lieutenant in the Sandridge Volunteer Artillery Corps (Victoria), but resigned in 1874 on his departure for New Zealand. In 1876, Mr. Finn received his commission as Captain of the Queenstown Rifles and acted as such until the corps disbanded in 1878, when he was appointed to the command of the “M” Battery of Artillery. In 1880 he received his commission as Major of the New Zealand Volunteer Force, and was appointed to the command of the Lakes District Volunteers, but resigned the command in 1882. He still retains his commission as Major, having been placed on the honorary unattached list.
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Jones, Robert Noble,
                  Solicitor, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Jones was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of New Zealand on the 22nd of August, 1890, before Mr Justice Conolly, and has since then practised his profession in Gisborne. He takes a prominent interest in public matters.

              

              

                


                
                


                  

Lysnar, William Douglas,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company's Chambers, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Mr. Lysnar was born at Auckland on the 30th of April, 1867, and is the second son of Mr. W. Dean Lysnar, a retired schoolmaster, residing in Gisborne. Mr. Lysnar was educated by his father, and after leaving school he acquired two years' experience of station life, before entering the office of Mr. Edward ffrancis Ward, barrister and solicitor, with whom he remained for several years. In 1887 Mr. Lysnar joined the firm of Messrs Sievwright and de Lautour, and after the dissolution of the firm he remained with Mr de Lautour until 1892, when he began to practise on his own account. Mr. Lysnar was admitted as a solicitor, before Mr. Justice Conolly on the 26th of February, 1891. Subsequently he passed the barristers' examination, took the required sections of the LL. degree through the New Zealand University, and was admitted as barrister on the 8th of August, 1895. In the days of the war Mr. Lysnar was a member of the East Coast Hussars, who captured Te Kooti. Outside his profession, he is largely interested in pastoral properties in the Poverty Bay district. In 1893 Mr. Lysnar married Miss Ida Eleanor Tiffen, second daughter of Mr. F. J. Tiffen, runholder, of Hawke's Bay.

              

              

                
                


                  

Nolan, James Wrey,
                  Barrister and Solicitor, Gisborne. Mr. Nolan was born at Bathurst, New South Wales, and educated at the Wesley College and Grammar School, Auckland. He was articled to Messrs Russell and Devore, solicitors, Auckland; was admitted in 1879 to the New Zealand Bar, by the late Mr Justice Gillies, and immediately commenced practice in Gisborne. In 1886 Mr. Skeet was admitted as a partner. Mr. Nolan has been crown solicitor since 1882. He has been a member of the Gisborne Hospital Board for fourteen years and is at present chairman. Mr. Nolan is also president of the Poverty Bay Turf Club, and of the Gisborne Cricket Club, vice-president of the Poverty Bay Rugby Union, captain of the local golf club, one of the governors of the Gisborne High School, and an ex-member of the local school committee. He was also a member of the Gisborne Borough Council for some years. During his residence in Auckland Mr. Nolan was a prominent athlete and a skilful exponent of the Rugby game, being an old representative player and a member of the first Auckland football team that toured New Zealand.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Rees Brothers
                  
                  (Arthur Westland Rees and William Lincoln Lee Rees), Barristers and Solicitors, Lowe Street, Gisborne. This firm was constituted in 1892. Both partners are sons of Mr. W. L. Rees, who for many years has been a prominent man at Gisborne, and who is noticed as an ex-member of Parliament at pages 
105 and 106 of this volume.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. A. W. Rees
                  
                  was born in Hokitika in 1866, and was admitted a barrister and solicitor in 1891. He was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr. W. F. Crawford, of Gisborne, and has two daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. W. L. L. Rees,
                  the other partner in the firm, was born in Melbourne in 1865, and was admitted to the bar in the same year as his brother. He was married, in 1893, to a daughter of Mr. H. M. Jervis, of Auckland, and has two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Sievwright, William,
                  Barrister, Solicitor and Notary Public, Gisborne. Mr. Sievwright was admitted as a solicitor in Scotland in 1863. He joined his father as a partner in an old-established solicitor's business in his native town of Lerwick, and continued to practise there under the style of W. and W. Sievwright. In 1877 he left for New Zealand, on the invitation of Messrs Sievwright and Stout, solicitors, Dunedin; was admitted in New Zealand in 1878 as a barrister and solicitor, and joined the firm of Sievwright and Stout, in their Wellington office; there he practised till 1883, when he removed to Gisborne, where he has since practised. Mr. Sievwright is now, and has been since 1884, a member of the Gisborne Harbour Board. He is a solicitor in the Poverty Bay district for the Public Trustee, and also district solicitor for the Government Advances to Settlers Office. Mr. Sievwright is a warm advocate for a New Zealand state-currency, managed by a purely non-politically constituted State Bank Board; currency to be issued on operative current accounts, against specific security of land or chattels pledged, and interest to be charged on the daily debit balance of each account, but not at a rate exceeding four per cent.
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Medical.

              

                
                


                  

Cole, George William,
                  L.R.C.P. (Edin. and Glasgow), Physician and Surgeon, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Dr. Cole took his diploma in 1872 in Glasgow, and also at Edinburgh in the same year. He came out to Port Chalmers in 1873 as surgeon in charge of the ship “Lady Jocelyn,” and was for some time on the staff of the hospital at Wellington. His present practice in Gisborne was established in December, 1895.

              

              

                
                


                  

Craig, John,
                  L.R.C.P., L.R.C.S.I., L.M. (Rotunda Hospital), Physician and Surgeon, Gisborne. Dr. Craig was born on the 21st of April, 1859, and was educated at Erasmus Smith's High School, Dublin. He studied surgery at the Royal College of Surgeons, Dublin, medicine at King and Queen's College (now the Royal College of Physicians), and midwifery at the Rotunda Hospital, Dublin. He also studied at the following hospitals:—City of Dublin Hospital, Baggot Street, Adelaide Hospital Peter Street, and Molesworth Street Eye and Ear Infirmary, under Drs. Swanzy and Fitzgerald. Dr. Craig received his diploma from the Royal College of Surgeons, Ireland, in 1882, from the Rotunda Hospital in 1882 and from King and Queen's College in 1884. He arrived in this Colony in 1892.

              

              

                
                


                  

Hughes, Leonard,
                  M.R.C.S., L.R.C.P. (England), Physician and Surgeon, Gisborne. Dr. Hughes is a son of the late Mr. Henry Hughes, engineer, of Wellington. He was born in Leicestershire, England, and came to the Colony in 1887, but he re-visited England in 1891, and studied medicine at the University College Hospital, London. On returning to New Zealand in 1896, Dr. Hughes established his present practice.

              

              

                
                


                  

Noble-Campbell, Stuart A.,
                  Surgeon Dentist, Lowe Street, Gisborne. Mr. Noble-Campbell was born in Christchurch in 1870, and was educated at Wellington College. He was registered under the Dental Board in 1892, and settled at Gisborne, and established his present practice in 1894.

              

              

                
                


                  

Sykes, Walter James,
                  Surgeon Dentist, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Mr. Sykes is an English dentist, and had two years' experience in Sydney before coming to Auckland in 1876. He established his present business in 1891.

              

              

                
                


                  

Hood, Thomas,
                  Chemist, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. This business dates from April, 1900. The proprietor was born in 1866 in New Plymouth, where he learned his trade. After gaining experience in various parts of the colony, he founded his present business.

              

              

                
                


                  

Kane, Harold,
                  Chemist and Druggist, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 14. Private residence, Carnarvon Street. This business was established in 1878 by Mr. H. Bishop, and was acquired by the present proprietor in 1898.

              

            

            

              
Banking.

              

                
                


                  
The Bank Of New South Wales,
                  Gisborne, occupies part of the premises belonging to Mr. Edward Murphy, situated at the corner of Gladstone Road and Customs Street. This branch of the bank has twice suffered misfortune in the burning of its leasehold domiciles, first in May, 1894, and again in May, 1897.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Frederick Parker,
                  Manager of the Bank of New South Wales, Gisborne, was



born in Napier in 1861; he was educated there, and entered the service of the bank in 1876. Mr. Parker was appointed manager in 1888.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Bank Of Australasia
                  
                  in Gisborne was opened in December, 1892, in temporary premises in Gladstone Road. The present building, erected for its owner, Mr. C. A. de Lautour, is situated at the corner of Read's Quay and Gladstone Road. It is a two-storey brick building, and the ground floor is used as the banking chamber and offices.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Louis Thorley Symes,
                  Manager of the Bank of Australasia at Gisborne, was born in Nelson in 1860. He joined the bank in 1877 at Waverley, Taranaki, was appointed manager at Gore in 1883, and was sent in December, 1892, as manager to open the branch at Gisborne, where he has ever since remained in charge.

              

              

                
                


                  
Union Bank Of Australia,
                  Ltd. This bank opened its Gisborne branch about 1873. The present building, erected in 1885, is of brick, and contains the bank premises, in addition to two shops, which are let to tenants. The building is of two stories, and the second floor is used as a twelve-roomed residence for the manager.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr Francis Traver Morgan,
                  Manager of the Union Bank at Gisborne, was born in Adelaide, South Australia, where he commenced his banking experience. He was stationed at Timaru in 1873, and was afterwards in Napier for two years. In Christchurch he held the position of ledger-keeper for four years; he became accountant in Gisborne in 1881, and was promoted to the position of manager in 1893.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Gisborne Chamber Of Commerce
                  
                  was founded in 1894. Committee for 1900: Mr. W. Morgan, president; Mr. A. F. Matthews, vice-president; and Messrs J. Whinray, T. Adair, W. J. Henning, C. F. Lewis, C. H. Ambridge; with Mr. R. D. B. Robinson as secretary and treasurer. The chamber holds meetings quarterly, and the committee meets once a month. In February, 1900, on the occasion of the turning of the first sod of the Gisborne Te Karaka railway, Mr. J. Whinray, then president of the Chamber, presented a banner, which he called the “Gisborne Chamber of Commerce Banner,” the production of a local artist. It measured 12ft by 7ft 6in. In the background there are some good representations of typical New Zealand bush scenes, and a bullock team, labouring along a bad road in the Motu settlement, is seen in another part. The proverbial swagger is also in evidence, and a railway train is seen wending its way along the plain. Poverty Bay, with its breakwater and shipping, and the Gisborne freezing works, occupy another position. The artist also presents a bush settler's home, and packhorses to remind colonists of the primitive means of communication through the bush. In the margin there are portraits of three members of the Government, and of several notable Gisborne residents.
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Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

              

                
                


                  

Adair, William,
                  Insurance and Commission Agent, Lowe Street, Gisborne. Telephone 111. Bankers, Union Bank of Australasia. Private residence, Customhouse Street. Mr. Adair is agent for the Sun Insurance Company, T. H. Green and Company, Christchurch, and for Messrs Levin and Co., Ltd., Wellington. He is referred to elsewhere as an ex-member of the Gisborne Borough Council.

              

              

                
                

                  

Coleman, John,
                 
 Land, Insurance Agent and Accountant, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Mr. Coleman has been a resident of Gisborne since the year 1878. During the many years of troublous litigation, arising out of disputed native land titles in Poverty Bay, he acted as manager of the late Captain G. E. Read's estate, which was concerned more or less with most of the titles in the district. As a member of the different local bodies in the district, Mr. Coleman has taken his full share of the public service, having at various times served as member of the Poverty Bay and the Whataupoko
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Road Boards, the Cook County Council, the Gisborne Borough Council, and for many years as treasurer and as a Trustee of the Gisborne Hospital. Mr. Coleman is the deputy assignee in bankruptcy at Gisborne, agent for the New Zealand Insurance Company and the Colonial Mutual Life Assurance Society, and is a Fellow of the Institute of Accountants of New Zealand. He is local auditor to the Cook County Council and to the Gisborne Harbour Board, and acts generally as an auditor and accountant. Mr. Coleman is also executor and trustee in several important estates, and acts under wills and settlements, and under power of attorney for persons residing out of the district. He is president of the Gisborne Bowling Club, of which he has been a member since the club was formed in 1890.
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Porter, Herbert Musgrave,
                  Accountant, Auditor, Land, Commission, and Station Agent, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 118. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residence, “Alvington,” Whataupoko. This business was established in 1887. The proprietor, as secretary of the Gisborne Building Society, is referred to in another article. Mr. Porter is agent for the Liverpool and London and Globe Insurance Company, secretary to the Poverty Bay Park Company, Ltd., and acts as agent for several stationholders.

              

              

                
                


                  
Sheridan and Co.,
                  (John Sheridan), Forwarding Agents and General Merchants, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 128. This business was established in 1898. The firm imports and exports produce, and does a considerable business.

              

              

                
                


                  

Skipworth, Frederick Green,
                  Licensed Interpreter and Native Agent, Gisborne. Mr. Skipworth was born in Rothwell, Lincolnshire, England, in 1837, educated at Chatham, in Kent, and was brought up to mercantile life in the office of his father, who was a timber merchant. Afterwards Mr. Skipworth had three years' experience in the railway clearing house, Euston Square, London. After a visit to Norway he came to Wellington in 1858 by the ship “Robert Small.” in 1862 he joined the colonial defence force at Napier, and served during the native troubles. He settled in Poverty Bay in 1868, and having studied the Maori language, he was appointed as Government interpreter, under the late Major Biggs, R.M., who was one of the victims of the Poverty Bay massacre, on the 10th of November of the same year. At the time of the landing of Te Kooti at Whareongaonga from the Chatham Islands, Mr. Skipworth was sent with a party of 100 natives from Murewai to follow Te Kooti's band. He camped on the very spot that had been vacated by the outlaws on the previous night. Presents were sent by the enemy to the natives under Mr. Skipworth's control, and having received word that his men were not to be trusted, he, accompanied by a trustworthy Maori named Paora Parau, left the men who were under his charge, and joined the party who were



sent out to intercept Te Kooti at Paparatu, where an engagement was fought. Mr. Skipworth was subsequently employed by the late Captain Read, the founder of Gisborne, and afterwards became one of the executors of that gentleman's estate. He afterwards founded the business which he has since conducted, and has done a great deal in connection with the purchase of native lands in the district. Mr. Skipworth was married, in 1866, to a daughter of the late Mr. T. Uren, of Makaraka, and has three sons and four daughters.
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                    Stubbs and Company
                  
                  (George Stubbs, J.P.), Commission Agents, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. This business was originally founded in 1884, but four years thereafter Mr. Stubbs removed to Napier, where he was in business for a number of years, but after selling his interest in that city, he returned to Gisborne in 1900. Mr. Stubbs was born in London in 1858, and was educated at Alford Grammar School, Lincolnshire. He was brought up to mercantile life in London, and came to Lyttelton in the ship “Pleiades” in 1878, settling immediately afterwards in Poverty Bay. In 1879 he removed to Napier, and was on the staff of the Hawke's Bay “Herald.” Mr. Stubbs, in 1893, founded the firm of Stubbs, Paterson and Company, financial agents, with which he was connected till he sold out his interest in 1898. In 1897 and 1898 he was proprietor of the Petane Manure Works and the Defiance Packing Company, of Hastings. Mr. Stubbs was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1897. He visited the Old Country on pleasure and in the interests of his firm in 1895–96. Mr. Stubbs was the founder of the Poverty Bay Almanac and the Poverty Bay Trade Protection Society. He was married, in 1882, to a daughter of Mr. T. Mossman, of Napier, who died in 1899, in the 100th year of his age.
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                    Wyllie And Mason
                  
                  (G. R. Wyllie and R. H. Mason), Auctioneers, Land and Estate Agents, Lowe Street, Gisborne. Telephone 35. P.O. Box 29. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Private residences: Mr. Wyllie, Kaiti; Mr. Mason, Whataupoko. The firm has been constituted since 1899, prior to which the business was conducted by the senior partner. Sales of horses, produce, and furniture are held every Saturday, and there is a monthly stock sale at Waerenga-a-hika. Wool and grain sales are held monthly at the auction rooms in Lowe Street, and special sales as required. The firm is agent for the Royal Insurance Company.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Gavin Ralston Wyllie,
                  Senior Partner of the firm of Wyllie and Mason, was born in Gisborne, and is a son of Mr. James Ralston Wyllie, an old settler of Poverty Bay. He received his education in the Hawke's Bay and Poverty Bay districts, was engaged in storekeeping for some years, and was afterwards interested in pastoral pursuits until 1893. He then started as a stock and station agent, and became a partner with Mr. C. D. Pitt. The partnership was dissolved in 1895, and Mr. Wyllie continued to carry on business on his own account till he was joined by his present partner in 1899.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Robert Henry Mason,
                  Junior Partner in the firm of Wyllie and Mason, Auctioneers, was born in the Hutt Valley, near Wellington, in 1859. He was educated at the old Wellington College, was brought up to sheepfarming, and was in business on his own account in Hawke's Bay from 1876 to 1895. Having settled in Gisborne, he became a member of the firm of Wyllie and Mason. Mr. Mason was married, in 1881, to a daughter of the late Mr. F. R. Jackson, auctioneer, of Wanganui, and has four sons and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Finneran, William Peter,
                  Architect, Lowe Street, Gisborne. Mr. Finneran has practised as an architect in Gisborne since 1878, and has designed and supervised the erection of a large number of public and private buildings in the district.

              

              

                
                


                  

Matthews, Alfred Forde,
                  Engineer and Authorised Surveyor, Land Agent and Valuator, Lowe Street, Gisborne. Telephone 148. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Whataupoko. Mr. Matthews is elsewhere referred to as chairman of the Whataupoko Road Board.

              

              

                
                


                  

Quigley, William James,
                  Architect and Quantity Surveyor, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Mr. Quigley was born in Belfast, Ireland, in 1855, and is the eldest son of Mr. James Quigley of that city. Mr. Quigley was educated in his native city, and afterwards articled to Mr. James McDowell, Birmingham, architect, with whom he remained five years. In 1875 he came to Auckland, per ship “British Empire,” and on arrival there he entered the firm of Messrs E. Mahoney and Sons, architects, with whom he remained a short time, and then settled down at Gisborne. For some years he was employed in the office of Messrs King and Co., timber merchants, and with the well-known merchant, Mr. W. Adair. In 1882 he started in the profession of architect, and has practised ever since. Mr. Quigley has acted as architect in Poverty Bay, for the Hawke's Bay Education Board for about fifteen years, and acts as clerk of works to the Public Works Department. He also is returning officer for the borough, director's auditor of the Gisborne Building Society, and secretary to the Gisborne school committee. In 1879 Mr. Quigley married the daughter of Mr. Coles, of Onga Onga, Hawke's Bay, and they have a family of ten children.

              

              

                
                

                  

Springall, Sidney Swires,
                 
 Authorised Surveyor, Peel Street, Gisborne. Mr.


[image: Mr. S. S. Springall.]

Mr. 
S. S. Springall.





Springall was born in Shrewsbury, England, in 1858, and accompanied his parents to Auckland in the following year, by the ship “Mermaid.” He was brought up to a country life, and is largely a self-taught man. His experience of surveying commenced in 1881, under Mr. G. A. Martin, of Auckland, Government surveyor, with whom he was for three years. After a good many years' experience and much hard study. Mr. Springall qualified as an authorised surveyor in 1899, and established himself in business in Gisborne in July, 1900. He was married, in 1892, to a daughter of the late Mr. P. Winkelmann, of Bradford, and has two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Teesdale, Alfred,
                  Authorised and Licensed surveyor, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Mr. Teesdale was born in 1848 in London, where he was educated, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “Chapman,” in 1862. Having studied for his profession, he became qualified in Auckland, and removed in 1871 to Napier, where he worked as a surveyor and was employed for nine months in the Public Works Office. He then settled in Poverty Bay, where he at once commenced to practise, and he is one of the oldest surveyors in the district. As a Freemason he is a member of Lodge Turanganui, E.C. Mr. Teesdale is also a member of the Gisborne Bowling Club.

              

              

                
                


                  

Cox, B. S.,
                  Photographer, Studio, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 124. This business was established in January, 1876, by Mr. C. P. Browne, from whom Mr. Cox lately bought it. The premises are freehold, including a wooden building with vestibule and office, waiting and dressing rooms, and a fine studio 35 feet long. There are also finishing and enlarging rooms, and portraiture is made a specialty.

              

              

                
                


                  

Craig, James,
                  Baker, Confectioner, Biscuit Manufacturer and Public Caterer, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Telephone 18. Mr. Craig was born in Antrim, Ireland, in 1841, and is the youngest son of Mr. Samuel Craig, linen manufacturer, of Antrim. He was educated in Antrim at the national school and at private schools, and afterwards was sent to learn farming at Edlinton Agricultural College, near Derry, where he remained for three years. In 1865, Mr. Craig sailed from his native land, per ship “Caduceus,” for Auckland, where he arrived in 1866, and was engaged in various occupations incidental to early colonial life. Mr. Craig left Auckland for Hawke's Bay, where he worked on a station for twelve months, and then obtained employment with a schoolmate named Johnson, a baker, who taught him the business. He remained in Mr. Johnson's employment for seven years, and afterwards worked for Mr. Blake for a period of five years. In 1878, he bought the business of Mr. Thomas Duncan, baker, Gisborne, and it grew into the present prosperous and extensive establishment. About fifteen years ago, Mr. Craig commenced the manufacture of biscuits, etc., and his present plant is one of the best in the Poverty Bay district. The bakery is situated at the rear of the premises. It is built of brick and is two stories in height. The upper storey has a flat roof, where the laundry work of the establishment is carried on upon the latest and most economic principles. The bakery contains one of John Baker and Sons' latest patent ovens, entitled the “Baily Baker,” which is fitted up with mechanical devices which facilitate the baking of biscuits, etc. There are also patent dough rolling and cutting machines, which are employed in the manufacture of biscuits. The whole plant is driven by one of Messrs Crosby and Co.'s gas engines, which also pumps water into the cisterns at the top of Mr. Craig's dwelling house. Mr. Craig has succeeded in shutting out the importation of ship or station biscuits, as his locally made biscuits are preferred to the imported article.
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Oatridge, Francis James,
                  Baker and Confectioner, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 136. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Private residence, Gladstone Road. This business dates from the 1st of January, 1897. The premises are centrally situated, and consist of a two storey iron building containing a shop and dwelling, with a bakehouse behind. Mr. Oatridge was born in Birmingham, England, in 1860, and, having come to the colony at an early age, was educated at the Thames and in Auckland. He has been a settler in Gisborne since 1882, and was for five years a member of the firm of Oatridge and Veale. Mr. Oatridge was subsequently for eighteen months in West Australia. After returning to Poverty Bay he worked for three years as a journeyman, and then founded his present business. As a volunteer he served in the Thames Cadets, and was afterwards a member of the J. Battery in Gisborne. As a Forester he is attached to Court William Gladstone. Mr. Oatridge was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. T. Cross, of Gloucestershire, England, and has two sons and one daughter.

              

              

                
                

                  

Barry, David John,
                 
 Brewer and Aerated Water Manufacturer, Gisborne Brewery, Aberdeen Road, Gisborne. Telephone 4. P.O. Box 78. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residence, adjoining the brewery. This brewery dates from 1875, when it was established in Lowe Street by Messrs Whitson and Sons, of Auckland. The business was taken over by Mr. W. F. Crawford in 1877, and the brewery was erected on the Aberdeen Road site in 1880. In 1894 the brewery was destroyed by fire, and the Gisborne Brewing and Malting Company erected the present building, and conducted the business till 1897, when Mr. Barry leased the brewery from the company. Mr. Barry subsequently purchased the freehold, which consists of thirteen acres and a half. The brewery buildings are in brick
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and wood, and the plant has a capacity of twenty-five hogsheads. There is an aerated water plant, and the machinery is driven by a four-horse-power Crossley Otto gas engine. Mr. Barry supplies the Poverty Bay and the coastal districts, and the firm holds a gold medal for stout and malt exhibited at the Melbourne Exhibition of 1888. Mr. Barry was born in Liverpool, in 1861, and accompanied his parents to West Australia when he was two years of age. He was afterwards brought to Napier, where he was educated. In 1878 Mr. Barry removed to Gisborne, where, for the first eight years of his residence, he was driving one of the brewery carts. Mr. Barry left the service of the brewery in 1890, when he started a cordial-making business in Gladstone Road, and conducted it successfully till 1897, when he gave a lease of the plant. Mr. Barry was married, in 1889, to a daughter of the late Mr. Mooney, of County Kilkenny, Ireland, and has four daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Matthewson, George,
                  Wine and Spirit Merchant, Gisborne. Mr. Matthewson was born in Selkirkshire, Scotland. He arrived in Wellington in March, 1868, and joined the firm of Messrs W. and G. Turnbull (Mr. Walter Turnbull being his cousin). He remained with that firm until January, 1873, and then took up land in the Poverty Bay district, under a Native title, which, however, proved so unsatisfactory that he disposed of his interests and started business in Gisborne. In or about 1884 Mr. Matthewson was nominated by the Government to a seat on the Gisborne Harbour Board, and in this position he has consistently opposed the policy of the majority of the Board in regard to the site of the breakwater and many other matters relating to the tariff of the port. Mr. Matthewson has been prominently identified with other local bodies, and has devoted much of his spare time to the welfare of the district. He has for a number of years been a member of the Hawke's Bay Land Board.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Mackrell And Colley
                  
                  (John William Mackrell and John Colley), Builders, Contractors, and Timber Merchants, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 149. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residences: Mr. Mackrell, Cobden Street; Mr. Colley, Derby Street. This business was established by the firm in September, 1899. The premises are held under lease, and consist of timber yards, workshops, and offices. The firm is well known in the district, and, in addition to many other buildings, it has already erected Messrs Williams and Kettle's woolshed, a large sample room, and some additions to the Masonic Hotel.
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Mr. John William Mackrell,
                  of the firm of Mackrell and Colley, was born in 1857, in Halifax, Yorkshire, England, where he was educated and brought up to business as a carpenter. He came to Auckland in 1879, and after working two years at his trade, settled in Gisborne. For a number of years, prior to starting on his own account, he was employed by Mr. W. O. Skeet. Mr. Mackrell was married, in 1879, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Craven, of the Hutt, and has three daughters and two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Colley,
                  one of the Partners of the firm of Mackrell and Colley, was born at the Thames in 1868. He came to Gisborne with his parents in 1876, and served an apprenticeship with Mr. J. Somervell. Prior to joining his partner in founding the firm, he was for a number of years employed by Mr. W. O. Skeet. As a volunteer he served in J Battery, and has been a long time a member of Lodge Turanganui, U.A.O.D. He was married, in 1894, to a daughter of the late Mr. K. Nasmith, of Sydney, and has one son and one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  
Maxted and Co.,
                  (George Maxted and Lewis Nathan), Builders and Contractors, Grey Street, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This firm, which dates from 1900, has erected the local police camp and other important buildings. Its shop is situated in Grey Street, and it employs from twelve to seventeen hands.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Maxted,
                  Senior Partner of Messrs Maxted and Co., was born in 1849 in Wairau, Marlborough, where he was educated and learned his trade. After spending four years in his native place as a contractor, he removed to Wellington, and worked there as a journeyman, and also in the same capacity subsequently at Hawera, Auckland, Whangaroa, and Gisborne. The present firm was established in 1899. As a volunteer Mr. Maxted served in the Marlborough Hussars for several years; he was a member of the No. 2 Victoria Rifles in Auckland, and since setting in Gisborne, he has joined the Poverty Bay Rifles. He is a member of the New Zealand Natives' Association. Mr. Maxted was married, in 1880, to a daughter of the late Mr. Short, of Wellington, and has one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

Ormond, John Henry,
                  Coachbuilder, Peel Street, Gisborne. Branch, Makaraka. Telephone 71. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residence, Whataupoko. This well known business was founded in 1872 by Messrs Brown and Ballantyne, and was afterwards conducted under the style of Brown and Smale. The establishment in Gisborne is an extensive one. The buildings, which are of wood and iron, consist of a coach-building department, show room, paint shop, shoeing, and smith's, wheelwright's and body-making shops. There is also a bulk store, in addition to the offices. Mr. Ormond is an importer of American buggies, of which he sells a great many in the district. In conjunction with Mr Ritchie, he is the patentee of a tank filter, which has been proved very effective, and is meeting with considerable demand. Mr. Ormond was born in Roxburgh, Otago, in 1869. He removed to Gisborne in 1885, and learned his trade in the district, but he afterwards visited various large centres, where he obtained additional experience of great value to him in his business. For three years Mr. Ormond was in the employment of Messrs Brown and Smale, and was also for some years with Mr. G. Humphreys. As a musician he has been connected with local societies, and plays the violin, trombone, and mandoline. He is a member of the Order of Oddfellows, and is attached to the Loyal Gisborne Lodge. Mr. Ormond was married, in 1900, to a daughter of the late Mr. H. T. Cox, of Gisborne.

              

              

                
                


                  

Lucas, John Alexander,
                  Aerated Water and Cordial Manufacturer, Central Cordial Factory, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 6. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This factory is erected on a section of half an acre of land; the building is of iron, and the plant, which is exceptionally complete, is worked by means of a gas engine. The produce of the factory is supplied to all parts of Poverty Bay. Mr. Lucas is referred to in another article as a member of the Te Arai Road Board.

              

              

                
                


                  
Morrison Bros.
                 , (Thomas Morrison and James Morrison), Painters and Decorators, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 101. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Private residence, Victoria Esplanade. This well known business was established in 1882 by Mr. T. Morrison, the senior partner, who was joined by his brother in 1895. The premises consist of a double-fronted shop with a verandah a showroom upstairs, and a workroom at the back, and the building is of wood and iron. Messrs Morrison Bros. have worked for the principal contractors in town, and have done a good deal of work in the various public buildings, including the hospital, banks, and Government offices.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Morrison,
                  Founder of the firm of Morrison Bros., was born at Blantyre, in Lanarkshire, Scotland, in 1861, and was educated in Glasgow. He came to Auckland by the ship “Durham,” in 1873, and about three years later removed to Gisborne, where he learned his trade. Mr. Morrison worked as a journeyman prior to establishing his present business. He served for fifteen years in the local volunteer fire brigade, and resigned his position as deputy superintendent at the conclusion of that



period; he also served five years as a noncommissioned officer in the local artillery volunteers. His tastes are musical, and since 1890 he has been bandmaster of the City Band, and is now a member of the Borough Council. As a Freemason Mr. Morrison is attached to Lodge Turanganui, E.C., and he is also a member of the local Lodge of Druids. He was married, in 1886, to a daughter of Mr. C. Patterson, of Gisborne, and has three daughters and one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. James Morrison,
                  Junior Partner of the Firm of Morrison Bros., was born in 1872 at Blantyre, Lanarkshire, Scotland. He was educated in Gisborne, and learned his business chiefly with his brother, though he had experience also in Wellington and at Wanganui. Mr. Morrison is a Freemason and a Druid. He was married, in 1896, to a daughter of Mr. W. T. Wildish, of Oamaru, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Ovenden, Frederick Bohm,
                  House Decorator, Painter, etc., Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Mr. Ovenden was born in Dunedin in 1858, and is the eldest son of Mr. Francis Edmund Ovenden. He was educated at Herbert, Otago, and afterwards apprenticed to Messrs Smith and Smith, the well-known house decorators, etc., of the Octagon, Dunedin. Mr. Ovenden then worked as a journeyman in various parts of New Zealand until 1890, when he arrived in Gisborne and worked at his trade under employers till 1892, when he started in business for himself. Mr. Ovenden manufactures his arum mixed paints, which are highly appreciated in the trade, and one of the mixtures, named “Eonium,” is patented. Outside his ordinary calling, Mr. Ovenden is specially interested in technical education, and is a member of the committee of the Gisborne Technical Institution. He is also an enthusiastic bee breeder, and has been very successful with his apiary. In 1893 he married Miss Eskdale, of Tapanui, Otago, and has two children.

              

              

                
                


                  
Adair Bros.
                 , (Thomas Adair and Charles Adair), Drapers, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. The premises of this business consist of the ground floor of a substantial two-storey brick building, and cover about 4500 feet of floor space.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    New Zealand Clothing Factory
                  
                  (Hallenstein Bros. and Co.), Gisborne Branch, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 169. Mr. C. H. Ambridge, manager. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. The Gisborne branch of this well-known Dunedin firm was opened in 1883. It has centrally situated premises in the main street, a large and well assorted stock in all lines is maintained, and a good business is done throughout Poverty Bay.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Charles Henry Ambridge,
                  Manager of the Gisborne Branch of the New Zealand Clothing Factory, was born in 1862, in Buckinghamshire, England. He served an apprenticeship to the soft goods trade in London, became an assistant, was afterwards in a wholesale department in that city, and had a together twelve years' experience. In 1885 Mr. Ambridge arrived in Auckland by the s.s. “Kaikoura,” and, settling in Gisborne, was employed for five years by Mr. W. Adair. In January, 1898, he became local manager for the New Zealand Clothing Factory. Mr. Ambridge has been for several years a member of the local school committee, and has held office as secretary of the Technical Classes Association. He is one of the committee of the Chamber of Commerce, of which he has long been a member. For some years he was a member of the Whataupoko Road Board, and, as a volunteer, served in J Battery till it was disbanded. Mr. Ambridge was married, in 1877, and has four daughters and two sons.
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Robertson, Robert,
                  Clothier, Mercer, and Hatter, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residence, Palmerston Road. Mr. Robertson established his business in 1897, and carries it on in a wood and iron building of one storey. He maintains a carefully selected and up-to-date stock. Mr. Robertson was born in 1865, in East Lothian, Scotland, and was brought up to the soft goods trade in his native place. In 1881 he came to Auckland by the ship “Famenoth,” and had seven years' experience with Mr. H. Atkins. He then removed to Gisborne, where he was for five years with Mr. W. Adair, and was two years a partner in the firm of Robertson and Adair, before he entered business on his own account. As a Forester Mr. Robertson is attached to Court William Gladstone, and as a Freemason he is Master of Lodge Turanganui, 1480, E.C. Mr. Robertson was married, in 1898, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Good, of Gisborne, and has one son.
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Johnston, R. and Co.,
                  (Robert Johnston, J.P., and Thomas Sweet), Tailors, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residences: Mr. Johnston, Derby Street; Mr. Sweet, Whataupoko. This well-known business was founded by the present proprietors about 1880. The premises comprise a double-fronted shop, with measuring, cutting, and work rooms behind.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Robert Johnston,
                  the Senior Partner, is referred to on another page of this volume as an ex-member of the Borough Council and other public bodies.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. Thomas Sweet
                  
                  was born in Canada in 1859, and arrived in Auckland by the ship “City of Auckland” in 1871. He was taught the trade of a tailor, and till 1880 he worked in Auckland as a journeyman. On removing to Gisborne he became a member of the firm of R. Johnston and Co. Mr. Sweet is a Past Master of Lodge Montrose, S.C., and is also connected with the United Ancient Order of Druids in Gisborne. He was married, in 1885, to a daughter of the late Mr. William Queenin, of Auckland, and has two daughters and one son.

              

              

                
                


                  
Sandlant, H. and Co.,
                  (Harry Sandlant), Tailors, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Whataupoko. This firm was established in March, 1896, and has its premises in a portion of the Masonic Hotel buildings. The shop, which has a very fine plate glass window, is well fitted up in every respect, and has a conveniently situated cutting and work room. Messrs Sandlant and Co. are importers of goods direct from England, Scotland, and other countries, and keep a first-class and well assorted stock.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Harry Sandlant,
                  Proprietor of the business, was born in 1874 at Catlins River, Otago. He accompanied his parents to Gisborne in 1883, and served his apprenticeship in the district. After working as a journeyman for one year, he was for a short time in Wellington for the purpose of gaining further experience, and was subsequently for two years and a half at Wanganui with Messrs J. Paul and Co. On returning to



Gisborne, he started his present business, and has been very successful. Mr. Sandlant is a member of the city band, of the New Zealand Natives' Association, and of the Turanganui Lodge of Druids. He was married, in 1899, to a daughter of Mr. J. Sherlock, of Te Aroha, and has one daughter.
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Zachariah, Adolphus,
                  Merchant Tailor, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 129. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. This business was established about 1870 by the New Zealand Tweed Company, and the Gisborne branch was opened in 1890. Mr. Zachariah became manager, and afterwards took over the business in conjunction with his brother. The partnership existed till 1900, and since then Mr. Zachariah has conducted the business on his own account. He was born in 1873 in Christchurch, where he was educated apprenticed. In 1887 he joined the service of the New Zealand Tweed Company in Auckland, and was its manager in Auckland till he removed to Gisborne. He is a member of the East Coast Rifle Volunteers, and of Lodge Turanganui, 1480, E.C.
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                    Public Trust, Office
                  
                  (Gisborne Branch), Lowe Street, Gisborne. This branch was established in 1885, and Mr Thomas Chrisp has represented the Public Trustee since 1889.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Chrisp,
                  J.P., Agent for the Public Trustee in Gisborne, was born in Northumberland, England, in 1837. He went to sea at an early age, and became a master mariner in 1866. Mr. Chrisp landed in Nelson in 1853. Subsequently he had an experience on the Victorian goldfields, and settled in Auckland in 1860. He served in the volunteers in the Waikato campaign, and settled in Poverty Bay in 1874 as harbourmaster, a position which he held till 1886. For about four years he was part proprietor of the Poverty Bay “Herald.” Captain Chrisp was married, in 1859, to a daughter of the late Mr. R. Dawson, of Newcastle-on-Tyne. Mrs Chrisp died in 1898, leaving four sons and one daughter.
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Mr. Henry Cheetham Jackson
                  
                  is one of the Receivers in the Trust Estate of the Hon. James Carroll and Mr. Wi Pere, M.H.R. He is also one of the trustees of the Mangatu No. 1, 3, and 4 blocks, having been appointed to that position by order of the Governor-in-Council. Mr. Jackson was born at Saffron-Walden, Essex, in 1860. When an infant he was brought to Auckland in the ship “Excelsior” by his father, Mr. J. D. Jackson, of Onehunga, and was educated principally at Onehunga. For three years and a half Mr. Jackson served in the Bank of Australasia, and was stationed part of the time at Wanganui, and afterwards as teller in Auckland. At the time of the opening of the Te Aroha goldfield in 1881 Mr. Jackson was on the scene, and in the following year he entered the Native Land Court Department in Auckland. He was appointed clerk and deputy registrar at Gisborne in 1883, and held those offices till 1894. In 1895 Mr. Jackson was appointed to his present position, and he also acts as sole receiver appointed by the Native Land Court to manage the Whangarae block of about 16,000 acres. During his early days he served as a volunteer in the Onehunga Cadet Corps. Mr. Jackson was married, in 1895, to the daughter of Mr. W. H. Harrison, of Bendigo, Victoria, and has two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Gisborne Co-Operative Building Society
                  
                  dates from the 17th of July, 1899. Directors for 1900–01: Mr. L. T. Symes, chairman; Mr. W. S. Lunn, vice-chairman, and Messrs R. D. B. Robinson, W. J. T. Ranger, T. B. Sweet, H. J. Reed, F. Harris, H. Miller, and W. Morgan; Mr. A. G. Beere, secretary, and Mr. W. Seivwright, solicitor. This society has been successful. Its operations are conducted under the tarr-Bowkett principle; in the first year £2100 was loaned, out, and the balance sheet showed a profit of £313.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. Alexander Gerald Beere.
                 
 Secretary of the Co-operative Building Society, was born in Picton in 1863, and was educated at the Thames Grammar School and the High
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School, Wellington, and brought up to mercantile life. He had four years experience in the office of the Public Trustee, and settled in Gisborne in 1884. In 1888 he went to Victoria, and was engaged in accountancy work in Melbourne till 1892. In that year he returned to Gisborne, and became chief clerk to Mr. J. Coleman, F.I.A.N.Z., and still holds the position. He is a member of the Masonic Order, and is attached to Lodge Montrose, S.C., and as a Druid he belongs to Lodge Turanganui. As a volunteer he was a sergeant for four years in the Wellington Guards; after settling at Gisborne he became a gunner in the J Battery, and on the formation of the East Coast Mounted Rifles, he became a sergeant, and is now sergeant-major in that corps. Mr. Beere was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. T. Taylor, of County Kilkenny, Ireland, and has one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Gisborne Permanent Land Building And Mutual Investment Society
                  
                  was established in August, 1874. Mr. J. Townley has been chairman almost the whole of the time, and the other directors are: Messrs J. T. Evans, H. J. Bushnell, W. J. Chrisp, W. A. O'Meara, J. Whitby, and W. A. Friar; Mr H. M. Porter, secretary. The society has from the first been a highly successful institution. It has large investments, and has been very useful, and has enabled many persons to acquire small homes of their own.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Herbert Musgrave Porter,
                  who has since 1891 been Secretary of the Gisborne Building Society and for the Poverty Bay Park Company, is also Secretary for the Ngatapa Road Board. He was born in Sheffield, Yorkshire, England, in 1859, is descended from a Somerset family, was educated at the Independent College, Taunton, and brought up to mercantile life in Weston-Super-Mare and Cardiff. In 1881 Mr. Porter came to Auckland by the ship “Zealandia.” He was for a time in the Bank of New Zealand, and then joined the staff of the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company. While in that service he was stationed for two years in Auckland, for one year in Christchurch, and for two years in Gisborne, before severing his connection with it. Mr. Porter was for seven years chairman of the Whataupoko Road Board, and as a member of the Masonic Order he is attached to Lodge Abercorn. He was married, in 1891, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Langford, of Gisborne, and has two sons.
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Attwood, William Nicholas,
                  Furniture and General Dealer, Importer of Crockery and Glass Ware, 129 Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residence, Roebuck Road. This business was established in 1894, and is conducted in the main street in a double-fronted shop with a large shed at the back. There are also stores in Roebuck Road. Mr. Attwood, who is a cash buyer of furniture and musical instruments, holds a large and well assorted stock, and can undertake the entire furnishing of houses. He was born in 1858 in Christchurch, where he was educated; he served his time as a cabinet-maker in Dunedin. Subsequently he was for eight years farming at Sawyer's Bay, and removed, in 1894, to Gisborne, where his business has steadily increased since its establishment. During his residence in Christchurch Mr. Attwood was for three years a member of the Woolston Town Board, and had a seat on the licensing and library committees. He was for some time a member of the Heathcote Racing Club. As a volunteer he served four years in the Dunedin Cadets, and three years in the Navals in the same city. He was married, in 1880, to a daughter of Mr. Brayshaw, of Melbourne, and has three daughters and one son.
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Reynolds, Edward Gustavus Allen,
                  Cabinetmaker, Picture Framer, and House Furnisher, Gladstone Road and Grey Street, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This business was established in 1886, and is conducted in a large double-fronted shop and showroom; with a workshop in the same building, which is a fine one-storey structure. Mr. Reynolds is an importer of crockery, glassware, picture mouldings, and furniture; he keeps a large stock, and can completely furnish houses, whether large or small. He was born in Devonshire, England, in 1863, and came to Auckland by the ship “Hydaspes” in 1874. The family settled in Gisborne, where he completed his education and learned his trade at which he worked for others till he established his present business. Mr. Reynolds is a member of the local prohibition league. He was married, in 1898, and has one son.
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Townley, John,
                  Cabinetmaker and Upholsterer, Gisborne. Mr. Townley carries on one of the largest furniture making and house furnishing businesses in Poverty Bay. He imports extensively from the British and European markets, besides manufacturing a great deal on his own premises. Mr. Townley has a number of valuable agencies. He is agent for the Northern Insurance Company, for John Brinsmead and Sons' Patent Sostenente pianos; and also for the Victor bicycle, the best wheel in the world, and for the Reliance bicycle, a good up-to-date English wheel. Patent wire-wove mattresses are made on the premises to any size, and with such despatch that an order may be fulfilled while a customer is waiting. Mr. Townley also makes patent Venetian blinds to any



size and of any colour. Material and workmanship are guaranteed to be of the best. Mr. Townley is referred to in another article as Mayor of Gisborne.
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Williams, George,
                  Tobacconist and Billiard Saloon Proprietor, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 98. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Private residence, Grey Street. This business was established in 1883, and the substantial brick and concrete building now occupied was erected in 1899. It is of one storey, measures 60 feet by 26 feet, and contains two shops and a large and well-lighted billiard saloon, in which there is one Alcock and one Wright table. Mr. Williams was born in 1857 in Greece. He is largely self-educated and speaks French, English, and modern Greek. After eight years' experience at sea he landed in Wellington in 1876. Four years later he removed to Greytown, Wairarapa, where he was a grocer and dealer for several years. He then removed to Napier, where he was manager of the Occidental Hotel for one year, after which he settled in Gisborne, and opened a restaurant known as the Cafe de Paris, which he conducted for about four years. Afterwards he was caterer at the Albion Hotel for eighteen months, and subsequently spent two years in Fiji. On returning to New Zealand he founded his present business. As a volunteer he served in the J Battery, until that corps was disbanded. He holds the rank of sergeant-major in the present Gisborne Rifles, which were established mainly owing to his efforts. Mr. Williams was married, in 1887, to a daughter of Mr. F. Hick, of Gisborne. This lady died in 1898, and Mr. Williams has since married Miss Lawrence, a native of Germany, and step-daughter of Mr. J. Hart, of Gisborne.
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                    Gisborne Hotel
                  
                  (Henry Martin, proprietor), corner of Childers' Road and Lowe Street, Gisborne. Telephone 34. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This well-known hotel was established in the early sixties, and has been continuously conducted on its present site. The building is of wood and iron, two stories in height, and contains twenty-one rooms, of which fourteen are bedrooms. There are two sitting rooms on the ground floor and one upstairs. The large dining room will seat thirty guests, and there is a well fitted billiard room. Behind the hotel there is a stable with three stalls and a loose box.
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Mr. Henry Martin,
                  Proprietor, was born in Roscommon, Ireland, in 1862. He was brought up to farming, and came to Auckland by the s.s. “Westmeath,” in 1883. For ten years Mr. Martin worked for Messrs Whitson and Sons at the Albert Brewery, Auckland, and arrived in Gisborne in 1893. He conducted the Tatipori Hotel for two years and a half, and then returned to Auckland,



where he had the Park Hotel for a similar period. Mr. Martin acquired the Gisborne Hotel in 1898, and has since conducted it. He is a member of the Australasian Hibernian Benefit Society, and is attached to the Auckland Lodge. Mr. Martin was married, in 1894, to a daughter of the late Mr. D. Barry, of Napier.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    The Masonic Hotel
                  
                  (J. A. Harding, proprietor), Gisborne. The “Masonic” is one of the leading commercial and family hotels in the Poverty Bay district, and has recently undergone extensive and useful alterations, which are much appreciated by the travelling public.

              

              

                
                


                  
Mr. Harding,
                  the Proprietor of the Masonic Hotel, first leased the property from Mr. E. P. Joyce, in September, 1889, and purchased it on the expiration of the lease. Mr. Harding is referred to in another article as a member of the Gisborne Borough Council.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Record Reign Hotel
                  
                  (George Anyon, proprietor), Gladstone Road, Gisborne. This house was originally established many years ago under the name of the Settlers' Hotel. In 1897 it was burnt down, and the present two-storey wooden building, containing thirty rooms, including twenty bedrooms and five sitting rooms, was erected. There is accommodation in the dining room for fifty guests, and there is good stabling behind the hotel. The proprietor is referred to at page 1248 of the Wellington volume of this Cyclopedia.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Royal Hotel
                  
                  (Frederick Stevenson, proprietor), Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This house was established prior to 1880, and has been conducted by the proprietor since September, 1900. It is a two-storey wood and iron building with a balcony, and contains twenty-eight rooms, exclusive of the kitchen, and a four-roomed cottage behind the hotel. There are seventeen bedrooms, four sitting rooms below and two sitting rooms above, also a billiard room, and a dining room capable of seating twenty-four guests. There is a ten-stalled stable with two loose boxes behind the hotel.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Frederick Stevenson,
                  the Proprietor, was born in Gisborne in 1872, and for a number of years followed the business of a livery stable keeper, and had experience as a horse breaker. His father, the late Mr. Samuel Stevenson, who died in 1898, had the Roseland Hotel at Makaraka, where Mr. F. Stevenson obtained his first experience in the business. The late Mr. Stevenson was for thirty years in Gisborne, and was a prominent livery stable keeper. He was one of the first councillors of the borough, and served for a number of years.

              

              

                
                


                  

Brown, James,
                  Engineer, corner of Childers Road and Lowe Street, Gisborne. Mr. Brown is a native of Glasgow, and came to New Zealand when he was six years of age. He served his apprenticeship at Wilson's Foundry in Dunedin, and was for some time employed by the Union Company as engineer. He went to Poverty Bay in 1867, and in the early days fitted up a flour mill for Messrs King and Co. He then started in business, and after two years was joined by Mr. John Smail, and the firm continued for ten years as horse-shoers, wheelwrights, and general blacksmiths. Mr. Brown afterwards took an appointment at Messrs Nelson Brothers' Freezing Works, where he remained for five years. He was then employed by the Gisborne Freezing Company, in the fitting up of its works, and early in 1897 he started his present business. Mr. Brown undertakes general engineering and blacksmithing work, besides making a specialty of bicycle repairing.

              

              

                
                


                  
Hall, Frederick,
                  Gisborne Plumbing and Painting Works, corner of Gladstone Road and Bright Street, Gisborne. Telephone 67. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This business was established in 1870 by Mr. George Houghton, and seven years later the present proprietor became a partner in the firm of Houghton and Hall. In 1885 the founder retired, and Mr. Hall became sole proprietor. The fine premises in Gladstone Road were erected for the business in 1893. They stand on a freehold section, and consist of a two-storey wooden building with a large verandah, and there are two fine showrooms and large workshops, in addition to a residence of nine rooms. From fifteen to twenty hands are employed, and Mr. Hall has from time to time been engaged on most of the leading public buildings in the district. He is a large importer of paper hangings and other goods required in connection with his business. Mr. Hall is well known as a leading plumber and house decorator in Gisborne. He was born in 1857 in Wiltshire, England, where he was educated, and taught his business as a painter, and came to Auckland, in 1873, by the ship “James Wishart.” After working for three years on his own account, Mr. Hall went to Hokianga, where he found employment. He was afterwards in Auckland for one year, and settled in Gisborne in 1877. Mr. Hall was married, in 1876, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Poulter, of Auckland, and has three sons and three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Humphreys And Davys
                  
                  (George Humphreys and Andrew Davys), Engineers, Gladstone Road and Peel Street, Gisborne. This business was established in 1874, by the senior partner, who conducted it on his own account for eighteen years. The firm as at present constituted dates from 1892.

              

              

                
                


                  
Ranger, W. and Co.,
                  (William Ranger and John Ferris), Mechanical Engineers, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Private residences: Mr. Ranger, Kaiti; Mr. Ferris, Whataupoko. This business was established in 1900. The firm holds the agency for Poverty Bay for the Dayton cycles, and has full appliances for carrying out mechanical engineering work. It also acts for Messrs Booth, Macdonald and Co., Carlyle Implement Works, Christchurch, and for the Davis Verticle Feed Sewing Machine, and the Jones Lever Binder and Mower.

              

              

                
                

                  

Mr. William Ranger,
                 
 one of the Proprietors of the firm, was born in Canterbury in 1861, and was educated in Christchurch, where he was brought up as a general mechanic. In 1885 he removed to Gisborne, and was for over twelve years in the employment of Mr. Townley, for whom he was manager for seven years, during which he opened Mr. Townley's cycle department. In June, 1899, Mr. Ranger opened an agricultural and general machine branch for Messrs Common, Shelton and Co., Ltd. He founded the present business in November, 1900. Mr. Ranger acts as secretary for the local Poultry Fanciers' Club, and was for a time secretary for the Order of Rechabites at Gisborne. He in an active member of Court William Gladstone, A.O.F., and was a promoter of the United Friendly Society Fete Day, held on Boxing Day each year since 1892. Mr.
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Ranger was for several years secretary and treasurer of the movement. He was married, in 1888, to a daughter of Mr. G. Mays, of Christchurch, and has two sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Warren, Harold,
                  General Blacksmith and Farrier, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Mr. Warren was born in Auckland in 1870, and was educated in Gisborne, where he arrived with his father in 1874. Having been taught the trade of a blacksmith, Mr. Warren commenced business on his own account in 1892. His smithy is built of iron, and there is a good yard attached to it. Mr. Warren served as a cadet for four years, and is a member of the Gisborne Rifles. He is a member of the Loyal Gisborne Lodge of Odd-fellows, and is connected with the Poverty Bay, Cycling Club.

              

              

                
                


                  

Morgan, William,
                  Saddler and Harness Maker, corner of Gladstone Road and Peel Street, Gisborne. Telephone 157. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. This business was established by the proprietor in 1883. Mr. Morgan is a manufacturer and importer of saddlery and harness, and does a leading trade in Poverty Bay. He is referred to in another article as chairman of the Board of Governors of the Gisborne High School.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Primrose And Leslie
                  
                  (George Watson Primrose and Thomas Leslie), Saddlers and Harness Makers, corner of Gladstone Road and Peel Street, Gisborne. Telephone 84. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residences: Mr. Primrose, Carnarvon Street; Mr. Leslie, Bright Street. This business was established in 1889 under the style of Primrose and Deans. In 1894, Mr. Deans retired from the business, and the firm was constituted as it now exists. The premises consist of a good shop and workroom. In addition to manufacturing all kinds of saddlery and harness, the firm imports extensively, and does a considerable trade throughout the Poverty Bay district.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. George Watson Primrose,
                  Senior Partner of the firm of Primrose and Leslie, was born in County Cavan, Ireland, in 1858. When ten years of age he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Ida Zeigler.” He learned his trade at Hamilton, in the Waikato, and in 1876 he settled in Gisborne, where he worked as a journeyman before founding his present business. Mr. Primrose served in the East Coast Hussars for some years prior to their disbandment. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Turanganui, and has held the position of treasurer to the Turanganui Lodge of Druids since 1888. Mr. Primrose was married, in 1881, to a daughter of Mr. T. Wiltshire, of Gisborne, and has one daughter.
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                    Gisborne Freezing Works
                  
                  (Frederick James Shelton, lessee), Kaiti, opposite the Gisborne wharves. These works, which commenced freezing operations on the 9th of January, 1896, are erected on four acres of land, leased from the Gisborne Harbour Board. The buildings are of wood and iron, and have two stories and a basement, the latter laid in concrete throughout. The freezing plant consists of a thirty-five ton Hercules machine and a Haslam dry air machine with a capacity of 70,000 cubic feet per hour. On this floor there are extensive stores for tallow and pelts, besides the boiling down, manure, and fellmongery departments. Mutton awaiting shipment is stored in two large apartments on the first floor, and these have space for 28,000 carcases. There are also two small chambers devoted, respectively, to the storage of butter and fish. The second or top flat is fitted with six freezing chambers, with space for 4800 carcases. The slaughtering department is alongside the chambers, and on the same floor the meat preserving is carried on, and 1000 two-pound tins can be turned out daily. Receiving yards for sheep are on the level of the second floor, and those for cattle at the first floor level, connected with the upper floor by an inclined gangway. The works are up to date in every respect, and when in full operation they employ over 100 hands.
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Mr. Frederick James Shelton
                  
                  is a prominent figure in the commercial life of Poverty Bay. As managing director of Messrs Common, Shelton and Co., Ltd., he has worked up a large business, which is referred to in another article, and he is lessee of the Gisborne Freezing Works. Mr. Shelton was born in 1858 in London, educated at Salisbury, and gained his earlier experiences of commercial life in the office of Messrs Saunderson, Murray and Co. in London. He arrived by the ship “St. Leonard's” in Wellington in 1879, to join the firm of Murray, Roberts and Co., with whom he continued till 1882, when he joined Mr. W. Common in the business of Common, Shelton and Co. Since then Mr. helton has been prominently connected with the business of which he has been managing partner or director since 1884. He has been twice a member of the Gisborne Harbour Board. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Montrose, S.C. Mr. Shelton was married, in 1881, to a daughter of the late Mr. George Pitcher, who died in Fiji, and has five daughters and three sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Joseph Edward Newton,
                  Foreman of the Preserving Department at the Gisborne Freezing Works, was born in 1854, in Deal, England. He accompanied his parents to Lyttelton by the ship “Mystery” in 1858, and was educated in Christchurch. He served an apprenticeship as a pork butcher



in Timaru, and was employed at the New Zealand Meat Preserving Company's Works, Washdyke, from 1872 to 1889. After seven years' service he was promoted to the position of foreman of one of the departments, and subsequently became meat preserver till the works were closed down. He then had charge of the small goods' department of the Christchurch Meat Company at Islington, near Christchurch, and was head meat-preserver for several years. In July, 1899, Mr. Newton removed to Gisborne, and in the ensuing October, became foreman preserver at the Gisborne works. Mr. Newton was an athlete in his early days, and held the championship in 1883 for the colony for the 100 yards flat race. He was married, in 1876, to a daughter of the late Mr. E. Kelly, of Victoria. Mrs Newton died in 1897, leaving four sons and three daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Ellery,
                  Foreman of the Fellmongery Department of the Gisborne Freezing Works, was born in 1866, in Victoria. He is a son of the late Mr. Alfred Ellery, of Dunedin, fellmonger, who came to the colony in 1872. Having learned his business with his father, Mr. Ellery continued at the trade in Dunedin till 1883, when he removed to Hawke's Bay and was employed at the Waitangi Boiling Down Works for eighteen months. Mr. Ellery states that it was his father who cured and shipped the first preserved pelts sent from New Zealand. He afterwards worked with his father at the Clive works, till his father died in 1888. Subsequently he was foreman at the fellmongery of the North British Freezing Works, where he continued for two years. After a short stay in Blenheim, he returned to Hawke's Bay, and was working at various places as a wool classer. He subsequently found employment at his trade for two seasons in Wanganui, and had charge of the Longburn fellmongery till 1896. In that year he removed to Gisborne, and has been employed at the Gisborne Freezing Works since they were opened. Mr. Ellery holds excellent testimonials from every employer with whom he has worked. As a Forester he is connected with Court William Gladstone, of which he was C.R. in 1900 for the second time. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Montrose. He resides in the Kaiti district, where he has a holding of ten acres and a half, laid out in orchard and paddock. Mr. Ellery was married, in 1891, to a daughter of Mr. S. J. Williams, of Napier, and has four sons and one daughter.
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Mr. Selwyn John Campden Spiers,
                  Foreman Butcher at the Gisborne Freezing Works, was born in 1869, in Wellington, where he was educated. He had eight years' experience in connection with the meat trade in Wellington, and settled in Gisborne in 1890. For five years he was employed on the cooling floor at Messrs Nelson Brothers' Works, as assistant foreman; he was employed as a butcher at the Gisborne works when they were started, and six weeks later was promoted to his present position. As a Druid Mr. Spiers is a Past Arch in Lodge Turanganui, and his fellow members presented him with an inscribed clock in 1899 in recognition of his services to the lodge. Mr. Spiers was married, in 1897, to a daughter of the late Mr. C. Ingham, of Auckland.

              

              

                
                


                  

Hill, Rowland,
                  Butcher, corner of Gladstone Road and Derby Street, Gisborne. Telephone 96. Bankers, Bank of New South Donald, Hatton and Score. It was acquired by Mr. Hill in April, 1900. Mr. Hill was born in London in 1848, and accompanied his parents to Wellington by the ship “Annie Wilson” in 1856. He learned the trade of a butcher in Hawke's Bay, and was twelve years in business on his own account at Meanee and Taradale. In 1880 he removed to Poverty Bay, and acted as a leading hand in connection with the butchery trade in Gisborne, till taking over his present business. During the troublesome days in Hawke's Bay, Mr. Hill served in the Militia, and took part in one engagement, for which he received the New Zealand war medal. He was married, in 1885, to a daughter of Mr. H. Cannon, of Gisborne, and has three sons and three daughters.
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                    McConnell and Millington
                  
                  (Thomas McConnell and William Stewart Millington), Butchers, corner of Peele Street and Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 97. Private residences: Mr. McConnell, Whataupoko; Mr. Millington, Gladstone Road. The premises of this well-known firm are centrally situated, and consist of a large corner shop with a small goods room and out offices. The slaughterhouse is situated at Matawhero. The firm dates from 1895.

              

              

                
                


                  

Maynard, John,
                  Butcher, Peel Street, Gisborne. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Telephone 23. Mr. Maynard was born in London in 1841, and came to New Zealand in 1854. At that time, however, he remained here for only a few months, and then went to Australia, where he stayed till 1861. Attracted by the rush to the Otago goldfields, he returned to New Zealand, and was for two years engaged in mining in Otago. He then went to Taranaki, and was employed as butcher for the troops engaged in the Maori war. He was afterwards employed by Mr. Read for two years, and opened the first hotel in Gisborne. In 1867 he started business in Gisborne as a butcher, and from 1870 till 1882 he conducted a business at Ormond. He then returned to Gisborne and established himself in his present business. After the Poverty Bay massacre in 1868, Mr. Maynard was for two years engaged in active service against the Maoris. He was initiated into Freemasonry in 1887, in Lodge Montrose, S.C. Mr. Maynard has taken an active interest in racing matters, and took a leading part in the first meeting held in Poverty Bay, over thirty years ago. He is a member of the Poverty Bay Turf Club, and for years held the office of clerk of the scales. He was also a member of the Waerenga-a-hika Jockey Club, and is a large shareholder in the Gisborne Park.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Tareheru Freezing Works
                  
                  (Messrs Nelson Bros., Ltd., proprietors, Tomoana, Hawke's Bay), Gisborne. Manager, Mr. A. Dewing. Telephone 1. These important works are picturesquely situated upon the banks of the Tareheru river, about two and a half miles from Gisborne by road or river. The works occupy a large area of land, and the adjacent grounds are tastefully laid out—willows, flowers and shrubs giving a grace to the scene. The main building consists of a large freezing chamber, capable of storing 20,000 carcases of mutton. Pumice and charcoal are used in the



insulation, the former article having been recently introduced for the process. Previously the “dry air process” was used, but now the machines have been converted to the British Linde Ammonia Patent, or the Brine system. Prior to this change both machines were capable of freezing 500 carcases per diem, but under the new system double that number can be frozen, with half the consumption of coal. The shipment of frozen meat to the ocean-going steamers lying in the Bay is effected by transferring the meat from the chamber into two insulated barges, which are towed by a steam launch to the ship's side. There is a fellmongery, with all necessary appliances, attached to the freezing works. There are also the usual lofty and airy slaughtering yards, and hanging chambers, a large cooperage, fitting shops, boat repairing shed and slip, offices, etc. Besides providing suitable dwelling houses for the accommodation of the manager, clerks, and general employees, the proprietors have built a commodious hall and a library, which is supplied with over 800 volumes, besides periodicals. Large paddocks sown in English grass, well watered, and planted with shelter trees, afford ample pasturage for the sheep which are destined for the frozen meat trade.
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Mr. Alfred Dewing,
                  Manager of the Tareheru Freezing Works, was born in Lowestoft, Suffolk, England, on the 23rd of February, 1858. He arrived in New Zealand in 1876, and eventually became a station manager. Prior to receiving his present appointment, Mr. Dewing revisited his native land, and also resided in Queensland and Cape Colony for some time. In October, 1892, he succeeded Mr. Sunderland as manager, and has effected numerous alterations and improvements since he assumed control.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Bennett And Sherratt
                  
                  (Charles Debenham Bennett and William Grice Sherratt), General Merchants and Commission Agents, Gisborne. Telephone 95. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Private residences: Mr. Bennett, Childers' Road; Mr. Sherratt, Whataupoko. This business was established by the firm in 1898. The premises consist of a large wood and iron building, which is used for the purpose of offices, and as a store for merchandise and wool. All kinds of general merchandise are extensively imported by the firm, which exports wool, hides and skins. The firm has the local agencies of the Victorian Marine, the Royal Exchange Fire, and the Citizens' Life Companies. The senior partner is referred to in another article as an ex-mayor of the borough of Gisborne.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Grice Sherratt,
                  of the firm of Bennett and Sherratt, was born in Staffordshire, England, in 1862. He arrived in Auckland in 1877 by the ship “Chili,” and after a short stay in Tauranga, settled in Hawke's Bay, where he engaged in station life. In 1881 he removed to Gisborne, and was for some time manager of a station in the district before he joined Mr. Bennett in partnership. Mr. Sherratt was married, in 1886, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Garry, of Hawke's Bay, and has four daughters.

              

              

                
                


                  
Clark, Archibald And Sons, Ltd.,
                  (Mr. A. T. Hookey, manager), Merchants and Warehousemen, corner of Gladstone Road and Lowe Street, Gisborne. Head office: Shortland Street, Auckland. Telephone 32. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. The Gisborne branch of this well-known company was founded in 1892. The whole of the Poverty Bay district is worked from the Gisborne branch.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Alfred Tily Hookey,
                  Manager for Messrs Archibald Clark and Sons in Gisborne since May, 1898, was born in Lymington, Hampshire, England. He was educated in his native place and at the Solent Collegiate School, and brought up to the soft goods business in England. Mr. Hookey came to Auckland in 1886 by the ship “Northamberland,” and was for nine years in the employment of Messrs Sargood, Son and Ewen. During that time Mr. Hookey travelled over most of the North Island. In 1895 he joined



Messrs Archibald Clark and Sons in Auckland as town traveller, and three years later was transferred to Gisborne. As a Freemason Mr. Hookey was attached to Lodge Ara, in Auckland, is now affiliated with Lodge Abercorn in Gisborne, and was Grand Organist for the Grand Lodge of New Zealand in 1900. Before leaving Auckland Mr. Hookey was organist and choirmaster at the Devonport Presbyterian Church. Mr. Hookey was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. J. Spencer, of Farnham, Surrey, England, and has one son and two daughters.
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Mr. Thomas Charles Dawson,
                  sometime Manger at Gisborne for Messrs Archibald Clark and Sons, and now Manager for the firm at Napier, is the eldest son of the late Captain Thomas Dawson of the 67th Regiment. Mr. Dawson was born in Fermoy, Ireland, in 1866, and finished his education at the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell, Auckland. On leaving school he joined the firm of Messrs McArthur and Co., merchants, of Auckland, and gradually rose to the position of manager of the Wanganui branch. He retained that position until Messrs McArthur and Co. sold out their interests in New Zealand in 1895, when he had been twelve and a half years with them. Mr. Dawson then accepted an appointment with his present employers, and became manager of the Gisborne branch. On leaving Wanganui, he was presented by the mayor, Mr. Freeman Jackson, with an illuminated address, signed by the leading business residents; and the Brethren of the Tongariro Lodge, 705, E.C., also presented him with a beautiful gold jewel on resigning the office of senior deacon. Mr. Dawson is an enthusiastic Freemason, as his deceased father was, and was initiated into Freemasonry in Lodge Tongariro, No. 705, E.C., Wanganui, where he filled the junior offices up to senior deacon. On coming to Gisborne, he affiliated with the Turanganui Lodge, No. 1480, E.C., and after filling the offices of the junior and the senior wardens, was elected the master of the lodge in December, 1897, the ceremony of installation being performed by the Most Worshipful District Grand Master of Auckland, Bro. C. C. McMillan, assisted by D.G.S. Bro. J. P. Clark. Before Mr. Dawson left Gisborne to enter on the management of the firm's Napier branch he was presented by his friends with a handsome gold watch, and by the brethren of the Turanganui Masonic Lodge with a beautiful address and a jewel.
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Common, Shelton and Co., Ltd.,
                  Universal Providers and General Merchants, Peel Street, Gisborne. Telephones: Principal Office, 22; Freezing Works, 52; Managing Director's residence, 3. P.O. Box 50. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Mr. F. J. Shelton's (managing director) Aberdeen Road. This large business dates back to 1878, when it was founded under the style of Murray, Common and Co. Two years later it was known as W. Common and Co.; it became Common, Shelton and Co. in 1882, and dates as an incorporated company from 1893. The firm's business is divided into departments—shipping, insurance, stations and advances, grocery, ironmongery, drapery, wines and spirits, crockery, and cycles and agricultural implements. The company acts as agents for the Shaw, Savill and Albion and Huddart Parker lines of steamers, and for the Commercial Union Fire and National Mutual Life companies. It also acts for the Gisborne Freezing Company. Each department of the business has its allotted space in the fine brick and iron building, in which the business is centralised; and all the departments are connected with each other by a complete system of house telephones. Acetylene gas is manufactured on the premises, which are brilliantly lighted by large incandescent lamps. Messrs Common, Shelton and Co., Ltd., are not only large importers, for they also figure among the chief exporters of the wealthy district of Poverty Bay.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Gilbert Kennedy Pasley,
                  Secretary to Messrs Common, Shelton and Company, Limited, is a son of Mr. E. W. Pasley, Collector of Customs. He was born in Nelson in 1870, and was educated at Blenheim, where he afterwards joined the staff of the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, which he served successively at Oamaru, Gore, Dunedin, and Wellington, and was shorthand and corresponding clerk, when he left its employment in March, 1896, to become ledger-keeper to Messrs Common, Shelton and Company. Mr. Pasley was promoted to the position of secretary to the company in August, 1900. As a volunteer he served in the Blenheim School Cadets as lieutenant, and was afterwards for a year in the City Rifles in the same place. Mr. Pasley is an active member of the Gisborne Lawn Tonnis Club. He was married, in 1894, to a daughter of Mr. A. B. Tuson, of Southland, and has two daughters.
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Mr. Joseph Burton Kells,
                  Auctioneer to Messrs Common, Shelton and Company, Limited, was born near Auckland in 1858. He was educated in Auckland, and was brought up to farming. Before settling in Poverty Bay, in 1897, he was for fifteen years manager of Tongoio Station, Hawke's Bay. In 1897 Mr. Kells removed to Poverty Bay, and took the position of auctioneer and stock agent for Messrs Common, Shelton and Company. He holds periodical sales throughout the district, and is also buyer for the Gisborne Freezing Works.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William John Barlow,
                  Manager of the Agricultural Implement and Cycle Department



of Messrs Common, Shelton and Company, Limited, was born at Airdrie, Scotland, in 1867. He was educated at the Airdrie Grammar School, and after arriving in New Zealand attended the West Christchurch School. Mr. Barlow was brought up as a blacksmith and engineer, and studied at the Canterbury College under Professor Scott. He commenced business on his own account in the Springfield district. Four years later he removed to Christchurch as manager of the Crown Iron Works, and eight months subsequently entered into the cycle business as member of the firm of Barlow and Price. A year afterwards he established the Barlow Cycle Manufacturing Company, which he conducted from 1893 to 1900. Having sold out his interest, he settled in Gisborne, on being appointed to his present position. While he was in Christchurch Mr. Barlow took an active part in originating the Christchurch Volunteer Cycle Corps, of which he was a member. As a Freemason he is a member of Lodge Conyers, E.C., and was organist for the Lodge. He was also a member of the Christchurch Motett Society, in which he took part as a soloist, and was choirmaster of the Congregational Church, Christchurch, for a year. Mr. Barlow was married, in 1889, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. H. Chapman, of Fernside, and has one son and one daughter.
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Mr. Francis Joseph Teat,
                  Manager of the Soft Goods Department in the business of Messrs Common, Shelton and Company, Limited, was born at Napier in 1868. He was educated at Gisborne, and was brought up to the soft goods trade in Poverty Bay, where he served his apprenticeship with Mr. G. R. Moore. He was afterwards for two years with Messrs Graham, Pitt and Bennett, and was subsequently three years in Napier with Messrs Blythe and Co., and Messrs Robjohns and Co. Later on he was for a time with Messrs Kirkcaldie and Stains, in Wellington, and then returned to Gisborne, to take up a position with Mr. W. Pettie, when he left in 1890 to become first assistant with Messrs Common, Shelton and Company. Two years later he was promoted to the position of manager. Mr. Teat has been a member of the Gisborne Rowing Club since 1886; he has served on the committee of that body, and is generally interested in sports. As a volunteer he serves in the East Coast Mounted Rifles. Mr. Teat is well known as a baritone soloist, and has been closely connected with musical societies in Gisborne.
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New Zealand Loan And Mercantile Agency Company,
                  Gladstone Road, Gisborne. The Gisborne branch of this association was opened in 1881, under the management of Mr. R. Hill Fisher, in a small building, but in 1887, a handsome two-storey concrete structure was erected with suitable suites of offices. The staff consists of Mr. J. W. Bright, manager; Mr. F. C. Stubbs, accountant; two junior clerks, and the storeman.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. J. W. Bright,
                  Manager at Gisborne for the New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, was appointed to his position in 1887.

              

              

                
                


                  
Williams And Kettle,
                  Ltd., (Mr. A. F. Kennedy, manager), General Merchants, Stock and Station Agents, and Auctioneers, corner of Gladstone Road and Customhouse Street, Gisborne. Head office, Napier. Telephone 43. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. This well-known company was founded in 1880, in Napier, by Mr. F. W. Williams. Five years later that gentleman was joined by Mr. N. Kettle, who had previously been manager of Messrs Murray, Roberts and Co.'s Napier branch. In 1891 the business had assumed such large dimensions that in order to meet the requirements of the age, it was turned into a co-operative company. The shares were eagerly taken up, and a very strong directory was formed of some of the leading sheepfarmers in the Hawke's Bay and Poverty Bay districts. By the articles of association dividends on capital are restricted to seven per cent., and the whole of the balance of profits is divided among shareholders in proportion to the amount contributed by them. At the close of the year ending March, 1901, shareholders received a bonus of two per cent, on goods purchased, in addition to the fullest cash discount, and a rebate of twenty per cent, on all commissions contributed by them to the company for the previous year. The offices and stores in Gisborne are in a fine concrete block of buildings fronting Gladstone Road whilst the auction room and the large wool and grain stores stand at the corner fronting Customhouse Street and Childers' Road. In conjunction with the Loan and Mercantile Agency Company, Messrs Williams and Kettle, Ltd., are joint owners of extensive sheep and cattle yards at Matawhero, where regular sales are held. The manager, Mr. Kennedy, also acts as the company's auctioneer. The firm holds the agencies for Nelson Bros., Ltd., the Tyser line of steamers, the Oceanic Steamship Company, the Australian Mutual Provident Society, the National Insurance Company, and the Thames and Mersey Marine Insurance Company, besides the Massey-Harris Company, Cooper's and Law's sheep dips, and many other valuable trade agencies.

              

              

                
                


                  

Bushnell, Herbert James,
                  Printer and Bookseller, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Mr. Bushnell was born in Suffo
[
unclear: l]k, England in 1850, and came to Auckland in 1858, by the ship “Spirit of Trade.” Mr. Bushnell was for some time on the staff of the old “New Zealander,” and afterwards successively on the “Auckland Herald,” “Evening News,” and “Star,” and was for a time in the South Sea Islands on a sailing vessel as a seaman. In 1877 he went to Napier, and was two years on the “Daily Telegraph.” He removed to Gisborne in 1879, and was manager of the “Poverty Bay Herald” till 1898, when he commenced business on his own account as a printer and bookseller. Mr. Bushnell has been treasurer of Court William Gladstone, A.O.F., for the past sixteen years. He is also a director of the Gisborne Gas Company, and of the Gisborne Building Society, and a manager of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Crawford And Son
                  
                  (William Fitzgerald Crawford and Thomas Fitzgerald Crawford), Booksellers, Stationers, and Fancy Goods Dealers, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 87. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residence, Aberdeen Road. This business was established in 1897, and the premises occupy a portion of the Albion Hotel block. Mr. W. F. Crawford, who is referred to in another article, has been in England since 1898.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Thomas Fitzgerald Crawford,
                  Junior Partner in the firm, was born in 1871 in Auckland, and was educated in Gisborne, where he has lived since he was three years of age. He was brought up to business as a brewer by his father, and was



engaged in that line for a good many years. Mr. Crawford was married, in 1899, to the second daughter of Mr. J. R. Redstone, of Gisborne.
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Cox, William John,
                  General Storekeeper, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 99. Bankers, Bank of New South Wales. Private residence, Kaiti. This business was established in 1898. The premises include a large shop, with office and store, in which the owner keeps a good general stock of merchandise. Mr. Cox was born in 1872 in Cheltenham, England, where he received a good education. He came to Lyttelton in 1886 by the s.s. “Ruapehu,” and settled in Gisborne, where he was employed first by the Farmers' Co-operative society, and afterwards by Mr. James McKee, with whom he continued till he established his present business. Mr. Cox is a member of the Loyal Gisborne Lodge of Oddfellows, of which he is a Past Master.

              

              

                
                


                  

East, James,
                  Storekeeper, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Mr. East is a native of Calstock, Cornwall, where he was born in 1852. He was educated there, and came to this colony in December, 1873, per ship “Douglas,” landing at Wellington. He was with Messrs Robjohns and Co., in Napier, for a short time, and then went to Poverty Bay for two years in connection with a branch of the same firm. After being also another two years with Messrs Graham and Co., he set up for himself as general storekeeper, and is still successfully conducting business in that line. He is well known as a tenor vocalist, and has always been actively associated with musical matters in Poverty Bay, and has freely given his services gratuitously, especially in connection with charitable objects. Mr. East was married in 1873 to Miss Mary W. Robjohns, of Tavistock, Devon, England.
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McKee, James,
                  Wholesale Family Grocer and Direct Importer, Gisborne, and Proprietor of the Theatre Royal, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Telephone 17. Mr. McKee was born in County Derry, Ireland, and engaged in mercantile pursuits in Belfast for a number of years. In 1880 he left for New Zealand, per ship “Dunlowe,” and arrived in Auckland. For some months Mr. McKee was travelling in the Auckland province, and in July, 1880, he moved to Gisborne, where he was engaged with commercial houses until 1893, when he commenced business at his present address.
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Orr, David Malcolm,
                 
 Storekeeper and Produce Merchant, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 24. P.O. Box 24. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Whataupoko. This business was
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established in 1884. It is conducted in a large double-fronted shop, with extensive stores behind, and a considerable wholesale and retail trade is transacted by Mr. Orr throughout the Poverty Bay district. Mr. Orr was born at Mains-of-Houston, Renfrewshire, Scotland, in 1855, and was educated at Paisley Grammar School. He arrived in Wellington in 1870 by the ship “William Cargill,” and entered into mercantile life in Napier, where he was for four years with the firm of Robjohns and Co. In 1875 Mr. Orr removed to Gisborne as accountant for Messrs Graham and Co., and afterwards established his present business. Mr. Orr is a member of the Whataupoko (North Gisborne) Road Board. He was married, in 1879, to a daughter of Mr. J. O'Meara, of Whangarei, and has two sons and two daugthers.

              

              

                
                


                  

Pollock, John,
                  Storekeeper, corner of Derby Street and Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. This business was established in 1886 by the proprietor, who was born in 1832, in Paisley, Scotland. He was educated at Castle Douglas, and was brought up as a grocer in Glasgow. Mr. Pollock arrived in Auckland by the ship “Pegasus” in 1865. Soon after the opening of the Thames he went to that goldfield, where he remained for eight years. In 1876 he setled in Gisborne, where he was for some time employed by Mr. East, and was afterwards manager of Mr. Parnell's business for several years. For many years Mr. Pollock has been an elder of the Presbyterian Church, and he acts as agent for the British and Foreign Bible Society. He was married, in 1872, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. Brookes, of Birmingham, England, and has one son and three daugthers.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Teat And Friar
                  
                  (William Ashwood Friar), General Storekeepers and Importers. Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 68. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia and Bank of New South Wales. Private residence, Childers' Road. This business was established in 1881 by Mr. Friar in conjunction with the late Mr. William Teat, and was conducted by them in co-partnership till the death of Mr. Teat in 1887. The building is of wood, and consists of a large double-fronted shop of one storey, with a verandah. Drapery, crockery, boots and clothing are kept by the firm.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Ashwood Friar,
                  Sole Partner in the firm of Teat and Friar, was born in the North of Ireland, where he was educated and brought up to commercial life. He came to Auckland in the ship “Dover Castle” in 1875, and settled in Poverty Bay, where he was employed in mercantile positions till he joined Mr. Teat in establishing the firm which still bears both their names. Mr. Friar has been a member of the Chamber of Commerce since its inception. In the early days he served as a volunteer, and was connected with the J Battery. Mr. Friar was married, in 1881, to Miss McKenzie, of Waipu, who was born in Nova Scotia, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Whitby, John Eugene,
                  Storekeeper, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephone 62. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Private residence, Whataupoko. This business was established in 1889. Mr. Whitby was born in 1840 at King's Lynn, Norfolk, England. He came out to Melbourne in 1861, and four years later was at Gabriel's Gully, Otago. After goldmining on the West Coast and at the Thames, he became one of the prospectors of the Mercury Bay gumfields, and was a storekeeper at Gumtown. He was for five years subsequently in business at Coromandel, and removed to Gisborne in 1877, when he established his present business.

              

              

                
                


                  
The Gisborne Gas Company,
                  Limited, was incorporated in 1883. The works are situated in Grey Street on an acre and a quarter of land, on which stands the office of the company and the manager's residence. There are two large gas holders, capable of holding conjointly 21,000 feet. The buildings are mostly of iron, and contain ten retorts, besides a complete purifying plant. The borough of Gisborne is lighted from the works; and a cable pipe below the bed of the Tareheru river conveys gas to the Whataupoko district, while a telescope pipe across the swing bridge over the Turanganui river supplies Kaiti. The secretary of the company is Mr. W. S. Lunn, and the manager of the works, Mr. A. Spence. Directors for 1901: Mr. Thomas Chrisp (chairman), and Messrs H. J. Bushnell, e. J. Chrisp, J. T. Evans, G. Matthewson, P. McLoughlin, and J. Townley.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    British Empire Stables
                  
                  (Donald McKenzie, proprietor) behind the British Empire Hotel, Gisborne. These stables have fifty stalls and two loose boxes, with plenty of accommodation for vehicles, and there is a good waiting room for ladies.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Donald McKenzie,
                  Proprietor, was born in Lochinber, Sutherlandshire, Scotland, in 1859, and was educated at Dingwall. His father was a hotel keeper and a farmer, and Mr. D. McKenzie, who was brought up to country life, had experience among cattle, horses and sheep from his early days. He came out to Otago in 1879, and was employed for a number of years as a shepherd. For about four years subsequently he was farming on his own account in the Cromwell district, and removed to Poverty Bay in 1885 as sub-manager of Mr. R. J. Reynolds' station. Tolago Bay. Three years later Mr. McKenzie started a livery stable business in Gisborne, and has had the British Empire Stables since 1895. He was married, in 1899, to a daughter of Mr. J. Farrell, of the Thames, and has one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Masonic Stables
                  
                  (F. S. des Barres, proprietor). Lowe Street, Gisborne. Telephone 80. Bankers, Union Bank of Australia. Private residence, Kaiti. The Masonic stables, which are amongst the best in Poverty Bay, were established in 1880. They are built of iron, and have about 100 stalls, in addition to a number of loose boxes There is a fine asphalt floor, and plenty of room for traps, and a very considerable business is done by the proprietor.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Frederick Stuart Des Barres,
                  Proprietor of the Masonic Stables, was born in Halifax, Nova Scotia, in 1872, and educated at the United Service College, West ward-Ho, North Devon, where Kipling, the well-known author, went to school. Mr. des Barres was brought up to the army, and held a commission as lieutenant in H.M. 87th Irish Fusiliers. His father, who was a captain of the 21st Lancers, became a colonel in the Army Service Corps. Mr. F. S. des Barres came to Auckland in 1896, and in the following year settled at Gisborne, after having acquired the Masonic Stables. He was married, in 1900, to a daughter of Mr. W. G. Maitland, of Pomahaka. Otago.

              

              

                
                


                  

Redstone, John Robert,
                  Livery Stable Proprietor, Lowe Street, Gisborne. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. Telephone 70. Mr. Redstone was born at New Quay, parish of Tavistock, Devonshire, England, in 1850, and is the second son of Mr. John Redstone, of Tavistock. He was educated at Mr. Gaud's school, Goldsworthy, was apprenticed as a blacksmith, and after serving his time left the Old Country and arrived in Napier in 1872, per ship “Celæno,” via Wellington. Mr. Redstone obtained employment with Mr. Robertson, blacksmith, Taradale, and subsequently started in business with Mr. Redding, in Shakespeare Road, Napier. Owing, however to an accident which broke his right shoulder in three places, and to the fact of the fracture being treated for rheumatism by a local doctor, Mr. Redstone's shoulder became permanently disabled, and he had to abandon his trade. But he soon launched out in another direction, and started the first line of buses between Napier and the Spit. The line was afterwards transferred to the Napier Bus Company, but Mr. Redstone became manager and remained as such for six years, when the property was advertised to be sold. In June, 1891, Mr. Redstone arrived in Gisborne and started in his present business, and has secured one of the best connections in the district. He has a first rate plant, consisting of a waggonette,



an English landau, a hearse, several buggies, gigs, and single brakes, and keeps about twenty first class saddle and harness horses, so that the public can rely upon being supplied with first rate turn-outs, and staunch cattle. Mr Redstone is a prominent member of the Presbyterian Church and choir, and was a performing vocalist of the Gisborne Choral Society. In 1875 Mr. Redstone married the eldest daughter of Mr. John Dean, Bilston, Staffordshire, Eng land, and has ten children.
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Sawyer, Arthur,
                  Carrier, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Mr. Sawyer was born in Edmonton, London, in 1857, educated at Reading, and was brought up to country work. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Bombay” in 1864, and settled in 1876 at Gisborne, where he found employment for several years in contracting for the construction of roads and tences. In 1886 Mr. Sawyer commenced business as a carrier and carter in connection with his wood and coal yard, under the style of Sawyer and Co. He was afterwards a partner with Mr. Lucas in the firm of Lucas and Sawyer, cordial manufacturers, for about a year. Mr. Sawyer was proprietor of the Royal Oak Hotel, Matawhero, for about eighteen months. He is attached to Turanganui Lodge, U.A.O.D., of which he has been trustee for many years, and in 1900 he held office as Past District President. As a Freemason he is a member of Lodge Turanganui, E.C., and has held office as Senir Warden. He was married, in 1884, t
[
unclear: o a] daughter of the late Mr. J. Ardern, of the Thames, and has two sons and two daughters.
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Smith, Henry Rawlings,
                  Watchmaker and Jeweller, Gladstone Road, Gasborne. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Gladstone Road. Mr. Smith was born in Isington, London, in 1845, and educated at Bath and Dover. He learned his business as a manufacturing jeweller in Clerkenwell, London, where he was afterwards in business on his own account for twenty years. In 1883 he came out to Sydney, and was in business at Ashfield for fourteen years. Mr. Smith removed to New Zealand on account of his wife's health; he was for eighteen months in Christchurch, and established his present business in 1897. He maintains a good general stock of jewellery, watches, clocks, eye-glasses and spectacles. While in London Mr. Smith served as a volunteer for seven years in the Royal City of London Engineers. He was married, in 1883, to a daughter of the late Mr. Charles Smith, of London.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Clayton Brothers
                  
                  (Walter Henry Clayton and Charles Edward Clayton), Timber Merchants, Builders, Ironmongers and Dealers in Bricks, Tiles, and Pottery Ware, Gladstone Road, Gisborne; Coal and Timber Yards at Whataupoko. Telephone 11. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence, Whataupoko. This large business was founded by the senior partner in 1882, and he has continuously taken a leading part in the management. The firm takes contracts, and has erected a number of important buildings in the district, including Messrs Williams and Kettle's, the Bank of New South Wales, Messrs Rosie and Cols, and Mr. Petties', all in Gladstone Road. In 1900 the firm held contracts for building the sheds and cottages on the new railway from Gisborne to Ormond.
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Mr. Walter Henry Clayton,
                  Founder of the firm of Clayton Brothers, was born in London in 1864. When he was three years of age he arrived in Wellington with his parents by the ship “Berar,” and was educated chiefly in the Gisborne district, in which he has resided continuously since 1870. Mr. Clayton's father, the late Mr. Henry Clayton, was a well-known builder, and it was from him that his son received his training. Mr. Clayton, senior, was one of the first councillors of the borough of Gisborne, and sat continuously as a member till he left for England. As a member of the Order of Druids Mr. W.H. Clayton is attached to Lodge Turanganui. He was one of those who escaped from the wreck of the s.s. “Tasmania,” and was successful in saving his personal property. Mr. Clayton was married, in 1887, to a daughter of the late Mr. R. Woods, of London, and has one daughter.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Charles Edward Clayton,
                  Junior Partner of the firm of Clayton Brothers, was born in Gisborne, in 1885, and takes part in the firm's business, especially in connection with the management of its sawmill.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Frederick Clayton,
                  brother to the Members of the firm, acts as manager of the outside department of the firm's business. He was born in Napier in 1868, educated in Gisborne, brought up to the clothing business, entered the service of the New Zealand Clothing Factory, and was manager of its branch at Paeroa before taking up the duties of his present position.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Kennedy And Evans, And Kennedy, Evans And Company
                  
                  (Captain Joseph Kennedy and John Thomas Evans). Timber Merchants, Carriers, Lightermen, and Shipping and Insurance Agents, Read's Quay and Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Telephones 50 and 12. Bankers, Bank of New Zealand. Private residence: Captain Kennedy, Gisborne; Mr. Evans, Stout Street, Whataupoko. The large business conducted under the styles at the head of this article was founded in 1875 by the late Captain Read. The firm as at present constituted dates from February, 1885. It owns six lighters, capable of carrying from



450 to 500 tons, and has for years done the whole of the lightering for the Union Steamship, Huddart-Parker, and Tyser Companies. The firm also carries out mail Contracts, and represents the New Zealand Express Company, Westport Coal Company, and the Alliance and North British and Mercantiel Insurance Companies. Captain Kennedy supervises the shipping and coaling part of the business, and Mr Evans the management of the office.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Captain Joseph Bond Kennedy
                  
                  is referred to in another article as an early Gisborne settler.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. John Thomas Evans,
                  of the firm of Kennedy and Evans, was born in Chellenham, England, in 1841. He was brought up to mercantile life, and came to Port Chalmers in 1863 by the ship “Matoaka.” Mr. Evans spent twenty-two years in Oamaru, where he was well known as a grain merchant and a miller. The large mill now worked by Messrs J. and T. Meek was designed and built by Mr. Evans, who worked it for some time after its completion. He imported the latest new American machinery for purifying flour in that district. Mr. Evans served for years as a member of the Oamaru Harbour Board, the Oamaru Borough Council, and the local road boards. He was married, in 1863, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Shacklock, of Nottinghamshire, England, and has seven daughters and five sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Stafford, Francis,
                  Timber Merchant. Builder and Contractor, Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Private residence, Stout Street, Whataupoko. Bankers, Bank of Australasia. This business was established in 1892. Mr. Stafford was born in Arnold, Notts, England, in 1862. He was educated at Arnold and Hoveringham, and served his apprenticeship as a carpenter at Ilkeston, Derbyshire. After working at his trade for a number of years, he came to Auckland by the first trip of the s.s. “Ruapehu,” in 1884. After five years, during which he worked at his trade and also engaged in fruit farming in the Birkenhead district, he removed to Poverty Bay in 1889, and established his present business three years later. During his residence at Birkenhead Mr. Stafford served for one year as a member of the local road board, and was secretary of the fruitgrowers' association there. He was married, in 1886, to a daughter of the late M. A. Steele, of Standground, Huntingdonshire, England, and has one son and five daughters.
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Sheepfarmers.

              

                
                


                  
Assets Realisation Board's Stations.
                  The Stations of the Assets Realisation Board in Poverty Bay include “Pakowhai, 5015 acres, on which 7500 sheep and 250 head of cattle are depastured; “Puru,” 4000 acres, of which a large portion is bush, but which, nevertheless, carries 3000 sheep and fifty head of cattle; “Tawapatu,” 4000 acres, on which there are 3000 sheep; “Te Aroha, at Waerenga-o-kuri, 12,000 acres in extent, maintains 6000 sheep and 3000 head of cattle; “Paramata,” 7000 acres, supports 5600 sheep and 400 head of cattle.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Richard Sherratt,
                  Manager of these properties for the Assets Realisation Board, is well known in Gisborne, and resides at “Pouparae,” Bushmere Road. Mr. Sherratt was born near Melbourne in 1851, and was educated in England at Denham Grand Grammar School. He came to Lyttelton in 1877 by the ship “Gainsborough,” and served as a cadet for a year in Canterbury, and was subsequently for two years in the Waikato. He joined his brother-in-law, Captain Morris, and the firm purchased a farm in Tauranga, and worked it for three years, but afterwards removed to Tolago Bay. In 1880 Mr. Sherratt became manager of the estates of the East Coast Lands Company, and in July, 1899, he bought an estate of 3838 acres at Patutahi; it carries 3300 sheep and 200 head of cattle. He was married, in 1872, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Rock, of Cheltenham, and has three daughters and three sons.

              

              

                
                


                  

Cameron, Ewen,
                  Sheepfarmer, T
[
unclear: e]anga, near Gisborne. Mr. Cameron, who has a splendid farm of 254 acres on the Middle Road and a leasehold of 1000 acres at Waerenga-o-kuri, shears about 3000 sheep, and keeps a flock of Polled Angus cattle. He has been a large dealer in cattle, and has shipped cattle, horses, and sheep to the Auckland markets. Mr. Cameron introduced the first Polled Angus into the Poverty Bay district, and has imported some very fine draught horses. He was born in 1842 in Invernesshire, where his father was a noted cattle dealer, known as “Corrychoillie,” and was brought up to farming. In 1860 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Chariot of Fame,” joined the Militia, and afterwards served with the Government sanagging party on the Waikato river for three years. In 1865 he removed to Napier, and was engaged in country occupations. He settled in Poverty Bay in 1870, and had some exciting experiences in driving cattle overland in the central districts of Auckland. Mr. Cameron was one of the founders of the Poverty Bay Agricultural Society, and had a seat as a member of the committee for many years, and also served for a number of years as a member of the Poverty Bay Road Board. As a Freemason he is attached to Lodge Turanganui, E.C. On his farm there may still be seen the remains of a large redoubt, which was originally surrounded by a big ditch, and bullet proof walls twenty feet high. When he settled in the district there were no roads, and it was no uncommon thing for a settler to lose himself in the bush within a very short distance of his homestead. Mr. Cameron was married, in 1876, to a daughter of the late Mr. R. Breingan, of Gisborne, and has two daughters and seven sons.
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Cooper, William,
                  Sheepfarmer, Wainui, Gisborne. Mr. Cooper was born at Bradford in Yorkshire on the 23rd of March, 1845, and arrived in New Zealand in January, 1856, with his father, mother and four brothers. He assisted his father on land taken up by him about nine miles from Wellington, until 1858, when his father was accidentally killed by a falling tree. At the age of thirteen young Cooper then started out into the world on his own account, and worked at farming for some of the first settlers at the Hutt. Not caring for husbandry, he struck out in 1861 for the Wairarapa district, and was for about three years on a cattle station, where he gained a practical knowledge of stock, together with bush work and fencing. In 1864, Mr. Chew, one of the oldest residents of Masterton, took up a block of 5000 acres in the Tiraumea district, and offered Mr. Cooper the management, if he would first gain a year or two's experience of sheep farming. With this in view he worked for about three years as a shepherd on the Flat Point Station, and in 1867 took over the management of Mr. Chew's property, which he carried on for about twelve months. An opportunity then occurred to carry out his long cherished ambition of being his own



master, and in partnership with an old fellow shepherd, Mr. John Cross, he took up 4000 acres of unbroken country, nearly adjoining the property lately managed by him. In 1874 a satisfactory sale of the estate was made to Mr. Grant, a gentleman from Otago, and the partnership was dissolved. Mr. Cross took up another run at Wharehama, and Mr. Cooper went north to Poverty Bay, which was then practically a new district with its capabilities unknown. He there took up two runs of 7000 and 12,000 acres respectively, and was well on the high road to fortune, when the failure of the City of Glasgow Bank threw him back almost to his original starting point. However, with the stout heart which has been hitherto the main secret of his success, he again put his shoulder to the wheel. He first took up a lease of about 1150 acres at Wainui, where he established the home he now occupies, and has since acquired the freehold. The situation of this property, about three and a half miles from Gisborne, and overlooking the sea, makes it an ideal spot for a residence, and the homestead has been tastefully planted and laid out in harmony with its surroundings, and probably the many residential sites on the frontage will in future years form the suburban homes of the merchant princes of Poverty Bay. Mr. Cooper has since acquired the Puatai Estate of 4700 acres on the coast and an inland station of about 3000 acres, near the scene of his first start in the district. The three properties carry 14,000 sheep, 800 head of cattle and 100 horses. Notwithstanding the troublesome times Poverty Bay has gone through, owing to defective Native land laws, Mr. Cooper has acquired titles, either on his own account or for others, to over 100,000 acres of land, and has obtained a very valuable and extensive knowledge of this business, in which he has always been largely interested. In common with others he has taken an active part in endeavouring, against heavy odds, to get the existing land laws into a good workable form. Mr. Cooper has been connected with the endeavour to develop the petroleum oil industry in Poverty Bay from its initiation in the latter part of 1874, soon after his advent there, and he still owns some of the oil-bearing land and is sanguine that sooner or later a valuable result will be achieved with it. Since living in Poverty Bay, Mr. Cooper has materially assisted in its advancement, and he is at present a member of the Cook County Council.
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Kiore Sheepfarming Company,
                  Ltd. (Mr. P. T. Kenway, managing director). This company was incorporated in 1893 to acquire the Kiore Station, nine miles west of Tolago Bay. The property consists of 5600 acres of freehold, on which 10,000 sheep and 600 head of cattle are depastured. The company also owns Huanui Station, twenty-five miles north-west of Tolago Bay; it consists of over 11,000 acres of freehold, in course of improvement, and carries at present 14,000 sheep and 500 cattle.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Philip Thornton Kenway,
                  Managing Director of the Kiore Sheepfarming Co., was born in Birmingham, England, and came to the colony by the s.s. “British King” in 1883. He settled in the Waimata Valley, Poverty Bay, with his brothers, and has had the management of the Kiore Company since its inception.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    Kowhai Station
                  
                  (Messrs V. Lardelly and M. H. Strachn, proprietors), Waimata, Gisborne. This property is over 6000 acres in extent, and is mostly under grass; 10,000 sheep are depastured on the estate.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Malcolm Hovil Strachn,
                  Managing Partner of Kowhai Station, was born in 1866 in Reading, England. He came to Wellington by the s.s. “Kaikoura” in 1885, and settled in Poverty Bay. Mr. Strachn has for some years served as a member of the Waimata Road Board. He was married, in 1898, to a daughter of General Hume, of the Indian Staff Corps, and has one son.

              

              

                
                


                  

Reynolds, Richard James,
                  Runholder, Mangaheia, Tolago Bay, Gisborne. Mr. Reynolds, who holds 7200 acres of freehold on which he runs 10,000 sheep, resides at Childers' Road, Gisborne, where he has 100 acres of land. He was born at Wallasey, near Liverpool, England, in 1844, was educated at Trinity College, Dublin, studied as a Civil Engineer, and afterwards served for three years as such in London. In 1879 Mr. Reynolds landed in Wellington, and settled in Poverty Bay in the following year. He was engaged in engineering for some years, and bought his run at Tolago Bay in 1886. It was then in its natural state, and has since been almost entirely laid down in grass. Mr. Reynolds is a member of the Agricultural and Pastoral Association, the Jockey Club, and the Poverty Bay Club. He was married, in 1871, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. H. Sunderland, of Swarthdale, near Ulverston, Lancashire, and has two sons and six daughters.

              

            

            

              
Old Colonists.

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. James Dunlop
                  
                  was one of the pioneer settlers of Poverty Bay. He was born in Glasgow in 1820, and gained some experience with the firm of Tennent and Company, wholesale chemists. In 1849 he arrived in Wellington by the ship “Lalla Rookh.” Six months later he went to Auckland, and settled in Poverty Bay in 1850, when the whole country was in a state of nature. He took up a site in the township, on a portion of which he continued to reside to the close of his life. Mr. Dunlop purchased eighty acres at Makaraka, where he farmed for a number of years, but left the property shortly before the Poverty Bay massacre. Just as he was packing up about eighty natives came to his place, and brought their guns inside, but they told him not to be frightened, and went away without disturbing anything. After he had left, however, his house was burnt down along with the homes of other settlers. Mr. Dunlop was married, in 1845, to a daughter of the late Mr. C. Cole, of Glasgow, and had four sons and seven daughters. On his father's side he was descended from Mrs Dunlop, the friend of the poet Burns. In his early days he was a daring horseman and enthusiastic sportsman. He died in June, 1901.

              

              

                
                

                  

Captain Joseph Bond Kennedy.
                 
 Old Colonist, and well known in shipping circles as a member of the firm of Kennedy and Evans, was born at Kennedy's Bay, Auckland, in 1841. His father, the late Mr. John Kennedy, after whom Kennedy's Bay is named, was murdered when the subject of this notice was only two years of age. Mr. Kennedy, senior, had come to the colony in Her Majesty's ship “Buffalo,” in 1836, to collect spars for the Admiralty. He loaded the “Buffalo,” and she went to England, but was lost on the return voyage to New Zealand. A second ship—the “Pelorus”—was sent out, and Mr. Kennedy loaded her at Tairua under the Shoe and Slipper Island. After paying the men for the spars delivered, Mr. Kennedy left for the Bay of Islands, in a cutter named the “Three Bees,” which he had built. It was known that he had a large sum of money—over £4000—in his possession, and was taking it to deposit in the Bank; and it was while
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on the voyage that he was murdered and thrown overboard. The murderers landed at Tauranga, and travelled overland to Hokianga, where they shipped on a vessel carrying spars to Sydney. Having committed other murders in New South Wales, one of the party was arrested by the police, and confessed that his gang had murdered Mr. Kennedy and nine other men. The man who made this confession was hanged. After his father's death, Mr. J. B. Kennedy was left at Kennedy's Bay with his mother, a Maori woman. Shortly afterwards he was taken to Auckland, but at the age of nine years he ran away to sea. Nine years later he became a captain, and was for some time trading from Melbourne. Captain Kennedy visited Poverty Bay for the first time in 1851, in a vessel called the “Fly.” For some years he was employed by the late Captain Read in connection with his coastal traders, and was in command of the “Tawera,” and afterwards of the “Julius Vogel.” In 1874 he was appointed harbourmaster and pilot at Gisborne. Eighteen months later Captain Kennedy left this position, and commenced lightering at the port of Poverty Bay, and from that small commencement has grown the large business conducted by the firm, of which he is the founder. Captain Kennedy was married, in 1867, to a halfcaste belonging to one of the Opotiki tribes. Mrs Kennedy died in 1888, leaving four daughters and one son. In 1892 Captain Kennedy was married to a daughter of Mr. T. Palmer, herbalist, of Napier, and one son and one daughter have been born of this union.

              

              

                
                


                  

Captain G. E. Read,
                  who was an old Colonist in the days of the New Zealand Company, was associated in business with the late Hon. W. B. Rhodes, of Wellington. He was also engaged in trading on the East Coast for some time, and resided at Te Mawhai, a whaling station, near Tokomaru, but about 1840, he settled in the Poverty Bay district, from which he kept up the coastal trade. It was, however, during later years, after 1865, that his name became most intimately connected with the district, where he was known as the “King of Poverty Bay,” of which, indeed, he might justly be called the father. His exertions after the massacres committed by Te Kooti, and through the subsequent hostilities, were of priceless assistance to the settlers. After that, too, he did very noteworthy work in furtherance of the cause of European settlement. He applied himself to the purchase of native land, for which he had particularly good opportunities, and these he used to the uttermost in promoting settlement in the district on conditions which were, on the whole, favourable to the colonists. There were those who criticised his methods, but, taking all the circumstances into consideration, Captain Read undoubtedly did much to promote the settlement of Poverty Bay. Personally, he was a shrewd and far-seeing man, and possessed of great industry. He died suddenly, at the age of sixty-two, in February, 1878.

                

                  

[image: The late Captain G. E. Read.]

The late 
Captain G. E. Read.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Goodwin Scotter,
                  Old Colonist, was born in Norfolk, England, in 1846. He came out to New South Wales in 1855, and in the following year arrived in Auckland, where he learned his trade as a blacksmith. Mr. Scotter has been a settler in Gisborne since 1878, and was at one time a member of the firm of Humphries and Scotter, but is now in business on his own account in Gladstone Road. As a volunteer he served in No. 3 Company, Parnell Rifles, and was on active service during the Waikato war, and received the New Zealand war medal. He is a member of the Wesleyan Church, and has filled every office that can be held by a layman in that church.

              

              

                
                


                  

J. Sheen,
                  Gisborne. This lady is the widow of Mr. Sheen, who was well known as the Gisborne representative of the Kaiapoi Woollen Company. Some time after her husband's death Mrs Sheen became proprietress of the Turanganui Hotel, Read's Quay, Gisborne. This hotel is most picturesquely situated on the banks of the Tauhere river, and the visitor can obtain an enchanting view of the surrounding scenery, including the Pacific Ocean, the river, and the undulating downs, and lofty mountains. The hotel contains thirty-five rooms, including sitting, dining, and commercial rooms, and private suites, as well as an excellent bathroom, with lavatories, etc. Under Mrs Sheen's management the hotel became one of the best equipped, and one of the most comfortable, in New Zealand. Mrs. Sheen now lives in retirement at Gisborne.
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Makaraka.

            

              
              


                

                  
Makaraka
                
                is a small village about three miles and a half west of Gisborne on the main road, which at this settlement branches to the right and to the left. The road to the right leads to Ormond, Te Karaka, and Opotiki, while that to the left affords communication to Nuhaka Hot Springs, Wairoa, and Napier. Makaraka has a large hotel, a store and post office, a blacksmith's shop and other business premises. There is daily communication with Gisborne by coach. The settlement is in the Poverty Bay road district and in Cook county. Makaraka is remarkable for the natural gas which comes from artesian wells along with the water, and the gas is utilised by several of the settlers for lighting and cooking purposes.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Makaraka Post Office And Telephone Bureau
                
                is conducted at the store of Mr. William Dixon. A daily mail is received and despatched; the post office has been in existence for a considerable number of years.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Kia Ora Dairy Factory
                
                (Thomas McGregor, proprietor), Makaraka. This factory was started in a temporary building in the early part of 1899, and the present premises were completed in November of that year. The factory is substantially constructed of brick, and is fitted with the most approved appliances for the expeditious and efficient production of butter. The plant is driven by a twelve-horse-power boiler, attached to an eight-horse-power Tangye engine. Two 400-gallon De Laval separators are installed, and a thirty bottle steam turbine tester, which is about the largest to be obtained, and on the latest principle. The factory is supplied also with a circular butter worker, a churn capable of manipulating 800lbs at a time, and a Humble and Malcolm freezing machine, and with one of Anderson and Co.'s cream vats, capable of holding 300 gallons, a Dobson's steam hoist, and a Sahoe cream elevator for lifting the cream. The condenser, the chilling chamber, and the freezing chamber are the other main items of the plant. The utmost cleanliness, an important factor, is observed, and the factory is so compact and well arranged that it is a model of its kind. Mr. McGregor has established two skimming stations, one at Patutahi and one at Gisborne. In each of these he has a 400-gallon De Laval separator. At his factory he obtains milk from the farms within a radius of five miles, and cream is brought to him from a distance of twelve miles. The Kia Ora butter is praised very highly, and some Taranaki dairymen describe it as of full, rich flavour, probably fuller and richer than their own. Other high encomiums have been passed on Mr. McGregor's manufactures, and the best test is in the large sale that he maintains. The Kia Ora has by far the largest local sale, and besides the export out of the Colony, quantities are sent to Auckland. Messrs Bennet and Sherratt are the Gisborne wholesale agents, distributing throughout the district to storekeepers. In the English market Kia Ora butter brings a high price, and several letters have been sent to the Colony in praise of its excellent qualities.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas McGregor,
                Proprietor of the Kia Ora Dairy Factory, was born in Canterbury in 1860. He was educated and brought up to country pursuits in his native place, and afterwards engaged in farming for ten years at Stratford, Taranaki. Mr. McGregor removed to Poverty Bay in 1899, in order to enter into the dairy business. He owns the two acres of land on which the factory is erected, and resides at the Matoaki block, where he has a further area of ten acres and three-quarters. While in Taranaki Mr. McGregor was a director of the Ngaire Co-operative Dairy Factory from its inauguration. He was married, in 1880, to a daughter of Mr. H. McIntosh, of Rangiora, and has four sons and five daughters.
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Mr. Major Hooper Clark,
                Factory Manager of the Kia Ora Dairy Factory, was born at Hokitika, Westland, in 1877. He was educated at Midhurst, Taranaki, where he had about four years' experience in a sawmill, and in 1894 he joined the staff of the Midhurst Dairy Factory as a junior. For two years he occupied the position of assistant buttermaker at that factory, and left to take up the position of manager at Makaraka factory. Mr. Clark assisted in the opening of the factory, and fitted up the entire plant, excepting the freezing machine, which has from the first been under his management.
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                  The Roseland Hotel
                
                (William Currie and Maurice Hogan, proprietors), Makaraka. This well-known hotel was established about 1875, and the present house was built in 1890. It is of wood and iron, and has two stories, with a balcony on two sides, and contains eighteen rooms, ten of which are bedrooms,



besides three sitting rooms behind, and a fine dining room, with accommodation for thirty guests. The hotel is a favourite resor with racing people, and there is stabling accommodation for about thirty horses. The Poverty Bay Turf Club has a racecourse on the property, and two meetings are held annually—one in October and one in January. Periodical cattle sales are also held at Makaraka. The Roseland Hotel is lighted by means of a natural gas, which is one of the marvels of the district. This gas rises with the water from an artesian bore, and is caught in a gasholder, from which it is laid on throughout the hotel. It is not only used for lighting purposes, but also for heating water for the bath. There is a very large supply, much more than can be used in the hotel, and the gas blows to waste all day long.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William Currie,
                who is the second son of Mr. W. Currie, of Waiuku, is one of the proprietors of the Roseland Hotel, and was born in Auckland in 1854. He was educated in Auckland and at Waiuku, where he was engaged in farming for some years. Mr. Currie joined the police force, in which he was a mounted trooper for about ten years, and served in carrying despatches on the East Coast. In 1879 he settled down at Ormond as a hotelkeeper, and removed to Makaraka in 1888. He takes an interest in local affairs, principally at election times, and is a member of the Poverty Bay Club. He was married, in 1883, to a daughter of Mr. S. Roe, of Ormond, and has three daughters and one son.
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Mr. Maurice Hogan,
                one of the Proprietors of the Roseland Hotel, Makaraka, was born in County Limerick, Ireland, in 1852. He was educated at Mitchelston, County Cork, and was brought up to country life by his father. Mr. Hogan came to Auckland in 1874 by the ship “Dorette.” The first four years of his life in the colony were spent partly in mining and partly in bush work. He settled in Poverty Bay in 1878, and entered into partnership with Mr. Currie in the proprietorship of the Chandos Hotel at Ormond in 1881, and held the business till the end of the lease. The partners bought the freehold of the Roseland Hotel, Makaraka, where Mr. Hogan now resides. He was for several years a member of the Ormond Road Board, and he is a member of the Poverty Bay Turf Club and of the Gisborne and Tolago Bay Racing Clubs.
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Bryant, Robert Eason,
                Farmer, “Waikanae,” Makaraka. Mr. Bryant was born in Lincolnshire, England, in 1850, and was brought up as a contractor in connection with the construction of railroads and waterworks. Having obtained excellent testimonials in connection with such works, he came to Napier, in 1882, by the ship “British King,” and took contracts at Waipawa. He subsequently leased Mr. Burke's butter factory at Bushmere, and worked it for three years. In 1897 Mr. Bryant leased the Waikanae property, which is 316 acres in extent. He has sunk an artesian well to the depth of 187 feet, and it yields 36,000 gallons of water per day. On observing that there was gas on the surface of the water, Mr. Bryant conducted experiments, and was the first to use it by laying it on to his house for lighting and cooking purposes, at a cost of £125. Mr. Bryant has a dairy and small butter factory on his property, and is a large manufacturer of bacon and ham. He oreeds a great many pigs on his estate, and is also a producer of dairy-fed pork. The produce of his farm is disposed of by Mrs Bryant at her shop in Gladstone Road, Gisborne. Mr. Bryant was married, in 1870, to a daughter of Mr. R. Rawlins, of Sutton, England.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Peter Macfarlane,
                sometime of Makaraka, Poverty Bay, was born in 1821, in Forfarshire, Scotland, and was the eldest son of Mr. Peter Macfarlane, dancing-master. He followed the calling of his father up to the time of his settlement in Poverty Bay. In 1849 he left Scotland in the ship “Ramilies,” bound for Adelaide, South Australia, and after being in the Australian Colonies for nearly five years he came to Auckland, New Zealand, about 1855. He remained in Auckland for twelve months, but then moved to Nelson, and subsequently resided in Dunedin, and at Moeraki, in Otago. He followed his profession for six years, both in Nelson and Otago. About eighteen months prior to the massacre of Major Biggs by Te Kooti, Mr. Macfarlane and his wife arrived in Poverty Bay, where they engaged in dairy farming. During the Te Kooti raid, the settlers were not allowed to remain at their homesteads at night, and Mr. and Mrs Macfarlane were compelled to cross the Turanganui river every day, and seek the shelter of the Great Redoubt, built by the forces for the protection of the colonists. Before leaving Scotland Mr. Macfarlane married Miss Christina McBain, of Inverness, and they had a family of seven children. Mr. Macfarlane died in October, 1899.
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Te Arai Bridge.

            

              
              


                

                  Te Arai Bridge
                
                is the name given to a pastoral district a few miles to the south of Gisborne and in the county of Cook. It has communication by coach twice a week with Gisborne.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Te Arai Road Board
                
                was established about 1890. The district is bounded by the Patutahi road district, the Wairoa county, and the sea. The total ratable value is £273,349, and a subsidy of £180 a year is granted by the Council. No general rate is struck, but a special rate of 1/4d in the £ is levied to provide payments for a loan of £800. Members for 1900: Mr. C. J. Parker, chairman. Messrs C. White, T. Uren, J. Jex-Blake, and C. Lucas; with Mr. T. W. Bilham as secretary and treasurer.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Alexander Lucas,
                who has been a Member of the Te Arai Road Board since 1889, was born at Onehunga, in 1857. He was educated in Auckland, and was brought up to business as a butcher. After being employed as such for eight years he settled in Gisborne in 1876, and continued to work at his trade for several years. In 1885 he went into business as a cordial manufacturer, and later on had about six years' experience as a hotelkeeper in connection with the Record Reign and Muriwai Hotels. Early in 1891 Mr. Lucas devoted his attention to the manufacture of cordials. He is Past Arch of the Turanganui Lodge of Druids, and is a member of the New Zealand Natives' Association. Mr. Lucas was married, in 1885, to a daughter of the late Mr. G. H. Evans, of Gisborne, and has two daughters and one son.
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Mr. Christopher John Parker,
                J.P., who has been a Member of the Te Arai Road Board since 1897, was born in Kerry, Ireland, in 1840. He came out to Victoria, in 1853, and four years later settled in New Zealand at Wanganui, where he was for many years engaged in farming. During his residence in that district Mr. Parker was for about eight years chairman of the Wanganui County Council. Having sold his interests at Wanganui, he settled in Poverty Bay in 1892. His property at Te Arai is known as “Emerald Hill,” and consists of 8500 acres. Mr. Parker served for nearly twenty years in connection with the rifle corps at Wanganui. He was married, in 1861, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Northover, of Wanganui, and has nine sons and six daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Thomas William Bilham,
                Secretary and Treasurer of the Pututahi and Te Arai Road Boards, was born in Norfolk, England, in 1834. He came to Wellington by the ship “Leichardt,” and after four years in Hawke's Bay settled in Poverty Bay in 1871, when he took up twenty-five acres of land at Patutahi. He suffered severely in the disastrous flood of 1876, when he escaped in a whale boat, but lost all his sheep and stock.

            

            

              
              


                
The Te Arai Station.
                This choice and highly cultivated run is considered to be one of the best properties in the Poverty Bay district. Its area is 11,000 aeros, and the whole is ring fenced and sown in grass. Nearly 30,000 almost purebred Lincolns are grazing upon its pastures, besides 100 dairy cows, 500 head of cattle and 200 horses.

            

            

              
              


                
Mr. Charles Evans,
                Manager of the Te Arai Station, is an old English gentleman, and an enthusiastic lover of cricket and of athletics generally. He was born at Wolverhampton in 1830, and is the fifth son of Mr. Richard Evans, of Pondeford Hall. Mr. Evans was educated at Bridgenorth School, Shropshire, and was at first employed on his father's farm. During the year 1852, he left England for Australia, where he managed two station properties. On coming to New Zealand, in 1862, he went to the Wairarapa, in the Wellington district, to manage Mr. Meredith's run. In 1867 he arrived in Poverty Bay, and in conjunction with Mr. J. B. Poynter took up a run in the Ngakoro district, but they were compelled to abandon it in consequence of Te Kooti's raid upon the settlers. In 1876, Mr. Evans was appointed manager of the Te Arai property, which was then in a state of nature, but is now one of the best cultivated and most valuable sheep farms in the Poverty Bay District.
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Matawhero
                
                is a small settlement five miles from Gisborne on the road leading from Makaraka to Patutahi. It has large saleyards, where fortnightly and monthly sales are held, and are so largely attended that the prices realised are said to govern the value of stock throughout Poverty Bay. There is a hotel and store; the local post and telephone office is at the homestead of Mr. Stevenson; and there is daily coach communication between the district and Gisborne.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Matawhero Post And Telephone Office
                
                is conducted at the homestead of Mr. W. T. Stevenson, at Biggs' Road. The post office was established in 1893, and has been conducted as at present since September, 1900. A mail is received and despatched daily, and Miss Nora Stevenson is postmistress and telephonist.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Matawhero Public School
                
                was established about 1880. It has two class rooms and two porches, and accommodation for 150 pupils. There are 130 names on the roll, and the average attendance is 112. The school stands on two acres of land, and is surrounded by a good playground, which has a shelter shed. The teacher's house adjoins the school, and is of five rooms. The staff



consists of a certificated mistress and pupil teacher, besides the headmaster.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Marshall,
                who holds a D2 certificate, has been in charge of the Matawhero School since 1893. He was born in County Tyrone, Ireland, in 1863, and became a teacher under the Irish National Board of Education. In 1881 he arrived in Lyttelton by the ship “Waimate,” and was employed under the North Canterbury Education Board until he was appointed to the Matawhero school, which, though situated in the Auckland provincial district, is under the control of the Hawke's Bay Education Board.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Matawhero Presbyterian Church
                
                is said to have been the first church erected in Poverty Bay, and was the only building at the time of the massacre that was not destroyed by Te Kooti during his raid. It is, beyond doubt, the mother church of Presbyterianism in the Poverty Bay district. It was originally built on behalf of the Church of England, but subsequently passed into the hands of the Presbyterian body. The church is built of kauri, with a shingle roof, and has now accommodation for 150 persons. There is a Sunday school, which is attended by fifty children, and there are four teachers. The manse, which adjoins the church, was erected in 1900, and contains eight rooms, besides a bathroom. The minister in charge holds service at Matawhero, Makauri, Patutahi, Waerenga-o-kuri, and Hangaroa.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Robert Gardner,
                Minister in charge at Matawhero, was born in 1855 in Linlithgowshire, Scotland. He was educated partly at Bathgate and partly in New Zealand. Mr Gardner arrived in Port Chalmers by the ship “Vicksburg” in 1866. For six years he had charge of Pukerau parish, and was transferred to Oteramika, where he continued for three years. Mr. Gardner was called to the Matawhero charge in 1899. He was married, in 1875, to a daughter of Mr. A. Love, of Orepuki, Southland, and has three sons and six daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

                  Bridge Hotel
                
                (Edwin Quinn, proprietor), Matawhero. Mr. Edwin Quinn, the proprietor, was born in Galway, Ireland, in 1851. He arrived in Auckland by the ship “Balaclava” in 1865, and became one of the pioneers of the Thames in 1867. For twenty-four years he was well known on the goldfields, and is one of the oldest mine managers. He had charge of the Queen of Beauty, Bird in Hand, Norfolk, Sylvia, and Silverton at Waihi, and many other mines during his career. Prior to settling at Matawhero he was mine manager of the Kauri Freehold Gold Estates Opitonui mine at Coromandel. While he was at Te Aroha, Ohinemuri, he was the first chairman of the Te Aroha Town and Domain Board. He was also for three years a member of the Ohinemuri County Council, on which he represented Karangahake riding, and had a seat at one time on the Te Aroha Licensing Bench, and was afterwards chairman of the Ohinemuri Licensing Bench. Mr. Quinn was married, in 1883, to a daughter of Mr. H. Martin, Roscommon, Ireland, and has four sons and three daughters.
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Hall, Matthew,
                Saddler, Matawhero. Mr. Hall, who has been in business as a saddler at Matawhero since 1894, arrived in Auckland in 1863, and has been a resident in Poverty Bay since 1867. He was in the district at the time of the massacre, and claims to have been the first to start business as a saddler in Poverty Bay. From 1867 to 1880 Mr. Hall served as a member of the Poverty Bay Mounted Rifles, and held office as lieutenant for some time.

            

            

              
              


                

Image, Reginald Henry,
                Storekeeper, Matawhero. Mr. Image was born in 1861 in Barbadoes, West Indies. He was educated at Wellington College in England, and came to New Zealand in January, 1879. He settled in Poverty Bay, and was engaged in sheepfarming with his uncle, the late Mr. J. W. Johnson, until the latter's death. Since that time Mr. Image has visited England, and on his return in November, 1900, he established his present business. He was married, in 1893, to a daughter of the late Mr. W. Dixon, of Mount Stewart, County Tyrone, Ireland, and has three daughters.
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Steggall, Robert Mayhew,
                Settler, Matawhero. Mr. Steggall was born in 1838 in Suffolk, England, and was brought up to country life. After residing four years in London, he came to Auckland by the ship “Romulus” in 1862; in October of that year he settled in Turanganui, and has lived chiefly in the Poverty Bay district since that time. For a number of years he has engaged in farming, and also had a good deal of experience as a hotelkeeper.
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Waerenga-A-Hika
                
                is eight miles north-west from Gisborne, on the road lying between Makaraka and Ormond. It is in the county of Cook, and is a splendid sheepfarming district, occupied chiefly in large holdings. In the immediate neighbourhood a great deal of maize is raised, the climate being found very suitable for this cereal. The settlement has a hotel, a store, a bakery, a blacksmith's shop, a butcher's shop, a public school, and a fine college for Maoris, but there is no church. Close to the township a fine block of land, one square mile in size, is owned by the Church of England as a mission endowment, and the rentals from this estate are devoted to the maintenance of the Native College.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waerenga-A-Hika Public School
                
                was established in the seventies. It has two class rooms, with accommodation for 120 pupils, of whom there are 115 on the roll, and the average attendance is eighty-four. The school property stands on a section of two acres of land, part of the mission estate, and in the playground there is a shelter shed. The staff consists of the headmaster and an assistant mistress, and the teacher's residence of six rooms adjoins the school.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. William David McClure,
                who holds a D1 certificate, has been in charge of the Waerenga-a-hika school since 1886. He was born in Adelaide, South Australia, in 1850, accompanied his parents to the colony at an early age, and was educated at the Dunedin High School and at Christ's College, Christchurch. In 1871 he entered the service of the Canterbury Board of Education, under which he taught for twelve years and a half. He went to Southland in 1884, and was a year at Knapdale, and two years at Thornbury, near Riverton. As a Freemason Mr. McClure is attached to Lodge Montrose, S.C. Mr. McClure was married, in 1877, to the younger daughter of the late Mr. W. Scott, of Leithfield, Canterbury, and has three sons and five daughters.
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Mrs Agnes McClure,
                who is Assistant Mistress at the Waerenga-a-hika school, was born at Elderslie, near Glasgow, and came to Lyttelton in 1863. She was educated in Canterbury, and became sewing mistress in connection with schools in that district, and afterwards in Southland. Mrs McClure has been assistant mistress at Waerenga-a-hika since February, 1887. She teaches on the kindergarten system, and also gives lessons in cookery.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Waerenga-A-Hika Native Boarding School
                
                stands on a portion of the Church of England Trust Estate, and was established in June, 1890. It is under the control of a Board of Trustees appointed by the Church of England, and the Government Native School Department holds periodical examinations. The building is of two stories, of wood and iron, and contains two class rooms, besides accommodation for fifty pupils, and quarters for the headmaster and his family. In the last term of 1900 twenty-seven pupils were in residence. In the eastern wing there are four rooms upstairs, and three on the ground floor, besides a bathroom and pantry, and in the western wing there are five rooms below and four dormitories above. A large playground and shrubbery adjoins the school. The pupils are taught up to the fourth standard.
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The Rev. Edward Jennings,
                Master in charge of the Waerenga-a-hika Native Boarding School, was born in 1854 at Motueka, Nelson. He was educated at Government schools, at Nelson College, and at Bishopdale Theological College, and was ordained deacon in 1881, and priest in 1887. Mr. Jennings was for five years in charge of the Native Mission School, Otaki, whence he removed to Gisborne, and became tutor at Te Rau Kahikatea Theological College, Gisborne. After five years' service in that capacity Mr. Jennings was transferred to his present position. He was married, in



1883, to a daughter of Mr. B. H. Darnell, civil engineer, and has one son and four daughters.
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The Turanga District of the Church of England
                in New Zealand extends from Motu to Waimata, a distance of over seventy miles, and includes most of the county of Cook, outside the parish of Gisborne. It terminates at a point about three miles from Gisborne post office. It is intended to have a church at Patutahi, and that the principal church of the district shall be at Waerenga-a-hika, where there is a vicarage of ten rooms, with ten acres of land. At present (1901) services are held by Canon Fox, the vicar, at the public schools in Waerenga-a-hika, Ormond, Karaka, Makauri, Makaraka, Maraetaha, Motu, and Waerenga-o-kuri, and in public halls in Waimata and Patutahi, and in Te Arai Maori church.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. Canon John Elliott Fox,
                M.A., Vicar of Turanga, was born in 1845 at Demarara, West Indies. He was educated at the Charterhouse, and at Cambridge, where he graduated M.A. in 1868. Canon Fox is a late scholar of Christ's College, Cambridge, and a Crosse and a Tyrwhitt scholar of the University. He was ordained deacon in 1869, and priest in 1870. For the years 1869–71 he was curate of Holy Trinity, Marylebone, London, and for six years subsequently was incumbent of Christchurch, Demerara. He then returned to England, and was curate at Stalbridge, Dorset, for one year, and vicar of Bourn, Cambridge, for three years. He was again curate of Stalbridge for three years, and became incumbent of Gisborne, Poverty Bay, in 1884. In 1891 he removed to Napier, where he was in charge of St. Augustine's till 1893, when he settled at Waerenga-a-hika as vicar of Turanga. From 1885 to 1894 Canon Fox was chaplain to the Bishop of Waiapu. He was made Canon of Waiapu in 1880. Canon Fox is examiner to the Bishop of Waiapu, and has long been one of the examiners of the Board of Theological Studies. He was married, in 1872, to a daughter of the late Dr. Phillips, headmaster at Cheltenham College. This lady died in 1886, leaving two sons and two daughters. In 1890 Canon Fox was married to a daughter of Mr. H. J. Biyth, of the Admirally, London, and afterwards of Auckland, and two sons and one daughter have been born or this union.

            

            

              
              


                

Lougher, Henry John,
                Blacksmith and Farrier, Waerenga-a-hika. Mr. Lougher was born in Poverty Bay in 1873. He served his time as a blacksmith in the Waerenga-a-hika district, and commenced business on his own account in 1893. Mr. Lougher is a member of Turanganui Lodge of Druids. He was married, in 1898, to a daughter of Mr. H. F. North, of Te Karaka.

            

            

              
              


                

Schmidt, George,
                Gardener and Orchardist, Repongaere, Waerenga-a-hika. Mr. Schmidt was born in Willenburg, Germany, in 1845, and was brought up as a professional gardener. Before coming to New Zealand he was employed for six years at Stuggart as a gardener to the late Emperor William of Germany. In 1870 Mr. Schmidt anaed at Lyttelton from the ship “Merope,” and has since been more or less engaged in connection with garden and orchard work, though he was for a few years on the goldfields in Otago. He was farming for four years at Lake Wakatipu, and was in Queenstown for two years. For seven years subsequently Mr. Schmidt was head shepherd at Mr. McLean's station. He came to Poverty Bay as a gardener for Mr. H. Finn, and laid out that gentleman's garden and grounds at Roebuck Road. Three years later he entered the employment of Mr. W. K. Chambers, at Repongaere, and during the four years and a half that he was so employed, he planted about 27000 orchard trees. Subsequently Mr. Schmidt leased ground at Te Arai, and planted an orchard containing 1500 lemon and fifty orange trees. After four years he sold this property, and leased an orchard and paddock at Repongaere, where he grows magnificent lemons, which he ships to various parts of the colony.

            

            

              
              


                

Brooking, Benjamin,
                Farmer, Waerenga-a-hika. Mr. Brooking was born in Wellington in 1855, and was brought up to country life in Hawke's Bay, where he had been taken by his parents when he was two years of age. In 1874 he settled in the Poverty Bay district, and, after working for wages for some time, settled at Waerenga-a-hika, where he engaged in general farm work. Mr. Brooking was married, in 1877, to a daughter of the late Mr. Robert Breingan, of Gisborne. Mrs Brooking died in 1894, leaving one son and six daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Brown, Alexander,
                Farmer, Waerenga-a-hika. Mr. Brown was born in County Donegal, Ireland, in 1857. He was brought up to farming, and came to Wellington in 1878 by the ship “Fernglen.” After some years in Australia he left Sydney for Lyttelton, but, calling at Gisborne on the way, he decided to remain in the district. Mr. Brown leased a section of over fifty acres acres in Waerenga-a-hika, and afterwards increased his holding, but subsequently sold his interest. In 1880 he purchased thirty acres of land, and has since then increased his holding to 179 acres. Mr. Brown keeps sheep, cattle, and horses, and has two teams working. In February, 1899, he unfortunately lost one of his legs, but is still able to take an active part in the management of his farm. He earned his first £100 in Poverty Bay by stone-breaking. Mr. Brown was married, in 1885, to a daughter of Mr. D. Boyd, of County Donegal, and has three sons and two daughters.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Hyland,
                Old Colonist, was born at Breton, Tasmania, on the 16th of June, 1855, and was educated at Bagdad public school. He worked on his father's farm till April, 1874, when he came to Wellington, New Zealand. Mr. Hyland had four years of station life at Whareama, near Castle Point, and was one summer in Hawke's Bay—the driest summer on record in the history of that province. He settled in Poverty Bay in 1879, and became a member of Court William Gladstone, A.O.F., in 1880. Mr. Hyland made a trip to Sydney in the ill-fated “Tasmania,” in April, 1895. He served for several years on the Waerenga-a-hika school committee, and was once a member of the Matawhero Road Board. He has been connected with the butchering business and with farming operations for the past eighteen years. Mr. Hyland was married, in 1881, to Miss Lange, daughter of the late Mr. Lange, of Hope, Nelson, and has four daughters and one son.
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                  Waiohika
                
                takes its name from Mr. Charles Grey's Station. It is on the Waimata-Ormond road and adjoins Makauri. There is plenty of excellent land in the district, and a large bee farm is conducted by Mr. G. Stevenson within a short distance of the local store, which accommodates travellers.

            

            

              
              


                

Stevenson, George,
                Bee Farmer and Orchardist, Waiohika. Mr. Stevenson was born in 1845 in Edinburgh, Scotland, and became a chartered accountant after apprenticeship to a son-in-law of the celebrated Dr. Chalmers. For some time he was chief clerk in the office of the Accountant on Bankruptcy for Scotland. Mr. Stevenson came to Port Chalmers by the ship “William Davy” in 1873, for reasons of health. He was for three years stationed in Timaru as accountant to Messrs Russell, Ritchie and Co., now the National Mortgage Company. In 1878 he removed to Poverty Bay, and was for five years accountant to Messrs W. B. Common and Co. Mr. Stevenson leased five acres of land at Waiohika in 1884 for the purposes of establishing a bee farm, where he has 250 hives on the Langstroth principle, and produces from four to eight tons of honey per annum. He exports this produce to Wellington, Dunedin, and England. Mr. Stevenson, who is unmarried, has a nice property of ten acres, which is laid out in orchard, at Whataupoko, and which is let on lease.
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Makauri
                
                is about six miles from Gisborne, and lies between the road leading to Waerenga-a-hika from Makaraka and the small settlement of Waiohika. There is a public school in the district, which is entirely devoted to farming.

            

            

              
              


                

                  The Makauri Public School
                
                was established in 1886 as a private school, but was subsequently taken over by the Hawke's Bay Education Board. The building is of wood and iron, and stands on a section of an acre of land. There are two class rooms, with accommodation for ninety children, and there are eighty-seven names on the roll, with an average attendance of seventy. The teacher's residence stands close by on a section of fourteen acres of land.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Edwin Claude Bolton,
                who holds an E4 certificate, is the Headmaster of the Makauri school. He was born in Dublin, educated at Kilkenny College, Ireland, and brought up as a teacher. Mr. Bolton arrived in Auckland by the ship “Ida Zeigler,” in November, 1868, the day before the Poverty Bay massacre. He joined the volunteers in Auckland, and served altogether for twenty-five years in the Auckland Rifles and in the East Coast Rifles, and was one of those who attempted the capture of Te Kooti. Mr. Bolton is often called “the school founder” in Hawke's Bay. He founded schools at Matawhero, Te Arai, Te Karaka, Maraeteha, and Waerenga-a-hika, and has been stationed at Makauri since 1886. He has a very large apiary of 200 hives on his property, and a considerable vineyard, from which he manufactures excellent Burgundy and Madeira wines. Mr. Bolton has had large experience in treating cases of sickness, and is often consulted with beneficial results. He has discovered a



specific for typhoid and scarlet fever, and has cured every case that has been placed under his care. But he says that he has great difficulty in bringing his remedy before the public, as the medical profession, he affirms, are opposed to any innovation. Mr. Bolton desires that his specific may be judged only by results, and he believes that if these are fairly considered his discovery will justify itself as one of the wonders of the twentieth century. He has been practising in medicine for twenty-seven years, but it was merely by accident that he discovered the specific under notice. He cured thirteen patients in three days, one being his third son. Mr. Bolton was married, in 1879, to a daughter of Professor Higgins of Sai Francisco, and has three sons.
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                  Oxenham And Somervell
                
                (S. Oxenham and John Somervell), Brick and Tile Makers, Lime Burners, and Firewood, Coal and Timber Merchants, Makauri. This business was established by its present proprietors in February, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. John Somervell,
                one of the Partners, was born in Glasgow, Scotland, in 1840. When eleven years of age he entered the employment of Messrs Napier and Sons in the joiners' department of their Iron Shipbuilding Yards at Govan, where he worked for three years. In 1856 he arrived in Auckland by the ship “Joseph Fletcher,” and continued to work as a house carpenter till 1862, when, like a good many others, he caught the gold fever, and went from Auckland to Dunedin in the small brig “Lalla Rookh.” He experienced some hard times and rough living on the Dunstan, and in the Lake Wakatipu and Invercargill districts. In 1864 he returned to Auckland, where he qualified as a millwright. On the opening of the Thames goldfield Mr. Somervell cast in his lot with the miners on that field, where he held several positions of trust as battery manager, and where he soon learned to drive an engine. He also fulfilled several contracts for the erection of all kinds of machinery. In 1877 he removed to Gisborne, where he remained for about eighteen years, and carried on business as a builder and contractor, and houses and bridges in that district still bear evidence to his practical skill. Mr. Somervell went to Reefton in 1882 to superintend the erection of the Just-in-Time winding plant, after which he returned to Gisborne, where he took a lively interest in local affairs, and was a member of the school committee and borough council for many years. Christmas 1895 saw Mr. Somervell again on the Thames, where he took charge of the Waihi-Silverton battery for six months, and was then appointed manager of the Deep Sinker mine. In Mr. Somervell was appointed foreman of works at the Standard Exploration Company's Thames-Hauraki mine, which, however, was closed down in October, 1900. Mr. Somervell secured a mine manager's certificate of the first class in 1897. While in Auckland in 1860 he was sworn in as a militiaman. A year afterwards he joined Capt. Derrom's company of volunteers, and with his companions in arms did garrison duty without pay while the regular soldiers went to the front. On the formation of the Thames Scottish Rifles, he joined, and served seven years. He was a member of the Kauaeranga school committee from 1898 to 1900. When the Thames-Hauraki mine was closed down, Mr. Somervell again returned to Gisborne, and he and Mr. Oxenham shortly afterwards established their present business. As a Freemason Mr. Somervell is a Past Master of Lodge Montrose, S.C., of Gisborne. He married a daughter of the late Mr. Speight, of Dublin, and sister of Mr. W. J. Speight, of Auckland, and has six sons and one daughter.
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Muriwai.

            

              
              


                

                  
Muriwai
                
                is fourteen miles from Gisborne, on the road from Makaraka towards Nuhaka, Wairoa and Napier. There is daily coach communication with Gisborne, and daily mails are received and despatched in the settlement. The well-known sheep station of “Maraetaha” is a few miles beyond Muriwai.

            

            

              
              


                
Maraetaha Station,
                at Young Nick's Head, consists of 9300 acres of land, on which about 20,000 sheep are depastured. In October, 1900, 2200 acres, which originally belonged to the estate at Nick's Head and the coast hills, were sold.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Woodbine Johnson,
                sometime Station Owner, Poverty Bay, was born at Lavenham, Suffolk, in 1844. He was educated at King Edward's School, Bury St. Edmunds, at Rugby, and at Trinity College, Cambridge, and took the degree of B.A. in 1865. He then left England for the Colonies, and landed in Queensland. In July, 1867, he came to New Zealand and settled in Poverty Bay, where he bought a station in partnership with his brother, the Hon. George Randall Johnson. Mr. J. W. Johnson was a member of the Hawke's Bay Provincial Council till 1874. He always took an interest in sporting matters, and was president of the Poverty Bay Turf Club. He was a Justice of the Peace, an ex-member and chairman of the County Council, and was on the local Road Board, and other administrative and governing bodies. He was a captain of militia, and also a Governor of the Gisborne High School Trust. Mr. Johnson died in October, 1899.
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Mr. Cyril White,
                Manager of the Maraetaha Station, was born in 1860 at Chevington. Suffolk, England, and was educated at Uppingham, Rutlandshire. He came to New Zealand in 1880, and settled in Poverty Bay, where he served as a cadet with the late Mr. Woodbine Johnson. In 1883 Mr. White became overseer of Puhatikotiko station, near Te Karaka. Two years later, when that property was sold, Mr. White became overseer at “Maraetaha,” and was subsequently promoted to the position of manager. Mr. White is a member of the Poverty Bay and Gisborne Clubs. He was married, in 1885, to a daughter of the late Mr. J. Miles, of Wanganui, who served throughout the local Maori war, and has three sons.
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Supplementary.

        


        

          
Supplementary.

          

            
Auckland Ex-M.H.R.'s.

            

              
              


                

Mr. Loughlin O'Brien,
                mentioned at page 
100, died in April, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Graham,
                referred to at page 
104 as a former member of the House of Representatives, died in England, about the middle of February, 1901.

            

          

          

            
Foreign Consuls.

            
There have been changes since pages 
112, 113, and 114 were printed off, and at the end of June, 1901, the Consuls resident in Auckland were: United States: Frank Dillingham, 204 Victoria Arcade; Austria: E. Langguth (Seegner, Langguth and Co.), Fort Street; Belgium: John Burns, Customs Street East; Chili: C. Russell (Acting); Danish: F. E. Baume, solicitor, Queen Street; Norway and Sweden: F. E. Baume, solicitor, Queen Street; France: George Dunnet, Fort Street; the German Empire: C. Seegner, Fort Street; Portugal: H. Rees George, Fort Street.

          

          

            
Auckland Corporation.

            

              
In virtue of an Act passed by the Parliament of New Zealand in the session of 1900, municipal elections, under altered conditions, were held throughout the Colony in April, 1901.

              
At that date the membership of the Auckland City Council—see pages 
116–121 of this volume for its previous constitution—became constituted anew as follows: Dr. Legan Campbell, Mayor; and Messrs Alfred Kidd, F. E. Baume, Charles Grey, T. T. Masefield, J. H. Hannan, Peter Dignan, C. J. Parr, James Stichbury, John Court, John Patterson, H. T. Garrett, J. W. Hewson, A. E. Glover, J. T. Julian, and Arthur Rosser, councillors.

            

            

              
              

                

                  
Dr. Logan Campbell
                
               
 became Mayor under exceptional circumstances. He was elected as the man most worthy to fill the office during the visit of their Royal Highnesses the
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Duke and Duchess of Cornwall and York, and at the written request of thousands of citizens he agreed to stand for election, on the distinct understanding that he should be at liberty to 
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Dr. 
J. L. Campbell.


withdraw into private life after the Royal visit was over, and that the ordinary routine work of the Mayor's office should be supervised by a deputy-mayor. On these conditions he was elected on the 24th of April, 1901, when he received 3517 votes. He was installed on the 8th of May, the day on which his predecessor, Mr. David Goldie, retired after two years and a half of office. Later on Mr. Alfred Kidd was elected to fill the position of deputy-mayor. When the Duke and Duchess of Cornwall and York reached auckland on the 11th of June, Dr. Logan Campbell, as first citizen and chief magistrate of Auckland, did the honours of the occasion with a fine old-world courtesy worthy of the city and its Royal guests. He further signalised the event by presenting to the people of New Zealand, through the Duke of Cornwall, 230 acres of land, a part of the beautiful estate of One-tree Hill, with a request that it might be known as Cornwall Park. In a memorandum attached to the deeds, which were dated the 10th of June, 1991, Dr. Campbell said: “I sign this deed of gift on the sixty-first anniversary of the year I left the Maori village of Waiomu, on the shores of Hauraki Gulf, and entered the primeval forest to carve with my axe the canoe in which afterwards I made my way to the Island of Motu Korea, my first home in the Waitemata. Since that day it has been my fortune to be at the foundation of the colony of New Zealand, to watch with deepening interest and affection the growth of my adopted country, and to share as well its struggles and its vicissitudes and its now well founded and increasing prosperity. Superintendent of the Province of Auckland in 1855, member of the Ministry formed when a Responsible Government replaced the older system of Provincial administration, to me now, as chief magistrate of Auckland, has fallen the honour of presenting our city's welcome to is Royal Highness the Duke of Cornwall and York. Thus has my whole life been not merely co-extensive, but in closest association with the development of this city and colony. As an abiding memorial of the deep gratitude and warm affection I bear to this, the country of my adoption, I have therefore desired to present Cornwall Park to be a place of public resort for the recreation and enjoyment of the people of New Zealand. The visit of their Royal Highnesses affords, I have thought, a fitting occasion for the presentation of this gift, which I now make with no other desire than that the park may be of real and lasting benefit to the people whose prosperity I have shared, among whom I have lived for sixty-one years.”

              
Some time after the Royal visit—namely, on the 25th of July—Dr. Campbell resigned office as Mayor. In accepting the resignation and placing upon record the salient circumstances of Dr. Campbell's tenure of office, the City Council very specially referred to the gift of Cornwall Park, and expressed its assurance that “future generations of citizens, in enjoying the benefits to arise from the public use of that great estate, would recall with grateful affection the memory of John Logan Campbell, and would justly appreciate the magnificent gift by the ‘Father of Auckland’ to the people of these islands of New Zealand.” When acknowledging this resolution of the Council, Dr. Campbell said: “I rejoice to think that Cornwall Park is worthy of all you have said; but it is a still greater joy to me that I have been able to fulfil my life ambition. Again and again, amidst the changing fortunes of my later years, there have been times when I have seen hopes long cherished elude my grasp. Yet in the end success has come, and in giving the park to the public, I have lived to receive the crowning happiness of my life. Fortune placed it in my power to obtain One Tree Hill estate at a time when an area so large could be purchased, and yet happier fortune has enabled me to keep the property intact, and finally to devote it to the end for which it was from the first designed. I will venture to hope that the purpose of Cornwall Park will be attained, that it will be found a much-needed retreat from the busy cares of city life; that the surpassing beauty of its scenery will stimulate communion with nature, and that this communion will steadily administer to an increasing love of purity and beauty, and held—as, if properly enjoyed, it most surely will help—to educate in the people a character consonant with the highest civilisation.”

              
Such are the chief points in the history of the most interesting mayoralty hitherto connected with the city of Auckland. The portrait here given represents Dr. Logan Campbell in his robes of office. Dr. Campbell is referred to at page 
40 of this volume as one of the Superintendents of the Province of Auckland, and at other places in other capacities.

              
In consequence of the retirement of Dr. Logan Campbell, the City Council, at a special meeting held on the 30th of July, elected Councillor Alfred Kidd, the deputy-mayor, to be Mayor of Auckland, in terms of the thirty-fifth clause of the Municipal Corporations Act, 1900. An article on Mr. Kidd appears on page 
117 of this volume. Through Mr. Kidd's election as Mayor, one of the councillorships became vacant, and Mr. J. McLeod was elected by the citizens to the position on the 21st of August, 1901.

            

          

          

            
Civic Institutions.

            

              
              

                
Auckland Fire Brigade,
               
 page 
123. Some changes have taken place since the original articles on the brigade were printed. In September, 1901, the City Council appointed Mr. Charles Alexander Woolley, about thirty-nine years of age, to the position of superintendent.
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Mr. Woolley joined the London Metropolitan Fire Brigade under Captain Shaw, and from June, 1885, till the date of his present appointment he served under the South Australian Fire Brigade Board.

            

          

          

            
Ex-Councillors.

            

              
              


                

Mr. Adam Cairns,
                J. P., referred to at page 
133, died on the 17th of November, 1901.

            

          

          

            
Auckland Harbour Board.

            
Articles on this Board, its members and staff, appear at pages 
134–141 of this volume. As now constituted, the Board consists of the following members, who were elected for two years on the 18th of February, 1901: Mr. Alfred Kidd (chairman), and Messrs W. Gunson, A. R. Harris, C. Grey, J. H. Witheford, George Cozens, W. J. W. Philson, C. C. Dacre, A. H. Nathan, J. T. Julian, W. J. Napier, J. Stichbury, and M. Niccol.

          

          

            
Military.

            

              
              


                
Lieutenant-Colonel Banks,
                referred to at page 
156 as commanding the Auckland Volunteer District, left the colony in January, 1901, in command of the Sixth New Zealand Contingent, despatched for service in South Africa.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant-Colonel Richard Hutton Davies.
                In the beginning of September, 1901, Lieutenant-Colonel Davies, C.B., was appointed to the command of the Auckland Volunteer District. Colonel Davies served in South Africa, first as commander of No. 1 company of the First New Zealand Contingent, and then as commander of the second division of the Fourth Contingent, the late Colonel Francis being in command of the first division. While in South Africa Colonel Davies exhibited dash and bravery and administrative talents as an officer, and was made a Companion of the Bath in recognition of his services. He is a surveyor by profession, and was captain of the Hawera Mounted Rifles before he went to South Africa. Colonel Davies again left for South Africa in the beginning of February, 1902, as Brevet-Colonel in command of the Eighth New Zealand Contingent of 1110 men and sixty officers.

            

          

          

            

General Government Institutions.

            

              
Lands Office.

              

                
                

                  

Mr. Gerhard Mueller,
                 
 referred to at page 
180 as Chief Inspector of State
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Forests, Auckland, has been appointed Assistant Surveyor-General for the colony.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. L. C. Cussen,
                  referred to at page 
178 as Inspecting Surveyor for the Auckland district, has been appointed to the position of Chief Draughtsman of Auckland.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. W. C. Kensington,
                  described at page 
179 as Chief Draughtsman at Auckland, has been promoted to the position of Under-Secretary for Lands and Survey, at Wellington.

              

            

          

          

            
Charitable Institutions.

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. John Moss
                
                and Mrs Moss have ceased to be manager and matron of the Costley Home for the Aged Poor.

            

          

          

            
Educational.

            

              
              


                

Professor Potocki de Montalk,
                referred to at page 
199 as lecturer on Modern Languages at University College, Auckland, died suddenly on the evening of the 6th of September, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Hight,
                M.A., described at page 
201 as Master of Modern Languages at the Auckland Grammar School, resigned early in 1901. Mr. E. S. Atkinson, .A., formerly of the Wanganui Collegiate School staff, was appointed to the position left vacant by Mr. Hight's resignation. Dr. Patrick Marshal, M. Sc., (N.Z. University), and F.G.S. (London), Science Master at the Auckland Grammar School, also resigned early in 1901, having been appointed lecturer in Geology at the University of Otago; and was succeeded by Mr. J. H. Howell, B.A., B.Sc., London. formerly on the staff of the University College, Aberystwith, Wales. The Science Mastership at the Auckland Grammar School was held temporarily, till the arrival from England of Mr. Howell, by Mr. J. S. S. Cooper, M.A., B.Sc., of Canterbury College.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Graham Bruce,
                referred to at page 
203 as Principal of King's College, Remuera, died on the 27th of October, 1901.
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The Rev. Percy Scott Smallfield
                
                (page 
205) has severed his connection with St. John's College, Tamaki, and now carries on St. John's Collegiate School, at the Pah, Onehunga. The Rev. A. H. Anson, M.A., for many years Vicar of Hawera, in Taranaki, is now Warden of St. John's College, Tamaki.

            

          

          

            
Ecclesiastical.

            

              
              


                
The Ven. Archdeacon Dudley,
                noticed at page 
215 as vicar of St. Sepulchre's, Auckland, died in April, 1901; and the Rev. Canon Calder, Vicar of All Saints, Ponsonby—see page 
217 ante—was, during the same month, appointed as his successor in the archdeaconate.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Rev. Joseph Bates
                
                sometime Vicar of Trinity Church, Devonport, Canon of the Cathedral, Auckland, and an examining chaplain to the Primate, was born near Enniskillen, County Fermanagh, Ireland, in 1845. He arrived with his parents at Auckland in 1849, and was educated privately and at St. John's College, Tamaki. In 1869 he was ordained deacon at Napier by the late Bishop Williams (first Bishop of Waiapu), and appointed to the charge of the Lower Waikato district. Mr. Bates was ordained priest in the succeeding year by Dr. Cowie, Bishop of Auckland, and was appointed to the vicarate of Trinity in 1872. The new church, vicarage and Sunday school at Devonport were all erected during his incumbency. Canon Bates was a member of the Diocesan Standing Committee, a teacher in the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell, and a member of the council of the Auckland Institute and Board of Education. In consequence of ill-health, Canon Bates visited England in 1896, but returned near the end of the same year without material improvement, and died in 1897.
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The Rev. Father Corcoran,
                referred to at page 
227 as curate of St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland, was appointed, in February, 1901, to the parish at Puhoi, in succession to the Rev. Father Brodie, who has been stationed at Waihi.

            

            

              
              


                
The Rev. Father O'Carroll,
                whose biography is given on page 
227 of this volume—where he is referred to as assistant curate at St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland—was appointed to the parish at Kihikihi, in February, 1901, in succession to the Rev. Father Croke, who went in search of health to Barcoldine, Rockhampton, Queensland.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. A. H. Collins,
                referred to at page 
236, has resigned the pastorate of the Ponsonby Baptist Church. He held the position for nearly nine years.

            

          

          

            
Social.

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Selby,
                Huntsman of the Pakuranga Hounds, Auckland. (See page 
251).
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                  The Auckland Amateur Opera Club
                
                was formed about 1884. Professor Carl Schmitt, Messrs P. Dufaur and F. Earl were among its promoters, and Herr Schmitt acted as conductor up to the time of his death. The club has been very successful, and during its career has performed the following operas with considerable credit and ability: The Sorcerer,” “Les Cloches de Corneville,” “Pirates of Penzance,” “Iolanthe,” “Princess Ida,” “H.M.S. Pinafore,” “Madame Favard,” “Mikado,” “Gondoliers,” “Dorothy,” and “The Yeoman of the Guard.” His Excellency Lord Ranfurly is patron, and the officers of the club are: Dr. T. Hope Lewis, president; Mr. A. Towsey, conductor; Mr. A. Tayler, stage manager; Mr. Charles Chambers, secretary; Mr. J. P. Stevenson, treasurer; Messrs George Warren, A. Coutts, A. Bartley, J. F. Montague, A. Twiname, and G. M. Reid, committee.

            

          

          

            
Theatrical.

            

              
              


                

Dix, Percy Reginald,
                page 
257. Auckland is to have a new theatre, to be called His Majesty's. A site with a frontage



to Queen Street has been secured, and the building will cost £20,000. It will be on the same lines as the Princess Theatre, Melbourne, and the ground floor will be occupied by the usual orchestral stalls and pit. The first tier will comprise the dress circle, and above that will be the family circle. There will also be six private boxes, three on each side of the proscenium, one above the other. The theatre will seat 1700 people, and it will be provided with the latest patent sliding roof. It is expected that the theatre will be ready at the end of the year 1902. Mr. P. R. Dix has arranged to lease it for ten years.

            

          

          

            
Legal.

            

              
              


                

Mr. Francis Dart Fenton,
                sometime Chief Judge of the Native Land Court, was descended from a very old and distinguished Yorkshire family, and his father. Mr. Francis Fenton, was a solicitor in London. He received his education at the Sheffield Collegiate School, and was afterwards placed in the office of an uncle at Huddersfield. Mr. Fenton arrived in Auckland about 1850, in company with the late Mr. James Armitage, who was afterwards appointed resident magistrate for Waikato, and was shot by the natives whilst he was passing down the river in a canoe. Mr. Fenton was appointed resident magistrate at Kaipara by Sir George Grey in 1852, and subsequently became Assistant Government Law Officer, before Responsible Government was established. In 1869 he was called to the Legislative Council, but ceased to be a member in 1871. He became Chief Judge of the Native Land Court and Senior Judge of the Compensation Court. During his term of office as Chief Judge of the Native Land Court he was also District Judge for Auckland, and held these appointments until December, 1882, when he retired upon a pension. Judge Fenton, who was considered to be one of the greatest authorities on Maori matters, was the author of a work concerning the Maori race.

            

          

          

            
Dental.

            

              
              


                

Mr. A. E. Hobbs,
                Surgeon Dentist, whose photograph and article appear on page 
288, has removed from Wellesley Street to Ponsonby Road, where he continues his practice in more favourably situated premises.

            

          

          

            
Insurance.

            

              
              


                
Alliance Assurance Company,
                See page 
296.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Bartholomew Kent,
                Manager for Auckland and Taranaki.
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The Equitable Life Assurance Society Of The United States.
                This great society was founded in the State of New York, America, on the 26th of July, 1859, its distinguishing object being to conduct business solely on a mutual plan in the interests of policy-holders, all profits to be the property of the assured and distributed amongst them. At the end of 1860 there were only 268 policies in force, assuring £238,333, and from this modest beginning has grown all the stupendous business, which was sedulously pushed into State after State, and eventually beyond the borders of America into strange lands, over into the United Kingdom, to Paris, St. Petersburg, Stockholm, Christiana, Brussels, Amsterdam, amburg, Copenhagen, Berlin, Vienna, Budapesth, Milan, Madrid, and Santiago, through Canada, South Africa, and Australasia. Such a record for forty years commands attention, but the actual figures read like a fairy tale of finance. Thus the assurance in force grew from £238,333 in 1860, to £27,963,304 in 1870, and then to £219,670,058 in 1899. Then the assets grew from £24,396 in 1860, to £2,189,755 in 1870, and to £58,373,185 in 1899, and surpluses from nothing in 1860, to £45,783 in 1870, to £1,135,499 in 1880, and to £12,711,975 in 1899. There is that in these statistics which pre-supposes certain special qualifications which recommend themselves to the public, and especially is this evident in a comparison for later years, during which the society has become more widely known. The increase in business in 1899 was in itself startling. For instance, the assurance in force increased by £14,012,322; the assets by £4,546,248; the surplus by £793,123; and the income by £895,038. The mere existence of so considerable a surplus as £12,711,975 makes the guarantees absolutely safe, twelve million sovereigns constituting a mountain of strength, which, with the other inducements, makes the society irresistible. Such a surplus secures safety not only to existing policy-holders, but also to future. Prosperity so great is important in many ways, and particularly to the policy-holder, who is enriched by substantial dividends, the amounts of which are very gratifying; and these dividends, with the demonstrated strength of the institution, make it difficult for anyone to withstand such manifest attractions. Put shortly, the Equitable Life issues such life and endowment policies as guaranteed cash value policies, continuous instalment policies, twenty year gold debentures, premium dividend policies, indemnity policies, endowment bonds, annual dividend policies, annuities of every variety, term policies, children's endowments, joint life policies, instalment policies, etc. A variety like this gives the investor a wide choice, and enables him to choose one form or another, adapted to his individual requirements. There are special inducements in each, and terms are offered that are calculated to impress, and are as liberal in principle as in working out. In addition to the attractive terms, the stability of the society must be taken into account; also, the known fact that death claims are paid immediately after death takes place, when money is frequently of inestimable value; and it should also be borne in mind that the following clause is marked on every contract issued: “This policy shall be indisputable, after two years from its date of issue, for the amount due, providing the premiums are duly paid. Every assistance is rendered by the society to hasten the payment of claims.” It is worth adding that in 1899 nearly 80 per cent. of the death claims were paid within one day after proofs of death were received. The “guaranteed cash-value policy” is largely sought after, and some years ago the society introduced an innovation under which surrender values, both in cash and in paid-up assurances, were guaranteed. This guaranteed cash value policy gives all the benefits and advantages of other forms of policy, and, in addition, guarantees surrender values, both in cash and paid-up assurance, the amounts of which (together with loans mentioned) increase year by year, and are written in the policy.

              
It is not, however, necessary to give a detailed account of the various policies issued, each having some special characteristic to recommend it. In forty years the society has paid to policy-holders or their representatives £63,000,000 and now holds over £58,000,000 in assets. The business of the society has always been conducted on the highest principles, and it stands for all that is true and just in the assurance world. It has ever been foremost in introducing reforms in the direction of liberalising policy conditions, and its policies, as issued to-day, contain no restrictions as to



travel, residence, or occupation after issue. The Equitable also observes a decency in competition, refraining from attacking its competitors, and practising an honourable tolerance. The Australian branches were opened in 1884, and business has been done to the extent of £1,000,000 up to the beginning of 1899. In New Zealand the attractions of the society have ensured a big business, and a revival of interest has lately been observed. Much may be expected of the Equitable during the next few years. The head office in the colony is on Lambton Quay, Wellington, Mr. F. H. D. Bell being the chairman of directors, Dr. Albert Martin chief medical officer, Mr. E. Trevor-Gould resident secretary, and Mr. P. M. Thomson inspector of agencies. The local directors have power to issue policies and pay claims. What has here been written is sufficient to give a general idea of this important institution, which, in 1886, reached the position which made it the 
strongest life assurance company in the world. A mountain of strength, it has adopted the proud motto, “Not for a day, but for all time.” Essentially a local office, it is acclaimed everywhere. Its buildings in Sydney and Melbourne are among the finest specimens of modern architecture in the colonies, and have also proved excellent investments for the society. The Equitable publishes a list of all its investments, and adverting to this fact, the “Bulletin” of the 16th of August, 1899, declared that “as a guarantee of the soundness of the investments, this is a valuable idea; and it would be a very valuable shock to old-imported British prejudices if Australian societies would take the public into their confidence in like manner.”

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Percy M. Thomson,
                Inspector of Agencies in New Zealand for the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States of America, has had an extensive experience of insurance business in the Colonies. he is of American descent, and possesses in a high degree the indomitable energy which is characteristic of American manhood. To this is doubtless due the marked success which he has won, and his rapid progress in commercial prosperity. Leaving school at the age of fourteen, he entered the service of the Equitable Life Assurance Society, and from the position of office boy perseveringly pursued the hard road to success, till he was called upon as one eminently adapted to fill the responsible position he now occupies. Mr. Thomson was born in Auckland in 1872, and is a son of the late Mr. W. A. Thomson, the pioneer of the Accident Insurance Company in New Zealand, and the first General Manager in New Zealand of the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States. He was educated at a private school in Sydney—whither he had gone as a child—till the age of ten years, when he returned to Auckland, where his education was continued at the public schools. Mr. Thomson is well known in Auckland as a runner of repute and an all-round athlete. He is vice-president of the Grafton La Crosse Club, which, in 1901, carried off the New Zealand championship, and he also stands well as a cricketer and a footballer.

            

          

          

            

Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

            

              
Accountants, Agents, Etc.

              

                
                

                  

                    Hughes, Henry
                  
                 
 (late Hughes, Rayward, and Baldwin), Chartered Patent Agents and Consulting Engineers (Mr E. Brooke-Smith,
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manager), 103 Queen Street, Auckland (page 
312). Messrs Rayward and Baldwin have left the firm, which is now carried on under its original title.

              

            

            

              
Artists and Photographers.

              

                
                


                  

Bartlett, William Henry,
                  Art Photographer. The article at page 
318 had passed its final stages before the one here given came to hand.

              

              

                
                

                  

Bartlett, William Henery,
                 
 Art Photographer, Queen Street, Auckland; Branch at New Plymouth. Mr. Bartlett's studio in Queen Street might with safety be taken as an exhibition of all that is best in modern photography, and as a proof of the very remarkable progress which has been made in the art within recent years. The business has been in existence for about forty years, and has been in Mr. Bartlett's possession since 1894, and since then his experience and his special talent as a photographic artist have enable him to introduce many improvements. A collection of Mr. Bartlett's work received a first award and gold medal at the Auckland Industrial and Mining Exhibition of 1898–1899. The excellence which won this distinction is characteristic of all Mr. Bartlett's work, for his photographs, while being faithful as likenesses, are also works of art in the best sense of that misused term. This is so genuinely the case that Mr. Bartlett's workmanship has made his studio as noted in New Zealand as that of Talma is in Melbourne, and of Falk, in Sydney. Mr. Bartlett uses three stories in connection with his business. The vestibule contains specimens which show his talent for bringing out details in costumes, posing figures, and remaining true to reality while giving the last finishing touches of art to his work. In reproduces everything that is characteristic in the figures and faces of the sitters, even to the expression in [
unclear: th]
e eye and the passing smile on the face. The success which marks single photographs is seen also in his reproduction of wedding, family, and other groups, generally, for some reason or other, dissociated from artistic effects. But the fact is that, in addition to being an experienced photographer, Mr. Bartlett is also an arest by instinct. Mr. Bartlett makes a specialty of enlargements, of which some very fine specimens are on view. The studio is upstairs, where every provision has been made for the comfort and convenience of visitors. There is a reception room, a ladies dressing room, and there are three lady assistants to attend to clients. In the studio itself special attention has been given to details. Skylights, fitted with different coloured blinds, give the operator complete control over the light, and artistic backgrounds are secured by means of fine paintings, specially imported by Mr. Bartlett for the purpose. The furniture, too, is artistically in harmony with the other decorations. The dark room and the finishing rooms are on the upper floor, where there is a staff of touchers-up, of
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expert craftsmen, and of young women who mount and despatch the photographs after they come from the process-rooms. Mr. Bartlett keeps his large stock in a special apartment, designed with a view to all the materials used in photography being continuously maintained in a condition of first-class order; and, all through, his materials and appliances are of the highest excellence. Mr. Bartlett has sixteen assistants in constant employment throughout the year. Photographs taken at his New Plymouth branch are retouched and printed at Auckland, and all negatives are numbered, so that customers desiring to obtain copies can be sure of getting them. Mr. Bartlett's favourite process of production is in black and white, and the success which he has won places him in the front rank of art photographers.

              

            

            

              
Leather Trade.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. C. C. Fleming,
                  referred to at page 
380, died in September, 1901.

              

            

            

              
Wood Trade.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Samuel Bradley,
                  of Mander and Bradley, sawmillers and timber merchants, Auckland. See page 
422.
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Country Districts.

            

              
Onehunga.

              

                
                


                  

The Very Reverend Monsignor James Paul,
                  Vicar-General of the Roman Catholic diocese of Auckland, has been identified with the church in the Auckland district for over forty years, and is justly revered by his own congregation and respected by all numbers of the community. He resides at Onehunga.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. James Park
                  
                  (page 
653) died on the 16th of November, 1901.

              

            

            

              
Panmure.

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. Thomas Morrin
                  
                 's valuable stallion St. Leger, referred to at page 
660, died at the stud farm, Wellington Park, on the 22nd of October, 1901. He had been ill for a month, and a postmortem examination showed that he had been suffering from acute inflammation.

              

            

            

              
Clevedon.

              

                
                


                  
Mr. James Edward Wilson.
                  See page 
666.

                

                  

[image: Hanna, photo.Mr. J. E. Wilson.]

Hanna, photo.


Mr. J. E. 
Wilson.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Charles William Stephens.
                  See page 
668.
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Mr. 
C. W. Stephens.


                

              

            

            

              
Otahuhu.

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. George Buttle,
                  one of the pioneer Wesleyan missionaries of New Zealand, was born at Snaith, Yorkshire, England, in 1810. As a young man he offered himself as a Wesleyan missionary, and having been ordained, married and came out to the Bay of Islands in the year 1846 in the mission brig “Triton.” He was for twenty-one years at Waipa. On Mrs. Buttle's death in 1858 he retired from active work and went to England with his family. Five years later he returned to the Colony and purchased a farm at Otahuhu, where he resided for a number of years, and died on the 10th of July, 1874, leaving seven sons and one daughter.

              

            

            

              
Raglan.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Inglis Conradi,
                  County Clerk, Raglan. See page 
718.
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Mr. W. I. 
Conradi.


                

              

            

            

              
Thames.

              

                
This article should have taken the place of the one which appears on page 
863.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry James Greenslade,
                  J.P., was born at Auckland in 1867, but upon the proclamation of the Thames as a goldfield, his parents proceeded to that town, where Mr. Greenslade resided continuously until early in 1900, when he purchased the well-known estate of “Glengariff,” in the Waikato. He was educated at the Thames, and was for nineteen years connected with the Thames “Star.” Commencing as an errand boy in the office, he subsequently served his apprenticeship as a compositor; then he was appointed the “Star's” special mining reporter; and was afterwards its editor and manager for seven years. He was also the correspondent for the Auckland “Star” and the “Australian Mining Standard” (Sydney), besides being a contributor to the “British Australasian” (London). He discharged his



duties with such conspicuous ability that, in 1898, he was elected Mayor of Thames by a majority of forty votes, and had the honour of being the youngest Mayor in New Zealand. In the following year he was again returned as Mayor by a majority of 257 votes; but the same year he unsuccessfully contested the Thames seat for the House of Representatives against the Hon. James McGowan, Minister of Mines. Mr. Greenslade was connected with almost every local body at the Thames, and was Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Thames High School, the Public Library Committee, the Cemetery Trustees, and a member of the Harbour Board, the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, the Hospital Trustees, etc. He was also the first President of the Thames Branch of the New Zealand Natives' Association; always actively interested himself in everything pertaining to the welfare of the town, and is well and popularly known throughout the Auckland province. Mr. Greenslade takes a prominent part in all outdoor sports and amusements, and was President of the Thames Rugby Union, the Native Rose Football Club, and the St. Albans and other cricket clubs, besides having been a steward of the Thames Jockey Club for several years. In May, 1896, he was appointed to the Commission of the Peace, and two years later was married to a daughter of the late Thomas Penk, of Manchester, England, and has two sons. When leaving the Thames Mr. Greenslade resigned the editorship of the Thames “Star, the Mayoralty, and other public positions, and was presented by the citizens with an illuminated address in recognition of his great services to the town and the goldfield generally; while Mrs Greenslade was the recipient of a handsome a bum containing photographs of a number of the residents of the town. Since settling in the Waikato, Mr. Greenslade has taken a keen and active interest in public affairs, and is a member of the Executive of the Liberal Federation, chairman of the Ohaupo school committee, chairman of the Ohaupo branch of the Waikato Farmers' Club, president of the Paterangi Rifle Club, and vice-president of the Te Awamutu branch of the Fruit-growers' Association, the Waipa Rugby Union, and numerous football cricket and athletic clubs. In 1896 Mr. and Mrs Greenslade made a twelvemonth's tour of the United States of America, Great Britain, and Ireland, and the Continent of Europe.

              

            

            

              
Karangahake.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Alfred Shepherd,
                  Proprietor of the Talisman Hotel, at Katikati, was one of the original holders of the Talisman Mine, and still has large interests in the Karangakake goldfield. He is referred to at page 
929.

              

            

            

              
Waihi.

              

                
                


                  
The Rev. Father Brodie,
                  formerly of Puhoi, is now stationed at Waihi.
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See page
763.
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Cornwall Park.

            
The history of 
Cornwall Park, presented in June, 1901, to the people of New Zealand by Dr. Logan Campbell, through his Royal Highness the Duke of Cornwall and York, has been given in an interesting manner by the “New Zealand Herald.” It recalls the early days of colonisation, and goes also a great way back into the times when the Maoris were the sole owners of the country. In 1840, when the pioneer settlers traversed the native footpath between Orakei Bay on the Waitemata Harbour to Onehunga on the Manukau western waters, Maungakiekie rose from the surrounding treeless plain, with one single tree on its summit, and at once became known as Onetree Hill. Maungakiekie had from the earliest times been the most important position in all the country side. The whole isthmus, from Otahuhu to the Whau, was called by the Maoris, Tamaki, and is still so called by them. The native name of the stream now called Tamaki is Whangamakau. Tamaki was a favourite place of residence with the Maori people. It had in it much warm volcanic soil, suitable for the growth of the taro and the kumara, gave easy access to the sea on both sides, and to the mataitai or fruits of the ocean, which formed so important a part of Maori food. Its inhabitants, therefore, were envied by other Maoris, who had a proverb. “Tamaki, Makarau”—Tamaki of a hundred lovers. They pictured Tamaki as a fair maiden, attracting the regard of many lovers. This was perhaps its misfortune in the long run. It was possessed by a confederacy of tribes—the Taou, Waiohua, and Ngaiwi. The same people occupied Waiheke and the islands of the Gulf, and possibly the shores of the Waitemata down to the Firth of the Thames. They were able to bid defiance to all enemies until the occurrence of a singular incident. A chief named Tarakumikumi, a Waiohua, married his own niece, who had a brother named Kapetawa. The uncle and nephew went out one day to fish near the Bean Rocks, and the uncle took the nephew, then a boy, and put him on the rock at low water, and left him. As the tide advanced his mother, from the shore, heard his screams, put off in a canoe from Kohimaramara, and rescued him. Kapetawa cherished the remembrance of this affront until he grew up, when he raised a war party of Ngatipaoa, who lived at the entrance of the Thames, and with whom he had blood connection, and attacked his uncle in the pa at Orakei. The pa was taken, and many killed. The conqueror settled at Waiheke. But this was a mere raid.

            
At a later period the country was fully peopled, and the chief residence of the Waiohua was at Maungakiekie. The great chief who reigned without dispute for a long period was Te Kiwi. He was living there in great strength, in a strongly fortified pa, about the year 1720. The trenches of Kiwi's pa may be seen there at this day. His people held pas at Maungakiekie (One-tree Hill), Maungarie (Mount Wellington), Mangere, Inhumatao, Onehunga, Remuera, Omahu (near Remuera), Te Umuponga, at Orakei, Kohimaramara, Taurarua (Judge's Bay), Te Tou (Freeman's Bay), Raratonga (Mount Smart), Te Tatua (Three Kings), Owairaka (Mount Albert), and other places. He held undisputed possession of the whole country from the Tamaki river to Te Whau, and from the Waitemata to the Manukau. But, as with other rulers history tells of, he became intoxicated with power and overbearing to his neighbours. About the year 1740 he surprised and treacherously murdered thirty of the tribe Te Taou, a people of Kaipara. His people also murdered some of the Ngatimaru, of the Thames. Then came the reprisals, and about 1741 an army of Te Taou descended from Kaipara to Manukau, crossed at the Heads, in the night time, in canoes made of rushes, and stormed Tarataua, a pa of Te Waiohua, to the south of Awhitu, and slaughtered the people in it. Kiwi assembled his people from One-tree Hill and other pas, and a great battle took place at Paruroa (Big Muddy Creek). The Waiohua were defeated with immense slaughter, and kiwi was killed. This was the end of the Waiohua grandeur. Maungakiekie and all the other pas were taken possession of by Te Taou. The remnants of the Waiohua assembled in their pa at Mangere, and made a final stand. But the pa was taken, and the whole of the people killed or finally dispersed.

            
Some time afterwards the Ngatiwhatua, another Kaipara tribe, who considered that they were bound to avenge the murder of several of their chiefs who had been slain by the Waiohua, passed over to Papatoitoi, and sailing down the Waitemata assemblea and took in one day the pas of Kohimarama and Taurarua, held by the Waiohua.

            
The Waiohua were extirpated as a tribe, and individuals only existed in a subject state, or as wives amongst the conquering tribe. Tuperiri rebuilt the pa at Maungakiekie, and entered into occupation of the desolated and vacant country that had once been so populous.

            
All this piece of history was brought out at the great trial of the Orakei case before Judge Fenton. A large number of witnesses were then examined. At that time many old men were alive who have now passed away. In their youth they had heard the story from the actors in it. For instance, Apihai Te Kawau would no doubt hear from his grandfather, Tuperiri, the story of the night attack on the pa at Mangere, and the details of the bloody campaign. The evidence taken then seemed to show that Mount Eden had been abandoned before Kiwi's time.

            
Then after these wars there was a period of peace for about half a century. Te Taou and the returned refugees of Waiohua maintained Maungakiekie as their principal pa, and had outlying pas at Ohewa (Kauri Point), Te Tou (Freeman's Bay), and other places.

            
About 1790 hostilities took place between Te Taou and Ngatiwhatua and Ngatipaoa. Tuperiri still reigned at Maungakiekie, and his territory was not seriously threatened. In 1815 Apihai's people were living both at Manukau and at Waitemata.
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But a great change was to come over the scene. Europeans had come to the Bay of Islands, and the Maoris were getting that terrible weapon, the musket. Still for a time all was quiet in the district of Tamaki. Hongi Ika, the great Ngapuhi chief, went up the Thames and stormed the pa at Totara with great slaughter. Afterwards Hongi attacked the pa at Manimaina (Panmure), and captured it from the Ngatipaoa. No tribe could stand before the Ngapuhi, armed as they were, and Te Taou and Ngatiwhatua had to abandon their pas, and gather at Te Rehu (near the present water works). Wars and fighting took place till about 1825, when they made their headquarters at Okahu (Orakei). In 1826 Hongi invaded Kaipara, and Apihai and all his people fled up Waikato. At the close of the year the whole isthmus was without an inhabitant. Then the tide of war turned against the Ngapuhi, and the people began to settle at their former homes. In 1835 Te Wherowhero (afterwards known as King Potatau) brought down the people of the district, and settled them in their old places. Then in 1836 Te Taou came to the shores of the Waitemata, and began to cultivate the land about what is now the botton of Queen Street, then known as Horotiu.

            
In 1840 the sovereignty of Queen Victoria was proclaimed over New Zealand, and thereafter purchases of land were made from the native owners. In 1843 many sales of land were made by Apihai and his people. Onetree Hill was sold to an Auckland merchant named Mr. Thomas Henry, who had a place of business in Queen Street. In 1853 Mr. Henry sold to Dr. Campbell, and was delighted when he found the land was not to be cut up into small pieces. Dr. Campbell ever afterwards held the land, and had for many years entertained the idea of bestowing it upon the people of Auckland. The remnant of the Waiohua tribe, the people who held it as far as tradition can take us, signed the deed to Mr. Henry, along with the chiefs of the conquering tribe. There were only these two—Mr. Henry and Dr. Campbell—between the native owners and the people of Auckland. And now this spot, perhaps the most beautiful in a large and exceptionally lovely district, the scene of many battles, of capture and defence, of savage cannibal feasts, when hundreds were roasted in the ovens, becomes, says the writer in “The New Zealand Herald,” a place of pleasant resort for the people of Auckland, a place of recreation for the citizen for all time, where he can see the Manukau and the Waitemata, and all the idylic country which lies around, where he can be surrounded by everything that can gratify the eye. It is for him and for his children, and their children's children; and for untold ages, the people of Auckland, when enjoying all these delights, will not forget to think of the life and to bless the memory of the donor.
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Auckland Ex-M.H.R.'s.

            

              
              


                

Mr. Loughlin O'Brien,
                mentioned at page 
100, died in April, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. George Graham,
                referred to at page 
104 as a former member of the House of Representatives, died in England, about the middle of February, 1901.
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Foreign Consuls.

            
There have been changes since pages 
112, 113, and 114 were printed off, and at the end of June, 1901, the Consuls resident in Auckland were: United States: Frank Dillingham, 204 Victoria Arcade; Austria: E. Langguth (Seegner, Langguth and Co.), Fort Street; Belgium: John Burns, Customs Street East; Chili: C. Russell (Acting); Danish: F. E. Baume, solicitor, Queen Street; Norway and Sweden: F. E. Baume, solicitor, Queen Street; France: George Dunnet, Fort Street; the German Empire: C. Seegner, Fort Street; Portugal: H. Rees George, Fort Street.
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Auckland Corporation.

            

              
In virtue of an Act passed by the Parliament of New Zealand in the session of 1900, municipal elections, under altered conditions, were held throughout the Colony in April, 1901.

              
At that date the membership of the Auckland City Council—see pages 
116–121 of this volume for its previous constitution—became constituted anew as follows: Dr. Legan Campbell, Mayor; and Messrs Alfred Kidd, F. E. Baume, Charles Grey, T. T. Masefield, J. H. Hannan, Peter Dignan, C. J. Parr, James Stichbury, John Court, John Patterson, H. T. Garrett, J. W. Hewson, A. E. Glover, J. T. Julian, and Arthur Rosser, councillors.

            

            

              
              

                

                  
Dr. Logan Campbell
                
               
 became Mayor under exceptional circumstances. He was elected as the man most worthy to fill the office during the visit of their Royal Highnesses the
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Duke and Duchess of Cornwall and York, and at the written request of thousands of citizens he agreed to stand for election, on the distinct understanding that he should be at liberty to 
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Dr. 
J. L. Campbell.


withdraw into private life after the Royal visit was over, and that the ordinary routine work of the Mayor's office should be supervised by a deputy-mayor. On these conditions he was elected on the 24th of April, 1901, when he received 3517 votes. He was installed on the 8th of May, the day on which his predecessor, Mr. David Goldie, retired after two years and a half of office. Later on Mr. Alfred Kidd was elected to fill the position of deputy-mayor. When the Duke and Duchess of Cornwall and York reached auckland on the 11th of June, Dr. Logan Campbell, as first citizen and chief magistrate of Auckland, did the honours of the occasion with a fine old-world courtesy worthy of the city and its Royal guests. He further signalised the event by presenting to the people of New Zealand, through the Duke of Cornwall, 230 acres of land, a part of the beautiful estate of One-tree Hill, with a request that it might be known as Cornwall Park. In a memorandum attached to the deeds, which were dated the 10th of June, 1991, Dr. Campbell said: “I sign this deed of gift on the sixty-first anniversary of the year I left the Maori village of Waiomu, on the shores of Hauraki Gulf, and entered the primeval forest to carve with my axe the canoe in which afterwards I made my way to the Island of Motu Korea, my first home in the Waitemata. Since that day it has been my fortune to be at the foundation of the colony of New Zealand, to watch with deepening interest and affection the growth of my adopted country, and to share as well its struggles and its vicissitudes and its now well founded and increasing prosperity. Superintendent of the Province of Auckland in 1855, member of the Ministry formed when a Responsible Government replaced the older system of Provincial administration, to me now, as chief magistrate of Auckland, has fallen the honour of presenting our city's welcome to is Royal Highness the Duke of Cornwall and York. Thus has my whole life been not merely co-extensive, but in closest association with the development of this city and colony. As an abiding memorial of the deep gratitude and warm affection I bear to this, the country of my adoption, I have therefore desired to present Cornwall Park to be a place of public resort for the recreation and enjoyment of the people of New Zealand. The visit of their Royal Highnesses affords, I have thought, a fitting occasion for the presentation of this gift, which I now make with no other desire than that the park may be of real and lasting benefit to the people whose prosperity I have shared, among whom I have lived for sixty-one years.”

              
Some time after the Royal visit—namely, on the 25th of July—Dr. Campbell resigned office as Mayor. In accepting the resignation and placing upon record the salient circumstances of Dr. Campbell's tenure of office, the City Council very specially referred to the gift of Cornwall Park, and expressed its assurance that “future generations of citizens, in enjoying the benefits to arise from the public use of that great estate, would recall with grateful affection the memory of John Logan Campbell, and would justly appreciate the magnificent gift by the ‘Father of Auckland’ to the people of these islands of New Zealand.” When acknowledging this resolution of the Council, Dr. Campbell said: “I rejoice to think that Cornwall Park is worthy of all you have said; but it is a still greater joy to me that I have been able to fulfil my life ambition. Again and again, amidst the changing fortunes of my later years, there have been times when I have seen hopes long cherished elude my grasp. Yet in the end success has come, and in giving the park to the public, I have lived to receive the crowning happiness of my life. Fortune placed it in my power to obtain One Tree Hill estate at a time when an area so large could be purchased, and yet happier fortune has enabled me to keep the property intact, and finally to devote it to the end for which it was from the first designed. I will venture to hope that the purpose of Cornwall Park will be attained, that it will be found a much-needed retreat from the busy cares of city life; that the surpassing beauty of its scenery will stimulate communion with nature, and that this communion will steadily administer to an increasing love of purity and beauty, and held—as, if properly enjoyed, it most surely will help—to educate in the people a character consonant with the highest civilisation.”

              
Such are the chief points in the history of the most interesting mayoralty hitherto connected with the city of Auckland. The portrait here given represents Dr. Logan Campbell in his robes of office. Dr. Campbell is referred to at page 
40 of this volume as one of the Superintendents of the Province of Auckland, and at other places in other capacities.

              
In consequence of the retirement of Dr. Logan Campbell, the City Council, at a special meeting held on the 30th of July, elected Councillor Alfred Kidd, the deputy-mayor, to be Mayor of Auckland, in terms of the thirty-fifth clause of the Municipal Corporations Act, 1900. An article on Mr. Kidd appears on page 
117 of this volume. Through Mr. Kidd's election as Mayor, one of the councillorships became vacant, and Mr. J. McLeod was elected by the citizens to the position on the 21st of August, 1901.
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Civic Institutions.

            

              
              

                
Auckland Fire Brigade,
               
 page 
123. Some changes have taken place since the original articles on the brigade were printed. In September, 1901, the City Council appointed Mr. Charles Alexander Woolley, about thirty-nine years of age, to the position of superintendent.
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Mr. Woolley joined the London Metropolitan Fire Brigade under Captain Shaw, and from June, 1885, till the date of his present appointment he served under the South Australian Fire Brigade Board.
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Ex-Councillors.

            

              
              


                

Mr. Adam Cairns,
                J. P., referred to at page 
133, died on the 17th of November, 1901.
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Auckland Harbour Board.

            
Articles on this Board, its members and staff, appear at pages 
134–141 of this volume. As now constituted, the Board consists of the following members, who were elected for two years on the 18th of February, 1901: Mr. Alfred Kidd (chairman), and Messrs W. Gunson, A. R. Harris, C. Grey, J. H. Witheford, George Cozens, W. J. W. Philson, C. C. Dacre, A. H. Nathan, J. T. Julian, W. J. Napier, J. Stichbury, and M. Niccol.
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Military.

            

              
              


                
Lieutenant-Colonel Banks,
                referred to at page 
156 as commanding the Auckland Volunteer District, left the colony in January, 1901, in command of the Sixth New Zealand Contingent, despatched for service in South Africa.

            

            

              
              


                

Lieutenant-Colonel Richard Hutton Davies.
                In the beginning of September, 1901, Lieutenant-Colonel Davies, C.B., was appointed to the command of the Auckland Volunteer District. Colonel Davies served in South Africa, first as commander of No. 1 company of the First New Zealand Contingent, and then as commander of the second division of the Fourth Contingent, the late Colonel Francis being in command of the first division. While in South Africa Colonel Davies exhibited dash and bravery and administrative talents as an officer, and was made a Companion of the Bath in recognition of his services. He is a surveyor by profession, and was captain of the Hawera Mounted Rifles before he went to South Africa. Colonel Davies again left for South Africa in the beginning of February, 1902, as Brevet-Colonel in command of the Eighth New Zealand Contingent of 1110 men and sixty officers.
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General Government Institutions.

            

              
Lands Office.

              

                
                

                  

Mr. Gerhard Mueller,
                 
 referred to at page 
180 as Chief Inspector of State


[image: Giant Buttress, White Terrace.]

Giant Buttress, White Terrace.





Forests, Auckland, has been appointed Assistant Surveyor-General for the colony.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. L. C. Cussen,
                  referred to at page 
178 as Inspecting Surveyor for the Auckland district, has been appointed to the position of Chief Draughtsman of Auckland.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. W. C. Kensington,
                  described at page 
179 as Chief Draughtsman at Auckland, has been promoted to the position of Under-Secretary for Lands and Survey, at Wellington.
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Charitable Institutions.

            

              
              


                

                  
Mr. John Moss
                
                and Mrs Moss have ceased to be manager and matron of the Costley Home for the Aged Poor.
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Educational.

            

              
              


                

Professor Potocki de Montalk,
                referred to at page 
199 as lecturer on Modern Languages at University College, Auckland, died suddenly on the evening of the 6th of September, 1901.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. James Hight,
                M.A., described at page 
201 as Master of Modern Languages at the Auckland Grammar School, resigned early in 1901. Mr. E. S. Atkinson, .A., formerly of the Wanganui Collegiate School staff, was appointed to the position left vacant by Mr. Hight's resignation. Dr. Patrick Marshal, M. Sc., (N.Z. University), and F.G.S. (London), Science Master at the Auckland Grammar School, also resigned early in 1901, having been appointed lecturer in Geology at the University of Otago; and was succeeded by Mr. J. H. Howell, B.A., B.Sc., London. formerly on the staff of the University College, Aberystwith, Wales. The Science Mastership at the Auckland Grammar School was held temporarily, till the arrival from England of Mr. Howell, by Mr. J. S. S. Cooper, M.A., B.Sc., of Canterbury College.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Graham Bruce,
                referred to at page 
203 as Principal of King's College, Remuera, died on the 27th of October, 1901.
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The Rev. Percy Scott Smallfield
                
                (page 
205) has severed his connection with St. John's College, Tamaki, and now carries on St. John's Collegiate School, at the Pah, Onehunga. The Rev. A. H. Anson, M.A., for many years Vicar of Hawera, in Taranaki, is now Warden of St. John's College, Tamaki.
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Ecclesiastical.

            

              
              


                
The Ven. Archdeacon Dudley,
                noticed at page 
215 as vicar of St. Sepulchre's, Auckland, died in April, 1901; and the Rev. Canon Calder, Vicar of All Saints, Ponsonby—see page 
217 ante—was, during the same month, appointed as his successor in the archdeaconate.

            

            

              
              


                

                  
The Rev. Joseph Bates
                
                sometime Vicar of Trinity Church, Devonport, Canon of the Cathedral, Auckland, and an examining chaplain to the Primate, was born near Enniskillen, County Fermanagh, Ireland, in 1845. He arrived with his parents at Auckland in 1849, and was educated privately and at St. John's College, Tamaki. In 1869 he was ordained deacon at Napier by the late Bishop Williams (first Bishop of Waiapu), and appointed to the charge of the Lower Waikato district. Mr. Bates was ordained priest in the succeeding year by Dr. Cowie, Bishop of Auckland, and was appointed to the vicarate of Trinity in 1872. The new church, vicarage and Sunday school at Devonport were all erected during his incumbency. Canon Bates was a member of the Diocesan Standing Committee, a teacher in the Church of England Grammar School, Parnell, and a member of the council of the Auckland Institute and Board of Education. In consequence of ill-health, Canon Bates visited England in 1896, but returned near the end of the same year without material improvement, and died in 1897.
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The Rev. Father Corcoran,
                referred to at page 
227 as curate of St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland, was appointed, in February, 1901, to the parish at Puhoi, in succession to the Rev. Father Brodie, who has been stationed at Waihi.

            

            

              
              


                
The Rev. Father O'Carroll,
                whose biography is given on page 
227 of this volume—where he is referred to as assistant curate at St. Patrick's Cathedral, Auckland—was appointed to the parish at Kihikihi, in February, 1901, in succession to the Rev. Father Croke, who went in search of health to Barcoldine, Rockhampton, Queensland.

            

            

              
              


                

The Rev. A. H. Collins,
                referred to at page 
236, has resigned the pastorate of the Ponsonby Baptist Church. He held the position for nearly nine years.
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Social.

            

              
              


                

Mr. Arthur Selby,
                Huntsman of the Pakuranga Hounds, Auckland. (See page 
251).
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                  The Auckland Amateur Opera Club
                
                was formed about 1884. Professor Carl Schmitt, Messrs P. Dufaur and F. Earl were among its promoters, and Herr Schmitt acted as conductor up to the time of his death. The club has been very successful, and during its career has performed the following operas with considerable credit and ability: The Sorcerer,” “Les Cloches de Corneville,” “Pirates of Penzance,” “Iolanthe,” “Princess Ida,” “H.M.S. Pinafore,” “Madame Favard,” “Mikado,” “Gondoliers,” “Dorothy,” and “The Yeoman of the Guard.” His Excellency Lord Ranfurly is patron, and the officers of the club are: Dr. T. Hope Lewis, president; Mr. A. Towsey, conductor; Mr. A. Tayler, stage manager; Mr. Charles Chambers, secretary; Mr. J. P. Stevenson, treasurer; Messrs George Warren, A. Coutts, A. Bartley, J. F. Montague, A. Twiname, and G. M. Reid, committee.
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Theatrical.

            

              
              


                

Dix, Percy Reginald,
                page 
257. Auckland is to have a new theatre, to be called His Majesty's. A site with a frontage



to Queen Street has been secured, and the building will cost £20,000. It will be on the same lines as the Princess Theatre, Melbourne, and the ground floor will be occupied by the usual orchestral stalls and pit. The first tier will comprise the dress circle, and above that will be the family circle. There will also be six private boxes, three on each side of the proscenium, one above the other. The theatre will seat 1700 people, and it will be provided with the latest patent sliding roof. It is expected that the theatre will be ready at the end of the year 1902. Mr. P. R. Dix has arranged to lease it for ten years.
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Legal.

            

              
              


                

Mr. Francis Dart Fenton,
                sometime Chief Judge of the Native Land Court, was descended from a very old and distinguished Yorkshire family, and his father. Mr. Francis Fenton, was a solicitor in London. He received his education at the Sheffield Collegiate School, and was afterwards placed in the office of an uncle at Huddersfield. Mr. Fenton arrived in Auckland about 1850, in company with the late Mr. James Armitage, who was afterwards appointed resident magistrate for Waikato, and was shot by the natives whilst he was passing down the river in a canoe. Mr. Fenton was appointed resident magistrate at Kaipara by Sir George Grey in 1852, and subsequently became Assistant Government Law Officer, before Responsible Government was established. In 1869 he was called to the Legislative Council, but ceased to be a member in 1871. He became Chief Judge of the Native Land Court and Senior Judge of the Compensation Court. During his term of office as Chief Judge of the Native Land Court he was also District Judge for Auckland, and held these appointments until December, 1882, when he retired upon a pension. Judge Fenton, who was considered to be one of the greatest authorities on Maori matters, was the author of a work concerning the Maori race.
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Dental.

            

              
              


                

Mr. A. E. Hobbs,
                Surgeon Dentist, whose photograph and article appear on page 
288, has removed from Wellesley Street to Ponsonby Road, where he continues his practice in more favourably situated premises.
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Insurance.

            

              
              


                
Alliance Assurance Company,
                See page 
296.

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Bartholomew Kent,
                Manager for Auckland and Taranaki.
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The Equitable Life Assurance Society Of The United States.
                This great society was founded in the State of New York, America, on the 26th of July, 1859, its distinguishing object being to conduct business solely on a mutual plan in the interests of policy-holders, all profits to be the property of the assured and distributed amongst them. At the end of 1860 there were only 268 policies in force, assuring £238,333, and from this modest beginning has grown all the stupendous business, which was sedulously pushed into State after State, and eventually beyond the borders of America into strange lands, over into the United Kingdom, to Paris, St. Petersburg, Stockholm, Christiana, Brussels, Amsterdam, amburg, Copenhagen, Berlin, Vienna, Budapesth, Milan, Madrid, and Santiago, through Canada, South Africa, and Australasia. Such a record for forty years commands attention, but the actual figures read like a fairy tale of finance. Thus the assurance in force grew from £238,333 in 1860, to £27,963,304 in 1870, and then to £219,670,058 in 1899. Then the assets grew from £24,396 in 1860, to £2,189,755 in 1870, and to £58,373,185 in 1899, and surpluses from nothing in 1860, to £45,783 in 1870, to £1,135,499 in 1880, and to £12,711,975 in 1899. There is that in these statistics which pre-supposes certain special qualifications which recommend themselves to the public, and especially is this evident in a comparison for later years, during which the society has become more widely known. The increase in business in 1899 was in itself startling. For instance, the assurance in force increased by £14,012,322; the assets by £4,546,248; the surplus by £793,123; and the income by £895,038. The mere existence of so considerable a surplus as £12,711,975 makes the guarantees absolutely safe, twelve million sovereigns constituting a mountain of strength, which, with the other inducements, makes the society irresistible. Such a surplus secures safety not only to existing policy-holders, but also to future. Prosperity so great is important in many ways, and particularly to the policy-holder, who is enriched by substantial dividends, the amounts of which are very gratifying; and these dividends, with the demonstrated strength of the institution, make it difficult for anyone to withstand such manifest attractions. Put shortly, the Equitable Life issues such life and endowment policies as guaranteed cash value policies, continuous instalment policies, twenty year gold debentures, premium dividend policies, indemnity policies, endowment bonds, annual dividend policies, annuities of every variety, term policies, children's endowments, joint life policies, instalment policies, etc. A variety like this gives the investor a wide choice, and enables him to choose one form or another, adapted to his individual requirements. There are special inducements in each, and terms are offered that are calculated to impress, and are as liberal in principle as in working out. In addition to the attractive terms, the stability of the society must be taken into account; also, the known fact that death claims are paid immediately after death takes place, when money is frequently of inestimable value; and it should also be borne in mind that the following clause is marked on every contract issued: “This policy shall be indisputable, after two years from its date of issue, for the amount due, providing the premiums are duly paid. Every assistance is rendered by the society to hasten the payment of claims.” It is worth adding that in 1899 nearly 80 per cent. of the death claims were paid within one day after proofs of death were received. The “guaranteed cash-value policy” is largely sought after, and some years ago the society introduced an innovation under which surrender values, both in cash and in paid-up assurances, were guaranteed. This guaranteed cash value policy gives all the benefits and advantages of other forms of policy, and, in addition, guarantees surrender values, both in cash and paid-up assurance, the amounts of which (together with loans mentioned) increase year by year, and are written in the policy.

              
It is not, however, necessary to give a detailed account of the various policies issued, each having some special characteristic to recommend it. In forty years the society has paid to policy-holders or their representatives £63,000,000 and now holds over £58,000,000 in assets. The business of the society has always been conducted on the highest principles, and it stands for all that is true and just in the assurance world. It has ever been foremost in introducing reforms in the direction of liberalising policy conditions, and its policies, as issued to-day, contain no restrictions as to



travel, residence, or occupation after issue. The Equitable also observes a decency in competition, refraining from attacking its competitors, and practising an honourable tolerance. The Australian branches were opened in 1884, and business has been done to the extent of £1,000,000 up to the beginning of 1899. In New Zealand the attractions of the society have ensured a big business, and a revival of interest has lately been observed. Much may be expected of the Equitable during the next few years. The head office in the colony is on Lambton Quay, Wellington, Mr. F. H. D. Bell being the chairman of directors, Dr. Albert Martin chief medical officer, Mr. E. Trevor-Gould resident secretary, and Mr. P. M. Thomson inspector of agencies. The local directors have power to issue policies and pay claims. What has here been written is sufficient to give a general idea of this important institution, which, in 1886, reached the position which made it the 
strongest life assurance company in the world. A mountain of strength, it has adopted the proud motto, “Not for a day, but for all time.” Essentially a local office, it is acclaimed everywhere. Its buildings in Sydney and Melbourne are among the finest specimens of modern architecture in the colonies, and have also proved excellent investments for the society. The Equitable publishes a list of all its investments, and adverting to this fact, the “Bulletin” of the 16th of August, 1899, declared that “as a guarantee of the soundness of the investments, this is a valuable idea; and it would be a very valuable shock to old-imported British prejudices if Australian societies would take the public into their confidence in like manner.”

            

            

              
              


                

Mr. Percy M. Thomson,
                Inspector of Agencies in New Zealand for the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States of America, has had an extensive experience of insurance business in the Colonies. he is of American descent, and possesses in a high degree the indomitable energy which is characteristic of American manhood. To this is doubtless due the marked success which he has won, and his rapid progress in commercial prosperity. Leaving school at the age of fourteen, he entered the service of the Equitable Life Assurance Society, and from the position of office boy perseveringly pursued the hard road to success, till he was called upon as one eminently adapted to fill the responsible position he now occupies. Mr. Thomson was born in Auckland in 1872, and is a son of the late Mr. W. A. Thomson, the pioneer of the Accident Insurance Company in New Zealand, and the first General Manager in New Zealand of the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States. He was educated at a private school in Sydney—whither he had gone as a child—till the age of ten years, when he returned to Auckland, where his education was continued at the public schools. Mr. Thomson is well known in Auckland as a runner of repute and an all-round athlete. He is vice-president of the Grafton La Crosse Club, which, in 1901, carried off the New Zealand championship, and he also stands well as a cricketer and a footballer.
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Professional, Commercial and Industrial.

            

              
Accountants, Agents, Etc.

              

                
                

                  

                    Hughes, Henry
                  
                 
 (late Hughes, Rayward, and Baldwin), Chartered Patent Agents and Consulting Engineers (Mr E. Brooke-Smith,
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manager), 103 Queen Street, Auckland (page 
312). Messrs Rayward and Baldwin have left the firm, which is now carried on under its original title.

              

            

            

              
Artists and Photographers.

              

                
                


                  

Bartlett, William Henry,
                  Art Photographer. The article at page 
318 had passed its final stages before the one here given came to hand.

              

              

                
                

                  

Bartlett, William Henery,
                 
 Art Photographer, Queen Street, Auckland; Branch at New Plymouth. Mr. Bartlett's studio in Queen Street might with safety be taken as an exhibition of all that is best in modern photography, and as a proof of the very remarkable progress which has been made in the art within recent years. The business has been in existence for about forty years, and has been in Mr. Bartlett's possession since 1894, and since then his experience and his special talent as a photographic artist have enable him to introduce many improvements. A collection of Mr. Bartlett's work received a first award and gold medal at the Auckland Industrial and Mining Exhibition of 1898–1899. The excellence which won this distinction is characteristic of all Mr. Bartlett's work, for his photographs, while being faithful as likenesses, are also works of art in the best sense of that misused term. This is so genuinely the case that Mr. Bartlett's workmanship has made his studio as noted in New Zealand as that of Talma is in Melbourne, and of Falk, in Sydney. Mr. Bartlett uses three stories in connection with his business. The vestibule contains specimens which show his talent for bringing out details in costumes, posing figures, and remaining true to reality while giving the last finishing touches of art to his work. In reproduces everything that is characteristic in the figures and faces of the sitters, even to the expression in [
unclear: th]
e eye and the passing smile on the face. The success which marks single photographs is seen also in his reproduction of wedding, family, and other groups, generally, for some reason or other, dissociated from artistic effects. But the fact is that, in addition to being an experienced photographer, Mr. Bartlett is also an arest by instinct. Mr. Bartlett makes a specialty of enlargements, of which some very fine specimens are on view. The studio is upstairs, where every provision has been made for the comfort and convenience of visitors. There is a reception room, a ladies dressing room, and there are three lady assistants to attend to clients. In the studio itself special attention has been given to details. Skylights, fitted with different coloured blinds, give the operator complete control over the light, and artistic backgrounds are secured by means of fine paintings, specially imported by Mr. Bartlett for the purpose. The furniture, too, is artistically in harmony with the other decorations. The dark room and the finishing rooms are on the upper floor, where there is a staff of touchers-up, of
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expert craftsmen, and of young women who mount and despatch the photographs after they come from the process-rooms. Mr. Bartlett keeps his large stock in a special apartment, designed with a view to all the materials used in photography being continuously maintained in a condition of first-class order; and, all through, his materials and appliances are of the highest excellence. Mr. Bartlett has sixteen assistants in constant employment throughout the year. Photographs taken at his New Plymouth branch are retouched and printed at Auckland, and all negatives are numbered, so that customers desiring to obtain copies can be sure of getting them. Mr. Bartlett's favourite process of production is in black and white, and the success which he has won places him in the front rank of art photographers.

              

            

            

              
Leather Trade.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. C. C. Fleming,
                  referred to at page 
380, died in September, 1901.

              

            

            

              
Wood Trade.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Samuel Bradley,
                  of Mander and Bradley, sawmillers and timber merchants, Auckland. See page 
422.
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Country Districts.

            

              
Onehunga.

              

                
                


                  

The Very Reverend Monsignor James Paul,
                  Vicar-General of the Roman Catholic diocese of Auckland, has been identified with the church in the Auckland district for over forty years, and is justly revered by his own congregation and respected by all numbers of the community. He resides at Onehunga.

              

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. James Park
                  
                  (page 
653) died on the 16th of November, 1901.

              

            

            

              
Panmure.

              

                
                


                  

                    
Mr. Thomas Morrin
                  
                 's valuable stallion St. Leger, referred to at page 
660, died at the stud farm, Wellington Park, on the 22nd of October, 1901. He had been ill for a month, and a postmortem examination showed that he had been suffering from acute inflammation.

              

            

            

              
Clevedon.

              

                
                


                  
Mr. James Edward Wilson.
                  See page 
666.
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Mr. J. E. 
Wilson.


                

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Charles William Stephens.
                  See page 
668.
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Otahuhu.

              

                
                


                  

The Rev. George Buttle,
                  one of the pioneer Wesleyan missionaries of New Zealand, was born at Snaith, Yorkshire, England, in 1810. As a young man he offered himself as a Wesleyan missionary, and having been ordained, married and came out to the Bay of Islands in the year 1846 in the mission brig “Triton.” He was for twenty-one years at Waipa. On Mrs. Buttle's death in 1858 he retired from active work and went to England with his family. Five years later he returned to the Colony and purchased a farm at Otahuhu, where he resided for a number of years, and died on the 10th of July, 1874, leaving seven sons and one daughter.

              

            

            

              
Raglan.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. William Inglis Conradi,
                  County Clerk, Raglan. See page 
718.
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Mr. W. I. 
Conradi.


                

              

            

            

              
Thames.

              

                
This article should have taken the place of the one which appears on page 
863.

              

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Henry James Greenslade,
                  J.P., was born at Auckland in 1867, but upon the proclamation of the Thames as a goldfield, his parents proceeded to that town, where Mr. Greenslade resided continuously until early in 1900, when he purchased the well-known estate of “Glengariff,” in the Waikato. He was educated at the Thames, and was for nineteen years connected with the Thames “Star.” Commencing as an errand boy in the office, he subsequently served his apprenticeship as a compositor; then he was appointed the “Star's” special mining reporter; and was afterwards its editor and manager for seven years. He was also the correspondent for the Auckland “Star” and the “Australian Mining Standard” (Sydney), besides being a contributor to the “British Australasian” (London). He discharged his



duties with such conspicuous ability that, in 1898, he was elected Mayor of Thames by a majority of forty votes, and had the honour of being the youngest Mayor in New Zealand. In the following year he was again returned as Mayor by a majority of 257 votes; but the same year he unsuccessfully contested the Thames seat for the House of Representatives against the Hon. James McGowan, Minister of Mines. Mr. Greenslade was connected with almost every local body at the Thames, and was Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Thames High School, the Public Library Committee, the Cemetery Trustees, and a member of the Harbour Board, the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, the Hospital Trustees, etc. He was also the first President of the Thames Branch of the New Zealand Natives' Association; always actively interested himself in everything pertaining to the welfare of the town, and is well and popularly known throughout the Auckland province. Mr. Greenslade takes a prominent part in all outdoor sports and amusements, and was President of the Thames Rugby Union, the Native Rose Football Club, and the St. Albans and other cricket clubs, besides having been a steward of the Thames Jockey Club for several years. In May, 1896, he was appointed to the Commission of the Peace, and two years later was married to a daughter of the late Thomas Penk, of Manchester, England, and has two sons. When leaving the Thames Mr. Greenslade resigned the editorship of the Thames “Star, the Mayoralty, and other public positions, and was presented by the citizens with an illuminated address in recognition of his great services to the town and the goldfield generally; while Mrs Greenslade was the recipient of a handsome a bum containing photographs of a number of the residents of the town. Since settling in the Waikato, Mr. Greenslade has taken a keen and active interest in public affairs, and is a member of the Executive of the Liberal Federation, chairman of the Ohaupo school committee, chairman of the Ohaupo branch of the Waikato Farmers' Club, president of the Paterangi Rifle Club, and vice-president of the Te Awamutu branch of the Fruit-growers' Association, the Waipa Rugby Union, and numerous football cricket and athletic clubs. In 1896 Mr. and Mrs Greenslade made a twelvemonth's tour of the United States of America, Great Britain, and Ireland, and the Continent of Europe.

              

            

            

              
Karangahake.

              

                
                


                  

Mr. Alfred Shepherd,
                  Proprietor of the Talisman Hotel, at Katikati, was one of the original holders of the Talisman Mine, and still has large interests in the Karangakake goldfield. He is referred to at page 
929.

              

            

            

              
Waihi.

              

                
                


                  
The Rev. Father Brodie,
                  formerly of Puhoi, is now stationed at Waihi.
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See page
763.
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Cornwall Park.

            
The history of 
Cornwall Park, presented in June, 1901, to the people of New Zealand by Dr. Logan Campbell, through his Royal Highness the Duke of Cornwall and York, has been given in an interesting manner by the “New Zealand Herald.” It recalls the early days of colonisation, and goes also a great way back into the times when the Maoris were the sole owners of the country. In 1840, when the pioneer settlers traversed the native footpath between Orakei Bay on the Waitemata Harbour to Onehunga on the Manukau western waters, Maungakiekie rose from the surrounding treeless plain, with one single tree on its summit, and at once became known as Onetree Hill. Maungakiekie had from the earliest times been the most important position in all the country side. The whole isthmus, from Otahuhu to the Whau, was called by the Maoris, Tamaki, and is still so called by them. The native name of the stream now called Tamaki is Whangamakau. Tamaki was a favourite place of residence with the Maori people. It had in it much warm volcanic soil, suitable for the growth of the taro and the kumara, gave easy access to the sea on both sides, and to the mataitai or fruits of the ocean, which formed so important a part of Maori food. Its inhabitants, therefore, were envied by other Maoris, who had a proverb. “Tamaki, Makarau”—Tamaki of a hundred lovers. They pictured Tamaki as a fair maiden, attracting the regard of many lovers. This was perhaps its misfortune in the long run. It was possessed by a confederacy of tribes—the Taou, Waiohua, and Ngaiwi. The same people occupied Waiheke and the islands of the Gulf, and possibly the shores of the Waitemata down to the Firth of the Thames. They were able to bid defiance to all enemies until the occurrence of a singular incident. A chief named Tarakumikumi, a Waiohua, married his own niece, who had a brother named Kapetawa. The uncle and nephew went out one day to fish near the Bean Rocks, and the uncle took the nephew, then a boy, and put him on the rock at low water, and left him. As the tide advanced his mother, from the shore, heard his screams, put off in a canoe from Kohimaramara, and rescued him. Kapetawa cherished the remembrance of this affront until he grew up, when he raised a war party of Ngatipaoa, who lived at the entrance of the Thames, and with whom he had blood connection, and attacked his uncle in the pa at Orakei. The pa was taken, and many killed. The conqueror settled at Waiheke. But this was a mere raid.

            
At a later period the country was fully peopled, and the chief residence of the Waiohua was at Maungakiekie. The great chief who reigned without dispute for a long period was Te Kiwi. He was living there in great strength, in a strongly fortified pa, about the year 1720. The trenches of Kiwi's pa may be seen there at this day. His people held pas at Maungakiekie (One-tree Hill), Maungarie (Mount Wellington), Mangere, Inhumatao, Onehunga, Remuera, Omahu (near Remuera), Te Umuponga, at Orakei, Kohimaramara, Taurarua (Judge's Bay), Te Tou (Freeman's Bay), Raratonga (Mount Smart), Te Tatua (Three Kings), Owairaka (Mount Albert), and other places. He held undisputed possession of the whole country from the Tamaki river to Te Whau, and from the Waitemata to the Manukau. But, as with other rulers history tells of, he became intoxicated with power and overbearing to his neighbours. About the year 1740 he surprised and treacherously murdered thirty of the tribe Te Taou, a people of Kaipara. His people also murdered some of the Ngatimaru, of the Thames. Then came the reprisals, and about 1741 an army of Te Taou descended from Kaipara to Manukau, crossed at the Heads, in the night time, in canoes made of rushes, and stormed Tarataua, a pa of Te Waiohua, to the south of Awhitu, and slaughtered the people in it. Kiwi assembled his people from One-tree Hill and other pas, and a great battle took place at Paruroa (Big Muddy Creek). The Waiohua were defeated with immense slaughter, and kiwi was killed. This was the end of the Waiohua grandeur. Maungakiekie and all the other pas were taken possession of by Te Taou. The remnants of the Waiohua assembled in their pa at Mangere, and made a final stand. But the pa was taken, and the whole of the people killed or finally dispersed.

            
Some time afterwards the Ngatiwhatua, another Kaipara tribe, who considered that they were bound to avenge the murder of several of their chiefs who had been slain by the Waiohua, passed over to Papatoitoi, and sailing down the Waitemata assemblea and took in one day the pas of Kohimarama and Taurarua, held by the Waiohua.

            
The Waiohua were extirpated as a tribe, and individuals only existed in a subject state, or as wives amongst the conquering tribe. Tuperiri rebuilt the pa at Maungakiekie, and entered into occupation of the desolated and vacant country that had once been so populous.

            
All this piece of history was brought out at the great trial of the Orakei case before Judge Fenton. A large number of witnesses were then examined. At that time many old men were alive who have now passed away. In their youth they had heard the story from the actors in it. For instance, Apihai Te Kawau would no doubt hear from his grandfather, Tuperiri, the story of the night attack on the pa at Mangere, and the details of the bloody campaign. The evidence taken then seemed to show that Mount Eden had been abandoned before Kiwi's time.

            
Then after these wars there was a period of peace for about half a century. Te Taou and the returned refugees of Waiohua maintained Maungakiekie as their principal pa, and had outlying pas at Ohewa (Kauri Point), Te Tou (Freeman's Bay), and other places.

            
About 1790 hostilities took place between Te Taou and Ngatiwhatua and Ngatipaoa. Tuperiri still reigned at Maungakiekie, and his territory was not seriously threatened. In 1815 Apihai's people were living both at Manukau and at Waitemata.

            

              

[image: Maungakiekie, One Tree Hill, Cornwall Park.]

Maungakiekie, One Tree Hill, Cornwall Park.


            

            


            
But a great change was to come over the scene. Europeans had come to the Bay of Islands, and the Maoris were getting that terrible weapon, the musket. Still for a time all was quiet in the district of Tamaki. Hongi Ika, the great Ngapuhi chief, went up the Thames and stormed the pa at Totara with great slaughter. Afterwards Hongi attacked the pa at Manimaina (Panmure), and captured it from the Ngatipaoa. No tribe could stand before the Ngapuhi, armed as they were, and Te Taou and Ngatiwhatua had to abandon their pas, and gather at Te Rehu (near the present water works). Wars and fighting took place till about 1825, when they made their headquarters at Okahu (Orakei). In 1826 Hongi invaded Kaipara, and Apihai and all his people fled up Waikato. At the close of the year the whole isthmus was without an inhabitant. Then the tide of war turned against the Ngapuhi, and the people began to settle at their former homes. In 1835 Te Wherowhero (afterwards known as King Potatau) brought down the people of the district, and settled them in their old places. Then in 1836 Te Taou came to the shores of the Waitemata, and began to cultivate the land about what is now the botton of Queen Street, then known as Horotiu.

            
In 1840 the sovereignty of Queen Victoria was proclaimed over New Zealand, and thereafter purchases of land were made from the native owners. In 1843 many sales of land were made by Apihai and his people. Onetree Hill was sold to an Auckland merchant named Mr. Thomas Henry, who had a place of business in Queen Street. In 1853 Mr. Henry sold to Dr. Campbell, and was delighted when he found the land was not to be cut up into small pieces. Dr. Campbell ever afterwards held the land, and had for many years entertained the idea of bestowing it upon the people of Auckland. The remnant of the Waiohua tribe, the people who held it as far as tradition can take us, signed the deed to Mr. Henry, along with the chiefs of the conquering tribe. There were only these two—Mr. Henry and Dr. Campbell—between the native owners and the people of Auckland. And now this spot, perhaps the most beautiful in a large and exceptionally lovely district, the scene of many battles, of capture and defence, of savage cannibal feasts, when hundreds were roasted in the ovens, becomes, says the writer in “The New Zealand Herald,” a place of pleasant resort for the people of Auckland, a place of recreation for the citizen for all time, where he can see the Manukau and the Waitemata, and all the idylic country which lies around, where he can be surrounded by everything that can gratify the eye. It is for him and for his children, and their children's children; and for untold ages, the people of Auckland, when enjoying all these delights, will not forget to think of the life and to bless the memory of the donor.

            

              

[image: Cornwall Park, from One Tree Hill.]

Cornwall Park, from One Tree Hill.
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Errata.

        


	25.—
	
            The name of the illustration is wrongly spelt Kawaka. It should be Kaiwaka.
          


	111.—
	
            The initials “J.B.” under Mr. Holland's portrait should be J. J.
          


	150.—
	
            The line in italic at the foot of Waka Nene's portrait should read: 
From a copyright photograph, by permission of Mr. S. Stuart.
          


	
318.—
	
            Bartlett, William Henry. See also page 
1020.
          


	
351.—
	
            Davey and Orpwood. The address of this firm is not High Street, but the Strand Arcade.
          


	
415.—
	
            Downs, W. H. “Oil and Skin,” in the second line, should read Oilskin.
          


	
481.—
	
            Hastings, R. J. This article should appear under Waihi.
          


	
863.—
	
            Greenslade, H. J. See also page 
1021.
          


	
987.—
	
            Ambridge, Charles Henry. For 1877, in the last sentence, read 1887.
          


	
991.—
	
            For the Rev. J. A. Jordan, Mayor, in the list of members of the Tauranga Borough Council, read the Rev. C. Jordan, Mayor.
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